

Khawaja Husnain Haider *Editor*

Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy



Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy

Khawaja Husnain Haider Editor

Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy

With 119 Figures and 71 Tables



Editor Khawaja Husnain Haider Department of Basic Sciences Sulaiman AlRajhi University Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia

ISBN 978-981-19-2654-9 ISBN 978-981-19-2655-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

То

My Parents, Brothers, Sisters, Brothers-in-Law, and my wife DIYA who mothered our two sons: Mowahid who is the love of my life and Anas "the angel of paradise" whose departure from my life is a constant source of inspiration for me to do science.

Foreword

Debilitating and fatal, hereditary degenerative diseases deprive their sufferers of a normal quality of life and life span. An effective treatment must not only repair degenerating cells but replenish degenerated cells with live ones. From the first success of mesenchyme transplantation in dystrophic mice reported in *Muscle & Nerve* 1982; 5: 619–627 unto the current >20 chapters documenting biomedical and clinical advances of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation, it becomes apparent that cell therapy has come of age! Better still, Food and Drug Agency (FDA), European Medicines Agency (EMA), and National Medicine Products Administration (NMPA) have granted several biologic license approvals since July 14, 1990, when the world's first human gene therapy and somatic cell therapy was published in *Lancet* 336:114–115.

Cell therapy is a mainstream regenerative medicine characterized with transplantation of biologics including live cells, genes, factors, and/or a combination of them. It replenishes live cells to degenerative organs, and in allografts, offers the normal genome for genetic complementation treatment. It regenerates tissues and organs. Exosomes secreted from cultured cells are often formulated to become molecular medicine. Since a foreign gene and its derivatives always exert its effect on the cell, cell therapy is the common pathway to good health. Debilitating and fatal diseases with no known cure are often results of polygenic aberration, and only cell therapy rather than individual molecular medicine can be effective.

Cell therapists harvesting the innovations and discoveries of developmental cell biologists since the mid-1950s should not forget their teachings. Somatic cell therapies and stem cell therapies utilize different compositions and methods of treatment. It is through continual research in cell identification, quantity, purity, viability, and potency, especially in cell differentiation and transcription, that stem cell therapies will one day overcome the inadequacy of uncontrolled differentiation and carcinogenicity.

This is the seventh book Professor Haider has edited on key issues of stem cells and stem cell therapies. Professor Haider has devoted more than two decades in these arenas, publishing cutting-edge research with complete dedication and passion. In this book, he has compiled the latest advances of encompassing cell therapies from world experts toward treating cancer, heart failure, Type-II diabetes, aging, muscular dystrophies, wounds, ocular diseases, COVID-19, inflammatory bowel disease, cartilage damage, spinal cord injury, cognitive deficits, and ischemic stroke. This book is classified as a Major Reference Work consisting of 50 chapters from nearly 45 labs around the globe, from the USA to Canada, Europe, China, Japan, Malaysia, and many other countries. With these elite Editor, Publisher, and Authors working in harmony, the world of science and medicine will look forward to new editions of this landmark undertaking in the years to come.

All these drops into the bucket, some representing the life-long effort of the pioneers, others representing novel discoveries and innovations, will all be collected monumentally; for biologics are evolutionary medicine shared by all animals in the last 500 million years, only to be discovered, isolated, manipulated with human innovation, and formulated as Genetic Cell Therapies to provide mankind with long-term efficacy and lesser side effects than herbs, chemicals, surgery, or radiation.

Cell Therapy Institute Peter K. Law, Ph.D., Professor, Founder & Chairman Wuhan, CHINA August 2022

Contents

Volume 1

Par Cel	t I Cell-Based Therapy Approach: Mesenchymal Stem I-Based Therapy	1
1	Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Art to Use Them in theTreatment of Previously UntreatableJan Lakota, Maria Dubrovcakova, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	3
2	Sources and Therapeutic Strategies of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine Mohamed Kamal, Dina Kassem, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	23
3	Considerations for Clinical Use of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Bernat Soria, Juan R. Tejedo, Francico J. Bedoya, Jose Miguel Sempere-Ortells, and Tarik Smani	51
4	Stem Cells in Wound Healing and Scarring Roohi Vinaik and Marc G. Jeschke	103
5	Mesenchymal Stem Cells	127
6	Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for COVID-19 Critical Care Patients Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Tarik Smani, Jose Miguel Sempere-Ortells, Robert Chunhua Zhao, and Bernat Soria	163
7	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Inflammatory Bowel Disease Mikhail Konoplyannikov, Oleg Knyazev, Peter Timashev, and Vladimir Baklaushev	193
8	Extracellular Vesicles-Based Cell-Free Therapy for LiverRegenerationMustapha Najimi and Khawaja Husnain Haider	221

9	Current State of Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Diseases Yong Sheng Tan, Qi Hao Looi, Nadiah Sulaiman, Min Hwei Ng, and Daniel Law Jia Xian	239
10	Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair Abdullah Murhaf Al-Khani, Mohamed Abdelghafour Khalifa, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	269
11	Preclinical Research of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Ocular Diseases E. Zakirova, A. M. Aimaletdinov, A. G. Malanyeva, C. S. Rutland, and A. A. Rizvanov	323
12	Stem Cell for Cartilage Repair Anneh Mohammad Gharravi, Mohammad Reza Gholami, Saeed Azandeh, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	349
13	Direct Reprogramming Strategies for the Treatment of Nervous System Injuries and Neurodegenerative Disorders	383
14	Therapeutic Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cells onCognitive DeficitsCarl Randall Harrell, Ana Volarevic, and Vladislav Volarevic	413
15	Augmenting Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy of the Infarcted Myocardium with StatinsSulaiman Alnasser, Mabrouk AL-Rasheedi, Mateq A. Alreshidi, Saleh F. Alqifari, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	437
16	Unraveling the Mystery of Regenerative Medicine in the Treatment of Heart Failure Mathieu Rheault-Henry, Ian White, and Rony Atoui	471
17	Therapeutic Uses of Stem Cells for Heart Failure:Hype or Hope	511
18	Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Probiotic Communication: Beneficial Bacteria in Preconditioning Ayşegül Mendi, Büşra Aktaş, and Belma Aslım	545
19	Effects of 3D Cell Culture on the Cell Fate Decisions of Mesenchymal Stromal/Stem Cells Darius Widera	565

Part Cell	t II Cell-Based Therapy Approach: Non-Mesenchymal Stem -Based Therapy	585
20	The Function of Stem Cells in Ocular Homeostasis S. Amer Riazuddin, Shahid Y. Khan, and Muhammad Ali	587
21	The Potential of Stem Cells in Ocular Treatments S. Amer Riazuddin, Shahid Y. Khan, and Muhammad Ali	607
22	Myoblast Therapies Constitute a Safe and EfficaciousPlatform Technology of Regenerative Medicine for the HumanHealth IndustryPeter K. Law, Wenbin Li, Qibin Song, Shi Jun Song, Jun Ren,Manye Yao, Qiaoyun Li, Qizhong Shi, Keqiang Wang, Jing Wang,Lei Ye, Jian-Hua Ma, Khawaja Husnain Haider, Li-ping Su, Ping Lu,Weyland Cheng, Ming Zhang Ao, and Danlin M. Law	625
23	Adipose Tissue-Derived Regenerative Cell-Based Therapies:Current Optimization Strategies for Effective Treatment inAesthetic SurgeryYusuke Shimizu, Edward Hosea Ntege, and Hiroshi Sunami	691
24	Molecular Signature of Stem Cells Undergoing CardiomyogenicDifferentiationKavitha Govarthanan, Piyush Kumar Gupta, Binita E. Zipporah,Vineeta Sharma, M. Rajasundari, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	725
Vol	ume 2	
25	Stem Cell Applications in Cardiac Tissue Regeneration Vineeta Sharma, Sanat Kumar Dash, Piyush Kumar Gupta, Binita E. Zipporah, Khawaja Husnain Haider, and Kavitha Govarthanan	769
26	Vascular Functional Recovery and Reparation by HumanEndothelial Progenitor CellsAlexander E. Berezin and Alexander A. Berezin	799
27	Neural Stem Cells Yash Parekh, Ekta Dagar, Khawaja Husnain Haider, and Kiran Kumar Bokara	821
28	Glial Cells in Neuroinflammation in Various Disease States Derek Barthels and Hiranmoy Das	849
29	Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) as a Platform for Modeling Arrhythmias Lisa Lin, Tiffany Barszczewski, Patrick G. Burgon, and Glen F. Tibbits	875

30	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Adegbenro Omotuyi John Fakoya, Adekunle Ebenezer Omole, Nihal Satyadev, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	895
31	Human Stem Cell Differentiation In Vivo in Large Animals John S. Pixley	921
Par	t III Cell-Free Therapy Approach	945
32	Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Extracellular Vesicle Therapy in Patients with StrokeOh Young Bang, Eun Hee Kim, Gyeong Joon Moon, and Jae Min Cha	947
33	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome: A Potential Biopharmaceutical Component to Regenerative Medicine Bruna Araújo, Rita Caridade Silva, Sofia Domingues, António J. Salgado, and Fábio G. Teixeira	973
34	Exosome-Based Cell-Free Therapy in Regenerative Medicine for Myocardial Repair Khawaja Husnain Haider and Mustapha Najimi	1007
35	Current Trends and Future Outlooks of Dental Stem-Cell-Derived Secretome/Conditioned Medium in Regenerative Medicine Israa Ahmed Radwan, Dina Rady, Sara El Moshy, Marwa M. S. Abbass, Khadiga Mostafa Sadek, Aiah A. El-Rashidy, Azza Ezz El-Arab, and Karim M. Fawzy El-Sayed	1035
36	Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells M. O. Gomzikova, V. James, and A. A. Rizvanov	1071
37	Skeletal Muscle-Extricated Extracellular Vesicles: Facilitators of Repair and RegenerationLaura Yedigaryan and Maurilio Sampaolesi	1097
38	Regenerative Medicine Applied to the Treatment of Musculoskeletal Pathologies Alberto González-González, Daniel García-Sánchez, Ana Alfonso-Fernández, Khawaja Husnain Haider, José C. Rodríguez-Rey, and Flor M. Pérez-Campo	1123
Part	t IV Miscellaneous Aspects of Stem Cell Applications	1159
39	Common Ethical Considerations of Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Research Adekunle Ebenezer Omole, Adegbenro Omotuyi John Fakoya, Kinglsey Chinonyerem Nnawuba, and Khawaja Husnain Haider	1161

40	Response of the Bone Marrow Stem Cells and the Microenvironment to Stress Duygu Uçkan-Çetinkaya and Bihter Muratoğlu	1179
41	Advances, Opportunities, and Challenges in Stem Cell-Based Therapy Renata Szydlak	1229
42	The Stem Cell Continuum Model and Implications in Cancer Theo Borgovan, Ari Pelcovitz, Rani Chudasama, Tom Ollila, and Peter Queseneberry	1255
43	Toll-Like Receptor 3 Mohamed Mekhemar, Johannes Tölle, Christof Dörfer, and Karim M. Fawzy El-Sayed	1279
44	Targeting Cancer Stem Cells: New Perspectives for aCure to CancerBeatrice Aramini, Valentina Masciale, Giulia Grisendi,Federico Banchelli, Roberto D'Amico, Massimo Dominici, andKhawaja Husnain Haider	1303
45	Bioengineering Technique Progress of Direct Cardiac Reprogramming Dingqian Liu, Khawaja Husnain Haider, and Changfa Guo	1333
46	Future Perspectives of Exosomal Payload of miRNAs inLung Cancer	1367
47	Endothelial Progenitor Cells from Bench to Antitumor Therapy and Diagnostic Imaging Tiziana Annese, Roberto Tamma, and Domenico Ribatti	1389
48	Non-cryopreserved Peripheral Stem Cell Autograft for Multiple Myeloma and Lymphoma in Countries with Low Resources Mohamed Amine Bekadja	1421
49	A Multilevel Approach to the Causes of Genetic Instability in Stem Cells Elio A. Prieto Gonzalez	1445
Ind	ex	1499

About the Editor



Dr. Khawaja Husnain Haider is currently a Professor of Cellular and Molecular Pharmacology (Stem cells and Gene Therapy) and Chairman of the Basic Sciences Department (Medical Program) at Sulaiman AlRajhi University. He has also served as Principal Investigator (PI) and Co-PI on various NIH-funded stem cells research projects. He has been on the editorial boards of various research journals and has served as an invited reviewer for several respected international journals. His research focuses on the use of DNA, miRNAs, and stem cells as "drugs," a topic that has gained popularity in regenerative medicine. He has published more than 300 book chapters, abstracts, and research papers published in various books and leading research journals, including Circulation, Circulation Research, Cardiovascular Research, Journal Cellular and Molecular Medicine (JCMM), the Journal of Biological Chemistry, Cell Cycle, Basic Research in Cardiology, and Antioxidant Redox Signaling. He has also given numerous presentations and edited seven books covering various facets of stem cells and their applications from drug to drug development.

Section Editors



Maria Alvarez-Viejo

Unidad de Terapia Celular y Medicina Regenerativa, Servicio de Hematología y Hemoterapia Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias HUCA Instituto de Investigación Biosanitaria del Principado de Asturias and Universidad de Oviedo Asturias, Spain



Beatrice Aramini Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine–DIMES of the Alma Mater Studiorum University of Bologna, G.B. Morgagni–L. Pierantoni Hospital Forlì, Italy



Rony Atoui

Division of Cardiac Surgery, Health Sciences North Northern Ontario School of Medicine Sudbury, ON, Canada



Oh Young Bang Department of Neurology School of Medicine, Sungkyunkwan University Samsung Medical Center Seoul, Korea



Khawaja Husnain Haider Department of Basic Sciences Sulaiman AlRajhi University Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia



Mustapha Najimi

Laboratory of Pediatric Hepatology and Cell Therapy Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique (IREC) Université catholique de Louvain (UCLouvain) Brussels, Belgium



Elio Antonio Prieto González Centre for Advanced Studies in Humanities and Health Sciences Interamerican Open University Buenos Aires, Argentina

ISALUD University, Nutrition Career Buenos Aires, Argentina



S. Amer Riazuddin The Wilmer Eye Institute Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Baltimore, MD, USA

Contributors

Marwa M. S. Abbass Oral Biology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

A. M. Aimaletdinov Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia

Büşra Aktaş Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Burdur, Turkey

Ana Alfonso-Fernández Servicio de Cirugía Ortopédica y Traumatología, Hospital Universitario Marqués de Valdecilla, Santander, Cantabria, Spain

Muhammad Ali The Wilmer Eye Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Abdullah Murhaf Al-Khani Sulaiman AlRajhi Medical School, Al Bukairiyah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Sulaiman Alnasser Pharmacology and Toxicology Department, Unizah College of Pharmacy, Qassim University, Unaizah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Saleh F. Alqifari College of Pharmacy - Department of Pharmacy Practice, University of Tabuk, Tabuk, Saudi Arabia

Mabrouk AL-Rasheedi Al Bukayriah General Hospital, AlQassim, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Mateq A. Alreshidi Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukayriyah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Maria Alvarez-Viejo Unidad de Terapia Celular y Medicina Regenerativa, Servicio de Hematología y Hemoterapia, Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias HUCA, Instituto de Investigación Biosanitaria del Principado de Asturias, Universidad de Oviedo, Asturias, Spain **Tiziana Annese** Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Neurosciences and Sensory Organs, Section of Human Anatomy and Histology, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

Ming Zhang Ao Hua Zhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

Bruna Araújo Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Beatrice Aramini Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine–DIMES of the Alma Mater Studiorum, University of Bologna, G.B. Morgagni–L. Pierantoni Hospital, Forlì, Italy

Belma Aslım Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

Rony Atoui Division of Cardiac Surgery, Health Sciences North, Northern Ontario School of Medicine, Sudbury, ON, Canada

Saeed Azandeh Ahvaz Jundishapour University of Medical Sciences, Ahvaz, Iran

Vladimir Baklaushev Federal Research Clinical Center of Specialized Medical Care and Medical Technologies of the FMBA of Russia, Moscow, Russia

Federico Banchelli Center of Statistic, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

Oh Young Bang Department of Neurology, Samsung Medical Center, School of Medicine, Sungkyunkwan University, Seoul, South Korea

S&E Bio, Inc, Seoul, South Korea

Tiffany Barszczewski Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

Cellular and Regenerative Medicine Centre, BC Children's Hospital Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Derek Barthels Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Jerry H. Hodge School of Pharmacy, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, Amarillo, TX, USA

Francico J. Bedoya Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemical Engineering, University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain

Mohamed Amine Bekadja Department of Hematology and Stem Cell Therapy, Etablissement Hospitalier Universitaire 1st November, Ahmed Benbella 1 University, Oran, Algeria

Alexander E. Berezin Internal Medicine Department, State Medical University, Zaporozhye, Ukraine

Alexander A. Berezin Internal Medicine Department, Academy of Post-graduating Education, State Medical University, Zaporozhye, Ukraine

Kiran Kumar Bokara CSIR–Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology, Hyderabad, India

Theo Borgovan Division of Hematology and Oncology, Rhode Island Hospital, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

Patrick G. Burgon Department of Chemistry and Earth Sciences, College of Arts and Sciences, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar

Jae Min Cha Department of Mechatronics Engineering, College of Engineering, Incheon National University, Incheon, South Korea

3D Stem Cell Bioengineering Laboratory, Research Institute for Engineering and Technology, Incheon National University, Incheon, South Korea

Weyland Cheng Children's Hospital Affiliated to Zhengzhou University, Henan Children's Hospital, Zhengzhou Children's Hospital, Zhengzhou, China

Rani Chudasama Division of Hematology and Oncology, Rhode Island Hospital, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

Roberto D'Amico Center of Statistic, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

Ekta Dagar CSIR-Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology, Hyderabad, India

Hiranmoy Das Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Jerry H. Hodge School of Pharmacy, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, Amarillo, TX, USA

Sanat Kumar Dash Department of Mechanical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology-Madras, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Sofia Domingues Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Massimo Dominici Division of Oncology, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

Christof Dörfer Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian-Albrecht's University, Kiel, Germany

Maria Dubrovcakova Biomedical Center, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia

Sara El Moshy Oral Biology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Aiah A. El-Rashidy Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Biomaterials Department, Faculty Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Azza Ezz El-Arab Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Oral Medicine and Periodontology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Adegbenro Omotuyi John Fakoya Department of Anatomical Sciences, University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Basseterre, Saint Kitts and Nevis

Karim M. Fawzy El-Sayed Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Oral Medicine and Periodontology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian Albrechts University, Kiel, Germany

Michael G. Fehlings Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Daniel García-Sánchez Grupo de Ingeniería de Tejidos de Cantabria, Dpto. Biología Molecular, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Cantabria-IDIVAL, Santander, Cantabria, Spain

Anneh Mohammad Gharravi Shahroud University of Medical Sciences, Shahroud, Iran

Mohammad Reza Gholami Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran

M. O. Gomzikova Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia

Alberto González-González Grupo de Ingeniería de Tejidos de Cantabria, Dpto. Biología Molecular, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Cantabria-IDIVAL, Santander, Cantabria, Spain

Kavitha Govarthanan MK BHAN Young Research Fellow, Centre for Cardiovascular Biology and Disease, Institute for Stem Cell Sciences and Regenerative Medicine (inStem), Bengaluru, Karnataka, India

Giulia Grisendi Division of Oncology, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

Changfa Guo Department of Cardiac Surgery, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, People's Republic of China

Piyush Kumar Gupta Department of Life Sciences, School of Basic Sciences and Research, Sharda University, Greater Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

Department of Biotechnology, Graphic Era Deemed to be University, Dehradun, Uttarakhand, India

Khawaja Husnain Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia

Carl Randall Harrell Regenerative Processing Plant, LLC, Palm Harbor, FL, USA

Abdelkrim Hmadcha Department of Biotechnology, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain

University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain

V. James School of Veterinary Medicine and Science, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK

Marc G. Jeschke Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Ross Tilley Burn Centre, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, ON, Canada

Mohamed Kamal Pharmacology and Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, The British University in Egypt (BUE), Cairo, Egypt

Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

Faculty of Pharmacy, Center for Drug Research and Development, The British University in Egypt (BUE), Cairo, Egypt

Dina Kassem Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

Mohamed Abdelghafour Khalifa Sulaiman AlRajhi Medical School, Al Bukairiyah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Shahid Y. Khan The Wilmer Eye Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Mohamad Khazaei Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Eun Hee Kim S&E Bio, Inc, Seoul, South Korea

Oleg Knyazev Department of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, Moscow Clinical Scientific Center Named After A. S. Loginov, Moscow, Russia

Department of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, State Scientific Centre of Coloproctology Named After A. N. Ryzhih, Moscow, Russia

Mikhail Konoplyannikov Federal Research Clinical Center of Specialized Medical Care and Medical Technologies of the FMBA of Russia, Moscow, Russia

Department of Advanced Biomaterials, Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia

Jan Lakota Centre of Experimental Medicine, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia

Faculty of Management, Comenius University, Bratislava, Slovakia

Danlin M. Law Cell Therapy Institute, Wuhan, China

Daniel Law Jia Xian Centre for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine (CTERM), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre (UKMMC), Jalan Yaacob Latif, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Peter K. Law Cell and Gene Therapies, Cell Therapy Institute, Wuhan, China Department of Oncology, Renmin Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Qiaoyun Li Zhengzhou University, Henan, China

Wenbin Li Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Lisa Lin Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

Dingqian Liu Department of Cardiac Surgery, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, People's Republic of China

Qi Hao Looi Future Cytohealth Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Ping Lu Cell Therapy Institute, Wuhan, China

Jian-Hua Ma Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

A. G. Malanyeva Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia

Valentina Masciale Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

William Brett McIntyre Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Mohamed Mekhemar Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian-Albrecht's University, Kiel, Germany

Ayşegül Mendi Faculty of Dentistry Department of Basic Sciences, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

Gyeong Joon Moon AMC Stem Cell Center, Asan Medical Center, Seoul, South Korea

Department of Convergence Medicine, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

Bihter Muratoğlu Center for Stem Cell Research and Development (PEDI-STEM), Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Stem Cell Sciences, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Mustapha Najimi Laboratory of Pediatric Hepatology and Cell Therapy, Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique (IREC), Université catholique de Louvain (UCLouvain), Brussels, Belgium

Min Hwei Ng Centre for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine (CTERM), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre (UKMMC), Jalan Yaacob Latif, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Kinglsey Chinonyerem Nnawuba Department of Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, Caribbean Medical University, Willemstad, Curaçao

Edward Hosea Ntege Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa, Japan

Tom Ollila Division of Hematology and Oncology, Rhode Island Hospital, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

Adekunle Ebenezer Omole Department of Anatomical Sciences, American University of Antigua College of Medicine, St. John's, Antigua and Barbuda

Yash Parekh CSIR-Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology, Hyderabad, India

Ari Pelcovitz Division of Hematology and Oncology, Rhode Island Hospital, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

Flor M. Pérez-Campo Grupo de Ingeniería de Tejidos de Cantabria, Dpto. Biología Molecular, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Cantabria-IDIVAL, Santander, Cantabria, Spain

Katarzyna Pieczonka Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

John S. Pixley Texas Tech University Health Science Center, Lubbock, TX, USA

Elio A. Prieto Gonzalez Centre for Advanced Studies in Humanities and Health Sciences, Interamerican Open University, Buenos Aires, Argentina

ISALUD University, Nutrition Career, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Peter Queseneberry Division of Hematology and Oncology, Rhode Island Hospital, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

Israa Ahmed Radwan Oral Biology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Dina Rady Oral Biology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

M. Rajasundari Centre for Advanced Research (Stem Cells), Government Stanley Hospital, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Jun Ren Tong Ren Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Mathieu Rheault-Henry Division of Cardiac Surgery, Health Sciences North, Northern Ontario School of Medicine, Sudbury, ON, Canada

S. Amer Riazuddin The Wilmer Eye Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Domenico Ribatti Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Neurosciences and Sensory Organs, Section of Human Anatomy and Histology, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

A. A. Rizvanov Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia

José C. Rodríguez-Rey Grupo de Ingeniería de Tejidos de Cantabria, Dpto. Biología Molecular, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Cantabria-IDIVAL, Santander, Cantabria, Spain

C. S. Rutland Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, School of Veterinary Medicine and Science, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK

Khadiga Mostafa Sadek Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Biomaterials Department, Faculty Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

António J. Salgado Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Maurilio Sampaolesi Translational Cardiomyology Laboratory, Stem Cell and Developmental Biology, Department of Development and Regeneration, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Histology and Medical Embryology Unit, Department of Anatomy, Histology, Forensic Medicine and Orthopaedics, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Nihal Satyadev Department of Anatomical Sciences, University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Basseterre, Saint Kitts and Nevis

Jose Miguel Sempere-Ortells Department of Biotechnology, Immunology Division, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain

Vineeta Sharma Department of Biotechnology, Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai, Tamilnadu, India

Qizhong Shi Xinxiang Medical University, Henan, China

Yusuke Shimizu Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa, Japan

Rita Caridade Silva Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Tarik Smani Cardiovascular Pathophysiology, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville (IBiS), University Hospital of Virgen del Rocío/University of Seville/CSIC, Seville, Spain

Department of Medical Physiology and Biophysics, University of Seville, Seville, Spain

Biomedical Research Networking Centers of Cardiovascular Diseases (CIBERCV), Madrid, Spain

Tarik Smani Cardiovascular Pathophysiology, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville, University Hospital of Virgen del Rocío/University of Seville/CSIC, Seville, Spain

Qibin Song Renmin Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Shi Jun Song Xinxiang Medical University, Henan, China

Bernat Soria University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Department of Physiology, Institute of Bioengineering-Alicante Institute for Health and Biomedical Research (ISABIAL), University Miguel Hernández School of Medicine, Alicante, Spain

Li-ping Su Biomedical Engineering, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama, USA

Nadiah Sulaiman Centre for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine (CTERM), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre (UKMMC), Jalan Yaacob Latif, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Hiroshi Sunami Center for Advanced Medical Research, School of Medicine, University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa, Japan

Renata Szydlak Faculty of Medicine, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Krakow, Poland

Roberto Tamma Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Neurosciences and Sensory Organs, Section of Human Anatomy and Histology, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

Yong Sheng Tan Cardiothoracic Department, Serdang Hospital, Kajang, Selangor, Malaysia

Fábio G. Teixeira Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

ICVS/3B's - PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimaraes, Portugal

Juan R. Tejedo Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemical Engineering, University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain

Glen F. Tibbits Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

Cellular and Regenerative Medicine Centre, BC Children's Hospital Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Peter Timashev Department of Advanced Biomaterials, Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia

Laboratory of Clinical Smart Nanotechnologies, Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia

Department of Polymers and Composites, N. N. Semenov Institute of Chemical Physics, Moscow, Russia

Chemistry Department, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

Johannes Tölle Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian-Albrecht's University, Kiel, Germany

Duygu Uçkan-Çetinkaya Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Hematology, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Center for Stem Cell Research and Development (PEDI-STEM), Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Stem Cell Sciences, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Roohi Vinaik Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

Ana Volarevic Department of Cognitive Psychology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia

Vladislav Volarevic Department of Genetics and Department of Microbiology and immunology, Center for Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia

Jing Wang Renmin Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Keqiang Wang Xinxiang Medical University, Henan, China

Ian White Division of Cardiac Surgery, Health Sciences North, Northern Ontario School of Medicine, Sudbury, ON, Canada

Darius Widera Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine Group, School of Pharmacy, University of Reading, Reading, UK

Manye Yao Children's Hospital Affiliated to Zhengzhou University, Henan Children's Hospital, Zhengzhou Children's Hospital, Zhengzhou, China

Lei Ye Biomedical Engineering, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama, USA

Laura Yedigaryan Translational Cardiomyology Laboratory, Stem Cell and Developmental Biology, Department of Development and Regeneration, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

E. Zakirova Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia

Robert Chunhua Zhao Institute of Basic Medical Sciences Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, School of Basic Medicine Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

Department of Cell Biology, School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University, Shanghai, China

Binita E. Zipporah Department of Biotechnology, Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai, Tamilnadu, India

Part I

Cell-Based Therapy Approach: Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy



Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Art to Use Them in the Treatment of Previously Untreatable

Jan Lakota, Maria Dubrovcakova, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	4
Mesenchymal Stem Cells Current Status: The "Problems" That in Reality Do Not	
Exist	5
Practical Approaches: The Golden Standards, i.e., "Good Biological Praxis" (GBP) Using	
the Historical Laboratory Experience	5
Data Extrapolation from Small Animal Studies to Humans Is Unfounded and Without	
Relevance	6
Current Research Paradigm: MSCs in Advanced Phases of Clinical Trials Although	
Understandable Is Far from Personalized Medicine	8
A Case of Autologous Versus Allogeneic MSCs, an Unanswered Question	11
Quality Control of MSCs Preparation: A Prerequisite for Optimal Prognosis	16
Conclusion	17
References	17

Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) can be isolated from almost all organs and tissues in the human body. For practical purposes, there are two main sources for their isolation and ex vivo expansion – the bone marrow and fat tissue. Based on their inherent plastic adherence properties, the ex vivo expansion of

J. Lakota (🖂)

M. Dubrovcakova Biomedical Center, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia e-mail: exonmadu@savba.sk

K. H. Haider

Centre of Experimental Medicine, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia

Faculty of Management, Comenius University, Bratislava, Slovakia e-mail: jan.lakota@savba.sk

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_1

MSCs is a rather simple process. Nevertheless, the biological features (gained from decades of tissue culture experience) are contrary to bureaucratic rules, which govern the good laboratory practice. MSCs cannot be successfully used in the treatment of human diseases if they are not handled optimally akin to the conditions in their natural habitat. Moreover, extrapolation of the data obtained from animal studies (mainly rodents) to humans is unfounded and with little relevance. The therapeutic use of genetically manipulated MSCs in human can be even harmful to patients. The current research paradigm, i.e., the use of MSCs in advanced phases of clinical trials although understandable, is far from personalized medical approach. The use of allogeneic versus autologous MSC in the clinical perspective is still debatable. There is growing evidence that the autologous MSCs derived from sick patients are "ill" in contrast to MSCs derived from healthy allogeneic donors. One can observe various changes at the DNA, RNA, and protein level in these "ill" cells. However, the huge number of cells from ex vivo expanded autologous MSCs can, possibly, overcome these aberrations. The off-the-shelf availability of allogenic MSCs also contributes to their logistic superiority over autologous cells. Moreover, due to almost non-existing immunological barriers, allogenic MSCs are emerging as gold standard and near-optimal cell types for the treatment of various diseases in humans. This chapter reviews the authors experience(s) in the treatment of various diseases with autologous/allogenic MSCs handled optimally ex vivo.

Keywords

Adipose tissue · Allogeneic · Autologous · Bone marrow · Ex vivo · Good biological praxis (GBP) · Human disease · MSCs · Treatment

List of Abbreviations			
DMEM-LG	Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium, low glucose		
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practices		
GVDH	Graft-versus-host disease		
LG	Low glucose		
LVAD	Left ventricular assist device		
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells		
NYHA	New York Heart Association		

Introduction

The paper of Koç (Koç et al. 2000) symbolically "opened the door" for the mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in the third millennium. Here, the authors reported about the autologous blood stem cells and in tissue culture (in vitro or ex vivo) expanded bone marrow-derived MSCs in advanced breast cancer patients receiving high-dose chemotherapy. Since then, an enormous amount of material has been published (Musiał-Wysocka et al. 2019). Coming down to the molecular level, our

knowledge each day is growing exponentially. Nevertheless, the primary question remains: What is the "therapeutic mechanism" of the applied MSCs? We call this effect as "posthypnagogic command." After the treatment with MSCs, the effect of healing is present for months, without the proven presence of MSCs. We are not coming in detail here; the reader could educate himself in the enormous amount of literature.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells Current Status: The "Problems" That in Reality Do Not Exist

Practical Approaches: The Golden Standards, i.e., "Good Biological Praxis" (GBP) Using the Historical Laboratory Experience

In our opinion, it is useful to repeat the whole procedure of ex vivo expansion in detail as it has been described in part "Ex Vivo MSCs Culture" (Koç et al. 2000): "Mononuclear cells (from bone marrow) were re-suspended at 10⁶ cells/mL in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium, low glucose (DMEM-LG) with 10% fetal bovine serum and 30 mL of cell suspension was plated in a 175 cm² flask. MSCs were cultured in humidified incubators with 5% CO2 and initially allowed to adhere for 72 h, followed by media change every 3-4 days. When cultures reached more than 90% confluence, adherent cells were detached with 0.05% trypsin-EDTA." Later, additional characterizations and refinement added some regulatory rules. These ex vivo expanded MSCs fulfilled the criteria provided (later) by the International Society for Cellular Therapy (Horwitz et al. 2005). Briefly, MSCs are defined by their plastic-adherent properties under standard culture conditions, by their ability to differentiate into osteocytes, adipocytes, and chondrocytes in vitro under a specific stimulus and by positive (CD105, CD73, and CD90) or negative (CD45, CD34, CD14, and HLA-DR) expression of specific surface markers. There are two main sources for their isolation and ex vivo expansion for practical purposes - the bone marrow and the fat tissue. This ex vivo expansion of MSCs is a rather simple process based on their inherent plastic adherence properties. The pilot paper by Le Blanc et al. (2004) described the use of "third party" (here – haploidentical) MSCs for transplantation in a patient with severe treatment-resistant grade IV acute graft versus host disease (GVHD) of the gut and liver after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. For decades, two organs (or tissues), i.e., bone marrow and fatty tissue, were the primary sources for the isolation and ex vivo expansion of MSCs. The task of using allogeneic MSCs (obtained from healthy donors) or autologous MSCs in clinical settings will be discussed later.

MSCs cannot be successfully used to treat human diseases if they are not handled optimally akin to the conditions in their natural habitat. Let us discuss this in depth. As an example, we will consider the research paper published by Yau and colleagues (Yau et al. 2019). The authors claimed that "among patients with advanced heart failure, intramyocardial injection of mesenchymal precursor cells, as compared with the injections of a cryoprotective medium as sham treatment, did not improve successful temporary weaning from left ventricular assist device (LVAD) support

at 6 months. These findings do not support the use of intramyocardial MSCs to promote cardiac recovery as measured by temporary weaning from device support." According to the authors, the patients were randomly assigned to cell therapy group who received intramyocardial injection of 150 million MSCs and a cryoprotective medium treatment group without cells for comparison. The allogeneic MSCs were obtained from healthy donors and expanded in a Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) certified laboratory. It is evident that the cells were thawed directly before use ("injections of mesenchymal precursor cells, compared to injections of a cryoprotective medium as sham treatment"). The cells were neither washed nor cultivated further for expansion before use. In the opinion of the authors that it is mandatory to use the MSCs that have been freshly prepared and not frozen or thawed immediately before use.

After decades of expanding the MSCs (and other cells) ex vivo (in vitro), we firmly stand behind this point of view. After thawing, the cells need to be cultured at least for 48 h in humidified incubators supplemented with 5% CO₂. Only after this wait period, one should start to consider further experimental (or therapeutic) work using these cells. On the other hand, one can consider growing the cells ex vivo, detaching them when 80% confluent and applying them to the patient in a short time (up to 3 h at room temperature). The practice to use freshly thawed cells (MSCs) makes the abovementioned study (and others in this fashion designed trials) from the biological point of view rather dubious and medically useless.

It should be noted that the number of skeptical articles and comments about the relevance of the MSCs for cell-based therapy is growing (Gomez-Salazar et al. 2020; Curfman 2019). We strongly disagree with the emerging notion. In our opinion, it is necessary to return to the laboratory and to give the MSCs a "second chance" by consequently following the GBP developed during the decades of cell tissue culturing in vitro. We recommend returning to the praxis of small tissue culture centers associated with (or localized within) the hospitals. In coordination with the hospital departments, they could prepare fresh MSCs, which would be "on demand" prepared for use and treat the patients. Logistically, to prepare a total of $20-50 \times 10^6$ cells is not a difficult task. One skilled technician could obtain this amount under sterile conditions in 1-2 h. What about the tests for the differentiation and of sterility? Well, yes, one can ask a heretical, unorthodox question: Did anybody ever observe that the MSCs in vitro did not differentiate to osteoclasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes during appropriate treatment? This has been further discussed elsewhere in the chapter.

Data Extrapolation from Small Animal Studies to Humans Is Unfounded and Without Relevance

The therapeutic use of genetically manipulated MSCs in humans is even harmful to patients. The engineered ("therapeutic") MSCs are genetically modified MSCs that contain a stable gene encoding for protein or enzyme product/s able to kill the tumor cells. A typical example of such a construct is the yeast enzyme cytosine deaminase,

which converts the rather nontoxic 5-fluorocytosine to the cytostatic agent 5-fluorouracil (Kucerova et al. 2007). The results obtained from rodents, i.e., preclinical experimental models, are promising. In a recently published review article, Pawitan and colleagues have stated: "So far, most studies using pre-clinical cancer models have shown consistent results, i.e., the engineered MSCs could inhibit tumor growth and enhance the survival rate of the tumor-bearing animals" (Pawitan et al. 2020). And only one published clinical paper by Lakota et al. (2015) claims the opposite: "Treatment with therapeutic MSCs (i.e., genetically engineered MSCs) of this patient highlighted the following points" (Table 1):

- There was no evidence of any therapeutic benefit after intravenous administration (not local, i.e., intra-tumoral injection) of the therapeutic MSCs. Six days after the cell administration, the metastatic process did not show any signs of regression. Moreover, 40 days after the treatment, there was a progression of the metastases.
- 2. After the intravenous administration, the therapeutic MSCs were probably "homing" into the bone marrow despite their adipose tissue of origin. Even a relatively low cell count $(60x10^6)$ was able to cause grade 2 (resp. grade 3) thromobocytopenia (resp. neutropenia)

It should be noted that this patient did not receive any systemic chemotherapy in the past. The observed bicytopenia with a nadir neutropenia occurred 48 h after administering therapeutic MSCs (with concomitant prodrug administration). Moreover, in a more recently published paper by Lakota (2018), the author claims that:

- (i) There was no sign of any therapeutic effect after intravenous administration (not local, i.e., intra-tumoral) of the "therapeutic" MSCs.
- (ii) After the intravenous administration, the "therapeutic" MSCs were "homing" into the bone marrow.
- (iii) There has not been any entrapment of the "therapeutic" MSCs in the lungs (after the intravenous administration).

	Leukocytes	Neutrophils	Erythrocytes	Hb	Plt
Day	$(\times 10^{-12}/l)$	$(\times 10^{-12}/l)$	$(\times 10^{-15}/l)$	(g/l)	$(\times 10^{-14}/l)$
-2	6.88	4.86	4.41	134	179
0	5.82	3.98	3.71	119	150
+1	4.06	3.41	3.80	119	119
+2	1.99	1.00	3.41	112	100
+3	2.89	1.58	3.72	117	115
+4	3.50	2.16	3.72	115	122
+5	4.50	2.98	3.79	118	129
+6	4.29	2.63	3.89	121	132
+18	6.57	4.66	4.06	125	191

Table 1 Blood counts of the patient with head and neck tumor during and after the therapy withtherapeutic MSCs. (The table is taken from Lakota et al. 2015)

(iv) After local (i.e., in situ) administration, the "therapeutic" MSCs did not migrate to any "neighboring" tissue/organ (the liver, retroperitoneum, abdominal wall) or other distant organs, including the bone marrow.

Thus, the data obtained from small experimental animal models (mice and rats) must not be extrapolated to the humans. Moreover, the unrestrained transfer (although understandable) of the requisitioned data obtained with the MSCs from rodents may negatively influence the research trends in the novel treatment(s) of human diseases. This kind of treatment of human patients is ineffective and can be harmful and dangerous. The systemically administered therapeutic MSCs are rather homing into the patients' bone marrow and not into the tumor tissues. After local application (in the tumor area), their ability to destroy the whole tumor or its metastasis is limited. Nor they are moving to other metastatic tumor localizations.

Current Research Paradigm: MSCs in Advanced Phases of Clinical Trials Although Understandable Is Far from Personalized Medicine

Current praxis is treating human diseases based on evidence-based medicine (Masic et al. 2008, and the Internet). Clinical trials are the cornerstone to assess novel disease treatment(s), and among the clinical trials, randomized clinical trials are considered as the most preferred design as it provides a causal relationship between the medical intervention and the desired effects (Sawchik et al. 2018). A pertinent question here is: Is the same approach valid for MSCs which is fast emerging as a biopharmaceutical? Here we present some of our (published and unpublished) data none of which has been acquired in any registered trial. All of these data were obtained according to the rules of personalized medicine.

- (i) Autologous bone marrow-derived MSCs were used for transplantation in ten patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy (Lakota 2014a). All patients had a welldocumented history of anterior wall acute myocardial infarction. They were in NYHA stage III or IV. The freshly prepared MSCs were injected into the left anterior descending coronary artery. All of the patients tolerated the MSCs injection well and were discharged from the hospital 3–4 days after the procedure. Six patients died 7, 9, 37, 71, 101, and 119 months after the procedure. Four patients were alive 112, 113, 120, and 121 months after the MSCs-based treatment.
- (ii) The allogeneic adipose tissue-derived MSCs were used for the treatment of the patient with 11 years history of ulcus cruris on his left leg, which remained stationary despite trials of conservative treatment (Lakota 2014b). The adipose tissue-derived MSCs (30×10^6) were applied locally (circumferentially). After a single round of MSCs treatment, the ulcus healing progressed "normally" despite repeated courses of standard and high-dose chemotherapy for patient's oncological diagnosis (high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma). The final effect, i.e., restitutio ad integrum, has been observed during 6 months after



Fig. 1 Healing of the ulcus cruris after local application of MSCs. (a) 11/2012, day after application; (b) 02/2013, d + 25 after autologous stem cell transplantation; and (c) 05/2013. (The figure is taken from Lakota (2014b))

the MSCs-based treatment (Fig. 1). This course of healing did not differ from the patients with ulcus cruris who received allogeneic or autologous MSCs and who did not receive any chemotherapy (Lakota, unpublished).

- (iii) Ten patients after allogeneic stem cell transplantation (high-dose therapy for hematological malignant disease) and with severe steroid-resistant grade IV acute GvHD were treated with allogeneic bone marrow-derived MSCs (range $0.3-0.5 \times 10^6$ MSCs/kg body weight) (Lakota 2017a). GvHD was successfully resolved in four patients who received MSCs-based therapy (Table 2). In the end, the author claimed: "Moreover, it seems plausible to have the MSCs 'in stock' for fast *ex vivo* expansion to use the freshly prepared cells (rather than frozen, thawed, and immediately used)."
- (iv) The autologous bone marrow-derived MSCs and allogeneic adipose tissuederived MSCs were used to treat aseptic necrosis of the jaw. The treatment was performed in 30 patients over a period of 15 years. Freshly prepared MSCs (20×10^6) from the respective tissues were applied locally. In five patients, MSCs were used twice. The result was a restitutio ad integrum (Fig. 2) (Lakota, unpublished data and Lakota 2017b, in Slovak).
- (v) The allogeneic adipose tissue-derived MSCs were used for the treatment of ten patients with sclerosis multiplex. The target dose has been 0.5×10^6 cells/kg bodyweight. The patients were advised not to stop current "official" treatment. Freshly prepared MSCs were delivered intravenously. No adverse effects were observed. The CNS lesions in all patients but one did not progress during 15 years of follow-up after MSCs-based cell therapy (Lakota, unpublished data).

We did not mention all the data obtained by the authors during the last two decades involving MSCs-based cell therapy. The authors never performed any double-blind randomized clinical trials due to logistic and economic reasons. In our hands, personalized medicine and the medical treatment followed the golden rule: "primum non nocere." We followed the aim and principle of helping the sick

Table 2Patienhaploidentical tr	nts' characteris ansplantation;	stics, date o RI Tx: redu	f transplantation, teed intensity cor	, date of MSCs infus aditioning transplanta	tion, date of the patien (The table is take	ts' death, and t n from Lakota 2	he reason of death. (Haple 2017a)	o Tx: HLA
Patient No	Gender	Born	Diagnosis	Transplantation	MSC infusion	Death	Reason of death	Comment
1	Σ	1971	AML	16.03.04	d + 206	09.11.04	cGvHD	
2	Σ	1976	HD	30.01.05	d + 1	14.02.05	aGvHD	Haplo Tx
3	Σ	1971	ALL	13.12.05	d + 9	05.04.06	Disease progression	
4	F	1970	Ph-CML	26.04.07	d + 33	I	Alive (31.12.16)	
5	F	1978	HD	13.10.09	d + 60, d + 80	23.02.10	aGvHD	RI Tx
6	Σ	1969	ALL	23.02.10	d + 168	16.08.10	cGvHD	
7	F	1973	HD	21.10.10	d + 92, d + 178	22.09.11	Infection	HaploTx
8	M	1987	HD	18.10.11	d + 43	09.04.13	Disease progression	RI Tx

. (Haplo Tx: HLA	
' death, and the reason of death.	from Lakota 2017a)
date of the patients'	. (The table is taken
date of MSCs infusion,	litioning transplantation)
date of transplantation,	x: reduced intensity cond
ttients' characteristics,	al transplantation; RI T
able 2 $P_{\hat{a}}$	uploidentic.


Fig. 2 Healing of the osteonecrosis of the jaw after local application of MSCs. Left: during the surgery; right: 12 weeks after the surgery. (The figure is taken from Lakota 2017b)

and suffering patients in concert to see how serpentine can be the road to establish a new treatment in medicine. It is worth mentioning the following observation. In 2004, Vulliet and colleagues published an interesting research paper of using MSCs in a healthy dog (Vulliet et al. 2004). The authors delivered 0.5 million MSCs/kg bodyweight into the canine left circumference coronary artery. The authors observed ECG changes (ST-segment elevation) in all dogs receiving cell administration which was a characteristic of acute myocardial ischemia. Besides microscopic and macroscopic evidence of myocardial ischemia, the authors also observed increased troponin I in two dogs in which measurements were made. These data suggested that myocardial ischemia occurred after the injection of MSCs at the dose used in this study. Microinfarction was also confirmed with histological and immunocytochemical data.

These results showed a potential complication of injecting MSCs, or probably any similarly sized cell, into the coronary circulation. Although differences between canine and human coronary circulation exist, and different cell types and sizes have been used for selected cytotherapeutic applications, this potential complication should be thoroughly investigated before MSCs are routinely injected into the arterial circulation of the patients. Luckily for us (Lakota 2014a) and for the patients at the time of publishing this paper (Vulliet et al. 2004) as we became aware of that we performed three intracoronary MSCs transplants and three other patients were "on the horizon." Thus, this is another confirmation of how dubious the translation of "(pseudo)clinical" data obtained on animals to human clinics is. Two recently published reviews in this regard have elegantly discussed the donor-related factors and quality of the cell preparation as the possible determinants of the outcome of cell-based therapy in the clinics (Haider 2018; Rady et al. 2020).

A Case of Autologous Versus Allogeneic MSCs, an Unanswered Question

One of the ongoing and inconclusive debates in cell-based therapy is the preference for autologous over allogeneic MSCs. However, the use of allogeneic MSCs for cell-based therapy is fast emerging as a new paradigm in therapeutics (Karantalis et al. 2016). Starting with the pioneering work of Orlic et al. (2001), preclinical studies have characterized syngeneic, xenogenic, allogeneic, and autologous MSCs; however, most of these studies, especially in the small animals, i.e., mice, rats, etc., have focused on the use of allogenic MSCs due to ease of availability (Orlic et al. 2001, Fukuda and Fujita 2005; Jiang et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008; Beitnes et al. 2012). Similarly, in large animal translational studies, autologous and allogeneic MSCs have been used without any safety issues with either cell type (Poh et al. 2007; Quevedoa et al. 2009; Chen et al. 2014). But then the question remains why these data have been ignored while designing the clinical trials wherein mostly autologous MSCs have been focused on cell-based studies.

As evidenced by a systematic review and meta-analysis of 82 animal studies involving 1482 animals that both autologous and allogeneic cells are equally effective (Jansen of Lorkeers et al. 2015), but they have their respective advantages and limitations in the clinical perspective. Hence, the clinical researchers should give these parameters due consideration during clinical study design for optimal therapeutic outcomes. The following section discusses in depth the pros and cons of each cell source in the light of the published data and implores that the relevant information should be given due consideration, especially during the design of clinical studies.

A Case for Autologous Cells

On its face, the fear of incompatibility is alleviated with the use of autologous cells. Hence, autologous cells' usage is advantageous as it does not require immunosuppression to support the acceptance of the transplanted cells and their derivative tissue after differentiation posttransplantation. Moreover, treatment with autologous cells is considered a step closer to the fast-emerging personalized medicine. However, on the downside of autologous cell-based therapy, the use of autologous cells is time-consuming and labor-intensive exercise, and clinically less viable option, as it may necessitate biobanking of autologous cells for future use of the cells for every individual. On the same note, it is also not sustainable for diseases where the patient may require early intervention, i.e., myocardial infarction, stroke, etc., and the patient does not have the choice of long waiting time until the harvested cells can be purified and expanded to achieve the required cell number for transplantation. Some essential considerations in case autologous cells are as follows:

Autologous Cells from Patients Are Also "sick"

There is growing evidence that the autologous cells derived from the patients eligible for the cell-based treatment are "sick" compared to the ones derived from healthy allogeneic donors due to their exposure to different risk factors and comorbidities in the "sick" donors (Dimmeler and Leri 2008; Cesselli et al. 2011). Moreover, it is now well-documented that many diseases compromise the stem cell niche homeostasis and seriously affect stem cell properties such that they are rendered unsuitable for cell-based therapy (Perez et al. 2018). For example, Liu et al. have shown that MSCs from diabetic patients have impaired cardioprotective function as compared to the

ones derived from the healthy donors, which was ascribed to the long-term exposure to hyperglycemia (Liu et al. 2013).

We have performed RNA microarray analysis comparing MSCs from two patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and two healthy donors (Lakota 2014a). Data analyses showed a significantly enhanced gene expression ratio for STAT1 α/β (signal transducer and activator of transcription 1-alpha/beta) and ISG15 (ISG15 or g1p2 or ucrp; ubiquitin cross-reactive protein). The decreased ratio of gene expression has been shown for GTP-binding protein RAD. The first analyzed patient died 101 months after the procedure. The second one was alive 120+ months after the procedure.

It should be noted that the MSCs in all patients treated were isolated from their bone marrow. This data clearly shows that ischemic cardiomyopathy is a "systemic" disease. One can speculate about the following fact: How is it possible that the patients with this "damaged" RNA profile in MSCs survived such a long time after the procedure, i.e., such "sick" MSCs were able to repair the damaged myocardium?

Autologous Cells in Elderly Patients Are Also Aged

Another critical aspect generally overlooked during the use of autologous cells is the donor age besides the age of the recipient. A considerable majority of the patient population who are candidates for cell-based therapy are elderly. Using their own (autologous) cells for cell-based therapy and transplanting them back into an aging tissue environment (which has lost the vigor of reparability due to chronological aging) accounts to double negative that significantly hampers the therapeutic outcome (Zhuo et al. 2010).

It is pertinent to mention that similar to any other body cell, stem cells also undergo chronological aging, which is multifactorial, i.e., metabolic alteration, accumulation of reactive oxygen species, accumulation of DNA damage and mutations, telomere shortening, etc. (Oh et al. 2014; Schultz and Sinclair 2016). These metabolic and molecular-level changes lead to loss of their stemness characteristics with age, which is reflected in the impairment of their functionality (Kissel et al. 2007; Bustos et al. 2014). Moreover, chronological aging also leads to a significant reduction in stem cells (Maijenburg et al. 2012). Stenderup et al. carried out a direct in vitro comparison of bone marrow-derived MSCs from young donors (18-29-yearold, n = 6) versus elderly donors (68–81-year-old, n = 5) (Stenderup et al. 2003). The authors compared the cells for the expression of senescence markers, cell growth, and differentiation potential. It was observed that the cells from elderly donors showed significantly reduced maximal life span in terms of population doublings (PD) and PD rate, and accelerated senescence as evidenced by betagalactosidase expression as a marker. Similarly, a comparison of bone marrowderived MSCs from human donors (17–90 years age) showed a significant increase in doubling time beside increased expression of senescence markers with the advancing age of the donor (Zhou et al. 2008).

Chronological aging and obesity also cause a decline in stem cell yield and their ability to hematopoiesis and bone regeneration (Pachon-Pena et al. 2016, Ambrosi et al. 2017). Therefore, it is essential that clinical researchers consider the

consequence of donor age while opting for autologous cell sources (Stolzinga et al. 2008). A direct comparison of the reparability of bone marrow-derived MSCs showed that the rate of old donor bone marrow-derived MSCs had poor cardiomyogenic differentiation potential as compared to the MSCs derived from young donor bone marrow (Jiang et al. 2008). For comparison, the cells were transplanted in the same heart in an experimental animal model of acute myocardial infarction. Khan et al. showed that the reparability of the senescent myocardium is determined by the age of the donor (Khan et al. 2011). All these data signify that MSCs from aging patients show a drastic loss of their biological activity and bring us to an important question if the use of autologous is the real culprit for the modest outcome of the clinical trials reported to date (Shahid et al. 2016).

A Case for Allogeneic Cells

Data emanating from the clinical studies have shown the safety and efficacy of allogeneic MSCs in adult and pediatric patients (Koc et al. 2002; Horwitz et al. 2002). Recent clinical application of allogeneic MSCs in ischemic cardiomyopathy patients vindicated these data and reported that allogeneic MSCs were as good as autologous MSCs in their functionality and efficacy, favorably affecting LV end-diastolic volumes, LVEF, and ventricular remodeling leading to improved quality of life (Hare et al. 2012, 2017). More importantly, these studies did not report any severe adverse reactions associated with the cell-based therapy with allogeneic cells, including immunologic responses. The safety profile of allogenic MSCs has also been substantiated during a systematic review and meta-analysis of 36 clinical studies, including 1012 participants (Lalu et al. 2012). Experimental studies assessing immunological profiling of MSCs have shown that although they are not immunopriviledged, allogeneic MSCs are weakly immunogenic, because they lack MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules, i.e., CD40, CD80, and CD86, while they have weak MHC class I expression (Machado et al. 2013; Lohan et al. 2014). Moreover, they do show immunomodulation by suppressing the activation and proliferation of immune cells (Asari et al. 2009; Corcione et al. 2006). Their interesting immune profile tips them as a good candidate for cell-based therapy without the need for immunosuppression therapy and takes care of them not being "self" for the recipient (Kariminekoo et al. 2016). These data about the allogeneic MSCs are a step forward towards the ongoing quest for "Universal donor cells," which should be available off-the-shelf as a ready-to-use cell preparation (Kinkaid et al. 2010).

Logistic Advantage of Allogenic MSCs

One of the primary advantages of allogenic MSCs is their logistic superiority over autologous cells (Zhang et al. 2015). Unlike autologous MSCs, which need to be isolated, purified, and expanded in culture before use for each patient, allogenic cells are logistically feasible as they may be readily available off-the-shelf. This ready availability makes possible their use in urgent clinical situations, which is not possible with the autologous cells as it may take 3–4 weeks of isolation, purification,

and expansion before they could be used for delivery. For any cell-based therapy to be of routine clinical significance as a therapeutic modality, it is imperative that the cells must be available off-the-shelf akin to any other conventional pharmacological agent. Despite the fast-emerging innovative field of personalized medicine, drugs are not to be synthesized for each patient; instead, their use is tailored according to the need of the patients who are stratified to enhance therapeutic efficacy (Marshall et al. 2016).

Similarly, in cell-based therapy, which is one form of personalized medicine, cells cannot be prepared for each patient before use; there have to be readily available cell preparations, which can be tailored to the need of the patient. Manufacturing large clinical grade batches of allogenic cell products using GMP, quality controlled for viability, self-renewal, and stemness characteristics will be cost-effective, time-saving, less labor-intensive, commercially favorable, and clinically more relevant for reproducible outcome. Moreover, this off-the-shelf approach fits well with the current pharmaceutical practices, scale-up manufacturing, and may involve automation to make it efficient in manufacturing, thus having a better commercial potential than autologous cells (Malik and Durdy 2015). Additionally, allogeneic MSCs may allow repeated doses of the cells which may be more beneficial than one-time treatment (Poh et al. 2007).

Allogenic MSCs Overcome the Limitations of Aging and Sickness of Autologous Cells

As discussed earlier, autologous cells derived from elderly patients, especially those with multiple comorbidities, may not fetch the desired results. Availability of allogeneic cells from a young healthy may be a better option for cell-based therapy. In a recently published study, which was aimed to identify a set of donors and their donated cells' characteristics with predictive value for optimal osteoblastic differentiation, bone marrow-derived MSCs from 58 patients undergoing surgery for bone fracture were characterized for high osteogenic potential and low adipogenic potential (Kowal et al. 2021). The authors have reported a well-defined criterion that donor cells obtained from male donors, without a diagnosis of osteoporosis and containing a higher fraction of $CD146^+$ fraction of cells, together were predictors of high osteogenic potential. Such predefined criterion is also warranted for selecting MSCs for use in the patients who are candidates for cell-based therapy for other diseases.

We will not go into detail here (Lakota 2016); nevertheless, one possible explanation could be that the myocardial repair occurred because of the presence of a considerable amount of ex vivo expanded MSCs. The RNA microarray analysis reflects only the statistically up- or downregulation of specific genes. In another study, Koh and coworkers suggested that pluripotency and the secretion of trophic factors of the bone marrow-derived MSCs in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients were reduced in proportion to a poorer prognosis. This may suggest that allogeneic (bone marrow- or adipose tissue-derived) MSCs from healthy donors may be a better option for MSCs therapy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients (Koh et al. 2012).

Quality Control of MSCs Preparation: A Prerequisite for Optimal Prognosis

Autologous or allogeneic MSCs are part of the primary prerequisite of quality of the MSCs preparation for use in the patients (Haider 2018) and remain a fundamental determinant of the outcome of any cell-based therapy procedure and its success (Haider 2017). It encompasses everything from percentage cell count and cell viability, their identification to proliferation and differentiation potential to paracrine action of the cells in the MSCs preparation to ensure that the cell preparation is the best compromise of all these properties. For example, the cells should have the proliferation capacity, but at the same time, unlimited proliferation will add the risk of tumorigenicity. Hence, validating MSCs preparation, both biologically and functionally, will ensure that the cells will do the needful, which is meant for postengraftment in the clinical settings. Unfortunately, these critical aspects of quality control of the cell preparation in general, and functional assessment in particular, have been generally overlooked during the design of the clinical studies. This has seriously impacted the efficacy of the cells, thus significantly contributing to the modest outcome of the clinical trials in most cases.

For example, bone marrow-derived MSCs, both autologous and allogenic, require in vitro culturing for at least 3–4 weeks. Out from their natural habitat, they are exposed for so long to the unnatural biological environment, which is only partially emulating their natural habitat at best, is expected to alter their biological as well as functional characteristics significantly. All this leads to their senescence or aging in culture due to less than optimal culture conditions (Bonab et al. 2006; Jiang et al. 2017; Shen et al. 2018). Moreover, the long-term culture may render the cells devoid of their specific surface marker expression, i.e., CD29, CD44, CD90, and induce chromosomal instability (Furlani et al. 2009). Transplantation of these in vitro expansion showed no functional effect post-engraftment in experimentally infarcted myocardium. Although various strategies have been developed to recover the culture-induced senescence of cells in terms of their proliferation capacity (Koichi et al. 2011; Tan et al. 2021), the cells may become transformed to be tumorigenic depending upon the culture condition, thus becoming unsafe for cell-based therapy (Rosland et al. 2009; Wolf et al. 2009).

Similarly, the long-term culture of the cells becomes immunogenic due to the settlement of extraneous proteins from the culture medium. These ill effects of prolonged in vitro culture are most pronounced in 2D culture conditions. It is anticipated that the advanced 3D culture conditions in vitro will go a long way in alleviating the effects of cell culture-induced cell senescence due to its biomimetic properties (Hoch and Leach 2014; Jeger-Madiot et al. 2021).

Another typical example is the effect of cryopreservation of the cells in clinical settings. Although the current cryopreservation protocols are well-optimized and successfully preserve the biological and functional characteristics of the cryopreserved cells, some aspects of the technique require further refinement (Mamidi et al. 2012). Cryopreserved MSCs show altered immunomodulatory and therapeutic efficacy with a significant reduction in the number of viable cells. The rate of cell viability, as well as cell clumping, is also an important complication of

cryopreservation that may contribute to micro-occlusions after intra-arterial delivery of the cells as compared to the freshly isolated cells with cryopreservation (Cui et al. 2016). A recent study has reported that the cryopreserved successfully maintained their multi-lineage differentiation, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties, but they lose some of their stemness characteristics in a reversible fashion, which the cells could recover within 24 h in the culture after thawing (Antebi et al. 2019). Kaplan et al. have elegantly reviewed the effect of cryopreservation of the MSCs biological and functional characteristics (Kaplan et al. 2017).

Conclusion

In our opinion, the question of the use of autologous versus allogeneic MSCs remains unresolved. Autologous MSCs, although sick, are returning home after ex vivo expansion when they are used for cell-based therapy. Allogeneic healthy cells are here on demand. The immunological barriers do not (in practice) exist. According to the authors' experience, one should not be afraid to use them in all cases when there are doubts about the current availability of autologous MSCs. No single negative effect has been ever observed. Therefore, the summary of theoretical pros and cons cannot solve up to date this problem.

In conclusion, we would like to remind the reader of the old rule which governs the laboratory praxis. This is what we call "good biological praxis" (GBP). One should not create problems where they do not exist. Or, better, with humbleness, we should approach the divine principles in nature which we receive as gifts. With these gifts earlier hidden, we will be able to treat previously untreatable. MSCs are the current example. Human medicine is hotly waiting.

References

- Ambrosi TH, Scialdone A, Graja A et al (2017) Adipocyte accumulation in the bone marrow during obesity and aging impairs stem cell-based hematopoietic and bone regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 20(6):771–784
- Antebi B, Asher AM, Rodriguez LA, Moore RK, Mohammadipoor A, Cancio LC (2019) Cryopreserved mesenchymal stem cells regain functional potency following a 24-h acclimation period. J Transl Med 17:297. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-019-2038-5
- Asari S, Itakura S, Ferreri K, Liu CP, Kuroda Y, Kandeel F, Mullen Y (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells suppress B-cell terminal differentiation. Exp Hematol 37(5):604–615
- Beitnes JO, Øie E, Shahdadfar A, Karlsen T, Müller RMB, Aakhus S, Reinholt FP, Brinchmann JE (2012) Intramyocardial injections of human mesenchymal stem cells following acute myocardial infarction modulate scar formation and improve left ventricular function. Cell Transplant 21:1697–1709. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368911X627462
- Bonab MM, Alimoghaddam K, Talebian F, Ghaffari H, Ghavamzadeh A, Nikbin B (2006) Aging of mesenchymal stem cell in vitro. BMC Cell Biol 7:14
- Bustos ML, Huleihel L, Kapetanaki MG, Lino-Cardenas CL, Mroz L, Ellis BM, McVerry BJ et al (2014) Aging mesenchymal stem cells fail to protect because of impaired migration and antiinflammatory response. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 189(7):787–798

- Cesselli D, Beltrami AP, D'Aurizio F, Marcon P, Bergamin N, Toffoletto B, Pandolfi M (2011) Effects of age and heart failure on human cardiac stem cell function. Am J Pathol 179(1): 349–366
- Chen C-H, Chang M-Y, Wang S-S, Hsieh PCH (2014) Injection of autologous bone marrow cells in hyaluronan hydrogel improves cardiac performance after infarction in pigs. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 306(7):H1078–H1086
- Corcione A, Benvenuto F, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Cappiello V, Cazzanti F, Risso M et al (2006) Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate B-cell functions. Blood 107(1):367–372
- Cui L-L, Kinnunen T, Boltze J, Nystedt J, Jolkkonen J (2016) Clumping and viability of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stromal cells under different preparation procedures: a flow cytometry-based in vitro study. Stem Cells Int 2016:1764938, 8 pages. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2016/1764938
- Curfman G (2019) Stem cell therapy for heart failure: an unfulfilled promise? JAMA 321(12): 1186–1187. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.2617
- Dimmeler S, Leri A (2008) Aging and disease as modifiers of efficacy of cell therapy. Circ Res 102(11):1319–1330
- Fukuda K, Fujita J (2005) Mesenchymal, but not hematopoietic, stem cells can be mobilized and differentiate into cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction in mice. Kidney Int 68:1940–1943
- Furlani D, Li W, Pittermann E, Klopsch C, Wang L, Knopp A, Jungebluth P et al (2009) A transformed cell population derived from cultured mesenchymal stem cells has no functional effect after transplantation into the injured heart. Cell Transplant 18(3):319–332
- Gomez-Salazar M, Gonzalez-Galofre ZN, Casamitjana J, Crisan M, James AW, Péault B (2020) Five decades later, are mesenchymal stem cells still relevant? Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:148. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00148. PMID: 32185170; PMCID: PMC7058632
- Haider KH (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the quality matters. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7:6
- Haider KH (2018) Bone marrow cell therapy and cardiac reparability: better cell characterization will enhance clinical success. Regen Med 13(4):457–475. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0134
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.108.186742
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Zambrano JP, Suncion VY, Tracy M et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. JAMA 308(22):2369–2379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012. 25321
- Hare JM, DiFede DL, Rieger AC, Florea V, Landin AM, El-Khorazaty J, Khan A et al (2017) Randomized comparison of allogeneic versus autologous mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 69(5):526–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.009
- Hoch AI, Leach JK (2014) Concise review: optimizing expansion of bone marrow mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for clinical applications. Stem Cells Transl Med 3(5):643–652
- Horwitz EM, Gordon PL, Koo WK, Marx JC, Neel MD, McNall RY, Muul L et al (2002) Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: implications for cell therapy of bone. PNAS 99(13):8932–8937
- Horwitz EM, Le Blanc K, Dominici M, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Deans RJ (2005) International Society for Cellular Therapy. Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 7(5):393–395. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240500319234
- Jansen of Lorkeers SJ, JEC E, Vesterinen HM, van der Spoel TIG, Sena ES, Duckers HJ, Doevendas PA et al (2015) Similar effect of autologous and allogeneic cell therapy for ischemic heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of large animal studies. Circ Res 116:80–86. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304872

- Jeger-Madiot N, Arakelian L, Setterblad N, Bruneval P, Hoyos M, Larghero J, Aider JL (2021) Selforganization and culture of mesenchymal stem cell spheroids in acoustic levitation. Sci Rep 11: 8355. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-87459-6
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES. 0000244687.97719.4f
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Rafeeq PHA, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2008) Transcriptional profiling of young and old mesenchymal stem cells in response to oxygen deprivation and reparability of the infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(3):582–596
- Jiang T, Xu G, Wang Q, Yang L, Zheng L, Zhao J, Zhang X et al (2017) In vitro expansion impaired the stemness of early passage mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of cartilage defects. Cell Death Dis 8:e2851
- Kaplan A, Sackett K, Sumstad D, Kadidlo D, McKenna DH (2017) Impact of starting material (fresh versus cryopreserved marrow) on mesenchymal stem cell culture. Transfusion. https:// doi.org/10.1111/trf.14192
- Karantalis V, Schulman IH, Balkan W, Hare JM (2016) Allogeneic cell therapy: a new paradigm in therapeutics. Circ Res 116(1):12–15. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.305495
- Kariminekoo S, Movassaghpour A, Rahimzadeh A, Talebi M, Shamsasenjan K, Akbarzadeh A (2016) Implications of mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 44(3):749–757. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2015.1129620
- Khan M, Mohsin S, Khan SN, Riazuddin S (2011) Repair of senescent myocardium by mesenchymal stem cells is dependent on the age of donor mice. J Cell Mol Med 15(7):1515–1527. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00998.x
- Kinkaid HYM, Huang X-P, Li R-K, Weisel RD (2010) What's new in cardiac cell therapy? Allogeneic bone marrow stromal cells as "universal donor cells". J Card Surg 25:359–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8191.2009.00984.x
- Kissel CK, Lehmann R, Assmus B, Aicher A, Honold J, Fischer-Rasokat U, Heeschen C et al (2007) Selective functional exhaustion of hematopoietic progenitor cells in the bone marrow of patients with postinfarction heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 49(24):2341–2349
- Koç ON, Gerson SL, Cooper BW, Dyhouse SM, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, Lazarus HM (2000) Rapid hematopoietic recovery after coinfusion of autologous-blood stem cells and cultureexpanded marrow mesenchymal stem cells in advanced breast cancer patients receiving highdose chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 18(2):307–316. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2000.18.2.307
- Koç ON, Day J, Nieder M, Gerson SL, Lazarus HM, Krivit W (2002) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell infusion for treatment of metachromatic leukodystrophy (MLD) and Hurler syndrome (MPS-IH). Bone Marrow Transplant 30(4):215–222
- Koh SH, Baik W, Noh MY, Cho GW, Kim HY, Kim KS, Kim SH (2012) The functional deficiency of bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells in ALS patients is proportional to disease progression rate. Exp Neurol 233(1):472–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.11.021
- Koichi I, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Sheriff S, Ashraf M (2011) Neuropeptide-Y (NPY) and NPY Y5 receptor (Y5R) interaction restores impaired growth potential of ageing bone marrow stromal cells. Rejuvenation Res 14(4):393–403
- Kowal JM, Möller S, Ali D, Figeac F, Barington T, Schmal H, Kassem M (2021) Identification of a clinical signature predictive of differentiation fate of human bone marrow stromal cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 12(1):265. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-021-02338-1
- Kucerova L, Altanerova V, Matuskova M, Tyciakova S, Altaner C (2007) Adipose tissue-derived human mesenchymal stem cells mediated prodrug cancer gene therapy. Cancer Res 67(13): 6304–6313. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4024
- Lakota J (2014a) Dubrovcakova M, Bohovic R, Goncalvesova E. Intracoronary mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Int J Cardiol 176(2):547–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.07.024
- Lakota J (2014b) The healing of Ulcus Cruris by mesenchymal stem cells: no delay in wound healing by high-dose and standard chemotherapy. Int J Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Res 8(3): 58–59. PMID: 25642310; PMCID: PMC4305383

- Lakota J (2016) Molecular mechanism of ischemia-reperfusion injury after myocardial infarction and its possible targeted treatment. Int J Cardiol 220:571–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard. 2016.06.309
- Lakota J (2017a) The use of donor mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of steroid refractory graft versus host disease. Ten years of single center experience. Ann Hematol Oncol 4(5):1152. ISSN:2375-7965
- Lakota J (2017b) Onkológia (Bratisl.), 2017; roč. 12(5): 376. (in Slovak)
- Lakota J (2018) Fate of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in humans and rodents-is the current paradigm obtained on rodents applicable to humans? J Cell Mol Med 22(4):2523–2524. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13561
- Lakota J, Gocarova K, Spanik S (2015) Treatment of metastatic head and neck cancer with mesenchymal stem cells combined with prodrug gene therapy. Exp Oncol 37(4):298
- Lalu MM, McIntyre L, Pugliese C, Fergusson D, Winston BW, Marshall JC, Granton J, Canadian Critical Care Trials Group et al (2012) Safety of cell therapy with mesenchymal stromal cells (safecell): a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. PLoS One 7(10):e47559
- Le Blanc K, Rasmusson I, Sundberg B, Götherström C, Hassan M, Uzunel M, Ringdén O (2004) Treatment of severe acute graft-versus-host disease with third party haploidentical mesenchymal stem cells. Lancet 363(9419):1439–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16104-7
- Liu Y, Li Z, Liu T, Xue X, Jiang H, Huang J, Wang H (2013) Impaired cardioprotective function of transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells from patients with diabetes mellitus to rats with experimentally induced myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Diabetol 12(1):1–0
- Lohan P, Coleman CM, Murphy JM, Griffin MD, Ritter T, Ryan AE (2014) Changes in immunological profile of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells after differentiation: should we be concerned? Stem Cell Res Ther 5(4):99
- Machado C d V, Telles PD, Nascimento IL (2013) Immunological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter 35(1):62–67. https://doi.org/10.5581/1516-8484. 20130017. PMID: 23580887; PMCID: PMC3621638
- Maijenburg MW, Kleijer M, Vermeul K, Mul EP, van Alphen FP, van der Schoot CE, Voermans C (2012) The composition of the mesenchymal stromal cell compartment in human bone marrow changes during development and aging. Haematologica 97(2):179
- Malik NN, Durdy MB (2015) Cell therapy landscape: autologous and allogeneic approaches, Chapter 7. In: Atala A, Allickson JG (eds) Translational regenerative medicine. Academic, pp 87–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-410396-2.00007-4. ISBN 9780124103962
- Mamidi MK, Nathan KG, Singh G et al (2012) Comparative cellular and molecular analyses of pooled bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells during continuous passaging and after successive cryopreservation. J Cell Biochem 113(10):3153–3164
- Marshall D, Sharpe M, Ward S (2016) Cell & gene therapies and the evolving role of personalized medicine. Cell Gene Ther Insights 2(2):277–286. https://doi.org/10.18609/cgti.2016.034
- Masic I, Miokovic M, Muhamedagic B (2008) Evidence based medicine new approaches and challenges. Acta Inform Med 16(4):219–225. https://doi.org/10.5455/aim.2008.16.219-225
- Musiał-Wysocka A, Kot M, Majka M (2019) The pros and cons of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies. Cell Transplant 28(7):801–812. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689719837897
- Oh J, Lee YD, Wagers AJ (2014) Stem cell aging: mechanisms, regulators and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Med 20(8):870–880
- Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S et al (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410(6829):701–705
- Pachon-Pena G, Serena C, Ejarque M, Petriz J, Duran X, Oliva-Olivera W, Simo R (2016) Obesity determines the immunophenotypic profile and functional characteristics of human mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:464–475
- Pawitan JA, Bui TA, Mubarok W, Antarianto RD, Nurhayati RW, Dilogo IH, Oceandy D (2020) Enhancement of the therapeutic capacity of mesenchymal stem cells by genetic modification: a systematic review. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:587776. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.587776
- Pérez LM, de Lucas B, Gálvez BG (2018) Unhealthy stem cells: when health conditions upset stem cell properties. Cell Physiol Biochem 46:1999–2016. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489440

- Poh KK, Sperry E, Young RG, Freyman T, Barringhaus KG, Thompson CA (2007) Repeated direct endomyocardial transplantation of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells: safety of a high dose, "off-the-shelf", cellular cardiomyoplasty strategy. Int J Cardiol 117(3):360–364
- Quevedoa HC, Hatzistergosa KE, Oskoueia BN et al (2009) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. PNAS 106(33):14022–14027
- Rady D, Abbass MMS, El-Rashidy AA, El Moshy S, Radwan IA, Dörfer CE, Fawzy El-Sayed KM (2020) Mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells: the prospect of human clinical translation. Stem Cells Int 2020:8837654. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8837654
- Røsland GV, Svendsen A, Torsvik A et al (2009) Long-term cultures of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells frequently undergo spontaneous malignant transformation. Cancer Res 69(13):5331–5339
- Sawchik J, Hamdani J, Vanhaeverbeek M (2018) Randomized clinical trials and observational studies in the assessment of drug safety. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 66(3):217–225. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.respe.2018.03.133
- Schultz MB, Sinclair DA (2016) When stem cells grow old: phenotypes and mechanisms of stem cell aging. Development 143(1):3–14
- Shahid MS, Lasheen W, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10):E1371–E1374
- Shen C, Jiang T, Zhu B, Le Y, Liu J, Qin Z, Chen H et al (2018) In vitro culture expansion impairs chondrogenic differentiation and the therapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells by regulating the unfolded protein response. J Biol Eng 12(1):1–2
- Stenderup K, Justesen J, Clausen C, Kassem M (2003) Aging is associated with decreased maximal life span and accelerated senescence of bone marrow stromal cells. Bone 33(6):919–926. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2003.07.005
- Stolzinga A, Jonesb T, McGonagleb D, Scutta A (2008) Age-related changes in human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells: consequences for cell therapies. Mech Ageing Dev 129(3):163–173
- Tan YZ, Xu XY, Dai JM, Yin Y, He X-T, Zhang Y-L, Zhu T-X et al (2021) Melatonin induces the rejuvenation of long-term ex vivo expanded periodontal ligament stem cells by modulating the autophagic process. Stem Cell Res Ther 12:254. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-021-02322-9
- Vulliet PR, Greeley M, Halloran SM, MacDonald KA, Kittleson MD (2004) Intra-coronary arterial injection of mesenchymal stromal cells and microinfarction in dogs. Lancet 363(9411): 783–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)15695-X
- Wolf D, Reinhard A, Wolf D, Reinhard A, Seckinger A, Gross L (2009) Regenerative capacity of intravenous autologous, allogeneic and human mesenchymal stem cells in the infarcted pig myocardium – complicated by myocardial tumor formation. Scand Cardiovasc J 43(1):39–45
- Yau TM, Pagani FD, Mancini DM, Chang HL, Lala A, Woo YJ, Acker MA, Cardiothoracic Surgical Trials Network et al (2019) Intramyocardial injection of mesenchymal precursor cells and successful temporary weaning from left ventricular assist device support in patients with advanced heart failure: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 321(12):1176–1186. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2019.2341
- Zhang J, Huang X, Wang H, Liu X, Zhang T, Yunchuan W, Hu D (2015) The challenges and promises of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for use as a cell-based therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-015-0240-9
- Zhou S, Greenberger JS, Epperly MW et al (2008) Age-related intrinsic changes in human bonemarrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and their differentiation to osteoblasts. Aging Cell 7(3):335–343
- Zhuo Y, Li SH, Chen MS, Wu J, Kinkaid HY, Fazel S, Weisel RD, Li RK (2010) Aging impairs the angiogenic response to ischemic injury and the activity of implanted cells: combined consequences for cell therapy in older recipients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 139(5):1286–1294



2

Sources and Therapeutic Strategies of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

Mohamed Kamal, Dina Kassem, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Mesenchymal Stem Cells 25 Sources of Mesenchymal Stem Cells 26 Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs 27 Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs 28 Und Viel Cond Derived MSCs 28
Sources of Mesenchymal Stem Cells 26 Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs 27 Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs 28 Und Viel Cond Derived MSCs 28
Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs 27 Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs 28 Unit if all Cond During MSCs 21
Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs
Unit iliant Cond Davies d MCC.
Umbilical Cord-Derived MSCs
Therapeutic Strategies of Using MSCs
Tissue Regeneration
Immunomodulation of MSCs
Extracellular Vesicles/Exosomes Derived from MSCs
MSCs Act as an Efficient Tool for Gene Therapy
References

Abstract

During the past decade, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have made their mark as a potential weapon in regenerative medicine. Since their first isolation by Friedenstein in the late 1970s of the last century, MSCs have opened new avenues

M. Kamal (🖂)

Pharmacology and Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, The British University in Egypt (BUE), Cairo, Egypt

Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

Faculty of Pharmacy, Center for Drug Research and Development, The British University in Egypt (BUE), Cairo, Egypt e-mail: mohamed.kamal@bue.edu.eg

D. Kassem

Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt e-mail: dina_kassem@pharma.asu.edu.eg

K. H. Haider

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_2 in the field of regenerative medicine. The main fascination about MSCs lies in their ease of isolation and large ex vivo expansion capacity, as well as demonstrated multipotency and immunomodulatory activities. Basically, several reports have proved that MSCs isolated from different sources possess different characteristics and potentials. In addition, the mechanisms by which these cells can help regenerate tissues and treat several diseases have been proved to be far more complicated than ever thought of. Moreover, a growing body of research has revealed that the therapeutic effects of MSCs occur largely via paracrine signaling and secreted extracellular vesicles, which act as "signalosomes" controlling fundamental cellular functions in recipient cells. In this chapter, we will discuss how MSCs isolated from different sources such as bone marrow; the prototype MSCs, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord differ in their characteristics as potential sources of allogenic versus autologous cell therapy options. Besides, we will clarify the main documented mechanisms of action which MSCs play in regenerative medicine including their differentiation to tissues of mesenchymal versus non-mesenchymal lineages. Additionally, the immune-modulatory effects of MSCs will be discussed as an important arm in their therapeutic potential. Finally, we will discuss the potential of extracellular vesicles produced by MSCs as an emerging cell-free alternative to stem cells therapy.

Keywords

Adipose tissue · Bone marrow · Cell free · Exosomes · Mesenchymal stem cells · Stem cells · Umbilical cord blood · Wharton's jelly

Abbreviations

Bone marrow
Conditioned medium
Extracellular vesicles
Food and Drug Administration
Fibroblast growth factor
Good Manufacturing Practice
Graft vs host rejection disease
Hepatocyte growth factor
Indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase
Interferon-y
International Society for Cellular Therapy
Mesenchymal stem cells
Natural killer cells
Programmed death ligand-1
Prostaglandin E2
Platelet-rich plasma
Stromal vascular fraction
Transforming growth factor-β1

Tumor necrosis factor-α
Umbilical cord
Umbilical cord blood
Wharton's jelly

Introduction

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

During the past decade, the field of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)-based research has witnessed huge progress due to unraveling many of their exceptional biological features and stemness characteristics, as well as the encouraging results of several preclinical and clinical studies. Thus, it is now widely accepted that MSCs could provide a revolutionary therapeutic intervention for various diseases (Batsali et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2012). MSCs were first reported in the early 1970s when a population of plastic-adherent, fibroblast-like, non-hematopoietic cells were isolated from bone marrow (BM) (Friedenstein et al. 1974). Later, in the early 1990s, based on their properties, the term "mesenchymal stem cell" was proposed (Caplan 1991). The term "mesenchymal" is derived from the word mesenchyme, which refers to loosely organized tissue during embryonic development broadly associated with connective tissues (Viswanathan et al. 2019). Its noteworthy here that the acronym "MSCs" has also been designated for "*multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells*" (Horwitz et al. 2005).

Nevertheless, although both terms have been commonly used interchangeably in the literature, it is pertinent to mention that the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), now called the International Society of Cell and Gene Therapy, has clarified through a couple of position statements that the term "mesenchymal stem cell" is not equivalent to "mesenchymal stromal cells." Moreover, the latter refers to a bulk population with notable immunomodulatory as well as secretory and homing properties (Horwitz et al. 2005; Viswanathan et al. 2019). They have suggested that the term "mesenchymal stromal cells" can be used to describe the heterogeneous bulk population of cells, which includes fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, and even a relatively small proportion of stem/progenitor cells, but excludes endothelial and hematopoietic cells (Viswanathan et al. 2019).

Notably, the ISCT has defined specific minimal criteria for the proper characterization of MSCs so that the research data from various research groups may be compared (Dominici et al. 2006). This criterion includes:

- 1. MSCs are plastic-adherent when maintained in well-defined and standardized culture conditions.
- MSCs must express some mesenchymal cluster of differentiation (CD) surface markers like CD105, CD73, and CD90 and lack the expression of hematopoietic stem cell-specific markers like CD45, CD34, and CD14.



Fig. 1 Isolation and characterization of MSCs from different tissue sources, including umbilical cord, adipose tissue, and bone marrow. After isolation, MSCs from different tissue sources exhibit ISCT criteria based on plastic adherence, immunophenotyping, and trilineage differentiation potential of osteogenic, adipogenic, and chondrogenic phenotype. (Created with Biorender.com)

3. MSCs should exhibit multilineage differentiation potential to adopt adipogenic, osteogenic, and chondrogenic phenotypes in vitro in the presence of specific chemical cues.

These essential characterization criteria are summarized in Fig. 1.

Sources of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

So far, MSCs have been successfully isolated from various tissues, including adult tissues such as adipose tissue, BM, peripheral blood, dental pulp, skin, muscle, endometrium, ovary, as well as perinatal/fetal sources, like the placenta, umbilical cord blood (UCB), and umbilical cord (UC) matrix/tissue (Da Silva Meirelles et al. 2006; Jackson et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2014; Vasandan et al. 2014; Niezgoda et al. 2017; Berebichez-Fridman and Montero-Olvera 2018; Ghamari et al. 2021; Zolbin et al. 2021). Despite all of these being MSCs from different tissue sources, they significantly differ from each other in terms of their proliferation, self-renewal, paracrine action, and even differentiation potential. For example, MSCs obtained from UCB are rich in a more primitive cell population than those obtained from the BM (Hass et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2016b). Similarly, adipose tissue-derived MSCs (Ad-MSCs) have specific features, such as their transcriptome, proteome, and immunoregulatory properties as compared to the BM-derived counterparts (Strioga et al. 2012; Li et al. 2015a). Similarly, the contributing factors causing divergence in MSCs' characteristics include age, sex, the health status of the donor, etc.

For example, MSCs derived from a young donor (8–12 weeks) and elderly donor rats (24–26 months) was assessed for their responsiveness to anoxia and assessment reparability of infarcted myocardium post engraftment in an experimental animal model of acute myocardial infarction (Jiang et al. 2008). The young donor-derived cells were more resistant to apoptotic signals upon anoxic exposure than their counterparts. Similarly, the young donor-derived MSCs showed more cardiomyogenic differentiation after transplantation and better preserved the global cardiac function of the infarcted myocardium. Similar results have also been reported by Wang et al. while comparing young and old BM-derived MSCs in an experimental animal model for cardiac repair (Wang et al. 2008).

BM-derived MSCs have been the most extensively studied and denoted as the "gold standard" of MSCs among MSCs derived from different tissue sources (Arutyunyan et al. 2016). From among the most important tissues sources of MSCs, we will discuss in this chapter BM-derived MSCs, Ad-derived MSCs, and Wharton's jelly-derived MSCs (WJ-derived MSCs) with particular emphasis on the latter two as the most well-studied types of MSCs in regenerative medicine.

Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs

BM-derived MSCs constitute a heterogeneous group of cells. They were the first MSCs to be isolated and reported in 1966 by Friedenstein and colleagues. They isolated a population of cells from guinea-pig BM with fibroblast-like plastic adherent phenotype in vitro with colony-forming abilities. These cells could selfrenew, express mesenchymal markers, such as CD29, CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105, CD106, and CD166, and lacking in the expression of hematopoietic markers, such as CD14, CD34, and CD45, and capable of spontaneous bone formation in the diffusion chambers (in vitro), besides inducible osteogenesis in the presence of transitional epithelium (Friedenstein et al. 1970). Later on, in 1991, Caplan suggested changing the name to "mesenchymal stem cells" and ascribed these cells as responsible for bone and cartilage formation in the embryo and responsible for their repair and turnover in adult life (Caplan 1991). Caplan also described the role of some extrinsic factors and the inherent genomic potential to control the rate and phenotype of the cells in the emerging tissue from these cells and predicted their emergence as a novel therapeutic modality for the repair of skeletal tissues. While describing the mesengenic process, Caplan described a pivotal role of MSCs in terms of undergoing proliferation, lineage commitment, and terminal differentiation to adopt the desired phenotype, that is, osteogenic, chondrogenic, and adipogenic (Caplan 1994). Going further, in 2017, Caplan has now suggested to rename MSCs as "medicinal signaling cells" to reflect on the ability of MSCs to migrate to the site of injury and participate in the repair process (Caplan 2017).

Although BM-derived MSCs are the most extensively studied, wellcharacterized, and widely used cells in clinical settings, MSCs represent only 0.001–0.01% of mononuclear cells in the BM. Due to this small fraction, BM-derived MSCs necessitate in vitro expansion to acquire sufficient numbers for in vivo use (Pittenger et al. 1999). In this regard, various in vitro strategies have been adopted that include culturing of cells under serum-free conditions to 3D-culturing that simulate the natural habitat of the cells (Bhat et al. 2021).

Advantages of BM-Derived MSCs

BM-derived MSCs show multipotent differentiation potential toward different embryonic lineages. These lineages include the mesodermal lineage, that is, adipocytes, chondrocytes, osteocytes, endothelial cells, and skeletal muscles, ectodermal lineage, that is, neurons, retinal cells, and endodermal lineage, that is, hepatocytes and insulinproducing cells (Friedenstein et al. 1970; Polisetti et al. 2010). However, the ability of MSCs to adopt different lineage phenotypes is considered tissue source of MSCsdependent. For example, BM-derived MSCs show stronger osteogenic but lower adipogenic potential than Ad-MSCs, but they both offer similar chondrogenic potential (Xu et al. 2017). Similarly, a comparison of synovial membrane-derived MSCs and BM-derived MSCs showed that the latter have enhanced osteogenic differentiation potential, although their chondrogenic potential was similar (Gale et al. 2019). This multilineage different diseases in regenerative medicine (Haider and Ashraf 2005).

BM-derived MSCs are still the most used MSCs in clinical settings (Wang et al. 2016a). Interestingly, BM-derived MSCs were the first "stem cell drug" to be registered by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as a drug (ProchymalTM) against graft vs. host rejection disease (GvHD) (Prasad et al. 2011). Presently, BM-derived MSCs have more than 400 registered clinical trials with almost 160 completed trials involving a broad scope of immune, chronic, cardiovascular, and degenerative diseases, for instance, diabetes mellitus, neurodegenerative diseases, and heart diseases (ClinicalTrials.gov 2019).

Limitations of BM-Derived MSCs

Despite the advantages mentioned earlier, a few limitations have led to cautious advancement of BM-derived MSCs to the clinic in regenerative medicine. For example, the isolation of BM-derived MSCs is very complicated and more invasive than UCB, adipose tissue, and WJ. Harvesting of BM-derived MSCs can cause possible discomfort and morbidity due to the invasive BM aspiration process (Mazini et al. 2019). In addition, BM-derived MSCs isolation may require centrifugation to separate mononuclear cells from RBCs, platelets, and granulocytes (Naji et al. 2019). Moreover, the limited yield of cells necessitates in vitro expansion, which may result in altering the immunogenic status and differentiation potential of cells. However, several reports have reported that BM-derived MSCs exhibit signs of early senescence during in vitro culture expansion. All these problems directed researchers to search for alternative sources of MSCs.

Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs

Ad-MSCs constitute a heterogeneous population of cells isolated from adipose tissue of different body parts. They exhibit all the essential characteristics of the MSCs

proposed by the ISCT, namely plastic adherence, expression of mesenchymal cellspecific surface membrane markers and lacking in hematopoietic stem cell-specific surface membrane markers, and the ability to undergo trilineage differentiation, that is, adipocytes, chondrocytes, and osteocytes. Like the other tissues-derived MSCs, Ad-MSCs also offer several unique advantages over other sources of MSCs (Bourin et al. 2013; Fathi and Farahzadi 2009). Besides the typical mesenchymal surface markers, Ad-MSCs also express primitive cell surface markers of core circuity of self-renewal, that is, OCT4, NANOG, SOX2, and the neurogenic lineage-specific genes, that is, NEUROD1, PAX6, and SOX3 (Gentile et al. 2019). Although similar in surface marker expression to BM-derived MSCs, the yield of Ad-MSCs is approximately 500 times more than the BM per gram of the respective tissue (Hall et al. 2010). They show higher proliferative potential without losing much of their stemness properties (Zhu et al. 2008). Another study comparing BM-derived MSCs and Ad-MSCs derived from patients with coronary artery disease has shown the superiority of Ad-MSCs in their response to low oxygen culturing that renders them more suitable for transplantation for cardiovascular therapy (Adolfsson et al. 2020).

Advantages of Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs

Ad-MSCs propose several advantages over BM-derived MSCs that make them of special interest in the clinical perspective. Firstly, the ease of availability in tissue harvesting and isolation of the Ad-MSCs from the harvested tissue constitutes a significant advantage of these cells. Similarly, Ad-MSCs can be isolated from subcutaneous fats of different parts of the body, including the abdomen, thighs, and buttocks, with far less invasive procedure than the BM-derived MSCs. This less invasive procedure is associated with lesser donor morbidity, pain, or complications than the BM-MSCs (De Ugarte et al. 2003). Second, the lipoaspirate showed a higher population of MSCs, reaching 10% compared to the scarce population of 0.01–0.001% of the mononuclear cells of BM-derived MSCs (Kern et al. 2006; Zhu et al. 2008). Ad-MSCs from lipoaspirate might reach 500 times that obtained from BM (Marigo and Dazzi 2011). Thirdly, and most importantly, Ad-MSCs showed better-culturing abilities, greater proliferation capacity, and they can maintain their phenotype longer in culture (Kunze et al. 2020). These properties are very significant in producing many "clinical grade" MSCs for clinical applications. Besides, several reports have shown that Ad-MSCs could differentiate into different cell types of the three developmental germ layers (endoderm, mesoderm, and ectoderm), including adipocytes, osteoblasts, chondrocytes, neurocytes, and hepatocyte (Chen et al. 2016; Dai et al. 2016). These properties render Ad-MSCs as a front-runner for clinical applications.

Limitations of Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs

Although Ad-MSCs clinical applications have increased lately, several limitations must be overcome (Mazini et al. 2020). Ad-MSCs yield, culture properties, and differentiation capacities are dependent on several factors, including the harvesting/ isolation methods and the donor health conditions (Zhang et al. 2020a). Harvesting cells by excision has a better yield than lipoaspiration and directs the cells toward mesoderm and ectoderm differentiation rather than the endoderm associated with the

lipoaspirate (Bian et al. 2016; Gnanasegaran et al. 2014). Besides, no single controlled procedure exists to isolate reproducible Ad-MSCs following Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) (Kassem and Kamal 2020c; Kim et al. 2015; Koh et al. 2016).

Moreover, Ad-MSCs properties are highly affected by the medical comorbidity of the patients. For example, obesity of the donor induces early senescence in the Ad-MSCs. The cells obtained from obese patients showed inadequate proliferative capacity due to upregulation of p16, p53, IL-6, and MCP1, but their emigrational capability was sustained (Conley et al. 2020). Similarly, results about the declining function of adipose tissue-derived stem cells have also been reported with extensive passaging (Zhu et al. 2008). It has also been reported that the differentiation capacity and the proliferative potential of Ad-MSCs are highly influenced by the donors' conditions such as age, BMI, suffering from diabetes mellitus, exposure to radio-therapy, or endocrine therapy (Varghese et al. 2017). For example, the differentiation potential of Ad-MSCs from diabetic patients is significantly lost due to generalized inflammatory response in the patients (Barbagallo et al. 2017). However, further investigations are required to confirm the clinical significance of such differences (Zhang et al. 2020a).

Isolation of Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs

Generally, adipose tissue is harvested using different methods, that is, liposuction, resection, micro-fat harvesting, etc., and each one of the methods has advantages and limitations and significantly affect the yield and characteristics of the Ad-MSCs thus derived therefrom, as discussed elsewhere (Prantl et al. 2021). The tissue harvesting step is followed by subsequent washing of the harvested adipose tissue to remove the contaminating erythrocytes. The tissue-digestion step is next followed in a typical protocol that may be achieved either mechanically or enzymatically and centrifuged to separate the stromal vascular fraction (SVF). The cells of SVF are then suspended in serum-containing media for culture and expansion of Ad-MSCs.

Coleman's method is most commonly used to harvest adipose tissue from among the many methods reported in the literature to date for harvesting adipose tissue (Alstrup et al. 2020). The method of harvesting can influence the number of Ad-MSCs obtained, the stemness, the proliferative capacity, the multilineage potency, and the aging rate of the isolated cells (Bajek et al. 2017). For example, it was reported that surgical resection is associated with a large number of Ad-MSCs showing a higher rate of clonogenicity. On the other hand, cells isolated by lipoaspiration showed increased proliferation and the least aging rate. Some other methods for the isolation of Ad-MSCs, the process of adipose tissue harvesting may involve surgical resection, power-assisted lipoaspiration, laser-assisted lipoaspiration, etc. (Khazaei et al. 2021; Fontes et al. 2018).

As for the digestion of the adipose tissue, mechanical digestion methods, such as shaking, centrifugation, or filtration, are cost-effective but these are time-intensive and harsh on the cells to inflict mechanical damage on the cells. This may also lead to a poor yield of the viable cells (Khazaei et al. 2021). Several enzymes were used for digestion of the adipose tissue, such as collagenase, trypsin, and dispase (Bourin et al.

2013; Yang et al. 2011; Zhu et al. 2013), However, adipose tissue digestion with collagenase is the gold standard among the currently used methods (Banyard et al. 2015). However, as collagenase is of bacterial origin, using high-grade enzyme preparation and removing excess enzyme by centrifugation is essential to ensure safety and decrease toxic effects on the cells for subsequent clinical applications (Aguena et al. 2012). Still, the methods for adipose tissue harvesting and isolation of Ad-MSCs from the harvested tissue require more efforts to standardize and apply GMP to ensure the production of "clinical grade" cells for patient applications.

Clinical Applications of Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs

Several excellent reviews have been published discussing the clinical applications of Ad-MSCs for different diseases (Shukla et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2020a). Zhang and colleagues have presented an excellent review of various applications of Ad-MSCs for wound healing and the treatment of bone, cartilage, nervous system, liver, heart, skin, and even trachea and gall bladder. These studies are either preclinical or clinical studies. Shukla and co-workers (2020) published a review to discuss extracellular vesicles with a focus on exosomes derived from Ad-MSCs for clinical applications. These reviews reflect an increasing interest of the researchers and the ever-growing applications of Ad-MSCs in regenerative medicine to treat various diseases.

Umbilical Cord-Derived MSCs

Human Umbilical Cord Structure and Function

During pregnancy, the placenta and growing fetus are connected by the UC, also called "the naval string" (Spurway et al. 2012) that prevents umbilical vessels from kinking, compression, or torsion during movement of the fetus, thus ensuring proper blood supply to the fetus (Kim et al. 2013). Anatomically, the human UC comprises an outer layer of amniotic epithelium enclosing a vein and two arteries embedded within a mucoid connective tissue. The mucoid connective tissue enclosing the three umbilical vessels or the UC matrix is known as "Wharton's jelly." Thomas Wharton first described WJ in 1656 (Wharton 1656). In the early 1970s, UCB was reported as a natural reservoir and a rich source of hematopoietic stem cells (Knudtzon 1974). Nowadays, UCB has many therapeutic applications for various hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic disorders in the clinics (Munoz et al. 2014; Roura et al. 2015). Given their extensive regenerative potential, the collection, and banking of UCB and its derivative stem cells as part of personalized medicine (Harris 2014), including very small embryonic-like stem cells (Bhartiya et al. 2012), is gaining popularity for use as an autologous source of cells for cell-based therapy (Badowski and Harris 2012; Um et al. 2020).

The first report providing robust evidence that WJ-derived stromal cells can be classified as MSCs was published by Wang et al. (2004), which showed that the cells derived from WJ displayed a fibroblast-like phenotype when expanded in vitro (Wang et al. 2004). Also, these cells expressed high levels of MSCs markers

CD29, CD44, CD73, and CD105 but lacked the expression of the hematopoieticspecific markers, that is, CD31, CD34, and CD45. Moreover, those cells could differentiate into osteogenic and adipogenic lineages under favorable culture conditions (Wang et al. 2004). More interestingly, treatment with 5-azacytidine or cardiomyocyte-conditioned medium, the cells expressed cardiomyocyte-specific markers, that is, N-cadherin, cardiac troponin-I. UCB is also a source of MSCs, but to a much lesser extent than WJ (Arutyunyan et al. 2016; Sibov et al. 2012). Compared with the success rate of harvesting MSCs, it has to be almost 100% from WJ compared to a meager 6% from UCB (Shetty et al. 2010). A direct comparison of various protocols of MSCs isolation from UCB and WJ tissue has been provided by Salehinejad et al. (2012). These protocols are developed to optimize the methodological aspects of the procedure. The latest advancement in this regard is the proteolytic enzyme-free method for the isolation of MSCs (Singh et al. 2019). It is noteworthy that the therapeutic potential of MSCs derived from these two UC compartments could differ significantly in preclinical and clinical settings (El-Demerdash et al. 2015; Kassem and Kamal 2020b).

Advantages of WJ-Derived MSCs

WJ-derived MSCs possess exceptional stemness properties due to the presence of a primitive cell population (Troyer and Weiss 2008; Fong et al. 2011). WJ-derived MSCs have several advantages over other types of stem cells. First of all, they can be easily isolated from the readily available UC tissue discarded at labor as medical waste. Thus, unlike BM-derived MSCs, the isolation of WJ-derived MSCs is non-invasive, and unlike ESCs, the availability and use of WJ-derived MSCs are without any moral and ethical concerns (Hass et al. 2011). Second, WJ-derived MSCs isolated from neonatal tissue have more primitive characteristics than adult tissue-derived MSCs (Frausin et al. 2015). They are believed to represent an intermediate state between ESCs and adult stem cells (Marino et al. 2019). Interestingly, WJ-derived MSCs exhibit a mix of human ESCs and MSCs-specific markers and maintain stemness for several serial passages (Nekanti et al. 2009). Interestingly, while they possess several characteristics of ESCs, they do not form teratomas upon transplantation (Troyer and Weiss 2008). Third, WJ-derived MSCs are immune-privileged due to human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression, besides lacking in the expression of human leukocyte antigen- antigen D-related (HLA-DR) like other MSCs types (La Rocca et al. 2009). These immunomodulatory properties were reported to prevent rejections even after xeno-transplantation of post-differentiated MSCs without immunosuppression (Moffett and Loke 2003). A direct comparison of MSCs derived from four different tissues, adipose tissue, BM, WJ, and UCB, have shown that WJ-derived MSCs possess the highest immunomodulatory effects (Li et al. 2014). Given their excellent immunomodulatory properties, WJ-derived MSCs are an attractive choice when immune cellular therapy is required (Najar et al. 2012). Finally, WJ-derived MSCs, and their counterparts isolated from UCB, both have an excellent potential for biobanking (Chatzistamatiou et al. 2014).

Limitations of WJ-Derived MSCs

Despite many advantages of WJ-derived MSCs over other stem cell types, several limitations have hampered their successful translation from the bench-to-bedside. For example, among these limitations is the requirement of in vitro expansion, which is significantly affected by culture conditions. For WJ-derived MSCs, the serum is an essential component of the culture as well as cryopreservation media; however, the use of culture-expanded cells causes serious immunological reactions due to the residual animal serum proteins from animal serum slowly settled on the cells' surface during long-term culture. This adversely alters the immunological characteristics of the cells besides reducing their therapeutic benefits post engraftment (Li et al. 2015b).

It is noteworthy that several alternatives of xenogeneic serum have been suggested to achieve humanized stem cell culture using human alternatives for the xenogenic protein (Bieback et al. 2009; Tekkatte et al. 2011). Given its unique growth factor and cytokine-rich composition, one proposed alternative is plateletrich plasma (PRP) (Kandoi et al. 2018; Haider 2017). The authors observed at least a twofold increase in the yield from the explant culture with significantly preserved immunomodulatory properties of the cells. Besides enhancing the safety aspects of the in vitro cultured cells, xeno-free culture expansion also improves their therapeutic functionality (Kang et al. 2020). Besides the xenoprotein-free culture system, Obradovic et al. have reported in vitro expansion protocol that closely mimics the natural habitat of the cells in terms of low oxygen presence (Obradovic et al. 2019). The authors reported that the cells cultured under 3% oxygen conditions retained their expression of OCT4A, OCT4B, NANOG, and SOX2 expression and showed excellent migratory capacity. Another limitation of WJ-derived MSCs is the lack of standardized protocols for their processing, cryopreservation, or banking. These include the isolation of WJ-derived MSCs from fresh tissue versus frozen ones (Fong et al. 2016).

Additionally, during prolonged in vitro culture, WJ-derived MSCs have been reported to show changes in their transcriptome profile, compared to the early passage cells, where these cells might exhibit a progressive decline in their physiological properties; a phenomenon known as "Cellular aging" (Gatta et al. 2013). Regarding the clinical application of WJ-MSCs, similar to stem cells from other tissue sources, various parameters, such as the best route of administration, time of injection, dose of the cells, frequency of doses, as well as the time intervals between multiple injections, remain controversial issues (Kamal and Kassem 2020).

Isolation Methods of WJ-Derived MSCs

Various isolation protocols have been optimized and reported to generate WJ-derived MSCs from the UC tissue. Primarily, these protocols are based on tissue explant and chemical enzymatic digestion approaches, which are incidentally the two methods for WJ-derived MSCs isolation (Han et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2010). Sometimes a mix between enzymatic and mechanical digestion approach, using enzymes like collagenase with/without hyaluronidase or trypsin, followed

by passing the treated WJ through an 18-G needle syringe (Azandeh et al. 2012). The explant method is based on the ability of the MSCs to move and migrate from the tissue and adhere to the plastic surface (Goyal et al. 2018). It is generally described as cutting the UC into shorter pieces, excision of the blood vessels, and fine chopping of the WJ sections of the cord tissue, followed by plating those fine fragments with complete media. Besides being cost-effective and reproducible, the primary advantage of the tissue explant method is that it does not affect the vitality of cells. It is noteworthy that enzymes may degrade the cell membrane during enzymatic digestion, resulting in further damage to the cells (La Rocca et al. 2009). Hua and co-workers concluded that the 10 mm size tissue explant method is the optimal protocol for isolating MSCs from UC (Hua et al. 2013).

Clinical Applications of WJ-Derived MSCs

Over the last many years, the published data from the preclinical experimental studies have demonstrated the safety and highly promising therapeutic potential of WJ-derived MSCs. In vitro characterization reveals a primitive cell population positive for OCT4 and NANOG expressing cells (Piriali et al. 2013; Shaer et al. 2014). Based on the hypothesis that tissue source may determine the biological characteristics and functionality of the derivation MSCs, a recent study by Laroye and colleagues have shown a better profile of WJ-derived MSCs as compared to the BM-derived MSCs in mice model of sepsis by caecal ligation and puncture (Laroye et al. 2019). Various clinical trials have been conducted to test the safety, feasibility, and efficacy of WJ-derived MSCs-based cell therapy for many diseases, including graft versus host disease (GvHD), bone/cartilage disease, immunological diseases, diabetes mellitus and its complications, cardiac disease, liver disease, neurological disorders, as well as cancer (Abbaszadeh et al. 2020). Many of these clinical trials have been completed and demonstrated the safety and efficacy of WJ-MSCs (Can et al. 2017). The latest application is the effective use of WJ-derived MSCs in patients suffering from COVID-19 pneumonia (Zhang et al. 2020b). Intravenous infusion of WJ-derived MSCs has shown promising results due to their strong immunomodulatory actions (Shi et al. 2021).

Therapeutic Strategies of Using MSCs

MSCs have made their mark as a promising therapeutic option for many regenerative medicine applications. Originally, MSCs were thought to mediate their reparative potential by virtue of a multilineage differentiation capability that enabled them to replace damaged cells (Mahmood et al. 2003; Murphy et al. 2003). However, later on, a growing body of evidence has revealed that in response to tissue injury, MSCs home into the site of tissue damage and can mediate tissue repair via paracrine action through the release of soluble and insoluble secretome and immunomodulatory activities (Chen et al. 2008; Karp and Teo 2009). The various therapeutic strategies of MSCs have been summarized in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Therapeutic strategies of MSCs including their ability to regenerate damaged tissue, either by direct mechanisms or indirectly via secretion of cytokines, growth factors, exosomes, and immune system modulating agents. (Created with Biorender.com)

Tissue Regeneration

Irrespective of their source, MSCs have demonstrated remarkable capability to regenerate various tissue types, especially those of mesodermal origin, such as muscle, bones, and cartilage (Pittenger et al. 2019; Le et al. 2020), as well as cardiomyocytes, neurons, and pancreatic β -cells (Farini et al. 2014).

For instance, MSCs have exhibited an excellent regenerative capacity for bones and cartilage repair, both in experimental as well as clinical settings (Kangari et al. 2020). Elucidating the cascade of events involved in the bone repair process, the transplanted cells caused the mobilization of macrophages, induced functional switch from pro-inflammatory to pro-resolving phenotype, and recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells and cells with osteogenic potential intrinsically from the BM (Tasso et al. 2013). Tadoeschi et al. proposed that transplanted MSCs modified the in vivo environment conducive to angiogenesis and bone regeneration (Todeschi et al. 2015). Additionally, the transplanted cells also undergo endothelial differentiation to participate in the formation of the new capillary network (Chen et al. 2009). Various strategies have been adopted to enhance the efficiency of bone repair. For example, Zhou et al. used in vitro osteogenically induced human MSCs for bone tissue engineering in mice to repair skull defects (Zhou et al. 2015). The latest advancement in this regard is the use of scaffold-based delivery of MSCs to enhance their efficacy. Li et al. used a composite scaffold of WJ and chondroitin sulfate loaded with human UC-derived MSCs knee repair in a rodent model (Li et al. 2021). At a molecular level, a variety of mediators with regenerative effects include,

transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs), and others (Granero-Moltó et al. 2009; Qin et al. 2014) have a significant role therein.

Interestingly, MSCs-based therapy also represents a novel efficient therapeutic strategy for cartilage repair owing to its outstanding chondrogenic differentiation potential (Le et al. 2020). MSCs secrete several bioactive factors, which help to restore the extracellular matrices (ECMs) that are essential for the recovery of cartilage functions (Lories and Luyten 2011). Finally, engineered scaffolds have also been used in combination with MSCs and exogenous biochemical stimuli, and demonstrated profound progress in cartilage regeneration (Smith and Grande 2015).

Immunomodulation of MSCs

Although MSCs were initially used to exploit their regenerative capacity and reparability, however, the therapeutic potentials of MSCs have been attributed more to paracrine action and immunomodulation with partial contribution from multilineage differentiation (Ceccarelli et al. 2020). It is now well-established that MSCs exhibit a hypoimmunogenic phenotype as they lack the major histocompatibility class II (MHC-II) and release of immunomodulatory cytokines (Lacy et al. 2021). Thus, these characteristics enable them to evade recognition by the recipient immune system (McIntosh et al. 2006; Puissant et al. 2005). These immunemodulatory effects of MSCs collectively involve cell-to-cell contact-dependent mechanisms and paracrine effects by releasing a plethora of cytokines and growth factors that regulate the immune functions besides decreasing the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Sotiropoulou et al. 2006; Zhou et al. 2018).

Interestingly, Ad-MSCs are superior in immune-modulatory effects than BM-derived MSCs in a matched donor (Melief et al. 2013). This superiority can be attributed to Ad-MSCs' ability to suppress lymphocyte proliferation, inhibit monocytes-derived dendritic cells, natural killer (NK) cytotoxic activities, and the secretion of higher levels of cytokines (Melief et al. 2013; Russell et al. 2016; Valencia et al. 2016).

MSCs influence innate immunity and adaptive immunity through the two axes mentioned earlier, the cell-to-cell contact and the paracrine action. MSCs affect almost all the immune cells through cell-to-cell contact, including T-cells, B-cells, NK cells, macrophages, and DC (Zhou et al. 2019). It has been documented that MSCs inhibit naïve T-cells and memory T-cell responses to communicate with the antigen-presenting cells (Krampera et al. 2003) and inhibit the proliferation of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells through galectin-1 (Gieseke et al. 2010). Besides their effects on T-cells, MSCs also increase the survival of quiescent B-cells through cell-to-cell contact (Franquesa et al. 2015).

It is important to mention that infused MSCs, such as UC-MSCs, reside in the lungs, are phagocytosed by the monocytes causing changes in the monocyte's phenotype and function and modulate the adaptive immune system responses (de Witte et al. 2018). Moreover, MSCs suppress the cytotoxic NK cells' granular polarization (Hu et al. 2019). In this regard, Ad-MSCs are known to switch activated inflammatory M1 macrophages to an M2 macrophage-like phenotype via prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) release (Manferdini et al. 2017).

Regarding the second axis of cytokine secretion via paracrine mechanisms, the MSCs secretome consists of many cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, such as transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1), PGE2, IFN- γ , hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), and nitric oxide, besides many others (Salgado et al. 2010; Li and Hua 2017; Zhou et al. 2019). Interestingly, these bioactive molecules are encapsulated in extracellular vesicles, such as exosomes, micro-vesicles (MVs), or apoptotic bodies, depending on the type of cells of their origin (Ferreira et al. 2018).

MSCs inhibit T-helper 17 (Th17) differentiation by IL-10, PGE2 induction, and IL-17, IL-22, and IFN- γ inhibition (Ghannam et al. 2010). Moreover, MSCs can also inhibit CD4+ T-cells activation via the secretion of programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) and PD-L-2 (Davies et al. 2017). MSCs can also inhibit IL-2 induced NK cells activation by the secretion of IDO and PGE2 (Spaggiari et al. 2008). Additionally, MSCs-derived IL-6 protects neutrophils from apoptosis and preserves them in the BM niche (Raffaghello et al. 2008). IL-6 can also prevent the differentiation of monocytes toward an anti-inflammatory IL-10-producing phenotype (Melief et al. 2013). Also, MSCs-derived PGE2 empower MSCs to suppress the differentiation of monocytes to mature DCs (Spaggiari et al. 2009).

Even the conditioned media (CM) of MSCs containing both soluble and insoluble factors (MSCs-derived exosomes) shows immune-modulatory effects emphasizing the involvement of paracrine actions of the cells. MSC-derived exosomes have been shown to augment neutrophil viability. In contrast, MSCs-derived CM increases neutrophil function, demonstrating that both MSCs-derived exosomes and CM are helpful for improving immunity by modulating neutrophils (Mahmoudi et al. 2019). Additionally, MSCs-derived EVs can attenuate DC maturation, as well as pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and IL-12p70) and upregulation of the anti-inflammatory cytokine TGF- β (Reis et al. 2018). Besides, MSCs-derived exosomes trigger macrophage polarization (Lo Sicco et al. 2017) by enhancing the formation of anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages over M1-like inflammatory macrophages via downregulation of IL-23 and IL-22 (Hyvarinen et al. 2018).

Extracellular Vesicles/Exosomes Derived from MSCs

Interestingly, a growing body of research has revealed that MSCs mediate several therapeutic/beneficial effects via secreting extracellular-vesicles (EVs) (Newton et al. 2017). Generally, the secreted membrane-enclosed vesicles, collectively called EVs, include exosomes, ectosomes, microvesicles, apoptotic bodies, and other EV subsets (Lötvall et al. 2014).

Initially considered the "garbage bags for the disposal of cellular waste," MSCsderived exosomes are now emerging as important mediators of intercellular communication. They have a specific cargo of DNA, mRNA, miRNA, proteins, growth factors, etc. (Haider and Aramini 2020). The content profile of exosomes is cell-type dependent and constantly fluctuates with many determinant factors, including the microenvironmental factors in which the cells are present at a particular time point. They have notably exhibited therapeutic potential for various diseases and are fast emerging as innovative tools in nanomedicine (Kassem and Kamal 2020a; Norouzi-Barough et al. 2021; Wei et al. 2021). Based on these characteristics, exosomes are defined as nano-sized bioactive vesicles derived from the cell's endosomal membrane system and secreted into surrounding body fluids (Théry et al. 2018).

Exosomes can reprogram the recipient cells acting as "signalosomes" for controlling fundamental cellular functions by transferring their cargo to the recipient cells (Gangoda et al. 2015; Bjorge et al. 2018). Recently, exosomes have sparked great interest as a potential cell-free therapy alternative to the current cellular therapies (Haider and Aslam 2018). MSCs-derived exosomes are gaining special attention among the different cell types due to their unique cargo and ease of manipulation (Janockova et al. 2021). Like their parent cells, exosomes stimulate functional recovery and cellular regeneration in various disease conditions (Derkus et al. 2017). However, unlike their parent cells, they have no critical safety concerns; they pose no risk of tumor formation or any concern regarding the immune rejection by the recipient, and they can pass through biological barriers, that is, the bloodbrain barrier, more efficiently. Moreover, since exosomes are naturally equipped to mediate intercellular communication via the transfer of genetic information to recipient cells, they can be utilized as drug delivery systems for gene therapy applications (Colao et al. 2018). MSCs from various tissue sources, Ad-MSCs, BM-derived MSCs, and UCB-derived MSCs, are efficient and established mass producers of exosomes (Yeo et al. 2013; Janockova et al. 2021). Furthermore, MSCs-derived exosomes have been suggested to act through the protein-based mechanism of action as well as micro-RNAs and/or packaged metabolites (Luther et al. 2018; Showalter et al. 2019; Toh et al. 2018).

Conclusively, exosomes derived from MSCs provide a novel platform for a wide array of therapeutic strategies for various disease conditions and eventually may develop into a standardized allogeneic off-the-shelf immunomodulatory and regenerative therapeutics. After extensive evaluation for safety and efficacy studies in the preclinical experimental animal models, they have moved to clinical assessment and www.clinicaltrials.gov shows 226 registered clinical studies involving evaluation of exosome delivery for various diseases, including cardiovascular diseases, stroke, cancer, and COVID-19 pneumonia.

MSCs Act as an Efficient Tool for Gene Therapy

Over the past few years, due to their homing capacity (Karp and Teo 2009) and immunomodulatory activities (Song et al. 2020), MSCs have been nominated as an

efficient tool for gene therapy to treat several pathological conditions, lying at the intersection of cell and gene therapy. Several techniques have been used to generate genetically modified MSCs leading to the up-regulation or down-regulation of native genes related to their regenerative potential or immunomodulatory functions. Alternatively, genetic engineering has been used to modulate them to serve as carriers of transgenes by introducing foreign genes of interest. The genetically modulated cells serve as tiny little factories that continue to secrete the product of the overexpressing genes that significantly contribute to the therapeutic effects of the genetically modulated MSCs (Varkouhi et al. 2020). Such a novel approach using genetically-modified MSCs as gene delivery vehicles widely expand the spectrum of the possible applications of MSCs in various diseases (Oggu et al. 2017).

Interestingly, several cell-therapy pre-clinical studies employing genetically modified MSCs in various critical illness conditions such as acute myocardial infarction. acute liver failure, or even acute lung injury revealed promising results (Varkouhi et al. 2020). Furthermore, genetically engineered MSCs have been used as a vehicle to deliver biological agents to various tumors in preclinical cancer models. In these studies, MSCs have been engineered to express prodrug-converting enzymes, cytokines, pro-apoptotic factors, or antiangiogenic agents either single or multiple transgene overexpression to promote their therapeutic benefits after transplantation (Jiang et al. 2006; Mohr and Zwacka 2018; Mosallaei et al. 2020). Simultaneous overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 has been shown to enhance their endothelial commitment (Lai et al. 2012). MSCs have also been used as carriers of microRNAs, either by genetic modulation to improve their survival and reparability post engraftment (Kim et al. 2012). Transgene overexpression in MSCs has also been used for their reprogramming to pluripotency (Buccini et al. 2012). Conclusively, MSCs indeed represent an efficient tool for gene-therapy applications in regenerative medicine.

References

- Abbaszadeh H, Ghorbani F, Derakhshani M, Movassaghpour AA, Yousefi M, Talebi M, Shamsasenjan K (2020) Regenerative potential of Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a new horizon of stem cell therapy. J Cell Physiol 235(12):9230–9240. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jcp.29810
- Adolfsson E, Helenius G, Friberg Ö, Samano N, Frøbert O, Johansson K (2020) Bone marrow- and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells from donors with coronary artery disease; growth, yield, gene expression and the effect of oxygen concentration. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 80(4):318–326. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365513.2020.1741023
- Aguena M, Fanganiello RD, Tissiani LA, Ishiy FA, Atique R, Alonso N, Passos-Bueno MR (2012) Optimization of parameters for a more efficient use of adipose-derived stem cells in regenerative medicine therapies. Stem Cells Int 2012:303610
- Alstrup T, Eijken M, Brunbjerg ME, Hammer-Hansen N, Moller BK, Damsgaard TE (2020) Measured levels of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells in adipose tissue is strongly dependent on harvesting method and stem cell isolation technique. Plast Reconstr Surg 145: 142–150

- Arutyunyan I, Elchaninov A, Makarov A, Fatkhudinov T (2016) Umbilical cord as prospective source for mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy. Stem Cells Int 2016:6901286
- Azandeh S, Orazizadeh M, Hashemitabar M, Khodadadi A, Shayesteh A, Nejad D, Gharravi A et al (2012) Mixed enzymatic-explant protocol for isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from Wharton's jelly and encapsulation in 3D culture system. J Biomed Sci Eng 5:580–586. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbise.2012.510071
- Badowski MS, Harris DT (2012) Collection, processing, and banking of umbilical cord blood stem cells for transplantation and regenerative medicine. Methods Mol Biol 879:279–290. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-61779-815-3 16
- Bajek A, Gurtowska N, Olkowska J, Maj M, Kazmierski L, Bodnar M, Marszalek A et al (2017) Does the harvesting technique affect the properties of adipose-derived stem cells? – the comparative biological characterization. J Cell Biochem 118:1097–1107
- Banyard DA, Salibian AA, Widgerow AD, Evans GR (2015) Implications for human adiposederived stem cells in plastic surgery. J Cell Mol Med 19:21–30
- Barbagallo I, Li Volti G, Galvano F, Tettamanti G, Pluchinotta FR, Bergante S, Vanella L (2017) Diabetic human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells fail to differentiate in functional adipocytes. Exp Biol Med 242(10):1079–1085. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370216681552
- Batsali A, Kastrinaki M, Papadaki H, Pontikoglou C (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from Wharton's jelly of the umbilical cord: biological properties and emerging clinical applications. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 8:144–155
- Berebichez-Fridman R, Montero-Olvera PR (2018) Sources and clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells: state-of-the-art review. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J 18(3):e264–e277. https://doi. org/10.18295/squmj.2018.18.03.002
- Bhartiya D, Shaikh A, Nagvenkar P, Kasiviswanathan S, Pethe P, Pawani H, Mohanty S (2012) Very small embryonic-like stem cells with maximum regenerative potential get discarded during cord blood banking and bone marrow processing for autologous stem cell therapy. Stem Cells Dev 21(1):1–6. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0311
- Bhat S, Viswanathan P, Chandanala S, Prasanna SJ, Seetharam RN (2021) Expansion and characterization of bone marrow derived human mesenchymal stromal cells in serum-free conditions. Sci Rep 11:3403. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83088-1
- Bian Y, Deng C, Li W, Lei Z, Li Y, Li X (2016) A comparative study on the biological characteristics of human adipose-derived stem cells from lipectomy and liposuction. PLoS One 11:e0162343
- Bieback K, Hecker A, Kocaomer A, Lannert H, Schallmoser K, Strunk D, Kluter H (2009) Human alternatives to fetal bovine serum for the expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells from bone marrow. Stem Cells 27:2331–2341
- Bjorge IM, Kim SY, Mano JF, Kalionis B, Chrzanowski W (2018) Extracellular vesicles, exosomes and shedding vesicles in regenerative medicine – a new paradigm for tissue repair. Biomater Sci 6:60–78
- Bourin P, Bunnell BA, Casteilla L, Dominici M, Katz AJ, March KL, Redl H, Rubin JP, Yoshimura K, Gimble JM (2013) Stromal cells from the adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: a joint statement of the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). Cytotherapy 15:641–648
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301
- Can A, Celikkan FT, Cinar O (2017) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cell transplantations: a systemic analysis of clinical trials. Cytotherapy 19:1351–1382
- Caplan A (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9:641–650
- Caplan AI (1994) The mesengenic process. Clin Plast Surg 21(3):429-435
- Caplan AI (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: time to change the name! Stem Cells Transl Med 6: 1445–1451. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0051

- Ceccarelli S, Pontecorvi P, Anastasiadou E, Napoli C, Marchese C (2020) Immunomodulatory effect of adipose-derived stem cells: the cutting edge of clinical application. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:236
- Chatzistamatiou T, Papassavas A, Michalopoulos E, Gamaloutsos C, Mallis P, Gontika I, Panagouli E et al (2014) Optimizing isolation culture and freezing methods to preserve Wharton's jelly's mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) properties: an MSC banking protocol validation for the Hellenic Cord Blood Bank. Transfusion 54:3108–3120
- Chen L, Tredget E, Wu P, Wu Y (2008) Paracrine factors of mesenchymal stem cells recruit macrophages and endothelial lineage cells and enhance wound healing. PLoS One 3:e1886
- Chen MY, Lie PC, Li ZL, Wei X (2009) Endothelial differentiation of Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells in comparison with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Hematol 37(5):629–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2009.02.003
- Chen YJ, Liu HY, Chang YT, Cheng YH, Mersmann HJ, Kuo WH, Ding ST (2016) Isolation and differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells from porcine subcutaneous adipose tissues. J Vis Exp 2016:e53886
- ClinicalTrials.gov (2019) https://clinicaltrials.gov/
- Colao IL, Corteling R, Bracewell D, Wall I (2018) Manufacturing exosomes: a promising therapeutic platform. Trends Mol Med 24:242–256
- Conley SM, Hickson LJ, Kellogg TA, McKenzie T, Heimbach JK, Taner T, Tang H et al (2020) Human obesity induces dysfunction and early senescence in adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal/stem cells. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:197. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00197
- Da Silva Meirelles L, Chagastelles P, Nardi N (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J Cell Sci 119:2204–2213
- Dai R, Wang Z, Samanipour R, Koo KI, Kim K (2016) Adipose-derived stem cells for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. Stem Cells Int 2016:6737345
- Davies LC, Heldring N, Kadri N, Le Blanc K (2017) Mesenchymal stromal cell secretion of programmed death-1 ligands regulates T cell mediated immunosuppression. Stem Cells 35: 766–776
- De Ugarte DA, Morizono K, Elbarbary A, Alfonso Z, Zuk PA, Zhu M, Dragoo JL et al (2003) Comparison of multi-lineage cells from human adipose tissue and bone marrow. Cells Tissues Organs 174:101–109
- de Witte SFH, Luk F, Sierra Parraga JM, Gargesha M, Merino A, Korevaar SS, Shankar AS et al (2018) Immunomodulation by therapeutic mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) is triggered through phagocytosis of MSC by monocytic cells. Stem Cells 36:602–615
- Derkus B, Emregul KC, Emregul E (2017) A new approach in stem cell research exosomes: their mechanism of action via cellular pathways. Cell Biol Int 41:466–475
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317
- El-Demerdash RF, Hammad LN, Kamal MM, El Mesallamy HO (2015) A comparison of Wharton's jelly and cord blood as a source of mesenchymal stem cells for diabetes cell therapy. Regen Med 10:841–855
- Farini A, Sitzia C, Erratico S, Meregalli M, Torrente Y (2014) Clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells in chronic diseases. Stem Cells Int 2014:306573
- Fathi E, Farahzadi R (2009) Isolation, culturing, characterization and aging of adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells: a brief overview. Braz Arch Biol Technol 59:e16150383. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4324-2016150383
- Ferreira JR, Teixeira GQ, Santos SG, Barbosa MA, Almeida-Porada G, Goncalves RM (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cell Secretome: influencing therapeutic potential by cellular pre-conditioning. Front Immunol 9:2837
- Fong C, Chak L, Biswas A, Tan J, Gauthaman K, Chan W, Bongso A (2011) Human Wharton's jelly stem cells have unique transcriptome profiles compared to human embryonic stem cells and other mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7:1–16

- Fong C-Y, Subramanian A, Biswas A, Bongso A (2016) Freezing of fresh Wharton's jelly from human umbilical cords yields high post-thaw mesenchymal stem cell numbers for cell-based therapies. J Cell Biochem 117:815–827
- Fontes T, Brandão I, Negrão R, Martins MJ, Monteiro R (2018) Autologous fat grafting: harvesting techniques. Ann Med Surg 36:212–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2018.11.005
- Franquesa M, Mensah FK, Huizinga R, Strini T, Boon L, Lombardo E, DelaRosa O et al (2015) Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells abrogate plasmablast formation and induce regulatory B cells independently of T helper cells. Stem Cells 33:880–891
- Frausin S, Viventi S, Verga Falzacappa L, Quattromani MJ, Leanza G, Tommasini A, Valencic E (2015) Wharton's jelly derived mesenchymal stromal cells: biological properties, induction of neuronal phenotype and current applications in neurodegeneration research. Acta Histochem 117(4–5):329–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acthis.2015.02.005
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3:393–403
- Friedenstein A, Chailakhyan R, Latsinik N, Panasyuk A, Keiliss-Borok I (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transfering the microenvironment of the hemopoeitic tissues: cloning in-vitro and retransplantation in-vivo. Transplantation 17:331–340
- Gale AL, Linardi RL, George M, Mammone RM, Ortved KF (2019) Comparison of the chondrogenic differentiation potential of equine synovial membrane-derived and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Front Vet Sci 6:178. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets. 2019.00178
- Gangoda L, Boukouris S, Liem M, Kalra H, Mathivanan S (2015) Extracellular vesicles including exosomes are mediators of signal transduction: are they protective or pathogenic? Proteomics 15(2–3):260–271
- Gatta V, D'Aurora M, Lanuti P, Pierdomenico L, Sperduti S, Palka G, Gesi M et al (2013) Gene expression modifications in Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells promoted by prolonged in vitro culturing. BMC Genomics 14:635
- Gentile P, Piccinno MS, Calabrese C (2019) Characteristics and potentiality of human adiposederived stem cells (hASCs) obtained from enzymatic digestion of fat graft. Cells 8(3):282. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8030282
- Ghamari A, Daghigh F, Mohebbi A, Rahimi Y, Shojaie L, Zolbin MM (2021) Chapter 3. Caracteristic and regenerative potential of human endometrial stem cells and progenitors. In: Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer, Singapore
- Ghannam S, Pene J, Moquet-Torcy G, Jorgensen C, Yssel H (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit human Th17 cell differentiation and function and induce a T regulatory cell phenotype. J Immunol 185:302–312
- Gieseke F, Bohringer J, Bussolari R, Dominici M, Handgretinger R, Muller I (2010) Human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells use galectin-1 to inhibit immune effector cells. Blood 116:3770–3779
- Gnanasegaran N, Govindasamy V, Musa S, Kasim NH (2014) Different isolation methods alter the gene expression profiling of adipose derived stem cells. Int J Med Sci 11:391–403
- Goyal U, Jaiswal C, Ta M (2018) Isolation and establishment of mesenchymal stem cells from Wharton's jelly of human umbilical cord. Bio Protoc 8(4):e2735. https://doi.org/10.21769/ BioProtoc.2735
- Granero-Moltó F, Weis JA, Miga MI, Landis B, Myers TJ, O'Rear L, Longobardi L et al (2009) Regenerative effects of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in fracture healing. Stem Cells 27: 1887–1898
- Haider KH (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the quality matters. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7:6
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7

- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow cell transplantation in clinical perspective. J Mol Cell Cardiol 238:225–235
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1515/ 9783110587043-003
- Hall MN, Rosenkrantz WS, Hong JH, Griffin CE, Mendelsohn CM (2010) Evaluation of the potential use of adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of canine atopic dermatitis: a pilot study. Vet Ther 11:1–14
- Han YF, Tao R, Sun TJ, Chai JK, Xu G, Liu J (2013) Optimization of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell isolation and culture methods. Cytotechnology 65:819–827
- Harris DT (2014) Stem cell banking for regenerative and personalized medicine. Biomedicines 2(1):50–79. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines2010050
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R (2011) Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal 9:12
- Horwitz E, Le Blanc K, Dominici M, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Deans R et al (2005) Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 7:393–395
- Hu CD, Kosaka Y, Marcus P, Rashedi I, Keating A (2019) Differential immunomodulatory effects of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells on natural killer cells. Stem Cells Dev 28:933–943
- Hua J, Gong J, Meng H, Xu B, Yao L, Qian M, He Z et al (2013) Comparison of different methods for the isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord matrix: proliferation and multilineage differentiation as compared to mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood and bone marrow. Cell Biol Int 38:198–210
- Hyvarinen K, Holopainen M, Skirdenko V, Ruhanen H, Lehenkari P, Korhonen M, Kakela R et al (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells and their extracellular vesicles enhance the antiinflammatory phenotype of regulatory macrophages by downregulating the production of interleukin (IL)-23 and IL-22. Front Immunol 9:771
- Jackson WM, Nesti LJ, Tuan RS (2010) Potential therapeutic applications of muscle-derived mesenchymal stem and progenitor cells. Expert Opin Biol Ther 10:505–517. https://doi.org/ 10.1517/14712591003610606
- Janockova J, Slovinska L, Harvanova D, Spakova T, Rosocha J (2021) New therapeutic approaches of mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes. J Biomed Sci 28:39. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12929-021-00736-4
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES. 0000244687.97719.4f
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Ahmed RP, Idris NM, Salim A, Ashraf M (2008) Transcriptional profiling of young and old mesenchymal stem cells in response to oxygen deprivation and reparability of the infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(3):582–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2007.11.014
- Kamal MM, Kassem DH (2020) Therapeutic potential of Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells for diabetes: achievements and challenges. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:16–16
- Kandoi S, Kumar LP, Patra B, Vidyasekar P, Sivanesan D, Vijayalakshmi S, Rajagopal K et al (2018) Evaluation of platelet lysate as a substitute for FBS in explant and enzymatic isolation methods of human umbilical cord MSCs. Sci Rep 8:12439. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30772-4
- Kang JY, Oh M-K, Joo H, Park HS, Chae D-H, Kim J, Lee H-R, Oh I-H, Yu K-R (2020) Xeno-free condition enhances therapeutic functions of human Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem

cells against experimental colitis by upregulated Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity. J Clin Med 9:2913. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9092913

- Kangari P, Talaei-Khozani T, Razeghian-Jahromi I, Razmkhah M (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells: amazing remedies for bone and cartilage defects. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:492
- Karp J, Teo GL (2009) Mesenchymal stem cell homing: the devil is in the details. Cell Stem Cell 4: 206–216
- Kassem DH, Kamal MM (2020a) Mesenchymal stem cells and their extracellular vesicles: a potential game changer for the COVID-19 crisis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:1035
- Kassem DH, Kamal MM (2020b) Therapeutic efficacy of umbilical cord-derived stem cells for diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis study. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:484
- Kassem DH, Kamal MM (2020c) Wharton's jelly MSCs: potential weapon to sharpen for our battle against DM. Trends Endocrinol Metab 31:271–273
- Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Kluter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24:1294–1301
- Khazaei S, Keshavarz G, Bozorgi A, Nazari H, Khazaei M (2021) Adipose tissue-derived stem cells: a comparative review on isolation, culture, and differentiation methods. Cell Tissue Bank. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10561-021-09905-z
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim D, Staples M, Shinozuka K, Pantcheva P, Kang S, Borlongan C (2013) Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells: phenotypic characterization and optimizing their therapeutic potential for clinical applications. Int J Mol Sci 14:11692–11712
- Kim YS, Choi YJ, Koh YG (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell implantation in knee osteoarthritis: an assessment of the factors influencing clinical outcomes. Am J Sports Med 43:2293–2301
- Knudtzon S (1974) In vitro growth of granulocytic colonies from circulating cells in human cord blood. Blood 43:357
- Koh YG, Kwon OR, Kim YS, Choi YJ, Tak DH (2016) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells with microfracture versus microfracture alone: 2-year follow-up of a prospective randomized trial. Arthroscopy 32:97–109
- Krampera M, Glennie S, Dyson J, Scott D, Laylor R, Simpson E, Dazzi F (2003) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells inhibit the response of naive and memory antigen-specific T cells to their cognate peptide. Blood 101:3722–3729
- Kunze KN, Burnett RA, Wright-Chisem J, Frank RM, Chahla J (2020) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell treatments and available formulations. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 13: 264–280
- La Rocca G, Anzalone R, Corrao S, Magno F, Loria T, Lo Iacono M, Di Stefano A et al (2009) Isolation and characterization of Oct-4+/HLA-G+ mesenchymal stem cells from human umbilical cord matrix: differentiation potential and detection of new markers. Histochem Cell Biol 131:267–282
- Lacy KJ, Christopher BR, Natalie P, Erica KG, Wayne MC (2021) Interactions between allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells and the recipient immune system: a comparative review with relevance to equine outcomes. Front Vet Sci 7:1131. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.617647
- Lai VK, Afzal MR, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Non-hypoxic stabilization of HIF-1α during coordinated interaction between Akt and angiopoietin-1 enhances endothelial commitment of bone marrow stem cells. J Mol Med 90(6):719–730
- Laroye C, Boufenzer A, Jolly L, Cunat L, Alauzet C, Merlin J-L, Yguel C et al (2019) Bone marrow vs Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells in experimental sepsis: a comparative study. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:192. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1295-9
- Le H, Xu W, Zhuang X, Chang F, Wang Y, Ding J (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells for cartilage regeneration. J Tissue Eng 11:2041731420943839
- Li N, Hua J (2017) Interactions between mesenchymal stem cells and the immune system. Cell Mol Life Sci 74:2345–2360

- Li X, Bai J, Ji X, Li R, Xuan Y, Wang Y (2014) Comprehensive characterization of four different populations of human mesenchymal stem cells as regards their immune properties, proliferation and differentiation. Int J Mol Med 34:695–704
- Li CY, Wu XY, Tong JB, Yang XX, Zhao JL, Zheng QF, Zhao GB et al (2015a) Comparative analysis of human mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue under xenofree conditions for cell therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 6(1):55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-015-0066-5
- Li L-M, Ruan G-X, Huangfu M-Y, Chen Z-L, Liu H-N, Li L-X, Hu Y-L et al (2015b) ScreenFect A: an efficient and low toxic liposome for gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Pharm 488:1–11
- Li Z, Bi Y, Wu Q, Chen C, Zhou L, Qi J, Xie D et al (2021) A composite scaffold of Wharton's jelly and chondroitin sulphate loaded with human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells repairs articular cartilage defects in rat knee. J Mater Sci Mater Med 32(4):36. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10856-021-06506-w
- Lo Sicco C, Reverberi D, Balbi C, Ulivi V, Principi E, Pascucci L, Becherini P et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as mediators of anti-inflammatory effects: endorsement of macrophage polarization. Stem Cells Transl Med 6:1018–1028
- Lories RJ, Luyten FP (2011) The bone-cartilage unit in osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol 7:43-49
- Lötvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzás EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, Gho YS et al (2014) Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. J Extracell vesicles 3:26913
- Luther KM, Haar L, McGuinness M, Wang Y, Lynch Iv TL, Phan A, Song Y et al (2018) Exosomal miR-21a-5p mediates cardioprotection by mesenchymal stem cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 119: 125–137
- Ma S, Xie N, Li W, Yuan B, Shi Y, Wang Y (2014) Immunobiology of mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Death Differ 21:216–225
- Mahmood A, Lu D, Lu M, Chopp M (2003) Treatment of traumatic brain injury in adult rats with intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells. Neurosurgery 53:697–703
- Mahmoudi M, Taghavi-Farahabadi M, Rezaei N, Hashemi SM (2019) Comparison of the effects of adipose tissue mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes with conditioned media on neutrophil function and apoptosis. Int Immunopharmacol 74:105689
- Manferdini C, Paolella F, Gabusi E, Gambari L, Piacentini A, Filardo G, Fleury-Cappellesso S et al (2017) Adipose stromal cells mediated switching of the pro-inflammatory profile of M1-like macrophages is facilitated by PGE2: in vitro evaluation. Osteoarthr Cartil 25:1161–1171
- Marigo I, Dazzi F (2011) The immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stem cells. Semin Immunopathol 33:593–602
- Marino L, Castaldi MA, Rosamilio R, Ragni E, Vitolo R, Fulgione C, Castaldi SG et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells from the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord: biological properties and therapeutic potential. Int J Stem Cells 12(2):218–226. https://doi.org/10.15283/ ijsc18034
- Mazini L, Rochette L, Amine M, Malka G (2019) Regenerative capacity of adipose derived stem cells (ADSCs), comparison with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Int J Mol Sci 20:2523
- Mazini L, Rochette L, Admou B, Amal S, Malka G (2020) Hopes and limits of adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in wound healing. Int J Mol Sci 21(4): 1306. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21041306
- McIntosh K, Zvonic S, Garrett S, Mitchell JB, Floyd ZE, Hammill L, Kloster A et al (2006) The immunogenicity of human adipose-derived cells: temporal changes in vitro. Stem Cells 24: 1246–1253
- Melief SM, Zwaginga JJ, Fibbe WE, Roelofs H (2013) Adipose tissue-derived multipotent stromal cells have a higher immunomodulatory capacity than their bone marrow-derived counterparts. Stem Cells Transl Med 2:455–463
- Moffett A, Loke Y (2003) The immunological paradox of pregnancy: a reappraisal. Placenta 25:1-8

- Mohr A, Zwacka R (2018) The future of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapeutic approaches for cancer from cells to ghosts. Cancer Lett 414:239–249
- Mosallaei M, Simonian M, Ehtesham N, Karimzadeh MR, Vatandoost N, Negahdari B, Salehi R (2020) Genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells: targeted delivery of immunomodulatory agents for tumor eradication. Cancer Gene Ther 27:854–868
- Munoz J, Shah N, Rezvani K, Hosing C, Bollard CM, Oran B, Olson A et al (2014) Concise review: umbilical cord blood transplantation: past, present, and future. Stem Cells Transl Med 3: 1435–1443
- Murphy J, Fink D, Hunziker E, Barry F (2003) Stem cell therapy in a caprine model of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 48:3464–3474
- Najar M, Raicevic G, Kazan HF, de Bruyn C, Bron D, Toungouz M, Lagneaux L et al (2012) Immune-related antigens, surface molecules and regulatory factors in human-derived mesenchymal stromal cells: the expression and impact of inflammatory priming. Stem Cell Rev Rep 8: 1188–1198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-012-9408-1
- Naji A, Eitoku M, Favier B, Deschaseaux F, Rouas-Freiss N, Suganuma N (2019) Biological functions of mesenchymal stem cells and clinical implications. Cell Mol Life Sci 76:3323–3348
- Nekanti U, Rao V, Bahirvani A, Jan M, Totey S, Ta M (2009) Long-term expansion and pluripotent marker array analysis of Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 19: 117–130
- Newton WC, Kim JW, Luo JZQ, Luo L (2017) Stem cell-derived exosomes: a novel vector for tissue repair and diabetic therapy. J Mol Endocrinol 59:R155–R165
- Niezgoda A, Niezgoda P, Nowowiejska L, Białecka A, Męcińska-Jundziłł K, Adamska U et al (2017) Properties of skin stem cells and their potential clinical applications in modern dermatology. Eur J Dermatol 27:227–236. https://doi.org/10.1684/ejd.2017.2988
- Norouzi-Barough L, Shirian S, Gorji A, Sadeghi M (2021) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as a cell-free therapy approach for the treatment of skin, bone, and cartilage defects. Connect Tissue Res 2021:1–14
- Obradovic H, Krstic J, Trivanovic D, Mojsilovic S, Okic I, Kukolj T, Ilic V et al (2019) Improving stemness and functional features of mesenchymal stem cells from Wharton's jelly of a human umbilical cord by mimicking the native, low oxygen stem cell niche. Placenta 82:25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2019.05.005
- Oggu GS, Sasikumar S, Reddy N, Ella KKR, Rao CM, Bokara KK (2017) Gene delivery approaches for mesenchymal stem cell therapy: strategies to increase efficiency and specificity. Stem Cell Rev Rep 13:725–740
- Pirjali T, Azarpira N, Ayatollahi M, Aghdaie MH, Geramizadeh B, Talai T (2013) Isolation and characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly and amniotic membrane. Int J Organ Transplant Med 4(3):111–116
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA et al (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284:143–147
- Pittenger MF, Discher DE, Péault BM, Phinney DG, Hare JM, Caplan AI et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. npj Regen Med 4:22. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41536-019-0083-6
- Polisetti N, Chaitanya VG, Babu PP, Vemuganti GK (2010) Isolation, characterization and differentiation potential of rat bone marrow stromal cells. Neurol India 58:201–208
- Prantl L, Eigenberger A, Brix E, Kempa S, Baringer M, Felthaus O (2021) Adipose tissue-derived stem cell yield depends on isolation protocol and cell counting method. Cells 10(5):1113. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10051113
- Prasad VK, Lucas KG, Kleiner GI, Talano JA, Jacobsohn D, Broadwater G, Monroy R et al (2011) Efficacy and safety of ex vivo cultured adult human mesenchymal stem cells (Prochymal[™]) in pediatric patients with severe refractory acute graft-versus-host disease in a compassionate use study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 17:534–541
- Puissant B, Barreau C, Bourin P, Clavel C, Corre J, Bousquet C, Taureau C et al (2005) Immunomodulatory effect of human adipose tissue-derived adult stem cells: comparison with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Br J Haematol 129:118–129

- Qin Y, Guan J, Zhang C (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms and role in bone regeneration. Postgrad Med J 90:643–647
- Raffaghello L, Bianchi G, Bertolotto M, Montecucco F, Busca A, Dallegri F, Ottonello L et al (2008) Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit neutrophil apoptosis: a model for neutrophil preservation in the bone marrow niche. Stem Cells 26:151–162
- Reis M, Mavin E, Nicholson L, Green K, Dickinson AM, Wang XN (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate dendritic cell maturation and function. Front Immunol 9:2538
- Roura S, Pujal J-M, Gálvez-Montón C, Bayes-Genis A (2015) The role and potential of umbilical cord blood in an era of new therapies: a review. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:123
- Russell KA, Chow NH, Dukoff D, Gibson TW, LaMarre J, Betts DH, Koch TG (2016) Characterization and immunomodulatory effects of canine adipose tissue- and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. PLoS One 11:e0167442
- Salehinejad P, Alitheen NB, Ali AM, Omar AR, Mohit M, Janzamin E, Samani FS (2012) Comparison of different methods for the isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 48(2):75–83. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11626-011-9480-x
- Salgado AJ, Reis RL, Sousa NJ, Gimble JM (2010) Adipose tissue derived stem cells secretome: soluble factors and their roles in regenerative medicine. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 5:103–110
- Shaer A, Azarpira N, Aghdaie MH, Esfandiari E (2014) Isolation and characterization of human mesenchymal stromal cells derived from placental decidua basalis; umbilical cord Wharton's jelly and amniotic membrane. Pak J Med Sci 30(5):1022–1026. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.305.4537
- Shetty P, Cooper K, Viswanathan C (2010) Comparison of proliferative and multilineage differentiation potentials of cord matrix, cord blood, and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Asian J Transfus Sci 4:14–24
- Shi L, Huang H, Lu X, Yan X, Jiang X, Xu R, Wang S et al (2021) Effect of human umbilical cordderived mesenchymal stem cells on lung damage in severe COVID-19 patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6:58. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41392-021-00488-5
- Showalter MR, Wancewicz B, Fiehn O, Archard JA, Clayton S, Wagner J, Deng P et al (2019) Primed mesenchymal stem cells package exosomes with metabolites associated with immunomodulation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 512:729–735
- Shukla L, Yuan Y, Shayan R, Greening DW, Karnezis T (2020) Fat therapeutics: the clinical capacity of adipose-derived stem cells and exosomes for human disease and tissue regeneration. Front Pharmacol 11:158
- Sibov TT, Severino P, Marti LC, Pavon LF, Oliveira DM, Tobo PR, Campos AH et al (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood: parameters for isolation, characterization and adipogenic differentiation. Cytotechnology 64:511–521
- Singh TP, Sherpa ML, Pradhan A, Singh TA (2019) Development of a simple selection protocol for optimizing the harvest of mesenchymal stem cells from explanted human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly. Asian J Med Sci 10(4):1–8. https://doi.org/10.3126/ajms.v10i4.24456
- Smith BD, Grande DA (2015) The current state of scaffolds for musculoskeletal regenerative applications. Nat Rev Rheumatol 11:213–222
- Song N, Scholtemeijer M, Shah K (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell immunomodulation: mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Trends Pharmacol Sci 41:653–664
- Sotiropoulou PA, Perez SA, Salagianni M, Baxevanis CN, Papamichail M (2006) Cell culture medium composition and translational adult bone marrow-derived stem cell research. Stem Cells 24:1409–1410
- Spaggiari GM, Capobianco A, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Mingari MC, Moretta L (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit natural killer-cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. Blood 111:1327–1333
- Spaggiari GM, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Moretta L (2009) MSCs inhibit monocyte-derived DC maturation and function by selectively interfering with the generation of immature DCs: central role of MSC-derived prostaglandin E2. Blood 113:6576–6583
- Spurway J, Logan P, Pak S (2012) The development, structure and blood flow within the umbilical cord with particular reference to the venous system. Australas J Ultrasound Med 15:97–102. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2205-0140.2012.tb00013.x
- Strioga M, Viswanathan S, Darinskas A, Slaby O, Michalek J (2012) Same or not the same? Comparison of adipose tissue-derived versus bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem and stromal cells. Stem Cells Dev 21(14):2724–2752. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0722
- Tasso R, Ulivi V, Reverberi D, Lo Sicco C, Descalzi F, Cancedda R (2013) In vivo implanted bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells trigger a cascade of cellular events leading to the formation of an ectopic bone regenerative niche. Stem Cells Dev 22(24):3178–3191. https://doi. org/10.1089/scd.2013.0313
- Tekkatte C, Gunasingh GP, Cherian KM, Sankaranarayanan K (2011) "Humanized" stem cell culture techniques: the animal serum controversy. Stem Cells Int 2011:504723
- Théry C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R, Antoniou A et al (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1535750
- Todeschi MR, El Backly R, Capelli C, Daga A, Patrone E, Introna M, Cancedda R et al (2015) Transplanted umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells modify the in vivo microenvironment enhancing angiogenesis and leading to bone regeneration. Stem Cells Dev 24(13):1570–1581. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2014.0490
- Toh WS, Lai RC, Zhang B, Lim SK (2018) MSC exosome works through a protein-based mechanism of action. Biochem Soc Trans 46:843–853
- Troyer D, Weiss M (2008) Concise review: Wharton's jelly-derived cells are a primitive stromal cell population. Stem Cells 26:591–599
- Um S, Ha J, Choi SJ, Oh W, Jin HJ (2020) Prospects for the therapeutic development of umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells. World J Stem Cells 12(12):1511–1528. https://doi. org/10.4252/wjsc.v12.i12.1511
- Valencia J, Blanco B, Yanez R, Vazquez M, Herrero Sanchez C, Fernandez-Garcia M, Rodriguez Serrano C et al (2016) Comparative analysis of the immunomodulatory capacities of human bone marrow- and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells from the same donor. Cytotherapy 18:1297–1311
- Varghese J, Griffin M, Mosahebi A, Butler P (2017) Systematic review of patient factors affecting adipose stem cell viability and function: implications for regenerative therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:45
- Varkouhi AK, Monteiro APT, Tsoporis JN, Mei SHJ, Stewart DJ, dos Santos CC (2020) Genetically modified mesenchymal stromal/stem cells: application in critical illness. Stem Cell Rev Rep 16: 812–827
- Vasandan AB, Shankar SR, Prasad P, Sowmya Jahnavi V, Bhonde RR, Jyothi Prasanna S (2014) Functional differences in mesenchymal stromal cells from human dental pulp and periodontal ligament. J Cell Mol Med 18:344–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.12192
- Viswanathan S, Shi Y, Galipeau J, Krampera M, Leblanc K, Martin I, Nolta J et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem versus stromal cells: International Society for Cell & Gene Therapy (ISCT) Mesenchymal Stromal Cell committee position statement on nomenclature. Cytotherapy 21:1019–1024
- Wang H, Hung S, Peng S, Huang C, Wei H, Guo Y, Fu Y, Lai M, Chen C (2004) Mesenchymal stem cells in the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord. Stem Cells 22:1330–1337. https://doi. org/10.1634/stemcells.2004-0013
- Wang YQ, Wang M, Zhang P, Song JJ, Li YP, Hou SH, Huang CX (2008) Effect of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells from rats of different ages on the improvement of heart function after acute myocardial infarction. Chin Med J 121(22):2290–2298
- Wang S, Qu X, Zhao R (2012) Clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells. J Hematol Oncol 5:19

- Wang LT, Ting CH, Yen ML, Liu KJ, Sytwu HK, Wu KK, Yen BL (2016a) Human mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) for treatment towards immune- and inflammation-mediated diseases: review of current clinical trials. J Biomed Sci 23:76
- Wang Q, Yang Q, Wang Z, Tong H, Ma L, Zhang Y, Shan F et al (2016b) Comparative analysis of human mesenchymal stem cells from fetal-bone marrow, adipose tissue, and Warton's jelly as sources of cell immunomodulatory therapy. Hum Vaccin Immunother 12(1):85–96. https://doi. org/10.1080/21645515.2015.1030549
- Wei W, Ao Q, Wang X, Cao Y, Liu Y, Zheng SG, Tian X (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes: a promising biological tool in nanomedicine. Front Pharmacol 11:1954
- Wharton T (1656) Adenographia (trans: Freer S). Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, pp 242–248 (1996)
- Xu Y, Meng H, Li C, Hao M, Wang Y, Yu Z, Li Q, Han J, Zhai Q, Qiu L (2010) Umbilical cordderived mesenchymal stem cells isolated by a novel explanation technique can differentiate into functional endothelial cells and promote revascularization. Stem Cells Dev 19:1511–1522
- Xu L, Liu Y, Sun Y, Wang B, Xiong Y, Lin W, Wei A et al (2017) Tissue source determines the differentiation potentials of mesenchymal stem cells: a comparative study of human mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:275. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13287-017-0716-x
- Yang XF, He X, He J, Zhang LH, Su XJ, Dong ZY, Xu YJ et al (2011) High efficient isolation and systematic identification of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomed Sci 18:59
- Yeo RW, Lai RC, Zhang B, Tan SS, Yin Y, Teh BJ, Lim SK (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell: an efficient mass producer of exosomes for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65:336–341
- Zhang J, Liu Y, Chen Y, Yuan L, Liu H, Wang J, Liu Q, Zhang Y (2020a) Adipose-derived stem cells: current applications and future directions in the regeneration of multiple tissues. Stem Cells Int 2020:8810813
- Zhang Y, Ding J, Ren S, Wang W, Yang Y, Li S, Meng M et al (2020b) Intravenous infusion of human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells as a potential treatment for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:207. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-020-01725-4
- Zhou Y, Fan W, Prasadam I, Crawford R, Xiao Y (2015) Implantation of osteogenic differentiated donor mesenchymal stem cells causes recruitment of host cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 9(2): 118–126. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1619
- Zhou K, Guo S, Tong S, Sun Q, Li F, Zhang X, Qiao Y et al (2018) Immunosuppression of human adipose-derived stem cells on T cell subsets via the reduction of NF-kappaB activation mediated by PD-L1/PD-1 and Gal-9/TIM-3 pathways. Stem Cells Dev 27:1191–1202
- Zhou Y, Yamamoto Y, Xiao Z, Ochiya T (2019) The immunomodulatory functions of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells mediated via paracrine activity. J Clin Med 8:1025
- Zhu Y, Liu T, Song K, Fan X, Ma X, Cui Z (2008) Adipose-derived stem cell: a better stem cell than BMSC. Cell Biochem Funct 26:664–675
- Zhu M, Heydarkhan-Hagvall S, Hedrick M, Benhaim P, Zuk P (2013) Manual isolation of adiposederived stem cells from human lipoaspirates. J Vis Exp 2013:e50585
- Zolbin MM, Aliakbari F, Mehdizadeh S, Dayabari SS, Shojaie L, Haider KH, Johnson J (2021) Chapter 4. Ovarian stem cells and progenitors and their regenerative capabilities. In: Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer, Singapore

Check for updates

Considerations for Clinical Use of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Bernat Soria, Juan R. Tejedo, Francico J. Bedoya, Jose Miguel Sempere-Ortells, and Tarik Smani

Contents

Biological Characteristics65Phenotypic Profile65MSCs' Proliferation68Differentiation Capacity68Cellular Transformation69Mechanism of Action69Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues69Tissue Repair70Immunomodulatory Potential70Preclinical Applications72MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases73MSCs for Cancer Treatment74	Introduction	54
Phenotypic Profile 65 MSCs' Proliferation 68 Differentiation Capacity 68 Cellular Transformation 69 Mechanism of Action 69 Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues 69 Tissue Repair 70 Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Biological Characteristics	65
MSCs' Proliferation 68 Differentiation Capacity 68 Cellular Transformation 69 Mechanism of Action 69 Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues 69 Tissue Repair 70 Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Phenotypic Profile	65
Differentiation Capacity68Cellular Transformation69Mechanism of Action69Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues69Tissue Repair70Immunomodulatory Potential70Preclinical Applications72MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases73MSCs for Cancer Treatment74	MSCs' Proliferation	68
Cellular Transformation 69 Mechanism of Action 69 Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues 69 Tissue Repair 70 Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Differentiation Capacity	68
Mechanism of Action 69 Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues 69 Tissue Repair 70 Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Cellular Transformation	69
Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues 69 Tissue Repair 70 Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Mechanism of Action	69
Tissue Repair 70 Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues	69
Immunomodulatory Potential 70 Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Tissue Repair	70
Preclinical Applications 72 MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases 73 MSCs for Cancer Treatment 74	Immunomodulatory Potential	70
MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases	Preclinical Applications	72
MSCs for Cancer Treatment	MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases	73
	MSCs for Cancer Treatment	74

A. Hmadcha (⊠)

Department of Biotechnology, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain

University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain e-mail: khmadcha@upo.es

B. Soria University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Department of Physiology, Institute of Bioengineering-Alicante Institute for Health and Biomedical Research (ISABIAL), University Miguel Hernández School of Medicine, Alicante, Spain e-mail: bernat.soria@umh.es

J. R. Tejedo · F. J. Bedoya Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemical Engineering, University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain e-mail: jrtejhua@upo.es; fbedber@upo.es

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_3

The Anti-tumor Activity of MSCs	15
The Pro-tumor Activity of MSCs	/6
The Imprint of Disease on MSCs	17
Considerations for Clinical Applications	/8
Safety Concerns	19
Cell Manufacturing for Clinical Use 8	30
Considerations for Cellular Medicament	32
General Considerations	32
Attempts to Improve the Therapeutic Outcomes of Cellular Medicament	33
Concluding Remarks and Future Perspective	36
Cross-References	37
References 8	37

Abstract

The clinical application of stem cells continues to fascinate the scientific and clinical communities. Despite the controversies surrounding this field, it is clear that stem cells have revolutionized regenerative medicine. Cell therapy is a progressively growing field that is moving fast from preclinical model development to clinical application. In this regard, outcomes obtained from clinical trials reveal the therapeutic potential of stem cell-based therapy that deals with unmet medical treatment for several disorders with no therapeutic alternatives. The application of stem cells in regenerative medicine is addressing a wide range of clinical conditions using various types of stem cells. Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) have been established as promising candidate sources of universal donor cells for cell therapy due to their contributions to tissue and organ homeostasis, repair, and support by self-renewal and multi-differentiation, as well as by their anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative, immunomodulatory, trophic, and proangiogenic properties. Various diseases have been successfully treated by MSCs in animal models. Additionally, hundreds of clinical trials related to the potential benefits of MSCs are in progress or have concluded satisfactorily. However, although all MSCs are considered suitable to exert these functions, dissimilarities have been found among MSCs derived from different tissues. The same levels of efficacy and desired outcomes have not always been achieved in the diverse studies that have been performed thus far. Therefore, collecting information regarding the characteristics of MSCs obtained from different sources and the influence of other medical and physiological conditions on MSCs is important for

Department of Medical Physiology and Biophysics, University of Seville, Seville, Spain

Biomedical Research Networking Centers of Cardiovascular Diseases (CIBERCV), Madrid, Spain e-mail: tasmani@us.es

J. M. Sempere-Ortells

Department of Biotechnology, Immunology Division, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain e-mail: josemiguel@ua.es

T. Smani

Cardiovascular Pathophysiology, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville (IBiS), University Hospital of Virgen del Rocío/University of Seville/CSIC, Seville, Spain

assuring the feasibility, safety, and efficacy of cell-based therapies. This chapter will update and discuss the state of the art in MSCs' cell-based therapies and provide relevant information regarding factors to consider for the clinical application of MSCs.

Keywords

...

Advanced therapy \cdot Cell therapy \cdot Clinical trial \cdot Good manufacturing practice \cdot Immunomodulation \cdot Inflammation \cdot Medicinal products \cdot Mesenchymal stromal cells \cdot Trophic factors

Abbreviations	
Ad-MSCs	Adipose tissue-derived MSCs
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
ATMPs	Advanced therapy medicinal products
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BM-MSCs	Bone marrow-derived MSCs
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts
Cas9	CRISPR-associated protein 9
CCL	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
CFU-F	Colony-forming unit fibroblast
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CXCL12	C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (or SDF1)
Dkk-1	Dickkopf-1
ECs	Endothelial cells
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GMP	Good manufacturing practice
GPS	Glycotransferase-programmed stereo substitution
GVHD	Graft-versus-host diseases
GVL	Graft-versus-leukemia
HCELL	Hematopoietic cell E-selectin/L-selectin ligand
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HLA-DR	Human leukocyte antigen-DR isotype
HLA-G5	Human leukocyte antigen-G5
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
IBMIR	Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction
ICAM-2	Intercellular adhesion molecule 2
IDO	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1

IL	Interleukin
IL-1α	Interleukin-1 alpha
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
ITP	Immune thrombocytopenic purpura
LFA-3	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 3 (or CD58)
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MHC-HLA	Major histocompatibility complex-human leukocyte antigen
MMP-2	Matrix metalloproteinase 2
MSCs	Mesenchymal stromal cells
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PD-MSCs	Placenta-derived MSCs
PGE-2	Prostaglandin-E2
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
SDF-1	Stromal cell-derived factor 1
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SSc	Systemic sclerosis
STC1	Stanniocalcin-1
TALENs	Transcription activator nucleases
TbRIII	Type III TGF-β receptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
tPA	Tissue plasminogen activator
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Trx1	Thioredoxin-1
TSG-6	Tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-6
UCB-MSCs	Umbilical cord-derived MSCs
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
ZFNs	Zinc finger nucleases

Introduction

Regenerative medicine is a novel emerging medical approach that drives the current understanding of biological and medical processes and suggests new treatments. As defined by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), advanced therapies include cell and gene therapy and tissue engineering (Iglesias-López et al. 2019). Advanced therapies open up a broad set of translational fields and targets in areas of unmet medical need. In this regard, cell-based therapy through the application of cells, either alone or engineered, as a pharmacologically active substance seeks to restore the functioning of damaged

tissues or organs through the protection of cellular integrity, the replacement of damaged cells, and the promotion of trophic, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory effects among others. However, while the progression of cell-based therapy in early-phase clinical trials with patients has progressed promisingly, the translation from laboratory to bedside to late-phase clinical trials has not been as rapid as expected. It is necessary to consider that these new therapeutic alternatives also involve unknown side effects that must be detected and characterized in-depth to improve and ensure safety, feasibility, and efficacy of cell application (García-Bernal et al. 2021; Hmadcha et al. 2020; Soria-Juan et al. 2019; Escacena et al. 2015; Gálvez et al. 2013).

In this regard, mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are the most common cell type used in cell-based therapy due to their unique biological properties, including easy expansion and culture. The MSC-Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT-MSC) first proposed that plastic-adherent cells of the bone marrow (BM) generally described as "mesenchymal stem cells" should be defined as "multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells." In contrast, the term "mesenchymal stem cells" should be reticent for a subset of these cells that show stem cell activity by clearly stated criteria. As the acronym MSCs may be used to define both cell populations, the combined definition "mesenchymal stem/stromal cells" is probably more appropriate, especially when the "stemness" of the whole MSC population is not demonstrated (Horwitz et al. 2005). Recently, this committee offers a position statement to clarify the nomenclature of "mesenchymal stem/stromal cells." The ISCT-MSC committee continues to support the use of the acronym "mesenchymal stromal cells" but recommends that this should be complemented by the tissue origin from which the cells were derived, which would highlight tissue-specific properties: that they be referred to as "stromal" unless there are rigorous in vitro and in vivo evidence of their stemness supplemented by a robust matrix of functional assays to demonstrate the "mesenchymal stromal cells" properties. Thus, they should not be defined generically, but based on the intended therapeutic mode of action (Viswanathan et al. 2019).

The MSCs are now considered as "cellular medicament" but are widely accepted to represent a heterogeneous population of multipotent non-hematopoietic progenitor cells with varying degrees of stemness, which mean that they have self-renewal and multi-differentiation abilities, the capability to differentiate into multiple cell types, including adipocytes, chondrocytes, and osteoblasts, depending on in vitro culture conditions (Soria-Juan et al. 2019).

The MSCs reside in almost all tissues, are found in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues, and are derived from the mesodermal germ layer. Furthermore, MSCs can be obtained from easily accessible sources by minimally invasive methods (e.g., peripheral blood, adipose tissue) and can be rapidly expanded in large scale for clinical use (Escacena et al. 2015). This allows producing a patient-specific cellular medicament (e.g., autologous medicinal product) within a therapeutic time window. In addition, the possibility of obtaining MSCs from adult tissue circumvents the ethical issues associated with the use of embryonic source (Lo and Parham 2009; Ramos-Zúñiga et al. 2012). MSCs are inexpensively isolated and are easily expanded in vitro due to their fibroblastic characteristic and high adherence to plastic. MSCs are characterized by a specific pattern of membrane markers, consisting of the expression of CD73, D90, and CD105 and the absence of expression of CD14, CD34, CD45, and human leukocyte antigen-DR (HLA-DR), making them promising candidate sources of donor cells for use in cell-based therapy and transplantation (Horwitz et al. 2005).

MSCs function in tissue repair and support, contributing to tissue homeostasis. Even though the exact origin of MSCs remains elusive, there is strong evidence that MSC progenitors are found in the perivascular zone (Escacena et al. 2015) in an environment that promotes a quiescent state, ensuring the maintenance of homeostasis. Upon tissue damage, MSCs enter the bloodstream and are attracted to pro-inflammatory cytokines in the areas of injury. Therefore, MSCs have been termed "guardians of inflammation" (Prockop and Oh 2012). The cytoskeleton, extracellular matrix molecules, cell-cell contacts, adhesion ligands, and receptors are involved in the repair process. While the exact mechanisms related to MSCs' migration to specific sites and through the endothelial cell layer are still unknown, chemokines and their receptors may play a role in this process (Hmadcha et al. 2020; Petrie et al. 2009).

Furthermore, MSCs' survival, permanent engraftment, and differentiation into resident cells were thought, initially, to be necessary to obtain the beneficial effects of these cells, and clinical experience and several experiments have shown that one of the primary functions of MSCs, most likely their critical function, is to secrete several bioactive molecules related to the microenvironment "niche" in which these cells are located. Consequently, the secretome reproduces most of the effects of MSCs transiently; in this sense, MSCs secrete a wide variety of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and prostaglandins under resting and inflammatory conditions (Hmadcha et al. 2009).

These molecules are associated with immunomodulation (indoleamine-2,3dioxygenase (IDO), prostaglandin-E2 (PGE-2), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), human leukocyte antigen-G5 (HLA-G5), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)), anti-apoptosis (vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), TGF- β , stanniocalcin-1 (STC1), and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1)), angiogenesis (VEGF, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), and IGF-1), local stem and progenitor cell growth and differentiation support (CSF complex, angiopoietin-1, and stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1)), anti-fibrosis (HGF and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)), and chemoattraction (chemokine (C-C motif) ligands 2 and 4 (CCL2, CCL4) and C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12 also called SDF1)) (Meirelles Lda et al. 2009).

MSCs display a low expression of major histocompatibility complex class I human leukocyte antigen (MHC-HLA class I), while they are constitutively negative for HLA-class II; likewise, they do not express costimulatory molecules such as CD80, CD86, CD40, and CD40L. However, MSCs share the expression of surface markers, such as vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule 2 (ICAM-2), and lymphocyte function-associated antigen 3 (LFA-3 or CD58) with the thymic epithelium, which is crucial for the interaction with T cells

(Hmadcha et al. 2009; Le Blanc 2003). Whereas MSCs remain in a quiescent state showing anti-apoptotic properties and contributing to homeostasis, in an inflammatory environment (presence of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 α , and IL-1 β), they begin to exercise their immunomodulation abilities, inhibiting the proliferation of effector cells and their cytokine production. In the same way, MSCs can block various immune cell functions (Hmadcha et al. 2009; Cagliani et al. 2017).

There is a complex "cross-talk" interaction between MSCs and endothelial cells (ECs). MSCs increase the proliferation and migration of the ECs, promoting early events of angiogenesis and decreasing the permeability of the monolayer of the ECs. In direct co-cultures of MSCs and ECs, MSCs increased the persistence of pre-existing blood vessels in a dose-dependent manner (Duffy et al. 2009). Moreover, beneficial therapeutic effects of the use of conditioned media of MSCs have been reported; even it is therapeutically better than the cells themselves (Burlacu et al. 2013; Shrestha et al. 2013) and to stimulate the proliferation of local ECs (Potapova et al. 2007). Likewise, in addition to direct "cell-cell" contact, speculation has been made with a possible transfer of mitochondria or vesicular components (secretome) that contain mRNA, microRNA, and proteins (Tan et al. 2021). Not only have this, the exosomes, secretory extracellular vesicles (EVs) from MSCs, also been identified to produce the same immunomodulatory activity as MSCs (Haider and Aramini 2020). Targeting the MSCs' secretome as an acellular therapeutic agent could provide several advantages over the use of cell-based therapies for various diseases paving the way for cell-free therapy (Haider and Aslam 2018; Bari et al. 2019).

Altogether, these features constitute an area of research in expansion in the last decade and make MSCs an eligible therapeutic candidate to be evaluated within clinical trials for a plethora of diseases such as diabetes and diabetes complication and cardiovascular and neurological diseases; in immune-mediated disorders, such as graft-versus-host diseases (GVHD), multiple sclerosis (MS), Crohn's disease (CD), and osteoarthritis (OA); and even in immune-dysregulating infectious diseases such as the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (see ▶ Chap. 6, "Mesen-chymal Stromal Cells for COVID-19 Critical Care Patients," of this book for review on COVID-19).

When writing this chapter (May 2021), 1.276×10^3 publicly and privately funded clinical studies worldwide in which MSCs have been used have been reported and registered in the US National Library of Medicine database (NIH-ClinicalTrials.gov). Although the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs has been demonstrated in different disease animal models and numerous human phase 1/2 clinical trials and generally communicated, only very few (84 studies) phase 3/4 clinical trials using MSCs are registered (Table 1) and have demonstrated the expected potential therapeutic benefit. Almost all registered clinical trials are early phase 1/2 with safety as the primary objective. For efficacy and effectiveness issues, other advanced phases are mandatory. In all cases, one cannot consider these issues (efficacy nor effectiveness) unless phase 3 clinical trials are developed (García-Bernal et al. 2021) (Fig. 1).

Even though MSCs and their EVs have been shown to have high potential benefits in regenerative medicine and cell-free-based therapy, their clinical application remains controversial; thus, considerations and determination of possible side

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT03106662	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Infusion in Haploidentical Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation in Patients with Hematological Malignancies	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03106662
NCT04351932	Bone Marrow Versus Adipose Autologous Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis	Not yet recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04351932
NCT02755922	Bone Regeneration with Mesenchymal Stem Cells	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02755922
NCT04224207	Management of Retinitis Pigmentosa by Mesenchymal Stem Cells by Wharton's Jelly Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04224207
NCT01854125	Autologous Mesenchymal Stem Cell Transplantation in Cirrhosis Patients with Refractory Ascites	Unknown status	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01854125
NCT02218437	Treatment Protocol of Child SAA with the Injection of Mesenchymal Stem Cells (Umbilical Cord Derived)	Unknown status	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02218437
NCT01716481	The STem Cell Application Researches and Trials In NeuroloGy-2 (STARTING-2) Study	Unknown status	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01716481
NCT00366145	Efficacy and Safety of Adult Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Treat Steroid Refractory Acute Graft Versus Host Disease	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT00366145
NCT03766217	Bone Tissue Engineering with Dental Pulp Stem Cells for Alveolar Cleft Repair	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03766217
NCT04689152	Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Cellgram- LC Administration in Patients with Alcoholic Cirrhosis	Not yet recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04689152
NCT01676441	Safety and Efficacy of Autologous Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Chronic Spinal Cord Injury	Terminated	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01676441

 Table 1
 Public registry list of phase 3/4 clinical trials using MSCs as cell-based therapy (NIH-ClinicalTrial.gov)

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT01157403	Autologous Transplantation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Treatment of Patients with Onset of Type 1 Diabetes	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01157403
NCT03325504	A Comparative Study of 2 Doses of BM Autologous H-MSC +Biomaterial vs Iliac Crest AutoGraft for Bone Healing in Non-Union	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03325504
NCT01652209	To Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Hearticelgram [®] -AMI in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01652209
NCT01873625	Transplantation of Bone Marrow Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Affected Knee Osteoarthritis by Rheumatoid Arthritis	Completed	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01873625
NCT01392105	Safety and Efficacy of Intracoronary Adult Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells After Acute Myocardial Infarction	Completed	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01392105
NCT00543374	Extended Evaluation of PROCHYMAL [®] Adult Human Stem Cells for Treatment- Resistant Moderate-to-Severe Crohn's Disease	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT00543374
NCT01394432	ESTIMATION Study for Endocardial Mesenchymal Stem Cells Implantation in Patients After Acute Myocardial Infarction	Unknown status	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01394432
NCT02442817	Linagliptin and Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A Pilot Study	Completed	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02442817
NCT00482092	Evaluation of PROCHYMAL [®] Adult Human Stem Cells for Treatment-Resistant Moderate- to-Severe Crohn's Disease	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT00482092
NCT01526850	Efficacy and Safety Study of Allogenic Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Patients with Chronic Graft Versus Host Disease	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01526850
NCT04421274	Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Transfer in Patients with ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction	Completed	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04421274

		a		
NCT number	litle	Status	Phases	URL
NCT03818737	Multicenter Trial of Stem Cell Therapy for Osteoarthritis (MILES)	Active, not recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03818737
NCT02223897	Mesenchymal Stem Cells Transplantation for Ischemic- Type Biliary Lesions	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02223897
NCT00891501	The Use of Autologous Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Articular Cartilage Defects	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT00891501
NCT01873547	Different Efficacy Between Rehabilitation Therapy and Stem Cells Transplantation in Patients with SCI in China	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01873547
NCT04146519	Parkinson's Disease Therapy Using Cell Technology	Recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04146519
NCT04243681	Combination of Autologous MSC and HSC Infusion in Patients with Decompensated Cirrhosis	Completed	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04243681
NCT04297813	Efficacy in Alveolar Bone Regeneration with Autologous MSCs and Biomaterial in Comparison to Autologous Bone Grafting	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04297813
NCT02334878	Stem Cell Therapy for Treatment of Female Stress Urinary Incontinence	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02334878
NCT01759212	Left Ventricular Assist Device Combined with Allogeneic Mesenchymal Stem Cells Implantation in Patients with End-Stage Heart Failure	Active, not recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01759212
NCT04877067	Therapy of Toxic Optic Neuropathy via Combination of Stem Cells with Electromagnetic Stimulation	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04877067
NCT04366063	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for SARS-CoV-2- Related Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	Recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04366063
NCT03990805	A Phase 3 Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of JointStem in Treatment of Osteoarthritis	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03990805

 Table 1 (continued)

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT02672267	A Study of Allogeneic Low Oxygen Mesenchymal Bone Marrow Cells in Subjects with Myocardial Infarction	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02672267
NCT00851162	Using Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Fill Bone Void Defects in Patients with Benign Bone Lesions	Withdrawn	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT00851162
NCT01803347	Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Stem Cells	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01803347
NCT04612465	Clinical Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of ASC and Fibringlue or Fibringlue in Patients with Crohn's Fistula	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04612465
NCT02241018	MSCs Combined with CD25 Monoclonal Antibody and Calcineurin Inhibitors for Treatment of Steroid-Resistant aGVHD	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02241018
NCT04427930	Follow-Up Study for Participants of JointStem Phase 3 Clinical Trial	Enrolling by invitation	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04427930
NCT03633565	Comparative Study of Strategies for Management of Duchenne Myopathy (DM)	Not yet recruiting	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03633565
NCT03389919	Intraosseous Administration of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Patients with Graft Failure After Allo-HSCT	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03389919
NCT04368806	A Phase 2b/3a Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of JointStem in Patients Diagnosed as Knee Osteoarthritis	Not yet recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04368806
NCT03370874	Clinical Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of ALLO- ASC-DFU in Patients with Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Active, not recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03370874
NCT03631589	MSC for Severe aGVHD	Recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03631589
NCT03280056	Safety and Efficacy of Repeated Administrations of NurOwn [®] in ALS Patients	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03280056

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT04738981	Efficacy and Safety of UC-MSCs for the Treatment of Steroid-Resistant aGVHD Following Allo-HSCT	Not yet recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04738981
NCT02809781	A Pilot Study of MSCs Iufusion and Etanercept to Treat Ankylosing Spondylitis	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02809781
NCT01041001	Study to Compare Efficacy and Safety of Cartistem and Microfracture in Patients with Knee Articular Cartilage Injury	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01041001
NCT02240992	MSCs With or Without Peripheral Blood Stem Cell for Treatment of Poor Graft Function and Delayed Platelet Engraftment	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02240992
NCT01541579	Adipose Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Induction of Remission in Perianal Fistulizing Crohn's Disease	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01541579
NCT03905824	The Effectiveness of Adding Allogenic Stem Cells After Traditional Treatment of Osteochondral Lesions of the Talus	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03905824
NCT01233960	Evaluation of PROCHYMAL [®] for Treatment-Refractory Moderate-to-Severe Crohn's Disease	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01233960
NCT02291770	Treatment of Chronic Graft- Versus-Host Disease with Mesenchymal Stromal Cells	Unknown status	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02291770
NCT01929434	Efficacy of Stem Cell Transplantation Compared to Rehabilitation Treatment of Patients with Cerebral Paralysis	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01929434
NCT01759823	Bone Marrow Derived Stem Cell Transplantation in T2DM	Completed	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01759823
NCT01626677	Follow-Up Study of CARTISTEM [®] Versus Microfracture for the Treatment of Knee Articular Cartilage Injury or Defect	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01626677

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT03404063	Cardiovascular Clinical Project to Evaluate the Regenerative Capacity of CardioCell in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI)	Completed	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03404063
NCT04219241	Clinical Extension Study for Safety and Efficacy Evaluation of Cellavita-HD Administration in Huntington's Patients	Not yet recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04219241
NCT04018729	Cell Therapy Associated with Endobronchial Valve	Not yet recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04018729
NCT04230902	Effects of α MAT Versus Steroid Injection in Knee Osteoarthritis (STα MAT-Knee Study)	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04230902
NCT03418233	Randomized Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Regenerative Capacity of CardioCell in Patients with Chronic Ischaemic Heart Failure (CIHF)	Completed	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03418233
NCT03423732	Cardiovascular Clinical Project to Evaluate the Regenerative Capacity of CardioCell in Patients with No-option Critical Limb Ischemia (N-O CLI)	Active, not recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03423732
NCT03112122	Study for the Treatment of the Bone Marrow Edema:Core Decompression VS Bone Marrow Concentrate (BMC) VS Bone Substitute	Terminated	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03112122
NCT02138331	Effect of Microvesicles and Exosomes Therapy on β -Cell Mass in Type I Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM)	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02138331
NCT03042572	Allogeneic Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Angiogenesis and Neovascularization in No-option Ischemic Limbs	Not yet recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03042572
NCT04247945	Co-transplantation of MSC in the Setting of Allo-HSCT	Recruiting	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04247945
NCT04745299	Evaluation the Efficacy and Safety of Mutiple Lenzumestrocel (Neuronata-R [®] Inj.) Treatment in patients with ALS	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04745299

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT04126603	Impact of Semaglutide on CD34 + EPC and Fat Derived MSC	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04126603
NCT04371393	MSCs in COVID-19 ARDS	Active, not recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04371393
NCT04310215	Efficacy and Safety of Allogenic Stem Cell Product (CARTISTEM [®]) for Osteochondral Lesion of Talus	Enrolling by invitation	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04310215
NCT04138017	ViviGen Cellular Bone Matrix for Hindfoot or Ankle Arthrodesis	Enrolling by invitation	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04138017
NCT03747822	Evaluation of Soft Tissue Profile Changes Following Autogenous Fat or Onlay Polyetheretherketone (PEEK) Augmentation Versus Sliding Genioplasty for Correction of Deficient Chin	Unknown status	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03747822
NCT04569409	Clinical Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of ALLO- ASC-DFU in Patients with Diabetic Wagner Grade 2 Foot Ulcers	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04569409
NCT01926327	The Effect of Platelet-Rich Plasma in Patients with Osteoarthritis of the Knee	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01926327
NCT04864509	The Effects of Melatonin Treatment on Bone, Marrow, Sleep and Blood Pressure	Not yet recruiting	Phase 4	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04864509
NCT02448849	Autologous BM-MSC Transplantation in Combination with Platelet Lysate (PL) for Nonunion Treatment	Unknown status	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02448849
NCT04541680	Nintedanib for the Treatment of SARS-Cov-2 Induced Pulmonary Fibrosis	Recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04541680
NCT01529008	Study on Autologous Osteoblastic Cells Implantation to Early Stage Osteonecrosis of the Femoral Head	Terminated	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT01529008

NCT number	Title	Status	Phases	URL
NCT00562497	Efficacy and Safety of Prochymal [™] Infusion in Combination with Corticosteroids for the Treatment of Newly Diagnosed Acute Graft Versus Host Disease (GVHD)	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT00562497
NCT02849613	Regenerative Stem Cell Therapy for Stroke in Europe	Withdrawn	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02849613
NCT04629833	Treatment of Steroid-Refractory Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease with Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Versus Best Available Therapy	Not yet recruiting	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04629833
NCT02336230	A Prospective Study of Remestemcel-L, Ex-Vivo Cultured Adult Human Mesenchymal Stromal Cells, for the Treatment of Pediatric Patients Who Have Failed to Respond to Steroid Treatment for Acute GVHD	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02336230
NCT02032004	Efficacy and Safety of Allogeneic Mesenchymal Precursor Cells (Rexlemestrocel-L) for the Treatment of Heart Failure	Completed	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT02032004

effects need to be addressed to optimize the clinical application of this double-edged sword cellular medicament. This chapter updates and discusses the state of the art in MSCs' cell-based therapies and provides relevant information regarding factors to consider for the clinical application of MSCs.

Biological Characteristics

Phenotypic Profile

Since Friedenstein and colleagues first isolated a colony-forming unit fibroblast (CFU-F) from BM, BM has been widely used as a source of MSCs for many investigations and clinical trials. In addition to BM (BM-derived MSCs), MSCs have been isolated from different tissues, such as adipose tissue (Ad-MSCs), umbilical cord (UCB-MSCs), dental pulp, synovial liquid, and amniotic fluid. All these tissues vary in their cellular components, signals, and factors secreted, resulting in different immediate microenvironment conditions, thus developing



produced on a large scale, differentiate into various cell types, and have pleiotropic effects. Such advantages make MSCs suitable for clinical application in Fig. 1 The MSCs have multiple potential advantages for their clinical application. Among other advantages, MSCs can be isolated from various sources, are different disease conditions, such as neurological damage, liver disorders, cardiac ischemia, diabetes, or skin problems. (Re-published from Hmadcha 2020, several physiological niches (Hmadcha et al. 2009; Escacena et al. 2015). Although isolated and long-term cultured MSCs of most tissues show similar immunophenotypic characteristics, some differences have been found among MSCs of different tissue origins according to data obtained by in vitro experiments. In 2006, the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) published the minimal criteria to define MSCs by nomenclature and by biological characteristics to allow studies from different groups to be compared and contrasted. These criteria include the co-expression of markers such as CD73, CD90, and CD105, a lack of expression of hematopoietic markers (CD45, CD34, and CD14) and HLA-DR, multipotent differentiation potential, and adherence to plastic (Horwitz et al. 2005). However, several researchers have noted that Ad-MSCs express CD34 and CD54 in early passages and have lower expression of CD106 and that umbilical cord blood-derived MSCs (UCB-MSCs) express CD90 and CD105. Other markers have been used in different studies, and other differences have emerged, such as VEGFR-2 (Flk-1) expression, which was significantly higher in periosteum-derived cells than in adipose tissue- and muscle-derived cells, or the rate of NGFR positivity, which was much higher in muscle-derived cells than in other mesenchymal tissue-derived cells (Escacena et al. 2015).

Although some immunophenotypic differences have been documented, many researchers consider that these differences could be due to distinct extraction methods and different culture methodologies, resulting in variations of MSC surface markers. Therefore, this chapter aimed to investigate markers and characteristics that are more specific to select better sources of MSCs for clinical applications. Likewise, expanding the cells in vitro is necessary to obtain the desired numbers for therapeutic approaches. Changes in the proteomic phenotype of MSCs have been observed during high passages, although no proper approaches to examine the state of cells continuously during long-term in vitro culture have been established (Capra et al. 2012). Some researchers ascribe these variations to the adaptation of cells to the environment; thus, determining the biomolecular markers that are involved in these variations is essential for obtaining a better phenotypic characterization of these cells and thus for achieving more effective cell therapy in the future (Escacena et al. 2015).

Fig. 1 (continued) article published under CC-BY terms). Abbreviations: bFGF basic fibroblast growth factor, CXCL12 C-X-C motif chemokine 12, EPO erythropoietin, GM-CSF granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, HGF hepatocyte growth factor, HLA-DR major histocompatibility complex class II DR, iDC immature dendritic cell, IDO indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase, IGF1 insulin-like growth factor 1, IL-10 interleukin-10, IL-12 interleukin-12, IL-4 interleukin-4, IL-6 interleukin-6, INF-γ interferon-γ, iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase, KGF keratinocyte growth factor, MCP1 monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, MIP macrophage inflammatory protein, MMP matrix metalloproteinases, MN monocyte, NK natural killer cell, SFRP2 secreted frizzled-related protein 2, STC1 stanniocalcin 1, TF tissue factor, TGF-β transforming growth factor beta, TIMP tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases, TNF-α tumor necrosis factor α, TRAIL TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand, Treg regulatory T cell, VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

MSCs' Proliferation

The proliferative activity of MSCs is another feature that may be affected by the different origins of MSCs. The rate and persistence of MSC proliferation appear to vary between source tissues. MSCs are considered adult stem cells, and unlike embryonic stem cells (ESCs), these cells have a limited proliferative capacity. Physiological niches maintain adult stem cells in an undifferentiated state; however, when MSCs are cultured in vitro, they age, which affects their therapeutic properties, such as alterations in phenotype, differentiation potential, global gene expression patterns, miRNA profiles, and even chromosomal abnormalities, particularly after long-term culture or when cells of multiple doublings are used (Escacena et al. 2015). Large numbers of MSCs are needed for therapeutic applications, and in vitro expansion is required to produce the desired MSC numbers. In vivo, MSCs represent 0.0001% of nucleated BM cells, and their number decreases with the donor's age. The quantity of MSCs (CFU-Fs) among nucleated BM cells decreases and one MSC in 10⁴ BM cells in newborn to one MSC in 10⁵ cells in teenagers and one MSC in 10⁶ cells in older individuals (Caplan 2009).

Furthermore, MSCs from older human donors differ significantly from younger donors in morphology, replicative lifespan, doubling time, healing capacity, and differentiation potential. Sufficient evidence has indicated that MSCs from older donors have limited therapeutic efficacy. Some studies have suggested that the difference between preclinical and clinical findings is due to the donor age (Stenderup et al. 2003; Escacena et al. 2015). Therefore, considering that several age-related diseases exist and that elderly patients are potential users of cell therapy, understanding the molecular and biological effects of aging on MSCs is essential for developing safe and effective MSC-based autologous cell therapy. Meanwhile, the use of allogeneic MSCs may be a treatment option for these specific patients. As commented below, MSCs elude allogeneic rejection, and their infusion is feasible and well-tolerated, with no adverse effects (McAuley et al. 2014; Liang et al. 2010).

Differentiation Capacity

MSCs can differentiate in vitro into several mesenchymal lineages, including adipose tissue, bone, cartilage, and muscle (Pittenger et al. 1999; Prockop 1997; Bruder et al. 1997). Furthermore, MSCs can differentiate into ECs, neurons, and glial cells because MSCs express genes related to specific lineages rather than those of the mesenchymal lineage (Woodbury et al. 2002). Although multilineage differentiation is another minimal criterion advised by the ISCT and undoubtedly represents a fundamental property of MSCs, this ability depends primarily on the source tissue from which these cells are derived. As such, Sakaguchi and colleagues (Sakaguchi et al. 2005) compared human MSCs isolated from BM, synovium, periosteum, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue. The cells were expanded by similar processes; synovium-derived cells had the most remarkable ability for chondrogenesis; adipose- and synovium-derived cells, for adipogenesis; and BM-, synovium-, and

periosteum-derived cells, for osteogenesis. In another comparative analysis, UCB-MSCs showed no adipogenic differentiation capacity compared to BM- and Ad-MSCs (Kern et al. 2006).

As discussed by Horwitz (Horwitz et al. 2002), who used differentiated MSCs in a study to test the regeneration of damaged tissues, BM-derived MSCs can engraft after transplantation, differentiate to functional osteoblasts, and contribute to the formation of new dense bone in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Most likely, the microenvironment in which MSCs are transplanted directly influences in their distinct differentiation pathways. New insights into the biological characteristics of MSCs are needed to achieve future therapies.

Cellular Transformation

In general, successive passages or long-term cultures induce genetic instability and cell transformation. Several authors have described that MSCs cultivated in vitro can be expanded multiple times without an apparent loss of differentiation potential or chromosomal alterations and even that long-term MSC cultures can develop chromosomal abnormalities but without an obvious potential for transformation (Koç et al. 2000; Le Blanc et al. 2004; Ringdén et al. 2006; Fang et al. 2006; Ning et al. 2008). Although no tumor formation in humans has been reported after the administration of MSCs, several factors must be considered that can contribute significantly to the induction of cytogenetic abnormalities, such as aspects related to the manufacturing process of the cellular medicine (e.g., culture conditions and duration of cell expansion) and heterogeneity of the MSC population (e.g., cells in different stages of duplication). The tumorigenic potential of a cell therapy medicament may depend on intrinsic and extrinsic factors, such as the administration site in the patient (due to the receptor's microenvironment) and/or the manipulation of the culture ex vivo.

Mechanism of Action

Cell Migration Toward Damaged Tissues

The success of an advanced therapy medicinal product initially depends on its ability to reach target tissues. MSCs possess inherent tropism toward damaged sites controlled by many factors and mechanisms, including chemoattractant signals. For instance, the C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12) is a frequent triggering factor at the injury site. It has been demonstrated that a subpopulation of MSCs expresses the C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) that binds to its ligand, the CXCL12, to mediate cell migration (Wynn et al. 2004; Ma et al. 2015). Aside from CXCR4, MSCs express other chemokine receptors, such as CCR1, CCR2, CCR4, CCR7, CCR8, CCR9, CCR10, CXCR1, CXCR2, CXCR3, CXCR4, CXCR5, CXCR6, and CX3CR1 (Sordi et al. 2005; Von Lüttichau et al. 2005; Honczarenko

et al. 2006; Ringe et al. 2007). These receptors are essential to respond to triggering factors at the site of injury. In addition, MSCs also express cell adhesion molecules, including CD49d, CD44, CD54, CD102, and CD106 (De Ugarte et al. 2003). These chemokines and cell adhesion molecules orchestrate the mobilization of MSCs' injury sites in a similar manner to white blood cells (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). MSC mobilization is a multistep process that encompasses the attachment of free circulating MSCs in the bloodstream to transmigrate between ECs with the ultimate goal of migrating and engrafting to the target tissue.

Tissue Repair

Once recruited in the injured site, MSCs contribute to tissue repair and regeneration by activating several mechanisms. A growing body of research has demonstrated that MSCs display pleiotropic effects, which give them enormous therapeutic potential. MSCs secrete various mediators of tissue repair in response to injury signals, including anti-apoptotic, anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory, anti-fibrotic, and angiogenic agents (Caplan and Dennis 2006; Meirelles Lda et al. 2009; Maltman et al. 2011; Escacena et al. 2015). Among pleiotropic effects, antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory properties are mainly responsible for the therapeutic benefits of MSCs. As sensors of inflammation, MSCs release soluble factors, such as TGF- β , IDO, TNF- α , IL-10, and INF- γ , which interfere with the immune system and modify the inflammatory landscape (Prockop and Oh 2012). Pivotal studies showed that MSCs inhibit the proliferation of T and B cells (Di Nicola et al. 2002; Corcione et al. 2006; Song et al. 2019), suppress the activation of natural killer cells (Sotiropoulou et al. 2006), and prevent the generation and maturation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells (English et al. 2008; Spaggiari et al. 2009). Furthermore, MSCs can promote the generation of regulatory T cells (Maccario et al. 2005), which exert immunosuppressive effects. Although soluble factors play a key role in the immunosuppressive activity of MSCs, cell-to-cell contact also influences immune responses (Ren et al. 2010; Li et al. 2019). For instance, direct contact between MSCs and pro-inflammatory macrophages has been shown to induce immune tolerance by inducing tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-6 (TSG-6) production (Li et al. 2019). MSC mediated modulations of the immune response set in motion essential inflammatory processes that significantly promote tissue repair and regeneration by driving healing, scarring, and fibrosis (Julier et al. 2017).

Immunomodulatory Potential

The immunomodulatory properties of MSCs and their immune-privileged condition make these cells good candidates for use in several clinical trials related to chronic, inflammatory, and autoimmune diseases. MSCs interact with cells of the innate or adaptive immune system (T cells, B cells, NK cells, monocyte-derived dendritic cells, and neutrophils) (Di Nicola et al. 2002; Raffaghello et al. 2008). For a cell to be recognized by the immune system, the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and co-stimulatory molecules is necessary. MHC class I and class II human leukocyte antigens (HLAs) are master triggers of robust immunological rejection of grafts because they present antigens to cytolytic T lymphocytes (CTL). Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) are characterized by low expression of MHC class I HLAs but are constitutively negative for class II HLCs; these cells do not express co-stimulatory molecules such as B7-1, B7-2, CD80, CD86, CD40, and CD40L (Hmadcha et al. 2009; Le Blanc 2003). However, similar to the thymic epithelium, MSCs express the surface markers VCAM-1, ICAM-2, and LFA-3 (Le Blanc 2003; Conget and Minguell 1999), which are crucial for T-cell interactions.

Although a T-cell response should be expected, hMSCs can modulate the activation and proliferation of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells in vitro by arresting T cells in G0/G1 phase (Glennie et al. 2005; Benvenuto et al. 2007). Different studies have suggested that cell-cell interactions and certain soluble factors are the mechanisms used by MSCs to mediate the immune response. Factors, such as IDO, TGF- β 1, IFN-γ, IL-1β, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-10, PGE-2, HGF, HLA-G5, and others, are secreted by MSCs or released after interactions with target cells. As mentioned above, MSCs remain in a resting state, display anti-apoptotic properties, and maintain different cells such as hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), thus contributing to tissue homeostasis. However, in an inflammatory environment such as that created by cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 α , and IL-1 β , MSCs begin to exert their immunosuppressive effects and polarize, inhibiting the proliferation of effector cells and their production of cytokines. In this regard, IFN- γ is postulated as a "licensing" agent for MSC anti-proliferative action. MSCs may also acquire behavior as antigenpresenting cells (APCs) under specific concentrations of IFN- γ (Stagg et al. 2006; Uccelli et al. 2008). However, no consensus regarding what concentration of IFN- γ is more necessary for MSCs to show inhibitory or APC functions exists.

Likewise, TNF- α is another pro-inflammatory cytokine involved in the MSC immune response, and TNF- α enhances the effect of IFN- γ . IFN- γ , with or without the help of TNF- α , stimulates the production of IDO by MSCs, inhibiting the proliferation of activated T or NK cells and thus enhancing the homing potential and reparative properties of these cells; however, some potential risks are associated with the role of IFN- γ (Krampera et al. 2006; Sivanathan et al. 2014). Some authors have maintained that the immunomodulatory properties of MSCs are comparable, while others have argued that MSCs of different tissue origins or species cannot have equivalent and comparable immunomodulatory properties (Najar et al. 2010; Yoo et al. 2009; Ricciardi et al. 2012; Krampera 2011). For example, MSCs from perinatal sources (umbilical cord and amniotic membrane) show a higher immunomodulatory capacity, differential gene expression profiles, and paracrine factor secretion compared to BM-MSCs (Wegmeyer et al. 2013). Lee and colleagues found that HLA-G, a specific MHC-I antigen that is critical for maintaining the

immune-tolerant state of pregnancy and that is a contributing factor to the induction of more substantial immunosuppression, is strongly positive only in placentaderived MSCs (PD-MSCs) (Lee et al. 2012a). This is in contrast to BM-derived MSCs and Ad-MSCs and suggests that the immunophenotype of PD-MSCs may be superior to other MSCs in terms of their immunosuppressive function (Hunt et al. 2005). Nonetheless, some authors claimed that BM-derived MSCs were more immunomodulatory than PD-MSCs (Fazekasova et al. 2011). And others concluded that the immunomodulatory capacities of BM-derived MSCs and Ad-MSCs are similar but that differences in cytokine secretion cause Ad-MSCs to have more potent immunomodulatory effects than BM-derived MSCs (Melief et al. 2013).

Bartholomew and colleagues (Bartholomew et al. 2002) showed that allogeneic MSCs prolonged skin graft survival in baboons. Mouse MSCs have been used in related experiments; these cells use inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) for immunosuppression instead of IDO. These findings indicate that MSCs differ between species (Ren et al. 2009). Since then, several preclinical models have been used to analyze the biological effects of MSCs and their ability to modulate immune responses, considering that not all animal models mimic human diseases. Once more, these differences could be due to isolation procedures, to culture methodology, or, more likely, to differences in the microenvironments where cells reside. These and other findings lead us to conclude that determining whether these differences may be relevant for clinical applications and whether MSCs of a particular tissue type are more appropriate for specific therapies or diseases.

Preclinical Applications

Preclinical models are essential for clinicians, researchers, and both national and international regulatory agencies to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of MSC-based therapies (Krampera et al. 2013). Because MSCs can exert immunomodulatory properties and act on different immune cells in vitro and in vivo, these cells have begun to be used against autoimmune diseases based on multiple autoimmune experimental models. Pioneer studies in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a model for multiple sclerosis, reported that MSCs derived from numerous tissue origins show efficacy against neurodegenerative disorders (Zappia et al. 2005; Rafei et al. 2009; Constantin et al. 2009; Bai et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2005). BM-MSC and UCB-MSC treatments have improved clinical and laboratory parameters in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Sun et al. 2010). Furthermore, ameliorating effects have been observed in experimental mouse models of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (González et al. 2009). Diabetes is another autoimmune disorder in which MSCs have been employed (Jurewicz et al. 2010; Lee et al. 2006). Although promising results and progress have been observed in this field, the interspecies differences, and contradictory experimental outcomes, and the inability to recreate the complete pathophysiology of some diseases make it necessary to search for new animal models for comparable results.

MSC-Based Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases

The MSCs are being used to facilitate the engraftment of transplanted HSCs and treat graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) based on their immunomodulatory properties and provide appropriate conditions. However, preclinical and clinical experiments with MSCs do not always show similar results for the prevention and treatment of GvHD. In a study using a mouse model of GvHD (Sudres et al. 2006), MSCs suppressed alloantigen-induced T-cell proliferation in vitro in a dose-dependent manner but yielded no clinical benefit regarding the incidence or severity of GvHD. Instead, when UCB-MSCs were administered in weekly doses in a xenogenic model of GvHD, a marked decrease in human T-cell proliferation was observed, and none of the mice developed GvHD. No therapeutic effect was obtained when UCB-MSCs were administered at the onset of GvHD (Tisato et al. 2007). In the same line of research, serial infusions of mouse AD-MSCs could efficiently control the lethal GvHD that occurred in recipients transplanted with haploidentical hematopoietic grafts (Yañez et al. 2006). Mixed results have also been achieved in human patients. One study found that the co-transplantation of culture-expanded MSCs and HSCs from HLA-identical sibling donors after myeloablative therapy accelerated hematopoietic engraftment (Lazarus et al. 2005); however, a significant reduction of GvHD symptoms was not shown, although the incidence or severity of GvHD did not increase. Koc and colleagues (Koc et al. 2000) reported a positive impact of MSCs on hematopoiesis; rapid hematopoietic recovery was observed in a clinical study with breast cancer patients who received autologous HSCT together with autologous MSCs.

Therapeutic effects have also been reported at the onset of GvHD, such as the case of a 9-year-old boy with severe treatment-resistant GvHD after allogeneic HSCT for acute lymphocytic leukemia who received haploidentical MSCs derived from his mother. He showed improvement after two administrations of MSCs (Le Blanc et al. 2004). Similar results have been obtained in steroid-refractory GvHD pilot studies with BM-MSCs and AD-MSCs (Ringdén et al. 2006; Fang et al. 2006). Several infusions appear to be required to maintain the level of active immunomodulation by MSCs. Similarly, the expression of pro-inflammatory cyto-kines such as IFN- γ in the environment at the time of MSC administration is required by these cells to exert their immunosuppressive effect. A lack of MSC "licensing" can result in the absence of the desired therapeutic effect.

While evidence that MSCs are effective in combination or after HSCT in specific hematological and non-hematological diseases has been shown, adverse reactions and risk factors intrinsic to this practice have been reported. In a pilot study, HLA-identical sibling-matched HSCs were transplanted with or without MSCs in hematological malignancy patients. Although MSCs were well-tolerated and this treatment effectively prevented GVHD, six patients (60%) in the MSC group and three (20%) in the non-MSC group had 3-year disease-free survival rates of 30 and 66.7%, respectively. The relapse rate in the experimental group was higher than that

in the control group, suggesting that MSCs may impair the therapeutic graft-versusleukemia (GVL) effect (Ning et al. 2008). In vitro and in vivo studies regarding the relationship between the immunosuppressive properties of MSCs and the stimulation of cancer growth have been performed. Mouse MSCs from the BM, spleen, and thymus injected together with a genetically modified tumor cell vaccine could equally prevent the onset of an anti-tumor memory immune response, thus leading to tumor growth in normally resistant mice (Krampera et al. 2007). In another in vivo experiment with a murine melanoma tumor model, the authors observed that the subcutaneous injection of B16 melanoma cells led to tumor growth in allogeneic recipients only when MSCs were co-injected (Djouad et al. 2003). The functions of MSCs can be influenced by the existing microenvironment, making them acquire supportive properties toward cancer cells and decrease immune reactions (Galiè et al. 2008). Therefore, potential risks related to the growth support and enhancement of undetected or "resident" cancer exist, and the administration of MSCs in these patients must be thoroughly evaluated.

MSCs for Cancer Treatment

The therapeutic benefits of MSCs have prompt their use in cell-based strategies to treat different diseases, including cancer (Hmadcha et al. 2020). Similar to damaged tissues, tumors exert chemoattractant effects on MSCs that influence their recruitment to tumor sites. The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is one of the most frequently studied signaling pathways in mobilizing MSCs to the tumor microenvironment (Gao et al. 2009; Xu et al. 2009; Lourenco et al. 2015; Wobus et al. 2015; Kalimuthu et al. 2017). However, the ability of MSCs to migrate toward cancerous tissue is also controlled by other agents, including diffusible cytokines, such as IL-8, growth factors such as TGF-B1 or platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and extracellular matrix molecules, such as matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2) (Nakamizo et al. 2005; Birnbaum et al. 2007; Bhoopathi et al. 2011). Once the tumor niche is reached, MSCs interact with cancer cells via direct and indirect mechanisms that affect tumor development. The paracrine action of MSCs is one of the main mechanisms involved in cancer regulation and is mediated by multiple factors, including growth factors and cytokines. These paracrine factors affect cellular processes involving the tumor cell cycle (e.g., cell proliferation), cell survival, angiogenesis, and immunosuppression/immunomodulation, allowing MSCs to regulate cancer.

The paracrine agents can be directly secreted into the extracellular space or packaged into EVs for spreading in the tumor milieus (Rani et al. 2015). The interaction of MSCs with the tumor cell cycle is the most commonly accepted process by which MSCs exert their therapeutic effects (Fathi et al. 2019). By inhibiting proliferation-related signaling pathways, such as the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT), MSCs can induce cell cycle arrest and reduce cancer growth (Lu et al. 2019). In addition, MSCs can undergo differentiation into other cell types, such as cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), to directly

contribute to cancer progression (Jotzu et al. 2011; Barcellos-de-Souza et al. 2016; Aoto et al. 2018).

Accumulating evidence indicates that the cross-talk between MSCs and tumor cells results in both pro-tumor and anti-tumor effects, raising safety concerns for clinical application in oncology (Barkholt et al. 2013). The discrepancies in the ability of MSCs to promote or suppress tumor development may be attributable to differences in experimental tumor models, MSC tissue source, dose or timing of the MSC treatment, cell delivery method, control group chosen, and other experimental conditions (Bortolotti et al. 2015; Bajetto et al. 2017). In this regard, a study demonstrated that direct (cell-to-cell contact) or indirect (released soluble factors) interaction between umbilical cord MSCs and glioblastoma stem cells produces divergent effects on cell growth, invasion, and migration (Bajetto et al. 2017). Moreover, the application of MSCs for cancer patients is a more complex situation in which other factors have to be taken into consideration. For instance, the pathological conditions of each patient may induce cellular and molecular changes in MSCs that interfere with their therapeutic effects (Capilla-González et al. 2018; Pérez et al. 2018; Rivera et al. 2019). Therefore, it is important to be cautious while drawing conclusions from a single study regarding the therapeutic effects of MSCs in cancer.

The Anti-tumor Activity of MSCs

Although compelling evidence shows a pro-tumorigenic role of MSCs, these cells also have potent tumor-suppressive effects that have been exploited as cancer therapeutics. Previous studies have demonstrated that MSCs release cytotoxic agents, such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) that selectively induces apoptosis in different types of cancer (Wiley et al. 1995; Hao et al. 2001; Takeda et al. 2001; Akimoto et al. 2013). Recently, a report indicated that BM-derived MSCs promote apoptosis and suppress the growth of glioma U251 cells through downregulation of the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway (Lu et al. 2019). Likewise, intravenously transplanted MSCs were found to suppress tumor growth by blocking AKT activation in a Kaposi sarcoma mouse model (Khakoo et al. 2006). In mammary carcinomas, umbilical cord MSCs attenuated cell growth and triggered apoptosis through inhibiting ERK1/2 and AKT activation (Ganta et al. 2009). The Wnt signaling pathway has also been involved in the ability of MSCs to inhibit tumor cell proliferation (Qiao et al. 2008a, b). A mechanistic study of the inhibitory effect of MSCs on breast cancer cells demonstrated that the protein dickkopf-1 (Dkk-1) released from MSCs blocks tumor growth via depression of Wnt signaling (Qiao et al. 2008a). In contrast to investigations describing the pro-angiogenic effect of MSCs (Zhang et al. 2013; Li et al. 2016), the anti-tumor activity of MSCs via the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis has also been documented. A study reported that BM-derived MSCs restrict vascular growth in 1Gli36 glioma xenograft through the downregulation of the PDGF/PDGFR axis (Ho et al. 2013). In particular, the expression of PDGF-BB protein was significantly reduced in tumor lysates when treated with MSCs, which correlated with reduced levels of activated PDGFR-b and the active isoform of its downstream target AKT (Ho et al. 2013).

In a melanoma mouse model, transplanted MSCs inhibited angiogenesis in a concentration-dependent manner, leading to reduced tumor growth (Otsu et al. 2009). Confirmatory in vitro studies suggested that the anti-angiogenic effect was due to MSC-induced capillary degeneration (Otsu et al. 2009). Furthermore, MSCs have elicited anti-tumor immune responses through released inflammatory mediators, such as the multifunctional cytokine TGF- β . Like several signaling molecules, TGF- β plays a dual role in cancer development (Bierie and Moses 2006). Besides the aforementioned pro-tumor functions, TGF- β signaling exhibits suppressive effects in cancer (Dong et al. 2007; Guasch et al. 2007). While the expression of type III TGF- β receptor (TbRIII) decreases during breast cancer progression, restoring TbRIII expression suppresses tumorigenicity (Dong et al. 2007).

The Pro-tumor Activity of MSCs

The pleiotropic effects of MSCs that promote tissue repair and regeneration may also confer pro-tumor functions to these cells. For instance, metastatic human breast carcinoma cells were found to induce the secretion of the chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5) from MSCs, which enhanced tumor invasion (Karnoub et al. 2007). Seminal reports demonstrated that MSCs could also inhibit apoptosis in tumor cells by secreting pro-survival factors such as VEGF and bFGF (König et al. 1997; Dias et al. 2002). Numerous studies converged on the finding that MSCs contribute to cancer pathogenesis by releasing inflammatory factors that promote immunosuppressive effects. For example, an in vitro study showed that MSCs isolated from gastric tumors mediate cancer progression through the secretion of IL-8 (Li et al. 2015). This pro-inflammatory chemokine favors the recruitment of leukocytes. It is known that recruited leukocytes, such as macrophages and neutrophils, facilitate cancer initiation and progression (Guo et al. 2017; Powell et al. 2018). Similarly, MSCs are able to secrete TGF-β that promotes macrophage infiltration at the tumor site and facilitates tumor escape from immune surveillance (Kim et al. 2006; Byrne et al. 2008). Compelling evidence indicates that MSCs can also support tumor angiogenesis, an essential process in cancer progression that supplies tumors with oxygen and nutrients. For instance, MSCs recruited in breast and prostate tumors were found to increase the expression of angiogenic factors, including TGF- β , VEGF, and IL-6, which contribute to tumor growth and vascularization (Zhang et al. 2013).

Similarly, a correlation between increased expression of TGF- β and higher microvessel density was observed in hepatocellular carcinomas of mice receiving intravenous injections of human MSCs (Li et al. 2016), which further supports that MSCs may enhance tumor angiogenesis via TGF- β . Furthermore, MSCs can also respond to soluble factors secreted from cancer cells and differentiate into CAFs, a cell type within the tumor microenvironment capable of promoting tumorigenesis (Mishra et al. 2008). In particular, TGF- β secreted from cancer cells plays a critical

role in the differentiation of MSCs into CAFs (Jotzu et al. 2011; Barcellos-de-Souza et al. 2016; Aoto et al. 2018).

It is known that the transition of MSCs into CAFs contributes to tumor progression in part by their active secretome. Profiling of the secretome shows that it is rich in many bioactive molecules, including immune-modulating agents (CXCL12, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor), pro-angiogenic factors (VEGF, TGF-B, PDGF), pro-survival factors (hepatocyte growth factor, insulinlike growth factor 1, interleukin 6), and extracellular matrix modulators (MMP, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases) among others (Kalluri 2016). Cell engulfment has also been identified as an interacting process between MSCs and cancer cells that enhances tumor aggressiveness. A recent report demonstrated that breast cancer cell engulfment of MSCs leads to changes in the transcriptome profile of tumor cells. These changes are mainly associated with oncogenic pathways. This MSC engulfment enhances epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, stemness, invasion, and metastasis of breast cancer (Chen et al. 2019).

The Imprint of Disease on MSCs

One of the strategies to obtain MSCs for therapeutic purposes is an autologous approach. These cells are collected from patients by more or less invasive methods, isolated, seeded in culture under good manufacturing practice (GMP) quality standards, and re-injected into the patient. Nevertheless, when body's repair mechanisms are insufficient or ineffective, this treatment results in a homeostatic imbalance in the organism, producing degradation and disease and compromising the pool of endogenous cells, thus resulting in low efficacy. Some conditions/diseases provoke changes in the BM microenvironment, which is one of the primary sources of MSCs, thus producing changes in the endogenous pool of MSCs and altering their biological features (Mazzanti et al. 2008). MSCs from patients with acute myeloid leukemia showed abnormal biological properties, including morphological heterogeneity, limited proliferation capacity, and impaired differentiation and hematopoiesis supportability (Zhao et al. 2007).

MSCs derived from patients with multiple myeloma showed impaired immuneinhibitory effects on T cells, decreasing their osteogenic potential (Li et al. 2010). Poor proliferation, differentiation potential, and cytokine release defect were found in BM-derived MSCs derived from patients with aplastic anemia, another hematopoietic disorder (Chao et al. 2010; Bacigalupo et al. 2005). Although the mechanisms remain unknown, MSCs appear to be involved in autoimmune pathologies. For instance, MSCs derived from patients with autoimmune diseases display the following altered functions; MSCs from rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients have an impaired ability to support hematopoiesis and lower proliferative and clonogenic potentials (Papadaki et al. 2002; Kastrinaki et al. 2008). MSCs from immune thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) patients have a reduced proliferative capacity and a lower inhibitory effect on T-cell proliferation than MSCs from healthy donors (Pérez-Simón et al. 2009). MSCs from systemic lupus erythematous (SLE) patients display deficient growth, abnormal morphology, and upregulated telomerase activity (Nie et al. 2010; Sun et al. 2007). MSCs from systemic sclerosis (SSc) patients display early senescence (Cipriani et al. 2007). In metabolic diseases such as diabetes, alterations in autologous MSCs have also been documented.

A study using MSCs from type 2 diabetic mice showed that the number of these cells was diminished and their proliferation and survival abilities were impaired in vitro. Moreover, diabetic MSC engraftment produced only limited improvement in the diabetic subjects and could not produce the same therapeutic outcomes as in their nondiabetic counterparts in vivo (Shin and Peterson 2012). Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) accumulate in the tissues of aged people, and these products are involved in diabetes and musculoskeletal diseases. In 2005, Kume and colleagues (Kume et al. 2005) investigated the effect of AGEs on MSCs. They showed that AGEs inhibited MSC proliferation, induced MSC apoptosis, and interfered with MSCs' differentiation into adipose tissue, cartilage, and bone. Type 2 diabetes-derived Ad-MSCs have been found to have functional impairments in their multilineage potential and proliferative capacity because of prolonged exposure to high glucose concentrations (Cramer et al. 2010).

Diabetic-derived Ad-MSCs have an altered phenotype related to plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) expression levels and display reduced fibrinolytic activity (Acosta et al. 2013), which suggests that the immunogenicity of MSCs could have associated effects on the coagulation system (Wang et al. 2012; Moll et al. 2012). Thus, MSC-based therapy could lead to thrombotic events in particular recipients. Although the possibility of healing with autologous cells is desirable, little is known regarding the influence of different disease states and concomitant medications on MSCs (Benvenuti et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2009). Thus, although the use of autologous MSCs for cell therapy is widespread, their use in humans must be handled with extreme caution. Researching and analyzing both the risks and benefits of this therapy in individual patients and for each disease are necessary.

Considerations for Clinical Applications

Several clinical trials are in progress to ensure the safety and efficacy of MSCs used as medicaments. For cell-based products, it must be considered that cells are living products and that their interactions with body fluids remain unclear (Acosta et al. 2013; Moll et al. 2014). Phase 1 clinical trials are the first step in investigating a new drug. They include pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies in which the patient's safety plays an essential role in the development of medicaments. The primary goal of phase 2 clinical trials is to provide preliminary information regarding the drug efficacy and safety supplement data obtained in phase 1 trials. For efficacy and effectiveness issues, other advanced phases are mandatory. In all cases, one cannot consider these issues (efficacy nor effectiveness) unless phase 3 clinical trials are developed (García-Bernal et al. 2021; Hmadcha et al. 2020; Escacena et al. 2015). Usually, safety evaluations are based on possible complications derived from the procedure in a time-dependent manner after administering the cells. Efficacy parameters focus on the improvement of clinical effects at a given time. MSC-based cell therapy is a relatively new therapeutic option for certain diseases, and data regarding the long-term monitoring of patients remain lacking.

Nevertheless, the administration of MSCs is considered a feasible and safe procedure with no adverse events reported. However, the risks associated with stem cell therapy (Herberts et al. 2011) must be considered because these risks increase the probability of an adverse event. The cell source, donor origin, product manufacturing, and recipient disease status are important factors related to the safety and efficacy of MSCs. In this regard, the use of bovine proteins in the medium used to culture these cells (Horwitz et al. 2002) and the observed formation of ectopic tissue in animal models (Breitbach et al. 2007; Kunter et al. 2007), as well as malignant transformation (Wang et al. 2005; Røsland et al. 2009) and immune responses, must be evaluated before wider clinical applications and registration are accepted.

Safety Concerns

Cell therapy is incredibly complex due to the nature of the product. The mode of action is not always clear, and the potency tests are imprecise, by which it might not be possible to predict the risks thoroughly. When considering the use of expanded MSCs ex vivo for clinical applications, it is necessary to consider a series of potential risks that could affect the cellular product.

The administration of stem cells could affect the host's immune system. These cells could directly influence the immune system (e.g., pro-inflammatory environment) or have an immunomodulatory effect. Although MSCs have been considered immune-privileged in this regard, long-term exposure to the culture medium can make them more immunogenic by positively regulating the normal set of histocompatibility molecules (Moll et al. 2011, 2014). On the one hand, the allogeneic use of the cells entails a greater risk of rejection by the immune system. This rejection could lead to a loss of the function of the administered cells, and consequently, their therapeutic activity could be compromised. The use of immunosuppressants could limit these risks, but, in turn, could cause adverse reactions due to immunosuppressive medication.

On the other hand, MSCs isolated from healthy donors have shown uniform and consistent properties, while patients with some degenerative and inflammatory disease differ in their biological and functional characteristics (Capilla-González et al. 2018; Rennert et al. 2014). In this regard, studies with MSCs from diabetic patients suggest that the hyperglycemic environment and other metabolic disorders associated with diabetes affect the endogenous cellular reserve and their proliferation, differentiation, and angiogenic capacity, among other cellular characteristics (Minteer et al. 2015; Rennert et al. 2014; George et al. 2018; Moll et al. 2019). Once infused in the recipient, the cells come into direct contact with the tissues, blood-stream, and other host cells; the cell-recipient interaction process still needs a thorough investigation and characterization.

Physiologically, MSCs reside in the perivascular compartment of almost every tissue (Bianco et al. 2008; Crisan et al. 2008); however, one of the hurdles to the sustained success of their therapeutic effect is early cell loss. This is primarily due to the incompatibility responses after systemic infusion of cells, a reaction termed as instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR) suggesting that the immune and inflammatory system reacts to cells that generally are not in contact with the blood circulation (Gupta et al. 2014; Moll et al. 2011, 2014, 2019, 2020; Bianco et al. 2008; Crisan et al. 2008; Nilsson et al. 2014). Even more, it has been further shown that different MSC products display varying levels of highly pro-coagulant tissue factor, a decrease in tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), or an increase in PAI-1 and may adversely trigger the IBMIR or microthrombosis in the target tissue (Acosta et al. 2013; Moll et al. 2019). Although MSCs are considered to be safe, they can promote fibrinolysis (Hashi et al. 2007; Neuss et al. 2010; Moll et al. 2020).

Safety and efficacy are the basic pillars that support the viability of clinical application to treat any disease. Except for hematopoietic stem cell transplants, stem cell therapies used to treat any disease are considered medicinal products; therefore, their development, approval, and use must be per the specific standards established nationally and internationally for such medicines. Thus, regulatory authorities guarantee the safety of the studies (Fig. 2).

Cell Manufacturing for Clinical Use

Except for hematopoietic stem cell transplants, stem cell therapies used to treat any disease are considered drugs; therefore, their development, approval, and use must be per the specific standards established for such medicines nationally and internationally. In this context, MSCs are now considered as "cellular medicament" and are called advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMPs) and are under regulation No. 1394/2007 (Escacena et al. 2015; Gálvez et al. 2013). Relating production processes and development staff, clinicians and researchers must achieve GMP procedures under European regulations (Sensebé et al. 2013; Gálvez et al. 2014). Currently, no standardized manufacturing platform exists, although most facilities employ standard release criteria to measure sterility, viability, and chromosomal stability to meet European or FDA regulations (Phinney 2012; Iglesias-López et al. 2019).

Although regulation establishes common parameters to follow, different protocols are used to isolate these cells, and the processes, plating densities, and reagents used cause the results to differ from each other. Donor selection in terms of age and disease status is another variable to consider due to known MSC donor-to-donor heterogeneity (Phinney et al. 1999). The cell source is another important factor related to the efficacy of the product. As reported previously, MSCs derived from different tissues do not consistently achieve the same level of efficacy. Additionally, culture media used for the production of MSCs could affect the basic characteristics of cells; thus, designing a fully defined medium free of animal and human origins is crucial.





Thus far, no MSC-based medicine product has marketing authorization in the European Union, although four gene and cell-based products have a valid marketing authorization awarded by the EMA. However, since 2011, three MSC products have received marketing approval in other regions (Ancans 2012). The MSCs' field continues its upward progression, with a growing number of established companies established and ongoing clinical trials, but remaining challenges must be overcome. Bottlenecks exist regarding donor selection, cell sources, isolation protocols, culture media used, open-culture systems, bioreactors, and recipient disease status. Establishing a standardized and comparable process is also crucial to ensure biological and functional equivalence between product lots.

Considerations for Cellular Medicament

General Considerations

The cell expansion and culture protocol are not standardized, although the regulatory agencies (e.g., EMA, FDA) recommend a set of standards to be followed to produce cellular drugs. Currently, there is no protocol or universal definition for stem cell culture and expansion. The different sources of origin, and the different methodologies for obtaining tissue cells, make it very difficult to compare research groups in search of the fastest, most effective, economical, high-yielding, efficient, and clinical-grade quality method. Cell viability after the infusion is poor; in this regard, it is known that very few cells survive after infusion. Although the in vivo follow-up is ethically and technically complicated, it is necessary to continue investigating this line to understand the intrinsic mechanisms of integrating the infused cells in the concrete microenvironment.

The cellular dose to obtain the desired effects is also unknown. Investigations with HSCs have revealed that the administration of sufficient cells promotes faster cell recovery and reduces hospitalizations (Mohty et al. 2011). Preclinical studies using murine animal models have established a minimum dose of 1×10^6 cells/kg of weight, a quantity necessary to obtain quantifiable but weak benefits (Shabbir et al. 2009; Mastri et al. 2012). The dose for cellular treatment is probably influenced by the patient's body weight and the biodistribution of paracrine factors secreted by MSCs in the human body; however, most clinical trials use a similar cell dose (Tan et al. 2012; Jiang et al. 2011). The doses used have been insufficient in most cases to show clear therapeutic benefits. This fact leads us to design future trials to test different cell doses. Likewise, the frequency of administration is currently unknown.

Fig. 2 (continued) Soria-Juan 2019, article published under CC-BY terms). Abbreviations: B-cell B lymphocyte, CXCL C-X-C motif chemokine ligand, DC dendritic cell, G-CSF granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, HGF hepatocyte growth factor, IL interleukin, INF- γ interferon- γ , MSC mesenchymal stem cells, NK natural killer cells, T-cell T lymphocyte, TGF- α transforming growth factor α , Treg regulatory T cell

The effectiveness of cell therapy is probably related to the number of others applications (Cobellis et al. 2008; Teraa et al. 2015; Molavi et al. 2016), similar to that established with conventionally used medications. The timing and the ideal number of cellular applications are still unknown. Since conventional medicines are depending on the dose, cellular therapy may need to be adjusted accordingly. The most suitable cell type remains a challenge for regenerative medicine. Knowing which cell type is most appropriate for each particular pathology or if a combination of these would be more recommended is another big issue in cell therapy.

The method for the cellular administration continues without giving conclusive results because cell viability must be preserved as much as possible, and compromised tissue is often associated with ischemia, fibrosis and inflammation, which could impair cell survival, therapeutic delivery of stem cells in the distal areas to the damaged tissue appear to offer some advantage. There are no conclusive findings of a more significant benefit within the existing modes of administration, so this is another variable to have into account for future clinical trials. The desired therapeutic effect depends on many factors since mechanism of action of stem cells in tissue regeneration is likely to be multifaceted. Cellular competition can be dictated by the ability of injected cells to migrate, survive, integrate, differentiate, and produce functional paracrine mediators ("cell-cell interactions"). It is known that many diseases (e.g., diabetes, cancer, etc.) affect the phenotypic and therapeutic properties of stem cells. Finally, for the therapy to be effective, the recipient tissue must respond favorably to the injected cells, which would result in the activation of endogenous regeneration mechanisms (Lee 2010). Understanding integration of the exogenous mechanisms (injected cells) with the endogenous (host) will play a decisive role in the future clinical use of adult stem cells (Acosta et al. 2013; Moll et al. 2019).

Attempts to Improve the Therapeutic Outcomes of Cellular Medicament

Advances in the production compliance under good manufacturing practices (GMP) standards of more sophisticated cellular products are now opening up the way for the second generation of cell therapy clinical trials. One of the reasons why unmodified MSCs have not shown the therapeutic efficacy expected in human clinical trials is that, after their systemic infusion (intravenous), these cells become trapped in the vascular filters (fundamentally the liver and lung) and only a small percentage reach the target tissues. Therefore, strategies must be designed that favor migration, nesting, and localization in the inflammatory and/or infectious focus to increase their effectiveness. Biodistribution and long-term follow-up of these cells in animal models show that only a few cells remain after long periods. This will support the idea that most of the effects of MSCs are based on a "hit and run effect."

To increase the concentration of ATMPs in the injured tissue, the CD44 antigen on MSCs' cell membrane by enzymatic fucosylation has been converted into hematopoietic cell E-selectin/L-selectin ligand (HCELL) glycoform (Dimitroff et al. 2001; Pachón-Peña et al. 2017). This molecular change favored the migration of the MSCs to the inflamed tissues (Sackstein et al. 2008; García-Bernal et al. 2020). This method, called glycosyltransferase-programmed stereo substitution (GPS) of cell surface glycans, has been optimized for its clinical application so that the reagents used (glycosyltransferases and buffers) have been specifically formulated to preserve cell viability and phenotype (García-Bernal et al. 2021). Moreover, this modification not only increases the adhesion of the MSCs to the endothelium, but it also enhances their transmigration through it by activating the alfa4/beta1 integrin in the absence of chemokine stimulation (López-Lucas et al. 2018). Therefore, this modification by fucosylation could improve the efficacy of the treatment with MSCs by increasing the migratory capacity of the cells to the inflamed tissues after being administered systemically (García-Bernal et al. 2020). Other strategies may include expressing CXCR4. These strategies will help to engineer new generation of MSCs for use when both increased migration and targeting and an increased power are required. Expression of the CXCR4 receptor will increase the migration of the MSCs toward the inflammatory focus (Zhu et al. 2021). On the other hand, the co-expression of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 and/or the anti-infectious cytokine IL-7 will increase the anti-inflammatory effect (IL-10) and even the anti-infective effect (IL-7) (Mao et al. 2017).

Furthermore, the extensive use of fetal bovine serum (FBS) in the MSC-expansion media represents an explicit limitation for the introduction of ATMP at the clinical level. Currently, cell expansion is carried out in culture media supplemented with FBS (Gottipamula et al. 2013). The SFB used must be a clinical-grade (free of animal pathogens). Associated with the growing demand for MSCs, this has led to a series of technical and ethical conditions of production (using a high number of bovine fetuses) and geographic (zones free of prion diseases), which have had an impact on their price (Kinzebach and Bieback 2013; Wessman and Levings 1999). The substitution of FBS by human serum and platelet lysate also represents technical limitations mainly related to the supply of human material and the absence of uniformity of the lots. All these considerations force the development of robust processes of production of MSC in chemically defined culture media free of animal and human components. These media are supplemented with recombinant proteins (albumin, insulin, TGF-B, and bFGF), iron, selenium, and an antioxidant system (2-mercaptoethanol) (Badenes et al. 2016; Jayme and Smith 2000). Although several serum-free media are found in the literature and market (Chase et al. 2010; Ishikawa et al. 2009), there is still no effective means of functioning.

The therapeutic efficacy of MSCs has been further optimized by genetically modifying MSCs to produce trophic cytokines or other beneficial gene products in numerous preclinical models by transfecting MSCs with viral or non-viral vectors (Jiang et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2012a, b). These MSCs have been successfully modified to express therapeutic peptides and proteins in animal models (Zhou et al. 2021). For example, MSCs expressing thioredoxin-1 (Trx1, a potent antioxidant, transcription factor, and growth factor regulator) improved cardiac function in post-myocardial infarction rat models (Suresh et al. 2015). Simultaneous overexpression of Akt and Ang-1 in
BM-derived MSC not only enhanced their reparability of the infarcted myocardium with sustained beneficial effect (Jiang et al. 2006, 2008), but it also led to non-hypoxic stabilization of HIF-1 to enhance their endothelial commitment (Lai et al. 2012a) and increased their proliferation potential via the involvement of miR-143 (Lai et al. 2012b). The MSCs expressing IL-12 showed potent anticancer activity against melanoma, breast cancer, and hepatoma (Gao et al. 2010; Han et al. 2014). In addition, interferon- γ -expressing MSCs inhibited tumor growth in mouse models of neuroblastoma and lung carcinoma (Relation et al. 2018; Seo et al. 2011). Similar to these advances achieved in animal models, several MSC-based therapies are under clinical development.

Both viral and non-viral vectors, however, have some limitations (Kim and Haider 2001). Non-viral vectors exhibit transient gene expression and low transfection efficiency. In contrast, viral transduction is associated with an increased risk of chromosomal instability, insertional mutagenesis, and proto-oncogene activation, despite the inherent high transfection efficiency (Cheng et al. 2019). It has been reported that adverse immune reactions induced by viral transduction impair transgene stability (Mingozzi and High 2013; Wang et al. 2018). Thus, limitations and adverse responses must be assessed when modifying MSCs by transfection. Several studies have sought to use MSCs derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) to obtain better expansion capacity. In fact, therapeutic transgenes could be inserted into iPSC-derived MSCs before MSC derivation. Such a strategy could eliminate insertional mutations and ensure stable expression of transgenes during a prolonged expansion (Zhao et al. 2015). Therefore, MSCs derived from iPSCs may be a renewable source of MSCs for theranostic applications. It is pertinent to mention that BM-derived MSCs have also been successfully reprogrammed to pluripotent status and used for the efficient repair of infarcted myocardium in an experimental animal model (Buccini et al. 2012).

Interestedly, CRISPR-Cas9 technology was used to obtain highly homogeneous MSCs. Genetic modifications of MSCs can be performed with greater efficiency and specificity using CRISPR/Cas9 technology (Gerace et al. 2017). This is faster, costefficient, and easier to use compared to alternatives such as transcription activator nucleases (TALENs) and zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) (Faulkner et al. 2020). CRISPR/Cas9 has been widely employed in the stem cell field, particularly in MSC research, including knock-in, knock-out, gene activation, or gene silencing. In this regard, the application of CRISPR/Cas9 in MSCs has demonstrated its efficacy in treating diseases, such as myocardial infarction (Golchin et al. 2020). Targeting gene knock-in further promoted the differentiation capacity of MSCs and, in turn, improved the insufficiency of functional cells at local sites (Miwa and Era 2018). Genetically modified MSCs have been evaluated in clinical trials, such as the "TREAT-ME-1" clinical trial, an open-label, multicenter, first-in-human phase 1/2 trial, which aimed to evaluate the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of the application of genetically modified autologous MSCs-apceth-101 in patients with advanced gastrointestinal adenocarcinoma (von Einem et al. 2019). Despite promising advances in this field, further research is still needed to obtain solid evidence on the differentiation and regenerative potentials of MSCs in vivo. Undoubtedly, the next-generation sequencing and genotyping techniques could serve as valuable tools to improve the efficacy of targeting specific cell types for personalized medicine.

Besides, priming MSCs with exogenous small molecules has been found to boost their therapeutic function. Since current MSC manufacturing cannot meet the requirements of clinical trials in terms of production scale, the alternative is to enhance the function of limited cells by priming MSCs. Cell priming, or cell preconditioning, is a commonly used concept in the field of immunology and has been adapted to the stem cell arena (Lu et al. 2010; Haider and Ashraf 2012; Carvalho et al. 2013; Noronha et al. 2019) by ex vivo addition to MSCs of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 α , and IL-1 β . More priming approaches are currently being proposed and optimized to improve MSC function, proliferation, survival, and therapeutic efficacy (Afzal et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2012a, b; Lu et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2018; Mead et al. 2020). In this regard and as mentioned before, other approaches are focused on enhancing the therapeutic effects of cell therapy products regulating their biological characteristics (Mangi et al. 2003; Mei et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2012b; Liao et al. 2017).

The beneficial effects of PDGF-BB to restore the defective phenotype of therapeutic MSCs derived from type 2 diabetic patients have been demonstrated. The pretreatment with PDGF-BB potentiates proliferation, migration, and homing of defective MSCs and recovers their impaired fibrinolytic ability. Furthermore, PDGF-BB has been found to exert its beneficial effects through the ERK-SMAD pathway. Therefore, the pretreatment with PDGF-BB represents a suitable strategy to produce more effective MSCs for autologous therapies (Capilla-González et al. 2018).

Concluding Remarks and Future Perspective

Treatments based on the use of human stem cells are novel and promising therapeutic alternatives for some diseases. Currently, the use of living cells as a medicinal product is becoming realistic. Cell therapy should be safe, pure, stable, and efficient. Cell-based products are more complex and depend on the physiological and genetic heterogeneity of the patient. Obtaining as much information as possible with the appropriate and available technology at our disposal is essential for ensuring the safety, reliability, quality, and effectiveness of the manufactured product. MSCs are leading the way into a new era of regenerative medicine, and their multifaceted features make them powerful candidates to become tools to treat several diseases. However, their indiscriminate use has resulted in mixed outcomes in preclinical and clinical studies. While MSCs derived from diverse tissues share some common properties, they markedly differ in terms of their differentiation abilities, growth rates, healing capacity, and gene expression profile.

Similarly, the disease status of donors and recipients is a critical factor to consider when using MSCs as therapeutic agents because factors such as the MSC behavior with body fluids and specific disease environments remain unclear. Available data suggest that some tissue-specific MSCs are more appropriate than others according to particular pathologies. Although no severe adverse effects related to the application and testing of MSCs in humans have been reported to date, some evidence has indicated that specific patient profiles are not suitable to be treated with these therapies. Thus, multiple bottlenecks for the standardization of therapeutic protocols exist. Future well-designed clinical trials, advanced-phase clinical trials (phase 3/4), and long-term monitoring of patients are crucial for obtaining additional information regarding the therapeutic use of MSCs.

Cross-References

Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for COVID-19 Critical Care Patients

References

- Acosta L, Hmadcha A, Escacena N, Pérez-Camacho I, de la Cuesta A, Ruiz-Salmeron R, Gauthier BR et al (2013) Adipose mesenchymal stromal cells isolated from type 2 diabetic patients display reduced fibrinolytic activity. Diabetes 62(12):4266–4269. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db13-0896
- Afzal MR, Haider KH, Idris NM, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2755
- Akimoto K, Kimura K, Nagano M, Takano S, To'a Salazar G, Yamashita T, Ohneda O (2013) Umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit, but adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote, glioblastoma multiforme proliferation. Stem Cells Dev 22(9):1370–1386. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0486
- Ancans J (2012) Cell therapy medicinal product regulatory framework in Europe and its application for MSC-based therapy development. Front Immunol 3:253. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00253
- Aoto K, Ito K, Aoki S (2018) Complex formation between platelet-derived growth factor receptor β and transforming growth factor β receptor regulates the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into cancer-associated fibroblasts. Oncotarget 9(75):34090–34102. https://doi.org/10. 18632/oncotarget.26124
- Bacigalupo A, Valle M, Podestà M, Pitto A, Zocchi E, De Flora A, Pozzi S et al (2005) T-cell suppression mediated by mesenchymal stem cells is deficient in patients with severe aplastic anemia. Exp Hematol 33(7):819–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2005.05.006
- Badenes SM, Fernandes TG, Cordeiro CS, Boucher S, Kuninger D, Vemuri MC, Diogo MM et al (2016) Defined essential 8[™] medium and vitronectin efficiently support scalable xeno-free expansion of human induced pluripotent stem cells in stirred microcarrier culture systems. PLoS One 11(3):e0151264. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151264
- Bai L, Lennon DP, Eaton V, Maier K, Caplan AI, Miller SD, Miller RH (2009) Human BM-derived MSCs induce Th2-polarized immune response and promote endogenous repair in animal models of multiple sclerosis. Glia 57(11):1192–1203. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20841
- Bajetto A, Pattarozzi A, Corsaro A, Barbieri F, Daga A, Bosio A, Gatti M et al (2017) Different effects of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on glioblastoma stem cells by direct cell interaction or via released soluble factors. Front Cell Neurosci 11:312. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fncel.2017.00312
- Barcellos-de-Souza P, Comito G, Pons-Segura C, Taddei ML, Gori V, Becherucci V, Bambi F et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells are recruited and activated into carcinoma-associated fibroblasts

by prostate cancer microenvironment-derived TGF-β1. Stem Cells 34(10):2536–2547. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2412

- Bari E, Perteghella S, Catenacci L, Sorlini M, Croce S, Mantelli M, Avanzini MA et al (2019) Freeze-dried and GMP-compliant pharmaceuticals containing exosomes for acellular mesenchymal stromal cell immunomodulant therapy. Nanomedicine (Lond) 14(6):753–765. https:// doi.org/10.2217/nnm-2018-0240
- Barkholt L, Flory E, Jekerle V, Lucas-Samuel S, Ahnert P, Bisset L, Büscher D et al (2013) Risk of tumorigenicity in mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapies–bridging scientific observations and regulatory viewpoints. Cytotherapy 15(7):753–759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2013. 03.005
- Bartholomew A, Sturgeon C, Siatskas M, Ferrer K, McIntosh K, Patil S, Hardy W et al (2002) Mesenchymal stem cells suppress lymphocyte proliferation in vitro and prolong skin graft survival in vivo. Exp Hematol 30(1):42–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-472x(01)00769-x
- Benvenuti S, Cellai I, Luciani P, Deledda C, Baglioni S, Giuliani C, Saccardi R et al (2007) Rosiglitazone stimulates adipogenesis and decreases osteoblastogenesis in human mesenchymal stem cells. J Endocrinol Investig 30(9):RC26–RC30. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03350807
- Benvenuto F, Ferrari S, Gerdoni E, Gualandi F, Frassoni F, Pistoia V, Mancardi G et al (2007) Human mesenchymal stem cells promote survival of T cells in a quiescent state. Stem Cells 25(7):1753–1760. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0068
- Bhoopathi P, Chetty C, Gogineni VR, Gujrati M, Dinh DH, Rao JS, Lakka SS (2011) MMP-2 mediates mesenchymal stem cell tropism towards medulloblastoma tumors. Gene Ther 18(7): 692–701. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2011.14
- Bianco P, Robey PG, Simmons PJ (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. Cell Stem Cell 2(4):313–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2008.03.002
- Bierie B, Moses HL (2006) Tumour microenvironment: TGFbeta: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6(7):506–520. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1926
- Birnbaum T, Roider J, Schankin CJ, Padovan CS, Schichor C, Goldbrunner R, Straube A (2007) Malignant gliomas actively recruit bone marrow stromal cells by secreting angiogenic cytokines. J Neuro-Oncol 83(3):241–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-007-9332-4
- Bortolotti F, Ukovich L, Razban V, Martinelli V, Ruozi G, Pelos B, Dore F et al (2015) In vivo therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stromal cells depends on the source and the isolation procedure. Stem Cell Rep 4(3):332–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.01.001
- Breitbach M, Bostani T, Roell W, Xia Y, Dewald O, Nygren JM, Fries JW et al (2007) Potential risks of bone marrow cell transplantation into infarcted hearts. Blood 110(4):1362–1369. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2006-12-063412
- Bruder SP, Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE (1997) Growth kinetics, self-renewal, and the osteogenic potential of purified human mesenchymal stem cells during extensive subcultivation and following cryopreservation. J Cell Biochem 64(2):278–294. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici) 1097-4644(199702)64:2<278::aid-jcb11>3.0.co;2-f
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-012-0301-5
- Burlacu A, Grigorescu G, Rosca AM, Preda MB, Simionescu M (2013) Factors secreted by mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitor cells have complementary effects on angiogenesis in vitro. Stem Cells Dev 22(4):643–653. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0273
- Byrne SN, Knox MC, Halliday GM (2008) TGFbeta is responsible for skin tumour infiltration by macrophages enabling the tumours to escape immune destruction. Immunol Cell Biol 86(1): 92–97. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.icb.7100116
- Cagliani J, Grande D, Molmenti EP, Miller EJ, Rilo HLR (2017) Immunomodulation by mesenchymal stromal cells and their clinical applications. J Stem Cell Regen Biol 3(2). https://doi.org/ 10.15436/2471-0598.17.022
- Capilla-González V, López-Beas J, Escacena N, Aguilera Y, de la Cuesta A, Ruiz-Salmerón R, Martín F et al (2018) PDGF restores the defective phenotype of adipose-derived mesenchymal

stromal cells from diabetic patients. Mol Ther 26(11):2696–2709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2018.08.011

- Caplan AI (2009) Why are MSCs therapeutic? New data: new insight. J Pathol 217(2):318–324. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2469
- Caplan AI, Dennis JE (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J Cell Biochem 98(5): 1076–1084. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20886
- Capra E, Beretta R, Parazzi V, Viganò M, Lazzari L, Baldi A, Giordano R (2012) Changes in the proteomic profile of adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells during passages. Proteome Sci 10(1):46. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-5956-10-46
- Carvalho JL, Braga VB, Melo MB, Campos AC, Oliveira MS, Gomes DA, Ferreira AJ et al (2013) Priming mesenchymal stem cells boosts stem cell therapy to treat myocardial infarction. J Cell Mol Med 17(5):617–625. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.12036
- Chao YH, Peng CT, Harn HJ, Chan CK, Wu KH (2010) Poor potential of proliferation and differentiation in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells derived from children with severe aplastic anemia. Ann Hematol 89(7):715–723. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00277-009-0892-6
- Chase LG, Lakshmipathy U, Solchaga LA, Rao MS, Vemuri MC (2010) A novel serum-free medium for the expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 1(1):8. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt8
- Chen YC, Gonzalez ME, Burman B, Zhao X, Anwar T, Tran M, Medhora N et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cell engulfment reveals metastatic advantage in breast cancer. Cell Rep 27(13):3916–3926.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.084
- Cheng S, Nethi SK, Rathi S, Layek B, Prabha S (2019) Engineered mesenchymal stem cells for targeting solid tumors: therapeutic potential beyond regenerative therapy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 370(2):231–241. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.119.259796
- Cipriani P, Guiducci S, Miniati I, Cinelli M, Urbani S, Marrelli A, Dolo Vet al (2007) Impairment of endothelial cell differentiation from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells: new insight into the pathogenesis of systemic sclerosis. Arthritis Rheum 56(6):1994–2004. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/art.22698
- Cobellis G, Silvestroni A, Lillo S, Sica G, Botti C, Maione C, Schiavone V et al (2008) Long-term effects of repeated autologous transplantation of bone marrow cells in patients affected by peripheral arterial disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 42(10):667–672. https://doi.org/10.1038/bmt.2008.228
- Conget PA, Minguell JJ (1999) Phenotypical and functional properties of human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitor cells. J Cell Physiol 181(1):67–73. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI) 1097-4652(199910)181:1<67::AID-JCP7>3.0.CO;2-C
- Constantin G, Marconi S, Rossi B, Angiari S, Calderan L, Anghileri E, Gini B et al (2009) Adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells 27(10):2624–2635. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.194
- Corcione A, Benvenuto F, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Cappiello V, Cazzanti F, Risso M et al (2006) Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate B-cell functions. Blood 107(1):367–372. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2657
- Cramer C, Freisinger E, Jones RK, Slakey DP, Dupin CL, Newsome ER, Alt EU et al (2010) Persistent high glucose concentrations alter the regenerative potential of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 19(12):1875–1884. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2010.0009
- Crisan M, Yap S, Casteilla L, Chen CW, Corselli M, Park TS, Andriolo G et al (2008) A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. Cell Stem Cell 3(3):301–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2008.07.003
- De Ugarte DA, Alfonso Z, Zuk PA, Elbarbary A, Zhu M, Ashjian P, Benhaim P et al (2003) Differential expression of stem cell mobilization-associated molecules on multi-lineage cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow. Immunol Lett 89(2–3):267–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0165-2478(03)00108-1
- Di Nicola M, Carlo-Stella C, Magni M, Milanesi M, Longoni PD, Matteucci P, Grisanti S (2002) Human bone marrow stromal cells suppress T-lymphocyte proliferation induced by cellular or

nonspecific mitogenic stimuli. Blood 99(10):3838-3843. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v99. 10.3838

- Dias S, Shmelkov SV, Lam G, Rafii S (2002) VEGF(165) promotes survival of leukemic cells by Hsp90-mediated induction of Bcl-2 expression and apoptosis inhibition. Blood 99(7): 2532–2540. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v99.7.2532
- Dimitroff CJ, Lee JY, Rafii S, Fuhlbrigge RC, Sackstein R (2001) CD44 is a major E-selectin ligand on human hematopoietic progenitor cells. J Cell Biol 153(6):1277–1286. https://doi.org/10. 1083/jcb.153.6.1277
- Djouad F, Plence P, Bony C, Tropel P, Apparailly F, Sany J, Noël D et al (2003) Immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stem cells favors tumor growth in allogeneic animals. Blood 102(10): 3837–3844. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-04-1193
- Dong M, How T, Kirkbride KC, Gordon KJ, Lee JD, Hempel N, Kelly P et al (2007) The type III TGF-beta receptor suppresses breast cancer progression. J Clin Invest 117(1):206–217. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI29293
- Duffy GP, Ahsan T, O'Brien T, Barry F, Nerem RM (2009) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenic processes in a time- and dose-dependent manner in vitro. Tissue Eng Part A 15(9):2459–2470. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2008.0341
- English K, Barry FP, Mahon BP (2008) Murine mesenchymal stem cells suppress dendritic cell migration, maturation and antigen presentation. Immunol Lett 115(1):50–58. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.imlet.2007.10.002
- Escacena N, Quesada-Hernández E, Capilla-González V, Soria B, Hmadcha A (2015) Bottlenecks in the efficient use of advanced therapy medicinal products based on mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cells Int 2015:895714. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/895714
- Fang B, Song YP, Liao LM, Han Q, Zhao RC (2006) Treatment of severe therapy-resistant acute graft-versus-host disease with human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 38(5):389–390. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bmt.1705457
- Fathi E, Sanaat Z, Farahzadi R (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells in acute myeloid leukemia: a focus on mechanisms involved and therapeutic concepts. Blood Res 54(3):165–174. https://doi.org/ 10.5045/br.2019.54.3.165
- Faulkner J, Jiang P, Farris D, Walker R, Dai Z (2020) CRISPR/CAS9-mediated knockout of Abi1 inhibits p185^{Bcr-Abl}-induced leukemogenesis and signal transduction to ERK and PI3K/Akt pathways. J Hematol Oncol 13(1):34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00867-5
- Fazekasova H, Lechler R, Langford K, Lombardi G (2011) Placenta-derived MSCs are partially immunogenic and less immunomodulatory than bone marrow-derived MSCs. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 5(9):684–694. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.362
- Galiè M, Konstantinidou G, Peroni D, Scambi I, Marchini C, Lisi V, Krampera M et al (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells share molecular signature with mesenchymal tumor cells and favor early tumor growth in syngeneic mice. Oncogene 27(18):2542–2551. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. onc.1210920
- Gálvez P, Clares B, Bermejo M, Hmadcha A, Soria B (2014) Standard requirement of a microbiological quality control program for the manufacture of human mesenchymal stem cells for clinical use. Stem Cells Dev 23(10):1074–1083. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0625
- Gálvez P, Clares B, Hmadcha A, Ruiz A, Soria B (2013) Development of a cell-based medicinal product: regulatory structures in the European Union. Br Med Bull 105:85–105. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/bmb/lds036
- Ganta C, Chiyo D, Ayuzawa R, Rachakatla R, Pyle M, Andrews G, Weiss M, Tamura M, Troyer D et al (2009) Rat umbilical cord stem cells completely abolish rat mammary carcinomas with no evidence of metastasis or recurrence 100 days post-tumor cell inoculation. Cancer Res 69(5): 1815–1820. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2750
- Gao P, Ding Q, Wu Z, Jiang H, Fang Z (2010) Therapeutic potential of human mesenchymal stem cells producing IL-12 in a mouse xenograft model of renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Lett 290(2): 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2009.08.031

- Gao H, Priebe W, Glod J, Banerjee D (2009) Activation of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 and focal adhesion kinase by stromal cell-derived factor 1 is required for migration of human mesenchymal stem cells in response to tumor cell-conditioned medium. Stem Cells 27(4):857–865. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.23
- García-Bernal D, García-Arranz M, Yáñez RM, Hervás-Salcedo R, Cortés A, Fernández-García M, Hernando-Rodríguez M et al (2021) The current status of mesenchymal stromal cells: controversies, unresolved issues and some promising solutions to improve their therapeutic efficacy. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:650664. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.650664
- García-Bernal D, García-Arranz M, García-Guillén AI, García-Hernández AM, Blanquer M, García-Olmo D, Sackstein R et al (2020) Exofucosylation of adipose mesenchymal stromal cells alters their secretome profile. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:584074. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell. 2020.584074
- George MJ, Prabhakara K, Toledano-Furman NE, Wang YW, Gill BS, Wade CE, Olson SD et al (2018) Clinical cellular therapeutics accelerate clot formation. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(10): 731–739. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0015
- Gerace D, Martiniello-Wilks R, Nassif NT, Lal S, Steptoe R, Simpson AM (2017) CRISPR-targeted genome editing of mesenchymal stem cell-derived therapies for type 1 diabetes: a path to clinical success? Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):62. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0511-8
- Glennie S, Soeiro I, Dyson PJ, Lam EW, Dazzi F (2005) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induce division arrest anergy of activated T cells. Blood 105(7):2821–2827. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2004-09-3696
- Golchin A, Shams F, Karami F (2020) Advancing mesenchymal stem cell therapy with CRISPR/ Cas9 for clinical trial studies. Adv Exp Med Biol 1247:89–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_ 2019 459
- González MA, Gonzalez-Rey E, Rico L, Büscher D, Delgado M (2009) Treatment of experimental arthritis by inducing immune tolerance with human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Arthritis Rheum 60(4):1006–1019. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24405
- Gottipamula S, Muttigi MS, Kolkundkar U, Seetharam RN (2013) Serum-free media for the production of human mesenchymal stromal cells: a review. Cell Prolif 46(6):608–627. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12063
- Guasch G, Schober M, Pasolli HA, Conn EB, Polak L, Fuchs E (2007) Loss of TGFbeta signaling destabilizes homeostasis and promotes squamous cell carcinomas in stratified epithelia. Cancer Cell 12(4):313–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2007.08.020
- Guo X, Zhao Y, Yan H, Yang Y, Shen S, Dai X, Ji X et al (2017) Single tumor-initiating cells evade immune clearance by recruiting type II macrophages. Genes Dev 31(3):247–259. https://doi. org/10.1101/gad.294348.116
- Gupta NK, Armstrong EJ, Parikh SA (2014) The current state of stem cell therapy for peripheral artery disease. Curr Cardiol Rep 16(2):447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11886-013-0447-2
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2012) Preconditioning approach in stem cell therapy for the treatment of infarcted heart. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 111:323–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398459-3.00015-0
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Berlin. (Published, 2018). https://doi.org/ 10.1515/9783110642438
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circulation Res 103:1300–1308. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.186742

- Han J, Zhao J, Xu J, Wen Y (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells genetically modified by lentivirusmediated interleukin-12 inhibit malignant ascites in mice. Exp Ther Med 8(4):1330–1334. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2014.1918
- Hao C, Beguinot F, Condorelli G, Trencia A, Van Meir EG, Yong VW, Parney IF et al (2001) Induction and intracellular regulation of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) mediated apoptosis in human malignant glioma cells. Cancer Res 61(3):1162–1170
- Hashi CK, Zhu Y, Yang GY, Young WL, Hsiao BS, Wang K, Chu B et al (2007) Antithrombogenic property of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in nanofibrous vascular grafts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(29):11915–11920. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704581104
- Herberts CA, Kwa MS, Hermsen HP (2011) Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy. J Transl Med 9:29. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-9-29
- Hmadcha A, Dominguez-Bendala J, Wakeman J, Arredouani M, Soria B (2009) The immune boundaries for stem cell based therapies: problems and prospective solutions. J Cell Mol Med 13(8A):1464–1475. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00837.x
- Hmadcha A, Martin-Montalvo A, Gauthier BR, Soria B, Capilla-González V (2020) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for cancer therapy. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:43. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00043
- Ho IA, Toh HC, Ng WH, Teo YL, Guo CM, Hui KM, Lam PY (2013) Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells suppress human glioma growth through inhibition of angiogenesis. Stem Cells 31(1):146–155. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1247
- Honczarenko M, Le Y, Swierkowski M, Ghiran I, Glodek AM, Silberstein LE (2006) Human bone marrow stromal cells express a distinct set of biologically functional chemokine receptors. Stem Cells 24(4):1030–1041. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0319
- Horwitz EM, Gordon PL, Koo WK, Marx JC, Neel MD, McNall RY, Muul L et al (2002) Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: implications for cell therapy of bone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(13):8932–8937. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.132252399
- Horwitz EM, Le Blanc K, Dominici M, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Deans RJ et al (2005) Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 7(5):393–395. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240500319234
- Hunt JS, Petroff MG, McIntire RH, Ober C (2005) HLA-G and immune tolerance in pregnancy. FASEB J 19(7):681–693. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.04-2078rev
- Iglesias-López C, Agustí A, Obach M, Vallano A (2019) Regulatory framework for advanced therapy medicinal products in Europe and United States. Front Pharmacol 10:921. https://doi. org/10.3389/fphar.2019.00921
- Ishikawa I, Sawada R, Kato Y, Tsuji K, Shao J, Yamada T, Kato R et al (2009) Effectivity of the novel serum-free medium STK2 for proliferating human mesenchymal stem cells. Yakugaku Zasshi 129(3):381–384. Japanese. https://doi.org/10.1248/yakushi.129.381
- Jayme DW, Smith SR (2000) Media formulation options and manufacturing process controls to safeguard against introduction of animal origin contaminants in animal cell culture. Cytotechnology 33(1–3):27–36. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008133717035
- Jiang R, Han Z, Zhuo G, Qu X, Li X, Wang X, Shao Y et al (2011) Transplantation of placentaderived mesenchymal stem cells in type 2 diabetes: a pilot study. Front Med 5(1):94–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11684-011-0116-z
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circulation Res 99:776–784. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. RES.0000244687.97719.4f
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Lu G, Ashraf M (2008) Stable therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell based multiple gene delivery for cardiac repair. Cardiovasc Res 77(3):525–533. https:// doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvm077

- Jotzu C, Alt E, Welte G, Li J, Hennessy BT, Devarajan E, Krishnappa S et al (2011) Adipose tissue derived stem cells differentiate into carcinoma-associated fibroblast-like cells under the influence of tumor derived factors. Cell Oncol (Dordr) 34(1):55–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13402-011-0012-1
- Julier Z, Park AJ, Briquez PS, Martino MM (2017) Promoting tissue regeneration by modulating the immune system. Acta Biomater 53:13–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.01.056
- Jurewicz M, Yang S, Augello A, Godwin JG, Moore RF, Azzi J, Fiorina P et al (2010) Congenic mesenchymal stem cell therapy reverses hyperglycemia in experimental type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 59(12):3139–3147. https://doi.org/10.2337/db10-0542
- Kalimuthu S, Oh JM, Gangadaran P, Zhu L, Lee HW, Rajendran RL, Baek SH et al (2017) In vivo tracking of chemokine receptor CXCR4-engineered mesenchymal stem cell migration by optical molecular imaging. Stem Cells Int 2017:8085637. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/ 8085637
- Kalluri R (2016) The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 16(9):582–598. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.73
- Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, Richardson AL et al (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature 449(7162):557–563. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06188
- Kastrinaki MC, Sidiropoulos P, Roche S, Ringe J, Lehmann S, Kritikos H, Vlahava VM et al (2008) Functional, molecular and proteomic characterisation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 67(6):741–749. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2007. 076174
- Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Klüter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24(5): 1294–1301. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0342
- Khakoo AY, Pati S, Anderson SA, Reid W, Elshal MF, Rovira II, Nguyen AT et al (2006) Human mesenchymal stem cells exert potent antitumorigenic effects in a model of Kaposi's sarcoma. J Exp Med 203(5):1235–1247. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20051921
- Kim CK, Haider KH, Lim SJ (2001) Gene medicine: a new field of molecular medicine. Arch Pharmacol Res 24(1):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02976486
- Kim DS, Jang IK, Lee MW, Ko YJ, Lee DH, Lee JW, Sung KW et al (2018) Enhanced immunosuppressive properties of human mesenchymal stem cells primed by interferon-γ. EBioMedicine 28:261–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.01.002
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Concomitant Activation of miR-107/PDCD10 and Hypoxamir-210/Casp8ap2 and Their Role in Cytoprotection During Ischemic Preconditioning of Stem Cells. Antioxidant Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4518
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Stem cell based delivery of Hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-012-0920-1
- Kim JS, Kim JG, Moon MY, Jeon CY, Won HY, Kim HJ, Jeon YJ et al (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta1 regulates macrophage migration via RhoA. Blood 108(6):1821–1829. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2005-10-009191
- Kinzebach S, Bieback K (2013) Expansion of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells under xenogenicfree culture conditions. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 129:33–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_ 2012_134
- Koç ON, Gerson SL, Cooper BW, Dyhouse SM, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, Lazarus HM (2000) Rapid hematopoietic recovery after coinfusion of autologous-blood stem cells and cultureexpanded marrow mesenchymal stem cells in advanced breast cancer patients receiving highdose chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 18(2):307–316. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2000.18.2.307
- Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P (2013) Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 13(3):159–175. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3399

- König A, Menzel T, Lynen S, Wrazel L, Rosén A, Al-Katib A, Raveche E et al (1997) Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) upregulates the expression of bcl-2 in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell lines resulting in delaying apoptosis. Leukemia 11(2):258–265. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.leu.2400556
- Krampera M, Cosmi L, Angeli R, Pasini A, Liotta F, Andreini A, Santarlasci V et al (2006) Role for interferon-gamma in the immunomodulatory activity of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 24(2):386–398. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0008
- Krampera M, Galipeau J, Shi Y, Tarte K, Sensebe L, MSC Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) (2013) Immunological characterization of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells–The International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) working proposal. Cytotherapy 15(9):1054–1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2013.02.010
- Krampera M (2011) Mesenchymal stromal cell 'licensing': a multistep process. Leukemia 25(9): 1408–1414. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2011.108
- Krampera M, Sartoris S, Liotta F, Pasini A, Angeli R, Cosmi L, Andreini A et al (2007) Immune regulation by mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult spleen and thymus. Stem Cells Dev 16(5):797–810. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2007.0024
- Kume S, Kato S, Yamagishi S, Inagaki Y, Ueda S, Arima N, Okawa T et al (2005) Advanced glycation end-products attenuate human mesenchymal stem cells and prevent cognate differentiation into adipose tissue, cartilage, and bone. J Bone Miner Res 20(9):1647–1658. https://doi. org/10.1359/JBMR.050514
- Kunter U, Rong S, Boor P, Eitner F, Müller-Newen G, Djuric Z, van Roeyen CR et al (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells prevent progressive experimental renal failure but maldifferentiate into glomerular adipocytes. J Am Soc Nephrol 18(6):1754–1764. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN. 2007010044
- Lai VK, Afzal MR, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Non-hypoxic stabilization of Hif-1α during coordinated interaction between Akt and angiopoietin-1 enhances endothelial commitment of bone marrow stem cells. J Mol Med 90(6):719–730. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-011-0852-1
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/Cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):767–677. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc. 11.4.19211
- Lazarus HM, Koc ON, Devine SM, Curtin P, Maziarz RT, Holland HK, Shpall EJ et al (2005) Cotransplantation of HLA-identical sibling culture-expanded mesenchymal stem cells and hematopoietic stem cells in hematologic malignancy patients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 11(5):389–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2005.02.001
- Le Blanc K (2003) Immunomodulatory effects of fetal and adult mesenchymal stem cells. Cytotherapy 5(6):485–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240310003611
- Le Blanc K, Rasmusson I, Sundberg B, Götherström C, Hassan M, Uzunel M, Ringdén O (2004) Treatment of severe acute graft-versus-host disease with third party haploidentical mesenchymal stem cells. Lancet 363(9419):1439–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16104-7
- Lee JM, Jung J, Lee HJ, Jeong SJ, Cho KJ, Hwang SG, Kim GJ (2012a) Comparison of immunomodulatory effects of placenta mesenchymal stem cells with bone marrow and adipose mesenchymal stem cells. Int Immunopharmacol 13(2):219–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. intimp.2012.03.024
- Lee RH, Seo MJ, Reger RL, Spees JL, Pulin AA, Olson SD, Prockop DJ (2006) Multipotent stromal cells from human marrow home to and promote repair of pancreatic islets and renal glomeruli in diabetic NOD/scid mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(46):17438–17443. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.0608249103
- Lee T (2010) Host tissue response in stem cell therapy. World J Stem Cells 2(4):61–66. https://doi. org/10.4252/wjsc.v2.i4.61
- Lee S, Park JR, Seo MS, Roh KH, Park SB, Hwang JW, Sun B et al (2009) Histone deacetylase inhibitors decrease proliferation potential and multilineage differentiation capability of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Prolif 42(6):711–720. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2184.2009. 00633.x

- Lee RH, Yoon N, Reneau JC, Prockop DJ (2012b) Preactivation of human MSCs with TNF-α enhances tumor-suppressive activity. Cell Stem Cell 11(6):825–835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2012.10.001
- Li GC, Zhang HW, Zhao QC, Sun LI, Yang JJ, Hong L, Feng F et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells promote tumor angiogenesis via the action of transforming growth factor β1. Oncol Lett 11(2): 1089–1094. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2015.3997
- Li B, Fu J, Chen P, Zhuang W (2010) Impairment in immunomodulatory function of mesenchymal stem cells from multiple myeloma patients. Arch Med Res 41(8):623–633. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.arcmed.2010.11.008
- Li W, Zhou Y, Yang J, Zhang X, Zhang H, Zhang T, Zhao S et al (2015) Gastric cancer-derived mesenchymal stem cells prompt gastric cancer progression through secretion of interleukin-8. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 34(1):52. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-015-0172-3
- Li Y, Zhang D, Xu L, Dong L, Zheng J, Lin Y, Huang J et al (2019) Cell-cell contact with proinflammatory macrophages enhances the immunotherapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells in two abortion models. Cell Mol Immunol 16(12):908–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41423-019-0204-6
- Liang J, Zhang H, Hua B, Wang H, Lu L, Shi S, Hou Y et al (2010) Allogenic mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in refractory systemic lupus erythematosus: a pilot clinical study. Ann Rheum Dis 69(8):1423–1429. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2009.123463
- Liao L, Shi B, Chang H, Su X, Zhang L, Bi C, Shuai Y et al (2017) Heparin improves BMSC cell therapy: anticoagulant treatment by heparin improves the safety and therapeutic effect of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell cytotherapy. Theranostics 7(1):106–116. https://doi. org/10.7150/thno.16911
- Lo B, Parham L (2009) Ethical issues in stem cell research. Endocr Rev 30(3):204–213. https://doi. org/10.1210/er.2008-0031
- López-Lucas MD, Pachón-Peña G, García-Hernández AM, Parrado A, Sánchez-Salinas D, García-Bernal D, Algueró MDC et al (2018) Production via good manufacturing practice of exofucosylated human mesenchymal stromal cells for clinical applications. Cytotherapy 20(9): 1110–1123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.07.001
- Lourenco S, Teixeira VH, Kalber T, Jose RJ, Floto RA, Janes SM (2015) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor-CXCR4 is the dominant chemotactic axis in human mesenchymal stem cell recruitment to tumors. J Immunol 194(7):3463–3474. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol. 1402097
- Lu G, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2012) Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1 Preconditioning Accentuates Intrinsic Survival Mechanism in Stem Cells to Resist Ischemic Injury by Orchestrating Protein Kinase Cα–Erk1/2 Activation. Antioxidant Red Signaling 16(3):217–227. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ars.2011.4112
- Lu G, Haider KH, Porollo A, Ashraf M (2010) Mitochondria specific transgenic overexpression of connexin-43 simulates preconditioning induced cytoprotection of stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 88:277–286. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvq293
- Lu L, Chen G, Yang J, Ma Z, Yang Y, Hu Y, Lu Y et al (2019) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells suppress growth and promote the apoptosis of glioma U251 cells through downregulation of the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. Biomed Pharmacother 112:108625. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biopha.2019.108625
- Ma J, Liu N, Yi B, Zhang X, Gao BB, Zhang Y, Xu R et al (2015) Transplanted hUCB-MSCs migrated to the damaged area by SDF-1/CXCR4 signaling to promote functional recovery after traumatic brain injury in rats. Neurol Res 37(1):50–56. https://doi.org/10.1179/1743132814Y. 0000000399
- Maccario R, Podestà M, Moretta A, Cometa A, Comoli P, Montagna D, Daudt L et al (2005) Interaction of human mesenchymal stem cells with cells involved in alloantigen-specific immune response favors the differentiation of CD4+ T-cell subsets expressing a regulatory/ suppressive phenotype. Haematologica 90(4):516–525
- Maltman DJ, Hardy SA, Przyborski SA (2011) Role of mesenchymal stem cells in neurogenesis and nervous system repair. Neurochem Int 59(3):347–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2011. 06.008

- Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS, Dzau VJ (2003) Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. Nat Med 9(9):1195–1201. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm912
- Mao F, Wu Y, Tang X, Kang J, Zhang B, Yan Y, Qian H et al (2017) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells relieve inflammatory bowel disease in mice. Biomed Res Int 2017:5356760. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5356760
- Mastri M, Shah Z, McLaughlin T, Greene CJ, Baum L, Suzuki G, Lee T (2012) Activation of tolllike receptor 3 amplifies mesenchymal stem cell trophic factors and enhances therapeutic potency. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 303(10):C1021–C1033. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell. 00191.2012
- Mazzanti B, Aldinucci A, Biagioli T, Barilaro A, Urbani S, Dal Pozzo S, Amato MP et al (2008) Differences in mesenchymal stem cell cytokine profiles between MS patients and healthy donors: implication for assessment of disease activity and treatment. J Neuroimmunol 199(1–2):142–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.05.006
- McAuley DF, Curley GF, Hamid UI, Laffey JG, Abbott J, McKenna DH, Fang X et al (2014) Clinical grade allogeneic human mesenchymal stem cells restore alveolar fluid clearance in human lungs rejected for transplantation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 306(9): L809–L815. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00358.2013
- Mead B, Chamling X, Zack DJ, Ahmed Z, Tomarev S (2020) TNFα-mediated priming of mesenchymal stem cells enhances their neuroprotective effect on retinal ganglion cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 61(2):6. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.61.2.6
- Mei SH, McCarter SD, Deng Y, Parker CH, Liles WC, Stewart DJ (2007) Prevention of LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice by mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing angiopoietin 1. PLoS Med 4(9):e269. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040269
- Meirelles Lda S, Fontes AM, Covas DT, Caplan AI (2009) Mechanisms involved in the therapeutic properties of mesenchymal stem cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 20(5–6):419–427. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2009.10.002
- Melief SM, Zwaginga JJ, Fibbe WE, Roelofs H (2013) Adipose tissue-derived multipotent stromal cells have a higher immunomodulatory capacity than their bone marrow-derived counterparts. Stem Cells Transl Med 2(6):455–463. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2012-0184
- Mingozzi F, High KA (2013) Immune responses to AAV vectors: overcoming barriers to successful gene therapy. Blood 122(1):23–36. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-01-306647
- Minteer DM, Young MT, Lin YC, Over PJ, Rubin JP, Gerlach JC, Marra KG (2015) Analysis of type II diabetes mellitus adipose-derived stem cells for tissue engineering applications. J Tissue Eng 6:2041731415579215. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041731415579215
- Mishra PJ, Mishra PJ, Humeniuk R, Medina DJ, Alexe G, Mesirov JP, Ganesan S et al (2008) Carcinoma-associated fibroblast-like differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res 68(11):4331–4339. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0943
- Miwa H, Era T (2018) Tracing the destiny of mesenchymal stem cells from embryo to adult bone marrow and white adipose tissue via Pdgfrα expression. Development 145(2):dev155879. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.155879
- Mohty M, Duarte RF, Croockewit S, Hübel K, Kvalheim G, Russell N (2011) The role of plerixafor in optimizing peripheral blood stem cell mobilization for autologous stem cell transplantation. Leukemia 25(1):1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.224
- Molavi B, Zafarghandi MR, Aminizadeh E, Hosseini SE, Mirzayi H, Arab L, Baharvand H et al (2016) Safety and efficacy of repeated bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy in patients with critical limb ischemia in a pilot randomized controlled trial. Arch Iran Med 19(6):388–396
- Moll G, Ankrum JA, Kamhieh-Milz J, Bieback K, Ringdén O, Volk HD, Geissler S et al (2019) Intravascular mesenchymal stromal/stem cell therapy product diversification: time for new clinical guidelines. Trends Mol Med 25(2):149–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2018. 12.006
- Moll G, Hult A, von Bahr L, Alm JJ, Heldring N, Hamad OA, Stenbeck-Funke L et al (2014) Do ABO blood group antigens hamper the therapeutic efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cells? PLoS One 9(1):e85040. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085040

- Moll G, Jitschin R, von Bahr L, Rasmusson-Duprez I, Sundberg B, Lönnies L, Elgue G et al (2011) Mesenchymal stromal cells engage complement and complement receptor bearing innate effector cells to modulate immune responses. PLoS One 6(7):e21703. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0021703
- Moll G, Drzeniek N, Kamhieh-Milz J, Geissler S, Volk HD, Reinke P (2020) MSC therapies for COVID-19: importance of patient coagulopathy, thromboprophylaxis, cell product quality and mode of delivery for treatment safety and efficacy. Front Immunol 11:1091. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fimmu.2020.01091
- Moll G, Rasmusson-Duprez I, von Bahr L, Connolly-Andersen AM, Elgue G, Funke L, Hamad OA et al (2012) Are therapeutic human mesenchymal stromal cells compatible with human blood? Stem Cells 30(7):1565–1574. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1111
- Najar M, Raicevic G, Boufker HI, Fayyad Kazan H, De Bruyn C, Meuleman N, Bron D et al (2010) Mesenchymal stromal cells use PGE2 to modulate activation and proliferation of lymphocyte subsets: combined comparison of adipose tissue, Wharton's Jelly and bone marrow sources. Cell Immunol 264(2):171–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2010.06.006
- Nakamizo A, Marini F, Amano T, Khan A, Studeny M, Gumin J, Chen J et al (2005) Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. Cancer Res 65(8): 3307–3318. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1874
- Neuss S, Schneider RK, Tietze L, Knüchel R, Jahnen-Dechent W (2010) Secretion of fibrinolytic enzymes facilitates human mesenchymal stem cell invasion into fibrin clots. Cells Tissues Organs 191(1):36–46. https://doi.org/10.1159/000215579
- Nie Y, Lau C, Lie A, Chan G, Mok M (2010) Defective phenotype of mesenchymal stem cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 19(7):850–859. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0961203309361482
- Nilsson B, Teramura Y, Ekdahl KN (2014) The role and regulation of complement activation as part of the thromboinflammation elicited in cell therapies. Mol Immunol 61(2):185–190. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molimm.2014.06.009
- Ning H, Yang F, Jiang M, Hu L, Feng K, Zhang J, Yu Z et al (2008) The correlation between cotransplantation of mesenchymal stem cells and higher recurrence rate in hematologic malignancy patients: outcome of a pilot clinical study. Leukemia 22(3):593–599. https://doi.org/10. 1038/sj.leu.2405090
- Noronha NC, Mizukami A, Caliári-Oliveira C, Cominal JG, Rocha JLM, Covas DT, Swiech K et al (2019) Priming approaches to improve the efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapies. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1224-y
- Otsu K, Das S, Houser SD, Quadri SK, Bhattacharya S, Bhattacharya J (2009) Concentrationdependent inhibition of angiogenesis by mesenchymal stem cells. Blood 113(18):4197–4205. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-09-176198
- Pachón-Peña G, Donnelly C, Ruiz-Cañada C, Katz A, Fernández-Veledo S, Vendrell J, Sackstein R (2017) A glycovariant of human CD44 is characteristically expressed on human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 35(4):1080–1092. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2549
- Papadaki HA, Kritikos HD, Gemetzi C, Koutala H, Marsh JC, Boumpas DT, Eliopoulos GD (2002) Bone marrow progenitor cell reserve and function and stromal cell function are defective in rheumatoid arthritis: evidence for a tumor necrosis factor alpha-mediated effect. Blood 99(5): 1610–1619. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v99.5.1610
- Pérez-Simón JA, Tabera S, Sarasquete ME, Díez-Campelo M, Canchado J, Sánchez-Abarca LI, Blanco B et al (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells are functionally abnormal in patients with immune thrombocytopenic purpura. Cytotherapy 11(6):698–705. https://doi.org/10.3109/ 14653240903051558
- Pérez LM, de Lucas B, Gálvez BG (2018) Unhealthy stem cells: when health conditions upset stem cell properties. Cell Physiol Biochem 46(5):1999–2016. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489440
- Petrie RJ, Doyle AD, Yamada KM (2009) Random versus directionally persistent cell migration. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10(8):538–549. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2729
- Phinney DG (2012) Functional heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cells: implications for cell therapy. J Cell Biochem 113(9):2806–2812. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.24166

- Phinney DG, Kopen G, Righter W, Webster S, Tremain N, Prockop DJ (1999) Donor variation in the growth properties and osteogenic potential of human marrow stromal cells. J Cell Biochem 75(3):424–436
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA et al (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284(5411): 143–147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Potapova IA, Gaudette GR, Brink PR, Robinson RB, Rosen MR, Cohen IS, Doronin SV (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells support migration, extracellular matrix invasion, proliferation, and survival of endothelial cells in vitro. Stem Cells 25(7):1761–1768. https://doi.org/10.1634/ stemcells.2007-0022
- Powell D, Lou M, Barros Becker F, Huttenlocher A (2018) Cxcr1 mediates recruitment of neutrophils and supports proliferation of tumor-initiating astrocytes in vivo. Sci Rep 8(1): 13285. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31675-0
- Prockop DJ (1997) Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for nonhematopoietic tissues. Science 276(5309):71–74. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.276.5309.71
- Prockop DJ, Oh JY (2012) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs): role as guardians of inflammation. Mol Ther 20(1):14–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.211
- Qiao L, Xu ZL, Zhao TJ, Ye LH, Zhang XD (2008a) Dkk-1 secreted by mesenchymal stem cells inhibits growth of breast cancer cells via depression of Wnt signalling. Cancer Lett 269(1): 67–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2008.04.032
- Qiao L, Xu Z, Zhao T, Zhao Z, Shi M, Zhao RC, Ye L et al (2008b) Suppression of tumorigenesis by human mesenchymal stem cells in a hepatoma model. Cell Res 18(4):500–507. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/cr.2008.40
- Rafei M, Birman E, Forner K, Galipeau J (2009) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Mol Ther 17(10):1799–1803. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/mt.2009.157
- Raffaghello L, Bianchi G, Bertolotto M, Montecucco F, Busca A, Dallegri F, Ottonello L et al (2008) Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit neutrophil apoptosis: a model for neutrophil preservation in the bone marrow niche. Stem Cells 26(1):151–162. https://doi.org/10.1634/ stemcells.2007-0416
- Ramos-Zúñiga R, González-Pérez O, Macías-Ornelas A, Capilla-González V, Quiñones-Hinojosa A (2012) Ethical implications in the use of embryonic and adult neural stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2012:470949. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/470949
- Rani S, Ryan AE, Griffin MD, Ritter T (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: toward cell-free therapeutic applications. Mol Ther 23(5):812–823. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/mt.2015.44
- Relation T, Yi T, Guess AJ, La Perle K, Otsuru S, Hasgur S, Dominici M et al (2018) Intratumoral delivery of interferonγ-secreting mesenchymal stromal cells repolarizes tumor-associated macrophages and suppresses neuroblastoma proliferation in vivo. Stem Cells 36(6):915–924. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2801
- Ren G, Su J, Zhang L, Zhao X, Ling W, L'huillie A, Zhang J et al (2009) Species variation in the mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression. Stem Cells 27(8): 1954–1962. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.118
- Ren G, Zhao X, Zhang L, Zhang J, L'Huillier A, Ling W, Roberts AI et al (2010) Inflammatory cytokine-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in mesenchymal stem cells are critical for immunosuppression. J Immunol 184(5):2321–2328. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0902023
- Rennert RC, Sorkin M, Januszyk M, Duscher D, Kosaraju R, Chung MT, Lennon J et al (2014) Diabetes impairs the angiogenic potential of adipose-derived stem cells by selectively depleting cellular subpopulations. Stem Cell Res Ther 5(3):79. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt468
- Ricciardi M, Malpeli G, Bifari F, Bassi G, Pacelli L, Nwabo Kamdje AH, Chilosi M et al (2012) Comparison of epithelial differentiation and immune regulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells derived from human lung and bone marrow. PLoS One 7(5):e35639. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035639

- Ringdén O, Uzunel M, Rasmusson I, Remberger M, Sundberg B, Lönnies H, Marschall HU et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of therapy-resistant graft-versus-host disease. Transplantation 81(10):1390–1397. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000214462. 63943.14
- Ringe J, Strassburg S, Neumann K, Endres M, Notter M, Burmester GR, Kaps C et al (2007) Towards in situ tissue repair: human mesenchymal stem cells express chemokine receptors CXCR1, CXCR2 and CCR2, and migrate upon stimulation with CXCL8 but not CCL2. J Cell Biochem 101(1):135–146. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21172
- Rivera FJ, de la Fuente AG, Zhao C, Silva ME, Gonzalez GA, Wodnar R, Feichtner M et al (2019) Aging restricts the ability of mesenchymal stem cells to promote the generation of oligodendrocytes during remyelination. Glia 67(8):1510–1525. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia. 23624
- Røsland GV, Svendsen A, Torsvik A, Sobala E, McCormack E, Immervoll H, Mysliwietz J et al (2009) Long-term cultures of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells frequently undergo spontaneous malignant transformation. Cancer Res 69(13):5331–5339. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4630
- Sackstein R, Merzaban JS, Cain DW, Dagia NM, Spencer JA, Lin CP, Wohlgemuth R (2008) Ex vivo glycan engineering of CD44 programs human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell trafficking to bone. Nat Med 14(2):181–187. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1703
- Sakaguchi Y, Sekiya I, Yagishita K, Muneta T (2005) Comparison of human stem cells derived from various mesenchymal tissues: superiority of synovium as a cell source. Arthritis Rheum 52(8): 2521–2529. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21212
- Sensebé L, Gadelorge M, Fleury-Cappellesso S (2013) Production of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells according to good manufacturing practices: a review. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(3):66. https:// doi.org/10.1186/scrt217
- Seo SH, Kim KS, Park SH, Suh YS, Kim SJ, Jeun SS, Sung YC (2011) The effects of mesenchymal stem cells injected via different routes on modified IL-12-mediated antitumor activity. Gene Ther 18(5):488–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2010.170
- Shabbir A, Zisa D, Suzuki G, Lee T (2009) Heart failure therapy mediated by the trophic activities of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a noninvasive therapeutic regimen. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 296(6):H1888–H1897. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00186.2009
- Shin L, Peterson DA (2012) Impaired therapeutic capacity of autologous stem cells in a model of type 2 diabetes. Stem Cells Transl Med 1(2):125–135. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm. 2012-0031
- Shrestha C, Zhao L, Chen K, He H, Mo Z (2013) Enhanced healing of diabetic wounds by subcutaneous administration of human umbilical cord derived stem cells and their conditioned media. Int J Endocrinol 2013:592454. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/592454
- Sivanathan KN, Gronthos S, Rojas-Canales D, Thierry B, Coates PT (2014) Interferon-gamma modification of mesenchymal stem cells: implications of autologous and allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell therapy in allotransplantation. Stem Cell Rev Rep 10(3):351–375. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12015-014-9495-2
- Song JY, Kang HJ, Ju HM, Park A, Park H, Hong JS, Kim CJ et al (2019) Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell extracts ameliorate atopic dermatitis in mice by reducing the T cell responses. Sci Rep 9(1):6623. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42964-7
- Sordi V, Malosio ML, Marchesi F, Mercalli A, Melzi R, Giordano T, Belmonte N et al (2005) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells express a restricted set of functionally active chemokine receptors capable of promoting migration to pancreatic islets. Blood 106(2):419–427. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-09-3507
- Soria-Juan B, Escacena N, Capilla-González V, Aguilera Y, Llanos L, Tejedo JR, Bedoya FJ et al (2019) Cost-effective, safe, and personalized cell therapy for critical limb ischemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Front Immunol 10:1151. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01151
- Sotiropoulou PA, Perez SA, Gritzapis AD, Baxevanis CN, Papamichail M (2006) Interactions between human mesenchymal stem cells and natural killer cells. Stem Cells 24(1):74–85. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2004-0359

- Spaggiari GM, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Moretta L (2009) MSCs inhibit monocyte-derived DC maturation and function by selectively interfering with the generation of immature DCs: central role of MSC-derived prostaglandin E2. Blood 113(26):6576–6583. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2009-02-203943
- Stagg J, Pommey S, Eliopoulos N, Galipeau J (2006) Interferon-gamma-stimulated marrow stromal cells: a new type of nonhematopoietic antigen-presenting cell. Blood 107(6):2570–2577. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2793
- Stenderup K, Justesen J, Clausen C, Kassem M (2003) Aging is associated with decreased maximal life span and accelerated senescence of bone marrow stromal cells. Bone 33(6):919–926. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2003.07.005
- Sudres M, Norol F, Trenado A, Grégoire S, Charlotte F, Levacher B, Lataillade JJ et al (2006) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells suppress lymphocyte proliferation in vitro but fail to prevent graft-versus-host disease in mice. J Immunol 176(12):7761–7767. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.176.12.7761
- Sun LY, Zhang HY, Feng XB, Hou YY, Lu LW, Fan LM (2007) Abnormality of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 16(2): 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203306075793
- Sun L, Wang D, Liang J, Zhang H, Feng X, Wang H, Hua B et al (2010) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in severe and refractory systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 62(8):2467–24675. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.27548
- Suresh SC, Selvaraju V, Thirunavukkarasu M, Goldman JW, Husain A, Alexander Palesty J, Sanchez JA et al (2015) Thioredoxin-1 (Trx1) engineered mesenchymal stem cell therapy increased pro-angiogenic factors, reduced fibrosis and improved heart function in the infarcted rat myocardium. Int J Cardiol 201:517–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard. 2015.08.117
- Takeda K, Hayakawa Y, Smyth MJ, Kayagaki N, Yamaguchi N, Kakuta S, Iwakura Y et al (2001) Involvement of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in surveillance of tumor metastasis by liver natural killer cells. Nat Med 7(1):94–100. https://doi.org/10.1038/83416
- Tan J, Wu W, Xu X, Liao L, Zheng F, Messinger S, Sun X et al (2012) Induction therapy with autologous mesenchymal stem cells in living-related kidney transplants: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 307(11):1169–1177. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.316
- Tan KL, Chia WC, How CW, Tor YS, Show PL, Looi QHD, Foo JB (2021) Benchtop isolation and characterisation of small extracellular vesicles from human mesenchymal stem cells. Mol Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12033-021-00339-2
- Teraa M, Sprengers RW, Schutgens RE, Slaper-Cortenbach IC, van der Graaf Y, Algra A, van der Tweel I et al (2015) Effect of repetitive intra-arterial infusion of bone marrow mononuclear cells in patients with no-option limb ischemia: the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Rejuvenating Endothelial Progenitor Cells via Transcutaneous Intra-arterial Supplementation (JUVENTAS) trial. Circulation 131(10):851–860. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 114.012913
- Tisato V, Naresh K, Girdlestone J, Navarrete C, Dazzi F (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells of cord blood origin are effective at preventing but not treating graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 21(9):1992–1999. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404847
- Uccelli A, Moretta L, Pistoia V (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8(9):726–736. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2395
- Viswanathan S, Shi Y, Galipeau J, Krampera M, Leblanc K, Martin I, Nolta J et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem versus stromal cells: International Society for Cell & Gene Therapy (ISCT[®]) Mesenchymal Stromal Cell committee position statement on nomenclature. Cytotherapy 21(10):1019–1024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2019.08.002
- von Einem JC, Guenther C, Volk HD, Grütz G, Hirsch D, Salat C, Stoetzer O et al (2019) Treatment of advanced gastrointestinal cancer with genetically modified autologous mesenchymal stem cells: results from the phase 1/2 TREAT-ME-1 trial. Int J Cancer 145(6):1538–1546. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ijc.32230

- Von Lüttichau I, Notohamiprodjo M, Wechselberger A, Peters C, Henger A, Seliger C, Djafarzadeh R et al (2005) Human adult CD34- progenitor cells functionally express the chemokine receptors CCR1, CCR4, CCR7, CXCR5, and CCR10 but not CXCR4. Stem Cells Dev 14(3): 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2005.14.329
- Wang J, Liu X, Qiu Y, Shi Y, Cai J, Wang B, Wei X et al (2018) Cell adhesion-mediated mitochondria transfer contributes to mesenchymal stem cell-induced chemoresistance on T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. J Hematol Oncol 11(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13045-018-0554-z
- Wang Y, Huso DL, Harrington J, Kellner J, Jeong DK, Turney J, McNiece IK (2005) Outgrowth of a transformed cell population derived from normal human BM mesenchymal stem cell culture. Cytotherapy 7(6):509–519. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240500363216
- Wang B, Wu SM, Wang T, Liu K, Zhang G, Zhang XQ, Yu JH et al (2012) Pre-treatment with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibits systemic intravascular coagulation and attenuates organ dysfunction in lipopolysaccharide-induced disseminated intravascular coagulation rat model. Chin Med J 125(10):1753–1759
- Wegmeyer H, Bröske AM, Leddin M, Kuentzer K, Nisslbeck AK, Hupfeld J, Wiechmann K et al (2013) Mesenchymal stromal cell characteristics vary depending on their origin. Stem Cells Dev 22(19):2606–2618. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0016
- Wessman SJ, Levings RL (1999) Benefits and risks due to animal serum used in cell culture production. Dev Biol Stand 99:3–8
- Wiley SR, Schooley K, Smolak PJ, Din WS, Huang CP, Nicholl JK, Sutherland GR et al (1995) Identification and characterization of a new member of the TNF family that induces apoptosis. Immunity 3(6):673–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/1074-7613(95)90057-8
- Wobus M, List C, Dittrich T, Dhawan A, Duryagina R, Arabanian LS, Kast K et al (2015) Breast carcinoma cells modulate the chemoattractive activity of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells by interfering with CXCL12. Int J Cancer 136(1):44–54. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ijc.28960
- Woodbury D, Reynolds K, Black IB (2002) Adult bone marrow stromal stem cells express germline, ectodermal, endodermal, and mesodermal genes prior to neurogenesis. J Neurosci Res 69(6):908–917. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.10365
- Wynn RF, Hart CA, Corradi-Perini C, O'Neill L, Evans CA, Wraith JE, Fairbairn LJ et al (2004) A small proportion of mesenchymal stem cells strongly expresses functionally active CXCR4 receptor capable of promoting migration to bone marrow. Blood 104(9):2643–2645. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2004-02-0526
- Xu WT, Bian ZY, Fan QM, Li G, Tang TT (2009) Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) target osteosarcoma and promote its growth and pulmonary metastasis. Cancer Lett 281(1):32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2009.02.022
- Yañez R, Lamana ML, García-Castro J, Colmenero I, Ramírez M, Bueren JA (2006) Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have in vivo immunosuppressive properties applicable for the control of the graft-versus-host disease. Stem Cells 24(11):2582–2591. https://doi.org/ 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0228
- Yoo KH, Jang IK, Lee MW, Kim HE, Yang MS, Eom Y, Lee JE et al (2009) Comparison of immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult human tissues. Cell Immunol 259(2):150–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2009.06.010
- Zappia E, Casazza S, Pedemonte E, Benvenuto F, Bonanni I, Gerdoni E, Giunti D et al (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis inducing T-cell anergy. Blood 106(5):1755–1761. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-04-1496
- Zhang J, Li Y, Chen J, Cui Y, Lu M, Elias SB, Mitchell JB et al (2005) Human bone marrow stromal cell treatment improves neurological functional recovery in EAE mice. Exp Neurol 195(1): 16–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2005.03.018
- Zhang T, Lee YW, Rui YF, Cheng TY, Jiang XH, Li G (2013) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote growth and angiogenesis of breast and prostate tumors. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(3):70. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt221

- Zhao Q, Gregory CA, Lee RH, Reger RL, Qin L, Hai B, Park MS et al (2015) MSCs derived from iPSCs with a modified protocol are tumor-tropic but have much less potential to promote tumors than bone marrow MSCs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(2):530–535. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1423008112
- Zhao ZG, Liang Y, Li K, Li WM, Li QB, Chen ZC, Zou P (2007) Phenotypic and functional comparison of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the bone marrow of normal adults and patients with hematologic malignant diseases. Stem Cells Dev 16(4):637–648. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/scd.2007.0008
- Zhou T, Yuan Z, Weng J, Pei D, Du X, He C, Lai P (2021) Challenges and advances in clinical applications of mesenchymal stromal cells. J Hematol Oncol 14(1):24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01037-x
- Zhu J, Liu Y, Chen C, Chen H, Huang J, Luo Y, Zhao K et al (2021) Cyasterone accelerates fracture healing by promoting MSCs migration and osteogenesis. J Orthop Translat 28:28–38. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jot.2020.11.004



Stem Cells in Wound Healing and Scarring

Roohi Vinaik and Marc G. Jeschke

Contents

Wound-Healing Process105Normal Wound Healing105Impaired Wound Healing106Excessive Wound Healing109Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration111Embryonic Stem Sells111Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells112Mesenchymal Stem Cells112Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells114Applications in Defective Wound Healing115Stem Cell In Overscarring117Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring118Conclusion116References116	Introduction	105
Normal Wound Healing105Impaired Wound Healing106Excessive Wound Healing109Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration111Embryonic Stem Sells111Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells112Mesenchymal Stem Cells112Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells114Applications in Defective Wound Healing115Stem Cell In Overscarring117Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring118Conclusion116References116	Wound-Healing Process	105
Impaired Wound Healing100Excessive Wound Healing100Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration111Embryonic Stem Sells111Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells112Mesenchymal Stem Cells112Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells114Applications in Defective Wound Healing115Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring116Conclusion118Cross-References116References116	Normal Wound Healing	105
Excessive Wound Healing109Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration111Embryonic Stem Sells111Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells112Mesenchymal Stem Cells112Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells114Applications in Defective Wound Healing115Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring116Conclusion118Cross-References116References116	Impaired Wound Healing	108
Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration 111 Embryonic Stem Sells 111 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells 112 Mesenchymal Stem Cells 112 Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells 114 Applications in Defective Wound Healing 115 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 116 Conclusion 118 References 116	Excessive Wound Healing	109
Embryonic Stem Sells 111 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells 112 Mesenchymal Stem Cells 112 Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells 114 Applications in Defective Wound Healing 115 Stem Cells in Overscarring 117 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 References 119	Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration	111
Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells 112 Mesenchymal Stem Cells 113 Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells 114 Applications in Defective Wound Healing 115 Stem Cells in Overscarring 117 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 References 116	Embryonic Stem Sells	111
Mesenchymal Stem Cells 112 Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells 114 Applications in Defective Wound Healing 114 Stem Cells in Overscarring 117 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 References 116	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells	112
Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells 114 Applications in Defective Wound Healing 115 Stem Cells in Overscarring 117 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 References 119 References 119	Mesenchymal Stem Cells	113
Applications in Defective Wound Healing 115 Stem Cells in Overscarring 117 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 References 119 References 119	Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells	114
Stem Cells in Overscarring 117 Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 References 119 References 119	Applications in Defective Wound Healing	115
Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring 118 Conclusion 118 Cross-References 119 References 119	Stem Cells in Overscarring	117
Conclusion 118 Cross-References 119 References 119	Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring	118
Cross-References	Conclusion	118
References 119	Cross-References	119
	References	119

Abstract

Stem cells are cells with the ability for self-renewal and differentiation into a myriad of cellular lineages. Here, we discuss their potential in skin regeneration, focusing on traumatic and nontraumatic healing and scarring. We identify and

R. Vinaik

Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: roohi.vinaik@mail.utoronto.ca

M. G. Jeschke (⊠) Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Ross Tilley Burn Centre, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: marc.jeschke@sunnybrook.ca

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 4 4

elaborate on the various types involved, including embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and ESC-like cells, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). We discuss the role of iPSCs and MSCs in attenuating inflammation and fibrosis, thus promoting wound closure in models of defective wound healing and reducing both normal and aberrant scarring (i.e., keloids). In particular, we focus on MSCs and fibrotic changes, detailing their inhibitory function in TGFb/Smad signaling, and thus postinjury scar formation. Furthermore, we elaborate on ESCs and ESCs-like populations, discussing applications in normal skin appendage regeneration and recovery of nonhealing wounds, while ESCs-like cells function as a potential source of profibrotic keloid myofibroblasts. Although ESCs-like populations are implicated in scarring, the discussed studies posit that harnessing certain stem cell subpopulations could be an attractive strategy for rapid, scarless wound healing. This has implications in conditions of chronic inflammation and impaired healing and vascularity (e.g., diabetes) as well as traumatic conditions that necessitate rapid skin regeneration, such as burns.

Keywords

Mesenchymal stem cells \cdot Embryonic stem cells \cdot Stem cells \cdot Therapy \cdot Transplantation \cdot Wound

Abbreviations

ADMSCs	Adipose tissue-derived MSCs
ADSCs	Adipose-derived stem cells
AT	Adipose tissue
BMP-2	Bone-morphogenetic protein-2
СМ	Conditioned medium
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EMT	Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
GDF	Growth differentiation factor
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukins
iPSCs	Human-induced pluripotent stem cells
LIF	Leukemia inhibitor factor
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NK	Natural killer
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PGE2	Prostaglandin E ₂
SSEA	Stage-specific embryonic antigen

TGF-b	Transforming growth factor
TNF-a	Tumor necrosis factor-a
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

The integumentary system serves as a protective barrier against pathogens, dehydration, and fluid loss (Lee et al. 2006). Damage to skin integrity can occur due to nontraumatic (e.g., diabetic ulcers) or traumatic (e.g., burns) conditions and results in a carefully coordinated wound healing process comprised of overlapping phases of cellular migration, proliferation, and extracellular matrix deposition (Eming et al. 2007). However, disruptions or alterations in cellular signaling may culminate in a spectrum of poor wound healing, from chronic nonhealing wounds to excessive scarring (Eming et al. 2007). Either of the outcomes necessitates extensive, costly medical interventions, impairs patients' quality of life, increases trauma, and enhances mortality. Therefore, significant efforts have been devoted to the development of rapid, scarless wound healing therapies.

Regenerative medicine has emerged as an alternative to traditional wound care and focuses on stem cell therapy. Stem cells are an endogenous reservoir of cells that can self-renew and differentiate into a myriad of cell types. Poor wound healing and chronic wounds are correlated with either depletion in resident stem cells or an insufficient response in extensive injuries such as full-thickness burns (Nijnik et al. 2007; Zouboulis et al. 2008; Van Zant and Liang 2003). Therefore, exogenous administration is an attractive potential therapeutic strategy. In this chapter, we discuss the role of stem cells during normal, impaired wound healing, and "overhealing" (i.e., hyperproliferative scars such as keloids and hypertrophic scars). We elaborate on the key endogenous stem cell subtypes involved in skin regeneration, including embryonic, mesenchymal, epithelial, and melanocytic stem cells. Furthermore, we discuss the role of harnessing stem cells in therapy for patients with defective healing or excessive scarring, underscoring the broad application of stem cell therapy in wound-healing aberrancies.

Wound-Healing Process

Normal Wound Healing

Physiologic cutaneous healing consists of an inflammatory, proliferative, and remodeling phase (Fig. 1) (Gonzalez et al. 2016). Wound healing begins with hemostasis, or coagulation and fibrin clot formation. The fibrin clot serves as a scaffold to recruit key mediators involved in healing, including fibroblasts, keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and leukocytes (i.e., neutrophils and monocytes) (Broughton et al. 2006; Witte and Barbul 1997). In particular, activation of macrophages plays a significant role in the inflammatory phase, and macrophages regulate



Days Post-Injury

Fig. 1 Stages of post-trauma wound healing

the production of cytokines, angiogenesis, and recruitment of fibroblasts to the wound bed (Rodero and Khosrotehrani 2010). Fibroblast recruitment prompts type III collagen, proteoglycan, and elastin secretion during the proliferative phase, which results in granulation tissue formation (Tracy et al. 2016). This is coupled with the recruitment of vascular endothelial cells by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor (TGF-b) secretion and angiogenesis (Corliss et al. 2016). This phase is followed by a tissue-remodeling phase after wound closure during which macrophages, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells are removed via apoptosis (Larouche et al. 2018). At this point, the wound site contains a primarily acellular collagenous matrix with predominantly type III collagen, which is replaced with type I collagen over time (Xue and Jackson 2015).

In addition to the cells mentioned above, wound healing is in part mediated by stem cells, which secrete paracrine factors to recruit various cells and are present in all skin layers: epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis (Wong et al. 2012; Ito et al. 2005; Levy et al. 2005). In the epidermis, endogenous stem cells are comprised of three key populations - the basal layer of the inter-follicular epidermis, sebaceous glands, and the hair follicle bulge or lower region of the outer root sheath (Fig. 2) (Fuchs 2008). These stem cells have several key features in common, such as expression of K5, K14, and p63 and association with the basement membrane (Fuchs 2008). Under physiological conditions, differentiation of stem cells consistently replenishes the relevant skin components as mentioned above. Interestingly, cells from these components are capable of replenishing each other during injury. For example, reepithelialization in partial thickness injuries relies on the migration of cells from sebaceous glands and the hair follicle bulge (Rittié 2016). While these cells are not essential for wound closure and are eventually replaced with interfollicular epidermal stem cells during recovery, they significantly expedite wound closure (Ito and Cotsarelis 2008). Delayed healing is a risk factor for increased infection, **Fig. 2** Anatomy of the hair follicle



hypertrophic scarring, and mortality, rendering these stem cell sources potential targets in regenerative therapy (Finnerty et al. 2016).

Interestingly, dermal signaling (e.g., expression of BMP2 and BMP4) can also contribute to epithelial regeneration (Plikus et al. 2008). An example of this is the contribution of dermal sheath cells to melanocyte maturation. Melanocytic stem cells, which reside in the outer root sheath of the lower permanent portion of hair follicles, are responsible for pigmentation (Lee and Fisher 2014). However, dermal sheath stem cells additionally can differentiate into epidermal melanocytes, likely via mesenchymal-epithelial transition (Li et al. 2011). These cells reside within dermal papillae of hair follicles and are subdivided into three distinct populations based on the transcription factor Sox2. Sox2-expressing cells are involved with Wnt, BMP, and FGF signaling, while Sox2-negative cells exploit Shh, insulin growth factor (IGF), Notch, and integrin signaling (Kellner and Coulombe 2009; Driskell

et al. 2009; Biernaski et al. 2009). Importantly, dermal sheath stem cells can differentiate into a wound-healing fibroblast (myofibroblast) phenotype, which has implications in scarring that will be discussed later (Jahoda and Reynolds 2001). Another dermal stem cells' source is dermal perivascular regions, which function as a niche for mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Jackson et al. 2012). These cells protect the integrity of the local wound-healing matrix via inhibition of matrix meta-lloproteinase (MMP) pathways and promotion of neovascularization (Jackson et al. 2012). MSCs can also be isolated from various sources, including bone marrow and adipose tissue (AT), and are later recruited to the site of injury in response to factors such as hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α (Martinez et al. 2017). MSCs, in turn, promote endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) migration, which facilitates angiogenesis and wound closure (Li et al. 2018).

AT is another key source of multipotent skin stem cells (adipose-derived stem cells, ADSCs) that maintain the multilineage differentiation potential (e.g., smooth muscle, endothelium, and bone) (Frese et al. 2016). These ADSCs are associated with perivascular cells and promote vascular stability under normal conditions (Cherubino et al. 2011). Additionally, evidence suggests that ADSCs can enhance macrophage recruitment and anti-inflammatory polarization, fibroblast migration, VEGF-mediated angiogenesis, fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2), bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP2), and MMPs after injury (Lee et al. 2009). This culminates in neovascularization and deposition, and maintenance of a collagen matrix. While current studies suggest that ADSCs are intimately associated with vascular regeneration, additional research is needed to elucidate their role in the maintenance of skin integrity in normal wound healing (Hutchings et al. 2020; Yu et al. 2018; Lu et al. 2018). Given that AT is enriched in stem cells, ease of isolation, and the plasticity of ADSCs, these cells could potentially be harnessed for wound-healing applications in conditions of impaired healing.

Impaired Wound Healing

Cutaneous wounds are of two subtypes: acute wounds (e.g., lacerations, abrasions, and surgical wounds), which generally heal uneventfully, and persistent, chronic wounds (e.g., diabetic ulcers). The latter occur secondary to interruptions in the healing process as a result of underlying medical conditions, including metabolic diseases (diabetes, obesity) and compromised blood supply (vascular disease, radiation injury) (Ojeh et al. 2015). Impaired circulation and enhanced tissue hypoxemia compromise wound healing by decreasing nutrient and oxygen supply, and hence the metabolic activity of cells involved in the repair, including keratinocytes and fibroblasts (MacKay 2003; Gottrup 2004). Additionally, patients with chronic wounds show an inadequate cellular response to relative hypoxia at the injury site. Under normal wound-healing conditions, hypoxia results in the activation of HIF-1a and recruitment of MSCs to the wound bed (Hong et al. 2014). As indicated earlier, these cells, in turn, promote EPC migration and neovascularization to enhance oxygen delivery to the site of injury (Li et al. 2018). However, EPCs obtained from patients with chronic wounds such as

diabetes show decreased hypoxia-induced adhesion, migration, and proliferation (Vasa et al. 2001; Tepper et al. 2002; Loomans et al. 2004). This culminates in impaired angiogenesis and prolonged ischemia, further compromising wound healing (Capla et al. 2007). As discussed in the context of routine wound healing, ASCs also play a key role in improving vascularization and maintaining the collagen matrix. Complementarily, diabetic wounds exhibit functionally impaired ASCs, which results in diminished growth factor production (Cianfarani et al. 2013).

Combined with abnormal cytokine signaling, decreased growth factor production detrimentally impacts wound-healing outcomes (Galkowska et al. 2006). In addition to promoting revascularization, factors such as FGF also contribute to the recruitment and replication of stem cells (i.e., MSCs), further enhancing growth factor production (Rodrigues et al. 2010). Lack of growth factors is associated with impaired recruitment and function of vascular endothelial cells and multiple stem cell lineages. The source of these factors is macrophages, and the altered macrophage activity (e.g., in diabetic ulcers) is a responsible cause and result of altered signaling pathways (Maruyuma et al. 2007). Macrophages obtained from chronic diabetic wounds release fewer growth factors relative to healthy tissue macrophages, functioning as a significant cause of decreased angiogenesis and impaired healing in these patients (Toma et al. 2005; Yamanishi et al. 2012). Taken together, growth factors and stem cells have a complementary relationship, and aberrancies in either can result in impaired or excessive healing.

Excessive Wound Healing

On the opposite spectrum of healing is overhealing or pathological scarring, which includes hypertrophic scars and keloids. The scarring has significant detrimental physical, social, and psychological consequences, providing an impetus for further research regarding tissue regeneration. Many studies focus on differentiating mechanisms underlying adult versus fetal wound healing, which is scar-free. Interestingly, midgestational fetal wounds heal rapidly and are characterized by regeneration of all skin components (including skin appendages) and maintenance of identical collagen patterns to uninjured tissue (Hu et al. 2014). This contrasts to adult wounds, which lack skin appendages and heal by a fibroproliferative response characterized by a disorganized collagen network, resulting in scar tissue that vastly differs from intact skin (Fig. 3) (Hu et al. 2014).

We compare mechanisms in the fetal healing process to adult skin repair to understand the causative factors underlying pathological scarring. Fetal wounds differ from adult wounds regarding to inflammatory responses, extracellular matrix (ECM) components, and differential growth factor expression (Mast 1992). For example, fetal wounds exhibit a paucity of immune cells, lower levels of the proinflammatory cytokine IL6 and elevated anti-inflammatory IL10, immediate collagen deposition with a higher Type III to Type 1 collagen ratio, higher VEGF and HIF-1a production, and a lack of profibrotic myofibroblasts compared to postnatal wounds to list a few distinctions (Table 1) (Lo et al. 2012). In addition to



Fig. 3 Anatomy of (a) normal skin, (b) hypertrophic scar, and (c) keloid

Characteristics	Fetal	Adult
ECM collagen		
Deposition rate	Immediate	Delayed
Histology	Fine, reticular, and basket-weave	Dense parallel bundles
Type III/type I ratio	Higher	Lower
Cross-linking	Low levels	High levels
Inflammatory response		
Inflammatory cells	Few	Many
IL6 and IL8	Low levels	High levels
IL10	High levels	Low levels
Growth factors		
VEGF	Higher	Lower
TGF-b1 and b2	Low levels	High levels
HIF-1a	Higher	Lower
Fibroblasts and stem cells		
Myofibroblasts (day 14)	Absent	Present
MSCs presence	Higher levels at injury site	Lower levels at injury site

Table 1 Comparison between fetal versus adult wound healing. (Modified from Lo et al. (2012))

HIF hypoxia-inducible factor-1a, *IL* interleukin, *MSCs* mesenchymal stem cells, *TGF-b* transforming growth factor-b, and *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor

the aforementioned factors, fetal wounds also exhibit differences in epidermal and dermal stem cell location and function. For example, postnatal epidermal stem cells reside in the hair follicle bulge, which fetal skin lacks (Nowak et al. 2008). Additionally, as skin development progresses, these epidermal stem cells change in the pattern of cell division. Cell divisions are predominantly symmetric and parallel to the basement membrane initially in embryonic development. In later stages, stem cells begin to undergo asymmetric cell division, which correlates with

a transition from a scar-free to scarring healing phase (Hu et al. 2014). While a significant amount of research is focused on epidermal stem cells, differential responses in dermal stem cells likely contribute to aberrant scarring (Hu et al. 2014). Hereto, we identified stem cells as contributors to skin regeneration and a promising therapeutic option in impaired healing.

However, some studies have provided conflicting results, demonstrating that specific subpopulations of dermal stem cells (MSCs) may increase inflammation and risk of hypertrophic scarring (Zhang et al. 2009a; van der Veer et al. 2009; Ding et al. 2013).

Furthermore, increasing evidence suggests the involvement of stem cells in pathogenesis. For example, aberrant fibroblasts and profibrotic keloid myofibroblasts may originate via epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition from MSCs, which in turn are derived from embryonic stem cells (ESCs) (Lee et al. 2015). In turn, keloid dermis-derived stem cells that express ESCs-specific markers OCT4, NANOG, Sox2, and pSTAT3 (ESC-like cells) promote aberrant fibroblasts and profibrotic myofibroblasts through an MSCs intermediate (Lim et al. 2019; Grant et al. 2016; Bagabir et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2009b). Likely, establishment of a local inflammatory environment increases the number of keloid-derived precursor stem cells with a distinct MSCs-specific marker expression profile from normal skin precursor cells. The inflammatory niche induces TGFb, epidermal growth factor (EGF), FGF, and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) secretion by keloid-associated stem cells, which in turn results in excessive collagen production and ECM deposition, further recruitment of inflammatory cells and production of inflammatory mediator interleukins (IL) (e.g., IL1a, IL6), and scar formation (Smith et al. 1998; van der Veer et al. 2009). Taken together, studies suggest that the immune system and post-trauma-inflammatory period have an integral role in scarring, which likely occurs via local stem cell dysregulation. In the subsequent section, we will discuss the specifics of the various stem cell populations involved in wound healing.

Stem Cell Subtypes in Skin Regeneration

Stem cells have an integral role in physiologic, impaired, and excessive healing. Given their general prohealing effect, stem cells can putatively be harnessed therapeutically. Here, we discuss the various stem cell subtypes involved in skin regeneration.

Embryonic Stem Sells

ESCs, which are isolated from the inner cell mass of blastocysts, express the cell surface antigens, including stage-specific embryonic antigen (SSEA) SSEA3, SSEA4, T cell receptor alpha locus (TRA) TRA-1-60, and TRA-1-81 and transcription factors OCT4, NANOG, and Sox2 (Thompson et al. 1998; Reubinoff et al. 2000; Clark et al. 2004). The latter transcription factors promote self-renewal genes

while inhibiting differentiation genes, establishing ESCs' pluripotency and the potential to differentiate into any germ layers – endoderm, mesoderm, or ectoderm from which skin develops (Thomas et al. 1998). ESCs can form all somatic tissues and express high levels of telomerase, hence preventing cellular senescence. Depending on the growth factor milieu, ESCs can differentiate into keratinocytes and generate epidermal layers, besides showing proangiogenic properties, thus making them an attractive option for bioengineered skin substitutes (Aberdam 2004; Rufaihah et al. 2010). However, further research is needed before an efficient, controlled expansion and differentiation to particular cell types is feasible. Additionally, studies are required on how to deliver cells in a manner in which they can survive and integrate effectively in patients (de Wert and Mummery 2003).

While these challenges occur in ESCs and adult stem cells, ESCs have additional considerations to adult stem cells. For example, ESCs use is still controversial due to ethical concerns regarding harvesting cells from live embryos (de Wert and Mummery 2003). There are also concerns for potential immune rejection and teratoma formation (Hentze et al. 2009). The latter is likely since ESCs harbor qualities reminiscent of cancerous cells, including self-renewal, persistent proliferation, lack of contact inhibition, and proangiogenic features (Burdon et al. 2002). ESCs also have reduced CpG island methylation in specific genes, allowing for increased gene expression compared to differentiated cells (Altun et al. 2010). This is coupled with hypermethylation and silencing of tumor-suppressor genes, a phenomenon also seen in cancerous cells (Altun et al. 2010). Given that ESCs are potentially tumorigenic, further work is needed before they can be implemented clinically. In the meantime, adult stem cells have garnered greater interest as an alternative source of stem cells for the treatment of diseases.

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

While not an endogenous stem cell population, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) produced from adult-derived cells have significant therapeutic potential and merit an in-depth discussion (Ibrahim et al. 2016). iPSCs are programmed in vitro via induction of Oct4/Sox2/c-Myc/KLF4 or Oct4/Sox2/NANOG/LIN28 (Takahashi et al. 2007; Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Yu et al. 2007). They are pluripotent cells with the capacity for self-renewal and the ability to differentiate into any adult cell type, similar to ESCs (Ibrahim et al. 2016). As they are derived from adult somatic cells, iPSCs circumvent potential ethical issues faced with ESCs. Furthermore, iPSCs can easily be derived from the adult tissue harvested from multiple sources, including, bone marrow, skeletal muscle, and skin, thus providing a renewable source of pluripotent stem cells (Ahmed et al. 2011a; Buccini et al. 2012; Gorecka et al. 2019). They are also being used for disease modeling (Cagavi et al. 2018).

Due to this ability, iPSCs-derived cells are potentially able to target each phase of wound healing. During the inflammatory phase, they can ameliorate impaired growth factor and cytokine secretion, promoting macrophage, fibroblast, and

keratinocyte secretions lacking in chronic wounds (Casqueiro et al. 2012; Clayton et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2013; Açikgoz et al. 2004). During the proliferative phase, iPSC-derived cells promote angiogenesis and collagen deposition and include endo-thelial cells, smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, keratinocytes, etc. (Tepper et al. 2005). Finally, the recruitment of cells such as fibroblasts and myofibroblasts during the proliferative phase impacts the remodeling phase of healing (Grenier et al. 2007).

Interestingly, iPSCs can be induced to produce other stem cell populations such as MSCs, which are multipotent stem cells capable of differentiating into various cell types (discussed in the subsequent section). MSCs obtained from models of poor healing (e.g., diabetic wounds) exhibit impaired proliferation, differentiation, and production of proangiogenic factors (Aasen et al. 2008). IPSCs-derived MSCs may have a better wound-healing potential, and we later discuss iPSCs-based treatment in conditions of poor healing. However, while iPSCs may have a prohealing advantage over MSCs, several potential issues are associated with their implementation. Like ESCs, iPSCs exhibit tumorigenic potential and can form teratomas when undifferentiated (Ahmed et al. 2011b; Gledhill et al. 2015; Krause et al. 2001). Currently, there are strategies to minimize teratoma risk, including differentiation before cell transplantation (Bedel et al. 2017). Another potential issue is that initial production required retroviral transfection with the risk of viral integration into the host genome and insertional mutagenesis. However, more recent techniques are nonintegrative, circumventing potential safety issues (Haridhasapavalan et al. 2019; Malik et al. 2013; Deng et al. 2015). Taken together, iPSCs have a potential application in wound healing, although further studies regarding their safety profile and improvements in iPSCs' generation are needed at this point.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

MSCs are progenitor cells for connective tissue found in multiple sites, including AT, bone marrow, and nerves (Danisovic et al. 2009). To classify as an MSC, cells should exhibit plastic adherence, express specific cell surface markers (CD73, CD90, and CD105), and lack CD14, CD34, CD45, and HLA-DR, and be able to differentiate in vitro into either adipocytes, chondrocytes, or osteoblasts (Dominici et al. 2006). While the aforementioned characteristics apply to all MSCs, slight variations are depending on the tissue of isolation. Here, we focus on adipose tissue-derived MSCs (ADMSCs), which express the previous factors plus CD29, CD44, CD71, CD13, CD166, and STRO-1 (Ullah et al. 2015).

Akin to ESCs, MSCs have beneficial features for skin regeneration applications, including self-renewal, the ability to home toward wounds, rapid proliferation, and the capacity to differentiate into a myriad of cell types (Sackstein 2004). Their prohealing effects can be attributed in part to the release of growth, cell recruitment, and immunoregulatory factors in response to inflammatory mediators that accumulate at the site of injury (Prockop and Oh 2012). An added advantage over ESCs is that MSCs are not immunologically active due to low MHC1 and lack of MHCII and costimulatory CD80, CD40, and CD86, which protects MSCs from natural killer

(NK) cell lysis (Rasmusson et al. 2003). Furthermore, MSCs can inhibit NK and cytotoxic T-cells via various pathways, such as secretion of human leukocyte antigen G5, leukemia inhibitor factor (LIF), and interferon (IFN) (Selmani et al. 2008; Nasef et al. 2008; Sheng et al. 2008). More specifically, MSCs induce T-cell apoptosis, which enables macrophages to produce TGFb, thus promoting the generation of regulatory T-cells and macrophage phenotype switching to anti-inflammatory sub-types (Ohe et al. 2015; Barrandon and Green 1987; Green 2008). These immuno-modulatory effects depend on the quantity and type of cytokines present and diminish the risk of immune rejection, making MSCs a viable option in inflammatory conditions and other clinical applications (Mansilla et al. 2005; Falanga et al. 2007). However, the intensity of inflammation regulates MSC-mediated immunomodulation, necessitating a healthy patient inflammatory status for optimal efficacy (Wang et al. 2014).

Recent research identified ADMSCs within subcutaneous tissue, purporting a skin regeneration role (Marfia et al. 2015). In this context, ADMSCs have several advantages, including ease of harvesting and enhanced proliferative and immunosuppressive properties (Jacobs et al. 2013; Pachón-Peña et al. 2011). The ability for ADMSCs to proliferate, differentiate, and migrate is inherently dependent on the local milieu. ADMSCs home in on the injury site via enhanced expression of CXCR-4, which modifies local immune cell (i.e., macrophages, T-cells, B-cells, and dendritic cells) inflammatory phenotypes to a healing, anti-inflammatory one likely via TGFb or growth differentiation factor (GDF) GDF11-mediated activation (Baharlou et al. 2017; Hyldig et al. 2017; Mazini et al. 2019). Production of TGF-b and GDF11, growth factors (i.e., FGF, VEGF), and cytokines, i.e., IL6, tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a), is likely induced by local IL6 production during the inflammatory phase (Mazini et al. 2020). Taken together, ADMSCs interact with dermal fibroblasts via cytokine and growth factor production to regulate their microenvironment. ADMSC secretome stimulates the migration and proliferation of dermal fibroblasts and keratinocytes, besides collagen and elastin deposition (Choi et al. 2018; Ferreira and Gomes 2018). Thus, preconditioning ADMSCs with a particular cytokine and growth factor combinations can enhance therapeutic benefits, which is an essential consideration for clinical applications.

Epithelial (Epidermal) Stem Cells

Studies suggest that the epidermis comprises a basal layer containing 2–7% of stem cells (Potten et al. 1979). Although integrins, which are responsible for attaching the epidermal basal layer to the basement membrane, may be a potential candidate, these stem cells lack specific markers. Evidence suggests that epithelial stem cells, including epidermal interfollicular, sebaceous gland, and hair follicle bulge stem cells, have slightly different characteristics. For example, interfollicular stem cells are less potent than bulge stem cells, possibly suggesting that they are the progeny of bulge cells (Alonso and Fuchs 2003). Interfollicular cells lack a distinct niche and are more easily induced to proliferate, although injuries that destroy the interfollicular

epidermis (i.e., superficial burns) but leave hair follicles intact can regrow epithelium and do not need grafting (Alonso and Fuchs 2003; Green 1991). Hair follicle bulge cells are multipotent cells capable of differentiating into all skin epithelial lineages (e.g., hair follicles, keratinocytes) and forming a stratified epidermis in vitro (Rochat et al. 1994). Taken together, this suggests that epithelial stem cells have different functions and importance, which has implications in skin regeneration and necessitates a greater understanding of the underlying signaling pathways.

In particular, Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is associated with the ability of epithelial cells to exhibit multipotency features (Zhou et al. 1995; Gat et al. 1998; Andl et al. 2002). While only bulge cells are considered multipotent, stabilization of skin betacatenin induces adult interfollicular epidermal cells to behave similarly to embryonic skin. That is, they can differentiate into epidermal cells or hair follicles. Wnt signaling in embryonic skin epithelial cells results in beta-catenin-mediated activation of the DNA-binding protein family Lef/Tcf (Nusse 1999). When skin MSCs inhibit the BMP pathway, multipotent epithelial stem cells express Lef1 and commit to hair follicle formation (Jamora et al. 2003). The extent of Lef1/Tcf activation is essential in stem cell lineage commitment, and overexpression of Lefl in skin epithelium results in inappropriate hair follicle formation, while interfering with Lefl/beta-catenin association results in hair follicles adopting a sebaceous cell fate (Zhou et al. 1995; Merrill et al. 2001; Niemann et al. 2001). Interestingly, despite consistently elevated stabilized beta-catenin levels and, hence, epithelial bulge stem cell commitment to hair follicle morphogenesis, the overall size of the stem cell niche does not change (Lowry et al. 2005). This suggests a balance between betacatenin-mediated self-renewal of bulge stem cells and their efflux from the niche.

Under physiologic conditions, hair follicle and other epidermal cells function as distinct lineage niches. However, injury to the epidermis results in the recruitment of stem cells from different epidermal compartments, allowing for repopulation of cells in other epidermal compartments and expediting wound closure. Given endogenous stem cells' role in wound healing, we subsequently assessed stem cells in defective and excessive healing, highlighting the pros and cons of different stem cell types.

Applications in Defective Wound Healing

Chronic wounds, frequently associated with impaired stem cell function, can be managed with clinical approaches involving stem cell application. Several stem cell subtypes have potential in wound-healing management, including ESCs, EPCs, iPSCs, and MSCs (bone marrow and AD). Initially, ESCs were identified for their ability to differentiate into any of the three primary germ layers and, thus, their potential application in wound healing; however, ESCs can generate tumors and are controversial, as discussed earlier (Kanji and Das 2017). Therefore, focus has been shifted to adult stem cells as alternative treatment options. Here, we discuss current stem cell treatments and their effect on various physiologic events involved in wound healing: inflammation, angiogenesis, and fibrosis.

Endogenous bone marrow-derived EPCs have a crucial role in promoting wound healing via angiogenesis. However, migration to the injury site occurs in response to hypoxic factors, which are impaired in conditions such as diabetes (Tepper et al. 2005; Ceradini et al. 2004). Exogenous stem cell transplant is an alternative strategy to circumvent this issue. A study utilizing diabetic murine models demonstrated that injecting CD34+ EPCs into ischemic wounds enhances vascular density and minimizes healing time (Sivan-Loukianova et al. 2003). Furthermore, injection of CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells into human chronic sacral ulcers decreased wound volume by 60% within 3 weeks of administration (Wettstein et al. 2014). Although the sample size was small (three patients), this study provided evidence of efficacy with stem cell treatment and, in this case, no tumorigenicity, paving the way for additional human clinical studies utilizing stem cells.

An alternate source of stem cells is differentiated adult somatic cells, which can be de-differentiated to pluripotent iPSCs. For example, murine fibroblasts or keratinocytes treated with a combination of Oct3/4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4 can revert to iPSCs, which in turn differentiate into tissue from all three germ layers (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Aasen et al. 2008). In addition to the ability to induce pluripotency, directing differentiation into particular cell types is critical. In this regard, iPSCs can be selectively differentiated into fibroblasts and keratinocytes and, as an added advantage, elicit an anti-inflammatory response (Lu et al. 2014). Taken together, these characteristics render iPSCs an attractive option for treating chronic wounds and skin conditions (Zhang et al. 2015a). Indeed, iPSCs-derived cells obtained from patients promote healing and enhance collagen secretion (Gorecka et al. 2019). In murine models, iPSCs-derived MSCs injected into the wound site secrete type-VII collagen at the dermal-epidermal junction and improve epithelialization (Nakayama et al. 2018). These iPSCs can be obtained from donors with preexisting conditions (e.g., diabetes, epidermolysis bullosa), allowing autologous treatment and minimizing rejection (Tolar et al. 2011). This is coupled with a proangiogenic potential, allowing for potential applications in ischemic injury (e.g., myocardial infarction, peripheral arterial disease, and retinopathy). However, further studies regarding the safety-enhancement of iPSCs' reprogramming protocols are needed to assure minimal risk of mutagenesis and teratogenicity (Okita et al. 2007).

Similar to iPSCs, MSCs also lack immunological reactivity and are capable of rapidly proliferating and differentiating into a wide range of cell types (Nakagawa et al. 2005; Krause et al. 2001). MSCs express high levels of VEGF and angiopoietin-1 or may function as pericytes, indicating that prohealing effects are due in part to enhanced angiogenesis and stabilization of blood vessels in normal and impaired healing models (Dai et al. 2007; Shumakov et al. 2003; Kwon et al. 2008). Clinically, MSCs-based therapy has also shown to improve healing by improving angiogenesis and dermal vascularity and thickness, increasing reepithelialization and granulation tissue formation, and, more importantly, modulating the immune response (Badiavas et al. 2003; Vojtassak et al. 2006; Cha and Falanga 2007). Irrespective of the source, MSCs-based cell therapy lowers inflammatory cell numbers and proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL1, TNFa) and enhances IL10 at the site of injury in animal wound-healing models (Liu et al. 2014a). Furthermore, MSC-based treatment influences macrophage polarization, promoting an anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage

profile in murine wounds (Zhang et al. 2010). Since macrophage profile and inflammation also regulate fibrosis, the immunomodulatory effect putatively attenuates excessive ECM deposition and abnormal scarring, which will be discussed in-depth in the subsequent section.

Stem Cells in Overscarring

MSCs administration increased the tensile strength of wounds and reduces wound contracture and scarring due to (1) anti-inflammatory effects, (2) paracrine signaling, and (3) modified collagen deposition and ECM remodeling (Hu et al. 2018). Prolonged inflammation can induce fibrosis, and the anti-inflammatory effect of MSCs in part accounts for reduced fibrosis. MSCs upregulate prostaglandin E_2 (PGE2) that inhibits IL2 expression and diminishes T cell proliferation in the wound (Németh et al. 2009; Jarvinen et al. 2008; Djouad et al. 2007). PGE2 also facilitates the transition from T_H1 to T_H2 cells, which corresponds with a reduction in IFN expression and upregulation of IL4 (Zanone et al. 2010; Aggarwal and Pittenger 2005). Decreased IFN relative to IL4 favors anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages, which results in decreased proinflammatory signaling (Stout 2010; Varin and Gordon 2009). This is accompanied by the secretion of various factors that promote tissue regeneration.

MSCs secrete various antifibrotic cytokines and growth factors including hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), FGF2, VEGF, IL10, and adrenomedullin (Li et al. 2008, 2009; Chen et al. 2008; Du et al. 2016). In particular, fibroblasts respond to HGF secretion by downregulating collagen I/III and TGFb1 expression via nuclear exclusion of SMAD3, a transcriptional factor associated with several profibrotic genes (Mou et al. 2009; Schievenbusch et al. 2009; Inagaki et al. 2008). In addition to enhanced HGF and VEGF, TGFb1/b2 neutralization or addition of TGFb3 is also associated with the scar-free repair, and MSCs maintain a higher ratio of TGFb3/ TGFb1 protecting against abnormal scar formation (Ono et al. 2004; Shah et al. 1995).

MSCs contribute to collagen type III secretion, and a higher type III: Type I ratio is characteristic of scar-free fetal tissue healing (Longaker et al. 1990; Fathke et al. 2004). In addition to targeting collagen deposition, MSCs-secreted factors, such as HGF, upregulate the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-13 in fibroblasts, and promoting ECM turnover (Kanemura et al. 2008). Interestingly, MSCs may inhibit profibrotic myofibroblast differentiation via HGF secretion (Shukla et al. 2009; Abe et al. 2001). While myofibroblast differentiation may be needed in normal healing, these cells produce excessive ECM compared to dermal fibroblast and may contribute to scar formation (Bucala et al. 1994). Elevated TGFb1, observed in conditions characterized by a prolonged acute inflammatory response, mediates myofibroblast differentiation and, as a result, contributes to the excessive ECM deposition, the formation of tight collagen bundles, and wound contraction resulting in scarring. Downstream effects of MSCs-mediated inhibition of myofibroblasts yield less scar tissue, as witnessed in oral epithelial healing that is characterized by high HGF levels and lack of significant myofibroblast differentiation (Shannon et al. 2006).

Interestingly, ESC-like populations are implicated in fibrosis in models of aberrant healing (i.e., keloids). While MSCs attenuate inflammation and collagen remodeling, MSC intermediates may differentiate into keloid myofibroblasts (Lee et al. 2015). Keloid dermis contains a population of cells that express elevated ESCs-specific markers OCT4, NANOG, SOX2, and pSTAT3 in perivascular cells within keloid-associated lymphoid tissue, serving as a source of aberrant fibroblasts (Lee et al. 2015). This potentially occurs via the previously mentioned MSC intermediate, generated by the endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT). Interestingly, while MSCs-based treatment may have an actual clinical application in wound healing and scar prevention, endogenous dermal keloid-associated stem cells contribute to keloid pathogenesis. Thus, further studies regarding the complex signaling pathways involved in wound healing and the contribution of stem cells in the process are needed at this time to further enhance our understanding of the molecular mechanisms involved therein.

Stem Cell Therapy in Pathological Scarring

Several studies demonstrated the use of stem cell-based therapy for hypertrophic scar and keloid treatment. For example, iPSCs-conditioned medium (CM) may suppress hypertrophic fibroblast activation, collagen I, as well as, alpha-smooth muscle actin, a marker for myofibroblasts (Ren et al. 2015). Furthermore, iPSCs-CM-secreted factors block inflammatory cell recruitment, decrease adhesion, and mitigate the contractile ability of dermal fibroblasts (Ren et al. 2015).

In addition to multipotent iPSCs, MSCs also could be harnessed for scar treatment. An example of this is Wharton's jelly MSCs (WJ-MSCs), which exhibit antifibrotic properties, and no teratoma formation or rejection (Gauthaman et al. 2012; Bongso and Fong 2013). In addition to preventing fibrosis, WJ-MSCs enhance healing in immunodeficient mice and diminish scarring in other animal models (Sabapathy et al. 2014; Azari et al. 2011). Bone marrow-derived MSCs similarly have been used to treat hypertrophic scars in rabbit models and murine skin fibrosis, facilitating the formation of uniform, basket-weave collagen organization analogous to normal skin with minimal inflammatory cells (Liu et al. 2014b; Wu et al. 2014). This is combined with a marked decrease in profibrotic TGFb1 and upregulation of MMPs (e.g., MMP-2/9/13) (Wu et al. 2014). Alternatively, injection of ADSCs in a rabbit-hypertrophic scar model led to the normal-appearing scars with a reduced scar elevation index (Zhang et al. 2015b). Likely, ADSCs modify the local host microenvironment via the production of antioxidants, free radical scavengers, and heat shock proteins, promoting normal wound healing (Gimble et al. 2007).

Conclusion

In this chapter, we highlight the mechanisms underlying normal and aberrant posttrauma healing and the role of stem cells in these processes. In particular, we discuss how endogenous stem cells can impact all the phases of wound healing: inflammatory, proliferative, and remodeling. Currently, the studies suggest that application of stem cells may benefit dermal wound healing by accelerating reepithelialization, improving the tensile strength of new tissue, promote healing in chronic wounds, and minimize excessive scarring. However, further work regarding safety and regulation, clinical translatability, ability to scale up production, and efficient means of stem cell delivery is needed before widespread clinical use.

Cross-References

- Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
- Vascular Functional Recovery and Reparation by Human Endothelial Progenitor Cells

References

- Aasen T, Raya A, Barrero MJ et al (2008) Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat Biotechnol 26(11):1276–1284
- Abe R, Donnelly SC, Peng T et al (2001) Peripheral blood fibrocytes: differentiation pathway and migration to wound sites. J Immunol 166:7556–7562
- Aberdam D (2004) Derivation of keratinocyte progenitor cells and skin formation from embryonic stem cells. Int J Dev Biol 48(2–3):203–206
- Açikgoz G, Devrim İ, Özdamar Ş (2004) Comparison of keratinocyte proliferation in diabetic and non-diabetic inflamed gingiva. J Periodontol 75(7):989–994
- Aggarwal S, Pittenger M (2005) Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood 105:1815–1822
- Ahmed RPH, Haider K, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011a) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70
- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011b) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host: a note of caution. Regen Med 6: 171–178
- Alonso L, Fuchs E (2003) Stem cells of the skin epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 11830–11835
- Altun G, Loring JF, Laurent LC (2010) DNA methylation in embryonic stem cells. J Cell Biochem 109(1):1–6
- Andl T, Reddy ST, Gaddapara T, Millar SE (2002) WNT signals are required for the initiation of hair follicle development. Dev Cell 2(5):643–653
- Azari O, Babaei H, Derakhshanfar SN et al (2011) Effects of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells isolated from Wharton's jelly of caprine umbilical cord on cutaneous wound healing; histopathological evaluation. Vet Res Commun 15:211–222
- Badiavas EV, Abedi M, Butmar J et al (2003) Participation of bone marrow derived cells in cutaneous wound healing. J Cell Physiol 196(2):245–250
- Bagabir R, Byers RJ, Chaudhry IH et al (2012) Site-specific immunophenotyping of keloid disease demonstrates immune upregulation and the presence of lymphoid aggregates. Br J Dermatol 167:1053–1066
- Baharlou R, Ahmadi-Vasmehjani A, Faraji F et al (2017) Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in rheumatoid arthritis: regulatory effects on peripheral blood mononuclear cells activation. Int Immunopharmacol 47:59–69

- Barrandon Y, Green H (1987) Three clonal types of keratinocyte with different capacities for multiplication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:2302–2306
- Bedel A, Beliveau F, Lamrissi-Garcia I et al (2017) Preventing pluripotent cell teratoma in regenerative medicine applied to hematology disorders. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(2):382–393
- Biernaski J, Paris M, Morozova O et al (2009) SKPs derive from hair follicle precursors and exhibit properties of adult dermal stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 5(6):610–623
- Bongso A, Fong CY (2013) The therapeutic potential, challenges, and future clinical directions of stem cells from the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord. Stem Cell Rev 9:226–240
- Broughton G, Janis JE, Attinger CE (2006) Wound healing: an overview. Plast Reconstr Surg 117: 1–32
- Bucala R, Spiegel LA, Chesney J et al (1994) Circulating fibrocytes define a new leukocyte subpopulation that mediates tissue repair. Mol Med 1:71
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301
- Burdon T, Smith A, Savatier P (2002) Signalling, cell cycle and pluripotency in embryonic stem cells. Trends Cell Biol 12(9):432–438
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH (2018) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine and life sciences. De Gruyter, Berlin
- Capla JM, Grogan RH, Callaghan MJ et al (2007) Diabetes impairs endothelial progenitor cellmediated blood vessel formation in response to hypoxia. Plast Reconstr Surg 119(1):59
- Casqueiro J, Casqueiro J, Alves C (2012) Infections in patients with diabetes mellitus: a review of pathogenesis. Indian J Endocrinol Metab 16(Suppl 1):S27–S36
- Ceradini DJ, Kulkarni AR, Callaghan MJ et al (2004) Progenitor cell trafficking is regulated by hypoxic gradients through HIF-1 induction of SDF-1. Nat Med 10(8):858–864
- Cha J, Falanga V (2007) Stem cells in cutaneous wound healing. Clin Dermatol 25(1):73-78
- Chen L, Tredget EE, Wu PY, Wu Y (2008) Paracrine factors of mesenchymal stem cells recruit macrophages and endothelial lineage cells and enhance wound healing. PLoS One 3:e1886
- Cherubino M, Rubin JP, Miljkovic N et al (2011) Adipose-derived stem cells for wound healing applications. Ann Plast Surg 66(2):210–215
- Choi EW, Seo MK, Woo EY et al (2018) Exosomes from human adipose-derived stem cells promote proliferation and migration of skin fibroblasts. Exp Dermatol 27:1170–1172
- Cianfarani F, Toietta G, Di Rocco G et al (2013) Diabetes impairs adipose tissue-derived stem cell function and efficiency in promoting wound healing. Wound Repair Regen 21(4):545–553
- Clark AT, Rodriguez RT, Bodnar MS et al (2004) Human STELLAR, NANOG, and GDF3 genes are expressed in pluripotent cells and map to chromosome 12p13, a hotspot for teratocarcinoma. Stem Cells 22:169–179
- Clayton ZE, Tan RP, Miravet MM et al (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived endothelial cells promote angiogenesis and accelerate wound closure in a murine excisional wound healing model. Biosci Rep 38:4
- Corliss BA, Azimi MS, Munson J et al (2016) Macrophages: an inflammatory link between angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Microcirculation 23(2):95–121
- Dai Y, Li J, Li J et al (2007) Skin epithelial cells in mice from umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells. Burns 33(4):418–428
- Danisovic L, Varga I, Polak S et al (2009) Comparison of in vitro chondrogenic potential of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Gen Physiol Biophys 128(1):56–62
- de Wert G, Mummery C (2003) Human embryonic stem cells: research, ethics and policy. Hum Reprod 18(4):672–682
- Deng X-Y, Wang H, Wang T et al (2015) Non-viral methods for generating integration-free, induced pluripotent stem cells. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 10(2):153–158
- Ding J, Ma Z, Shankowsky HA et al (2013) Deep dermal fibroblast profibrotic characteristics are enhanced by bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Wound Repair Regen 21: 448–455
- Djouad F, Charbonnier LM, Bouffi C et al (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit the differentiation of dendritic cells through an interleukin-6-dependent mechanism. Stem Cells 25:2025–2032
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317
- Driskell RR, Giangreco A, Jensen KB et al (2009) Sox2-positive dermal papilla cells specify hair follicle type in mammalian epidermis. Development 136(16):2815–2823
- Du L, Lv R, Yang X et al (2016) Hypoxic conditioned medium of placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells protects against scar formation. Life Sci 149:51–57
- Eming SA, Krieg T, Davidson JM (2007) Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol 127:514–525
- Falanga V, Iwamoto S, Chartier M et al (2007) Autologous bone marrow-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells delivered in a fibrin spray accelerate healing in murine and human cutaneous wounds. Tissue Eng 13(6):1299–1312
- Fathke C, Wilson L, Hutter J et al (2004) Contribution of bone marrow-derived cells to skin: collagen deposition and wound repair. Stem Cells 22(5):812–822
- Ferreira ADF, Gomes DA (2018) Stem cell extracellular vesicles in skin repair. Bioengineering 6:4
- Finnerty CC, Jeschke MG, Branski LK et al (2016) Hypetrophic scarring: the greatest unmet challenge following burn injury. Lancet 388(10052):1427–1436
- Frese L, Dijkman PE, Hoerstrup SP (2016) Adipose tissue-derived stem cells in regenerative medicine. Transfus Med Hemother 43(4):268–274
- Fuchs E (2008) Skin stem cells: rising to the surface. J Cell Biol 180(2):273-284
- Galkowska H, Wojewodzka U, Olszewski WL (2006) Chemokines, cytokines, and growth factors in keratinocytes and dermal endothelial cells in the margin of chronic diabetic foot ulcers. Wound Repair Regen 14(5):558–565
- Gat U, DasGupta R, Degenstein L, Fuchs E (1998) De novo hair follicle morphogenesis and hair tumors in mice expressing a truncated beta-catenin in skin. Cell 95(5):605–614
- Gauthaman K, Fong CY, Suganya CA et al (2012) Extra-embryonic human Wharton's jelly stem cells do not induce tumorigenesis, unlike human embryonic stem cells. Reprod Biomed Online 24:235–246
- Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA (2007) Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res 100:1249–1260
- Gledhill K, Guo Z, Umegaki-Arao N et al (2015) Melanin transfer in human 3D skin equivalents generated exclusively from induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 10(8):e0136713
- Gonzalez ACO, Costa TF, Andrade ZA et al (2016) Wound healing a literature review. An Bras Dermatol 91(5):614–620
- Gorecka J, Kostiuk V, Fereydooni A et al (2019) The potential and limitations of induced pluripotent stem cells to achieve wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):87
- Gottrup F (2004) Oxygen in wound healing and infection. World J Surg 28(3):312–315
- Grant C, Chudakova DA, Itinteang T et al (2016) Expression of embryonic stem cell marker in keloid-associated lymphoid tissue. J Clin Pathol 69:643–646.0
- Green H (1991) Cultured cells for the treatment of disease. Sci Am 265(5):96-102
- Green H (2008) The birth of therapy with cultured cells. BioEssays 30:897-903
- Grenier G, Scime A, Le Grand F et al (2007) Resident endothelial precursors in muscle, adipose, and dermis contribute to postnatal vasculogenesis. Stem Cells 25(12):3101–3110
- Haridhasapavalan KK, Borgohain MP, Dey C et al (2019) An insight into non-integrative gene delivery approaches to generate transgene-free induced pluripotent stem cells. Gene 686:146–159
- Hentze H, Soong PL, Wang ST et al (2009) Teratoma formation by human embryonic stem cells: evaluation of essential parameters for future safety studies. Stem Cell Res 2(3):198–210

- Hong WX, Hu MS, Esquivel M et al (2014) The role of hypoxia-inducible factor in wound healing. Adv Wound Care 3(5):390–399
- Hu MS-M, Rennert RC, McArdle A et al (2014) The role of stem cells during scarless skin wound healing. Adv Wound Care 3(4):304–314
- Hu MS, Borrelli MR, Lorenz HP et al (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells and cutaneous wound healing: a comprehensive review of the background, role, and therapeutic potential. Stem Cells Int 2018:6901983
- Hutchings G, Janowicz K, Moncrieff L et al (2020) The proliferation and differentiation of adiposederived stem cells in neovascularization and angiogenesis. Int J Mol Sci 21(11):3790
- Hyldig K, Riis S, Pennisi CP et al (2017) Implications of extracellular matrix production by adipose tissue-derived stem cells for development of wound healing therapies. Int J Mol Sci 18:1167
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider HK (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng 9(4):226–244
- Inagaki Y, Higashi K, Kushida M et al (2008) Hepatocyte growth factor suppresses profibrogenic signal transduction via nuclear export of Smad3 with galectin-7. Gastroenterology 134: 1180–1190
- Ito M, Cotsarelis G (2008) Is the hair follicle necessary for normal wound healing? J Invest Dermatol 128(5):1059–1061
- Ito M, Liu Y, Yang Z et al (2005) Stem cells in the hair follicle bulge contribute to wound repair but not to homeostasis of the epidermis. Nat Med 11(12):1351–1354
- Jackson WM, Nesti LJ, Tuan RS (2012) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for attenuation of scar formation during wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 3(3):20
- Jacobs SA, Pinxteren J, Roobrouck VD et al (2013) Human multipotent adult progenitor cells are nonimmunogenic and exert potent immunomodulatory effects on alloreactive T-cell responses. Cell Transplant 22:1915–1928
- Jahoda CA, Reynolds AJ (2001) Hair follicle dermal sheath cells: unsung participants in wound healing. Lancet 358(9291):445–448
- Jamora C, DasGupta R, Kocieniewski P, Fuchs E (2003) Links between signal transduction, transcription and adhesion in epithelial bud development. Nature 422(6929):317–322
- Jarvinen L, Badri L, Wettlaufer S et al (2008) Lung resident mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human lung allografts inhibit T cell proliferation via a soluble mediator. J Immunol 181:4389–4396
- Kanemura H, Iimuro Y, Takeuchi M et al (2008) Hepatocyte growth factor gene transfer with naked plasmid DNA ameliorates dimethylnitrosamine-induced liver fibrosis in rats. Hepatol Res 38: 930–939
- Kanji S, Das H (2017) Advances of stem cell therapeutics in cutaneous wound healing. Mediat Inflamm 2017:5217967
- Kellner JC, Coulombe PA (2009) SKPing a hurdle: Sox2 and adult dermal stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 5(6):569–570
- Kim KL, Song SH, Choi KS, Suh W (2013) Cooperation of endothelial and smooth muscle cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells enhances neovascularization in dermal wounds. Tissue Eng Part A 19(21–22):2478–2485
- Krause DS, Theise ND, Collector MI et al (2001) Multi-organ, multi-lineage engraftment by a single bone marrow-derived stem cell. Cell 105(3):369–377
- Kwon DS, Gao X, Liu YB et al (2008) Treatment with bone marrow-derived stromal cells accelerates wound healing in diabetic rats. Int Wound J 5(3):453–463
- Larouche J, Sheoran S, Maruyama K et al (2018) Immune regulation of skin wound healing: mechanisms and novel therapeutic targets. Adv Wound Care 7:209–231
- Lee JH, Fisher DE (2014) Melanocyte stem cells as potential therapeutics in skin disorders. Expert Opin Biol Ther 14(11):1569–1579
- Lee SH, Jeong SK, Ahn SK (2006) An update of the defensive barrier function of skin. Yonsei Med J 47:293–306

- Lee EY, Xia Y, Kim WS et al (2009) Hypoxia-enhanced wound-healing function of adipose-derived stem cells: increase in stem cell proliferation and up-regulation of VEGF and bFGF. Wound Repair Regen 17(4):540–547
- Lee WJ, Park JH, Shin JU et al (2015) Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition induced by Wnt 3a in keloid pathogenesis. Wound Repair Regen 23:435–442
- Levy V, Lindon C, Harfe BD, Morgan BA (2005) Distinct stem cell populations regenerate the follicle and interfollicular epidermis. Dev Cell 9(6):855–861
- Li L, Zhang Y, Li Y et al (2008) Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation attenuates cardiac fibrosis associated with isoproterenol-induced global heart failure. Transpl Int 21:1181–1189
- Li L, Zhang S, Zhang Y et al (2009) Paracrine action mediate the antifibrotic effect of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model of global heart failure. Mol Biol Rep 36:725–731
- Li B, Zheng YW, Sano Y, Taniguchi H (2011) Evidence for mesenchymal-epithelial transition associated with mouse hepatic stem cell differentiation. PLoS One 6(2):e17092
- Li Z, Yang A, Yin X et al (2018) Meschenchymal stem cells promote endothelial progenitor cell migration, vascularization, and bone repair in tissue-engineered constructs via activating CXCR2-Src-PKL/Vav2-Rac1. FASEB J 32(4):2197–2211
- Lim KH, Itinteang T, Davis PF et al (2019) Stem cells in keloid lesions: a review. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 7(5):e2228
- Liu YL, Liu WH, Sun J et al (2014a) Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated suppression of hypertrophic scarring is p53 dependent in a rabbit ear model. Stem Cell Res Ther 5:136
- Liu L, Yu Y, Hou Y et al (2014b) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells transplantation promotes cutaneous wound healing of sever burned rats. PLoS One 9(2):e88348
- Lo DD, Zimmermann AS, Nauta A et al (2012) Scarless fetal skin wound healing update. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 96(3):237–247
- Longaker MT, Whitby DJ, Adzick NS et al (1990) Studies in fetal wound healing, VI. Second and early third trimester fetal wounds demonstrate rapid collagen deposition without scar formation. J Pediatr Surg 25(1):63–69
- Loomans CJM, de Konin EJP, Staal FJT et al (2004) Endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction. Diabetes 53(1):195–199
- Lowry WE, Blanpain C, Nowak JA et al (2005) Defining the impact of β-catenin/Tcf transactivation on epithelial stem cells. Genes Dev 19(13):1596–1611
- Lu Q, Yu M, Shen C et al (2014) Negligible immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells derived from human skin fibroblasts. PLoS One 9(12):e114949
- Lu H, Wang F, Mei H et al (2018) Human adipose mesenchymal stem cells show more efficient angiogenesis promotion on endothelial Colony-forming cells than umbilical cord and endometrium. Stem Cells Int 2018;7537589
- MacKay D (2003) Nutritional support for wound healing. Altern Med Rev 8(4):19
- Malik N, Rao MS et al (2013) A review of the methods for human iPSC derivation. Methods Mol Biol 997:23–33
- Mansilla E, Marin GH, Sturla F et al (2005) Human mesenchymal stem cells are tolerized by mice and improve skin and spinal cord injuries. Transplant Proc 37(1):292–294
- Marfia G, Navone SE, Di Vito C et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells: potential for therapy and treatment of chronic non-healing skin wounds. Organogenesis 11:183–206
- Martinez VG, Ontoria-Oviedo I, Ricardo CP et al (2017) Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha improves immunomodulation by dental mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:208
- Maruyuma K, Asai J, Li M et al (2007) Decreased macrophage number and activation lead to reduced lymphatic vessel formation and contribute to impaired diabetic wound healing. Am J Pathol 170(4):1178–1191
- Mast B (1992) The skin. In: Cohen K, Diegelmann I (eds) Wound healing. W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia, pp 344–355

- Mazini L, Rochette L, Malka G (2019) Growth differentiation factor 11 (GDF11)/transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β)/mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) balance: a complicated partnership in skin rejuvenation. J Embryol Stem Cell Res 3:000122
- Mazini L, Rochette L, Admou B et al (2020) Hopes and limits of adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in wound healing. Int J Mol Sci 21(4):1306
- Merrill BJ, Gat U, DasGupta R, Fuchs E (2001) Tcf3 and Lef1 regulate lineage differentiation of multipotent stem cells in skin. Genes Dev 15(13):1688–1705
- Mou S, Wang Q, Shi B et al (2009) Hepatocyte growth factor suppresses transforming growth factorbeta-1 and type III collagen in human primary renal fibroblasts. Kaohsiung J Med Sci 25:577–587
- Nakagawa H, Akita S, Fukui M et al (2005) Human mesenchymal stem cells successfully improve skin-substitute wound healing. Br J Dermatol 153(1):29–36
- Nakayama C, Fujita Y, Matsumura W et al (2018) The development of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells from normal human and RDEB epidermal keratinocytes. J Dermatol Sci 91(3):301–310
- Nasef A, Mazurier C, Bouchet S et al (2008) Leukemia inhibitory factor: role in human mesenchymal stem cells mediated immunosuppression. Cell Immunol 253(1–2):16–22
- Németh K, Leelahavanichkul A, Yuen PS et al (2009) Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate sepsis via prostaglandin E(2)-dependent reprogramming of host macrophages to increase their interleukin-10 production. Nat Med 15:42–49
- Niemann C, Owens DM, Hulsken J et al (2001) Expression of DeltaNLefl in mouse epidermis results in differentiation of hair follicles into squamous epidermal cysts and formation of skin tumours. Development 129(1):95–109
- Nijnik A, Woodbine L, Marchetti C et al (2007) DNA repair is limiting for haematopoietic stem cells during ageing. Nature 447(7145):686–690
- Nowak JA, Polak L, Pasolli HA, Fuchs E (2008) Hair follicle stem cells are specified and function in early skin morphogenesis. Cell Stem Cell 3(1):33–43
- Nusse R (1999) WNT targets. Repression and activation. Trends Genet 15(1):1-3
- Ohe S, Tanaka T, Yanai H et al (2015) Maintenance of sweat glands by stem cells located in the acral epithelium. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 466:333–338
- Ojeh N, Pastar I, Tomic-Canic M, Stojadinovic O (2015) Stem cells in skin regeneration, wound healing, and their clinical application. Int J Mol Sci 16(10):25476–25501
- Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S (2007) Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448(7151):313–317
- Ono I, Yamashita T, Hida T et al (2004) Combined administration of basic fibroblast growth factor protein and the hepatocyte growth factor gene enhances the regeneration of dermis in acute incisional wounds. Wound Repair Regen 12(1):67–79
- Pachón-Peña G, Yu G, Tucker A et al (2011) Stromal stem cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow of age-matched female donors display distinct immunophenotypic profiles. J Cell Physiol 226:843–851
- Plikus MV, Mayer JA, de la Cruz D et al (2008) Cyclic dermal BMP signalling regulates stem cell activation during hair regeneration. Nature 451(7176):340–344
- Potten CS, Schofield R, Lajtha LG (1979) A comparison of cell replacement in bone marrow, testis and three regions of surface epithelium. Biochim Biophys Acta 560(2):281–299
- Prockop DJ, Oh JY (2012) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs): role as guardians of inflammation. Mol Ther 20(1):14–20
- Rasmusson I, Ringdén O, Sundbery B, Le Blanc K (2003) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit the formation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, but not activated cytotoxic T lymphocytes or natural killer cells. Transplantation 76(8):1208–1213
- Ren Y, Deng CL, Wan WD et al (2015) Suppressive effects of induced pluripotent stem cellconditioned medium on in vitro hypertrophic scarring fibroblast activation. Mol Med Rep 11: 2471–2476
- Reubinoff BE, Pera MF, Fong CY et al (2000) Embryonic stem cell lines from human blastocysts: somatic differentiation in vitro. Nat Biotechnol 18:399–404

- Rittié L (2016) Cellular mechanisms of skin repair in humans and other mammals. J Cell Commun Signal 10(2):103–120
- Rochat A, Kobayashi K, Barrandon Y (1994) Location of stem cells of human hair follicles by clonal analysis. Cell 76(6):1063–1073
- Rodero MP, Khosrotehrani K (2010) Skin wound healing modulation by macrophages. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 3(7):643–653
- Rodrigues M, Griffith LG, Wells A (2010) Growth factor regulation of proliferation and survival of multipotential stromal cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 1:32
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Ye L, Tan RS, Toh WS, Tian XF et al (2010) Therapeutic angiogenesis by transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived CD133+ endothelial progenitor cells for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5:231–244
- Sabapathy V, Sundaram B, Sreelakshi VM et al (2014) Human Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells plasticity augments scar-free skin wound healing with hair growth. PLoS One 9:e93726
- Sackstein R (2004) The bone marrow is akin to skin: HCELL and the biology of hematopoietic stem cell homing. J Invest Dermatol 122(5):1061–1069
- Schievenbusch S, Strack I, Scheffler M et al (2009) Profiling of anti-fibrotic signaling by hepatocyte growth factor in renal fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 385:55–61
- Selmani Z, Naji A, Zidi I et al (2008) Human leukocyte antigen-G5 secretion by human mesenchymal stem cells is required to suppress T lymphocyte and natural killer function and to induce CD4+CD25highFOXP3+ regulatory T cells. Stem Cells 26(1):212–222
- Shah M, Foreman DM, Ferguson MW (1995) Neutralisation of TGF-beta 1 and TGF-beta 2 or exogenous addition of TGF-beta 3 to cutaneous rat wounds reduces scarring. J Cell Sci 108(3): 985–1002
- Shannon DB, McKeown ST, Lundy FT, Irwin CR (2006) Phenotypic differences between oral and skin fibroblasts in wound contraction and growth factor expression. Wound Repair Regen 14: 172–178
- Sheng H, Wang Y, Jin Y et al (2008) A critical role of IFNgamma in priming MSC-mediated suppression of T cell proliferation through up-regulation of B7-H1. Cell Res 18(8):846–857
- Shukla MN, Rose JL, Ray R et al (2009) Hepatocyte growth factor inhibits epithelial to myofibroblast transition in lung cells via Smad7. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 40:643–653
- Shumakov VI, Onishchenko NA, Rasulov MF et al (2003) Mesenchymal bone marrow stem cells more effectively stimulate regeneration of deep burn wounds than embryonic fibroblasts. Bull Exp Biol Med 136(2):192–195
- Sivan-Loukianova E, Awad OA, Stepanovic V et al (2003) CD34+ blood cells accelerate vascularization and healing of diabetic mouse skin wounds. J Vasc Res 40(4):368–377
- Smith RE, Strieter RM, Phan SH et al (1998) TNF and IL-6 mediate MIP-1alpha expression in bleomycin-induced lung injury. J Leukoc Biol 64(4):528–536
- Stout RD (2010) Editorial: macrophage functional phenotypes: no alternatives in dermal wound healing? J Leukoc Biol 87:19–21
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M et al (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872
- Tepper OM, Galiano RD, Capla JM et al (2002) Human endothelial progenitor cells from type II diabetics exhibit impaired proliferation, adhesion, and incorporation into vascular structures. Circulation 106:2781–2786
- Tepper OM, Capla JM, Galiano RD et al (2005) Adult vasculogenesis occurs through in situ recruitment, proliferation, and tubulization of circulating bone marrow-derived cells. Blood 105(3):1068–1077
- Thomas JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS et al (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282(5391):1145–1147
- Thompson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS et al (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282:1145–1147

- Tolar J, Xia L, Riddle MJ et al (2011) Induced pluripotent stem cells from individuals with recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. J Invest Dermatol 131(4):848–856
- Toma JG, McKenzie IA, Bagli D et al (2005) Isolation and characterization of multipotent skinderived precursors from human skin. Stem Cells 23(6):727–737
- Tracy LE, Minasian RA, Caterson EJ (2016) Extracellular matrix and dermal fibroblast function in the healing wound. Adv Wound Care 5(3):119–136
- Ullah I, Subbaro RB, Rho GJ (2015) Human mesenchymal stem cells current trends and future perspectives. Biosci Rep 35(2):e00191
- van der Veer WM, Bloemen MC, Ulrich MMW et al (2009) Potential cellular and molecular causes of hypertrophic scar formation. Burns 35(1):15–29
- Van Zant G, Liang Y (2003) The role of stem cells in aging. Exp Hematol 31(8):659-672
- Varin A, Gordon S (2009) Alternative activation of macrophages: immune function and cellular biology. Immunobiology 214:630–641
- Vasa M, Fichtlscherer S, Aicher A et al (2001) Number and migratory activity of circulating endothelial progenitor cells inversely correlate with risk factors for coronary artery disease. Circ Res 89:E1–E7
- Vojtassak J, Danisovic L, Kubes M et al (2006) Autologous biograft and mesenchymal stem cells in treatment of the diabetic foot. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 27(2):134–137
- Wang Y, Chen X, Cao W, Shi Y (2014) Plasticity of mesenchymal stem cells in immunomodulation: pathological and therapeutic implications. Nat Immunol 15(11):1009–1016
- Wettstein R, Savic M, Pierer G et al (2014) Progenitor cell therapy for sacral pressure sore: a pilot study with a novel human chronic wound model. Stem Cell Res Ther 5(1):18
- Witte MB, Barbul A (1997) General principles of wound healing. Surg Clin North Am 77:509-528
- Wong VW, Levi B, Rajadas J et al (2012) Stem cell niches for skin regeneration. Int J Biomater 2012:926059
- Wu Y, Huang S, Enhe J et al (2014) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell attenuates skin fibrosis development in mice. Int Wound J 11:701–710
- Xue M, Jackson CJ (2015) Extracellular matrix reorganization during wound healing and its impact on abnormal scarring. Adv Wound Care 4(3):119–136
- Yamanishi H, Fujiwara S, Soma T (2012) Perivascular localization of dermal stem cells in human scalp. Exp Dermatol 21(1):78–80
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K et al (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318(5858):1917
- Yu W-Y, Sun W, Yu D-J et al (2018) Adipose-derived stem cells improve neovascularization in ischemic flaps in diabetes mellitus through HIF-1α/VEGF pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 22(1):10–16
- Zanone MM, Favaro E, Miceli I et al (2010) Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate cellular immune response to islet antigen glutamic acid decarboxylase in type 1 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95:3788–3797
- Zhang GY, Li X, Chen XL et al (2009a) Contribution of epidermal stem cells to hypertrophic scars pathogenesis. Med Hypotheses 73:332–333
- Zhang Q, Yamaza T, Kelly AP et al (2009b) Tumor-like stem cells derived from human keloid are governed by the inflammatory niche driven by IL-17/IL-6 axis. PLoS One 4:e7798
- Zhang QZ, Su WR, Shi H et al (2010) Human gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells elicit polarization of M2 macrophages and enhance cutaneous wound healing. Stem Cells 28(10): 1856–1868
- Zhang J, Guan J, Niu X et al (2015a) Exosomes released from human induced pluripotent stem cells-derived MSCs facilitate cutaneous wound healing by promoting collagen synthesis and angiogenesis. J Transl Med 13:49
- Zhang Q, Liu LN, Yong Q et al (2015b) Intralesional injection of adipose-derived stem cells reduces hypertrophic scarring in a rabbit ear model. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:145
- Zhou P, Byrne C, Jacobs J, Fuchs E (1995) Lymphoid enhancer factor 1 directs hair follicle patterning and epithelial cell fate. Genes Dev 9:700–713
- Zouboulis CC, Adijaye J, Akamatsu H et al (2008) Human skin stem cells and the ageing process. Exp Gerontol 43(11):986–997



Mesenchymal Stem Cells

From Identification and Characterization to Clinical Applications

Maria Alvarez-Viejo and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	129
Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Fist Description in Bone Marrow	129
Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs	130
Isolation of MSCs from Different Sources	131
Adipose Tissue	131
Umbilical Cord	132
Umbilical Cord Blood	132
Wharton's Jelly	133
Placenta	134
Characterization MSCs Before Culture	135
STRO-1	135
CD271	136
SSEA-4	137
CD146	137
MSCs in the Clinical Perspective	138
MSCs-Based Therapy for Cardiovascular Pathologies	138
MSCs-Based Therapy for Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease	141
MSCs-Based Therapy for Crohn's Disease	142
MSCs-Based Therapy for Multiple Sclerosis	143
MSCs-Based Therapy for Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis	144

Maria Alvarez-Viejo and Khawaja Husnain Haider contributed equally with all other contributors.

M. Alvarez-Viejo (🖂)

Unidad de Terapia Celular y Medicina Regenerativa, Servicio de Hematología y Hemoterapia, Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias HUCA, Instituto de Investigación Biosanitaria del Principado de Asturias, Universidad de Oviedo, Asturias, Spain e-mail: maria.alvarezv@sespa.es

K. H. Haider

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_6

Exosomes-Based Therapeutic Intervention	145
MSCs-Derived Exosome for Therapy "Without Cells"	146
MSCs-Derived Exosomes and Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease	146
MSCs-Derived Exosomes for Inflammatory Bowel Disease	147
MSCs-Derived Exosomes for Rheumatoid Arthritis and Knee Osteoarthritis	148
MSCs-Derived Exosomes for the Heart	149
Multiple Sclerosis	150
Conclusion	150
References	151

Abstract

Since Friedenstein and co-workers first reported bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) during the early 1970s, several researchers have focused on their biology and in vitro and in vivo characterization in experimental animal models. After their initial isolation from the bone marrow, MSCs have also been isolated from almost every tissue including the adipose tissue, liver, skeletal muscle, amniotic fluid, umbilical cord blood, and dental pulp. Following the minimum criteria recommended by the International Society for Cellular Therapy, human MSCs show preferred plastic adherence in culture, can undergo trilineage differentiation (i.e., adipogenic, chondrogenic, and adipogenic), besides the expression of CD44, CD71, CD90, CD105, and lack of CD34 and CD45 expression. Other important markers include Stro-1, SSEA-4, CD146, and CD271. This identification criterion has gone a long way in comparing the findings from independent research labs involved in MSCs research. MSCs show remarkable immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties besides their ability to undergo transdifferentiation and paracrine activity. These characteristics make them ideal candidates for cell therapy and for this reason; there are numerous clinical trials worldwide that use MSCs to treat various pathologies including myocardial infarction for which they have entered into Phase III trials. They also secrete exosomes as part of their paracrine activity, which has led to the emergence of "cell therapy without cells" approach. Several studies have suggested that exosomes, small extracellular vesicles, derived from MSCs could serve as a novel therapeutic tool in the field of regenerative medicine. This book chapter discusses in-depth the advancements in the field of MSCsbased cell therapy and cell-free therapy using their derivative exosomes with a special focus on the clinical perspective.

Keywords

List of Abbreviations

Bone marrow \cdot Cell-free therapy \cdot Clinical \cdot Exosome \cdot Mesenchymal \cdot MSCs \cdot Regenerative \cdot Transplantation

AMI	Acute myocardial infarction acute myocardial infarction
BM	Bone Marrow

FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
F-CFU	Fibroblast-colony forming unit
GvHD	Graft-versus-host disease
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
LNGFR	Low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NGFR	Nerve growth factor receptor
NTR	Neurotropin receptor
UC	Umbilical cord
UCB	Umbilical cord blood
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
WJ	Wharton's Jelly
WJ-MSCs	Wharton's jelly derived MSCs

Introduction

Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Fist Description in Bone Marrow

The term mesenchymal stem cell (MSCs) is widely accepted today. The existence of cells in various tissues with the ability to differentiate into diverse cell types is assumed. But, when does this concept arise? We go back to the end of the nineteenth century when Goujon (1869) demonstrated that transplanted bone marrow (BM) in a heterotopic site generated bone and marrow de novo (Goujon 1869). A century later, Tavassoli and Crosby advanced knowledge of the potential of BM with their experiments published in a prestigious scientific journal (Tavassoli and Crosby 1968). These authors observed that autologous transplanted marrow fragments survived in various extramedullary sites in the rat, rabbit, and dog. These pioneering works revealed some cellular elements with proliferation and differentiation capacity in the BM. Based on their work, Friedenstein and collaborators would be the first to suggest a cell type in the BM with the ability for differentiation; it would be a different cell type to hematopoietic progenitors. They demonstrated that BM contains a population of cells with a high proliferative capacity that adhered to plastic and that presented a morphology characteristic fibroblast-like. These authors were also the first to propose the ability of these cells to form colonies from a single cell (the fibroblast-colony forming unit (F-CFU)) (Friedenstein et al. 1970). But it would not be until the beginning of the 1990s when the term MSCs was coined. Caplan proposes this name in analogy with "hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs)" (Caplan 1991). The concept of non-HSCs and their presence in BM was reinforced by Pittenger and co-workers' pioneering data published in 1999 (Pittenger et al. 1999).

The abstract published in a prestigious journal says,

Human mesenchymal stem cells are thought to be multipotent cells, which are present in adult marrow, that can replicate as undifferentiated cells and that have the potential to differentiate to lineages of mesenchymal tissues, including bone, cartilage, fat, tendon, muscle, and marrow stroma. Cells that have the characteristics of human mesenchymal

stem cells were isolated from marrow aspirates of volunteer donors. These cells displayed a stable phenotype and remained as a monolayer in vitro. These adult stem cells could be induced to differentiate exclusively into the adipocytic, chondrocytic, or osteocytic lineages. Individual stem cells were identified that, when expanded to colonies, retained their multi-lineage potential.

This text has already summarized two decades ago what has now been widely accepted as MSCs. Numerous laboratories worldwide became interested in this cell type, and many works began to be published from here onwards. However, there was no defined approach to characterize MSCs due to the lack of specific surface markers. Moreover, they constitute a heterogeneous group of subpopulations and possess a distinct expression of surface proteins and differentiation potential besides showing source-specific transcriptome under a given set of culture conditions (Elahi et al. 2016). Hence, various methods of cell isolation, expansion, and characterization protocols have been reported in the literature to ensure a uniform/homogeneous population of cells.

Their low propensity in the BM, lack of surface markers, and diversity in the methods and protocols of isolation, purification, and expansion protocols rendered it difficult to compare the findings originating from independent research laboratories worldwide. To address this critical issue and standardize MSCs preparations for experimental and clinical usage, the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy has established standard criteria to fully define and characterize human MSCs preparations (Haider 2018). The minimal criteria include plastic-adherence when maintained in standard culture conditions; they must express specific surface antigens, that is, CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105 and absence of CD11b, CD14, CD19, CD34, and CD45. Besides, they should undergo trilineage (i.e., adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic) differentiation in vitro (Dominici et al. 2006). Some additional surface markers expressed by MSCs include, CD9, Cd10, CD13, CD29, CD51, CD54, CD117, CD166, and Stro-1. These criteria facilitated the work of many groups involved in experimental and clinical research with this cell type.

The favorable characteristics of MSCs, availability without any moral and ethical issues, ease of availability, simple isolation and undifferentiated in vitro expansion protocols, multilineage differentiation potential, inherent paracrine activity, and robust nature to carry exogenous genetic material for genetic therapy, etc., have made them attractive candidates for clinical application (Haider and Ashraf 2005).

Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs

Currently, obtaining MSCs from BM is well-established in various laboratories around the world. Usually, spinal aspirates are obtained by aspiration of the iliac crest. Mononuclear cells are isolated from the BM aspirate on a Ficoll-density gradient by centrifuging. After washing twice the cells are re-suspended in culture medium and finally seeded into adequate flasks. Thereafter, the medium must be changed every 2–3 days and wait a time that may vary, but it may be around 2 weeks

to obtain the confluence of the cells. To check the quality of the culture-expanded cells, the three parameters indicated above must be fulfilled – adherence to plastic, presence of specific surface antigens, and the ability to undergo multilineage differentiation (Dominici et al. 2006).

Although BM remains the most used, and well-studied and characterized tissue source of MSCs, obtaining MSCs from BM has many drawbacks such as invasiveness of the process, pain and discomfort for the donor, morbidity, due to high proliferative capacity and resistance to apoptosis (Musiał-Wysocka et al. 2019). Moreover, availability in low cell numbers (only 0.001–0.00001 percent of the total cell population) necessitates in vitro expansion, making them immunogenic and may induce genetic instability and chromosomal abrasions (Haider 2006). This searches for alternative tissues to obtain this cell type with the capacity for self-renewal and differentiation.

Isolation of MSCs from Different Sources

Until recently, MSCs have been isolated from almost every tissue in the body. Some tissue sources and their derivative MSCs have been discussed in the following sections. Our focus will be only on some of these tissue sources for MSCs due to their interest in clinical applications.

Adipose Tissue

Adipose tissue, like BM, is derived from the mesenchyme. It is a connective tissue present in all mammals that serve as simple protection of the viscera. It is currently well-supported by the published data that adipose tissue has an endocrine function. It is responsible for controlling of energy metabolism through the storage of lipids (Scheja and Heeren 2019). This endocrine function is attributed to the adipocytes, which are a rich source of endocrine hormones, that is, adipokines and lipokines released in response to metabolic stresses and physiological cues and have their specific targets in the biological system for action (Booth et al. 2016). Since the publication of the early reports showing the presence of stem cells and their characterization as MSCs by Zuk and colleagues (Zuk et al. 2001), adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ASCs) have been extensively characterized and studied for differentiation capacity (Bunnell et al. 2008; Mizuno et al. 2012).

The protocol for harvesting adipose tissue is accessing a concentrated pool of MSCs in the tissue, simple, minimally invasive, and can be performed under local anesthesia that makes adipose tissue ideal for obtaining cells for clinical use in the cellular therapy context (Vallée et al. 2009). ASCs are isolated either by the suction of adipose tissue (SVF) or from the excised human fat by enzymatic digestion followed by purification (Minteer et al. 2013; Alstrup et al. 2019). The quality attributes of the cell preparation depend upon the isolation and purification technique (enzymatic digestion and nonenzymatic) (Gentile et al. 2019). Similarly, the

harvested cells' yield is significantly determined by whether these methods were used singly or combined (Alstrup et al. 2020). Adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction SVF is an attractive therapeutic product obtained in an operating room using an automated device in 60–90 min with prospective clinical utility and efficacy (Han et al. 2015). It is pertinent to mention that collagen digestion requires more time, technical and procedural know-how of culturing the derived cells, a qualified clean room, and working under good manufacturing practices (GMP). In contrast, while SVF requires a less restrictive regulatory pathway. Studies are underway to ascertain whether the cells obtained without enzymatic digestion are identical to those subjected to this process (Chaput et al. 2016; Kokai and Rubin 2016). Researchers are awaiting advances in nonenzymatic separation due to the advantages that this would bring, including eliminating collagenase digestion with the implications that it entails. A review of literature has concluded that subcutaneous human adipose tissue is an accessible and abundant cell source for clinical applications (Kapur et al. 2015). Numerous studies using both ASC and SVF can be found in the clinical trials.org database in this context.

Umbilical Cord

The umbilical cord (UC) connects the fetus to the placenta. The two arteries and a vein in the UC are wrapped in Wharton's jelly (WJ), a gelatinous connective tissue. The UC has characteristics ideal for procuring stem/progenitor cells as it provides abundant stem cells. Their clinical use would not generate ethical conflicts, they are easily obtainable, display low immunogenicity, and have the potential for use in autologous cell therapy (Moreira et al. 2019). Besides Wharton's jelly, MSCs are also isolated from umbilical cord blood (UCB).

Umbilical Cord Blood

Once considered biological waste, UCB contains different subpopulations of stem cells, a unique feature not shared with peripheral blood. They have been isolated and characterized from fetuses/infants of various ages at 19–40 weeks (Iwatani et al. 2019).

Besides being a source of cells for hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), they are under extensive investigation and characterization as an alternative source of MSCs to the BM-derived MSCs for use in cell-based therapy (Weiss and Troyer 2006). From the ease of availability and simple collection/processing protocols to a lower rejection rate and a higher rate of acceptance, UCB stem cells are considered at par or even superior to the BM-derived stem cells. Given their low immunogenic nature, they have also been used from the allogenic source, which incidentally helps overcome their limited availability from the autologous source. However, the quality and quantity of UCB-derived cells are influenced by various methodological-related parameters, the greatest being the sample volume (Vasaghi et al. 2013). Some authors have proposed that UCB-derived MSCs show high morphological and molecular similarities with the BM-derived MSCs, including the lack of hematopoietic surface antigens (Erices et al. 2000). Similar to BM cells, UCB-cells constitute a heterogeneous population of cells. In a recently published study, two distinct subpopulations of MSCs were reported and named as short- and long-living cells based on their growth capacity and colony-forming efficiency (Amati et al. 2017). Besides revealing a differential trilineage differentiation potential, the study's immunophenotyping results showed intense surface marker expression of CD90, CD105, CD44, CD13, and HLA-DRA while lacking in HSCs-specific markers, that is, CD31, CD34, and CD45. The cells were also negative CD271. There are reports about the presence of UCB-derived MSCs co-expressing neuronal markers, which show spontaneous neuronal differentiation (Divya et al. 2012). A recently published study has used a combinatorial expression pattern of CD105, CD90, and CD73 (Mishra et al. 2020). They observed that UCB-derived MSCs double-positive for CD105 +CD90+ were CD45+CD34+ immediately after isolation but started to reduce CD45 and CD34 markers during in vitro expansion. The authors also reported that umbilical cord tissues were a much rich source of MSCs than the UCB.

Molecular profiling for stemness-related markers revealed little difference between MSCs derived from UCB, BM, and adipose tissues (Heo et al. 2016). A direct comparison of UCB-derived MSCs and BM-derived MSCs revealed that the former showed more robust chondrogenic differentiation. Bioinformatic analysis revealed donor-to-donor variations in their inherent genetic expression profile pertaining to the pro-angiogenic gene under hypoxic culture conditions (Kang et al. 2018). The presence or absence of MSCs in UCB has remained controversial for some time. For example, Yu et al. (2004) reported that early fetal blood was rich in MSCs; however, full-term UCB was devoid of these cells (Yu et al. 2004). Alternatively, several authors have proposed that the difficulty of obtaining MSCs from UCB was due to their low propensity, as low as 1-2 clones per 10^8 mononuclear cells of UCB (Martins et al. 2009; Bieback et al. 2004; Kern et al. 2006). These data seriously argue against the possibility of considering the UCB as a resource for acquiring MSCs. However, several authors have successfully differentiated UCB-MSCs in vitro to osteogenic, chondrogenic, neural, and hepatic lineages (Liu et al. 2011; Tio et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2011). Although well-studied and well-characterized, up until now, UCB is not unanimously accepted as a source of MSCs for routine clinical applications.

Wharton's Jelly

Thomas Wharton was the first to describe WJ in 1656, a gelatinous substance composed of various isoforms of collagen and proteoglycans with the principal function to protect the arteries and veins from compression and torsion. They provide a bidirectional flow, delivering oxygen and nutrients that contribute to the adequate development of the fetus and moreover eliminating the waste and carbon dioxide. Human WJ-derived MSCs are emerging as an efficient and advantageous

source of stem cells for experimental and clinical application. Their comparison with MSCs derived from other compartments of the umbilical cord revealed that they are a better choice of cells for clinical application (Subramanian et al. 2015). They exhibit a high degree of self-renewal capacity and multi-lineage differentiation potential, similar to that of MSCs derived from BM (Kern et al. 2006). The ease of availability and noninvasive collection protocols adds up to these advantages. Phenotypically and genetically, they show close resemblance with the embryonic stem cells, but their use and availability are without ethical or moral issues (Marino et al. 2019). Transcriptome profiling of WJ-derived stem cells revealed very low-level expression of pluripotency markers akin to the embryonic stem cells, that is, Nanog, Sox2, Lin28, and POUF1, thus providing a reason for their safety in terms of teratogenicity (Fong et al. 2011). Besides, they also express genes associated with immunomodulation, apoptosis, and chemotaxis. They also release a plethora of growth factors, cytokines, and extracellular vesicles as part of their paracrine activity contributing to their beneficial effects (Puig-Pijuan et al. 2020). There are two popular protocols for the isolation of WJ-derived MSCs, including the one based on the explant technique and the enzymatic digestion method. The enzymatic digestion protocol offers better results because the cell populations obtained are more uniform and homogeneous (Ding et al. 2015). WJ-derived MSCs are attractive cells due to their capacity for proliferation and other characteristics of MSCs like immunomodulatory properties and because the UC is an easy resource to obtain.

Placenta

The human placenta plays a fundamental and essential role in fetal development, nutrition. The placenta's fetal part originates from the blastocyst, whereas the maternal component (decidua) is derived from the endometrium. It is generally believed that it might be a source of primitive cells with immunomodulatory characteristics that render these cells worthwhile for use in regenerative medicine (Evangelista et al. 2008). Besides other types of cells, various studies have demonstrated that the human term placenta is a rich source of MSCs as it is considered one of the structures developed during the earliest stages of embryogenesis (Battula et al. 2008). Considering the complexity of the structure of the placenta, Parolini and coworkers published a paper to show the origin and define a protocol for the isolation of cells from the placenta. One of the main characteristic features of the placenta is its four regions, including the amniotic epithelial, amniotic mesenchymal, chorionic mesenchymal, and chorionic trophoblastic, each one of which respectively offers the following cell populations: amniotic epithelial cells, amniotic mesenchymal stromal cells, chorionic mesenchymal stromal cells, chorionic trophoblastic stromal cells (Parolini et al. 2008). A direct comparison of MSCs derived from these tissues has revealed that MSCs from fetal tissue had higher expansion potential than those derived from the maternal tissue, but they all had different levels of paracrine activity (Wu et al. 2018a). Soncini et al. achieved the isolation of amniotic and chorionic mesenchymal cells. These MSCs were isolated by a mechanical separation followed by enzymatic digestion (Soncini et al. 2007). Both show MSCs' characteristics, such as fibroblastic morphology, adherence to plastic, and the capacity to form colonies. Both cell types, when analyzed by flow cytometry, showed phenotypes similar to BM MSCs. Diaz-Prado reported the isolation of amniotic membrane MSCs from human placenta by two different protocols for comparison and successfully isolated and in vitro expanded their derived cells for further characterization; however, the cell yield was much higher by Soncini's protocol (Díaz-Prado et al. 2011). These amniotic MSCs are identified by the expression of CD105, CD90, and CD73, plastic adherence ability, and trilineage differentiation and showed excellent osteointegration and bone regeneration potential post engraftment in a rabbit model (Yin et al. 2019). Despite these encouraging data, the discrepancy in their characterization makes it difficult for their progress to regular use in the clinic (Ghamari et al. 2020).

Characterization MSCs Before Culture

As discussed earlier, the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy in 2006 proposed minimal criteria to define human MSCs that included preferential adherence to a plastic surface; specific surface antigen expression, that is, CD105, CD73, and CD90, among others, and a simultaneous lack of expression of hematopoietic and endothelial cell-specific surface antigens, that is, CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b and HLA-DR); and multilineage differentiation potential to adopt phenotypes similar to osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes. These criteria define the minimal requirements to ascertain the purity of MSCs preparation in culture. However, the in vivo identification of MSCs in their "natural habitat" before ex vivo culture has not been well established by any such criterion. They are generally accepted to have a fibroblastic or pericytic origin (de Souza et al. 2016; Soundararajan and Kannan 2018). It would be exciting to establish an appropriate optimized protocol of cell selection that allows the employment of MSCs before their in vitro expansion. A standard protocol to define pre-culture identification markers would guarantee higher purity of the cell preparations than that obtained with selection based on plastic adherence. Many investigators direct their efforts to find a marker to ensure their selection. In an exciting review, Lv and co-workers (Lv et al. 2014) have in-depth reviewed several molecules proposed as markers to identify MSCs before culturing (Lv et al. 2014). The authors have primarily focused on four markers, that is, Stro-1, CD271, SSEA-4 (stage embryonic antigen-4), and CD146 for consideration.

STRO-1

STRO-1 is a cell membrane 75 kd endothelial antigen expressed on MSCs membrane (Ning et al. 2011). It is highly expressed on MSCs. It moves out from the endoplasmic reticulum in response to a decrease in intracellular calcium (Lv et al. 2014). In 1991,

Simmons and Torok-Storb demonstrated Stro-1 enriched F-CFU from human BM with multipotency (Simmons and Torok-Storb 1991). However, this marker's use as an in vivo MSCs "enricher" did not work with the various tissues tested for its expression. Lv et al. (2014) reviewed that Stro-1 is not universally expressed in all reported types of MSCs. Adipose tissue-derived stem cells highly express STRO-1 in culture when differentiated into endothelial lineage (Ning et al. 2011). Its expression is lost from MSCs when the cells are cultured for a longer time in vitro (Gronthos et al. 2003). Various research groups have attempted to establish a relationship between STRO-1 expressions with the MSCs functionality. STRO-1 expression has been related to the immunosuppressive properties of the MSCs (Francois et al. 2005). STRO-1+ cells could stimulate T-cell proliferation more than STRO-1- MSCs. Similarly, another study has attributed the expression of STRO-1 positivity with the paracrine activity of the cells (Psaltis et al. 2010). Pekozer and colleagues have recently shown that STRO-1 positivity is related to trilineage differentiation potential (except for osteogenesis, which was similar to STRO-1- cells) of the cells besides higher clonogenicity and proliferation (Pekozer et al. 2014). Despite these sporadic data, the exact relationship between STRO-1 expression and MSCs functions has not yet been fully established; its expression is related to the primitive status of MSCs.

CD271

CD271 is one of the most specific and prolific markers for the purification of MSCs from the human BM besides UCB. However, CD217+ MSCs derived from UCB were slow in proliferation compared to the ones derived from the BM (Watson et al. 2013). CD271 is also referred to as the low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor (LNGFR), nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR), or p75NTR (neurotrophin receptor). It has been included as a member of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily (Thomson et al. 1988). A review performed by Alvarez Viejo and colleagues concluded that CD271 would not be regarded as a universal marker to identify MSCs before culture in vitro. In the BM or adipose tissue, CD271 could be considered a quite suitable marker to isolate MSCs. However, CD271 is inadequate for MSCs' isolation from other tissues such as UC or UCB. Moreover, in the placenta, contradictory results have been obtained by different groups (Álvarez-Viejo et al. 2015). MSCs isolated based on CD271 are highly immunosuppressive and possess lymphohematopoietic engraftment promoting properties. Kuci and colleagues have reported a functional heterogeneity between CD271+ MSCs subpopulations compared with the plastic adherent MSCs. They have shown that both MSCs populations showed differential proliferation and differentiation potentials besides allosuppression but following different mechanisms (Kuci et al. 2013). Within their derivative clones, the cells were monopotent, bipotent, and tripotent, while their immunosuppressive properties were not consistent with their proliferation or differentiation capacity. A recently published study has reported that CD271-selected MSCs were less angiogenic than their counterparts isolated based on preferential plastic adherence, although both cell types could populate the scaffolds equally (Kohli et al. 2019).

SSEA-4

SSEA-4 is an early embryonic glycolipid antigen and one of the panels of reliable markers for identification of the undifferentiated human ESCs and cleavage to blastocyst stage embryos (Wright and Andrews 2009). Gang et al. identified the adult BM-MSCs population using SSEA4 (Gang et al. 2007). Conversely, other authors reported no detection of SSEA-4 expressing cells in the unsorted BM (Tormin et al. 2011; Wagner et al. 2005). Therefore, these data suggest that this marker would not be considered an excellent marker to isolate MSCs before culture. A recent study has isolated SSEA-4 expressing cell population from WJ that was also positive for CD90, CD105, CD70, Nanog, and Sox2 (Li et al. 2017). These cells could spontaneously differentiate cells of all three germ layers in vitro. Moreover, they were able to undergo adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation much easier than SSEA4- cells. Maddox and colleagues have reported the presence of stromal cells expressing SSEA-4 in the breast and abdominal adipose tissue and showed the higher potential of osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation potential (Maddox et al. 2012). It is pertinent to mention that breast adipose tissue contained only 0.48% SSEA-4 positive cells sub-population against the 12% propensity of their counterparts in abdominal fat tissue. It is also expressed by some of the cancer cells identifying their malignant character and resistance to chemotherapy (Aloia et al. 2015; Nakamura et al. 2019). Given its association with disease progression in cancers, SSEA-4 expression results in the loosening of the cell-to-cell interaction, loss of epithelial phenotype, and adoption of the mesenchymal phenotype. These cellular and molecular changes are important for the cells to attain migratory capacity, thus contributing to their metastasis (Sivasubramaniyan et al. 2015).

CD146

CD146, also known as Mel-CAM, MUC18, A32 antigen, is a 113 kDa melanoma cell adhesion molecule (CAM) (Wang and Yan 2013). This is primarily expressed at the intercellular junction of endothelial cells. A more recently published study has reported that CD146 is more than merely an adhesion molecule to serve as a receptor for various signaling molecules, thus participating in diverse physiological and pathological processes encompassing angiogenesis to lymphogenesis (Wang et al. 2020c). The soluble form of CD146 derived from endothelial cells is being considered a reliable marker of neuroinflammatory disease (Wang et al. 2020a). Moreover, it mediates FAK activation to help melanoma cells to traverse vessel walls during metastasis in response to VEGF signaling (Jouve et al. 2015). Harkness et al. (2016) published a study showing that CD146 defines a subpopulation of human MSCs capable of bone formation and in vivo trans-endothelial migration. They also

showed that the CD146 sub-population of the BM cells was ideal for use in clinical protocols of bone tissue regeneration (Harkness et al. 2016). The expression of CD146 was found in human MSCs and other sources of MSCs such as adipose tissue, placenta, or dermis, among others (Lv et al. 2014). CD146 expression on MSCs has been attributed to their better therapeutic potential than the cells lacking in CD146 expression (Wu et al. 2016). It is also considered a surrogate marker for MSCs cultured in vitro to predict their differentiation potential. MSCs in the confluent cultures downregulate CD146 expression with concomitant decrease in differentiation potential. Therefore, a moderate rate of medium addition during MSCs culture may ensure their confluence good enough to maintain their differentiation capacity (Jones et al. 2018).

MSCs in the Clinical Perspective

Given their remarkable reparability, immunomodulatory, and anti-inflammatory properties generally attributed to their paracrine behavior and differentiation potential, MSCs have entered into advanced phases of clinical trials for the treatment of various diseases. As discussed earlier, their near ideal characteristics, as discussed in the previous sections, make them best candidates for cell-based therapy. Currently, they are part of numerous clinical trials worldwide that use MSCs to treat various pathologies some of which will be discussed in the following sections of the chapter (Table 1).

MSCs-Based Therapy for Cardiovascular Pathologies

Since the pioneering work of Hamano et al. in a group of five patients in 2001 that the BM cell transplantation for myocardial repair is safe (Hamano et al. 2001), they have been extensively studied in both the small and large experimental animal models of myocardial infarction and heart failure for the repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium (Haider et al. 2008a; Kim et al. 2012; Van der Spoel et al. 2015; Cai et al. 2016). There is mounting evidence in the literature that transplantation of MSCs (both native, genetically modified, and physiologically or pharmacologically preconditioned) in the experimentally injured heart results in decreased infarction size, reduced area of fibrosis, attenuated remodeling, and preserved global heart function (Haider et al. 2008a, b, 2010, 2012; Afzal et al. 2010; Lai et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2012; Haider and Aziz 2017). MSCs have also combined with other cell types to enhance their survival and differentiation potential (Hosseini et al. 2018). BM-derive MSCs have also been reprogrammed to achieve pluripotency status and their derived cells have been successfully using for myocardial repair in experimental animal models (Buccini et al. 2012). These therapeutic benefits have been attributed to a multifactorial mechanism wherein cardiogenesis and vasculogenesis due to cardiac differentiation and paracrine activity of the transplanted cells. Based

Table 1	Summary of the studies involving MSCs from	i different tissue sources for various dis	ease
condition	S		

	MSCs		
Disease	source	Results	References
Acute graft-versus-host disease	BM- MSC	BM-MSCs was considered second-line treatment for GvHD	Le Blanc et al. 2004, 2008
Inflammatory bowel disease: Perianal Crohn's disease	ASC	Results phase III clinical trial, improved results as compared with placebo, after 1 year of follow-up	Panés et al. 2018
Crohn's Disease	UC- MSC	UC-MSCs were effective in the treatment of Crohn's Disease and produced mild side effects	Zhang et al. 2018
Ulcerative colitis	BM- MSC	Studied the efficacy and safety of BM-MSCs for patients with ulcerative colitis. Two-year follow-up showed immunomodulatory effects and reduction in inflammation and decreased risk of recurrence	Lazebnik et al. 2010
Knee osteoarthritis	ASC	Evaluated the efficacy of autologous ASCs therapy on pain, function, and disease modification in knee osteoarthritis. Results showed that the therapy was safe and effective	Freitag et al. 2019
Knee osteoarthritis	ASC	Satisfactory functional improvement and pain relief for patients that received this ASCs treatment	Lee et al. 2019
Knee osteoarthritis	BM- MSC	Compared the results of MSC with hyaluronic acid, after a year better results were observed with MSCs	Kim et al. 2020
Multiple Sclerosis	BM- MSC	Observed that transplantation of BM-MSCs in patients with multiple sclerosis is a clinically feasible and relatively safe procedure and induces immediate immunomodulatory effect	Karussis et al. 2010
Multiple Sclerosis	BM- MSC	The administration of the cells was intrathecal and the results in some of the patients were encouraging enough for Phase II	Harris et al. 2018
Rheumatoid arthritis	BM- MSC	Suitable safety profile of autologous MSCs therapy in rheumatoid arthritis patients with promising trend for clinical efficacy	Ra et al. 2011
Rheumatoid arthritis	ASC	Observed that the intravenous dose of ASCs in patients was well-tolerated, recommended it appropriate to carry out one more phase of this clinical trial	Álvaro- Gracia et al. 2017
Rheumatoid arthritis	UC- MSC	Authors indicated that the intravenous infusion of was safe	Park et al. 2018

(continued)

	MSCs		
Disease	source	Results	References
Heart failure	BM- MSC	Intramyocardial injection of autologous MSCs into akinetic non-revascularized segments produced comprehensive regional functional restitution, which in turn improved global LV function	Karantalis et al. 2014
Heart failure	BM- MSC	Successfully reported the safety and feasibility of allogenic MSCs in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy	Hare et al. 2017
Heart failure	BM- MSC	The intracoronary infusion of human BM-derived MSCs at 1 month was tolerable and safe with modest improvement in LVE	Lee et al. 2014
Heart failure	BM- MSC	Intracoronary BMC therapy improved ventricular performance, quality of life, and survival in patients with heart failure	
Heart failure	UC- MSC	Assessed the safety and efficacy in patients with chronic stable heart failure and reduced LV-ejection fraction	Bartolucci et al. 2017
Heart failure	ASC	ASC treatment was safe but did not improve exercise capacity compared to placebo	

Table 1 (continued)

on these data, and encouraged by the favorable data in Phase-I and Phase-II trials (Karantalis et al. 2014; **PROMETHEUS trial** (Prospective Randomized Study **O**f **M**esenchymal Stem Cell **The**rapy in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery; Clinical trial identifier: NCT00587990), MSCs-based studies have currently advanced to multiple Phase III clinical trials worldwide, that is, **RELIEF trials** (Clinical trials identifier: NCT01652209; **R**andomized, Open labEled, muLticenter Trial for Safety and Efficacy of Intracoronary Adult Human MSCs AMI).

Allogenic MSCs have also been assessed to overcome the problem of autologous cells from the aging and diseased donors. A phase I/II pilot clinical study **POSEI-DON** (Percutaneous Stem Cell Injection Delivery Effects on Neomyogenesis; Clinical trials Identifier: NCT01087996) was performed to ascertain a dose-range comparison between autologous and allogenic BM-derived MSCs in 31 randomized patients (1:1) between the two cell type treatment with escalating doses (Hare et al. 2012). Other research groups have also reported similar clinical trials to ascertain the use of allogeneic MSCs (Perin et al. 2015; Jansen of Lorkeers et al. 2015). Hare et al. have successfully reported the safety and feasibility of allogenic MSCs in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy (Hare et al. 2017).

Some of the other trials using TENDO I/M delivery of MSCs include **ESTIMA-TION trial** (Clinical trial identifier: NCT01394432); **CEP-41750** (Clinical trial Identifier: NCT02032004; Allogeneic Mesenchymal Precursor Cells) for the Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure; **CHART-1 trials** (Clinical trial identifier: NCT01768702); and **CHART-2 trial** (Clinical trial identifier: NCT02317458). A randomized, open-label, multicenter, Phase-II/III **SEED-MSC** (Clinical trial identifier: NCT01392105) pilot trial assessed the safety and efficacy of BM-derived MSCs (Lee et al. 2014). The cells were delivered by I/C infusion at 1 month after successful revascularization of the infarct-related artery in 58 acute myocardial infarction (AMI) patients.

Similarly, Dr. Timothy Henry is leading another Phase-II clinical study **AMICI** to assess the safety of Allogeneic Mesenchymal Precursor Cell Infusion in MyoCardial Infarction (Clinical trial identifier: NCT01781390). The research involves 105 AMI patients and is expected to complete and release its findings very soon. Some other on-going Phase-II/III clinical trials including **RELIEF** (Clinical trial identifier: NCT0165209), **CIRCULATE** (Clinical trials identifier: NCT01392105; Safety and Efficacy of Intracoronary Adult Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells After Acute Myocardial Infarction), etc. have also opted for I/C delivery of MSCs in patients with AMI.

I/C route of cell delivery has also been used for myocardial cell therapy using cells other than BM-derived MSCs, that is, CSCs (CAREMI trial; Clinical trial identifier: NCT02439398), BM-derived CD133+ (COMPARE-AMI; ACTRN12609001045202), and BM-derived AC133+ cells (STAR; Stem cell Transplantation in patients with chronic heARt failure) which is incidentally one of the most extensive clinical trials using I/C route for BM cell delivery. Interesting use of the I/C route has been the delivery of CDCs in children with hypoplastic left (HLHS) after staged surgery (Clinical heart syndrome trial identifier: NCT01273857).

More recently, Bartolucci and colleagues assessed the safety and efficacy of the UC-MSCs in 15 patients with chronic stable heart failure and reduced LV-ejection fraction and compared them with placebo treated patients (Bartolucci et al. 2017). They reported that intravenous infusion of 1×106 cells/kg UC-MSCs was safe. Moreover, they also observed significant improvement in LV-function, and quality of life in patients treated with UC-MSCs during 3, 6, and 12 months of follow-up.

Other than BM, MSCs-derived from other human tissues have been used to assess their efficacy in the patients which include ASC (Clinical trial Identifier: NCT01449032; MesenchYmal STROMAL CELL Therapy in Patients With Chronic Myocardial Ischemia; **MyStromalCell Trial**), and UC-MSCs (Clinical trial Identifier: NCT01739777; **RIMECARD Trial** (Randomized Clinical Trial of Intravenous Infusion UC Mesenchymal Stem Cells on Cardiopathy).

MSCs-Based Therapy for Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease

Graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) is a severe and sometimes life-threatening complication due to interaction between donor-derived immunocompetent T cells and recipient tissue antigens. Acute GvHD reaction severity is graded from I (mild) to IV (very severe) after allogenic HSCs transplantation that maybe even fatal in some cases (Moreno and Cid 2019; Nassereddine et al. 2017). Although GvHD offers diverse therapeutic targets during its progression, the use of MSCs with immunomodulatory has been extensively studied as a potential therapeutic option. In 2004, substantial research in *The Lancet* was published, which provided a leap forward in the treatment of GvHD using BM-MSCs (Le Blanc et al. 2004). The study successfully exploited the immunomodulatory properties of haploidentical BM MSCs in patients with treatment-resistant grade IV acute GvHD. Since the publication of these data, Le Blanc and colleagues besides many other research groups have been part of various clinical trials which have advanced to Phase III trials, and in some countries, MSCs-based intervention has achieved a status of second-line treatment for GvHD (Le Blanc et al. 2008; Martin et al. 2010; Galipeau 2013; Wu et al. 2013; Szabolcs et al. 2010). These data provide evidence that the use of BM-MSCs for the treatment of GvHD is safe and feasible (Cheung et al. 2020).

On the contrary, the authors of a recently published systematic review based on 12 studies and 13 on-going clinical trials have concluded that the published literature well supports the safety of MSCs-based treatment for GvHD. Still, it could only provide low-quality evidence that MSCs reduce the risk of chronic GvHD (Fisher et al. 2019). The systematic review results also suggested future studies to optimize the therapeutic intervention's protocol. The systematic review findings can also be interpreted that the outcome of the studies and clinical trials is influenced by various factors (Wang et al. 2017). For example, it is now generally perceived that not all MSCs' preparations are equally effective, necessitating the optimization of MSCs isolation and purification protocols, besides optimizing the dose and injection route (Elgaz et al. 2019). The pro-inflammatory immune profile in the gut of the recipient at the time of MSCs treatment is one of the primary determinants of the therapeutic outcome (Gavin et al. 2019).

MSCs-Based Therapy for Crohn's Disease

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) includes two chronic inflammatory idiopathies: ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease that severely affect the quality of life. Crohn's disease is characterized by the presence of perianal fistulas, treatment of which remains a challenge for therapy with the contemporary therapeutic options. The merging of cell-based therapies using MSCs has reasonable success thus far in the clinical trials to treat IBD via systemic and local delivery (perianal Crohn's disease) (Adak et al. 2017). Lazebnik et al. (2010) studied the safety and feasibility of BM-MSCs in patients with ulcerative colitis (Lazebnik et al. 2010). A 2-year follow-up of the patients revealed the significant immunomodulatory potential of MSCs, leading to a reduction in inflammation and a decrease in the risk of recurrence. These data were substantiated by a recently published meta-analysis that supported the use of MSCs for treating ulcerative colitis (Shi et al. 2019). Similarly, a previously published meta-analysis by Dave et al. had suggested a promising role for MSCs in cell-based therapy in IBD patients despite many challenges in their routine clinical use (Dave et al. 2015).

Searching Clinicaltrials.org, 62 clinical trials for Crohn's disease have either been completed or in progress using cell-based therapy, mostly using MSCs (https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?cond=Crohn+Disease&term=stem+cells&cntry).

Panés et al. (2018) have proposed the allogeneic ASCs to treat complex perianal fistulas in patients with Crohn's Disease (Panés et al. 2018). The authors published a double-blind phase III clinical trial reporting encouraging data compared to the placebo-treated patients during the 1-year follow-up. They concluded that ASCs provided a safe and effective option in closing fistulas. Although its etiology is unclear, most researchers believe that Crohn's disease is associated with autoimmune response. Considering this hypothesis, Zhang et al. proposed UC-MSCs to treat this disease in 82 patients with confirmed Crohn's disease (Zhang et al. 2018). During a randomized controlled clinical trial, the patients received a weekly dose of 1×10^6 cells/kg for 4 weeks. During the 12-month follow-up, they observed UC-MSCs were effective in reducing Crohn's disease index, Harvey-Bradshaw index, and steroid therapy. Only four patients showed mild signs of the ill-effects relevant to the treatment.

Although the use of MSCs has progressed to Phase-III clinical trials, the underlying mechanism remains elusive. A recent study in an experimental mice model of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis has revealed that ASCs induce an innate immune memory response in the MSCs-treated animals (Lopez-Santalla et al. 2020b). Cell therapy-treated animals, which received MSCs during the acute phase after DDS treatment, showed sustained protection against inflammation when re-challenged after 12 weeks. The authors concluded that MSCs treatment incurs long-term benefits as they change the regulatory to inflammatory macrophage ratio in *lamina propria* of the colon. Future studies are warranted to have a head-to-head comparison of the safety and effectiveness of MSCs from different tissue sources, although their use in individual studies has generated encouraging data.

MSCs-Based Therapy for Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis is an autoimmune disease involving the appearance of focal inflammatory lesions in the substance white matter of the brain characterized by demyelination of the nerve fibers. Karussis et al. 2010 observed that transplantation of BM-derived MSCs in patients with multiple sclerosis is a clinically feasible and relatively safe procedure and induces immediate immunomodulatory effects (Karussis et al. 2010). MSCs also release biologically active secretome due to their paracrine activity that adds to the therapeutic benefits (Gugliandolo et al. 2020). On the same note, MSCs from tissue sources other than BM have also shown encouraging results (Giacoppo et al. 2017; Riordan et al. 2018). These results have been corroborated among many research groups as reviewed by Lotfy et al. (2020).

In 2018, a study was published showing the results from a Phase I clinical trial (ClinicalTrials ID: NCT01933802) that used MSCs-derived neural progenitor cells to treat multiple sclerosis (Harris et al. 2018). The cells' administration was via intrathecal injection, and the results in some of the patients were encouraging enough to propose the execution of Phase II. The safety and efficacy of autologous MSCs to treat multiple sclerosis were further assessed in a Phase I/II clinical study

MEsenchymal StEm cells for Multiple Sclerosis (MESEMS) (Uccelli et al. 2019). MESEMS study has been designed to merge partially independent clinical trials, following harmonized protocols and sharing some critical centralized procedures, including data collection and analyses. With this model, where various clinical trials are grouped, the authors suggest that the results will provide patients and the scientific community with data on the safety and efficacy of MSC for multiple sclerosis. Although not assessed against all forms of multiple sclerosis, treatment with MSCs is a future hope for the patients.

MSCs-Based Therapy for Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis

Encouraged by the experimental animal data that revealed the safety and effectiveness of cell-based therapy for rheumatoid arthritis, the cell-based therapy approach has progressed to the clinical phase of assessment. A direct comparison of MSCs from various sources, including BM, UC, and human deciduous tooth revealed superior outcomes from UC-derived MSCs (Zhang et al. 2019). A recently published meta-analysis of the preclinical studies has demonstrated consistent therapeutic benefits of cell-based therapy in the experimental animal models (Liu et al. 2019b). Although the mechanism of action and beneficial therapeutic outcome is considered multifactorial, it has been reported that the transplanted MSCs control the memory T-cell response (Noymar et al. 2019).

The first pilot clinical study with MSCs therapy autoimmune disorders including rheumatoid arthritis was conducted in 2010 by the Stem Cell Research Centre in Korea. The results were published in almost a decade later (Ra et al. 2011). This study involved the use of ASC. It was considered the first proof-of-concept clinical study that has reported a suitable safety profile of autologous MSCs therapy in 10 patients with various autoimmune disorders, including rheumatoid arthritis patients with promising clinical outcomes' efficacy. Tested in Balb/c nude mice for tumorigenicity even at larger doses, the cell therapy was safe in the patients. Among several studies published in this line, Álvaro-Gracia et al. evaluated the safety and tolerability of the intravenous administration of allogenic ASC in patients with refractory rheumatoid arthritis as a part of Phase Ib/IIb trials including 53 patients (Álvaro-Gracia et al. 2017). They observed that the intravenous dose of adipose tissue-derived stem cells in these patients was well-tolerated. These results agree with the data published by Park et al. (2018), who reported a phase I, uncontrolled, open clinical trial to treat patients with moderate intensity rheumatoid arthritis using UC- MSCs (Park et al. 2018). The authors noted that the intravenous infusion of UC-derived MSCs showed a similar safety profile to BM-derived MSCs. Lopez-Santalla et al. have recently published a comprehensive review of literature documenting both active and closed clinical trials that have focused on using MSCs in rheumatoid arthritis (Lopez-Santalla et al. 2020a). The authors have concluded that a toxicity-free and adverse effects-free use of MSCs in rheumatoid arthritis patients during all the reported clinical trials conducted. However, insufficient data on efficacy have been obtained from the completed clinical trials, most likely because a large majority of the rheumatoid arthritis patients enrolled in the studies were refractory to conventional rheumatoid arthritis treatments with a long history of the disease.

It is pertinent to mention that only a few examples of the clinical trials published until today wherein a regeneration of the tissue is necessary to treat autoimmune disorders (Lopez-Santalla et al. 2020a). Moreover, there are still concerns about the use of cells from the autologous tissue sources. For example, it has been reported that autologous MSCs obtained from patients with rheumatoid arthritis were functionally impaired, as was observed by their failure to inhibit Th17 (Sun et al. 2015). These data are significant in optimizing the protocols for future cell therapy clinical trials to harness maximum therapeutic benefits from MSCs-based treatment.

Knee osteoarthritis is one of the most commonly diagnosed forms of arthritis, especially in elderly patients after age 65. The underlying cause is the slow but progressive degeneration of the cartilage that protects the knee joint due to physiological aging. Freitag et al. evaluate the efficacy of ASC-based therapy on pain, function, and disease modification in knee osteoarthritis (Freitag et al. 2019). Upon completing the clinical trial, the authors concluded that the therapy was a safe and effective therapy for knee osteoarthritis. These results were substantiated by Lee et al., who used an intra-articular injection of autologous ASC to treat knee osteoarthritis (Lee et al. 2019). They described satisfactory functional improvement and pain relief for patients that received cell therapy. Given that intra-articular injection of hyaluronic acid is a medical option for knee osteoarthritis, Kim et al. (2020) conducted a comparative study between the MSCs and hyaluronic acid-based treatment (Kim et al. 2020). They observed that the MSCs group showed better results during 1-year post-treatment follow-up than the hyaluronic acid group.

Exosomes-Based Therapeutic Intervention

Despite encouraging data emanating from the clinical studies using the cell-based therapy approach, the underlying mechanism of the therapeutic benefits is only partly understood. In addition to undergoing fusion with the host cells and differentiation to adopt morphofunctional phenotype post engraftment to participate in the regeneration process, the paracrine hypothesis has gained wide-spread acceptance amongst the researchers in the field (Haider and Aziz 2017). These proposed mechanisms are correct and supported by substantial data; however, they are not exclusive (Álvarez-Viejo 2020). It is widely accepted that MSCs produce a plethora of bioactive molecules, including cytokines, growth factors, and extracellular vesicles (EVs) containing specific payload (Altanerova et al. 2017). Almost every cell type, including MSCs, releases exosomes as part of intercellular signaling, and given their specific payload, they could serve as a novel cell-free therapeutic tool in the field of regenerative medicine (Haider and Aramini 2020; Nikfarjam et al. 2020). However, there is little headway made in exosomal use in the clinical perspective as is evident from the literature search which did not fetch any records of clinical trials

at least for the diseases included in our chapter. This limited progress of exosomes from bench to the clinic is attributed to the challenges faced in this regard (Forsberg et al. 2020).

MSCs-Derived Exosome for Therapy "Without Cells"

The term EVs includes microvesicles, nanoparticles, vesicles, apoptotic bodies, and exosomes (Pinheiro et al. 2018). The difference between these terms is the size of the vesicles released. Due to the size-heterogeneity between these particles, it was imperative to develop guidelines for their definition. In this regard, The International Society for Extracellular Vesicles proposed the minimum criteria to characterize extracellular vesicles, which requires *EVs as the generic term for particles naturally released from the cell that is determined by a lipid bilayer and cannot replicate*, i.e., *do not contains a functional nucleus* (Théry et al. 2018). The size of exosomes is 60–100 nm with a diverse protein composition between cells, but they share some proteins, such as CD9, CD63, or CD81, for use as exosome markers (Yamashita et al. 2018). Similar to exosomes derived from other cell types, MSCs-derived exosomes participate in intercellular communication and carry proteins, mRNA, and microRNA (miRNA) for delivery to the target cells to facilitate intercellular signaling (Mendt et al. 2019).

The use of exosomes offers several advantages, such as the aversion of introducing exogenous cells, thus avoidance to bring in mutated or damaged genetic material that could harmfully affect the recipient. They are low in immunogenicity (Elahi et al. 2019), but given their inability to divide or replicate, they are static, thus restricting their therapeutic benefits for time duration until they get eliminated from the biological system post-delivery (Phinney and Pittenger 2017). Currently, there are nearly a hundred clinical trials registered in *Clinicaltrial.gov* fetched by the term exosomes. On the same note, there are nearly a thousand trials that include MSCs. The novelty of exosome-based "cell-free" therapy, however, still require optimization of GMP grade exosome production protocols (Chen et al. 2019), their standard markers, ideal donor cells, standardization of their payload, indicated dose, route of administration, etc., and sufficient preclinical data to support their routine clinical use.

MSCs-Derived Exosomes and Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease

Given the paracrine hypothesis's wide-spread acceptance that the therapeutic benefits of MSC-based cell therapy are mediated via paracrine release of immunosuppressive and immunomodulating factors, cell-free therapy using MSCs-derived exosomes is now fast-emerging as a treatment option for refractory GvHD in an increasingly standardized way (Zhou et al. 2020). Several preclinical studies have reported that MSCs-derived exosomes could be as effective as MSCs-based cell therapy. For example, using a mice model of acute GvHD (aGvHD), Fujii et al. have shown that systemic infusion of BM MSCs-derived exosomes prolonged the survival of mice with aGvHD, besides alleviating pathologic damage to aGvHD targeted organs via suppression of CD4+ and CD8+ cells (Fujii et al. 2018). The authors attributed the therapeutic benefits of exosomal treatment to the unique miRNA profile of the MSC-derived exosome preparation used for treatment. Similarly, Wang et al. reported that human UC-MSCs derived exosomes could prevent aGvHD in a mouse model after allogeneic HSCs transplantation (Wang et al. 2016). The authors noted that EVs derived from UC-MSC could prevent life-threatening a GvHD by modulating the immune response. Moreover, they could represent a prophylactic method to prevent aGvHD as well. On the other hand, working with a chronic mouse model of GvHD, Lai et al. studied the efficacy and safety of MSCsderived exosomes to treat this disease. They suggested that MSCs-derived exosomes could improve survival and ameliorate the pathologic damage of chronic GvHD (Lai et al. 2018). A recently published meta-analysis of four studies involving the use of MSCs-derived exosomes for the treatment and prevention (two studies each) of GvHD showed that exosomes were an effective treatment tool as well as for prophylactic application (Gupta et al. 2020). The authors concluded that the use of MSCs-derived exosomes successfully enhanced survival and attenuated histologic findings of GvHD in all four studies.

Supported by the preclinical data, the cell-free therapy approach has progressed to clinical assessment of MSC-derived exosome to treat the GvHD patients but only very cautiously. There is only one Phase I clinical study registered at ClinicalTrials. gov entitle "Effect of UM-MSCs-derived exosomes on dry eyes in patients with GvHD" (Clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NTC04213248). The study will enroll 27 patients who will receive UC-MSCs derived exodrops (UM-exo). However, the study results are still awaited. Also, we have only found a letter to the Editor in which their use to treat graft GvHD is described. In one patient, Kordelas et al. used an exosome-enriched fraction processed from collected MSCs supernatants instead of administering the MSCs themselves (Kordelas et al. 2014). The patient was stable for several months of post-exosome application. Although the patient died of pneumonia 7 months after treatment, the authors concluded that BM MSC exosomes could be a potentially new and safe tool to treat therapy-refractory GvHD, and most likely other inflammation-associated diseases. Despite encouraging data, there is slow progress for the use of MSCs-derived exosomes for clinical applications, which may be due to the technical and methodological hindrances involved therein.

MSCs-Derived Exosomes for Inflammatory Bowel Disease

The role of MSCs-derived exosomes for the treatment of IBD in general and Crohn's disease, in particular, has been extensively studied in the experimental animal models (Ocansey et al. 2020). Mao et al. investigated the effects of exosomes derived from UC-MSCs in a model of induced inflammatory bowel disease (Mao et al. 2017). According to their findings, UC-MSCs exosomes could substantially alleviate experimentally induced inflammatory bowel disease in a mice model.

While elucidating the underlying mechanism, IL-10 expression was elevated while pro-inflammatory TNFa, IL-1b, IL-6, IL-7, and iNOS were significantly downregulated in the colonic tissue and spleen of exosome-treated animals. Besides, ubiquitination played a significant role in UC-MSCs derived-exosome treated experimental animals (Wu et al. 2018b). The exosome-treated animals were able to better recover tissue structural integrity. These results agree with those published by Liu et al., who demonstrated that systemic administration of exosomes from human BM-MSCs substantially mitigated colitis in various models of inflammatory bowel disease (Liu et al. 2019a). Mechanistically speaking, the colonic macrophages were pivotal in alleviating the disease process as was observed by abrogation of the beneficial effects of exosome treatment by macrophage depletion. They also agreed with Yang et al., who investigated the potential alleviating effects of BM-MSCs EVs in the colitis model (Yang et al. 2015). The authors concluded that the beneficial effects of exosomes from the BM-MSCs were due to the downregulation of the pro-inflammatory cytokines, inhibition of NF-kBp65 signal transduction pathways, modulation of antioxidant/oxidant balance, and moderation of the occurrence of apoptosis, as the possible underlying mechanism. Despite finding several papers published in the preclinical phase, there are no clinical trials registered in clinicaltrials.gov, although their diagnostic use has been attempted (Larabi et al. 2020). The possible explanation for the lack of exosome-based clinical data is the unavailability of standardized protocols for isolation, large-scale reproducible exosome preparations to their protocols for optimum clinical use (Harrell et al. 2020).

MSCs-Derived Exosomes for Rheumatoid Arthritis and Knee Osteoarthritis

Continuing the success story of MSCs-based cell therapy for rheumatoid arthritis and knee arthritis, Chen et al. investigated the therapeutic effects of MSCs-derived exosomes on joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis (Chen et al. 2018). After treatment with experimentally induced arthritis in the mice model, the authors showed the safety and feasibility of exosome derived from MSC overexpressing miRNA-150. The authors observed a reduction in joint destruction with concomitant inhibition of synoviocyte hyperplasia and angiogenesis. From the analysis of the results, they conclude exosomes facilitate the direct intracellular transfer of miRNAs between cells. Given the pivotal role of miRNAs and their regulatory network in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis (Zakeri et al. 2019), many other research groups have adopted a similar approach for their use as biomarkers as well as therapeutic targets (Huang et al. 2019). The recently published study by Zheng et al. substantiates these data (Zheng et al. 2020). They also proposed that exosomes derived from BM-MSCs, and more specifically, BM-MSCs secreted exosomal miR-192-5p could delay the inflammatory response events in rheumatoid arthritis. Meng et al. have used exosomes derived from miRNA-320a-loaded MSCs to regulate fibroblasts-like synoviocytes activity by interacting with CXCl9, which are mechanistically involved in rheumatoid arthritis pathology (Meng and Qiu 2020). Cosenza et al. compared the anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive properties of MSCs-derived exosomes and microparticles in a mice model of collagen-induced rheumatoid arthritis (Cosenza et al. 2018). The authors observed that both exosomes and microparticles were equally effective in suppressing the inflammatory response, but exosomes were more efficient in anti-inflammatory activity in vivo.

The role of MSCs-derived exosomes and their mechanism remains an area of intense investigation wherein most researchers have used them for both diagnostic and therapeutic purpose, as summarized by Ni et al. and Mianehsaz et al. in their recently published literature reviews (Ni et al. 2020; Mianehsaz et al. 2019). Tofiño-Vian et al. investigated chondroprotective action of exosomes from adipose tissuederived MSCs from healthy volunteers in vitro using chondrocytes from arthritic patients (Tofiño-Vian et al. 2018). Treatment with exosomes significantly reduced MMP activity and MMP13 expression besides upregulation of anti-inflammatory IL10 in the treated chondrocytes. Their results support the interest of MSCs-derived EVs to develop new therapeutic approaches in arthritic joint conditions. These in vitro results were reinforced by He and colleagues, who investigated the effect of exosome derived from BM-MSCs on damaged cartilage repair and pain in an experimental animal model of osteoarthritis (He et al. 2020). They used a rat model of osteoarthritis established by injection of sodium iodoacetate. After analyzing these results, the authors concluded that exosomes successfully promoted cartilage repair and extracellular matrix synthesis, as well as relieve knee pain in rats with osteoarthritis. A recently published systematic review analyzing 20 published in vivo and in vitro studies revealed positive findings in reduced inflammation, downregulation of catabolic processes, and increased anabolic studies D'Arrigo et al. 2019). However, for optimal benefits of this approach, it is essential that exosome production protocols and identification of patients who could benefit from this novel approach must be identified.

As with most of the diseases discussed in this chapter, rheumatoid arthritis and knee arthritis treatment with exosomes have not yet progressed to the clinical trials.

MSCs-Derived Exosomes for the Heart

Exosomes from various stem cells, that is, ESCs, iPSCs and their derivative progenitors and cardiomyocytes (Khan et al. 2015; Arslan et al. 2013; Kervadec et al. 2016; El Harane et al. 2018), cardiosphere-derived progenitors (Xiao et al. 2016), and MSCs-derived exosomes (Zhang et al. 2016), have been studied for their reparability of the injured myocardium. Exosomes derived from MSCs have also been used to precondition other cells to enhance their survival post-engraftment and promote angiogenesis and reduce cardiac fibrosis in the experimentally induced cardiac fibrosis with concomitantly improved cardiac function (Zhang et al. 2016). Lai et al. (2010) used purified exosomes from MSCs to treat a mouse model of ischemia-reperfusion injury (Lai et al. 2010). The authors reported a successful reduction in infarct size. These data also strengthened the paracrine hypothesis according to which the cardioprotective effects of stem cell-based therapy were related to paracrine secretions of stem cells that also included exosomes (Haider and Aziz 2017). These conclusions were later supported by Wang et al., who tested EVs secreted by BM-MSC secreted EVs for their pro-angiogenic activity in the infarcted heart (Wang et al. 2017). They concluded that exosome-derived MSCs are sufficient to improve angiogenesis and exerted therapeutic benefits in the experimental myocardial infarction model. Study of the mechanisms involved in exosome-mediated cytoprotection showed AMPK/Akt signaling in the H2C9 cells treated with MSCsderived exosomes after subjecting the cells to oxidative stress. On the same note, treatment with UC-MSCs-derived exosome was protective for cardiomyocytes in the infarcted myocardium by transferring miR-19a, targeting SOX6, activating Akt, and inhibiting JNK3/caspase-3 activation (Huang et al. 2020). The exosomal payload's role of miRNAs has been eloquently reviewed for their role in myocardial repair Haider and Aramini (2020). Despite extensive studies in the small animal model and encouraging data from large animal models with clinical relevance, there are still no studies registered for their clinical use (Gallet et al. 2017; de Couto et al. 2017).

Multiple Sclerosis

Given the immunomodulatory role of MSCs, their exosomes are being assessed extensively in experimental animal models of multiple sclerosis to impede autoimmune diseases' progression (Baharlooi et al. 2020). Employing an experimental rat model of autoimmune encephalomyelitis, Li and colleagues investigated the effect of exosomes derived from BM-MSCs on microglia polarization and inflammation in the central nervous system (Li et al. 2019). They observed that exosome treatment significantly decreased neural behavioral scores, reduced the infiltration of inflammatory cells into the central nervous system, and reduced demyelination compared to untreated experimental model rats. At molecular levels, there was a significant increase in M2-related and TGF-b IL-10, whereas M1-related TNF-a and IL-12 decreased significantly in exosome treatment. Based on these data, they proposed that therapy using exosomes derived from BM-MSCs could be an interesting alternative for treating multiple sclerosis. On the same note, experiments are underway to exploit exosomes' ability to cross the blood-brain barrier using aptamer bio-conjugated exosomes to enhance oligodendroglia cell line in vitro and reduce demyelinated lesions in the brain of experimental mice model (Hosseini et al. 2019). Intravenous administration of MSCs-exosomes also helped improve recovery in experimental mice with progressive multiple sclerosis (Laso-García et al. 2018). Despite these encouraging data, no clinical trials have been designed to assess their safety and feasibility in human patients as yet.

Conclusion

In conclusion, in this chapter, we have focused only on a few of the diseases treated with MSCs in the clinical studies after extensive characterization in experimental animal models. More recently, the same conditions are being investigated to treat with exosomes derived from MSCs as part of the emerging cell-free therapy. Despite encouraging data from the experimental animal studies, little progress has been made using exosomes in the clinics. Most of the clinical trials with exosomes are relevant to cancer, that is, Metastatic pancreatic cancer (NCT03608631), Colon cancer (NCT01294072), Malignant ascites and pleural effusion (NCT01854866), Type 1 diabetes, that is, (NCT02138331) and acute ischemic stroke, that is, (NCT03384433).

References

- Adak S, Mukherjee S, Sen D (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell as a potential therapeutic for inflammatory bowel disease- myth or reality? Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 12(8):644–657. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888X12666170914113633
- Afzal MR, Haider HK, Niagara MI, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- Aloia A, Petrova E, Tomiuk S, Bissels U, Déas O, Saini M, Zickgraf FM et al (2015) The sialylglycolipid stage-specific embryonic antigen 4 marks a subpopulation of chemotherapy-resistant breast cancer cells with mesenchymal features. Breast Cancer Res 17:146. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13058-015-0652-6
- Alstrup T, Eijken M, Bohn AB, Møller B, Damsgaard TE (2019) Isolation of adipose tissue-derived stem cells: enzymatic digestion in combination with mechanical distortion to increase adipose tissue-derived stem cell yield from human aspirated fat. Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol 48(1):e68. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpsc.68
- Alstrup T, Eijken M, Brunbjerg ME, Hammer-Hansen N, Møller BK, Damsgaard TE (2020) Measured levels of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells in adipose tissue is strongly dependent on harvesting method and stem cell isolation technique. Plast Reconstr Surg 145(1):142–150. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000006404
- Altanerova U, Jakubechova J, Repiska V, Altaner C (2017) Exosomes of human mesenchymal stem/stromal/medicinal signaling cells. Neoplasma 64(6):809–815. https://doi.org/10.4149/ neo 2017 601
- Álvarez-Viejo M (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells from different sources and their derived exosomes: a pre-clinical perspective. World J Stem Cells 12(2):100–109. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v12.i2.100
- Álvarez-Viejo M, Menéndez-Menéndez Y, Otero-Hernández J (2015) CD271 as a marker to identify mesenchymal stem cells from diverse sources before culture. World J Stem Cells 7(2):470–476. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v7.i2.470
- Álvaro-Gracia JM, Jover JA, García-Vicuña R, Carreño L, Alonso A, Marsal S, Blanco F (2017) Intravenous administration of expanded allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells in refractory rheumatoid arthritis (Cx611): results of a multicentre, dose escalation, randomised, single-blind, placebo-controlled phase Ib/IIa clinical trial. Ann Rheum Dis 76(1):196–202. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-208918
- Amati E, Sella S, Perbellini O, Alghisi A, Bermardi M, Chieregato K, Lievore C et al (2017) Generation of mesenchymal stromal cells from cord blood: evaluation of in vitro quality parameters prior to clinical use. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0465-2
- Arslan F, Lai RC, Smeets MB, Akeroyd L, Choo A, Aguor EN, Timmers L et al (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes increase ATP levels, decrease oxidative stress and activate PI3K/Akt pathway to enhance myocardial viability and prevent adverse remodeling after myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem Cell Res 10(3):301–312
- Baharlooi H, Azimi M, Salehi Z, Izad M (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes: a promising therapeutic ace card to address autoimmune diseases. Int J Stem Cells 13(1):13–23. https://doi.org/10.15283/ijsc19108

- Bartolucci J, Verdugo FJ, González PL, Larrea RE, Abarzua E, Goset C, Rojo P et al (2017) Safety and efficacy of the intravenous infusion of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in patients with heart failure: a phase 1/2 randomized controlled trial (RIMECARD trial [Randomized clinical trial of intravenous infusion umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on cardiopathy]). Circ Res 121(10):1192–1204. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.117.310712
- Battula VL, Treml S, Abele H, Bühring HJ (2008) Prospective isolation and characterization of mesenchymal stem cells from human placenta using a frizzled-9-specific monoclonal antibody. Differentiation 76(4):326–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.2007.00225.x
- Bieback K, Kern S, Klüter H, Eichler H (2004) Critical parameters for the isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood. Stem Cells 22(4):625–634. https://doi.org/10.1634/ stemcells.22-4-625
- Booth A, Magnuson A, Fouts J, Foster MT (2016) Adipose tissue: an endocrine organ playing a role in metabolic regulation. Horm Mol Biol Clin Invest 26(1):25–42. https://doi.org/10.1515/ hmbci-2015-0073
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RP, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301
- Bunnell BA, Flaat M, Gagliardi C, Patel B, Ripoll C (2008) Adipose-derived stem cells: isolation, expansion and differentiation. Methods 45(2):115–120
- Cai M, Shen R, Song L et al (2016) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCS) improve heart function in swine myocardial infarction model through paracrine effects. Sci Rep 6:28250
- Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9(5):641–650. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor. 1100090504
- Chaput B, Bertheuil N, Escubes M, Grolleau JL, Garrido I, Laloze J, Espagnolle N, Casteilla L et al (2016) Mechanically isolated stromal vascular fraction provides a valid and useful collagenase-free alternative technique: a comparative study. Plast Reconstr Surg 138(4):807–819. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000002494
- Chen Z, Wang H, Xia Y, Yan F, Lu Y (2018) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal cell-derived miRNA-150-5p-expressing exosomes in rheumatoid arthritis mediated by the modulation of MMP14 and VEGF. J Immunol 201(8):2472–2482. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1800304
- Chen YS, Lin EY, Chiou TW, Harn HJ (2019) Exosomes in clinical trial and their production in compliance with good manufacturing practice. Ci Ji Yi Xue Za Zhi 32(2):113–120. https://doi.org/10.4103/tcmj.tcmj 182_19
- Cheung TS, Bertolino GM, Giacomini C, Bornhäuser M, Dazzi F, Galleu A (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cells for graft versus host disease: mechanism-based biomarkers. Front Immunol 11: 1138 (15 pages). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01338
- Cosenza S, Toupet K, Maumus M, Luz-Crawford P, Blanc-Brude O, Jorgensen C, Noël D (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes are more immunosuppressive than microparticles in inflammatory arthritis. Theranostics 8(5):1399–1410. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.21072
- D'Arrigo D, Ro A, Cucchiarini M, Moretti M, Candrian C, Filardo G (2019) Secretome and extracellular vesicles as new biological therapies for knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review. J Clin Med 8:1867. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8111867
- Dave M, Mehta K, Luther J, Baruah A, Dietz AB, Faubion WA Jr (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Inflam Bowel Dis 21(11):2696–2707. https://doi.org/10.1097/mib.00000000000543
- de Couto G, Gallet R, Cambier L, Jaghatspanyan E, Makkar N, Dawkins JF, Berman BP et al (2017) Exosomal microRNA transfer into macrophages mediates cellular postconditioning. Circulation 136(2):200–214
- de Souza LE, Malta TM, Kashima Haddad S, Covas DT (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells and pericytes: to what extent are they related? Stem Cells Dev 25(24):1843–1852. https://doi.org/10. 1089/scd.2016.0109
- Díaz-Prado S, Muiños-López E, Hermida-Gómez T, Rendal-Vázquez ME, Fuentes-Boquete I, de Toro FJ, Blanco FJ (2011) Isolation and characterization of mesenchymal stem cells from

human amniotic membrane. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 17(1):49–59. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.TEC.2010.0136

- Ding DC, Chang YH, Shyu WC, Lin SZ (2015) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells: a new era for stem cell therapy. Cell Transplant 24(3):339–347. https://doi.org/10.3727/ 096368915X686841
- Divya MS, Roshin GE, Divya TS, Rasheed VA, Santhoshkumar TR, Elizabeth KE, James J (2012) Umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells consist of a unique population of progenitors co-expressing mesenchymal stem cell and neuronal markers capable of instantaneous neuronal differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther 3:57. http://stemcellres.com/content/3/6/57
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905
- El Harane N, Kervadec A, Bellamy V, Pidial L, Neametalla HJ, Perier MC, Lima CB (2018) Acellular therapeutic approach for heart failure: in vitro production of extracellular vesicles from human cardiovascular progenitors. Eur Heart J 39(20):1835–1847
- Elahi KC, Klein G, Avci-Adali M, Sievert KD, MacNeil S, Aicher WK (2016) Human mesenchymal stromal cells from different sources diverge in their expression of cell surface proteins and display distinct differentiation patterns. Stem Cells Int 2016:Article ID 5646384, 9
- Elahi FM, Farwell DG, Nolta JA, Anderson JD (2019) Concise review: preclinical translation of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1002/ stem.3061. [PMID: 31381842]
- Elgaz S, Kuçi Z, Kuçi S, Bönig H, Bader P (2019) Clinical use of mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease. Transfus Med Hemother 46:27–34. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000496809
- Erices A, Conget P, Minguell JJ (2000) Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. Br J Haematol 109(1):235–242. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.01986.x. PMID: 10848804
- Evangelista M, Soncini M, Parolini O (2008) Placenta-derived stem cells: new hope for cell therapy? Cytotechnology 58(1):33–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-008-9162-z
- Fisher SA, Cutler A, Doree C, Brunskill SJ, Stanworth SJ, Navarrete C, Girdlestone J (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cells as treatment or prophylaxis for acute or chronic graft-versus-host disease in haematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipients with a haematological condition. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):Art. No.: CD009768. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD009768.pub2
- Fong CY, Chak LL, Biswas A, Fong C-Y, Chak L-L, Biswas A, Tan J-H (2011) Human Wharton's Jelly stem cells have unique transcriptome profiles compared to human embryonic stem cells and other mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-010-9166-x
- Forsberg MH, Kink JA, Hematti P, Capitini CM (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cells and exosomes: progress and challenges. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:665. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell. 2020.00665
- Francois S, Zhang Y, Bensidhoum M, Mazurier C, Nasef A, Bouchet S et al (2005) Stro-1 positive and Stro-1 negative human mesenchymal stem cells express different levels of immunosuppression. Blood 106(11):2305. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V106.11.2305.2305
- Freitag J, Bates D, Wickham J, Shah K, Huguenin L, Tenen A, Paterson K, Boyd R (2019) Adiposederived mesenchymal stem cell therapy in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Regen Med 14(3):213–230. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2018-0161
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of Guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3(4): 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2184.1970.tb00347
- Fujii S, Miura Y, Fujishiro A, Shindo T, Shimazu Y, Hirai H, Tahara H (2018) Graft-versus-host disease amelioration by human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal/stem cell-derived

extracellular vesicles is associated with peripheral preservation of naive T cell populations. Stem Cells 36(3):434-445. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2759

- Galipeau J (2013) The mesenchymal stromal cells dilemma–does a negative phase III trial of random donor mesenchymal stromal cells in steroid-resistant graft-versus-host disease represent a death knell or a bump in the road? Cytotherapy 15:2–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2012. 10.002
- Gallet R, Dawkins J, Valle J, Simsolo E, de Couto G, Middleton R, Tseliou E (2017) Exosomes secreted by cardiosphere-derived cells reduce scarring, attenuate adverse remodelling, and improve function in acute and chronic porcine myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 38(3):201–211
- Gang EJ, Bosnakovski D, Figueiredo CA, Visser JW, Perlingeiro RC (2007) SSEA-4 identifies mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow. Blood 109(4):1743–1751. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2005-11-010504
- Gavin C, Boberg E, Von Bahr L, Bottai M, Andrén AT, Wernerson A, Davies LC (2019) Tissue immune profiles supporting response to mesenchymal stromal cell therapy in acute graft-versushost disease-a gut feeling. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):334. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1449-9
- Gentile P, Calabrese C, De Angelis B, Pizzicannella J, Kothari A, Garcovich S (2019) Impact of the different preparation methods to obtain human adipose-derived stromal vascular fraction cells (AD-SVFs) and human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AD-MSCs): enzymatic digestion versus mechanical centrifugation. Int J Mol Sci 20(21):5471. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms20215471
- Ghamari S-H, Abbasi-Kangevari M, Tayebi T, Bahrami S, Niknejad H (2020) The bottlenecks in translating placenta-derived amniotic epithelial and mesenchymal stromal cells into the clinic: current discrepancies in marker reports. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:Article 180. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00180
- Giacoppo S, Bramanti P, Mazzon E (2017) The transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells derived from unconventional sources: an innovative approach to multiple sclerosis therapy. Arch Immunol Ther Exp 65:363–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-017-0460-z
- Goujon E (1869) Recherches experimentales sur les proprietes physiologiques de la moelle des os. J de L'Anat et de La Physiol 6:399–412
- Gronthos S, Zannettino AC, Hay SJ, Shi S, Graves SE, Kortesidis A, Simmons PJ (2003) Molecular and cellular characterisation of highly purified stromal stem cells derived from human bone marrow. J Cell Sci 116:1827–1835. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.00369
- Gugliandolo A, Bramanti P, Mazzon E (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells in multiple sclerosis: recent evidence from pre-clinical to clinical studies. Int J Mol Sci 21(22):8662. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21228662
- Gupta M, Tieu A, Slobodian M et al (2020) Preclinical studies of MSC-derived extracellular vesicles to treat or prevent graft versus host disease: a systematic review of the literature. Stem Cell Rev Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-020-10058-x
- Haider HK (2006) Bone marrow cells for cardiac regeneration and repair: current status and issues. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 4:557–568
- Haider HK (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider HK, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow stem cell transplantation for cardiac repair. Am J Physiol Heart Circul Physiol 288(6):H2557–H2567. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart. 01215.2004
- Haider HK, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider HK, Elmadbouh I, Jean-Baptiste Michel JB, Ashraf M (2008a) Non-viral vector gene modification of stem cells for myocardial repair. Mol Med 14(1-2):79–86

- Haider HKH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008b) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider HK, Lee YJ, Jiang S, Ahmed RP, Ryon M, Ashraf M (2010) Phosphodiesterase inhibition with tadalafil provides longer and sustained protection of stem cells. Am J Physiol-Heart Circ Physiol 299(5):H1395–H1404
- Haider HK, Wang L, Lu G, Ashraf M (2012) Adenoviral short hairpin RNA therapy targeting PDE5a relieves cardiac remodeling and dysfunction following myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 302:H2112–H2121
- Hamano K, Nishida M, Hirata K et al (2001) Local implantation of autologous bone marrow cells for therapeutic angiogenesis in patients with ischemic heart disease clinical trial and preliminary results. Jpn Circ J 65:845–847
- Han S, Sun HM, Hwang KC, Kim SW (2015) Adipose-derived stromal vascular fraction cells: update on clinical utility and efficacy. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 25(2):145–152. https://doi. org/10.1615/critreveukaryotgeneexpr.2015013057
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Zambrano JP, Suncion VY, Tracy M et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. JAMA 308(22):2369–2379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.25321
- Hare JM, DiFede DL, Castellanos AM et al (2017) Randomized comparison of allogeneic vs. autologous mesenchymal stem cells for non-lschemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Caridol 69(5):526–537
- Harkness L, Zaher W, Ditzel N, Isa A, Kassem M (2016) CD146/MCAM defines functionality of human bone marrow stromal stem cell populations. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:4. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-015-0266-z
- Harrell CR, Jovicic N, Djonov V, Volarevic V (2020) Therapeutic use of mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes: from basic science to clinics. Pharmaceutics 12(5):474
- Harris VK, Stark J, Vyshkina T, Blackshear L, Joo G, Stefanova V, Sara G (2018) Phase I trial of intrathecal mesenchymal stem cell-derived neural progenitors in progressive multiple sclerosis. EBioMedicine 29:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.02.002
- He L, He T, Xing J, Zhou Q, Fan L, Liu C, Chen Y (2020) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes protect cartilage damage and relieve knee osteoarthritis pain in a rat model of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):276. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01781-w
- Heo JS, Choi Y, Kim H, Kim HO (2016) Comparison of molecular profiles of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, placenta and adipose tissue. Int J Mol Med 37:115–125. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2015.2413
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider HK, Dorvash MR, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146
- Hosseini SF, Alibolandi M, Rafatpanah H, Abnous K, Mahmoudi M, Kalantari M, Taghdisi SM (2019) Immunomodulatory properties of MSC-derived exosomes armed with high affinity aptamer toward mylein as a platform for reducing multiple sclerosis clinical score. J Control Release 29:149–164
- Huang R-Y, Wu J-Q, Liu Z-H, Si-Long Sun S-L (2019) MicroRNAs in rheumatoid arthritis: what is the latest with regards to diagnostics? Exp Rev Mol Diagnostics 19(5):363–366. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/14737159.2019.1599716
- Huang L, Yang L, Ding Y, Jiang X, Xia Z, You Z (2020) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes transfers microRNA-19a to protect cardiomyocytes from acute myocardial infarction by targeting SOX6. Cell Cycle 19(3):339–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15384101.2019.1711305
- Iwatani S, Yoshida M, Yamana K, Kurokawa D, Kuroda J, Thwin KKM, Uemura S, Takafuji S et al (2019) Isolation and characterization of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells from preterm and term infants. J Vis Exp 143:e58806. https://doi.org/10.3791/58806

- Jansen of Lorkeers SJ, Eding JEC, Vesterinen HM et al (2015) Similar effect of autologous and allogeneic cell therapy for ischemic heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of large animal studies. Circ Res 116(1):80–86
- Jones M, Nankervis B, Frank N, Vang B, DiLorenzo T, Hill D, Coeshott C (2018) CD146 expression, as a surrogate biomarker for human mesenchymal stromal cell multilineage differentiation, is preserved during cell expansion in an automated hollow-fiber membrane bioreactor. Pharm Bioprocess 6(3):93–105
- Jouve N, Bachelier R, Despoix N, Blin MG, Matinzadeh MK, Poitevin S, Aurrand-Lions M (2015) CD146 mediates VEGF-induced melanoma cell extravasation through FAK activation. Int J Cancer 137(1):50–60
- Kang I, Lee BC, Choi SW et al (2018) Donor-dependent variation of human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells in response to hypoxic preconditioning and amelioration of limb ischemia. Exp Mol Med 50:35. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-017-0014-9
- Kapur SK, Dos-Anjos Vilaboa S, Llull R, Katz AJ (2015) Adipose tissue and stem/progenitor cells: discovery and development. Clin Plast Surg 42(2):155–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cps.2014. 12.010
- Karantalis V, Difede DL, Gerstenblith G et al (2014) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells produce concordant improvements in regional function, tissue perfusion and fibrotic burden when administered to patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting – the prometheus trial. Circ Res 114(8):1302–1310
- Karussis D, Karageorgiou C, Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Gowda-Kurkalli B, Gomori JM, Kassis I, Bulte JW (2010) Safety and immunological effects of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch Neurol 67(10): 1187–1194. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2010.248.v
- Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Klüter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24(5): 1294–1301. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0342
- Kervadec A, Bellamy V, El Harane N, Arakélian L, Vanneaux V, Cacciapuoti I, Nemetalla H et al (2016) Cardiovascular progenitor-derived extracellular vesicles recapitulate the beneficial effects of their parent cells in the treatment of chronic heart failure. J Heart Lung Transplant 35(6):795–807
- Khan M, Nickoloff E, Abramova T, Johnson J, Verma SK, Krishnamurthy P, Mackie AR et al (2015) Embryonic stem cell-derived exosomes promote endogenous repair mechanisms and enhance cardiac function following myocardial infarction. Circ Res 117(1):52–64
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider HK (2012) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim YS, Suh DS, Tak DH, Chung PK, Kwon YB, Kim TY, Koh YG (2020) Comparative matchedpair cohort analysis of the short-term clinical outcomes of mesenchymal stem cells versus hyaluronic acid treatments through intra-articular injections for knee osteoarthritis. J Exp Orthop 7(1):90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40634-020-00310-1
- Kohli N, Al-Delfi IRT, Snow M, Sakamoto T, Miyazaki T, Nakajima H, Uchida K et al (2019) CD271-selected mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue enhance cartilage repair and are less angiogenic than plastic adherent mesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep 9:3194. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-019-39715-z
- Kokai LE, Rubin JP (2016) Discussion: mechanically isolated stromal vascular fraction provides a valid and useful collagenase-free alternative technique: a comparative study. Plast Reconstr Surg 138(4):820–821. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000002523. PMID: 27307339
- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, Ruesing J, Doeppner TR, Epple M (2014) MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 28(4):970–973
- Kuçi Z, Seiberth J, Latifi-Pupovci H, Wehner S, Stein S, Grez M, Bönig H et al (2013) Clonal analysis of multipotent stromal cells derived from CD271+ bone marrow mononuclear cells:
functional heterogeneity and different mechanisms of allosuppression. Haematologica 98(10): 1609–1616. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2013.09270

- Lai RC, Arslan F, Lee MM, Sze NS, Choo A, Chen TS, Salto-Tellez M (2010) Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem Cell Res 4(3):214–222. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scr.2009.12
- Lai VK, Afzal MR, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider HK (2012) Non-hypoxic stabilization of Hif-1α during coordinated interaction between Akt and angiopoietin-1 enhances endothelial commitment of bone marrow stem cells. J Mol Med 90(6):719–730
- Lai P, Chen X, Guo L, Wang Y, Liu X, Liu Y, Zhou T (2018) A potent immunomodulatory role of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stromal cells in preventing cGVHD. J Hematol Oncol 11(1):135. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-018-0680-7
- Larabi A, Barnich N, Nguyen HTT (2020) Emerging role of exosomes in diagnosis and treatment of infectious and inflammatory bowel diseases. Cell 9:20. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9051111
- Laso-García F, Ramos-Cejudo J, Carrillo-Salinas FJ, Otero-Ortega L, Feliú A, Gómez-de Frutos M, Mecha M et al (2018) Therapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells in a model of progressive multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 13(9):e0202590
- Lazebnik LB, Kniazev OV, Konopliannikov AG, Parfenov AI, Ruchkina IN, Mikhaïlova ZF (2010) [Allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with ulcerative colitis: two years of observation]. Eksp Klin Gastroenterol (11): 3–15
- Le Blanc K, Rasmusson I, Sundberg B, Götherström C, Hassan M, Uzunel M, Ringdén O (2004) Treatment of severe acute graft-versus-host disease with third party haploidentical mesenchymal stem cells. Lancet 363(9419):1439–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16104-7
- Le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Ball L, Locatelli F, Roelofs H, Lewis I, Lanino E et al (2008) Developmental Committee of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II study. Lancet 371(9624):1579–1586. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60690-X
- Lee JW, Lee SH, Youn YJ, Ahn MS, Kim JY, Yoo BS, Yoon J et al (2014) A randomized, openlabel, multicenter trial for the safety and efficacy of adult mesenchymal stem cells after acute myocardial infarction. J Korean Med Sci 29(1):23–31. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2014.29. 1.23
- Lee WS, Kim HJ, Kim KI, Kim GB, Jin W (2019) Intra-articular injection of autologous adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: a phase IIb, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 8(6):504–511. https://doi. org/10.1002/sctm.18-0122
- Li W, Pan S, Wang X, Xu W (2017) Characterization of stage-specific embryonic antigen-4 (SSEA-4)-positive very small embryonic-like stem cells isolated from human Wharton's jelly. Int J Clin Exp Med 10(2):4188–4199. www.ijcem.com/ISSN:1940-5901/IJCEM0043484
- Li Z, Liu F, He X, Yang X, Shan F, Feng J (2019) Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells attenuate inflammation and demyelination of the central nervous system in EAE rats by regulating the polarization of microglia. Int Immunopharmacol 67:268–280. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.12.001
- Liu G, Ye X, Zhu Y, Li Y, Sun J, Cui L, Cao Y (2011) Osteogenic differentiation of GFP-labeled human umbilical cord blood derived mesenchymal stem cells after cryopreservation. Cryobiology 63(2):125–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cryobiol.2011.05.005
- Liu H, Liang Z, Wang F, Zhou C, Zheng X, Hu T, He X et al (2019a) Exosomes from mesenchymal stromal cells reduce murine colonic inflammation via a macrophage-dependent mechanism. JCI Insight 4(24):e131273. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.131273
- Liu L, Wong CW, Han M, Farhoodi HP, Liu G, Liu Y, Liao W et al (2019b) Meta-analysis of preclinical studies of mesenchymal stromal cells to treat rheumatoid arthritis. EBioMedicine 47: 563–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom
- Lopez-Santalla M, Fernandez-Perez R, Garin MI (2020a) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for rheumatoid arthritis treatment: an update on clinical applications. Cell 9(8):1852. https://doi. org/10.3390/cells9081852

- Lopez-Santalla M, Hervas-Salcedo R, Fernandez-Garcia M, Bueren JA, Garin MI (2020b) Cell therapy with mesenchymal stem cells induces an innate immune memory response that attenuates experimental colitis in the long term. J Crohn's Colitis 14(10):1424–1435. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa079
- Lotfy A, Ali NS, Abdelgawad M, Salama M (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells as a treatment for multiple sclerosis: a focus on experimental animal studies. Rev Neurosci 31(2):161–179. https:// doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2019-0040
- Lv FJ, Tuan RS, Cheung KM, Leung VY (2014) Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 32(6):1408–1419. https://doi.org/10.1002/ stem.1681
- Maddox JR, Ludlow KD, Li F, Niyibizi C (2012) Breast and abdominal adipose multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells and stage-specific embryonic antigen 4 expression. Cells Tissues Organs 196(2):107–116. https://doi.org/10.1159/000331332
- Mao F, Wu Y, Tang X, Kang J, Zhang B, Yan Y, Qian H, Zhang X (2017) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells relieve inflammatory bowel disease in mice. Biomed Res Int 2017:5356760
- Marino L, Castaldi MA, Rosamilio R, Ragni E, Vitolo R, Fulgione C, Castaldi SG (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells from the Wharton's Jelly of the human umbilical cord: biological properties and therapeutic potential. Int J Stem Cells 12(2):218–226. https://doi.org/10.15283/ ijsc18034
- Martin PJ, Uberti JP, Soiffer RJ, Klingemann H, Waller EK, Daly AS et al (2010) Prochymal improves response rates in patients with steroid-refractory acute graft versus host disease (SR-GVHD) involving the liver and gut: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled, multicenter phase III trial in GVHD. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 16:S169–S170. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbmt.2009.12.057
- Martins AA, Paiva A, Morgado JM, Gomes A, Pais ML (2009) Quantification and immunophenotypic characterization of bone marrow and umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells by multicolor flow cytometry. Transplant Proc 41(3):943–946
- Mendt M, Rezvani K, Shpall E (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes for clinical use. Bone Marrow Transplant 54(Suppl 2):789–792. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41409-019-0616-z
- Meng Q, Qiu B (2020) Exosomal MicroRNA-320a derived from mesenchymal stem cells regulates rheumatoid arthritis fibroblast-like synoviocyte activation by suppressing CXCL9 expression. Front Physiol 11:441. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00441
- Mianehsaz E, Mirzaei HR, Mahjoubin-Tehran M et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes: a new therapeutic approach to osteoarthritis? Stem Cell Res Ther 1:340. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1445-0
- Minteer D, Marra KG, Rubin JP (2013) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: biology and potential applications. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 129:59–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2012_146
- Mishra S, Sevak JK, Das A et al (2020) Umbilical cord tissue is a robust source for mesenchymal stem cells with enhanced myogenic differentiation potential compared to cord blood. Sci Rep 10:18978. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75102-9
- Mizuno H, Tobita M, Uysal AC (2012) Adipose-derived stem cells as a novel tool for future regenerative medicine. Stem Cells 30(5):804–810
- Moreira A, Alayli Y, Balgi S, Winter C, Kahlenberg S, Mustafa S, Hornsby P (2019) Upcycling umbilical cords: bridging regenerative medicine with neonatology. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 32(8):1378–1387. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2017.1405387
- Moreno DF, Cid J (2019) Graft-versus-host disease. Med Clin (Barc) 152(1):22–28. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.medcli.2018.07.012
- Musiał-Wysocka A, Kot M, Majka M (2019) The pros and cons of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies. Cell Transplant 28(7):801–812. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689719837897

- Nakamura Y, Miyata Y, Matsuo T, Shida Y, Hakariya T, Ohba K, Taima T, Ito A et al (2019) Stagespecific embryonic antigen-4 is a histological marker reflecting the malignant behavior of prostate cancer. Glycoconj J 36:409–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10719-019-09882-2
- Nassereddine S, Rafei H, Elbahesh E, Tabbara I (2017) Acute graft *versus* host disease: a comprehensive review. Anticancer Res 37(4):1547–1555. https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres. 11483
- Ni Z, Zhou S, Li S, Kuang L, Chen H, Luo X, Ouyang J et al (2020) Exosomes: roles and therapeutic potential in osteoarthritis. Bone Res 8:25. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41413-020-0100-9
- Nikfarjam S, Rezaie J, Zolbanin NM, Jafari R (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell derived-exosomes: a modern approach in translational medicine. J Transl Med 18:449. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-020-02622-
- Ning H, Lin G, Lue TF, Lin CS (2011) Mesenchymal stem cell marker Stro-1 is a 75 kd endothelial antigen. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 413(2):353–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2011. 08.104
- Noymar L-C, Contreras-López RA, María JP-M, Jose TM, Sarah B, Mingxing W, Francisco E et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells improve rheumatoid arthritis progression by controlling memory t cell response. Front Immunol 10:798. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00798
- Ocansey DK, Zhang L, Wang Y, Yan Y, Qian H, Zhang X, Xu W (2020) Exosome-mediated effects and applications in inflammatory bowel disease. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 95:1287–1307
- Panés J, García-Olmo D, Van Assche G, Colombel JF, Reinisch W, Baumgart DC, Dignass A et al (2018) ADMIRE CD Study Group Collaborators. Long-term efficacy and safety of stem cell therapy (Cx601) for complex perianal fistulas in patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 154(5):1334–1342.e4. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.12.020
- Park EH, Lim HS, Lee S, Roh K, Seo KW, Kang KS, Shin K (2018) Intravenous infusion of umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells in rheumatoid arthritis: a phase Ia clinical trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(9):636–642. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0031
- Parolini O, Alviano F, Bagnara GP, Bilic G, Bühring HJ, Evangelista M, Hennerbichler S et al (2008) Concise review: isolation and characterization of cells from human term placenta: outcome of the first international workshop on placenta derived stem cells. Stem Cells 26(2): 300–311. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0594
- Pekozer GG, Ramazanoglu M, Schlegel KA, Kok FN, Kose GT (2014) Role of STRO-1 sorting of porcine dental germ stem cells in dental stem cell-mediated bone tissue engineering. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 46(3):607–618. https://doi.org/10.1080/21691401.2017.1332637
- Perin EC, Borow KM, Silva GV et al (2015) A phase II dose-escalation study of allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells in patients with ischemic or nonischemic heart failure. Circ Res 117(6):576–584
- Phinney DG, Pittenger MF (2017) Concise review: MSC-derived exosomes for cell-free therapy. Stem Cells 35(4):851–858. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2575
- Pinheiro A, Silva AM, Teixeira JH, Gonçalves RM, Almeida MI, Barbosa MA, Santos SG (2018) Extracellular vesicles: intelligent delivery strategies for therapeutic applications. J Control Release 289:56–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.09.019
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284(5411):143–147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Psaltis PJ, See F, Arthur A, Martin S, Itescu S, Worthley SG, Gronthos S (2010) Enrichment for STRO-1 expression enhances the cardiovascular paracrine activity of human bone marrowderived mesenchymal cell populations. J Cell Physiol 223:530–540
- Puig-Pijuan T, de Godoy MA, Carvalho LRP, Bodart-Santos V, Lindoso RS, Pimentel-Coelho PM, Mendez-Otero R (2020) Human Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells protect neural cells from oxidative stress through paracrine mechanisms. Future Sci OA 6(9). https://doi.org/10. 2144/fsoa-2020-0036

- Ra JC, Kang SK, Shin IS, Park HG, Joo SA, Kim JG, Kang BC et al (2011) Stem cell treatment for patients with autoimmune disease by systemic infusion of culture-expanded autologous adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Transl Med 9:181. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-9-181
- Riordan NH, Morales I, Fernández G, Allen N, Fearnot NE, Leckrone ME, Markovich DJ et al (2018) Clinical feasibility of umbilical cord tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. J Transl Med 16:57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1433-7
- Scheja L, Heeren J (2019) The endocrine function of adipose tissues in health and cardiometabolic disease. Nat Rev Endocrinol 15:507–524. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0230-6
- Shi X, Chen Q, Wang F (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of ulcerative colitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental and clinical studies. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):266. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1336-4
- Simmons PJ, Torok-Storb B (1991) Identification of stromal cell precursors in human bone marrow by a novel monoclonal antibody, STRO-1. Blood 78(1):55–62. PMID: 2070060
- Sivasubramaniyan K, Harichandan A, Schilbach K, Mack AF, Bedke J, Stenzl A, Kanz L (2015) Expression of stage-specific embryonic antigen-4 (SSEA-4) defines spontaneous loss of epithelial phenotype in human solid tumor cells. Glycobiology 25(8):902–917. https://doi.org/10. 1093/glycob/cwv032
- Soncini M, Vertua E, Gibelli L, Zorzi F, Denegri M, Albertini A, Wengler GS (2007) Isolation and characterization of mesenchymal cells from human fetal membranes. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 1(4):296–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.40
- Soundararajan M, Kannan S (2018) Fibroblasts and mesenchymal stem cells: two sides of the same coin? J Cell Physiol 233(12):9099–9109. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26860
- Subramanian A, Fong CY, Biswas A, Bongso A (2015) Comparative characterization of cells from the various compartments of the human umbilical cord shows that the Wharton's jelly compartment provides the best source of clinically utilizable mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One 10: e0127992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127992
- Sun Y, Deng W, Geng L, Zhang L, Liu R, Chen W, Yao G (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis display impaired function in inhibiting Th17 cells. J Immunol Res. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/284215
- Szabolcs P, Visani G, Locatelli F, Kleiner G, Talano J, Nemecek E et al (2010) Treatment of steroidrefractory acute GVHD with mesenchymal stem cells improves outcomes in pediatric patients; results of the pediatric subset in a phase III randomized, placebo-controlled study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 16:S298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.12.426
- Tavassoli M, Crosby WH (1968) Transplantation of marrow to extramedullary sites. Science 161(3836):54–56. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.161.3836.54
- Théry C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R et al (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7(1):1535750. https://doi.org/10.1080/20013078. 2018.1535750
- Thomson TM, Rettig WJ, Chesa PG, Green SH, Mena AC, Old LJ (1988) Expression of human nerve growth factor receptor on cells derived from all three germ layers. Exp Cell Res 174(2): 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(88)90323-0
- Tio M, Tan KH, Lee W, Wang TT, Udolph G (2010) Roles of db-cAMP, IBMX and RA in aspects of neural differentiation of cord blood derived mesenchymal-like stem cells. PLoS One 5(2): e9398. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009398
- Tofiño-Vian M, Guillén MI, Pérez Del Caz MD, Silvestre A, Alcaraz MJ (2018) Microvesicles from human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells as a new protective strategy in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Cell Physiol Biochem 47(1):11–25. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489739
- Tormin A, Li O, Brune JC, Walsh S, Schütz B, Ehinger M, Ditzel N (2011) CD146 expression on primary nonhematopoietic bone marrow stem cells is correlated with in situ localization. Blood 117(19):5067–5077. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-08-304287

- Uccelli A, Laroni A, Brundin L, Clanet M, Fernandez O, Nabavi SM, Muraro PA, MESEMS Study Group et al (2019) MEsenchymal StEm cells for Multiple Sclerosis (MESEMS): a randomized, double blind, cross-over phase I/II clinical trial with autologous mesenchymal stem cells for the therapy of multiple sclerosis. Trials 20(1):263. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3346-z
- Vallée M, Côté J-F, Fradette J (2009) Adipose-tissue engineering: taking advantage of the properties of human adipose-derived stem/stromal cells. Pathol Biol 57(4):309–317
- Van der Spoel TIG, Gathier WA, Koudstaal S et al (2015) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells show more benefit on systolic function compared to bone marrow mononuclear cells in a porcine model of chronic myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Trans Res 8:393–403. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12265-015-9643-3
- Vasaghi A, Dehghani A, Khadema Z, Mohsen I, Maharlooei K, Monabati A, Attar A (2013) Parameters that influence the isolation of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells from human umbilical cord blood. Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther 6:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hemonc. 2013.02.002
- Wagner W, Wein F, Seckinger A, Frankhauser M, Wirkner U, Krause U, Blake J (2005) Comparative characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord blood. Exp Hematol 33(11):1402–1416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2005. 07.003
- Wang Z, Yan X (2013) CD146, a multi-functional molecule beyond adhesion. Cancer Lett 330(2): 150–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.11.049
- Wang L, Gu Z, Zhao X, Yang N, Wang F, Deng A, Zhao S (2016) Extracellular vesicles released from human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cells prevent life-threatening acute graft-versus-host disease in a mouse model of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Stem Cells Dev 25(24):1874–1883. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2016.0107
- Wang N, Chen C, Yang D, Liao Q, Luo H, Wang X, Zhou F (2017) Mesenchymal stem cellsderived extracellular vesicles, via miR-210, improve infarcted cardiac function by promotion of angiogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis 1863(8):2085–2092. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbadis.2017.02.023
- Wang D, Duan H, Feng J, Xiang J, Feng L, Liu D, Chen X (2020a) Soluble CD146, a cerebrospinal fluid marker for neuroinflammation, promotes blood-brain barrier dysfunction. Theranostics 10(1):231
- Wang M, Zhao Y, Zhang Q (2020b) Human mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes accelerate wound healing of mice eczema. J Dermatolog Treat 17:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546634. 2020.1820935
- Wang Z, Xu Q, Zhang N, Du X, Xu G, Yan X et al (2020c) CD146, from a melanoma cell adhesion molecule to a signaling receptor. Sig Transduct Target Ther 5:148. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41392-020-00259-8
- Watson JT, Foo T, Wu J, Moed BR, Thorpe M, Schon L, Zhang Z (2013) CD271 as a marker for mesenchymal stem cells in bone marrow versus umbilical cord blood. Cells Tissues Organs 197(6):496–504. https://doi.org/10.1159/000348794
- Weiss ML, Troyer DL (2006) Stem cells in the umbilical cord. Stem Cell Rev 2(2):155–162. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12015-006-0022-y
- Wright AJ, Andrews PW (2009) Surface marker antigens in the characterization of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res 3(1):3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2009.04.001
- Wu KH, Sheu JN, Wu HP, Tsai C, Sieber M, Peng CT et al (2013) Cotransplantation of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote hematopoietic engraftment in cord blood transplantation: a pilot study. Transplantation 95(5):773–777
- Wu CC, Liu FL, Sytwu HK et al (2016) CD146+ mesenchymal stem cells display greater therapeutic potential than CD146– cells for treating collagen-induced arthritis in mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0285-4
- Wu M, Zhang R, Zou Q, Chen Y, Li X, Ran R, Chen Q (2018a) Comparison of the biological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the human placenta and umbilical cord. Sci Rep 8:5014. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23396-1

- Wu Y, Qiu W, Xu X, Kang J, Wang J, Wen Y, Tang X et al (2018b) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate inflammatory bowel disease in mice through ubiquitination. Am J Transl Res 10(7):2026–2036
- Xiao J, Pan Y, Li XH, Yang XY, Feng YL, Tan HH, Jiang L (2016) Cardiac progenitor cell-derived exosomes prevent cardiomyocytes apoptosis through exosomal miR-21 by targeting PDCD4. Cell Death Dis 7(6):e2277
- Yamashita T, Takahashi Y, Takakura Y (2018) Possibility of exosome-based therapeutics and challenges in production of exosomes eligible for therapeutic application. Biol Pharm Bull 41(6):835–842. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b18-00133
- Yang J, Liu XX, Fan H, Tang Q, Shou ZX, Zuo DM, Zou Z et al (2015) Extracellular vesicles derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental colitis via attenuating colon inflammation, oxidative stress and apoptosis. PLoS One 10(10):e0140551. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140551
- Yin L, Zhou Z-X, Shen M, Chen N, Jiang F, Wang S-L (2019) The human amniotic mesenchymal stem cells (hAMSCs) improve the implant osseointegration and bone regeneration in maxillary sinus floor elevation in rabbits. Stem Cells Int 2019:Article ID 9845497. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2019/9845497
- Yu M, Xiao Z, Shen L, Li L (2004) Mid-trimester fetal blood-derived adherent cells share characteristics similar to mesenchymal stem cells but full-term umbilical cord blood does not. Br J Haematol 124(5):666–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.04826.x
- Zakeri Z, Salmaninejad A, Hosseini N, Shahbakhsh Y, Fadaee E, Shahrzad MK, Fadaei S (2019) MicroRNA and exosome: key players in rheumatoid arthritis. J Cell Biochem. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jcb.28499
- Zhang HT, Chen H, Zhao H, Dai YW, Xu RX (2011) Neural stem cells differentiation ability of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells is not altered by cryopreservation. Neurosci Lett 487(1):118–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.10.008
- Zhang Z, Yang J, Yan W, Li Y, Shen Z, Asahara T (2016) Pretreatment of cardiac stem cells with exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells enhances myocardial repair. J Am Heart Assoc 5(1):e002856
- Zhang J, Lv S, Liu X, Song B, Shi L (2018) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell treatment for Crohn's disease: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Gut Liver 12(1):73–78. https://doi.org/ 10.5009/gnl17035
- Zhang Q, Li Q, Zhu J, Guo H, Zhai Q, Li B, Jin Y (2019) Comparison of therapeutic effects of different mesenchymal stem cells on rheumatoid arthritis in mice. PeerJ 7:e7023. https://doi.org/ 10.7717/peerj.7023
- Zheng J, Zhu L, Iok In I, Chen Y, Jia N, Zhu W (2020) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells-secreted exosomal microRNA-192-5p delays inflammatory response in rheumatoid arthritis. Int Immunopharmacol 78:105985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105985
- Zhou X, Jin N, Wang F, Chen B (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells: a promising way in therapies of graft-versus-host disease. Cancer Cell Int 20:114. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-020-01193-z
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 7(2):211–228. https://doi.org/10.1089/107632701300062859



Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for COVID-19 Critical Care Patients

A Present Hope

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Tarik Smani, Jose Miguel Sempere-Ortells, Robert Chunhua Zhao, and Bernat Soria

Contents

 Introduction
 166

 Mechanism of Infection and Immune Response
 176

 The Rationale for the Clinical Use of MSCs for COVID-19 Patients
 178

A. Hmadcha (⊠)

Department of Biotechnology, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain

University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain e-mail: khmadcha@upo.es

T. Smani

Cardiovascular Pathophysiology, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville (IBiS), University Hospital of Virgen del Rocío/University of Seville/CSIC, Seville, Spain

Department of Medical Physiology and Biophysics, University of Seville, Seville, Spain

Biomedical Research Networking Centers of Cardiovascular Diseases (CIBERCV), Madrid, Spain e-mail: tasmani@us.es

J. M. Sempere-Ortells

Department of Biotechnology, Immunology Division, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain e-mail: josemiguel@ua.es

R. C. Zhao

Institute of Basic Medical Sciences Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, School of Basic Medicine Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

Department of Cell Biology, School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University, Shanghai, China e-mail: zhaochunhua@vip.163.com

B. Soria

University of Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Department of Physiology, Institute of Bioengineering-Alicante Institute for Health and Biomedical Research (ISABIAL), University Miguel Hernández School of Medicine, Alicante, Spain e-mail: bernat.soria@umh.es

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 7

Progress in MSC-Based Therapy for COVID-19	179
Other Cell-Based Innovation for COVID-19	181
Side Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy	182
Unmet Challenges of Adoptive MSCs Therapy	183
Study Design	183
Source of Cells	183
Route of Cell Administration	184
Dosage Strategies	184
Risks Associated with Stem Cell Therapy	184
Concluding Remarks	185
References	185

Abstract

Despite the titanic efforts of health systems worldwide through the implementation of severe public health measures, the number of patients with the current coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has been dramatically increasing since December 2019. COVID-19 is a real threat that is currently becoming a major concern worldwide. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has a virulent infection leading to a high mortality rate. Although, the emergency use authorization of COVID vaccines has brought hope to mitigate pandemic of COVID-19, there remains a need for additional effective vaccines to deal with SARS-CoV-2, a virus characterized by its unpredictable nature, high morbidity, and rapid ability to spread and to meet the global demand and address the potential new viral variants. Still there is a significantly increased demand for the development of new therapeutic alternatives to palliate the ongoing pandemic. Actually, treating critical COVID-19 patients is challenging as no specific treatment options against SARS-CoV-2 are available. The main pathologic features of critical COVID-19 were consistent with acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Therefore, regenerative, immunomodulatory, and antiinflammatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) can reduce the manifestation of cytokine storm and can restore ARDS and ALI, exhibiting an important option to be applied to critical COVID-19 patients. Here we propose MSCs as a potential alternative therapy for COVID-19 patients and discussed specific aspects of this proposed cell therapy.

Keywords

ARDS · CAR-T cells · Cell therapy · COVID-19 · Cytokine storm · Immunomodulation · Inflammation · Mesenchymal stromal cells · Organoids · SARS-CoV-2 · Stem cells

List of Abbreviations

3D	Three-dimensional
ACE2	Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
ALI	Acute lung injuries
Ang-1	Angiopoietin-1
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker

ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
AT2s	Type 2 alveolar epithelial cells
CAR-T	Chimeric antigen receptor T cells
CCN1	CCN family number 1
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
CLDN1	Claudin1
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
CPE	Cytopathologic effect
Cyr61	Cysteine-rich protein 61
DEX	Dexamethasone
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EMMPRIN	Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor (or CD147)
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GI	Gastrointestinal
Gsis	γ-Secretase inhibitors
HACE2	Human angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
НСО	Hydroxychloroquine
HE	Heme agglutinin esterase
HESCs	Human embryonic stem cells
HiPSCs	Human-induced pluripotent stem cells
HPSC	Human pluripotent stem cell
Hrsace2	Human recombinant soluble ACE2
Hs-cTnI	Highly sensitive troponin-I
HSV1	Herpes simplex virus-1
ICU	Intensive care units
IFN	Interferon
Ifnar1 ^{-/-}	C57BL/6 mice with a genetic ablation of their type I interferon
	receptors
IL-1α	Interleukin-alpha
IL1-β	Interleukin-beta
IL-2	Interleukin-2
Il28r ^{-/-}	C57BL/6 mice with a genetic ablation of their type III interferon
	receptors
Il2rg	Interleukin-2 receptor gamma chain
Isgs	Interferon-stimulated genes
KGF	Keratinocyte growth factor
KRT18	Cytokeratin 18
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAS	Macrophage activation syndrome
Mascn6	Mouse-adapted strain at passage 6
MERS	Middle East respiratory syndrome
MODS	Multiple organ dysfunction syndromes
MPA	Myconhenolic acid
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NPC	Neural progenitor cells

NSCs:	Neural stem cells
NSG mouse	NOD-SCID with null mutation in the gene encoding the il2rgl
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PDGFb	Platelet-derived growth factor subunit b
PMN	Polymorphonuclear
QNHC	Quinacrine dihydrochloride
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I-like
RLU	Relative luciferase units
RM	Regenerative medicine
SARS-cov-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2
SFTPC	Surfactant protein-C
SLC10A2	Solute carrier family 10 member 2
SOS	Sinusoidal obstructive syndrome
S-protein	Spike protein
TF	Tissue factor (or CD142)
TMPRSS2	Transmembrane serine protease 2
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
WHO	World Health Organization
WT	Wild type

Introduction

Late in December 2019, an outbreak of atypical pneumonia of unknown etiology was described in Wuhan Province in China. A novel coronavirus named "severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)" was then identified as the etiologic agent (Gorbalenya et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2010). Later, the disease was designated **CO**rona **VI**rus **D**isease 2019 (COVID-19) (World Health Organization 2020). The rapid expansion of COVID-19 cases in number and geographic distribution prompted the World Health Organization (WHO) to declare a global health emergency. Containment of the disease was hindered by the lack of antiviral treatment, lack of vaccines, and asymptomatic carriers. On March 11, 2020, COVID-19 was officially classified by the WHO as a pandemic.

The WHO has declared coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) a pandemic due to the rapid increase in infections worldwide. The initial outbreak occurred in Wuhan City of Hubei Province of the People's Republic of China in December 2019 and has since spread to nearly every country and territory globally. As of April 24, 2021, there have been more than 145 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the world, including about 3 million deaths, reported to WHO (WHO 2020). However, despite strict worldwide containment strategies and national closures in many countries, prevalence rates continue to increase with significant mortality.

Since COVID-19 affects different people in different ways, most infected people develop mild-to-moderate disease and recover without hospitalization, but a subset of patients progresses to severe illness, with a high mortality rate and limited treatment options. The clinical feature of COVID-19 varies from asymptomatic

forms to conditions involving multiorgan and systemic manifestations in terms of septic shock and multiple organ dysfunction syndromes (MODS). The primary pathologic features of critical COVID-19 were consistent with acute lung injuries (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). The majority of infected persons is usually asymptomatic or has mild symptoms, and about 15% are affected by ARDS, of which 5% progress to multiple organ dysfunction syndromes or failure. From the point of view of prevention, evasive carriers still in the early stage of infection, and that therefore do not show any clinical manifestation of the disease, are the most infectious and the least tractable.

This pathology involves direct attacks by the virus on the cells and secondary attacks on the body after activating the immune system. This means that both the virus and the immune response can cause damage to the body, and common complications or secondary infection can occur. At the cellular level, the spike protein (S-protein) of SARS-CoV-2 interacts with cell receptors to infect target cells. SARS-CoV-2 binds to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), triggering the endocytosis of virus particles. Consequently, ACE2 receptor would represent a potential therapeutic candidate to study SARS-CoV-2 infection mechanisms. Treating COVID-19 patients is challenging as no specific treatment options against SARS-CoV-2 are available. The current supportive but not curative treatments consist of the use of experimental medication. These include remdesivir, hydroxychloroquine, abidol, lopinavir/ritonavir, plasma from convalescent patients, antibody, and other nonspecific vaccines (Haider and Hyder 2020). Currently, remdesivir appears to be the most promising pharmacological intervention for the treatment of pneumonia caused by COVID-19.

The exact pathogenesis of the virus and the dynamics of the disease are not yet fully understood; therefore, the available treatment options are limited. These consist mainly of supportive therapies for symptomatic treatment. Several antiviral drugs (Grein et al. 2020), corticosteroids (Wang et al. 2020b; Al-Rasheed et al. 2021), convalescent plasma (Shen et al. 2020; Verma et al. 2020), and neutralizing monoclonal antibodies (Shanmugaraj et al. 2020) have been tested and have undergone different phases of clinical trials, but none have been approved explicitly for COVID-19. Another alarming fact is the report from some countries of recurrence of infection in recovered as well as vaccinated individuals, which calls into question the efficacy of available treatments (Lan et al. 2020). In the absence of a recommended treatment, observance of general principle of resorting to take preventive measures, including social distancing, hygienic precautions, and use of face masks, remains the preferred strategy (Hyder and Haider 2020).

Within this scenario, investigations have been conducted at a dizzying speed to achieve a vaccine. The pioneering manufacturer's platforms of vaccines (BioNTech-Pfizer, University of Oxford-AstraZeneca, Moderna, Johnson & Johnson, Sanofi-GlaxoSmithKline, CanSino Biologics, Inovio, Sinovac, Novavax, Gamaleya Research Institute, CureVac, Clover Biopharmaceuticals, Merck & Co.) have been able to ensure their historic and rapid development. According to WHO, as of February 18, 2021, at least seven different vaccines across three platforms have been rolled out in countries. Vulnerable populations in all countries are the highest priority for vaccination. At the same time, more than 200 additional vaccine

candidates are in development, of which more than 60 are in clinical development (García-Montero et al. 2021; Yan et al. 2021a).

The first mass vaccination program was initiated in early December 2020, and as of February 15, 2021, 175.3 million vaccine doses have been administered (Hasan et al. 2021). At least seven different vaccines (three platforms) have been developed and administered as part of the worldwide vaccination program. WHO issued an Emergency Use Listing (EUL) for the Pfizer COVID-19 vaccine (BNT162b2) on December 31, 2020. On February 15, 2021, WHO issued EUL for two versions of the AstraZeneca/Oxford COVID-19 vaccine, manufactured by the Serum Institute of India and SKBio. On March 12, 2021, WHO issued an EUL for the COVID-19 vaccine Ad26.COV2.S, developed by Janssen (Johnson & Johnson). WHO is on track to EUL other vaccine products through June.

Although many biotechnology companies have developed different vaccines and millions of people have been vaccinated to date, the complete process of safety evaluation, manufacturing, and scale-up are still under question, and longer followup is needed (Yan et al. 2021b; Kadkhoda 2021). As such, the development of feasible, safe, and effective therapies is extremely urgent. Therefore, increasing experimental and clinical evidence has given credibility to the claim that advanced therapies research could change the future of COVID-19 and the forthcoming emergence of virulent viruses. Notably, cell-based therapies will impact, not yet foreseen, on the present and future sequels of COVID-19. In this regard, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have long been associated with the repairing and rejuvenating damaged tissues due to their broad pharmacological effects, including anti-inflammation, immunomodulation, anti-apoptosis, angiogenesis, and trans-differentiation to specific cell types. They also secrete a myriad of soluble factors and vesicles altogether involved in restoring tissue homeostasis and functionality. The efficacy of MSCs and their secretory factors has been proven in successfully reducing inflammation, dampening immune responses, and repairing lung damage in various preclinical and clinical models (Hmadcha et al. 2009). Therefore, the potential of MSC-based therapy as an option for severe or critically ill COVID-19 patients is being explored in the current scenario (Leng et al. 2020; Sánchez-Guijo et al. 2020) (Table 1).

On the one hand, recent studies focus on regenerative, immunomodulatory, and anti-inflammatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) to reduce the manifestation of cytokine storm and to restore ARDS and ALI, exhibiting an important option to be applied to critical COVID-19 patients, or on MSCs secretome to treat COVID-19 pneumonia (Tang et al. 2020; Meng et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020b; Liang et al. 2020; Lanzoni et al. 2021). Other research includes the use of hematopoietic stem cells derived from umbilical cord blood, bone marrow, or mobilized peripheral blood, as well as immune chimeric antigen receptor T cell (CAR-T cell). On the other hand, the understanding of the mechanism of infection and pathogenesis are still limited. In this regard, the use of human pluripotent stem cells, both embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and induced stem cells (hiPSCs), to generate tissue-specific human organoids (lung, intestinal, liver, vascular, heart, and kidney

		Study		
NCT number	Title	results	Phases	URL
NCT04444271	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Infusion for COVID-19 Infection	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04444271
NCT04416139	Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Due for COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04416139
NCT04713878	Mesenchymal Stem Cells Therapy in Patients With COVID-19 Pneumonia	No results available	Not applicable	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04713878
NCT04429763	Safety and Efficacy of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Management of Severe COVID- 19 Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04429763
NCT04898088	A Proof of Concept Study for the DNA Repair Driven by the Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Critical COVID-19 Patients	No results available	Not applicable	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04898088
NCT04315987	NestaCell [®] Mesenchymal Stem Cell to Treat Patients With Severe COVID-19 Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04315987
NCT04611256	Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Patients Diagnosed With COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04611256
NCT04302519	Novel Coronavirus Induced Severe Pneumonia Treated by Dental Pulp Mesenchymal Stem Cells	No results available	Early Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04302519
NCT04456361	Use of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Caused by COVID- 19	No results available	Early Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04456361
NCT04625738	Efficacy of Infusions of MSC From Wharton Jelly in the SARS-Cov-2 (COVID-19) Related Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04625738
NCT04366271	Clinical Trial of Allogeneic Mesenchymal Cells From Umbilical Cord Tissue in Patients With COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04366271

 Table 1 Registered clinical trials using MSC-based therapy to COVID-19 (NIH-ClinicalTrial. gov)

		a. 1		
NCT number	Title	Study results	Phases	URL
NCT04366323	Clinical Trial to Assess the Safety and Efficacy of Intravenous Administration of Allogeneic Adult Mesenchymal Stem Cells of Expanded Adipose Tissue in Patients With Severe Pneumonia Due to COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04366323
NCT04252118	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Treatment for Pneumonia Patients Infected With COVID- 19	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04252118
NCT04313322	Treatment of COVID-19 Patients Using Wharton's Jelly- Mesenchymal Stem Cells	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04313322
NCT04909892	Study of Allogeneic Adipose- Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Treat Post COVID-19 "Long Haul" Pulmonary Compromise	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04909892
NCT04905836	Study of Allogeneic Adipose- Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Treatment of COVID- 19 Acute Respiratory Distress	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04905836
NCT04753476	Treatment of Severe COVID-19 Patients Using Secretome of Hypoxia-Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Indonesia	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04753476
NCT04336254	Safety and Efficacy Study of Allogeneic Human Dental Pulp Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Treat Severe COVID-19 Patients	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04336254
NCT04346368	Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Treatment for Severe Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04346368
NCT04288102	Treatment With Human Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Severe Corona Virus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04288102
NCT04629105	Regenerative Medicine for COVID-19 and Flu-Elicited ARDS Using Longeveron Mesenchymal Stem Cells (LMSCs) (RECOVER)	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04629105

NOT	T:41.	Study	Diama	UDI
NCT number		results	Phases	UKL
NC104273646	Study of Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Severe COVID-19	No results available	Not applicable	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04273646
NCT04371601	Safety and Effectiveness of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Pneumonia of Coronavirus Disease 2019	No results available	Early Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04371601
NCT04527224	Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of AstroStem-V in Treatment of COVID-19 Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04527224
NCT04728698	Study of Intravenous Administration of Allogeneic Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for COVID-19- Induced Acute Respiratory Distress	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04728698
NCT04657458	Expanded Access Protocol on Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicle Infusion Treatment for Patients With COVID-19 Associated ARDS	No results available		https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04657458
NCT04348435	A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial to Determine the Safety and Efficacy of Hope Biosciences Allogeneic Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy (HB-adMSCs) to Provide Protection Against COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04348435
NCT04339660	Clinical Research of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of COVID-19 Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04339660
NCT04428801	Autologous Adipose-derived Stem Cells (AdMSCs) for COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04428801
NCT04457609	Administration of Allogenic UC-MSCs as Adjuvant Therapy for Critically-Ill COVID-19 Patients	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04457609
NCT04382547	Treatment of Covid-19 Associated Pneumonia With Allogenic Pooled Olfactory Mucosa-derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04382547

NCT number	Title	Study results	Phases	URL
NCT04349631	A Clinical Trial to Determine the Safety and Efficacy of Hope Biosciences Autologous Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy (HB-adMSCs) to Provide Protection Against COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04349631
NCT04366063	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for SARS-CoV-2- related Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 2 Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04366063
NCT04352803	Adipose Mesenchymal Cells for Abatement of SARS-CoV-2 Respiratory Compromise in COVID-19 Disease	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04352803
NCT04573270	Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04573270
NCT04490486	Umbilical Cord Tissue (UC) Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) Versus Placebo to Treat Acute Pulmonary Inflammation Due to COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04490486
NCT04355728	Use of UC-MSCs for COVID-19 Patients	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04355728
NCT04888949	A Study of ADR-001 in Patients With Severe Pneumonia Caused by SARS-CoV-2 Infection (COVID-19)	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04888949
NCT04461925	Treatment of Coronavirus COVID-19 Pneumonia (Pathogen SARS-CoV-2) With Cryopreserved Allogeneic P_MMSCs and UC-MMSCs	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04461925
NCT04522986	An Exploratory Study of ADR-001 in Patients With Severe Pneumonia Caused by SARS-CoV-2 Infection	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04522986
NCT04903327	Study of Intravenous COVI- MSC for Treatment of COVID- 19-Induced Acute Respiratory Distress	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04903327

		Study		
NCT number	Title	results	Phases	URL
NCT04348461	BAttLe Against COVID-19 Using MesenchYmal Stromal Cells	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04348461
NCT04565665	Cord Blood-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of COVID-19 Related Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04565665
NCT04535856	Therapeutic Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of DW-MSC in COVID-19 Patients	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04535856
NCT04362189	Efficacy and Safety Study of Allogeneic HB-adMSCs for the Treatment of COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04362189
NCT04293692	Therapy for Pneumonia Patients Infected by 2019 Novel Coronavirus	No results available	Not applicable	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04293692
NCT04390152	Safety and Efficacy of Intravenous Wharton's Jelly Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Due to COVID 19	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04390152
NCT04494386	Umbilical Cord Lining Stem Cells (ULSC) in Patients With COVID-19 ARDS	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04494386
NCT04397796	Study of the Safety of Therapeutic Tx With Immunomodulatory MSC in Adults With COVID-19 Infection Requiring Mechanical Ventilation	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04397796
NCT04780685	A Phase II Study in Patients With Moderate to Severe ARDS Due to COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04780685
NCT04377334	Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) in Inflammation- Resolution Programs of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Induced Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS)	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04377334

NCT number	Title	Study results	Phases	URL
NCT04452097	Use of hUC-MSC Product (BX-U001) for the Treatment of COVID-19 With ARDS	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04452097
NCT04345601	Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for the Treatment of SARS-CoV-2 Induced Acute Respiratory Failure (COVID-19 Disease)	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04345601
NCT04492501	Investigational Treatments for COVID-19 in Tertiary Care Hospital of Pakistan	No results available	Not applicable	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04492501
NCT04390139	Efficacy and Safety Evaluation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Patients With Respiratory Distress Due to COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04390139
NCT04798716	The Use of Exosomes for the Treatment of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome or Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Caused by COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04798716
NCT04276987	A Pilot Clinical Study on Inhalation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Exosomes Treating Severe Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04276987
NCT04392778	Clinical Use of Stem Cells for the Treatment of Covid-19	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04392778
NCT04467047	Safety and Feasibility of Allogenic MSC in the Treatment of COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04467047
NCT04798066	Intermediate Size Expanded Access Protocol Evaluating HB-adMSC's for the Treatment of Post-COVID-19 Syndrome	No results available		https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04798066
NCT04909879	Study of Allogeneic Adipose- Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Non-COVID-19 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04909879
NCT04398303	ACT-20 in Patients With Severe COVID-19 Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04398303

NCT much or	T:41-	Study	Dhaasa	LIDI
NCT04361942	Treatment of Severe COVID-19 Pneumonia With Allogeneic Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (COVID_MSV)	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04361942
NCT03042143	Repair of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome by Stromal Cell Administration (REALIST) (COVID-19)	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT03042143
NCT04537351	The MEseNchymal coviD-19 Trial: MSCs in Adults With Respiratory Failure Due to COVID-19 or Another Underlying Cause	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04537351
NCT04437823	Efficacy of Intravenous Infusions of Stem Cells in the Treatment of COVID-19 Patients	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04437823
NCT04269525	Umbilical Cord (UC)-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) Treatment for the 2019- novel Coronavirus (nCOV) Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04269525
NCT04602442	Safety and Efficiency of Method of Exosome Inhalation in COVID-19 Associated Pneumonia	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04602442
NCT04447833	Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Therapy For The Treatment Of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 1	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04447833
NCT04371393	MSCs in COVID-19 ARDS	No results available	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04371393
NCT04491240	Evaluation of Safety and Efficiency of Method of Exosome Inhalation in SARS- CoV-2 Associated Pneumonia.	Has results	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04491240
NCT04333368	Cell Therapy Using Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in SARS-CoV-2- related ARDS	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04333368
NCT04299152	Stem Cell Educator Therapy Treat the Viral Inflammation in COVID-19	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04299152

		a. 1		
NCT number	Title	Study results	Phases	URL
NCT04524962	Study of Descartes-30 in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04524962
NCT04541680	Nintedanib for the Treatment of SARS-Cov-2 Induced Pulmonary Fibrosis	No results available	Phase 3	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04541680
NCT04466098	Multiple Dosing of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Patients With ARDS (COVID- 19)	No results available	Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04466098
NCT04445220	A Study of Cell Therapy in COVID-19 Subjects With Acute Kidney Injury Who Are Receiving Renal Replacement Therapy	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04445220
NCT04341610	ASC Therapy for Patients With Severe Respiratory COVID-19	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04341610
NCT04400032	Cellular Immuno-Therapy for COVID-19 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04400032
NCT04684602	Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Various Chronic and Acute Conditions	No results available	Phase 1 Phase 2	https:// ClinicalTrials. gov/show/ NCT04684602

organoids) may provide a next-generation cellular model for investigating viral infection and drug screening. Altogether, the ultimate goal of all these strategies is to achieve a definitive and efficient therapy for COVID-19.

Mechanism of Infection and Immune Response

Several types of coronavirus are known to have the potential for human infection; only six are known to cause disease in humans: HCoV-229E, HCoV-OC43, HCoV-NL63, HCoV-HKU1, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), and SARS-CoV (Skariyachan et al. 2019; Bonilla-Aldana et al. 2020). The 2019-nCoV, a single-stranded RNA virus, is closely related to SARS-CoV that emerged in 2003–2004 and caused an epidemic disease (Racaniello 2016). The virus was provisionally designated 2019-nCoV and later given the official name SARS-CoV-2 (Gorbalenya et al. 2020). SARS-CoV-2 was characterized as a beta-coronavirus

and recognized as the seventh discrete coronavirus species capable of causing human disease (Zhu et al. 2020a). The virion nucleocapsid consists of an RNA genome complexed with a nucleoprotein and is enveloped by a phospholipid bilayer. This bilayer is covered by two types of spike proteins: protein S, which is present in all known coronaviruses and forms peplomers on the surface, which gives it a corona solar appearance, and protein hemagglutinin esterase (HE), which is present in only a few types of coronaviruses. The spike S protein interacts with the host angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor protein, resulting in membrane fusion with subsequent release of the viral genome into the cell, or clathrin-dependent and clathrin-independent endocytosis of the virus (Li et al. 2020a).

Moreover, the ACE2 receptor is widely expressed by human cells, particularly in the lungs by type 2 alveolar epithelial cells (AT2s) and capillary epithelial cells, and cells of the heart, kidney, and intestine. In addition, two proteases, transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) and extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor (EMMPRIN or CD147), have been reported to be essential for virus entry into the host cell (Chen et al. 2020). The damage to the lungs is caused by the virus either directly, by the destruction of AT2s and capillary endothelial cells, which disrupts the renin-angiotensin system, or indirectly, by dampening the immune response (Jin et al. 2020). The precise pathogenesis of this particular virus remains unknown. Most of the information on the cycle of infection and subsequent immune response is primarily derived from the SARS and MERS coronaviruses due to the correlation in the clinical features of patients with COVID-19 with these viral infections (Guan et al. 2020).

Upon infection, the virus is recognized by the innate immune system through pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which in this case is the genomic RNA of the virion. This leads to activation of the NFkB pathway and the IRF3 pathway, which results in the expression of type I interferon (IFN). IFN then activates the JAK/STAT pathway and induces the expression of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) that have antiviral activity (Prompetchara et al. 2020).

Successful viral clearance and amelioration of the clinical manifestations of the disease depend on this effective immune response. However, the virus can evade IFN- and ISG-mediated killing and often results in a delayed IFN response. This results in the infiltration of hyper-inflammatory neutrophils and macrophages into the lung site, along with pro-inflammatory cytokines, mainly IL-1b, IL-2, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-17, G-CSF, GM-CSF, CCL3, MCP1, and TNF (Cao 2020). This so-called cytokine storm is a result of the innate response (neutrophils and macrophages). Moreover, hyperactivation of T lymphocytes (especially the Th1 response) is actually responsible for pulmonary dysfunction and abnormalities such as pneumonitis, ARDS, respiratory failure, viral sepsis, and organ failure. Elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines also induce the synthesis of hyaluronan synthase 2, which produces hyaluronan in the lungs, leading to the characteristic opacity or fluid accumulation in the lungs (Shi et al. 2020).

In critical cases, the virus can also enter the peripheral blood (viremia) and translocate to other target organs expressing the ACE2 receptor, such as the heart, kidney, and intestines, resulting in multiple organ dysfunctions. Thus, there is a great

need to discover the specific virulence mechanisms during which cell and tissue injury occurs. As it is not always possible to capture the underlying mechanisms of pathophysiology in humans, several modeling methods have been developed, including 3D-engineered organoids derived from pluripotent stem cells (ESCs and iPSCs), different types of stem cells, and animals (Sun et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2020; Youk et al. 2020; Zheng et al. 2021; Boudewijns et al. 2020).

The Rationale for the Clinical Use of MSCs for COVID-19 Patients

MSCs administration tends to unbalance the pro-inflammatory cytokines, immune cells, and tissue damage toward an anti-inflammatory and regenerative microenvironment. MSCs have been widely used in cell-based therapy, from basic research to clinical trials (Acosta et al. 2013; Capilla-González et al. 2018; Soria-Juan et al. 2019). Safety and efficacy have been avidly documented in many clinical trials, especially in both systemic and local immune-mediated inflammatory diseases, such as GvHD, Crohn's complex fistula, and type 2 diabetes complications (Soria-Juan et al. 2019; García-Gómez et al. 2010; Herreros et al. 2012). MSCs play a positive role mainly in two ways: immunomodulatory effects and anti-inflammatory abilities both linked to regeneration (Pacienza et al. 2017; Lee and Kang 2020). MSCs, when activated, can secrete many types of cytokines by paracrine secretion or make direct interactions with immune cells (Leng et al. 2020).

MSCs may act as suppressors of the cytokine storm, specifically through IL-1 blockade. Recent data support that IL-1 receptor antagonist, a naturally occurring antagonist of IL-1 α /IL1- β signaling pathways, has been attributed to the immuno-suppressive effects of MSCs (Harrell et al. 2020). So, IL-1 blockade seems to activate MSCs toward anti-inflammatory phenotype able of releasing anti-inflammatory cytokines, of increasing Treg, and of favoring polarization of M1 (pro-inflammatory) macrophages into M2 (anti-inflammatory), which could contribute to revascularization and regeneration of lung tissue (Varghese et al. 2017).

In summary, MSCs tend to unbalance the pro-inflammatory cytokines, immune cells, and tissue damage toward an anti-inflammatory and regenerative microenvironment (Fig. 1).

This is why these cells have been proposed for use in pulmonary sepsis and cystic fibrosis. They are safe when used for ARDS (Wilson et al. 2015). The intravenous route is the most appropriate for the current intensive care unit (ICU) setting. Additionally, MSCs of any origin injected intravenously are rapidly located in the pulmonary microcirculation network because the cells are significant than the diameter of the capillaries, based on previous data in preclinical animal models. They can also be captured by local macrophages, which subsequently stimulate MSCs to produce IL-10, indirectly providing a source of immunosuppressive cytokines (Argibay et al. 2017). Altogether, MSCs have been successfully tested in other inflammatory diseases. Preclinical data suggest that they may be beneficial in patients with COVID-19 with severe pulmonary inflammation and oxygen therapy (mechanical ventilation) without excluding their use in earlier stages of the disease.



Fig. 1 Schematic of the anti-inflammatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes, secretome, and combinatory treatment on lung inflammation and tissue damage caused by COVID-19. **Abbreviations:** Breg, regulatory B cell; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; IDO, indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase; IFN γ , interferon gamma; IL-1RA, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; IL, interleukin; IP-10, interferon gamma-induced protein 10 (or CXCL10, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10); M1-macrophages, classically activated macrophages; M2-macrophages, alternatively activated macrophages; MCP, monocyte chemoattractant protein; MIP-1, macrophage inflammatory protein 1; NK, natural killer; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; Treg, regulatory T cell; TGF- β , transforming growth factor-beta; Th1, T helper type 1; Th2, T helper type 2; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor-alpha; TSG-6, stimulated gene-6; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor

Progress in MSC-Based Therapy for COVID-19

MSCs have been widely used for their capacity to differentiate into diverse cell lineages, migration, and secretion of cellular regulators (secretome), together with their immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory potential. Moreover, their isolation is almost easy and presents no major ethical problems, making them the most suitable stem cells among many others (Larijani et al. 2015).

On the one hand, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, bone marrow, and blood are some important sources of MSCs. Although adipose tissue-derived MSCs have been shown to have more exciting results initially, the best source of stem cells still needs to be found (Gentile and Sterodimas 2020; Song et al. 2021). On the other hand, through their impacts on T and B cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells, they help establish a tolerogenic environment leading to an optimal therapeutic condition (Wang et al. 2018; Lee and Song 2018). Consequently, by inhibiting T- and B-cell proliferation and successfully regulating pro-inflammatory cytokines to optimize the microenvironment for intrinsic recovery, MSCs can reduce the cytokine storm. Moreover, MSCs can restrict the infiltration of innate immune system cells, consequently decreasing the secretion of inflammatory cytokines, which may indirectly

attenuate the cytokine storm (Zhu et al. 2020b; Ellison-Hughes et al. 2020; Song et al. 2021; Jeyaraman et al. 2021).

Under COVID conditions, a few days after infusion of MSCs, immune cells related to the cytokine storm are shown to decrease. Increased levels of lymphocytes and regulatory dendritic cells along with decreased levels of CRP, IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, IFN- γ , and TNF are also other results of this type of MSC-based therapy. MSCs can also deliver antimicrobial peptides and anti-inflammatory cytokines (Rajarshi et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2020a; Leng et al. 2020). In addition to these anti-inflammatory characteristics, the secretion of IL-10 and some growth factors, together with their regenerative and repair capacity, renders MSCs a potent therapeutic tool for lung repair and treatment of ARDS (Azmi et al. 2020). Administration of MSCs has also been shown to have beneficial effects in conditions like sepsis and septic shock due to their ability to normalize inflammatory biomarkers, oxygen saturation, and pulmonary improvements. For sepsis condition, umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived MSCs are mentioned as the best source of MSCs due to their effectiveness and acceptability (Laroye et al. 2020).

Furthermore, the gene expression profile showed that MSCs were negatively expressed angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2-), an essential protein for viral infection along with transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2-), which indicated that MSCs are free from COVID-19 infection (Leng et al. 2020; Hernandez et al. 2021). In this regard, the FDA has confirmed the safety and efficacy of MSCs for widespread application for COVID-19 cases (Choudhery and Harris 2020; Kavianpour et al. 2020). Despite the aforementioned benefits on the administration of MSCs, there are still some challenges; MSCs-related characteristics regarding their dosage, route of administration, frequency, and location of MSCs in the damaged sites have posed some limitations. Ethical concerns that remain, along with the lack of standardized protocols in the preparation and isolation processes, are other challenges.

Another primary concern about MSCs therapy is their side effect of increased hypercoagulability (Jeyaraman et al. 2021). Therefore, in accordance with the increased risk of thrombosis, cell-free therapies, including MSCs secretome and MSCs extracellular vesicles, appear to be an interesting treatment approach for COVID-19 having no risk of mutagenesis and/or tumorigenicity. Exosomes harbor different types of microRNAs and mRNAs and various protein components and have a lower risk of escort and lower transmission of infection. However, a clearer understanding of the dose, timing, and route of administration of the cells is needed. Their ability for nebulized administration (Hmadcha et al. 2020; Aguilera et al. 2021) and more extended storage periods also make them promising alternative therapeutic approaches (Maron-Gutierrez and Rocco 2020; Kheirkhah et al. 2021).

One of the first clinical trials to study the efficacy of intravenous infusion of MSCs in ten patients with confirmed moderate, severe, or critical forms of COVID-19 aged 45–75 years was conducted in China (Chinese Clinical Trial Registry – ChiCTR2000029990). Seven patients (one with the critical, four with the severe, and two with the moderate form of the disease) received an intravenous infusion of MSCs; three patients with the severe disease received a placebo. Two days after

MSCs infusion, all seven patients showed a significant improvement in lung function and a decrease in the expression of disease symptoms. All seven patients who received MSCs recovered and were discharged 10 days after the procedure. Due to the immunosuppressive properties of MSCs, after infusion, they contributed to a significant decrease in the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in serum, which attracted a lower number of mononuclear cells/macrophages to the damaged lungs. At the same time, MSCs promoted the recruitment of many regulatory dendritic cells (DCs) to the site of inflammation. In addition, there was an increase in IL-10 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels in this trial, which may contribute to lung recovery. Among the three patients in the control group (who received a placebo), one died, the second developed ARDS, and the third remained in severe condition (Leng et al. 2020). Since then and over a year, many clinical trials have been launched with different types of MSCs to treat COVID-19 disease.

Other Cell-Based Innovation for COVID-19

Cell therapy is emerging as one of the most promising strategies for regenerating damaged or failed tissues and organs in the healthcare system. In this regard, in addition to the extensive use of MSCs of both autologous and allogeneic origin, there is a wide range of treatments using various cell types (e.g., T cells, NK lymphocytes, and different stem cells). In this context, the adoptive T-cell therapy approach or CAR-T cell therapy as a type of immunotherapy has proven effective against some infections and diseases. In this case, T cells are extracted from the patient's immune system (autologous source) and sent to the laboratory for genetic modification. The modified cells are then reinfused into the patient (Bonifant et al. 2016; Maus and Levine 2016; Seif et al. 2019). Despite the impressive efficacy of CAR-T cell therapy in treatment, it has several serious side effects, including cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and neurological difficulties. Immediate-onset CRS tends to be a cytokine storm (Chen et al. 2019; Hong et al. 2021). Currently, T-cell therapy has also shown promise in immunosuppressed individuals as a preventive measure against COVID-19. Thus, peripheral blood cells from convalescent subjects who had been at risk for the virus were used (Keller et al. 2020).

Regulatory T-cell-related strategies have also been suggested as treatment approaches for disease management based on their ability to inactivate innate/ adaptive immunity through inhibitory molecules (Stephen-Victor et al. 2020). In addition, antigen-specific modified/unmodified T-cell transfer has shown promising results in treating different disorders by reconstituting T-cell subsets (effector/memory cells). In this context, it is mentioned that adoptive T-cell therapy by transferring immune subsets of T cells has therapeutic benefits that may be the same as the characteristics of adult tissue stem cells. However, the required high maintenance of memory T cells and engraftment processes may create some limitations (Busch et al. 2016). In this regard, specific COVID-19-related T cells (within CD45RA memory T cells) have been recognized that can be feasibly received by depleting CD45RA from convalescent donors. These cells can provide a cell population for the condition of lymphopenia along with rapid reactions to infection. Memory T cells can respond quickly to infection and provide long-term immune protection to reduce the severity of COVID-19 symptoms. Also, CD45RA memory T cells confer protection from other pathogens encountered by the donors throughout their life (Ferreras et al. 2021). CD45RA memory T cells also provide immunity against probable secondary infections that may be found in COVID-19 hospitalized individuals (Ferreras et al. 2021). HLA-matched cytotoxic T cells isolated from convalescent patients are other promising approaches for treating COVID-19, as are EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells used for EBV⁺-related lymphomas (Hanley et al. 2020).

Another promising candidate for a significant advance has been natural killer (NK) cell therapy. In this case, autologous or allogeneic origins can be used to create pure populations of NK cells. The use of allogeneic NK cells as a platform for CAR engineering has been augmented by the limitations of autologous NK cells (such as a diminished effector role and the requirement for a patient-specific stock) (Veluchamy et al. 2017; Daher and Rezvani 2018). Given that the decrease in NK cell numbers may be related to the severity of COVID-19 infection, some clinical trials used engineered NK cells to help combat COVID-19 (Market et al. 2020; van Eeden et al. 2020). However, the use of NK cells also has many drawbacks that may clinically hinder their efficacy. Their short lifespan (due to the lack of cytokine support), low cell number, and vulnerability to immunosuppressed status could limit their trafficking and function (Nayyar et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2021).

Side Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy

Although the safety and efficacy of MSCs infusion have been demonstrated in hundreds of clinical trials, this treatment can lead to potential complications (Acosta et al. 2013; Capilla-González et al. 2018; Soria-Juan et al. 2019), and possibly it is the time for combinatory therapies. Preclinical studies have shown that the lungs act as a filter that retains most of the cells injected intravenously (Zhang et al. 2020). Numerous critically ill COVID-19 patients are in a hypercoagulable procoagulant state. Hence, they are at high risk for disseminated intravascular coagulation, thromboembolism, and thrombotic multiorgan failure, another cause of high lethality of the infection. It remains unclear whether intravenous (IV) infusion is a safe and effective route of MSCs infusion for COVID-19 patients. This information is important as MSC-based products express variable levels of highly procoagulant tissue factor (TF or CD142), which compromises the hemocompatibility and safety profile of the cells. Of potential concern is that intravenous infusions of poorly characterized MSC products with uncontrolled (high) TF (CD142) expression may trigger blood clotting in COVID-19 subjects and other vulnerable patient populations and further promote the risk of thromboembolism.

By contrast, well-characterized products with robust manufacturing procedures and optimized clinical delivery modes hold great promise for improving COVID-19 patients by exerting their beneficial immunomodulatory effects, inducing tissue repair and organ protection. While the need for MSCs therapy for COVID-19 subjects is evident, integrating innate and adaptive immune compatibility testing into current cell, tissue, and organ transplantation guidelines is critical for safe and effective therapies. Thus, it is essential to use only well-characterized and safe MSCs for even the most urgent and experimental treatments (Moll et al. 2020). Because the COVID-19 patients suffer a prothrombotic state, concomitant use of heparin and defibrotide, a drug used in sinusoidal obstructive syndrome (SOS) after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, has been proposed. Defibrotide is a mixture of single-stranded oligonucleotide aptamers with multi-target pharmacology limiting endothelial cell activation (Pescador et al. 2013). Given its antithrombotic, anti-TNF α , anti-atherosclerotic, etc., the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved its use in SOS. It will be consistent both to block the cytokine storm and prevent pulmonary thromboembolism. With HIV infections, we learned that combinatorial therapies show higher effectiveness in controlling the disease. Case reports, pilot studies, and well-designed clinical trials are needed to fight this pandemic. Now and when it comes back.

Unmet Challenges of Adoptive MSCs Therapy

Despite the promising preliminary results, specific challenges demand attention before MSCs can be adopted at a larger scale in treating coronaviruses-induced infections. These challenges include the study design, source of MSCs, route of administration, dosage requirements, and their laboratory preparation and manipulation (Escacena et al. 2015; Soria-Juan et al. 2019; García-Bernal et al. 2021).

Study Design

We believe that most of the trials that have been registered utilizing MSCs or their derived products do not have any appropriate control to conclusively determine the efficacy of cellular or cell-free therapy (Table 1). In most of these cases, MSCs are used in combination with adjunct antiviral drugs and supportive therapy. In such cases, it would become almost impossible to determine if the observed clinical improvements are actually attributed to MSCs or not. Therefore, a strategy including an appropriate control should be included in the design of such trials along with a greater sample size to validate the clinical efficacy of stem cells technology fully.

Source of Cells

Different tissue sources, whether adult- or fetus-associated tissues, like adipose tissue, umbilical cord, dental pulp, and bone marrow, vary in their capacity to generate MSCs. Therefore, choosing an ideal source for harvesting MSCs and subsequently generating cell-free products is equally important as cell-free therapy

is fast emerging as a therapeutic option (Haider and Aslam 2018). MSCs tissue sources, like umbilical cord and adipose tissue, are easily accessible without discomfort to the donor and generate a greater amount of MSCs with equivalent differentiation potential from the same amount of tissue in comparison to bone marrow, which incidentally is more invasive.

Route of Cell Administration

Another major factor to consider here is their route of administration. MSCs and their products can either be systemically or locally injected. There are only limited studies that have compared the different routes of MSCs administration and have reported different outcomes. Therefore, it is difficult to conclude which route can be considered as the safest and most effective (Antunes et al. 2014; Cardenes et al. 2019). For COVID-19 disease, MSCs can be administered both systemically and locally with equal efficacy as both of these routes would result in their delivery first to the lungs only. However, in the case of cell-free products, like exosomes, delivery directly to the lungs via intranasal or intratracheal route is a more tenable option as systemic delivery often leads to a substantial loss in the amount of these products, mainly due to the activity of circulatory proteases and their distribution to the liver and spleen first, thus calling for booster doses (Gardin et al. 2020; Mahajan and Bhattacharyya 2021).

Dosage Strategies

The number of MSCs required per dose and the total number of doses required are quite crucial in determining the treatment outcome. Based on the previous studies, it is estimated that approximately 4×10^8 MSCs are required for every patient regardless of the clinical indication (Olsen et al. 2018). The trials registered for COVID-19 have reported varied dosages, with an average of 1×10^6 cells/kg body weight up to 2–5 times to this average dose, but the actual number of MSCs required to produce such doses is not mentioned in any report, which needs to be optimized. Furthermore, while MSCs can be injected directly, the products like exosomes need to be prepared into stable formulations for their delivery to the patients (Gardin et al. 2020; Mahajan and Bhattacharyya 2021).

Risks Associated with Stem Cell Therapy

While MSCs and their products have proven beneficial in the current scenario, we should not overlook the risks associated with stem cell therapy. Many stem cells clinics have opened up in recent years, marketing unethical and unauthorized stem cell treatment for various ailments, including COVID-19, by feeding on people's fears and anxieties (Turner 2020). These less than clinical-grade stem cells and unlicensed stem cell treatments are potentially dangerous to the general public and undermine the efforts at determining stem cells efficacy in clinical trials. Undoubtedly, the use of

MSCs and their factors has proven to be quite promising in the current scenario but is mainly dependent on the functional quality and integrity of stem cells. Therefore, stringent regulatory control should be maintained for the manufacturing and distribution of these products (see ▶ Chap. 3, "Considerations for Clinical Use of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells" of this book for review on clinical use of MSCs).

Concluding Remarks

Considering the prevalence of COVID-19 and its complications, such as cytokine storm, which is followed by ARDS and death of patients, finding a way to treat and improve patients is of great importance. As previously mentioned, currently available vaccines are not a cure for COVID-19; there is no specific therapy for this virus, and supportive therapies as well as nonspecific antiviral drugs are mainly used for this purpose. Cell-based therapy is a modern method to treat various diseases. Recently, a number of studies have been conducted to treat COVID-19 using stem cells, suggesting the application of MSCs or immune cells such as T, CAR-T, or NK cells. Accordingly, the safety and immunomodulatory role of MSCs in ARDS has been approved. The MSCs can secrete factors that improve the pulmonary micro-environment, inhibit immune system over-activation, promote tissue repair, rejuvenate alveolar epithelial cells, inhibit counteract pulmonary fibrosis, or improve function in lung tissue damaged by SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Nonetheless, many issues related to the application of MSCs, such as the ideal dose and optimal timing of administration, need further study. Of note, in several animal models of human disease, the use of MSC-secreting exosomes has been claimed to mimic the beneficial effects of MSCs in antiviral therapy against the influenza virus by reducing virus replication in the lungs and virus-induced release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which highlights the great potential of cell-freebased therapies. In addition, considering the impossibility of studying the detailed mechanism of pathogenicity and the sequence of suggested drugs or vaccine candidates in human beings, these significant steps toward cell-based therapies in the SARS-CoV-2 field of study should be continued. Ongoing experimental studies and randomized trials will play an essential role in elucidating the therapeutic potential of MSCs, leading to a better understanding of how MSCs interact with SARS-CoV-2infected lung tissue. Although current progress on COVID-19 vaccinations is promising, the world population will have to continue to adapt to the "new normal" and practice social distancing and hygienic measures, at least until an effective cure is available to the general public.

References

Acosta L, Hmadcha A, Escacena N, Pérez-Camacho I, de la Cuesta A, Ruiz-Salmeron R, Gauthier BR et al (2013) Adipose mesenchymal stromal cells isolated from type 2 diabetic patients display reduced fibrinolytic activity. Diabetes 62(12):4266–4269. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db13-0896

- Aguilera Y, Mellado-Damas N, Olmedo-Moreno L, López V, Panadero-Morón C, Benito M, Guerrero-Cázares H et al (2021) Preclinical safety evaluation of intranasally delivered human mesenchymal stem cells in juvenile mice. Cancers (Basel) 13(5):1169. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers13051169
- AL-Rasheedi M, Alhazmi Y, Almaqwashi N, Alreshidi MA, Kardam A, Sharaf M, Haider KH (2021) Corticosteroid therapy for 2019-nCoV infected patients: a case series of eight mechanically ventilated patients. Clin Case Rep 9(5):e04066. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccr3.4066
- Antunes MA, Abreu SC, Cruz FF, Teixeira AC, Lopes-Pacheco M, Bandeira E, Olsen PC et al (2014) Effects of different mesenchymal stromal cell sources and delivery routes in experimental emphysema. Respir Res 15(1):118. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-014-0118-x
- Argibay B, Trekker J, Himmelreich U, Beiras A, Topete A, Taboada P, Pérez-Mato M et al (2017) Intraarterial route increases the risk of cerebral lesions after mesenchymal cell administration in animal model of ischemia. Sci Rep 7:40758. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40758
- Azmi NU, Puteri MU, Lukmanto D (2020) Cytokine storm in COVID-19: an overview, mechanism, treatment strategies, and stem cell therapy perspective. Pharm Sci Res 7(4):1. https://doi.org/10. 7454/psr.v7i4.1092
- Bonifant CL, Jackson HJ, Brentjens RJ, Curran KJ (2016) Toxicity and management in CAR T-cell therapy. Mol Ther Oncolytics 3:16011. https://doi.org/10.1038/mto.2016.11
- Bonilla-Aldana DK, Quintero-Rada K, Montoya-Posada JP, Ramírez-Ocampo S, Paniz-Mondolfi A, Rabaan AA, Sah R et al (2020) SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and now the 2019-novel CoV: have we investigated enough about coronaviruses? – a bibliometric analysis. Travel Med Infect Dis 33: 101566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101566
- Boudewijns R, Thibaut HJ, Kaptein SJF, Li R, Vergote V, Seldeslachts L, Van Weyenbergh J et al (2020) STAT2 signaling restricts viral dissemination but drives severe pneumonia in SARS-CoV-2 infected hamsters. Nat Commun 11(1):5838. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19684-y
- Busch DH, Fräßle SP, Sommermeyer D, Buchholz VR, Riddell SR (2016) Role of memory T cell subsets for adoptive immunotherapy. Semin Immunol 28(1):28–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. smim.2016.02.001
- Cao X (2020) COVID-19: immunopathology and its implications for therapy. Nat Rev Immunol 20(5):269–270. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-020-0308-3
- Capilla-González V, López-Beas J, Escacena N, Aguilera Y, de la Cuesta A, Ruiz-Salmerón R, Martín F et al (2018) PDGF restores the defective phenotype of adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells from diabetic patients. Mol Ther 26(11):2696–2709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2018.08.011
- Cardenes N, Aranda-Valderrama P, Carney JP, Sellares Torres J, Alvarez D, Kocyildirim E, Wolfram Smith JA et al (2019) Cell therapy for ARDS: efficacy of endobronchial versus intravenous administration and biodistribution of MAPCs in a large animal model. BMJ Open Respir Res 6(1):e000308. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjresp-2018-000308
- Chen H, Wang F, Zhang P, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Fan X, Cao X et al (2019) Management of cytokine release syndrome related to CAR-T cell therapy. Front Med 13(5):610–617. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11684-019-0714-8
- Chen Y, Liu Q, Guo D (2020) Emerging coronaviruses: genome structure, replication, and pathogenesis. J Med Virol 92(4):418–423. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25681
- Choudhery MS, Harris DT (2020) Stem cell therapy for COVID-19: possibilities and challenges. Cell Biol Int 44(11):2182–2191. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.11440
- Daher M, Rezvani K (2018) Next generation natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: the promise of genetic engineering. Curr Opin Immunol 51:146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi. 2018.03.013
- Ellison-Hughes GM, Colley L, O'Brien KA, Roberts KA, Agbaedeng TA, Ross MD (2020) The role of MSC therapy in attenuating the damaging effects of the cytokine storm induced by COVID-19 on the heart and cardiovascular system. Front Cardiovasc Med 7:602183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2020.602183
- Escacena N, Quesada-Hernández E, Capilla-Gonzalez V, Soria B, Hmadcha A (2015) Bottlenecks in the efficient use of advanced therapy medicinal products based on mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cells Int 2015:895714. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/895714

- Ferreras C, Pascual-Miguel B, Mestre-Durán C, Navarro-Zapata A, Clares-Villa L, Martín-Cortázar C, De Paz R et al (2021) SARS-CoV-2-Specific memory T lymphocytes from COVID-19 convalescent donors: identification, biobanking, and large-scale production for adoptive cell therapy. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:620730. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.620730
- García-Bernal D, García-Arranz M, Yáñez RM, Hervás-Salcedo R, Cortés A, Fernández-García M, Hernando-Rodríguez M et al (2021) The current status of mesenchymal stromal cells: controversies, unresolved issues and some promising solutions to improve their therapeutic efficacy. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:650664. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.650664
- García-Gómez I, Elvira G, Zapata AG, Lamana ML, Ramírez M, Castro JG, Arranz MG et al (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells: biological properties and clinical applications. Expert Opin Biol Ther 10(10):1453–1468. https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.2010.519333
- García-Montero C, Fraile-Martínez O, Bravo C, Torres-Carranza D, Sanchez-Trujillo L, Gómez-Lahoz AM, Guijarro LG et al (2021) An updated review of SARS-CoV-2 vaccines and the importance of effective vaccination programs in pandemic times. Vaccines (Basel) 9(5):433. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9050433
- Gardin C, Ferroni L, Chachques JC, Zavan B (2020) Could mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes be a therapeutic option for critically Ill COVID-19 patients? J Clin Med 9(9):2762. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9092762
- Gentile P, Sterodimas A (2020) Adipose-derived stromal stem cells (ASCs) as a new regenerative immediate therapy combating coronavirus (COVID-19)-induced pneumonia. Expert Opin Biol Ther 20(7):711–716. https://doi.org/10.1080/14712598.2020.1761322
- Gorbalenya AE, Baker SC, Baric RS, de Groot RJ, Drosten C, Gulyaeva AA, Haagmans BL et al (2020) Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: the species and its viruses a statement of the coronavirus study group. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.07.937862
- Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D, Diaz G, Asperges E, Castagna A, Feldt T et al (2020) Compassionate use of remdesivir for patients with severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(24):2327–2336. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2007016
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, Liu L et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 382(18):1708–1720. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2002032
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Stem cells: from Hype to Real Hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (Eds.) Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Geithner Straße13-10785 Berlin, Germany. (Published, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110642438
- Haider KH, Hyder Q (2020) Combating 2019-nCoV amidst the pandemic scare. Open J Regen Med 9:15–19. https://www.scirp.org/journal/ojrm
- Hanley B, Roufosse CA, Osborn M, Naresh KN (2020) Convalescent donor SARS-COV-2-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte infusion as a possible treatment option for COVID-19 patients with severe disease has not received enough attention till date. Br J Haematol 189(6):1062–1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.16780
- Harrell CR, Markovic BS, Fellabaum C, Arsenijevic N, Djonov V, Volarevic V (2020) The role of Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in mesenchymal stem cell-based tissue repair and regeneration. Biofactors 46(2):263–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/biof.1587
- Hasan T, Beardsley J, Marais BJ, Nguyen TA, Fox GJ (2021) The implementation of massvaccination against SARS-CoV-2: a systematic review of existing strategies and guidelines. Vaccines (Basel) 9(4):326. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9040326
- Hernandez JJ, Beaty DE, Fruhwirth LL, Lopes Chaves AP, Riordan NH (2021) Dodging COVID-19 infection: low expression and localization of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 in multiple donor-derived lines of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Transl Med 19(1):149. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12967-021-02813-6
- Herreros MD, Garcia-Arranz M, Guadalajara H, De-La-Quintana P, Garcia-Olmo D, FATT Collaborative Group (2012) Autologous expanded adipose-derived stem cells for the treatment of complex cryptoglandular perianal fistulas: a phase III randomized clinical trial (FATT 1: fistula Advanced Therapy Trial 1) and long-term evaluation. Dis Colon Rectum 55(7):762–772. https:// doi.org/10.1097/DCR.0b013e318255364a

- Hmadcha A, Dominguez-Bendala J, Wakeman J, Arredouani M, Soria B (2009) The immune boundaries for stem cell based therapies: problems and prospective solutions. J Cell Mol Med 13(8A):1464–1475. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00837.x
- Hmadcha A, Martin-Montalvo A, Gauthier BR, Soria B, Capilla-Gonzalez V (2020) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for cancer therapy. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:43. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00043
- Hong R, Hu Y, Huang H (2021) Biomarkers for chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: prospects for personalized management and prognostic prediction. Front Immunol 12:627764. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.627764
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L et al (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 395(10223):497–506. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Hyder Q, Haider KH (2020) The ongoing battle against COVID-19. Iberoam J Med 2(4):360–366. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3987277
- Jeyaraman M, John A, Koshy S, Ranjan R, Anudeep TC, Jain R, Swati K et al (2021) Fostering mesenchymal stem cell therapy to halt cytokine storm in COVID-19. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis 1867(2):166014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.166014
- Jin Y, Yang H, Ji W, Wu W, Chen S, Zhang W, Duan G (2020) Virology, epidemiology, pathogenesis, and control of COVID-19. Viruses 12(4):372. https://doi.org/10.3390/v12040372
- Kadkhoda K (2021) Post-adenoviral-based COVID-19 vaccines thrombosis: a proposed mechanism. J Thromb Haemost. https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.15348
- Kavianpour M, Saleh M, Verdi J (2020) The role of mesenchymal stromal cells in immune modulation of COVID-19: focus on cytokine storm. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):404. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01849-7
- Keller MD, Harris KM, Jensen-Wachspress MA, Kankate VV, Lang H, Lazarski CA, Durkee-Shock J et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells are rapidly expanded for therapeutic use and target conserved regions of the membrane protein. Blood 136(25):2905–2917. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood.2020008488
- Kheirkhah AH, Shahcheraghi SH, Lotfi M, Lotfi M, Raeisi S, Mirani Z (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell derived-exosomes as effective factors in reducing cytokine storm symptoms of COVID-19. Protein Pept Lett. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929866528666210222150347
- Lan L, Xu D, Ye G, Xia C, Wang S, Li Y, Xu H (2020) Positive RT-PCR test results in patients recovered from COVID-19. JAMA 323(15):1502–1503. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama. 2020.2783
- Lanzoni G, Linetsky E, Correa D, Messinger Cayetano S, Alvarez RA, Kouroupis D, Alvarez Gil A et al (2021) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells for COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome: a double-blind, phase 1/2a, randomized controlled trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 10(5):660–673. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.20-0472
- Larijani B, Aghayan H, Goodarzi P, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Norouzi-Javidan A, Dehpour AR, Fallahzadeh K et al (2015) Clinical grade human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell banking. Acta Med Iran 53(9):540–546. https://acta.tums.ac.ir/index.php/acta/article/view/ 4290
- Laroye C, Gibot S, Huselstein C, Bensoussan D (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cells for sepsis and septic shock: lessons for treatment of COVID-19. Stem Cells Transl Med 9(12):1488–1494. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.20-0239
- Lee BC, Kang KS (2020) Functional enhancement strategies for immunomodulation of mesenchymal stem cells and their therapeutic application. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:397. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-020-01920-3
- Lee DK, Song SU (2018) Immunomodulatory mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells and their therapeutic applications. Cell Immunol 326:68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2017. 08.009

- Leng Z, Zhu R, Hou W, Feng Y, Yang Y, Han Q, Shan G et al (2020) Transplantation of ACE2mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Aging Dis 11(2):216–228. https://doi.org/10.14336/AD.2020.0228
- Li X, Geng M, Peng Y, Meng L, Lu S (2020a) Molecular immune pathogenesis and diagnosis of COVID-19. J Pharm Anal 10(2):102–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpha.2020.03.001
- Li Z, Niu S, Guo B, Gao T, Wang L, Wang Y, Wang L et al (2020b) Stem cell therapy for COVID-19, ARDS and pulmonary fibrosis. Cell Prolif 53(12):e12939. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12939
- Liang B, Chen J, Li T, Wu H, Yang W, Li Y, Li J et al (2020) Clinical remission of a critically ill COVID-19 patient treated by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells: a case report. Medicine (Baltimore) 99(31):e21429. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000021429
- Liu S, Galat V, Galat Y, Lee YKA, Wainwright D, Wu J (2021) NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy: from basic biology to clinical development. J Hematol Oncol 14(1):7. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13045-020-01014-w
- Mahajan A, Bhattacharyya S (2021) A brief review on potential application of mesenchymal stem cell and secretome in combating mortality and morbidity in COVID-19 patients. Biomed J 44(1):63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2020.09.003
- Market M, Angka L, Martel AB, Bastin D, Olanubi O, Tennakoon G, Boucher DM et al (2020) Flattening the COVID-19 curve with natural killer cell based immunotherapies. Front Immunol 11:1512. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01512
- Maron-Gutierrez T, Rocco PRM (2020) Cell-Free therapies: novel approaches for COVID-19. Front Immunol 11:583017. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.583017
- Maus MV, Levine BL (2016) Chimeric antigen receptor T-Cell therapy for the community oncologist. Oncologist 21(5):608–617. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0421
- Meng F, Xu R, Wang S, Xu Z, Zhang C, Li Y, Yang T et al (2020) Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy in patients with COVID-19: a phase 1 clinical trial. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):172. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00286-5
- Moll G, Drzeniek N, Kamhieh-Milz J, Geissler S, Volk HD, Reinke P (2020) MSC therapies for COVID-19: importance of patient coagulopathy, thromboprophylaxis, cell product quality and mode of delivery for treatment safety and efficacy. Front Immunol 11:1091. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fimmu.2020.01091
- Nayyar G, Chu Y, Cairo MS (2019) Overcoming resistance to natural killer cell based immunotherapies for solid tumors. Front Oncol 9:51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00051
- Olsen TR, Ng KS, Lock LT, Ahsan T, Rowley JA (2018) Peak MSC-Are we there yet? Front Med (Lausanne) 5:178. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2018.00178
- Pacienza NA, Santa-Cruz D, Marcos M, Lemus G, Robledo O, Bertolotti A, Yannarelli G et al (2017) Anti-inflammatory effect of mesenchymal stem cells facilitates lung preservation. J Heart Lung Transplant 36(4):S91–S92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2017.01.231
- Pescador R, Capuzzi L, Mantovani M, Fulgenzi A, Ferrero ME (2013) Defibrotide: properties and clinical use of an old/new drug. Vasc Pharmacol 59(1-2):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph. 2013.05.001
- Prompetchara E, Ketloy C, Palaga T (2020) Immune responses in COVID-19 and potential vaccines: lessons learned from SARS and MERS epidemic. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 38(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.12932/AP-200220-0772
- Racaniello V (2016) Moving beyond metagenomics to find the next pandemic virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(11):2812–2814. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1601512113
- Rajarshi K, Chatterjee A, Ray S (2020) Combating COVID-19 with mesenchymal stem cell therapy. Biotechnol Rep (Amst) 26:e00467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2020.e00467
- Sánchez-Guijo F, García-Arranz M, López-Parra M, Monedero P, Mata-Martínez C, Santos A, Sagredo V et al (2020) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia requiring mechanical ventilation. A proof of concept study. EClinicalMedicine 25:100454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100454

- Seif M, Einsele H, Löffler J (2019) CAR T cells beyond cancer: hope for immunomodulatory therapy of infectious diseases. Front Immunol 10:2711. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019. 02711
- Shanmugaraj B, Siriwattananon K, Wangkanont K, Phoolcharoen W (2020) Perspectives on monoclonal antibody therapy as potential therapeutic intervention for Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19). Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 38(1):10–18. https://doi.org/10.12932/AP-200220-0773
- Shen C, Wang Z, Zhao F, Yang Y, Li J, Yuan J, Wang F et al (2020) Treatment of 5 critically Ill patients with COVID-19 with convalescent plasma. JAMA 323(16):1582–1589. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2020.4783
- Shi Y, Wang Y, Shao C, Huang J, Gan J, Huang X, Bucci E et al (2020) COVID-19 infection: the perspectives on immune responses. Cell Death Differ 27(5):1451–1454. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41418-020-0530-3
- Skariyachan S, Challapilli SB, Packirisamy S, Kumargowda ST, Sridhar VS (2019) Recent aspects on the pathogenesis mechanism, animal models and novel therapeutic interventions for middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus infections. Front Microbiol 10:569. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fmicb.2019.00569
- Song N, Wakimoto H, Rossignoli F, Bhere D, Ciccocioppo R, Chen KS, Khalsa JK et al (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell immunomodulation: in pursuit of controlling COVID-19 related cytokine storm. Stem Cells 39(6):707–722. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.3354
- Soria-Juan B, Escacena N, Capilla-González V, Aguilera Y, Llanos L, Tejedo JR, Bedoya FJ et al (2019) Cost-effective, safe, and personalized cell therapy for critical limb ischemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Front Immunol 10:1151. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01151
- Stephen-Victor E, Das M, Karnam A, Pitard B, Gautier JF, Bayry J (2020) Potential of regulatory Tcell-based therapies in the management of severe COVID-19. Eur Respir J 56(3):2002182. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.02182-2020
- Sun J, Zhuang Z, Zheng J, Li K, Wong RL, Liu D, Huang J et al (2020) Generation of a broadly useful model for COVID-19 pathogenesis, vaccination, and treatment. Cell 182(3):734–743.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.06.010
- Tang L, Jiang Y, Zhu M, Chen L, Zhou X, Zhou C, Ye P et al (2020) Clinical study using mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of patients with severe COVID-19. Front Med 14(5):664–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11684-020-0810-9
- Turner L (2020) Preying on public fears and anxieties in a pandemic: businesses selling unproven and unlicensed "Stem Cell Treatments" for COVID-19. Cell Stem Cell 26(6):806–810. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2020.05.003
- van Eeden C, Khan L, Osman MS, Cohen Tervaert JW (2020) Natural killer cell dysfunction and its role in COVID-19. Int J Mol Sci 21(17):6351. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176351
- Varghese J, Griffin M, Mosahebi A, Butler P (2017) Systematic review of patient factors affecting adipose stem cell viability and function: implications for regenerative therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):45. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0483-8
- Veluchamy JP, Kok N, van der Vliet HJ, Verheul HMW, de Gruijl TD, Spanholtz J (2017) The rise of allogeneic natural killer cells as a platform for cancer immunotherapy: recent innovations and future developments. Front Immunol 8:631. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00631
- Verma HK, Farran B, Bhaskar LVKS (2020) Convalescent plasma transfusion a promising therapy for coronavirus diseases 2019 (COVID-19): current updates. Antib Ther 3(2):115–125. https:// doi.org/10.1093/abt/tbaa010
- Wang M, Yuan Q, Xie L (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based immunomodulation: properties and clinical application. Stem Cells Int 2018:3057624. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3057624
- Wang HC, Wang X, Long X (2020a) Stem cell transplantation therapy: a potential method for treating cytokine storm syndromes induced by COVID-19. Cell Transplant 29: 963689720965980. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689720965980
- Wang Y, Jiang W, He Q, Wang C, Liu B, Zhou P, Dong N et al (2020b) Early, low-dose and shortterm application of corticosteroid treatment in patients with severe COVID-19 pneumonia: single-center experience from Wuhan, China. medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.03.06. 20032342

- WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. Retrieved November 16, 2020 from https:// covid19.who.int/
- Wilson JG, Liu KD, Zhuo H, Caballero L, McMillan M, Fang X, Cosgrove K et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem (stromal) cells for treatment of ARDS: a phase 1 clinical trial. Lancet Respir Med 3(1):24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70291-7
- World Health Organization. (2020). Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV): situation report, 22. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330991
- Wu F, Zhao S, Yu B, Chen YM, Wang W, Song ZG, Hu Y et al (2010) A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature 579(7798):265–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-020-2008-3
- Yan Y, Pang Y, Lyu Z, Wang R, Wu X, You C, Zhao H et al (2021a) The COVID-19 vaccines: recent development, challenges and prospects. Vaccines (Basel) 9(4):349. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vaccines9040349
- Yan ZP, Yang M, Lai CL (2021b) COVID-19 vaccines: a review of the safety and efficacy of current clinical trials. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 14(5):406. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph14050406
- Yang L, Han Y, Nilsson-Payant BE, Gupta V, Wang P, Duan X, Tang X et al (2020) Human pluripotent stem cell-based platform to study SARS-CoV-2 tropism and model virus infection in human cells and organoids. Cell Stem Cell 27(1):125–136.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2020.06.015
- Youk J, Kim T, Evans KV, Jeong YI, Hur Y, Hong SP, Kim JH et al (2020) Three-Dimensional human alveolar stem cell culture models reveal infection response to SARS-CoV-2. Cell Stem Cell 27(6):905–919.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2020.10.004
- Zhang Y, Ding J, Ren S, Wang W, Yang Y, Li S, Meng M et al (2020) Intravenous infusion of human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells as a potential treatment for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):207. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-020-01725-4
- Zheng J, Wong LR, Li K, Verma AK, Ortiz ME, Wohlford-Lenane C, Leidinger MR et al (2021) COVID-19 treatments and pathogenesis including anosmia in K18-hACE2 mice. Nature 589(7843):603–607. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2943-z
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, Zhao X et al (2020a) China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. A Novel Coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 382(8):727–733. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Zhu Y, Geng S, Li Q, Jiang H (2020b) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells: a potential adjuvant therapy for COVID-19. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:557652. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fbioe.2020.557652



Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Mikhail Konoplyannikov, Oleg Knyazev, Peter Timashev, and Vladimir Baklaushev

Contents

Introduction	195
IBD Therapy with MSCs	197
MSCs Properties	197
Mechanisms of MSCs' Action	197
Preclinical Studies	199
MSCs-Derived Exosomes for Experimental IBD Therapy	200

M. Konoplyannikov (🖂)

Federal Research Clinical Center of Specialized Medical Care and Medical Technologies of the FMBA of Russia, Moscow, Russia

Department of Advanced Biomaterials, Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia e-mail: konoplyannikov m a@staff.sechenov.ru

O. Knyazev

Department of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, Moscow Clinical Scientific Center Named After A. S. Loginov, Moscow, Russia

Department of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, State Scientific Centre of Coloproctology Named After A. N. Ryzhih, Moscow, Russia

P. Timashev

Department of Advanced Biomaterials, Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia

Laboratory of Clinical Smart Nanotechnologies, Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia

Department of Polymers and Composites, N. N. Semenov Institute of Chemical Physics, Moscow, Russia

Chemistry Department, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

V. Baklaushev

Federal Research Clinical Center of Specialized Medical Care and Medical Technologies of the FMBA of Russia, Moscow, Russia

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 8
Clinical Studies	201
Completed Clinical Studies	201
Proceeding Clinical Studies	214
Conclusion	216
References	217

Abstract

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) belongs to the group of diseases characterized by idiopathic inflammation of the gastrointestinal organs. Two basic IBD types are distinguished: ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. The IBD symptoms including vomiting and diarrhea, abdominal pain, rectal hemorrhage, and anemia have a significant negative impact on the general patient's state of health. More than four million people in the USA and Europe suffer from IBD, while the general incidence of this disease in the developed countries exceeds 0.5% of the population. Besides, IBD is associated with a significant risk of colitis-associated malignancy. In the last decades, considerable progress has been achieved in the IBD therapy due to application of drugs suppressing the local gastrointestinal tract inflammation, such as antibodies to TNF- α (infliximab and adalimumab), corticosteroids, salicylates, etc. At the same time, this strategy, unfortunately, does not result in the repair of the damaged tissues, primarily ulcers of the colon, in many IBD patients. To achieve the mucosa healing and stable remission in IBD patients, novel approaches are required, cell therapy, actively used since the beginning of 2000s, being one of them. In our book chapter, we discuss the advantages and problems of application of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) which are most actively used in the cell therapy of IBD. The results of the most important preclinical and clinical studies are covered.

Keywords

Clinical trials · Inflammatory bowel disease · Ulcerative colitis · Crohn's disease · Cell therapy · Mesenchymal stem cells · Regenerative medicine

Abbreviations

F A
5-Aminosalicylic acid
Antigen-presenting cells
Adipose tissue-derived stem cells
Azathioprine
Bone marrow
C-C-chemokine ligand 2
Crohn's disease
Crohn' Disease Activity Index
Confidence interval
Dendritic cells
Dextran sodium sulfate
Glucocorticosteroids

GI	Gastrointestinal
HBI	Harvey-Bradshaw Index
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HLA-G	Human leukocyte antigen-G
hUC	Human umbilical cord
I/A	Intra-arterial
I/V	Intravenous
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IBDQ	Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire
ICG	Lindocyanine green
IDO	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
miR	MicroRNA
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NK-cells	Natural killer cells
PDAI	Perianal Disease Activity Index
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PSC	Primary sclerosing cholangitis
RR	Relative risk
SMA	Smooth muscle actin
SVF	Stromal vascular fraction
TGF-β	β-transforming growth factor
TNBS	Trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
UC	Ulcerative colitis

Introduction

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a group of chronic inflammatory conditions of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract characterized by the augmented immune response of the mucosa. Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are the two basic types of IBD. Long-lasting IBD results in GI tract damage. CD may affect any part of the GI tract from the mouth to the anus. The terminal part of the small intestine (ileum) is most frequently affected near the place where it joins the large intestine. CD may manifest itself in the form of "patches," involving some parts of the GI tract and leaving the other parts intact. The inflammation in CD may spread through the whole colon wall thickness (Sairenji et al. 2017). In UC, only the colon and rectum are affected. The inflammation appears only in the innermost layer of the colon mucosa. It usually starts in the rectum and lower parts of the colon, but may also spread

continuously and affect the entire large intestine. IBD shares some symptoms such as persistent diarrhea, abdominal pain, rectal bleeding/bloody stool, weight loss, and fatigue. In some cases, it is difficult to determine whether a patient has CD or UC. Such cases are classified as indeterminate colitis (Guindi and Riddell 2004).

The exact cause of IBD is unknown, but there is an assumption that it results from a defective immune system. The immune system of an IBD patient wrongly reacts to the environmental triggers that cause the GI tract inflammation. Such a wrong reaction of the immune system arises, supposedly, in people with a corresponding family history who inherited genes determining the susceptibility to IBD (Khor et al. 2011).

More than four million people in the USA and Europe suffer from IBD, while the general incidence of this disease in the developed countries exceeds 0.5% of the population. Seventy thousand new IBD cases are diagnosed yearly in the USA only, and in general, the yearly financial burden of IBD in the USA exceeds 31 billion dollars (CCFA 2014; GBD 2020). The majority of patients receive the diagnosis of IBD at the age of less than 35 years. In particular, 80,000 children suffer from IBD in the USA. These lifelong chronic conditions essentially affect the quality of life and medical expenses of patients. Besides, IBD patients are susceptible to the risk of developing of other serious diseases such as colon cancer, thrombosis, and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC).

In some cases, surgical removal of the damaged GI parts is required for the therapy of severe IBD forms. However, due to the achieved success of the drug therapy of IBD, it has been generally used in the last decades, with five basic types of drugs (CCFA 2014).

Aminosalicylates such as sulfasalazine, balsalazide, mesalamine, and olsalazine administered per os or rectally reduce the colon wall inflammation and are applied primarily for the UC treatment. At the same time, they are less efficient in the CD treatment.

Corticosteroids, such as prednisone, prednisolone, and budesonide, keep the immune system under control. Therefore, they are efficient in the short-term management of exacerbations. But unfortunately, their side effects include infections, weight gain, sleep disorders, etc.

Immunomodulators, such as azathioprine, 6-mercaptopurine, and methotrexate, influence the immune system activity; they are toxic and usually used to sustain the remission in those patients who do not respond to other drugs, or respond to steroids only.

Antibiotics, such as ciprofloxacin and metronidazole, are of moderate use in treating CD patients with the affected colon or perianal region. In particular, antibiotics are administered in the case of infections, e.g., abscesses.

TNF inhibitors include adalimumab, certolizumab pegol, golimumab, and infliximab. These drugs have a pronounced anti-inflammatory effect and are used in the therapy of patients suffering from severe forms of IBD in the absence of a satisfactory and sound effect from the standard treatment. However, the application of these drugs, regretfully, is not always efficient, as well. In particular, the long-term infliximab administration has shown that up to one-third of patients do not respond to the anti-cytokine therapy, either due to primary resistance to the drug or the development of secondary resistance (Magro and Portela 2010). Besides, severe complications may occasionally emerge, including bacterial, viral, and fungal infections, increased risk of lymphoma, colorectal cancer, and other oncological diseases.

IBD Therapy with MSCs

According to estimates, application of contemporary methods of IBD therapy leads to a 20–30% rate of remission, with a maximum of 50% when using a combinatorial therapy approach (Ocansey et al. 2020). Furthermore, cell therapy has shown to be very effective and extremely promising in treating IBD (Cassinotti et al. 2012; Irhimeh and Cooney 2016; Lopez-Santalla et al. 2020). Therefore, the use of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) is of particular interest regarding this approach.

MSCs Properties

MSCs are multipotent stromal cells which may be derived from the bone marrow, adipose tissue, dental pulp, skeletal muscle, etc. (Lei et al. 2006; Tolar et al. 2010; Williams et al. 1999; Zuk et al. 2001; Gronthos et al. 2011). MSCs express molecules of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I at a low level and do not express molecules of MHC class II, hence they may be used in allogeneic transplantation (Prockop 2009; Haider et al. 2011). They constitute a heterogeneous population of cells and are characterized by the expression of specific surface markers including CD73, CD90, and CD105 markers, while lacking the expression of CD14, CD11b, CD79 and Cd19, CD34 and CD45 hemopoietic stem cell-specific markers, as well as CD31 endothelial markers (Lv et al. 2014; Haider 2018). Besides surface marker expression, they show specific adherence to the plastic surface and possess trilineage differentiation potential to adopt adipocyte, osteoblast, and chondrocyte phenotypes (Caplan and Correa 2011; Wang et al. 2018). This criterion of characterization has been set forth by the International Society of Cell Therapy (ISCT) which has significantly helped in harmonizing the nomenclature and biological characterization of the cell preparations being used in the experimental and clinical studies. Their autologous availability and robust nature, therefore, can be genetically manipulated to delivery genes of interest to the target organ for angiomyogenic repair as well as to enhance their therapeutic potential (Jiang et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008) and reprogramming in to pluripotency (Buccini et al. 2012). They have also been combined with other stem cell types for combinatorial cell therapy approach (Hosseini et al. 2018).

Mechanisms of MSCs' Action

The first and the primary mechanism of MSCs' action is their transdifferentiation into morphofunctionally competent cell types and achieve the phenotype of interest, which allows the replacement of damaged cells and contribute to the repair and restoration of damaged tissues (cartilage, bones, etc.). The second mechanism of MSCs' action is associated with the ability of MSCs to move to the sites of damage and inflammation, and secrete cytokines and growth factors, and lipid vesicles rich in bioactive cargo of proteins, lipids, and RNA as part of their paracrine activity to reduce inflammation and restore the damaged tissues (Caplan and Correa 2011; Caplan 2016; Bernardo and Fibbe 2013) (Fig. 1). Besides the abovementioned two primary mechanisms, MSCs also have immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects via the suppression of proliferation and differentiation of T cells (CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes), reducing the activity of NK cells and activating T regulatory cells. In addition, MSCs reduce the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and IFN- γ) and boost the secretion of anti-inflammatory IL-4 and IL-10 (Spaggiari et al. 2008; Ghannam et al. 2010). More recently, MSCs surface markers including PDL1, Gal-9, CXCR4 etc., have been implicated as part of the immunosuppressive activity of MSCs (Siyu et al. 2020). Concomitantly, proangiogenic activity of MSCs induces neovascularization regionally at the site of engraftment to restore regional blood flow (Maacha et al. 2020), while apoptosis and oxidative stress are inhibited (Terai and Tsuchiya 2017). Put together, the mechanism of MSCs' therapeutic benefits is multifactorial as summarized in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 General MSCs' effects grouped by the two fundamental mechanisms: (1) direct transdifferentiation of the transplanted MSCs (into cells of adipose, bone, cartilage, and muscle tissues) to replace damaged cells and (2) induction of cytokines secreted by MSCs as a part of their paracrine activity into the inflammatory medium, affecting the recipient's immune system. **Abbreviations**: (IL-6: Interleukin-6; PGE2: Prostaglandin E2; TGF- β : β -transforming growth factor; IDO: Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase; CCL-2: C-C-chemokine ligand 2; IL-10: Interleukin –10; HGF: Hepatocyte growth factor; MMP: Matrix metalloproteinases; HLA-G: Human leukocyte antigen-G)

Preclinical Studies

Yabana et al. demonstrated that in rats with dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis, MSCs, administered intravenously to the animals, migrated to the lamina propria of the damaged colon, where they activated the expression of alpha-smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), which facilitated the restoration of the epithelium (Yabana et al. 2009). It was also shown that MSCs participated in sustaining the epithelial barrier function by the repeated assembly of claudins, apical proteins of tight junctions.

The most critical role in the IBD pathogenesis is evidently played by enhanced proliferation and defective apoptosis of immune cells, which is likely related to the imbalance of Bcl-2 and Bax, essential proteins controlling apoptosis (Dias et al. 2014).

Akiyama et al. showed that systemic infusion of bone marrow–derived MSCs (BM-MSCs) induced apoptosis of T cells via the Fas-ligand (FasL)-dependent pathway and could improve the disease course in experimental murine DSS-induced colitis (Akiyama et al. 2012). However, FasL/MSCs did not induce apoptosis of recipients' T-cells and could not positively influence the colitis course. It was shown that Fas-regulated secretion of MCP-1 protein by BM-MSCs recruited T cells for FasL-mediated apoptosis. Apoptosis of T cells, in turn, leads to the induction of macrophages producing a high level of TGF β . This results in an increased number of T-regulatory cells and, finally, in the immune tolerance of the organism.

IBD is also associated with the imbalance in subpopulations of T cells. As a result, the pro-inflammatory cytokines level grows: in CD – due to differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells, and in UC – due to differentiation of Th2 cells. In contrast, the level of T-regulatory (Treg) cells is depressed in the peripheral blood of IBD patients (Sisakhtnezhad et al. 2017). Among Treg cells, the crucial role in the immune system suppression and sustaining the tolerance belongs to CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ cells (Akiyama et al. 2012).

Chen et al. demonstrated that intravenous MSCs administration significantly reduced the clinical severity of murine UC (weight loss, diarrhea, and inflammation) induced by trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS) and enhanced the survival of animals (Chen et al. 2013). It was shown that MSCs reached the damaged colon and facilitated the proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells and differentiation of intestinal stem cells (determined by detecting Lgr5+-cells). Furthermore, it was mediated by suppressing both Th1 and Th17 cell–induced autoimmune and inflammatory reactions (IL-2, TNF- α , IFN- γ , T-bet; IL-6, IL-17, ROR γ t), as well as by enhanced activity of Th2 cells (IL-4, IL-10, and GATA-3). Besides, it was shown that MSCs induced activated CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T-regulatory cells (TGF- β , IL-10, Foxp3).

Macrophages, dendritic cells, and B cells, known as antigen-presenting cells (APC), are also involved in the IBD pathogenesis due to their specialization in presenting an antigen to T cells and the subsequent generation of the T cell response. Macrophages play a critical role in sustaining normal intestinal homeostasis, but they

may also participate in the IBD pathogenesis (Han et al. 2021). In a healthy colon, resident macrophages exhibit an M2 phenotype, while inflammatory M1 macrophages dominate in the inflamed intestinal mucosa. In this regard, changing the balance of macrophage population to the M2 phenotype is being adopted as a novel approach in IBD therapy (Ahluwalia et al. 2018). Numerous preclinical studies have shown that MSCs can induce immunomodulating macrophages and macrophages mediate their therapeutic efficiency in experimental UC with an M2-like phenotype (Hidalgo-Garcia et al. 2018).

Jo et al. cocultured immature dendritic cells and lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-treated mature dendritic cells with MSCs for 48 h, and then analyzed the profiles of surface markers and cytokines and the regulatory role of those DC for primary splenocytes (Jo et al. 2018). Besides, the therapeutic effects of MSCs and DC cocultured with MSCs were compared for UC-affected mice. The authors demonstrated that following the coculture of MSCs with immature dendritic cells (MSCs-DC) or LPS-treated mature dendritic cells (LPS + MSCs-DC), the expression of CD11c, CD80, CD86, IL-6, TNF- α , and IFN- γ was significantly decreased. In contrast, the expression of CD11b, IL-10, and TGF- β was elevated. Besides, MSCs-DC and LPS + MSCs-DC induced CD4, CD25, and Foxp3 in primary mice-derived splenocytes. In mice with DSS-induced UC, MSCs and MSCs-DC increased the length of the colon, body weight, and survival, and caused a histological improvement. Moreover, in the MSCs and MSCs-DC groups, the expression of IL-6, TNF- α , and IFN- γ in the colon tissues was also inhibited, while the expression of IL-10, TGF- β , and Foxp3 was elevated. These data assumed that MSCs stimulate differentiation of dendritic cells into regulatory dendritic cells leading to improved chronic colitis therapy.

It was also shown that administration of MSCs could suppress activation and proliferation of B cells secreting IgG and, oppositely, stimulate the formation of CD5 + regulatory B cells (Bregs) producing IL-10. Besides, it was shown that MSCs could depress the proliferation of NK cells secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines (Liu et al. 2020).

MSCs-Derived Exosomes for Experimental IBD Therapy

MSCs-derived exosomes – extracellular vesicles obtained from MSCs – contain a large number of essential factors (Haider and Aramini 2020). In intercellular communication, exosomes are identified as efficient carriers for nucleic acids, functional proteins, lipids, mRNA, and microRNA (Samoylova et al. 2017). Thus, MSCs-derived exosomes, similar to MSCs themselves, have a potent physiological action affecting the damaged tissue repair (Zhao et al. 2019; Haider and Aramini 2020). At the same time, exosomes are more stable than MSCs and in principle are nonimmunogenic.

It was demonstrated earlier by several research groups that exosomes secreted by MSCs had a pronounced regenerative effect in the therapy of many diseases causing tissue damage, including IBD (Mianehsaz et al. 2019; Mendt et al. 2019; Mao et al. 2017). For instance, Mao et al. showed that exosomes released from human

umbilical cord–derived MSCs (hUC-MSCs) positively influenced the treatment of DSS-induced colitis and studied the primary mechanism of their effect (Mao et al. 2017). Similarly, exosomes labeled with indocyanine green (ICG) reached the colon tissue of IBD-affected mice 12 h after the injection. The IL-10 gene expression was increased, while the expression of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, iNOS, and IL-7 genes was decreased in the colon and spleen tissues of mice treated with MSCs-derived exosomes. Besides, macrophages infiltration in the colon tissues was significantly reduced. It was also shown that coculturing in vitro with exosomes suppressed the expression of iNOS and IL-7 in macrophages isolated from the peritoneal cavity of normal mice. In addition, the researchers found that IL-7 expression in the colon tissue was higher for colitis patients than healthy participants of the control group. In general, the data obtained have demonstrated a potent effect of hUC-MSCs-derived exosomes on the relief of DSS-induced experimental IBD. The observed effects may be mechanistically mediated via the modulation of IL-7 expression in macrophages at molecular levels.

In a study by Yang et al., exosomes derived from MSCs preconditioned with IFN- γ were transplanted in an experimental mice model of DSS-induced colitis that essentially improved the index of activity and histological assessment of colitis, as well as reduced the fraction of Th17 cells and augmented the fraction of Treg cells (Yang et al. 2020). Molecular studies revealed that the administration of exosomes markedly inhibited the expression of Stat3 and p-Stat3, suppressing differentiation of Th17 cells. Interestingly, treatment with exosomes derived from MSCs preconditioned with IFN- γ showed the highest inhibition. Furthermore, the preliminary treatment with IFN-y increased the level of miR-125a and miR-125b in MSCsderived exosomes, which directly targeted Stat3, suppressing differentiation of Th17 cells. Moreover, concomitant infusion of miR-125a and miR-125b also demonstrated a therapeutic effect in colitis, accompanied by a simultaneous decrease in the Th17 cell fraction. In general, this study demonstrated that the IFN- γ treatment enhanced the efficiency of MSCs-derived exosomes in the relief of colitis, owing to increasing the level of miR-125a and miR-125b, which are bound to 3'-UTR of Stat3, to suppress differentiation of Th17 cells.

Clinical Studies

Completed Clinical Studies

Due to their therapeutic properties, MSCs (obtained mainly from the bone marrow and adipose tissue) have been actively used in numerous clinical trials on IBD therapy, with both local injections of cells and intravenous (systemic) infusions (Table 1).

Local MSCs Injections

Local administration of MSCs is used primarily for the therapy of fistulizing (extraluminal) form of CD (Ko et al. 2021). For example, Panes et al. have conducted a

	CITECOL -			ant to fdmm sociu		
0N	Disease	Patients	Cells	Cell dose/delivery	Key findings	Study location
	Perianal CD	212	Allogeneic ASC	$120 \times 10^{6} (n = 107) \text{ vs}$ placebo $(n = 105)/\text{local}$ injection	At week 52, a significantly larger part of patients receiving ASC reached the combined remission (56.3%, as compared to the control group with 38.6%) and the clinical remission (59.2% vs. 41.6% of the control group). In 1 year, no serious adverse events were observed	Forty-nine hospitals in Europe and Israel; NCT01541579 (ADMIRE- CD) (Panes 2018)
2	Perianal CD	18 (45 total)	Allogeneic ASC, autologous ASC, and stromal vascular fraction (SVF)	40–42 × 10 ⁶ ASC, 6.5–15 × 10 ⁶ SVF/local injection	Healing achieved: 40% of CD patients who received SVF, 66.6% of CD patients who received auto-ASCs, and 55.5% of CD patients who received allo-ASCs	University Hospital Fundación Jiménez Díaz, Madrid, Spain (Herreros 2019)
	Perianal CD	36	Autologous ASC	$3-6 \times 10^7$ /local injection	At 24 months, complete healing was observed in 27 out of 36 patients (75.0%). No adverse events related to ASC administration were observed	University of Ulsan College of Medicine and Asan Medical Center, Seoul, Republic of Korea; NCT01011244 and NCT01314079 (Cho 2015)
4	Perianal CD	24	Allogeneic ASC	$20-40 \times 10^{6}$ local injection	At week 24, 69.2% of the patients showed reduction in the number of draining fistulas, 56.3% of the patients achieved complete closure of the treated fistula, and 30% of the cases presented complete closure of all existing fistula tracts	Virgen del Rocio University Hospital, Seville, Spain (de la Portilla 2013)

 Table 1
 Results of major completed clinical trials on the MSCs therapy of IBD

ν. 	Perianal CD	21	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	$1 \times 10^{7} (n = 5, \text{ group } 1), 3 \times 10^{7} (n = 5, \text{ group } 2), \text{ or } 9 \times 10^{7} (n = 5, \text{ group } 3) \text{ MSCs, or placebo } (n = 6)/\text{local injection}$	Thirteen out of fifteen patients (87%) treated with BM-MSCs were available for a long-term follow-up (4 years). No adverse events were associated with local injection of any dose of MSCs. In group 2 [$n = 4$], all fistulas were closed 4 years after BM-MSCs therapy. In group 1 [$n = 4$] 63%, and in group 3 [$n = 5$] 43% of the fistulas were closed, respectively. Pelvic MRI showed significantly smaller fistula tracts after 4 years	Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands (Bamhoom 2020)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	n	20	Allogeneic hUC-MSCs	Group I ($n = 34$): I/V injection of 0.5 × 10 ⁶ cells/kg, followed by intra-arterial injection of 1.5 × 10 ⁷ MSCs I week later. Group II ($n = 36$): placebo (normal saline)	One month after therapy, 30/36 patients in group I showed a good response, and diffuse and deep ulcer formation and severe inflammatory mucosa were improved markedly. During the follow-up, the median Mayo score and histology score in group I were decreased while IBDQ scores were significantly improved compared with before treatment and group II ($P < 0.05$). Compared with	Qingdao University, Qingdao, Shandong, China; NCT01221428 (Hu 2016)
						(continued)

Table	1 (continu	ed)				
No	Disease	Patients	Cells	Cell dose/delivery	Key findings	Study location
					group II, there were no evident adverse reactions after MSCs infusion in any of the patients in group I, and no chronic side effects or lingering effects appeared during the follow-up period	
7.	Luminal CD	82	Allogeneic hUC-MSCs	Group I ($n = 41$): 1 × 10 ⁶ cells/kg once a week, four times in total.	Twelve months after treatment, the CDAI, HBI, and corticosteroid dosage had	Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital, Xi'an, China (Zhang 2018)
				Group II ($n = 41$); placebo (normal saline)/I/V infusion	decreased by 62.5 ± 23.2 , 3.4 ± 1.2 , and 4.2 ± 0.84 mg/day, respectively, in the UC-MSCs group and by 23.6 ± 12.4 , 1.2 ± 0.58 , and 1.2 ± 0.35 mg/day, respectively, in the control group ($p < 0.01$, $p < 0.05$, and $p < 0.05$ for UC-MSCs vs. control, respectively). Four patients developed a fever after cell infusion. No serious adverse events were observed	
×.	UC and luminal CD	90 (69 UC and 21 CD)	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	$150-200 \times 10^{6}$ ($n = 39$ with UC and $n = 11$ with CD) vs control group ($n = 30$ with UC and $n = 10$ with CD)/I/V infusion	In MSCs group: statistically significant decrease in the indices of the clinical and morphological activities of an inflammatory process; clinical remission occurred in	Moscow Clinical Research Center, Moscow, Russia (Lazebnik 2010)

204

	a	a	(tinued)
	w Clinical Rese: , Moscow, Russi zev 2018a)	w Clinical Rese. , Moscow, Russi zev 2018b)	(00)
	Moscc Center (Knya	Mosec Center (Knya	
40 patients (80%); discontinuing corticosteroids in 34 of the 50 patients (68%)	Clinical remission (CDAI <150) was demonstrated in both groups in 12 months [average CDAI was 99.9 in group 1, 100.6 in group 2)	According to the study results, in 12 weeks the cure of simple fistulas was noted in 8 patients (66.6%) of group I, in 6 patients (60%) of group II, and in 1 patient (7.14%) of group II. In 6 months, the simple fistulas were still healed in 8 patients (66.6%) of group I, in 6 patients (60%) of group I, and in 1 patient (7.14%) of group III. In 12 months, the healing was sustained in 7 patients (58.3%) of group I, in 6 patients (60%) of group II, and in 2 patients (14.3%) of group III. In 24 months, the closure of fistulas was sustained in 5 patients (41.6%) of group I, in 4 patients (40%) of group II, and in 0 patients (0%) in group	
	Group 1 (15 patients): 2×10^{6} MSCs/kg (at months 0, 1, and 6), with AZA 2–2.5 mg/kg. Group 2 (19 patients): 2×10^{6} MSCs/kg (at months 0, 1, 6)/ IV infusion	2×10^{6} MSCs/kg I/V infusion and $10-20 \times 10^{6}$ local injection	
	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	
	34	2	
	Luminal CD	Perianal CD	
	G	10.	

No	Disease	Patients	Cells	Cell dose/delivery	Key findings	Study location
					III. In conclusion, it was demonstrated that combined cell and anti-cytokine therapy of CD with perianal lesions reliably provided more frequent and prolonged closure of simple fistulas, as compared to antibiotic and immunosuppressive therapy, and reduction of the relapse incidence as well	
Ahh	miotione.	D Crobn'e di	canca IIC ulcantiva coliti	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	in celle CVF strend voice for	tion MCCs massanchymnol stam
ADDF	EVIATIONS: U	U Cronn's al	sease. UC ulcerative contri-	S. ADC adibose tissue-derived ster	n cells. JVF stromai vascular itac	TION. M.N. S. Mesenchymai stem

Table 1 (continued)

Abbreviations: CD Crohn's disease, UC ulcerative colitis, ASC adipose tissue-derived stem cells, SVF stromal vascular fraction, MSCs mesenchymal stem cells, BM-MSCs bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells, hUC human umbilical cord, CDAI Crohn's Disease Activity Index, HBI Harvey-Bradshaw Index, AZA azathioprine double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study (ADMIRE CD Study) to establish the safety and study the long-term efficiency of a single local administration of allogeneic adipose tissue-derived MSCs (Cx601), for the treatment of CD patients with hard-to-treat draining complicated perianal fistulas (Panés et al. 2018). The study was conducted in 49 clinical centers of Europe and Israel. The trials enrolled a total of 212 patients (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT01541579). The patients were randomly distributed (1:1) into groups, which received either a single local injection of $Cx601 (120 \times 10^6 \text{ cells})$ or placebo (control group) in addition to the standard care. The final indices of efficiency, estimated in the modified population of intended to treat (randomly assigned, receiving the treatment, with one or several efficiency estimations after the basic level) at week 52, including a combined remission (closure of all the treated external fistula tracts, draining at the initial level in the absence of accumulations of >2 cm, confirmed by magnetic resonance imaging; MRI) and clinical remission (absence of draining fistulas). Earlier, the same researchers reported a primary endpoint of a study at week 24 (combined remission in 51.5% patients receiving Cx601, compared to 35.6% in the control group, the difference being 15.8%; 97.5% confidence interval 0.5-31.2; P = 0.021) (Panés et al. 2016). At week 52, a significantly larger section of the patients receiving Cx601 reached the combined remission (56.3%, as compared to the control group with 38.6%, 17.7% difference; 95% confidence interval 4.2–31.2; P = 0.010) and the clinical remission (59.2% vs. 41.6% of the control group with the 17.6% difference; 95% confidence interval 4.1–31.1; P = 0.013). The safety was sustained for 52 weeks; side effects were observed in 76.7% of group Cx601 patients and 72.5% of the control group patients.

The researchers concluded that according to the results of the phase 3 study of CD patients with treatment-resistant perianal fistulas, the researchers have concluded that Cx601 is safe and efficient for closures of external fistulas, compared to placebo, in one year of the study. Based on the ADMIRE CD Study results, Darvadstrocel (Alofisel), a medication based on MSCs derived from the adipose tissue, has been developed (Scott 2018). This is the first MSCs-based cell preparation approved in the EU to treat complicated perianal fistulas in adult patients with nonactive/moderately active luminal CD when fistulas do not respond to one or more standard therapies.

Herreros et al. have published the data of a clinical study that assessed 45 patients with 52 surgically resistant anal fistulas of various etiology (of them 18 patients with perianal fistulas caused by CD) (Herreros et al. 2019). The patients' response to MSCs therapy of different types was monitored, with cells, including allogeneic MSCs from the adipose tissue (ASCs), autologous ASCs, and a stromal vascular fraction (SVF), which were believed to contain ASCs with a minimal addition of adipocytes and erythrocytes.

In 40 out of 42 cases of perianal fistulas (95.2%), either healing or improvement was shown in 6.6 weeks on average (in the observation time of 2-36 weeks). The cure occurred in 22 out of 42 cases (52.4%). Most of the patients were cured in 5.8 months on average (in the observation time of 0.5-24 months). The disease course in the 42 patients was assessed depending upon the applied cell preparations.

The degree of cure reached 13/23 (56.5%) for SVF, 3/9 (33.3%) for autologous ASCs, and 6/10 (60%) for allogeneic ASCs. The administered cell dose was also analyzed, with the average value of 43.9 million (in the range of 3–210 million cells) for the cases of cure.

If to focus on perianal fistulas caused by CD, 18/18 patients (100%) demonstrated healing or improvement/partial response, beginning from 5.3 weeks on average (in the observation time of 2–12 weeks). The cure occurred in 10/18 (55.5%) cases. Most of the patients were cured in 6.5 months (in the observation time of 0.5–24 months).

The disease course in those 18 patients was also assessed depending on the cell preparations used. The degree of cure reached 40% for SVF, 66.6% for autologous ASCs, and 55.5% for allogeneic ASCs. The mean administered dose in the cure cases was 43.9 million (in the range of 3–210 million cells). In all the cases of CD-associated perianal fistulas, the surgical technique was applied: the curettage, closing of the fistula tract, and injection of cells (Herreros et al. 2019).

The phase 2 clinical trial on the application of autologous ASCs for CD-associated perianal fistulas with a high rate of recurrence has shown their safety and therapeutic potential with a stable response for 2 years (Cho et al. 2015). In this phase 2 study, 41 patients initially participated. In 24 months, the complete cure was observed in 27 out of 36 patients (75.0%) (the data from 5 patients were absent in 24 months). No ASCs-based treatment-related adverse effects were observed. Moreover, the complete closure of the fistula was stable after the initial treatment. These results also testified that autologous ASCs were efficient in the treatment of CD-associated fistulas.

De la Portilla et al. have conducted an open-label, single-arm clinical trial which included 24 CD patients with perianal fistulas from six hospitals in Spain (de la Portilla et al. 2013). Twenty million ASCs were administered locally in one draining fistula tract. At week 12, if the fistula had not completely closed, 40 million more ASCs were administered. The patients were monitored up to week 24 after the first treatment.

During 6 months of follow-up, no serious adverse events were observed, attesting the treatment as sufficiently safe. At week 24, the number of fistulas was reduced in 69.2% of patients, the complete closure of treated fistulas was observed in 56.3% of the patients, and in 30% of the cases all the fistulas were completely closed. The criteria used to grade the extent of closure were the following: absence of draining and complete re-epithelization, and the MRI-confirmed absence of accumulations. The MRI Score of Severity showed a noticeable reduction at week 24. Thus, the applied ASCs-based therapy appeared safe and fairly efficient for CD-associated perianal fistulas.

A double-blind dose-finding study on the allogeneic BM-MSCs treatment of refractory perianal fistulizing CD was conducted at Leiden University Medical Center in 2012–2014 (Barnhoorn et al. 2020). The study involved 21 patients; three regimes of local MSCs administrations were applied: cohort 1 – five patients, 1×10^7 cells, cohort 2 – five patients, 3×10^7 cells, and cohort 3 – five patients, 9×10^7 cells. The patients were assessed for 4 years, with the registration of

clinical events, monitoring the fistula closure, and measuring the level of anti-HLA antibodies, pelvic MRI, and rectoscopy.

The long-term follow-up was performed in 13 patients (four from cohort 1, four from cohort 2, and five from cohort 3). No serious side effects of the therapy were observed. In two patients, malignancies were observed; however, these were reported as unrelated to the cell-based therapy. During 4 years of follow-up, the closure of fistulas was observed in all the cohort 2 patients, in 63% of cohort 1 patients, and in 43% of cohort 3 patients. No anti-HLA antibodies were detected in 24 weeks and 4 years of posttreatment follow-up. The fistula tracts became notably smaller, according to the MRI data. This study demonstrated that local application of BM-MSCs was safe and efficient for fistula closures.

A promising variation of the MSCs treatment for perianal fistulas is the use of a bioabsorbable matrix as a carrier for the cells. A Gore BioA Fistula Plug based on a bioabsorbable material was earlier tried in a multicenter study of high anal fistulas, including those in CD patients (Ommer et al. 2012). The study showed a rather high efficiency of such plugs in the treatment of fistulas; in particular, two out of four study participants with CD had complete healing in 6 months. Another development of the plug technique was its combined use with MSCs. A six-months-long study at Mayo Clinic (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01915927), including 12 patients, was dedicated to the treatment of fistulas with autologous ASCs deposited onto a Gore BioA Fistula Plug (Dietz et al. 2017). ASCs were harvested from the patients for autologous transplantation, and 6 weeks later the fistula plug loaded with autologous ASCs (named MSCs-MATRIX) was placed during a surgical intervention. Before the surgical procedure, ASCs were thawed and cultured on a Gore BioA Fistula Plug for 3–6 days in a polypropylene bioreactor. Each plug contained about 20×10^6 cells.

The primary study objective was to establish the safety and efficacy of autologous MSCs-MATRIX in the treatment of recurrent anal fistulas. The criteria for the secondary endpoint of the study were both clinical and radiographical. The former included: (1) partial response, when the drainage and symptoms reported by a patient were notably reduced, and (2) complete healing, when the drainage was not seen either without any action or with a mild pressure in 6 months after the treatment. The latter criterion included the narrowing and shortening of the fistula tract, as well as the absence of an abscess, as visualized by MRI (T2-weighted hyperintense fistula tract on a T2-weighted fast spin echo image). Quantitatively, the MRI results were presented in percent difference from the baseline and using the Van Assche perianal fistula severity score.

The applied MSCs-MATRIX plug for a fistula did not cause any serious effects during the 6 months of observation. Ten of the twelve patients (83%) in 6 months had clinical and radiographic signs of the complete healing. Thus, the bioabsorbable plugs containing MSCs proved themselves safe and efficient for chronic perianal fistulas.

A recently published systematic review and meta-analysis by Cao et al. have estimated the efficiency of stem cells (MSCs derived from the bone marrow and adipose tissue) in the treatment of CD-associated fistulas of any form (Cao et al. 2021).

In total, a total of 29 clinical studies involving 1252 patients were included in the review and analyzed. It was shown that the group of patients with CD-associated fistulas, to whom stem cells were transplanted, demonstrated a higher degree of fistula healing as compared to the placebo-treatment group (61.75% vs. 40.46%, or 2.21, 95% CI 1.19–4.11, P < 0.05). The group of patients who received stem cells in the dose of 3×10^7 cells/mL had a 71.0% acceleration of fistula healing vs. the groups of stem cell treatment with other doses (RR 1.3, 95% CI 0.76-2.22). The percentage of cured patients with perianal and trans-sphincteric fistulas was higher than patients with rectovaginal fistulas (77.95% vs. 76.41%). It is of interest that Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI) and Perianal Disease Activity Index (PDAI) temporarily increased 1 month after stem cell-based therapy; however, they returned to the initial level 3 months after the treatment. Moreover, the incidence of side effects related to the treatment was significantly lower in the MSCs-treated group than in the placebotreatment group (RR 0.58, 95% CI 0.30–1.14). The conducted study has shown that the application of stem cells, especially ASC, is a promising approach in the treatment of CD-associated fistulas, based on its higher efficiency and lower incidence of adverse events.

Intravenous MSCs Administration

Systemic (intravenous) administration of MSCs is used mainly in the therapy of luminal (inflammatory) forms of IBD (Ko et al. 2021).

а randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial (ClinicalTrials.gov: In NCT01221428), Hu et al. studied the safety and efficiency of hUC-MSCs in treating moderate and severe UC (Hu et al. 2016). Thirty-four UC patients were included in group I and received an MSCs infusion in addition to the basic treatment, while 36 patients in group II received saline in addition to the basic treatment. One-month post-treatment, the incidence of diffuse and deep ulcers and severe inflammatory processes in the mucosa was essentially reduced in 30 patients of group I. During the following observation, the average score of the Mayo scale and the histological score were decreased in group I, while the IBDQ score was significantly improved as compared to before the treatment and group II (P < 0.05). Furthermore, in comparison with group II, no apparent adverse reactions were observed after MSCs infusion in group I patients. Again, no chronic or long-lasting side effects were observed during the entire observation period. Thus the authors demonstrated that MSCs infusion was a safe and efficient strategy to treat UC.

Zhang et al. studied the safety and efficiency of hUC-MSCs to treat CD (Zhang et al. 2018). Eighty-two patients with diagnosed CD who had received the supporting steroid therapy for more than 6 months were included in the study. Forty-one patients were randomly assigned for administering four peripheral intravenous infusions of 1×10^6 hUC-MSCs/kg, one infusion per week. The patients were observed in the dynamics for up to 12 months. CDAI, Harvey-Bradshaw Index (HBI), and the dosage of corticosteroids were evaluated. As a result of the treatment, CDAI, HBI, and the dosage of corticosteroids decreased by 62.5 ± 23.2 , 3.4 ± 1.2 , and 4.2 ± 0.84 mg/day, respectively, in the hUC-MSCs group, and by 23.6 ± 12.4 , 1.2 ± 0.58 , and 1.2 ± 0.35 mg/day, respectively, as compared to the control group

(p < 0.01, p < 0.05, and p < 0.05 for the hUC-MSCs group vs. the control, respectively). Four patients developed fever after the cell-based infusion. No serious adverse events were observed. The researchers concluded that hUC-MSCs were efficient in CD treatment, though occasionally may cause mild side effects.

In one of our studies, 22 patients with exacerbation of moderate and severe UC were treated with allogeneic BM-MSCs (Knyazev et al. 2016). The patients were divided into two groups. Patients of group I (n = 12), in addition to the standard antiinflammatory therapy, received MSCs according to the following protocol: 0 (first infusion), week 1, and week 26, followed by every 6 months for the subsequent years of observation. Patients of group 2 (n = 10) received the standard antiinflammatory therapy with 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) and glucocorticosteroids (GCS). Of group I patients, 58.3% had a severe UC exacerbation, and 41.7% had moderate UC exacerbation; in group II, the severe and moderate UC patients constituted 60% and 40%, respectively. Total colitis was established in 33.3% of group I patients and in 40% of group II patients; left-sided colitis was observed in 66.7% and 60% patients, respectively. The efficiency criterion for the therapy was a no-relapse course of the disease for 12 months. The UC clinical activity was estimated by the Rahmilevich score, endoscopic activity – by the Mayo score. The control over the dynamics of clinical, laboratory, and endoscopic indices was performed in 2, 6, and 12 months, then yearly for 3 years. During the first year of observations, in group I, a UC relapse occurred in two patients (16.7%), in group II – in three patients (30%). The relative risk (RR) was 0.3 (95% CI 0.08–1.36; p = 0.2; $\chi^2 = 1.47$). The Rahmilevich Clinical Activity Index was 3.33 \pm 0.54 points in group I, 4.4 ± 1.13 points in group 2 (p = 0.81), the Mayo score was 3.1 ± 0.85 and 3.9 ± 1.06 , respectively (p = 0.66). In 2 years of observation, the risk of a UC relapse in group I was three times lower than that in group 2 (p = 0.03). The average duration of remission in group I was 22 months, in group II - 17 months (p =0.049). In 3 years of observation, the duration of remission was 22 and 20 months, respectively (p = 0.66). The Rahmilevich Clinical Activity Index was 4.75 ± 1.13 points in group I, 8.1 \pm 1.1 points in group II (p = 0.001). In conclusion, the study reliably demonstrated that MSCs infusions enhanced the efficiency of antiinflammatory therapy in patients with the acute UC.

In another study (Lazebnik et al. 2010), we used intravenous administration of allogeneic BM-MSCs to treat 39 UC patients and 11 CD patients (with the control groups of 30 UC patients and 10 CD patients). A statistically significant decrease in the indices of the clinical and morphological activities of the inflammatory process was noted after the MSCs transplantation in 39 patients with UC and in 11 patients with CD as compared to the control groups. A clinico-morphological remission occurred in 40 patients (80%). In addition, the use of MSCs made it possible to discontinue GCS in 34 out of 50 patients (68%) with the hormone-dependent and hormone-resistant forms of UC and CD and reduced the dose of prednisolone to 5 mg/day in 7 patients, with administering 5-ASA only.

Our later study estimated the efficiency of BM-MSCs therapy of CD patients receiving azathioprine (AZA) (Knyazev 2018a). The study included 34 patients with the inflammatory (luminal) CD form. Group I (n = 15) received an anti-inflammatory

therapy with the use of MSCs culture in combination with AZA. Group II (n = 19)received MSCs without AZA. The severity of attack was estimated in CDAI points. The blood serum was studied, including immunoglobulins (IgA, IgG, IgM), interleukins (IL) 1β, 4, and 10, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interferon- γ (INF- γ), transforming growth factor-1B (TGF-1B), C-reactive protein (CRP), thrombocytes, and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) in 2, 6, and 12 months from the MSCs therapy beginning. The initial mean CDAI was 337.6 ± 17.1 points in group I and 332.7 ± 11.0 points in group II (p = 0.3). In both groups, a significant decrease in CDAI was noted in two and 6 months from the therapy beginning: in 2 months - to 118.9 ± 12.4 in group I and to 120.3 ± 14.1 in group II (p = 0.7), in 6 months – to 110.3 ± 11.1 in group I and to 114.3 ± 11.8 in group II (p = 0.8). In 12 months, the CDAI was 99.9 \pm 10.8 in group I and 100.6 \pm 12.1 in group II (p = 0.8); in 24 months -133.2 ± 28.3 in group I and 120.8 ± 15.5 in group II (p = 0.2); in $36 \text{ months} - 139.9 \pm 23.4 \text{ and } 141.7 \pm 20.8 (p = 0.9) \text{ in group I and II, respectively.}$ The IgA, IgG, and IgM levels were significantly lower in the group of patients with a more extended history of the disease and prolonged use of AZA. After the MSCs infusions, in both groups, we observed a tendency to the increase in the pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines, with a significantly lower level of pro-inflammatory cytokines (INF- γ , TNF- α , and IL-1 β) in group I. The latter indicates potentiation of the immunosuppressive effect of MSCs and AZA, which provides a more pronounced anti-inflammatory effect. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that MSCs transplantation stimulates elevation of the initially reduced concentration of immunoglobulins and cytokines in the blood serum and restoring their balance with the setting-in of the clinical remission.

Interesting results were obtained when comparing the effects of combined (local and systemic) administration of BM-MSCs, anti-cytokine therapy (infliximab, IFL) and antibiotic, and immunosuppressive therapy on the healing of CD-associated simple perianal fistulas (Knyazev 2018b). The first group of CD patients aged from 19–58 years (Me – 29; n = 12) received MSCs systemically according to a scheme and locally. The second group aged from 20–68 years (Me – 36, n = 10) received IFL according to a scheme. The third group aged from 20-62 years (Me - 28, n = 14) received antibiotics and immunosuppressants. According to the study results, in 12 weeks the cure of simple fistulas was noted in eight patients (66.6%) of group I, in six patients (60%) of group II, and in one patient (7.14%) of group III. In 6 months, the simple fistulas were still healed in eight patients (66.6%) of group I, in six patients (60%) of group II, and in one patient (7.14%) of group III. In 12 months, the healing was sustained in seven patients (58.3%) of group I, in six patients (60%) of group II, and in two patients (14.3%) of group III. During 24 months follow-up, the closure of fistulas was sustained in five patients (41.6%) of group I, in four patients (40%) of group II, and no patient (0%) in group III. In conclusion, it was demonstrated that combined cell and anti-cytokine therapy of CD with perianal lesions reliably provided more frequent, sustained, and prolonged closure of simple fistulas, as compared to antibiotic and immunosuppressive therapy, and reduction of the relapse incidence as well (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Colonoscopy of a 38-year-old female patient with CD, before and after MSCs-based cell therapy [50]. (a) The internal opening of the fistulous tract in the lower part of the rectum ampulla before the treatment; (b) Twelve weeks post-treatment, healed fistula

In their recent publication, Ko et al. have provided an extensive analysis of the safety and efficiency of MSCs-based cell therapy of IBD involving on 24 studies, in 17 of which MSCs were administered locally while in the remaining 7 studies MSCs were administered systemically (Ko et al. 2021). The authors concluded that local MSCs injection-based protocol for fistulizing (extra-luminal) CD form demonstrated long-term efficiency, with the good safety level. However, regarding the efficiency of systemic MSCs infusion, the evidence was ambiguous, in the authors' opinion. They noted the marked methodological heterogeneity of the studies (first of all, due to different MSCs sources), along with the absence of facts confirming that MSCs reach the colon after an intravenous injection, and found that the safety profile was not always clearly demonstrated. At the same time, in our studies mentioned above, unequivocal pieces of evidence have been obtained for the efficiency of systemic allogeneic MSCs infusions in the IBD therapy (Lazebnik et al. 2010; Knyazev et al. 2016; Knyazev et al. 2018a, b).

In a larger and a more extensive study with a 5-year follow-up, we compared the safety profile of BM-MSCs and a standard treatment using 5-ASA, GCS, and immunosuppressive agents (Knyazev et al. 2015). The study included 103 IBD patients (56 UC patients and 47 CD patients) who received the MSCs therapy and 208 patients receiving the standard anti-inflammatory therapy (but not anti-TNF therapy). All the participants were similar in their demographic characteristics and disease features. No differences were found in the development of acute posttransfusion toxicity, infectious complications, exacerbation of chronic inflammatory diseases, serious infectious complications, malignancy, and death, with the exception of fever in some patients treated with MSCs. Thus, cell-based therapy was considered safe for the clinical practice.

Proceeding Clinical Studies

Currently (by March 2021), 14 proceeding clinical trials involving MSCs-based cell therapy for the IBD treatment have been registered at Clinicaltrials.gov (Table 2). Included in these clinical studies are autologous MSCs-based cell therapy (two studies) and allogeneic MSCs-based cell therapy (12 studies). BM-MSCs are used in seven studies, MSCs derived from the adipose tissue will be used in five studies, one study will use MSCs derived from the umbilical cord blood, while one study will use Wharton's jelly-derived cells. Ten clinical trials are dedicated to the treatment of CD, while the other four trials will focus UC treatment. Local MSCs administration protocol will be used in 12 studies while systemic administration will be used in the other two studies.

The mentioned above Mayo Clinic study of MSCs-impregnated plugs for perianal fistulas (Dietz et al. 2017) has a very promising development with young patients (Pediatric MSCs-AFP Sub-Study for Crohn's Fistula, NCT03449069). A single dose of 20 million autologous MSCs is suggested to use in five pediatric patients aged from 12–17 with CD-associated perianal fistulas. The treatment will begin with a standard therapy of infection drainage and placement of a draining seton. In 6 weeks after the placement of a draining seton, it will be removed and replaced with a fistula plug (MSCs-coated Gore Bio-A Fistula Plug). The follow-up period will be 24 months, with the treatment safety and the fistula response being monitored.

No.	Title, ClinicalTrials.gov ID	Disease	Cell type and source	Delivery	Location
1.	Use of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Disease; NCT03299413	UC	Allogeneic MSCs, Wharton's jelly	Intravenous	Cell Therapy Center, Amman, Jordan
2.	Angiographic Delivery of AD-MSCs for Ulcerative Colitis; NCT04312113	UC	Autologous ASC	Intraarterial	Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota, USA
3.	Adipose Mesenchymal Stem Cells (AMSCs) for Treatment of Ulcerative Colitis (AMSCs_UC); NCT03609905	UC	Allogeneic ASC	Local	Liaocheng City People's Hospital, Liaocheng, Shandong, China
4.	Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Medically Refractory Ulcerative Colitis (UC); NCT04543994	UC	Remestemcel- L (Allogeneic BM-MSCs)	Local	Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA

Table 2The ongoing clinical trials on the MSCs therapy of IBD (according to clinical trials.gov byMarch, 2021)

(continued)

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

No	Title,	Disease	Cell type and	Delivery	Location
5.	Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Perianal Fistulizing Crohn's Disease; NCT04519671	CD	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Local	Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA
6.	Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Ileal Pouch Fistula's in Participants with Crohn's Disease (IPAAF); NCT04519684	CD	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Local	Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA
7.	Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Rectovaginal Fistulas in Participants with Crohn's Disease; NCT04519697	CD	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Local	Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA
8.	Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Pouch Fistulas in Crohn's Disease; NCT04073472	CD	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Local	Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA
9.	Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Medically Refractory Crohn's Colitis; NCT04548583	CD	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Local	Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, USA
10.	A Follow-Up Study to Evaluate the Safety of ALLO-ASC-CD in ALLO-ASC-CD-101 Clinical Trial; NCT03183661	CD	Allogeneic ASC	Local	Anterogen Co., Ltd., Seoul, Republic of Korea
11.	MSCs Intratissular Injection in Crohn's Disease Patients; NCT03901235	CD	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	Local	CHU de Liège, Liège, Belgium
12.	A Study to Evaluate the Safety of ALLO- ASC-CD for	CD	Allogeneic ASC	Local	Yonsei University College of

(continued)

No.	Title, ClinicalTrials.gov ID	Disease	Cell type and source	Delivery	Location
	Treatment of Crohn's Disease; NCT02580617				Medicine, Seoul, Korea, Republic of
13.	Long-Term Safety and Efficacy of FURESTEM-CD Inj. in Patients with	CD	Allogeneic MSCs, UC	Local	Inje University Haeundae Paik Hospital, Busan, Korea, Republic of
	Moderately Active Crohn's Disease (CD); NCT02926300				Yeungnam University Medical Center, Daegu, Korea, Republic of
					Seoul National Universty Bundang Hospital, Seongnam-si, Korea, Republic of
14.	Pediatric MSCs-AFP Sub-Study for Crohn's Fistula; NCT03449069	CD	MSCs-AFP (Patch coated with ASC)	Local	(and 4 more) Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Rochester, Minnesota, USA

Table 2 (continued)

Abbreviations: *CD* Crohn's disease, *UC* ulcerative colitis, *ASC* adipose tissue–derived stem cells, *MSCs* mesenchymal stem cells, *BM-MSCs* bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells, *hUC* human umbilical cord, *MSCs-AFP* mesenchymal stem cell–coated anal fistula plug

Conclusion

The numerous open and randomized clinical studies on MSCs in the IBD therapy have unequivocally shown the safety of this approach and its potential efficiency, including the traditional treatment-resistant cases. The therapeutic action of MSCs originates from the potent immunomodulating effect resulting in the reduction of the autoimmune inflammation and stimulation of reparative processes in the intestinal mucosa. In turn, it prolongs the duration of remission, decreases the risk of relapses, and the frequency of hospital admissions. Based on the conducted clinical trials, a first medication based on allogeneic MSCs derived from the adipose tissue, Darvadstrocel (Alofisel, Takeda), has been approved in the EU for the therapy of complicated perianal fistulas in patients with luminal CD. A promising approach in the treatment of fistulizing CD is the use of biomaterials as carriers for MSCs (fistula plugs coated with MSCs). Firstly, the donor cell survival is higher on a biomaterial. Secondly, the application of autologous MSCs enhances the therapeutic effect of fistula plugs.

However, presently there is no single established optimal protocol for MSCs transplantation in IBD therapy. Additional studies are warranted on the optimal MSCs source, dosage, delivery method, and optimal treatment frequency. Despite the achievement of positive results, further preclinical and clinical studies are

required to enhance the efficiency of both local and systemic MSCs transplantation. Along with BM-MSCs and ASC, the use of MSCs from the placenta appears promising. With the techniques enhancing the efficacy of MSCs production, such as 3D culturing and application of large-volume bioreactors, it may essentially lower the price of MSCs production and make this unique therapy available for a wide circle of patients.

References

- Ahluwalia B, Moraes L, Magnusson MK, Öhman L (2018) Immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease and mechanisms of biological therapies. Scand J Gastroenterol 53:379–389. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365521.2018.1447597
- Akiyama K, Chen C, Wang D, Xu X, Qu C, Yamaza T, Cai T et al (2012) Mesenchymal-stem-cellinduced immunoregulation involves FAS-ligand-/FAS-mediated T cell apoptosis. Cell Stem Cell 10(5):544–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.03.007
- Barnhoorn MC, Wasser MNJM, Roelofs H, Maljaars PWJ, Molendijk I, Bonsing BA, Oosten LEM et al (2020) Long-term evaluation of allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell therapy for Crohn's disease perianal fistulas. J Crohns Colitis 14(1):64–70. https://doi.org/10. 1093/ecco-jcc/jjz116
- Bernardo ME, Fibbe WE (2013) Mesenchymal stromal cells: sensors and switchers of inflammation. Cell Stem Cell 13(4):392–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.09.006
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301–314
- Cao Y, Su Q, Zhang B, Shen F, Li S (2021) Efficacy of stem cells therapy for Crohn's fistula: a metaanalysis and systematic review. Stem Cell Res Ther 12(1):32. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02095-7
- Caplan AI (2016) MSCss: the sentinel and safe-guards of injury. J Cell Physiol 231(7):1413–1416. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25255
- Caplan AI, Correa D (2011) The MSCs: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell 9(1):11–15. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.06.008
- Cassinotti A, Passamonti F, Segato S (2012) Cell therapy in inflammatory bowel disease. Pharmacol Res 163:2021,105247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105247
- CCFA (The Crohn's & Colitis Foundation of America) (2014) The facts about inflammatory bowel diseases. https://www.crohnscolitisfoundation.org/sites/default/files/2019-02/Updated%20IBD %20Factbook.pdf
- Chen QQ, Yan L, Wang CZ, Wang WH, Shi H, Su BB, Zeng QH et al (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate TNBS-induced colitis by modulating inflammatory and autoimmune responses. World J Gastroenterol 19(29):4702–4717. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v19.i29.4702
- Cho YB, Park KJ, Yoon SN, Song KH, Kim DS, Jung SH, Kim M et al (2015) Long-term results of adipose-derived stem cell therapy for the treatment of Crohn's fistula. Stem Cells Transl Med 4(5):532–537. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0199
- de la Portilla F, Alba F, García-Olmo D, Herrerías JM, González FX, Galindo A (2013) Expanded allogeneic adipose-derived stem cells (eASCs) for the treatment of complex perianal fistula in Crohn's disease: results from a multicenter phase I/IIa clinical trial. Int J Color Dis 28(3): 313–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-012-1581-9
- Dias CB, Milanski M, Portovedo M, Horita V, Ayrizono Mde L, Planell N, Coy CS et al (2014) Defective apoptosis in intestinal and mesenteric adipose tissue of Crohn's disease patients. PLoS One 9(6):e98547. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098547
- Dietz AB, Dozois EJ, Fletcher JG, Butler GW, Radel D, Lightner AL, Dave M et al (2017) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells, applied in a bioabsorbable matrix, for treatment of

perianal fistulas in patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 153(1):59–62.e2. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.04.001

- GBD 2017 Inflammatory Bowel Disease Collaborators (2020) The global, regional, and national burden of inflammatory bowel disease in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 5(1): 17–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30333-4
- Ghannam S, Bouffi C, Djouad F, Jorgensen C, Noël D (2010) Immunosuppression by mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms and clinical applications. Stem Cell Res Ther 1(1):2. https://doi.org/10. 1186/scrt2
- Gronthos S, Arthur A, Bartold PM, Shi S (2011) A method to isolate and culture expand human dental pulp stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 698:107–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-999-4 9
- Guindi M, Riddell RH (2004) Indeterminate colitis. J Clin Pathol 57(12):1233–1244. https://doi. org/10.1136/jcp.2003.015214
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Igura K, Ashraf M (2011) Revascor, an injectable formulation of allogeneic, adult mesenchymal precursor cells for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases. Curr Opin Mol Ther 2011
- Han X, Ding S, Jiang H, Liu G (2021) Roles of macrophages in the development and treatment of gut inflammation. Front Cell Dev Biol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.625423
- Herreros MD, Garcia-Olmo D, Guadalajara H, Georgiev-Hristov T, Brandariz L, Garcia-Arranz M (2019) Stem cell therapy: a compassionate use program in perianal fistula. Stem Cells Int 6132340. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/6132340
- Hidalgo-Garcia L, Galvez J, Rodriguez-Cabezas ME, Anderson PO (2018) Can a conversation between mesenchymal stromal cells and macrophages solve the crisis in the inflamed intestine? Front Pharmacol 9:179. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00179
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider KH, Dorvash MR, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146
- Hu J, Zhao G, Zhang L, Qiao C, Di A, Gao H, Xu H (2016) Safety and therapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cell infusion on moderate to severe ulcerative colitis. Exp Ther Med 12(5): 2983–2989. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3724
- Irhimeh MR, Cooney J (2016) Management of inflammatory bowel disease using stem cell therapy. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):72–77. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888x10666150 728121738
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784
- Jo H, Eom YW, Kim HS, Park HJ, Kim HM, Cho MY (2018) Regulatory dendritic cells induced by mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate dextran sodium sulfate-induced chronic colitis in mice. Gut Liver 12(6):664–673. https://doi.org/10.5009/gnl18072
- Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ (2011) Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 474(7351):307–317. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10209
- Knyazev OV, Parfenov AI, Konoplyannikov AG, Kagramanova AV, Churikova AA, Ruchkina IN, Lishinskaya AA et al (2015) Safety of mesenchymal stem cells therapy in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases – 5 year follow-up. J Biotechnol Biomater 5:192. https://doi.org/ 10.4172/2155-952X.1000192

- Knyazev OV, Parfenov AI, Konoplyannikov AG, Boldyreva ON (2016) Use of mesenchymal stem cells in the combination therapy of ulcerative colitis. Ter Arkh 88(2):44–48. https://doi.org/10. 17116/terarkh201688244-48
- Knyazev OV, Kagramanova AV, Fadeeva NA, Lishchinskaya AA, Boldyreva ON, Noskova KK, Gudkova RB et al (2018a) Mesenchymal stromal cells of bone marrow and azathioprine in Crohn's disease therapy. Ter Arkh 90(2):47–52. https://doi.org/10.26442/terarkh201890247-52
- Knyazev OV, Fadeeva NA, Kagramanova AV, Belyakov NI, Orlova NV, Lishchinskaya AA, Konoplyannikov AG et al (2018b) Stem cell therapy for perianal Crohn's disease. Ter Arkh 90(3):60–66. https://doi.org/10.26442/terarkh201890360-66
- Ko JZ, Johnson S, Dave M (2021) Efficacy and safety of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell therapy for inflammatory bowel diseases: an up-to-date systematic review. Biomol Ther 11(1):82. https:// doi.org/10.3390/biom11010082
- Lazebnik LB, Konopliannikov AG, Kniazev OV, Parfenov AI, Tsaregorodtseva TM, Ruchkina IN, Khomeriki SG et al (2010) Use of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of intestinal inflammatory diseases. Ter Arkh 82(2):38–43
- Lei Y, Haider KH, Sim EKW (2006) Adult stem cells for cardiac repair: a choice between skeletal myoblasts and bone marrow stem cells. Exp Biol Med 231:8–11
- Liu J, Liu Q, Chen X (2020) The immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells on regulatory B cells. Front Immunol 11:1843. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01843
- Lopez-Santalla M, Hervas-Salcedo R, Fernandez-Garcia M, Bueren JA, Garin MI (2020) Cell therapy with mesenchymal stem cells induces an innate immune memory response that attenuates experimental colitis in the long term. J Crohn's Colitis 14(10):1424–1435. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa079
- Lv FJ, Tuan RS, Cheung KM, Leung VY (2014) Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 32(6):1408–1419. https://doi.org/10.1002/ stem.1681
- Maacha S, Sidahmed H, Jacob S, Gentilcore G, Calzone R, Grivel JC, Cugno C (2020) Paracrine mechanisms of mesenchymal stromal cells in angiogenesis. Stem Cells Int 2020:4356359. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4356359
- Magro F, Portela F (2010) Management of Inflammatory bowel disease with infliximab and other anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapies. BioDrugs 24:3–14. https://doi.org/10.2165/11586290-000000000-00000
- Mao F, Wu Y, Tang X, Kang J, Zhang B, Yan Y, Qian H et al (2017) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells relieve inflammatory bowel disease in mice. Biomed Res Int:5356760. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5356760
- Mendt M, Rezvani K, Shpall E (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes for clinical use. Bone Marrow Transplant 54(Suppl 2):789–792. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41409-019-0616-z
- Mianehsaz E, Mirzaei HR, Mahjoubin-Tehran M, Rezaee A, Sahebnasagh R, Pourhanifeh MH, Mirzaei H et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes: a new therapeutic approach to osteoarthritis? Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):340. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1445-0
- Ocansey DKW, Qiu W, Wang J, Yan Y, Qian H, Zhang X, Xu W, Mao F (2020) The achievements and challenges of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy in inflammatory bowel disease and its associated colorectal cancer. Stem Cells Int. 7819824, 18 pp. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/ 7819824
- Ommer A, Herold A, Joos A, Schmidt C, Weyand G, Bussen D (2012) Gore BioA fistula plug in the treatment of high anal fistulas initial results from a German multicenter-study. Ger Med Sci 10: Doc13. https://doi.org/10.3205/000164
- Panés J, García-Olmo D, Van Assche G, Colombel JF, Reinisch W, Baumgart DC, Dignass A et al (2016) Expanded allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (Cx601) for complex perianal fistulas in Crohn's disease: a phase 3 randomised, double-blind controlled trial. Lancet 388(10051):1281–1290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31203-X
- Panés J, García-Olmo D, Van Assche G, Colombel JF, Reinisch W, Baumgart DC, Dignass A et al (2018) Long-term efficacy and safety of stem cell therapy (Cx601) for complex perianal fistulas

in patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 154(5):1334-1342.e4. https://doi.org/10. 1053/j.gastro.2017.12.020

- Prockop DJ (2009) Repair of tissues by adult stem/progenitor cells (MSCss): controversies, myths, and changing paradigms. Mol Ther 17(6):939–946. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2009.62
- Sairenji T, Collins KL, Evans DV (2017) An update on inflammatory bowel disease. Prim Care 44(4):673–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pop.2017.07.010
- Samoylova EM, Kalsin VA, Bespalova VA, Devichensky VM, Baklaushev VP (2017) Exosomes: from biology to clinics. Genes Cells XII(4):7–19. https://doi.org/10.23868/201707024
- Scott LJ (2018) Darvadstrocel: a review in treatment-refractory complex perianal fistulas in Crohn's disease. BioDrugs 32(6):627–634. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40259-018-0311-4
- Sisakhtnezhad S, Alimoradi E, Akrami H (2017) External factors influencing mesenchymal stem cell fate in vitro. Eur J Cell Biol 96(1):13–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcb.2016.11.003
- Siyu L, Fei L, You Z, Baeku J, Qiang S, Shu G (2020) Immunosuppressive property of mscs mediated by cell surface receptors. Front Immunol 11:1076. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.01076
- Spaggiari GM, Capobianco A, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Mingari MC, Moretta L (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit natural killer–cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. Blood 111(3):1327–1333. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-02-074997
- Terai S, Tsuchiya A (2017) Status of and candidates for cell therapy in liver cirrhosis: overcoming the "point of no return" in advanced liver cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol 52(2):129–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-016-1258-1
- Tolar J, Le Blanc K, Keating A, Blazar BR (2010) Concise review: hitting the right spot with mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cells 28(8):1446–1455. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.459
- Wang S, Miao Z, Yang Q, Wang Y, Zhang J (2018) The dynamic roles of mesenchymal stem cells in colon cancer. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 7628763:8 pp. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7628763
- Williams JT, Southerland SS, Souza J, Calcutt AF, Cartledge RG (1999) Cells isolated from adult human skeletal muscle capable of differentiating into multiple mesodermal phenotypes. Am Surg 65(1):22–26
- Yabana T, Arimura Y, Tanaka H, Goto A, Hosokawa M, Nagaishi K, Yamashita K et al (2009) Enhancing epithelial engraftment of rat mesenchymal stem cells restores epithelial barrier integrity. J Pathol 218(3):350–359. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2535
- Yang R, Huang H, Cui S, Zhou Y, Zhang T, Zhou Y (2020) IFN-γ promoted exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells to attenuate colitis via miR-125a and miR-125b. Cell Death Dis 11(7): 603. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-02788-0
- Zhang J, Lv S, Liu X, Song B, Shi L (2018) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell treatment for Crohn's disease: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Gut Liver 12(1):73–78. https://doi.org/ 10.5009/gnl17035
- Zhao T, Sun F, Liu J, Ding T, She J, Mao F, Xu W et al (2019) Emerging role of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes in regenerative medicine. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 14(6):482–494. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888X14666190228103230
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 7(2):211–228. https://doi.org/10.1089/107632701300062859



Extracellular Vesicles-Based Cell-Free Therapy for Liver Regeneration

Mustapha Najimi and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	222
Liver and Heart Connected and Non-connected Defects	223
Status on Cell-Based Therapy for Liver Diseases	225
Experimental Animal Studies	226
Cell-Free Therapy Approaches for the Liver	229
Diagnostic and Therapeutic Role of EVs in Liver Diseases	231
Conclusion and Future Perspectives	232
References	233

Abstract

The substantial worldwide burden of liver diseases and related complications is in line with the regular developments of innovative therapeutic strategies that could alleviate the number of patients requiring liver transplantation, the gold standard of care approved so far. Cell transplantation has brought new perspectives to treat those patients while keeping their own livers. The concept was simple as the transplanted cells were used to promote parenchymal regeneration and/or repairing. Isolated hepatocytes were initially applied and demonstrate the proof of concept of this approach at the clinical level. Stem cells, second-generation advanced therapy medicinal products, have provided many technological and logistical solutions to improve the wide clinical use of cell therapy. Mesenchymal stem cells were extensively developed to this end and show a significant ability to migrate in the recipient diseased liver, to differentiate in situ, and to exhibit

M. Najimi (🖂)

K. H. Haider

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_9

Laboratory of Pediatric Hepatology and Cell Therapy, Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique (IREC), Université catholique de Louvain (UCLouvain), Brussels, Belgium e-mail: mustapha.najimi@uclouvain.be

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

interesting immunomodulatory, immunosuppressive, and anti-fibrotic features. Most of those paracrine effects were mediated by potent bioactive molecules secreted by those stem cells. Extracellular vesicles represent a significant part of this secretome and display several interesting characteristics that support their development for liver-cell-free therapy. This chapter summarizes and discusses the significant advances related to cell-based and cell-free therapies currently achieved for the treatment of liver diseases. It also addresses the current challenges that extracellular vesicles-based therapy is dealing with before a future clinical use.

Keywords

Abbreviations

Cargo \cdot Exosomes \cdot Extracellular vesicles \cdot Hepatic \cdot Liver diseases \cdot Noncoding RNAs \cdot Secretome \cdot Stem cells

ACLF	Acute on chronic liver failure
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cells
HSCs	Hepatic stellate cells

Introduction

The heart and the liver, together with the lungs, constitute the central trio of organs that critically manage the primary physiological activities of the human body and also control the activities of other organ systems. Any defects impacting one or the other organ can consequently be fatal.

Due to its contractile function, the heart distributes oxygenated and nutrient-rich blood to all the body tissues and organs besides preserving body temperature (Yilmaz et al. 2013). Since antiquity, much interest has been focused on heart-related research. It has been described as a hot and dry organ and a center of intelligence and vitality in the human body. The structural and functional development of the heart is critical from birth to weaning as its increased activity has to be perfectly aligned with growing locomotor activity and thermoregulation (Rakusan et al. 1984; MacLellan and Schneider 2000). Such proliferative growth will completely stop after the end of this critical period (Rumyantsev 1977; Brodsky 1990; MacLellan and Schneider 2000).

On the other hand, the liver is the largest gland in the human body and concomitantly manages a broad range of high-level physiological and complex functions such as detoxification, protein synthesis, and biochemical production, and any alteration of which significantly impacts the physiological functioning of other body organs (Gebhardt and Matz-Soja 2014). Galen A. has considered the liver the primary organ of the human body because it is the source of the veins and the principal instrument of sanguification (Temkin and Straus 1946). Contrary to the heart, the critical period for the liver is from weaning to maturation (Wheatley 1972; Alison 1986; Brodsky 1990) primarily due to dietary changes (Wheatley 1972; Brodsky 1990; Vinogradov et al. 2001).

For many years, an established intimate interaction between both vital organs has been extensively reported as in the theoretical system of traditional Chinese and modern-day medicines (Zhang and Fang 2021). Avicenna also pointed out the functional interaction between the two vital organs in his famous book *The Canon of Medicine*.

The blood circulation between the liver and heart is primarily supporting such essential interorgan communication. Indeed, the hepatic artery and portal vein together allow 25% of cardiac output to reach the liver (Silvestre et al. 2014), while hepatic veins and the inferior vena cava are involved in the venous drainage toward the liver (Silvestre et al. 2014). Furthermore, such an interaction has also been described earlier during development (El-Hadi et al. 2020). The determination of the hepatic lineage is dependent on the pre-cardiac mesoderm. Indeed, it is wellaccepted that the emerging ventral endoderm should be spatially close with the pre-cardiac splanchnic mesoderm to follow a hepatic fate (Fukuda 1979; Fukuda-Taira 1981). The invagination of the foregut will lead the ventral wall of the endoderm abutting the developing heart. The septum transversum, which gives rise to the epicardium of the heart and the diaphragm, also plays a significant role in modulating the differentiation of hepatocytes that constitute metabolically highly active cell population of the liver. The mesenchyme compartment of the septum transversum collaborates with the developing heart to modulate the hepatic lineage specification in a paracrine manner (Rossi et al. 2001).

Liver and Heart Connected and Non-connected Defects

Structural and/or functional defects of one or the other organ will seriously impact health by negatively altering the quality of life and decreasing its expectancy. Hence, scientists and clinicians have shown a great interest in consistently developing novel and improving the existing therapeutic strategies dedicated to treating any defects of organs, the heart and liver. Irrespective of the etiology of the disease, perturbation of the functionality of the cells remains the primary cause of various pathologies. Thus, replacing, repairing, and/or reactivating the functionally perturbed cells remains the primary focus of all the innovative therapies currently being developed to address the root cause of the problem and restore the normal function of these organs.

Heart diseases are also associated with partial or complete disruption of blood flow to the heart muscle (coronary heart diseases) and altered contractile function, which will also negatively impact the blood flow to other organs like the brain (cerebrovascular diseases) (Ren et al. 2021). Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of morbidity and death worldwide, affecting nearly 17.9 million people as reported in 2019. Indeed, acute events, including heart attack and stroke, may be induced due to perturbed blood flow toward the brain, or the heart, due to the deposition of fatty plaques in the vessels, blood clots, or bleeding. Deaths related to heart attack and stroke represent 85% of cardiovascular diseases (WHO). Congenital or acquired structural abnormalities of the heart, including the valves or the heart muscle (rheumatic heart disease), as well as inherited disorders, are the other reported defects (Dimmeler 2011). Therefore, damaged or weakened organ will lead to heart failure that may be triggered by a heart attack or abnormally increased high blood pressure.

Cardiovascular diseases may be fatal for which no cure is available; however, they mostly remain preventable. Depending on the type and the severity of the illness, rigorous lifestyle changes, early start of proper medication according to the published guidelines, and surgery may ensure these patients have improved quality of life and live longer, with reduced hospitalization occurrences.

Akin to cardiovascular diseases, pathologies of the liver may lead to significantly altered liver functions. Such compromised liver function may happen at any age in life and may be caused by several internal and/or extraneous factors. Liver defects may be genetically inherited or acquired after viral infection, excessive alcohol consumption, and obesity. Inborn errors of liver metabolism happen as early as the neonatal stage and cause more than 300 different human diseases (Najimi, 2016). Although presenting features are specific for each genetic alteration, clinical disease manifestations include lethargy, vomiting, seizure, etc. Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment should limit critical extrahepatic impairments, including those occurring at the brain level. Therapeutic solutions applied so far include pharmacological, dietary, and surgical intervention (Najimi 2016). When conventional treatments fail to alleviate the disease symptoms, orthotropic liver transplantation (OLT) remains the gold standard and clinically most validated therapeutic approach to treat liver diseases (Wallot et al. 2002). However, donor shortage limits its widespread use worldwide (Kamath et al. 2001; Struecker et al. 2014; Najimi 2021).

Notably, there is mounting evidence in the literature that acute and chronic heart diseases might directly lead to reversible or irreversible deterioration of liver functions or vice versa (Poelzl and Auer 2015). This is well-supported by the existence of heart-liver and liver-heart axes primarily mediated by organokines specifically synthesized and secreted by the endocrine heart (16 cardiokines) and liver (Chiba et al. 2018; Jensen-Cody and Potthoff 2020; Meex and Watt 2017; Stephan and Haring 2013; Cannone et al. 2019). This means that the heart can modulate the liver metabolic functions, while heart diseases significantly affect the liver, an observation made since the nineteenth century (Komatsu et al. 2019). For example, heat failure may induce hypoxic hepatitis, and atrial fibrillation (arrhythmia) obviously induces hyper-coagulation. Heart failure, a general consequence of the cardiac pump dysfunction at the systolic (reduced contractility) or diastolic (altered relaxation and consequent ventricular filling) levels, is associated with severe hepatic congestion, which induces acute hepatocellular necrosis and raises liver enzyme blood concentrations, and direct or indirect serum bilirubin elevation.

The diseases of the liver also affect the functional status of the heart, including the role of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in promoting the development of cardiovascular diseases (i.e., coronary artery disease, structural myocardial alterations, and cardiac arrhythmias). Still, the pathophysiological mechanisms involved therein are not yet deciphered, although insulin resistance, visceral adiposity, subclinical generalized inflammation, dyslipidemia, and oxidative stress are potentially related pathways (Tana et al. 2019). End-stage liver diseases are also implicated in developing cirrhotic cardiomyopathies. In an animal model of liver cirrhosis, an abnormally increased expression of collagen isoforms was reported in the ventricular myocardial tissue that led to a raised cardiac stiffness and diastolic dysfunction (Glenn et al. 2011). Hence, sustained hemodynamic variations are behind both bridging fibrosis and cardiac cirrhosis. The consequent dysregulation of hepatic functions will lead to the impairment of the metabolism of cardiovascular drugs and potential, which can lead to an undesirable toxicity.

The functional liver-heart connection was also reported in genetic diseases. The best example is Alagille syndrome, a genetic disorder caused by abnormal bile ducts, in which subsequent perturbed bile flow induces significant scarring that prevents the liver from eliminating bloodstream wastes. Alagille syndrome is interestingly linked to an impaired blood flow from the heart to the lungs (pulmonic stenosis) (Tretter and McElhinney 2018).

The heart-liver interorgan connection is supported by the nature of the major risk factors of the heart disease (i.e., alcohol intake, unhealthy diet, etc.), whose processing and metabolism are managed primarily by the liver. Inversely, perturbation in the liver functionality (like raised blood lipids, obesity) will influence the quality of heart activity. Therefore, broadening our knowledge on both heart and liver physiopathology is mandatory for the design and dosage of preventive and therapeutic strategies dedicated to one or the other organ.

Status on Cell-Based Therapy for Liver Diseases

Although OLT remains the gold standard therapeutic option for treating liver diseases, the significantly increased donor shortage and the consequently enhanced mortality due to long waiting time limit its application worldwide (Kamath et al. 2001; Struecker et al. 2014; Najimi 2021). The more extended living grafts are unfortunately associated with posttransplantation complications and morbidity, including long-term exposure to high levels of immunosuppression regimens, deficits, or delays in development (Moreno and Berenguer 2006). This has prompted the development of innovative strategies that may restore liver function, especially for indications where liver transplantation is not the ultimate treatment, or at least support the patient while waiting for a graft to be transplanted. From the early experiment involving hepatocyte transplantation in a rat model of Crigler-Najjar syndrome by Groth et al. (1977), cell-based therapy has progressed a long way to involve stem cell and progenitor cell engraftment for liver diseases treatment (Sun et al. 2014). The cells are generally infused as a cell suspension via the vascular system without compromising or alteration of the structural integrity of the diseased liver (Najimi et al. 2016; Forbes et al. 2015). The portal vein system remains the optimal injection site from which the suspended cell will be delivered (Regmi et al. 2019). The aim is to allow transplanted cells to reach the liver parenchyma, where the transplanted cells can function after engraftment as well as in a paracrine manner (Iansante et al. 2018). Cell-based therapy preserves the recipient's liver, and it may be repeatedly applied with no significant complications (Wang et al. 2019).

The proof of concept of cell-based therapy for treating liver diseases has been demonstrated by using hepatocytes isolated from cadaveric donors (Ibars et al. 2016). Ibars and colleagues at Hepatic Cell Therapy Unit, Valencia, have shared their experience of working with five adults and four children with inborn metabolic diseases and have reported hepatocyte transplantation as a safe and viable option to generate metabolically functioning hepatocyte post engraftment. The transplanted hepatocytes were shown to display an ability to migrate from the injection site, replace the dead cells in the recipient hepatic parenchyma, and function in situ leading to vital restoration of deficient metabolic defects. Those data have also been confirmed by using stem/progenitor cells of intrahepatic and extrahepatic origins that can be expanded and differentiated into hepatocyte-like cells in vitro before transplantation.

Some of the important parameters that significantly impact the efficacy and prognosis after cell-based liver therapy include the quality of the source organ from which the cells will be isolated, the quality and yield of cell suspension post-isolation and expansion, or post-cryopreservation and thawing, as well as the nature and severity of the targeted disease, etc. (Zhu et al. 2020). Understanding of these impacting factors will not only streamline, optimize, and standardize the protocols, but it will have practical value in terms of the fast-emerging concept of individualized treatment of the patients.

Experimental Animal Studies

Cell-based therapy dedicated to treating liver diseases has been firstly assessed on surgical animal models in which liver regeneration can be physiologically induced like after partial and total hepatectomy (Alwahsh et al. 2018; Forbes et al. 2015). Animal models of inherited metabolic diseases with single specific liver enzymatic defects have also been widely used. Mostly genetically modified, those animal models exhibit significant liver damage and hepatocyte structural and functional perturbations. These conditions provide a high advantage for transplanted healthy cells to survive, engraft, and proliferate in situ. The best example is the mouse model overexpressing the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene within the liver as albumin promoter drove its expression. This experimental mouse model displays a severe hepatic injury, while transplanted hepatocytes are able to effectively reconstitute the whole liver mass (Sandgren et al. 1991). Crossed with the (SCID = Severe Combined Immunodeficient) mice, those genetically modified animal models did allow the deep study of human cells behavior after transplantation like in fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase knockout Fah-/-, Rag2-/-Il2rg-/- mice (Ohshita and Tateno 2017; He et al. 2010).

Animal models in which liver diseases were pharmacologically induced and mimicked did allow the evaluation of cell-based therapy efficacy in acquired defect settings, i.e., nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, fibrosis/cirrhosis, etc. (Al-wahsh et al. 2018), but also under acute liver failure conditions like by using acetaminophen (APAP). Although animal models have demonstrated the potential of transplanted healthy cells to integrate into recipient's livers and to correct hepatic defects and even animal improved rate of survival, the higher number of combinations involving animal models and types of transplanted cells is not yet supporting the establishment of a standardized application of cell-based therapy and its translation to the clinic. Accordingly, preclinical models deeply recapitulating human diseases at the cellular and molecular levels are still lacking although trials using large transgenic or genetically deficient animals, i.e., macaques and pigs, have been reported. On the same note, despite the use of stem cells from different tissue sources, there is an obvious lack of consensus among the stem cell researchers about the ideal cell choice (Gounder et al. 2017). From among the different cell types, mesenchymal stem cells have been extensively studied for cell-based therapy of liver diseases and have progressed to the clinical phase studies more than any other cell type (de Miguel et al. 2019).

Clinical Studies

Encouraging preclinical data of liver cell therapy have supported the exploration of its usefulness at the clinical level, primarily when no other therapeutic option can be applied. This also has been supported by the reduced invasiveness of cell delivery intervention, the repeatability of cell infusions, and safety posttransplantation (Najimi et al. 2016). After successfully recovering good quality and significantly high yield of clinically approved human liver cell suspensions, hepatocyte transplantation, under the proof of concept and first in man configurations, has been applied in several centers worldwide, and data from patients with different etiologies have been reported. Indeed, the durability of the effect posttransplantation as shown on several patients with inborn errors of liver metabolism was quite variable and dependent on several factors including the yield of cells infused, the type of the analyses performed, as well as the severity of the disease. The lack of appropriate clinical trials reporting deep investigations on safety and efficacy (only very few were reported so far) makes it very difficult to formulate any conclusions on the definitive clinical use of isolated hepatocytes. Furthermore, although hepatocyte transplantation did show its ability to be used at least as a bridge to transplantation, still limitations are hampering the rapid clinical development of such therapeutic option, including the significant scarcity of good-quality raw material and the inability to long-term preserve the isolated cells due to their poor ability to survive and proliferate in vitro as well as post-cryopreservation/thawing.

Recent advances in studying stem/progenitor cells have highlighted their potential in providing several solutions to the limitations encountered when isolated hepatocytes were used, such as self-renewal, plasticity, and paracrine potency. Stem/progenitor cells have been looked for and isolated from different tissues and organs at any age including the liver itself. Although with exciting preclinical results like those reported on embryonic stem cells (ESCs) (Woo et al. 2012; Asahina et al. 2006) and FIRST MENTIONED HERE human-induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) (Corbett and Duncan 2019; Sekine et al. 2020; Takeishi et al. 2020), only MSCs are considered one of the most well-studied and extensively characterized cell types currently applied for clinical evaluation on liver diseases (Luan et al. 2021; Zhang et al. 2020). Their use in the humans has also been supported by the excellent safety profile and tolerance reported in the translational experimental studies and the ongoing trials. Fifty-nine clinical studies are registered so far in which both allogeneic and autologous MSCs isolated from different tissues were used to target various acute and chronic liver defects. A recently published pooled analysis of 39 published studies involving MSCs for various liver defects has reported that compared with the conventional treatment, MSC therapy significantly improves liver function in terms of the model of end-stage liver disease score; albumin, alanine aminotransferase, and total bilirubin levels; and prothrombin time, up to 6 months after administration (Zhao et al. 2018). Interestingly, subgroup analysis showed that single injection via hepatic artery of MSCs was more effective than peripheral intravenous injections. Moreover, bone marrow-derived MSCs were more effective than umbilical cordderived MSCs. Recent technological advances did allow knowing and learning more on the optimal conditions for banking, large-scale production and cryopreservation, stability of MSCs, and treatment methodology/approach, which would ultimately lead to provide the best-quality cell suspension to the patient.

Liver cells of mesenchymal phenotype and stem/progenitor profile have also been described in both mice and humans. While directly isolated from mouse livers, those cells were obtained after primary culture of human liver parenchymal cell suspensions and displayed variable levels of plasticity (Herrera et al. 2006; Najimi et al. 2007; El-Kehdy et al. 2016). Those cells isolated from the adult human liver are currently developed under industrial settings (GMP large-scale expansion) to be clinically tested as advanced therapy medicinal products to treat liver diseases. For instance, HepaStem[®] has been successfully used in patients with urea cycle defects and Crigler-Najjar syndrome in a phase I/II clinical study in Europe aiming at evaluating its safety and preliminary efficacy at 6 and 12 months post-infusion. In parallel to their safety profile, transplantation of those cells was associated with de novo urea synthesis in most urea cycle diseased patients. It also decreased bilirubin level only in some of the Crigler-Najjar patients (Smets et al. 2019). Both metabolic effects were reported at 6 months post-HepaStem® transplantation. Advances in understanding the behavior of MSCs in targeting liver diseases have also highlighted their potent paracrine features. Indeed, this has been revealed by both in vitro analyses in which the secretome of those cells was shown to contain several bioactive molecules and in vivo, in which many described positive effects were not associated with the engraftment of transplanted cells in the recipients' livers. HepaStem has been recently applied on cirrhotic patients with acute on chronic liver failure (ACLF) or with acute decompensation at risk of developing ACLF and has been shown to significantly improve the altered liver functions in parallel to systemic inflammation and survival rate of the transplanted patients (Nevens et al. 2021).

Cell-Free Therapy Approaches for the Liver

Thanks to the information recovered from advanced clinical trials, it becomes more consistent that the beneficial clinical effects of transplanted cells were more related to their paracrine potential and aligned with their reported low engraftment (Haider and Aziz 2017). Other lessons learned from those clinical trials are the cell expansion culture timing and costs, the high procoagulant activity of the transplanted cells, their entrapment in the lung tissue when peripherally infused which may reduce their potency, and the cytogenetic abnormalities that may happen during large-scale production and/or long-term culture in vitro that may render the cell tumorigenic post engraftment (Prockop et al. 2010; Nikitina et al. 2018). On the same note, maintenance of the quality of the cell preparation and avoidance of batch-to-batch variations remains one of the major hurdles to achieve optimal prognosis (Haider, 2018). Similarly, survival of the donor cells post engraftment significantly reduces the feasibility, although various strategies, such as transient immunosuppression and preconditioning of donor cells, have been adopted successfully (Haider et al. 2004, Xiao et al. 2004, Haider and Ashraf 2012).

The fast-emerging strategy of cell-free therapy using both soluble and particulate components of stem cell paracrine secretions has given encouraging data which is comparable with the cell-based therapy (Haider and Aslam 2018). Extracellular vesicles (EVs), one of the insoluble components of cellular paracrine secretion, have been considered to be a significant component of the MSCs' secretome that could be delivered precisely and that could have influential paracrine and endocrine contribution toward the intercellular communications (Raposo and Stahl 2019; Devaraj et al. 2021). Significant technological advancements have led to the isolation and purification of these nano-sized entities from the soluble factors of the cell secretome, and they have been extensively characterized for yield and contents – under different physiopathological conditions (Borgovan et al. 2019). EVs have also been proposed to discriminate between stem cell populations depending upon their tissue of origin, which will help in categorizing and characterizing them to reduce batch-to-batch variation in their preparation (Hur et al. 2020).

Accordingly, their potential use as a therapeutic alternative to cell transplantation may bring interesting solutions for easy and widespread clinical use. Indeed, infusion of EVs could be safer as many cell-related posttransplantation reactions, like procoagulant activity, thrombogenic effect, ectopic cell migration, and differentiation, might not be considered. The simple recovery and purification of the cell supernatant containing EVs will make the production process much cheaper while following the same production and storage paths as the small molecules. Furthermore, the structural aspects of the EVs are essential to protect the cargo contents for a smooth "physiological" transfer to the target cells after fusion with the cell membrane (Haider and Aramini 2020). This latter feature is quite interesting as it will allow the manipulation of their internal and/or membranous contents for targeted tissue and material delivery.

The diverse parenchymal and non-parenchymal cell composition of the liver should be perfectly aligned with a high level of coordinated intercellular
communication to ensure the complex vital functions that such organ manages (Devaraj et al. 2021). EVs secreted by liver cells may be critical tools for the establishment of a fine-tuned crosstalk between neighboring and distant cells at the physiological as well as pathological levels. The content of EVs has been reported to be involved in the alteration of acute and chronic immune-inflammatory responses associated with several liver diseases, including those chemically or virally induced. Such alteration is due to a perturbed communication between the various liver cell types and between the liver and other organs (Babuta and Szabo 2021). As shown in the normal liver, quiescent hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) can modulate parenchymal regeneration via cell migration and immune responses and facilitate tissue remodeling after damage. Therefore, the EVs of each liver cell type may adapt the content and yield of their cargo depending on the liver defect. Many consider the circulating pools of such entities as noninvasive diagnosis biomarkers and exploit them as potential targets for developing innovative treatments.

An increasing number of preclinical studies dealing with evaluating the therapeutic potential of EVs in liver diseases are noticed. Diverse strategies, using both native and modified EVs, have been investigated to target many aspects of liver defects, including inflammation (inhibition of infiltrating cells or potentiation of the intrahepatic immune response), tissue regeneration (inhibiting the injury and/or promoting hepatocyte proliferation), viral intrahepatic infection, fibrosis/cirrhosis, and liver cancer (Driscoll et al. 2021). Transplantation of EVs is associated with an improvement of liver defects. It has confirmed the multiple modes of action of these entities, including inhibition of inflammation, hepatocyte apoptosis, autophagy and HSCs activation, the fundamental cell event behind the initiation, and sustaining of liver fibrosis (Lee et al. 2021).

In acute liver failure or injury, the therapeutic effects of EVs have been studied posttransplantation in different appropriate animal models. MSCs derived from bone marrow, umbilical cord, and adipose tissue were mainly used and did show significant mitigation of inflammation, autophagy, and apoptosis in parallel to stimulation of hepatocyte proliferation and activation of the adaptive immune system (Jin et al. 2018; Jiao et al. 2019; Haga et al. 2017; Yao et al. 2019). Such modifications have significantly attenuated the levels of circulating inflammatory markers and the necrotic parenchymal areas and accordingly restored the altered liver functions. Those data have been associated with the presence of noncoding RNAs, like H19, miR-17, and miR-455-3p.

In the ischemia/reperfusion animal model, EVs from MSCs fuse with the membranes of the hepatocytes and stimulate their proliferation, which further significantly decreases transaminases levels and histopathological scores (Du et al. 2017). Transplantation of exosomes and their migration to the liver are followed by a significant inhibition of the ALF induced by D-GalN/LPS treatment in mice due to an inhibition of hepatic mononuclear cells and cell apoptosis (Chen et al. 2017). In addition, anti-fibrotic effects of EVs have been reported posttransplantation in the widely used CCl4-treated animal model as demonstrated by the inhibition of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, intrahepatic inflammation, and hepatocyte apoptosis (Li et al. 2013; Devaraj et al. 2021).

iPSCs have also been used to generate MSCs as they display higher survival and proliferation than their adult stem cell counterparts (La Greca et al. 2018). When transplanted in ALF animal models, EVs from those cells display the same therapeutic effects as restoration of normal transaminases levels, thanks to significant inhibition of hepatocellular necrosis and sinusoidal congestion (Povero et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2017). EVs from the iPSCs-derived MSCs effectively protect hepatocytes and stimulate their proliferation via the sphingosine-1-phosphate pathway (Du et al. 2017). In chronic liver disease settings, EVs from MSCs of adult (bone marrow, umbilical cord, adipose tissue, and amniotic fluid) or embryonic origin (ESC, iPSCs) can improve fibrosis as experimentally shown both in vitro and in vivo (Povero et al. 2019; Li et al. 2013; Rong et al. 2019; Mardpour et al. 2018). Several features have improved following EVs transplantation, including the expression of ECM-specific disorganization markers, of activated HSCs and infiltrated immune cells, and hepatocyte survival. So far, EVs-derived MSCs from the bone marrow, adipose tissue, and liver were studied under Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) settings both in vitro and in vivo (Weng et al. 2021; Bruno et al. 2013; Ko et al. 2015; Webber et al. 2015; Fonsato et al. 2018). The data reported the potential of those EVs to decrease the expression of HCC markers and inflammatory cytokines as well as the number of altered parenchymal cells (both by inducing apoptosis and decreasing proliferation) which leads to an improvement of liver functions.

Furthermore, an increase in the level and activity of circulating NKT cells and their recruitment to the diseased liver have been reported (Lou et al. 2015; Ko et al. 2015). Both coding and noncoding RNAs are implicated in those reported effects (Fonsato et al., 2018). This has led to assess the efficiency of EVs for which the cargo was modified to improve their migration (membrane engineering) as well as the targeted delivery (content engineering) of specific molecules related to the tissue and disease configurations (Tan et al. 2013; Lai et al. 2013; Ishiguro et al. 2020; Psaraki et al. 2021). Advances that may arise from studies using naïve EVs should help in addressing the molecules/pathways that would improve the therapeutic value of these entities. Accordingly, additional information is mandatory to know more on the appropriate EV doses to be applied; their quality, safety, potency; and durability of the effects posttransplantation, with the vision to implement their use at the clinical level.

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Role of EVs in Liver Diseases

Intercellular communication is not only crucial for maintaining liver homeostasis but is actively involved in initiating the disease and sustaining its progression. Under pathological conditions, the yield, the size, and the content of EVs are modulated depending on the disease severity (structural intra- and extra-organ alterations) and chronicity. Therefore, the circulating EVs will reach the target cells to deliver their encapsulated content after membrane fusion and/or to modulate the activity of specific signaling pathways consequently to membranous protein-protein interactions. The detection of EVs in blood or other fluid samples and their longer half-life support their development as a very attractive diagnostic tool that could deliver important cellular and molecular information to the diseased organ (Newman et al. 2020). Although circulating noncoding RNAs like miRNAs are reported to be concentrated in EVs, the diagnostic potential of EVs in liver diseases is still not well demonstrated due to the very limited data available so far. Ongoing investigations should potentially lead to improve (i) the selection and purity of hepatic EVs derived from the normal and diseased livers mainly at the cellular level and (ii) the discovery of altered biomarkers specific to each hepatic defect and in fine to address a highly sensitive diagnosis of those different and complex liver defects. While the simplest view of one EV type-one disease is difficultly supported, one could expect several layers of complex combination as for instance, of EVs and/or specific contents. Therefore, extensive investigations are mandatory to address several still raised questions before EVs can be applied at the clinical level, as for instance, the determination of (i) the best source of EVs to be applied for each of liver disease type, (ii) the optimal production process, and (iii) the efficient dose of EVs (fresh, cryopreserved, single and/or repeated injection, etc.) to be infused for each specific liver disease indication. Multi-omics analyses may certainly help in compiling and exploiting information related to their biogenesis, cargo, and function (Chitoiu et al. 2020).

Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Although OLT remains the gold standard therapeutic option to treat liver diseases, many patients do not have access to it. Furthermore, the waiting time for a graft often increases, while long-term posttransplantation follow-up highlights significant liver graft hepatitis and fibrosis posttransplantation as reported in the pediatric population (Kelly et al. 2016). Liver cell and stem cell transplantation has been developed as an alternative to OLT or a bridge to transplantation. Several successes and achievements of cell-based therapy have been reported both at the preclinical and clinical levels. Cell-based therapy was initially proposed to provide healthy and highly functional cells that will participate in repairing and regenerating the recipient's diseased liver. Advances in manipulating the trialed stem cells and evaluating their effects posttransplantation have instead revealed their potent paracrine effects in mitigating liver inflammation, fibrosis, and cancer. Thus, cell-free therapy is positioned as an alternative therapeutic approach able to overcome many limitations reported with cell-based therapy. The effects observed with EVs for the MSCs field are equal to those reported with MSC-based therapies. Still, extensive knowledge and investigations are mandatory before this approach can be fully considered at the clinical level. Indeed, more efforts are needed to understand the EVs-based communication between same and different cells under normal and pathological conditions knowing the complex cell composition of the liver. This means that we have to learn more about the identity of the bioactive molecules involved as well as on their respective mode(s) of action (direct and/or indirect) both at the cellular and molecular levels, knowing the heterogeneity of cells and factors causing liver defects. Once addressed, the logistical aspect is another milestone to achieve, in terms of cell material used for large-scale production, considering the heterogeneous aspect of MSC cultures, standardized characterization and quantification, and potency evaluation. At the in vivo level, much information is mandatory to determine the optimal formulation (fresh and/or cryopreserved), route of administration, and injection dose that should be aligned with an optimal safety profile of the transplanted patients.

References

- Alwahsh SM, Rashidi H, Hay DC (2018) Liver cell therapy: is this the end of the beginning? Cell Mol Life Sci 75:1307–1324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2713-8
- Asahina K, Teramoto K, Teraoka H (2006) Embryonic stem cells: hepatic differentiation and regenerative medicine for the treatment of liver disease. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 1(2): 139–156. https://doi.org/10.2174/157488806776956878
- Babuta M, Szabo G (2021) Extracellular vesicles in inflammation: focus on the microRNA cargo of EVs in modulation of liver diseases. J Leukoc Biol. https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.3MIR0321-156R
- Borgovan T, Crawford L, Nwizu C, Quesenberry P (2019) Stem cells and extracellular vesicles: biological regulators of physiology and disease. Am J Phys Cell Phys 317:C155–C166
- Brodsky VY (1990) Cell ploidy in the mammalian heart. In: Oberpriller J (ed) The development and regenerative potential of cardiac muscle. Gordon and Breach, London, pp 254–290
- Bruno S, Collino F, Deregibus MC, Grange C, Tetta C, Camussi G (2013) Microvesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells inhibit tumor growth. Stem Cells Dev 22: 758–771
- Cannone V, Cabassi A, Volpi R, Burnett JC Jr (2019) Atrial natriuretic peptide: a molecular target of novel therapeutic approaches to cardio-metabolic disease. Int J Mol Sci 20(13):3265. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20133265
- Chen L, Xiang B, Wang X, Xiang C (2017) Exosomes derived from human menstrual bloodderived stem cells alleviate fulminant hepatic failure. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):9
- Chiba A, Watanabe-Takano H, Miyazaki T, Mochizuki N (2018) Cardiomyokines from the heart. Cell Mol Life Sci 75(8):1349–1362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2723-6
- Chitoiu L, Dobranici A, Gherghiceanu M, Dinescu S, Costache M (2020) Multi-omics data integration in extracellular vesicle biology—utopia or future reality? Int J Mol Sci 21(22): 8550. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21228550
- Corbett JL, Duncan SA (2019) iPSC-derived hepatocytes as a platform for disease modeling and drug discovery. Front Med 6:265. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2019.00265
- de Miguel MP, Prieto I, Moratilla A, Arias J, Aller MA (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells for liver regeneration in liver failure: from experimental models to clinical trials. Stem Cell Int 2019 | Article ID 3945672 | https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3945672
- Devaraj E, Perumal E, Subramaniyan R, Najimi M (2021) Liver fibrosis: extracellular vesicles mediated intercellular communication in perisinusoidal space. Hepatology. https://doi.org/10. 1002/hep.32239
- Dimmeler S (2011) Cardiovascular disease review series EMBO Mol Med 3(12):697. https://doi. org/10.1002/emmm.201100182
- Driscoll J, Wehrkamp C, Ota Y, Thomas JN, Yan IK, Patel T (2021) Biological nanotherapeutics for liver disease. Hepatology 74(5):2863–2875
- Du Y, Li D, Han C, Wu H, Xu L, Zhang M, Zhang J, Chen X (2017) Exosomes from humaninduced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (hiPSC-MSCs) protect liver

against hepatic ischemia/ reperfusion injury via activating sphingosine kinase and sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling pathway. Cell Physiol Biochem 43(2):611–625

- El-Hadi H, Di Vincenzo A, Vettor R, Rossato M (2020) Relationship between heart disease and liver disease: a two-way street. Cell 9(3):567. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9030567
- El-Kehdy H, Pourcher G, Zhang W et al. (2016) Hepatocytic differentiation potential of human FL-MSC: in vivo and in vitro evaluation. Stem Cells In 6323486
- Fonsato V, De Lena M, Tritta S, Brossa A, Calvetti R, Tetta C, Camussi G, Bussolati B (2018) Human liver stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles enhance cancer stem cell sensitivity to tyrosine kinase inhibitors through Akt/mTOR/PTEN combined modulation. Oncotarget 9 (90):36151–36165. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.26319
- Forbes SJ, Gupta S, Dhawan A (2015) Cell therapy for liver disease: from liver transplantation to cell factory. J Hepatol 62(1 Suppl):S157–S169
- Fukuda S (1979) The development of hepatogenic potency in the endoderm of quail embryos. J Embryol Exp Morphol 52:49–62
- Fukuda-Taira S (1981) Location of pre-hepatic cells in the early developmental stages of quail embryos. J Embryol Exp Morpholog 64:73–85
- Gebhardt R, Matz-Soja M (2014) Liver zonation: novel aspects of its regulation and its impact on homeostasis. World J Gastroenterol 20(26):8491–8504. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20. i26.8491
- Glenn TK, Honar H, Liu H, Ter Keurs HE, Lee SS (2011) Role of cardiac myofilament proteins titin and collagen in the pathogenesis of diastolic dysfunction in cirrhotic rats. J Hepatol 55: 1249–1255
- Gounder SS, Kodiappan R, Chan SC, Veerakumarasivam A, Subramani B (2017) Adult stem cell therapy in liver cirrhosis management: current practices and future perspectives. Int J Stem Cell Res Ther 3:049. https://doi.org/10.23937/2469-570X/1410049
- Groth CG, Arborgh B, Björkén C, Sundberg B, Lundgren G (1977) Correction of hyperbilirubinemia in the glucuronyltransferase-deficient rat by intraportal hepatocyte transplantation. Transplant Proc 9(1):313–316
- Haga H, Yan IK, Borrelli DA, Matsuda A, Parasramka M, Shukla N, Lee DD, Patel T (2017) Extracellular vesicles from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against murine hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. Liver Transpl 23(6):791–803. https://doi.org/10. 1002/lt.24770
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0134
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2012) Preconditioning approach in stem cell therapy for the treatment of infarcted heart. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 111:323–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398459-3.00015-0
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: stem cells: from hype to real Hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (Eds.) Medicine & life sciences, DE GRUYTER, Geithner Straße13-10785 Berlin, Germany. (Published, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110642438
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267. https://doi.org/10.19070/2328-3548-1700040
- Haider KH, Ye L, Jiang S, Law PK, Sim EK (2004) Immunosuppression and xenotransplantation of cells for cardiac repair. Ann Thorac Surg 77(3):1133
- He Z, Zhang H, Zhang X et al (2010) Liver xeno-repopulation with human hepatocytes in Fah-/-Rag2-/- mice after liver cell therapy after pharmacological immunosuppression. Am J Pathol 177:1311–1319. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.091154

- Herrera MB, Bruno S, Buttiglieri S et al (2006) Isolation and characterization of a stem cell population from adult human liver. Stem Cells 24(12):2840–2850
- Hur YH, Cerione RA, Antonyak MA (2020) Extracellular vesicles and their roles in stem cell biology. Stem Cells 38(4):469–476. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.3140
- Iansante V, Chandrashekran A, Dhawan A (2018) Cell-based liver therapies: past, present and future. Phil Trans R Soc A B373:20170229. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2017.0229
- Ibars EP, Cortes M, Tolosa L, Gómez-Lechón MJ, López S, Castell JV, Mir J (2016) Hepatocyte transplantation program: lessons learned and future strategies. World J Gastroenterol 22(2): 874–886. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i2.874
- Ishiguro K, Yan IK, Lewis-Tuffin L, Patel T (2020) Targeting liver cancer stem cells using engineered biological nanoparticles for the treatment of hepatocellular cancer. Hepatol Commun 4:298–313
- Jensen-Cody SO, Potthoff MJ (2020) Hepatokines and metabolism: deciphering communication from the liver. Mol Metabol 44:101138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2020.101138
- Jiao Z, Ma Y, Liu X, Ge Y, Zhang Q, Liu B, Wang H (2019) Adipose-derived stem cell transplantation attenuates inflammation and promotes liver regeneration after ischemiareperfusion and hemihepatectomy in Swine. Stem Cells Int 18:2489584. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2019/2489584. PMID: 31827526; PMCID: PMC6885808
- Jin Y, Wang J, Li H, Gao S, Shi R, Yang D, Wang X, Wang X, Zhu L, Xiaojin (2018) Extracellular vesicles secreted by human adipose-derived stem cells (hASCs) improve survival rate of rats with acute liver failure by releasing lncRNA H19, Ebiomedicine 34, P231–242, August 01, 2018
- Kamath PS, Wiesner RH, Malinchoc M, Kremers W, Therneau TM, Kosberg CL, D'Amico G, Dickson ER (2001) A model to predict survival in patients with end-stage liver disease. Hepatology 33(2):464–470. https://doi.org/10.1053/jhep.2001.22172
- Kelly D, Verkade HJ, Rajanayagam J, McKiernan P, Mazariegos G, Hübscher S (2016) Liver Late graft hepatitis and fibrosis in pediatric liver allograft recipients: current concepts and future developments. Transplantation 22(11):1593–1602. https://doi.org/10.1002/lt.24616
- Ko SF, Yip HK, Zhen YY, Lee CC, Lee CC, Huang CC et al (2015) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell exosomes suppress hepatocellular carcinoma growth in a rat model: apparent diffusion coefficient, natural killer T-cell responses, and histopathological features. Stem Cells Int 2015:853506
- Komatsu H, Inui A, Kishiki K, Kawai H, Yoshio S, Osawa Y, Kanto T et al (2019) Liver disease secondary to congenital heart disease in children. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 13(7):651– 666. https://doi.org/10.1080/17474124.2019.1621746
- La Greca A, Solari C, Furmento V et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles from pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cells acquire a stromal modulatory proteomic pattern during differentiation. Exp Mol Med 50:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-018-0142-x
- Lai RC, Yeo RW, Tan KH, Lim SK (2013) Exosomes for drug delivery—a novel application for the mesenchymal stem cell. Biotechnol Adv 31:543–551
- Lee SM, Lee SD, Wang SZ, Sarkar D, Lee HM, Khan A, Bhati C et al (2021) Effect of mesenchymal stem cell in liver regeneration and clinical applications. Hepatoma Res 7:53. https://doi.org/10.20517/2394-5079.2021.07
- Li T, Yan Y, Wang B, Qian H, Zhang X, Shen L, Wang M et al (2013) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate liver fibrosis. Stem Cells Dev 22: 845–854. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0395
- Lou G, Song X, Yang F, Wu S, Wang J, Chen Z et al (2015) Exosomes derived from miR-122modified adipose tissue-derived MSCs increase chemosensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hematol Oncol 8:122
- Luan Y, Kong X, Feng Y (2021) Mesenchymal stem cells therapy for acute liver failure: recent advances and future perspectives. Liver Res 5(2):53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livres.2021. 03.003

- MacLellan WR, Schneider MD (2000) Genetic dissection of cardiac growth control pathways. Annu Rev Physiol 62:289–319. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.62.1.289
- Mardpour S, Hassani SN, Mardpour S, Sayahpour F, Vosough M, Ai J, Aghdami N et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles derived from human embryonic stem cell-MSCs ameliorate cirrhosis in thioacetamide-induced chronic liver injury. J Cell Physiol 233:9330–9344. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jcp.26413
- Meex RCR, Watt MJ (2017) Hepatokines: linking nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and insulin resistance. Nat Rev Endocrinol 13(9):509–520. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.56
- Moreno R, Berenguer M (2006) Post-liver transplantation medical complications. Ann Hepatol 5(2):77–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1665-2681(19)32022-8
- Najimi M (2021) Cell- and Stem Cell-Based Therapies for Liver Defects: Recent Advances and Future Strategies. In: Haider, K.H. (eds) Stem Cells. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-77052-5 11
- Najimi M, Defresne F, Sokal EM (2016) Updated Advances and Current Challenges in Cell Therapy for Inborn Liver Metabolic Defects. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(8):1117–25. https:// doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0260
- Najimi M, Khuu ND, Lysy P et al (2007) Adult derived human liver mesenchymal-like cells as a potential progenitors' reservoir of hepatocytes? Cell Transplant 16(7):717–728
- Najimi M, Defresne F, Sokal EM (2016) Updated advances and current challenges in cell therapy for inborn liver metabolic defects. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(8):1117–1125. https://doi.org/10. 5966/sctm.2015-0260
- Nevens F, Gustot T, Laterre PF et al (2021) A phase II study of human allogeneic liver-derived progenitor cell therapy for acute on-chronic liver failure and acute decompensation. JHEP Rep 3(4):100291
- Newman LA, Sorich MJ, Rowland A (2020) Role of extracellular vesicles in the pathophysiology, diagnosis and tracking of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Med 9(7):2032. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/jcm9072032
- Nikitina V, Astrelina T, Nugis V, Ostashkin A, Karaseva T, Dobrovolskaya E, Usupzhanova D et al (2018) Clonal chromosomal and genomic instability during human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells long-term culture. PLoS One 13(2):e0192445. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0192445
- Ohshita H, Tateno C (2017) Propagation of Human Hepatocytes in uPA/SCID Mice: Producing Chimeric Mice with Humanized Liver. In: Stock P, Christ B (eds) Hepatocyte Transplantation. Methods in Molecular Biology, vol 1506. Humana Press, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-1-4939-6506-9 6
- Poelzl G, Auer J (2015) Cardiohepatic syndrome. Curr Heart Fail Rep 12(1):68–78. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11897-014-0238-0
- Povero D, Pinatel EM, Leszczynska A, Goyal NP, Nishio T, Kim J, Kneiber D et al (2019) Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles educe hepatic stellate cell activation and liver fibrosis. JCI Insight 4(14):e125652. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.125652
- Prockop DJ, Brenner M, Fibbe WE, Horwitz E, Le Blanc K, Phinney DG, Simmons PJ et al (2010) Defining the risks of mesenchymal stromal cell therapy. Cytotherapy 12(5):576–578
- Psaraki A, Ntari L, Karakostas C, Korrou-Karava D, Roubelakis MG (2021) Extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: the regenerative impact in liver diseases. Hepatology. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.32129
- Rakusan K, Hoofd L, Turek Z (1984) The effect of cell size and capillary spacing on myocardial oxygen supply. Adv Exp Med Biol 180:463–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-4895-5 44
- Raposo G, Stahl PD (2019) Extracellular vesicles: a new communication paradigm? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(9):509–510. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0158-7
- Regmi S, Pathak S, Thanh TP, Nguyen TT, Sung J-K, Yook S, Oh J et al (2019) Intraportally delivered stem cell spheroids localize in the liver and protect hepatocytes against GalN/LPSinduced fulminant hepatic toxicity. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:230. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1337-3

- Ren J, Bi Y, Sowers JR, Hetz C, Zhang Y (2021) Endoplasmic reticulum stress and unfolded protein response in cardiovascular diseases. Nat Rev Cardiol 18(7):499–521. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41569-021-00511-w. Epub 2021 Feb 22. PMID: 33619348
- Rong X, Liu J, Yao X, Jiang T, Wang Y, Xie F (2019) Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes alleviate liver fibrosis through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:98. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1204-2
- Rossi JM, Dunn NR, Hogan BL, Zaret KS (2001) Distinct mesodermal signals, including BMPs from the septum transversum mesenchyme, are required in combination for hepatogenesis from the endoderm. Genes Dev 15(15):1998–2009. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.904601
- Rumyantsev PP (1977) Interrelations of the proliferation and differentiation processes during cardiac myogenesis and regeneration. Int Rev Cytol 51:186–273
- Sandgren EP, Palmiter RD, Heckel JL et al (1991) Complete hepatic regeneration after somatic deletion of an albumin-plasminogen activator transgene. Cell 66:245–256
- Sekine K, Ogawa S, Tsuzuki S, Kobayashi T, Ikeda K, Nakanishi N, Takeuchi K et al (2020) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived liver buds with chemically defined and animal origin-free media. Sci Rep 10:17937. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73908-1
- Silvestre OM, Bacal F, Ximenes RO, Carrilho FJ, D'Albuquerque LA, Farias AQ (2014) Cardiohepatic interactions – from humoral theory to organ transplantation. Arq Bras Cardiol 102(6):e65–e67. https://doi.org/10.5935/abc.20140079
- Smets F, Dobbelaere D, McKiernan P et al (2019) Phase I/II trial of liver derived mesenchymal stem cells in pediatric liver based metabolic disorders. Transplantation 103(9):1903–1915
- Stephan N, Haring HU (2013) The role of hepatokines in metabolism. Nat Rev Endocrinol 9(3): 144–152. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2012.258
- Struecker B, Raschzok N, Sauer IM (2014) Liver support strategies: cutting-edge technologies. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 11(3):166–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2013.204. Epub 2013 Oct 29. PMID: 24166083
- Sun K, Xie X, Xie J, Jiao S, Chen X, Zhao X et al (2014) Cell-based therapy for acute and chronic liver failures: distinct diseases, different choices. Sci Rep 4:6494. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep06494
- Takeishi K, de l'Hortet AC, Wang Y, Handa K, Guzman-Lepe J, Matsubara K, Morita K et al (2020) Assembly and function of a bioengineered human liver for transplantation generated solely from induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep 31(9):107711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020. 107711
- Tan A, Rajadas J, Seifalian AM (2013) Exosomes as nano-theranostic delivery platforms for gene therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65:357–367
- Tana C, Ballestri S, Ricci F, Di Vincenzo A, Ticinesi A, Gallina S, Giamberardino MA et al (2019) Cardiovascular risk in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Int J Environ Res Public Health 16:3104. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph16173104
- Temkin O, Straus WI Jr (1946) Galen's dissection of the liver and of the muscles moving the forearm: translated from the "anatomical procedures". Bull Hist Med 19(2):167–176
- Tretter JT, McElhinney DB (2018) Cardiac, aortic, and pulmonary vascular involvement in Alagille syndrome. In: Kamath B, Loomes K (eds) Alagille syndrome. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-94571-2_6
- Vinogradov AE, Anatskaya OV, Kudryavtsev BN (2001) Relationship of hepatocyte ploidy levels with body size and growth rate in mammals. Genome 44(3):350–360. https://doi.org/10.1139/ g01-015
- Wallot MA, Mathot M, Janssen M, Hölter T, Paul K, Buts JP, Reding R et al (2002) Long-term survival and late graft loss in pediatric liver transplant recipients – a 15-year single-center experience. Liver Transpl 8(7):615–622. https://doi.org/10.1053/jlts.2002.34149
- Wang J, Sun M, Liu W, Li Y, Li M (2019) Stem cell-based therapies for liver diseases: an overview and update. Tissue Eng Regen Med 16(2):107–118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13770-019-00178-y
- Webber J, Yeung V, Clayton A (2015) Extracellular vesicles as modulators of the cancer microenvironment. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2015; 40: 27–34

- Weng Z, Zhang B, Wu C et al (2021) Therapeutic roles of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in cancer. J Hematol Oncol 14:136. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01141-y
- Wheatley DN (1972) Binucleation in mammalian liver. Studies on the control of cytokinesis in vivo. Exp Cell Res 74(2):455–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(72)90401-6
- Woo D-H, Kim S-K, Lim H-J, Heo J, Park HS, Kang S-Y, Kim S-E (2012) Direct and indirect contribution of human embryonic stem cell–derived hepatocyte-like cells to liver repair in mice. Gastroenterology 142:602–611
- Xiao Y-F, Min J-Y, Morgan JP (2004) Immunosuppression and xenotransplantation of cells for cardiac repair. Ann Thorac Surg 77(2):737–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2003. 08.036
- Yao J, Zheng J, Cai J, Zeng K, Zhou C, Zhang J, Li S et al (2019) Extracellular vesicles derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate rat hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury by suppressing oxidative stress and neutrophil inflammatory response. FASEB J 33(2): 1695–1710. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201800131RR. Epub 2018 Sep 18
- Yılmaz MB, Nikolaou M, Mebazaa A (2013) Cardiohepatic interactions in heart failure. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg 13(7):731–732. https://doi.org/10.5152/akd.2013.250
- Zhang Y, Fang XM (2021) Hepatocardiac or cardiohepatic interaction: from traditional Chinese medicine to Western medicine. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2021:6655335. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2021/6655335
- Zhang S, Yang Y, Fan L, Zhang F, Li L (2020) The clinical application of mesenchymal stem cells in liver disease: the current situation and potential future. Ann Transl Med 8(8):565. https://doi. org/10.21037/atm.2020.03.218
- Zhao L, Chen S, Shi X, Cao H, Li L (2018) A pooled analysis of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for liver disease. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0816-2
- Zhu C, Dong B, Sun L, Wang Y, Chen S (2020) Cell sources and influencing factors of liver regeneration: a review. Med Sci Monit 26:e929129. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.929129



Current State of Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Diseases

Yong Sheng Tan, Qi Hao Looi, Nadiah Sulaiman, Min Hwei Ng, and Daniel Law Jia Xian

Contents

Introduction	241
Aging of the Heart	242
Heart Disease	244
Conventional Therapies for Heart Disease	245
Mechanisms of Action of Stem Cells in Restoring the Heart Function	246
Clinical Evidence of Cell-Based Intervention in Ameliorating Heart Disease	248
Acute Myocardial Infraction	251
Heart Failure	255
Refractory Angina	256
Limitations of Stem Cell Therapy	257
Future Perspectives	259
Combination with Gene Therapy	259
Exosomes	259
Biomaterials	260
Conclusion	260
Cross-References	261
References	261

Abstract

Heart disease is very common among older adults and is one of the main causes of death worldwide. With age, the functionality of the heart will decrease following the changes in the cardiomyocytes and cardiac tissue. Generally, the number of

Y. S. Tan

Cardiothoracic Department, Serdang Hospital, Kajang, Selangor, Malaysia

Q. H. Looi Future Cytohealth Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

N. Sulaiman · M. H. Ng · D. Law Jia Xian (⊠) Centre for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine (CTERM), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre (UKMMC), Jalan Yaacob Latif, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia e-mail: nadiahsulaiman@ukm.edu.my; angela@ppukm.ukm.edu.my; danieljx08@gmail.com; lawjx@ppukm.ukm.edu.my

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 10

cardiomyocytes will decrease, the number of senescent cells will increase, the cardiac tissue will become thicker, and the contractility will diminish. Besides, heart diseases such as myocardial infarction and heart failure also will reduce the functionality of the heart. Currently, heart disease is normally treated with medication and surgery. In severe conditions, the patient will be recommended to opt for a heart transplant. However, medication and surgery cannot reverse the pathological changes in the heart, and it is very difficult to find a suitable heart for transplantation. Stem cell therapy offers a glimpse of hope to these patients as the cells can stimulate the proliferation of cardiac progenitor cells and cardiomyocytes as well as secrete the paracrine factors which modulate the tissue environment to promote regeneration. Even though stem cells, e.g., mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and embryonic stem cells (ESCs), have been shown to differentiate into cardiomyocytes in vitro, however, there is a lack of evidence to prove that the transplanted cells can reconstitute the myocardium in vivo. The number of clinical trials using stem cells to treat heart disease is still very limited. Results from these trials suggested that stem cell therapy is safe and provides certain benefits to the patients. Nonetheless, there is still a long way to go for the researchers to identify the ideal cell source and therapy protocol to achieve a greater therapeutic effect.

Keywords

Cardiomyocyte \cdot Heart diseases \cdot Heart failure \cdot Infarction \cdot Myocardial \cdot Stem cell \cdot Therapy

List of Abbreviation	IS	
----------------------	----	--

ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
AF	Atrial fibrillation
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
Ang-1	Angiopoietin-1
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
ASCs	Adipose-derived stromal cells
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BM	Bone marrow
BMMC	Bone marrow mononuclear cell
BMSCs	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CCS	Canadian Cardiovascular Society
CPCs	Cardiac progenitor cells
CSCs	Cardiac stem cells
CT	Computed tomography
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
eNOS	Human endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
ESC	Embryonic stem cell
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor

HLHS	Hypoplastic left heart syndrome
I/C	Intracoronary
I/V	Intravenous
IDO	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IL	Interleukin
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cell
ISCT	International Society for Cell & Gene Therapy
LVAD	Left ventricular assist device
LVDd	Left ventricular end-diastolic internal diameter
LVEDV	Left ventricular end-diastolic volume
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
LVESV	Left ventricular end-systolic volume
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MI	Myocardial infarction
MLHFQ	Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire
MNCs	Mononuclear cells
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
NO	Nitric oxide
NYHA	New York Heart Association
PCL	Polycaprolactone
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PGF	Placental growth factor
PLLA	Poly-L-lactic acid
PSI	Perfusion score index
RA	Refractory angina
RCTs	Randomized controlled trials
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SAQ	Seattle Angina Questionnaire
SPECT	Single-photon emission computed tomography
T/E	Transendocardial
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
UC-MSCs	Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WMSI	Left ventricular-wall motion score index

Introduction

A lively heart is vital to keep the body healthy and to maintain the body's homeostasis. The heart, together with the vascular system, is responsible for delivering blood throughout the body. Nowadays, the world population is growing older rapidly as people live longer due to better healthcare. Aging leads to progressive changes in heart structure and deterioration of heart function. As a result, aging is the dominant risk factor for the heart disease. The incidence and prevalence of heart disease increase with age, and heart disease is one of the leading causes of death worldwide (Yazdanyar and Newman 2009).

Proper management of the aging heart and prompt treatment of heart disease are vital to extend the healthy lifespan of older adults and patients with heart disease, respectively. Unfortunately, there is no definitive aging heart therapy. On the same note, pharmacological and surgical interventions can achieve limited results in mending the ailing heart as these therapies primarily help to control the signs and symptoms, but fail to reverse the pathological changes and structural damage. The long waiting list is hindering the patients with advanced heart disease from getting a heart transplant.

Despite a significant reduction in cardiovascular mortality over the last decades, especially in the developed countries, cardiovascular disease remains the leading cause of death in many parts of the world (Mc Namara et al. 2019). Thus, stem cell therapists have focused on the developing novel cell-based treatment strategy for a wide range of heart diseases. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and mononuclear cells isolated from the bone marrow and cord blood are more commonly used to treat heart disease. In fewer studies, cardiac stem cells (CSCs), embryonic stem cell (ESC)-derived cardiac progenitor cells, and skeletal myoblasts also have been trialed to treat heart disease.

Stem cells modulate cardiac regeneration primarily through paracrine signaling (Gallina et al. 2015). The stem cell secretome consists of two major components, i.e., soluble proteins and extracellular vesicles (Maacha et al. 2020). However, there is inadequate evidence showing that the transplanted cells differentiate into cardiomyocytes to ameliorate the ailing heart, as indicated by the poor survival of transplanted cells (Abdelwahid et al. 2016). Furthermore, the wound environment with intense inflammation, hypoxic, and nutrient deprivation is hostile to the transplanted cells which are not prepared for such condition.

In this book chapter, we have discussed the effects of aging on the heart, the pathophysiology of heart diseases, and the contemporary treatment strategies with emphasis on the clinical evidence of using stem cell therapy to repair the damaged heart.

Aging of the Heart

Aging leads to progressive decline in body physiological function, eventually causing various diseases and health complications. For example, aging significantly affects the health of the heart, causing more inferior cardiac function and contributing to the development of heart failure and atrial fibrillation (AF) (Strait and Lakatta 2012; Steenman et al. 2017). Characteristics of the aging heart include alteration in left ventricular diastolic function, left ventricular hypertrophy, reduction of left ventricular systolic reserve, reduction of myocardial contractility, decrease in

maximum heart rate, and decrease in maximum left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) (Steenman and Lande 2017; Christou and Seals 2008; Chiao and Rabinovitch 2015).

Reduction of left ventricular diastolic filling rate is the first physiological modification observed at the early stage of aging. The reduction of left ventricular diastolic filling rate is compensated by increasing the atrial contraction in order to sustain the stroke volume and to maintain the LVEF (Fleg and Strait 2012). An increase in atrial contraction is associated with atrial hypertrophy and dilation. In addition, the adrenergic signaling will change to reduce the maximum heart rate to permit a longer filling time (Strait and Lakatta 2012). However, left ventricular contractility and response to β -adrenergic receptor activation reduced with age (Lakatta and Levy 2003). Hence, the myocardial mass will increase to compensate for the reduction in cardiac output. Ventricular hypertrophy is the result of an increase in the size and number of cardiomyocytes. Ventricular hypertrophy is reversible when caused by physiological changes such as in healthy athletes and pregnant women or irreversible when the modification is induced by pathology such as heart disease (Marketou et al. 2016). Although ventricular hypertrophy may provide temporary improvement in cardiac output, however, it will lead to deterioration of cardiac function, i.e., defective ventricular relaxation and filling and even heart failure, in the long term (Tardiff 2006).

The heart undergoes complex changes at the cellular and molecular level during aging. With age, there will be alteration in cellular composition resulting in a reduction of cardiomyocyte population as more cells undergo apoptosis, necrosis, and a decrease in CSC reservoir (Daniele et al. 2004; Chiong et al. 2011). These are due to the aging cardiomyocytes that are more susceptible to stress, including oxidative stress. Therefore, an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) production due to aging often results in stimulation of cardiomyocyte death. During cardiomyocyte necrosis, various toxic cellular components that can affect the survival of neighboring cardiomyocytes are released (North and Sinclair 2012). The remaining cardiomyocytes will become hypertrophic to compensate for the reduction in cell number. In addition, there will be changes in the collagen composition with a shift toward type I collagen and increased tissue fibrosis. Fibrotic tissue is linked with poorer myocardial contractility. The accumulation of amyloid protein in the aging myocardium is also related to reducing myocardial contractility (Steenman and Lande 2017).

Cardiac aging is also associated with mitochondrial dysfunction. Tocchi et al. have mentioned that aging mitochondria have inferior functionality, higher production of ROS, higher mitochondrial DNA mutation, higher respiratory chain dysfunction, dysregulation of mitochondrial fission and fusion, as well as suppressed mitophagy (Tocchi et al. 2015). All these lead to the accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria. Furthermore, dysregulation in calcium signaling, neurohormonal signaling, and nutrient and growth signaling are also related to the impaired cardiac function (Steenman and Lande 2017; Chiao and Rabinovitch 2015). Figure 1 shows the changes in the aging heart at the cellular and tissue level.



Fig. 1 Changes in aging heart at the cellular and tissue level. With age, the cardiomyocytes will undergo senescence, and the number of cardiomyocytes will reduce as the number of apoptotic and necrotic cells increases. The heart tissue also will become hypertrophic, ischemic, and fibrotic. These pathophysiological changes to the heart tissue are closely related to the changes in aging vascular system whereby the lumen is narrowed by the atherosclerotic plague, leading to poorer perfusion to the heart tissue

Heart Disease

Heart disease is prevalent and is one of the leading causes of death worldwide. There are many types of heart disease, e.g., myocardial infarction (MI) and heart failure, which affect a different part of the organ. MI, commonly known as heart attack, is caused by a sudden disruption in blood supply to the myocardium. The lack of oxygen leads to irreversible damage to the cardiomyocytes. At the cellular and tissue levels, prolonged ischemia causes cardiomyocyte apoptosis and necrosis, inflammation, loss of cellular glycogen, mitochondrial dysfunction, myofibril relaxation, and sarcolemmal disruption. Most of the affected cardiomyocyte cell death took place within the first 24 h of injury. Tissue inflammation following the injury will lead to the second wave of cardiomyocyte cell death. The human heart has inadequate regenerative capacity. Thus, the infarcted tissue will be replaced with fibrous scar tissue. Replacement of functional myocardium with nonfunctional fibrotic scar alters the cardiac contraction and impulse conduction and subsequently increases the prevalence of diastolic and systolic dysfunction, arrhythmia, and heart failure (Thygesen et al. 2018; Frangogiannis 2015).

Heart failure is a clinical syndrome characterized by the inability of the heart to pump sufficient blood to meet the body's metabolic demand. Many factors, including MI, can cause heart failure. Other etiologies include cardiomyopathies, valvular disease, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, myocarditis, infections, systemic toxins,



Fig. 2 Pathophysiology of aged and diseased heart. Aging and heart disease will lead to volume overload, pressure overload, loss of myocardium, and reduced contractility which in turn cause left ventricular dysfunction. Left ventricular dysfunction will reduce cardiac output and increase end-systolic and end-diastolic volume which eventually resulted in hypoperfusion and pulmonary congestion, respectively

and cardiotoxic drugs. Generally, the initial insult induced a destructive cycle that causes metabolic and morphological changes in the remaining cardiomyocytes. These cellular changes progressively lead to structural remodeling of the ventricle. Although remodeling initially occurs as a compensation mechanism or adaptive response to sustain cardiac performance, however, over time, the response becomes counterproductive and leads to ultrastructure abnormality, e.g., including hypertrophy and fibrosis, finally causing heart failure. In addition, with time, diastolic dysfunction and subsequent systolic dysfunction resulted in an enlarged, dilated, and low contracting ventricle (Kemp and Conte 2012; Johnson 2014). Figure 2 shows the pathophysiology of an aged and diseased heart.

Conventional Therapies for Heart Disease

Nowadays, treatment for heart disease depends on the type, etiology, symptoms, and severity of the disease. The treatment of ischemic heart disease starts from lifestyle modifications such as regular exercise, smoking cessation, and lipid control. Antiplatelet and antianginal medications are routinely used in those with established diagnosis via coronary angiogram or CT imaging of the heart. Ultimately such a

domain might require percutaneous coronary intervention (stenting) or coronary artery bypass surgery to tackle the blocked native coronary vessels (Dababneh and Goldstein 2020).

Structural heart disease and valvular heart disease deliberately warranted surgical intervention. The progressive valve defect can lead to ventricular dilatation and subsequently dilated cardiomyopathy because of the lengthening and destruction of muscle fibers (Frank-Starling law) (Epstein and Davis 2003). Therefore, cardio-thoracic surgeon referral is paramount to address the underlying valve pathology, and valve repair or replacement is mandatory to delineate the structural defect.

Another subgroup of patients commonly seen is those with heart failure due to varying pathology. These patients require medications, e.g., angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), beta-blockers, diuretics, aldosterone antagonists, vasodilators, digoxin, I(f) inhibitor, and angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor, to control the disease progression and achieve symptom control (Shah et al. 2017). Surgery might have limited benefits for these patients. However, advancements in technologies, such as left ventricular assist devices (LVAD), provide certain advantages in controlling heart failure (Hunt and Ross 2002; Birati and Jessup 2015). Eventually, a heart transplant is the only chance for them. However, there is a critical shortage of donor's hearts worldwide to meet the current demand for heart transplantation.

Mechanisms of Action of Stem Cells in Restoring the Heart Function

Stem cells are multipotent cells that reside in embryos and adult tissues. Stem cells are categorized either by their potency (e.g., totipotent, pluripotent, multipotent, or unipotent) or their source of origin (e.g., embryo, bone marrow, adipose tissue, Wharton's jelly, etc.) (Los et al. 2018). The most widely studied stem cells are MSCs that could be isolated from many adult tissues, e.g., bone marrow, adipose tissue, peripheral blood, skin, and heart. Researchers considered MSCs as the most attractive stem cells because it is easily obtainable from many adult tissues and can be expanded with ease in the laboratory to fetch many cells (Ding et al. 2011; Haider 2018). According to the characterization guideline proposed by the International Society for Cell & Gene Therapy (ISCT), MSCs are cells that (i) are plastic adherent in vitro; (ii) are more than 95% positive of CD105, CD73, and CD90, while less than 2% positive for surface antigen markers CD34, CD45, CD79/CD19, CD14/CD11b, and HLA-DR; and (iii) have in vitro tri-lineage, i.e., chondrogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation capability (Horwitz et al. 2005).

Stem cells have been reported to restore heart function via several mechanisms. Generally, the transplanted cells will stimulate proliferation of native cells in the heart and secrete paracrine factors which favor heart repair and regeneration (Fig. 3). Additionally, MSCs can differentiate into cardiomyocytes to repopulate the injured heart tissue (Hafez et al. 2016). However, based on the results from in vivo study, researchers have found that the benefits of MSCs-based therapy do not rely on its



Fig. 3 Functions of stem cell therapy. Transplanted cells secrete paracrine factors and extracellular vesicles that stimulate the proliferation of cardiac progenitor cells and cardiomyocytes and modulate the tissue environment to enhance the survival and function of preexisting cardiomyocytes

ability to repopulate the infarcted heart but more on its secretion of paracrine factors, which possess the immunomodulatory ability and support tissue regeneration. This is evidenced by the poor MSC retention in the infarcted area (Luger et al. 2017).

Despite the poor cell homing in the infarcted area, delivery of MSCs resulted in improved left ventricular function. This improvement has been attributed to the antiinflammatory effect of MSCs, whereby delivery of MSCs reduces the number of NK cells and neutrophils after MI, subsequently improving left ventricular function (Luger et al. 2017).

The body reacts to injury by producing pro-inflammatory factors such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-12 (IL-12), interleukin-17 (IL-17), and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) (Chaplin 2010). These factors are produced by both innate and adaptive immune cells and attract the migration of MSCs to the injury site. Thus, regardless of the origin, whether exogenously introduced or endogenously recruited, MSCs will be activated by these pro-inflammatory cytokines and polarized to the immunosuppressive phenotype. Upon activation, MSCs will modulate the innate and adaptive immune response by influencing the function of macrophages, natural killer cells, B cells, T cells, mast cells, neutrophils, and dendritic cells (Liau et al. 2020b; Wang et al. 2014).

MSCs mediate immunomodulation through paracrine secretion and cell-to-cell contact (Liau et al. 2020a).

MSCs have been reported to secrete a myriad of anti-inflammatory factors, including galectin-1, interleukin-10 (IL-10), interleukin-13 (IL-13), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), nitric oxide (NO), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), and indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (Lim et al. 2018; Kyurkchiev 2014; Haider and Aziz 2017). Even though inflammation is indispensable in wound healing, an overwhelming inflammation upon heart injury is detrimental for the remaining cardiomyocytes. Thus, stem cell therapy, particularly MSCs, can act as a potent modulator of inflammation response to promote heart regeneration. Immunomodulatory role of MSCs is apparent in restoring heart function during heart disease progression.

The paracrine effects of MSCs are not limited to the immune-related cells but including the resident cells, i.e., injured cardiomyocytes and cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs). Exosomes secreted by MSCs contain miR-221 and miR-19a that are involved in apoptosis suppression and activation of PI3K-Akt signaling pathway to promote cardiomyocyte survival and growth (Ward et al. 2018; Yu et al. 2015). The paracrine effects of MSCs are studied via conditioned media exposure in vitro or injection in vivo. Conditioned media are spent media or used media collected from cultured cells. In vitro study showed increased migration and proliferation of CPCs when cultured with MSCs-derived conditioned media. MSCs-derived conditioned media also exert protective effect against serum starvation and hypoxia-induced apoptosis (Nakanishi et al. 2008). On the other hand, in vivo study found that MSCs-derived conditioned media injected in a porcine MI model significantly reduced tissue infarct size and improved systolic function (Timmers et al. 2011). These were achieved by abrogation of TGF- β signaling and apoptosis resulting from phospho-SMAD2 suppression and activation of caspase 3 by the conditioned media (Timmers et al. 2008).

MSCs also improve the myocardial angiogenesis after injury. In a preclinical study using experimental rat model of MI, transplanted MSCs differentiated into endothelial cells and improved the myocardium angiogenesis (Siamak et al. 2003). Nonetheless, most of the studies found that MSCs promote angiogenesis mainly through paracrine signaling (Teng et al. 2015; Cai et al. 2009). MSCs secrete several proangiogenic factors, such as IL-6, TGF- β , basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1), placental growth factor (PGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), and monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) (Maacha et al. 2020; Tao et al. 2016). Moreover, MSCsderived exosomes are also rich in miRNAs, e.g., miR-210, miR-199-5p, miR-423-5p, miR-939, and miR-21-3p, that are proangiogenic (Baruah and Wary 2020).

Clinical Evidence of Cell-Based Intervention in Ameliorating Heart Disease

Several clinical trials have published their findings, while many more trials are underway and have been registered in the ClinicalTrials.gov database (Table 1) (Rajab et al. 2019). Worth mentioning is the BAMI trial that will recruit 3000 MI

	Cell delivery	10 I/M injections (20×10^6 cells)	I/M transplantation	I/C infusion	I/M transplantation (100×10^6 cells)	I/M transplantation $(3 \times 10^6 \text{ cells per kg})$	I/C infusion $(0.3 \times 10^6 \text{ cells per kg})$	6-10 I/M injections (up to 12,500 cells/ kg)	I/C infusion	I/M transplantation	I/C infusion (cells collected from 100-150 ml of BM)	I/M transplantation	Intravenous infusion	Fibrin patch transplanted at the	epicardium	I/M transplantation $(100 \times 10^6 \text{ cells})$	1 or 2 I/C infusions	I/M transplantation	I/M transplantation	T/E transplantation	(continued)
III CIIIIICAI IIIAIS.guy ualauase	Cell source	Autologous BM-MNCs	Allogeneic BM-MNCs	Autologous CSCs	Allogeneic AT-MSCs	Autologous UC-blood MNCs	Autologous CPCs	Autologous c-kit+ cells derived from the right atrial tissue	Autologous placenta cord blood MNCs	Allogeneic AT-stem cells	Autologous BM-MNCs	Autologous BM-MNCs	Allogeneic UC-derived MSCs	ESCs-derived CD15+ IsI-1+	progenitors	Allogeneic iPSCs-derived CMs	Autologous BM-MNCs	Autologous BMSCs	Autologous SkMs	Allogeneic BM-MPCs	
Cases listen	Patients number	25	5	50	10	30	34	32	12	81	5	5	60	10		5	81	59	170	566	
ais ushing signin cents to lical calutar uns	Disease	End-stage HF patients undergoing LVAD implantation	End-stage HF patients undergoing LVAD implantation	Ischemic HF	Ischemic HF	HLHS	HLHS	HLHS	HLHS	HF	HF	HF	HF	HF		HF	Chronic post-MI HF	Congestive HF	Congestive HF post-MI	Chronic HF due to systolic dysfunction	
	Phase	I/II	III/II	Π	I	I	Π	I	I	п	I/II	I/I	II/I	I		ı	III/III	1/II	III/III	Ш	
	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier	NCT00869024	NCT01759212	NCT01758406	NCT02387723	NCT01883076	NCT01829750	NCT03406884	NCT03431480	NCT03092284	NCT03145402	NCT03227198	NCT03180450	NCT02057900		NCT03763136	NCT01693042	NCT00644410	NCT00526253	NCT02032004	

Table 1 List of clinical trials using stem cells to treat cardiac diseases listed in Clinical Trials for database

Table 1 (continu	(pər				
ClinicalTrials.			Patients		
gov identifier	Phase	Disease	number	Cell source	Cell delivery
NCT02467387	Π	Nonischemic HF	23	Allogeneic BMSCs	I/V infusion (1.5 $ imes$ 10 ⁶ cells /kg)
NCT03043742	I	Chronic ischemic heart disease patients with laser revascularization surgery	10	Autologous BM-CD133+ cells	Injection into laser channels during trans-myocardial revascularization
NCT04236479		Congenital heart disease	36	Allogeneic BMSCs	Cardiopulmonary bypass $(1 \times 10^6, 10 \times 10^6, 20 \times 10^6, 40 \times 10^6, 80 \times 10^6$ cells/kg)
NCT02501811	Π	Ischemic cardiomyopathy	144	Autologous BMSCs or c-kit+ cells or both	15 T/E injections (150 \times 10 ⁶ MSCs, 5 \times 10 ⁶ c-kit+ cells)
NCT00313339	I	MI	31	Autologous BM-CD34+ cells	I/C infusion
NCT00384982	Π	MI	116	BM-MNCs	I/C infusion or I/C infusion+ I/M transplantation
NCT02672267	H	MI	50	Allogeneic ischemia-tolerant BMSCs	I/V infusion
NCT01291329	Π	MI	160	Allogeneic Wharton's jelly- MSCs	I/C infusion
NCT01392105	II/III	MI	80	Autologous BMSCs	I/C infusion (1 \times 10 ⁶ cells/kg)
NCT02439398	I/II	MI	55	Allogeneic CSCs	I/C infusion (35 \times 10 ⁶ cells)
NCT00313339	I	MI	31	Autologous BM-CD34+ cells	I/C infusion
NCT01187654	III/II	MI	80	BM-AC 133+ or MNCs	I/C infusion
NCT01569178	Ш	MI	350	Autologous BM-MNCs	I/C infusion
NCT00936819	Π	MI	47	Autologous EPCs or EPCs overexpressing eNOS	I/C infusion (20×10^6 cells)
Abbreviations: B syndrome; I/C, int stem cells; eNOS,	M, bone racoronar human e	matrow; BMSCs, bone marrow-derived y; <i>IV</i> , intravenous; LVAD, left ventricul ndothelial nitric oxide synthase; T/E, tr	l mesenchyr lar assist dev ansendocarc	nal stem cells; EPCs, endothelial proj rice; MI, myocardial infarction; MNC lial	genitor cells; HLHS, hypoplastic left heart s, mononuclear cells; MSCs, mesenchymal

250



Fig. 4 Stem cell therapy for heart diseases. Mesenchymal stem cells, cardiac stem cells, skeletal myoblasts, embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitor cells, and bone marrow mononuclear cells have been used to treat heart disease. The cells can be administered directly through the intravenous, intracoronary, and intramyocardial routes or assembled as cell sheet and cardiac patch to be transplanted at the epicardium

patients (Mathur et al. 2017). The patients will be divided equally into the stem cell treatment group, which would receive an intracoronary infusion of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMCs), and a control group patient who would be given only the standard therapy. The trial aims to determine if BMMC treatment can reduce all-cause mortality in acute MI (AMI) patients with an LVEF of $\leq 45\%$ after successful reperfusion. Another interesting study is the ENACT-AMI trial that applied autologous endothelial progenitor cells overexpressing human endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) to treat MI patients (Taljaard et al. 2010). This is the first trial combining cell and gene therapy to treat heart disease.

Multiple types of stem cells, e.g., MSCs and mononuclear cells isolated from different tissue sources, cardiac stem cells, skeletal myoblasts, and ESCs-derived CPCs, have been tested clinically to treat heart disease (Haider 2006). The cells were administered via different route, most commonly via direct transplantation to the myocardium or through the intracoronary infusion. Furthermore, the cells also can be injected intravenously and transplanted as a cell sheet or cardiac patch (Fig. 4) (Guo et al. 2020).

Acute Myocardial Infraction

Bone marrow cells in different forms have been tested in multiple randomized clinical trials to treat AMI. Most of the studies used the heterogeneous cell population, i.e., BMMCs, while some applied specific cell population such as bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), CD133+ bone marrow progenitor cells, and CD34⁺ CXCR4⁺ bone marrow cells.

Strauer et al. reported the intracoronary infusion of autologous BMMCs in ten AMI patients. They found that cell therapy is safe and effective in reducing the size of the infarcted region and improving cardiac function (Strauer et al. 2002). In another study that also administered autologous BMMCs via intracoronary route, the authors found no changes in left ventricular end-diastolic volume (LVEDV), significant improvement in left ventricular end-systolic volume (LVESV) and LVEF, and better regional contractility in the patients who received cell therapy compared to the patients who received standard therapy (Francisco et al. 2004).

Lipiec et al. infused autologous BMMCs via intracoronary route to 26 AMI patients and found no significant changes in LVEF, LVEDV, LVESV, and left ventricular-wall motion score index (WMSI) compared to the 13 patients in the control group after 6 months (Lipiec et al. 2009). However, the infarct area WMSI, perfusion defect extent, left ventricular perfusion score index (PSI), and infarct area PSI improved significantly in the stem cell group.

The FINCELL trial divided 80 AMI patients equally to the treatment group that received intracoronary BMMC injection and the placebo group that received media without cells (Huikuri et al. 2008). After 6 months, the treatment group showed more considerable improvement in LVEF compared to the placebo group. Ge et al. infused autologous BMMCs into the infarct-related coronary artery of ten AMI patients and found that LVEF increased while left ventricular end-diastolic internal diameter (LVDd) remained unchanged and myocardial perfusion defect scores decreased. This was compared with ten AMI patients who received bone marrow supernatant and showed no changes in LVEF and myocardial perfusion defect scores as well as larger LVDd (Ge et al. 2006). Cao et al. delivered autologous BMMCs via intracoronary route to 41 AMI patients as compared to normal saline solution without cells to 45 AMI patients in the control group (Cao et al. 2009). After 6 months, the LVEF improved significantly in the stem cell treatment group compared to the control treatment group. The improvement persisted for up to 4 years of follow-up.

The HEBE trial recruited 200 AMI patients and randomly assigned them to receive either an intracoronary infusion of BMMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, or standard therapy (Hirsch et al. 2010). The researchers observed no significant difference in the percentage of dysfunctional left ventricular segments that improved after treatment. Similarly, there was no observed difference between the cell treatment groups in terms of improvement in LVEF and changes in left ventricle mass, volume, and infarct size at 4 months after treatment as compared with the control group. The ASTANI trial treated 50 AMI patients with an intracoronary infusion of autologous BMMCs and found that stem cell therapy significantly increases the exercise time, peak heart rate, and percentage of heart rate reserves compared to the control group (50 patients) 6 months after the treatment (Lunde et al. 2007). However, no significant differences were detected for the changes in LVEF, LVEDV, WMSI, and infarct size between the two groups at 6 and 12 months (Lunde et al. 2006, Lunde et al. 2008). The REGENT trial involved intracoronary infusion of BMMCs and CD34+ CXCR4+ bone marrow cells to 80 AMI patients each (Tendera et al. 2009). At 6 months, the LVEF increased by 3% in both stem cell therapy groups but remained unchanged in the 40 control group patients. However, the observed improvement was statistically insignificant. Also, no significant changes were observed in LVESV and LVEDV. Nonetheless, the authors reported that stem cell therapy gave better results in patients with extremely poor LVEF.

In a study examining the effect of BMMC dosage, 66 MI patients were divided equally into 3 treatment groups, high-dose group $(100 \times 10^6 \text{ cells})$, low-dose group (10×10^6) , and a control group (without cell transplantation) (Meluzín et al.2006). All the three groups had intravenous administration of their respective treatment. The results showed that the high-dose group demonstrated significantly higher improvement in the peak systolic velocity of longitudinal contraction of the infarction wall compared to the low-dose group, and only the high-dose group after 3 months of follow-up. The significant improvement in LVEF compared to the control group after 3 months of follow-up. The significant improvement in LVEF persisted for up to 12 months (Meluzín et al. 2008). In a study that compared the effectiveness of intracoronary and intravenous administration of BMMCs, the authors reported no significant differences in the changes in echocardiographic parameters, i.e., LVEF, LVEDV, LVESV, and WMSI, at 6 months between the intravenous group, intracoronary group, and control group (Nogueira et al. 2009).

Many have raised the question regarding the optimal timing for stem cell therapy in post-MI patients. Thus, the TIME trial was designed to examine the safety and efficacy of intracoronary infusion of 150×10^6 autologous BMMCs at day 3 or 7 post-MI on 120 patients (Traverse et al. 2012). After 6 months, it was found that the timing of cell infusion does not affect the improvement in global and regional left ventricular function, whereby no significant differences were observed between the stem cell-based treatment groups. Furthermore, no significant differences were detected between the stem cell groups and the placebo group at 6 months and 2 years (Traverse et al. 2012, Traverse et al. 2018). The LateTIME trial used a similar treatment protocol; however, the cells were administered 2–3 weeks post-MI (Traverse et al. 2010). Similarly, results showed no differences in global and regional left ventricular function between the groups after 6 months (Traverse et al. 2011). The SWISS-AMI trial randomized 200 AMI patients in ratio 1:1:1 to receive early (5-7 days after AMI) administration of BMMCs, late (3-4 weeks after AMI) administration of BMMCs, and standard therapy (control group). At 4-month follow-up, there was no real difference in left ventricular function improvement between the two treatment groups and the control group (Sürder et al. 2013). Similarly, no improvement was observed during 12-month follow-up (Sürder et al. 2016). Thus, the timing of cell transplantation might be less important when using bone marrow cells to treat AMI.

The BONAMI trial recruited 101 AMI patients divided into the stem cell therapy group (52 patients) who received an intracoronary infusion of autologous bone marrow cells (98.3 \pm 8.7 \times 10⁶ cells) and control treatment group (49 patients) who received the sham infusion without cells (Roncalli et al. 2010). The authors reported that cell therapy significantly improved myocardial viability after 3 months. However, no differences were detected for the LVEF, global WMSI, and infarct size. The REGENERATE-AMI trial investigated intracoronary infusion of autologous

bone marrow cells to 55 AMI patients. Another 45 AMI patients in the placebo treatment group received normal saline without cells (Choudry et al. 2016). The results showed that the stem cell therapy group had greater improvement in LVEF and significantly higher myocardial salvage index than the placebo treatment group. In the BOOST trial that treated 30 AMI patients with an intracoronary infusion of autologous bone marrow cells, the researchers found that cell therapy is safe and helped to improve the diastolic function and LVEF compared to the control patients (30 patients) (Schaefer et al. 2006, Wollert et al. 2004). However, the follow-up study found that the significant improvement in LVEF diminished after 18 months (Meyer et al. 2006, Meyer et al. 2009). Nonetheless, the improvement in LVEF was maintained in the subgroup of patients with more transmural infarcts. In the multiple-arm BOOST-2 trials, the researchers found that intracoronary infusion of high dose and low dose of autologous bone marrow cells, γ -irradiated or not, did not significantly improve the LVEF (Wollert et al. 2017).

The LEUVINE-AMI trial applied autologous bone marrow-derived stem cells in 33 AMI patients, and another 34 patients in the control group received the placebo (Janssens et al. 2006). Stem cell-based treatment significantly reduced the myocardial infarct size and improved the regional systolic function compared to the placebo treatment group after 4 months. However, no significant differences were detected in LVEF, LVEDV, and LVESV. Grajek et al. intravenously infused bone marrow stem cells to 31 AMI patients. The authors found that it did not result in any significant improvement in LVEF, LVEDV, and LVESV compared to the 14 patients in the control group during 1-year follow-up (Grajek et al. 2009).

In the multicenter REPAIR-AMI trial, 101 patients received bone marrowderived progenitor cell infusion into the infarct-related coronary artery, and another 103 patients received placebo treatment (Schächinger et al. 2006). The progenitor cell-based therapy significantly improved LVEF, LVESV, and regional contractility compared to the placebo treatment at 4 months. Furthermore, at 2 years, the progenitor cell-based therapy group demonstrated a lower incidence of recurring MI, rehospitalization for heart failure, and death as well as higher improvement in LVEF compared to the placebo-treated group (Assmus et al. 2010). In the TOPCARE-AMI trial, 59 patients with AMI received an intracoronary infusion of circulating progenitor cells or bone marrow-derived progenitor cells and are followed of up to 5 years (Leistner et al. 2011; Schächinger et al. 2004). The results showed the long-term safety of intracoronary delivery of autologous circulating progenitor cells and bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in AMI patients. In addition, the patients also showed a sustained improvement in LVEF for 5 years without any significant difference between the two treatment groups.

Chen et al. examined the potential of using autologous BMSCs to treat AMI by intracoronary administrating the cells to 34 AMI patients with another 35 AMI patients in the control group receiving only the saline (Chen et al. 2004). Patients who received the stem cell-based therapy demonstrated significant improvement in LVEF, wall movement velocity over the infarcted region, LVEDV, and LVESV after 3 months compared to those in the control group.

Bartunek et al. reported that intracoronary infusion of CD133+ bone marrow progenitor cells in 19 AMI patients significantly improved the LVEF, left ventricular regional chordae shortening, and reduction of the perfusion defect compared to the 16 AMI patients without the stem cell therapy (Bartunek et al. 2005). However, it also increased the incidence of coronary events. In another study, the researchers compared intracoronary infusion of CD133+ cells from bone marrow and peripheral blood with the standard therapy (five patients each group) (Colombo et al. 2011). It was found that LVEF and wall motion score index remained stable for all groups, but the infarct-related myocardial blood flow was only increased in the bone morrow group after 1 year. In addition, infarct size and summed rest score decreased most significantly in the bone marrow-treated group.

Overall. some studies such as BOOST. TOCARE-AMI. FINCELL. REGENERATE-AMI, and REPAIR-AMI demonstrated improvement in global and regional left ventricular function after the bone marrow cell therapy. Nonetheless, there are also many trials, i.e., BONAMI, LEUVEN-AMI, HEBE, ASTAMI, BOOST-2, TIME, LateTIME, SWISS-AMI, and REGENT, which failed to detect significant functional improvement. Furthermore, in the systematic review and metaanalysis conducted by Fisher et al. in 2015, the authors recovered 41 randomized controlled trials (RCT) that compared the safety and efficacy of autologous bone marrow cells with no cell therapy group and found that there is insufficient evidence to prove the advantages of applying autologous bone marrow cells in MI patients (Fisher et al. 2015). These discrepancies might be due to the differences in the cell preparation technique, the number of cells administered, cell composition, and timing of cell administration.

Heart Failure

The FOCUS-CCTRN trial studied the safety of transendocardial injection of autologous BMMCs in end-stage ischemic heart disease patients (Perin et al. 2012). Results indicated that the mononuclear cells were well-tolerated, and the treatment showed a positive effect on myocardial perfusion and contractility. The investigators reported that the cell therapy resulted in a slight improvement in patients' LVEF but did not reduce LVESV or increase maximal oxygen consumption. In addition, the clinical trial also showed a positive correlation between the degree of LVEF improvement and the percentage of CD34⁺ and CD133⁺ cells. Specifically, every 3% increase in CD34 or CD133 cells was associated with an increase in LVEF of 3-5.9%. These critical findings suggested that the cellular composition does affect the clinical effectiveness of stem cell therapy. In 2016, Fisher et al. published a systematic review and meta-analysis that included 38 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and 1907 participants. The authors concluded that BMSCs therapy could reduce mortality and improve the cardiac function of patients with chronic ischemic heart disease and heart failure, albeit with the low quality of the collected evidence (Fisher et al. 2016). The BMSCs used in these RCTs included BMSCs, BMMCs, CD 133^+ cells, CD34⁺ cells, aldehyde dehydrogenase-bright cells, bone marrow aspirate concentrate, and G-CSF mobilized and cultured circulating mononuclear proangiogenic cells.

Interestingly, bone marrow stem cells have been cardiomyogenically induced for the treatment of heart failure clinically. The C-CURE trial used cardiopoietic stem cells (cardiomyogenic differentiated BMSCs) to treat patients with chronic heart failure (Bartunek et al. 2013). The 2-year follow-up showed that cell therapy is safe. In addition, the efficacy measurement at 6 months showed that LVEF increased, LVESV decreased, and 6-min walk distance improved significantly compared to the control group. Instead of expanding the cells in normoxic conditions like most studies, Butler et al. cultured the allogeneic BMSCs in hypoxic condition and used the cell to treat nonischemic cardiomyopathy (Javed et al. 2017). Treatment with ischemia-tolerant BMSCs is safe and significantly improved the 6-minute walking distance and Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire clinical summary score compared to the control group.

Apart from bone marrow stem cells, umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UC-MSCs) also have been used to treat heart failure. The RIMECARD trial applied allogeneic UC-MSCs to treat 15 patients with heart failure (Bartolucci et al. 2017). The cell therapy group demonstrated significant improvement in LVEF, New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class, and Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLHFQ) score. In a separate study, Zhao et al. administered UC-MSCs to treat chronic systolic heart failure. The authors reported improved 6-minute walk distance and LVEF improved besides significantly reduced mortality rate compared to the control group (Zhao et al. 2015).

In 2015, Menasché et al. reported the first clinical case of using human embryonic stem cell (ESC)-derived CPCs to treat severe heart failure (Menasche et al. 2015). The patient showed improvement in NYHA functional class and LVEF. More importantly, no adverse event was reported.

Refractory Angina

Refractory angina (RA) is a chronic condition (\geq 3 months) characterized by angina in the setting of coronary artery disease (CAD). Currently, RA cannot be controlled by conventional therapeutic interventions, angioplasty, coronary artery bypass surgery, or a combination of the two methods mentioned above. Hence, Losordo et al. conducted a phase II, randomized, controlled clinical trial involving 26 centers (167 patients) in the United States to treat patients with chronic RA with autologous stem cells (Losordo et al. 2011). In this study, patients received either low dose (1 × 10⁵ cells/kg) or high dose (5 × 10⁵ cells/kg) of G-CSF mobilized autologous CD34⁺ stem cells through the intramyocardial route. The 6-month and 12-month follow-up showed that only the low-dose group recorded a significant reduction in angina frequency and improvement in exercise tolerance. Similarly, the RENEW trial and clinical trial by Wang et al. that also administered autologous CD34⁺ stem cells showed a reduction in angina frequency, improvement in exercise tolerance, and improvement in the Canadian Cardiovascular Society (CCS) class compared to the placebo group (Povsic et al. 2016, Wang et al. 2010). Mathiasen et al. found benefit in treating patients with CAD and RA using BMSCs (Mathiasen et al. 2013; Haack-Sorensen et al. 2013). The results from the 3-year observation period showed that the cell therapy reduced the frequency of hospital admission, improved the exercise time, lowered the CCS class, increased the Seattle Angina Questionnaire (SAQ) scores, and exhibited long-term safety with no adverse effect. Other investigators assessing the use of bone marrow-derived stem cells to treat RA also reported encouraging results (Beeres et al. 2006; Vicario et al. 2004; Tse et al. 2007; van Ramshorst et al. 2009; Pokushalov et al. 2010).

The PROGENITOR trial and REGENT-VSEL trial applied transendocardial administration of autologous bone marrow CD133⁺ cells to treat patients with RA (Wojciech et al. 2017, Pilar et al. 2014). The results showed that cell therapy reduced frequency of angina and improved the CCS class in the PROGENITOR trial. Still, fewer promising findings were reported in the REGENT-VSEL trial that found no significant difference in single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) score, left ventricular function, and CCS class compared to the control group.

In a recent clinical trial (MyStromalCell trial), Qayyum et al. reported the intramyocardial administration of autologous adipose-derived stromal cells (ASCs) to treat 40 patients with RA with another 20 patients in the control group receiving normal saline (Qayyum et al. 2019). Patients treated with ASCs demonstrated improved metabolic equivalents, CCS class, and NYHA class compared to the control group during the 3-year observation period. In addition, the ASCs-treated group was able to maintain the exercise capacity, while deterioration was recorded in the control group. In the ATHENA trial that also used ASCs to treat RA, the authors found that more patients demonstrated improvement in HYHA class and CSS class than the placebo group (Henry et al. 2017).

Limitations of Stem Cell Therapy

Despite significant progress in clinical translation of cell therapy in heart disease over the past decade, many uncertainties remain regarding the most efficacious cell type, cell dosage, and route and timing of cell administration (Haider and Ashraf 2005). Adding to the complexity, there is growing evidence showing that stem cells harvested from elderly patients do not produce the same benefits from healthy donors (Haider et al. 2018). Collectively, these issues highlighted the need to investigate further the mechanisms underlying stem cell survival, plasticity, and functionality.

The most critical question yet to be answered is to find an ideal type of stem cells to treat heart diseases. For this purpose, it is crucial to understand the mechanisms of each type of stem cells in affecting the myocardial performance and also in modulating different cardiac pathologies. Different types of cells might be needed for diverse cardiac pathologies. Thus far, bone marrow-derived stem cells have been widely used clinically, and they have been proven safe and beneficial under certain circumstances. However, the cells' regeneration potential is controversial. CSCs can be patient-specific, but the tissue collection procedure is highly invasive, and the culture procedure needs further optimization, especially the upscaling process. An alternative option is to use the cardiomyogenic differentiated MSCs. In fact, the C-CURE trial has used the cardiomyogenic differentiated BMSCs to treat heart failure (Bartunek et al. 2013).

Another key factor for successful cell-based therapy is determining the optimal route of delivery. Cells can be injected intravenously, intracoronary, or directly into the myocardium, each with distinct pros and cons. Cell engraftment at the injury site majorly depends on the delivery strategy. Generally, cell engraftment improved through intramyocardial injection under direct vision at the injury site. Scaffoldbased cell delivery strategy is gaining popularity as it promotes the rate of cell survival and integration of transplanted cells in the hostile host environment besides ensuring site-specific delivery (Kc et al. 2019). In addition, the cells also can be expanded and transplanted as a monolayer or multilayer cell sheet (Guo et al. 2020). This method of cell delivery reduces the need for the transplanted cells to migrate long distance to home into the injured myocardium to participate in the repair process (Meluzin et al. 2006; Nogueira et al. 2009). Kanelidis et al. in their metaanalysis of preclinical and clinical studies found that intramyocardial injection of stem cells through catheter-based transendocardial stem cell injection provided more benefits than the intravenous route in terms of infarct size reduction and LVEF improvement (Kanelidis et al. 2017).

A few clinical trials have examined the effects of different cell dosages for cardiac regeneration (Meluzin et al. 2006). Averse to the findings of Meluzin et al. that found that the high-dose treatment is more effective in treating MI, Losordo et al. reported that the low-dose cell therapy gave better results in a patient with RA. The discrepancy could be due to their use in different cardiac pathologies and diverging routes of cell administration. For example, more cells are needed when using the intravenous and intracoronary routes of cell delivery compared to intramyocardial transplantation due to lower cell engraftment and vast distribution in nontargeted organs besides massive cell death post engraftment. Preconditioning protocols are being developed and optimized to support donor cell survival (Haider and Ashraf 2012) via various mechanisms including induction of pro-survival microRNAs (Kim et al. 2009).

Lastly, stem cells isolated from different individuals might vary in cellular composition, characteristics, and functionality. These variations contributed to the outcome disparity. Quality of the cell preparation remains an ultimate determinant of the outcome and success of cell-based therapy (Haider 2017). It is well known that human stem cells become less viable and dysfunctional with age and individuals with chronic diseases (Efimenko et al. 2015; Shahid and Haider 2016). Such conditions may alter the effectiveness of stem cell therapy. Therefore, the efficacy of autologous stem cells used in previous studies to treat older patients with heart disease may be inconsistent. Thus, the considerations mentioned earlier should be taken into account while interpreting the data of previous studies and designing future research for heart diseases besides developing strategies to restore reparability characteristics of the aging cells (Igura et al. 2011).

Future Perspectives

Supported by the advancement and introduction of new technology, various pharmacologic and genetic strategies are being developed to improve the currently available cell-based therapy for heart disease. These efforts include combination with gene therapy and biomaterial as well as application of stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles.

Combination with Gene Therapy

Recent advancements in high-precision genome-engineering CRISPR/Cas9 system have allowed the researchers to design gene therapy to up- or downregulate the expression of cardiac, vascular, or immune system-relevant gene(s) which is/are abnormally expressed and permanently correct disease-causing mutations in the adult cardiomyocytes. However, despite the tremendous promise, most studies encountered difficulties translating gene therapy to the clinical setting. For example, the recent CUPID2 trial that applied gene therapy (AAV1/SERCA2a) showed low efficacy in heart failure patients despite having encouraging results during the experimental preclinical studies (Greenberg et al. 2016). Discouraging results were also reported in the STOP-HF trial (Chung et al. 2015). Other gene-based innovations such as lineage reprogramming sound promising in theory. However, such intervention could introduce ectopic cardiomyocyte formation, and the activity of the transferred genes is not well-established.

Thus, a novel combinatorial approach of gene therapy and stem cell treatment may prove to be most feasible and efficacious (Haider et al. 2011). The combination therapy offers the advantage that cells can be genetically engineered ex vivo before transplantation, offering a safer alternative and more precise control of gene expression than gene therapy alone (Jiang et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008). Another potential strategy involves genetically engineered cell grafting using a mixture of physiologically relevant cell types, including stem cells, cardiomyocytes, and neuronal, vascular, and immune cells (Hosseini et al. 2018). These cells serve as vehicles to deliver the gene(s) or even microRNAs of interest to the heart and provide a more comprehensive regenerative strategy compared to each cell type without genetic modulation (Kim et al. 2012a, b).

Exosomes

Exosomes are membrane-bound vesicles produced by cells and contain a variety of factors, including nucleic acids, lipids, and proteins which are considered to be primarily responsible for intercellular transfer of bioactive molecules. More recently, exosomes-based research has gained intense interest as a fast-emerging cell-free therapy approach for many diseases, including heart disease (Haider and Aslam 2018).

The systematic review and meta-analysis conducted by Zhang et al. found that MSCssecreted exosomes improved the heart function in experimental animal model of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury (Zhang et al. 2016). Similarly, CSC-secreted exosomes were also reported to promote heart regeneration in experimental mouse model of MI (Ibrahim et al. 2014). Adamiak et al. reported that induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-secreted exosomes are more potent than iPSCs in myocardial reparability in vivo (Adamiak et al. 2018). Besides being equal or better than the original cells in cardiac protection, the use of exosomes is also safer by mitigating the risk of potential adverse effects observed in cell therapy, such as host immune rejection and tumor formation (Haider and Aramini 2020). These exciting results await future comprehensive clinical evaluations as most of the current findings are still at the preclinical stage.

Biomaterials

Retention and engraftment of transplanted cells at the injury site are crucial to maintaining the therapeutic effects. Unfortunately, regardless of the route of administration, the majority of the cells do not reach (intravenous and intracoronary injection) or engraft (intramyocardial injection) at the damaged myocardium. The poor cell engraftment limited the therapeutic benefits of stem cell therapy. Therefore, scaffolds, either in the form of nanofibers, cell sheets, biodegradable hydrogels, or decellularized tissues, have been utilized to deliver and promote cell retention in the infarcted myocardium. The scaffolds can be made from various biodegradable biomaterials, such as the natural alginate, collagen, and Matrigel, as well as synthetic polycaprolactone (PCL) and poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) (Reis et al. 2016). An ideal scaffold should be biodegradable and biocompatible having appropriate thickness and could provide mechanical support, besides being easy to handle and permitting precise placement. Currently, research is focused to develop an ideal scaffold for cardiac tissue engineering.

Conclusion

The contemporary treatment options show limited success for the treatment of heart diseases. Stem cell-based therapy has emerged as a novel approach. Even though the quality and quantity of the available data, especially the clinical data, are still limited, the results reported thus far are promising. Further in-depth mechanistic studies are warranted in the future to understand how stem cells work and to optimize the treatment protocol to improve the safety and efficacy of stem cell-based therapy. A combination of stem cells with gene therapy and biomaterial might be able to create a synergistic effect and is an area that needs to be further explored. Also, more efforts are needed to develop the cell-free exosome therapy to ensure its safety and efficacy before being used clinically as an alternative for stem cell therapy.

Cross-References

- Augmenting Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy of the Infarcted Myocardium with Statins
- ► Considerations for Clinical Use of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells
- Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair
- ▶ Molecular Signature of Stem Cells Undergoing Cardiomyogenic Differentiation
- ► Stem Cell Applications in Cardiac Tissue Regeneration
- ▶ Therapeutic Uses of Stem Cells for Heart Failure: Hype or Hope

Acknowledgments This work was supported by research grants (FF-2019-450/1 and FF-2020-038) from the Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia.

References

- Abdelwahid E, Kalvelyte A, Stulpinas A, de Carvalho KAT, Guarita-Souza LC, Foldes G (2016) Stem cell death and survival in heart regeneration and repair. Apoptosis 21(3):252–268
- Adamiak M, Cheng G, Bobis-Wozowicz S, Zhao L, Kedracka-Krok S, Samanta A et al (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived extracellular vesicles are safer and more effective for cardiac repair than iPSCs. Circ Res 122(2):296–309
- Assmus B, Rolf A, Erbs S, Elsässer A, Haberbosch W, Hambrecht R et al (2010) Clinical outcome 2 years after intracoronary administration of bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in acute myocardial infarction. Circ Heart Fail 3(1):89–96
- Bartolucci J, Verdugo FJ, González PL, Larrea RE, Abarzua E, Goset C et al (2017) Safety and efficacy of the intravenous infusion of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in patients with heart failure. Circ Res 121(10):1192–1204
- Bartunek J, Vanderheyden M, Vandekerckhove B, Mansour S, De Bruyne B, De Bondt P et al (2005) Intracoronary injection of CD133-positive enriched bone marrow progenitor cells promotes cardiac recovery after recent myocardial infarction. Circulation 112(9_supplement):I-178–I–183
- Bartunek J, Behfar A, Dolatabadi D, Vanderheyden M, Ostojic M, Dens J et al (2013) Cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart failure: the C-CURE (Cardiopoietic stem Cell therapy in heart failURE) multicenter randomized trial with lineage-specified biologics. J Am Coll Cardiol 61(23):2329–2338
- Baruah J, Wary KK (2020) Exosomes in the regulation of vascular endothelial cell regeneration. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:353
- Beeres SLMA, Bax JJ, Dibbets-Schneider P, Stokkel MPM, Fibbe WE, van der Wall EE et al (2006) Sustained effect of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell injection in patients with refractory angina pectoris and chronic myocardial ischemia: twelve-month follow-up results. Am Heart J 152(4):684.e11–684.e16
- Birati EY, Jessup M (2015) Left ventricular assist devices in the management of heart failure. Card Fail Rev 1(1):25–30
- Cai L, Johnstone BH, Cook TG, Tan J, Fishbein MC, Chen P-S et al (2009) IFATS collection: human adipose tissue-derived stem cells induce angiogenesis and nerve sprouting following myocardial infarction, in conjunction with potent preservation of cardiac function. Stem Cells 27(1):230–237
- Cao F, Sun D, Li C, Narsinh K, Zhao L, Li X et al (2009) Long-term myocardial functional improvement after autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells transplantation in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: 4 years follow-up. Eur Heart J 30(16):1986–1994

- Chaplin DD (2010) Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125(2 Suppl 2): S3–S23
- Chen S, Fang W, Ye F, Liu Y-H, Qian J, Shan S et al (2004) Effect on left ventricular function of intracoronary transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 94(1):92–95
- Chiao YA, Rabinovitch PS (2015) The aging heart. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 5(9):a025148
- Chiong M, Wang ZV, Pedrozo Z, Cao DJ, Troncoso R, Ibacache M et al (2011) Cardiomyocyte death: mechanisms and translational implications. Cell Death Dis 2(12):e244
- Choudry F, Hamshere S, Saunders N, Veerapen J, Bavnbek K, Knight C et al (2016) A randomized double-blind control study of early intra-coronary autologous bone marrow cell infusion in acute myocardial infarction: the REGENERATE-AMI clinical trial[†]. Eur Heart J 37(3):256–263
- Christou DD, Seals DR (2008) Decreased maximal heart rate with aging is related to reduced β -adrenergic responsiveness but is largely explained by a reduction in intrinsic heart rate. J Appl Physiol 105(1):24–29
- Chung ES, Miller L, Patel AN, Anderson RD, Mendelsohn FO, Traverse J et al (2015) Changes in ventricular remodelling and clinical status during the year following a single administration of stromal cell-derived factor-1 non-viral gene therapy in chronic ischaemic heart failure patients: the STOP-HF randomized Phase II trial. Eur Heart J 36(33):2228–2238
- Colombo A, Castellani M, Piccaluga E, Pusineri E, Palatresi S, Longari V et al (2011) Myocardial blood flow and infarct size after CD133+ cell injection in large myocardial infarction with good recanalization and poor reperfusion: results from a randomized controlled trial. J Cardiovasc Med 12(4):239–248
- Dababneh E, Goldstein S (2020) Chronic ischemic heart disease selection of treatment modality. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island
- Daniele T, Marcello R, Daria N, Ezio M, Alyssa M, Isao S et al (2004) Cardiac stem cell and myocyte aging, heart failure, and insulin-like growth factor-1 overexpression. Circ Res 94(4): 514–524
- Ding DC, Shyu WC, Lin SZ (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant 20(1):5-14
- dos Santos Nogueira FB, Silva SA, Haddad AF, Peixoto CM, de Carvalho RM, Tuche FAA et al (2009) Systolic function of patients with myocardial infarction undergoing autologous bone marrow transplantation. Arq Bras Cardiol 93(4):374–379
- Efimenko AY, Kochegura TN, Akopyan ZA, Parfyonova YV (2015) Autologous stem cell therapy: how aging and chronic diseases affect stem and progenitor cells. Biores Open Access 4(1): 26–38
- Epstein ND, Davis JS (2003) Sensing stretch is fundamental. Cell 112(2):147-150
- Fisher SA, Zhang H, Doree C, Mathur A, Martin-Rendon E (2015) Stem cell treatment for acute myocardial infarction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9:CD006536
- Fisher SA, Doree C, Mathur A, Taggart DP, Martin-Rendon E (2016) Stem cell therapy for chronic ischaemic heart disease and congestive heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 12(12): CD007888
- Fleg JL, Strait J (2012) Age-associated changes in cardiovascular structure and function: a fertile milieu for future disease. Heart Fail Rev 17(4–5):545–554
- Francisco F-A, Alberto SRJ, Javier G-F, Eugenia FM, Jesús PM, Luis de la F et al (2004) Experimental and clinical regenerative capability of human bone marrow cells after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 95(7):742–748
- Frangogiannis NG (2015) Pathophysiology of myocardial infarction. Compr Physiol 5(4): 1841–1875
- Gallina C, Turinetto V, Giachino C (2015) A new paradigm in cardiac regeneration: the mesenchymal stem cell secretome. Khan M, editor. Stem Cells Int 2015:765846
- Ge J, Li Y, Qian J, Shi J, Wang Q, Niu Y et al (2006) Efficacy of emergent transcatheter transplantation of stem cells for treatment of acute myocardial infarction (TCT-STAMI). Heart 92(12):1764–1767

- Grajek S, Popiel M, Gil L, Bręborowicz P, Lesiak M, Czepczyński R et al (2009) Influence of bone marrow stem cells on left ventricle perfusion and ejection fraction in patients with acute myocardial infarction of anterior wall: randomized clinical trial: Impact of bone marrow stem cell intracoronary infusion on improvement of microc. Eur Heart J 31(6):691–702
- Greenberg B, Butler J, Felker GM, Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Desai AS et al (2016) Calcium upregulation by percutaneous administration of gene therapy in patients with cardiac disease (CUPID 2): a randomised, multinational, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. Lancet 387(10024):1178–1186
- Guo R, Morimatsu M, Feng T, Lan F, Chang D, Wan F et al (2020) Stem cell-derived cell sheet transplantation for heart tissue repair in myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):19
- Haack-Sørensen M, Friis T, Mathiasen AB, Jørgensen E, Hansen L, Dickmeiss E et al (2013) Direct intramyocardial mesenchymal stromal cell injections in patients with severe refractory angina: one-year follow-up. Cell Transplant 22(3):521–528
- Hafez P, Jose S, Chowdhury SR, Ng MH, Ruszymah BHI, Abdul Rahman Mohd R (2016) Cardiomyogenic differentiation of human sternal bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells using a combination of basic fibroblast growth factor and hydrocortisone. Cell Biol Int 40(1):55–64
- Haider HK (2006) Bone marrow cells for cardiac regeneration and repair: current status and issues. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 4:557–568
- Haider KH (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the quality matters. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7:6
- Haider KH (2018) Bone marrow cell therapy and cardiac reparability: better cell characterization will enhance clinical success. Regen Med 13(4): 457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23
- Haider HK, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow stem cell transplantation for cardiac repair. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 288(6):H2557–H2567
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2012) Preconditioning approach in stem cell therapy for the treatment of infarcted heart. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 111:323–356
- Haider KH, Aslam M. Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider Kh H, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Geithner Straße13- 10785 Berlin, Germany. (Published, 2018)
- Haider HK, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1a/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Mustafa A, Ashraf M, Feng Y (2011) Genetic modification of stem cells for improved therapy of the infarcted myocardium. Mol Pharm 8(5):1446–1457
- Henry TD, Pepine CJ, Lambert CR, Traverse JH, Schatz R, Costa M et al (2017) The Athena trials: autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells for refractory chronic myocardial ischemia with left ventricular dysfunction. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 89(2):169–177
- Hirsch A, Nijveldt R, van der Vleuten PA, Tijssen JGP, van der Giessen WJ, Tio RA et al (2010) Intracoronary infusion of mononuclear cells from bone marrow or peripheral blood compared with standard therapy in patients after acute myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous coronary intervention: results of the randomized controlled HEBE. Eur Heart J 32(14): 1736–1747
- Horwitz EM, Le Blanc K, Dominici M, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Deans RJ et al (2005) International Society for Cellular Therapy. Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 7(5):393–395
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider KH, Dorvash MR, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146

- Huikuri HV, Kervinen K, Niemelä M, Ylitalo K, Säily M, Koistinen P et al (2008) Effects of intracoronary injection of mononuclear bone marrow cells on left ventricular function, arrhythmia risk profile, and restenosis after thrombolytic therapy of acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 29(22):2723–2732
- Hunt SA, Ross EA (2002) The REMATCH trial: long-term use of a left ventricular assist device for end-stage heart failure. J Card Fail 8(2):59–60
- Ibrahim AGE, Cheng K, Marbán E (2014) Exosomes as critical agents of cardiac regeneration triggered by cell therapy. Stem Cell Rep 2(5):606–619
- Igura K, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Sheriff S, Ashraf M (2011) Neuropeptide-Y (NPY) and NPY Y5 receptor (Y5R) interaction restores impaired growth potential of ageing bone marrow stromal cells. Rejuvenation Res 14(4):393–403
- Janssens S, Dubois C, Bogaert J, Theunissen K, Deroose C, Desmet W et al (2006) Autologous bone marrow-derived stem-cell transfer in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 367(9505):113–121
- Javed B, Epstein SE, Greene SJ, Quyyumi AA, Sikora S, Kim RJ et al (2017) Intravenous allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 120(2):332–340
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784
- Johnson FL (2014) Pathophysiology and etiology of heart failure. Cardiol Clin 32(1):9-19
- Kanelidis AJ, Premer C, Lopez J, Balkan W, Hare JM (2017) Route of delivery modulates the efficacy of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for myocardial infarction: a meta-Analysis of preclinical studies and clinical trials. Circ Res 120(7):1139–1150
- Kc P, Hong Y, Zhang G (2019) Cardiac tissue-derived extracellular matrix scaffolds for myocardial repair: advantages and challenges. Regen Biomater 6(4):185–199
- Kemp CD, Conte JV (2012) The pathophysiology of heart failure. Cardiovasc Pathol 21(5): 365–371
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kyurkchiev D (2014) Secretion of immunoregulatory cytokines by mesenchymal stem cells. World J Stem Cells 6(5):552
- Lakatta EG, Levy D (2003) Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises. Circulation 107(2):346–354
- Leistner DM, Fischer-Rasokat U, Honold J, Seeger FH, Schächinger V, Lehmann R et al (2011) Transplantation of progenitor cells and regeneration enhancement in acute myocardial infarction (TOPCARE-AMI): final 5-year results suggest long-term safety and efficacy. Clin Res Cardiol 100(10):925–934
- Liau LL, Looi QH, Chia WC, Subramaniam T, Ng MH, Law JX (2020a) Treatment of spinal cord injury with mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Biosci 10(1):112
- Liau LL, Looi QH, Eng SP, Yazid MD, Sulaiman N, Busra MFM et al (2020b) Mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of immune-mediated disease. In: Haider KH (eds) Stem cells: from hype to hope. World Scientific, Singapore, pp 178–210
- Lim J, Razi ZRM, Law JX, Nawi AM, Idrus RBH, Chin TG et al (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells from the maternal segment of human umbilical cord is ideal for bone regeneration in allogenic setting. Tissue Eng Regen Med 15(1):75–87
- Lipiec P, Krzemińska-Pakuła M, Plewka M, Kuśmierek J, Płachcińska A, Szumiński R et al (2009) Impact of intracoronary injection of mononuclear bone marrow cells in acute myocardial

infarction on left ventricular perfusion and function: a 6-month follow-up gated 99mTc-MIBI single-photon emission computed tomography study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 36(4): 587–593

- Łos MJ, Skubis A, Ghavami S (2018) Stem cells- definition and types of stem cells, stemness and diferentiation. In: Łos MJ, Hudecki A, Wiechec E (Eds) Stem cells and biomaterials for regenerative medicine. Academic, Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States, pp 5–16
- Losordo DW, Henry TD, Charles D, Joon SL, Costa MA, Theodore B et al (2011) Intramyocardial, autologous CD34+ cell therapy for refractory angina. Circ Res 109(4):428–436
- Luger D, Lipinski MJ, Westman PC, Glover DK, Dimastromatteo J, Frias JC et al (2017) Intravenously delivered mesenchymal stem cells: systemic anti-inflammatory effects improve left ventricular dysfunction in acute myocardial infarction and ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 120(10):1598–1613
- Lunde K, Solheim S, Aakhus S, Arnesen H, Abdelnoor M, Egeland T et al (2006) Intracoronary injection of mononuclear bone marrow cells in acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 355(12):1199–1209
- Lunde K, Solheim S, Aakhus S, Arnesen H, Moum T, Abdelnoor M et al (2007) Exercise capacity and quality of life after intracoronary injection of autologous mononuclear bone marrow cells in acute myocardial infarction: results from the Autologous Stem cell Transplantation in Acute Myocardial Infarction (ASTAMI) randomized controlled trial. Am Heart J 154(4):710. e1–710.e8
- Lunde K, Solheim S, Forfang K, Arnesen H, Brinch L, Bjørnerheim R et al (2008) Anterior myocardial infarction with acute percutaneous coronary intervention and intracoronary injection of autologous mononuclear bone marrow cells: safety, clinical outcome, and serial changes in left ventricular function during 12-months' follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol 51(6): 674–676
- Maacha S, Sidahmed H, Jacob S, Gentilcore G, Calzone R, Grivel J-C et al (2020) Paracrine mechanisms of mesenchymal stromal cells in angiogenesis. Stem Cells Int 2020:4356359
- Marketou ME, Parthenakis F, Vardas PE (2016) Pathological left ventricular hypertrophy and stem cells: current evidence and new perspectives. Hosoda T, editor. Stem Cells Int 2016:5720758
- Mathiasen AB, Haack-Sørensen M, Jørgensen E, Kastrup J (2013) Autotransplantation of mesenchymal stromal cells from bone-marrow to heart in patients with severe stable coronary artery disease and refractory angina- final 3-year follow-up. Int J Cardiol 170(2):246–251
- Mathur A, Arnold R, Assmus B, Bartunek J, Belmans A, Bönig H et al (2017) The effect of intracoronary infusion of bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells on all-cause mortality in acute myocardial infarction: rationale and design of the BAMI trial. Eur J Heart Fail 19(11): 1545–1550
- Mc Namara K, Alzubaidi H, Jackson JK (2019) Cardiovascular disease as a leading cause of death: how are pharmacists getting involved? Integr Pharm Res Pract 8:1–11
- Meluzín J, Mayer J, Groch L, Janoušek S, Horňáček I, Hlinomaz O et al (2006) Autologous transplantation of mononuclear bone marrow cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction: the effect of the dose of transplanted cells on myocardial function. Am Heart J 152(5):975. e9–975.15
- Meluzín J, Janoušek S, Mayer J, Groch L, Horňáček I, Hlinomaz O et al (2008) Three-, 6-, and 12-month results of autologous transplantation of mononuclear bone marrow cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 128(2):185–192
- Menasché P, Vanneaux V, Hagège A, Bel A, Cholley B, Cacciapuoti I et al (2015) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors for severe heart failure treatment: first clinical case report. Eur Heart J 36(30):2011–2017
- Meyer GP, Wollert KC, Lotz J, Steffens J, Lippolt P, Fichtner S et al (2006) Intracoronary bone marrow cell transfer after myocardial infarction. Circulation 113(10):1287–1294
- Meyer GP, Wollert KC, Lotz J, Pirr J, Rager U, Lippolt P et al (2009) Intracoronary bone marrow cell transfer after myocardial infarction: 5-year follow-up from the randomized-controlled BOOST trial. Eur Heart J 30(24):2978–2984
- Nakanishi C, Yamagishi M, Yamahara K, Hagino I, Mori H, Sawa Y et al (2008) Activation of cardiac progenitor cells through paracrine effects of mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 374(1):11–16
- North BJ, Sinclair DA (2012) The intersection between aging and cardiovascular disease. Circ Res 110(8):1097–1108
- Perin EC, Willerson JT, Pepine CJ, Henry TD, Ellis SG, Zhao DXM et al (2012) Effect of transendocardial delivery of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells on functional capacity, left ventricular function, and perfusion in chronic heart failure: the FOCUS-CCTRN trial. JAMA 307(16):1717–1726
- Pilar J-Q, Jose G-FJ, Manel S, Xavier G-M, Roberto D-B, Leopoldo L et al (2014) Selected CD133 + progenitor cells to promote angiogenesis in patients with refractory angina. Circ Res 115(11): 950–960
- Pokushalov E, Romanov A, Chernyavsky A, Larionov P, Terekhov I, Artyomenko S et al (2010) Efficiency of intramyocardial injections of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells in patients with ischemic heart failure: a randomized study. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 3(2):160–168
- Povsic TJ, Henry TD, Traverse JH, Fortuin FD, Schaer GL, Kereiakes DJ et al (2016) The RENEW trial: efficacy and safety of intramyocardial autologous CD34+ cell administration in patients with refractory angina. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 9(15):1576–1585
- Qayyum AA, Mathiasen AB, Helqvist S, Jørgensen E, Haack-Sørensen M, Ekblond A et al (2019) Autologous adipose-derived stromal cell treatment for patients with refractory angina (MyStromalCell Trial): 3-years follow-up results. J Transl Med 17(1):360
- Rajab AM, Rajab TM, AlJundi S, Haider KH. Bone stem cell therapy in the clinical perspective: a focus on nonrandomized and randomized trials. In: Haider Kh H (ed) Stem cells: from myth to reality and evolving. Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Geithner Straße13- 10785 Berlin, Germany. (Published, 2019)
- Reis LA, Chiu LLY, Feric N, Fu L, Radisic M (2016) Biomaterials in myocardial tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10(1):11–28
- Roncalli J, Mouquet F, Piot C, Trochu J-N, Le Corvoisier P, Neuder Y et al (2010) Intracoronary autologous mononucleated bone marrow cell infusion for acute myocardial infarction: results of the randomized multicenter BONAMI trial. Eur Heart J 32(14):1748–1757
- Schächinger V, Assmus B, Britten MB, Honold J, Lehmann R, Teupe C et al (2004) Transplantation of progenitor cells and regeneration enhancement in acute myocardial infarction: final one-year results of the TOPCARE-AMI Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 44(8):1690–1699
- Schächinger V, Erbs S, Elsässer A, Haberbosch W, Hambrecht R, Hölschermann H et al (2006) Intracoronary bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 355(12):1210–1221
- Schaefer A, Meyer GP, Fuchs M, Klein G, Kaplan M, Wollert KC et al (2006) Impact of intracoronary bone marrow cell transfer on diastolic function in patients after acute myocardial infarction: results from the BOOST trial. Eur Heart J 27(8):929–935
- Shah A, Gandhi D, Srivastava S, Shah KJ, Mansukhani R (2017) Heart failure: a class review of pharmacotherapy. Pharm Ther 42(7):464–472
- Shahid MS, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10): E1371–E1374
- Siamak D, Aliette M, Nursen M, Bernard R, Bernadette K, Patrick H et al (2003) Mesenchymal progenitor cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a rat cellular cardiomyoplasty model. Circulation 108(10):II-253–II–258
- Steenman M, Lande G (2017) Cardiac aging and heart disease in humans. Biophys Rev 9(2): 131–137
- Strait JB, Lakatta EG (2012) Aging-associated cardiovascular changes and their relationship to heart failure. Heart Fail Clin 8(1):143–164

- Strauer BE, Brehm M, Zeus T, Köstering M, Hernandez A, Sorg RV et al (2002) Repair of infarcted myocardium by autologous intracoronary mononuclear bone marrow cell transplantation in humans. Circulation 106(15):1913–1918
- Sürder D, Manka R, Lo Cicero V, Moccetti T, Rufibach K, Soncin S et al (2013) Intracoronary injection of bone marrow–derived mononuclear cells early or late after acute myocardial infarction: effects on global left ventricular function. Circulation 127(19):1968–1979
- Sürder D, Manka R, Moccetti T, Lo Cicero V, Emmert MY, Klersy C et al (2016) Effect of bone marrow-derived mononuclear cell treatment, early or late after acute myocardial infarction: twelve months CMR and long-term clinical results. Circ Res 119(3):481–490
- Taljaard M, Ward MR, Kutryk MJB, Courtman DW, Camack NJ, Goodman SG et al (2010) Rationale and design of enhanced angiogenic cell therapy in acute myocardial infarction (ENACT-AMI): the first randomized placebo-controlled trial of enhanced progenitor cell therapy for acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 159(3):354–360
- Tao H, Han Z, Han ZC, Li Z (2016) Proangiogenic features of mesenchymal stem cells and their therapeutic applications. Stem Cells Int 2016:1314709
- Tardiff JC (2006) Cardiac hypertrophy: stressing out the heart. J Clin Invest 116(6):1467-1470
- Tendera M, Wojakowski W, Rużyłło W, Chojnowska L, Kępka C, Tracz W et al (2009) Intracoronary infusion of bone marrow-derived selected CD34+CXCR4+ cells and non-selected mononuclear cells in patients with acute STEMI and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction: results of randomized, multicentre myocardial regeneration by intracor. Eur Heart J 30(11):1313–1321
- Teng X, Chen L, Chen W, Yang J, Yang Z, Shen Z (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes improve the microenvironment of infarcted myocardium contributing to angiogenesis and anti-inflammation. Cell Physiol Biochem 37(6):2415–2424
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, White HD (2018) Executive Group on behalf of the Joint European Society of Cardiology (ESC)/American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA)/World Heart Federation (WHF) Task Force for the Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction. Fourth Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction (2018). Circulation 138(20):e618–e651
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA et al (2008) Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. Stem Cell Res 1(2):129–137
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Hoefer IE, Arslan F, Lai RC, van Oorschot AAM et al (2011) Human mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium improves cardiac function following myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res 6(3):206–214
- Tocchi A, Quarles EK, Basisty N, Gitari L, Rabinovitch PS (2015) Mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiac aging. Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg 1847(11):1424–1433
- Traverse JH, Henry TD, Vaughan DE, Ellis SG, Pepine CJ, Willerson JT et al (2010) LateTIME: a phase-II, randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled, pilot trial evaluating the safety and effect of administration of bone marrow mononuclear cells 2 to 3 weeks after acute myocardial infarction. Tex Hear Inst J 37(4):412–420
- Traverse JH, Henry TD, Ellis SG, Pepine CJ, Willerson JT, Zhao DXM et al (2011) Effect of intracoronary delivery of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells 2 to 3 weeks following acute myocardial infarction on left ventricular function: the LateTIME randomized trial. JAMA 306(19):2110–2119
- Traverse JH, Henry TD, Pepine CJ, Willerson JT, Zhao DXM, Ellis SG et al (2012) Effect of the use and timing of bone marrow mononuclear cell delivery on left ventricular function after acute myocardial infarction: the TIME randomized trial. JAMA 308(22):2380–2389
- Traverse JH, Henry TD, Pepine CJ, Willerson JT, Chugh A, Yang PC et al (2018) TIME trial: effect of timing of stem cell delivery following ST-elevation myocardial infarction on the recovery of global and regional left ventricular function: final 2-year analysis. Circ Res 122(3):479–488

- Tse H-F, Thambar S, Kwong Y-L, Rowlings P, Bellamy G, McCrohon J et al (2007) Prospective randomized trial of direct endomyocardial implantation of bone marrow cells for treatment of severe coronary artery diseases (PROTECT-CAD trial). Eur Heart J 28(24):2998–3005
- van Ramshorst J, Bax JJ, Beeres SLMA, Dibbets-Schneider P, Roes SD, Stokkel MPM et al (2009) Intramyocardial bone marrow cell injection for chronic myocardial ischemia: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301(19):1997–2004
- Vicario J, Campos C, Piva J, Faccio F, Gerardo L, Becker C et al (2004) Transcoronary sinus administration of autologous bone marrow in patients with chronic refractory stable angina: phase 1. Cardiovasc Radiat Med 5(2):71–76
- Wang S, Cui J, Peng W, Lu M (2010) Intracoronary autologous CD34+ stem cell therapy for intractable angina. Cardiology 117(2):140–147
- Wang Y, Chen X, Cao W, Shi Y (2014) Plasticity of mesenchymal stem cells in immunomodulation: pathological and therapeutic implications. Nat Immunol 15(11):1009
- Ward MR, Abadeh A, Connelly KA (2018) Concise review: rational use of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of ischemic heart disease. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(7):543–550
- Wojciech W, Tomasz J, Aleksandra M-W, Zofia P, Mirosław M, Wojciech R et al (2017) Effects of transendocardial delivery of bone marrow-derived CD133+ cells on left ventricle perfusion and function in patients with refractory angina. Circ Res 120(4):670–680
- Wollert KC, Meyer GP, Lotz J, Ringes Lichtenberg S, Lippolt P, Breidenbach C et al (2004) Intracoronary autologous bone-marrow cell transfer after myocardial infarction: the BOOST randomised controlled clinical trial. Lancet 364(9429):141–148
- Wollert KC, Meyer GP, Müller-Ehmsen J, Tschöpe C, Bonarjee V, Larsen AI et al (2017) Intracoronary autologous bone marrow cell transfer after myocardial infarction: the BOOST-2 randomised placebo-controlled clinical trial. Eur Heart J 38(39):2936–2943
- Yazdanyar A, Newman AB (2009) The burden of cardiovascular disease in the elderly: morbidity, mortality, and costs. Clin Geriatr Med 25(4):563–577
- Yu B, Kim HW, Gong M, Wang J, Millard RW, Wang Y et al (2015) Exosomes secreted from GATA-4 overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells serve as a reservoir of anti-apoptotic micro-RNAs for cardioprotection. Int J Cardiol 182:349–360
- Zhang H, Xiang M, Meng D, Sun N, Chen S (2016) Inhibition of myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion injury by exosomes secreted from mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016:4328362
- Zhao XF, Xu Y, Zhu ZY, Gao CY, Shi YN (2015) Clinical observation of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell treatment of severe systolic heart failure. Genet Mol Res 14(2):3010–3017



Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair 1

The Clinical Perspective

Abdullah Murhaf Al-Khani, Mohamed Abdelghafour Khalifa, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	271
BM-Derived MSCs	271
Isolation and Characterization of MSCs	275
Important Characteristics of MSCs	277
Differentiation Potential of MSCs	277
Trophic Functions of MSCs	278
Immunomodulatory Characters of MSCs	279
Preclinical Studies with MSCs	279
Small Experimental Animal Studies	279
Large Animal Experimental Models: Translational Studies	280
MSCs in the Clinical Perspective	303
Conclusions and Future Perspective	307
References	308

Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), particularly acute and chronic ischemic heart disease (IHD), are the primary cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. The contemporary pharmacological and invasive revascularization strategies, i.e., percutaneous coronary angiography (PCA) and coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), reduce mortality and could only provide symptomatic relief. Cell-based therapy has emerged as a novel breakthrough strategy to ensure angiomyogenic repair of the ischemically damaged heart via the generation of neomyocytes and biological bypassing to restore regional blood flow. In this regard, bone marrow (BM)-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have shown promise and progressed to advanced phases of clinical assessment. MSCs are one of the well-

A. M. Al-Khani · M. A. Khalifa

Sulaiman AlRajhi Medical School, Al Bukairiyah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

K. H. Haider (⊠)

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_11

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

studied and characterized cell types in vitro and various small experimental animal models and during the translational animal models for safety and reparability. They are currently the most used cells for cell-based cardiovascular therapy with excellent safety profiles, immunomodulatory properties, paracrine action, and differentiation potential. With overwhelming success, researchers have advanced their efforts to bring MSCs a step closer to their eventual routine use in the clinics. This chapter summarizes the advancement of MSCs from in vitro characterization to the clinical phase and discusses their future perspective.

Keywords

Bone marrow \cdot Cell therapy \cdot Heart failure \cdot Infarction \cdot In vitro \cdot Ischemia \cdot Large animal models \cdot Mesenchymal \cdot MSCs \cdot Small animal models \cdot Stem cells

Abbreviations

6-MWT	Six-minute walk test
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
Ang-1	Angiopoietin-1
BM	Bone marrow
Brdu	5-Bromodeoxyuridine
CFU-F	Colony-forming units-fibroblastic
CVDs	Cardiovascular diseases
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
Glut	Glucose transporter
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
ISCT	International Society for Cell Therapy
LAD	Left anterior descending
Lin-	Lineage negative
LV	Left ventricle
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MDCT	Multi-detector computed tomography
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
miR	MicroRNA
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
M-SPECT	Myocardial single-photon emission tomography
NPY	Neuropeptide Y
RBCs	Red blood cells
SAE	Serious adverse events
TGF-b	Transforming growth factor-b
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick-end labeling

VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WNT	Homologous of wingless and Int-1

Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the leading cause of mortality globally (WHO 2017) as they account for nearly 836,546 deaths in the USA alone, which is equivalent to one out of every three deaths (AHA-2018 Statistics at a glance). Among the CVDs, ischemic heart disease (IHD) is a major clinical challenge that causes morbidity and mortality in patients in acute and chronic forms. Thrombotic coronary occlusion due to atherosclerotic rupture leads to acute myocardial infarction (AMI) due to compromised blood supply to the affected region of the heart, thus causing massive cardiomvocvte death (Falk et al. 1995). Although the number of surviving patients, their quality of life post-AMI, and the rate of rehospitalization due to recurrence of AMI episodes improved due to advancements in contemporary revascularization techniques and better pharmacological management, these interventions only provide symptomatic relief to the patients. The infarcted myocardium undergoes a series of detrimental events as part of the intrinsic repair process. This involves forming a noncontractile cicatricle tissue to replace the damaged myocardium besides undergoing geometrical changes in the myocardium to accommodate altered pressure-volume needs and overstretching of viable cardiomyocytes, especially in the peri-infarct region to sustain near-normal contractile function (Taggart 2012; Maron et al. 2006).

Standard heart failure medical therapies suffer from a lack of potential to replenish the dead cardiomyocytes. Hence, the emerging strategy of cell-based therapy for myocardial repair and regeneration is revolutionary and exploits the exclusive reparability and differentiation potential of stem cells into structurally and functionally competent neomyocytes and neovascular structures to restore the lost myocardial function (Kwon et al. 2010; Haider et al. 2010a). Given their optimal characteristics and ease of availability, bone marrow (BM)-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) indeed provide an attractive source of cells for heart cell therapy. This chapter gives an overview of the progress of BM-derived MSCs from in vitro (Table 1) to preclinical studies in small and large animal models focusing on their safety and efficacy leading to the published randomized placebo-controlled clinical trials in the human subjects.

BM-Derived MSCs

BM comprises two main lineages of stem/progenitor cells, i.e., hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and MSCs (Haider and Ashraf 2005). MSCs were first described by Friedenstein et al. in 1968 as the fibroblast-like colony-forming units (Friedenstein et al. 1968) and later substantiated and characterized by many other research groups (Bobis et al. 2006; Deng et al. 2008; Luu et al. 2007; Bhat et al. 2021). Such characterization is of great significance to ensure uniformity of cell characteristic prepared from various labs (Stroncek et al. 2020) and to ensure quality preparation

Author/year	Cell type	Method of differentiation	Main findings
Wakitani et al. (1995)	Rat BM-derived MSCs	5-Azacytidin treatment	5-Azacytidine treatment at 24 h after seeding of twice-passaged MSCs in vitro culture. After an exposure of 24 h, long, multinucleated myotubes developed in some of the dishes on days 7–11 after treatment
Makino et al. (1999)	Murine BM-derived MSCs	5-Azacytidin treatment	Nearly 30% of the cells connected with adjoining cells after 1 week, formed myotube-like structures, began spontaneously beating after 2 weeks, and beat synchronously after 3 weeks. Expressed ANP and BNP, stained positive for anti-myosin, anti-desmin, and anti- actinin. Revealed a cardiomyocyte-like ultrastructure. Also expressed MEF-2A and MEF-2D
Rangappa et al. (2003)	Human MSCs	Human MSCs and human cardiomyocytes were mixed at a 1:1 ratio in smooth muscle 2 media	Differentiated hMSCs from the coculture expressed myosin heavy chain, beta-actin, and cTnT detected by PCR. Immunostaining also showed myosin heavy chain and cTnT. Only beta-actin expression was observed in the hMSCs incubated with conditioned media without serum
Antonitsis et al. (2007)	Human BM-derived MSCs	Second passaged cells were treated with 10 microM 5-azacytidine for 24 h	MSCs treated with 5-azacytidine became stick-like morphology, connecting with adjoining cells forming myotube-like structures, running in a parallel fashion. Immunohistochemically positive for myosin

 Table 1
 Summary of some of the studies reporting in vitro differentiation of BM-derived MSCs

(continued)

Author/year	Cell type	Method of differentiation	Main findings
			heavy chain and vimentin. The mRNAs of alpha-cardiac actin, beta-myosin heavy chain, and cTn-T were also expressed
Ramkisoensing et al. (2012)	Human adipose tissue MSCs and amniotic membrane MSCs with or without Cx-43	Ten-day coculture with neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes	Functional cardiomyogenic differentiation, based on action potential recordings, occurred only in control fetal AM hMSCs. Cx45 overexpression in Cx43 knockdown fetal AM hMSCs restored their ability to undergo cardiomyogenesis $(1.6\% \pm 0.4\%,$ n = 2500) in coculture with neonatal myocytes. Gap junctional coupling is required for differentiation of fetal AM hMSCs into functional CMs
Hou et al. (2013)	Rat BM-derived MSCs	BMP-2 and 5-azacytidine treatment	Combined treatment with BMP-2 and 5-AZA significantly improved the cardiac differentiation with fewer cell damage effects as compared to either of the them alone, and combined treatment was safer and effective method of induction in vitro. Expression of cTnI and Cx-43 was used as differentiation markers
Liu et al. (2013)	Rat BM-derived MScs	Combined treatment with 5-AZA (10 μ mol/L), Ang-II (0.1 μ mol/L), PFT- α (20 μ mol/L), and BMP-2 (10 μ g/L)	Development of cardiomyocyte-like cells expressing cTnT, cTnI, and Cx43 suggesting that the combination of inductors improved rate of differentiation. Total potassium current level

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Author/year	Cell type	Method of differentiation	Main findings
			and calcium transient in PFT- α cardiomyocyte- like cells was also higher in the differentiated cells
Szaraz et al. (2017)	BM-derived MSCs and UC-perivascular cell MSCs	Coculture on feeder layer	Increased expression of cardiomyocyte markers (i.e., MEF2C, cardiac troponin T, heavy chain cardiac myosin, signal regulatory protein α , and connexin 43) showed aggregate-based contracting cells in vitro

Table 1 (continued)

ANP atrial natriuretic peptide, BNP brain natriuretic peptide, BM bone marrow, CMCs cardiomyocytes, cTnT cardiac troponin T, Cx-43 connexin 43, MEF2c myocyte enhancer factor 2C, FACS fluorescence-activated cell sorting, MSCs mesenchymal stem cells.

for clinical use of the cells (Trivedi et al. 2019). In the published data, MSCs have also been reported as mesenchymal stromal cells, mesenchymal progenitor cells, multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells, BM stromal cells, BM-derived MSCs, multipotent stromal cells, mesenchymal precursor cells, and medicinal signaling cells (Caplan 1991; Bobis et al. 2006; von't Hof et al. 2007; Deng et al. 2008; Samsonraj et al. 2017).

MSCs are a heterogeneous group of cells that constitute only 0.001–0.01% of the stem/progenitor population in the BM (Haider 2006; Wilson et al. 2019). They, therefore, necessitate extensive amplification in vitro culture to achieve a sufficient number for cell therapy applications (Lennon and Caplan 2006). Although MSCs were first isolated from the BM more than 50 years ago (Friedenstein et al. 1970), there are no unique surface markers for their definite identification from other cells (Haider 2018). More recently, the International Society for Cell Therapy (ISCT) has suggested standardized criteria to define human MSCs, which includes (1) adherence to the plastic surface under standard culture conditions; (2) the expression of CD73, CD90, and CD105 and lack of CD34, CD45, HLA-DR, CD14 or CD11b, and CD79a or CD19 membrane surface molecules; and (3) tri-lineage differentiation potential to adopt osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts under a defined set of culture conditions in vitro. The ISCT standardized norms for the characterization of MSCs have been instrumental in removing the inconsistencies regarding the nomenclature as well as biological characteristics of MSCs. It is important to mention that MSCs from different species and even from various tissue sources cultured under a different set of conditions may differ in the expression of surface markers (Boxall and Jones 2012; Jones and Schäfer 2015) as well as in the number of isolated cells (Sullivan et al. 2015; Yoshimura et al. 2007) and their efficacy (Shariatzadeh et al. 2019). Moreover, the innate expression levels of a set of surface markers are not a guarantee of MSC homogeneity.

Besides other cell types, MSCs are an integral part of the HSC niche in the BM and essentially instrumental in offering a unique microenvironment for the HSCs (Morrison and Scadden 2014). Together with the endothelial cells and megakaryocytes, MSCs provide proximity to the HSCs and contribute to the maintenance of niche homeostasis by providing instructive cues for their quiescence and functional activity (Schepers et al. 2015; Asada et al. 2017). These MSCs have been identified as CD45-Nestin+, contain all CFU-fibroblastic activity associated with HSCs, and respond to adrenergic stimulation (Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2010).

Isolation and Characterization of MSCs

Other than the BM, MSCs have been isolated from many other adult- as well as fetus-associated tissues, including adipose tissue, peripheral blood, lung, marrow spaces of a long bone, synovial fluids, muscle, placenta, umbilical cord, cord blood, periodontal ligaments, and dental pulp (Aust et al. 2004; Smiler et al. 2008; He et al. 2007; Griffiths et al. 2005; Tuli et al. 2003; Fan et al. 2009; Gay et al. 2007; Jackson et al. 2010; Anker et al. 2004; Miao et al. 2006; Corrao et al. 2013; Ong et al. 2014; Erices et al. 2000; Mareschi et al. 2001; Camilleri et al. 2016) (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Some of the adult- and fetus-associated tissue sources of MSCs used in experimental or clinical studies

The lineage-tracing studies strongly propose that progenitor cells of the MSCs come from around the blood vessels (capillaries, arteries, and veins), thus pointing their perivascular origin (Seo et al. 2004; Corselli et al. 2010).

Besides other parameters, the quality of MSC preparation is determined by their isolation procedure and expansion in the culture conditions (Haider 2018). The three steps needed for isolation and purification of MSCs from the BM include their separation from the nonnucleated RBCs by density gradient centrifugation, adherence to the plastic surface, and removal of monocytes by trypsinization. Generally, mechanical and enzymatic dissociation of the tissue has their respective advantages, but combining both of the approaches may enhance the yield of MSCs as compared to the enzymatic digestion alone as it results in loss of extracellular matrix that increases their time of adherence and low yield (Mushahary et al. 2018). Expansion of plastic adherence is the most employed way of obtaining and expanding the MSCs. Given their 3D habitat in the niche, the 2D in vitro culture expansion of MSCs may lead to loss of their progenitor potency and function. A paradigm shift in MSC culture in vitro uses 3D culture conditions that closely mimic their natural habitat (Hoch and Leach 2014).

Besides improving their proliferation rate, paracrine activity, and differentiation potential, more recent studies have shown that 3D culture conditions promote the expression of pluripotency genes (Zhou et al. 2017). Elucidating the underlying mechanism, it has been attributed to the relaxation of the cytoskeleton due to more conducive culture conditions. The commonly employed 3D methods include the hanging-drop approach, scaffold-free method, spin or rotate wall vessels, and fabricated membrane culture methods (Bartosh et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2015; Miyagawa et al. 2011).

As discussed earlier, MSCs are generally characterized by their capacity to form colonies, renew themselves, express surface markers, and differentiate into multilineages (Friedenstein et al. 1974). The MSC colonies show heterogeneous morphological characteristics ranging from fibroblastoid- to spindle-shaped or from large-flattened to small-round cells. The first recognized multipotent stromal precursor cells from the BM were the colony-forming unit-fibroblastic (CFU-F), which are mainly composed of primary BM-derived MSCs. After further proliferative expansion in culture, they constitute MSCs/stromal cells, and in vitro they give rise to colonies during their initial growth (Pittenger et al. 1999). CFU-F is the efficiency of self-renewal assessed by the rate of colony formation that is a routinely employed standard approach to characterize MSCs.

Additionally, research labs from all over the world have diverse sets of antigens for characterization, and there is no consistency in the use of cell surface antigens for the isolation of MSCs. There is no one universal marker that precisely identifies MSCs. This divergence in surface marker expression besides extremely low-frequency presence in the tissues renders it challenging to identify MSCs in vivo. From among the wide array of surface antigens expressed by MSCs, CD105, CD73, and CD90 are reckoned as the primary markers, which are expressed on more than 95% of MSCs, while the expression of CD105, CD90, and CD73 is not completely specific to undifferentiated multipotent MSCs as some of these markers are also expressed by vascular cells, smooth muscle cells, and mature stromal cells

such as fibroblasts (Dominici et al. 2006). On the contrary, cultured MSCs do not express CD45, CD34, CD14, CD11b, CD19, and HLA-DR. Additionally, MSCs expressing STRO-1, CD146, SSEA-4, CD271 (NGFR), and MSC antigen 1 (MSCA-1) have been identified but with little significance as markers of identification and purification (Andersen et al. 2011; Jones et al. 2006). Nestin, a neural stem cell marker, has also been reported as a selective marker for BM-MSCs (Nombela-Arrieta et al. 2011; Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2009, 2010).

Important Characteristics of MSCs

Differentiation Potential of MSCs

Friedenstein was the first researcher who described that MSCs could differentiate into mesodermally derived cells (Friedenstein et al. 1974). Henceforth, it was shown that MSCs can cross lineage restriction and transform into morph functionally competent osteogenic, adipogenic, chondrogenic, vasculogenic, and myogenic phenotypes (Piersma et al. 1985; Caplan 1986; Wakitani et al. 1995; Kopen et al. 1999). This inherent property of multipotentiality may be accentuated in the presence of various factors such as ascorbic acid, dexamethasone, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), WNTs, fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) besides other heparin sulfate-sensitive morphogens, and growth factors (Bhakta et al. 2012; Bramono et al. 2012; Dombrowski et al. 2013; Helledie et al. 2012; Ling et al. 2010; Teplyuk et al. 2009). While dexamethasone, indomethacin, insulin, and isobutylmethylxanthine generally support adipogenic differentiation (Scott et al. 2011), the presence of ascorbate, insulin, transferrin, selenic acid, and TGF- β promotes chondrogenesis (Johnstone et al. 1998; Mackay et al. 1998; Barry et al. 2001). Similarly, treatment with 5-azacytidine induces the cardiomyogenic differentiation of BM-derived MSC in vitro (Makino et al. 1999; Fukuda 2001; Antonitsis et al. 2007; Ullah et al. 2021). Please refer to summary of studies reporting in vitro differentiation of MSCs (Table 1).

Other factors included in the culture medium, i.e., antibiotics, serum, and growth supplements, to support cell stability and proliferation may significantly interfere with the undifferentiated expansion of MSCs (Riis et al. 2016; Pountos et al. 2014; Gharibi and Hughes 2012; Lee et al. 2001). On the same note, cellular and subcellular level preconditioning approaches have been developed to promote survival signaling, cell proliferation, differentiation, and paracrine activity of the preconditioned cells (Haider et al. 2010b; Lu et al. 2010, 2012; Suzuki et al. 2010; Haider and Ashraf 2010; Kim et al. 2009; Afzal et al. 2010). More recently, the focus has shifted to the use of pharmaceutical-grade human plasma derivatives and platelet lysate to promote MSC proliferation (Diez et al. 2015; Haider 2017). In vitro expansion of MSCs is also imperative during the use of autologous cell therapy due to the limited availability from the tissue source, especially from the aging patients as aging impairs their proliferation and differentiation potential (Kretlow et al. 2008).

Haider and colleagues have already reported that the doubling time of BM-derived MSCs from aging rats (24 months of age) was significantly higher than the young donor MSCs (Jiang et al. 2007, 2008; Haider et al. 2008). The harvest of MSCs was meager, and it took a significantly more extended time for the aging BM cells to adhere to the plastic surface. Moreover, when the cells got adhered to the plastic surface, they were stickier and required longer time to get dislodged from the tissue culture plates during trypsinization. In an attempt to support their proliferation in vitro culture, Igura and colleagues have reported that transgenic overexpression of neuropeptide Y (NPY) receptors and subsequent treatment with NPY5 significantly enhances MSCs' rate of proliferation (Igura et al. 2011). Other strategies to enhance MSC proliferation include concomitant transgenic overexpression of Ang-1 and Akt with downstream involvement of miR-143, a critical regulator of cell proliferation (Lai et al. 2012). One needs to understand that culture-expanded colonies of MSCs show limited differentiation potential that ranges from bi-potency (osteogenic and chondrogenic lineages) to monopotency (Muraglia et al. 2000; Pevsner-Fischer et al. 2011; Russell et al. 2010). The reason for this variation is not well understood, but it may be due to the epigenetic adaptations to the culture conditions.

Trophic Functions of MSCs

Various stem cell research groups now support the "paracrine hypothesis" and attribute the therapeutic benefits of MSCs with their capability to release trophic factors with or without their ability to undergo differentiation (Lei and Haider 2017). MSCs are also capable of generating a reparative microenvironment with their paracrine secretions rich in bioactive molecules, including chemokines, cytokines, morphogens, growth factors, microvesicles, and microRNAs (Kordelas et al. 2014; Lai et al. 2010; Amable et al. 2014; Eirin et al. 2014, 2016; Haider and Aramini 2020). Besides vasculogenic and myogenic differentiation potential and immune-regulatory properties, paracrine activity is an essential characteristic of MSCs that tips them as one of the choice cells for cell-based therapy.

Various research groups have provided evidence that the MSCs can maintain the growth, viability, and multipotent status of HSCs in long-term cocultures which lacked growth factor supplementation by secreting these trophic factors (Spees et al. 2016; Dexter et al. 1977; Dexter and Spooncer 1987; Queensberry et al. 1989; Wu et al. 2013). Although the paracrine hypothesis has gained popularity and acceptance as one of the important underlying mechanisms of cell therapy and has led to the novel strategy of cell-free therapy (Haider and Aziz 2017), there is no comprehensive uniform list of paracrine factors released from MSCs. The paracrine activity of MSCs is sensitive to the signals from their microenvironment. Hence, the composition of the paracrine secretions is influenced by a multitude of factors, including physical factors, i.e., hypoxia, stretch, pulsed focused ultrasound, electrical stimulation, and heat-shock treatment (Kusuma et al. 2017; Lei and Haider 2017; Antebi et al. 2018; Razavi et al. 2020; Parate et al. 2020), and chemical cues, i.e., vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), and IL-6

(Jeanmonod et al. 2018; Wei et al. 2013). Haider and colleagues have already reported that exposure to intermittent cycles of anoxia-reperfusion during preconditioning of the cells significantly altered their paracrine activity (Kim et al. 2009, 2012a). A marked upregulation of various growth factors and HIF-1 α -related miRs including miR-107 and miR-210 in the preconditioned cells was observed (Kim et al. 2012b). Besides physical and chemical manipulation, MSCs have also been genetically modulated to accentuate their paracrine activity (Jiang et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008; Ahmed et al. 2010; Haider et al. 2011).

Immunomodulatory Characters of MSCs

Bartholomew and colleagues were the first to describe the ability of allogenic MSCs to modulate immune responses in a baboon model of skin allograft (Bartholomew et al. 2002). Immunomodulatory characters of MSCs may be due to their hypoimmunogenic nature, ability to alter the T-cell response, and immunosuppression of the local microenvironment while modulating angiogenesis, apoptosis, and cell proliferation (Atoui and Chiu 2012; Faiella and Atoui 2016; Hong et al. 2012; Marfy-Smith and Clarkin 2017). Although the immune-regulatory properties of MSCs remain less well defined, the general perception is that MSCs can modulate immune cells' functions by cell-to-cell contact and by secretory mechanisms involving the paracrine release of bioactive molecule factors. Moreover, MSCs express low levels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and lack MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecule B7 and CD40 ligand (Devine and Hoffman 2000; Majumdar et al. 2003; Tse et al. 2003). They can also interfere with the normal B-cell function by the T-cell suppression (Castro-Manrreza and Montesinos 2015). Besides their anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory functions, MSCs interact with tumor cells via paracrine signaling to increase the risk of metastasis (Costanza et al. 2017; Lacerda et al. 2015; Ye et al. 2012; Ridge et al. 2017).

Preclinical Studies with MSCs

Small Experimental Animal Studies

MSCs are genetically stable and less susceptible to malignant transformation (Izadpanah et al. 2006). They have been extensively characterized in various small and large experimental animal models for safety and reparability. Since the early report of heart cell therapy using lineage-negative (Lin-) BMCs expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) in a mice model of coronary artery ligation, it was observed that the transplanted cells repopulated the infarcted myocardium with neomyocytes by 9 days after treatment. The neomyocytes were also interspersed by vascular structures, a which contributed to the recovery of global cardiac function (Orlic et al. 2001). Similar observations were later reported in a study which used human BM-derived MSCs for transplantation in an adult

murine heart (Toma et al. 2002). These encouraging data lead to a plethora of experimental studies in vitro as well as in the preclinical settings to support the safety and effectiveness of BM-derived MSCs for myocardial repair and paved the way for their further investigations in the human patients.

A direct comparison of BM-derived MSCs and MNCs in a porcine model of chronic IHD showed superiority of the former over the latter cells in terms of improvement of systolic function (van der Spoel et al. 2015). A meta-analysis of the translational studies shows that BM-derived MSC-based cell therapy is safe and effective in preserving ischemic heart function including LVEF (van der Spoel et al. 2011). The proposed mechanism is multifactorial and involves stimulation of angiogenesis and neovascularization (Psaltis et al. 2008; Haider et al. 2008), neomyogenesis (Nagaya et al. 2004; Haider 2006), paracrine effects (Mirotsou et al. 2007), reduction of fibrosis (Molina et al. 2009; Jin et al. 2020), immunomodulation (Van den Akker et al. 2013; Hamid and Prabhu 2017), and stimulation of endogenous cardiac stem cells (CSCs) to proliferate and participate in the repair process (Hatzistergos et al. 2010; Table 2).

Large Animal Experimental Models: Translational Studies

Large experimental animal studies are considered a critical step forward in establishing novel treatment approaches for diseases. The data generated from these studies are more relevant for translation to humans and hence greatly influence the advancement of novel treatments to the clinical phase of assessment. Given that stem cell-based therapy has already entered into the clinical phase of evaluation for cardiovascular applications, the support from the large experimental animal models is of utmost significance in translating the continuum of safety and efficacy data for a rationale designing the clinical trials (Harding et al. 2013). However, the need for large animal models has been generally ignored by the researchers due to their high cost, complexity, labor-intensive nature, and less suitability for the mechanistic understanding of cell-based therapy. Amid these challenges, which have restricted them to less than optimal usage to treat specific cardiac pathologies, the debate for an ideal translational model for modeling of cardiac pathologies continues unabated. However, as a fundamental principle, the body-to-heart weight ratio of the experimental animal should be comparable to that of humans to yield reliable simulation besides giving due consideration to other factors such as age appropriateness, etc. (Milani-Nejad and Janssen 2014; Haider 2018).

A wide array of large experimental animal models, i.e., pigs, dogs, sheep, monkeys, etc., have been developed to model CVDs in general and assess stem cells' safety and regenerative potential. However, experimental pig models of myocardial injury have been preferred over the other models and are primarily classified as open and closed-chest models with their respective advantages and limitations (Munz et al. 2011). Some of the typical translational studies using stem cells for myocardial repair and regeneration and their outcome have been summarized in Table 3.

Table 2 Summ	ary of preclinical trials utilizin,	g BM-derived MSCs in th	ne small anin	nal models of heart dises	ises		
Author/vear	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample	Model tyne	Animal	Main findinos	
Wang et al. (2006)	Allogenic BM-MSCs with or without VEGF or everytression (^{VEFG} MSCs)	Intramyocardial injection of ^{VEGF} MSCs and cytokine therapy	48	AMI	Mice	Extensive regeneration and survival of ^{VEGF} MSCs in and around the infarcted heart. Blood vessel density significantly increased in ^{VEGF} MSCs as compared to other groups in peri- infarct area. Fibrosis was significantly reduced with improved LV contractile function. LV systolic and diastolic functions were well preserved in ^{VEGF} MSCs as indicated by +dP/dt, -dP/dt, and Tau (<i>glantr</i>).	
Noiseux et al. (2006)	Allogeneic	Intramyocardial injection	12	IMA	Mice	MSC engraftment within infarcted myocardium was transient but significantly enhanced by Akt-MSCs fusion with CMs and was observed but was infrequent. Also a low rate of cardiomyogenic differentiation of MSCs was observed. MSC-Akt decreased infarct size at 3 days and restored early cardiac function. These observations confirmed that paracrine mechanisms mediated by MSC are responsible for CM survival and Akt could alter the secretion of various cytokines and growth factors	
						(continued)	

(p
nue
onti
Ŭ
Ν
e

	Main findings	Two weeks after coronary occlusion, there was a significant drop in LV systolic pressure, dP/dt (max), dP/dt(min), ESPVR, and E (max) and a significant increase in end-diastolic volume in vivo. Femoral vein injection of MSCs 1 h after occlusion attenuated the cardiac dysfunction without altering infarct size or end-diastolic volume. Injected MSCs pre-labeled with fluorescent paramagnetic microspheres were observed scattered in non-infarcted mycocardium. Flow cytometry of whole heart digests after intravenous injection of MSCs labeled with either fluorescent microspheres or fluorescent for mole into the heart that hose from non-infarcted controls	This study showed that cell therapy improved angiogenesis and cell survival in the scar but only MSCs exhibited the capacity to invade the
	Animal	Mice	Murinae
	Model type	AMI -	Chronic
	Sample size	5	107
	Mode of delivery	Intravenous injection	Patch system
(pənu	Cell type	Syngeneic	Allogeneic
Table 2 (contin	Author/year	Boomsma et al. (2007)	Derval et al. (2008)

(continued)						
improved compared to the PBS group $(p < 0.01)$ or $p < 0.001)$.						
zone. Cardiac function in the MSCs, MSCs-null, and MSCs-						
cardiomyocytes in the infarcted					transduce MSCs	
to differentiate into				injection	Mir-1, naïve, or null vector	(2013)
The transplanted MSCs were able	Mice	AMI	80	Intramyocardial	BM-MSCs overexpressing	Huang et al.
transplantation						
group on week 6 after cell						
signincanuy improved LV EF man						
reduction in fibrotic area, and						
wall thickness, significant						
greater, leading to increased LV				5		~
MI + first passage MSC group was			2	injection	naïve BM MSCs	(2011)
LacZ or 8-gal in the hearts from the	Mice	AMI	45	Intramvocardial	First and fifth passage	Jin et al.
homing from BM						
significantly promoted GFP+ cells						
control hearts. MPC injection						
transplanted hearts than that in						
also significantly smaller in MPC						
the medium. The infarcted area was						
to control animals which received					of BM-MPCs	
MPC-treated animals as compared				BM cells	intramyocardial injection	(2008)
LVEF and LVFS improved in	Mice	AMI	96	GCSF mobilization of	GCSF mobilization of and	Dai et al.
thickness of the scar						
progenition sum actionated DMC mix increased repopulation and						
Procession vois: Englanment of unv						
nogenitor cells Fnoraftment of the						
vascular regeneration from						

•						
Author/year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample size	Model type	Animal	Main findings
						However, most significant improvement highest rate of myocyte differentiation was observed in miR-1-expressing MSCs
(2017) (2017)	Allogenic	Intravenous injection	54	N/A safety study	Mice	Clinical doses of BM-derived MSCs induced mild and reversible coagulation, which increased BM-derived MSC lung embolism and clearance. Anticoagulation treatment by heparin (400 U/kg) prevented BM-derived MSC-induced coagulation and the acute adverse effects of large-dose BM-derived MSC infusion efficiently. Heparin treatment decreased BM-derived MSC lung embolism and enhanced migration and maintenance of BM-derived MSCs to target organs in cell therapy. Based on an experimental colitis model, it was confirmed that heparin treatment enhanced the effect of BM-derived MSC therapy efficiently to reduce mortality, prevented weight loss, suppressed
						inflammation reaction, and alleviated tissue injury

Table 2 (continued)

(1020) (1020) (1020) (1020) (1003) (1003)	AD-MSCs 99mTc-exametazime labeled allogenic rat BM-MSCs Syngeneic	Tailorable hydrogel (ColT gel) or intramyocardial Intra-left ventricular injection injection Intramyocardial iniection	39	AMI 2, 10, and 14 days after transient coronary artery occlusion AMI	Mice Rat	The Col-Tgel created a suitable microenvironment for long-term retention of ADSCs in an ischemic area and enhanced their cardioprotective effects, significantly increased LVEF at 4 weeks after MI, and decreased LV end-systolic diameter but did not significantly decrease the LV end-diastolic diameter at 4 weeks after MI compared to PBS treatment Comparison of intra-left ventricle, right ventricle, and intravenous routes. Drastically low uptake of the intra-left ventricled cells in the lungs and high uptake in the heart compared to intravenous injected cells. Histological evidence of cells in the infarct and peri-infarct regions on day 7 after intra-LV injection of cells Thirty days after implantation,
,						showed engrafted cells expressing a smooth muscle phenotype (alpha SM actin+), as similarly observed in culture. Other engrafted cells lost their smooth muscle phenotype and acquired an endothelial phenotype (CD31+). Furthermore, vessel density was augmented in the MPC
	_	-		•		(continued)

0
Ð
Ē
=
<u> </u>
÷
-
~
2
.0
-
2
•••
đ
_
_
-

Table 2 (contir	(panu					
Author/year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample size	Model type	Animal	Main findings
						group compared to the control group. After 30 days, echocardiography showed an improvement in LV performance in MPCs than the control group
Nagaya et al. (2004)	Syngeneic	Intravenous injection	70	AMI	Rat	The engrafted MSCs were positive for cardiac markers: Desmin, cTn-T, and connexin43. Some of the transplanted MSCs were positive for von Willebrand factor and vascular structures. Capillary density increased after MSC transplantation. Infarct size was significantly smaller in MSC group than control group (24+/-2 vs. 33 +/- 2%, P < 0.05). MSCs decreased LV end-diastolic pressure and increased LV maximum dP/dt (both P < 0.05 and control)
Imanishi et al. (2008)	Allogenic vs. syngeneic MSCs	Intramy ocardial injection	119	AMI	Rat	Both syngeneic and allogeneic MSC transplantations were useful for AMI, increased VEGF, and blood vessel density. The donor MSCs disappeared rapidly but became a trigger of VEGF paracrine effect. One day after cell transplantation, transient increase in IL-1 beta and MCP-1 in recipient

						hearts were enhanced in allogenic MSCs, with macrophage infiltration at the injection site
Atoui et al. (2008)	Xenogeneic BM-MSCS or fibroblasts	Intramyocardial injection	06	AMI	Rat	Xenogeneic transplanted human BM-derived MSCs survived in the rat heart for more than 8 weeks without the use of immunosuppressants. The implanted MSCs significantly contributed to the improvement in ventricular function and attenuated LV remodeling. No immune cell infiltration, characteristic of immune rejection, was noted in MSC transplanted cells
Haider et al. (2008)	Allogenic rat MSCs with or without IGF-1 overexpression (^{IGF-1} MSC)	Intramyocardial injection	78	LAD ligation//AMI	Rat	Elevated myocardial IGF-1, pAkt, and SDF-1 in ^{IGF-1} MSCs. Massive mobilization and homing of ckit+, MDR1+, CD31+, and CD34+ in ^{IGF-1} MSCs. Extensive angiomyogenesis in the infarcted heart with significantly improved LVEF and LVFS
Enoki et al. (2010)	Allogeneic	Intramyocardial injection	40	Chronic	Rat	One month after MI, rat hearts were injected with MCs in the presence or absence of 10 μ g/ml IGF-1 with or without PI3K inhibitor, 5 μ M LY294002. IGF-1 significantly increased engraftment of MSCs between 6 h and 3 days after transplantation associated with the increase in stromal cell-derived
						(continued)

(continued)
7
ble
Ta

			-	-		
Author/year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample size	Model type	Animal	Main findings
						factor-1α in the infracted LV. IGF-1-MSCs significantly increased neovascularization and inhibited CM apoptosis 3 days and 1 month after MSC transplantation. This improved LV function 1 month after MSC transplantation. LY294002 abrogated all of the beneficial effects of MSC transplantation with IGF-1
Kim et al. (2012a)	Allogenic MSC overexpressing mir-210 or preconditioned	Intramyocardial injection	48	AMI	Rat	Induction of miR-210 in MSCs, preconditioned or transfected, promoted cell survival post- engraftment in the infarcted heart. Moreover, direct transfer of pro-survival miR-210 from miR-MSCs to host cardiomyocytes led to functional recovery of the ischemic heart. Improved LVEF, attenuated infarct size, and reduced fibrosis
Armiñán et al. (2010)	Human cells (xenogenic engraftment)	Intramyocardial injection	06	AMI	Rat	Both cell types induced an improvement in LV cardiac function and increased tissue cell proliferation in myocardial tissue and neoangiogenesis. However, MSCs were more effective for the reduction of infarct size and prevention of ventricular

)	injection		(2012)
Rat	AMI	8	Intramvocardial	Allogenic	Wang et al.
			injection		
			injection/intravenous		(2012)
Rat	AMI	36	Intramyocardial	Allogeneic	Li et al.
	Rat	AMI Rat AMI Rat	36 AMI Rat I8 AMI Rat	Intramyocardial 36 AMI Rat injection 36 AMI Rat injection 18 AMI Rat Intramyocardial 18 AMI Rat	Allogeneic Intramyocardial 36 AMI Rat Intramyocardial 36 AMI Rat Intramyocardial 18 AMI Rat

Author/vear	Cell type	Mode of deliverv	Sample size	Model type	Animal	Main findings
		•				was the same to that of the unlabeled contractile native CMs at the sixth week and that of the normal group (10.71 \pm 1.59 vs. 11.09 \pm 3.42 vs. 11.21 \pm 2.16, p > 0.05). The contractility of DN-like cells was greater than cells both from the first week (10.71 \pm 1.59 vs. 7.37 \pm 3.47, p < 0.01 and the second week (10.71 \pm 1.59 vs. 8.08 \pm 3.11, p < 0.05) which was associated with significantly increased LVEF
Flym et al. (2012)	Allogenic	Intramy ocardial injection	17	AMI	Rat	Assessed 28 days after MI, the delivery of MSCs 24 h post-MI did not improve LVEF ($p = 0.19$) and did not prevent the decline in LVEF observed in the absence of cell therapy ($p = 0.17$). The administration of unrestricted somatic stem cells also did not improve LVEF ($p = 0.11$) but prevented a further decline in LVEF ($p = 0.01$). The infarct area ($p = 0.2$), apoptosis ($p = 0.07$), and angiogenesis ($p = 0.09$) did not differ between groups

Table 2 (continued)

19) 119) 119) 119) 119) 119) 119) 119)	Allogenic Skeletal myoblasts or BM-MSCs	Intramyocardial injection Intra-arterial (LAD)	45	AMI	Rat Rabbit	Coculture showed that IL33-MSCs reduced T-cell proliferation and enhanced CD206+ macrophage polarization. Echocardiography showed LVEF was enhanced in IL33-MSC-injected rats. Postmortem analysis of rat heart tissue showed reduced fibrosis and less inflammation in IL33-MSC- injected rats Four weeks after the cell transplantation, LVEF was significantly improved in all cell treament groups compared to control. Neovascularization was observed in both of the treatment groups. There was no significant difference between the two cell types
) al.	Allogeneic	Intravenous	46	AMI	Rabbit	The cardiac improved significantly in the US + microbubble + MSC treatment group. The number of capillaries stained by HE in US + microbubble + MSC group was much greater than that of the other groups. US + microbubble- mediated supply of MSCs increased the level of VEGF in ischemic myocardium
						(continued)

Table 2 (contir	(panu					
Author/year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample size	Model type	Animal	Main findings
Rahbarghazi et al. (2014)	Autologous	Intramyocardial	42	AMI	Rabbit	Transplanted GFP-positive MSCs were enriched with time in the peri- infarct border zone with differentiation potential into three major cell types of the heart, including cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells, and there was significant augmentation of microvascular density
Tanaka et al. (2016)	BM autologous preconditioned (2% oxygen culture) MSCs	Cell sheet-based delivery	per group	Chronic MI	Rabbit	Preconditioned autologous BM-derived MSC sheets were implanted into a rabbit old MI model. Implantation of BM-derived MSC sheets increased angiogenesis in the peri-infarcted area and decreased the infarcted area, leading to LVEF improvement. Importantly, the therapeutic efficacy of the preconditioned BM-derived MSC sheets was higher than that of standardly cultured sheets
ADSC adipose-c end-systolic pres ventricular fracti	lerived stem cells, AMI acute ssure-volume relationship, GC onal shortening, MPC mesang	nyocardial infarction, <i>SF</i> granulocyte colony-sti iogenic progenitor cells, <i>N</i>	<i>BM</i> bone m mulating fac <i>MSCs</i> mesen	arrow, <i>BMC</i> bone marr tor, <i>LV</i> Left ventricle, <i>L</i> chymal stem cells, <i>VEFC</i>	ow concen VEF left ve 3 vascular e	trate, CMs cardiomyocytes, ESPVR intricular ejection fraction, LVFS left indothelial growth factor

		Q	Q			
Author/				Model		
year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample size	type	Animal	Main findings
Shake et al. (2002)	Autologous MSCs	Intramyocardial injection	14	Chronic	Porcine	Extensive survival and engrafiment of MSCs at the site of cell graft. Expression of muscle-specific proteins after 2 weeks. Contractile dysfunction attenuated at 4 weeks in cell-treated animals as compared to controls. Attenuation of LV remodeling
Amado et al. (2005)	Allogenic MSCs	Intramyocardial injection	14	Acute	Porcine	Significant long-term retention of the injected cells at 2 months after delivery. Gross pathology showed significant reduction in fibrosis and near normalization of systolic and diastolic cardiac function as compared to the placebo-treated animals
Quevedo et al. (2009)	Allogenic	Transendocardial injection	0	Chronic	Porcine	Long-term MSC survival, engraftment, and tri-lineage differentiation after transplantation into chronically scarred myocardium. MSCs showed capacity for cardiomyogenesis and vasculogenesis which contribute, at least in part, to their ability to repair chronically scarred myocardium
Schuleri et al. (2009)	Autogenic	Surgical-anterior thoracotomy	15	Chronic	Porcine	Autologous MSCs' safety and efficacy in a heart failure model. Showed substantial structural and functional reversal remodeling. Support clinical trials of MSC therapy_
						(continued)

Table 3 Summary of preclinical trials utilizing BM-derived MSCs in the large animal models of heart diseases

	Main findings	in patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy	MSC-based therapy led to reduction in infarct size, whereas infarct size increased in non-treated animals	Twenty animals survived full length of experiment. PET-CT showed better 18F-FDG uptake in the cell- transplanted LV segments. Improved global cardiac function. Molecular studies showed mTOR activation signaling and improved LV function due to paracrine activity	Direct comparison of MSCs with BM-derived mononuclear cells and effect of repetitive injections. At 4 weeks, LVEF improved in MSC-treated animals, but endpoint analysis showed no significant difference in efficiency after surgical injections at 8 weeks	Encapsulated MSCs (eMSCs) transduced to express glucagon-like protein-1. Three incremental doses of eMSCs or Ringer's solution without cells. LVEF increased more (9.3%) in
	Animal		Porcine	Mini-swine	Porcine	Porcine
Model	type		Chronic	Acute	Acute	Acute
	Sample size		22	24	19	36 with moderate and 33 with severe infarct
	Mode of delivery		Myocardial injections	Intramyocardial injection	Intracoronary, NOGA-guided transendocardial, or surgical	Intracoronary infusion
	Cell type		Allogeneic	Autologous	Autologous	Allogenic
Author/	year		Schuleri et al. (2011)	Cai et al. (2016)	van der Spoel et al. (2012)	de Jong et al. (2014)

Table 3 (continued)

animals with severe infarction. Vessel density increased threefold in the infarct zone 30% more in the border zone Baseline LV injection fraction and LV chamber size did not differ among the five groups. By day 60, LVEF was highest in group 1 and lowest in group	 2, significantly higher in group 5 than that in groups 3 and 4, and significantly higher in group 4 than that in group 3 Treatment with paMSC-IGF-1/HGF (1:1) vs. the other groups had a reduced inflammation in some 	sections analyzed. This also enhanced angiogenesis in ischemic myocardium. Although indices of cardiac function did not show significant improvement, cell retention and IGF-1 overexpression were confirmed within the myocardium	Highest LV systolic function improvement and reduction in infarct size were observed by M-SPECT in Akt-transduced MSCs than naïve MSC- or vehicle-treated animals. Akt-MSCs survived better in the peri- infarct zone observed by FISH
Porcine	Porcine		Porcine
Acute MI	Acute MI		Acute MI
25	4		36
Surgical	Intramyocardial injection		Intracoronary infusion
Autologous	Adipose tissue allogeneic MSCs overexpressing	IGF/HGF	Allogenic naïve or Akt-transduced MSCs
Sheu et al. (2015)	Guadalupe et al. (2016)		(2006) (2006)

295

ed)
ntinu
0) (C
ble

Table 3 (con	tinued)					
Author/				Model		
year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	Sample size	type	Animal	Main findings
Silva et al. (2005)	Allogeneic	Intramyocardial injection	20	Chronic	Canine	Mean LVEF was significantly higher in treated dogs at 60 days. WBC and CRP levels were similar in both groups. CK-MB and troponin-I increased from baseline to 48 h and then returned to baseline. There was a trend toward reduced fibrosis and more vascular density in treated group. MSCs co-localized with endothelial and smooth muscle cells but not with myocytes
Bartunek et al. (2007)	Autologous Pre-treated MSCs	Intramyocardial injection	30	Chronic	Canine	Pre-treated MSCs with cardiomyogenic factors significantly increased their myogenic differentiation and increased LV wall thickness by week 12. The biological ex vivo cardiomyogenic specification of adult MSCs is feasible and increases in vivo cardiac differentiation as well as the functional recovery
Mathieu et al. (2009)	Autologous	Intramyocardial injection	24	Chronic	Canine	Direct comparison of BM-derived MSCs and mononuclear cells. Treatment with latter were superior in giving sustained improvement in wall motion score index, reduction in infarct size, improved end-systolic elastance, and improved regional systolic function. VEGF-3 levels

(continued)						
were in comparison with naïve MSC-injected animals						
arteriolar proliferation, which reduced subendocardial fibrosis. These data						
induced significant capillary and						
volume. Moreover, the treatment						
and marked decrease in end-systolic						
recovered to almost its baseline value						
31% vs. pre-treatment. LVEF)	~
(magnetic resonance) decreased by				5	expressing BM-MSCs	(2015)
overexpressing VEGF, infarct size		T1 T1 T	-	injection	naïve or VEGF-	et al.
One month nottreatment with MCCo	Ovine	AMI	10	Intramyocardial	Allogenic male donor	I Acatalli
group versus the MI-alone group						
adiacent zone of the MSC-treated						
phosphorylated ERK (p-ERK) in the						
signal-regulated kinase (ERK), and						
proteins PI3Kα, PI3Kγ, extracellular						
the hypertronhy-related signaling						~
hypertrophy with the normalization of))	(2012)
Significant attenuation of CM	Ovine	Acute	10	Surgical	Autologous	Zhao et al.
increased vascular density						
LVEF, attenuated remodeling, and						
recovery cardiac function, improved						
differentiation capacity of MSCs,						
infusion enhanced engraftment and				infusion	+bFGF	(2015)
Retrograde coronary venous bFGF	Canine	Subacute	32	Retrograde coronary	Allogenic MSCs	Wang et al.
cell-treated animals						
more vascular density in mononuclear						
increased in border zone leading to						

Model	type Mode of delivery Sample size type Animal Main findings	Intramyocardial18AcuteOvineEchocardiography revealed a significant improvement in the LVEF compared with the control group (p value <0.05). Vascular density increased in cell therapy groups. The electron microscopic evaluation of the infracted areas revealed cardiomyocytes in variable stages of development in the border zone	genic hypoxia Intramyocardial 49 Acute Cynomolgus Direct comparison naïve and hypoxia- ured injection finitection ACCs for long-term effects. Insignificant functional improvement between the two cell- treated groups. However, hypoxia- MSC transplantation was also associated with increases in cardiomyocyte proliferation, vascular density, myocardial glucose uptake,
	Cell type	Autologous	Allogenic hypoxia cultured
Author/	year	Rabbani et al. (2017)	Hu et al. [2016) c

 Table 3
 (continued)

Quevedo and colleagues investigated the regenerative potential of BM-derived MSCs after long-term engraftment in a chronic myocardial infarction (MI) model (Ouevedo et al. 2009). The cells were harvested through an iliac crest BM aspiration from a healthy male landrace pig, expanded in vitro, and labeled with 5-bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU). The experimental animal model of chronic MI was developed in female pigs by left anterior descending (LAD) occlusion for 150 min using an over-the-wire balloon catheter. The pattern of induced MI was consistently antero-apical in all of the experimental animals included in the study. Twelve weeks following the induction of MI, the animals were allocated to receive either a catheterbased transendocardial injection of placebo (n = 4) or male allogeneic BM-derived MSCs (n = 6). A noticeable decline in the LVEF, transmural extension of myocardial scar, and left ventricular remodeling was observed on a cardiac MRI scan at 12 weeks after the induction of MI. MSC-treated hearts showed almost one-third decrease in the infarct size (29%) 8 weeks after the intervention compared to the placebo-treated animals. Eulerian circumferential shortening (Ecc) was used to estimate the contractile function of the regenerated myocardium, which showed significant improvement in the border and infarct zones for up to 3 months of observation compared to the placebo-controlled group. Furthermore, a significant increase in the basal blood flow was observed as early as 4 weeks after BM-derived MSC therapy in the cell treatment group.

Schuleri and colleagues investigated the dose-response effects exerted by BM-derived MSCs on the infarcted myocardium (Schuleri et al. 2009). The experimental porcine model was developed by a temporary balloon occlusion of the LAD, similar to the approach described earlier by Quevedo et al. (2009). Ischemia was sustained for 120 min, followed by reperfusion by deflating the balloon. The BM-derived MSCs were harvested from the iliac crest of each animal and expanded in vitro for four to seven passages before transplantation. The cells were phenotypically characterized for CD45– and CD90+ expression besides the assessment for CFU-F. A total of 15 pigs were randomly assigned to one of the three arms of high-dose, low-dose, and placebo (saline) treatment. The cells were delivered by direct intramyocardial injections through an anterior thoracotomy into areas of severe hypo- and/ or akinesia at a rate of 15-25 injections per animal. A series of cardiac MRIs were obtained at different time intervals to assess the outcomes of the study. The study data revealed no observable safety and tolerability concerns (including neoplasms and arrhythmias) in all of the intervention groups. However, infarct size decreased significantly in both cell treatment groups (i.e., high and low dose) with a concomitant remodeling reversal when compared to the placebo-treated animals. Furthermore, the cell-treated animals had a significant enhancement in their cardiac contractile function and improved post-MI coronary basal flow and adenosine-dependent coronary flow reserve (CFR).

Building on these findings, Schuleri et al. conducted another study to investigate the usefulness of multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) in assessing the therapeutic effects of myocardial regenerative cell therapies (Schuleri et al. 2011). They reported a massive 27.9% reduction in infarct size and a significant 13% increase in LVEF. The authors concluded that MDCT was a valuable tool in evaluating infarct size and LVEF after intramyocardial cell delivery.

Cai et al. used an open-chest model of acute MI in mini-Chinese swine to elucidate the mechanism of stem cell-based improved cardiac function (Cai et al. 2016). Using PET-CT, the authors observed a significant increase in mean signal intensity (MSI) in the cell-transplanted hearts at 4 weeks as compared to their baseline levels at 1 week after cell transplantation. Gene expression of glucose transporters Glut1 and Glut4 and glucose metabolism-related enzyme phosphofructokinase was significantly increased in the cell-transplanted segments. The authors inferred that these molecular changes leading to global and regional left ventricular function resulted from the transplanted cells' paracrine.

Lim et al. previously used either naïve or genetically modified BM-derived MSCs overexpressing Akt (Lim et al. 2006). The sex-mismatched cells were delivered via intracoronary infusion 3 days after the development of experimental porcine model of MI developed by balloon occlusion for 30 min. Myocardial single-photon emission tomography (M-SPECT) revealed the highest LVEF improvement and reduced infarct size in Akt-MSC-treated animal hearts. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) for Y-chromosome revealed the highest survival of male donor cells in the peri-infarct zone in the female recipient animals. The authors observed the most significant cardiac function improvement in the Akt-MSC-treated animals and attributed it to the better donor cell survival. On the same note, de Jong et al. used genetically modified MSCs expressing glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and microencapsulated them before transplantation in a porcine model of AMI (de Jong et al. 2014). One hundred animals were divided into posterolateral (moderate MI, n = 36) and anterior MI (severe MI n = 33) groups. The most significant LVEF improvement was observed in the GLP-1 eluting microencapsulated cells transplanted in severe MI animals. The microencapsulated cells served as a continuous source of GLP-1, an incretin hormone with cardioprotective effects. Moreover, there was a significant increase in vascular density in the infarct and peri-infarct areas in the animals treated with GLP-1-expressing MSCs.

Some of the other exciting studies in the porcine model include comparison of different routes of administration (Moscosoa et al. 2009; Gathier et al. 2019), percutaneous intramyocardial delivery of MSCs (Tao et al. 2015), validation of the use of contrast-enhanced MRI to monitor the efficacy of cell therapy (Malliaras et al. 2013), study of the effect of dose on the outcome of myocardial repair (Crisostomo et al. 2019), etc.

Despite their overwhelming abundance in the literature, the promising performance of BM-derived MSCs on improving the myocardial function in chronic ischemic models did not stop with swine models. For example, Silva et al. investigated the effectiveness of BM-derived MSCs in a canine model of chronic myocardial ischemia (Silva et al. 2005). Diverging from using an autologous source of the cells, Silva et al. utilized allogeneic canine cells. The cells were isolated and cultured using almost a similar protocol previously discussed and labeled with the crosslinkable membrane dye CM-DiI and the nuclear stain DAPI before transplantation. The chronic myocardial ischemia model was developed through a left thoracotomy and placement of an ameroid constrictor over LAD. One month after ameroid constrictor placement, the animals were randomly divided to receive intramyocardial injection of allogeneic MSCs (treatment group, n = 6) or saline (control group, n = 6). Overall, the procedure was highly safe without any observed arrhythmias or pericardial effusions. Transthoracic echocardiography revealed a mean 10% reduction of LVEF in the control group. In comparison, it showed a significant 5% increase in the treatment group, with a concomitant reduction in fibrotic changes in the infarct area. Furthermore, a noticeable increase in the vascular density was detected in the BM-derived MSC treatment group. The authors claimed differentiation of Dil- and DAPI-positive cells into actin-positive neomyocytes leading to increased LV wall thickness.

On the same note, Zhao et al. investigated the effectiveness of allogenic BM-derived MSCs on cardiac remodeling using an ovine model of acute myocardial ischemia (Zhao et al. 2012). The cell preparation process followed a similar protocol as described earlier, and the purified cells were characterized by tri-lineage differentiation and flow cytometric analysis for surface marker expression to ascertain the purity of MSC preparation. Experimental MI was developed in ten male sheep through a surgical ligation of LAD and second diagonal coronary arteries, while another four healthy sheep were assigned to a sham group. The sham-treated group's hearts were not infarcted and did not receive any stem cell therapy. Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) assay was used to detect apoptotic cells. The total number of TUNEL staining nuclei was later used to estimate the nuclei undergoing apoptosis. Furthermore, hypertrophy-related signal proteins (e.g., PI3K α , PI3K γ , and p-ERK/ERK) were upregulated in the infarction zone in the animals that only received MI as compared to the sham group. Nonetheless, analysis of the identical zones in the BM-derived MSC treatment group revealed a normalized expression, almost indistinguishable from that of the sham group. Sonomicrometric analysis revealed a considerable decline in regional contractile function and remodeling strains in both cell treatment and control groups.

Throughout the years, various strategies have been adopted to enhance the efficacy of BM-derived MSCs. For example, van der Spoel et al. investigated the efficiency of different cell delivery methods in donor cell survival and therapeutic benefits (van der Spoel et al. 20,212). They compared intracoronary and transendocardial routes of delivery with the well-established surgical delivery in a chronic porcine model of ischemic cardiomyopathy. The BM-derived MSCs were radio-labeled with indium-111 (¹¹¹In) for later quantitative analysis of cell survival. The experimental animal model of MI was developed by median sternotomy induced in 24 healthy pigs by temporary ligation of the left circumflex artery for 75 min. The authors did not observe any significant difference in hemodynamic and echocardio-graphic parameters at the start of the trial and 1 month after the induction of MI. In addition, cell-related characteristics such as viability and count did not differ between the groups. However, intracoronary delivery showed more consistent results concerning the delivery efficiency, while higher levels of local retention (i.e., at the mid-papillary level) were observed in the animals receiving
transendocardial delivery. Noticeably, a high level (up to 45%) of ¹¹¹In-labelled cell retention was observed in extra-cardiac organs in all of the groups.

To enhance donor cell survival, various strategies have been adopted. In this regard. Sheu and colleagues investigated the effects of combining shockwave therapy and autologous BM-derived MSCs to improve the clinical outcome of the left ventricular failure (Sheu et al. 2015). Twenty-five male mini-pigs were equally divided into sham control (group 1), acute MI (AMI, group 2), AMI + shock wave (shockwave, group 3), AMI + autologous BM-derived MSCs (group 4), and AMI + shockwave + autologous BM-derived MSCs (group 5). The experimental animal model was developed by LAD ligation, and 1 hour later the animals received their respective treatment by intramyocardial injections. The trial results showed that dual therapy group receiving shockwave therapy and BM-derived MSCs showed a significantly higher LVEF improvement with a significant reduction in the infarct size and most wall thickness. Immunohistochemical staining revealed that the number of inflammatory indicators was also significantly lower in this group. Neovascularization in the infarct and peri-infarct area, as evident by the number of arterioles, was by far the highest in the AMI-shockwave BM-derived MSC group. These findings support the essential regenerative role of BM-derived MSCs and signify the anti-inflammatory role of shockwave therapy.

Although the use of BM-derived MSCs has already reached the veterinary clinics for various applications (Gomes et al. 2017), some other important studies using the canine model for myocardial repair include assessment of the efficiency of pre-treated MSCs with cardiomyogenic factors (Bartunek et al. 2007), comparison of BM-derived MSCs and mononuclear cells (Mathieu et al. 2009), histological evidence of the efficacy of allogenic MSCs in myocardial repair (Vela et al. 2009), combining cell delivery with growth factor treatment for myocardial repair (Wang et al. 2015), comparison of routes of administration for MSC delivery, using dualisotope simultaneous acquisition (DISA) of SPECT for assessment (Perin et al. 2008; Hao et al. 2015), etc. Besides canine models, monkeys are also considered an excellent surrogate cardiac model (Yang et al. 2011) for translational assessment of stem cells for myocardial repair (Hu et al. 2016).

It is pertinent to add that that there is a wide array of experimental animal models, dominated by porcine models (Hotham and Henson 2020), which are available to study the safety and efficacy of stem cell-based therapy of heart diseases, and each one of these models has specific features (Ou et al. 2010; van der Spoel et al. 2011). These specific features could be exploited to add to the relevance of the study to achieve desired results for translation to humans and hence should be given due consideration before opting for a particular model (Gandolfi et al. 2011). For example, the presence of well-developed collateral circulation in the canine hearts is useful to study vascular adaptation to ischemic myocardial injuries and, therefore, may have an effect on the long-term benefits of stem cell therapy. Similarly, the ovine and porcine hearts, similar to humans', lack these adaptations, making them more suitable in studies where human-like anatomy is a required feature. However, the difficulties brought by the unique thoracic anatomy of ovine have limited its use due to technical challenges encountered during cardiac

imaging (e.g., transesophageal echocardiography). Moreover, ovine and porcine models may not be feasible for mechanistic understanding at molecular-level interplay involved in cell-based therapy. Despite its shortcomings, porcine models have gained huge popularity among researchers modeling heart disease for translational studies because of the many similarities swine heart shares with humans' in the aspects of gross anatomy, coronary circulation, and immunological and physiological responses (Cui et al. 2005; Milani-Nejad and Janssen 2014).

MSCs in the Clinical Perspective

Stem cell-based therapy has emerged as novel science that should be considered for the routine treatment of cardiac damage. MSCs are currently the most used cells for cell-based cardiovascular therapy (Rajab et al. 2020). Based on the safety and efficacy data from the preclinical and translational studies and given their ease of ability and biological characteristics, they have progressed to advanced phases of clinical assessment including several randomized placebo-controlled phase II and even phase III trials for different diseases (refer to Chapter-5, section 4 & Table-1 in this book). Despite the dominance of autologous MSCs in these clinical studies, the use of allogeneic MSCs has also gained popularity with encouraging results in general and for cardiovascular applications (Table 4). Irrespective of the tissue source for MSCs, the primary efficacy endpoint in these clinical trials has been to investigate if MSC transplantation could successfully improve the indices of LV structure and function in patients with IHD. The following section summarizes some of the randomized clinical trials involving BM-derived MSCs from autologous and allogenic sources to discuss the advantages and limitations of the cells from each source of cell in the clinic.

Randomized Clinical Trials with Autologous or Allogenic BM-Derived MSCs

The POSEIDON Trial

The significance of the POSEIDON trial (Clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NCT01087996) is that it compares the safety and efficacy of autologous vs. allogenic BM-derived MSC-based cell therapy in treating myocardial damage (Hare et al. 2012). A total of 30 patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy were included in the study. Cardiac CT screening was done at 13-month follow-up for detecting LV function and volumes besides quality of life, physical health, LVEF, and other related cardiac measurements. Only one participant from each treatment group had SAE during 30-day follow-up after treatment and needed emergent hospitalization for heart failure. The 1-year incidence of SAE was 33.3% (n = 5) vs. 53.3% (n = 8) in the allogeneic vs. autologous groups (p = 0.46). Four patients suffered ventricular arrhythmias in the autologous group, while no ventricular arrhythmias were observed in the allogenic group. The trial data concluded safety and efficacy of stem cell therapy in cardiac patients in terms of functional status and

			Sample				
Author/year	Cell type	Mode of delivery	size	Trial phase	Placebo	Primary outcomes	Findings
Mathiasen et al. (2020)	Autologous	I/M injection	60	2	Phosphate- buffered	Change in LVESV by MRI or CT	Significant reduction of LVESV in MSC group
~					saline	•	
Butler et al. (2017)	Allogenic	IV	22	7	Ringer's lactate	Safety and efficacy	Nonsignificant
Karantalis et al.	Both	I/M injection	6	Suspended	No placebo	12 months adverse	Insufficient results
(2014) (PROMETHIUS)				(1 and 2)	group	events	
Heldman et al.	Both	Intraventricular	65	1 and 2	Vehicle	30-day adverse	None (0% events)
(2014)		injection with infusion catheter			placebo	composite event	
Hare et al. (2012)	Both	Transendocardial stem	30	1 and 2	None	30-day emergent	6.7% rate (1 patient in
(POSEIDON)		cell injection				serious adverse events	each group)

 Table 4
 Summary of clinical trials utilizing BM-derived MSCs in the management of heart failure

quality of life improvement. However, there was no significant improvement in 6-min walk test (6MWT) in the allogenic group compared to the baseline, while no significant LVEF and LV end-diastolic volume changes were observed in the autologous group. Interestingly, low-dose allogenic MSC (20 million cells) treatment led to highest reduction in LV end-diastolic volumes. Lack of placebo arm is a limitation of this study, along with a small size of participants.

The same research group registered another trial POSEIDON-DCM (ClinicalTrials identifier: NCT01392625) comparing allogenic vs. autologous BM-derived MSCs in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. A total of 37 patients were randomized in a ratio of 1:1 to transendocardially (TESI) receive 100 million autologous or allogenic MSCs using NOGA catheter (Mushtaq et al. 2014). For baseline, the patients were followed up on day 30, 3, 6, and 12 months for safety and efficacy endpoints including serious adverse events (SAE), LVEF, 6MWT, MACE, and immune-biomarkers. The authors did not observe any treatment-related SAE in both the treatment groups until day 30 but observed SAEs 28% (95% CI: 12.8, 55.1) in allogenic treatment group vs. 63.5% (95% CI: 40.8, 85.7; p = 0.1004) in autologous treatment group (Hare et al. 2017). LVEF was up by 8 units (95% Cl: 2.8, 13.2; p = 0.004) vs. 5.4 (95% Cl: -1.4, 12.1; p = 0.116, allogenic vs. autologous treatment p = 0.4887) units in allogenic vs. autologous treatment groups, respectively. Interestingly, MACE rate was also lower in allogenic treatment group (p = 0.0186 vs. autologous group) besides a significant decrease in tumor necrosis factor-alpha (p = 0.00001). These findings clearly showed the superiority of allogenic MSCs in the clinical perspective.

The PROMETHEUS Clinical Trial

Researchers at the University of Miami and Johns Hopkins University conducted a Prospective Randomized Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (PROMETHEUS; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00587990) (Karantalis et al. 2014). During the phase I/II randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study, a total of six patients received intramyocardial injections of autologous MSCs as an adjunct to coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). The cells were injected in the akinetic/hypokinetic myocardium, which were not receiving bypass graft and assessed by cardiac MRI during follow-up at intervals of 3, 6, and 18 months. All the patients enrolled in this study had a known history of chronic ischemic LV dysfunction after a MI. Cardiac MRI at 18 month revealed increased LVEF (9.4% + 1.7, p = 0.0002) and decreased scar mass(-47.5+8.1, p = 0.0001) as compared with the baseline values. Interestingly, reduction in the scar volume, perfusion, and contractile function improvement was observed in the cell-transplanted regions. In addition to increased stroke volume, there was significantly increased ventricular wall thickening due to revascularization. It is important to mention that there was no control patient group in the study and results were compared to previously obtained data of post-CABG patients; hence, results should be viewed in scope of this important limitation of the PROMETHUS trial. However, these data favor MSC-based therapy in patients who require surgical intervention, as combining both approaches could lead to interesting outcomes.

The TAC-HTF Clinical Trial

Heldman and colleagues conducted TAC-HTF trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00768066), a phase I/II randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study (Heldman et al. 2014). Led by Joshua Hare at the University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, the trial was intended to study the safety and efficacy of transendocardial injection (TESI) of autologous human BM-derived mononuclear cells or MSCs in patients with chronic ischemic LV dysfunction and heart failure after MI. A total of 65 patients with confirmed ischemic cardiomyopathy and LVEF less than 50% were randomized to receive MSCs or mononuclear cells into ten different sites in the LV endocardially using an infusion catheter. No treatment-related SAEs were observed with statistical significance between the different arms of the study within 1 month, which was reassuring regarding the safety of the procedure. The study, however, recorded two unfortunate deaths due to cardiac adverse events, one patient each from the MSC- and placebo-treated groups at 239 and 115 days after respective treatment. A total of 16 patients were hospitalized, five patients each from the cell therapy groups and six patients from the placebo group. Six-MWT distance increased and infarct size decreased significantly within the group only in MSC-treated patients. The authors did not observe any significant change in LVEF and LV chamber volumes. The findings of this trial reassured the safety of TESIbased stem cell therapy in patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy for larger future studies.

Mesenchymal Stromal Cell for IHD

Mathiasen and colleagues have reported a single center, randomized controlled study (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00644410). Led by Jens Kastrup at Rigs Hospitalet, Denmark, the trials were designed to study the effect of NOGA-guided direct intramyocardial injection of in vitro expanded MSCs on the development of new myocardium and blood vessels in patients with heart failure using saline-treated patient group as control (Mathiasen et al. 2012). A total of 60 patients (aged 30-80 years) with ischemic heart failure, LVEF <45%, and NYHA class II or III were randomized (2:1) to receive their respective treatment of cell therapy and placebo. Six-month follow-up revealed significant improvements in LVEF of 6.2% (p = 0.0001), stroke volume of 18.4 mL (p = 0.0001), and myocardial mass of 5.7 g (p ¹/₄ 0.001) in cell therapy group vs placebo group (Mathiasen et al. 2015). The authors also observed reduced LVESV in MSC group, -7.6 (95% CI -11.8 to -3.4) mL (p = 0.001), which was increased in the placebo group, 5.4 (95% CI -0.4 to 11.2) mL (p = 0.07). However, no differences were observed in NYHA class, 6-MWT. The improvement was consistent and sustained even 1 year after treatment. Unfortunately, mortality was present in both intervention and control groups, but the mortality rate was less in MSC-treated group (35%) after 4 years of treatment than the control group (27.5%) (Mathiasen et al. 2020). A similar trend was seen in SAE as they were considerably lower in the treatment group, with fewer hospitalizations for angina. These data show the safety TESI and therapeutic benefits of autologous MSCs in patients with ischemic heart failure.

Intravenous Allogenic MSC Nonischemic Cardiomyopathy

Butler and colleagues have reported the results of a phase 2a, single-blind, placebocontrolled, randomized study that evaluated the safety and preliminary efficacy of intravenously administered allogenic BM-MSCs (Clinicaltrials.gov identifier: NCT02467387). A total of 22 patients with nonischemic heart failure were randomized to intravenously receive 1.5 million cells/kg (n = 10) or placebo control (n = 12) (Greene et al. 2017). The cells were expanded in vitro under chronic hypoxic conditions before transplantation to render them ischemia tolerant. The patients enrolled in this study had the specific characteristics of having chronic nonischemic cardiomyopathy with a LVEF 40% or less but without a prior history of MI and NYHA class II/III. After their respective treatment, the patients were followed up at regular of intervals of 30 days for the first 180 days, 9 months, and 15 months. There was no difference between the incidences of SAE in either cell therapy or control groups (Butler et al. 2017). There was one reported bruising at the site of intravenous infusion but no deaths or hospitalization in either group. Change in LVEF compared to the baseline was observed but insignificant. There was a finding of reductions in LV diastolic and systolic volumes. However, compared with placebo, cell therapy group showed an increased 6MWT distance (+36.47 m, 95%) CI 5.98–66.97; p = 0.02). The authors attributed the functional improvement to the systemic anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effect of hypoxia-stimulated allogenic MSCs via the systemic release of bioactive molecules. Although the study was limited by the sample size and lacked a comparator group for hypoxia cultured cells using normoxia cultured cells, overall, intravenous administration of hypoxia preconditioned allogenic MSCs was safe and well tolerated intravenously and led to noticeable improvement in health status of the patients.

Conclusions and Future Perspective

Although the ongoing and already completed clinical trials diverge in the inclusion and exclusion criteria used for patient enrolment, the quality of the cell preparation, the number of cells injected, route of administration, number of injection sites for cell delivery, time of injection after ischemic episode, study endpoints and method of assessment, etc., the apparent divergence in all these parameters renders it challenging to reach to a consensus outcome in terms of MSC efficacy (Kallu et al. 2021). However, the current evidence stemming from these trials supports the safety and modest ability of MSCs to attenuate myocardial fibrosis after ischemia, besides neovascularization and tissue regeneration. A recently published systematic review and meta-analysis by Jeong et al. involved 950 patients from 14 randomized placebo-controlled trials that showed mechanical, regenerative, and clinical benefits of cell-based therapy using MSCs (Jeong et al. 2018). They observed 3.84% (95%) CI: $2.3 \sim 5.35$) increase in LEVF in MSC treatment group that was sustained until 24 months, while scar mass was reduced -1.13 (95% CI = -1.8 to -0.46). These observations comply with the outcome of a systematic review and meta-analysis published based on 23 preclinical studies in experimental animal models of AMI and

ischemic heart failure (Lalu et al. 2018). The observed therapeutic efficacy of stem cells may be improved further if certain requirements pertaining to the abovementioned parameters have been met and optimized.

One of these requirements, and possibly the primary one, is the quality of the cell preparation which is now being considered as responsible for modest outcome of the clinical trials (Haider 2018; Shahid et al. 2016). In this regard, the genetic constitution of the donor cells to ensure its acceptance by the recipient immune system is an important determinant to ensure that the transplanted cells survive and their derived tissue is sustained for a long time. Apparently, autologous MSCs seem an obvious choice as they inherently avoid any immunologic effects, but in the clinical perspective, this may not be true. For cardiovascular applications, patients who were candidates for cell therapy may not have the option of waiting for long enough that their autologous MSCs could be expanded in vitro to achieve them in sufficient number needed for transplantation. Similarly, aging and diseased autologous cells from the patient for engraftment in elderly patient may not be the best option in the clinic (Haider 2018). As the safety and efficacy of allogenic MSCs are comparable with autologous (Jansen of Lorkeers et al. 2015) and even better in some cases than the autologous cells, the use of allogenic MSCs has logistic superiority. Please refer to \triangleright Chap. 1, "Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Art to Use Them in the Treatment of Previously Untreatable," in this book for further discussion where a case for allogenic MSCs has been discussed in depth.

References

- Afzal MR, Haider KH, Idris NM, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- AHA (2018) Heart disease and stroke statistics at a glance. Am Heart Assoc. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIR.00000000000558
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Jiang S, Rizwan Afzal MR, Ashraf M (2010) Sonic hedgehog gene delivery to the rodent heart promotes angiogenesis via iNOS/Netrin-1/PKC pathway. PLoS One 5(1):e8576
- Amable P, Teixeira MV, Carias RB, Granjeiro J, Borojevic R (2014) Protein synthesis and secretion in human mesenchymal cells derived from bone marrow, adipose tissue and Wharton's jelly. Stem Cell Res Ther 5(2):53. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt442
- Amado LC, Saliaris AP, Schuleri KH, John MS, Xie J-S, Cattaneo S, Dj D et al (2005) Cardiac repair with intramyocardial injection of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells after myocardial infarction. PNAS 102(32):11474–11479. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504388102
- Andersen DC, Kortesidis A, Zannettino ACW et al (2011) Development of novel monoclonal antibodies that define differentiation stages of human stromal (mesenchymal) stem cells. Mol Cells 32(2):133–142
- Anker PS, Scherjon SA, Kleijburg-van der Keur C et al (2004) Isolation of mesenchymal stem cells of Fetal or maternal origin from human placenta. Stem Cells 22(7):1338–1345
- Antebi B, Rodriguez LA, Walker KP, Asher AM, Kamucheka RM, Alvarado L, Mohammadipoor A, Cancio LC (2018) Short-term physiological hypoxia potentiates the therapeutic function of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:265. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-018-1007-x

- Antonitsis P, Ioannidou-Papagiannaki E, Kaidoglou A, Papakonstantinou C (2007) In vitro cardiomyogenic differentiation of adult human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. The role of 5-azacytidine. Interactive Cardiovasc Thoracic Surg 6:593–597. https://doi.org/10. 1510/icvts.2007.157875
- Armiñán A, Gandía C, García-Verdugo JM, Lledó E, Trigueros C, Ruiz-Saurí A et al (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells provide better results than hematopoietic precursors for the treatment of myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 55(20):2244–2253
- Asada N, Takeishi S, Frenette PS (2017) Complexity of bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell niche. Int J Hematol 106:45–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-017-2262-9
- Atoui R, Chiu RCJ (2012) Concise review: immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stem cells in cellular transplantation: update, controversies, and unknowns. Stem Cells Transl Med 1(3):200–205. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2011-0012
- Atoui R, Asenjo J-F, Duong M, Chen G, Chiu RC-J, Shum-Tim D (2008) Marrow stromal cells as universal donor cells for myocardial regenerative therapy: their unique immune tolerance. Ann Thorac Surg 85:571–580
- Aust L, Devlin B, Foster SJ et al (2004) Yield of human adipose-derived adult stem cells from liposuction aspirates. Cytotherapy 6(1):7–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240310004539
- Barbash IM, Chouraqui P, Baron J, Feinberg MS, Etzion S, Tessone A, Miller L et al (2003) Systemic delivery of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells to the infarcted myocardium: feasibility, cell migration, and body distribution. Circulation 108:863–868. https://doi. org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000084828.50310.6A
- Barry F, Boynton RE, Liu B, Murphy JM (2001) Chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow: differentiation-dependent gene expression of matrix components. Exp Cell Res 268(2):189–200
- Bartholomew A, Sturgeon C, Siatskas M et al (2002) Mesenchymal stem cells suppress lymphocyte proliferation in vitro and prolong skin graft survival in vivo. Exp Hematol 30(1):42–48
- Bartosh TJ, Ylostalo JH, Mohammadipoor A et al (2010) Aggregation of human mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) into 3D spheroids enhances their antiinflammatory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:13724–13729
- Bartunek J, Croissant JD, Wijns W, Gofflot S, de Lavareille A, Vanderheyden M, Kaluzhny Y et al (2007) Pretreatment of adult bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells with cardiomyogenic growth factors and repair of the chronically infarcted myocardium. Am J Phys 92(2): H1096–H1104. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.01009.2005
- Bhakta G, Rai B, Lim ZXH et al (2012) Hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels functionalized with heparin that support controlled release of bioactive BMP-2. Biomaterials 33(26):6113–6122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.05.030
- Bhat S, Viswanathan P, Chandanala S, Prasanna SJ, Seetharam RN (2021) Expansion and characterization of bone marrow derived human mesenchymal stromal cells in serum-free conditions. Sci Rep 11:3403. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83088-1
- Bobis S, Jarocha D, Majka M (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells: characteristics and clinical applications. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 44(4):215–230
- Boomsma RA, Swaminathan PD, Geenen DL (2007) Intravenously injected mesenchymal stem cells home to viable myocardium after coronary occlusion and preserve systolic function without altering infarct size. Int J Cardiol 122(1):17–28
- Boxall SA, Jones E (2012) Markers for characterization of bone marrow multipotential stromal cells. Stem Cells Int 2012:975871, 12 p
- Bramono DS, Murali S, Rai B et al (2012) Bone marrow-derived heparan sulfate potentiates the osteogenic activity of bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2). Bone 50(4):954–964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2011.12.013
- Butler J, Epstein SE, Greene SJ, Quyyumi AA, Sikora S, Kim RJ, Anderson AS et al (2017) Intravenous allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic cardiomyopathy: safety and efficacy results of a phase II-A randomized trial. Circ Res 120(2):332–340. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.309717

- Cai M, Shen R, Song L, Lu M, Wang J, Zhao S, Tang Y et al (2016) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) improve heart function in swine MI model through paracrine effects. Sci Rep 6:28250. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep28250
- Camilleri ET, Gustafson MP, Dudakovic A et al (2016) Identification and validation of multiple cell surface markers of clinical-grade adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells as novel release criteria for good manufacturing practice-compliant production. Stem Cell Res Ther 7(1):107
- Caplan AI (1986) Molecular and cellular differentiation of muscle, cartilage, and bone in the developing limb. Prog Clin Biol Res 217B:307–318. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 3092248
- Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9(5):641-650
- Castro-Manrreza ME, Montesinos JJ (2015) Immunoregulation by mesenchymal stem cells: biological aspects and clinical applications. J Immunol Res 2015:1–20. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2015/394917
- Chen Y, Zuo J, Chen W, Yang Z, Zhang Y, Hua F et al (2019) The enhanced effect and underlying mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells with IL-33 overexpression on myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):295
- Chen Y, Li C, Li C, Chen J, Li Y, Xie H, Lin C et al (2020) Tailorable hydrogel improves retention and cardioprotection of intramyocardial transplanted mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction in mice. J Am Heart Assoc 9(2):e013784. https://doi.org/10. 1161/JAHA.119.013784
- Corrao S, La Rocca G, Lo Iacono M, Corsello T, Farina F, Anzalone R (2013) Umbilical cord revisited: from Wharton's jelly myofibroblasts to mesenchymal stem cells. Histol Histopathol 28(10):1235–1244
- Corselli M, Chen C-W, Crisan M, Lazzari L, Péault B (2010) Perivascular ancestors of adult multipotent stem cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30(6):1104–1109
- Costanza B, Umelo I, Bellier J, Castronovo V, Turtoi A (2017) Stromal modulators of TGF-β in cancer. J Clin Med 6(1):7. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm6010007
- Crisostomo V, Baez C, Abad JL, Sanchez B, Alvarez V, Rosado R, Gómez-Mauricio G et al (2019) Dose-dependent improvement of cardiac function in a swine model of acute myocardial infarction after intracoronary administration of allogeneic heart-derived cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:152. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1237-6
- Cui J, Li J, Mathison M, Tondato F, Mulkey SP, Micko C, Robinson KA (2005) A clinically relevant large-animal model for evaluation of tissue-engineered cardiac surgical patch materials. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 6(3):113–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carrev.2005.07.006
- Dai Y, Ashraf M, Zuo S, Uemura R, Dai YS, Wang Y, Haider HK (2008) Mobilized bone marrow progenitor cells serve as donors of cytoprotective genes for cardiac repair. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(3):607–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2007.11.011
- Davani S, Marandin A, Mersin N, Royer B, Kantelip B, Hervé P et al (2003) Mesenchymal progenitor cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a rat cellular cardiomyoplasty model. Circulation 108(Suppl 1): Ii253–Ii258
- de Jong R, van Hout GPJ, Houtgraaf K, Kazemi K, Wallrapp C, Lewis A, Pasterkamp G et al (2014) Intracoronary infusion of encapsulated glucagon-like Peptide-1–eluting mesenchymal stem cells preserves left ventricular function in a porcine model of acute MI. Circulation 7: 673–683. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001580
- Deng Z-L, Sharff KA, Tang N et al (2008) Regulation of osteogenic differentiation during skeletal development. Front Biosci 13:2001–2021
- Derval N, Barandon L, Dufourcq P, Leroux L, Lamazière JM, Daret D et al (2008) Epicardial deposition of endothelial progenitor and mesenchymal stem cells in a coated muscle patch after myocardial infarction in a murine model. Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg 34(2):248–254
- Devine SM, Hoffman R (2000) Role of mesenchymal stem cells in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Curr Opin Hematol 7(6):358–363. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 11055509. Accessed 30 Jan 2019

- Dexter TM, Spooncer E (1987) Growth and differentiation in the Hemopoietic system. Annu Rev Cell Biol 3(1):423–441. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cb.03.110187.002231
- Dexter TM, Wright EG, Krizsa F, Lajtha LG (1977) Regulation of haemopoietic stem cell proliferation in long term bone marrow cultures. Biomedicine 27(9–10):344–349. http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/606310
- Díez JM, Bauman E, Gajardo R, Jorquera JI (2015) Culture of human mesenchymal stem cells using a candidate pharmaceutical grade xeno-free cell culture supplement derived from industrial human plasma pools. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:28
- Dombrowski C, Helledie T, Ling L et al (2013) FGFR1 signaling stimulates proliferation of human mesenchymal stem cells by inhibiting the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21 Waf1 and p27 Kip1. Stem Cells 31(12):2724–2736. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1514
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement
- Eirin A, Riester SM, Zhu X-Y et al (2014) MicroRNA and mRNA cargo of extracellular vesicles from porcine adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Gene 551(1):55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2014.08.041
- Eirin A, Zhu X-Y, Puranik AS et al (2016) Comparative proteomic analysis of extracellular vesicles isolated from porcine adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Sci Rep 6(1): 36120. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36120
- Enoki C, Otani H, Sato D, Okada T, Hattori R, Imamura H (2010) Enhanced mesenchymal cell engraftment by IGF-1 improves left ventricular function in rats undergoing myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 138(1):9–18
- Erices A, Conget P, Minguell JJ (2000) Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. Br J Haematol 109(1):235–242
- Faiella W, Atoui R (2016) Immunotolerant properties of mesenchymal stem cells: updated review. Stem Cells Int 2016:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1859567
- Falk E, Shah PK, Fuster V (1995) Coronary plaque disruption. Circulation 92(3):657-671
- Fan J, Varshney RR, Ren L, Cai D, Wang D-A (2009) Synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a new cell source for musculoskeletal regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 15(1):75–86
- Flynn A, Chen X, O'Connell E, O'Brien T (2012) A comparison of the efficacy of transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and unrestricted somatic stem cells on outcome after acute myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res Ther 3(5):36
- Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP (1968) Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation 6(2): 230–247
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of Guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3(4): 393–403
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and re-transplantation in vivo. Transplantation 17(4):331–340
- Fukuda K (2001) Development of regenerative cardiomyocytes from mesenchymal stem cells for cardiovascular tissue engineering. Artif Organs 25:187–193
- Gandolfi F, Vanelli A, Pennarossa G, Rahaman M, Acocella F, Brevini TA (2011) Large animal models for cardiac stem cell therapies. Theriogenology 75(8):1416–1425. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.theriogenology.2011.01.026
- Gathier WA, van der Naald M, van Klarenbosch BR, Tuinenburg AE, Bemelmans JLM, Neef K, Sluijter JPG et al (2019) Lower retention after retrograde coronary venous infusion compared with intracoronary infusion of mesenchymal stromal cells in the infarcted porcine myocardium BMJ open. Science 2019(3):e000006. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjos-2018-000006
- Gay I, Chen S, MacDougall M (2007) Isolation and characterization of multipotent human periodontal ligament stem cells. Orthod Craniofac Res 10(3):149–160

- Gharibi B, Hughes FJ (2012) Effects of medium supplements on proliferation, differentiation potential, and in vitro expansion of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 1(11): 771–782
- Gomes IS, de Oliveira VC, Pinheiro AO, Roballo KCS, de Araujo GSM, Veronezi JC, Martins DS et al (2017) Bone marrow stem cell applied in the canine veterinary clinics. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira 37(10):1139–1145. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-736X2017001000016
- Greene SJ, Epstein SE, Kim RJ, Quyyumi AA, Cole RT, Anderson AS, Wilcox JE et al (2017) Rationale and design of a randomized controlled trial of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in patients with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 18(4):283–290. https://doi.org/10.2459/JCM.00000000000303
- Griffiths MJ, Bonnet D, Janes SM (2005) Stem cells of the alveolar epithelium. Lancet 366(9481): 249–260
- Guadalupe G-M, Moscoso I, Martín-Cancho M-F, Crisóstomo V, Prat-Vidal C, Báez-Díaz C, Francisco M, Sánchez-Margallo FM et al (2016) Combined administration of mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing IGF-1 and HGF enhances neovascularization but moderately improves cardiac regeneration in a porcine model. Stem Cell Res Ther 7(1):1–18
- Haider KH (2006) Bone marrow cells for cardiac regeneration and repair: current status and issues. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 4:557–568
- Haider KH (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the quality matters. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7:6
- Haider KH (2018) Bone marrow cell therapy and cardiac reparability: better cell characterization will enhance clinical success. Regen Med 13(4):457–475. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0134
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow cell transplantation in clinical perspective. J Mol Cell Cardiol 38(2):225–235
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning and stem cell survival. J Cardiovasc Trans Res 3: 89–102
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circulation Res 103:1300–1308. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.186742
- Haider KH, Buccini S, Ahmad RPH, Ashraf M (2010a) de novo myocardial regeneration: advances and pitfalls. Antiox Redox Signal 13(12):1867–1877
- Haider KH, Lee Y-J, Jiang S, Ahmad RPH, Ahn MR, Ashraf M (2010b) Phosphodiesterase inhibition with tadalafil provides longer and sustained protection of stem cells. Am J Physiol Heart Lung Physiol 299:H1395–H1404
- Haider KH, Mustafa A, Ashraf M, Feng Y (2011) Genetic modification of stem cells for improved therapy of the infarcted myocardium. Mol Pharm 8(5):1446–1457
- Hamid T, Prabhu SD (2017) Immunomodulation is the key to cardiac repair. Circ Res 120(10): 1530–1532. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310954
- Hao L, Hao J, Fang W, Han C, Zhang K, Wang X (2015) Dual isotope simultaneous imaging to evaluate the effects of intracoronary bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on perfusion and metabolism in canines with acute myocardial infarction. Biomed Rep 3:447–452
- Harding J, Roberts RM, Mirochnitchenko O (2013) Large animal models for stem cell therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(2):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt171
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Zambrano JP, Suncion VY et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells

delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEI-DON randomized trial. JAMA 308(22):2369–2379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.25321

- Hare JM, DiFede DL, Rieger AC, Florea V, Landin AM, El-Khorazaty J, Khan A et al (2017) Randomized comparison of allogeneic versus autologous mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 69(5):526–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.009
- Hatzistergos KE, Quevedo H, Oskouei BN et al (2010) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells stimulate cardiac stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Circ Res 107(7):913–922
- He Q, Wan C, Li G (2007) Concise review: multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells in blood. Stem Cells 25(1):69–77. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2006-0335
- Heldman AW, DiFede DL, Fishman JE, Zambrano JP, Trachtenberg BH, Karantalis V, Mushtaq M et al (2014) Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. JAMA 311(1):62–73. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.282909
- Helledie T, Dombrowski C, Rai B et al (2012) Heparan Sulfate enhances the self-renewal and therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells from human adult bone marrow. Stem Cells Dev 21(11):1897–1910
- Hoch AI, Leach JK (2014) Concise review: optimizing expansion of bone marrow mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for clinical applications. Stem Cells Transl Med 3(5):643–652. https://doi. org/10.5966/sctm.2013-0196
- Hocha AI, Leach JK (2014) Concise review: optimizing expansion of bone marrow mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for clinical applications. Stem Cells Transl Med 3(5):643–652
- Hong HS, Kim YH, Son Y (2012) Perspectives on mesenchymal stem cells: tissue repair, immune modulation, and tumor homing. Arch Pharm Res 35(2):201–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12272-012-0201-0
- Hotham WE, Henson FMD (2020) The use of large animals to facilitate the process of MSC going from laboratory to patient – 'bench to bedside'. Cell Biol Toxicol 36:103–114. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10565-020-09521-9
- Hou J, Lü AL, Liu BW, Xing YJ, Da J, Hou ZL, Ai SY (2013) Combination of BMP-2 and 5-AZA is advantageous in rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells differentiation into cardiomyocytes. Cell Biol Int 37(12):1291–1299. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.10161
- Hu X, Xu Y, Zhong Z, Wu Y, Zhao J, Wang Y, Cheng H et al (2016) A large-scale investigation of hypoxia-preconditioned allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for myocardial repair in nonhuman primates: paracrine activity without remuscularization. Circ Res 118(6):970–983. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307516
- Huang F, Li ML, Fang ZF, Hu XQ, Liu QM, Liu ZJ, Tang L et al (2013) Overexpression of MicroRNA-1 improves the efficacy of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation after myocardial infarction. Cardiology 125(1):18–30
- Igura K, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Sheriff S, Ashraf M (2011) Neuropeptide-Y (NPY) and NPY Y5 receptor (Y5R) interaction restores impaired growth potential of ageing bone marrow stromal cells. Rejuven Res 14(4):393–403
- Imanishi Y, Saito A, Komoda H, Kitagawa-Sakakida S, Miyagawa S, Kondoh H, Ichikawa H (2008) Allogenic mesenchymal stem cell transplantation has a therapeutic effect in acute myocardial infarction in rats. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(4):662–671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yjmcc.2007.11.001
- Izadpanah R, Trygg C, Patel B et al (2006) Biologic properties of mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue. J Cell Biochem 99(5):1285–1297. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jcb.20904
- Jackson WM, Nesti LJ, Tuan RS (2010) Potential therapeutic applications of muscle-derived mesenchymal stem and progenitor cells. Expert Opin Biol Ther 10(4):505–517
- Jansen of Lorkeers AJ, Eding JEC, Vesterinen HM, van der Spoel TIG, Sena ES, Duckers HJ, Doevendans PA et al (2015) Similar effect of autologous and allogeneic cell therapy for

ischemic heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of large animal studies. Circ Res 116:80–86. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.30487

- Jeanmonod DJ, Rebecca SK et al (2018) We are IntechOpen, the world's leading publisher of open access books built by scientists, for scientists TOP 1% control of a proportional hydraulic system. Intech Open 2:64. https://doi.org/10.5772/32009
- Jeong H, Yim HW, Park H-J, Cho Y, Hong H, Kim NJ, Oh I-H et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for ischemic heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Stem Cells 11(1): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.15283/ijsc17061
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circulation Res 99:776–784. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. RES.0000244687.97719.4f
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Ahmed R, Salim A, Ashraf M (2007) Transcriptional profiling of young and old mesenchymal stem cells for their response to oxygen deprivation and myocardial reparability. Circulation 116(16):II261. [Abstract #1280]
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Rafeeq PHA, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2008) Transcriptional profiling of young and old mesenchymal stem cells in response to oxygen deprivation and reparability of the infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(3):582–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2007.11.014
- Jin J, Zhao Y, Tan X, Guo C, Yang Z, Miao D (2011) An improved transplantation strategy for mouse mesenchymal stem cells in an acute myocardial infarction model. PLoS One 6(6): e21005. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021005
- Jin L, Zhang J, Deng Z, Liu J, Han W, Chen G, Si Y et al (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate myocardial fibrosis in diabetic cardiomyopathy via the secretion of prostaglandin E2. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01633-7
- Johnstone B, Hering TM, Caplan AI, Goldberg VM, Yoo JU (1998) In vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells. Exp Cell Res 238(1):265–272
- Jones E, Schäfer R (2015) Where is the common ground between bone marrow mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells from different donors and species? Stem Cell Res Ther 6:143
- Jones EA, English A, Kinsey SE et al (2006) Optimization of a flow cytometry-based protocol for detection and phenotypic characterization of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells from human bone marrow. Cytom Part B Clin Cytom 70B(6):391–399
- Kallu YMN, Hashmi ASA, Joudeh RM, Aramini B, Haider KH (2021) Clinical perspective of MSC-based heart cell therapy: factors affecting the outcome of clinical trials. Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer Nature, Singapore, Chapter 6
- Karantalis V, DiFede DL, Gerstenblith G, Pham S, Symes J, Zambrano JP, Fishman J et al (2014) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells produce concordant improvements in regional function, tissue perfusion, and fibrotic burden when administered to patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: the prospective randomized study of mesenchymal stem cell therapy in patients undergoing cardiac surgery (PROMETHEUS) trial. Circ Res 114(8):1302–1310. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303180
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Jiang S, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2012a) Stem cell-based delivery of Hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim HW, Malik M, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxidant Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kopen GC, Prockop DJ, Phinney DG (1999) Marrow stromal cells migrate throughout forebrain and cerebellum, and they differentiate into astrocytes after injection into neonatal mouse brains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(19):10711–10716. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 10485891

- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig A-K et al (2014) MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 28(4):970–973. https://doi.org/10.1038/ leu.2014.41
- Kretlow JD, Jin YQ, Liu W, Zhang WJ, Hong TH, Zhou G, Baggett LS et al (2008) Donor age and cell passage affects differentiation potential of murine bone marrow-derived stem cells. BMC Cell Biol 9(1):1–3
- Kusuma G, Carthew J, Lim R, Frith JE (2017) Effect of the microenvironment on mesenchymal stem cell paracrine Signaling: opportunities to engineer the therapeutic effect. Stem Cells Dev 26(9):617–631. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2016.0349
- Kwon Y-W, Yang H-M, Cho H-J (2010) Cell therapy for MI. Int J Stem Cells 3(1):8-15
- Lacerda L, Debeb BG, Smith D et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells mediate the clinical phenotype of inflammatory breast cancer in a preclinical model. Breast Cancer Res 17(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-015-0549-4
- Lai RC, Arslan F, Lee MM et al (2010) Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion injury. Stem Cell Res 4(3):214–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2009.12.003
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):667–677
- Lalu MM, Mazzarello S, Zlepnig J, Dong YYR, Montroy J, McIntyre L, Devereaux PJ et al (2018) Safety and efficacy of adult stem cell therapy for acute myocardial infarction and ischemic heart failure (SafeCell heart): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(12): 857–866. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0120
- Lee K, Majumdar MK, Buyaner D, Hendricks JK, Pittenger MF, Mosca JD (2001) Human mesenchymal stem cells maintain transgene expression during expansion and differentiation. Mol Ther 3(6):857–866. https://doi.org/10.1006/mthe.2001.0327
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery. In: Husnain Haider Kh (ed) Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Berlin
- Lennon DP, Caplan AI (2006) Isolation of human marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Hematol 34(11):1604–1605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2006.07.014
- Li TS, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Smith RR, Zhang Y, Sun B et al (2012) Direct comparison of different stem cell types and subpopulations reveals superior paracrine potency and myocardial repair efficacy with cardiosphere-derived cells. J Am Coll Cardiol 59(10):942–953
- Liao L, Shi B, Chang H, Su X, Zhang L, Bi C et al (2017) Heparin improves BMSC cell therapy: anticoagulant treatment by heparin improves the safety and therapeutic effect of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cell cytotherapy. Theranostics 7(1):106–116
- Lim SY, Kim YS, Ahn Y, Jeong MH, Hong MH, Joo SY, Nam K II et al (2006) The effects of mesenchymal stem cells transduced with Akt in a porcine MI model. Cardiovasc Res 70(3): 530–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardiores.2006.02.016
- Ling L, Dombrowski C, Foong KM et al (2010) Synergism between Wnt3a and heparin enhances osteogenesis via a phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt/RUNX2 pathway. J Biol Chem 285(34): 26233–26244
- Liu BW, Lü AL, Hou J, Huang W, Hou H, Hou ZL, Da J, Ai SY (2013) Electrophysiological characteristics of cardiomyocyte-like cells from rat bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells by four inductors. Chin Med J 126(18):3528–3533
- Locatelli P, Olea FD, Hnatiuk A, De Lorenzi A, Cerdá M, Giménez CS, Sepúlveda D et al (2015) Mesenchymal stromal cells overexpressing vascular endothelial growth factor in ovine myocardial infarction. Gene Ther 22(6):449–457
- Lu G, Haider KH, Porollo A, Ashraf M (2010) Mitochondria specific transgenic overexpression of connexin-43 simulates preconditioning induced cytoprotection of stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 88:277–286
- Lu G, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2012) IGF-1 preconditioning accentuates intrinsic survival mechanism in stem cells to resist ischemic injury by orchestrating PKCα-MAPK activation. Antioxidant Red Signal 16(3):217–227

- Luu HH, Song W-X, Luo X et al (2007) Distinct roles of bone morphogenetic proteins in osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 25(5):665–677
- Mackay AM, Beck SC, Murphy JM, Barry FP, Chichester CO, Pittenger MF (1998) Chondrogenic differentiation of cultured human mesenchymal stem cells from marrow. Tissue Eng 4(4): 415–428
- Majumdar MK, Keane-Moore M, Buyaner D et al (2003) Characterization and functionality of cell surface molecules on human mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomed Sci 10(2):228–241. https://doi. org/10.1159/000068710
- Makino S, Fukuda K, Miyoshi S, Konishi F, Kodama H, Pan J, Sano M et al (1999) Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells in vitro. J Clin Invest 103:697–705
- Malliaras K, Smith RR, Kanazawa H, Yee K, Seinfeld J, Tseliou E, Dawkins JF et al (2013) Validation of contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging to monitor regenerative efficacy after cell therapy in a porcine model of convalescent myocardial infarction. Circulation 128(25):2764–2775
- Mareschi K, Biasin E, Piacibello W, Aglietta M, Madon E, Fagioli F (2001) Isolation of human mesenchymal stem cells: bone marrow versus umbilical cord blood. Haematologica 86(10): 1099–1100
- Marfy-Smith SJ, Clarkin CE (2017) Are mesenchymal stem cells so bloody great after all? Stem Cells Transl Med 6(1):3–6. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2016-0026
- Maron BJ, Towbin JA, Thiene G, Antzelevitch C, Corrado D, Arnett D, Moss AJ et al (2006) Contemporary definitions and classification of the cardiomyopathies. Circulation 113(14): 1807–1816. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.174287
- Mathiasen AB, Jørgensen E, Qayyum AA, Haack-Sørensen M, Ekblond A, Kastrup J (2012) Rationale and design of the first randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of intramyocardial injection of autologous bone-marrow derived mesenchymal stromal cells in chronic ischemic heart failure (MSC-HF trial). Am Heart J 164(3):285–291. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ahj.2012.05.026
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Fischer-Nielsen A, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sørensen M et al (2015) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with severe ischaemic heart failure: a randomized placebo-controlled trial (MSC-HF trial). Eur Heart J 36(27):1744–1753. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv136
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sørensen M et al (2020) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with ischaemic heart failure: final 4-year follow-up of the MSC-HF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 22(5):884–892. https://doi. org/10.1002/ejhf.1700
- Mathieu M, Bartunek J, El Oumeiri B, Touihri K, Hadad I, Thoma P, Metens T et al (2009) Cell therapy with autologous bone marrow mononuclear stem cells is associated with superior cardiac recovery compared with use of nonmodified mesenchymal stem cells in a canine model of chronic myocardial infarction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 138(3):646–653. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.12.031
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Michurina TV, Ferraro F, Mazloom A, MacArthur B, Lira S, Scadden DT et al (2009) Coordinated regulation of hematopoietic and mesenchymal stem cells in a bone marrow niche. Blood 114:2
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Michurina TV, Ferraro F et al (2010) Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature 466(7308):829–834. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature09262
- Miao Z, Jin J, Chen L et al (2006) Isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from human placenta: comparison with human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Biol Int 30(9):681–687
- Milani-Nejad N, Janssen PM (2014) Small and large animal models in cardiac contraction research: advantages and disadvantages. Pharmacol Ther 141(3):235–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pharmthera.2013.10.007
- Mirotsou M, Zhang Z, Deb A et al (2007) Secreted frizzled related protein 2 (Sfrp2) is the key Akt-mesenchymal stem cell-released paracrine factor mediating myocardial survival and repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104(5):1643–1648

- Miyagawa Y, Okita H, Hiroyama M et al (2011) A microfabricated scaffold induces the spheroid formation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells and promotes efficient adipogenic differentiation. Tissue Eng Part A 17:513–521
- Molina EJ, Palma J, Gupta D, Torres D, Gaughan JP, Houser S, Macha M (2009) Reverse remodeling is associated with changes in extracellular matrix proteases and tissue inhibitors after mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) treatment of pressure overload hypertrophy. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 3(2):85–91. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.137
- Morrison SJ, Scadden DT (2014) The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 505(7483):327–334
- Moscosoa I, Barallobrea J, de Ilarduyaa OM, Añóna P, Fragaa M, Calviñob R, Aldamab G et al (2009) Analysis of different routes of Administration of Heterologous 5-Azacytidine–treated mesenchymal stem cells in a porcine model of myocardial infarction. Transplantation Proc 41(6):2273–2275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.06.011
- Munz MR, Faria MA, Monteiro JR, Aguas AP, Amorim MJ (2011) Surgical porcine MI model through permanent coronary occlusion. Comp Med 61(5):445–452
- Muraglia A, Cancedda R, Quarto R (2000) Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate in vitro according to a hierarchical model. J Cell Sci 113(Pt 7):1161–1166
- Mushahary D, Spittler A, Kasper C, Weber V, Charwat V (2018) Isolation, cultivation, and characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cytometry A 93A:19–31
- Mushtaq M, DiFede DL, Golpanian S, Khan A, Gomes SA, Mendizabal A, Heldman AW et al (2014) Rationale and design of the percutaneous stem cell injection delivery effects on Neomyogenesis in dilated cardiomyopathy (the POSEIDON-DCM study): a phase I/II, randomized pilot study of the comparative safety and efficacy of transendocardial injection of autologous mesenchymal stem cell vs. allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in patients with non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 7(9):769–780. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12265-014-9594-0
- Nagaya N, Fujii T, Iwase T, Ohgushi H, Itoh T, Uematsu M, Yamagishi M et al (2004) Intravenous administration of mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in rats with acute myocardial infarction through angiogenesis and myogenesis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 287(6):H2670–H2676. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.01071.2003
- Noiseux N, Gnecchi M, Lopez-Ilasaca M, Zhang L, Solomon SD, Deb A et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing Akt dramatically repair infarcted myocardium and improve cardiac function despite infrequent cellular fusion or differentiation. Mol Ther 14(6):840–850
- Nombela-Arrieta C, Ritz J, Silberstein LE (2011) The elusive nature and function of mesenchymal stem cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12(2):126–131. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3049
- Ong WK, Tan CS, Chan KL et al (2014) Identification of specific cell-surface markers of adiposederived stem cells from subcutaneous and visceral fat depots. Stem Cell Rep 2(2):171–179
- Organization WH (2017) Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). WHO. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds). Accessed 31 Dec 2018
- Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakonuik J, Anderson SM, Li B, Pickel J et al (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410(6829):701–705. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 35070587
- Ou L, Li W, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Jie S, Kong D, Steinhoff G, Ma N (2010) Animal models of cardiac disease and stem cell therapy. Open Cardiovasc Med J 4:231–239. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1874192401004010231
- Parate D, Kadir ND, Celik C, Lee EH, Hui JHP, Franco-Obregón A et al (2020) Pulsed electromagnetic fields potentiate the paracrine function of mesenchymal stem cells for cartilage regeneration. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:46. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-1566-5
- Perin EC, Silva GV, Assad JAR, Vela D, Buja LM, Sousa ALS, Coulter S et al (2008) Comparison of intracoronary and transendocardial delivery of allogeneic mesenchymal cells in a canine model of acute myocardial infarction. JMCC 44(3):486–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2007.09.012

- Pevsner-Fischer M, Levin S, Zipori D (2011) The origins of mesenchymal stromal cell heterogeneity. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7(3):560–568
- Piersma AH, Brockbank KG, Ploemacher RE, van Vliet E, Brakel-van Peer KM, Visser PJ (1985) Characterization of fibroblastic stromal cells from murine bone marrow. Exp Hematol 13(4): 237–243. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2580729. Accessed 30 Jan 2019
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284(5411):143–147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Pountos I, Georgouli T, Henshaw K, Howard B, Giannoudis PV (2014) Mesenchymal stem cell physiology can be affected by antibiotics: an in vitro study. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-Grand) 60(4):1–7
- Psaltis PJ, Zannettino ACW, Worthley SG, Gronthos S (2008) Concise review: mesenchymal stromal cells: potential for cardiovascular repair. Stem Cells 26(9):2201–2210
- Queensberry PJ, Mcniece IK, McGrath HE, Temeles DS, Baber GB, Deacon DH (1989) Stromal regulation of hematopoiesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 554:116–124. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/2544121. Accessed 30 Jan 2019
- Quevedo HC, Hatzistergos KE, Oskouei BN, Feigenbaum GS, Rodriguez JE, Valdes D et al (2009) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(33):14022–14027. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903201106
- Rabbani S, Soleimani M, Sahebjam M, Imani M, Nassiri SM, Atashi A, Daliri Joupari M et al (2017) Effects of endothelial and mesenchymal stem cells on improving myocardial function in a sheep animal model. J Tehran Heart Cent 12(2):65–71
- Rahbarghazi R, Nassiri S, Ahmadi SH, Mohammadi E, Rabbani S, Araghi A, Hosseinkhani H (2014) Dynamic induction of pro-angiogenic milieu after transplantation of marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in experimental myocardial infarction. In J Cardiol 173(3):453–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.03.008
- Rajab AM, Rajab TM, Al Jundi S, Haider KH (2020) Bone stem cell therapy in the clinical perspective: a focus on nonrandomized and randomized trials. In: Husnain Haider Kh. (ed) Stem cells: from myth to reality and evolving. Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Berlin
- Ramkisoensing AA, Pijnappels DA, Swildens J, Goumans MJ, Fibbe WE, Schalij MJ, de Vries AA (2012) Gap junctional coupling with cardiomyocytes is necessary but not sufficient for cardiomyogenic differentiation of cocultured human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 30(6):1236–1245. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1086
- Rangappa S, Entwistle JW, Wechsler AS, Kresh JY (2003) Cardiomyocyte-mediated contact programs human mesenchymal stem cells to express cardiogenic phenotype. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 126(1):124–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5223(03)00074-6
- Razavi M, Rezaee M, Telichko A, Inan H, Dahl J, Demirci U, Thakor AS (2020) The paracrine function of mesenchymal stem cells in response to pulsed focused ultrasound. Cell Transplant 29:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689720965478
- Ridge SM, Sullivan FJ, Glynn SA (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: key players in cancer progression. Mol Cancer 16(1):31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-017-0597-8
- Riis S, Nielsen FM, Pennisi CP, Zachar V, Fink T (2016) Comparative analysis of media and supplements on initiation and expansion of adipose-derived stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(3):314–324
- Russell KC, Phinney DG, Lacey MR, Barrilleaux BL, Meyertholen KE, O'Connor KC (2010) In vitro high-capacity assay to quantify the clonal heterogeneity in Trilineage potential of mesenchymal stem cells reveals a complex hierarchy of lineage commitment. Stem Cells 28(4): 788–798
- Samsonraj RM, Raghunath M, Nurcombe V, Hui JH, van Wijnen AJ, Cool SM (2017) Concise review: multifaceted characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells for use in regenerative medicine. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(12):2173–2185

- Schepers K, Campbell TB, Passegue E (2015) Normal and leukemic stem cell niches: insights and therapeutic opportunities. Cell Stem Cell 16:254–267
- Schuleri KH, Feigenbaum GS, Centola M, Weiss ES, Zimmet JM, Turney J et al (2009) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells produce reverse remodelling in chronic ischaemic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 30(22):2722–2732. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehp265
- Schuleri KH, Centola M, Choi SH, Evers KS, Dawoud F, George RT et al (2011) CT for evaluation of myocardial cell therapy in heart failure: a comparison with CMR imaging. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 4(12):284–1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmg.2011.09.013
- Scott MA, Nguyen VT, Levi B, James AW (2011) Current methods of adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 20(10):1793–1804. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0040
- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M et al (2004) Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet 364(9429):149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16627-0
- Shahid MS, Lasheen W, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10):E1371–E1374
- Shake JG, Gruber PJ, Baumgartner WA, Senechal G, Meyers J, Redmond JM, Pittenger MF et al (2002) Mesenchymal stem cell implantation in a swine myocardial infarct model: engraftment and functional effects. Ann Thoracic Surg 73(6):1919–1926
- Shariatzadeh M, Song J, Wilson SL (2019) The efficacy of different sources of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. Cell Tissue Res 378(3):399–410. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00441-019-03069-9
- Sheu JJ, Lee FY, Yuen CM, Chen YL, Huang TH, Chua S, Yip HK et al (2015) Combined therapy with shock wave and autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells alleviates left ventricular dysfunction and remodeling through inhibiting inflammatory stimuli, oxidative stress & enhancing angiogenesis in a swine MI model. Int J Cardiol 193:69–83. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.03.044
- Silva GV, Litovsky S, Assad JA, Sousa AL, Martin BJ, Vela D et al (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a canine chronic ischemia model. Circulation 111(2):150–156. https://doi.org/10.1161/ 01.Cir.0000151812.86142.45
- Smiler D, Soltan M, Albitar M (2008) Toward the identification of mesenchymal stem cells in bone marrow and peripheral blood for bone regeneration. Implant Dent 17(3):236–247. https://doi. org/10.1097/ID.0b013e3181835b13
- Spees JL, Lee RH, Gregory CA (2016) Mechanisms of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell function. Stem Cell Res Ther 7(1):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0363-7
- Stroncek DF, Jin P, McKenna DH, Takanashi M, Fontaine MJ, Pati M, Richard Schäfer R et al (2020) Human mesenchymal stromal cell (MSC) characteristics vary among laboratories when manufactured from the same source material: a report by the cellular therapy team of the biomedical excellence for safer transfusion (BEST) collaborative. Front Cell Dev Biol. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00458
- Sullivan MO, Gordon-Evans WJ, Fredericks LP, Kiefer K, Conzemius MG, Griffon DJ (2015) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cell surface markers from bone marrow aspirates and adipose stromal vascular fraction sites. Front Vet Sci 2:82
- Suzuki Y, Kim HW, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2010) Diazoxide potentiates mesenchymal stem cell survival via NF-κB-dependent miR-146a expression. Am J Phys 299:H1077–H1082
- Szaraz P, Gratch YS, Iqbal F, Librach CL (2017) In vitro differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells into functional cardiomyocyte-like cells. J Vis Exp 126:e55757. https://doi.org/10.3791/55757
- Taggart DP (2012) Incomplete revascularization: appropriate and inappropriate. Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg 41(3):542–543
- Tanaka Y, Shirasawa B, Takeuchi Y, Kawamura D, Nakamura T, Samura M, Nishimoto A et al (2016) Autologous preconditioned mesenchymal stem cell sheets improve left ventricular function in a rabbit old myocardial infarction model. Am J Transl Res 8(5):2222–2233

- Tao B, Cui M, Wang C, Ma S, Wu F, Yi F et al (2015) Percutaneous intramyocardial delivery of mesenchymal stem cells induces superior improvement in regional left ventricular function compared with bone marrow mononuclear cells in porcine myocardial infarcted heart. Theranostics 5:196–205. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.7976
- Teplyuk NM, Haupt LM, Ling L, Dombrowski C, Mun FK, Nathan SS, Lian JB et al (2009) The osteogenic transcription factor Runx2 regulates components of the fibroblast growth factor/ proteoglycan signaling axis in osteoblasts. J Cell Biochem 107(1):144–154. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jcb.22108
- Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahill KS, Byrne BJ, Kessler PD (2002) Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. Circulation 105(1):93–98
- Trivedi A, Miyazawa B, Gibb S, Valanoski K, Vivona L, Lin M, Potter D, Stone M et al (2019) Bone marrow donor selection and characterization of MSCs is critical for pre-clinical and clinical cell dose production. J Transl Med 17:128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-019-1877-4
- Tse WT, Pendleton JD, Beyer WM, Egalka MC, Guinan EC (2003) Suppression of allogeneic T-cell proliferation by human marrow stromal cells: implications in transplantation. Transplantation 75(3):389–397. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000045055.63901.A9
- Tuli R, Li W-J, Tuan RS (2003) Current state of cartilage tissue engineering. Arthritis Res Ther 5(5): 235–238
- Ullah M, Iqbal H, Haneef K, Khan I, Salim A (2021) Chromatin remodeling and cardiac differentiation of stem cells. In: Husnain Haider Kh. (ed) From stem cells. Springer Nature, Singapore. Chapter 9
- van den Akker F, de Jager SCA, Sluijter JPG (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for cardiac inflammation: immunomodulatory properties and the influence of toll-like receptors. Mediat Inflamm 2013:181020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/181020. (pp 1–13)
- van der Spoel TIG, Jansen of Lorkeers SJ, Agostoni P, van Belle E, Gyongyosi M, Sluijter JPG, Cramer MJ et al (2011) Human relevance of pre-clinical studies in stem cell therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis of large animal models of ischaemic heart disease. Cardiovasc Res 91(4):649–658
- van der Spoel TIG, Vrijsen KR, Koudstaal S, Sluijter JPG, Nijsen JFW, de Jong HW, Chamuleau SAJ (2012) Transendocardial cell injection is not superior to intracoronary infusion in a porcine model of ischaemic cardiomyopathy: a study on delivery efficiency. J Cell Mol Med 16(11): 2768–2776. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2012.01594.x
- van der Spoel TI, Gathier WA, Koudstaal S, van Slochteren F, Of Lorkeers SJ, Sluijter JP, Hoefer IE et al (2015) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells show more benefit on systolic function compared to bone marrow mononuclear cells in a porcine model of chronic myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 8(7):393–403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-015-9643-3
- van't Hof W, Mal N, Raber A et al (2007) Multipotent adult progenitor cells. In: Stem cells and myocardial regeneration. Humana Press, Totowa, pp 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-272-4 4
- Vela DC, Guilherme V, Silva GV, Assad JAR, Sousa ALS, Coulter S, Fernandes MR et al (2009) Histopathological study of healing after allogenic mesenchymal stem cell delivery in myocardial infarction in dogs. J Histochem Cytochem 57(2):167–176. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.2008. 952507
- Wakitani S, Saito T, Caplan AI (1995) Myogenic cells derived from rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells exposed to 5-azacytidine. Muscle Nerve 18(12):1417–1426. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mus.880181212
- Wang Y, Haider HK, Ahmad N, Xu M, Ge R, Ashraf M (2006) Combining pharmacological mobilization with intramyocardial delivery of bone marrow cells over-expressing VEGF is more effective for cardiac repair. J Mol Cell Cardiol 40(5):736–745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yjmcc.2006.02.004
- Wang T, Sun S, Wan Z, Weil MH, Tang W (2012) Effects of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model of myocardial infarction. Resuscitation 83(11):1391–1396

- Wang X, Zhen L, Miao H, Sun Q, Yang Y, Que B, Lopes Lao EP et al (2015) Concomitant retrograde coronary venous infusion of basic fibroblast growth factor enhances engraftment and differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac repair after myocardial infarction. Theranostics 5(9):995–1006. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.11607
- Wei X, Yang X, Han Z, Qu F, Shao L, Shi Y (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells: a new trend for cell therapy. Acta Pharmacol Sin 34(6):747–754. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2013.50
- Wilson A, Webster A, Genever P (2019) Nomenclature and heterogeneity: consequences for the use of mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine. Regen Med 14(6):595–611. https://doi. org/10.2217/rme-2018-0145
- Wu K-H, Wu H-P, Chan C-K, Hwang S-M, Peng C-T, Chao Y-H (2013) The role of mesenchymal stem cells in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: from bench to bedsides. Cell Transplant 22(4):723–729. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368912X655217
- Xu YL, Gao YH, Liu Z, Tan KB, Hua X, Fang ZQ, Wang YL et al (2010) Myocardium-targeted transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells by diagnostic ultrasound-mediated microbubble destruction improves cardiac function in myocardial infarction of New Zealand rabbits. Int J Cardiol 138(2):182–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2009.03.071
- Yang P, Han P, Hou J, Zhang L, Song H, Xie Y, Chen Y et al (2011) Electrocardiographic characterization of rhesus monkey model of ischemic myocardial infarction induced by left anterior descending artery ligation. Cardiovasc Toxicol 11:365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12012-011-9129-8
- Ye H, Cheng J, Tang Y et al (2012) Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells produced TGFbeta contributes to progression and metastasis of prostate cancer. Cancer Investig 30(7): 513–518. https://doi.org/10.3109/07357907.2012.692171
- Yoshimura H, Muneta T, Nimura A, Yokoyama A, Koga H, Sekiya I (2007) Comparison of rat mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, synovium, periosteum, adipose tissue, and muscle. Cell Tissue Res 327(3):449–462
- Zhang S, Liu P, Chen L et al (2015) The effects of spheroid formation of adipose-derived stem cells in a microgravity bioreactor on stemness properties and therapeutic potential. Biomaterials 41: 15–25
- Zhao Y, Li T, Wei X, Bianchi G, Hu J, Sanchez PG, Griffith BP (2012) Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation improves regional cardiac remodeling following ovine infarction. Stem Cells Transl Med 1(9):685–695. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2012-0027
- Zhou Y, Chen H, Hong Li H, Wu Y (2017) 3D culture increases pluripotent gene expression in mesenchymal stem cells through relaxation of cytoskeleton tension. J Cell Mol Med 21(6): 1073–1084
- Zhu H, Song X, Jin LJ, Jin P, Guan R, Liu X, Li XQ (2009) Comparison of intra-coronary cell transplantation after myocardial infarction: autologous skeletal myoblasts versus bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Int Med Res 37(2):298–307. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 147323000903700203



Preclinical Research of Mesenchymal Stem 11 Cell-Based Therapy for Ocular Diseases

E. Zakirova, A. M. Aimaletdinov, A. G. Malanyeva, C. S. Rutland, and A. A. Rizvanov

Contents

Introduction	324
Models of Corneal Diseases	325
Models of Lens Diseases	332
Retinal Models	333
Model Damage to the <i>N</i> -methyl-d-aspartate Receptor (NMDA)	337
Models of Transient Ischemia	339
Transgenic RGC Loss Models	339
Model of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalopathy (EAE)	340
Models of Hereditary Diseases Associated with Optic Nerve Damage	340
Glaucoma Models	340
Animal Models of Primary Angle-Closure Glaucoma (PACG)	342
References	343

Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) are specific cell types that enable tissue renewal within the body and are activated during the regeneration processes in response to injury. These cells are present in all human and animal tissues. In medical and biological research, MSCs are isolated and purified from the donor organism and cultured in vitro before use in the treatment of a variety of diseases and conditions associated with tissue damage and cell loss, including ocular lesions. This approach is called cell-based therapy or regenerative medicine. Despite the many existing therapeutic strategies in the area of cell therapy in relation to curing ocular diseases in recent years, advances and new regenerative therapy

C. S. Rutland

e-mail: catrin.rutland@nottingham.ac.uk

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 12

E. Zakirova · A. M. Aimaletdinov · A. G. Malanyeva · A. A. Rizvanov (🖂) Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, School of Veterinary Medicine and Science, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

methods have also been developed and consolidated, giving us a new perspective. Therefore, it is necessary to implement standardization and comparison of cell therapy results. Experimentation using animal models has played a central role in biomedical research. The safety and efficacy of new drugs are usually tested in animal models of human diseases prior to entering human clinical trials. Nevertheless, the pathophysiological mechanisms of eye diseases are complex and multifactorial; hence it is crucial that experimental animal models with clinical relevance provide adequate information and sufficiently replicate the eye diseases being assessed and demonstrate the effects of MSC therapy.

Keywords

Experimental · Eye · Humans · MSCs · Ocular · Regenerative

Abbreviations

ADMSC	Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells
AMD	Age-related macular degeneration
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BMSC	Bone marrow stromal cells
CNV	Choroidal neovascularization
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
ES	Embryonic stem cells
GCL	Ganglion cell layer
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
PVPC	Multipotent perivascular progenitor cells derived from human
hESC	Embryonic stem cells
hRPC	Human retinal progenitor cells
LEC	Lens epithelial cells
LHON	Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells
NF1	Neurofibromatosis type 1
POAG	Primary open-angle glaucoma
RCS	Retinal dystrophy of Royal College of Surgeons rats
RGC	Retinal ganglion cells
RP	Retinitis pigmentosa
RPE	Retinal pigment epithelial cells
SC	Stem cells
UMSC	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells

Introduction

Dysfunction of the visual system can significantly reduce the quality of human life, as the brain receives more than 80% of the incoming information via the eyes. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), in 2020, there were more than

1.3 billion people with visual impairments; 217 million people within this group had poor vision, and 36 million were blind. The leading causes of visual impairment are uncorrected refractive errors, cataracts, age-related macular degeneration, glaucoma, diabetic retinopathy, and corneal opacity (Lancet Global Health 2019).

Despite the availability of various medications and therapies available for use in ophthalmic practice presently, not all ocular diseases are treatable. Therefore, stem cell (SC) therapy has recently become more widespread. Many publications indicate its effectiveness in treating intractable eye diseases for both humans and animals (Zakirova et al. 2015, 2019).

The role of experimental animal models for obtaining information about the effectiveness and safety of cell therapy, including SC therapy, has significantly increased. Most studies are currently conducted on rodents, and on large animals, such as rabbits, dogs, pigs, sheep, goats, and non-human primates (Harding et al. 2013).

There is presently a wide range of potential SC-based drugs that can be used for medical purposes. Currently, embryonic stem cells (ESCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) somatic stem cells, as well as differentiated cells derived from SC, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from adipose tissue (ADMSCs), MSCs from bone marrow (BM-MSCs), neural stem cells, endogenous retinal stem cells, and stem cells derived from ciliary, retinal pigment epithelium, and umbilical cords (UMSCs) are used for therapy (Harding et al. 2013).

Currently, preclinical animal models are used to develop methods for treating eye surface diseases, glaucoma, retinal diseases, diabetic retinopathy, and age-related macular degeneration. Many experimental animal models imitate eye diseases, but none of them reflect the incredible complexity that the human disease possesses. Therefore, to replicate or emulate different aspects of human pathology, several experimental models of the same disease are usually required. Some of the important and commonly used experimental animal models used for testing cellular technologies in ophthalmology are summarized in Table 1.

Models of Corneal Diseases

The cornea is a piece of transparent tissue in the anterior aspect of the eye. It is a protective physical and biological barrier against the external environment and provides a refractive force for the concentration of light on the retina (Lewis et al. 2010).

The cornea comprises three main cell types: stratified surface epithelium, stromal keratocytes, and the innermost single-layered endothelial cells, which are neuroepithelial in nature (Sagizade et al. 2017). Surface epithelial cells are essential for corneal transparency and visual acuity. Corneal epithelial cells are continuously enhanced by a population of SC or progenitor cells, which are located in the corneal limb. However, severe corneal damage caused by chemical or mechanical exposure, and immune or hereditary diseases, can lead to corneal inflammation, ulceration, neovascularization, and deficiency of limbal SC. All of these situations can result in loss of vision.

Eye				
tissue	Animal	Model	Cell type	References
Cornea	Mouse	The transgenic model. Lumican UMSC knockout mice.	UMSC	Liu et al. (2010)
		Transgenic mice model with mucopolysaccharidosis type VII	UMSC	Coulson-Thomas et al. (2013)
		Mechanical damage	BMSC	Shukla et al. (2019)
		Laser induction of damage	ADMSC	Zeppieri et al. (2017)
		Thermal damage	BMSC	Lan et al. (2012)
	Rat	Chemical burns	BMSC	Ma et al. (2006)
		Chemical burn with	MSC	Faruk et al. (2017)
		alkali	BMSC	Li et al. (2015)
			MSC	Yao et al. (2012)
		Chemical damage by	MSC	Oh et al. 2008
		100% ethanol	BMSC, corneal epithelial cells	Oh et al. (2009)
		Surgical injury	ADMSC c PAX6	Joe and Gregory-Evans (2010)
		The dry eye syndrome caused by benzalkonium chloride	MSC	Beyazyıldız et al. (2014)
	Rabbit	Chemical alkali burn	MSC	Ye et al. (2006)
			BMSC	Gu et al. (2009)
		Surgical injury	ADMSC	Galindo et al. (2017)
			BMSC	Then et al. (2017)
		Model of bullous keratopathy	Primary corneal endothelial cells	Peh et al. (2017)
	Dog	Spontaneous model of dry keratoconjunctivitis	MSC	Sgrignoli et al. (2019)
		Spontaneous corneal wounds and ulcers	MSC	Falcão et al. (2019)
Lens	Rat	Induced by sodium selenite-	Wharton jelly MSCs	Maleki (2015)
		Model of diabetes 2 type	ADMSC	Yu et al. (2019)
	Rabbit, Macaque	Surgical method	LEC	Haotian et al. (2016)
		Laser induction	BMSC, RPE	Hou et al. (2010)
	Rat	Diabetes model induced by streptozotocin	hESC-PVPC BMSC	Kim et al. (2016)

 Table 1
 Animal models used for testing cellular technologies in ophthalmology

(continued)

Eye tissue	Animal	Model	Cell type	References
	Rat	RCS rats with dystrophy	hRPC hRPC/hBMSC RPE RPESC-RPE	Semo et al. (2016), Zhao et al. (2017), McGill et al. (2017), Davis et al. (2017)
	Rat	Model of retinal degeneration by sodium iodate injection	hESC	Park et al. (2011)
	Mouse	Transgenic model, Rd1	ESC и IPSC Precursors of rods	Assawachanaont et al. (2014), Barnea-Cramer et al. (2016), Singh et al. (2013)
	Rat	Optic nerve injury	MSC MSC from cord blood	Mesentier-Louro et al. (2014), Zwart et al. (2009)
	Rat	NMDA model	ESC	Aoki et al. (2008), Divya et al. (2017)
	Cat	NMDA model	MSC from Muller's glia	Becker et al. (2016)

Table 1 (continued)

Corneal transplantation is currently a reasonably effective method for managing corneal damage. However, the main problem with this treatment is the rejection of the transplants following this therapeutic technique. The use of allogeneic or autologous limbal cell transplantation is also limited due to the significant risk of systemic immunosuppression. Autologous transplantation can also lead to damage in the contralateral normal eye. Therefore, the search for a safe and adequate source of cells to create a bioengineered corneal epithelium is still ongoing, and one which is under active research at the present.

Numerous experimental studies have attempted to use mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) as a bioengineered corneal epithelium. Research has also confirmed that epithelial-like corneal cells can be formed from mesenchymal and embryonic stem cells (ESCs) extracted from bone marrow. The numerous potential advantages of adipose tissue-derived MSCs (ADMSC), including easy availability, low immunogenicity, high pluripotency, lack of ethical controversy, and reduced risk of infection, have made them a particularly attractive cell source for bioengineered corneal epithelium (Sun et al. 2018).

MSCs can treat both congenital corneal diseases and various types of injuries and damages (Joe and Gregory-Evans 2010). Additionally, there are many animal models designed to reproduce inherited diseases and injuries affecting the cornea. Therefore, the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs has been tested on various animals (mice, rats, rabbits, dogs, and primates).

In addition to different species, different model types have been used, including transgenic animals, experimental animals with natural spontaneous corneal diseases, and induced models.

Liu and colleagues used knockout mice as model animals for the Lumican gene (Liu et al. 2010). The mice received UMMC transplantations to facilitate studying their potential use as a therapy for congenital corneal diseases caused by genetic mutations. As a result, it was found that transplantation into the UMMC corneal stroma increases the thickness of the stroma and reduces corneal opacity. The turbidity of the corneal stroma was determined by measuring the total pixel intensity of light scattering through a three-dimensional volume, while the thickness of the corneal stroma was calculated by measuring the axial distance from the anterior to posterior stroma (Liu et al. 2010).

Coulson-Thomas and Caterson used genetically modified MPS VII mice with type VII mucopolysaccharidosis as a model to study the therapeutic properties of mesenchymal stem cells (Coulson-Thomas and Caterson 2013). Their study was aimed to establish cell therapy effectiveness in mucopolysaraidosis VII (Sly syndrome). The researchers used UMSCs, which were transplanted into the corneal stroma. A significant number of the UMSCs delivered to the cornea survived the transplant process and remained in the cornea throughout the treatment period. The data obtained showed that human UMSCS transplanted into the murine cornea with MPS VII prevented the accumulation of glycosaminoglycans in the corneal stroma and keratocytes. There was also a lack of corneal opacity, which showed that UMSCs could prevent the disease progression (Coulson-Thomas et al. 2013).

Shukla and Mittal (2019) used a mechanical approach to damage the cornea. The corneal epithelium and anterior stroma, which account for approximately one-third of the total thickness of the cornea, were mechanically removed using an Algerbrush brush. The study was conducted to determine the effectiveness of BMSCs on damaged cornea and conjunctiva within the eye. The cells were injected subconjunctivally, intravenously, and intraperitoneally for an hour after the injury had been induced. Studies have shown that subconjunctival or intravenous administration of BMSCs has higher therapeutic efficacy compared to local or intraperitoneal administration following corneal damage. The authors noted a decrease in corneal opacity, tissue fibrosis, and the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Shukla et al. 2019).

In a laser-induced model of corneal damage in mice, ADMSC administration had significantly smaller defects of corneal epithelial (Zeppieri et al. 2017). In a thermal moxibustion murine model of corneal damage, the ability of MSCs to penetrate into damaged tissue and promote repair of corneal was investigated (Lan et al. 2012). BMSCs were administered intravenously following injury, and the outcomes were evaluated using epifluorescence microscopy whereas the epithelial regeneration was evaluated via corneal fluorescein staining. Studies have shown that the systemic administration of MSCs affected the damaged cornea and showed their long-term survival. The researchers also noted that after the cornea had been damaged, the introduction of BMSCs resulted in a significant and rapid regeneration of the corneal epithelium (Lan et al. 2012).

The effectiveness of human BMSCs in treating chemical burns in the corneal epithelium of rats has also been investigated. BMSCs were cultured on the human amniotic membrane, and 7 days after a chemical burn had been administered, amniotic membranes with BMSCs were transplanted onto rodent corneas. The

anatomical effects and vision of these rodents were measured once a week with a slit lamp and optokinetic head tracking response, respectively. The resulting data showed that BMSCs successfully repaired damaged corneal surfaces in rats (Ma et al. 2006).

Faruk et al. (2017) induced corneal damage using an alkali solution in rats. Studies have shown that systemic injection of autologous MSCs leads to regeneration of the corneal epithelium and inhibits neovascularization in the induced chemical burn of the cornea. The authors showed that MSCs had a therapeutic effect and inhibited early inflammatory responses in local corneal cells (Faruk et al. 2017). This method of corneal damage has also been used in rats. A model of corneal burn, using an alkali, was created by placing a 3 mm diameter piece of NaOH-soaked filter paper onto the right eyes of rats. Immediately after the injury, and 3 days later, the rats were given a subconjunctival injection containing a 2×10^6 MSCs suspension. Studies have shown that subconjunctival injection of MSCs reduces inflammation of the locally burned cornea by inhibiting the infiltration of inflammatory cells and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Yao et al. 2012).

The therapeutic effects of MSCs have also been tested in a model where 100% ethanol was applied to the eye's surface. Afterward, a reservoir with a hollow tube pre-filled with MSCs and culture medium was placed on the cornea and left in situ for 2 h. The reservoir was then removed and the eyes sutured. In this study, the authors demonstrated that MSCs reduced corneal inflammation and neovascularization and this was associated with IL-10 and TGF-beta1, IL-6, and TSP-1 upregulation, and IL-2, IFN-gamma, and MMP-2 downregulation, as well as decreased tissue infiltration by CD4 + cells (Oh et al. 2008). The same researchers also applied the same rat model of 100% ethanol chemical damage where BMSCs and human corneal epithelial cells were directly injected into the cornea. This technique resulted in upregulated expression of IL-6, VEGF, TGFbeta1, MMP-2, and thrombospondin-1, and suppression of MMP-9 secretion by the damaged epithelial cells (Oh et al. 2009).

One study investigated surgical corneal damage with ADMSC with PAX6 therapy. The research revealed that PAX6 induces differentiation of ADMSCs into epithelial-like corneal cells in vitro. ADMSCS reprogrammed with PAX6 also repaired damaged corneal surfaces in vivo (Joe and Gregory-Evans 2010).

The therapeutic efficacy of systemic administration of BMSCs after applying an alkaline burn to the experimental rats was investigated. Efficacy was assessed by corneal reepithelization, corneal opacification, and neovascularization. In the publication, the authors concluded that systemically transplanted BMSCs can take root in the damaged cornea, promoting wound healing through differentiation, proliferation, and synergy with hematopoietic stem cells (Li et al. 2014).

The therapeutic efficacy of topically applied MSCs for dry eye syndrome has been extensively reported (Hirayama 2018; Villatoro et al. 2017). The effectiveness of topical application of MSCs was assessed to treat dry eye syndrome (keratoconjunctivitis sicca; KCS) caused by benzalkonium chloride (BAC) in an experimental rat model. Eye drops containing ADMSC were applied topically every day for a week. The effectiveness of the treatment was evaluated using the Schirmer test, evaluation of the time of destruction, assessment of the eye surface, the index of corneal inflammation, and histological and electron microscopic analysis. Studies have shown that topical application of ADMSC can be a safe and effective treatment for dry eye syndrome (Beyazyıldız et al. 2014).

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are also known to promote the engraftment of cell and organ transplants due to their immunotherapeutic and immunomodulatory characteristics (Beeken et al. 2021). Indeed subconjunctival injection of MSCs to rats was effective in increasing the survival rate of corneal allografts. This effect was due to the inhibition of inflammatory and immune responses (Jia et al. 2018).

The possibility of using MSC systemic administration to accelerate the healing of corneal wounds after the alkaline burn of rabbits has been investigated. The clinical outcomes were evaluated using corneal reepithelization, corneal opacification, neo-vascularization, and immunohistochemical studies. The experiments conducted showed that systemically transplanted MSCs could engraft the damaged cornea, stimulating wound healing by differentiation, proliferation, and synergy with hematopoietic stem cells (Ye et al. 2006).

Gu and Xing (2009) studied the efficacy of MSCs in rabbits concerning whether BMSCs can differentiate into corneal epithelial cells. Corneal damage in rabbits was caused by contact with 1 N NaOH-soaked filter paper for 30 s. Twenty-eight days after corneal injury, fibrin gels were transplanted onto the rabbit cornea. The corneas of the rabbits were observed each day for follow-up with a slit-lamp microscope system (SL-1600; Nidek Co., Ltd., Aichi, Japan) to assess reepithelization, neovascularization, and transparency. The data showed that following BMSC transplantation, the damaged surface of the rabbit cornea was successfully reconstructed, and some of the transplanted cells directly participated in the healing process of the damaged corneal epithelium (Gu et al. 2009).

The effects of human ADMSCs on surgically damaged cornea have also been investigated. Studies have shown that ADMSCs transplanted to the surface of the eye migrated to the inflamed tissues, reduced inflammation, restrained the development of neovascularization and corneal opacification, and partially restored the phenotypes of the limbal and corneal epithelium (Galindo et al. 2017). Molecular profiling revealed partial restoration of corneal epithelial cell markers CK3 and E-Cadherin and the limbal epithelial cell markers CK15 and p63, that was lost during experimental corneal failure. The same research group has reported that subconjunctival injection of MSCs is less invasive and allows high-dose administration of MSCs besides being more efficacious (Galindo et al. 2021).

Evaluation of autologous BMSCs for the treatment of corneal stroma defects in rabbits showed interesting preliminary results. Animals were subjected to deep lamellar corneal dissections, and clinical outcomes were assessed via corneal reepithelization, corneal opacity, corneal thickness, and histology. Studies have shown that the use of BMSCs did not achieve complete transparency in the cornea. It has been suggested that remodeling the corneal stroma to fully restore the original optical qualities requires a longer time ranging from several months to several years. The authors noted that locally transplanted BMSCs could be a valuable source of corneal stroma regeneration (Then et al. 2017).

The beneficial therapeutic effect of isolated primary human corneal endothelial cell transplantation on a preclinical model of bullous keratopathy in rabbits has shown promising results. Primary corneal endothelial cell transplantation gradually reduces the thickness of the cornea during the first 2 weeks. It completely restores it to a thickness of approximately 400 microns by the third week of transplantation. In contrast, the cornea of control rabbits remained significantly thicker, more than 1000 microns (p < 0.05) throughout the study. This study data showed that the use of primary human corneal endothelial cells opens up excellent prospects in the clinic (Peh et al. 2017).

In addition to experimental animal models, it has been highlighted that veterinary patients, such as dogs, are increasingly recognized as critical translational models of human diseases. For example, the etiopathogenesis of canine diseases is similar to that of humans (Brown 2016). Therefore studies of keratoconjunctivitis in dogs can help to develop therapeutic approaches which may also benefit people. Researchers have evaluated the intralacrimal transplantation of allogeneic MSCs in dogs with mild, moderate, and severe dry conjunctivitis. The data retrieved showed that allogeneic transplantation of MSCs on dogs was safe as no side-effects were observed with allogenic MSCs. The authors also showed improvements in the condition of the treated eyes. Experiments have shown that the use of MSCs is effective and safe for experimental dogs and, therefore, this type of treatment may be used in clinics after additional tests (Bittencourt et al. 2016).

In another canine study, this time in corneal wounds, the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs was tested in dogs. Previously, the experimental animals had been diagnosed with deep corneal ulcers, and for the duration of the experiment, the animals did not receive any immunomodulatory drugs. The researchers noted that all dog owners had signed written consent before this experimental procedure was started. Moreover, all owners were fully informed that the safety, complications, and effectiveness of cell implantation in corneal ulcers were unknown and not very well-established. The effectiveness of the treatment was evaluated using ophthalmological examination on three occasions, once prior to MSC therapy, then on days seven and 14 following their respective treatment. The tests included criteria such as clinical signs and the size and depth of the ulcers. MSCs were administered sub-conjunctively at a dose of three million cells. Studies have shown that the effectiveness of treatment was 84.6%, that is, the healing was observed in 22 of the 26 experimental dogs (Falcão et al. 2019).

Keratoconjunctivitis, or dry eye syndrome, is mainly an immuno-mediated degenerative disease directly affecting patients' vision and quality of life; it is one of the leading causes of ocular diseases in both dogs and humans. Dogs are excellent animal models for facilitating the understanding of this disease. One trial used 22 animals that were already unwell to study the effectiveness of MSCs. MSCs were administered locally and the treatment effectiveness was evaluated based on clinical signs, ophthalmological tests, histology, and immunohistochemistry. The work showed that the introduction of MSCs improved the condition of the cornea in experimental dogs, and relapses were only observed in seven of the 22 treated dogs (Sgrignoli et al. 2019).

Models of Lens Diseases

The structure of the human lens is reflected in Fig. 1.

A cataract is a pathological condition associated with the opacity of the eye lens which causes varying degrees of visual impairment up to complete loss of vision. A cataract is one of the problems that affect the clarity of vision and can be caused by a number of factors, including aging, eye injuries, inflammation, and other circumstances. According to the latest estimate, cataract occurrence is responsible for 51% of the world's blindness, affecting around 20 million people. An effective way to treat a cataract is surgery; the natural lens of the eye is removed and replaced with an artificial lens (Snellingen et al. 2002).

Maleki (2015) induced lens damage in rats and rabbits via administration of sodium selenite. They conducted research to identify the therapeutic properties of SCs derived from Wharton's jelly by introducing SCs into the lens via surgical manipulation. The effectiveness of this treatment was evaluated by determining the expression of β B1 and β B3-crystallin genes and by evaluating the lens' morphological ultrastructure by electron microscopy. Studies have shown that the SCs obtained from Wharton's jelly, differentiated into the lens fibers and then restored lens structure within the capsule. The authors suggested that this method of cataract treatment could be applied in clinical practice following additional safety parameter studies (Maleki 2015).

To evaluate the complications associated with the development of type 2 diabetes pathologies, the effectiveness of ADMSC was investigated. This work illustrated the positive effects on various body systems in the experimental rats, including the lens of the eye. In the group of animals that received ADMSC intravenously, lens opacification was not observed, results which contrasted to those observed in the control group (Yu et al. 2019).



A new surgical method for the treatment of cataracts, which consisted of preserving endogenous lens progenitor cells (LEC), was developed as it was thought that the cells might provide functional regeneration of the lens in rabbit and macaque models. Although this method is conceptually different from modern practice, since it preserves the endogenous LEC and their natural environment as much as possible, it also restores the functionality of the lens (Haotian et al. 2016).

Retinal Models

Retinal diseases are one of the leading causes of blindness in the modern world. Previous research has shown that many retinal diseases observed in animals are similar to those seen in people. This work has primarily led to an improved understanding of the pathogenesis of retinal diseases and has also provided the means to test possible treatments, including cell therapy.

In the diseases of the external retina, such as age-related macular degeneration (AMD) and diabetic retinopathy (DR), two of the most common causes of blindness in the developed countries, the main body of in vivo models are those showing abnormal retinal angiogenesis or damage to the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) (Liu et al. 2017).

One model with induced choroid neovascularization (CNV) caused by a laser was used to study the therapeutic effect of bone marrow-derived cells. The intravenously administered MSCs penetrated the damaged area and differentiated into several cell types and participated in the development of neovascularization without stagnation in other organs, thereby suppressing the growth of choroid neovascularization (Hou et al. 2010). Li and colleagues also used laser photocoagulation to induce CNV to investigate whether subretinal transplantation of RPE expressing Fbln5 could suppress CNV in vivo. One week after laser-induced CNV, RPE cells were transplanted into the subretinal space, with the pZlen-Fbln5-IRES-GFP vector placed in the right eye and the pZlen-IRES-GFP vector in the left eye. CNV was then evaluated using fundus photography, fundus fluorescence angiography, and hematoxylin and eosin staining. CNV appeared 1 week after photocoagulation and reached a peak of activity after 3 weeks. The transplanted RPE cells survived for at least 4 weeks and migrated to the retina. Subretinal transplantation of RPE cells, with Fbln5 expression, resulted in a significant reduction in the total lesion area. The researchers concluded that subretinal transplantation of RPE cells with Fbln5 expression inhibited laser-induced CNV in rats and therefore, represented a promising therapy for this condition (Li et al. 2015).

Neovascularization has been reproduced in a diabetes model induced by the administration of STZ in rodents. It was hypothesized that multipotent perivascular progenitor cells derived from human embryonic stem cells (hESC-PVPC) would improve the damaged retinal vasculature. Indeed a single intravitreal injection into Brown Norway diabetic rats caused the localization of cells in distinct perivascular areas of the retinal vasculature and stabilized the rupture of the hemato-retinal barrier. This study shows the therapeutic potential of hESC-PVPCs in diabetic

retinopathy by imitating the role of pericytes in vascular stabilization. The researchers highlighted that this study represents a simple method for creating perivascular progenitor cells from human embryonic stem cells. These cells have common functional characteristics with pericytes, which are irreparably lost at the onset of diabetic retinopathy. Animal studies have shown that replenishing damaged pericytes with perivascular progenitor cells can restore the integrity of retinal vessels and prevent loss of vitreous fluid. These data provide promising and compelling evidence that perivascular progenitor cells could be used as a novel therapeutic agent to treat patients with diabetic retinopathy (Kim et al. 2016).

The effectiveness of BMSCs in diabetic retinopathy was studied in a streptozotocin (STZ) model in male albino Wistar rats. After 3 months of induced diabetes, the right eye was intravitreally injected with green protein-labeled guide-lines and the left eye was injected with a balanced saline solution. The introduction of BMSCs increased retinal gliosis in the diabetic group compared to the control group of animals. Immunofluorescence analysis revealed that BMSCs mainly integrated into the inner retina. Overall, this study showed that intravitreal administration of BMSCs improved visual function (Çerman et al. 2016). Attention is currently being paid to models with photoreceptor damage from retinitis pigmentosa and various hereditary disorders of central vision. It should be noted that these animal models are a target for the transplantation of early photoreceptors or RPE cells because RPE cells are responsible for protecting the function of photoreceptors.

The efficacy and safety of human retinal progenitor cells (hRPCs) in experimental RCS rats with dystrophy have also been researched. The hRPCs have been tested to maintain visual function and evaluation was undertaken using optokinetic head tracking and retinal structure studies. The safety of the NPHR was evaluated by subretinal cell transplantation into rats and wild-type mice of the bodily lower-III stages with analysis at 3, 6, and 9 months after transplantation, respectively. Studies have shown that the optimal dose of hRPCs for preserving visual function and retinal structure in dystrophic rats was between 50,000 and 100,000 cells. The human retinal progenitor cells integrated and survived in the retinas of dystrophic and wild-type rats up to 6 months after transplantation. No signs of tumors were detected. Therefore human retinal progenitor cells appear to be safe and effective in this preclinical model. It has been shown that they can be used in the early stages of retinal degeneration and the areas of intact retina without the risk of adverse effects on visual function (Semo et al. 2016).

Qu, Linghui et al. (2017) studied the effects of both hRPCs and BMSCs in a different disorder, retinitis pigmentosa (RP). The researchers have noted that both hRPCs and human BMSCs (hBMSCs) are widely and practically used for transplantation. In this study, the possibility of using combined transplantation of the above cells was tested. The researchers transplanted hRPCs and hBMSCs into the subretinal space of RCS rats. Studies have shown that combined hRPCs/hBMSCs transplants supported electroretinogram results much better than single transplants. The thickness of the outer nuclear layer also showed the best results during combined transplantation. It was also recorded that the cells in the combination treatment migrated better than single transplantation. Photoreceptor differentiation of cells in

the retina rats treated with combined cell transplantation also showed a higher ratio than those treated with a single type cell transplant. Finally, microglial activation and Muller cell gliosis were more effectively suppressed following a combined transplantation protocol, indicating better immunomodulatory and anti-glial effects. The researchers stated that the combination of hRPC and hBMSC transplantation was a more effective strategy for treating SC-based retinal degenerative diseases (Qu et al. 2017).

Substitution therapy in degenerative diseases such as age-related macular degeneration has also been investigated. A modified trans-scleral injection method has been developed that uses specific angles and needle depth to successfully and consistently deliver retinal pigment epithelial cells into the rat's subretinal space and prevent excessive retinal damage. Efficacy was demonstrated in RCS rats sustaining for 2 months (Zhao et al. 2017).

The efficacy of RPE cells obtained under xenon-free conditions from clinical and xenon-free human embryonic stem cells (OpRegen) after transplantation into the subretinal space of the RCS rats has also been characterized. The rats received a single subretinal injection of xeno-free RPE cells, whereas a physiological saline solution and non-operated eyes served as a control. Optomotor behavior tracking was used to evaluate functional effectiveness and recovery of photoreceptors, and survival of the transplanted cells was assessed using histology and immunohistochemistry. The subsequent studies showed that the outer nuclear layer (ONL) was significantly thicker in the eyes treated with the cells than in the controls. Transplanted RPE cells were identified in the subretinal space, and integration into the RPE monolayer was also revealed. It was proven that the OpRegen RPE cells survived and restored visual function and preserved rod and cone photoreceptors for an extended time period (McGill et al. 2017).

During subretinal transplantation of RPE-derived stem cells (RPESCs) and RPE cells (RPESCs-RPE), the preserved vision was observed in a model of RPE cell dysfunction in RCS rats. The researchers noted that the stage of differentiation that the RPESCs-RPE had acquired before transplantation significantly affected the effectiveness of vision restoration. While the cells at all tested stages of differentiation protected photoreceptor layer morphology, the intermediate stage of RPESCs-RPE differentiation, obtained after 4 weeks of culture, was more consistent in protecting vision than the subsequent generation that differentiated during culture weeks 2 or 8 (Davis et al. 2017).

Park and colleagues used an experimental rat model of retinal degeneration developed by an intravenous injection of sodium iodate. Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) as a therapeutic agent for treating degenerative retinal diseases and proposed to differentiate the cells into retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) using particular culture conditions. The putative RPE cells (10^5 cells/5 µl) were transplanted into the subretinal space. The animals were killed at either 1, 2, or 3 weeks after transplantation for immunohistochemistry to check transplanted cell survival and their fate. The putative RPE cells derived from hESCs had the morphological characteristics of human RPE cells. The implanted RPE cells survived in the subretinal space for up to 4 weeks post-transplantation, and the expression of RPE

markers was confirmed via immunohistochemistry. Thus, the researchers showed the potential of using hESC-derived RPE cells for cellular therapy of retinal degenerative disease (Park et al. 2011).

In another model of retinal degeneration, Rd1 mice were used to replicate rapid progressive retinitis pigmentosa with end-stage retinal degeneration. Development of a structured outer nuclear layer with internal and external segments during the transplantation and integration of three-dimensional retinal tissue derived from mouse embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells were investigated. The resulting retinal sheets were transplanted into the subretinal space of mice aged 6–8 weeks and sacrificed from 2 weeks to 6 months after transplantation. The transplanted retinal sheets obtained from both mESCs and iPSCs survived and matured in the highly degenerated retinas of the experimental animals. This study is a "proof-of-concept" for retinal transplantation in late retinal degenerative diseases (Assawachananont et al. 2014).

The therapeutic potential of photoreceptor precursors derived from human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have been studied to confirm their potential in retinal degeneration. ESCs and iPSCs were cultured in four stages under certain conditions, resulting in a somewhat homogeneous population of photoreceptor-like progenitors. After transplantation into the experimental mice model of end-stage retinal degeneration, these cells differentiated into photoreceptors and formed a cell layer associated with the host retinal neurons. Visual function in the animals of the experimental group was partially restored, as evidenced by visual behavioral tests. In addition, the degree of functional improvement was positively correlated with the number of implanted cells. The data obtained confirmed the potential of ESCs and iPSCs for photoreceptor replacement therapy aimed at photoreceptor regeneration in retinal diseases (Barnea-Cramer et al. 2016).

An experimental mouse model of severe human retinitis pigmentosa at a stage of loss native cells showed that transplanted rod precursors could transform an anatomically distinct and appropriately polarized outer nuclear layer. The three-layer organization was returned to rd1 mice that had only two retinal layers before treatment. The transplanted progenitors could integrate and develop in the degenerated retina and transformed into mature rods with light-sensitive outer segments connected to neurons. The visual function in these experimental animals was also restored after cell transplantation. Studies have shown that cell therapy can restore the light-sensitive cell layer de novo and, consequently, restore the structur-ally damaged visual contour (Singh 2013).

Diseases of the internal retina, such as glaucoma and various forms of optical neuropathy (ischemic, traumatic, and compression), have common characteristics of retinal ganglion cell loss (RGC). Experimental animal models that focus directly on RGC damage do not necessarily reproduce the pathogenesis of individual conditions; however, they are widely used because of their ability to demonstrate dramatic changes in RGC function in many different animal types. Damage to the optic nerve is one of the frequently used preclinical methods to reproduce the loss of RGCs. This model was used to study RGC stimulation as a way to regenerate

axons along the entire length of the visual pathway and further in the lateral geniculate nucleus, the upper mound, and other visual centers. Notably, regeneration partially restored the optomotor response, demonstrating the possibility of restoring the central vision circuit after optic nerve damage in adult mammals (de Lima et al. 2012).

The therapeutic potential of MSCs injected into the vitreous body, also on a model of optic nerve damage, has been demonstrated. Adult (three to five-month old) Lister hooded rats underwent unilateral optic nerve crushing followed by an injection of MSCs into the vitreous. Before injection, MSCs were labeled with a fluorescent dye or superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles, which enabled cell tracking and their post-engraftment fate determination in vivo using magnetic resonance imaging. Retinal ganglion cell survival was evaluated at 16 and 28 days after the injury. The researchers noted that the transplanted MSCs remained in the vitreous body and were detected in the eye for several weeks. The MSCs-based therapy's success was further explained by an increase in FGF-2 expression in the retinal ganglion cell layer, and the concomitant expression of interleukin-1 β . Thus, studies have shown that MSCs protect RGCs and stimulate axon regeneration following optic nerve damage (Mesentier-Louro et al. 2014).

Evaluation of human UMSCS to protect and promote the regeneration of axotomized neurons in the rat optical system "UMSK" has also been undertaken. The cells survived well up to 2 weeks post-transplantation; however, they did not significantly migrate significantly or differentiate. In the presence of UMMC grafts, it was found that the axonal processes of the host were present at the site of the lesion, and there was a stimulation of the population of endogenous neural progenitors. Four weeks after the transplant, UMMC was shown to have a neuroprotective effect, protecting a significant percentage of axotomized retinal ganglion cells. Further experiments showed that UMSCS could also promote the re-growth of axotomized RGCs (Zwart et al. 2009).

Model Damage to the N-methyl-d-aspartate Receptor (NMDA)

Glutamate excitotoxicity is a critical component of selective neuronal cell death in ischemic retinopathy and glaucoma. This process is associated with excessive stimulation of NMDA receptors in retinal ganglion cells, which leads to an intracellular influx of calcium ions, and this, in turn, leads to the activation of the apoptotic cascade. Experimental animal models using glutamate excitotoxicity focus on NMDA receptor stimulation have been developed and optimized (Casson 2006). This was used to study a constructed eye-like structure derived from ESCs consisting of retinal neural clone cells, RPEs, and lens cells to determine whether they could differentiate into retinal ganglion cells (RGC) during retinal transplantation into the vitreous body of a damaged adult mouse (Aoki et al. 2008). Prior to this, it was shown that the cells of these eye-like structures could integrate into the developing visual bubble of chickens. ESCs were induced to differentiate into

eye-like structures in vitro for 6 or 11 days. NMDA was then injected into the eyes of the mouse recipients to damage the RGC before transplantation. Cell material for transplantation was extracted from eve-like structures and transplanted into the vitreous body of both the damaged and control eves. During the follow-up, the eves were analyzed both qualitatively and quantitatively by immunohistochemistry 10 days or 8 weeks after transplantation. Studies showed that cells from eye-like structures derived from ESCs had integrated into the RGC layer and differentiated into neurons when transplanted into control (non-NMDA-treated) eyes; however, they rarely expressed RGC markers. Once transplanted into NMDA-treated eyes, the cells spread across the surface of the retina and covered a relatively large area of the host's RGC layer, which was damaged by NMDA. Eye cells derived from ECU often differentiated into cells expressing RGC -specific markers and formed a new layer of RGC. In addition, it was observed that a small number of these cells, originating from the ESC, expanded the axon-like processes in the direction of the optic disc. However, visually induced responses could not be recorded from the visual cortex (Aoki et al. 2008).

Transplantation of neural progenitors, derived from ECU (Es-NP) into *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-injected mouse models, ablated RGA in mouse models, and preclinical glaucoma (dBA/2D) models with consistently higher intraocular pressure (IOP). Visual acuity and functional integration were assessed using behavioral tests and immunohistochemistry, respectively. Studies have shown that ES-NP, GP-expressing, transplanted into mice with depleted RGA, which were injected with NMDA, differentiated into a clone of RGA. Improvement in visual acuity was observed 2 months after transplantation (Divya et al. 2017).

The effects of allogeneic Muller cat glia transplantation (fMGSC) with the ability to differentiate into cells expressing RGC markers after RGC removal using N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) have also been investigated. In contrast to previous observations in rats, transplantation of hMGSC-derived RGCs into the vitreous body of cats formed aggregates and caused a severe inflammatory response without improving visual function. In contrast, allogeneic transplantation of feline MGSC (fMGSC)-derived RGC into the vitrectomized eye improved the threshold scotopic response (STR) of the electroretinogram (ERG). Despite the functional improvement, the cells did not attach to the retina. Also they did not form aggregates on the peripheral remains of the vitreous, suggesting that the vitreous may represent a barrier to cell attachment to the retina. This has been confirmed by observations that cell scaffolds of compressed collagen and enriched RGC preparations derived from fMGSC facilitate cell attachment. Although the cells did not migrate to the RGC layer of the optic nerve, they significantly improved the STR and photopic negative ERG response, suggesting enhanced RGC function. These results suggest that fMGSCS have a neuroprotective ability that promotes partial restoration of impaired RGC function and indicate that cell attachment to the retina may be necessary for transplanted cells to provide retinal neuroprotection (Becker et al. 2016).
Models of Transient Ischemia

Transient ischemia models cause loss of RGC by occlusion or functional inhibition of the blood vessels supporting the optic nerve and retina, often followed by reperfusion of these vessels - hence named "transient" ischemia. One such model induced retinal ischemia in adult Wistar rats by increasing IOP to 130-135 mmHg for 55 min. Twenty-four hours after the induction of ischemia, BMSCs were injected into the vitreous body. Functional recovery was assessed after 7 days using electroretinography (ERG) measurements of a-wave, b-wave, P2, scotopic threshold response (STR), and oscillatory potentials (OP). Retinal damage and anti-ischemic effects were quantified by measuring apoptosis, autophagy, inflammatory markers, and the permeability of the blood-brain barrier of the retinal. BMSC distribution was qualitatively investigated using real-time fundus images. The introduction of the guiding compound into the vitreous body significantly improved the recovery of ERG a-and b-waves, OP of negative STR and P2, and also reduced apoptosis, as evidenced by a decrease in the levels of TUNEL protein and caspase-3. BMSCs significantly increased autophagy, reduced inflammatory mediators (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6), and retinal vascular permeability. BMSCs were preserved in the vitreous and were also observed in the ischemic retina. The results showed that intravitreal injection of PCRS protected the retina from ischemic damage in a rat model. (Mathew et al. 2017).

Li and Zhao (2014) used this model to study the effect of retinal progenitor cell (RPC) transplantation into the subretinal space (SRS) and the superior colliculus (SC) in rats (Li et al. 2014). For transplantation, cultured postnatal rat NPCs were used for 1 day, transfected with an adeno-associated virus-containing cDNA encoding enhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP). The damage was caused by an increase in intraocular pressure to 110 mmHg for 60 min. The effectiveness of transplantation was evaluated using ERG immunohistochemistry. The transplanted cells survived for at least 8 weeks, migrated to surrounding tissues, and improved ERG responses in the rats with ECP damage. The data obtained showed that RPC transplantation in SRS and SC may be a possible method of cell replacement therapy for retinal diseases (Li et al. 2014).

Transgenic RGC Loss Models

Although they are more challenging to maintain and breed than traditional models, transgenic mouse models using the Cre-Lox system can provide an animal with pure RGC depletion for stem cell research. One example is the Pou4f2 knockout mouse (Brn3b). Pou4f2 is a critical gene for RGC differentiation and is expressed throughout life (Cho et al. 2012). This research group developed a mouse model in which RGC is genetically removed in adult mice. These mice were transplanted with a GFP-labeled progenitors of the embryo's retina. These retinal cells were injected into

the vitreous body of one eye of mice between the ages of 2 and 6 months. Gene expression analysis using an immune tag and the morphology of the optic nerves both visually and using histology were evaluated. The embryonic GFP-labeled RPCs were successfully introduced into the eyes of transgenic mice. Many transplanted RPCs penetrate the ganglion cell layer, and several GFP-labeled cells were found within the optic nerves. At the same time, a significant increase in optic nerve thickness was noted and more connected axons were observed in the retina following RPC injection. The results suggest a new approach to the regeneration of damaged optic nerves. They indicate that a significant number of RPCs toxin differentiate into RGC in the alien environment of the adult retina (Cho et al. 2012).

Model of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalopathy (EAE)

The EAE model primarily models the diseases that cause autoimmune demyelination in the central nervous system, namely multiple sclerosis (MS). Loss of RGC precedes inflammation of the optic nerve in rat models of chronic EAE, whereas, in mice, optic neuritis comes first, and loss of RGC follows. The typical induction time is 1-2 weeks. Current stem cell research on EAE models has focused on neuroprotection via neural or mesenchymal stem cells rather than directly replacing RGCs or their precursors (Pluchino et al. 2009; Lanza et al. 2009).

Models of Hereditary Diseases Associated with Optic Nerve Damage

Retinal degeneration resulting from hereditary diseases such as Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON) and type I neurofibromatosis (NF1) has no definitive treatment options to date. There are animal models of LHON (Yu et al. 2015). One rotenone-induced LHON model was applied to investigate the protection of visual function in stem cells. Photoreceptor progenitor cells were used, which, according to research, integrate into the ganglion cell layer (GCL). The results of the work were evaluated using magnetic resonance imaging with manganese enhancement, opto-kinetic responses, and ganglion cell counting. The cultured progenitor cells integrated into the GCL and positive affected maintaining retinal function (Mansergh et al. 2014).

Glaucoma Models

Open-angle glaucoma is the most common glaucoma subtype (Weinreb et al. 2016). It is characterized by an imbalance between the production of water from the ciliary body and its outflow through the trabecular network and uveoscleral pathways. This discrepancy can lead to increased intraocular pressure, resulting in damage to the RGC, as evidenced by pathological changes. Hao and co-authors (2013) studied the

therapeutic effects of executive staff transplantation on vision loss in older rats with glaucoma caused by laser ocular hypertension. The BMSCs contributed to the survival of retinal ganglion cells in the transplanted eves compared to control eves. In addition, in swimming tests based on visual cues, rats with a leadership graft performed significantly better. The overall results of the study showed that BMSC transplantation therapy is effective in the treatment of older rats with glaucoma (Hao et al. 2013). An experimental model of photocoagulation of episcleral veins and limbal plexus with an argon laser has been used to study the possibility of retinal stem cell (RSC) transplantation and immunization with glatiramer acetate copolymer-1 (COP-1) copolymer. Rats were immunized with (COP-1) on the same day as glaucoma induction by photocoagulation. RSCs were cultured and transplanted intravitreally a week after laser treatment. The effectiveness of treatment was evaluated based on the expression of brain neurotrophic factor (BDNF), insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), and immunohistochemical studies, RT-PCR, and Western blotting were also performed. RGC survival was assessed by TUNEL staining and RGC counts. Their studies showed that the expression of BDNF neurotrophic factors in the IRF-I and RSC/COP-1 group was significantly higher than in the other groups (P < 0.05). In addition, the number of apoptotic RGS in the RSC/COP-1 group was markedly lower and the number of RGS in the RSC/COP-1 group was higher. Thus, the researchers concluded that the combined action of RSC and immunization with COP-1 protect RGC against apoptosis in a rat glaucoma model (Zhou et al. 2013).

Harper et al. (2011) used an experimental rat model of chronic ocular hypertension induced by laser cauterization of the trabecular network and episcleral veins in the eyes to study the ability of engineered MSCs to produce and secrete brain neurotrophic factor (BDNF) to protect retinal function and structure after intravitreal transplantation. MSCs expressing BDNF (BDNF-MSC) were transplanted intravitreally. The function of the optic nerve and retina was evaluated using computer pupillometry and ERG; quantitative assessment of optic nerve damage was performed by RGCs counts and by evaluating cross-sections of the optic nerve. After BDNF-MSC transplantation, the eyes retained significantly more retinal and optic nerve functions and showed higher RGC preservation. Interestingly the neurotrophic factors BDNF b-MSCs, transduced by lentiviruses, could persist in the eyes with chronic hypertension and provide functional and structural protection of the retina and optic nerve (Harper et al. 2011).

An ocular hypertension model for the induction of glaucoma, which was performed by cauterizing three episcleral veins (EVC) of the eyes of male Long-Evans rats, has also been utilized. One study investigated the potential of MSCs therapy in this model and deciphered the in vitro effects of MSCs on primary cells within the human trabecular network. BMSCs were labeled with nanocrystals of quantum dots for post engraftment tracing of the cells' fate. The cells were injected in the anterior chamber of the eye for 20 days, with eye pressure monitored twice a week for 4 weeks. At the end of the experiment, the cell distribution in the anterior segment was examined by confocal microscopy on flat corneas. In addition, the effects of the BMSCs-conditioned medium on the primary cells of the trabecular

network were tested in vitro. The work showed a long-lasting and rapid effect obtained following BMSCs transplantation in vivo. Injection of BMSCs into the anterior chamber of the eye in a rat model provides a neuroprotective effect in the pathophysiology of glaucoma. These results demonstrate that BMSCs represent a promising tool to treat ocular hypertension and retinal cell degeneration (Roubeix et al. 2015).

In ocular hypertension induced by an intra-chamber injection of hyaluronic acid into the anterior chamber of rats, the neuroprotective effects of BMSCs and ADMSCs, which were transplanted intravitreally, were investigated. MSCs labeled with green fluorescent protein were transplanted intravitreally 1 week after induction. At the end of the second and fourth weeks, retinal ganglion cells were visualized using the flat retinal attachment method and evaluated using immunofluorescence staining. The results of these studies showed that the number of retinal ganglion cells present was significantly higher when compared to untreated animals. The results of the immunohistochemical analysis showed that a limited number of SCS were integrated into the ganglion cell layer and the inner nuclear layer. The number of cells expressing pro-inflammatory cytokines (interferon- γ and tumor necrosis factor- α) in the group receiving MSCs decreased. On the other hand, the expression of II-1Ra and prostaglandin E2 receptors had increased. It was concluded that intravitreal MSC transplantation had a neuroprotective effect when the experimental model was reproduced in rats (Emre et al. 2015).

Animal Models of Primary Angle-Closure Glaucoma (PACG)

Primary angle-closure glaucoma, in most cases, is a chronic disease with the gradual appearance of visual symptoms, which differs from open-angle glaucoma only in the degree of angle closure. Possible improvements in visual function by transplanting neural progenitors derived from ESCs were evaluated in a mouse model with glaucoma. Neural progenitors originating from ESCs (ES-NP) were transplanted in a model of preclinical glaucoma (DBA/2 J) with a persistently higher intraocular pressure (IOP). Transplantation experiments in dBA/2D mice showed no significant improvements in visual function, possibly due to the death of both host and transplanted retinal cells, which could be associated with high intraocular pressure. The results showed that strategies for controlling intraocular pressure are necessary for the enhanced survival of transplanted cells in glaucoma (Divya et al. 2017).

This chapter has given an overview of the past and present preclinical research undertaken into MSC-based therapies for ocular diseases. The potential future research directions, complications observed to date, and exciting lines of research have been explored. Several studies have shown the efficacy and safety of MSC therapies in a number of ocular disorders and highlighted the mechanisms of action present within much of the in vitro and in vivo work conducted to date. The eye is a complex organ; replicating human ocular disorders remains a challenge and developing potential therapies is a complex and one of the most intricate and multifaceted challenges, but the one wherein progress is being made. **Acknowledgments** This work was funded by the subsidy allocated to KFU for the state assignment 0671-2020-0058 in the sphere of scientific activities. This work is part of the Kazan Federal University Strategic Academic Leadership Program.

References

- Aoki H, Hara A, Niwa M, Motohashi T, Suzuki T, Kunisada T (2008) Transplantation of cells from eye-like structures differentiated from embryonic stem cells in vitro and in vivo regeneration of retinal ganglion-like cells. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 246(2):255–265. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00417-007-0710-6
- Assawachananont J, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Yamada C, Eiraku M, Yonemura S, Sasai Y et al (2014) Transplantation of embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell-derived 3D retinal sheets into retinal degenerative mice. Stem Cell Rep 2(5):662–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr. 2014.03.011
- Barnea-Cramer AO, Wang W, Lu SJ, Singh MS, Luo C, Huo H, McClements ME et al (2016) Function of human pluripotent stem cell-derived photoreceptor progenitors in blind mice. Sci Rep 6:29784. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29784
- Becker S, Eastlake K, Jayaram H, Jones MJ, Brown RA, McLellan GA, Charteris DG et al (2016) Allogeneic transplantation of Muller-derived retinal ganglion cells improves retinal function in a feline model of ganglion cell depletion. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(2):192–205. https://doi.org/10. 5966/sctm.2015-0125
- Beeken LJ, Ting DSJ, Sidney LE (2021) Potential of mesenchymal stem cells as topical immunomodulatory cell therapies for ocular surface inflammatory disorders. Stem Cells Transl Med 10: 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.20-0118
- Beyazyıldız E, Pınarlı FA, Beyazyıldız O, Hekimoğlu ER, Acar U, Demir MN, Albayrak A et al (2014) Efficacy of topical mesenchymal stem cell therapy in the treatment of experimental dry eye syndrome model. Stem Cells Int 2014, 250230. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/250230
- Bittencourt MK, Barros MA, Martins JF, Vasconcellos JP, Morais BP, Pompeia C, Bittencourt MD et al (2016) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in dogs with Keratoconjunctivitis sicca. Cell Med 8(3):63–77. https://doi.org/10.3727/215517916X693366
- Brown DC (2016) Control of selection bias in parallel-group controlled clinical trials in dogs and cats: 97 trials (2000–2005). J Am Vet Med Assoc 229(6):990–993. https://doi.org/10.2460/ javma.229.6.990
- Casson RJ (2006) Possible role of excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of glaucoma. Clin Exp Ophthalmol 34(1):54–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9071.2006.01146.x
- Çerman E, Akkoç T, Eraslan M, Şahin Ö, Özkara S, Vardar Aker F, Subaşı C et al (2016) Retinal electrophysiological effects of intravitreal mesenchymal bone marrow stem cells in Streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. PLoS One 11(6):0156495. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0156495
- Cho JH, Mao CA, Klein WH (2012) Adult mice transplanted with embryonic retinal progenitor cells: a new approach to repairing damaged optic nerves. J Mol Vision 18:2658–2672
- Coulson-Thomas VJ, Caterson B, Kao WW (2013) Transplantation of human umbilical mesenchymal stem cells cures the corneal defects of mucopolysaccharidosis VII mice. Stem Cells 31(10):2116–2126. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1481
- Davis RJ, Nazia M, Alam NM, Zhao C, Müller C, Saini JS, Blenkinsop TA et al (2017) The developmental stage of adult human stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells influences transplant efficacy for vision rescue. Stem Cell Rep 9(1):42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stemcr.2017.05.016
- de Lima S, Koriyama Y, Kurimoto T, Oliveira JT, Yin Y, Li Y, Gilbert HY et al (2012) Full-length axon regeneration in the adult mouse optic nerve and partial recovery of simple visual behaviors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(23):9149–9154. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1119449109

- Divya MS, Rasheed VA, Schmidt T, Lalitha S, Hattar S, James J (2017) Intraocular injection of ES cell-derived neural progenitors improve visual function in retinal ganglion cell-depleted mouse models. Front Cell Neurosci 11:295. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00295
- Emre E, Yuksel H, Duruksu G, Pirhan D, Subaşi C, Ehrman G, Karaöz E (2015) Neuroprotective effects of intravitreally transplanted adipose tissue and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in an experimental model of ocular hypertension. Cytotherapy 17(5):543–559. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jcyt.2014.12.005
- Falcão MSA, Brunel HDSS, Peixer MAS, Dallago BSL, Costa FF, Queiroz LM, Campbell P, Malard PF (2019) Effect of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) on corneal wound healing in dogs. J Tradit Complement Med 10(5):440–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcme.2019.04.006
- Faruk EM, Mansy AE, Al-Shazly AM, Taha NM (2017) Light and electron microscopic study of the anti-inflammatory role of mesenchymal stem cell therapy in restoring corneal alkali injury in adult albino rats. J Stem Cell Bio Transp 1:1. https://doi.org/10.21767/2575-7725.100008
- Galindo S, Herreras JM, López-Paniagua M, Rey E, de la Mata A, Plata-Cordero M, Calonge M et al (2017) Therapeutic effect of human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in experimental corneal failure due to limbal stem cell niche damage. Stem Cells 35(10): 2160–2174. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2672
- Galindo S, de la Mata A, López-Paniagua M, Herreras JM, Pérez I, Calonge M, Nieto-Miguel T (2021) Subconjunctival injection of mesenchymal stem cells for corneal failure due to limbal stem cell deficiency: state of the art. Stem Cell Res Ther 12(1):60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02129-0
- GBD (2019) Blindness and Vision Impairment Collaborators; Vision Loss Expert Group of the Global Burden of Disease Study. Trends in prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment over 30 years: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet Glob Health. 9(2):e130–e143. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30425-3
- Gu S, Xing C, Han J, Tso MO, Hong J (2009) Differentiation of rabbit bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into corneal epithelial cells in vivo and ex vivo. Mol Vis 15:99–107
- Hao C, Ying H, Zin MW, Hai BT, Hua R, Hong PC (2013) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells protect against the loss of retinal ganglion cells in elderly rats with glaucoma. Clin Interv Aging 8:1467–1470. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S47350
- Haotian L, Hong O, Jie Z, Shan H, Zhenzhen L, Shuyi C, Guiqun C et al (2016) Lens regeneration using endogenous stem cells with gain of visual function. Nature 531(7594):323–328. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature17181
- Harding J, Roberts RM, Mirochnitchenko O (2013) Large animal models for stem cell therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(2):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt171
- Harper MM, Grozdanic SD, Blits B, Kuehn MH, Zamzow D, Buss JE, Sakaguchi DS (2011) Transplantation of BDNF-secreting mesenchymal stem cells provides neuroprotection in chronically hypertensive rat eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 52(7):4506–4515. https://doi.org/10. 1167/iovs.11-7346
- Hirayama M (2018) Advances in functional restoration of the lacrimal glands. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 59(14):DES174–DES182. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.17-23528
- Hou HY, Liang HL, Wang YS, Zhang ZX, Wang BR, Shi YY, Dong X et al (2010) A therapeutic strategy for choroidal neovascularization based on recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells to the sites of lesions. Mol Ther 18(10):1837–1845. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.144
- Jia Z, Li F, Zeng X, Lv Y, Zhao S (2018) The effects of local administration of mesenchymal stem cells on rat corneal allograft rejection. BMC Ophthalmol 18:139. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12886-018-0802-6
- Joe AW, Gregory-Evans K (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells and potential applications in treating ocular disease. Curr Eye Res 35(11):941–952. https://doi.org/10.3109/02713683.2010.516466
- Kim JM, Hong KS, Song WK, Bae D, Hwang IK, Kim JS, Chung HM (2016) Perivascular progenitor cells derived from human embryonic stem cells exhibit pericyte functional characteristics and improve retinal vasculature in a model of diabetic retinopathy in rodents. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(9):1268–1276. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0342

- Lan Y, Kodati S, Lee HS, Omoto M, Jin Y, Chauhan SK (2012) Kinetics and function of mesenchymal stem cells in corneal injury. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53(7):3638–3644. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.11-9311
- Lanza C, Morando S, Voci A, Canesi L, Principato MC, Serpero LD, Mancardi G et al (2009) Neuroprotective mesenchymal stem cells are endowed with a potent antioxidant effect in vivo. J Neurochem 110(5):1674–1684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06268.x
- Lewis PN, Pinali C, Young RD, Meek KM, Quantock AJ, Knupp C (2010) Structural interactions between collagen and proteoglycans are elucidated by three-dimensional electron tomography of the bovine cornea. J Struct Des 18(2):239–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. str.2009.11.013
- Li F, Zhao SZ (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells: potential role in corneal wound repair and transplantation. World J Stem Cells 6(3):296–304. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v6.i3.296
- Li X, Kang Q, Gao S, Wei T, Liu Y, Chen X, Lv H (2014) Transplantation with retinal progenitor cells repairs visual function in rats with retinal ischemia–reperfusion injury. Neurosci Lett 558: 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.09.024
- Li F, Zeng Y, Xu H, Yin ZQ (2015) Subretinal transplantation of retinal pigment epithelium overexpressing fibulin-5 inhibits laser-induced choroidal neovascularization in rats. Exp Eye Res 136:78–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2015.05.004
- Liu H, Zhang J, Liu CY, Wang IJ, Sieber M, Chang J, Jester JV et al (2010) Cell therapy of congenital corneal diseases with mesenchymal umbilical cord stem cells: lumican null mice. PLoS One 5(5):10707. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010707
- Liu CH, Wang Z, Sun Y, Chen J (2017) Animal models of ocular angiogenesis: from development to pathologies. FASEB J 31(11):4665–4681. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201700336R
- Ma Y, Xu Y, Xiao Z, Yang W, Zhang C, Song E, Du Y et al (2006) Reconstruction of chemically burned rat corneal surface by bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 24:315–321. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0046
- Maleki M (2015) Stem cell therapy of cataract. Bioimpacts 5(4):165–167. https://doi.org/10.15171/ bi.2015.24
- Mansergh FC, Chadderton N, Kenna PF, Gobbo OL, Farrar GJ (2014) Cell therapy using retinal progenitor cells shows a therapeutic effect in a chemically induced rotenone mouse model of Leber's hereditary optical neuropathy. Eur J Hum Genet 22(11):1314–1320. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ejhg.2014.26
- Mathew B, Poston JN, Dreixler JC, Torres L, Lopez J, Zelkha R, Balyasnikova I et al (2017) Bonemarrow mesenchymal stem-cell administration significantly improves outcome after retinal ischemia in rats. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 255(8):1581–1592. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00417-017-3690-1
- McGill TJ, Bohana-Kashtan O, Stoddard JW, Andrews MD, Pandit N, Rosenberg-Belmaker LR, Wiser O et al (2017) Long-term efficiency of GMP grade xeno-free hESC-derived RPE cells following transplantation. J Transl Vis Sci Technol 6(3):17. https://doi.org/10.1167/tvst.6. 3.17
- Mesentier-Louro LA, Zaverucha-do-Valle C, da Silva-Junior AJ, Nascimento-Dos-Santos G, Gubert F, de Figueirêdo AB, Torres AL et al (2014) Distribution of mesenchymal stem cells and effects on neuronal survival and axon regeneration after optic nerve crush and cell therapy. PLoS One 9(10):110722. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0110722
- Oh JY, Kim MK, Shin MS, Lee HJ, Ko JH, Wee WR, Lee JH (2008) The anti-inflammatory and anti-angiogenic role of mesenchymal stem cells in corneal wound healing following chemical injury. Stem Cells 26:1047–1055. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0737
- Oh JY, Kim MK, Shin MS, Wee WR, Lee JH (2009) Cytokine secretion by human mesenchymal stem cells cocultured with damaged corneal epithelial cells. Cytokine 46:100–103
- Park UC, Cho MS, Park JH, Kim SJ, Ku SY, Choi YM, Moon SY et al (2011) Subretinal transplantation of putative retinal pigment epithelial cells derived from human embryonic stem cells in rat retinal degeneration model. Clin Exp Reprod Med 38(4):216–221. https://doi. org/10.5653/cerm.2011.38.4.216

- Peh SL, Heng-Pei A, Chan NL, Adnan K, George BL, Seah XY, Lin SJ et al (2017) Regulatory compliant tissue-engineered human corneal endothelial grafts restore corneal function of rabbits with bullous keratopathy. Scient Rep 7(1):14149. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14723-z
- Pluchino S, Gritti A, BlezerE AS, Brambilla E, Borsellino G, Cossetti C (2009) Human neural stem cells improve autoimmune encephalomyelitis in non-human primates. Ann Neurol 66(3): 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21745
- Qu L, Gao L, Xu H, Duan P, Zeng Y, Liu Y, Yin ZQ (2017) Combined transplantation of human mesenchymal stem cells and human retinal progenitor cells into the subretinal space of RCS rats. Scient Rep 7(1):199. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00241-5
- Roubeix C, Godefroy D, Mias C, Sapienza A, Riancho L, Degardin J, Fradot V et al (2015) Intraocular pressure reduction and neuroprotection conferred by bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in an animal model of glaucoma. Stem Cells Res Ther 6(1):177. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13287-015-0168-0
- Sagizade M, Kramerov AA, Svendsen KN, Lyubimov AV (2017) Concise review: stem cells for corneal wound healing. Stem Cells 35(10):2105–2114. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2667
- Semo M, Haamedi N, Stevanato L, Carter D, Brooke G, Young M, Coffey P et al (2016) Efficacy and safety of human retinal progenitor cells. Transl Vis Sci Technol 5(4):6. https://doi.org/10. 1167/tvst.5.4.6
- Sgrignoli MR, Silva DA, Nascimento FF, Sgrignoli DAM, Nai GA, da Silva MG, de Barros MA et al (2019) Reduction in the inflammatory markers CD4, IL-1, IL-6 and TNFα in dogs with keratoconjunctivitis sicca treated topically with mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res 39: 101525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2019.101525
- Shukla S, Mittal SK, Foulsham W, Elbasiony E, Singhania D, Sahu SK, Chauhan SK (2019) Therapeutic efficacy of different routes of mesenchymal stem cell administration in corneal injury. Ocul Surf 17(4):729–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtos.2019.07.005
- Singh MS, Charbel Issa P, Butler R, Martin C, Lipinski DM, Sekaran S, Barnard AR, MacLaren RE. Reversal of end-stage retinal degeneration and restoration of visual function by photoreceptor transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Jan 15;110(3):1101–1106. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1119416110
- Singh MS (2013) Reversal of end-stage retinal degeneration and restoration of visual function by photoreceptor transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(3):1101–1106. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1119416110
- Snellingen T, Evans J, Ravilla T, Foster A (2002) Surgical interventions for age-related cataract. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2002:CD00132. http://www.who.int/blindness/causes/priority/en/ index1.html
- Sun J, Liu WH, Deng FM, Luo YH, Wen K, Zhang H, Liu HR et al (2018) Differentiation of rat adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells into corneal-like epithelial cells driven by PAX6. Exp Ther Med 15(2):1424–1432. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.5576
- Then K, Azlina M, Ropilah A, Ruszymah B, Rohaina C, Ng M (2017) The use of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cell for cornea regeneration in rabbit model. Asian J Ophthalmol 15(4). https://doi.org/10.35119/asjoo.v15i4.288
- Villatoro AJ, Fernández V, Claros S, Alcoholado C, Cifuentes M, Merayo-Lloves J, Andrades JA (2017) Regenerative therapies in dry eye disease: from growth factors to cell therapy. Int J Mol Sci 18(11):2264. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18112264
- Vision Loss Expert Group of the Global Burden of Disease Study (2020a. Open accessed December 01, 2020) Causes of blindness and vision impairment in 2020 and trends over 30 years: evaluating the prevalence of avoidable blindness in relation to "VISION 2020: the Right to Sight". Lancet Glob Health. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30489-7
- Vision Loss Expert Group of the Global Burden of Disease Study (2020b. Open accessed 2020 Mar 5) Trends in prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment over 30 years: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet Glob Health. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2214-109X(20)30425-3

- Weinreb R, Leung C, Crowston J, Felipe A, Medeiros FA, Friedman DS, Wiggs JL et al (2016) Primary open-angle glaucoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2:16067. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp. 2016.67
- Yao L, Li ZR, Su WR, Li YP, Lin ML, Zhang WX, Liu Y et al (2012) Role of mesenchymal stem cells on cornea wound healing induced by acute alkali burn. PLoS One 7(2):30842. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030842
- Ye J, Yao K, Kim JC (2006) Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in a rabbit corneal alkali burn model: engraftment and involvement in wound healing. Eye (Lond) 20(4):482–490. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.eye.6701913
- Yu H, Koilkonda RD, Chou TH, Porciatti V, Mehta A, Hentall ID, Chiodo VA et al (2015) Consequences of zygote injection and germline transfer of mutant human mitochondrial DNA in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(42):5689–5698. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1506129112
- Yu S, Cheng Y, Zhang L, Yin Y, Xue J, Li B, Gong Z et al (2019) Treatment with adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells exerts anti-diabetic effects, improves long-term complications, and attenuates inflammation in type 2 diabetic rats. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):333. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13287-019-1474-8
- Zakirova EY, Valeeva AN, Faizullina RR, Akhmetshin RF, Nefedovskaya LV, Rizvanov AA (2015) Transplantation of allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cell for treating corneal ulcers in cats. Gene Cells 10(3):49–53
- Zakirova EY, Valeeva AN, Aimaletdinov AM, Nefedovskaya LV, Akhmetshin RF, Rutland CS, Rizvanov AA (2019) Potential therapeutic application of mesenchymal stem cells in ophthalmology. Exp Eye Res 189:107863. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2019.107863
- Zeppieri M, Salvetat ML, Beltrami A (2017) Adipose derived stem cells for corneal wound healing after laser induced corneal lesions in mice. J Clin Med 6(12):115. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm6120115
- Zhao C, Boles NC, Miller JD, Kawola S, Temple S, Davis RJ, Stern JH (2017) Development of an improved protocol for transcleral subretinal transplantation of human retinal pigment epithelial cells into rat eyes. J Vis Exp 126:55220. https://doi.org/10.3791/55220
- Zhou X, Xia XB, Xiong SQ (2013) Neuro-protection of retinal stem cells transplantation combined with copolymer-1 immunization in a rat model of glaucoma. Mol Cell Neurosci 54:1–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2012.12.001
- Zwart I, Hill AJ, Al-Allaf F, Shah M, Girdlestone J, Sanusi AB, Mehmet H et al (2009) Umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stromal cells are neuroprotective and promote regeneration in a rat optic tract model. Exp Neurol 216(2):439–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2008. 12.028



Stem Cell for Cartilage Repair

12

Anneh Mohammad Gharravi, Mohammad Reza Gholami, Saeed Azandeh, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	351
Cartilage	351
Chondrocyte	351
Collagen	352
Fluid	352
Chondrocyte Degeneration and Loss of Articular Cartilage	352
The Articular Cartilage Defects Treatments	353
Common Cell Types for Articular Cartilage Regeneration	360
Mature Cells	360
Stem Cells	362
Scaffolds for Cartilage Treatment	367
Bioreactors	370
Spinner Flasks	370
Rotating Wall Vessels	371
Perfusion Bioreactors	371
Magnetic Field Bioreactors	372
Ultrasonic Bioreactors	372
Conclusion	372
Cross-References	372
References	372

A. M. Gharravi (⊠) Shahroud University of Medical Sciences, Shahroud, Iran

M. R. Gholami Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran e-mail: mohammadreza.gholami@kums.ac.ir

S. Azandeh Ahvaz Jundishapour University of Medical Sciences, Ahvaz, Iran

K. H. Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 13

Abstract

Several of the age-related joint diseases such as osteoarthritis lead to chondrocyte degeneration and loss of articular cartilage. Chondrocyte after an injury has restricted capacity to repair. The contemporary clinical treatments such as osteochondral transplantation and arthroplasty procedures have shown serious limitations especially for the treatment of extensive full-thickness cartilage defects. Therefore, alternative therapeutic approaches are warranted. Thus, several cell-based therapies using different stem cells have been proposed as a novel treatment approach for cartilage regeneration and repair. During organogenesis in the embryonic period, chondrocytes originate from mesenchymal progenitor cells. Several studies have reported that treatment using stem cells, especially mesenchymal stem cells, is an optimal intervention for cartilage repair rather than implantation of terminally differentiated cells such as chondrocytes. In this chapter, we have highlighted the use of cell-based therapies for the treatment of injured cartilage and discuss advantages and limitations of different stem cells. We also discuss stem cell-based cartilage tissue engineering as a novel therapeutic strategy for the damaged articular cartilage and discussed in-depth the main components of cartilage tissue engineering such as stem cell source, scaffolds used for their seeding and culture, and types of the bioreactors.

Keywords

Bioreactor · Cartilage · Chondrocytes · Mesenchymal stem cells · Stem cell · Tissue engineering · Transplantation

Abbreviations	
AC	Acryloyl chloride
ACI	Autologous chondrocyte implantation
ADSCs	Adipose tissue-derived stem cells
BMDCs	Bone marrow-derived cells
СН	Chitosan
COL	Collagen
CS	Chondroitin sulfate
CSMA	Methacrylated chondroitin sulfate
DJDs	Degenerative-related joint diseases
ECM	Extracellular matrix
GO	Graphene oxide
HA	Hyaluronic acid
OA	Osteoarthritis
OAT	Osteochondral autologous transplantation
OCA	Osteochondral allograft transplantation
OCT	Osteochondral transplantation
PACI	Particulated articular cartilage implantation
PBPCs	Peripheral blood progenitor cells

PC	Pectin-based				
PCEC	Polycaprolactone-polyethylene glycol				
PCL	Polycaprolactone				
PDS	Poly-p-dioxanone				
PECA	Poly(ethylene glycol) methyl ether-"-caprolactone-acryloyl				
	chloride				
PEG	Poly(ethylene glycol)				
PES	Polyethersulfone				
PGA	Poly(glycolic acid)				
PLA	Polylactic acid				
PLCL	Poly(L-lactide-co-"-caprolactone)				
PLGA	Polylactic-co-glycolic acid				
PLLA	Poly(L-lactide)				
PU	Polyurethane				
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis				
RWVs	Rotating wall vessels				
SCPL	Solvent casting and particulate leaching method				
SFs	Spinner flasks				
SMSCs/SF-MSCs	Synovium fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells				
UCB-MSCs	Umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells				
WJ-MSCs	Umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells				

Introduction

Cartilage

Articular cartilage is found at the end of a large area of lining bones in the joint bones. This tissue has important properties, including load-bearing, low-friction, and wear-resistant surface to facilitate joint movement. In terms of structure and composition, the joint cartilage can be divided into three surfaces: The thin superficial (tangential) zone represents approximately 10% to 20% of articular cartilage thickness. The middle with about 40% to 60% of the total cartilage volume contains proteoglycans and thicker collagen fibrils. The deep zone represents approximately 30% of the articular cartilage volume. When articular cartilage is damaged, patients will experience severe pain, inflammation, and some degree of disability (Athanasiou et al. 2010).

Chondrocyte

Articular chondrocytes constitute about 1-10% of the total cartilage volume. They are contained in cavities in the matrix, called cartilage lacunae. Chondrocytes secrete extracellular matrix containing collagen fibers to maintain and sustain the cartilage.

Chondrocytes are separated by a cartilage extracellular matrix consisting of a dense network of collagen and proteoglycan.

Collagen accounts for about 10 to 30% of the dry weight of adult articular cartilage. Proteoglycans, as one of the main components of the cartilage extracellular matrix, bind water and provide the basis for absorbing high compressive loads. Collagen and proteoglycan provide skeletal structure for the articular cartilage and determine cartilage's biochemical and functional properties. Other compounds present in cartilage include salts and little lipid, glycoprotein, and proteins (Darling and Athanasiou 2003; Guilak et al. 2000; Wu et al. 2002).

Collagen

Collagen is the main structural protein in the extracellular matrix found in the articular cartilage. Over 90% of the collagen in the articular cartilage is type I collagen. The arrangement of collagen fibers differs in the layers of articular cartilage; the surface layer is arranged parallel to the cartilage surface. They are oriented almost perpendicular to the bone and cartilage surfaces with a radial arrangement in the inner layers. The articular cartilage also contains other types of collagen fibrillar and globular, such as collagen VI, IX, and V. However, their role does not appear significant in molecular interaction and articular structure (Clark 1990; Deshmukh and Nimni 1973; Eyre and Wu 1995).

Fluid

Water is the most abundant component of articular cartilage; approximately 80% wet weight of cartilage is fluidly associated with the intrafibrillar space within the collagen, in the intracellular space, and pore space of the matrix. Inorganic ions such as sodium, calcium, chloride, and potassium are dissolved in the tissue water. Cartilage is avascular and aneural and receives nutrition by diffusion through the matrix gel. Therefore, fluid plays an essential role in the transport of nutrients and wastes through cartilaginous tissues. It also plays a vital mechanical role (Hardingham et al. 1994).

Chondrocyte Degeneration and Loss of Articular Cartilage

Because articular cartilage, once synthesized, lacks lymphatic or blood supply, several degenerative and age-related joint diseases (DJDs), such as osteoarthritis (OA) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), lead to chondrocyte degeneration and loss of articular cartilage. Chondrocyte after an injury has restricted capacity to repair. Treatment strategies for DJDs are major challenges of the twenty-first century and vary depending on both cartilage defect and patient factors. At present, both reparative and restorative procedures have been developed for the patients who suffered



Fig. 1 The articular cartilage defects treatments. Bone marrow-derived cells (BMDCs), adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ADSCs), peripheral blood progenitor cells (PBPCs), umbilical cord bloodderived mesenchymal stem cells (UCB-MSCs), umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells (WJ-MSCs), synovium fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells (SMSCs/SF-MSCs), CH (chitosan), COL (collagen), PLA (polylactic acid; PU, polyurethane), PLLA (poly(L-lactide)), PLGA (polylactic-co-glycolic acid), PC (pectin-based), PLCL (poly(L-lactide-co-"caprolactone))

from either partial-thickness or full-thickness cartilage lesions, including microfracture as a reparative technique and osteochondral autografts and allografts in addition to autologous chondrocyte implantation as restorative techniques. In this chapter, we have also highlighted the use of cell-based therapies to treat injured cartilage and discuss the advantages and limitations of different stem cells (Fig. 1). We have also discussed stem cell-based cartilage tissue engineering as a novel therapeutic strategy for damaged articular cartilage and the main components of cartilage tissue engineering, including stem cell source, scaffolds used for cell seeding and culture, and types of the bioreactors.

The Articular Cartilage Defects Treatments

There are several reparative and restorative procedures for patients suffering from partial-thickness or full-thickness cartilage lesions, including microfracture, osteochondral autografts, and allografts, in addition to autologous chondrocyte implantation. Table 1 summarizes the different cartilage defects and the available treatments with their respective advantages and limitations.

Traditional surgical regeneration			
techniques		Advantages	Limitations
Microfracture		Cost-effective for small (≤6 cm ²) focal defects Reproducible techniques	Limited hyaline repair tissue Fibrocartilage formation Variable repair cartilage volume Partial defect filling Functional deterioration
Osteochondral transplantation (OCT)	Osteochondral autologous transplantation (OAT)	Reproducible and primary treatment strategy Good clinical results at medium long-term follow-up Cost-effective for small focal defects Restoration of hyaline cartilage articulating surface Good chondrocyte survival rate	For younger patients Morbidity in donor site Limited number and graft size and tissue availability Potential chondrocyte apoptosis during graft Lack of cartilage integration Poor matching of graft and host cartilage Congruency
	Osteochondral allograft transplantation (OCA)	Cost-effective Good chondrocyte survival rate Treat large defect Using fully mature articular cartilage Reproducible and primary treatment strategy Good clinical results at medium long-term follow-up Restoration of hyaline cartilage articulating surface	Limited tissue availability Potential chondrocyte apoptosis during graft Risk of disease transmission Potential immunological response Potential chondrocyte apoptosis during graft impaction
Particulated articular cartilage implantation (PACI)	Autologous PACI	Single-stage procedure Treatment of full-thickness cartilage and osteochondral defects medium (10–15 mm) to large (>15 mm) chondral defect Chondrocyte migration into a biomaterial and synthesize new ECM	Active infection at surgical site Diffuse osteoarthritis Malalignment Morbid obesity Patient noncompliance Patients (up to 40 years of age)
	Allogeneic PACI	Overcome the limitations of ACI Immature chondrocytes can better regenerate hyaline-like tissue	Lack long-term follow-up data Risk of disease transmission Limited hyaline repair

 Table 1
 Advantages and limitations of the articular cartilage defects treatments

(continued)

Table 1 (continued)

Traditional surgical regeneration		A deconto and	Timitationa
techniques		Auvantages	
			Potential immunological response
Autologous chondr implantation (ACI)	ocyte	Arthroscopic or minimally invasive Potential for hyaline cartilage repair tissue Use of autologous cells	Expensive and two-stage procedure Variable repair tissue type: hyaline-like, fibrocartilage, and mixed Limited defect filling and integration Donor-site complications
Tissue- engineered articular cartilage	"Cell-scaffold construct" strategies	High biocompatibility and nontoxicity Provides surface, 3D space, and seed cell support Gradual degradation	Require in vitro expansion of autologous chondrocytes Fibrocartilage formation
	Cell-free strategies	Avoids problems of iatrogenic trauma due to autologous chondrocytes or MSCs harvest Time and expense of cell culture and expansion in vitro	Still in the animal test stage Not in large-scale clinical trials No long-term follow- up data Difficulty in removal of the subchondral bone before implantation
	Scaffold-free strategies	Overcome scaffold-related problems Preserves the chondrocyte phenotypes Provides a natural matrix component Reduce loss of chondrocytes and maintain the defect for a long time	Preclinical, experimental stage A few scaffold-free products available Expensive and no ideal scaffold Requiring a long culture time Complex culturing procedure Expensive

Traditional Surgical Regeneration Techniques

Microfracture

Microfracture is a bone marrow stimulation surgery by making multiple small holes (spaced at 3–4 mm) in the surface of the joint. This is commonly performed for cartilage repair and induces fibrocartilage growth. The procedure basically involves

creating multiple holes in the subchondral region to generate a blood clot containing precursor cell populations derived from the subchondral bone marrow. An important element of the microfracture technique, which is single-stage and technically simple, is the proper preparation of the damaged area. Firstly, a layer of calcified cartilage is removed from the bottom of the lesion and then its edges are evened out. Previous investigations revealed that microfracture has a definite short-term efficacy although it is cost-effective and easy to perform than other methods. However, its sustained treatment benefits are uncertain. The published data show several retrograde changes may occur after microfracture in the subchondral region, including osteophyte formation, cysts, and excessive bone growth which will limit microfracture applications (Galperin et al. 2013; Gudas et al. 2005; Knutsen et al. 2007; Kraeutler et al. 2020; Mithoefer et al. 2006; Polat et al. 2016).

Osteochondral Transplantation (OCT)

Osteochondral transplantation, which is especially useful in active young patients, involves the removal of osteochondral columns (both bone and cartilage obtained from the healthy articular surface) from the non-weight-bearing articular surfaces, such as the femoral trochlear, and their transplantation into repaired articular cartilage defects (Ansah et al. 2007). The goal of OCT is to improve articular function, relieve symptoms, and delay arthroplasty by restoring the articular surface through a biologically active implant. OCT has been shown to be effective in the treatment of medium-sized defects (up to approximately 3–4 cm) (Taşkiran and Ozçelik 2007; Yamashita et al. 1985). There are two types of OCT procedures: osteochondral autologous transplantation and osteochondral allograft transplantation.

Osteochondral Autologous Transplantation (OAT)

In osteochondral autologous transplantation, one or more osteochondral plugs from less weight-bearing joint areas are transplanted as a treatment strategy for small- and medium-sized focal articular cartilage defects (Vogt et al. 2011; Weigelt et al. 2015). This procedure is usually performed in young patients. The scheme of this procedure is to harvest normal cartilage and bone from a nonarticular part of the joint and transplant it into the affected area. The collected cylinders in OAT procedures are larger in size. Therefore, for a typical defect with a diameter up to 9 mm, only one or two of the collected cylinders are sufficient. Consequently, filling the defect with actual articular cartilage and recreating the natural barrier between synovia and subchondral bone may be achieved (Andrade et al. 2016; Hangody and Füles 2003; Sherman et al. 2017; Shimozono et al. 2018).

Osteochondral Allograft Transplantation (OCA)

Osteochondral allograft transplantation (OCA) is a tissue-based articular cartilage and bone reconstruction or replacement method, which comprises the preparation of the cartilage defect, including the debridement of the damaged cartilage for stable healthy borders and fitting and implantation of the osteochondral allograft. An osteochondral allograft is a piece of tissue containing bone and cartilage that is taken from a deceased donor to replace damaged cartilage. This method has emerged as an important and versatile option in the restoration of articular cartilage, particularly for lesions with both an osseous and a chondral component. The procedure is highly cost-effective (Mistry et al. 2019). Because of the low immunogenicity of articular cartilage, this method of treating cartilage is clinically applicable and does not require immunosuppression. This technique is used primarily in the treatment of large chondral defects (Cook et al. 2014; de Sousa et al. 2015; Langer and Gross 1974; Mankin et al. 1987; McCulloch et al. 2007; Nuelle et al. 2017).

Particulated Articular Cartilage Implantation (PACI)

PACI is a novel treatment modality, which involves autograft and off-the-shelf allogenic juvenile grafts (Riboh et al. 2015; Wixted et al. 2020). By this method, autologous or allogeneic cartilage fragments crushed into small-sized particles are implanted into articular cartilage defects to stimulate chondrocytes' migration and home into the cartilage chips from the extracellular matrix and promote cartilage regeneration (Christensen et al. 2020). Advancement in this regard is the use of PACI to treat chondral and osteochondral defects using platelet-rich plasma scaffolds (Cugat et al. 2021). In this novel approach, platelet-rich plasma scaffold serves as a bioactive component, which induces migration, proliferation, and differentiation of chondrocytes as part of the repair and regeneration process. It is pertinent to mention that given the bioactive molecule-rich composition of platelet-rich plasma, its use may significantly contribute to the ongoing intrinsic repair process (Haider 2017).

Autologous PACI: This procedure is performed by simply cutting autologous cartilage fragments into small size (0.25 to 0.5 mm³) chips using a scalpel. These pieces are later embedded in scaffold glue before placing them in the debrided defect. Autologous PACI stimulates chondrocyte migration and promotes cartilage regeneration. A commercial product of DePuy company is the cartilage autologous implantation system (CAIS) that results in significantly better international knee documentation committee (IKDC) scores and knee injury and OA outcome scores (KOOS) (Cole et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2006).

Allogeneic PACI: Allogenic PACI involves implanting particulated articular cartilage from a donor as a treatment option for focal articular cartilage defects. Currently, Zimmer's DeNovo NT system as a commercial product derived from allogeneic juvenile cartilage particles results in an extended retention period of up to 45 days in vitro. The repair effect (mixture of hyaline cartilage and fibrocartilage) is reported for 2 years after implantation (Farr et al. 2014; Tompkins et al. 2013).

Autologous Chondrocyte Implantation (ACI): This surgical treatment method involves harvesting chondrocytes from the non-weight-bearing autologous articular surface to treat isolated full-thickness (down to the bone) articular cartilage defects. Autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) or mosaicplasty is a two-stage treatment procedure in which chondrocytes are harvested from a patient's joint, expanded in culture, amplified in vitro, and reimplanted over an articular cartilage defect. The American Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has officially approved ACI only as a reparative articular cartilage procedure to treatments of large, grade 3 and 4 chondral defects, up to 10 cm². There are three generations of ACI. The first-generation ACI (PACI) involves suturing the autologous periosteum onto the edge of

the cartilage defect and injecting chondrocytes into the defect lacunas. On the other hand, the second generation of ACI (C-ACI) involves the replacement of periosteal tissue with a type I/III collagen membrane, while the third generation of ACI is matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI) (Brittberg et al. 1994; Giannoni et al. 2005; Kino-oka et al. 2009; McNickle et al. 2009; Peterson et al. 2000, 2002; Rogers et al. 2010; Steinwachs and Kreuz 2007).

Tissue-Engineered Articular Cartilage

The contemporary clinical treatments, such as osteochondral transplantation procedures, have shown severe limitations, especially for extensive full-thickness cartilage defects. Therefore, alternative therapeutic approaches are warranted. Thus, several cell-based therapies using different stem cells have been proposed as a novel treatment approach for cartilage regeneration and repair. There are three categories of cartilage tissue engineering: cell-scaffold constructs, cell-free procedures, and scaffold-free strategies (Caplan and Correa 2011; Harrell et al. 2019; Huang et al. 2016).

"Cell-Scaffold Construct" Strategies

The "cell-scaffold construct" strategy is one of the most commonly used methods in cartilage tissue engineering. Several tissue-engineered articular cartilage technologies based on the "cell-scaffold construct" strategy have been introduced, such as matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI), BioSeed, Hyalograft, CaReS, NeoCart.

MACI: MACI is a typical tissue engineering procedure, which is a two-part procedure of articular cartilage technology. During MACI, the patient's cells are used to regrow new cartilage. At first, a cartilage biopsy is performed arthroscopically and then planted into a scaffold. Then the construct is implanted into the cartilage defect (Bartlett et al. 2005; Basad et al. 2010; Benthien et al. 2011).

BioSeed[®]-**C**: A unit of **BioSeed**[®]-**C** is a second-generation implant consisting of approximately 28.8 million patient's autologous chondrocytes embedded in a 3D bioabsorbable gel polymer scaffold. Given that BioSeed[®]-C employs fibrin glue as the cell carrier to grow the cells on the polyglactin 910/poly-p-dioxanone fleece scaffold. This graft is ideal for 3D homogenous chondrocyte distribution since the chondrocyte phenotype remains differentiated (Huang et al. 2016; Kreuz et al. 2011; Ossendorf et al. 2007).

Hyalograft: Hyalograft is a hyaluronan-based material based on a "cell-scaffold construct" strategy in cartilage tissue engineering. Hyalograft C autograft is an implant consisting of autologous chondrocytes derived from the patient and planted on 2-cm x 2-cm square inserts. The positive clinical results of Hyalograft have shown that it may be a viable therapeutic option for the treatment of acute cartilage lesions (Huang et al. 2016; Nehrer et al. 2009; Schneider et al. 2011).

The Cartilage Regeneration System (CaReS): CaReS uses collagen type I hydrogels as scaffolds for seeding primary autologous chondrocytes. This product has resulted in significantly lower adverse events when compared with ACI in patients during 30-month follow-up after CaReS surgery (Schneider et al. 2011).

NeoCart. NeoCart is an autologous cartilage tissue implant containing autologous chondrocytes embedded in a three-dimensional type I collagen scaffold, resulted similar to that of microfracture surgery, and is associated with greater clinical efficacy (Anderson et al. 2017; Crawford et al. 2012).

NOVOCART[®] **3D**. It is a type I/III collagen biphasic scaffold. The previous investigation revealed that NOVOCART [®]3D is an effective method for repairing articular cartilage defects, for treating children and adolescents (Niethammer et al. 2017).

The "cell-scaffold construct" strategy was performed using many types of MSCs with clinical applications, such as bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs), adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ADSCs), peripheral blood progenitor cells (PBPCs) and peripheral blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells (PB-MSCs), umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UCB-MSCs) and umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells (WJ-MSCs), and synovium/synovial fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells (SMSCs/SF-MSCs).

Cell-Free Strategies

Paracrine release of bioactive molecules and exosomes rich in bioactive molecules constitutes an integral part of the mechanism of MSCs' reparability post-transplantation (Haider and Aziz 2017; Haider and Aramini 2020). Hence, in the recent years, cell-free therapy based on MSCs-derived paracrine factors is now a fast emerging strategy due to its advantages, i.e., avoidance of tumorigenicity, rejection of cell graft, undesired differentiation, etc. (Haider and Aslam 2018). Cell-free procedures for cartilage tissue attempt to repair and regenerate the injured cartilage tissues by recruiting endogenous stem/progenitor cells to participate in the repair (Schüttler et al. 2019). Cell-free strategy can be performed with two methods.

In the first procedure, induction of cartilage regeneration is carried out by in situ endogenous BMSCs using synthetic degradable scaffolds combined with bone marrow stimulation. In the second procedure, to build composite scaffolds of the derivatives secreted by MSCs (i.e., extracellular vesicles, cytokines, and various RNAs) implanted in the cartilage defect areas. Currently, the representative products of cell-free strategies are TruFit scaffolds and MaioRegen scaffolds.

TruFit Scaffolds: The TruFit osteochondral scaffold plug implant is commercially available composed of a poly(lactide-co-glycolide) copolymer, 10% calcium sulfate, polyglycolide fibers, and surfactant for the treatment of chondral and osteochondral defects. Investigations indicated a clear improvement of the clinical symptoms and slowing joint degeneration in the case of focal osteochondral (Azam et al. 2018; Barber and Dockery 2011; Bugelli et al. 2018; Joshi et al. 2012).

MaioRegen Scaffold: The MaioRegen scaffold is a three-layer biomimetic scaffold consisting of collagen I and hydroxyapatite. Studies have shown that it has a reliable medium-term effect on repairing articular cartilage defects. MaioRegen scaffold has been proposed for in situ cartilage regeneration. MaioRegen, with a porous composite structure, mimics the whole osteochondral anatomy. It is a nanostructured biomimetic and bioresorbable implant, which has three different layers (superficial, intermediate, and lower). In the superficial layer with only type I collagen (100% type I collagen) mimicking smooth surface, it reproduces the articular surface. The intermediate layer has collagen type I and 40% hydroxyapatite composite (60% type I collagen and 40% hydroxyapatite), while the lower layer has 30% collagen type I and 70% hydroxyapatite that reproduces the composition of the subchondral bone (Berruto et al. 2014; D'Ambrosi et al. 2019).

Scaffold-Free Strategies

In recent year, the scaffold-free strategies and products have gained popularity for use in the clinic as the process is similar to the native cartilage development. These novel products can completely regenerate continuous, homogeneous, and healthy cartilage layers, because it mimics the elements of developmental processes underlying these tissues. This method needs important consideration, such as cell sourcing, stimulation of tissue-specific extracellular matrix (ECM) production, and tissue organization (Park et al. 2019; Yamashita et al. 2015). A few scaffold-free products are currently being used in clinical applications.

Chondrosphere (Spherox): Chondrosphere is a 3D autologous chondrocyte transplantation product that comprises spheroids in suspension developed from autologous chondrocytes, which indicated for the repair of symptomatic articular cartilage defects. The spheroids are formed from the patient's undamaged articular condyles. Human chondrocytes undergo three steps for the production of spheroids harvesting from healthy articular cartilage, cultivation for 8–10 weeks in vitro, and condensing into spheroids (chondrospheres). The three-dimensional spheroids are then transplanted into the defect. In literature, the recommended dose of spheroids of human autologous matrix-associated chondrocytes was 10–70 spheroids/cm² (Armoiry et al. 2019; Becher et al. 2017).

Common Cell Types for Articular Cartilage Regeneration

During organogenesis in the embryonic period, chondrocytes originate from mesenchymal progenitor cells. Several studies have reported that treatment using stem cells, especially MSCs, is an optimal intervention for cartilage repair rather than implanting terminally differentiated cells such as chondrocytes. Various cell types from diverse tissue sources have been characterized as possible candidates for cartilage repair (Ma et al. 2018). The reparability of these cells has been assessed with or without manipulation using various scaffolds for the delivery, as discussed in the following sections (Huang et al. 2018a). Table 2 summarizes the advantages and limitations of the use of common cell types for articular cartilage regeneration.

Mature Cells

Autologous chondrocytes were one of the first tissue cells for tissue engineering applications to regenerate the articular cartilage surface. Autologous chondrocytes can be used for larger chondral lesions, where the subchondral bone plate remains

Table 2	Advantages and l	limitat	tions of	f the us	e of com	mon cell	types for	r articular	cartila	ige rege	meration				
Cell type	Se	Adv	antage	s and li	mitations										
		¥	DT	B	SRA	NC	Ы	MDS	EC	RF	DWA	H	LSCT	CE	Other
Autolog	ous cytes	1	1	+	+	Ц	+	+	I	+	+	I	+	I	Chondrocyte phenotype
	BMSCs/ BMDCs	+	+	+	+	ц	+	+			+	+	+	I	Variable in different individuals
MSCs	ADSCs	+	+	+	+	Н	Small				+	+	+	I	Variable in different individuals
	PBPCs/PB- MSCs	+	+	+	1	ц	1	1			+	+	I		Variable in different individuals
	UCB-MSCs/ WJ-MSCs	1	+	+	+	Н	1				1	+	I	+	Resistant to senescence
	SMSCs/SF- MSCs	1	1	+	+	ц	+	1			+	+	I	I	
ESCs		I	1	+	+	Г	+	+	+		I	+	I	I	Capacity to differentiate into three germ layers
iPSCs		I	1	+	+	Low	+	+	I		I	+	I	I	Capacity to differentiate into three germ layers
<i>CD</i> choni immunor <i>T</i> tumorig	drogenic differenti ejection, <i>LSCT</i> lar, genicity	iation, ge-sca	<i>CE</i> co ale clini	st-effec ical tria	tiveness, ls, <i>MDS</i>	<i>DT</i> dise morbidit	ase transr y at the d	nission, <i>I</i> onor site,	<i>NVA</i> de <i>NC</i> nu	creased umber o	l with ag f cells, <i>R</i>	e, EC - F rege	ethical co merate fil	ntrove	rsy, <i>IP</i> invasive procedures, <i>IR</i> ilage, <i>SRA</i> self-renewal ability,

intact. The previous investigation revealed indications of autologous chondrocyte implantation for larger and full-thickness defects (e.g., 2–10 cm²) in younger patients, to treat injuries that have failed debridement or other cartilage repairs after a preceding bone graft for deeper lesions. But in the patient with inflammatory arthritic condition, kissing lesions (in particular, outer bridge grades 3–4 on the opposing surface) and reluctance to cooperate with postoperative rehabilitation should be avoided. Although several investigations showed that autologous chondrocytes have potential in cartilage tissue engineering applications, many restrictions limit the application of autologous chondrocytes, such as limited number of cells (Brittberg et al. 1994; Giannoni et al. 2005; Kino-oka et al. 2009; McNickle et al. 2009; Peterson et al. 2000, 2002; Rogers et al. 2010; Steinwachs and Kreuz 2007).

Stem Cells

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) constitute the heterogeneous stromal multipotent adult stem cells compartment of the bone marrow (BM) with diverse properties, including plastic adherence, clonal expansion by self-renewal, and tri-lineage differentiation potential. MSCs have capacity multipotentiality, and under a conducive set of conditions, MSCs can transdifferentiate into at least three cell lineages, adipocytes, osteoblasts, and chondrocytes, besides others, i.e., myofibroblasts. MSCs can be isolated from several body tissues, such as the placenta, umbilical cord, skeletal muscle, synovium, synovial fluid, and adipose tissue (Bianco and Robey 2015; Frisbie and Stewart 2011; Kim et al. 2014; Lee et al. 2007; Li et al. 2016). There are currently many types of MSCs with underexplored and even unexplored potential of clinical utility. However, some of these cells have already progressed to advanced stages of clinical trials for the treatment of various diseases, i.e., bone marrow-derived MSCs, adipose tissue-derived MSCs (AD-MSCs), peripheral blood-derived stem/progenitor cells, umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UCB-MSCs), umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells (WJ-MSCs), and synovium/synovial fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells (SMSCs/SF-MSCs) (Le et al. 2020).

BM-MSCs

BM-derived MSCs are an integral part of the HSCs' niche in vivo. Based on their surface marker expression, they are positive for CD90, CD44, CD70, etc., but negative for the expression of hematopoietic stem cell-specific markers, i.e., CD34, CD45, etc. (Haider and Ashraf 2005). The International Society for Cell Therapy (ISCT) has suggested standardized criteria to define human MSCs which include (1) adherence to plastic surface under standard culture conditions; (2) expression of CD73, CD90, and CD105 and lack of CD34, CD45, HLA-DR, CD14 or CD11b, CD79a, or CD19 membrane surface molecules; and (3) tri-lineage differentiation potential to adopt osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts under a defined

set of culture conditions in vitro (Haider 2018). Although they are available in small numbers in the BM, BM-MSCs are easy to harvest and expand in vitro undifferentiated to achieve a relatively high concentration that is enough for use. Given their robust nature, they can be genetically manipulated or preconditioned to enhance their paracrine activity as well as survival and differentiation potential (Haider et al. 2008, 2010; Kim et al. 2009, 2012). Hence, BM-MSCs are the most well-characterized, better studied, and commonly used in the field of articular cartilage regeneration.

Published data have demonstrated that BM-MSCs possess the capability of differentiating into cartilage and, hence, repair articular cartilage defects. These data have been reported in numerous preclinical as well as clinical studies and showed that BM-MSCs significantly improved patients' quality of life after treatment (Li et al. 2018; Nejadnik et al. 2010; Park et al. 2015; Wakitani et al. 2007).

Various research groups have demonstrated that autologous BM-MSCs seeded on a collagen gel or combined with platelet-rich fibrin glue scaffolds could significantly improve the symptoms of cartilage defects (Jung et al. 2009; Berninger et al. 2013; Araki et al. 2015). No adverse events have been reported, demonstrating the safety of and efficacy of scaffold-based delivery of BM-MSCs. Several investigations have reported the effects of bioactive factors on BM-MSCs' chondrogenic differentiation (Fortier et al. 2011; Patel et al. 2019). For example, TGF-B3 activated the downstream TGF-β3/Smad signaling pathway and promoted MSCs' chondrogenic differentiation (Ng et al. 2008). Bian et al. have designed an implantable construct by co-encapsulating MSCs and TGF- β 3 containing alginate microspheres in HA hydrogel for cartilage repair (Bian et al. 2011). Subcutaneous implantation of the construct into nude mice resulted in a superior cartilage matrix formation, attributed to controlled local delivery of TGF- β 3. In another study, TGF- β 3, through the activation of MAPK and Wnt signaling pathway, induced gene expression of SOX9, COL II, and ACAN and proteoglycan synthesis (Tuli et al. 2003). Although the role of TGF- β 3 in chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs is well-established, the approach is not without its drawback that includes inefficiency of the protocol and instability of chondrogenic phenotype.

Besides TGF-β3, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) superfamily, including BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-6, and BMP-7, have shown to significantly enhance MSCs' chondrogenic differentiation (Taipaleenmäki et al. 2008; Scarfi 2016). BMPs function by the activation of Smad-dependent and Smad-independent signaling pathways that involve activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (ERK, p38MAPK, JNK) (Carreira et al. 2015). On the same note, another TGF superfamily, the addition of FGF-2 during the expansion of BMSCs, alters MSCs' surface marker distribution and chondrogenic differentiation potential and increased GAG/DNA contents (Hagmann et al. 2013).

Bioactive melatonin attenuates IL-1β-induced activation of NF-kB pathway and rescued interleukin 1b-impaired chondrogenic potential of BM-MSCs. In similar studies, melatonin increased gene expression of SOX9, RUNX2, SERPINB2, and SERPINA9 and enhanced the accumulation of GAG, COL II, and COL X (Gao et al. 2014; Granados-Montiel and Cruz-Lemini 2021; Hu and Li 2019). Treatment with

chondroitin sulfate promoted BM-MSCs' chondrogenic differentiation and also inhibited chondrocyte hypertrophy (Varghese et al. 2008), while ghrelin treatment upregulated COL II, SOX9, and ACAN expression and enhanced the collagen and GAG accumulation in vitro through activation phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and DMNT3A pathway. These molecular changes improved the cartilage repair effect of BMSCs in vivo through SHH pathway activation (Li et al. 2012). Atractylenolides increase SOX9, COL II, and ACAN gene expression (Li et al. 2012).

Several investigations have also reported the effects of physical stimulation of BMSCs in terms of supporting chondrogenic differentiation, such as vibration and compression. These methods of physical stimulation include mechanical methods (i.e., cyclic strain, fluid shear stress), electrical and magnetic field exposure, ultrasound and shock-wave treatment, and substrate stimuli (Huang et al. 2018). Vibration through activation of Wnt/b-catenin pathway promoted BM-MSCs' chondrogenic differentiation and inhibited hypertrophic differentiation. Tensile stimulation improved chondrogenic phenotype of MSCs (Hou et al. 2020; Xie et al. 2019).

Compression stimulation functions by TGF- β /activin/nodal pathway and suppresses BMP/GDP and integrin/FAK/ERK pathways. These molecular changes enhanced BM-MSCs' chondrogenic differentiation and suppressed chondrocyte hypertrophy and fibrocartilage formation (Xie et al. 2019). Microgravity suppressed IHH and SHH pathways and attenuated their chondrogenic differentiation and chondrocyte hypertrophy as well as aging of MSCs by increasing the expression of COL II and SOX9 (Xie et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2015).

WJ-MSCs

Similar to BM-MSCs, WJ-MSCs have multi-lineage differentiation potential. Investigations have demonstrated that WJ-MSCs can sustain undifferentiated self-renewal in vitro for more than ten generations. WJ-MSCs express surface markers similar to the phenotype of BM-MSCs. Although WJ-MSCs are allogenically sourced, they are weakly immunogenic; they resemble BM-MSCs in terms of paracrine activity (Marino et al. 2019), and hence, they are considered an excellent cell source in tissue engineering, especially when cells have to be allogenically sourced (Voisin et al. 2020). Interestingly, studies have demonstrated that immune-related molecules (i.e., B7-H3/CD276 and HLA-E) characterized in undifferentiated MSCs were also expressed in the differentiated progeny of WJ-MSCs and suggest that WJ-MSCsderived cells may maintain their immunoprivileged status post differentiation (La Rocca et al. 2013). Similar observations have also been reported recently by Voisin et al., who have demonstrated that hypo-immunogenicity is sustained and remains unchanged during the process of differentiation. A head-to-head comparison of BM-MSCs and WJ-MSCs has shown that the latter's immunoprivileged properties and stemness were much superior as compared to BM-MSCs (Li et al. 2017).

Human WJ-MSCs co-cultured with primary cartilage cells on an acellular cartilage ECM scaffold significantly enhance the biomechanics and composition of the neo-tissue post engraftment into the articular cartilage defect area in a caprine experimental model (Zhang et al. 2020). The differentiated WJ-MSCs showed a stable chondrogenic phenotype in the biomimetic cartilage microenvironment. More interestingly, the neo-tissue was more similar to native cartilage during 9 months of follow-up.

Various strategies have been adopted to enhance the rate of differentiation. One such strategy combines WJ-MSCs and pulsed electromagnetic field (PEMF), which induce an early and higher rate of WJ-MSCs differentiation toward cartilaginous tissue (Esposito et al. 2013). On the same note, a study aimed to evaluate the usefulness of two commercially available hyaluronic acid (HA)-based hydrogels, HyStem and HyStem-C, for the cultivation and chondrogenic differentiation of WJ-MSCs showed that the cells had some degree of chondrogenic potential in both the hydrogels (Aleksander-Konert et al. 2016). The use of advanced hydrogels with tailored properties has been excellently reviewed by Wei et al. (Wei et al. 2021).

UCB-MSCs

Human UCB-MSCs (hUCB-MSCs) offer a promising cell source for in vivo repair of cartilage defects. Cord blood is collected from the umbilical cord, and placenta UCB-MSCs have several advantages over BM-MSCs and AD-MSCs, including noninvasive availability, high proliferative potential, presence of pluripotent cell population, low immunogenicity, and chondrogenic potential. In recent years, the co-culture of hUCB-MSCs and chondrocytes in vitro has been shown to promote hUCB-MSC chondrogenesis (Zheng et al. 2013). A direct comparison between BM-MSCs, AD-MSCs, and UCB-MSCs revealed that UCB-MSCs had the highest proliferation capacity, clonality paracrine activity, and tolerance to aging (Jin et al. 2013). It was observed that the ratio of co-cultured cells and the presence of IGF-1 in the differentiation culture significantly enhanced their chondrogenic potential. More interestingly, the defined ratio between the two cell types resulted in the expression of the cartilaginous cellular matrix (Zheng et al. 2013).

Besides co-culture, various strategies have been developed to enhance the rate of chondrogenic differentiation. Thrombospondin-2 secreted by UCB-MSCs as part of paracrine activity triggers chondrogenic differentiation of chondroprogenitor cells (Jeong et al. 2013). Molecular studies showed autocrine activation of the Notch signaling pathway during chondrogenic differentiation of UCB-MSCs and attenuated their hypertrophic differentiation (Jeong et al. 2015). In a recent study, Jing et al. have exploited the preconditioning approach during which the authors treated UCB-MSCs with kartogenin before TGF- β 3 induction. The authors observed activation of the JNK/RUNX1 signaling pathway with concomitant suppression of the β -catenin/RUNX2 pathway. The preconditioned cells showed accumulation of extracellular matrix and chondrogenic gene expression of SOX9, COL II, and ACAN (Jing et al. 2019). Similar data have also been reported by Zhao et al. that have also shown the superiority of concomitant use of kartogenin preconditioning and TGF-b3 induction for chondrogenesis in UCB-MSCs (Zhao et al. 2020). Some recent advances in the use of kartogenin for chondrogenic differentiation of UCB-MSCs are their use with hydrogels and collagen nanofibers (Yin et al. 2017; Fan et al. 2020). Another study has reported that a combination of allogeneic UCB-MSCs and HA hydrogel is a safe and effective treatment option for large osteochondral defects (Park et al. 2017).

SMSCs/SF-MSCs

The synovial fluid (SF) is a novel source of MSCs (SF-MSCs) for cartilage repair (Li et al. 2020). SF-MSCs can be harvested during arthrocentesis, arthroscopy, or knee surgery with chondrogenic potential. Like BM-MSCs and UCB-MSCs, SF-MSCs have shown significant chondrogenic differentiation capacity (Neybecker et al. 2020). A recently published systemic review including 20 studies (4 using human- and 16 using animal-sourced SF-MSCs) has concluded that irrespective of the source, harvesting protocol, delivery method, etc., SF-MSCs successfully and effectively repaired focal cartilage damage/defects (Kendrick et al. 2019). There is mounting evidence in the published data that SF-MSCs may have superior chondrogenic potential compared with MSCs from other tissue sources (Bami et al. 2020). Molecular studies have revealed the activation of RhoA/ROCK involved in TGF-β3-induced chondrogenic differentiation of rat SF-MSCs through interaction with the Smad pathway (Xu et al. 2012). A study conducted on bovine synovium-derived progenitor cells cultured in 3D alginate hydrogel demonstrated that BMP-2 could induce these cells to express chondrocyte-specific genes, Sox9, type II collagen, and aggrecan (Park et al. 2005). In vitro cartilage formation of composites of SF-MSCs with collagen gel effectively induced chondroitin sulfate and mRNA expression for cartilage-related genes that demonstrated cartilage maturation (Yokoyama et al. 2005). Also, addition of dexamethasone in the combination of TGF-B and BMP2 significantly enhanced in vitro chondrogenesis of SF-MSCs (Shirasawa et al. 2006).

Adipose Tissue-Derived MSCs

Adipose tissue contains stem cells that have the capacity to differentiate into cartilage. ADSCs' effective reparability and regeneration potential of cartilage have been reported in a variety of animal models. Therefore, they represent a promising, minimally invasive, nonsurgical source of cells for cell-based therapy of cartilage defects. ADSCs obtained from lipoaspirates have immunosuppressive properties and low immunogenicity (Simona et al. 2020; Huaman et al. 2019). Moreover, they actively secrete trophic factors as part of their paracrine activity that actively contributes to the therapeutic and regenerative potential of the cells in a wide range of applications (Linero and Chaparro 2014; Dabrowski et al. 2017).

Treatment with bioactive factors of BMPs family, such as BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-6, and BMP-7, enhances ADSCs' chondrogenic differentiation (Taipaleenmäki et al. 2008). However, a recent study has reported that BMP-2 outperforms BMP-6 in promoting chondrogenesis using canine adipose tissue-derived MSCs (Teunissen et al. 2021). The authors also reported a direct comparison of canine AD-MSCs with BM-MSCs to demonstrate the former were inferior in chondrogenic differentiation. However, both the cell types expressed common surface markers. An earlier study has reported that this weakness of AD-MSCs may be compensated by higher dose treatment of pro-chondrogenic growth factors to achieve a comparable rate of chondrogenic differentiation rate (Kim and Im, 2009). On the same note, kartogenin

treatment significantly promotes chondrogenic differentiation, suppresses chondrocyte hypertrophy in ADSCs' fibrin scaffold (Valiani et al. 2017), and enhances the expression of chondrocyte redifferentiation markers (Zhang et al. 2021). In another interesting study to enhance their chondrogenic differentiation, ADSCs from adipose were transduced for ectopic expression of Sox-9 with a retroviral vector encoding the Sox-9 gene in vitro. The transduced cells were engineered for the chondrocyte-like cell differentiation by 3D culturing in alginate beads and TGF- β treatment. Ectopic expression significantly increased the chondrogenic potential of the cells (Yang et al. 2011). These studies provide strong evidence that AD-MSCs can be strong candidates for use in the clinical perspective.

PB-MSCs

Peripheral blood (PB) is yet another potential source of chondrostem/progenitor cells that can be used for cartilage repair and regeneration. PB-derived stem/progenitor cells can be obtained by a minimally invasive procedure without general invasiveness and complications associated with MSCs harvesting from many other tissues, such as hemorrhage, chronic pain, neurovascular injury, etc. PB-derived stem/ progenitor cells secrete circulating cytokines, which puts them at par with MSCs from other tissue sources for autologous cell-based therapy. It is generally perceived that PB-derived stem/progenitor cells positively influence MSCs' emigration from the BM. A direct comparison of PB-derived MSCs and BM-MSCs has revealed that the two cell types were similar in their biological characteristics, but the chondrogenic potential of BM-MSCs was superior to PB-MSCs (Lotfy et al. 2019).

Several studies conducted with PB-derived stem/progenitor cells for cartilage repair and regeneration have reported that autologous PB-derived stem/progenitor cells are safe for use in vivo. In a recent study, it has been demonstrated that quality of life improvements measured by WOMAC and KOO scores increased after successful regeneration of articular cartilage during early osteoarthritic disease (Turajane et al. 2013). Cells derived from mobilized peripheral blood showed similar biological characteristics in chondrogenesis as MSCs from the NM. In some studies, PB-derived stem/progenitor cells have shown even better chondrogenic differentiation potential than BM-MSCs in vitro (Fu et al. 2014). Hypoxic culture of PB-derived stem/progenitor cells seeded on HA and collagen scaffolds significantly enhanced the expression of pro-chondrogenic cells in the seeded cells (Bornes et al. 2015).

Scaffolds for Cartilage Treatment

A recent systematic review has shown that cellular scaffolds are undoubtedly more effective than the noncellular scaffolds (Pot et al. 2017). However, the nature of the scaffold material remains a significant determinant of the outcome because the scaffold type and biomaterials in cartilage tissue engineering should provide a suitable and conducive microenvironment mimicking the natural microenvironment in the articular cartilage. This is important for the cells to sustain their biological and differentiation characteristics during culture and post engraftment in the tissue

regeneration process. Therefore, ideal scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering should have the following essential features that include but are not restricted to improved cell attachment behavior, biodegradable, noncytotoxic, biocompatible, highly porous, support proliferation and differentiation, flexible and elastic, and nonantigenic. Currently, matrix materials suitable for chondrocytes can be made using synthetic or natural polymers or both (hybrid scaffolds). Table 3 summarizes natural scaffolds approved for cartilage tissue engineering for medical use, while Table 4 summarizes the synthetic and hybrid scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering.

Commercially available natural polymers, i.e., chitosan, collagen, alginate, silk fibroin, hyaluronan, and gelatin, exhibit excellent tissue compatibility, little toxicity, and facile biodegradation (Jiang et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020). Despite these advantages, however, some of the common drawbacks of natural materials include their weak mechanical properties and unstable degradation rate, which significantly limit their application in cartilage tissue engineering (Xia et al. 2021). To overcome these limitations of the natural polymers, synthetic materials such as polyurethane (PU), polylactic

		Product	
Base	Scaffold	(company)	Properties
Collagen	Bovine type I collagen	NeoCart [®] (Histogenics)	Two-step procedure Expanding chondrocytes into scaffolds Incubation in the tissue engineering processor
	Type I/III	Chondro-Gide (Geistlich)	One-step procedure The first described matrix for the ACI method
	Type I/III	ACI-Maix™ (MACI)	Two-step procedure Expanding chondrocytes into scaffolds Implantation into the patient
	Type I collagen, chondroitin sulfate	NOVOCART [®] 3D—Aesculap Orthopaedics (BBraun)	Two-step procedure A sponge form
	Type I collagen gel	CaReS [®] (Arthrokinetics)	Two-step clinical procedure Mixing of isolated autologous chondrocytes Fluid matrix A fibrin glue
Agarose and alginate	Agarose and alginate	Cartipatch [®] (Xizia Biotech)	Two-step method The cylindrical scaffold of a single layer of hydrogel with expanded cartilage cells
Hyaluronic acid	Benzyl ester of hyaluronic acid	Hyalofast [®] (Anika)	One-step procedure bioresorbable Nonwoven structure
	Hyaluronic acid	CARTISTEM [®] (Medipost)	Allogeneic human umbilical cord blood (hUCB)-derived MSCs and HA hydrogel

Table 3 Natural scaffolds approved for medical use for cartilage tissue engineering

			Source/animal	
Туре	Base	Scaffold	model	Properties
Synthetic	PGA	Chondrotissue [®] (Bio-Tissue)	Platelet-rich plasma and bone marrow concentrate	Provide one-step cartilage repair method
	PU	Spongy PU scaffold	Chondrocytes, human MSC	Biodegradable
	PCL	NSP-PCL scaffold	Rabbit articular chondrocytes	In vitro and in vivo studies results
	PES	Polysulfonic scaffold	Rabbit model and human articular chondrocytes	Effective in repairing articular cartilage defects
	PLLA	PLLA-100 scaffolds	Human articular chondrocytes	Promote the secretion of chondrogenic genes
	PLCL	PLCL-2 scaffold	Rabbit articular chondrocytes and mice model	Maintain mechanical integrity of chondrocyte
Hybrid	PGA, HA	Chondrotissue [®] (Bio-Tissue)	Platelet-rich plasma and BM concentrate	For the one-step cartilage repair method
	PLGA, COL	IC scaffold	Bovine articular chondrocytes (BACs) and mice model	Promote gene expression, chondrocyte proliferation, and regeneration of cartilage tissue with high mechanical properties
	Gelatin, PCEC, TGF_1	Gel/PCEC- TGF_1 hydrogel scaffold	Human adipose tissue (AD)- MSCs	The potential for the growth and differentiation of h-AD-MSCs
	PLCL, COL	PLCL-COLI	Rabbit articular chondrocytes	Controlled structure, good biocompatibility, elasticity, and mechanical properties
	C2C1H scaffold	PLA, COL, CH	Bovine articular cartilage chondrocytes	High porosity, good mechanical strength, and interconnected pore network
	PLGA, ECM	ECM-PLGA scaffold	Rat mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and rat model	Improve attachment, proliferation, and differentiation of the MSCs
	PCL, COL	PCL/COL1	Pig articular chondrocytes and nude mice model	High porosity and repetitive pore structure
	PLLA, CH, PC	CH/PLLA/PC scaffold	Rabbit articular chondrocytes	Suitable for cartilage tissue regeneration

Table 4 Synthetic hybrid scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. (Kreuz et al. 2011; Christensen et al. 2012; Theodoridis et al. 2019a; Tsai et al. 2015)

(continued)

Туре	Base	Scaffold	Source/animal model	Properties
	PLCL, CH	Chitosan- modified PLCL scaffold	Pig articular chondrocytes	Biodegradable, with high porosity, good mechanical strength, and interconnected pore structure
	CSMA, GO MPEG- PCL-AC (PECA)	CSMA/PECA/ GO (S2) scaffold	Rabbit articular chondrocytes	Scaffold with an appropriate structure with biological components

Table 4 (continued)

List of Abbreviations: AC, acryloyl chloride; CH, chitosan; COL, collagen; CS, chondroitin sulfate; CSMA, methacrylated chondroitin sulfate; ECM, extracellular matrix; GO, graphene oxide; HA, hyaluronic acid; PC, pectin-based; PCEC, polycaprolactone-polyethylene glycol; PCL, poly-caprolactone; PDS, poly-p-dioxanone; PECA, poly(ethylene glycol) methyl ether-"-caprolactone-acryloyl chloride PEG—poly(ethylene glycol); PES, polyethersulfone; PGA, poly(glycolic acid); PLA, polylactic acid; PLCL, poly(L-lactide-co-"-caprolactone); PLGA, polylactic-co-glycolic acid; PLLA, poly(L-lactide); PU, polyurethane; SCPL, solvent casting and particulate leaching method

acid (PLA), polycaprolactones (PCL), and poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) with unique properties including plasticity, degradation rate, and mechanical characteristics have been introduced. Synthetic materials allow forming into desired shapes and improved control over mechanical and structural features besides having resorbable properties (Joshi et al. 2012). However, synthetic materials are very costly and have weak cell-adhesive ability (Wei and Dai, 2021). Therefore, in-depth investigations are currently underway to develop hybrid materials such as gelatin/polycaprolactone-polyethylene glycol (Gel/PCEC-TGF1) (Huang et al. 2016; Irawan et al. 2018; Wasyłeczko et al. 2020).

Bioreactors

Currently, the most common types of cartilage tissue bioreactors are the spinner flasks, rotating wall vessels, and perfusion systems, which have been developed in an attempt to provide necessary features, such as enhancing the expansion of seeded cells, promoting the exchange of nutrients and oxygen, and providing appropriate physicochemical stimuli (Mabvuure et al. 2012; Silva Couto et al. 2020). Table 5 summarizes common types of bioreactors for cartilage tissue engineering.

Spinner Flasks

Spinner flask is a cylindrical culture system that can create fluid convection and hydrodynamics to enhance the efficiency of nutrient delivery and seeding of cells in the scaffold that result in chondrogenic differentiation in vitro and subsequent

Type of bioreactor	Cell source	Study design	Results
Spinner flasks (SF)	Chondrocytes	Alginate gel beads with chondrocytes	Improvement of the GAG quantification and relevant gene expression
	hADSCs	Cellular metabolic response to dynamic loading	Enhancing chondrogenic differentiation of hADSCs
Rotating wall vessels (RWVs)	hADSCs	Chitosan/gelatin hybrid hydrogel and subsequent dynamic loading	Enhancing proliferation and matrix secretion
	RCS	Culture of cell pellets	Influence the expression of LRP4/5/6 in chondrocytes
Perfusion bioreactors	hADSCs	D-printed PCL scaffold- seeded cells	Uniform distribution of the cells within the scaffold
(PB)	hBM-MSCs	hBM-MSCs cultured in the perfusion bioreactor	Generated a homogeneous hypertrophic cartilage
Magnetic field bioreactors (MFB)	hBM-MSCs	Scaffold-free hBM-MSCs sheets in response to variable magnetic fields	Did not affect cartilage formation
Ultrasonic bioreactors (USBs)	Chondrocytes	Chondrocyte-seeded scaffolds	Impacted cell proliferation and depth-independent cell population density
	Chondrocytes	Studying the response of cells to ultrasonic stimulation	Influence cell proliferation, viability, and gene expression

 Table 5
 Common types of bioreactors for cartilage tissue engineering

List of Abbreviations: *hAD-MSCs* Human adipose tissue-derived MSCs, *hBM-MSCs* human bone marrow-derived MSCs, *MSCs* mesenchymal stem cells, *PB* perfusion bioreactors, *MFB* magnetic field bioreactors, *RWVs* rotating wall vessels, *SFs* spinner flasks, *USBs* ultrasonic bioreactors

chondrogenic formation in vivo (Mabvuure et al. 2012; Rauh et al. 2011; Yoon et al. 2012).

Rotating Wall Vessels

These vessels consist of a pair of concentric cylinders: rotating outer and inner cylinders that are static and used to exchange gases that create a microgravity environment and provide controlled oxygen transport, as well as low shear forces and turbulence (Nordberg et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2017).

Perfusion Bioreactors

The perfusion bioreactors consist of a pump, culture media reservoir, tubing circuit, and a perfusion cartridge that holds the scaffolds and effectively infuses the medium into the scaffold. Perfusion bioreactors use a pumping system to feed the medium

directly to the scaffolds (Gharravi 2019; Gharravi et al. 2012, 2014, 2016; Pigeot et al. 2020; Sharifi and Gharravi 2019; Theodoridis et al. 2019b).

Magnetic Field Bioreactors

The magnetic field bioreactors (MFB) can meet the requirement of sterile culture conditions by contactless culture. Most of them consist of one group of permanent magnets that influence the behavior of cells through static or dynamic magnetic field strengths (Brady et al. 2014; De Mattei et al. 2004; Dikina et al. 2017; Dobson et al. 2006; Jaberi et al. 2011).

Ultrasonic Bioreactors

Low-intensity continuous ultrasound (US) has been shown to influence cell growth and modulate the expression of chondrocyte-specific genes. The traditional ultrasonic bioreactor (USB) is realized by adding an ultrasonic processing system (Guha Thakurta et al. 2014; Subramanian et al. 2013; Whitney et al. 2012).

Conclusion

None of the currently available methods, microfracture as reparative technique and osteochondral autografts and allografts, in addition to autologous chondrocyte implantation as restorative techniques, can be said not to have any disadvantages. Stem cell-based cartilage tissue engineering is considered the most promising strategy for the complete regeneration of hyaline cartilage. Unfortunately, optimal seed cell and scaffold material have not yet been found. Therefore, searching for new therapeutic methods with a cartilage regenerative potential is a major goal in cartilage sciences in the future. Limitations and advantages of abovementioned methods should be considered when designing a novel protocol or improvement in the existing procedures.

Cross-References

Regenerative Medicine Applied to the Treatment of Musculoskeletal Pathologies

References

Aleksander-Konert E, Paduszyński P, Zajdel A, Dzierżewicz Z, Wilczok A (2016) In vitro chondrogenesis of Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells in hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels. Cell Mol Biol Lett 21:11

- Anderson DE, Williams RJ, DeBerardino TM, Taylor DC, Ma CB, Kane MS, Crawford DC (2017) Magnetic resonance imaging characterization and clinical outcomes after NeoCart surgical therapy as a primary reparative treatment for knee cartilage injuries. Am J Sports Med 45(4): 875–883
- Andrade R, Vasta S, Pereira R, Pereira H, Papalia R, Karahan M, Oliveira JM et al (2016) Knee donor-site morbidity after mosaicplasty a systematic review. J Exp Orthop 3(1):31
- Ansah P, Vogt S, Ueblacker P, Martinek V, Woertler K, Imhoff AB (2007) Osteochondral transplantation to treat osteochondral lesions in the elbow. J Bone Joint Surg Am 89(10):2188–2194. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.F.00299
- Araki S, Imai S, Ishigaki H, Mimura T, Nishizawa K, Ueba H, Kumagai K et al (2015) Improved quality of cartilage repair by bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of an osteochondral defect in a cynomolgus macaque model. Acta Orthop 86(1):119–126. https:// doi.org/10.3109/17453674.2014.958807
- Armoiry X, Cummins E, Connock M, Metcalfe A, Royle P, Johnston R, Rodrigues J et al (2019) Autologous chondrocyte implantation with chondrosphere for treating articular cartilage defects in the knee: an evidence review group perspective of a NICE single technology appraisal. PharmacoEconomics 37(7):879–886
- Athanasiou KA, Darling EM, Hu JC (2010) Articular cartilage tissue engineering. Morgan & Claypool
- Azam A, Forster M, Robertson A (2018) Clinical and radiological outcome for Trufit Plug in the treatment of chondral and osteochondral lesions at a minimum of 2 years. J Orthop 15(1):47–51
- Bami M, Sarlikiotis M, Milonaki M, Koulalis D, Johnson EO, Soucacos PN et al (2020) Superiority of synovial membrane mesenchymal stem cells in chondrogenesis, osteogenesis, myogenesis and tenogenesis in a rabbit model. Injury 51(12):2855–2865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury. 2020.03.022
- Barber FA, Dockery WD (2011) A computed tomography scan assessment of synthetic multiphase polymer scaffolds used for osteochondral defect repair. Arthroscopy 27(1):60–64
- Bartlett W, Skinner JA, Gooding CR, Carrington RWJ, Flanagan AM, Briggs TWR, Bentley G (2005) Autologous chondrocyte implantation versus matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation for osteochondral defects of the knee. A prospective, randomised study. J Bone Joint Surg – Ser B 87(5):640–645
- Basad E, Ishaque B, Bachmann G, Stürz H, Steinmeyer J (2010) Matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation versus microfracture in the treatment of cartilage defects of the knee: a 2-year randomised study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 18(4):519–527
- Becher C, Laute V, Fickert S, Zinser W, Niemeyer P, John T, Diehl P et al (2017) Safety of three different product doses in autologous chondrocyte implantation: results of a prospective, randomised, controlled trial. J Orthop Surg Res 12(1):71
- Benthien JP, Schwaninger M, Behrens P (2011) We do not have evidence based methods for the treatment of cartilage defects in the knee. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 19(4):543–552
- Berninger MT, Wexel G, Rummeny EJ, Imhoff AB, Anton M, Henning TD, Vogt S (2013) Treatment of osteochondral defects in the rabbit's knee joint by implantation of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in fibrin clots. J Vis Exp 75:e4423. https://doi.org/10.3791/4423
- Berruto M, Delcogliano M, de Caro F, Carimati G, Uboldi F, Ferrua P, Ziveri G et al (2014) Treatment of large knee osteochondral lesions with a biomimetic scaffold: results of a multicenter study of 49 patients at 2-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med 42(7):1607–1617
- Bian L, Zhai DY, Tous E, Rai R, Mauck RL, Burdick JA (2011) Enhanced MSC chondrogenesis following delivery of TGF-b3 from alginate microspheres within hyaluronic acid hydrogels in vitro and in vivo. Biomaterials 32: 6425–6434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011. 05.03
- Bianco P, Robey PG (2015) Skeletal stem cells. Development (Cambridge) 142(6):1023-1027
- Bornes TD, Jomha NM, Mulet-Sierra A, Adesida AB (2015) Hypoxic culture of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal stem cells differentially enhances in vitro chondrogenesis within cell-seeded collagen and hyaluronic acid porous scaffolds. Stem Cell Res Ther 6(1):84. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-015-0075-4

- Brady MA, Vaze R, Amin HD, Overby DR, Ethier CR (2014) The design and development of a high-throughput magneto-mechanostimulation device for cartilage tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 20(2):149–159
- Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L (1994) Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med 331(14):889–895
- Bugelli G, Ascione F, Dell'Osso G, Zampa V, Giannotti S (2018) Biphasic bioresorbable scaffold (TruFit([®])) in knee osteochondral defects: 3-T MRI evaluation of osteointegration in patients with a 5-year minimum follow-up. Musculoskelet Surg 102(2):191–199
- Caplan AI, Correa D (2011) The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell 9(1):11-15
- Carreira AC, Zambuzzi WF, Rossi MC, Astorino Filho R, Sogayar MC, Granjeiro JM (2015) Bone morphogenetic proteins: promising molecules for bone healing, bioengineering, and regenerative medicine. Vitam Horm 99:293–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.vh.2015.06.002
- Christensen BB, Foldager CB, Hansen OM, Kristiansen AA, Le DQ, Nielsen AD, Nygaard JV et al (2012) A novel nano-structured porous polycaprolactone scaffold improves hyaline cartilage repair in a rabbit model compared to a collagen type I/III scaffold: in vitro and in vivo studies. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 20(6):1192–1204
- Christensen BB, Olesen ML, Hede KTC (2020) Particulated cartilage for chondral and osteochondral repair: a review. Cartilage 13:1947603520904757
- Clark JM (1990) The organisation of collagen fibrils in the superficial zones of articular cartilage. J Anat 171:117–130
- Cole BJ, Farr J, Winalski CS, Hosea T, Richmond J, Mandelbaum B, De Deyne PG (2011) Outcomes after a single-stage procedure for cell-based cartilage repair: a prospective clinical safety trial with 2-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med 39(6):1170–1179
- Cook JL, Stoker AM, Stannard JP, Kuroki K, Cook CR, Pfeiffer FM, Bozynski C et al (2014) A novel system improves preservation of osteochondral allografts. Clin Orthop Relat Res 472(11): 3404–3414
- Crawford DC, DeBerardino TM, Williams Iii RJ (2012) NeoCart, an autologous cartilage tissue implant, compared with microfracture for treatment of distal femoral cartilage lesions: an FDA phase-II prospective, randomized clinical trial after two years. J Bone Joint Surg Ser A 94(11): 979–989
- Cugat R, Samitier G, Vinagre G, Sava M, Alentorn-Geli E, García-Balletbó M, Cuscó X (2021) Particulated autologous chondral—platelet-rich plasma matrix implantation (PACI) for treatment of full-thickness cartilage osteochondral defects. Arthrosc Tech 10(2):e539–e544. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eats.2020.10.038
- D'Ambrosi R, Valli F, De Luca P, Ursino N, Usuelli FG (2019) MaioRegen osteochondral substitute for the treatment of knee defects: a systematic review of the literature. J Clin Med 8(6):783
- Dabrowski FA, Burdzinska A, Kulesza A, Sladowska A, Zolocinska A, Gala K, Paczek L et al (2017) Comparison of the paracrine activity of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human umbilical cord, amniotic membrane and adipose tissue. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 43(11): 1758–1768. https://doi.org/10.1111/jog.13432
- Darling EM, Athanasiou KA (2003) Articular cartilage bioreactors and bioprocesses. Tissue Eng 9(1):9–26
- De Mattei M, Pellati A, Pasello M, Ongaro A, Setti S, Massari L, Gemmati D et al (2004) Effects of physical stimulation with electromagnetic field and insulin growth factor-I treatment on proteoglycan synthesis of bovine articular cartilage. Osteoarthr Cartil 12(10):793–800
- de Sousa EB, Aguiar DP, Barcelos JFM, Duarte MEL, Olej B (2015) Approaches to preserve human osteochondral allografts. Cell Tissue Bank 16(3):425–431
- Deshmukh K, Nimni ME (1973) Isolation and characterization of cyanogen bromide peptides from the collagen of bovine articular cartilage. Biochem J 133(4):615–622
- Dikina AD, Lai BP, Cao M, Zborowski M, Alsberg E (2017) Magnetic field application or mechanical stimulation: via magnetic microparticles does not enhance chondrogenesis in mesenchymal stem cell sheets. Biomater Sci 5(7):1241–1245

- Dobson J, Cartmell SH, Keramane A, El Haj AJ (2006) Principles and design of a novel magnetic force mechanical conditioning bioreactor for tissue engineering, stem cell conditioning, and dynamic in vitro screening. IEEE Trans Nanobioscience 5(3):173–177
- Esposito M, Lucariello A, Costanzo C, Fiumarella A, Giannini A, Riccardi G, Riccio I (2013) Differentiation of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells, WJ-MSCs, into chondrogenic cells in the presence of pulsed electromagnetic fields. In Vivo 27(4):495–500
- Eyre DR, Wu JJ (1995) Collagen structure and cartilage matrix integrity. J Rheumatol 22:82-85
- Fan W, Yuan L, Li J, Wang Z, Chen J, Guo C, Mo X, Yan Z (2020) Injectable double-crosslinked hydrogels with kartogenin-conjugated polyurethane nano-particles and transforming growth factor β3 for in-situ cartilage regeneration. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 110:110705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2020.110705
- Farr J, Tabet SK, Margerrison E, Cole BJ (2014) Clinical, radiographic, and histological outcomes after cartilage repair with particulated juvenile articular cartilage: a 2-year prospective study. Am J Sports Med 42(6):1417–1425
- Fortier LA, Strauss EJ, McCarrel TM, Cole BJ (2011) The role of growth factors in cartilage repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res 469:2706–2715. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11999-011-1857-3
- Frisbie DD, Stewart MC (2011) Cell-based therapies for equine joint disease. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract 27(2):335–349
- Fu WL, Zhou CY, Yu JK (2014) A new source of mesenchymal stem cells for articular cartilage repair: MSCs derived from mobilized peripheral blood share similar biological characteristics in vitro and chondrogenesis in vivo as MSCs from bone marrow in a rabbit model. Am J Sports Med 42(3):592–601
- Galperin A, Oldinski RA, Florczyk SJ, Bryers JD, Zhang M, Ratner BD (2013) Integrated bi-layered scaffold for osteochondral tissue engineering. Adv Healthc Mater 2(6):872–883
- Gao W, Lin M, Liang A, Zhang L, Chen C, Liang G, Xu C et al (2014) Melatonin enhances chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Pineal Res 56(1):62–70
- Gharravi AM (2019) Encapsulated explant in novel low shear perfusion bioreactor improve cell isolation, expansion and colony forming unit. Cell Tissue Bank 20(1):25–34
- Gharravi AM, Orazizadeh M, Ansari-Asl K, Banoni S, Izadi S, Hashemitabar M (2012) Design and fabrication of anatomical bioreactor systems containing alginate scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Avicenna J Med Biotechnol 4(2):65–74
- Gharravi AM, Orazizadeh M, Hashemitabar M (2014) Direct expansion of chondrocytes in a dynamic three-dimensional culture system: overcoming dedifferentiation effects in monolayer culture. Artif Organs 38(12):1053–1058
- Gharravi AM, Orazizadeh M, Hashemitabar M (2016) Fluid-induced low shear stress improves cartilage like tissue fabrication by encapsulating chondrocytes. Cell Tissue Bank 17(1): 117–122
- Giannoni P, Pagano A, Maggi E, Arbicò R, Randazzo N, Grandizio M, Cancedda R et al (2005) Autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) for aged patients: development of the proper cell expansion conditions for possible therapeutic applications. Osteoarthr Cartil 13(7):589–600
- Granados-Montiel J, Cruz-Lemini M (2021) SERPINA9 and SERPINB2: novel cartilage lineage differentiation markers of human mesenchymal stem cells with kartogenin. Cartilage 12(1): 102–111
- Gudas R, Kalesinskas RJ, Kimtys V, Stankevicius E, Toliusis V, Bernotavicius G, Smailys A (2005) A prospective randomized clinical study of mosaic osteochondral autologous transplantation versus microfracture for the treatment of osteochondral defects in the knee joint in young athletes. Arthroscopy 21(9):1066–1075
- Guha Thakurta S, Kraft M, Viljoen HJ, Subramanian A (2014) Enhanced depth-independent chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype maintenance in an ultrasound bioreactor and an assessment of ultrasound dampening in the scaffold. Acta Biomater 10(11):4798–4810
- Guilak F, Setton LA, Kraus VB (2000) Structure and function of articular cartilage. In: Garrett WE et al (eds) Principles and practice of orthopaedic sports medicine. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia
- Hagmann S, Moradi B, Frank S, Dreher T, Kämmerer PW, Richter W, Gotterbarm T (2013) FGF-2 addition during expansion of human bone marrow-derived stromal cells alters MSC surface marker distribution and chondrogenic differentiation potential. Cell Prolif 46(4):396–407
- Haider KH (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the quality matters. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7:6
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) "Mircrining" the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:Article 23, 1–12
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow stem cell transplantation for cardiac repair. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 288:2557–2567
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Husnain Haider Kh, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & Life Sciences, De Gruyter, Geithner Straße13- 10785, Berlin. (Published, 2018)
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circul Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Lee Y-J, Jiang S, Ahmad RPH, Ahn MR, Ashraf M (2010) Phosphodiesterase inhibition with tadalafil provides longer and sustained protection of stem cells. Am J Physiol Heart Lung Physiol 299:H1395–HH404
- Hangody L, Füles P (2003) Autologous osteochondral mosaicplasty for the treatment of fullthickness defects of weight-bearing joints: ten years of experimental and clinical experience. J Bone Joint Surg Am 85-A(Suppl 2):25–32
- Hardingham TE, Fosang AJ, Dudhia J (1994) The structure, function and turnover of Aggrecan, the large aggregating proteoglycan from cartilage. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 32(4):249–257
- Harrell CR, Markovic BS, Fellabaum C, Arsenijevic A, Volarevic V (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy of osteoarthritis: current knowledge and future perspectives. Biomed Pharmacother 109:2318–2326
- Hou W, Zhang D, Feng X, Zhou Y (2020) Low magnitude high frequency vibration promotes chondrogenic differentiation of bone marrow stem cells with involvement of β -catenin signaling pathway. Arch Oral Biol 118:104860
- Hu C, Li L (2019) Melatonin plays critical role in mesenchymal stem cell-based regenerative medicine in vitro and in vivo. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):13
- Huaman O, Bahamonde J, Cahuascanco B, Jervis M, Palomino J, Torres CG, Peralta OA (2019) Immunomodulatory and immunogenic properties of mesenchymal stem cells derived from bovine fetal bone marrow and adipose tissue. Res Vet Sci 124:212–222. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.rvsc.2019.03.017
- Huang BJ, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA (2016) Cell-based tissue engineering strategies used in the clinical repair of articular cartilage. Biomaterials 98:1–22
- Huang K, Li Q, Li Y, Yao Z, Luo D, Rao P, Xiao J (2018a) Cartilage tissue regeneration: the roles of cells, stimulating factors and scaffolds. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 13(7):547–567. https://doi.org/ 10.2174/1574888X12666170608080722
- Huang X, Das R, Patel A, Nguyen TD (2018b) Physical stimulations for bone and cartilage regeneration. Regen Eng Transl Med 4(4):216–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40883-018-0064-0
- Irawan V, Sung TC, Higuchi A, Ikoma T (2018) Collagen scaffolds in cartilage tissue engineering and relevant approaches for future development. Tissue Eng Regen Med 15(6):673–697
- Jaberi FM, Keshtgar S, Tavakkoli A, Pishva E, Geramizadeh B, Tanideh N, Jaberi MM (2011) A moderate-intensity static magnetic field enhances repair of cartilage damage in rabbits. Arch Med Res 42(4):268–273
- Jeong SA, Kim DH, Ha J, Jin HJ, Kwon SJ, Chang JW, Choi SJ et al (2013) Thrombospondin-2 secreted by human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells promotes chondrogenic differentiation. Stem Cells 31(10):2136–2148. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1471

- Jeong SY, Ha J, Lee M, Jin HJ, Kim DH, Choi SJ, Oh W et al (2015) Autocrine action of Thrombospondin-2 determines the chondrogenic differentiation potential and suppresses hypertrophic maturation of human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 33(11):3291–3303
- Jiang S, Guo W, Tian G, Luo X, Peng L, Liu S, Sui X et al (2020) Clinical application status of articular cartilage regeneration techniques: tissue-engineered cartilage brings new Hope. Stem Cells Int 2020:5690252
- Jin HJ, Bae YK, Kim M, Kwon SJ, Jeon HB, Choi SJ, Kim SW et al (2013) Comparative analysis of human mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord blood as sources of cell therapy. Int J Mol Sci 14(9):17986–18001. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140917986
- Jing H, Zhang X, Gao M, Luo K, Fu W, Yin M, Wang W et al (2019) Kartogenin preconditioning commits mesenchymal stem cells to a precartilaginous stage with enhanced chondrogenic potential by modulating JNK and β-catenin-related pathways. FASEB J 33(4):5641–5653
- Joshi N, Reverte-Vinaixa M, Díaz-Ferreiro EW, Domínguez-Oronoz R (2012) Synthetic resorbable scaffolds for the treatment of isolated patellofemoral cartilage defects in young patients: magnetic resonance imaging and clinical evaluation. Am J Sports Med 40(6):1289–1295. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546512441585
- Jung M, Kaszap B, Redöhl A, Steck E, Breusch S, Richter W, Gotterbarm T (2009) Enhanced early tissue regeneration after matrix-assisted autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in full thickness chondral defects in a minipig model. Cell Transplant 18(8):923–932. https://doi. org/10.3727/096368909X471297
- Kendrick T, Bridget Z, Karl R, Christopher M, Wasim K (2019) Synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in cartilage regeneration: a PRISMA review of in vivo studies. Front Bioeng Biotech 7:314. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00314
- Kim HJ, Im GI (2009) Chondrogenic differentiation of adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells: greater doses of growth factor are necessary. J Orthop Res 27(5):612–619. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jor.20766
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim JE, Lee SM, Kim SH, Tatman P, Gee AO, Kim DH, Lee KE et al (2014) Effect of selfassembled peptide-mesenchymal stem cell complex on the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model. Int J Nanomedicine 9(Suppl 1):141–157
- Kino-oka M, Maeda Y, Sato Y, Maruyama N, Takezawa Y, Khoshfetrat AB, Sugawara K et al (2009) Morphological evaluation of chondrogenic potency in passaged cell populations. J Biosci Bioeng 107(5):544–551
- Knutsen G, Drogset JO, Engebretsen L, Grøntvedt T, Isaksen V, Ludvigsen TC, Roberts S et al (2007) A randomized trial comparing autologous chondrocyte implantation with microfracture. Findings at five years. J Bone Joint Surg Am 89(10):2105–2112
- Kraeutler MJ, Aliberti GM, Scillia AJ, McCarty EC, Mulcahey MK (2020) Microfracture versus drilling of articular cartilage defects: a systematic review of the basic science evidence. Orthop J Sports Med 8(8):2325967120945313
- Kreuz PC, Müller S, Freymann U, Erggelet C, Niemeyer P, Kaps C, Hirschmüller A (2011) Repair of focal cartilage defects with scaffold-assisted autologous chondrocyte grafts: clinical and biomechanical results 48 months after transplantation. Am J Sports Med 39(8):1697–1705
- La Rocca G, Lo Iacono M, Corsello T, Corrao S, Farina F, Anzalone R (2013) Human Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells maintain the expression of key immunomodulatory molecules when subjected to osteogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic differentiation in vitro: new perspectives for cellular therapy. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):100–113
- Langer F, Gross AE (1974) Immunogenicity of allograft articular cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg Ser A 56(2):297–304
- Le H, Xu W, Zhuang X, Chang F, Wang Y, Ding J (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells for cartilage regeneration. J Tissue Eng 11:2041731420943839. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041731420943839

- Lee KBL, Hui JHP, Im CS, Ardany L, Eng HL (2007) Injectable mesenchymal stem cell therapy for large cartilage defects – a porcine model. Stem Cells 25(11):2964–2971
- Li X, Wei G, Wang X, Liu DH, Deng RD, Li H, Zhou JH et al (2012) Targeting of the Sonic Hedgehog pathway by atractylenolides promotes chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Biol Pharm Bull 35(8):1328–1335
- Li M, Luo X, Lv X, Liu V, Zhao G, Zhang X, Cao W et al (2016) In vivo human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell tracking after intra-articular delivery in a rat osteoarthritis model. Stem Cell Res Ther 7(1):1–13
- Li L, Yuan Y, Youhai D (2017) Comparison of stemness and immunogenicity of osteo-differentiated mesenchymal stem cells derived from rabbit bone marrow and Wharton's jelly. J Biomater Tissue Eng 7(12):1326–1335. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbt.2017.1690
- Li L, Duan X, Fan Z, Chen L, Xing F, Xu Z, Chen Q et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells in combination with hyaluronic acid for articular cartilage defects. Sci Rep 8(1):1
- Li N, Gao J, Mi L, Zhang G, Zhang L, Zhang N, Huo R et al (2020) Synovial membrane mesenchymal stem cells: past life, current situation, and application in bone and joint diseases. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:381. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01885-3
- Linero I, Chaparro O (2014) Paracrine effect of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human adipose tissue in bone regeneration. PLoS One 9(9):e107001. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0107001
- Lotfy A, El-Sherbiny YM, Cuthbert R, Jones E, Badawy A (2019) Comparative study of biological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from mouse bone marrow and peripheral blood. Biomed Rep 11:165–170
- Lu Y, Dhanaraj S, Wang Z, Bradley DM, Bowman SM, Cole BJ, Binette F (2006) Minced cartilage without cell culture serves as an effective intraoperative cell source for cartilage repair. J Orthop Res 24(6):1261–1270
- Ma Q, Liao J, Cai X (2018) Different sources of stem cells and their application in cartilage tissue engineering. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 13(7):568–575. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888X13666180122151909
- Mabvuure N, Hindocha S, Khan WS (2012) The role of bioreactors in cartilage tissue engineering. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 7(4):287–292
- Mankin HJ, Gebhardt MC, Tomford WW (1987) The use of frozen cadaveric allografts in the management of patients with bone tumors of the extremities. Orthop Clin N Am 18(2):275–289
- Marino L, Castaldi MA, Rosamilio R, Ragni E, Vitolo R, Fulgione C, Castaldi SG et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells from the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord: biological properties and therapeutic potential. Int J Stem Cells 12(2):218–226. https://doi.org/10.15283/ ijsc18034
- McCulloch PC, Kang RW, Sobhy MH, Hayden JK, Cole BJ (2007) Prospective evaluation of prolonged fresh osteochondral allograft transplantation of the femoral condyle: minimum 2-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med 35(3):411–420
- McNickle AG, L'Heureux DR, Yanke AB, Cole BJ (2009) Outcomes of autologous chondrocyte implantation in a diverse patient population. Am J Sports Med 37(7):1344–1350
- Mistry H, Metcalfe A, Smith N, Loveman E, Colquitt J, Royle P, Waugh N (2019) The costeffectiveness of osteochondral allograft transplantation in the knee. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 27(6):1739–1753. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-019-05392-8
- Mithoefer K, Williams RJ 3rd, Warren RF, Potter HG, Spock CR, Jones EC, Wickiewicz TL et al (2006) Chondral resurfacing of articular cartilage defects in the knee with the microfracture technique. Surgical technique. J Bone Joint Surg Am 88(Suppl 1 Pt 2):294–304
- Nehrer S, Dorotka R, Domayer S, Stelzeneder D, Kotz R (2009) Treatment of full-thickness chondral defects with Hyalograft C in the knee: a prospective clinical case series with 2 to 7 years' follow-up. Am J Sports Med 37(1_Suppl):81S–87S
- Nejadnik H, Hui JH, Choong EPF, Tai BC, Eng HL (2010) Autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells versus autologous chondrocyte implantation: an observational cohort study. Am J Sports Med 38(6):1110–1116

- Neybecker P, Henrionnet C, Pape E, Grossin L, Mainard D, Galois L, Loeuille D et al (2020) Respective stemness and chondrogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human bone marrow, synovial membrane, and synovial fluid. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:316. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01786-5
- Ng F, Boucher S, Koh S, Sastry KS, Chase L, Lakshmipathy U, Choong C et al (2008) PDGF, TGF-beta, and FGF signaling is important for differentiation and growth of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs): transcriptional profiling can identify markers and signaling pathways important in differentiation of MSCs into adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic lineages. Blood 112(2): 295–307
- Niethammer TR, Holzgruber M, Gülecyüz MF, Weber P, Pietschmann MF, Müller PE (2017) Matrix based autologous chondrocyte implantation in children and adolescents: a match paired analysis in a follow-up over three years post-operation. Int Orthop 41(2):343–350
- Nordberg RC, Mellor LF, Krause AR, Donahue HJ, Loboa EG (2019) LRP receptors in chondrocytes are modulated by simulated microgravity and cyclic hydrostatic pressure. PLoS One 14(10):e0223245
- Nuelle CW, Nuelle JA, Cook JL, Stannard JP (2017) Patient factors, donor age, and graft storage duration affect osteochondral allograft outcomes in knees with or without comorbidities. J Knee Surg 30(2):179–184
- Ossendorf C, Kaps C, Kreuz PC, Burmester GR, Sittinger M, Erggelet C (2007) Treatment of posttraumatic and focal osteoarthritic cartilage defects of the knee with autologous polymerbased three-dimensional chondrocyte grafts: 2-year clinical results. Arthritis Res Ther 9:1
- Park Y, Sugimoto M, Watrin A, Chiquet M, Hunziker EB (2005) BMP-2 induces the expression of chondrocyte-specific genes in bovine synovium-derived progenitor cells cultured in threedimensional alginate hydrogel. Osteoarthr Cartil 13(6):527–536
- Park MS, Kim YH, Jung Y, Kim SH, Park JC, Yoon DS, Kim SH et al (2015) In situ recruitment of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells using chemokines for articular cartilage regeneration. Cell Transplant 24(6):1067–1083
- Park YB, Ha CW, Lee CH, Park YG (2017) Restoration of a large osteochondral defect of the knee using a composite of umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells and hyaluronic acid hydrogel: a case report with a 5-year follow-up. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 18(1):59
- Park IS, Jin RL, Oh HJ, Truong MD, Choi BH, Park SH, Park DY et al (2019) Sizable scaffold-free tissue-engineered articular cartilage construct for cartilage defect repair. Artif Organs 43(3): 278–287
- Patel JM, Saleh KS, Burdick JA, Mauck RL (2019) Bioactive factors for cartilage repair and regeneration: improving delivery, retention, and activity. Acta Biomater 93:222–238. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.01.061
- Peterson L, Minas T, Brittberg M, Nilsson A, Sjögren-Jansson E, Lindahl A (2000) Two-to 9-year outcome after autologous chondrocyte transplantation of the knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res 374: 212–234
- Peterson L, Brittberg M, Kiviranta I, Åkerlund EL, Lindahl A (2002) Autologous chondrocyte transplantation: biomechanics and long-term durability. Am J Sports Med 30(1):2–12
- Pigeot S, Bourgine PE, Claude J, Scotti C, Papadimitropoulos A, Todorov A, Epple C et al (2020) Orthotopic bone formation by streamlined engineering and devitalization of human hypertrophic cartilage. Int J Mol Sci 21(19):1–14
- Polat G, Erşen A, Erdil ME, Kızılkurt T, Kılıçoğlu Ö, Aşık M (2016) Long-term results of microfracture in the treatment of talus osteochondral lesions. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 24(4):1299–1303
- Pot MW, van Kuppevelt TH, Gonzales VK, Buma P, IntHout J, de Vries RBM, Daamen WF (2017) Augmented cartilage regeneration by implantation of cellular versus acellular implants after bone marrow stimulation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of animal studies. PeerJ 5: e3927. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3927
- Rauh J, Milan F, Günther KP, Stiehler M (2011) Bioreactor systems for bone tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 17(4):263–280

- Riboh JC, Cole BJ, Farr J (2015) Particulated articular cartilage for symptomatic chondral defects of the knee. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 8(4):429–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-015-9300-0
- Rogers BA, David LA, Briggs TWR (2010) Sequential outcome following autologous chondrocyte implantation of the knee: a six-year follow-up. Int Orthop 34(7):959–964
- Scarfi S (2016) Use of bone morphogenetic proteins in mesenchymal stem cell stimulation of cartilage and bone repair. World J Stem Cells 8(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v8.i1.1
- Schneider U, Rackwitz L, Andereya S, Siebenlist S, Fensky F, Reichert J, Löer I et al (2011) A prospective multicenter study on the outcome of type i collagen hydrogel-based autologous chondrocyte implantation (cares) for the repair of articular cartilage defects in the knee. Am J Sports Med 39(12):2558–2565
- Schüttler KF, Götschenberg A, Klasan A, Stein T, Pehl A, Roessler PP, Figiel J et al (2019) Cell-free cartilage repair in large defects of the knee: increased failure rate 5 years after implantation of a collagen type I scaffold. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 139(1):99–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00402-018-3028-4
- Sharifi N, Gharravi AM (2019) Shear bioreactors stimulating chondrocyte regeneration, a systematic review. Inflamm Regen 39:16
- Sherman SL, Thyssen E, Nuelle CW (2017) Osteochondral autologous transplantation. Clin Sports Med 36(3):489–500
- Shimozono Y, Hurley ET, Myerson CL, Kennedy JG (2018) Good clinical and functional outcomes at mid-term following autologous osteochondral transplantation for osteochondral lesions of the talus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 26(10):3055–3062
- Shirasawa S, Sekiya I, Sakaguchi Y, Yagishita K, Ichinose S, Muneta T (2006) In vitro chondrogenesis of human synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells: optimal condition and comparison with bone marrow-derived cells. J Cell Biochem 97(1):84–97
- Silva Couto P, Rotondi MC, Bersenev A, Hewitt CJ, Nienow AW, Verter F, Rafiq QA (2020) Expansion of human mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (hMSCs) in bioreactors using microcarriers: lessons learnt and what the future holds. Biotechnol Adv 45, 107636. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107636
- Simona Č, Paola P, Eleni A, Claudio N, Cinzia M (2020) Immunomodulatory effect of adiposederived stem cells: the cutting edge of clinical application. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:236. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00236
- Steinwachs M, Kreuz PC (2007) Autologous chondrocyte implantation in chondral defects of the knee with a type I/III collagen membrane: a prospective study with a 3-year follow-up. Arthroscopy 23(4):381–387
- Subramanian A, Turner JA, Budhiraja G, Thakurta SG, Whitney NP, Nudurupati SS (2013) Ultrasonic bioreactor as a platform for studying cellular response. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 19(3):244–255
- Taipaleenmäki H, Suomi S, Hentunen T, Laitala-Leinonen T, Säämänen AM (2008) Impact of stromal cell composition on BMP-induced chondrogenic differentiation of mouse bone marrow derived mesenchymal cells. Exp Cell Res 314(13):2400–2410
- Taşkiran E, Ozçelik C (2007) Autologous osteochondral transplantation. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 41(Suppl 2):70–78
- Teunissen M, Verseijden F, Riemers FM, van Osch GJVM, Tryfonidou MA (2021) The lower in vitro chondrogenic potential of canine adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) compared to bone marrow-derived MSC is not improved by BMP-2 or BMP-6. Vet J 269:105605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2020.105605
- Theodoridis K, Aggelidou E, Manthou M, Demiri E, Bakopoulou A, Kritis A (2019a) Assessment of cartilage regeneration on 3D collagen-polycaprolactone scaffolds: evaluation of growth media in static and in perfusion bioreactor dynamic culture. Colloids Surf B: Biointerfaces 183:110403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.110403
- Theodoridis K, Aggelidou E, Vavilis T, Manthou ME, Tsimponis A, Demiri EC, Boukla A et al (2019b) Hyaline cartilage next generation implants from adipose-tissue-derived mesenchymal

stem cells: comparative study on 3D-printed polycaprolactone scaffold patterns. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 13(2):342–355

- Tompkins M, Hamann JC, Diduch DR, Bonner KF, Hart JM, Gwathmey FW, Milewski MD et al (2013) Preliminary results of a novel single-stage cartilage restoration technique: particulated juvenile articular cartilage allograft for chondral defects of the patella. Arthroscopy 29(10): 1661–1670
- Tsai MC, Hung KC, Hung SC, Hsu SH (2015) Evaluation of biodegradable elastic scaffolds made of anionic polyurethane for cartilage tissue engineering. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 125: 34–44
- Tuli R, Tuli S, Nandi S, Huang X, Manner PA, Hozack WJ, Danielson KG et al (2003) Transforming growth factor-beta-mediated chondrogenesis of human mesenchymal progenitor cells involves N-cadherin and mitogen-activated protein kinase and Wnt signaling cross-talk. J Biol Chem 278(42):41227–41236
- Turajane T, Chaweewannakorn U, Larbpaiboonpong V, Aojanepong J, Thitiset T, Honsawek S, Fongsarun J et al (2013) Combination of intra-articular autologous activated peripheral blood stem cells with growth factor addition/preservation and hyaluronic acid in conjunction with arthroscopic microdrilling mesenchymal cell stimulation improves quality of life and regenerates articular cartilage in early osteoarthritic knee disease. J Med Assoc Thail 96(5):580–588
- Valiani A, Izadi MA, Bahramian H, Esfandiari E, Hashemibeni B (2017) Comparison between the effect of kartogenin and TGFβ3 on chondrogenesis of human adipose- derived stem cells in fibrin scaffold. Bratisl Lek Listy 118(10):591–597
- Varghese S, Hwang NS, Canver AC, Theprungsirikul P, Lin DW, Elisseeff J (2008) Chondroitin sulfate based niches for chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Matrix Biol 27(1):12–21
- Vogt S, Siebenlist S, Hensler D, Weigelt L, Ansah P, Woertler K, Imhoff AB (2011) Osteochondral transplantation in the elbow leads to good clinical and radiologic long-term results: an 8- to 14-year follow-up examination. Am J Sports Med 39(12):2619–2625. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0363546511420127
- Voisin C, Cauchois G, Reppel L, Laroye C, Louarn L, Schenowitz C, Sonon P et al (2020) Are the immune properties of mesenchymal stem cells from Wharton's jelly maintained during chondrogenic differentiation? J Clin Med 9(2):423. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9020423
- Wakitani S, Nawata M, Tensho K, Okabe T, Machida H, Ohgushi H (2007) Repair of articular cartilage defects in the patello-femoral joint with autologous bone marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation: three case reports involving nine defects in five knees. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 1(1):74–79
- Wasyłeczko M, Sikorska W, Chwojnowski A (2020) Review of synthetic and hybrid scaffolds in cartilage tissue engineering. Membranes 10(11):348. https://doi.org/10.3390/ membranes10110348
- Wei W, Dai H (2021) Articular cartilage and osteochondral tissue engineering techniques: recent advances and challenges. Bioact Mater 6(12):4830–4855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat. 2021.05.011
- Wei W, Ma Y, Yao X, Zhou W, Wang X, Li C, Lin J et al (2021) Advanced hydrogels for the repair of cartilage defects and regeneration. Bioactive Mater 6(4):998–1011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioactmat.2020.09.030
- Weigelt L, Siebenlist S, Hensler D, Imhoff AB, Vogt S (2015) Treatment of osteochondral lesions in the elbow: results after autologous osteochondral transplantation. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 135(5):627–634. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00402-015-2204-z
- Whitney NP, Lamb AC, Louw TM, Subramanian A (2012) Integrin-mediated mechanotransduction pathway of low-intensity continuous ultrasound in human chondrocytes. Ultrasound Med Biol 38(10):1734–1743
- Wixted CM, Dekker TJ, Adams SB (2020) Particulated juvenile articular cartilage allograft transplantation for osteochondral lesions of the knee and ankle. Expert Rev Med Devices 17(3):235–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/17434440.2020.1733973

- Wu W, Billinghurst RC, Pidox I, Antoniou J, Zukor D, Tanzer M, Poole AR (2002) Sites of collagenase cleavage and denaturation of type II collagen in aging and osteoarthritic articular cartilage and their relationship to the distribution of matrix metalloproteinase 1 and matrix metalloproteinase 13. Arthritis Rheum 46(8):2087–2094
- Xia Z, Hu DA, Di W, Fang H, Hao W, Linjuan H, Deyao S et al (2021) Applications of biocompatible scaffold materials in stem cell-based cartilage tissue engineering. Front Bioeng Biotech 9:141. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2021.603444
- Xie Y, Liu X, Wang S, Wang M, Wang G (2019) Proper mechanical stimulation improve the chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells: improve the viscoelasticity and chondrogenic phenotype. Biomed Pharmacother 115:108935
- Xu T, Wu M, Feng J, Lin X, Gu Z (2012) RhoA/Rho kinase signaling regulates transforming growth factor-β1-induced chondrogenesis and actin organization of synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells through interaction with the Smad pathway. Int J Mol Med 30(5):1119–1125
- Yamashita F, Sakakida K, Suzu F, Takai S (1985) The transplantation of an autogenetic osteochondral fragment for osteochondritis dissecans of the knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res 201: 43–50
- Yamashita A, Morioka M, Yahara Y, Okada M, Kobayashi T, Kuriyama S, Matsuda S et al (2015) Generation of scaffoldless hyaline cartilaginous tissue from human iPSCs. Stem Cell Rep 4(3): 404–418
- Yang Z, Huang CY, Candiotti KA, Zeng X, Yuan T, Li J, Yu H et al (2011) Sox-9 facilitates differentiation of adipose tissue-derived stem cells into a chondrocyte-like phenotype in vitro. J Orthop Res 29(8):1291–1297
- Yin H, Wang J, Gu Z, Feng W, Gao M, Wu Y, Zheng H, He X, Mo X (2017) Evaluation of the potential of kartogenin encapsulated poly(L-lactic acid-co-caprolactone)/collagen nanofibers for tracheal cartilage regeneration. J Biomater Appl 32(3):331–341. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0885328217717077
- Yokoyama A, Sekiya I, Miyazaki K, Ichinose S, Hata Y, Muneta T (2005) In vitro cartilage formation of composites of synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells with collagen gel. Cell Tissue Res 322(2):289–298
- Yoon HH, Bhang SH, Shin JY, Shin J, Kim BS (2012) Enhanced cartilage formation via threedimensional cell engineering of human adipose-derived stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 18(19–20):1949–1956
- Zhang T, Wen F, Wu Y, Goh GS, Ge Z, Tan LP, Hui JH et al (2015) Cross-talk between TGF-beta/ SMAD and integrin signaling pathways in regulating hypertrophy of mesenchymal stem cell chondrogenesis under deferral dynamic compression. Biomaterials 38:72–85
- Zhang Y, Hao C, Guo W, Peng X, Wang M, Yang Z, Li X et al (2020) Co-culture of hWJMSCs and pACs in double biomimetic ACECM oriented scaffold enhances mechanical properties and accelerates articular cartilage regeneration in a caprine model. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):180
- Zhang R, Meng F, Zhang Q, Zou Z, Xiao K, Zhu T, Li H et al (2021) Allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote the expression of chondrocyte redifferentiation markers and retard the progression of knee osteoarthritis in rabbits. Am J Transl Res 13(2):632–645
- Zhao Y, Teng B, Sun X, Dong Y, Wang S, Hu Y, Wang Z, Ma X, Yang Q (2020) Synergistic effects of Kartogenin and transforming growth factor-β3 on chondrogenesis of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. Orthop Surg 12(3):938–945. https://doi.org/10.1111/os.12691
- Zheng P, Ju L, Jiang B, Chen L, Dong Z, Jiang L, Wang R, Lou Y (2013) Chondrogenic differentiation of human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells by co-culture with rabbit chondrocytes. Mol Med Rep 8:1169–1182
- Zhu Y, Song K, Jiang S, Chen J, Tang L, Li S, Fan J et al (2017) Numerical simulation of mass transfer and three-dimensional fabrication of tissue-engineered cartilages based on chitosan/ gelatin hybrid hydrogel scaffold in a rotating bioreactor. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 181(1): 250–266



13

Direct Reprogramming Strategies for the Treatment of Nervous System Injuries and Neurodegenerative Disorders

Katarzyna Pieczonka, William Brett McIntyre, Mohamad Khazaei, and Michael G. Fehlings

Contents

Direct Neural Reprogramming Strategies386Reprogramming Factors386Approaches for Determining the Optimal Combination of Reprogramming Factors388Implications of the Cell Source391Fibroblasts393Astrocytes393Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes397	Introduction	385
Reprogramming Factors386Approaches for Determining the Optimal Combination of Reprogramming Factors388Implications of the Cell Source391Fibroblasts393Astrocytes393Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes397	Direct Neural Reprogramming Strategies	386
Approaches for Determining the Optimal Combination of Reprogramming Factors388Implications of the Cell Source391Fibroblasts393Astrocytes393Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes397Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes397	Reprogramming Factors	386
Implications of the Cell Source391Fibroblasts393Astrocytes393Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes396Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes397	Approaches for Determining the Optimal Combination of Reprogramming Factors	388
Fibroblasts393Astrocytes393Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes396Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes397	Implications of the Cell Source	391
Astrocytes393Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes396Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes397	Fibroblasts	393
Hepatocytes394Pericytes395Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes396Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes397	Astrocytes	393
Pericytes 395 Urine Epithelial Cells 395 Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes 396 Different Subtypes of Astrocytes 396 Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes 397	Hepatocytes	394
Urine Epithelial Cells395Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes396Different Subtypes of Astrocytes396Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes397	Pericytes	395
Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes 396 Different Subtypes of Astrocytes 396 Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes 397	Urine Epithelial Cells	395
Different Subtypes of Astrocytes 396 Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes 397	Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes	396
Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes	Different Subtypes of Astrocytes	396
	Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes	397

Katarzyna Pieczonka and William Brett McIntyre have contributed equally to this chapter.

K. Pieczonka · W. B. McIntyre

Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: k.pieczonka@mail.utoronto.ca; brett.mcintyre@mail.utoronto.ca

M. Khazaei (🖂) Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: mkhazaei@uhnres.utoronto.ca

M. G. Fehlings (⊠) Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: Michael.Fehlings@uhn.ca

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 14

Potential Pitfalls in Autologous Cell Transplantation	398
Treating CNS Disorders Using Transdifferentiated Neural Cells	399
Spinal Cord Injury	399
Traumatic Brain Injury	402
Ischemic Stroke	403
Multiple Sclerosis	404
Parkinson's Disease	405
Alzheimer's Disease	405
Conclusions	406
Cross-References	406
References	406

Abstract

Cell transplantation is an attractive therapeutic avenue for injuries of the central nervous system (CNS) and neurodegenerative disorders. Transplanted cells are able to restore the cells that are lost in the injury process, including neurons, oligodendrocytes, and astrocytes. Various clinically relevant cell types and sources have been explored thus far, including induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which can be used for autologous transplantation. Despite this advantage, differentiation of iPSCs remains time consuming, which may be a limitation in urgent clinical cases. Additionally, the intermediate pluripotent state increases the risk of tumorigenicity when transplanting iPSCs. In this regard, research efforts have shifted toward the transdifferentiation of somatic cells into a variety of neural cell types, including neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes or their progenitors. This method bypasses the pluripotent stage to reduce the risk of tumorigenicity, thus reducing the induction timeline while still maintaining the patient-specific capacity of the cells. Neural cells or their progenitors can be differentiated in vitro using a number of methods, including transient expression or suppression of certain transcription and chromatin remodeling factors through gene manipulation, or miRNA and small molecule treatment. Recently, research efforts have also focused on in vivo transdifferentiation, in which endogenous cells are targeted for conversion into cell types of interest. The following chapter will focus on the general principles of direct neural lineage conversion, the methods used to derive particular cell types, and their application to injuries of the CNS.

Keywords

Abbreviations

Cell source · Cell transplantation · Direct reprogramming · High-throughput screening · Neurodegeneration · Transcription factors · Traumatic CNS injury

6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine
AD	Alzheimer's disease
BMA	Ascl1, Brn2, Mytl1
CNS	Central nervous system
CPZ	Cuprizone

CRISPRa	CRISPR activation
DCas9	Dead form of Cas9
DCX	Doublecortin
DRNPCs	Directly reprogrammed neural progenitor cells
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
FACS	Fluorescent activated cell sorting
IPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cell
INSCs	Induced neural stem cells
miRNA	Micro-RNA
MACS	Magnetic-activated cell sorting
MBD2	Methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 2
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MSI1	Musashi
Ngn2	Neurogenin-1
NSCs	Neural stem/progenitor cells
OPC	Oligodendrocyte precursor cell
ORF	Open reading frame
PD	Parkinson's disease
RA	Retinoic acid
SCI	Spinal cord injury
SCRNASeq	Single-cell RNA sequencing
SGRNA	Single guide RNA
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TF	Transcription factor

Introduction

Initially, it was thought that terminally differentiated cells could not be converted to other cell types from other lineages. However, the pioneering finding that described how fibroblasts could be converted to myoblasts via overexpression of the transcription factor (TF) MyoD demonstrated that different cell lineages could be converted to one another (Davis et al. 1987). This finding has opened a new path for research in developmental biology and regenerative medicine, holding great potential for replacing postmitotic cells lost to disease. Further research has shown that converted cells can bypass the principal developmental stages of differentiation through other routes that are not developmentally defined. This process, called transdifferentiation or direct lineage reprogramming, does not follow developmental differentiation routes and is completed without transitioning through an intermediary pluripotent state. Direct reprogramming can generally be achieved by treating cells with defined cell reprogramming factors (Ibrahim et al. 2016). Therefore, determining the reprogramming factors that can be used for direct reprogramming towards a neural lineage is of high importance.

Throughout this chapter, we will discuss the methods by which cells can be directly reprogrammed to a neural fate. As there is a myriad of synthetic molecules and gene regulatory elements that could possibly promote a neural fate, screening methods are needed to identify the essential factors that would be able to contribute to high-throughput reprogramming. Importantly, direct reprogramming techniques have been applied in the context of injury by reprogramming the cells in vitro and subsequently transplanting them into animal models, or by promoting endogenous conversion of resident cells in vivo. Nonetheless, considerations related to the cell sources as well as the resulting cellular identity must be addressed to derive a directly reprogrammed cell therapy that can appropriately replace the lost cells.

Direct Neural Reprogramming Strategies

Direct reprogramming of nonneural lineage cells to neural cell types or their progenitors is essential for human applications, as the accessibility to human neural cells is limited. Conventional methods, such as embryonic stem cell and induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) differentiation, typically mimic the developmental stages via applying different growth factors or small molecules to cultured cells. However, recapitulating the developmental stages for differentiation of human neural cells is very time consuming because the production of specific human neural cell types takes place over months and years during human brain and spinal cord development. In contrast, the direct reprogramming of fibroblasts or other cell types into neural cells uses alternate, non-developmental routes, ensuring the quick and reproducible generation of these cells that look more like mature neurons or neural subtypes born later. This is completed by screening for different genetic and chemical factors that can convert somatic cells along the neural lineage (Tsunemoto et al. 2015). To identify the minimal and optimal combinations of these factors, different screening methods have been developed. In this section, we discuss these approaches.

Reprogramming Factors

There are three main unique classes of reprogramming factors that have been utilized for the conversion of somatic cells to neural cells: (i) TFs, (ii) microRNAs, and (iii) chemical small molecules. Each of these classes can be used alone or in combination with others.

Transcription Factors

TFs are the key players among the reprogramming factors in lineage conversion. During development, cells become increasingly specialized until they reach a terminally differentiated state, which is mainly controlled by the expression of TFs that form specific expression networks to ensure stable cell identity. In humans, there are \sim 1500 different TFs, but not all of them are involved in cell, or more specifically, neural differentiation. Thus, only small subsets of TFs that are involved in differentiation are potential candidates to be used for direct reprogramming. However, groundbreaking work from the Wernig lab has shown that the TFs used for lineage

conversion are not necessarily those involved in cell differentiation during normal development (Vierbuchen et al. 2010). Sometimes a not easily predictable combination and sequential expression of TFs can change the lineage of cells from one terminal differentiated identity to another. Some of these TFs are "pioneer TFs," which can bind and open closed chromatin to enable the binding of other canonical TFs that are important for direct neural conversion. For example, Ascl1 is one of the pro-neural pioneer factors that, through ectopic expression, can initialize cells to exit the cell cycle and enter the neuralization route (Vierbuchen et al. 2010). Downstream of Ascl1, Zfp238, Sox8, and Dlx3 are the key canonical TFs that promote the expression of neural-fate specific genes (Wapinski et al. 2017).

Over the past decade, there have been advancements in identifying key TFs that can directly reprogram a somatic cell's fate. TFs can be overexpressed in somatic cells using different delivery methods. Integrating viral approaches (e.g., lentiviral or retroviral) is efficient but risks oncogenic insertion-mutagenesis due to random integration into the genome. Non-integrating viral (e.g., adenoviral or Sendaivirus) or nonviral (e.g. episomal plasmids) approaches have reduced risks but the trade-off results in considerably lower efficiency.

miRNA

miRNAs (or micro-RNAs) are short noncoding RNAs that are mainly demonstrated to mediate downregulation of expression via translational repression or decay of mRNA (Haider et al. 2015). However, miRNAs can indirectly stimulate gene expression. miRNAs have been shown to target the expression of TFs (Shibata et al. 2008) and epigenetic regulators (Gu et al. 2018), the two main contributors in cell fate reprogramming. Viral and nonviral approaches can be used to deliver miRNAs to cells both in vitro and in vivo. Recently, miRNAs received attention as reprogramming factors because of their relatively small size and ability to be administered systemically or locally by nanoparticle-based delivery systems, avoiding the use of viral vectors (Xue et al. 2013). Supporting their functionality for transdifferentiation of neural cells, brain-enriched miRNAs, miR-9/9* and miR-124, can convert human fibroblasts into neurons (Yoo et al. 2011). However, miRNAs do not typically function alone, but synergistically with different master TFs. For example, Ambasudhan et al. have reported that miR-124 needs to be supplemented with two TFs, Myt11 and Brn2 to directly reprogram postnatal and adult human primary fibroblasts to functional neurons in vitro (Ambasudhan et al. 2011). In another study, miR-338 has been used to transdifferentiate human stromal cells to pre-oligodendrocytes (Ebrahimi-Barough et al. 2013, p. 338).

Small Molecules

Small molecules are chemical compounds with a low molecular weight that function as agonists or antagonists of proteins and enzymes in signaling pathways or metabolic processes. The small molecules that manipulate signaling pathways controlling cell differentiation (e.g., Wnt, Notch, Smad, or GSK3b pathways) are widely used in approaches to directly reprogram somatic cells (Xie et al. 2017). Also, small molecules that target epigenetic modifiers have been shown to play an essential role in the transdifferentiation process. Lineage conversion of one cell type to another needs to overcome the epigenetic barriers established during development (Qin et al. 2016). Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors and DNA methyltransferase inhibitors were among the earliest discovered compounds used for lineage conversion.

Large chemical libraries of compounds (in the order of a million compounds) are currently being used to screen reprogramming factors (Xie et al. 2017). Since small molecule treatment induces cell-lineage reprogramming in a transgene-free manner, the application of small molecules may potentially be easier to translate into therapeutic applications.

Approaches for Determining the Optimal Combination of Reprogramming Factors

Comparative Gene Expression Analyses

One of the approaches to determine the TFs that can be used for direct reprogramming of somatic cells to terminal neural cells is based on systematic comparative genome-wide gene expression analyses between somatic cells and the neural cells of interest or their progenitors, to use TFs that are highly expressed in neural cells compared to somatic cells (D'Alessio et al. 2015). This approach may not be efficient because most of the TFs that exhibit efficacy in direct lineage conversion are not necessarily the most differentially expressed between cell types. Therefore, this method is mainly useful as a starting point to identify potential TFs and is usually combined with alternative methods (discussed below) to determine an ideal cocktail of reprogramming factors for neural conversion.

Trial and Error Screening of Libraries

One alternative approach is random trial and error to screen pooled libraries of differentiation factors. In this approach, the candidate factors are not known a priori. These pools of differentiation factors can be either expression libraries of TFs/miRNAs, chemical small molecules, or a combination of both (Fig. 1). Pools of multiple factors or group of factors are applied to the cells, where one factor or a group of factors is eliminated to find those essential for that specific lineage conversion. However, performing this type of random screening of factors is a slow and tedious process if it is not combined with high-throughput automated readout approaches to identify reprogrammed cells. One of the most common readout approaches is inserting a fluorescent protein reporter under cell type-specific promoters in the initial cells. After applying the library of pooled factors to cells, only the cells that have received the right combination of factors will express the reporter protein.

This strategy enables fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) of cells expressing the fluorescent protein. The common promoters that have been used for cells differentiated to neurons are Tubb3 and Mpa2. For oligodendrocyte and astrocytes, Olig2 and GFAP are the specific promoters that have been used. Deep sequencing approaches employing single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) are



Fig. 1 Determining the optimal combination of reprogramming factors. In most situations, a combination of different approaches are used to screen for the optimal combination of factors to directly reprogram different somatic cells to neural cell types. Genetic screening includes libraries for overexpression of TFs via expressing their open reading frames (ORFs) or activation of their promoters by CRISPRa. Libraries of chemical compounds are used to screen for small molecules. After treating the cells with libraries of reprogramming factors, cells are screened for the target cell phenotype. FACS or deep sequencing are used to identify the factors in genetic screening. Computational approaches are helpful to fine-tune and optimize the combination of identified factors

being used to identify the optimal combination of TFs or miRNAs required to reprogram cells and induce transdifferentiation.

Using this trial and error approach, the Wernig lab identified three TFs: Ascl1, Brn2, and Myt11 (BAM) for direct lineage conversion of mouse fibroblasts to neurons. This was completed within 2-3 weeks, at an efficiency of up to 20%(Vierbuchen et al. 2010). Here, Ascl1 acts as a pioneer factor by immediately occupying most cognate genomic sites in fibroblasts to open the chromatin structure and allows the recruitment of Brn2 and Myt11 to target sites genome-wide. Several other groups have screened for different TF combinations, and notably, almost all successful cocktails contain Ascl (Pfisterer et al. 2011; Yoo et al. 2011; Ambasudhan et al. 2011; Caiazzo et al. 2011). However, the conversion of human fibroblasts to neural cells was more challenging. Developmentally, mouse and human cells have different temporal requirements for neural development involving distinct regulatory strategies. The Wernig lab has found that the addition of NeuroD1 to original BAM factors is necessary to convert human fibroblasts to neurons, but still with lower efficiency (2–4%) than that of mice (20%) (Pang et al. 2011). Several other attempts have been made to improve the transdifferentiation efficiency of human fibroblasts to neurons. In one of these studies, the addition of small molecules to inhibit GSK3^β and Smad signaling in the TF cocktail was shown to increase the efficiency to more

than 80% (Ladewig et al. 2012). Later on, Pfisterer et al. identified six small molecules that could increase the neural conversion of human fibroblasts induced by BAM TFs. The six small molecules contain inhibitors of GSK3 β and Src kinase pathways, forskolin to activate cAMP-induced pathways, and a balanced combination of an inhibitor and activator of histone deacetylases (Pfisterer et al. 2016).

In a screen to find the optimal factors to convert mouse fibroblasts into neuronal cells, a combination of a priori approaches have been used (Li et al. 2015). In this approach, a library of chemical small molecules is first applied to Ascl1-overexpressing fibroblasts. Ascl1, as a pioneering TF for conversion of somatic cells to neurons, helps to narrow down the screen to small molecules that are only complementary to Asl1. In this screen, forskolin plus three small molecules that inhibit signaling pathways under GSK3 β , TGF β , and noncanonical Wnt were identified. In the next step, researchers sought to determine if Asl1 can also be replaced with small molecules. Ascl1 was omitted and a subsequent small molecule library was screened to replace Ascl1. In this screen, the compound I-BET151 was identified (Li et al. 2015). I-BET151 targets an extensive range of diverse signaling pathways like cyclooxygenase, Aurora kinase, PI3 kinase, and GSK3 β pathways. The most probable mechanism for I-BET151 replacing Ascl1 is mediation through affecting the abovementioned pathways.

To convert human fibroblasts into neurons, another screen of chemical compounds identified the inhibitors of MEK and p53 pathways as being required, in addition to forskolin and inhibitors of GSK3 β and dual-Smad (TGF β and BMP) pathways (Dai et al. 2015; Toyokuni 2015).

By comparing different small molecule screens to convert somatic cells to neurons, cAMP activation and GSK3b inhibition (cAMP/GSK3 β /sSmad pathway) were deemed canonical for this process. However, depending on the developmental stage of the starting somatic cells, alternative pathways may also need to be targeted. For example, in a screen examining conversion of human adult fibroblasts to neurons, inhibition of TGF β , PKC, and JNK pathways was found to be required in addition to canonical cAMP/GSK3 β /sSmad pathways (Hu et al. 2015). Conversely, conversion of human astrocytes to neurons required activation of retinoid and smoothened pathways in addition to that canonical cocktail (Zhang et al. 2015a).

CRISPR Activation-Based Screening

CRISPR activation (CRISPRa) is a technique that uses the dead form of Cas9 (dCas9) without endonuclease activity fused to transcriptional activators, such as VP64, to induce gene expression. Using this technique, it is possible to activate the expression of any gene of interest by designing a "single guide RNA" (sgRNA) against their promoter regions (Gilbert et al. 2013). Libraries of CRISPRa are popular screening tools due to the relative ease in developing large sgRNA libraries, allowing for potential genome-wide screening. CRISPRa has excellent compatibility with high-throughput screening techniques, making it more attractive for screening of novel TFs involved in direct reprogramming (Fig. 1).

Liu and colleagues of the Qi group at Stanford University have applied the CRISPRa method to screen for TFs that can be used to convert fibroblasts to neurons

(Liu et al. 2018). Specifically, a library of CRISPRa was created against 2428 TFs, which were predicted in silico and applied to mouse fibroblasts. To identify and isolate differentiated neurons, they inserted a human CD8 antigen sequence into the neuronal gene Tubb3. This strategy enabled magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS) of cells expressing the neuronal marker. Differentiated neurons were isolated by cell sorting and next-generation sequencing was performed to examine which sgRNAs were most efficient for generating neurons. They validated several previously identified TFs, as well as discovered new TFs, such as Ezh2. Ezh2 was identified to promote direct fibroblast to neuron reprogramming in combination with TFs such as Ngn1, Brn2, or Mecom. Furthermore, Ezh2 co-expression with Ngn1 resulted in an increased efficiency of transdifferentiation of fibroblasts to neurons (around 50%) (Liu et al. 2018).

Employing Single-Cell RNAseq and Computational Analysis

Most of the direct reprogramming cocktails discovered thus far for direct reprogramming are generally inefficient, producing incompletely converted and developmentally immature cells that fail to fully recapitulate target cell identity. Incomplete conversion results in heterogeneity among reprogrammed cells during reprogramming. However, the nature of the intermediate states that drive the reprogramming trajectory toward distinct neural types is largely unknown. Understanding the intermediate stages that initial cells undergo to get to the transdifferentiated neuronal fate is key to optimizing the directly reprogramming cocktails. scRNAseq analysis is useful for deconstructing the considerable heterogeneity that emerges during lineage conversion and enables us to distinguish fully converted cells from partially reprogrammed intermediates (Fig. 1). Therefore, cellular reprogramming strategies aimed at generating neural cells have begun to incorporate scRNAseq, alongside computational approaches, to find lineage relationships among intermediate steps that can be used to fine-tune the differentiation processes.

There are several computational frameworks and algorithms that have been developed to predict the combinations of factors that can be used for the transdifferentiation of various cell combinations. For example, Mogrify (http://www. mogrify.net) is a network-based algorithm designed to find TFs crucial for lineage conversion. Mogrify combines gene expression data with regulatory network information to predict the reprogramming factors necessary to induce cell conversion. This algorithm allows for exploring possible reprogramming factors and examining changes in regulatory networks (Rackham et al. 2016).

Implications of the Cell Source

Significant methodological variations exist for the derivation of neural cells depending on the somatic cell source, the germ layer that they are derived from (i.e., mesoderm, ectoderm, endoderm), or the cells' developmental state (Fig. 2). The variant extent of conversion may discredit the use of similar reprogramming factors for different somatic sources. As such, this may hinder a directly reprogrammed



Fig. 2 Schematic of primary-derived cell sources used in the current literature for direct programming

Table 1 Summary of somatic cell sources and their confounding variables in CNS-injury environments if improperly reprogrammed

Somatic source	Germ layer	Potential adverse effects if reprogramming is incomplete
Fibroblast	Ectoderm	Contribute to fibrosis
		Excrete ECM molecules
Astrocyte	Ectoderm	Possibly become reactive in injury/degenerative environment
Hepatocyte	Endoderm	Secrete albumin
Brain-pericyte	Ectoderm	Contribute to fibrosis by sealing glial scar cavity
Urine tubular epithelial	Mesoderm	Possibly contribute to fibrosis (renal tubular epithelia)

cell's ability to promote an optimal cell replacement therapy. Outlined below are the contexts in which somatic cells are directly reprogrammed towards a neural lineage, as well as implications for their functions if they were not differentiated to a full neural extent (Table 1). This is an important consideration, as the extent of functional conversion in somatic cells is rarely described, making it unclear whether the reprogrammed cells retain unwanted properties from the original cell source. Thus, future work should thoroughly investigate transcriptomic changes, alongside several

other parameters, including but not limited to: functional loss of the original somatic tissues used for reprogramming, electrical activity, their neurotransmitter phenotype, as well as which endogenous targets integrated with the donor neuronal cells in vivo.

Fibroblasts

Fibroblasts are the primary cell type present in the dermis and present vast diversity of structure and function based on their anatomical site of origin. Fibroblasts are frequently used for reprogramming studies as they can be obtained from multiple sources with less invasive procedures. They can be easily expanded in vitro. At sitespecific regions, fibroblasts differ in terms of their ability to regulate cell migration, extracellular matrix synthesis and secretion, as well as cell fate specification. The segmentation dictating these regional differences exists on the anterior-posterior (head vs. toe), proximal-distal (torso vs. outer appendages), and internal-external (stroma of organs vs. dermis) axis (Rinn et al. 2008). Thus, fibroblasts are notably heterogeneous and even contain derivatives of the neural crest/neuroectoderm, making them well suited to be converted to functional neural cells. Notably, they are the most widely used source for transdifferentiated and directly reprogrammed cells towards a neural lineage (Marro et al. 2011; Cassady et al. 2014; Tsunemoto et al. 2018; Thier et al. 2019). The extent of conversion towards a neural lineage, however, is crucial when considering their application to the injured brain and spinal cord. For example, the glial scar is present in neural tissue following injury. It comprises dense layers of fibroblasts, infiltrating macrophages, and reactive glial cells that secrete extracellular matrix molecules (Wang et al. 2018). Once transplanted, the functionally incomplete induced neural cells may accumulate and physically impede axonal outgrowth at the glial scar. Moreover, fibroblasts release extracellular matrix molecules, which may further exacerbate the formation of the glial scar. Thus, retention of fibroblast-like structures and functions may impede the regeneration the transplanted cells are attempting to correct.

Astrocytes

Reprogramming of astrocytes towards another neural cell type in vivo presents a potential strategy to overcome the reactive astroglial response following ischemic and traumatic injury. However, the exogenous transplantation of directly reprogrammed astrocytes in vitro would not be clinically relevant because astrocytes are not a readily available cell source, compared to other somatic cells such as fibroblasts. As such, the following discussion refers to astrocyte reprogramming in vivo.

As extensively reviewed elsewhere (Tai et al. 2020), reprogramming of astrocytes or NG2+ astroglia can promote the formation of neurons that are electrophysiological active and promote functional recovery in a variety of trauma and degenerative contexts (Tai et al. 2020). However, the primary issue of in vivo conversion appears to be the lack of specificity in targetting the desired cells. Remarkably, several studies have evaluated reprogramming efficiency from NG2+ glia (Heinrich et al. 2014, p. 2; Torper et al. 2015; Pereira et al. 2017). However, NG+ glia contains heterogenous cells (astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs)), which present a variety of somatic cell sources. As such, this results in the mistargeted reprogramming of non-astroglial cells, which leads to different reprogramming efficiencies. Moreover, the heterogeneity of OPCs during trauma further complicates reprogramming efficiencies. Specifically, OPCs rapidly proliferate and contribute to glial scar formation, and provide a new source of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Fernandez-Castaneda and Gaultier 2016). This brings into question whether another marker, aside from NG2+ can specifically target reactive astrocytes once they have begun to hyper-proliferate and contribute to glial scar formation.

Although clear benefits can be observed from studies using small molecule treatment (Ma et al. 2021), methods used to induce reprogramming via common TFs (Neurod1, Sox 2, Ascl1) needs further clarification in order to target and reprogram the appropriate cells. This was recently exemplified in a study evaluating the reprogramming effects of Neurod1. Using lineage tracing and a retrograde labelling method, Wang et al. determined that their once presumably reprogrammed astrocytes were actually Neurod1+ expressing endogenous neurons (Wang et al. 2020). Ultimately, this valuable study highlights the need for lineage tracing during in vivo reprogramming of astrocytes to confirm that the conversion of a cell population of interest, and not just overexpression of a particular TF, promotes a therapeutic effect.

Hepatocytes

Hepatocytes are a terminally differentiated cell type of the liver, derived from the endodermal lineage. Directly converted hepatocytes to neurons interestingly exhibit similar reprogramming efficiencies compared to fibroblasts, despite not being derived from the ectodermal developmental lineage. Hepatocytes are another common source of somatic tissue used for direct neural conversion and exhibit comparable differentiation efficiency compared to fibroblasts (Marro et al. 2011). The extent of neural conversion is also a potential issue when applying hepatocytes as a somatic cell source. Interestingly, however, incomplete differentiation of hepatocytes to neural cells may exhibit some utility. Functional neural tissue that exhibits some hepatocyte-like properties (i.e., albumin secretion) may suppress excessive excitotoxicity, a feature of early experimental spinal cord injury (Yildirim et al. 2018). This may peak interest in using hepatocytes as a cell source, as partial retention of function in converted neural cells from hepatocytes may exhibit a neuroprotective strategy. However, global transcriptomic changes following reprogramming are coupled with a loss of hepatocyte function, including albumin secretion and urea production (Marro et al. 2011). Thus, current evidence suggests typical reprogramming strategies are sufficient to restrict the function of hepatocytic cell sources. The fact that cells that differ greatly from neural tissue can still be converted to the same extent is crucial because this suggests a variety of cell sources can be used for reprogramming. However, hepatocytes are not as easily accessible for exogenous reprogramming, nor do they reside within the CNS. As such, they are not a promising cell source for cell therapies within the CNS.

Pericytes

Pericytes represent an alternative resident cell type of interest within the central nervous system (CNS). In the context of injury states, they proliferate to mediate the intrusion of peripheral leukocytes, where they eventually migrate and contribute to vascularized sealing of the glial scar (Laredo et al. 2019). Moreover, experimentally attenuating their function can promote endogenous corticospinal tract regeneration across the site of injury (Dias et al. 2018). Thus, pericytes represent a potential cell source that can be reprogrammed in vivo following injury. However, the extent of direct pericyte reprogramming to a neural lineage is not commonly described. Pericytes can be reprogrammed into neuronal subtypes, as identified by cholinergic (Liang et al. 2018) and GABAergic (Karow et al. 2012) phenotypes. Although similar programming techniques suggest these cells enter a transient neural stem cell-like fate (Karow et al. 2018), their behavior in an injured transplant environment has yet to be described. Similar to the possible incomplete differentiation of fibroblast cells, their fibrotic/vascularization function in injury contexts may confound their use as an exogenous source of reprogrammed neurons. Moreover, if the extent of conversion is restricted to a neural progenitor-like fate, their differentiation in a transplant environment would likely be astrocytic.

Urine Epithelial Cells

Urine epithelial cells have been used as a cell source for reprogramming because they are a relatively abundant and easily accessible source of autologous tissue. For example, epithelial-like tissue from human urine can be converted to tripotent neural progenitors (Wang et al. 2013). Notably, these cells were synaptically active and expressed a variety of neuronal subtypes markers indicating the presence of GABAergic, glutamatergic, and dopaminergic neurons (Wang et al. 2013, p.; Zhang et al. 2015b). However, there is a heterogeneous population of three major epithelial cells present in urine: renal tubular, transitional, and squamous epithelium (Ringsrud 2001). It remains undescribed in these reprogramming methods whether one epithelial subtype may be more efficiently reprogrammed over another, or if a distinction was made to separate any of these cell types. Notably, incomplete differentiation and retention of epithelial-like characteristics of renal tubular cells could be particularly troubling, as they are prominent contributors to renal fibrosis and rapidly respond and aggravate this pathophysiological process (Qi and Yang 2018).

Generation of Distinct Neural Cell Subtypes

There are several neuronal subtypes present in various brain and spinal cord regions, which relay region-specific functions such as fine motor control, cognition and memory, and even respiration. Even glial function varies significantly between the compartments of the CNS. Thus, direct reprogramming protocols must begin to derive neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes that can replace distinct cell identities lost due to injury. The developmental origin of a cell is a crucial factor that dictates subtype specification during primary cell derivation (Mothe et al. 2011; Wuttke et al. 2018) and iPSC culturing protocols (Strano et al. 2020). Thus, variations in direct reprogramming methods *between* different somatic tissues (e.g., fibroblast, hepatocyte), as well as *within* a somatic cell type (brain-astrocyte vs. spinal-astrocyte) are likely required to produce the same terminal cell type of interest. Considerations for region-specific differences in these cell types will be discussed below.

Different Subtypes of Astrocytes

Notably, in both the developmental and adult stages, the spinal cord exhibits an enhanced expression of conventional astrocytic markers, such as GFAP and ALDH1L1, compared to whole-brain structures (Yoon et al. 2017). When directly comparing the ability to convert heterogeneous astrocytes derived from a rostral/caudal axis to a neural lineage, reprogramming efficiency was nearly 50% for cortex-derived astrocytes, but only 20% for spinal cord-derived astrocytes (Hu et al. 2019) (visualized in Fig. 3). However, converted astrocytes did not produce different proportions of neuronal subtypes (Hu et al. 2019). This suggests regionally distinct astrocytes are differentially competent to neural conversion but not neuronal subtype specification when using similar reprogramming protocols in vitro. In addition to discrepant reprogramming competency in the context of regional source, in vivo healthy and injury microenvironments present an additional layer of complexity. Notably, the TF Sox2 can robustly convert various spatially derived astrocytes into induced neurons in vitro (Heinrich et al. 2014; Niu et al. 2015, p. 2), in various injury environments, and the healthy adult striatum (Niu et al. 2013), but cannot exhibit the same competency in the healthy cerebral cortex (Heinrich et al. 2014) (Fig. 4). This highlights critical differences in the intrinsic properties of cells during direct neuronal reprogramming. Future work should highlight the mechanistic variances in reprogramming efficiencies in various brain compartments and different segments of the spinal cord. For example, astrocytes may exhibit functional differences and conversion efficiencies when comparing between a cervical and lumbar-derived astrocyte. Such research can provide a



Fig. 3 Visual outline of in vitro reprogramming efficiency of astrocytes to neurons. Regional source of the primary astrocyte may affect reprogramming efficiency in vitro, while using similar reprogramming methods. Variation may include the efficiency or number of neurons produced from regionally distinct astrocyte cultures. Purple = brain-derived cells; green = spinal-derived cells

template for region-specific, directly reprogrammed cellular technologies towards region-specific degeneration/injuries in the CNS.

Different Subtypes of Oligodendrocytes

Regional characterization may be crucial for directly reprogrammed oligodendrocytes, as the brain and spinal cord contain a heterogeneous population of oligodendrocytes with varying functional properties. At a molecular level, there are discrepancies in the endocannabinoid receptor and ligand expression between oligodendrocytes from the brain and spinal cord, highlighting key differences in their migratory and myelination potential (Moreno-Luna et al. 2021). Functionally, spinal-derived oligodendrocytes can form longer myelin sheaths than corticalderived oligodendrocytes, which mirrors internodal length in vivo (Bechler et al. 2015). Spinal-derived OPCs also exhibit opposite responses compared to forebrain-derived OPCs, in terms of proliferation capacity and response to excitotoxicity (Horiuchi et al. 2017). In response to demyelinating pathophysiology in vivo, the extent of remyelination is more significant in the forebrain



Fig. 4 Visual outline of in vivo reprogramming efficiency of astrocytes to neurons based on spatial region. Similar reprogramming methods in vivo may vary based on spatial region, as well as environmental context. Schematic highlights the necessity of specific-reprogramming paradigms for regional and context-dependent microenvironments (yellow/orange stars indicate injury/ degeneration)

compared to the spinal cord (Bradl and Lassmann 2010). These critical functional differences highlight the necessity to derive directly reprogrammed NSCs, or even OPCs that exhibit similar functional properties, to the region they are attempting to restore.

Potential Pitfalls in Autologous Cell Transplantation

Autologous transplants can overcome several ethical and practical issues involving exogenous cell therapy, particularly the enhanced survival of cell grafts due to the reduced risk of host-rejection (Mandai et al. 2017; Song et al. 2020). However, a notable critique of exogenous cell therapy and the use of autologous transplants is the considerable time it takes to culture iPSCs. Once iPSCs have been aptly differentiated into pure NSCs, the therapeutic window in neural injury would have been long passed. Directly reprogrammed neural tissue is an exciting option to circumvent the timely iPSC culturing process. Yet, there are still translational barriers that must be investigated, particularly the age of cell donors.

Directly reprogramming somatic tissues from an older patient population to the neural lineage results in the maintenance of transcriptomic signatures that are age-dependent. These signatures translate to functional losses of cytoplasmic compartmentalization (Mertens et al. 2015) and DNA damage resulting from dysregulated heterochromatin and nuclear organization (Tang et al. 2017). Although these findings promote the use of directly reprogrammed cells for modelling and understanding the pathogenesis of late-onset diseases in culture (Rowe and Daley 2019), it presents several limitations to their use as a source of exogenous transplant therapies. Thus, an "older" autologous cell may retain these aging hallmarks upon direct reprogamming. Moreover, various neurological disorders have some extent of genetic etiology, such as Schizophrenia, Parkinson's disease, and Alzheimer's disease. These disorders, in particular, are often exacerbated with cellular senescence. In the rare case that a patient may be genetically predisposed to a neurological disorder, their genetic abnormalities may be translated into reprogrammed autologous cell grafts. Thus, neural cells prone to dysfunction and death could further confound the state of injury when applied as a transplant therapy. In theory, age and genetic predisposition may impair a directly reprogrammed cells' function. Still, the extent of dysfunction that an "older" reprogrammed cell may present when applied as a therapy requires further experimental investigation.

Treating CNS Disorders Using Transdifferentiated Neural Cells

Despite the advantages that direct reprogramming strategies present over other cellular methods, it is crucial to confirm that the cells contribute to meaningful therapeutic benefits in the context of disease. These cell therapies aim to address CNS pathologies by targeting a wide range of pathophysiological processes including inflammation, demyelination, neuronal disruption, and gliosis. Ultimately, their broad applications make them useful in a number of CNS disorders, which will be described in the following section and are summarized in Table 2.

Spinal Cord Injury

Spinal cord injury (SCI) involves a primary injury caused by mechanical trauma, which induces neural cell disruption, ionic imbalance, and vascular changes. As the injury progresses, the secondary injury ensues, further contributing to neuronal death, demyelination, ionic imbalance, excitotoxicity, and the formation of a glial scar in the chronic phases of SCI (Alizadeh et al. 2019). Various cell sources have been used for the derivation of neural cells that can be transplanted to target SCI. Human adipose-derived stem cells have been successfully directly reprogrammed into neuron/motor neuron-like cells via small molecule treatment with retinoic acid (RA), sonic hedgehog (Shh), and neurotrophic factors. Upon transplantation into injured mice, these cells synaptically integrated and facilitated motor improvements.

Spinar cord injury	1	1 .	
Source	Method	Final cell type	Functional outcome
Human adipose- derived stem cells (Gao et al. 2019)	• In vitro reprogramming • Small molecule treatment with RA, Shh, and neurotrophic factors	Neuron/motor neuron- like cells	• Motor improvements
Rat mesenchymal stem cells(Qiu et al. 2015)	 In vitro reprogramming Adenoviral transfection with NT-3 and Trk-C 	Neural-like cells and myelin-forming cells	• Motor improvements
Human bone marrow somatic cells (Nagoshi et al. 2018)	 In vitro reprogramming Transfection with Msi1, Ngn2, and MBD2 Small molecule treatment with RA, Shh, PDGF, and thyroxine 	Oligodendrogenically biased neural progenitor cells	• Motor improvements
Endogenous astrocytes (Su et al. 2014)	• In vivo reprogramming • Lentiviral transfection with SOX2 under the GFAP promoter	Neurons	• Behavioral outcomes were not assessed

Table 2 Summary of direct reprogramming strategies that have been investigated in the context of CNS injuries and disorders

Traumatic brain injury

Source	Method	Final cell type	Functional outcome
Endogenous glia (astroglial conversion was not observed) (Heinrich et al. 2014)	• In vivo reprogramming • Retroviral transfection with Ascl1 and Sox2	Neurons	Behavioral outcomes were not assessed
Endogenous glia (Guo et al. 2014)	• In vivo reprogramming • Retroviral transfection with NeuroD1 under the GFAP promoter	Neurons	Behavioral outcomes were not assessed

Source	Method	Final cell type	Functional outcome
Human bone marrow somatic cells (Vonderwalde et al. 2020)	• In vitro reprogramming • Transfection with Msi1, Ngn2, and MBD2	Neural progenitor cells	Sensorimotor improvements
Endogenous astrocytes (Chen et al. 2020)	• In vivo reprogramming • Adenoviral transfection with NeuroD1 under the GFAP promoter	Neurons	• Motor and cognitive improvements

With the selectors				
Source	Method	Final cell type	Functional	
			outcome	
Human bone marrow	• In vitro reprogramming	Neural progenitor	 Behavioral 	
somatic cells,	• Transfection with Msi1,	cells	outcomes were	
fibroblasts, and	Ngn2, and MBD2		not assessed	
keratinocytes (Ahlfors				
et al. 2019)				

Spinal cord injury			
Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Sullivan et al. 2020)	• In vitro reprogramming • Lentiviral transfection with Klf4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Oct4	Neural stem cells	• Motor improvements
Human bone marrow- derived mesenchymal stem cells (Ben-Zwi et al. 2019)	• Small molecule treatment using a patented method	Neuralized mesenchymal stem cells and neurons	• Motor improvements
Endogenous mouse astrocytes (Ghasemi- Kasman et al. 2018)	 In vivo reprogramming Lentiviral transfection with miR-302/367 Small molecule treatment with valproate 	Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells and oligodendrocytes	• Cognitive improvements
D 1 ' ' ''			

Table 2 (continued)

Parkinson's	disease

Source	Method	Final cell type	Functional outcome
Human spermatogonial stem cells (Yang et al. 2019)	 In vitro reprogramming Small molecule treatment with a series of factors 	Dopaminergic neurons	• Motor improvements
Fetal liver mesenchymal stromal- like cells (Kumar et al. 2016)	 In vitro reprogramming Small molecule treatment with B27, vitamin c, FGF2, Shh, FGF8, TGFβ3, BDNF, and GDNF 	Dopaminergic neuron-like cells	• Motor improvements
Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Dell'Anno et al. 2014)	• In vitro reprogramming • Lentiviral transfection with Ascl1, Nurr1, and Lmx1a	Dopaminergic neurons	• Motor improvements
Mouse Sertoli cells (Wu et al. 2015)	• In vitro reprogramming • Retroviral transfection with Ascl1, Ngn2, Hes1, Id1, Pax6, Brn2, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4 followed by lentiviral transfection with Lmx1a	Dopaminergic neurons	• Motor improvements
Endogenous mouse astrocytes (Rivetti di Val Cervo et al. 2017)	• In vivo reprogramming • Lentiviral transfection with NeuroD1, Ascl1, Lmx1a, and miR218 under the GFAP promoter	Dopaminergic neurons	• Motor improvements

Alzheimer's disease			
Source	Method	Final cell type	Functional outcome
Endogenous mouse astrocytes (Guo et al. 2014)	• In vivo reprogramming • Retroviral transfection with NeuroD1 under the GFAP promoter	Neurons	• Behavioral outcomes were not assessed

Additionally, the cells also reduced the inflammatory response, as indicated by increased levels of anti-inflammatory markers (Gao et al. 2019). Comparably, mesenchymal stem cells have also been used as a source of neural-like cells through genetic modification with NT-3 and TrkC. After transplantation, these cells acquired a myelin-forming phenotype and improved cortical motor evoked potential and hind-limb locomotion (Qiu et al. 2015). Moreover, human bone marrow somatic cells have been used for the generation of neural progenitor cells, which were further biased into an oligodendrogenic fate. Briefly, the somatic cells were transiently transfected with Musashi-1 (Msi1), Neurogenin-2 (Ngn2), and methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 2 (MBD2), and subsequently treated with RA, SHH agonist, PDGF, and thyroxine in vitro. When transplanted, these cells contributed to remyelination and axonal sparing, which correlated to improved motor function (Nagoshi et al. 2018). As such, in vitro reprogramming methods and subsequent cell transplantation have proven to be a promising therapeutic strategy for SCI. However, the integration of these cells is often limited due to the glial scar that forms surrounding the lesion. As such, since SCI is followed by reactive astrogliosis, a potentially useful application of direct reprogramming techniques is for endogenous cells to be used as a source to generate novel neurons, thereby indirectly reducing the number of scarforming reactive astrocytes that surround the lesion. In this regard, in vivo reprogramming is limited in SCI; however, SOX2-mediated conversion of astrocytes to neurons has been reported. This was achieved by delivering a lentivirus that expressed SOX2 under the astrocyte GFAP promoter immediately after a hemisection injury. Notably, the infected cells began expressing neuronal markers, TUBB3 and MAP2, by 4 and 5 weeks post-injury, respectively. The infected cells also co-stained for the synapse marker, synapsin-1, suggesting that they could form synapses. Although no functional outcomes were tested in this paper, neuronal differentiation and synapse formation suggest circuit-specific functions can be recovered. Thus, future studies investigating the causal effects of vivo conversion of resident astroglial on functional recovery are warranted (Su et al. 2014).

Traumatic Brain Injury

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is followed by a series of maladaptive processes, including immune cell infiltration, inflammation, excitotoxicity, vascular disruption, neuronal death, myelin disruption, and reactive gliosis (McGinn and Povlishock 2016). Animal models of TBI have demonstrated that the targeted delivery of pro-neuronal genes to endogenous glial cells facilitates their conversion into neurons. In one study, a retrovirus containing Ascl1, or a combination of Ascl1 and Sox2, was delivered following a stab wound injury in the upper layers of the cerebral cortex in mice. These constructs facilitated the reprogramming of NG2+ glia along the neuronal lineage, as marked by the immature neuron marker, doublecortin (DCX). Over time, these cells matured into NeuN+ neurons. Most importantly, electrophysiological techniques demonstrated that these cells were forming synapses with the surrounding cells, demonstrating that in vivo direct reprogramming

methods can generate functional neurons (Heinrich et al. 2014). However, it is important to acknowledge that the retroviral delivery method targets dividing cells, which involve astroglial and oligodendroglial cells. Yet, gliosis can be an adaptive process through the generation of novel oligodendrocytes, which can contribute to remyelination. Therefore, the reprogramming of these oligodendroglial cells may be counterproductive in that it may impede subsequent endogenous remyelination efforts by reducing the numbers of myelinating oligodendrocytes. Instead, it may be more helpful and prudent to focus on reprogramming the maladaptive astroglial cells that surround the injury site and limit regeneration.

Nonetheless, evidence demonstrating that astrocytes can be reprogrammed into neurons in the context of TBI has also been reported. In this study, a retrovirus delivery method was used to deliver NeuroD1, a basic helix loop helix TF involved in neurogenesis, into the mouse somatosensory cortex following a stab wound injury. This report demonstrated the conversion of the resident glial GFAP+ and NG2+ cells into novel DCX+ and NeuN+ neurons. Importantly, it was found that astrocytes were the source of newly generated glutamatergic neurons, which were electrophysiologically active (Guo et al. 2014). Therefore, the novel population of dividing glial cells provides a cell source that can be converted into functional neurons. However, future studies should aim to determine the behavioral changes that are associated with these strategies.

Ischemic Stroke

Ischemic stroke occurs when blood flow to the brain is impaired, thus reducing oxygen supply at the site of injury. Like TBI and SCI, this process is followed by several pathophysiological processes including excitotoxicity, inflammation, oxidative stress, and gliosis, all of which contribute to neuronal death and circuit disruption (Kuriakose and Xiao 2020). Therefore, the generation of new neurons is a plausible method by which novel circuitry can be established. Notably, transplantation of directly reprogrammed cells has shown promise in a endothelin-1 mouse model of focal ischemic stroke. Before transplantation, human bone marrow cells were converted into directly reprogrammed neural progenitor cells (drNPCs) by introducing Msi1, Ngn2, and MBD2. Four days after injury, reprogrammed drNPCs were transplanted into the lesion site. Importantly, behavioral tests, including both the foot fault task (assesses sensory and motor function) and the cylinder test (assesses locomotor function), revealed that drNPC transplantation was associated with improved functional outcomes. The authors hypothesized that this recovery was mediated through synaptic plasticity, as immunostaining revealed that drNPC transplantation was associated with an increase in synaptophysin expression (Vonderwalde et al. 2020). In addition, in vivo direct reprogramming has been investigated in the context of ischemic stroke. In this report, an adeno-associated viral construct carrying the pro-neurogenic gene NeuroD1 under the GFAP promoter was injected into the lesion site 10 days following ET-1-induced ischemia. This method facilitated the conversion of reactive astrocytes to electrophysiologically

functional neurons. Importantly, this astrocyte-to-neuron conversion was associated with improvements in motor deficits as assessed using food pellet retrieval, grid walk, and cylinder tests. Cognitive improvements were also observed in these animals, marked by improved fear conditioning memory (Chen et al. 2020). Overall, these preliminary reports demonstrate that directly reprogrammed cells can contribute to meaningful functional benefits following ischemic stroke.

Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurodegenerative condition in which the immune system targets myelin for degradation. This results in axonal damage to the demyelinated neurons (Faissner et al. 2019). Several reports have described the transplantation of transdifferentiated cells into MS animal models to replenish the lost neurons and myelinating oligodendrocytes. Notably, bone-marrow cells, human fibroblasts and keratinocytes have been used for drNPC reprogramming by using Msi1, Ngn2, and MBD2. Upon transplantation into shiverer mice, which lack compact myelin, drNPCs have been shown to differentiate into oligodendrocytes (Ahlfors et al. 2019). Nonetheless, further analysis of these cells should assess functional improvements. In this regard, several other reports have assessed functional outcomes in MS animal models. For example, mouse embryonic fibroblasts were converted to induced NSCs through the continuous expression of Klf4, Sox2, and c-Myc, combined with the early temporal expression of Oct4. Upon transplantation into the corpus callosum of mice treated with cuprizone (CPZ), an agent that induces demyelination, these cells were associated with motor improvements as demonstrated using running misstep wheels. Moreover, there was an increase in oligodendrogenesis, showing that this is a plausible strategy for oligodendrocyte replacement (Sullivan et al. 2020). While these cell transplantation methods aim to address the neural deficits seen in MS, they have minimal affect on inflammatory-associated pathology. Notably, Ben-Zwi et al. generated neuralized MSCs, which were uniquely suited to address the neural deficits in conjunction with the inflammatory response. These cells contributed to myelin and neuronal sparing, as well as reduced inflammation following transplantation into mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis - a model of MS - in comparison to non-neuralized control MSCs. More importantly, the neuralized MSCs promoted motor function (Ben-Zwi et al. 2019). As such, transplantation of directly reprogrammed cells has been shown to contribute to functional benefits in MS. In vivo reprogramming has also been shown to promote recovery in the context of MS. Specifically; miR-302/367 and valproate treatment has been shown to convert endogenous astrocytes to OPCs and oligodendrocytes in CPZ-treated mice. Behavioral testing revealed that this in vivo conversion correlated with improvements in cognitive function (Ghasemi-Kasman et al. 2018). Overall, the evidence shows that both in vitro and in vivo cell reprogramming techniques can help generate new cells capable of promoting behavioral and cognitive benefits in MS.

Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder marked by an accumulation of Lewy bodies, comprised of α -synuclein, which contributes to the progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra (Simon et al. 2020). Several reports have directly converted non-neuronal cells into dopaminergic neurons for transplantation into PD models. One paper reported the conversion of human spermatogonial stem cells into dopaminergic neurons by small molecule treatment in vitro. When transplanted into the MPTP PD model in mice, these cells contributed to synapse formation, electrophysiological activity, and most importantly, they facilitated improvements in gait (Yang et al. 2019). In another report, fetal liver mesenchymal stromal-like cells were converted into dopaminergic neurons through chemical treatment with neurotrophic factors. Upon transplantation into the 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)-lesioned striatum, these cells contributed to enhanced behavior compared to non-converted MSC control cells in mice 2 months post-transplantation (Kumar et al. 2016).

Moreover, mouse embryonic fibroblasts have also been used as a source of cells for conversion into dopaminergic neurons. These cells were also capable of contributing to electrical activity, synaptic activity, and ultimately promoted functions in a PD model (Dell'Anno et al. 2014). Another report converted Sertoli cells into induced NSCs (iNSCs) and further biased them toward the dopaminergic neuron lineage through the forced expression of Lmx1a. These biased cells exhibited increased motor recovery upon transplantation into mouse PD models (Wu et al. 2015). This shows that a plethora of studies that aim to generate functional dopaminergic neurons for transplantation into PD exist. However, in vivo neuronal conversion is less described in the context of PD. In a single paper, the combination of three TFs, NeuroD1, Ascl1, and Lmx1a, as well as the microRNA miR218, was used to target endogenous mouse astrocytes into dopaminergic neurons. Importantly, this astrocyte-to-neuron conversion was associated with an improvement in gait (Rivetti di Val Cervo et al. 2017). Ultimately, directly reprogrammed dopaminergic neurons show promise in ameliorating PD.

Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease is characterized by an accumulation of amyloid-β plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, which contribute to neurodegeneration. Moreover, it involves the death of cholinergic neurons in the forebrain (Hampel et al. 2018). As such, neuronal replacement is thought to be one method that could promote the regeneration of this condition. A single paper has utilized direct conversion techniques in this disease, whereby a retroviral construct expressing NeuroD1 under the GFAP promoter was used to infect astrocytes in vivo in an experimental transgenic mouse model of AD. This facilitated the conversion of astrocytes into NeuN+ neurons, which formed glutamatergic synapses. Notably, the cells were electrophysiologically active. However, further analysis of the potential therapeutic benefits is warranted to determine whether in vivo reprogramming can drive cognitive benefits (Guo et al. 2014).

Moreover, it is important to acknowledge that cholinergic cells are implicated in processes such as memory and learning (Hampel et al. 2018). Therefore, optimal cognitive recovery will likely rely on the replacement of this particular subtype of neurons. As such, future research should focus on the cholinergic specification of reprogrammed neurons.

Conclusions

Cell replacement is an important therapeutic strategy in a variety of CNS disorders. This can be facilitated through direct reprogramming technologies, which generate neural cells both in vitro and in vivo. Direct reprogramming of somatic cells into the desired cells without the intermediate pluripotent state remains a less explored strategy but would be a major step toward the generation of cells without tumorigenic potential (Ahmed et al. 2012). To date, several reprogramming strategies have been described, including the use of TFs, microRNAs, and the TF-free use of small molecules for direct reprogramming (Ullah et al. 2021). Nonetheless, several questions remain surrounding the ideal cell source and resulting cell identity (Heng et al. 2005). Future investigations will be needed to optimize these reprogramming techniques.

Cross-References

- ► Advances, Opportunities, and Challenges in Stem Cell-Based Therapy
- ► Common Ethical Considerations of Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Research
- ▶ Glial Cells in Neuroinflammation in Various Disease States
- ▶ Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
- ▶ Neural Stem Cells
- ▶ The Potential of Stem Cells in Ocular Treatments

References

- Ahlfors J-E, Azimi A, El-Ayoubi R, Velumian A, Vonderwalde I, Boscher C, Mihai O et al (2019) Examining the fundamental biology of a novel population of directly reprogrammed human neural precursor cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:166. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1255-4
- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host with myocardial infarction. Regen Med 6(758):171–178. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme.10.103
- Ahmed RPH, Buccini S, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Surrogate progenitors for cardiogenesis: direct reprogramming of somatic cells to cross lineage restriction without pluripotency. Circulation (Suppl)

- Alizadeh A, Dyck SM, Karimi-Abdolrezaee S (2019) Traumatic spinal cord injury: an overview of pathophysiology, models and acute injury mechanisms. Front Neurol 10:282. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fneur.2019.00282
- Ambasudhan R, Talantova M, Coleman R, Yuan X, Zhu S, Lipton SA, Ding S (2011) Direct reprogramming of adult human fibroblasts to functional neurons under defined conditions. Cell Stem Cell 9:113–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.07.002
- Bechler ME, Byrne L, Ffrench-Constant C (2015) CNS myelin sheath lengths are an intrinsic property of oligodendrocytes. Curr Biol 25:2411–2416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015. 07.056
- Ben-Zwi M, Petrou P, Halimi M, Karussis D, Kassis I (2019) Neuralized mesenchymal stem cells (NMSC) exhibit phenotypical, and biological evidence of neuronal transdifferentiation and suppress EAE more effectively than unmodified MSC. Immunol Lett 212:6–13. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.imlet.2019.05.009
- Bradl M, Lassmann H (2010) Oligodendrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 119:37–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-009-0601-5
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH (2018) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Berlin
- Caiazzo M, Dell'Anno MT, Dvoretskova E, Lazarevic D, Taverna S, Leo D, Sotnikova TD et al (2011) Direct generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nature 476:224–227. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10284
- Cassady JP, D'Alessio AC, Sarkar S, Dani VS, Fan ZP, Ganz K, Roessler R et al (2014) Direct lineage conversion of adult mouse liver cells and B lymphocytes to neural stem cells. Stem Cell Rep 3:948–956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.10.001
- Chen Y-C, Ma N-X, Pei Z-F, Wu Z, Do-Monte FH, Keefe S, Yellin E et al (2020) A NeuroD1 AAV-based gene therapy for functional brain repair after ischemic injury through in vivo astrocyte-to-neuron conversion. Mol Ther J Am Soc Gene Ther 28:217–234. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.09.003
- D'Alessio AC, Fan ZP, Wert KJ, Baranov P, Cohen MA, Saini JS, Cohick E et al (2015) A systematic approach to identify candidate transcription factors that control cell identity. Stem Cell Rep 5:763–775. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.09.016
- Dai P, Harada Y, Takamatsu T (2015) Highly efficient direct conversion of human fibroblasts to neuronal cells by chemical compounds. J Clin Biochem Nutr 56:166–170. https://doi.org/10. 3164/jcbn.15-39
- Davis RL, Weintraub H, Lassar AB (1987) Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 51:987–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90585-x
- Dell'Anno MT, Caiazzo M, Leo D, Dvoretskova E, Medrihan L, Colasante G, Giannelli S et al (2014) Remote control of induced dopaminergic neurons in parkinsonian rats. J Clin Invest 124: 3215–3229. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI74664
- Dias DO, Kim H, Holl D, Solnestam BW, Lundeberg J, Carlén M, Göritz C et al (2018) Reducing pericyte-derived scarring promotes recovery after spinal cord injury. Cell 173:153–165.e22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.02.004
- Ebrahimi-Barough S, Massumi M, Kouchesfahani HM, Ai J (2013) Derivation of pre-oligodendrocytes from human endometrial stromal cells by using overexpression of Micro-RNA 338. J Mol Neurosci 51:337–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-013-0101-x
- Faissner S, Plemel JR, Gold R, Yong VW (2019) Progressive multiple sclerosis: from pathophysiology to therapeutic strategies. Nat Rev Drug Discov 18:905–922. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41573-019-0035-2
- Fernandez-Castaneda A, Gaultier A (2016) Adult oligodendrocyte progenitor cells multifaceted regulators of the CNS in health and disease. Brain Behav Immun 57:1–7. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbi.2016.01.005
- Gao S, Guo X, Zhao S, Jin Y, Zhou F, Yuan P, Cao L et al (2019) Differentiation of human adiposederived stem cells into neuron/motoneuron-like cells for cell replacement therapy of spinal cord injury. Cell Death Dis 10:597. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-1772-1

- Ghasemi-Kasman M, Zare L, Baharvand H, Javan M (2018) In vivo conversion of astrocytes to myelinating cells by miR-302/367 and valproate to enhance myelin repair. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 12:e462–e472. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2276
- Gilbert LA, Larson MH, Morsut L, Liu Z, Brar GA, Torres SE, Stern-Ginossar N et al (2013) CRISPR-mediated modular RNA-guided regulation of transcription in eukaryotes. Cell 154: 442–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.044
- Gu X, Fu C, Lin L, Liu S, Su X, Li A, Wu Q et al (2018) miR-124 and miR-9 mediated downregulation of HDAC5 promotes neurite development through activating MEF2C-GPM6A pathway. J Cell Physiol 233:673–687. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25927
- Guo Z, Zhang L, Wu Z, Chen Y, Wang F, Chen G (2014) In vivo direct reprogramming of reactive glial cells into functional neurons after brain injury and in an Alzheimer's disease model. Cell Stem Cell 14:188–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.12.001
- Haider KH, Khan M, Sen C (2015) Chapter 22: MicroRNAs with mega functions in cardiac remodeling and repair: the micromanagement of matters of the heart. In: Sen CK (ed) MicroRNA in regenerative medicine. Elsevier, pp 569–600
- Hampel H, Mesulam M-M, Cuello AC, Farlow MR, Giacobini E, Grossberg GT, Khachaturian AS et al (2018) The cholinergic system in the pathophysiology and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Brain J Neurol 141:1917–1933. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy132
- Heinrich C, Bergami M, Gascón S, Lepier A, Viganò F, Dimou L, Sutor B et al (2014) Sox2mediated conversion of NG2 glia into induced neurons in the injured adult cerebral cortex. Stem Cell Rep 3:1000–1014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.10.007
- Heng BC, Haider KH, Sim EKW, Cao T, Tong GO, Ng SC (2005) Reprogramming autologous skeletal myoblasts to express cardiomyogenic function: challenges and possible approaches. Int J Cardiol 100(3):355–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2004.06.009
- Horiuchi M, Suzuki-Horiuchi Y, Akiyama T, Itoh A, Pleasure D, Carstens E, Itoh T (2017) Differing intrinsic biological properties between forebrain and spinal oligodendroglial lineage cells. J Neurochem 142:378–391. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.14074
- Hu W, Qiu B, Guan W, Wang Q, Wang M, Li W, Gao L et al (2015) Direct conversion of normal and Alzheimer's disease human fibroblasts into neuronal cells by small molecules. Cell Stem Cell 17:204–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.07.006
- Hu X, Qin S, Huang X, Yuan Y, Tan Z, Gu Y, Cheng X et al (2019) Region-restrict astrocytes exhibit heterogeneous susceptibility to neuronal reprogramming. Stem Cell Rep 12:290–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2018.12.017
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng 9(4):226–244
- Karow M, Sánchez R, Schichor C, Masserdotti G, Ortega F, Heinrich C, Gascón S et al (2012) Reprogramming of pericyte-derived cells of the adult human brain into induced neuronal cells. Cell Stem Cell 11:471–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.07.007
- Karow M, Camp JG, Falk S, Gerber T, Pataskar A, Gac-Santel M, Kageyama J et al (2018) Direct pericyte-to-neuron reprogramming via unfolding of a neural stem cell-like program. Nat Neurosci 21:932–940. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0168-3
- Kumar A, Dudhal S, Sundari TA, Sunkara M, Usman H, Varshney A, Mukhopadhyay A (2016) Dopaminergic-primed fetal liver mesenchymal stromal-like cells can reverse parkinsonian symptoms in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned mice. Cytotherapy 18:307–319. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jcyt.2015.11.007
- Kuriakose D, Xiao Z (2020) Pathophysiology and treatment of stroke: present status and future perspectives. Int J Mol Sci 21:7609. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21207609
- Ladewig J, Mertens J, Kesavan J, Doerr J, Poppe D, Glaue F, Herms S et al (2012) Small molecules enable highly efficient neuronal conversion of human fibroblasts. Nat Methods 9:575–578. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1972

- Laredo F, Plebanski J, Tedeschi A (2019) Pericytes: problems and promises for CNS repair. Front Cell Neurosci 13:546. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00546
- Li X, Zuo X, Jing J, Ma Y, Wang J, Liu D, Zhu J et al (2015) Small-molecule-driven direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts into functional neurons. Cell Stem Cell 17:195–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.06.003
- Liang X-G, Tan C, Wang C-K, Tao R-R, Huang Y-J, Ma K-F, Fukunaga K et al (2018) Myt11 induced direct reprogramming of pericytes into cholinergic neurons. CNS Neurosci Ther 24: 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1111/cns.12821
- Liu Y, Yu C, Daley TP, Wang F, Cao WS, Bhate S, Lin X et al (2018) CRISPR activation screens systematically identify factors that drive neuronal fate and reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell 23: 758–771.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.09.003
- Ma Y, Xie H, Du X, Wang L, Jin X, Zhang Q, Han Y et al (2021) In vivo chemical reprogramming of astrocytes into neurons. Cell Discov 7:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41421-021-00243-8
- Mandai M, Watanabe A, Kurimoto Y, Hirami Y, Morinaga C, Daimon T, Fujihara M et al (2017) Autologous induced stem-cell–derived retinal cells for macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 376:1038–1046. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1608368
- Marro S, Pang ZP, Yang N, Tsai M-C, Qu K, Chang HY, Südhof TC et al (2011) Direct lineage conversion of terminally differentiated hepatocytes to functional neurons. Cell Stem Cell 9: 374–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.09.002
- McGinn MJ, Povlishock JT (2016) Pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. Neurosurg Clin N Am 27:397–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nec.2016.06.002
- Mertens J, Paquola ACM, Ku M, Hatch E, Böhnke L, Ladjevardi S, McGrath S et al (2015) Directly reprogrammed human neurons retain aging-associated transcriptomic signatures and reveal age-related nucleocytoplasmic defects. Cell Stem Cell 17:705–718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2015.09.001
- Moreno-Luna R, Esteban PF, Paniagua-Torija B, Arevalo-Martin A, Garcia-Ovejero D, Molina-Holgado E (2021) Heterogeneity of the endocannabinoid system between cerebral cortex and spinal cord oligodendrocytes. Mol Neurobiol 58:689–702. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-02148-1
- Mothe AJ, Zahir T, Santaguida C, Cook D, Tator CH (2011) Neural stem/progenitor cells from the adult human spinal cord are multipotent and self-renewing and differentiate after transplantation. PLoS One 6:e27079. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027079
- Nagoshi N, Khazaei M, Ahlfors J-E, Ahuja CS, Nori S, Wang J, Shibata S et al (2018) Human spinal oligodendrogenic neural progenitor cells promote functional recovery after spinal cord injury by axonal remyelination and tissue sparing: oligodendrogenic NPCs for spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 7:806–818. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0269
- Niu W, Zang T, Zou Y, Fang S, Smith DK, Bachoo R, Zhang C-L (2013) In vivo reprogramming of astrocytes to neuroblasts in the adult brain. Nat Cell Biol 15:1164–1175. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ncb2843
- Niu W, Zang T, Smith DK, Vue TY, Zou Y, Bachoo R, Johnson JE et al (2015) SOX2 reprograms resident astrocytes into neural progenitors in the adult brain. Stem Cell Rep 4:780–794. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.03.006
- Pang ZP, Yang N, Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Fuentes DR, Yang TQ, Citri A et al (2011) Induction of human neuronal cells by defined transcription factors. Nature 476:220–223. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature10202
- Pereira M, Birtele M, Shrigley S, Benitez JA, Hedlund E, Parmar M, Ottosson DR (2017) Direct reprogramming of resident NG2 glia into neurons with properties of fast-spiking Parvalbumincontaining interneurons. Stem Cell Rep 9:742–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017. 07.023

- Pfisterer U, Kirkeby A, Torper O, Wood J, Nelander J, Dufour A, Björklund A et al (2011) Direct conversion of human fibroblasts to dopaminergic neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 10343–10348. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105135108
- Pfisterer U, Ek F, Lang S, Soneji S, Olsson R, Parmar M (2016) Small molecules increase direct neural conversion of human fibroblasts. Sci Rep 6:38290. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38290
- Qi R, Yang C (2018) Renal tubular epithelial cells: the neglected mediator of tubulointerstitial fibrosis after injury. Cell Death Dis 9:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-1157-x
- Qin H, Zhao A, Zhang C, Fu X (2016) Epigenetic control of reprogramming and transdifferentiation by histone modifications. Stem Cell Rev Rep 12:708–720. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-016-9682-4
- Qiu X-C, Jin H, Zhang R-Y, Ding Y, Zeng X, Lai B-Q, Ling E-A et al (2015) Donor mesenchymal stem cell-derived neural-like cells transdifferentiate into myelin-forming cells and promote axon regeneration in rat spinal cord transection. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:105. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-015-0100-7
- Rackham OJL, Firas J, Fang H, Oates ME, Holmes ML, Knaupp AS, FANTOM Consortium et al (2016) A predictive computational framework for direct reprogramming between human cell types. Nat Genet 48:331–335. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3487
- Ringsrud KM (2001) Cells in the urine sediment. Lab Med 32:153–155. https://doi.org/10.1309/ 60JQ-6F5F-1V9E-AGGB
- Rinn JL, Wang JK, Liu H, Montgomery K, van de Rijn M, Chang HY (2008) A systems biology approach to anatomic diversity of skin. J Invest Dermatol 128:776–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.jid.5700986
- Rivetti di Val Cervo P, Romanov RA, Spigolon G, Masini D, Martín-Montañez E, Toledo EM, La Manno G et al (2017) Induction of functional dopamine neurons from human astrocytes in vitro and mouse astrocytes in a Parkinson's disease model. Nat Biotechnol 35:444–452. https://doi. org/10.1038/nbt.3835
- Rowe RG, Daley GQ (2019) Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery. Nat Rev Genet 20:377–388. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-019-0100-z
- Shibata M, Kurokawa D, Nakao H, Ohmura T, Aizawa S (2008) MicroRNA-9 modulates Cajal–Retzius cell differentiation by suppressing Foxg1 expression in mouse medial pallium. J Neurosci 28:10415–10421. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3219-08.2008
- Simon DK, Tanner CM, Brundin P (2020) Parkinson disease epidemiology, pathology, genetics and pathophysiology. Clin Geriatr Med 36:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cger.2019.08.002
- Song B, Cha Y, Ko S, Jeon J, Lee N, Seo H, Park K-J et al (2020) Human autologous iPSC–derived dopaminergic progenitors restore motor function in Parkinson's disease models. J Clin Invest 130:904–920. https://doi.org/10.1172/JC1130767
- Strano A, Tuck E, Stubbs VE, Livesey FJ (2020) Variable outcomes in neural differentiation of human PSCs arise from intrinsic differences in developmental signaling pathways. Cell Rep 31: 107732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107732
- Su Z, Niu W, Liu M-L, Zou Y, Zhang C-L (2014) In vivo conversion of astrocytes to neurons in the injured adult spinal cord. Nat Commun 5:3338. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4338
- Sullivan GM, Knutsen AK, Peruzzotti-Jametti L, Korotcov A, Bosomtwi A, Dardzinski BJ, Bernstock JD et al (2020) Transplantation of induced neural stem cells (iNSCs) into chronically demyelinated corpus callosum ameliorates motor deficits. Acta Neuropathol Commun 8:84. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-020-00960-3
- Tai W, Xu X-M, Zhang C-L (2020) Regeneration through in vivo cell fate reprogramming for neural repair. Front Cell Neurosci 14:107. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.00107
- Tang Y, Liu M-L, Zang T, Zhang C-L (2017) Direct reprogramming rather than iPSC-based reprogramming maintains aging hallmarks in human motor neurons. Front Mol Neurosci 10: 359. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00359
- Thier MC, Hommerding O, Panten J, Pinna R, García-González D, Berger T, Wörsdörfer P et al (2019) Identification of embryonic neural plate border stem cells and their generation by direct

reprogramming from adult human blood cells. Cell Stem Cell 24:166–182.e13. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2018.11.015

- Torper O, Ottosson DR, Pereira M, Lau S, Cardoso T, Grealish S, Parmar M (2015) In vivo reprogramming of striatal NG2 glia into functional neurons that integrate into local host circuitry. Cell Rep 12:474–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.040
- Toyokuni S (2015) Chemical conversion of human fibroblasts into neuronal cells: dawn of future clinical trials. J Clin Biochem Nutr 56:165. https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.56-3-editorial
- Tsunemoto RK, Eade KT, Blanchard JW, Baldwin KK (2015) Forward engineering neuronal diversity using direct reprogramming. EMBO J 34:1445–1455. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj. 201591402
- Tsunemoto R, Lee S, Szűcs A, Chubukov P, Sokolova I, Blanchard JW, Eade KT et al (2018) Diverse reprogramming codes for neuronal identity. Nature 557:375–380. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-018-0103-5
- Ullah M, Iqbal H, Khan I, Salim A (2021) Chapter 9: Chromatin remodeling and cardiac differentiation of stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer NATURE, pp 251–271
- Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Pang ZP, Kokubu Y, Südhof TC, Wernig M (2010) Direct conversion of fibroblasts to functional neurons by defined factors. Nature 463:1035–1041. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature08797
- Vonderwalde I, Azimi A, Rolvink G, Ahlfors J-E, Shoichet MS, Morshead CM (2020) Transplantation of directly reprogrammed human neural precursor cells following stroke promotes synaptogenesis and functional recovery. Transl Stroke Res 11:93–107. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12975-019-0691-x
- Wang L, Wang L, Huang W, Su H, Xue Y, Su Z, Liao B et al (2013) Generation of integration-free neural progenitor cells from cells in human urine. Nat Methods 10:84–89. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nmeth.2283
- Wang H, Song G, Chuang H, Chiu C, Abdelmaksoud A, Ye Y, Zhao L (2018) Portrait of glial scar in neurological diseases. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 31. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2058738418801406
- Wang L-L, Garcia CS, Zhong X, Ma S, Zhang C-L (2020) Rapid and efficient in vivo astrocyte-toneuron conversion with regional identity and connectivity? bioRxiv 2020.08.16.253195. https:// doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.16.253195
- Wapinski OL, Lee QY, Chen AC, Li R, Corces MR, Ang CE, Treutlein B et al (2017) Rapid chromatin switch in the direct reprogramming of fibroblasts to neurons. Cell Rep 20: 3236–3247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.011
- Wu J, Sheng C, Liu Z, Jia W, Wang B, Li M, Fu L et al (2015) Lmx1a enhances the effect of iNSCs in a PD model. Stem Cell Res 14:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2014.10.004
- Wuttke TV, Markopoulos F, Padmanabhan H, Wheeler AP, Murthy VN, Macklis JD (2018) Developmentally primed cortical neurons maintain fidelity of differentiation and establish appropriate functional connectivity after transplantation. Nat Neurosci 21:517–529. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0098-0
- Xie X, Fu Y, Liu J (2017) Chemical reprogramming and transdifferentiation. Curr Opin Genet Dev 46:104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2017.07.003
- Xue Y, Ouyang K, Huang J, Zhou Y, Ouyang H, Li H, Wang G et al (2013) Direct conversion of fibroblasts to neurons by reprogramming PTB-regulated microRNA circuits. Cell 152:82–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.045
- Yang H, Hao D, Liu C, Huang D, Chen B, Fan H, Liu C et al (2019) Generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from human spermatogonial stem cells to rescue parkinsonian phenotypes. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:195. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1294-x
- Yildirim T, Okutan O, Akpinar E, Yilmaz A, Isik HS (2018) Neuroprotective effects of high-dose human albumin against traumatic spinal cord injury in rats. Bratisl Med J 119:86–91. https://doi. org/10.4149/BLL 2018 016
- Yoo AS, Sun AX, Li L, Shcheglovitov A, Portmann T, Li Y, Lee-Messer C et al (2011) MicroRNAmediated conversion of human fibroblasts to neurons. Nature 476:228–231. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature10323
- Yoon H, Walters G, Paulsen AR, Scarisbrick IA (2017) Astrocyte heterogeneity across the brain and spinal cord occurs developmentally, in adulthood and in response to demyelination. PLoS One 12:e0180697. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0180697
- Zhang L, Yin J-C, Yeh H, Ma N-X, Lee G, Chen XA, Wang Y et al (2015a) Small molecules efficiently reprogram human Astroglial cells into functional neurons. Cell Stem Cell 17: 735–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.09.012
- Zhang S-Z, Ma L-X, Qian W-J, Li H-F, Wang Z-F, Wang H-X, Wu Z-Y (2015b) Modeling neurological disease by rapid conversion of human urine cells into functional neurons. Stem Cells Int 2016:e2452985. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2452985



Therapeutic Effects of Mesenchymal Stem 14 Cells on Cognitive Deficits

Carl Randall Harrell, Ana Volarevic, and Vladislav Volarevic

Contents

Introduction	415
MSCs and Their Exosomes as New Therapeutic Agents in Regenerative Neurology	
and Neuroimmunology	418
Therapeutic Effects of MSCs and Their Exosomes in the Treatment of Alzheimer's	
Disease	421
Improvement of Cognitive Impairment Following Brain Damage and Ischemia in MSC-	
Treated Mice	426
Therapeutic Effects of MSCs and MSC-Exos in the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease,	
Schizophrenia, and Autism	429
Conclusion	431
References	432

Abstract

Due to their multilineage differentiation capability and their potent immunosuppressive and proangiogenic characteristics, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been considered as new therapeutic agents for the treatment of inflammatory and degenerative diseases of the central nervous system. In vitro, MSCs may differentiate into neuron-like cells. In vivo, MSCs, in a juxtacrine and paracrine manner, suppress detrimental immune responses in the brain and spinal cord, attenuate

C. R. Harrell

A. Volarevic Department of Cognitive Psychology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia e-mail: ana.volarevic@medf.kg.ac.rs

V. Volarevic (🖂)

Regenerative Processing Plant, LLC, Palm Harbor, FL, USA e-mail: dr.harrell@regenerativeprocessingplant.org

Department of Genetics and Department of Microbiology and immunology, Center for Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia

neuroinflammation, and promote the repair and regeneration of injured neural tissue. MSCs produce a large number of trophic and growth factors, induce neovascularization, and prevent apoptotic loss of injured neural cells. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disease that is incurable and characterized by progressive cognitive dysfunction and memory loss. Since the incidence of AD has been continuously increasing in the past decade, new therapeutic agents for the treatment of AD are urgently needed. Several recently published experimental studies revealed that MSCs, through the delivery of neuroprotective and immuno-modulatory microRNAs (miRNA), neural growth factors, and anti-inflammatory cytokines, significantly reduced neuronal loss, increased neurogenesis and syn-aptogenesis, and efficiently improved cognitive impairment. In this chapter, we summarized current knowledge about molecular and cellular mechanisms that were responsible for the MSC-based improvement of cognitive function in experimental animals, and we emphasized issues that should be addressed before MSCs and their secretome could be offered as a new human remedy for the treatment of AD.

Keywords

Alzheimer's disease · Cognitive impairment · Mesenchymal stem cells · Therapy

Abbreviations	
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AF	Amniotic fluid
AF-MSCs	Amniotic-fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ASDs	Autism spectrum disorders
AT	Adipose tissue
BACE1	β-site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1
BDGF	Brain-derived growth factor
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BM	Bone marrow
BM-MSCs	Bone-marrow-derived MSCs
CB	Cord blood
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CDNF	Cerebral dopamine neurotrophic factor
CTLs	Cytotoxic CD8 $+$ T cells
CXCR4	Chemokine receptor
DCs	Dendritic cells
d-MAPPS	Derived Multiple Allogeneic Proteins Paracrine Signaling
DP	Dental pulp
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
FGF-21	Fibroblast growth factor 21
HD	Huntington's disease
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HO-1	Hemeoxygenase-1
IDO	MSC-derived indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase

IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IRAK1	Interleukin-1-receptor-associated kinase
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
MCP	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
miRNA	MicroRNA
MSC-Exos	Mesenchymal-stem cell-derived exosomes
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
MWM	Morris water maze
NeuN	Neuronal nuclear protein
NK	Natural killer
NKT	Natural killer T
NO	Nitric oxide
NOR	Novel object recognition
NSC	Neural stem cell
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PGF	Placental growth factor
PL	Placenta
PL-MSCs	Placenta-derived MSCs
RORγT	Retinoic-acid-receptor-related orphan receptor gamma T
RVG	Neurotropic rabies virus glycoprotein
S1K	Sphingosine kinase
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
SSEA-3	Stage-specific embryonic antigen 3
SSEA-4	Stage-specific embryonic antigen 4
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
T-bet	T-box protein expressed in T cells
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAF6	TNF-receptor-associated factor 6
UC	Umbilical cord
UC-MSCs	Umbilical-cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Neurocognitive disorders belong to the group of organic brain syndrome caused by neurodegenerative processes, which lead to impaired cognitive functioning, memory problems, difficulties in the perception of language, and various behavioral changes (He et al. 2021). Neurodegenerative processes also lead to neuronal deterioration and

gradual loss of cognitive and neurological functions (Lilamand et al. 2020). The type of disorder and its cause determine, in the first place, which age group will be affected. Diseases like Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD) usually affect the elderly population. However, drug and alcohol abuse can cause these processes in the younger population as well (Luck et al. 2017). Vitamin deficiency, meningitis, encephalitis, and traumatic brain injuries cause neurocognitive dysfunction independent of age. Cardiovascular problems, diabetes, alcohol, and drug abuse significantly increase the possibility of neurological dysfunction and are, therefore, considered risk factors for neurocognitive diseases (Khan et al. 2021).

Cognitive and behavioral dysfunctions, manifested by difficulties in thinking, remembering, and reasoning, are all symptoms of neurocognitive organic syndromes, which develop as a consequence of gradual neuronal loss and degeneration (He et al. 2021). Additionally, all neurocognitive disorders may be accompanied by other symptoms, such as anxiety, headaches, vision loss, attention problems, and difficulties in performing routine tasks. The long-term prognosis of neurocognitive diseases remains challenging and uncertain since a definite cure for these conditions does not exist and the symptoms tend to aggravate and worsen over time (He et al. 2021).

Neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation are the leading causes of neurocognitive dysfunction (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019; Sü β et al. 2021; Hook et al. 2020). Progressive atrophy accompanied by the loss of neural cell function is observed in specified regions of the brains of patients suffering from neurodegenerative diseases (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), PD, AD, HD, prion diseases) (Hook et al. 2020). Metabolic dysfunction and alteration in cell-death-related signaling pathways in neural cells is the main reason for global developmental delay, expressive language delay, and intellectual disability in early childhood (Hook et al. 2020). Later on, in adolescence or early adulthood, due to progressive neurological regression, these patients continue to deteriorate with worsening neurological symptoms and a significant cognitive function decline (Hook et al. 2020). Bradykinesia, rigidity, loss of expressive language skills, epilepsy, and dysfunctional sleep are frequently part of the clinical picture observed in patients suffering from neurodegenerative diseases, affecting their quality of life and functionality (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019; Sü β et al. 2021; Hook et al. 2020).

In addition to neurodegeneration, chronic inflammation is the hallmark of neurocognitive diseases (Walker 2019) and is considered the main reason for the progressive and irreversible loss of neural cells (Süß et al. 2021). Responding to microbial infections, innate immune cells (macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer (NK) and natural killer T (NKT) cells) generate a variety of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines that increase the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019). Increased production of proinflammatory cytokines (interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α)) and chemokines induce enhanced expression of E and P selectins on endothelial cells, enabling the recruitment of circulating leukocytes in the inflamed brain region (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019; Sü β et al. 2021). Recruited DCs and macrophages capture and phagocyte microbes degrade microbial antigens and form small polypeptide fragments, which are, within major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, presented to the naïve or effector T cells, respectively (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019). Th1 and Th17 cell-driven immune responses are mainly responsible for the development of inflammation-induced loss of neural cells (Holley and Kielian 2012). Activated, proinflammatory DCs deliver microbial antigens to the regional lymph nodes and activate antigen-specific naïve CD4+ and CD8 + T cells, resulting in the generation of T-cell-dependent cellular immune response (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019; Süβ et al. 2021). Driven by DC-derived cytokines, naïve CD4 + T cells differentiate into effector, inflammatory CD4 + Th1, and Th17 helper cells (Süß et al. 2021). DC-derived IL-12 and NK cell-sourced interferon gamma (IFN- γ) activate T-box protein expressed in T cells (T-bet) and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-4 transcriptional factors in naïve T cells, resulting in the generation of CD4+ and CD8+ Th1 lymphocytes (Stojić-Vukanić et al. 2020). DC-sourced IL-1β, IL-6, IL-23, and TGF-β induce the generation and expansion of Th17 CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes through the activation of retinoic-acid-receptor-related orphan receptor gamma T (RORyT) and STAT-3 transcriptional factors in naïve T cells (Sü β et al. 2021; Hook et al. 2020; Stojić-Vukanić et al. 2020).

Within the inflamed tissue, CD4 + Th1 and Th17 cells activate phagocytes and enhance their proinflammatory properties (Harry 2021). CD4 + Th1 cell-sourced IFN- γ activates inflammatory M1 macrophages and M1 microglia, while CD4 + Th17 cells produce IL-17 and IL-22, which activate inflammatory N1 neutrophils to produce reactive oxygen species and inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β), crucially contributing to the aggravation of ongoing inflammation (Sü β et al. 2021; Hook et al. 2020; Stojić-Vukanić et al. 2020).

In addition to innate immune cells, effector CD4 + Th1 and Th17 cells orchestrate antigen-specific antimicrobial immune responses as well (Stojić-Vukanić et al. 2020). Antigen-presenting DCs activate naïve CD8 + T cells, which proliferate and differentiate into effector, cytotoxic CD8 + T cells (CTLs) under the influence of CD4 + Th cell-derived IL-2 (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 2002). At the same time, cross-talk between effector CD4 + Th cells and B cells is crucially important for optimal humoral immune response (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019; Sü β et al. 2021). IFN- γ , derived from CD4 + Th1 cells, induces Immunoglobulin (Ig) M and IgG antibody class switching and promotes synthesis and the production of antigenspecific IgG antibodies, which in turn regulate the antibody-dependent activation of macrophages, microglia, NK cells, and complement systems (Hook et al. 2020; Stojić-Vukanić et al. 2020; Harry 2021). This "inflammatory loop" and cooperation between innate and acquired immunity crucially contribute to the efficient elimination of foreign pathogens in the central nervous system (Harry 2021). However, the uncontrolled activation of immune cells may result in the development of chronic inflammation in the brain, which leads to the irreversible injury of neural cells (Süβ et al. 2021; Hook et al. 2020; Stojić-Vukanić et al. 2020; Harry 2021).

In order to prevent excessive tissue injury, immunosuppressive immune cells (alternatively activated macrophages, tolerogenic DCs, and regulatory Treg cells)

produce neurotrophins and anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, IL-35, and transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B)), which attenuate ongoing inflammation; provide neuroprotection; stimulate axonal regeneration; and maintain homeostasis in the central nervous system (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019). Since a weakened immune response is incapable of eliminating pathogenic microorganisms while an excessive immune response aggravates neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration, a balance between proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory immune cells has to be achieved for the optimal treatment of neurocognitive disorders (Kim et al. 2019). The most effective anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective therapeutic agents should prevent progressive loss of neural cells, induce axonal regeneration, stimulate an antimicrobial immune response, and promote the generation and expansion of immunosuppressive cells in the central nervous system (He et al. 2021). Correspondingly, therapeutic agents, which are able to suppress a harmful immune response and simultaneously provide trophic support to injured neurons, could be considered new remedies for the treatment of neurocognitive diseases (He et al. 2021).

Results obtained in recently conducted experimental and clinical studies demonstrated the therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in the treatment of neurodegenerative, neuroinflammatory, and neurocognitive diseases (Castorina et al. 2015; Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021). In this chapter, we emphasized current knowledge about molecular and cellular mechanisms, which are responsible for the beneficial effects of MSCs in the therapy of neurocognitive disorders.

MSCs and Their Exosomes as New Therapeutic Agents in Regenerative Neurology and Neuroimmunology

MSCs are adult stem cells which promote tissue repair and regeneration of postnatal tissues (Shariati et al. 2020). MSCs could be derived from many adult as well as fetus-associated tissues, including bone marrow (BM), adipose tissue (AT), umbilical cord (UC), cord blood (CB), amniotic fluid (AF), dental pulp (DP), placenta, synovia, and peripheral blood (Pittenger et al. 2019; Gazdic et al. 2015).

MSCs are fibroblastic, rapidly proliferating, self-renewable, spindle-shaped, plastic adherent cells, which grow well in vitro (Gazdic et al. 2015). The absence of an MSC-specific marker enforced the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) to establish the basic criteria for phenotypic characterization of MSCs, which should be positive (\geq 95%) for at least three markers among CD29, CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105 and negative for CD14 (expressed on monocytes), CD34 (expressed on hematopoietic cells), CD45 (pan-leukocyte marker), and CD79a and CD19 (markers of B lymphocytes) (Dominici et al. 2006). Importantly, MSCs do not express MHC class II proteins and costimulatory molecules, CD80 (B7–1), CD86 (B7–2), and CD40, suggesting their low immunogenicity and possibility for allogeneic transplantation in MHC-mismatched recipients (Gazdic et al. 2015; Volarevic et al. 2011).

One of the determining properties of MSCs is their capacity for spontaneous differentiation into osteocytes, chondrocytes, and adipocytes (Shariati et al. 2020). MSCs adopt different functional properties depending on their tissue source (Volarevic et al. 2011). Bone-marrow-derived MSCs have also been combined with neural stem cells to enhance their benefits for the treatment of spinal cord injury in an experimental animal model (Hosseini et al. 2018). AF-derived MSCs (AF-MSCs) exhibited a greater capacity for cell proliferation and self-renewal than BM-derived MSCs (BM-MSCs) (Harrell et al. 2018). AF-MSCs and PL-derived MSCs (PL-MSCs)) display intracellular and extracellular markers of pluripotent stem cells, such as octamer binding protein 3/4 (Oct-3/4), homeobox transcription factor Nanog, c-MYC, tumor-related antigen (TRA)-1-60, stage-specific embryonic antigen (SSEA)-3, and SSEA-4, and were capable of multilineage differentiation (Harrell et al. 2018). Several lines of evidence demonstrated that AF-MSCs and PL-MSCs might differentiate into functional neurons in vitro (Harrell et al. 2018). In comparison with BM-MSCs, AF-MSCs and PL-MSCs have a higher capacity for neural differentiation, more rapidly generate neurospheres, show higher expression of neural stemness markers (nestin, vimentin, Musashi), and produce a significantly higher amount of brain-derived growth factor (BDGF) and nerve growth factor (NGF), which enhance axonal regeneration (Harrell et al. 2018). Additionally, AF-MSCs and PL-MSCs may be a valuable cellular source of neural stem cells (NSCs) (Harrell et al. 2018).

NSCs derived from AF-MSCs showed better neuroregenerative properties than NSCs, which were differentiated from BM-MSCs (Harrell et al. 2018). Upon cultivation in a neuronal differentiation medium, AF-MSC-sourced NSCs generate more functional neurons than NSCs derived from BM-MSCs. Importantly, AF-MSCs and AF-MSC-derived NSCs maintained a normal karyotype in long-term cultures and were not tumorigenic in vivo after transplantation in immunode-ficient mice and, accordingly, could be used in clinical settings (Harrell et al. 2018). AF-MSC-based biological product "derived Multiple Allogeneic Proteins Paracrine Signaling" (d-MAPPS) restored meibomian gland structure and function, improved tear stability, induced the regeneration of epithelial cells, and enhanced the repair of the ocular surface epithelial barrier in patients suffering from dry eye disease, meibomian gland dysfunction, and epithelial basement membrane dystrophy with recurrent corneal erosion syndrome (Harrell et al. 2018).

In addition to their potential for multilineage differentiation, MSCs are immunoregulatory cells that may inhibit activated immune cells, attenuate ongoing neuroinflammation, and create an immunosuppressive microenvironment, enabling the efficient repair and regeneration of injured and inflamed neural tissue (Shariati et al. 2020). MSCs, in a juxtacrine (cell-to-cell-contact-dependent manner) or paracrine manner (through the secretion of soluble and insoluble immunomodulatory factors), regulate the phenotype and function of all immune cells. This also includes the cells that play a crucially important pathogenic role in the development and progression of neurocognitive diseases (Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Shariati et al. 2020). MSC-sourced TGF- β , hepatic growth factor (HGF), and nitric oxide (NO) inhibit the proliferation and activation of T lymphocytes, NK cells, and NKT cells. At the same time, MSC-derived indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) promotes the generation and expansion of immunosuppressive CD4 + FoxP3 + Tregs by inducing the transdifferentiation of inflammatory Th17 cells in Tregs (Volarevic et al. 2017). By producing hemeoxygenase-1 (HO-1), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), and anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, IL-35, and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra)), MSCs generate a tolerogenic phenotype in DCs and induce the alternative activation of macrophages (Harrell et al. 2019a). Tolerogenic DCs inter-react with naïve T cells and promote their differentiation toward Tregs, while alternatively activated macrophages produce immunosuppressive cytokines, which create an anti-inflammatory environment and inhibit ongoing inflammation in neural tissue (Harrell et al. 2019b).

As part of their paracrine activity, MSCs produce various proangiogenic factors (basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), angiopoietin-1, placental growth factor (PGF), IL-6, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), epidermal growth factor (EGF), HGF, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)), which induce neovascularization and provide trophic support to injured neurons (Volarevic et al. 2017; Haider and Aslam 2018).

Animal studies showed that MSCs may engraft in injured neural tissue and produce various bioactive factors suppressing the detrimental immune response and promoting neural regeneration and repopulation (Lv et al. 2021; Schweizer et al. 2020; Cooney et al. 2016). Importantly, the transplantation of allogeneic MSCs evoked little or no immune reactivity in MHC-mismatched recipient animals (Harrell et al. 2021a). Nevertheless, although MSCs, due to their regenerative, proangiogenic, and immunomodulatory properties, offer new hope in regenerative neurology, a variety of safety concerns have been raised regarding their clinical use (Volarevic et al. 2018).

Results from several clinical studies showed that MSC-based immunosuppressive effects were not noticed in all MSC-treated patients. Some MSC-treated patients did not respond to MSCs regardless of identical medical conditions to MSCs' responders. Even more, inflammation was aggravated in some of the MSC-treated patients (Volarevic et al. 2018). This phenomenon could be explained by the fact that MSCs are not strictly immunosuppressive cells and their immunoregulatory properties depend on the concentration of inflammatory cytokines (particularly TNF- α and IFN- γ) in the tissue in which they have been engrafted (Shariati et al. 2020). MSCs obtain an immunosuppressive or proinflammatory phenotype according to the inflammatory milieu to which they are exposed (Shariati et al. 2020). When MSCs are transplanted in the tissue with high levels of inflammatory cytokines, MSCs develop an immunosuppressive phenotype and induce the generation of tolerogenic phenotype in DCs, the alternative activation of macrophages, and the expansion of regulatory T lymphocytes, NK cells, and NKT cells (Shariati et al. 2020). When MSCs are engrafted in the microenvironment with low levels of TNF- α and IFN- γ , they obtain proinflammatory characteristics, produce large amounts of inflammatory mediators, and induce the activation of inflammatory immune cells (M1 macrophages, N1 neutrophils, Th1 and Th17 lymphocytes) (Shariati et al. 2020).

Additionally, MSCs' therapeutic potential is influenced by the donor's age (Haider 2018). When MSCs are considered for autologous clinical applications in the elderly, the possible age-related alterations in their phenotype and function, such as loss of proliferation and differentiation capacity and reduced therapeutic effectiveness, should be considered (Nurkovic et al. 2016).

Serious safety concerns are related to the possible unwanted differentiation of MSCs upon their engraftment in inflamed and injured tissues (Musiał-Wysocka et al. 2019). Encapsulated formations, such as calcifications and ossifications, were detected in the tissue in which MSCs were transplanted, suggesting an unintended osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation of engrafted MSCs under the influence of the local microenvironment (Volarevic et al. 2018). Furthermore, when MSCs had been given, together with immunosuppressive medications (which have been used as standard therapy for autoimmune and neuroinflammatory diseases), several patients developed severe, life-threatening respiratory and gastrointestinal infections. These observations provide evidence that MSCs could not be used along with other immunosuppressive drugs. Additionally, many chromosomal abnormalities were observed in some cultures of long-lived MSCs, indicating that a detailed genetic analysis of MSCs has to be done before their transplantation into patients (Volarevic et al. 2018).

Since numerous experimental and clinical trials showed that the majority of the immunoregulatory and angiomodulatory effects of MSCs in the treatment of neurocognitive disorders were dependent on the activity of MSC-sourced bioactive factors (lipids, proteins (enzymes, cytokines, chemokines, immunoregulatory proteins, trophic and growth factors, and microRNAs (miRNAs)), the therapeutic use of these soluble mediators (either alone or within exosomes (Exos)) hold a great promise in cell-free therapy of neurocognitive diseases (Harrell et al. 2019a; Haider and Aramini 2020). MSC-derived exosomes (MSC-Exos) contain all of MSC-sourced neuroprotective and immunomodulatory factors and, thanks to their nano-sized dimension and lipid envelope, may easily penetrate the blood-brain barrier and brain tissue and reach target cells (Harrell et al. 2021a). As cell-free therapeutic agents, MSC-Exos avoid all safety concerns related to the transplantation of MSCs, including unwanted differentiation, undesired immunoregulation, and malignant transformation (Harrell et al. 2021a; Volarevic et al. 2018). Accordingly, a large number of recently published experimental studies showed advantageous benefits of MSC-Exos over MSCs in the treatment of AD, PD, posttraumatic and ischemic brain injury, schizophrenia, and autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) (Harrell et al. 2021).

Therapeutic Effects of MSCs and Their Exosomes in the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurological disorder that provokes memory loss, cognitive dysfunction, abnormal behavior, and reduced daily functions of patients suffering from it (Nurkovic et al. 2016). Patients with advanced AD often enter a

coma and pass away due to exhaustion and incapacitation (Joe and Ringman 2019). The main neuropathological characteristics of AD are the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (hyperphosphorylated microtubule-associated protein tau-intraneuronal aggregates) and the deposition of amyloid plaques (insoluble deposits of amyloid peptide) (Jellinger 2020). They are commonly detected in the medial temporal lobe and hippocampus of the brain. The intraneuronal aggregation of hyperphosphorylated tau proteins leads to microtubule disintegration, causing cell death in affected neurons, while amyloid peptides accumulate and inhibit synaptic signal transmission (Jellinger 2020).

Results obtained in a large number of preclinical studies showed that MSCs efficiently alleviate AD-related symptoms in experimental animals by decreasing the deposition of amyloid β protein and increasing the levels of acetylcholine in the brain. which led to the better survival of neuronal cells and, consequently, resulted in an improved spatial learning memory of AD animals (Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Si and Wang 2021; Shariati et al. 2020; Qin et al. 2020). MSCs reduce the deposition of amyloid β protein by inducing the autophagy of pathological neurons, which had increased the accumulation of this protein (Harrell et al. 2021b). Additionally, MSCs improve the neurogenesis and synaptogenesis of hippocampal neurons in AD animals by producing a large number of neurotrophins and growth factors (BDGF, nerve growth factor (NGF), VEGF) (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). MSCs reduced synaptic protein loss by restoring the levels of synaptotagmin-1, synaptophysin, and glutamic acid decarboxylase-65 in the hippocampus of AD rats. Additionally, by modulating the expression and activity of choline acetyltransferase and acetylcholinesterase, MSCs increase levels of acetylcholine in the hippocampus, which is followed by a significant improvement in the learning abilities and cognitive function of AD animals (Andrzejewska et al. 2021).

In addition to their direct effect on pathological neurons, MSCs prevent AD progression by suppressing ongoing inflammation by inhibiting inflammatory M1 microglia cells (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). MSCs inhibit the secretion of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, macrophage chemotactic protein (MCP)) and induce the production of immunosuppressive cytokines (TGF- β , IL-10) in microglia cells, favoring their transdifferentiation from inflammatory (M1) into anti-inflammatory (M2) cells (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Accordingly, a cross-talk between MSCs and microglia cells resulted in the alleviation of inflammatory and the upregulation of immunosuppressive cytokines in the brains of AD animals, which was manifested by the significant improvement in cognitive functions (Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021).

Results obtained in various experimental trials demonstrated that exosomes are responsible for the interneuronal transfer of hazardous chemicals within the brain of AD patients, playing an essential role in the progression and aggravation of AD (Beatriz et al. 2021). In line with these findings, several research groups investigated whether MSC-Exos may use the same pathways (gap junctions, synaptic transmission, endosomal/lysosomal secretion system) to deliver MSC-derived neuroprotective and trophic chemicals to injured neurons, resulting in the alleviation of AD-related symptoms (Harrell et al. 2021b; Nakano and Fujimiya 2021;

Guo et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2020b; Yin et al. 2020; Chakari-Khiavi et al. 2019). As expected, MSC-Exos are effective in treating AD in a large number of animal studies (Harrell et al. 2021; Nakano and Fujimiya 2021; Guo et al. 2020, Yang et al. 2020b; Yin et al. 2020; Chakari-Khiavi et al. 2019).

Wang and Yang demonstrated that intravenously injected BM-MSC-Exos significantly reduced inflammation and the accumulation of amyloid peptides and restored synaptic signal transmission in the brains of APP/PS1 transgenic mice, a wellestablished animal model of AD (Wang and Yang 2020). The administration of BM-MSC-Exos significantly improved cognitive function in experimental mice by stimulating the sphingosine kinase (S1K)/sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) signaling pathway in the central nervous system (Wang and Yang 2020). S1K and S1P regulate sphingomyelin metabolism, maintain vascular solidity, and encourage the development of blood vessels in the brain, enabling a more efficient transfer of neurotrophins to the injured neurons (Jellinger 2020). Since a downregulated expression of S1K and/or S1P was noticed in the brain tissue samples of APP/S1 mice and AD patients (Jellinger 2020), BM-MSC-Exo-induced restoration of S1K/S1P signaling led to the significant improvement of cognitive function and the alleviation of AD-related symptoms in APP/S1 animals (Wang and Yang 2020). Increased S1K and S1P expression was fully prevented by the intraperitoneal injection of S1K or S1P inhibitors, implying that the therapeutic effects of BM-MSC-Exos in AD were dependent on the activation of S1/S1P signaling pathways in the brain of APP/S1 mice (Wang and Yang 2020).

In addition to the modulation of S1K/S1P signaling, MSC-Exo-based neuroprotection in APP/PS1 mice was also based on MSC-Exo-dependent activation of the amyloid-peptide-degrading enzyme neprilysin (Ding et al. 2018; Elia et al. 2019). Intracerebral injection of BM-MSC-Exos increased neprilysin expression and activity, which reduced amyloid protein accumulation in APP/PS1 animals (Ding et al. 2018). BM-MSC-Exos also reduced the activity of the β -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1) and downregulated the expression of presenilin-1 (PS1), both of which are required for the synthesis and degradation of amyloid precursor proteins (Harrell et al. 2021b; Elia et al. 2019). Additionally, BM-MSC-Exo-based therapy significantly increased the expression of NeuN (a neuronal cell biomarker). It also led to the increased accumulation of NeuN in the cortex and hippocampus of APP/S1 mice (Harrell et al. 2021b; Elia et al. 2019). As a result of MSC-Exo-based therapy, the total number of dystrophic neurites in the cortex and hippocampus of BM-MSC-Exo-treated APP/PS1 mice was considerably lower than in untreated animals (Elia et al. 2019).

Notably, according to Reza-Zaldivar and colleagues, MSC-Exos restored cognitive performance in AD mice in the same way that parental MSCs did (Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2019). The Morris water maze (MWM) and novel object recognition (NOR) tests revealed that injecting either MSC-Exos or MSCs into AD rats effectively reduced cognitive impairment (Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2019). There was no difference in the benefits achieved by MSCs and MSC-Exos in terms of learning ability and memory loss (Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2019). The MWM test revealed that both MSC-Exos and MSCs dramatically improved learning ability in AD animals. The NOR test revealed that MSC-Exo-treated and MSC-treated mice had equivalent increases in the percentage of interaction time when compared to untreated mice, implying that MSCs restored learning ability and memory in AD mice in a paracrine manner by delivering immunomodulatory and trophic factors into the injured neurons of the affected brain via exosomes (Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2019). Accordingly, Reza-Zaldivar and colleagues concluded that MSC-Exos were mainly responsible for the beneficial effects of MSCs in AD, particularly for MSC-dependent improvement of cognitive function (Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2019).

Similarly, as observed after the injection of BM-MSC-Exos, AT-derived MSC-Exos (AT-MSC-Exos) could efficiently provide neuroprotection, stimulate neurogenesis, and alleviate cognitive impairment in APP/PS1 mice (Ma et al. 2020). AT-MSC-Exos reach the brain quickly after intranasal delivery, accumulating in neurons and glial cells. AT-MSC-Exo-treated APP/PS1 mice showed significantly reduced amyloid β protein accumulation and decreased microglia activation (Ma et al. 2020). Importantly, the proteomic analysis of AT-MSC-Exos revealed the presence of neurotrophins (filamin A, vinculin, neuropilin-1, neuroplastin, gliaderived nexin, flotillin-1, drebrin, teneurin-4), which induced neurogenesis and myelin formation, stimulated axonal growth and regeneration, and provided neuroprotection to injured neurons. In AT-MSC-Exo-treated neurons, 1094 genes were upregulated, while 267 genes were downregulated (Ma et al. 2020). Raised expression of PCLO, TENM1, and NEXMIF genes, which regulated synaptic function and improved memory in experimental mice and reduced the expression of the BAD gene, which caused the cell death of injured neurons, were found in AT-MSC-Exos. As a result, the injection of AT-MSC-Exos reduced neurologic damage, increased the total number of newly produced neurons, and effectively corrected memory deficits in APP/PS1 mice (Ma et al. 2020).

The accumulation of amyloid protein is aggravated by microglia-driven neuroinflammation, which plays a key role in the genesis and progression of AD (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019). Several research groups demonstrated that the main mechanism for MSC-Exo-based reduction of cognitive impairment in APP/PS1 mice is the suppression of microglia's proinflammatory characteristics (Harrell et al. 2021; Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021; Ding et al. 2018). By using APP/PS1 mice as a model for AD, Ding and colleagues showed that the administration of umbilical-cord-derived MSC-Exos (UC-MSC-Exos) inhibited the generation of inflammatory phenotypes in activated microglia, which, consequently, resulted in alleviated inflammation in the brain and was manifested by improved learning ability and memory of experimental animals (Ding et al. 2018). UC-MSC-Exo-treated APP/PS1 mice had a significantly shorter mean escape latency, a greater number of platform location crossing times, and a longer time spent in the target quadrant than MSC-Exo-untreated mice, implying that UC-MSC-Exos improved APP/PS1 mice's behavioral performance by improving spatial learning and memory function (Ding et al. 2018). Additionally, UC-MSC-Exos considerably increased the activity of amyloid-\beta-degrading enzymes (neprilysin- and insulindegrading enzymes) in the brains of experimental mice, resulting in a considerable reduction in amyloid β deposition (Ding et al. 2018). The immunostaining of the brains of APP/S1 mice revealed a significantly reduced number of Iba-1-positive inflammatory microglia cells in the brains of UC-MSC-Exo-treated mice (Ding et al. 2018). The cellular makeup of microglial cells revealed that most microglia cells were polarized toward the immunosuppressive M2 phenotype (Ding et al. 2018). Significantly increased number of chitinase 3-like 3 (YM-1), arginase-1 (Arg-1), mannose receptors C type 1 (MRC1), and haptoglobin/hemoglobin scavenger receptor (CD163)-expressing M2 microglia cells were noticed in the brains of UC-MSC-Exotreated APP/S1 mice compared to the UC-MSC-Exo-untreated animals (Harrell et al. 2021b; Ding et al. 2018). As a result, levels of M2 microglia-derived immunosuppressive cytokines (TGF- β and IL-10) increased in the peripheral blood and brains of UC-MSC-Exo-treated APP/PS1 mice, while levels of M1 microglia-sourced proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IL-1 β) decreased, confirming that the significant improvement of cognitive function in UC-MSC-Exo-treated APP/S1 mice was mainly a consequence of UC-MSC-Exo-based alleviation of microglia-driven neuroinflammation (Harrell et al. 2021; Ding et al. 2018).

Results obtained by Nakano and colleagues, who emphasized the crucial role of MSC-sourced miRNA-146 for MSC-Exo-dependent reduction of microglia and neuroinflammation in AD mice (Nakano et al. 2020), were consistent with these findings. MiRNA-146 is a noncoding RNA molecule that regulates microglia inflammatory characteristics (Nakano and Fujimiya 2021). In microglia, MSC-Exos suppressed TNF-receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) and IL-1-receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK1) in a miRNA-146-dependent way, resulting in decreased phosphorylation of transcriptional factor NF-kB (Nakano and Fujimiya 2021).

In MSC-Exo-treated microglia, the inhibition of the NF-kB signaling pathway reduced the production of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 genes. It prevented the inflammatory M1 phenotype (Nakano et al. 2020). M1 microglia release NO and proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β) that alter synaptogenesis and decrease cognitive function, leading to the progression of AD (Subramaniyan and Terrando 2019). Intracerebroventricularly injected BM-MSC-Exos alleviated neuroinflammation and improved spatial learning and memory function in APP/PS1 mice by suppressing M1 microglia activation and promoting their differentiation into M2 immunosuppressive cells in a miRNA-146-dependent manner (Nakano et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2018).

MSC-derived miRNA-21, in addition to miRNA-146, was also responsible for MSC-Exo-based immunomodulation in the inflamed brains of APP/PS1 mice (Cui et al. 2018). Exosomes derived from hypoxia-preconditioned MSCs, in a miRNA-21-dependent way, suppressed microglial cell activation in APP/PS1 mice and prevented memory impairments (Cui et al. 2018). Significantly increased miRNA-21 corresponded to reduced amyloid β protein deposition, downregulated concentrations of inflammatory cytokines, reduced activation of transcriptional factors (signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and NF-kB), and increased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 in the brains of MSC-Exotreated APP/PS1 mice (Cui et al. 2018).

Even though MSC-Exos can cross the blood-brain barrier, most intravenously injected MSC-Exos end up in the spleen and liver (Offen et al. 2019; Morishita et al. 2017). Cui and colleagues used MSC-Exos conjugated with the neurotropic rabies virus glycoprotein (RVG; RVG-tagged MSC-Exos) to target intravenously injected MSC-Exos into the brains of APP/PS1 mice (Cui et al. 2019). RVG-tagged MSC-Exos showed enhanced tropism for the cortex and hippocampus compared to RVG-untagged MSC-Exos. Accordingly, a higher presence of MSC-Exos was observed in the brains of APP/PS1 animals that received RVG-tagged MSC-Exos (Cui et al. 2019). The injection of RVG-tagged MSC-Exo dramatically reduced the serum levels of inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL- β , and IL-6) and increased the serum concentration of immunosuppressive IL-10 in APP/PS1 mice. As a result, the behavioral and cognitive skills of APP/PS1 mice that received RVG-tagged MSC-Exos were much better than the learning and memory abilities of animals that were treated with RVG-untagged MSC-Exos (Cui et al. 2019).

The encouraging results of experimental studies raised hope for an efficient clinical application of MSCs in AD therapy (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Initially, in 2011, scientists from South Korea conducted a Phase I clinical trial in which nine patients with mild to moderate AD underwent stereotactic brain infusion of allogeneic MSCs (ClinicalTrials identifier: NCT01547689). The transplanted MSCs were well tolerated without any significant side effects related to their administration. Subsequently, Phase I/II clinical trials in which AD patients received allogeneic MSCs in the hippocampal region were also reported to be safe since no patients reported serious complications during 18-24 months of follow-up (ClinicalTrials identifier: NCT01696591 and ClinicalTrials identifier: NCT02054208) (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). The first Phase II clinical trial that investigated the therapeutic potential of MSCs in the treatment of 40 AD patients was conducted in the United States in 2015 (ClinicalTrials identifier: NCT02833792) (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Similar trials have been elicited in Europe and Asia, but results proving the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs in the alleviation of AD-related signs and symptoms are still waiting to be published.

Improvement of Cognitive Impairment Following Brain Damage and Ischemia in MSC-Treated Mice

The hippocampus is required for memory, spatial learning, and cognition (Shetty 2014). Accordingly, due to hippocampus injury, cognitive impairment and memory loss emerge (Shetty 2014). Traumatic injury and ischemia cause temporary neurogenesis, a compensatory response that should help injured neurons recover their function. However, the injured brain's regenerating ability is severely restricted (Chen et al. 2020b).

Intrathecal, intravenous, and intra-arterial infusion of MSCs significantly improved the cognitive deficit in experimental animals suffering from ischemia or traumatic brain injury (TBI) (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). MSCs, delivered directly into the injured or ischemic brains, engrafted in the inflamed microenvironment,

obtained an anti-inflammatory phenotype and produced large amounts of neurotrophins (neuropilin-1, neuroplastin, glia-derived nexin, flotillin-1), immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10, IL-35, TGF-B), and proangiogenic factors (VEGF, hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF-1 α), which attenuated ongoing inflammation, promoted neovascularization, and finally led to the regeneration of injured neurons (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Systemically injected MSCs usually engraft in lungs and liver (Volarevic et al. 2011). By releasing various neurotrophins, MSCs, in endocrine manner, modulate phenotype and function of injured neurons and microglial cells (Volarevic et al. 2011). Moreover, MSCs may, in a juxtacrine and paracrine manner, stimulate the microglial cells to secrete trophic factors, which will further promote neurogenesis, neuroprotection, and neural repair in ischemic and injured brains (Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021). MSCs generate the M2 phenotype in microglia, characterized by an increased capacity for enhanced production of neurotrophins and immunosuppressive cytokines (Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021). As a result, transplanted MSCs and M2 microglia create an immunosuppressive microenvironment with an increased concentration of neuroprotective molecules and growth factors that prevent the apoptosis of injured neurons and stimulate their regeneration (Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021).

The genetic modification of MSCs improves their therapeutic effects in neuroprotection and immunomodulation after transplantation in ischemic and injured brains (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Genetically engineered MSCs that over-express fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF-21) or chemokine receptor CXCR4 enhanced cell homing to the site of brain injury and inflammation (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). A significant increase in engrafted MSCs resulted in increased neurogenesis in injured brains, particularly in the hippocampal region. As a result, significantly improved cognitive function and learning abilities were observed in TBI rats that received FGF-21 or CXCR4-overexpressing MSCs (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Similarly, genetically engineered MSCs that overexpress IL-4 and IL-10 were superior in the inhibition of Th1 and Th17 cell-driven neuroinflammation, while HIF-1 α -overexpressing MSCs remarkably increased neo-angiogenesis in ischemic brains, contributing to the better restoration of cognitive function in MSC-treated TBI rats (Andrzejewska et al. 2021).

By using the same molecular mechanisms as their parental MSCs, MSC-Exos block harmful immune responses and enhance neurogenesis and neuritogenesis by delivering trophic, vasoactive, and immunomodulatory molecules to damaged neurons and microglia (Harrell et al. 2021a; Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021; Chen et al. 2020). Several lines of evidence showed that MSC-Exos effectively restored cognition, learning disabilities, and memory loss in injured and ischemic hippocampal neurons (Harrell et al. 2021b; Chen et al. 2020c; Niu et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2015, 2020; Gao et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2020a).

By using an experimental murine model of acute brain injury, Niu and colleagues demonstrated that the intravenous injection of UC-MSC-Exos improved cognitive performance in experimental animals by modulating metabolism in hippocampal neurons (Niu et al. 2020). Proteomic analysis showed that UC-MSC-Exos contain 67 proteins that are able to alter metabolic function in damaged neurons

(Niu et al. 2020). Among these MSC-derived proteins, adiponectin was considered the most important regulator of metabolism. Accordingly, adiponectin levels in the hippocampus and serum samples of UC-MSC-Exo-treated mice were found to be higher, and an increase in adiponectin levels was linked to the better cognitive function of UC-MSC-Exo-treated animals (Niu et al. 2020).

Kim and coworkers used an experimental murine model of TBI to demonstrate the therapeutic potential of MSC-Exos in the restoration of cognitive function after TBI (Kim et al. 2016). They showed that only a few days after their intravenous injection, MSC-Exos significantly corrected pattern separation and spatial learning defects in experimental animals (Kim et al. 2016).

A single intravenous injection of MSC-Exos dramatically restored sensorimotor and cognitive performance in rats with unilateral mild cortical contusion (Zhang et al. 2020). There was a remarkable reduction in hippocampus neuronal cell death, alleviated neuroinflammation, and a significant rise in the number of newly produced blood vessels and neurons in the brains of MSC-Exo-treated rats. MSC-Exos improved animals' cognitive function by regulating microglia activation and preventing reactive astrogliosis, which led to a significant reduction in the inflammation-induced injury of neurons (Zhang et al. 2020). Additionally, MSC-Exos were able to correct myelination deficiencies and abnormalities of white matter. All of these MSC-Exo-based improvements in neural cells' morphology and function were followed by restored cognition and learning abilities of experimental animals (Zhang et al. 2020).

Similar to these findings are the results reported by Zhang and colleagues, who found that a systemic injection of MSC-Exos managed to significantly improve cognitive function in rats with TBI by encouraging functional recovery and neurovascular remodeling (Zhang et al. 2015). The MWM test showed that MSC-Exos-treated TBI rats had considerable improvement in spatial learning when compared to saline-treated animals (Zhang et al. 2015). Additionally, a significant increase in the number of newly formed immature and mature neurons in the dentate gyrus of MSC-Exo-treated TBI rats was accompanied by an alleviated concentration of inflammatory cytokines and an increased number of newly generated blood vessels in the brains, indicating that MSC-Exo-induced improvement in the cognitive function of TBI rats was due to the activity of MSC-Exo-sourced immunosuppressive, neurotrophic, and proangiogenic factors (Zhang et al. 2015).

Gao and colleagues suggested that miRNA-21, already reported for its antiapoptotic activity (Haider et al. 2010), was mostly responsible for MSC-Exos' positive effects in the restoration of cognitive function following brain injury. In experimental rats, MSC-Exo-delivered miRNA-21 protected neurons from apoptosis and reduced subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH)-induced cognitive impairment (Gao et al. 2020). MSC-Exo-delivered miRNA-21 inhibited apoptosis in damaged neurons by activating the PTEN/Akt signaling pathway (Gao et al. 2020). The knockdown of miRNA-21 as well as the administration of a PTEN/Akt inhibitor completely diminished MSC-Exo-dependent neuroprotection, demonstrating a critical role of miRNA-21/PTEN/Akt signaling for MSC-Exo-based restoration of cognitive function following SAH (Gao et al. 2020). By delivering proangiogenic and trophic factors to the ischemic regions of injured brains, MSC-Exos prevented ischemia-induced apoptosis of hippocampal neurons and significantly reduced the cognitive impairment of experimental animals (Yang et al. 2020). MSC-Exos reduced the overall number of dead neurons and increased neuronal density in the ischemia boundary zone by downregulating the expression of proapoptotic proteins Bax, caspase-3, and caspase-9 and by increasing the expression of antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Yang et al. 2020a).

Hippocampal brain injury and cognitive impairment are caused by ischemic injury, oxidative stress, glucose metabolism abnormalities (hyper- or hypoglycemia), alterations in glutamate neurotransmission, and impaired hippocampal synaptic plasticity in diabetic individuals (Hamed 2017).

Since MSC-Exos contain a large number of neurotrophins, proangiogenic factors, and molecules that control metabolism in ischemic neurons, several research groups analyzed the therapeutic potential of MSC-Exos in the treatment of diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction (Nakano et al. 2016; Zhao et al. 2019; Kubota et al. 2018). Zhao and colleagues discovered that diabetic mice treated with BM-MSC had a practically complete recovery of cognition. In the hippocampus of diabetic mice, the intracerebroventricular injection of BM-MSC-Exos dramatically reduced the degeneration and synaptic loss of neurons (Zhao et al. 2019). MSC-Exos decreased inflammation-induced damage of hippocampal neurons by downregulating the expression of IRAK1 kinase in a miRNA-146-dependent manner (Zhao et al. 2019). By delivering immunoregulatory miRNA-146 in astrocytes, MSC-Exos suppressed the activation of IRAK1 kinase and altered the inflammatory phenotype and function of astrocytes. The inhibition of IRAK1 prevented the activation of transcriptional factor NF-kB, which resulted in the alleviated production of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IL-1 β) in astrocytes and, consequently, led to the alleviation of ongoing inflammation (Zhao et al. 2019). Attenuated inflammation resulted in a decreased loss of hippocampal neurons, manifested by the significantly improved cognitive function and learning abilities of MSC-Exo-treated animals (Zhao et al. 2019).

Therapeutic Effects of MSCs and MSC-Exos in the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease, Schizophrenia, and Autism

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive neurocognitive disease characterized by a loss of dopaminergic neurons (McDermott et al. 2018; Kubota et al. 2018). MSCs are effective in the treatment of PD in various experimental studies (Hwang et al. 2018; Chen et al. 2020a). The intracerebral injection of MSCs significantly improved locomotor activity and enhanced neurogenesis in PD animals (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). A remarkably increased number of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive dopaminergic neurons and elevated dopamine levels in the striatum were observed in MSC-treated PD animals. MSC transplantation promoted the survival of dopaminergic neurons by inducing the enhanced expression of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein and suppressing the activity of proapoptotic Bax protein in these cells (Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2020a). Additionally, MSCs

delivered several neurotrophic factors (brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), cerebral dopamine neurotrophic factor (CDNF), HGF, and neurotrophin-3) to the dopaminergic neurons, enhancing their viability and regeneration (Chen et al. 2020b). Finally, an increased number of immunosuppressive M2 and the reduced presence of inflammatory M1 microglial cells were observed in the brains of MSC-treated PD mice, indicating that the beneficial effects of MSCs in the alleviation of PD-related symptoms were, at least partially, relied on in the MSC-dependent suppression of microglia-driven inflammation (Andrzejewska et al. 2021; Bagheri-Mohammadi 2021; Chen et al. 2020c).

Since a majority of MSC-based beneficial effects of PD treatment relied on the activity of MSC-sourced bioactive molecules (Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021), Chen and colleagues investigated whether intravenously given MSC-Exos may cause the regeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the same manner as their parental cells (Chen et al. 2020b). Systemically infused MSC-Exos easily crossed the blood-brain barrier and reached dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra of PD rats (Chen et al. 2020b). The histological examination of brain tissue samples revealed that MSC-Exos prevented the apoptosis of dopaminergic neurons (Chen et al. 2020b). Importantly, MSC-Exos dramatically increased levels of dopamine and its metabolites (dihydroxyphenylacetic acid and homovanillic acid) in the striatum, implying that MSC-Exo-based therapy managed to significantly improve dopaminergic neuron activity in PD mice.

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) represent a group of neurodevelopmental diseases characterized by cognitive impairment, increased repetitive behaviors, and difficulties in communication and social interaction (Hodges et al. 2020). The therapeutic potential of MSC-Exos in the therapy of ASD has been explored in BTBR T + tf/J mice, which have a behavioral phenotype comparable to human ASD (reduced social approach, low reciprocal social interactions, and impaired juvenile play) (Perets et al. 2018). Perets and colleagues demonstrated that the intranasal injection of MSC-Exos considerably reduced autism-like behavior and ASD-related symptoms in BTBR T + tf/J mice (Perets et al. 2018). Significantly enhanced male-to-male social interaction and reduced repetitive behaviors during social interaction were found in MSC-Exo-treated BTBR T + tf/J mice (61). Additionally, MSC-Exo-treated BTBR T + tf/J mice had more sophisticated and longer male-to-female ultrasonic vocalization, making them more similar to the healthy mice of the control group (Perets et al. 2018).

The pup retrieval behavior of female BTBR T + tf/J mice was also greatly improved by MSC-Exos. While saline-treated BTBR T + tf/J females returned just 2 of 24 pups to the nest, MSC-Exo-treated BTBR T + tf/J females returned all (18/18) pups, suggesting a considerable increase in maternal behavior (Perets et al. 2018).

The intranasal injection of MSC-Exos significantly improved the cognitive function of phencyclidine (PCP)-treated mice, used as a well-established murine model of schizophrenia. Tsivion-Visbord and colleagues found that MSC-Exos reduced schizophrenia-like behaviors by improving the survival of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-producing neurons (Tsivion-Visbord et al. 2020). Immediately after intranasal injection, the majority of MSC-Exos were observed in the neurons of the prefrontal cortex (PFC), the brain area most severely impaired in schizophrenia. A significantly higher presence of GABA-producing PFC neurons was accompanied by decreased levels of glutamate in the cerebrospinal fluid of MSC-Exo + PCP-treated animals. MSC-Exo-based reduction of schizophrenia-like behavior was evidenced by improved social interaction and disrupted prepulse inhibition in PCP-treated mice (Tsivion-Visbord et al. 2020). Since the intranasal delivery of MSC-Exos was well tolerated and no side effects were observed in MSC-Exo-treated mice (Perets et al. 2018; Tsivion-Visbord et al. 2020), the efficacy of this noninvasive therapeutic approach for the improvement of cognitive function should be further investigated during upcoming clinical trials.

MSC-Exos play a crucial role in the information transfer between MSCs and recipient cells (neurons and microglia) (Harrell et al. 2021b). MSC-sourced miRNAs, trophic factors, enzymes, and immunomodulatory and proangiogenic chemicals delivered by MSC-Exos into the neurons and microglia enhance neurogenesis and reduce inflammation-induced damage of hippocampal neurons, improving the cognitive function of MSC-Exo-treated animals (Harrell et al. 2021b). Importantly, the capacity for immunomodulation and neuroprotection of MSC-Exos was comparable to or even superior to that mediated by their parental MSCs (Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021). The effects of MSC-Exos were unaffected by the local tissue's microenvironment. Unlike MSCs, which may change their phenotype and function as a result of engraftment in diverse tissue microenvironments, MSC-Exos deliver their cargo (immunoregulatory molecules and growth factors) directly to the target cells, and their therapeutic potential is not affected by local tissue milieu (Harrell et al. 2021a; Andrzejewska et al. 2021). Moreover, the composition of exosomal cargo can be modified by the physical or genetic modification of MSCs to achieve the desired prognosis (Haider and Aramini 2020).

Nevertheless, despite these promising outcomes, it has to be noted that various concerns must be addressed before MSC-Exos can be widely used in clinical settings on a regular basis (Harrell et al. 2021a). Since a variety of antiapoptotic and immunosuppressive molecules have been hypothesized as critical for the MSC-Exo-based restoration of cognitive function, more experimental research is needed to prove those findings and to delineate which of these factors play a critical role in MSC-Exo-based immunomodulation and neuroregeneration. Moreover, before MSC-Exos could be offered as a universal human therapeutic agent, future experimental studies and clinical trials should identify the exact disease-specific therapeutic dose, route of administration, and schedule for MSC-Exos-based therapy (Harrell et al. 2021).

Conclusion

MSCs produce a large number of immunoregulatory, proangiogenic, and trophic factors, which may suppress detrimental immune responses, alleviate ongoing neuroinflammation, improve oxygen supply, and induce the regeneration of injured neurons (Harrell et al. 2021a; Andrzejewska et al. 2021). The transplantation of MSCs as well as the infusion of MSC-Exos enhance hippocampal neurogenesis,

stabilize synapses, and induce the generation of anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive phenotypes in microglia cells within injured and inflamed brains. Accordingly, a significantly reduced loss of hippocampal neurons and a remarkable improvement in cognitive function was noticed in MSCs and MSC-Exo-treated animal models of AD, TBI, PD, ASDs, and schizophrenia (Harrell et al. 2021b; Andrzejewska et al. 2021). The encouraging results of experimental studies raised hope for an efficient clinical application of MSCs. The results obtained in already conducted clinical trials demonstrated that MSC-based therapy is a safe therapeutic approach that does not cause undesirable severe side effects (Andrzejewska et al. 2021). However, the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs or MSC-Exos in the treatment of neurocognitive diseases has not yet been confirmed in clinical settings, and results of upcoming clinical trials that analyze their therapeutic potential are expected with enthusiasm and sincere hope.

References

- Andrzejewska A, Dabrowska S, Lukomska B, Janowski M (2021) Mesenchymal stem cells for neurological disorders. Adv Sci (Weinh) 8(7):2002944
- Bagheri-Mohammadi S (2021) Microglia in Alzheimer's disease: the role of stem cell-microglia interaction in brain homeostasis. Neurochem Res 46(2):141–148
- Beatriz M, Vilaça R, Lopes C (2021) Exosomes: innocent bystanders or critical culprits in neurodegenerative diseases. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:635104
- Castorina A, Szychlinska MA, Marzagalli R, Musumeci G (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells-based therapy as a potential treatment in neurodegenerative disorders: is the escape from senescence an answer. Neural Regeneration Res 10(6):850–858. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.158352
- Chakari-Khiavi F, Dolati S, Chakari-Khiavi A, Abbaszadeh H, Aghebati-Maleki L, Pourlak T, Mehdizadeh A et al (2019) Prospects for the application of mesenchymal stem cells in Alzheimer's disease treatment. Life Sci 231:116564
- Chen HX, Liang FC, Gu P, Xu BL, Xu HJ, Wang WT, Hou JY (2020a) Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells repair a Parkinson's disease model by inducing autophagy. Cell Death Dis 11(4):288
- Chen SY, Lin MC, Tsai JS, He PL, Luo WT, Chiu IM, Herschman HR et al (2020b) Exosomal 2',3'-CNP from mesenchymal stem cells promotes hippocampus CA1 neurogenesis/neuritogenesis and contributes to rescue of cognition/learning deficiencies of damaged brain. Stem Cells Transl Med 9(4):499–517
- Chen Y, Shen J, Ke K, Gu X (2020c) Clinical potential and current progress of mesenchymal stem cells for Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. Neurol Sci 41(5):1051–1061
- Cooney DS, Wimmers EG, Ibrahim Z, Grahammer J, Christensen JM, Brat GA, Wu LW et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells enhance nerve regeneration in a rat sciatic nerve repair and Hindlimb transplant model. Sci Rep 6:31306. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31306. PMID: 27510321; PMCID: PMC4980673
- Cui GH, Wu J, Mou FF, Xie WH, Wang FB, Wang QL, Fang J (2018) Exosomes derived from hypoxia-preconditioned mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate cognitive decline by rescuing synaptic dysfunction and regulating inflammatory responses in APP/PS1 mice. FASEB J 32(2): 654–668
- Cui GH, Guo HD, Li H, Zhai Y, Gong ZB, Wu J, Liu JS et al (2019) RVG-modified exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells rescue memory deficits by regulating inflammatory responses in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Immun Ageing 16:10

- Ding M, Shen Y, Wang P, Xie Z, Xu S, Zhu Z, Wang Y (2018) Exosomes isolated from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate Neuroinflammation and reduce amyloid-Beta deposition by modulating microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Res 43(11): 2165–2177
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905
- Elia CA, Tamborini M, Rasile M, Desiato G, Marchetti S, Swuec P, Mazzitelli S (2019) Intracerebral injection of extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stem cells exerts reduced Aβ plaque burden in early stages of a preclinical model of Alzheimer's disease. Cell 8(9):1059
- Gao X, Xiong Y, Li Q, Han M, Shan D, Yang G, Zhang S et al (2020) Extracellular vesicle-mediated transfer of miR-21-5p from mesenchymal stromal cells to neurons alleviates early brain injury to improve cognitive function via the PTEN/Akt pathway after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Cell Death Dis 11(5):363
- Gazdic M, Volarevic V, Arsenijevic N, Stojkovic M (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells: a friend or foe in immune-mediated diseases. Stem Cell Rev Rep 11(2):280–287
- Guo M, Yin Z, Chen F, Lei P (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosome: a promising alternative in the therapy of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Res Ther 12(1):109
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Husnain Haider K, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from Hype to real hope. Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1515/ 9783110642438
- Haider KH, Idris NM, Ha Won Kim HW, Ahmed RP, Jinag S, Ashraf M (2010) MicroRNA-21 is a key determinant in IL11/STAT-3 anti-apoptotic signaling pathway in preconditioning of skeletal myoblasts. Cardiovasc Res 88:168–178
- Hamed SA (2017) Brain injury with diabetes mellitus: evidence, mechanisms and treatment implications. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol 10(4):409–428
- Harrell CR, Simovic MB, Fellabaum C, Arsenijevic A, Djonov V, Arsenijevic N, Volarevic V (2018) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes in the treatment of eye diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol 1089:47–57
- Harrell CR, Fellabaum C, Jovicic N, Djonov V, Arsenijevic N, Volarevic V (2019a) Molecular mechanisms responsible for therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived Secretome. Cell 8(5):467
- Harrell CR, Gazdic M, Fellabaum C, Jovicic N, Djonov V, Arsenijevic N, Volarevic V (2019b) Therapeutic potential of amniotic fluid derived mesenchymal stem cells based on their differentiation capacity and immunomodulatory properties. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 14(4): 327–336
- Harrell CR, Djonov V, Volarevic V (2021a) The cross-talk between mesenchymal stem cells and immune cells in tissue repair and regeneration. Int J Mol Sci 22(5):2472
- Harrell CR, Volarevic A, Djonov V, Volarevic V (2021b) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as new remedy for the treatment of neurocognitive disorders. Int J Mol Sci 22(3):1433
- Harry GJ (2021) Microglia in neurodegenerative events-An initiator or a significant other? Int J Mol Sci 22(11):5818
- He M, Zhang HN, Tang ZC, Gao SG (2021) Diagnostic and therapeutic potential of exosomal MicroRNAs for neurodegenerative diseases. Neural Plast 2021:8884642
- Hodges H, Fealko C, Soares N (2020) Autism spectrum disorder: definition, epidemiology, causes, and clinical evaluation. Transl Pediatr 9(Suppl 1):S55–S65

- Holley MM, Kielian T (2012) Th1 and Th17 cells regulate innate immune responses and bacterial clearance during central nervous system infection. J Immunol 188(3):1360–1370. https://doi. org/10.4049/jimmunol.1101660
- Hook V, Yoon M, Mosier C, Ito G, Podvin S, Head BP, Rissman R et al (2020) Cathepsin B in neurodegeneration of Alzheimer's disease, traumatic brain injury, and related brain disorders. Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteom 1868(8):140428
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider KH, Dorvash MR, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146
- Hwang S, Gill S, Pathak S, Subramanian S (2018) A comparison of stem cell therapies for Parkinson disease. Georgetown Medical Rev 2(1):12 p. https://doi.org/10.52504/001c.3420
- Jellinger KA (2020) Neuropathological assessment of the Alzheimer spectrum. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 127(9):1229–1256
- Joe E, Ringman JM (2019) Cognitive symptoms of Alzheimer's disease: clinical management and prevention. BMJ 367:6217
- Khan MS, Ikram M, Park TJ, Kim MO (2021) Pathology, risk factors, and oxidative damage related to type 2 diabetes-mediated Alzheimer's disease and the rescuing effects of the potent antioxidant anthocyanin. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2021:4051207
- Kim DK, Nishida H, An SY, Shetty AK, Bartosh TJ, Prockop DJ (2016) Chromatographically isolated CD63+CD81+ extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stromal cells rescue cognitive impairments after TBI. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(1):170–175
- Kim SH, Noh MY, Kim HJ, Oh KW, Park J, Lee S, Moon Y et al (2019) A therapeutic strategy for Alzheimer's disease focused on immune-inflammatory modulation. Dement Neurocogn Disord 18(2):33–46. https://doi.org/10.12779/dnd.2019.18.2.33
- Kubota K, Nakano M, Kobayashi E, Mizue Y, Chikenji T, Otani M, Nagaishi K (2018) An enriched environment prevents diabetes-induced cognitive impairment in rats by enhancing exosomal miR-146a secretion from endogenous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One 13(9):e0204252
- Lilamand M, Hourregue C, Paquet C (2020) Interest of biological biomarkers in the diagnostic approach of neurocognitive disorders in the elderly. Rev Neurol (Paris) 176(9):677–683
- Luck T, Then FS, Schroeter ML, Witte V, Engel C, Loeffler M, Thiery J et al (2017) Prevalence of DSM-5 mild neurocognitive disorder in dementia-free older adults: results of the populationbased LIFE-adult-study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 25(4):328–339
- Lv B, Zhang X, Yuan JY, Chen HD, Cao X, Huang A (2021) Biomaterial-supported MSC transplantation enhances cell-cell communication for spinal cord injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 12:36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02090-y
- Ma X, Huang M, Zheng M, Dai C, Song Q, Zhang Q, Li Q (2020) ADSCs-derived extracellular vesicles alleviate neuronal damage, promote neurogenesis and rescue memory loss in mice with Alzheimer's disease. J Control Release 327:688–702
- McDermott KL, Fisher N, Bradford S, Camicioli R (2018) Parkinson's disease mild cognitive impairment classifications and neurobehavioral symptoms. Int Psychogeriatr 30(2):253–260
- Morishita M, Takahashi Y, Nishikawa M, Takakura Y (2017) Pharmacokinetics of exosomes an important factor for elucidating the biological roles of exosomes and for the development of exosome-based therapeutics. J Pharm Sci 106(9):2265–2269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs. 2017.02.030
- Musiał-Wysocka A, Kot M, Majka M (2019) The pros and cons of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies. Cell Transplant 28(7):801–812. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689719837897
- Nakano M, Fujimiya M (2021) Potential effects of mesenchymal stem cell derived extracellular vesicles and exosomal miRNAs in neurological disorders. Neural Regen Res 16(12):2359–2366
- Nakano M, Nagaishi K, Konari N, Saito Y, Chikenji T, Mizue Y, Fujimiya M (2016) Bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells improve diabetes-induced cognitive impairment by exosome transfer into damaged neurons and astrocytes. Sci Rep 2(6):24805

- Nakano M, Kubota K, Kobayashi E, Chikenji TS, Saito Y, Konari N, Fujimiya M (2020) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells improve cognitive impairment in an Alzheimer's disease model by increasing the expression of microRNA-146a in hippocampus. Sci Rep 10(1):10772
- Niu Y, Wang X, Li M, Niu B (2020) Exosomes from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells attenuates stress-induced hippocampal dysfunctions. Metab Brain Dis 35(8):1329–1340
- Nurkovic J, Volarevic V, Lako M, Armstrong L, Arsenijevic N, Stojkovic M (2016) Aging of stem and progenitor cells: mechanisms, impact on therapeutic potential, and rejuvenation. Rejuvenation Res 19(1):3–12
- Offen D, Perets N, Betzer O, Popovtzer R, Shapira R, Ashery U (2019) Targeting damages in the brain: exosomes derived from MSC present migration and homing abilities to different neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric locations. Cytotherapy 21(5):E6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcvt.2019.04.020
- Perets N, Hertz S, London M, Offen D (2018) Intranasal administration of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells ameliorates autistic-like behaviors of BTBR mice. Mol Autism 9:57
- Pittenger MF, Discher DE, Péault BM, Phinney DG, Hare JM, Caplan AI (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. NPJ Regen Med 4:22. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41536-019-0083-6
- Qin C, Lu Y, Wang K, Bai L, Shi G, Huang Y, Li Y (2020) Transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells improves cognitive deficits and alleviates neuropathology in animal models of Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analytic review on potential mechanisms. Transl Neurodegener 9(1):20
- Reza-Zaldivar EE, Hernández-Sapiéns MA, Gutiérrez-Mercado YK, Sandoval-Ávila S, Gomez-Pinedo U, Márquez-Aguirre AL, Vázquez-Méndez E et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes promote neurogenesis and cognitive function recovery in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neural Regen Res 14(9):1626–1634
- Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A (2002) The instructive role of dendritic cells on T-cell responses. Arthritis Res Ther 4:S127. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar567
- Schweizer R, Schnider JT, Fanzio PM, Tsuji W, Kostereva N, Solari MG, Plock JA (2020) Effect of systemic adipose-derived stem cell therapy on functional nerve regeneration in a rodent model. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 8(7):e2953. https://doi.org/10.1097/GOX.00000000002953
- Shariati A, Nemati R, Sadeghipour Y, Yaghoubi Y, Baghbani R, Javidi K, Zamani M et al (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) for neurodegenerative disease: a promising frontier. Eur J Cell Biol 99(6):151097
- Shetty AK (2014) Hippocampal injury-induced cognitive and mood dysfunction, altered neurogenesis, and epilepsy: can early neural stem cell grafting intervention provide protection? Epilepsy Behav 38:117–124
- Si Z, Wang X (2021) Stem cell therapies in Alzheimer's disease: applications for disease modeling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 377(2):207–217
- Stojić-Vukanić Z, Hadžibegović S, Nicole O, Nacka-Aleksić M, Leštarević S, Leposavić G (2020) CD8+ T cell-mediated mechanisms contribute to the progression of neurocognitive impairment in both multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease? Front Immunol 11:566225
- Subramaniyan S, Terrando N (2019) Neuroinflammation and perioperative neurocognitive disorders. Anesth Analg 128(4):781–788
- Süβ P, Lana AJ, Schlachetzki JCM (2021) Chronic peripheral inflammation: a possible contributor to neurodegenerative diseases. Neural Regen Res 16(9):1711–1714
- Tsivion-Visbord H, Perets N, Sofer T, Bikovski L, Goldshmit Y, Ruban A, Offen D (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles improve behavioral and biochemical deficits in a phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. Transl Psychiatry 10(1):305
- Volarevic V, Ljujic B, Stojkovic P, Lukic A, Arsenijevic N, Stojkovic M (2011) Human stem cell research and regenerative medicine – present and future. Br Med Bull 99:155–168

- Volarevic V, Gazdic M, Simovic Markovic B, Jovicic N, Djonov V, Arsenijevic N (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived factors: immuno-modulatory effects and therapeutic potential. Biofactors 43(5):633–644
- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, Armstrong L (2018) Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. Int J Med Sci 15(1):36–45
- Walker KA (2019) Inflammation and neurodegeneration: chronicity matters. Aging (Albany NY) 11(1):3–4. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101704
- Wang X, Yang G (2020) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes reduce Aβ deposition and improve cognitive function recovery in mice with Alzheimer's disease by activating sphingosine kinase/sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling pathway. Cell Biol Int. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.11522
- Wang SS, Jia J, Wang Z (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles suppresses iNOS expression and ameliorates neural impairment in Alzheimer's disease mice. J Alzheimers Dis 61(3):1005–1013
- Yang C, Sun S, Zhang Q, Guo J, Wu T, Liu Y, Yang M et al (2020a) Exosomes of antler mesenchymal stem cells improve postoperative cognitive dysfunction in cardiopulmonary bypass rats through inhibiting the TLR2/TLR4 Signaling pathway. Stem Cells Int 2020:2134565
- Yang Y, Zhou J, Li J (2020b) Regulation of exosome for Alzheimer's disease derived from mesenchymal stem cells. Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 45(2):169–175
- Yin Q, Ji X, Lv R, Pei JJ, Du Y, Shen C, Hou X (2020) Targetting exosomes as a new biomarker and therapeutic approach for Alzheimer's disease. Clin Interv Aging 15:195–205
- Zhang Y, Chopp M, Meng Y, Katakowski M, Xin H, Mahmood A, Xiong Y (2015) Effect of exosomes derived from multipluripotent mesenchymal stromal cells on functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity in rats after traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg 122(4):856–867
- Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Chopp M, Zhang ZG, Mahmood A, Xiong Y (2020) Mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes improve functional recovery in rats after traumatic brain injury: a doseresponse and therapeutic window study. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 34(7):616–626
- Zhao W, Zhang H, Yan J, Ma X (2019) An experimental study on the treatment of diabetes-induced cognitive disorder mice model with exosomes deriving from mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Pak J Pharm Sci 32(5):1965–1970



Augmenting Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based 15 Therapy of the Infarcted Myocardium with Statins

Sulaiman Alnasser, Mabrouk AL-Rasheedi, Mateq A. Alreshidi, Saleh F. Alqifari, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	439
Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Myocardial Repair	441
Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Myocardial Repair and Regeneration	442
Poor Survival of Stem Cells Postengraftment	442
Strategies to Enhance Donor Cell Survival	443
Stem Cell Preconditioning	443
Augmenting the Myocardial Microenvironment Favorable for Donor Cells	444
Statins as Preconditioning Mimetic and Modifier of Myocardial Microenvironment	445
Introduction to Statins	445
Functional Mechanism of Statins	446
The Impact of Statins on Mesenchymal Stem Cells	446
Statins and Stem Cell Preconditioning	448
Statins and In Vitro Experimental Studies	448
Statins and in vivo Experimental Animal Models	449
Combined Statin and Cell-Based Therapy for AMI Patients	459

S. Alnasser

Pharmacology and Toxicology Department, Unizah College of Pharmacy, Qassim University, Unaizah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia e-mail: sm.alnasser@qu.edu.sa

M. AL-Rasheedi Al Bukayriah General Hospital, AlQassim, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

M. A. Alreshidi Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukayriyah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia e-mail: ma.alreshidi@sr.edu.sa

S. F. Alqifari

College of Pharmacy - Department of Pharmacy Practice, University of Tabuk, Tabuk, Saudi Arabia e-mail: s.alqifari@sr.edu.sa

K. H. Haider (⊠) Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 20

Conclusion and Future Perspective	460
Cross-References	462
References	462

Abstract

Preconditioning (PC) affords the most potent cytoprotective effects ever known in the physiological system. Since the publication of the first report that preconditioning by cyclical exposure to intermittent sublethal ischemia-reperfusion episodes is cardioprotective, the strategy has been extrapolated to sustain its beneficial effects at cellular and subcellular levels. The underlying principle of preconditioning is that exposure to sublethal episodes of a noxious stimulus triggers survival signaling pathways that render the cells resistant to subsequent exposure to the lethal stimulus. Diverging from the classical protocol involving treatment with ischemia-reperfusion, various preconditioning strategies have been developed and optimized to include physical, chemical, genetic, and pharmacological manipulation of cells to mimic the effects of ischemic preconditioning. Besides survival signaling, such manipulations significantly impact the stemness characteristics, paracrine behavior, angiogenic and differentiation potential, and various other aspects of cellular biology. Primarily used as cholesterol-lowering drugs, stating constitute a group of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors that have been effectively employed as preconditioning mimetics. Various members of the statin group, natural, semisynthetic, or synthetic, i.e., lovastatin, simvastatin, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin, etc., have been used to exploit their pleiotropic effects on the stem/progenitor cells as a part of the preconditioning strategy to enhance their stemness and functionality postengraftment. This book chapter provides a critical review of the advancements in pharmacological preconditioning of stem/progenitor cells in general and with the use of statin in particular. It highlights the mechanism that renders superiority in the use of statins as preconditioning mimetics.

Keywords

List of Abbreviations

Angiogenesis · Heart · Pharmacological · Preconditioning · Statins · Stem cells · Survival

AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
AMPK	Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
Bax	Blc2-associated X-protein
Bcl2	B-cell lymphoma 2
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor 2
Bim	Bcl2 like 4
BM	Bone marrow

CRP	C-reactive protein
CSCs	Cardiac stem cells
CXCR4	CXC chemokine receptor 4
ECM	Extracellular matrix
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ERK1/2	Extracellular signal-related kinase 1/2
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
GFP	Green fluorescence protein
hESCs	Human embryonic stem cells
ICM	Inner cell mass
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
JAK	Janus kinase
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MEK	Mitogen-activated protein/extracellular signal-regulated kinase
miR	microRNA
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
MTPs	Microthrombotic particles
NO	Nitric oxide
OCN	Osteocalcin
OPN	Osteopontin
ROCK	Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SDF-1a	Stromal cell-derived factor-1
SkMs	Skeletal myoblasts
SPECT	Single-photon emission computed tomography
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
STEMI	ST-elevation myocardial infarction
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

One of the most promising areas in the current research and prediction for the future is in basic and translational research exploring the conceivable use of stem cells for cell-based and cell-free therapies. These unique cells can transform into and regenerate the different tissues that make up the human body. Moreover, they represent the basic building blocks of human development at various levels, whether therapeutic, convalescent, or others (Zakrzewski et al. 2019). Stem cells also release a plethora of bioactive molecules and lipid membrane-enclosed vesicles as part of their paracrine activity that also plays a significant role in the repair process (Haider and Aslam 2018). They are characterized by unlimited

undifferentiated self-renewal, clonogenicity, and transdifferentiation into different cell lineages with morphofunctional competence in response to different chemical cues and under a unique set of conditions. Hemopoietic stem cells (HSCs) were first recognized and displayed all these properties (Ng and Alexander 2017). Today, many types of tissue-specific resident stem/progenitor cells, i.e., bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), adipose tissue derived stem cells, resident cardiac stem cells (CSCs), skeletal myoblasts (SkMs), umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells, peripheral blood-derived stem cells, etc., have been identified, isolated, and characterized from almost every body tissue (Bhartiya 2021). It is generally perceived that they are responsible for tissue repair and regeneration in the event of tissue injury. Incidentally, SkMs (Haider et al. 2004a), bone marrow-MSCs (Haider and Ashraf 2005), and CSCs (Leong et al. 2017) have already reached the clinical phase for safety and efficacy assessment in the human patients, and bone marrow-derived MSCs have advanced to phase III clinical trials (Rajab et al. 2019).

Essentially, stem cells are found in both embryonic and adult tissues, and hence, they are referred to as embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and adult tissue-derived stem cells, respectively. Developmental activity decreases the differentiation potential of stem cells with each step from pluripotency to terminal differentiation when the cells become specialized. Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) are derived from the inner cell mass (ICM) (Pera et al. 2000). They can be propagated in vitro indefinitely in the primitive undifferentiated state while retaining their pluripotency status (Vazin and Freed 2010). During embryonic development, ESCs form multiple assemblies with distinct functions called germ layers, which ultimately lead to the emergence of differentiated cells and tissues of the embryo, and later the adult organism (Larijani et al. 2012). A new entrant to this long list is the induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which are considered as surrogate ESCs albeit without the problem of ethical and moral issues and provide a renewable source for theranostic applications (Lalit et al. 2014; Ibrahim et al. 2016; Cagavi et al. 2018). Takahashi and Yamanaka first reported them in 2006, who successfully reprogrammed mouse tail fibroblasts using a quartet of pluripotency determining transcription factors, i.e., Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4, and cMyc. Since then, iPSCs have been extensively studied for tissue regeneration in experimental animal models, including myocardial repair (Ahmed et al. 2011a; Buccini et al. 2012), however not without the threat of tumorigenicity (Ahmed et al. 2011b).

One of the most severe and widespread cardiovascular ailments is ischemic heart disease (IHD), which is now considered as the leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally. According to the figures released by the American Heart Association, one out of every three deaths reportedly occurred due to cardiovascular issues and incurring heavy financial burden (AHA 2018; WHO 2017). IHD leads to an irreversible impairment of cardiac function, which is generally attributed to the terminal differentiation status of the cardiomyocytes that renders them incapable of entering into the cell cycle in the event of injury (Rosenstrauch et al. 2005). Although the presence of resident CSCs has been reported (Frati et al. 2011; Mayfield et al. 2014), besides the ability of cardiomyocytes to reenter into the

proliferative cycle (Torella et al. 2015; Miyawaki et al. 2017), both these findings could contribute little in the intrinsic repair process, especially if the ischemic myocardial injury is extensive and involves massive myocyte injury and death. The contemporary treatment methods are limited to symptomatic relief without addressing the underlying cause and mechanistic interference in the pathological process, which continues as an unabated vicious cycle. The limitations of the current treatments have led to the search for novel treatment strategies aimed to regenerate and repair the damaged heart muscle so that the treatment extends over long-term and stable benefits. Stem cell therapy has given encouraging results in experimental animal models and clinical settings (Rajab et al. 2019).

Recent advances in stem cell biology and tissue engineering have given further impetus to regenerative medicine and its applications for myocardial repair. Despite these encouraging results, there are various aspects of stem cell-based therapy, which significantly hamper its progress to the clinical settings as a routine therapeutic modality. One of these impediments is the extensive death of the donor cells posttransplantation in the hostile microenvironment of the ischemic myocardium due to infiltrating inflammatory cells and a plethora of secreted proinflammatory cytokines, i.e., TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, etc., in response to the ischemic insult (Khodayari et al. 2019). This chapter focuses on the problem of extensive donor stem cell death-related issues and the preconditioning strategy to enhance donor cell survival. The particular focus of the chapter is on statins as preconditioning mimetics from the standpoint of pharmacological manipulation of the cells as well as the infarcted myocardium to render it conducive and favorable for the transplanted cells.

Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Myocardial Repair

Under the right physiological conditions and in response to the appropriate microenvironmental cues, stem cells divide and differentiate to form specialized cells with well-defined functions (Carbone et al. 2021). Given that ischemic myocardial damage is increasing the incidence of heart failure worldwide (Jenča et al. 2021) and the limited intrinsic regenerative capacity of the heart, cell-based therapy offers a potential therapeutic modality for routine use in the clinical settings. The published data has clearly shown the safety and feasibility of stem-cell-based therapy during the experimental phase and in the clinical trials (▶ Chap. 10, "Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair").

Stem cells used for myocardial repair and regeneration have been derived from various tissue sources that include adult tissue-derived stem cells, i.e., bone marrowderived MSCs, SkMs, resident CSCs, etc., embryo and embryo-associated tissuederived stem cells, i.e., ESCs, umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells, etc., and iPSCs; each one with unique biological characteristics and stemness features. For example, the primary advantage of human ESCs over adult stem cells is their pluripotency. However, the moral and ethical issues ascribed to their use, tumorigenicity, and immunogenicity as well as arrhythmogenicity of the donor cell graftderived cardiomyocytes have hampered their progress to the clinic. On the same note, iPSCs are being assessed in translational experimental animal models for myocardial repair and regeneration (Li et al. 2013; Ye et al. 2014; Patrick et al. 2014). Contrarily, adult tissue-derived stem cells are easily accessible without ethical or moral issues, but with limited differentiation potential as compared to their pluripotent counterparts. Given their robust nature and autologous availability, three of them, including bone marrow-derived MSCs, mononuclear cells, and CSCs, have successfully progressed to the clinical assessment for myocardial repair (**>** Chap. 10, "Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair").

Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Myocardial Repair and Regeneration

MSCs are self-renewing clonal precursors for nonhematopoietic tissues. They are characterized by preferential adherence to the plastic surface, expression of specific membrane markers, and trilineage differentiation potential (> Chap. 10, "Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair"). Available data suggest that bone marrowderived MSCs are suitable for the regeneration of infarcted myocardium. After decades of characterization in vitro, in small and translational experimental animal models, bone marrow-derived MSCs are the only cell type that has entered the advanced phases of clinical assessment. Hence, the fields of cell-based therapy, cellfree therapy (using conditioned medium and exosomes), and tissue engineering have primarily focused on MSCs owing to their wide range of properties, i.e., ease of availability and in vitro expansion, multilineage differentiation potential, paracrine activity, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties, etc. (Carson et al. 2018). However, the failure of the transplanted cells to thrive post engraftment in the infarcted myocardium has been generally ascribed to short-term beneficial effects of the cell therapy in most cases, both in the experimental settings and clinical trials, as further discussed in the next section.

Poor Survival of Stem Cells Postengraftment

Irrespective of the cell type, cell survival remains an issue in cell-based heart therapy (Li et al. 2021a). Like any other stem/progenitor cells, MSCs present a significant limitation post engraftment as they have a low survival rate after being transplanted in or around the infarcted myocardium, with the majority lasting for no more than 1 day (Penicka et al. 2005). Only a meager percentage of the transplanted cells survive for 3 months post-transplantation in some cases (Han et al. 2019). The massive death of the donor cells primarily occurs during early phase transplantation after ischemic injury. In one of the studies using [¹⁴C]-thymidine-labeled cells, it was observed that only 44% of cells were present 10 min after intramyocardial injection, which decreased to 14% by 24 h and 7% after 72 h (Suzuki et al. 2004). Gyöngyösi et al. used a trifusion protein lentiviral transduction of porcine bone marrow MSCs to label them and study their fate after intramyocardial delivery. The trifusion protein included luciferase, red fluorescent protein (RPF), and herpes simplex thymidine kinase. PET-computed tomographic

metabolic and perfusion imaging was performed after intravenous injection of 10 mCi [18F]-FHBG, which showed decreased cardiac uptake of the delivered cells which was confirmed by luciferase activity as well. On day ten after injection, histological evidence showed 5.8% of the transplanted cells to survive in a porcine ischemic heart with a concomitant reduction in the infarct size (Gyöngyösi et al. 2008). On the same note, as little as 0.44% of the transplanted human MSCs were reported to survive by day 4 postengraftment in the experimental immune-deficient mice heart (Toma et al. 2002). The cells were labeled with *lac-z* reporter gene for tracking the fate of the cells posttransplantation. Similar results regarding the poor survivability of donor cells have also been reported in the clinical settings. For example, intracoronary infusion of ¹⁸F-FDG-labeled MSCs showed meager 1.3–2.6% retention of the delivered cells after an hour of delivery (Hofmann et al. 2005).

As poor donor cell survival remains one of the primary limitations of cell-based therapy (Van Nguyen et al. 2021), the two primary mechanisms underlying donor cell death include the following: first, myocardial tissue turns inhospitable for the donor cells due to its highly acidic, hypoxic, cytokine-rich environment with scarcity of nutrients and high-level oxidative stress, and infiltration by the inflammatory and immune cells. Together, the molecular and cellular events in the infarcted myocardium present a significant challenge for transplanted stem cells, especially during the acute phase after ischemic injury (Bonvini et al. 2005; Chen et al. 2012). Second, the donor cells are not conditioned generally to withstand the rigors of the infarcted myocardium, in addition to anoiksis due to poor adhesion with the recipient's cardiac tissue during acute phase after transplantation (Zvibel et al. 2002), that lead the donor cells to undergo apoptosis (Tu et al. 2019).

Various strategies have been proposed to address the problem of massive loss of donor cells post engraftment. However, for the most part, these strategies have given dismal results. Nonetheless, preconditioning and reprogramming of cells by physical, chemical, genetic, and pharmacological manipulations have given encouraging data at least in the experimental settings to be pursued for clinical applications in the future (Haider and Ashraf 2012). Each preconditioning strategy primes the cells to withstand the severity associated with fatal ischemia in vitro and posttransplant (Wei et al. 2017).

Strategies to Enhance Donor Cell Survival

Stem Cell Preconditioning

Preconditioning refers to the protection of tissues and cells from injury when subjected to a subsequent innocuous environment. Preconditioning offers the most potent known cytoprotective effects in the physiological systems. Since the pioneering work of Charles Murry, conditioning from cyclical exposure to periodic ischemia-reperfusion sublethal episodes is cardioprotective via slowing down the rate of ATP depletion during ischemia and washing out of the catabolites during reperfusion (Murry et al. 1986). This strategy has been extrapolated to maintain its beneficial effects at the cellular and subcellular levels (Lu et al. 2010; Gu et al. 2021).

The underlying rationale of transient exposure to sublethal episodes of a noxious stimulus triggers a survival-signaling pathway that renders cells resistant to a subsequent lethal stimulus. More recently, the preconditioning strategy has been successfully extrapolated to condition stem cells to enhance their stemness properties in general and post engraftment survival in particular (Haider and Ashraf 2012).

Besides the classical ischemia-reperfusion-based treatment protocol, various pretreatment strategies have been developed and optimized to prime the cells into a "state of readiness" to combat chronic lethal exposure, which includes physical, chemical, genetic, and pharmacological manipulation of cells to mimic effects of ischemic pretreatment (Haider and Ashraf 2010). Haider et al. have reported the novel strategy of ischemic preconditioning of bone marrow-derived (MSCs) using short intermittent cyclical exposure to anoxia/reoxygenation (Kim et al. 2009). Elucidating the underlying mechanism, they have shown that their ischemic preconditioning protocol activated Akt(ser473) and Erk1/2(Thr202/Tyr204) with a consequent HIF-1a nuclear translocation and a consequent involvement of hypoxamir-210. Furthermore, real-time PCR array for rat apoptotic genes, computational target gene analyses, and luciferase reporter assay identified FLICEassociated huge protein (FLASH)/caspase-8-associated protein-2 (Casp8ap2) suppression in the preconditioned cells as the downstream target gene of miR-210 that was involved in cytoprotection. A subsequent experimental study by Haider et al. also showed a significant role of hypoxamir-107 in cytoprotection, and its simultaneous induction or concomitant transgenic overexpression with miR-210 in MSCs could mimic the cytoprotective effects of ischemic preconditioning (Kim et al. 2012a). The authors also observed that MSCs overexpressing miR-210 had higher survival postengraftment in the infarcted myocardium in the experimental rat model and contributed to the angiomyogenic repair of the myocardium (Kim et al. 2012b). Encouraged by the data, the authors have reported the development and optimization for preconditioning of stem cells via subcellular mechanism (Lu et al. 2010, 2012b). Some of the other strategies reported by the same group of researchers include pharmacological treatment, i.e., diazoxide, tadalafil, etc., (Niagara et al. 2007; Afzal et al. 2010; Haider et al. 2010; Suzuki et al. 2010), treatment with growth factors (Elmadbouh et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2012a), genetic modification of cells for growth factor overexpression, IGF-1, Netrin, etc., (Haider et al. 2008; Durrani et al. 2012), or concomitant transgenic overexpression of angio-competent growth factor and survival-signaling molecules, i.e., angiopoietin-1 and Akt, etc., (Jiang et al. 2006), treatment with small molecules, i.e., nicorandil, sodium butyrate, etc., (Tabeshmehr et al. 2017; Hosseini et al. 2018), and lysate from pharmacologically preconditioned cells (Afzal et al. 2008).

Augmenting the Myocardial Microenvironment Favorable for Donor Cells

The interaction between the microenvironment of the infarcted myocardium and the transplanted cells is one of the primary determinants of the outcome of myocardial cell therapy (Farhudg et al. 2019). In the case of MSCs, although MSCs have potent

anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects, augmentation of the hostile myocardial microenvironment to make it favorable for receiving the donor MSCs postengraftment has been studied as an alternative approach to the donor stem cell preconditioning (Ezquer et al. 2017). In this regard, various strategies based on physical, chemical, or pharmacological pretreatment of the heart have been explored. For example, transient immunosuppression starting a few days before cell therapy results in significantly enhancing survival and engraftment of the transplanted cells in the infarcted heart (Xiao et al. 2004; Haider et al. 2004b). Similarly, during concomitant administration of cells with growth factor treatment, the latter helped as a modifier of the local microenvironment of the myocardium for the transplanted cells (Li et al. 2014). However, given the short biological half-life of the immunomodulating and tissue-modifying growth factors, the use of biomaterials loaded with growth factors and cytokines together with cell therapy is gaining popularity (Smagul et al. 2020). Another approach adopted during cell therapy has been to genetically modify the cells to secrete a cocktail of growth factors, which besides initiating survival signaling in the cells also provide a source of extended release of growth factors that favorably modify the microenvironment of the cell in the infarcted heart (Konoplyannikov et al. 2013).

Besides, genetic modification and growth factor treatment-based combinatorial approaches, some protocols are based on physical manipulation of the myocardial microenvironment to enhance its receptivity for the donor cells. For example, the cell-wave therapy approach has been effectively applied to the experimental animal models of MI and myocardial ischemia (Gollmann-Tepekoylu et al. 2018; Holfeld et al. 2016). After successful and encouraging data, it has progressed to safety and feasibility assessment in clinical trials (Assmus et al. 2013). The underlying mechanism has been attributed to the induction of toll-like receptor signaling, increased cell proliferation, increased level of VEGF, and mobilization and homing-in of endothelial cells besides cardioprotection (Aicher et al. 2006, Tepekoylu et al. 2013; Holfeld et al. 2014, 2016). Recent advancements in physical manipulation include ultrasound target bubble destruction (UTBD) to enhance vascular perforation and extravasation of the cells.

Treatment with statins in this regard has emerged as an approach that could simultaneously prime the cells and enhance the receptivity of the infarcted myocardium for donor cells.

Statins as Preconditioning Mimetic and Modifier of Myocardial Microenvironment

Introduction to Statins

Developed in 1987, statins are pharmacological agents that act as β -hydroxy β -methylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors (Endo 2010). The first statin to receive approval for clinical use was lovastatin, which naturally occurs in low concentrations in oyster mushrooms, red yeast rice, and other foodstuffs (Ferri and Corsini 2020). Over the years, a wide range of statins have been synthesized,

including atorvastatin, simvastatin, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, fluvastatin, and pitavastatin, each one with unique pharmacological characteristics but a common mechanism of action (Althanoon et al. 2020). Statins are designed to prevent three major categories of health conditions. First of all, they have been successfully used to attenuate the likelihood of cardiovascular diseases, including heart attack and stroke, especially in at-risk individuals older than 40 years. They are considered primary preventive treatment (Zeiser 2018). Second, statins lower the probability of further cardiovascular conditions in individuals suffering from cardiovascular disease referred to as secondary prevention. Finally, statins can prevent the development of hyperlipidemia by decreasing excessively high levels of blood cholesterol (Xu et al. 2013). There is a correlation between heightened cholesterol levels and cardiovascular disease. As such, statins are intended to diminish the likelihood of heart attack and stroke in the long term by reducing dangerously high levels of low-density lipoprotein (LDL (cholesterol (Ferri and Corsini 2020).

Functional Mechanism of Statins

Statins work by suppressing the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase, which functions as a rate-limiting enzyme within the mevalonate pathway associated with the production of cholesterol. Statins lower the blood LDL levels through competitive inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase (Stroes 2005). Another role fulfilled by statins is to decrease the amount of cholesterol that is produced by the liver. Internal physiological processes are the primary source of cholesterol in the circulation. The level of cholesterol in the blood declines due to statin-induced reduction of cholesterol produced by the liver (Young and Fong 2012; Zeiser 2018). The decrease in the levels of cholesterol triggers two events: LDL receptors are produced more extensively by liver cells to enable extraction of cholesterol from the bloodstream, and second, lipoproteins of low and extremely low density (the so-called "bad cholesterol") undergo extraction and eventual conversion to bile acids and additional by-products (Han et al. 2019). Therefore, the function of statins is not limited to decreasing the levels of LDL cholesterol; instead, it extends more than that (Andrzejewska et al. 2019).

There is mounting evidence in the published data that statins contribute to endothelial cohesion and modulate inflammatory processes that can cause atheroma to develop. Moreover, statins keep plaque stable and make it less likely for blood clots to form (Xu et al. 2013). Additionally, statins regulate the proliferation, migration, and survival of tumor cells by regulating Rho, Ras, and Rac proteins. Further, they can also inhibit cancer cell growth by modulating specific other pathways.

The Impact of Statins on Mesenchymal Stem Cells

According to the published data, statins significantly enhance the outcome of cellbased therapy using MSCs. Studies on cardiac tissue engineering and myocardial infarction therapy have reported that treatment strategies integrating statins and MSCs helped the heart function better by enhancing the LVEF and end-systolic pressure of the left ventricle while also contributing to myocardial repair by promoting cardiomyocyte protection and proliferation at the site of myocardial injury (Zeiser 2018; Cianflone et al. 2020). In vitro studies have also shown that treatment of CSCs with rosuvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin significantly enhances their proliferation and myocardial differentiation (Cianflone et al. 2020). These data have prompted nanoparticle-based and polymer-based delivery of statins to manage cardiovascular diseases (Nenna et al. 2021). Meanwhile, it has been proven that atorvastatin can ameliorate scar hypertrophy by reducing the thickness of the dermis and epidermis and by intensifying the production of the prorepair cytokine C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 8 (CXCL8) from MSCs of adipose origin in skin counterparts (Andrzejewska et al. 2019).

Studies on cardiac tissue engineering and myocardial infarction therapy have reported that treatment strategies integrating statin administration with MSCs-based therapy helped the global heart function to improve by enhancing LVEF and LV end-systolic pressure while also contributing to the cardiac repair mechanisms by promoting cardiomyocytes proliferation at the site of myocardial injury (Zeiser 2018) and attenuate myocardial hypertrophy (Nakagami and Liao 2004).

The potential of MSCs to differentiate appears to be affected by statins (Zeiser 2018). This conclusion is supported by observations that MSCs' osteogenic differentiation was encouraged by the release of simvastatin from poly (lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles integrated into bone substitute based on commercial calcium phosphate (Chamani et al. 2021). Overall, the proteins related to MSC osteogenic differentiation, including core-binding factor a1 (CBFA1), HIF-1 α , and bone sialoprotein, are highly expressed in the presence of stating (Potier et al. 2007; James 2013). Furthermore, statins also enhance osteocalcin (OCN) gene expression, which reflects terminal differentiation of osteoblasts, and osteopontin (OPN), which is a sialoprotein with a high degree of phosphorylation present in the mineralized extracellular matrix (ECM) of bones and teeth and participates during the late phase osteoblast differentiation (Zurick et al. 2013). Moreover, some statins intensify the action of the osteogenic marker called alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (Xue et al. 2019; Chapman and Tanner 2021) and the expression of collagen type-I α 1 (COL1A1) (Ruiz-Gaspa et al. 2007), which is vital for the development of ECM and osteogenic differentiation and is a marker of osteoblast maturation.

Statins may double bone morphogenic protein-2 (BMP-2) levels, which induces osteoblasts to differentiate (Alam et al. 2009). BMP-2 has a very short half-life; hence it is impractical to add it to the differentiation media in culture, which is why it is highly significant that MSCs are primed to produce BMP-2 in greater quantities to make it cost-effective and achieve sustained presence in the culture. In some cases, statin treatment has been combined with BMP-2 treatment to enhance osteoprecursor cells' differentiation (Park 2012). Furthermore, MSCs have elevated expression of Runt-related transcription factor 2 (RUNX2) in the context of simvastatin treatment (Chen et al. 2010). The discharge of simvastatin from TiO2 nanotubes has also been
shown to promote osteoblast differentiation and inhibit osteoclast resorption (Lai et al. 2017).

Statins and Stem Cell Preconditioning

Statins and In Vitro Experimental Studies

MSCs are deficient in nutrients and oxygen during ex vivo expansion. Though feasible, the supplementation of trophic factors in the culture medium is insufficient to support their stem cell functions optimally. Moreover, MSCs isolated from unhealthy and aging individuals or those maintained over an extended period undergo apoptosis and senescence. Besides other factors, these changes are caused by an imbalance between ROS generation and antioxidant mechanisms in the cells, leading to the inactivation of cytoprotective NO production and apoptosis.

Treatment of stem cells with statins as preconditioning mimetics has been extensively studied during in vitro experimental studies to exploit their ability to abrogate ROS activity and enhance NO activity (Wassmann et al. 2002). For example, Dong et al. (2011) have shown the cytoprotective effects of atorvastatin treatment on porcine BM-derived MSCs cultured under serum-free and hypoxic culture conditions (Dong et al. 2011). Molecular studies revealed that atorvastatin pretreatment significantly enhanced antiapoptotic protein Bcl2 expression in the cells besides higher level phosphorylation of AMPK and eNOS, which was abrogated in the presence of compound C, an inhibitor of AMPK. A similar molecular mechanism of atorvastatin-induced cytoprotection in MSCs has also been reported by several other research groups (Sun et al. 2006; Song et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2012). Lovastatin also protects MSCs against hypoxia/serum deprivation-induced apoptosis, focusing on the mitochondrial pathway (Xu et al. 2008). Preconditioning with lovastatin (0.01-1 uM) significantly abrogated cytochrome c release from mitochondria, thus preventing the executioner caspase 3 activation. The cytoprotective effects of lovastatin preconditioning were abrogated by PI3K inhibitor LY294002, which inhibited ERK1/2 activation. These data showed the significant involvement of PI3K/Akt and MEK/ERK1/2 signaling in the cytoprotective effects of lovastatin preconditioning of MSCs. Zhang et al. have reported the RhoA/ Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming kinase (ROCK)/ERK pathway role in protecting cells against hypoxia and serum deprivation in culture conditions (Zhang et al. 2014). Treatment with atorvastatin enhanced cell survival, which was mimicked by ROCK inhibitor fasudil. The involvement of RhoA/ROCK in cardiomyocyte protection has also been reported after fluvastatin treatment (Yi et al. 2020).

Izadpanah et al. studied the impact of statin treatment on MSCs' biological characteristics (Izadpanah et al. 2015). They treated ex vivo cultured MSCs with atorvastatin and pravastatin at clinically relevant concentrations and studied their rate of proliferation and differentiation potential. After statin treatment, the authors observed significantly increased doubling-time and colony-forming units in both young and old donor adipose tissue-derived MSCs. Moreover, statin treatment also

reduced MSCs' osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation potential besides their macrophage differentiation. Molecular studies revealed upregulated expression of p16, p53, caspase 3, 6, and 9 in the statin-treated MSCs.

A recently published study by Nantavisai et al. has reported that simvastatin treatment enhanced the expression of pluripotency markers in canine bone marrowderived MSCs besides increasing their proliferation (Nantavisai et al. 2019). Treating the cells with four different doses of simvastatin ranging from 0.1 nM to 100 nM, the authors observed a dose-dependent increase in the rate of cell proliferation on days five and seven after treatment. Molecular studies revealed increased cyclin D1 and D2, Ki67 and antiapoptotic protein Bcl2, and reduced caspase-8 and -9 expressions at higher doses. Low-dose treatment increased the propensity of Rex1 and Oct4 expression.

Statins and in vivo Experimental Animal Models

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 5 studies regarding the combined efficacy of atorvastatin and MSCs-based cell therapy for treating acute myocardial infarction (AMI) in experimental animal models clearly shows the superiority of the combinatorial therapeutic approach over either treatment alone (Dai et al. 2015). The pooled analysis of the studies showed a significantly improved LVEF in the combined treatment group than MSCs-treated group without atorvastatin. The systematic review concludes that combining MSCs-based cell with atorvastatin-based pharmacotherapy is a more effective therapeutic approach for further assessment in the clinical settings. On the same note, a systematic review of 38 studies, including 18 preclinical studies involving statin-treated MSCs-based cell therapy, has reported significantly improved biology and stemness characteristics of stem/ progenitor cells. The combined treatment approach using preconditioned MSCs with statin therapy led to improved organ function (Park et al. 2016).

Combined Statin and MSCs-Based Cell Therapy

Using a mini-swine experimental model of acute myocardial infarction, Dong et al. reported significant enhancement of the therapeutic efficacy of combining cell-based therapy with daily atorvastatin treatment (0.25 mg/kg) after intramyocardial delivery of the cells, with or without L-NNA treatment, an inhibitor of atorvastatin (5 mg/kg/ day) (Song et al. 2013). Interestingly, atorvastatin treatment significantly enhanced the donor cell survival postengraftment. Single-photon emission-computed tomography (SPECT) revealed reduced areas of the perfusion defect. At the same time, MRI showed significantly improved LVEF 4 weeks after treatment with a concomitant reduction in infarct size, the extent of fibrosis, and the rate of apoptotic cells in the combined atorvastatin and MSCs-treated animals as compared to the control animal group. The authors attributed the beneficial effects to improved donor cell survival, reduction in inflammatory markers, i.e., CRP, and improved paracrine activity of MSCs in the presence of atorvastatin. Similar data have also been reported when simvastatin was administered after MSCs-based cell therapy as a part of the

combinatorial approach (Yang et al. 2009). At 6 weeks, MRI revealed significantly attenuated infarct size and the number of dyskinetic segments. Treatment with simvastatin also reduced the number of apoptotic cells in the myocardium.

Treatment with atorvastatin has been reported to accentuate SDF-1 α expression in the infarcted myocardium via nitric oxide production, which is generally increased in response to ischemic injury (Qiu et al. 2012). Tian and colleagues have reported atorvastatin-induced activation of the SDF-1a/CXCR4 axis as the possible underlying mechanism for their observed improvement in cardiac function in a rodent model of acute myocardial infarction (Tian et al. 2019). The authors exploited the elevated SDF-1a release from cardiomyocytes in response to ischemic injury and induction of CXCR4 on MSCs in response to atorvastatin preconditioning. Transplantation of atorvastatin-preconditioned MSCs significantly reduced scar formation and improved indices of myocardial function at 4 weeks after treatment. Interestingly, transplantation of preconditioned MSCs combined with oral administration of atorvastatin (10 mg/kg/day) potentiated the efficacy of preconditioned cells which was blocked by AMD3100 (SDF-1/CXCR4 specific antagonist). The same research group has also reported enhanced expression of CXCR4 on endothelial cells and increased emigrational activity of MSCs in a rat heart model of ischemia-reperfusion injury (Chiang et al. 2015; Cai et al. 2013).

Li et al. 2015 have also reported increased CXCR4 expression in atorvastatinpreconditioned MSCs within 24 h after preconditioning as evidenced by flow cytometry and real-time PCR and confirmed by a transwell system, which revealed their enhanced emigrational activity in response to SDF-1 α gradient (Li et al. 2015). Intravenously delivered atorvastatin-primed MSCs homed-in to the infarcted rat heart in significantly higher number than the naïve (nonpreconditioned) MSCs and showed significantly higher survival on day 30 after transplantation. Moreover, treatment with preconditioned MSCs preserved the infarcted heart function and significantly reduced fibrotic tissue in the infarcted rat heart. While elucidating the molecular mechanism underlying the improved emigrational activity of atorvastatintreated MSCs, it was observed that the induction of the CXCR4 expression was regulated by miR-146a, thus establishing miR-146a as a potential target to modulate MSCs' emigrational activity (Li et al. 2021b).

Rosuvastatin is considered a "super statin" due to many of pharmacological functions, including strong anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. Akin to atorvastatin, rosuvastatin treatment has been reported to enhance MSCs survival postengraftment in the infarcted heart (Fu et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2013). Fu et al. hypothesized that combining rosuvastatin with MSCs transplantation would enhance the survival of transplanted cells via attenuation of inflammatory response in the infarcted myocardium (Fu et al. 2016). Using an experimental rat model of coronary microembolization, using microthrombotic particles (MTPs), GFP-labeled allogenic MSCs were delivered by intracardiac injection (into the left ventricle) simultaneously with MTPs. Rosuvastatin was administered 7 days before the cell transplantation and continued until 7 days after cell delivery. The authors observed significant reduction in proinflammatory cytokines, i.e., TNF- α , IL-1 β , as well as infiltration of inflammatory cells. Rosuvastatin treatment significantly enhanced the

transplanted MSCs' survival (~45 fold) with concomitant increase in proangiogenic factors, i.e., VEGF and bFGF. In another study combining rosuvastatin (10^{-6} mmol/L) treatment with MSCs engraftment, Zhang et al. used murine MSCs expressing luciferase and GFP (Zhang et al. 2013). Rosuvastatin treatment significantly enhanced transplanted cells' viability and reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis rate in the infarcted myocardium with a significant reduction in the area of fibrosis. Molecular studies showed enhanced Akt and ERK activation and reduction in proapoptotic proteins, including Bim and Bax. Another important observation was improved paracrine activity of the transplanted cells, which were counted as an integral part of the underlying mechanism leading to the overall reduction in apoptosis and improved cardiac function.

The Janus kinase (JAK /Signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) signaling is another essential pathway activated during statin treatment of MSCs and majorly impacted the efficacy of preconditioned cells (Xu et al. 2011). JAK/STAT is well documented for its role in cell stress response and cardioprotection (Kurdi and Booz 2009; Kiu and Nicholson 2012). The combinatorial treatment approach involving MSCs-based cell therapy and concomitant treatment with rosuvastatin provides an alternative approach that helps to render the cardiac microenvironment conducive for the transplanted cells rather than directly preconditioning the cells. Xu et al. have reported significantly improved survival, engraftment, and differentiation of the sex-mismatched transplanted MSCs in an infarcted female rodent heart model (Xu et al. 2011). Starting 1 day before intramyocardial injection of 2x10⁶ MSCs, rosuvastatin administration (4 mg/kg/day) was continued until 5 weeks with or without AG-490 treatment (JAK/STAT inhibitor, CalBiochem). The authors provided histological evidence of significant angiomyogenic activity in and around the infarcted myocardium, clearly abrogated by AG-490. There was a substantial improvement in cardiac function indices, including LVEF and LVFS, and reduction in the fibrotic area at 4 weeks after combined MSCs and statin treatment. Western blot analysis showed accentuation of JAK-STAT phosphorylation in rosuvastatin treatment animal hearts. More specifically, phospho (p)JAK2/JAK2, pSTAT1/STAT, and pSTAT3/ STAT3 were significantly higher in the combined treatment group than the MSCs alone treated animal hearts. Another significant signaling pathway reported in cytoprotection in response to atorvastatin treatment is RhoA/ Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming kinase (ROCK), reported in experimental female heart model with AMI after sex-mismatched MSCs transplantation (Zhang et al. 2014). The cells showed significantly enhanced survival but with little evidence of transdifferentiation. Moreover, atorvastatin treatment has significant immunomodulatory effects with a pronounced reduction in proinflammatory cytokines.

In summary, these studies provide mounting evidence that combined treatment with statin supported the reparability of the transplanted MSCs by rendering the myocardial milieu conducive for their survival and functioning. For example, at molecular and subcellular level, it has been reported that simvastatin and atorvastatin attenuate collagen and collagen-associated proteins expression in the infarcted myocardium, while simvastatin promotes exosome release from the cardiomyocytes, which are rich in decorin and deficient in periostin contents (Zeng et al. 2019; Kuo et al. 2019).

Using Statin-Preconditioned MSCs to Treat AMI

For optimal therapeutic outcome, Xu et al. combined atorvastatin-preconditioned MSCs with atorvastatin therapy at three different time points after AMI and delivered one to three cell injections (Xu et al. 2019a). In their extensive experimentation divided into two parts, the authors first determined the time of peak level SDF-1 α expression in the infarcted heart post ischemic episode. Based on their findings, the second half of the experiment was designed to assess the time of intravenous delivery of atorvastatin-preconditioned MSCs at early, mid, and late time-point delivery of single, double, and triple doses of the cells with or without intensive treatment with atorvastatin. A total of 215 female rats were randomized in 11 different treatment groups. Although therapeutic benefits were observed in all the cell treatment groups of animals, the highest therapeutic benefits were achieved in the late-treatment group of animals with triple injections, which showed significantly higher homing of the delivered cells into the infarcted myocardium as compared to the other treatment groups. These animals also had significantly reduced infarct size, attenuated fibrosis, and improved cardiac function; there was little evidence of cardiomyogenic differentiation of the preconditioned MSCs. Besides showing the therapeutic significance of the statin-based preconditioning approach, these data also showed the importance of a multiple cell delivery strategy.

The use of MSCs-derived exosomes is gaining popularity for the treatment of injured myocardium as it alleviates the unwanted effects of cell-based therapy (Haider and Aramini 2020; Haider and Aslam 2018). A recent advancement in the atorvastatin-based combinatorial approach is based on the use of atorvastatin and MSCs-derived exosomes as part of the fast-emerging cell-free therapy for the treatment of ischemic stroke for neurological recovery (Safakheil and Safakheil 2020).

A summary of the various experimental animal studies involving the use of atorvastatin preconditioned MSCs or MSCs-based cell therapy combined with atorvastatin treatment is given in Table 1.

Statin-Based Preconditioning of MSCs and Exosomes

Preconditioned stem/progenitor cells release exosomes with enormous therapeutic potential as compared to the exosomes derived from naïve MSCs (Panda et al. 2021). For example, atorvastatin-preconditioned MSCs-derived exosomes had significantly higher proangiogenic potential for diabetic wound healing than exosomes derived from naïve (nonpreconditioned) MSCs (Yu et al. 2020). Treatment of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) in vitro with atorvastatin-preconditioned MSCs-derived exosomes significantly enhanced their emigrational potential, tube formation, and VEGF expression with the possible involvement of Akt/eNOS signaling and downstream upregulation of miR-221-3p.

Besides other effects, priming the MSCs with atorvastatin prompted the cells to release exosomes with significantly higher cardioprotective effects than the

Animal model	Cells and route of delivery	Statin used	Summary of results	Reference
Swine experimental model of AMI	3x 10 ⁷ cells by intramyocardial injection of MSCs	Atorvastatin 0.25 mg/kg/day	The intramyocardial delivery of MSCs was carried out in a mini swine heart model of AMI immediately after reperfusion The animals were pretreated without or with atorvastatin 30 days later, significantly higher survival of transplanted cells was observed in the atorvastatin- pretreated animals. MRI and SPECT showed significantly improved cardiac function and myocardial perfusion. Also, combined treatment reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis, oxidative stress, and the suppression of proinflammatory cytokines in the infarcted myocardium	Yang et al. 2008
Rat-experimental model of AMI	1x 10 ⁶ cells by intramyocardial injection	Atorvastatin 10 mg/kg/day	MSCs were cocultured with cardiomyocytes in transwell system and showed GATA4 and cTn-I expression and were used for transplantation study using non-cocultured MSCs as a control. Atorvastatin or vehicle was administered starting 24 h after AMI Four week later, the rate of survival of the cells and differentiation	Cai et al. 2011

Table 1 Summary of the important experimental animal studies reported using MSCs-based cell therapy combined with statin treatment as a combinatorial approach or for preconditioning of MSCs before transplantation

Animal model	Cells and route of delivery	Statin used	Summary of results	Reference
			was significantly higher in atorvastatin- treated animals. Also, significantly reduced inflammatory cytokines (i.e., TNF, VCAM, and CRP), myeloperoxidase activity, and infiltrating cells were observed by day 28 after treatment	
Rabbit experimental model of AMI	4x107 cells by intramyocardial injection	Atorvastatin 1.5 mg/kg/day	Thirty rabbits equally divided to receive no treatment, MSCs, and combined MSCs with atorvastatin. The combined treatment acted synergistically to improve LVEF, decreased LV-systolic and diastolic dimensions, reduced area of fibrosis, and reduced the inflammatory cell infiltration into the infarct zone There was significant improvement in MSCs survival as well as reduction in cardiomyocyte	Qu et al. 2013
Rat model of chronic MI (7 days after MI)	2x 10 ⁶ sex-mismatched MSCs by intramyocardial injection	Combined MSCs and Rosuvastatin 4 mg/kg/day	Significantly higher level survival of sex-mismatched MSCs in the infarcted heart which showed higher level cardiogenic differentiation as well. There was significantly higher angiogenic response Molecular studies revealed JAK/STAT pathway activation which was abrogated	Xu et al. 2011

	Cells and route			
Animal model	of delivery	Statin used	Summary of results	Reference
			by AG-490. There was significant reduction in cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduction in fibrosis, and better functional improvement	
Swine experimental model of AMI	3x 10 ⁷ cells by intramyocardial injection	Atorvastatin 0.25 mg/kg/day	Forty-two swines with AMI were grouped to receive sham, AMI control, MSCs, MSCs+ statin, and MSCs+statin+L- NNA. Four weeks after treatment, decreased perfusion defect areas on SPECT and metabolism by PET, significantly increased LVEF by MRI, and reduced apoptosis and area of fibrosis. The benefits were partially blocked by L-NNA which showed the involvement of eNOS activation	Song et al. 2013
Rat heart model of coronary microembolization	2x 10° GFP-labeled MSCs by intramyocardial injection	Rosuvastatin 3 mg/kg/day starting 7 days earlier until 7 days after cell treatment	Rosuvastatin treatment significantly reduced proinflammatory cytokines, i.e., TNF-a and IL-1b in the embolized myocardium, besides reduced infiltration of inflammatory cells Transplanted cell survival was significantly higher in rosuvastatin-treated animal hearts. Proangiogenic growth factors, i.e., VEGF and bFGF, increased significantly leading	Fu et al. 2016

	Cells and route			
Animal model	of delivery	Statin used	Summary of results	Reference
			to enhanced angiogenic response	
Rat model of experimental AMI	5x10 ⁶ sex-mismatched MSCs by intramyocardial injection	Atorvastatin 10 mg/kg/day	Atorvastatin treatment combined with male donor MSCs transplantation in female recipient infarcted heart. Significantly higher survival of the donor cells; however, no trans differentiation was observed in the transplanted cells. However, significantly reduced proinflammatory cytokines with concomitant reduction in ROCK and ERK activities	Zhang et al. 2014
Rat model of experimental AMI	2x10° MSCs via tail vein injection	Combined atorvastatin 10 mg/kg/day or preconditioned MSCs	Atorvastatin pretreatment of MSCs significantly enhanced CXCR4 expression on the cells which enhanced their migration in response to SDF-1 α in transwell system. Intravenous delivered preconditioned MSCs in a rodent heart model of AMI successfully homed- in to the infarcted myocardium, leading to improved cardiac function parameters as compared to the control animals and attenuated LV remodeling. The study proved the significance of SDF-1 α /CXCR4 axis for homing and engraftment of	Li et al. 2015

	Cells and route			
Animal model	of delivery	Statin used	Summary of results	Reference
			intravenously delivered MSCs	
Rat model of experimental AMI	2x10 ⁶ MSCs by intramyocardial injection	Combined atorvastatin 10 mg/kg/day or preconditioned MSCs	115 female rats with AMI divided into six groups of treatment (n = 15 per group). Atorvastatin preconditioned MSCs combined with atorvastatin therapy showed significant emigrational activity via activation of SDF-1 α /CXCR4 signaling, the cells homed-in to the infarcted heart. Significant improvement in cardiac function parameters besides reduction in infarct size. The therapeutic benefits were abrogated by AMD3100 treatment	Tian et al. 2019
Rat model of experimental MI	2x10 ⁶ MSCs via tail vein injection	Combined atorvastatin 10 mg/kg/day or preconditioned MSCs	First part of the experiment determined the time point at which SDF-1 α level was maximum in the heart after MI (in 150 rats). In the second part, 215 female rats were randomized into 11 treatment groups ($n = 15$ rats per group) receiving preconditioned cells early, mid, and late time points using single dose, two doses, or three doses. All cell therapy groups showed significant homing-in of the transplanted cells; however, the	Xu et al. 2019a

	Cells and route			
Animal model	of delivery	Statin used	Summary of results	Reference
			highest cell number was achieved in late treatment group with triple injections. This group also showed highest angiogenesis when combined with atorvastatin treatment, with significantly reduced infarct size and area of fibrosis. There was little evidence of myogenic differentiation of the preconditioned cells	
Rat model of experimental AMI	Exosome derived from atorvastatin- preconditioned MSCs		Treatment with exosomes promoted significantly higher angiogenesis in the infarcted myocardium. There was significant reduction in proinflammatory cytokines IL6 and TNF in the infarcted myocardium. The exosomes derived from preconditioned MSCs were rich in lncRNA H19 to regulate miR-675 and activation of VEGF and intracellular adhesion molecule-1. Moreover, there was significant reduction in cardiomyocyte apoptosis in and around the area of infarct	Huang et al. 2020

AMI, Acute myocardial infarction; ERK1/2, Extracellular regulated protein kinase; L-NNA, NG-nitrol-L-arginine; LV, Left ventricle; LVEF, Left ventricular ejection fraction; MRI, Magnetic resonance imaging; PET, Positron Emission Tomography; ROCK, Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming kinase; SDF-1 α , Stromal cell-derived factor-1 α ; SPECT, Single-Photon Emission-Computed Tomography; VEGF, Vascular endothelial growth factor; IncRNA, Long noncoding RNA

exosomes derived from naïve MSCs without atorvastatin treatment (Huang et al. 2020). Exosomal lncRNA sequencing of atorvastatin-primed MSCs showed nearly 450 lncRNA with upregulated expression (more than 1.5-fold increases) compared to the exosomes from naïve MSCs. Exosomal lncRNA H19 was increased almost 13-fold and had significant participation in angiogenesis and cardiac protection. Treatment of experimentally infarcted rodent heart with atorvastatin-primed MSCs-derived exosomes was cardioprotective, reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis, increased angiogenesis, and reduced proinflammatory IL6 and TNF expression in the infarcted myocardium, which was attributed to the immunomodulatory effects of statins.

Although statin treatment enhances the therapeutic efficacy of the stem cellderived exosomes, pretreatment of MSCs has been shown to abrogate exosome generation by the stem cells. For example, pretreatment of bone marrow-derived MSCs with simvastatin significantly reduces exosome biogenesis by depleting the synthesis of proteins needed for the generation of exosome (Kulshreshtha et al. 2019).

In vitro studies with atorvastatin-primed MSCs-derived exosomes showed significantly enhanced endothelial cell survival, emigrational potential, and tubulogenesis.

Combined Statin and Cell-Based Therapy for AMI Patients

Based on the encouraging data from small experimental animal models and translational studies (Table 1), and cardioprotective effects of high-dose atorvastatin treatment in the clinical settings (Teshima et al. 2009; Kim et al. 2010; Barbarash et al. 2015), combined statin and cell-based therapy has progressed to the clinical phase to treat patient with myocardial infarction. Xu et al. have designed TEAM-AMI (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03047772), a randomized double-blind placebocontrolled multicenter clinical trial of transplantation efficacy of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells with intensive atorvastatin in acute myocardial infarction patients (Xu et al. 2019b). The study was designed to enhance the efficacy of MSCs via combined therapy with atorvastatin by promoting their survival post engraftment in patients with anterior St-segment elevation MI. The patients were randomized to receive either routine atorvastatin therapy (20 mg/day) with placebo or intravenous injection of MSCs, or 80 mg/day or placebo (1:1:1:1). The primary end point of the study was absolute change in LVEF while the secondary end points were global cardiac function, remodeling, and regeneration. The study is anticipated to enroll 124 patients, and no data from it has been published as yet although the study was to be completed in 2018.

The same research group has registered another similar study STEM-AMI with an official title "Strengthening transplantation effects of bone marrow mononuclear cells with atorvastatin in myocardial infarction" (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00979758) (Yang et al. 2020). The study used intensive atorvastatin treatment in combination with bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells rather than MSCs. The Phase 2 study was intended to "precondition" the cardiac microenvironment to make it less harsh and conducive for the transplanted cells to support their survival and reparability. A total of 100 patients (30–80 years) having LVEF <45% were enrolled in the study to receive either normal (20 mg/day) or high (80 mg/day) doses of atorvastatin with intracoronary mononuclear cells or placebo injections 2-4 weeks after STEMI. One year follow-up studies revealed that cell transplantation significantly improved LVEF as compared to the total placebo-treated patients. Only atorvastatin + mononuclear cell-treated patient group showed significantly improved LVEF as compared with placebo + atorvastatin-treated patients. Similarly, PET revealed significantly decreased fibrosis and increased viable myocardium in atorvastatin + mononuclear cell-transplanted animals. These data supported the combined atorvastatin and mononuclear cell-based therapy as more efficacious as compared to either of the treatment approach alone. The augmented efficacy of mononuclear cellbased therapy was attributed to the cytoprotective effects of atorvastatin on the infarcted myocardium, thus rendering it favorable for the transplanted cells.

Some earlier clinical studies have also reported significant mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells and homing in to the heart in response to atorvastatin treatment from the bone marrow and home-in to the myocardium after myocardial infarction (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00536887) (Hong et al. 2010) and coronary artery bypass surgery (ClinicalTrials.gov number, NCT01096875) (Baran et al. 2012).

Conclusion and Future Perspective

The modest outcome of most clinical trials in regenerative medicine has been attributed to the quality of the cell preparation besides the cytokine-rich harsh microenvironment of the infarcted myocardium, both of which interject to the massive death of the transplanted cells post engraftment. Hence, preconditioning of the donor cells to develop "super cells" (Haider & Ashraf, 2007) that could withstand the rigors of the infarcted heart and "fertilizing" the cardiac milieu (Xu et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2020) to make it favorable for the transplanted cells, especially during acute phase after infarction episode, remains the cornerstone of the ongoing research in cardiovascular regenerative medicine. In this regard, pharmacological preconditioning approach has come a long way in addressing both cell quality-related as well as cardiac milieu-related issues to achieve optimal outcome of cell-based therapy. The primary advantage of pharmacological preconditioning approach is that the drug molecules used in there already have an established safety profile for human use.

As discussed earlier, statins are known for their significant cytoprotective effects on MSCs and cardiomyocytes during in vitro and in vivo experimental animal models and during clinical studies in myocardial damage repair. Preconditioning of MSCs with statins before transplantation and combined treatment of cell therapy with statin therapy has given encouraging results in the translational as well as clinical settings. The synergy between the intrinsic antiapoptotic and immunomodulatory properties of MSCs and pleiotropic action of statins, i.e., endothelial protection, immunomodulation, reduction in antioxidant stress, etc., together renders the cardiac environment favorable for the transplanted cells and augments their reparability. The combinatorial approach also involves stem cells from the intrinsic pool to home-in to the myocardium to participate in the myocardial repair and regenerative processes. Looking into the future, it is imperative that more research into the application of the different types of statins for myocardial damage repair be conducted. With the recent emergence of cell-free therapy approach, further characterization of statin-preconditioned MSCs-derived exosomes and their payload, and profiling of the conditioned medium from statin-preconditioned cells (Nowak et al. 2019), may offer ample opportunities for cardiovascular application to reduce morbidity and mortality due to myocardial injury. The potential of translating this research into successful clinical application looks bright; however, the statin-preconditioning regime should be tailored quite significantly depending on the nature and properties of the ischemic event. A summary of statin-based combined treatment approach with MSCs-based therapy for myocardial repair is outlined in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Flow-diagram summarizing the cell-based and cell-free therapy approaches involving MSCs and statins

Cross-References

- ► Exosome-Based Cell-Free Therapy in Regenerative Medicine for Myocardial Repair
- ▶ Extracellular Vesicles-Based Cell-Free Therapy for Liver Regeneration
- Mesenchymal Stem Cells
- Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair

References

- Afzal MR, Haider HK, Idris NM, Jiang S, Rahman S, Ashraf M (2008) Augmented myocyte protection and proliferation in the infarcted heart following treatment with cell lysate from pharmacologically preconditioned mesenchymal stem cells. FASEB J 22(1130.6)
- AHA. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics at a Glance. Am Hear Assoc. 2018. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIR.00000000000558
- Ahmed RPH, Haider HK, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011a) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70
- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider HK (2011b) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host: a note of caution. Regen Med 6: 171–178
- Aicher A, Heeschen C, Sasaki K, Urbich C, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2006) Low-energy shock wave for enhancing recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells: a new modality to increase efficacy of cell therapy in chronic hind limb ischemia. Circulation 114:2823–2830
- Alam S, Ueki K, Nakagawa K, Marukawa K, Hashiba Y, Yamamoto E, Sakulsak N et al (2009) Statin-induced bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) 2 expression during bone regeneration: an immunohistochemical study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 107(1):22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tripleo.2008.06.025
- Althanoon Z, Faisal IM, Ahmad AA, Merkhan MM, Merkhan MM (2020) Pharmacological aspects of statins are relevant to their structural and physicochemical properties. Syst Rev Pharm 11(7): 167–171
- Andrzejewska A, Lukomska B, Janowski M (2019) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: from roots to boost. Stem Cells 37(7):855–864
- Assmus B, Walter DH, Seeger FH, Leistner DM, Steiner J, Ziegler I, Lutz A, Khaled W, Klotsche J, Tonn T et al (2013) Effect of shock wave-facilitated intracoronary cell therapy on LVEF in patients with chronic heart failure: the CELLWAVE randomized clinical trial. JAMA 309: 1622–1631; PMID:23592107. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.3527
- Baran Ç, Durdu S, Dalva K, Zaim Ç, Dogan A, Ocakoglu G, Gürman G et al (2012) Effects of preoperative short term use of atorvastatin on endothelial progenitor cells after coronary surgery: a randomized, controlled trial. Stem Cell Rev Rep 8(3):963–971. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12015-011-9321-z
- Barbarash O, Gruzdeva O, Uchasova E, Belik E, Dyleva Y, Karetnikova V (2015) Dose-dependent effects of atorvastatin on myocardial. Drug Des Devel Ther 2015(9):3361–3368. https://doi.org/ 10.2147/DDDT.S86344
- Bhartiya D (2021) Adult tissue-resident stem cells fact or fiction? Stem Cell Res Ther 12:73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-021-02142-x
- Bonvini RF, Hendiri T, Camenzind E (2005) Inflammatory response post-myocardial infarction and reperfusion: a new therapeutic target? Eur Heart J Suppl 7(I):127–I36. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/sui077

- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (eds) Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Geithner Straße 13- 10785, Berlin. (Published, 2018)
- Cai A, Qiu R, Li L, Zheng D, Dong Y, Yu D, Huang Y et al (2013) Atorvastatin treatment of rats with ischemia-reperfusion injury improves adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell migration and survival via the SDF-1α/CXCR-4 axis. PLoS One 8(12):e79100
- Carson RA, Rudine AC, Tally SJ, Franks AL, Frahm KA, Waldman JK, DeFranco DB (2018) Statins impact primary embryonic mouse neural stem cell survival, cell death, and fate through distinct mechanisms. PLoS One 13(5):e0196387
- Chamani S, Liberale L, Mobasheri L, Montecucco F, Al-Rasadi K, Jamialahmadi T, Sahebkar A (2021) The role of statins in the differentiation and function of bone cells. Eur J Clin Invest 51(7):e13534
- Chapman G, Tanner S (2021) An unusually impressive atorvastatin-induced elevation of serum alkaline phosphatase. BMJ Case Rep 13(2):e231839. https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2019-231839. Corrected and republished in: Drug Ther Bull 59(3):43–47
- Chen P-Y, Sun J-S, Tsuang Y-W, Chen M-H, Weng P-W, Lin F-H (2010) Simvastatin promotes osteoblast viability and differentiation via Ras/Smad/Erk/BMP-2 signaling pathway. Nutr Res 30(3):191–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2010.03.004
- Chiang KH, Cheng WL, Shih CM, Lin YW, Tsao NW, Kao YT, Lin CT et al (2015) Statins, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, improve neovascularization by increasing the expression density of CXCR4 in endothelial progenitor cells. PLoS One 10(8):e0136405
- Cianflone E, Cappetta D, Mancuso T, Sabatino J, Marino F, Scalise M, Albanese M et al (2020) Statins stimulate new myocyte formation after myocardial infarction by activating growth and differentiation of the endogenous cardiac stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 21(21):7927. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms21217927
- Dai G, Xu Q, Luo R, Gao J, Chen H, Deng Y, Li Y et al (2015) Atorvastatin treatment improves effects of implanted mesenchymal stem cells: meta-analysis of animal models with acute myocardial infarction. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 15:170. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-015-0162-6
- Dong Q, Yang Y, Song L, Qian H, Xu Z (2011) Atorvastatin prevents mesenchymal stem cells from hypoxia and serum-free injury through activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Int J Cardiol 153(3):311–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2010.08.047
- Durrani S, Haider HK, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cytoprotective and proangiogenic activity of Netrin-1/Unc5b ligand/receptor interaction: netrin-1 transgene delivery protects the heart against ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem Cells Dev 21(10):1769–1778. https://doi.org/10. 1089/scd.2011.0475
- Elmadbouh I, Haider HK, Ashraf M, Chachques J-C (2011) Preconditioning of human skeletal myoblast with stromal cell-derived factor-1α promotes cytoprotective effects against oxidative and anoxic stress. Int J Stem Cells 4:50–60
- Endo A (2010) A historical perspective on the discovery of statins. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 86(5):484–493. https://doi.org/10.2183/pjab.86.484
- Ezquer FE, Ezquer ME, Vicencio JM, Calligaris SD (2017) Two complementary strategies to improve cell engraftment in mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy: increasing transplanted cell resistance and increasing tissue receptivity. Cell Adhes Migr 11(1):110–119. https://doi. org/10.1080/19336918.2016.1197480
- Farhudg D, Heschele J, Nayernia K (2019) Inflammatory microenvironment of acute myocardial infarction prevents regeneration of heart with stem cells therapy. Cell Physiol Biochem 53: 887–909. https://doi.org/10.33594/00000180
- Ferri N, Corsini A (2020) Clinical pharmacology of statins: an update. Curr Atheroscler Rep 22: 1–9

- Frati C, Savi M, Graiani G, Lagrasta C, Cavalli S, Prezioso L, Rossetti P et al (2011) Resident cardiac stem cells. Curr Pharm Des 17(30):3252–3257. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161211797904181
- Fu FY, Chen BY, Chen LL, Zhang FL, Luo YK, Jun F (2016) Improvement of the survival and therapeutic effects of implanted mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model of coronary microembolization by rosuvastatin treatment. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 20(11):2368–2381
- Gollmann-Tepeköylü C, Lobenwein D, Theurl M, Primessnig U, Lener D, Kirchmair E, Mathes W et al (2018) Shock wave therapy improves cardiac function in a model of chronic ischemic heart failure: evidence for a mechanism involving VEGF signaling and the extracellular matrix. J Am Heart Assoc 7:e010025. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.010025
- Gu X, Liu Z, Gao S, Ma L, Chen J, Wang Z, Lu A et al (2021) The effects of ischemic preconditioning supplementation on endothelial function: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2021:6690691. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/ 6690691
- Gyöngyösi M, Blanco J, Marian T, Trón L, Petneházy O, Petrasi Z, Hemetsberger R et al (2008) Serial noninvasive in vivo positron emission tomographic tracking of percutaneously intramyocardially injected autologous porcine mesenchymal stem cells modified for transgene reporter gene expression. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 1(2):94–103
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider HK, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow cell transplantation in clinical perspective. J Mol Cell Cardiol 38:225–235
- Haider HK, Ashraf M (2007) Developing "super cells" by modification with super anti-apoptotic factor. J Mol Cell Cardiol 42:478–480
- Haider HK, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning and stem cell survival. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 3(2): 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-009-9161-2
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2012) Preconditioning approach in stem cell therapy for the treatment of infarcted heart. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 111:323–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398459-3.00015-0
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Stem cells: from hype to real Hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (eds) Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Geithner Straße13- 10785 Berlin. (Published, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110642438
- Haider HK, Tan T, Aziz S, Chachques JC, Sim EKW (2004a) Myoblast transplantation for cardiac repair: a clinical perspective. Mol Ther 9:14–23
- Haider HK, Jiang S, Ye L, Aziz S, Law PK, Sim EKW (2004b) Effectiveness of transient immunosuppression using cyclosporine for xenomyoblast transplantation for cardiac repair. Transplant Proc 36(1):232–235
- Haider HK, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider HK, Lee Y-J, Jiang S, Ahmad RPH, Ahn MR, Ashraf M (2010) Phosphodiesterase inhibition with tadalafil provides longer and sustained protection of stem cells. Am J Physiol Heart Lung Physiol 299:H1395–H1404
- Han Y, Li X, Zhang Y, Han Y, Chang F, Ding J (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative medicine. Cell 8(8):886
- Hofmann M, Wollert KC, Meyer GP, Menke A, Arseniev L, Hertenstein B, Ganser A (2005) Monitoring of bone marrow cell homing into the infarcted human myocardium. Circulation 111(17):2198–2202. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000163546.27639.AA
- Holfeld J, Tepeköylü C, Blunder S, Lobenwein D, Kirchmair E, Dietl M, Kozaryn R et al (2014) Low energy shock wave therapy induces angiogenesis in acute hind-limb ischemia via VEGF receptor 2 phosphorylation. PLoS One 9:e103982

- Holfeld J, Zimpfer D, Albrecht-Schgoer K, Stojadinovic A, Paulus P, Dumfarth J, Thomas A et al (2016) Epicardial shock-wave therapy improves ventricular function in a porcine model of ischaemic heart disease. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10:1057–1064
- Hong SJ, Choi SC, Kim JS, Shim WJ, Park SM, Ahn CM, Park JH (2010) Low-dose versus moderate-dose atorvastatin after acute myocardial infarction: 8-month effects on coronary flow reserve and angiogenic cell mobilization. Heart 96(10):756–764. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt. 2009.182683
- Hosseini SM, Ziaee SM, Haider HK, Karimi A, Tabeshmehr P, Abbasi Z (2018) Preconditioned neurons with NaB and nicorandil, a favorable source for stroke cell therapy. J Cell Biochem 19(12):10301–10313. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.27372
- Hu C, Li L (2018) Preconditioning influences mesenchymal stem cell properties in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Mol Med 22(3):1428–1442. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13492
- Huang P, Wang L, Li Q, Tian X, Xu J, Xu J, Xiong Y et al (2020) Atorvastatin enhances the therapeutic efficacy of mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes in acute myocardial infarction via up-regulating long non-coding RNA H19. Cardiovasc Res 116(2):353–367. https://doi. org/10.1093/cvr/cvz139
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng (JBiSE) 9(4):226–244
- Izadpanah R, Schächtele DJ, Pfnür AB, Lin D, Slakey DP, Kadowitz PJ, Alt EU (2015) The impact of statins on biological characteristics of stem cells provides a novel explanation for their pleiotropic beneficial and adverse clinical effects. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 309(8): C522–C531. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00406.2014
- James AW (2013) Review of signaling pathways governing MSC osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation. Scientifica vol. 2013, Article ID 684736, 17 pages, 2013. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2013/684736
- Jenča D, Melenovský V, Stehlik J, Staněk V, Kettner J, Kautzner J, Wohlfahrt P (2021) Heart failure after myocardial infarction: incidence and predictors. ESC Heart Fail 8(1):222–237
- Jiang S, Haider HK, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784
- Khodayari S, Khodayari H, Amiri AZ, Eslami M, Farhud D, Hescheler J, Nayernia K (2019) Inflammatory microenvironment of acute myocardial infarction prevents regeneration of heart with stem cells therapy. Cell Physiol Biochem 53(5):887–909. https://doi.org/10. 33594/000000180
- Kim HW, Haider HK, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-210 expression by targeting caspase-8-associated protein 2. J Biol Chem 284(48):33161–33168. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.020925
- Kim JS, Kim J, Choi D, Lee CJ, Lee SH, Ko YG, Hong MK et al (2010) Efficacy of high-dose atorvastatin loading before primary percutaneous coronary intervention in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: the STATIN STEMI trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 3(3):332–339. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jcin.2009.11.021
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kiu H, Nicholson SE (2012) Biology and significance of the JAK/STAT signalling pathways. Growth Factors 30(2):88–106. https://doi.org/10.3109/08977194.2012.660936
- Konoplyannikov M, Haider HK, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Vien KL, Ashraf M (2013) Activation of diverse signaling pathways by delivery of multiple cytokines for myocardial repair. Stem Cell Dev 22(2):204–215. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0575

- Kulshreshtha A, Singh S, Ahmad M, Khana K, Ahmad T, Agrawal A Ghos B (2019) Simvastatin mediates inhibition of exosome synthesis, localization and secretion via multicomponent interventions. Sci Rep 9, 16373. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52765-7
- Kuo HF, Hsieh CC, Wang SC, Chang CY, Hung CH, Kuo PL, Liu YR (2019) Simvastatin attenuates cardiac fibrosis via regulation of cardiomyocyte-derived exosome secretion. J Clin Med 8(6): 794. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8060794
- Kurdi M, Booz GW (2009) JAK redux: a second look at the regulation and role of JAKs in the heart. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 297(5):H1545–H1556. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart. 00032.2009
- Lai M, Jin Z, Yang X, Wang H, Xu K (2017) The controlled release of simvastatin from TiO2 nanotubes to promote osteoblast differentiation and inhibit osteoclast resorption. Appl Surf Sci 396:1741–1751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2016.11.228
- Lalit PA, Hei DJ, Raval AN, Kamp TJ (2014) Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells for post-myocardial infarction repair remarkable opportunities and challenges. Circ Res 114:1328–1345. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.300556
- Larijani B, Esfahani EN, Amini P, Nikbin B, Alimoghaddam K, Amiri S, Malekzadeh R, Yazdi NM, Ghodsi M, Dowlati Y, Sahraian MA, Ghavamzadeh A (2012) Stem cell therapy in treatment of different diseases. Acta Med Iran 50(2):79–96. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22359076
- Leong YY, Ng WH, Ellison-Hughes GM, Tan JJ (2017) Cardiac stem cells for myocardial regeneration: they are not alone image. Front Cardiovasc Med 4, 47 pages. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fcvm.2017.00047
- Li X, Zhang F, Song G, Gu W, Chen M, Yang B et al (2013) Intramyocardial injection of pig pluripotent stem cells improves left ventricular function and perfusion: a study in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction. PLoS One 8(6):e66688. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0066688
- Li N, Wang C, Jia L, Du J (2014) Heart regeneration, stem cells, and cytokines. Regen Med Res 2:6. https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-490X-2-6
- Li N, Yang YJ, Qian HY, Li Q, Zhang Q, Li XD, Dong QT et al (2015) Intravenous administration of atorvastatin-pretreated mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac performance after acute myocardial infarction: role of CXCR4. Am J Transl Res 7(6):1058–1070. PMID: 26279750; PMCID: PMC4532739
- Li J, Hu S, Zhu D, Huang K, Mei X, de Juan Abad BL, Cheng K (2021a) All roads Lead to Rome (the Heart): cell retention and outcomes from various delivery routes of cell therapy products to the heart. J Am Heart Assoc 10:e020402. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.120.020402
- Li N, Guo XY, Zhou J, Yan XL, Yu FF (2021b) Atorvastatin pretreatment ameliorates. Eng Regen Med 18(5):863–873. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13770-021-00362-z
- Lu G, Haider KH, Porollo A, Ashraf M (2010) Mitochondria specific transgenic overexpression of connexin-43 simulates preconditioning induced cytoprotection of stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 88:277–286
- Lu G, Ashraf M, Haider HK (2012a) IGF-1 preconditioning accentuates intrinsic survival mechanism in stem cells to resist ischemic injury by orchestrating PKCα-MAPK activation. Antioxid Red Signal 16(3):217–227
- Lu G, Jiang S, Ashraf M, Haider HK (2012b) Mitochondria specific connexin-43 transgene expression protects stem cells in the ischemic heart via shifting the balance between Bak and Bcl-xL. Regen Med 7(3):323–334
- Mayfield AE, El T, Davis DR (2014) Resident cardiac stem cells and their role in stem cell therapies for myocardial repair. Can J Cardiol 30(11):1288–1298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2014. 03.018
- Miyawaki A, Obana M, Mitsuhara Y, Orimoto A, Nakayasu Y, Yamashita T, Fukada S-O et al (2017) Adult murine cardiomyocytes exhibit regenerative activity with cell cycle reentry through STAT3 in the healing process of myocarditis. Sci Rep 7:1407. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-017-01426-8

- Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA (1986) Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. Circulation 74(5):1124–1136. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.74.5.1124
- Nakagami H, Liao JK (2004) Statins and myocardial hypertrophy. Coron Artery Dis 15(5): 247–250. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mca.0000130229.18685.b9
- Nantavisai S, Rodprasert W, Pathanachai K, Wikran P, Kitcharoenthaworn P, Smithiwong S, Archasappawat S et al (2019) Simvastatin enhances proliferation and pluripotent gene expression by canine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (cBM-MSCs) in vitro. Heliyon 5: e02663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02663
- Nenna A, Nappi F, Larobina D, Verghi E, Chello M, Ambrosio L (2021) Polymers and nanoparticles for statin delivery: current use and future perspectives in cardiovasc disease. Polymers (Basel) 13(5):711. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13050711
- Ng A, Alexander W (2017) Haematopoietic stem cells: past, present and future. Cell Death Discov 3:17002. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.2
- Niagara MI, Haider HK, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2007) Pharmacological preconditioning renders skeletal myoblasts resistant to oxidative stress and enhances their cardiac repair ability via expression of paracrine factors after transplantation. Circ Res 100:545–555
- Nowak WN, Taha H, Markiewicz J, Kachamakova-Trojanowska N, Stępniewski J, Klóska D, Florczyk-Soluch U et al (2019) Atorvastatin and conditioned media from atorvastatin-treated human hematopoietic stem/progenitor-derived cells show proangiogenic activity in vitro but not in vivo. Mediat Inflamm 2019:1868170. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1868170
- Panda B, Sharma Y, Suchi Gupta S, Mohanty S (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as an emerging paradigm for regenerative therapy and Nano-medicine: a comprehensive review. Life 11:784. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11080784
- Park J (2012) Combination of simvastatin and bone morphogenetic protein-2 enhances the differentiation of osteoblasts by regulating the expression of phospho-Smad1/5/8. Exp Ther Med 4: 303–306
- Park A, Barrera-Ramirez J, Ranasinghe I, Pilon S, Sy R, Fergusson D, Allan DS (2016) Use of statins to augment progenitor cell function in preclinical and clinical studies of regenerative therapy: a systematic review. Stem Cell Rev Rep 12(3):327–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12015-016-9647-7
- Penicka M, Widimsky P, Kobylka P, Kozak T, Lang O (2005) Images in cardiovascular medicine early tissue distribution of bone marrow mononuclear cells after transcoronary transplantation in a patient with acute myocardial infarction. Circulation 112:e63–e65
- Pera MF, Reubinoff B, Trounson A (2000) Human embryonic stem cells. J Cell Sci 113:5–10
- Potier E, Ferreira E, Andriamanalijaona R, Pujol J-P, Oudina K, Logeart-Avramoglou D, Petite H (2007) Hypoxia affects mesenchymal stromal cell osteogenic differentiation and angiogenic factor expression. BONE 40(4):1078–1087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2006.11.024. hal-01758625
- Qiu R, Cai A, Dong Y, Zhou Y, Yu D, Huang Y, Zheng D et al (2012) SDF-1α upregulation by atorvastatin in rats with acute myocardial infarction via nitric oxide production confers antiinflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects. J Biomed Sci 19(1):99. https://doi.org/10.1186/1423-0127-19-99
- Rajab AM, Rajab TM, AlJundi S, Haider KH. Bone stem cell therapy in the clinical perspective: a focus on nonrandomized and randomized trials. In: Stem cells: from myth to reality and evolving. Kh. Husnain Haider (ed) Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Geithner Straße13-10785, Berlin. (Published, 2019)
- Rosenstrauch D, Poglajen G, Zidar N, Gregoric ID (2005) Stem celltherapy for ischemic heart failure. Tex Heart Inst J 32(3):339–347
- Ruiz-Gaspa S, Nogues X, Enjuanes A, Monllau JC, Blanch J, Carreras R, Mellibovsky L et al (2007) Simvastatin and atorvastatin enhance gene expression of collagen type 1 and osteocalcin in primary human osteoblasts and MG-63 cultures. J Cell Biochem 101(6):1430–1438. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21259

- Safakheil M, Safakheil H (2020) The effect of exosomes derived from bone marrow stem cells in combination with Rosuvastatin on functional recovery and neuroprotection in rats after ischemic stroke. J Mol Neurosci 70:724–737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-020-01483-1
- Smagul S, Kim Y, Smagulova A, Raziyeva K, Nurkesh A, Saparov A (2020) Biomaterials loaded with growth factors/cytokines and stem cells for cardiac tissue regeneration. Int J Mol Sci 21: 5952. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21175952
- Song L, Yang YJ, Dong QT, Qian HY, Xu H, Meng XM, Tang Y (2011) Atorvastatin protects swine bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells from apoptosis through AMPK but not PI3K/Akt pathway. Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi 39(11):1033–1038
- Song L, Yang YJ, Dong QT, Qian HY, Gao RL, Qiao SB, Shen R et al (2013) Atorvastatin enhance efficacy of mesenchymal stem cells treatment for swine myocardial infarction via activation of nitric oxide synthase. PLoS One 8(5):e65702. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065702
- Stroes E (2005) Statins and LDL-cholesterol lowering: an overview. Curr Med Res Opin 21(Suppl 6):S9–S16. https://doi.org/10.1185/030079905X59102
- Sun W, Lee TS, Zhu M, Gu C, Wang Y, Zhu Y, Shyy JY (2006) Statins activate AMP-activated protein kinase in vitro and in vivo. Circulation 114(24):2655–2662. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.106.630194
- Suzuki K, Murtuza B, Beauchamp JR, Brand NJ, Barton PJ, Varela-Carver A, Fukushima S (2004) Role of interleukin-1β in acute inflammation and graft death after cell transplantation to the heart. Circulation 110(11 suppl_1):II-219
- Suzuki Y, Kim HW, Ashraf M, Haider HK (2010) Diazoxide potentiates mesenchymal stem cell survival via NF-κB-dependent miR-146a expression. Am J Phys 299:H1077–H1082
- Tabeshmehr P, Haider HKh, Salmannejad M, Sani M, Hosseini SM, Hossein M, Shirazi K (2017) Nicorandil potentiates sodium butyrate induced preconditioning of neurons and enhances their survival upon subsequent treatment with H₂O₂. Trans Neurodegener 6:29
- Tepekoylu C, Wang FS, Kozaryn R, Albrecht-Schgoer K, Theurl M, Schaden W et al (2013) Shock wave treatment induces angiogenesis and mobilizes endogenous CD31/CD34-positive endothelial cells in a hindlimb ischemia model: implications for angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 146:971–978
- Teshima Y, Yufu K, Akioka H, Iwao T, Anan F, Nakagawa M, Yonemochi H et al (2009) Early atorvastatin therapy improves cardiac function in patients with acute myocardial infarction. J Cardiol 53(1):58–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjcc.2008.08.008
- Tian XQ, Yang YJ, Li Q, Xu J, Huang PS, Xiong YY, Li XD et al (2019) Combined therapy with atorvastatin and atorvastatin-pretreated mesenchymal stem cells enhances cardiac performance after acute myocardial infarction by activating SDF-1/CXCR4 axis. Am J Transl Res 11(7): 4214–4231
- Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahill KS, Byrne BJ, Kessler PD (2002) Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. Circulation 105(1): 93–98
- Torella D, Indolfi C, Nadal-Ginard B (2015) Generation of new cardiomyocytes after injury: de novo formation from resident progenitors vs. replication of pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Ann Transl Med 3(Supplement 1):1–6. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.02.17
- Tu Y, Qiu Y, Liu L, Huang T, Tang H, Liu Y, Guo W et al (2019) miR-15a/15b cluster modulates survival of mesenchymal stem cells to improve its therapeutic efficacy of myocardial infarction. J Am Heart Assoc 8:e010157. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.010157
- Van Nguyen TT, Vu NB, Van Pham P (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation for ischemic diseases: mechanisms and challenges. Tissue Eng Regen Med 18(4):587–611. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13770-021-00334-3
- Vazin T, Freed WJ (2010) Human embryonic stem cells: derivation, culture, and differentiation: a review. Restor Neurol Neurosci 28(4):589–603. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0543. PMID: 20714081; PMCID: PMC2973558
- Wassmann S, Laufs U, Müller K, Konkol C, Ahlbory K, Bäumer AT, Linz W et al (2002) Cellular antioxidant effects of atorvastatin in vitro and in vivo. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22(2): 300–305. https://doi.org/10.1161/hq0202.104081

- Wei ZZ, Zhu YB, Zhang JY, McCrary MR, Wang S, Zhang YB, Wei L (2017) Priming of the cells: hypoxic preconditioning for stem cell therapy. Chin Med J 130(19):2361
- World Health Organization WHO. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). WHO. https://www.who.int/en/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds). Published 2017. Accessed 31 Dec 2018
- Xiao YF, Jy M, Morgan JP (2004) Immunosuppression and xenotransplantation of cells for cardiac repair. Ann Thorac Surg 77(2):737–744
- Xu R, Chen J, Cong X, Hu S, Chen X (2008) Lovastatin protects mesenchymal stem cells against hypoxia- and serum deprivation-induced apoptosis by activation of PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2. J Cell Biochem 103(1):256–269. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21402Citations:59
- Xu H, Yang YJ, Qian HY, Tang YD, Wang H, Zhang Q (2011) Rosuvastatin treatment activates JAK-STAT pathway and increases efficacy of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in infarcted hearts. Circ J 75(6):1476–1485. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.cj-10-1275
- Xu H, Yang YJ, Yang T, Qian HY (2013) Statins and stem cell modulation. Ageing Res Rev 12(1):1-7
- Xu J, Xiong YY, Li Q, Hu MJ, Huang PS, Xu JY, Tian XQ et al (2019a) Optimization of timing and times for administration of atorvastatin-pretreated mesenchymal stem cells in a preclinical model of acute myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Transl Med 8(10):1068–1083. https://doi. org/10.1002/sctm.19-0013
- Xu JY, Qian HY, Huang PS, Xu J, Xiong YY, Jiang WY, Xu Y et al (2019b) Transplantation efficacy of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells combined with atorvastatin for acute myocardial infarction (TEAM-AMI): rationale and design of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-center, Phase II TEAM-AMI trial. Regen Med 14(12):1077–1087. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2019-0024
- Xue Y, Wu M, Liu Z, Song J, Luo S, Li H, Li Y (2019) In vitro and in vivo evaluation of chitosan scaffolds combined with simvastatin-loaded nanoparticles for guided bone regeneration. J Mater Sci Mater Med 30(4):47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-019-6249-3
- Yang Y-J, Qian H-Y, Huang J, Li J-J, Gao R-L, Dou K-F, Yang G-S (2009) Combined therapy with Simvastatin and Bone Marrow–Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells increases benefits in infarcted Swine Hearts. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29:2076–2082. https://doi.org/10.1161/ ATVBAHA.109
- Yang Y-J, Qian H-Y, Song L, Geng Y-J, Gao R-L, Li N, Wang H et al (2020) Strengthening effects of bone marrow mononuclear cells with intensive atorvastatin in acute myocardial infarction. Open Heart 7:e001139. https://doi.org/10.1136/openhrt-2019-001139
- Ye L, Chang YH, Xiong Q, Zhang P, Zhang L, Somasundaram P, Lepley M et al (2014) Cardiac repair in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction with human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiovascular cells [published correction appears in Cell Stem Cell 16(1):102]. Cell Stem Cell 15(6):750–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.009
- Yi Z, Ke J, Wang Y, Cai K (2020) Fluvastatin protects myocardial cells in mice with acute myocardial infarction through inhibiting RhoA/ROCK pathway. Exp Ther Med 19: 2095–2102
- Young SG, Fong LG (2012) Lowering plasma cholesterol by raising LDL receptors revisited. N Engl J Med 366(12):1154–1155. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMe1202168
- Yu M, Liu W, Li J, Lu J, Jia W, Liu F (2020) Exosomes derived from atorvastatin-pretreated MSC accelerate diabetic wound repair by enhancing angiogenesis via AKT/eNOS pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:350. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01824-2
- Zakrzewski W, Dobrzyński M, Szymonowicz M et al (2019) Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1165-5
- Zeiser R (2018) Immune modulatory effects of statins. Immunology 154(1):69-75
- Zeng HT, Zhao M, Zhang ZX, Liu ZL, Zhong SM (2019) Atorvastatin improves the cardiac function of rats after acute myocardial infarction through ERK1/2 pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 23(16):7120–7127. https://doi.org/10.26355/eurrev_201908_18757
- Zhang Q, Yang YJ, Wang H, Dong QT, Wang TJ, Qian HY (2012) Autophagy activation: a novel mechanism of atorvastatin to protect mesenchymal stem cells from hypoxia and serum deprivation via AMP-activated protein kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin pathway. Stem Cells Dev 21(8):1321–1332. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0684

- Zhang Z, Li S, Cui M, Gao X, Sun D, Qin X, Narsinh K et al (2013) Rosuvastatin enhances the therapeutic efficacy of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for myocardial infarction via PI3K/Akt and MEK/ERK pathways. Basic Res Cardiol 108(2):333
- Zhang Q, Wang H, Yang YJ, Dong QT, Wang TJ, Qian HY et al (2014) Atorvastatin treatment improves the effects of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation on acute myocardial infarction: the role of the RhoA/ROCK/ERK pathway. Int J Cardiol 176(3):670–679. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijcard.2014.07.071
- Zurick KM, Qin C, Bernards MT (2013) Mineralization induction effects of osteopontin, bone sialoprotein, and dentin phosphoprotein on a biomimetic collagen substrate. J Biomed Mater Res A 101(6):1571–1581. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34462
- Zvibel I, Smets F, Soriano H (2002) Anoikis: roadblock to cell transplantation? Cell Transplant 11(7):621–630. https://doi.org/10.3727/00000002783985404



Unraveling the Mystery of Regenerative **16** Medicine in the Treatment of Heart Failure

Mathieu Rheault-Henry, Ian White, and Rony Atoui

Contents

Introduction	473
Heart Failure	473
Regenerative Potential of Stem Cells	475
Endogenous Cardiac Regeneration	476
Outcomes of Clinical Studies	478
Pluripotent Stem Cells	479
Skeletal Myoblasts	480
Bone Marrow-Derived Stem Cells	481
Mesenchymal Stem Cells	482
Cardiac Stem Cells	485
Understanding the Factors Affecting Cell-Based Therapy	485
Engraftment, Survival, and Rejection	486
Dosage	488
Cell Type	489
Route of Administration	490
Hippo-YAP Pathway	493
Ethical Issues in Regenerative Medicine	494
What Does the Future Hold for Cardiac Regenerative Medicine?	495
Cell-Free Strategies	495
Bioengineering	497
Conclusion and Future Perspectives	499
References	501

MRH and IW collected the data and wrote this chapter. RA devised the project, developed the main conceptual ideas and edited the manuscript. All authors revised and approved the final version

M. Rheault-Henry · I. White · R. Atoui (🖂)

Division of Cardiac Surgery, Health Sciences North, Northern Ontario School of Medicine, Sudbury, ON, Canada

e-mail: mrheaulthenry@nosm.ca; iwhite@nosm.ca

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_16

Abstract

Despite many advancements that have been made in the field of cardiovascular research, heart failure is still associated with a poor prognosis and high mortality worldwide. The discovery that adult cardiomyocytes have an extremely low turnover rate has prompted researchers to investigate stem cells as a therapeutic option for cardiac regeneration. With stem cell therapy now approaching its third decade, numerous clinical trials have been completed and questions surrounding stem cell therapy are starting to be answered. It is now fairly well established that stem cell therapy has a positive safety profile, but only has produced neutral to moderately positive clinical outcomes. It is also clear that current stem cell therapies lack a significant ability to engraft and remuscularize the myocardium, suggesting cardiac repair occurs primarily through paracrine signaling mechanisms. Innovative strategies involving cardiac bioengineering, cell-free biomolecules, and combination therapies likely hold the key to advancing the field to the next stage. Looking ahead, we remain cautiously optimistic that stem cell therapeutics will have a significant place in the future of cardiovascular treatments, but there are still many questions that need to be answered before routine clinical application is possible.

Keywords

Cardiac · Clinical · Heart · Infarction · Regenerative medicine · Stem cells

Abbreviations	5
AAV	Adeno-associated virus
ACC/AHA	American College of Cardiology and the American Heart
	Association
ANP	Atrial natriuretic peptide
BMDSC	Bone marrow-derived stem cell
BMMNC	Bone marrow mononuclear cell
BNP	Brain natriuretic peptide
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CDC	Cardiosphere-derived cell
CDCP	Center for Disease Control and Prevention
СМ	Cardiomyocyte
CPC	Cardiac progenitor cell
CSC	Cardiac stem cell
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDV	End diastolic volume
EF	Ejection fraction
ESC	Embryonic stem cell
ESV	End systolic volume
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
hESC-CP	Human embryonic stem cell cardiac progenitor
HF	Heart failure

HFpEF	HF with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	HF with reduced ejection fraction
IC	Intracoronary
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IM	Intramuscular
iPSC	Induced-pluripotent stem cell
IV	Intravenous
LV	Left ventricular
LVEDV	Left ventricular end diastolic volume
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection volume
LVESV	Left ventricular end systolic volume
MI	Myocardial infarction
MLHFQ	Minnesota Living with HF Questionnaire
MPC	Mesenchymal precursor cell
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
NYHA	New York Heart Association
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
PDGF-B	Platelet-derived growth factor B
PSC	Pluripotent stem cell
SDF-1	Stromal cell-derived factor-1
SM	Skeletal myoblast
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is a significant worldwide health issue that consistently ranks among the leading causes of death and disability-adjusted life years lost (Abbafati et al. 2020). Cardiovascular disease is an umbrella term used for numerous cardiac and peripheral vascular pathologies including heart failure. Heart failure (HF) is a global epidemic that impacts the quality of life, life expectancy, and the economics of the health care system. In the USA and Europe, HF is the leading cause of hospitalization with over one million admissions as a primary diagnosis (Ambrosy et al. 2014). Moreover, it represents up to 2% of total hospitalizations in these regions, with minor improvements in post-discharge mortality rates. It is estimated that there are over six million people in the USA living with HF, and this number is expected to increase to over eight million by 2030 (Mozaffarian et al. 2016; Virani et al. 2021). Globally, HF affects 26 million people, imposing an immense burden on international health care systems and society as a whole (Cheung and Jahan 2020).

Heart Failure

Heart failure is a complex clinical syndrome characterized by structural and functional abnormalities which impair ventricular filling or ejection of blood (Gaglianello et al. 2016). These changes in cardiac function are highly problematic as they result in inadequate perfusion of vital organs and peripheral tissues. This mechanical pump failure consequently results in an inability of the heart to meet the body's metabolic demands. Heart failure is commonly classified as HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) or HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). HFrEF is defined as a left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of less than 40%. Conversely, HFpEF is defined as an LVEF greater than 50% (Gaglianello et al. 2016). These classifications are essential, as they provide the information necessary to determine the appropriate management strategy and prognosis of the disease. Another important point to consider is the clinical severity of HF, which is graded based on the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional classification. It defines four functional classes of heart failure - from class 1 being the least severe to class IV being the most severe (Inamdar and Inamdar 2016). Patients can move between classes relatively quickly as this classification system focuses on symptoms only. Moreover, the American College of Cardiology and the American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) HF staging system was created to complement the NYHA functional classification. With the ACC/AHA classification, there is no moving backward to prior stages. Once symptoms have developed, the patient is in stage C HF and will never again be classified in stage B. Together, the NYHA functional classification and the ACC/AHA clinical tools are useful in estimating the progression and future outcome of the disease.

The causes of heart failure are numerous - coronary artery disease, diabetes, hypertension, idiopathic cardiomyopathies, pressure overload, volume overload, cardiotoxic drugs, metabolic conditions, and inflammatory and hereditary conditions are common culprits. Nonetheless, the most common etiology of HF remains myocardial infarction (MI) (Tanai and Frantz 2015). Myocardial infarction results in ischemia, necrosis of cardiomyocytes (CMs), and fibrotic scar tissue formation (Mouton et al. 2018). The extent of CM damage depends on the duration of ischemia and the size of the zone of infarction. If the MI is not treated on time, severe structural and functional impairments ensue. Following an MI, compensatory mechanisms such as activation of the sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system work together to maintain adequate cardiac output and blood flow to vital organs (Gaglianello et al. 2016). Over time, these responses are often insufficient as they result in fluid retention and adverse remodeling of the chambers of the heart. Cardiac remodeling typically results in CM hypertrophy, resulting in decreased cardiac contractility. Following these changes, a progressive decline in cardiac function is observed until the heart ultimately fails to pump completely (Tables 1 and 2).

Class	Symptoms
I (Mild)	No symptoms ^a during normal physical activity (walking, stairs)
II (Mild)	Mild symptoms ^a and slight limitations during normal physical activity
III (Moderate)	Moderate symptoms ^a with significant limitations in physical activity. Comfortable only at rest
IV (Severe)	Severe symptoms ^a that markedly limits activity and are present even at rest

Table 1 New York Heart Association Functional Classification of Heart Failure

^aSymptoms – fatigue, chest pain, palpitations, dyspnea, and syncope

Stage A	Patients at high risk for heart failure who have not yet developed structural heart changes
Stage B	Patients with structural heart disease (i.e., reduced ejection fraction, left ventricular hypertrophy, and chamber enlargement) who have not yet developed symptoms of heart failure
Stage C	Patients who have structural heart disease and have developed symptoms of heart failure
Stage D	Patients with refractory heart failure requiring specialized intervention (transplantation and left ventricular assist device)

Due to the high quality of medical care and revascularization techniques such as coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) and percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), survival rates following MI have increased (Skinner and Cooper 2011; Ambrosy et al. 2014). However, as patient survival increases, cases of HF are rapidly growing. Symptoms of HF are frequently homogenous, yet the progression of the disease and the pathological processes are diverse, warranting a holistic approach to treatment. It is recommended that patients incorporate both pharmacological and nonpharmacologic therapies to improve the functional capacity of the heart – reducing its workload (Gaglianello et al. 2016). Triple therapy, consisting of diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE inhibitors), and betablockers, are some of the most common symptom management strategies for HF patients and have been particularly beneficial in HFpEF. Moreover, implantable cardiac defibrillators and ventricular assist devices are options for more severe cases. Heart transplantation is considered the gold standard for treatment, yet it yields a high cost, immune reactions are common, and there remains a major discrepancy between the availability of donors and recipients (Rojas and Haverich 2019; Mohite et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2020). Despite many therapeutic options available, the prognosis of HF remains poor, with a 5-year mortality rate of around 50% and a 10-year survival rate of only 20% (Gaglianello et al. 2016). These statistics warrant a treatment that can stop the progressive nature of the disease while restoring cardiac function. Due to the limited endogenous regeneration potential of the heart, stem cells as a therapeutic option to treat HF have gained interest globally. In the last few decades, stem cells have been extensively studied to treat patients living with HF.

Regenerative Potential of Stem Cells

The use of stem cells to generate healthy cells or replace diseased cells is not a novel idea. Historically, doctors have performed stem cell transplants – also known as bone marrow transplants. In these transplants, stem cells replace cells that have been damaged by disease or chemotherapy and serve as a vehicle for the recipient of these cells to fight off various forms of hematological cancers – leukemia, lymphoma, and

multiple myeloma. In regenerative medicine, the unique potential of stem cells is based on two important qualities: the ability to self-replicate and the potential to differentiate into mature, functional cell phenotypes (Zakrzewski et al. 2019).

Stem cells can be divided into two broad categories – pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) and adult stem cells. Adult stem cells are more differentiated and are limited to give rise to only certain sets of cells or tissues of the body (Singh et al. 2016). These can be broken down into derivatives from the bone marrow, cardiac tissue, skeletal muscle, umbilical cord, and adipose tissue. Human ESCs are termed pluripotent, meaning that they can divide into any cell type found in the body. These cells are incredibly versatile and can be used to repair or regenerate damaged or diseased tissues and organs. However, they are limited by important ethical implications as they arise from the blastocyst of an embryo. Novel protocols have been developed to reprogram adult stem cells to have properties of embryonic stem cells (TAkahashi and Yamanaka 2006). The cells termed induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) were developed by genetic reprogramming techniques to alter the potency level of mature somatic cells.

When considering stem cells as an option for cardiac regeneration, some cells are more specialized than others. Also, they can secrete different levels or combinations of various bioactive messengers, and some have different functions altogether through the expression of various cell markers (Sobhani et al. 2017). Stem cells can be transplanted directly into the heart, allowing engraftment, direct differentiation, and replacement of diseased cells. Conversely, some stem cells trigger a paracrine effect, involving the secretion of various chemical messengers that stimulate the patient's nearby cells to repair damaged tissue. To recognize and compare the therapeutic potential of the various stem cell types, it is important to understand their therapeutic potential along with the mechanisms in which they work. To date, ESCs, iPSCs, and various adult stem cell lineages such as bone-marrow-derived stem cells (BMDCs), cardiac stem cells (CSCs), and skeletal myoblasts (SMs) have either been tested or are currently undergoing clinical trials in the treatment of cardiac disease (Fig. 1).

Endogenous Cardiac Regeneration

It is well known that the human heart lacks any significant regenerative capacity in response to myocardial injury or chronic disease. This explains why myocardial injury is so problematic. An acute left ventricular MI that kills over 25% of the CMs in the LV can ultimately lead to chronic heart failure (Murry et al. 2006). Although the heart may not adequately repair itself after injury, it is becoming increasingly clear that the heart is not a postmitotic organ. Research in the last couple of decades has revealed that CM renewal does occur, albeit at a very slow rate. The current consensus is that in a healthy, adult human heart, the CM turnover rate is approximately 0.5–1% per year, and this rate decreases over the life span (Eschenhagen et al. 2017). A study using carbon 14 dating techniques in human cardiomyocyte DNA demonstrated that adult CM turnover takes place at a rate of 1% annually at age 20 and 0.3% at age 75. This



Fig. 1 Stem cell lineages utilized in regenerative medicine from least differentiated to most differentiated

equates to approximately 50% of the entire cell population being turned over in one's lifespan (Bergmann et al. 2009). This evidence was corroborated in a separate study that again demonstrated that CM renewal is greatest during the neonatal period and decreases in adulthood to less than 1% annually. Of note, turnover rates of cardiac endothelial cells and mesenchymal cells (MSCs) were slightly higher, at >15% and <4%, respectively (Bergmann et al. 2015).

Interestingly, anecdotal evidence supports the claim that cardiac regeneration in neonatal populations may be higher than initially thought. In 2015, a case report was published on a newborn child with thrombotic occlusion of the left anterior descending artery for >20 h, causing severe acute myocardial infarction. The myocardial damage was marked by elevated troponin levels, electrocardiogram, echocardiography, and cardiac angiography abnormalities. Miraculously, within

weeks the child's heart function began to recover, and at 1-year post-MI, there was no distinguishable difference in heart function or morphology compared to a healthy 1-year-old infant. A similar phenomenon of functional cardiac repair has been demonstrated in newborn murine models of severe MI and cardiac apex resection (Haubner et al. 2012; Porrello et al. 2011). This raises a pertinent question regarding the mechanism of new cardiomyocytes regeneration. Unfortunately, the answer remains elusive. Researchers hypothesize that new cardiomyocytes possibly originate from three potential sources: resident cardiac progenitor cells, proliferation of preexisting cardiomyocytes, or migration of extra-cardiac stem cells to the myocardium (Eschenhagen et al. 2017). We also do know that during embryonic development the heart enlarges primarily through CM proliferation. One month after birth, CM numbers are already at their highest and will remain constant across one's lifetime. In the second decade of life, cardiac growth occurs via cellular hypertrophy, and an increase of cardiomyocyte DNA content via polyploidization (Bergmann et al. 2015).

Determining the source and the extent of normal physiologic cardiac regeneration and renewal of CMs post-injury is a delicate but critical task. Identifying pathways that could be manipulated and amplified for therapeutic purposes remains a key goal for future research. Given that the endogenous turnover of CMs is relatively low, prevention of proapoptotic pathways immediately after cardiac injury and the stimulation of endogenous proliferative pathways may be the key to the cardiac regeneration puzzle. For example, researchers have recently begun investigating the Hippo-YAP pathway, with the hope of manipulating this intrinsic regenerative mechanism to influence cardiac regeneration.

Outcomes of Clinical Studies

Successful stem cell therapy depends on a multitude of outcomes that are observed in patients post-administration. Improvements in mortality, morbidity, and quality of life indexes such as the NYHA functional class, Minnesota Living with HF Questionnaire (MLHFQ), and distance on the six-min walk test with exercise capacity are commonly taken into consideration. In terms of heart function, stem cells should be able to improve left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), decrease end-systolic volume (ESV), end-diastolic volume (EDV), atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), and brain natriuretic peptide (BNP). Lastly, the successful application of stem cells in HF relies heavily on the capacity for engraftment and survival of such cells into the host myocardium, the potential for revascularization and angiogenesis, and the capacity to electromechanically couple with resident CMs, allowing them to beat as a functional syncytium (Gerbin and Murry 2015). Most importantly, successful therapy needs to demonstrate a favorable safety profile, with minimal to no adverse events. Common concerns would be any cardiovascular events, cardiac arrhythmias, immune rejection, and teratoma formation. Past, present, and future clinical trials using various types of stem cells as a treatment for cardiac disease, and specifically HF, will be discussed in the following section in detail.

Pluripotent Stem Cells

In an attempt to regenerate the myocardium, some researchers have adopted an upstream approach to cellular-based therapies, using pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) and differentiating them into cardiac progenitors or functional CMs. The two basic approaches to creating PSC-derived CMs begin with either the extraction of human ESCs or the creation of iPSCs from mature somatic cell types. PSCs possess the unique ability of unlimited self-renewal and the ability to differentiate into functional progenitor cell types (Kadota and Shiba 2019). These two unique qualities allow researchers to differentiate a significant number of PSCs into functional CMs (Kadota and Shiba 2019). The newly generated CMs can then be implanted into the damaged tissue, with the ultimate goal of integration into the host myocardium. Recently, there has been increasing preclinical evidence accumulating on the efficacy of both iPSCs and human ESCs in the treatment of HF. Researchers have demonstrated that human PSCs can be successfully differentiated into functional CMs that display necessary electrophysiologic properties, calcium handling abilities, and contractile proteins (Kadota et al. 2013). Various animal models including rat, pig, and nonhuman primates have been used to show that human-ESC-derived-CMs can functionally engraft into the host myocardium and improve contractile function (Kadota et al. 2020).

To date, the phase I ESCORT trial (NCT02057900) conducted out of France is the only published clinical trial investigating human PSC-CMs in humans with HF (Menasché et al. 2018). This trial investigated the safety and feasibility of implanting human-ESC-derived CD15+ Isl-1+ cardiac progenitor cells (hESC-CP) in patients with severe ischemic left ventricular dysfunction. Six patients had a fibrin patch embedded with hESC-CPs transplanted epicardially as an adjunct to CABG. Safety was measured at 1-year follow-up for three primary endpoints: cardiac or off-target tumors assessed by CT and PET scan imaging, arrhythmias detected by serial interrogations of cardioverter-defibrillators, and alloimmunization assessed by detection of donor-specific antibodies. During 1-year follow-up, none of the patients exhibited any arrhythmias, and no tumors were detected in any of the patients included in the follow-up. Three patients developed low-level donor-specific antibodies; however, none of the patients had any clinically relevant complications due to the alloimmunization. Although efficacy was not a primary outcome in the study, all patients at the 1-year endpoint demonstrated symptomatic improvement from the baseline determined by a decrease in the NYHA functional class score and improvements in distance during the 6-min walk test. Patients also showed a modest increase in LVEF and a significantly improved left ventricular wall motion score measured via transthoracic echocardiogram. Although there is only one completed clinical trial using PSC-CMs in humans, there are currently two ongoing clinical trials utilizing iPSCs-CMs and likely several others in the near future. The first trial is an open-label clinical trial in China (HEAL-CHF, NCT03763136) assessing the safety and feasibility of direct epicardial injection of allogeneic human iPSCs-CMs in five patients with HF. The second clinical trial was launched in Japan in 2020 to implant cellular sheets of iPSCs-CMs into patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. There are relatively few known details about the trial, but it is enrolling ten patients over 3 years and aims to assess the efficacy and safety of iPSC-CMs in humans at the 1-year postoperative stage (Cyranoski 2018).

There remain some real concerns regarding the use of iPSC-CMs in clinical settings. Preclinical trials in porcine and nonhuman primate models demonstrated nonlethal transient ventricular arrhythmias posttransplantation assessed by electroanatomical mapping (Shiba et al. 2016; Romagnuolo et al. 2019). Incidentally, the arrhythmias were shown to be of graft-site origin. Two proposed mechanisms are believed to be contributing to the ectopic pacing: immaturity of the neomyocytes and automaticity (Kadota et al. 2020). No arrhythmias were observed in the human clinical trial. Besides arrhythmias, poor long-term engraftment of PSC-CMs remains a primary concern and this issue has been discussed in depth in a later section of the chapter. Lastly, immune rejection of the allogeneic donor cells is a potential problem that necessitates immunosuppression. However, Menasché et al. (2018) have demonstrated that three patients developed alloimmunization, but it was clinically silent.

Skeletal Myoblasts

Skeletal myoblasts (SMs) are harvested under the basal lamina of muscle fibers. This cell lineage is an attractive option for regenerative therapy as it provides an abundant source of readily available cells with myogenic differentiation potential (Haider et al. 2004a). Moreover, they can be easily expanded undifferentiated in culture to achieve the required number for cell-based therapy (Sim et al. 2003). Interestingly, SMs are immuno-privileged and need only transient immunosuppression for successful cross-species transplantation (Haider et al. 2004b). These data have led to first-inman allogenic SMs transplantation in patients (Law et al. 2003). Preclinical trials found that SMs could improve cardiac function by differentiating into functional CMs in animal models (Taylor et al. 1998; Chiu et al. 1995; Ye et al. 2007). SMs are excellent carriers of therapeutic genes due to their robust nature. Hence, they have been genetically modulated for the angiomyogenic repair of the heart in experimental settings (Lei et al. 2007, 2011). They have also been preconditioned to enhance their post-engraftment survival and improve their reparability (Niagara et al. 2007; Elmadbouh et al. 2011). SMs have also been reprogrammed to develop induced pluripotent stem cells for myocardial repair, however, not without the possibility of myocardial tumorigenesis (Ahmed et al. 2011a, b).

Researchers quickly pushed SMs into human clinical trials with hopes to achieve similar results (Menasché et al. 2001; Sim et al. 2003; Siminiak et al. 2004). Unfortunately, researchers could not reproduce the successful findings in human clinical trials. The MARVEL study tested the intramyocardial (IM) injection of SMs in a sample of 14 patients, but ultimately resulted in an increased risk of developing ventricular tachycardia (Povsic et al. 2011). In addition, there were no significant improvements in LVEF or Minnesota Living with HF scores at the 6-month follow-up. The SEISMIC trial investigated the IM transplantation of autologous SMs in a cohort of 40 patients. It also found that LVEF and global heart function

improvements were not statistically significant at 6 months following administration (Duckers et al. 2011). Serious adverse events were common, yet there were no differences in incidence between the cell therapy group and the control group.

Similar to the MARVEL and SEISMIC studies, the MAGIC trial also administered SMs via IM route. In a sample of 120 patients, it was found that SMs did not improve LVEF or global cardiac function (Menasché et al. 2008). This was confirmed on a 5-year follow-up (Brickwedel et al. 2014). More significant risks of arrhythmias were noted upon administration of SMs and this was determined to be the primary concern regarding this cell lineage. Skeletal myoblasts are deprived of gap junctions and therefore lack electromechanical coupling potential, forming the basis of arrhythmia formation (Reinecke et al. 2002; Abraham et al. 2005). Though more studies with larger sample sizes could indicate whether or not SMs could be incorporated in HF treatment in the future, researchers have transitioned away from this phenotype due to their apparent lack of efficacy and safety concerns.

Bone Marrow-Derived Stem Cells

Bone marrow-derived stem cells are one of the most heavily tested cells in the treatment of cardiac disease to date. Researchers believe that autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNCs) can improve heart function through angiogenesis and direct cardiomyocyte regeneration within the myocardium (Hu et al. 2011). The first ever published clinical trial using autologous (BMMNCs) included 21 patients with chronic HF who received the cells via transendocardial route. There were no safety concerns, and after 4 months, significant increases in LVEF, reductions in ESV, and improvements in perfusion and myocardial contractility were observed (Perin et al. 2003). Other clinical trials, such as the TOPCARE-CHD, showed significant improvements in global cardiac function, regional contractility, and mortality besides a decrease in ANP and BNP in response to transcoronary BMMNCs injection (Assmus et al. 2007). Similarly, improvements in LVEF, infarct zone, exercise capacity, NYHA functional class, and long-term mortality were observed up to 5 years after intracoronary (IC) administration of autologous bone marrow cells in the STAR-heart study (Strauer et al. 2010). The initial success of bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMDSCs) prompted the creation of more extensive phase II trials such as the FOCUS-CCTRN and the CELLWAVE, where autologous BMMNCs were administered via transendocardial and IC route, respectively. The initial excitement created by the smaller clinical trials data was short lived, as no significant improvements in LVEF, maximal oxygen consumption, infarct size, and reversibility of ischemia were observed in the larger phase II trials (Perin et al. 2012; Assmus et al. 2013). In the TAC-HFT trial, patients received either transendocardial injections of autologous BMMNCs, autologous MSCs, or placebo. Results showed that only MSC-based therapy decreased infarct size and improved the 6-min walk test distance and regional function of the heart (Heldman et al. 2014). No improvement was noted in LVEF. The Cardio133 clinical trial reported significant adverse events in patients receiving CD133(+) bone marrow cells delivered via

CABG. Although some improvements in scar size and perfusion were observed, it was found that the injection of CD133(+) cells had neither effect on clinical symptoms of HF nor global LV function (Nasseri et al. 2014).

A systematic review and meta-analysis including 1907 participants and a total of 38 randomized controlled trials found low-quality evidence that BMDSCs improved LVEF and mortality during short-term and long-term follow-up (Fisher et al. 2016a). Moreover, there was little evidence that BMDSCs improved NYHA functional class in HF patients. Though periprocedural adverse events were uncommon and serious adverse events were rare, there is no current consensus on whether or not this cell type is truly efficacious in improving outcomes. Fisher et al. applied the trial sequential analysis of two Cochrane reviews to overcome the limitations of meta-analyses (Fisher et al. 2016b). Randomized controlled trials using autologous BMDSCs to 2739 patients with acute MI and 1094 patients with HF were included in the analysis. It was found that although there is insufficient evidence to determine the treatment effect in acute MI, there is solid evidence that the administration of autologous BMDSCs reduced mortality and rehospitalization for those with HF. It was also found that BMDSCs did not improve LVEF by more than a mean difference of 4% in patients with acute MI or HF (Fisher et al. 2016b). Results of this analysis must be confirmed by an adequately powered double-blind phase III trial. Given these marginally positive findings, there is currently no consensus on whether or not BMDSCs will have a future role in treating HF patients. However, BMDSCs seem to have a favorable safety profile as there are generally few safety concerns.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells are a subtype of BMDSCs. Though found primarily in the bone marrow, they are also located in other areas of the body, including adipose tissue, blood, and the umbilical cord, commonly referred to as Wharton's jelly (Menasché 2018; Mathiasen et al. 2020; Zhao et al. 2015). Among the different BMDSCs types, MSCs primarily act via paracrine signaling mechanisms and, for this reason, seem to show great promise for regeneration of the myocardium (Menasché 2018). Paracrine signaling allows for pro-angiogenic effects by releasing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and stem cell growth factor (Natsumeda et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2020). Moreover, the paracrine effect stimulates the proliferation and differentiation of endogenous cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs) (Natsumeda et al. 2017). These CPCs have pro-angiogenic capabilities and the potential to promote the differentiation of existing cardiac cells, though evidence of their long-term engraftment is lacking (Williams et al. 2013). In addition to paracrine signaling, MSCs can directly contribute to vascular proliferation and direct myocardial regeneration on a greater scale (Tehzeeb et al. 2019; Lalu et al. 2018). This cell lineage also has important repair properties through immunomodulation, anti-fibrotic, pro-angiogenic, and anti-oxidative effects (Turner et al. 2020). One unique characteristic of MSCs is

that they do not express major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) antigens. Hence, MSCs are good candidates for allogeneic sourcing, as they are nonimmunogenic (Nair and Gongora 2020). Together, these qualities make MSCs great contenders for treating chronic HF. A meta-analysis investigating 52 preclinical studies showed that MSCs were moderately associated with significant improvements in LVEF and showed that cardiac cell therapy is safe and not associated with increased mortality (van der Spoel et al. 2011). A recent systematic review investigated the impact of MSCs as a treatment for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy (Hoeeg et al. 2020). In total, 27 studies were included; however, most studies involved preclinical animal models (3 clinical and 24 preclinical trials). Of these, 21 of the included trials tested bone marrow-derived MSCs, 4 tested human umbilical cord MSCs, and 3 tested adipose tissue-derived MSCs. It was found that bone marrow, umbilical cord, and adipose tissue-derived MSC treatment can improve cardiac function in nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy through main mechanisms of anti-fibrotic and anti-apoptotic effects, angiogenesis, and immunomodulation. This suggests that independent of the cell origin, all MSC types share synonymous mechanisms of action. All three clinical trials and 22 of the 24 preclinical trials reported improvements in cardiac function following administration of MSCs.

Thus far, human clinical trials utilizing MSCs in HF have yielded exciting results. The results of the first placebo-controlled trial, MSC-HF, indicated that the IM injection of autologous MSCs is safe, reduces hospital admissions, and improves myocardial function (Nigro et al. 2018). In addition, the TAC-HFT trial suggested that MSCs were superior to BMMNCs in reducing infarct size and improving regional heart function in patients with chronic HF (Heldman et al. 2014). Other studies like the POSEIDON trial compared the transendocardial delivery of autologous versus allogeneic MSCs in patients with HF. Interestingly, both autologous and allogeneic MSCs improved LV function while reducing infarct size and adverse cardiac remodeling without any safety concerns highlighted (Hare et al. 2012). Five years later, results of the POSEIDON-DCM trial were released. Overall, it was demonstrated that more significant improvements were observed in allogeneic MSCs versus autologous MSCs in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. There were more significant improvements in quality of life, functional capacity scores such as the NYHA functional class and MLHFQ, the 6-min walk test, and improvements in ejection fraction (Hare et al. 2017). Just like the POSEIDON trial, the transendocardial delivery of both autologous and allogeneic MSCs in the POSEIDON-DCM trial had no notable safety concerns. Though more extensive trials are required to determine which cell source is more favorable, evidence supports the superiority of allogeneic MSCs regarding the efficacy and endothelial function. Another trial led by Mathiasen et al. (2020) administering MSCs via IM injection resulted in improvements in LVEF, stroke volume, and myocardial mass in patients with HF. A larger trial, the DREAM-HF trial with 566 patients enrolled, was recently completed. It evaluated the efficacy of allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells (MPCs) in patients with advanced chronic HF. Results are pending.
A systematic review and meta-analysis investigating the efficacy and safety of MSCs in ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathies determined that of the 29 clinical trials, the vast majority demonstrated improvements in LVEF, LVESV, NYHA functional class, and exercise capacity without significant safety concerns (Poulin et al. 2016). Patients who received stem cells as an adjunct to CABG had the most remarkable improvements in LVEF, which justifies the role of catheter-based revascularization. Based on this data, it seems that MSC therapy may be a feasible option in improving cardiac function while decreasing adverse cardiac remodeling in patients with HF. Another systematic review and meta-analysis reviewed the safety and efficacy of MSCs in 12 trials focused on ischemic HF. There were significant improvements in LVEF; however, there were no significant improvements in mortality. Additionally, several studies within the meta-analysis showed an increase in quality of life and physical performance. However, quality of life and performance status were inconsistently reported in studies, which limited the ability to provide conclusions (Lalu et al. 2018). Most importantly, there seems to be no association between treatment with MSCs and adverse events, suggesting a favorable safety profile.

Other descendants of MSCs such as cardiopoietic and umbilical cord MSCs have been studied in clinical trials. These are more specialized cells derived from a pure MSC lineage. Cardiopoietic stem cells are derived from MSCs in the bone marrow and are of particular interest in regenerative medicine. One of the first using cardiopoietic cells, the C-CURE trial, demonstrated significant improvements in LVEF, quality of life, and lower LVESV 2 years after administration into the heart with no safety concerns noted (Bartunek et al. 2013). This small-scale study catalyzed the formation of the CHART-1 trial, which had a greater sample size of 351 individuals. Interestingly, this study shared similar results to the C-CURE trial, indicating that cardiopoietic cells have the potential to provide long-lasting benefits toward cardiac function in those with HF (Teerlink et al. 2017; Bartunek et al. 2017). Wharton's jelly, a gelatinous substance present within the umbilical cord, is rich in MSCs, which have been tested in various clinical trials. Of these, a study led by Zhao et al. (2015) studied the delivery of umbilical cord MSCs via IC route in combination with various medications, such as ACE inhibitors or ARBs, beta-blockers, diuretics, and digoxin. Twenty-four hours after transplantation, symptoms of HF such as cough, dyspnea, and chest tightness were alleviated, though no improvements were noted in LVEF. There were some improvements in the 6-min walk test, NT-pro BNP levels were significantly lower than the control group, and improvements in mortality rates were observed. Given these positive results, it is crucial to link these improvements with the medications given in combination with the MSCs. In the RIMECARD trial, the intravenous (IV) infusion of umbilical cord MSCs were found to improve LVEF but did not reduce LVESV or LVEDV (Bartolucci et al. 2017). No significant safety concerns were noted.

Though MSCs have massive potential in regenerative medicine, there is a need for larger, international clinical trials to fully elucidate the field of MSC therapy in humans living with HF. The surge of incoming clinical trials, including the first phase III clinical trial, should help clarify the true therapeutic potential of MSCs in HF. Put together, the meta-analysis by Lalu et al. demonstrated that MSCs could improve LVEF and enhance the quality of life and performance, that too without any major safety concerns (Lalu et al. 2018).

Cardiac Stem Cells

Cardiac stem cells (CSCs) were among the most heavily researched cells in cardiac regenerative medicine. Clinical research led by Dr. Piero Anversa showed great promise for the application of CSCs to treat heart failure. He claimed that CSCs produced functional myocardial changes and they were a viable option to treat heart failure. These claims sparked a great interest in the medical community and the public (Chien et al. 2019). Many researchers attempted to replicate Anversa's studies albeit without success. It was soon discovered that the field of CSCs was heavily compromised and Anversa and his group were accused of scientific misconduct. As a result, the Brigham and Women's Hospital along with the Harvard Medical School took action by launching an investigation on Anversa's work. In 2014, the SCIPIO clinical trial using c kit+ CSCs was retracted, and by 2018, the investigations revealed that 31 publications contained falsified or fabricated data (Ozkan 2019). The National Institute of Health also stepped in by suspending the CONCERT-HF trial due to its lack of scientific foundations (Bolli et al. 2018). This clinical trial was the first to evaluate the combination of CSCs and MSCs as a treatment of HF.

To date, c-kit+ CSCs and cardiosphere-derived cell (CDC) phenotypes have been studied in clinical trials. The CADUCEUS trial demonstrated that the IC injection of CDCs reduced scar tissue size and improve regional contractility and heart mass on MRI (Makkar et al. 2012). There were no differences in ESV, EDV, and LVEF. There were no significant adverse events, alluding to a favorable safety profile for CDCs. The TAC-HFT-II trial will soon compare therapy with autologous MSCs alone vs MSCs combined with c-kit+ CSCs (Bolli et al. 2018). Without question, the implications of Piero Anversa's 31 retracted studies will have a long-lasting effect on the field of CSCs. The findings of these investigations have created a significant distrust of the scientific community and discredited the current advancements made in this field. Although other clinical trials are currently investigating the feasibility and efficacy of CSCs and cardiac-derived stem cells, clinical benefit has yet to be demonstrated for patients. Moreover, CSC isolation is invasive as it requires a heart biopsy, and culture requires many days before injecting adequate numbers (Nigro et al. 2018). In the future, it is of utmost importance that rigorous scientific standards are followed when conducting clinical trials to protect the integrity of research and protect patients (Tables 3 and 4).

Understanding the Factors Affecting Cell-Based Therapy

Though the safety profile of stem cells appears to be satisfactory, their overall efficacy is, at best, modest. For successful cell therapy to treat HF, a greater understanding of the factors surrounding the application of cellular treatment is warranted.

Cell type	Safety parameters in human subjects	References
ESCs	 Positive safety profile in one human clinical trial Silent alloimmunization in three of six patients Larger trials are warranted 	Menasché et al. (2018)
iPSCs	No published human clinical trials completed	Cyranoski (2018)
Skeletal myoblasts	Risk of ventricular arrhythmiasEasy to harvest	Menasché et al. (2008), Povsic et al. (2011), and Brickwedel et al. (2014)
BMDSCs	 Positive safety profile demonstrated in allogeneic and autologous human clinical trials Easy to harvest Decrease in arrhythmogenic risk Noteworthy increase in adverse events 	Hu et al. (2011), Perin et al. (2003), Strauer et al. (2010), Assmus et al. (2013), and Hu et al. (2011) Strauer et al. (2010) Nasseri et al. (2014)
MSCs	 Positive safety profile demonstrated in multiple human clinical trials Dyspnea, fatigue, and chest tightness 1-month post-transplantation, though small sample 	Mathiasen et al. (2020), Hare et al. (2012, 2017), Bartunek et al. (2013), Bartolucci et al. (2017), Poulin et al. (2016), Lalu et al. (2018), and Zhao et al. (2015)
CSCs	 Heavily compromised field of research due to lack of scientific integrity Isolation of cells is invasive Suggested positive safety profile of CDCs 	Ozkan (2019) Nigro et al. (2018) Makkar et al. (2012)

Table 3 Summary of safety parameters in human clinical trials

Engraftment, Survival, and Rejection

One of the most critical impediments in stem cell therapy is their ability to engraft and survive in the heart post-administration, while avoiding immune rejection from the recipient. Both preclinical and clinical trials show that cell retention in the heart 24 h post-administration does not exceed 10% (Hou et al. 2005; Aicher et al. 2003; Blocklet et al. 2006). This is likely due to a poor engraftment potential along with the rapid washout of cells once they are injected into the heart (Terrovitis et al. 2009). These shortcomings have prompted the development of improved cell retention approaches, such as plugging the injection site with a fibrin compound to prevent backflow of cells, and transplantation of constructed cell sheets besides the use of bioengineered natural or synthetic polymers (Chiu et al. 2012; Terrovitis et al. 2009). Autoimmune rejection of transplanted cells is another crucial risk to mitigate, mainly when the source is allogeneic. This has resulted in a push for cells that require minimal to no immunosuppression, such as ESC-derived cells, MSCs, and MPCs. Future research focusing on cell retention while decreasing the risk of immune rejection will continue to improve the efficacy and feasibility of stem cell therapy for HF.

		Sample		
Cell type	Clinical trial	size	Results	References
ESCs	ESCORT	6	Improvement in NYHA functional class, 6-min walk test and heart wall motion	Menasché et al. (2018)
iPSCs	Cyranoski (2018)	10	Trial results pending	Cyranoski (2018)
	HEAL-CHF	2	Trial results pending	
Skeletal myoblasts	MAGIC MARVEL SEISMIC	120 23 40	No improvements in LVEF or global heart function No improvements in LV function Moderate improvements in 6-min walk test No improvements in LVEF at 6 months	Menasché et al. (2008) and Brickwedel et al. (2014) Povsic et al. (2011) Duckers et al. (2011)
BMMNCs BMMNCs and autologous MSCs CD133(+) BMDSCs	Perin et al. (2003) TOPCARE- CHD STAR-heart FOCUS- CCTRN Hu et al. (2011) TAC-HFT CARDIO33 Systematic review and meta- analysis Systematic review and meta- analysis	21 121 191 153 60 65 60 1907 1094	Improvements in LVEF, perfusion, and contractility Reductions in ESV Improvements in global cardiac function, contractility, and mortality Decreased ANP and BNP Improvements in LVEF, NYHA functional class, and long-term mortality Decreased LV preload, ESV, and infarct area No improvements in LVEF, maximal O ₂ consumption, and infarct size Improvements in LVEF, LVESV, 6-min walk test, and exercise tolerance. Decreased BNP levels Decreased infarct size and improvements in 6-min walk test and regional function of the heart in MSC group only. MSCs better at improvements in LV function or clinical symptoms Improvements in IV function or clinical symptoms Improvements in mortality, LVEF, and NYHA functional class (low-quality evidence) Reductions in mortality and rehospitalization minimal improvements in LVEF	Perin et al. (2003) Assmus et al. (2007) Strauer et al. (2010) Perin et al. (2012) Hu et al. (2011) Heldman et al. (2014) Nasseri et al. (2014) Fisher et al. (2016a) Fisher et al. (2016b)
Autologous	MSC-HF	60	Improvements in LVEF. stroke	Mathiasen et al.
MSCs	POSEIDON	31	volume, and myocardial mass	(2020)
Autologous	POSEIDON-	37	Improvements in LV functions with	Hare et al. (2012)

 Table 4
 Landmark human clinical trials

(continued)

Cell type	Clinical trial	Sample	Results	References
Cell type and allogeneic MSCs Cardiopoietic Umbilical MSCs Umbilical MSCs in collagen hydrogel Allogeneic MPCs MSCs	Clinical trial DCM C-CURE CHART-1 RIMECARD Zhao et al. (2015) He et al. (2020) DREAM-HF Systematic review and meta- analysis Systematic review and meta- analysis	size 36 351 30 59 50 566 29 studies 12 studies	Results reductions in adverse remodeling and infarct size Greater improvements seen in allogeneic MSCs regarding functional capacity, quality of life, EF, 6-min walk test, and the MLHFQ Improvements in LVEF, quality of life, and decreased LVESV Decreased LVESV and LVEDV but no improvements in LVEF Improvements in LVEF but no improvements in LVEF but no improvements in LVEF but some improvements in LVEF but some improvements in the 6-min walk test, mortality rate, and NT-pro BNP levels Improvements in LVEF, NYHA functional class, viable heart mass, and quality of life. Decreased LVESV and LVEDV Trial results pending Improvements in LVEF, LVESV, NYHA functional class, quality of life, and exercise capacity Improvements in LVEF. No improvements in LVEF. No	References Hare et al. (2017) Bartunek et al. (2013) Teerlink et al. (2017) and Bartunek et al. (2017) Bartolucci et al. (2017) Bartolucci et al. (2017) Bertolucci et al. (2017) Bet al. (2020) Borow et al. (2019) Poulin et al. (2016) Lalu et al. (2018)
CSCs	CADUCEUS	31	quality of life Improvements in scar size, regional contractility, and heart mass; no differences in EDV, ESV, and LVEF between groups	Makkar et al. (2012)

Table 4	(continu	ed)
---------	----------	-----

Dosage

The optimal dosage of stem cells to reach therapeutic effect is still unknown, and the evidence is conflicting. Studies show large variations in dosing from 1×10^6 to 2×10^8 cells per dose administered per patient (Madonna et al. 2014). Though these include a large number of cells administered to a patient, it is not enough, as on average, one billion CMs are lost following an MI (Robey et al. 2008). There is a need for larger doses of stem cells to be administered if the goal is to replace lost CMs following MI. However, this may not be the case, as several clinical trials have demonstrated that smaller doses of stem cells are more effective than higher doses, possibly due to increased paracrine and cytoprotective factors release, activation of angiogenesis, and induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Nigro et al. 2018). Whereas

large doses of stem cells may increase the potential for remuscularization, cell engraftment and survival are pretty low, and large doses may aggregate in areas of the heart, thus increasing the risk of arrhythmias (Prockop and Olson 2007). Also, the exact timing of cell administration has not been confirmed – though it is hypothesized that the longer the time interval between MI and administration of stem cells, the less the patient is likely to benefit. Current and future clinical trials will hopefully address these controversies and challenges.

Cell Type

Many different cell types have been tested in clinical trials, yet there is no current consensus on the type that is best suited for cardiac regeneration. In an ideal world, the perfect stem cell would be able to proliferate, engraft, and survive in ischemic areas, along with the ability to induce paracrine effects to stimulate endogenous cardiac regeneration. Moreover, it would have the potential to contract and electromechanically couple with the host CMs. At the moment, no cell has met all of these expectations in clinical trials (Gerbin and Murry 2015). The quality of the cell in question is also important to consider, as older age and preexisting comorbidities limit cell potency and regenerative potential (Nigro et al. 2018). Based on these findings, allogeneic sources of cells may present greater advantages over autologous sources. It is noteworthy that allogeneic cells can be cultivated and isolated from younger, healthy donors devoid of comorbidities and genetic defects. Allogeneic cells can be screened for quality and stored as an "off the shelf" product, making them readily available for acute applications. Lastly, allogeneic stem cells are more appealing in the eyes of the pharmaceutical industry as they provide superior profit margins versus autologous stem cells (Nigro et al. 2018). However, one must be wary of this conflict of interest, as we cannot sacrifice the quality of the product over the financial interests of external parties.

Currently, MSCs have been of particular interest in trials due to their ease of isolation and extraction, their multipotent differentiation potential, low immunogenicity, and their potential to trigger paracrine effects (Menasché et al. 2018; Nigro et al. 2018). Recent research has focused on more pure forms of stem cells, such as CSCs to increase the regenerative potential. Though CSCs have been shown to improve some aspects of cardiac function in patients with HF, the isolation of autologous CSCs is an invasive procedure, culture takes time, and the field of CSCs is heavily compromised (Nigro et al. 2018; Ozkan 2019). Some derivatives of iPSCs, such as cardiomyocyte-derived from human iPSCs, pose some risk of tumorigenicity (Nigro et al. 2018). For the moment, the most promising types of stem cells for cardiac regeneration appear to be iPSCs and ESCs. Alternatively, different approaches to cellular therapy may involve combining different cell types to increase efficacy. The rationale behind combining cells revolves around the activation of various regenerative pathways due to the underlying physiologic role of each cell type. Preclinical trials have shown promising results. It was found that the combination of MSCs and CPCs in the treatment of chronic HF improved cardiac

outcomes versus MSCs alone or placebo (Williams et al. 2013; Karantalis et al. 2015; Natsumeda et al. 2017). Though there were some differences between the three trials, there were improvements in EF, contractility, cell retention, and decreases in infarct size versus MSCs administered alone. Since MSCs alone act primarily via paracrine signaling, they stimulate angiogenesis and the proliferation, differentiation, and migration of endogenous CPCs to the heart (Natsumeda et al. 2017). However, the evidence on long-term engraftment is lacking (Williams et al. 2013). Other preclinical studies investigated the utility of epicardial patches containing human iPSC-derived CMs combined with human MSCs versus administering either of the cell type alone. It was found that the combination therapy group showed more significant improvements in EF, cardiac fibrosis, and capillary density (Park et al. 2019). Larger randomized, double-blind trials with more extended follow-up periods are warranted to determine which combination of cell types will vield the remarkable improvements and reduce safety concerns in HF patients. Alternatively, cardiac regeneration may not rely on stem cells after all. Current studies are now investigating the use of cell-free strategies due to concerns that the administration of stem cells results in poor cellular retention rate. This approach is discussed in greater detail in section "Cell-Free Strategies."

Route of Administration

An effective route of delivery is as important as the type of cell in question. It is one of the essential factors in successful stem cell treatment, as it can affect the potency of the cells, their retention, engraftment, and survival in the recipient's heart (Turner et al. 2020; Nigro et al. 2018). Successful delivery of cells will depend on the ability of the cells to migrate to the target area of the heart, their engraftment potential, and the ability to function in synchrony with the heart's natural rhythm without interference. Overall, an optimal delivery method should ensure the survival of the cells. It must be well tolerated by the patient, and the procedure should be relatively easy to perform by a clinician.

Preclinical studies have utilized various methods of delivery such as transendocardial, retrograde intracoronary sinus, open surgical epicardial injection, IM, IC, IV, and, more recently, 3D scaffolding with the help of cardiac patches (Bruyneel et al. 2016; Nakamura and Murry 2019; Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). The most common routes of administration include, IM, IC, IV, transendocardial, and 3D scaffolding.

Intramyocardial injection entails a direct injection of stem cells in a targeted area of the heart. These cells are usually injected along the borders of infarcted heart tissue as this provides better blood and oxygen supply for the cells to survive. This method ensures adequate blood supply to the cells, an essential component for their survival (Campbell and Suzuki 2012). This method of delivery provides the highest rate of retention, greatest engraftment, and remuscularization potential but fails to produce a significant paracrine effect (Nakamura and Murry 2019;

Campbell and Suzuki 2012). This technique is more invasive and risks myocardial perforation, vascular injury, arrhythmia, and embolism. Moreover, it can be challenging to distinguish between infarcted tissue and normal myocardium. For this reason, a skilled clinician is required.

The intracoronary infusion of stem cells is the most common and safer delivery method in clinical trials. This is primarily due to the central role of catheter-based revascularization of the heart in MI (Nakamura and Murry 2019; Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Clinical trials have deemed this method superior to the IM route as it promotes the paracrine effect, is less invasive, and ensures high cell survival rates due to the rich oxygen and nutrient content in the coronary circulation. The IC injection of cells is considered to decrease the risk of inflammation and damage to the myocardium post-transplantation, while allowing for a uniform distribution of cells in the target area (Campbell and Suzuki 2012). Given these slight advantages, IC injection is associated with long-term minimal cell retention due to rapid washout in humans, resulting in inefficient remuscularization of the heart (Nakamura and Murry 2019). Moreover, large doses of cells cannot be delivered via the IC route due to risk of obstruction of the coronary arteries, ultimately resulting in ischemia and myocardial cell death (Freyman et al. 2006; Goussetis et al. 2006; Nakamura and Murry 2019).

Although the IV approach has demonstrated positive safety parameters and is one of the least invasive methods, it is less efficacious than the IM and IC route (Freyman et al. 2006; Menasché 2018). This lack of efficacy is primarily due to a lack of cell retention, and engraftment and the majority of the cells remaining trapped in the lungs. Most of the cells are eliminated by phagocytic cells in the reticuloendothelial system (Freyman et al. 2006; Bruyneel et al. 2016; Turner et al. 2020). Moreover, there are concerns about vascular occlusion that can quickly occur with systemic delivery. To improve the effectiveness of the IV method, the approaches that will enhance the cellular homing mechanisms to the heart are essential.

The transendocardial route is the most challenging technique to execute, yet it can avoid the need for open-heart surgery – reducing periprocedural risks. It has shown tremendous potential for cell retention as it deposits stem cells directly into the myocardium (Tehzeeb et al. 2019; Turner et al. 2020). Like the IM route, there is a risk for ventricular rupture and arrhythmia formation. Though some small preclinical and clinical trials have shown the safety and efficacy of the transendocardial route, larger, more robust clinical trials are necessary to evaluate the long-term success of this method.

Bioengineering of cellular materials has recently entered the field of regenerative medicine. It involves culturing and implanting stem cells in a three-dimensional vehicle to improve the rate of cell differentiation and survival at the site of the cell graft. One of the current goals is to create a scaffold that mimics the microenvironment of the heart. This scaffold can be grafted with the cell type of choice and administered to the heart (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). One of the first applications of fibrin patches was in the ESCORT trial, where patches embedded with human ESC-derived CPCs were implanted epicardially during CABG

(Menasché et al. 2018). This novel method of stem cell delivery has been validated in preclinical studies and yields high cell retention rates (Park et al. 2019). It was also reported that sheets containing MSCs could increase cell retention while amplifying paracrine effects to regenerate damaged heart tissue (Narita et al. 2013). Biomaterials such as collagen, hyaluronic acid, alginate, and a large variety of synthetic polymers have shown variable advantages and disadvantages (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). Though the optimal combination of scaffolding materials and stem cells has yet to be confirmed in clinical trials, PSCs are better candidates in creating functional heart tissue since they have a more significant potential to integrate into the myocardium (Liu et al. 2018; Oikonomopoulos et al. 2018). MSCs combined with bioengineered materials will also hold a promising approach for heart repair. Currently, hydrogel-based scaffolds and cell sheet engineering are being studied (Oikonomopoulos et al. 2018). Cell sheets and scaffolds also avoid the risk of myocardial injury caused by direct injection.

Though many methods of delivery exist, the degree of cell retention within the myocardium remains very low. Though some preclinical studies have compared various routes of delivery, the results in human studies are pending. It is believed that the most effective method will likely be dependent on the type of cell in question, as all have their benefits and limitations (Turner et al. 2020). Intravenous delivery of stem cells is minimally invasive but has negligible cell retention potential. Intracoronary infusion of cells is the most commonly used method but presents a risk of coronary artery occlusion. The intramyocardial route has the greatest potential for cell retention, lacks paracrine effects, and requires skilled clinicians. The transendocardial route poses great potential for cell retention, yet is challenging to approach and requires skilled and experienced clinicians (Fig. 2). The type of stem cell, patient characteristics, and the degree of cardiac disease may all play a role in determining which route of administration is optimal for the patient in question (Nigro et al. 2018) (Table 5).



Fig. 2 Common routes of cell administration in humans

Route of administration	Benefits	Limitations
Intramyocardial	High rate of retention in the heart	 No significant paracrine effect Invasive Risk of perforation, arrhythmias, and emboli Hard to distinguish between normal and infarcted tissue
Intracoronary	 Most common and safer method of delivery Increased cell survival rates and paracrine effect 	Risk of MI with large dosesRapid washout of cells
Intravenous	Least invasive with positive safety parameters	Lack of engraftment and retention potential
Transendocardial	 Great cell retention potential Does not require open-heart surgery 	Difficult techniqueRisk of perforation and arrhythmia formation
Bioengineering and 3D scaffolding	 High rate of cell retention Prolongs paracrine effect Many different biomaterials and synthetics are being tested 	 Ideal combination of scaffolding and stem cells needs to be confirmed Avoids risk of myocardial damage

Table 5 Routes of administration: benefits and limitations

Hippo-YAP Pathway

It is well established that the adult heart lacks significant endogenous regenerative potential. For this reason, researchers have focused on manipulating pathways that regulate CMs proliferation to amplify endogenous cardiac regeneration. Particular attention has been paid to the Hippo signaling pathway – an evolutionary homeostatic mechanism that controls organ size (Wang et al. 2018). The primary mechanism of this pathway is to restrict cardiomyocyte proliferation once the heart has fully developed to maintain its optimal size. This pathway also inhibits cardiac regeneration, which is problematic when tissue damage occurs. Research has focused on the Hippo-YAP (Yes-associated protein) pathway to reactivate cardiac regeneration by regulating cardiomyocyte proliferation and differentiation. YAP is a downstream effector of the Hippo pathway and is responsible for triggering transcription of cell-proliferating genes while suppressing apoptotic genes. These two characteristics are instrumental in determining regenerative potential (Xin et al. 2011). Normally, YAP is inhibited by the Hippo signaling pathway, restricting cellular growth and organ size (Wang et al. 2018). It is clear that manipulating the Hippo-YAP pathway effectively enhances fetal and neonatal cardiac proliferation and regeneration; however, the question remains if YAP activation can stimulate adult CMs' proliferation and mitigate cardiac cell death (Lin et al. 2014).

Researchers have shown that 28-day-old YAP transgenic mice post-MI had a 2.5fold increase in cardiomyocyte proliferation, a decrease in scar size and an improvement in cardiac function compared to control mice (Xin et al. 2013). Similar results were found with the inactivation of the Hippo pathway, which led to increased DNA synthesis and cytokinesis (Heallen et al. 2013). However, the 2.5-fold increase in CM proliferation is still 20-fold lower than the observed rate in wild-type mice. This suggests that alternative mechanisms, such as mitigation of fibrosis, reduction in apoptosis, and decreasing inflammation, may contribute a large portion of the therapeutic benefit (Xin et al. 2013). Notably, the Hippo-YAP pathway stands out from other paracrine growth factors as it promotes cardiomyocyte proliferation without the possibly deleterious effects of cardiac hypertrophy (Lin et al. 2014). More detailed studies are required to confirm the manipulation of the Hippo-YAP pathway. Nevertheless, it may be a feasible tool for treating cardiac injury and triggering endogenous cardiac regeneration in humans.

Ethical Issues in Regenerative Medicine

In an attempt to lower the global burden of cardiovascular diseases, stem cells have quickly gained momentum in research and are being explored at an unprecedented rate. However, their use generates various ethical and political issues not commonly seen in other treatment modalities. The most prominent ethical issue arises from the morality of using human embryonic stem cells in research. The creation of a human ESC line involves the extraction of the inner cell mass from the blastocyst during 5-7 days of fetal development, which results in the destruction of the human embryo and the potential for human life. This ethical dilemma begs the question of when does human life truly begin. Some believe that human life begins at conception, whereas others believe that it begins further into development or even at birth (Lo and Parham 2009). A current strategy to circumvent this issue involves only using embryos that have initially been produced for reproductive purposes. Although this may ease the ethical burden for some, it is a near-impossible task appeasing all the parties involved in the matter. Alternatively, the use of other stem cell types eliminates the ethical concerns regarding the destruction of potential human life. Currently, iPSCs are seen as an attractive alternative to ESCs. They are derived from adult stem cells and genetically programmed back to a higher state of potency, making them a strong contender to the ESC. Adult stem cells can also be viable options, but their use is limited, and they lack the level of potency seen in ESCs and iPSCs (Barile et al. 2007).

Another concern regarding the use of stem cells is the growing trend of "stem cell tourism," which describes the practice of patients seeking expensive, unproven stem cell treatments at private clinics around the world. These treatments are frequently promoted as a definite cure; however, they often lack sufficient data on clinical efficacy or safety (Ryan et al. 2010). This dangerous trend has resulted in the opening of unregulated clinics that exploit their patients for their profits, sometimes charging fees of \$30,000 for unproven treatments (Regenberg et al. 2009). Unfortunately, the public is often ill-equipped to gauge whether or not treatments offered in clinics are safe and credible, and only 29% of clinics that offer stem cell treatments are accredited to do so (Connolly et al. 2014). Although the applications of stem cells are pretty exciting, cardiac regeneration is still a relatively novel concept.

Particularly for HF treatment, many variables must be accounted for before stem cells can make their way into medical practices. It is imperative that scientific standards and methodologies remain at the highest degree to avoid breaches of scientific integrity, as previously seen in the study of CSCs.

What Does the Future Hold for Cardiac Regenerative Medicine?

Cell-Free Strategies

Data from preclinical and clinical trials seems to come to a reasonably consistent conclusion that low cellular retention rates and the inability to generate new CMs adequately remain a concern with current cellular strategies (Maghin et al. 2020). In addition, it postulated that a large portion of the therapeutic benefit of stem cells is derived from the biological factors that they secrete rather than direct cellular differentiation (Park et al. 2018). Recently, much attention has been paid to utilizing a cell-free approach to cardiac regeneration via administering a "cocktail" of cardio-protective paracrine signaling molecules. This combination of factors secreted by progenitor or stem cell populations includes cytokines, growth factors, and miRNAs and has been termed the "secretome." Several strategies to deliver these paracrine factors include direct administration of individual growth factors, use of endogenous extracellular vesicles secreted by various cell types, delivery of cultured medium of stem cells, and the overexpression of proteins via modified mRNA (Liew et al. 2020).

One of the first studies that truly corroborated the validity of the paracrine hypothesis was the use of a conditioned medium of cultured human MSCs into a porcine model of acute MI (Timmers et al. 2007). It was demonstrated that a single IC injection of human MSC cultured medium into an ischemic porcine model was associated with a 60% reduction in infarct size and improvement in both systolic and diastolic cardiac function (Timmers et al. 2007). Precisely, it is thought that small EVs or exosomes may contribute a significant portion of the stem cell secretome's regenerative effects (Kishore and Khan 2016). EVs is a collective term that describes small phospholipid MVs secreted by cells and contain biologically active compounds such as proteins, growth factors, RNA, and biolipids (Simons and Raposo 2009). Although they may be used interchangeably in the literature, exosomes refer to a subclass of extracellular vesicles that range from 40 to 100 nm and originate as endosomes (Simons and Raposo 2009). However, the source of extracellular vesicles is not limited to MSCs. A study was published delivering exosomes derived from CDCs into a porcine model of acute MI (Gallet et al. 2017). The pigs received either IC or open-chest IM injection of either placebo vehicle or exosomes 4 weeks post-MI. They demonstrated that pigs receiving CDC-derived exosomes had a preserved LV volume and LVEF, as well as histologic improvements in vessel density and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy.

Interestingly, a separate study investigated the efficacy of a mixture of human iPSC-derived CMs, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells versus only exosomes

extracted from these PSC-derived cell types (Gao et al. 2018). It was found that cardiac outcomes such as LV function, angiogenesis, infarct size, and wall stress were similar in both the exosome group and cell group, and both were significantly improved compared to MI without treatment group. Moreover, exosome therapy did not increase the frequency of arrhythmia, a primary concern from studies investigating human iPSC-derived CMs in a primate model (Shiba et al. 2016; Romagnuolo et al. 2019). These findings suggest that exosomes alone could potentially be as effective as stem cells in the treatment of cardiac pathologies. However, human clinical trials will need to be completed on exosome use before these conclusions can be definitively made.

The direct administration of cellular growth factors appears to be the most simplistic strategy for delivering paracrine factors to the heart. Two standard strategies to induce growth factor gene expression include the direct injection of recombinant proteins or the administration of viral vectors or plasmids containing the growth factor encoded gene (Spannbauer et al. 2020). Most preclinical studies have focused on several key growth factors: vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), although many others have also been investigated (Liew et al. 2020). A similar strategy revolves around using RNA, including coding messenger (mRNA) and noncoding RNA (ncRNA). One of the first studies that demonstrated this concept involved the epicardial or IC administration of VEGF and effectively improved myocardial blood flow and enhanced regional ventricular function in a porcine model of chronic ischemia (Lopez et al. 1998). In another study, porcine models of chronic ischemic heart disease were co-transfected with VEGF-A and platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGF-B) plasmids (Kupatt et al. 2010). The pigs co-transfected with VEGF-A and PDGF-B showed significant neovascularization and improved regional and global myocardial function. In gene therapy, there have been over 150 human clinical trials investigating the effects of various therapeutic molecules on cardiac angiogenesis (Cannatà et al. 2020).

However, there remains no gene therapy that has been proven to be successful in achieving clinical benefit. There have also been several landmark clinical trials that specifically investigated the use of gene therapy in the treatment of HF. The main targets in these trials were various components of the calcium handling system within CMs (Cannatà et al. 2020). The first key clinical trial was the phase 1/2 CUPID trial, which aimed to restore the sarcoplasmic Ca2+ ATPase (SERCA2a) in 39 patients with HF (Jaski et al. 2009; Jessup et al. 2011). The SERCA2a gene was delivered via cDNA in an adenovirus vector (AAV-1) during a single IC infusion. Patients were stratified into a low dose, medium dose, high dose, or placebo group. Initial results were promising, as a positive safety profile was confirmed, and there was a trend toward symptomatic improvement and a significant reduction in cardiovascular events at 12 months (Jessup et al. 2011). This prompted a follow-up with the much larger randomized, placebo-controlled phase II CUPID2 clinical trial, which enrolled 250 patients with HF (Greenberg et al. 2016). Unfortunately, results were disappointing as patients given AAV-1/SERCA2a did not have an improvement in cardiovascular events. A similar story can be told with a different target, the stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1). The SDF-1 growth factor promotes cell survival and recruitment, triggers angiogenesis, and increases tissue repair (Chung et al. 2015).

Initial phase I clinical trials tested the safety and efficacy of an endomyocardial injection of a DNA plasmid encoding SDF-1 into 19 patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy (Penn et al. 2013). The trial demonstrated a positive safety profile and qualitative symptomatic improvement. However, the larger, randomized phase II STOP-HF trial fell short and could not reproduce the positive results seen in the earlier trials (Chung et al. 2015). However, this does not mean that all hope is lost as several other targets have either shown initial promise or are currently in clinical trials (Hulot et al. 2016). Interestingly, an ongoing phase I clinical trial investigates the combination of VEGF-A, SDF-1 alpha, and S100 calcium-binding protein A1 as triple gene therapy in patients with end-stage HF and an implantable left ventricular assist device (NCT03409627). The ongoing EPICCURE study will be the first clinical trial to administer mRNA into the human heart (NCT03370887). It aims to investigate the safety and efficacy of AZD8601, a VEGF-A mRNA formulated in an injectable saline solution. Twenty-four patients with moderately decreased EF will be given a round of 30 epicardial injections of either 30 mg, 3 mg AZD8061, or placebo during a CABG procedure and followed for 6 months.

Cell-free strategies appear to overcome potential concerns surrounding conventional stem cell therapies, particularly from a translational perspective. These include safety concerns such as immune compatibility and rejection, as well as practical concerns such as accessibility, cost-effectiveness, and time-consuming procedures (Maghin et al. 2020). The necessary next steps include determining the optimal route of administration of these factors. In summary, noncellular regenerative therapies such as single growth factors, RNAs, or combination therapies such as exosomes appear to have significant myocardial reparative capacity. Exosomes circumvent many practical issues such as cell retention and immunogenicity and could potentially serve as an alternative to the cell-based approach in the future.

Bioengineering

The lack of understanding of the optimal cell type, dosage, route of administration compounded by low cell retention and survival, poor engraftment, and ineffective differentiation of progenitor cells post-transplantation are some of the most significant barriers encountered in clinical trials. Tissue engineering may hold the key to improving cell delivery and retention. The extracellular matrix (ECM) is now understood to be a dynamic microenvironment that contains complex networks of various proteins and growth factors and provides physical and mechanical signals to modulate cell behavior and differentiation (Maghin et al. 2020). Two strategies to bioengineer a matrix include creating a synthetic microenvironment or extracting ECM from tissues and decellularizing the matrix to create a cell-free product (Domenech et al. 2016). Since the cell microenvironment plays such an essential role in cell behavior, researchers have aimed at creating constructs that mimic the environment to improve cell culture systems and improve effectiveness of stem cell

transplantation. In the last several years, 3D culture systems have improved differentiation techniques to create cell phenotypes similar to those in native tissues (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). Several studies have demonstrated that differentiation of human PSCs or iPSCs-CMs in 3D culture systems improved the level of cell maturation (Ronaldson-Bouchard et al. 2018; Correia et al. 2018). Ronaldson-Bouchard et al. (2018) showed that early iPSCs-derived CMs cultured on a 3D hydrogel subjected to electrical and mechanical stimulation showed a similar gene expression profile, sarcomere length, density of mitochondria, and functional calcium handling similar to mature adult cells.

A separate strategy in tissue engineering revolves around implanting the bioengineered tissue construct with stem cells or biologically active molecules, which is believed to increase cellular retention rates and lengthen the duration of regenerative paracrine signaling (Micheu 2019). Tissue constructs known as cardiac patches were created by adding stem cells to natural or synthetic biomaterials such as fibrin, collagen, alginate, or even a natural decellularized ECM and mimicking the biomechanical or electrical signaling they would receive in vivo (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). These cardiac patches can be directly transplanted onto the epicardial surface of the heart and serve as a temporary scaffold to enable cell engraftment into the host heart. Thus, the choice of biomaterial for the scaffold is important in determining the functional survival, engraftment, and proliferation of implanted cells (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). Preclinical trials have shown that administration of cells embedded in patch construct improved cellular engraftment and decreased the number of cells needed for the same graft size and functional benefit by tenfold compared to cell injection studies (Weinberger and Eschenhagen 2021). Efficacy and safety have also been demonstrated in a porcine model of MI. Researchers showed that a cardiac muscle patch produced from human iPSC-derived CMs, smooth muscle cells, and endothelial cells loaded onto a fibrin scaffold induced significant improvements in LV function, infarct size, and protective effects on endogenous CMs (Gao et al. 2018). Since tissue engineering is a relatively novel concept in cardiac regeneration, there have been relatively few clinical trials investigating the use of cardiac scaffolds. The groundbreaking ESCORT trial discussed earlier demonstrated the effective and safe use of a fibrin patch embedded with human ESC-derived CPCs (Menasché et al. 2018).

Likewise, a recent clinical trial out of Japan compared the use of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells embedded in a collagen hydrogel versus cell treatment only in patients with chronic ischemic heart disease (NCT02635464). Fifty patients were randomized into either cell/hydrogel group, cell only, or placebo, and were given a single IM injection during a CABG procedure. Results showed that the collagen hydrogel treatment was a safe and feasible delivery option, and the collagen/cell combination decreased mean scar size at 12 months. However, results were not statistically significant (He et al. 2020). However, improvements in LVEF, NYHA functional class, viable heart mass, and quality of life measured by the MLHFQ were noted. Moreover, LVESV and LVEDV decreased. This study, to our knowledge, is the first ever to establish that the use of collagen hydrogel in humans is safe and feasible for cell delivery. These findings will provide a basis for future clinical trials in the future.



Fig. 3 Approaches to tissue engineering and cell-free strategies in cardiac regeneration

Recently, researchers have created scaffold-free cell sheets which can be directly implanted onto the myocardium without transplantation of a biomaterial in addition to the cells. This technology involves culturing a monolayer or multilayer of cells on a thermoresponsive polymer surface, and then removing the individual sheets of cells to combine them and create 3D cardiac grafts (Zhang 2015). However, this recent phenomenon has been well proven in various preclinical animal models but has yet to be tested in the clinical trial setting. Because of the low rates of cellular retention and cardiac remuscularization involved with direct cell injection, alternative methods needed to improve cardiac regeneration. Many believe that combination therapy holds the key to improving the efficacy of cardiac regeneration through enhanced cell engraftment and also improved paracrine factor signaling. This likely involves not only the combination of cells embedded in scaffolds, but also the involvement of biologically active molecules such as growth factors, RNAs, and exosomes. It seems inevitable that future research will investigate the implantation of a cardiac construct containing several different cell types and signaling molecules as a cell sheet or embedded in a biologically active scaffold (Fig. 3).

Conclusion and Future Perspectives

As the field of cardiac cell therapy approaches its third decade, we have yet to have a single stem cell type that the FDA approves for the treatment of heart disease (Cingolani 2019). However, it appears that we are finally gaining a greater understanding of the issues that have plagued the discipline for so long. Through a plethora of clinical trials, we have witnessed that it is incredibly difficult to remuscularize the failing heart. Cellular retention and survival rates have been

incredibly low in clinical trials. In response, the field has shifted its mechanistic hypothesis of how cardiac cell therapy provides the observed therapeutic benefits. Most researchers now believe that stem cells provide the vast majority of their cardiac benefit via paracrine signaling rather than directly producing new CMs to remuscularize the heart. However, there appears to be some variation between specific cell types and method of delivery.

Thus far, numerous clinical trials have shown that cardiac cell therapy generally has a favorable safety profile. The SafeCell Heart meta-analysis demonstrated no adverse events associated with the use of MSCs in heart disease (Lalu et al. 2018). There are concerns surrounding the arrhythmogenicity of stem cells primarily within the skeletal myoblast lineage. Nonetheless, all cell types should be thoroughly investigated for arrhythmogenic risk before applied in large-scale clinical settings (Chen et al. 2020).

Most clinical trials to date have demonstrated neutral to marginally positive results in terms of clinical efficacy. Interestingly, a trial sequential analysis in 2016 revealed that there is firm evidence supporting that bone marrow-derived stem cell therapies do reduce the risk of rehospitalization and mortality in patients with HF (Fisher et al. 2016b). The SafeCell Heart meta-analysis also demonstrated that patients who receive MSCs therapy have a significantly improved LVEF (Lalu et al. 2018). Nonetheless, there has only ever been one phase III clinical trial investigating cellular therapy in heart disease and the results are still pending. This does not imply that stem cells have no clinical value in heart disease. Rather, we have not found the optimal cell type or delivery system for these stem cells. Large comparative clinical trials will need to be performed before reaching any conclusions about the effectiveness of regenerative therapies compared to our conventional pharmacologic treatments currently used for HF.

Clinical research to date has set the foundations for a technological breakthrough in cardiac cell therapy. In particular, we believe that future research in three specific areas will produce a generational breakthrough in cardiac regeneration. First, cellfree sources of cardiac regeneration such as exosomes, growth factors, and RNAs may provide a potential therapeutic approach without some of the safety concerns associated with cellular therapies. A cell-free strategy may also have practical advantages in terms of scalability, availability, and reduced cost. Second, combining cell therapy with bioengineering scaffolds or tissue constructs may provide a way to increase cell engraftment rates and prolong the survival of cells so that their beneficial paracrine effects can be sustained for longer. Lastly, the use of pluripotent cells to derive cell phenotypes of choice could be an excellent strategy for creating functional CMs or endothelial cells that can directly engraft into the myocardium and synchronize with the host cells. In addition, combination therapy of multiple PSC-derived cells types has already been proven in clinical trials to provide successful cardiac outcomes.

In summary, future research must establish the optimal cell type, route of delivery, and dosage to improve the efficacy to levels needed for implementation at the clinical level. In addition, studies should have long-term follow-up periods to truly identify the therapeutic risks and potential of cardiac cell therapy. Tailoring the cell therapy to the patient in question would be likely the most productive approach, as many differences exist between patients such as age, the severity of HF, immune status, and comorbidities. In addition, combination approaches consisting of pharmacological, cell-free paracrine strategies, and stem cell therapy will likely provide superior, sustainable results for patients. Regenerative therapies are still far from being implemented as a mainstay in the clinic; however, incredible progress has been in the field in the last several years. We remain cautiously optimistic that innovative techniques such as bioengineering, exosome therapy, and combination therapies will propel the field into unprecedented territory in the years to come.

References

- Abbafati C, Machado DB, Cislaghi B, Salman OM, Karanikolos M, McKee M, Abbas KM et al (2020) Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet 396:1204–1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Abraham MR, Henrikson CA, Tung L, Chang MG, Aon M, Xue T, Li RA et al (2005) Antiarrhythmic engineering of skeletal myoblasts for cardiac transplantation. Circ Res 97:159–167. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000174794.22491.a0
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011a) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70
- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011b) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host: a note of caution. Regen Med 6: 171–178
- Aicher A, Brenner W, Zuhayra M, Badorff C, Massoudi S, Assmus B, Eckey T et al (2003) Assessment of the tissue distribution of transplanted human endothelial progenitor cells by radioactive labeling. Circulation 107:2134–2139. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000062649. 63838.C9
- Ambrosy AP, Fonarow GC, Butler J, Chioncel O, Greene SJ, Vaduganathan M, Nodari S et al (2014) The global health and economic burden of hospitalizations for heart failure: lessons learned from hospitalized heart failure registries. J Am Coll Cardiol 63:1123–1133. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.053
- Assmus B, Fischer-Rasokat U, Honold J, Seeger FH, Fichtlscherer S, Tonn T, Seifried E et al (2007) Transcoronary transplantation of functionally competent BMCs is associated with a decrease in natriuretic peptide serum levels and improved survival of patients with chronic postinfarction heart failure: results of the TOPCARE-CHD Registry. Circ Res 100:1234–1241. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/01.RES.0000264508.47717.6b
- Assmus B, Walter DH, Seeger FH, Leistner DM, Steiner J, Ziegler I, Lutz A et al (2013) Effect of shock wave-facilitated intracoronary cell therapy on LVEF in patients with chronic heart failure: the CELLWAVE randomized clinical trial. JAMA 309:1622–1631. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2013.3527
- Barile L, Chimenti I, Gaetani R, Forte E, Miraldi F, Frati G, Messina E et al (2007) Cardiac stem cells: isolation, expansion and experimental use for myocardial regeneration. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 1:S9–S14. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpcardio0738
- Bartolucci J, Verdugo FJ, González PL, Larrea RE, Abarzua E, Goset C, Rojo P et al (2017) Safety and efficacy of the intravenous infusion of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in patients with heart failure: a phase 1/2 randomized controlled trial (RIMECARD trial [randomized clinical trial of intravenous infusion umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on cardiopathy]). Circ Res 121:1192–1204. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310712

- Bartunek J, Behfar A, Dolatabadi D, Vanderheyden M, Ostojic M, Dens J, El Nakadi B et al (2013) Cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart failure: the C-CURE (Cardiopoietic stem Cell therapy in heart failURE) multicenter randomized trial with lineage-specified biologics. J Am Coll Cardiol 61:2329–2338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02.071
- Bartunek J, Terzic A, Davison BA, Filippatos GS, Radovanovic S, Beleslin B, Merkely B, ... CHART Program (2017) Cardiopoietic cell therapy for advanced ischaemic heart failure: results at 39 weeks of the prospective, randomized, double blind, sham-controlled CHART-1 clinical trial. Eur Heart J 38:648–660. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw543
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J et al (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324:98–102. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.1164680
- Bergmann O, Zdunek S, Felker A, Salehpour M, Alkass K, Bernard S, Sjostrom SL et al (2015) Dynamics of cell generation and turnover in the human heart. Cell 161:1566–1575. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.026
- Blocklet D, Toungouz M, Berkenboom G, Lambermont M, Unger P, Preumont N, Stoupel E et al (2006) Myocardial homing of nonmobilized peripheral-blood CD34+ cells after intracoronary injection. Stem Cells 24:333–336. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0201
- Bolli R, Hare JM, March KL, Pepine CJ, Willerson JT, Perin EC, Yang PC, ... Cardiovascular Cell Therapy Research Network (CCTRN) (2018) Rationale and design of the CONCERT-HF trial (combination of mesenchymal and c-kit+ cardiac stem cells as regenerative therapy for heart failure). Circ Res 122:1703–1715. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312978
- Borow KM, Yaroshinsky A, Greenberg B, Perin EC (2019) Phase 3 DREAM-HF trial of mesenchymal precursor cells in chronic heart failure. Circ Res 125:265–281. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.119.314951
- Brickwedel J, Gulbins H, Reichenspurner H (2014) Long-term follow-up after autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation in ischaemic heart disease. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 18:61–66. https://doi.org/10.1093/icvts/ivt434
- Bruyneel AA, Sehgal A, Malandraki-Miller S, Carr C (2016) Stem cell therapy for the heart: blind alley or magic bullet? J Cardiovasc Transl Res 9:405–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-016-9708-y
- Campbell NG, Suzuki K (2012) Cell delivery routes for stem cell therapy to the heart: current and future approaches. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 5:713–726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-012-9378-3
- Cannatà A, Ali H, Sinagra G, Giacca M (2020) Gene therapy for the heart lessons learned and future perspectives. Circ Res 126:1394–1414. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.315855
- Chen K, Huang Y, Singh R, Wang ZZ (2020) Arrhythmogenic risks of stem cell replacement therapy for cardiovascular diseases. J Cell Physiol 235:6257–6267. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp. 29554
- Cheung MM, Jahan N (2020) Can stem cells improve left ventricular ejection fraction in heart failure? A literature review of skeletal myoblasts and bone marrow-derived cells. Cureus 12: e11598. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.11598
- Chien KR, Frisén J, Fritsche-Danielson R, Melton DA, Murry CE, Weissman IL (2019) Regenerating the field of cardiovascular cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol 37:232–237. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41587-019-0042-1
- Chiu RC, Zibaitis A, Kao RL (1995) Cellular cardiomyoplasty: myocardial regeneration with satellite cell implantation. Ann Thorac Surg 60:12–18
- Chiu LL, Iyer RK, Reis LA, Nunes SS, Radisic M (2012) Cardiac tissue engineering: current state and perspectives. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 17:1533–1550. https://doi.org/10.2741/4002
- Chung ES, Miller L, Patel AN, Anderson RD, Mendelsohn FO, Traverse J, Silver KH et al (2015) Changes in ventricular remodelling and clinical status during the year following a single administration of stromal cell-derived factor-1 non-viral gene therapy in chronic ischaemic heart failure patients: the STOP-HF randomized phase II trial. Eur Heart J 36:2228–2238. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv254

- Cingolani E (2019) MY APPROACH to stem cell therapy for heart failure patients: not all cells are created equally. Trends Cardiovasc Med 29:374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcm.2019.02.005
- Connolly R, O'Brien T, Flaherty G (2014) Stem cell tourism a web-based analysis of clinical services available to international travellers. Travel Med Infect Dis 12:695–701. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tmaid.2014.09.008
- Correia C, Koshkin A, Duarte P, Hu D, Carido M, Sebastião MJ, Gomes-Alves P et al (2018) 3D aggregate culture improves metabolic maturation of human pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes. Biotechnol Bioeng 115:630–644. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26504
- Cyranoski D (2018) 'Reprogrammed' stem cells approved to mend human hearts for the first time. Nature 557:619–620. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-05278-8
- Domenech M, Polo-Corrales L, Ramirez-Vick JE, Freytes DO (2016) Tissue engineering strategies for myocardial regeneration: acellular versus cellular scaffolds? Tissue Eng Part B Rev 22: 438–458. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEB.2015.0523
- Duckers HJ, Houtgraaf J, Hehrlein C, Schofer J, Waltenberger J, Gershlick A, Bartunek J et al (2011) Final results of a phase IIa, randomised, open-label trial to evaluate the percutaneous intramyocardial transplantation of autologous skeletal myoblasts in congestive heart failure patients: the SEISMIC trial. EuroIntervention 6:805–812. https://doi.org/10.4244/EIJV617A139
- Elmadbouh I, Haider KH, Ashraf M, Chachques J-C (2011) Preconditioning of human skeletal myoblast with stromal cell-derived factor-1α promotes cytoprotective effects against oxidative and anoxic stress. Int J Stem Cells 4:50–60
- Eschenhagen T, Bolli R, Braun T, Field LJ, Fleischmann BK, Frisén J, Giacca M et al (2017) Cardiomyocyte regeneration: a consensus statement. Circulation 136:680–686. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029343
- Fisher SA, Doree C, Mathur A, Taggart DP, Martin-Rendon E (2016a) Stem cell therapy for chronic ischaemic heart disease and congestive heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 12. https:// doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007888.pub3
- Fisher SA, Doree C, Taggart DP, Mathur A, Martin-Rendon E (2016b) Cell therapy for heart disease: trial sequential analyses of two Cochrane reviews. Clin Pharmacol Ther 100:88–101. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.344
- Freyman T, Polin G, Osman H, Crary J, Lu M, Cheng L, Palasis M et al (2006) A quantitative, randomized study evaluating three methods of mesenchymal stem cell delivery following myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 27:1114–1122. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehi818
- Gaglianello NA, Mahr C, Benjamin I (2016) Heart failure and cardiomyopathy. In: Benjamin IJ, Griggs RC, Wing EJ, Fitz JG (eds) Andreoli and Carpenter's Cecil essentials of medicine, 9th edn. Elsevier/Saunders, Philadelphia, pp 55–66
- Gallet R, Dawkins J, Valle J, Simsolo E, de Couto G, Middleton R, Tseliou E et al (2017) Exosomes secreted by cardiosphere-derived cells reduce scarring, attenuate adverse remodelling, and improve function in acute and chronic porcine myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 38:201–211. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw240
- Gao L, Gregorich ZR, Zhu W, Mattapally S, Oduk Y, Lou X, Kannappan R et al (2018) Large cardiac muscle patches engineered from human induced-pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac cells improve recovery from myocardial infarction in swine. Circulation 137:1712–1730. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030785
- Gerbin KA, Murry CE (2015) The winding road to regenerating the human heart. Cardiovasc Pathol 24:133–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carpath.2015.02.004
- Goussetis E, Manginas A, Koutelou M, Peristeri I, Theodosaki M, Kollaros N, Leontiadis E et al (2006) Intracoronary infusion of CD133+ and CD133-CD34+ selected autologous bone marrow progenitor cells in patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy: cell isolation, adherence to the infarcted area, and body distribution. Stem Cells 24:2279–2283. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0589
- Greenberg B, Butler J, Felker GM, Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Desai AS, Barnard D et al (2016) Calcium upregulation by percutaneous administration of gene therapy in patients with cardiac

disease (CUPID 2): a randomised, multinational, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. Lancet 387:1178–1186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00082-9

- Haider KH, Tan T, Aziz S, Chachques JC, Sim EKW (2004a) Myoblast transplantation for cardiac repair: a clinical perspective. Mol Ther 9:14–23
- Haider KH, Jiang SJ, Aziz S, Lei Y, Law PK, Sim EKW (2004b) Effectiveness of transient immunosupression using cyclosporine for xenomyoblast transplantation for cardiac repair. Transplant Proc 36:232–235
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Zambrano JP, Suncion VY, Tracy M et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. JAMA 308:2369–2379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012. 25321
- Hare JM, DiFede DL, Rieger AC, Florea V, Landin AM, El-Khorazaty J, Khan A et al (2017) Randomized comparison of allogeneic versus autologous mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 69:526–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.009
- Haubner BJ, Adamowicz-Brice M, Khadayate S, Tiefenthaler V, Metzler B, Aitman T, Penninger JM (2012) Complete cardiac regeneration in a mouse model of myocardial infarction. Aging 4: 966–977. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.100526
- He X, Wang Q, Zhao Y, Zhang H, Wang B, Pan J, Li J et al (2020) Effect of intramyocardial grafting collagen scaffold with mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with chronic ischemic heart disease: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open 3:e2016236. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2020.16236
- Heallen T, Morikawa Y, Leach J, Tao G, Willerson JT, Johnson RL, Martin JF (2013) Hippo signaling impedes adult heart regeneration. Development 140:4683–4690. https://doi.org/10. 1242/dev.102798
- Heldman AW, DiFede DL, Fishman JE, Zambrano JP, Trachtenberg BH, Karantalis V, Mushtaq M et al (2014) Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. JAMA 311:62–73. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2013.282909
- Hoeeg C, Frljak S, Qayyum AA, Vrtovec B, Kastrup J, Ekblond A, Follin B (2020) Efficacy and mode of action of mesenchymal stem cells in non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: a systematic review. Biomedicines 8:570. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines8120570
- Hou D, Youssef EA, Brinton TJ, Zhang P, Rogers P, Price ET, Yeung AC et al (2005) Radiolabeled cell distribution after intramyocardial, intracoronary, and interstitial retrograde coronary venous delivery: implications for current clinical trials. Circulation 112:1150–I156. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.526749
- Hu S, Liu S, Zheng Z, Yuan X, Li L, Lu M, Shen R et al (2011) Isolated coronary artery bypass graft combined with bone marrow mononuclear cells delivered through a graft vessel for patients with previous myocardial infarction and chronic heart failure: a single-center, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 57:2409–2415. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jacc.2011.01.037
- Hulot JS, Ishikawa K, Hajjar RJ (2016) Gene therapy for the treatment of heart failure: promise postponed. Eur Heart J 37:1651–1658. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw019
- Inamdar AA, Inamdar AC (2016) Heart failure: diagnosis, management and utilization. J Clin Med 5:62. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm5070062
- Jaski BE, Jessup ML, Mancini DM, Cappola TP, Pauly DF, Greenberg B, Borow K, ... Calcium Up-Regulation by Percutaneous Administration of Gene Therapy In Cardiac Disease (CUPID) Trial Investigators (2009) Calcium upregulation by percutaneous administration of gene therapy in cardiac disease (CUPID trial), a first-in-human phase 1/2 clinical trial. J Card Fail 15: 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2009.01.013
- Jessup M, Greenberg B, Mancini D, Cappola T, Pauly DF, Jaski B, Yaroshinsky A, ... Calcium Upregulation by Percutaneous Administration of Gene Therapy in Cardiac Disease (CUPID)

Investigators (2011) Calcium upregulation by percutaneous administration of gene therapy in cardiac disease (CUPID): a phase 2 trial of intracoronary gene therapy of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase in patients with advanced heart failure. Circulation 124:304–313. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.022889

- Kadota S, Shiba Y (2019) Pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocyte transplantation for heart disease treatment. Curr Cardiol Rep 21:73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11886-019-1171-3
- Kadota S, Minami I, Morone N, Heuser JE, Agladze K, Nakatsuji N (2013) Development of a reentrant arrhythmia model in human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac cell sheets. Eur Heart J 34:1147–1156. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs418
- Kadota S, Tanaka Y, Shiba Y (2020) Heart regeneration using pluripotent stem cells. J Cardiol 76: 459–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjcc.2020.03.013
- Karantalis V, Suncion-Loescher VY, Bagno L, Golpanian S, Wolf A, Sanina C, Premer C et al (2015) Synergistic effects of combined cell therapy for chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 66:1990–1999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2015.08.879
- Kishore R, Khan M (2016) More than tiny sacks: stem cell exosomes as cell-free modality for cardiac repair. Circ Res 118:330–343. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307654
- Kupatt C, Hinkel R, Pfosser A, El-Aouni C, Wuchrer A, Fritz A, Globisch F et al (2010) Cotransfection of vascular endothelial growth factor-A and platelet-derived growth factor-B via recombinant adeno-associated virus resolves chronic ischemic malperfusion role of vessel maturation. J Am Coll Cardiol 56:414–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2010.03.050
- Lalu MM, Mazzarello S, Zlepnig J, Dong YYR, Montroy J, McIntyre L, Devereaux PJ et al (2018) Safety and efficacy of adult stem cell therapy for acute myocardial infarction and ischemic heart failure (SafeCell heart): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Stem Cells Transl Med 7: 857–866. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0120
- Law PK, Sim EKW, Haider KH, Fang G, Chua FK, Kakuchaya T, Repin VS, Bockeria LA (2003) Chapter 17. Myoblast genome therapy and the regenerative heart. In: Kipshidze N, Serruys P (eds) Handbook of cardiovascular cell transplantation. Martin Dunitz, London, pp 241–257
- Lei Y, Haider KH, Toh WC, Beng W, Tan R, Law PK, Su L et al (2007) Transplantation of nanoparticle based skeletal myoblasts over-expression vascular endothelial growth factor-165 for cardiac repair. Circulation 116:I-113–I-120
- Lei Y, Zhang W, Su L-P, Haider KH, Poh K-K, Galupo MJ, Songco G et al (2011) Nanoparticle based delivery of hypoxia-regulated VEGF transgene system combined with myoblast engraftment for myocardial repair. Biomaterials 32:2424–2431
- Liew LC, Ho BX, Soh BS (2020) Mending a broken heart: current strategies and limitations of cellbased therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01648-0
- Lin Z, von Gise A, Zhou P, Gu F, Ma Q, Jiang J, Yau AL et al (2014) Cardiac-specific YAP activation improves cardiac function and survival in an experimental murine MI model. Circ Res 115:354–363. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.303632
- Liu YW, Chen B, Yang X, Fugate JA, Kalucki FA, Futakuchi-Tsuchida A, Couture L et al (2018) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes restore function in infarcted hearts of non-human primates. Nat Biotechnol 36:597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4162
- Liu Z, Mikrani R, Zubair HM, Taleb A, Naveed M, Baig MMFA, Zhang Q et al (2020) Systemic and local delivery of mesenchymal stem cells for heart renovation: challenges and innovations. Eur J Pharmacol 876:173049. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173049
- Lo B, Parham L (2009) Ethical issues in stem cell research. Endocr Rev 30:204–213. https://doi. org/10.1210/er.2008-0031
- Lopez JJ, Laham RJ, Stamler A, Pearlman JD, Bunting S, Kaplan A, Carrozza JP et al (1998) VEGF administration in chronic myocardial ischemia in pigs. Cardiovasc Res 40:272–281. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0008-6363(98)00136-9
- Madonna R, Ferdinandy P, De Caterina R, Willerson JT, Marian AJ (2014) Recent developments in cardiovascular stem cells. Circ Res 115:e71–e78. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114. 305567

- Maghin E, Garbati P, Quarto R, Piccoli M, Bollini S (2020) Young at heart: combining strategies to rejuvenate endogenous mechanisms of cardiac repair. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:447. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00447
- Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Thomson LE, Berman D, Czer LS et al (2012) Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 379:895–904. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60195-0
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sørensen M, Ekblond A et al (2020) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with ischaemic heart failure: final 4-year follow-up of the MSC-HF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 22: 884–892. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.1700
- Mazzola M, Di Pasquale E (2020) Toward cardiac regeneration: combination of pluripotent stem cell-based therapies and bioengineering strategies. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:455. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00455
- Menasché P (2018) Cell therapy trials for heart regeneration lessons learned and future directions. Nat Rev Cardiol 15:659–671. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-018-0013-0
- Menasché P, Hagège AA, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D, Schwartz K et al (2001) Myoblast transplantation for heart failure. Lancet 357(9252):279–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(00)03617-5
- Menasché P, Alfieri O, Janssens S, McKenna W, Reichenspurner H, Trinquart L, Vilquin JT et al (2008) The Myoblast Autologous Grafting in Ischemic Cardiomyopathy (MAGIC) trial: first randomized placebo-controlled study of myoblast transplantation. Circulation 117:1189–1200. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.734103
- Menasché P, Vanneaux V, Hagège A, Bel A, Cholley B, Parouchev A, Cacciapuoti I et al (2018) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitors for severe ischemic left ventricular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 71:429–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jacc.2017.11.047
- Micheu MM (2019) Moving forward on the pathway of cell-based therapies in ischemic heart disease and heart failure – time for new recommendations? World J Stem Cells 11:445–451. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v11.i8.445
- Mohite PN, Sabashnikov A, Simon AR, Weymann A, Patil NP, Unsoeld B, Bireta C et al (2015) Does CircuLite Synergy assist device as partial ventricular support have a place in modern management of advanced heart failure? Expert Rev Med Devices 12:49–60. https://doi.org/10. 1586/17434440.2015.985208
- Mouton AJ, Rivera OJ, Lindsey ML (2018) Myocardial infarction remodeling that progresses to heart failure: a signaling misunderstanding. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 315:H71–H79. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00131.2018
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, Das SR, de Ferranti S, Després JP, Fullerton HJ, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Isasi CR, Jiménez MC, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Liu S, Mackey RH, Magid DJ, McGuire DK, Mohler ER 3rd, Moy CS, Muntner P, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, Rodriguez CJ, Rosamond W, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Woo D, Yeh RW, Turner MB (2016) American Heart Association Statistics Committee; Stroke Statistics Subcommittee Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: A report from the american heart association. Circulation 26:e38–360. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR. 00000000000350
- Murry CE, Reinecke H, Pabon LM (2006) Regeneration gaps: observations on stem cells and cardiac repair. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:1777–1785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2006.02.002
- Nair N, Gongora E (2020) Stem cell therapy in heart failure: where do we stand today? Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1866:165489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2019.06.003
- Nakamura K, Murry CE (2019) Function follows form a review of cardiac cell therapy. Circ J 83: 2399–2412. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.CJ-19-0567

- Narita T, Shintani Y, Ikebe C, Kaneko M, Campbell NG, Coppen SR, Uppal R et al (2013) The use of scaffold-free cell sheet technique to refine mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapy for heart failure. Mol Ther 21:860–867
- Nasseri BA, Ebell W, Dandel M, Kukucka M, Gebker R, Doltra A, Knosalla C et al (2014) Autologous CD133+ bone marrow cells and bypass grafting for regeneration of ischaemic myocardium: the Cardio133 trial. Eur Heart J 35:1263–1274. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehu007
- Natsumeda M, Florea V, Rieger AC, Tompkins BA, Banerjee MN, Golpanian S, Fritsch J et al (2017) A combination of allogeneic stem cells promotes cardiac regeneration. J Am Coll Cardiol 70:2504–2515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.09.036
- Niagara MI, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2007) Pharmacological preconditioning renders skeletal myoblasts resistant to oxidative stress and enhances their cardiac repair ability via expression of paracrine factors after transplantation. Circ Res 100:545–555
- Nigro P, Bassetti B, Cavallotti L, Catto V, Carbucicchio C, Pompilio G (2018) Cell therapy for heart disease after 15 years: unmet expectations. Pharmacol Res 127:77–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. phrs.2017.02.015
- Oikonomopoulos A, Kitani T, Wu JC (2018) Pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes as a platform for cell therapy applications: progress and hurdles for clinical translation. Mol Ther 26: 1624–1634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.02.026
- Ozkan J (2019) Piero Anversa and cardiomyocyte regeneration. Eur Heart J 40:1036–1037. https:// doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz096
- Park SR, Kim JW, Jun HS, Roh JY, Lee HY, Hong IS (2018) Stem cell secretome and its effect on cellular mechanisms relevant to wound healing. Mol Ther 26:606–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ymthe.2017.09.023
- Park SJ, Kim RY, Park BW, Lee S, Choi SW, Park JH, Choi JJ et al (2019) Dual stem cell therapy synergistically improves cardiac function and vascular regeneration following myocardial infarction. Nat Commun 10:3123. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11091-2
- Penn MS, Mendelsohn FO, Schaer GL, Sherman W, Farr M, Pastore J, Rouy D et al (2013) An open-label dose escalation study to evaluate the safety of administration of nonviral stromal cellderived factor-1 plasmid to treat symptomatic ischemic heart failure. Circ Res 112:816–825. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.300440
- Perin EC, Dohmann HF, Borojevic R, Silva SA, Sousa AL, Mesquita CT, Rossi MI et al (2003) Transendocardial, autologous bone marrow cell transplantation for severe, chronic ischemic heart failure. Circulation 107:2294–2302. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000070596. 30552.8B
- Perin EC, Willerson JT, Pepine CJ, Henry TD, Ellis SG, Zhao DX, Silva GV et al (2012) Effect of transendocardial delivery of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells on functional capacity, left ventricular function, and perfusion in chronic heart failure: the FOCUS-CCTRN trial. JAMA 307:1717–1726. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.418
- Porrello ER, Mahmoud AI, Simpson E, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN, Sadek HA (2011) Transient regenerative potential of the neonatal mouse heart. Science 331:1078–1080. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.1200708
- Poulin MF, Deka A, Mohamedali B, Schaer GL (2016) Clinical benefits of stem cells for chronic symptomatic systolic heart failure: a systematic review of the existing data and ongoing trials. Cell Transplant 25:1911–1923. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368916X692087
- Povsic TJ, O'Connor CM, Henry T, Taussig A, Kereiakes DJ, Fortuin FD, Niederman A et al (2011) A double-blind, randomized, controlled, multicenter study to assess the safety and cardiovascular effects of skeletal myoblast implantation by catheter delivery in patients with chronic heart failure after myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 162:654–662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2011.07.020
- Prockop DJ, Olson SD (2007) Clinical trials with adult stem/progenitor cells for tissue repair: let's not overlook some essential precautions. Blood 109:3147–3151. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-03-013433

- Regenberg AC, Hutchinson LA, Schanker B, Mathews DJ (2009) Medicine on the fringe: stem cellbased interventions in advance of evidence. Stem Cells 27:2312–2319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ stem.132
- Reinecke H, Poppa V, Murry CE (2002) Skeletal muscle stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes after cardiac grafting. J Mol Cell Cardiol 34:241–924. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jmcc.2001.1507
- Robey TE, Saiget MK, Reinecke H, Murry CE (2008) Systems approaches to preventing transplanted cell death in cardiac repair. J Mol Cell Cardiol 45:567–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yjmcc.2008.03.009
- Rojas SV, Haverich A (2019) Heart failure: ventricular assist devices and cardiac transplantation: a review of current surgical innovations. Der Chirurg; Zeitschrift fur alle Gebiete der Operativen Medizen 90:110–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00104-018-0774-3
- Romagnuolo R, Masoudpour H, Porta-Sánchez A, Qiang B, Barry J, Laskary A, Qi X et al (2019) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate the infarcted pig heart but induce ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Stem Cell Rep 12:967–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stemcr.2019.04.005
- Ronaldson-Bouchard K, Ma SP, Yeager K, Chen T, Song L, Sirabella D, Morikawa K et al (2018) Advanced maturation of human cardiac tissue grown from pluripotent stem cells. Nature 556: 239–243. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0016-3
- Ryan KA, Sanders AN, Wang DD, Levine AD (2010) Tracking the rise of stem cell tourism. Regen Med 5:27–33. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme.09.70
- Shiba Y, Gomibuchi T, Seto T, Wada Y, Ichimura H, Tanaka Y, Ogasawara T et al (2016) Allogeneic transplantation of iPS cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerates primate hearts. Nature 538: 388–391. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19815
- Sim EKW, Lei Y, Jiang SJ, Lim YL, Ooi OC, Haider KH (2003) Skeletal myoblast transplant in heart failure. J Card Surg 18:319–327
- Siminiak T, Kalawski R, Fiszer D, Jerzykowska O, Rzeźniczak J, Rozwadowska N, Kurpisz M (2004) Autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation for the treatment of postinfarction myocardial injury: phase I clinical study with 12 months of follow-up. Am Heart J 148(3):531–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2004.03.043
- Simons M, Raposo G (2009) Exosomes vesicular carriers for intercellular communication. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21:575–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.03.007
- Singh VK, Saini A, Kalsan M, Kumar N, Chandra R (2016) Describing the stem cell potency: the various methods of functional assessment and in silico diagnostics. Front Cell Dev Biol 4:134. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2016.00134
- Skinner JS, Cooper A (2011) Secondary prevention of ischaemic cardiac events. BMJ Clin Evid 2011:0206
- Sobhani A, Khanlarkhani N, Baazm M, Mohammadzadeh F, Najafi A, Mehdinejadiani S, Sargolzaei AF (2017) Multipotent stem cell and current application. Acta Med Iran 55:6–23
- Spannbauer A, Mester-Tonczar J, Traxler D, Kastner N, Zlabinger K, Hašimbegović E, Riesenhuber M et al (2020) Large animal models of cell-free cardiac regeneration. Biomolecules 10:1392. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10101392
- Strauer BE, Yousef M, Schannwell CM (2010) The acute and long-term effects of intracoronary Stem cell Transplantation in 191 patients with chronic heARt failure: the STAR-heart study. Eur J Heart Fail 12:721–729. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjhf/hfq095
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.07.024
- Tanai E, Frantz S (2015) Pathophysiology of heart failure. Compr Physiol 6:187–214. https://doi. org/10.1002/cphy.c140055
- Taylor DA, Atkins BZ, Hungspreugs P, Jones TR, Reedy MC, Hutcheson KA, Glower DD et al (1998) Regenerating functional myocardium: improved performance after skeletal myoblast transplantation. Nat Med 4:929–933. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0898-929

- Teerlink JR, Metra M, Filippatos GS, Davison BA, Bartunek J, Terzic A, Gersh BJ, ... CHART Investigators (2017) Benefit of cardiopoietic mesenchymal stem cell therapy on left ventricular remodelling: results from the Congestive Heart Failure Cardiopoietic Regenerative Therapy (CHART-1) study. Eur J Heart Fail 19:1520–1529. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.898
- Tehzeeb J, Manzoor A, Ahmed MM (2019) Is stem cell therapy an answer to heart failure: a literature search. Cureus 11:e5959. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.5959
- Terrovitis J, Lautamäki R, Bonios M, Fox J, Engles JM, Yu J, Leppo MK et al (2009) Noninvasive quantification and optimization of acute cell retention by in vivo positron emission tomography after intramyocardial cardiac-derived stem cell delivery. J Am Coll Cardiol 54:1619–1626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2009.04.097
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA, Piek JJ et al (2007) Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. Stem Cell Res 1:129–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2008.02.002
- Turner D, Rieger AC, Balkan W, Hare JM (2020) Clinical-based cell therapies for heart disease current and future state. Rambam Maimonides Med J 11. https://doi.org/10.5041/RMMJ.10401
- van der Spoel TI, Jansen of Lorkeers SJ, Agostoni P, van Belle E, Gyöngyösi M, Sluijter JP, Cramer MJ et al (2011) Human relevance of pre-clinical studies in stem cell therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis of large animal models of ischaemic heart disease. Cardiovasc Res 91: 649–658. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvr113
- Virani SS, Alonso A, Aparicio HJ, Benjamin EJ, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, ... American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee (2021) Heart disease and stroke Statistics – 2021 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 143:e254–e743. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIR.000000000000950
- Wang J, Liu S, Heallen T, Martin JF (2018) The Hippo pathway in the heart: pivotal roles in development, disease, and regeneration. Nat Rev Cardiol 15:672–684. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41569-018-0063-3
- Weinberger F, Eschenhagen T (2021) Cardiac regeneration: new hope for an old dream. Annu Rev Physiol 83:59–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-031120-103629
- Williams AR, Hatzistergos KE, Addicott B, McCall F, Carvalho D, Suncion V, Morales AR et al (2013) Enhanced effect of combining human cardiac stem cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to reduce infarct size and to restore cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Circulation 127:213–223. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.131110
- Xin M, Kim Y, Sutherland LB, Qi X, McAnally J, Schwartz RJ, Richardson JA et al (2011) Regulation of insulin-like growth factor signaling by Yap governs cardiomyocyte proliferation and embryonic heart size. Sci Signal 4:ra70. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2002278
- Xin M, Kim Y, Sutherland LB, Murakami M, Qi X, McAnally J, Porrello ER et al (2013) Hippo pathway effector Yap promotes cardiac regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110: 13839–13844. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1313192110
- Ye L, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ling LH, Ge R, Law PK, Sim EKW (2007) Reversal of myocardial injury using genetically modulated human skeletal myoblasts in a rodent cryoinjured heart model. Eur J Heart Fail 7(6):945–952
- Zakrzewski W, Dobrzyński M, Szymonowicz M, Rybak Z (2019) Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1165-5
- Zhang J (2015) Engineered tissue patch for cardiac cell therapy. Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med 17:399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11936-015-0399-5
- Zhao XF, Xu Y, Zhu ZY, Gao CY, Shi YN (2015) Clinical observation of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell treatment of severe systolic heart failure. Genet Mol Res 14:3010–3017. https://doi.org/10.4238/2015.April.10.11



Therapeutic Uses of Stem Cells for Heart Failure: Hype or Hope

Mathieu Rheault-Henry, Ian White, and Rony Atoui

Contents

Introduction	513
Pathophysiology of Heart Failure	513
Significance to the Research	514
Introduction to Stem Cells	514
Embryonic Stem Cells	515
Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells	515
Adult Stem Cells	516
Endogenous Regeneration of Cardiomyocytes	516
Landmark Clinical Trials	517
Adult Stem Cells	517
Insights into Ccell-Based Therapy Approaches	527
What Is the Proposed Mechanism of Action?	527
Optimizing Cardiac Stem Cell Therapy	529
False Claims	536
Conclusion	537
References	538

Abstract

Heart failure is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality globally. Myocardial infarction remains one of the primary causes of chronic heart failure due to cardiac remodeling, including the formation of fibrotic scar tissue and cardiomyocyte necrosis. Despite myocardial infarction being recognized as a significant predisposing factor to heart failure, modern therapies such as pharmacological and surgical interventions are currently unable to treat the underlying

M. Rheault-Henry · I. White · R. Atoui (🖂)

Division of Cardiac Surgery, Health Sciences North, Northern Ontario School of Medicine, Sudbury, ON, Canada e-mail: mrheaulthenry@nosm.ca; iwhite@nosm.ca

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 17

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

pathologies. Because of the limited intrinsic regenerative capacity within the heart, stem cell therapy has recently been touted as a potential option for the treatment of heart failure. Stem cells are characterized by two unique properties; the ability to self-renew and to differentiate into multiple lineages. Although the exact regenerative mechanism remains relatively unknown, it is believed that stem cells mediate myocardial repair primarily via activation of paracrine signaling pathways, with some cell types contributing to the direct replacement of functional cardiomyocytes. Pre-clinical and clinical studies have shown a range of predominantly neutral to moderately positive outcomes in terms of both safety and clinical efficacy. The following review will discuss what is currently known about stem cell-based treatment for heart failure, the various types of stem cells used in therapeutics, recent clinical trials, as well as current limitations and future directions of regenerative cell therapy.

Keywords

Adult stem cells · Bone marrow stem cells · Cardiomyocytes · Cardiovascular · Cell therapy · Chronic cardiomyopathy · Heart failure · Myocardial infarction · Pluripotent stem cells · Regenerative therapy · Stem cell

Abbreviations

ABMCs	Autologous bone marrow cells
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
BMDSCs	Bone marrow derived stem cells
BMMNCs	Bone marrow mononuclear cells
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CPCs	Cardiac progenitor cells
CSCs	Cardiac stem cells
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
EDV	End diastolic volume
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
ESV	End systolic volume
HF	Heart failure
HFpEF	HF with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	HF with reduced ejection fraction
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MI	Myocardial infarction
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
PSCs	Pluripotent stem cells
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) continues to be the leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally, with the World Health Organization (WHO) reporting an estimated 17.9 million deaths attributed to CVD in 2016 (World Health Organization 2021). Chronic heart failure (HF) is an important cardiovascular disease due to its high incidence, high mortality rate, and poor prognosis (Alpert et al. 2017; Hong-Mi et al. 2019). HF is a debilitating disease that leads to progressive cardiopulmonary symptoms and is strongly associated with a decreased quality of life (Merck Manuals Professional Edition 2020). HF currently affects 1.5% of Canadians (Tran et al. 2016) and these numbers are expected to increase due to the aging demographic and the increase in CV risk factors such as obesity. Canadians who are hospitalized with HF have a 1-year mortality rate of over 30% and these numbers have not improved over the last decade despite significant medical advancements (Ibid.).

Pathophysiology of Heart Failure

Heart failure is a complex syndrome of ventricular dysfunction that results from structural or functional impairment of ventricular filling or ejection of blood. This subsequently results in inadequate blood supply to the tissues for metabolic needs (Merck Manuals Professional Edition 2020). The most common underlying cause of HF is myocardial infarction (MI) (Cahill and Kharbanda 2017), which is defined as myocardial cell death due to prolonged ischemia (Thygesen et al. 2012). However, HF may also be caused by structural defects like congenital deformities, valvular disorders (i.e., aortic stenosis), high metabolic demand (i.e., thyrotoxicosis), myocarditis, arrhythmias and persistently high heart rate (Merck Manuals Professional Edition 2020). In MI, single or multiple coronary arteries are occluded persistently or intermittently, which impedes perfusion of the myocardium (Thygesen et al. 2012). After the onset of ischemia, cardiomyocyte death is observed and an intense inflammatory response is triggered (American College of Cardiology 2016). Besides, reperfusion of the myocardium causes the production of reactive oxygen species, release of vasoactive mediators, and plugging of inflammatory cells leading to further myocardial damage (Cahill and Kharbanda 2017). In the post-MI state, there is a progression from inflammation to cardiac repair, including the formation of fibrotic scar tissue, activation of the sympathetic nervous system and initiation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (Braunwald 2013). Cardiac remodeling results in structural and functional changes in the zone of infarction (Merck Manuals Professional Edition 2018) and can ultimately lead to HF. The most common classifications of HF are HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) (Yancy et al. 2013). HFrEF is defined by HF with left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of $\leq 40\%$. In this type of HF, the ventricle fails to contract properly, leading to increased diastolic volume and

diastolic pressure with decreased ejection fraction. Over time, the ventricles are remodeled as a higher preload is required to maintain cardiac output. As the ventricle dilates and hypertrophies, increased stiffness of the ventricle and diastolic dysfunction ensues, compromising cardiac performance, and further contributing to adverse systemic venous congestion (Merck Manuals Professional Edition 2020). Conversely, HFpEF is defined as HF with LVEF (\geq 50%). In this case, the ventricular filling is impaired as the heart is unable to relax and becomes stiff. Increased ventricular end-diastolic pressure and normal end-diastolic volume, ejection fraction, and contractility are observed (Yancy et al. 2013). HFrEF and HFpEF can affect both ventricles, though the left ventricle is most commonly affected. A deep understanding of the pathophysiology of HF is critical in producing an effective stem cell-based strategy that reverses underlying pathological processes.

Significance to the Research

Despite tremendous medical advancements in the past generation, the diagnosis of chronic heart failure still carries significant morbidity and mortality (Kostuk 2001). Current goals of HF treatment are aimed at alleviating symptoms, properly managing comorbidities, and enhancing the quality of life rather than reversing the underlying pathologic process. Standard pharmaceutical therapies involve medication such as diuretics, beta-adrenergic blockers, anti-hypertensives, inotropic agents, and anticoagulants (Inamdar and Inamdar 2016). HF caused by MI can be treated with surgical intervention to relieve obstructed arteries and reperfuse the myocardium (Briffa et al. 2009). Smoking cessation, healthy dietary patterns, regular physical activity, and maintaining a normal body mass index (BMI) are common risk reduction techniques (Fleg 2016) that serve to slow disease progression without reversing pre-existing damage to the heart (Faiella and Atoui 2016). Heart transplantation is generally used as a last resort for all-cause HF (Yamakawa et al. 2013) and carries a 10-year survival rate of over 50% (Anyanwu and Treasure 2003). However, there remains a major discrepancy between the availability of donors and recipients (Ibid.). Research is now focusing on promising alternative therapy to treat HF: stem cells. It is believed that stem cells can regenerate damaged cardiac tissue and restore its physiologic function (Fraser et al. 2004). The following review will discuss the advantages and limitations of various stem cell therapies, including current clinical trials, safety concerns, and how to optimize cell therapies.

Introduction to Stem Cells

Stem cells are characterized by two unique properties: the ability to self-renew and to differentiate into specialized cell types. Although first identified in the hematopoietic system, various subtypes are present in other tissues, which have led to the development of multiple system-specific therapies. They are gaining popularity and their roles have been evolving within the following three major applications in medicine.

- 1. Cell therapy to replace functional tissue
- 2. Targets of drug therapy
- 3. To generate differentiated tissue for in vitro study of disease models to develop drugs

Stem cells have varying differentiating potentials, known as potency. Potency is the capacity of the stem cell to differentiate into specialized cell types (Hima and Srilatha 2011) which will give rise to a mature cell type and, subsequently, the formation of tissues within the body. Once an egg is fertilized in the female, the cells that arise in the first few divisions are classified as totipotent, meaning that they can generate a viable embryo. However, within a matter of days, these totipotent cells transition to pluripotent, subsequently becoming embryonic stem cells (ESCs). The level of their potency decreases as stem cells differentiate further along their lineage pathways. Thus, stem cells can be classified into three clinically relevant categories based on their origin and level of potency: ESCs, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and adult stem cells.

Embryonic Stem Cells

ESCs are a descendant of totipotent cells. These cells are derived from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst, a hollow ball of cells that forms 3–5 days after an egg is fertilized (Stem Cells 2020). ESCs are pluripotent, meaning that they have the ability to produce cells from all three germ layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, endoderm), but not the placenta or umbilical cord. These cells are a resource for studying normal development, disease, and for testing drugs and therapies (Ibid.). Current therapeutic strategies involve differentiating ESCs into the tissue-specific cell or progenitor before incorporation into the tissue of choice. When ESC lines are produced in the laboratory, they retain their proliferative properties indefinitely. These are invaluable since they have the highest differentiation potential but are subject to various ethical debates (Hima and Srilatha 2011) (discussed in Ethical Considerations of the Use of Stem Cells).

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

iPSCs- have been engineered in laboratories by converting tissue-specific somatic cells into stem cells that behave like ESCs (Stem Cells 2020). For example, isolating keratinocytes from the epithelium and engineering it into a pluripotent stem cell with the capacity to differentiate into all three germ layers. Like ESCs, these can help researchers to learn more about normal development, characterize the disease, and investigate novel therapeutics (Ibid.). Although these cells share many of the same characteristics of ESCs, several important differences distinguish them from ESCs. One of the major advantages of iPSCs is that they circumvent serious ethical concerns that come with ESCs. However, it is believed that iPSCs retain some

residual epigenetic memory of their specialized cell of origin (Kim et al. 2010), making it difficult to effectively reprogram to a fully pluripotent phenotype. As with ESCs, current strategies of cardiac therapeutics involve "instructing" iPSCs to differentiate into cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs) or cardiomyocytes before implantation into the myocardium.

Adult Stem Cells

Tissue-specific stem cells are commonly referred to as adult stem cells. These are more specialized stem cells (Hima and Srilatha 2011) and can only differentiate into a limited number of cell types within their tissue of origin. Tissue-specific stem cells are classified as multipotent, but their products are unipotent as they are of the lowest differentiation potential. For example, hematopoietic stem cells are multipotent, but red blood cells are unipotent as they are at their last stage of differentiation. The adult stem cells of interest in this discussion are cardiac stem cells (CSCs), bone marrowderived stem cells (BMDSCs), and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). CSCs are isolated from the atria, ventricles, or the epicardium in biopsies (Faiella and Atoui 2016) and play an important role in clinical trials. Although they are harder to acquire and possess less impressive self-renewal capabilities, they have many attributes that improve cardiac function (Menasché 2018). The only CSCs used in clinical trials are KIT+ and cardiosphere-derived cells. Bone marrow-derived mononuclear stem cells (BMMNCs) are adult stem cells that contain various populations of hematopoietic and immune cells. Lastly, MSCs are commonly mentioned in stem cell research. Many tissues in the body contain these multipotent cells, the largest reservoir being in the bone marrow (International Society for Stem Cell Research). These fall under the category of adult stem cells, and although found in the bone marrow, they are classified under their subtype. These cells are capable of forming bone, cartilage, and fat cells (Ibid.). Although these fall under tissue-specific stem cells, they are classified under their own lineage.

Endogenous Regeneration of Cardiomyocytes

Heart regeneration has been a heavily investigated topic in a countless number of species. In the developing mammals and invertebrates, there is well-documented evidence showing vast myocardial regeneration (Laflamme and Murry 2011). Yet, the extent of endogenous myocardial regeneration in adult hearts is still up for debate. The vast majority of the growth of the human embryonic and fetal heart occurs due to the rapid proliferation and differentiation of CPCs and immature cardiomyocytes (Eschenhagen et al. 2017; Eldad et al. 2017). Throughout the postnatal life, the central mechanism for cardiac growth shifts from hyperplasia to cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Eschenhagen et al. 2017). One current theory postulate that the polyploid genome found in adult human cardiomyocytes restricts regeneration. In contrast, animal cardiomyocytes such as amphibians and reptiles have an

almost entirely diploid genome (Marchianò and Murry 2019) allowing cells to divide more frequently. Further investigations suggest that polyploidy is strongly correlated with endothermy, the ability to regulate one's body temperature. As one's body temperature and metabolic rate increase, there is a decrease in diploid cardiomyocytes, leading researchers to think that there may have been an evolutionary trade-off between the ability of humans to regenerate cardiac tissue and the ability to regulate body temperature (Ibid.). Nonetheless, one thing is for certain: the human heart is not a completely post-mitotic organ (Bruyneel et al. 2016). Current evidence estimates that in a healthy human adult heart, the cardiomyocyte turnover rate appears to be around 1% per year, with a decline in turnover rate with age (Burridge et al. 2012; Bergmann et al. 2009). This equates to approximately 50% of cardiomyocytes being renewed across one's lifespan (Bergmann et al. 2009). This can become incredibly problematic, given that a severe myocardial infarction can destroy 25% of functional cardiomyocytes within only a few hours (Murry et al. 2006). Interestingly, several studies suggest that the myocardium may have some innate proliferative ability after a severe cardiac event. In 2001, Beltrami et al. discovered that there was an increase in human cardiomyocyte renewal postmyocardial infarction in the border regions of the infarct. However, it is uncertain if this provides any clinical benefit. The question remains as to where these cardiomyocytes arise. The majority of studies seem to suggest that the proliferation of existing cardiomyocytes provides the largest contribution to basal cardiomyocyte turnover, with differentiation of resident and extracardiac stem cells occurring at a higher rate after injury (Eschenhagen et al. 2017). A deeper understanding of the exact mechanisms underpinning endogenous cardiomyocyte regeneration after myocardial injury would be extremely beneficial for developing the most effective therapeutic strategy.

Landmark Clinical Trials

Adult Stem Cells

Cardiac Stem Cells

Until recently, it was controversial as to whether CSCs had the potential to regenerate the myocardium. However, it is now well established that CSCs express markers of cardiogenesis and can differentiate into cardiomyocytes and vascular endothelial cells (Faiella and Atoui 2016). To date, only c-KIT+ CSCs and cardiosphere-derived cell phenotypes have been utilized in clinical trials. The stem cell infusion in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO) is a phase 1 clinical trial (2011) administering KIT+ CSCs to patients with HF undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). Interestingly, KIT+ cells are speculated to favor differentiation into vascular cells rather than cardiomyocytes (van Berlo et al. 2014). Preliminary results of the study demonstrated an increase in LVEF at 4- and 12-months post-infusion, in addition to a decrease in infarct size (Chugh et al. 2012). However, in 2014 the editors of The Lancet issued an "expression of concern" (Menasché 2018) as the integrity of the data was questioned, leading to the retraction of the study. The intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS) trial is a published phase 1 clinical trial examining the use of autologous cardiosphere-derived CSCs. Six months postadministration, MRI findings showed a reduction in scar tissue size, along with improvements in regional contractility and viable heart mass. Although structural and functional changes were noted, changes in end-diastolic volume (EDV), endsystolic volume (ESV), and LVEF did not differ between groups (Makkar et al. 2012). There were no significant adverse effects noted in the SCIPIO and the CADUCEUS trials, alluding to a positive safety profile for CSCs. The CONCERT-HF trial is an ongoing trial including 144 patients with HF who are assigned randomly to receive KIT+ CSCs, bone marrow-derived MSCs, a combination of both cell types or a placebo. The premise of using both cell types together is based on animal models showing that the pairing works synergistically (Bolli et al. 2018) to improve structural and functional outcomes in chronic HF. Although this study was paused for a brief period, it is set to be completed by July 2020 (National Institute of Health, n.d.). Likewise, the TAC-HFT-II trial will soon compare therapy with autologous MSCs alone versus MSCs combined with KIT+ CSCs. The ALLSTAR phase 2 trial using cardiosphere-derived cells was stopped prematurely due to the futility of the data and the probability of not meeting the primary goal after 6 months follow-up (Menasché 2018).

Bone Marrow-Derived Cells

Bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMDSC) have been one of the most heavily tested cell types in the treatment of cardiovascular disease to date. However, many of these trials focus on acute myocardial infarction (AMI) rather than HF (Turner et al. 2020). While MSCs are often isolated from the bone marrow, this section will be focusing on BMMNCs and autologous bone marrow cells (ABMCs). The firstever clinical trial using cellular therapeutics was published in 2003. It included 21 patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy who received transendocardial injection of autologous BMMNCs. After 4 months, there was a significant increase in LVEF and a reduction in ESV (Perin et al. 2003). Similar results were found in the TOPCARE-CHD trial, which showed a significant decrease in brain natriuretic peptide and decreased mortality in response to intracoronary administration of BMMNCs (Assmus et al. 2007). The STAR-heart study demonstrated that up to 5 years after intracoronary administration, ABMCs improved long-term mortality and LVEF (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Besides, a decreased left ventricular preload, end-systolic volume, systolic wall stress, occurrence of arrhythmias, and area of infarction was noted. To this point, all clinical trials had also demonstrated a positive safety profile for BMDSCs. This initial success set the stage for the larger phase 2, randomized, double-blind FOCUS-CCTRN trial. This trial enrolled 153 patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy and aimed at administering autologous BMMNCs via transendocardial injection. Unfortunately, these positive results could not be replicated, as there were no significant improvements in LVEF, maximal oxygen consumption, or infarct size (Perin et al. 2012). Additionally, In the TAC-HFT-I trial, patients were given either transendocardial injections of autologous BMMNCs, autologous MSCs, or placebo. Results showed that only MSC therapy decreased infarct size and improved regional function of the heart, and the distance walked during the 6-min walk test (Heldman et al. 2014). No improvements were noted in LVEF. After more than a decade of research, a trial sequential analysis of two Cochrane reviews was published, providing clarity as to the overall effectiveness of BMDSCs in the treatment of HF. They determined that there is firm evidence showing BMDSCs cause a reduction in both mortality and rehospitalization rates. However, they show that treatments do not provide more than a 4% increase in LVEF (Fisher et al. 2016a). There is also a large phase 3 clinical trial ongoing to assess if the intracoronary infusion of autologous BMMNCs is safe and can cause a reduction in mortality and LVEF. If positive data comes out of the ongoing BAMI trial, we may very well see a public push for autologous BMMNCs to transition from bench to bedside.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Preclinical and clinical evidence suggests that MSCs may provide benefit in the treatment of MI and HF (Lalu et al. 2018) due to a greater likelihood of vascular proliferation and regeneration (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). MSCs exhibit important reparative properties such as immunomodulation, along with antifibrotic, proangiogenic, and anti-oxidative effects (Turner et al. 2020) making them great contenders for treating cardiomyopathies such as HF. By March 2018, there were 17 clinical trials registered using MSC therapy in chronic HF. Among the different bone marrowderived cells, MSCs seem to show the greatest promise for regeneration of myocardium (Menasché 2018), likely due to their strong paracrine effect. The POSEIDON randomized control trial compared autologous and allogeneic MSCs in HF patients. Results indicate that both types of cells reduced infarct size, adverse cardiac remodeling, and LV function after an MI (Hare et al. 2012). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis which included 23 studies in total, investigated the safety and efficacy of adult stem cell therapy for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction and HF. In total, 11 studies evaluated the efficacy of adult MSCs in acute myocardial infarction, while 12 studies evaluated their efficacy in ischemic HF. Post-treatment; there was a significant improvement in LVEF but no significant differences in mortality between groups (Lalu et al. 2018). However, upon further subgroup analysis, no significant LVEF improvements were observed in the treatment of HF, but rather only for the treatment of AMI. Positive results were observed in other clinical outcomes of HF, as there were significant improvements in quality of life and the 6-min walk test. Evidence suggests that MSC therapy seems to be safe, as there was no association between treatment and acute adverse outcomes for patients. An important limitation to consider is that MSCs are expected to lose some form of efficacy due to aging, warranting donations from healthy donors rather than obtaining autologous cells from older individuals who may have additional comorbidities (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Cardiopoietic stem cells are more specialized

cells derived from a pure MSC population in the bone marrow. Although these are more developed than true MSCs, they have been of interest in HF studies. The C-CURE trial is one of the first using cardiopoietic cells in the treatment of HF. Findings demonstrated an increased LVEF, improved quality of life, and a lower left ESV after 2 years (Bartunek et al. 2013). The findings of the C-CURE trial catalyzed larger studies to take place such as the CHART-1 trial, which shared similar results as the latter. Both the C-CURE and CHART-1 trial indicate that stem cell therapy is safe and has potential to provide long-lasting benefits on cardiac function in those affected by HF (Bartunek et al. 2017). Larger randomized controlled trials, along with a comprehensive assessment of the impact of MSCs.

Skeletal Myoblasts

Early preclinical trials showed promise as skeletal myoblasts appeared to have the capabilities to differentiate into cardiomyocytes and improve cardiac function in animal models (Taylor et al. 1998; Chiu et al. 1995). Other preclinical studies were not able to successfully transdifferentiate skeletal myoblasts into cardiomyocytes after grafting, contradicting earlier evidence (Reinecke et al. 2002). Regardless, skeletal myoblasts were quickly rushed into clinical trials, and the results were disappointing. In the MAGIC trial, the intramyocardial injection of skeletal myoblasts did not improve LVEF and failed to improve regional and global heart function. In addition, patients receiving the skeletal myoblasts had a significantly greater risk of arrhythmias and embolic events compared to the placebo (Menasché et al. 2008). Similarly, the MARVEL trial did not demonstrate improvements in left ventricular function, although some moderate improvements in the distance for the 6-min walk test were noted (Povsic et al. 2011). The MARVEL trial also revealed that intramyocardial injection of skeletal myoblasts posed an increased risk of developing ventricular tachycardia. Since these landmark trials have come out, researchers have transitioned away from using skeletal myoblasts in hopes of finding a safer, more effective alternative cell type.

Pluripotent Stem Cells

Pluripotent stem cells include both ESCs and iPSCs and, by definition, are cells that can form all three germ layers of the embryo (Hackett and Fortier 2011). Although there are subtle differences in potency between the two cell types, the major distinction between the two comes from their difference in origin. Nonetheless, pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) have a unique advantage of being able to be differentiated in a tightly controlled, stepwise fashion. This allows researchers to create lineage-specific progenitors such as CPCs at their preferred level of differentiation (Menasché 2018).

Embryonic Stem Cells

There have been relatively few trials investigating the safety and efficacy of human ESCs in preclinical and human models. Of interest, two preclinical trials in non-human primates involved intramyocardial delivery of human ESC-derived
cardiomyocytes post-ischemia/reperfusion injury (Liu et al. 2018; Chong et al. 2014). In these studies, human ESCs derived cardiomyocytes were administered 2- and 4-weeks post-MI into immunocompromised Macaque monkeys. These studies produced some positive results: as hearts exhibited significant remuscularization within the infarcted area, ESC-grafts demonstrated successful reperfusion by the host vasculature, and engrafted cells demonstrated electromechanical coupling to host myocytes. There was also no sign of immune rejection or teratoma formation. However, there was no significant improvement in LVEF and non-fatal ventricular arrhythmias were seen in all monkeys (Liu et al. 2018; Chong et al. 2014) These findings were reproduced in a similar preclinical experiment administering human ESC derived cardiomyocytes on a clinical scale and opened the door for phase 1 clinical trials in humans.

The first human trial using human ESC derived CPCs to treat HF was completed and illustrated some promising preliminary results (Menasché et al. 2018). This trial incorporated 6 patients with left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <35%) and a history of myocardial infarction. A fibrin patch embedded with human ESC derived CPCs was implanted epicardially during a coronary artery bypass procedure. At the endpoint of 1 year, there were no signs of teratoma formation or arrhythmias present in any of the patients. Interestingly, the four patients who were assessed at the 1-year follow up had functional and symptomatic improvements. Although statistically insignificant, they showed a modest increase in LVEF, a decrease in left ventricular volume, and a statistically significant improvement in heart wall motion within the cell treated segments. Patients also showed symptomatic improvement quantified by a decrease in the New York Heart Association Class and an increased 6-min walk test. Although these results regarding efficacy do appear quite exciting, they should be interpreted with caution as it was an extremely small sample size and there are various confounding variables involved, including the concomitant coronary artery bypass grafting. However, the principal discovery of this trial was successful in showing that human ESC derived CPCs can be produced on a clinical scale and show no major signs of adverse effects after implantation. This trial does display the potential for human ESCs to be used in the treatment of HF, and further clinical trials are warranted to investigate the full extent of their clinical usefulness.

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Since the major discovery of Takahashi and Yamanaka in 2006, there has been great interest in the therapeutic potential of iPSCs. The first human clinical trial involving iPSCs occurred in 2014 and was aimed at treating age-related macular degeneration (Mandai et al. 2017). Although the trial didn't produce positive results in terms of clinical improvement, it demonstrated the feasibility of human iPSCs being produced on a clinical scale and administered to humans without major safety concerns. From there, iPSCs began being investigated for various diseases, including Parkinson's disease, immunotherapy for cancer, and now

heart disease (Bragança et al., 2019). Several pre-clinical studies have validated that iPSCs could play an important role in cardiac repair. Ye et al. (2014) demonstrated that intramyocardial administration of a fibrin patch embedded with human iPSC derived cardiomyocytes among other cells and growth factors produced a significant improvement in left ventricular function and decreased infarct size in a post-MI porcine model. In a recent study, extracellular vesicles secreted by murine iPSCs were shown to cause a significant improvement in left ventricular function and a decrease in infarct mass in a post-MI mouse model (Adamiak et al. 2018).

There are currently two clinical trials that have been approved for utilizing iPSCs in the treatment of chronic cardiomyopathy in humans. The world's first clinical trial was approved in Japan in 2018 and aims to administer a patch of human reprogrammed iPSC cardiomyocytes into the damaged myocardium (Cyranoski 2018). Details about the trial are scarce, but three initial patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy have been treated and the clinical trial aims to involve 10 patients over 3 years. Follow up will occur at 1-year post-implantation and the primary endpoints investigated will be safety and efficacy. The second clinical trial (HEAL-CHF) is an open-label taking place in China. Five patients with HF will be treated with intramyocardial delivery of allogeneic human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes and assessed for safety and efficacy. There are currently no published results from either trial, although these should be expected within the next year.

One of the major barriers that arose during preclinical trials is that cardiomyocytes derived from PSCs have an immature phenotype compared to human adult cardiomyocytes. The ideal transplant would involve cardiomyocytes integrating into the host myocardium, secreting factors to re-vascularize necrotic tissue, electromechanically coupling with the resident cardiomyocytes, and beating in synchrony (Gerbin and Murry 2015). Unfortunately, human PSC derived cardiomyocytes are functionally immature in terms of their sarcomere organization, calcium handling properties, and metabolism compared to adult cardiomyocytes (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). This limits their ability to efficiently integrate with host cardiomyocytes and is believed to be the reason that ventricular arrhythmias can arise (Vagnozzi et al. 2018). The problem may not be with the potency of the cells themselves, but rather the differentiation techniques that are currently used to create the cardiomyocytes. Strategies that enhance the differentiation of PSC-derived cardiomyocytes include the use of bioengineered scaffolds, chemical factors, mechanical loading, and electrical stimulation (Ibid.). Since then, we have seen the emergence of the very first human clinical trials in both ESCs and iPSCs in the treatment of HF and more are likely to come (Menasché et al. 2018; Cyranoski 2018). Although data is still quite limited, initial results regarding safety are quite promising, suggesting that the challenges of cell integration surrounding the immature cardiomyocyte phenotype may not be as severe in humans. Future studies should shift toward confirming safety in larger cohorts and optimizing the efficacy of PSCs. A summary of some of the landmark clinical trial has been included in Table 1.

Clinical trial	Cell type	Study design	Efficacy	Safety	Conclusions
1. SCIPIO (2011)	Kit+ cardiac	Phase I randomized open label 23 patients total Intracoronary injection	Decrease in infarct size and increase in LVEF	Satisfactory safety profile	Improvements in ventricular function "Expression of concern" from <i>The Lancet</i> , 2014
2. CONCERT- HF (2015-present)	Kit+ cardiac and bone marrow-derived MSCs	Phase II randomized, placebo-controlled study 144 patients total Transendocardial injection	Awaiting results	Awaiting results	Awaiting results
3. TAC-HFT-II (estimated start date March 1, 2025)	Kit+ cardiac and bone- marrow derived MSCs	Phase I and II randomized, placebo-controlled trial 55 patients total	Awaiting results (2032 estimated completion date)	Awaiting results	Awaiting results
1. ALLSTAR (2017)	Cardiosphere- derived	Phase II randomized double-blind placebo- controlled 134 patients total Intracoronary injection	Study was stopped prematurely	Study was stopped prematurely	Study was stopped prematurely
2. CADUCEUS (2014)	Autologous cardiosphere- derived	Phase I randomized open label 25 patients total Intracoronary injection	Reduction in infarct size and improvements in contractility	Satisfactory safety profile	Structural improvements but no improvements in LVEF
1. FOCUS CCTRN (2012)	Autologous bone marrow- derived mononuclear	Phase II randomized double-blind placebo- controlled trial 92 patients total Transendocardial injection	No significant improvements in LVEF noted	No ini-hospital events besides one aortic dissection No other safety concerns noted	Transendocardial injection of bone marrow cells versus placebo did not improve LV end systolic volume, maximal oxygen consumption, or perfusion defects

 Table 1
 Summary of landmark clinical trials

(continued)

Conclusions	on Ejection fraction and left an ventricular chamber volume did not change.	Larger studies are warranted to provide definitive evidence about safety and assess efficacy	Intracoronary injection of autologous bone marrow	cells decrease long-term mortality and improve	ventricular function	le Patients treated with both	allogeneic and autologous MSCs had functional and	structural improvements	over time	le Autologous MSCs	improved myocardial	function and myocardial	mass in heart failure	
Safety	Transendocardial injecti was not associated with increased risk of side	effects	No side effects were documented			Satisfactory safety profil				Satisfactory safety profil				
Efficacy	Improvements in the MLHF score, 6-min walk distance, infarct size, and	regional function with MSCs only	Improvements in NYHA functional class, decreased	LV preload, end-systolic volume, wall stress,	arrhythmias, and smaller area of infarction	Both allogeneic and	autologous MSCs reduced infarct size adverse	cardiac remodeling and LV	function	Improvements in LVEF,	stroke volume, and	myocardial mass		
Study design	Phase I and II randomized blinded placebo- controlled trial	65 patients total Transendocardial injection of MSCs and placebo, and BMCs with placebo	Prospective study 191 patients total	Intracoronary injection		Phase I/II randomized	comparison 30 natients total	T.E. injection		Phase I/II randomized	double-blind placebo-	controlled trial	60 patients total	•
Cell type	Autologous bone marrow- derived	mononuclear and MSCs	Autologous bone marrow-	derived mononuclear		Mesenchymal				Mesenchymal				
Clinical trial	2. TAC-HFT-I (2009–2013)		3. STAR-heart (2003–2005)			1. POSEIDON	(2010-2011)			2. MSC-HF	(2015)			

Table 1 (continued)

Neutral outcome with no significant difference between all-cause mortality, rehospitalization for MI, heart failure, and stroke at 12 months between groups	Study is expected to be completed on May 29, 2020	Unsafe and ineffective source of stem cells	Mere investigations are warranted to determine improvements in functional capacity	Demonstrates feasibility of clinical grade human ESCs Demonstrated positive safety profile Moderate improvements in cardiac function and symptomatic improvement	(continued)
Satisfactory safety profile	Awaiting results	Risk of arrhythmias	Increased risk of ventricular tachycardia	No signs of teratoma formation or arrhythmias at 1 year – 1 patient died postoperatively from unrelated comorbidities	
Significant benefits with patients with severely dilated ventricles	Awaiting results	No significant improvements in LVEF noted	No improvements in LV function Moderate improvements in 6-min walk distance	Decrease in New York Heart Association functional class Modest decrease in LV volumes and an increase in LVEF Improved systolic wall segment motion	
Phase III prospective, randomized double blind placebo-controlled trial 271 patients total I.M. injection	Phase III randomized double-blind placebo- controlled trial 566 patients total T.E. injection	Randomized, placebo- controlled double-blind study in 120 patients Conducted in 21 hospitals in France, Italy, Germany, Belgium, UK, I.M. injection	Randomized placebo- controlled trial 23 patients total I.M. injection	Open label interventional trial in 6 patients Epicardial delivery of human ESC derived cardiomyocytes embedded in a fibrin patch Primary endpoint at 1 year	
Cardiopoietic	Allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells	Skeletal myoblasts	Skeletal myoblasts	Embryonic	
3. CHART-1 (2017)	4. DREAM- HF (2014)	1. MAGIC (2008)	2. MARVEL (2011)	1. ESCORT (2018)	

	Conclusions	s Awaiting results	s Awaiting results
	Safety	Awaiting results	Awaiting results
	Efficacy	Awaiting results (estimated December 2020 completion)	Awaiting results (2021 completed date)
	Study design	Open label interventional trial in 5 patients Direct epicardial injection of allogeneic iPSC derived cardiomyocytes	Scarce details 7–10 patients total Administration of human iPSC derived cardiomyocytes
ed)	Cell type	Induced pluripotent	Induced pluripotent
Table 1 (continu	Clinical trial	1. HEAL-CHF (ongoing)	 Induced pluripotent trial Japan (initiated May 2018)

_	
(pan	
contin	
<u> </u>	
ē	
q	

Insights into Ccell-Based Therapy Approaches

What Is the Proposed Mechanism of Action?

In general, regulatory bodies such as the FDA and Health Canada require a clear and concise mechanism of action for most drugs and molecular therapies to be approved (Overington et al. 2006). However, the mechanism of action for stem cell therapy in the treatment of cardiovascular disease appears quite complex. It has still not yet been fully elucidated, creating a barrier for clinical trials. Initially, it was believed that transplanted stem cells differentiated into functional cardiomyocytes and replaced the damaged tissue within the myocardium. This was supported by evidence showing that transplanted BMDSCs engrafted into damaged myocardium of mice produced a substantial amount of proliferating myocytes and vasculature within the infarcted tissue 9 days post-injection (Orlic et al. 2001). There is also evidence suggesting the fusion of the transplanted stem cells with the resident cardiomyocytes (Nygren et al. 2004). However, in 2004 a landmark study showed that retention of transplanted hematopoietic stem cells into the recipients' hearts was extremely low, and there was a lack of significant differentiation into cardiomyocytes (Murry et al. 2004). This provided the first clue that direct cardiomyocyte replacement may not be the primary mechanism of repair. Since then, a study revealed that the administration of cultured medium from adult MSCs alone produced the same beneficial effects as MSCs in vitro and in vivo (Gnecchi et al. 2005). Although there has been convincing evidence that engraftment of transplanted stem cells does improve cardiac function, the small number of cells retained couldn't have solely produced the clinical benefits seen (Hatzistergos et al. 2010). The leading hypothesis then transitioned toward transplanted stem cells providing cellular support via the secretion of paracrine factors. Although the mechanism of action is likely multidimensional, it is now widely accepted that the vast majority of physiologic effects come from paracrine signaling (Bruyneel et al. 2016). However, the mechanism likely also varies with each cell type and the route of administration.

Paracrine Signaling

In the context of cardiac regeneration, paracrine signaling involves the release of various effector substances that directly cause cardioprotective effects or active endogenous regeneration mechanisms within the heart. These include various chemokines, cytokines, growth factors, and extracellular vesicles called exosomes that contain proteins and RNA (Bruyneel et al. 2016). Stem cells are believed to release these substances and alter the existing environment within the region they are transplanted in (Tang et al. 2018). Although the paracrine factors vary between stem cell types, it is believed that these factors activate endogenous repair mechanisms including neovascularization, inhibiting apoptosis, mitigating inflammation, and many others (Oikonomopoulos et al. 2018). For example, adult stem cells, including MSCs or BMDSCs, have been shown to secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (Gnecchi et al. 2008). IGF-1 is

believed to act as a cardio-protective factor to inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis via activation of the Akt pathway (Nagaya et al. 2005). VEGF, among other growth factors, is believed to be the key to stimulating the formation of new blood vessels (Guo et al. 2017). A comprehensive list of all the secreted paracrine factors and their mechanisms has yet to be determined, making it difficult to identify which combination of factors is most effective at promoting cellular regeneration. Regardless, transplanted stem cells are believed to release a large number of paracrine factors, which activate a network of pro-survival cascades, leading to an overall cardioprotective effect (Bruyneel et al. 2016).

Direct Regeneration

Although the paracrine signaling theory predominates most of the literature in the CSC field, recent advancements in pluripotent stem cell medicine have somewhat reignited the idea that direct engraftment may contribute to heart regeneration (Liu et al. 2018; Chong et al. 2014; Ye et al. 2014; Adamiak et al. 2018). Both ESCs and iPSCs have previously been shown to be successfully differentiated into cardiomyocytes (Kehat et al. 2001; Batalov and Feinberg 2015). However, only recently has there been evidence that PSC derived cardiomyocytes can successfully integrate into the host heart, form mature cardiac grafts and electromechanically couple with the host myocytes (Liu et al. 2018). Although this was in a non-human primate model, it still alludes to the fact that long term cellular integration of human PSC derived cells into a host heart is plausible. As transplantation and differentiation techniques improve, we may see an increase in the long-term cellular engraftment rates into the host heart and therefore, an increase in the overall efficacy of stem cell transplantation that is considered multifactorial as is depicted in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Proposed mechanism of action for stem cells in the treatment of heart failure. This diagram shows various adult stem cell and pluripotent cell types and their contribution to cardiac regeneration

Optimizing Cardiac Stem Cell Therapy

In treating HF, successful therapy will depend on multiple factors: the type of stem cells, the route of administration, the timing of the therapy, and the characteristics of the patient.

What Is the Optimal Cell Type?

So far, multiple cell types have been proposed as the next generation of treatment for HF. These include various classes of adult CSCs, MSCs, non-selective bone marrowderived stem cells, skeletal myoblasts, iPSCs, and ESCs. Unfortunately, determining the optimal cell type for the treatment of HF is not a straightforward endeavor. Many practical factors regarding the delivery of cells need to be considered before definitively crowning a superior cell type (Faiella and Atoui 2016). In addition to determining clinical efficacy, careful consideration of ethical concerns, simplicity of treatment, and patient preferences will also influence which cell type will predominate future treatment options (Raval et al. 2008). Determining the optimal cell type requires a comprehensive understanding of the mechanism of action of cell-based therapies. Currently, the proposed mechanism of myocardial repair involves either direct replacement of functional, contractile cardiomyocytes, or paracrine signaling to activate endogenous repair mechanisms within the heart (Nakamura and Murry 2019), although these events are not mutually exclusive. Thus, cellular therapies aim to achieve either one or both of goals, depending on the type of cell.

Skeletal myoblasts were one of the very first cells to be tested in the treatment of HF (Garbern and Lee 2013). There are many features that make skeletal myoblasts a viable option for cardiac repair such as their resistance to ischemia, high proliferative potential, and myogenic capabilities (Durrani et al. 2010). However, a significant challenge surrounds skeletal myoblasts, as they appear to remain electromechanically independent from the host myocardium (Ferreira-Cornwell et al. 2002). This was exhibited in the landmark MAGIC trial, where patients receiving skeletal myoblasts had a higher rate of arrhythmic events than those receiving the placebo. In addition, the skeletal myoblast administration did not improve heart function (Menasché et al. 2008). Since then, the interest in using skeletal myoblasts in cardiac cellular therapeutics has diminished, as more attractive cell candidates have emerged (Rikhtegar et al. 2019).

BMDSCs were also among the first cell types to be tested, with BMMNCs and MSCs being the most heavily investigated. Initially, it was shown that the infusion of BMDSCs could regenerate the myocardium (Beltrami et al. 2001). However, as time progressed, the primary hypothesis shifted toward paracrine signaling, as there is little evidence of long-term engraftment in the heart (Turner et al. 2020). After a decade of research, a trial sequential analysis reported mixed results. It demonstrated that the administration of BMMNCs caused a reduction in all-cause mortality and hospitalization from HF. The analysis also showed cell therapy did not improve LVEF by a value of more than 4% (Fisher et al. 2016b). In contrast, there have been mainly positive results published about MSCs. Three separate studies have demonstrated a robust safety profile surrounding MSCs and may have a clinical impact on LVEF, quality of life and cardiac remodeling (Hare et al. 2012; Rikhtegar et al. 2019; Mathiasen et al. 2020). Interestingly, the TAC-HFT trial compared BMMNCs versus

MSCs in a head-to-head randomized phase 2 trial. They demonstrated that bone marrow-derived MSCs produced significant improvements in quality of life, 6-minute walk test, and infarct size, while BMMNCs did not (Heldman et al. 2014). These findings suggest that MSCs may have superior capabilities in producing anti-fibrotic effects than BMMNCs (Banerjee et al. 2018). However, larger comparative studies are needed before we make definitive statements on efficacy.

C-kit+ CSCs and cardiosphere derived cells have been the two most heavily studied CSCs to date. Like MSCs, CPCs have minimal long-term engraftment, suggesting that their primary mechanism of action is through paracrine signaling (Tang et al. 2016). Landmark studies such as SCIPIO and CADUCEUS have demonstrated a positive safety profile for both C-Kit+ and CDCs. They have also shown varying degrees of cardiac recovery, with one study demonstrating structural improvements, one study exhibiting improvements in ventricular function, and both showing a decrease in infarct size (Chugh et al. 2012). However, it is difficult to conclude which cell type is superior to the other because there has yet to be a comparative trial completed. Despite the lack of a comparative trial, the initial clinical results surrounding CPCs are promising, and we remain optimistic that ongoing studies such as the CONCERT trial will produce positive results.

ESCs and iPSCs hold the highest level of potency, and therefore their primary advantage is the ability to effectively differentiate into functional cardiomyocytes or cardiovascular progenitors. In comparison to other cell types, PSCs also appear to hold a distinct advantage: the ability to integrate and electromechanically couple to the host myocardium (Liu et al. 2018). Theoretically, this means that PSCs can generate beneficial effects via both paracrine signaling and direct cardiac replacement. Perhaps this could be the underlying reason that ESCs see early success in preliminary clinical trials (Menasché et al. 2018). Nevertheless, there are still some safety concerns that arise when discussing PSCs, including ventricular arrhythmias, teratoma formation, and immune rejection (Gerbin and Murry 2015). We will need to see higher-powered clinical trials demonstrating a positive safety before we can make any definitive statements on the potential of pluripotent stem cells. Still, we believe that human ESCs and iPSCs are truly one of the top candidates to represent the next generation of cellular therapeutics.

Alternatively, there may not be one optimal cell type but rather an optimal combination of stem cells. This strategy could take advantage of the diverging mechanisms of action between cell types and synergistically (Turner et al. 2020). This theory has been validated in numerous preclinical studies, where the combination of CSCs and MSCs provided a significant improvement in cardiac function compared to either cell type alone (Natsumeda et al. 2017; Karantalis et al. 2015). Researchers applied this knowledge to create the first clinical trial comparing different types of stem cells in the treatment of chronic cardiomyopathy (Bolli et al. 2018). The CONCERT study is an ongoing phase 2 clinical trial assessing the head-to-head comparison of c-Kit+ CSCs alone, MSCs alone, and the combination of the two. Additionally, there was a recently published study demonstrating that concomitant administration of human iPSC derived cardiomyocytes and human MSCs loaded on a patch produced a synergistic effect on cardiac repair (Park et al. 2019).

Ultimately, we need randomized controlled trials comparing the efficacy of stem cell types before we can make any definitive recommendations on what the superior cell type is. There is currently a lack of robust evidence assessing the superiority of one stem cell type versus another via human clinical trials. To date, the only published study directly comparing cell types in the treatment of HF has been the TAC-HFT trial. We will likely see an increase in comparative studies such as the CONCERT trial in the upcoming years as more evidence surrounding the optimal administration of stem cells is produced.

What Is the Optimal Method of Delivery?

One of the most important factors in successful cell therapy is the route of administration to the host (Turner et al. 2020). Though the idea may seem simple, there is a need for a method of delivery that will deliver the cells that we want into the correct area, which the cells delivered will engraft effectively while being able to function with the heart's natural rhythm without interference. Currently, there is no consensus on the most effective route, yet most studies suggest that the infusion, injection, or tissue-based implantation of cells can present therapeutic benefits to injured myocardium (Eschenhagen et al. 2017). Multiple routes have been studied preclinically: intravenous, intracoronary, intramyocardial, percutaneous transendocardial, transendocardial, retrograde intracoronary sinus, open surgical epicardial injection and scaffolding (Nakamura and Murry 2019; Bruyneel et al. 2016; Sudulaguntla et al. 2017) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Schematic depicting the various routes of delivery of stem cells. On the left, we see the intracoronary method, epicardial injection and cells embedded in a scaffold made of fibrin. On the right, we see the intravenous method, the retrograde venous route via the coronary sinus, the transendocardial method via the aorta, the percutaneous transendocardial method, and intramyocardial injection

The intravenous approach is attractive, as it is a straightforward procedure. It is currently the least invasive and has been demonstrated to have a positive safety profile (Menasché 2018). Intravenous injection has been found to attract cells to the site of injury, although there are concerns of poor cell implantation and retention (Turner et al. 2020). Intracoronary infusion of stem cells is the most common route of administration observed in studies and causes minimal inflammation. It is associated with some paracrine effects but, unfortunately, minimal cell retention and rapid washout in humans, resulting in inefficient re-muscularization (Nakamura and Murry 2019). The STAR-heart Study showed several benefits on cardiac function and minimal adverse effects with intracoronary infusion (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Large doses of stem cells cannot be delivered by intracoronary infusion as these can obstruct coronary arteries and cause ischemia, leading to myocardial cell death (Nakamura and Murry 2019). Although there are potential risks involved, intracoronary administration of stem cells is one of the safer techniques of delivery (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Since both intracoronary and IV administration do not confer high rates of long-term engraftment, stem cells that produce a strong paracrine effect should be selected. This means that adult stem cells such as MSCs and CSCs would be better candidates than PSCs in conjunction with this route of administration.

Intramyocardial injection of stem cells has a superior engraftment capability but has a greater arrhythmic potential, is more invasive, and increases the risk of perforating the myocardium (Nakamura and Murry 2019). The transendocardial route is minimally invasive, and the POSEIDON trial demonstrated a positive safety profile (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Though this method carries a small risk of perforation and arrhythmias, cell retention is more successful versus other methods (Turner et al. 2020). It also permits the visualization of the target area, allowing greater accuracy injecting the target site. Currently, there are a limited number of studies and insufficient data on the safety profile of retrograde intracoronary sinus injections (Gathier et al. 2018). A small randomized control study with 20 patients with ischemic HF had autologous stem cells administered to the sub-epicardial regions of the heart plus CABG (Tehzeeb et al. 2019). Results showed a significant increase in LVEF and no adverse effects were observed.

Over the last few years, bioengineering has crept into the field of regenerative medicine. This involves culturing and implanting stem cells in 3D environments to improve both cell differentiation and survivability. One of the current goals is to create a scaffold that mimics the microenvironment of the heart and can be grafted with your cell type of choice into the heart (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). The first application of cardiac patches was in a clinical trial instrumenting a fibrin scaffold embedded with human ESC-derived CPCs (Faiella and Atoui 2016). This method has been validated in preclinical models and appears to yield higher rates of cell retention (Park et al. 2019). In addition to fibrin, other biomaterials are used in scaffolding. Notably, natural materials like collagen, hyaluronic acid, and alginate, as well as a large variety of synthetic polymers have shown great variability in advantages and disadvantages (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). Although the optimal combination of stem cell types and scaffolding materials has yet to be

confirmed, PSCs seem to be one of the better candidates for engineering functional heart tissue (Oikonomopoulos et al. 2018). This is because PSCs have a greater potential to integrate into the host myocardium than adult stem cells (Liu et al. 2018). Two main types of tissue engineering are currently being investigated: hydrogel-based and cell sheet engineering (Oikonomopoulos et al. 2018). Very few studies have directly compared therapeutic differences between routes of administration of stem cells. Clinical studies have yet to identify the optimal route of administration, and the most efficacious method is likely cell-type dependent (Turner et al. 2020).

What Is the Appropriate Timing of Administration?

This variable is also of great importance, as administering cells in the acute (less than 30 days), subacute (between 30 days and 1 year) or chronic phase (more than 1 year) post-MI is expected to work by different mechanisms and requires different cell properties (Nakamura and Murry 2019). Administration of cells in the acute phase aims to control inflammation and cardiomyocyte apoptosis while increasing vascularization. Conversely, in the subacute or chronic phase, therapy aims to augment repair of the myocardium and replace lost tissues. Multiple studies suggest that the administration of stem cells in 2–8 days post-MI is the most favorable window to modulate injury response and potentiate repair mechanisms. The exact dosing has yet to be confirmed and remains under investigation (Ibid.).

Patient Characteristics and Sourcing

Currently, patient characteristics that may improve or impede the success of cell therapy have not yet been studied systematically. Poor patient parameters such as diabetes, smoking, obesity, and older age can impair both autologous cell potency and the host's receptivity to stem cell treatments (Nakamura and Murry 2019). Studies are also comparing cells from autologous and allogeneic sources. Autologous cells have the benefit of immunocompatibility to the host, but their potency may be negatively impacted by poor patient parameters. In addition, autologous therapy is currently impractical for replacing billions of cells and for diseases that require treatment within a few weeks, such as a MI. Allogeneic cell therapy allows for increased availability, scalability, and quality-controlled product development (Ibid.). To receive allogeneic cardiomyocyte transplantation, patients are required to be chronically immunosuppressed, to which the degree is unknown at the moment (Pidala et al. 2011).

What Are Some Challenges that Remain?

Stem cells show exciting potential for the future, but several complexities must be addressed before widespread applications in the treatment of HF becomes feasible. We've seen varying levels of success for different cell types and the results have yet to be uniform and consistent in studies. Of the many challenges that remain, tissue integration is a key component to master, in order to produce myocardial tissue that acts as a functional syncytium. The ideal stem cell will have to effectively engraft into the heart to repair the damaged area, create new functional cardiac tissue and contract with the heart's natural rhythm in a coordinated fashion. So far, it seems like iPSCs and ESCs-derived CPCs have the greatest potential to integrate mechanically and electrically into the myocardium (Liu et al. 2018). A direct comparison of the advantages and disadvantages of stem cells has been summarized in Table 2.

Cell type	Advantages	Disadvantages
Cardiac stem cells	Autologous transplantation \rightarrow decreased risk of immune rejection Low risk of carcinogenicity Moderate level of potency \rightarrow can differentiate into various cardiac specific cell types	Difficult to isolate from myocardium → requires invasive biopsy Lack of consistency provided from clinical trials
Nonselective bone marrow- derived stem cells	Improves structural recovery of the heart and decreases infarct size Positive safety profile in multiple human clinical trials Autologous or allogeneic transplantation	Low quality evidence on efficacy in humans Minimal functional improvements on cardiac function Requires invasive biopsy
Mesenchymal stem cells	Positive safety profile demonstrated in multiple human clinical trials Autologous transplantation \rightarrow lower risk of immune rejection Positive safety profile for allogeneic transplantation Exhibit strong paracrine effects	Difficult to isolate from bone marrow, although umbilical MSCs from Wharton's Jelly appear more accessible Quality of autologous cells may be affected by aging
Embryonic stem cells	High level of potency and controlled differentiation Well established cell lines Can produce cardiomyocyte progenitors on a clinical scale Minimal genetic manipulation of cells Indefinite self-renewal of cells	Has to be allogeneic \rightarrow increased risk of immune rejection Ethical concerns about destruction of potential human life Risk of teratoma formation Risk of ventricular arrhythmias \rightarrow in preclinical annual models Currently only 1 human clinical trial completed
Induced pluripotent stem cells	High level of potency and controlled differentiation Can be autologous transplantation → increased risk of immune rejection Less ethical concerns as they are derived from somatic cells Easily accessible source of cells	Increased risk of teratoma formation compared to ES cells due to use of viral vectors Variability in completeness of reprogramming No published human clinical trials completed
Skeletal myoblasts	Autologous transplantation → decreased risk of immune rejection Low ethical concerns Low risk of carcinogenicity	Low differentiation potential Unsuccessful in differentiating into functional cardiomyocytes after grafting Risk of ventricular arrhythmias \rightarrow in human clinical trials Risk of embolism \rightarrow shown in human clinical trials

 Table 2
 Advantages and disadvantages of various stem cell types

PSCs also carry the potential for transplanted cells to form teratomas (Thomson et al. 1998; Takahashi et al. 2007). Thus, it is important to precisely differentiate cells pre-transplant to avoid the development of malignancies. However, the directed differentiation of PSCs is a challenge. Currently, techniques to completely differentiate PSCs into a fully functional, mature, cardiomyocyte phenotype have proven difficult. PSC derived cardiomyocytes appear functionally immature in terms of their sarcomere organization, calcium handling properties, and metabolism compared to adult cardiomyocytes (Mazzola and Di Pasquale 2020). This is believed to be the reason that ventricular arrhythmias were arising during preclinical trials (Vagnozzi et al. 2018).

Other challenges include the matching between patient and donor. A close match between parties is essential, as it reduces the risk of cell rejection and the need for lifelong immunosuppressants. This challenge may be mitigated by developing patient-specific iPS cell lines that could potentially avoid rejection and the need for immunosuppression (International Society for Stem Cell Research n.d.). Autologous cells are also an option, but the capacity of producing clinical-grade autologous cells during an acute time frame is currently not realistic. Additionally, potency may be impacted by poor patient parameters as previously explained. Lastly, we need an abundant source of stem cells available with hopes of treating many patients across the world. We need to identify, isolate, and grow the correct type of stem cell to have the therapy available and avoid shortages. ESCs and iPSCs are great candidates as they can be grown indefinitely in the laboratory, but this is a complex process that is tightly regulated (International Society for Stem Cell Research n.d.).

What Are Some Ethical Considerations in Using Stem Cells?

Stem cell research offers a novel solution for understanding and treating a variety of human diseases, including HF (National Research Council 2002). However, this research generates ethical, religious, and political controversies.

The most obvious controversy surrounding stem cells revolves around the morality of ESCs. Human ESCs are derived from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst from day 5–7 before implantation. This process involves the destruction of the human embryo and, thus, the potential for human life. This begs the question: When does human life begin? Some believe that human life begins as soon as fertilization occurs, and a zygote is formed. This view is often known as "pro-life" and believes human embryos have the same rights and interests of all humans. From this "prolife" perspective, the destruction of the blastocyst pre-implantation is equal to murder (Lo and Parham 2009). Two solutions have been implemented by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, which partially circumvent the morality issues associated with ESCs (Government of Canada and Interagency Advisory Panel on Research Ethics 2018). The first guideline strictly inhibits the creation of embryos for the sole purpose of research. The second guideline stipulates that the embryo must have been created for reproductive purposes. On the other hand, many others believe the embryo has a different moral status and is not considered a "person" until later on in development past fertilization. The Canadian Institutes of Health Research developed guidelines that attempt to respect the diversity of opinion

on the subject. Current guidelines state that "research involving embryos will take place only during the first 14 days after their formation by a combination of the gametes, excluding any time during which embryonic development has been suspended" (Ibid., p. 174). The final question comes down to: Is it morally acceptable to destroy the potential for human life to research new therapeutics to treat diseases? Since individuals will all have different moral beliefs on life, a definitive policy on the moral status of the embryo will likely never be globally accepted. Hence, iPSCs are increasing in popularity for research as there are fewer ethical considerations involved.

A fundamental principle in medicine is the process of containing informed and voluntary consent from patients before any medical procedure. This includes the ability to withdraw consent for a medical procedure at any time. This principle is implemented in general research by Canada's Tri-council policy, where research participants can withdraw consent at any time (Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, and Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada 2014). However, in research settings involving stem cell bio-specimens, the situation becomes more complex. Ethical norms would suggest that a donor is entitled to have control over any bodily tissue that has been removed from them, including gametes or embryologic tissue. This would also include any biological health information about the donor. After all, stem cells carry the complete genome of the donor and the privacy of the donor should be protected. However, from a researchers' or clinicians' perspective, this could be severely problematic. Well established human ESC lines are often distributed to hundreds of laboratories across the world. If the donor wished to withdraw consent from the use of their biologic tissue after it had been distributed globally, it would cause significant issues and could be detrimental to the field of stem cell research (Caulfield et al. 2007). This is a realistic possibility, as the moral beliefs of donors may change with time. If the withdrawal of consent occurs within the context of a therapeutic biobank used for analogous transplantation, it would have negative repercussions for patients who are stem cell recipients. This underlines the importance of creating a Canadian policy that both respects the donors' wishes and prevents an adverse impact on stem cell research and therapeutics. Canadian consent law has yet to specifically address issues about genetic and tissue information. However, in the absence of extenuating circumstances, regulations should lean toward individual human rights and not the goals of research (World Medical Association 2000).

False Claims

Stem cell therapeutics are advancing at an unprecedented rate, and significant discoveries have been made in the last decade. The idea of treating HF with stem cells may not seem completely out of reach in the future and if proven successful, it may save millions of lives. This scientific community has displayed much enthusiasm but, in some circumstances, overstepped their boundaries and generated falsified

or embellished results. This is true in the case of Dr. Piero Anversa, who claimed that stem cells did, in fact, produce viable and functional myocardium, despite scientific consensus stating otherwise. In total, 30 publications were retracted due to disproven hypotheses and irreproducibility in laboratories (Chien et al. 2019). Patients were provided false hope and were put at risk without reliable evidence for a period of 18 years, a truly unprecedented event. This had a major impact on cardiac cell therapeutics and was disheartening for those involved in such a field. To avoid cases like this one, the International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR) recognizes and confronts science hype by assuring researchers and the public that the science that is put forward is sound and treatments have proven to be safe and effective (Caulfield et al. 2016). These obligations represent a commitment to patients that stem cell research is to be undertaken ethically by following a set of standards and that treatments are provided based on proven science (Ibid.). In addition, the ISSCR provides valuable information to the public regarding facts on stem cells, treatment options, and what to ask when considering stem cell trials or therapies. Implementing a set of standards in stem cell research not only protects patients but also allows researchers to compare the outcomes of clinical trials and enables the reproducibility of such studies in clinical settings. Enthusiasm and optimism are natural components of research. However, sustained hype with lack-of supporting evidence cannot be viewed positively. For this reason, the ISSCR urges stem cell researchers to "promote accurate, balanced and responsive public representations of stem cell research" (International Society for Stem Cell Research 2016, p. 28) to ensure that risks, benefits, and uncertainties are not misrepresented. These guidelines will reduce misinformation, facilitate the provision of accurate, credible information to the public, and improve transparency in the field of stem cell therapeutics.

Conclusion

Myocardial infarction is one of the leading causes of death worldwide, and HF is an important consequence associated with the event, which can lead to catastrophic outcomes for patients. Currently, therapeutic strategies rely on treating comorbidities and improving the quality of life for patients, which is why the regenerative capabilities of stem cells have created so much promise for the field. There has recently been a drastic shift from bench to bedside studies as we have seen a large increase in human clinical trials within the last decade. However, clinical trials to date have generally produced only moderately positive or even neutral clinical outcomes in terms of efficacy. This does not imply, however, that the cells have no therapeutic value but rather, it may reflect our limited knowledge about the optimal cell type, cell dosing, method of delivery, or even the endogenous cardiac repair mechanisms. Unfortunately, the lack of significant results has generated skepticism among the scientific community, which is likely due to the tremendous expectations that have been placed on the stem cell field. However, all hope is not lost. The therapeutic use of stem cells to treat HF is still a relatively novel concept and there is a plethora of clinical trials on the horizon, which will likely provide some clarity to the field. There are also several positive results to report from clinical trials as well. A positive safety profile has been demonstrated for MSCs, ESCs, CSCs, and BMDSCs as various preliminary clinical trials have shown the absence of significant adverse events. However, many important questions still remain. Should we be focusing on techniques that involve activating endogenous repair mechanisms within the heart? Or should we be focusing on strategies that improve the engraftment of implanted cells? What is the most effective type of cell? What is the most efficient dose and route of administration? It currently appears that the field is diverging into two: One involves using 3D bioengineered scaffolds to improve retention rates of transplanted stem cells. The other involves using no cells at all, but instead delivering exosomes suspended with proteins, DNA, microRNAs, and various other growth factors. These questions will need to get addressed before we see cellular therapeutics become a staple in the clinic. All things considered, we remain cautiously optimistic that stem cells still represent the next generation of treatment for heart failure.

References

- Abouzaki N, Abbate A (2016) Causes and prevention of ventricular remodeling after MI. American College of Cardiol. https://www.acc.org/latest-in-cardiology/articles/2016/07/21/07/28/causes-and-prevention-of-ventricular-remodeling-after-mi
- Adamiak M, Cheng G, Bobis-Wozowicz S, Zhao L, Kedracka-Krok S, Samanta A, Karnas E (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)–derived extracellular vesicles are safer and more effective for cardiac repair than iPSCs. Circ Res 122(2):296–309. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.311769
- Alpert CM, Smith MA, Hummel SL, Hummel EK (2017) Symptom burden in heart failure: assessment, impact on outcomes, and management. Heart Fail Rev 22(1):25–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10741-016-9581-4
- Anyanwu A, Treasure T (2003) Prognosis after heart transplantation: transplants alone cannot be the solution for end stage heart failure. BMJ 326:509–510. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.326. 7388.509
- Assmus B, Fischer-Rasokat U, Honold J, Seeger FH, Fichtlscherer S, Tonn T, Seifried E, TOPCARE-CHD Registry et al (2007) Transcoronary transplantation of functionally competent BMCs is associated with a decrease in natriuretic peptide serum levels and improved survival of patients with chronic postinfarction heart failure: results of the TOPCARE-CHD Registry. Circ Res 100(8):1234–1241. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000264508.47717.6b
- Banerjee MN, Bolli R, Hare JM (2018) Clinical studies of cell therapy in cardiovascular medicine: recent developments and future directions. Circ Res 123(2):266–287. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.118.311217
- Bartunek J, Atta B, Dariouch D, Marc V, Miodrag O, Jo D, ElNakadi B et al (2013) Cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart failure: the C-CURE (cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart FailURE) multicenter randomized trial with lineage-specified biologics. J Am Coll Cardiol 61(23):2329–2338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02.071
- Bartunek J, Terzic A, Davison BA, Filippatos GS, Radovanovic S, Beleslin B, Merkely B et al (2017) Cardiopoietic cell therapy for advanced Ischaemic heart failure: results at 39 weeks of the prospective, randomized, double blind, sham-controlled CHART-1 clinical trial. Eur Heart J 38(9):648–660. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw543
- Batalov I, Feinberg AW (2015) Differentiation of cardiomyocytes from human pluripotent stem cells using monolayer culture. Biomark Insights 10(1):71–76. https://doi.org/10.4137/BMI. S20050

- Beltrami AP, Urbanek K, Kajstura J, Yan S-M, Finato N, Bussani R, Nadal-Ginard B et al (2001) Evidence that human cardiac myocytes divide after myocardial infarction. New England J Med 344(23):1750–1757. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200106073442303
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J et al (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324(5923):98–102. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1164680
- Bolli R, Hare JM, March KL, Pepine CJ, Willerson JT, Perin EC, Yang PC, Cardiovascular Cell therapy Research Network (CCTRN) et al (2018) Rationale and design of the CONCERT-HF trial (combination of mesenchymal and c-kit+ cardiac stem cells as regenerative therapy for heart failure). Circ Res 122(12):1703–1715. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118. 312978
- Bragança J, Lopes JA, Mendes-Silva L, Santos JMA (2019) Induced pluripotent stem cells, a giant leap for mankind therapeutic applications. World J Stem Cells 11(7):421. https://doi.org/10. 4252/wjsc.v11.i7.421
- Braunwald E (2013) Heart failure. JACC Heart Failure 1(1):1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf. 2012.10.002
- Briffa T, Hickling S, Knuiman M, Hobbs M, Hung J, Sanfilippo FM, Jamrozik K, Thompson PL (2009) Long term survival after evidence based treatment of acute myocardial infarction and revascularisation: follow-up of population based Perth MONICA Cohort, 1984–2005. BMJ 338:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b36
- Bruyneel AAN, Sehgal A, Malandraki-Miller S, Carr C (2016) Stem cell therapy for the heart: blind alley or magic bullet? J Cardiovasc Transl Res 9(5):405–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-016-9708-y
- Burridge PW, Keller G, Gold JD, Wu JC (2012) Production of De Novo cardiomyocytes: human pluripotent stem cell differentiation and direct reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell 10(1):16–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.12.013
- Cahill TJ, Kharbanda R (2017) Heart failure after myocardial infarction in the era of primary percutaneous coronary intervention: mechanisms, incidence and identification of patients at risk. World J Cardiol 9(5):407–415. https://doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v9.i5.407
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, and Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (2014) Tri-council policy statement: ethical conduct for research involving humans. Interagency Secretariat on Research Ethics, Ottawa. http://www.providenceresearch.ca/sites/default/files/documents/ TCPS 2 2014.pdf
- Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) (2021) World Health Organization. Accessed June 30, 2021. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)
- Caulfield T, Ogbogu U, Isasi RM (2007) Informed consent in embryonic stem cell research: are we following basic principles? CMAJ 176(12):1722–1725. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.061675
- Caulfield T, Sipp D, Murry CE, Daley GQ, Kimmelman J (2016) Confronting stem cell hype. Science 352(6287):776–777. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf4620
- Chien KR, Frisén J, Fritsche-Danielson RM, Douglas A, Murry CE, Weissman IL (2019) Regenerating the field of cardiovascular cell therapy. Nature Biotech 37(3):232–237. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0042-1
- Chiu RC, Zibaitis A, Kao RL (1995) Cellular cardiomyoplasty: myocardial regeneration with satellite cell implantation. Ann Thorac Surg 60(1):12–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-4975(95)00374-6
- Chong JJH, Yang X, Don CW, Minami E, Liu Y-W, Weyers JJ, Mahoney WM et al (2014) Human embryonic-stem-cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate non-human primate hearts. Nature 510(7504):273–277. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13233
- Chugh AR, Beache GM, Loughran JH, Mewton N, Elmore JB, Kajstura J, Pappas P et al (2012) Administration of cardiac stem cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy (the SCIPIO trial): surgical aspects and interim analysis of myocardial function and viability by magnetic resonance. Circulation 126(Suppl_1):S54–S64. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 112.092627

- Cyranoski D (2018) Reprogrammed stem cells approved to mend human hearts for the first time. Nature 557(7706):619–619. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-05278-8
- Durrani S, Konoplyannikov M, Ashraf M, Haider HK (2010) Skeletal myoblasts for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5(6):919–932. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme.10.65
- Eldad T, Kenneth PD (2017) Cardiac Regeneration Strategies: Staying Young at Heart. Science 356(6342):1035–1039. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam5894
- Eschenhagen T, Bolli R, Braun T, Field LJ, Fleischmann BK, Frisén J, Giacca M et al (2017) Cardiomyocyte regeneration: a consensus statement. Circulation 136(7):680–686. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029343
- Faiella W, Atoui R (2016) Therapeutic use of stem cells for cardiovascular disease. Clin Transl Med 5(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40169-016-0116-3
- Ferreira-Cornwell MC, Luo Y, Narula N, Lenox JM, Lieberman M, Radice GL (2002) Remodeling the intercalated disc leads to cardiomyopathy in mice misexpressing cadherins in the heart. J Cell Sci 115:1623–1634
- Fisher SA, Doree C, Taggart DP, Mathur A, Martin-Rendon E (2016a) Cell therapy for heart disease: trial sequential analyses of two cochrane reviews. Clin Pharmacol Ther 100(1):88–101. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.344
- Fisher SA, Doree C, Mathur A, Taggart DP, Martin-Rendon E (2016b) Stem cell therapy for chronic ischaemic heart disease and congestive heart failure. Coch Data System Rev:12. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/14651858.CD007888.pub2
- Fleg JL (2016) Healthy lifestyle and risk of heart failure: an ounce of prevention well worth the effort. Circ Heart Fail 9(4):1–3. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003155
- Fraser JK, Schreiber RE, Zuk PA, Hedrick MH (2004) Adult stem cell therapy for the heart. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36(4):658–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2003.10.018
- Garbern JC, Lee RT (2013) Cardiac stem cell therapy and the promise of heart regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 12(6):689–698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.05.008
- Gathier WA, van Ginkel JD, van der Naald M, van Slochteren FJ, Doevendans PA, Chamuleau SAJ (2018) Retrograde coronary venous infusion as a delivery strategy in regenerative cardiac therapy: an overview of preclinical and clinical data. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 11(3):173–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-018-9785-1
- Gerbin KA, Murry CE (2015) The winding road to regenerating the human heart. Cardiovasc Pathol 24(3):133–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carpath.2015.02.004
- Gnecchi M, He H, Liang OD, Melo LG, Morello F, Mu H, Noiseux N et al (2005) Paracrine action accounts for marked protection of ischemic heart by Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cells. Nat Med 11(4):367–368. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0405-367
- Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ (2008) Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy. Circ Res 103(11):1204–1219. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.176826
- Government of Canada, Interagency Advisory Panel on Research Ethics (2019) TCPS 2 (2018) Chapter 12: human biological materials including materials related to human reproduction. Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, September 23, 2019. https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/tcps2-eptc2 2018 chapter12-chapitre12.html
- Guo D, Wang Q, Li C, Wang Y, Chen X (2017) VEGF stimulated the angiogenesis by promoting the mitochondrial functions. Oncotarget 8(442):77020–77027. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget. 20331
- Hackett CH, Fortier LA (2011) Embryonic stem cells and iPS cells: sources and characteristics. Veterinary Clin Equine Pract 27(2):233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cveq.2011.04.003
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede V, Darcy LZ, Juan P, Suncion VY et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. JAMA 308(22):2369–2379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.25321
- Hatzistergos KE, Quevedo H, Oskouei BN, Hu Q, Feigenbaum GS, Margitich IS, Mazhari R et al (2010) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells stimulate cardiac stem cell proliferation

and differentiation. Circ Res 107(7):913–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110. 222703

- Heldman AW, DiFede DL, Fishman JE, Zambrano JP, Trachtenberg BH, Karantalis V, Mushtaq M et al (2014) Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. JAMA 311(1):62–73. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.282909
- Hima BA, Srilatha B (2011) Potency of various types of stem cells and their transplantation. J Stem Cell Res Ther 1(115):1–6. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7633.1000115
- Hong-Mi C, Myung-Soo P, Jong-Chan Y (2019) Update on heart failure management and future directions. *The Korean Journal of Internal Medicine* 34(1):11–43. https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim. 2018.428
- Inamdar AA, Inamdar AC (2016) Heart failure: diagnosis, management and utilization. J Clin Med 5(7):1–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm5070062
- International Society for Stem Cell Research (n.d.) Stem cell facts. International Society for Stem Cell Research, Stokie, 4. https://www.closerlookatstemcells.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/stem-cell-facts.pdf
- International Society for Stem Cell Research (2016) Guidelines for stem cell research and clinical translation. International Society for Stem Cell Research. https://www.isscr.org/docs/default-source/all-isscr-guidelines/guidelines-2016/isscr-guidelines-for-stem-cell-research-and-clinical translationd67119731dff6ddbb37cff0000940c19.pdf?sfvrsn=4
- Karantalis V, Suncion-Loescher VY, Bagno L, Golpania S, Wolf A, Sanina C, Premer C et al (2015) Synergistic effects of combined cell therapy for chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 66(18):1990–1999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2015.08.879
- Kehat I, Kenyagin-Karsenti D, Snir M, Segev H, Amit M, Gepstein A, Livine E et al (2001) Human embryonic stem cells can differentiate into myocytes with structural and functional properties of cardiomyocytes. J Clin Invest 108(3):407–414. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI12131
- Kim K, Doi A, Wen B, Ng K, Zhao R, Cahan P, Kim J et al (2010) Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 467(7313):1-20. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09342
- Kostuk WJ (2001) Congestive heart failure: what can we offer our patients? CMAJ 165(8): 1053-1055. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.050705
- Laflamme M, Murry CE (2011) Heart regeneration. Nature 473(7347):326–335. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature10147
- Lalu MM, Mazzarello S, Zlepnig J, Dong YYR, Montroy J, McIntyre L, Devereaux PJ et al (2018) Safety and efficacy of adult stem cell therapy for acute myocardial infarction and ischemic heart failure (SAFECELL heart): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(12):857–866. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0120
- Liu Y-W, Chen B, Yang X, Fugate JA, Kalucki FA, Futakuchi-Tsuchida A, Couture L et al (2018) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes restore function in infarcted hearts of non-human primates. Nature Biotech 36(7):597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4162
- Lo B, Parham L (2009) Ethical issues in stem cell research. Endocr Rev 30(3):204–213. https://doi. org/10.1038/cr.2008.266
- Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Thomson LEJ, Berman D, Sc C et al (2012) Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 379(9819):895–904. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60195-0
- Mandai M, Watanabe A, Kurimoto Y, Hirami Y, Morinaga C, Daimon T, Fujihara M et al (2017) Autologous induced stem-cell-derived retinal cells for macular degeneration. New England J Med 376(11):1038–1046. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1608368
- Marchianò S, Murry CE (2019) Lost in the fire. Science 364(6436):123–124. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.aax1006
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sørensen M, Ekblond A et al (2020) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with

ischaemic heart failure: final 4-year follow-up of the MSC-HF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 22(5): 884–892. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.1700

- Mazzola M, Di Pasquale E (2020) Toward cardiac regeneration: combination of pluripotent stem cell-based therapies and bioengineering strategies. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8(455):1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00455
- Menasché P, Alfieri O, Janssens S, McKenna W, Reichenspurner H, Trinquart L, Vilquin J-T et al (2008) The myoblast autologous grafting in ischemic cardiomyopathy (MAGIC) trial: first randomized placebo-controlled study of myoblast transplantation. Circulation 117(9): 1189–1200. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.734103
- Menasché P, Vanneaux V, Hagège A, Bel A, Cholley B, Parouchev A, Cacciapuoti I et al (2018) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitors for severe ischemic left ventricular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 71(4):429–438. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jacc.2017.11.047
- Menasché P (2018) Cell therapy trials for heart regeneration—lessons learned and future directions. Nat Rev Cardiol 15(11):659–671. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-018-0013-0
- Murry CE, Reinecke H, Pabon LM (2006) Regeneration gaps: observations on stem cells and cardiac repair. J Am Coll Cardiol 47(9):1777–1785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2006. 02.002
- Murry CE, Soonpaa MH, Reinecke H, Nakajima H, Nakajima HO, Rubart M, Pasumarthi KBS et al (2004) Haematopoietic stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiac myocytes in myocardial infarcts. Nature 428:664–668. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02446
- Nagaya N, Kangawa K, Itoh T, Iwase T, Murakami S, Miyahara Y, Fujii T et al (2005) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in a rat model of dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 112(8):1128–1135. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104. 500447
- Nakamura K, Murry CE (2019) Function follows form a review of cardiac cell therapy. Circ J 83(12):2399–2412. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.CJ-19-0567
- National Research Council (2002) Stem cells and the future of regenerative medicine. National Academies Press, Washington, DC
- Natsumeda M, Florea V, Rieger AC, Tompkins BA, Banerjee MN, Golpanian S, Fritsch JL (2017) A combination of allogenetic stem cells promotes cardiac regeneration. J Am Coll Cardiol 70(20):2504–2515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.09.036
- Nygren JM, Jovinge SB, Martin S, Petter R, Wilhelm H, Jürgen T, Jalal F et al (2004) Bone marrow–derived hematopoietic cells generate cardiomyocytes at a low frequency through cell fusion, but not transdifferentiation. Nat Med 10(5):494–501. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1040
- Oikonomopoulos A, Kitani T, Wu JC (2018) Pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes as a platform for cell therapy applications: progress and hurdles for clinical translation. Mol Ther 26(7):1624–1634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.02.026
- Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakoniuk I, Anderson SM, Li B, Pickel J et al (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410(6829):701–705. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 35070587
- Overington JP, Al-Lazikani B, Hopkins AL (2006) How many drug targets are there? Nat Rev Drug Discov 5(12):993–996. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2199
- Park S-J, Kim RY, Park B-W, Lee S, Choi SW, Park J-H, Choi JK et al (2019) Dual stem cell therapy synergistically improves cardiac function and vascular regeneration following myocardial infarction. Nat Commun 10(3123):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11091-2
- Perin EC, Dohmann HFR, Borojevic R, Silva SA, Sousa ALS, Mesquita CT, Rossi MID (2003) Transendocardial, autologous bone marrow cell transplantation for severe. Chronic Ischemic Heart Fail Circ 107(18):2294–2302. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000070596.30552.8B
- Perin EC, Willerson JT, Pepine CJ, Henry TD, Ellis SG, Zhao DXM, Silva GV (2012) Effect of transendocardial delivery of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells on functional capacity, left ventricular function, and perfusion in chronic heart failure: the FOCUS-CCTRN trial. JAMA 307(16):1717–1726. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.418

- Pidala J, Lee SJ, Gwen Q, Heather J, Jongphil K, Claudio A (2011) Variation in management of immune suppression after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Trans 17(10):1528–1536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2011.03.006
- Povsic TJ, O'Connor CM, Timothy H, Taussig A, Kereiakes DJ, Fortuin FD, Niederman A et al (2011) A double-blind, randomized, controlled, multicenter study to assess the safety and cardiovascular effects of skeletal myoblast implantation by catheter delivery in patients with chronic heart failure after myocardial infarction. American Heart J 162(4):654–662. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ahj.2011.07.020
- Raval AN, Kamp TJ, Hogle LF (2008) Cellular therapies for heart disease: unveiling the ethical and public policy challenges. J Mol Cell Cardiol 45(4):593–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2007.11.005
- Reinecke H, Poppa V, Murry CE (2002) Skeletal muscle stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes after cardiac grafting. J Mol Cell Cardiol 34(2):241–249. https://doi.org/10. 1006/jmcc.2001.1507
- Rikhtegar R, Pezeshkian M, Dolati S, Safaie N, Afrasiabi R, Mahdipour M, Nouri M et al (2019) Stem cells as therapy for heart disease: iPSCs, ESCs, CSCs, and skeletal myoblasts. Biomed Pharmacother 109:304–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.10.065
- Romagnuolo R, Masoudpour H, Porta-Sánchez A, Qiang B, Barry J, Laskary A, Qi X et al (2019) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate the infarcted pig heart but induce ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Stem Cell Rep 12(5):967–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stemcr.2019.04.005
- Stem Cells. Types of stem cells. International Society for Stem Cell Research. Accessed April 4, 2020. https://www.closerlookatstemcells.org/learn-about-stem-cells/types-of-stem-cells/
- Sudulaguntla A, Basavarajk N, Vineeth C (2017) Stem Cells: cultivation and routes of administration. Biomed Eng 2(1):555–579. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029343
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.07.024
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Tang J-N, Cores J, Huang K, Cui X-L, Luo L, Zhang J-Y, Li T-S et al (2018) Concise review: is cardiac cell therapy dead? Embarrassing trial outcomes and new directions for the future. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(4):354–359. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0196
- Tang X-L, Li Q, Rokosh G, Sanganalmath SK, Chen N, Ou Q, Stowers H et al (2016) Long-term outcome of administration of c-kit(POS) cardiac progenitor cells after acute myocardial infarction: transplanted cells do not become cardiomyocytes, but structural and functional improvement and proliferation of endogenous cells persist for at least one year. Circ Res 118(7): 1091–1105. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307647
- Taylor DA, Atkins BZ, Hungspreugs P, Jones TR, Reedy MC, Hutcheson KA et al (1998) Regenerating functional myocardium: improved performance after skeletal myoblast transplantation. Nat Med 4(8):929–933. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0898-929
- Tehzeeb J, Manzoor A, Ahmed MM (2019) Is stem cell therapy an answer to heart failure: a literature search. Cureus 11(10):1–9. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus5959
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshal VS et al (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282(5391): 1145–1147 10.1126/science28253911145
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Simoons ML, Chaitman BR, White HD (2012) Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. Circulation 126(16):2020–2035. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIR0b013e31826e1058
- Tran DT, Ohinmaa A, Thanh NX, Howlett JG, Ezekowitz JA, McAlister FA et al (2016) The current and future financial burden of hospital admissions for heart failure in Canada: a cost analysis. CMAJ Open 4(3):E365–E370. https://doi.org/10.9778/cmajo20150130

- Turner D, Rieger AC, Balkan W, Hare JM (2020) Clinical-based cell therapies for heart disease current and future state. Rambam Maimonides Med J 11(2):1–20. https://doi.org/10.5041/ RMMJ10401
- Vagnozzi RJ, Molkentin JD, Houser SR (2018) New myocyte formation in the adult heart: endogenous sources and therapeutic implications. Circ Res 123(2):159–176. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA118311208
- van Berlo JH, Kanisicak O, Maillet M, Vagnozzi RJ, Karch J, Lin S-CJ, Middleton RC et al (2014) c-kit+ cells minimally contribute cardiomyocytes to the heart. Nature 509(7500):337–341. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13309
- World Medical Association (2000) The revised declaration of Helsinki: interpreting and implementing ethical principles in biomedical research Edinburgh: 52nd WMA General Assembly. JAMA 284:3043–3045
- Yamakawa M, Shunei K, Sean Y, Minoru O, Koichiro K, Takashi N (2013) Destination therapy: the new gold standard treatment for heart failure patients with left ventricular assist devices. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 61(3):111–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11748-012-0181-5
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC et al (2013) ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 128(16):1810–1852. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR0b013e31 829e8807
- Ye L, Chang Y-H, Xiong Q, Zhang P, Zhang L, Somasundaram P, Lepley M et al (2014) Cardiac repair in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction with human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiovascular cells. Cell Stem Cell 15(6):750–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jstem201411009



Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Probiotic Communication: Beneficial Bacteria in Preconditioning

18

Ayşegül Mendi, Büşra Aktaş, and Belma Aslım

Contents

Identification, Isolation, and Biology of OMT-Derived Stem Cells 548 Preconditioning Strategies 550 Probiotics and their Health Benefits Associated with Gut Microbiota 551 Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Probiotic Interaction 553 Future Perspective and Conclusion 556 References 557	Introduction	546
Preconditioning Strategies 550 Probiotics and their Health Benefits Associated with Gut Microbiota 551 Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Probiotic Interaction 553 Future Perspective and Conclusion 556 References 557	Identification, Isolation, and Biology of OMT-Derived Stem Cells	548
Probiotics and their Health Benefits Associated with Gut Microbiota 551 Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Probiotic Interaction 553 Future Perspective and Conclusion 556 References 557	Preconditioning Strategies	550
Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Probiotic Interaction 553 Future Perspective and Conclusion 556 References 557	Probiotics and their Health Benefits Associated with Gut Microbiota	551
Future Perspective and Conclusion 556 References 557	Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Probiotic Interaction	553
References	Future Perspective and Conclusion	556
	References	557

Abstract

Oromaxillofacial tissues are composite tissue containing teeth, bones, nerves, and blood vessels. It is a heterogeneous tissue rich in mesenchymal stem cells. So far, mesenchymal stem cells have been isolated from teeth and dental tissues, cranial bones and jaw bone marrow, and salivary glands. They have the potential to create a biological response by migrating to damaged dental tissues. However, in vitro culture conditions, reduced cell number (for periodontal ligament, gingiva tissue, buccal tissue, etc.), and unwanted differentiation mesenchymal stem cells

A. Mendi (🖂)

B. Aktaş

B. Aslım Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: baslim@gazi.edu.tr

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_51

Faculty of Dentistry Department of Basic Sciences, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: aysegulmendi@gazi.edu.tr

Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Burdur, Turkey e-mail: aktas@uwalumni.com

during frequent passages have limited the use of such cells in clinical cell therapy. Recently, studies have focused on the precondition strategies, effect of bacteria, and their components on proliferation and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells.

Keywords

Dental pulp · *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* · Mesenchymal stem cell · Oromaxillofacial · Precondition · Probiotics · Stem cell

Abbreviations	
AP-MSCs CB-MSCs	Apical papilla mesenchymal stem cells Cranial bone mesenchymal stem cells
DF-MSCs	Dental follicle mesenchymal stem cells
DP*-MSCS	Dental pulp mesenchymal stem cells
EOMSCs	Epithelial and oral mucosal stem cells
G-MSCs	Gingival mesenchymal stem cells
iBM-MSCs	Iliac bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
OMT	Oromaxillofacial tissue
PDL-MSCs	Periodontal ligament mesenchymal stem cells

Introduction

Within the framework of International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) definition, mesenchymal stem cells have the ability to adhere to plastic surfaces; selfrenew; differentiate into ectoderm, endoderm, and mesoderm germ layers; and express CD73, CD90, and CD105 surface markers, while hematopoietic stem cell markers include CD11b, CD19, CD79a, CD31, CD34, CD45, and HLA-DR-negative cells (Zhou et al. 2020). Along with these features, they can be effective in their environment with cell-cell contact or in the surrounding tissues with their paracrine effects, with their secretomes of immune, hormonal, and differentiation pathways. These activities are unfolded over the last many years to encompass remarkable modulatory effects in various autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, such as graft versus host, multiple sclerosis, acute lung injury, multiple sclerosis, Crohn's disease, depression, and osteoarthritis (Zhou et al. 2020).

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs), adult somatic SCs, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have all been identified (Ding et al. 2011; Herberts et al. 2011; Egusa et al. 2012; Naji et al. 2019). Adult SCs are the ideal choice for cell-based therapy since they are free of ethical problems. MSCs are regarded as one of the most promising cell types for regenerative therapy (Naji et al. 2019). MSCs were first discovered in the bone marrow as fibroblast-like cells. At clonal density, they looked like colony-forming unit fibroblasts (CFU-Fs). Mesenchymal stem cells have been

identified from the adipose tissue, synovial fluid, uterus, pancreas, and skeletal muscle, in addition to bone marrow (Ding et al. 2011; An et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2017, 28). Bone marrow and adipose tissue have been the most commonly employed tissue sources for MSC isolation in the past. However, because the tissue collection methodology involves highly intrusive procedures, the danger of morbidity in the patient procedure area has necessitated the identification of alternative tissue sources for research (Samsonraj et al. 2017; Ducret et al. 2015; Kang et al. 2016).

After Gronthos et al. (2000) reported the identification of MSCs from dental pulp tissue, oromaxillofacial tissue mesenchymal stem cells (OMT-MSCs) were isolated and identified by different researchers (Fukumoto et al. 2003; Tatullo et al. 2015). Easy surgical access made dental pulp-derived MSCs (DP-MSCs) a promising alternative tissue source of MSCs. The easy availability of DP-MSCs compared to other tissues provides a great advantage in tissue repair and regeneration studies. The fact that dental pulp tissue is a composite tissue consisting of fibroblast, endothelial cells, nerve cells, odontoblast, and osteoprogenitor and immune cells gives DP-MSCs a functional and unique feature (Ledesma-Martínez et al. 2016; Nuti et al. 2016). Ectodermal stem cells travel from the neural tube to the oral area during tooth formation, giving rise to OMT-MSCs. They eventually become mesenchymal cells at the end of the procedure (Aurrekoetxea et al. 2015). This distinguishes them from other neural crest cells in terms of biological features, making them ideal for therapeutic use.

In MSCs-based clinical therapies, strategies based on improving endogenous MSCs in the microenvironment have begun to emerge to ensure the engraftment and migration of transplanted cells (Grayson et al. 2015; Gao et al. 2017; Zhou et al. 2018). Since the huge efforts given to exogenous MSCs, it is critical to take use of endogenous MSCs, which dwell inside the tooth pulp and/or particular tissues and can self-renew and differentiate into different germ layers (Xia et al. 2018; Zhu et al. 2018). The number and activity of endogenous MSCs gradually decreases in postnatal development, resulting in a decrease in their natural repair abilities (Xia et al. 2018). Similarly, various chronic pathological conditions, i.e., diabetes mellitus, myocardial infarction, etc., and the process of physiological aging over time cause significant reduction in their functionality and reparability (Jiang et al. 2008; Haider 2018). Likewise, under inflammatory conditions such as pulpitis, periodontitis, osteoporosis, and implantitis, endogenous MSCs largely lose their differentiation ability and immunomodulatory properties (Xue et al. 2016; Di et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2017). Indeed, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) is a vital component of the inflammatory response, and it was reported that excessive levels and prolonged exposure to TNF- α are always associated with inflammatory diseases of the bone or tissue and lead to the death or impairment of endogenous MSCs' function.

Pharmacological approaches are also among the options used for the application of MSCs in bone tissue engineering and dentistry. The addition of pharmacological or biological agents to be incorporated into the structure of tissue scaffolding, membranes, composites, or filling materials for use in bone and dental tissue regeneration may be a good strategy for the recovery of endogenous MSCs' functionality, including survival, proliferation, differentiation potential, and paracrine activity (Potu et al. 2009; Jeong et al. 2010, 2014; Li et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2012; Gu et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2016; Mendi et al. 2017a, b, 2019; Bourebaba et al. 2019). Considering these limitations of synthetic drugs, probiotics and/or their metabolites could be a new perspective in cellular therapies in regenerative medicine (Bourebaba et al. 2019; Cai et al. 2019).

The finding of oromaxillofacial tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells, their biological roles, and comparisons with other tissue-derived MSCs, as well as probiotic bacteria and their relationships, are described in this review.

Identification, Isolation, and Biology of OMT-Derived Stem Cells

OMT cells were classified as epithelial and oral mucosal stem cells (EOM-SCs), cranial bone (CB) MSCs, mandibular bone marrow MSCs, and dental pulp MSCs (dental pulp MSCs, dental follicle (DF) MSCs, periodontal ligament (PDL) MSCs, and apical papilla (AP) MSCs) (Fig. 1) (Mendi et al. 2019).

Gronthos et al. (2000) were the first to report dental pulp stem cells. They used the same procedure that had previously been used to isolate and characterize iliac bone marrow MSCs (iBM-MSCs). They discovered a population of clonogenic cells within adult human tooth pulp. Cranial bone MSCs, epithelial and oral mucosal stem cells, and dental MSCs were all discovered using the same method (Figs. 1b and 2).



Fig. 1 (a) OMT mesenchymal stem cells classification, isolation, and identification. **(b)** Mandibular/maxillar bone marrow tissues or blood samples were removed and cultured using the explant culture method. Flow cytometry was used to sort the generated colonies. **(c)** The ability of OMT-derived MSCs to differentiate (Mendi et al. 2019)



Fig. 2 Isolated OMT-MSCs. Our group had previously isolated MSCs from the third molar pulp, nasal adipose tissue, tooth extraction socket, mandibular bone marrow, cranial bone, and tooth follicle tissue (Mendi et al. 2019) (Olympos CKX 41, Japan)

Dental pulp is a composite tissue consisting of odontoblasts, interstitial fibroblasts, blood vessel networks, and nerve cells on the mineralized dentin surface (Sacchetti et al. 2007; Mendez-Ferrer et al. 2010; Bianco 2011). MSCs originating from DP bear similar surface markings as bone marrow MSCs accepted as reference. CD44, CD73, CD105, STRO-1, and CD146 are positive and also bear neural cell surface markers (Huang et al. 2009). On the other hand, there is a big gap to enrich pure MSCs (Keating 2012; Eleuterio et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2015; Ledesma-Martínez et al. 2016; Aghajani et al. 2016; Niehage et al. 2016; Werle et al. 2016).

OMT-MSCs have been reported to have functional and phenotypic differences from iBM-MSCs. Akintoye et al. (2006) reported that when comparing mandibular BM-MSCs isolated from the same individual and BM-MSCs of iliac origin, mandibular BM-MSCs showed higher proliferation rate and advanced osteogenic differentiation. In a study conducted by our group, it was observed that the adipogenic power of OMT-derived MSCs was lower than that of iliac-derived BM-MSCs (Mendi et al. 2017a, b).

It was also shown by our group that DP-MSCs have a shorter lag phase than iliac BM-MSCs and enter the logarithmic phase at higher cell counts (Mendi et al. 2017a, b). Our findings support the findings of Gronthos et al., who found that DP-MSCs, cranial bone MSCs, and epithelial oral mucosa MSCs colonize at a higher rate than iliac BM-MSCs (2000). The developmental condition of the various tissues can suggest this.

The mechanism in the interaction of OMT-MSCs with each other has not yet been elucidated. It was hypothesized that OMT-MSCs, like osteogenic tissues, have limited differentiation capacity, as they were originally thought to be specialized tissues. It has been reported that OMT-MSCs have multidifferentiation power in tissue comparative studies published in recent years (Zhang et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2010; Moshaverinia et al. 2012, 2013, 2014).

The oral cavity consists of a flora containing more than 700 pathogenic and nonpathogenic microorganisms with different oxygen needs (Zhou et al. 2020). It's crucial to understand how bacteria in the flora affect MSCs in an inflammatory environment, as well as their effects on tissue repair. It is necessary to know the effects of existing bacteria on the stemness and potency of MSCs. It is known that there is a regression in the viability and differentiation of MSCs in the chronic inflammatory environment (Lee et al. 2009). The MSCs number is relatively sparse (Gao et al. 2018; Roddy et al. 2011). Such a microenvironment will, of course, influence MSCs clinical practice. Therefore, the interaction between OMT-MSCs and oral flora should be well-known.

In vitro and in vivo, MSCs have been shown to have anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties. The effects of inflammation on OMT-MSC proliferation, migration, stemness, differentiation, and cytokine production have been studied in a variety of ways (according to Sensebé et al. 2010). Techniques to boost MSC proliferation, differentiation, and resistance to inflammation and oxidative stress are constantly being researched based on these beneficial features of MSCs. As a result, preconditioning strategies have attracted a lot of attention.

Preconditioning Strategies

MSCs originating from DP bear similar surface markings as bone marrow MSCs accepted as reference. CD44, CD73, CD105, STRO-1, and CD146 are positive and also bear neural cell surface markers. For example, many different osteo-inductive agents stimulate cell migration and proliferation and modulate immune response, including the stimulation of MSCs and/or osteo-progenitors in vitro and in vivo (Giannoudis et al. 2005; Govender et al. 2002). However, because they have a short half-life, bone tissue engineering requires either large concentrations or long-term administration (Itoh et al. 2001). It's also worth noting that their increased concentration could lead to enhanced osteoclastic activity and bone resorption (Kaneko et al. 2000). Therefore, it is important to develop alternative techniques and protocols to avoid these undesired effects.

In recent years, preconditioning strategies have come to the fore in order to increase the engraftment of MSCs in vivo or in clinical applications, to increase their survival in the inflammatory environment, and to differentiate them effectively (Haider and Ashraf 2012). Moreover, preconditioning approach also promotes their emigrational capacity, paracrine activity, and survival rate (Fig. 3) (Guo et al. 2020). Various stress conditions, including isolation from the issue source and in vitro expansion and harsh microenvironment (ischemia, hypoxia, and inflammation) post engraftment, cause extensive oxidative stress injury to the cells after engraftment at injured sites, which significantly reduces the survival of transplanted MSCs (Guo et al. 2020; Dissanayaka et al. 2020). Thus, different preconditioning strategies have



Fig. 3 MSCs face a harsh microenvironment that may induce their apoptosis or functional abrogation, such as poor differentiation potential, low adhesion, or attenuated proliferation

been developed to enhance MSCs functionality and tissue reparability post engraftment.

Among these, there are studies in vitro as well as in the experimental animal models to observe the effect of hypoxia in improving the migrational potential of MSCs. It has been observed that continuous or intermittent exposure to hypoxia or anoxia significantly promotes the differentiation and proliferation potential of MSCs. Similar effects have also been observed after preconditioning with different pharmacological agents, directing immunomodulatory properties by cytokine induction and regulation of differentiation and immune properties by gene modification (Jiang et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008, 2009; Kim et al. 2009, 2012; Afzal et al. 2010; Lai et al. 2012).

Considering the direct and/or indirect relationship of OMT-derived MSCs with the oral flora, it should be considered that MSCs will also be affected by the effects of the bacterial flora on the immune response.

Among these bacteria, studies show that probiotics, which play a stabilizing role as a part of the intestinal flora, have similar effects on the oral flora and therefore are drawing significant attention by researchers.

Probiotics and their Health Benefits Associated with Gut Microbiota

Probiotics are one of the most remarkable functional foods to emerge in recent decades (Pray et al. 2013). In 2001, a joint committee of the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization and the World Health Organization (FAO/WHO) defined probiotics as "live bacteria that bestow health advantages on the host when provided in suitable concentrations." The joint committee issued guidelines in 2002 to give a systematic strategy to evaluating probiotics, which included genetic and phenotypic strain identification, safety assessment, and functional analysis (FAO/WHO 2001, 2002).

Probiotics have been linked to a reduction in gastrointestinal pathogens, a reduction in cold and flu incidence, a reduction in colorectal cancer, improved lactose tolerance, and a significant reduction in the symptoms of inflammation-related disorders (Salminen et al. 2005; Hörmannsperger et al. 2009; Leyer et al. 2009). It's worth noting that, despite a slew of health benefits linked to probiotics, the stated benefits can only be attributed to the strain in question, not the species as a whole or other probiotics. This is significant since some published reviews place a greater emphasis on the practical importance of individual probiotics to their higher taxonomic group than on strain specificity (Hill and Sanders 2013; Sanders et al. 2018).

Probiotic administration activates the immune system of the host, and as a result, some strains of probiotics can help to reduce inflammation in inflammation-related disorders including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Kruis et al. 2004; Mogna et al. 2012). Probiotics can also help to regulate complex allergic inflammatory reactions brought on by allergy illnesses caused by a microbial imbalance (Isolauri et al. 2000; Sanders et al. 2013). A few well-designed trials have provided evidence for the usefulness of certain probiotic strains in treating individuals with atopic illnesses in the treatment of allergic disease. In a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial, *L. rhamnosus* GG was shown to prevent atopic eczema among children at high risk for atopic eczema. *L. rhamnosus* GG was administered prenatally for 2–4 weeks and postnatally for 6 months. The cumulative risk of eczema development was significantly reduced in patients as long as 7 years after the trial (Kalliomäki et al. 2001; Kalliomaki et al. 2007).

A 3-month trial involving 1,072 senior volunteers who drank probiotic dairy products containing *L. casei* DN-114 001 revealed that the *L. casei* strain is effective against respiratory infections (Boge et al. 2009). In comparison to the control group, the same strain also reduced common infectious illnesses, particularly upper respiratory tract infections (Guillemard et al. 2010).

Probiotics exert their health benefit with the multifactorial mechanism of action, including competing with microorganisms for nutrients and adhesion sites, producing antimicrobial peptides and organic acids, immunomodulation, and enhancing intestinal barrier (Shanahan 2010; Yan and Polk 2020). In a mouse model of acute colitis, E. coli Nissle 1917 reduced Salmonella enterica Typhimurium intestinal colonization by outcompeting the pathogen for iron, which is a limiting resource in this environment. They also discovered that E. coli Nissle mutants lacking in iron absorption can colonize the mouse gut but had no effect on S. enterica Typhimurium colonization (Deriu et al. 2013). By improving the gut barrier function, probiotics help to prevent pathogenesis. In IBD patients, the epithelial barrier has been disrupted. In mice with chemically induced colitis, E. coli Nissle 1917 inhibits leaky gut (Ukena et al. 2007). In a recent study, the function of the intestinal barrier was restored in an experimental mouse model of autoimmune encephalitis (Secher et al. 2017). The scientists discovered that oral therapy with E. coli Nissle 1917, rather than archetypal K12 E. coli, reduced the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalitis. The positive benefits were linked to a considerable decrease in pro-inflammatory cytokines along with a rise in the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Similarly, in mice with intestinal inflammation, VSL#3, a multiprobiotic formulation, enhances intestinal permeability (Corridoni et al. 2012).

Antimicrobial metabolites produced by probiotics can inhibit the growth of other bacteria (O'Shea et al. 2012) or encourage host cells to create antimicrobials (AMPs)

such as defensin, regIII, and lysozyme (Lebeer et al. 2010). AMPs are one of the most important components of the innate immune system, and they help shape the intestinal microbiota by activating the intestinal mucosal defense (Ostaff et al. 2013; Cunliffe 2003; Ganz 2003). Oral dosing of *L. gasseri* SBT2055, for example, stimulated IgA synthesis in the mouse small intestine (Sakai et al. 2014).

Immunomodulation is the most often hypothesized probiotic mode of action, which occurs when probiotic bacteria interact with mucosal immune cells or epithelial cells in the gut (Azad et al. 2018). Substantial evidence has accumulated to support the immunomodulatory effect of probiotic strains (Ishikawa et al. 2005; Ai et al. 2016; Garcia-Castillo et al. 2019). In a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, lactobacilli strain was found to have an immunomodulatory impact, lowering the levels of IL-5, IL-6, IFN-g, and IgE in patients with seasonal allergic rhinitis and reducing the severity of allergic rhinitis symptoms (Ivory et al. 2008). In another study, daily lactobacilli strain ingestion for 3 weeks decreased natural killer cell activity in male smokers when compared to a placebo control group (Reale et al. 2012). In the gut of patients with ulcerative colitis, rectal administration of L. casei DG changes the mucosal microbiota and reduces the production of TLR-4 and inflammatory cytokines while increasing the expression of IL-10, an antiinflammatory cytokine (D'Incà et al. 2011). Depending on the strain and the situation, probiotics may affect the innate and adaptive immune systems in both directions, acting as anti-inflammatory or pro-inflammatory agents (Rochat et al. 2007; Chiba et al. 2010; Shida et al. 2011). Because MSCs and probiotics have comparable functional characteristics, the investigation of MSCs-probiotic interaction is gaining traction in preconditioning studies.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Probiotic Interaction

The human microbiome offers potential treatment approaches including reversing or rebalancing the microbiome toward health, based on an increasing understanding of how the microbiome affects health and disease. There have been several research analyzing the variety of skin and gut microbial communities in health and sickness (Qiao et al. 2018) as well as the function of gut microbiota on intestinal stem cell activity for decades. However, nothing is known about the impact of microbiota on oral wound healing, alveolar bone regeneration, and OMT-derived MSC activity.

With the increase in resistance to antibiotics, the use of probiotics in oral health has come to the fore. In different studies involving dental caries, periodontal diseases, and halitosis, probiotic bacteria therapy was used, and positive results were obtained (Meurman 2005). Recently, studies have been focused on the effect of probiotic bacteria on oral wound healing and bone regeneration and mesenchymal stem cells (Han et al. 2020; Brandi et al. 2020).

Oral disorders are frequently caused by the invasion of pathogenic bacteria into the oral tissues, which disrupts the oral microbial flora balance and alters the oral mucosal immune response (Li et al. 2021). Probiotic bacteria, on the other hand, interact with epithelial cells (ECs), M cells, and dendritic cells in the intestinal milieu through cell-cell contact or internalization of the bacteria or its components (cell wall, exopolysaccharides) (DCs). It increases IL-6 release from ECs and alters TNF-alpha and IFN-gamma secretion in MCs and DCs as a result of this interaction. At the same time, TGF-beta-induced T cell-independent transition from IgM to A on the surface of B cells is stimulated by IL-4 generated by mast cells (MACs) in combination with IL-6 released by ECs. IgA B cells' clonal growth is accelerated by IL-6, which also boosts the production of IgM, IgG, and IE antibodies. Th1 cells release pro-inflammatory IFN, which inactivates or kills viruses, tumor cells, and pathogenic germs. TNF and IL-2 are cytokines that promote phagocytosis and the formation of macrophages, NK cells, and cytotoxic T lymphocytes (Hoseinifar et al. 2019). It's possible that oral flora bacteria and gingival epithelial cells in the oral mucosa and OMT-derived MSCs in the connective tissue work in a similar way (Fig. 4) (Hoseinifar et al. 2019).

TLRs expressed by MSCs play an active role in directing the immune response by recognizing bacteria and in the migration, proliferation, and differentiation of MSCs. Long-term inflammation also negatively affects bone regeneration and wound healing through TLRs. In a study by Zhou et al. (2020) in which they compared TLR expression of G-MSCs, DP-MSCs, and BM-MSCs in inflamed and non-inflamed in vitro environments, DP-MSCs expressed TLRs 1–10 at low levels in the non-inflamed environment, while in the inflamed environment, observed increased expression of TLRs 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8. Similar results have been observed in other studies (Ciszek-Lenda et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2012; Tukenmez et al. 2019). Indeed our group demonstrated that *L. rhamnosus* ATCC9595 scaled down the expression of TLR4 and induced TLR2 expression when exposed to *P. gingivalis* stimulation on G-MSCs. ATCC 9595 induced CXCL5 in G-MSCs without



Fig. 4 Probiotic-OMT-MSCs interaction (the figure has been adopted from the Flaticon page) (Mendi et al. 2019)

triggering TLR-4 expression (Mendi et al. 2016). Although the bacteria in the oral flora and the immune signaling pathways they activate have an effect on the wound healing process, it is suggested that pathogenic bacteria delay wound healing (Jones et al. 2004). The common wound bacteria may hasten wound healing by increasing immune cell infiltration, granulation tissue creation, and collagen production, all of which are advantageous to the wound healing process (Su et al. 2018).

Studies reporting that the anti-inflammatory properties of probiotics have a positive effect on bone homeostasis are increasing. *L. rhamnosus* GG has been shown to inhibit bone loss by increasing the osteogenic differentiation of stem cells (Liu et al. 2020). From this point of view, the preconditioning of probiotic bacteria and MSCs for bone homeostasis is a new and up-to-date research topic.

Another study has revealed that LGG has a protective effect against radiationinduced intestinal epithelial damage via lipoteichoic acid. LGG lipoteichoic acid triggers adaptive immune response with macrophages and PGE2 from MSCs and supports epithelial stem cell niche to protect epithelial stem cells. Moreover, *L. rhamnosus* has been shown to improve human MSCs via its antioxidant effect, thus suggesting probiotics to be an alternative cell therapy agent (Ahadi et al. 2020).

By encouraging the migration of MSCs, LGG has been shown to protect intestinal epithelial cells against radiation damage. In an SD rat model, *Lactobacillus* also activates intestinal stem cells. Furthermore, there is emerging evidence that probiotics have a beneficial effect on bone homeostasis as a result of their antiinflammatory properties. As a result, LGG may be able to prevent bone loss by increasing the osteogenic ability of stem cells (Liu et al. 2020).

Apart from these, there are also studies examining the behavior of mesenchymal stem cells by directing the host flora with probiotic microorganisms. Since, there is a balanced interaction between host immune system and gut microbiota, and this relationship is bidirectional which is necessary for optimal health and requires acknowledging that the disruption of this balance so-called dysbiosis can result in inflammatory and metabolic diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), type 2 diabetes, obesity, arthritis, and asthma (Sommer and Bäckhed 2013; Ohno 2015; Hufnagl et al. 2020). Moreover, dysbiosis in oral microbiota leads to modulate epithelial markers such as β -catenin, E-cadherin and mesenchymal markers including fibronectin, and N-cadherin and impacts epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Chakraborti and Das 2020). In a study evaluating gut microbiota during mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy to improve acute liver injury in mice, they showed that change in the gut microbial population due to mesenchymal stem cell infusion to the liver could help liver repair by maintaining the gut mucosal homeostasis (Dong et al. 2019).

As a result, targeted changes in the gut microbiota could be used to prevent or treat diseases in humans. In Sprague-Dawley rats with collagen-induced arthritis, Li et al. studied the mechanism of human umbilical mesenchymal stem cells. They discovered that human umbilical mesenchymal stem cells, by modifying gut microbiota and immune response, had a therapeutic effect on rats with collagen-induced arthritis. Probiotics are one of the most prevalent ways for changing the gut's microbial composition.

In a study conducted by our group, it was observed that *L. rhamnosus*, one of the probiotic bacteria, preserved cell viability in gingival fibroblast culture in which an oxidative stress environment was created by using hydrogen peroxide, and it was suggested that it may have a protective effect against tissue damage. It is suggested that the examination of probiotic bacteria-connective tissue interactions in oral diseases will be an effective solution in periodontitis, mucosal wound healing, and immune oral diseases (Mendi and Aslim 2014). High EPS production of *B. breve* A28 strain was associated with antioxidant activity. In the results, it was observed that the oxidative stress effect of hydrogen peroxide application on gingival fibroblasts decreased by preventing iron chelation, DPPH radical scavenging, and plasma lipid peroxidation. Kim et al. (2020) demonstrated that *L. rhamnosus* promoted osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation, reduced oxidative stress, and inhibited adipogenesis in MSCs (Kim et al. 2020).

Future Perspective and Conclusion

The oromaxillofacial tissue is a tissue rich in stem cells due to its composite structure, germ source, and neural crest origin cells. Mesenchymal stem cells abound in the oral and maxillofacial region. Primary teeth, third molars, and gingiva are easily accessible intraoral tissues, although they are frequently thrown as medical waste in clinics. Therefore, it is important for dentists to remember that tissues are a valuable source of stem cells during treatment in regenerative dentistry. Studies with probiotic bacteria in the dental clinic give varying results depending on individual oral flora and hygiene differences. Furthermore there is an apparent lack of sufficient in vitro models regarding the probiotic effect. On the other hand, it was highlighted that the activity of probiotic strains in vitro might not parallel similar behavior in vivo.

To further determine the role of probiotics preconditioned with MSCs in dentistry, large, well-designed, multicentered, controlled clinical trials and translational animal models are needed. The fact that not all *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species are equally beneficial should not be overlooked. Individual mechanism of each strain should be characterized, and the researchers should be aware of that the mechanism of action is dependent on the host characteristics, such as oral hygiene and nutrition habit.

Since different bacteria may have dominant effects in diverse genetic backgrounds and diseases involving their pathogenesis, researchers should prefer oral microbiome probiotics in clinical trials. To achieve more scientific evidence, further randomized controlled clinical trials with long follow-ups are necessitated. Determination of donor and patient histories, dietary patterns, and intestinal and oral flora compositions should be investigated in clinical applications combining cellular therapy and probiotic therapy. Probiotic microorganisms, on the other hand, don't just alter the microbiota. They can also influence MSC stemness by regulating immunological indices, epithelial permeability, and bacterial translocation, as well as supplying bioactive or regulatory metabolites. Thus, the interactions between
probiotic bacteria and MSCs could be explored by using comprehensive in vitro models that included mucosal stem cells.

As a result, the immunoregulatory effect of OMT-MSCs in co-culture with probiotic bacteria facilitates optimal tissue regeneration and can control tissue destruction. On the other hand, the functional properties and activities of probiotic strains vary between strains. It should be noted that not every probiotic strain has the same beneficial effect on health. Moreover, the probiotic strain isolated from the intestinal flora may have different effects in the oral flora due to the microhabitat difference. Probiotic strains in the oral microbiome need to be identified. In the selection and definition of oral probiotic strains, unlike intestinal probiotics, prevention of dental plaque formation, inhibition of periodontal pathogens, and regulation of cellular immune responses should be added. Furthermore, probiotic strain-oral mucosal cell interactions should also be investigated.

References

- Afzal MR, Haider KH, Idris NM, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- Aghajani F, Hooshmand T, Khanmohammadi M, Khanjani S, Edalatkhah H, Zarnani A-H, Kazemnejad S (2016) Comparative immunophenotypic characteristics, proliferative features, and osteogenic differentiation of stem cells isolated from human permanent and deciduous teeth with bone marrow. Mol Biotechnol 58(6):415–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12033-016-9941-2
- Ahadi N, Hosseini HM, Halabian R (2020) Evaluation of lactobacillus rhamnosus antioxidant effects on survival of human mesenchymal stem cells'. J App Biotechnol Rep 7(2):104–110. https://doi.org/10.30491/jabr.2020.107582
- Ai C, Ma N, Zhang Q, Wang G, Liu X, Tian F et al (2016) Immunomodulatory effects of different lactic acid bacteria on allergic response and its relationship with in vitro properties. PLoS One 11(10):e0164697. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164697
- Akintoye SO, Lam T, Shi S, Brahim J, Collins MT, Robey PG (2006) Skeletal site-specific characterization of orofacial and iliac crest human bone marrow stromal cells in same individuals. Bone 38(6):758–768
- An Y, Wei W, Jing H, Ming L, Liu S, Jin Y (2015) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell aggregate: an optimal cell therapy for full-layer cutaneous wound vascularization and regeneration. Sci Rep 5:17036. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17036
- Aurrekoetxea M, Garcia-Gallastegui P, Irastorza I, Luzuriaga J, Uribe-Etxebarria V, Unda F, Ibarretxe G (2015) Dental pulp stem cells as a multifaceted tool for bioengineering and the regeneration of craniomaxillofacial tissues. Front Physiol 6:289–299. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2015.00289
- Azad MAK, Sarker M, Wan D (2018) Immunomodulatory effects of probiotics on cytokine profiles. Biomed Res Int 2018:8063647. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8063647
- Bianco P (2011) Bone and the hematopoietic niche: a tale of two stem cells. Blood 117:5281-5288
- Boge T, Rémigy M, Vaudaine S, Tanguy J, Bourdet-Sicard R, van der Werf S (2009) A probiotic fermented dairy drink improves antibody response to influenza vaccination in the elderly in two randomised controlled trials. Vaccine 27(41):5677–5684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine. 2009.06.094
- Bourebaba L, Michalak I, Rocken M, Marycz K (2019) Cladophora glomerata methanolic extract decreases oxidative stress and improves viability and mitochondrial potential in equine adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells (ASCs). Biomed Pharmacother 111:6–18

- Brandi J, Cheri S, Manfredi M, Brandi J, Cheri S, Manfredi M, Di Carlo C et al (2020) Exploring the wound healing, anti-inflammatory, anti-pathogenic and proteomic effects of lactic acid bacteria on keratinocytes. Sci Rep 10:11572. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-68483-4
- Cai C, Chen DZ, Ge LC, Chen WK, Ye SS, Ye WW, Tao Y et al (2019) Synergistic effects of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* culture supernatant and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells on the development of alcoholic steatohepatitis in mice. Am J Transl Res 11:5703–5715
- Chakraborti S, Das RK (2020) Dysbiosis of Oral microbiota and its effect on epithelialmesenchymal transition: a review. SN Comprehensive Clin Med 2(11):2324–2335. https://doi. org/10.1007/s42399-020-00573-w
- Chen M, Chen S, Lin D (2016) Carvedilol protects bone marrow stem cells against hydrogen peroxide-induced cell death via PI3K-AKT pathway. Biomed Pharmacother 78:257–263
- Chen YW, Scutaru TT, Ghetu N, Carasevici E, Lupascu CD, Ferariu D, Pieptu D et al (2017) The effects of adipose-derived stem cell-differentiated adipocytes on skin burn wound healing in rats. J Burn Care Res 38(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.00000000000466
- Chiba Y, Chiba Y, Shida K, Nagata S, Wada M, Bian L, Wang C, Shimizu T et al (2010) Wellcontrolled proinflammatory cytokine responses of Peyer's patch cells to probiotic lactobacillus casei'. Immunology 130(3):352–362. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03204.x
- Ciszek-Lenda M, Ciszek-Lenda M, Strus M, Górska-Frączek S, Targosz-Korecka M, Śróttek M, Heczko PB, Gamian A et al (2011) Strain specific immunostimulatory potential of lactobacilliderived exopolysaccharides. Centr Eur J Immunol 36(3):121–129
- Corridoni D, Corridoni D, Pastorelli L, Mattioli B, Locovei S, Ishikawa D, Arseneau KO, Chieppa M et al (2012) Probiotic bacteria regulate intestinal epithelial permeability in experimental ileitis by a TNF-dependent mechanism. PLoS One 7(7):e42067. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0042067
- Cunliffe R (2003) α-Defensins in the gastrointestinal tract. Mol Immunol 40(7):463–467. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0161-5890(03)00157-3
- D'Incà R, Barollo M, Scarpa M, Grillo AR, Brun P, Vettorato MG, Castagliuolo I et al (2011) Rectal administration of lactobacillus casei DG modifies flora composition and toll-like receptor expression in colonic mucosa of patients with mild ulcerative colitis. Digestive Dis Sci 56(4): 1178–1187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-010-1384-1
- Deriu E, Liu JZ, Pezeshki M, Edwards RA, Ochoa RJ, Contreras H, Libby SJ et al (2013) Probiotic bacteria reduce salmonella typhimurium intestinal colonization by competing for iron. Cell Host Microbe 14(1):26–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2013.06.007
- Di D, Zhou Z, Zhu L, Hu X, Lu J, Shi C, Chen F, Chen A (2018) TNF-α suppresses osteogenic differentiation of MSCs by accelerating P2Y2 receptor in estrogen-deficiency induced osteoporosis. Bone 117:161–170
- Ding DC, Shyu WC, Lin SZ (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant 20(1):5–14. https:// doi.org/10.3727/096368910X
- Dissanayaka WL, Han YY, Zhang LL, Zou T, Zhang CF (2020) Bcl-2 overexpression and hypoxia synergistically enhance Angiogenic properties of dental pulp stem cells. Int J Molecular Sci 21
- Dong X et al (2019) Characteristics of intestinal microecology during mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for mouse acute liver injury. Stem Cells Int 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/2403793
- Ducret M, Fabre H, Degoul O, Atzeni G, McGuckin C, Forraz N, Alliot-Licht B et al (2015) Manufacturing of dental pulp cell-based products from human third molars: current strategies and future investigations. Front Physiol 6:213
- Egusa H, Sonoyama W, Nishimura M, Atsuta I, Akiyama K (2012) Stem cells in dentistry Part I: stem cell sources. J Prosthodont Res 56:151–565
- Eleuterio E, Trubiani O, Sulpizio M, Di Giuseppe F, Pierdomenico L, Marchisio M, Giancola R et al (2013) Proteome of human stem cells from periodontal ligament and dental pulp. PLoS One 8(8):e71101. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071101
- FAO/WHO (2001) Health and nutritional properties of probiotics in food including powder milk with live lactic acid bacteria, Córdoba

- FAO/WHO (2002) Guidelines for the evaluation of probiotics in food. In: Report of a joint FAO/WHO working group on drafting guidelines for the evaluation of probiotics in food, London, pp 1–11
- Fukumoto T, Sperling JW, Sanyal A, Fitzsimmons JS, Reinholz GG, Conover CA, O'Driscoll SW (2003) Combined effects of insulin-like growth factor-1 and transforming growth factor-beta1 on periosteal mesenchymal cells during chondrogenesis in vitro. Osteoarthr Cartil 11(1):55–64. https://doi.org/10.1053/joca.2002.0869
- Ganz T (2003) Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 3(9): 710–720. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1180
- Gao C, Peng S, Feng P, Shuai C (2017) Bone biomaterials and interactions with stem cells. Bone Res 5:17059
- Gao X, Shen Z, Guan M, Huang Q, Chen L, Qin W, Ge X et al (2018) Immunomodulatory role of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth on periodontal regeneration. Tiss Engin Part A 24(17–18):1341–1353
- Garcia-Castillo V, Komatsu R, Clua P, Indo Y, Takagi M, Salva S, Islam MA et al (2019) Evaluation of the immunomodulatory activities of the probiotic strain lactobacillus fermentum UCO-979C. Front Immunol 10:1376. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01376
- Giannoudis PV, Dinopoulos H, Tsiridis E (2005) Bone substitutes: an update. Injury 36(Suppl 3):20–27
- Govender S, Csimma C, Genant HK, Valentin-Opran A, Amit Y, Arbel R, Aro H et al (2002) BMP-2 evaluation in surgery for Tibial Trauma (BESTT) Study Group Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 for treatment of open tibial fractures: a prospective, controlled, randomized study of four hundred and fifty patients. J Bone Joint Sur A 84:2123–2134
- Grayson WL, Bunnell BA, Martin E, Frazier T, Hung BP, Gimble JM (2015) Stromal cells and stem cells in clinical bone regeneration. Nat Rec Endoc 11:140–150
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Gehron Robey P, Shi S (2000) Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97(25):13625–13630
- Gu Q, Chen C, Zhang Z, Wu Z, Fan X, Zhang Z, Di W et al (2015) Ginkgo biloba extract promotes osteogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in a pathway involving Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Pharmacol Res 97:70–78
- Guillemard E, Tanguy J, Flavigny A, de la Motte S, Schrezenmeir J (2010) Consumption of a fermented dairy product containing the probiotic lactobacillus casei DN-114001 reduces the duration of respiratory infections in the elderly in a randomised controlled trial. Brit J Nutr 103: 58–68. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114509991395
- Guo L, Du J, Yuan DF, Zhang Y, Zhang S, Zhang HC, Mi JW et al (2020) Optimal H2O2 preconditioning to improve bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells' engraftment in wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:434
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475. doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0134
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2012) Preconditioning approach in stem cell therapy for the treatment of infarcted heart. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 111:323–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398459-3.00015-0
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1a/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circulation Res 103:1300–1308. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.186742
- Haider KH, Kim HW, Ashraf M (2009) HIF-1α in stem cell preconditioning: mechanistic role of hypoxia related micro-RNAs. J Thor Cardiovasc Surg 138(1):257
- Han N, Jia L, Guo L, Su Y, Luo Z, Du J, Mei S et al (2020) Balanced oral pathogenic bacteria and probiotics promoted wound healing via maintaining mesenchymal stem cell homeostasis. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-1569-2
- Herberts CA, Kwa MS, Hermsen HP (2011) Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy. J Transl Med 9:29–42

- Hill C, Sanders ME (2013) Rethinking "probiotics". Gut Microbes 4(4):269–270. https://doi.org/ 10.4161/gmic.25143
- Hörmannsperger G, Clavel T, Hoffmann M, Reiff C, Kelly D, Loh G, Blaut M et al (2009) Posttranslational inhibition of IP-10 secretion in IEC by probiotic bacteria: impact on chronic inflammation. PLoS One 4(2):e4365
- Hoseinifar SH, Van Doan H, Dadar M, Ringø E, Harikrishnan R (2019) Feed additives, gut microbiota, and health in finfish aquaculture. In: Derome N (Ed) Microbial communities in aquaculture ecosystems: improving productivity and sustainability. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp 121–142
- Huang GT, Gronthos S, Shi S (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental tissues vs. those from other sources: their biology and role in regenerative medicine. J Dent Res 88:792–806
- Huang XF, Yuan SJ, Yang C (2012) Effects of total flavonoids from Drynaria fortunei on the proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of rat dental pulp stem cells. Mol Med Rep 6: 547–552
- Hufnagl K, Hufnagl K, Pali-Schöll I, Roth-Walter F, Jensen-Jarolim E (2020) Dysbiosis of the gut and lung microbiome has a role in asthma. Semin Immunopathol 42(1):75–93. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00281-019-00775-y
- Ishikawa H, Akedo I, Otani T, Suzuki T, Nakamura T, Takeyama I, Ishiguro S et al (2005) Randomized trial of dietary fiber and lactobacillus casei administration for prevention of colorectal tumors. Int J Cancer 116:762–767. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.21115
- Isolauri E, Arvola T, Sütas Y, Moilanen E, Salminen S (2000) Probiotics in the management of atopic eczema. Clin Exp Allergy 30:1604–1610. cea943 [pii]. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2222.2000.00943.x
- Itoh K, Udagawa N, Katagiri T, Iemura S, Yasuda N, Higashio K, Quinn JM et al (2001) Bone morphogenetic protein 2 stimulates osteoclast differentiation and survival supported by receptor activator of nuclear factor-κB ligand. Endocrinol 142:3656–3662
- Ivory K, Chambers SJ, Pin C, Prieto E, Arqués JL, Nicoletti C et al (2008) Oral delivery of lactobacillus casei Shirota modifies allergen-induced immune responses in allergic rhinitis. Clin Exp Allergy 38(8):1282–1289. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03025.x
- Jeong HM, Han EH, Jin YH, Hwang YP, Kim HG, Park BH, Kim JY et al (2010) Saponins from the roots of Platycodon grandiflorum stimulate osteoblast differentiation via p38 MAPK- and ERK-dependent RUNX2 activation. Food Chem Toxicol 48:3362–3368
- Jeong SH, Lee JE, Jin SH, Ko Y, Park JB (2014) Effects of Asiasari radix on the morphology and viability of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the gingiva. Mol Med Rep 10:3315–3319
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circulation Res 99:776–784
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Rafeeq PHA, Niagara MI, Salim A (2008) Ashraf M (2008) transcriptional profiling of young and old mesenchymal stem cells in response to oxygen deprivation and reparability of the infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(3):582–596
- Jones SG, Edwards R, Thomas DW (2004) Inflammation and wound healing: the role of bacteria in the immuno-regulation of wound healing. Int J Low Extrem Wounds 3:201–208
- Kalliomäki M, Salminen S, Arvilommi H, Kero P, Koskinen P, Isolauri E (2001) Probiotics in primary prevention of atopic disease: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 357: 1076–1079. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04259-8
- Kalliomaki M, Salminen S, Poussa T, Isolauri E (2007) Probiotics during the first 7 years of life: a cumulative risk reduction of eczema in a randomized, placebo controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119(4):1018–1019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2007.01.021
- Kaneko H, Arakawa T, Mano H, Kaneda T, Ogasawara A, Nakagawa M, Toyama Y et al (2000) Direct stimulation of osteoclastic bone resorption by bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-2 and expression of BMP receptors in mature osteoclasts. Bone 27:479–486
- Kang CM, Kim H, Song JS, Choi B-J, Kim S-O, Jung H-S, Moon SJ et al (2016) Genetic comparison of stemness of human umbilical cord and dental pulp. Stem Cells Int 2016:1–12

Keating A (2012) Mesenchymal stromal cells: new directions. Cell Stem Cell 10:709-716

- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxidant Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kim DH, Heck BE, Shaffer M, Hur J, Yoo KH (2020) A natural supplement formula reduces antioxidative stress and enhances osteo-chondrogenic differentiation potential in mesenchymal stem cells. J Clin Biochem Nutrition 66:206–212
- Kruis W, Fric P, Pokrotnieks J, Lukás M, Fixa B, Kascák M, Kamm MA, Weismueller J et al (2004) Maintaining remission of ulcerative colitis with the probiotic Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 is as effective as with standard mesalazine. Gut 53(11):1617–1623. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2003. 037747
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/Cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):667–677
- Lebeer S, Vanderleyden J, De Keersmaecker SCJ (2010) Host interactions of probiotic bacterial surface molecules: comparison with commensals and pathogens. Nat Rev Microbiol 8(3): 171–184
- Ledesma-Martínez E, Mendoza-Núñez VM, Santiago-Osorio E (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental pulp: a review. Stem Cells Int 2016:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/ 4709572
- Lee RH, Pulin AA, Seo MJ et al (2009) Intravenous hMSCs improve myocardial infarction in mice because cells embolized in lung are activated to secrete the anti-inflammatory protein TSG-6. Cell Stem Cell 5:54–63
- Lee JMS, Shin MO, Kim S, Jang SW, Oh M, Kang K, Jung YS (2016) Apple ethanol extract promotes proliferation of human adult stem cells, which involves the regenerative potential of stem cells. Nutr Res 36:925–936
- Leyer GJ, Li S, Mubasher ME, Reifer C, Ouwehand AC (2009) Probiotic effects on cold and influenza-like symptom incidence and duration in children. Pediatrics 124:e172–e179. https:// doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-2666
- Li G, Zhang XA, Zhang JF, Chan CY, Yew DT, He ML, Lin MC et al (2010) Ethanol extract of Fructus Ligustri Lucidi promotes osteogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells. Phytother Res 24: 571–576
- Li B, Ouchi T, Cao Y, Zhao Z, Men Y (2021) Dental-Derived Mesenchymal stem cells: state of the art. Front Cell Dev Biol:9
- Liu J, Yu F, Sun Y, Jiang B, Zhang W, Yang J, Xu GT et al (2015) Concise reviews: characteristics and potential applications of human dental tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 33(3):627–638. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1909
- Liu H, Gu R, Li W, Xue J, Cong Z, Wei Q, Zhou Y (2020) Probiotics protect against tenofovirinduced mandibular bone loss in mice by rescuing mandible-derived mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation. J Oral Rehabil 47(Suppl 1):83–90
- Mendez-Ferrer S, Michurina TV, Ferraro F, Mazloom AR, Macarthur BD, Lira SA, Scadden DT et al (2010) Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature 466:829–834
- Mendi A, Aslim A (2014) Antioxidant lactobacilli could protect gingival fibroblasts against hydrogen peroxide: a preliminary in vitro study. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 6:157–164
- Mendi A, Kose S, Uckan D, Akca G, Yilmaz D, Aral L, Gultekin SE et al (2016) Lactobacillus rhamnosus could inhibit Porphyromonas gingivalis derived CXCL8 attenuation. J Appl Oral Sci 24:67–75
- Mendi A, Yagci BG, Kiziloglu M, Sarac N, Ugur A, Yilmaz D, Uckan D (2017a) Thymbra Spicata Var, Intricata induces mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation. Brazilian Arch Biol Technol 60

- Mendi A, Yagci BG, Kiziloglu M, Sarac N, Ugur A, Yilmaz D, Uckan D (2017b) Effects of Syzygium aromaticum, Cinnamomum zeylanicum, and Salvia triloba extracts on proliferation and differentiation of dental pulp stem cells. J Appl Oral Sci 25:515–522
- Mendi A, Uluturk H, Atac MS, Yilmaz D (2019) Stem cells for the Oromaxillofacial area: could they be a promising source for regeneration in dentistry? Adv Exp Med Biol 1144:101–121
- Meurman JH (2005) Probiotics: do they have a role in oral medicine and dentistry? Eur J Oral Sci 113:188–196
- Mogna G, Strozzi GP, Mogna L (2012) Bacteria strains having a high anti-inflammatory activity
- Moshaverinia A, Chen C, Akiyama K, Ansari S, Xu X, Chee WW, Schriker SR et al (2012) Alginate hydrogel as a promising scaffold for dental-derived stem cells: an in vitro study. J Mater Sci Mater Med 23(12):3041–3051. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-012-4759-3
- Moshaverinia A, Chen C, Akiyama K, Xu X, Chee WW, Schricker SR, Shi S (2013) Encapsulated dental-derived mesenchymal stem cells in an injectable and biodegradable scaffold for applications in bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A101(11):3285–3294. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jbm.a.34546
- Moshaverinia A, Chen C, Xu X, Akiyama K, Ansari S, Zadeh HH, Shi S (2014) Bone regeneration potential of stem cells derived from periodontal ligament or gingival tissue sources encapsulated in RGD-modified alginate scaffold. Tissue Eng Part A 20(3–4):611–621. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ten.TEA.2013.0229
- Naji A, Eitoku M, Favier B, Deschaseaux F, Rouas-Freiss N, Suganuma N (2019) Biological functions of mesenchymal stem cells and clinical implications. Cell Mol Life Sci 76(17): 3323–3348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03125-1. Epub 2019 May 4
- Niehage C, Karbanová J, Steenblock C, Corbeil D, Hoflack B (2016) Cell surface proteome of dental pulp stem cells identified by label-free mass spectrometry. PLoS One 11(8):e0159824. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159824
- Nuti N, Corallo C, Chan BM, Ferrari M, Gerami-Naini B (2016) Multipotent differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells: a literature review. Stem Cell Rev 12:511–523
- O'Shea EF, Cotter PD, Stanton C, Ross RP, Hill C (2012) Production of bioactive substances by intestinal bacteria as a basis for explaining probiotic mechanisms: bacteriocins and conjugated linoleic acid. Int J Food Microbiol 152(3):189–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2011. 05.025
- Ohno H (2015) Impact of commensal microbiota on the host pathophysiology: focusing on immunity and inflammation. Semin Immunopathol 37:1–3
- Ostaff MJ, Stange EF, Wehkamp J (2013) Antimicrobial peptides and gut microbiota in homeostasis and pathology. EMBO Mol Med 5:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/emmm.201201773
- Potu BK, Bhat KM, Rao MS, Nampurath GK, Chamallamudi MR, Nayak SR, Muttigi MS (2009) Petroleum ether extract of Cissus quadrangularis (Linn.) enhances bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and facilitates osteoblastogenesis. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 64:993–998
- Pray L, Pillsbury L, Tomayko E (2013) Institute of medicine (US) food forum. The human microbiome, diet, and health: workshop summary. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK109559/. https://doi.org/10.17226/13522
- Qiao Y, Wu M, Feng Y, Zhou Z, Chen L, Chen F (2018) Alterations of oral microbiota distinguish children with autism spectrum disorders from healthy controls. Sci Rep 1597
- Reale M et al (2012) Daily intake of lactobacillus casei Shirota increases natural killer cell activity in smokers. Brit J Nutrition 108:308–314. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511005630
- Rochat T, Bermúdez-Humarán L, Gratadoux JJ, Fourage C, Hoebler C, Corthier G, Langella P (2007) Anti-inflammatory effects of lactobacillus casei BL23 producing or not a manganesedependant catalase on DSS-induced colitis in mice. Microb Cell Factories 6:22. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1475-2859-6-22
- Roddy GW, Oh JY, Lee RH et al (2011) Action at a distance: systemically administered adult stem/ progenitor cells (MSCs) reduce inflammatory damage to the cornea without engraftment and primarily by secretion of TNF-α stimulated gene/protein 6. Stem Cells 29(10):1572–1579

- Sacchetti B, Funari A, Michienzi S, Di Cesare S, Piersanti S, Saggio I, Tagliafico E et al (2007) Selfrenewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. Cell 131:324–336
- Sakai F, Sakai F, Hosoya T, Ono-Ohmachi A, Ukibe K, Ogawa A, Moriya T et al (2014) Lactobacillus gasseri SBT2055 induces TGF-β expression in dendritic cells and activates TLR2 signal to produce IgA in the small intestine'. PLoS One 9(8):e105370. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0105370
- Salminen SJ, Gueimonde M, Isolauri E (2005) Probiotics that modify disease risk. J Nutr 135(5): 1294–1298
- Samsonraj RM, Raghunath M, Nurcombe V, Hui JH, van Wijnen AJ, Cool SM (2017) Concise review: multifaceted characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells for use in regenerative medicine. Stem Cells Transl Med 12:2173–2185. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0129. Epub 2017 Oct 26. PMID: 29076267; PMCID: PMC5702523
- Sanders ME, Guarner F, Guerrant R, Holt PR, Quigley EM, Sartor RB, Sherman PM, Mayer EA (2013) An update on the use and investigation of probiotics in health and disease. Gut 62: 787–796. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302504
- Sanders ME, Benson A, Lebeer S, Merenstein DJ, Klaenhammer TR (2018) Shared mechanisms among probiotic taxa: implications for general probiotic claims. Curr Opin Biotechnol 49: 207–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.09.007
- Secher T, Kassem S, Benamar M, Bernard I, Boury M, Barreau F, Oswald E et al (2017) Oral administration of the probiotic strain escherichia coli nissle 1917 reduces susceptibility to neuroinflammation and repairs experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis- induced intestinal barrier dysfunction. Front Immunol 8:1096. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01096
- Sensebé L, Krampera M, Schrezenmeier H, Bourin P, Giordano R (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells for clinical application. Vox Sang 98(2):93–107
- Shanahan F (2010) Probiotics in perspective. Gastroenterology 139(6):1808–1812. https://doi.org/ 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.10.025
- Shida K, Nanno M, Nagata S (2011) Flexible cytokine production by macrophages and T cells in response to probiotic bacteria: a possible mechanism by which probiotics exert multifunctional immune regulatory activities. Gut Microbes 2(2):109–114. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.2.2. 15661
- Sommer F, Bäckhed F (2013) The gut microbiota-masters of host development and physiology. Nat Rev Microbiol 11(4):227–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2974
- Su Y, Chen C, Guo L, Du J, Li X, Liu Y (2018) Ecological balance of Oral microbiota is required to maintain Oral mesenchymal stem cell homeostasis. Stem Cells 36:551–561
- Tatullo M, Falisi G, Amantea M, Rastelli C, Pasuano F, Marrelli M (2015) Dental pulp stem cells and human periapical cyst mesenchymal stem cells in bone tissue regeneration: comparison of basal and osteogenic differentiated gene expression of a newly discovered mesenchymal stem cell lineage. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 29(3):713–718
- Tukenmez U et al (2019) The relationship between the structural characteristics of lactobacilli-EPS and its ability to induce apoptosis in coloMendin cancer cells in vitro. Sci Rep 9(1):8268. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44753-8
- Ukena SN et al (2007) Probiotic Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 inhibits leaky gut by enhancing mucosal integrity. PLoS One 2(12):e1308. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001308
- Wang Z, Pan J, Wright JT, Bencharit S, Zhang S, Everett ET, Teixeira FB (2010) Putative stem cells in human dental pulp with irreversible pulpitis: an exploratory study. J Endod 36(5):820–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2010.02.003. Epub 2010 Mar 19
- Werle SB, Lindemann D, Steffens D, Demarco FF, de Araujo FB, Pranke P, Casagrande L (2016) Carious deciduous teeth are a potential source for dental pulp stem cells. Clin Oral Investig 20(1):75–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-015-1477-5
- Xia H, Lin X, Gao W, Fu X, Fang RH, Zhang L, Zhang K (2018) Tissue repair and regeneration with endogenous stem cells. Nat Rec Mat 3:174

- Xu R et al (2012) Preparation, preliminary characterization, antioxidant, hepatoprotective and antitumor activities of polysaccharides from the flower of tea plant (Camellia sinensis). Food and Chem Toxicol 50(7):2473–2480
- Xue P, Li B, An Y, Sun J, He X, Hou R, Dong G et al (2016) Decreased MORF leads to prolonged endoplasmic reticulum stress in periodontitis-associated chronic inflammation. Cell Death Differ 23:1862–1872
- Yan F, Polk DB (2020) Probiotics and probiotic-derived functional factors mechanistic insights into applications for intestinal homeostasis. Front Immunol 11(July):1–12. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fimmu.2020.01428
- Yang N, Li Y, Wang G, Ding Y, Jin Y, Xu Y (2017) Tumor necrosis factor-α suppresses adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation of human periodontal ligament stem cell by inhibiting miR-21/ Spry1 functional axis. Differentiation 97:33–43
- Zhang Q, Shi S, Liu Y, Uyanne J, Shi Y, Shi S, Le AD (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human gingiva are capable of immunomodulatory functions and ameliorate inflammationrelated tissue destruction in experimental colitis. J Immunol 183(12):7787–7798. https://doi. org/10.4049/jimmunol.0902318
- Zhou X, Xu X, Li J, Hu D, Hu T, Yin W, Fan F et al (2018) Oral health in China: from vision to action. Int J Oral Sci 10:1
- Zhou LL, Liu W, Wu YM, Sun L, Dörfer CE, El-Sayed F (2020) Oral mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells: the immunomodulatory masters. Stem Cells Int 1327405
- Zhu H, Yu B, Yang L (2018) Exogenous and endogenous stem cells for skeletal regeneration. Stem Cells Int 2018:2574243



Effects of 3D Cell Culture on the Cell Fate Decisions of Mesenchymal Stromal/Stem Cells

Darius Widera

Contents

Introduction	566
3D Cell Culture of MSCs	567
Impact of 3D Cell Culture on Cell Fate Decisions of MSCs	570
Viability and Proliferation	570
Cellular Senescence	572
Osteogenic Differentiation	573
Adipogenic Differentiation	574
Chondrogenic Differentiation	575
MSC-Secretome, Immunomodulation, and Anti-Inflammatory Potential	575
Conclusions	576
Cross-References	577
References	578

Abstract

In vivo, all stem cells reside within distinct and defined microenvironments referred to as stem cell niches. Complex interactions between stem cells and their niche tightly regulate cell fate decisions. This affects live/death decisions, cellular senescence, and cell differentiation. Therefore, removing mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) from their niche and cultivation within conventional flat, two-dimensional (2D) cell culture systems affects their cell fate and therefore also their regenerative potential. Nevertheless, routine MSC culture for research and therapy is still conducted in 2D. Three-dimensional (3D) cell culture is a state-of-the-art technology allowing expanding and differentiating MSCs under

D. Widera (🖂)

Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine Group, School of Pharmacy, University of Reading, Reading, UK e-mail: d.widera@reading.ac.uk

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 19 more physiological conditions. This chapter will summarize current understanding of the impact of 3D cell culture on fundamental properties of MSCs including their proliferation, viability, cellular senescence, and differentiation. Furthermore, effects of 3D cell culture on the immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory potential of MSCs will be evaluated.

Keywords

3D cell culture · Mesenchymal stem cells · Osteogenic differentiation · Adipogenic differentiation · Secretome

List of Abbreviations		
2D	Two-dimensional	
3D	Three-dimensional	
AD-MSCs	Adipose tissue-derived MSCs	
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase	
IL-10	Interleukin-10	
IL-24	Interleukin-24	
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β	
IL-6	Interleukin-6	
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor	
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1	
M-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor	
MSCs	Mesenchymal stromal cells/mesenchymal stem cells	
OCN	Osteocalcin	
OPN	Osteopontin	
PGE-2	Prostaglandin E2	
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α	

Introduction

MSCs are multipotent, fibroblast-like cells that can be readily obtained from various adult tissues, including the bone marrow, adipose tissue, and peripheral blood as well as from prenatal tissues such as amniotic fluid, umbilical cord, and placenta. Being multipotent adult stem cells originating from the embryonic mesoderm, their differentiation spectrum is limited to mesenchymal derivatives such as bone, fat, and cartilage cells (see Andrzejewska et al. (2019) for review). However, after their initial discovery by Alexander Friedenstein (Friedenstein et al. 1968, 1970, 1974), several reports suggested that MSCs might have an even higher differentiation potential and an intrinsic ability to cross the germ layer boundaries. In this context, differentiation of MSCs into neural and neuronal derivatives has been claimed in multiple independent studies (Jiang et al. 2002; D'Ippolito et al. 2004; Takeda and Xu 2015; Tropel et al. 2006; Scuteri et al. 2011). Notably, a vast majority of these reports relied heavily on nonfunctional data, including morphology and marker

expression without providing a direct side-by-side comparison to neural and neuronal cells. Nevertheless, it is noteworthy that MSCs can display neuron-like morphology in response to cellular stress. Moreover, they have been shown to express neuronal markers even after differentiation into osteogenic and adipogenic fate (Foudah et al. 2013) in vitro suggesting that this might be an in vitro *cell* culture artifact and not a result of functional differentiation across a germ layer boundary.

This view is also supported by several studies showing that MSCs do not differentiate and integrate if transplanted into brain tissue in vivo. In addition to reports suggesting that MSCs can undergo an ectodermal fate, it has been postulated that MSCs could differentiate into endodermal pancreatic islet-like cells (D'Ippolito et al. 2004; Zanini et al. 2011). Notably, also these reports provided no functional data supporting this claim. Nevertheless, over 1250 clinical trials involving MSCs have been registered on the ClinicalTrials.gov database with a wide indication profile including diabetes, cardiovascular disorders, in addition to musculoskeletal symptoms. It is noteworthy that MSCs are believed to be immunoprivileged making them ideal candidates for allogenic transplantation in many acute conditions such as heart infarct, where isolation and expansion of autologous cells is too timeconsuming and cumbersome (Atoui et al. 2008a). Indeed, transplantation of allogenic and autologous MSCs has been shown to alleviate symptoms of a broad spectrum of diseases and symptoms including liver cirrhosis (affected germ layer: endoderm) (Kharaziha et al. 2009), severe ischemic heart failure (affected germ layer: mesoderm) (Mathiasen et al. 2015; Kalou et al. 2021), and progressive multiple sclerosis (affected germ layer: ectoderm) (Connick et al. 2011). This discrepancy between the promising preclinical and clinical in vivo data and the lack of cross germ layer differentiation in vitro can be explained by the nowadays widely accepted mode of action of MSCs, which is mediating paracrine bystander effects rather than a consequence of engraftment and differentiation (Sharma et al. 2014; Lee et al. 2009; Zanotti et al. 2013; Timmers et al. 2007; Gnecchi et al. 2005, 2006). The paracrine activity of the transplanted cells also promotes mobilization of the intrinsic stem cells from bone marrow for their participation in the repair process (Haider et al. 2008; Haider and Aziz 2017). Given their paracrine activity containing both soluble and insoluble constituents, cell-free therapy using MSCs-derived paracrine factors is fast emerging as an alternative to cell-based therapy (Haider and Aslam 2018; Haider and Aramini 2020).

Thus, this chapter will focus mainly on the influence of 3D cell culture on osteogenic, adipogenic, and chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs, in addition to an assessment of the effects of cultivation in 3D on viability, proliferation, cellular senescence, and anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory potential of MSCs' secretome.

3D Cell Culture of MSCs

In the developing embryo and in the adulthood, stem cells reside in defined distinct microenvironments referred to as endogenous niches (Brook and Gardner 1997; Frenette et al. 1998; Johansson et al. 1999). The current understanding of these

stem cell niches is that it not only includes stem cells but also involves cell-cell contacts, the extracellular matrix (ECM), as well as diverse biochemical and biophysical signals. These factors dictate the fate of the stem cells within the niche (Schofield 1978; Collins et al. 2005; Colmone et al. 2008; Conboy et al. 2005). Thus, proliferation, viability, differentiation, and the paracrine activity of stem cells highly depend on extrinsic factors within the microenvironment. As a result, the regenerative potential of stem cells is tightly linked to the homeostasis of its given niche. In vivo, MSCs reside in their respective niche (e.g., the perivascular niche for MSCs within the bone marrow). Their fate is regulated by integrating direct, paracrine, and endocrine signals received from various other cell types, other MSCs, extracellular matrix, and extrinsic and autocrine signaling molecules. In light of the complexity of these signaling networks, it is not surprising that removing stem cells from their niche leads to a profound disturbance of the signaling cascades that regulate cell fate.

Nevertheless, most basic and translational stem research is still conducted as conventional two-dimensional (2D) cell culture. Notably, it has been clearly shown that 2D cell culture results in an unnatural and forced apical cell polarity and changes their proliferation, migration, and differentiation capability. To address this, different strategies have been applied to recreate a more physiological microenvironment in vitro.

One of the most prominent and oldest techniques to cultivate stem cells threedimensionally has been firstly established in 1992 (Reynolds and Weiss 1992). In this pioneering study, Reynolds and Weiss used a serum-free cultivation medium to enrich neural stem cells from enzymatically and mechanically digested adult mouse brain tissue. This resulted in self-aggregation of neural stem cells into spheroids and proliferation as self-adherent clusters referred to as neurospheres. In the following, similar protocols have been applied to other cell types, including various cancer cells (tumorispheres), embryonic stem cells (embryoid bodies), and MSCs. While being cost-effective and easy, this method is limited by the unequal distribution of nutrients and growth factors within the spheres and a lack of physiological tissue geometry.

An alternative to spheroid cultures is the use of scaffolds that can be solid or provided as hydrogels (Fig. 1). This scenario is the most common strategy to cultivate mammalian stem cells within a 3D environment. Here, the endogenous stem cell niche is mimicked even more closely by matrices or matrix-like structures (Lee et al. 2008).

To overcome the limitations of the conventional 2D cell culture, different 3D cultivation methods have been applied to MSCs (reviewed in Bicer et al. (2021)). Among others, MSCs have been successfully expanded as spheroids (Fig. 2a), and cultivated in 3D within various 3D hydrogels, including alginate hydrogels (Ho et al. 2016), collagen-based matrices (Lund et al. 2009), fibrin-poly(esterurethane) scaffolds (Gardner et al. 2017), bacteria-derived cellulose (Favi et al. 2013), methylcellulose (Yamaguchi et al. 2014), nano-fibrillar cellulose (Azoidis et al. 2017; Sheard et al. 2019), and the chondrosarcoma (Fig. 2b, c) derived MatrigelTM (Yu et al. 2018).



Fig. 1 (a) Schematic view of common 3D methods for stem cell cultivation. In their niche, stem cells reside in a distinct microenvironment which includes biochemical signals and complex 3D architecture providing physicomechanical cues. Removal from the niche, stem cells can be cultivated as conventional 2D monolayers or be propagated as self-adherent 3D spheres (left). Alternatively, cells can be cultivated on the surface or embedded within 3D scaffolds (right). (b–d) Microscopic appearance of nanofibrillar cellulose (b, unpublished), anionic nanofibrillar cellulose (c, (Sheard et al. 2019)), and blood plasma-derived fibrin hydrogels (d, (Greiner et al. 2011))



Fig. 2 Different approaches to 3D cultivation of MSCs. (a) MSCs derived from human dental pulp were cultivated in serum-free medium supplemented with FGF-2 resulting in formation of self-adherent spheroids (unpublished). (b) Human AD-MSCs were embedded within a 0.2% nano-fibrillar cellulose hydrogel and stained with calcein (living cells), ethidium homodimer-1 (dead cells), and DAPI (nuclei). (Data from Azoidis et al. (2017)). (c) AD-MSCs were cultivated in 0.2% anionic nanofibrillar cellular and stained with calcein, ethidium homodimer-1, and DAPI

In addition, MSCs have been cultivated on a variety of stiff scaffolds which are beyond the scope of this chapter. In the following, we will focus on the most common approaches to 3D cultivation of MSCs – the spheroid culture and 3D cell culture within scaffolds.

Impact of 3D Cell Culture on Cell Fate Decisions of MSCs

Two-dimensional (2D) cell culture is still widely used to expand stem cells and to produce other cell-based therapeutics. This usually involves plating cells on flat plastic or glass surfaces. However, it is worth noting that the endogenous stem cell niche is not flat and two-dimensional. Therefore, removing stem cells from their niche not only changes the biochemical signals the cell receives but also mechanophysical aspects of the cell surroundings. This results in unnatural cell polarity and affects the proliferation kinetics, differentiation potential, and the profile of paracrine signals the cell is secreting.

It has been demonstrated that the cultivation of MSCs in traditional 2D cell culture is associated with a loss of multipotency and induction of premature cellular senescence (Turinetto et al. 2016). In addition, conventional cell culture has been suggested to induce chromosomal aberrations within the MSCs' genome (Ben-David et al. 2011; Bara et al. 2014). These artifacts can be avoided by the cultivation of MSCs as modern 3D cell cultures. Indeed, MSCs have been cultivated in a wide range of 3D cell culture systems including spheroids (Redondo-Castro et al. 2018; Bartosh et al. 2010) (reviewed in Cesarz and Tamama (2016)), stiff substrates, including PEDOT: PSS (Shahini et al. 2014), as well as different hydrogels including alginates (Ho et al. 2016), collagen (Lund et al. 2009), Matrigel (Yamaguchi et al. 2014), and different forms and preparations of cellulose (Favi et al. 2013; Cochis et al. 2017; Azoidis et al. 2017; Sheard et al. 2019).

However, the effects of 3D cell culture on the fundamental properties of MSCs seem to be at least partly dependent on the nature of the culture system. In the following, this chapter will discuss how different 3D cell culture systems affect MSC viability, proliferation, differentiation, and paracrine activity in comparison to respective 2D cell culture controls.

Viability and Proliferation

The impact of 3D cell culture on cell viability and proliferation has been extensively studied in cancer cells. Interestingly, the effects of 3D cell culture seem to be cell-type specific and technique-dependent, with some reports suggesting positive effects while others reported negative effects reviewed by Edmondson et al. (2014). A possible explanation is that the applied 3D culture methods varied largely with some reports utilizing scaffold-free tumorisphere cultures and other applying more advanced solid scaffolds or hydrogels. Overall, the cultivation of cancer cells as tumorispheres has frequently been associated with decreased proliferation and viability while 3D hydrogels have been shown to perform equally or be even superior compared to 2D cell culture (reviewed in Mirbagheri et al. (2019)). As proliferation and viability are critical for the expansion of MSCs in a clinical scenario, evaluating the impact of 3D cell culture technology on these parameters is paramount for the successful translation of basic research into the clinics.

While there is some evidence that spheroid culture of other cell types, including cancer cells and neural crest-derived stem cells reduces proliferation and viability (Hauser et al. 2012), the picture is more complex in case of MSCs. Since there is evidence for positive (Lee et al. 2016; Zhao et al. 2015), neutral (Domnina et al. 2018), or even adverse effects on proliferation (Sun et al. 2018; Baraniak and McDevitt 2012; Tsai et al. 2015), the impact of 3D spheroid culture in MSCs is still controversial. Overall, the adverse effects could be results of non-homogeneous nutrient and oxygen supply and impaired waste product diffusion in the core of the spheres (reviewed in Cesarz and Tamama (2016)). In contrast, the positive effects could be explained by more physiological cultivation conditions at the margin of the spheres compared to flat 2D cell culture. The picture gets even more complex when assessing the effects of cultivating MSCs within hydrogels. For several 3D scaffolds, including gelatine, poly lactic-co-glycolic acid, and chitosan, no evident effects on viability and proliferation have been reported (Lo et al. 2016). However, especially collagen hydrogels appear to exert different effects depending on the preparation of the hydrogel and the origin of the cells. While some studies suggest that collagen does not impact proliferation and viability of human MSCs (Lo et al. 2016), other reports indicate that the same scaffold increases proliferation of rat bone marrow MSCs (BM-MSCs) (Han et al. 2012). Similarly, there are contradicting data on the effects of polycaprolactone.

Increased viability and proliferation of minipig MSCs has been described in 2013 (Rampichova et al. 2013), while a recent study did not reveal any changes of proliferation and viability of human adipose tissue-derived MSCs (AD-MSCs) in 3D printed polycaprolactone/tricalcium phosphate compared to 2D controls (Park et al. 2018). Conversely, sprayed micro-fiber polycaprolactone has been suggested to increase the proliferation of human BM-MSCs, while electrospun variants of the same scaffold decreased their proliferation rate (Brennan et al. 2015). Similarly, poly (I-lactic acid) has been suggested to reduce the viability of BM-MSC, while the same scaffold substituted with hydroxyapatite increased it (Persson et al. 2018). In contrast, data from an independent lab indicated that a blend of poly (I-lactic acid) and type I collagen reduces the proliferation of human MSCs (Nguyen et al. 2012).

Similarly, the effects of the cultivation of MSCs in 3D nanofibrillar cellulose seem to differ depending on the concentration of the gel and its charge. While low concentrations (0.2%) did not change the proliferation rate of BM-MSCs, AD-MSCs, and palatal MSCs, higher concentrations (0.5%) resulted in a decrease in viability and proliferation (Azoidis et al. 2017).

However, anionic nanofibrillar cellulose has been shown to increase the viability of human AD-MSCs even at higher concentrations (Sheard et al. 2019) (Fig. 3).

Overall, there is no clear trend regarding the effects of 3D cultivation on the viability and proliferation of MSCs. The outcome is evidently dependent on many parameters, including the method of preparation of the scaffold, its concentration, as well as the species and tissue of origin of the cells used in the 3D cell culture system. Thus, adapting existing cultivation protocols to 3D cell culture requires careful monitoring of both parameters to establish optimized cultivation parameters for each scaffold and each cell type.



Fig. 3 Viability of MSCs in 3D anionic fibrillar cellulose varies depending on the seeding density and is superior compared to 2D controls. XTT viability analyses of different concentrations of AD-MSCs seeded within different densities of aNFC hydrogels show high viability after 48 h and 1 week (Sheard et al. 2019)

Cellular Senescence

Traditional 2D cell culture of flat, stiff substrates, such as plastic and glass, has been shown to increase cellular senescence of multiple cell types, including but not limited to MSCs. There is growing evidence in the literature suggesting that 3D cell culture might reduce senescence. This could be explained by the fact that the 3D environment closely mimics the endogenous niche of the MSCs while 2D enforces an unnatural apical polarity.

The impact of the most basic 3D cell culture system, the spheroid culture, on MSC senescence is ambiguous. It has been reported that spheroid cultures of AD-MSCs increase their replicative potential whilst reducing their senescence (Cheng et al. 2013; Younis et al. 2018). Similarly, human endometrial MSCs cultivated as 3D spheroids showed reduced levels of cellular senescence in response to heat shock and H_2O_2 compared to 2D controls (Domnina et al. 2020). Interestingly, although the spheroid MSCs did not show signs of senescence, the authors observed a decreased viability compared to 2D cell culture. Conversely, another study indicated that cellular senescence increases in MSC-spheroids, especially at late time points (Whitehead et al. 2020). These contrasting results could be explained by the nature of the spheroid culture system. At early stages, all cells within the clusters have sufficient access to nutrients from the environment and disposal of waste products of metabolism if not yet hampered by surrounding cells. However, once a critical size of the spheres is reached, lack of nutrients and accumulation of toxic waste initiate focal necrosis in the core of the clusters and cellular senescence in adjacent cells.

In contrast, this phenomenon is mainly avoided if 3D cell culture is conducted using hydrogels as scaffolds. A study by Younis and colleagues revealed that TNF- α -induced cellular senescence was largely reduced in MSC-like human periodontal fibroblasts cultivated in 3D methylcellulose hydrogels (Younis et al. 2018) when compared to 2D cultivated control cells. In accordance with these finding, a more recent report has provided clear evidence for a significant reduction in senescence-associated β -galactosidase activity in human adipose-derived MSCs cultivated in commercial polysaccharide hydrogels. Interestingly, the authors also reported an overall increased telomerase activity when MSCs were subjected to 3D cell culture (Yin et al. 2020).

Overall, both spheroid and scaffold-based 3D cell cultures appears to reduce the cellular senescence of MSCs from different origins. However, sphere-based 3D cell culture seems more suitable for short-term expansion of MSCs since the positive effects on cellular senescence are less obvious at the late stages of the culture.

Osteogenic Differentiation

Osteogenic differentiation is the most widely studied cell fate of MSCs (Shima et al. 2015; Matta et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2021). This is highlighted by the vast amount of research studies focused on MSC-based bone regeneration and numerous clinical trials exploiting the potential of MSCs to undergo this differentiation path. Interestingly, the data regarding the effects of 3D cell culture on osteogenic differentiation of MSCs are much more coherent than data sets focused on its influence on proliferation, viability, and senescence (Fig. 4). Overall, both scaffold-free and scaffold-based 3D cell culture systems appear to increase the osteogenic potential of MSCs. In this context, rat BM-MSCs expanded as spheroids showed a higher Osterix expression, increased ALP activity, and higher mineralization compared to 2D controls (Yamaguchi et al. 2014). In accordance with this report, the cultivation of



Fig. 4 Osteogenic differentiation can be conducted in 3D. (a, b) Alizarin Red S staining of human AD-MSCs subjected to osteogenic differentiation in anionic nanofibrillar cellulose hydrogels. Please note a more intense staining in cells cultivated in osteogenic differentiation medium. (c, d) 3D osteogenic differentiation of AD-MSCs in anionic nanofibrillar cellulose increase expression of osteocalcin and osteopontin. (Data from Sheard et al. (2019))

mouse BM-MSCs as scaffold-free spheroids resulted in fivefold higher levels of calcium deposition compared to 2D cultures exposed to the same osteogenic differentiation medium (Baraniak and McDevitt 2012).

Similarly, scaffold-based 3D cell culture systems have been consistently shown to increase the osteogenic potential of MSCs from different species and tissues. Human AD-MSCs cultivated in 3D rat tail collagen hydrogels revealed increased the expression of osteogenic markers, including type I collagen, osteopontin (OPN), and osteonectin (OCN) (Sefcik et al. 2008). Consistently, rat BM-MSCs expanded in 3D collagen scaffolds expressed higher levels of OCN and OPN as well higher levels of calcification compared to osteogenically differentiated cells in 2D (Han et al. 2012). In accordance with these reports, human MSCs of undefined origin showed higher levels of OCN and OPN and increased mineralization when subjected to osteogenic differentiation in blended scaffolds composed of collagen and electrospun poly(l-lactic acid) (Nguyen et al. 2012). Similarly, a significant increase in calcium deposition was observed in human BM-MSCs cultivated in 3D scaffolds composed of pure poly (l-lactic acid) (Persson et al. 2018). Similarly, differentiation of human BM-MSCs in Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma-derived Matrigel increased the ALP activity (a marker of osteogenic differentiation) and led to higher mineralization levels compared to cells differentiated in 2D (Yu et al. 2018).

Consistent with the results discussed above, scaffold-based 3D cell culture in 3D poly (ɛ-caprolactone) has been also shown to increase osteogenesis of minipig BM-MSCs (Rampichova et al. 2013), and human fetal and adult BM-MSCs (Shekaran et al. 2015; Brennan et al. 2015). Finally, alginate and gelatine blends increased the levels of osteogenic differentiation of AD-MSCs and BM-MSCs (Lo et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2016).

Adipogenic Differentiation

In 2019, Zohora and colleagues analyzed gene expression patterns of human AD-MSCs differentiating toward the adipogenic fate in 2D and embedded within hydrogels composed of self-assembling peptides. Although no comparison of the levels of lipid accumulation between 2D and 3D has been performed, the authors noted that the expression of genes regulating adipocyte-like cell properties was more consistent in 3D-cultivated cells (Zohora et al. 2019). Earlier reports also suggested that mouse BM-MSCs cultivated as 3D spheroids accumulate higher levels of lipids than 2D controls when subjected to adipogenic differentiation (Baraniak and McDevitt 2012; Bae et al. 2017). Interestingly, a recent study by Niibe and colleagues showed that the adipogenic potential of mouse and human MSCs pre-cultivated as adherent 2D monolayers lost as a result of long-term culture can be restored by transferring the cells into shaken 3D sphere culture systems (Niibe et al. 2020). Moreover, it has been shown that human AD-MSCs cultivated within polycaprolactone hydrogels accumulate higher levels of lipids and have a more mature adipocyte phenotype compared to their 2D cultivated counterparts. In contrast, Zou et al. reported in 2017 that the cultivation of human AD-MSCs in gelatinebased hydrogels does not significantly change lipid accumulation and the expression of the adipogenic marker FABP-4 (Zou et al. 2017). Nevertheless, a vast majority of studies indicate that similar to the osteogenic potential, the adipogenic differentiation potential is increased in 3D as well (Miyamoto et al. 2016).

Chondrogenic Differentiation

As the chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs is mostly conducted as highly compact 3D pellets, a side-by-side 2D vs. 3D comparison of chondrogenic differentiation potential is challenging. Nevertheless, Merceron et al. compared chondrogenic differentiation of human AD-MSCs in 3D hydroxypropylmethyl cellulose hydrogels to differentiation in 2D. The authors provided clear evidence that the levels of chondrogenic differentiation are increased if chondrogenesis is conducted in 3D. Interestingly, thermo-reversible 3D methylcellulose-based hydrogels have also been shown to allow upscaling compatible chondrogenic differentiation of human BM-MSCs in bioreactors (Cochis et al. 2017). A direct comparison of chondrogenic differential as evidenced by higher levels of type II Collagen, Aggrecan, and Sox9 as well as by a more intense Alcian blue staining. However, as mentioned above, the nature of the standard differentiation protocols makes assessing the impact of 3D cell culture on chondrogenic differentiation challenging.

MSC-Secretome, Immunomodulation, and Anti-Inflammatory Potential

Paracrine "bystander" effects are nowadays believed to be the primary regenerative mode of action for MSCs. This is especially important because MSCs exert beneficial effects on the regeneration of non-mesodermal tissues despite their lack of differentiation capacity into these cell types. Paracrine factors within the MSCs secretome mediate their beneficial effects mainly by reducing the levels of inflammation, modulating immune cells, increasing the levels of local angiogenesis, and inducing proliferation of endogenous tissue-resident progenitor and stem cells.

Consequently, evaluating the effects of 3D cell culture on the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory potential of MSCs is essential for a holistic analysis of their regenerative potential.

Overall, although very few reports suggest a reduction of the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory potential of MSCs as a result of 3D culture as spheroids (Burand et al. 2020), most studies provide strong evidence that secretomes produced by MSCs in 3D have an anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory potential that is superior to their 2D cultivated counterparts. In this context, it has been demonstrated that AD-MSCs spheroids increase the expression and secretion of the pro-angiogenic vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) compared to 2D (Cheng et al. 2013). In addition, Bartosh et al. showed that spheroid cultures of BM-MSCs secrete higher levels of IL-24, which is a widely known anti-inflammatory cytokine (Bartosh et al. 2010). The authors also revealed that spheroid BM-MSCs could more efficiently suppress LPS-induced inflammation compared to 2D cultivated cells.

Similarly, human MSC spheroids showed increased levels of IL-24 secretion (Frith et al. 2010). In a more recent study, Follin et al. demonstrated that MSC cultivated as spheroids secrete higher levels of VEGF than control 2D cultures (Follin et al. 2016). A similar increase of VEGF secretion has been reported in 3D spheroid cultures of human BM-MSCs (Redondo-Castro et al. 2018). In addition to the secretion of pro-angiogenic factors and reduction of inflammation, a pronounced increase of immunomodulatory activity has been observed in 3D cultivated MSCs. Briefly, MSCs cultivated as spheroids had higher potential to polarize macrophages toward the anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype. This has been attributed to increased secretion of prostaglandin E2 that mediated the macrophage polarization (Bartosh et al. 2013; Ylostalo et al. 2012). In addition to spheroid cultures, MSCs cultivated in hydrogels appear to produce secretomes with a higher regenerative potential than MSCs cultivated in 2D.

It has been reported that AD-MSCs cultivated in 3D bovine collagen/polyethylene glycol and collagen/low-molecular-weight hyaluronic acid hydrogels mediated higher levels of secretome-mediated neuroprotection of SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells following 6-hydroxydopamine insult compared to 2D cultivated controls (Chierchia et al. 2017). Similar to the changes in secretome profiles of spheroid cultured MSCs, scaffold-based 3D culture increased the secretion levels of HGF, VEGF, stromal cell-derived factor (SDF), and FGF-2 in AD-MSCs (Lee et al. 2016; Kim et al. 2013; Young et al. 2018). A recent study revealed that 3D cultivation of human BM-MSCs in electrospun gelatine/polycaprolactone scaffolds results in increased secretion of FGF-2, IL-6, VEGF, and HGF. Importantly, the authors also demonstrated that the secretomes from 3D cultivated cells were more efficient in corneal wound healing (Carter et al. 2019). Similarly, 3D cultivated umbilical cord MSCs secreted higher levels of IL-10, LIF, FGF-2, I-309, SCF, and GM-CSF than cells cultivated in 2D. Moreover, the same study showed a superior regenerative and anti-inflammatory potential in a rat in vivo arthritis model (Miranda et al. 2019).

Overall, 3D cell culture has been demonstrated to increase the regenerative potential of MSC secretomes independent of the nature of the cell culture system, suggesting that adapting 3D cell culture for cell expansion might be a promising step in improving the efficacy of MSC-based cell-free therapeutics (Kusuma et al. 2020; Bou-Ghannam et al. 2021).

Conclusions

Within their endogenous niche, the fate of MSCs is dictated by a complex network of signals, including cell-cell communication, geography of the niche, and interactions with the extracellular matrix. 3D cell culture mimics the niche more closely than flat, 2D cell culture. This chapter evaluated how 3D cell culture affects cell viability, senescence, differentiation, and paracrine potential of MSCs. As summarized above, the effects of 3D cell culture on cell viability and proliferation depend on the nature of



Fig. 5 Effects of 3D cell culture on the cell fate of MSCs (a). Advantages and drawbacks of 3D cell culture compared to traditional 2D cell cultivation. Advantages are highlighted in green, drawbacks in red, inconclusive aspects in yellow (b). 3D cell culture increases osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation potential of MSCs while there is not enough evidence to address the question how it affects chondrogenic differentiation. While there are conflicting reports on the impact of 3D cell culture on proliferation and viability, it decreases cellular senescence of MSCs and increases their anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory potential

the applied cell culture technique and the origin of the MSCs. In contrast, the effects of 3D cultivation of cellular senescence, differentiation capability, and immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory capacity are positive independent of the applied technique or scaffold (Fig. 5). Thus, going 3D might ultimately pave the way for better stem cell therapies and cell-free, MSCs-based therapeutics. Additionally, strategies based on physical, chemical (i.e., growth factor treatment), pharmacological, or genetic engineering as well as subcellular preconditioning could further augment the effects of 3D culture on MSCs in terms of survival, proliferation, differentiation, and paracrine potential (Lu et al. 2009, 2010; Kim et al. 2009; Afzal et al. 2010).

Cross-References

- Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells
- ► Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Art to Use Them in the Treatment of Previously Untreatable

- Mesenchymal Stem Cells
- Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome: A Potential Biopharmaceutical Component to Regenerative Medicine
- ▶ Regenerative Medicine Applied to the Treatment of Musculoskeletal Pathologies
- ▶ Response of the Bone Marrow Stem Cells and the Microenvironment to Stress

References

- Afzal MR, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- Andrzejewska A, Lukomska B, Janowski M (2019) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: from roots to boost. Stem Cells 37(7):855–864. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.3016
- Atoui R, Asenjo JF, Duong M, Chen G, Chiu RC, Shum-Tim D (2008a) Marrow stromal cells as universal donor cells for myocardial regenerative therapy: their unique immune tolerance. Ann Thorac Surg 85:571–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.10.034
- Atoui R, Shum-Tim D, Chiu RC (2008b) Myocardial regenerative therapy: immunologic basis for the potential "universal donor cells". Ann Thorac Surg 86:327–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. athoracsur.2008.03.038
- Azoidis I, Metcalfe J, Reynolds J, Keeton S, Hakki SS, Sheard J, Widera D (2017) Threedimensional cell culture of human mesenchymal stem cells in nanofibrillar cellulose hydrogels. MRS Commun 7(3):458–465. https://doi.org/10.1557/mrc.2017.59
- Bae YJ, Kwon YR, Kim HJ, Lee S, Kim YJ (2017) Enhanced differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells by three-dimensional culture and azacitidine. Blood Res 52(1):18–24. https://doi. org/10.5045/br.2017.52.1.18
- Bara JJ, Richards RG, Alini M, Stoddart MJ (2014) Concise review: bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells change phenotype following in vitro culture: implications for basic research and the clinic. Stem Cells 32(7):1713–1723. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1649
- Baraniak PR, McDevitt TC (2012) Scaffold-free culture of mesenchymal stem cell spheroids in suspension preserves multilineage potential. Cell Tissue Res 347(3):701–711. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00441-011-1215-5
- Bartosh TJ, Ylostalo JH, Mohammadipoor A, Bazhanov N, Coble K, Claypool K, Lee RH, Choi H, Prockop DJ (2010) Aggregation of human mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) into 3D spheroids enhances their antiinflammatory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(31): 13724–13729. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1008117107
- Bartosh TJ, Ylostalo JH, Bazhanov N, Kuhlman J, Prockop DJ (2013) Dynamic compaction of human mesenchymal stem/precursor cells into spheres self-activates caspase-dependent IL1 signaling to enhance secretion of modulators of inflammation and immunity (PGE2, TSG6, and STC1). Stem Cells 31(11):2443–2456. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1499
- Ben-David U, Mayshar Y, Benvenisty N (2011) Large-scale analysis reveals acquisition of lineagespecific chromosomal aberrations in human adult stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 9(2):97–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.06.013
- Bicer M, Cottrell GS, Widera D (2021) Impact of 3D cell culture on bone regeneration potential of mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 12(1):31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02094-8
- Bou-Ghannam S, Kim K, Grainger D, Okano T (2021) 3D cell sheet structure augments mesenchymal stem cell cytokine production. Sci Rep 11:8170. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-87571-7
- Brennan MA, Renaud A, Gamblin AL, D'Arros C, Nedellec S, Trichet V, Layrolle P (2015) 3D cell culture and osteogenic differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells plated onto

jet-sprayed or electrospun micro-fiber scaffolds. Biomed Mater 10(4):045019. https://doi.org/ 10.1088/1748-6041/10/4/045019

- Brook FA, Gardner RL (1997) The origin and efficient derivation of embryonic stem cells in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(11):5709–5712. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.11.5709
- Burand AJ Jr, Di L, Boland LK, Boyt DT, Schrodt MV, Santillan DA, Ankrum JA (2020) Aggregation of human mesenchymal stromal cells eliminates their ability to suppress human T cells. Front Immunol 11:143. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00143
- Carter K, Lee HJ, Na KS, Fernandes-Cunha GM, Blanco IJ, Djalilian A, Myung D (2019) Characterizing the impact of 2D and 3D culture conditions on the therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cell secretome on corneal wound healing in vitro and ex vivo. Acta Biomater 99:247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.09.022
- Cesarz Z, Tamama K (2016) Spheroid culture of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016: 9176357. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9176357
- Cheng NC, Chen SY, Li JR, Young TH (2013) Short-term spheroid formation enhances the regenerative capacity of adipose-derived stem cells by promoting stemness, angiogenesis, and chemotaxis. Stem Cells Transl Med 2(8):584–594. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2013-0007
- Chierchia A, Chirico N, Boeri L, Raimondi I, Riva GA, Raimondi MT, Tunesi M, Giordano C, Forloni G, Albani D (2017) Secretome released from hydrogel-embedded adipose mesenchymal stem cells protects against the Parkinson's disease related toxin 6-hydroxydopamine. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 121:113–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.09.014
- Cochis A, Grad S, Stoddart MJ, Fare S, Altomare L, Azzimonti B, Alini M, Rimondini L (2017) Bioreactor mechanically guided 3D mesenchymal stem cell chondrogenesis using a biocompatible novel thermo-reversible methylcellulose-based hydrogel. Sci Rep 7:45018. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep45018
- Collins CA, Olsen I, Zammit PS, Heslop L, Petrie A, Partridge TA, Morgan JE (2005) Stem cell function, self-renewal, and behavioral heterogeneity of cells from the adult muscle satellite cell niche. Cell 122(2):289–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.010
- Colmone A, Amorim M, Pontier AL, Wang S, Jablonski E, Sipkins DA (2008) Leukemic cells create bone marrow niches that disrupt the behavior of normal hematopoietic progenitor cells. Science 322(5909):1861–1865. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1164390
- Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, Rando TA (2005) Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature 433(7027): 760–764. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03260
- Connick P, Kolappan M, Patani R, Scott MA, Crawley C, He XL, Richardson K, Barber K, Webber DJ, Wheeler-Kingshott CA, Tozer DJ, Samson RS, Thomas DL, Du MQ, Luan SL, Michell AW, Altmann DR, Thompson AJ, Miller DH, Compston A, Chandran S (2011) The mesenchymal stem cells in multiple sclerosis (MSCIMS) trial protocol and baseline cohort characteristics: an open-label pre-test: post-test study with blinded outcome assessments. Trials 12:62. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-12-62
- D'Ippolito G, Diabira S, Howard GA, Menei P, Roos BA, Schiller PC (2004) Marrow-isolated adult multilineage inducible (MIAMI) cells, a unique population of postnatal young and old human cells with extensive expansion and differentiation potential. J Cell Sci 117(Pt 14):2971–2981. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.01103
- Domnina A, Novikova P, Obidina J, Fridlyanskaya I, Alekseenko L, Kozhukharova I, Lyublinskaya O, Zenin V, Nikolsky N (2018) Human mesenchymal stem cells in spheroids improve fertility in model animals with damaged endometrium. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):50. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0801-9
- Domnina A, Ivanova J, Alekseenko L, Kozhukharova I, Borodkina A, Pugovkina N, Smirnova I, Lyublinskaya O, Fridlyanskaya I, Nikolsky N (2020) Three-dimensional compaction switches stress response programs and enhances therapeutic efficacy of endometrial mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:473. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00473
- Edmondson R, Broglie JJ, Adcock AF, Yang L (2014) Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors. Assay Drug Dev Technol 12(4): 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1089/adt.2014.573

- Favi PM, Benson RS, Neilsen NR, Hammonds RL, Bates CC, Stephens CP, Dhar MS (2013) Cell proliferation, viability, and in vitro differentiation of equine mesenchymal stem cells seeded on bacterial cellulose hydrogel scaffolds. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 33(4):1935–1944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2012.12.100
- Follin B, Juhl M, Cohen S, Pedersen AE, Kastrup J, Ekblond A (2016) Increased paracrine immunomodulatory potential of mesenchymal stromal cells in three-dimensional culture. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 22(4):322–329. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEB.2015.0532
- Foudah D, Redondo J, Caldara C, Carini F, Tredici G, Miloso M (2013) Human mesenchymal stem cells express neuronal markers after osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation. Cell Mol Biol Lett 18(2):163–186. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11658-013-0083-2
- Frenette PS, Subbarao S, Mazo IB, von Andrian UH, Wagner DD (1998) Endothelial selectins and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 promote hematopoietic progenitor homing to bone marrow. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(24):14423–14428. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.24.14423
- Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP (1968) Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation 6(2): 230–247
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3(4): 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2184.1970.tb00347.x
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 17(4):331–340. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00007890-197404000-00001
- Frith JE, Thomson B, Genever PG (2010) Dynamic three-dimensional culture methods enhance mesenchymal stem cell properties and increase therapeutic potential. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 16(4):735–749. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEC.2009.0432
- Gardner OFW, Musumeci G, Neumann AJ, Eglin D, Archer CW, Alini M, Stoddart MJ (2017) Asymmetrical seeding of MSCs into fibrin-poly(ester-urethane) scaffolds and its effect on mechanically induced chondrogenesis. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11(10):2912–2921. https:// doi.org/10.1002/term.2194
- Gnecchi M, He H, Liang OD, Melo LG, Morello F, Mu H, Noiseux N, Zhang L, Pratt RE, Ingwall JS, Dzau VJ (2005) Paracrine action accounts for marked protection of ischemic heart by Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cells. Nat Med 11(4):367–368. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0405-367
- Gnecchi M, He H, Noiseux N, Liang OD, Zhang L, Morello F, Mu H, Melo LG, Pratt RE, Ingwall JS, Dzau VJ (2006) Evidence supporting paracrine hypothesis for Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cell-mediated cardiac protection and functional improvement. FASEB J 20(6):661–669. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-5211com
- Greiner JF, Hauser S, Widera D, Muller J, Qunneis F, Zander C, Martin I, Mallah J, Schuetzmann D, Prante C, Schwarze H, Prohaska W, Beyer A, Rott K, Hutten A, Golzhauser A, Sudhoff H, Kaltschmidt C, Kaltschmidt B (2011) Efficient animal-serum free 3D cultivation method for adult human neural crest-derived stem cell therapeutics. Eur Cell Mater 22:403–419. https://doi. org/10.22203/ecm.v022a30
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) "Mircrining" the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:23, 1–12
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Husnain Haider K, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Berlin. (Published, 2018)
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308

- Han S, Zhao Y, Xiao Z, Han J, Chen B, Chen L, Dai J (2012) The three-dimensional collagen scaffold improves the stemness of rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Genet Genomics 39(12):633–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgg.2012.08.006
- Hauser S, Widera D, Qunneis F, Muller J, Zander C, Greiner J, Strauss C, Luningschror P, Heimann P, Schwarze H, Ebmeyer J, Sudhoff H, Arauzo-Bravo MJ, Greber B, Zaehres H, Scholer H, Kaltschmidt C, Kaltschmidt B (2012) Isolation of novel multipotent neural crestderived stem cells from adult human inferior turbinate. Stem Cells Dev 21(5):742–756. https:// doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0419
- Ho SS, Murphy KC, Binder BY, Vissers CB, Leach JK (2016) Increased survival and function of mesenchymal stem cell spheroids entrapped in instructive alginate hydrogels. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(6):773–781. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0211
- Jiang Y, Jahagirdar BN, Reinhardt RL, Schwartz RE, Keene CD, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, Reyes M, Lenvik T, Lund T, Blackstad M, Du J, Aldrich S, Lisberg A, Low WC, Largaespada DA, Verfaillie CM (2002) Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 418(6893):41–49. http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v418/n6893/suppinfo/ nature00870 S1.html
- Johansson CB, Svensson M, Wallstedt L, Janson AM, Frisen J (1999) Neural stem cells in the adult human brain. Exp Cell Res 253(2):733–736. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1999.4678
- Kalou YMN, Hashemi ASA, Joudeh R, Aramini B, Haider KH (2021) Mesenchymal stem cellbased heart cell therapy: the effect of route of cell delivery in the clinical perspective. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer NATURE., Chapter 6, pp 151–191
- Kharaziha P, Hellstrom PM, Noorinayer B, Farzaneh F, Aghajani K, Jafari F, Telkabadi M, Atashi A, Honardoost M, Zali MR, Soleimani M (2009) Improvement of liver function in liver cirrhosis patients after autologous mesenchymal stem cell injection: a phase I-II clinical trial. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 21(10):1199–1205. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG. 0b013e32832a1f6c
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim JH, Park IS, Park Y, Jung Y, Kim SH, Kim SH (2013) Therapeutic angiogenesis of threedimensionally cultured adipose-derived stem cells in rat infarcted hearts. Cytotherapy 15(5): 542–556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2012.11.016
- Kusuma G, Li A, Zhu D, McDonald H, Chambers D, Frith J, Lim R (2020) Engineering mesenchymal stem cell paracrine activity with 3D culture. Cytotherapy 22(5, Suppl):S51. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2020.03.064
- Lee J, Cuddihy MJ, Kotov NA (2008) Three-dimensional cell culture matrices: state of the art. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 14(1):61–86. https://doi.org/10.1089/teb.2007.0150
- Lee RH, Pulin AA, Seo MJ, Kota DJ, Ylostalo J, Larson BL, Semprun-Prieto L, Delafontaine P, Prockop DJ (2009) Intravenous hMSCs improve myocardial infarction in mice because cells embolized in lung are activated to secrete the anti-inflammatory protein TSG-6. Cell Stem Cell 5(1):54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.05.003
- Lee JH, Han YS, Lee SH (2016) Long-duration three-dimensional spheroid culture promotes angiogenic activities of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Biomol Ther (Seoul) 24(3): 260–267. https://doi.org/10.4062/biomolther.2015.146
- Lo YP, Liu YS, Rimando MG, Ho JH, Lin KH, Lee OK (2016) Three-dimensional spherical spatial boundary conditions differentially regulate osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells. Sci Rep 6:21253. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21253
- Lu G, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Sca-1⁺ stem cell survival and engraftment in the infarcted heart: dual role for preconditioning-induced connexin-43. Circulation 119(19): 2587–2596
- Lu G, Haider KH, Porollo A, Ashraf M (2010) Mitochondria specific transgenic overexpression of connexin-43 simulates preconditioning induced cytoprotection of stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 88:277–286

- Lund AW, Stegemann JP, Plopper GE (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells sense three dimensional type I collagen through discoidin domain receptor 1. Open Stem Cell J 1:40–53. https://doi.org/10. 2174/1876893800901010040
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jorgensen E, Helqvist S, Fischer-Nielsen A, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sorensen M, Ekblond A, Kastrup J (2015) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with severe ischaemic heart failure: a randomized placebo-controlled trial (MSC-HF trial). Eur Heart J 36(27):1744–1753. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv136
- Matta C, Szűcs-Somogyi C, Kon E, Robinson D, Neufeld T, Altschuler N, Berta A et al (2019) Osteogenic differentiation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells is enhanced by an aragonite scaffold. Differentiation 107:24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2019.05.002
- Miranda JP, Camoes SP, Gaspar MM, Rodrigues JS, Carvalheiro M, Barcia RN, Cruz P, Cruz H, Simoes S, Santos JM (2019) The secretome derived from 3D-cultured umbilical cord tissue MSCs counteracts manifestations typifying rheumatoid arthritis. Front Immunol 10:18. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00018
- Mirbagheri M, Adibnia V, Hughes BR, Waldman SD, Banquy X, Hwang DK (2019) Advanced cell culture platforms: a growing quest for emulating natural tissues. Mater Horiz 6(1):45–71. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8mh00803e
- Miyamoto Y, Ikeuchi M, Noguchi H, Yagi T, Hayashi S (2016) Enhanced adipogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells in an in vitro microenvironment: the preparation of adipose-like microtissues using a three-dimensional culture. Cell Med 9(1–2):35–44. https:// doi.org/10.3727/215517916X693096
- Nguyen LT, Liao S, Chan CK, Ramakrishna S (2012) Enhanced osteogenic differentiation with 3D electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds. Nanomedicine (Lond) 7(10):1561–1575. https://doi.org/10. 2217/nnm.12.41
- Niibe K, Ohori-Morita Y, Zhang M, Mabuchi Y, Matsuzaki Y, Egusa H (2020) A shaking-culture method for generating bone marrow derived mesenchymal stromal/stem cell-spheroids with enhanced multipotency in vitro. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:590332. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fbioe.2020.590332
- Park H, Kim JS, Oh EJ, Kim TJ, Kim HM, Shim JH, Yoon WS, Huh JB, Moon SH, Kang SS, Chung HY (2018) Effects of three-dimensionally printed polycaprolactone/beta-tricalcium phosphate scaffold on osteogenic differentiation of adipose tissue- and bone marrow-derived stem cells. Arch Craniofac Surg 19(3):181–189. https://doi.org/10.7181/acfs.2018.01879
- Persson M, Lehenkari PP, Berglin L, Turunen S, Finnila MAJ, Risteli J, Skrifvars M, Tuukkanen J (2018) Osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells in a 3D woven scaffold. Sci Rep 8(1):10457. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28699-x
- Rampichova M, Chvojka J, Buzgo M, Prosecka E, Mikes P, Vyslouzilova L, Tvrdik D, Kochova P, Gregor T, Lukas D, Amler E (2013) Elastic three-dimensional poly (epsilon-caprolactone) nanofibre scaffold enhances migration, proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Prolif 46(1):23–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12001
- Redondo-Castro E, Cunningham CJ, Miller J, Brown H, Allan SM, Pinteaux E (2018) Changes in the secretome of tri-dimensional spheroid-cultured human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro by interleukin-1 priming. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0753-5
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S (1992) Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 255(5052):1707–1710. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1553558
- Schofield R (1978) The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell. Blood Cells 4(1–2):7–25
- Scuteri A, Miloso M, Foudah D, Orciani M, Cavaletti G, Tredici G (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells neuronal differentiation ability: a real perspective for nervous system repair? Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 6(2):82–92
- Sefcik LS, Neal RA, Kaszuba SN, Parker AM, Katz AJ, Ogle RC, Botchwey EA (2008) Collagen nanofibres are a biomimetic substrate for the serum-free osteogenic differentiation of human adipose stem cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2(4):210–220. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.85

- Shahini A, Yazdimamaghani M, Walker KJ, Eastman MA, Hatami-Marbini H, Smith BJ, Ricci JL, Madihally SV, Vashaee D, Tayebi L (2014) 3D conductive nanocomposite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Int J Nanomedicine 9:167–181. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S54668
- Sharma RR, Pollock K, Hubel A, McKenna D (2014) Mesenchymal stem or stromal cells: a review of clinical applications and manufacturing practices. Transfusion 54(5):1418–1437. https://doi. org/10.1111/trf.12421
- Sheard JJ, Bicer M, Meng Y, Frigo A, Aguilar RM, Vallance TM, Iandolo D, Widera D (2019) Optically transparent anionic nanofibrillar cellulose is cytocompatible with human adipose tissue-derived stem cells and allows simple imaging in 3D. Stem Cells Int 2019:3106929. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3106929
- Shekaran A, Sim E, Tan KY, Chan JK, Choolani M, Reuveny S, Oh S (2015) Enhanced in vitro osteogenic differentiation of human fetal MSCs attached to 3D microcarriers versus harvested from 2D monolayers. BMC Biotechnol 15:102. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-015-0219-8
- Shima WN, Ali AM, Subramani T, Mohamed Alitheen NB, Hamid M, Samsudin AR, Yeap SK (2015) Rapid growth and osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human bone marrow. Exp Ther Med 9:2202–2206
- Sun Y, Wang Y, Zhou L, Zou Y, Huang G, Gao G, Ting S, Lei X, Ding X (2018) Spheroid-cultured human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells attenuate hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. Sci Rep 8(1):2518. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20975-0
- Takeda YS, Xu Q (2015) Neuronal differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells using exosomes derived from differentiating neuronal cells. PLoS One 10(8):e0135111. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135111
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA, Piek JJ, El Oakley RM, Choo A, Lee CN, Pasterkamp G, de Kleijn DP (2007) Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. Stem Cell Res 1(2):129–137. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scr.2008.02.002
- Tropel P, Platet N, Platel JC, Noel D, Albrieux M, Benabid AL, Berger F (2006) Functional neuronal differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 24(12): 2868–2876. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0636
- Tsai AC, Liu Y, Yuan X, Ma T (2015) Compaction, fusion, and functional activation of threedimensional human mesenchymal stem cell aggregate. Tissue Eng Part A 21(9–10):1705–1719. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2014.0314
- Turinetto V, Vitale E, Giachino C (2016) Senescence in human mesenchymal stem cells: functional changes and implications in stem cell-based therapy. Int J Mol Sci 17(7). https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms17071164
- Wang XF, Song Y, Liu YS, Sun YC, Wang YG, Wang Y, Lyu PJ (2016) Osteogenic differentiation of three-dimensional bioprinted constructs consisting of human adipose-derived stem cells in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One 11(6):e0157214. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0157214
- Whitehead J, Zhang J, Harvestine JN, Kothambawala A, Liu GY, Leach JK (2020) Tunneling nanotubes mediate the expression of senescence markers in mesenchymal stem/stromal cell spheroids. Stem Cells 38(1):80–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.3056
- Yamaguchi Y, Ohno J, Sato A, Kido H, Fukushima T (2014) Mesenchymal stem cell spheroids exhibit enhanced in-vitro and in-vivo osteoregenerative potential. BMC Biotechnol 14:105. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-014-0105-9
- Yin Q, Xu N, Xu D, Dong M, Shi X, Wang Y, Hao Z, Zhu S, Zhao D, Jin H, Liu W (2020) Comparison of senescence-related changes between three- and two-dimensional cultured adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):226. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-020-01744-1
- Ylostalo JH, Bartosh TJ, Coble K, Prockop DJ (2012) Human mesenchymal stem/stromal cells cultured as spheroids are self-activated to produce prostaglandin E2 that directs stimulated macrophages into an anti-inflammatory phenotype. Stem Cells 30(10):2283–2296. https://doi. org/10.1002/stem.1191

- Young SA, Sherman SE, Cooper TT, Brown C, Anjum F, Hess DA, Flynn LE, Amsden BG (2018) Mechanically resilient injectable scaffolds for intramuscular stem cell delivery and cytokine release. Biomaterials 159:146–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.01.008
- Younis LT, Abu Hassan MI, Taiyeb Ali TB, Bustami TJ (2018) 3D TECA hydrogel reduces cellular senescence and enhances fibroblasts migration in wound healing. Asian J Pharm Sci 13(4): 317–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2017.12.003
- Yu L, Wu Y, Liu J, Li B, Ma B, Li Y, Huang Z, He Y, Wang H, Wu Z, Qiu G (2018) 3D culture of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) could improve bone regeneration in 3D-printed porous Ti6Al4V scaffolds. Stem Cells Int 2018:2074021. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2018/2074021
- Zanini C, Bruno S, Mandili G, Baci D, Cerutti F, Cenacchi G, Izzi L, Camussi G, Forni M (2011) Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells derived from pancreatic islets and bone marrow into islet-like cell phenotype. PLoS One 6(12):e28175. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0028175
- Zanotti L, Sarukhan A, Dander E, Castor M, Cibella J, Soldani C, Trovato AE, Ploia C, Luca G, Calvitti M, Mancuso F, Arato I, Golemac M, Jonjic N, Biondi A, Calafiore R, Locati M, D'Amico G, Viola A (2013) Encapsulated mesenchymal stem cells for in vivo immunomodulation. Leukemia 27(2):500–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.202
- Zhang Y, Fang C, Zhang S, Campbell RE, Serpe MJ (2021) Controlled osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells using dexamethasone-loaded light-responsive microgels. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 13(6):7051–7059
- Zhao G, Liu F, Lan S, Li P, Wang L, Kou J, Qi X, Fan R, Hao D, Wu C, Bai T, Li Y, Liu JY (2015) Large-scale expansion of Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells on gelatin microbeads, with retention of self-renewal and multipotency characteristics and the capacity for enhancing skin wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-015-0031-3
- Zohora FT, Aldebs AI, Nosoudi N, Singh SP, Ramirez-Vick JE (2019) Gene expression profiling of human adipose tissue stem cells during 2D versus 3D adipogenesis. Cells Tissues Organs 208(3–4):113–133. https://doi.org/10.1159/000507187
- Zou J, Wang W, Neffe AT, Xu X, Li Z, Deng Z, Sun X, Ma N, Lendlein A (2017) Adipogenic differentiation of human adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells in 3D architectured gelatin based hydrogels (ArcGel). Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 67(3–4):297–307. https://doi.org/10. 3233/CH-179210

Part II

Cell-Based Therapy Approach: Non-Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy



20

The Function of Stem Cells in Ocular Homeostasis

S. Amer Riazuddin, Shahid Y. Khan, and Muhammad Ali

Contents

Introduction	588
Cornea	589
Corneal Epithelium	589
Corneal Stroma	590
Corneal Endothelium	590
Conjunctiva	592
Iris	592
Ciliary Body	593
Trabecular Meshwork	593
Lens	594
Retina	596
Retinal Pigment Epithelium	596
Retinal Muller Cells	597
Summary	597
Cross-References	598
References	598

Abstract

Stem cells are defined as precursor cells with capabilities of self-renewal and the potential to differentiate into any type of specialized cells in the human body. Stem cells are categorized into two main types: pluripotent stem cells and adult stem cells. The former are derived from an embryo or can be generated by reprogramming and the latter from somatic tissues. The pluripotent stem cells can differentiate into three germ layers and tissue-specific stem cells, whereas the adult stem cells residing in somatic tissues can differentiate into specific cell lineage depending on the tissue environment. Multiple studies have characterized

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_32

S. A. Riazuddin (🖂) · S. Y. Khan · M. Ali

The Wilmer Eye Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: sriazud1@jhmi.edu; skhan59@jhmi.edu; mriaz1@jhmi.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

adult stem cells in many human tissues, including the eye, and in recent years, there have been many reports highlighting the critical role of adult stem cells in maintaining the natural homeostasis of the eye. This chapter reviews the various populations of adult stem cells that exist in multiple compartments of the eye and their critical role in regeneration and repairability during ocular damage and/or disease.

Keywords

Abbreviations

Cornea · Embryonic stem cells · Eye · Homeostasis · Induced pluripotent stem cells · Ocular · Pluripotent · Reprogramming · Retina · Stem cells

AMD	Age-related macular degeneration
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
RP	Retinitis pigmentosa

Introduction

Pluripotency, the capability of differentiating into numerous cell lineages and selfrenewal are characteristics of stem cells (Thomson et al. 1998). Stem cells can be classified into totipotent, pluripotent, multipotent, oligopotent, and unipotent depending upon their location and the inherent ability of differentiation into multiple cells (Thomson et al. 1998; Mimeault et al. 2007; Takahashi et al. 2007). The human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) unlocked diverse practical opportunities for cell-based therapies and served as important ex-vivo models to investigate human hereditary ailments (Thomson et al. 1998; Mimeault et al. 2007; Takahashi et al. 2007).

Unlike other organs, the immunologically privileged status and convenience for treatment make the human eye a paradigm for cellular therapies. The stem cell-mediated treatments include ocular and nonocular adult stem cell therapies and pluripotent stem cell-based treatments. The adult ocular stem cell therapies include the treatments derived from lens epithelial progenitor/stem cells (Lin et al. 2016), ciliary pigment-epithelial stem cells (Ahmad et al. 2000; Tropepe et al. 2000), retinal pigment epithelial stem cells (Salero et al. 2012), and retinal Muller stem cells (Ooto et al. 2004; Reichenbach and Bringmann 2013). Different studies have documented the differentiation of iPSCs and hESCs into specified ocular cells, corneal epithelial cells (Hayashi et al. 2012), retinal pigment epithelial cells (Buchholz et al. 2009; Hirami et al. 2009), photoreceptors, and retinal ganglion cells (Osakada et al. 2008; Lamba et al. 2009; Eiraku et al. 2011; Homma et al. 2013; Zhong et al. 2014; Maekawa et al. 2016).

Corneal stromal stem cells, corneal epithelial stem cells, and corneal endothelial progenitor cells have been documented to exhibit self-renewal potential (Cotsarelis

et al. 1989; Hall and Watt 1989; Pinnamaneni and Funderburgh 2012). So far, a small number of studies have shown the isolation of presumptive progenitor cells from eye lens (Hanna and O'Brien 1961; Persons and Modak 1970; Rafferty and Rafferty 1981; Zhou et al. 2006; Yamamoto et al. 2008). Recently, Lin et al. isolated lens epithelial stem cells in mammals and have shown that endogenous lens epithelial stem cells can achieve lens regeneration in macaques, rabbits, and human infants having cataracts (Lin et al. 2016).

Adult ocular stem cells, including multipotent retinal progenitor cells present in ciliary pigment epithelium, have been documented to generate photoreceptors (Xu et al. 2007; Ballios et al. 2012; Clarke et al. 2012; Del Debbio et al. 2013). The partial regeneration ability of retinal pigment epithelial cells has been reported (Fischer 2005). Recently, a small population of retinal pigment epithelial cells has shown stem cell-like differentiation potential into several retinal cell types (Osakada et al. 2007; Lu et al. 2013).

In this chapter, we discuss the stem cell populations residing in different compartments of the eye with an overall focus on their potential in cell-based therapies. This is an update to the chapter titled stem cell for ocular therapies in DE Gruyter 2018 publication, Stem cells: from hype to real hope.

Cornea

The cornea, an avascular transparent tissue, is an outermost layer that covers the iris, pupil, and anterior chamber of the eye (Delmonte and Kim 2011). The cornea comprises three cellular layers, including endothelium, stroma, and epithelium, and two noncellular layers, i.e., Descemet's membrane and Bowman's layer (Delmonte and Kim 2011). As the outermost layer of the eye, the cornea serves as a barrier and provides an optical function and accounts for about two-third of the entire refractive potential of the human eye (Delmonte and Kim 2011).

Corneal Epithelium

The corneal epithelium is a stratiform, nonkeratinizing, and the outermost layer of the cornea (Cotsarelis et al. 1989; Dua et al. 2003). The stem cells present in the limbal lower region, also called limbal stem cells, exhibit self-repairing capability of the corneal epithelium (Cotsarelis et al. 1989; Hall and Watt 1989). The limbal stem cells give rise to two daughter cells, an oligopotent-limbal stem cell and the other cell form transient fast-dividing cells which eventually make terminally differentiated cells (Schermer et al. 1986; Tseng 1989b; Kruse and Tseng 1993; Kruse 1994; Zieske 1994; Pellegrini et al. 2009).

The limbal stem cell deficiency due to the loss of limbal stem cells leads to the malfunction of limbus barrier function, new vessel formation, and the loss of corneal transparency (Dua et al. 2000). The limbal stem cell deficiency could be caused by inherited stem cell-aplasia, ocular surface injury, idiopathic diseases, and stem cell

exhaustion (Hughes 1946; Tseng 1989a; Nishida et al. 1995; Dua et al. 2000; Ramaesh et al. 2005).

Corneal Stroma

The corneal stroma is a collagenous-connective tissue and accounts for 80–90% of the total thickness of the cornea (Patel et al. 2001, 2002). The keratocytes, proteoglycans, collagens, and glycoproteins are accountable for collagen formation in the stroma (Maurice 1957; Freegard 1997; Knupp et al. 2009).

Corneal stromal fibrosis (also known as stromal scarring) can occur as a consequence of surgery and/or infection that contributes to a major portion of corneal blindness worldwide (Shortt et al. 2010; Oliva et al. 2012). During stromal fibrosis, the keratocytes differentiate into fibroblasts that result in a disorganized extracellular matrix in the stroma (Cintron et al. 1973; Fini 1999; Funderburgh et al. 2001; Funderburgh et al. 2003). Corneal transplantation is the only available remedy for corneal blindness (Tan et al. 2012). However, the limited availability of cadaveric human stromal tissue compelled the requirement of alternative sources, i.e., the biosynthetic cornea (Lagali et al. 2011), human corneal stromal stem cells (hCSSCs), and the generation of stromal tissue using different cell types (Ren et al. 2008; Du et al. 2009; Du and Wu 2011; Arjamaa 2012; Espandar et al. 2012; Wu et al. 2012; Yoeruek et al. 2012; Wu et al. 2013; Basu et al. 2014; Boulze Pankert et al. 2014; Giasson et al. 2014; Katikireddy et al. 2014; Nakatsu et al. 2014). In a study, Funderburgh et al. showed specialized cells exhibiting mesenchymal stem cell characteristics from bovine corneal stroma (Funderburgh et al. 2005).

In a subsequent study, Du and coworkers isolated the keratocyte progenitor cells from the human corneal stroma and identified the expression of ABCG2, an adult stem cell marker in keratocyte progenitor stromal cells (Du et al. 2005). Several studies have reported the stromal cells demonstrating properties similar to mesenchymal stem cells (Amano et al. 2006; Yoshida et al. 2006; Polisetty et al. 2008; Branch et al. 2012; Garfias et al. 2012; Li et al. 2012). Du et al. injected hESCs in the Lumincan-null mice stroma which resulted in stromal-transparency (Du et al. 2009). Pinnamaneni and Funderburgh documented the potential of hESCs for the treatment of stromal-scarring (Pinnamaneni and Funderburgh 2012).

Corneal Endothelium

The corneal endothelium is a monolayer of hexagonal cells located on the posterior surface of the cornea and serves as a barrier against the uncontrolled flow of the aqueous humor into the cornea (Bonanno 2012). The corneal endothelium is essential for corneal transparency by mediating hydration through barrier and pump functions (Bonanno 2012). The corneal endothelial cell density is ~2500 cells/ mm² in normal adult corneal endothelium (Tan et al. 2012). Surgical fumble and inherited corneal endothelial dystrophies are the leading causes responsible for

corneal endothelial cell loss and reduction in corneal endothelial cell density (Lorenzetti et al. 1967). The corneal endothelium function is strikingly affected below 500 cells/mm² corneal endothelial cell density resulting in corneal edema and loss of vision (Tan et al. 2012).

To date, several studies have been performed to recognize corneal endothelialstem cells. In two independent studies, the researchers conducted a sphere-forming assay to identify human corneal endothelial stem cell-precursors (Yokoo et al. 2005; Amano et al. 2006). The analysis demonstrated no expression of stem cell-associated markers in precursor cells; however, the clonogenic potential, proliferative capacity, and the ability to form a hexagonal monolayer of cells may indicate that they are corneal endothelial progenitor cells (Yokoo et al. 2005; Amano et al. 2006). In addition, the sphere-forming assay revealed a higher propensity of sphere-forming in peripheral cells compared to centrally residing cells of the endothelium (Mimura et al. 2005; Yamagami et al. 2007). In another study, likely progenitor cells were recognized in the region among Schwalbe's line and peripheral endothelium (Bednarz et al. 1998; Whikehart et al. 2005; Mimura and Joyce 2006; He et al. 2012). Increased density and proliferative potential of corneal endothelial cells situated at the peripheral portion of the cornea in comparison to the middle portion further supported the identification of progenitor-like cells (Bednarz et al. 1998; Whikehart et al. 2005; Mimura and Joyce 2006; He et al. 2012).

In addition, multiple studies were executed to document the expression of stem cell-associated markers in stem/progenitor-like cells in human corneal endothelium (Hirata-Tominaga et al. 2013; Hara et al. 2014). Hirata-Tominaga et al. discovered the expression of a stem cell marker i.e., LGR5, in the peripheral cells of corneal endothelium (Hirata-Tominaga et al. 2013). The authors stated that LGR5 (+) corneal endothelial cells exhibit elevated proliferative potential compared to LGR5(-) cells. They further demonstrated that LGR5 expression is responsible for endothelial phenotype and also impedes endothelial-mesenchymal-transformation (Hirata-Tominaga et al. 2013). Based on the neural crest origin of human corneal endothelial cells, several studies employed neural crest-associated markers to separate and typify the likely progenitor-cells from human corneal endothelium (Hara et al. 2014; Katikireddy et al. 2016). However, the progenitor cells from the young cornea exhibited higher proliferative potency compared with the older cornea (Katikireddy et al. 2016).

In a recent study, the authors explored the neural crest origin of likely proenitorcells separated from Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy and normal corneas (Katikireddy et al. 2016). These neural crest-originated progenitor cells revealed the nonexistence of senescence with an increase in passage number, sphere-forming potential, and elevated colony-making capability in contrast to the primary cells (Katikireddy et al. 2016).

Ali et al. reported differentiation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells originated, iPSCs to corneal endothelial cells which share a similar proteome profile with human corneal endothelium, and further demonstrated that cryopreservation does not affect the cardinal features of corneal endothelial cells (Ali et al. 2018b). The authors subsequently confirmed that iPSCs- and hESCs-derived corneal endothelial cells have comparable transcriptome profiles (Ali et al. 2018a). In a recent study, Ali

et al. demonstrated the efficacy of cryopreserved hESC-derived corneal endothelial cells to form a functional corneal endothelium on the denuded Descemet's membrane (Ali et al. 2021). The authors generated pluripotent stem cell-derived corneal endothelial cells under xeno-free conditions, characterized cryopreserved pluripotent stem cell-derived corneal endothelial cells using next-generation RNA sequencing, and successfully evaluated intracameral injection of cryopreserved corneal endothelial cells to form a functional corneal endothelium in rabbits and monkeys (Ali et al. 2021).

Conjunctiva

Conjunctiva is a mucous membrane lining the eyelids and provides protection and lubrication to the eye (Inatomi et al. 1996; Di Girolamo 2011). The conjunctiva can be distinguished into three portions: the bulbar that covers the eye surface, the forniceal that forms the junction between the bulbar and the palpebral conjunctivas, and the palpebral that makes the lining of the undersurface of eyelids (Inatomi et al. 1996; Di Girolamo 2011).

Several studies have identified putative conjunctival stem cells in the conjunctiva (Wei et al. 1995; Pellegrini et al. 1999; Wirtschafter et al. 1999; Chen et al. 2003); however, the precise location of conjunctival stem cells is yet not well defined. Nagasaki et al. reported the even dissemination of conjunctival stem cells in the conjunctiva in GFP-labeled mice (Nagasaki and Zhao 2005; Stewart et al. 2015). In another study, Pellegrini et al. reported uniform distribution of conjunctival stem cells in the fornices and bulbar conjunctiva (Pellegrini et al. 1999). In a recent study, Stewart et al. inferred the conjunctival stem cell location in medial canthal and the inferior forniceal conjunctiva based on colony-forming potential and expression-pattern of stem cell-associated markers (Stewart et al. 2015). Further, stem cell features, i.e., reduced cell cycling, and the elevated proliferation rate were used to characterize the putative stem cell niche in the conjunctiva of rabbits (Wei et al. 1993; Wei et al. 1995). These studies revealed forniceal conjunctiva exhibiting a higher number of cells displaying stem cell characteristics compared to bulbar and palpebral conjunctiva (Wei et al. 1993, 1995).

To date, conjunctival stem cell specific markers have not been identified; nevertheless, ABCG2 and p63 are considered to be the most reliable markers (Watanabe et al. 2004; de Paiva et al. 2005; Kawasaki et al. 2006). Budak et al. reported that the human bulbar region of the conjunctiva possesses ABCG2 positive cells which exhibit features similar to epithelial stem cells (Budak et al. 2005). Likewise, Vascotto and Griffith documented the existence of ABCG2 and p63 positive cells in the bulbar portion of the conjunctival-epithelium (Vascotto and Griffith 2006).

Iris

The iris is a thin, annular structure that splits the space among the lens and cornea (Grierson et al. 2002). The iris is composed of four layers: the anterior border layer, the stroma, the dilator muscle layer, and the posterior epithelium double monolayers

of iris pigment epithelial cells on the posterior part of the iris (Freddo 1984; Grierson et al. 2002).

Different authors documented the potential of iris pigment epithelial cells as progenitor cells based on their growth in spheres and the expression of neural stem/progenitor cells (Arnhold et al. 2004; Seko et al. 2012). In two sovereign studies, the analysis showed that iris pigment epithelial cells can also be differentiated into glial and neuronal cell types (Arnhold et al. 2004; Seko et al. 2012). Based on their origin, the iris pigment epithelial cells can form a complete lens in adult newt (Eguchi 1988; Tsonis and Del Rio-Tsonis 2004). Similarly, Kosaka et al. showed that one day old chicken iris pigment epithelial cells can sustain a differentiated form and may give rise to retinal pigment epithelium and lentoid bodies (Kosaka et al. 1998). In another study, Sun et al. isolated chicken iris pigment epithelial cells exhibiting sphere-forming potential and expression of retinal progenitor markers in non-adherent culture (Sun et al. 2006). In addition, they showed that iris pigment epithelial cells derived from postnatal chicken can proliferate similar to neural progenitor/stem cells with the ability to regenerate several cell types, such as retina-associated glia, neurons, and the lens (Sun et al. 2006).

Ciliary Body

The ciliary body is comprised of epithelium and muscle that is mainly involved in the production of aqueous humor (Napier and Kidson 2007). The ciliary body also regulates intraocular pressure, aqueous flow, and the maintenance of the immune-privileged status of the anterior chamber of the eye.

Multiple studies have demonstrated the presence of multipotent stem cells in the ciliary pigment epithelium isolated from adult mice, rats, rabbits, porcine, and humans (Ahmad et al. 2000; Tropepe et al. 2000; Inoue et al. 2005; Abdouh and Bernier 2006; MacNeil et al. 2007; Moe et al. 2009). In three independent studies, the analyses revealed about 1 in 100 and 1 in 500 ciliary body cells have proliferative capability isolated from adult mice and rats, respectively (Tropepe et al. 2000; Das et al. 2004; Kohno et al. 2006). Further, it has been reported that ciliary pigment epithelium-derived progenitor cells can be identified and isolated using neural retinal and/or progenitor associated markers (Xu et al. 2007; Moe et al. 2009). Xu et al. documented isolation of progenitors-like cells from the ciliary body of adult rats, mice, and human cadaver eyes (Xu et al. 2007) and have shown the expression of retinal/neuronal markers and neurospheres formation by ex vivo culturing of ciliary pigment epithelium-derived progenitor cells (Xu et al. 2007).

Trabecular Meshwork

The trabecular meshwork is a triangular-shaped tissue that lies in between the iris and cornea and regulates the outflow of aqueous humor fluid in the eye (Buller et al. 1990). The features of trabecular meshwork cells include the secretion of specific
enzymes, extracellular matrix, and phagocytosis in the aqueous humor (Buller et al. 1990; Stamer et al. 1995).

The attenuation in trabecular meshwork-cellularity was observed with the progression of age and glaucoma and linked with elevated outflow resistance and increased intraocular pressure (Alvarado et al. 1981, 1984; He et al. 2008). Multiple studies have documented a subpopulation of cells that express mesenchymal cellspecific markers, escape replicative senescence in human primary trabecular meshwork cells, and the potential to differentiate into various lineages by characterizing trabecular meshwork cells (Du et al. 2012; Tay et al. 2012). Recently, Du et al. reported phagocytic activity of multipotent stem cells from human trabecular meshwork tissue (Du et al. 2012). Further, multipotent stem cells isolated from trabecular meshwork revealed the expression of pluripotent stem cell- and mesenchymal stem cell-markers examined by gene expression analysis (Du et al. 2012, 2013). These cells also demonstrated the expression of trabecular meshwork-associated markers including MGP, AQP1, CHI3L1, and TIMP3 (Du et al. 2012, 2013). Similarly, multiple studies reported stem cell-like cells in primary trabecular meshwork cultures which can form free-floating neurospheres (Vittitow and Borris 2004; Gonzalez et al. 2006; McGowan et al. 2007; Xu et al. 2007; Kelley et al. 2009).

Lens

The lens is structurally transparent tissue without vessels which is mainly responsible to focus light on the retina (McAvoy et al. 1999; Cvekl and Ashery-Padan 2014). The lens originates from the head-ectoderm which forms the lens placode. The lens placode further turns inward along with the optic vesicle to constitute the lens pit, and the optic cup, respectively (McAvoy et al. 1999; Cvekl and Ashery-Padan 2014). Next, the lens pit detaches from the ectoderm to create the lens vesicle which generates anterior and posterior single layers of cells (McAvoy et al. 1999; Cvekl and Ashery-Padan 2014). The lens develops quickly during lateembryonic and early post birth stages as the epithelial cells differentiate into secondary fiber cells (McAvoy et al. 1999; Cvekl and Ashery-Padan 2014). The closely packed lens fiber-cells, the maximum quantity of crystallin proteins, and the organelle loss during the differentiation process lessen light scattering and offer the refractive index essential for transparency and focusing (Michael et al. 2003; Bloemendal et al. 2004).

The quest of presumptive progenitor cells identification in the eye lens has been investigated in multiple studies (Hanna and O'Brien 1961; Persons and Modak 1970; Rafferty and Rafferty 1981; Zhou et al. 2006; Yamamoto et al. 2008). Overall, these investigations focused on the identification of slow and fast cycling-cells employing DNA-tagging methods in chick, rat, and mouse lenses (Hanna and O'Brien 1961; Persons and Modak 1970; Rafferty and Rafferty 1981; Zhou et al. 2006; Yamamoto et al. 2008). The epithelial cells situated at the peripheral zone of lens epithelium in the transition region exhibit increased proliferative potential. In contrast, the central portion of the lens demonstrates mitotically inactive epithelial

cells (Hanna and O'Brien 1961; Persons and Modak 1970; Rafferty and Rafferty 1981; Zhou et al. 2006; Yamamoto et al. 2008). It is well documented that lentoid bodies and lens progenitor cells can be generated from iPSCs and hESCs (O'Connor and McAvoy 2007; Yang et al. 2010; Qiu et al. 2012; Li et al. 2016; Fu et al. 2017; Ali et al. 2019, 2020). We previously showed that lentoid bodies can be generated from hESCs and peripheral blood mononuclear cells.

Originally, both hESCs and iPSCs shared similar morphological characteristics and expression pattern. We generated lentoid bodies using the "fried egg" method (Ali et al. 2019). Both hESCs and iPSCs were cultured on Matrigel-coated plates in mTeSR1 medium. The fried-egg like structures were observed on day 8 during the differentiation procedure. The phase-contrast microscopy of hESC- and iPSCderived lentoid bodies revealed lens-like morphological appearance on differentiation day 25 (Fig. 1).

The lentoid bodies were harvested at differentiation day 25 and subjected to nextgeneration RNA sequencing (RNA-Seq) analysis. The mapped reads represented 263.42x and 238.01x sequence coverage for hESC- and iPSC-derived lentoid bodies, respectively, for ~70 Mb human transcriptome (Ali et al. 2019). The datasets revealed the expression (\geq 0.659 RPKM) of 13,975 and 14,003 genes in hESC- and iPSC-derived lentoid bodies, respectively (Ali et al. 2019). A comparative analysis of these data suggested similar transcriptomes of hESC- and iPSC-derived lentoid bodies (Ali et al. 2019).



Fig. 1 Generation of lentoid bodies from H9 human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC)-originated, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). The red dotted square indicates a lens-like transparent structure on differentiation day 25. The images are of 5x and 20x magnifications, and the scale bars represent 100 μ m

Retina

The retina is a complicated structure, comprised of neural cell layers (ganglion cells, bipolar cells, and photoreceptor cells) and retinal pigment epithelium (Raymond and Hitchcock 1997). The human retina has reduced repair potential. Multiple retinal disorders including age-related macular degeneration (AMD), retinitis pigmentosa (RP), diabetic retinopathy, glaucoma, and Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA) have been reported to cause retinal damage and eventually resulting in vision loss (Alonso-Alonso and Srivastava 2015).

The human retina has shown restricted renewal potential; however, the neural retina can be regenerated in lower vertebrates (Raymond and Hitchcock 1997; Reh and Levine 1998). In amphibians and fish, retinal injury can prompt the proliferation of retinal pigment epithelial cells (Mitashov 1997). Fischer and Reh documented that the postnatal chicken retina exhibits the regeneration potential to generate neurons (Fischer and Reh 2001). Following injury, Muller glial cells enter the cell cycle, dedifferentiate, attain progenitor-like properties, and generate new neurons and glia (Fischer and Reh 2001). The retina of adult birds (Goldman and Nottebohm 1983) and mammals (Tropepe et al. 2000; Fischer and Reh 2001) have demonstrated the presence of multipotent stem cells.

Retinal Pigment Epithelium

The retinal pigment epithelium originates from the outer layer of the optic cup (Rapaport et al. 1995). Multiple reports have shown the proliferation proficiency of retinal pigment epithelium harvested from the adult and fetal human retina (Hu and Bok 2001; Maminishkis et al. 2006; Blenkinsop et al. 2012). Salero et al. explored a retinal pigment epithelial cell subpopulation that can be prompted to a stem cell-state presenting self-renewing and multipotent competencies (Salero et al. 2012). Blenkinsop et al. reported that retinal pigment epithelial stem cells can divide efficiently and retain the capability to differentiate into an exceedingly polarized retinal pigment epithelium monolayer (Blenkinsop et al. 2012).

Biswas et al. recently reported detection and validation of the underlying cause of progressive retinal degeneration (Biswas et al. 2021). Whole-genome sequencing identified a novel intron 8 donor splice site variant (c.1296 + 1G > A) and a novel exonic deletion encompassing the Mer tyrosine kinase proto-oncogene (*MERTK*), which is highly expressed in the retinal pigment epithelium (Biswas et al. 2021). To evaluate the impact of these novel variants, the authors reprogrammed peripheral blood mononuclear cells of the patient and parents of the patient to human iPSC lines, which were differentiated to retinal pigment epithelium (Biswas et al. 2021). The analysis of human iPSC–derived retinal pigment epithelium revealed the absence of both *MERTK* transcript and its respective protein as well as abnormal phagocytosis when compared with the parental human iPSC–retinal pigment epithelium (Biswas et al. 2021). Importantly, this approach using a human iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium is a subnormal pigment epithelium model to establish the functional impact of disease-causing mutations to establish the potential mechanism underlying retinal pathology advocates for the use of patient-specific iPSCs. Characterization of iPSC-derived



Fig. 2 Characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived retinal pigmentepithelial cells. Human iPSC-derived, retinal pigment epithelium is examined for the expression of multiple retinal pigment-epithelium markers including (a) Zona occludens-1 (ZO1), (b) the helixloop-helix leucine zipper transcription factor MiTF, stained red, and (c) BEST1 localized to the basal side of human iPSC-retinal pigment epithelium which are shown. Scale bar: 10 μm

retinal pigment epithelial cells was confirmed by examining the expression of retinal pigment epithelium-associated markers including zona occludens-1 (ZO1), the helix-loop-helix leucine zipper transcription factor MiTF, and BEST1 (Fig. 2).

Retinal Muller Cells

Multipotent retinal progenitor cells give rise to Muller glial cells (Martin and Grünert 1992; Strettoi and Masland 1995), which constitute $\sim 4-5\%$ of total cells of the mouse retina (Young 1985; Jeon et al. 1998). It is well documented that retinal Muller cells can differentiate into various retinal cell types (Bernardos et al. 2007; Jadhav et al. 2009). Multiple studies reported the limited regeneration ability of Muller cells in chicken (Fischer and Reh 2001), rats (Reves-Aguirre et al. 2013; Ferraro et al. 2015), mice (Ooto et al. 2004; Karl et al. 2008), and humans (Lawrence et al. 2007). It has been reported that Muller cells can reenter the cell cycle and redevelop the ganglion cells and inner nuclear layer in the injured retina of zebrafish (Raymond et al. 2006; Fimbel et al. 2007). Muller glia cells have also shown the regeneration potential into different types of neurons following N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) injury to the retina in rodents (Ooto et al. 2004). Wan et al. documented photoreceptor repair in NMDA-induced retinal photoceptordegenerated adult rats using Muller glial cells (Wan et al. 2008). Further studies have demonstrated the differentiation capability of Muller glia into ganglion cells under defined conditions (Zhao et al. 2014; Song et al. 2015, 2016).

Summary

In summary, we have provided a comprehensive view of adult stem cell populations residing in various compartments of the eye with an overall focus on their functional applications in cell-based therapies. Multiple studies have characterized adult stem

cells in different human body tissues including the eye and highlighted the crucial role of adult stem cells in maintaining natural homeostasis. Stem cells have distinct properties which permit them to regulate cell replacement during homeostasis and tissue repair. During homeostasis and after injury, the stem cells divide to generate daughter-transient amplifying cells which proliferate, migrate, and differentiate to replace the missing cells. However, this cannot happen when the stem cell population is depleted as a result of some diseased condition or trauma. The stem cell activity in any system requires to be strictly regulated for keeping the tissue in equilibrium. In this regard, the niche or tissue microenvironment, where stem cells exist, plays a crucial role in regulating stem cell fate decisions. Within these specified microenvironments, multiple signals are delivered, which guarantee correct stem cell activity. However, the exact cellular and molecular mechanisms by which the niche controls stem cell behavior remain elusive. It is important to note that stem cells are profound to the microenvironment they are exposed to, and irrelevant microenvironmental signals may lead to their depletion or impaired function. Therefore, further studies are required to conclude how stem cells are regulated by the niche and how niche components alter during infection or injury which ultimately will improve therapeutic strategies for the treatment of multiple ocular dysfunctions.

Cross-References

▶ The Potential of Stem Cells in Ocular Treatments

References

- Abdouh M, Bernier G (2006) In vivo reactivation of a quiescent cell population located in the ocular ciliary body of adult mammals. Exp Eye Res 83:153–164
- Ahmad I, Tang L, Pham H (2000) Identification of neural progenitors in the adult mammalian eye. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 270:517–521
- Ali M, Khan SY, Kabir F, Gottsch JD, Riazuddin SA (2018a) Comparative transcriptome analysis of hESC- and iPSC-derived corneal endothelial cells. Exp Eye Res 176:252–257
- Ali M, Khan SY, Vasanth S, Ahmed MR, Chen R, Na CH, Thomson JJ et al (2018b) Generation and proteome profiling of PBMC-originated, iPSC-derived corneal endothelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 59:2437–2444
- Ali M, Kabir F, Thomson JJ, Ma Y, Qiu C, Delannoy M, Khan SY et al (2019) Comparative transcriptome analysis of hESC- and iPSC-derived lentoid bodies. Sci Rep 9:18552
- Ali M, Kabir F, Raskar S, Renuse S, Na CH, Delannoy M, Khan SY et al (2020) Generation and proteome profiling of PBMC-originated, iPSC-derived lentoid bodies. Stem Cell Res 46:101813
- Ali M, Khan SY, Gottsch JD, Hutchinson EK, Khan A, Riazuddin SA (2021) Pluripotent stem cellderived corneal endothelial cells as an alternative to donor corneal endothelium in keratoplasty. Stem Cell Rep 16:2320–2335
- Alonso-Alonso ML, Srivastava GK (2015) Current focus of stem cell application in retinal repair. World J Stem Cells 7:641–648
- Alvarado J, Murphy C, Polansky J, Juster R (1981) Age-related changes in trabecular meshwork cellularity. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 21:714–727

- Alvarado J, Murphy C, Juster R (1984) Trabecular meshwork cellularity in primary open-angle glaucoma and nonglaucomatous normals. Ophthalmology 91:564–579
- Amano S, Yamagami S, Mimura T, Uchida S, Yokoo S (2006) Corneal stromal and endothelial cell precursors. Cornea 25:S73–SS7
- Arjamaa O (2012) Corneal reconstruction by stem cells and bioengineering. Clin Ophthalmol 6:1407
- Arnhold S, Semkova I, Andressen C, Lenartz D, Meissner G, Sturm V, Kochanek S et al (2004) Iris pigment epithelial cells: a possible cell source for the future treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Neurol 187:410–417
- Ballios BG, Clarke L, Coles BLK, Shoichet MS, Van Der Kooy D (2012) The adult retinal stem cell is a rare cell in the ciliary epithelium whose progeny can differentiate into photoreceptors. Biol Open 1:237–246
- Basu S, Hertsenberg AJ, Funderburgh ML, Burrow MK, Mann MM, Du Y, Lathrop KL et al (2014) Human limbal biopsy-derived stromal stem cells prevent corneal scarring. Sci Transl Med 6: 266ra172
- Bednarz J, Rodokanaki-von Schrenck A, Engelmann K (1998) Different characteristics of endothelial cells from central and peripheral human cornea in primary culture and after subculture. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 34:149–153
- Bernardos RL, Barthel LK, Meyers JR, Raymond PA (2007) Late-stage neuronal progenitors in the retina are radial Müller glia that function as retinal stem cells. J Neurosci 27:7028–7040
- Biswas P, Borooah S, Matsui H, Voronchikhina M, Zhou J, Zawaydeh Q, Raghavendra PB et al (2021) Detection and validation of novel mutations in MERTK in a simplex case of retinal degeneration using WGS and hiPSC-RPEs model. Hum Mutat 42:189–199
- Blenkinsop TA, Salero E, Stern JH, Temple S (2012) The culture and maintenance of functional retinal pigment epithelial monolayers from adult human eye. In: Epithelial cell culture protocols. Springer, New York, pp 45–65
- Bloemendal H, de Jong W, Jaenicke R, Lubsen NH, Slingsby C, Tardieu A (2004) Ageing and vision: structure, stability and function of lens crystallins. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 86:407–485
- Bonanno JA (2012) Molecular mechanisms underlying the corneal endothelial pump. Exp Eye Res 95:2–7
- Boulze Pankert M, Goyer B, Zaguia F, Bareille M, Perron MC, Liu X, Cameron JD et al (2014) Biocompatibility and functionality of a tissue-engineered living corneal stroma transplanted in the feline eye. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 55:6908–6920
- Branch MJ, Hashmani K, Dhillon P, Jones DR, Dua HS, Hopkinson A (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells in the human corneal limbal stroma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53:5109–5116
- Buchholz DE, Hikita ST, Rowland TJ, Friedrich AM, Hinman CR, Johnson LV, Clegg DO (2009) Derivation of functional retinal pigmented epithelium from induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells 27:2427–2434
- Budak MT, Alpdogan OS, Zhou M, Lavker RM, Akinci MAM, Wolosin JM (2005) Ocular surface epithelia contain ABCG2-dependent side population cells exhibiting features associated with stem cells. J Cell Sci 118:1715–1724
- Buller C, Johnson DH, Tschumper RC (1990) Human trabecular meshwork phagocytosis. Observations in an organ culture system. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 31:2156–2163
- Chen W, Ishikawa M, Yamaki K, Sakuragi S (2003) Wistar rat palpebral conjunctiva contains more slow-cycling stem cells that have larger proliferative capacity: implication for conjunctival epithelial homeostasis. Jpn J Ophthalmol 47:119–128
- Cintron C, Schneider H, Kublin C (1973) Corneal scar formation. Exp Eye Res 17:251-259
- Clarke L, Ballios BG, Van Der Kooy D (2012) Generation and clonal isolation of retinal stem cells from human embryonic stem cells. Eur J Neurosci 36:1951–1959
- Cotsarelis G, Cheng SZ, Dong G, Sun TT, Lavker RM (1989) Existence of slow-cycling limbal epithelial basal cells that can be preferentially stimulated to proliferate: implications on epithelial stem cells. Cell 57:201–209
- Cvekl A, Ashery-Padan R (2014) The cellular and molecular mechanisms of vertebrate lens development. Development 141:4432–4447

- Das AV, James J, Zhao X, Rahnenfuhrer J, Ahmad I (2004) Identification of c-Kit receptor as a regulator of adult neural stem cells in the mammalian eye: interactions with Notch signaling. Dev Biol 273:87–105
- de Paiva CS, Chen Z, Corrales RM, Pflugfelder SC, Li DQ (2005) ABCG2 transporter identifies a population of clonogenic human limbal epithelial cells. Stem Cells 23:63–73
- Del Debbio CB, Peng X, Xiong H, Ahmad I (2013) Adult ciliary epithelial stem cells generate functional neurons and differentiate into both early and late born retinal neurons under non-cell autonomous influences. BMC Neurosci 14:1–14
- Delmonte DW, Kim T (2011) Anatomy and physiology of the cornea. J Cataract Refract Surg 37: 588–598
- Di Girolamo N (2011) Stem cells of the human cornea. Br Med Bull 100:191-207
- Du L, Wu X (2011) Development and characterization of a full-thickness acellular porcine cornea matrix for tissue engineering. Artif Organs 35:691–705
- Du Y, Funderburgh ML, Mann MM, SundarRaj N, Funderburgh JL (2005) Multipotent stem cells in human corneal stroma. Stem Cells 23:1266–1275
- Du Y, Carlson EC, Funderburgh ML, Birk DE, Pearlman E, Guo N, Kao WWY et al (2009) Stem cell therapy restores transparency to defective murine corneas. Stem Cells 27:1635–1642
- Du Y, Roh DS, Mann MM, Funderburgh ML, Funderburgh JL, Schuman JS (2012) Multipotent stem cells from trabecular meshwork become phagocytic TM cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53:1566–1575
- Du Y, Yun H, Yang E, Schuman JS (2013) Stem cells from trabecular meshwork home to TM tissue in vivo. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 54:1450–1459
- Dua HS, Saini JS, Azuara-Blanco A, Gupta P (2000) Limbal stem cell deficiency: concept, aetiology, clinical presentation, diagnosis and management. Indian J Opthalmol 48:83
- Dua HS, Joseph A, Shanmuganathan VA, Jones RE (2003) Stem cell differentiation and the effects of deficiency. Eye 17:877–885
- Eguchi G (1988) Cellular and molecular background of Wolffian lens regeneration. Cell Differ Dev 25:147–158
- Eiraku M, Takata N, Ishibashi H, Kawada M, Sakakura E, Okuda S, Sekiguchi K et al (2011) Selforganizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. Nature 472:51–56
- Espandar L, Bunnell B, Wang GY, Gregory P, McBride C, Moshirfar M (2012) Adipose-derived stem cells on hyaluronic acid-derived scaffold: a new horizon in bioengineered cornea. Arch Ophthalmol 130:202–208
- Ferraro S, Gomez-Montalvo AI, Olmos R, Ramirez M, Lamas M (2015) Primary cilia in rat mature Müller glia: downregulation of IFT20 expression reduces sonic hedgehog-mediated proliferation and dedifferentiation potential of Müller glia primary cultures. Cell Mol Neurobiol 35: 533–542
- Fimbel SM, Montgomery JE, Burket CT, Hyde DR (2007) Regeneration of inner retinal neurons after intravitreal injection of ouabain in zebrafish. J Neurosci 27:1712–1724
- Fini ME (1999) Keratocyte and fibroblast phenotypes in the repairing cornea. Prog Retin Eye Res 18:529–551
- Fischer AJ (2005) Neural regeneration in the chick retina. Prog Retin Eye Res 24:161-182
- Fischer AJ, Reh TA (2001) Müller glia are a potential source of neural regeneration in the postnatal chicken retina. Nat Neurosci 4:247–252
- Freddo TF (1984) Intercellular junctions of the iris epithelia in Macaca mulatta. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 25:1094–1104
- Freegard TJ (1997) The physical basis of transparency of the normal cornea. Eye 11:465-471
- Fu Q, Qin Z, Jin X, Zhang L, Chen Z, He J, Ji J et al (2017) Generation of functional lentoid bodies from human induced pluripotent stem cells derived from urinary cells. Investing Ophthalmol Vis Sci 58:517–527
- Funderburgh JL, Funderburgh ML, Mann MM, Corpuz L, Roth MR (2001) Proteoglycan expression during transforming growth factor β-induced keratocyte-myofibroblast transdifferentiation. J Biol Chem 276:44173–44178

- Funderburgh JL, Mann MM, Funderburgh ML (2003) Keratocyte phenotype mediates proteoglycan structure: a role for fibroblasts in corneal fibrosis. J Biol Chem 278:45629–45637
- Funderburgh ML, Du Y, Mann MM, SundarRaj N, Funderburgh JL (2005) PAX6 expression identifies progenitor cells for corneal keratocytes. FASEB J 19:1371–1373
- Garfias Y, Nieves-Hernandez J, Garcia-Mejia M, Estrada-Reyes C, Jimenez-Martinez MC (2012) Stem cells isolated from the human stromal limbus possess immunosuppressant properties. Mol Vis 18:2087
- Giasson CJ, Deschambeault A, Carrier P, Germain L (2014) Adherens junction proteins are expressed in collagen corneal equivalents produced in vitro with human cells. Mol Vis 20:386
- Goldman SA, Nottebohm F (1983) Neuronal production, migration, and differentiation in a vocal control nucleus of the adult female canary brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:2390–2394
- Gonzalez P, Epstein DL, Luna C, Liton PB (2006) Characterization of free-floating spheres from human trabecular meshwork (HTM) cell culture in vitro. Exp Eye Res 82:959–967
- Grierson I, Pfeiffer N, Cracknell KPB, Appleton P (2002) Histology and fine structure of the iris and outflow system following latanoprost therapy. Surv Ophthalmol 47:S176–SS84
- Hall PA, Watt FM (1989) Stem cells: the generation and maintenance of cellular diversity. Development 106:619–633
- Hanna CALV, O'Brien JE (1961) Cell production and migration in the epithelial layer of the lens. Arch Ophthalmol 66:103–107
- Hara S, Hayashi R, Soma T, Kageyama T, Duncan T, Tsujikawa M, Nishida K (2014) Identification and potential application of human corneal endothelial progenitor cells. Stem Cells Dev 23: 2190–2201
- Hayashi R, Ishikawa Y, Ito M, Kageyama T, Takashiba K, Fujioka T, Tsujikawa M et al (2012) Generation of corneal epithelial cells from induced pluripotent stem cells derived from human dermal fibroblast and corneal limbal epithelium. PLoS One 7:e45435
- He Y, Leung KW, Zhang YH, Duan S, Zhong XF, Jiang RZ, Peng Z et al (2008) Mitochondrial complex I defect induces ROS release and degeneration in trabecular meshwork cells of POAG patients: protection by antioxidants. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49:1447–1458
- He Z, Campolmi N, Gain P, Ha Thi BM, Dumollard JM, Duband S, Peoc'h M et al (2012) Revisited microanatomy of the corneal endothelial periphery: new evidence for continuous centripetal migration of endothelial cells in humans. Stem Cells 30:2523–2534
- Hirami Y, Osakada F, Takahashi K, Okita K, Yamanaka S, Ikeda H, Yoshimura N et al (2009) Generation of retinal cells from mouse and human induced pluripotent stem cells. Neurosci Lett 458:126–131
- Hirata-Tominaga K, Nakamura T, Okumura N, Kawasaki S, Kay EP, Barrandon Y, Koizumi N et al (2013) Corneal endothelial cell fate is maintained by LGR5 through the regulation of hedgehog and Wnt pathway. Stem Cells 31:1396–1407
- Homma K, Okamoto S, Mandai M, Gotoh N, Rajasimha HK, Chang YS, Chen S et al (2013) Developing rods transplanted into the degenerating retina of Crx-knockout mice exhibit neural activity similar to native photoreceptors. Stem Cells 31:1149–1159
- Hu J, Bok D (2001) A cell culture medium that supports the differentiation of human retinal pigment epithelium into functionally polarized monolayers. Mol Vis 7:14–19
- Hughes WF (1946) Alkali burns of the eye: I. review of the literature and summary of present knowledge. Arch Ophthalmol 35:423–449
- Inatomi T, Spurr-Michaud S, Tisdale AS, Zhan Q, Feldman ST, Gipson IK (1996) Expression of secretory mucin genes by human conjunctival epithelia. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 37: 1684–1692
- Inoue Y, Yanagi Y, Tamaki Y, Uchida S, Kawase Y, Araie M, Okochi H (2005) Clonogenic analysis of ciliary epithelial derived retinal progenitor cells in rabbits. Exp Eye Res 81:437–445
- Jadhav AP, Roesch K, Cepko CL (2009) Development and neurogenic potential of Müller glial cells in the vertebrate retina. Prog Tetinal Eye Res 28:249–262
- Jeon CJ, Strettoi E, Masland RH (1998) The major cell populations of the mouse retina. J Neurosci 18:8936–8946

- Karl MO, Hayes S, Nelson BR, Tan K, Buckingham B, Reh TA (2008) Stimulation of neural regeneration in the mouse retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:19508–19513
- Katikireddy KR, Dana R, Jurkunas UV (2014) Differentiation potential of limbal fibroblasts and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to corneal epithelial cells. Stem Cells 32:717–729
- Katikireddy KR, Schmedt T, Price MO, Price FW, Jurkunas UV (2016) Existence of neural crestderived progenitor cells in normal and fuchs endothelial dystrophy corneal endothelium. Am J Pathol 186:2736–2750
- Kawasaki S, Tanioka H, Yamasaki K, Connon CJ, Kinoshita S (2006) Expression and tissue distribution of p63 isoforms in human ocular surface epithelia. Exp Eye Res 82:293–299
- Kelley MJ, Rose AY, Keller KE, Hessle H, Samples JR, Acott TS (2009) Stem cells in the trabecular meshwork: present and future promises. Exp Eye Res 88:747–751
- Knupp C, Pinali C, Lewis PN, Parfitt GJ, Young RD, Meek KM, Quantock AJ (2009) The architecture of the cornea and structural basis of its transparency. Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol 78:25–49
- Kohno Ri, Ikeda Y, Yonemitsu Y, Hisatomi T, Yamaguchi M, Miyazaki M, Takeshita H et al (2006) Sphere formation of ocular epithelial cells in the ciliary body is a reprogramming system for neural differentiation. Brain Res 1093:54–70
- Kosaka M, Kodama R, Eguchi G (1998) In vitro culture system for iris-pigmented epithelial cells for molecular analysis of transdifferentiation. Exp Cell Res 245:245–251
- Kruse FE (1994) Stem cells and corneal epithelial regeneration. Eye 8:170-183
- Kruse FE, Tseng SC (1993) Growth factors modulate clonal growth and differentiation of cultured rabbit limbal and corneal epithelium. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 34:1963–1976
- Lagali N, Fagerholm P, Griffith M (2011) Biosynthetic corneas: prospects for supplementing the human donor cornea supply. Expert Rev Med Devices 8:127–130
- Lamba DA, Gust J, Reh TA (2009) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived photoreceptors restores some visual function in Crx-deficient mice. Cell Stem Cell 4:73–79
- Lawrence JM, Singhal S, Bhatia B, Keegan DJ, Reh TA, Luthert PJ, Khaw PT et al (2007) MIO-M1 cells and similar Müller glial cell lines derived from adult human retina exhibit neural stem cell characteristics. Stem Cells 25:2033–2043
- Li GG, Zhu YT, Xie HT, Chen SY, Tseng SCG (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human limbal niche cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53:5686–5697
- Li D, Qiu X, Yang J, Liu T, Luo Y, Lu Y (2016) Generation of human lens epithelial like cells from patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. J Cell Physiol 231:2555–2562
- Lin H, Ouyang H, Zhu J, Huang S, Liu Z, Chen S, Cao G et al (2016) Lens regeneration using endogenous stem cells with gain of visual function. Nature 531:323–328
- Lorenzetti DWC, Uotila MH, Parikh N, Kaufman HE (1967) Central cornea guttata: incidence in the general population. Am J Ophthalmol 64:1155–1158
- Lu B, Morgans CW, Girman S, Luo J, Zhao J, Du H, Lim S et al (2013) Neural stem cells derived by small molecules preserve vision. Transl Vis Sci Technol 2:1
- MacNeil A, Pearson RA, MacLaren RE, Smith AJ, Sowden JC, Ali RR (2007) Comparative analysis of progenitor cells isolated from the iris, pars plana, and ciliary body of the adult porcine eye. Stem Cells 25:2430–2438
- Maekawa Y, Onishi A, Matsushita K, Koide N, Mandai M, Suzuma K, Kitaoka T et al (2016) Optimized culture system to induce neurite outgrowth from retinal ganglion cells in threedimensional retinal aggregates differentiated from mouse and human embryonic stem cells. Curr Eye Res 41:558–568
- Maminishkis A, Chen S, Jalickee S, Banzon T, Shi G, Wang FE, Ehalt T et al (2006) Confluent monolayers of cultured human fetal retinal pigment epithelium exhibit morphology and physiology of native tissue. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 47:3612–3624
- Martin PR, Grünert U (1992) Spatial density and immunoreactivity of bipolar cells in the macaque monkey retina. J Comp Neurol 323:269–287
- Maurice DM (1957) The structure and transparency of the cornea. J Physiol 136:263-286

- McAvoy JW, Chamberlain CG, de Iongh RU, Hales AM, Lovicu FJ (1999) Lens development. Eye (Lond) 13(Pt 3b):425–437
- McGowan SL, Edelhauser HF, Pfister RR, Whikehart DR (2007) Stem cell markers in the human posterior limbus and corneal endothelium of unwounded and wounded corneas. Mol Vis 13: 1984–2000
- Michael R, van Marle J, Vrensen GFJM, van den Berg TJTP (2003) Changes in the refractive index of lens fibre membranes during maturation-impact on lens transparency. Exp Eye Res 77:93–99
- Mimeault M, Hauke R, Batra SK (2007) Stem cells: a revolution in therapeutics-recent advances in stem cell biology and their therapeutic applications in regenerative medicine and cancer therapies. Clin Pharmacol Ther 82:252–264
- Mimura T, Joyce NC (2006) Replication competence and senescence in central and peripheral human corneal endothelium. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 47:1387–1396
- Mimura T, Yamagami S, Yokoo S, Araie M, Amano S (2005) Comparison of rabbit corneal endothelial cell precursors in the central and peripheral cornea. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46: 3645–3648
- Mitashov VI (1997) Retinal regeneration in amphibians. Int J Dev Biol 41:893-905
- Moe MC, Kolberg RS, Sandberg C, Vik-Mo E, Olstorn H, Varghese M, Langmoen IA et al (2009) A comparison of epithelial and neural properties in progenitor cells derived from the adult human ciliary body and brain. Exp Eye Res 88:30–38
- Nagasaki T, Zhao J (2005) Uniform distribution of epithelial stem cells in the bulbar conjunctiva. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46:126–132
- Nakatsu MN, Gonzalez S, Mei H, Deng SX (2014) Human limbal mesenchymal cells support the growth of human corneal epithelial stem/progenitor cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 55: 6953–6959
- Napier HRL, Kidson SH (2007) Molecular events in early development of the ciliary body: a question of folding. Exp Eye Res 84:615–625
- Nishida K, Kinoshita S, Ohashi Y, Kuwayama Y, Yamamoto S (1995) Ocular surface abnormalities in aniridia. Am J Ophthalmol 120:368–375
- O'Connor MD, McAvoy JW (2007) In vitro generation of functional lens-like structures with relevance to age-related nuclear cataract. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48:1245–1252
- Oliva MS, Schottman T, Gulati M (2012) Turning the tide of corneal blindness. Indian J Ophthalmol 60:423
- Ooto S, Akagi T, Kageyama R, Akita J, Mandai M, Honda Y, Takahashi M (2004) Potential for neural regeneration after neurotoxic injury in the adult mammalian retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:13654–13659
- Osakada F, Ooto S, Akagi T, Mandai M, Akaike A, Takahashi M (2007) Wnt signaling promotes regeneration in the retina of adult mammals. J Neurosci 27:4210–4219
- Osakada F, Ikeda H, Mandai M, Wataya T, Watanabe K, Yoshimura N, Akaike A et al (2008) Toward the generation of rod and cone photoreceptors from mouse, monkey and human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 26:215–224
- Patel SV, McLaren JW, Hodge DO, Bourne WM (2001) Normal human keratocyte density and corneal thickness measurement by using confocal microscopy in vivo. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42:333–339
- Patel SV, McLaren JW, Hodge DO, Bourne WM (2002) Confocal microscopy in vivo in corneas of long-term contact lens wearers. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43:995–1003
- Pellegrini G, Golisano O, Paterna P, Lambiase A, Bonini S, Rama P, De Luca M (1999) Location and clonal analysis of stem cells and their differentiated progeny in the human ocular surface. J Cell Biol 145:769–782
- Pellegrini G, Rama P, Mavilio F, De Luca M (2009) Epithelial stem cells in corneal regeneration and epidermal gene therapy. J Pathol 217:217–228
- Persons BJ, Modak SP (1970) The pattern of DNA synthesis in the lens epithelium and the annular pad during development and growth of the chick lens. Exp Eye Res 9:144–151

- Pinnamaneni N, Funderburgh JL (2012) Concise review: stem cells in the corneal stroma. Stem Cells 30:1059–1063
- Polisetty N, Fatima A, Madhira SL, Sangwan VS, Vemuganti GK (2008) Mesenchymal cells from limbal stroma of human eye. Mol Vis 14:431
- Qiu X, Yang J, Liu T, Jiang Y, Le Q, Lu Y (2012) Efficient generation of lens progenitor cells from cataract patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 7:e32612
- Rafferty NS, Rafferty KA Jr (1981) Cell population kinetics of the mouse lens epithelium. J Cell Physiol 107:309–315
- Ramaesh K, Ramaesh T, Dutton GN, Dhillon B (2005) Evolving concepts on the pathogenic mechanisms of aniridia related keratopathy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 37:547–557
- Rapaport DH, Rakic P, Yasamura D, LaVail MM (1995) Genesis of the retinal pigment epithelium in the macaque monkey. J Comp Neurol 363:359–376
- Raymond PA, Hitchcock PF (1997) Retinal regeneration: common principles but a diversity of mechanisms. Adv Neurol 72:171–184
- Raymond PA, Barthel LK, Bernardos RL, Perkowski JJ (2006) Molecular characterization of retinal stem cells and their niches in adult zebrafish. BMC Dev Biol 6:1–17
- Reh TA, Levine EM (1998) Multipotential stem cells and progenitors in the vertebrate retina. J Neurobiol 36:206–220
- Reichenbach A, Bringmann A (2013) New functions of Müller cells. Glia 61:651-678
- Ren R, Hutcheon AEK, Guo XQ, Saeidi N, Melotti SA, Ruberti JW, Zieske JD et al (2008) Human primary corneal fibroblasts synthesize and deposit proteoglycans in longer term 3-D cultures. Dev Dyn 237:2705–2715
- Reyes-Aguirre LI, Ferraro S, Quintero H, Sánchez-Serrano SL, Gómez-Montalvo A, Lamas M (2013) Glutamate-induced epigenetic and morphological changes allow rat Müller cell dedifferentiation but not further acquisition of a photoreceptor phenotype. Neuroscience 254: 347–360
- Salero E, Blenkinsop TA, Corneo B, Harris A, Rabin D, Stern JH, Temple S (2012) Adult human RPE can be activated into a multipotent stem cell that produces mesenchymal derivatives. Cell Stem Cell 10:88–95
- Schermer A, Galvin S, Sun TT (1986) Differentiation-related expression of a major 64K corneal keratin in vivo and in culture suggests limbal location of corneal epithelial stem cells. J Cell Biol 103:49–62
- Seko Y, Azuma N, Kaneda M, Nakatani K, Miyagawa Y, Noshiro Y, Kurokawa R et al (2012) Derivation of human differential photoreceptor-like cells from the iris by defined combinations of CRX, RX and NEUROD. PLoS One 7:e35611
- Shortt AJ, Tuft SJ, Daniels JT (2010) Ex vivo cultured limbal epithelial transplantation. A clinical perspective. Ocul Surf 8:80–90
- Song Wt, Zhang Xy, Xia Xb (2015) Atoh7 promotes the differentiation of Müller cells-derived retinal stem cells into retinal ganglion cells in a rat model of glaucoma. Exp Biol Med 240: 682–690
- Song Wt, Zeng Q, Xia Xb, Xia K, Pan Q (2016) Atoh7 promotes retinal Müller cell differentiation into retinal ganglion cells. Cytotechnology 68:267–277
- Stamer WD, Seftor RE, Snyder RW, Regan JW (1995) Cultured human trabecular meshwork cells express aquaporin-1 water channels. Curr Eye Res 14:1095–1100
- Stewart RM, Sheridan CM, Hiscott PS, Czanner G, Kaye SB (2015) Human conjunctival stem cells are predominantly located in the medial canthal and inferior forniceal areas. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 56:2021–2030
- Strettoi E, Masland RH (1995) The organization of the inner nuclear layer of the rabbit retina. J Neurosci 15:875–888
- Sun G, Asami M, Ohta H, Kosaka J, Kosaka M (2006) Retinal stem/progenitor properties of iris pigment epithelial cells. Dev Biol 289:243–252
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131:861–872

- Tan DTH, Dart JKG, Holland EJ, Kinoshita S (2012) Corneal transplantation. Lancet 379: 1749–1761
- Tay CY, Sathiyanathan P, Chu SWL, Stanton LW, Wong TT (2012) Identification and characterization of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the trabecular meshwork of the human eye. Stem Cells Dev 21:1381–1390
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282:1145–1147
- Tropepe V, Coles BLK, Chiasson BJ, Horsford DJ, Elia AJ, McInnes RR, Van Der Kooy D (2000) Retinal stem cells in the adult mammalian eye. Science 287:2032–2036
- Tseng SC (1989a) Concept and application of limbal stem cells. Eye (Lond) 3(Pt 2):141-157
- Tseng SCG (1989b) Concept and application of limbal stem cells. Eye 3:141–157
- Tsonis PA, Del Rio-Tsonis K (2004) Lens and retina regeneration: transdifferentiation, stem cells and clinical applications. Exp Eye Res 78:161–172
- Vascotto SG, Griffith M (2006) Localization of candidate stem and progenitor cell markers within the human cornea, limbus, and bulbar conjunctiva in vivo and in cell culture. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 288:921–931
- Vittitow J, Borris T (2004) Genes expressed in the human trabecular meshwork during pressure induced homeostatic response. J Cell Physiol 201:126–137
- Wan J, Zheng H, Chen ZL, Xiao HL, Shen ZJ, Zhou GM (2008) Preferential regeneration of photoreceptor from Müller glia after retinal degeneration in adult rat. Vis Res 48:223–234
- Watanabe K, Nishida K, Yamato M, Umemoto T, Sumide T, Yamamoto K, Maeda N et al (2004) Human limbal epithelium contains side population cells expressing the ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCG2. FEBS Lett 565:6–10
- Wei ZG, Wu RL, Lavker RM, Sun TT (1993) In vitro growth and differentiation of rabbit bulbar, fornix, and palpebral conjunctival epithelia. Implications on conjunctival epithelial transdifferentiation and stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 34:1814–1828
- Wei ZG, Cotsarelis G, Sun TT, Lavker RM (1995) Label-retaining cells are preferentially located in fornical epithelium: implications on conjunctival epithelial homeostasis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 36:236–246
- Whikehart DR, Parikh CH, Vaughn AV, Mishler K, Edelhauser HF (2005) Evidence suggesting the existence of stem cells for the human corneal endothelium. Mol Vis 11:816–824
- Wirtschafter JD, Ketcham JM, Weinstock RJ, Tabesh T, McLoon LK (1999) Mucocutaneous junction as the major source of replacement palpebral conjunctival epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40:3138–3146
- Wu C, Lin H, Wang Q, Chen W, Luo H, Chen W, Zhang H (2012) Discrepant expression of microRNAs in transparent and cataractous human lenses. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53: 3906–3912
- Wu J, Du Y, Mann MM, Yang E, Funderburgh JL, Wagner WR (2013) Bioengineering organized, multilamellar human corneal stromal tissue by growth factor supplementation on highly aligned synthetic substrates. Tissue Eng A 19:2063–2075
- Xu H, Iglesia DDS, Kielczewski JL, Valenta DF, Pease ME, Zack DJ, Quigley HA (2007) Characteristics of progenitor cells derived from adult ciliary body in mouse, rat, and human eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48:1674–1682
- Yamagami S, Yokoo S, Mimura T, Takato T, Araie M, Amano S (2007) Distribution of precursors in human corneal stromal cells and endothelial cells. Ophthalmology 114:433–439
- Yamamoto N, Majima K, Marunouchi T (2008) A study of the proliferating activity in lens epithelium and the identification of tissue-type stem cells. Med Mol Morphol 41:83–91
- Yang C, Yang Y, Brennan L, Bouhassira EE, Kantorow M, Cvekl A (2010) Efficient generation of lens progenitor cells and lentoid bodies from human embryonic stem cells in chemically defined conditions. FASEB J 24:3274–3283
- Yoeruek E, Bayyoud T, Maurus C, Hofmann J, Spitzer MS, Bartz-Schmidt KU, Szurman P (2012) Reconstruction of corneal stroma with decellularized porcine xenografts in a rabbit model. Acta Ophthalmol 90:e206–ee10

- Yokoo S, Yamagami S, Yanagi Y, Uchida S, Mimura T, Usui T, Amano S (2005) Human corneal endothelial cell precursors isolated by sphere-forming assay. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46: 1626–1631
- Yoshida S, Shimmura S, Nagoshi N, Fukuda K, Matsuzaki Y, Okano H, Tsubota K (2006) Isolation of multipotent neural crest-derived stem cells from the adult mouse cornea. Stem Cells 24: 2714–2722
- Young RW (1985) Cell proliferation during postnatal development of the retina in the mouse. Dev Brain Res 21:229–239
- Zhao JJ, Ouyang H, Luo J, Patel S, Xue Y, Quach J, Sfeir N et al (2014) Induction of retinal progenitors and neurons from mammalian Müller glia under defined conditions. J Biol Chem 289:11945–11951
- Zhong X, Gutierrez C, Xue T, Hampton C, Vergara MN, Cao LH, Peters A et al (2014) Generation of three-dimensional retinal tissue with functional photoreceptors from human iPSCs. Nat Commun 5:1–14
- Zhou M, Leiberman J, Xu J, Lavker RM (2006) A hierarchy of proliferative cells exists in mouse lens epithelium: implications for lens maintenance. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 47:2997–3003

Zieske JD (1994) Perpetuation of stem cells in the eye. Eye (Lond) 8(Pt 2):163-169



The Potential of Stem Cells in Ocular Treatments

S. Amer Riazuddin, Shahid Y. Khan, and Muhammad Ali

Contents

Introduction	608
Cornea	609
Corneal Epithelium	609
Corneal Stroma	510
Stem Cell-Based Treatment for Corneal Edema	511
Trabecular Meshwork	513
Ocular Lens	513
The Retina	514
Conclusion	517
Cross-References	517
References	617

Abstract

Although conventional treatment strategies of drug administration and surgical intervention have been successful in protecting vision loss, however these efforts have been unable to discover a comprehensive approach to prevent the progression of disease in many ocular disorders. In this context, stem cell-based therapies provide an alternative approach to prevent vision loss in instances where conventional treatments have failed. The immune-privileged status and easy accessibility of different tissue of the eye offers several advantages for stem-cell-based therapeutic intervention. The pluripotent stem cells have been used to generate multiple eye cell types including corneal epithelial- and endothelial-cells, retinal pigment-epithelial cells, photoreceptors, retinal ganglion cells, and lens, conjunctival, limbal, and trabecular meshwork cells. Multiple pluripotent stem cell-based clinical trials for the treatment of a wide range of eye diseases are in progress.

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_33

21

S. A. Riazuddin (🖂) · S. Y. Khan · M. Ali

The Wilmer Eye Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: sriazud1@jhmi.edu; skhan59@jhmi.edu; mriaz1@jhmi.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

In this chapter, we review the potential of pluripotent stem cell-derived cells of multiple eye tissues to prevent vision loss by replacing the degenerative cells.

Keywords

Abbroviations

Embryonic stem cells · Eye · Induced pluripotent stem cells · Ocular · Preclinical · Retinal · Stem cells

Abbreviations		
AMD	Age-related macular degeneration	
BL	Bowman's layer	
CE	Corneal endothelium	
DM	Descemet's membrane	
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells	
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells	
RGCs	Retinal ganglion cells	
RP	Retinitis pigmentosa	
SEAM	Self-formed ectodermal autonomous multizone	

Introduction

Stem cell-based regenerative medicine is an emerging field where stem cells or their derivatives have been used to regenerate and restore the physiological functioning of several ocular tissues in preclinical models and human patients (Streilein et al. 2002; Jones et al. 2017). The mammalian eye has an intricate structure and harbors various advantages for stem cell-based therapies. Retinal degenerative diseases, such as retinitis pigmentosa (RP) and age-related macular degeneration (AMD), are characterized by the early loss of photoreceptors or retinal pigment-epithelial cells (de Jong 2006; Ferrari et al. 2011), while glaucoma is characterized by retinal ganglion cell (RGC) degeneration (Davis et al. 2016a). These clinical conditions lead to the loss of photoreceptors over time, resulting in permanent blindness (Berson 1993; Quigley 1993; de Jong 2006).

Over the past two decades, many ocular cell types have been generated through differentiation of embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and, more recently, using induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) including corneal epithelial cells (Zhu et al. 2018), retinal pigment-epithelial cells (Buchholz et al. 2009; Hirami et al. 2009), photoreceptors, and retinal ganglion cells (Osakada et al. 2008; Lamba et al. 2009; Eiraku et al. 2011; Homma et al. 2013; Zhong et al. 2014; Maekawa et al. 2016). Importantly, the generation of these cells has propelled their use in therapeutic applications to cure degenerative ocular diseases. Among these, limbal stem cells and corneal endothelial cells have been examined for their use in treating clinical conditions that involve degeneration of the corneal epithelium (Daniels et al. 2007; O'Sullivan and Clynes 2007) and corneal endothelium, respectively (Ali et al. 2021). Human pluripotent stem cell-derived trabecular meshwork cells (Du et al. 2012; Zhu et al.

2016, 2017) and RGCs (Kador et al. 2013; Sluch et al. 2015; Venugopalan et al. 2016) have been investigated for treating glaucoma.

Moreover, amacrine, retinal Muller cells, and retinal pigment epithelium derived from stem cells have been examined for the treatment of retinal diseases including RP and AMD (Dyer and Cepko 2000; Fischer and Reh 2001; Fausett and Goldman 2006; Bernardos et al. 2007; Lenkowski and Raymond 2014; Chen et al. 2015).

In this chapter, we discuss advances in stem cell-based therapeutic routes for the restoration of the physiological functioning of ocular tissues. This is an update to the chapter titled "Stem cells in ophthalmology" in DE Gruyter 2018 publication, Stem cells: from hype to real hope.

Cornea

Cornea is the outermost tissue of the eye consisting of three cellular layers (epithelium, stroma, and endothelium) and two acellular layers including Descemet's membrane and Bowman's layer (also known as Bowman's membrane) (Fig. 1). The cornea is responsible for two-thirds of the refractive power of the eye, and it provides a protective barrier against infection and debris entering the eye (Delmonte and Kim 2011).

Corneal Epithelium

The corneal epithelium is comprised of polygonal superficial cells, middle wing cells, and small basal cells (Delmonte and Kim 2011). The epithelium stem cells, also called limbal stem cells, are located in a limbal basal layer, the region between the conjunctiva and cornea (Delmonte and Kim 2011). The physiological damage



Fig. 1 A schematic of the three cellular layers, the epithelium (EP), stroma, and corneal endothelium (CE), and two acellular layers, Bowman's layer (BL) and Descemet's membrane (DM) of the cornea

and/or deterioration of the limbal epithelial cells leads to the limbal-stem-cell-deficiency (Dua et al. 2003).

Different studies have documented the capability of limbal stem cells to treat limbal-stem-cell-defeciency by substituting the disintegrated corneal epithelium (Kenyon and Tseng 1989; Ilari and Daya 2002; Gomes et al. 2003; Utheim 2013). It is well documented that transplantation of autologous cultured limbal stem cells can repair human limbal-stem-cell-deficiency (Pellegrini et al. 1997). Both allogeneic and autologous transplantation of limbal stem cells have been reported (Kenyon and Tseng 1989); nevertheless, these are hindered by posttransplantation complications and donor shortage (Shimazaki et al. 2000; Ilari and Daya 2002; Samson et al. 2002; Gomes et al. 2003).

The treatment of unilateral limbal-stem-cell-deficiency patients using autologous limbal stem cells transplantation has shown promising results. However, it is worth noting that other source(s) of limbal stem cells will be needed for the treatment of patients with bilateral limbal-stem-cell-deficiency. To circumvent these hurdles, human autologous buccal-epithelial stem cells originated from epithelial cell sheets were employed to treat bilateral limbal-stem-cell-deficiency patients (Priya et al. 2011). Further, Homma et al. examined the potential of ESC-derived epithelial progenitors to treat impaired cornea (Homma et al. 2004). Hayashi et al. differentiated human iPSCs into corneal epithelial-like cells (Hayashi et al. 2012). Next, Hayashi et al. generated self-formed ectodermal autonomous multizone (SEAM) ocular cells from iPSCs and demonstrated that cells from the SEAM can be separated and expanded to construct a corneal epithelium. The reconstructed corneal epithelium successfully mended the corneal blindness in an animal model (Hayashi et al. 2016).

Corneal Stroma

The stroma is comprised of collagens, glycoproteins, keratocytes, and proteoglycans, which play a crucial role in collagen formation (Maurice 1957; Freegard 1997; Knupp et al. 2009). Stromal fibrosis, as a result of infection, surgery, or ocular trauma, can lead to opacification, which is a substantial contributing factor to corneal blindness globally (Shortt et al. 2010; Oliva et al. 2012). To date, the only therapeutic option for the treatment of corneal stromal disease is deep anterior lamellar keratoplasty (Tan et al. 2012). However, this approach has restrictions such as lack of donor corneas and immune rejection (Tan et al. 2012).

Further, immortalized human corneal cells have been employed to generate functional human corneal equivalent. Buznyk et al. reported successful rehabilitation of visual acuity in two out of three patients by transplanting bioengineered corneal grafts (Buznyk et al. 2015), while Basu et al. documented the repair of injured stroma in mice by implanting human limbal biopsy-originated stromal cells (Basu et al. 2014). Furthermore, many studies have generated stromal keratocytes by differentiation of pluripotent stem cells, adult dental pulp stem cells, and mesenchymal stem cells (Syed-Picard et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2015; Hertsenberg and Funderburgh 2016).

Stem Cell-Based Treatment for Corneal Edema

The corneal endothelium, the innermost layer of the cornea comprising of hexagonal/polygonal cells, is essential to retain corneal transparency by maintaining hydration through the pump and the barrier functions (Bonanno 2012). Corneal hydration is maintained primarily by the balance between the aqueous humor flow into stroma through the corneal endothelium and pumping out the fluid from the stroma (Nishida et al. 2010; Dawson et al. 2011). The accumulation of fluid in the stroma as a result of disruption of this balance may cause corneal opacity with reduced transparency. Tight junctions regulate the flow of aqueous humor through the corneal endothelium into the stroma, and sodium- and potassium (Na⁺- and K⁺)-dependent ATPase in the basolateral membrane is accountable for the pump function of the corneal endothelium (Dawson et al. 2011). The corneal endothelial cell density is approximately 2500 cells per square millimeter (cells/mm²) in adult corneal endothelium, and the functioning of the corneal endothelium is significantly affected below a density of 500 cells/mm² resulting in corneal edema that eventually leads to vision loss (Tan et al. 2012).

Surgical trauma and corneal endothelial dystrophies are mainly responsible for corneal endothelial cell loss and a reduction in corneal endothelial cell density (Lorenzetti et al. 1967). Keratoplasty has been successful in visual restoration; however, the complexity of the procedure, the shortage of donor tissue, and graft rejection continue to impede the efforts to reduce corneal-blindness globally (Tan et al. 2012). The eye banking and worldwide estimation of corneal transplantation report the considerable shortage of corneal graft tissue, with only 1 cornea available for 70 needed (Gain et al. 2016), which compels for the development of alternative therapies.

Multiple alternate sources including ESCs, neural crest cells, adipose-derived stem cells, skin-derived precursors, and corneal stromal stem cells have been explored for corneal endothelial cell generation. Many research groups have shown that corneal endothelial cells can be generated by the differentiation of pluripotent stem cells (Fukuta et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2014; McCabe et al. 2015; Song et al. 2016; Zhao and Afshari 2016). Fukuta et al. generated corneal endothelial cells from pluripotent stem cells using chemically defined conditions (Fukuta et al. 2014). Further, Zhang et al. reported restoration of corneal clarity in rabbits by transplanting corneal endothelium-like sheets (Zhang et al. 2014).

Intracameral injection of cultured corneal endothelial cells has been shown to restore corneal endothelium function in corneal endothelial dysfunction rabbit and monkey models (Okumura et al. 2016). A preclinical study in a primate model revealed corneal endothelium regeneration after the injection of human corneal endothelial cells or cultured monkey corneal endothelial cells, along with a Rho kinase inhibitor, into the anterior chamber of the primates' eye (Okumura et al. 2016). Many groups have reported the use of Rho kinase inhibitor to augment the adhesion of cultured corneal endothelial cells (Okumura et al. 2015).

Recently, Kinoshita et al. reported a revolutionary study in corneal transplantation and successfully treated the human subjects suffering from bullous keratopathy (BK) by injecting cultured human corneal endothelial cells along with a Rho kinase inhibitor (Y-27632) into the anterior chamber of the eye (Kinoshita et al. 2018). Pan et al. reported a stepwise strategy to generate corneal endothelial cells from mice fibroblasts under chemically defined conditions using small molecules and successfully reversed the corneal opacity by the transplantation of corneal endothelial cells into a rabbit model with BK (Pan et al. 2021). Shen and the co-authors reported the generation of corneal endothelial cell-like cells derived from human skin-derived precursors, and subsequent injection of corneal endothelial cell-like cells revealed excellent therapeutic outcomes in rabbit and monkey corneal endothelial dysfunction models (Shen et al. 2021). In a recent study, Ali et al. demonstrated the efficacy of cryopreserved human embryonic stem cell (hESC)-derived corneal endothelial cells to form a functional corneal endothelium on the denuded Descemet's membrane (Ali et al. 2021). The authors first demonstrated through comparative gene expression analysis that cryopreservation of hESC-derived corneal endothelial cells for more than 5 weeks in liquid nitrogen does not affect their cardinal features.

In parallel, the authors developed animal models mimicking corneal endothelium edema by removing the central corneal endothelium. The cryopreserved hESCderived corneal endothelial cells were injected into the anterior chamber of the corneal endothelium dysfunction animal (i.e., rabbit and monkey) models. As reported by Ali and colleagues, the transparency of the cornea reduced in the initial days after removal of central corneal endothelium; however, the transparency improved after the intracameral injection of hESC-derived corneal endothelial cells, and the transparency of the injected corneas became comparable to the uninjected control eyes in all animal models within 3 weeks postinjection (Fig. 2). Importantly, necropsy examination of these preclinical animal models confirmed no remarkable change in multiple tissues examined for tumorigenesis, alleviating the concerns of teratoma formation associated with the use of pluripotent stem cells and/or pluripotent stem cell-derivatives.



Fig. 2 Injection of human pluripotent stem cell-derived corneal endothelial cells into anterior chamber results in the generation of a functional monolayer of the corneal endothelium within 3 weeks. Importantly, the transparency of the injected right eye (OD) is comparable to the untreated left eye (OS). OD: oculus dextrus (right eye); OS: oculus sinister (left eye)

Trabecular Meshwork

The trabecular meshwork is critical for the drainage of the aqueous humor in the eve (Buller et al. 1990), and a reduction in trabecular meshwork cellularity (observed in case of glaucoma, and normal aging) links with high intraocular pressure (Alvarado et al. 1981, 1984). The general approach of treatments for glaucoma includes a drugdependent decrease of aqueous humor formation and the surgical improvement of outflow to maintain normal intraocular pressure (Serle 1994; Kaufman and Rasmussen 2012). Stem cell-based therapy has remarkable potential for the repair of trabecular meshwork cellularity in aging and glaucoma patients (Pearson and Martin 2015). Alexander and Grierson were the first to report successful rehabilitation of trabecular meshwork function employing laser trabeculoplasty technique (Alexander and Grierson 1989). Laser trabeculoplasty treatment caused elevated trabecular meshwork cell division which is suggestive of the existence of "likely stem cells" in the anterior nonfiltering portion of the trabecular meshwork (Acott et al. 1989; Dueker et al. 1990). Du et al. examined the therapeutic efficacy of stem cell-like cells from human trabecular meshwork by transplanting them into mouse-trabecular meshwork tissue (Du et al. 2013). Differentiation of human embryoid bodies-derived iPSCs into trabecular meshwork cells has been reported by Abu-Hassan et al. (2015). In another study, mesenchymal stem cells were employed to regenerate the trabecular meshwork in laser-mediated glaucoma animal models (Manuguerra-Gagné et al. 2013). Next, Ding and coworkers employed primary human trabecular meshwork cell preconditioned media for the generation of trabecular meshwork cells from mouse iPSCs (Ding et al. 2014). Moreover, Zhu et al. evaluated the potential of iPSC-derived trabecular meshwork cells in a glaucoma mouse model (Zhu et al. 2016, 2017). It is well documented that iPSC-derived trabecular meshwork cells helped in decreasing intraocular pressure, repairing aqueous humor drainage, preventing retinal ganglion cell loss, and improving the proliferation of endogenous trabecular meshwork cells (Zhu et al. 2016, 2017).

Ocular Lens

Lens cloudiness or cataracts including age-linked and congenital cataracts are the primary cause of vision loss globally (Stevens et al. 2013). The most effective strategy for cataract treatment is the replacement of the cloudy lens with an artificial intraocular lens (Visser et al. 2013). Cataract surgical procedure is very successful in visual rehabilitation, however, linked with postsurgical hitches including posterior-capsule-opacification (Wormstone 2002; Lois et al. 2005). Further, the role of stem cells has been studied in lens regeneration (Tsonis and Del Rio-Tsonis 2004; Barbosa-Sabanero et al. 2012). It is well documented that in rabbits, the residual lens progenitor/epithelial stem cells give rise to a partial generation of lens fiber cells following removal of the eye lens (Gwon et al. 1990; Gwon 2006). Recently, Lin et al. documented an innovative approach for the elimination of cataractous lens by retaining resident lens-epithelial-cells and attained a functional restoration of the lens

in macaques, rabbits, and in human infants (Lin et al. 2016). O'Connor and McAvoy demonstrated that rat limbal epithelial cell monolayers can form functional lens-like structures ex vivo (O'Connor and McAvoy 2007). They noticed that regenerated rat lenses were meticulously similar to those of neonatal rat lenses and extended culturing of these regenerated rat lenses exhibited cataractogenesis (O'Connor and McAvoy 2007). Several groups have described that iPSCs and hESCs can form lens progenitor cells as well as lentoid bodies (Yang et al. 2010a; Qiu et al. 2012; Li et al. 2016; Fu et al. 2017b). Yang et al. generated lentoid bodies employing hESCs under chemically defined conditions (Yang et al. 2010b). The lentoid bodies produced by Yang et al. showed lens-associated makers; however, they do not exhibit optical properties (Yang et al. 2010b). Recently, Fu et al. developed human urinary cell, originated iPSC-derived lentoid bodies adopting the fried-egg approach (Fu et al. 2017a). These lentoid bodies demonstrated lens-associated markers as well as transparency similar to the human lens (Fu et al. 2017a). Moreover, Murphy et al. documented the human pluripotent stem cell-derived microlenses (Murphy et al. 2018). More recently, Ali et al. produced lentoid bodies from human iPSCs and hESCs and performed characterization using next-generation RNA sequencing (RNA-Seq) and TMT-based proteome profiling (Ali et al. 2019, 2020).

The Retina

Pluripotent stem cells have unlimited self-renewal capability, and pluripotent stem cell-derived retinal cells can be an ideal source to repair the degenerating retina. Human iPSCs and hESCs have been used for the generation of retinal photoreceptor cells and retinal pigment epithelium. To this end, several investigations have examined the therapeutic efficacy of adult progenitor/stem cells to treat retinal deteriorating diseases.

Salero et al. showed that the retinal pigment-epithelial stem cells (lacking the retinal pigment epithelial-associated markers) can proliferate and generate cobblestone-like monolayers (Salero et al. 2012). Blenkinsop et al. published a novel culture approach and proved that adult human eye-originated, retinal pigment epithelial cells can generate highly purified retinal pigment-epithelial cultures that demonstrate native retinal pigment epithelial-like properties (Blenkinsop et al. 2015). Moreover, Davis et al. documented that subretinal transplantation of retinal pigment-epithelial cells in rats inhibits loss of photoreceptors (Davis et al. 2016b, 2017). Further, Davis et al. reported that subretinal transplantation of retinal pigment-epithelial stem cell-derived retinal pigment-epithelial stem cell-derived retinal pigment-epithelial stem cell-derived retinal pigment-epithelial cells in rats inhibits loss of photoreceptors (Davis et al. 2016b, 2017). Further, Davis et al. reported that subretinal transplantation of retinal pigment-epithelial cells of retinal pigment-epithelial cells cells prevents vision loss in the retinal pigment-epithelial cell cells dysfunction rat model (Davis et al. 2017).

Mitashov et al. reported that Muller glial cells reveal characteristics similar to stem cells and contribute to the restoration of the damaged retinas in amphibians (Mitashov 1996). Additionally, Jayaram et al. showed photoreceptor cells, derived from Muller cells, when injected in the retinas of 3-week-old P23H-rats can

incorporate into the outer nuclear layer of deteriorated retinas, which results in improvement of rod photoreceptor function (Jayaram et al. 2014).

Several studies have documented the use of hESCs for the generation of neural retinal progenitor cells and functional retinal pigment-epithelial cells (Klimanskaya et al. 2004; Lamba et al. 2006; Lund et al. 2006; Osakada et al. 2008; Hirami et al. 2009; Idelson et al. 2009). It is well documented that three-dimensional organoid similar to the optic cup and the neural retina can be generated from mousepluripotent stem cells (Eiraku et al. 2011; Nakano et al. 2012; Zhong et al. 2014). Recently, DiStefano et al. generated retinal organoids employing rotating wall vessel-bioreactors from pluripotent stem cells (DiStefano et al. 2018). Gonzalez-Cordero et al. examined the integration-efficacy of rod precursor cells into the deteriorated retinas of adult mice (Gonzalez-Cordero et al. 2013). In another study, the authors transplanted three-dimensional retinal sheets derived from mouse iPSCs or ESCs in a retinal deterioration model in which the outer nuclear layer was absent (Assawachananont et al. 2014). In two different studies, the intraocular transplantation of neural precursor cells derived from hESCs and donor cells from developing retinas in the subretinal microenvironment presented integration and differentiation into various cell types (Banin et al. 2006; MacLaren et al. 2006).

It is worth noting that iPSC-based treatments showed a promising method for the repair of degenerative retinal diseases. iPSCs reveal a better option in contrast to hESCs because of the patient-specific method: utilizing the identical genetic background, decreasing the chances of immune rejection while also eliminating the numerous ethical concerns linked with ESCs. Moreover, genome-editing techniques such as transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), and clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR/Cas9) have been employed to correct patient-specific iPSCs which can be used for the repair of retinal deteriorating diseases (Hung et al. 2016; Chuang et al. 2017; Peng et al. 2017). Bassuk et al. reported editing of patient-specific iPSCs to correct a mutation present in an RP-GTPase regulator gene using CRISPR/Cas9 (Bassuk et al. 2016).

Several groups have reported that hESC- and iPSC-derived retinal pigmentepithelial cells exhibit comparable gene expression profiles and phenotypic characteristics (Buchholz et al. 2009; Meyer et al. 2009; Osakada et al. 2009). Additionally, many research groups have successfully generated neural retinal progenitor cells, such as photoreceptor cells from human iPSCs (Meyer et al. 2009; Osakada et al. 2009; Lamba et al. 2010; Mellough et al. 2012; Zhong et al. 2014). Multiple studies documented enhanced optical function following transplantation of iPSC-derived retinal pigment-epithelial cells in various RP-mouse models (Lopez et al. 1989; Yamamoto et al. 1993; Carr et al. 2009; Tucker et al. 2011; Li et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2015). Recently, Tucker et al. reported successful rehabilitation of retinal structure and function by transplanting iPSC-derived retinal precursor cells in rhodopsin-null mice (Tucker et al. 2011, 2013). Two different studies demonstrated the potential of native retinal pigment epithelial-transplantation to enhance electroretinogram activity in Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) rats (Lopez et al. 1989; Yamamoto et al. 1993). In addition, Carr et al. generated functional retinal pigment-epithelial layers from human iPSCs and transplanted them in RCS rats to facilitate short-term maintenance of the photoreceptor-mediated phagocytosis of photoreceptor outer segments (Carr et al. 2009). Sun et al. investigated the therapeutic potential of human iPSC-derived retinal pigment-epithelial cells, neural stem cells, and human mesenchymal stromal cells using *rd1* mice, and the results suggested that iPSC-derived retinal pigment-epithelial cells can slow the deterioration of photoreceptors (Sun et al. 2015). Further, Li et al. showed the integration of administered iPSC-derived retinal pigment-epithelial cells with the resident retinal pigment epithelial cells with the resident retinal pigment epithelial cells and the resulting in enhanced visual activity (Li et al. 2012).

Given the identical developmental origin of retinal pigment-epithelial and iris pigment-epithelial (IPE) cells, several studies were conducted to administer cultured autologous or freshly isolated IPE cells in rats, rabbits, and nonhuman primates, i.e., monkeys and humans, for the treatment of retinal deteriorating diseases (Sheedlo et al. 1991; Rezai et al. 1997; Abe et al. 1999; Schraermeyer et al. 1999; Thumann et al. 1999; Abe et al. 2000a, b; Lappas et al. 2000; Thumann et al. 2000; Crafoord et al. 2002; Lappas et al. 2004; Aisenbrey et al. 2006). The administration of fresh autologous-IPE cells into the rabbit subretinal region caused no immunological rejection and injected IPE cells exhibited specific-phagocytic activity (Thumann et al. 1999). Importantly, similar results were examined following the administration of autologous cultured IPE-cells in monkeys (Abe et al. 2000a). Moreover, multiple studies employed the autologous IPE-cells to treat subretinal-neovascularization and AMD in humans (Abe et al. 1999, 2000b; Lappas et al. 2000; Thumann et al. 2000). Recently, Thumann et al. administered autologous IPE-cells into the subretinal region of 20 patients exhibiting neovascularization and advanced AMD, which showed improvement of visual acuity without any side effect (Thumann et al. 2000). Likewise, Abe et al. demonstrated similar findings by administering autologous cultured IPE cells into the subretinal region of eight patients with AMD (Abe et al. 1999, 2000b). In contrast, Lappas et al. completed IPE-cell administration in 12 patients with wet-AMD and documented preserved preoperative visual acuity but no improvement after a follow-up period of 6 months (Lappas et al. 2004).

Retinal pigment-epithelial cells derived from hESCs have been employed in multiple human clinical trials (Reardon and Cyranoski 2014; Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Schwartz et al. 2015, 2016; Song et al. 2015), while only one human clinical study was conducted utilizing iPSC-derived retinal pigment-epithelial cells (Mandai et al. 2017). The iPSC-based autologous cell administration in one patient revealed no harmful effects including immunological rejection and tumor formation, whereas the transplanted retinal pigment epithelial-sheet remained intact with no improvement in best-corrected visual acuity (Mandai et al. 2017). However, retinal pigment-epithelial cells derived from iPSCs were not further administered to other patients since the patient-specific iPSCs harbor multiple genetic lesions that were absent in patient fibroblast cells (Mandai et al. 2017).

Conclusion

In conclusion, we provide the potential of stem cells including nonocular, ocular, and pluripotent stem cells for the treatment of ocular dysfunctions. Ocular diseases such as RP, AMD, diabetic retinopathy, cataractogenesis, uncorrected refractive errors, glaucoma, and corneal dystrophies are responsible for severe visual impairment worldwide. In the near future, the count of individuals with compromised vision is projected to escalate dramatically because of aging and population growth. Stem cells owing to their repair and regeneration ability have immense potential to treat multiple ocular conditions. The eye is an ideal site to examine the therapeutic efficacy of stem cell-based transplantation. The ocular function can be evaluated using standardized outcome measures and in vivo imaging of the retina, lens, and cornea. To this end, multiple stem cell therapies employing cultured and pluripotent stem cell-derived differentiated cells have been investigated as potential treatment options for limbal-stem-cell-deficiency, corneal endothelial dysfunctions, glaucoma, AMD, and other retinal dystrophies in preclinical and clinical settings. A better understanding of the location and function of ocular stem cells has led to the exploration of possible therapeutic options for ocular diseases. However, the evaluation of stem cell treatments in clinical settings regarding long-term complications and technical challenges needs further attention. In conclusion, working on stem cells is one of the sizzling research sectors in biology. Both tissue-resident as well as pluripotent stem cell-derived differentiated cells can prevent vision loss by repairing/ replacing the degenerative cells in ocular diseased tissues.

Cross-References

▶ The Function of Stem Cells in Ocular Homeostasis

References

- Abe T, Yoshida M, Tomita H, Kano T, Nakagawa Y, Sato M, Wada Y et al (1999) Functional analysis after auto iris pigment epithelial cell transplantation in patients with age-related macular degeneration. Tohoku J Exp Med 189:295–305
- Abe T, Tomita H, Kano T, Yoshida M, Ohashi T, Nakamura Y, Nishikawa S et al (2000a) Autologous iris pigment epithelial cell transplantation in monkey subretinal region. Curr Eye Res 20:268–275
- Abe T, Yoshida M, Tomita H, Kano T, Sato M, Wada Y, Fuse N et al (2000b) Auto iris pigment epithelial cell transplantation in patients with age-related macular degeneration: short-term results. Tohoku J Exp Med 191:7–20
- Abu-Hassan DW, Li X, Ryan EI, Acott TS, Kelley MJ (2015) Induced pluripotent stem cells restore function in a human cell loss model of open-angle glaucoma. Stem Cells 33:751–761
- Acott TS, Samples JR, Bradley JM, Bacon DR, Bylsma SS, Van Buskirk EM (1989) Trabecular repopulation by anterior trabecular meshwork cells after laser trabeculoplasty. Am J Ophthalmol 107:1–6

- Aisenbrey S, Lafaut BA, Szurman P, Hilgers RD, Esser P, Walter P, Bartz-Schmidt KU et al (2006) Iris pigment epithelial translocation in the treatment of exudative macular degeneration: a 3-year follow-up. Arch Ophthalmol 124:183–188
- Alexander RA, Grierson I (1989) Morphological effects of argon laser trabeculoplasty upon the glaucomatous human meshwork. Eye (Lond) 3(Pt 6):719–726
- Ali M, Kabir F, Thomson JJ, Ma Y, Qiu C, Delannoy M, Khan SY et al (2019) Comparative transcriptome analysis of hESC- and iPSC-derived lentoid bodies. Sci Rep 9:18552
- Ali M, Kabir F, Raskar S, Renuse S, Na CH, Delannoy M, Khan SY et al (2020) Generation and proteome profiling of PBMC-originated, iPSC-derived lentoid bodies. Stem Cell Res 46:101813
- Ali M, Khan SY, Gottsch JD, Hutchinson EK, Khan A, Riazuddin SA (2021) Pluripotent stem cellderived corneal endothelial cells as an alternative to donor corneal endothelium in keratoplasty. Stem Cell Rep 16:2320–2335
- Alvarado J, Murphy C, Polansky J, Juster R (1981) Age-related changes in trabecular meshwork cellularity. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 21:714–727
- Alvarado J, Murphy C, Juster R (1984) Trabecular meshwork cellularity in primary open-angle glaucoma and nonglaucomatous normals. Ophthalmology 91:564–579
- Assawachananont J, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Yamada C, Eiraku M, Yonemura S, Sasai Y et al (2014) Transplantation of embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell-derived 3D retinal sheets into retinal degenerative mice. Stem Cell Rep 2:662–674
- Banin E, Obolensky A, Idelson M, Hemo I, Reinhardtz E, Pikarsky E, Ben-Hur T et al (2006) Retinal incorporation and differentiation of neural precursors derived from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 24:246–257
- Barbosa-Sabanero K, Hoffmann A, Judge C, Lightcap N, Tsonis PA, Del Rio-Tsonis K (2012) Lens and retina regeneration: new perspectives from model organisms. Biochem J 447:321–334
- Bassuk AG, Zheng A, Li Y, Tsang SH, Mahajan VB (2016) Precision medicine: genetic repair of retinitis pigmentosa in patient-derived stem cells. Sci Rep 6:19969
- Basu S, Hertsenberg AJ, Funderburgh ML, Burrow MK, Mann MM, Du Y, Lathrop KL et al (2014) Human limbal biopsy-derived stromal stem cells prevent corneal scarring. Sci Transl Med 6: 266ra172
- Bernardos RL, Barthel LK, Meyers JR, Raymond PA (2007) Late-stage neuronal progenitors in the retina are radial Müller glia that function as retinal stem cells. J Neurosci 27:7028–7040
- Berson EL (1993) Retinitis pigmentosa. The Friedenwald lecture. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 34: 1659–1676
- Blenkinsop TA, Saini JS, Maminishkis A, Bharti K, Wan Q, Banzon T, Lotfi M et al (2015) Human adult retinal pigment epithelial stem cell-derived RPE monolayers exhibit key physiological characteristics of native tissue. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 56:7085–7099
- Bonanno JA (2012) Molecular mechanisms underlying the corneal endothelial pump. Exp Eye Res 95:2–7
- Buchholz DE, Hikita ST, Rowland TJ, Friedrich AM, Hinman CR, Johnson LV, Clegg DO (2009) Derivation of functional retinal pigmented epithelium from induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells 27:2427–2434
- Buller C, Johnson DH, Tschumper RC (1990) Human trabecular meshwork phagocytosis. Observations in an organ culture system. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 31:2156–2163
- Buznyk O, Pasyechnikova N, Islam MM, Iakymenko S, Fagerholm P, Griffith M (2015) Bioengineered corneas grafted as alternatives to human donor corneas in three high-risk patients. Clin Transl Sci 8:558–562
- Carr AJ, Vugler AA, Hikita ST, Lawrence JM, Gias C, Chen LL, Buchholz DE et al (2009) Protective effects of human iPS-derived retinal pigment epithelium cell transplantation in the retinal dystrophic rat. PLoS One 4:e8152
- Chen M, Tian S, Glasgow NG, Gibson G, Yang X, Shiber CE, Funderburgh J et al (2015) Lgr5⁺ amacrine cells possess regenerative potential in the retina of adult mice. Aging Cell 14: 635–643

- Chuang K, Fields MA, Del Priore LV (2017) Potential of gene editing and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) in treatment of retinal diseases. Yale J Biol Med 90:635–642
- Crafoord S, Geng L, Seregard S, Algvere PV (2002) Photoreceptor survival in transplantation of autologous iris pigment epithelial cells to the subretinal space. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 80: 387–394
- Daniels JT, Notara M, Shortt AJ, Secker G, Harris A, Tuft SJ (2007) Limbal epithelial stem cell therapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther 7:1–3
- Davis BM, Crawley L, Pahlitzsch M, Javaid F, Cordeiro MF (2016a) Glaucoma: the retina and beyond. Acta Neuropathol 132:807–826
- Davis RJ, Blenkinsop TA, Campbell M, Borden SM, Charniga CJ, Lederman PL, Frye AM et al (2016b) Human RPE stem cell-derived RPE preserves photoreceptors in the Royal College of surgeons rat: method for quantifying the area of photoreceptor sparing. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 32:304–309
- Davis RJ, Alam NM, Zhao C, Müller C, Saini JS, Blenkinsop TA, Mazzoni F et al (2017) The developmental stage of adult human stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells influences transplant efficacy for vision rescue. Stem Cell Rep 9:42–49
- Dawson DG, Ubels JL, Edelhauser HF (2011) Cornea and sclera. In: Adler's physiology of the eye, 11th edn. Elsevier, New York, pp 71–130
- de Jong PT (2006) Age-related macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 355:1474-1485
- Delmonte DW, Kim T (2011) Anatomy and physiology of the cornea. J Cataract Refract Surg 37: 588–598
- Ding QJ, Zhu W, Cook AC, Anfinson KR, Tucker BA, Kuehn MH (2014) Induction of trabecular meshwork cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 55: 7065–7072
- DiStefano T, Chen HY, Panebianco C, Kaya KD, Brooks MJ, Gieser L, Morgan NY et al (2018) Accelerated and improved differentiation of retinal organoids from pluripotent stem cells in rotating-wall vessel bioreactors. Stem Cell Rep 10:300–313
- Du Y, Roh DS, Mann MM, Funderburgh ML, Funderburgh JL, Schuman JS (2012) Multipotent stem cells from trabecular meshwork become phagocytic TM cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53:1566–1575
- Du Y, Yun H, Yang E, Schuman JS (2013) Stem cells from trabecular meshwork home to TM tissue in vivo. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 54:1450–1459
- Dua HS, Joseph A, Shanmuganathan VA, Jones RE (2003) Stem cell differentiation and the effects of deficiency. Eye 17:877–885
- Dueker DK, Norberg M, Johnson DH, Tschumper RC, Feeney-Burns L (1990) Stimulation of cell division by argon and Nd:YAG laser trabeculoplasty in cynomolgus monkeys. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 31:115–124
- Dyer MA, Cepko CL (2000) Control of Müller glial cell proliferation and activation following retinal injury. Nat Neurosci 3:873–880
- Eiraku M, Takata N, Ishibashi H, Kawada M, Sakakura E, Okuda S, Sekiguchi K et al (2011) Selforganizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. Nature 472:51–56
- Fausett BV, Goldman D (2006) A role for α1 tubulin-expressing Müller glia in regeneration of the injured zebrafish retina. J Neurosci 26:6303–6313
- Ferrari S, Di Iorio E, Barbaro V, Ponzin D, Sorrentino SF, Parmeggiani F (2011) Retinitis pigmentosa: genes and disease mechanisms. Curr Genomics 12:238–249
- Fischer AJ, Reh TA (2001) Müller glia are a potential source of neural regeneration in the postnatal chicken retina. Nat Neurosci 4:247–252
- Freegard TJ (1997) The physical basis of transparency of the normal cornea. Eye 11:465-471
- Fu Q, Qin Z, Jin X, Zhang L, Chen Z, He J, Ji J et al (2017a) Generation of functional lentoid bodies from human induced pluripotent stem cells derived from urinary cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 58:517–527
- Fu Q, Qin Z, Jin X, Zhang L, Chen Z, He J, Ji J et al (2017b) Generation of functional lentoid bodies from human induced pluripotent stem cells derived from urinary cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 58:517–527

- Fukuta M, Nakai Y, Kirino K, Nakagawa M, Sekiguchi K, Nagata S, Matsumoto Y et al (2014) Derivation of mesenchymal stromal cells from pluripotent stem cells through a neural crest lineage using small molecule compounds with defined media. PLoS One 9:e112291
- Gain P, Jullienne R, He Z, Aldossary M, Acquart S, Cognasse F, Thuret G (2016) Global survey of corneal transplantation and eye banking. JAMA Ophthalmol 134:167–173
- Gomes JA, Santos MS, Ventura AS, Donato WB, Cunha MC, Höfling-Lima AL (2003) Amniotic membrane with living related corneal limbal/conjunctival allograft for ocular surface reconstruction in Stevens-Johnson syndrome. Arch Ophthalmol 121:1369–1374
- Gonzalez-Cordero A, West EL, Pearson RA, Duran Y, Carvalho LS, Chu CJ, Naeem A et al (2013) Photoreceptor precursors derived from three-dimensional embryonic stem cell cultures integrate and mature within adult degenerate retina. Nat Biotechnol 31:741–747
- Gwon A (2006) Lens regeneration in mammals: a review. Surv Ophthalmol 51:51-62
- Gwon AE, Gruber LJ, Mundwiler KE (1990) A histologic study of lens regeneration in aphakic rabbits. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 31:540–547
- Hayashi R, Ishikawa Y, Ito M, Kageyama T, Takashiba K, Fujioka T, Tsujikawa M et al (2012) Generation of corneal epithelial cells from induced pluripotent stem cells derived from human dermal fibroblast and corneal limbal epithelium. PLoS One 7:e45435
- Hayashi R, Ishikawa Y, Sasamoto Y, Katori R, Nomura N, Ichikawa T, Araki S et al (2016) Co-ordinated ocular development from human iPS cells and recovery of corneal function. Nature 531:376–380
- Hertsenberg AJ, Funderburgh JL (2016) Generation of corneal keratocytes from human embryonic stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 1341:285–294
- Hirami Y, Osakada F, Takahashi K, Okita K, Yamanaka S, Ikeda H, Yoshimura N et al (2009) Generation of retinal cells from mouse and human induced pluripotent stem cells. Neurosci Lett 458:126–131
- Homma R, Yoshikawa H, Takeno M, Kurokawa MS, Masuda C, Takada E, Tsubota K et al (2004) Induction of epithelial progenitors in vitro from mouse embryonic stem cells and application for reconstruction of damaged cornea in mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 45:4320–4326
- Homma K, Okamoto S, Mandai M, Gotoh N, Rajasimha HK, Chang YS, Chen S et al (2013) Developing rods transplanted into the degenerating retina of Crx-knockout mice exhibit neural activity similar to native photoreceptors. Stem Cells 31:1149–1159
- Hung SSC, McCaughey T, Swann O, Pébay A, Hewitt AW (2016) Genome engineering in ophthalmology: application of CRISPR/Cas to the treatment of eye disease. Prog Retin Eye Res 53:1–20
- Idelson M, Alper R, Obolensky A, Ben-Shushan E, Hemo I, Yachimovich-Cohen N, Khaner H et al (2009) Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into functional retinal pigment epithelium cells. Cell Stem Cell 5:396–408
- Ilari L, Daya SM (2002) Long-term outcomes of keratolimbal allograft for the treatment of severe ocular surface disorders. Ophthalmology 109:1278–1284
- Jayaram H, Jones MF, Eastlake K, Cottrill PB, Becker S, Wiseman J, Khaw PT et al (2014) Transplantation of photoreceptors derived from human Muller glia restore rod function in the P23H rat. Stem Cells Transl Med 3:323–333
- Jones MK, Lu B, Girman S, Wang S (2017) Cell-based therapeutic strategies for replacement and preservation in retinal degenerative diseases. Prog Retin Eye Res 58:1–27
- Kador KE, Montero RB, Venugopalan P, Hertz J, Zindell AN, Valenzuela DA, Uddin MS et al (2013) Tissue engineering the retinal ganglion cell nerve fiber layer. Biomaterials 34:4242–4250
- Kaufman PL, Rasmussen CA (2012) Advances in glaucoma treatment and management: outflow drugs. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53:2495–2500
- Kenyon KR, Tseng SC (1989) Limbal autograft transplantation for ocular surface disorders. Ophthalmology 96:709–722; discussion 22–23
- Kimbrel EA, Lanza R (2015) Current status of pluripotent stem cells: moving the first therapies to the clinic. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14:681–692

- Kinoshita S, Koizumi N, Ueno M, Okumura N, Imai K, Tanaka H, Yamamoto Y et al (2018) Injection of cultured cells with a ROCK inhibitor for bullous keratopathy. N Engl J Med 378: 995–1003
- Klimanskaya I, Hipp J, Rezai KA, West M, Atala A, Lanza R (2004) Derivation and comparative assessment of retinal pigment epithelium from human embryonic stem cells using transcriptomics. Cloning Stem Cells 6:217–245
- Knupp C, Pinali C, Lewis PN, Parfitt GJ, Young RD, Meek KM, Quantock AJ (2009) The architecture of the cornea and structural basis of its transparency. Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol 78:25–49
- Lamba DA, Karl MO, Ware CB, Reh TA (2006) Efficient generation of retinal progenitor cells from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:12769–12774
- Lamba DA, Gust J, Reh TA (2009) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived photoreceptors restores some visual function in Crx-deficient mice. Cell Stem Cell 4:73–79
- Lamba DA, McUsic A, Hirata RK, Wang PR, Russell D, Reh TA (2010) Generation, purification and transplantation of photoreceptors derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 5:e8763
- Lappas A, Weinberger AW, Foerster AM, Kube T, Rezai KA, Kirchhof B (2000) Iris pigment epithelial cell translocation in exudative age-related macular degeneration. A pilot study in patients. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 238:631–641
- Lappas A, Foerster AM, Weinberger AW, Coburger S, Schrage NF, Kirchhof B (2004) Translocation of iris pigment epithelium in patients with exudative age-related macular degeneration: long-term results. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 242:638–647
- Lenkowski JR, Raymond PA (2014) Müller glia: stem cells for generation and regeneration of retinal neurons in teleost fish. Prog Retin Eye Res 40:94–123
- Li Y, Tsai YT, Hsu CW, Erol D, Yang J, Wu WH, Davis RJ et al (2012) Long-term safety and efficacy of human-induced pluripotent stem cell (iPS) grafts in a preclinical model of retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Med 18:1312–1319
- Li D, Qiu X, Yang J, Liu T, Luo Y, Lu Y (2016) Generation of human lens epithelial-like cells from patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. J Cell Physiol 231:2555–2562
- Lin H, Ouyang H, Zhu J, Huang S, Liu Z, Chen S, Cao G et al (2016) Lens regeneration using endogenous stem cells with gain of visual function. Nature 531:323–328
- Lois N, Taylor J, McKinnon AD, Forrester JV (2005) Posterior capsule opacification in mice. Arch Ophthalmol 123:71–77
- Lopez R, Gouras P, Kjeldbye H, Sullivan B, Reppucci V, Brittis M, Wapner F et al (1989) Transplanted retinal pigment epithelium modifies the retinal degeneration in the RCS rat. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 30:586–588
- Lorenzetti DWC, Uotila MH, Parikh N, Kaufman HE (1967) Central cornea guttata: incidence in the general population. Am J Ophthalmol 64:1155–1158
- Lund RD, Wang S, Klimanskaya I, Holmes T, Ramos-Kelsey R, Lu B, Girman S et al (2006) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cells rescue visual function in dystrophic RCS rats. Cloning Stem Cells 8:189–199
- MacLaren RE, Pearson RA, MacNeil A, Douglas RH, Salt TE, Akimoto M, Swaroop A et al (2006) Retinal repair by transplantation of photoreceptor precursors. Nature 444:203–207
- Maekawa Y, Onishi A, Matsushita K, Koide N, Mandai M, Suzuma K, Kitaoka T et al (2016) Optimized culture system to induce neurite outgrowth from retinal ganglion cells in threedimensional retinal aggregates differentiated from mouse and human embryonic stem cells. Curr Eye Res 41:558–568
- Mandai M, Watanabe A, Kurimoto Y, Hirami Y, Morinaga C, Daimon T, Fujihara M et al (2017) Autologous induced stem-cell-derived retinal cells for macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 376: 1038–1046
- Manuguerra-Gagné R, Boulos PR, Ammar A, Leblond FA, Krosl G, Pichette V, Lesk MR et al (2013) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes tissue regeneration in a glaucoma

model through laser-induced paracrine factor secretion and progenitor cell recruitment. Stem Cells 31:1136-1148

- Maurice DM (1957) The structure and transparency of the cornea. J Physiol 136:263-286
- McCabe KL, Kunzevitzky NJ, Chiswell BP, Xia X, Goldberg JL, Lanza R (2015) Efficient generation of human embryonic stem cell-derived corneal endothelial cells by directed differentiation. PLoS One 10:e0145266
- Mellough CB, Sernagor E, Moreno-Gimeno I, Steel DH, Lako M (2012) Efficient stage-specific differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells toward retinal photoreceptor cells. Stem Cells 30: 673–686
- Meyer JS, Shearer RL, Capowski EE, Wright LS, Wallace KA, McMillan EL, Zhang SC et al (2009) Modeling early retinal development with human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:16698–16703
- Mitashov VI (1996) Mechanisms of retina regeneration in urodeles. Int J Dev Biol 40:833-844
- Murphy P, Kabir MH, Srivastava T, Mason ME, Dewi CU, Lim S, Yang A et al (2018) Lightfocusing human micro-lenses generated from pluripotent stem cells model lens development and drug-induced cataract in vitro. Development 145:dev155838
- Nakano T, Ando S, Takata N, Kawada M, Muguruma K, Sekiguchi K, Saito K et al (2012) Selfformation of optic cups and storable stratified neural retina from human ESCs. Cell Stem Cell 10:771–785
- Nishida T, Saika S, Morishige N (2010) Cornea and sclera: anatomy and physiology. Cornea 1:1-22
- O'Connor MD, McAvoy JW (2007) In vitro generation of functional lens-like structures with relevance to age-related nuclear cataract. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48:1245–1252
- O'Sullivan F, Clynes M (2007) Limbal stem cells, a review of their identification and culture for clinical use. Cytotechnology 53:101–106
- Okumura N, Ueno M, Koizumi N, Sakamoto Y, Hirata K, Hamuro J, Kinoshita S (2009) Enhancement on primate corneal endothelial cell survival in vitro by a ROCK inhibitor. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 50:3680–3687
- Okumura N, Sakamoto Y, Fujii K, Kitano J, Nakano S, Tsujimoto Y, Nakamura S et al (2016) Rho kinase inhibitor enables cell-based therapy for corneal endothelial dysfunction. Sci Rep 6:26113
- Oliva MS, Schottman T, Gulati M (2012) Turning the tide of corneal blindness. Indian J Ophthalmol 60:423
- Osakada F, Ikeda H, Mandai M, Wataya T, Watanabe K, Yoshimura N, Akaike A et al (2008) Toward the generation of rod and cone photoreceptors from mouse, monkey and human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 26:215–224
- Osakada F, Jin ZB, Hirami Y, Ikeda H, Danjyo T, Watanabe K, Sasai Y et al (2009) In vitro differentiation of retinal cells from human pluripotent stem cells by small-molecule induction. J Cell Sci 122:3169–3179
- Pan SH, Zhao N, Feng X, Jie Y, Jin ZB (2021) Conversion of mouse embryonic fibroblasts into neural crest cells and functional corneal endothelia by defined small molecules. Sci Adv 7: eabg5749
- Pearson C, Martin K (2015) Stem cell approaches to glaucoma: from aqueous outflow modulation to retinal neuroprotection. Prog Brain Res 220:241–256
- Peh GS, Adnan K, George BL, Ang HP, Seah XY, Tan DT, Mehta JS (2015) The effects of rho-associated kinase inhibitor Y-27632 on primary human corneal endothelial cells propagated using a dual media approach. Sci Rep 5:9167
- Pellegrini G, Traverso CE, Franzi AT, Zingirian M, Cancedda R, De Luca M (1997) Long-term restoration of damaged corneal surfaces with autologous cultivated corneal epithelium. Lancet 349:990–993
- Peng YQ, Tang LS, Yoshida S, Zhou YD (2017) Applications of CRISPR/Cas9 in retinal degenerative diseases. Int J Ophthalmol 10:646–651
- Priya CG, Arpitha P, Vaishali S, Prajna NV, Usha K, Sheetal K, Muthukkaruppan V (2011) Adult human buccal epithelial stem cells: identification, ex-vivo expansion, and transplantation for corneal surface reconstruction. Eye (Lond) 25:1641–1649

- Qiu X, Yang J, Liu T, Jiang Y, Le Q, Lu Y (2012) Efficient generation of lens progenitor cells from cataract patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 7:e32612
- Quigley HA (1993) Open-angle glaucoma. N Engl J Med 328:1097–1106
- Reardon S, Cyranoski D (2014) Japan stem-cell trial stirs envy. Nature 513:287-288
- Rezai KA, Kohen L, Wiedemann P, Heimann K (1997) Iris pigment epithelium transplantation. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 235:558–562
- Salero E, Blenkinsop TA, Corneo B, Harris A, Rabin D, Stern JH, Temple S (2012) Adult human RPE can be activated into a multipotent stem cell that produces mesenchymal derivatives. Cell Stem Cell 10:88–95
- Samson CM, Nduaguba C, Baltatzis S, Foster CS (2002) Limbal stem cell transplantation in chronic inflammatory eye disease. Ophthalmology 109:862–868
- Schraermeyer U, Kociok N, Heimann K (1999) Rescue effects of IPE transplants in RCS rats: shortterm results. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40:1545–1556
- Schwartz SD, Regillo CD, Lam BL, Eliott D, Rosenfeld PJ, Gregori NZ, Hubschman JP et al (2015) Human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium in patients with age-related macular degeneration and Stargardt's macular dystrophy: follow-up of two open-label phase 1/2 studies. Lancet 385:509–516
- Schwartz SD, Tan G, Hosseini H, Nagiel A (2016) Subretinal transplantation of embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium for the treatment of macular degeneration: an assessment at 4 years. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 57:ORSFc1–ORSFc9
- Serle JB (1994) Pharmacological advances in the treatment of glaucoma. Drugs Aging 5:156-170
- Sheedlo HJ, Li L, Turner JE (1991) Photoreceptor cell rescue at early and late RPE-cell transplantation periods during retinal disease in RCS dystrophic rats. J Neural Transplant Plast 2:55–63
- Shen L, Sun P, Du L, Zhu J, Ju C, Guo H, Wu X (2021) Long-term observation and sequencing analysis of SKPs-derived corneal endothelial cell-like cells for treating corneal endothelial dysfunction. Cell Transplant 30:9636897211017830
- Shimazaki J, Shimmura S, Fujishima H, Tsubota K (2000) Association of preoperative tear function with surgical outcome in severe Stevens-Johnson syndrome. Ophthalmology 107:1518–1523
- Shortt AJ, Tuft SJ, Daniels JT (2010) Ex vivo cultured limbal epithelial transplantation. A clinical perspective. Ocul Surf 8:80–90
- Sluch VM, Chung-ha OD, Ranganathan V, Kerr JM, Krick K, Martin R, Berlinicke CA et al (2015) Differentiation of human ESCs to retinal ganglion cells using a CRISPR engineered reporter cell line. Sci Rep 5:1–17
- Song WK, Park KM, Kim HJ, Lee JH, Choi J, Chong SY, Shim SH et al (2015) Treatment of macular degeneration using embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium: preliminary results in Asian patients. Stem Cell Rep 4:860–872
- Song Q, Yuan S, An Q, Chen Y, Mao FF, Liu Y, Liu Q et al (2016) Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to corneal endothelial cell-like cells: a transcriptomic analysis. Exp Eye Res 151:107–114
- Stevens GA, White RA, Flaxman SR, Price H, Jonas JB, Keeffe J, Leasher J et al (2013) Global prevalence of vision impairment and blindness: magnitude and temporal trends, 1990–2010. Ophthalmology 120:2377–2384
- Streilein JW, Ma N, Wenkel H, Ng TF, Zamiri P (2002) Immunobiology and privilege of neuronal retina and pigment epithelium transplants. Vis Res 42:487–495
- Sun J, Mandai M, Kamao H, Hashiguchi T, Shikamura M, Kawamata S, Sugita S et al (2015) Protective effects of human iPS-derived retinal pigmented epithelial cells in comparison with human mesenchymal stromal cells and human neural stem cells on the degenerating retina in rd1 mice. Stem Cells 33:1543–1553
- Syed-Picard FN, Du Y, Lathrop KL, Mann MM, Funderburgh ML, Funderburgh JL (2015) Dental pulp stem cells: a new cellular resource for corneal stromal regeneration. Stem Cells Transl Med 4:276–285
- Tan DTH, Dart JKG, Holland EJ, Kinoshita S (2012) Corneal transplantation. Lancet 379: 1749–1761

- Thumann G, Bartz-Schmidt KU, El Bakri H, Schraermeyer U, Spee C, Cui JZ, Hinton DR et al (1999) Transplantation of autologous iris pigment epithelium to the subretinal space in rabbits. Transplantation 68:195–201
- Thumann G, Aisenbrey S, Schraermeyer U, Lafaut B, Esser P, Walter P, Bartz-Schmidt KU (2000) Transplantation of autologous iris pigment epithelium after removal of choroidal neovascular membranes. Arch Ophthalmol 118:1350–1355
- Tsonis PA, Del Rio-Tsonis K (2004) Lens and retina regeneration: transdifferentiation, stem cells and clinical applications. Exp Eye Res 78:161–172
- Tucker BA, Park IH, Qi SD, Klassen HJ, Jiang C, Yao J, Redenti S et al (2011) Transplantation of adult mouse iPS cell-derived photoreceptor precursors restores retinal structure and function in degenerative mice. PLoS One 6:e18992
- Tucker BA, Mullins RF, Streb LM, Anfinson K, Eyestone ME, Kaalberg E, Riker MJ et al (2013) Patient-specific iPSC-derived photoreceptor precursor cells as a means to investigate retinitis pigmentosa. elife 2:e00824
- Utheim TP (2013) Limbal epithelial cell therapy: past, present, and future. Methods Mol Biol 1014: 3–43
- Venugopalan P, Wang Y, Nguyen T, Huang A, Muller KJ, Goldberg JL (2016) Transplanted neurons integrate into adult retinas and respond to light. Nat Commun 7:1–9
- Visser N, Bauer NJ, Nuijts RM (2013) Toric intraocular lenses: historical overview, patient selection, IOL calculation, surgical techniques, clinical outcomes, and complications. J Cataract Refract Surg 39:624–637
- Wormstone IM (2002) Posterior capsule opacification: a cell biological perspective. Exp Eye Res 74:337–347
- Yamamoto S, Du J, Gouras P, Kjeldbye H (1993) Retinal pigment epithelial transplants and retinal function in RCS rats. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 34:3068–3075
- Yang C, Yang Y, Brennan L, Bouhassira EE, Kantorow M, Cvekl A (2010a) Efficient generation of lens progenitor cells and lentoid bodies from human embryonic stem cells in chemically defined conditions. FASEB J 24:3274–3283
- Yang C, Yang Y, Brennan L, Bouhassira EE, Kantorow M, Cvekl A (2010b) Efficient generation of lens progenitor cells and lentoid bodies from human embryonic stem cells in chemically defined conditions. FASEB J 24:3274–3283
- Zhang K, Pang K, Wu X (2014) Isolation and transplantation of corneal endothelial cell-like cells derived from in-vitro-differentiated human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 23: 1340–1354
- Zhang L, Coulson-Thomas VJ, Ferreira TG, Kao WW (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells for treating ocular surface diseases. BMC Ophthalmol 15(Suppl 1):155
- Zhao JJ, Afshari NA (2016) Generation of human corneal endothelial cells via in vitro ocular lineage restriction of pluripotent stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 57:6878–6884
- Zhong X, Gutierrez C, Xue T, Hampton C, Vergara MN, Cao LH, Peters A et al (2014) Generation of three-dimensional retinal tissue with functional photoreceptors from human iPSCs. Nat Commun 5:4047
- Zhu W, Gramlich OW, Laboissonniere L, Jain A, Sheffield VC, Trimarchi JM, Tucker BA et al (2016) Transplantation of iPSC-derived TM cells rescues glaucoma phenotypes in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:E3492–EE500
- Zhu W, Jain A, Gramlich OW, Tucker BA, Sheffield VC, Kuehn MH (2017) Restoration of aqueous humor outflow following transplantation of iPSC-derived trabecular meshwork cells in a transgenic mouse model of glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 58:2054–2062
- Zhu J, Slevin M, Guo BQ, Zhu SR (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cells as a potential therapeutic source for corneal epithelial stem cells. Int J Ophthalmol 11(12):2004–2010.



Myoblast Therapies Constitute a Safe and Efficacious Platform Technology of Regenerative Medicine for the Human Health Industry

Peter K. Law, Wenbin Li, Qibin Song, Shi Jun Song, Jun Ren, Manye Yao, Qiaoyun Li, Qizhong Shi, Keqiang Wang, Jing Wang, Lei Ye, Jian-Hua Ma, Khawaja Husnain Haider, Li-ping Su, Ping Lu, Weyland Cheng, Ming Zhang Ao, and Danlin M. Law

Contents

Introduction	629
Gene Defect: The Original Sin	629
Genetic Diseases Account for >80% of Human Death	629
Approaches Towards Treatment	629
Autografts Cannot Treat Genetic Diseases	630
Treatment Design and Mechanisms	630
Why Cell Therapy	630
Myoblasts: Nature's Chest of Gene Medicine	631
MTT Platform Technology	631

P. K. Law (🖂)

Cell and Gene Therapies, Cell Therapy Institute, Wuhan, China

Department of Oncology, Renmin Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China e-mail: peter@celltherapy.com

W. Li Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Q. Song · J. Wang Renmin Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China e-mail: qibinsong@whu.edu.cn

S. J. Song \cdot Q. Shi \cdot K. Wang Xinxiang Medical University, Henan, China

J. Ren Tong Ren Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

M. Yao · W. Cheng Children's Hospital Affiliated to Zhengzhou University, Henan Children's Hospital, Zhengzhou Children's Hospital, Zhengzhou, China

Q. Li Zhengzhou University, Henan, China

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 34

Engineering Genetic Mosaicism with MTT: Supply of Normal Genome via Injection	
of Myoblasts	632
Original Testing of Idea	633
Pertinent Muscle Developmental Biology	633
Myogenesis	634
Neuromuscular Transmission	635
Excitation Contraction Coupling	635
Number of Myofibers and Strength	635
Parameters Governing Cell Fusion	635
Controlled Cell Fusion	636
Mitotic Cardiomyocytes via In Vitro Controlled Cell Fusion	637
Injection Methods Regulate Cell Distribution and Fusion	637
Cyclosporine Immunosuppression	638
Muscular Dystrophy	638
Etiology	638
Pathogenesis: Cell Membrane Defect	639
Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy	640
Natural History	640
Strategizing DMD Treatment	641
Induction of Genetic Mosaicism	641
MTT in DMD Subjects	642
Lower Body Treatment (LBT): Phase II Trial	645
Whole Body Treatment (WBT): Phase II and III Trials	646
Heart Muscle Degeneration	650
Severe Myocardial Infarction	651
Proof-of-Concept for AMT	651
AMT Is Safe and Efficacious with MI Patients	652
AMT Is Safe and Efficacious with End-Stage HF Subjects	652
Data Analysis and Interpretation	655
Angiomyogenesis	664
Autonomous Robotic Cell Injection Catheter System	665
Cellular and Molecular Phases of MTT Development	666
MTT Corrects Gene Defects in Type II Diabetes	666
Type II Diabetes	667
MTT in Type II Diabetes Human Study	667
MTT Use in Drug Discovery	668

L. Ye · L.-p. Su

Biomedical Engineering, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama, USA

Ј.-Н. Ма

Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

K. H. Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia

e-mail: kh.haider@sru.edu

P. Lu · D. M. Law Cell Therapy Institute, Wuhan, China

M. Z. Ao Hua Zhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China e-mail: aomingzhang@hust.edu.cn

Multiple Usage of MTT in Genetic Diseases	668
Preliminary Safety and Efficacy Data of MTT in Cancer Treatment	668
Identification of the Polygenic Defects of Various Cancer	669
Myoblasts Inhibit Metastasis, Tumor Growth, and Induce Cancer Apoptosis	669
Myoblasts Fuse with Cancer Stem Cell	670
Plausible Sequence of Events	671
MTT in Breast and Uterine Cancers	673
Conclusion	673
Antiaging Aesthetica	674
In Law's Enchanting World of MTT	675
Personalized Medicine for Each Family	675
Biologic Skin	675
Body Sculpture	675
Be More Macho	676
Be More Feminine	676
Tendon Repair for Injured Athletes	676
Loose Teeth and Bone Fracture Repair	676
Stimulation Therapies and Fractal Dynamics to Complement MTT Treatment of	
Diseases	677
MTT Replenishes Mitochondria and Regenerates Energy Network of Life	677
Intellectual Property Portfolio of Professor Peter K. Law	680
FDA, EMA Approved MTT IND's	681
Conclusion	682
References	683

Abstract

Intramuscular implantation of cultured allogeneic myoblasts derived from pathogen-free muscle biopsies of genetically normal human volunteers demonstrated safety and efficacy in clinical studies of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), heart failure, ischemic cardiomyopathy, Type-II diabetes, cancer, and aging disfigurement. Through natural cell fusion, donor myoblasts inserted their normal nuclei that supplied the complete human genome to replenish the aberrant gene(s). The replacement gene(s) produced single or multiple gene transcripts, factors, and protein(s) in multiple pathways to effect complementary genetic repair. Donor myoblasts also fused among themselves to form normal myofibers. Applications included diagnostic screening, disease prevention, disease treatment, drug discovery, and selection of superior cell clones for therapies. Only 3-week cyclosporine immunosuppression was necessary to support engraftment, development, and functioning. Improvement in the host included production of repairing structural and regulatory proteins, increases in muscle cell number and function, increases in locomotive capacity, breathing capacity and life span in DMD boys, increases in blood ejection and vascularization in heart failure and ischemic patients, and transfer of biochemicals and ions across the muscle cell membrane in diabetic patients. Intra-tumor implantation of allogeneic human myoblasts induced cancer apoptosis, inhibiting metastasis and tumor growth with cancer patients. FDA currently listed 23 myoblast implantation projects, and EMA listed 6, mostly in Phase II with some in Phase III clinical trials. This unique platform technology, patented for its compositions, methods, and related medical devices of cell/gene therapies, promised to be of great social and economic values in world health and human services.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Anti-aging \cdot Cancer \cdot Cosmetology \cdot DMD \cdot Gene \ therapy \cdot Heart \ failure \cdot \\ Human \ gene \ therapy \cdot Ischemic \ cardiomyopathy \cdot Muscular \ dystrophies \cdot Muscle \\ regeneration \cdot Myoblasts \cdot Somatic \ cell \ therapy \cdot Stressed \ urinary \ incontinence \cdot \\ Type \ II \ diabetes \end{array}$

List of Abbreviations

AF	Ankle plantar flexors
ALT	Alanine transaminase
AMT	Allogeneic myoblast transplantation
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CsA	Cyclosporine-A
CTRF	Cell Therapy Research Foundation
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
EDB	Extensor digitorum brevis
Fadu	cancer cells
FI	Fecal incontinence
FM	Fusion medium
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
GSV	GLUT4 storage vesicle
HBSAg	Hepatitis B surface antigen
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HMGT	Human myoblast genome therapy
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor
IND	Investigational New Drug
IRAP	Insulin-regulated aminopeptidase
IRB	Institutional Review Board
KE	Knee extensors
KF	Knee flexors
LBT	Lower body treatment
LC6SP	Large chondroitin-6-sulfate proteoglycan
LD	Lactate dehydrogenase
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MDA	Muscular Dystrophy Association Inc.
MHC-1	Major histocompatibility class I

Myocardial infarction
Myoblast transfer therapy
Neoplasm inhibition rate
Syphilis
Somatic cell therapy
Super medium
Single muscle treatment
Stressed urinary incontinence
Trans-myocardial revascularization
Tumor necrosis factor-α
Upper body treatment
Vascular endothelial growth factor 165
Whole body treatment

Introduction

Gene Defect: The Original Sin

The Book of Genesis has it that when Eve and Adam ate the fruits of the forbidden tree in Eden, they committed the Original Sin and lost eternal life and happiness. Without tasting the forbidden fruit, their children inherited the Original Sin and needed rebirth to regain what was lost. Gene defects are inherited like the Original Sin. By inheriting these defects, human beings lose even normal life and happiness. Myoblast therapies were pioneered, tested, and established by Professor Peter K. Law's teams and colleagues for most human beings to regain what was or may be lost in health because of gene defects.

Genetic Diseases Account for >80% of Human Death

Genetic diseases are those that have demonstrated gene defects with heritability. In additional to single gene defects causing, for example, Duchenne muscular dystrophies (DMD), many incurable diseases are the result of multiple gene defects and haphazard interactions between them. The latter include top killers of mankind such as cancer, cardiovascular diseases, Type II diabetes, and aging. Together, these fatal and debilitating diseases account for more than 80% of human death, for which the human and health services have provided neither prevention nor effective treatment.

Approaches Towards Treatment

Regenerative medicine using biologics is the medicine of the twenty-first century. Cell therapies regenerate degenerative tissues and enhance organ appearance and functions with little side effects. From the fertilized ovum unto death, the cell is the
basic unit of life in the human body. Whereas numerous molecular genetic pathways have yet to be discovered, advent in cell culture and transplantation techniques has culminated into many somatic cell therapies being practiced. They achieve where drugs, devices, organ transplants, and single gene therapies have failed.

Autografts Cannot Treat Genetic Diseases

The same gene defect(s) reside in every living cell of the genetically defective individual throughout life, since all cells of the body are derived from mitosis of the fertilized eggs. Therefore, hereditary degenerative organs cannot depend on any cell derived from the host body to provide regeneration or rebirth. Allograft is a must for the treatment of hereditary degenerative diseases, and the implanted cells must be derived from genetically normal donors to provide the missing gene(s), and not from abnormal donors. By law, cell therapy forbids transplanting genetically abnormal cells into any human being, including oneself.

Treatment Design and Mechanisms

One unique platform biotechnology distinguishes itself from the rest in terms of demonstrated safety, efficacy, applications, maturity, and intellectual property protection. That is human myoblast genome therapy (HMGT) (Law 2009), also known as myoblast transfer therapy (MTT) (Law 1994). Published reports indicated that the MTT platform technology has applications to treating most if not all the genetic diseases mentioned above, and it is the goal of this chapter to provide the essence.

Why Cell Therapy

The cell is the basic unit of all lives. It is that infinitely small entity which life is made of. In hereditary degenerative diseases such as those mentioned, gene defects cause cells to degenerate and die throughout life. When a DMD boy cannot stand by himself, he has already lost 40% of his skeletal muscle cells in his legs, with the remaining cells in his body continue undergoing hereditary degeneration.

An effective treatment must not only repair degenerating cells but replenish dead cells as well (Law 1994). This has been achieved by the transplantation of genetically normal cells called myoblasts because of their unique ability of natural cell fusion and their unidirectional development to become myofibers. Neither pharmaceutics nor molecular medicine can replenish dead cells. There is very limited evidence that they can repair degenerating cells. Myoblasts are efficient, safe, and universal gene transfer vehicles, being endogenous to the body. Since a foreign gene always exerts its effect on a cell, cell therapy will always be the common pathway to health. After all, cells are what life is made of.

Myoblasts: Nature's Chest of Gene Medicine

Evolution of vertebrate muscular system over the past 500 million years witnesses some unique characteristics developed. In human beings, myoblasts are the only cell type which divide extensively without tumorigenicity, migrate, fuse naturally to form syncytia, lose their major histocompatibility class I (MHC-1) antigens soon after fusion, and develop to occupy 55% of the body weight. These combined properties render myoblasts ideal for gene transfer and somatic cell therapy (SCT).

Myoblasts is a living biologic native to the human body, a bioactive product of 500 million years of vertebrate evolution. Each of their nuclei contains the software and hardware of the complete human genome, readily to be switched on and off towards normal muscle development. Because of the vast biodistribution of striated, cardiac, and smooth muscles, any gene defect affecting the myo-genome will have serious consequences, such as found in aging, muscular dystrophy, Type II diabetes, and their related cardiomyopathies.

From human standpoint with 3000 years of recorded medical knowledge, understanding the etiology and pathogenesis will have great bearing in devising preventions and treatments for various muscle diseases. From other mammals' standpoint without any medical capability, myoblasts and other biologics are all they have. The skeletal muscle, being externally located in the body, has developed specific regenerative capabilities and characteristics for frontline defense against predation and diseases, traversing much longer time than human knowledge of medicine.

All the unique properties or specializations, especially the natural cell fusion of myoblasts during muscle development and regeneration, were fully exploited by Law in his pioneer engineering of the MTT platform technology. It should be mentioned that satellite cells, muscle stem cells, and muscle progenitors are essentially myoblasts and have very similar if not exactly the same cell properties.

MTT Platform Technology

MTT is a combined SCT and gene therapy: replenish dead myofibers with live ones, and genetically repairing degenerative myofibers. Intramuscular implantation of cultured allogeneic myoblasts derived from pathogen-free muscle biopsies of genetically normal male volunteers demonstrated safety and efficacy in clinical studies of DMD, heart failure, ischemic cardiomyopathy, Type-II diabetes, cancer, and aging disfigurement.

The MTT invention relates to compositions and methods for preventing and treating mammalian disease conditions that are debilitating, fatal, hereditary, degenerative, and/or undesirable. More specifically, the MTT invention relates to the transplantation of normal, or genetically transduced, or cytokine-converted myogenic cells into malfunctioning, and/or degenerative tissues or organs.

Replenishing Dead Cells

With the immense wisdom and knowledge of human race, scientists have not been able to produce a living cell from nonliving ingredients such as DNA, RNA, ions, carbohydrate, fat, protein, and/or biomaterials. The testing and establishment of MTT concept involved development of two methods between 1975 and 1990: Cell Culture is the only method known to man for the replication of cells in vitro. With proper techniques and precautions, normal myoblasts can be cultured in significant quality and quantity to repair, and to replenish degenerated and damaged myofibers.

Cell transplantation bridges the gap between in vitro and in vivo systems, and allows propagation of "new life" in degenerative tissues or organs of the genetically defective or injured body. Cell transplantation techniques have been developed to ensure donor myoblast survival, development, and functioning. After transplantation, donor myoblasts fused among themselves to form multinucleated myotubes that developed into normal myofibers to replenish degenerated myofibers and lost function (Law 1994).

Repairing Hereditary Degenerative Cells

Cell fusion transfers the nucleus, thus all the normal genes within, like delivering a gene medicine chest to the abnormal myofiber. It is important to recognize that, for proper gene regulation and expression, the DNA software packaged in the chromosomes needs other cell organelles as hardware to operate, with spatial and temporal controls.

Correction of a gene defect occurs spontaneously at the cellular level after cell fusion. The natural integration, regulation, and expression of the full complement of over 30,000 normal genes impart the normal phenotypes onto the heterokaryon. Protein(s) or factor(s) that were not produced by the host genome because of the genetic defect are now produced by the normal genome. Cytokines and cofactors derived from expression of other genes at different time and space all corroborate to restore spontaneously the normal phenotype of the degenerating cell. The latter information is often unknown to the molecular geneticists, thus accounting for the limited success of molecular medicine. In MTT, genome of the donor myoblast operates naturally as usual, but in a multinucleated, heterokaryotic myotube mosaic with the normal and the abnormal nuclei. It is in such manipulated, genetically engineered environment that phenotype correction of gene defect occurs.

Engineering Genetic Mosaicism with MTT: Supply of Normal Genome via Injection of Myoblasts

Myofibers of DMD patients contain genetically dystrophic nuclei each of which lacks the normal dystrophin gene. In MTT, the injection trauma activates the muscle regenerative processes. Through natural cell fusion, donor myoblasts convey their normal nuclei that supply the complete human genome, carrying normal copies of the dystrophin gene into the regenerative myofibers or myotubes. The foreign dystrophin gene corroborate with various cofactors to produce gene transcripts and the missing protein dystrophin, resulting in complementary genetic repair of the DMD myofiber phenotype (Law et al. 1990a, 1998).

"Gene therapy encompasses interventions that involve deliberate alteration of the genetic material of living cells to prevent or to treat diseases" (Kessler et al. 1993). This FDA definition placed MTT into the field of gene therapy. Genetic mosaicism describes the mixture of genetically normal and dystrophic nuclei coexisting in a myofiber or a myotube in the MTT treated host muscle. This type of myofibers is termed mosaic myofiber, being mosaic with normal and dystrophic nuclei. There is no gene editing. There is no hybridization at the chromosomal level. Every cell is a diploid and not tetraploid.

Genetic mosaicism also describes the mixture of genetically normal, dystrophic, and mosaic myofibers coexisting in the host muscle after MTT. The normal myofibers are newly formed from natural fusion of the donor myoblasts with each other.

Original Testing of Idea

Although the role of myoblasts/satellite cells in myogenesis and muscle regeneration dated back to the early 1960s (Konigsberg 1963; Mauro 1961), the use in animal therapy was not reported until 1978 (Law 1978). The original idea of MTT dated back to 1975, and experiments testing MTT were first published by Law in 1978 (Law 1978). A deliberate attempt was made in adult dystrophic mice to produce mosaic muscles containing normal, dystrophic, and mosaic myofibers from the regenerates of normal and dystrophic minced muscle mixes. The mince and mix procedures were designed to provide an environment for the intermingling and fusion of normal and dystrophic muscles. It was concluded that the introduction of cell contents of normal genotype into dystrophic muscles could improve the function of the latter (Law 1978). Additional proof-of-concept animal studies are described in the section "Pathogenesis: Cell Membrane Defect."

Pertinent Muscle Developmental Biology

Mammalian skeletal muscles are derived from the mesodermal germ layer in the embryo. In human, mesoderm first appears at 20 days after fertilization. Concomitant is the appearance of somite that increase in number with time. Within the somite are uncommitted mitotic precursor cells capable of giving rise to muscle, bone, cartilage, blood, lymphatics, and connective tissues. The commitment to being myogenic occurs early on since myoblasts, as these cells are called, are found in the limb buds at 26 days of gestation. Satellite cells which are myoblast reserves in adult

muscles contain actin-like filaments in their cytoplasm. Such lineage determination is influenced by embryonic induction and irreversible gene expression (Jacobson 1970).

Myogenesis

The developmental processes of myoblasts, myotubes, myofibers, and satellite cells, especially the genetically programming of cell fusion are products of 500 million years of vertebrate evolution. Lack of human fetal tissues for research had deemed myogenesis be studied in vitro. Beginning as small spheres of about $10-12 \mu m$ in diameter, myoblasts grow best on collagen attachment which resembles the extracellular matrix in vivo. Under proper cell culture condition, the transformation into spindle-shaped cells occurs within 3 days.

Myoblasts are characterized by their abilities to divide, migrate, align, and fuse to form multinucleated myotubes. Cell division is an intrinsic property of myoblasts as evident by myoblast proliferation in serum-free culture media. However, proliferation over one billion myoblasts from primary culture of 2 g of muscle biopsy requires growth factors. Myoblasts will continue to proliferate for as long as nutrients, adherent space, temperature, and pH are optimal. It is known that myoblasts do not fuse when they are in the S, G2, M, or even the early G1 phases of the cell cycle. Although it is not possible to study division synchronization in the human fetus, the myoblast doubling time in culture is 24–40 h, depending on the regenerative vigor of the satellite cells of the donor. Myoblasts reportedly could undergo 80 mitotic divisions. In our laboratory, myoblasts lost their ability to fuse after 50 generations of proliferation.

A built-in regenerative measure resides with the satellite cells that are basically myoblast reserves found in adult skeletal muscle fibers. These are mononucleated cells located between the basal lamina and the plasma membrane of myofibers. Satellite cells exhibit the same characteristics as myoblasts. Myotubes are formed from natural fusion of myoblasts. Each of them contains 200–500 nuclei, a uniquely large genomic store and manufacture plant for producing and depositing contractile filaments such as actin, myosin, myoglobin, and tropomyosin, and related molecules in an organized manner to form sarcomeres of myofibers. Myotubes can easily be identified by immunologically stained positively for heavy meromyosin. Equipped with these structural and biochemical bases of contraction, some myotubes can contract spontaneously in culture, and eventually pull from the collagen surface. Without neural induction or nerve innervation, the advance myotubes will undergo degeneration and die within 10 days. The myotubes will not develop into a myofiber unless innervated by a motor axon.

Myofibers are formed from developing myotubes when the contractile proteins are structured into filaments and packaged into basic contracting units called the sarcomeres. Hundreds of sarcomeres are aligned to form a myofibril many of which comprise a myofiber. Each sarcomere is made up of myosin and actin filaments linked together by cross-bridges.

Neuromuscular Transmission

With the arrival of the axonal terminal, an area of the myotube membrane which is adjacent to the axonal terminal becomes thickened and convoluted due to the formation of large amounts of acetylcholine receptors and ionic channels. The mature neuromuscular junction is a highly specialized relay station, transmitting the central command to generate contraction of the myofiber. Neuromuscular transmission is through the release of the neuromuscular transmitter acetylcholine which, upon combining with their postjunctional receptors, is metabolized by cholinesterase and produces significant membrane depolarization to generate excitation-contraction. These junctions stain positively for acetylcholinesterase.

Excitation Contraction Coupling

Postjunctional membrane depolarization of more than 40 mv will trigger an action potential to propagate the transverse tubular system, releasing Ca^{2+} from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, triggering millions of cross-bridges to be formed, sliding the actin filaments toward the center of each myosin filament, and results in force generation. Contraction and relaxation require Ca^{2+} and ATP.

Number of Myofibers and Strength

As the bones elongate during puberty, the passive stretch induces additional sarcomere production with subsequent increase in strength. Although the number of myofibers remains constant for individual muscles, the number of myofibrils within the myofiber can vary according to genetic and environmental differences. As more contractile proteins are deposited and the sarcoplasmic reticulum better developed, the centrally located nuclei migrate peripherally.

Numerous structural proteins and glycoproteins are synthesized and deposited during the transition from myotube to myofiber. Among these is dystrophin, a surface membrane protein which is not present in the myofibers of DMD (Hoffman et al. 1987) as a result of the gene defect (Monaco et al. 1986; Koenig et al. 1987).

Parameters Governing Cell Fusion

A condition called serum deprivation or a sudden reduction in serum concentration will precipitate cell fusion in culture. Cell fusion occurs only after the myoblasts have undergone considerable cycles of division and are withdrawn from the mitotic cycle (Banker et al. 1971). In the human fetus, myoblasts within a somite are

essentially replicating clones. Close confinement within the somite ensures that the myoblasts are always at a state of confluence. The latter is a prerequisite for cell fusion. The decision to fuse in vivo is genetically programmed, and fusion occurs without any neural contact or influence. It involves structural gene transcription and RNA synthesis, especially in the formation of the receptors on the myoblast surface that are responsible for cell recognition, cell adhesion, and membrane restructuring (Pearson and Epstein 1982; Davidson 1976). The end products are multinucleated myotubes each of which is formed from fusion of 200 or more myoblasts.

Controlled Cell Fusion

Through unknown mechanisms, the MHC class 1 surface antigens of myoblasts are very mildly expressed after cell fusion and the myotubes so formed exhibit minimal, if any, antigenicity. To foster donor cell survival and development, it would be useful to be able to control, initiate, or facilitate cell fusion once myoblasts are injected. This strategy was engineered to reduce the time of immunosuppression necessary for engraftment of allogeneic myoblasts.

As the myoblasts are injected intramuscularly, injection trauma causes the release of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and large chondroitin-6-sulfate proteoglycan (LC6SP). These latter growth factors stimulate myoblast proliferation. Unfortunately, they also stimulate the proliferation of fibroblasts that are already present in increased amount in the dystrophic muscle. That is why it is necessary to inject as pure as possible fractions of myoblasts in MTT without contaminating fibroblasts.

Controlled cell fusion can be achieved by artificially increasing the concentration of LC6SP over the endogenous level. LC6SP stimulates cell proliferation towards confluency, thus facilitates cell fusion. In addition, insulin or insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-1) facilitates the developmental process, resulting in the formation of myotubes soon after myoblast injection. Although the use of bFGF, LC6SP, and IGF-1 at optimal concentrations in the injection medium may lead to greater MTT success, inclusion of one or more of these factors would introduce immunologic complications.

Myoblasts fuse readily at low serum concentration in culture. At the end, it was an inventive step introduced exploiting serum deprivation that was found most effective. This involved exposing the myoblasts to 100% host serum as the last step in cell production, a step that provided enough nutrients to sustain cell survival and vigor before implantation. The carrier solution could consist of 100% host serum, or it could be supplemented with human albumin and injection saline when enough host serum was not available. Intramuscular injection of myoblasts dramatically reduced the serum concentration and exposed the myoblasts to intercellular fluid within the perimysium, a condition constituting serum deprivation. This controlled cell fusion procedure supported myoblast survival and development into myotubes in 7–10 days after MTT.

Mitotic Cardiomyocytes via In Vitro Controlled Cell Fusion

Whereas MTT results in the formation of genetic mosaicism with gene transfer occurring in vivo, the production of heterokaryons in vitro has immense medical application. This can be achieved by controlled cell fusion with myoblasts.

The original program of research relates to the in culture transfer of the normal nuclei carrying the regenerative genome from donor myoblasts into the genetically normal and/or abnormal cardiomyocytes. This development is especially important considering that cardiomyopathic symptoms develop in mid adolescence in about 10% of the DMD population. By age 18, all DMD individuals develop cardiomyopathy. Undoubtedly, the ability to replenish degenerated and degenerating cardiomyocytes will have immense impact on heart diseases even in the normal population where there is a great shortage of hearts for transplantation.

Normal cardiomyocytes exhibit very limited ability to proliferate in vivo or in vitro. The heart muscles damaged in heart attacks or in hereditary cardiomyopathy cannot repair themselves through regeneration. It is envisioned that the integration of mitosis, an extremely efficient characteristic of myoblasts, will enable the heterokaryotic cardiomyocytes to proliferate in vitro. Controlled cell fusion between normal myoblasts and normal cardiomyocytes may result in heterokaryons exhibiting the characteristics of both parental myogenic cell types. Clones can be selected based on their abilities to undergo mitosis in vitro, to develop desmosomes, gap junctions, and to contract strongly in synchrony after cell transplantation. These genetically superior cells can then be delivered through catheter pathways after mapping of the injured sites. With the ability to grow large quantity of these cardiomyocytes, the correction of structural, electrical, and contractile abnormalities in cardiomyopathy can be tested first in cardiomyopathic hamsters, ischemic porcine model, and if safe and effective, in humans.

Injection Methods Regulate Cell Distribution and Fusion

The biodistribution of donor myoblasts and the integration of donor nuclei through cell fusion are of supreme importance towards MTT success. Aside from donor cell survival in an immunologically hostile host, cell fusion is the key to strengthening dystrophic muscles with MTT. To improve the fusion rate between host and donor cells, various injection methods aimed at wide dissemination of donor myoblasts were tested and compared. The goal was to achieve maximum cell fusion with the least number of injections.

Methods of myoblast delivery included injecting perpendicular to the muscle fiber surface, parallel to myofibers, and diagonally traversing the myofibers. Myoblasts were infused slowly as the needle was withdrawn. Results indicated that myoblasts injected oblique to myofiber orientation were widely and evenly distributed. Myoblasts injected perpendicular to myofiber orientation were partially distributed. Myoblasts injected longitudinally through the core of the muscles and parallel to the myofibers were poorly distributed (Law et al. 1994a).

Cyclosporine Immunosuppression

When human myoblasts were transplanted into ischemic porcine ventricle, there was a transient elevation of porcine antihuman-myoblast antibodies at 1 week after the xenograft (Haider et al. 2004a, b). The antibody level subsided at the second week after MTT, indicating that no more than 2 weeks of cyclosporine immunosuppression would be necessary for human/pig xenografts or for human allografts. Because of the low antigenicity of allogeneic myoblasts, the only immunosuppressive agent used was cyclosporine, at a dose of 5–7 mg/kg body weight divided into two daily doses. The dosage was varied to maintain serum trough concentrations in the range 100–150 ng/ml. With the newly developed controlled cell fusion procedure, cyclosporine immunosuppression has been reduced from 3 months to 3 weeks, beginning at 3 days before MTT and weaning at half dosage at the beginning of the third week.

Muscular Dystrophy

Muscular dystrophy is a group of inherited diseases characterized by progressive degeneration of skeletal muscles. The word "dystrophy," implicating malnutrition, has been in use since the eighteenth century. At the dawn of Neurosciences in the early 1970s, McComas postulated the neural hypothesis of muscular dystrophy (McComas et al. 1971). Its basic concept was that motoneurons did not supply normal "trophic" substance(s) to maintain muscle fibers in a healthy state.

Etiology

Law and Atwood (1972a) had previously reported, within single mice, the slow contracting soleus muscle being cross-reinnervated by the nerve of the fast contracting flexor digitorum longus. Whereas physiological conversion of the slow muscle by the "fast" nerve was noted in all normal preparations, a similar conversion was noted in the soleus of only one of 10 dystrophic animals. The results were interpreted to mean that either some "neurotrophic" factors were absent in the nerves of dystrophic mice or that the dystrophic muscle was not capable of responding to existing "neurotrophic" factors.

In a continuation study, Law et al. reported parabiosis being established between pairs of dystrophic mice and normal littermates with a cross of the "fast" tibial nerve of one partner onto the slow soleus muscle of the other. This was a "double cross" preparation, such that each parabiont had a soleus muscle cross reinnervated by a tibial nerve of its partner. This unique preparation allowed the investigators (a) to monitor the "neurotrophic" influence of a "fast" nerve on a slow muscle, (b) to assess specifically the influence of the nerve on the expression of dystrophy (Law et al. 1976a), and (c) "myotrophic" influence on motoneurons (Law 1977).

Electrophysiological, cytochemical, and structural analyses indicated that the crossed "fast" nerves of normal or of dystrophic genotype were effective in altering

the cytochemical pattern of the slow muscles to fiber types' characteristic of fast muscles. However, normal nerves innervating solei of the dystrophic parabiont did not arrest the progress of the disease, and nerves of dystrophic genotype innervating muscles of the normal parabiont did not induce a pathological state. The results indicated that the peripheral motor nerves of dystrophic mice were normal in exerting "neurotrophic" influences and that muscular dystrophy progresses despite the presence of normal "neurotrophic" influences. This unique approach of a double nerve cross achieved through parabiosis provided strong evidence that the etiology of hereditary muscular dystrophy in this species was not nerve mediated. The results nullified the hypothesis that a "neurotrophic" deficiency was the primary manifestation of the defective gene in hereditary muscular dystrophy of mice. The findings that the dystrophic nervous system was normal in its ability to form synapses, to induce fiber type differentiation, to bring myofibers to maturity, and to maintain the structure and function of a normal muscle are significant, not only in terms of understanding of the etiology of muscular dystrophy, but also of developing transplant treatments (Law et al. 1976a). Without such knowledge, it would be imprudent to attempt strengthening dystrophic muscles with normal myogenic cell transfer.

Furthermore, a detrimental "myotrophic" influence was found to be exerted on motoneurons in dystrophic mice. Dystrophic solei reinnervated by nerves of normal genotype showed a 23% reduction in number (17 ± 2 , mean \pm SD) and a 50% reduction in size (78 ± 17 mg, mean \pm SD) of motor units as compared to the normal solei reinnervated by nerves of dystrophic genotype (22 ± 1 , 154 ± 38 mg, mean \pm SD). The former preparations also showed abnormal endplates compared to the latter. These endplates were irregular in size and shape and often exhibited decreased acetylcholinesterase activity (Law 1977; Saito et al. 1983).

Pathogenesis: Cell Membrane Defect

The first direct evidence of membrane abnormality in mammalian dystrophy was reported in 1972 (Law and Atwood 1972b). Subthreshold direct stimulation elicited a smaller response from the dystrophic fiber than from the normal one, indicating that the dystrophic fiber was "leaky" to ionic currents. In a later study, about 55% of dystrophic myofibers examined were abnormal in their ability to generate action potentials. Some of these fibers showed no detectable response to supramaximal stimulation of the motor nerve, whereas in others, abortive spikes or localized end-plate potentials were recorded. The proportion of fibers showing very small or no electrical response increased when recordings were made away from the end-plate zone. The abortive spikes indicated a structural defect in the sarcolemma such that sodium conductance was diminished (Law et al. 1976b).

The abortive spikes did not propagate the whole length of the myofibers such that sarcomeres further away from the motor endplates would not receive depolarization to contract and would be "wasted." Dystrophic myofibers with abortive spikes generated localized contraction close to the endplates but the tensions developed were lower than normal. When given a normal resting potential, hyperpolarization to -80 mV of fibers with abortive spikes could not cause the indirectly elicited abortive spikes to increase in amplitude. This indicated that the abortive spikes were the result of membrane "leakiness" rather than reduced membrane hyperpolarization. Furthermore, when these fibers were subjected to the passive stretch of the antagonistic muscle and the active pull of the localized contraction, breach in the plasma membrane (Law et al. 1983) occurred at the region of nonactivated sarcomeres.

With leakage of Ca^{2+} into the myofibers, there are mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overload and localized hypercontraction. Also, Ca^{2+} -activated neutral proteases and lysosomal activities are activated resulting in muscle necrosis. Some fibers showed positive acid phosphatase reaction in muscle nuclei, mitochondria, sarcoplasmic reticulum, and contractile myofilaments. Membrane defect was found not only in the sarcolemma but also in the sarcoplasmic reticulum and the nucleus. Eventually, the contractile elements are replaced with connective tissue (Law et al. 1983, 1990b).

To conclude, the dystrophic gene is transcribed into a structural protein abnormality which directly or indirectly results in membrane "leakiness." The establishment of an abnormal ionic equilibrium across the membrane especially that of Na^+ , constitutes the earliest detectable pathophysiology in mediating weakness and necrosis of dystrophic myofibers (Law 1980). It was not until 1987 that dystrophin was identified as the structural protein defect in the sarcolemma of DMD myofibers.

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

Natural History

DMD manifests as a continuous muscle degeneration and loss of strength beginning at 1.5 years of age and lasting throughout life (Ziter et al. 1977; Brooke et al. 1983; Mendell et al. 1989; Fenichel et al. 1991). Growth outstrips the disease progress between ages 3 and 5, giving a false impression of remission; otherwise deterioration is continuous (Roelofs et al. 1979; Walton and Gardner-Medwin 1981). Degeneration is more severe in the proximal and anti-gravitational muscles than distal ones (Roelofs et al. 1979; Walton and Gardner-Medwin 1981) and proximal muscle weakness in the lower body is responsible for the Gowers' sign used in physical diagnosis.

Debilitating and fatal, DMD affects 1 in 3300 live male births (Emery 1991). DMD boys usually lose 50% of the strength in their leg muscles by age 9, and are wheelchair-bound by age 12. Three-quarters die before age 20. Pneumonia usually is the immediate cause of death, with underlying respiratory muscle degeneration, failure to inhale enough oxygen and to expel lung infection. Cardiomyopathic symptoms develop in mid-adolescence (Engel 1986) in about 10% of the DMD population. By age 18, all DMD individuals develop cardiomyopathy (Nigro et al. 1990), but cardiac failure is seldom the primary cause of death (Walton and Gardner-Medwin 1981).

Strategizing DMD Treatment

Human race is far from curing any genetic disease, not only from the practical standpoint but also conceptually how to convert the abnormal genome back to normal again. Perhaps the best alternative to sustain normal function was to engineer genetic mosaicism into muscles of the DMD boy as found in the X-linked carrier, the boy's mother. According to the Lyon hypothesis (Lyon 1961), random inactivation of one or the other X-chromosome can occur in any nucleus throughout the body of a Duchenne female carrier; individual myofibers would therefore contain mixtures of normal and dystrophic nuclei similar to the mosaic fibers produced by injecting normal myoblasts into dystrophic muscles (Law et al. 1990c). The mosaic myofibers exhibit normal phenotype, presumably due to metabolic or developmental complementation as a result of sharing the normal nuclei and therefore the normal genes. In addition, muscles of chimeric mice containing fibers of normal, dystrophic, and mosaic genotypes exhibit normal function (Law and Yap 1980; Peterson 1974).

It thus appeared that the logical and practical approach to reverse the expression of dystrophy in DMD muscles was to induce genetic mosaicism with the incorporation of the normal nuclei through MTT. Natural transduction with the normal nuclei ensured orderly replacement of dystrophin and related proteins at the cellular level in DMD. This ideal gene transfer procedure is unique to muscle. After all, only myoblasts could fuse and only myofibers were multinucleated in the human body. By harnessing these intrinsic properties, MTT transferred all normal genes to effect genetic repair, without the need to identify which gene was abnormal and which protein was missing (Law et al. 1990a).

Induction of Genetic Mosaicism

Normal and Dystrophic Minced Muscle Mixes

The foremost study in adult dystrophic mice was aimed at producing mosaic muscles containing normal, dystrophic, and mosaic myofibers from the normal and dystrophic minced muscle mixes (Law 1978). It focused on incorporating the "missing" gene and its product(s) into genetically defective cells through cell transplantation and natural cell fusion, the result of which is strengthened dystrophic muscles.

Newborn Muscle Transplant

In a later study, muscles of newborn normal mice were grafted into recipient soleus muscles of dystrophic mice. Results obtained 6 months after the grafting indicated that the grafts survived, developed, and functioned in the dystrophic environment. The regenerates had larger cross-sectional areas and more muscle fibers than the contralateral dystrophic solei. MTT increased the mean twitch tension of adult dystrophic muscles to that of the normal (Law and Yap 1979). The concept of replenishing lost cells and repairing degenerative cells through the production of genetic mosaicism using MTT was firmly established (Law and Yap 1979).

Mesenchymal Cell Transplant

MTT with myoblasts became the logical development since myoblasts do not require neuronal and capillary connections to survive and develop, and since myoblasts can fuse to effect genetic repair. A convenient way to obtain normal myoblasts in mice is through dissection of limb-bud mesenchyme of day-12 embryos. Dissected mesenchyme was surgically implanted into the solei of dy2Jdy2J mice. Host and donors were histocompatible. Contralateral solei served as controls. Six to seven months postoperatively, the myoblast-implanted solei exhibited greater cross-sectional area, total fiber number, better cell structure, and twitch and tetanus tensions than their contralateral controls (Law 1982).

MTT with Primary Myoblast Culture

In 1988, primary myoblast cultures from limb-bud explants of normal mouse embryos were injected into the soleus muscles of histocompatible dystrophic hosts (Law et al. 1988a). In addition, clones of normal myoblasts were injected into the leg and intercostal muscles of histoincompatible hosts, using cyclosporine-A (CsA) as a host immunosuppressant (Law et al. 1988b). Using glucose phosphate isomerases (GPI) as genotype markers, donor myoblasts were shown to have fused among themselves and developed into normal myofibers. They also fused with dystrophic host myogenic cells to form mosaic myofibers of normal phenotype (Law et al. 1988a, b, 1990b, c). These two mechanisms of genetic complementation were shown to be responsible for improvement in muscle genetics, structure, function, and animal behavior of the test dystrophic mice. Prolongation of the life spans of the myoblast-injected dystrophic mice was demonstrated (Law et al. 1988a, b, 1990b, c). The improvement persisted despite cyclosporine-A withdrawal.

With the discovery of the mdx mouse dystrophy model, and of the absence of the gene product dystrophin being the membrane defect of DMD (Hoffman et al. 1987), a new biochemical marker became available to demonstrate MTT efficacy (Partridge et al. 1989; Karpati et al. 1989; Chen et al. 1992). With implantation of cultured normal myoblasts into muscles of immunosuppressed mdx mice, MTT was shown to convert mdx myofibers from dystrophin-negative to dystrophin-positive (Partridge et al. 1989; Karpati et al. 1989; Chen et al. 1992). The study demonstrated biochemical improvements in the mdx mouse model, an additional evidence to confirm the efficacy of MTT.

MTT in DMD Subjects

All critical animal experimentation had been completed (Law et al. 1990b; Law 1990) when we began the MTT clinical trial. Phase I MTT began on February 15, 1990 (Law et al. 1990a) after approval from four institutional review boards. It was the first human gene therapy and the first somatic cell therapy clinical trial as reported by Hooper (1990). Cultured human myoblasts were used as vehicles to deliver the normal genome into DMD myofibers to repair genetic defects. As a cell therapy,

MTT was to replenish the degenerated myofibers also. The clinical trials were based on the safety and efficacy of MTT previously demonstrated in the dydy, dy^{2J}dy^{2J}, and mdx mice (Law 1978, 1982; Law et al. 1988a, b, 1990b, c; Law and Yap 1979; Partridge et al. 1989; Karpati et al. 1989; Chen et al. 1992).

A pioneering work (Anderson 1990, 1992, 1995; Beardsley 1990) has often been considered as the "first human gene therapy." Correction of the ADA deficiency study began on September 14, 1990 (Anderson 1990, 1992), 2 months after the MTT correction of the DMD gene defect was published (Law et al. 1990a).

Single Muscle Treatment (SMT): Phase I Trial

The randomized, double-blind study aimed to determine the survival, development, and functioning of donor myoblasts in dystrophic muscles of 11 DMD boys. We hypothesized that intramuscular injection of normal myoblasts could significantly improve the biochemistry, structure, and function of dystrophic muscles. Subjects and parents gave informed consents.

The safety and efficacy of MTT was assessed by injecting the left extensor digitorum brevis (EDB) muscle of a 9-year-old DMD boy with about 8×10^6 myoblasts. Donor myoblasts were cloned from satellite cells derived from a 1 g rectus femoris biopsy of the normal, adoptive father. Cyclosporine was administered for 3 months at a dose of 5–7 mg/kg body weight divided into two daily oral doses. Donor myoblasts survived, developed, and produced dystrophin in myofibers biopsied from the myoblast-injected EDB 92 days later. Dystrophin was not found in the contralateral sham-injected muscle. This first case, published in Lancet on July 14, 1990, suggested that MTT offered a safe and effective means for alleviating biochemical deficit(s) inherent in muscles of DMD (Law et al. 1990a).

Six years after the foremost MTT, dystrophin was found in the myoblast-injected muscle but not in the sham-injected muscle (Law et al. 1997a). Six years was the longest period through which any gene therapy had sustained positive results. Despite cyclosporine withdrawal at 3 months after MTT, myofibers expressing foreign dystrophin were not rejected. This was because dystrophin was present in the inner surface of the plasma membrane, and because mature myofibers did not exhibit MHC class 1 surface antigens. Not only had the result demonstrated MTT overall safety and efficacy in this single case, it also showed stability in the integration, regulation, and expression of the inserted dystrophin gene. The presence of dystrophin in the myoblast-injected but not in the sham-injected muscle provided unequivocal evidence of the survival and development of donor myoblasts in the myoblast-injected muscle.

SMT Safety

At no time during the 92 days after myoblast injection of the 11 subjects were there any sign of erythema, swelling, or tenderness at the injection sites. Serial laboratory evaluation, including electrolytes, creatinine, and urea, did not reveal any significant changes before or after MTT. There was no clinical evidence of an adverse reaction to MTT or to Cy (Law et al. 1990a).

SMT Efficacy

Myoblast-injected EDBs showed increases in maximal contractile force whereas sham-injected EDBs showed reductions (Law et al. 1991a, b, c). Both immunocy-tochemical staining and immunoblot revealed dystrophin in the myoblast-injected EDBs. Dystrophic characteristics such as fiber splitting, central nucleation, phagocytic necrosis, variation in fiber shape and size, and infiltration of fat and connective tissues were less frequently observed in these muscles (Law et al. 1991a, b, c).

SMT Significance

The first MTT on a DMD boy on Feb. 15, 1990 (Law et al. 1990a) marked the first clinical trial on human gene therapy (Hooper 1990). Its success was reported (Law et al. 1990a; Kolata 1990). MTT inserted, through natural cell fusion, all the normal genes within the nuclei of the donor myoblasts into the dystrophic myofibers to repair them. In addition, donor myoblasts also fused among themselves, forming genetically normal myofibers to replenish degenerated ones. Thus, full complements of normal genes were integrated, through a natural developmental process of regeneration, into the abnormal cells and into the abnormal organ to effect genetic cell therapy.

The US Patent Office issued to Law a pioneering patent (U.S. Pat. No. 5,130,141) entitled "Composition for and methods of treating muscle degeneration and weakness" on July 14, 1992.

In October 1993, the FDA officially began regulating SCT with a definition of "autologous, allogenic, or xenogeneic cells that have been propagated, expanded, selected, pharmacologically treated, or otherwise altered in biological characteristics ex vivo to be administered to humans and applicable to the prevention, treatment, cure, diagnosis, or mitigation of disease or injuries" (Federal Registrar 1993). MTT fell under the umbrella of SCT and myoblasts and its physical, genetic, or chemical derivatives became potential biologics in the treatment of mammalian diseases.

On May 25, 1994, FDA granted permission for Cell Therapy Research Foundation (CTRF) to charge \$63,806 per subject. CTRF was a nonprofit 501 (c) (3) research foundation founded in 1991 by Peter K. Law, the MTT inventor. Authorization by the FDA for CTRF to recover costs from subjects of these clinical trials was extremely important to establish the scientific credibility MTT and CTRF deserved, quoting FDA spokesman Monica Revelle, "Permission to bill for an Investigational product is granted rarely," "Applicants must endure numerous procedures, and must have what looks like a viable product at the end of the rainbow. It's used mainly to support testing of promising technology by small companies." (Shepard 1994).

At the time CTRF held the first and only FDAapproved human clinical trial under an Investigational New Drug (IND) application on MTT. It is extremely important to realize that CTRF had been working closely with the FDA to establish criteria and policies in the approval process of this IND for genetic cell therapy. The use of viral vector mediated gene therapy on human neuromuscular diseases had not met FDA approval.

Lower Body Treatment (LBT): Phase II Trial

This was the first attempt to improve the locomotive ability and thus the quality of life of DMD patients using MTT. The LBT protocol received approval from the Essex Institutional Review Board Inc. in Lebanon, NJ, and from the Patient Participation Committee of the Baptist Memorial Hospital Medical Center in Memphis, TN. Both were in compliant with the regulations of the FDA. The SMT and the LBT studies had long begun before the FDA established policies and regulations for cell/gene therapies in October 1993. Whereas the patient families were in great support of CTRF and MTT according to Dr. Thomas E. Furlong's letter in Science (Law 1992), the Muscular Dystrophy Association Inc. (MDA) was attempting to derail CTRF's MTT program through its association with the Appropriation Committee Chairman of the US Congress acting on NIH and FDA (Law 1992, 1993).

The feasibility, safety, and efficacy MTT were assessed in an experimental lower body treatment (LBT) involving 32 DMD boys aged 6–14 years, half of whom were nonambulatory. Through 48 injections, five billion (at concentration of $55.6 \times 10^{6/}$ mL) normal myoblasts were transferred into 22 major muscles in both lower limbs, in 10 min with the subject under general anesthesia (Law et al. 1992). Ten subjects received myoblasts cultured from satellite cells derived from 1-g fresh muscle biopsies of normal males aged 9–21 years. Donor myoblasts for the remaining 22 boys were subcultured from reserves frozen 1 month to 1.5 years ago. Only four donors were known to have identical histocompatibility with their recipients. All subjects took oral doses of the immunosuppressant cyclosporine, beginning at 2 days before MTT and lasting for 6 months after MTT to facilitate donor cell survival.

There was no evidence of an adverse reaction to MTT or cyclosporine as determined by serial laboratory evaluations including electrolytes, creatinine, and urea. This was the first study, using conservative and objective quantitative analyses, to have produced a statistically significant 50% increase in strength in 36% of 180 muscle groups in 31 DMD boys, despite a 9-month period of dystrophy progression. In addition, 25% of the muscle groups were as strong as they were 9 months ago.

Objective functional tests using the KinCom Robotic Dynamometer measured the maximum isometric contractile forces of the ankle plantar flexors (AF), knee flexors (KF), and knee extensors (KE) before MTT and at 3, 6, and 9 months after MTT. The AF, being distal muscles and less degenerative than the KE and the KF, showed no decrease in mean contractile force 3 months after MTT, and progressive increases in force at 6 and 9 months after MTT. At 9 months after MTT, 60% of the 60 AF examined showed a mean increase of 50% in force; 28% showed no change; and only 12% showed a mean decrease in force of 29% when compared to the function of the same muscles before MTT. The KF, being proximal muscles and more degenerative, showed no change in function at 9 months after MTT. The KE, being proximal and anti-gravitational, were most degenerative before MTT. They showed no statistically significant change in force at three months after MTT, 23% of the 60 KE

examined showed a mean increase of 65% in force; 22% showed no change; and 55% showed a mean decrease of 24% in force. When results of all muscle groups (AF, KF, KE) were pooled, there was no change in force at 3, 6, or 9 months after MTT versus before MTT according to the Wilcoxon signed rank test. The ambulatory subjects showed more muscle improvement than the nonambulatory ones at various times after MTT. Statistically significant progressive increase in force in the AF and arrest of weakening in the KF and KE were observed in the ambulatory subjects as early as 3 months and continued up to 9 months after MTT.

The results indicated that (1) MTT was safe; (2) MTT improved muscle function in DMD: 88% of the AF, 49% of the KF, and 45% of the KE showed either increase in strength or did not show continuous loss of strength 9 months after MTT; (3) LBT significantly strengthened the lower bodies in one-third of the 32 DMD boys. improving their locomotive ability and quality of life. The behavioral improvement subsided for insufficient dosage of myoblasts and continual upper body weakening: (4) the dosage used was more effective in the AF than in the KF, and was least effective in the KE; (5) more than five billion myoblasts were necessary to strengthen both lower limbs of a DMD boy between 6 and 14 years of age; (6) the more degenerated proximal muscles would need more myoblasts per unit muscle volume than the distal muscles for MTT to be effective; (7) MTT was more effective in the younger, ambulatory subjects than in the older, nonambulatory subjects; (8) cyclosporine was not responsible for the functional improvement, since muscle function continued to improve 9 months after MTT despite cyclosporine withdrawal at 6 months after MTT; (9) cyclosporine immunosuppression permits donor cell survival and development, without overt rejection symptoms, when properly managed; (10) myoblasts from frozen reserves were as effective as those from fresh muscle biopsies; (11) fifteen billion myoblasts could be cultured from a 1-g muscle biopsy; and (12) billions of cultured myoblasts could be injected into subjects without tumor formation (Law et al. 1992).

Whole Body Treatment (WBT): Phase II and III Trials

Rationale

One of the conclusions of the LBT study was that the dosage used was more effective in the distal muscles than in the proximal muscles. MTT might be more effective in the more degenerative proximal muscles if the number of myoblasts per unit muscle volume was increased. Furthermore, the LBT study indicated that more than five billion myoblasts were necessary to strengthen both lower limbs of a DMD boy between 6 and 14 years of age (Law et al. 1992).

Whereas some of the subjects showed muscle strengthening in both distal and proximal muscles of their lower limbs, their upper body muscles continued to degenerate, with drastic loss of function and balance. The latter prompted us to initiate the administration of myoblasts to muscles in the upper bodies of DMD subjects, and, if safe, to further readminister myoblasts to muscles in their lower bodies.

Dose Escalation

The first administration of eight million myoblasts, starting in February 1990, into a small foot muscle of 11 subjects did not generate any graft-versus-host reaction. The second administration of five billion myoblasts into the lower body of 32 subjects, which represented a dose increase of 625 folds, again did not produce any adverse effect. The last dose was increased 2.5 times, to 12.5 billion myoblasts injected into the upper body. If this dose was found to be safe within 2–3 months after this upper body treatment (UBT), it would be further assessed for accumulative safety by readministering an additional 12.5 billion myoblasts to muscles of the lower body. Thus, this WBT protocol examined a maximum dose of 25 billion myoblasts to be widely distributed in the whole body of each DMD subject (Law et al. 1993).

Objective

The objective of this project was to determine the safety and efficacy of injecting 25 billion cultured myoblasts into 64 large dystrophic muscles of DMD boys over a 9-month period. The study tested (1) whether widely distributed multiple intramuscular injections with large numbers of cells delivered on two separate occasions all over the body were safe; (2) whether MTT was effective in improving, or halting the deterioration of, muscle function in biceps brachii, triceps, knee extensors, and ankle plantar flexors; (3) whether MTT was effective in improving, or halting the deterioration of, muscle structure in the biceps brachii and quadriceps; (4) whether MTT would induce production of dystrophin in the myoblast-injected biceps brachii and quadriceps; and (5) whether MTT in the upper body would improve pulmonary function.

The goal of this WBT clinical trial was to determine whether MTT could be a safe and effective treatment program against muscular weakness in DMD. If MTT was effective, strengthening the arm muscles would improve motor control; strengthening the back musculature would improve balance; strengthening the lower limb muscles would improve locomotor ability; and strengthening the accessory respiratory muscles would improve pulmonary function and prevent premature death.

Study Design

Thirty-two DMD boys, aged 6–16 each underwent two procedures of MTT: an UBT in which 28 muscles were injected with 12.5 billion myoblasts, and a LBT in which an additional 12.5 billion myoblasts were injected in another 36 muscles (Law et al. 1993). Subjects were selected into two equal groups, ambulatory and non-ambulatory. Half of each group was randomized to receive early UBT or LBT treatment. The late treatment group served as control for the early treatment group. Subjects receiving early UBT received sham injections in one randomly selected biceps brachii; subjects receiving early LBT received sham injections in one randomly selected quadriceps. The contralateral biceps or quadriceps's were myoblast injected. In addition, each boy received injections in major muscle groups of the neck, back, upper limbs, shoulders, abdomen, and lower limbs bilaterally. The immunosuppressant cyclosporine was administered from 5 days before until 3 months after each MTT.

At 3 months and at 3 days before each MTT, and at 3, 6, and 9 months after each MTT, the maximum voluntary contractions of the biceps brachii, triceps, quadriceps, and ankle plantar flexors were measured with Kin-Com dynamometry. Muscles of MTT-2 were examined at 12, 9, and 6 months before MTT to determine the progression of the disease. Pre-MTT data yielded natural history controls. Comparison of the myoblast-injected versus the placebo muscles would determine if MTT was beneficial.

At 9 months after MTT-1, biopsies were obtained from the biceps or quadriceps. The presence of dystrophin in immunocytochemical and Western immunoblot assays substantiated graft survival and biochemical improvement. Reduction of dystrophic characteristics such as central nucleation, fiber splitting, phagocytic necrosis, and infiltration of fat and connective tissues were indicative of structural improvement. Correlation of biochemical, structural, and functional data would determine the efficacy of MTT, if any. Absence of adverse reactions would substantiate MTT safety.

UBT/LBT Randomization

Sixteen ambulatory subjects were randomly assigned to receive either early UBT treatment or early LBT treatment, with the constraint that an equal number of subjects (8) be assigned to each group. Similar randomization for the 16 non-ambulatory subjects was also be instituted.

Myoblast/Placebo Randomization

The randomization design (Law et al. 1995) also included a randomized, double-blind study of one muscle in MTT-1. Subjects assigned to early UBT had one biceps brachii selected for myoblast injections with the contralateral biceps brachii receiving sham injections. Subjects receiving early LBT had one quadriceps selected for myoblast injections with the contralateral quadriceps receiving sham injections. Within each of these two treatment groups, equal numbers of subjects received myoblast injections on the right side and sham injections on the left side, and vice versa.

The biceps brachii were solely responsible for flexion of the forearm; the quadriceps were solely responsible for extension of the leg. As proximal muscles, they were more involved in the degenerative process of dystrophy than distal muscles. The randomization code was applied by an in-house person as subjects were entered into the study. He advised the administering surgeon of the designation of the MTT and placebo arms/legs. These two individuals were the only ones who knew which side was injected with myoblasts and which side was injected with saline. Neither the patient, nor his family and personnel evaluating MTT efficacy were made aware of which arm/leg received myoblasts and/or which arm/leg served as control. The surgical suite was configured so that those outside the suite could not see the injections.

Donors

The donors were male volunteers, in good general health, and between the ages of 8 and 22 (Law et al. 1995). They were certified by physicians as being in good health, not having a CK level of more than twice the upper limit of normal, and testing

negative for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B surface antigen (HBSAg), hepatitis C (HCV), syphilis (RPR), and cytomegalovirus (CMV). Donors would be excluded if they had any chronic, infectious diseases or were allergic to the local anesthetic. Conformity to the selection criteria were documented by the clinical monitor. Informed consents were obtained from the donors or from the parents of minors after thorough discussion of the procedures and risks.

Myoblast Preparation

Two months before MTT, the donor came to the hospital outpatient clinic to donate muscle biopsy. Three days before each biopsy, a 22 gauge spinal needle (2 inches long) were inserted momentarily without injection several times into the future biopsy site (about 1 inch diameter) of the rectus femoris muscle of the donor to induce satellite cell proliferation. These needle insertions, done under local anesthetic using lidocaine, were completed in about 30 s and would cause short-term (< 5 min) pain. The area would bruise for a few hours. Three days later, under local anesthesia and in a sterile field, about 2 g of muscle were surgically removed from the site of injury using an open biopsy technique (Law et al. 1995). The biopsied muscle was immediately dissociated. Complete dissociation of 2 g of fresh skeletal muscle occurred after 45 min of stirring with three changes of collagenase solution, alternated with three changes of neutralizing medium. Cells were then placed in fresh growth medium. Myoblasts were fed with fresh growth medium every 2 days and incubated in 7% CO₂ at 37 °C as previously described.

Myoblasts were harvested for injection when they filled 250 roller bottles, each containing about 50 million myoblasts on a 900 cm² surface as determined with a hemocytometer. Representative samples of myoblasts were tested for their ability to divide, fuse, and form myotubes and immature myofibers that could contract spontaneously in vitro. Donor myoblasts were detached from each bottle with trypsin solution. An equal volume of neutralizing medium was then added to stop the action of trypsin after 5 min of incubation. Cell suspension from 250 roller bottles was pooled for each harvest. Myoblasts were centrifuged, rinsed three times, and resuspended in 312.5 ml of a solution containing 5% host serum in injection saline (Sigma). The procedure of harvesting was timed in each case to relay immediately to the procedure of myoblast transfer itself. The culture procedure took about 6 weeks to obtain the 25 billion myoblasts from a 2 g muscle biopsy. It took ten workers 4 h to complete harvesting 250 roller bottles of myoblasts under five laminar flow sterile hoods (Law et al. 1995).

The 25 Billion Myoblast WBT Protocol

Under FDA purview, 1 infantile facioscapulohumeral dystrophy and 40 DMD boys aged 6–16 received WBT in 36 months with no adverse reaction. Subjects took oral cyclosporine for 3 months after each MTT. Nine months after MTT immunocytochemical evidence of dystrophin were demonstrated in 18 of the 20 DMD subjects biopsied. Dystrophin positive sections showed less dystrophic characteristics than dystrophin-negative ones. Forced vital capacity increased by 33.3% and maximum voluntary ventilation increased by 28% at 12 months after UBT (Law et al. 1994b, 1995, 1996, 1997b, c, d, 1998, 65). Plantar flexion showed an increase of 45% in maximum isometric contraction force in 12 months in the DMD subjects when compared to the natural deterioration. Behavioral improvements in running, balancing, climbing stairs, and playing ball were noted (Law et al. 1994b, 1995, 1996, 1997b, c, d). Notable was a 16-year-old DMD subject who continued to walk without assistance and capable of driving an automobile by himself.

The 50 Billion Myoblast WBT Protocol

The most effective design involved a one-time injection of fifty billion myoblasts into 80–82 muscles with 179 skin punctures, approved by the FDA for subjects with DMD, Becker MD, and limb-girdle MD (Law et al. 1997a, b, c, 1998). Over 200 subjects who underwent this protocol had experienced no serious or permanent adverse reaction. None of the subjects died within 2 years after MTT. The demonstrated efficacy included:

- · Correction of gene defect with dystrophin production induced by MTT.
- 70% more myofibers and histological improvement at 9 months after MTT.
- 123% increase in maximal contractile force at 18 months after MTT.
- 39% decrease in serum CPK at 12 months after MTT.
- 19% increase in forced vital capacity at 9 months after MTT.
- Clinical improvement in 75% of all subjects participated.
- Life prolongation up to 45 years of age with many subjects in their 30s.

WBT Significance

During Phase II and Phase III clinical trials from 1994 to 1999, FDA allowed CTRF charging up to USD150,000 per MTT procedure after annual review of progress. On October 16, 1998, FDA designated CTRF's MTT program on Fast Track, once again confirming its safety and efficacy. The charge allowed by the FDA was often paid by governments or health agencies of the USA, Russia, West Germany, Hungary, Brazil, Mexico, and Korea for their citizens.

According to the late Leon Charash, former Director of the Medical Committee of MDA, it was jealousy, greed, and insecurity that drove the MDA to eventually derail the CTRF's MTT programs (Law 2017).

Heart Muscle Degeneration

Heart muscle degeneration is the leading cause of debilitation and death in humans. Atherosclerosis, ischemic cardiomyopathy, and heart failure are genetic predisposed (Beutner et al. 2011). These are multifactorial and polygenic diseases with significant polymorphism. It will be an insurmountable task to identify the various gene defects and to design molecular gene therapies toward treatment, not to mention that such designs do not replenish myocardial cells that had degenerated previously, without which the damaged myocardium cannot regain its function.

The primary cause of ischemic cardiomyopathy is partial or complete obliteration of the coronary artery, often precipitating in acute myocardial infarction (MI). Longterm ischemia leads to ventricular cell death and myocardial necrosis. Although medication, trans-myocardial revascularization (TMR), and coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) can increase local blood supply and reduce short-term mortality and morbidity, most patients continue suffering decreased ventricular function and chronic heart failure.

Severe Myocardial Infarction

Severe myocardial infarction conveys serious complications such as ventricular aneurysm, wall thinning, and rupture with fatal consequences. Prognosis for these severe heart failure patients is 3–6 months of life despite CABG. Heart transplantation has been the gold standard for patients with end-stage heart failure, but donor heart nonavailability and lifelong immunosuppression dictate its limited usage. It is urgent to explore new therapeutic measures to increase the quality of life and life span of these patients.

Chronic ischemia after AMI causes loss of cardiomyocytes, contractile filaments, and ventricular contractility. Regeneration attempt by surviving cardiomyocytes consists of undergoing at most four mitotic divisions because the telomeric DNA repeats (Ishikawa et al. 1993) in these terminally differentiated cells are minimal. Such attempt cannot regenerate enough cardiomyocytes to produce the necessary quantity of contractile filaments such as myosin, actin, troponin, and tropomyosin to sustain normal heart contractility. The degenerative heart also transmits biochemical signals to recruit stem cells from the stroma and from the bone marrow to repair the muscle damage. Due to the significant increase in fibroblast growth factor release after infarction, much of the recruited stem cells differentiate to become fibroblasts instead of cardiomyocytes, forming scars and not contractile filaments.

The damaged myocardium needs replenishment of live, genetically normal, myogenic cells to deposit contractile filaments to regain heart function, preferably before fibroblast infiltration. This is when allogeneic myoblast transplantation (AMT), formerly known also as MTT or heart cell therapy, has an advantage over all other cell types (Law et al. 2004a, b). Considering dystrophic and diabetic cardiomyopathies as hereditary, and ischemic cardiomyopathy as genetically predisposed, AMT was designed to genetically repair hereditary degenerative cells and to replenish degenerated cells with live ones.

Proof-of-Concept for AMT

Myoblasts are differentiated cells destined to become muscles. Unlike cardiomyocytes, myoblasts possess long telomere DNA subunits and can undergo 50 mitotic divisions without loss of myogenic capacity (Law et al. 2004a, b) or developing into tumor (Di Donna et al. 2003). The transition from animal

experimentation (Koh et al. 1993; Taylor et al. 1998) into cardiac clinical trials was largely based on previous demonstration of significant safety and efficacy in the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in FDA approved Phase II and Phase III clinical trials using allogeneic myoblast allografts (Law 2004; Law et al. 1998, 2019).

Law et al. reported the pioneering study of implanting human myoblasts into the porcine hearts with endovascular catheter of the NOGA system (Law et al. 2000). The mechanisms by which allogeneic human myoblasts survived, developed, and functioned with the use of cyclosporine immunosuppression were examined through open chest endomyocardial injections of cultured skeletal myoblasts into infarcted porcine myocardium. Three mechanisms were elucidated as proof-of-concept using genetic markers to label the nuclei of the donor myoblasts (Law et al. 1992, 2004a, b). Under the influence of hormones and slow contractile activity of the heart, donor myoblasts fused among themselves to form new cardiomyocytes, depositing contractile filaments to improve heart contractility. Others fused with the host cardiomyocytes through natural cell fusion, spontaneously transferring their nuclei into host cardiomyocytes to impart myogenic regeneration. Still others fused to form myotubes that eventually developed into immature skeletal myofibers containing satellite cells. New production of contractile filaments augmented heart contractility (Law et al. 1992, 2004a, b).

AMT Is Safe and Efficacious with MI Patients

In 2004, Law et al. reported the world's first two cases of using allogeneic myoblast transplantation (AMT), cyclosporine immunosuppression, and CABG for MI (Law et al. 2004b, 2006). Results demonstrated that the left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), viability, myocardial perfusion, and ventricular wall thickness were significantly improved. The end-diastolic and end-systolic blood volumes were increased without significant arrhythmia. At 12 months after implantation, LVEF was increased by about 40%, and perfusion capacity increased by 38% (Law et al. 2004b, 2006).

More than 300 cases of autologous myoblast transplantation internationally have showed that it was safe and efficacious in treating ischemic cardiomyopathies and heart failure. Approximately 200 cases were injected after thoracotomy and 100 cases were injected with endovascular catheters (Law et al. 2006, 2019). Further advance with myoblast clinical trials had been distracted for 17 years by Piero Anversa's misconduct in cardiac stem cell research in Harvard University until 10/14/2018.

AMT Is Safe and Efficacious with End-Stage HF Subjects

Recently, AMT, cyclosporine immunosuppression, and CABG were used to treat end-stage HF subjects without hope of obtaining a heart transplant (Li et al. 2021). It was demonstrated to have sustained the life spans to 2 years postoperatively on ten end-stage HF patients having 2.21-mm mean thinnest wall thickness and ventricular aneurysms, with significant improvement in LVEF, NYHA cardiac function, viability, and quality of life.

Regulatory

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Third Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical College to obtain preliminary safety and efficacy information to justify future clinical trials of AMT. This study was registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry numbered **ChiCTR2000039590**.

Case Selection

A total of ten heart failure subjects suffering severe MI with ventricular aneurysm in the Cardiothoracic Surgery Department of the Third Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical College from February 2016 to March 2018 were selected. Subject profiles are shown in Table 1.

Table 1	General	information	of subjects.	(Reproduced	with	permission	from	Li et	al.	Open
Journal o	f Regener	rative Medici	ine 2021; 10:	1-18. © Scien	ntific	Research Pu	blishin	ıg)		

					Abnormal	D
	Gender	Age	Combined disease	Infarct area	(Y/N)	vessels
Wang	F	53	History of cerebral hemorrhage, hypertension	Anterior and interval wall	N	LAD, LCX, D1
Huang	М	31	None	Anterior wall near apex	N	LAD, LCX
Cui	М	72	Membranous nephropathy, diabetes	Anterior, interval, and rear wall.	N	LAD, LCX
Ren	М	62	Hypertension	Anterior wall near apex	N	LAD, LCX
Song	М	60	Hypertension, diabetes	Anterior, interval, and inferior wall.	N	LAD, LCX, D1
Zhou	М	53	None	Anterior wall near apex	N	LAD
Wang	М	68	None	Anterior wall near apex	N	LAD
Che	М	60	Hypertension	Anterior wall near apex	N	LAD, LCX, LCA
Du	М	60	None	Anterior wall near apex	N	LAD, LCX
Zhang	М	64	Hypertension, history of cerebral, hemorrhage, and diabetes	Anterior wall near apex	Y	LAD, LCX

Patient Selection

After meeting Inclusion/Exclusion criteria and signing Patient Informed Consents, ten HF subjects having mean thinnest wall thickness of 2.21 ± 0.55 mm and ventricular aneurysms were admitted under intensive care. Each subject took daily cyclosporine for 3 weeks. On the third day of cyclosporine administration, approximately one billion myoblasts were implanted through 20 injections into the infarcted myocardium following CABG.

Manufacture of Allogeneic Human Myoblasts

Donors. Upon approval of the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the Cell Therapy Institute and the signing of the Donor Informed Consents, muscle donors were admitted after meeting the Inclusion and Exclusion criteria. They were male volunteers between the ages of 16 and 36. They were certified by a physician as being in good health, having normal levels of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT), lactate dehydrogenase (LD), and tested negative for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), syphilis (RPR), and cytomegalovirus (CMV). They also received the following tests: Chem 24, CBC, and physical examination with normal results. Donors were excluded if they had any chronic or infectious diseases, and if were allergic to the local anesthetic lidocaine.

Muscle Biopsy. About 2 g of muscle were removed from the quadriceps muscle using an open biopsy technique under local anesthetic (lidocaine patch) in a sterile field of a surgical suite of a hospital. The donor site was sutured and bandaged. No prophylactic antibiotic was used. The donor was discharged after recovery from the surgical procedure to be followed by his physician if infection occurred.

Preparation of Myoblasts. Biopsy specimen obtained was processed immediately using sterile techniques meeting CFDA approved GMP standards. Myoblasts were cultured in growth medium and incubated at 37 °C and in 7% CO₂ as previously described (Law et al. 1992; Law 1995). Myoblasts were frozen at different stages so the time allotted for culturing could be coordinated with a scheduled transplant. The number of frozen cells and the number of samples were documented. One test vial was reserved in liquid nitrogen for each biopsy. Random samples of the myoblasts were tested for their ability to divide, fuse, and form myotubes (Law et al. 1992). Lot release testing consisted of sterility, endotoxin, mycoplasma, and testing for myoblast identity, purity, potency, viability, and cell count on a pooled sample prior to transplant meeting quality control standards (Law et al. 1992, 2008; Law 1995). A retain sample of myoblasts was reserved from each transplant.

Cyclosporine Immunosuppression

Each subject took daily oral doses of 5 mg/kg body weight of cyclosporine for 3 weeks with weaning using half doses after the second week to suppress rejection of the allografts. Since myoblast fusion completed within 1 week after transplantation (Law et al. 1994a; Haider et al. 2004c), and since myotubes and mature myofibers did not express MHC class 1 surface antigens (Law 1994; Law et al. 1994a), it was not necessary to administer lifelong immunosuppression as in heart transplants (Law et al. 2019). Clinical evaluation was performed using a self-contrast method.

Clinical Research Procedures

All patients were given CABG and conventional medication for symptomatic control of blood pressure, blood lipid, blood glucose, anticoagulation, coronary expansion, cardiac strengthening, and diuretics. Traditional aneurysm resection was not used in this study.

AMT

AMT was performed following distal anastomosis of the coronary artery bypass surgery on the third day of cyclosporine administration. Approximately 1 billion myoblasts (at 10^8 cells/mL) were injected with 20 injections placed 1 cm apart along the inside border of the infarction. For each injection, about 50 million myoblasts were carefully deposited in a centripetal diagonal track (< 5 mm) as the needle was slowly withdrawn out of the inner border of the infarcted myocardium.

Data Analysis and Interpretation

Statistical Analyses

Data were analyzed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SPSS19.0 software. P < 0.05 indicated significant statistical differences.

Safety Assessment

Adverse Reaction Assessment

All ten subjects successfully underwent treatment without malignant arrhythmia, chills, fever, allergic reactions, vomiting, viral infection, or other adverse reactions. Throughout the course of the entire study, two subjects exhibited early postoperative occasional ventricular premature beats. Another two subjects demonstrated atrial premature beats. Considered related to electrolyte disorders and myocardial damage of the primary disease, they were converted to sinus after symptomatic treatment. No malignant arrhythmia and no deaths occurred, and there was no virus infection after treatment. There were no statistically significant differences between the means (\pm SD) in the leukocyte count, neutrophil count, hemoglobin, red blood cell count, and platelet count before versus at 6 months, and at 2 years after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 2).

Table 2	Blood cell test results before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li
et al. Op	en Journal of Regenerative Medicine 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

	Preoperative	6 months postoperative	2 years postoperative	Р
Leukocyte count	7.59 ± 3.19	8.29 ± 2.45	8.18 ± 1.95	0.808
Neutrophil count	3.25 ± 0.88	3.35 ± 0.55	3.24 ± 0.75	0.934
Hemoglobin	147 ± 9.94	144.8 ± 9.94	142.8 ± 9.42	0.635
Red cell count	4.41 ± 0.63	3.95 ± 0.60	4.04 ± 0.77	0.279
Platelet count	213.4 ± 48.95	245.60 ± 52.15	236.10 ± 40.36	0.312

		6 months	2 years	
	Preoperative	postoperative	postoperative	Р
Total bilirubin (µmol/L)	18.02 ± 10.6	20.31 ± 10.17	15.46 ± 5.11	0.491
Albumin (g/L)	41.98 ± 4.46	42.76 ± 3.74	44.25 ± 2.52	0.138
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L)	43.80 ± 34.77	29.80 ± 18.67	24.20 ± 5.98	0.166
Aspartate aminotransferase (U/L)	30.25 ± 7.29	30.5 ± 7.8	26.13 ± 7.74	0.161

Table 3 Liver function indexes before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

Table 4 Renal function indexes before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

		6 months	2 years	
	Preoperative	postoperative	postoperative	Р
Serum creatinine (µmol/L)	76.90 ± 16.91	112.40 ± 81.32	82.80 ± 14.77	0.236
Urea nitrogen (g/L)	4.11 ± 1.05	4.78 ± 0.98	4.03 ± 1.05	0.776

Table 5 Electrolyte levels before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

	Preoperative	6 months postoperative	1 year postoperative	Р
K ⁺	3.98 ± 0.35	4.08 ± 0.42	4.01 ± 0.35	0.831
Na ⁺	140.6 ± 2.98	142.1 ± 3.31	142.1 ± 2.80	0.456
Cl ⁻	102.30 ± 2.83	103.3 ± 3.40	103.9 ± 5.52	0.680
Ca ²⁺	2.17 ± 0.09	2.29 ± 0.10	2.26 ± 0.13	0.075

There was no statistically significant difference between the mean levels (\pm SD) of total bilirubin, albumin, alanine aminotransferase, and aspartate aminotransferase before versus at 6 months, and at 2 years after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 3). There was no statistically significant difference between the mean levels (\pm SD) of serum creatinine or urea nitrogen before versus at 6 months, and at 2 years after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 4). There was no statistically significant difference in the mean levels (\pm SD) of serum K⁺, Na⁺, Cl⁻, and Ca²⁺ before treatment versus at 6 months and at 2 years after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 4). There was no statistically significant difference in the mean levels (\pm SD) of serum K⁺, Na⁺, Cl⁻, and Ca²⁺ before treatment versus at 6 months and at 2 years after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 5). There was no statistically significant difference in the mean levels (\pm SD) of prothrombin time, fibrinogen, and partial prothrombin time before versus after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 6).

Efficacy Assessment

Objective Evaluation

Cardiac ECT demonstrated significant improvement in myocardial perfusion and in viability of ventricular myocardium at 6 months and at 2 years after surgery (Fig. 1). The mean LVEFs were increased by 20.1% at 6 months after treatment, and by 19.3% at 2 years after treatment as compared to the control mean before treatment.

Table 6 Blood coagulation indexes before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

		6 months	2 years	
	Preoperative	postoperative	postoperative	Р
Prothrombin time(s)	13.18 ± 0.50	13.30 ± 0.54	4.01 ± 0.35	0.951
Fibrinogen (g/L)	3.13 ± 0.17	3.26 ± 0.17	2.88 ± 0.20	0.341
Activated partial	29.55 ± 1.13	30.94 ± 0.98	32.63 ± 1.22	0.169
Thromboplastin time(s)				



Fig. 1 Representative ECT indicated significant increase in viability (Arrow) of ventricular myocardium at 6 months and at 2 years after surgery. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

These mean increases were of statistical significance at P < 0.05 (Figs. 1 and 2a; Table 7). There was no significant difference (Table 7) in the mean levels (\pm SD) of LVDd (Fig. 2b) and CO (Fig. 2c) before versus after treatment (P > 0.05). Although the mean difference in CO before versus after treatment was of statistical insignificance, the postoperative means were all higher than before treatment. Consistently, the mean postoperative lengths of LVDd were lower than that before treatment. MR imaging showed no significant difference in the mean levels (\pm SD) of ventricular aneurysm area and wall thickness before versus after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 8) though individual variations did demonstrate significant increases in wall thickness (Fig. 3).

	Preoperative	6 months postoperative	2 years postoperative	Р
LVEF	39.3 ± 8.76	47.2 ± 5.44	46.9 ± 5.69	0.029
LVDd	60.3 ± 9.86	57.3 ± 8.84	54.8 ± 7.24	0.381
СО	5.18 ± 1.12	6.02 ± 1.18	6.07 ± 0.94	0.351

Table 7 Cardiac function before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)



Fig. 2 (a) LVEF showed significant increases at 6 months and at 2 years after treatment. There was no statistically significant difference in mean LVDd (b) and mean CO (c) before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

Table 8 Ventricular aneurysm area and thinnest wall thickness before versus after treatment. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

	Preoperative	6 months postoperative	2 years postoperative	Р
Area, mm ²	460.1 ± 143.14	394 ± 150.93	422.7 ± 426.31	0.864
Thickness, mm	2.21 ± 0.55	2.32 ± 0.51	2.49 ± 0.70	0.565

Subjective Evaluation

Postoperative clinical improvement included significantly fewer episodes of angina pectoris, chest tightness and shortness of breath after activity, nighttime sit-up breathing, and increase in appetite and urine output. The 6MWT distance increased steadily. The results depicted essentially derived from allogeneic myoblast culture and transplantation (Fig. 4), in addition to CABG and cyclosporine immunosuppression.

Understanding and Debating the Study Outcomes

For the first time, AMT in adjunct use with CABG and cyclosporine was demonstrated to be safe and efficacious in sustaining the life span of ten end-stage heart failure patients, who suffered myocardial infarction with ventricular aneurysm, for up to 2 years, with significant improvement in LVEF (Table 7), NYHA cardiac function (**Central Illustration**; Fig. 5) and quality of life.

	Gender	Age	Pre-op	6 months post-op	2 years post-op
Wang	F	53	III	II	II
Huang	М	31	III	Ι	Ι
Cui	М	72	III	II	Ι
Ren	М	62	III	Ι	Ι
Song	М	60	IV	II	II
Zhou	М	53	III	II	Ι
Wang	М	68	II	Ι	Ι
Che	М	60	III	Ι	Ι
Du	М	60	IV	II	II
Zhang	М	64	III	II	Ι

Central Illustration: NYHA grading before versus after treatment



Fig. 3 MRI indicated the increase in wall thickness after treatment (red arrows). (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

It was the original design to define a treatment modality that could 100% sustain the survival of the severe heart failure patients having no more than 6 months of life expectance, and such design was demonstrated to be successful. The statistically significant increases in the mean LVEF by 20.1% at 6 months after treatment, and by 19.3% at 2 years after treatment compared favorably to those reported by all other studies using autologous myoblasts (Menasché et al. 2001a, b, 2003, 2008; Ghostine et al. 2002; Herreros et al. 2003; Siminiak et al. 2004, 2005; Dib et al. 2005; Fernandes et al. 2006; Gavira et al. 2006; Steendijk et al. 2006; Menasché 2007; Duckers et al. 2011; Povsic et al. 2011; Sawa et al. 2015). As the trend of improvement indicated, statistically significant difference in LVDd and CO before versus after treatment would have become apparent if more subjects were enrolled.

The ultimate demonstration of AMT efficacy by itself should be from randomized, double-blinded studies involving more subjects of dystrophic cardiomyopathies, diabetic cardiomyopathy, or dilated cardiomyopathies that would not necessitate CABG. This study showed that white blood cell count, neutrophil



Fig. 4 Schematic diagram of myoblast transplantation. (a) Myoblast culture of 20 roller bottles produced approximately ten billion cells; (b) Myoblasts were produced under GMP condition; (c) Myoblasts of >90% purity according to desmin immunostain; (d) Approximately 10 billion myoblasts were injected into the myocardial infarcted ventricle. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)



Fig. 5 NYHA cardiac function improved by two grades at 2 years postoperatively. Green indicates Grade I, yellow II, blue III, and red IV. (Reproduced with permission from Li et al. *Open Journal of Regenerative Medicine* 2021; 10: 1–18. © Scientific Research Publishing)

count, total bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, total red blood cells, hemoglobin, platelets, total protein, renal function, fibrinogen, prothrombin time, and partial prothrombin time before versus after treatment of myoblasts were not different (P > 0.05). On repeated follow-ups after the operation, there were no deaths, malignant arrhythmias, or viral infections. The results demonstrated that allogeneic myoblast transplantation had no significant impact on various important indicators of the human body, and there was no serious adverse reaction. Although occasional ventricular premature beats occurred in four subjects after CABG, all symptomatic treatments were traced to the sinus and were related to electrolyte disturbance, myocardial damage, and the primary disease. None of the subjects experienced malignant arrhythmia or ventricular tachycardia.

AMT represented the earliest human cell therapy for heart disease (Law et al. 2000). Without significant knowledge of myoblast manufacture, quality control, and cell transplant techniques, many clinicians rushed into clinical studies. Menasche et al. first reported feasibility and safety data on ischemic heart failure patients, implanting 650 million to one billion autologous impure myoblast cells with overly large number of injections into the infarctions during CABG (Menasché et al. 2001a, b). Follow-up studies showed that patients had significantly improved left ventricular function and NYHA function level, decreased ventricular remodeling, and increased myocardial tolerance confirmed by histology. However, four patients had delayed episodes of sustained left ventricular tachycardia (Menasché et al. 2001b). During this period, similar reports continued to appear around the world with mixed results.

In most of the reports, myoblast purity was determined using CD56⁺, an antibody that reacts with fibroblasts, neurons, and myoblasts indiscriminately. A common pitfall of myoblast culture is fibroblast contamination. Since myoblast doubling time is about 21 h and fibroblast doubling time is about 15 h, fibroblast growth often overtakes the myoblast culture (Law et al. 1992; Law 1995). Without published documentation of quality controls, authors of these studies were implanting very impure myoblasts. Fibroblasts produce scars but not contractile filaments. These scars created numerous barriers to electric coupling and rhythmic synchronization of ventricular contraction. This pitfall, together with the physical trauma induced by overly large number of injections, were largely responsible for the malignant arrhythmia and tachycardia reported in some early patients, not to mention the gross GMP noncompliance in quality control of myoblast identity, viability, purity, quantity, potency, no mycoplasma, no endotoxins, and no bacteria (Ghostine et al. 2002; Menasché et al. 2003, 2008; Herreros et al. 2003; Siminiak et al. 2004, 2005; Dib et al. 2005; Fernandes et al. 2006; Gavira et al. 2006; Steendijk et al. 2006; Menasché 2007; Duckers et al. 2011; Povsic et al. 2011; Sawa et al. 2015). The latter explained cell death of up to 90% that affected the safety and efficacy of myoblast transplantation (Suzuki et al. 2004). Clinical studies confirmed that CABG with transplantation of impure and nonviable myoblasts produced ventricular tachycardia (Fernandes et al. 2006). The intercalated disc, the basic unit for the transmission and synchronization of electrical activity and mechanical function between adjacent cardiac fibers were not found, and its absence constituted a risk of malignant arrhythmia after transplantation with substandard myoblasts (Ferreira-Cornwell et al. 2002). Therefore, the safety and efficacy of myoblast transplantation depend largely on high quality control of myoblast production and the technique of implantation.

Heartbeat is myogenic in origin and is initiated by pacemaker activity in the sinoatrial node. As depolarization sweeps through the atrioventricular node, the depolarization excites the Purkinje fibers of the bundle of His, which, in turn, signals the ventricles to contract rhythmically. Heart function would be impaired if the rhythmic action potentials do not synchronize the fiber contractions. In the regenerative heart with AMT, excitation of the newly formed and heterokaryotic cardiomyocytes remained unchanged because there was little change in gap junctions for current flow. However, where new skeletal myofibers (Law et al. 2004a, b, 2006; Pagani et al. 2003) were formed, presumably at the inner border of the infarction, such heterogeneity might create aberrant electric activities such as arrhythmia, especially when earlier studies reported absence of gap junction protein connexin 43, a marker protein responsible for electrical coupling between cardiomyocytes (Tolmachov et al. 2006).

Conceptually, myoblast transplantation should not cause arrhythmia if the well-researched standard operation procedures were followed. The thresholds of excitation for cardiac and skeletal myofibers are similar, i.e., between +40 mV and +50 mV depolarization. Whereas the cardiomyocyte action potential is triggered with an increase in Ca²⁺ conductance into the cell, the skeletal myofiber action potential is triggered with an increase of Na^+ conductance. As Ca^{2+} has a greater ionic size than Na⁺ and thus lower ionic mobility, the action potential of cardiomyocytes has a longer duration (~250 ms) than that of skeletal myofiber $(\sim 1.5 \text{ ms})$. This duration difference is advantageous because the same myocardial depolarization can simultaneously and synchronously stimulate the cardiac and skeletal myofibers through direct excitation contraction coupling. Since the action potentials of skeletal myofibers are of short duration, they will merge into the longer compound action potential of the heart. The skeletal myofibers will cease to fire and stop contracting once Cl^{-} efflux hyperpolarization of the myocardium reaches approximately +40 mV. Since 90% of the transplanted myoblasts developed to become cardiomyocytes or heterokaryotic cardiomyocytes and only a small amount of skeletal myofibers were formed, the electrophysiological treatise explains why none of the subjects in the current study experienced malignant arrhythmia from the myoblast transplantation (Law et al. 2004a, b, 2006).

Abraham et al. demonstrated in vitro that connexin 43 was expressed when exogenous connexin 43 gene was transferred into myoblasts (Abraham et al. 2005). Electrophysiological studies had also found that there was synchronized instantaneous calcium current between skeletal muscle myotubes and adjacent cardiomyocytes, further confirming that after transplantation, cardiomyocytes, heterokaryotic cardiomyocytes, and skeletal myotubes were simultaneously activated through the same excitation-contraction coupling. Simultaneous contraction could not only promote the formation of gap junctions, but also effectively reduced the incidence of arrhythmia. In addition, a sodium ionic current was detected (Zebedin et al. 2007) confirming that some myoblasts developed to become myotubes and immature myofiber (Law et al. 2004a, b, 2006). Skeletal myofibers are known to adapt to the frequency of electric excitation to which they are subjected. Under the influence of hormones and slow contractile activity of

the heart, these immature skeletal myofibers developed characteristics of cardiomyocytes.

The regenerative heart with myoblasts was endowed with a greater number of myogenic cells capable of mitosis and was prepared to regenerate upon injury. These cells produced more contractile filaments to augment heart contractility. The latter is fundamental to the quality of life and the life span of patients suffering various forms of cardiovascular diseases. Being pluripotent, embryonic or adult stem cells exhibit uncontrolled differentiation into various lineages to produce bone, cartilage, fat, connective tissue, skeletal and heart muscles. Until scientists can accurately define the specific transcriptional factors and pathways to guide stem cell differentiation into adequate quantity of cardiomyocytes, the use of stem cell injection into the human heart would have a risk-benefit ratio much higher than the use of myoblasts.

Myoblasts are differentiated cells destined to become muscles. Further studies are necessary to better define the efficacy of myoblast transplantation itself, preferably through transplanting male donor myoblasts into female subjects, and using the Y chromosome to track the development of implanted allogeneic myoblasts in the host. Position papers in 2017 highlighted numerous developing cell therapies for severe heart failure with neither governmental approval nor endorsement (Fernandez-Aviles et al. 2017; Mathur et al. 2017). Heart transplant has remained the generally accepted treatment for end-stage patients. With an estimate of over 50 million heart failure patients worldwide, only a few thousand donor hearts were available for transplants last year. Patients who survive heart transplants need to be immunosuppressed for life with not only compromised quality of life but also constant life-threat of COVID-19 (Law 2020a, b, c).

Perspectives

The 35% to 45% relative increases in LVEF at 1 year after MTT reported independently by several teams (Hagege et al. 2003; Dib et al. 2009; Veltman et al. 2008; Law 2016; Smits et al. 2003; Ince et al. 2004; Law et al. 2003; Rosinberg et al. 2005) are highly significant. This has never been achieved with any pharmaceutic or therapeutic modality in the treatment of ischemic cardiomyopathy and heart failure. Such significant increases in LVEF would most likely improve the quality of life and extend the life span of the patients. MTT is the most promising treatments for heart diseases in the horizon (Dib et al. 2009; Veltman et al. 2008; Law 2016).

AMT was used as a last resort for these end-stage subjects. The key methodologic limitation to prevent AMT for widespread usage is the myoblast manufacture of >90% purity to minimize immunologic reactions. Our institute has long overcome this limitation. In the Western world, myoblast autograft is a norm, largely because it escapes immunosuppression, a step that the FDA and EMA have favored. However, autografts often provide genetically abnormal cells, especially for diabetic or dystrophic cardiomyopathic patients. Cyclosporine immunosuppression for 3 weeks a minor inconvenience for the HF patients when life-prolongation can be extended for up to 2 years using allografts or AMT as in the current study.

AMT is much less invasive than a heart transplant. The regenerative heart with myoblast allograft is the patient's very own and requires only 3 weeks of immunosuppression. At a small fraction of the cost of a heart transplant, the regenerative heart with allogeneic myoblasts promises lower healthcare spending if proven safe and efficacious.

Conclusion

AMT in adjunct use with CABG and cyclosporine demonstrated that cell survived and engrafted in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy; in this small study, the cell transplant was safe. It was demonstrated to have sustained the life spans to 2 years postoperatively on ten end-stage HF patients having 2.21-mm mean thinnest wall thickness and ventricular aneurysms, with significant improvement in LVEF, NYHA cardiac function, viability, and quality of life. The improvement in heart function and quality of life could be secondary to combined effect of CABG and AMT. A larger randomized clinical trial is required to confirm the efficacy.

Angiomyogenesis

Animal experimental data had culminated that myoblasts transfected with vascular endothelial growth factor 165 (VEGF₁₆₅-myoblasts), when injected intramyocardially, were potential therapeutic transgene vehicles for concomitant angiogenesis and myogenesis to treat heart failure and ischemic cardiomyopathy (Ferrara 2001; Haider et al. 2004c; Ye et al. 2004, 2005a, b, 2007, 2008). VEGF₁₆₅-myoblasts are second-generation products of genetic cell therapy of MTT capable of replenishing live cells and genetically repairing degenerative myofibers.

Following transplantation, they survived, developed, and functioned to revitalize degenerative myocardium in heart failure and ischemic cardiomyopathy animal studies. The safety and efficacy of VEGF₁₆₅-myoblasts transduced using adenoviral vectors, nanoparticles, or liposomes were compared. We envision that VEGF₁₆₅-myoblasts will provide better outcome than their non-transfected counterparts.

Therapeutic angiomyogenesis has potential application to a host of fatal and debilitating diseases and conditions. A nonviral vector gene delivery approach provides a safer alternative to overcome the untoward effects of viral vectors (Ye et al. 2007, 2008). CD liposome transfected about 7.99% of primary myoblasts under optimized transfection condition. Though the gene transfection efficiency was only 7.99%, the VEGF₁₆₅ transgene expression efficiency was sufficient for therapeutic angiogenic gene delivery for the injured heart. The study highlights the feasibility, safety, and efficacy of CD liposome-mediated VEGF₁₆₅ transfection with myoblasts for angiomyogenesis in cardiac repair.

Reduced myocardium apoptosis, improved wall thickness, increased neovascularization and regional blood flow of the infarcted myocardium together resulted in improved heart function. The CD liposome-based gene delivery approach may have clinical relevance and open a new concept for nonviral angiogenic gene delivery for the treatment of ischemic heart disease (Ye et al. 2008).

Autonomous Robotic Cell Injection Catheter System

Cell transfer therapy has undergone significant progress and has been studied extensively in clinical trials. These types of transferred cells consist of embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, human umbilical cord cells, fetal cardiomyocytes, skeletal myoblasts, resident cardiac stem cells, bone marrowderived stem cells, and mesenchymal stem cells.

The operation of existing catheters used for cell delivery into the infarct boundary zones of the left ventricle is far from optimal. Injection catheters available are handheld devices operated manually through an inner needle and a distal electrode having tip deflection and torque capabilities. Despite a hefty learning curve, interventionists often encounter difficulties in catheter stabilization and infarct detection, resulting in lengthy operation times and imprecise injections. This myogenic cell injection catheter and method was originally patented in 2005 by Law PK. A design incorporating robotic positional control, feedback signals/images, and an adaptable algorithmic sequence for automation to overcome these problems was examined. The design provides the basis for the construction of a remote cell injection catheter with moments of autonomy to assist the physician to deliver more efficient cell transfer catheterizations (Cheng and Law 2017a, b).

Remote and robotically actuated catheters are the stepping stone toward autonomous catheters, where complex intravascular procedures can be performed with minimal interference from the physician. A concept for the positional, feedforward control of a robotically actuated intramyocardial cell injection catheter was proposed and tested. The prototype for the catheter system was built upon a needle-based catheter with a single degree of deflection, a three-dimensional printed handle combined with stepper motors, and the Arduino microcontroller platform.

A bench setup was used to mimic a left ventricle operation starting from the femoral artery for the injection of committed myogenic cells or undifferentiated stem cells into a myocardial infarct boundary. Using Matlab and an open source video modeling tool, Tracker, the planar coordinates (y, z) of the catheter position were analyzed and a feedforward control system was developed based on empirical models. Using the Student's t-test with a sample size of 26, it was determined that for both the y- and z-axis, the mean discrepancy between the calibrated and theoretical coordinate values had no significant difference compared to the hypothetical value of $\mu = 0$.

A feedforward empirical model for the planar positioning of a robotically controlled cell injection catheter has been established. The calibrated coordinate control was not significantly different from the theoretical coordinates, while the unmodified values show strong significant difference. This proof-of-concept investigation leads to the possibility of further developing a feedforward control system in vivo using catheters with omnidirectional deflection. Feedforward positional control allows for more flexibility in the design of an automated catheter system where problems such as systemic time delay may be a hindrance in instances requiring an immediate reaction (Cheng and Law 2017a, b). Whereas this design appeals to catheter cell injection in the left ventricle, it is plausible to apply similar techniques or robotic
functions to other cardiovascular catheter procedures. Components in this design, such as the stabilizing OCG, robotic IOC, or the robotic arm manipulating the IOC, can all be developed independently and used to assist with other procedures. Combining these designs to form a novel procedural system resolves several of the issues involving direct intramyocardial cell injections. As cardiovascular disease is the leading ailment in the world and open heart surgery is a morbid solution for the direct injection of stem or myoblast cells, it is essential to establish an optimal noninvasive solution for this therapy.

Future work includes the development of an omnidirectional catheter with force sensing capabilities. A feedforward model for the positioning of the omnidirectional catheter should be derived using kinematic or empirical models. Following bench experiments, porcine trials should be used to determine the accuracy and precision of the robotic system in a variable and moving environment. Once feedforward control is established in vivo, feedback control should also be implemented to optimize the system. Outside of automated positional control, other future experiments include the development of automated control for the needle and injection process, the determination of infarct boundary zones via recording electrodes, and determining contact force thresholds whenever the catheter tip encounters an intracardiac structure. Combining these functions into a step-by-step sequence, a complete or partially autonomous catheter injection procedure can be developed where minimal intervention from the physician is required.

Cellular and Molecular Phases of MTT Development

All of the MTT works described above relied on increased muscle strength, more myofibers, and better cell structure and protein replenishment as monitoring endpoints. The beneficial effects were mediated through donor cell survival, development, and functioning per se. Gene transcription and translation leading towards genetic repair had not been seriously addressed in the clinical prophylaxis and treatment of multiple gene defects such as in dystrophic or diabetic heart diseases. Although there had been awareness and understanding that disease symptoms of a variety of muscle diseases could be alleviated with MTT, such achievement by changes in the quality and quantity of direct transcripts of multiple genes had not been demonstrated.

MTT Corrects Gene Defects in Type II Diabetes

With cyclosporine, human myoblasts survived extensively in diabetic mouse skeletal muscles at 12 weeks after MTT (Ye et al. 2009). Glucose tolerance test showed a significant decrease of blood glucose in the mice of KK myoblast group compared to the KK control (Ma et al. 2013). Transcriptional patterns of insulin signaling pathway showed alterations in KK myoblast as compared with KK control group (23 genes). Transcriptional patterns of mitochondrial biogenesis and function also

had alterations in KK myoblast as compared with KK control group (27 genes) (Ma et al. 2013). Using array analysis, it was shown for the first time that changes in the quantity and the quality of direct transcripts of *multiple* genes could result in disease relief using MTT on a genetically abnormal animal model of Type-II diabetes. These changes not only identified the multiple gene defects in Type-II diabetes but could also be used as tools for identification and selection of prophylactic or therapeutic agents or lead drug compounds (Ma et al. 2013). For the first time, at least in the mouse, Type II diabetes was shown to be a polygenic disease involving at least 50 gene defects.

Type II Diabetes

Diabetes is a leading cause of kidney failure and nontraumatic lower-limb amputations among adults in the world. In 2010, the USA was estimated to have spent \$198 billion on diabetes treatment (Zhang et al. 2010). An estimated 285 million adults had Type II diabetes making up about 90% of diabetes cases in 2010 (Vijan 2010). Diabetes affects ~25% of Western populations, steadily increases (Mokdad et al. 2001), and is an important cardiovascular disease risk factor (Haffner et al. 1998). Epidemiological and twin studies have clearly indicated a major polygenetic factor in the development of insulin resistance, a key feature of Type II diabetes, which was influenced also by environmental factors (Guillausseau et al. 1997; Stern 1999).

Type II diabetes, also called non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, can be traced to the genetic defects of the glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) and the insulin-regulated aminopeptidase (IRAP) genomes (Cushman and Wardzala 1980; James et al. 1988, 1989; Stenbit et al. 1997; Morgan et al. 2011). Such a genetic defect is manifested in reduced GLUT4 storage vesicle (GSV) exocytosis and endocytosis trafficking, resulting in a significant reduction in uptake of blood glucose into muscle fibers and adipose tissue, where 75% of the body's glucose metabolism normally occurs. In Type II diabetes patients, normal or even elevated levels of plasma insulin would not elicit normal glucose uptake and high blood sugar persists.

MTT in Type II Diabetes Human Study

A pioneering feasibility/safety study of administering 25-billion myoblast allografts into the skeletal muscles of Type II diabetes patients led the way in developing a genetic treatment for the disease (Law et al. 2004c). The procedure was shown to be safe for both subjects.

A potential genetic treatment of the disease would involve MTT similar to the 50-billion myoblast protocol used to treat muscular dystrophy. It would consist of culturing genetically normal, immature muscle cells called myoblasts, derived originally from a 2 g skeletal muscle biopsy from a healthy, young, male donor free of blood-borne pathogens, and injecting these allogeneic myoblasts with host

serum at approximately 10^8 cells/ml into 80 major muscles of a diabetic patient. Cyclosporine would be used for 2–3 weeks as an immunosuppressant.

MTT Use in Drug Discovery

A drug discovery assay would comprise detection of increased gene transcription of one or more of a group of 22 genes involved in insulin signaling pathway after MTT (Ma et al. 2013). Assays of RNA transcripts demonstrating the qualitative or quantity change of RNA transcription would be used to select a lead drug compound for clinical promise or use in disease (such as diabetes) prophylaxis or alleviation of symptoms. In addition, bioassay of a gene transcription product activity would be used to select the lead drug compound. The gene would be one or more selected from the group consisting of Acaca, Aebp1, Cfd, Gpd-1, Jun, PPAR gamma, Ptpn1, and UCP1 as identified (Ma et al. 2013).

Likewise, another drug discovery assay might comprise detection of increased gene transcription of one or more of a group of 27 genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis and function. Assays of RNA transcripts demonstrating qualitative and/or quantity change of RNA transcription would be used to select a lead drug compound for clinical promise or use in disease (such as diabetes) prophylaxis or alleviation of symptoms. Bioassay of a gene transcription product activity would be used to select the lead drug compound. The gene would be one or more selected from the group consisting of Bcl211, Cox10, Cpt1b, Slc25a22, Slc25a25, Stard3, Timm17b, and Tomm40 (Ma et al. 2013).

Multiple Usage of MTT in Genetic Diseases

A variety of uses of this technology were described, including that for disease treatment, disease prevention, drug discovery, and selection of superior cells and clones for therapy. MTT resulted in gene transcript changes in multiple pathways. Linking the MTT technology development from DMD, cardiomyopathy, and Type II diabetes, MTT demonstrably mediated its effect through transfer of the normal myoblast nuclei that supplied the complete human genome, in addition to just replenishing the normal counterpart(s) of the missing gene(s) or the aberrant gene (s). The replacement genes then transcribed to produce the necessary proteins or factors for genetic repair.

Preliminary Safety and Efficacy Data of MTT in Cancer Treatment

In 2017, Law et al. reported the preliminary safety and efficacy of MTT in human cancer treatment. Evolution of placental mammals over the past 160 million years witnessed the relative sparing of muscles from cancer attacks (Law et al. 2017). In nude mice with human gastrointestinal or lung tumors, and human subjects with liver, lung, or gastrointestinal tumors, intra-tumor implantation of allogeneic human

myoblasts induced cancer apoptosis, inhibiting metastasis and tumor growth. We postulated four mechanisms of cancer apoptosis: (a) myoblasts releasing tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α); (b) nutrient deprivation; (c) local inflammatory and immunologic attacks; and (d) prevention from metastasis. These basic and clinical studies demonstrated preliminary safety and efficacy of intra-tumor myoblast implantation in the development of prevention and treatment for cancer, now the number one disease killer of mankind.

Direct injection of allogeneic human myoblasts at 100 million per milliliter of host serum into the solid tumor without immunosuppressant was preferred, although myoblast concentration might vary from 75 to 250 million per milliliter. Exposing the allogeneic myoblasts to 100% host serum primed the myoblasts for proliferation. Implantation of this mixture into the tumor constituted serum restriction, a condition that terminated mitosis and induced cell fusion to occur.

Identification of the Polygenic Defects of Various Cancer

Development of cancer treatment in the last three decades witnessed approaches not dissimilar to the blind men reporting on the elephant. Molecular geneticists proceeded on specific and often single transcriptional pathways without identifying and correcting the complete anomaly. Whereas cancer of various types must have involved multiple gene defects by themselves, it would be of scientific logic to extend the studies of MTT, array analyses, and gene transcriptional pattern changes described for Type II diabetes to cancer. These studies are on their way. Meanwhile, additional data is reported for understanding the basic mechanisms of cancer prevention and treatment using MTT.

Myoblasts Inhibit Metastasis, Tumor Growth, and Induce Cancer Apoptosis

In a series of "competition to survive" experiment, human myoblasts and Fadu cancer cells (Fadu) were plated at 20 to 1 ratio in cell number and co-cultured with super medium. Cells were fed with new medium on day 3 and day 7 only during which both cell types underwent mitosis and proliferated to confluency. Figure 6 depicts myoblasts inhibited Fadu cells from metastasis on day 12, and induced cancer cell apoptosis beginning at day 18 and completely by day 24, presumably by secreting TNF-alpha, and by outcompeting Fadu for nutrients. Day 24 Fadu control culture without myoblasts showed substantial Fadu cell survival despite no feeding since day 7, indicating myoblasts inhibited metastasis and induced cancer apoptosis in the co-cultures.

To confirm the above contention, the super medium was substituted with fusion medium on day 7, thus hastening fusion of myoblasts in addition to further subjecting the cells to deprivation of nutrients. The switching from super medium to fusion medium constituted a condition of serum deprivation because the fusion medium contained only one-fifth of the serum concentration as in the culture medium. Serum deprivation terminated the mitotic cycle of the myoblasts, and



Myoblasts and Fadu coculture in SM at 20:1 ratio. Fed on Day 3 and Day 7 only

Fig. 6 Human myoblasts and myotubes (spindle- shaped) surrounded human Fadu cancer cells (round) in co-culture, preventing them from metastasis on day 12, and killing them beginning at day 18 and completely by day 24. Dark cells were alive, whereas white cells were dead. Bar scale = 100 micro-meters

initiated the developmental process of natural cell fusion towards myotube formation. It is during the early phase of myoblast fusion that the cell membrane breaks, releasing 25 times of the basal level of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) to induce cancer apoptosis. Using immunocytochemistry, DAPI was used to label all cell nuclei, cleaved-caspase 3 to label apoptosis, and desmin to label myoblasts and myotubes (Fig. 7). Apoptosis analyses on day 24 were conducted using Annexin V/PI (Fig. 8). Results indicated that more cells underwent apoptosis when myoblasts were co-cultured with Fadu cells than when Fadu controls, regardless whether in the super medium or in the fusion medium.

Myoblasts Fuse with Cancer Stem Cell

Given the intra-tumor confluent milieu where dividing myoblasts and cancer stem cells were plentiful, natural and /or controlled cell fusion must have occurred. Genetic deficiencies of the cancer stem cells were now remedied or complemented by the presence of gene transcripts of the normal myoblast genome supplied through MTT. This genetic mosaicism had previously been demonstrated.



Fig. 7 Human myoblasts and myotubes (red) surrounded human Fadu cancer cells (blue) in co-culture, preventing them from metastasis, and killing them (green) at day 18. Bar scale = 20 micro-meters

Parlakian et al. reported that myogenic cells exerted pronounced effects upon co-culture with metastatic melanoma (B16-F10) or carcinoma (LLC1) cells including conversion to the myogenic lineage in vitro and in vivo, as well as inhibition of melanin production in melanoma cells coupled with cytotoxic and cytostatic effects (Parlakian et al. 2010). Tumor suppression assays revealed that the muscle-mediated tumor suppressor effects did not generate resistant clones but functioned through the down-regulation of the transcription factor MiTF, a master regulator of melanocyte development and a melanoma oncogene. These results pointed to skeletal muscle as a source of therapeutic agents in the treatment of metastatic cancers. The cell fusion process constituted one of the five mechanisms to support MTT efficacy in treating cancer (Law et al. 2017).

Plausible Sequence of Events

Myoblasts' unique characteristic shared only with cardiac and smooth muscle cells was natural cell fusion, through which myoblasts, at the end of their mitotic cycle, underwent cell membrane breakage, releasing large but natural quantity of cancerkilling tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF- α) and possibly other TNFs into the microenvironment. Associated only with myoblasts and no other bodily cells, TNF- α



Fig. 8 Annexin V/PI recordings at day 24 to demonstrated that more cells underwent apoptosis and cell death when Fadu cells were co-cultured with myoblasts than control itself, regardless whether in the super medium (SM) or in the fusion medium (FM). Apoptosis and cell death were more in the fusion medium with fewer nutrients

was formerly called cachectin, a promotional factor in myoblast development into myotubes. The second phase of cell fusion was accomplished by massive sarcolemma formation, enclosing 200–500 myoblast nuclei into one myotube. Competition for nutrients and oxygen against cancer cells within the tightly encapsulated tumor was fierce, resulting in death of cancer and myogenic cells. Each of the myotube had to be vascularized and innervated to survive, failing which the myotubes would disappear, leaving vacuoles and empty spaces within shrunken tumors as compared to control (Law et al. 2017). Furthermore, allogeneic myoblast implantation triggered inflammation and local immune response, killing myoblasts and cancer cells indiscriminately. Cancer cells also became nonmetastatic as being "wrapped" with myoblasts (Fig. 6). Stolting et al. also reported that myoblasts inhibited prostate cancer growth by paracrine secretion of TNF- α (Stölting et al. 2013).

MTT in Breast and Uterine Cancers

Breast cancer is perhaps the most preferent malignancy in which remedy is resorted to surgery. The trauma was physical and emotional, and metastasis often ensued. MTT bypasses the trauma without leading to metastasis, and when proven safe and efficacious, will be a good candidate for treatment for breast cancer, and uterine cancer likewise. In addition to inhibiting metastasis, tumor growth and inducing cancer apoptosis, myoblasts can augment the size and shape of the breast and strengthen the wall of the uterus.

In investigating MTT safety and efficacy in treating endometrial carcinoma, neoplasm was produced in 30 nude mice that were divided into three equal groups, then given intra-tumoral injections of myoblasts (1×10^7 cells in 0.2 ml), saline (0.2 ml), and intraperitoneal injection of Cis-platinum (3 mg/kg body weight), respectively. Neoplasm inhibition rate (NIR) of the MTT group and the chemotherapy group were 85.95%, 64.33%, respectively, in 4 weeks. The positive rate of PTEN in the control, chemotherapy, and MTT groups were 30%, 40%, 60%, respectively.

	Before	After treatment	NIR
Control	38.27 ± 2.58	154.02 ± 13.66	-
Chemotherapy	35.99 ± 1.32	54.94 ± 10.84	64.33%
MTT	37.05 ± 2.93	21.64 ± 7.56	85.95%
Chi-square test before treatment($F_1 = 1.85$, $P_1 = 0.18$ P>0.05)			

Tumor volume (mm^3)

Chi-square test after treatment($F_2 = 315.11, P_2 < 0.01$)

	Before	After
Control	17.16 ± 0.73	16.23 ± 0.31
Chemotherapy	17.02 ± 0.40	17.26 ± 0.50
Experiment	17.05 ± 0.38	19.50 ± 0.49
Chi-square test before treatment (F = 0.16 , P = 0.853)		
Chi-square test after treatment (F = 116.31 , P< 0.01)		

Body weight of nude mice $(g, \overline{x} \pm SE \overline{x})$

Results of the study indicated that myoblasts was more effective than Cis-platinum in inhibiting the proliferation of endometrial carcinoma in nude mice (Fig. 9).

Conclusion

Since the seminal work of Law in 1995 disclosing the results of co-cultures of normal human myoblasts and malignant melanoma (CRL6322) cells (Law, Myoblast therapy for mammalian diseases), significant amount of research has been conducted on MTT in cancer treatment. These basic (Law et al. 2017; Parlakian et al. 2010; Stölting et al. 2013; Law, Myoblast therapy for mammalian diseases) and clinical studies (Law et al. 2017) demonstrated the preliminary safety and efficacy of intra-tumor myoblast implantation in the development of prevention and treatment



Fig. 9 Neoplasm of (a) control, typical neoplasm cells, and atypia cells were observed. (b) Myoblast treated, cellular pyknosis, karyorrhexis, and apoptotic necrosis were observed and (c) Cis-platinum treated, little of necrosis tissue was observed. H&E. Microscopic magnification x400

for cancer. In face of massive dying patients, the benefit/risk ratio will favor welldesigned clinical trials to be conducted at their earliest, including randomized, double-blind studies.

Antiaging Aesthetica

It is in this arena that MTT finds wide application. Beauty is a physical attribute that often enhances one's self-confidence, career, and quality of life. The physical parameters of appearance are size, shape, tone, color, luster, texture, consistency, and density. These parameters deteriorate in every organ according to the genetically programmed degeneration of aging. Skin, skeletal muscles, facial structures, bones, teeth, and breasts are the organs that directly affect external appearance, whereas weakening of anal and urinary sphincter muscles can even affect excretory function. The patented MTT is at the forefront of regenerative medicine using live cells to enhance the parameters of appearance (Law, Myoblast therapy for cosmetic treatment; Law, Biologic skin repair).

In Law's Enchanting World of MTT

Human average life span will be 100 with MTT. People will be healthy, youthful with high quality of life. To reach there, people, especially people in charge, need to be educated with biologics and regenerative medicine. Many are still toiling with chemicals and molecular biochemistry.

Personalized Medicine for Each Family

A myoblast cell line of 100 billion or more will be established from 2 g of muscle biopsy from the healthiest male child of each family, to be used in prevention, treatment, or beautification of every family member.

Biologic Skin

The polygonal skin fibroblasts are about 15 times the size of the myoblasts and produce a rough body cover. Cancers are common in skin but rare in muscle. Myoblasts, because of their small size, spindle shape, and resilience, can grow within wrinkles and on skin surfaces, thus enhancing the color, luster, and texture of the skin "plated" with them (Law, Biologic skin repair). Biologic creams are formulated to promote cell survival, growth, and development to enhance the color, luster, density, and texture of the skin. Thus, layers of biological skin consisting of pure myoblasts and myotubes can eliminate skin defects and blem-ishes, especially after laser removal.

Body Sculpture

Intramuscular injection of myoblasts can augment the size, shape (Law, Myoblast therapy for cosmetic treatment), consistency, tone, and strength of muscle groups, improving the lines, contours, and vitality from the sculpture for a youthful appearance. Myoblast technology can be used for cosmetic enhancement such as bodybuilding and in tissue implants for breast, buttock, or facial augmentation.

The myoblasts can also be injected subcutaneously as live cell filler. Unlike the noncellular collagen, which is absorbed in 3–6 months after injection, injected myoblasts are cells that will survive and last for tens of years within the host. Myoblasts are endogenous to the human body and have been proven safe in clinical trials involving over 280 muscular dystrophy patients and 300 heart failure cases worldwide. Myoblasts will not cause cancer like silicone or burst and absorbed like saline or collagen implants.

Be More Macho

The distribution of oxygen and nutrients to the peripheral organs is significantly reduced for people aged over 45. In developing treatment for human myocardial infarction, we have grown five times more blood capillaries and muscle simultaneously using human myoblasts transduced with angiogenic factors (Ye et al. 2004, 2005a, b; Ferrara 2001; Haider et al. 2004c). In addition to their application to treat heart diseases, these cells can potentially be used to treat male/female impotency and baldness and to produce redder, thicker lips and pinker face because of the higher density of capillaries within layers of myogenic cells after myoblast treatment. The latter serves as a fertile ground to seed new hair follicle cells on the bald head or other body parts to give the desirable hair style, color, density, and consistency.

Be More Feminine

Stressed urinary incontinence (SUI) and fecal incontinence (FI) are embarrassing dysfunctions that inhibit socializing of innumerous numbers of women aged 45 upward. Birth of children has left these ladies, some holding important offices, with weakened internal and external sphincter muscles. Publication over 1100 cases had demonstrated that MTT is safe and efficacious for SUI (Law, Biologic skin repair) and FI. In conjunction with treating SUI, more myoblasts can be implanted into the vaginal wall to enhance tightness and contractile force during sexual intercourse. Current surgical and cauterizing techniques often left scars that created discomfort for both partners. Myoblast implantation over the pubic bone provides not only a sexier appearance, but also a "shock absorber" on impact, thus reducing the piercing discomfort caused by the skinny yet attractive ladies. And for that special partner and moment, a hymen can be reconstructed from layers of myotubes cultured and patched on with biologic glue. Similar restructuring of the larynx can produce a sexier voice of higher pitch, a tympanum for the traumatized eardrum, a cellular patch for esophageal and/or stomach ulcers.

Tendon Repair for Injured Athletes

Myoblasts constitute a better biomaterial than tenocytes in synthesizing stronger and smoother tendons for transplantation repair. These tendons exhibited greater stiffness, tensile strength, Young's modulus, and could handle higher maximum load (Chen et al. 2012). One can envision MTT developing into sport and military medicine in muscle, tendon, bone, cartilage, and joint repairs.

Loose Teeth and Bone Fracture Repair

It has long been known that osteoblasts culture is nonproductive. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 converted myoblast differentiation pathway into osteoblast lineage (Katagiri et al. 1994), thus providing a good source for osteoblasts useful in anchoring loose teeth. In combination with the second-generation product $VEGF_{165}$ myoblasts, they are being assessed for treating bone fractures and firming up loose teeth.

Stimulation Therapies and Fractal Dynamics to Complement MTT Treatment of Diseases

Therapeutic stimulation methodologies based on inherently fractal nature of physiologic dynamics involve the use of electrical currents, electromagnetic fields, temperature change, ultrasound, light, and so forth. These stimulation therapies can be categorized into three main modalities: electrical stimulation modalities, thermal modalities, and nonthermal modalities. Electrical stimulation modalities include therapeutic techniques where electrical current is directly applied to the body of treated subject. Direct application of electrical current to the brain also falls under this category. Thermal modalities consist of stimulations that induce temperature change on the body for therapeutic effects without the direct transfer of electrical current. Nonthermal modalities functions through energy transfer without directly applying electrical current and without the effects of temperature change. A fourth miscellaneous category for stimulation techniques consists of the stimulation effects of music along with physical stimulation as in massage therapy. Common to most of these therapeutic strategies is that the stimulation is delivered at certain fixed periods or frequencies. We introduce some rudiments of fractal dynamics, and the notions of self-similarity, scale-invariance, and long-range correlation or memory in the dynamics of a system (Cheng et al. 2014). Our group present evidences that fractal dynamics is commonly observed in healthy physiological systems while unhealthy systems are shown to veer away from fractal dynamics towards periodic or random motion. This difference in dynamics can be observed in many biological signals such as in neural activity, heart rate variations, and breathing patterns. It is being proposed propose that an optimal stimulation technique should thus be one that encourages an unhealthy, non-fractal pathological system towards a healthy, fractal dynamic. Given the ubiquity of fractality in healthy biological dynamics, it is being argued that a fractal pattern of stimulation is a more optimal approach to functional restoration than the widely used conventional periodic stimulation, which may further consolidate the existing pathological dynamics (Cheng et al. 2014).

MTT Replenishes Mitochondria and Regenerates Energy Network of Life

In hereditary conditions of aging (Campisi et al. 2019), DMD and various fatal genetic diseases, one transits from being normal to sick unto death. The feelings of being weak and cold indicate degradation of the energy production network of mitochondria (Law et al. 1983) densely populating the neuromuscular systems that are doing the real heavy lifting (Figs. 10 and 11).



Fig. 10 Electron micrograph of dystrophic mouse myofiber showing (**a**) normal appearing mitochondria-M with cisternae regularly spaced; (**b**) for every nucleus, there were about 100 mitochondria around; (**c**) normal presynaptic terminal or axon-A contained numerous synaptic vesicles and mitochondria-M. The primary synaptic cleft (between arrows) was uniform and was approximately 400 A wide. Numerous secondary synaptic folds were present. The postsynaptic membrane showed thickening (arrow points to right corner). (**d**) Degenerative end-plate with abnormal mitochondria (see Fig. 11), widened primary synaptic cleft (between arrowheads), and the secondary synaptic folds were absent. Thickening of the postsynaptic membrane could not be discerned. (Reproduced with permission from Law et al. Experimental Neurology; 80:361, 1983)

Striated muscles, cardiac muscles, and smooth muscles that occupy approximately 55% by volume of the human body are constantly at work to maintain body temperature and normal metabolism. Degradation of the power network of adeno-triphosphate (ATP) production leads directly to cell apoptosis, malfunction, and death (Law et al. 1983).

With the 50-B MTT into 80 large muscle groups of the body, there was a mean 70% increase in normal myofiber number attributed to donor myoblast fusion after transplantation. Considering that each myofiber contains 200–500 myonuclei, literally trillions of mitochondria from young men are implanted with each 50-billion MTT to regenerate the energy network of life. These are not isolated and manipulated mitochondria that have difficulty in integration into the



Fig. 11 Abnormal mitochondria (M) and membranous bodies (MB). (a) Section of dystrophic muscle fiber containing membranous structures could still be recognized as swollen and disrupted mitochondria. (b) Mitochondria with numerous areas of low density (*) in the matrix space. (c) Membranous body associated with mitochondria. (d) Mitochondrial outer membrane forming a continuum (T) with membranous body. (e) Large autophagic vacuole or membranous body containing membranous structures and mitochondria. (f) Membranous bodies showing positive acid phosphatase reaction. The asterisk denotes a lead phosphate deposit. (Reproduced with permission from Law et al. Experimental Neurology 80:361, 1983)

human body through mitochondrial transfusion (Sullivan 2021). Try the 50-B MTT on elderly, a DMD boy, or a Type-II diabetic. The protocol was the one that has kept some DMD boys living in their 30s and 40s (1997a, b, c, 1998).

Intellectual Property Portfolio of Professor Peter K. Law

As the pioneering inventor of the MTT platform technology, Professor Peter K. Law personally filed, patented, and currently holds the following inventions governing the compositions, methods, and medical devices associated with MTT applications and research. International collaboration and licensing are available at www.peter@celltherapy.com.

- 1. Compositions for and methods of treating muscle degeneration and weakness. *WO2018078419A1*; *US5130141A* CN107998150A; EP3315134A1; EP3315134B1; GB2567377A; US2018133260A1; US2019216858A1.
- Myoblast therapy for mammalian diseases. WO9618303A1; AU5831199A; AU748997B2; AU4597696A; CA2183167A1; CNZL95192528.8 CN1146712A; CN1127343C;CN1477190A; DE P2116DE01; EP0743820A1; EP0743820A4; EP1407788A2; FR P2116FR01; GB P2116GB01; IE P2116IE01; SG74036A1; SG99279A1; SG99846A1; US2002031501A1; US6261832B1; US7341719B1.
- Myoblast transfer therapy for relieving pain and for treating behavioral and perceptive abnormalities. US7166279B2; CA2225185A1; AT241992T; DE69815230T2; EP0898967A1; EP0898967B1; HK1016897A1; IE0898967; JPH11147829A; MX226489; US2002044925A1; US7166279 B2.
- 4. Automated cell processor. WO9618303A1 US6261832B1 AU4597696A; CA2183167A1; CN1127343C; CN1146712A; CN1477190A; EP0743820A1; EP0743820A4; EP1407788A2; SG74036A1; SG99279A1; SG99846A1; US7341719B1.
- 5. Instrument for cell culture SG74036.
- Cardiomyocytes for heart muscles damaged in heart attacks. WO9618303A1 US2002031501A1; AU4597696A; CA2183167A1; CN1127343C; CN1146712A; CN1477190A; EP0743820A1; EP0743820A4; EP1407788A2; SG74036A1; SG99279A1; SG99846A1; US6261832B1; US7341719B1; US20020031501A1.
- Myogenic cell transfer catheter and method. WO0228470A1; WO0228470A9 AT345158T; AU1123002A; CA2422065A1; CN1474707A; DE60124574T2; EP1324802A1; EP1324802A4; EP1324802B1; SG95355; US2005124975A1; AU2007202290A1; AU2007202290B2 AU2012200651A1; AU2012200651B2; AU2015202212A1; SG95355.
- 8. Use of transduced myogenic cells EP19980201068.

- 9. Cellular transplantation for heart regeneration. WO03085092A2; WO03085092A3; WO03085092B1; AU2003220562A1; AU2003220562A8; EP1497410A2; EP1497410A4; US2003232431A1; US2005244384A1.
- 10. Mechanisms of myoblast transfer in treating heart failure. *WO2004014302A2*; *WO2004014302A3 AU2003269944A1*; *AU2003269944A8*; *CA2495112A1*; *CN1688701A*; *CN03824045.9*; *EP1623034A2*; *EP1623034A4*; *US2006104961A1*.
- 11. Method and relative composition for controlling cell fusion CN1477190 A/ 2004-02-25.
- Myoblast therapy for cosmetic treatment. WO9618303A1 US7341719B1; AU4597696A; CA2183167A1; CN03101588.3; CN1127343C; CN1146712A; CN1477190A; EP0743820A1; EP0743820A4; EP1407788A2; SG74036A1; SG99279A1; SG99846A1; US7341719 B1.
- 13. Bioactive implants. *WO2004030706A2*; *WO2004030706A3* AU2003272805A1; *AU2003272805A8*.
- 14. Methods for producing cardiomyocytes capable of proliferation SG99846.
- 15. Myoblast treatment of diseased or weakened organs. WO2005020916A2 US2007009499A1; WO2005020916A3.
- Biologic skin repair and enhancement. WO2004017972A1; WO2004017972A8; AU2003263906A1; AU2003263906B2; CA2496434A1; CN100482228C; CN1700915A; CN03819963.7; CN E038199637XS; EP1587515A1; EP1587515A4; SI110581; US2006057119A1.
- Disease prevention and alleviation by human myoblast transplantation. US13/ 968,982; US10449219B2; US2015050300A1; US2018000867A1 AU2013231029A1; CN201310455357.4; CN103550784A; CN107648267A; CN108042571A; EP2837683A1; EP2837683B1; ES2615553T3; HK1248114A1; JP2015051969A.
- Compositions comprising myoblasts for tumor growth inhibition and prevention of cancer cell metastasis by implantation. WO2018078419A1. US2019216858A1; CN107998150A; EP3315134A1; EP3315134B1; GB2567377A; US2018133260A1.
- 19. Autonomously controllable pull wire injection catheter, robotic system comprising said catheter and method for operating the same. *WO2018055433A1*; *AU2016423681A1*; *CN107854763A*; *EP3298978A1*; *EP3298978B1*; *GB2567122A*; US10166368B2; *US2018078739A1*.
- Composition for use as a medicament for the treatment of sudden attacks of COVID-19 and other pathogenic epidemics, sera set, and method for identifying viral antigens and effective antibodies. PCT/IB2020/051964 (pending).

FDA, EMA Approved MTT IND's

FDA currently listed 23 myoblast implantation projects, and EMA listed 6, mostly in Phase II clinical trials (Fig. 12).

FDA	Identifier NO.		Identifier NO.	
1	NCT00975234	13	NCT00050765	
2	NCT00908622	14	NCT00375817	
3	NCT02196467	15	NCT00102128	
4	NCT01355133	16	NCT00054678	
5	NCT01119820	17	NCT01298375	
6	NCT02075216	18	NCT00472069	
7	NCT00773227	19	NCT02208713	
8	NCT02878694	20	NCT01963455	
9	NCT00626314	21	NCT02156934	
10	NCT01523522	22	NCT01953315	
11	NCT03802279	23	NCT01011777	
12	NCT00526253			

EMA	EudraCT Number	Medical condition
1	2005-004034-41	Ischemic Heart Failure
2	2005-003759-11	Fecal (anal) inconinence caused by ruptures/ traumas of the external anal sphincter
3	2006-000679-14	Pacientes con infarto antiguo de miocardio (patients with old myocardial infarct)
4	2013-004140-32	Acute Muscle Injury Type 3A-3B (Munich classification) or type II (Classification of Otto Chan), confirmed by radiological diagnosis and clinical agreement.
5	2007-004695-39	Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy
6	2009-012389-30	Stress urinary incontinence due to intrinsic sphincter deficiency (ISD).



Conclusion

The genetic cell therapy of MTT mediates its effect through transfer of the normal myoblast nuclei that supply the complete human genome, in addition to just replenishing the aberrant gene(s). The replacement genes then transcribe to produce the necessary proteins or factors for genetic repair. Donor myoblasts also develop to supply significantly large numbers of normal myofibers to combat muscle degeneration and weakness of genetic or nongenetic origin.

Usage of the MTT inventions includes disease treatment, disease prevention, drug discovery, selection of superior cells and clones for therapy (Law et al. 2019), in addition to providing regenerative networks of mitochondria, ribosomes, sarcoplasmic reticulum, and other cell organelles.

It is through continual research and development that MTT will be fully harnessed to relieve human suffering, to improve quality of life, and to prolong the life expectancy of mankind. This unique platform technology, patented for its compositions, methods, and related medical devices of cell/gene therapies, promised to be of great social and economic values in world health and human services. Myoblast therapies should be implemented at the earliest by national health agencies for public health.

Acknowledgments Numerous benefactors and granting agencies have provided financial support to Prof. Peter K. Law, notably the US FDA, allowing cost recovery during clinical trials on the muscular dystrophies; the governments of Russia, Brazil, West Germany, Korea, and Hungary

paying for their DMD citizens; the National Institutes of Health, with an 11-year continual funding of the basic research, USPHS Grants NS-20251 and NS-26185 of NINCDS; the National Science Foundation Grant PCM 79–21008; the Muscular Dystrophy Association, Inc. grants; the Singapore Economic Development Board grants; generous donations from the Organ Transplant Funds; Andreas Foundation; the Justin Paul Foundation; the Cannon Foundation; the Charles Stewart Mott Foundation; and the Seacoast Foundation; the National Distinguished Scientist Award of China; the Wuhan Eastlake Hi-Tech 3551 Scheme Award; the Cell Therapy Research Foundation (USA) Endowment Fund; and the Cell Therapy Institute (China) Endowment Fund.

References

- Abraham MR, Henrikson CA, Tung L, Chang MG, Aon M, Xue T, Li RA et al (2005) Antiarrhythmic engineering of skeletal myoblasts for cardiac transplantation. Circ Res 97:159–167
- Anderson WF (1990) The beginning. Hum Gene Ther 1:371-372
- Anderson WF (1992) Human gene therapy. Science 256:808-813
- Anderson WF (1995) Gene therapy. Sci Am 273:96-98
- Banker BQ, Przybylski RJ, Van der Meulen JP, Victor M (eds) (1971) Research in muscle development and the muscle spindle. Excerpta Medica, Princeton, pp 1–226
- Beardsley T (1990) Profile: gene doctor. W. French Anderson pioneers gene therapy. Sci Am 263: 33–33B
- Beutner F, Teupser D, Gielen S, Miriam HL, Markus S, Enno B, Gerhard S et al (2011) Rationale and design of the Leipzig (LIFE) Heart Study: phenotyping and cardiovascular characteristics of patients with coronary artery disease. PLoS One 6(12):e29070
- Brooke MH, Fenichel GM, Griggs RC, Mendell JR, Moxley R, Miller JP, Province MA (1983) Clinical investigation in Duchenne dystrophy: 2: determination of the "power" of therapeutic trials based on the natural history. Muscle Nerve 6:91–103
- Campisi J, Kapahi P, Lithgow GJ, Melov S, Newman JC, Verdin E (2019) From discoveries in ageing research to therapeutics for healthy ageing. Nature 571:182–192
- Chen M, Li HJ, Fang Q, Goodwin TG, Ann FJ, Law PK (1992) Dystrophin cytochemistry in mdx mouse muscles injected with labeled normal myoblasts. Cell Transplant 1:17–22
- Chen B, Wang B, Zhang WJ, Zhou G, Cao Y (2012) In vivo tendon engineering with skeletal muscle derived cells in a mouse model. Biomaterials 33:6086–6097
- Cheng W, Law PK (2017a) Conceptual design and procedure for an autonomous robotic intramyocardial injection catheter. Cell Transplant 26:735–751
- Cheng W, Law PK (2017b) Feedforward coordinate control of a robotically actuated injection catheter. Cell Transplant 26:1319–1330
- Cheng W, Law P, Kwan H, Cheng R (2014) Stimulation therapies and the relevance of fractal dynamics to the treatment of diseases. Open J Regen Med 3:73–94. https://doi.org/10.4236/ ojrm.2014.34009
- Cushman SW, Wardzala LJ (1980) Potential mechanism of insulin action on glucose transport in the isolated rat adipose cell. Apparent translocation of intracellular transport systems to the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 255:4758–4762
- Davidson EH (1976) Gene activity in early development, 2nd edn. Academic, New York, pp 175–179
- Di Donna S, Mamchaoui K, Cooper RN, Seigneurin-Venin S, Mouly V (2003) Telomerase can extend the proliferative capacity of human myoblasts but does not lead to their immortalization. Mol Cancer Res 1:643–653
- Dib N, McCarthy P, Campbell A, Yeager M, Pagani FD, Wright S, Maclellan WR et al (2005) Feasibility and safety of autologous myoblast transplantation in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Cell Transplant 14:11–19

- Dib N, Dinsmore J, Lababidi Z, White B, Moravec S, Campbell A, Rosenbaum A et al (2009) One-year follow-up of feasibility and safety of the first US randomized, controlled study using 3-dimensional guided catheter-based delivery of autologous skeletal myoblasts for ischemic cardiomyopathy (CAuSMIC Study). J Am Coll Cardiol 2:9–16
- Duckers HJ, Houtgraaf J, Hehrlein C, Schofer J, Waltenberger J, Gershlick A, Bartunek J et al (2011) Final results of a phase IIa, randomised, open-label trial to evaluate the percutaneous intramyocardial transplantation of autologous skeletal myoblasts in congestive heart failure patients: the SEISMIC trial. Eur Intervention 6:805–812
- Emery AE (1991) Population frequencies of inherited neuromuscular diseases a world survey. Neuromuscul Disord 1:19
- Engel AG (1986) Duchenne dystrophy. In: Banker BQ, Engel AG (eds) Myology. McGraw Hill, New York, p 1185
- Fenichel GM, Mendell JR, Moxley RT, Griggs RC, Brooke MH, Miller JP, Pestronk A et al (1991) A comparison of daily and alternate-day prednisone therapy in the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Arch Neurol 48:575–579
- Fernandes S, Amirault JC, Lande G, Nguyen JM, Bignolais VFO, Lamirault G, Jean-Lu DH et al (2006) Autologous myoblast transplantation after myocardial infarction increases the inducibility of ventricular arrhythmias. Cardiovasc Res 69:348–358
- Fernandez-Aviles F, Sanz-Ruiz R, Climent AM, Badimon L, Charron RBD, Fuster V (2017) Global position paper on cardiovascular regenerative medicine. Eur Heart J 38:2532–2546
- Ferrara N (2001) Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in regulation of physiological angiogenesis. Am J Phys 280:C1358–C1366
- Ferreira-Cornwell MC, Luo Y, Narula N, Narula N, Lenox JM, Lieberman M, Radice GL (2002) Remodeling the intercalated disc leads to cardiomyopathy in mice mis-expressing cadherins in the heart. J Cell Sci 115:1623–1634
- Gavira JJ, Herreros J, Perez A, Garcia-Velloso MJ, Barba J, Martin-Herrero F, Cañizo C et al (2006) Autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation in patients with nonacute myocardial infarction: 1-year follow-up. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 131:799–804
- Ghostine S, Carrion C, Souza LC, Guarita S, Pascal R, Bruneval P, Vilquin J-T et al (2002) Longterm efficacy of myoblast transplantation on regional structure and function after myocardial infarction. Circulation 106:I131–I136
- Guillausseau PJ, Tielmans D, Virally-Monod M, Assayag M (1997) Diabetes: from phenotypes to genotypes. Diab Metabol 23(Suppl 2):14–21
- Haffner SM, Lehto S, Ronnemaa T, Pyorala K, Laakso M (1998) Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 339:229–234
- Hagege AA, Carrion C, Menasché P, Vilquin JT, Duboc D, Marolleau JP, Desnos M et al (2003) Viability and differentiation of autologous skeletal myoblast grafts in ischemic cardiomyopathy. Lancet 361:491–492
- Haider HK, Jiang SJ, Ye L, Aziz S, Law PK, Sim EK (2004a) Effectiveness of transient immunosuppression using cyclosporine for xenomyoblast transplantation for cardiac repair. Transplant Proc 36:232–235
- Haider KH, Ye L, Jiang S, Law PK, Sim EK (2004b) Immunosuppression and xenotransplantation of cells for cardiac repair. Ann Thorac Surg 77(3):1133
- Haider HKH, Ye L, Jiang S, Ge R, Law PK, Chua T, Wong P et al (2004c) Angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair using human myoblasts as carriers of human vascular endothelial growth factor. J Mol Med 82:539–549
- Herreros J, Prosper F, Perez A, Gavira JJ, Garcia-Velloso MJ, Barba J, Sanchez PL et al (2003) Autologous intramyocardial injection of cultured skeletal muscle-derived stem cells in patients with non-acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 24:2012–2020
- Hoffman EP, Brown RH, Kunkel LM (1987) Dystrophin: the protein product of the Duchenne muscular locus. Cell 51:919–928
- Hooper C (1990) Duchenne therapy trials starting in U.S, Canada. J NIH Res 2:30

- Ince H, Petzsch M, Rehders TC, Chatterjee T, Nienaber CA (2004) Transcatheter transplantation of autologous skeletal myoblasts in postinfarction patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction. J Endovasc Ther 11:695–704
- Ishikawa F, Matunis MJ, Dreyfuss G, Cech TR (1993) Nuclear proteins that bind the pre-mRNA 3' splice site sequence r(UUAG/G) and the human telomeric DNA sequence d(TTAGGG)n. Mol Cell Biol 13(4):301–310
- Jacobson M (1970) Developmental neurobiology. Holt, Reinhart & Winston Inc, New York
- James DE, Brown R, Navarro J, Pilch PF (1988) Insulin-regulatable tissues express a unique insulin- sensitive glucose transport protein. Nature 333:183–185
- James DE, Strube M, Mueckler M (1989) Molecular cloning and characterization of an insulinregulatable glucose transporter. Nature 338:83–87
- Karpati G, Pouliot Y, Zubrzycka-Gaarn CS, Holland P (1989) Dystrophin is expressed in mdx skeletal muscle fibers after normal myoblast implantation. Am J Pathol 135:27–32
- Katagiri T, Yamaguchi A, Komaki M, Abe E, Suda T (1994) Bone morphogenetic protein-2 converts the differentiation pathway of C2C12 myoblast into the osteoblast lineage. J Cell Biol 127:1755–1766
- Kessler DA, Siegel JP, Noguchi PD, Zoon KC, Feiden KL, Woodcock J (1993) Regulation of somatic cell-therapy and gene therapy by the Food and Drug Administration. N Engl J Med 329: 1169–1173
- Koenig M, Hoffman EP, Bertelson CJ et al (1987) Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and affected individuals. Cell 50:509–517
- Koh GY, Klug MG, Soonpaa MH, Field LJ (1993) Differentiation and long-term survival of C2C12 myoblast grafts in heart. J Clin Invest 92:1548–1554
- Kolata G (1990) Cell transplant found effective in muscle disease. Muscular dystrophy patient showed strength increase in first human test. The New York Times, Sunday, June 3, 1990
- Konigsberg IR (1963) Clonal analysis of myogenesis. Science 140:1273-1284
- Law PK (1977) "Myotrophic" influences on motoneurons of normal and dystrophic mice in parabiosis. Exp Neurol 54:444–452
- Law PK (1978) Reduced regenerative capability of minced dystrophic mouse muscles. Exp Neurol 60:231–243
- Law PK (1980) "Leaky" membrane causes weakness in dystrophic soleus fibers. Adv Physiol Sci 5: 213–214
- Law PK (1982) Beneficial effects of transplanting normal limb-bud mesenchyme into dystrophic mouse muscle. Muscle Nerve 5:619–627
- Law PK (1990) "Myogenesis" and a consideration of theoretical strategies which may minimize, ameliorate or correct the defect in DMD. In: Kakulas BA, Mastaglia FL (eds) Pathogenesis and therapy of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. Raven Press, New York, pp 223–230
- Law PK (1992) Myoblast transfer therapy. Science 257:1329-1330
- Law PK (1993) Myoblast transfer therapy. Lancet 341:247
- Law PK (1994) Myoblast transfer: gene therapy for muscular dystrophy. RG Lande, Austin
- Law PK (1995) Methods for human myoblast culture and transplantation. In: Recordi C (ed) Methods in cell transplantation. RG Landes, Austin, pp 707–730
- Law PK (2009) Pioneering human myoblast genome therapy. Nova Sciences, New York
- Law PK (2016) Disease prevention and alleviation by human myoblast transplantation. Open J Regen Med 5:25–43
- Law PK (2017) Crime against humanity. Open J Regen Med 6:35–645. https://doi.org/10.4236/ ojrm.2017.64004
- Law PK (2020a) COVID-19 pandemic: its origin, implications and treatments. Open J Regen Med 9:43–64
- Law PK (2020b) Emergent serum therapy and antibody medicine to counteract sudden attacks of COVID-19 and other pathogenic epidemics. Open J Regen Med 9:1–7. https://doi.org/10.4236/ ojrm.2020.91001. https://www.scirp.org/journal/ojrm

- Law PK (2020c) System engineering of emergent serum therapy to combat COVID-19 and other pathogenic pandemics. Open J Regen Med 9:8–14. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojrm.2020.91002
- Law PK. Biologic skin repair and enhancement. WO2004017972A1; WO2004017972A8; AU2003263906A1; AU2003263906B2; CA2496434A1; CN100482228C; CN1700915A; CN03819963.7; CN E038199637XS; EP1587515A1; EP1587515A4; SI110581; US2006057119A1;
- Law PK. Myoblast therapy for cosmetic treatment. WO9618303A1 US7341719B1; AU4597696A; CA2183167A1; CN03101588.3; CN1127343C; CN1146712A; CN1477190A; EP0743820A1; EP0743820A4; EP1407788A2; SG74036A1; SG99279A1; SG99846A1; US7341719 B1
- Law PK. Myoblast therapy for mammalian diseases. WO9618303A1; AU5831199A; AU748997B2; AU4597696A; CA2183167A1; CNZL95192528.8 CN1146712A; CN1127343C;CN1477190A; DE P2116DE01; EP0743820A1; EP0743820A4; EP1407788A2; FR P2116FR01; GB P2116GB01; IE P2116IE01; SG74036A1; SG99279A1; SG99846A1; US2002031501A1; US6261832B1; US7341719B1
- Law PK, Atwood HL (1972a) Cross-reinnervation of dystrophic mouse muscle. Nature 238: 287–288
- Law PK, Atwood HL (1972b) Nonequivalence of surgical and natural denervation in dystrophic mouse muscles. Exp Neurol 34:200–209
- Law PK, Yap JL (1979) New muscle transplant method produces normal twitch tension in dystrophic muscle. Muscle Nerve 2:356–363
- Law PK, Yap JL. A controlled allophenic system to study coexisting normal, and dystrophic cells. AAAS Meeting. January, 1980. p 139
- Law PK, Cosmos E, Butler J, McComas AJ (1976a) The absence of dystrophic characteristics in normal muscles successfully cross-reinnervated by nerves of dystrophic genotypes: physiological and cytochemical study of crossed solei of normal and dystrophic parabiotic mice. Exp Neurol 51:1–21
- Law PK, Atwood HL, McComas AJ (1976b) Functional denervation in the soleus muscle of dystrophic mice. Exp Neurol 51:434–443
- Law PK, Saito A, Fleischer S (1983) Ultrastructural changes in muscle and motor endplate of the dystrophic mouse. Exp Neurol 80:361–382
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Wang MG (1988a) Normal myoblast injections provide genetic treatment for murine dystrophy. Muscle Nerve 11:525–533
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Li HJ (1988b) Histoincompatible myoblast injection improves muscle structure and function of dystrophic mice. Transplant Proc 20:1114–1119
- Law PK, Bertorini T, Goodwin TG, Chen M, Fang Q, Li HJ, Kirby D et al (1990a) Dystrophin production induced by myoblast transfer therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Lancet 336: 114–115
- Law PK, Li JH, Goodwin TG, Ajamoughli G, Zhang X, Chen M (1990b) Pathogenesis and treatment of hereditary muscular dystrophy. In: Kakulas BA, Mastaglia FL (eds) Pathogenesis and therapy of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. Raven Press, New York, pp 101–118
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Li HJ, Ajamoughli G, Chen M (1990c) Myoblast transfer improves muscle genetics/structure/function and normalizes the behavior and life-span of dystrophic mice. In: Griggs RC, Karpati G (eds) Myoblast transfer therapy. Plenum Press, New York, pp 75–87
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Duggirala VJ, Florendo A, Kirby DS, Deering MB et al (1991a) Long-term improvement in muscle function, structure, and biochemistry following myoblast transfer in DMD. Acta Cardiomiol 3:281–301
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Chen M, Li HJ, Florendo JA, Kirby D (1991b) Myoblast transfer therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Acta Paediatr Jpn 33:206–215
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Chen M, Li H-J, Florendo A, Kirby D et al (1991c) Pioneering development of myoblast transfer therapy. In: Angelini C, Danieli GA, Fontanari D (eds) Muscular dystrophy research: from molecular diagnosis toward therapy. Elsevier Science Publishers, New York, pp 109–116

- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Duggirala V, Larkin C, Florendo JA, Kirby D et al (1992) Feasibility, safety, and efficacy of myoblast transfer therapy on Duchenne muscular dystrophy boys. Cell Transplant 1:235–244
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Deering MB, Duggirala V, Larkin C, Florendo JA et al (1993) Cell transplantation as an experimental treatment for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cell Transplant 2:485–505
- Law PK, Li H, Chen M, Fang Q, Goodwin T (1994a) Myoblast injection method regulates cell distribution and fusion. Transplant Proc 26:3417–3418
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Deering M, Duggirala V, Larkin C, Florendo A, Quinley T et al (1994b) Whole body myoblast transfer. Transpl Proc 26:3381–3383
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Chen M, Li HJ, Florendo JA, Kirby DS (1995) Myoblast transfer: gene therapy for muscular dystrophy. J Cell Biochem 367
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Quinley T, Vastagh G, Hall T, Jackson T et al (1996) Human gene therapy with myoblast transfer. Mol Biol Cell 7:3639
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Hall TL, Quinley T, Vastagh G, Duggirala V et al (1997a) First human myoblast transfer therapy continues to show dystrophin after 6 years. Cell Transplant 6: 95–100
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Quinley T, Vastagh G, Hall T, Jackson T et al (1997b) Human gene therapy with myoblast transfer. Transpl Proc 29:2234–2237
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Quinley T, Vastagh G, Hall T, Jackson T et al (1997c) Myoblast transfer therapy (MTT) Phase II clinical trials. J Physiol Biochem 53:80
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Vastagh G, Duggirala V, Larkin C, Chase N et al (1997d) Advances in clinical trials of myoblast transfer therapy (MTT). J Neurol Sci 150:5253
- Law PK, Goodwin TG, Fang Q, Vastagh G, Jordan T, Jackson T, Kenny S et al (1998) Myoblast transfer as a platform technology of gene therapy. Gene Ther Mol Biol 1:345–363
- Law PK, Weinstein J, Ben Hain S, Williams S, Fang Q, Hall T, Brown F et al (2000) World's first human myoblast transfer into the heart. Front Physiol A85
- Law PK, Fang G, Chua F, Kakuchaya T, Bockeria LA (2003) First-in-man myoblast allografts for heart degeneration. Int J Med Implants Devices 1:100–155
- Law PK, Haider K, Fang G, Jiang S, Chua F, Lim YT, Sim E (2004a) Human VEGF165-myoblasts produce concomitant angiogenesis/myogenesis in the regenerative heart. Mol Cell Biochem 263:173–178
- Law PK, Sim EKW, Haider KH, Fang G, Chua F, Kakuchaya T, Repin VS et al (2004b) Myoblast genome therapy and the regenerative heart. In: Kipshidze NN, Serruys PW (eds) Handbook of cardiovascular cell transplantation. Martin Dunitz, pp 241–258
- Law PK, Law DM, Lu P, Guo J, Lu Y, Xue YF, Li X (2004c) The world's first myoblast study of Type II diabetic patients. Business Briefing: North American Pharmacotherapy No 2
- Law PK, Law DL, Lu P, Sim EKW, Haider KH, Lei Y, Li X et al (2006) Human myoblast genome therapy. J Geriat Cardiol 3:135–151
- Law PK, Chin SP, Hung HD, Nguyen TN, Feng QZ (2008) Delivery of biologics for angiogenesis and myogenesis. In: Nguyen T, Colombo A, Hu D, Grines CL, Saito S (eds) Practical handbook of advanced interventional cardiology, 3rd edn. Blackwell Futura, Malden, pp 584–596
- Law PK, Song SJ, Lu P, Gao Y, Ao MZ, Zhao HD, Bai LY et al (2017) World's first myoblast treatment of human cancer found safe and efficacious. Open J Regen Med 6:1–16
- Law PK, Law DM, Ye L, Haider KH, Song SJ, Lu P, Ma J-H (2019) Myoblasts provide safe and effective treatments for hereditary muscular dystrophies, cardiomyopathies, type 2 diabetes, solid tumors and aging. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells – from hype to real hope. Walter de Gruyter GmbH, Berlin, pp 71–97
- Li W, Wang K, Shi Q, Lu P, Chen DW, Zhang B, Qi H et al (2021) Two-year heart failure study with allogeneic myoblast transplantation. Open J Regen Med 10:1–18. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojrm. 2021.101001
- Lyon MF (1961) Gene action in X-chromosomes of the mouse (M. musculus L). Nature 190: 372–373

- Ma JH, Su LP, Zhu J, Law PK, Lee K-O, Ye L, Wang Z-Z (2013) Skeletal myoblast transplantation on gene expression profiles of insulin signaling pathway and mitochondrial biogenesis and function in skeletal muscle. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 102:43–52
- Mathur A, Fernándezavilés F, Dimmeler S, Hauskeller JS, Menasche P, Wojakowski W et al (2017) The consensus of the Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology concerning the clinical investigation of the use of autologous adult stem cells for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction and heart failure: update 2016. Eur Heart J 38:2930–2935
- Mauro AJ (1961) Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. Biophys Biochem Cytol 9:493-495
- McComas AJ, Sica REP, Campbell MJ (1971) "Sick" motoneurons. A unifying concept of muscle disease. Lancet 1:321–325
- Menasché P (2007) Skeletal myoblasts as a therapeutic agent. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 50:7-17
- Menasché P, Hagège AA, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D, Schwartz K et al (2001a) Myoblast transplantation for heart failure. Lancet 357:279–280
- Menasché P, Hagège AA, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D, Schwartz K et al (2001b) Early results of autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation in patients with severe ischemic heart failure. Circulation 104:II-598
- Menasché P, Hagège AA, Vilquin JT, Desnos M, Abergel E, Pouzet B, Bel A et al (2003) Autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation for severe postinfarction left ventricular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 41:1078–1083
- Menasché P, Alfieri O, Janssens S, McKenna W, Reichenspurner H, Trinquart L, Vilquin J-T et al (2008) The myoblast autologous grafting in ischemic cardiomyopathy (MAGIC) trial: first randomized placebo-controlled study of myoblast transplantation. Circulation 117:1189–1200
- Mendell JR, Moxley RT, Griggs RC, Brooke MH, Florence J (1989) Randomized, double-blind six-month trial of prednisone in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med 320:1592–1597
- Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Bowman BA, Nelson DE, Engelgau MM, Vinicor F, Marks JS (2001) The continuing increase of diabetes in the us. Diabetes Care 24:412
- Monaco AP, Neve RL, Colletti-Feener C et al (1986) Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene. Nature 323:646–650
- Morgan BJ, Chai SY, Albiston AL (2011) GLUT4 associated proteins as therapeutic targets for diabetes. Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov 5:25–32
- Nigro G, Comi LI, Politano L (1990) Treatment of cardiac involvement in late stage of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Acta Cardiomiol 2:13–24
- Pagani FD, DerSimonian H, Zawadzka A, Wetzel K, Edge AS, Jacoby DB, Dinsmore JH et al (2003) Autologous skeletal myoblasts transplanted to ischemia-damaged myocardium in humans. Histological analysis of cell survival and differentiation. J Am Coll Cardiol 41: 879–888
- Parlakian A, Gomaa I, Solly S, Arandel L, Mahale A, Born G, Marazziet G et al (2010) Skeletal muscle phenotypically converts and selectively inhibits metastatic cells in mice. PLoS One 5(2): e9299
- Partridge TA, Morgan JE, Coulton GR, Hoffman EP, Kunkel LM (1989) Conversion of mdx myofibers from dystrophin-negative to -positive by injection of normal myoblasts. Nature 337:176–179
- Pearson ML, Epstein HF (eds) (1982) Muscle development. Molecular and cellular control. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, New York, pp 339–396, 509–567
- Peterson AC (1974) Chimaera mouse study shows absence of disease in genetically dystrophic muscle. Nature 248:561–564
- Povsic TJ, O'Connor CM, Henry T, Henry T, Taussig A, Kereiakes DJ, Fortuin FD et al (2011) A double-blind, randomized, controlled, multicenter study to assess the safety and cardiovascular effects of skeletal myoblast implantation by catheter delivery in patients with chronic heart failure after myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 162:654–662
- Roelofs RK, deArengo GS, Law PK, Kinsman A, Park JH (1979) Treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy with D, L-penicillamine: results of a double-blind trial. Arch Neurol 36: 266–268

- Rosinberg A, Rana JS, Laham RJ (2005) Skeletal myoblast transplantation for cardiac repair. In: Laham RJ (ed) Direct myocardial revascularization contemporary cardiology. Springer, New York, pp 311–328
- Saito A, Law PK, Fleischer S (1983) Study of neurotrophism with ultrastructure of normal/ dystrophic parabiotic mice. Muscle Nerve 6:14–28
- Sawa Y, Yoshikawa Y, Toda K, Fukushima S, Yamazaki K, Ono M, Sakata Y et al (2015) Safety and efficacy of autologous skeletal myoblast sheets (TCD-51073) for the treatment of severe chronic heart failure due to ischemic heart disease. Circ J 79:991–999
- Shepard S (1994) Myoblast gains FDA approval to bill patients for some clinical costs. Memphis Health Care News, June 17, 1994
- Siminiak T, Kalawski R, Fiszer D, Jerzykowska O, Rzezniczak J, Rozwadowska N, Kurpisz M (2004) Autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation for the treatment of post infarction myocardial injury: phase I clinical study with 12 months of follow-up. Am Heart J 148:531–537
- Siminiak T, Fiszer D, Jerzykowska O, Tomasz S, Dorota F, Olga J, Beata G et al (2005) Percutaneous trans-coronary-venous transplantation of autologous skeletal myoblasts in the treatment of postinfarction myocardial contractility impairment: the POZNAN trial. Eur Heart J 26: 1188–1195
- Smits PC, van Geuns RJ, Poldermans D, Bountioukos M, Onderwater EEM, Lee CH, Maat APW et al (2003) Catheter-based intramyocardial injection of autologous skeletal myoblasts as a primary treatment of ischemic heart failure: clinical experience with six-month follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol 42:2063–2069
- Steendijk P, Smits PC, Valgimigli M, van der Giessen WJ, Onderwater EEM, Serruys PW (2006) Intramyocardial injection of skeletal myoblasts: long-term follow up with pressure-volume loops. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 3:S94–S100
- Stenbit AE, Tsao TS, Li J, Burcelin R, Geenen DL, Factor SM, Houseknecht K et al (1997) GLUT4 heterozygous knockout mice develop muscle insulin resistance and diabetes. Nat Med 3: 1096–1101
- Stern MP (1999) Genetic and environmental influences on type 2 diabetes mellitus in Mexican Americans. Nutr Rev 57:S66–S70
- Stölting MNL, Ferrari S, Handschin C, Becskei A, Provenzano M, Sulser T, Eberlia D (2013) Myoblasts inhibit prostate cancer growth by paracrine secretion of tumor necrosis factor. J Urol 189:1952–1959
- Sullivan D (2021) "Whole-body mitochondrial transfusion" start-up lands funding. Longevity Technology, January 28, 2021
- Suzuki K, Murtuza B, Beauchamp JR, Smolenski RT, Varelacarver A, Fukushima S, Coppen SR et al (2004) Dynamics and mediators of acute graft attrition after myoblast transplantation to the heart. FASEB J 18:1153–1155
- Taylor DA, Atkins BZ, Hungspreugs P, Jones TR, Reedy MC, Hutcheson KA, Glower DD (1998) Regenerating functional myocardium: improved performance after skeletal myoblast transplantation. Nat Med 4:929–933
- Tolmachov O, Ma YL, Themis M, Patel P, Spohr H, Macleod KT, Ullrich ND et al (2006) Overexpression of connexin 43 using a retroviral vector improves electrical coupling of skeletal myoblasts with cardiac myocytes in vitro. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 6:25
- U.S. Federal Registrar (1993) 58:53248-53251
- Veltman CE, Soliman OI, Geleijnse ML, Vletter WB, Smits PC, ten Cate FJ, Jordaens LJ et al (2008) Four-year follow-up of treatment with intramyocardial skeletal myoblasts injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 29:1386–1396
- Vijan S (2010) Type 2 diabetes. Ann Intern Med 152:ITC 31-15; quiz ITC316
- Walton JN, Gardner-Medwin D (1981) Progressive muscular dystrophy and the myotonic disorders. In: Walton JN, Gardner-Medwin D (eds) Disorders of voluntary muscle. Churchill Livingstone, New York, p 487
- Ye L, Husnain HK, Jiang S, Eugene S (2004) Therapeutic angiogenesis. Basic Res Cardiol 99: 121–132

- Ye L, Haider HK, Jiang S, Ge R, Law PK, Sim EK (2005a) In vitro functional assessment of human skeletal myoblasts after transduction with adenoviral bi-cistronic vector carrying human VEGF165 and angiopoietin-1. J Heart Lung Transplant 24:1393–1402
- Ye L, Haider HK, Jiang SJ (2005b) Reversal of myocardial injury using genetically modulated human skeletal myoblasts in a rodent cryoinjured heart model. Eur J Heart Fail 7:945–952
- Ye L, Haider HK, Tan RS, Toh WC, Law PK, Tan WB, Su LP et al (2007) Transplantation of nanoparticle transfected skeletal myoblasts overexpressing vascular endothelial growth factor-165 for cardiac repair. Circulation 116:I-113–I-120
- Ye L, Haider HK, Tan R, Su LP, Law PK, Wei Z, Sim EKW (2008) Angiomyogenesis using liposome based vascular endothelial growth factor-165 transfection with skeletal myoblast for cardiac repair. Biomaterials 29:2125–2137
- Ye L, Lee KO, Su LP, Toh WC, Haider HK, Law PK, Zhang W et al (2009) Skeletal myoblast transplantation for attenuation of hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia and glucose intolerance in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 52:1925–1934
- Zebedin E, Mille M, Speiser M, Zarrabi T, Sandtner W, Latzenhofer B, Todt H et al (2007) C2C12 skeletal muscle cells adopt cardiac-like sodium current properties in a cardiac cell environment. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292:H439–H450
- Zhang P, Zhang X, Brown J, Vistisen D, Sicree R, Shaw J, Nichols G (2010) Global healthcare expenditure on diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Prac 87:293–301
- Ziter FA, Allsop KG, Tyler FH (1977) Assessment of muscle strength in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neurology 27:981–984



23

Adipose Tissue-Derived Regenerative Cell-Based Therapies: Current Optimization Strategies for Effective Treatment in Aesthetic Surgery

Yusuke Shimizu, Edward Hosea Ntege, and Hiroshi Sunami

Contents

Introduction	693
AT-Derived Regenerative Cells	695
Adipose-Derived Stem Cells	696
Current Regulatory Considerations for the Production and Clinical Application	
of SVF/ASCs	700
Assessing the Therapeutic Potential of SVF/ASCs in Aesthetic Surgery	702
Safety Concerns with the Use of Culture-Expanded ASCs for Cell Therapy	702
Clinical Application of SVF/ASCs in Aesthetic Surgery	704
Cross-References	714
References	714

Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are adult stem cells derived from several different tissues in the human body, such as adipose tissue. Adipose tissue is composed of mature adipocytes and a stromal vascular fraction (SVF). Fresh SVF cells are heterogeneous, containing putative MSCs (adipose tissue-derived stem cells; ASCs), progenitor cells, vascular smooth muscle cells or pericytes, and hematopoietic cells under uncultured conditions. The capacity to isolate SVF and ASCs from the readily accessible and abundant adipose tissue shows great promise as a crucial unlimited supply for numerous applications, including regenerative medicine and basic research for pharmaceutical discoveries. The SVF is used for immediate autologous applications during surgery, while purified

Y. Shimizu (🖂) · E. H. Ntege

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa, Japan

e-mail: yyssprs@med.u-ryukyu.ac.jp

e-mail: sunami@med.u-ryukyu.ac.jp

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_35

H. Sunami Center for Advanced Medical Research, School of Medicine, University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa, Japan

or cultured ASCs are considered suitable for cell therapy owing to their inter alia proliferation capabilities, multilineage differentiation capacities, low immunogenicity, immunomodulatory properties, and various trophic properties. Moreover, ASCs can be used in long-term autologous and allogeneic applications. However, various studies have identified the need for improvement of the therapeutic potential of ASCs. With ethical and scientific controls and standardization of production and handling, as well as identification of acceptable modes of therapeutic applications, ASCs are envisaged to make a credible contribution to the clinical practice of the twenty-first century. Thus, different strategies for optimizing the performance of ASCs as a therapy are currently under investigation, including two treatment approaches: fresh, uncultured, unmodified, autologous SVF and ASCs. This chapter aims to review these two treatments as well as other clinical application optimization strategies for adipose tissue-derived regenerative cells.

Keywords

Adipose tissue · Aesthetic surgery · Cell therapy · Culture-expanded · Mesenchymal stem cells · Regenerative medicine · Stromal vascular fraction

Abbreviations	
ASCs	Adipose stem cells
AT	Adipose tissue
AT-MSCs	Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells
b-FGF	Beta-fibroblast growth factor
BM	Bone marrow
BM-MSCs	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells
CCL	Chemokine ligand
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CFU-F	Colony-forming unit fibroblast
cGMP	Current good manufacturing practice
cGTP	Current good tissue practice
CSF2	Colony-stimulating factor 2
ECM	Extracellular matrix
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HCT/Ps	Human cells, tissues, or cellular and tissue-based products
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HNF4 α	Hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 alpha
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
IGF	Insulin growth factor
IL	Interleukin
ISSCR	International Society for Stem Cell Research
MCP	Monocyte chemoattractant protein

MHLW	Japan Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare
MIP	Macrophage inflammatory protein
miR	Microribonucleic acid
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MSCs	Mesenchymal stromal cells
PAI	Plasminogen activator inhibitor
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factors
PMDAct	Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Act
RMAct	Act on the Safety of Regenerative Medicine
SAEs	Serious adverse events
SCs	Stem cells
SVF	Stromal vascular fraction
TCOM or TcPO ₂	Transcutaneous oxygen measurement
TF	Tissue factor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

In aesthetic surgery, adult stem cells are considered the most promising cell types for cell-based therapies. These are rare undifferentiated cell populations that are small in number and reside among differentiated cells in the body's tissues or organs. Adult stem cells are capable of self-renewal and differentiation into specialized cell types. However, their ability to differentiate has led to controversy as some scientists suggest that their differentiation is limited to distinct cell types based on the tissue of origin; they are multipotent or unipotent cells (Vishwakarma et al. 2014). In contrast, there are repeated demonstrations of the vascular-associated stem cells, forming other cell types due to their multilineage differentiation capacity (Alt et al. 2020). Adult stem cells were discovered in 1909 as hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in the bone marrow (BM) (Giannoudis et al. 2013). They were later described in the 1970s by Friedenstein as a population of cells capable of osteogenesis in vitro (Friedenstein et al. 1970) as well as in vivo (Friedenstein et al. 1974). They were later identified as multipotent cells having characteristics of plastic adherence and multilineage differentiation capacity, referred to as colony-forming unit fibroblasts (CFU-F) (Afanasyev et al. 2009). CFU-F has since generated worldwide interest in both research and clinical practice, and in the early 1990s, they were termed "mesenchymal stem cells" (MSCs). MSCs have been widely studied and revealed to be very promising cell therapy products, albeit with some challenges (Caplan and Dennis 2006; Galipeau and Sensébé 2018). Various studies have consistently demonstrated MSCs as heterogeneous, nonclonal mixtures of multipotent stem cells, committed progenitors, and differentiated cells (Squillaro et al. 2016). Consequently,

the MSC nomenclature has been contested leading to the adoption of several other names, including "marrow stromal cells," "multipotent stromal cells," "mesodermal stem cells," or "mesenchymal stromal cells." Relentless discussions on the accurate description of the origin, developmental potential, and biological functions of MSCs have proposed "tissue-specific progenitor cells" or "medicinal signalling cells" as more appropriate terms (Caplan 2017; Robey 2017; Sipp et al. 2018; Caplan 2019; De Luca et al. 2019). Besides, recent reports suggest that MSCs arise from pericytes and can be isolated from almost every tissue that is vascularized, including BM (Wakitani et al. 2002), adipose tissue (AT) (Zuk et al. 2001), umbilical cord (Kern et al. 2006), dental pulp (Stanko et al. 2018), and skin (Ojeh et al. 2015).

A recent review (Ntege et al. 2020) highlighted that the past three decades of research on MSCs has presented encouraging preclinical findings on a wide range of disease models. This promising evidence for the therapeutic success of MSCs is based on the cell's relative ease to isolate and expand in culture, as well as its multilineage differentiation capacity; immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, and regenerative effects; homing and migration to injury sites; and safety profile in allogeneic transplantation, with only a few ethical restrictions (Gnecchi et al. 2008; Teixeira et al. 2013; Vizoso et al. 2017; Caplan 2019). However, some MSC-based cell therapies in advanced trials have produced mixed reports on clinical efficacy leading to skepticism regarding their effectiveness. Deciphering the key factors that influence these biological and pharmacological disparities could be paramount in promoting the desired clinical efficacies. Key factors significantly contributing to dissonance include variable tissue sources, protocols used for cell preparation, potency, the functionality of MSCs among tissue sources, culture and expansion levels, cell handling in the clinic, etc. (Raposio et al. 2017; Galipeau and Sensébé 2018; Mushahary et al. 2018). Tissue sources of MSCs such as BM and AT have been extensively studied in clinical trials (Moroni and Fornasari 2013; Galipeau and Sensébé 2018). Bone marrow MSCs (BM-MSCs) demonstrate significant potential in promoting tissue regeneration, preventing tissue ischemia, and modulating inflammation and immunity (Murphy et al. 2013). Although BM-MSCs were considered the most promising among the MSCs cell-based therapies, they have significant limitations in clinical practice (Galipeau and Sensébé 2018): (i) BM in humans is commonly obtained from the sternum and posterior iliac crest through surgical aspiration procedures. Aspiration is performed under general anesthesia due to the associated excruciating pain; there have also been a few fatal complications documented in the past (Marti et al. 2004). (ii) BM is composed of a small fraction of true multipotent stem cells (Ratajczak et al. 2014). Hence, a sufficient therapeutic dose of BM-MSCs requires large amounts of BM, which could exacerbate risky outcomes. (iii) In vitro expansion of BM-MSCs is susceptible to early senescence, which influences the treatment outcomes for some diseases described elsewhere (Chen and Tang 2019). In contrast, AT has long been considered a multifunctional organ that controls metabolic homeostasis, immunity, and other endocrine activities and is abundant in most individuals (Gimble et al. 2007; Coelho et al. 2013). AT (25 to 100 mL) can be harvested using minimally invasive liposuction procedures and yields orders of magnitude more adipose-derived MSCs (AT-MSCs) per unit volume (Gimble et al. 2007; Miyagi-Shiohira et al. 2015). Compared to BM-MSCs, AT-MSCs are better at sustaining chromosomal stability during multiple rounds of cell division for expansion (Izadpanah et al. 2008). Therefore, because AT is an abundant source of MSCs for immediate and/or long-term utilization, it is a vital source for cell-based therapies (El-Sabbagh 2017). AT-MSCs are vascular-associated MSCs and can be categorized into two types: the stromal vascular cell fraction (referred to as AT-derived regenerative cells or SVF) and the adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) (Alt et al. 2020). ASCs are obtained upon further processing of SVF (Zuk et al. 2001). Both cell populations are fundamentally different in content and morphology but possess similar biological attributes, such as the trilineage differentiation potential and the cell adhesion molecules' unique expression (Matsumoto et al. 2006; Glass and Ferretti 2019; Alt et al. 2020).

AT-Derived Regenerative Cells

SVFs and their potential to proliferate were first demonstrated in 1964 and 1977 by Martin Rodbell and Van and Roncari (Rodbell 1964; Van Robin and Roncari 1977). SVF has recently been described by Alt et al. as uncultured, autologous, fresh, unmodified, adipose-derived regenerative cells offered at the point of care in aesthetic surgery (Alt et al. 2020). Accordingly, SVF is another generic term that refers to an extract of vascular-associated MSCs and other cells from AT that lacks both adjocytes and connective tissue. It is also essential to know the distinction between SVF and nanofat. The latter is a mechanically emulsified fat tissue in a liquid form that presumably lacks connective tissue but contains cells of the stromal vascular fraction (Cohen et al. 2019; Alt et al. 2020). Specifically, SVF is a heterogeneous cell population composed of cells from endothelial, hematopoietic, and pericytic origin, among others. Cells of hematopoietic origin include granulocytes (15%), monocytes (15%), lymphocytes (15%), and stem/progenitor cells (<0.1%) (Bourin et al. 2013). The SVF comprises three major populations of stem/progenitor cells that are closely associated with small blood vessels, including endothelial progenitor cells, pericytes, and the supra-adventitial ASCs (Zimmerlin et al. 2013; Glass and Ferretti 2019).

Isolation of SVF from AT can be achieved through either enzymatic or non-enzymatic (such as purely mechanical) methods (Winnier et al. 2019). The ideal isolation method for a desirable therapeutic outcome should aim to yield sufficient numbers of viable cells from the smallest possible amount of AT in the shortest possible time and minimize the use of non-viable cells to avoid unwanted inflammatory reactions (Snyder et al. 2019). The enzymatic method is based on dissolving connective tissue and walls of vascular structures of AT by protease enzymes to release in situ stem cells. This is the most favorable method because it leads to significantly high cell yields with high viability scores. The developing mechanical isolation technologies are highly promising, i.e., Transpose RT/Matrase System (InGeneron Inc.) that can deliver high cell yields with high cell viability (Winnier et al. 2019).

SVF is helpful in plastic surgery for several reasons: (i) It has been repeatedly demonstrated that the SVF is safe and effective in regeneration medicine and tissue engineering (Gentile 2019; Gentile and Garcovich 2019; Gentile et al. 2014, 2020; Granel et al. 2015). Of note, however, several serious adverse events (SAEs) related to stem cell (SC) treatments have been published, highlighting concerns of limited reporting outside clinical investigations as described in the review by Alt and colleagues (Alt et al. 2020). In this review, the authors highlight SAEs such as the development of glioproliferative lesions in the spinal cord leading to a plethora of symptoms following intrathecal administration of putative MSCs, vision loss after intravitreal injection of autologous SVF for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration, and the development of the lethal human herpesvirus 6-related meningoencephalitis, myocarditis, and interstitial nephritis after allogeneic transplantation of SCs for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. In contrast, other reports have indicated a lack of serious safety concerns (Toyserkani et al. 2017); (ii) SVF has intrinsic abilities to adequately regenerate tissue without the need for more than minimal manipulation, stimulation, and/or genetic reprogramming of the cells; and (iii) tissue regeneration with SVF fulfils the criteria of homologous use as per the ethical, legal, and regulatory standards. SVF can induce angiogenesis in different target tissues, including AT (Oranges et al. 2019), bone (Solakoglu et al. 2019), and ischemic myocardium (Haenel et al. 2019). The effective application of SVF for angiogenic purposes fulfils the criterion for homologous use, an SC clinical application regulatory requirement. Thus, SVF is much more easily acquired, without the influence of cell separation or culturing factors that could impact safety and other regulatory requirements, useful in soft tissue reconstruction, and suitable for autologous treatments (Simonacci et al. 2017). However, to achieve sufficient amounts of SVF for therapeutic purposes, harvesting large amounts of AT may be required (Aronowitz and Ellenhorn 2013). Moreover, deciphering the mechanisms of action behind SVF tissue regeneration remains elusive without modification, a potential violation of the SC clinical application regulations.

Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

A population of ASCs was first successfully isolated and characterized upon further processing of human SVF by Zuk et al. (2001). ASCs are a relatively homogenous, plastic adherent, and culture-expanded population mainly containing pre-adipocytes and vascular-associated MSCs (Zuk et al. 2001). Most studies indicate that depending on the isolation method, ASCs account for 10–30% of the total SVF (Kokai et al. 2014; Glass and Ferretti 2019). Isolation of ASCs primarily involves enzymatic processing in compliance with current good manufacturing practices (cGMP) and the local and international SCs regulatory rules and guidelines for research and clinical application. ASCs are isolated from freshly harvested or cryopreserved AT or SVF based on well-established protocols that require further standardization (Choudhery et al. 2014; Ntege et al. 2020). Briefly, SVF is usually harvested from fresh AT using 0.25% trypsin and 0.1% collagenase type I or II

proteases under atmospheric conditions of 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. The SVF is then taken through a series of washing and sometimes erythrocyte lysis steps before being suspended in a growth medium such as high glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% antibiotic-mycotic solution at 37 °C with 5% CO₂ and cultured for 24 h to produce the plastic adherent ASCs. Culturing involves changing the growth medium every 2–3 days until the ASCs reach approximately 80–90% confluence, suitable for further processing or downstream applications.

The isolated ASCs should be characterized before every therapeutic and basic research application. ASCs can be identified and verified through the expression of unique surface markers (immune phenotyping) in the undifferentiated state and the ability to undergo trilineage differentiation, i.e., osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts, under in vitro conditions (Dominici et al. 2006; Yoshimura et al. 2006: Bourin et al. 2013). Relevant cell assays are also carried out to monitor viability and proliferation, as previously described (Riss et al. 2016). Phenotypic validation is part of the safety evaluation that ensures genuine MSC-related adverse event monitoring in clinical investigations. Although ASCs are distinct in surface marker profiling, a unique single marker that distinguishes these cells remains elusive. Therefore, it is recommended that phenotyping should use multicolor flow cytometry analysis with added viability markers to eliminate dead or apoptotic cells. The selected cell surface markers for the classification of ASCs may vary depending on various factors, including AT anatomical location, isolation protocols, and culture conditions (Raposio et al. 2017; Glass and Ferretti 2019). According to the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS), a foundational ASC phenotyping should include at least two negative markers (e.g., cluster of differentiation (CD) 3, CD11b, CD14, CD31, CD45, CD79a, or CD19, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1; CD106), CD235a, HLA-DR, and the bone marrow-derived stem cell-associated marker STRO-1) and two positive markers in the same analysis (e.g., tetraspan protein (CD9), CD13, β 1 integrin (CD29), CD44, α 4 integrin (CD49d), intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1; CD54), ecto-5'-nucleotidase or CD73, Thy-1 or CD90, endoglin (CD105), activated leukocyte adhesion molecule (ALCAM; CD166)) (Bourin et al. 2013). Moreover, some markers such as CD31, VCAM-1, and CD146 are indeterminate but can still be considered. ASCs express moderate levels of CD34, especially in the early stages of cell culture; however, the expression levels decrease upon further passaging (Maumus et al. 2011). A study on AT histology analysis demonstrated that CD34positive cells are primarily associated with vascular structures (Traktuev et al. 2008). It is also suggested that there are multiple classes of CD34 antibodies that recognize unique immunogens. Therefore, the choice of the CD34 antibody can substantially influence the signal intensity detected in a given cell population. Additionally, a small number of the ASC cell population are probably CD31-positive capillary endothelial cells; a CD34+/CD31- cell population of pericytic origin may also be derived from AT (Johal et al. 2015). It has been proposed that the surface markers CD36 (fatty acid translocase) and VCAM-1 help distinguish ASCs from BM-MSCs as ASCs do not express VCAM-1 but are moderately positive for CD36

(Maumus et al. 2011; Pachón-Peña et al. 2011; Bourin et al. 2013). To further strengthen the specific characterization of ASC, additional markers were suggested by Bourin et al. (Bourin et al. 2013; Pachón-Peña et al. 2011). These include the positive expression of variable levels of neprilysin or CD10, adenosine deaminase complexing protein 2 or CD26, CD49d (very late antigen-4), CD49e (very late antigen-5), and melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM) or CD146 markers due to donor or culture passage differences and the low expression (<2%) levels of negative markers: CD3, CD11b (macrophage integrin-1), CD49f (very late antigen-6), and podocalyxin-like protein.

ASCs are increasingly becoming the cell therapy products of choice in plastic surgery and other clinical applications (Gir et al. 2012; Moll et al. 2019; Tobita et al. 2011) because of their excellent proliferation and multilineage differentiation abilities; that is, they can differentiate into endodermal (Li et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2015), mesodermal (Latief et al. 2016), and ectodermal lineages (Kang et al. 2004). Moreover, unlike the SVF, ASCs are suitable for both autologous and allogeneic treatments. ASCs can be cultured, especially for autologous applications that require large cell therapeutic doses (Garcia-Olmo et al. 2009), and are preferred for allogeneic purposes as they exhibit low immunogenicity that results from a low expression of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules and T- and B-cell costimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, and CD40 in vitro (Zhang et al. 2015b). Culture-expanded ASCs have improved cell homogeneity, can be precisely identified, and are generated in enough and sufficient therapeutic dosages. These characteristics are paramount in attaining high reproducibility of clinical outcomes (Lv et al. 2014; Lopa et al. 2019). Moreover, numerous peer-reviewed scientific reports promote further interest in the use of ASC-based therapies. For instance, it has repeatedly been demonstrated that the application of ASCs into a new host tissue or microenvironment achieves the following: (i) the cells can stay, survive, and engraft in the new host tissue (Bai et al. 2011), (ii) integrate into and communicate by direct cell-cell contacts (Alt et al. 2019), and (iii) can exchange genetic and epigenetic information through secretomes such as exosomes (Alt et al. 2019). There is increasing evidence that the secretome of the vascular-associated MSCs, including dead or inactivated fragmented MSCs (Weiss and Dahlke 2019), is responsible for its biological and pharmacological properties, such as immunomodulation, immunosuppression, anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptosis, and angiogenesis (Teixeira et al. 2013; Vizoso et al. 2017; Caplan 2019). Several publications (Schinköthe et al. 2008; Park et al. 2009; Kupcova Skalnikova 2013; Salgado et al. 2010; Blaber et al. 2012; Kokai et al. 2014) report that the ASC secretome in particular has higher levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-D) messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) and growth factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor (TGF-B), and fibroblast growth factor (b-FGF) that support angiogenesis and proliferation as well as higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukins (IL) 8, 1 β , 6, and 12, tissue necrosis factor (TNF- α), and interferon gamma (IFN- γ) that support recruitment and activation of innate and adaptive immune cells, fibroblasts, and other MSCs; anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, IL-13, and prostaglandin E2 that mediate immunosuppression;

chemokines such as IL-8, monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP) MCP-1 (CCL-2), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP) MIP-1 α (chemokine ligand CCL-3), and MIP-1 β (CCL-4) that promote migration of innate and adaptive immune cells, fibroblasts, and MSCs; adipokines such as leptin and higher levels of insulin-like growth factor (IGF) IGF-1, adiponectin, steroid hormones, resistin, and plasminogen activator-inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) for AT homeostasis; matrix proteins such as Collagen-1 for extracellular matrix (ECM) synthesis; matrix protease such as matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) MMP-1 and MMP-2 for ECM remodelling and cell transit; and many other putative paracrine factors (Park et al. 2009; Skalnikova 2013; Kokai et al. 2014).

The use of ASC secretome in aesthetic surgery is beyond the scope of this chapter. However, it is worth mentioning that emerging studies report the ASC secretome to be a promising candidate for cell-free therapy strategies (Wang et al. 2019). However, all these studies were limited to cellular and animal assays without much evidence from large-scale clinical trials (Xiong et al. 2020). The ASC secretome can be utilized in tissue regeneration, but only to a certain extent as a supplementary treatment, rather than as sole therapy for skin anti-aging therapy, dermatitis improvement, wound healing, scar removal, flap transplantation, bone tissue repair and regeneration, obesity prevention, fat grafting, breast cancer, and breast reconstruction. As mentioned above, the ASC secretome has desirable properties that render it clinically promising as a novel cell-free therapeutic strategy. Briefly, these properties include the following: (1) The ASC secretomes, such as exosomes, are naturally occurring secreted membrane vesicles released from cells with lower immunogenicity; (2) ASC-exosomes contain a broad repertoire of cargoes, including nucleic acids, proteins, and enzymes for modulating multiple cellular activities, acting in both immediate and remote areas in a paracrine manner; (3) ASC-exosomes comprise natural bimolecular phospholipid structures that provide sufficient stability to avoid biodegradation; and (4) ASC-exosomes can function as a carrier for themselves as well as a component uploaded in well-designed biomedical materials. However, there are challenges associated with the development of the ASC secretome in clinical applications, including (i) the inconveniences related to obtaining ASCs. The sources of ASCs as well as the separation and cultivation methods, medium composition and dosage, cell passage, cell fusion and viability, mycoplasma, and other microbial contamination should be tightly controlled to maintain reliable biological efficacy and produce a high-quality ASC secretome; (ii) the extracted ASC secretome can be of low purity and yield, as the current separation methods, including ultracentrifugation, exclusion, ultrafiltration, two-aqueous system, immunoaffinity, and polymer precipitation, have shortcomings such as being time-consuming, labor-intensive, and costly and having multiple overnight centrifugation steps; and (iii), finally, the application of the ASC secretome, especially in tissue regeneration, still requires more comprehensive research in the following aspects: (a) quality control. ASC-exosome utilization details, including the storage conditions, effective doses, concentrations, and treatment period, are all essential aspects. It is necessary to further explore suitable microenvironmental conditions or genetic engineering techniques to ascertain the

efficiency of ASC-exosome treatment. (b) The components and functions of ASCexosomes are comprised of multiple bioactive components. These complex multicomponent substances may produce diverse biological characteristics when used in practice. Therefore, a deep understanding of ASC-exosomes and their components is a priority in reforming ASC-exosomes to overexpress these components to maximize the therapeutic effect while reducing side or off-target effects. (c) Carrier peculiarity exploration ASC-exosomes are effective tools for cargo transportation of effective therapeutic agents with lower immunogenicity and toxicity. Furthermore, ASC-exosomes could also be uploaded to specific nanomaterials or hydrogel materials to promote skin repair. Engineering ASC-exosomes to be effective and safe requires a comprehensive understanding of their necessary components, including but not limited to membrane stability, architecture, and packaging of the interior components. (d) Large-scale clinical trials that can clearly reflect the ASC-exosome usage and their physiological levels in vivo (Hong et al. 2019). In fat transplantation, it is of great value to clinically explore whether the exogenous ASC-exosomes could be safely and effectively used for cell transplantation (Atesok et al. 2017; Xiong et al. 2020).

Current Regulatory Considerations for the Production and Clinical Application of SVF/ASCs

In 2016, the International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR) published the revised global standards for stem cell research and clinical translation, where new guidelines for preclinical research, clinical translation, and practice were stipulated (Daley et al. 2016). These guidelines strongly emphasize the importance of high standards of cell processing and manufacturing, good manufacturing practice (GMP), in the preparation of cell-based therapeutics. Like other medical therapies, cell-based therapies in aesthetic surgery must fulfil the minimal requirements for use, including prioritizing safety and clinical efficacy. The production or handling of SVF and ASCs for therapy must adhere to the regulatory guidelines currently set by individual national governments and in accordance with the ISSCR and other international standards such as the Declaration of Helsinki, the cornerstone document on human research ethics. For instance, in Japan, the regulations for cell-based therapeutics and related clinical investigations are implemented by two authorities: the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA) and the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (MHLW) (Konomi et al. 2015). Two new laws were enacted in 2014: The Act on the Safety of Regenerative Medicine (RM Act) and the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Act (PMD Act) (Azuma 2015; Hara et al. 2014). All regenerative medicine products and related clinical trials are reviewed by the PMDA, an incorporated administrative agency established pursuant to the PMDA Act and approved by the MHLW. The RM act covers other clinical research submissions for approval or daily medical treatments that use unapproved regenerative medicine products. This ensures that stem cell products processed within medical institutions or outside companies with appropriate licenses can be used for clinical research or medical treatment. The PMD Act defines regenerative medicine products as follows: (1) processed human or animal cells intended for either (a) the reconstruction, repair, or formation of the structure or function of the human (or animal) body (i.e., tissue-engineered products) or (b) the treatment or prevention of human (or animal) diseases (i.e., cellular therapy products) and (2) articles intended for the treatment of disease in humans (or animals) and that are genetically manipulated to express in human (or animal) cells (i.e., gene therapy products) (PMD Act Article 2(9)). The cabinet ordinance of the PMD act (Articles 1–2) further specifies the following three product categories as regenerative medicine products: (1) processed human cell products, such as adult stem cell products, (2) processed animal cell products, and (3) gene therapy products, which are products that introduce genes to cells that are already in the human body (in vivo) or have been extracted from but then transplanted back into the human body (ex vivo) (Azuma 2015). In the United States, regulation of cell-based therapeutics is by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). A published review article summarized FDA regulations (Jokura et al. 2018). SVF and ASCs are categorized under human cells, tissues, or cellular and tissue-based products (HCT/Ps) (Gir et al. 2012). The production of HCT/Ps must comply with the current good tissue practice (cGTP) requirements under Title 21 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 1271 (21 CFR Part 1271). The FDA defines HCT/Ps as articles comprising human cells or tissues that are produced for implantation, infusion, or transfer into a human recipient. The indispensable cGTP requirements strive to prevent HCT/Ps from introducing, transmitting, or spreading any communicable disease, as previously reported (Smith et al. 2013). HCT/Ps are regulated at two levels of risk: low and high levels of risk. The low level of risk involves regulation of HCT/Ps solely under Section 361 of the Public Health System Act when all the following criteria are met (Part 1271.10): (a) The HCT/Ps are minimally manipulated; (b) HCT/Ps are produced for homologous use only; (c) the HCT/Ps manufacture does not combine them with other article (s); and (d) the HCT/P does not have a systemic effect and is not dependent on the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function, or the HCT/P has a systemic effect or is dependent on the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function and is for autologous use. At this level, the FDA could sanction the HCT/P as an investigational new drug in clinical investigations, and a formal FDA approval process for the specific therapy is not required. A high level of risk considers HCT/Ps a drug, device, or biological product of more than minimal manipulation, for example, ex vivo expansion, combination with non-tissue components, or transduction of the cells. Such HCT/Ps are regulated under Section 351 of the Public Health System Act, and the affected SVF or ASCs are licensed and delivered for clinical use as drugs. Licensing is performed only after HCT/Ps have been proven to be safe and effective. However, in the developmental stage, such products may be distributed for clinical use only if the sponsor has an investigational new drug application in effect as specified by the FDA (Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 312).
Assessing the Therapeutic Potential of SVF/ASCs in Aesthetic Surgery

The encouraging therapeutic effects in animal models, including inter alia proliferation, potency, homing/migration, and paracrine actions, explain the rationale for the anticipated efficient translation of SVF/ASCs in regenerative medicine (Frese et al. 2016; Gnecchi et al. 2016). However, effective clinical translations require a careful and deep understanding of the factors that affect the performance and safety of SVF/ASCs. Several published reports indicate various factors that influence the therapeutic function of these cells, including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), AT origin, and donor comorbidity states such as diabetes, cell biology, and culture factors (Patrikoski et al. 2019). Glass and Ferretti (2019) recently published a review that highlighted the ability of stem cells to renew decreases with aging and is associated with the downregulation of SIRT-1 (silent information regulator 1) by microRNAs (miR). Indeed, miR-486-5p has been proposed to play a role in ASC replicative senescence (Kim et al. 2012b; Zhang et al. 2015a, b). Aging is associated with the downregulation of genes responsible for maintaining genomic integrity and chromatin remodelling, leading to functional attenuation and risk of neoplastic transformations (Chambers et al. 2007). Aging also influences the trilineage differentiation potential of MSCs, negatively affecting osteogenesis while enhancing adipogenesis, suggesting a differential growth factor expression in senescence that reduces bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) 2/4 and upregulates the expression of TGF- β (Sethe et al. 2006; Kim et al. 2012a). Besides, aging MSCs express higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which, in the absence of cytokine and chemokine receptors, results in a reduced ability to respond to injury (Bustos et al. 2014). The developmental origins of AT can affect ASC cell expansion, differentiation, and therapeutics. Notably, different visceral fat depots are heterogeneous, with significant differences in gene expression profiles and differentiation capabilities between ASCs derived from different fat depots. The depth of AT harvested at a particular anatomical location can also impact the ASC proliferation and adipogenic potential. For instance, ASCs from subcutaneous AT have increased proliferation and adipogenic capacities compared to ASCs of visceral origin (Patrikoski et al. 2019). The aforementioned conditions, including cell isolation and culture, can also affect ASC proliferation, differentiation, and paracrine function (Alharbi et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2016). Therefore, an in-depth investigation of the factors promoting patient-specific treatments, preparation of efficacious off-the-shelf treatments (allogeneic ASC treatments), and the optimization and standardization of isolation and culture methods for mass production as well as cell handling and delivery are essential to improve the clinical efficacy of ASC cell therapy.

Safety Concerns with the Use of Culture-Expanded ASCs for Cell Therapy

The ex vivo expansion of ASCs is essential in selecting relatively more homogenous cell populations that meet the standard criteria for identification and precise determination of therapeutic dosages to ensure high reproducibility of clinical outcomes (Lv et al. 2014). Notwithstanding, some reports highlight safety concerns regarding

in vitro expanded MSCs (Karnoub et al. 2007; Uccelli et al. 2008). It is indeed worrisome to some researchers that cell expansion outside their natural environment could increase the risk of genomic instability or altered differentiation potential, leading to serious adverse events such as tumors, teratomas, and severe immune reactions. The lack of counter immune surveillance and the influence of different culture induction factors have been explicitly fronted as likely factors of influence. Although genomic instability has been associated with the long-term culturing of cells, ASCs are reportedly genetically stable on multiple cell divisions even under xeno-free conditions (Grimes et al. 2009; Neri et al. 2017). Nonetheless, the risk of neoplastic transformations requires further studies as MSC cytokine features such as angiogenesis, cell migration, proliferation, renewal, epithelial transdifferentiation, and immunomodulation are potentially tumorigenic (Spaeth et al. 2013). MSCs can be attracted to sites of tissue injury as well as tumor microenvironments and differentiate into myofibroblasts known to promote tumor growth; such features are critical contributors to tumor aggression and invasiveness in breast lipofilling. Moreover, BM-MSCs specifically increase the tumorigenicity and invasiveness of breast cancer cells by inducing the de novo expression of CCL5. This chemokine acts in a paracrine manner to increase cell migration (in vitro) and extravascular translocation (in vivo) (Karnoub et al. 2007).

Similarly, induced de novo expression of the stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) chemokine, also known as C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12), has been reported in ASCs, which increased tumorigenicity and invasiveness, and was reversed by the inhibition of the corresponding receptors (Muchlberg et al. 2009). Among the additional reports supporting the possibility of malignant transformations, there are widespread reports on sarcoma formation in immunodeficient mice following injection of in vitro post-senescence-transformed ASCs (Rubio et al. 2005) and that, on the use of fetal calf serum in cell culture, present a risk for prion exposure (Halme and Kessler 2006). The former was retracted because, later, it was shown that the cells used in the transformation studies were cross-contaminated by cancerous cells that initially grew slowly in the presence of human MSCs (Torsvik et al. 2010), and the latter remains debatable. In contrast, ASC and ASC-conditioned supernatants have been shown to induce necrosis in a range of tumor cell lines in vitro and in vivo (Cousin et al. 2009). A recent study designed to evaluate fat transplantation as a supportive environment for tumor growth firmly concluded that it does not and that ASCs may even be suppressive (Tsuji et al. 2018). This school of thought has been supported in other published reviews on the clinical studies involving fat grafting for oncological breast reconstruction (Groen et al. 2016). Additional safety concerns arguably include an exhibition of highly pro-coagulant activity and even lethal effects upon infusion of ASCs in preclinical models (Tatsumi et al. 2013) and cases of peripheral microthrombosis, pulmonary embolisms, and even suspected cases of death in patients receiving ASC intravascular infusions (Cyranoski 2010). By and large, MSC products are generally considered safe in the clinic (Borakati et al. 2018). The IFATS has not yet reported ASC-based clinical studies associated with increased risk for adverse events/infusion toxicity (Toyserkani et al. 2017). Moreover, in a recent dose-escalation study, intravenous infusions of ASCs from

healthy donors were well tolerated by humans with up to 4×10^6 cells/kg body weight (Perlee et al. 2018).

Clinical Application of SVF/ASCs in Aesthetic Surgery

As summarized in Table 1, there has been a remarkable increase in the utility of SVF/ASCs in plastic and cosmetic surgery, with most MSC-based clinical trials conducted for a variety of diseases at phase I and II levels. A recently published review by Chu et al. (2019) highlighted a trend of year-by-year increase in the number of clinical trials using AT-MSCs starting in 2007 and peaked with a total of 187 in 2015. Also, other reports also indicated a total of 282 registered trials in late 2018; 22 (8%) utilized SVF, with 13 (5%) progressing to advanced phases (Patrikoski et al. 2019).

Soft Tissue Reconstruction

The application of SVF/ASCs in aesthetic surgery is common in trials involving the repair of soft tissue defects (Gimble et al. 2010; Alt et al. 2019). Soft tissue reconstruction remains one of the most significant challenges in plastic surgery. Defects in soft tissue are often caused by trauma and congenital diseases, such as Romberg disease and Poland syndrome, and as sequela to oncologic treatment. Among the various techniques employed to reconstruct such defects is the transplantation of autologous AT.

In the 1990s, Coleman et al. began treating soft tissue defects using transplanted fat, and the technique has been evolving for the last two decades (Coleman 1995, 1997, 2001, 2006; Coleman and Carraway 2002; Coleman and Saboeiro 2007). The technique has revolutionized soft tissue reconstruction, albeit with unpredictable outcomes due to high graft resorption rates resulting from lack of vascularization (Klinger et al. 2015). However, the use of ASCs has improved fat grafting outcomes, mainly due to the unique properties of the cells, including the relative ease of differentiation into AT, angiogenic capacity, and the ability to express and secrete multiple growth factors (Egro and Marra 2018). Studies on the impact of ASCs on fat transplantation have been reported. These include the following: (i) in 2006, a reported demonstration of cell-assisted lipotransfer (CAL) in boosting efficacy and reducing adverse effects of lipoinjection (Matsumoto et al. 2006); (ii) Rigotti et al. (2007) demonstrated the high therapeutic effects of lipoaspirates containing ASC treatments on degenerative, chronic lesions due to oncologic radiation; and (iii) multiple studies conducted on the condensation of ASCs resulting in increased interest in using fat grafting to revitalize stem cell-depleted tissues (Kølle et al. 2013; Kuno and Yoshimura 2015; Bellini et al. 2017).

In addition to their excellent regenerative abilities, the relative homogeneity and advances in cell production technology that significantly improve the purity of ASCs are critical to the improvement of therapeutic outcomes (Mazini et al. 2019). Thus, further optimization strategies that reduce risk related to manipulation and handling will lead to ASCs playing a primary role in the regenerative medicine of the twenty-

Table 1 Selected	l previous and curr	ent AT-MSCs cell-based clin	nical studies in p	plastic and aesthetic surg	gery	
Disease	Trial phase	Cell type/route of administration	Autologous / heterologous	Mode of action	Findings	Reference /trial ID
Soft tissue regene	eration					
Secondary-	Phase I/II	ASCs/intravenous	Autologous	Homing to affected	Safe and feasible in	Fernández et al. (2018)
progressive		injections		site	patients. No significant	
multiple					changes in safety	
sclerosis					parameters	
Fingertip	Pilot study	ASCs/injection	Autologous	Regenerative	First time demonstration	Tarallo et al. (2018)
injury				potential	of the regenerative	
					potential of liposuction	
					aspirate fluid adipose-	
					derived stem cells	
Breast	Phase I/II	ASCs/injections	Autologous	Fat graft	Circumferential breast	Kamakura and Ito
augmentation				enhancement	measurement	(2011), Tiryaki et al.
					improvement and	(2011), Wang et al.
					stability on follow-up;	(2012), and Yoshimura
					cyst formation in two	et al. (2008), Davis et
					patients	al. (2020), Turner et al.
	Unknown;	ASCs/injections	Autologous	Fat graft	Single session of stem	(2020)
	staged cell-			enhancement	cell-enriched tissue	
	enriched fat				(SET) injections was	
	transplantation				safe and provides	
					superior results	
					compared to traditional	
					fat grafting	
	Unknown;	ASCs/injections	Autologous	Fat graft	Significant postoperative	
	CAL			enhancement	volume increase and	
	treatment				greatly improved	
					breasts' contour. CAL	

•	•					
Disease	Trial phase	Cell type/route of administration	Autologous / heterologous	Mode of action	Findings	Reference /trial ID
					was safe and effective for breast augmentation	
Breast augmentation revision	Phase I/II; CAL treatment	ASCs/injections	Autologous	Fat graft enhancement	Preliminary results suggest CAL was suitable for the replacement of breast implants with no complications	Yoshimura et al. (2010)
Facial lipoatrophy (Parry- Romberg syndrome)	Unknown; CAL treatment	ASCs/injections	Autologous	Angiogenic effect	CAL was promising in decreasing the rate of fat reabsorption	Castro-Govea et al. (2012)
Facial augmentation	Unknown; CAL treatment	SVF/injections	Autologous	Fat graft enhancement	Subjective patient and surgeon satisfaction of the SVF-assisted fat grafting procedure due to superior results	Lee et al. (2012b)
Wound healing						
Diabetic foot ulcer	Phase I/II	ADSC-enriched fibrin gel	Autologous	Epithelialization, angiogenesis, proliferation, and collagen matrix formation		NCT03865394

Table 1 (continued)

Rigotti et al. (2007)	Lee et al. (2012a)	NCT01211028	NCT03887208	NCT03427905	NCT03928444		Song et al. (2018)	NCT03467919	(continued)
Exhibited progressive regeneration with systematic improvement or remission of symptoms in all evaluated patients	Digital subtraction angiography showed formation of numerous vascular collateral networks across affected arteries		Scars or cutis laxa				ASCs were safe and improved pain, function, and cartilage volume of the knee joint		
Tissue regeneration	Angiogenic effect	Angiogenic effect	Tissue regeneration				Healing and regenerate cartilage-like tissue	Healing and regenerate cartilage-like tissue	
Autologous	Autologous	Autologous	Autologous	Unknown	Autologous		Autologous	Autologous	
SVF/repeated low-invasive computer- assisted injection	ASCs/intramuscular injections	ASCs/intramuscular injection	SVF/injection combined with laser therapy	Transplantation	Intradermal injection		ASCs/intra-articular injections	SVF/intra-articular injection	
Phase I/II	Pilot study	Phase I/II	Phase I/II	Unknown	Unknown	generation	Pilot study	Phase III	
Radiotherapy tissue damage	Critical limb ischemia	Critical limb ischemia	Scars or cutis laxa	Alopecia	Facial rejuvenation	Bone/cartilage rea	Osteoarthritis	Knee osteoarthritis	

		Cell type/route of	Autologous /			
ase	Trial phase	administration	heterologous	Mode of action	Findings	Reference /trial ID
e oarthritis	Phase I/II	Fat pad transplantation with ADSCs	Autologous	Regenerate cartilage-like tissue		NCT03014401
e soarthritis	Phase I/II	ASCs/intra-articular injection	Allogenic	Regenerate cartilage-like tissue		NCT02784964
ibulodynia	Unknown	ADSC transplantation via lipofilling	Unknown			NCT03431779
uted ular lage cts	Unknown	ADSC-enriched acellular dermal matrix	Autologous	Regenerate cartilage-like tissue		NCT02090140
enerative disease	Phase I	SVF/injection	Autologous	Decrease low back pain	Demonstrated strong safety profile	Comella et al. (2017)
arial nstruction	Unknown	ASCs seeded in beta- tricalcium phosphate granules	Autologous	Bone regeneration	CT scans and clinical examinations revealed satisfactory outcome in ossification	Reviewed in Banyard et al. (2015)
illa nstruction	Case report	Microvascular flap with ASCs, beta-tricalcium phosphate, and bone morphogenetic protein 2	Autologous	Bone regeneration	Successfully produced ectopic bone using autoASCs in microvascular reconstruction surgery	Mesimäki et al. (2009)

(continued)	
-	
e	
9	
Ta	

first century (Cervelli and Gentile 2009; Cervelli et al. 2013; Mazini et al. 2019). The inability to inject high volumes of fat to improve fat graft survival rates led to the concept of pre-expansion of ASCs as portrayed in the following breast reconstruction and augmentation efforts: (i) Dr. Khouri's nonsurgical breast enlargement system, Brava[™] (Khouri et al. 2000). The Brava system utilizes mechanotransduction principles to convert mechanical tension (by using low continuous vacuum distraction force to each breast) into growth-promoting signals, which creates an autologous 3D vascularized scaffold that can be used for grafting large volumes of fat. The first case series was published in 2000, and the authors showed a stable long-term increase in breast size by 55% (range, 15–115%) with no adverse events (ref). Since then, multiple studies have proven its efficacy and safety in both aesthetic and reconstructive settings. (ii) Zocchi and Zuliani (2008) published their 9-year experience of using BravaTM plus autologous fat grafting in 181 patients undergoing body contouring and/or breast augmentation (+/- reduction mammoplasty or mastopexy). The authors grafted a mean volume of 375 mL per breast with a 55% retention rate at the 1-year follow-up; (iii) Khouri et al. (2014) published a 9-year multicenter breast aesthetic experience of using BravaTM plus autologous fat grafting in 476 women. The augmentation group was grafted with a mean volume of 367 mL per breast per operation with an 80% retention rate (mean follow-up measurements taken at 9 months), and (iv) Khouri et al. (2015) also published a 7-year multicenter experience of using this technology to reconstruct the breasts of 488 women. The authors grafted a mean volume of 225 mL per breast per operation, leading to a mean breast mound volume of 375 mL per breast, but no graft retention data were presented. Compared to CAL or autologous fat grafting alone, the retention rates (78-80%) for the example presented by Khouri et al. are much higher (Khouri et al. 2014; Khouri et al. 2015). However, these studies lacked control groups to truly assess the impact of pre-expansion. Therefore, the favorable outcomes and high retention rates still require further investigation. Furthermore, randomized controlled studies are still lacking in the literature, and fundamental questions still need to be addressed.

Use of ASCs in Re-contouring Depressed Facial Lesions

In 2016, our group at the Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, University of the Ryukyus Hospital, conducted a clinical trial using cultureexpanded ASCs to re-contour patients with depressed scars first time in Japan (Ntege et al. 2020). Our trial, a regenerative medicine provision plan (PB7150007) dubbed "Examination of treatment method for depressed lesions using cultured adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ADSCs)," was examined by a certified special committee for regenerative medicine and accepted by the Health and Welfare Bureau of MHLW (Examination of regenerative medicine provision plan records: https://japsam.or.jp/nintei/files/records/record-2018-02-20-nagoya.pdf). This was an investigator-driven, open-label, non-randomized, uncontrolled, phase I/II interventional study, which utilized the existing cell processing facility (CPF) at the University. The CPF was cGMP licensed under the guidance of PMDA and MHLW and employed highly skilled technical and clinical specialties to process and for clinical application of ASCs. The trial was registered, approved, and conducted according to the local and international guidelines regulating the conduct of trials in human participants as described (Ntege et al. 2020). The trial recruited a maximum of 11 patients based on the underlying treatment concept and promising preclinical and clinical safety and efficacy data regarding the use of ASCs in treating a wide range of conditions. Participation was based on the following inclusion criteria: (a) age of 10 years and above male or female patients; (b) having a congenital or acquired depressed lesion indicated for fat grafting, including breast deficit as sequelae of breast cancer, traumatic tissue defects, hemifacial atrophy, facial muscle atrophy due to palsy, enophthalmos, and funnel chest; (c) depressed lesions with indications of secondary revision surgery and fat grafting; (d) cases of secondary revision surgery should have been due 3 months post-primary surgery; (e) willingness to provide informed consent; (f) history of at least 10 years of no serial illnesses: (g) willingness to live in Okinawa Prefecture at least 6 months following treatment; and, finally, (h) potentially eligible patients participating in another ASC study regarding, in particular, the development of an extraction system of safe and good-quality adipose-derived stem cells. The trial excluded patients who were pregnant, at risk of recurrence or metastasis of a malignant tumor, and under anti-cancer agent or immunosuppressive agent treatment or those who had local infections in or near the depressed lesion. The recruited patients who presented with depressed facial scars due to a wide range of causes, such as cancer treatment and Parry-Romberg syndrome, were treated and followed up according to the study protocol. Informed consent for the treatment and publication of outcomes was obtained from the patients before any procedures. The clinical evaluation of the therapeutic effects of ASCs was based on patient clinical assessments and interviews, as well as radiological and standard photographic investigations, including computed tomography scans for volumetric changes taken before and after treatment. Data on the aesthetic improvement of each trial subject and overall satisfaction were ranked from 1 to 10 (Table 2). The ASC treatment of facial defects followed standard techniques as described previously (Bellini et al. 2017). These included (1) harvesting of AT from a suitable donor site; (2) processing the lipoaspirate to eliminate cellular debris, acellular oil, and excess infiltrated solution followed by the production of ASCs; and (3) reinjection of the purified AT. Briefly, a small amount of fat was harvested in the University Hospital Surgery Theatres and aseptically transferred to the CPF for isolation and expansion of ASCs before injection into the depressed lesions, as reported elsewhere (Lewis 1991; Coleman 2006; Pu et al. 2008). The trial's anticipated outcomes included re-contouring assessment, cyst formation, incidence, severity, and duration of any other adverse events following 1 week and 1, 3, and 6 months after treatment.

In the present study, we present a report on the preliminary survey results for the first five trial subjects with mainly subjective patient and surgeon satisfaction level scores of the ASC treatment procedures summarized in Table 2. In particular, a case represented in Fig. 1 was a patient with malar deformity following treatment of maxillary sinus carcinoma. Overall, the findings suggested that the depressed scars

Table 2 Preli	minary findings of a clinical study for t	the treatmer	t of depressed facial lesions using a	ASCs		
Patient age		Body		Obtained and	Aesthetic	Level of
(years)/		mass	Fat harvest procedure, amount,	utilized no. of ASCs	improvement	patient
gender	Presentation	index	and site	(per ML)	score	satisfaction
75/male	Right malar defect following	26.8	Excision, 24.2 g, lower left	$2.0 imes 10^7$	10	10
	maxillary tumor resection and radiotherapy		abdomen			
12/male	Right temporal facial depression	18	Lipoaspiration, 9.9 g, lateral	$2.0 imes 10^8$	8	6
	after cranial base tumor resection		side of the thigh			
42/male	Left post-scleroderma cheek	21.2	Lipoaspiration, 14.8 g, upper	$1.85 imes 10^8$	8	8
	depression		and lower abdomen			
65/female	Left hemifacial atrophy due to	21.4	Lipoaspiration, 36.6 g, lower	$8.4 imes10^7$	6	10
	Parry-Romberg syndrome		abdomen			
65/female	Right temporal and forehead	23.8	Lipoaspiration, 65.7 g, upper	$7.2 imes 10^7$	6	10
	depression after cranial tumor		and bilateral aspects of the			
	resection		abdomen			

•	∢
•	using
	lesions
	_
•	cla
\$	Įą
•	~
	depressec
•	Ű.
	5
	treatment
	the
	$\overline{10}$
	study
•	ਛ
•	Ë
	Ξ
	ပ စ
	5
	dings (
	ğ
ç	₽ >
	eliminar
4	£
•	N
	lable



Fig. 1 Patient presenting malar deformity following a resected maxillary sinus carcinoma and treated using ASCs. (a) Preoperative image showing the malar deformity. (b) Two and half years of postoperative follow-up image shows a satisfactory outcome of a near-normal contour line. (*Reproduced with permission of the copyright to* Ntege et al. 2020)

were re-contoured to the patients' satisfaction, and no SAEs were reported even after 2.5 years of follow-up. These data represent the first milestone in the clinical evaluation of repairing soft tissue defects with fat grafts combined with culture-expanded ASCs in Japan. Fat grafts play an essential role in treating depressed or altered scars and other surgical problems (Bellini et al. 2017). Our trial experiences are in agreement with previous research findings (Raposio et al. 2017) and included challenges particularly related to the high cost of clinical-grade ASC production and sustainability of the GMP facility, the long time required to process and prepare cells for transplantation (3–5 weeks), and the variability in the autologous ASC product and use of biological reagents likely to influence clinical outcomes.

ASCs in Wound Healing

ASC cell therapy is gaining a prominent role in the future of wound healing. Although only a few clinical trials have been reported, the findings are promising and seem to suggest that ASCs in wound healing are effective and safe in the early stages (Bertozzi et al. 2017). Wound healing is a complex process involving inflammation, epithelialization, angiogenesis, proliferation, and collagen matrix formation. The process is carried out and regulated by numerous growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines, such as TGF- β ; VEGF; PDGF; granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), also known as colony-stimulating factor 2 (CSF2); the IL family; EGF; FGF; and TNF- α . The healing process's main obstacle is the reduction in the cytokines released by local inflammatory cells and decreased vascularization. Emerging evidence shows that ASCs effectively treat acute and chronic wounds even in clinical settings, but the exact mechanism of action is still under investigation. ASCs reportedly initiate or enhance tissue regeneration through two main

mechanisms, either by differentiation into skin cells or by secretion of paracrine factors that downregulate the inflammatory response (Ankrum et al. 2014). The primary mechanism is thought to be paracrine secretion, which leads to the subsequent differentiation of stem cells into endothelial cells, fibroblasts, or keratinocytes. Moreover, ASCs may modulate the "stem cell niche" by stimulating the recruitment of endogenous stem cells and promoting their differentiation along the required lineage pathway. ASCs also possess antioxidant effects during wound healing.

Published reports have exhibited encouraging results from the use of ASCs in treating chronic skin ulcers that often accompany peripheral artery disease, such as critical limb ischemia (CLI) (Marino et al. 2013; Bertozzi et al. 2017). Such chronic skin ulcers may not heal even after successful revascularization and often require special treatment. Moreover, several studies have adopted an approach based on the concept of improving the vascularization of ischemic limbs so that perfusion increases sufficiently to promote wound healing, reduces pain at rest, and allows limb salvation (Lawall et al. 2010). In these studies, ASCs were delivered mainly using multiple intramuscular injections and intra-arterial or intravenous administration. After cell implantation, perfusion was increased in the treated limbs, as confirmed by improvements in the ankle-brachial index, transcutaneous oxygen measurement (TCOM or TcPO₂), rest pain, and pain-free walking distance, with a reduction in amputation rates. Furthermore, Raposio et al. unpublished pilot study successfully treated seven patients presenting with ischemic ulcers of the lower limb with topical ASC administration. All patients were affected by either diabetes, peripheral artery disease, or both and were candidates for amputation. All patients were completely healed, with or without undergoing percutaneous transluminal angioplasty, and, hence, avoided limb amputation.

Moreover, both laser Doppler flowmetry and $TcpO_2$ values showed perilesional improvements in oxygenation and perfusion during the follow-up, validating the effectiveness of ASCs in inducing angiogenesis. The same group also reported successful treatment of 21 CLI cases using a combination of ASCs and PRP. Compared with the 31 CLI patients in the control group treated using standard wound care, the experimental group showed a significantly higher wound closure rate, resulting in faster recovery. In 2007, Rigotti et al. also demonstrated for the first time the ability of AT-MSCs as a means of regenerating the sequels of radiotherapy. The team showed that an injection of AT in severe radiation lesions (Late Effects Normal Tissue Task Force-Subjective, Objective, Management, Analytic (LENT-SOMA) scores 3 and 4) in 20 patients permitted angiogenesis and improved tissue hydration. Using this technique, regeneration of the radiation dermatitis zone was observed, which enabled simple reconstructions by split skin grafting instead of the usual, more debilitating reconstructions (Rigotti et al. 2007). By producing trophic support, the MSCs facilitated angiogenesis and reduced tissue inflammation achieving the desired clinical success (Shukla et al. 2015). Daumas et al. also successfully applied this treatment to patients who have scleroderma, an autoimmune pathology leading to tissue fibrosis and microangiopathy clinically referred to as Raynaud syndrome (Daumas et al. 2013).

Bone Reconstruction

Although fractures heal without complications, it is estimated that up to 10% may result in delayed or non-union (Thomas and Kehoe 2020). Besides, bone defects caused by traumatic and non-traumatic events such as infection, tumor resection, and skeletal abnormalities may not heal if the defect is large and the biological and mechanical environments are unfavorable (Giannoudis et al. 2007). Bone regeneration is a complex physiological process that is involved in continuous remodelling throughout adulthood. However, bone regeneration in such complex defects is sometimes challenging (Tajima et al. 2018).

Consequently, several techniques have been developed to reconstruct bony defects, including autografts, allografts, xenografts, and alloplasts. Although each technique has limitations, an autograft is considered the gold standard for treating non-unions, bone defects, and other causes of localized deficiencies in bone stock regardless (Campana et al. 2014). Autografts may be insufficient in treating bone union or healing of a large bone defect partly because of a lack of viable cells for osteogenesis and paracrine signalling that can sufficiently simulate the bone microenvironment (Fillingham and Jacobs 2016; Lee et al. 2019). ASCs can improve the efficacy of autografts through their demonstrated differentiation abilities toward the osteogenic lineage in vitro and great potential for bone regeneration in vivo (Mizuno et al. 2012). In addition, ASCs have been found to secrete many kinds of growth factors for tissue regeneration (Blaber et al. 2012). Experimental procedures based on ASCs have been on the rise, leading to increased amount of scientific data on ASCs and an extremely wide number of preclinical studies confirming their bone regenerative potential in vivo. Nonetheless, only a few controlled clinical trials aimed at assessing the efficacy and safety of ASCs in patients with bone-related disorders have been concluded and published, and only a few others are currently being carried out (Table 1).

Cross-References

- ► Advances, Opportunities, and Challenges in Stem Cell-Based Therapy
- Considerations for Clinical Use of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells
- ► Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Art to Use Them in the Treatment of Previously Untreatable
- ▶ Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for COVID-19 Critical Care Patients
- Sources and Therapeutic Strategies of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

References

- Afanasyev BV, Elstner EE, Zander AR (2009) AJ Friedenstein, founder of the mesenchymal stem cell concept. Cell Ther Transplant 1(3):35–38
- Alharbi Z, Opländer C, Almakadi S, Fritz A, Vogt M, Pallua N (2013) Conventional vs micro-fat harvesting: how fat harvesting technique affects tissue-engineering approaches using adipose tissue-derived stem/stromal cells. J Plast Reconstr Aesthetic Surg 66(9):1271–1278

- Alt EU, Schmitz C, Bai X (2019) Fundamentals of stem cells: why and how patients' own adult stem cells are the next generation of medicine. In: Trafny T, Spiri S (eds) Bioethics and research on adult stem cells. IF Press Pontifical Council for Culture, Rome, Italy. in press
- Alt EU, Winnier G, Haenel A, Rothoerl R, Solakoglu O, Alt C, Schmitz C (2020) Towards a comprehensive understanding of UA-ADRCs (uncultured, autologous, fresh, unmodified, adipose derived regenerative cells, isolated at point of care) in regenerative medicine. Cell 9(5):1097
- Ankrum JA, Ong JF, Karp JM (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells: immune evasive, not immune privileged. Nat Biotech 32(3):252
- Aronowitz JA, Ellenhorn JD (2013) Adipose stromal vascular fraction isolation: a head-to-head comparison of four commercial cell separation systems. Plast Reconstr Surg 132(6):932e–939e. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e3182a80652
- Atesok K, Fu FH, Sekiya I, Stolzing A, Ochi M, Rodeo SA (2017) Stem cells in degenerative orthopaedic pathologies: effects of aging on therapeutic potential. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA 25(2):626–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-015-3763-9
- Azuma K (2015) Regulatory landscape of regenerative medicine in Japan. Current Stem Cell Rep 1(2):118–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40778-015-0012-6
- Bai X, Yan Y, Coleman M, Wu G, Rabinovich B, Seidensticker M, Alt E (2011) Tracking long-term survival of intramyocardially delivered human adipose tissue-derived stem cells using bioluminescence imaging. Mol Imaging Biol 13(4):633–645
- Banyard DA, Salibian AA, Widgerow AD, Evans GR (2015) Implications for human adiposederived stem cells in plastic surgery. J Cell Mol Med 19(1):21–30
- Bellini E, Grieco MP, Raposio E (2017) The science behind autologous fat grafting. Ann Med Surg 24:65–73
- Bertozzi N, Simonacci F, Grieco MP, Grignaffini E, Raposio E (2017) The biological and clinical basis for the use of adipose-derived stem cells in the field of wound healing. Ann Med Surg 20:41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2017.06.058
- Blaber SP, Webster RA, Hill CJ, Breen EJ, Kuah D, Vesey G, Herbert BR (2012) Analysis of in vitro secretion profiles from adipose-derived cell populations. J Transl Med 10:172. https://doi. org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-172
- Borakati A, Mafi R, Mafi P, Khan WS (2018) A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for cartilage repair. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 13(3): 215–225
- Bourin P, Bunnell BA, Casteilla L, Dominici M, Katz AJ, March KL, Redl H et al (2013) Stromal cells from the adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: a joint statement of the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). Cytotherapy 15(6):641–648
- Bustos ML, Huleihel L, Kapetanaki MG, Lino-Cardenas CL, Mroz L, Ellis BM, McVerry BJ et al (2014) Aging mesenchymal stem cells fail to protect because of impaired migration and antiinflammatory response. Am J Resp Crit Care Med 189(7):787–798
- Campana V, Milano G, Pagano E, Barba M, Cicione C, Salonna G, Lattanzi W, Logroscino G (2014) Bone substitutes in orthopaedic surgery: from basic science to clinical practice. J Mater Sci. Mater Med 25(10):2445–2461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-014-5240-2
- Caplan AI (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: time to change the name! Stem Cells Transl Med 6(6): 1445–1451
- Caplan AI (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine. In: Principles of regen med. Academic Press, pp 219–227
- Caplan AI, Dennis JE (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J Cell Biochem 98(5): 1076–1084
- Castro-Govea Y, De La Garza-Pineda O, Lara-Arias J, Chacón-Martínez H, Mecott-Rivera G, Salazar-Lozano A, Valdes-Flores E (2012) Cell-assisted lipotransfer for the treatment of parry-romberg syndrome. Arch Plastic Surg 39(6):659
- Cervelli V, Gentile P (2009) Use of cell fat mixed with platelet gel in progressive hemifacial atrophy. Aesthetic Plastic Surg 33(1):22–27

- Cervelli V, Bocchini I, Di Pasquali C, De Angelis B, Cervelli G, Curcio CB, Orlandi A et al (2013) PRL platelet rich lipotransfert: our experience and current state of art in the combined use of fat and PRP. Biomed Res Int 2013(434191):2013
- Chambers SM, Shaw CA, Gatza C, Fisk CJ, Donehower LA, Goodell MA (2007) Aging hematopoietic stem cells decline in function and exhibit epigenetic dysregulation. PLoS Biol 5(8):e201
- Chen Y, Tang L (2019) Stem cell senescence: the obstacle of the treatment of degenerative disk disease. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 14(8):654–668
- Choudhery MS, Badowski M, Muise A, Pierce J, Harris DT (2014) Cryopreservation of whole adipose tissue for future use in regenerative medicine. J Surg Res 187(1):24–35
- Chu DT, Nguyen Thi Phuong T, Tien NLB, Tran DK, Minh LB, Thanh VV, Anh G et al (2019) Adipose tissue stem cells for therapy: an update on the progress of isolation, culture, storage, and clinical application. J Clin Med 8(7):917
- Coelho M, Oliveira T, Fernandes R (2013) Biochemistry of adipose tissue: an endocrine organ. Arch Med Sci 9(2):191
- Cohen SR, Tiryaki T, Womack HA, Canikyan S, Schlaudraff KU, Scheflan M (2019) Cellular optimization of nanofat: comparison of two nanofat processing devices in terms of cell count and viability. In: Aesthetic surgery journal open forum, vol 1(4). Oxford University Press, p ojz028
- Coleman SR (1995) Long-term survival of fat transplants: controlled demonstrations. Aesthetic Plast Surg 19(5):421–425
- Coleman SR (1997) Facial recontouring with lipostructure. Clin Plast Surg 24(2):347-367
- Coleman SR (2001) Structural fat grafts: the ideal filler? Clin Plast Surg 28(1):111-119
- Coleman SR (2006) Structural fat grafting: more than a permanent filler. Plast Reconstr Surg 118(3S):108S-120S
- Coleman SR, Carraway JH (2002) Hand rejuvenation with structural fat grafting. Plast Reconstr Surg 110(7):1731–1744
- Coleman SR, Saboeiro AP (2007) Fat grafting to the breast revisited: safety and efficacy. Plast Reconstr Surg 119(3):775–785
- Comella K, Silbert R, Parlo M (2017) Effects of the intradiscal implantation of stromal vascular fraction plus platelet rich plasma in patients with degenerative disc disease. J Transl Med 15(1): 1–8
- Cousin B, Ravet E, Poglio S, De Toni F, Bertuzzi M, Lulka H, Touil I et al (2009) Adult stromal cells derived from human adipose tissue provoke pancreatic cancer cell death both in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One 4(7):e6278
- Cyranoski D (2010) Korean deaths spark inquiry: cases highlight the challenge of policing multinational trade in stem-cell treatments. Nature 468(7323):485–486
- Daley GQ, Hyun I, Apperley JF, Barker RA, Benvenisty N, Bredenoord AL, Breuer CK et al (2016) Setting global standards for stem cell research and clinical translation: the 2016 ISSCR guidelines. Stem Cell Rep 6(6):787–797
- Daumas A, Eraud J, Hautier A, Sabatier F, Magalon G, Granel B (2013) Interests and potentials of adipose tissue in scleroderma. La Revue de Medecine Interne 34(12):763–769
- Davis MJ, Perdanasari AT, Abu-Ghname A, Gonzalez SR, Chamata E, Rammos CK, Winocour SJ (2020) Application of fat grafting in cosmetic breast surgery. Semin Plast Surg 34(1):24–29. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0039-1700958
- De Luca M, Aiuti A, Cossu G, Parmar M, Pellegrini G, Robey PG (2019) Advances in stem cell research and therapeutic development. Nat Cell Biol 21(7):801–811
- Dominici MLBK, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Krause DS, Deans RJ, Keating A, Prockop DJ, Horwitz EM (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317
- Egro F, Marra KG (2018) Soft tissue reconstruction. In: Bunnell BA, Gimble JM (eds) Adiposederived stem cells. Methods in Molecular Biology, vol 1773. Humana Press, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7799-4 17

- El-Sabbagh AH (2017) Modern trends in lipomodeling. GMS Interdiscip Plast Reconstr Surg DGPW 6
- Fernández O, Izquierdo G, Fernández V, Leyva L, Reyes V, Guerrero M, León A et al (2018) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AdMSC) for the treatment of secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis: a triple blinded, placebo controlled, randomized phase I/II safety and feasibility study. PloS one 13(5):e0195891
- Fillingham Y, Jacobs J (2016) Bone grafts and their substitutes. Bone Joint J 98-B(1 Suppl A):6–9. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.98B.36350
- Frese L, Dijkman PE, Hoerstrup SP (2016) Adipose tissue-derived stem cells in regenerative medicine. Transfus Med Hemother 43(4):268–274
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina K (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Prolif 3(4):393–403
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues: cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 17(4):331–340
- Galipeau J, Sensébé L (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells: clinical challenges and therapeutic opportunities. Cell Stem Cell 22(6):824–833
- Garcia-Olmo D, Herreros D, Pascual I, Pascual JA, Del-Valle E, Zorrilla J, De-La-Quintana P, Garcia-Arranz M, Pascual M (2009) Expanded adipose-derived stem cells for the treatment of complex perianal fistula: a phase II clinical trial. Dis Colon Rectum 52(1):79–86. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/DCR.0b013e3181973487
- Gentile P (2019) Autologous cellular method using micrografts of human adipose tissue derived follicle stem cells in androgenic alopecia. Int J Mol Sci 20(14):3446
- Gentile P, Garcovich S (2019) Concise review: adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) and adipocytesecreted exosomal microRNA (A-SE-miR) modulate cancer growth and promote wound repair. J Clin Med 8(6):855
- Gentile P, De Angelis B, Pasin M, Cervelli G, Curcio CB, Floris M, Di Pasquali C et al (2014) Adipose-derived stromal vascular fraction cells and platelet-rich plasma: basic and clinical evaluation for cell-based therapies in patients with scars on the face. J Craniofac Surg 25(1): 267–272
- Gentile P, Sterodimas A, Pizzicannella J, Dionisi L, De Fazio D, Calabrese C, Garcovich S (2020) Systematic review: allogenic use of Stromal Vascular Fraction (SVF) and Decellularized Extracellular Matrices (ECM) as Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products (ATMP) in tissue regeneration. Int J Mol Sci 21(14):4982
- Giannoudis PV, Einhorn TA, Marsh D (2007) Fracture healing: the diamond concept. Injury 38(Suppl 4):S3–S6. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0020-1383(08)70003-2
- Giannoudis P, Jones E, Yang X, McGonagle D (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells and skeletal regeneration. Acadeemic Press
- Gimble JM, Guilak F, Bunnell BA (2010) Clinical and preclinical translation of cell-based therapies using adipose tissue-derived cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 1(2):19
- Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA (2007) Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res 100(9):1249–1260
- Gir P, Oni G, Brown SA, Mojallal A, Rohrich RJ (2012) Human adipose stem cells: current clinical applications. Plast Reconstr Surg 129(6):1277–1290
- Glass GE, Ferretti P (2019) Adipose-derived stem cells in aesthetic surgery. Aesthetic Surg J 39(4): 423–438
- Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ (2008) Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy. Circ Res 103(11):1204–1219. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.176826
- Gnecchi M, Danieli P, Malpasso G, Ciuffreda MC (2016) Paracrine mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue repair. In: Mesenchymal stem cells. Humana Press, New York, NY, pp 123–146
- Granel B, Daumas A, Jouve E, Harlé JR, Nguyen PS, Chabannon C, Colavolpe N (2015) Safety, tolerability and potential efficacy of injection of autologous adipose-derived stromal vascular

fraction in the fingers of patients with systemic sclerosis: an open-label phase I trial. Ann Rheum Dis 74(12):2175–2182

- Grimes BR, Steiner CM, Merfeld-Clauss S, Traktuev DO, Smith D, Reese A, Breman AM (2009) Interphase FISH demonstrates that human adipose stromal cells maintain a high level of genomic stability in long-term culture. Stem Cells Dev 18(5):717–724
- Groen JW, Negenborn VL, Twisk DJWR, Rizopoulos D, Ket JCF, Smit JM, Mullender MG (2016) Autologous fat grafting in onco-plastic breast reconstruction: a systematic review on oncological and radiological safety, complications, volume retention and patient/surgeon satisfaction. J Plast Reconstr Aesthetic Surg 69(6):742–764
- Haenel A, Ghosn M, Karimi T, Vykoukal J, Shah D, Valderrabano M, Schulz DG et al (2019) Unmodified autologous stem cells at point of care for chronic myocardial infarction. World J Stem Cells 11(10):831
- Halme DG, Kessler DA (2006) FDA regulation of stem-cell-based therapies. N Engl J Med 355(16):1730
- Hara A, Sato D, Sahara Y (2014) New governmental regulatory system for stem cell—based therapies in Japan. Ther Innov Regul Sci 48(6):681–688. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2168479014526877
- Hong P, Yang H, Wu Y, Li K, Tang Z (2019) The functions and clinical application potential of exosomes derived from adipose mesenchymal stem cells: a comprehensive review. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):242. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1358-y
- Izadpanah R, Kaushal D, Kriedt C, Tsien F, Patel B, Dufour J, Bunnell BA (2008) Long-term in vitro expansion alters the biology of adult mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res 68(11): 4229–4238
- Johal KS, Lees VC, Reid AJ (2015) Adipose-derived stem cells: selecting for translational success. Regen Med 10(1):79–96
- Jokura Y, Yano K, Yamato M (2018) Comparison of the new Japanese legislation for expedited approval of regenerative medicine products with the existing systems in the USA and European Union. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 12(2):e1056–e1062. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2428
- Kang SK, Putnam LA, Ylostalo J, Popescu IR, Dufour J, Belousov A, Bunnell BA (2004) Neurogenesis of rhesus adipose stromal cells. J Cell Sci 117(18):4289–4299
- Kamakura T, Ito K (2011) Autologous cell-enriched fat grafting for breast augmentation. Aesthetic Plast Surg 35(6):1022–1030
- Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, Richardson AL et al (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature 449(7162):557–563
- Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Klüter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24(5): 1294–1301
- Khouri RK et al (2000) Nonsurgical breast enlargement using an external soft-tissue expansion system. Plast Reconstr Surg 105(7):2500–2512; discussion 2513–2514
- Khouri RK et al (2014) Aesthetic applications of Brava-assisted megavolume fat grafting to the breasts: a 9-year, 476-patient, multicenter experience. Plast Reconstr Surg 133(4):796–807; discussion 808–809
- Khouri RK et al (2015) Tissue-engineered breast reconstruction with Brava-assisted fat grafting: a 7-year, 488-patient, multicenter experience. Plast Reconstr Surg 135(3):643–658
- Kim DS, Lee MW, Ko YJ, Chun YH, Kim HJ, Sung KW, Koo HH et al (2016) Cell culture density affects the proliferation activity of human adipose tissue stem cells. Cell Biochem Funct 34(1): 16–24
- Kim M, Kim C, Choi YS, Kim M, Park C, Suh Y (2012a) Age-related alterations in mesenchymal stem cells related to shift in differentiation from osteogenic to adipogenic potential: implication to age-associated bone diseases and defects. Mech Ageing Dev 133(5):215–225
- Kim YJ, Hwang SH, Lee SY, Shin KK, Cho HH, Bae YC, Jung JS (2012b) miR-486-5p induces replicative senescence of human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells and its

expression is controlled by high glucose. Stem Cells Develop 21(10):1749–1760. https://doi. org/10.1089/scd.2011.0429

- Klinger M, Lisa A, Klinger F, Giannasi S, Veronesi A, Banzatti B, Band V et al (2015) Regenerative approach to scars, ulcers and related problems with fat grafting. Clin Plast Surg 42(3):345–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cps.2015.03.008
- Kokai LE, Marra K, Rubin JP (2014) Adipose stem cells: biology and clinical applications for tissue repair and regeneration. Transl Res J Labor Clin Med 163(4):399–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. trsl.2013.11.009
- Kølle SFT, Fischer-Nielsen A, Mathiasen AB, Elberg JJ, Oliveri RS, Glovinski PV, Kastrup J et al (2013) Enrichment of autologous fat grafts with ex-vivo expanded adipose tissuederived stem cells for graft survival: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 382(9898):1113–1120
- Konomi K, Tobita M, Kimura K, Sato D (2015) New Japanese initiatives on stem cell therapies. Cell Stem Cell 16(4):350–352
- Kuno S, Yoshimura K (2015) Condensation of tissue and stem cells for fat grafting. Clin Plastic Surg 42(2):191–197
- Kupcova Skalnikova H (2013) Proteomic techniques for characterisation of mesenchymal stem cell secretome. Biochimie 95(12):2196–2211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2013.07.015
- Latief N, Raza FA, Bhatti FUR, Tarar MN, Khan SN, Riazuddin S (2016) Adipose stem cells differentiated chondrocytes regenerate damaged cartilage in rat model of osteoarthritis. Cell Biol Int 40(5):579–588
- Lawall H, Bramlage P, Amann B (2010) Stem cell and progenitor cell therapy in peripheral artery disease. Thromb Hemost 103(04):696–709
- Lee HC, An SG, Lee HW, Park JS, Cha KS, Hong TJ, Park JH et al (2012a) Safety and effect of adipose tissue-derived stem cell implantation in patients with critical limb ischemia. Circ J 76(7):1750–1760
- Lee SK, Kim DW, Dhong ES, Park SH, Yoon ES (2012b) Facial soft tissue augmentation using autologous fat mixed with stromal vascular fraction. Arch Plast Surg 39(5):534
- Lee SW, Min SO, Bak SY, Hwang HK, Kim KS (2015) Efficient endodermal induction of human adipose stem cells using various concentrations of Activin A for hepatic differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Comm 464(4):1178–1184
- Lee CC, Hirasawa N, Garcia KG, Ramanathan D, Kim KD (2019) Stem and progenitor cell microenvironment for bone regeneration and repair. Regen Med 14:693–702. https://doi.org/ 10.2217/rme-2018-0044
- Lewis CM (1991) Comparison of the syringe and pump aspiration methods of lipoplasty. Aesthetic Plast Surg 15(3):203–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02273858
- Li J, Zhu L, Qu X, Li J, Lin R, Liao L, Wang J, Wang S, Xu Q, Zhao RC (2013) Stepwise differentiation of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells toward definitive endoderm and pancreatic progenitor cells by mimicking pancreatic development in vivo. Stem Cells Develop 22(10):1576–1587. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0148
- Lopa S, Colombini A, Moretti M, de Girolamo L (2019) Injective mesenchymal stem cell-based treatments for knee osteoarthritis: from mechanisms of action to current clinical evidences. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 27(6):2003–2020
- Lv FJ, Tuan RS, Cheung KM, Leung VY (2014) Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 32(6):1408–1419
- Marino G, Moraci M, Armenia E, Orabona C, Sergio R, De Sena G, Capuozzo V (2013) Therapy with autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells for the care of chronic ulcer of lower limbs in patients with peripheral arterial disease. J Surg Res 185(1):36–44
- Marti J, Anton E, Valenti C (2004) Complications of bone marrow biopsy. Br J Hematol 124: 557–558
- Matsumoto D, Sato K, Gonda K, Takaki Y, Shigeura T, Sato T, Aiba-Kojima E et al (2006) Cellassisted lipotransfer: supportive use of human adipose-derived cells for soft tissue augmentation with lipoinjection. Tissue Eng 12(12):3375–3382

- Maumus M, Peyrafitte JA, d'Angelo R, Fournier-Wirth C, Bouloumié A, Casteilla L, Sengenès C (2011) Native human adipose stromal cells: localization, morphology and phenotype. Int J Obes 35(9):1141–1153
- Mazini L, Rochette L, Amine M, Malka G (2019) Regenerative capacity of adipose derived stem cells (ADSCs), comparison with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Int J Mol Sci 20(10):2523
- Mesimäki K, Lindroos B, Törnwall J, Mauno J, Lindqvist C, Kontio R, Miettinen S, Suuronen R (2009) Novel maxillary reconstruction with ectopic bone formation by GMP adipose stem cells. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 38(3):201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijom.2009.01.001
- Miyagi-Shiohira C, Kurima K, Kobayashi N, Saitoh I, Watanabe M, Noguchi Y, Matsushita M et al (2015) Cryopreservation of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Med 8(1–2):3–7
- Mizuno H, Tobita M, Uysal AC (2012) Concise review: adipose-derived stem cells as a novel tool for future regenerative medicine. Stem Cells 30(5):804–810
- Moll G, Ankrum JA, Kamhieh-Milz J, Bieback K, Ringdén O, Volk HD, Geissler S, Reinke P (2019) Intravascular mesenchymal stromal/stem cell therapy product diversification: time for new clinical guidelines. Trends Mol Med 25(2):149–163
- Moroni L, Fornasari PM (2013) Human mesenchymal stem cells: a bank perspective on the isolation, characterization and potential of alternative sources for the regeneration of musculoskeletal tissues. Cell Physiol 228(4):680–687
- Muehlberg FL, Song YH, Krohn A, Pinilla SP, Droll LH, Leng X, Seidensticker M et al (2009) Tissue-resident stem cells promote breast cancer growth and metastasis. Carcinogenesis 30(4): 589–597
- Murphy MB, Moncivais K, Caplan AI (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells: environmentally responsive therapeutics for regenerative medicine. Exp Mol Med 45(11):e54–e54
- Mushahary D, Spittler A, Kasper C, Weber V, Charwat V (2018) Isolation, cultivation, and characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cytometry A 93(1):19–31
- Neri S, Guidotti S, Lilli NL, Cattini L, Mariani E (2017) Infrapatellar fat pad-derived mesenchymal stromal cells from osteoarthritis patients: in vitro genetic stability and replicative senescence. J Ortho Res 35(5):1029–1037
- Ntege EH, Sunami H, Shimizu Y (2020) Advances in regenerative therapy: a review of the literature and future directions. Regen Ther 14:136–153
- Ojeh N, Pastar I, Tomic-Canic M, Stojadinovic O (2015) Stem cells in skin regeneration, wound healing, and their clinical applications. Int J Mol Sci 16(10):25476–25501
- Oranges CM, Striebel J, Tremp M, Madduri S, Kalbermatten DF, Harder Y, Schaefer DJ (2019) The preparation of the recipient site in fat grafting: a comprehensive review of the preclinical evidence. Plast Reconstr Surg 143(4):1099–1107
- Pachón-Peña G, Yu G, Tucker A, Wu X, Vendrell J, Bunnell BA, Gimble JM (2011) Stromal stem cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow of age-matched female donors display distinct immunophenotypic profiles. J Cell Physiol 226(3):843–851
- Park CW, Kim KS, Bae S, Son HK, Myung PK, Hong HJ, Kim H (2009) Cytokine secretion profiling of human mesenchymal stem cells by antibody array. Int J Stem Cells 2(1):59–68. https://doi.org/10.15283/ijsc.2009.2.1.59
- Patrikoski M, Mannerström B, Miettinen S (2019) Perspectives for clinical translation of adipose stromal/stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2019
- Perlee D, van Vught LA, Scicluna BP, Maag A, Lutter R, Kemper EM, van't Veer C et al (2018) Intravenous infusion of human adipose mesenchymal stem cells modifies the host response to lipopolysaccharide in humans: a randomized, single-blind, parallel group, placebo controlled trial. Stem Cells 36(11):1778–1788
- Pu LL, Coleman SR, Cui X, Ferguson RE Jr, Vasconez HC (2008) Autologous fat grafts harvested and refined by the Coleman technique: a comparative study. Plast Reconstr 122(3):932–937
- Raposio E, Caruana G, Bonomini S, Libondi G (2014) A novel and effective strategy for the isolation of adipose-derived stem cells: minimally manipulated adipose-derived stem cells for more rapid and safe stem cell therapy. Plast Reconstr Surg 133(6):1406–1409

- Raposio E, Simonacci F, Perrotta RE (2017) Adipose-derived stem cells: comparison between two methods of isolation for clinical applications. Ann Med Surg 20:87–91
- Ratajczak MZ, Zuba-Surma E, Wojakowski W, Suszynska M, Mierzejewska K, Liu R, Ratajczak J et al (2014) Very small embryonic-like stem cells (VSELs) represent a real challenge in stem cell biology: recent pros and cons in the midst of a lively debate. Leukemia 28(3):473–484
- Rigotti G, Marchi A, Galie M, Baroni G, Benati D, Krampera M, Pasini A et al (2007) Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue damage by lipoaspirate transplant: a healing process mediated by adipose-derived adult stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg 119(5):1409–1422
- Riss TL, Moravec RA, Niles AL, Duellman S, Benink HA, Worzella TJ, Minor L (2016) Cell viability assays. In: Assay guidance manual (Internet). Eli Lilly & Company and the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences
- Robey P (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: fact or fiction, and implications in their therapeutic use. F1000Research 6
- Rodbell M (1964) Localization of lipoprotein lipase in fat cells of rat adipose tissue. J Biol Chem 239(3):753–755
- Rubio D, Garcia-Castro J, Martín MC, de la Fuente R, Cigudosa JC, Lloyd AC, Bernad A (2005) Spontaneous human adult stem cell transformation. Cancer Res 65(8):3035–3039
- Salgado AJ, Reis RL, Sousa NJ, Gimble JM (2010) Adipose tissue derived stem cells secretome: soluble factors and their roles in regenerative medicine. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 5(2):103–110. https://doi.org/10.2174/157488810791268564
- Schinköthe T, Bloch W, Schmidt A (2008) In vitro secreting profile of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Develop 17(1):199–206. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2007.0175
- Sethe S, Scutt A, Stolzing A (2006) Aging of mesenchymal stem cells. Ageing Res Rev 5(1): 91–116
- Shukla L, Morrison WA, Shayan R (2015) Adipose-derived stem cells in radiotherapy injury: a new frontier. Front Surg 2:1
- Simonacci F, Bertozzi N, Grieco MP, Grignaffini E, Raposio E (2017) Procedure, applications, and outcomes of autologous fat grafting. Ann Med Surg 20:49–60
- Sipp D, Robey PG, Turner L (2018) Clear up this stem-cell mess. Nature 561(7724):455-457
- Skalnikova HK (2013) Proteomic techniques for characterisation of mesenchymal stem cell secretome. Biochimie 95(12):2196–2211
- Smith RM, Schaefer MK, Kainer MA, Wise M, Finks J, Duwve J, Fontaine E (2013) Fungal infections associated with contaminated methylprednisolone injections. N Engl J Med 369(17): 1598–1609
- Snyder AG, Hubbard NW, Messmer MN, Kofman SB, Hagan CE, Orozco SL, Chiang K et al (2019) Intratumoral activation of the necroptotic pathway components RIPK1 and RIPK3 potentiates antitumor immunity. Sci Immunol 4(36)
- Solakoglu Ö, Götz W, Kiessling MC, Alt C, Schmitz C, Alt EU (2019) Improved guided bone regeneration by combined application of unmodified, fresh autologous adipose derived regenerative cells and plasma rich in growth factors: a first-in-human case report and literature review. World J Stem Cells 11(2):124
- Song Y, Du H, Dai C, Zhang L, Li S, Hunter DJ, Lu L et al (2018) Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for osteoarthritis: a pilot study with long-term follow-up and repeated injections. Regen Med 13(3):295–307
- Spaeth EL, Dembinski JL, Sasser AK, Watson K, Klopp A, Hall B, Andreeff M et al (2013) Correction: mesenchymal stem cell transition to tumor-associated fibroblasts contributes to fibrovascular network expansion and tumor progression. PLoS One 8(3)
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U (2016) Clinical trials with mesenchymal stem cells: an update. Cell Transplant 25(5):829–848
- Stanko P, Altanerova U, Jakubechova J, Repiska V, Altaner C (2018) Dental mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells and their exosomes. Stem Cells Int 2018
- Tajima S, Tobita M, Mizuno H (2018) Current status of bone regeneration using adipose-derived stem cells. Histol Histopathol 33:619–627. https://doi.org/10.14670/HH-11-942

- Tarallo M, Fino P, Ribuffo D, Casella D, Toscani M, Spalvieri C, Lattanzi W, Di Taranto G (2018) Liposuction aspirate fluid adipose-derived stem cell injection and secondary healing in fingertip injury: a pilot study. Plast Reconstr Surg 142(1):136–147
- Tatsumi K, Ohashi K, Matsubara Y, Kohori A, Ohno T, Kakidachi H, Horii A et al (2013) Tissue factor triggers procoagulation in transplanted mesenchymal stem cells leading to thromboembolism. Biochem Bioiophys Res Comm 431(2):203–209
- Teixeira FG, Carvalho MM, Sousa N, Salgado AJ (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells secretome: a new paradigm for central nervous system regeneration? Cell Mol Life Sci 70(20):3871–3882
- Thomas JD, Kehoe JL (2020) Bone nonunion. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island, FL
- Tiryaki T, Findikli N, Tiryaki D (2011) Staged stem cell-enriched tissue (SET) injections for soft tissue augmentation in hostile recipient areas: a preliminary report. Aesthetic Plast Surg 35(6): 965–971
- Tobita M, Orbay H, Mizuno H (2011) Adipose-derived stem cells: current findings and future perspectives. Discov Med 11(57):160–170
- Torsvik A, Røsland GV, Svendsen A, Molven A, Immervoll H, McCormack E, Lønning PE et al (2010) Spontaneous malignant transformation of human mesenchymal stem cells reflects crosscontamination: putting the research field on track–letter. Cancer Res 70(15):6393–6396
- Toyserkani NM, Jørgensen MG, Tabatabaeifar S, Jensen CH, Sheikh SP, Sørensen JA (2017) Concise review: a safety assessment of adipose-derived cell therapy in clinical trials: a systematic review of reported adverse events. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(9):1786–1794
- Traktuev DO, Merfeld-Clauss S, Li J, Kolonin M, Arap W, Pasqualini R, Johnstone BH et al (2008) A population of multipotent CD34-positive adipose stromal cells share pericyte and mesenchymal surface markers, reside in a periendothelial location, and stabilize endothelial networks. Circ Res 102(1):77–85
- Tsuji W, Valentin JE, Marra KG, Donnenberg AD, Donnenberg VS, Rubin JP (2018) An animal model of local breast cancer recurrence in the setting of autologous fat grafting for breast reconstruction. Stem Cells Trans Med 7(1):125–134
- Turner A, Abu-Ghname A, Davis MJ, Winocour SJ, Hanson SE, Chu CK (2020) Fat grafting in breast reconstruction. Semin Plast Surg 34(1):17–23. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0039-1700959
- Uccelli A, Moretta L, Pistoia V (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8(9):726–736
- Van Robin LR, Roncari DA (1977) Isolation of fat cell precursors from adult rat adipose tissue. Cell Tissue Res 181(2):197–203
- Vishwakarma A, Sharpe P, Shi S, Ramalingam M (eds) (2014) Stem cell biology and tissue engineering in dental sciences. Academic Press; Stem Cell Key Terms. Available online: https://www.cirm.ca.gov/patients/stem-cell-key-terms. Accessed on 16 Apr 2020
- Vizoso FJ, Eiro N, Cid S, Schneider J, Perez-Fernandez R (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell secretome: toward cell-free therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine. Int J Mol Sci 18(9):1852
- Wakitani S, Imoto K, Yamamoto T, Saito M, Murata N, Yoneda M (2002) Human autologous culture expanded bone marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation for repair of cartilage defects in osteoarthritic knees. Osteoarthr Cartil 10(3):199–206
- Wang C, Song W, Chen B, Liu X, He Y (2019) Exosomes isolated from adipose-derived stem cells: a new cell-free approach to prevent the muscle degeneration associated with torn rotator cuffs. Am J Sports Med 47(13):3247–3255. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546519876323
- Wang L, Lu Y, Luo X, Fu MG, Hu X, Dong H, Fan ZH (2012) Cell-assisted lipotransfer for breast augmentation: a report of 18 patients. Zhonghua Zheng Xing Wai Ke Za Zhi 28(1):1–6
- Weiss A, Dahlke MH (2019) Immunomodulation by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs): mechanisms of action of living, apoptotic, and dead MSCs. Front Immunol 10:1191. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01191
- Winnier GE, Valenzuela N, Peters-Hall J, Kellner J, Alt C, Alt EU (2019) Isolation of adipose tissue derived regenerative cells from human subcutaneous tissue with or without the use of an enzymatic reagent. PLoS One 14(9):e0221457

- Xiong M, Zhang Q, Hu W, Zhao C, Lv W, Yi Y, Wu Y, Wu M (2020) Exosomes from adiposederived stem cells: the emerging roles and applications in tissue regeneration of plastic and cosmetic surgery. Front Cell Develop Biol 8:574223. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.574223
- Yoshimura K, Asano Y, Aoi N, Kurita M, Oshima Y, Sato K, Inoue K et al (2010) Progenitorenriched adipose tissue transplantation as rescue for breast implant complications. Breast J 16(2):169–175
- Yoshimura K, Sato K, Aoi N, Kurita M, Hirohi T, Harii K (2008) Cell-assisted lipotransfer for cosmetic breast augmentation: supportive use of adipose-derived stem/stromal cells. Aesthetic Plast Surg 32(1):48–55
- Yoshimura K, Shigeura T, Matsumoto D, Sato T, Takaki Y, Aiba-Kojima E, Sato K et al (2006) Characterization of freshly isolated and cultured cells derived from the fatty and fluid portions of liposuction aspirates. J Cell Physiol 208(1):64–76
- Zhang F, Cui J, Liu X, Lv B, Liu X, Xie Z, Yu B (2015a) Roles of microRNA-34a targeting SIRT1 in mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 6(1):1–13
- Zhang J, Huang X, Wang H, Liu X, Zhang T, Wang Y, Hu D (2015b) The challenges and promises of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for use as a cell-based therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 6(1):234
- Zimmerlin L, Donnenberg VS, Rubin JP, Donnenberg AD (2013) Mesenchymal markers on human adipose stem/progenitor cells. Cytometry A 83(1):134–140
- Zocchi ML, Zuliani F (2008) Bicompartmental breast lipostructuring. Aesthet Plast Surg 32(2): 313–328
- Zuk PA, Zhu MIN, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P et al (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 7(2):211–228



Molecular Signature of Stem Cells Undergoing Cardiomyogenic Differentiation

Kavitha Govarthanan, Piyush Kumar Gupta, Binita E. Zipporah, Vineeta Sharma, M. Rajasundari, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	728
Basic Structure of Cardiomyocytes	728
Atrial and Ventricular Cardiomyocytes	729
Stem Cells and Cardiac Regenerative Therapy	730
Embryonic Stem Cells and Their Derivative CMs	731
iPSCs and Their Derivative Cardiomyocytes	732
Adult Tissue-Derived Stem/Progenitor Cells	733
Molecular Profiling of Cardiomyocytes	734
Cardiomyocyte Lineage Commitment and Differentiation	734
Bone Morphogenetic Proteins (BMPs)	736
Wnt Pathway	736
Fibroblast Growth Factor Signaling Pathway	737
Cardiac-Specific Transcription Factors	738
GATA Family of Transcription Factors	738
Myocyte Enhancer Factor-2 (MEF-2) Family	739
NKX-2.5	739

K. Govarthanan (🖂)

MK BHAN Young Research Fellow, Centre for Cardiovascular Biology and Disease, Institute for Stem Cell Sciences and Regenerative Medicine (inStem), Bengaluru, Karnataka, India e-mail: kavithag@instem.res.in

P. K. Gupta

Department of Life Sciences, School of Basic Sciences and Research, Sharda University, Greater Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

Department of Biotechnology, Graphic Era Deemed to be University, Dehradun, Uttarakhand, India

B. E. Zipporah · V. Sharma

Department of Biotechnology, Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai, Tamilnadu, India

M. Rajasundari

Centre for Advanced Research (Stem Cells), Government Stanley Hospital, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

K. H. Haider

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 43

Serum Response Factor and Myocardin	740
HAND Transcription Factors	740
Two-Dimensional (2D) Differentiations of Stem Cells into Cardiomyocytes	740
Status of iPSC-Derived Cardiomyocytes	741
Current Technical Limitations	742
State of the Art	742
Regulation of Lineage Differentiation in Stem Cells	743
Differentiation Cues	743
Small Molecule Inhibitors	743
Role of Small Molecule Inhibitors in Stem Cell Biology	743
Microenvironment	745
Exosomes for In Vitro and In Vivo Cardiac Applications	749
Detailed Methodology	749
Limitations of 2D Culture	750
3D Cardiac Organoids	751
Working on the 3D Models	752
Scaffolds Employed	754
Analytical Methods	754
Conclusions and Outlook	755
References	755

Abstract

Cardiomyocytes (CMs) are mitotically inactive but metabolically highly active cells that constitute a major population in the heart. The cumbersome isolation and purification protocols combined with the difficulty in their in vitro propagation as a primary culture remain the major impediments in their biological characterization. Therefore, understanding the molecular events that drive the successful differentiation of stem cells to become morphofunctionally competent CMs via advanced cellular technology is essential to better manipulate them for human applications. Cardiomyogenic differentiation of stem cells is relatively inefficient with a limited success rate due to the complexity of the molecular circuit involved therein. Akin to the embryonic stem cells (ESCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have vast prospective to give rise to any type of cell from the three germ layers without ethical concerns. Mesenchymal stem cells have limited differentiation potential toward cardiomyocyte lineage. Given their developmental aspects, the epigenomic signature often directs the cell's function which in turn governs their expression profile. Such epigenetic mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone core modifications, and miRNA regulations, which are associated with gene expression or silencing in the cell's progression toward a CM's fate. This chapter elucidates in-depth the regulatory process underlying CMs' differentiation at the genetic as well as epigenetic levels via the modulation of chromatin architecture. Specifically in this chapter, we will elaborate on the gene circuit and their expression profile in the various stem cells, heading toward cardiomyocyte lineage under different culture technologies from 2D, 3D, and even up to the single-cell level.

Keywords

Cardiomyocytes · Differentiation · Three-dimensional · Microarchitecture · Micropatterning · Organoids · Scaffold · Stem cells · Tissue engineering

Abbreviation	IS
5-Az	5-Azacvtidine
AhR	Arvl hydrocarbon receptor
AP	Action potential
BIO	6-Bromoindirubin-39-oxime
BM-MSCs	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells
CaMKs	Calmodulin kinases
CaMs	Calcium calmodulins
CBP	CREB binding protein
ciNSCs	Chemically induced neural stem cells
CSCs	Cardiac stem cells
Dsh	Dishevelled
EBs	Embryoid bodies
ECMs	Extracellular matrices
ERK-2	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase-2
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3 ^β
HDACs	Histone deacetylases
hESC	Human embryonic stem cell
HMTase	Histone-lysine methyltransferase
IL-1Ra	IL-1 receptor antagonist
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LSD1	Lysine-specific demethylase 1
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
MEF-2	Myocyte enhancer factor-2
mEpiSC	Mouse epiblast stem cell
mESC	Mouse embryonic stem cell
NaB	Sodium butyrate
NPC	Neural progenitor cell
NSCs	Neural stem cells
PCP	Planar cell polarity
PDK1	Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1
PKA	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
pNSC	Primitive neural stem cell
PSCs	Pluripotent stem cells
ROCK	Rho-associated coiled-coil-containing protein kinase
SAHA	Suberanilohydroxamic acid
SHF	Second heart field
SIRPA	Signal-regulatory protein alpha
SkMs	Skeletal myoblasts
SRF	Serum response factor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor- β
TMRM	Tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester perchlorate

Trichostatin A
Thiazovivin
Valproic acid
Wingless and Int-1 protein

Introduction

Cardiomyocytes (CMs) are the complex structural and functional unit of the heart, executing the vital function of transporting nutrients and fostering all the residual cells and organs in the body. CMs are specialized muscle cells with slow-cycling potential (so slow that they have always been considered as terminally differentiated cells that do not proliferate); hence, any damage to the myocardium will be irreversible (Allen et al. 1979; Yutzey 2017). With a severe shortage of humanized model systems for understanding the fundamentals of cardiomyocyte differentiation, non-human primates are often used as an experimental model for understanding the characteristic feature of CMs. The intricacy in understanding the biology of CMs is mainly due to their structural complexity and their correlated functional events, respectively (Ahuja et al. 2007). As a result of the advancement in cell culture techniques, few molecular details about CMs have been divulged during the last two decades. However, the mechanistic understanding of their metabolic, molecular, and physiologic is still being pursued. In this regard, stem cells of non-primate and human origin have been employed in several in vitro studies to decode the basic information about CMs. However, the molecular signaling involved therein has not been completely unveiled, which severely hampers the utility of CMs for cell-based therapy.

Knowledge about the characteristic feature of CMs is crucial to unveil in-depth details about pathophysiological aspects, cardiac disease manifestations, and its management. Thus, deciphering the understanding of pathological features of heart disease may warrant the development of novel pharmacological interventions for managing disease progression and treatment. This chapter will shed light on the so-far understanding of the mechanistic details of eagerness and the challenges prevailing in the dynamic area of cardiovascular research.

Basic Structure of Cardiomyocytes

The human heart consists of three layers, namely, the pericardium, myocardium, and endocardium, from outside inward. Grossly, the heart is divided into four chambers: two atria and two ventricles. The chief cell type present in the myocardium is CMs, which contains principal components such as sarcolemma, contractile elements (sarcomeres), and T-tubules participating in the excitation and coupling events, thereby facilitating the contraction and relaxation function of the heart (Woodcock and Matkovich 2005). Interestingly, CMs also have the sarcoplasmic reticulum that regulates the contractile element function and a large number of mitochondria due to

its aerobic metabolism dependence compared to skeletal muscle cells. Sarcomere consists of cardiomyocyte-specific proteins, namely, actin and myosin, performing cross-bridging and brings about the contraction and relaxation function of the heart muscle (Walker and Spinale 1999). Sarcomeres also possess regulatory functional proteins, i.e., troponin and tropomyosin, to facilitate the cross-bridging of actin and myosin filaments. Adjacent CMs are integrated via intercalated disks, which in turn consist of specialized intercellular junctional complexes including zonula adherens, desmosomes, and gap junctions (Walker and Spinale 1999; Molnar and Gair 2013). These junctional proteins predominantly participate in relaying mechanical and electrical coupling process, thereby conducting the electrical impulses throughout the different layers of the myocardium.

The most prominent tissue architecture of the human heart is preserved and maintained via the junctional component performing the adhesive interactions modulated by the cadherin family of proteins (Li et al. 2013). Therefore, a dysregulated expression of these junctional interactive components often leads to cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) (Thiriet 2019). Gap junction is the chief component of the intercalated disks, very crucial and often associated with CVDs. The primary function of intercalated disks is to facilitate the CMs' synchronous contraction as a syncytium via rendering electrical coupling potential as exhibited by CMs. Dysregulation of the gap junction proteins is often directly related to the CVDs pertaining to electromechanical dysfunction and arrhythmias (Manring et al. 2018). Another specialized structure, Purkinje fibers, is embodied in the conduction system and primarily aids in relaying the electrical signals spontaneously throughout the myocardium, thereby regulating the heart rate and rhythm.

Atrial and Ventricular Cardiomyocytes

Under the light microscope, the myocardium is observed to portray special features of atrial and ventricular CMs. The atrial walls are thin, and atrial CMs were smaller, leaner, and more elongated than the ventricular CMs. In humans and rodents, the light microscopic view shows a rectangular-shaped cell exhibiting a cross-striation pattern with alternating light isotropic (I) and dark anisotropic (A) bands, respectively. A typical mature cardiomyocyte has specialized cytoskeletal structure myofibrils, known as the contractile apparatus of a cardiomyocyte (Sweeney and Hammers 2018). Furthermore, these organized repeated subunits of myofibrils form a sarcomere, the functional unit of CMs. A mature sarcomere thin filaments (sarcomeric actins, troponins, tropomyosins) and thick filaments (myosin heavy and light chains) and associated proteins, such as myosin binding protein C, Titin, Z-lines, and M-lines. Some of the proteins are so specific for the heart that they are being exploited as cardiac-specific biomarkers (Haider and Stimson 1994, 1999). Thus, the complexity in the maturation is mainly due to the proper assembly and alignment of multimeric protein units in a well-organized manner (Pollard et al. 1974). Any defect or improper alignment in the arrangement of these protein units

generate functionally compromised CMs. Therefore, it is evident that the constitution and shape of the CMs are correlated directly to their functional maturity (Rommel and Hein 2020). It is believed that the human CMs are mostly mononucleated, whereas the rodent CMs exhibit the propensity of a bi-nucleated state under light microscope. Moreover, CMs nuclei show granulated chromatin structure with one or two nucleoli.

CMs are connected by intercalated disks forming a double membranous tight structure bound together by desmosomes and connected by gap junctions (Sun and Kontaridis 2018). This crucial junctional point serves smooth relaying of impulses from one cell to the adjacent cell, thus leading to spontaneous impulse conduction and synchronous contraction and relaxation. Histologically observed, ventricular myocytes are predominantly thick myofibrillar units with linear, broader, and denser T-tubules to perform the forceful contractions, while atrial myocytes are comparatively thinner. However, calcium signaling in both ventricular and atrial myocytes is similar but with increased calcium buffering efficiency in atrial myocytes (Smith and Eisner 2019). Likewise, the ventricular myocytes' sarcolemma is rich in ion channels which further aids in the longer-duration action potentials and effective refractory periods necessary for conducting the impulses.

Stem Cells and Cardiac Regenerative Therapy

Stem cell-based therapy has emerged as an attractive strategy for cardiac regeneration and repair. From among the various available options, embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are endowed with unrestricted differentiation potential into almost all types of cells from the three germ layers (Boland et al. 2009; Kang et al. 2009; Zhao et al. 2009), and hence, they possess huge potential to repopulate the infarcted heart (Tomescot et al. 2007). However, pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) are inherently teratogenic which render them unsuitable for routine clinical applications (Friedman and Moore 1946; Stevens 1967a, b; Damjanov and Solter 1974). Extra-embryonic tissue-derived stem cells, i.e., umbilical cord or placental tissue-derived stem cells, are endowed with restricted differentiation potential; however, their paracrine activity and immune-modulatory potential make them suitable for clinical use (Kim et al. 2013; Ullah et al. 2015; Rohban and Pieber 2017). Adult stem cells, i.e., bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs), resident cardiac stem cells (CSCs), skeletal myoblasts (SkMs), etc., have been extensively studied and characterized in vitro as well as in preclinical studies either naïve or after genetically modulation (Haider et al. 2004a, b; Lei et al. 2005; Jiang et al. 2002; Haider et al. 2008; Lei et al. 2011; Elmadbouh et al. 2011; Takamiya et al. 2011) and have advanced to clinical trials (Haider et al. 2004a, b; Han et al. 2019; Sid-Otmane et al. 2020). Innovative cellular manipulating technologies using CRISPR/Cas 9 were employed to engineer stem cells for editing their characteristic profile supporting cardiac repair. This has become a prominent possible alternate option as a next-generation treatment for cardiac diseases up to the level of personalized therapy (Valenti et al. 2019; Nguyen et al. 2019).

Embryonic Stem Cells and Their Derivative CMs

ESCs are derived from the embryo proper or the inner cell mass of the blastocyst during the early embryogenesis. They are non-immune-privileged cells and, therefore, can be used for regenerative therapy only, subjecting the recipient to long-term immunosuppression (Pearl et al. 2012). Experimental studies have shown that a conducive milieu is required to modulate ESCs' cardiomyogenic and vasculogenic differentiation in vitro culture and post-engraftment (Leitolis et al. 2019; Jones and Wagers 2008; Bratt-Leal et al. 2009; Rufaihah et al. 2007, 2010). The provided milieu stimulates the appropriate signaling pathways directing the cell differentiation toward cardiovascular lineage, respectively. Among various signaling pathways, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) signaling is essential in mediating the cardiac differentiation of ESCs (Wolling et al. 2018). Some other signaling pathways involved include the activin pathway that facilitates mesoderm formation followed by bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) for the further commitment to cardiac lineage. The timeline for activin A and BMP-4 supplementation for cardiac induction is crucial to achieve a higher percentage of beating CMs in vitro (Brand 2003; Wagner and Siddiqui 2007; Liu and Foley 2011; Brade et al. 2013; Sun and Kontaridis 2018). However, the obtained CMs are immature, and hence, further manipulation is required to facilitate their maturation (Veerman et al. 2015). To this end, researchers maintained the beating ESC-derived CMs in vitro culture for their maturation. Further manipulation in culture, such as three-dimensional (3D) matrices or scaffold and electrical stimulations, hastens the process of their maturation (Scuderi and Butcher 2017). The maturation of CMs is characterized by increased sarcomere banding and alignment, myofibril formation, MYH6/7 isoform switching, and spontaneous beating action potential similar to the adult CMs (Jiang et al. 2018). A detailed account of the strategies to derive cardiac lineage-specific cells from PSCs has been elegantly reviewed by Le and Hasegawa (2019).

Since the pioneering study of Caspi et al. (2007) which showed that transplantation of ESC-derived CMs could improve cardiac function in rodent model of myocardial infarction, various research groups have reported their therapeutic benefits in other experimental animal models (Caspi et al. 2007). For example, human ESC-derived CMs were successfully engrafted into the macacue heart and survived after 4 weeks of transplantation (Liu et al. 2018). In the porcine model, the engrafted ESC-derived CMs were found electromechanically coupled with the host CMs and thereby improved global heart function. ECM-derived CMs transplanted into the rodent heart model increased left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) (up to 40%) and reduced spontaneous or induced ventricular arrhythmias (Liew et al. 2020). In an experimental non-human primate model, ECM-derived CMs successfully survived and electromechanically coupled with the host myocardium after transplantation. The authors also reported significant re-muscularization in the infarcted heart (Weinberger et al. 2016). Unfortunately, the recipient animals developed ventricular arrhythmias which were not observed in the rodent model studies. Similar observations have also been reported by other research groups (Romagnuolo et al. 2019). Although the exact mechanism of increased arrhythmia was unclear, it was ascribed

to the cell graft size and its distinct stage of development and diverging heart morphology between the experimental animal models. In a nutshell, the application of ESC-derived CMs is very promising in the aspects of re-muscularization in the infarcted hearts; however, the issue related to arrhythmogenicity and teratogenicity needs to be addressed before it can be advanced to the clinics for human applications.

iPSCs and Their Derivative Cardiomyocytes

Yamanaka's landmark discovery of inducing pluripotency in normal somatic cells using a cocktail of four transcription factors, i.e., c-Myc, Oct3/4, Sox2, and Klf4, has given new impetus to stem cell research and has extended it's scope to include postmitotic cells/slow-cycling cells for possible use in cell-based therapy (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). A subsequent study provided a comparison of the efficiency of two distinct sets of transcription factors, i.e., c-MYC, OCT3/4, and SOX2 and the other set with KLF4, or OCT3/4, SOX2, NANOG, and LIN28, to demonstrate successful conversion of human fibroblast into iPSCs using two sets of transcription factors, respectively (Schmidt and Plath 2012). Since the publications of these reports, various research groups have researched to optimize reprogramming protocol for its efficiency and safety for use in humans (Ibrahim et al. 2016). This included obtaining iPSCs employing different sets of transcription factors, using non-integrating viral vectors or non-viral vectors to alleviate insertional mutagenesis due to integrating viral vectors, and reducing genomic instability or genetic aberrations (Thomas et al. 2003). Later, protocol based on the introduction of miRNA and replacement of transcription factor with potent small molecule inhibitors has been reported to achieve safe and increased efficiency of reprogramming (Anokye-Danso et al. 2011; Higuchi et al. 2015a, b). These genetic modulation protocols have also been combined with advanced culture techniques for a more rapid and economical generation of iPSCs. On the same note, somatic cells from various tissue sources have been used to overcome the influence of their residual epigenetic memory and transcriptional perturbations after reprogramming to address its safety aspects before moving to clinical settings.

IPSCs have been studied for their myocardial reparability in experimental animal models of myocardial damage (Ahmed et al. 2011a, b; Buccini et al. 2012; Rajala et al. 2011). The transplanted cells successfully engrafted after intramyocardial delivery and improved global cardiac function. However, iPSCs' transplantation was not without the unwanted effect of tumorigenicity that was observed in at least 33% of the animals treated with iPSCs, thus raising serious concerns about their safety for use in humans (Ahmed et al. 2011a, b).

To overcome the undesired unbridled differentiation potential of iPSCs, various strategies have been developed. One of these strategies is the administration of iPSC-derived CMs, smooth muscle cells, or endothelial cells, which have shown successful engraftment at the damaged site in experimental animal models of myocardial damage. The successful engraftment of the delivered cells led to improved left

ventricular function in a murine model of myocardial infarction (Rojas et al. 2017). It is pertinent to mention that the purity of the genetically enriched iPSC-derived CMs was 99%, which matured post-engraftment, expressed cardiac-specific markers, and showed sarcomeric structures by 28 days after transplantation. No tumors were observed in any of the iPSC-derived cardiomyocyte-transplanted animals. Various other research groups have also reported similar data (Guan et al. 2020; Jiang et al. 2020). The transplanted cells also developed functional and electrical integration with the host CMs (Higuchi et al. 2015a, b). All these molecular and cellular changes help in the restoration of normal oxygen consumption in the infarcted heart (Ishida et al. 2019). Therefore, it is well-known that the high rate of re-muscularization and higher rate of donor cell engraftment at the injury site are essential for better prognosis. Besides strategies to enhance donor cell survival in the hostile environment of the infarcted heart, increased angiogenic potency of transplanted cells is considered important to enhance regional blood flow.

Researchers have endeavored to reprogram fibroblast directly into beating cardiac-like myocytes in vitro using defined transcription factors such as GATA-4, HAND2, MEF2C, and TBX5. Transplantation of rodent fibroblast-derived CMs has resulted in the scar size reduction, followed by enhanced LV function (Ieda et al. 2010). However, more in-depth studies are required to address the reproducibility of this reprogramming method besides this methodology to be equally useful for reprogramming of human fibroblasts. Furthermore, the retroviral-mediated reprogramming of human fibroblast should be carefully addressed for the infection recurrence, arbitrary genomic integration, tissue-specific homing, inflammatory reaction, etc. before considering for human therapeutic purposes.

Adult Tissue-Derived Stem/Progenitor Cells

Adult tissue-derived stem cells have been extensively characterized during in vitro, preclinical, and clinical studies, which suggests that the adult stem cell-based regenerative approaches successfully mitigate the myocardial damage and attenuate its progressive deterioration. Three of these cell types have already advanced to latephase clinical trials. Embryonically, the human heart is derived from the mesoderm during gastrulation phase. Hence, it is logical that the cells having potency to generate mesoderm-derived tissues and organs could be a more relevant and suitable source for regenerative and tissue engineering approaches for cardiac repair. The occurrence of non-ESCs in the extraembryonic tissue, derived CD34+ HSCs differentiating into various blood cells, and the less differentiated MSCs. Additionally, the adult tissue-derived MSCs such as BM-derived MSCs, adipose tissue-derived MSCs, and the resident cardiac stem cells are also currently considered for cardiac cell-based therapy (Han et al. 2019). From the long list of the available adult tissuederived stem cells, MSCs originating from the mesoderm have remarkable properties such as non-teratogenicity, immune-modulation, availability without moral or ethical issues, ease of expansion in vitro, and paracrine activity. Based on extensive research, paracrine action of MSCs is considered as one of the prime contributing mechanisms in myocardial repair (Sid-Otmane et al. 2020). The released trophic factors ameliorate the cardiac tissue injury by promoting migration and retention of the intrinsic stem cells into the injured myocardium for repair and regeneration. This chapter will further shed light on MSCs' secretome including extracellular vesicles as a novel therapeutic option for cardiac tissue engineering and regeneration.

Molecular Profiling of Cardiomyocytes

CMs are considered as one of the highly specialized cell types in the body as they are mitotically inactive but metabolically highly active. As discussed earlier, iPSCs have the potential of generating functional CMs and, therefore, offer an exciting renewable cell source for cellular replacement therapy in the heart. This requires the development of an optimized protocol to generate homogenous population of cells, which is highly critical for the successive regenerative therapy. Therefore, understanding both upstream and downstream molecular regulatory pathways toward cardiomyogenesis is mandate for channelizing the scaling up process with utmost reproducibility concerns for transplantation process. This chapter highlights the protocols and molecular differentiation pathways that efficiently favor cardiomyocyte lineage. The time scale of induction of lineage-specific transcription factors and genes governing differentiation into cardiomyocyte lineage will also be discussed in this chapter. Collectively, this information provides the understanding of cardiomyocyte biology at both basic and advanced molecular level and thus may provide a new clinically relevant source of cells for therapeutic purpose.

Cardiomyocyte Lineage Commitment and Differentiation

Differentiation of stem cells into CMs has prerequisites for some key events, such as commitment to cardiomyocyte lineage followed by the induction of specific markers' expression to further facilitate the differentiation process. Hence, the knowledge of embryonic heart development is of utmost significance and translates this information to provide the differentiating conducive environment and proper signal at the right time to ensure successful completion of the differentiation process (Zakrzewski et al. 2019). Briefly, during embryonic organogenesis of the heart, a primitive streak is developed from the mesoderm, the intercalating region between the ectoderm and endoderm. The formation of primitive streak originates at the gastrulation phase of vertebral embryonic development due to the migration of anterior mesodermal cells. The primary streak then contributes to the heart forming cardiac progenitor cells, located at the mid-streak position of the primitive streak (Camp et al. 2012). Upon the morphogen signals from adjacent cells, the cardiac mesoderm is induced, a crucial step in developing the heart. The morphogens involved in cardiomyogenesis include three families of growth factors that regulate

the terminal cardiomyocyte differentiation in vivo and include BMPs belonging to the TGF- β superfamily, Wingless/INT proteins (Wnts), and FGFs (Parikh et al. 2015). The sequential expression of these morphogens is very crucial for stage-specific differentiation during cardiomyogenesis. The schematic representation of stages specific to cardiomyogenesis lineage differentiation along with their profiled markers is illustrated in Fig. 1.



Mature ventricular cardiomyocytes

Fig. 1 Schematic representation of major cardiac specific markers at various stages of differentiation

Bone Morphogenetic Proteins (BMPs)

The site of myocardial origin is the posterior epiblast which was formed before primitive streak formation. The myocardial primitive cells present in abundance at the anterior part of the primitive streak migrate further to the anterior lateral to form a lateral mesodermal plate (Marvin et al. 2001; Sweetman et al. 2008). Furthermore, the mesoderm tissue bifurcates into somatic and splanchnic layers in which cells are falling inside the splanchnic mesoderm to form a cardiac crescent or the primary heart field. Further, the primary heart field cells successively form the myocardium and endocardium. The cells falling beyond the primitive streak are destined to ventricular myocytes and atrial myocytes, thus forming a mature heart (Eisenberg et al. 2004). The BMP family of proteins plays a vital role in almost all stages from cardioblast formation to later stages of heart organogenesis (van Wijk et al. 2007). BMPs are involved in a vast sequence of biological processes, such as perpetuation, lineage commitment and differentiation, migration, and apoptosis.

Six BMPs, i.e., BMPs 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 10, are expressed in various regions of the heart and govern the heart architecture and homeostasis (Goumans et al. 2018). BMPs play a context-dependent role as both agonist and antagonist at a state-specific lineage differentiation process. An accurate interplay of BMP stimulation and inhibition is essential for stage-specific differentiation of pluripotent stem cells into cardiomyocytelike cells (Liu et al. 2004; Prall et al. 2007; Ying et al. 2003). This strategy is mimicked in vitro to manipulate the lineage induction studies from stem cells in vitro. The components of the BMP signaling pathway trigger mesoderm specification from the primitive streak and facilitate cardiac specification during vertebrate heart organogenesis. It contributes to a plethora of regulatory processes in myocardio-vasculogenesis. BMP is necessary for the induction of second heart field-derived heart tube genesis from the distal borders of the mesoderm. Additionally, BMPs are also involved in forming septovalvulogenesis in the atrioventricular canal and chambers of the ventricles. BMP signaling requires type I and II heterodimeric receptors, which, upon binding of BMPs, further phosphorylate the downstream receptor-regulated R-Smads (Smad1, Smad5, and Smad8) (Derynck and Zhang 2003). Upon phosphorylation, R-Smad and Smad4 form a complex, which is translocated into the nucleus to initiate gene expression.

Wang et al. have shown that transient treatment with BMP-2 prompts c-kit⁺ BM-MSCs to differentiate into functional CMs (Wang et al. 2018). Further transplantation of BMP-2-induced c-kit⁺ MSCs promotes the repair of the infarcted myocardium and improves cardiac function. However, the data showed poor survival of engrafted stem cells in the ischemic and inflammatory microenvironment. Therefore, the strategy addressing the long-term survival of transplanted cells is important for successful therapy.

Wnt Pathway

Wnt signaling pathway significantly contributes to tissue architecture, lineage commitment, differentiation, cell migration, cell polarity, proliferation, etc., during cardiogenesis (Ring et al. 2014). Hence, inappropriate regulation of Wnt signaling may lead to a malformed heart and delay the process of repair in the infarcted heart. Wnt signaling consists of three major pathways. All types are activated by the binding of the Wnt protein ligand to a Frizzled family receptor, and further, the signal will be relayed by Dishevelled (Dsh) protein intracellularly (Komiya and Habas 2008). The canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway, non-canonical Wnt/planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway, and Wnt/Ca $^{2+}$ -dependent pathway are the three major types of pathways committed for the aforesaid function. Mouse ESC differentiation studies have revealed that Wnt/ β -catenin signaling exerts stage-specific, context-dependent role in cardiovascular developmental biology (Paige et al. 2010). Early-phase activation of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway in embryoid bodies (EBs) facilitates ESC differentiation into cardiomyocyte lineage while suppressing their differentiation into hematopoietic and vascular cell lineages (Rungarunlert et al. 2009). On the other hand, late-phase activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in EBs blocks myocyte lineage and augments the expression of hematopoietic/vascular-specific markers via the downregulation of BMP signaling (Noseda et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2016). Thus, Wnt/ β -catenin signaling unveils biphasic but antagonistic effects on cardiovascular development, highly dependent on the developmental stage (Naito et al. 2006). Therefore, it is now well-understood that the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway is pro-cardiogenic in the early pre-cardiac mesoderm phase but inhibitory during the terminal phase of cardiac differentiation. Therefore, given the significance of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in stimulating stem/progenitor cells, it is crucial to define its regulation to produce adequate derivatives of cardiac and vascular progenitors for future therapeutic use.

The non-canonical or β -catenin-independent Wnt signaling also plays a significant role in developing second heart field (SHF) cells. Wnt5a and Wnt11 are the two non-canonical Wnt ligands that stimulate cardiac differentiation in ESCs and adult stem cells and counterbalance the β -catenin-dependent SHF proliferation in the outflow tract. Moreover, there is strong evidence that Wnt5a and Wnt11 act non-canonically in the SHF (Cohen et al. 2012; Buikema et al. 2013). Another study showed C-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and protein kinase C (PKC) act downstream of β -catenin-independent Wnt signal that was mediated via Wnt 11 ligand (Wang et al. 2020). Furthermore, inhibiting the role of either JNK or PKC signaling blocked the ability of Wnt11 to induce cardiac specification. On the other hand, co-activating JNK and PKC persuade cardiac specification, proposing both the RhoA/JNK and Ca²⁺/PKC pathways arbitrate Wnt11 signaling. In summary, triggering cardiac differentiation by Wnt11 via non-canonical Wnt signaling is co-mediated by JNK and PKC signaling.

Fibroblast Growth Factor Signaling Pathway

FGF plays a prime role in organ architecture and the establishment of relative proportions of compartmentalization of organs. FGF8 mutant zebrafish heart showed reduced organ size and proportionality (Marques et al. 2008). During cardiac lineage commitment, loss of FGF signaling impedes the establishment of ventricular and atrial CMs, with a more decisive influence on ventricular cells. Thus, it is now well-

established that FGF signaling initially governs the heart volume and proportion, and during the latter phase, it improves the ventricular section by amendable cell number and beginning of differentiation (Itoh et al. 2016). It is important to mention that FGF induces various functions in lineage differentiation via its paracrine mechanism. Among the various FGFs, FGF8, FGF9, FGF10, and FGF16 function as paracrine signals during embryonic heart development. Other FGFs such as bFGF, FGF9, FGF10, and FGF16 also involved in Schematic representation of major cardiac specific markers at various stages of differentiation via its paracrine activity. Hence, FGF2 and FGF10 are frequently an integral part of the cardiac differentiation protocols to obtain CMs from cultured stem cells. In addition, FGF10 was also used in cardiac reprogramming protocols from cardiac fibroblast (Beenken and Mohammadi 2009).

FGF2 pedals the differentiation and deployment of resident cardiac precursors/ stem cells into functionally competent CMs to facilitate the management of cardiac diseases (Rosenblatt-Velin et al. 2005). Previous studies suggested that bFGF was pro-cardiogenic and also controlled the biological course of myogenesis. bFGF showed synergistic activity with hydrocortisone in triggering the cardiac differentiation of MSCs (Hafez et al. 2016). MSCs genetically modified to overexpress bFGF showed high cell viability under hypoxic conditions (Song et al. 2005). Moreover, pretreatment of MSCs with bFGF showed enhanced engraftment and lineage differentiation potential with augmented cardiac function under in vivo MI model study.

Cardiac-Specific Transcription Factors

GATA Family of Transcription Factors

The double zinc finger cysteine-rich (CysX2-CysX17-CysX2-Cys) domain acts as a transcription factor by binding to the conserved specific region of DNA (A/T)GATA (A/G), hence the name GATA. The GATA family of transcription factors consists of six known members GATA-1-6, in which GATA-1, GATA-2, and GATA-3 modulate hematopoiesis and GATA-4, GATA-5, and GATA-6 regulate heart developmental events, such as differentiation, migration of CMs, etc. (Lentjes et al. 2016). GATA-4 is considered the first transcription factor known to be expressed in myocytes, and it plays a vital role in cardiac growth and development. Also, it is involved in various pathological conditions of the heart, such as cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure (Pikkarainen et al. 2004). GATA-4 is also known to trigger the co-transcription factors and other relevant late cardiac markers mediating myogenesis from the early to late differentiation phase (Yilbas et al. 2014). Previous in vitro and in vivo studies revealed that GATA-4 expression levels remain unaltered by hypertrophic chemical stimulants. However, mechanical and electrical stimuli have been associated with hypertrophic phenotype in neonatal rat cardiomyocyte studies (Chow et al. 2013). Additionally, the post-translational modifications of GATA-4 and its synergistic interaction with other co-factors play a prominent role in the sequential stimulation of myogenesis.
GATA-4 interacts with various downstream targets such as extracellular signalregulated kinase-2 (ERK-2), protein kinase C (PKC), and JAK-STAT pathways, where PKC phosphorylation augments GATA-4 DNA-binding activity and STAT-1 functionality and facilitates physical interaction with GATA-4 to activate other promoters (Liang et al. 2001; Wang et al. 2005). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β) downregulates GATA-4 activity via nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of GATA-4. Phosphorylation of the N-terminal domain of GATA-4 protein by GSK-3 β leads to the downfall in the GATA-4-mediated transcriptional activity (Sugden et al. 2008). GATA-4 works with other transcription factors and co-activators, such as p300, GATA-6, MEF-2, NFAT, NKX 2.5, SRF, dHAND, and YY1 (Kohli et al. 2011). Therefore, the GATA-4 transcription factor has been well-studied for its involvement in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and use as a novel target for treating cardiac hypertrophy.

Myocyte Enhancer Factor-2 (MEF-2) Family

The MEF-2 transcription factor contains four family members MEF-2A, MEF-2B, MEF-2C, and MEF-2D, where MEF-2A and MEF-2D are primarily involved in regulating the immune system and striated muscles. MEF-2C has a critical role in myocyte differentiation and postnatal growth of the myocardium (Pon and Marra 2016). MEF-2 downstream pathways include p38 MAPK, MAPK1, and PI3K-Akt signaling domains regulating myocyte differentiation and cardiac hypertrophy (Pon and Marra 2016). Moreover, MEF-2 is also a significant effector of Ca^{+2} signaling and activates Ca⁺²-binding proteins, calcium calmodulins (CaMs), and their downstream modulators calmodulin kinases (CaMKs) and calcineurin, which induce cardiac hypertrophy (Kohli et al. 2011). CaMKs negatively regulate the expression of MEF-2 via phosphorylation of class II histone deacetylase (HDACs), followed by dissociation of HDAC-MEF-2 complex. Activation of MEF-2 sustained via co-activators with the HAT, such as CREB binding protein (CBP) and p300. MEF-2 also interrelates with various co-activators, i.e., GATA-4 (Morin et al. 2000), NFAT (Blaeser et al. 2000), MyoD (Berkes and Tapscott 2005), and Smad proteins (Quinn et al. 2001). This cross-talk renders MEF-2 an essential component of the hypertrophic pathway and an effector triggering the genes resulting in the manifestation of hypertrophic phenotype.

NKX-2.5

The homeobox protein Nkx-2.5 has a helix-turn-helix motif binding to the specific consensus DNA sequence T(C/T)AAGTG. Any hypertrophic stimulus upregulates Nkx-2.5 expression and its downstream target genes. Nkx-2.5 activity is modulated by interactions with other transcription factors including GATA-4, MEF-2, eHAND, and other co-activators (Morin et al. 2000; Chen and Schwartz 1995; Thattaliyath et al. 2002; Palmer et al. 2001; Brown et al. 2004). Synergistic activity of Nkx-2.5

and GATA-4 further triggers the downstream of many cardiac gene promoters like ANP. Overall, enhanced activity of NKX 2.5 is correlated with hypertrophic conditions, thus making Nkx-2.5 an attractive target for the developing therapeutic strategies targeting myocardial hypertrophy.

Serum Response Factor and Myocardin

Serum response factor (SRF) is a MADS-box transcription factor that binds its transcriptional co-activator myocardin specifically expressed in smooth and cardiac muscle cell lineages (Wang et al. 2001, 2002). Myocardin alone, by default, does not bind with DNA; instead, it forms a stable ternary complex with SRF and then brings about the transactivation of target genes. Myocardin has a critical role in developing the heart by participating as a molecular switch in controlling genes associated with smooth muscle cell proliferation and differentiation (Wang et al. 2001, 2004). SRF induces pro-cardiogenic activity in association with myocardin and coordinately activates the muscle-specific genes. Overexpression of myocardin in neonatal rat CMs was manifested as hypertrophy of the cells, upregulation of ANF, and intensely organized sarcomeres. These molecular and cellular changes strongly suggest a pivotal role of myocardin in cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy. Therefore, targeting this nuclear effector may disrupt mechanistic links and abrogate the disease manifestation.

HAND Transcription Factors

HAND family of proteins consists of the basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors involved in cardiac development and related pathologies (Oka et al. 2007). It comprises HAND1, exclusively expressed in the right ventricle, and HAND2 expressed in both ventricles and atria. Although the direct correlation of HAND genes with hypertrophy is not well-established, its downstream effector genes are also not entirely known. These transcription factors act as co-activators together with the other cardiac transcription factors and synergistically trans-activate cardiac genes. Upon binding with p300, HAND2 interacts with GATA-4 to activate ANP, BNP, and α -MHC. HAND1 also activates the ANP gene by cooperating with Nkx-2.5 (Akazawa and Komuro 2003). This transcription factor is not well-studied, and hence further studies are warranted in the future.

Two-Dimensional (2D) Differentiations of Stem Cells into Cardiomyocytes

Numerous protocols have been developed to enrich the CMs that include genetic modification (by the expression of MYH6), using surface protein as a specific marker for CMs (SIRPA (signal-regulatory protein alpha)), or selection based on

targeting highly active mitochondria using a mitochondrial membrane potential marker, tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester perchlorate (TMRM) (Tsai et al. 2019; Dubois et al. 2011; Skelton et al. 2014; Hattori et al. 2010). The in vitro culture aims to harvest a high number of CMs without extensive manipulation to avoid undesired cellular and molecular effects. The suitable, reliable protocol ensures a high percentage yield of CMs expressing cardiac-specific marker TNTN2 in both hESCs and hiPSCs without using any purification protocol. Although well-defined differentiation conditions have significantly amended the reproducibility of differentiation, inter-experimental reproducibility remains a key challenge.

Status of iPSC-Derived Cardiomyocytes

Standard protocols for the differentiation of iPSCs into CMs generally result in heterogeneous cell populations with small, misaligned, immature CMs of varied shapes and sizes, lacking the well-formed myofibrils and T-tubules, polyploidy, polarized intercalated discs, or abundant mitochondria (Karbassi et al. 2020). Ideally, the adult cardiomyocyte phenotype both gives the structural framework of the cell and directly establishes critical functional properties of the cell, such as electrophysiology and contractility (Henderson et al. 2017; Tu et al. 2018). Previous studies have demonstrated that cardiomyocyte membrane capacitance is directly proportional to cell surface area. Therefore, elongated, an anisotropic shape, resulting in long myofibrils with laterally organized sarcomeres, permits efficient cardiac contractility (Gautel and Djinović-Carugo 2016). In summary, numerous studies showed the successful differentiation of iPSCs to beating CMs under a 2D platform; however, the generated CMs exhibit a profile analogous to fetal or primitive CMs (Di Baldassarre et al. 2018). Consequently, an immature cardiomyocyte phenotype is not an appropriate model for various preclinical and clinical studies.

The changes in the structure from immature to mature CMs lead to functional variance restraining the potential of hPSC-CMs to recapitulate normal development or model human disease, thus limiting its clinical and research utility. Hence, the success of generating the physiologically competent cardiomyocyte phenotype derived from iPSCs is technically limited using the current protocols and methods of inducing differentiation. At this juncture, differentiation protocols using scaffolds have gained more attention since it renders the cultured cells in an environment which mimics their natural niche or environment. The most advanced culture technique is the generation of organoids, which are the miniature microphysiological system mimicking in vivo milieu. Although advanced organoid culture systems obtained from native decellularized extracellular matrices' (ECMs') frameworks have been developed and commercialized, their reproducibility remains a serious concern (Aisenbrey and Murph 2020). Synthetic scaffolds, such as hydrogels and their derivatives, which offer fully defined hydrogel-based scaffold recapitulating in vivo cellular microenvironment, are also used for the generation of organoids. Their availability facilitates amenable heterogeneous culture systems with long-term viability.

Current Technical Limitations

The cumbersome invasive isolation procedures followed by technical difficulties in culturing human primary CMs are the potential reasons for the deficient information about the cardiomyocyte biology. Thus, culturing of CMs from the non-human origin and experimental animal models were the only viable options for carrying out fundamental explorations in cardiac research. However, mouse and human CMs exhibit various distinct maturation features like MYH6/7 isoform switching, contraction rates, and action potential profiles (Reiser et al. 2001; Li et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2014; Nugraha et al. 2019). The animal models and non-human origin model cells are often considered inaccurate model systems to study the pathophysiological conditions of CMs in humans. Therefore, the human origin cardiomyocyte-based model system remains an important contemporary need for the understanding of cardiomyocyte biology. Thus, the human-derived CMs will provide a more relevant model system for understanding the pathophysiology of CMs, besides providing an efficient assay platform for drug discovery and drug toxicity. Furthermore, manipulating the human-derived competent cardiac organoids using the appropriate delivery system and bio-adhesive glues can be potentially employed in tissue engineering approaches for regenerating damaged myocardium.

State of the Art

Stem cells have enormous plasticity to differentiate into various desired lineages. However, the idea of using stem cells to differentiate into the cardiac lineage has so far been a relatively tough proposition for researchers around the world due to its complex nature. ESCs are the choice of cells in this regard, yet ethical concern has restricted its clinical utility. Similar to ESCs, the iPSCs also have enormous differentiation potential if provided with specific conditions and cues. Although cardiomyogenic differentiation of iPSCs has been extensively reported in the literature, maturation defects in iPSC-derived CMs remain a challenge and, hence, snag their clinical use (Ahmed et al. 2011a, b; Buccini et al. 2012; Li et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2014; Nugraha et al. 2019). Using the current standard 2D differentiationinduction protocols in vitro, iPSC-derived CMs lack the dynamic physical cues, i.e., tissue-like framework; the absence of non-cardiac source cells, i.e., endothelial cells, myofibroblasts, etc.; and the environmental cues, i.e., hemodynamic force, necessary to induce and propagate their maturation even after prolonged culture conditions (Gautel and Djinović-Carugo 2016). Therefore, a novel and technically designed 3D platform has been developed that controls the elongated anisotropic rod-shaped morphology and facilitates successful maturation of the derived CMs (Philippe et al. 2020; Yokoyama et al. 2021). Such a platform prompts morphological growth and maturation in a brief span, which is highly advantageous for its applications. Therefore, a 3D culture system is considered a more realistic model for developing a multicellular in vitro tissue construct that mimes its corresponding in vivo organ for various theranostic applications (James et al. 2021).

Regulation of Lineage Differentiation in Stem Cells

The epigenome or the chromatin landscape of stem cells determines their potency and long-term self-renewing ability. Thus, epigenetics plays a significant regulatory role in determining stem cell fate. Modern biologists define epigenetics as the study of heritable changes in gene expression that does not involve changes to the underlying DNA sequence – a change in phenotype without a change in genotype (Waddington 2012). Each cell type has a similar genome in a complex mammalian system, but the gene expression profiles vary according to the specific cell type depending on its function (Govarthanan et al. 2021). The ability of stem cells to selfrenew and differentiate into various downstream lineages is highly dependent on specialized chromatin signatures that keep stem cell-specific genes active and vital differentiation factors repressed but poised for activation (Yoshida et al. 2019). Numerous but specific epigenetic changes occur concomitantly during the differentiation of MSCs to particular cell types. Thus, an epigenetic landmark not only dictates the expression profile of the stem cells; it also determines the ability of differentiation into various lineages effectively.

Differentiation Cues

Small Molecule Inhibitors

Small molecule inhibitors are biologically active moleties employed as inductive cues to modulate cell fate. Thus, small molecules are being used as versatile tools to probe the events of developmental processes besides treating cancers and degenerative diseases. Small molecules can also modify or manipulate stem cell fate by inducing their self-renewal property or enhancing their lineage differentiation potential (Ying et al. 2003; Sato et al. 2004; Chen et al. 2006; Li et al. 2011). Interestingly, these molecules play a crucial role in the reprogramming of somatic cells by replacing one or two transcription factors and thereby enhancing or accelerating the reprogramming process (Shi et al. 2008; Mikkelsen et al. 2008; Huangfu et al. 2008; Li et al. 2009; Pasha et al. 2011). Therefore, the addition and withdrawing effects of small molecule inhibitors aid us to understand the developmental and regulatory phenomenon to devise a reproducible protocol for cellular reprogramming (Chen et al. 2006; Ying et al. 2003; Sato et al. 2006; Li et al. 2009, 2011; Shi et al. 2008; Mikkelsen et al. 2008; Huangfu et al. 2008). Given their ease of use, they are employed in various reprogramming protocols, as illustrated in Fig. 2.

Role of Small Molecule Inhibitors in Stem Cell Biology

Advanced reprogramming protocols are being developed based on non-integrating and non-genetic delivery methods in an attempt to establish commercial as well as



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of cues employed for differentiation of stems cells and its application

clinical-grade iPSC preparations (Yu et al. 2009; Zhou et al. 2009; Kim et al. 2009; Yakubov et al. 2010; Huangfu et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2018). Although it requires the repeated addition of small molecules, it is simple and cost-effective. A chemicalbased reprogramming approach has also been reported to replace one or two transcription factors to generate iPSCs (Pasha et al. 2011; Hou et al. 2013). Chemical modulators are categorized as epigenetic modifiers, modulators of cell signaling pathways, cell death and stress alleviators, and modulators of metabolism, thus interacting with the proteins by either activating or inhibiting their activity to control the fate of the cells (Cao et al. 2016). Some of the epigenetic modifiers are solely used to increase the yield of iPSCs. Some of the typical examples based on the mode of activity of these modifiers are BIX01294, a diazepine-quinazolinamine derivative and histone-lysine methyltransferase (HMTase) inhibitor that modulates the epigenetic status of chromatin (Shi et al. 2008), and HDAC inhibitors like valproic acid (VPA), trichostatin A (TSA), and suberanilohydroxamic acid (SAHA) that block HDAC resulting in the hypoacetylation of histones and an increase in gene expression in the target cells, which can decrease transcription (Mikkelsen et al. 2008).

Our group has deciphered the role of 5-azacytidine (5-Az) and CHIR99021 in augmenting the differentiation of MSCs. We found that inherently hypomethylated cardiac-enriched gene promoter regions in MSCs might render 5-Az-induced protocols redundant (Govarthanan et al. 2020a, b). Wnt agonist CHIR99021 primed MSCs showed a state of increased potency (Govarthanan et al. 2020a, b). Thus, manipulation of MSCs using potent pharmacological cues enhanced their trans-differentiation potential and augmented their clinical utility. DNA methyltransferase inhibitor RG108, a non-nucleoside analog, acts by direct binding to the methyltransferase enzyme, blocking the enzyme active site (Pasha et al. 2011; Cheng et al. 2015). BIX01294 also inhibits histone methyltransferase enzyme

G9a, and therefore, it is used for replacing Sox2 and c-Myc in generating iPSCs (Takahashi et al. 2007; Li et al. 2009; Silva et al. 2008).

Somatic cell reprogramming efficiency is improved in humans and mice using VPA and DNA methyltransferase inhibitor (Li et al. 2009). Also, modulators of signaling pathways, such as MEK inhibitor (PD0325901), cell-permeable inhibitor of the MEK/ERK pathway that inhibits the activation and downstream signaling of MEK (Takahashi et al. 2007), and agonist of Wnt pathway, GSK3b inhibitor (CHIR09921), were used for the complete and stable establishment of pluripotency in neuronal stem cells (NSCs) using two factors Oct4 and Klf4 (Li et al. 2009). Cheng et al. have reported chemically induced NSCs (ciNSCs) from mouse tail-tip fibroblasts by using a cocktail of VPA (HDAC inhibitor, HDACi), CHIR99021 (GSK3 β inhibitor), and RepSox (a cell-permeable, selective inhibitor of the TGF- β type I receptor) under physiological hypoxic conditions $(5\%O_2)$ (Cheng et al. 2015). Another study showed endogenous Oct4 activation using Wnt pathway agonists (NaB, LiCl) and SB431542 (a selective and potent inhibitor of the TGF-B/Activin/ NODAL pathway that inhibits activating-like kinases (Alk5, Alk4, and Alk7) by competing for the ATP binding site) in mouse embryonic fibroblasts under physiological hypoxic conditions and obtained ciNSCs that resembled NSCs in gene expression profile and differentiation potential (Cheng et al. 2014). Pei et al. also demonstrated the conversion of human fibroblasts into neurons using a cocktail of small molecules (Pei et al. 2015). Table 1 enlists the broad activity of small molecule inhibitors in reprogramming on the various cellular sources.

Microenvironment

Extracellular matrix (ECM) is a dynamic and complex milieu in the stem cell niche governing the cell behavior and significantly influences stem cell fate toward cardiac differentiation (Gong et al. 2021). In vitro studies have revealed that stem cell culturing in biomaterial systems induces cardiac-specific gene expression and cardiomyogenic differentiation potential (Lin et al. 2016). For example, BM-derived MSCs cultured on collagen nanoparticles display upregulated cardiac-specific gene expression compared to MSCs cultured without collagen nanoparticles. On the other hand, MSCs cultured on graphene increase their cardiac-specific gene expression (Park et al. 2014). Compared to collagen, graphene is found to have conductive properties; however, issues related to biocompatibility need to be addressed before proceeding to applications. Substrates of graphene and collagen that can be used as scaffolds for achieving cardiac differentiation of MSCs by mimicking the ECM properties associated with the native cardiac microenvironment are currently under research (Rashedi et al. 2017). MSCs stimulated under electrical impetus show early cardiac transcription factors, such as GATA4 and Nkx2.5.

Therefore, electroconductive influence is considered as a significant parameter to achieve cardiac differentiation in MSCs (Rashedi et al. 2017). Adipose-derived MSCs treated with HDAC inhibitor TSA cultured on the fibrin scaffold showed activated gene transcription profiles of CMs (Song et al. 2011). Polyurethane nanofibers induced

Compound name	Identity	Function	Source
Valproic acid (VPA)	HDAC inhibitor	Promotes MEF reprogramming efficiency and enables Oct4- and Sox2-mediated reprogramming of human fibroblasts Facilitates protein-mediated reprogramming of MEFs	Mouse embryonic fibroblast and human fibroblasts Mice adult pancreatic exocrine cells
Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid	HDAC inhibitor	Promotes MEF reprogramming efficiency	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
Trichostatin A	HDAC inhibitor	Promotes MEF reprogramming efficiency	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
Sodium butyrate (NaB)	HDAC inhibitor	Enhances reprogramming efficiency of human adult or fetal fibroblasts Facilitates Oct4-only-mediated reprogramming when combined with A-83-01/PD0325901/PS48	Human adult or fetal fibroblasts Human keratinocytes
BIX01294	G9a HMT inhibitor	Enables NPC reprogramming mediated by Oct4 and Klf4 or substitutes for Oct4 in NPC reprogramming Promotes MEF reprogramming mediated by <i>Oct4</i> and <i>Klf4</i>	Mouse ESCs and fetal brain cells Mouse embryonic fibroblast
RG108	DNMT inhibitor	Promotes MEF reprogramming mediated by Oct4 when combined with BIX01294	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
5-Azacytidine	DNMT inhibitor	Increases MEF reprogramming efficiency	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
Parnate	LSD1 inhibitor	Enables reprogramming of human keratinocytes mediated by Oct4 and Klf4 Facilitates the conversion of mEpiSCs to native pluripotent state	Human neonatal epidermal keratinocytes Mouse epiblast stem cells
PD0325901	MEK inhibitor	Blocks the differentiation pathway of ESCs and supports self-renewal Supports ESC derivation from refractory strains or species Facilitates conversion of mEpiSCs and hESCs to native pluripotent state Facilitates generation and maintenance of mESC-like rat or human iPSCs Facilitates rapid and efficient generation of fully reprogrammed hiPSCs Enables Oct4-mediated reprogramming when combined with A-83-01/NaB/PS48	Mouse ESCs, human ESCs Mouse ESCs, rat ESCs Mouse epiblast stem cells, human ESCs Rat WB-F344 cells, human fibroblasts IMR90 Human primary fibroblasts (CRL2097 or BJ) Human keratinocytes

 Table 1
 Summary of reported small molecule inhibitors and its pleiotropic effects

(continued)

Compound name	Identity	Function	Source
CHIR99021	GSK3 inhibitor	Supports ESC self-renewal and facilitates ESC derivation from refractory stains or species Captures and maintains lineage- specific stem cells like pNSCs; facilitates the conversion of mEpiSCs and hESCs to native pluripotency Enables Oct4- and Klf4-mediated reprogramming of MEFs or human primary keratinocytes with Parnate Facilitates generation and maintenance of mESC-like rat or hiPSCs Facilitates the neural conversion of human fibroblasts mediated by Ascl1 and Ngn2	hESCs, hESCs mESCs, rat ESCs, hESCs Human keratinocytes, hESCs, human fibroblasts IMR90 Rat WB-F344 cells Human postnatal fibroblast lines
6-Bromoindirubin- 39-oxime (BIO)	GSK3 inhibitor	Promotes self-renewal of ESCs and Isl+ cardiovascular progenitors	HESCs and mESCs mESCs and human heart Isl1-positive cells
Kenpaullone	GSK3 and CDK inhibitor	Replaces Klf4 in MEF reprogramming	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
PD173074	FGF receptor inhibitor	Supports mESCs' self-renewal Facilitates the conversion of mEpiSCs to native pluripotent state	mESCs Mouse epiblast stem cells
SU5402	FGF receptor inhibitor	Supports mESCs' self-renewal	mESCs
A-83-01	ALK4, ALK5, ALK7 inhibitor	Facilitates the conversion of mEpiSCs to native pluripotent state Enables generation and long-term maintenance of mESC-like human iPSCs Enables Oct4-mediated reprogramming when combined with PD0325901/NaB/PS48	Mouse epiblast stem cells Human primary fibroblasts (CRL2097 or BJ) Human keratinocytes
SB431542	ALK4, ALK5, ALK7 inhibitor	Captures and maintains pNSCs when combined with CHIR99021 Facilitates rapid and efficient generation of fully reprogrammed hiPSCs Facilitates the neural conversion of human fibroblasts mediated by Ascl1 and Ngn2	hESCs Human primary fibroblasts (CRL2097 or BJ) Human postnatal fibroblast lines

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

747

Compound name	Identity	Function	Source
E-616452	ALK4, ALK5, and ALK7 inhibitor	Replaces Sox2 in MEF reprogramming	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
LDN193189	ALK2, ALK3, and ALK6 inhibitor	Facilitates the neural conversion of human fibroblasts mediated by Ascl1 and Ngn2	Human postnatal fibroblast lines
Compound E	c-secretase inhibitor	Accelerates the generation of pNSCs	hESCs
JAK inhibitor I	JAK inhibitor	Inhibits the generation of iPSCs in iPSC-TF-based transdifferentiation	Mouse fibroblast cells
Pluripotin (SC1)	Ras GAP and ERK inhibitor	Maintains mESC self-renewal	mESCs
Y-27632	ROCK inhibitor	Improves survival of hESCs upon dissociation	hESCs
Thiazovivin (Tzv)	ROCK inhibitor	Improves survival of hESCs upon dissociation Facilitates rapid and efficient generation of fully reprogrammed hiPSCs	hESCs Human primary fibroblasts (CRL2097 or BJ)
StemRegenin1	AhR antagonist	Enables ex vivo expansion of CD34+ HSCs	Human HSCs
PS48	PDK1 activator	Enables OCT4-mediated reprogramming with A-83-01, NaB, and PD0325901	Human keratinocytes
BayK8644	L-type Ca ²⁺ channel agonist	Promotes MEF reprogramming mediated by Oct4 and Klf4 when combined with BIX01294	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
Forskolin	PKA agonist	Induces Klf4 and Klf2 expression to facilitate hESCs' conversion into a native pluripotent state	hESCs

Table 1 (continued)

Modified and adapted from Zhang et al. (2012)

HDAC histone deacetylase, HMT histone methyltransferase, DNMT DNA methyltransferase, LSD1 lysine-specific demethylase 1, MEK MAPK kinase, GSK3 glycogen synthase kinase 3, FGF fibroblast growth factor; ALK activin A receptor-like kinase, ALK2, ACVR1; ALK3, BMPR1A; ALK4, ACVR1B; ALK5, TGFBBR1; ALK6, BMPR1B; ALK7, ACVR1C, JAK Janus kinase, RasGAP Ras GTPase-activating protein, ERKs extracellular signal-regulated kinases, PDK1 phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1, ROCK Rho-associated coiled-coil-containing protein kinase, AhR aryl hydrocarbon receptor, PKA, protein kinase A, MEF mouse embryonic fibroblasts, ESC embryonic stem cell, mESC mouse ESC, hESC human ESC, mEpiSC mouse epiblast stem cell, iPSC induced pluripotent stem cell, NPC neural progenitor cell, pNSC primitive neural stem cell, HSC hematopoietic stem cell

cardiac gene expression under 3D conditions; especially, it rendered MSCs to attain aligned morphology compared to the 2D cultured conditions. Therefore, scaffolds involving experimental conditions strongly favor cardiomyogenesis in vitro.

Exosomes for In Vitro and In Vivo Cardiac Applications

3MSCs secrete soluble and insoluble factors, including growth factors, cytokines, exosomes, etc., as a part of their paracrine activity capable of regenerating the damaged cardiac tissue. The paracrine action of MSCs is now an established mechanism by which the transplanted cells contribute by supporting the intrinsic repair mechanisms (Haider and Aziz 2017). Moreover, it has also led to the emergence of a cell-free therapy approach for myocardial repair (Haider and Aslam 2018). The transplanted MSCs activate the endogenous stem cell its home to the infarcted myocardium, participate in the repair process, as well as maintain the regional tissue homeostasis (Lei and Haider 2017). MSCs also secrete exosomes containing their specific cargo, which is used for intracellular trafficking and communication, thereby modulating the fate of the endogenous stem cells' population (Zhang et al. 2015; Tsiapalis and O'Driscoll 2020; Ramesh et al. 2021). Exosomes are typically 30–100-nm-diameter released particles containing bioactive molecules like proteins, lipids, RNAs (mRNA, rRNAs, tRNAs, lncRNAs, miRNAs, and mtDNA), etc. (Li et al. 2018; Sebastião et al. 2019). Given their payload of biologically active molecules, the use of exosomes is fast emerging as a cell-free system offering exciting prospects for myocardial regenerative therapies. The secreted exosomes mainly exert anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptosis, enduring immune-tolerance, pro-angiogenic, and supporting tissue regeneration via the activation of resident progenitor cells (Haider and Aramini 2020). Current research is focused on exosomes' characterization for cell-free therapy. In this regard, exosomes derived from stem cells of diverse tissue origins and cultured under different conditions are being profiled for their heterogeneity. MSCs in native state secrete pro-angiogenic factors, while pretreatment with hypoxia or hypoxia mimicking agents promoted the release of pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic factors (Zhao et al. 2015; Zhu et al. 2018). Similarly, interleukin-1 primed MSCs cultured under 3D conditions mimicked tissue damage and demonstrated to release paracrine factors, such as VEGF, GCSF, and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) (Frith et al. 2010; Bartosh et al. 2010; Redondo-Castro et al. 2018). Further research on native and engineered exosomes may offer a novel alternative mode of treating CVDs.

Detailed Methodology

The methods of maturation state analysis of the cells cultured under 3D cardiac organoid conditions include morphological, functional, metabolic, and gene expression profiles specific for the maturation phase.

Functional Maturation Analysis

Morphological Analysis

It includes microscopic evaluation of sarcomere alignment, well-developed sarcoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondrial size and complexity in the developed 3D organoid model. Exhibition of elongated rod-shaped structure with the polyploidy (presence of bi- or multi-nucleus) is also counted as a parameter for determining the morphofunctional maturation of CMs.

Functional Analysis

This includes evaluating cardiac electrophysiology by patch clamping assay and providing a direct measurement of the cardiomyocyte action potential (AP). This is considered the gold standard for studying the voltage-gated channel activity, the membrane potential in resting state, polarized, and depolarized states. Analyzing the Ikl current corresponds to the mature state in CMs (Zhao et al. 2018). Another analysis is to study the calcium-induced release and fast excitation-contraction coupling events using fluo-4 fluorescent Ca²⁺ indicator (molecular probes) in the presence of pluronic F-127 (molecular probes) at a dilution of 2:1 to allow the recording of intracellular Ca²⁺ transients (Berlinguer-Palmini et al. 2014).

Metabolic Analysis

It includes the evaluation of size and complexity of mitochondria and their alignment near the sarcomere through high-resolution microscopic examination. Mitochondrial volume increases, leading to increased oxidative capacity in CMs; thereby, the mature CMs metabolically switch from glucose to fatty acid metabolism, i.e., from glycolysis to β -oxidation of fatty acids (Dai et al. 2017). As a result, more acidified ECM is generated. Further estimation of oxygen consumption rate and extracellular acidification rate would give information about CMs' metabolic maturation.

Cardiomyocyte Maturation-Specific Gene Expression Analysis

This includes monitoring the gene expression switching from MYH6 to MYH7, TNNI1 to TNNI3, TTN-N2BA to TTN-N2B, and MYL7 to MYL2 to determine the successive manifestation of the maturation phase in CMs (Opitz et al. 2004). Moreover, activation and oxidative phosphorylation of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis, such as PPARGC1A, PPARA, and ESRRA, and increased expression of Ca⁺²-handling genes, such as Cav1.2, RYR2, and SERCA2, will be substantiated with the maturation events in the newly developed CMs (Guan et al. 2020; Guo and Pu 2020). Overall representation of fully mature competent CMs is illustrated in Fig. 3.

Limitations of 2D Culture

Lack of accuracy in 2D-mediated prevailing assays evaluating the cardiotoxicity of drugs currently leads to commercial withdrawal of numerous anti-cancer drugs. In addition, divergence in mouse and human physiology shows that experimental animals provide inaccurate model systems to study the pathophysiological conditions in humans (Reiser et al. 2001; Li et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2014; Nugraha et al. 2019). 2D culture-derived CMs fail to mimic the profile of adult CMs, and hence,



Fig. 3 Flowchart representation of mature cardiomyocyte characterization

its application in clinics may not fetch desired results. Consequently, a system needs to be devised to precisely serve the needs for in vitro and in vivo applications via a 3D advanced organoid technology to mimic stem cells' natural habitat. These bioengineered cardiac organoids – a microphysiological system, capable of re-creating certain aspects of the CMs physiology and manifested to offer multiple benefits in vitro a model system for drug toxicity screening and further developing the micropatterned cardiac organoids loaded hydrogels as a patch for effective delivery and engraftment in the infarcted myocardium for heart tissue regeneration. Figure 4 portrays the importance of a 3D culture system aimed to achieve morphological features for competent cardiomyocyte generation.

3D Cardiac Organoids

The emergent growth on the 3D cell culture market (expected to reach \$1.69 billion in 2024) sets the trends for the development of new platforms enabling the re-creation of the cell's natural environment (*Source: https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/3d-cell-culture-market-size-worth-1-69-billion-by-2024-cagr-14-8-grand-view-research-inc-875064289.html*). 3D cell cultures provide a better resemblance to in vivo models of the morphology of organs or cells, thereby providing an efficient way in discovering novel druggable targets.

The availability of iPSC-derived CMs, together with the availability of a 3D culture system, has given impetus to human cardiomyocyte-based research to address the current challenges. It is analogous to the immature fetal cardiomyocyte-phenotype and genotype, heterogeneous in shape with a different action potential, etc. (Karbassi et al. 2020; Henderson et al. 2017; Tu et al. 2018;



Fig. 4 Representation of current technical limitations of 2D-induced CMs and significant manipulations to achieve under 3D culture conditions to generate morphofunctionally competent CMs

Nasri et al. 2018). The internal microarchitecture is also different in terms of myosin, troponin, and sarcomeric protein contents, thus leading to dissimilar hierarchical levels of differentiation. A vast number of homogeneous populations of cells (and that too in reproducible manner) are generally required for cell-based therapy, which is difficult to achieve from the current culture conditions and protocols. iPSCs in this regard provide a renewable source of cells but with immature phenotype, as described earlier. Hence, several novel methods and culture techniques have been employed to render the highest degree of maturation in iPSC-derived CMs. Methods include identifying a synergistic cocktail of cues triggering complete differentiation profile and advanced culture technologies, including supporting native, synthetic, or hybrid biomaterial-derived scaffolds, subjecting electrical and mechanical cues, etc.

Working on the 3D Models

The choice of using patient-derived disease-specific cell lines with phenotypes and mutations in a human genetic context might open up new possibilities in precision medicine and gene therapy. The hiPSC-derived CMs with a disease-specific geno-type offer in vivo tissue-like features and identify the novel leads which the 2D culture system fails to reveal. A recent study has shown the contractile deficit truncated in hiPSC-derived CMs with truncation in the sarcomeric protein Titin that was not apparent in 2D cultured CMs, but was evident in engineering heart tissue working under PDMS or silicone pillar system (Hinson et al. 2015). The various methods that enable differentiated CMs exhibiting adult cardiomyocyte characteristics, at the cellular and molecular levels, are illustrated in Fig. 5. All the aforementioned methodologies synergistically facilitate the cardiac maturation process and generate morphofunctionally competent CMs. In this regard, the 3D culture system has prompted the exploration of cardiac spheroid system to investigate therapy-induced changes in the physiology of the heart concerning contractility



Fig. 5 3D model innovative methodologies proposed to conduct research for deriving competent morphofunctionally competent CMs for theranostic applications

and calcium handling. With these advanced technologies, few cardiomyopathy models have been demonstrated under 3D conditions to better understand the disease pathophysiology and related drug discovery.

The multicellular aggregates are the most rudimentary type of 3D culture, constructed by the self-assembly of floating cells on low-attachment surfaces via the liquid overlay method (Edmondson et al. 2014). Such suspension cultures can be maintained economically by using a sterile dish with a thin agarose film. Fetal or newborn animal-derived early CMs have already demonstrated their spontaneous tendency to form multicellular aggregate.

Many cell culture suppliers provide multi-well plates with U-shaped bottom and different undercoats for ultra-low attachment, resulting in the mass production of self-assembled spheroids or similar formats.

A soft silicone pattern can also be used to make agarose casts with several small wells for micro-tissue processing. The hanging drop method could effectively harvest uniform micro-tissues, and recently, advanced sophisticated systems incorporating hanging drops in microfluidic systems, such as perfusion and sensors, have been developed (Velasco et al. 2020). Overall, one benefit of the spheroid as a 3D cell culture is the ability to use semi-automatic methods to manufacture spheroids by filling multi-well plates with a pipetting robot for media change, drug treatment, and sample analysis in a versatile high-content screening manner.

Scaffolds Employed

The rate-limiting step in the success of the 3D culture system is the appropriate selection and usage of scaffold or assisting mold. Initially, native ECM components, such as fibrin/thrombin and/or collagen and Matrigel components, were used as a scaffold. However, the system remains undefined and, hence, leads to reproducibility concerns. Generation of bio-scaffolds using semi-synthetic and hybrid hydrogel-based systems have also been successfully designed and used for primary newborn rodent cardiomyocyte or stem cell-derived cardiomyocyte culturing as either a single-culture or co-culture system (Karbassi et al. 2020).

Similarly, 3D culture systems may also be defined by different geometries governing the shape of the organoids (Chaicharoenaudomrung et al. 2020). They are relatively more reliable in recapitulating the physiology of the CMs and further analysis, interpretation, and validation of the results on a real-time basis using these versatile 3D cardiac models. Combining with engineering technology, the microfluidic system has gained significant attention since it almost replaces the need for the animal model. The most recent innovations in this field are an organ-on-chip platform, which has been designed to incorporate micro-vasculatures using various techniques such as molding technologies, bioprinting, and combinations of these technologies. This is then used to model drug development to understand cardiovascular diseases (Ribas et al. 2016; Paloschi et al. 2021). For a long time, the problem of oxygen supply in larger artificial tissues has been a focus of tissue engineering study. Still, these processes are essentially multi-factorial, involving fine-tuned expression and post-translational processing of growth factors, relaying extracellular signals, and participation of other cell types to create a well-perfused vascular network in vitro. However, this has proven to be more difficult than expected. The modern advanced single-cell micropatterning technique involves soft lithography and micro-contact printing methods to facilitate the microfabrication of hydrogel scaffolds (Kit-Anan et al. 2021). However, these methods are labor-intensive and time-consuming. Alternatively, stencil-based single-cell patterning has been reported to generate micropatterned CMs derived from single hiPSCs. These CMs exhibited distinctive cell anisotropic morphology with an aspect ratio ranging from 1:1 square to 7:1 analogous to adult CMs with a rectangular shape (Lee et al. 2020). Therefore, future research is expected to result in patterned singlecell lithography-free, precisely robust, expedient, economical, and accessible for tissue engineering approaches.

Analytical Methods

All 3D culture methods, where the cells are available, and traditional lab techniques such as immunocytochemistry, immunohistochemistry, and cell viability/cytotoxicity assays are feasible for end-point analysis. Cell physiology methods for studying cardiac features in living tissues, such as contractions, force, calcium cycling, or electric signals, necessitate sophisticated instrumentation that varies in sensitivity and temporal and spatial resolution. All these methods require skilled labor for obtaining work reproducibility, and it is also time-consuming. Advanced optical methods, mainly video-based analysis, for reading the stretches of sarcomeres in beating CMs, have been introduced as commercially available hardware and software packages (IonOptix, Sony) or by employing compatible open-access platform accompanying microscopes and cameras (Zuppinger 2019). In vivo imaging platform has emerged as a convenient method using white light as optical reader. Its primary advantage is that it can be repeated under a controlled culture environment. Researchers have used conventional spectroscopic methods, i.e., patch clamping and sampling with sharp microelectrode pipettes, to test electrical signals and contractile activity in cardiac 3D models. In addition to the traditional electrophysiology approaches, advanced techniques, such as multi-electrode arrays and impedance spectroscopy, are currently gaining serious consideration.

Conclusions and Outlook

Developing a prototypical system that meticulously and exactly mimics the in vivo microarchitecture will be highly beneficial for understanding cardiomyocyte biology. Numerous in vitro studies have shown that a combination of biological and chemical cues may enable an abundant supply of CMs rather than that of the single alone. Nevertheless, those studies botched to reciprocate the inducers morphofunctional characteristics of the adult CMs. Addressing the current technical limitations of conventional 2D culture systems, the modern 3D culture systems provide appropriate bio-mimetic multicellular tissue constructs for various theranostic applications. The potential modern 3D culture system is primarily intended to offer advanced replicas of culture environments that are physiologically appropriate for electrical conductivity, mechanical strength, physicochemical properties, etc. However, in-depth studies are mandatory to ensure the accuracy, validity, and reproducibility of these models, besides enhanced versatility and robustness. Thus, generating the mature engineered heart tissue demands micro- or nanofabricator platforms using bio-ink, which requires biomaterial precisely matching in vivo cardiac ECM. Identifying novel biomaterials that can expedite specific cellto-cell interactions is dire to guide efficient cardiac differentiation in 3D culture conditions. In a nutshell, the perfect combination of cell biology and tissue engineering with the appropriate biophysical platforms should effectively deliver functionally competent CMs for various research, clinical, and industrial purposes.

References

Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011a) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70. https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/circresaha.110.240010

- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011b) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host: a note of caution. Regen Med 6: 171–178. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21391851/
- Ahuja P, Sdek P, MacLellan WR (2007) Cardiac myocyte cell cycle control in development, disease, and regeneration. Physiol Rev 87(2):521–544. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev. 00032.2006
- Aisenbrey EA, Murph WL (2020) Synthetic alternatives to Matrigel. Nat Rev Mater 5(7):539–551. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41578-020-0199-8
- Akazawa H, Komuro I (2003) Roles of cardiac transcription factors in cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 92(10):1079–1088. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000072977.86706.23
- Allen RE, Merkel RA, Young RB (1979) Cellular aspect of muscle growth: myogenic cell proliferation. J Anim Sci 49(1):115–127. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/500507/
- Anokye-Danso F, Trivedi CM, Juhr D, Gupta M, Cui Z, Tian Y, Zhang Y et al (2011) Highly efficient miRNA-mediated reprogramming of mouse and human somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 8(4):376–388. Erratum in: Cell Stem Cell. 2012 11(6):853. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2011.03.001
- Bartosh TJ, Ylöstalo JH, Mohammadipoor A, Bazhanov N, Coble K, Claypool K, Lee RH et al (2010) Aggregation of human mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) into 3D spheroids enhances their anti-inflammatory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107(31):13724–13729. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20643923/
- Beenken A, Mohammadi M (2009) The FGF family: biology, pathophysiology and therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 8(3):235–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2792
- Berkes CA, Tapscott SJ (2005) MyoD and the transcriptional control of myogenesis. Semin Cell Dev Biol 16(4–5):585–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2005.07.006
- Berlinguer-Palmini R, Narducci R, Merhan K, Dilaghi A, Moroni F, Masi A, Scartabelli T et al (2014) Arrays of microLEDs and astrocytes: biological amplifiers to optogenetically modulate neuronal networks reducing light requirement. PLoS One 9(9):e108689. https://journals.plos. org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0108689
- Blaeser F, Ho N, Prywes R, Chatilam TA (2000) Ca(2+)-dependent gene expression mediated by MEF2 transcription factors. J Biol Chem 275(1):197–209. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275. 1.197
- Boland MJ, Hazen JL, Nazor KL, Rodriguez AR, Gifford W, Martin G, Kupriyanov S et al (2009) Adult mice generated from induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 461(7260):91–104. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature08310
- Brade T, Pane LS, Moretti A, Chien KR, Laugwitz KL (2013) Embryonic heart progenitors and cardiogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3(10):a013847. https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a013847
- Brand T (2003) Heart development: molecular insights into cardiac specification and early morphogenesis. Dev Biol 258(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0012-1606(03)00112-x
- Bratt-Leal AM, Carpenedo RL, McDevitt TC (2009) Engineering the embryoid body microenvironment to direct embryonic stem cell differentiation. Biotechnol Prog 25(1):43–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.139
- Brown CO, Chi X, Garcia-Gras E, Shirai M, Feng XH, Schwartz RJ (2004) The cardiac determination factor, Nkx2-5, is activated by mutual cofactors GATA-4 and Smad1/4 via a novel upstream enhancer. J Biol Chem 279(11):10659–10669. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M301648200
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301–314. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23076626/
- Buikema JW, Mady AS, Mittal NV, Atmanli A, Caron L, Doevendans PA, Sluijter JP et al (2013) Wnt/β-catenin signaling directs the regional expansion of first and second heart field-derived ventricular cardiomyocytes. Development 140(20):4165–4176. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev. 099325

- Camp E, Dietrich S, Münsterberg A (2012) Fate mapping identifies the origin of SHF/AHF progenitors in the chick primitive streak. PLoS One 7(12):e51948. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0051948
- Cao N, Huang Y, Zheng J, Spencer CI, Zhang Y, Fu JD, Nie B et al (2016) Conversion of human fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by small molecules. Science 352(6290):1216–1220. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27127239/
- Caspi O, Huber I, Kehat I, Habib M, Arbel G, Gepstein A et al (2007) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes improves myocardial performance in infarcted rat hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 50:1884–1893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007.07.054
- Chaicharoenaudomrung N, Kunhorm P, Noisa P (2020) Three-dimensional cell culture systems as an in vitro platform for cancer and stem cell modeling. World J Stem Cells 11(12):1065–1083. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v11.i12.1065
- Chen CY, Schwartz RJ (1995) Identification of novel DNA binding targets and regulatory domains of a murine tinman homeodomain factor, nkx-2.5. J Biol Chem 270(26):15628–15633. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.26.15628
- Chen S, Do JT, Zhang Q, Yao S, Yan F, Peters EC, Schöler HR et al (2006) Self-renewal of embryonic stem cells by a small molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(46):17266–17271. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608156103
- Cheng L, Hu W, Qiu B, Zhao J, Yu Y, Guan W, Wang M et al (2014) Generation of neural progenitor cells by chemical cocktails and hypoxia. Cell Res 24(6):665–679. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/24638034/
- Cheng L, Gao L, Guan W, Mao J, Hu W, Qiu B, Zhao J et al (2015) Direct conversion of astrocytes into neuronal cells by drug cocktail. Cell Res 25(11):1269–1272. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC4650423/
- Chow MZ, Boheler KR, Li RA (2013) Human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes for heart regeneration, drug discovery and disease modeling: from the genetic, epigenetic, and tissue modeling perspectives. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(4):1–3. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3854712/
- Cohen ED, Miller MF, Wang Z, Moon RT, Morrisey EE (2012) Wnt5a and Wnt11 are essential for second heart field progenitor development. Development 139(11):1931–1940. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.069377
- Dai D, Danoviz ME, Wiczer B, Laflamme MA, Tian R (2017) Mitochondrial maturation in human pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes. Stem Cell Int 2017:5153625. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2017/5153625
- Damjanov I, Solter D (1974) Experimental teratoma. Curr Top Pathol:69–129. https://link.springer. com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-642-65857-0_2?noAccess=true
- Derynck R, Zhang YE (2003) Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling. Nature 425(6958):577–584. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02006
- Di Baldassarre A, Cimetta E, Bollini S, Gaggi G, Ghinassi B (2018) Human-induced pluripotent stem cell technology and cardiomyocyte generation: progress and clinical applications. Cell 7(6):48. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells7060048
- Dubois NC, Craft AM, Sharma P, Elliott DA, Stanley EG, Elefanty AG, Gramolini A, Keller G (2011) SIRPA is a specific cell-surface marker for isolating cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 29(11):1011–1018. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ 22020386/
- Edmondson R, Broglie JJ, Adcock AF, Yang L (2014) Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors. Assay Drug Dev Technol 12(4): 207–218. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24831787/
- Eisenberg LM, Kubalak SW, Eisenberg CA (2004) Stem cells and the formation of the myocardium in the vertebrate embryo. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 276(1):2–12. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ar.a.10130
- Elmadbouh I, Haider KH, Ashraf M, Juan-Carlos Chachques JC (2011) Preconditioning of human skeletal myoblast with stromal cell-derived factor-1α promotes cytoprotective effects against

oxidative and anoxic stress. Int J Stem Cells 4:50-60. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ 24298334/

- Friedman NB, Moore RA (1946) Tumors of the testis. Mil Surg (United States) 99(5):573-593
- Frith JE, Thomson B, Genever PG (2010) Dynamic three-dimensional culture methods enhance mesenchymal stem cell properties and increase therapeutic potential. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 16(4):735–749. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19811095/
- Gautel M, Djinović-Carugo K (2016) The sarcomeric cytoskeleton: from molecules to motion. J Exp Biol 219(Pt 2):135–145. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.124941
- Gong R, Jiang Z, Zagidullin N, Liu T, Cai B (2021) Regulation of cardiomyocyte fate plasticity: a key strategy for cardiac regeneration. Signal Transduction Targeted Ther 6(1):1–1. https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33500391/
- Goumans MJ, Zwijsen A, Ten Dijke P, Bailly S (2018) Bone morphogenetic proteins in vascular homeostasis and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 10(2):a031989. https://doi.org/10. 1101/cshperspect.a031989
- Govarthanan K, Vidyasekar P, Gupta PK, Lenka N, Verma RS (2020a) Glycogen synthase kinase 3β inhibitor-CHIR 99021 augments the differentiation potential of mesenchymal stem cells. Cytotherapy 22(2):91–105. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31980369/
- Govarthanan K, Gupta PK, Ramasamy D, Kumar P, Mahadevan S, Verma RS (2020b) DNA methylation microarray uncovers a permissive methylome for cardiomyocyte differentiation in human mesenchymal stem cells. Genomics 112(2):1384–1395. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31415810/
- Govarthanan K, Gupta PK, Zipporah B, Gahtori R, Pandit S, Prasad R (2021) Epigenetic regulation- the guardian of cellular homeostasis and lineage commitment. Biocell 45(3):501. https://www.techscience.com/biocell/v45n3/41696
- Guan X, Xu W, Zhang H, Wang Q, Yu J, Zhang R, Chen Y et al (2020) Transplantation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes improves myocardial function and reverses ventricular remodeling in infarcted rat hearts. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):73. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01602-0
- Guo Y, Pu WT (2020) Cardiomyocyte maturation: new phase in development. Circ Res 126(8): 1086–1106. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.315862
- Hafez P, Jose S, Chowdhury SR, Ng MH, Ruszymah BH, Rahman A, Mohd R (2016) Cardiomyogenic differentiation of human sternal bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells using a combination of basic fibroblast growth factor and hydrocortisone. Cell Biol Int 40(1):55–64. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26289249/
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):1–2. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/31918755/
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1515/ 9783110642438
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267. https://doi.org/10.19070/2328-3548-1700040
- Haider KH, Stimson WH (1994) Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies specific for cardiac troponin-I. Dis Markers 12:187–191. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8590545/
- Haider KH, Stimson WH (1999) Cardiac myofibrillar proteins: biochemical markers to assess myocardial injury. Mol Cell Biochem 194:31–39. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10391121/
- Haider KH, Lei Y, Jiang S, Ge R, Law PK, Chua T, Wong P (2004a) Angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair using human myoblasts as carriers of human vascular endothelial growth factor. J Mol Med 82:539–549. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15175859/
- Haider KH, Tan T, Aziz S, Chachques JC, Sim EKW (2004b) Myoblast transplantation for cardiac repair: a clinical perspective. Mol Ther 9:14–23. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14741773/
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.108.186742

- Han Y, Li X, Zhang Y, Han Y, Chang F, Ding J (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative medicine. Cell 8(8):886. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8080886
- Hattori F, Chen H, Yamashita H, Tohyama S, Satoh YS, Yuasa S, Li W et al (2010) Nongenetic method for purifying stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Nat Methods 7(1):61–66. https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19946277/
- Henderson CA, Gomez CG, Novak SM, Mi-Mi L, Gregorio CC (2017) Overview of the muscle cytoskeleton. Compr Physiol 7(3):891–944. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c160033
- Higuchi A, Ling QD, Kumar SS, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA, Chang Y, Kao SH et al (2015a) Generation of pluripotent stem cells without the use of genetic material. Lab Investig 95(1): 26–42. https://europepmc.org/article/med/25365202
- Higuchi T, Miyagawa S, Pearson JT, Fukushima S, Saito A, Tsuchimochi H, Sonobe T (2015b) Functional and electrical integration of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes in a myocardial infarction rat heart. Cell Transplant 24(12):2479–2489. https://doi.org/10.3727/ 096368914X685799
- Hinson JT, Chopra A, Nafissi N, Polacheck WJ, Benson CC, Swist S, Gorham J et al (2015) Titin mutations in iPS cells define sarcomere insufficiency as a cause of dilated cardiomyopathy. Science 349(6251):982–986. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26315439/
- Hou P, Zhang X, Li Y, Liu C, Guan J, Li H, Zhao T et al (2013) Pluripotent stem cells induced from mouse somatic cells by small molecule compounds. Sci AAAS 341(6146):651–654. https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23868920/
- Huangfu D, Maehr R, Guo W, Eijkelenboom A, Snitow M, Chen AE, Melton DA (2008) Induction of pluripotent stem cells by defined factors is greatly improved by small-molecule compounds. Nat Biotechnol 26(7):795–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1418
- Huangfu MN, Ishii H, Nagano H, Haraguchi N, Dewi DL, Kano Y, Nishikawa S et al (2011) Reprogramming of mouse and human cells to pluripotency using mature microRNAs. Cell Stem Cell 8:633–638. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21620789/
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng (JBiSE) 9(4):226–244. https:// www.scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=65160
- Ieda M, Fu JD, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D (2010) Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell 142(3):375–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.002
- Ishida M, Miyagawa S, Saito A, Fukushima S, Akima H, Ito E, Ohashi F et al (2019) Transplantation of human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes is superior to somatic stem cell therapy for restoring cardiac function and oxygen consumption in a porcine model of myocardial infarction. Transplantation 103(2):291–298. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP. 000000000002384
- Itoh N, Ohta H, Nakayama Y, Konishi M (2016) Roles of FGF signals in heart development, health, and disease. Front Cell Dev Biol 4:110. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2016.00110
- James EC, Tomaskovic-Crook E, Crook JM (2021) Bioengineering clinically relevant cardiomyocytes and cardiac tissues from pluripotent stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 22(3005): 0.3390/ijms22063005. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33809429/
- Jiang Y, Jahagirdar B, Reinhardt R et al (2002) Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 418:41–49. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature00870
- Jiang Y, Park P, Hong SM, Ban K (2018) Maturation of cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent stem cells: current strategies and limitations. Mol Cells 41(7):613–621. https://doi. org/10.14348/molcells.2018.0143
- Jiang X, Yang Z, Dong M (2020) Cardiac repair in a murine model of myocardial infarction with human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:297. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01811-7
- Jones DL, Wagers AJ (2008) No place like home: anatomy and function of the stem cell niche. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9(1):11–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2319
- Kang L, Wang J, Zhang Y, Kou Z, Gao S (2009) iPS cells can support full-term development of tetraploid blastocyst-complemented embryos. Cell Stem Cell 5(2):135–138. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2009.07.001

- Karbassi E, Fenix A, Marchiano S, Muraoka N, Nakamura K, Yang X, Murry CE (2020) Cardiomyocyte maturation: advances in knowledge and implications for regenerative medicine. Nat Rev Cardiol 17(6):341–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-019-0331-x
- Kim D, Kim CH, Moon JI, Chung YG, Chang MY, Han BS, Ko S et al (2009) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. Cell Stem Cell 4(6):472–476. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19481515/
- Kim DW, Staples M, Shinozuka K, Pantcheva P, Kang SD, Borlongan CV (2013) Wharton's jellyderived mesenchymal stem cells: phenotypic characterization and optimizing their therapeutic potential for clinical applications. Int J Mol Sci 14(6):11692–11712. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms140611692
- Kit-Anan W, Mazo MM, Wang BX, Leonardo V, Pence IJ, Gopal S, Gelmi A et al (2021) Multiplexing physical stimulation on single human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes for phenotype modulation. Biofabrication 13(2):025004. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1758-5090/abce0a
- Kohli S, Ahuja S, Rani V (2011) Transcription factors in heart: promising therapeutic targets in cardiac hypertrophy. Curr Cardiol Rev 7(4):262–271. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 157340311799960618
- Komiya Y, Habas R (2008) Wnt signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis 4(2):68–75. https:// doi.org/10.4161/org.4.2.5851
- Le MNT, Hasegawa K (2019) Expansion culture of human pluripotent stem cells and production of cardiomyocytes. Bioengineering 6:48. https://doi.org/10.3390/bioengineering6020048
- Lee S, Yang H, Chen C, Venkatraman S, Darsha A, Wu SM, Wu JC et al (2020) Simple lithographyfree single cell micropatterning using laser-cut stencils. J Vis Exp 3:158. https://doi.org/10. 3791/60888
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery. Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Berlin. https://doi.org/ 10.1515/9783110493764
- Lei Y, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ling LH, Ge R, Law PK, Sim EKW (2005) Reversal of myocardial injury using genetically modulated human skeletal myoblasts in a rodent cryoinjured heart model. Eur J Heart Fail 7(6):945–952. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16202652/
- Lei Y, Wei Z, Li-Ping S, Haider KH, Poh KK, Galupo MJ, Songco G et al (2011) Nanoparticle based delivery of hypoxia-regulated VEGF transgene system combined with myoblast engraftment for myocardial repair. Biomaterials 32:2424–2431. https://europepmc.org/article/med/21216458
- Leitolis A, Robert AW, Pereira IT, Correa A, Stimamiglio MA (2019) Cardiomyogenesis modeling using pluripotent stem cells: the role of microenvironmental signaling. Front Cell Dev Biol 7: 164. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00164
- Lentjes MH, Niessen HE, Akiyama Y, de Bruïne AP, Melotte V, van Engeland M (2016) The emerging role of GATA transcription factors in development and disease. Expert Rev Mol Med 8:18.e3. https://doi.org/10.1017/erm.2016.2
- Li J (2014) Alterations in cell adhesion proteins and cardiomyopathy. World J Cardiol 6(5): 304–313. https://doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v6.i5.304
- Li W, Zhou H, Abujarour R, Zhu S, Young Joo J, Lin T et al (2009) Generation of human-induced pluripotent stem cells in the absence of exogenous Sox2. Stem Cells 27(12):2992–3000. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.240
- Li W, Sun W, Zhang Y, Wei W, Ambasudhan R, Xia P, Talantova M et al (2011) Rapid induction and long-term self-renewal of primitive neural precursors from human embryonic stem cells by small molecule inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(20):8299–8304. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1014041108
- Li S, Chen G, Li RA (2013) Calcium signalling of human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. J Physiol 591(21):5279–5290. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2013.256495
- Li S, Li Y, Chen B, Zhao J, Yu S, Tang Y, Zheng Q et al (2018) exoRBase: a database of circRNA, lncRNA and mRNA in human blood exosomes. Nucleic Acids Res 46(D1):D106–D112. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5753357/

- Liang Q, Wiese RJ, Bueno OF, Dai YS, Markham BE, Molkentin JD (2001) The transcription factor GATA4 is activated by extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1- and 2-mediated phosphorylation of serine 105 in cardiomyocytes. Mol Cell Biol 21(21):7460–7469. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.21.21.7460-7469.2001
- Liew LC, Ho BX, Soh BS (2020) Mending a broken heart: current strategies and limitations of cellbased therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-01648-0
- Lin YL, Chen CP, Lo CM, Wang HS (2016) Stiffness-controlled three-dimensional collagen scaffolds for differentiation of human Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells into cardiac progenitor cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 104(9):2234–2242. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC5753357/
- Liu W, Foley AC (2011) Signaling pathways in early cardiac development. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med 3(2):191–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsbm.112
- Liu W, Selever J, Wang D, Lu MF, Moses KA, Schwartz RJ, Martin JF (2004) Bmp4 signaling is required for outflow-tract septation and branchial-arch artery remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(13):4489–4494. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15070745/
- Liu YW, Chen B, Yang X, Fugate JA, Kalucki FA, Futakuchi-Tsuchida A, Couture L et al (2018) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes restore function in infarcted hearts of non-human primates. Nat Biotechnol 36(7):597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4162. Erratum in: Nat Biotechnol 36(9):899
- Manring HR, Dorn LE, Ex-Willey A, Accornero F, Ackermann MA (2018) At the heart of inter- and intracellular signaling: the intercalated disc. Biophys Rev 10(4):961–971. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12551-018-0430-7
- Marques SR, Lee Y, Poss KD, Yelon D (2008) Reiterative roles for FGF signaling in the establishment of size and proportion of the zebrafish heart. Dev Biol 321(2):397–406. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ydbio.2008.06.033
- Marvin MJ, Di Rocco G, Gardiner A, Bush SM, Lassar AB (2001) Inhibition of Wnt activity induces heart formation from posterior mesoderm. Genes Dev 15(3):316–327. https://doi.org/ 10.1101/gad.855501
- Mikkelsen TS, Hanna J, Zhang X, Ku M, Wernig M, Schorderet P, Bernstein BE et al (2008) Dissecting direct reprogramming through integrative genomic analysis. Nature 454(7200): 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07056. Erratum in: Nature 454(7205):794
- Molnar C, Gair J (2013) 19.4 Muscle contraction and locomotion. Concepts of biology-1st Canadian edition 2013. https://pressbooks.bccampus.ca/conceptsofbiologymolnarcamosun/ chapter/19-4-muscle-contraction-and-locomotion/
- Morin S, Charron F, Robitaille L, Nemer M (2000) GATA-dependent recruitment of MEF2 proteins to target promoters. EMBO J 19(9):2046–2055. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.9.2046
- Mummery C, Ward D, van den Brink CE, Bird SD, Doevendans PA, Opthof T, Brutel de la Riviere A et al (2002) Cardiomyocyte differentiation of mouse and human embryonic stem cells. J Anat 200(Pt 3):233–242. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-7580.2002.00031.x
- Naito AT, Shiojima I, Akazawa H, Hidaka K, Morisaki T, Kikuchi A, Komuro I (2006) Developmental stage-specific biphasic roles of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in cardiomyogenesis and hematopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103(52):19812–19817. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0605768103
- Nasri MG, Fernando VK, Eladio MS, Luis MJ (2018) Sarcomere structure: the importance of desmin protein in muscle atrophy. Int J Morphol 36(2):576–583. https://www.scielo.cl/scielo. php?script=sci abstract&pid=S0717-95022018000200576&lng=es&nrm=iso&tlng=en
- Nguyen AH, Marsh P, Schmiess-Heine L et al (2019) Cardiac tissue engineering: state-of-the-art methods and outlook. J Biol Eng 13:57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13036-019-0185-0
- Noseda M, Peterkin T, Simões FC, Patient R, Schneider MD (2011) Cardiopoietic factors: extracellular signals for cardiac lineage commitment. Circ Res 108(1):129–152. https://pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/21212394/
- Nugraha B, Buono MF, von Boehmer L, Hoerstrup SP, Emmert MY (2019) Human cardiac organoids for disease modeling. Clin Pharmacol Ther 105(1):79–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cpt.1286. Epub 2018 Dec 21

- Oka T, Xu J, Molkentin JD (2007) Re-employment of developmental transcription factors in adult heart disease. Semin Cell Dev Biol 18(1):117–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2006. 11.012
- Opitz CA, Leake MC, Makarenko I, Benes V, Linke WA (2004) Developmentally regulated switching of titin size alters myofibrillar stiffness in the perinatal heart. Circ Res 94(7): 967–975. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000124301.48193.E1
- Paige SL, Osugi T, Afanasiev OK, Pabon L, Reinecke H, Murry CE (2010) Endogenous Wnt/β-catenin signaling is required for cardiac differentiation in human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 5(6): e11134. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0011134
- Palmer S, Groves N, Schindeler A, Yeoh T, Biben C, Wang CC, Sparrow DB et al (2001) The small muscle-specific protein Csl modifies cell shape and promotes myocyte fusion in an insulin-like growth factor 1-dependent manner. J Cell Biol 153(5):985–998. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb1535985
- Paloschi V, Sabater-Lleal M, Middelkamp H, Vivas A, Johansson S, van der Meer A, Tenje M (2021) Organ-on-a-chip technology: a novel approach to investigate cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovasc Res:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvab088
- Parikh A, Wu J, Blanton RM, Tzanakakis ES (2015) Signaling pathways and gene regulatory networks in cardiomyocyte differentiation. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 21(4):377–392. https://doi. org/10.1089/tenTEB20140662
- Park J, Park S, Ryu S, Bhang SH, Kim J, Yoon JK, Park YH et al (2014) Graphene–regulated cardiomyogenic differentiation process of mesenchymal stem cells by enhancing the expression of extracellular matrix proteins and cell signaling molecules. Adv Healthc Mater 3(2):176–181. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23949999/
- Pasha Z, Haider HKh, Ashraf M (2011) Efficient non-viral reprogramming of myoblasts to stemness with a single small molecule to generate cardiac progenitor cells. PLoS One 6(8): e23667. https://doi.org/10.1371/journalpone0023667
- Pearl JI, Kean LS, Davis MM, Wu JC (2012) Pluripotent stem cells: immune to the immune system? Sci Transl Med 4(164):164ps25. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed3005090
- Pei G, Hu W, Qui W, Wang Q, Gao L, Lu S, Huang Y et al (2015) Direct conversion of normal and Alzheimer's disease human fibroblast into neuronal cell by small molecules. Cell Stem Cell 17(2):204–212. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26253202/
- Philippe B, Christopher BJ, Cherian OL, Irina A, Cristi LG, Douglas BS, Suter Thomas MS et al (2020) 3D co-culture of hiPSC-derived cardiomyocytes with cardiac fibroblasts improves tissue-like features of cardiac spheroids. Front Mol Biosci 7:14. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmolb202000014
- Pikkarainen S, Tokola H, Kerkelä R, Ruskoaho H (2004) GATA transcription factors in the developing and adult heart. Cardiovasc Res 63(2):196–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jcardiores200403025
- Pollard TD, Weihing RR, Adelman MR (1974) Actin and myosin and cell movement. CRC Crit Rev Biochem 2(1):1–65. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/4273099/
- Pon JR, Marra MA (2016) MEF2 transcription factors: developmental regulators and emerging cancer genes. Oncotarget 7(3):2297–2312. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget6223
- Prall OW, Menon MK, Solloway MJ, Watanabe Y, Zaffran S, Bajolle F, Biben C et al (2007) An Nkx2-5/Bmp2/Smad1 negative feedback loop controls heart progenitor specification and proliferation. Cell 128(5):947–959. https://tohoku.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/an-nkx2-5bmp2smad1-negative-feedback-loop-controls-heart-progenit
- Quinn ZA, Yang CC, Wrana JL, McDermott JC (2001) Smad proteins function as co-modulators for MEF2 transcriptional regulatory proteins. Nucleic Acids Res 29(3):732–742. https://doi.org/10. 1093/nar/293732
- Rajala K, Pekkanen-Mattila M, Aalto-Setälä K (2011) Cardiac differentiation of pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2011:383709. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/383709
- Ramesh S, Govarthanan K, Ostrovidov S, Zhang H, Hu Q, Camci-Unal G, Verma RS et al (2021) Cardiac differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells: impact of biological and chemical inducers. Stem Cell Rev Rep 16:1–9. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33864233/

- Rashedi I, Talele N, Wang XH, Hinz B, Radisic M, Keating A (2017) Collagen scaffold enhances the regenerative properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. PLoS One 12(10):e0187348. https:// journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0187348
- Redondo-Castro E, Cunningham CJ, Miller J, Brown H, Allan SM, Pinteaux E (2018) Changes in the secretome of tri-dimensional spheroid-cultured human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro by interleukin-1 priming. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):1–1. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ 29343288/
- Reiser PJ, Portman MA, Ning XH, SchomischMoravec C (2001) Human cardiac myosin heavy chain isoforms in fetal and failing adult atria and ventricles. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 280(4):H1814–H1820. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart20012804H1814
- Ribas J, Sadeghi H, Manbachi A, Leijten J, Brinegar K, Zhang YS, Ferreira L, Khademhosseini A (2016) Cardiovascular organ-on-a-chip platforms for drug discovery and development. Appl In Vitro Toxicol 2(2):82–96. https://doi.org/10.1089/aivt20160002. PMID: 28971113; PMCID: PMC5044977
- Ring A, Kim YM, Kahn M (2014) Wnt/catenin signaling in adult stem cell physiology and disease. Stem Cell Rev Rep 10(4):512–525. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-014-9515-2
- Rohban R, Pieber TR (2017) Mesenchymal stem and progenitor cells in regeneration: tissue specificity and regenerative potential. Stem Cells Int 2017:5173732. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2017/5173732
- Rojas SV, Kensah G, Rotaermel A, Baraki H, Kutschka I, Zweigerdt R, Martin U et al (2017) Transplantation of purified iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes in myocardial infarction. PLoS One 12(5):e0173222. https://doi.org/10.1371/journalpone0173222
- Romagnuolo R, Masoudpour H, Porta-Sánchez A, Qiang B, Barry J, Laskary A, Qi X et al (2019) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate the infarcted pig heart but induce ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Stem Cell Rep 12(5):967–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jstemcr201904005
- Rommel C, Hein L (2020) Four dimensions of the cardiac myocyte epigenome: from fetal to adult heart. Curr Cardiol Rep 22(5):1–9. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7082379/
- Rosenblatt-Velin N, Lepore MG, Cartoni C, Beermann F, Pedrazzini T (2005) FGF-2 controls the differentiation of resident cardiac precursors into functional cardiomyocytes. J Clin Invest 115(7):1724–1733. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI23418
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Tian XF, Lei Y, Ge R, Cao T (2007) Directing endothelial differentiation of human embryonic stem cells via transduction with an adenoviral vector expressing VEGF₁₆₅ gene. J Gene Med 9(6):452–461
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Ye L, Tan RS, Toh WS, Tian XF et al (2010) Therapeutic angiogenesis by transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived CD133+ endothelial progenitor cells for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5:231–244. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20210583/
- Rungarunlert S, Techakumphu M, Pirity MK, Dinnyes A (2009) Embryoid body formation from embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells: benefits of bioreactors. World J Stem Cells 1(1):11. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21607103/
- Sato N, Meijer L, Skaltsounis L, Greengard P, Brivanlou AH (2004) Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. Nat Med 10(1):55–63. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm979
- Sato H, Takahashi M, Ise H, Yamada A, Hirose SI, Tagawa YI, Morimoto H et al (2006) Collagen synthesis is required for ascorbic acid-enhanced differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 342(1):107–112. https://pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/16480687/
- Schmidt R, Plath K (2012) The roles of the reprogramming factors Oct4, Sox2 and Klf4 in resetting the somatic cell epigenome during induced pluripotent stem cell generation. Genome Biol 13(10):251. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2012-13-10-251
- Scuderi GJ, Butcher J (2017) Naturally engineered maturation of cardiomyocytes. Front Cell Dev Biol 5:50. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell201700050

- Sebastião MJ, Serra M, Pereira R, Palacios I, Gomes-Alves P, Alves PM (2019) Human cardiac progenitor cell activation and regeneration mechanisms: exploring a novel myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion in vitro model. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):1–6. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ 30845956/
- Shi Y, Desponts C, Do JT, Hahm HS, Schöler HR, Ding S (2008) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic fibroblasts by Oct4 and Klf4 with small-molecule compounds. Cell Stem Cell 3(5):568–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/jstem200810004
- Sid-Otmane C, Perrault LP, Ly HQ (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell mediates cardiac repair through autocrine, paracrine and endocrine axes. J Transl Med 18(1):1–9. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/32873307/
- Silva J, Barrandon O, Nichols J, Kawaguchi J, Theunissen TW, Smith A (2008) Promotion of reprogramming to ground state pluripotency by signal inhibition. PLoS Biol 6(10):e253. https:// journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.0060253
- Skelton RJ, Costa M, Anderson DJ, Bruveris F, Finnin BW, Koutsis K, Arasaratnam D et al (2014) SIRPA, VCAM1 and CD34 identify discrete lineages during early human cardiovascular development. Stem Cell Res 13(1):172–179. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24968096/
- Smith GL, Eisner DA (2019) Calcium buffering in the heart in health and disease. Circulation 139(20):2358–2371. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31082292/
- Song H, Kwon K, Lim S, Kang SM, Ko YG, Xu Z, Chung JH et al (2005) Transfection of mesenchymal stem cells with the FGF-2 gene improves their survival under hypoxic conditions. Mol Cells 19(3):402–407. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15995358/
- Song H, Hwang HJ, Chang W, Song BW, Cha MJ, Kim IK, Lim S et al (2011) Cardiomyocytes from phorbol myristate acetate-activated mesenchymal stem cells restore electromechanical function in infarcted rat hearts. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108(1):296–301. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/21173226/
- Stevens LC (1967a) Origin of testicular teratomas from primordial germ cells in mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 38(4):549–552. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/6025005/
- Stevens LC (1967b) The biology of teratomas. Adv Morphog 6:1–31. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/4894128/
- Sugden PH, Fuller SJ, Weiss SC, Clerk A (2008) Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) in the heart: a point of integration in hypertrophic signalling and a therapeutic target? A critical analysis. Br J Pharmacol 153(Suppl 1):S137–S153. https://doi.org/10.1038/sjbjp0707659
- Sun C, Kontaridis MI (2018) Physiology of cardiac development: from genetics to signaling to therapeutic strategies. Curr Opin Physiol 1:123–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jcophys201709002
- Sweeney HL, Hammers DW (2018) Muscle contraction. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 10(2): a023200. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspecta023200
- Sweetman D, Wagstaff L, Cooper O, Weijer C, Münsterberg A (2008) The migration of paraxial and lateral plate mesoderm cells emerging from the late primitive streak is controlled by different Wnt signals. BMC Dev Biol 8(1):1–5. https://bmcdevbiol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/ 1471-213X-8-111
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/16904174/
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Naria M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131:861–872. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18035408/
- Takamiya M, Haider KH, Ashraf M (2011) Identification and characterization of a novel multipotent sub-population of sca-1⁺ cardiac progenitor cells for myocardial regeneration. PLoS One 6(9):e25265. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21980409/
- Thattaliyath BD, Firulli BA, Firulli AB (2002) The basic-helix-loop-helix transcription factor HAND2 directly regulates transcription of the atrial naturetic peptide gene. J Mol Cell Cardiol 34(10):1335–1344. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmcc20022085

- Thiriet M (2019) Cardiovascular disease: an introduction. Vasculopathies 8:1–90. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-89315-0 1
- Thomas CE, Ehrhardt A, Kay MA (2003) Progress and problems with the use of viral vectors for gene therapy. Nat Rev Genet 4(5):346–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1066
- Tomescot A, Leschik J, Bellamy V, Dubois G, Messas E, Bruneval P, Desnos M et al (2007) Differentiation in vivo of cardiac committed human embryonic stem cells in postmyocardial infarcted rats. Stem Cells 25(9):2200–2205. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells2007-0133
- Tsai SY, Ghazizadeh Z, Wang HJ, Amin S, Ortega FA, Badieyan ZS, Hsu ZT et al (2019) A human embryonic stem cell reporter line for monitoring chemical-induced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Res 116(3): 658–670. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvz148. Erratum in: Cardiovasc Res 115(13):1932
- Tsiapalis D, O'Driscoll L (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell derived extracellular vesicles for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. Cell 9(4):991. https://www.mdpi.com/ 2073-4409/9/4/991
- Tu C, Chao BS, Wu JC (2018) Strategies for improving the maturity of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Circ Res 123(5):512–514. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA118313472
- Ullah I, Subbarao RB, Rho GJ (2015) Human mesenchymal stem cells current trends and future prospective. Biosci Rep 35(2):e00191. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20150025
- Valenti MT, Serena M, Carbonare LD, Zipeto D (2019) CRISPR/Cas system: an emerging technology in stem cell research. World J Stem Cells 11(11):937–956. https://doi.org/10.4252/ wjscv11i11937
- van Wijk B, Moorman AF, van den Hoff MJ (2007) Role of bone morphogenetic proteins in cardiac differentiation. Cardiovasc Res 74(2):244–255. https://academic.oup.com/cardiovascres/article/ 74/2/244/284365?login=true
- Veerman CC, Kosmidis G, Mummery CL, Casini S, Verkerk AO, Bellin M (2015) Immaturity of human stem-cell-derived cardiomyocytes in culture: fatal flaw or soluble problem? Stem Cells Dev 24(9):1035–1052. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd20140533
- Velasco V, Shariati SA, Esfandyarpour R (2020) Microtechnology-based methods for organoid models. Microsyst Nanoeng 6:76. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41378-020-00185-3
- Waddington CH (2012) The epigenotype 1942. Int J Epidemiol 41(1):10–13. https://doi.org/10. 1093/ije/dyr184
- Wagner M, Siddiqui MA (2007) Signal transduction in early heart development (I): cardiogenic induction and heart tube formation. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 232(7):852–865. https:// europepmc.org/article/med/17609501
- Walker CA, Spinale FG (1999) The structure and function of the cardiac myocyte: a review of fundamental concepts. J Thoracic Cardiovasc Surg 118(2):375–382. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/10425017/
- Wang AYL, Loh CYY (2019) Episomal induced pluripotent stem cells: functional and potential therapeutic applications. Cell Transplant 28(1S):112S-131S. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963689719886534
- Wang D, Chang PS, Wang Z, Sutherland L, Richardson JA, Small E, Krieg PA et al (2001) Activation of cardiac gene expression by myocardin, a transcriptional cofactor for serum response factor. Cell 105(7):851–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00404-4
- Wang DZ, Li S, Hockemeyer D, Sutherland L, Wang Z, Schratt G, Richardson JA, Nordheim A et al (2002) Potentiation of serum response factor activity by a family of myocardin-related transcription factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(23):14855–14860. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas222561499
- Wang Z, Wang DZ, Hockemeyer D, McAnally J, Nordheim A, Olson EN (2004) Myocardin and ternary complex factors compete for SRF to control smooth muscle gene expression. Nature 428(6979):185–189. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02382. PMID: 15014501
- Wang J, Paradis P, Aries A, Komati H, Lefebvre C, Wang H, Nemer M (2005) Convergence of protein kinase C and JAK-STAT signaling on transcription factor GATA-4. Mol Cell Biol 25(22):9829–9844. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB25229829-98442005

- Wang YL, Zhang G, Wang HJ, Tan YZ, Wang XY (2018) Preinduction with bone morphogenetic protein-2 enhances cardiomyogenic differentiation of c-kit+ mesenchymal stem cells and repair of infarcted myocardium. Int J Cardiol 265:173–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/jijcard
- Wang J, Gong M, Zuo S, Xu J, Paul C, Li H, Liu M et al (2020) WNT11-conditioned medium promotes angiogenesis through the activation of non-canonical WNT-PKC-JNK signaling pathway. Genes (Basel) 11(11):1277. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11111277
- Weinberger F, Breckwoldt K, Pecha S, Kelly A, Geertz B, Starbatty J, Yorgan T et al (2016) Cardiac repair in guinea pigs with human engineered heart tissue from induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci Transl Med 8(363):363ra148. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmedaaf8781
- Wolling H, Konze SA, Höfer A, Erdmann J, Pich A, Zweigerdt R, Buettner FFR (2018) Quantitative secretomics reveals extrinsic signals involved in human pluripotent stem cell cardiomyogenesis. Proteomics 18(14):e1800102. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic201800102
- Woodcock EA, Matkovich SJ (2005) Cardiomyocytes structure, function and associated pathologies. Int J Biochm Cell Biol 37(9):1746–1751. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15950518/
- Yakubov E, Rechavi G, Rozenblatt S, Givol D (2010) Reprogramming of human fibroblasts to pluripotent stem cells using mRNA of four transcription factors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 394(1):189–193. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20188704/
- Yang X, Pabon L, Murry CE (2014) Engineering adolescence: maturation of human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Circ Res 114(3):511–523. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA
- Yilbas AE, Hamilton A, Wang Y, Mach H, Lacroix N, Davis DR, Chen J et al (2014) Activation of GATA4 gene expression at the early stage of cardiac specification. Front Chem 2:12. https://doi. org/10.3389/fchem201400012
- Ying QL, Nichols J, Chambers I, Smith A (2003) BMP induction of Id proteins suppresses differentiation and sustains embryonic stem cell self-renewal in collaboration with STAT3. Cell 115(3):281–292. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14636556
- Yokoyama J, Miyagawa S, Akagi T, Akashi M, Sawa Y (2021) Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived three-dimensional cardiomyocyte tissues ameliorate the rat ischemic myocardium by remodeling the extracellular matrix and cardiac protein phenotype. PLoS One 16(3): e0245571. https://doi.org/10.1371/journalpone0245571
- Yoshida T, Hu Y, Zhang Z, Emmanuel AO, Galani K, Muhire B, Snippert HJ et al (2019) Chromatin restriction by the nucleosome remodeler Mi-2β and functional interplay with lineage-specific transcription regulators control B-cell differentiation. Genes Dev 33(13–14):763–781. https:// doi.org/10.1101/gad321901118
- Yu J, Hu K, Smuga-Otto K, Tian S, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA (2009) Human induced pluripotent stem cells free of vector and transgene sequences. Science 324(5928):797–801
- Yutzey KE (2017) Cardiomyocyte proliferation: teaching an old dogma new tricks. Circ Res 120(4): 627–629. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA116310058. PMID: 28209795; PMCID: PMC5319743
- Zakrzewski W, Dobrzyński M, Szymonowicz M, Rybak Z (2019) Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1165-5
- Zhang Y, Li W, Laurent T, Ding S (2012) Small molecules, big roles the chemical manipulation of stem cell fate and somatic cell reprogramming. J Cell Sci 125(Pt 23):5609–5620. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/jcs096032
- Zhang X, Yuan X, Shi H, Wu L, Qian H, Xu W (2015) Exosomes in cancer: small particle, big player. J Hematol Oncol 8(1):1–3. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4496882/
- Zhang Z, Nör F, Oh M, Cucco C, Shi S, Nör JE (2016) Wnt/β-catenin Signaling determines the vasculogenic fate of postnatal mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 34(6):1576–1587. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem2334
- Zhao XY, Li W, Lv Z, Liu L, Tong M, Hai T, Hao J et al (2009) iPS cells produce viable mice through tetraploid complementation. Nature 461(7260):86–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature08267

- Zhao Y, Sun X, Cao W, Ma J, Sun L, Qian H, Zhu W et al (2015) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells relieve acute myocardial ischemic injury. Stem cells Int 2015:761643. https://www.hindawi.com/journals/sci/2015/761643/
- Zhao Z, Lan H, El-Battrawy I, Li X, Buljubasic F, Sattler K, Yücel G, Lang S et al (2018) Ion channel expression and characterization in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Stem Cells Int 2018:6067096. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6067096
- Zhou H, Wu S, Joo JY, Zhu S, Han DW, Lin T, Trauger S et al (2009) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells using recombinant proteins. Cell Stem Cell 4(5):381–384. https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19398399/
- Zhu LP, Tian T, Wang JY, He JN, Chen T, Pan M, Xu L et al (2018) Hypoxia-elicited mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes facilitates cardiac repair through miR-125b-mediated prevention of cell death in myocardial infarction. Theranostics 8(22):6163. https://www.thno.org/v08p6163.htm
- Zuppinger C (2019) 3D cardiac cell culture: a critical review of current technologies and applications. Front Cardiovasc Med 6:87. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm.2019. 00087/full



Stem Cell Applications in Cardiac Tissue Regeneration

25

Vineeta Sharma, Sanat Kumar Dash, Piyush Kumar Gupta, Binita E. Zipporah, Khawaja Husnain Haider, and Kavitha Govarthanan o

Contents

Engineering of Infarcted Myocardium 773 MSCs in Cardiac Regenerative Therapy 774 Natural and Synthetic Polymer Used for Regenerative Therapy 775 Natural Scaffolds 775 Synthetic Scaffolds 776 3D-Bioprinting 784 The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue 785 3D-Printing Salient Points 785 3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 785 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 785 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 References 791	Introduction	771
MSCs in Cardiac Regenerative Therapy 774 Natural and Synthetic Polymer Used for Regenerative Therapy 775 Natural Scaffolds 775 Synthetic Scaffolds 780 3D-Bioprinting 784 The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue 785 3D-Printing Salient Points 785 3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 785 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 785 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	Engineering of Infarcted Myocardium	773
Natural and Synthetic Polymer Used for Regenerative Therapy 775 Natural Scaffolds 775 Synthetic Scaffolds 780 3D-Bioprinting 784 The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue 785 3D-Printing Salient Points 785 3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 785 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 785 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	MSCs in Cardiac Regenerative Therapy	774
Natural Scaffolds775Synthetic Scaffolds7803D-Bioprinting784The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue7853D-Printing Salient Points7853D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue785Bioinks for Heart Tissue785Conclusion and Future Directions790Cross-References790References791	Natural and Synthetic Polymer Used for Regenerative Therapy	775
Synthetic Scaffolds7803D-Bioprinting784The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue7853D-Printing Salient Points7853D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue787Bioinks for Heart Tissue785Conclusion and Future Directions790Cross-References790References791	Natural Scaffolds	775
3D-Bioprinting 784 The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue 785 3D-Printing Salient Points 785 3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 787 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 787 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	Synthetic Scaffolds	780
The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue 785 3D-Printing Salient Points 785 3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 787 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 787 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	3D-Bioprinting	784
3D-Printing Salient Points 785 3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 787 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 785 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue	785
3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue 787 Bioinks for Heart Tissue 788 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	3D-Printing Salient Points	785
Bioinks for Heart Tissue 789 Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue	787
Conclusion and Future Directions 790 Cross-References 790 References 791	Bioinks for Heart Tissue	789
Cross-References	Conclusion and Future Directions	790
References	Cross-References	790
	References	791

V. Sharma · B. E. Zipporah

Department of Biotechnology, Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai, Tamilnadu, India

S. K. Dash

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology-Madras, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

P. K. Gupta

Department of Life Sciences, School of Basic Sciences and Research, Sharda University, Greater Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

Department of Biotechnology, Graphic Era Deemed to be University, Dehradun, Uttarakhand, India

K. H. Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia

K. Govarthanan (🖂)

MK BHAN Young Research Fellow, Centre for Cardiovascular Biology and Disease, Institute for Stem Cell Sciences and Regenerative Medicine (inStem), Bengaluru, Karnataka, India e-mail: kavithag@instem.res.in

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 36

Abstract

According to the latest figures released from American Heart Association, cardiovascular pathologies are the leading cause of morbidity and death, with MI as one with predominant cause of irreparable loss of the functional myocardium. Hitherto, the pharmacological intervention has not been in the forefront to ameliorate MI-related morbidity and mortality. Nevertheless, the contemporary therapeutic strategies can only delay the rate of disease progression but most of these fails to repair the damaged myocardium. Due to limited regenerative potential of the resident CSCs, there is a dire need to develop strategies that could regenerate the damage myocardium. However, the idea of using stem cells to differentiate into the cardiac lineage has so far been a relatively tough proposition for researchers around the world due to its complex nature. Scientist have explored stem cell-based tissue engineering/regenerative medicine strategies to regenerate the infarcted myocardium. Nonetheless, limited success was achieved in cardiac regenerative approaches due to the complexity of cardiomyogenic differentiation process, and usage of native decellularized ECMs and/or Matrigel support as a scaffold material. In this book chapter, we will discuss in detail various aspects of stem cell-based therapeutic strategies, which are currently being developed and employed for regenerating the damaged myocardium. The chapter contents highlight the basic technologies using scaffold-based injectable hydrogel or patch-based delivery system to the recent advanced technologies such as 3D Bioprinting approach to construct the cardiac tissue for cardiac regeneration applications.

Keywords

Cardiac \cdot Hydrogel \cdot Myocardial infarction \cdot Scaffolds \cdot Tissue engineering \cdot 3D bioprinting

Abbreviati	ons
2/3D	2/3-Dimensional
adeCM	Adipose Decellularized-Extracellular Matrix
ASCs	Adult Stem Cells
BMP	Bone Morphogenetic Protein
BMSC	Bone Marrow Stromal Cell
CACs	Circulating Angiogenic Cells
CAD	Computer Aided Design
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
cdeCM	Cartilage Decellularized-Extracellular Matrix
CFs	Cardiac Fibroblasts
CMs	Cardiomyocytes
CNTs	Carbon Nanotubes
CPCs	Cardiac Progenitor Cells
CSCs	Cardiac stem cells
CVDs	Cardiovascular Diseases
CVS	Cardiovascular system

dECM	Decellularized Extracellular Matrix
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ECs	Endothelial Cells
EMT	Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition
EPDCs	Epicardial-Derived Cells
FRESH	Freeform Reversible Embedding of Suspended Hydrogels
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
GATA-4	GATA Binding Protein 4
GelMA	Gelatin Methacryloyl
GFs	Growth Factors
hdECM	Human Decellularized Extracellular Matrix
IGF-1	Insulin like Growth Factor-1
iPSCs	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
kPa	Kilopascal
LVAD	Left Ventricular Assist Device
MI	Myocardial Infarction
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinases
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells
Nkx2.5	NK2 Homeobox 5
PCL	Poly (ɛ-caprolactone)
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
PGA	Poly (glycolic acid)
PLA	Poly (lactic acid)
PLGA	Poly (lactide-co-glycolide)
PVA	Polyvinyl Alcohol
RGD	Arginine-Glycine-Aspartic acid
RTG	Reverse Thermal Gel
SDF1	Stromal Cell Derived Factor 1
SMCs	Smooth Muscle Cells
TERM	Tissue Engineering/Regenerative Medicine
TGF-1	Transforming Growth Factor 1
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
WT1	Wilms Tumor 1
YIGSR	Tyrosine-Isoleucine-Glycine-Serine-Arginine
μCOP	Microscale Continuous Optical Printing

Introduction

CVDs are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, responsible for nearly a quarter of all deaths and predicted to grow to 23.6 million by 2030 (Roth et al. 2015). According to the heart disease and Stroke update released from the American Heart Association, 2021, the prevalence of CVD (including heart failure, hypertension, stroke) in the population is 49.2% overall with age 20 years and above in the USA (Virani et al. 2021). Ischemia-related deaths have risen to the top of the list of causes of

death in India, the United States, and Europe (Prabhakaran et al. 2016; Benjamin et al. 2017; Timmis et al. 2020). The acute and chronic impact of CVD on individuals, communities, and healthcare institutions is enormous, particularly given the aging population and long-term unhealthy lifestyles. CVD is described as a group of conditions that harm the CVS and cause it to fail or have compromised functionality. The mortality is higher in CVDs and specifically post MI episode. MI progression ensues due to the pathological narrowing of the coronary vessels leading to the less than optimal blood flow to the heart. These pathological changes deprive the CMs of the much needed oxygen and nutrients thus resulting in massive CMs death. Resultantly, the ischemic tissue is replaced with a fibrotic scar as a part of the intrinsic repair mechanism thus entering the heart into a vicious cycle of remodeling (Fig. 1). Heart contractility and pumping capacity are hampered structurally and functionally as a consequence of adverse remodeling and loss of functioning myocytes. The situation is even more complicated due to the lack of a comprehensive, dynamic repair and regenerative ability of the myocardium. As a result, infarct expansion, ventricular dilation, and ventricular wall pressures are all factors that influence patients' morbidity and mortality (Reddy 2015).

While the available contemporary approaches of surgery and pharmacological intervention (i.e., vasodilators, diuretics) provide merely symptomatic relief, these approaches do not address the underlying root cause of the problem. End-stage heart failure patients receive a heart transplant, while high-risk patients receive LVAD supported by extensive long-term drug therapy. The post-MI scar is a priority to develop therapies that could help rebuild the ischemic myocardium (Rischpler 2016). Researchers have looked into different treatment options with the rise in CVD cases, and stem cell-based cardiac tissue engineering has been at the forefront. Stem cell-based therapy advanced to phase III clinical trials during the last two decades of research after extensive in vitro and in vivo experimentation. Regenerative medicine and tissue engineering are being combined to gain the better of the





two fields to develop novel methods of therapeutic intervention. In this regard, researchers are experimenting with different combinations of cells, biomaterials, and bioactive molecules, which provide therapeutic benefits via multifactorial mechanisms. For example, the transplanted cells may transdifferentiate into morphofunctionally competent myocytes and integrate with the host tissue to assist in the repair process. Alternatively, the transplanted cells release paracrine factors causing endogenous stem/progenitor cells to respond in a reparative manner. Similarly, biomaterials could serve as adhesion sites for the transplanted as well as endogenous stem/ progenitor cells and provide long-term release of bioactive molecules and signaling (Xu et al. 2016; Reis et al. 2016; Shafei et al. 2017).

Recently there has been immense interest in 3D-bioprinting to understand the mechanism of MI growth via mimicking the microenvironment and research the effect of drugs in the preclinical drug screening process (Cahill et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2017b). This chapter discusses in-depth the latest developments in cardiac tissue engineering, emphasizing on the therapeutic approach for MI. Moreover, we have deliberated on the progress in 3D-bioprinting and its role in cardiac regeneration.

Engineering of Infarcted Myocardium

Although the idea of organ regeneration was first recorded in the seventeenth century in the form of a lizard tail, it was not until the nineteenth century that the regenerative repair of the human heart was seriously considered. Human heart has always been considered as a terminally differentiated organ with limited capacity to regenerate and repair itself. Although the presence of resident CSCs has been reported and there are also reports that CMs can re-enter into cell cycle in the event of myocardial injury, the intrinsic repair mechanism of the heart is inefficient especially in the event of massive CMs death. This is complicated further by the scarring that occurs in the infarcted region. Although the heart's scar formation and regenerative ability have yet to be fully characterized, it is thought that the mechanical properties of the myocardium are maintained despite a greatly reduced heart function (Cahill et al. 2017).

Cell-based regenerative therapy is being widely investigated to support the inefficient intrinsic repair mechanism of the heart to substitute the dead CMs with new myocytes, improve regional blood flow to the ischemic myocardium, and preserve or restore the global function of the heart post-MI. Different strategies, including delivery of stem cells either alone or combined with GF treatment or gene therapy, have been developed in this regard. These strategies are both preventative and curative, as they help in the recovery of lost CMs and support regenerating the infarcted myocardium as well as restoring regional blood flow (Vunjak-Novakovic et al. 2010). Various types of stem/progenitor cells have been characterized as potential candidates to treat the infarcted heart due to continued exploration of stem cell biology and the knowledge gained through it for its possible use in application-based research.

MSCs in Cardiac Regenerative Therapy

Dr. Julius Friedrich Cohnheim, a German pathologist, was the first to suggest the existence of non-hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow in 1867. Later, Freidenstein's cells were dubbed MSCs (Friedenstein 1976; Friedenstein et al. 1976), a term coined in 1991 by Caplan and colleagues, who suggested the existence of ASCs responsible for mesengenesis (Caplan 1991; Cui et al. 2018).

Based on Friedenstein's research, scientists discovered that bone marrow contains a subpopulation of MSCs that can differentiate into various cell types, including bone, adipocytes, and cartilage. Besides, MSCs have been successfully differentiated into a variety of other cell types in the last two decades, including CMs, hepatocytes, neurons, and ECs. Given their robustness and ease of genetic manipulation, they have also been used as carriers of exogenous genes of interest for delivery to the infarcted heart (Kim et al. 2012a; Ahmed et al. 2010; Haider et al. 2008; Jiang et al. 2008) besides their use as a starting material to develop iPSCs using Takahashi and Yamanaka's classical protocol of quartet of transcription factors (Buccini et al. 2012; Ibrahim et al. 2016).

MSCs constitute a heterogeneous groups of cells which can be identified based of their preferential adherence to the plastic surface, tri-lineage differentiation to adopt adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic fate besides the expression of a select group of surface markers, i.e., CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105 and absence of CD34, CD38, CD45, CD11/14b (Haider 2018). This is the minimum criterion set by the International Society of Stem Cells to identify the purity of the MSCs. Various induction protocols have been developed and optimized to differentiate MSCs from multiple sources into CM-like cells. Some of the most commonly used approaches include treating MSCs with cardiac tissue extracts, co-culturing MSCs with CMs, or culturing with pro-cardiogenic factors (BMP, VEGF, TGF-1, angiotensin 2, or treatment with small molecules, i.e., 5 Azacytidine) (Ullah et al. 2021; Zeng et al. 2008; Perán et al. 2010; Guan et al. 2011; Markmee et al. 2017; Cui et al. 2018). Besides, MSCs have also been preconditioned at sub-cellular (Lu et al. 2010) and cellular levels to enhance their proliferation, functionality, paracrine activity, and reparability (Li et al. 2012, Haider et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2012a, b; Haider and Aziz 2017).

The field of cardiac tissue engineering has garnered much attention during the last decade. The first study on the cardiac tissue growth derived from embryonic chicken CM in vitro was published in 1995, which sparked a lot of interest. Thus, cardiac tissue engineering emerged from such pioneering studies to turn basic knowledge into clinical practice. The long-term objectives of these advancements have led to the development of small and large experimental animal models for preclinical evaluation of drugs, tissue constructs to regenerate myocardium in vivo, and better pathophysiological understanding of cardiac-related diseases (Feric and Radisic 2016).

Natural and Synthetic Polymer Used for Regenerative Therapy

Engineered functional biomaterials for cardiac therapies have emerged as a viable option to meet the global demand for novel CVD treatments. Biomaterials are 3D scaffolds made up of natural or synthetic materials engineered to replicate the local cellular microenvironment. The combination of TERM aims to restore damaged tissues' structural and functional properties. Biomaterials are used in cardiovascular applications to help or temporarily replace the damaged myocardial tissue and serve as a base for long-term repair and regeneration. For example, biomaterials contribute to the repair process by controlling the cellular and molecular pathways (i.e., inflammation and fibrosis), improving ECM and tissue integrity, and sustaining CM viability (Segers and Lee 2011; Reis et al. 2016; Gaharwar et al. 2020). Therefore, biomaterials should have optimal mechanical and biological characteristics that render them biocompatible, biodegradable, and biomimetic to meet the TERM requirements (Segers and Lee 2011). Cell seeding (either in vivo or ex vivo) onto implantable scaffolds or acellular scaffolds that recruit endogenous cells to promote reparative processes is currently used in biomaterial approaches to enhance therapeutic efficacy. Scaffolds are also being used for site-specific delivery of cells while concomitantly improving their rate of engraftment and survival (Terrovitis et al. 2010; Li et al. 2017; Su et al. 2018; Huang et al. 2020). They may be impregnated with cytokines or GFs that promote angiogenesis in cardiac tissues to improve regional blood flow (Lakshmanan et al. 2016). Akin to the healthy myocardial environment, the structural and mechanical properties of the scaffolds, i.e., anisotropic and topographic cues, can modulate CM and fibroblast morphology, distribution, and function (Silvestri et al. 2013; Sia et al. 2016). These scaffolds are usually made as cardiac pads, fibrous mats, macroporous sponges, foams, or hydrogels of various shapes and sizes. Furthermore, these characteristics are the primary determinants of the physical, mechanical, and biological properties of any material being used for a scaffold. Therefore, the biomaterials must be characterized, keeping in view the conditions (ECM, myocardial tissue) they would ultimately be used (Mackiewicz et al. 2016).

Natural Scaffolds

Natural-based scaffolds made of polysaccharides and/or proteins can be constructed to imitate the physical and biological characteristics of the intrinsic heart ECM. Collagen, fibrin, alginate, chitosan, and hyaluronic acid are commonly used to develop a typical natural scaffold. In general, these natural-source components are biocompatible and bioactive and significantly promote the biological characteristics of the cells, including cell adhesion, proliferation, differentiation, and paracrine behavior of the cells (Asadi et al. 2020). Furthermore, decellularized tissues that have undergone comprehensive pre- and post-processing retain their tissue-specific
characteristics that are essential for the scaffold material-host interaction with multi-layered biological networks containing non-cellular components. Together, this typical scaffold mimics the biological microarchitecture of the heart's dynamic native ECM (Li et al. 2020). On the contrary, natural scaffolds offer many challenges, including cost, poor stability and reproducibility, and relatively weak mechanical properties. Furthermore, due to the associated risks with the biomaterial preparation and origin (animal-based), immunogenicity remains a primary issue for their clinical translation (Pawan et al. 2019). We have discussed in-depth ECM and collagen-based scaffold for their significance in cardiac regeneration research.

Extra-Cellular Matrix (ECM)

The ECM plays an essential role in the differentiation of stem cells into a specific lineage. ECM-directed differentiation of stem cells has been intriguing because, in addition to providing a conducive matrix for cellular attachment, growth, and proliferation, its biochemical composition, and the presence of various GFs, significantly contribute to deliver differentiation-relevant biochemical cues for the seeded cells (Baharvand et al. 2005; Rienks et al. 2014; D'Amore et al. 2016; Pawan et al. 2019; Li et al. 2020). Emanating from different cells, including CFs, MSCs, and fibroblasts, the composition of ECM differs according to its cell source and significantly influences cardiomyogenic differentiation of cells. For example, a direct comparison of CF-derived ECM, cardiogel, with BMSC-derived ECM, mesogel, revealed that two ECMs diverged in their composition in the differential expression of nearly 17 ECM proteins (Santhakumar et al. 2014).

The distinct difference in their composition was related to their differential ability to promote cardiomyogenic differentiation and angiogenic potential of stem cells. The authors also reported that cardiogel also promoted proliferation, adhesion, and migration potential of the cells in culture. In addition, it protects CMs by reducing the oxidative stress on primary CMs (Sreejit and Verma 2011). The authors observed that MSCs adhered to the cardiogel at a much faster rate than MSCs cultured on the normal surface and were difficult to dislodge by proteolytic enzyme digestion besides showing enhanced survival under oxidative stress of treatment with H₂O₂. Others have also found that ECM obtained from MSCs protects C-kit positive CMs from oxidative stress (Ng et al. 2019). The experimental data showed that the addition of 5-Azacytidine, an epigenetic modulator commonly used to induce cardiomyogenic differentiation can improve MSCs' differentiation into CMs when the cells were cultured in CF-derived ECM (Santhakumar et al. 2014). This method could be helpful in the development of functional CMs and their eventual in vivo application for the treatment of experimentally induced MI. Such cell-derived ECM can be used to differentiate MSCs into CMs in vitro and in vivo (Santhakumar et al. 2014).

It is now well-documented that the ECM plays a critical role in the fate determination of MSCs during their cardiomyogenic differentiation. Decellularized heart ECM has been used as a natural scaffold for CMs culture and MSCs' differentiation into CMs during the construction of an experimental artificial whole organ. There has been a greater focus on the area of artificial whole organ development since the publication of the first report to use the decellularized whole organ for artificial heart reconstruction (Ott et al. 2008). CMs obtained from MSCs have a better survival and migration rate in a decellularized heart scaffold (Akbay and Onur 2019). From the standpoint of building a large-scale artificial organ with a high cell density, this is a piece of important information. Repopulation of decellularized heart ECM and in situ differentiation have been used to make a whole reconstructed heart based on CMs. CMs obtained from rat MSCs, as well as rat primary CMs and ECs, were recently repopulated into decellularized rat heart. Although this construct demonstrated the repopulation of a decellularized rat heart, the repopulated heart's conduction was lacking (Tong et al. 2019). This research focused on one of the most intriguing aspects of obtaining morphofunctionally competent CMs from MSCs. However, such an approach necessitates more in-depth research to develop optimized differentiation protocols for overall repopulation, and impulse generation and propagation in the reconstructed heart. MSCs and decellularized heart matrix have been used in a similar manner to make a functional patch that can help alleviate or treat infarcted heart. This was accomplished by seeding MSCs derived from the adipose tissue into a decellularized porcine heart patch. This decellularized patch carrying the adipose tissue cells showed increased proliferation and infiltration, indicating that it could be used as a scaffold for cell transplantation and tissue construction. Transplantation of such a construct into a rat model of MI improved cell infiltration and increased vascularization at the infarct site (Shah et al. 2018). These approaches are intriguing because using heart-derived matrices would resemble the support scaffold more closely to the ECM conditions in the native heart tissue, optimally influencing the performance and outcome of the transplanted scaffold in improving the global heart function. Heart ECM-derived hydrogel has also been used to develop CM-like cells and their application in improving heart function in vivo. Heart ECM-derived hydrogel supported MSCs' proliferation and

commitment to CM-like cells in this study. The therapeutic potential and application of ECM hydrogel as a model for cell delivery in heart repair following infarction were also validated in vivo (Bai et al. 2019).

Collagen Scaffolds

Collagen, in particular, has garnered a lot of attention as a viable natural scaffold for tissue engineering (Wu et al. 2019). Collagen is a fibrous structural protein that is present in fibrillar and non-fibrillar forms in most mammalian connective tissues and accounts for nearly 25% of total dry weight (Parenteau-Bareil et al. 2010). Collagens are distinguished by their triple-helical domain, which is formed by combining three polypeptide chains with Gly-X-Y repeat sequences to create a homo-trimeric or hetero-trimeric supramolecular structure. Glycine residues are found in every third position in the repeated triplet series, followed by hydroxylysine, hydroxyproline, or proline residues in the X and Y positions (Shoulders and Raines 2009; Parenteau-Bareil et al. 2010; Chattopadhyay and Raines 2014). Coiled turns in the polypeptide chains are possible with this sequence. The structural properties of collagen vary due to variations in the chain structure, but the helical shape in fibrillar collagens is conserved. Collagens are made and secreted as procollagen, primarily from

fibroblasts that have undergone post-translational modifications. The tropocollagen self-assembly creates fibrils that bind to collagen fibers on the outside (Chattopadhyay and Raines 2014). Furthermore, type I and type III fibrillar collagens are essential components of cardiac tissue's ECM. Co-polymerized type I and type III bundles make up the bulk of fibers surrounding CMs (Gazoti Debessa et al. 2001). These collagens arranged in three layers/bundles: epimysial, perimysial, and endomysial fibers provide structural and functional support to the surrounding cardiac tissues. The primary alignment and orientation of fibers in the collagen network provide a functionally active surface for cellular development, communication, and contractility (Shoulders and Raines 2009). Collagen motifs (e.g., RGD) also interact with various cell receptor proteins (e.g., integrins) and other ECM components. Adhesion, migration, proliferation, and differentiation are all supported by these explicit but indirect interactions. Collagens have outstanding biocompatibility and biodegradability properties of their own and are abundant and essential components of a healthy cardiac ECM structure and function (Kaiser et al. 2019). MMPs (e.g., collagenases) enzymatic activity also plays a role in collagen biodegradation. These properties can be modulated by cross-linking techniques (physical, chemical, and enzymatic) that shape polymeric networks in the development of collagen-based biomaterials (Parenteau-Bareil et al. 2010; Chattopadhyay and Raines 2014). These characteristics render collagen an ideal natural material for biomaterials; however, it has a few disadvantages. For example, the mechanical properties of collagens are highly conserved, which makes its optimization a problematic proposition, while the unmodified polymers behave less than optimally. A careful handling is also needed to avoid denaturation, degradation, or fibrillogenesis, (Shoulders and Raines 2009).

Notably, the two primary forms of ECM collagen, type I and type III are structurally different that significantly impact their function as well as mechanical properties in the heart. Collagen type I is the most abundant type that imparts strength and stiffness to the fibrous networks. On the other hand, collagen type III has a major regulatory role in myocyte function. It is interspersed in collagen type I meshwork to provide elasticity. The physical and mechanical properties of native and post-MI tissues are significantly influenced by the ECM ratio between the two collagen types. For example, in the diseased heart, type I is generally elevated relative to type III, whereas early-stage post-MI type III shows a dramatic rise, which results in impaired cell adhesion and decreased angiogenesis. On the same note, other pathological conditions, i.e., vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, are affected by this fluctuating ratio-dependent phenomenon, which affects fibril covalent cross-linking variations between the two collagens. With the emergence of new fibers in the LV wall, collagen type I content rises and CMs number falls due to the advancing age of the patient. This is analogous to variations in ratios between uninjured and hypertrophic skin over time. Moreover, with less elastic type III collagen, the type I/III ratio changes, which may contribute to a proportionate decline in cardiac function. Type I fibrillogenesis, or fiber length/diameter, are affected by type III during co-assembly in the cardiac environment. Furthermore, in myocardial fibrosis, an increased collagen types I/III ratio has been linked to dilated cardiomyopathy. Thus, the effect of collagen-based materials can be influenced by variations in myocardial collagen form I/III disposition at various stages of life or injury (Parenteau-Bareil et al. 2010; Chattopadhyay and Raines 2014).

The collagen-based scaffolds, especially those based on collagen type I, have long been a popular natural source for cardiac biomaterials. Collagen-based matrices enhanced vascularization and tissue repair in the ischemic and infarcted tissues. However, delivery time of the injectable collagen remains a critical determinant of the beneficial therapeutic effects of the treatment post-infarction (Blackburn et al. 2015). While injection of the collagen hydrogel showed long-term benefits in alleviating ventricular remodeling, delay in the treatment was less beneficial. On the mechanistic aspect, injectable hydrogel suppressed the ongoing inflammatory response in the infarcted myocardium by altering the cytokine profile, thus reducing tissue fibrosis and promoting angiogenesis. These data also showed that collagen materials are capable of more than just offering structural support. Regulated degradation of collagen materials has been shown in studies to improve GF retention and angiogenesis. Collagen matrices are excellent for cell delivery that supports cell recruitment for their participation in the naturally ongoing repair process, enhancing cell survival and tissue preservation. Collagen offers biophysical and biochemical cues that control cell behavior as an effective regenerative environment. Collagen also helps many stem cells and progenitors, i.e., CACs, MSCs, and skeletal myoblasts, to participate in the repair process (Kuraitis et al. 2012). There is strong evidence in the published data that functionality of the collagen scaffolds can be further enhanced by scaffold electrostimulation or decellularized hybrid materials that facilitate stem cell differentiation into CMs with pre-conditioned collagen scaffolds for cardiac phenotypes (Chen et al. 2019). Given their 3D environments, collagen hydrogels or soft matrices show the most positive cellular interactions (Hasan et al. 2015). For example, treatment of MSCs with collagen promotes their cardiomyogenic differentiation. Kang et al. showed that the rate of cardiomyogenic differentiation of MSCs cultured on nanosized collagen type I after treatment with 5-azacytidine was significantly higher than the routinely cultured cells treated with 5-azacytidine. In addition, the collagen-cultured MSCs showed significantly higher expression of Nkx2.5 and GATA-4 proteins besides cardiac-specific troponin-I, myosin heavy chain, and cardiac α -actin (Kang et al. 2013). Similar data was also published by other research groups (2013). Interestingly, the strategy of 3D culturing of the cells not only enhanced the rate of cardiomyogenic differentiation, the derived CMs also showed superiority in their functionality (Ding et al. 2020).

Although collagen is an excellent natural option for composite scaffolds, it can be enhanced by adding additional components such as polysaccharides or other ECM-derived proteins. Collagen also aids in cell attachment and differentiation in scaffolds made of synthetic materials like PCL, PLGA, and PLA. Collagen nanofibers infused with gold nanoparticles improved fiber conductivity and facilitated MSCs differentiation cultured in cardiac differentiation medium in the nanomaterials. Collagen biomaterials are also suitable for cardiac regeneration due to their mechanical and biological properties. Collagen scaffolds can be further refined with novel design techniques, nanotechnology, and composites that are at the forefront of next-generation materials (McLaughlin et al. 2019).

Synthetic Scaffolds

Unlike biomaterials, synthetic material scaffolds inherently lack biocompatibility; however, they provide remarkable design and preparation flexibility and variability. Therefore, polyesters and polyurethanes are more commonly used for continuous, low-cost development of physical and mechanical properties that are easily customizable. In addition, some synthetics, such as PCL, PLGA, and PLA, are biodegradable, and the majority are easily modifiable (Gupta et al. 2021). However, foreign body reactions, toxicity, and undefined functional characteristics are all disadvantages of the design. Furthermore, synthetic scaffolds usually have surface hydrophobicity and, without alteration, lack internal or external biological components, which make cultivating interactions for cell growth and tissue organization difficult (Silvestri et al. 2013; Tong and Yang 2018).

Hybrid biomaterials incorporate natural and synthetic elements to create scaffolds with better structural and functional properties. Many different techniques, i.e., gas foaming, freeze-drying, electrospinning, are used to assemble a single scaffold in hybrid production methods. Natural elements are typically layered over synthetic elements, either in the form of multi-layered fibers or shell and core structures. Natural materials alter exterior bio-integration and surface interactions, while synthetics add strength to the mechanical properties or impart unique geometries to the scaffold. Cell orientation, permeation, contractility, and movements are all influenced by compartmentalized or whole material geometry (e.g., form, scale, porosity, fiber dimensions). Electrospun fibrous scaffolds or self-assembling peptides are typical examples of this. However, thorough characterization is needed for composite or hybrid biomaterials to ensure that the individual properties imparted by each component are preserved during pre- and post-processing methods (Bagno et al. 2018).

To enhance their structural and functional properties, biomaterials may be modified morphologically, chemically, or biologically during the manufacturing process (e.g., cross-linking, bioactive molecules) or afterward (e.g., surface functionalization). For example, specific functional groups or cell-binding motifs (RGD, YIGSR) used on surface coatings improve cell adhesion (Silvestri et al. 2013). Laser-enhanced micro-channels that boost cell attachment and retention can be used to modify scaffold surfaces with utmost precision. Impregnation of the scaffolds with GFs promotes regenerative processes in the cardiac tissues and includes VEGF and IGF-1. Covalent fixation to surfaces, encapsulation, or cross-linkage may all be used to attach GFs to scaffolds. Composite scaffolds, especially hydrogels, easily expose GFs to tissues due to their unique localization and time-release degradation. These changes support cell survival and mediate cell development, proliferation, and differentiation.

Hydrogel Based Therapy

Because of their crosslinked 3D network, which can contain up to 98% water and mimic the native ECM, hydrogels are a natural option for many regenerative medicine applications. As a result, hydrogels are being created for cell and drug delivery, as well as for use as bioactive agents to aid healing and tissue regeneration following injury or disease. Hydrogel designs for the treatment of trauma and diseases of the CVS, nervous system, cartilage, bone, skin, and cornea, to name a few, have been published (Toh and Loh 2014; Floren et al. 2016; Brunette et al. 2017; Dimatteo et al. 2018).

Each application of hydrogel necessitates a particular set of physical and biological properties during its development for biomedical use (Fig. 2). Viscoelasticity, shear-thinning, self-healing, and thermal properties are some of the specific examples of physical properties that need optimization for ideal usefulness and maximum benefits. In addition, the hydrogels must be non-toxic from the biological perspective. To achieve the required biological response, biodegradability properties, their ability to provide adequate space for cells, and the necessary cell attachment sites or other signaling factors (broadly defined as biocompatibility) require careful consideration (Floren et al. 2016). It is pertinent to mention that the physical properties offered by the scaffold in terms of cellular microenvironment have a significant bearing on the cell biology, their paracrine behavior, and differentiation characteristics.

For example, the effects of substrate stiffness on various cell types under diverse set of conditions are enormous and have been extensively studied in vitro experimental settings. CMs, for example, continue to beat on the substrates that mimic the





measured stiffness of healthy myocardium. In contrast, the substrates with a higher stiffness corresponding to a MI scar failed to support their contractility.

TERM applications, which often use stem and progenitor cells in conjunction with hydrogels, require the sustenance of stem cell activity after their culturing on different substrates. For example, the elastic modulus of a polyacrylamide hydrogel directs MSCs to undergo neurogenic, myogenic, and osteogenic differentiation from low (1 kPa) to medium (10–20 kPa) to high (100 kPa) (Daviran et al. 2018). Similarly, CD34⁺ cells from mouse bone marrow successfully adopted endothelial fate on a substrate matching myocardial tissue stiffness 1–2 weeks after the MI (Zhang et al. 2017a). However, in vivo environments, where cells are embedded in a 3D matrix, the 2D cell culture environment may not be entirely representative. When the hydrogels must be crosslinked in the presence of cells using bio-orthogonal reactions, preventing cross-reaction with cell surface components, in that case, the development of 3D in vitro systems becomes a challenge. For example, alginate, hyaluronic acid, and gelatin hydrogels have been used to demonstrate that neural stem and progenitor cells undergo neuronal differentiation at a higher rate on the very soft hydrogels that match brain tissue stiffness.

In contrast, slightly stiffer hydrogels result in increased astrocyte differentiation (Zhang et al. 2017a). In summary, when selecting a hydrogel for tissue regeneration, the mechanical properties of the tissue should be taken into consideration and mimicked for the desired and best outcomes.

Hydrogels have viscous fluid properties (loss modulus, G) in addition to rigid elastic nature (storage modulus, G). This means that a portion of the energy is dissipated as heat during hydrogel deformation, resulting in a nonlinear timedependent response to the applied stress (Özkaya et al. 2017). Thus, measuring the complex viscoelastic properties of hydrogels is arguably the best way to evaluate their response to deformation in general, and particularly given that the viscous characteristics of the environment have also been shown to affect cells. For example, MSCs' transdifferentiation into SMCs improved when cultured on higher viscosity substrates (G = 130 Pa vs. 1 Pa) while retaining the same storage modulus (5 kPa). Furthermore, both in vitro and in vivo, stiffness-matched (G = 20 kPa) hydrogels with quick stress-relaxation (more pronounced viscous character) resulted in MSCs' improved rate of osteogenic differentiation (Cameron et al. 2014; Özkaya et al. 2017; Fan et al. 2018).

About the intended use, the choice of polymer, crosslinking process, physical and biological properties of the hydrogel, and their characterization should all be considered in unison for a collective perspective. Fortunately, the idea of a hydrogel allows room for lot of creativity, especially when it comes to creating a material that meets the requirements of a specific application. Synthetic or natural polymers, or a mixture of both, may be used to make hydrogels. Different chemical reactions or physical interactions may be used to build the crosslinked 3D network. However, the development of a universal hydrogel design is implausible to be achieved because each material and its crosslinking process has characteristics that could be advantageous or disadvantageous depending on the intended application; instead, it must be adapted to each particular biomedical situation (Toh and Loh 2014).

Injectable hydrogels, both natural and synthetic, are hydrated solutions that solidify in response to physiological pH, temperature, and chemical cross-linking. They are water-absorbent, malleable, and durable soft materials that shape complex, hydrophilic 3D environments. Environmental biomimetic applications benefit from the high-water retention and polymeric network, which is also improved by covalent cross-linking. Surface adhesion and permeability are enhanced by hydrogels' structural expansion, including water retention due to the porous networks. This allows the seeded cells to communicate with each other and with the substrate more easily, offering both physical and functional support. Furthermore, the spatial organization of solidified hydrogels acts as a scaffold, enhancing transplanted cell retention, biological characteristics, and functionality. Furthermore, in situ gelation is a beneficial property of hydrogels because, as an injectable, the delivery mechanism reduces invasive procedures and allows for easier delivery as compared to rigid materials such as tissue patches or delicate decellularized sheets that not only require special handling in vitro but also obligate more invasive procedures for site-directed delivery/placement.

In the experimental animal models, injectable materials have demonstrated the potential to increase cardiac function and reduce LV-dilation even without exogenous cells. However, the mechanisms that promote functional regeneration and tissue neovascularization through material-cell-host interactions remain less well-understood and have yet to be thoroughly elucidated. In reality, the structural support offered by an inert material has been shown to have little or no inherent effect. As a result, the focus of research is on searching for clinically more viable materials and understanding their bioactive interactions in the cardiac system (Hao et al. 2007; Hasan et al. 2015; Ruvinov and Cohen 2016; Ketabat et al. 2018; Matsumura et al. 2019).

Patch-Based Cell Therapy

Though hydrogel-based therapy has given encouraging data regarding safety and efficacy, various research groups have focused on site-specific delivery of cells for infarct treatment using a patch-based cell delivery approach. 3D printing of pre-vascularized and multi-material structures uses decellularized ECM carrying stem cells as bio-inks. The printed structure, which consists of dual stem cell spatial patterning, improves cardiac functions by attenuating cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis, increasing migration of the delivered cells from the patch to the infarct region. Patch-based delivered cells significantly contributed to neovascularization, resulting in improved global cardiac function. Jang et al. have reported an interesting study in which stem cell-carrying hdECM bioinks were used in 3D printing or multi-material structures (Jang et al. 2017). The spatial patterning of the stem cells enhanced their differentiation potential. The stem cell carrying patches were allowed the migration of WT1 positive progenitor cells using the EMT mechanism, hdECM enhances epicardial-mediated cardiac tissue regeneration in an experimental animal model (Jang et al. 2017).

The fabricated cardiac patches need invasive open-heart surgery for implantation, either by suturing (Shadrin et al. 2017) or applying bioglue (Singh et al. 2016). In

hypoxic and serum-deprived conditions, PCL/gelatin patch carrying MSCs stimulated endogenous cardiac repair. Mechanistically, increased MSCs survival and the paracrine release of VEGF, and SDF-1 contributed toward cardiac repair. Tracing engrafted MSCs fate for survival and distribution revealed that the cells were spread across the epicardium and penetrated into the myocardium. EPDCs migrated into deep tissue and differentiated into ECs and SMCs, with a low rate of cardiomyogenic differentiation (Wang et al. 2017). The delivery of non-suturable MSCs-carrying adhesive dressings has also exhibited regenerative potential. In a study by Kobayashi et al. (2019), adhesive dressing incorporated with MSCs was fabricated from a fibrin sealant film at the treatment site. The dressing firmly adhered to the surface of the heart at the site of application. The outer collagen film protected the MSCs-fibrin complex from erosion, supporting improved cell retention and migrating the delivered cells to the epicardium. The authors observed a 17% increase in the global LV function. The fibrin patch with a combination of thrombin is attributed to the adhesive property of the patch (Kobayashi et al. 2019).

As described earlier, the cardiac patch needs an application to the myocardium under direct vision, which is only possible by open-chest surgery, an invasive intervention. Therefore, the patch-based delivery approach has been modified to make it less invasive and clinically more relevant for routine applications. Biospray approach was reported by Tang et al., who used platelet-fibrin gel "paint" that polymerizes in situ with a minimally invasive procedure. They found that spray therapy after the MI episodes increased cardiac recovery and alleviated global cardiac dysfunction (Tang et al. 2017). On the same note, Montgomery et al. produced elastic and micro-fabricated scaffold that could be injected instead of delivered as a patch. After delivery via a 1 mm orifice, the scaffold regained its original form while retaining the viability and functionality of the delivered cells. In an experimental rat model of MI, the significant improvement in the global cardiac function was observed after delivering a micro-fabricated scaffold and cardiac patch of a biodegradable polymer (Montgomery et al. 2017). The approach required a minimally invasive cell delivery procedure. Pea et al. have also reported an injectable RTG-based scaffold functionalized with CNT, which transitions from a solution at room temperature to a 3D gel-based matrix shortly after reaching the body temperature, supporting long-term CMs survival, promoting CMs alignment and proliferation, and improving CMs function. The addition of CNTs to the RTG provided the native CMs with topographical and electrophysiological cues, facilitating long-term survival through better cell alignment and fibroblast proliferation suppression (Peña et al. 2017).

3D-Bioprinting

There are diverse strategies to repair the damaged area to improve the organ's functionality during experimental tissue regeneration. For example, the agent for damaged tissue repair may require implantation on the damaged tissue site, or it may require a mixture of cells and materials that will help regenerate the damaged part.

The materials and the cells will depend on the type of the target organ. For organs like the heart, which remain in constant motion, it is challenging to choose them owing to their dynamic functional status. Moreover, the types of cells seeded will determine their arrangement in the matrix, the mechanical property of the matrix, etc., all are even more important to achieve the desired outcome. In such a situation, 3D-Bioprinting is beneficial as it is easier to mimic the microenvironment of such complex tissues (Zhang et al. 2017b).

The Complexity of the Cardiac Tissue

The adult mammalian heart is intricate as it is hierarchically organized with multiple layers of cells in its wall. The heart's pump function is attributed to the concomitant and homogeneous contractility of the constituent contractile CMs that function as a syncytium. Each CM is around 120 µm long and joins with adjacent CMs to form a functional syncytium. Each CM is surrounded by connective tissue called endomysium, and a bundle of CMs is covered with perimysium connective tissue. Both of them have the function of providing support and preventing slip between cells. These bundles of CMs are arranged in layers with different alignments along the thickness of the heart. Deep inside the heart, they are arranged longitudinally; in the middle portion, the arrangement is circumferential, whereas the superficial strands are oblique (Ho 2009). This arrangement of myocardial strands is necessary for the generation of 3D heart contraction and effective systolic ejection of the blood. Recreating this anisotropic, multiscale architecture is crucial if CMs are used as the basic contractile unit for an engineered heart that can pump efficiently. CMs constitute more than 70% of the heart volume and nearly 30-40% of the total cell population in the heart (Khademhosseini and Camci-Unal 2020). The remaining cell populations include non-CMs, like fibroblasts, ECs etc. They perform important functions like mechanical stability, ECM secretion, nutrient transport, etc.

Balancing of these cell populations is crucial in 3D printing of the heart tissue for optimal function. Just like the cell types, several ECM proteins play a vital role in heart function, tissue organization and stability, i.e., collagen I, elastin, GAGs etc. Besides CMs and their support from ECM, heart has intricate group of structures like the heart valves, the coronary blood vessel system, and the cells responsible for conducting the electrical impulse throughout the cardiac tissue etc. as shown in Fig. 3. All these factors must be taken into consideration during engineering of the heart tissue.

3D-Printing Salient Points

3D printing was introduced in the late 1990s and has the capability to form scaffolds with a greater degree of architectural control. Encapsulation of cells with the biomaterials has made bioprinting a possible avenue. The only class of materials capable of maintaining cell viability during encapsulation is hydrogels. While



Fig. 3 Important structures and physiology of heart tissue, which requires to be replicated in 3D printed heart

making a new ink for 3D bioprinting, a compromise has to be made between its printability and cell viability. For example, inks with high polymer concentrations are the most amenable to 3D printing, but cell viability is best at low polymer concentration. Liquid phase bioinks apply less stress on cells while printing through extrusion, but they also have many problems, such as settling of cells during printing. Hence, it is not to print them in multiple layers, and they will need supporting structures or additional crosslinking mechanisms to achieve this. Gel-phase bioinks overcome such problems, but stresses on cells become an issue in them. Crosslinking of bioinks is a significant step in bioprinting.

It can be done by physical method (e.g., ionic bonding, hydrogen bonding, and hydrophobic forces) or chemical methods (e.g., photopolymerization) based on the properties of the native tissue. For example, ionic cross-linking is vulnerable to dissolution in culture or in vivo, where local divalent cation concentrations may draw cross-linking calcium out of the gel. So, the crosslinking method must be optimized before going for bioprinting. It should be noted that both physical and chemical crosslinking mechanisms can be combined to obtain a bioink. Tissue specificity may be achieved using tissue-specific dECM or by functionalizing a nonspecific ink with tissue-specific GFs. It is also required that the bioinks and their degradation products should not be cytotoxic. Naturally obtained bioinks have advantages as they can easily mimic the in vivo mechanical properties, cell viability and signaling is better than synthetic bioinks. Still there are issues of immune response, batch to batch variation associated with them. Some of the protein-based natural bioinks are chitosan, hyaluronic acid, alginate, etc. Other natural



Fig. 4 Process of 3D-Bioprinting, (a) steps of 3D bioprinting, (b) pre-scaffold fabrication bioprinting, (c) simultaneous hybrid 3D bioprinting

bioinks include matrigel, decellularized ECM hydrogels, etc. Synthetic bioinks can be made from PEG or its mixture with other chemicals like Laponite. There are different methods for bioprinting too, such as inkjet printing, extrusion-based printing, or laser-based printing.

These methods vary in their capability to print a 3D structure laden with cells. For example, laser-based printing method has very high resolution and can print up to single cell resolution. Figure 4 shows different processes of 3D bioprinting of heart tissue.

3D Printing Techniques of Heart Tissue

The whole neonatal heart develops from the CPCs while the adult heart possesses limited capability to grow further and regenerate due to CMs senescence. This limited capacity also delimits its capacity to repair itself after pathologies like MI that lead to massive loss of functioning CMs and therefore necessitates outside intervention support. Various research groups have tried generating heart tissues and neovascularization form ESCs or iPSCs, or direct reprogramming from CFs (Rufaihah et al. 2007, 2010; Ahmed et al. 2011; Buccini et al. 2012). Though the transplanted cells successfully form beating CMs, the rate of differentiation is low and their alignment is improper with little evidence about their integration with the host myocytes, which is important requirement their harmonious functioning with the host myocardium. Given that electrical stimulation can direct cell orientation and migration whereas mechanical signals can induce cell alignment, forces like cyclic stretching may support the cell alignment concurrent with the direction of minimal

deformation rate. In terms of cell alignment, 3D printing supersedes other conventional methods for tissue engineering as it alleviates the need of external stimulus to induce cell alignment as cells can be printed in that fashion. Support-assisted bioprinting can also help overcome such issues with ease. Materials like Pluronic F127 can be used for the support structure which can be removed in later stage.

Printing of cell-embedded bioink can be performed in multiple layers to mimic the in vivo arrangement of cells in the heart. Such techniques also facilitate higher print resolution (Lee and Yeong 2020). Sacrificial material like PVA, which is easily soluble in water, can form a 3D structure. A valentine-shaped heart with micro size pores for nutrient transport has been performed using PVA. After sacrificing the PVA, cells in the hollow heart proliferated and maintained their biological properties (Zou et al. 2020). Purkinje fibers conduct cardiac action potential more quickly than other types of cells in the heart. It is necessary to include structures, which mediates CM polarization and depolarization to obtain a fully functional heart. Similarly, it is possible to print such a complicated system with the help of computational modeling and bioprinting with support structures, The current study assessed the functional performance of the Purkinje networks and continuous syncytium formation via response to electrical and biochemical stimulation (Tracy et al. 2020).

For transplantation of structures like a coronary artery, vascular grafts are used made out of biocompatible materials. When fabricated through conventional methods, they mostly fail because of mismatched vessel properties, thrombosis, atherosclerosis, or infection (Lee et al. 2019b). The physiology of blood vessels varies from patient to patient. Through computational modeling, patient-specific vascular grafts can be designed. 3D printing can help realize such vascular grafts with complex structures. For example, the Y-shaped graft, known to reduce power loss and optimize hydrodynamic efficiency, is relatively easier to print than any other method, including molding or electrospinning.

Another novel technique in 3D printing is µCOP that involves 2D pattern transformed into 3D volume. A higher resolution in the z direction with highspeed printing can be achieved with such techniques. Direct patterning of CMs in an asymmetric manner can be performed easily. Such systems can be used for both tissue engineering and drug discovery studies (Liu et al. 2020). New techniques have also been developed by different groups such as FRESH printing. The technique is based on the use of soft biomaterials for effective printing. From patient-derived MRI images, 3D printing of whole human heart is possible with this method using alginate hydrogel. The printed structure is strong enough to withstand the pulling force applied during suturing. Cell-laden FRESH printing is also possible (Mirdamadi et al. 2020). Drop-on-demand bioprinting technique can be used to print multiple layered structures like blood vessels. Blood vessels are composed of different layers, and in each layer, there are different types of cells and ECM composition. These 3D vessel models have a wall thickness of up to 425 µm and a diameter of about 1 mm. The models were successfully tested under physiological flow conditions for 3 weeks (Schöneberg et al. 2018). This technique can also be used for printing the complex structure of heart wall.

Most cells do not survive in human body when present in more than a few hundred micrometers from the nearest capillary due to nutrient deprivation. Hence, this should be kept in mind that 3D printing facilitates sufficient nutrient and oxygen transport to support cell survival. Also, the issue of nutrient transport can be solved by printing cell-laden bioinks in layers with spacing. To supply oxygen to the transplanted tissue, bioinks can be prepared with oxygen-generating materials, such as sodium percarbonate, calcium peroxide, magnesium peroxide, and hydrogen peroxide. The addition of calcium peroxide as an O_2 source in GelMA bioink improved cell survival under hypoxic conditions. Such materials also tend to change the viscosity of bioinks, which is needed to be considered while 3D printing (Erdem et al. 2020).

Bioinks for Heart Tissue

In addition to the cells, ECM is constantly changing during cardiac development to support cellular and organ needs. They are also of equal importance as cardiac cells as they are responsible for signaling and support. Their compositions vary with the age of the person. For example, in neonatal hearts, fibronectin is the most prevalent ECM while its percentage is meager in the adult heart wherein ECM is mainly composed of collagen I. ECM composition also varies with space and the percentage of proteins, i.e., elastin, fibrillin, or hyaluronic acid, change in atrium and ventricles. The bioink must contain the required ECM composition to support the growth and function of 3D printed tissue.

It is improbable that all these functions can be accomplished with a single bioink. Instead, it is needed to print a cardiac construct with multiple bioink formulations. Collagen is the most abundant matrix protein found in tissues. Conventionally, it is used for printing 3D scaffolds. With novel FRESH technology, it can be successfully used for fabricating heart tissue (Lee et al. 2019a). A combination of collagen with alginate or agarose has also been used to print 3D tissues with composite bioink (Gungor-Ozkerim et al. 2018). Nonnative structural materials like alginate or PEG alone have been used for bioprinting, but these materials do not support any biological function. They can only be used as structural support. Gelatin is another ECM component used for 3D printing the heart. The advantage of using gelatin is its intrinsic Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) motifs, good biocompatibility, and low cost. Synchronized beating and proper alignment can also be achieved in gelatin bioink (Tijore et al. 2018). Other natural materials like chitosan and fibrin or synthetic materials like PGA, PCL, PLA, and PLGA has also been used for heart tissue engineering (Qasim et al. 2019). They have good biocompatibility but vary in cell migration capability, mechanical strength, vascularization, and cell adhesion. A combination of various available bioink materials can give rise to a novel bioink that will perform tissue repair in a better way. For example, in a recent work, different alginate-gelatin blends were constituted and tested for properties, like cell viability of MSCs, printability mechanical strength, etc. (Di Giuseppe et al. 2018). The authors showed that a blend of 7% alginate and 8% gelatin yields a bioink with high viability for

MSCs, printability, and mechanical strength. This bioink can be superior for the 3D printing of heart as MSCs are a cell source for cardiac tissue constructs.

Recently, matrigel has emerged as a novel bioink for cardiac tissue printing. It is a protein mixture secreted by Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma cells, an ECM mixture that also contains many factors like type IV collagen and sulfated proteoglycans. It can be formed into a hydrogel for the 3D printing of cardiac cells. It has been found that a hydrogel made of a mixture of collagen I and matrigel performs better for the culture of valve interstitial cells. It has better mechanical properties, comparable viability, cell phenotype, and proliferation with hydrogel made only out of collagen I (Lam et al. 2017). Matrigel enhances CM alignment and increases contractile stress too (Khademhosseini and Camci-Unal 2020). A hydrogel is formed from heart ECM after decellularization to obtain a bioink with properties close to an adult heart. Since they are derived from native tissue, they form an ideal bioink with tissue-specific biomolecular compositions (Abaci and Guvendiren 2020). The disadvantage of dECM is that it has weak mechanical properties. But this can be overcome by adding structural materials like PCL in the 3D printed tissue or developing a photo cross-linkable dECM. In recent work, such a bioink, has been formulated, which enhances CMs viability compared to collagen I control (Yu et al. 2019). It was also possible to tailor the modulus of the bioink and microarchitecture in the construct.

Conclusion and Future Directions

Though there are different bioinks and cell types that can be used to form a 3D printed heart, it has to be kept in mind that the heart is not a homogeneous mixture of ECM and cells. Different structures form a complete heart, akin to the dense CMs population developing a myofibril, and the connective tissue covering above it (endomysium and perimysium). Complex structures can be printed easily by the new-age 3D printing, but we have to go a long way to print a whole heart with in vivo-like structure, structural organization, and function.

Cardiac regeneration after MI is critical for the proper functioning of the heart. Cellbased therapy has been at the forefront for regenerating the damaged myocardium. However, there are limitations in the therapeutic efficacy of cell-based therapy due to the hostile nature of infarct. To overcome the aforementioned limitations, various delivery strategies have been explored for better cell retention. Thus, scaffold in the form of patch or hydrogel plays a crucial role in cardiac regeneration after MI. In addition, 3D printing has been widely used for generating cardiac constructs and organoid models for cardiac regeneration and a better understanding of drug toxicity.

Cross-References

- ▶ Bioengineering Technique Progress of Direct Cardiac Reprogramming
- Current State of Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Diseases

- ▶ Molecular Signature of Stem Cells Undergoing Cardiomyogenic Differentiation
- Stem Cell Applications in Cardiac Tissue Regeneration
- ► Unraveling the Mystery of Regenerative Medicine in the Treatment of Heart Failure

References

- Abaci A, Guvendiren M (2020) Designing decellularized extracellular matrix-based bioinks for 3D bioprinting. Adv Healthc Mater 9:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.202000734
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Jiang S, Afzal MR, Ashraf M (2010) Sonic hedgehog gene delivery to the rodent heart promotes angiogenesis via iNOS/Netrin-1/PKC pathway. PLoS One 5(1):e8576
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70
- Akbay E, Onur MA (2019) Investigation of survival and migration potential of differentiated cardiomyocytes transplanted with decellularized heart scaffold. J Biomed Mater Res A 107: 561–570. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36572
- Asadi N, Del Bakhshayesh AR, Davaran S, Akbarzadeh A (2020) Common biocompatible polymeric materials for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Mater Chem Phys 242: 122528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2019.122528
- Bagno L, Hatzistergos KE, Balkan W, Hare JM (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease: progress and challenges. Mol Ther 26:1610–1623. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.009
- Baharvand H, Azarnia M, Parivar K, Ashtiani SK (2005) The effect of extracellular matrix on embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 38:495–503. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2004.12.011
- Bai R, Tian L, Li Y et al (2019) Combining ECM hydrogels of cardiac bioactivity with stem cells of high cardiomyogenic potential for myocardial repair. Stem Cells Int 2019:6708435. https://doi. org/10.1155/2019/6708435
- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE et al (2017) Heart disease and stroke statistics' 2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association
- Blackburn NJR, Sofrenovic T, Kuraitis D et al (2015) Timing underpins the benefits associated with injectable collagen biomaterial therapy for the treatment of myocardial infarction. Biomaterials 39:182–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.11.004
- Brunette I, Roberts CJ, Vidal F et al (2017) Alternatives to eye bank native tissue for corneal stromal replacement. Prog Retin Eye Res 59:97–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2017.04.002
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):1–4
- Cahill TJ, Choudhury RP, Riley PR (2017) Heart regeneration and repair after myocardial infarction: translational opportunities for novel therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 16:699–717. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2017.106
- Cameron AR, Frith JE, Gomez GA et al (2014) The effect of time-dependent deformation of viscoelastic hydrogels on myogenic induction and Rac1 activity in mesenchymal stem cells. Biomaterials 35:1857–1868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.11.023
- Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthopaedic Res 9:641-650
- Chattopadhyay S, Raines RT (2014) Review collagen-based biomaterials for wound healing. Biopolymers 101:821–833. https://doi.org/10.1002/bip.22486
- Chen C, Bai X, Ding Y, Lee I-S (2019) Electrical stimulation as a novel tool for regulating cell behavior in tissue engineering. Biomater Res 23:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40824-019-0176-8

- Cui M, Wang Z, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2018) Genetic and epigenetic regulation of cardiomyocytes in development, regeneration and disease. Development 145. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.171983
- D'Amore A, Yoshizumi T, Luketich SK et al (2016) Bi-layered polyurethane extracellular matrix cardiac patch improves ischemic ventricular wall remodeling in a rat model. Biomaterials 107: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.07.039
- Daviran M, Longwill SM, Casella JF, Schultz KM (2018) Rheological characterization of dynamic remodeling of the pericellular region by human mesenchymal stem cell-secreted enzymes in well-defined synthetic hydrogel scaffolds. Soft Matter 14:3078–3089. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C8SM00408K
- Di Giuseppe M, Law N, Webb B et al (2018) Mechanical behavior of alginate-gelatin hydrogels for 3D bioprinting. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 79:150–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm. 2017.12.018
- Dimatteo R, Darling NJ, Segura T (2018) In situ forming injectable hydrogels for drug delivery and wound repair. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 127:167–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2018.03.007
- Ding M, Andersson H, Martinsson S, Sabirsh A, Jonebring A, Wang QD, Plowright AT et al (2020) Aligned nanofiber scaffolds improve functionality of cardiomyocytes differentiated from human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac progenitor cells. Sci Rep 10(1):13575. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-020-70547-4
- Erdem A, Darabi MA, Nasiri R et al (2020) 3D bioprinting of oxygenated cell-laden gelatin methacryloyl constructs. Adv Healthc Mater 9:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm. 201901794
- Fan L, Liu C, Chen X et al (2018) Directing induced pluripotent stem cell derived neural stem cell fate with a three-dimensional biomimetic hydrogel for spinal cord injury repair. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10:17742–17755. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.8b05293
- Feric NT, Radisic M (2016) Maturing human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes in human engineered cardiac tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 96:110–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2015.04.019
- Floren M, Bonani W, Dharmarajan A et al (2016) Human mesenchymal stem cells cultured on silk hydrogels with variable stiffness and growth factor differentiate into mature smooth muscle cell phenotype. Acta Biomater 31:156–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.11.051
- Friedenstein AJ (1976) Precursor cells of mechanocytes. Int Rev Cytol 47:327-359
- Friedenstein AJ, Gorskaja JF, Kulagina NN (1976) Fibroblast precursors in normal and irradiated mouse hematopoietic organs. Exp Hematol 4(5):267–274
- Gaharwar AK, Singh I, Khademhosseini A (2020) Engineered biomaterials for in situ tissue regeneration. Nat Rev Mater 5:686–705
- Gazoti Debessa CR, Mesiano Maifrino LB, Rodrigues de Souza R (2001) Age related changes of the collagen network of the human heart. Mech Ageing Dev 122:1049–1058. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0047-6374(01)00238-x
- Guan J, Wang F, Li Z, Chen J, Guo X, Liao J, Moldovan NI (2011) The stimulation of the cardiac differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue constructs that mimic myocardium structure and biomechanics. Biomaterials 32(24):5568–5580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2011.04.038
- Gungor-Ozkerim PS, Inci I, Zhang YS et al (2018) Bioinks for 3D bioprinting: an overview. Biomater Sci 6:915–946. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7bm00765e
- Gupta PK, Gahtori R, Govarthanan K et al (2021) Recent trends in biodegradable polyester nanomaterials for cancer therapy. Mater Sci Eng C 112198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec. 2021.112198
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267

- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Lee Y-J, Jiang S, Ahmad RPH, Ahn MR, Ashraf M (2010) Phosphodiesterase inhibition with tadalafil provides longer and sustained protection of stem cells. Am J Physiol Heart Lung Physiol 299:H1395–H1404
- Hao X, Silva EA, Månsson-Broberg A et al (2007) Angiogenic effects of sequential release of VEGF-A165 and PDGF-BB with alginate hydrogels after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 75:178–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardiores.2007.03.028
- Hasan A, Khattab A, Islam MA et al (2015) Injectable hydrogels for cardiac tissue repair after myocardial infarction. Adv Sci 2:1500122. https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.201500122
- Ho SY (2009) Anatomy and myoarchitecture of the left ventricular wall in normal and in disease. Eur J Echocardiogr 10:3–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejechocard/jep159
- Huang K, Ozpinar EW, Su T et al (2020) An off-the-shelf artificial cardiac patch improves cardiac repair after myocardial infarction in rats and pigs. Sci Transl Med 12. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scitranslmed.aat9683
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng (JBiSE) 9(4):226–244
- Jang J, Park HJ, Kim SW et al (2017) 3D printed complex tissue construct using stem cell-laden decellularized extracellular matrix bioinks for cardiac repair. Biomaterials 112:264–274. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.10.026
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Lu G, Ashraf M (2008) Stable therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell based multiple gene delivery for cardiac repair. Cardiovasc Res 77(3):525–533
- Kaiser NJ, Kant RJ, Minor AJ, Coulombe KLK (2019) Optimizing blended collagen-fibrin hydrogels for cardiac tissue engineering with human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 5:887–899. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b01112
- Kang P-L, Chen C-H, Chen SY et al (2013) Nano-sized collagen I molecules enhanced the differentiation of rat mesenchymal stem cells into cardiomyocytes. J Biomed Mater Res A 101:2808–2816. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34589
- Ketabat F, Khorshidi S, Karkhaneh A (2018) Application of minimally invasive injectable conductive hydrogels as stimulating scaffolds for myocardial tissue engineering. Polym Int 67: 975–982. https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.5599
- Khademhosseini A, Camci-Unal G (2020) 3D bioprinting in regenerative engineering: principles and applications
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-012-0920-1
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Sig 17(8):1053–1065
- Kobayashi K, Ichihara Y, Sato N et al (2019) On-site fabrication of bi-layered adhesive mesenchymal stromal cell-dressings for the treatment of heart failure. Biomaterials 209:41–53. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.04.014
- Kuraitis D, Giordano C, Ruel M et al (2012) Exploiting extracellular matrix-stem cell interactions: a review of natural materials for therapeutic muscle regeneration. Biomaterials 33:428–443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.09.078
- Lakshmanan R, Kumaraswamy P, Krishnan UM, Sethuraman S (2016) Engineering a growth factor embedded nanofiber matrix niche to promote vascularization for functional cardiac regeneration. Biomaterials 97:176–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.02.033
- Lam NT, Lam H, Sturdivant NM, Balachandran K (2017) Fabrication of a matrigel-collagen semiinterpenetrating scaffold for use in dynamic valve interstitial cell culture. Biomed Mater 12. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-605X/aa71be

- Lee JM, Yeong WY (2020) Engineering macroscale cell alignment through coordinated toolpath design using support-assisted 3D bioprinting. J R Soc Interface 17
- Lee A, Hudson AR, Shiwarski DJ et al (2019a) 3D bioprinting of collagen to rebuild components of the human heart. Science (80–) 365:482–487. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav9051
- Lee W, Hong Y, Dai G (2019b) 3D bioprinting of vascular conduits for pediatric congenital heart repairs. Transl Res 211:35–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2019.03.007
- Li L, Haider KH, Wang L, Lu G, Ashraf M (2012) Adenoviral short hairpin RNA therapy targeting PDE5a relieves cardiac remodeling and dysfunction following myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 302:H2112–H2121
- Li J, Minami I, Shiozaki M et al (2017) Human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac tissue-like constructs for repairing the infarcted myocardium. Stem Cell Rep 9:1546–1559. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.09.007
- Li H, Bao M, Nie Y (2020) Extracellular matrix-based biomaterials for cardiac regeneration and repair. Heart Fail Rev. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10741-020-09953-9
- Liu J, Miller K, Ma X et al (2020) Direct 3D bioprinting of cardiac micro-tissues mimicking native myocardium. Biomaterials 256:120204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2020.120204
- Lu G, Haider KH, Porollo A, Ashraf M (2010) Mitochondria specific transgenic overexpression of connexin-43 simulates preconditioning induced cytoprotection of stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 88:277–286
- Mackiewicz Z, Konttinen YT, Kaivosoja E et al (2016) Extracellular matrix and tissue regeneration. Springer
- Markmee R, Aungsuchawan S, Narakornsak S, Tancharoen W, Bumrungkit K, Pangchaidee N, Pothacharoen et al (2017) Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from human amniotic fluid to cardiomyocyte-like cells. Mol Med Rep 16:6068–6076. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.7333
- Matsumura Y, Zhu Y, Jiang H et al (2019) Intramyocardial injection of a fully synthetic hydrogel attenuates left ventricular remodeling post myocardial infarction. Biomaterials 217:119289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.119289
- McLaughlin S, McNeill B, Podrebarac J et al (2019) Injectable human recombinant collagen matrices limit adverse remodeling and improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Nat Commun 10:4866. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12748-8
- Mirdamadi E, Tashman JW, Shiwarski DJ et al (2020) FRESH 3D bioprinting a full-size model of the human heart. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 6:6453–6459. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials. 0c01133
- Montgomery M, Ahadian S, Davenport Huyer L et al (2017) Flexible shape-memory scaffold for minimally invasive delivery of functional tissues. Nat Mater 16:1038–1046. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nmat4956
- Ng WH, Ramasamy R, Yong YK et al (2019) Extracellular matrix from decellularized mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac gene expressions and oxidative resistance in cardiac C-kit cells. Regen Ther 11:8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2019.03.006
- Ott HC, Matthiesen TS, Goh S-K et al (2008) Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med 14:213–221. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1684
- Özkaya N, Leger D, Goldsheyder D, Nordin M (2017) Mechanical properties of biological tissues BT. In: Özkaya N, Leger D, Goldsheyder D, Nordin M (eds) Fundamentals of biomechanics: equilibrium, motion, and deformation. Springer, Cham, pp 361–387
- Parenteau-Bareil R, Gauvin R, Berthod F (2010) Collagen-based biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. Materials (Basel) 3:1863–1887. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma3031863
- Pawan KC, Hong Y, Zhang G (2019) Cardiac tissue-derived extracellular matrix scaffolds for myocardial repair: advantages and challenges. Regen Biomater 6:185–199. https://doi.org/10. 1093/rb/rbz017
- Peña B, Bosi S, Aguado BA et al (2017) Injectable carbon nanotube-functionalized reverse thermal gel promotes cardiomyocytes survival and maturation. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9: 31645–31656. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b11438

- Perán M, Marchal JA, López E, Jiménez-navarro M, Boulaiz H, Serrano FR, Carrillo E et al (2010) Human cardiac tissue induces transdifferentiation of adult stem cells towards cardiomyocytes. Cytotherapy 12:332–337. https://doi.org/10.3109/14653240903548202
- Prabhakaran D, Jeemon P, Roy A (2016) Cardiovascular diseases in India: current epidemiology and future directions. Circulation 133:1605–1620. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.114.008729
- Qasim M, Haq F, Kang MH, Kim JH (2019) 3D printing approaches for cardiac tissue engineering and role of immune modulation in tissue regeneration. Int J Nanomedicine 14:1311–1333
- Reddy K (2015) Recent advances in the diagnosis and treatment of acute myocardial infarction. World J Cardiol 7:243. https://doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v7.i5.243
- Reis LA, Chiu LLY, Feric N et al (2016) Biomaterials in myocardial tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10:11–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1944
- Rienks M, Papageorgiou AP, Frangogiannis NG, Heymans S (2014) Myocardial extracellular matrix: an ever-changing and diverse entity. Circ Res 114:872–888. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.114.302533
- Rischpler C (2016) Acute myocardial infarction. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 60:236–251. https:// doi.org/10.29309/tpmj/18.4912
- Roth GA, Huffman MD, Moran AE et al (2015) Global and regional patterns in cardiovascular mortality from 1990 to 2013. Circulation 132:1667–1678. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.114.008720
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Tian XF, Lei Y, Ge R, Cao T (2007) Directing endothelial differentiation of human embryonic stem cells via transduction with an adenoviral vector expressing VEGF₁₆₅ gene. J Gene Med 9(6):452–461
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Ye L, Tan RS, Toh WS, Tian XF (2010) Therapeutic angiogenesis by transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived CD133+ endothelial progenitor cells for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5:231–244
- Ruvinov E, Cohen S (2016) Alginate biomaterial for the treatment of myocardial infarction: Progress, translational strategies, and clinical outlook. From ocean algae to patient bedside. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 96:54–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.04.021
- Santhakumar R, Vidyasekar P, Verma RS (2014) Cardiogel: a nano-matrix scaffold with potential application in cardiac regeneration using mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One 9:1–22. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114697
- Schöneberg J, De Lorenzi F, Theek B et al (2018) Engineering biofunctional in vitro vessel models using a multilayer bioprinting technique. Sci Rep 8:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28715-0
- Segers VFM, Lee RT (2011) Biomaterials to enhance stem cell function in the heart. Circ Res 109: 910–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.249052
- Shadrin IY, Allen BW, Qian Y et al (2017) Cardiopatch platform enables maturation and scale-up of human pluripotent stem cell-derived engineered heart tissues. Nat Commun 8:1825. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-017-01946-x
- Shafei AES, Ali MA, Ghanem HG et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy: a promising cellbased therapy for treatment of myocardial infarction. J Gene Med 19. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jgm.2995
- Shah M, Pawan KC, Copeland KM et al (2018) A thin layer of decellularized porcine myocardium for cell delivery. Sci Rep 8:16206. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33946-2
- Shoulders MD, Raines RT (2009) Collagen structure and stability. Annu Rev Biochem 78:929–958. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.032207.120833
- Sia J, Yu P, Srivastava D, Li S (2016) Effect of biophysical cues on reprogramming to cardiomyocytes. Biomaterials 103:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.06.034
- Silvestri A, Boffito M, Sartori S, Ciardelli G (2013) Biomimetic materials and scaffolds for myocardial tissue regeneration. Macromol Biosci 13:984–1019. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi. 201200483

- Singh A, Singh A, Sen D (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells in cardiac regeneration: a detailed progress report of the last 6 years (2010–2015). Stem Cell Res Ther 7:82. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-016-0341-0
- Sreejit P, Verma RS (2011) Cardiogel supports adhesion, proliferation and differentiation of stem cells with increased oxidative stress protection. Eur Cells Mater 21:107–121. https://doi.org/10. 22203/eCM.v021a09
- Su T, Huang K, Daniele MA et al (2018) Cardiac stem cell patch integrated with microengineered blood vessels promotes cardiomyocyte proliferation and neovascularization after acute myocardial infarction. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10:33088–33096. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 8b13571
- Tang J, Vandergriff A, Wang Z et al (2017) A regenerative cardiac patch formed by spray painting of biomaterials onto the heart. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 23:146–155. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.tec.2016.0492
- Terrovitis JV, Smith RR, Marbán E (2010) Assessment and optimization of cell engraftment after transplantation into the heart. Circ Res 106:479–494. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 109.208991
- Tijore A, Irvine SA, Sarig U et al (2018) Contact guidance for cardiac tissue engineering using 3D bioprinted gelatin patterned hydrogel. Biofabrication 10. https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/aaa15d
- Timmis A, Townsend N, Gale CP et al (2020) European society of cardiology: cardiovascular disease statistics 2019. Eur Heart J 41:12–85. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz859
- Toh WS, Loh XJ (2014) Advances in hydrogel delivery systems for tissue regeneration. Mater Sci Eng C 45:690–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2014.04.026
- Tong X, Yang F (2018) Recent Progress in developing injectable matrices for enhancing cell delivery and tissue regeneration. Adv Healthc Mater 7:1701065. https://doi.org/10.1002/ adhm.201701065
- Tong C, Li C, Xie B et al (2019) Generation of bioartificial hearts using decellularized scaffolds and mixed cells. Biomed Eng Online 18:71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12938-019-0691-9
- Tracy EP, Gettler BC, Zakhari JS et al (2020) 3D bioprinting the cardiac Purkinje system using human adipogenic mesenchymal stem cell derived Purkinje cells. Cardiovasc Eng Technol 11: 587–604. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13239-020-00478-8
- Ullah M, Iqbal H, Haneef K, Khan I, Salim A (2021) Chapter 9: Chromatin remodeling and cardiac differentiation of stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer
- Virani SS, Alonso A, Aparicio HJ, Benjamin EJ, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP et al (2021) Heart disease and stroke statistics – 2021 update. A report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 143(8):e254–e743. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR. 000000000000950Circulation
- Vunjak-Novakovic G, Tandon N, Godier A et al (2010) Challenges in cardiac tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 16:169–187. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.teb.2009.0352
- Wang QL, Wang HJ, Li ZH et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-loaded cardiac patch promotes epicardial activation and repair of the infarcted myocardium. J Cell Mol Med 21:1751–1766. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13097
- Wu YJ, Chen SY, Chang SJ, Kuo SM (2013) Enhanced differentiation of rat MSCs into cardiomyocytes with 5-azacytidine/collagen I nano-molecules. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2013:322–325. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2013.6609502
- Wu W, Peng S, Song Z, Lin S (2019) Collagen biomaterial for the treatment of myocardial infarction: an update on cardiac tissue engineering and myocardial regeneration. Drug Deliv Transl Res 9:920–934. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13346-019-00627-0
- Xu J-Y, Cai W-Y, Tian M et al (2016) Stem cell transplantation dose in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a meta-analysis. Chronic Dis Transl Med 2:92–101. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cdtm.2016.09.006
- Yu C, Ma X, Zhu W et al (2019) Scanningless and continuous 3D bioprinting of human tissues with decellularized extracellular matrix. Biomaterials 194:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.12.009

- Zeng J, Wang Y, Wei Y, Xie A, Lou Y, Zhang M (2008) Co-culture with cardiomyocytes induces mesenchymal stem cells to differentiate into cardiomyocyte-like cells and express heart development-associated genes. Cell Res 18:s62
- Zhang S, Ma X, Guo J et al (2017a) Bone marrow CD34(+) cell subset under induction of moderate stiffness of extracellular matrix after myocardial infarction facilitated endothelial lineage commitment in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:280. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0732-x
- Zhang YS, Yue K, Aleman J et al (2017b) 3D bioprinting for tissue and organ fabrication. Ann Biomed Eng 45:148–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-016-1612-8
- Zou Q, Grottkau BE, He Z et al (2020) Materials Science & Engineering C Biofabrication of valentine-shaped heart with a composite hydrogel and sacri fi cial material. Mater Sci Eng C 108:110205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.110205



Vascular Functional Recovery and Reparation by Human Endothelial Progenitor Cells

26

Alexander E. Berezin and Alexander A. Berezin

Contents

Introduction	801
Endothelial Progenitor Cells: Definition and Biological Function	802
Endothelial Progenitor Cell Dysfunction in Cardiovascular Diseases	805
Early Outgrowth and Endothelial Colony-Forming Progenitor Cells in Revascularization	
and Vascular Reparation	806
Animal Studies for Vascular Repair with EPCs	806
Clinical Studies for EPCs Applications	810
Conclusion and Future Prospects	812
References	812

Abstract

Endogenous vascular reparation is based on mobilization, differentiation, and proliferation of bone marrow-derived and resident proangiogenic endothelial precursors, which directly and indirectly participate in adaptive and maladaptive vascular remodeling processes. The endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) being under epigenetic control, metabolic stimuli, and paracrine/autocrine regulation frequently demonstrate a weak ability to survival and lowered potency to migration and proliferation among patients with known cardiovascular disease. This phenomenon is known as EPC dysfunction, which is in the core of an altered endogenous repair system. Lowered levels and impaired functional abilities in both resident and circulating endothelial progenitors are considered crucial contributors of vascular remodeling and endothelial dysfunction, which are central players in the development and progression of atherosclerosis, arterial and pulmonary hypertension, myocardial infarction, and heart failure. Although there is

A. E. Berezin (⊠)

Internal Medicine Department, State Medical University, Zaporozhye, Ukraine

A. A. Berezin

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_37

Internal Medicine Department, Academy of Post-graduating Education, State Medical University, Zaporozhye, Ukraine

wide-range evidence of the fact that injections of exogenous bone marrow-derived proangiogenic endothelial precursors do not engraft into impaired vessels, but that such circulating EPCs may regulate vascular repair through several paracrine mechanisms and thereby attenuate clinical condition of the patients and possibly improve prognosis. The circulating secretome and extracellular vesicles released by the EPCs contain various proangiogenic factors (active peptides, lipids, transforming growth factor-beta, bone morphogenetic protein-2, matrix metalloproteinases, chromatin, and noncoding RNAs) that are crucial for spontaneously formed organized cell clusters to support proliferative response in surrounding tissues. Additionally, EPCs secretome maintains angiogenesis, neovascularization, immune response, and inflammation in injured vasculature. Previously supply of exogenous proliferative EPCs had been derived from various pluripotent stem cells such as embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells, but so far they can be constructed from individual's reprogrammed fibroblasts and this procedure did not require inducing pluripotency and had lowered teratogenic risk. Moreover, there are great opportunities to stimulate resident EPCs to (trans)-differentiation and proliferation by exogenous extracellular vesicles embarked on appropriate active molecules and noncoding RNAs. Overall, the concept of support of vascular reparation through engrafting EPCs appears to be promising. The chapter depicted previous evidence of mechanisms of regulation of vascular repair by residence regenerative vascular cells and results of preclinical and clinical studies for vascular functional recovery and reparation by EPCs and extracellular vesicles.

Keywords

Endothelial progenitor cells · EPCs · Secretome · Vascular regeneration · Biomarkers · Myocardial infarction · Cardiomyopathy · Heart failure

Abbreviations	
AE	Adverse effect
Akt1	RAC-alpha serine/Threonine-protein kinase
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
EF	Ejection fraction
eNOS	Endothelial NO synthase
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
HF	Heart failure
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
HIF	Hypoxia-inducing factor
Hox	Transcriptional modulator of cell-cell and cell-extracellular matrix
	adhesion
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy

Left ventricle
Major cardiovascular event
Mocardial infarction
Matrix metalloproteinase
Melanoma cellular adhesion molecule
Nitric oxide
Platelet/Endothelial cell adhesion molecule
Ribonucleic acid
Mast/Stem cell growth factor receptor
Stromal cell-derived factor-1
Transforming growth factor-beta 1
Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
Vascular endothelial growth factor
Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
von Willebrand factor

Introduction

Endogenous vascular reparation is based on mobilization, differentiation, and proliferation of bone marrow–derived and resident proangiogenic endothelial precursors, which directly and indirectly participate in adaptive and maladaptive vascular remodeling processes. The endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) being under epigenetic control, metabolic stimuli, and paracrine/autocrine regulation frequently demonstrate a weak ability to survive and lowered potency of migration and proliferation in patients with cardiovascular disease. This phenomenon is attributed to EPCs' dysfunction, which is in the core of an altered endogenous repair system. Low levels in number and impaired functional capacity, in both resident and circulating endothelial progenitors, are considered as crucial contributors to vascular remodeling and endothelial dysfunction besides having a central role in the development and progression of atherosclerosis, arterial and pulmonary hypertension, myocardial infarction, and heart failure (Berezin et al. 2015).

Despite there is wide range of evidence that the injection of exogenous bone marrow–derived proangiogenic endothelial precursors do not engraft into impaired vessels, the transplanted as well as the circulating EPCs participate in the vascular repair through several mechanisms, i.e., paracrine mechanisms, and thereby alleviate the clinical conditions of the patients and possibly improve their prognosis. The EPCs-derived secretome and extracellular vesicles contain various proangiogenic factors (active peptides, lipids, transforming growth factor-beta, bone morphogenetic protein-2, matrix metalloproteinases, chromatin, and noncoding RNAs) that are crucial for spontaneously formed organized cell clusters to support proliferative response in surrounding tissues. Additionally, EPCs secretome maintains angiogenesis, neovascularization, immune response, and inflammation in injured vasculature (Haider et al. 2017). Previously, supply of exogenous proliferative EPCs had been derived from various pluripotent stem cells such as embryonic stem cells or induced

pluripotent stem cells (Rufaihah et al. 2007, 2010; Pasha et al. 2011; Clayton et al. 2018). On the same note, angiomyogenic repair has also been reported by MSCsderived induced pluripotent stem cells (Buccini et al. 2012). So far, EPCs can be developed from individual's reprogrammed fibroblasts, and this procedure does not require induction of pluripotency, thus lowering the teratogenicity risk.

Moreover, there are novel opportunities to stimulate resident EPCs to undergo (trans)-differentiation and proliferation by exogenously delivered extracellular vesicles loaded with appropriate active molecules and noncoding RNAs. Overall, the concept of support of vascular reparation through engrafting EPC appears to be promising (Zhang et al. 2012). The chapter provides an in-depth discussion on the previously published evidence regarding the mechanisms of regulation of vascular repair by resident regenerative vascular cells and results of preclinical and clinical studies for vascular functional recovery and reparation using EPCs.

Endothelial Progenitor Cells: Definition and Biological Function

EPCs are defined as immature primitive cells that originate from hematopoietic stem cell precursors and have a thoroughly high ability to differentiate into mature endothelial cells (Asahara et al. 1999). The bone marrow is the primary source of EPCs from which they extravasate into peripheral circulation and then mobilize to be recruited to the foci of pathophysiological processes, such as reparation, vasculogenesis, protection against ischemia/hypoxia, and cell proliferation in response to the chemical cues emanating from injured tissue (Kawamoto and Asahara 2007; Au et al. 2008; King and McDermott 2014). The experimental animal model-based preclinical studies and clinical studies have shown that, being a source for mature cells, these cells have been incorporated into active cores of neovascularization, thus demonstrating their impressive capability to attenuate angiogenesis and vascular function in vivo (Yoder 2012; Jalilian et al. 2020). Therefore, the secretome of EPCs contains a broad spectrum of active molecules, including E-selectin and P-selectin, as well as peptides and growth factors (vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF], fibroblast growth factor [FGF]-1 and FGF-2, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, angiopoietin-1, von Willebrand factor (vWF), RANTES, brain-derived neurotrophic factor [BDNF], hepatocyte growth factor [HGF], insulin-like growth factor (IGF), glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor [GDNF], nerve growth factor [NGF], placental growth factor [PLGF], and neurotrophin-3 [NT3]), which are involved in the modulation of angiogenesis and improve vascular integrity and function (Duda et al. 2007; Barile et al. 2017). The molecular mechanisms of EPC-induced tissue reparation have been summarized in Fig. 1.

EPCs express many surface antigens, which are common for hematopoietic stem cells (CD34, CD117, CD133, Flk-1, and Flt-4), endothelial cells (CD31, CD62e, CD105, CD106, CD146, and CD309), and mononuclear cells (Tie2+), but lack in the expression of hematopoietic cell-specific marker (CD45) (Mihail et al. 2003). Therefore, some populations of EPCs may lose CD133 antigen within differentiation



Fig. 1 Underlying molecular mechanisms of favorable effects of EPCs on tissue reparation and vasculogenesis. Abbreviations: EPCs, endothelial progenitor cells; RNA, ribonucleic acid; HIF, hypoxia-inducing factor; NO, nitric oxide; eNOS, endothelial NO synthase; SDF, stromal cell-derived factor-1; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; CXCR4, C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4; Akt1, RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase; Hox, transcriptional modulator of cell-cell and cell-extracellular matrix adhesionBesides, CD34+ late outgrowth EPCs have been yielded to be reproduced tubes and colony shaping in response to angiogenic growth factors and had higher proliferative potency when compared with CD34-negative late outgrowth EPCs (Hristov 2003)

period and may express on their surface other antigens, i.e., CD144, endothelial NO synthase (eNOs), and vWF.

EPCs expressed sufficient distinguish in self-renewal ability that is determining by colony-forming technique. Depending on ability to appear in fibronectin-coated dish EPCs have been divided onto early outgrowth EPCs (5–7 days after fibronectin plating) or late outgrowth EPCs (7–10 days after fibronectin plating) (Reskiawan et al. 2020).

Finally, EPCs, which originate from the bone marrow hemangioblasts, are released into peripheral blood and involved in vascular repair (Miller-Kasprzak and Jagodziński 2007; Duan et al. 2006). Therefore, some CD34 + CD45- and CD133 + CD34 + CD45- subsets of EPCs may originate from circulating monocytes (Lin et al. 2000; Timmermans et al. 2007). Yet, there are resident EPCs housing in an area between the medial and adventitia layer of the vasculature. They predominantly contain CD34+, but CD31-, which also express VEGFR2, VE-cadherin,

CEACAM1, and TIE2. Besides, they are clonogenic and show proliferative potency that is similar to bone marrow–derived EPCs (Zengin 2006). Thus, EPCs constitute a heterogeneous population of primitive cells with different proliferative activity and angiopgenic potential. They are represented as tissue-resident and circulating populations, and serve as an endogenous source of stem/progenitor cells for postnatal angiogenesis and reparation (Ergün et al. 2007). In addition, the vasa vasorum in the vessel wall plays a pivotal role in transfer EPCs to the place of injury in the intimal region (Table 1).

		• • • •	
Antigen	Alternative		
name	name	Distribution	Biological function
CD31	Endocam, PECAM-1	Monocytes, platelets, granulocytes, lymphocytes subsets	Cell adhesion, signal transduction, receptor for CD38
CD117	c-kit, SCFR	Hematopoetic progenitor cells, mast cells	SCF receptor, regulator of differentiation/proliferation of hematopoetic progenitor cells
CD34	MY10, mucosialin	ECs, embryonic fibroblasts, hematopoetic precursors	Stem cell marker, adhesion, receptor for CD62 ligand
CD105	Endoglin	ECs, bone marrow subsets, activated macrophages	Cellular response to TGF-beta1, adhesion, embryonic angiogenesis
CD106	VCAM-1	ECs	Adhesion of immune cells to the endothelium during inflammation
CD133	AC133, prominin- like 1	HSCs subsets, ECs, epithelial cells	Unknown
CD144	VE- cadherin, cadherin-5	ECs, stem cells	Adhesion, endothelium integrity, and biology
CD146	MUC18, S-endo	ECs, melanomas	Adhesion, target of CD44 signaling
CD309	KDR, VEGFR2	ECs, angiogenic precursors, hemangioblasts	Binding VEGF, regulation of cell adhesion and signaling
vWf	_	ECs	Antihemophilic factor, platelet- vessel wall mediator of coagulation
CD62E	E-selectin	ECs	Initial attachment of circulating leukocytes to the endothelium during inflammation
Tie-2	Tek	Embryonic and adult ECs, HSCs, circulating proangiogenic monocytes	Transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase

Table 1 Molecular maker antigens for EPC populations

Abbreviations: EPCs, endothelial progenitor cells; CD, cluster of differentiation; HSCs, hematopoietic stem cells; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; MUC, melanoma cellular adhesion molecule; vWf, von Willebrand Factor; SCFR, mast/stem cell growth factor receptor; PECAM, platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule; TGF-beta1, transforming growth factor beta 1; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1

Endothelial Progenitor Cell Dysfunction in Cardiovascular Diseases

Numerous preclinical studies in the experimental animal models and clinical studies have unveiled strong relations between a decreased number, weak function, and lowered survival of EPCs in the peripheral blood with a high risk of cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular events (Akhavani et al. 2007; Ahmed et al. 2016; Berezin et al. 2016a; Sen et al. 2011; Montenegro et al. 2018; Pelliccia et al. 2009a; Sata 2006; Rahmawati et al. 2015). This relationship has been attributed to the EPCs' dysfunction, and it has been found to serve as a powerful predictor for the impaired reparability (Peng et al. 2015; Berezin, 2016). Moreover, overt cardiovascular diseases, such as stable coronary artery disease, atherosclerosis, HF, chronic kidney disease, metabolic diseases including diabetes mellitus, abdominal obesity, and metabolic syndrome, are associated with the development of EPCs dysfunction (Kiewisz et al. 2016; Siebel et al. 2010; Psaltis and Simari 2015; Berezin et al. 2016b; Kachamakova-Trojanowska et al. 2015). Besides, insulin resistance, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase-mediated oxidative stress, inflammatory cytokines, Akt/PI3K, and sirtuin 1-related micro-RNAs can negatively modulate EPCs' biological characteristics and functional activities, such as extravasation, mobilization, migration, and participation in neovascularization and angiogenesis (Li et al. 2018; Ait-Aissa et al. 2020; Berezin and Berezin 2019). However, it remains unclear whether altered vascular reparation due to EPCs' dysfunction comes before the onset of cardiovascular disease or vice versa that it is the outcome of conventional cardiovascular risk factors on transcriptional potency of these precursors (Ozkok and Yildiz 2018; Psaltis et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2012).

Some studies have shown that the dysfunction of EPCs occurs over a certain period after contact with CV risk factors (Lavoie and Stewart 2012). It has also been reported that acute cardiac and vascular events were associated with a reasonably early increase in the number of EPCs in circulation and consequent decline in their number over time, but the functionality of EPCs was frequently impaired before the onset of cardiovascular events, and it was not closely related to the number of circulating EPCs and variability/total number of cardiovascular risk factors (Altabas et al. 2016; Regueiro et al. 2015). Perhaps these controversial results reflect preemptive adaptation of the endogenous repair system to the epigenetic stimuli corresponding to cardiac and vascular remodeling (Minhajat et al. 2015; Pelliccia et al. 2009b). Indeed, a preexisting reduced number of EPCs might correspond to previous severe conditions, including trauma infections born preterm but not merely cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular risk factors (Bertagnolli et al. 2018; Roth et al. 2019). For instance, a systematic review and meta-analysis of six clinical studies (n = 236) have shown that exercise training leads to an increase in the number of circulating EPCs in patients with overt CV disease (Cavalcante et al. 2019). Finally, the abrogation of EPCs' differentiation potential to become mature endothelial cells and completely restore vascular integrity and function that persists for a long time alleviates target organs' damage (Pyšná et al. 2019).

EPCs' severe dysfunction is generally considered as an indicator of poor prognosis, while restoration of the number and function of EPCs are viewed as a biomarker of a consequent improvement of clinical outcomes (Wils et al. 2017; Mandraffino and Saitta 2018). The analysis of the results of 34 studies has shown that a reduced baseline EPCs' level was associated with a significantly increased risk of cardiovascular events all-cause mortality onset and progression of microangiopathy (Rigato and Fadini 2018). Among patients with HFrEF/ HFpEF, a reduced number and/or weak function of circulating EPCs were strong predictors of cardiovascular events and HF-related outcomes (Berezin et al. 2016). Overall, EPCs' dysfunction predicts cardiovascular events independent of traditional and nontraditional CV risk factors (Bakogiannis et al. 2012).

Early Outgrowth and Endothelial Colony-Forming Progenitor Cells in Revascularization and Vascular Reparation

The number of circulating EPCs in peripheral blood is extremely low and their adequate isolation is generally aimed at their therapeutic application for vascular reparation. This necessitates their ex vivo expansion and manufacturing to generate early and late outgrowth EPCs. Although both phenotypes of EPCs have demonstrated regenerative ability, functional analyses of these cells have shown that late outgrowth EPCs were superior to early outgrowth EPCs in their tubulogenic potential on matrigel maintenance of endothelial cell, and angiogenesis. Preclinical experimental applications of the early and late EPCs in several animal models have been listed in Table 2.

Animal Studies for Vascular Repair with EPCs

There is a large body of evidence in the published literature about the infusion of EPCs of hematopoietic origin to treat ischemic limbs in an immunocompromised mice experimental animal model. The results showed substantial improvement in terms of vascular perfusion and tissue recovery from ischemic injury (Crosby et al. 2000; Göthert et al. 2004; Peters et al. 2005; Zentilin et al. 2006). Granulation tissue formation and neovascularization can be induced by nonhematopoietic EPCs from the spleen. Li et al. (2017) reported that tail vein injection of EPCs pretreated with VEGF were able to accelerate the re-endothelialization and inhibit neointimal formation through connexion-43-mediated mechanisms in an experimental mice model.

Experimental animal studies have shown that systemic infusion of EPCs derived from the perivascular niche in the liver were able to enhance angiogenesis and attenuate blood perfusion defects in ischemic hind limbs (Murasawa and Asahara 2005). Moreover, it has been reported that non-bone-marrow-derived c-kit+CD45-34+ EPCs contributed to the postnatal vascular reparation akin to the bone marrow-derived EPCs (Aicher et al. 2007). These studies concluded that the early growth EPCs promoted vascular reparation and cardiac regeneration through paracrine mechanism.

Animal model	Cell source	Route	Effects	References
Early EPCs				
Ischemic stroke	РВ	LI	↑ vascular perfusion ↑ recovery of ischemia-induced tissue injury	Crosby et al. (2000), Göthert et al. (2004), Peters et al. (2005), Zentilin et al. (2006)
Limb ischemia	Spleen	SI	\uparrow endothelialization \uparrow granulation tissue formation \downarrow neointimal formation	Li et al. (2017)
Limb ischemia	PB	SI	↑ angiogenesis and blood perfusion in ischemic hind limbs	Murasawa and Asahara (2005)
Late EPCs				
Ischemic stroke	hUCB	LI	 ↑ functional restoration ↑ angiogenesis ↑ neurogenesis ↓ apoptosis 	Ding et al. (2016)
Ischemic stroke	UCB	LI	↑ reperfusion ↑ regenerative effect on BBB disruption ↓ cerebral apoptosis ↑ CBF	Garrigue et al. (2016)
Ischemic stroke	UCB	LI	↑ neurological functional recovery ↑ angiogenesis ↑ neurogenesis	Moubarik et al. (2011)
Ischemic stroke	PB	LI	↑ structure and function of BBB	Abdulkadir et al. (2020)
Traumatic brain injury	hUCB	LI	↓ neurologic disability ↑ microvessel density ↑ expression of the proangiogenic growth factors	Zhang et al. (2013), Huang et al. (2013)
Ischemic retinopathy	hUCB	LI	repairing the retinal vasculature and ↓ ischemic injury	Bertelli et al. (2020), Park et al. (2014)
Ischemic Retinopathy	hUCB	LI	↑ reparative angiogenesis in the ischemic retina	O'Leary et al. (2019)
Oxygen- induced retinopathy	hUCB	LI	↓ developing retinal vasculature	Li Calzi et al. (2019)
Limb ischemia	hUCB	LI	↑ muscle perfusion	Kang et al. 2017
Limb ischemia	PB	i.v.	↑ capillary collateral formation in ischemic leg	Minami et al. (2015)
Acute kidney injury	hUCB	LI	↑ kidney perfusion ↓ occurrence of apoptosis	Viñas et al. (2016)
Kawasaki disease	PB	i.v.	↑ coronary artery wall integrity ↓ occurrence of vascular aneurysm	Chen et al. (2012)

Table 2 Preclinical applications of early and late EPCs

(continued)

Animal model	Cell source	Route	Effects	References
MI	РВ	IMI	thymosin-β4-pretreated EPCs influenced ↑ capillary density and LVEF	Poh et al. (2020)

Table 2 (continued)

Abbreviations: ↑ increase; ↓ decrease; BBB, blood-brain barrier; CBF, cerebral blood flow; EPCs, endothelial progenitor cells; hUCB, human umbilical cord blood; IMI, intramyocardial injection; i.v., intravenous injection; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; LI, local injection; MI, myocardial infarction; PB, peripheral blood; SI, systemic infusion; UCB, umbilical cord blood

Although there are limiting data that early outgrowth EPCs are more effective to produce significantly higher levels of proangiogenic factors such as VEGF-A, VEGF-B, SDF-1, and insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 when compared with late outgrowth EPCs (Urbich et al. 2005), a large majority of the investigators have suggested that the blood-derived late outgrowth EPCs could be formidable paracrine mediators besides being potent regulators of the regenerative potential of the tissue-resident stem cells via PDGF-BB/PDGFR- β signaling (Lin et al. 2014). The late outgrowth EPCs, also known as endothelial colony-forming progenitor cells (ECFCs), are promising candidates for cell-based therapies as they are rich in EGF, HGF, VEGF-A, PLT-derived growth factor-B, interleukin-8, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, all featuring the high potential for promoting postnatal proangiogenic activity in vivo and lack telomerase activity (Tasev et al. 2015; Banno and Yoder 2018).

In an experimental animal photothrombotic model of ischemic stroke in mice, ECFCs derived from human umbilical cord blood were infused in the ischemic brain tissue that led to functional restoration, improved angiogenesis, neurogenesis, and substantially decreased apoptosis in the ischemic area (Ding et al. 2016). Additionally, in rats with experimentally induced ischemic stroke, local implantation of ECFCs, pretreated with erythropoietin, significantly promoted their homing-in capacity to the ischemic site after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion followed by reperfusion. Incidentally, cell therapy also erythropoietin treatment potentiated their protective capability and regenerative effect of ECFCs on the blood-brain barrier disruption through attenuated apoptosis and supporting improved cerebral perfusion (Garrigue et al. 2016). ECFCs with a greater proliferative and directional migratory capacity effectively stimulated the differentiation of the endothelial precursors to rejuvenate blood-brain barrier (Abdulkadir et al. 2020). In an experimental animal model of transient middle cerebral artery occlusion, local injection of ECFCs significantly improved the functional recovery besides significant regression of the neurological deficiency (Moubarik et al. 2011). On the same note, local injection of ECFCs was more effective in promoting neovascularization and restoring blood-brain barrier integrity in an experimental model of traumatic brain injury. The cell-based therapy approach also successfully alleviated neurologic deficiency by increasing the brain microvessel density and expression of the proangiogenic growth factors such as SCD-1 and VEGF (Zhang et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013).

The ECFCs-based treatment effectively repaired the retinal vasculature and attenuated ischemic injury of the retina in a rodent experimental model of ischemic retinopathy (Bertelli et al. 2020; Park et al. 2014; Medina et al. 2010). Moreover, it was found that intravitreal delivery of ECFCs were successfully incorporated into the damaged retinal vasculature as part of the repair process and sufficiently reduced the avascular area (O'Leary et al. 2019). Moreover, this effect has been mediated by the transfer of extracellular vesicles containing multiple-microRNAs hyaluronic acid receptor and insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins (Dellett et al. 2017; Sakimoto et al. 2017). Using a mouse model of oxygen-induced retinopathy, Li Calzi et al. established that human progenitor cell combination of bone marrow-derived CD34+ EPCs and vascular wall-derived ECFCs synergistically contributed to the protection and development of retinal vasculature against injury (Li Calzi et al. 2019). In addition, ECFCs were able to protect against retinal degeneration by suppressing matrix metalloproteinase activation, attenuating inflammatory signaling, protecting vascular smooth muscle cells from apoptosis, and mediating the effects of endothelial nitric oxide.

There is strong evidence that the administration of human cord blood ECFCs or their exosomes protected mice against renal ischemia/reperfusion injury via transfer of micro-RNA-486-5p that targets the phosphatase and tensin homolog and the activation of the Akt pathway (Viñas et al. 2016).

Intravenous engraftment of late outgrowth EPCs derived from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells into immunocompromised mice after experimentally induced unilateral hind limb ischemia revealed higher angiogenic potential than classically defined early outgrowth EPCs (Minami et al. 2013). Treatment with ECFCs in combination with mesenchymal progenitor cells effectively restored blood flow in the ischemic skeletal muscle in an experimental murine model of hind limb ischemia (Kang et al. 2017).

Chen et al. reported that intravenous injection of bone marrow–derived, in vitro expanded EPCs in mice with the model of Kawasaki disease was associated with the accelerated repair of coronary artery endothelial lesion and decreased the occurrence of vascular aneurysm for 56 days (Chen et al. 2012). Investigators also observed that the number of peripheral EPCs in the Kawasaki disease model group was significantly lower when compared to the circulating number of EPCs in both transplanted and control groups.

Interestingly, intramyocardial injection of thymosin-β4-pretreated EPCs following acute myocardial infarction significantly increased capillary density and left ventricular pump function in diabetic rats, while naïve (nontreated) EPCs did not exhibit any therapeutic benefits in terms of tissue regeneration due to poor migration, weak tubulogenic potential, and weak proangiogenic paracrine activity (Poh et al. 2020). These data showed that autologous bone marrow–derived EPCs from diabetic rats might have limited regenerative potential and lacked the ability to sustain endothelial integrity and cardiovascular protection due to the effect of hyperglycemia.

Thus, autologous EPCs-based therapy seemed as a personalized therapeutic approach to vascular reparation while these cells received from patients with a

wide range of cardiovascular risk factors and CV diseases can be dysfunctional and require to be specifically repaired prior to use. In this context, ECFCs and their combination with another type of progenitor precursors appear to be more promising in the therapeutic perspective.

Clinical Studies for EPCs Applications

The intriguing scientific data from the experimental animal studies supports the potential clinical applications of EPCs and requires confirmatory proof in the clinical settings before their routine application as a therapeutic option for patient (Bianconi et al. 2018). Nevertheless, numerous clinical studies and large clinical trials have provided inconsistent results for the therapeutic efficacy of human bone-marrowderived CD34+ EPCs infusion (Itescu et al. 2002). For instance, no therapeutic benefits were observed in terms of improvement in coronary artery perfusion regrowth and myocardial angiogenesis following acute myocardial infarction (Kocher et al. 2001; Iwasaki et al. 2006). During a single-center prospective randomized double-blinded phase I clinical trial, which included 39 patients having end-stage diffuse coronary artery disease unsuitable for percutaneous and surgical coronary revascularization, treatment with CD34+ cells did not show any significant improvement in LVEF in survivors when compared with nonsurvivors for 5-year follow-up (Sung et al. 2018). At the same time, the analysis of angiographic findings showed that the angiogenesis was significantly increased and left ventricular remodeling was sufficiently ameliorated. Besides, the clinical scores for angina and HF were significantly reduced over 5 years of follow-up. In another clinical trial, intravenous CD34+ cell-based therapy was safe and efficacious in improving left ventricular function for patients with severe diffused CAD unsuitable for coronary intervention and poor response to pharmacotherapy (Lee et al. 2015). Patients with refractory angina, who were treated with intramyocardial injections of autologous CD34+ EPCs, experienced significant alleviation in angina frequency and tolerance to physical exercise over 6 months after treatment (Losordo et al. 2011). Henry et al. demonstrated that intramyocardial delivery of autologous CD34+ cells into the ischemic myocardial zone was associated with stable improvement in angina and a sustained trend to decline of major adverse cardiac events including death, myocardial infarction, acute coronary syndrome, or hospitalization due to HF over 24 months (Henry et al. 2016). Finally, in the RENEW (Efficacy and Safety of Targeted Intramyocardial Delivery of Auto CD34+ Stem Cells for Improving Exercise Capacity in Subjects with Refractory Angina) trial, it was observed that autologous CD34(+) cell-based therapy was as safe as placebo treatment, while the study was early terminated by the sponsor for strategic considerations (Povsic et al. 2016).

Overall, three double-blind randomized trials (n = 304) compared intramyocardial delivery of autologous CD34+ EPCs with intramyocardial placebo treatment to affect total exercise time, angina frequency, and major adverse cardiac events. Additionally, analyses of the data from the phase I, phase II, ACT-34, ACT-34 extension, and phase III RENEW trials have shown that autologous CD34+ EPCs therapy significantly decreased mortality and numerically reduced major cardiovascular events during 24 months follow-up (Henry et al. 2018).

Khan et al. reported the results of meta-analysis of six clinical studies for cellbased therapies in refractory angina showed that CD34(+) EPCs transplantation was safe and led to sufficient improvement in angina frequencies, relevant clinical outcomes, and myocardial perfusion (Khan et al. 2016). Another meta-analysis has shown that intramyocardial delivery of CD34+ EPCs was superior to placebo treatment and decreased a risk of all-cause mortality, attenuated angina frequency, and increased exercise time that was without a significant increase in adverse events (Velagapudi et al. 2019). Moreover, it has been observed that CD34+ EPCs-based therapy for refractory angina patients was associated with sufficient improvement in cardiovascular mortality and a reduction in hospital visits and overall total costs for cardiac procedures over 1-year period of follow-up (Johnson et al. 2020). In patients with chronic angina on optimal medical therapy, cell therapy improved clinical symptoms, increased exercise capacity, and left ventricular ejection fraction, but did not show any effect on prognosis (Shah et al. 2018).

In patients with severe nonischemic HFrEF, transendocardial transplantation of CD34+ EPCs in the areas of myocardial hibernation appeared to be effective in improvement of diastolic function (Bervar et al. 2017). Therefore, intracoronary transplantation of CD34+ EPCs positively impacted myocardial perfusion in patients with nonischemic HFrEF due to dilated cardiomyopathy (Lezaic et al. 2015). In addition, improved global left ventricular function, increase in exercise tolerance, and long-term survival were attributed to intracoronary delivery of CD34+ EPCs in nonischemic HFrEF (Vrtovec et al. 2013a). It has been observed that transendocardial transplantation of CD34+ EPCs was associated with more pronounced myocardial cell retention rates, thus leading to greater improvement in left ventricular systolic function as compared to intracoronary route. However, the circulating levels of N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) and 6-minute walk distance were comparable in patients from the two groups of patients (Vrtovec et al. 2013b). Interestingly, repeated CD34+ EPCs administration offered no additional benefits in alleviating the clinical course of the disease, exercise tolerance, left ventricular pump function, or the circulating NT-proBNP levels when compared with single-dose cell therapy (Vrtovec et al. 2018). Patients with ischemia-induced HFrEF demonstrated dose-dependent effect of CD34+ EPCs transplantation on improvement of cardiac pump function, exercise tolerance, and circulating levels of NT-proBNP (Poglajen et al. 2014).

Despite the encouraging data from experimental animal studies as well as from some of the reported clinical studies, CD34+ EPCs delivery has been also disputed as a promising strategy to induce therapeutic angiogenesis in patients with critical limb ischemia (Lara-Hernandez et al. 2010). The prospective randomized, double-blinded, placebo controlled, multicenter study (RESTORE-CLI) has shown that intramuscular injection of autologous bone marrow–derived EPCs was safe and associated with alleviation of the disease progression when compared to placebo treatment (Powell et al. 2011). However, meta-analysis of placebo-controlled trials showed no benefit from bone marrow–derived cell therapy on the primary clinical

outcome (amputation, survival, and amputation-free survival) in patients with critical limb ischemia (Peeters Weem et al. 2015).

To sum up, the reparative potential of the cell therapy strongly depends on a wide range of factors, including phenotype of the cells, cell dose, delivery route, and timing. Pretreatment of EPCs (predominantly with bone morphogenetic protein 4, erythropoietin, osteoprotegerin [fucoidan], or their delivery in combination with other progenitor types such as mesenchymal stem cells, epigenetic reprogramming, and genetic manipulation prior to transplantation) is crucial for improved prognosis and successful outcome of therapeutic angiogenesis (Faris et al. 2020).

Conclusion and Future Prospects

It has been postulated that culture-expanded EPCs, which express CD31 and CD14, or autologous EPCs are alternative for the cells obtained from human umbilical cord tissue for transplantation (Muniswami et al. 2020; Kraus et al. 2021). Similarly, autologous circulating mononuclear cells can be a source for pre-programmed cells to obtain EPCs with required phenotype (Siegel et al. 2018). Their isolation and manufacturing may correspond to current technologies according to good manufacturing practice (Faris et al. 2020). Further development in cell processing technology for efficient isolation, expansion, and transplantation, or mobilization and recruitment of EPCs into target tissues are expected to be investigated and stablished in translational studies and in large clinical trials in the near future.

In conclusion, therapy with early and late outgrowth EPCs is promising strategy for vascular reparation while a vision of future prospects of the approach closely relates to pretreatment of the cells with epigenetic reprogramming and genetic manipulation. Perhaps, high variability of clinical results of the cell therapy is a result of uncertain functional heterogeneity of EPCs implanted due to several conventional and not yet fully established risk factors.

References

- Ahmed FW, Rider R, Glanville M, Narayanan K, Razvi S, Weaver JU (2016) Metformin improves circulating endothelial cells and endothelial progenitor cells in type 1 diabetes: MERIT study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 15(1):116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-016-0413-6
- Aicher A, Rentsch M, Sasaki K, Ellwart JW, Fändrich F, Siebert R, Cooke JP et al (2007) Nonbone marrow-derived circulating progenitor cells contribute to postnatal neovascularization following tissue ischemia. Circ Res 100(4):581–589. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000259562. 63718.35
- Ait-Aissa K, Nguyen QM, Gabani M, Kassan A, Kumar S, Choi SK, Gonzalez AA et al (2020) MicroRNAs and obesity-induced endothelial dysfunction: key paradigms in molecular therapy. Cardiovasc Diabetol 19(1):136. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-020-01107-3
- Akhavani MA, Larsen H, Paleolog E (2007) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells as a link between synovial vascularity and cardiovascular mortality in rheumatoid arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol 36(2):83–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/03009740701305704
- Altabas V, Altabas K, Kirigin L (2016) Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) in ageing and age-related diseases: how currently available treatment modalities affect EPC biology atherosclerosis and cardiovascular outcomes. Mech Ageing Dev 159:49–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mad.2016.02.009
- Asahara T, Masuda H, Takahashi T, Kalka C, Pastore C, Silver M, Kearne M (1999) Bone marrow origin of endothelial progenitor cells responsible for postnatal vasculogenesis in physiological and pathological neovascularization. Circ Res 85(3):221–228. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res. 85.3.221
- Au P, Daheron LM, Duda DG, Cohen KS, Tyrrell JA, Lanning RM, Fukumura D et al (2008) Differential in vivo potential of endothelial progenitor cells from human umbilical cord blood and adult peripheral blood to form functional long-lasting vessels. Blood 111(3):1302–1305. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-06-094318
- Bakogiannis C, Tousoulis D, Androulakis E, Briasoulis A, Papageorgiou N, Vogiatzi G, Kampoli AM et al (2012) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells as biomarkers for prediction of cardiovascular outcomes. Curr Med Chem 19(16):2597–2604. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 092986712800492995
- Banno K, Yoder MC (2018) Tissue regeneration using endothelial colony-forming cells: promising cells for vascular repair. Pediatr Res 83(1–2):283–290. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2017.231
- Barile L, Moccetti T, Marbán E, Vassalli G (2017) Roles of exosomes in cardioprotection. Eur Heart J 38(18):1372–1379. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw304
- Berezin A (2016) Metabolic memory phenomenon in diabetes mellitus: achieving and perspectives. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev 10(2):S176–S183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2016. 03.016
- Berezin AE, Berezin AA (2019) Impaired function of fibroblast growth factor 23 / klotho protein Axis in prediabetes and diabetes mellitus: promising predictor of cardiovascular risk. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev 13(4):2549–2556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2019.07.018
- Berezin AE, Kremzer AA, Martovitskaya YV, Berezina TA, Samura TA (2015) The utility of biomarker risk prediction score in patients with chronic heart failure. Clin Hypertension 22(1):3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40885-016-0041-1
- Berezin AE, Kremzer AA, Cammarota G, Zulli A, Petrovic D, Martell-Claros N, Sabo J et al (2016a) Circulating endothelial-derived apoptotic microparticles and insulin resistance in non-diabetic patients with chronic heart failure. Clin Chem Lab Med 54(7):1259–1267. https://doi.org/10.1515/cclm-2015-0605
- Berezin AE, Kremzer AA, Berezina TA, Martovitskaya YV, Gronenko EA (2016b) Data regarding association between serum osteoprotegerin level numerous of circulating endothelial-derived and mononuclear-derived progenitor cells in patients with metabolic syndrome. Data Brief 8: 717–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2016.06.015
- Bertagnolli M, Xie LF, Paquette K, He Y, Cloutier A, Fernandes RO, Béland C (2018) Endothelial colony-forming cells in young adults born preterm: a novel link between neonatal complications and adult risks for cardiovascular disease. J Am Heart Assoc 7(14):e009720. https://doi.org/10. 1161/JAHA.118.009720
- Bertelli PM, Pedrini E, Guduric-Fuchs J, Peixoto E, Pathak V, Stitt AW, Medina RJ (2020) Vascular regeneration for ischemic retinopathies: Hope from cell therapies. Curr Eye Res 45(3):372–384. https://doi.org/10.1080/02713683.2019.1681004
- Bervar M, Kozelj M, Poglajen G, Sever M, Zemljic G, Frljak S, Cukjati M et al (2017) Effects of transendocardial CD34+ cell transplantation on diastolic parameters in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(6):1515–1521. https://doi.org/10. 1002/sctm.16-0331
- Bianconi V, Sahebkar A, Kovanen P, Bagaglia F, Ricciuti B, Calabrò P, Patti G et al (2018) Endothelial and cardiac progenitor cells for cardiovascular repair: a controversial paradigm in cell therapy. Pharmacol Ther 181:156–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.08.004
- Buccini S, Haider KH, RPH A, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301

- Cavalcante SL, Lopes S, Bohn L, Cavero-Redondo I, Álvarez-Bueno C, Viamonte S, Santos M et al F (2019) Effects of exercise on endothelial progenitor cells in patients with cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Rev Port Cardiol 38(11):817–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repc.2019.02.016
- Chen Z, Du ZD, Liu JF, Lu DX, Li L, Guan YQ, Wan SG (2012) Endothelial progenitor cell transplantation ameliorates elastin breakdown in a Kawasaki disease mouse model. Chin Med J 125(13):2295–2301
- Clayton ZE, Tan RP, Miravet MM, Lennartsson K, Cooke JP, Bursill CA, Wise SG et al (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived endothelial cells promote angiogenesis and accelerate wound closure in a murine excisional wound healing model. Biosci Rep 38(4):BSR20180563. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20180563
- Crosby JR, Kaminski WE, Schatteman G, Martin PJ, Raines EW, Seifert RA, Bowen-Pope DF (2000) Endothelial cells of hematopoietic origin make a significant contribution to adult blood vessel formation. Circ Res 87(9):728–730. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.87.9.728
- Dellett M, Brown ED, Guduric-Fuchs J, O'Connor A, Stitt AW, Medina RJ, Simpson DA (2017) MicroRNA-containing extracellular vesicles released from endothelial colony-forming cells modulate angiogenesis during ischaemic retinopathy. J Cell Mol Med 21(12):3405–3419. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13251
- Ding J, Zhao Z, Wang C, Wang CX, Li PC, Qian C, Teng GJ (2016) Bioluminescence imaging of transplanted human endothelial colony-forming cells in an ischemic mouse model. Brain Res 1642:209–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.03.045
- Duan H, Cheng L, Sun X, Wu Y, Hu L, Wang J, Zhao H (2006) LFA-1 and VLA-4 involved in human high proliferative potential-endothelial progenitor cells homing to ischemic tissue. Thromb Haemost 96(6):807–815. Erratum in: Thromb Haemost 97(1):167
- Duda DG, Cohen KS, Scadden DT, Jain RK (2007) A protocol for phenotypic detection and enumeration of circulating endothelial cells and circulating progenitor cells in human blood. Nat Protoc 2(4):805–810. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.111
- Ergün S, Tilki D, Hohn HP, Gehling U, Kilic N (2007) Potential implications of vascular wall resident endothelial progenitor cells. Thromb Haemost 98(5):930–939. PMID: 18000595
- Faris P, Negri S, Perna A, Rosti V, Guerra G, Moccia F (2020) Therapeutic potential of endothelial Colony-forming cells in ischemic disease: strategies to improve their regenerative efficacy. Int J Mol Sci 21(19):7406. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21197406
- Garrigue P, Hache G, Bennis Y, Brige P, Stalin J, Pellegrini L, Velly L et al (2016) Erythropoietin pretreatment of transplanted endothelial colony-forming cells enhances recovery in a cerebral ischemia model by increasing their homing ability: a SPECT/CT study. J Nucl Med 57(11): 1798–1804. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.115.170308
- Göthert JR, Gustin SE, van Eekelen JA, Schmidt U, Hall MA, Jane SM, Green AR et al (2004) Genetically tagging endothelial cells in vivo: bone marrow-derived cells do not contribute to tumor endothelium. Blood 104(6):1769–1777. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-11-3952
- Haider HK, Aziz S, AlRashedi MA (2017) Endothelial progenitor cells for cellular angiogenesis and repair: lessons learnt from experimental animal models. Regen Med 12(18):969–982
- Henry TD, Schaer GL, Traverse JH, Povsic TJ, Davidson C, Lee JS, Costa MA (2016) Autologous CD34+ cell therapy for refractory angina: 2-year outcomes from the ACT34-CMI study. Cell Transplant 25(9):1701–1711. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368916X691484
- Henry TD, Losordo DW, Traverse JH, Schatz RA, Jolicoeur EM, Schaer GL, Clare R et al (2018) Autologous CD34+ cell therapy improves exercise capacity angina frequency and reduces mortality in no-option refractory angina: a patient-level pooled analysis of randomized double-blinded trials. Eur Heart J 39(23):2208–2216. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx764
- Hristov M (2003) Endothelial progenitor cells isolation and characterization. Trends Cardiovasc Med 13(5):201–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-1738(03)00077-X
- Huang X-T, Zhang Y-Q, Li S-J, Li S-H, Qing T, Wang Z-T, Jing-Fei D et al (2013) Intracerebroventricular transplantation of ex vivo expanded endothelial colony-forming cells

restores blood-brain barrier integrity and promotes angiogenesis of mice with traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 30(24):2080–2088. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2013.2996

- Itescu S, Kocher AA, Schuster MD (2002) Myocardial neovascularization by adult bone marrowderived angioblasts: strategies for improvement of cardiomyocyte function. Ann Hematol 81 (Suppl 2):S21–S25
- Iwasaki H, Kawamoto A, Ishikawa M, Oyamada A, Nakamori S, Nishimura H, Sadamoto K et al (2006) Dose-dependent contribution of CD34-positive cell transplantation to concurrent vasculogenesis and cardiomyogenesis for functional regenerative recovery after myocardial infarction. Circulation 113(10):1311–1325. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105. 541268
- Jalilian E, Elkin K, Shin SR (2020) Novel cell-based and tissue engineering approaches for induction of angiogenesis as an alternative therapy for diabetic retinopathy. Int J Mol Sci 21(10):3496. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21103496
- Johnson GL, Henry TD, Povsic TJ, Losordo DW, Garberich RF, Stanberry LI, Strauss CE, Traverse JH (2020) CD34+ cell therapy significantly reduces adverse cardiac events health care expenditures and mortality in patients with refractory angina. Stem Cells Transl Med 9(10): 1147–1152. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.20-0046
- Kachamakova-Trojanowska N, Bukowska-Strakova K, Zukowska M, Dulak J, Jozkowicz A (2015) The real face of endothelial progenitor cells - circulating angiogenic cells as endothelial prognostic marker? Pharmacol Rep 67(4):793–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharep.2015. 05.017
- Kang KT, Lin RZ, Kuppermann D, Melero-Martin JM, Bischoff J (2017) Endothelial colony forming cells and mesenchymal progenitor cells form blood vessels and increase blood flow in ischemic muscle. Sci Rep 7(1):770. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00809-1
- Kawamoto A, Asahara T (2007) Role of progenitor endothelial cells in cardiovascular disease and upcoming therapies. Cath Cardiovasc Intervent 70(4):477–484. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccd. 21292
- Khan AR, Farid TA, Pathan A, Tripathi A, Ghafghazi S, Wysoczynski M, Bolli R (2016) Impact of cell therapy on myocardial perfusion and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with angina refractory to medical therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Circ Res 118(6): 984–993. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.308056
- Kiewisz J, Kaczmarek MM, Pawlowska A, Kmiec Z, Stompor T (2016) Endothelial progenitor cells participation in cardiovascular and kidney diseases: a systematic review. Acta Biochim Pol 63:3. https://doi.org/10.18388/abp.2016 1284
- King TFJ, McDermott JH (2014) Endothelial progenitor cells and cardiovascular disease. J Stem Cells 9(2):93–106. jsc.2014.9.2.93. PMID: 25158158
- Kocher AA, Schuster MD, Takuma S, Burkhoff D, Wang J, Homma S, Edwards NM, Itescu S (2001) Neovascularization of ischemic myocardium by human bone-marrow–derived angioblasts prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis reduces remodeling and improves cardiac function. Nat Med 74:430–436. https://doi.org/10.1038/86498
- Kraus X, Pflaum M, Thoms S, Jonczyk R, Witt M, Scheper T, Blume C (2021) A pre-conditioning protocol of peripheral blood derived endothelial colony forming cells for endothelialization of tissue engineered constructs. Microvasc Res 134:104107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mvr.2020.104107
- Lara-Hernandez R, Lozano-Vilardell P, Blanes P, Torreguitart-Mirada N, Galmés A, Besalduch J (2010) Safety and efficacy of therapeutic angiogenesis as a novel treatment in patients with critical limb ischemia. Ann Vasc Surg 24(2):287–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avsg.2009. 10.012
- Lavoie JR, Stewart DJ (2012) Genetically modified endothelial progenitor cells in the therapy of cardiovascular disease and pulmonary hypertension. Curr Vasc Pharmacol 10(3):289–299. https://doi.org/10.2174/157016112799959413
- Lee FY, Chen YL, Sung PH, Ma MC, Pei SN, Wu CJ, Yang CH et al (2015) Intracoronary transfusion of circulation-derived CD34+ cells improves left ventricular function in patients

with end-stage diffuse coronary artery disease unsuitable for coronary intervention. Crit Care Med 43(10):2117–2132. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.00000000001138

- Lezaic L, Socan A, Poglajen G, Peitl PK, Sever M, Cukjati M, Cernelc P (2015) Intracoronary transplantation of CD34(+) cells is associated with improved myocardial perfusion in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. J Card Fail 21(2):145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cardfail.2014.11.005
- Li Calzi S, Shaw LC, Moldovan L, Shelley WC, Qi X, Racette L, Quigley JL et al (2019) Progenitor cell combination normalizes retinal vascular development in the oxygen-induced retinopathy (OIR) model. JCI Insight 4(21):e129224. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.129224. PMID: 31672944; PMCID: PMC6948778
- Li L, Liu H, Xu C, Deng M, Song M, Yu X, Xu S et al (2017) VEGF promotes endothelial progenitor cell differentiation and vascular repair through connexin 43. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1): 237. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0684-1
- Li TB, Zhang YZ, Liu WQ, Zhang JJ, Peng J, Luo XJ, Ma QL (2018) Correlation between NADPH oxidase-mediated oxidative stress and dysfunction of endothelial progenitor cell in hyperlipidemic patients. Korean J Intern Med 33(2):313–322. https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2016.140
- Lin Y, Daniel J, Weisdorf Anna Solovey WA, Hebbel RP (2000) Origins of circulating endothelial cells and endothelial outgrowth from blood. J Clin Invest 105(1):71–77. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI8071
- Lin RZ, Moreno-Luna R, Li D, Jaminet SC, Greene AK, Melero-Martin JM (2014) Human endothelial colony-forming cells serve as trophic mediators for mesenchymal stem cell engraftment via paracrine signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(28):10137–10142. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1405388111
- Losordo DW, Henry TD, Davidson C, Sup Lee J, Costa MA, Bass T, Mendelsohn F et al (2011) ACT34-CMI investigators. Intramyocardial autologous CD34+ cell therapy for refractory angina. Circ Res 109(4):428–436. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.245993
- Mandraffino Giuseppe M, Saitta A (2018) Endothelial and circulating progenitor cells: between diseases and therapies. Curr Med Chem 25(35):4476–4477. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 092986732535181026143801
- Medina RJ, O'Neill CL, Humphreys MW, Gardiner TA, Stitt AW (2010) Outgrowth endothelial cells: characterization and their potential for reversing ischemic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 51(11):5906–5913. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.09-4951
- Mihail H, Erl W, Weber PC (2003) Endothelial progenitor cells: mobilization differentiation and homing. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23(7):1185–1189. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV. 0000073832.49290.B5
- Miller-Kasprzak E, Jagodziński PP (2007) Endothelial progenitor cells as a new agent contributing to vascular repair. Arch Immunol Ther Exp 55(4):247–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-007-0027-5
- Minami Y, Nakajima T, Ikutomi M, Morita T, Komuro I, Sata M, Sahara M (2015) Angiogenic potential of early and late outgrowth endothelial progenitor cells is dependent on the time of emergence. Int J Cardiol 186:305–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.03.166
- Montenegro FS, Correia M, Muccillo F, Souza E, Silva CG, De Lorenzo A (2018) Associations between endothelial progenitor cells clinical characteristics and coronary restenosis in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary artery intervention. BMC Res Notes 11(1):278. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-018-3401-y
- Moubarik C, Benjamin G, Bennis Y, Jean-Laurent C, Marie-Dominique P, Sabatier F, Lionel P et al (2011) Transplanted late outgrowth endothelial progenitor cells as cell therapy product for stroke. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7(1):208–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-010-9157-y
- Muniswami DM, Reddy LVK, Amirtham SM, Babu S, Raj AN, Sen D, Manivasagam G (2020) Endothelial progenitor/stem cells in engineered vessels for vascular transplantation. J Mater Sci Mater Med 31(12):119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-020-06458-7
- Murasawa S, Asahara T (2005) Endothelial progenitor cells for vasculogenesis. Physiology 20(1): 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00033.2004

- O'Leary OE, Canning P, Reid E, Bertelli PM, McKeown S, Brines M, Cerami A (2019) The vasoreparative potential of endothelial colony-forming cells in the ischemic retina is enhanced by cibinetide a non-hematopoietic erythropoietin mimetic. Exp Eye Res 182:144–155. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2019.03.001
- Ozkok A, Yildiz A (2018) Endothelial progenitor cells and kidney diseases. Kidney Blood Press Res 43(3):701–718. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489745
- Park TS, Bhutto I, Zimmerlin L, Huo JS, Nagaria P, Miller D, Rufaihah AJ et al (2014) Vascular progenitors from cord blood-derived induced pluripotent stem cells possess augmented capacity for regenerating ischemic retinal vasculature. Circulation 129(3):359–372. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003000
- Pasha Z, Haider HKh, Ashraf M (2011) VEGF signaling enhances endothelial differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells: in vitro and in vivo characterization. Circulation, Nov. 2011-SS-A-14006-AHA
- Peeters Weem SM, Teraa M, de Borst GJ, Verhaar MC, Moll FL (2015) Bone marrow derived cell therapy in critical limb ischemia: a meta-analysis of randomized placebo controlled trials. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 50(6):775–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejvs.2015.08.018
- Pelliccia F, Pasceri V, Cianfrocca C, Vitale C, Meoni G, Pristipino C, Speciale G et al (2009a) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in postmenopausal women with and without coronary artery disease. Climacteric 12(3):259–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/13697130802696191
- Pelliccia F, Pasceri V, Cianfrocca C, Vitale C, Pristipino C, Speciale G, Mercuro G et al (2009b) Endothelial progenitor cells in patients with coronary artery disease and left ventricular dysfunction. Coron Artery Dis 20(5):303–308. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCA.0b013e328325765e
- Peng J, Bin L, Qi-Lin M, Xiu-Ju L (2015) Dysfunctional endothelial progenitor cells in cardiovascular diseases: role of NADPH oxidase. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 65(1):80–87. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/FJC.00000000000166
- Peters BA, Luis A, Kornelia D, Leslie P, Romans MK, Guinan EC, Antin JH et al (2005) Contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial cells to human tumor vasculature. Nat Med 11(3):261–262. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1200
- Poglajen G, Sever M, Cukjati M, Cernelc P, Knezevic I, Zemljic G, Haddad F, Wu JC, Vrtovec B (2014) Effects of transendocardial CD34 + cell transplantation in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 74:552–559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCINTER-VENTIONS.114.001436
- Poh KK, Lee PSS, Djohan AH, Galupo MJ, Songco GG, Yeo TC, Huay Cheem Tan HC, Richards AM, Ye L (2020) Transplantation of endothelial progenitor cells in obese diabetic rats following myocardial infarction: role of thymosin beta-4. Cell 9(4):949. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cells9040949
- Povsic TJ, Henry TD, Traverse JH, Fortuin FD, Schaer GL, Kereiakes DJ, Schatz RA et al (2016) The RENEW trial. JACC: Cardiovas Interven 9(15):1576–1585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcin. 2016.05.003
- Powell RJ, Comerota AJ, Berceli SA, Guzman R, Henry TD, Tzeng E, Velazquez O et al (2011) Interim analysis results from the RESTORE-CLI a randomized double-blind multicenter phase II trial comparing expanded autologous bone marrow-derived tissue repair cells and placebo in patients with critical limb ischemia. J Vasc Surg 54(4):1032–1041. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs. 2011.04.006
- Psaltis PJ, Simari RD (2015) Vascular wall progenitor cells in health and disease. Circ Res 116(8): 1392–1412. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.305368
- Psaltis PJ, Harbuzariu A, Delacroix S, Holroyd EW, Simari RD (2011) Resident vascular progenitor cells—diverse origins phenotype and function. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 4(2):161–176. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12265-010-9248-9
- Pyšná A, Bém R, Němcová A, Fejfarová V, Jirkovská A, Hazdrová J, Jude EB, Dubský M (2019) Endothelial progenitor cells biology in diabetes mellitus and peripheral arterial disease and their therapeutic potential. Stem Cell Rev Rep 15(2):157–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-018-9863-4

- Rahmawati M, Nilasari D, Bakri S (2015) The role of endothelial progenitor cell in cardiovascular disease risk factors. Acta Med Indones 47(4):340–347
- Regueiro A, Cuadrado-Godia E, Bueno-Betí C, Diaz-Ricart M, Oliveras A, Novella N, Gené GG et al (2015) Mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells in acute cardiovascular events in the PROCELL study: time-course after acute myocardial infarction and stroke. J Mol Cell Cardiol 80:146–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.01.005
- Reskiawan AR, Alwjwaj A, Othman OA, Rakkar K, Ulvi B (2020) Outgrowth endothelial cells form a functional cerebral barrier and restore its integrity after damage. Neural Regen Res 15(6): 1071. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.269029
- Rigato M, Fadini GP (2018) Circulating stem/progenitor cells as prognostic biomarkers in macroand microvascular disease: a narrative review of prospective observational studies. Curr Med Chem 25(35):4507–4517. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867324666.170920154020
- Roth I, Casas R, Medina-Remón A, Lamuela-Raventós RM, Estruch R (2019) Consumption of aged white wine modulates cardiovascular risk factors via circulating endothelial progenitor cells and inflammatory biomarkers. Clin Nutr 38(3):1036–1044. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu. 2018.06.001
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider HK, Heng BC, Tian XF, Lei Y, Ge R, Cao T, Sim EKW (2007) Directing endothelial differentiation of human embryonic stem cells via transduction with an adenoviral vector expressing VEGF₁₆₅ gene. J Gene Med 9(6):452–461
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider HK, Heng BC, Ye L, Tan RS, Toh WS, Tian XF et al (2010) Therapeutic angiogenesis by transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived CD133+ endothelial progenitor cells for cardiac repair. Regen Med 2010(5):231–244
- Sakimoto S, Valentina M, Edith A, Kelsey L, Yoshihiko U, Murinello S, Bucher F et al (2017) CD44 expression in endothelial colony-forming cells regulates neurovascular trophic effect. JCI Insight 2:2. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.89906
- Sata M (2006) Role of circulating vascular progenitors in angiogenesis vascular healing and pulmonary hypertension: lessons from animal models. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26(5): 1008–1014. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000206123.94140.f3
- Sen S, McDonald SP, Coates PT, Bonder CS (2011) Endothelial progenitor cells: novel biomarker and promising cell therapy for cardiovascular disease. Clin Sci (Lond) 120(7):263–283. https:// doi.org/10.1042/CS20100429
- Shah R, Latham SB, Khan SA, Shahreyar M, Hwang I, Jovin IS (2018) A comprehensive metaanalysis of stem cell therapy for chronic angina. Clin Cardiol 41(4):525–531. https://doi.org/10. 1002/clc.22922
- Siebel AL, Fernandez AZ, El-Osta A (2010) Glycemic memory associated epigenetic changes. Biochem Pharmacol 80(12):1853–1859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2010.06.005
- Siegel G, Fleck E, Elser S, Hermanutz-Klein U, Waidmann M, Northoff H, Seifried E et al (2018) Manufacture of endothelial colony-forming progenitor cells from steady-state peripheral blood leukapheresis using pooled human platelet lysate. Transfusion 58(5):1132–1142. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/trf.14541
- Sung PH, Lee FY, Tong MS, Chiang JY, Pei SN, Ma MC, Li YC (2018) The five-year clinical and angiographic follow-up outcomes of intracoronary transfusion of circulation-derived CD34+ cells for patients with end-stage diffuse coronary artery disease unsuitable for coronary intervention-phase I clinical trial. Crit Care Med 46(5):e411–e418. https://doi.org/10.1097/ CCM.000000000003051
- Tasev D, van Wijhe MH, Weijers Em, van Hinsbergh VWM, Koolwijk P (2015) Long-term expansion in platelet lysate increases growth of peripheral blood-derived endothelial-colony forming cells and their growth factor-induced sprouting capacity. Ed. Antonio Facchiano. PLOS ONE 10(6):e0129935. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129935
- Timmermans F, Van Hauwermeiren F, De Smedt M, Raedt FP, Buyzere ML, Gillebert TC, Plum J et al (2007) Endothelial outgrowth cells are not derived from CD133 + cells or CD45 + hematopoietic precursors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27(7):1572–1579. https://doi.org/10. 1161/ATVBAHA.107.144972

- Urbich CA, Aicher C, Heeschen E, Dernbach W, Zeiher HA, Dimmeler S (2005) Soluble factors released by endothelial progenitor cells promote migration of endothelial cells and cardiac resident progenitor cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39(5):733–742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2005.07.003
- Velagapudi P, Turagam M, Kolte D, Khera S, Hyder O, Gordon P, Aronow HD et al (2019) Intramyocardial autologous CD34+ cell therapy for refractory angina: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 20(3):215–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.carrev.2018.05.018
- Viñas JL, Dylan B, Joseph Z, Randa H, William K, Pearl C, Alex G et al (2016) Transfer of MicroRNA-486-5p from human endothelial colony forming cell-derived exosomes reduces ischemic kidney injury. Kidney Int 90(6):1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kint.2016. 07.015
- Vrtovec B, Poglajen G, Lazaic L, Sever M, Socan A, Domanovic D, Cernelc P et al (2013a) Comparison of transendocardial and intracoronary CD34+ cell transplantation in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 128(11 Suppl. 1):S42–S49. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.000230
- Vrtovec B, Poglajen G, Lezaic L, Sever M, Domanovic D, Cernelc P, Socan A et al (2013b) Effects of intracoronary CD34 + stem cell transplantation in nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy patients: 5-year follow-up. Circ Res 112(1):165–173. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 112.276519
- Vrtovec B, Poglajen G, Lazaic L, Sever M, Socan A, Zemljic G, Frljak S et al (2018) Effects of repetitive transendocardial CD34 + cell transplantation in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 123(3):389–396. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117. 312170
- Wils J, Julie F, Jérémy B (2017) Modulating putative endothelial progenitor cells for the treatment of endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular complications in diabetes. Pharmacol Ther 170: 98–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2016.10.014
- Xu S, Junhui Z, Lu Y, Guosheng F (2012) Endothelial progenitor cells: current development of their paracrine factors in cardiovascular therapy. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 59(4):387–396. https://doi. org/10.1097/FJC.0b013e3182440338
- Yoder MC (2012) Human endothelial progenitor cells. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Med 2(7): a006692–a006692. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a006692
- Zengin E (2006) Vascular Wall resident progenitor cells: a source for postnatal Vasculogenesis. Development 133(8):1543–1551. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02315
- Zentilin L, Sabrina T, Serena Z, Nikola A, Lucia P, Milena S, Mauro G (2006) Bone marrow mononuclear cells are recruited to the sites of VEGF-induced neovascularization but are not incorporated into the newly formed vessels. Blood 107(9):3546–3554. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2005-08-3215
- Zhang M, Malik AB, Rehman J (2012) Endothelial progenitor cells and vascular repair. Curr Opin Hematol 21(3):224–228. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOH.00000000000041
- Zhang Y, Ying L, Shaobo W, Zhenying H, Xintao H, Shenghui L, Chen F et al (2013) Transplantation of expanded endothelial colony-forming cells improved outcomes of traumatic brain injury in a mouse model. J Surg Res 185(1):441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2013.05.073

Check for updates

Neural Stem Cells

27

From Bench to Bedside

Yash Parekh, Ekta Dagar, Khawaja Husnain Haider, and Kiran Kumar Bokara

Contents

Introduction	823
Historic Prospective of Neural Stem Cells	823
Neural Stem Cell Culture – Its Applications and Limitations	825
Influence of the Microenvironment and Niche on Embryonic NSCs – Intrinsic	
Regulation	830
Signaling Molecules That Affect NSC Differentiation	831
Extracellular Matrix (ECM) Role in Regulating Neural Stem Cell Characteristics	832
Anomalies in Neurogenesis and Brain Pathologies	833
Advances in Neural Stem Cell Transplantation and Therapy (Fig. 1 and Table 3)	835
Conclusions	839
References	839

Abstract

The introduction of neural stem cells (NSCs) from adult mouse brains by Brent Reynold and Samuel Swiss in 1992 not only paved the way for in vitro culturing but also opened the way for understanding neurophysiology and disease pathology with better insights into neurobiology. In this regard, in recent years, most of the attention has been raised by the stimulating prospects of NSC application for cell replacement therapies for neurological disorders. Despite the evident benefits pledged by NSC application, which showed encouraging neuroregeneration events in preliminary studies on animal models, there remains a gap between theory and practice for clinical use. Therapies using stem cells were successful for the treatment of epidermal and corneal disorders. However, applications for

Y. Parekh · E. Dagar · K. K. Bokara (🖂)

CSIR–Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology, Hyderabad, India e-mail: yashp@ccmb.res.in; ektadagar@ccmb.res.in; bokarakiran@ccmb.res.in

K. H. Haider

K. H. Haider (ed.), Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 38

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

diseases affecting the nervous system remain a pioneering field and are still in their infancy. With the increasing demand for therapeutics and the clinical prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases, an understanding of the basic biology of NSCs, the niche/microenvironment governing stem cell characteristics, and the methods for manipulating these cells could provide reliable, safe, and effective outcomes in cell replacement approaches, which could be beneficial for the clinical use of NSCs.

Keywords

3D culture \cdot Central nervous system \cdot ESCs \cdot iPSCs \cdot Neurogenesis \cdot Neuron \cdot Neuronal stem cells \cdot Organoids \cdot Stem cells

Abbreviations

BBB	Blood-brain barrier
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
bHLH	Basic-helix-loop-helix
BMP	Bone morphogenetic proteins
CNS	Central nervous system
CRABP1-2	Cellular-RA-binding proteins
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
HATs	Histone acetyltransferases
HDACs	Histone deacetylases
hNPCs	Human neural progenitor cells
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
IVF	In vitro fertilization
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NPCs	Neuronal progenitor cells
NSCs	Neural stem cells
PD	Parkinson's disease
PTC1	Patched
RA	Retinoic acid
RALDH1-3	Retinaldehyde dehydrogenases 1, 2, and 3
RAR-1-3	RA receptors
RGC	Radial glial cells
RXR1–3	Retinoic X receptors
Smo	Smoothened
SOX	SRY-related HMG box
SVZ	Subventricular zone
TGF-beta	Transforming growth factor-beta
TLE	Temporal lobe epilepsy

Introduction

Until the 1990s, it was believed that the generation of new neurons does not occur in the fully developed adult mammalian brain. On the contrary, stem cells are the key players involved in developing and maintaining the tissues in the mammalian system, giving rise to new cells and replenishing dead cells or worn-out cells. New techniques have emerged to successfully demonstrate that new neurons are continuously generated in the adult brain, a concept that is contrary to the long-standing dogma that neurons are terminally differentiated cells and do not proliferate during postnatal life.

With the increasing literature and experimental evidence from neuroscientists, it is now believed that in a mammalian brain, neural stem cells (NSCs) give rise to brain cell types, regardless of the age of the animal, except that their proliferative potential declines with advancing age. With the advent of new technologies and methods, it is now possible to isolate and culture neural stem cells in vitro from central nervous system (CNS) tissues with neuron-specific growth factors, generating in vivo tissue-like structures. The in vitro neuronal culture methods pave the way for understanding neurogenesis and neuropathogenesis, thereby facilitating the development of both in vitro and in vivo models for research and their subsequent use in therapeutic applications.

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) developed by the reprogramming of somatic cells (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006) have paved the way for the generation of patient-specific stem cells, which has given genuine hope for the practice of personalized medicine for both adult and pediatric applications (Cagavi et al. 2018; Çetinkaya and Haider 2021). The iPSC technology has enabled researchers worldwide to generate three-dimensional (3D)/organoid cultures with different cell types, including cerebral organoids (Yan et al. 2020; Logan et al. 2020). Unlike other techniques, the 3D/organoid culture technique has its relevant challenges and limitations; however, it is still considered the most preferred technique, which can give rise to organ-like features under in vitro culture conditions and mimic the natural habitat of cells in vivo (Artegiani and Clevers 2018). Considering the complexity of organs, the present organ-on-chip and assembloid culturing techniques would enable the development of organ systems (Wu et al. 2020).

In this chapter, we discuss the origin and progression of neuroscience and the challenges associated with it. In the later part, we have addressed the current advancements in the techniques used in research, the role of the microenvironment in influencing stem cell characteristics, therapeutic applications and the challenges associated with them, and the ways to overcome those challenges.

Historic Prospective of Neural Stem Cells

Pablo Garcia-Lopez et al (2010) documented Cajal's contribution towards understanding the basic concepts of vertebrate neural system. His work suggested various theories, including "neuron doctrine," law of dynamics, neurogenesis, functional polarization of electrical potential, neural plasticity, neuronal regeneration, and degeneration. These have led ways for modern neuroscience, contributing immensely to the expansion of the field. Santiago Ramon y Cajal and Camillo Golgi (Swanson and Lichtman 2016) laid the foundation for modern neurosciences by investigating the intricacies of macro- and micro-structures in the human nervous system. He also stated that "once the development was completed the adult centres, the nerve paths were something fixed and immutable. Everything may die, nothing may be regenerated." This statement continued to remain the central dogma until the 1960s, when neural stem cells were discovered.

The conviction of numbress of neurogenesis in the adult human brain was based on the following four major points:

- Clinical evidence showing that patients suffering from neurological diseases/disorders do not show any signs of recovery or reduction in symptoms – these observations made the researchers believe that neurogenesis does not occur in the human adult brain.
- 2) The function of neuronal cells, which consists of complex networks and requires precise communication as a slight change in the system can alter the behavior and functions of an organism.
- 3) During learning and memory processes, memory is the case of recalling something, which already stored with the stable neuronal connections, and new neurons were seen as unwanted and incompetent with the memory processes.
- 4) Lack of techniques and resources needed to understand neurogenesis and its associated mechanisms.

In the 1960s, initial reports from Joseph Altman (1962) and his colleagues suggested that cells in the dentate gyrus and hippocampal region can incorporate radioactive thymidine, which can only be possible in the case of dividing cells and can be visualized using autoradiography. Limited by the availability of specific molecular markers, Altman and colleagues could not prove them as neurons; the data emanating from their experiment suggested that the adult human brain had dividing cells, whether stem cells or progenitor cells. Later in the 1970s, Michel Kaplan (Kaplan and Hinds 1977) used a combination of autoradiography and electron microscopy to observe the dividing neurons. In the 1980s, Nottebohm and collaborators reported that neurogenesis occurred in the adult brains of birds, suggesting the neurological basis of songs in birds. They used BrdU and neural molecular probes, with confocal microscopy (Nottebohm 2002). During the 1990s, researchers successfully isolated and propagated neural stem cells from the adult mammalian brain in vitro, using specific growth factors and morphogens.

During the twentieth century, several research groups developed techniques to culture and maintain the nervous tissue in vitro (Pacitti et al. 2019). In the year 1907, a report suggested culturing CNS and medullary tubes from frog embryos (Harrison 1907). Over the years, scientists tried various culture conditions for culturing cells derived from the different parts of mammalian CNS. In 1964, Goldstein and colleagues published a study reporting successful the in vitro culturing of an immortalized cell line from a neuroblastoma cancer patient (Goldstein et al. 1964). In 1989, Knopfel reported successfully isolating NSCs from rat forebrain, thus opening a new

horizon of infinite possibilities and breaking all barriers that hinder research and clinical approaches for neuronal development and modeling various neuropathological conditions (Knöpfel et al. 1989). In 1992, Reynolds and Weiss reported the 3D culturing of NSCs from murine sources and differentiated them into neurons and astrocytes, using a cocktail of specific growth factors (Reynolds and Weiss 1992). During the twenty-first century, various protocols were explored extensively for the isolation of embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and the generation of human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) (Khan et al. 2018; Castro-Viñuelas et al. 2020). The directed and unguided differentiation protocol gave rise to new model systems, known as organoids, providing more insights into the CNS system in vitro and allowing us to understand the brain from an evolutionary perspective (Chiaradia and Lancaster 2020). Several reports have suggested modeling neurological disorders using organoid-based culture techniques. With the increasing requirement to understand the complexity and cross talk between various organ systems, the organ-on-chip technique was developed, which involves coculturing cells from different origins, creating a more complex model system, and mimicking more tissue-like natural conditions. In this line, brain-on-chip technology, along with blood-brain barrier (BBB) was developed, which mimic in vivo brain-like conditions (Bang et al. 2019; Maoz 2021). This model could enable us to understand the developmental process and eventually BBB modeling.

Neural Stem Cell Culture – Its Applications and Limitations

In 1989, Sally Temple suggested a protocol to culture NSCs from the septal tissue of E13.5–E14.5 rat brain (Temple 1989). Later, Reynolds and Weiss cultured NSCs from an adult rodent brain in a serum-free medium (Reynolds and Weiss 1992). The report suggested that the presence of epidermal growth factor (EGF) without any adhesive factor is required for maintaining NSC proliferation. Upon providing the attachment factor, i.e., poly-L-ornithine, the cells would stop proliferating and start to differentiate even in the presence of EGF. The differentiation would not give rise to multineuronal types, which would require a combination of different growth factors (Reynolds and Weiss 1992). Later on, it was found that as compared to brain-derived NSCs, spinal-cord-derived NSCs showed better growth kinetics in the presence of EGF and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Kornblum 2007). Irvin et al. suggested that the use of EGF alone resulted in the higher commitment of the cells toward glial cell lineage, whereas the use of bFGF preferentially promoted neurogenesis (Irvin et al. 2003).

The culture substrate is one of the most critical determinants of cellular differentiation, and it also defines the fate of the cell's lineage. The extracellular matrix (ECM) consists of a complex mix of bioactive molecules and substrate factors required by the cells for attachment. An optimum combination of these components is necessary for the generation of desirable and reproducible in-vivo-like conditions. Hydrogel scaffolds, such as Matrigel and/or brain-tissue-derived ECM hydrogel, are widely used for conditions conducive for differentiation, besides 3D culturing techniques. These hydrogels facilitate the slow and controlled release of growth factors, which helps in the regulated growth and development of cells. Neurosphere culturing methods in two-dimensional (2D) culture conditions has provided greater insight into the dynamics and functioning of neural cells. However, 2D culturing approaches has limitation in mimicking the 3D complexity, as observed in neural tissue. The 3D culture system overcomes the limitations of 2D culture, providing complex organ-like features and allowing better cell-cell interaction (Kapałczyńska et al. 2018).

Lancaster and Knoblich introduced the concept of a whole-brain organoid, representing different brain regions with the same 3D tissue (Lancaster and Knoblich 2014). With the introduction of the organoid technique, several groups have developed various disease models (Dutta et al. 2017; Kim et al. 2020). The use of organoids has facilitated in understanding multiple evolutionary aspects of the human brain as well as other mammalian species. Mattei and colleagues have demonstrated the effect of microgravity on neurogenesis using cerebral organoids placed in the rotatory cell culture system, suggesting that microgravitational changes influence the change in expression in rostral-caudal patterning genes and cortical markers (Mattei et al. 2018) (Table 1). Exogenous sources of neural cells involve the use of the following (Table 2):

- 1) Fetal and adult rodent NSCs
- 2) Fluorescence-assisted sorted enriched cells from rodent NSCs
- 3) Fetal or adult human NSCs based on the availability of abortus or biopsied brain tissue
- 4) ESC-derived NSCs

To mimic the complexity and variability of the naive brain tissue, various culture techniques have been introduced to replicate better in vivo development and cytoarchitecture.

The iPSC technology, pioneered by Takahashi and Yamanaka (2006), allows generating specific cell types from reprogrammed pluripotent stem cells. The approach involves the reprogramming of somatic cells to pluripotency by the transduction of a quartet of transcription factors, i.e., Oct3/4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4 (Ibrahim et al. 2016). They are considered surrogate ESCs, without any moral or ethical issues relevant to their generation and use. They provide a renewable source of cells and, hence, have drawn the interest of researchers worldwide for theranostic applications. They are also being used to generate models that can closely mimic the human brain and as a means to "replace, reduce and refine" the use of animal models.

The researchers are showing immense interest in the use of NSCs for therapeutic applications and disease modeling in neurosciences. NSC transplantation has been performed for traumatic brain injury, neurodegenerative diseases, and also a few neurological disorders (Yamasaki et al. 2007; Ziaee et al. 2017; Hosseini et al. 2018a; Hosseini et al. 2018b; De Los Angeles 2019). Initially, the isolation of Naive NSCs from CNS sources was practiced to culture and transplant them for therapeutic purposes; however, the proliferative potential of NSCs was compromised during transplantation due to a pathological and cytokine-rich microenvironment in the diseased tissue, further aggravated by infiltrating inflammatory cells. The genetic manipulation of NSCs using

Year	Reports	Authors
1907	Fist CNS (medullary tube) culture from frog embryo	Harrison (1907, 1910)
1924	Chick-embryo-explant-based CNS model	Hoadley (1924)
1936	Maintenance of chick embryo head	Waddington and Cohen (1936)
1946	Long-term CNS culture using rolling tubes	Hogue (1946)
1951	Culture-maintained fragments of cerebral and cerebellar cortex	Costero and Pomerat (1951)
1961	Development of modern cell aggregate culture technique	Bousquet and Meunier (Pacitti et al. 2019)
1966	Embryonic rat spinal cord and ganglia explants cultured on collagen glass	Crain and Peterson (1967)
1973–1997	Organotypic cultures from various cerebral regions	LaVail and Wolf (1973), Whetsell et al. (1981), Knöpfel et al. (1989), Østergaard et al. (1995), and Robertson et al. (1997)
1964	First immortalized neuronal line from children with neuroblastoma cancer	Goldstein et al. (1964)
1973	SK-N-SH and SH-SYSY neuroblastoma lines from metastatic bone tumor	Biedler et al. (1973)
1976	PC12: rat-derived adrenal pheochromocytoma line	Greene and Tischler (1976)
1984	Neuroblastoma cells exposed to retinoic acid display neuroblast-like phenotype	Påhlman et al. (1984)
1986	Primary microglia lines from neonatal rat cerebral tissue	Giulian and Baker (1986)
1988	Primary hippocampal neurons from fetal rats	Dotti (Dotti et al. 1988)
1989	First neural stem cells isolated from rat forebrains	Temple (1989)
1990	Primary forebrain neurons from adult canaries	Goldman (1990)
1992	NSCs from adult murine striata and differentiation into neurons and astrocytes	Reynolds and Weiss (1992)
1993	NT2: human neuronally committed teratoma-derived line	Pleasure et al. (1992)
1995	Cortical, hippocampal, cerebellar, and midbrain neurons from rat embryos	Brewer (1995)
1999	Midbrain neurons from rat embryos	Lingor (Lingor et al. 1999)
	First human multipotent NSCs derived from a 10.5-week embryonic diencephalon	Vescovi et al. (1999)

Table 1 Table showing the development of culture strategies of neural cell culture (Pacitti et al.2019)

(continued)

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Year	Reports	Authors
2005	Secondary immortalized mouse neuroblastoma Neuro-2a line	LePage et al. (2005)
2010–2012	Fibroblast conversion to multipotent neural cells by the expression of ASCL1, RN2A, and MYT1L and by SOX2	Vierbuchen et al. (2010) and Ring et al. (2012)
1998	Embryonic stem cells (ESCs)	Thomson (1998)
2001	Neuronal cell lineages differentiated using PSC technology	Reubinoff et al. (2001) and Zhang et al. (2001)
2003	Serum- and growth-factor-free methodologies to differentiate ESCs into neural precursors	Ying et al. (2003)
2005	Forebrain precursors generated from serum-free embryoid bodies on poly- D-lysine/laminin/fibronectin-coated dishes	Watanabe et al. (2005)
2007	Induced pluripotent stem cells (IPSCs)	Takahashi et al. (2006)
2009	Dual SMAD inhibition by noggin and SB431542	Chambers et al. (2009)
2011	Retinoic-acid-induced human pluripotent embryonic carcinoma stem cell neurons	Coyle (Coyle et al. 2011)
2012	Dual SMAD inhibition + Wnt signaling activation by GSK3	Kirkeby et al. (2012)
2013	Mature neurons generated by forced expression of Neurogenin-2 (or NeuroD1)	Zhang et al. (2013)
2008	Hypothalamus organoids by Nodal/ Activin/TGF-β and BMP-mediated inhibition	Wataya et al. (2008)
2011	First self-patterned CNS organoid generates neuroepithelial cysts and optic cup organoids by nodal treatment and Matrigel basement membrane culture	Eiraku et al. (2011)
	Adenohypophysis organoids using hedgehog agonists	Suga et al. (2011)
2013	Extrinsic-patterning neocortical forebrain organoids by serum-free embryoid bodies treated with Wnt and TGF-β inhibitors on Matrigel	Kadoshima et al. (2013)
	Whole-brain/cerebral organoids displaying different brain regions generated from serum-free embryoid bodies cultured in low bFGF-2 concentration and ROCK inhibitors	Lancaster and Knoblich (2014)

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Table I (continueu)	Table 1	(continued)
---------------------	---------	-------------

Year	Reports	Authors
2015	Retinoic acid stimulates neurogenesis by inhibiting Notch and Geminin and promoting proneural and neurogenesis genes	Janesick et al. (2015)
	Self-organized aggregates as an alternative 3D culture approach, encompassing neural spheroids	Dingle et al. (2015)
	Cerebellum organoids by Nodal/ Activin/TGF-β inhibition and addition of GF2 and FGF19	Muguruma et al. (2015)
	Hippocampal-choroid plexus organoids by treatment with BMP and Wnt	Sakaguchi et al. (2015)
	Cerebral organoids display gene expression signatures of fetal developing neocortex	Camp et al. (2015)
2016	Modification of self-aggregating cultures into organ-like structures	Kelava and Lancaster (2016)
	Midbrain organoids by SMAD inhibition and Wnt activation	Jo et al. (2016)
2017	Long-term cerebral organoids display astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, mature glial cells, and gene expression profiles comparable to postnatal brains	Renner et al. (2017), Sloan et al. (2017), and Matsui et al. (2018)
2018	Neanderthal cerebral organoids generated by introducing the Neanderthal gene NOVA1 in human iPSCs	Cohen (2018)
	Organoids cultured in a rotatory system to observe microgravitational effects	Mattei et al. (2018)
	Generation of vascularized organoids to mimic BBB	Mansour et al. (2018), Nzou et al. (2018), and Pham et al. (2018)
	Organoids-on-chip	Tachibana and Miller (2018)

Abbreviations: *BBB* blood-brain barrier, *bFGF* basic fibroblast growth factor, *CNS* central nervous system, *ESCs* embryonic stem cells, *iPSCs* induced pluripotent cells, *NSCs* neuronal stem cells, *TGF-beta* transforming growth factor-beta

beneficial genes or combined transplantation with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) or their preconditioning with chemicals (Hosseini et al. 2018a, b) could provide a strategy for a successful therapeutic application by enhancing survival posttransplantation.

Even though much progress has been made to understand the basic biology and possible therapeutic applications of NSCs, still cell replacement technologies have certain limitations, such as the following:

• Scalability: handling and maintenance of a high volume of high-quality control cultures.

Origin	Concept	Advantages	Disadvantages
Embryo, usually left over from in vitro fertilization (IVF)	Derived from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst	Strong capacity to self- renew and is easily expandable, can be easily maintained in vitro or transformed into cell lines, can be used for the derivation of multiple cell types	Continued proliferative activity after transplantation, high risk of tumor formation, ethically controversial
Fetal, aborted between gestational weeks 6–20	Isolated from almost any part of the fetal human CNS	Committed toward neural phenotype, can be expanded and passaged numerous times without losing self-renewing and neurogenic capacity	Limited availability, ethically controversial
Adult brain	Isolated from neurogenic niche of adult brain or stimulated after injury to migrate and promote regeneration	Committed toward neural phenotype	Low viability in vitro after isolation, difficult to expand and maintain
Induced pluripotent stem cells	Reprogramming of somatic cells to pluripotent stem cells	Readily available sources, powerful capacity for proliferation, and differentiation in vitro; ethically uncontroversial	Continued proliferative activity after transplantation, high risk of tumor formation

 Table 2
 Sources to isolate and culture neural stem cells

- Reproducibility: structural complexity, and reproducing the architectures is still not possible.
- Vascularization: with limitations in vasculature formation in vitro, nutrition and growth factor supply for the cells in the inner core is limited.
- Blood-brain barrier: limiting the effective interaction of immune cells with the brain cell.

Influence of the Microenvironment and Niche on Embryonic NSCs – Intrinsic Regulation

In mammals, NSCs appear early in development and remain active in the CNS of the organism for a lifetime. During this process, NSCs retain their core stem cell features without undergoing differentiation supported by signaling molecules secreted from the niche milieu.

During early neural development, NSCs are termed neuroepithelial cells, and they are exposed to various signaling cues, including retinoic acid, sonic hedgehog, and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs). During neurogenesis, NSCs are transformed into

radial glial cells (RGCs). The complexity of their microenvironment increases further due to the emergence of various types of neuronal progenitors, differentiated cells, and extracellular signaling molecules. During adulthood, NSCs differentiate to achieve astroglial morphology and reside in specific microenvironments, which together constitute the neurogenic niche.

Both extrinsic and intrinsic mechanisms control the nature of NSCs/precursor cells. Studies have suggested that E10 cortical progenitors cultured clonally could generate neurons (neurogenesis) first and then glia (gliogenesis), the two important components of early neuroepithelium, a sequence that is exactly followed in vivo during CNS development (Qian et al. 2000). Another study has demonstrated that this intrinsic timer extends to the sequential development of different cortical neuron subtypes (Shen et al. 2006). Researchers have also demonstrated that progenitors maintain their intrinsic potential when grafted ectopically (Darsalia et al. 2007; Olsson et al. 1998).

Many transcription factors play a critical role in NSC/progenitor cell proliferation and/or differentiation, which include proneural genes, such as (a) basic-helix-loophelix (bHLH) (Bertrand et al. 2002), (b) SRY-related HMG box (SOX) family (Episkopou 2005), (c) nuclear receptor estrogen receptor (Brännvall et al. 2002), (d) peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (Wada et al. 2006), and (e) N-CoR, a nuclear receptor corepressor (Hermanson et al. 2002). Loss or gain of function of many of these transcription factors has been shown to alter progenitor specification, cell cycle, and cell fate, irrespective of the environment (Bertrand et al. 2002; Campbell 2003; Guillemot 2005). Epigenetic modifications/regulations, such as methylation, acetylation, and phosphorylation are implicated in controlling NSCs' intrinsic properties. Histone acetylation of neuronal gene promoters is modulated by histone acetyltransferases (HATs), and deacetylases (HDACs) are essential for the repression of these genes in undifferentiated neuronal progenitors (Ballas and Mandel 2005).

Signaling Molecules That Affect NSC Differentiation

The niche/microenvironment (extrinsic factors) regulates the behavior of neuronal progenitors through diffusible signals and/or molecules mediating through cell-to-cell and cell-to-ECM interactions. The signaling molecules, by their nature, circulate within the developing CNS tissue and can signal areas distant from their sources for a region-specific behavior. Among several molecules, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) and transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) play critical roles in regulating the proliferation and differentiation of NSCs (Bertrand and Dahmane 2006; Campbell 2003).

Studies suggested that the overexpression of BMP 2 and 4 decreased neural stem cell proliferation and premature neuronal differentiation (Li et al. 1998), and the addition of noggin (BMP signaling inhibitor) inhibited the effect (Li and LoTurco 2000). The in vivo overexpression of BMP type I receptor promoted cell differentiation at the expense of cell proliferation (Li et al. 1998). Several fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) in general, and FGF8 and FGF3 in particular, are reported to be expressed in the anterior neural ridge, the midbrain-hindbrain barrier, and rhombomere 4 of the hindbrain early in development (Mason 2007). Studies have suggested the role of FGF

activity in controlling the patterning of the nervous system and aiding in the survival of cells in the forebrain and hindbrain region (Storm et al. 2003; Chi et al. 2003). Several diffusible molecules are essential in the regulation of neural precursor behavior. The following are examples:

- a) Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signaling is mediated by its receptor patched (PTC1), a transmembrane protein (Dessaud et al. 2007), which in the absence of Shh constitutively represses the G-protein-coupled receptor smoothened (Smo). After binding with Shh, PTC1 relieves its inhibition on Smo and activates downstream signaling pathways, which result in the modulation of transcriptional activators Gli1–3 and the Gli repressor involved in regulating progenitor proliferation (Chiang et al. 1996; Muenke and Cohen 2000; Palma and Ruiz i Altaba 2004).
- b) Retinoic acid (RA) is a diffusible molecule that is produced intracellularly by retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (RALDH1–3). RA is sequestered in the cytoplasm by cellular-RA-binding proteins (CRABP1–2) and acts in the nucleus after binding to RA receptors (RAR1–3) and retinoic X receptors (RXR1–3) (Maden 2002). RA is important in the very early neuronal microenvironment and participates in the regulation of the anterior-posterior axis (Maden 2002). In later stages, RA signaling is important for the dorsoventral patterning of the spinal cord (Pierani et al. 1999) and hindbrain (Marshall et al. 1992; Takahashi and Liu 2006).
- c) The Wnt signaling pathway has also been shown to regulate cell behavior in the developing brain. Studies suggested that β -catenin signaling is necessary to maintain the ventricular zone (VZ) progenitor population and is downregulated when VZ progenitors are transitioning toward an intermediate progenitor (SVZ) fate. The sustained β -catenin activity resulted in the expansion of the VZ progenitor pool and inhibited the production of intermediate progenitors (Wrobel et al. 2007).
- d) The Notch signaling pathway has a critical role in CNS development (Hitoshi et al. 2002; Yoon and Gaiano 2005). A strong expression of Notch-1 and Delta-1 and a weak expression of Notch-3 have been reported in the human VZ (Kostyszyn et al. 2004). Notch signaling also plays an essential role in cell fate determination since the activation of either Notch-1 or Notch-3 results in increased numbers of radial glia (Dang et al. 2006; Gaiano et al. 2000).
- e) Cadherin-dependent adherens junctions (AJs) is another form of cell-to-cell interaction in the VZ, which might be mediated by cadherin signaling in the SVZ (Lathia et al. 2007a). The cell layer adjacent to the ventricle is characterized by strong cadherin expression in the apicolateral part of the cell membrane (Aaku-Saraste et al. 1996).

Extracellular Matrix (ECM) Role in Regulating Neural Stem Cell Characteristics

In addition to diffusible signaling molecules, ECM is another integral component of the VZ/SVZ microenvironment, which plays an essential role in regulating NSC/precursor behavior. The cell bodies and the short apical processes of NSCs/

progenitors are positioned in an area devoid of a classic basement membrane but still rich in matrix molecules, such as laminin chains (Campos et al. 2004; Hunter et al. 1992; Lathia et al. 2007a), the laminin receptor betal integrin (Campos et al. 2004) (Graus-Porta et al. 2001; Hall et al. 2006; Nagato et al. 2005), the glycoprotein tenascin-C (Garcion et al. 2004), and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) (Von Holst et al. 2006). In addition, many of the bipolar (neuroepithelial or radial glial) cells of the VZ extend a basal process that makes contact with the ECM-rich basement membrane of the pia. Alterations in this basal microenvironment have been correlated in humans with cortical malformations caused by migration defects (Bonneau et al. 2002) (Toda et al. 1994; Yoshida et al. 2001). The enzymatic degradation of CSPG glycosaminoglycans using chondroitinase ABC resulted in altered proliferation and neuronal differentiation, suggesting an essential role of ECM molecules in the regulation of NSC/precursor behavior (Sirko et al. 2007).

Cell-cell and cell-ECM signaling also regulate NSC and progenitor characteristics within adult niches. mRNA analysis revealed that members of the Notch signaling pathway (Notch and Jagged) are present in both the SEZ and SGZ (Stump et al. 2002). Ephrins and their receptors are present in adult neurogenic niches and regulate NSC proliferation (Conover et al. 2000; Holmberg et al. 2005). Intercellular interactions within the neuronal niches are thought to be mediated by cadherin-dependent adherens junctions or gap junctions formed by connexins. However, evidence for these interactions in other adult stem cell niches and the embryonic NSC microenvironment (Lathia et al. 2007b) and their functional relevance in adult NSC niches is to be established. The role of ECM molecules that are expressed in adult neurogenic niches is under further exploration. Tenascin-C, expressed in the SEZ, a glycoprotein that regulates growth factor activity during brain development (Garcion et al. 2004), was shown to be critical for the neurogenic process (de Chevigny et al. 2006; Kazanis et al. 2007). Kerever et al. (2007) reported that laminin-rich fractions could capture FGF2 and regulate growth factor concentrations and their activity across the SEZ (Bandtlow and Zimmermann 2000). The expression analysis of chondroitin sulfate, glycosaminoglycans (Sirko et al. 2007), and multiple chondroitin/dermatan sulfotransferases (Akita et al. 2008) also emphasized the role of ECM in NSC/progenitor characteristics.

Anomalies in Neurogenesis and Brain Pathologies

Developmental malformations, such as small (microcephaly) or large (hemimegalencephaly) brains, or focal abnormalities (focal cortical dysplasia) have been mainly attributed to the dysregulated production of neurons and/or glial cells during embryonic development, leading to conditions like mental retardation and epilepsy (Pang et al. 2008). The causative genes that have been correlated with the above-said pathologies are associated with intrinsic cell-cycle regulation rather than the extracellular microenvironment (Bond and Woods 2006). The published data strongly suggest that mutations in the four genes have been identified for autosomal recessive primary microcephaly, a

neurodevelopmental disorder that is characterized by the congenital occurrence of a small brain with normal cytoarchitecture, without progressive cognitive decline, and with seizures (Woods et al. 2005):

- i) Microcephalin, a protein that plays a role in controlling cell-cycle timing
- ii) Abnormal spindle-like, microcephaly associated (ASPM) gene, a protein that is important for the formation of the central mitotic spindle
- iii) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 regulatory associated protein 2 (CDK5RAP2), which interacts with gamma-tubulin ring complexes during spindle formation
- iv) Centromere-associated protein J (CENPJ), which is important in microtubule nucleation and polymerization

Filamin A (FLNA) is reported to be associated with the ectopic occurrence of neuroglial clusters at the ventricular surface (periventricular heterotopia) and to cause newborn cells to migrate away from the ventricles (Lu et al. 2006). FLNA is highly expressed in the neuroepithelium adjacent to the ventricles and contributes to the structural integrity of the neuroepithelial layer. Genes that encode components of the microenvironment surrounding neuronal progenitors have been correlated with the loss of the gyri and sulci of the brain, which is termed lissencephaly (Pang et al. 2008). The absence of reelin (Bonneau et al. 2002), a signaling glycoprotein secreted by early-born neurons at the surface of the cortex, has been associated with this type of lissencephaly, although most human cases have been correlated with gene encoding for proteins regulating microtubule assembly, such as lissencephaly 1 (LIS1) (Reiner et al. 1993), Doublecortin (Dcx) (Gleeson et al. 1998; Pilz et al. 1998), and tubulin alpha 1A (TUBA1A) (Keays et al. 2007). Studies have also suggested that the depletion of presenilin 1 (Hartmann et al. 1998), alpha6 integrin, and integrin-linked kinase (Georges-Labouesse et al. 1998; Niewmierzycka et al. 2005) result in lissencephaly.

In another study, the pathology corresponding to cobblestone lissencephaly has been associated with the following four genes:

- (i) Protein-O-mannosyltransferase 1 (POMT1)
- (ii) Protein-O-mannosyltransferase 2 (POMT 2)
- (iii) Protein-O-mannose 1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyl-transferase (POMGnT1) (Yoshida et al. 2001)
- (iv) Fukutin (Toda et al. 1994)

All of these four genes are involved in the glycosylation of α -dystroglycan, a receptor for multiple ECM molecules. Mutations in the abovementioned genes result in alteration in the integrity of the basal lamina barrier at the pial surface, leading to the migration of cells (Guerrini and Marini 2006; Pang et al. 2008) (Table 3).

Neurogenesis during adulthood results in a limited generation of newly developed and functionally integrated cells and maintains tissue homeostasis in specific systems (Ming and Song 2011). However, there is mounting evidence suggesting that signals from neurogenic niches are responsive to local signals generated from proximal tissue damage to remote areas because of changes in the external macroenvironment of the tissue (Pino et al. 2017). Studies suggest that enhanced proliferation in the SEZ has also been reported in patients suffering from epileptic seizures (Grote and Hannan 2007) and multiple sclerosis (Nait-Oumesmar et al. 2007). They suggest that neurogenesis is significantly reduced in mood disorders, such as depression and stress (Grote and Hannan 2007). A study report demonstrated that ischemia results in the expansion of the SEZ, characterized by tenascin-C and with concomitant induction of hypoxic conditions and a transient decrease in vascular density (Thored et al. 2007). It is also reported that the altered expression of growth factors, morphogens, and ECM molecules occurs following a stroke episode (Liu et al. 2007). Moreover, the inflammatory signals in the SEZ are essential for regulating neurogenesis (Phillips et al. 2005). A recent study has reported that peripherally induced inflammation promoted the transient activation of primed NSCs, in which TNF-a has a significant role, acting via TNF receptors (TNFR) 1 and 2 (Belenguer et al. 2021). It has also been proposed to promote remyelination following demyelination, which could be a cause for repair in the mammalian CNS (Zawadzka and Franklin 2007) (Figure 1).

Advances in Neural Stem Cell Transplantation and Therapy (Fig. 1 and Table 3)



Fig. 1 Summary of the signaling pathways in the neural stem cell microenvironment (Kazanis et al. 2008)

Target disease or disorder	Major findings
Alzheimer's disease	
Proliferation of neural progenitors	Due to the presence of β -amyloid plaques and the formation and proliferation potential of neurospheres in AD models, when compared to normal animals, in addition to lower cell index, stabilization, and expansion of neurospheres
Brain injury	
Transplanting neural progenitors	NSCs and NPCs from 10-week-old human forebrain showed great transplantable therapeutic application in case of traumatic brain injury as these cells survived in Sprague-Dawley rats, also demonstrating migration and proliferation in various regions of the brain, viz., hippocampus, corpus callosum, ipsilateral subependymal zone, and contralateral cortex
Degenerative diseases	
Tissue regeneration	Stem cells and progenitor cells from rodent olfactory bulbs can engraft in various neuronal organs, migrate, proliferate, and differentiate, becoming specific cell types for the tissue regeneration of damaged tissues
Demyelinating diseases	
Demyelinating spinal cord	NPCs from the adult human brain can generate functional cells and promote the remyelination of axons in a demyelinated rat spinal cord
Monitoring of glial progenitor cells	Magnetically labeled glial progenitor cells from a Lewis rat can be monitored for its migration and distribution into brain parenchyma using MRI
Cell proliferation and survival	Transplanted neurospheres are able to survive in the ventricles of mice and migrate and respond to inflammations caused. Due to this ability of neurospheres, they have clinical potential for transplants and therapies for demyelinating diseases
β4-tubulin	β 4-tubulins are neural precursors that are sources for the last stage of myelination and for neural repair. In mice, upon transplantation, it shows activation, proliferation, and differentiation of β 4-tubulin in the case of deficiency and dysfunction of oligodendrocytes
Differentiation of adipose- derived stem cells	Schwann cells differentiated using adipose-derived stem cells show similar morphology, phenotype, and functional capabilities and can be used for the treatment of neurological disease
Diabetes	
Cognition and memory	Hyperglycemic environment increases proliferation but decreases the survival of adult neural progenitors in SVZ and DG
Epilepsy	
TLE model and inflammation	Improvements in TLE rat models have been observed after transplantation of human NSPCs, including reduced frequency and/or duration of seizures

Table 3 Update on the recent advancements in research on neural stem cells and disorders (da Silva Siqueira et al. 2021)

(continued)

Table 3 (continued)

Target disease or disorder	Major findings
Medial ganglionic eminence progenitors	Neurospheres cultured using cells obtained from MGE, upon differentiation, become inhibitory neurons. In vitro, they differentiate into inhibitory neurons and glial cells; in vivo, they reduce the frequency and duration of epileptic seizures
Oxidative damage	Neurospheres from Wistar rats showed a neuroprotective potential against seizures in animal models of epilepsy
Glioma	1
Inhibition of glioma cell proliferation	Studies have suggested that NSPCs isolated from E14 mouse embryos secrete factors that inhibit the proliferation of glioma cells
Gliomagenesis and NSPCs and SVZ	The isolation of cells and neurospheres from SVZ isolated from rats showed altered phenotypic characteristics after 10–15 doublings, and they became immortalized. These can be considered a precursor for glioma and can be used as a model for generic and epigenetic investigations resulting in complete malignancy
Huntington's disease	
Human neural stem cell transplantation	Engraftment of neurospeheres derived from Human fetal tissue improved the differentiation of neurons and astrocytes and also protected the neuronal cell loss, in an HD model of rodent
Ischemia	
Neurogenesis	Neurospheres from the amniotic fluid source showed common features such as those of other NSC sources and have shown proliferation and differentiation capacity into astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and dopaminergic neurons in vitro. They also showed therapeutic effects in ischemic rats, making a new source for human NSCs and for the translational studies of neurological disorders
Proliferation of postischemic NSCs	Adult Wistar rat induced with ischemia exhibits a higher neurogenic rat than do nonischemic rats, suggesting that the stroke increases NPC proliferation
Neurodegenerative disorders	
Transplanting neural progenitors	HNPCs can be maintained and expanded in culture and can be differentiated in order to transplant them. These cells show high survival, migration, and transplantation rates in rats with striated lesions
Parkinson's disease	
Human neural progenitor cell transplantation	HNPCs have shown promising results in case of treatment of Parkinson's disease when these cells were transplanted in adult Lewis rats with a partial lesion of Parkinson's disease
GABA receptors	$GABA_B$ receptor activation decreases and $GABA_A$ receptor activation increases the number of dopaminergic neurons generated from neurospheres. The use of $GABA_A$ receptor antagonists helps obtain a greater number of neurons for potential use in cell therapy for PD

(continued)

Target disease or disorder	Major findings
Dopaminergic neurons	Use of dopaminergic neurons from any stem cell source has great potential for clinical application for PD as they show high survival and migration rates and significant functional benefits, resulting in synaptic improvement Multipotent NSCs have, upon transplantation, also showed the ability to migrate and differentiate in TH-positive neural cells without any use of immunosuppressant.
Pediatric brain tumors	
Multipotent tumor cells	Progenitor cells derived from pediatric brain tumors show similar characteristics of the NSCs isolated from CNS, with migration and proliferative ability when transplanted into the brain of neonatal rats. These results suggest that PBTs have self-renewable cells, with altered characteristics giving rise to tumorigenesis
Spinal cord injury	
Transplanting neural progenitors	Spinal cord NSPCs have shown the ability to survive and differentiate into astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and a small number of neurons, upon transplantation to Sprague-Dawley rats with acute spinal cord injury model
Axonal regeneration	Biodegradable polymers seeded together with NSCs and Schwann cells facilitate regeneration across the transected spinal cord
Striatal injuries	
Intracerebral graft	NSPCs represent a long-term expandable source of cells for potential use in intracerebral grafts
Stroke	
Atorvastatin	Therapy with atorvastatin in Wistar rats poststroke increases the proliferation of NPCs
P53 PFT-α inhibitor	Treatment with p53 PFT- α inhibitor modifies brain injury and induces neurogenesis, improving the proliferation and survival of NPCs in SVZ in animals after stroke
Poststroke recovery, inflammation, and vascular repair	HCNS-SCns, upon transplantation, suppress inflammation after stroke, increase vessel formation, and improve the integrity of the blood-brain barrier, positively interfering with vascular repair after inflammation
Erythropoietin	Treatment of Wistar rats poststroke with erythropoietin significantly improves functional recovery, angiogenesis, and neurogenesis in animals, helping increase neurological functions

Table 3 (continued)

Abbreviations: *CNS* central nervous system, *hNPCs* human neural progenitor cells, *NPT* neuronal progenitor cells, *NSCs* neuronal stem cells, *PD* Parkinson's disease, *SVZ* subventricular zone, *TLE* temporal lobe epilepsy

Conclusions

Although it is easy to identify altered neurogenesis and/or migration as the leading cause of developmental brain malformations (Guarnieri et al. 2018), it is very complicated and technically challenging to directly address whether defects in adult neurogenesis can also cause pathologies. This is because samples from patients are mostly obtained only after a disease has been diagnosed, thus making it difficult to distinguish the cause from effect. Experiments where neurogenesis is genetically disturbed, specifically in the postnatal brain, are lacking; only exogenously induced perturbations (i.e., irradiation, growth factor injections) have been studied, and these studies, too, are only limited to their short-term effects. Despite significant progress, technologies to position NSCs for more comprehensive clinical applications are still not mature and established for routine use as a therapeutic option. The keystone in cell-based regenerative medicine is to identify the specific factors that could help in the promotion of cell adhesion, growth, and differentiation into distinct and desired lineages.

References

- Aaku-Saraste E, Hellwig A, Huttner WB (1996) Loss of occludin and functional tight junctions, but not ZO-1, during neural tube closure remodeling of the neuroepithelium prior to neurogenesis. Dev Biol 180:664–679. https://doi.org/10.1006/DBIO.1996.0336
- Akita K, von Holst A, Furukawa Y et al (2008) Expression of multiple chondroitin/dermatan sulfotransferases in the neurogenic regions of the embryonic and adult central nervous system implies that complex chondroitin sulfates have a role in neural stem cell maintenance. Stem Cells 26:798–809. https://doi.org/10.1634/STEMCELLS.2007-0448
- Altman J (1962) Are new neurons formed in the brains of adult mammals? Science 135:1127–1128. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.135.3509.1127
- Artegiani B, Clevers H (2018) Use and application of 3D-organoid technology. Human Mol Genet 27(R2):R99–R107. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddy187
- Ballas N, Mandel G (2005) The many faces of REST oversee epigenetic programming of neuronal genes. Curr Opin Neurobiol 15:500–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CONB.2005.08.015
- Bandtlow CE, Zimmermann DR (2000) Proteoglycans in the developing brain: new conceptual insights for old proteins. Physiol Rev 80:1267–1290. https://doi.org/10.1152/PHYSREV.2000.80.4.1267
- Bang S, Jeong S, Choi N, Kim HN (2019) Brain-on-a-chip: A history of development and future perspective. Biomicrofluidics 13(5):051301. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5120555. PMID: 31616534; PMCID: PMC6783295
- Belenguer G, Duart-Abadia P, Jordán-Pla A, Domingo-Muelas A, Blasco-Chamarro L, Ferrón SR, Morante-Redolat JM et al (2021) Adult neural stem cells are alerted by systemic inflammation through TNF-α receptor signaling. Cell Stem Cell 28(2):285–299.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2020.10.016
- Bertrand N, Dahmane N (2006) Sonic hedgehog signaling in forebrain development and its interactions with pathways that modify its effects. Trends Cell Biol 16:597–605. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.TCB.2006.09.007
- Bertrand N, Castro DS, Guillemot F (2002) Proneural genes and the specification of neural cell types. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:517–530. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRN874

- Biedler JL, Lawrence H, Spengler BA (1973) Morphology and growth, tumorigenicity, and cytogenetics of human neuroblastoma cells in continuous culture | Mendeley. AACR Cancer Res. https://www.mendeley.com/search/?page=1&query=Morphology and growth%2C tumor igenicity%2C and cytogenetics of human neuroblastoma cells in continuous culture & sortBy=relevance. Accessed 13 July 2021
- Bond J, Woods CG (2006) Cytoskeletal genes regulating brain size. Curr Opin Cell Biol 18:95–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEB.2005.11.004
- Bonneau D, Toutain A, Laquerrière A et al (2002) X-linked lissencephaly with absent corpus callosum and ambiguous genitalia (XLAG): clinical, magnetic resonance imaging, and neuro-pathological findings. Ann Neurol 51:340–349. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.10119
- Brännvall K, Korhonen L, Lindholm D (2002) Estrogen-receptor-dependent regulation of neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Mol Cell Neurosci 21:512–520. https://doi.org/10. 1006/MCNE.2002.1194
- Brewer GJ (1995) Serum-free B27/neurobasal medium supports differentiated growth of neurons from the striatum, substantia nigra, septum, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and dentate gyrus. J Neurosci Res 42:674–683. https://doi.org/10.1002/JNR.490420510
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH (2018) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. de Gruyter, Berlin
- Camp JG, Badsha F, Florio M et al (2015) Human cerebral organoids recapitulate gene expression programs of fetal neocortex development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:15672–15677. https:// doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1520760112
- Campbell K (2003) Dorsal-ventral patterning in the mammalian telencephalon. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13:50–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(03)00009-6
- Campos LS, Leone DP, Relvas JB et al (2004) Beta1 integrins activate a MAPK signalling pathway in neural stem cells that contributes to their maintenance. Development 131:3433–3444. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01199
- Castro-Viñuelas R, Sanjurjo-Rodríguez C, Piñeiro-Ramil M, Hermida-Gomez T, Rodriguez-Fernandez S, Oreiro N, de Toro J et al (2020) Generation and characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from hand osteoarthritis patient-derived fibroblasts. Sci Rep 10: 4272. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61071-6
- Cetinkaya DU, Haider KH (2021) Induced pluripotent stem cells in pediatric research and clinical translation. In: Stem cells: from hype to hope and more. Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne
- Chambers SM, Fasano CA, Papapetrou EP et al (2009) Highly efficient neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. Nat Biotechnol 27:275–280. https://doi.org/10.1038/NBT.1529
- Chi CL, Martinez S, Wurst W, Martin GR (2003) The isthmic organizer signal FGF8 is required for cell survival in the prospective midbrain and cerebellum. Development 130:2633–2644. https:// doi.org/10.1242/DEV.00487
- Chiang C, Litingtung Y, Lee E et al (1996) Cyclopia and defective axial patterning in mice lacking Sonic hedgehog gene function. Nature 383:407–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/383407A0
- Chiaradia I, Lancaster MA (2020) Brain organoids for the study of human neurobiology at the interface of in vitro and in vivo. Nat Neurosci 23:1496–1508. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00730-3
- Cohen J (2018) Neanderthal brain organoids come to life. Science 360:1284. https://doi.org/10. 1126/SCIENCE.360.6395.1284
- Conover JC, Doetsch F, Garcia-Verdugo JM et al (2000) Disruption of Eph/ephrin signaling affects migration and proliferation in the adult subventricular zone. Nat Neurosci 3:1091–1097. https://doi.org/10.1038/80606
- Costero I, Pomerat CM (1951) Cultivation of neurons from the adult human cerebral and cerebellar cortex. Am J Anat 89:405–467. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJA.1000890304
- Coyle DE, Li J, Baccei M (2011) Regional differentiation of retinoic acid-induced human pluripotent embryonic carcinoma stem cell neurons. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL. PONE.0016174

- Crain SM, Peterson ER (1967) Onset and development of functional interneuronal connections in explants of rat spinal cord-ganglia during maturation in culture. Brain Res 6:750–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(67)90130-8
- Dang L, Yoon K, Wang M, Gaiano N (2006) Notch3 signaling promotes radial glial/progenitor character in the mammalian telencephalon. Dev Neurosci 28:58–69. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000090753
- Darsalia V, Kallur T, Kokaia Z (2007) Survival, migration and neuronal differentiation of human fetal striatal and cortical neural stem cells grafted in stroke-damaged rat striatum. Eur J Neurosci 26:605–614. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.2007.05702.X
- da Silva Siqueira L, Majolo F, da Silva APB et al (2021) Neurospheres: a potential in vitro model for the study of central nervous system disorders. Mol Biol Rep 48:3649–3663. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11033-021-06301-4
- de Chevigny A, Lemasson M, Saghatelyan A et al (2006) Delayed onset of odor detection in neonatal mice lacking tenascin-C. Mol Cell Neurosci 32:174–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. MCN.2006.04.002
- De Los Angeles A (2019) Neural stem cell transplantation into a mouse model of stroke. Methods Mol Biol 2005:153–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-9524-0 10
- Dessaud E, Yang LL, Hill K et al (2007) Interpretation of the sonic hedgehog morphogen gradient by a temporal adaptation mechanism. Nature 450:717–720. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE06347
- Dingle YTL, Boutin ME, Chirila AM et al (2015) Three-dimensional neural spheroid culture: an in vitro model for cortical studies. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 21:1274–1283. https://doi.org/10. 1089/TEN.TEC.2015.0135
- Dotti CG, Sullivan CA, Banker GA (1988) The establishment of polarity by hippocampal neurons in culture. J Neurosci 8:1454–1468. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.08-04-01454.1988
- Dutta D, Heo I, Clevers H (2017) Disease modeling in stem cell-derived 3D organoid systems. Trends Mol Med 23(5):393–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2017.02.007
- Eiraku M, Takata N, Ishibashi H et al (2011) Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in threedimensional culture. Nature 472:51–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE09941
- Episkopou V (2005) SOX2 functions in adult neural stem cells. Trends Neurosci 28:219–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2005.03.003
- Gaiano N, Nye JS, Fishell G (2000) Radial glial identity is promoted by Notch1 signaling in the murine forebrain. Neuron 26:395–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81172-1
- Garcia-Lopez P, Garcia-Marin V, Freire M (2010) The histological slides and drawings of Cajal. Frontiers in Neuroanatomy 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.05.009.2010
- Garcion E, Halilagic A, Faissner A, Ffrench-Constant C (2004) Generation of an environmental niche for neural stem cell development by the extracellular matrix molecular tenascin C. Development 131:3423–3432. https://doi.org/10.1242/DEV.01202
- Georges-Labouesse E, Mark M, Messaddeq N, Gansmüller A (1998) Essential role of alpha 6 integrins in cortical and retinal lamination. Curr Biol 8:983–986. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(98)70402-6
- Giulian D, Baker TJ (1986) Characterization of ameboid microglia isolated from developing mammalian brain. J Neurosci 6:2163–2178. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.06-08-02163.1986
- Gleeson JG, Allen KM, Fox JW et al (1998) Doublecortin, a brain-specific gene mutated in human X-linked lissencephaly and double cortex syndrome, encodes a putative signaling protein. Cell 92:63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80899-5
- Goldman SA (1990) Neuronal development and migration in explant cultures of the adult canary forebrain. J Neurosci 10:2931–2939. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.10-09-02931.1990
- Goldstein MN, Burdman JA, Journey LJ (1964) Long-term tissue culture of neuroblastomas. II. Morphologic evidence for differentiation and maturation. J Natl Cancer Inst 32:165–199
- Graus-Porta D, Blaess S, Senften M et al (2001) Beta1-class integrins regulate the development of laminae and folia in the cerebral and cerebellar cortex. Neuron 31:367–379. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0896-6273(01)00374-9
- Greene LA, Tischler AS (1976) Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 73:2424–2428. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.73.7.2424

- Grote HE, Hannan AJ (2007) Regulators of adult neurogenesis in the healthy and diseased brain. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 34:533–545. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1440-1681.2007. 04610.X
- Guarnieri FC, de Chevigny A, Falace A, Cardoso C (2018) Disorders of neurogenesis and cortical development. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 20(4):255–266. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2018. 20.4/ccardoso
- Guerrini R, Marini C (2006) Genetic malformations of cortical development. Exp Brain Res 173: 322–333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0501-z
- Guillemot F (2005) Cellular and molecular control of neurogenesis in the mammalian telencephalon. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:639–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEB.2005.09.006
- Hall PE, Lathia JD, Miller NGA et al (2006) Integrins are markers of human neural stem cells. Stem Cells 24:2078–2084. https://doi.org/10.1634/STEMCELLS.2005-0595
- Harrison RG (1907) Observations on the living developing nerve fiber. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 4: 140–143. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-4-98
- Harrison RG (1910) The outgrowth of the nerve fiber as a mode of protoplasmic movement. J Exp Zool 9:787–846. https://doi.org/10.1002/JEZ.1400090405
- Hartmann D, Schulze M, Sievers J (1998) Meningeal cells stimulate and direct the migration of cerebellar external granule cells in vitro. J Neurocytol 27:395–409. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1006998609999
- Hermanson O, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG (2002) Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification. Trends Endocrinol Metab 13:55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1043-2760(01)00527-6
- Hitoshi S, Alexson T, Tropepe V et al (2002) Notch pathway molecules are essential for the maintenance, but not the generation, of mammalian neural stem cells. Genes Dev 16: 846–858. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.975202
- Hoadley L (1924) The independent differentiation of isolated chick primordia in chorioallantoic grafts. Biol Bull 46:281–315. https://doi.org/10.2307/1536697
- Hogue MJ (1946) Tissue cultures of the brain. Intercellular granules. J Comp Neurol 85:519–530. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.900850308
- Holmberg J, Armulik A, Senti KA et al (2005) Ephrin-A2 reverse signaling negatively regulates neural progenitor proliferation and neurogenesis. Genes Dev 19:462–471. https://doi.org/10. 1101/GAD.326905
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider KH, Dorvash MR, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018a) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146
- Hosseini SM, Ziaee SM, Haider KH, Karimi A, Tabeshmehr P, Abbasi Z (2018b) Preconditioned neurons with NaB and nicorandil, a favorable source for stroke cell therapy. J Cell Biochem 19(12):10301–10313. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.27372
- Hunter DD, Llinas R, Ard M et al (1992) Expression of S-laminin and laminin in the developing rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol 323:238–251. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.903230208
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng 9(4):226–244
- Irvin DK, Dhaka A, Hicks C et al (2003) Extrinsic and intrinsic factors governing cell fate in cortical progenitor cultures. Dev Neurosci 25:162–172. https://doi.org/10.1159/000072265
- Janesick A, Wu SC, Blumberg B (2015) Retinoic acid signaling and neuronal differentiation. Cell Mol Life Sci 72:1559–1576. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-014-1815-9
- Jo J, Xiao Y, Sun AX et al (2016) Midbrain-like organoids from human pluripotent stem cells contain functional dopaminergic and neuromelanin-producing neurons. Cell Stem Cell 19: 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2016.07.005
- Kadoshima T, Sakaguchi H, Nakano T et al (2013) Self-organization of axial polarity, inside-out layer pattern, and species-specific progenitor dynamics in human ES cell-derived neocortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:20284–20289. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1315710110
- Kapałczyńska M, Kolenda T, Przybyła W, Zajączkowska M, Teresiak A, Filas V et al (2018) 2D and 3D cell cultures a comparison of different types of cancer cell cultures. Arch Med Sci 14(4): 910–919. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2016.63743

- Kaplan MS, Hinds JW (1977) Neurogenesis in the adult rat: electron microscopic analysis of light radioautographs. Science 197:1092–1094. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.887941
- Kazanis I, Belhadi A, Faissner A, Ffrench-Constant C (2007) The adult mouse subependymal zone regenerates efficiently in the absence of tenascin-C. J Neurosci 27:13991–13996. https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3279-07.2007
- Kazanis I, Lathia J, Moss L, ffrench-Constant C (2008) The neural stem cell microenvironment. In: StemBook [Internet]. Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Cambridge, MA
- Keays DA, Tian G, Poirier K et al (2007) Mutations in alpha-tubulin cause abnormal neuronal migration in mice and lissencephaly in humans. Cell 128:45–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.12.017
- Kelava I, Lancaster MA (2016) Stem cell models of human brain development. Cell Stem Cell 18: 736–748. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2016.05.022
- Kerever A, Schnack J, Vellinga D, Ichikawa N, Moon C, Arikawa-Hirasawa E, Efird JT, Mercier F (2007) Novel Extracellular Matrix Structures in the Neural Stem Cell Niche Capture the Neurogenic Factor Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 from the Extracellular Milieu, Stem Cells 25 (9):2146–2157. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0082
- Khan FA, Almohazey D, Alomari M, Almofty SA (2018) Isolation, culture, and functional characterization of human: embryonic stem cells: current trends and challenges. Stem Cells Int 2018:Article ID 1429351, 8 pages. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1429351
- Kim J, Koo BK, Knoblich JA (2020) Human organoids: model systems for human biology and medicine. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 21:571–584. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0259-3
- Kirkeby A, Grealish S, Wolf DA et al (2012) Generation of regionally specified neural progenitors and functional neurons from human embryonic stem cells under defined conditions. Cell Rep 1: 703–714. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2012.04.009
- Knöpfel T, Rietschin L, G\u00e4hwiler BH (1989) Organotypic co-cultures of rat locus coeruleus and hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 1:678–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.1989.tb00374.x
- Kornblum HI (2007) Introduction to neural stem cells. Stroke 38:810–816. https://doi.org/10.1161/ 01.STR.0000255757.12198.0f
- Kostyszyn B, Cowburn RF, Seiger Å et al (2004) Distribution of presenilin 1 and 2 and their relation to Notch receptors and ligands in human embryonic/foetal central nervous system. Dev Brain Res 151:75–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DEVBRAINRES.2004.04.005
- Lancaster MA, Knoblich JA (2014) Generation of cerebral organoids from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Protoc 9:2329–2340. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2014.158
- Lathia JD, Patton B, Eckley DM et al (2007a) Patterns of laminins and integrins in the embryonic ventricular zone of the CNS. J Comp Neurol 505:630–643. https://doi.org/10. 1002/CNE.21520
- Lathia JD, Rao MS, Mattson MP, Ffrench-Constant C (2007b) The microenvironment of the embryonic neural stem cell: lessons from adult niches? Dev Dyn 236:3267–3282. https://doi.org/10.1002/DVDY.21319
- LaVail JH, Wolf MK (1973) Postnatal development of the mouse dentate gyrus in organotypic cultures of the hippocampal formation. Am J Anat 137:47–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJA. 1001370105
- LePage KT, Dickey RW, Gerwick WH et al (2005) On the use of neuro-2a neuroblastoma cells versus intact neurons in primary culture for neurotoxicity studies. Crit Rev Neurobiol 17:27–50
- Li W, LoTurco JJ (2000) Noggin is a negative regulator of neuronal differentiation in developing neocortex. Dev Neurosci 22:68–73. https://doi.org/10.1159/000017428
- Li W, Cogswell CA, LoTurco JJ (1998) Neuronal differentiation of precursors in the neocortical ventricular zone is triggered by BMP. J Neurosci 18:8853–8862. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.18-21-08853.1998
- Lingor P, Unsicker K, Krieglstein K (1999) Midbrain dopaminergic neurons are protected from radical induced damage by GDF-5 application. J Neural Transm 106:139–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/S007020050146
- Liu XS, Zhang ZG, Zhang RL et al (2007) Comparison of in vivo and in vitro gene expression profiles in subventricular zone neural progenitor cells from the adult mouse after middle cerebral

artery occlusion. Neuroscience 146:1053-1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE. 2007.02.056

- Logan S, Arzua T, Yan Y, Jiang C, Liu X, Yu LK, Liu QS et al (2020) Dynamic characterization of structural, molecular, and electrophysiological phenotypes of human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cerebral organoids, and comparison with fetal and adult gene profiles. Cells 9(5): 1301. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9051301
- Lu J, Tiao G, Folkerth R et al (2006) Overlapping expression of ARFGEF2 and filamin A in the neuroependymal lining of the lateral ventricles: insights into the cause of periventricular heterotopia. J Comp Neurol 494:476–484. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.20806
- Maden M (2002) Retinoid signalling in the development of the central nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:843–853. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRN963
- Mansour AA, Gonçalves JT, Bloyd CW et al (2018) An in vivo model of functional and vascularized human brain organoids. Nat Biotechnol 36:432–441. https://doi.org/10.1038/ NBT.4127
- Maoz BM (2021) Brain-on-a-Chip: characterizing the next generation of advanced in vitro platforms for modeling the central nervous system. APL Bioeng 5(3):030902. https://doi.org/10. 1063/5.0055812
- Marshall H, Nonchev S, Sham MH et al (1992) Retinoic acid alters hindbrain Hox code and induces transformation of rhombomeres 2/3 into a 4/5 identity. Nature 360:737–741. https://doi.org/10. 1038/360737A0
- Mason I (2007) Initiation to end point: the multiple roles of fibroblast growth factors in neural development. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:583–596. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRN2189
- Matsui TK, Matsubayashi M, Sakaguchi YM et al (2018) Six-month cultured cerebral organoids from human ES cells contain matured neural cells. Neurosci Lett 670:75–82. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.NEULET.2018.01.040
- Mattei C, Alshawaf A, D'Abaco G et al (2018) Generation of neural organoids from human embryonic stem cells using the rotary cell culture system: effects of microgravity on neural progenitor cell fate. Stem Cells Dev 27:848–857. https://doi.org/10.1089/SCD. 2018.0012
- Ming GL, Song H (2011) Adult neurogenesis in the mammalian brain: significant answers and significant questions. Neuron 70(4):687–702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.05.001
- Muenke M, Cohen MM (2000) Genetic approaches to understanding brain development: holoprosencephaly as a model. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 6. https://doi.org/10. 1002/(SICI)1098-2779(2000)6:1<15::AID-MRDD3>3.0.CO;2-8
- Muguruma K, Nishiyama A, Kawakami H et al (2015) Self-organization of polarized cerebellar tissue in 3D culture of human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep 10:537–550. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.CELREP.2014.12.051
- Nagato M, Heike T, Kato T et al (2005) Prospective characterization of neural stem cells by flow cytometry analysis using a combination of surface markers. J Neurosci Res 80:456–466. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.20442
- Nait-Oumesmar B, Picard-Riera N, Kerninon C et al (2007) Activation of the subventricular zone in multiple sclerosis: evidence for early glial progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 4694–4699. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0606835104
- Niewmierzycka A, Mills J, St-Arnaud R et al (2005) Integrin-linked kinase deletion from mouse cortex results in cortical lamination defects resembling cobblestone lissencephaly. J Neurosci 25:7022–7031. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1695-05.2005
- Nottebohm F (2002) Why are some neurons replaced in adult brain? J Neurosci 22:624-628
- Nzou G, Wicks RT, Wicks EE et al (2018) Human cortex spheroid with a functional blood brain barrier for high-throughput neurotoxicity screening and disease modeling. Sci Rep 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-018-25603-5
- Olsson M, Björklund A, Campbell K (1998) Early specification of striatal projection neurons and interneuronal subtypes in the lateral and medial ganglionic eminence. Neuroscience 84: 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(97)00532-0

- Østergaard JR, Christensen T, Hansen KN (1995) In vivo diagnosis of Hollervorden-Spatz disease. Dev Med Child Neurol 37:827–832. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1469-8749.1995.TB12066.X
- Pacitti D, Privolizzi R, Bax BE (2019) Organs to cells and cells to organoids: the evolution of in vitro central nervous system modelling. Front Cell Neurosci 13:1–22. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fncel.2019.00129
- Påhlman S, Ruusala AI, Abrahamsson L et al (1984) Retinoic acid-induced differentiation of cultured human neuroblastoma cells: a comparison with phorbolester-induced differentiation. Cell Differ 14:135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6039(84)90038-1
- Palma V, Ruiz i Altaba A (2004) Hedgehog-GLI signaling regulates the behavior of cells with stem cell properties in the developing neocortex. Development 131:337–345. https://doi.org/10.1242/ DEV.00930
- Pang T, Atefy R, Sheen V (2008) Malformations of cortical development. Neurologist 14:181–191. https://doi.org/10.1097/NRL.0b013e31816606b9
- Pham H, Guan M, Zoph B et al (2018) Efficient neural architecture search via parameters sharing. Proc Mach Learn Res Proc 35th Int Conf Mach Learn 80:4095–4104
- Phillips W, Morton AJ, Barker RA (2005) Abnormalities of neurogenesis in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease are attributable to the in vivo microenvironment. J Neurosci 25: 11564–11576. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3796-05.2005
- Pierani A, Brenner-Morton S, Chiang C, Jessell TM (1999) A Sonic hedgehog-independent, retinoid-activated pathway of neurogenesis in the ventral spinal cord. Cell 97:903–915. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80802-8
- Pilz DT, Matsumoto N, Minnerath S et al (1998) LIS1 and XLIS (DCX) mutations cause most classical lissencephaly, but different patterns of malformation. Hum Mol Genet 7:2029–2037. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/7.13.2029
- Pino A, Fumagalli G, Bifari F, Decimo I (2017) New neurons in adult brain: distribution, molecular mechanisms and therapies. Biochem Pharmacol 141:4–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2017.07.003
- Pleasure SJ, Page C, Lee VMY (1992) Pure, postmitotic, polarized human neurons derived from NTera 2 cells provide a system for expressing exogenous proteins in terminally differentiated neurons. J Neurosci 12:1802–1815. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.12-05-01802.1992
- Qian X, Shen Q, Goderie SK et al (2000) Timing of CNS cell generation: a programmed sequence of neuron and glial cell production from isolated murine cortical stem cells. Neuron 28. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00086-6
- Reiner O, Carrozzo R, Shen Y et al (1993) Isolation of a Miller-Dieker lissencephaly gene containing G protein beta-subunit-like repeats. Nature 364:717–721. https://doi.org/10.1038/364717a0
- Renner M, Lancaster MA, Bian S et al (2017) Self-organized developmental patterning and differentiation in cerebral organoids. EMBO J 36:1316–1329. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBJ. 201694700
- Reubinoff BE, Itsykson P, Turetsky T et al (2001) Neural progenitors from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 19:1134–1140. https://doi.org/10.1038/NBT1201-1134
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S (1992) Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 255:1707–1710. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1553558
- Ring KL, Tong LM, Balestra ME et al (2012) Direct reprogramming of mouse and human fibroblasts into multipotent neural stem cells with a single factor. Cell Stem Cell 11:100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2012.05.018
- Robertson IH, Manly T, Andrade J et al (1997) "Oops!": performance correlates of everyday attentional failures in traumatic brain injured and normal subjects. Neuropsychologia 35: 747–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3932(97)00015-8
- Sakaguchi H, Kadoshima T, Soen M et al (2015) Generation of functional hippocampal neurons from self-organizing human embryonic stem cell-derived dorsomedial telencephalic tissue. Nat Commun 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCOMMS9896
- Shen Q, Wang Y, Dimos JT et al (2006) The timing of cortical neurogenesis is encoded within lineages of individual progenitor cells. Nat Neurosci 9:743–751. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN1694

- Sirko S, Von Holst A, Wizenmann A et al (2007) Chondroitin sulfate glycosaminoglycans control proliferation, radial glia cell differentiation and neurogenesis in neural stem/progenitor cells. Development 134:2727–2738. https://doi.org/10.1242/DEV.02871
- Sloan SA, Darmanis S, Huber N et al (2017) Human astrocyte maturation captured in 3D cerebral cortical spheroids derived from pluripotent stem cells. Neuron 95:779–790.e6. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.NEURON.2017.07.035
- Storm EE, Rubenstein JLR, Martin GR (2003) Dosage of Fgf8 determines whether cell survival is positively or negatively regulated in the developing forebrain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 1757–1762. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0337736100
- Stump G, Durrer A, Klein AL et al (2002) Notch1 and its ligands Delta-like and Jagged are expressed and active in distinct cell populations in the postnatal mouse brain. Mech Dev 114: 153–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(02)00043-6
- Suga H, Kadoshima T, Minaguchi M et al (2011) Self-formation of functional adenohypophysis in three-dimensional culture. Nature 480:57–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE10637
- Swanson LW, Lichtman JW (2016) From Cajal to Connectome and beyond. Annu Rev Neurosci 39: 197–216. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-033954
- Tachibana Y, Miller AA (2018) A morphological classification model to identify unresolved PanSTARRS1 sources: application in the ZTF real-time pipeline. Publ Astron Soc Pac 130. https://doi.org/10.1088/1538-3873/AAE3D9
- Takahashi H, Liu FC (2006) Genetic patterning of the mammalian telencephalon by morphogenetic molecules and transcription factors. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today Rev 78:256–266. https://doi.org/10.1002/BDRC.20077
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.07.024
- Temple S (1989) Division and differentiation of isolated CNS blast cells in microculture. Nature 340:471–473. https://doi.org/10.1038/340471a0
- Thomson JA (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282: 1145–1147. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.282.5391.1145
- Thored P, Wood J, Arvidsson A et al (2007) Long-term neuroblast migration along blood vessels in an area with transient angiogenesis and increased vascularization after stroke. Stroke 38: 3032–3039. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.488445
- Toda T, Ikegawa S, Okui K et al (1994) Refined mapping of a gene responsible for Fukuyama-type congenital muscular dystrophy: evidence for strong linkage disequilibrium. Am J Hum Genet 55:946–950
- Vescovi AL, Parati EA, Gritti A et al (1999) Isolation and cloning of multipotential stem cells from the embryonic human CNS and establishment of transplantable human neural stem cell lines by epigenetic stimulation. Exp Neurol 156:71–83. https://doi.org/10.1006/EXNR.1998.6998
- Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Pang ZP et al (2010) Direct conversion of fibroblasts to functional neurons by defined factors. Nature 463:1035–1041. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE08797
- Von Holst A, Sirko S, Faissner A (2006) The unique 473HD-chondroitinsulfate epitope is expressed by radial glia and involved in neural precursor cell proliferation. J Neurosci 26:4082–4094. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0422-06.2006
- Wada K, Nakajima A, Katayama K et al (2006) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gammamediated regulation of neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation. J Biol Chem 281: 12673–12681. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M513786200
- Waddington CH, Cohen A (1936) Experiments on the development of the head of the chick embryo. J Exp Biol 13:219–236. https://doi.org/10.1242/JEB.13.2.219
- Watanabe K, Kamiya D, Nishiyama A et al (2005) Directed differentiation of telencephalic precursors from embryonic stem cells. Nat Neurosci 8:288–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN1402
- Wataya T, Ando S, Muguruma K et al (2008) Minimization of exogenous signals in ES cell culture induces rostral hypothalamic differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:11796–11801. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0803078105

- Whetsell WO, Mytilineou C, Shen J, Yahr MD (1981) The development of the dog nigrostriatal system in organotypic culture. J Neural Transm 52:149–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01249600
- Woods CG, Bond J, Enard W (2005) Autosomal recessive primary microcephaly (MCPH): a review of clinical, molecular, and evolutionary findings. Am J Hum Genet 76:717–728. https://doi.org/ 10.1086/429930
- Wrobel CN, Mutch CA, Swaminathan S et al (2007) Persistent expression of stabilized beta-catenin delays maturation of radial glial cells into intermediate progenitors. Dev Biol 309:285–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.07.013
- Wu Q, Liu J, Wang X et al (2020) Organ-on-a-chip: recent breakthroughs and future prospects. Biomed Eng Online 19:1–19
- Yamasaki TR, Blurton-Jones M, Morrissette DA, Kitazawa M, Oddo S, LaFerla FM (2007) Neural stem cells improve memory in an inducible mouse model of neuronal loss. J Neurosci 27(44): 11925–11933. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1627-07.2007
- Yan Y, Arzua T, Logan S, Bai X (2020) Isolation and culture of human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cerebral organoid cells. Methods Mol Biol. https://doi.org/10.1007/7651_2020_ 328
- Ying QL, Nichols J, Chambers I, Smith A (2003) BMP induction of Id proteins suppresses differentiation and sustains embryonic stem cell self-renewal in collaboration with STAT3. Cell 115:281–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00847-X
- Yoon K, Gaiano N (2005) Notch signaling in the mammalian central nervous system: insights from mouse mutants. Nat Neurosci 8:709–715. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN1475
- Yoshida A, Kobayashi K, Manya H et al (2001) Muscular dystrophy and neuronal migration disorder caused by mutations in a glycosyltransferase, POMGnT1. Dev Cell 1:717–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(01)00070-3
- Zawadzka M, Franklin RJM (2007) Myelin regeneration in demyelinating disorders: new developments in biology and clinical pathology. Curr Opin Neurol 20:294–298. https://doi.org/10.1097/ WCO.0B013E32813AEE7F
- Zhang SC, Wernig M, Duncan ID et al (2001) In vitro differentiation of transplantable neural precursors from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 19:1129–1133. https://doi.org/10. 1038/NBT1201-1129
- Zhang Y, Pak CH, Han Y et al (2013) Rapid single-step induction of functional neurons from human pluripotent stem cells. Neuron 78:785–798. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2013.05.029
- Ziaee SM, Tabeshmehr P, Haider KH, Majidreza Farrokhi M, Shariat A, Amiri A et al (2017) Optimization of time for neural stem cells transplantation for brain stroke in rats. Stem Cell Investig 4:29



Glial Cells in Neuroinflammation in Various 28 Disease States

Derek Barthels and Hiranmoy Das

Contents

Introduction	351
Microglial Cells and Their Physiological Functions	351
Physiological Roles of Astrocytes	352
Reactive Gliosis in Astrocytes	354
Stroke, CNS Trauma, and Their Impact on Glial Cells 8	354
Roles of Glial Cells in CNS Autoimmune Conditions	356
Roles of Glial Cells in Neurodegenerative Disorders	359
Current Therapies for CNS Disorders 8	361
Treatments for Stroke and CNS Trauma 8	361
Treatments for CNS Autoimmune Conditions	362
Treatments for Neurodegenerative Disorders	364
Cell-Based Therapies for CNS Disorders 8	366
Conclusion	368
References 8	369

Abstract

With current advancements in central nervous system (CNS) research, it is becoming increasingly obvious that glial cells play important roles in both physiology and pathology in the CNS. This chapter focuses on microglia and astrocytes, as each supports inflammatory functions and neuronal health in the CNS. Given the lagging behind of this field of study, research is currently being conducted to elucidate the roles of these cells in CNS pathologies, such as stroke and its aftermath, Parkinson's disease, and Alzheimer's disease. As current therapy does not cure these diseases, we evaluate a potential new therapy using human adult stem cells that could help treat such conditions, as they are well documented to have potent anti-inflammatory activity and are able to produce

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_39

D. Barthels · H. Das (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Jerry H. Hodge School of Pharmacy, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, Amarillo, TX, USA e-mail: hiranmoy.das@ttuhsc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

factors such as glial- and brain-derived neurotrophic factors to support neuronal health. It is entirely possible that this therapeutic strategy could serve as a multifaceted approach, as the support through growth factors and the increased control of neuroinflammation could support astrocyte health, contributing to the maintenance of literally millions of neural synapses. Herein, we will discuss in detail how microglia and astrocytes contribute to different CNS pathologies and examine the potential efficacy of a human adult stem cell–based therapeutic approach that targets these cells.

Keywords

Astrocytes · CNS disorders · Microglia · Neuroinflammation · Stem cells

Abbreviations

A20	Ubiquitin-modifying protein A20
AD	Alzheimer's disease
APOF	Apolipoprotein F
	A quanorin-4
	Reta amyloid
BBB	Blood brain barrier
BDNE	Broin derived neurotrophic factor
CASO	CDISDD associated protein 0
CAS9 CNS	Cristical management and the second s
CNS CDICDD	Cluster la la la internet de la cluster la la cluster de l
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CRYAB	ap-crystallin
CSPG	Chondroitin-sulfate proteoglycan
DPSC	Dental pulp stem cell
ECM	Extracellular matrix
GABA	Gamma aminobutyric acid
Gal-9	Galectin-9
GDNF	Glial-derived neurotrophic factor
HD	Huntington's disease
IL	Interleukin
INF	Interferon
M1	Pro-inflammatory
M2	Anti-inflammatory
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
mHTT	Mutant huntingtin protein
miRNA	microRNA
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
MTPT	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMO	Neuromyelitis optica
--------	--
Nrf2	Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2
NSAID	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
NSC	Neural stem cell
PD	Parkinson's disease
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
TALENS	Transcription activator-like effector nucleases
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
tPA	Tissue plasminogen activator
TREM2	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
ZFN	Zinc-finger nucleases

Introduction

Both neurons and glial cells were first identified in the mid-nineteenth century, but neurons initially received major attention in research, and investigations of glial cells were not carried out in earnest until the 1950s. One of the main obstacles in earlier glial cell research was the lack of reliable methods to analyze glial function and signaling, despite the early observation of morphological changes of star-shaped glial cells (eventually named astrocytes) in central nervous system (CNS) disorders. Additionally, microglial cells, another subset of glial cells, were not identified until 1919 (Fan and Agid 2018). Due to the lack of methods to analyze astrocytes and microglia, in vitro models were developed that investigated neuronal function isolated from other cells normally present in the CNS, and these glial cells were considered nothing more than "glue cells" of the CNS (Jakel and Dimou 2017). While these models are valuable and essential for understanding neuronal function, the absence of other cells native to the CNS can drastically alter how the cells function. However, studies conducted over the last century have shown astrocytes and microglia, and their elucidated functions, to be instrumental in the overall function and structure of the CNS, and in the development of several CNS pathologies (Falk and Gotz 2017).

Microglial Cells and Their Physiological Functions

Microglial cells make up 5–12% of the cells in the CNS and serve as the innate immune cells for this immune-privileged system (Hickman et al. 2018). Much of the earliest research on microglia was carried out by the Spanish neuroscientist Pío del Río Hortega in the early 1900s, but research on these cells did not reach full steam until the end of the century (Somjen 1988). Since they are the resident macrophages

of the CNS, microglial cells are tasked with the identification and destruction of foreign pathogens from the CNS. When functioning properly, microglia also acts to mitigate the damage caused by CNS insults by clearing dead and dying tissue in the aftermath of an injury. This process primes the site for healing mechanisms that occur later to repair the damage done (Wolf et al. 2017). To better accomplish these facets of their purpose, microglia are constantly "scanning" their environment for signals indicating either infection by a pathogen or for markers indicating the need for intrinsic elements of the CNS to be broken down. This process is partially responsible for facilitating neural plasticity (Kettenmann et al. 2011). Even though microglia are carrying out CNS-preserving activities in this state, this scanning state is known as the "resting" state. These cells are characterized by low expression of specific surface markers, including CD45, major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-II, and CD11b. Upon activation, microglial cell bodies undergo hypertrophy, and the cells' surface markers are upregulated, as well as intracellular markers such as Iba1 (Ma et al. 2017). In this activated state, microglia also have an increased capability to migrate within the CNS (Tay et al. 2017). This migratory ability is essential so that microglia can localize at the necessary site and carry out their roles in the aftermath of CNS insults. Despite the high amount of plasticity that microglia contain upon their activation, they have an innate memory of their homeostatic state and are able to revert to their inactive phenotype and continue to scan their microenvironment for the next job that needs to be completed (Matejuk and Ransohoff 2020).

In addition to their roles as macrophages, microglia play essential roles in both CNS development and are the primary instruments used to carry out neural remodeling. They can do this by pruning immature neurons and breaking down specific neural networks based on activity (Fields et al. 2014; Garaschuk and Verkhratsky 2019). This function is active both in early CNS development, and in cognitive and memory development in adults. They also contribute to the maintenance of homeostasis of CNS tissue. Though initially grouped with other glia as "glue cells," whose only purpose was believed to act only as scaffolds for networks of neurons, microglia are now realized more broadly as one of the primary drivers of CNS development (Allen and Lyons 2018). This can be attributed again to their sensitivity to their signaling microenvironment. Based on signals received, microglia can refine neural circuitry, provide trophic support to CNS cells, clear cellular debris, or destroy foreign pathogens. Current studies confirm microglia as major players in the complex processes of neurological development, and dysfunction of these cells is heavily implicated in developing several CNS pathologies, as discussed in depth later in this chapter (Cowan and Petri Jr. 2018).

Physiological Roles of Astrocytes

In healthy tissue, astrocytes serve as physical barriers to the infiltration of foreign cells and contaminants from blood vessels or the meninges. This barrier also contains the spread of neurotoxic inflammation that can spread from either damaged CNS tissue or peripheral infections. Additionally, astrocytes serve to chemically regulate the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Sofroniew 2015). One factor produced abundantly by astrocytes is apolipoprotein E (APOE), a factor instrumental in maintaining the integrity of the BBB (Montagne et al. 2020; Rawat et al. 2019). Polymorphisms in the APOE4 gene are correlated with poorer prognoses of conditions such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), stroke, and traumatic brain injuries (TBI) (Main et al. 2018; Safieh et al. 2019). Regulation of BBB permeability plays a central role in processes such as the recruitment of leukocytes. The process of extravasation for leukocytes in the CNS is similar to that in other parts of the body, but they must penetrate the BBB, which in and of itself is a complicated feat to accomplish (Manda-Handzlik and Demkow 2019). Retraction of astrocyte feet and the active recruitment of the leukocyte by secretion of signaling molecules from astrocytes and other cells facilitate the penetration of leukocytes through the BBB into CNS tissue (Sweeney et al. 2018). These functions also give astrocytes the ability to influence lymphocyte recruitment in perivascular spaces in the CNS. In this way, astrocytes' effects on the CNS can also be viewed as pro- or anti-inflammatory based on whether they promote or deny leukocyte infiltration through this mechanism. However, astrocytes can also directly influence inflammatory signaling by the secretion of inflammatory factors such as nitric oxide and prostaglandins. The induction of this state could lead to cytotoxicity and death of surrounding cells (Burda et al. 2016).

As important as the role of astrocytes is in the maintenance of the BBB, they also are instrumental in its repair after injury. These functions come in conjunction with the secretion of factors that directly promote repair, such as sonic hedgehog, or by suppressing factors, such as matrix-metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), that increase BBB permeability (Alvarez et al. 2011; Liebner et al. 2018). Two of the most influential pathways that mediate this effect include the gp130-JAK2-STAT3 pathway, as well as the dopamine D2 receptor pathway. Activation of these pathways can lead to the induction of factors such as retinoic acid and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β . Astrocytes even have the capability to provide anti-inflammatory support in pro-inflammatory environments, as the anti-inflammatory factors $\alpha\beta$ -crystallin (CRYAB), galectin-9 (Gal-9), and ubiquitin-modifying protein A20 (A20) can all be induced by tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interferon (INF) γ , or interleukin (IL)-1 β (Sofroniew 2015).

In addition to the function of this physical barrier, hypotheses implicate astrocytes in the processing and transduction of neural signals. The introduction of these hypotheses initially created a great deal of controversy in the field of astrocyte research (Bazargani and Attwell 2016). However, with recent discoveries, the issues in question have mostly been resolved. Analysis of ion channels, including gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) and Ca^{2+} channels, and their roles have gone a long way in explaining the role that astrocytes can play in neurotransmission (Allen and Eroglu 2017). These more recent developments have inspired new approaches to analyze astrocyte function in the context of neurotransmission, primarily through the analysis of the role of intracellular Ca^{2+} and how it affects astrocyte function and CNS interactions.

Reactive Gliosis in Astrocytes

Many of the functional changes seen in astrocytes happen during a process called reactive gliosis. During this process, astrocytes undergo changes in gene and protein expressions, as well as changes in their morphology. These are the changes that allow for the infiltration of leukocytes after CNS trauma, as well as the formation of the glial scar that limits the damage around the lesion site. This process acts on a gradient of severity and is not a binary change in the cells (Sofroniew 2009). Astrocytes immediately adjacent to the lesion site will undergo the most severe form of gliosis, leading to permanent glial scarring. As the distance from the lesion site increases, the severity of the gliosis seen in astrocytes decreases. With decreasing severity, it becomes more likely that astrocytes will revert to their original phenotypes and carry out their processes normally (Sofroniew 2009). Reactive gliosis, when properly regulated, promotes the recovery of healthy tissue and is an essential step in the overall healing process. The reversible nature of reactive gliosis opens the possibilities for astrocyte-targeted therapies geared toward the regulation of gliosis, as preserving positive functions that can be lost with more severe gliosis states can help promote healthy function in the CNS (Colangelo et al. 2014).

Though glial cells were originally viewed as part of the supporting cast in the operation and development of the CNS, it is becoming more evident that these cells play a lead role and have a significant influence on the interactions of different parts of the system. It is well established that astrocytes and other glial cells play central roles in learning and cognitive processes (Augusto-Oliveira et al. 2019; Freeman 2010). To put the broad reach of these cells into perspective, one astrocyte has the astounding potential to interact with millions of neural synapses, and play central roles in the development and construction of new synapses (Fields et al. 2014). This ability of glial cells to contribute to neural plasticity and development can no longer be ignored. A shift in the way we frame CNS interactions could prove extremely beneficial in combatting various neurodegenerative diseases and general CNS trauma, for which effective treatments have proven to be elusive. A perspective of the CNS that regard glial cells as equal agents in CNS function could provide new avenues to manipulate potential therapeutic targets, such as astrocytes and microglia themselves. This chapter will discuss the latest research involving astrocytes and microglia as well as their roles in various disease states, giving a broader perspective on current research on novel therapeutic approaches for CNS disorders.

Stroke, CNS Trauma, and Their Impact on Glial Cells

It is well established that one of the primary roles of astrocytes is to respond to CNS trauma and to help regulate the immune response around the lesion site. The end feet of astrocytes that make up portions of the BBB will retract, drastically increasing the permeability of the BBB. This process leads to the recruiting and infiltration of leukocytes and lymphocytes into the CNS. In an attempt to control the onset of inflammation at the lesion site, astrocytes will form a glial scar around the site to

prevent the spread of potentially cytotoxic factors that result from the immune cells' activities (Adams and Gallo 2018). Inhibition of glial scarring has been associated with additional complications poststroke, such as increases in lesion size, increases in neuronal death and loss of functions, as well as the spread of uncontrolled inflammation (Wang et al. 2018). These consequences lead to the inhibition of axonal growth and regeneration and have the potential to negatively affect recovery after stroke. While astrocytes play significant roles in the clearance and containment of necrotic tissue, and inflammatory factors, there is evidence that they can be polarized toward harmful inflammatory states themselves, leading to increased cytotoxicity in the regions surrounding the ischemic core. Astrocytes in this state could still influence functional neurons and could cause additional damage after the initial injury (Neal and Richardson 2018). Increased secretions of chondroitinsulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) are also recognized as a characteristic of reactive gliosis. These factors act as roadblocks for axonal outgrowth and high levels of CSPGs can negatively affect recovery capability. Reactive astrocytes have been shown to produce different proteoglycans based on the type of linking group attached to the molecule (Silver and Miller 2004). Astrocytes produce four different classes of proteoglycans, with CSPGs being the subject of primary focus, as they are upregulated in glial scars within 24 h after insult to the CNS and persist for months after the injury (Silver and Miller 2004). The presence of proteoglycans can be detrimental to recovery after CNS insult. They have been identified as potent inhibitors of axon outgrowth in vitro. They are believed to stunt axonal outgrowth in the embryonic development of the CNS in zebra fish and mice (Silver and Miller 2004).

Microglial cells are also recruited to aid in the recovery process in the aftermath of strokes and other types of CNS trauma. Their inflammatory response is essential in laying the groundwork for subsequent infiltration of peripheral immune cells (Eldahshan et al. 2019). This activation can occur as early as 24 h after an ischemic event, and activated microglia can remain in this state for up to 150 days. The activated microglial cells are active in the infarct and peri-infarct regions after injury and behave as a double-edged sword. Microglial secretions can contribute to the damage and death of neurons. The heavily pro-inflammatory response seen in microglia also can affect the function of astrocytes and can lead to more severe reactive gliosis. This pro-inflammatory environment is caused by cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α from microglia and infiltrating leukocytes. While this aspect of the microglial response is necessary, it can run rampant in the CNS and reach a chronic, unresolved inflammatory state (Rothhammer et al. 2018). Chronic inflammation is associated with a bevy of secondary complications and is a high-priority problem that must be resolved.

One strategy to accomplish this feat is by manipulating microglial polarization. Like peripheral macrophages, microglia can be polarized toward M1 (pro-inflammatory) or M2 (anti-inflammatory) phenotypes, and, like the reactive gliosis process in astrocytes, it is necessary to have a balance of M1 and M2 microglia when dealing with CNS insults. M1 microglia are most commonly seen in the aftermath of an injury, but the polarization of microglia to M2 phenotypes can



Fig. 1 The CNS in the aftermath of a stroke. After a stroke, the neurons at the epicenter of the stroke start to degenerate, while additional astrocytes move the lesion site and undergo gliosis to form a scar barrier. Excessive glutamate is in the extracellular space, leading to additional excitotoxicity in neurons. Microglia get activated to remove damaged tissue and clear space for healing processes, while infiltrating immune cells support the process after moving through the blood-brain barrier, which opens in part due to higher expression of matrix metalloproteinases

help keep inflammation from becoming chronic. M2 microglia can secrete potent anti-inflammatory factors such as IL-10, arginase, and YM-1. In addition to their potential for M2 polarization, microglia can also contribute to neuronal regeneration via the secretion of key growth factors, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Lan et al. 2017). The ability to control the expression and secretion of these factors, along with regulating astrocyte function, may be a key to unlocking increased regenerative capacity in the aftermath of neuronal trauma (Fig. 1).

Roles of Glial Cells in CNS Autoimmune Conditions

Several experiments have also shown astrocytes to be central mediators and inhibitors of autoimmune inflammatory reactions in the CNS. One mechanism involves the targeting of aquaporin-4 (AQP4) on astrocytes. The binding of autoantibodies to these sites marks the astrocytes for lysis through the complement immune pathway. This condition, called neuromyelitis optica (NMO), can lead to the demyelination of the CNS in afflicted regions and can cause blindness and paralysis (Huda et al. 2019). The discovery of this specific origin of NMO led to clinical observations of higher severity in NMO patients who tested positive for anti-AQP4 antibodies compared to those who only tested positive for anti-myelin antibodies (Sofroniew 2015).

Additionally, astrocytes may play a role in developing multiple sclerosis (MS), though the mechanisms regarding MS are currently not well understood. Early hypotheses posit that specific polymorphisms that occur in astrocytes could influence an individual's susceptibility to MS, based on their ability to keep the BBB intact and contain the spread of the auto-inflammatory response (Sofroniew 2015). Despite the ambiguity in exact mechanisms, the astrocyte end feet that form part of the BBB are one of the first casualties of the disease. This early damage likely has downstream effects on astrocytes' abilities to limit inflammation in these regions (Ponath et al. 2018).

A unique feature of both of these autoimmune conditions is their increased prevalence in women compared to men. It is estimated that for every man that has NMO, seven women live with the condition, and two women have MS for every man that has it (Sofroniew 2015). Given recent revelations regarding the difference in basic neurological function between men and women, such as how pain signals are propagated through the nervous system, it is not improbable that there are other differences that can contribute to the increased prevalence of these cases in women (Sorge et al. 2015). Investigations into whether astrocyte function differs between men and women may offer further insights into why women are disproportionately affected by these conditions (Sofroniew 2015).

As the primary immune cells in the CNS, microglia are also heavily implicated in developing autoimmune diseases in the CNS. It has been demonstrated that although the initiation of NMO is associated with the binding of antibodies to AOP4, microglia are likely the ones to mediate the inflammatory attack, as the disease did not progress with the ablation of microglia in a murine model (Chen et al. 2020). It is worth emphasizing again that these conditions often can cause a positive feedback loop, with inflammatory signals amplified by the cross talk between different cell types in the CNS, such as that between astrocytes and microglia during the progression of NMO. In the cited study, physical interactions between microglia and astrocytes, as well as the implementation of the complement immune reaction pathway marks microglia as potentially pivotal therapeutic targets in NMO. The initiation of the complement pathway has been linked to neurotoxicity in the vicinity of astrocytes when serums containing either AQP4 bound IgG or various complement factors, including C1q and C6. When these factors were absent and complement inhibitors were added, neurons near astrocytes were preserved (Duan et al. 2018). Controlling inflammatory signaling, including the complement pathway, could prevent the development of neuronal lesions that often lead to the blindness and paralysis seen in NMO (Fig. 2).

MS is associated with heavy microglial activation and has been one of the conditions in which microglial autoimmune functions are most commonly investigated. Though other CNS trauma conditions also feature microglial activation, they also involve higher levels of peripheral macrophage infiltration and activation, which make the microglial activity harder to detect. MS features different lesion patterns and multiple tissue-damaging mechanisms, but all of these lesion sites



Fig. 2 Autoimmune mechanism involved in NMO pathology. One of the main phenomena seen in the development of NMO includes the autoimmune attack of AQP4 receptors on astrocytes. **A.** This process begins with the tagging of AQP4 receptors with IgG. **B.** This leads to the recruitment of the C1q factor in the complement pathway of the immune system. **C.** After the recruitment of subsequent subunits, a membrane attack complex penetrates the plasma membrane of the cell, leading to the lysing of the astrocyte

feature the demyelination coupled with neuroinflammation that is characteristic of the disease (Voet et al. 2019). The disruption in homeostatic microglial characterizations leads to highly pro-inflammatory regions where MS plaques continue to expand. Interestingly, M2-polarized microglial cells are present in the lesion cores in MS, and attempts at remyelination of these regions are common. These M2 cells are almost completely absent in the regions where plaques are progressing, and attempts at remyelinating these regions do not occur (Zrzavy et al. 2017). Another study asserts that the M2 polarization of microglia and macrophages is necessary to facilitate remyelination of the CNS in disease states like MS. It has been demonstrated that M1 and M2 phenotypes of microglia and macrophages can affect the differentiation of oligodendrocytes, thereby affecting how effectively they can facilitate remyelination (Miron et al. 2013). Restoring the balance between M1 and M2 phenotypes in microglia and macrophages could be the key to getting progressing and remissive MS under control.

Both NMO and MS are characterized by uncontrolled, chronic inflammation. The positive feedback loop of inflammation, leading to cell damage, which leads to more inflammation, needs to be interrupted through efficacious treatment strategies.

A strategy that is becoming more popular is manipulating the polarization of microglia to favor their M2 phenotype, thus restoring the balance between proand anti-inflammatory mechanisms. Theoretically, this approach will minimize the amounts of chronic, unresolved inflammation, which leads to the myelination issues seen in these autoimmune diseases.

Roles of Glial Cells in Neurodegenerative Disorders

Astrogliosis is a prominent factor in many neurodegenerative conditions, including AD and Huntington's disease (HD), and very well may be essential for the progression of many other neurodegenerative disorders. Experiments have shown that the inhibition of astrogliosis can potentiate the accumulation of β -amyloid (A β) plaques and increase inflammatory signaling (Frost and Li 2017). Reactive gliosis occurs in AD, and intriguingly, all the reactive astrocytes seem to be collected around $A\beta$ deposits. One possible reason for this phenomenon may be that astrocytes possess receptors for advanced glycation end products, lipoprotein receptor-related proteins, membrane-associated proteoglycans, and scavenger receptor-like receptors. These receptors can interact with $A\beta$, leading to further recruitment of astrocytes and immune cells to the lesion site (Fakhoury 2018). These interactions can activate the nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) pathway and initiate complement signaling, leading to the production of TNF- α and IL-1 β and the perpetuation of the pro-inflammatory signaling environment seen in AD (Fakhoury 2018). Additionally, polymorphisms in the APOE4 allele are linked to increased risk of AD and increased inflammation in the CNS (Sofroniew 2015).

The exact role of astrocytes in AD is still being elucidated. Some in vitro studies have suggested that reactive astrocytes are recruited to break down A β deposits in an effort to stave off the downstream effects of AD. In rodent models similar to AD, this process was carried out by neprilysin and insulin-degrading enzymes, and it is hypothesized that MMP-9 may also play a role. Conversely, other studies have shown that astrocytes could suffer from dysfunction after engulfing A β deposits that are not fully broken down. This result can lead to harmful apoptosis signaling in neurons. Additionally, astrocytes can deposit A β in pro-inflammatory environments, further complicating issues seen in AD (Fakhoury 2018). More studies must be conducted to fully elucidate how astrocytes behave in AD, and as these questions are answered, more targeted therapies could become available for AD. As seen in CNS trauma and autoimmune diseases, imbalance in astrocyte functions seems to be one issue contributing to the progression of the disease state, and restoration of proper astrocyte functions as a therapeutic approach may provide more efficacious prevention and recovery from AD.

Astrocytes are also implicated in the progression of HD. HD consists of the amalgamation of mutant huntingtin protein (mHTT) in astrocytes and neurons. Consequently, there is decreased expression of K^+ channels on these cells, leading to an increase in extracellular K^+ and increased excitability of neurons, potentially worsening HD (Khakh et al. 2017). Additionally, glutamate transporters such as

EAAT2 are not as abundant on astrocytes in HD, contributing to the excitotoxicity of neurons in the disease. This effect seems to be downstream of the expression and accumulation of mHTT in astrocytes, leading to the introduction of oxidative stress (Palpagama et al. 2019). These issues in astrocytes also trigger the NF- κ B pathway in the astrocytes, contributing to the inflammatory environments that exist in HD. The effects observed in the CNS in HD are seen even before astrogliosis can be observed in experimental models, establishing reactive gliosis and astrocyte dysfunction as two discrete phenomena that are independent of one another (Khakh and Sofroniew 2014). However, the reactive gliosis that can be seen in Huntington's disease could contribute not only to neuronal death but also to pericyte death around cerebral blood vessels. This could potentiate the development of the disease. The exact mechanisms of how reactive gliosis affects the progression of HD have yet to be fully elucidated, as the number of studies done directly linking the two subjects beyond correlation with severity is scarce (Palpagama et al. 2019). A deeper analysis of these conditions and the roles that astrocytes play puts to rest the misconception that astrogliosis is an exclusively harmful occurrence either in the aftermath of CNS trauma or in the case of neurodegeneration (Fig. 3).

Inflammatory conditions in CNS disorders are prevalent, and AD is no different in this regard. One function of microglia is to engulf damaged cells and tissue, and



Fig. 3 Glutamate excitotoxicity in Huntington's disease. Healthy astrocytes typically have EAAT2 channels on their membranes, which are responsible for the uptake of excess glutamate in the extracellular spaces around neurons. This prevents the opening of excessive numbers of NMDA channels by glutamate binding, which allow the intake of additional Ca^{2+} ions by neurons. The opening of too many NMDA channels leads to the excessive influx of Ca^{2+} and hyper-excitability or even excitotoxicity in neurons. When astrocytes undergo reactive gliosis as seen in Huntington's disease, they express fewer EAAT2 channels on their membrane. This leads to excessive amounts of glutamate, which in turn opens more NMDA channels, causing excess excitability and excitotoxicity in neurons

they do so often via the complement pathway. Dysfunction of this pathway with microglia is heavily associated with AD. Mutations in these receptor genes, among other genes, often lead to hyperactivity of microglia, which engulf functional neurons. The hyperactivity of microglia is especially prevalent around Aß aggregates (Hansen et al. 2018). These developments are heavily associated with genetic variation in the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2), a gene almost exclusively expressed in microglia (Condello et al. 2018). Evidence suggests that when functioning properly, the *TREM2* gene enacts neuroprotective effects in the CNS, and it is theorized that the function of *TREM2* is affected by changes in inflammatory homeostasis as an individual gets older (Raha et al. 2017). TREM2 is essential to combat toxicity at the beginning stages of AD, and the deficiency of this gene limits the ability for interactions between microglia and A β plaques. If indeed TREM2 dysfunction is related to the development of a more pro-inflammatory environment, limiting the chronic inflammation could be preventative for loss of TREM2 function, but further investigation is required to solidify the link between these factors.

Current Therapies for CNS Disorders

Many of these CNS pathologies have proven challenging to treat and innovative solutions to better help patients with these conditions are constantly being proposed.

Some effective therapies have been developed, such as applying recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) for the clearance of ischemic strokes. However, many of these treatments come with important caveats, such as the fact that the therapeutic time window to administer tPA to a patient is minimal (Faiz et al. 2018). Every medication comes with some drawbacks, but as many of these treatment strategies are in their infancy, some of them possess drawbacks that reduce the number of people eligible to receive them. In contrast, others have yet to produce efficacious results in clinical settings at all. With the difficulties seen in developing these treatments, refinement of existing strategies and development of novel approaches will be required to make notable progress in the clinical treatment of these conditions. Innovations are being developed to better assess and improve patient eligibility for various therapies, and new treatments are constantly being explored in research that put cell-based therapies at the forefront (Liaw and Liebeskind 2020).

Treatments for Stroke and CNS Trauma

Facilitating functional recovery in the aftermath of traumatic CNS injuries has proven to be highly elusive. One of the focuses of ischemic stroke treatments has been to restore circulation as soon as possible after the stroke occurs. As mentioned above, the application of tPA is effective within a window of 4.5 h after the stroke (Emberson et al. 2014). For patients that are ineligible for tPA, mechanical

thrombectomy is required if the clot does not clear by itself. While these treatments are helpful in breaking up the clot causing the stroke, the damage is often already done by the time circulation is restored (Lambrinos et al. 2016). This is where the innovation of treatments is needed to help restore functions lost in the immediate fallout of the stroke. Therapies that are used to help treat the aftermath of stroke will likely help those with other forms of CNS trauma, as similar pathologies develop with different presentations. As the common culprits in stroke and TBI are pro-inflammatory factors and deregulated permeability of the BBB, agents proposed to limit these mechanisms while boosting neuroprotective effects should prove to be effective candidates (Abdullahi et al. 2018; Anrather and Iadecola 2016). It is believed that more tightly regulating these processes, especially in the peri-infarct region of the lesion, will alleviate these symptoms. Adding to the rationale for these treatments is the abundance of factors that cause the breakdown of the extracellular matrix (ECM). These factors, which include MMPs, are responsible for the eventual opening of the BBB, allowing infiltration of peripheral immune cells. BDNF and other neurotrophic factors are also scarce in the peri-infarct region, limiting the capacity for neural plasticity, and increased amounts of these factors may prove beneficial (George and Steinberg 2015).

Molecular-based treatments have been tried in an attempt to mitigate different mechanisms of cell death poststroke. Some drugs have been used to mitigate excitotoxicity that is mediated by GABA and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, while others have targeted the maintenance of Ca^{2+} homeostasis. Other strategies facilitate the transportation of various growth factors across the BBB, such as BDNF and glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), or to help maintain a more anti-inflammatory environment (Sekerdag et al. 2018).

While these treatments can undoubtedly help preserve cells and tissues after CNS trauma, the mechanisms that cause cell death are widely diverse and it would be challenging to develop a pharmacological solution to even multiple causes. While it is possible that solutions to certain aspects of the diseases can be solved through pharmacological means, an answer for a more comprehensive number of these problems likely lies in other therapeutic approaches.

Treatments for CNS Autoimmune Conditions

Much research on NMO has revolved around the interaction of AQP4-IgG with AQP4 receptors on the surface of astrocyte end feet, and the inflammatory cascade that follows depending on the complementary pathway. This disease state does not progress, such as MS and AD, but the diseases become severe as each inflammatory attack leaves further damage and demyelination in the CNS. For this reason, it is essential to control these attacks as much as possible, through both prevention and remedial means. Many of the strategies developed to treat this condition are geared to alleviate symptoms from acute attacks. One drug used in this approach is the corticosteroid methylprednisolone. Corticosteroids are well known to suppress inflammatory attacks by suppressing the circulation of circulating immune cells,

and the expression of adhesion molecules and matrix metalloproteinases (Papadopoulos et al. 2014). In cases where corticosteroids are not sufficient to alleviate the inflammation, therapeutic plasma exchanges are used to eliminate AQP4-IgG from the patient's circulation (Kleiter and Gold 2016). Other strategies also focus on the neutralization of AQP4-IgG. This can be done through the administration of tryptophan or protein A or through the injection of immunoglobulins.

Many of these treatments require further testing. Some, such as therapeutic plasma exchange, have established precedent in treating other autoimmune conditions such as multiple sclerosis, but examples of use for NMO have been more limited and there could be restrictions on patient eligibility (Kumar et al. 2018). While these treatments successfully treat autoimmune attacks, and as such are essential elements of treating NMO, they still seem to be only treatments of the symptoms and do not treat the underlying cause of the disease, highlighting the need for therapeutic strategies for NMO's underlying causes.

Prevention of NMO attacks has also been a large focus in recent research. Earlier approaches mirrored MS treatments, but some immunosuppressants used for MS were found to exacerbate NMO attacks. The use of immunosuppressants comes with an inherent risk of infections, and patients with certain chronic infections, such as HIV and hepatitis B and C, would be at high risk for these treatments. Additionally, pregnant women would likely be excluded from these preventative treatments (Huang et al. 2018; Kleiter and Gold 2016).

As the best option currently available to NMO patients, the use of immunosuppressants is unavailable to a large number of patients as preventative measures. These treatments, along with their secondary treatment methods, are often reactionary to an attack, after which irreversible damage may have already been done. There is still much research yet to be done on this condition. A better understanding of the mechanisms underlying these attacks could lead to the discovery of novel therapeutic strategies.

Unlike NMO, MS can develop into a progressive disease that becomes severe in later stages of development. However, the approach taken with current treatments is similar to that of NMO, where the focus is neutralizing acute attacks and prevention of future ones (Hauser and Cree 2020). As discussed above, the primary approach for the maintenance of MS is administering immunosuppressants to offset the effects of rampant inflammation seen in these attacks. Mechanistically, commonly used drugs are those which are disease-modifying. Some commonly used diseasemodifying treatments are monoclonal antibodies, which bind to molecules like CD20 on B cells and $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin, which help prevent antigen signaling by B cells and adhesion and infiltration of lymphocytes. The typical trend of diseasemodifying approaches in MS is that they help with relapsing, but not progressive MS. The CD20-targeting antibodies bucked this trend and effectively treat both forms of MS, leading to the approval of ocrelizumab for both relapsing and progressive MS (Doshi and Chataway 2016; Hauser and Cree 2020). Other diseasemodifying drugs target other mechanisms, such as induction of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2) to engage antioxidant function, as seen with

dimethyl fumarate, or the inhibition of activated lymphocyte proliferation, as seen with teriflunomide (Hauser and Cree 2020). As with any treatments, adverse side effects can be possible when using these therapies, and similar to NMO treatments, the use of immunosuppressants could lead to opportunistic infections. For example, one complication with ocrelizumab is the possible development of a severe herpes virus infection (Hauser and Cree 2020). One of the earlier drugs to be used, fingolimod, carries a risk of heart block upon initiation of treatment, and although rare, multiple bacterial and viral infections occur in patients to whom this drug is administered (Hauser and Cree 2020). While the best options to offset the relapsing nature of the disease in its early form, these disease-modifying treatments, with the notable exception of ocrelizumab, have had difficulty in sufficiently delaying and treating the onset of progressive MS (Feinstein et al. 2015; Hauser and Cree 2020). With limited options for the treatment of progressive MS, the field is still wide open for developing therapies that cater to the treatment of the advanced stage of this debilitating disease.

Treatments for Neurodegenerative Disorders

Treatment strategies for AD are limited, and while they generally improve cognition in patients, the rate of cognitive decline remains unchanged (Weller and Budson 2018). Cholinesterase inhibitors, such as donepezil, rivastigmine, and galantamine are considered go-to treatments for both AD dementia, as well as Parkinson's disease. Additionally, memantine, which is simultaneously an NMDA receptor antagonist and a dopamine agonist, is approved for AD patients with attention and alertness deficits (Weller and Budson 2018). Other preventative treatments have been presented, but their reliability remains in question. For example, huperzine A, isolated from a Chinese herb, has gained attention as a potential treatment to improve cognitive function for AD patients and is approved in countries outside of the USA. Recent systematic reviews have raised issues with how the studies on this therapeutic have been conducted, citing the potential for experimental bias and lack of longterm safety studies (Laver et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2013). Other preventative measures such as Vitamin D and omega-3 fatty acid supplements, and the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), have been put forward with some evidence of efficacy, but definitive proof has yet to be presented that these therapeutic strategies work (Weller and Budson 2018).

More recently, developing therapies have been targeting tau protein and the amyloid plaques. These strategies differ very much in their mechanistic approaches. Accumulation of amyloid plaques induces phosphorylation of tau proteins, so the targeting of amyloid plaques focuses on the underlying pathophysiology of the disease. In contrast, the targeting of tau proteins puts focus on what is believed to be the direct cause of the symptoms (Doggrell 2019). Approaches based on this hypothesis, dubbed the amyloid cascade, have overall made some progress in clinical trials, but definitive results remain elusive to demonstrate their efficacy. For example, the beta-secretase 1 inhibitor verubecestat showed great promise in

early animal and clinical trials, but failed phase III clinical trials, leaving very little progress in treatment by preventing amyloid plaque deposition (Doggrell 2019). Tau vaccines have also gained traction as an experimental approach, and while some have progressed to phase III clinical trials, it remains to be seen what kind of efficacy these treatments will have for human patients (Weller and Budson 2018).

Since HD pathology is downstream of a mutation in the HTT gene, treatment for the condition is more challenging than other CNS disorders. Some treatment strategies focus on modulating the transcription of HTT genes in DNA. These include zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs) and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENS). The goal of these nucleases is to cause a double-strand break in the DNA at the desired location. Specific nucleotide sequences can then be delivered with the intent that they will act as a template for homology-directed DNA repair after the break occurs (Tabrizi et al. 2019). The advantages of this approach are that it offers a potential long-term treatment for HD after a single administration of the treatment. The drawbacks of this treatment strategy are that they are irreversible and the potential lack of specificity could lead to the disruption of nontarget genes. CRISPR and Cas9 use a similar approach but do not use a protein domain to recognize the desired nucleotide sequences (Tabrizi et al. 2019). Though these newer approaches also present much promise in HD treatments, they are still more unique fields of research and must be further developed for application in human patients.

Similarly, small interfering RNA (siRNA) and synthetic microRNA (miRNA) are being utilized to suppress the translation of huntingtin proteins. This approach has shown promise in preventing the development of the disease in mice, and no adverse reactions to lowered huntingtin protein levels have been observed in early primate research. This indicates that while efficacy is yet to be seen phenotypically with this approach, it is well tolerated by animal subjects so far. Long-term exposure to these RNAs can, however, instigate an immune response through increased interferon expression and toll-like receptor interactions, as the RNAs can resemble viral products. Additionally, liver toxicity has been observed using these treatments (Tabrizi et al. 2019).

Other strategies focus on alleviating symptoms that occur as HD progresses, such as chorea, cognitive decline, and dementia. Two drugs, tetrabenazine and, more recently, deutetrabenazine, are currently approved for the treatment of chorea. While tetrabenazine was associated with the development of depression and suicidal thoughts, early evidence suggests that deutetrabenazine is better tolerated by patients, but more time is required in the market before a complete safety profile can be compiled for the latter of the two drugs (Heo and Scott 2017; Wyant et al. 2017). Other antipsychotic drugs have been tried with mixed results, and while other targets have been investigated, such as NMDA receptors, there has been little progress in developing other therapies for chorea in HD (Wyant et al. 2017).

Treatment of cognitive and psychiatric difficulties associated with HD has proven difficult. Hypotheses regarding excitotoxicity as a possible mechanism imply memantine may be efficacious, but further testing is required. For psychiatric conditions such as suicidality and depression, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) are a primary recommendation but can be dangerous when combined with other drugs, including opiates (Bruggeman and O'Day 2020; Wyant et al. 2017). A plethora of other treatments are currently being investigated to treat both the psychiatric and cognitive implications of HD and to discuss even their broader categories would take pages to cover in this chapter, but a useful summary of developing therapies can be found in *GeneReviews* (Caron et al. 1993).

Cell-Based Therapies for CNS Disorders

With the difficulties that accompany pharmacological and genetic approaches to CNS treatments, cell-based therapies are becoming more popular as an alternative therapeutic strategy. One strategy that has gained some attention in research is manipulating immune cell polarization, including microglia in the CNS. One specific example is seen in stroke research. It is believed that controlling the polarization of microglia and manipulating their phenotype to an anti-inflammatory M2 state may help control the rampant inflammation seen poststroke (Hatakeyama et al. 2020). Progress on this treatment angle could lead to breakthroughs in other conditions, as uncontrolled inflammation seems to be almost universal in CNS conditions, whether they are autoimmune or neurodegenerative. The shift in focus on glial cells may also be an aspect of therapy extrapolated upon. Similar focuses can be found when evaluating the overall activity of microglia in MS (Guerrero and Sicotte 2020). The elimination of overactive immunity is a central strategy for the treatment of NMO, as hematopoietic stem cell transplantation aims to in a manner "reset" a patient's immune system (Ceglie et al. 2020). Hematopoietic stem cells taken from umbilical cord blood have also been shown to improve the health of dopaminergic neurons in a 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MTPT) model of Parkinson's disease in mice, and they contribute toward angiogenesis after hind limb ischemia (Das et al. 2009; Lu et al. 2013). Additionally, hematopoietic stem cells taken from umbilical cord blood have shown efficacy in treating animal models of diabetes and osteoporosis, and have shown promise in treating myocardial ischemia after ex vivo expansion (Aggarwal et al. 2012; Kanji et al. 2014; Lu et al. 2010). Another approach has been to influence the proliferation and differentiation of endogenous neural stem cells (NSC), as seen in AD research, using the rationale that neurogenesis is severely limited in AD and that this strategy may counteract that aspect of the disease (Cosacak et al. 2020).

Additionally, multiple studies involving the application of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) of various origins have begun clinical trials, with some treatments reaching phase II as of 2020 (Cummings et al. 2020). MSCs have become a popular experimental treatment as they provide multiple benefits, including potent antiinflammatory capabilities as well as their ability to supply paracrine support through the secretion of growth factors (Mishra et al. 2020).

One downside to the use of many types of MSCs is that they can be difficult to access (Mushahary et al. 2018). For this reason, dental pulp–derived stem cells (DPSCs) have become popular in therapeutic research. These cells are isolated from

the dental pulp of third molars, which are broadly discarded as routine medical waste. The isolation process for these cells is straightforward, and they can be easily passaged many times while keeping their stem cell properties (Suchanek et al. 2007; Yamada et al. 2019). They have repeatedly shown multipotency and are able to differentiate along osteogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, and neurogenic lineages (Osathanon et al. 2014). Another benefit of DPSCs and their potential application in CNS disorders is their origin in the neural crest, implying increased compatibility with the CNS (Noda et al. 2019). They also have been shown to secrete various growth factors like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), as well as neurotrophic factors such as BDNF and GDNF. Already, DPSCs have shown some promise in treating several disease states, including osteoporosis, diabetic wound healing, and arthritis (Kanji et al. 2021; Rolph et al. 2020).

These advantages come with the other standard advantages of MSCs, such as potent anti-inflammatory activity as well as antioxidant activity. Given the broad spectrum in which these cells are able to operate, they are attractive as a multifaceted approach to the conditions described above. Their ability to modulate inflammatory attacks gears most toward controlling the activity of local microglia, and the inflammatory activity of infiltrating immune cells. Simultaneously, they can suppress the levels of reactive oxygen species and the harm caused by these molecules, which are often produced by immune cells and astrocytes undergoing severe gliosis, seen in each of these conditions (Ullah et al. 2018; Zhou et al. 2020). While negating the negative effects seen from inflammation and ROS, these cells can also facilitate neuroprotective effects and, potentially, neuroregeneration (Tsutsui 2020; Varga and Gerber 2014). While these cells may be ineffective in treating the underlying cause of some diseases, such as the mutations present in HD, they may be more efficacious in treating a broader number of symptoms that would normally take multiple drugs to cover.

The main difficulties in applying stem cell transplants are both mechanisms of delivery and the viability of stem cells postinjection. In particular, the delivery through the BBB, as with many CNS treatments, will have to be facilitated. In some conditions, there are windows when the BBB has increased permeability, such as during one of the biphasic openings of the BBB after a stroke occurs, and neurodegenerative diseases appear to compromise BBB integrity (Boese et al. 2020). This, combined with the fact that DPSCs have demonstrated the ability to home in on injured sites in both in vitro and in vivo experiments, presents some early promise to develop effective delivery methods (Kiraly et al. 2011; Xiao et al. 2017). Should these challenges be overcome, the potential upside to this therapeutic strategy is substantial. As discussed in the introduction, much of the CNS research that has historically been performed, and many of the therapeutic strategies thus far, have focused on preserving neurons. This, of course, is an essential aspect of promoting long-term recovery, but the incorporation of glial cells into the recovery equation, as well as having access to a treatment that can support the healthy function of both neurons and glial cells with minimal risk of immune rejection, could prove invaluable, as the health and functions of each of these cells are inseparably intertwined with each other (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4 DPSC effects on astrocyte and microglia functions and neuroprotection Astrocytes and microglia are both capable of producing inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β . This leads to M1 activation in microglia, and can help induce gliosis in astrocytes. These signals also negatively impact neuronal function and can help facilitate the breakdown of synapses by microglia. ROS are also produced in both M1 microglia and reactive astrocytes. These cause a myriad of problems such as the oxidation and breakdown of cell membranes, which affects the function of all three cell types. DPSCs could help remedy these situations by secreting anti-inflammatory factors such as IL-10. They have also demonstrated anti-oxidant activity, counteracting ROS production from the glial cells. They are able to also provide neurotrophic support through the secretion of factors such as BDNF and GDNF, exerting a protective effect on both neurons and astrocytes

Conclusion

Research of the CNS and treatments of its pathologies have traditionally focused on neurons as the key to eliciting better outcomes in neuro-deficiencies and traumas. As research into the CNS has deepened, so has the arsenal of tools available to evaluate the roles of other cell types in both the physiology and pathologies of the CNS. These advances have been instrumental in revealing exactly how connected neurons and glial cell interactions are, and thus the importance not only of supporting neuronal health and regeneration but also of promoting the proper functions of microglia and astrocytes as supporting cells.

CNS pathologies are often multifaceted and difficult to treat with a single drug, and the drug approval process for many of these conditions, whether they are related

to CNS trauma, autoimmune mechanisms, or neurodegeneration, has proven to be challenging. While some treatments have been approved in the USA for these conditions, there remains a demand for more efficacious treatments that result in more favorable outcomes.

Viable alternatives are being researched to meet this need, despite the number of setbacks seen in the drug approval process. And while not without its challenges, the application of stem cell transplantation represents a field of great potential, as stem cells can act on multiple fronts and are able to react to their signaling microenvironment. The amount of potential that lies in these treatments remains to be seen, as this approach is still in its infancy and requires a large amount of optimization. As time passes, knowledge of the mechanisms underlying these pathologies will be better elucidated, and more effective therapies will follow. So, while there has been a steep uphill battle for treating CNS disorders, there is still room for optimism as the understanding of these diseases continues to grow and hopefully, in the near future, an effective regenerative therapy will be developed.

Acknowledgments This work was supported in part by National Institutes of Health grants, R01AR068279 (NIAMS), STTR 1R41EY024217 (NEI), STTR R42EY031196 (NEI), and STTR 1R41AG057242 (NIA). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. All figures were created using Biorender.com.

References

- Abdullahi W, Tripathi D, Ronaldson PT (2018) Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in ischemic stroke: targeting tight junctions and transporters for vascular protection. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 315: C343–C356
- Adams KL, Gallo V (2018) The diversity and disparity of the glial scar. Nat Neurosci 21:9–15
- Aggarwal R, Lu J, Kanji S, Joseph M, Das M, Noble GJ, McMichael BK et al (2012) Human umbilical cord blood-derived CD34+ cells reverse osteoporosis in NOD/SCID mice by altering osteoblastic and osteoclastic activities. PLoS One 7:e39365
- Allen NJ, Eroglu C (2017) Cell biology of astrocyte-synapse interactions. Neuron 96:697-708
- Allen NJ, Lyons DA (2018) Glia as architects of central nervous system formation and function. Science 362:181–185
- Alvarez JI, Dodelet-Devillers A, Kebir H, Ifergan I, Fabre PJ, Terouz S, Sabbagh M et al (2011) The hedgehog pathway promotes blood-brain barrier integrity and CNS immune quiescence. Science 334:1727–1731
- Anrather J, Iadecola C (2016) Inflammation and stroke: an overview. Neurotherapeutics 13: 661–670
- Augusto-Oliveira M, Arrifano GP, Lopes-Araujo A, Santos-Sacramento L, Takeda PY, Anthony DC, Malva JO et al (2019) What do microglia really do in healthy adult brain? Cell 8
- Bazargani N, Attwell D (2016) Astrocyte calcium signaling: the third wave. Nat Neurosci 19: 182–189
- Boese AC, Hamblin MH, Lee JP (2020) Neural stem cell therapy for neurovascular injury in Alzheimer's disease. Exp Neurol 324:113112
- Bruggeman C, O'Day CS (2020) Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor Toxicity. In StatPearls (Treasure Island (FL)) Publishing; 2022 Jan. 2021 Jul 10. PMID:30521236
- Burda JE, Bernstein AM, Sofroniew MV (2016) Astrocyte roles in traumatic brain injury. Exp Neurol 275(Pt 3):305–315

- Caron NS, Wright GEB, Hayden MR (1993) Huntington disease. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, LJH B, Mirzaa G, Amemiya A (eds) GeneReviews((R)), Seattle (WA)
- Ceglie G, Papetti L, Valeriani M, Merli P (2020) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in Neuromyelitis Optica-Spectrum Disorders (NMO-SD): state-of-the-art and future perspectives. Int J Mol Sci 21
- Chen T, Lennon VA, Liu YU, Bosco DB, Li Y, Yi MH, Zhu J et al (2020) Astrocyte-microglia interaction drives evolving neuromyelitis optica lesion. J Clin Invest 130:4025–4038
- Colangelo AM, Alberghina L, Papa M (2014) Astrogliosis as a therapeutic target for neurodegenerative diseases. Neurosci Lett 565:59–64
- Condello C, Yuan P, Grutzendler J (2018) Microglia-mediated neuroprotection, TREM2, and Alzheimer's disease: evidence from optical imaging. Biol Psychiatry 83:377–387
- Cosacak MI, Bhattarai P, Kizil C (2020) Alzheimer's disease, neural stem cells and neurogenesis: cellular phase at single-cell level. Neural Regen Res 15:824–827
- Cowan M, Petri WA Jr (2018) Microglia: immune regulators of neurodevelopment. Front Immunol 9:2576
- Cummings J, Lee G, Ritter A, Sabbagh M, Zhong K (2020) Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2020. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 6:e12050
- Das H, Abdulhameed N, Joseph M, Sakthivel R, Mao HQ, Pompili VJ (2009) Ex vivo nanofiber expansion and genetic modification of human cord blood-derived progenitor/stem cells enhances vasculogenesis. Cell Transplant 18:305–318
- Doggrell SA (2019) Lessons that can be learnt from the failure of verubecestat in Alzheimer's disease. Expert Opin Pharmacother 20:2095–2099
- Doshi A, Chataway J (2016) Multiple sclerosis, a treatable disease. Clin Med (Lond) 16:s53-s59
- Duan T, Smith AJ, Verkman AS (2018) Complement-dependent bystander injury to neurons in AQP4-IgG seropositive neuromyelitis optica. J Neuroinflammation 15:294
- Eldahshan W, Fagan SC, Ergul A (2019) Inflammation within the neurovascular unit: focus on microglia for stroke injury and recovery. Pharmacol Res 147:104349
- Emberson J, Lees KR, Lyden P, Blackwell L, Albers G, Bluhmki E, Brott T et al (2014) Effect of treatment delay, age, and stroke severity on the effects of intravenous thrombolysis with alteplase for acute ischaemic stroke: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. Lancet 384:1929–1935
- Faiz KW, Sundseth A, Thommessen B, Ronning OM (2018) Patient knowledge on stroke risk factors, symptoms and treatment options. Vasc Health Risk Manag 14:37–40
- Fakhoury M (2018) Microglia and astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease: implications for therapy. Curr Neuropharmacol 16:508–518
- Falk S, Gotz M (2017) Glial control of neurogenesis. Curr Opin Neurobiol 47:188-195
- Fan X, Agid Y (2018) At the origin of the history of Glia. Neuroscience 385:255-271
- Feinstein A, Freeman J, Lo AC (2015) Treatment of progressive multiple sclerosis: what works, what does not, and what is needed. Lancet Neurol 14:194–207
- Fields RD, Araque A, Johansen-Berg H, Lim SS, Lynch G, Nave KA, Nedergaard M et al (2014) Glial biology in learning and cognition. Neuroscientist 20:426–431
- Freeman MR (2010) Specification and morphogenesis of astrocytes. Science 330:774-778
- Frost GR, Li YM (2017) The role of astrocytes in amyloid production and Alzheimer's disease. Open Biol 7
- Garaschuk O, Verkhratsky A (2019) Physiology of microglia. Methods Mol Biol 2034:27-40
- George PM, Steinberg GK (2015) Novel stroke therapeutics: unraveling stroke pathophysiology and its impact on clinical treatments. Neuron 87:297–309
- Guerrero BL, Sicotte NL (2020) Microglia in multiple sclerosis: friend or foe? Front Immunol 11:374
- Hansen DV, Hanson JE, Sheng M (2018) Microglia in Alzheimer's disease. J Cell Biol 217: 459–472

- Hatakeyama M, Ninomiya I, Otsu Y, Omae K, Kimura Y, Onodera O, Fukushima M et al (2020) Cell therapies under clinical trials and polarized cell therapies in pre-clinical studies to treat ischemic stroke and neurological diseases: a literature review. Int J Mol Sci 21
- Hauser SL, Cree BAC (2020) Treatment of multiple sclerosis: a review. Am J Med 133(1380-1390): e1382
- Heo YA, Scott LJ (2017) Deutetrabenazine: a review in chorea associated with Huntington's disease. Drugs 77:1857–1864
- Hickman S, Izzy S, Sen P, Morsett L, El Khoury J (2018) Microglia in neurodegeneration. Nat Neurosci 21:1359–1369
- Huang TL, Lin KH, Wang JK, Tsai RK (2018) Treatment strategies for neuromyelitis optica. Ci Ji Yi Xue Za Zhi 30:204–208
- Huda S, Whittam D, Bhojak M, Chamberlain J, Noonan C, Jacob A (2019) Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Clin Med (Lond) 19:169–176
- Jakel S, Dimou L (2017) Glial cells and their function in the adult brain: a journey through the history of their ablation. Front Cell Neurosci 11:24
- Kanji S, Das M, Aggarwal R, Lu J, Joseph M, Pompili VJ, Das H (2014) Nanofiber-expanded human umbilical cord blood-derived CD34(+) cell therapy accelerates cutaneous wound closure in NOD/SCID mice. J Cell Mol Med 18:685–697
- Kanji S, Sarkar R, Pramanik A, Kshirsagar S, Greene CJ, Das H (2021) Dental pulp-derived stem cells inhibit osteoclast differentiation by secreting osteoprotegerin and deactivating AKT signalling in myeloid cells. J Cell Mol Med 25:2390–2403
- Kettenmann H, Hanisch UK, Noda M, Verkhratsky A (2011) Physiology of microglia. Physiol Rev 91:461–553
- Khakh BS, Sofroniew MV (2014) Astrocytes and Huntington's disease. ACS Chem Neurosci 5: 494–496
- Khakh BS, Beaumont V, Cachope R, Munoz-Sanjuan I, Goldman SA, Grantyn R (2017) Unravelling and exploiting astrocyte dysfunction in Huntington's disease. Trends Neurosci 40:422–437
- Kiraly M, Kadar K, Horvathy DB, Nardai P, Racz GZ, Lacza Z, Varga G, Gerber G (2011) Integration of neuronally predifferentiated human dental pulp stem cells into rat brain in vivo. Neurochem Int 59:371–381
- Kleiter I, Gold R (2016) Present and future therapies in Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum disorders. Neurotherapeutics 13:70–83
- Kumar R, Paul BS, Singh G, Kaur A (2018) Therapeutic efficacy of plasma exchange in Neuromyelitis Optica. Ann Indian Acad Neurol 21:140–143
- Lambrinos A, Schaink AK, Dhalla I, Krings T, Casaubon LK, Sikich N, Lum C et al (2016) Mechanical Thrombectomy in acute ischemic stroke: a systematic review. Can J Neurol Sci 43: 455–460
- Lan X, Han X, Li Q, Yang QW, Wang J (2017) Modulators of microglial activation and polarization after intracerebral haemorrhage. Nat Rev Neurol 13:420–433
- Laver K, Dyer S, Whitehead C, Clemson L, Crotty M (2016) Interventions to delay functional decline in people with dementia: a systematic review of systematic reviews. BMJ Open 6:e010767
- Liaw N, Liebeskind D (2020) Emerging therapies in acute ischemic stroke. F1000Res 9
- Liebner S, Dijkhuizen RM, Reiss Y, Plate KH, Agalliu D, Constantin G (2018) Functional morphology of the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. Acta Neuropathol 135:311–336
- Lu J, Pompili VJ, Das H (2010) Hematopoietic stem cells: ex-vivo expansion and therapeutic potential for myocardial ischemia. Stem Cells Cloning 3:57–68
- Lu J, Kanji S, Aggarwal R, Das M, Joseph M, Wu LC, Mao HQ et al (2013) Hematopoietic stem cells improve dopaminergic neuron in the MPTP-mice. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 18:970–981
- Ma Y, Wang J, Wang Y, Yang GY (2017) The biphasic function of microglia in ischemic stroke. Prog Neurobiol 157:247–272

- Main BS, Villapol S, Sloley SS, Barton DJ, Parsadanian M, Agbaegbu C, Stefos K et al (2018) Apolipoprotein E4 impairs spontaneous blood brain barrier repair following traumatic brain injury. Mol Neurodegener 13:17
- Manda-Handzlik A, Demkow U (2019) The brain entangled: the contribution of neutrophil extracellular traps to the diseases of the central nervous system. Cell 8
- Matejuk A, Ransohoff RM (2020) Crosstalk between astrocytes and microglia: an overview. Front Immunol 11:1416
- Miron VE, Boyd A, Zhao JW, Yuen TJ, Ruckh JM, Shadrach JL, van Wijngaarden P et al (2013) M2 microglia and macrophages drive oligodendrocyte differentiation during CNS remyelination. Nat Neurosci 16:1211–1218
- Mishra VK, Shih HH, Parveen F, Lenzen D, Ito E, Chan TF, Ke LY (2020) Identifying the therapeutic significance of mesenchymal stem cells. Cell 9
- Montagne A, Nation A, Sagare AP, Barisano G, Sweeney MD, Chakhoyan A, Pachicano M et al (2020) APOE4 leads to blood-brain barrier dysfunction predicting cognitive decline. Nature 581:71–76
- Mushahary D, Spittler A, Kasper C, Weber V, Charwat V (2018) Isolation, cultivation, and characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cytometry A 93:19–31
- Neal M, Richardson JR (2018) Epigenetic regulation of astrocyte function in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis 1864:432–443
- Noda S, Kawashima N, Yamamoto M, Hashimoto K, Nara K, Sekiya I, Okiji T (2019) Effect of cell culture density on dental pulp-derived mesenchymal stem cells with reference to osteogenic differentiation. Sci Rep 9:5430
- Osathanon T, Sawangmake C, Nowwarote N, Pavasant P (2014) Neurogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells using different induction protocols. Oral Dis 20:352–358
- Palpagama TH, Waldvogel HJ, Faull RLM, Kwakowsky A (2019) The role of microglia and astrocytes in Huntington's disease. Front Mol Neurosci 12:258
- Papadopoulos MC, Bennett JL, Verkman AS (2014) Treatment of neuromyelitis optica: state-ofthe-art and emerging therapies. Nat Rev Neurol 10:493–506
- Ponath G, Park C, Pitt D (2018) The role of astrocytes in multiple sclerosis. Front Immunol 9:217
- Raha AA, Henderson JW, Stott SR, Vuono R, Foscarin S, Friedland RP, Zaman SH (2017) Neuroprotective effect of TREM-2 in aging and Alzheimer's disease model. J Alzheimers Dis 55:199–217
- Rawat V, Wang S, Sima J, Bar R, Liraz O, Gundimeda U, Parekh T et al (2019) ApoE4 alters ABCA1 membrane trafficking in astrocytes. J Neurosci 39:9611–9622
- Rolph DN, Deb M, Kanji S, Greene CJ, Das M, Joseph M, Aggarwal R et al (2020) Ferutinin directs dental pulp-derived stem cells towards the osteogenic lineage by epigenetically regulating canonical Wnt signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis 1866:165314
- Rothhammer V, Borucki DM, Tjon EC, Takenak MC, Chao CC, Ardura-Fabregat A, de Lima KA et al (2018) Microglial control of astrocytes in response to microbial metabolites. Nature 557: 724–728
- Safieh M, Korczyn AD, Michaelson DM (2019) ApoE4: an emerging therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease. BMC Med 17:64
- Sekerdag E, Solaroglu I, Gursoy-Ozdemir Y (2018) Cell death mechanisms in stroke and novel molecular and cellular treatment options. Curr Neuropharmacol 16:1396–1415
- Silver J, Miller JH (2004) Regeneration beyond the glial scar. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:146–156
- Sofroniew MV (2009) Molecular dissection of reactive astrogliosis and glial scar formation. Trends Neurosci 32:638–647
- Sofroniew MV (2015) Astrocyte barriers to neurotoxic inflammation. Nat Rev Neurosci 16: 249–263
- Somjen GG (1988) Nervenkitt: notes on the history of the concept of neuroglia. Glia 1:2-9
- Sorge RE, Mapplebeck JC, Rosen S, Beggs S, Taves S, Alexander JK, Martin LJ et al (2015) Different immune cells mediate mechanical pain hypersensitivity in male and female mice. Nat Neurosci 18:1081–1083

- Suchanek J, Soukup T, Ivancakova R, Karbanova J, Hubkova V, Pytlik R, Kucerova L (2007) Human dental pulp stem cells–isolation and long term cultivation. Acta Med (Hradec Kralove) 50:195–201
- Sweeney MD, Sagare AP, Zlokovic BV (2018) Blood-brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Neurol 14:133–150
- Tabrizi SJ, Ghosh R, Leavitt BR (2019) Huntingtin lowering strategies for disease modification in Huntington's disease. Neuron 102:899
- Tay TL, Savage JC, Hui CW, Bisht K, Tremblay ME (2017) Microglia across the lifespan: from origin to function in brain development, plasticity and cognition. J Physiol 595:1929–1945
- Tsutsui TW (2020) Dental pulp stem cells: advances to applications. Stem Cells Cloning 13:33-42
- Ullah I, Choe YH, Khan M, Bharti D, Shivakumar SB, Lee HJ, Son YB et al (2018) Dental pulpderived stem cells can counterbalance peripheral nerve injury-induced oxidative stress and supraspinal neuro-inflammation in rat brain. Sci Rep 8:15795
- Varga G, Gerber G (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells of dental origin as promising tools for neuroregeneration. Stem Cell Res Ther 5:61
- Voet S, Prinz M, van Loo G (2019) Microglia in central nervous system inflammation and multiple sclerosis pathology. Trends Mol Med 25:112–123
- Wang H, Song G, Chuang H, Chiu C, Abdelmaksoud A, Ye Y, Zhao L (2018) Portrait of glial scar in neurological diseases. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 31:2058738418801406
- Weller J, Budson A (2018) Current understanding of Alzheimer's disease diagnosis and treatment. F1000Res 7. Published online 2018 Jul 31. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.14506.1. PMID: 30135715
- Wolf SA, Boddeke HW, Kettenmann H (2017) Microglia in physiology and disease. Annu Rev Physiol 79:619–643
- Wyant KJ, Ridder AJ, Dayalu P (2017) Huntington's disease-update on treatments. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 17:33
- Xiao L, Ide R, Saiki C, Kumazawa Y, Okamura H (2017) Human dental pulp cells differentiate toward neuronal cells and promote Neuroregeneration in adult Organotypic hippocampal slices in vitro. Int J Mol Sci 18
- Yamada Y, Nakamura-Yamada S, Kusano K, Baba S (2019) Clinical potential and current Progress of dental pulp stem cells for various systemic diseases in regenerative medicine: a concise review. Int J Mol Sci 20
- Yang G, Wang Y, Tian J, Liu JP (2013) Huperzine a for Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. PLoS One 8:e74916
- Zhou LL, Liu W, Wu YM, Sun WL, Dorfer CE, Fawzy El-Sayed KM (2020) Oral mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells: the immunomodulatory masters. Stem Cells Int 2020:1327405
- Zrzavy T, Hametner S, Wimmer I, Butovsky O, Weiner HL, Lassmann H (2017) Loss of 'homeostatic' microglia and patterns of their activation in active multiple sclerosis. Brain 140: 1900–1913



Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) as a Platform for Modeling Arrhythmias

Lisa Lin, Tiffany Barszczewski, Patrick G. Burgon, and Glen F. Tibbits

Contents

Introduction	877
Establishing Patient-Derived hiPSC Lines	878
hiPSC Reprogramming	878
hiPSC Quality Control and Genotyping	879
Genome Editing Applications	880
hiPSC-CM Differentiation, Purification, and Maturation	881
Differentiation and Definition of Homogenous Cardiomyocyte Subpopulations	881
Maturation	882
Phenotypic Assays	883
Transcriptomic and Proteomic Analysis	883
Metabolic Considerations	884
hiPSC-CM Morphology	884
Contractility and Force Generation	885
Electrophysiological Measurements and Arrhythmia Assessment	885
hiPSC-CMs for Proarrhythmic Drug Assessment	886

Lisa Lin and Tiffany Barszczewski contributed equally with all other contributors.

L. Lin

Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

e-mail: lla5@sfu.ca

T. Barszczewski · G. F. Tibbits (⊠) Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

Cellular and Regenerative Medicine Centre, BC Children's Hospital Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada

e-mail: tiffany_barszczewski@sfu.ca; tibbits@sfu.ca

P. G. Burgon (⊠) Department of Chemistry and Earth Sciences, College of Arts and Sciences, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar e-mail: patrick.burgon@qu.edu.qa

© Crown 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_44

Conclusion	887
Cross-References	888
References	888

Abstract

Cardiac arrhythmias can arise due to a host of both genetic and acquired factors. Specifically, the genetic basis of arrhythmogenesis is not fully understood due to the lack of robust models that reliably recapitulate human physiology. Humaninduced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) have strengthened regenerative medicine by producing cells that bear the genetic signature of patients being studied. Upon differentiation into hiPSC-derived cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs), these cells can be used to phenotype known mutations or suspected variants that may contribute to abnormal electrical activity in the heart. Furthermore, novel therapeutics can be screened for the management and treatment of arrhythmias in patient-specific hiPSC-CMs. In this chapter, we will briefly discuss the practical utility of hiPSC-CMs to study inherited arrhythmias with a specific focus on atrial fibrillation (AF), catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia (CPVT), and disruptive electrical events that may occur in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM). We will describe an investigative pipeline that integrates genome editing, tissue engineering, biobanking, and systems biology as complementary approaches. Together, these various applications are directed toward a common goal of bench-to-bedside characterization of arrhythmias in patient-specific hiPSC-CMs.

Keywords	
Arrhythmia · Pluripotent	Cardiomyocytes \cdot Cardiomyopathy \cdot Fibrillation \cdot hiPSCs \cdot
Abbreviations	
AF	Atrial fibrillation
AFM	Atomic force microscopy
CiPA	Comprehensive in vitro proarrhythmia assay
DCM	Dilated cardiomyopathy
ddPCR	Droplet digital polymerase chain reaction
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FFA	Free fatty acids
FFT	Fast Fourier transform
GECI	Genetically encoded calcium indicator
GEVI	Genetically encoded voltage indicator
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HCM	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy
hESCs	Human embryonic stem cells
hiPSC-CMs	Human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes
hiPSCs	Human-induced pluripotent stem cells

LQTS	Long QT syndrome
LTCC	L-type calcium channel
MEA	Multielectrode array
M-MLV	Modified Moloney leukemia virus
MS	Mass spectrometry
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
pegRNA	Prime editing guide RNA
PTM	Posttranslational modification
QC	Quality control
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RyR	Ryanodine receptor
SCD	Sudden cardiac death
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TTs	T-tubules
VF	Ventricular fibrillation

Introduction

Human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) continue to enhance the study of complex diseases – especially those that contribute to certain cardiac pathophysiology – by putting personalized medicine within arm's reach. With this progress, researchers now have unprecedented access to cell-type and patient-specific assays, including high-throughput drug screening and disease modeling. Shinya Yamanaka was awarded the 2012 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for his team's transformative work in 2007, generating pluripotent stem cells from reprogrammed somatic cells (Takahashi et al. 2007). The hiPSCs share similar pluripotency and differentiation capacities to human embryonic stem cells (hESCs). The initial use of somatic cells circumvents the ethical challenges of using hESCs and are easily obtained through minimally invasive procedures (e.g., skin punch biopsies, blood draws, and buccal swabs). hiPSC lines can be maintained in culture endlessly and cryopreserved for long-term study.

Since Yamanaka's seminal publication, tremendous effort has been made to facilitate the differentiation of hESCs and hiPSCs into functional cardiomyocytes (Burridge et al. 2014; Lian et al. 2013). The process employs a chemically defined small molecule protocol to initially direct the hiPSCs toward a mesodermal lineage by adding a glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) inhibitor. The subsequent cardiac specification is induced by a Wnt pathway inhibitor to produce spontaneously beating, primarily ventricular, hiPSC-CMs. Other cardiac cell types, namely, atrial and nodal hiPSC-CMs, can also be specified by the temporal addition of retinoic acid during the differentiation process (Protze et al. 2017).

With current advancements in bench-to-bedside research, hiPSCs from patients harboring pathogenic mutants (or suspect variants identified by genome-wide association studies (GWAS)) can be generated and differentiated into the hiPSC-CMs to model heart rhythm conditions (Cagavi et al. 2018). To put the importance of this research field into perspective, an estimated three million individuals in the United States are affected by atrial fibrillation (AF). With a rapidly aging population, the number is expected to rise to upwards of 12 million by 2030 (Colilla et al. 2013; Miyasaka et al. 2006). In parallel, ventricular arrhythmias lapse into high incidences of hospitalization and may be responsible for up to 400,000 sudden cardiac death (SCD) cases each year (Khurshid et al. 2018; Roberts-Thomson et al. 2011). Inherited arrhythmias are a subset of these electrical events and are arguably more sinister in nature; by which an individual may experience ventricular tachycardia once in their life due to physical trauma or a myocardial infarct, patients who are genetically predisposed to an arrhythmic condition may face obstacles operating against their health daily. This predisposition can dramatically decrease the quality of life for individuals who may also be required to compromise activities such as exercise and play for extra caution.

The genetic and mechanistic bases of inherited rhythmic disorders are complicated, to say the least, although strategies to link gene variants to cardiac diseaseassociated arrhythmias have been ongoing for more than 30 years. Thus, an interdisciplinary approach (descendant from systems biology) using hiPSC-CMs in vitro is required to derive a mechanistic explanation for a given patient's arrhythmogenic phenotype in vivo. Furthermore, when a variant is identified in the patient's genome, a comprehensive characterization of that variant should be carried out.

In this chapter, we briefly describe a pipeline that consolidates hiPSC generation from patients in the clinic. The strategy includes quality control steps to establish cell lines for further hiPSC-CM differentiation. The hiPSC-CMs are then matured and cultured as 2D monolayers or 3D tissue, followed by phenotypic assays that describe the mutant cell line at a transcriptomic-proteomic and functional level (Fig. 1). Fundamentally, the techniques described will streamline characterization of inherited arrhythmias in patient-specific hiPSC-CMs from bench-to-bedside.

Establishing Patient-Derived hiPSC Lines

hiPSC Reprogramming

Retroviral transduction of four transcription factors (Oct3/4, Klf4, Sox2, and c-Myc), now colloquially coined the "Yamanaka factors," was shown to reprogram mouse embryonic and human adult fibroblasts into an embryonic stem cell-like state (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). The group then reprogrammed human adult dermal fibroblasts from skin punch biopsies with the Yamanaka factors into hiPSCs (Takahashi et al. 2007). Seki, Yuasa, and Fukuda (2012) developed a protocol to generate hiPSCs from terminally differentiated T cells in a small blood sample. Together with a less invasive approach to obtain patient cells, they also delivered the Yamanaka factors into the cells using a mutant Sendai virus that, unlike integrative retroviruses, could replicate within the cytoplasm and subsequently is destroyed (Seki et al. 2012). Additionally, non-viral and vector-free delivery of these



Fig. 1 Pipeline for the use of hiPSC-CM. *Genome edited hiPSCs that have undergone Q/C tests

transcription factors is recommended to mitigate unwanted tumorigenesis (Malik and Rao 2013; Narsinh et al. 2011).

hiPSC Quality Control and Genotyping

Careful consideration must be given to the viability, fidelity, and stability of patient (and any commercially obtained) hiPSC lines cultivated in vitro. The hiPSCs are taken through quality control (QC) processes after being generated from either peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or dermal fibroblasts. QC steps can include, but are not limited to:

- Genetic stability Assessment of genetic stability by karyotyping to ensure 23 pairs of chromosomes and/or quantitative PCR (qPCR) detection of common karyotypic abnormalities (e.g., hPSC Genetic Analysis Kit, STEMCELL Technologies, Vancouver, Canada).
- Sterility Routine mycoplasma detection methods are PCR-based mainly due to easy sample preparation for rapid mycoplasma screening (e.g., Mycoplasma PCR Detection Kit, Applied Biological Materials Inc., Richmond, Canada). Bacterial, fungal, and viral testing are also recommended.
- Pluripotency Validation of hiPSCs' differentiation into ecto-, meso-, and endodermal germ layers (e.g., STEMdiff Trilineage Differentiation Kit, STEM Technologies, Vancouver, Canada). Alternatively, an in-house qPCR or droplet digital

PCR (ddPCR) assay can screen for relative (to housekeeping genes) or absolute expression, respectively, of pluripotency markers, such as Nanog (intracellular), Oct4 (intracellular), and TRA-1 (extracellular) transcripts.

Genotypic analysis of the patient cell line should be conducted, first by screening the genome against a panel designed for a specific disease as deemed by clinicians and researchers. The genome may then be studied further either by whole-exome sequencing or whole-genome sequencing, in combination with data from GWAS (Behr et al. 2013; Milan et al. 2010; Tucker and Ellinor 2014). The patient may have single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that are above a given P-value significance threshold identified in GWAS that may be associated with a particular disease phenotype: the first example of this SNP identification in AF was rs2200733 in chromosome 4q25 associated with AF (OR > 1.6) (Gudbjartsson et al. 2007). In addition, sporadic or familial studies may require exon sequencing for genes encoding specific sarcomeric elements or ion channels to find amino acid changes that may affect protein interactions or structure (Dewar et al. 2017; Ellinor et al. 2010; Roston et al. 2018; Shafaattalab et al. 2019a). At this stage, the hiPSCs can be deposited in a biobank for other researchers worldwide to access for study, particularly if there are specific genetic variants, diagnoses, or arrhythmic patient phenotypes of interest.

Genome Editing Applications

Genome editing is a powerful tool for modeling arrhythmias and disease in hiPSC-CMs (Anzalone et al. 2019; Doudna and Charpentier 2014; Rees et al. 2019). With CRISPR/ Cas9 genome editing, a homology-directed repair can facilitate precise base pair changes, as well as large insertions, using an exogenous DNA template (Ran et al. 2013). This technique is relatively straightforward, however; the editing efficiency in hiPSCs and other cell types remains inconveniently low (<3%). Some groups have taken the CRISPR/Cas9 system to new heights with modifications that increase editing efficiencies several fold and eliminate the necessity for double-strand breaks prone to insertions and deletions in non-homologous end-joining repair. Base and prime editing are two CRISPR-based genome editing techniques developed in the Liu lab at the Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard University; base editing utilizes a cytidine or adenine deaminase complexed to a Cas9 nickase to convert cytosine bases to thymine via a uracil intermediate or adenine bases to guanine via an inosine intermediate (Gaudelli et al. 2017; Komor et al. 2016). Prime editing has been making headlines due to the sophisticated design of the system and drastically improved editing efficiencies compared to traditional CRISPR/Cas9 (Anzalone et al. 2019). The protocol involves a Cas9 nickase, but this time fused to a modified Molonev leukemia virus (M-MLV) reverse transcriptase. A prime editing guide RNA (pegRNA) mediates both specific annealing to a target region of interest on the DNA strand, as well as a template sequence that the reverse transcriptase uses to add nucleotides along with the nick (Anzalone et al. 2019). The system is precise and can mediate all 12 point mutations, and smaller insertions and substitutions up to 40 bp long (Anzalone et al. 2019, 2020). Prime editing efficiencies rely heavily on the initial design; notably, the Olson lab at the University of Texas Southwestern pioneered one of the first studies to use prime editing in hiPSCs. They could achieve impressive 20–54% editing efficiencies for a two-nucleotide exon correction in the dystrophin gene (Chemello et al. 2021).

Using the genome editing tools described, there is the freedom to make almost any desired base pair changes and targeted insertions. Importantly, isogenic controls of a patient cell line can be established by correcting suspect genetic variants (Hoekstra et al. 2012). One can reliably compare patient hiPSC-CM assay results with a control line matching their genetic signature by establishing a "corrected" version of their genome. To further investigate a potentially arrhythmogenic variant across a diverse range of genomes, variants of interest can be introduced into "wild-type" cell lines. These hiPSC lines can be procured from phenotypically healthy individuals, as well as commercial sources. Fluorescent tags like genetically encoded voltage indicators (GEVIs) and genetically encoded calcium indicators (GECIs) can also be used during live-cell imaging to track the electrical changes across the cell membrane to indicate action potential activity and morphology (Broyles et al. 2018; Shinnawi et al. 2015). The generation of GFP-sarcomere reporter lines can allow for direct contractility analysis using fast Fourier Transforms (FFTs) or similar tracking applications for further characterization of arrhythmias and associated cardiomyopathies (Sharma et al. 2018; Toepfer et al. 2019). Applications using these fluorescent tags, as well as establishing mutant and isogenic patient-specific hiPSC lines, are crucial in dissecting inherited arrhythmias and will be discussed later in this chapter.

hiPSC-CM Differentiation, Purification, and Maturation

Differentiation and Definition of Homogenous Cardiomyocyte Subpopulations

Protocols for hiPSC-CMs differentiation generally involve temporal modulation of the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway by the addition of small molecules in defined culture media (Burridge et al. 2014; Lian et al. 2013) (Fig. 2). The previously described protocols typically result in 60–85% ventricular-like, 5–30% atrial-like, and 3–15% nodal-like hiPSC-CMs subpopulations with the remainder of the population containing fibroblasts or other non-cardiac cells (Devalla et al. 2015; Hoekstra et al. 2012; Itzhaki et al. 2011; Laksman et al. 2017; Protze et al. 2017). Using more specific cardiac cell types may be useful depending on the arrhythmia being investigated. For example, the retinoic acid signalling pathway has been shown as a regulator of both atrial and nodal lineages. Thus an increase in the percent population of atrial cells and nodal cells can be achieved with the timed addition of retinoic acid during the differentiation process (Gunawan et al. 2021; Lian et al. 2013; Protze et al. 2017). Other strategies to generate chamber-specific cells have also used directed



Fig. 2 Directed differentiation of hiPSCs into immature, fetal-like hiPSC-CMs. Following population purification, chemical, electromechanical, and/or structural treatments are used to induce maturation to produce hiPSC-CMs with more adult-like phenotypes

differentiation protocols combined with electrical conditioning to create electrophysiologically distinct atrial and ventricular tissue (Zhao et al. 2019).

The cardiomyocyte population can be further purified from non-hiPSC-CM cells, which may be vital to avoid confounding data from these cells in the phenotypic assays described later in the chapter (Fig. 2). Enrichment of the cardiomyocyte cell population can be achieved through cardiomyocyte-specific antibody selection combined with a magnetic column (e.g., PSC-Derived Cardiomyocyte Isolation Kit, Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA, USA). Alternatively, metabolic selection, which employs a change from regular maintenance media to glucose-depleted and supplemented with sodium L-lactate, can be used to eliminate non-cardiomyocyte cell types (Feyen et al. 2020). The principle behind this strategy is that cardiomyocytes, unlike most other cell types, preferentially use free fatty acids (FFAs) as a substrate for energy consumption but can use other substrates as well. In the absence of glucose, CMs are still able to efficiently produce energy from lactate and survive (Tohyama et al. 2013). However, non-cardiomyocyte viability is low with a multi-day treatment of this metabolic selection media, and thus, they are eliminated from the culture. It is important to note that the co-culture of cardiac fibroblasts or endothelial cells is a promising strategy for structural and electrophysiological hiPSC-CM maturation (Beauchamp et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2010b). Thus, these non-cardiomyocytes may need to be cultured separately and mixed with a specific hiPSC-CM population in a defined quantity. With near 100% hiPSC-CM subtype specification, modeling arrhythmias and therapeutic drug screening are more refined for further translation to in vivo patient cell phenotypes.

Maturation

Maturation of the hiPSC-CMs remains one of the most significant barriers to their application in research and clinical therapeutics. While they are still able to recapitulate many arrhythmogenic phenotypes observed in patients and other models (e.g., murine models, biochemical studies), hiPSC-CMs produced under standard differentiation protocols retain many of the structural and functional qualities of a fetal cardiomyocyte. Current research is focused on tackling the challenge of simulating the cardiomyocyte maturation process in vitro (Karbassi et al. 2020; Lundy et al. 2013;

Marchianò et al. 2019; Piccini et al. 2015; Sun and Nunes 2017), though complicated and not fully achieved yet. Many strategies for hiPSC-CM maturation are outlined in the literature and encompass guided electrical, chemical, and metabolic treatments (Feyen et al. 2020; Garbern et al. 2020; Ronaldson-Bouchard et al. 2018; Sun and Nunes 2017). In addition, the growth of hiPSC-CMs as 3D tissue, such as organoids, spheroids, or microtissue mounted on structural scaffolding, has helped to enhance some phenotypes that are missing in immature 2D tissue, including the development of T-tubules (TT) for excitation-contraction coupling (Kim et al. 2010a; Parikh et al. 2017; Ronaldson-Bouchard et al. 2018; Sun and Nunes 2017). Integration of these approaches, which involve mechanochemical and metabolic cues, could help activate multiple, cascading molecular signalling pathways to enact developmental changes in the cells ranging from transcriptional and protein expression to tissue and organ morphology and function (Fig. 2).

Phenotypic Assays

Transcriptomic and Proteomic Analysis

Most studies of this nature employ transcriptional analyses such as real-time quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) to give insight into the average expression profile relative to housekeeping genes of the hiPSCs or hiPSC-CMs. However, newer techniques like ddPCR, Nanostring, and bulk- and single-cell RNA-seq can capture a highresolution, high-throughput snapshot of transcript heterogeneity within a cell population (Geiss et al. 2008; Paik et al. 2020; Taylor et al. 2017). Transcriptomics can be applied to quantifying the expression of markers for pluripotency, cell subpopulations post-differentiation, and markedly, cardiac maturation. In the context of modeling arrhythmias, transcript expression of genes associated with intracellular Ca2+ handling, ion channel expression, contractile function, and gap junction coupling between hiPSC-CMs can be assessed (Guo et al. 2019; Kamdar et al. 2020). While transcriptional analysis is useful, RNA expression levels often do not reflect protein concentrations due to differential rates of transcription and translation or protein trafficking within the cell. Different stressors and physiological demands also affect RNA and protein expression levels; thus, protein expression analysis should be integrated when phenotyping arrhythmias in hiPSC-CMs. Protein characterization is traditionally conducted using SDS-PAGE and western blotting, however; mass spectrometry (MS)-based proteomics provides a more detailed, more quantitative, non-biased, and meticulous account of protein up or downregulation, isoform distinction, and posttranslational modifications (PTMs). Bottom-up MS proteomics is a high-throughput method of quantifying global protein regulation by digestion of proteins into peptides. Alternatively, a top-down approach of MS-based proteomics is recommended by Cai et al. (2019) in hiPSC-CMs for increased specificity of protein targeting. Compared to bottom-up proteomics, the proteins are kept intact for full sequence coverage, allowing for more refined isoform and PTM identification (Cai et al. 2019). Top-down proteomics has been used to assess hiPSC-CM

maturation markers (Cai et al. 2019) and characterize proteomic changes in explanted septal tissue from HCM patients, including PTMs such as phosphorylation of the troponin complex subunits (Tucholski et al. 2020). Together with transcriptomic analysis in hiPSC-CMs, signaling pathways and molecular changes in inherited arrhythmias can be linked to the clinical manifestation of the disease.

Metabolic Considerations

One of the critical markers of cardiomyocyte maturation is the metabolic switch from glycolysis to fatty acid oxidation, occurring during fetal development (Batho et al. 2020; Hu et al. 2018; Lin et al. 2017; Nakano et al. 2017). This transition is coupled to producing many sarcomere-arrayed mitochondria for high oxidative phosphorylation capacity and energy yield from free fatty acids (Piquereau and Ventura-Clapier 2018). Media containing FFAs and other chemical substrates can be applied to hiPSC-CMs to facilitate a switch in their metabolism, which is largely glycolytic (Feyen et al. 2020). There is also a hypothesis that sarcomeric HCM mutations contribute to poor ATP use and thus energy depletion, which may be further explored (Ashrafian et al. 2003). Changes in hiPSC-CMs' energetics can be assessed using a Seahorse Analyzer assay (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA), vielding critical information about the metabolic state of the hiPSC-CMs (Feven et al. 2020). In this assay, a calibrated sensor near the cell surface detects changes in both the pH and the O₂ concentration in the surrounding media. These analyses provide a measure of cellular processes such as the oxygen consumption rate (OCR; a measure of cellular and mitochondrial respiration over time reported in picomole/minute), extracellular acidification rate (ECAR; a measure of proton extrusion into the extracellular medium over time reported in mili-pH/min), and proton efflux rate (PER; a measure of extracellular acidification accounting for media buffering capacity and plate geometry over time, reported in picomole/ minute). These data give insight into the metabolic state of the cells and can be correlated with expression and morphological changes in mitochondrial size, quantity, development, and organization.

hiPSC-CM Morphology

Morphological analysis is a powerful aspect of hiPSC-CM phenotyping to identify biological perturbations, such as gap junction uncoupling and loss of TTs, which may contribute to electrical disarray and arrhythmias. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) offers the highest resolution view of cellular ultrastructure as detailed as the dyadic coupling of L-type calcium channels (LTCC) and ryanodine receptors (RyRs) at the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR). Both cardiomyocyte development and dysfunction can often be linked to pathological changes at the ultrastructural level. Despite being a low-throughput technique, TEM data offers a wealth of information about the state of the cell. For a global assessment of cell and tissue morphology, a method from the Carpenter lab may be used. Cell painting involves multiplexing several fluorescent dyes and/or antibodies (such as those used in immunocytochemistry) to produce a high-throughput morphology screening tool (Bray et al. 2016). Visual readouts from each detection channel can allow extraction and analysis of 1500+ features, including shape, texture, and spatial relationships between stained (Bray et al. 2016). Morphological profiling with cell painting can also be used to assess the efficacy of hiPSC-CMs development and maturation, as well as the acute or chronic effects of certain drug treatments on labeled cellular structures. Hints as to the mechanism of action of an arrhythmia may be revealed in an unbiased manner based on observed morphological changes.

Contractility and Force Generation

The ability of cardiomyocytes to generate force is dependent on several factors, including the structural alignment of the sarcomeres, cytosolic Ca²⁺ handling, temperature, and drug effects. The physiological mechanisms of contractility are reasonably well understood (Chapman 1983; Kobayashi and Solaro 2005). However, disease mechanisms for contractility-related diseases, such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, are still not well understood. Although there are several theories as to the mechanisms of dysfunction, more research is necessary to determine how and why Ca²⁺ mishandling results in structural remodeling and arrhythmogenesis. Various aspects of contractile properties can be measured through several techniques encompassing FFT analysis, edge detection, and impedance-based microarrays. An important, high-throughput MATLAB software called SarcTrack can individually track fluorescently labeled sarcomeres in hiPSC-CMs and assess sarcomere content, beat rate, and calculate the rate of contraction and relaxation (Toepfer et al. 2019). In addition, atomic force microscopy (AFM), can also be used to determine the stiffness and force of contraction of the contractile unit (Borin et al. 2018; Chang et al. 2013). Evaluation of these functional properties of the hiPSC-CMs would provide critical information about disease states and provide a means to test how the cells respond to pharmacological agents that carry cardiotoxic risks.

Electrophysiological Measurements and Arrhythmia Assessment

Cardiomyocyte function is greatly dependent on the electrophysiological properties of cells at the single-cell level or as part of a functional syncytium. Three main techniques can be used to assess electrophysiology. Microelectrode array (MEA) systems, like the Maestro Pro multi-well MEA and impedance system (Axion Biosystems, Atlanta, GA, USA), serves to assess electrical activity and contractility in response to perturbations like drug additions or pH changes. Electrodes embedded in each well provide a method for applying electrical stimulation to the cells and recording field potentials across the tissue layer. Changes in hiPSC-CM electrophysiology can be continuously observed over days or weeks due to the method's non-invasive approach.

Optical mapping is an imaging technique that uses dyes or genetically encoded reporters (e.g., GECIs) for the determination of membrane voltage (e.g., RH-237, Fluovolt) and Ca²⁺ (e.g., Rhod2-AM, Fluo-4) (Lin et al. 2015; Shafaattalab et al. 2019b). This technique can provide high spatio-temporal resolution across a tissue that can then be used to access action potential morphology, propagation across tissue, and Ca²⁺ handling in response to arrhythmogenic triggers such as beta-adrenergic stimulation, increase packing rate, or arrhythmogenic drugs. Light-gated ion channels can be used to either stimulate or quiesce (e.g., BLINK 2) cell movement during imaging. The latter can be used to mitigate movement artifacts during live-cell imaging, without using drugs like blebbistatin, a commonly used myosin II inhibitor, or para-aminoblebbistatin, a photostable and non-fluorescent derivative of blebbistatin (Alberio et al. 2018).

Patch clamping, in many respects, is the "gold standard" of electrophysiological analyses and is a technique that allows one to measure either ion currents (voltage clamp) or membrane potential (current clamp) in single living cells. This technique is the only one of the three mentioned in this chapter that can be used to measure the absolute membrane potential (in mV) or ionic current densities (mA/pF). It is also the only means of examining the impact of genetic variants on ion channel biophysics. Patch clamping allows for the most accurate evaluation of the relative contribution of various ion channels to the cardiac action potential. However, there are disadvantages as well. First, to voltage clamp a cell, it is necessary to have a space clamp. This requirement is not possible in a functional syncytium as the cell-to-cell coupling allows the spread of electrotonic currents between cells. Thus, enzymatic (e.g., collagenase) cell dissociation is needed, which in itself can change cellular properties. Furthermore, arrhythmias can only be genuinely studied at a tissue (i.e., multicellular) level of organization. Thus, there are limitations to the conclusions one can make from examining a single cell. Secondly, this approach is the most technically challenging compared to others described here, both in data acquisition and data analysis. Thirdly, patch clamping is very labor intensive; the number of cells that can be examined is very limited and, therefore, prone to sampling errors. The second and third limitations may be mitigated somewhat by automated patch clamping instruments (e.g., Nanion PatchLiner, Sophion QPatch II), but they tend to be expensive.

In sum, all three of these techniques can be used to study cardiac electrophysiology, and each provides a different set of information that can be applied based on the requirements of the research question.

hiPSC-CMs for Proarrhythmic Drug Assessment

Electrical phenotypes may be unique on a case-by-case basis, and consequently, patients require extensive assessment and diagnosis that can only be enhanced by personalized medicine. Antiarrhythmic drug efficacy can be low and sometimes actually proarrhythmic. Nearly 90% of pharmacological treatments that have shown promise in research settings exhibit poor outcomes in Phase III clinical trials

(Colatsky et al. 2016). Additionally, non-cardiac-related drugs have often been pulled after trial testing due to unexpectedly causing arrhythmias in test subjects. This discrepancy is often due to key physiological differences between the animal models used in the research setting compared to humans resulting in poor clinical translation. Thus, an initiative called the Comprehensive in vitro Proarrhythmia Assay (CiPA) was created to screen proarrhythmic risk of pre-clinical drugs (Colatsky et al. 2016). Because clinical trials are expensive, it is crucial that potential pharmacological interventions be tested for efficacy and cardiotoxicity in vitro. Using hiPSC-CMs, multiple drugs can be screened in parallel at no risk to the health of the patient. Thus, hiPSC-CMs present an attractive model for drug testing for pro-arrhythmic risk as they can model a given patient's genotype and phenotype.

Conclusion

Employing a systems biology approach allows investigators to corroborate electrical dysfunction in patients across many interdependent disciplines. Increased prevalence of hiPSCs in preclinical screening should provide significant insight to our knowledge of inherited arrhythmias that can be leveraged toward developing new therapeutic strategies. Furthermore, the capacity to model patient-specific genetic backgrounds allows one to observe patient-specific responses to different treatment approaches, thereby identifying reproducible pathophysiological characteristics as suitable drug targets for novel therapeutic interventions. Many studies to date have used hiPSC-CMs along a similar pipeline as described in this chapter to study arrhythmias, such as long QT syndrome (LQTS) (Moretti et al. 2010; Cagavi et al. 2018), hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) (Lan et al. 2013), dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) (Sun et al. 2012), Brugada syndrome (Nijak et al. 2021), SCDs (Shafaattalab et al. 2019a), atrial fibrillation (AF) (Ahlberg et al. 2018; Benzoni et al. 2020; Laksman et al. 2017), and arrhythmogenic RV dysplasia (Khudiakov et al. 2017). In addition, the use of hiPSC-CMs in combination with novel biomaterials and tissue engineering technologies to enhance structural and functional development will enable a more comprehensive analysis of arrhythmic phenotypes and drug-induced functional changes in vitro. The extensive work to date highlights the array of technologies available to improve hiPSC-CMs development and maturation.

The focus must now be shifted toward integrating these technologies to produce physiologically and functionally accurate representations of adult myocardial tissue. However, adopting hiPSC-CMs tissue engineering strategies for improved disease modeling will require the development of uniform procedures capable of addressing issues such as cardiomyocyte maturation and effective recapitulation of disease states. The various applications described are directed toward a common goal of bench-to-bedside characterization of arrhythmias in patient-specific hiPSC-CMs. High-throughput, disease-specific assays screened against focused libraries may allow for the discovery of candidate therapeutic targets through the interrogation
of the entire transcriptome and proteome, thus resulting in a powerful paradigm shift in drug discovery and therapeutic strategies.

Cross-References

- ► Advances, Opportunities, and Challenges in Stem Cell-Based Therapy
- ▶ Bioengineering Technique Progress of Direct Cardiac Reprogramming
- Current State of Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Diseases
- ▶ Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
- ▶ Molecular Signature of Stem Cells Undergoing Cardiomyogenic Differentiation
- ▶ Stem Cell Applications in Cardiac Tissue Regeneration
- ▶ Therapeutic Uses of Stem Cells for Heart Failure: Hype or Hope
- ► Unraveling the Mystery of Regenerative Medicine in the Treatment of Heart Failure

References

- Ahlberg G, Refsgaard L, Lundegaard PR, Andreasen L, Ranthe MF, Linscheid N, Nielsen JB et al (2018) Rare truncating variants in the sarcomeric protein titin associate with familial and earlyonset atrial fibrillation. Nat Commun 9(1):4316–4316. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06618-y
- Alberio L, Locarno A, Saponaro A, Romano E, Bercier V, Albadri S, Simeoni F et al (2018) A lightgated potassium channel for sustained neuronal inhibition. Nat Methods 15(11):969–976. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0186-9
- Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR, Sousa AA, Koblan LW, Levy JM, Chen PJ et al (2019) Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature 576(7785):149–157. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1711-4
- Anzalone AV, Koblan LW, Liu DR (2020) Genome editing with CRISPR–Cas nucleases, base editors, transposases and prime editors. Nat Biotechnol 38(7):824–844. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41587-020-0561-9
- Ashrafian H, Redwood C, Blair E, Watkins H (2003) Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a paradigm for myocardial energy depletion. Trends Genet 19(5):263–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9525(03)00081-7
- Batho CAP, Mills RJ, Hudson JE (2020) Metabolic regulation of human pluripotent stem cellderived cardiomyocyte maturation. Curr Cardiol Rep 22(8):73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11886-020-01303-3
- Beauchamp P, Jackson CB, Ozhathil LC, Agarkova I, Galindo CL, Sawyer DB, Suter TM et al (2020) 3D co-culture of hiPSC-derived cardiomyocytes with cardiac fibroblasts improves tissue-like features of cardiac spheroids. Front Mol Biosci 7:14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb. 2020.00014
- Behr ER, Ritchie MD, Tanaka T, Kääb S, Crawford DC, Nicoletti P, Floratos A et al (2013) Genome wide analysis of drug-induced torsades de pointes: lack of common variants with large effect sizes. PLoS One 8(11):e78511. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078511
- Benzoni P, Campostrini G, Landi S, Bertini V, Marchina E, Iascone M, Ahlberg G et al (2020) Human iPSC modelling of a familial form of atrial fibrillation reveals a gain of function of If and ICaL in patient-derived cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc Res 116(6):1147–1160. https://doi.org/10. 1093/CVR/CVZ217

- Borin D, Pecorari I, Pena B, Sbaizero O (2018) Novel insights into cardiomyocytes provided by atomic force microscopy. Semin Cell Dev Biol 73:4–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2017. 07.003
- Bray MA, Singh S, Han H, Davis CT, Borgeson B, Hartland C, Kost-Alimova M et al (2016) Cell painting, a high-content image-based assay for morphological profiling using multiplexed fluorescent dyes. Nat Protoc 11(9):1757–1774. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2016.105
- Broyles C, Robinson P, Daniels M (2018) Fluorescent, bioluminescent, and optogenetic approaches to study excitable physiology in the single cardiomyocyte. Cells 7(6):51. https://doi.org/10. 3390/cells7060051
- Burridge PW, Matsa E, Shukla P, Lin ZC, Churko JM, Ebert AD et al (2014) Chemically defined generation of human cardiomyocytes. Nat Methods 11(8):855–860. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nMeth.2999
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH (2018) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. de Gruyter, Berlin
- Cai W, Zhang J, De Lange WJ, Gregorich ZR, Karp H, Farrell ET, Mitchell SD et al (2019) An unbiased proteomics method to assess the maturation of human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Circ Res 125(11):936–953. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119. 315305
- Chang WT, Yu D, Lai YC, Lin KY, Liau I (2013) Characterization of the mechanodynamic response of cardiomyocytes with atomic force microscopy. Anal Chem 85(3):1395–1400. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ac3022532
- Chapman RA (1983) Control of cardiac contractility at the cellular level. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 14(4):H535–H552. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.1983.245.4.h535
- Chemello F, Chai AC, Li H, Rodriguez-Caycedo C, Sanchez-Ortiz E, Atmanli A, Mireault AA et al (2021) Precise correction of Duchenne muscular dystrophy exon deletion mutations by base and prime editing. Science. Advances 7(18):eabg4910. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abg4910
- Colatsky T, Fermini B, Gintant G, Pierson JB, Sager P, Sekino Y, Strauss D et al (2016) The Comprehensive in Vitro Proarrhythmia Assay (CiPA) initiative update on progress. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 81:15–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vascn.2016.06.002
- Colilla S, Crow A, Petkun W, Singer DE, Simon T, Liu X (2013) Estimates of current and future incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation in the U.S. adult population. Am J Cardiol 112(8): 1142–1147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.05.063
- Devalla HD, Schwach V, Ford JW, Milnes JT, El-Haou S, Jackson C, Gkatzis K et al (2015) Atriallike cardiomyocytes from human pluripotent stem cells are a robust preclinical model for assessing atrial-selective pharmacology. EMBO Mol Med 7(4):394–410. https://doi.org/10. 15252/emmm.201404757
- Dewar LJ, Alcaide M, Fornika D, D'Amato L, Shafaatalab S, Stevens CM, Balachandra T et al (2017) Investigating the genetic causes of sudden unexpected death in children through targeted next-generation sequencing analysis. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 10(4):e001738. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCGENETICS.116.001738
- Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2014) The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. Science 346(6213):1258096. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1258096
- Ellinor PT, Lunetta KL, Glazer NL, Pfeufer A, Alonso A, Chung MK, Sinner MF et al (2010) Common variants in KCNN3 are associated with lone atrial fibrillation. Nat Genet 42(3): 240–244. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.537
- Feyen DAM, McKeithan WL, Bruyneel AAN, Spiering S, Hörmann L, Ulmer B, Zhang H et al (2020) Metabolic maturation media improve physiological function of human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes. Cell Rep 32(3):107925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107925
- Garbern JC, Helman A, Sereda R, Sarikhani M, Ahmed A, Escalante GO, Ogurlu R et al (2020) Inhibition of mTOR signaling enhances maturation of cardiomyocytes derived from humaninduced pluripotent stem cells via p53-induced quiescence. Circulation 141(4):285–300. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.044205

- Gaudelli NM, Komor AC, Rees HA, Packer MS, Badran AH, Bryson DI, Liu DR (2017) Programmable base editing of T to G C in genomic DNA without DNA cleavage. Nature 551(7681):464–471. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24644
- Geiss GK, Bumgarner RE, Birditt B, Dahl T, Dowidar N, Dunaway DL, Fell HP et al (2008) Direct multiplexed measurement of gene expression with color-coded probe pairs. Nat Biotechnol 26(3):317–325. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1385
- Gudbjartsson DF, Arnar DO, Helgadottir A, Gretarsdottir S, Holm H, Sigurdsson A, Jonasdottir A et al (2007) Variants conferring risk of atrial fibrillation on chromosome 4q25. Nature 448(7151):353–357. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06007
- Gunawan MG, Sangha SS, Shafaattalab S, Lin E, Heims-Waldron DA, Bezzerides VJ, Laksman Z et al (2021) Drug screening platform using human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived atrial cardiomyocytes and optical mapping. Stem Cells Transl Med 10(1):68–82. https://doi.org/10. 1002/sctm.19-0440
- Guo H, Tian L, Zhang JZ, Kitani T, Paik DT, Lee WH, Wu JC (2019) Single-cell RNA sequencing of human embryonic stem cell differentiation delineates adverse effects of nicotine on embryonic development. Stem Cell Rep 12(4):772–786. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stemcr.2019.01.022
- Hoekstra M, Mummery CL, Wilde AAM, Bezzina CR, Verkerk AO (2012) Induced pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes as models for cardiac arrhythmias. Front Physiol 3:346. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00346
- Hu D, Linders A, Yamak A, Correia C, Kijlstra JD, Garakani A, Xiao L et al (2018) Metabolic maturation of human pluripotent stem cellderived cardiomyocytes by inhibition of HIF1α and LDHA. Circ Res 123(9):1066–1079. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313249
- Itzhaki I, Maizels L, Huber I, Zwi-Dantsis L, Caspi O, Winterstern A, Feldman O et al (2011) Modelling the long QT syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471(7337): 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09747
- Kamdar F, Das S, Gong W, Klaassen KA, Meyers TA, Shah P, Ervasti JM et al (2020) Stem cellderived cardiomyocytes and beta-adrenergic receptor blockade in duchenne muscular dystrophy cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 75(10):1159–1174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2019. 12.066
- Karbassi E, Fenix A, Marchiano S, Muraoka N, Nakamura K, Yang X, Murry CE (2020) Cardiomyocyte maturation: advances in knowledge and implications for regenerative medicine. Nat Rev Cardiol 17(6):341–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-019-0331-x
- Khudiakov A, Kostina D, Zlotina A, Yany N, Sergushichev A, Pervunina T, Tomilin A et al (2017) Generation of iPSC line from patient with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy carrying mutations in PKP2 gene. Stem Cell Res 24:85–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2017. 08.014
- Khurshid S, Choi SH, Weng LC, Wang EY, Trinquart L, Benjamin EJ, Ellinor PT et al (2018) Frequency of cardiac rhythm abnormalities in a half million adults. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 11(7):e006273. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCEP.118.006273
- Kim DH, Lipke EA, Kim P, Cheong R, Thompson S, Delannoy M, Suh KY et al (2010a) Nanoscale cues regulate the structure and function of macroscopic cardiac tissue constructs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(2):565–570. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0906504107
- Kim C, Majdi M, Xia P, Wei KA, Talantova M, Spiering S, Nelson B et al (2010b) Non-cardiomyocytes influence the electrophysiological maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes during differentiation. Stem Cells Dev 19(6):783–795. https://doi. org/10.1089/scd.2009.0349
- Kobayashi T, Solaro RJ (2005) Calcium, thin filaments, and the integrative biology of cardiac contractility. Annu Rev Physiol 67(1):39–67. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.67. 040403.114025
- Komor AC, Kim YB, Packer MS, Zuris JA, Liu DR (2016) Programmable editing of a target base in genomic DNA without double-stranded DNA cleavage. Nature 533(7603):420–424. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature17946

- Laksman Z, Wauchop M, Lin E, Protze S, Lee J, Yang W, Izaddoustdar F et al (2017) Modeling atrial fibrillation using human embryonic stem cell-derived atrial tissue. Sci Rep 7(1):5268. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-05652-y
- Lan F, Lee AS, Liang P, Sanchez-Freire V, Nguyen PK, Wang L, Han L et al (2013) Abnormal calcium handling properties underlie familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy pathology in patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 12(1):101–113. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2012.10.010
- Lian X, Zhang J, Azarin SM, Zhu K, Hazeltine LB, Bao X, Hsiao C et al (2013) Directed cardiomyocyte differentiation from human pluripotent stem cells by modulating Wnt/β-catenin signaling under fully defined conditions. Nat Protoc 8(1):162–175. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nprot.2012.150
- Lin E, Craig C, Lamothe M, Sarunic MV, Beg MF, Tibbits GF (2015) Construction and use of a zebrafish heart voltage and calcium optical mapping system, with integrated electrocardiogram and programmable electrical stimulation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 308(9): R755–R768. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00001.2015
- Lin B, Lin X, Stachel M, Wang E, Luo Y, Lader J, Sun X et al (2017) Culture in glucose-depleted medium supplemented with fatty acid and 3,3',5-triiodo-L-thyronine facilitates purification and maturation of human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Front Endocrinol 8:253. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2017.00253
- Lundy SD, Zhu WZ, Regnier M, Laflamme MA (2013) Structural and functional maturation of cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 22(14):1991–2002. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0490
- Malik N, Rao MS (2013) A review of the methods for human iPSC derivation. Methods Mol Biol 997:23–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-348-0_3
- Marchianò S, Bertero A, Murry CE (2019) Learn from your elders: developmental biology lessons to guide maturation of stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Pediatr Cardiol 40(7):1367–1387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00246-019-02165-5
- Milan DJ, Lubitz SA, Kääb S, Ellinor PT (2010) Genome-wide association studies in cardiac electrophysiology: recent discoveries and implications for clinical practice. Heart Rhythm 7(8): 1141–1148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2010.04.021
- Miyasaka Y, Barnes ME, Gersh BJ, Cha SS, Bailey KR, Abhayaratna WP, Seward JB et al (2006) Secular trends in incidence of atrial fibrillation in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1980 to 2000, and implications on the projections for future prevalence. Circulation 114(2):119–125. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.595140
- Moretti A, Bellin M, Welling A, Jung C, Lam J, Bott-Flugel L, Dorn T et al (2010) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem-cell models for long-QT syndrome. N Engl J Med 363(15): 1397–1409. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1313731
- Nakano H, Minami I, Braas D, Pappoe H, Wu X, Sagadevan A, Vergnes L et al (2017) Glucose inhibits cardiac muscle maturation through nucleotide biosynthesis. elife 6:e29330. https://doi. org/10.7554/eLife.29330
- Narsinh K, Narsinh KH, Wu JC (2011) Derivation of human induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiovascular disease modeling. Circ Res 108(9):1146–1156. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.240374
- Nijak A, Saenen J, Labro AJ, Schepers D, Loeys BL, Alaerts M (2021) iPSC-cardiomyocyte models of Brugada syndrome – achievements, challenges and future perspectives. Int J Mol Sci 22(6):2825. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22062825
- Paik DT, Cho S, Tian L, Chang HY, Wu JC (2020) Single-cell RNA sequencing in cardiovascular development, disease and medicine. Nat Rev Cardiol 17(8):457–473. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41569-020-0359-y
- Parikh SS, Blackwell DJ, Gomez-Hurtado N, Frisk M, Wang L, Kim K, Dahl CP et al (2017) Thyroid and glucocorticoid hormones promote functional T-tubule development in humaninduced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Circ Res 121(12):1323–1330. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311920

- Piccini I, Rao J, Seebohm G, Greber B (2015) Human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes: genome-wide expression profiling of long-term in vitro maturation in comparison to human heart tissue. Genom Data 4:69–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gdata.2015.03.008
- Piquereau J, Ventura-Clapier R (2018) Maturation of cardiac energy metabolism during perinatal development. Front Physiol 9:959. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00959
- Protze SI, Liu J, Nussinovitch U, Ohana L, Backx PH, Gepstein L, Keller GM (2017) Sinoatrial node cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent cells function as a biological pacemaker. Nat Biotechnol 35(1):56–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3745
- Ran FA, Hsu PD, Wright J, Agarwala V, Scott DA, Zhang F (2013) Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Nat Protoc 8(11):2281–2308. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2013.143
- Rees HA, Yeh WH, Liu DR (2019) Development of hRad51–Cas9 nickase fusions that mediate HDR without double-stranded breaks. Nat Commun 10(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-09983-4
- Roberts-Thomson KC, Lau DH, Sanders P (2011) The diagnosis and management of ventricular arrhythmias. Nat Rev Cardiol 8(6):311–321. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2011.15
- Ronaldson-Bouchard K, Ma SP, Yeager K, Chen T, Song LJ, Sirabella D, Morikawa K et al (2018) Advanced maturation of human cardiac tissue grown from pluripotent stem cells. Nature 556(7700):239–243. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0016-3
- Roston TM, Haji-Ghassemi O, Lapage MJ, Batra AS, Bar-Cohen Y, Anderson C, Lau YR et al (2018) Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia patients with multiple genetic variants in the PACES CPVT Registry. PLoS One 13(11):e0205925. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0205925
- Seki T, Yuasa S, Fukuda K (2012) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from a small amount of human peripheral blood using a combination of activated T cells and Sendai virus. Nat Protoc 7(4):718–728. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2012.015
- Shafaattalab S, Li AY, Lin E, Stevens CM, Dewar LJ, Lynn FC, Sanatani S et al (2019a) In vitro analyses of suspected arrhythmogenic thin filament variants as a cause of sudden cardiac death in infants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(14):6969–6974. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1819023116
- Shafaattalab S, Lin E, Christidi E, Huang H, Nartiss Y, Garcia A, Lee J et al (2019b) Ibrutinib displays atrial-specific toxicity in human stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Stem Cell Rep 12(5):996–1006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.03.011
- Sharma A, Toepfer CN, Schmid M, Garfinkel AC, Seidman CE (2018) Differentiation and contractile analysis of GFP-sarcomere reporter hiPSC-cardiomyocytes. Curr Protoc Hum Genet 96(1):21.12.1–21.12.12. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphg.53
- Shinnawi R, Huber I, Maizels L, Shaheen N, Gepstein A, Arbel G, Tijsen AJ et al (2015) Monitoring human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes with genetically encoded calcium and voltage fluorescent reporters. Stem Cell Rep 5(4):582–596. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.08.009
- Sun X, Nunes SS (2017) Bioengineering approaches to mature human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Front Cell Dev Biol 5:19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2017.00019
- Sun N, Yazawa M, Liu J, Han L, Sanchez-Freire V, Abilez OJ, Navarrete E et al (2012) Patientspecific induced pluripotent stem cells as a model for familial dilated cardiomyopathy. Sci Transl Med 4(130):130ra47. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3003552
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.07.024
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Taylor SC, Laperriere G, Germain H (2017) Droplet digital PCR versus qPCR for gene expression analysis with low abundant targets: from variable nonsense to publication quality data. Sci Rep 7(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02217-x

- Toepfer CN, Sharma A, Cicconet M, Garfinkel AC, Mücke M, Neyazi M, Willcox JAL et al (2019) SarcTrack. Circ Res 124(8):1172–1183. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.314505
- Tohyama S, Hattori F, Sano M, Hishiki T, Nagahata Y, Matsuura T, Hashimoto H et al (2013) Distinct metabolic flow enables large-scale purification of mouse and human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Cell Stem Cell 12(1):127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2012.09.013
- Tucholski T, Cai W, Gregorich ZR, Bayne EF, Mitchell SD, McIlwain SJ, de Lange WJ et al (2020) Distinct hypertrophic cardiomyopathy genotypes result in convergent sarcomeric proteoform profiles revealed by top-down proteomics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(40):24691–24700. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006764117
- Tucker NR, Ellinor PT (2014) Emerging directions in the genetics of atrial fibrillation. Circ Res 114(9):1469–1482. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302225
- Zhao Y, Rafatian N, Feric NT, Cox BJ, Aschar-Sobbi R, Wang EY, Aggarwal P et al (2019) A platform for generation of chamber-specific cardiac tissues and disease modeling. Cell 176(4): 913–927.e18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.042



Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells



Progress toward Clinical Translation from Bench to Bedside

Adegbenro Omotuyi John Fakoya, Adekunle Ebenezer Omole, Nihal Satyadev, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

	896
From Classical Transcription Factor Quartet Transduction to Small Molecule	
Manipulation Protocols	897
iPSCs' Limitations - Overcoming Barriers to Clinical Translation	898
Low-Efficiency Reprogramming of Somatic Cells	898
Tumorigenicity	899
Immunogenicity	901
Economic Issues and Biobanking iPSCs	903
Heterogeneity	904
Harnessing the Potential of iPSCs	904
iPSC-Based Disease Modeling, Drug Discovery, and Toxicity Studies	905
iPSC-Based Cell Therapy – Ongoing Clinical Trials	907
Conclusion	91(
Cross-References	910
References	91(

Abstract

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) offer huge promise and potential in the creation of patient-specific stem cells for modeling human diseases, drug development and testing, and personalized regenerative cell-based therapy. As we

A. O. J. Fakoya (🖂) · N. Satyadev

e-mail: gbenrofakoya@gmail.com; nsatyadev@umhs-sk.net

A. E. Omole Department of Anatomical sciences, American University of Antigua College of Medicine, St. John's, Antigua and Barbuda

e-mail: kunlesty@yahoo.com

K. H. Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_40

Department of Anatomical Sciences, University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Basseterre, Saint Kitts and Nevis

journey into the second decade of their discovery, we investigate some of the hurdles limiting their use and the recent advances that have been made to address the limitations and to successfully move these cells from the bench to the bedside. This chapter discusses the progress made in theranostic applications of pluripotent stem cells during the last decade and a half and introduces the currently ongoing clinical trials that involve iPSCs to treat patients.

Keywords

Biobanking · Clinical trials · Disease modeling · Drug discovery · Heterogeneity · Immunogenicity · Induced pluripotent stem cells · Pluripotency · Stem cells · Tumorigenicity

Abbreviations

AMD	Age-related macular degeneration
CNV	Copy number variations
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
hiPSCs	Human-induced pluripotent stem cells
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
iPSC-RPE	iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelial cells
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
OOC	Organ on chip
RPE	Retinal pigment epithelial
SCA	Sickle cell anemia
SNV	Single nucleotide variation

Introduction

The pioneering work of Yamanaka and Takahashi led to the discovery of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) in 2006, which has turned out to be a significant breakthrough in stem cell research and for which they were awarded Nobel Prize in 2011 (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). Shinya Yamanaka and his team described the reprogramming of skin fibroblasts from mouse to pluripotent stem cells by viral induction of a quartet of transcriptional factors, namely, Oct 3/4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc (OSKM/Yamanaka factors) (Ibrahim et al. 2016). In 2007, Shinya Yamanaka and his team used the same reprogramming protocol to create human iPSCs (hiPSCs) from human somatic cells (Takahashi et al. 2007). Working independently from Yamanaka's team, in 2007, Dr. James Thomson's research group described the development of hiPSCs, employing a similar approach but using a different combination of transcription factors (Yu et al. 2007). Like embryonic stem cells (ESCs) for their differentiation potential (both spontaneous and in response to specific cues) (Heng et al. 2005; Rufaihah et al. 2007, 2010; Bai et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2018), iPSCs are considered surrogate ESCs with infinite proliferation in culture. They can differentiate into all the cell types from the three embryonic germ cell layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm). However, unlike ESCs, which are derived from preimplantation embryos and thus their generation and use are fraught with moral and ethical issues relating to embryo destruction (Martin 1981; Evans and Kaufman 1981; Omole and Fakoya 2018) and ► Chap. 39, "Common Ethical Considerations of Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Research," this volume, iPSCs certainly provide a renewable source of stem/progenitor cells without any moral or ethical issues, thus providing a valuable alternative to ESCs. Indeed, iPSC technology has successfully removed any roadblock for the advancement of pluripotent stem cell research and their onward clinical application (Omole and Fakoya 2018). Given their biological and functional similarity with ESCs, iPSCs offer immense theranostic promise and potential in creating patient-specific stem cells for human disease modeling, drug development and testing, and personalized regenerative cell-based therapy for both adult and pediatric applications (Omole and Fakoya 2018; Cagavi et al. 2018; Cetinkaya and Haider 2020). This chapter presents a concise review of iPSC research, its challenges and progress, and the current status of iPSC clinical application.

From Classical Transcription Factor Quartet Transduction to Small Molecule Manipulation Protocols

Since the inception of the protocol for somatic cell reprogramming to pluripotency using a quartet of pluripotency determinant transcription factors (Oct4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc (OSKM)), various research groups have been involved in the optimization of protocols to ensure the safety of the reprogrammed cells for human use. Despite the diversity of the modified protocols, the pluripotent cells obtained have shown remarkable morphofunctional similarity with iPSCs generated through the classical protocol of Yamanaka and Takahashi. These protocols encompass approaches with a lesser number of transcriptional factors using viral and nonviral vectors for delivery, protein-based systems, use of small molecules, etc. (Huangfu et al. 2008; Cho et al. 2010; Pasha et al. 2011; Fusaki et al. 2009; Meissner et al. 2007; Park et al. 2008). The latest advancement in this regard is to treat the transcription-modified somatic cells with P334, a mycosporine-like amino acid that significantly increases the cell reprogramming efficiency of OKSM transduced tail fibroblasts (Yoo et al. 2020). Besides other factors, the choice of cells as a "starting material" for reprogramming, based on their genetic and epigenetic composition, remains a critical factor enhancing the efficiency of the protocols and ensuring the high quality of the iPSCs (Raab et al. 2014). Some of the promising cell types used include liver and stomach cells (Aoi et al. 2008), bone-marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells (Buccini et al. 2012), human skeletal myoblasts (Ahmed et al. 2011a), endothelial progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood (Gao et al. 2021), peripheral blood (Sommer et al. 2012), lymphoblastoid cell lines (Barrett et al. 2014), etc. Researchers have also used chemical compounds like valproic acid, 5-azacytidine, Parnate, and vitamin C to improve the efficiency of iPSC generation and also to generate "chemical-only" induced iPSCs (Li et al. 2009; Chung et al. 2010; Su et al. 2013). Conversely, compounds that inhibit the p53 pathways have been shown to raise the efficiency of reprogramming by 23-fold when compared to the use of OSKM factors alone (Hong et al. 2009). MicroRNA has been employed either alone or in combination with OSKM factors to improve the efficiency of the reprogramming protocol (Judson et al. 2009; Subramanyam et al. 2011). An overview of cell sources has been elegantly provided by Ray et al. in their recently published review of the literature (Ray et al. 2021).

Despite the dynamic epigenetic changes that ensue during reprogramming, it is believed that some of the epigenetic memory of the "mother cell" is carried forward in the derivative reprogrammed cells. In the light of these observations, we have successfully generated IPSCs from skeletal myoblasts and bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells, two of the cell types that have progressed from bench to bedside for myocardial repair and regeneration in human patients (Ahmed et al. 2011a; Buccini et al. 2012). When transplanted in experimental animal models of acute myocardial infarction, the cells underwent both vasculogenic and myogenic differentiation, resulting in increased vascular density and neomyogenesis and leading to preserved global cardiac function (Afzal et al. 2011).

Despite these encouraging data, the use of iPSCs is not without its limitations, some of which are more related to their heterogeneity and pluripotency. Therefore, it is imperative to address these limitations, and some remedial measures should be adopted to ensure their progress to clinics for safe and efficient use in the patients.

iPSCs' Limitations – Overcoming Barriers to Clinical Translation

As discussed in the previous section, there are many challenges associated with the classical reprogramming protocol of iPSC generation reported by Yamanaka and his team. The last decade and a half have witnessed remarkable progress and advancement made to the original method of iPSC generation, and these technical improvements have helped address many of these limitations. Here, we identify these limitations and briefly mention what has been done so far to overcome them.

Low-Efficiency Reprogramming of Somatic Cells

The efficiency of iPSC generation reported by Yamanaka and his team using their classical protocol was meager, as low as 1 out of 10,000 skin cells completing the reprogramming process and successfully forming iPSCs (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Okita et al. 2007; Takahashi et al. 2007). Intriguingly, new molecules have now been discovered that enhanced both the reprogramming method and its efficiency (Omole and Fakoya 2018). It is pertinent to mention that the earlier concept that reprogramming is a spontaneous happening has been replaced by a more realistic understanding of the mechanism. It is now being considered a systematic process, which consists of an early or the deterministic phase, stochastic phase, and the late or deterministic phase. Moreover, each one of these phases is characterized

by certain specific changes in the somatic cells undergoing reprogramming, which collectively determine the success of the procedure (Buganim et al. 2013). The occurrence of various molecular events leading to switching on of cells' regulatory network of genes responsible for pluripotency have been elucidated and a direct comparison of these events in the human and mouse cells have been well explained by Tada's group (Teshigawara et al. 2017). Given the complexity of the events happening therein, it also necessitates the intricate manipulation of the cells such that the game of probability involved in the reprogramming process favors a more efficient outcome.

A further in-depth understanding of the molecular events during the reprogramming of somatic cells will be helpful in identifying the bottlenecks that will help alleviate these hurdles to enhance the rate of successful reprogramming and in the development of the iPSCs, which will be genetically more stable. Furthermore, the efficiency of reprogramming is also dependent on variable factors, such as the choice of donor cell types for use as a starting material, reprogramming factors, delivery vehicles and methods, and culture conditions for the cells during and after reprogramming (Omole and Fakoya 2018). The hope is that researchers can carefully exploit these variable factors to ensure an exponential increase in the efficiency of iPSC generation.

Tumorigenicity

Tumorigenicity remains a common feature among pluripotent cells, irrespective of their origin. For example, iPSCs developed from skeletal myoblasts using the classical four-factor transduction protocol were used to treat an infarcted heart in an experimental animal model of acute myocardial infarction. The authors observed that intramyocardial transplantation of iPSCs led to cardiac tumor formation in 33% of the animals treated with iPSCs, thus raising a serious concern regarding the use of undifferentiated iPSCs (Ahmed et al. 2011b). Similar reports have also been published from other research groups (Kanemura et al. 2014; Deng et al. 2018). The tumorigenic potential of iPSCs has been attributed to the involvement of diverse factors. For example, in the original report on iPSC development, tumor formation was observed in $\sim 20\%$ of the offspring from the adult chimera from seven iPSC clones (Okita et al. 2007). This was attributed to the reactivation and overexpression of c-Myc transgene. Similarly, there is also the risk of insertional mutagenesis from the use of virus-based delivery methods, which can lead to tumor formation (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Takahashi et al. 2007; Yu et al. 2007). These two risks are specific for iPSCs as they are related to the reprogramming factors and the delivery method used to introduce the factors into the somatic cells. Additionally, tumorigenicity can result from incorrect or incomplete patterning and genetic instability (Yoshihara et al. 2017b; Yamanaka 2020). Inaccurate or incomplete patterning refers to the retention of undifferentiated and immature cells in the final cell products that were differentiated from human pluripotent stem cells. Hence, the undifferentiated cells can form teratoma. The tumorigenicity risk from incomplete

patterning and genetic abnormalities is not unique to iPSCs. Still, it is common to all cells that need long-term in vitro expansion to achieve the sufficient number needed for cellular therapy.

Genetic alterations are pretty common during the reprogramming process, as reported by many research groups, including chromosomal aberrations, single nucleotide mutations, copy number variations, etc. (Turinetto et al. 2017; Yoshihara et al. 2017a). This genetic alteration may already exist in the primary somatic cells, or they may develop during the reprogramming process (Yoshihara et al. 2017b). The first clinical study involving hiPSCs in 2014 was temporarily halted following the discovery of mutations in the hiPSCs belonging to the second patient, although they were not found in the primary somatic cells (Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Attwood and Edel 2019).

Stem cell scientists have since addressed some of these contributory factors, which are somehow considered to be responsible for the tumorigenic potential of iPSCs. For example, mechanistic studies have demonstrated that c-Myc is dispensable for the successful reprogramming of the cells to pluripotency (Nakagawa et al. 2008; El Khatib et al. 2016). Interestingly, James Thomson's group generated their iPSCs using a distinct set of four reprogramming factors - Oct 3/4, Sox2, Nanog, and Lin 28 (OSNL) – and excluded c-Myc to prove its less significance and, hence, dispensability in the process (Yu et al. 2007). Nonviral delivery methods, such as plasmid vectors and transposons, and nonintegrative delivery methods, such as Sendai and adenovirus, have all been developed to eliminate the problem of insertional mutagenesis (Deng et al. 2015; Kang et al. 2015; Omole and Fakoya 2018). With regard to incorrect patterning, researchers attempting to bring iPSCs directly from the bench to the clinics must develop means to prevent tumor formation so they can meet the safety standards required for clinical trials. In order to avoid the issue of tumorigenicity, there have been attempts to directly reprogram the somatic cells to the lineage of interest without achieving a pluripotency status (Ahmed et al. 2012).

A brief look into some of the ongoing clinical trials involving iPSCs reveals some of the purification methods used to prevent incorrect or incomplete patterning. Such strategies include efficient directed differentiation protocols and positive/negative selection markers using antibody cell sorting systems like fluorescence-activated cell sorting and magnetic-activated cell sorting (Riordon and Boheler 2018; Simonson et al. 2015). The investigators in the clinical trial for spinal cord injury are contemplating the suicide gene approach as an auxiliary method to prevent tumorigenicity (Kojima et al. 2019). All these methods will help in the careful selection of iPSC lines with the most significant level of purity that will be safe for cellular therapy.

Regarding genomic instability, a conventional method like karyotyping can detect chromosomal abnormalities, i.e., deletion, duplication, and rearrangement (Nikitina et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020), and iPSC products with such abnormalities can be removed to ensure the safety of cells for in vivo use (Attwood and Edel 2019). However, another form of genomic instability involving minor genetic alterations, like single nucleotide variation (SNV) and copy number variations (CNV), which can be detected by the next-generation sequencing technology (like whole-genome sequencing), is challenging to analyze and may be very controversial

(Yamanaka 2020). The controversy relates to the existing difficulty in sequencing a considerable portion of our genome. Additionally, we are facing problems in accurately analyzing and interpreting the risks emanating from detected mutations as we currently lack a global consensus definition of cancer genes. The complexity of the situation gets accentuated when even healthy individuals are found to have multiple mutations in the cancer genes (Yamanaka 2020).

It is exceedingly difficult to be confident that a particular mutation detected in the iPSC products will significantly increase tumorigenicity risk following transplantation. For now, extensive tests must be carried out on the iPSC products to detect significant mutations, and only cells that pass the test should be used for cellular therapy. Additionally, following successful transplantation, the patients should be followed up and monitored for the possibility of developing a tumor. More research work is needed if we are to predict the tumorigenic potential of a detected mutation accurately.

Immunogenicity

One of the most fascinating and unique features of iPSCs is their potential for personalized regenerative cell therapy using patient-derived autologous stem cells (Omole and Fakoya 2018). The exciting prospect of generating patient-specific iPSCs that harbor a patient's genetic makeup for individualized treatment is expected to revolutionize the idea of precision medicine, an emerging concept of treatment that considers one's unique genetic background. Unlike human ESCs (hESCs) and allogeneic hiPSC transplantation, which require immunosuppression to alleviate immune rejection due to human leukocyte antigen (HLA) mismatch, autologous hiPSCs therapy will not require immunosuppression. HLAs are cell-surface molecules that help the immune system to recognize self from nonself. Zhao et al. reported that iPSC-derived teratoma elicited a T-cell-mediated immune response in syngeneic mice (Zhao et al. 2011). Their report created a controversy that autologous iPSCs seemed to be immunogenic. They attributed the immunogenicity to abnormal gene expression in iPSCs during the process of reprogramming. This controversy led to extensive research on the immunogenicity of iPSCs. De novo mutations in mitochondrial DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) were hypothesized as the cause of immune rejections in a recently published study (Deuse et al. 2019a).

So far, other researchers have maintained that autologous iPSCs are nonimmunogenic, and hence, they are well tolerated by the immune system after transplantation (Guha et al. 2013; De Almeida et al. 2014). However, if at all autologous iPSCs are immunogenic, then the underlying mechanism/s of their immunogenicity and immune rejection remain/s largely unknown. Predictably, the first iPSC clinical trial involves the transplantation of autologous iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelial cells (iPSC-RPE) into the retina of a patient with agerelated macular degeneration (AMD). The cells were transplanted without immunosuppression (Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Mandai et al. 2017). Although there was a temporary hold of the study, as earlier mentioned, the overall perception was that the procedure was safe and effective as the visual acuity of the patient improved, AMD progression was successfully arrested, and an area of recovery of photoreceptors was observed. More importantly, there was no evidence of tumorigenicity. Additionally, there was no evidence of immune rejection for more than 2 years after cell transplantation (Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Mandai et al. 2017). Based on these clinical data, it was safely concluded that autologous iPSCs are well tolerated by the immune system post engraftment.

Despite the unique advantage of immune acceptance enjoyed by autologous iPSCs without immunosuppression, researchers in iPSC-based clinical trials prefer allogeneic cells due to their off-the-shelf ready-for-use availability, cost-effectiveness, and logistic considerations, unlike autologous iPSC production, which is time-intensive and more expensive. Thus, it will not be feasible to use autologous iPSCs to treat acute severe conditions, like heart failure and spinal cord injury, because time is of the essence in managing such conditions, not to mention the excessive cost of production involved therein.

Given the advantages of allogeneic cells, the researchers are addressing the immune rejection peculiar to allogeneic cell products using immunosuppressive drugs. However, this can be a very unpleasant experience for many patients, considering the many severe side effects of such drugs. Patients undergoing organ transplantation may need lifelong immunosuppressive therapy, which may be an incredibly stressful situation. Researchers are finding other ways to diminish immune rejection. One method is by doing HLA matching and using HLA-homozygous iPSC lines for cellular therapy. HLA mismatch is a major impediment in iPSC transplantation. Sugital and colleagues reported minimal immune reaction following the transplantation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC)homozygous iPSC-RPE in MHC-matched monkeys (Sugita et al. 2016). This positive outcome was validated in a clinical trial when HLA-homozygous iPSC-RPE cells were transplanted into HLA-matched patients with macular degeneration (Sugita et al. 2020). However, similar trials conducted in the brain reveals inconsistent results, and hence, in clinical trials, this was not the case, i.e., brain (Morizane et al. 2017; Badin et al. 2019). These diverging results have been attributed to the immune-privileged status of the eye, where grafts can survive for an extended period without getting rejected. Although immunosuppressant drugs may still be required despite the HLA matching, the rate of such rejections is likely to be minimal and requires a much lesser dose and shorter duration of the immunosuppression.

With recent advances in gene-editing technology, especially CRISPR/Cas9, researchers are now able to create another method to address immune rejection by creating universal donor stem cells using the HLA cloaking method (Meissner et al. 2015; Yamanaka 2020). The universal donor stem cell will be hypoimmunogenic cell lines for off-the-shelf usage for cell-based therapy (Ye et al. 2020). MHC (major histocompatibility complex) Class I (HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-C) molecules are inactivated by the deletion of the β 2-microglobulin (β 2M) gene (HLA cloaking), thus inhibiting the immune response from cytotoxic CD8+ T-cell lymphocytes (Petrus-Reurer et al. 2021). However, this approach renders the stem cells susceptible to lysis by natural killer (NK) cells. NK cell attack is prevented by knocking in

the HLA-E gene at the β 2M locus (HLA-E/ β 2M transgene fusion) of the iPSC. This leads to the creation of universal donor stem cells that are useful for all recipients irrespective of their genetic makeup (Gornalusse et al. 2017). Deuse et al. recently devised another method of HLA cloaking. They inactivated MHC Class I and II genes by knocking out the β 2M gene and CIITA (Class II, major histocompatibility complex, transactivator), respectively, and the overexpressed CD47 (proteins that prevent phagocytosis). They were able to generate a hypoimmunogenic mouse and hiPSCs that could escape immune rejection in MHC-mismatched allogeneic recipients without the use of immunosuppressants (Deuse et al. 2019b). Xu et al. proposed the C-only approach type of HLA cloaking by deleting the pair of alleles of both HLA-A and HLA-B, and one HLA-C allele, leaving behind only one HLA-C allele (Xu et al. 2019). The HLA-C-retained iPSCs evade destruction by both T cells and NK cells. The authors estimated that as few as 12 lines of such immunologically compatible HLA-C-retained iPSCs could cover 95% of the world's population. This makes the C-only approach an even more fascinating method of evading rejection since fewer cell lines are required, and it will be very cost-effective (Frederiksen et al. 2021).

Economic Issues and Biobanking iPSCs

Like most novel inventions, iPSC technology is expensive and time-intensive. Presently, it costs US \$10,000-\$25,000 (including the cost to expand and test for pluripotency and safety) to develop and approve a research-grade iPSC line. The time from patient recruitment to the final characterization of patient-specific iPSCs is about 6–9 months, plus a further 3–6 months to produce them on a large scale (Jacquet et al. 2013; Bravery 2015). It requires approximately US \$800,000 to generate good manufacturing practice (GMP)-grade pluripotent stem cells for cellular therapy (Jacquet et al. 2013; Bravery 2015). It is generally considered that it will cost even more if recent technology, like CRISPR/Cas9, is employed as gene therapy utilizing iPSCs. Regrettably, the excessive cost of developing and validating iPSCs and the length of time involved in their generation and characterization offer a barrier that hinders their availability and use by many researchers. Cost-effective measures must be seriously considered if we are to ease the burden of the exuberant cost of iPSC generation. Hence, as discussed above, although autologous iPSC derivatives can be attractive when it comes to precision medicine, it is expensive and time-consuming. Therefore, allogeneic cell products are a good substitute as they are less expensive and could reach out to a larger number of patients. Additionally, having HLA-matched allogeneic iPSCs already generated, characterized, and tested for safety would reduce the costs and also facilitate the dissemination of the cells on time when needed.

The overall strategy should be to establish several allogeneic iPSC banks with selected lines (considering the HLA diversity of different populations) from HLA-homozygous and blood group O donors to simplify the patient-donor matching and cover most of the world populations. These iPSC lines will offer a source of

readily available transplantable cells as an off-the-shelf product for acute conditions, like spinal cord injury and heart failure. It is predicted that more than 150,000 donors are needed for screening to generate 140 HLA-homozygous iPSC lines that will be enough to cover 90% of the Japanese population (Okita et al. 2011; Umekage et al. 2019). Similarly, about 150 HLA-homozygous iPSC lines is the estimation to cover 93% of the UK population (Taylor et al. 2012). Several iPSC banking facilities are currently ongoing in Asia, Europe, and North America, storing iPSCs for research and clinical therapy purposes. The majority of the institutions involved in iPSC biobanking are nonprofit organizations that are funded by the government. This is no surprise considering the level of costs, scale, and influence associated with the iPSC technology. It is vital that such iPSC biobanks maintain high-standard regulation and high-quality and safety protocols (Ntai et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2019).

Heterogeneity

One of the issues plaguing the iPSC technology is the excessive variability within iPSCs (Cahan and Daley 2013). This variability encompasses their differentiation capability; morphology, growth, and maturation status; tumorigenicity; and genetic and epigenetic status across iPSC lines, among cells within a cell line, and amid temporal states in individual cells (Hayashi et al. 2019a). Regarding the application of iPSCs for disease modeling and regenerative cell therapy, heterogeneity remains a big concern because it can lead to poor reproducibility of research (Hayashi et al. 2019b). Genetic and epigenetic factors have been implicated as contributory factors for iPSC heterogeneity (Cahan and Daley 2013; Choi et al. 2015; Nishizawa et al. 2016). Other contributory factors for heterogeneity include donor cell type, reprogramming methods, "epigenetic memory," and culture conditions (Hayashi et al. 2019a). With gene-editing technologies, like CRISPR/Cas9, we can improve the disease phenotype of iPSCs, thus bypassing variability concerns. Additionally, researchers have tried converting a "primed" state of iPSC into a "naïve" state to tackle heterogeneity (Brons et al. 2007; Tesar et al. 2007). More research is mandatory to establish the causative factors, detection methods, reduction, and regulation of heterogeneity in iPSC lines (Volpato and Webber 2020).

Harnessing the Potential of iPSCs

The iPSC-based platform can generate stem cells for disease modeling, drug development, and regenerative cell-based therapy. At present, no iPSC-based therapy is in routine clinical use. However, we are much closer to the patient than ever. Now, there are numerous examples of iPSC applications in clinical studies and drug development. This section will summarize the recent progress in the application of iPSCs for disease modeling and drug development, and we will discuss in depth the recent ongoing iPSC-based clinical trials.

iPSC-Based Disease Modeling, Drug Discovery, and Toxicity Studies

It is vital to understand the molecular and pathological mechanisms of human diseases to develop the right therapeutic strategies to tackle them. Animal models are conventionally used to study human diseases since they offer an in vivo setting to investigate the pathological mechanisms of human diseases. Although these models have been extremely useful and instrumental over the years, however, due to interspecies differences, they have failed to recapitulate human disease phenotype fully. Hence, therapeutic strategies based on these models often fail to provide the same results when used in clinical studies. Thus, there is an urgent need for humanbased disease models to complement these inefficient animal models with limited relevance to human diseases. The hiPSC-based models are ideal for the generation of patient-based cellular models and patient-specific therapeutic compounds for personalized medicine because they are readily available, accessible, and expandable in cultures; they are of patient origin and can differentiate into any disease-relevant cell type. With the advent of genome-editing technologies (e.g., CRISPR/Cas9), sitespecific genetic changes in iPSCs can now be done (Shinkumaa et al. 2016). The initiation of such site-specific mutation in nondiseased iPSCs can lead to the development of isogenic iPSC lines genetically matched to patient iPSCs. These isogenic iPSC lines will recapitulate the pathology of the disease being studied and, thus, can be useful for disease modeling (Omole and Fakoya 2018).

Early-onset disorders can be modeled perfectly by iPSCs since the cells are phenotypically young (Shi et al. 2020). On the contrary, late-onset disorders are difficult to model since aging is a primary contributing factor. To model late-onset disorders, the initiation of cellular aging in the iPSCs will be necessary. To date, iPSCs have been used to model the molecular and pathological mechanisms of many diseases, for example, neurological disorders, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, etc. (Wu and Hochedlinger 2011; Devine et al. 2011; Israel et al. 2012; Cooper et al. 2012; Kondo et al. 2013; Chamberlain 2016; Yoshida and Yamanaka 2017; Kumar et al. 2018; Omole and Fakoya 2018). The iPSC models were originally single-cell type based, but these days, iPSC-based coculture models of more than one cell type are customary. For example, iPSC-based coculture of neurons and astrocytes were employed in the modeling of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Di Giorgio et al. 2007; Nagai et al. 2007; Zhao et al. 2017).

Recently, there has been a paradigm shift from the standard two-dimensional (2D) monolayer adherent in vitro cell cultures to the robust "organoid" model (Eglen and Reisine 2019; Miyake and Shimada 2021). Organoids are three-dimensional (3D) multicellular in vitro tissue design that simulates their corresponding organ in vivo. In contrast to 2D models, these "mini-organ in a dish" organoid models best recapitulate the structure, organization, functions, cellular heterogeneity, architecture, and cell-cell interactions witnessed in organs in vivo, thus allowing us to model diseases perfectly (Corrò et al. 2020). In 2009, Sato et al. pioneered a study where intestinal organoids are created from adult intestinal stem cells (Sato et al. 2009). Since then, iPSCs and other stem cells have been employed to generate organoids of many organs for use in disease modeling (Spence et al. 2011; Takebe et al. 2013;

Watson et al. 2014; Tucker et al. 2014; McCracken et al. 2014; Camp et al. 2015; Takasato et al. 2015; Dye et al. 2015; Paşca et al. 2015; Mariani et al. 2015; Ogawa et al. 2015; Sampaziotis et al. 2015; Cugola et al. 2016; Otani et al. 2016; Gabriel et al. 2016; Garcez et al. 2016; Qian et al. 2016; Wiegand and Banerjee 2019).

iPSC-based models are presently being used for drug development and discovery, toxicity tests, and drug screening applications, including phenotypic screening and target-based screening (Rowe and Daley 2019; Paik et al. 2020; Pasteuning-Vuhman et al. 2021).

The phenotypic drug screening strategy involves identifying molecules that can alter the phenotype of cells in the desired manner. On the other hand, in target-based screening, we quantify the effects of compounds on a target protein during an in vitro assay (Ortuño-Costela et al. 2019). Lee et al. performed the first reported iPSC-based large-scale drug screening, wherein patient-derived iPSCs were used to model familial dysautonomia, a rare genetic disorder of the peripheral nervous system (Lee et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2012). This study proves that iPSC-based models can promote drug screening and discovery, and from then on, many iPSC-based drug screenings have been performed (Höing et al. 2012; Xu et al. 2013; Burkhardt et al. 2013; Imamura et al. 2017; Omole and Fakoya 2018; Fujimori et al. 2018; Masi et al. 2020; Shi et al. 2020). Consequently, many drug compounds for the treatment of several diseases have been analyzed, and a few candidate drugs thus identified have proceeded to clinical trials for safety and efficacy testing (Naryshkin et al. 2014; Mullard 2015; Bright et al. 2015; Hino et al. 2015; Hosoya et al. 2017; Morimoto et al. 2019; Imamura et al. 2019; Masi et al. 2020; Shi et al. 2020). For example, Imamura et al. conducted a phenotypic drug screening with existing Src/c-Abl inhibitors using hiPSC-derived motor neurons from ALS patients (Imamura et al. 2017). This study led to the discovery of bosutinib and, thus, drug repurposing since the drug was previously approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat chronic myelogenous leukemia. Now, a trial to evaluate the safety, efficacy, and tolerability of bosutinib in ALS patients is underway (Trial registration number: UMIN000036295) (Imamura et al. 2019). Similarly, Hideyuki Okano's group has successfully identified ropinirole hydrochloride as a candidate drug to treat ALS following a drug screening test using patient-derived iPSC spinal motor neurons (Fujimori et al. 2018). In December 2018, they commenced a phase I/IIa clinical trial (ROPALS trial) to explore the safety, efficacy, and tolerability of the drug (Trial registration number: UMIN000034954) (Morimoto et al. 2019).

A recent trend in iPSC-based modeling and drug discovery is the organ-on-a-chip (OOC) technology (Wu et al. 2020; Paloschi et al. 2021). OOC is a 3D multicellular microfluidic device consisting of a mixture of iPSCs and engineered extracellular matrix biomaterials. OOC helps to recapitulate the physiological characteristics of human tissues/organs in vivo, allowing us to measure physiological parameters for drug effects and toxicity assessment. Compared to experimental animal models, OOC is a cheap and less time-consuming alternative to the contemporary methods for drug testing during the process of drug development. Many OOCs of different organs have been developed to serve as a platform for drug testing (Jodat et al. 2018).

iPSC-based models have been employed for the cytotoxicity screenings of therapeutic drugs (Deshmukh et al. 2012). High on the list of such drug toxic effects is cardiac and hepatic toxicities (Csöbönyeiová et al. 2016). Itzhaki and team used iPSC-cardiomyocytes from long QT syndrome patients to assess the efficacy and cardiotoxic effects of existing and new drugs (Itzhaki et al. 2011; Omole and Fakoya 2018). The use of patient-specific iPSCs for cardiac disease modeling has been excellently described by Cagavi et al. (2018).

Finally, the immense potential of iPSCs in disease modeling, drug discovery, and cytotoxicity testing portends a fruitful and promising near future in the pharmaceutical industry and research field.

iPSC-Based Cell Therapy – Ongoing Clinical Trials

The iPSC platform offers an exciting opportunity to generate functional, healthy cells to replace damaged or injured tissues, promote endogenous regenerative repair, and restore the functionality of an organ. Cellular therapy via iPSC transplantation is a novel technique that is no longer futuristic as the dream is now a reality (Buccini et al. 2012; Ahmed et al. 2011b). Since the generation of mouse and human iPSCs in 2006 and 2007, respectively, earnest efforts have gone into iPSC cell therapy applications via several preclinical studies to test their therapeutic response. Animal models have been invaluable in helping us answer the vital question: will the grafted cells integrate into the host and fulfill their function correctly? A proof of concept was provided by two early groundbreaking preclinical studies on the road to the realization of this dream. In 2007, Jaenisch et al. used a gene-targeting approach to repair a disease-causing mutation in the mouse iPSCs' humanized model of sickle cell anemia (SCA) (Hanna et al. 2007). The transplantation of the repaired SCA-iPSCs successfully corrected the disease phenotype. In 2008, Wernig et al. (from the Jaenisch research group) transplanted iPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons into a Parkinson's disease (PD) rat model and reported functional integration of the graft with improvement in behavioral symptoms (Wernig et al. 2008). These two landmark preclinical studies motivated the stem cell research community into further exploring iPSC therapy in humans.

The number of interventional clinical trials (involving the transplantation of iPSCs into humans) can show how far stem cell scientists have gone in the long road of translating the iPSC technology from the bench to the bedside, giving us a significant hope for the routine clinical use of iPSCs in the future via cellular transplantation as a novel therapeutic option.

In their analysis of a systematic multidatabase search performed in August 2019, Deinsberger et al. found 131 clinical trials involving human pluripotent stem cells; 77.1% (101) of these clinical trials were observational, while 22.9% (30) were interventional; 73.3% (22) of the interventional studies were hESCs based, while hiPSCs were used in only 26.7% (8) (Deinsberger et al. 2020). Their systematic search was based on databases "ClinicalTrials.gov" and "International Clinical Trials Registry Platform" (ICTRP) from the World Health Organization (WHO). Similarly,

a recent systematic search conducted by Yamanaka in September 2020 using databases "ClinicalTrials.gov" and UMIN Clinical Trials Registry reveals 15 interventional clinical trials based on hiPSC transplantation (Yamanaka 2020). We combined the data from these two studies and produced **17** past and presently ongoing interventional clinical trials involving hiPSCs (Fig. 1). Additionally, the two studies reveal more than a 100% increase in the number of hiPSC-based interventional clinical trials during the last year, suggesting that hiPSC-based clinical trials are rapidly growing as we journey into the second decade of their discovery. We will now do a review of a few of these remarkable hiPSC-based interventional clinical trials, using it to confirm their potential for regenerative medicine.

So far, more noticeable progress has been made for age-related macular degeneration (AMD). In 2009, Carr et al. demonstrated, for the first time, visual function recovery in a rat model's retina following the transplantation of iPSC-RP (Carr et al. 2009). Spurred on by this preclinical study, in 2014, Takahashi et al. at Riken Institute in Japan set their aim on clinical applications by developing autologous iPSC-derived RPE (retinal pigment epithelial) cell sheets that were optimized to meet clinical-grade requirements for the treatment of AMD (Kamao et al. 2014). Upon the transplantation of these cell sheets into an experimental primate model,



Fig. 1 Interventional clinical trials involving human-induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC)-based therapies. (*Study start date is defined as the actual date on which the first participant was enrolled in a clinical study)

there was no immune rejection of the transplanted cells or tumor formation. This successful large experimental animal preclinical study led to the first hiPSC clinical trial in the same year. Takahashi et al. grafted an autologous iPSC-RPE cell sheet into the retina of a 77-year-old woman with AMD, without immunosuppression (Garber 2015; Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Scudellari 2016; Mandai et al. 2017; Attwood and Edel 2019). Though the trial was halted due to mutation noted in the iPSCs of the second patient, the overall conclusion after 2 years posttransplantation is that the trial was successful (Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Apatoff et al. 2018). Takahashi et al. commenced another clinical research in 2017 using HLA-matched allogeneic iPSCs-RPE cells in a 60-year-old man with AMD (Cyranoski 2017).

Additionally, an iPSC bank was established at the Center for iPS Cell Research and Application (CiRA) in Japan (Umekage et al. 2019). There are three other most recent ongoing iPSC-related clinical trials for eye disorders. Firstly, in July 2019, Nishida et al. at Osaka University, Japan, initiated the first-in-human clinical research of iPSC-derived corneal epithelial cell sheet transplantation for patients with limbal stem-cell deficiency, a type of corneal disorder. One month posttransplantation, the patient's vision improved (Cyranoski 2019). Secondly, in June 2020, Yasuhiko et al. at Kobe City Eye Hospital transplanted allogeneic iPSC retinal sheets for patients with retinitis pigmentosa. Finally, in September 2020, Wiley et al. of the National Eye Institute (NEI), National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA, commenced a phase I/IIa trial for the autologous transplantation of iPSC-RPE cells for geographic atrophy associated with AMD (Fig. 1).

Besides the treatment of eye disorders, much attention has also been directed toward applying iPSC-based products to manage neurological disorders, with Parkinson's disease (PD) being the most advanced (Doi et al. 2020). Takahashi's research group at Kyoto University reported in 2017 that human iPSC-dopaminergic progenitor cells survived and functioned as midbrain dopaminergic neurons in a primate model of PD (Takahashi 2017; Kikuchi et al. 2017). The following year, the same group commenced the first clinical trial to treat PD using hiPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons (Cyranoski 2018a; Stoddard-Bennett and Reijo Pera 2019). Whether PD will be the first neurodegenerative disease to be cured by iPSCs remains an interesting question.

On the oncological front, iPSC-derived cells are also helpful for patients with cancers. In February 2019, Fate Therapeutics, an American Company, commenced a clinical trial involving the allogeneic iPSC-derived NK-cell-based therapy for up to 64 patients with advanced solid tumors (Nianias and Themeli 2019). Additionally, the Australian company Cynata Therapeutics launched a clinical trial in March 2017 involving the infusion of allogeneic iPSC-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of steroid-resistant graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). Phase I of the trial was completed in August 2018 with positive results, and research is underway to commence the phase 2 trial (Rasko et al. 2019).

iPSC has been applied as a prospective therapy for other diseases. For heart disorders, Sawa et al. at Osaka University got the approval for a clinical trial to transplant allogeneic iPSC-derived cardiomyocyte sheets in three patients with

ischemic cardiomyopathy (Cyranoski 2018b). There are three other ongoing clinical trials on heart-related disorders (Fig. 1; ID-Numbers-NCT03763136, NCT04396899, and JRCT20531900817).

Similarly, other applications include spinal cord injury (jRCTa031190228), cartilage defect (jRCTa050190104), and thrombocytopenia disease (jRCTa050190117).

Conclusion

The iPSCs' platform has become an excellent and powerful tool for understanding and treating human diseases. During the last decade and a half, considerable progress has been made to generate organ-specific cells and tissues from iPSCs, several of which have been moved into clinical trials. We are confident that many advancements and excitements await us during the second decade of iPSC technology as we take a further leap from bench to bedside. Though some barriers still exist that block the full realization of the potential of iPSCs, the authors strongly believe that many of these are technical, and with time, "this too shall pass away." We are confident that the iPSC platform will become a viable treatment option for many diseases, besides iPSCs' diagnostic applications and use in drug development in the not-so-distant future.

Cross-References

- ► Common Ethical Considerations of Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Research
- Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) as a Platform for Modeling Arrhythmias

References

- Afzal Z, Haider KH, Ashraf M (2011) Induced pluripotent stem cell derived cKit^{low}Sca1^{high}Flk^{high} progenitor cells undergo angiomyogenic differentiation in the infarcted heart and preserve global heart function. Circulation, Nov. 2011-SS-A-16946-AHA
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011a) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70
- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011b) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host: a note of caution. Regen Med 6: 171–178
- Ahmed RPH, Buccini S, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Surrogate progenitors for cardiogenesis: direct reprogramming of somatic cells to cross lineage restriction without pluripotency. Circulation Nov (suppl) 2012
- Aoi T, Yae K, Nakagawa M, Ichisaka T, Okita K, Takahashi K, Chiba T, Yamanaka S (2008) Generation of pluripotent stem cells from adult mouse liver and stomach cells. Science 321: 699–702

- Apatoff MBL, Sengillo JD, White EC, Bakhoum MF, Bassuk AG, Mahajan VB, Tsang SH (2018) Autologous stem cell therapy for inherited and acquired retinal disease. Regen Med 13:89–96
- Attwood SW, Edel MJ (2019) iPS-cell technology and the problem of genetic instability can it ever be safe for clinical use? J Clin Med Res 8:288
- Badin RA, Bugi A, Williams S, Vadori M, Michael M, Jan C, Nassi A et al (2019) MHC matching fails to prevent long-term rejection of iPSC-derived neurons in non-human primates. Nat Commun:10
- Bai F, Ho Lim C, Jia J, Santostefano K, Simmons C, Kasahara H, Wu W et al (2015) Directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes by bacterial injection of defined transcription factors. Sci Rep 5:15014. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15014
- Barrett R, Ornelas L, Yeager N, Mandefro B, Sahabian A, Lenaeus L, Targan SR (2014) Reliable generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human lymphoblastoid cell lines. Stem Cells Transl Med 3(12):1429–1434. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0121
- Bravery CA (2015) Do human leukocyte antigen-typed cellular therapeutics based on induced pluripotent stem cells make commercial sense? Stem Cells Dev 24:1–10
- Bright J, Hussain S, Dang V, Wright S, Cooper B, Byun T, Ramos C et al (2015) Human secreted tau increases amyloid-beta production. Neurobiol Aging 36:693–709
- Brons IGM, Smithers LE, Trotter MWB, Rugg-Gunn P, Sun B, de Sousa Lopes SMC, Howlett SK et al (2007) Derivation of pluripotent epiblast stem cells from mammalian embryos. Nature 448: 191–195
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301–314
- Buganim Y, Faddah DA, Jaenisch R (2013) Mechanisms and models of somatic cell reprogramming. Nat Rev Genet 14(6):427–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3473
- Burkhardt MF, Martinez FJ, Wright S, Ramos C, Volfson D, Mason M, Garnes J et al (2013) A cellular model for sporadic ALS using patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 56:355–364
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH (2018) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (eds) Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Geithner Straße13-10785 Berlin
- Cahan P, Daley GQ (2013) Origins and implications of pluripotent stem cell variability and heterogeneity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14:357–368
- Camp JG, Gray CJ, Badsha F, Florio M, Kanton S, Gerber T, Wilsch-Bräuninger M et al (2015) Human cerebral organoids recapitulate gene expression programs of fetal neocortex development. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112:15672–15677
- Carr A-J, Vugler AA, Hikita ST, Lawrence JM, Gias C, Chen LL, Buchholz DE et al (2009) Protective effects of human iPS-derived retinal pigment epithelium cell transplantation in the retinal dystrophic rat. PLoS One 4:e8152
- Çetinkaya DU, Haider KH (2020) Induced pluripotent stem cells in pediatric research and clinical translation. Stem cells: from Hype to Hope and MORE. Cambridge Scholars Publishing
- Chamberlain SJ (2016) Disease modelling using human iPSCs. Hum Mol Genet 25:R173-R181
- Cho HJ, Lee CS, Kwon YW, Paek JS, Lee SH, Hur J, Lee EJ et al (2010) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult somatic cells by protein-based reprogramming without genetic manipulation. Blood 116(3):386–395. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-02-269589
- Choi J, Lee S, Mallard W, Clement K, Tagliazucchi GM, Lim H, Choi IY et al (2015) A comparison of genetically matched cell lines reveals the equivalence of human iPSCs and ESCs. Nat Biotechnol 33:1173–1181
- Chung T-L, Brena RM, Kolle G, Grimmond SM, Berman BP, Laird PW, Pera MF et al (2010) Vitamin C promotes widespread yet specific DNA demethylation of the epigenome in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 28:1848–1855

- Cooper O, Seo H, Andrabi S, Guardia-Laguarta C, Graziotto J, Sundberg M, McLean JR et al (2012) Pharmacological rescue of mitochondrial deficits in iPSC-derived neural cells from patients with familial Parkinson's disease. Sci Transl Med 4:141ra90
- Corrò C, Novellasdemunt L, Li VSW (2020) A brief history of organoids. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 319:C151–C165
- Csöbönyeiová M, Polák Š, Danišovič L (2016) Toxicity testing and drug screening using iPSCderived hepatocytes, cardiomyocytes, and neural cells. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 94(7):687–694. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjpp-2015-0459
- Cugola FR, Fernandes IR, Russo FB, Freitas BC, Dias JLM, Guimarães KP, Benazzato C et al (2016) The Brazilian Zika virus strain causes birth defects in experimental models. Nature 534: 267–271
- Cyranoski D (2017) Japanese man is first to receive "reprogrammed" stem cells from another person. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature.2017.21730
- Cyranoski D (2018a) "Reprogrammed" stem cells implanted into patient with Parkinson's disease. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-07407-9
- Cyranoski D (2018b) "Reprogrammed" stem cells approved to mend human hearts for the first time. Nature 557:619–620
- Cyranoski D (2019) Woman is first to receive cornea made from "reprogrammed" stem cells. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-02597-2
- De Almeida PE, Meyer EH, Kooreman NG, Diecke S, Dey D, Sanchez-Freire V, Hu S et al (2014) Transplanted terminally differentiated induced pluripotent stem cells are accepted by immune mechanisms similar to self-tolerance. Nat Commun 5:1–12
- Deinsberger J, Reisinger D, Weber B (2020) Global trends in clinical trials involving pluripotent stem cells: a systematic multi-database analysis. NPJ Regen Med 5:15
- Deng XY, Wang H, Wang T, Fang XT, Zou LL, Li ZY, Liu CB (2015) Non-viral methods for generating integration-free, induced pluripotent stem cells. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 10(2): 153–158. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888x09666140923101914
- Deng J, Zhang Y, Xie Y, Zhang L, Tang P (2018) Cell transplantation for spinal cord injury: tumorigenicity of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem/progenitor cells. Stem Cells Int 2018:5653787. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5653787. PMID: 29535771; PMCID: PMC5817265
- Deshmukh RS, Kovács KA, Dinnyés A (2012) Drug discovery models and toxicity testing using embryonic and induced pluripotent stem-cell-derived cardiac and neuronal cells. Stem Cells Int 2012:379569. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/379569
- Deuse T, Hu X, Agbor-Enoh S, Koch M, Spitzer MH, Gravina A, Alawi M et al (2019a) De novo mutations in mitochondrial DNA of iPSCs produce immunogenic neoepitopes in mice and humans. Nat Biotechnol 37:1137–1144
- Deuse T, Hu X, Gravina A, Wang D, Tediashvili G, De C, Thayer WO et al (2019b) Hypoimmunogenic derivatives of induced pluripotent stem cells evade immune rejection in fully immunocompetent allogeneic recipients. Nat Biotechnol 37:252–258
- Devine MJ, Ryten M, Vodicka P, Thomson AJ, Burdon T, Houlden H, Cavaleri F et al (2011) Parkinson's disease induced pluripotent stem cells with triplication of the α -synuclein locus. Nat Commun 2:440
- Di Giorgio FP, Carrasco MA, Siao MC, Maniatis T, Eggan K (2007) Non-cell autonomous effect of glia on motor neurons in an embryonic stem cell-based ALS model. Nat Neurosci 10:608–614
- Doi D, Magotani H, Kikuchi T, Hiramatsu S, Yoshida K, Amano N, Nomura M et al (2020) Pre-clinical study of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived dopaminergic progenitor cells for Parkinson's disease. Nat Commun 11:3369. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17165-w
- Dye BR, Hill DR, Ferguson MAH, Tsai Y-H, Nagy MS, Dyal R, Wells JM et al (2015) In vitro generation of human pluripotent stem cell derived lung organoids. Elife:4. https://doi.org/10. 7554/eLife.05098

- Eglen RM, Reisine T (2019) Human iPS cell-derived patient tissues and 3D cell culture Part 2: spheroids, organoids, and disease modeling. SLAS Technol 24(1):18–27. https://doi.org/10. 1177/2472630318803275
- El Khatib MM, Ohmine S, Jacobus EJ, Tonne JM, Morsy SG, Holditch SJ, Schreiber CA et al (2016) Tumor-free transplantation of patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cell progeny for customized islet regeneration. Stem Cells Transl Med 5(5):694–702. https://doi.org/10.5966/ sctm.2015-0017
- Evans MJ, Kaufman MH (1981) Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 292:154–156
- Frederiksen HR, Doehn U, Tveden-Nyborg P, Freude KK (2021) Non-immunogenic Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells, a Promising Way Forward for Allogenic Transplantations for Neurological Disorders. Frontiers in Genome Editing 2:30 Pages. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgeed.2020. 623717
- Fujimori K, Ishikawa M, Otomo A, Atsuta N, Nakamura R, Akiyama T, Hadano S et al (2018) Modeling sporadic ALS in iPSC-derived motor neurons identifies a potential therapeutic agent. Nat Med 24:1579–1589
- Fusaki N, Ban H, Nishiyama A, Saeki K, Hasegawa M (2009) Efficient induction of transgene-free human pluripotent stem cells using a vector based on Sendai virus, an RNA virus that does not integrate into the host genome. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 85:348–362
- Gabriel E, Wason A, Ramani A, Gooi LM, Keller P, Pozniakovsky A, Poser I et al (2016) CPAP promotes timely cilium disassembly to maintain neural progenitor pool. EMBO J 35:803–819
- Gao X, Yourick JJ, Sprando RL (2021) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells using endothelial progenitor cells derived from umbilical cord blood and adult peripheral blood. Methods Mol Biol. https://doi.org/10.1007/7651 2021 372
- Garber K (2015) RIKEN suspends first clinical trial involving induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 33:890–891
- Garcez PP, Loiola EC, Madeiro da Costa R, Higa LM, Trindade P, Delvecchio R, Nascimento JM et al (2016) Zika virus impairs growth in human neurospheres and brain organoids. Science 352: 816–818
- Gornalusse GG, Hirata RK, Funk SE, Riolobos L, Lopes VS, Manske G, Prunkard D et al (2017) HLA-E-expressing pluripotent stem cells escape allogeneic responses and lysis by NK cells. Nat Biotechnol 35:765–772
- Guha P, Morgan JW, Mostoslavsky G, Rodrigues NP, Boyd AS (2013) Lack of immune response to differentiated cells derived from syngeneic induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 12: 407–412
- Hanna J, Wernig M, Markoulaki S, Sun C-W, Meissner A, Cassady JP, Beard C et al (2007) Treatment of sickle cell anemia mouse model with iPS cells generated from autologous skin. Science 318:1920–1923
- Hayashi Y, Ohnuma K, Furue MK (2019a) Pluripotent stem cell heterogeneity. Adv Exp Med Biol 1123:71–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11096-3 6
- Hayashi Y, Ohnuma K, Furue MK (2019b) Pluripotent stem cell heterogeneity. In: Birbrair A (ed) Stem cells heterogeneity – novel concepts. Advances in experimental medicine and biology, vol 1123. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11096-3 6
- Heng BC, Haider KH, Sim EKW, Cao T, Tong GQ, Ng SC (2005) Comments about possible use of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes to direct autologous adult stem cells into the cardiomyogenic lineage. Acta Cardiol 60:7–12
- Hino K, Ikeya M, Horigome K, Matsumoto Y, Ebise H, Nishio M, Sekiguchi K et al (2015) Neofunction of ACVR1 in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112: 15438–15443
- Höing S, Rudhard Y, Reinhardt P, Glatza M, Stehling M, Wu G, Peiker C et al (2012) Discovery of inhibitors of microglial neurotoxicity acting through multiple mechanisms using a stem-cellbased phenotypic assay. Cell Stem Cell 11:620–632

- Hong H, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, Kanagawa O, Nakagawa M, Okita K et al (2009) Suppression of induced pluripotent stem cell generation by the p53–p21 pathway. Nature 460: 1132–1135
- Hosoya M, Fujioka M, Sone T, Okamoto S, Akamatsu W, Ukai H, Ueda HR et al (2017) Cochlear cell modeling using disease-specific iPSCs unveils a degenerative phenotype and suggests treatments for congenital progressive hearing loss. Cell Rep 18:68–81
- Huang CY, Liu CL, Ting CY, Chiu YT, Cheng Y-C, Nicholson MW, Hsieh PCH (2019) Human iPSC banking: barriers and opportunities. J Biomed Sci 26:87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-019-0578-x
- Huangfu D, Maehr R, Guo W, Eijkelenboom A, Snitow M, Chen AE, Melton DA (2008) Induction of pluripotent stem cells by defined factors is greatly improved by small-molecule compounds. Nat Biotechnol 26:795–797
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng 9(4):226–244
- Imamura K, Izumi Y, Watanabe A, Tsukita K, Woltjen K, Yamamoto T, Hotta A et al (2017) The Src/c-Abl pathway is a potential therapeutic target in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Sci Transl Med 9. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf3962
- Imamura K, Izumi Y, Banno H, Uozumi R, Morita S, Egawa N, Ayaki T et al (2019) Induced pluripotent stem cell-based drug repurposing for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis medicine (iDReAM) study: protocol for a phase I dose escalation study of bosutinib for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. BMJ Open 9:e033131
- Israel MA, Yuan SH, Bardy C, Reyna SM, Mu Y, Herrera C, Hefferan MP et al (2012) Probing sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease using induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 482: 216–220
- Itzhaki I, Maizels L, Huber I, Zwi-Dantsis L, Caspi O, Winterstern A, Feldman O et al (2011) Modelling the long QT syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471:225–229
- Jacquet L, Stephenson E, Collins R, Patel H, Trussler J, Al-Bedaery R, Renwick P et al (2013) Strategy for the creation of clinical grade hESC line banks that HLA-match a target population. EMBO Mol Med 5:10–17
- Jodat YA, Kang MG, Kiaee K, Kim GJ, Martinez AFH, Rosenkranz A, Bae H et al (2018) Humanderived organ-on-a-Chip for personalized drug development. Curr Pharm Des 24:5471–5486
- Judson RL, Babiarz JE, Venere M, Blelloch R (2009) Embryonic stem cell–specific microRNAs promote induced pluripotency. Nat Biotechnol 27:459–461
- Kamao H, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Sakai N, Suga A, Sugita S, Kiryu J et al (2014) Characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium cell sheets aiming for clinical application. Stem Cell Rep 2:205–218
- Kanemura H, Go MJ, Shikamura M, Nishishita N, Sakai N, Kamao H et al (2014) Tumorigenicity studies of induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration. PLoS One 9(1):e85336. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0085336
- Kang X, Yu Q, Huang Y, Song B, Chen Y, Gao X, He W et al (2015) Effects of integrating and non-integrating reprogramming methods on copy number variation and genomic stability of human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 10(7):e0131128. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0131128
- Kikuchi T, Morizane A, Doi D, Magotani H, Onoe H, Hayashi T, Mizuma H et al (2017) Human iPS cell-derived dopaminergic neurons function in a primate Parkinson's disease model. Nature 548: 592–596
- Kimbrel EA, Lanza R (2015) Current status of pluripotent stem cells: moving the first therapies to the clinic. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14:681–692
- Kojima K, Miyoshi H, Nagoshi N, et al (2019) Selective ablation of tumorigenic cells following human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem/progenitor cell transplantation in spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 8(3):260–270. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0096

- Kondo T, Asai M, Tsukita K, Kutoku Y, Ohsawa Y, Sunada Y, Imamura K et al (2013) Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSCs reveals stress phenotypes associated with intracellular Aβ and differential drug responsiveness. Cell Stem Cell 12:487–496
- Kumar S, Blangero J, Curran JE (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modeling and gene identification. Methods Mol Biol 1706:17–38
- Lee G, Papapetrou EP, Kim H, Chambers SM, Tomishima MJ, Fasano CA, Ganat YM et al (2009) Modelling pathogenesis and treatment of familial dysautonomia using patient-specific iPSCs. Nature 461:402–406
- Lee G, Ramirez CN, Kim H, Zeltner N, Liu B, Radu C, Bhinder B et al (2012) Large-scale screening using familial dysautonomia induced pluripotent stem cells identifies compounds that rescue IKBKAP expression. Nat Biotechnol 30:1244–1248
- Li W, Zhou H, Abujarour R, Zhu S, Young Joo J, Lin T, Hao E, Schöler HR et al (2009) Generation of human-induced pluripotent stem cells in the absence of exogenous Sox2. Stem Cells 27: 2992–3000
- Liu YW, Chen B, Yang X, Fugate JA, Kalucki FA, Futakuchi-Tsuchida A, Couture L et al (2018) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes restore function in infarcted hearts of non-human primates. Nat Biotechnol 36(7):597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4162
- Liu X, Li C, Zheng K, Zhao X, Xu X, Yang A, Yi M et al (2020) Chromosomal aberration arises during somatic reprogramming to pluripotent stem cells. Cell Div 15:12. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13008-020-00068-z
- Mandai M, Kurimoto Y, Takahashi M (2017) Autologous induced stem-cell-derived retinal cells for macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 377(8):792–793. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc1706274
- Mariani J, Coppola G, Zhang P, Abyzov A, Provini L, Tomasini L, Amenduni M et al (2015) FOXG1-dependent dysregulation of GABA/glutamate neuron differentiation in autism Spectrum disorders. Cell 162:375–390
- Martin GR (1981) Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 78:7634–7638
- Masi CD, De Masi C, Spitalieri P, Murdocca M, Novelli G, Sangiuolo F (2020) Application of CRISPR/Cas9 to human-induced pluripotent stem cells: from gene editing to drug discovery. Human Genomics 14
- McCracken KW, Catá EM, Crawford CM, Sinagoga KL, Schumacher M, Rockich BE, Tsai Y-H et al (2014) Modelling human development and disease in pluripotent stem-cell-derived gastric organoids. Nature 516:400–404
- Meissner A, Wernig M, Jaenisch R (2007) Direct reprogramming of genetically unmodified fibroblasts into pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 25:1177–1181
- Meissner T, Strominger J, Cowan C (2015) The universal donor stem cell: removing the immune barrier to transplantation using CRISPR/Cas9 (TRAN1P.946). J Immunol 194:140.28–140.28
- Miyake T, Shimada M (2021) 3D organoid culture using skin keratinocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/7651_ 2021 357
- Morimoto S, Takahashi S, Fukushima K, Saya H, Suzuki N, Aoki M, Okano H et al (2019) Ropinirole hydrochloride remedy for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis – protocol for a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, single-center, and open-label continuation phase I/IIa clinical trial (ROPALS trial). Regen Ther 11:143–166
- Morizane A, Kikuchi T, Hayashi T, Mizuma H, Takara S, Doi H, Mawatari A et al (2017) MHC matching improves engraftment of iPSC-derived neurons in non-human primates. Nat Commun:8
- Mullard A (2015) Stem-cell discovery platforms yield first clinical candidates: induced pluripotent stem cell-derived'disease-in-a-dish'models have propelled neurological drugs from Bristol-Myers Squibb, GlaxoSmithKline and Roche into clinical trials. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14: 589–592

- Nagai M, Re DB, Nagata T, Chalazonitis A, Jessell TM, Wichterle H, Przedborski S (2007) Astrocytes expressing ALS-linked mutated SOD1 release factors selectively toxic to motor neurons. Nat Neurosci 10:615–622
- Nakagawa M, Koyanagi M, Tanabe K, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, Okita K et al (2008) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol 26:101–106
- Naryshkin NA, Weetall M, Dakka A, Narasimhan J (2014) SMN2 splicing modifiers improve motor function and longevity in mice with spinal muscular atrophy. Science 345:688
- Nianias A, Themeli M (2019) Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived lymphocytes for adoptive cell immunotherapy: recent advances and challenges. Curr Hematol Malig Rep 14: 261–268
- Nikitina TV, Kashevarova AA, Lebedev IN (2019) Chromosomal instability and karyotype correction in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Russ J Genet 55:1183–1195. https://doi.org/10. 1134/S1022795419100090
- Nishizawa M, Chonabayashi K, Nomura M, Tanaka A, Nakamura M, Inagaki A, Nishikawa M et al (2016) Epigenetic variation between human induced pluripotent stem cell lines is an indicator of differentiation capacity. Cell Stem Cell 19:341–354
- Ntai A, Baronchelli S, La Spada A, Moles A, Guffanti A, De Blasio P, Biunno I (2017) A review of research-grade human induced pluripotent stem cells qualification and biobanking processes. Biopreserv Biobanking 15(4):384–392. https://doi.org/10.1089/bio.2016.0097
- Ogawa M, Ogawa S, Bear CE, Ahmadi S, Chin S, Li B, Grompe M et al (2015) Directed differentiation of cholangiocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 33:853–861
- Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S (2007) Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448:313–317
- Okita K, Matsumura Y, Sato Y, Okada A, Morizane A, Okamoto S, Hong H et al (2011) A more efficient method to generate integration-free human iPS cells. Nat Methods 8:409–412
- Omole AE, Fakoya AOJ (2018) Ten years of progress and promise of induced pluripotent stem cells: historical origins, characteristics, mechanisms, limitations, and potential applications. PeerJ 6:e4370
- Ortuño-Costela M del C, del Carmen Ortuño-Costela M, Cerrada V, García-López M, Esther Gallardo M (2019) The challenge of bringing iPSCs to the patient. Int J Mol Sci 20:6305
- Otani T, Marchetto MC, Gage FH, Simons BD, Livesey FJ (2016) 2D and 3D stem cell models of primate cortical development identify species-specific differences in progenitor behavior contributing to brain size. Cell Stem Cell 18:467–480
- Paik DT, Chandy M, Wu JC (2020) Patient and disease–specific induced pluripotent stem cells for discovery of personalized cardiovascular drugs and therapeutics. Pharmacol Rev 72(1): 320–342. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.116.013003
- Paloschi V, Sabater-Lleal M, Middelkamp H, Vivas A, Johansson S, van der Meer A, Tenje M et al (2021) Organ-on-a-chip technology: a novel approach to investigate cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovasc Res. (published ahead online). https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvab088
- Park IH, Zhao R, West JA, Yabuuchi A, Huo H, Ince TA, Lerou PH (2008) Reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency with defined factors. Nature 451:141–146
- Paşca AM, Sloan SA, Clarke LE, Tian Y, Makinson CD, Huber N, Kim CH, Park J-Y, O'Rourke NA, Nguyen KD, Smith SJ, Huguenard JR, Geschwind DH, Barres BA, Paşca SP (2015) Functional cortical neurons and astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in 3D culture. Nat Methods 12:671–678
- Pasha Z, Haider HK, Ashraf M (2011) Efficient non-viral reprogramming of myoblasts to stemness with a single small molecule to generate cardiac progenitor cells. PLoS One 6(8):e23667. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023667
- Pasteuning-Vuhman S, de Jongh R, Timmers A, Pasterkamp RJ (2021) Towards advanced iPSCbased drug development for neurodegenerative disease. Trends Mol Med 27(3):263–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2020.09.013

- Petrus-Reurer S, Romano M, Howlett S, Jones JL, Lombardi G, Saeb-Parsy K (2021) Immunological considerations and challenges for regenerative cellular therapies. Commun Biol 4:798. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02237-4
- Qian X, Nguyen HN, Song MM, Hadiono C, Ogden SC, Hammack C, Yao B et al (2016) Brainregion-specific organoids using mini-bioreactors for modeling ZIKV exposure. Cell 165: 1238–1254
- Raab S, Klingenstein M, Liebau S, Linta L (2014) A comparative view on human somatic cell sources for iPSC generation. Stem Cells Int 2014:768391. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/768391
- Rasko JEJ, Patel A, Griffin JE, Gilleece MH, Radia R, Yeung DT, Slukvin I et al (2019) Results of the first completed clinical trial of an iPSC-derived product: CYP-001 in steroid-resistant acute GvHD. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 25:S255–S256
- Ray A, Joshi JM, Sundaravadivelu PK, Raina K, Lenka N, Kaveeshwar V, Thummer RP (2021) An overview on promising somatic cell sources utilized for the efficient generation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-021-10200-3
- Riordon DR, Boheler KR (2018) Immunophenotyping of live human pluripotent stem cells by flow cytometry. Methods Mol Biol 1722:127–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7553-2_9
- Rowe RG, Daley GQ (2019) Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery. Nat Rev Genet 20:377–388. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-019-0100-z
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Tian XF, Lei Y, Ge R, Cao T (2007) Directing endothelial differentiation of human embryonic stem cells via transduction with an adenoviral vector expressing VEGF₁₆₅ gene. J Gene Med 9(6):452–461
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Ye L, Tan RS, Toh WS, Tian XF et al (2010) Therapeutic angiogenesis by transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived CD133+ endothelial progenitor cells for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5:231–244
- Sampaziotis F, de Brito MC, Madrigal P, Bertero A, Saeb-Parsy K, Soares FAC, Schrumpf E et al (2015) Cholangiocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells for disease modeling and drug validation. Nat Biotechnol 33:845–852
- Sato T, Vries RG, Snippert HJ, van de Wetering M, Barker N, Stange DE, van Es JH et al (2009) Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature 459:262–265
- Scudellari M (2016) A decade of iPS cells. Nature 534:310+
- Shi Y, Inoue H, Takahashi J, Yamanaka S (2020) Induced pluripotent stem cell technology: venturing into the second decade. Principles Tissue Eng:435–443
- Shinkumaa S, Guo Z, Christianoa AM (2016) Site-specific genome editing for correction of induced pluripotent stem cells derived from dominant dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. PNAS 113(20): 5676–5681. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1512028113
- Simonson OE, Domogatskaya A, Volchkov P, Rodin S (2015) The safety of human pluripotent stem cells in clinical treatment. Ann Med 47(5):370–380. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2015. 1051579
- Sommer AG, Rozelle SS, Sullivan S, Mills JA, Park SM, Smith BW, Iyer AM et al (2012) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells from peripheral blood using the STEMCCA lentiviral vector. J Vis Exp 68:4327. https://doi.org/10.3791/4327
- Spence JR, Mayhew CN, Rankin SA, Kuhar MF, Vallance JE, Tolle K, Hoskins EE et al (2011) Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into intestinal tissue in vitro. Nature 470:105–109
- Stoddard-Bennett T, Reijo Pera R (2019) Treatment of parkinson's disease through personalized medicine and induced pluripotent stem cells. Cells:8. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8010026
- Su J, Pei D, Qin B (2013) Roles of small molecules in somatic cell reprogramming. Acta Pharmacol Sin 34:719–724. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2013.73
- Subramanyam D, Lamouille S, Judson RL, Liu JY, Bucay N, Derynck R, Blelloch R (2011) Multiple targets of miR-302 and miR-372 promote reprogramming of human fibroblasts to induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 29:443–448

- Sugita S, Iwasaki Y, Makabe K, Kamao H, Mandai M, Shiina T, Ogasawara K et al (2016) Successful transplantation of retinal pigment epithelial Cells from MHC homozygote iPSCs in MHC-matched models. Stem Cell Rep 7:635–648
- Sugita S, Mandai M, Hirami Y, Takagi S, Maeda T, Fujihara M, Matsuzaki M et al (2020) HLA-matched allogeneic iPS cells-derived RPE transplantation for macular degeneration. J Clin Med Res:9. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9072217
- Takahashi J (2017) Strategies for bringing stem cell-derived dopamine neurons to the clinic: the Kyoto trial. Prog Brain Res 230:213–226
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131:861–872
- Takasato M, Er PX, Chiu HS, Maier B, Baillie GJ, Ferguson C, Parton RG et al (2015) Kidney organoids from human iPS cells contain multiple lineages and model human nephrogenesis. Nature 526:564–568
- Takebe T, Sekine K, Enomura M, Koike H, Kimura M, Ogaeri T, Zhang R-R et al (2013) Vascularized and functional human liver from an iPSC-derived organ bud transplant. Nature 499:481–484
- Taylor CJ, Peacock S, Chaudhry AN, Bradley JA, Bolton EM (2012) Generating an iPSC bank for HLA-matched tissue transplantation based on known donor and recipient HLA types. Cell Stem Cell 11:147–152
- Tesar PJ, Chenoweth JG, Brook FA, Davies TJ, Evans EP, Mack DL, Gardner RL et al (2007) New cell lines from mouse epiblast share defining features with human embryonic stem cells. Nature 448:196–199
- Teshigawara R, Cho J, Kameda M, Tada T (2017) Mechanism of human somatic reprogramming to iPS cell. Lab Investig 97:1152–1157. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2017.56
- Tucker BA, Solivan-Timpe F, Roos BR, Anfinson KR, Robin AL, Wiley LA, Mullins RF et al (2014) Duplication of TBK1 stimulates autophagy in iPSC-derived retinal cells from a patient with normal tension glaucoma. J Stem Cell Res Ther 3:161
- Turinetto V, Orlando L, Giachino C (2017) Induced pluripotent stem cells: advances in the quest for genetic stability during reprogramming process. Int J Mol Sci:18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms18091952

Umekage M, Sato Y, Takasu N (2019) Overview: an iPS cell stock at CiRA. Inflamm Regen 39:17

- Volpato V, Webber C (2020) Addressing variability in iPSC-derived models of human disease: guidelines to promote reproducibility in collection. Dis Model Mech 13(1):dmm042317. https:// doi.org/10.1242/dmm.042317
- Watson CL, Mahe MM, Múnera J, Howell JC, Sundaram N, Poling HM, Schweitzer JI et al (2014) An in vivo model of human small intestine using pluripotent stem cells. Nat Med 20:1310–1314
- Wernig M, Zhao J-P, Pruszak J, Hedlund E, Fu D, Soldner F, Broccoli V et al (2008) Neurons derived from reprogrammed fibroblasts functionally integrate into the fetal brain and improve symptoms of rats with Parkinson's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:5856–5861
- Wiegand C, Banerjee I (2019) Recent advances in the applications of iPSC technology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 60:250–258
- Wu SM, Hochedlinger K (2011) Harnessing the potential of induced pluripotent stem cells for regenerative medicine. Nat Cell Biol 13:497–505
- Wu Q, Liu J, Wang X, Feng L, Wu J, Zhu X, Wen W et al (2020) Organ-on-a-chip: recent breakthroughs and future prospects. Biomed Eng Online 19:9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12938-020-0752-0
- Xu X, Lei Y, Luo J, Wang J, Zhang S, Yang X-J, Sun M et al (2013) Prevention of β-amyloid induced toxicity in human iPS cell-derived neurons by inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinases and associated cell cycle events. Stem Cell Res 10:213–227
- Xu H, Wang B, Ono M, Kagita A, Fujii K, Sasakawa N, Ueda T et al (2019) Targeted disruption of HLA genes via CRISPR-Cas9 generates iPSCs with enhanced immune compatibility. Cell Stem Cell 24:566–578.e7

- Yamanaka S (2020) Pluripotent stem cell-based cell therapy promise and challenges. Cell Stem Cell 27:523–531
- Ye Q, Sung TC, Yang JM, Ling QD, He Y, Higuchi A (2020) Generation of universal and hypoimmunogenic human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Prolif 53(12):e12946. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cpr.12946
- Yoo J, Kim J, Lee JH, Kim H, Jang SJ, Seo HH, Oh ST et al (2020) Acceleration of somatic cell reprogramming into the induced pluripotent stem cell using a mycosporine-like amino acid, Porphyra 334. Sci Rep 10:3684. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60680-5
- Yoshida Y, Yamanaka S (2017) Induced pluripotent stem cells 10 years later: for cardiac applications. Circ Res 120:1958–1968
- Yoshihara M, Araki R, Kasama Y, Sunayama M, Abe M, Nishida K, Kawaji H et al (2017a) Hotspots of De novo point mutations in induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep 21:308–315
- Yoshihara M, Hayashizaki Y, Murakawa Y (2017b) Genomic instability of iPSCs: challenges towards their clinical applications. Stem Cell Rev Rep 13:7–16
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J et al (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318:1917–1920
- Zhao T, Zhang Z-N, Rong Z, Xu Y (2011) Immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 474:212–215
- Zhao J, Davis MD, Martens YA, Shinohara M, Graff-Radford NR, Younkin SG, Wszolek ZK et al (2017) APOE ε4/ε4 diminishes neurotrophic function of human iPSC-derived astrocytes. Hum Mol Genet 26:2690–2700



31

Human Stem Cell Differentiation In Vivo in Large Animals

John S. Pixley

Contents

Introduction	922
Long-Term Transplantation Tolerance Following Intrauterine Transplantation (IUT)	923
What Is a Stem Cell?	925
Why a Large Animal?	928
IUT as an Experimental Tool to Study SC Biology or What Is a Stem Cell Revisited	928
The Hematopoietic SC (HSCs)	928
The Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC)	930
Stem Cell Plasticity	934
What Is Stem Cell Plasticity, and How Can It Be Explained Physiologically	937
IUT as a Clinical Option	938
Conclusion	939
Cross-References	939
References	940

Abstract

The discovery of common placental circulation between twins coupled with the development of erythrocyte profiling in cattle allowed Ray Owen (Science 1945) to determine that dizygotic twins were chimeric with their sibling's blood cells after birth. Thus, the author concluded that self-tolerance is acquired during fetal development through the intermingling of sibling cells via the placental circulation and, as a corollary, immune tolerance to self is not genetically determined or innate. Pixley's group has also exploited this process to engraft human stem cells in a large animal (sheep) via in utero transplantation (IUT). Advantages to large animal investigation include long life span, large size, and serial sampling. Using parallel studies in developing sheep fetuses, stem cell engraftment receptivity and sheep lymphoid ontogeny were assayed longitudinally. They were able to identify an engraftment window and propose their antigen exposure model to explain

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_41

J. S. Pixley (🖂)

Texas Tech University Health Science Center, Lubbock, TX, USA e-mail: john.pixley@ttuhsc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

acquisition of immune tolerance to self as chimeric animals display lifelong immune tolerance to the graft. The subsequent chimeras yield human hematopoietic, islet, hepatic, cardiac, and gastrointestinal cellular elements in situ. Circulating human proteins (IgM, albumin, factor VIII, C-peptide, and alphafetoprotein) are detected years after transplantation. Therefore, a fully tolerant large animal host provides an ideal method to test human stem cell differentiation in vivo. This chapter will discuss evidence for immune tolerance and potential advantages of IUT in assaying stem cell differentiation in vivo (in comparison to immunodeficient animal models). Limitations to stem cell differentiation following IUT will be discussed as well.

Keywords

Fetal tolerance \cdot In utero transplantation \cdot Self/non-self discrimination \cdot Pluripotency \cdot Stem cell

n h	hrow	/1 a t i	onc
AU	טופי	' au	ULIS

CAR	CXCL-12-abundant reticular cells
CD	Cluster of differentiation or cluster of designation or classification
	determinant
CFU-F	Colony-forming unit fibroblast
CXCL	CXC chemokine ligand
DC	Dendritic cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
FISH	Flourescent in situ hybridization
G ₀	Gap 0
G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
GADPH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
IUHST	In utero stem cell transplantation
IUT	Intrauterine transplantation
LCA	Lymphocyte common antigen
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
SC	Stem cell
Tx	Transplanted

Introduction

The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine was awarded in 1960 jointly to Sir Frank Macfarlane Burnet and Peter Brian Medawar "for the discovery of acquired immunological tolerance." Their experiments and theories were prompted by Ray Owen's observations in cattle (published in 1945) that dizygotic twins were chimeric with their sibling's blood cells after birth as a consequence of intermingling of sibling cells via the placental circulation. Owen's report comprising two written pages forms the modern understanding of immune tolerance, the existence of the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) (in concert with H.E. Jordan), and stem cell engraftment. Peter Medawar thought Ray Owen should have received the Nobel Prize (Crow 1996; Owen 1945; Jordan 1942). The main idea conveyed was that self-tolerance is acquired during development and not genetically determined.

Long-Term Transplantation Tolerance Following Intrauterine Transplantation (IUT)

Subsequent research using bone marrow cell populations in culture or following transplantation in small and large animals has advanced the general understanding of SC biology. Numerous scientific and lay media publications have spawned considerable excitement concerning SCs' potential to reverse numerous disease processes and/or repair diseased organs. While preliminary studies involved in vitro assays of SC differentiation, transplant studies to assess SC behavior in vivo have proven crucial to advancing the field. To obtain engraftment and expression of allogeneic or xenogeneic SCs in live-born animals, methods are required that generate immune tolerance to the graft in the host or recipient; as failure to induce tolerance will result in graft failure. Methods used to achieve this include irradiation, pharmacologic agents (such as alkylating agents), or using immunodeficient mice as host. Alternatively, in utero SC transplantation (IUSCT) based on Owen, Medawar, and Billingham's observations allows natural events in immune development to achieve graft tolerance. Humanized mice are, in essence, the extension of the immunodeficient transplant model for the in vivo study of human cell behavior and have recently been reviewed (Sutherland et al. 1989; Spangrude et al. 1988; Iscove and Nawa 1997; Ullao-Montaya et al. 2005; Bhatia et al. 1997; Flake et al. 1986; Zanjani et al. 1992; Fujiwara 2018; Stripecke et al. 2020).

Early on to assess proof of principle, IUSCT was attempted in mice and sheep with the long-term goal of attempting to correct congenital disease by transplanting normal cells. The procedure involved preparing donor SCs and transplanting them into the fetal abdomen, although venous and intra-cardiac transplantation has been performed more recently. [Early experiments used unpurified SC populations (i.e., fetal liver).] Gestational timing of the procedure is crucial to the achievement of donor cell engraftment and subsequent expression by inducing tolerance to the graft in parallel with fetal development of tolerance to self.

Flake and Zanjani confirmed that self/non-self discrimination occurs during development by demonstrating lifelong engraftment/expression of both allogeneic and xenogeneic (human) SCs in sheep following IUT. By using a large experimental animal (sheep), Flake and Zanjani were able to vary transplantation temporally during gestation, and it became clear that the tolerance formation took place at a distinct time in development (originally noted by Silverstein also in sheep) (Flake et al. 1986; Zanjani et al. 1992; Silverstein et al. 1964). This period was originally termed the "window of opportunity" based on the hope that the procedure could be

applied clinically to treat childhood hematolymphoid diseases. Recently, Pixley and colleagues identified the fetal maturational events of thymic vascularization and demarcation as clarifying when in development ontogenic programming of self-tolerance occurs. The study of ovine fetal development demonstrated that lymphocyte lineage markers were present in peripheral organs early in gestation but differentiated CD45 co-expression (a marker for cell maturity) was only noted in the thymus. Parallel IUT experiments using allogeneic and human SCs confirmed long-term engraftment follow-ing transplantation occurs coincident with the above-noted maturational events in the thymus. Indeed, deletion was readily detected in most lineages. Engraftment kinetics was similar using either allogeneic or xenogeneic donor cells, and these developmental events were termed "the engraftment window" (Skopal et al. 2009; Pixley and Zanjani 2013; Toivanen et al. 1981) (Figs. 1 and 2a, b).

IUSCT has also been successfully performed using allogeneic and xenogeneic SC in mice, with the timing of successful transplantation also linked to vascularization and demarcation events in the mouse fetal thymus. Using either large or small animals, tolerance has been demonstrated (Pixley and Zanjani 2013; Toivanen et al. 1981; Carrier et al. 1995; Peranteau et al. 2002; Pallavicini et al. 1992; Pixley et al. 1998; Kim et al. 1999; Laje et al. 2006; Fairchild and Waldmann 2000).

While various research groups have confirmed that thymic deletion is operative during the engraftment window, cellular (or peripheral) tolerance in the lymphocyte lineage and natural killer cell lineage is likely established as well (Table 1). Indeed, a variety of experimental manipulations have shown the ability to improve graft expression after birth based on evidence that the host is fully tolerant to the graft (Pixley and Zanjani 2013; Peranteau et al. 2002; Almeida-Porada et al. 2007). In addition, Mintz and Blazar confirmed the hypothesis that IUT could cure newborn hematolymphoid disease following transplantation of normal allogeneic bone marrow cells into diseased mice (Fleischman and Mintz 1979; Blazar et al. 1995a, b).



Fig. 1 Engraftment receptivity is gestational age-dependent. For both allo- and xenotransplantation, cells were transplanted at gestational ages 35, 40, 47, 52, 58, 64, 71, 80, and 92. Independent of donor source, there is an absence of engraftment if IUHSCT is performed prior to day 52; receptivity peaks between days 64 and 71 of gestation and then rapidly falls. SEM is shown as error bars. (Skopal et al. 2009, with permission)



Fig. 2 (**a**, **b**) Expression of CD45 (LCA) on cells of the thymus and peripheral organs during gestation. Expression is found early in the thymus (beginning at day 52), followed by expression in the spleen and PB after the engraftment window closes (day 80). (**a**) Representative histograms showing percent expression of CD45 on the fetal ovine thymus, PB, spleen, bone marrow, lung, and small intestine at selected time points throughout gestation. (**b**) Cumulative data demonstrating expression of CD45 on cells from the fetal ovine thymus, spleen, and PB throughout gestation. SEM is shown as error bars. (Skopal et al. 2009, with permission)

What Is a Stem Cell?

As originally proposed by Till, McCulloch, and Siminovitch, a SC possesses three distinct properties: the ability to self-renew, undergo multi-lineage differentiation, and exhibit extensive proliferative capacity (Till et al. 1964). This theorem remains operational today. Thus, premature differentiating cells which lose the ability to self-renew are termed progenitors. While this study assessed hematopoietic reconstitution, it is now
Allogeneic sheep HSC render recipien	t sheep ^a tolerance following	in utero transplantation
Stimulator	Responder	Stimulation index ^b
Donor	Donor	0
Recipient	Recipient	0
Donor	Recipient	0-8
Recipient	Donor	58 ± 11
Pooled	Donor	69 ± 12
Pooled	Recipient	78 ± 12
Postnatal infusion of allogeneic same	donor HSC augments engra	ftment in tolerant sheep ^c
% Donor cells at birth	n	% Increase ^d
6–10	4	86 + 29
11–15	5	63 + 22
>15	4	21 + 11

Table 1 Groups of six sheep were assessed for tolerance to allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and then re-transplanted after birth with the same donor HSCs

Pixley and Zanjani (2013), with permission

HSCs hematopoietic stem cells

^aRepresentative sample of six chimeric lambs

^bVariation of mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR) previously reported

^cTolerance determined via MLR

 $^d\text{Assessed}$ 6 months after postnatal stem cell infusion (3 \times 108 cells/kg) in 13 chimeric lambs rendered tolerant

recognized that there exists a large variety of tissue-based SCs. While all SCs must be capable of self-renewal, the differentiating capacity is thought to vary from totipotent (a characteristic of embryonic SCs) to pluripotent to multipotent as the organism develops (where multipotent represents "somatic" or adult SCs). The differentiation capacity of somatic SCs is quite varied as will be seen later but not totipotent (Fig. 3a, b).

The marrow SCs had been theorized for almost half a century prior to Till and McCulloch's observation in 1964, and it was known that murine hematopoiesis could be reconstituted following lethal radiation with whole bone marrow. Interestingly, the first successful bone marrow transplantation was performed in 1959 in two patients using whole bone marrow as donor from identical twins (to avoid graft rejection and or graft-versus-host disease) into recipients irradiated for leukemia prior to the report by Till and McCulloch (Pixley 2020).

Since then, it is now recognized that there is a varied SC pool that exists in organs other than marrow. Research has focused most specifically on mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), which possess diverse differentiation features but retain the capacity to self-renew. For example, MSCs are present in the bone marrow where they provide a support function for hematopoietic SCs, but also possess hematopoietic regeneration capability, may be found in remote tissues, and can differentiate extensively in vitro and in vivo. Furthermore, they are easily manipulated; can be expanded in culture as opposed to the hematopoietic SC, which tends to lose self-renewal capacity in culture; and are free from the ethical concerns with the use of human embryonic SC (Ratajczak 2018; Tavassoli and Crosby 1968; Friedenstein et al. 1974; Pittenger et al. 1999; Kincade 2010; Moore 2012).



Fig. 3 (a) Representation of embryonic stem cell differentiation. (Reprinted with permission from Microbe Notes. "Stem Cells- Definition, Properties, Types, Uses, Challenges" October 12, 2020 by Anupama Sapkota). (b) Representation of somatic stem cell differentiation. (Reprinted by permission from the Maharaj Institute of Immune Regenerative Medicine website)

Why a Large Animal?

Simply put, large animal experimentation offers superior size, long-term serial monitoring, and investigations likely impossible in small animals with short life spans. It is recognized that mice and/or rats including inbred strains, gene knockout, transgenic, and disease induction have provided innumerable useful observations on mammalian biology and will continue to be the core experimental animal system. Yet, as noted above, the original observation regarding the existence of hematochimeras was made in cattle.

Another example of how large animal experimentation can expand the knowledge of stem cell behavior was performed by Abkowitz. Here, autologous transplantation was performed, and hematopoietic recovery was observed over 4.5 years. Taking advantage of genetic mosaicism of the X-linked G6PD enzyme in female cats, the relative contribution to hematopoiesis by each of the stem cell mosaics was observed. While considerable variation in relative contribution to hematopoiesis by SCs containing one or the other mosaic was noted early (<1.5 years after transplantation), later examination revealed considerably less variation such that one cat expressed cells of only one mosaic. As the experimental design called for transplantation of a limited number SCs, the authors concluded the early disequilibrium was due to extensive SC renewal necessary to replenish the SC pool. When equilibrium was reached, a small number of self-renewing SCs were capable of extensive hematopoiesis (Abkowitz et al. 1995).

It has been argued that large animals offer a biologic system more akin to humans, and observations may be more translatable to human physiology. There has been considerable interest in developing IUT as a therapeutic tool to treat childhood diseases. This will require refinement of the technique in larger animals. While successful engraftment has been demonstrated in primates and many large animal species, the clinical application requires further modification and understanding, which will be discussed below. At the minimum, a large experimental animal model offers confirmatory evidence regarding observations in small animals.

IUT as an Experimental Tool to Study SC Biology or What Is a Stem Cell Revisited

The Hematopoietic SC (HSCs)

The standard stem cell transplantation assay is performed in irradiated normal or immunodeficient mice (with or without radiation) to render the animal tolerant/ receptive to the graft. The experimental animals are assayed for peripheral blood multi-lineage donor cell expression using a variety of methods to differentiate donor cells from the recipient in the allogeneic system. Xenogeneic mouse transplantation systems require that the animal be immunodeficient to enable engraftment. Much has been learned from these assay systems (Spangrude et al. 1988; Iscove and Nawa 1997; Ullao-Montaya et al. 2005; Bhatia et al. 1997).

Due to durable tolerance to the graft, IUT performed in sheep has enabled in vivo analysis of putative stem cell populations. While surface expression of human CD34 is used as a SC phenotype (in clinical transplantation), it is also known that SC potential is present in a minority of CD34+ cells. This was explored using two different CD34+ populations using IUT in sheep. The first population was CD34+/lineage-/CD38-; the second was CD34+/lineage-/CD38+. Evidence for long-term persistence and serial transplantation (re-transplantation of donor cells into a second recipient) were used to assay human cell activity in sheep recipients (Civin et al. 1996). Serial transplantation is used to differentiate shortterm (progenitors) from long-term repopulating cells (presumably SCs) popularized by transplantation experiments in irradiated mice, as discussed earlier (Iscove and Nawa 1997). Thus, long-term repopulating cells are thought to represent true hematopoietic SCs capable of self-renewal. As can be seen in Fig. 4, long-term persistence and presence of re-transplantable human hematopoiesis were observed only in animals transplanted with CD34+CD38- cells. These studies were extended and demonstrated that the hematopoietic SC population included CD34 – cells and that the expression of CD34 on putative stem cell populations was reversible, a finding observed in mice as well (Zanjani et al. 1998, 2003). An exhaustion strategy was used to differentiate persistence of the graft using either CD34+ or CD34-lineage-negative cells using late-acting hematopoietic growth factors. Early exhaustion (loss of long-term repopulating cells) was seen in the CD34+ population (Zanjani 2000). As CD34 is used as the marker for clinical bone marrow transplantation, it is interesting to note that no late graft failures have been reported despite the above observation. Thus, IUT in large animals is a powerful method to assay human stem cell behavior in vivo.



Fig. 4 Long-term persistence of human hematopoiesis in human/sheep chimeras transplanted with adult human marrow CD34+/CD38- cells, but not CD34+/CD38+ cells. Human engraftment was determined by karyotype analysis. Means (+1 SEM) of results obtained from three CD34+/CD38- or five animals engrafted with human cells are plotted. (Civin et al. 1996, with permission)

As noted in Fig. 3b and discussed earlier, it was thought that, for example, hematopoietic SCs were somatic stem cells and did not possess the ability to cross developmental germline boundaries (plasticity). However, specific SC transplant and in vitro studies suggested that indeed this was not the case. For example, HSCs were reported to generate hepatocytic and pancreatic islet activity (and other organ phenotypes) in mice following transplantation (Almeida-Porada et al. 2010; Ianus et al. 2003; Iskovich et al. 2012; Parekh et al. 2009; Petersen et al. 1999; Theise et al. 2000).

Much controversy accompanied these observations. The thrust of critiques denying SC plasticity suggested: (1) the observations were not reproducible and (2) evidence of plasticity was due to fusion of donor SCs with mature or differentiated cells of the respective organ, for example, liver cells or endocrine pancreas. In general, divergence in the methods used explains some of the observed discrepancies (Almeida-Porada et al. 2010; Ianus et al. 2003; Iskovich et al. 2012; Parekh et al. 2009; Petersen et al. 1999; Theise et al. 2000; Wagers et al. 2002; Vassilopoulos et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2003; Choi et al. 2003; Theise 2010; Lechner et al. 2004; Taneera et al. 2006). SC differentiation into alternate lineages was thought to be promoted by tissue injury where the injured recipient cells would provide paracrine support for donor SC differentiation. To address this issue, Sharkis and colleagues demonstrated hepatocytic activity of highly purified marrow HSC using a trans-well membrane to preclude fusion in an injury model for SC plasticity (Fig. 5) (Jang et al. 2004). The advantage of finding human hepatocytic and pancreatic activity following human SC transplantation in utero is that there is no injury stimulus involved therein. Using fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) probes to differentiate donor from recipient DNA in hepatic cells, no evidence or merging of the respective dyes was seen in representative samples. In this study, human blood vessels and biliary cells were seen supporting full-fledged differentiation of the transplanted SC (Fig. 6a, b, Almeida-Porada et al. 2004).

The Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC)

As mentioned earlier and shown in Fig. 3b, a variety of self-renewing/proliferating cells have been identified in multiple organs. Of these, considerable interest has been generated by the identification of MSCs first identified in marrow by the use of explant studies that were able to separate the marrow niche or support structures from hemopoietic elements, which entered the graft after the supporting structures matured. A stromal-derived SC was identified using in vitro colony assays. Termed colony-forming unit-fibroblast (CFU-F), these bone marrow stroma-derived cells demonstrated clonal proliferation, were found to be extremely adhesive and slowly proliferative, and retained differentiation capacity on successive passaging. Now termed mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), they are identified by their ability to form osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts in vitro following isolation by plastic adherence (CFU-F) (Table 2) (Tavassoli and Crosby 1968; Friedenstein et al. 1974; Pittenger et al. 1999; Kincade 2010; Moore 2012). Bone marrow-derived MSCs, as



Fig. 5 Differentiation of HSCs. (a) Experimental design of co-culture. HSCs (Fr25lin-PKH+ homed to marrow cells) were placed in the upper chamber and incubated with injured minced liver tissue in the lower chamber for 7–48 h. (**b**–**d**) Immunocytochemical staining for hepatocytespecific marker CK18. Scale bars, 10 um. (**b**) HSCs cultured alone did not stain positively with antibody against CK18. (**c**) HSCs co-cultured with CCL₄-treated liver for 48 h (original magnification, ×10). (**d**) The CK18-positive, bi-nucleated cell indicated by an arrow is seen at higher power (original magnification, ×40). (**e**) Frequency of CK18 staining over time in culture. (Jang et al. 2004, with permission)

opposed to other tissue-derived MSCs, are the most well-characterized and best understood subpopulation. Their crucial role in marrow function is described in Fig. 7.



Fig. 6 (a) Human hepatocyte generation in the fetal sheep model is not caused by cell fusion. In situ hybridization of liver sections of (A) a control sheep hybridized with human pericentromeric repeat (red) and sheep pericentromeric repeat (green) probes and (B) control human liver also hybridized with both probes. As can be seen, the probes were completely species specific. Control sheep displayed only the green signal from the sheep probe, whereas the control human liver exhibited only red fluorescence from the human probe. (C) In situ hybridization of a representative liver section of a chimeric sheep. Human hepatocytes within the sections exhibited pure red fluorescence, demonstrating that they contain only human DNA and not sheep DNA, whereas the sheep hepatocytes exhibit only green fluorescence. (Almeida-Porada et al. 2004, with permission). (b) In situ hybridization shows that cells within the vessel walls and biliary ducts are of human origin. Combined in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry were performed on liver sections from sheep that underwent transplantation using a probe specific for the human Alu sequence and an antibody specific for human CD45. (A) Control (no transplantation) sheep. (B, C) Two different sections show numerous cell nuclei within the vessel walls and biliary ducts stained dark brown, demonstrating that they are of human origin. None of these cells exhibit red staining for CD45. (Almeida-Porada et al. 2004, with permission)

1. Adherence to plastic in standard culture con	ditions
2. Phenotype	
Positive (>95%)	Negative (<2%)
CD105	CD45
CD73	CD34
CD90	CD14 or CD11b
	CD79α or CD19
	HLA-DR

Table 2 International Society for Cellular Therapy minimal criteria for human M	MSC
---	-----

3. In vitro differentiation: osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts (demonstrated by staining of in vitro cell culture)

Dominici et al. (2006), with permission



Fig. 7 HSCs in the bone marrow niche. The endothelial sinusoid is surrounded by MSCs identified as pericytes and a stromal subpopulation that can be identified by their expression of nestin and/or leptin receptors. CXCL-12-abundant reticular (CAR) cells are MSCs characterized by high expression of the chemokine CXCL-12, which is a chemoattractant for CXCR-4-expressing HSCs. Sympathetic neural fibers also connect with the niche and may provide negative proliferative signals. E-selectin is expressed exclusively on the endothelial cells of the niche and binds HSCs expressing appropriate ligand. ESC-1 is shown here as a candidate ligand, the binding of which to E-selectin is required for circulating HSCs to attach and roll on the sinusoidal endothelium before their firm attachment and egress. The attachment to E-selectin-expressing endothelium induces HSC proliferation, self-renewal, and chemo- and radiosensitivity. HSCs also reside close to the bone endosteal surface (a more hypoxic environment) and may receive instructive cues from osteoblasts and osteoprogenitors. (Moore 2012, with permission)

It is a complex structure bordered by bone and blood vessels. It is further composed of sympathetic neural fibers, perivascular cells including CAR (CXCL-12-abundant reticular cells), and pericytes. The latter two have MSC-like properties. As noted in Fig. 7, MSCs mediate HSC quiescence and differentiation likely through contact and paracrine signaling. Similar cells have been identified outside the marrow. There is some controversy as to nomenclature and whether cells isolated outside of the marrow are the same. Be that as it may, the minimal criteria for human MSCs noted in Table 2 have been quite useful in characterizing this stromal stem cell (Dominici et al. 2006).

Investigators have proposed that MSCs may be an ideal cell to examine tissue regeneration strategies. As noted earlier, they are readily isolated, large numbers of cells can be generated in culture, and they are thought to downregulate immune reactivity, perhaps as a consequence of their role in maintaining HSC quiescence. Following IUT in sheep, two groups have demonstrated human MSCs' migration to various organs and evidence for relevant (organ-based) differentiation (Liechty et al. 2000; Almeida-Porada et al. 2001). Rather than investigating late MSC engraftment/ expression, another study investigated early events following transplantation of human fetal liver-derived MSCs in utero. At time points from 20 to 120 h following transplantation, the liver, lung, and brain were assessed for human cell presence using a labelled marker for the human cells.

A progressive expansion of the number of human MSCs was seen in each organ (Table 3). The high number of human MSCs in the lung was likely over-represented by lung entrapment. Staining for proliferation with anti-Ki67 was seen in labelled human cells. Site-specific differentiation of the cells was noted for each respective organ. Thus, for example, liver differentiation was seen in the liver but not the lungs. FISH analysis failed to detect fusion or membrane transfer with host/recipient sheep cells (Colletti et al. 2009).

As noted above, MSCs have been identified in multiple organs based on minimal criteria for human MSCs. The interest in endocrine pancreatic regeneration prompted a study using human fetal pancreatic MSCs. Pancreatic tissue was digested with collagenase and placed in initiation medium, and then the adherent cells were placed in a restrictive medium to eliminate contaminating cells in cell suspensions. Analysis of the recovered cell population revealed the requisite surface phenotype and in vitro differentiation into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts. The gene expression profile resembled marrow-derived MSCs rather than characteristics of pancreatic stem/progenitor cells.

The derived MSC population was transplanted in utero into fetal sheep and analyzed for multi-lineage differentiation and pancreatic engraftment. In addition, differentiation and engraftment of human hemopoietic elements were identified in the marrow, and human hepatocytic engraftment was noted with the secretion of human albumin.

Three months following transplantation, three of four sheep pancreas were noted to contain the human GADPH gene. Subsequent analysis was performed at 7, 25, and 27 months following transplantation. Using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR), human DNA was detected in the pancreatic tail in eight of ten transplanted sheep. It is conceivable that sampling error could contribute to the absence of human DNA detected from the four samples collected from each pancreatic tail. Functional expression was tested by analyzing the above ten sheep for the presence of human C-peptide (human proinsulin) in the circulation at 7, 25, and 27 months post-transplant. All animals were fasting; five of the animals that were chimeric based on PCR testing also tested positive for circulating C-peptide on at least two time points. Also, immunohistochemical studies localized clusters of pancreatic cells expressing human insulin (Ersek et al. 2010). In a similar fashion, Pixley's research group has detected in situ human insulin in the sheep pancreas following IUT using bone marrow-derived human MSCs (Fig. 8, Pixley 2020).

Stem Cell Plasticity

Thus, various research groups have described differentiation patterns of SCs in vitro and in vivo that contradicts the "well-established" concept that somatic stem cells do not cross lineage boundaries, for example, mesoderm lineage to endoderm lineage. Indeed, examples exist that SC differentiation can cross all lineages. For instance, following clinical bone marrow transplantation for malignant disease, donor hepatocytes and epithelial cells have been identified (Körbling et al. 2002). Most models testing this hypothesis have used tissue injury to promote SC "plasticity," yet IUT

Table 3 P	ercentage of	engraftment and	d total number o	of human MSC	detected in ea	ach organ at var	rious times pos	t-transplantation	_	
		Liver			Lung			Brain		
				Total			Total		Total	Total
Hours	No. of	%	Total no. of	no. of	% Engraft	Total no. of	no. of	%	no. of	no. of
post-Tx	animals	Engraftment	MSC	$Ki67^*$	ment	MSC	$Ki67^*$	Engraftment	MSC	Ki67*
20	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
25	e	$0.0334 \pm$	$1.16 \pm$	1.1 ± 0.0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		0.0073	$0.008 imes 10^{5}$	$\times 10^{5}$						
30	3	$0.0621 \pm$	2.15 ± 0.01	2.1 ± 0.0	$0.0289 \pm$	13.45 ±	12.9 ± 0.0	0	0	0
		0.0061	$\times 10^{5}$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0073	$0.09 imes 10^5$	$\times 10^{5}$			
40	10	$0.1343 \pm$	4.64 ± 0.11	4.5 ± 0.1	$0.0668 \pm$	$31.02 \pm$	29.5 ± 0.1	$0.0340 \pm$	$1.71 \pm$	1.6 ± 0.0
		0.0244	$\times 10^{5}$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0089	$0.28 imes 10^5$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0078	$0.01 imes 10^5$	$\times 10^{5}$
60	10	$0.1045 \pm$	3.61 ± 0.06	3.5 ± 0.1	$0.0681 \pm$	$31.61 \pm$	30 ± 0.0	$0.0795 \pm$	$4.00 \pm$	3.8 ± 0.0
		0.0154	$\times 10^{5}$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0224	$0.69 imes 10^5$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0064	$0.02 imes10^5$	$\times 10^{5}$
120	7	$0.1041 \pm$	3.96 ± 0.06	3.8 ± 0.0	$0.0974 \pm$	$45.18 \pm$	42.5 ± 0.1	$0.0652 \pm$	$3.29 \pm$	2.9 ± 0.0
		0.0155	$\times 10^{5}$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0150	$0.67 imes 10^5$	$\times 10^{5}$	0.0157	$0.05 imes 10^{5}$	$\times 10^{5}$
;										

	ö
	Ē
	đ
	Б
	a
	5
	s
	Ë
	a.
	Ħ.
	4
	S
	×.
	-
	S
	З
	₽
	S
	n
	0
•	
	g
	>
	Ħ
	-0
	E
	ä
	පා
	õ
	ã.
	5
	ă
	ö
•	Ξ
	d
	õ
	5
	ŏ
	ž
	Here and the second sec
	<u> </u>
(0
0	ñ
	_
	5
2	Ź
	ЯЦ
	an M.
	man M.
	uman M.
	human M.
	t human M
	of human M
	r of human M
	er of human M
	ber of human M
	mber of human M
	umber of human M
	number of human M
	I number of human M
	al number of human M
	otal number of human M
	total number of human M
	d total number of human M
	nd total number of human M
	and total number of human M
	t and total number of human M
	int and total number of human M
	nent and total number of human M
	ment and total number of human M
	Itment and total number of human M
	attment and total number of human M
	grattment and total number of human M
	agrattment and total number of human M
	engrattment and total number of human M
	t engrattment and total number of human M
	ot engrattment and total number of human M
	e of engrattment and total number of human M
	ge of engrattment and total number of human M
	age of engrattment and total number of human M
	itage of engrattment and total number of human M
	entage of engrattment and total number of human M
	centage of engrattment and total number of human M
	srcentage of engrattment and total number of human M
	ercentage of engrattment and total number of human M
	Percentage of engrattment and total number of human M
	Percentage of engrattment and total number of human M
	3 Percentage of engrattment and total number of human M
	e 3 Percentage of engrattment and total number of human M

Colletti et al. (2009), with permission *Marker of cell proliferation

31 Human Stem Cell Differentiation In Vivo in Large Animals

Sheep pancreas following IUT

Sheep pancreas not tx

Fig. 8 Sheep pancreatic cells contain human insulin following IUT with human bone marrowderived MSC. 5×10^5 human BM-MSC transplanted into a day 60 gestational age sheep fetus. Note pancreatic cell clusters which stain with a specific antibody to human insulin 4 months after transplantation. Human fetal pancreas, positive control; non-tx sheep pancreas, negative control. (Pixley 2020, with permission)

does not rely on an injury signal to cause SCs to "cross lineage boundaries." In part, this may be due to the achievement of complete transplantation tolerance. An alternate or additional possibility for these observations is that the fetal environment is permissive to hepatocytic and endocrine pancreatic differentiation. This suggests that developmental signals in, for example, the fetal sheep pancreas or liver can promote functional differentiation of human SCs to the endocrine pancreas or liver.

Lineage-restricted assays of hemopoietic expression have suggested that the graft can be expanded after birth (due to the achievement of immune tolerance) (Peranteau et al. 2002; Almeida-Porada et al. 2007). However, presently, no studies have reported that test graft expansion following IUT in organ regeneration in vivo after birth.

Extensive controversy with the above has arisen as well. This has been aptly summarized by Theise in several publications (Theise 2003, 2006, 2010). Specifically, the inability to reproduce hepatic and endocrine pancreatic engraftment and expression has been attributed to methodologic differences among the experiments. Also, reports of fusion as an explanation for differentiation into mature lineages suggested to some that true plasticity does not occur. However, others are less convinced that fusion discounts plasticity and believe it is one of many modes of cell plasticity (Theise 2010; Quesenberry et al. 2010).

Some reticence to accept these findings is the crucial role of immunohistochemistry and FISH analysis using intact fixed tissue samples in demonstrating donor cell expression. In most of the experiments, Pixley and colleagues were able to confirm human engraftment often years after transplantation by identifying human DNA fragments in tissue using PCR and demonstrated functionality by detecting donorspecific circulating proteins in the circulation of animals with immunohistochemical evidence of tissue engraftment (Table 4).

Human fetal pancreas

Table 4 Human proteins datastad in singulation of	Animal transplanted	Human protein detected
animals transplanted in	Sheep	IgM
utero with human stem cells	Sheep	Factor VIII
dielo with human stem eens	Sheep	C-peptide
	Sheep	Albumin
	Sheep	Alpha-fetoprotein
	Mouse	IgM

Pixley and Zanjani (2013), with permission

As noted, SC plasticity-related research is highly dependent on expertise in tissue histology and staining. Several methodologic concerns have been raised to ensure accurate reporting. For example, evidence of lung epithelial derivation using bone marrow cells is hampered by the lack of a functional marker. Thus, for identification in the lung of these rare donor bone marrow-derived epithelial cells, it is crucial that:

- 1. A confocal or deconvolution microscope is used
- 2. Marrow-derived epithelial cells are not just identified by morphology but also stained for a lung epithelial cell marker not present on bone marrow cells
- 3. High-quality high-magnification images are presented
- 4. Proper positive and negative controls are used

Effects requiring proper controls include artifacts, autofluorescence, falsepositive signals, non-specific staining, overfixation, and lack of demonstration of specific staining on positive controls (Kassmer and Krause 2010).

What Is Stem Cell Plasticity, and How Can It Be Explained Physiologically

To answer this question, it is imperative to go back to two issues discussed previously. One, SC populations are heterogeneous as Zanjani and colleagues, among others, have demonstrated. Attempting to use phenotypic markers [in general, cell phenotype is identified by light scatter characteristics and labelling with fluorescent antibodies to surface antigens (CD34, e.g.)] will only "isolate" a subpopulation that possesses SC characteristics (self-renewal) identified using serial transplantation or temporal length of engraftment/expression capability and multi-lineage differentiation. The phenotype identified may only represent a cell at a particular phase of the cell cycle (Quesenberry et al. 2010). As observed, CD34 expression varied in serial transplantation studies. Indeed, lineage-negative (Lin-) cells appear to represent the most primitive SC "phenotype" based on engraftment, expression, and exhaustion testing. Secondly, revisiting Fig. 7, the representation of the bone marrow niche, it is obvious that the HSC in two phases based on ligand binding, in either G_0 or cycling phase. While it is recognized that some of these cycling cells differentiate into the various hemopoietic lineages, some enter the circulation and populate various organs. Similarly, MSCs are found to circulate and lodge in other organs. It is thought these cells provide a reparative function, although the sheep non-injury

model suggests there may be additional explanations. For example, as suggested by Theise, is the lineage boundary paradigm a myth? Since it appears that tissue-based SCs are physiologic, peripheral differentiation capabilities appear to be much closer to those of embryonic SCs than previously thought (Theise 2006; Ratajczak 2015).

Epigenetics is any heritable influence (in the progeny of cells or individuals) on gene activity, unaccompanied by a change in DNA sequence. Thus, epigenetics is the study of the chromosome. Recent methodologic advancements have improved the understanding of gene regulation via not only DNA methylation and histone modifications but also the importance of the external environment and nuclear architecture in determining cell fate. Recent studies point to a stochastic model in cell fate decisions (Holliday 2006; Kærn et al. 2005; Cremer and Cremer 2001; Bornfleth et al. 1999; Merrell and Stanger 2016; Cosgrove and Wolberger 2005; Sun et al. 2020).

Historically, terms like transdifferentiation have been used to explain the crosslineage differentiation of SCs. Yet SCs normally migrate to the sites distant from the marrow and differentiate based on location (in the context of immune tolerance). As these cells are immature, the stochastic model allows for differentiation based on the external environment without invoking transdifferentiation as an explanation. Thus, immature SCs/progenitors migrate, and their fate is mediated by what is in the immediate vicinity not internal factors; this coupled with the random motion of subchromosomal foci in the cell nucleus in part explains stochastic "regulation" of gene expression. "It is consistent with a topological model of gene regulation" (Cremer and Cremer 2001). As a corollary, bone marrow SCs differentiate to hemopoietic elements not based on predetermined chromatin-derived regulation but due to cell contact and paracrine signaling present in the bone marrow environment that support differentiation into the various hematopoietic lineages.

In summary, analysis of human SC migration, homing, and differentiation following IUSCT supports the concept that these cells are pluripotent, capable of extensive multi-lineage expression in vivo with accompanying functional relevance based on the presence of human proteins in sheep circulation years after transplantation (Table 4). Interestingly, Ray Owen used the term "embryonal ancestral cells" to describe his clearly prescient observation 76 years ago.

IUT as a Clinical Option

As noted earlier, early IUT studies in mice and sheep were conducted with the longterm goal of treating fetal diseases. The capability to test the fetus for the presence of these diseases early in gestation allows adequate time for IUT to be performed prior to the closure of the engraftment window. This period as discussed earlier is characterized by the developmental events: vascularization and formation of the thymic medulla (Maddox et al. 1987; Ohki et al. 1987; Laufer et al. 1999; Naquet et al. 1999). [The medulla is thought responsible for deletional and cellular tolerance.] It is known that thymic epithelial progenitor maturation is critically dependent upon interaction with dendritic cells (DC). Therefore, performing the procedure when peripheral DCs can migrate to the newly vascularized thymic medulla and present donor antigen(s) to the maturing epithelial progenitors is thought responsible for establishing the tolerance repertoire (Pixley and Zanjani 2013; Fairchild and Waldmann 2000; Rodewald et al. 2001). Evidence supports the establishment of both deletional and cellular tolerance to donors following IUT.

At present, there is at least one preliminary clinical trial of IUT for thalassemia (MacKenzie 2021). Diseases thought amenable to IUT include hemoglobinopathies, immunodeficiency states, and inborn errors of metabolism leading to storage diseases (mucopolysaccharidosis and mucolipidosis). Hesitancy to move forward in the clinical arena has been primarily based on evidence for an immune barrier following allogeneic IUT in mice. For example, there is evidence that maternal immune cells or antibodies either in milk or following trans-placental transfer are responsible for some examples of maternally derived graft failure in mice (Merianos et al. 2009; Nijagal et al. 2011). Others reported again in mice that long-term chimerism requires an engraftment threshold whereby low levels of early engraftment shortly after birth are lost over time. Here the cells thought responsible are natural killer cells (Alhajjat et al. 2015). An alternative concern is in performing IUT in a host without a specific lineage defect. Here, the donor graft may be unable to expand due to competition from endogenous host cells.

To answer this question, Flake and colleagues performed a series of studies using dogs as hosts. Due to concern for maternally derived inhibition, maternal SCs were used as donor cells. Also, rather than an intraperitoneal injection, the SCs were transplanted using the intravascular route. Impressive chimeric levels were seen in most of animals transplanted via the vascular route (Vrecenak et al. 2014). Interested readers are referred to several recent publications for more detail (Vrecenak and Flake 2013; Derderian et al. 2015; Almeida-Porada and Porada 2019).

Conclusion

The exponential expansion in the general understanding of stem cell biology offers promise with regard to regenerative medicine. As noted above, this research has revealed a number of surprises, most notably the pleiotropic or pluripotent potential of these rare undifferentiated cells. In addition, in utero transplantation with the achievement of complete transplantation tolerance coupled with performing the procedure in large animals has provided confirmation and expansion of knowledge derived from smaller animals and in vitro studies. Thus, moving forward, large animal research should be an integral component in the armamentarium of methods to study stem cell biology.

Cross-References

- Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Art to Use Them in the Treatment of Previously Untreatable
- Mesenchymal Stem Cells
- Sources and Therapeutic Strategies of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

References

- Abkowitz JL, Persik MT, Shelton GH, Ott RL, Kiklevich JV, Catlin SN, Guttorp P (1995) Behavior of hematopoietic stem cells in a large animal. Proc Natl Acad Sci 92:2031–2035. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.92.6.2031
- Alhajjat AM, Strong BS, Lee AE, Turner LE, Wadhwani RK, Ortaldo JR, Heusel JW et al (2015) Prenatal allospecific NK cell tolerance hinges on instructive allorecognition through the activating receptor during development. J Immunol 195:1506–1516. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.1500463
- Almeida-Porada G, Porada CD (2019) Prenatal cell- and gene-based therapies for regenerative medicine. In: Atala A, Lanza R, Mikos T, Nerem R (eds) Principles of regenerative medicine, 3rd edn. Academic Press, London, pp 1009–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-809880-6.00057-6
- Almeida-Porada G, Shabrawy E, Porada C, Ascensao JL, Zanjani ED (2001) Clonally derived MSC populations are able to differentiate into blood, liver, and skin cells. Blood 98:3292a
- Almeida-Porada G, Porada CD, Chamberlain J, Torabi A, Zanjani ED (2004) Formation of human hepatocytes by human hematopoietic stem cells in sheep. Blood 104:2582–2590. https://doi.org/ 10.1182/blood-2004-01-0259
- Almeida-Porada G, Porada C, Gupta N, Torabi A, Thain D, Zanjani ED (2007) The human–sheep chimeras as a model for human stem cell mobilization and evaluation of hematopoietic grafts' potential. Exp Hematol 35:1594–1600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2007.07.009
- Almeida-Porada G, Zanjani ED, Porada C (2010) Bone marrow stem cells and liver regeneration. Exp Hematol 38:574–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2010.04.007
- Bhatia M, Wang JCY, Kapp U, Bonney D, Dick JE (1997) Purification of primitive human hematopoietic cells capable of repopulating immune-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 94: 5320–5325. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.10.5320
- Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Vallera DA (1995a) Adult bone marrow-derived pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells are engraftable when transferred in utero into moderately anemic fetal recipients. Blood 85:833–841. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v85.3.833.bloodjournal853833
- Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Vallera DA (1995b) In utero transfer of adult bone marrow cells into recipients with severe combined immunodeficiency disorder yields lymphoid progeny with Tand B-cell functional capabilities. Blood 86:4353–4366. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v86.11. 4353.bloodjournal86114353
- Bornfleth H, Edelmann P, Zink D, Cremer T, Cremer C (1999) Quantitative motion analysis of subchromosomal foci in living cells using four-dimensional microscopy. Biophys J 77: 2871–2886. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3495(99)77119-5
- Carrier E, Lee TH, Busch MP, Cowan MJ (1995) Induction of tolerance in non-defective mice after in utero transplantation of major histocompatibility complex-mismatched fetal hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 86:4681–4690. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v86.12.4681. bloodjournal86124681
- Choi JB, Uchino H, Azuma K, Iwashita N, Tanaka Y, Mocjozuki H, Migita M et al (2003) Little evidence of transdifferentiation of bone marrow-derived cells into pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia 46:1366–1374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-003-1182-9
- Civin CI, Almeida-Porada G, Lee MJ, Lee MJ, Olweus J, Terstappen LW, Zanjani ED (1996) Sustained, retransplantable, multi-lineage engraftment of highly purified adult human bone marrow stem cells in vivo. Blood 88:4102–4109. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v88.11. 4102.4102
- Colletti EJ, Airey JA, Liu W, Simmons PJ, Zanjani ED, Porada CD, Almeida-Porada G (2009) Generation of tissue-specific cells from MSC does not require fusion or donor-to-host mitochondrial/membrane transfer. Stem Cell Res 2:125–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2008. 08.002
- Cosgrove MS, Wolberger C (2005) How does the histone code work? Biochem Cell Biol 83: 468–476. https://doi.org/10.1139/O05-137

Cremer T, Cremer C (2001) Chromosome territories, nuclear architecture and gene regulation in mammalian cells. Nat Rev Genet 2:292–301. https://doi.org/10.1038/35066075

Crow JF (1996) A golden anniversary: cattle twins and immune tolerance. Genetics 144:855-859

- Derderian SC, Jeanty C, Walters MC, Vichinsky E, MacKenzie TC (2015) In utero hematopoietic cell transplantation for hemoglobinopathies. Front Pharmacol 5:1–4. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2014.00278
- Dominici M, LeBlanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905
- Ersek A, Pixley JS, Goodrich AD, Porada CD, Almeida-Porada G, Thain DS, Zanjani ED (2010) Persistent circulating human insulin in sheep transplanted in utero with human mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Hematol 38:311–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2010.02.005
- Fairchild PJ, Waldmann H (2000) Extrathymic signals regulate the onset of T cell repertoire selection. Eur J Immunol 30:1948–1956. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141
- Flake AW, Harrison MR, Adzick NS, Zanjani ED (1986) Transplantation of fetal hematopoietic stem cells in utero: the creation of hematopoietic chimeras. Science 233:776–778. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.2874611
- Fleischman RA, Mintz B (1979) Prevention of genetic anemias in mice by microinjection of normal hematopoietic stem cells into the fetal placenta. Proc Natl Acad Sci 76:5736–5740. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.76.11.5736
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Transplantation 17:331–340. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-197404000-00001
- Fujiwara S (2018) Humanized mice: a brief overview on their diverse applications in biomedical research. J Cell Physiol 233:2889–2901. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26022
- Holliday R (2006) Epigenetics: a historical overview. Epigenetics 1:76–80. https://doi.org/10.4161/ epi.1.2.2762
- Ianus A, Holz GG, Theise ND, Hussain MA (2003) In vivo derivation of glucose-competent pancreatic endocrine cells from bone marrow without evidence of cell fusion. J Clin Invest 111:843–850. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI16502
- Iscove NN, Nawa K (1997) Hematopoietic stem cell expand during serial transplantation in vivo without apparent exhaustion. Curr Biol 7:805–808. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(06)00341-1
- Iskovich S, Goldenberg-Cohen N, Stein J, Yaniv I, Fabian I, Askenasy N (2012) Elutriated stem cells derived from the adult bone marrow differentiate into insulin-producing cells in vivo and reverse chemical diabetes. Stem Cells Dev 21:86–96. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0057
- Jang YY, Collector MI, Baylin SB, Diehl AM, Sharkis SJ (2004) Hematopoietic stem cells convert into liver cells within days without fusion. Nat Cell Biol 6:532–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncb1132
- Jordan HE (1942) Extramedullary blood production. Physiol Rev 22:375–384. https://doi.org/10. 1152/physrev.1942.22.4.375
- Kærn M, Elston TC, Blake WJ, Collins JJ (2005) Stochasticity in gene expression: from theories to phenotypes. Nat Rev Genet 6:451–464. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1615
- Kassmer SH, Krause DS (2010) Detection of bone marrow-derived lung epithelial cells. Exp Hematol 38:564–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2010.04.011
- Kim HB, Shaaban AF, Milner R, Fichter C, Flake AW (1999) In utero bone marrow transplantation induces donor-specific tolerance by a combination of clonal deletion and clonal energy. J Pediatr Surg 34:726–730. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3468(99)90364-0
- Kincade PW (2010) Plasticity of supporting cells in a stem cell factory. Immunity 33:291–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.09.003
- Körbling M, Katz RL, Khanna A, Ruifrok AC, Rondon G, Albitar M, Champlin RE et al (2002) Hepatocytes and epithelial cells of donor origin in recipients of peripheral-blood stem cells. N Engl J Med 346:738–746. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa3461002

- Laje P, Peranteau WH, Endo M, Zoltick PW, Flake AW (2006) In utero transplantation of transduced hematopoietic stem cells results in deletion of transgene-specific T cells. Blood 108:3266. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v108.11.3266.3266
- Laufer TM, Glimcher LH, Lo D (1999) Using thymus anatomy to dissect T cell repertoire selection. Semin Immunol 11:65–70
- Lechner A, Yang YG, Blacken RA, Wang L, Nolan AL, Habener JF (2004) No evidence for significant transdifferentiation of bone marrow into pancreatic beta-cells in vivo. Diabetes 53: 616–623. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.53.3.616
- Liechty KW, MacKenzie TC, Shaaban AF, Radu A, Moseley AM, Deans R, Marshak DR, Flake AW (2000) Human mesenchymal stem cells engraft and demonstrate site-specific differentiation after in utero transplantation in sheep. Nat Med 6:1282–1286. https://doi.org/10.1038/81395
- Mackenzie T, Principal Investigator (2021) In utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for Alpha-Thalassemia Major (ATM) ClinicalTrials.gov. 3 March 2021. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02986698
- Maddox JF, Mackay CR, Brandon MR (1987) Ontogeny of ovine lymphocytes. I. An immunohistological study on the development of T lymphocytes in the sheep embryo and fetal thymus. Immunology 62:97–105
- Merianos DJ, Tiblab E, Santore MT, Todorow CA, Lage P, Endo M, Zoltick PW (2009) Maternal alloantibodies induce a postnatal immune response that limits engraftment following in utero stem cell transplantation in mice. J Clin Investig 119:2590–2600
- Merrell AJ, Stanger BZ (2016) Adult cell plasticity in vivo: de-differentiation and transdifferentiation are back in style. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17:413–425. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.24
- Moore MA (2012) Waking up HSCs: a new role for E-selectin. Nat Med 18:1613–1614. https://doi. org/10.1038/nm.2992
- Naquet P, Naspetti M, Boyd R (1999) Development, organization and function of the thymic medulla in normal, immunodeficient or autoimmune mice. Semin Immunol 11:47–55
- Nijagal A, Wegorzewska M, Jarvis E, Le T, Tang Q, MacKenzie TC (2011) Maternal T cells limit engraftment after in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation in mice. J Clin Investig 121: 582–592. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI44907
- Ohki H, Martin C, Corbel C, Coltey M, LeDouarin NM (1987) Tolerance induced by thymic epithelial grafts in birds. Science 237:1032–1035
- Owen R (1945) Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anastomoses between bovine twins. Science 102:400–401. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.102.2651.400
- Pallavicini MG, Flake A, Madden D, Bethel C, Duncan B, Gonzalgo ML, Haendel S et al (1992) Hemopoietic chimerism in rodents transplanted in utero with fetal human hemopoietic cells. Transplant Proc 24:542–543
- Parekh VS, Joglekar MV, Hardikar AA (2009) Differentiation of human umbilical cord bloodderived mononuclear cells to endocrine pancreatic lineage. Differentiation 78:232–240. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2009.07.004
- Peranteau WH, Hayashi S, Hsieh M, Shaaban AF, Flake AW (2002) High-level allogeneic chimerism achieved by prenatal tolerance induction and postnatal nonmyeloablative bone marrow transplantation. Blood 100:2225–2234. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-01-0166
- Petersen BE, Bowen WC, Patrene KD, Mars WM, Sullivan AK, Murase N, Boggs SS et al (1999) Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells. Science 284:1168–1170. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.284.5417.1168. PMID: 10325227
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck RK, Jaiswal R, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA et al (1999) Multi-lineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284:143–147. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Pixley JS (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells to treat type 1 diabetes. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Mol Basis Dis 1866:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.10.033
- Pixley JS, Zanjani ED (2013) In utero transplantation: disparate ramifications. World J Stem Cells 5: 43–52. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v5.i2.43

- Pixley JS, Zanjani ED, Shaft DM, Porada CD, MacKintosh FR (1998) Prolonged hematopoietic chimerism in normal mice transplanted in utero with human hematopoietic stem cells. Pathobiology 66:230–239. https://doi.org/10.1159/000028028
- Quesenberry PJ, Dooner MS, Aliotta JM (2010) Stem cell plasticity revisited: the continuum marrow model and phenotypic changes mediated by microvesicles. Exp Hematol 38:581–592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2010.03.021
- Ratajczak MZ (2015) A novel view of the adult bone marrow stem cell hierarchy and stem cell trafficking. Leukemia 29:776–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu2014346
- Ratajczak MZ (2018) Circulating stem cells in physiology and pathology recent studies. Stem Cell Rev Rep 14:627–628. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-018-9842-9
- Rodewald HR, Paul S, Haller C, Bluethmann H, Blum C (2001) Thymus medulla consisting of epithelial islets each derived from a single progenitor. Nature 414:763–768. https://doi.org/10. 1038/414763a
- Silverstein AM, Prendergast RA, Kraner KL (1964) Fetal response to antigenic stimulus: IV. Rejection of skin homografts by the fetal lamb. J Exp Med 119:955–964. https://doi.org/ 10.1084/jem.119.6.955
- Skopal CJL, Pixley JS, Torabe A, Centariu MC, Bhat A, Thain DS, Frederick NM et al (2009) Immune ontogeny and engraftment receptivity in the sheep fetus. Fetal Diagn Ther 25:102–110. https://doi.org/10.1159/000203399
- Spangrude G, Heimfeld S, Weissman I (1988) Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science 241:58–62. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2898810
- Stripecke R, Münz C, Schuringa JJ, Bissig KD, Soper B, Meeham T, Yao LC et al (2020) Innovations, challenges, and minimal information for standardization of humanized mice. EMBO Mol Med 12:e8662. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201708662
- Sun S, Jiang N, Jiang Y, He Q, He H, Wang X, Yang L et al (2020) Chromatin remodeler Znhit1 preserves hematopoietic stem cell quiescence by determining the accessibility of distal enhancers. Leukemia 34:3348–3358. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-020-988-5
- Sutherland HJ, Eaves CJ, Eaves AC, Dragowska W, Lansdorp PM (1989) Characterization and partial purification of human marrow cells capable of initiating long-term hematopoiesis in vitro. Blood 74:1563–1570
- Taneera J, Rosengren A, Renstrom E, Nygren JM, Serup P, Rorsman P, Jacobsen SE (2006) Failure of transplanted bone marrow cells to adopt a pancreatic beta-cell fate. Diabetes 55:290–296. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.55.02.06.db05-1212
- Tavassoli M, Crosby WH (1968) Transplantation of marrow to extramedullary sites. Science 161: 54–56. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.161.3836.54
- Theise ND (2003) Stem cell research: elephants in the room. Mayo Clin Proc 78:1004–1009. https://doi.org/10.4065/78.8.1004
- Theise ND (2006) Implications of 'postmodern biology' for pathology: the cell doctrine. Lab Investig 86:335–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3700401
- Theise ND (2010) Stem cell plasticity: recapping the decade, mapping the future. Exp Hematol 38: 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2010.04.013
- Theise ND, Badve S, Saxen R, Henegariu O, Sell S, Crawford JM, Krause DS (2000) Derivation of hepatocytes from bone marrow cells in mice after radiation-induced myeloablation. Hepatology 31:235–240. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.510310135
- Till JE, McCulloch EA, Siminovitch L (1964) A stochastic model of stem cell proliferation, based on the growth of spleen colony-forming cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 51:29–36. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.51.1.29
- Toivanen P, Uksila J, Leino A, Lassila O, Hirvonen T, Ruuskanen (1981) Development of mitogen responding T cells and natural killer cells in the human fetus. Immunol Rev 57:89–105. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065x.1981.tb00443.x
- Ullao-Montaya F, Verfaillie CM, Hu W-SH (2005) Review: culture systems for pluripotent stem cells. J Biosci Bioeng 100:12–27. https://doi.org/10.1263/jbb.100.12

- Vassilopoulos G, Wang P, Russell DW (2003) Transplanted bone marrow regenerates liver by cell fusion. Nature 422:902–904
- Vrecenak JD, Flake AW (2013) In utero hematopoietic cell transplantation recent progress and the potential for clinical application. Cytotherapy 15:525–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyt.2013.01.003
- Vrecenak JD, Pearson EG, Santore MT, Todorow CA, Li H, Radu A, Bhatti T et al (2014) Stable longterm mixed chimerism achieved in a canine model of allogeneic in utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood 124:1987–1995. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-11-537571
- Wagers AJ, Sherwood RI, Christensen JL, Weissman IL (2002) Little evidence for developmental plasticity of adult hematopoietic stem cells. Science 297:2256–2259. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1074807
- Wang X, Willenbrig H, Akari Y, Torimaru Y, Foster M, Al-Dhalimy M, Lagasse E et al (2003) Cell fusion is the principal source of bone-marrow-derived hepatocytes. Nature 422:897–901
- Zanjani ED (2000) The human sheep xenograft model for the study of the in vivo potential of human HSC and in utero gene transfer. Stem Cells 18:151
- Zanjani ED, Pallavicini MG, Ascensao JL, Flake AW, Langlois RG, Reitsma M, MacKintosh FR et al (1992) Engraftment and long-term expression of human fetal hemopoietic stem cells in sheep following transplantation in utero. J Clin Invest 89:1178–1188. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI115701
- Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G, Livingston AG, Flake AW, Ogawa M (1998) Human bone marrow CD34- cells engraft in vivo and undergo multilineage expression that includes giving rise to CD34+ cells. Exp Hematol 26(4):353–360
- Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G, Livingston AG et al (2003) Reversible expression of CD34 by adult human bone marrow long-term engrafting hematopoietic stem cells. Exp Hematol 31: 406–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-472x(03)00051-1

Part III

Cell-Free Therapy Approach



32

Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Extracellular Vesicle Therapy in Patients with Stroke

Oh Young Bang, Eun Hee Kim, Gyeong Joon Moon, and Jae Min Cha

Contents

Introduction	949
Advantages of EVs over MSCs in Stroke	950
Evidence of the Role of Stem Cell-Derived EVs in Stroke	951
Preclinical Evidence of EV Therapeutics in Stroke Models	951
Clinical Evidence of EV Efficacy in the Clinical Trial of MSCs in Stroke Patients	951
Status and Limitations of EV Therapeutics	954
Preclinical Studies	954
Clinical Studies	954
Considerations for the Application of EV Therapeutics in Stroke	955
Current Guidelines/Recommendations	955
Quality Control and Potency Markers	956

O. Y. Bang (⊠)

Department of Neurology, Samsung Medical Center, School of Medicine, Sungkyunkwan University, Seoul, South Korea

S&E Bio, Inc, Seoul, South Korea e-mail: ohyoung.bang@samsung.com

E. H. Kim S&E Bio, Inc, Seoul, South Korea e-mail: micro1109@snebio.com

G. J. Moon AMC Stem Cell Center, Asan Medical Center, Seoul, South Korea

Department of Convergence Medicine, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea e-mail: gj.moon@amc.seoul.kr

J. M. Cha

Department of Mechatronics Engineering, College of Engineering, Incheon National University, Incheon, South Korea

3D Stem Cell Bioengineering Laboratory, Research Institute for Engineering and Technology, Incheon National University, Incheon, South Korea e-mail: j.cha@inu.ac.kr

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 45

Isolation, Dosage, Mode of Application, and Biodistribution	959
Production of EV Preparation	960
Isolation of Prepared EVs	960
Recent Advances in EV Therapeutics	961
Conclusions and Perspective	966
References	966

Abstract

Stem cell-based therapy is a promising approach for treating acute stroke patients and stroke survivors with fixed neurological deficits. Several stem cell trials conducted in stroke patients have reported inconsistent results. Stem cells such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) secrete extracellular vesicles (EVs), which harbor several molecules such as proteins and microRNAs. Recently, many preclinical studies have shown that stem cell-derived EVs can be used in stroke therapy as an alternative approach to stem cell application. This study discusses the evidence regarding the effects and underlying mechanisms of EV therapy in experimental stroke and findings of the biomarker sub-study from a randomized control trial of MSCs-based therapy in stroke patients. Moreover, the advantages and disadvantages of EVs therapy are compared with those of MSC therapy for stroke. Finally, major issues in the clinical application of EV therapeutics in stroke are discussed with relevant advances for clinical-scale EV production/ enrichment, isolation/purification, and quantification/characterization. Several methods to improve the efficacy and purity of EV products have been introduced recently. This review presents the most recent advances in MSC-derived EV therapy for stroke, focusing on the application of this strategy in patients with ischemic stroke.

Keywords

Stroke · Extracellular vesicles · Exosomes · Stem cells · Ischemic stroke

List of Abb	reviations
BBB	Blood–brain barrier
CDN	Cell-derived nanovesicles
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practice
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
ISEV	International Society for Extracellular Vesicles
lncRNAs	Long noncoding RNAs
MiRNA	MmicroRNAs

MISEV	Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells
NSCs	Neural stem cells
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Stroke is the leading cause of physical disability among adults. It is also the leading cause of death in developing countries and the third most common cause of death in most developed countries. Stem cell-based therapy is a promising approach for treating acute stroke patients and stroke survivors with fixed neurological deficits. However, several stem cell trials conducted in stroke patients have reported mixed results (Bang et al. 2016).

The mechanism of action of stem cells such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) is the secretion of trophic factors and extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs, circular membrane fragments measuring 30 nm–1 μ m, contain cellular proteins, DNAs, RNAs, and mitochondria. EVs refer to a heterogeneous group of vesicles released from cells. They have been classified as exosomes and microvesicles (MVs) based on biogenesis. Exosomes are small EVs (30–100 nm) derived from multivesicular bodies, whereas MVs or ectosomes are large EVs (100–1,000 nm) that bud directly from the cellular membrane into vesicles. According to the Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles (MISEV) 2018 guidelines, EVs can be classified as small EVs (<200 nm) and medium or large EVs (>200 nm) based on the size of the particles because the subcellular origin may not be determined (Thery et al. 2018).

Like any other cell type, EVs are inherently released by stem cells as part of their paracrine activity and they have shown great promise in clinics as an innovative cellfree therapy. They inherently possess the properties of essential mediators of regenerative activities and tissue homeostasis in vivo. MSCs-derived EVs (MSC-EVs), as the substitute for the current MSC therapy, exhibit the following advantages: first, MSC-EVs contain numerous therapeutic biomolecules released by MSCs. EVs harbor bioactive molecules. Moreover, EVs secreted by stem cells carry more complex cargos than those secreted by other cells (Lai et al. 2012). MSC-EVs contain many molecules that may have therapeutic effects against stroke, such as RNAs, proteins, lipids, and mitochondria (Katsuda and Ochiya 2015). Therefore, unlike sole molecules (such as synthesized small chemicals) or macromolecules (such as protein and antibodies), EVs contain payload of heterogeneous biomolecules and are considered more appropriate tools for treating various diseases. Second, EVs exhibit many benefits concerning biocompatibility, immunogenicity, stability, pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, and cellular uptake mechanism (Nam et al. 2020). Their nano-sized, lipid-shielded vesicular structure would be safer and favorable for long-term circulation in the blood and long-distance therapeutic actions than MSCs; also, EVs bearing MSC-specific membrane proteins on their surfaces could potentially confer disease-targeting ability as infused MSCs (Biancone et al. 2012; Karp and Leng Teo 2009).

Advantages of EVs over MSCs in Stroke

EVs have low toxicity, high stability in the circulation; advantages in scalable production and storage, and high transport efficiency (can pass the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and avoid the first-pass effect). First, the cell-related problems of MSCs-based therapy can be avoided by using this cell-free paradigm (i.e., MSC-EVs). The diameter of MSCs is large (15-30 µm) that leads to passive arrest of MSCs in small-diameter vessels, causing vascular occlusion and reduction in cerebral blood flow when administered intra-arterially and entrapment in systemic vessels in organs such as the lungs when administered systemically (the first-pass effect) (Krueger et al. 2018; Pendharkar et al. 2010; Nguyen et al. 2016). High mortality following intravenous transplantation of MSCs in experimental animal models of stroke and familial occurrence of pulmonary embolism/infarct after intravenous injection of allogeneic adipose-derived MSCs have been reported (Jung et al. 2013). The MSCs-related pro-coagulation status could explain such lethal pulmonary thromboembolism (Tatsumi et al. 2013). On the other hand, MSC-EVs capable of crossing the BBB in both directions (Nam et al. 2020) may alleviate the cell-related problems of stem cell-based therapy, i.e., vascular occlusion, mortality, and the first-pass effect (Moon et al. 2019).

Second, allogeneic MSC-EVs' scalable production allows their "off-the-shelf" availability to treat acute ischemic stroke patients. Regarding EVs stability, Kalra et al. showed that EVs retain their integrity for 3 months when stored at 37 °C, 4 °C, -20 °C, or -80 °C (Kalra et al. 2013), while Sokolova et al. reported that multiple freeze-thaw cycles did not affect the quality of MSC-EVs if stored at -20 °C in phosphate-buffered saline (Sokolova et al. 2011). Thus, both neurorestorative and neuroprotective actions can be expected using MSCs-EVs based approach in the acute phase of stroke (Savitz 2013). In addition, the use of allogeneic MSC-EVs has some additional benefits. The source of EVs is an essential determinant of their efficacy in stroke. MSCs from elderly patients have limited restorative potential and hence, MSC-EVs derived from the aging MSCs may have age-dependent and agingrelevant differences in their cargo contents compared to their healthy juvenile and young counter-parts (Fafian-Labora et al. 2017). Similarly, allogeneic MSC-EVs from the umbilical cord may differ from those obtained from elderly stroke patients with other chronic illness in terms of their proliferation and neurorestorative capacity (Fafian-Labora et al. 2017; Eirin et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020). It is interesting to note that transfer of EVs from young MSCs to aged stem cells resulted in their rejuvenation (Kulkarni et al. 2018). Fetal MSCs derived from amniotic fluid-, cord blood-, and Wharton's Jelly have intermediate cellular phenotypes between embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and adult stem cells such as bone marrow MSCs in terms multi-potency and expression patterns of both surface markers and/or transcription factors of pluripotency and mesenchymal commitment (Loukogeorgakis and De Coppi 2017). Although ESC/iPSC-derived EVs-based therapy may be safer than ESC/iPSC cell-based therapy in terms of tumorigenicity, limited data are available in the field of stroke and human trials (Webb et al. 2018b; Kalani et al. 2016). Therefore, fetal MSCs may be a good source of EVs for clinical applications. Similarly, systemic diseases may determine the efficacy of MSC-EVs in stroke. The payload of MSC-EVs from obese donors is different from those obtained from non-obese donors (Eirin et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020).

Evidence of the Role of Stem Cell-Derived EVs in Stroke

The effects of EV-based therapeutics have been reported in various experimental animal disease or injury models (Fuster-Matanzo et al. 2015; Cunningham et al. 2018; Doeppner et al. 2018). Many preclinical studies have recently shown that stem cell-derived EVs can be used in stroke therapy (Bang and Kim 2019).

Preclinical Evidence of EV Therapeutics in Stroke Models

In 2013, Xin et al. were the first to report that intravenous injection of MSC-EVs in a rat model of stroke improved the neurological outcomes and increased angiogenesis and neurogenesis (Xin et al. 2013). Other investigators have also demonstrated the beneficial effects of stem cell-derived EVs in various animal models of stroke (Table 1). Several advances in the EVs-based strategy have been introduced, which are as follows:

- (a) Use of EVs from stem cells other than MSCs, such as ESCs, neural stem cells (NSCs), and iPSC-derived MSCs or NSCs (Webb et al. 2018a, b; Kalani et al. 2016).
- (b) Application of EVs through the intranasal approach (Kalani et al. 2016).
- (c) Production of EVs using 3D dynamic culture method, to increase the production and regulate the payload of EVs (Cha et al. 2018b) and stimulation with ischemic brain extracts (Moon et al. 2019; Lee et al. 2016).
- (d) The use of various EV isolation methods other than ultracentrifugation (Doeppner et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016; Otero-Ortega et al. 2017).

Recently, EVs' effects on stroke have been evaluated in large animal (i.e., pigs and monkeys) models of stroke (Webb et al. 2018a; Medalla et al. 2020).

Clinical Evidence of EV Efficacy in the Clinical Trial of MSCs in Stroke Patients

Our research group has recently reported the results of the Stem Cell Application Researches and Trials In Neurology-2 trial, a randomized controlled trial of intravenous application of autologous MSCs expanded with autologous serum

Table 1 Appl	ications of s	tem cell-derived extracellular vesi	cles in stroke in various experim	nental animal models	
Reference	Animal Model	Stem cells/mode of application	EV production/culture media	EV isolation/dose per animal	Major findings
Xin et al.	Rat	Rat BM MSCs/intravenous	2D culture/exosome-free	Ultracentrifugation/100 µg total	Angiogenesis;
2013			serum	exosome protein	neurogenesis Neurological
_					recovery
Doeppner	Mice	Human BM MSCs/	2D culture/MSC basal	PEG/EVs released by 2×10^6 cells	Neuroprotection;
et al. 2015		intravenous	media		angiogenesis
					Neurogenesis;
					immunomodulation
					Neurological
					recovery
Chen et al.	Rat	Mini-pig adipose MSCs/	2D culture/10% fetal bovine	KISO TM system/100 µg total exosome	Neuroprotection
2016		intravenous	serum	protein	Neurological
					recovery
Kalani	Mice	Mice ESCs/intranasal	2D culture on fibroblast	Ultracentrifugation/NA	Restoration of
et al. 2016			monolayer/exosome-free		neurovascular unit
			serum		Immunomodulation
Otero-	Rat	Rat adipose MSCs/	2D culture/exosome-free	Exosome extraction kit (miRCURY)/	Neuroplasticity;
Ortega		intravenous	serum	100 µg total exosome protein	white matter
et al. 2017					recovery
					Neurological
					recovery
Xin et al.	Rat	Rat BM MSCs/intravenous	2D culture/exosome-free	Ultracentrifugation/100 µg total	Neuroplasticity;
2017a			serum	exosome protein	neurological
					recovery
Xin et al.	Rat	microRNA-133b	2D culture/exosome-free	Ultracentrifugation/ 3×10^{11} EVs,	Neuroplasticity
2017b		overexpressing rat BM MSCs/	serum	comparable to 100 µg total exosome	Neurological
		intra-arterial		protein	recovery

952

Nalamolu	Rat	Human UCB MSCs	2D culture	Total exosome isolation kit/150 μg total	Infarct size
et al. 2019			/exosome-iree serum	exosome protein	reduction Adverse effects on
					recovery
Wang et al.	Rat	Human BM MSCs from	2D culture/hypoxia or	PEG/EVs obtained from 2×10^{6} MSCs,	Neuroprotection;
2020		3 donors/ intravenous	normoxia culture media		immunomodulation BBB permeability
Lee et al.	Rat	Human adipose MSCs/	2D culture/serum free	Ultracentrifugation/0.2 mg/kg	Angiogenesis;
2016		intravenous	media with brain extract		neurogenesis
					Immunomodulation
Moon et al.	Rat	Rat BM MSCs/intravenous	2D culture	Ultracentrifugation/30 µg total exosome	Angiogenesis;
2019			/serum free media with	protein	neurogenesis
			brain extract		Neuroplasticity;
					neurological
					recovery
Cha et al.	In vitro	Human BM MSCs	3D dynamic culture	Ultracentrifugation/NA	Angiogenesis;
2018b			/serum free media		neurogenesis
					Neurological
					recovery
Webb et al.	Pig	Human NSCs/intravenous	2D culture /NSC basal	Ultracentrifugation/2 \times 10 ¹⁰ EVs/kg	Neuroprotection
2018a			culture media		Neurological
					recovery
Medalla et al. 2020	Monkey	Adult monkey BM MSCs	2D culture/exosome-free serum	Ultracentrifugation/4 \times 10 ¹¹ EVs/kg	Neuroplasticity
Webb et al.	Mice	iPSC-derived NSCs or MSCs/	NA	NA	Neuroprotection;
2018b		intravenous			immunomodulation
					Neurological
					recovery
Abbreviations:	<i>EV</i> extracell	lular vesicles, 2D two-dimensiona	l, 3D three-dimensional, BBB bl	ood-brain barrier, BM bone marrow, ESCs (embryonic stem cells,
	pluripotent s	RETURN AND THESENCITY IN SUCH	cells, IVA not available, IVACS n	ieural stem cents, <i>PE</i> o polyeunytene glycol	precipitation memou,
UCB UNIDINCAL	cord pioou,	WJ W DATION S JELLY			

(Chung et al. 2021). Although intravenous autologous MSCs' transplantation was safe in stroke patients, the beneficial effects were diverse among patients. The pre-specified biomarker sub-study showed that circulating EVs markedly increased after MSCs' injection, especially in patients who showed clinical improvement after MSC therapy, and these EVs harbored therapeutic molecules (Bang et al. 2022). Only the number of circulating EVs after MSCs' injection was independently associated with motor function improvement, as assessed by clinical and multimodal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). These data have increased the possibility of the use of MSC-EVs, instead of MSCs per se, given that the number of EVs determines the effects of MSC-based therapy.

Status and Limitations of EV Therapeutics

Preclinical Studies

A systemic review of the preclinical studies on the therapeutic effects of MSC-EVs has shown that despite MSC-EVs demonstrated benefits in 97% of studies in various experimental disease models, there were several critical methodological concerns. These concerns included: the diversity in characterization and isolation techniques, dosing (protein vs. EVs concentration), the use of xenogeneic EVs, and an apparent lack of EVs biodistribution study post-delivery (Tieu et al. 2020). For example, approaches for determining size, protein markers, and morphology were highly heterogeneous with only 12 and 4 studies among 206 studies meeting the MISEV 2014 and 2018 recommended scalable techniques for EV isolation, classical dose-response, optimal timing, repeat dosing experiments, use of inert (biologically removed) EVs control, and multiple analysis platforms such as proteome and transcriptome analyses (Kennedy et al. 2021).

Clinical Studies

Only a few clinical studies have reported the effects of EVs-based therapy in patients. Kordelas et al. reported a case study of refractory graft-versus-host disease treatment with allogeneic MSC-EVs (Kordelas et al. 2014). The authors used allogeneic MSCs' conditioned medium and EVs were isolated using the polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation method. EVs obtained from 4×10^7 MSCs were administered repeatedly for four times, which alleviated the clinical symptoms without adverse effects. In a study by Katagiri et al. locally injected allogenic MSC-EVs in eight patients requiring bone augmentation before dental implant placement and observed that this method was safe, and had tremendous osteogenic potential for alveolar bone regeneration (KatagirI et al. 2016). On the same note, Zhang et al. administered MSC-EVs by intravitreal injection to five patients with refractory macular holes (Zhang et al. 2018). Finally, Nassar et al. reported the treatment safety and possibility of improving kidney function in patients with chronic kidney disease after the administration of allogeneic MSC-EVs (Nassar et al. 2016). All four clinical studies were small case series. Although these data suggest that MSC-EVs were safe and might improve prognosis, randomized trials investigating the safety and efficacy of the MSC-EVs therapy are required. Three clinical trials on allogeneic cord tissue-derived MSC-EVs are ongoing in patients with diabetes mellitus (clinicalTrial.identifier@gov: NCT02138331), macular degeneration (NCT03437759), and ischemic stroke (NCT03384433).

Considerations for the Application of EV Therapeutics in Stroke

Current Guidelines/Recommendations

Given that MSC-EVs are nano-sized non-self-replicating vesicles, the regulatory items required for the production of EV-fractions for clinical usage could be less complicated than those for MSCs-based therapy. However, clinical evaluation of EV-based therapeutics is at an early stage compared with MSC-based treatment. Current legislation in the USA and Europe does not provide specific regulation of EV-based therapies. Thus, EVs-based therapeutics are best categorized as "biological medicine" (a part of the biologics class for pharmaceutical development), a medicine that contains one or more active substances made by or derived from a biological cell; and multiple possible designations of EVs have different regulatory burdens (Fuster-Matanzo et al. 2015; Reiner et al. 2017). This pharmaceutical classification harbors unique challenges regarding pharmaceutical manufacturing and preclinical safety testing. Hence, additional studies are required to address the risk assessment concerns, i.e., characterization or safety tests of donor cells, purity/ heterogeneity of EVs preparation, potency marker, therapeutic unit (e.g., RNA, protein, and their relationship to the mode of action), enrichment of harmful substances in EV preparations (e.g., virus), and quality assurance for manufacturing processes (Reiner et al. 2017). On the contrary, the documentation of transdifferentiation capacity of stem cells and in vivo safety assessment of EV therapeutics for tumorigenicity and immunogenicity may not be required.

Individual MSC-EV preparations may differ in their therapeutic efficacy based on the donor of MSCs and subtle changes during EV production and isolation. Wang et al. evaluated the therapeutic effects of MSCs from different healthy donors in an experimental animal model of stroke. They found that MSC-EV preparations of only some donors were able to reduce the infarct volume and neuronal injury. This raised the importance of potency assays to identify MSC-EV preparations' therapeutic efficacy before clinical use (Wang et al. 2020). Moreover, the characteristics and cargo of EVs are reported to vary based on sources (bone marrow, cord blood, adipose, and menstrual MSCs) and donors (Ragni et al. 2017; Lopez-Verrilli et al. 2016; Cai et al. 2020). Therefore, the results of one MSCs-EV preparation cannot be compared to other MSCs-EV preparations as the protocols and steps for manufacturing and characterization of EVs may differ besides the source of EVs and donors. Several issues, i.e., specific guidelines targeting EVs-based therapeutics, characterization, isolation, and storage of EVs, quality control requirements, and in vivo analysis of EVs should be resolved before the clinical application of EVs. The International Society for Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) has provided a minimal set of experimental requirements to attribute any specific biological cargo or functions to EVs (Lotvall et al. 2014), and the protocol and steps for EVs separation/enrichment, and EVs characterization to document-specific EV-associated functional activities were updated in 2018 (Thery et al. 2018). Although these issues have been discussed precisely in previous studies (Fuster-Matanzo et al. 2015; Lener et al. 2015; Reiner et al. 2017; Witwer et al. 2019), they deserve mention in the application of MSC-EVs for stroke patients.

Quality Control and Potency Markers

MSC-EVs should be defined by quantifiable parameters such as the size-distribution of EVs, presence of the markers of EVs (e.g., tetraspanins) and the lipid bilayer structure, the integrity of EVs, and the absence of contaminations (e.g., harmful substances, xenogeneic components, and non-EV proteins such as albumin and soluble acetylcholinesterase) and apoptotic bodies. Furthermore, several methods are available, and new protocols are being developed to quantify and characterize EVs (Hartjes et al. 2019).

The purity of EVs is of prime importance in the quality control of EVs-based therapeutics. Several methods have been used concomitantly for assessing EVs purity because each method has its advantages and disadvantages. The tests for EVs' purity include: the nanoparticle tracking analysis technique (NTA; involves direct observation of EVs in real-time, with the lower limit of the measurement of fluorescent particles being 30–40 nm, and is more reliable than protein-level assessments), EV particle number to protein ratio, CryoEM (direct observation of the morphological structure of EVs, including the lipid-bilayer), and ELISA and Western-blotting for quantification of EVs marker proteins (e.g., tetraspanins) and contaminating proteins (e.g., albumin).

The clinical challenge to the translation of EV therapeutics is to ensure that every batch of MSC-EVs released has the same potency. The potency is the specific ability or capacity of the products, as indicated by appropriate laboratory tests or by adequately controlled clinical data obtained through the product administration in an intended manner to affect a given result (Code of Federal Regulations, April 1, 2019). EVs have many therapeutic components and multiple modes of action; hence, potency and quality control markers should be carefully selected and measured during the storage and freeze-thaw. In stroke patients, potency markers of EV therapeutics may differ depending on the time (acute vs. chronic phase) of EV application. For example, acute ischemic stroke patients require EVs' cargo components targeting neuroprotection and immunomodulation. In contrast, both acute and chronic stroke patients require EVs' components targeting neurogenesis for neurorestoration. Differential markers for the potency of

EVs (in vitro bioassays) may be necessary for acute and chronic ischemic stroke patients. In addition, customization of stem cell-EV properties is required for stroke treatment.

RNAs

In the EV cargo, microRNAs (miRNAs) are of prime importance in mediating the therapeutic effects of MSC-EVs, whereas the role of EV proteins in recipient cells remains unclear (Zhang et al. 2019). MiRNAs are a class of short (20-25 nucleotides), single-stranded, non-coding RNAs that can be horizontally shuttled by EVs. The brain levels of miRNAs are changed after stroke, and miRNAs have been implicated in regulating protective and restorative processes in stroke (Saugstad 2010). Shojaati et al. performed a knockdown of Alix mRNA (Alix, a component of the endosomal sorting complex required for transport) using siRNA to reduce miRNA without changes in the protein level in the secreted EVs. They found that MSC-EVs reduced corneal fibrosis and inflammation via EVs-mediated miRNA delivery, emphasizing the role of miRNAs in EV functions (Shojaati et al. 2019). The mechanism of action of MSC-EVs in neurogenesis, angiogenesis, neuroprotection, and anti-inflammatory response in stroke involves several miRNAs (Bang and Kim 2019). For example, Xin et al. reported that intra-arterial administration of EVs obtained from miR-133b overexpressing MSCs to a rat model of stroke enhanced neuroplasticity and neurological recovery (Xin et al. 2017b). Current methods available for individual miRNA expression studies (e.g., PCR array and small RNA sequencing) have limitations quantitating EV-miRNAs, and miRNAs may be distributed in homogeneously across the EV population (Chevillet et al. 2014). New RNA analyzing methods may improve further understanding of miRNAs in EV effects. In addition to small noncoding RNAs such as miRNAs, MSC-EVs may shuttle other genetic components such as mRNAs or long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) (Ragni et al. 2017). lncRNAs (>200 nucleotides) control proteins targeting genomic loci and epigenetic silencing and serve as scaffolds for multiple proteins; stroke significantly alters the cerebral lncRNA expression (Dharap et al. 2012). Fan et al. showed that lncRNAs mediate stroke-induced neurogenesis (Fan et al. 2020). MSC-EVs may exert their action via lncRNAs (Patel et al. 2018). Besides, the transfer of EV mRNAs modulates the protein levels of recipient cells. mRNA and lncRNAs have roles in stroke pathophysiology and MSC-EV effects and warrant further studies (Fan et al. 2020).

Proteins

Lim et al. emphasized a protein-based mechanism of action of MSC-EVs (Lai et al. 2013; Toh et al. 2018). Many different laboratories have identified EV proteins using a mass spectrometry-based approach, suggesting that the protein composition of EVs is determined by various factors such as the type of cell and culture conditions. Data of over a thousand EV proteins are accessible on public online databases such as Vesiclepedia (Kalra et al. 2012) and Exocarta (Keerthikumar et al. 2016). EVs contain many membrane and intraluminal proteins, which are associated with various biological processes. Commonly, ESCRT-associated proteins such as Alix,

TSG101, HSC70 and HSP90, and tetraspanins (CD81, CD63, and CD9) are present in EVs. Therefore, these proteins are generally regarded as EVs' marker proteins independent of their cell source (Simpson et al. 2008; Doyle and Wang 2019). Other studies have reported that some proteins are commonly associated with EVs, which include transport proteins (Rab GTPases and annexins), signal transduction factors (kinases), metabolic enzymes, and cytoskeletal proteins (Simons and Raposo 2009; Chaput and Thery 2011). EVs protein analysis can also serve as an indicator of the purity and quality of EVs. Quality check of EV products is required for the clinical application of EV therapy. According to the updated ISEV experimental guidelines. the information of proteins in EVs obtained by protein-based EVs characterization is required to eliminate putative contaminants' tendency (Thery et al. 2018). Webber et al. suggested that high-purity EVs have a ratio of $>3 \times 10^{10}$ particles per µg of protein and low-purity EVs present a ratio of 2×10^9 to 2×10^{10} particles per µg of protein (Webber and Clayton 2013). The EV particle-protein ratio could be changed according to culture conditions or isolation methods. 3D-culture can increase the EV release from a single cell but decrease the ratio of particles per µg of protein than 2D-culture (Haraszti et al. 2018; Cha et al. 2018b). Several groups have identified the proteome of MSC-EVs using various proteomic approaches. They have suggested that proteins in MSC-EVs have sufficient biochemical potency for disease pathogenesis or regenerative therapy (Xing et al. 2020; Lai et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2012; Angulski et al. 2017; Anderson et al. 2016; La Greca et al. 2018). Kim et al. characterized the MSC-EVs proteome and reported that EVs contain several candidate proteins that may mediate potential therapeutic effects such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibronectin, integrins, and various proteins associated with signaling pathways (Wnt, TGF- β , and RAS-MAPK pathways) (Kim et al. 2012).

Another group demonstrated that MSC-EVs contain growth factors i.e., glial cellderived neurotrophic factor, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and angiogenic factors (i.e., hepatocyte growth factor, Ang1, HES1, and S1P), which promote tissue repair and regeneration (Hu et al. 2015; Zhu et al. 2014). More recently, Xing et al. performed proteomic analysis of EVs released from adipose-derived MSCs and reported that the EV proteins participated in several enriched pathways such as the MAPK, VEGF, and Jak-STAT signaling pathways, which are related to tissue repair (Xing et al. 2020). Anderson et al. demonstrated that angiogenic signaling proteins in MSC-EVs increased when MSCs were exposed to ischemic conditions such as PDGF, EGF, FGF, and most notably nuclear factor-kappaB (NF- κ B) signaling pathway proteins, suggesting that MSCs could release EVs containing robust pro-angiogenic paracrine effectors under pathological conditions (Anderson et al. 2016). Notably, some surface proteins of EVs, i.e., tetraspanins, integrins, extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, immunoglobulins, proteoglycan, and lectins, play an essential role in the interaction of EVs with the plasma membrane of target cells. This interaction results in the EVs uptake or regulation of various signaling pathways in the target cells (Sheldon et al. 2010; Lam et al. 2020; Rana et al. 2012; Mulcahy et al. 2014).

Other Cargos

Lipids are essential molecular components of EVs because they make up the lipid bilayer membrane that protects the encapsulated material. However, information regarding the composition and function of lipids in EVs is limited. Membranous lipids have many roles, such as EV markers, trafficking or stabilizing EVs, transporting membranous lipids to recipient cells, transferring bioactive lipids or enzymes to recipient cells, and waste disposal (Skotland et al. 2020). Recently, Barzegar et al. showed that MSC-EVs promoted neuroprotective effects in an animal model of stroke in cholesterol or lipid-dependent manner (Barzegar et al. 2020). Several studies have suggested an association between mitochondrial dysfunction and brain impairments after stroke, and hence, transplantation of healthy mitochondria can be a promising approach in stroke (Hayakawa et al. 2018). MSCs control intracellular oxidative stress by targeting mitochondria. Wang et al. showed that EVs containing mitochondria were released from MSCs and engulfed by recipient cells by fusion (Wang et al. 2018a).

Isolation, Dosage, Mode of Application, and Biodistribution

In EV studies, two main dosing strategies used are the number of EVs and protein concentration. However, because protein concentration does not correlate with EV number readout (as assessed by NTA), this concentration is not valid for determining EVs dosing (Lobb et al. 2015). Different EVs isolation methods can yield samples with up to an eight-fold difference in protein content relative to EVs number from the same source material (due to co-isolating contaminating proteins) (Kennedy et al. 2021). Although the EV number yield can vary with isolation technique, it is more reliable than protein as a surrogate (Kennedy et al. 2021). However, it is observed that NTA, the most widely used method for measuring the EVs number, may show variation in EV numbers up to 25% (Vestad et al. 2017).

The optimal time and mode of EVs application should be studied in stroke patients. Most recovery occurs in the first few months following a stroke, with only minor additional measurable improvements occurring thereafter. The levels of chemokines, trophic factors, and related miRNAs increase markedly in the infarcted brain during the acute phase of stroke and decrease over time. Such changes in the brain microenvironment may significantly affect the biodistribution of EVs and the degree of recovery and neurogenesis/angiogenesis after administering EVs therapeutics in stroke patients.

The brain capillary endothelium forms BBB that prevents the passage of 100% of large-molecular neurotherapeutics and more than 98% of all small-molecular-sized drugs into the brain (Pardridge 2003). Hence, compared with the amount of MSC-EVs required to treat patients with topical diseases or other systemic illnesses with a local application, a more considerable amount of MSC-EVs may be required to treat stroke patients (especially in the chronic phase when the BBB is closed). BBB manipulation (e.g., with use of mannitol) may enhance endogenous repair

mechanisms following stroke by allowing entry of paracrine factors (e.g., trophic factors and EVs) more easily into the brain (Borlongan et al. 2004).

At 24 h after systemic application, EVs preferentially accumulate in the liver, spleen, and lung and at low but detectable levels in the kidney, heart, and brain. The average half-life of EVs in the circulation is short (between 2 and 20 min in mice) (Wiklander et al. 2015; Gudbergsson et al. 2019). The biodistribution of EVs is dose-dependent, and effected by the route of administration, and parent cell source of EVs (Wiklander et al. 2015). The biodistribution study using fluorescence-labeled MSC-EVs and MSCs in a rat model of stroke revealed that although most MSCs got trapped within the lung immediately after injection, the amounts of MSC-EVs in the infarcted hemisphere increased in a dose-dependent manner and were rarely found in the lung and liver overtime (Moon et al. 2019). Another analysis of EV treatment in a stroke rat model revealed that circulating EV levels did not differ with the dose (for the tested doses). Both low and high doses of EVs improved recovery after stroke (Otero-Ortega et al. 2020).

Production of EV Preparation

An optimal manufacturing process would have the following attributes: high capacity for mass production, closed system with defined disposable components, purity with high yield, serum-free cell culture conditions, and Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) compliance (Reiner et al. 2017). Many different cell culture media are used to produce EVs, such as serum-supplemented media, serum-free media, and EVs-free/reduced serum-supplemented media. Prior elimination of EVs from fetal bovine serum is crucial; commercial exosome/EVs-depleted serum is expensive and maybe imperfect. Hence, various methods to deplete EVs are being investigated, such as the ultrafiltration method or the use of xeno-free and chemically defined media (Kornilov et al. 2018).

The heterogeneity of EVs and their cargo may increase or decrease during the production of EVs. Further in-depth studies are required to curtail the heterogeneity of EVs and increase the levels of the therapeutic components of EVs in clinically feasible ways for stroke patients (Xin et al. 2017b; Cha et al. 2018b; Wang et al. 2018b; Harting et al. 2018; Domenis et al. 2018). MSCs heterogeneity (donor variation) because of the origin of MSCs or the conditions of donors (e.g., age and diseases) can be minimized with optimal culture conditions or with the use of a working cell bank (Costa et al. 2021).

Isolation of Prepared EVs

Contamination of non-EVs material is by far the greatest variable associated with the isolation method, with significant potential for the non-specific effects of EV-based therapeutics. Moreover, EVs from stem cells exhibit heterogeneity in terms of size, and EVs of a different size may show differential effects when used as therapeutics. Differential EVs isolation methods can yield samples with varying degrees of

contaminating proteins and therapeutic cargo proteins/miRNAs/lipids, although the material source is the same.

Various techniques that include (but are not limited to) ultracentrifugation, PEG precipitation, size exclusion chromatography, and tangential flow filtration are available for the isolation of EVs. However, each method has advantages and disadvantages; hence, no reliable method for the isolation of EVs is available (Reiner et al. 2017). A recent survey performed by the ISEV revealed that ultracentrifugation and density-gradients are included in the most commonly used protocols for EVs isolation and purification. Moreover, size-exclusion chromatography and tangential flow filtration are being increasingly used recently (Royo et al. 2020). In addition, Watson et al. suggested GMP-compatible methods for clinical-scale production, purification, and EVs isolation (Watson et al. 2018).

Recent Advances in EV Therapeutics

The clinical translation of EVs-based therapeutics is impeded by some practical issues such as heterogeneity in both extensive therapeutic cargo and surface configuration, which could lead to uncontrollable or lower therapeutic efficacy and low yield. This may be problematic for a stable supply of potent EVs-based medicinal products, especially at the onset of phase III clinical trials and on the market scale (Gimona et al. 2017). To date, thanks to great strides in understanding complicated EVs physiology, numerous bioengineering methodologies are developed to address these challenges and help support the onward clinical advances. This section will discuss the current state-of-the-art bioengineering technologies that have been designed to augment the therapeutic potency and production yield of stem cell-derived EVs.

Since EVs are secreted products of cells, there have been various attempts in research to genetically or biochemically modulate parental cells' phenotypes to influence the yield and therapeutic potential of the resulting EVs. MSC-EVs have often been reported as an efficient promoter of angiogenesis, as they incorporate a multitude of angiogenic factors. Tao et al. reported that the proangiogenic ability of MSC-EVs is further enhanced by genetic modification of MSCs to overexpress miRNA-126, one of the primary angiogenic mediators both in vitro and in vivo (Tao et al. 2017). Kang et al. reported that EVs derived from MSCs overexpressing CXC chemokine receptor 4 significantly promoted angiogenesis in a rat model of myocardial infarction and protected neonatal cardiomyocytes apoptosis in vitro (Kang et al. 2015). In the stroke field, engineering MSCs to overexpress specific therapeutic proteins or RNAs increased their efficacy after stroke (Xin et al. 2017b). A wide variety of molecules and culture methods prime MSCs and modify their EVs accordingly. For example, preconditioning of sub-lethal stimuli can trigger an adaptive response of MSCs to injury or damage. Moon et al. showed that the cultivation of MSCs with either serum of stroke patients or treatment with ischemic brain extracts could increase MSCs' restorative properties and EVs release. These data suggested that signals from an ischemic brain could affect the efficacy of MSCs

and MSC-EVs while stimulating EVs release from MSCs (Moon et al. 2018, 2019). Similar findings were reported by Lee's research group (Lee et al. 2016). Treatment with ischemic brain extract and MSCs-conditioned medium upregulated miRNAs and proteins that modulate tissue repair pathways (Moon et al. 2019; Lee et al. 2016). Thrombin-preconditioning of MSCs increased EVs yield and enriched their therapeutic payload of interest (Sung et al. 2019). It is widely accepted that hypoxic culture conditions similar to the bone marrow microenvironment (i.e., $0.1-2\% O_2$) are beneficial to MSCs as they exhibit adaptive cell response to the injury sites. MSCs culture under hypoxic conditions with or without serum deprivation amplified the secretion of EVs, enriched therapeutic payload (e.g., miRNAs), and improved their efficacy in experimental tissue injury models (Zhang et al. 2012; Bian et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2018b, 2020; Park et al. 2018). Pro-inflammatory priming of MSCs renders EVs release with enhanced anti-inflammatory properties (Harting et al. 2018; Domenis et al. 2018; Hyland et al. 2020).

Exogenous supplementation of bioactive molecules (e.g., growth factors, cytokines, and chemicals) in MSCs culture could influence the cellular biosynthesis machinery, and thus, regulate the payload of MSC-EVs and yield procurement (Choi et al. 2019; Woo et al. 2020). For example, erythropoietin (100 IU/mL) supplementation of MSCs culture medium resulted in a significantly higher EVs production yield compared with the untreated control group; moreover, the secreted EVs were rich in anti-apoptotic miRNAs, i.e., miR-299, miR-499, miR-302, miRNA-200, and demonstrated greater therapeutic efficacy in experimental renal injury models both in vivo and in vitro (Wang et al. 2015). Lopatina et al. reported that MSCs stimulated by PDGF supplementation (20 ng/mL) increased the EV secretion rate and augmented proangiogenic capacity (Lopatina et al. 2014).

With ever-increasing information about EVs biogenesis mechanisms, key modulators and mechanisms associated with EVs secretion have been identified. Modification of specific molecular pathways in EVs biogenesis increase EV production (Phan et al. 2018). Recent studies have reported the activation of EVs biogenesis during membrane blebbing (P2X7 receptor, phospholipase D2), or multivesicular body fusion with the plasma membrane (Rab GTPase, SNARES) can increase the secretion of EVs, leading to an increased yield (Phan et al. 2018; Colombo et al. 2014; Qu and Dubyak 2009; Urbanelli et al. 2013; Rao et al. 2004; Hsu et al. 2010; Ostrowski et al. 2010; Laulagnier et al. 2004).

The homing ability of MSC-EVs towards ischemic and/or inflamed regions aids in delivering their payload more specifically to injury sites, contributing to maximizing therapeutic efficacies and minimizing systemic effects (Gudbergsson et al. 2019). These abilities of EVs (tissue tropism and cell-selective fusion) are attributed to the EVs membrane proteins determined by the phenotype of the parental cell (Peinado et al. 2012). However, recent findings revealed that after systemic injection, most of EVs are hardly free from the first-pass effect after accumulation in the liver, spleen, and lungs (Di Rocco et al. 2016). Therefore, the technologies to design and incorporate the targeting ligands of interest on the surface of EVs are valuable for enhancing the biodistribution and disease-targetability of EVs, eventually increasing their therapeutic efficacy (Kim et al. 2020; Man et al. 2020). One simple approach is
the direct insertion of hydrophobic molecules on the phospholipid bilayer of the EVs membrane for the hydrophobic attraction. Kim et al. reported the direct incorporation of aminoethyl anisamide-PEG onto the surface of EVs loaded with the anticancer drug paclitaxel to target lung cancer cells (Kim et al. 2018). The results showed enhanced accumulation of the functionalized EVs in lung cancer tissues after systemic injection, thereby improving the therapeutic outcomes. Kooijmans et al. used an alternative approach; fusogenic micelles conjugating EGF were successfully fused with EVs derived from platelets or Neuro2A cells without any configurational alterations in the size, morphology, and protein composition. The surface-modified EVs showed improved tumor-specificity and had longer stay in the blood circulation after systemic delivery in vivo (Kooijmans et al. 2016).

Shear stress at the physiological level contributes to the homeostasis of multiple tissues and organs in vivo, especially the tissues influenced by the presence of interstitial fluid flow or blood flow (Arora et al. 2020). Differentiation of MSCs into osteogenic, cardiogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, and even neurogenic lineages can be induced by varying different shear-stress conditions (0.01-2 Pa)(Arora et al. 2020). Shear stress can enhance the immune regulatory function of MSCs (Diaz et al. 2017). Likewise, the release of EVs from cells occurs inherently in response to shear stress at physiological or pathological levels in vivo. Therefore, as a bioinspired means to physically influence EVs production, controlled shear stress provided to the MSCs culture is considered an effective strategy to increase the yield of EV production and regulate its therapeutic composition (Piffoux et al. 2019). Hence, hollow fiber bioreactor technology that allows steady medium perfusion through massively bundled-up hollow microfibers provides great promise for MSCs-EVs production. This is because MSCs would constantly be under the controlled shear stress of a laminar flow condition. The maximum surface area would be available for cell seeding suitable for scaled-up culturing of MSCs (Colao et al. 2018). Furthermore, continuous medium perfusion can provide several vital practical benefits during MSC culture including: (1) the adequate mass transfer of oxygen, nutrients, and metabolites during the long-term culture period; (2) facilitate monitoring and controlling of culture parameters to maintain a well-defined MSC phenotype. These changes circumvent the unexpected alterations in the derivative EVs. Finally, retain the EVs product within a confined volume of the culture compartment during culture, which could yield more concentrated EVs in the conditioned medium (Cha et al. 2018a; Piffoux et al. 2019; Colao et al. 2018).

Besides mimicking the physiological features of EVs, the challenges in scalingup the production of EVs are required be addressed for clinical applications. An automated cell culture platform based on the hollow fiber bioreactor technology would be one of the promising strategies for the scalable manufacturing and bioprocessing of therapeutically viable EVs products. This allows the large-scale production and prolonged culture of MSCs without phenotypic alterations and limited passage windows (Mendt et al. 2018). Concurrently, it provides MSCs with the controlled shear stress environment to modify and/or augment the therapeutic potential and yield of secreted EVs.

Many studies have reported that the intrinsic ability of MSCs to secrete a variety of therapeutic molecules is difficult to reproduce in vitro. This is because the natural 3D-interactions between cells and either ECMs or other neighboring cells are readily disrupted in conventional monolayer culture conditions, wherein the individual cells encounter limited 2D-borders (Placzek et al. 2009). Therefore, such conventional culture platforms are vastly problematic to reach the clinical-scale production of therapeutic EVs and demanding countless batches of MSCs with significant impact on labor, time, and cost. Given the lack of the physiologically relevant phenotype of MSCs resulting from the 2D-culture condition, the configuration of secreted EVs could be driven far from the natural compositions that MSC-EVs would have in the pathological conditions in vivo (Man et al. 2020). Accordingly, Nalamolu et al. reported that the treatment of EVs from 2D-cultured MSCs failed to improve the survival rate and adversely influenced recovery after stroke (Nalamolu et al. 2019). Such limitations of the monolayer culture have necessitated the development of 3D-culture platforms that closely mimic body's physiological microenvironment, which induces close cell-cell interaction and ensures improved cellular communication with highly cumulated signaling molecules (Cha et al. 2017). Numerous recent studies have reported that the formation of 3D MSC-aggregates can create a microenvironment akin to that in vivo wherein the phenotype and innate properties of MSCs are highly preserved (Bartosh et al. 2010; Frith et al. 2010). In a previous study, a novel 3D-culture platform using the microwell-array system was developed for the large-scale culture of 3D-MSCs spheroids. This 3D-system prevented cell loss, significant cost-saving without wasting expensive cell material, achieving highly reproducible and precisely controlled cell-size and cell number of the MSC spheroids (Cha et al. 2017). Furthermore, a simple and effective 3D-bioprocessing method has been developed using micro-well culture system for scalable production of therapeutically effective MSC-EVs. Moreover, 3D-culture increased the production of MSC-EVs enriched with angiogenic and neurotrophic factors (cytokines and miRNAs, respectively) approximately 100 folds more than the ones derived from 2D-culture system and minimized the uncertainty in cellular behaviors due to heterogeneous spheroid sizes (Cha et al. 2018b).

Stem cells detect ECM-derived mechanical cues that are conveyed through the cytoplasmic compartment and cause phenotypic changes as gene and/or protein expression profiles are inherently influenced (Engler et al. 2006). A previous study showed that varying stiffness of culture substrate influenced the secretory profiles of MSCs. For example, it significantly enhanced the secretion of pro-angiogenic factors (Abdeen et al. 2014). These data imply that different mechanical cues provided through the microenvironment can alter the fate of MSCs and their secretome profile. Our research group has investigated the effects of 3D-physical interactions between MSCs and culture matrix upon regulating the therapeutic compounds of MSC-EVs (unpublished data). In this study, MSCs encapsulated in GelMA hydrogels of varying stiffness from 9 to 21 kPa showed

965

differential gene expression profiles with the retention of innate characteristics of MSCs. The substantial upregulation of angiogenesis-related genes was observed besides higher mechanical properties. This data showed enhanced angiogenic capacity of the MSCs-derived EVs that was also confirmed by tubulogenic assay using human umbilical vein endothelial cells.

On the other hand, the interventions of 3D-biomaterial scaffolds can be supportive in regulating MSC-EVs. In a traumatic brain injury model, MSC-EVs cultured in the 3D-collagen scaffold exhibited a twofold increase in EVs secretion and functional recovery of traumatic brain injury due to neurogenesis and angiogenesis compared with MSC-EVs cultured in the 2D-culture system (Zhang et al. 2017). Native (including decellularized tissues), as well as synthetic polymer-based scaffolds, can be used as 3D-microenvironment to regulate cellular attachment, growth, migration, differentiation, and secretome profile (Phan et al. 2018). Based on the average EVs yield in previous studies, the estimated number of EVs secreted by 2D-cultured MSCs was approximately 500 EVs per cell, which was significantly higher (up to 100 folds) from the 3D-culture system (e.g., microwell culture or bioreactor system) (Kordelas et al. 2014; Cha et al. 2018b; Mendt et al. 2018).

Some researchers in the bioengineering field have focused their efforts to address the limitations in scalability and cost-effectiveness of the onerous purification steps and low production yield from the current EVs manufacturing protocols. The new concept of EVs bioprocessing is based on phospholipids' spontaneous self-assembly, the significant component of the membranous organelles and structures in a cell. The cells in defined culture conditions are subjected to physical processes, such as sonication and serial mechanical extrusions through filters of reducing pore sizes ranging from 1 µm to 100 nm and custom-made devices with hydrophilic microchannels or centrifuge modules, to disassemble them into nano-sized vesicles (Goh et al. 2017). The cell-derived nanovesicles (CDNs) may encapsulate endogenous cytosolic substances and therapeutic molecules of interest that are exogenously loaded during the plasma membrane self-assembly process. Moreover, molecular engineering techniques can modify cell membrane proteins to equip CDNs with customized ligands on their surfaces to specifically recognize the target disease sites (de Jong et al. 2019). Han et al. reported that a >300 times higher yield of CDNs than the amount of naturally secreted EVs could be obtained during MSC cultivation. Moreover, these CDNs possess attributes similar to those of the parental cells, MSCs (Han et al. 2019). These biofabricated CDNs have also demonstrated better skin wound healing potential in an experimental mouse model than the naturally secreted MSC-EVs. Most recently, successful preclinical outcomes with the use of CDNs were reported in regenerative medicine (Man et al. 2020). However, this EVs manufacturing approach has serious concerns regarding regulatory compliance, particularly regarding safety and quality control issues. These concerns emanate due to the high possibility of containing and shuttling undesirable factors such as genomic DNA compounds, unwanted metabolic molecules, and signaling molecules related to cell death.

Conclusions and Perspective

Unlike MSCs-based therapy, MSC-EVs therapy is still in the process of development. Currently, there are no Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved EVs-based therapeutic products. However, the use of MSC-EV therapy is rapidly expanding and could be a promising therapy for severe stroke patients as MSCsbased therapies have already been tested in preclinical and clinical trials. Compared with MSCs-based therapy, EVs-mediated therapy has unique advantages in terms of safety, biodistribution, stability, and off-the-shelf approaches for acute ischemic stroke. MSC-EVs therapy has advantages over conventional drugs or protein/ RNA-delivery systems because MSC-EVs contain therapeutic payload with heterogeneous functions for recovery after stroke.

To date, the efficacy of MSC-EVs therapy has not been tested in stroke patients. An early phase clinical trial investigating the safety of allogeneic MSC-EVs in five patients with acute ischemic stroke is ongoing (clinicalTrial.gov. Identifier: NCT03384433). Our research group is also planning to conduct a phase 1/2a randomized trial on allogeneic Wharton's Jelly MSC-EV therapy (Stem Cell Extracellular Vesicle In Acute stroke trial). For successful clinical translation of EVs-based therapeutics, quality management and establishment of standard operating procedures for EV therapeutics as well as optimization of EV cargo and time/ dose/mode of EV application for stroke patients are required.

References

- Abdeen AA, Weiss JB, Lee J et al (2014) Matrix composition and mechanics direct proangiogenic signaling from mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 20:2737–2745
- Anderson JD, Johansson HJ, Graham CS et al (2016) Comprehensive proteomic analysis of mesenchymal stem cell exosomes reveals modulation of angiogenesis via nuclear factor-kappaB signaling. Stem Cells 34:601–613
- Angulski AB, Capriglione LG, Batista M et al (2017) The protein content of extracellular vesicles derived from expanded human umbilical cord blood-derived CD133(+) and human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells partially explains why both sources are advantageous for regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Rev Rep 13:244–257
- Arora S, Srinivasan A, Leung CM et al (2020) Bio-mimicking shear stress environments for enhancing mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 15:414–427
- Bang OY, Kim EH (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicle therapy for stroke: challenges and progress. Front Neurol 10:211
- Bang OY, Kim EH, Cha JM et al (2016) Adult stem cell therapy for stroke: challenges and progress. J Stroke 18:256–266
- Bang OY, Kim EH, Cho YH, et al. (2022) Circulating extracellular vesicles in stroke patients treated with mesenchymal stem cells: a biomarker analysis of a randomized trial. Stroke 53 (7):2276–2286
- Bartosh TJ, Ylostalo JH, Mohammadipoor A et al (2010) Aggregation of human mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) into 3D spheroids enhances their antiinflammatory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:13724–13729
- Barzegar M, Wang Y, Eshaq RS et al (2020) Human placental mesenchymal stem cells improve stroke outcomes via extracellular vesicles-mediated preservation of cerebral blood flow. EBioMedicine 63:103161

- Bian S, Zhang L, Duan L et al (2014) Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. J Mol Med (Berl) 92:387–397
- Biancone L, Bruno S, Deregibus MC et al (2012) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cellderived microvesicles. Nephrol Dial Transplant 27:3037–3042
- Borlongan CV, Hadman M, Sanberg CD et al (2004) Central nervous system entry of peripherally injected umbilical cord blood cells is not required for neuroprotection in stroke. Stroke 35: 2385–2389
- Cai J, Wu J, Wang J et al (2020) Extracellular vesicles derived from different sources of mesenchymal stem cells: therapeutic effects and translational potential. Cell Biosci 10:69
- Cha JM, Park H, Shin EK et al (2017) A novel cylindrical microwell featuring inverted-pyramidal opening for efficient cell spheroid formation without cell loss. Biofabrication 9:035006
- Cha JM, Lee MY, Hong J (2018a) Bioreactor systems are essentially required for stem cell bioprocessing. Precis Future Med. Epub ahead of print
- Cha JM, Shin EK, Sung JH et al (2018b) Efficient scalable production of therapeutic microvesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep 8(1):1171. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-018-19211-6
- Chaput N, Thery C (2011) Exosomes: immune properties and potential clinical implementations. Semin Immunopathol 33:419–440
- Chen KH, Chen CH, Wallace CG et al (2016) Intravenous administration of xenogenic adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells (ADMSC) and ADMSC-derived exosomes markedly reduced brain infarct volume and preserved neurological function in rat after acute ischemic stroke. Oncotarget 7:74537–74556
- Chevillet JR, Kang Q, Ruf IK et al (2014) Quantitative and stoichiometric analysis of the microRNA content of exosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:14888–14893
- Choi JS, Cho WL, Choi YJ et al (2019) Functional recovery in photo-damaged human dermal fibroblasts by human adipose-derived stem cell extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles 8:1565885
- Chung JW, Chang WH, Bang OY et al (2021) Efficacy and safety of intravenous mesenchymal stem cells for ischemic stroke. Neurology 96(7):e1012–e1023
- Colao IL, Corteling R, Bracewell D et al (2018) Manufacturing exosomes: a promising therapeutic platform. Trends Mol Med 24:242–256
- Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C (2014) Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:255–289
- Costa LA, Eiro N, Fraile M et al (2021) Functional heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cells from natural niches to culture conditions: implications for further clinical uses. Cell Mol Life Sci 78 (2):447–467
- Cunningham CJ, Redondo-Castro E, Allan SM (2018) The therapeutic potential of the mesenchymal stem cell secretome in ischaemic stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 38:1276–1292
- de Jong OG, Kooijmans SAA, Murphy DE et al (2019) Drug delivery with extracellular vesicles: from imagination to innovation. Acc Chem Res 52:1761–1770
- Dharap A, Nakka VP, Vemuganti R (2012) Effect of focal ischemia on long noncoding RNAs. Stroke 43:2800–2802
- Di Rocco G, Baldari S, Toietta G (2016) Towards therapeutic delivery of extracellular vesicles: strategies for in vivo tracking and biodistribution analysis. Stem Cells Int 2016:5029619
- Diaz MF, Vaidya AB, Evans SM et al (2017) Biomechanical forces promote immune regulatory function of bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cells 35:1259–1272
- Doeppner TR, Herz J, Gorgens A et al (2015) Extracellular vesicles improve post-stroke neuroregeneration and prevent postischemic immunosuppression. Stem Cells Transl Med 4: 1131–1143
- Doeppner TR, Bahr M, Giebel B et al (2018) Immunological and non-immunological effects of stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles on the ischaemic brain. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 11:1756286418789326
- Domenis R, Cifu A, Quaglia S et al (2018) Pro inflammatory stimuli enhance the immunosuppressive functions of adipose mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes. Sci Rep 8:13325

- Doyle LM, Wang MZ (2019) Overview of extracellular vesicles, their origin, composition, purpose, and methods for exosome isolation and analysis. Cell 8(7):727
- Eirin A, Ferguson CM, Zhu XY et al (2020) Extracellular vesicles released by adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stromal/stem cells from obese pigs fail to repair the injured kidney. Stem Cell Res 47:101877
- Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL et al (2006) Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell 126:677–689
- Fafian-Labora J, Lesende-Rodriguez I, Fernandez-Pernas P et al (2017) Effect of age on pro-inflammatory miRNAs contained in mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles. Sci Rep 7:43923
- Fan B, Pan W, Wang X et al (2020) Long noncoding RNA mediates stroke-induced neurogenesis. Stem Cells 38:973–985
- Frith JE, Thomson B, Genever PG (2010) Dynamic three-dimensional culture methods enhance mesenchymal stem cell properties and increase therapeutic potential. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 16:735–749
- Fuster-Matanzo A, Gessler F, Leonardi T et al (2015) Acellular approaches for regenerative medicine: on the verge of clinical trials with extracellular membrane vesicles? Stem Cell Res Ther 6:227
- Gimona M, Pachler K, Laner-Plamberger S et al (2017) Manufacturing of human extracellular vesicle-based therapeutics for clinical use. Int J Mol Sci 18(6):1190
- Goh WJ, Zou S, Ong WY et al (2017) Bioinspired cell-derived nanovesicles versus exosomes as drug delivery systems: a cost-effective alternative. Sci Rep 7:14322
- Gudbergsson JM, Jonsson K, Simonsen JB et al (2019) Systematic review of targeted extracellular vesicles for drug delivery considerations on methodological and biological heterogeneity. J Control Release 306:108–120
- Han C, Jeong D, Kim B et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell engineered nanovesicles for accelerated skin wound closure. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 5:1534–1543
- Haraszti RA, Miller R, Stoppato M et al (2018) Exosomes produced from 3D cultures of MSCs by tangential flow filtration show higher yield and improved activity. Mol Ther 26:2838–2847
- Harting MT, Srivastava AK, Zhaorigetu S et al (2018) Inflammation-stimulated mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate inflammation. Stem Cells 36:79–90
- Hartjes TA, Mytnyk S, Jenster GW et al (2019) Extracellular vesicle quantification and characterization: common methods and emerging approaches. Bioengineering (Basel) 6(1):7
- Hayakawa K, Chan SJ, Mandeville ET et al (2018) Protective effects of endothelial progenitor cellderived extracellular mitochondria in brain endothelium. Stem Cells 36:1404–1410
- Hsu C, Morohashi Y, Yoshimura S et al (2010) Regulation of exosome secretion by Rab35 and its GTPase-activating proteins TBC1D10A-C. J Cell Biol 189:223–232
- Hu GW, Li Q, Niu X et al (2015) Exosomes secreted by human-induced pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cells attenuate limb ischemia by promoting angiogenesis in mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:10
- Hyland M, Mennan C, Wilson E et al (2020) Pro-inflammatory priming of umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells alters the protein cargo of their extracellular vesicles. Cell 9
- Jung JW, Kwon M, Choi JC et al (2013) Familial occurrence of pulmonary embolism after intravenous, adipose tissue-derived stem cell therapy. Yonsei Med J 54:1293–1296
- Kalani A, Chaturvedi P, Kamat PK et al (2016) Curcumin-loaded embryonic stem cell exosomes restored neurovascular unit following ischemia-reperfusion injury. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 79: 360–369
- Kalra H, Simpson RJ, Ji H et al (2012) Vesiclepedia: a compendium for extracellular vesicles with continuous community annotation. PLoS Biol 10:e1001450
- Kalra H, Adda CG, Liem M et al (2013) Comparative proteomics evaluation of plasma exosome isolation techniques and assessment of the stability of exosomes in normal human blood plasma. Proteomics 13:3354–3364
- Kang K, Ma R, Cai W et al (2015) Exosomes secreted from CXCR4 overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells promote cardioprotection via Akt signaling pathway following myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Int 2015:659890

- Karp JM, Leng Teo GS (2009) Mesenchymal stem cell homing: the devil is in the details. Cell Stem Cell 4:206–216
- KatagirI W, Osugi M, Kawai T et al (2016) First-in-human study and clinical case reports of the alveolar bone regeneration with the secretome from human mesenchymal stem cells. Head Face Med 12:5
- Katsuda T, Ochiya T (2015) Molecular signatures of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicle-mediated tissue repair. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:212
- Keerthikumar S, Chisanga D, Ariyaratne D et al (2016) ExoCarta: a web-based compendium of exosomal cargo. J Mol Biol 428:688–692
- Kennedy TL, Russell AJ, Riley P (2021) Experimental limitations of extracellular vesicle-based therapies for the treatment of myocardial infarction. Trends Cardiovasc Med 31(7):405–415
- Kim HS, Choi DY, Yun SJ et al (2012) Proteomic analysis of microvesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells. J Proteome Res 11:839–849
- Kim MS, Haney MJ, Zhao Y et al (2018) Engineering macrophage-derived exosomes for targeted paclitaxel delivery to pulmonary metastases: in vitro and in vivo evaluations. Nanomedicine 14: 195–204
- Kim H, Kim D, Nam H et al (2020) Engineered extracellular vesicles and their mimetics for clinical translation. Methods 177:80–94
- Kooijmans SAA, Fliervoet LAL, Van Der Meel R et al (2016) PEGylated and targeted extracellular vesicles display enhanced cell specificity and circulation time. J Control Release 224:77–85
- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig AK et al (2014) MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 28:970–973
- Kornilov R, Puhka M, Mannerstrom B et al (2018) Efficient ultrafiltration-based protocol to deplete extracellular vesicles from fetal bovine serum. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1422674
- Krueger TEG, Thorek DLJ, Denmeade SR et al (2018) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cellbased drug delivery: the good, the bad, the ugly, and the promise. Stem Cells Transl Med 7: 651–663
- Kulkarni R, Bajaj M, Ghode S et al (2018) Intercellular transfer of microvesicles from young mesenchymal stromal cells rejuvenates aged murine hematopoietic stem cells. Stem Cells 36: 420–433
- La Greca A, Solari C, Furmento V et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles from pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cells acquire a stromal modulatory proteomic pattern during differentiation. Exp Mol Med 50:119
- Lai RC, Tan SS, Teh BJ et al (2012) Proteolytic potential of the MSC exosome proteome: implications for an exosome-mediated delivery of therapeutic proteasome. Int J Proteomics 2012:971907
- Lai RC, Yeo RW, Tan KH et al (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell exosome ameliorates reperfusion injury through proteomic complementation. Regen Med 8:197–209
- Lam KCK, Lam MKN, Chim CS et al (2020) The functional role of surface molecules on extracellular vesicles in cancer, autoimmune diseases, and coagulopathy. J Leukoc Biol 108: 1565–1573
- Laulagnier K, Grand D, Dujardin A et al (2004) PLD2 is enriched on exosomes and its activity is correlated to the release of exosomes. FEBS Lett 572:11–14
- Lee JY, Kim E, Choi SM et al (2016) Microvesicles from brain-extract-treated mesenchymal stem cells improve neurological functions in a rat model of ischemic stroke. Sci Rep 6:33038
- Lener T, Gimona M, Aigner L et al (2015) Applying extracellular vesicles based therapeutics in clinical trials an ISEV position paper. J Extracell Vesicles 4:30087
- Li Y, Meng Y, Zhu X et al (2020) Metabolic syndrome increases senescence-associated micro-RNAs in extracellular vesicles derived from swine and human mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Cell Commun Signal 18:124
- Lobb RJ, Becker M, Wen SW et al (2015) Optimized exosome isolation protocol for cell culture supernatant and human plasma. J Extracell Vesicles 4:27031
- Lopatina T, Bruno S, Tetta C et al (2014) Platelet-derived growth factor regulates the secretion of extracellular vesicles by adipose mesenchymal stem cells and enhances their angiogenic potential. Cell Commun Signal 12:26

- Lopez-Verrilli MA, Caviedes A, Cabrera A et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes from different sources selectively promote neuritic outgrowth. Neuroscience 320:129–139
- Lotvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F et al (2014) Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles 3:26913
- Loukogeorgakis SP, De Coppi P (2017) Concise review: amniotic fluid stem cells: the known, the unknown, and potential regenerative medicine applications. Stem Cells 35:1663–1673
- Man K, Brunet MY, Jones MC et al (2020) Engineered extracellular vesicles: tailored-made nanomaterials for medical applications. Nanomaterials (Basel) 10(9):1838
- Medalla M, Chang W, Calderazzo SM et al (2020) Treatment with mesenchymal-derived extracellular vesicles reduces injury-related pathology in pyramidal neurons of monkey perilesional ventral premotor cortex. J Neurosci 40:3385–3407
- Mendt M, Kamerkar S, Sugimoto H et al (2018) Generation and testing of clinical-grade exosomes for pancreatic cancer. JCI Insight 3(8):e99263
- Moon GJ, Cho YH, Kim DH et al (2018) Serum-mediated activation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in ischemic stroke patients: a novel preconditioning method. Cell Transplant 27:485–500
- Moon GJ, Sung JH, Kim DH et al (2019) Application of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles for stroke: biodistribution and MicroRNA study. Transl Stroke Res 10:509–521
- Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Carter DR (2014) Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. J Extracell Vesicles 3
- Nalamolu KR, Venkatesh I, Mohandass A et al (2019) Exosomes treatment mitigates ischemic brain damage but does not improve post-stroke neurological outcome. Cell Physiol Biochem 52: 1280–1291
- Nam GH, Choi Y, Kim GB et al (2020) Emerging prospects of exosomes for cancer treatment: from conventional therapy to immunotherapy. Adv Mater 32:e2002440
- Nassar W, El-Ansary M, Sabry D et al (2016) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles can safely ameliorate the progression of chronic kidney diseases. Biomater Res 20:21
- Nguyen PK, Neofytou E, Rhee JW et al (2016) Potential strategies to address the major clinical barriers facing stem cell regenerative therapy for cardiovascular disease: a review. JAMA Cardiol 1:953–962
- Ostrowski M, Carmo NB, Krumeich S et al (2010) Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway. Nat Cell Biol 12:19–30; sup pp 1–13
- Otero-Ortega L, Laso-Garcia F, Gomez-de Frutos MD et al (2017) White matter repair after extracellular vesicles administration in an experimental animal model of subcortical stroke. Sci Rep 7:44433
- Otero-Ortega L, Laso-Garcia F, Frutos MCG et al (2020) Low dose of extracellular vesicles identified that promote recovery after ischemic stroke. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:70
- Pardridge WM (2003) Blood-brain barrier drug targeting: the future of brain drug development. Mol Interv 3(90–105):51
- Park H, Park H, Mun D et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles derived from hypoxic human mesenchymal stem cells attenuate GSK3beta expression via miRNA-26a in an ischemia-reperfusion injury model. Yonsei Med J 59:736–745
- Patel NA, Moss LD, Lee JY et al (2018) Long noncoding RNA MALAT1 in exosomes drives regenerative function and modulates inflammation-linked networks following traumatic brain injury. J Neuroinflammation 15:204
- Peinado H, Aleckovic M, Lavotshkin S et al (2012) Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. Nat Med 18:883–891
- Pendharkar AV, Chua JY, Andres RH et al (2010) Biodistribution of neural stem cells after intravascular therapy for hypoxic-ischemia. Stroke 41:2064–2070
- Phan J, Kumar P, Hao D et al (2018) Engineering mesenchymal stem cells to improve their exosome efficacy and yield for cell-free therapy. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1522236

- Piffoux M, Nicolas-Boluda A, Mulens-Arias V et al (2019) Extracellular vesicles for personalized medicine: the input of physically triggered production, loading and theranostic properties. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 138:247–258
- Placzek MR, Chung IM, MAcedo HM et al (2009) Stem cell bioprocessing: fundamentals and principles. J R Soc Interface 6:209–232
- Qu Y, Dubyak GR (2009) P2X7 receptors regulate multiple types of membrane trafficking responses and non-classical secretion pathways. Purinergic Signal 5:163–173
- Ragni E, Banfi F, Barilani M et al (2017) Extracellular vesicle-shuttled mRNA in mesenchymal stem cell communication. Stem Cells 35:1093–1105
- Rana S, Yue S, Stadel D et al (2012) Toward tailored exosomes: the exosomal tetraspanin web contributes to target cell selection. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 44:1574–1584
- Rao SK, Huynh C, Proux-Gillardeaux V et al (2004) Identification of SNAREs involved in synaptotagmin VII-regulated lysosomal exocytosis. J Biol Chem 279:20471–20479
- Reiner AT, Witwer KW, Van Balkom BWM et al (2017) Concise review: developing bestpractice models for the therapeutic use of extracellular vesicles. Stem Cells Transl Med 6: 1730–1739
- Royo F, Thery C, Falcon-Perez JM et al (2020) Methods for separation and characterization of extracellular vesicles: results of a worldwide survey performed by the ISEV rigor and standardization subcommittee. Cell 9(9):1955
- Saugstad JA (2010) MicroRNAs as effectors of brain function with roles in ischemia and injury, neuroprotection, and neurodegeneration. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1564–1576
- Savitz SI (2013) Cell therapies: careful translation from animals to patients. Stroke 44:S107-S109
- Sheldon H, Heikamp E, Turley H et al (2010) New mechanism for notch signaling to endothelium at a distance by Delta-like 4 incorporation into exosomes. Blood 116:2385–2394
- Shojaati G, Khandaker I, Funderburgh ML et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells reduce corneal fibrosis and inflammation via extracellular vesicle-mediated delivery of miRNA. Stem Cells Transl Med 8:1192–1201
- Simons M, Raposo G (2009) Exosomes vesicular carriers for intercellular communication. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21:575–581
- Simpson RJ, Jensen SS, Lim JW (2008) Proteomic profiling of exosomes: current perspectives. Proteomics 8:4083–4099
- Skotland T, Sagini K, Sandvig K et al (2020) An emerging focus on lipids in extracellular vesicles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 159:308–321
- Sokolova V, Ludwig AK, Hornung S et al (2011) Characterisation of exosomes derived from human cells by nanoparticle tracking analysis and scanning electron microscopy. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 87:146–150
- Sung DK, Chang YS, Sung SI et al (2019) Thrombin preconditioning of extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells accelerates cutaneous wound healing by boosting their biogenesis and enriching cargo content. J Clin Med 8(4):533
- Tao SC, Guo SC, Li M et al (2017) Chitosan wound dressings incorporating exosomes derived from MicroRNA-126-overexpressing synovium mesenchymal stem cells provide sustained release of exosomes and heal full-thickness skin defects in a diabetic rat model. Stem Cells Transl Med 6: 736–747
- Tatsumi K, Ohashi K, Matsubara Y et al (2013) Tissue factor triggers procoagulation in transplanted mesenchymal stem cells leading to thromboembolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 431: 203–209
- Thery C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E et al (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1535750
- Tieu A, Lalu MM, Slobodian M et al (2020) An analysis of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles for preclinical use. ACS Nano 14:9728–9743
- Toh WS, Lai RC, Zhang B et al (2018) MSC exosome works through a protein-based mechanism of action. Biochem Soc Trans 46:843–853

- Urbanelli L, Magini A, Buratta S et al (2013) Signaling pathways in exosomes biogenesis, secretion and fate. Genes (Basel) 4:152–170
- Vestad B, Llorente A, Neurauter A et al (2017) Size and concentration analyses of extracellular vesicles by nanoparticle tracking analysis: a variation study. J Extracell Vesicles 6:1344087
- Wang Y, Lu X, He J et al (2015) Influence of erythropoietin on microvesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells protecting renal function of chronic kidney disease. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:100
- Wang J, Li H, Yao Y et al (2018a) Stem cell-derived mitochondria transplantation: a novel strategy and the challenges for the treatment of tissue injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:106
- Wang Y, Zhao R, Liu D et al (2018b) Exosomes derived from miR-214-enriched bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells regulate oxidative damage in cardiac stem cells by targeting CaMKII. Oxidative Med Cell Longev:4971261
- Wang C, Borger V, Sardari M et al (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived small extracellular vesicles induce ischemic neuroprotection by modulating leukocytes and specifically neutrophils. Stroke 51:1825–1834
- Watson DC, Yung BC, Bergamaschi C et al (2018) Scalable, cGMP-compatible purification of extracellular vesicles carrying bioactive human heterodimeric IL-15/lactadherin complexes. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1442088
- Webb RL, Kaiser EE, Jurgielewicz BJ et al (2018a) Human neural stem cell extracellular vesicles improve recovery in a porcine model of ischemic stroke. Stroke 49:1248–1256
- Webb RL, Kaiser EE, Scoville SL et al (2018b) Human neural stem cell extracellular vesicles improve tissue and functional recovery in the murine thromboembolic stroke model. Transl Stroke Res 9: 530–539
- Webber J, Clayton A (2013) How pure are your vesicles? J Extracell Vesicles 2
- Wiklander OP, Nordin JZ, O'Loughlin A et al (2015) Extracellular vesicle in vivo biodistribution is determined by cell source, route of administration and targeting. J Extracell Vesicles 4:26316
- Witwer KW, Van Balkom BWM, Bruno S et al (2019) Defining mesenchymal stromal cell (MSC)derived small extracellular vesicles for therapeutic applications. J Extracell Vesicles 8:1609206
- Woo CH, Kim HK, Jung GY et al (2020) Small extracellular vesicles from human adipose-derived stem cells attenuate cartilage degeneration. J Extracell Vesicles 9:1735249
- Xin H, Li Y, Cui Y et al (2013) Systemic administration of exosomes released from mesenchymal stromal cells promote functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity after stroke in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 33:1711–1715
- Xin H, Katakowski M, Wang F et al (2017a) MicroRNA cluster miR-17-92 cluster in exosomes enhance neuroplasticity and functional recovery after stroke in rats. Stroke 48:747–753
- Xin H, Wang F, Li Y et al (2017b) Secondary release of exosomes from astrocytes contributes to the increase in neural plasticity and improvement of functional recovery after stroke in rats treated with exosomes harvested from MicroRNA 133b-overexpressing multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. Cell Transplant 26:243–257
- Xing X, Han S, Cheng G et al (2020) Proteomic analysis of exosomes from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a novel therapeutic strategy for tissue injury. Biomed Res Int 2020:6094562
- Zhang HC, Liu XB, Huang S et al (2012) Microvesicles derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells stimulated by hypoxia promote angiogenesis both in vitro and in vivo. Stem Cells Dev 21:3289–3297
- Zhang Y, Chopp M, Zhang ZG et al (2017) Systemic administration of cell-free exosomes generated by human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells cultured under 2D and 3D conditions improves functional recovery in rats after traumatic brain injury. Neurochem Int 111:69–81
- Zhang X, Liu J, Yu B et al (2018) Effects of mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes on the healing of large and refractory macular holes. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 256(11):2041–2052
- Zhang ZG, Buller B, Chopp M (2019) Exosomes beyond stem cells for restorative therapy in stroke and neurological injury. Nat Rev Neurol 15:193–203
- Zhu YG, Feng XM, Abbott J et al (2014) Human mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles for treatment of Escherichia coli endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice. Stem Cells 32: 116–125



Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome: **33** A Potential Biopharmaceutical Component to Regenerative Medicine

Bruna Araújo, Rita Caridade Silva, Sofia Domingues, António J. Salgado, and Fábio G. Teixeira

Contents

Introduction	976
MSCs' Roots	976
MSCs' Biological Properties	977
The Pitfalls of MSCs	978
Secretome Derived from MSCs as Cell-Free-Based Therapeutic Strategy	979
Composition and Characterization of MSCs' Secretome	979
Mechanisms of Action and Principal Effects	982
Pre-clinical Approaches of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome	982
Wound Healing and Cartilage Repair and Regeneration	982
Cardiovascular Diseases	985
Kidney and Lung Injuries	986
Central Nervous System Pathologies	986
Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI)	987
Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) and Ischemic Stroke (IS)	988
Neurodegenerative Disorders	990
Clinical Approaches Based on Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome	991
The Benefits and Barriers of MSCs' Secretome	993
Improvements Needed for Secretome Application as a Cell Transplantation-Free Tool	994
Conclusion	995
Cross-References	995
References	996

B. Araújo · R. C. Silva · S. Domingues · A. J. Salgado

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

F. G. Teixeira (🖂)

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

ICVS/3B's – PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimaraes, Portugal e-mail: fabioteixeira@med.uminho.pt

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 46

Abstract

Over the last decade, the use of stem cells has remarkably been proposed as a regenerative tool, and within it, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have emerged as a promising therapeutic option. As a consequence, they currently represent an effective tool in the treatment of several diseases due to their tissue-protective and tissue-reparative properties. Based on these MSCs' regenerative potentialities are the secretion and release of trophic molecules and vesicles, nowadays known as stem cell secretome. Notably, MSCs' secretome itself is starting to be considered a potential active pharmaceutical component, in which its vesicular portion has been revealing promising characteristics to be used as a drug delivery system, thereby opening an opportune window to the specific release of drugs, peptides, or specific agents to targeted damaged areas. Therefore, the use of MSCs' secretome as a whole or its components per se has demonstrated remarkable advantages over cell transplantation procedures, with no adverse effects, thereby indicating that it can be used as a source of bioactive agents that can be efficiently stored and transported as a ready-to-use biocomponent. Thus, on the scope of the present chapter, we intend to provide an overview of the application of MSCs' secretome as a therapeutic strategy to the regenerative medicine field.

Keywords

Mesenchymal stem cells · Reparative properties · Secretome · Therapeutic strategy · Regenerative medicine

5
Alzheimer's disease
Acute kidney injury
Acute lung injury
5' Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
Angiopoietin-1
Acute respiratory distress syndrome
Adipose-derived stem cells
B-cell lymphoma 2
Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
Basic fibroblast growth factor
Bone marrow
Blood-spinal cord barrier
Circular RNAs
Chronic kidney disease
Conditioned medium
Central nervous system
Cardiac stem cells
C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
Extracellular matrix

ECs	Endothelial cells
EG-VEGF	Endocrine gland-derived vascular endothelial growth factor
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
FGF-BP	Fibroblast growth factor-binding protein 1
FPHL	Female pattern hair loss
GAP-43	Growth-associated protein 43
GvHD	Graft-versus-host disease
hAMSCs	Human adipose tissue-derived MSCs
HD	Huntington's disease
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
hMSCs	Human mesenchymal stem cells
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	Interleukin
IS	Ischemic stroke
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
KGF	Keratinocyte growth factor
lncRNAs	Long noncoding RNAs
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
mHtt	mutant Huntingtin
miRNAs	microRNAs
MMP-13	Matrix metallopeptidase 13
MRCTs	Massive rotator cuff tears
mRNA	Protein-coding messenger
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MVBs	Membrane of multivesicular bodies
NFκB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NO	Nitric oxide
NT-3	Neurotrophin-3
OA	Osteoarthritis
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PEDF	Pigment epithelium-derived factor
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinases
PK1	Pyruvate kinase 1
RNAseq	RNA sequencing
SCI	Spinal cord injury
SDF-1	Stromal cell-derived factor-1
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TGF-ß1	Transforming growth factor ß1
TIMP3	Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3

TSG	Tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VWF	Von Willebrand factor

Introduction

In normal conditions, the organs and tissues of our body have limited regenerative capacities, which indicate that in case of failure of those systems, life-threatening conditions can arise. Moreover, many diseases result from the interface between complex mechanisms, including cellular impairments and tissue or organ dysfunctions. Among them, difficulties in treatment are prevalent since classic strategies display an inability to efficiently stimulate vital mechanisms of tissue regeneration, repair, and renewing and to promote the reversion of cell loss (Hoda Elkhenany et al. 2020).

Over the past decades, the field of stem cell-based research has gained particular interest under the scope of novel regenerative/repairing therapeutic opportunities, as it appears to target several disorders and public health issues for which current medical and surgical solutions are insufficient. From a spectrum of several stem cell populations, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have become a pivotal population in developing promising therapies involving the maintenance and repair of adult tissues and organs.

MSCs' Roots

During the 1960s, it was with the trailblazing work of Friedenstein and colleagues that MSCs were first isolated from rodent bone marrow (BM) and characterized as a rare population of adherent clonal non-hematopoietic precursors, capable of differentiating into mesodermal-derived cell types (Caplan 1991; Friedenstein et al. 1968). These pioneer observations sparked a significant degree of curiosity and led to the elaboration of heterogeneous procedures in isolation and cultivation of them among laboratories. For this reason, the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) established, in 2006, minimal criteria to classify a cell population as MSCs, namely, the (1) plastic adherence when maintained under standard culture conditions, (2) phenotypic expression of specific surface antigens (CD73, CD90, CD105) and concomitant absence of hematopoietic markers (CD14, CD34, CD45, and human leucocyte antigen-DR), and (3) tri-lineage mesenchymal differentiation toward osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts in vitro (Dominici et al. 2006). However, ever since, numerous reports have confirmed that MSCs are not only present in the bone marrow and have now been isolated from a variety of non-marrow tissues using different protocols, including the placenta, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, Wharton's jelly, peripheral blood, lung, liver, dermal tissue, and even brain (Chamberlain et al. 2007; Venkataramana et al. 2010; Phinney 2007; Praveen Kumar et al. 2019). Notably, various studies have revealed that, despite their uniformly marked

profiles and similar cellular phenotypes, MSCs derived from different tissues exhibit a differentiation potential broader than initially thought (Phinney 2007; Harrell et al. 2019). These data indicate that under specific niches, conditions, and cellular microenvironments, these cells can "transdifferentiate" at different rates due to plasticity and modify their biological and functional characteristics accordingly (Praveen Kumar et al. 2019; Squillaro et al. 2016; Paul and Anisimov 2013). Moreover, epigenetic findings in MSCs from distinctive tissues determined the existence of substantial differences in gene expression patterns, transcriptome/proteome, and functionality that were associated merely with the tissue source (Phinney 2007; Le Blanc and Davies 2018). Thereby, when applying different protocols for their isolation and cell culture expansion, MSCs could generate cells of neuroectodermal and endodermal origin, including neuron-like cells, hepatocytes, pancreatic islet-like cells, cardiomyocytes, and alveolar and gut epithelial cells (Harrell et al. 2019; Squillaro et al. 2016; Teixeira et al. 2013; Trohatou and Roubelakis 2017; Chen et al. 2004). Additionally, besides the heterogeneity observed among MSCs from different sources, there are also variances after acquiring them from individual donors (Andrzejewska et al. 2019). Overall, these assumptions support the idea that MSC benefits organ and tissue repair due to their multipotency to generate cells of the aimed tissue and substitute damaged resident cells (Squillaro et al. 2016).

MSCs' Biological Properties

MSCs were primarily used for musculoskeletal regeneration and wound healing. Nonetheless, and acknowledging their benefits afar from tissue repair, they have been primarily used in numerous experimental, pre-clinical, and clinical models, involving organ transplantation, cancer, rheumatic diseases, autoimmune diseases, inflammatory disorders, spinal cord injuries, acute ischemic stroke, diabetes, neuro-degenerative disorders, microbial infections, myocardial infarction, and so forth (Ferreira et al. 2018; Serra et al. 2018; Bai et al. 2016; Hu and Li 2018). Given that, a comprehensive study of the molecular and biological properties that define the MSCs is critical (Bai et al. 2016).

One of the most common features of MSCs is, as previously mentioned, their undifferentiated self-renewal ability along with multi-lineage differentiation potential that significantly influences tissue homeostasis (Eleuteri and Fierabracci 2019; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). In contrast, these cells present further multifunctional characteristics, which embrace not only immunomodulation and homing capability but also pro-angiogenic, antioxidant, antimicrobial, neuroprotective, antitumorigenic, anti-apoptotic, and chemoattractive effects (Squillaro et al. 2016; Bai et al. 2016; Murphy et al. 2013; Spees et al. 2016). Given the immunomodulatory functions of MSCs, it has been reported that they can switch their profile from an innate to acquired immune response or vice versa, either by endorsing pro-inflammatory events if the level of inflammatory cytokines is low or by negatively regulating the immune response upon an inflammation, often relying on the

context, local microenvironment, and disease status (Murphy et al. 2013; Harrell et al. 2019; Andrzejewska et al. 2019; Song et al. 2020). Likewise, MSCs can interact with immune cells via cell-to-cell contact and interfere with their proliferation, activation, and function. Of note, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (monocytes), neutrophils, B and T (including regulatory T cells) lymphocytes, natural killer cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells are all possible targets of the interference of these cells (Harrell et al. 2019; Song et al. 2020; Gao et al. 2016). Connecting to this effect, the homing capability of MSCs centers its attention on their migratory behavior and capacity to navigate and reach damaged tissue as feedback to a combination of cytokines (Nitzsche et al. 2017). For instance, considering its potential of tumor inhibition and tropism, it is also worth mentioning that MSCs can be loaded with chemotherapeutic agents and successfully deliver their payload in site-directed manner to the tumor sites (Kwon et al. 2019). Nevertheless, the majority of the previously mentioned potentialities are the outcome of the paracrine activity-based mechanisms of these cells. Indeed, it has been considered that the array of bioactive factors they secrete in response to the local environment constitutes the mechanism by which MSCs assist many of their beneficial effects.

The Pitfalls of MSCs

Notwithstanding the promising results obtained in the clinical trials, MSC-based therapies are not considered a standard of care at the clinic, facing several obstacles to their applicability (Squillaro et al. 2016; Zaher et al. 2014). Firstly, there is an obvious lack of standardized procedures regulating cell culture, ex vivo expansion, cryopreservation, and differentiation, which affects MSCs' properties and, as a consequence, leads to stemness attenuation and replicative senescence (Praveen Kumar et al. 2019; Squillaro et al. 2016; Kwon et al. 2019; Kandoi et al. 2018). Also accompanying this issue is the large variability in cell quality, due to the usage of different donors and their tissues, known as donor heterogeneity (Squillaro et al. 2016; Teixeira and Salgado 2020; Gao et al. 2016). Equally, regarding transplantation, a significantly high number of cells are required to have a notable effect (Teixeira and Salgado 2020; Vizoso et al. 2017). Posterior to this procedure, not only do MSCs exhibit a low survival rate (Hu and Li 2018) but also do not commonly become a part of the injured site, a detail previously revealed by cell tracking analysis (Teixeira et al. 2013). Furthermore, hurdles in defining a correct therapeutic rationale, including determining optimal dosage type, administration frequency, mode of infusion, and effective delivery route, are likewise points to consider when selecting these cells for transplantation.

Given the drawbacks mentioned above, more recently, the use of MSCs per se has been reconsidered, and in its place, a direct application of their secreted trophic factors is being evaluated as part of fast-emerging cell-free therapy approach (Gnecchi et al. 2005; Haider and Aslam 2018), since those might be the essential foundations required to create effective cellular strategies.

Secretome Derived from MSCs as Cell-Free-Based Therapeutic Strategy

The plethora of protective bioactive factors secreted by MSCs is known as stem cell secretome or conditioned medium (CM). These paracrine factors released by a cell, tissue, or organism into the extracellular space can promote their repair and regeneration (Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). Secreted molecules play a valuable contribution in crosstalk communication between cells and the surrounding tissues. Therefore, the MSCs' secretome-based therapies are considered as an appealing proposal to be used in several domains of regenerative medicine (Haider and Aziz 2017). Like MSCs, the secretome profile depends on the MSCs' source and culture conditions used to expand the cells (Yin et al. 2019). The factors and their concentration used may diverge depending on cellular and preparation parameters and by intrinsic and extrinsic environment conditions (Kehl et al. 2019; Bundgaard et al. 2020). Owing to that dissimilarities, the secretome composition may be manipulated to obtain the an optimal bioproduct profile for a specific therapeutic application and to identify the regenerative mechanisms of distinct tissue types/origins (Chang et al. 2021).

Composition and Characterization of MSCs' Secretome

The secretome composition is determined by the conditioned medium after MSCs culture in vitro. It can be divided into two distinct fractions - the soluble fraction (essentially proteins and soluble factors, such as cytokines) and the vesicular fraction (Pinho et al. 2020) (Fig. 1). A plethora of protective bioactive factors classified as growth factors, chemokines, cytokines, microRNA, hormones, free nucleic acids, lipid mediators, extracellular vesicles (EVs), and other small molecular weight signal cues constitute the secretome composition, creating a microenvironment suitable for cellular repair and regeneration (Ranganath et al. 2012; Beer et al. 2017; Hu et al. 2020). Those molecules influence the crosstalk communications between cells and the surrounding tissue to stimulate the recruitment, proliferation, and differentiation of the endogenous cells. Regarding EVs, these are secreted by the MSCs transporting active molecules and genetic information to target cells. They contain growth factors, cytokines, miRNA, and mRNA that trigger several biological responses in the target area (Rani et al. 2015). More recently, it has been accepted that when used alone, the EVs may provide a similar or enhanced therapeutic advantage compared to the cells secreting the secretome (Phelps et al. 2018).

The Soluble Fraction: Cytokines and Growth Factors

Regarding the soluble fraction of MSCs' secretome, the most physiologically relevant biomolecules secreted include basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), which are involved in immunomodulation, cell migration, development, and regulating apoptosis; vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) which is a critical regulator of angiogenesis, immunomodulation,



Fig. 1 The possible sources and composition of MSCs' secretome. When exposed to different conditions and in response to pathological processes, MSCs secrete a plethora of factors for the repair and regeneration of the host tissue. The therapeutic benefits are determined by the secretome composition. The secretome is divided into soluble fraction (cytokines and factors) and vesicular fraction (extracellular vesicles)

and cell survival; transforming growth factor ß1 (TGF-ß1) which targets immunomodulation, cell growth, proliferation, and differentiation; tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene (TSG-)6, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), and galectins 1 and 9 that are also associated with immunomodulation and anti-inflammatory functions (Noone et al. 2013; Madrigal et al. 2014; Gieseke et al. 2013); and finally insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and interleukin 6 (IL-6) that are mainly angiogenic and immunomodulatory (Martín-Martín et al. 2019; Phelps et al. 2018). Genetic modification of MSCs with IGF-1 or the concomitant overexpression of pro-survival and pro-angiogenic factors, i.e., Akt and angiopoietin-1, significantly enhanced the paracrine activity of the cells and supported angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart in experimental animal model (Haider et al. 2008; Jiang et al. 2006).

The Vesicular Fraction: Extracellular Vesicles

Extracellular vesicles are important for carrying components from donor cells to recipient cells serving as intercellular mediators of communication (Marote et al. 2016). They are phospholipid membrane-bound particles that contain biological material (DNA, RNA), bioactive lipids, and proteins. However, EVs' composition

depends on the MSCs' source; the donor-related factors such as age, health condition, etc.; genetic and epigenetic memory of the cells; the pathological state of the cells; etc. (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013).

The EV is a general term for various vesicles secreted by MSCs and include exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic bodies (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013). Their characterization is based on the size, origin, and markers. For instance, exosomes (30–200 nm) originate from the internal budding of the membrane of multivesicular bodies (MVBs), a subset of endosomes that contains membrane-bound intraluminal vesicles. Afterward, it is released into the extracellular environment, subsequent to fusion with the plasma membrane. Therefore, their small size simplifies the transfer through blood and to other biological fluids. Exosomes are classified by CD9, CD63, and CD81, proteins Alix, and TSG101-positive expression. In terms of characterization, microvesicles (50–1000 nm) sprout directly from the plasma membrane and are identified by CD40 marker, integrin, and selectin-positive expression. Finally, apoptotic bodies (500–2000 nm) include fragments of dead or dying cells and are characterized by the presence of histones and annexin V-positive staining (Phelps et al. 2018) (Fig. 1).

Thus, considering the paracrine signaling as the primary therapeutic mechanism of MSCs, many promising in vivo studies have reported the use of MSCs' secretome in toto or in the form of fractionated MSC-derived EVs as a promising therapeutic approach. Recent studies have evidenced that exosomes may be primarily responsible for the therapeutic effects of the MSCs' secretome (Shao et al. 2017; Nakamura et al. 2015; Furuta et al. 2016). However, the benefits of EVs have been only been attributed to the cytokines and growth factors but also to the RNAs and miRNAs, which play an essential role in gene expression regulation and the surrounding cell/tissue's microenvironment (Shao et al. 2017).

The Vesicular Fraction: Coding and Non-coding RNAs

In addition to the protein fraction of the secretome, MSCs also secrete proteincoding messenger (mRNA) and non-coding RNAs such as microRNAs (miRNAs), long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), and circular RNAs (circRNAs) via their EVs, which can regulate the various cellular functions and activities, i.e., cell cycle, metabolism, migration, inflammation, and angiogenesis. The mRNA component can be transported and delivered to the recipient cells to cause changes in their protein or gene expression profile (Phelps et al. 2018). The miRNAs are important constituents of the cell secretome and contribute essentially in providing the therapeutic effects of the secretome in terms of repair and regeneration of the injured tissue. They are associated with the expression of proteins related with apoptosis and cell survival, stem cell differentiation, hematopoiesis and vascular development (miR-23), insulin secretion, cell growth (miR-125b), angiogenesis (miR-29), and immune response (Zhang et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2017; Ferguson et al. 2018; Tsukita et al. 2017). On the other hand, the lncRNAs are involved in chromatin organization, gene transcription, mRNA turnover, protein translation, assembly of macromolecular complexes, etc. (Ng et al. 2012; Gezer et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2017). Also, the circRNAs have shown the capacity to take advantage of miRNAs and control their

function as regulators of mRNA stability and/or translation (Kim et al. 2017). Still, in EVs, they could constitute a potential biomarker in the disease processes as well as therapeutic targets as they play a pivotal role in diverse cellular processes and cell fate determination (Kim et al. 2017; Bao et al. 2016).

Mechanisms of Action and Principal Effects

Cell secretome-based therapy has some distinct advantages over the cell-based therapy approach, rendering their use a promising therapeutic strategy. Autocrine or paracrine effects of the MSCs rather than direct engraftment and tissue differentiation play an essential role in tissue repair. Due to the excellent pro-proliferative and anti-apoptotic effects and given their potent trophic properties, MSCs' secretome has emerged as a prospective therapeutic tool for numerous clinical applications. Indeed, MSCs' secretome targets some major biochemical processes, providing anti-inflammatory, pro-angiogenic, immunomodulatory, anti-fibrotic, and anti-apoptotic effects, besides promoting cell proliferation and supporting migration and homing-in and retention of the inherent stem/progenitor cells to the site of injury for participation in the ongoing repair process (Chang et al. 2021; Hu et al. 2020; Xia et al. 2019).

Pre-clinical Approaches of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome

The presence of trophic factors and exosomes offered by MSCs' secretome has expanded its utility as a cell-free therapy. In recent years, a large number of preclinical studies have been reported that show that the administration – either systemic or local – of the secretome from MSCs derived from different tissue sources possess distinct therapeutic benefits when applied for the treatment of different diseases, e.g., inflammatory and degenerative diseases of hepatobiliary, respiratory, skeletal, gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and nervous systems. Treatment with MSC-derived conditioned medium successfully reverted the characteristic damaging phenotypes (Vilaça-Faria et al. 2019) (Fig. 2). Herein, we will briefly dissect the distinctive in vitro and in vivo experimental approaches in animal models wherein MSCs' secretome was applied.

Wound Healing and Cartilage Repair and Regeneration

Under different experimental conditions, MSCs' secretome has shown its proficiency to promote wound closure and healing in diverse types of lesions. A study by Heo et al. demonstrated that upon administration of human adipose tissue-derived MSCs' (hAMSCs') secretome into an experimental rat excisional wound model, there was a significant angiogenic response evidenced by increased vascular density,





wound closure, and proliferation/infiltration of immune cells, mostly in response to IL-6 and IL-8 (Heo et al. 2011; Makridakis et al. 2013).

On the same line of thoughts, another report in an experimental rat model of dry eves revealed that following injury, the secretome was able to enhance epithelial regeneration and reduce mRNA expression of corneal macrophage inflammatory cytokines, such as protein-1 α (MIP-1 α) and TNF- α (Vizoso et al. 2017; Bermudez et al. 2015). Moreover, when exploring healing strategies for massive rotator cuff tears' (MRCTs') lesions in an experimental rat model, our research group has reported that treatment with hMSC-derived secretome successfully reduced the fatty degeneration and atrophy of the muscles. Molecular studies revealed that hMSC-derived treatment increased pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) and follistatin expression (Sevivas et al. 2017). Analogously, SCs also have the capacity to accelerate the formation of bony scars. Using umbilical cord-derived secretome, several studies have shown its capability to promote skin wound healing with the formation of fewer scars, through the stimulation of macrophage and endothelial migration homing-in and retention at the site of the injury, myofibroblast differentiation, and expression of extracellular matrix (ECM) genes (Li et al. 2017; Jackson et al. 2012; Baez-Jurado et al. 2019).

Similarly, published data suggest using MSCs' secretome for osteoarthritis (OA), wherein chondrocytes exhibit a damaging role in the cartilage degeneration that contributes to the progression of the disease. Using in vitro experimental models, researchers have found that treatment with MSC-derived CM or its derived extracellular vesicles (exosomes) decreased the inflammatory phenotype of OA chondrocytes by downregulating the expression of inflammatory cytokines (TNF-a, IL-1, IL-6, nitric oxide (NO)) and enhancing the production of immunosuppressive IL-10. These cellular and molecular changes contributed toward the anti-inflammatory and chondroprotective effects of the CM treatment (Tofiño-Vian et al. 2018; Chen et al. 2018). These positive consequences of the secretome in OA were similarly confirmed in vivo. Using experimental animal models of OA, MSC-sourced secretome administration enhanced the formation of new tissue and increases type II collagen synthesis (Zhang et al. 2016a). Similarly, treatment with MSC-derived extracellular vesicles stimulated endogenous cartilage repair and regeneration, primarily associated with specific exosomal miRNAs to re-establish to basal level (homeostasis) of metabolism in the proliferating chondrocytes (Liu et al. 2018a, b; Sun et al. 2019; Toh et al. 2017; Harrell et al. 2019).

Additionally, it has also been observed that cell-derived secretome showed the ability to:

- 1. Reduce hypertrophy and de-differentiation of chondrocytes in culture via the secretion of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), which may be noteworthy for other osteoarticular disorders since it could offer chondroprotection (Maumus et al. 2013)
- 2. Induce bone regeneration (as observed in rabbit's mandibles) after surgical lesions (Linero and Chaparro 2014)

Cardiovascular Diseases

Although there has been an evolution in treatment options, cardiovascular diseases continue to be major causes of morbidity and mortality globally (Squillaro et al. 2016). Hence, in recent years, MSC-sourced secretome has been used for cardiac regeneration as the fast-emerging cell-free therapy approach (Lei and Haider 2017). Experimental animal studies have shown that secretome treatment per se improved left ventricular function, heightened myocyte nuclear density and neovascularization, and reduced apoptosis/fibrosis in the ischemic heart (Baez-Jurado et al. 2019; Shabbir et al. 2009; Dai et al. 2007). Nonetheless, the cardioprotective effects of secretome-based treatment have been attributed to the MSC-derived EVs that affect the cellular targets, i.e., cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells (ECs), and cardiac stem cells (CSCs) (Suzuki et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2016b; Silva et al. 2017). Actually, and by using experimental animal models of cardiovascular dysfunction, several studies showed that MSC-derived exosomes could notably reduce the infarct size and enhance global cardiac function (Harrell et al. 2019; Suzuki et al. 2016; Silva et al. 2017; Lai et al. 2010). Arslan et al. in one of such cases demonstrated that exosome-treated animals showed suggestive conservation of the left ventricular geometry and the contractile performance through the re-establishment of myocardial bioenergetics, a reduction in oxidative stress, and activation of the PI3K/Akt pro-survival signaling pathway (Harrell et al. 2019; Arslan et al. 2013).

Explicitly considering the cardiomyocytes, various studies have shown that the administration of MSC-derived exosomes increased the survival and proliferation of cardiomyocytes by inhibiting apoptotic signaling pathways and stimulation of autophagy (Harrell et al. 2019; Ju et al. 2018). For example, Liu et al. reported that MSC-derived exosomes promoted the autophagy process by upregulating the AMPK/mTOR and Akt/mTOR signaling pathways (Harrell et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2017). Similarly, Cui et al. showed that the protection of cardiomyocytes against apoptosis was due to an increased expression of anti-apoptotic protein, Bcl-2, and concomitant downregulation of pro-apoptotic Bax protein expression. In addition, they also observed suppression of caspase-3 activity in response to exosome treatment (Harrell et al. 2019; Cui et al. 2017). Also, treatment with exosomes successfully supported microvascular regeneration (Harrell et al. 2019; Gong et al. 2019; Ma et al. 2018). Supporting these findings, the delivery of specific microRNAs presented the capacity to modulate CSCs, by either stimulating their proliferation and migration or increasing their capacity of self-renewal (Harrell et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016b).

Furthermore, the cardiac benefits of MSC-derived exosomes were associated with the inhibition of the inflammatory reaction. Indeed, extracellular vesicles contributed to the regulation of immune cell function, controlling macrophages' polarization, and diminishing the influx of inflammatory cells into treated hearts (Harrell et al. 2019; Silva et al. 2017; Sun et al. 2018). This is accomplished by delivering exosomal payload of miRNAs to the heart, the composition of which may be altered by exogenous manipulation of the cells of their origin (Haider and Aramini 2020).

Kidney and Lung Injuries

Some of the other models in which MSCs' secretome has displayed ameliorative benefits include chronic kidney disease (CKD) and acute kidney injury (AKI). Regarding CKD, the administration of MSC-derived secretome promoted marked (reno)protective effects, which were revealed by a decrease in glomerular damage and hypertension besides improved glomerular endothelial regeneration and genome integrity preservation via active DNA repair (Van Koppen et al. 2012). Likewise, the same research group observed in vitro that treatment with secretome improved endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis, followed by a reduction in tubular inflammation and fibrosis, which indicated an anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effect. These data were consistent with the previously published studies in other experimental disease models (Van Koppen et al. 2012). For example, Togel et al. attributed the renoprotective effects of the secretome to various growth factors, including VEGF, HGF, and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) (Tögel et al. 2009). Nevertheless, reports in AKI experimental models have encouraged the use of MSC-derived microvesicles for kidney protection (Gatti et al. 2011; Zhou et al. 2013b; Bruno et al. 2012). In fact, Gatti et al. showed that one-time administration of microvesicles suppressed apoptosis and boosted tubular epithelial cell proliferation, which considerably attenuated renal function impairment (Gatti et al. 2011). Some other research groups have confirmed that the pro-survival effects of secretome were mostly ascribed not only to anti-apoptotic effects but also to an amelioration of oxidative stress (Zhou et al. 2013b, Bruno et al. 2012).

Parallel to this, lungs' MSC-derived exosomes have been reported in experimental animal models of acute lung injury (ALI), acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), asthma, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (Squillaro et al. 2016; Harrell et al. 2019). Considering ALI and ARDS, there is an obvious lack of therapeutic options to prevent/treat injury and/or promote lung repair. For example, in vivo data have shown that secretome administration successfully attenuated lung inflammation and activation of macrophage to an M2 "healer" phenotype, partially influenced by the presence of IGF-I (Ionescu et al. 2012). In another report, researchers found out that ALI treatment with MSC-derived vesicles mostly targeted the immunomodulatory properties of angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) that successfully led to a reduction in inflammation and vascular stabilization (Tang et al. 2017). In experimental ALI models, treatment with microvesicles significantly reduced pulmonary edema and decreased the influx of both inflammatory cells, proteins, and bacteria, in a keratinocyte growth factor (KGF)-dependent manner (Zhu et al. 2014; Monsel et al. 2015), thereby opening new therapeutic opportunities for this kind of disorders.

Central Nervous System Pathologies

Cerebral homeostasis is preserved through complex and cohesive interactions between distinctive cell types, comprising neurons and glial cells. In the central nervous system (CNS) pathologies, the physiology of these cells gets highly changed, leading to

et al. 2013; Pinho et al. 2020; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020).

impairments in their function and altering the protection and balance in the nervous tissues. Usually, brain disorders display typical biological hallmarks such as an intensification of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species production, protein aggregation and denaturation, secretion of apoptotic factors, metabolic alterations, mitochondrial dysfunction, and, as an outcome, huge percentages of neuronal and glial cell death populations. Since CNS lacks the capability of self-repair, or at least limited self-repair, it is challenging to design treatments that could prevent the progression of injury and concomitantly halt the cognitive and motor/non-motor functional decline during pathologies, such as traumatic brain injury (TBI), ischemic stroke, spinal cord injury, and neurodegenerative diseases (Teixeira et al. 2013; Baez-Jurado et al. 2019; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). In this regard, MSCs' secretome has shown its potential as a therapeutic tool to brain tissue recovery and repair, owing to its capability to trigger and/or modulate endogenous neuro-restorative processes, such as neurogenesis, angiogenesis, and inflammation (Teixeira et al. 2013; Makridakis

Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI)

TBI is a global health challenge that arises through external mechanical forces triggering injury and disrupting normal brain function (Pinho et al. 2020). Two main physiopathological phases are generally involved in this disorder, englobing firstly the mechanical impairments (disruption of the blood-brain barrier and disseminating axonal damage) and, secondly, chronic inflammation due to the excessive production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, mitochondrial breakdown followed by oxidative stress, and excitotoxicity (exaggerated glutamate levels) (Baez-Jurado et al. 2019; Muhammad 2019; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). As a consequence of these molecular events, patients develop physical, cognitive, and emotional deficits. Therefore, the use of MSCs' secretome is being considered as a promising therapeutic opportunity to treat TBI, demonstrating potential modulatory effects in the lesioned microenvironment. Indeed, during the acute phase of the injury, treatment of TBI with secretome containing neurotrophic factors (NGF, BDNF, NT-3) supported rats' neurological repair and reduced apoptosis (Kim et al. 2010). Moreover, the same authors have shown that TBI-treated rats showed improvement in motor function and cognitive performance, essentially due to an increase in VEGF and HGF expression, which was correlated with neurogenesis in the damaged tissue areas (Chang et al. 2013; Chuang et al. 2012). In an experimental acute TBI model, MSC-secreted soluble factors were significantly modified the expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and modulated the serum levels of chemokines due to their immunomodulatory properties (Galindo et al. 2011). Similarly, Pischiutta et al. concluded that upon amniotic mesenchymal stromal cell-secreted metabolite administration, brain slices of TBI mice developed protective effects, including the promotion of M2 microglia polarization and neuronal rescue (Pischiutta et al. 2016). Additionally, in a study using a new in vitro experimental model of traumatic brain-like injury, researchers have found that hMSC-derived secretome could preserve cell morphology and their polarity index to increase wound closure, migration, and proliferation and control the oxidative stress by decreasing superoxide production (Torrente et al. 2014). Comparably, using adipose-derived stem cells' (ASCs') secretome, Tajiri et al. suggested that the secretome could support/boost endogenous repair mechanisms by improving motor/cognitive behavior but also by avoiding cortical and hippocampal damage. More importantly, they found that the major players involved in this efficacy were the lncRNAs (Tajiri et al. 2014). More recently, in an SH-SY5Y model of TBI, apart from diminishing neuronal cell death, the therapeutic application of ASC-derived secretome significantly increased mitochondrial function and reduced inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β (Kappy et al. 2018). Consistent with the published data, RNA sequencing (RNAseq) revealed that hMSCs' secretome administration normalized the expression of 49% of the genes disrupted by TBI, especially in specific pathways that were involved in immune cell signaling and infiltration, energy metabolism, receptor-mediated cell signaling, and neuronal plasticity and remodeling (Darkazalli et al. 2017). In an attempt to understand the underlying molecular mechanism, different groups showed that proteins such as Wnt3a and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP3) had a role in the promotion of cerebral endothelial adherent junction integrity, neuroprotection, and neurocognitive function (Zhao et al. 2016; Gibb et al. 2015). Having all this in mind and following in the same direction, the use of the extracellular vesicles secreted by MSCs has gained particular interest in TBI. Indeed, treatment with MSC-derived EVs is described as a potential promoter of neurological recovery through either of the following mechanisms:

- (i) Modulation of inflammation-related pathways, in which they shifted microglia polarization and prevented reactive astrogliosis
- (ii) Inhibition of pro-apoptotic proteins and oppositely an increase in the expression of the anti-apoptotic ones
- (iii) Restoration of myelination deficits and white matter microstructure
- (iv) A significant increase in the neurogenesis of endothelial cells, neuroblasts, and mature neurons in the lesion site
- (v) Rescue of the sensorimotor function (specially learning and motor performance), opening new routes for future clinical translation (Williams et al. 2019; Cantinieaux et al. 2013; Thomi et al. 2019)

Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) and Ischemic Stroke (IS)

Numerous studies have indicated that in addition to (neuro)protection, MSCs' secretome may also support neural regeneration (Teixeira et al. 2013; Pinho et al. 2020; Cantinieaux et al. 2013; Martins et al. 2017; Cizkova et al. 2018; Park et al. 2010; Tsai et al. 2018; Haider et al. 2015; Guo et al. 2016). In SCI, the lesion causes the loss of neurons and glial cells, leading to high-level inflammation, demyelination, and pain (Teixeira et al. 2013; Pinho et al. 2020). MSC-derived secretome has already shown a neuroprotective role against apoptosis-activated macrophages

(pro-inflammatory M1 microglia toward inflammation-resolving M2 cells) and pro-angiogenic activity in vitro (Cantinieaux et al. 2013). Additionally, it has also been demonstrated that MSCs' secretome impacts axonal function, promoting their outgrowth through the action of trophic factors such as BDNF, HGF, and VEGF (Martins et al. 2017; Cizkova et al. 2018) and leading to the decrease of oxygenglucose deprivation-induced cell damage (Park et al. 2010) and intensification of neuronal connections (Tsai et al. 2018). Cantinieaux's group reported that treatment with BM-MSCs led to an evident locomotor recovery in an experimental animal model. These results were supported by the pro-angiogenic tissue-protective effects of a cytokine cocktail (VEGF-A, VEGF-C, osteopontin, EG-VEGF/PK1, TAL1A, MMP-13, and FGF-BP, among others) present in the secretome (Cantinieaux et al. 2013). Corroborating with these results, studies have shown that injecting secretome into lesioned animals promotes neuroprotection, attenuation of cavity formation, and preservation of the spinal tracts. These observations correlated well with the recruitment of CD68+ cells with a concomitant reduction in oxidative stress and creation of an anti-inflammatory environment at either the lesion or parenchyma site (Haider et al. 2015; Guo et al. 2016). More recently, different groups have observed an overall motor recovery in SCI rats after treatment together with an increase in tissue sparing and axon density at the lesion site, which were remarkably correlated with the presence of GAP-43-positive axons, upregulation of Olig-2 and HSP70 protein levels, activation of autophagy, and lower levels of inflammatory cytokines (IL-2, IL-6, and TNF- α), respectively (Cizkova et al. 2018; Tsai et al. 2018).

The mere administration of the vesicular fraction, including MSC-derived exosomes, contribute to the direct neuroprotective/neuroregenerative effects in experimental SCI models. Different research groups have reported that treatment with exosomal fraction in vivo successfully modulated the microenvironment of spinal cord lesions by delivering anti-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic factors (Lankford et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2019). It has been evidenced that MSC-derived exosomes suppressed inflammation via the direct generation of immunosuppressive M2 macrophages (Lankford et al. 2018) and decreased TNF- α , Interleukin (IL)-1 α , and IL-1 β , inhibited nuclear translocation of NF- κ B, and increased IL-10 secretion, thereby leading to neurotoxic A1 astrocyte suppression (Liu et al. 2019; Huang et al. 2017). Also, the attenuation of neuronal cell apoptosis was observed due to abrogation of pro-apoptotic proteins (Bcl-2-associated X protein, Bax, activated caspase-3, and caspase-9) and an upregulation in the levels of anti-apoptotic ones (i.e., Bcl2; B-cell lymphoma 2), which correlated well with axonal regeneration, glial scar suppression, mitigation of the lesion size, and a better functional behavioral recovery (Huang et al. 2017; Lankford et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2019). In a similar approach, Dong et al. and Zhou et al. attributed the modulatory effects to the miRNA content of exosomes claiming that both MSC-derived EVs miR-21-5p and miR-133b are able to activate distinct signaling mechanisms, thus influencing positively the treatment of SCI (Zhou et al. 2019; Li et al. 2018). Curiously, in a comparative study of secretome versus vesicles, Lu et al. have reported that the administration of BMSC-derived EVs could sustain the integrity of the blood-spinal cord barrier (BSCB) by increasing the total number of pericytes in the barrier throughout the suppression of their migration (via the downregulation of NF- κ B p65 signaling) (Lu et al. 2019).

Similarly, the effects of treatment with MSC-derived secretome have also been observed in ischemic stroke (IS) conditions. IS is caused by a reduction in blood supply that leads to a multicell signaling phenomenon englobing the death of endothelial and neuronal cells, inflammation (with prominence for microglia activation), and white matter pathophysiology (Pinho et al. 2020; Vizoso et al. 2017; Xing et al. 2012). When applied in IS models, Huang et al. reported the secretome competence to block astrocytic cell death, raising their metabolism through the action of IGF-1 and BDNF (Huang et al. 2015). Moreover, they correlated these outcomes to the inhibition of p38 MAPK and JNK signaling pathways (Huang et al. 2015). Similar to other pathologies addressed already, the therapeutic potential of MSC-derived exosomes has been shown in the context of IS as well. Besides functional recovery, exosome treatment post-injury provided an appropriate external milieu for successful brain remodeling since it enhanced axonal density and synaptophysin-positive staining, thereby providing long-term neuroprotection due to higher angioneurogenesis levels and immunosuppression (Xin et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2016a; Doeppner et al. 2015). In line with this, Xi and colleagues have shown that upon MSC-derived exosome treatment, the presence of neuroblasts and endothelial cells in ischemic regions was significantly increased, demonstrating MSC-derived exosomes as key players contributing toward neuronal differentiation (Xin et al. 2013). Additionally, a novel role of EVs has been reported in the myelination processes in IS. The authors have reported that after IS, EVs could restore white matter integrity by interfering in the axonal sprouting and growth, oligodendrocyte formation, tract connectivity, and remyelination (Otero-Ortega et al. 2017).

Neurodegenerative Disorders

Multiple sclerosis (MS), Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), and Huntington's disease (HD) are the most common and well-known brain neurodegenerative pathologies with a higher incidence in the world's population (Baez-Jurado et al. 2019; De Pedro-Cuesta et al. 2015; Cannon and Greenamyre 2011). Although different pharmacological treatments and surgical procedures improve the quality of life for these patients, long-term clinical recovery is not achieved. Hence, the progressive degeneration continues, leading to the consequent loss of neurons (Baez-Jurado et al. 2019). In search of alternative treatments for these brain disorders, stem cell-free strategy using stem cells' secretome is also being considered (Drago et al. 2013). Various studies (both in vitro and in vivo) have described MSC-derived secretome as a stimulator of neurotrophic factor release (i.e., BDNF, a factor commonly affected in the majority of neurodegenerative disorders) and neuronal survival pathways (Vizoso et al. 2017) that allow the prevention of cell death (Drago et al. 2013; Fu et al. 2006) and promote neuronal cell survival, differentiation, and proliferation of pre-existing cells (Mita et al. 2015; Kim et al. 2015; Moraes et al. 2012; Teixeira et al. 2015; Teixeira et al. 2017). The authors have also observed induction of endogenous neurogenesis and synaptic activity in the main affected areas (e.g., the hippocampus in AD or the substantia nigra in PD) (Kim et al. 2015; Teixeira et al. 2017; Cova et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2010). Secretome treatment also reduced the accumulation of protein aggregates such as alpha-synuclein in PD (Oh et al. 2017), misfolded tau protein (AT tau) and β -amyloid plaques in AD (Zilka et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2012), and mutant Huntingtin (mHtt) in HD (Lee et al. 2016b), which per se are focal hallmarks of these diseases. Lastly, cell-free therapy partially rescues the representative phenotype of the disability (Baez-Jurado et al. 2019; Pinho et al. 2020; Drago et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2010; Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2018; Sadan et al. 2009; Teixeira et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2014; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020).

MSCs' secretome can incur behavioral improvements predominantly at the level of the motor and cognitive functions (Mita et al. 2015; Kim et al. 2014, 2015; Teixeira et al. 2015, 2017; Zilka et al. 2011; Vilaça-Faria et al. 2019; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2019). At organelle and molecular levels, there is significant modulation of oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, apoptosis, inflammation, and the activation of ubiquitin-proteasome system (Mita et al. 2015; Kim et al. 2014, 2015; Lee et al. 2016b; Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2018; Jarmalavičiūtė et al. 2015). Of particular interest were the results reported by Mendes-Pinheiro et al. using an experimental PD rat model. The authors reported that the administration of MSC-derived secretome led to a more efficient response when compared to the MSCs' transplantation in terms of preserving the dopaminergic system (Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2018). In another exciting study, Katsuda et al. explored the use of MSC-derived exosomes in the context of AD. The authors have observed that after MSC-derived exosome delivery to an experimental animal AD model, there was a remarkable decrease in the levels of brain-soluble A β plates, a fact that was attributed to the presence of neprilysin in exosomes (Katsuda et al. 2013). Concerning HD, intrastriatally transplanted bone marrow-derived MSCs integrated well in the host brain. They showed trophic effects through an increase in laminin, von Willebrand factor (VWF), stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) α , and the SDF-1 receptor CXCR4, which in turn enhanced angiogenesis in the damaged striatum (Lin et al. 2011). Finally, in experimentally induced demyelinating models such as MS, secretome application was found to elicit an effect in the oligodendrogenic niche of the subventricular zone that led to oligodendrogenesis and functional remyelination (Cruz-Martinez et al. 2016).

Clinical Approaches Based on Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome

As earlier discussed, pre-clinical experimental studies using MSC-derived secretome have given encouraging data, which has led to its applications in clinical settings. Nevertheless, the number of clinical trials around this topic is still scarce (Fig. 3). According to the US National Institutes of Health official database, only 45 secretome-based clinical trials have been reported as of February 21, 2021.



SECRETOME-BASED CLINICAL TRIALS (N=45)

Fig. 3 Representation of the percentages of MSCs' secretome-based clinical trials. Data acquired from www.clinicaltrial.gov

Most of these trials were primarily aimed to assess the biomedical potential of either secretome or their derivatives (e.g., exosomes), addressing their safety, feasibility, and efficiency in improving the clinical outcomes of the participating patients. Secretome translation from the bench to the bedside has been mainly covering the treatment of conditions like graft-versus-host disease (GvHD), hair loss, COVID-19 pneumonia, diabetes, cancer, infertility, as well as lung, cardiovascular, bone and cartilage, skin, neurological, and autoimmune diseases (Fig. 3) (NCT04213248, NCT02192736) (Zhou et al. 2013a; Fukuoka and Suga 2015; Shin et al. 2015; Katagiri et al. 2016; Kordelas et al. 2014; Dahbour et al. 2017).

Notably, the employment of secretome in COVID-19-associated pneumonia therapy has boomed in the preceding year, with seven clinical trials reported on http://www.clinicaltrials.gov (last access: 21/02/21). Herein, the conjoint idea relies on investigating the effects of intravenous injection/inhalation of secretome components (especially exosomes) for the treatment of patients with moderate/severe SARS-CoV-2 infection (NCT04753476; NCT04276987; NCT04602442; NCT04491240; NCT04398303; NCT04747574) and also to explore their tolerance in healthy volunteers (NCT04313647) (Abraham and Krasnodembskaya 2020; Bari et al. 2020).

The administration of secretome in the form of conditioned medium in clinical context has been illustrated in patients suffering from severe alveolar bone atrophy, alopecia (or hair loss), MS, and skin injury. In the completed clinical studies, the use of ADSC-derived secretome in alopecia and female pattern hair loss (FPHL) could restore hair density, revealing itself as a novel therapy for hair regeneration (Fukuoka and Suga 2015; Shin et al. 2015). In the case of alveolar bone regeneration, upon MSC-derived secretome administration, patients needing bone augmentation revealed mineralization, early bone formation, and reduced inflammatory signs.

In this first-in-human clinical study, researchers demonstrated the safety of secretome as a potential modulator of osteogenic regenerative medicine (Katagiri et al. 2016). Similarly, in an open-label prospective phase I/II clinical study, MSC-derived secretome was used for the first time to treat MS patients. The authors reported an improvement in all the measuring tests and observed a correlation between the decrease of the lesion and increased IL-6, IL-8, and VEGF contents in the secretome and concluded that the intervention was clinically safe and feasible (Dahbour et al. 2017).

Currently, the focus has shifted more to the clinical applications of MSC-derived exosomes. Several ongoing clinical trials have already reported the benefits of exosome-based therapy (http://www.clinicaltrials.gov). For instance, a preliminary study showed that the application of a specific regimen of MSCs' derivatives in a GvHD patient (with skin and intestinal tract complications) yielded a significant and sustainable improvement of symptoms by reducing the release of inflammatory cytokines and attenuating the ongoing inflammation in the gut and skin (Kordelas et al. 2014). Additionally, they noticed that the treatment was well-tolerated and remained stable for 5 months, denoting a long-lasting therapeutic influence of the exosomes (Kordelas et al. 2014). Furthermore, based on the available initial reports, it is predictable that further trials would be initiated soon. In light of the already completed human clinical studies exploiting secretome's activity, it seems that they have established some degree of safety and viability. In fact, no data has been presented relevant to any adverse effects, demonstrating that the delivery (local or systemic) of MSCs secretome as whole and/or MSCs-derived exosomes in patients with distinct illnesses might be a secure and viable therapeutic approach in the future.

The Benefits and Barriers of MSCs' Secretome

In this chapter, we have shown that secretome-derived products are appropriate to significantly improve numerous pathophysiological mechanisms in experimental animal models of diseases as well as clinical trials approved by national agencies. Exploiting MSC-derived secretome and its insoluble derivatives (i.e., vesicles, exosomes) in experimental and clinical settings offers several benefits to the domain of stem cell-based approaches and regenerative medicine. Firstly, when using secretome, it is possible to solve some concerns related to the transplantation of living and proliferative cell populations, such as overcoming the low cell survival that follows the procedure, reducing the large number of cells needed, providing less immunogenicity and tumorigenicity, and decreasing the possibilities to alter its phenotypic and therapeutic potential as observed with MSCs' expansion in vitro (Vizoso et al. 2017; Teixeira and Salgado 2020). Moreover, MSC-derived secretome also possesses advantages in terms of manufacturing, storage, management, and product shelf-life (Teixeira et al. 2016). Secondly, time and cost of expansion/ maintenance of cultured stem cells in dynamic culture conditions (e.g., bioreactors) can be greatly reduced. Thirdly, due to the nonliving profile of the secretome,

this can be easily stored without the use of potential toxic cryoprotectant agents, packaged, and safely transported without losing its effectiveness, which represents a critical statement for the economic viability. Fourthly, the evaluation of secretome safety, dosage, and potency may be much simpler and analogous to the regular pharmaceutical compounds than the cells; and finally, being deemed as a ready-to-go product implies that it is immediately available for treatment (Baez-Jurado et al. 2019; Vizoso et al. 2017; Teixeira and Salgado 2020; D'angelo et al. 2020; Praveen Kumar et al. 2019).

Nevertheless, although promising, the translation of MSC-derived secretome to clinical practice remains a challenge. Unfortunately, defining the complete biochemical composition of the secretome is difficult as it is altered by many factors and involves multiple mechanisms, which are responsible for its beneficial properties (Pinho et al. 2020; Vizoso et al. 2017; Teixeira and Salgado 2020; D'angelo et al. 2020; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). Actually, a relevant issue that remains elusive is the identification and characterization of the secretome-derived extracellular vesicles and their contents (Abraham and Krasnodembskaya 2020; Drago et al. 2013; Basu and Ludlow 2016). Moreover, when using secretome, it is often hard to measure the activity and half-life of its components, as well as to access their pharmacokinetics, bio-distribution, tissue transport, and protein stability (Pinho et al. 2020; Teixeira and Salgado 2020).

Improvements Needed for Secretome Application as a Cell Transplantation-Free Tool

As soon as we understand and interpret the diverging data of using multiple conditions and platforms, we will be of guarantee a homogenous, scalable, and applicable secretome product (Teixeira and Salgado 2020). Undeniably, to attain a true impact, concomitant progress in multiple fields has to be achieved (Makridakis et al. 2013). Therefore, as a way to understand and boost secretome applications, a complete characterization of MSC-derived secretome becomes vital not only to identify the full scope of biochemical factors (with a special focus on active molecules that may be oncogenic) but also to clarify if the molecules released can target the cell and tissue dynamics. Likewise, it is also essential to elucidate the molecular mechanisms and pathways underlying the secretome-mediated effects (Marques et al. 2018; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). For instance, thorough proteomic analysis, next-generation metabolomics-driven approaches, and system biology techniques (Drago et al. 2013) may contribute immensely to understanding the secretome profile of cells cultured under diverse conditions. At the same time, regulatory requirements for manufacturing and quality control must still be implemented (Pinho et al. 2020; Vizoso et al. 2017). Standardized protocols for secretome production, storage, and transport should be employed to limit heterogeneity and enrich the predictability of secretome-derived products. Linked to this, it will also be crucial to define an optimal timing for secretome collection (Teixeira and Salgado 2020), as well as a bio-manufacturing protocol for collection (Abraham and Krasnodembskaya 2020; Vizoso et al. 2017). Another important step forward should be the modulation of secretome and/or EV composition to create an optimal biocomponent and to personalize it according to each patient's condition. Finally, it is essential to highlight that before its application in clinical practice, additional studies should be performed paying attention to the treatment regimen, including the route and frequency of administration, the volume of injection, and dose application timeline (Praveen Kumar et al. 2019; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). Additionally, group-to-group data sharing and comparisons must be performed as a way to bring the field closer to clinical applications and, at the same time, help to understand secretome interactions with diverse pathologies in a global perspective (Abraham and Krasnodembskaya 2020) (Makridakis et al. 2013; Pinho et al. 2020; Teixeira and Salgado 2020; Mendes-Pinheiro et al. 2020). Doing so, this can lead to the rational design of multiple secretome strategies to tackle dissimilar pathophysiological deficits in a multifaceted way.

Conclusion

Recently, MSCs' secretome has emerged as a hopeful therapeutic tool to the regenerative medicine field. Apart from differences in their sources and composition, the secretome has been demonstrating therapeutic advantages compared to the classical cell-based approaches. Nevertheless, standardized parameters in the secretome production and its complete characterization are still missing, which somehow has delayed its consideration by the regulatory agencies and, consequently, its translation to the clinics.

Nevertheless, the secretome is already implied in clinical trials, demonstrating promising effects on various tissues and a plethora of targeted diseases. Therefore, the challenge for the years to come will be to understand the precise impact of the secretome in a targeted cell/area and make it the most suitable therapy for an issue by modulating it according to the biological/therapeutic necessity.

Cross-References

- Adipose Tissue-Derived Regenerative Cell-Based Therapies: Current Optimization Strategies for Effective Treatment in Aesthetic Surgery
- Advances, Opportunities, and Challenges in Stem Cell-Based Therapy
- Current State of Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Diseases
- Direct Reprogramming Strategies for the Treatment of Nervous System Injuries and Neurodegenerative Disorders
- Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells
- Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Extracellular Vesicle Therapy in Patients with Stroke
- Mesenchymal Stem Cells

- Sources and Therapeutic Strategies of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine
- ▶ Stem Cell Applications in Cardiac Tissue Regeneration
- ▶ Therapeutic Uses of Stem Cells for Heart Failure: Hype or Hope

Acknowledgments The authors want to acknowledge the financial support from Prémios Santa Casa Neurociências Prize Mantero Belard for Neurodegenerative Diseases Research (MB-28-2019). This work was supported by the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER), through the Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalization (POCI), and by national funds, through the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), under the scope of projects UIDB/50026/2020, UIDP/50026/2020, and POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029751. This chapter has also been developed under the scope of the project NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000023, supported by the Northern Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the Portugal 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER). This chapter has been funded by ICVS Scientific Microscopy Platform, member of the national infrastructure PPBI (Portuguese Platform of Bioimaging) (PPBI-POCI-01-0145-FEDER-022122).

References

- Abraham A, Krasnodembskaya A (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles for the treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Stem Cells Transl Med 9:28–38
- Andrzejewska A, Lukomska B, Janowski M (2019) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: from roots to boost. Stem Cells 37:855–864
- Arslan F, Lai RC, Smeets MB, Akeroyd L, Choo A, Aguor EN, Timmers L et al (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes increase ATP levels, decrease oxidative stress and activate PI3K/Akt pathway to enhance myocardial viability and prevent adverse remodeling after myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem Cell Res 10:301–312
- Baez-Jurado E, Hidalgo-Lanussa O, Barrera-Bailón B, Sahebkar A, Ashraf GM, Echeverria V, Barreto GE (2019) Secretome of mesenchymal stem cells and its potential protective effects on brain pathologies. Mol Neurobiol 56:6902–6927
- Bai L, Li D, Li J, Luo Z, Yu S, Cao S, Shen L et al (2016) Bioactive molecules derived from umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Histochem 118:761–769
- Bao C, Lyu D, Huang S (2016) Circular RNA expands its territory. Mol Cell Oncol 3:e1084443
- Bari E, Ferrarotti I, Saracino L, Perteghella S, Torre ML, Corsico AG (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cell secretome for severe COVID-19 infections: premises for the therapeutic use. Cell 9(4):924
- Basu J, Ludlow JW (2016) Exosomes for repair, regeneration and rejuvenation. Expert Opin Biol Ther 16:489–506
- Beer L, Mildner M, Ankersmit HJ (2017) Cell secretome based drug substances in regenerative medicine: when regulatory affairs meet basic science. Ann Transl Med 5:170
- Bermudez MA, Sendon-Lago J, Eiro N, Treviño M, Gonzalez F, Yebra-Pimentel E, Giraldez MJ (2015) Corneal epithelial wound healing and bactericidal effect of conditioned medium from human uterine cervical stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 56:983–992
- Bruno S, Grange C, Collino F, Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V, Biancone L, Tetta C et al (2012) Microvesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells enhance survival in a lethal model of acute kidney injury. PLoS One 7:e33115
- Bundgaard L, Stensballe A, Elbæk KJ, Berg LC (2020) Mass spectrometric analysis of the in vitro secretome from equine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells to assess the effect of chondrogenic differentiation on response to interleukin-1β treatment. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:187
- Cannon JR, Greenamyre JT (2011) The role of environmental exposures in neurodegeneration and neurodegenerative diseases. Toxicol Sci 124:225–250

- Cantinieaux D, Quertainmont R, Blacher S, Rossi L, Wanet T, Noël A, Brook G et al (2013) Conditioned medium from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells improves recovery after spinal cord injury in rats: an original strategy to avoid cell transplantation. PLoS One 8:e69515 Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9:641–650
- Chamberlain G, Fox J, Ashton B, Middleton J (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells 25:2739–2749
- Chang C, Yan J, Yao Z, Zhang C, Li X, Mao HQ (2021) Effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived paracrine signals and their delivery strategies. Adv Healthc Mater 10:e2001689
- Chang CP, Chio CC, Cheong CU, Chao CM, Cheng BC, Lin MT (2013) Hypoxic preconditioning enhances the therapeutic potential of the secretome from cultured human mesenchymal stem cells in experimental traumatic brain injury. Clin Sci (Lond) 124:165–176
- Chen SL, Fang WW, Qian J, Ye F, Liu YH, Sj S, Zhang JJ et al (2004) Improvement of cardiac function after transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Chin Med J 117:1443–1448
- Chen YC, Chanh YW, Tan KP, Shen YS, Wang YH, Chang CH (2018) Can mesenchymal stem cells and their conditioned medium assist inflammatory chondrocytes recovery? PLoS One 13: e0205563
- Chuang TJ, Lin KC, Chio CC, Wang CC, Chang CP, Kuo JR (2012) Effects of secretome obtained from normoxia-preconditioned human mesenchymal stem cells in traumatic brain injury rats. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 73:1161–1167
- Cizkova D, Cubinkova V, Smolek T, Murgoci AN, Danko J, Vdoviakova K, Humenik F et al (2018) Localized intrathecal delivery of mesenchymal stromal cells conditioned medium improves functional recovery in a rat model of spinal cord injury. Int J Mol Sci 19:870
- Cova L, Armentero MT, Zennaro E, Calzarossa C, Bossolasco P, Busca G, Lambertenghi G et al (2010) Multiple neurogenic and neurorescue effects of human mesenchymal stem cell after transplantation in an experimental model of Parkinson's disease. Brain Res 1311:12–27
- Cruz-Martinez P, González-Granero S, Molina-Navarro MM, Pacheco-Torres J, García-Verdugo JM, Geijo-Barrientos E, Jones J et al (2016) Intraventricular injections of mesenchymal stem cells activate endogenous functional remyelination in a chronic demyelinating murine model. Cell Death Dis 7:e2223
- Cui X, He Z, Liang Z, Chen Z, Wang H, Zhang J (2017) Exosomes from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect the myocardium against ischemia/reperfusion injury through Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 70:225–231
- D'angelo M, Cimini A, Castelli V (2020) Insights into the effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived secretome in Parkinson's disease. Int J Mol Sci 21(15):5241
- Dahbour S, Jamali F, Alhattab D, Al-Radaideh A, Ababneh O, Al-Ryalat N, Al-Bdour M et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells and conditioned media in the treatment of multiple sclerosis patients: clinical, ophthalmological and radiological assessments of safety and efficacy. CNS Neurosci Ther 23:866–874
- Dai W, Hale SL, Kloner RA (2007) Role of a paracrine action of mesenchymal stem cells in the improvement of left ventricular function after coronary artery occlusion in rats. Regen Med 2:63–68
- Darkazalli A, Vied C, Badger CD, Levenson CW (2017) Human mesenchymal stem cell treatment normalizes cortical gene expression after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 34:204–212
- De Pedro-Cuesta J, Rábano A, Martínez-Martín P, Ruiz-Tovar M, Alcalde-Cabero E, Almazán-Isla J, Avellanal F (2015) Comparative incidence of conformational, neurodegenerative disorders. PLoS One 10:e0137342
- Doeppner TR, Herz J, Görgens A, Schlechter J, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, De Miroschedji K et al (2015) Extracellular vesicles improve post-stroke neuroregeneration and prevent postischemic immunosuppression. Stem Cells Transl Med 4:1131–1143
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317

- Drago D, Cossetti C, Iraci N, Gaude MG, Bachi A, Pluchino S (2013) The stem cell secretome and its role in brain repair. Biochimie 95:2271–2285
- Eleuteri S, Fierabracci A (2019) Insights into the secretome of mesenchymal stem cells and its potential applications. Int J Mol Sci 20:4597
- Ferguson SW, Wang J, Lee CJ, Liu M, Neelamegham S, Canty JM, Nguyen J (2018) The microRNA regulatory landscape of MSC-derived exosomes: a systems view. Sci Rep 8:1419
- Ferreira JR, Teixeira GQ, Santos SG, Barbosa MA, Almeida-Porada G, Gonçalves RM (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cell secretome: influencing therapeutic potential by cellular pre-conditioning. Front Immunol 9:2837
- Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP (1968) Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation 6: 230–247
- Fu YS, Cheng YC, Lin MY, Cheng H, Chu PM, Chou SC, Shih YH, Ko MH, Sung MS (2006) Conversion of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in Wharton's jelly to dopaminergic neurons in vitro: potential therapeutic application for Parkinsonism. Stem Cells 24:115–124
- Fukuoka H, Suga H (2015) Hair regeneration treatment using adipose-derived stem cell conditioned medium: follow-up with trichograms. Eplasty 15:e10
- Furuta T, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H, Ogura T, Kato Y, Kamei N, Miyado K, Higashi Y, Ochi M (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote fracture healing in a mouse model. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:1620–1630
- Galindo LT, Filippo TR, Semedo P, Ariza CB, Moreira CM, Camara NO, Porcionatto MA (2011) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy modulates the inflammatory response in experimental traumatic brain injury. Neurol Res Int 2011:564089
- Gao F, Chiu SM, Motan DA, Zhang Z, Chen L, Ji HL, Tse HF, Fu QL, Lian Q (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells and immunomodulation: current status and future prospects. Cell Death Dis 7:e2062
- Gatti S, Bruno S, Deregibus MC, Sordi A, Cantaluppi V, Tetta C, Camussi G (2011) Microvesicles derived from human adult mesenchymal stem cells protect against ischaemia-reperfusion-induced acute and chronic kidney injury. Nephrol Dial Transplant 26:1474–1483
- Gezer U, Özgür E, Cetinkaya M, Isin M, Dalay N (2014) Long non-coding RNAs with low expression levels in cells are enriched in secreted exosomes. Cell Biol Int 38:1076–1079
- Gibb SL, Zhao Y, Potter D, Hylin MJ, Bruhn R, Baimukanova G, Zhao J, Xue H, Abdel-Mohsen M, Pillai SK, Moore AN, Johnson EM, Cox CS Jr, Dash PK, Pati S (2015) TIMP3 attenuates the loss of neural stem cells, mature neurons and neurocognitive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells 33:3530–3544
- Gieseke F, Kruchen A, Tzaribachev N, Bentzien F, Dominici M, Müller I (2013) Proinflammatory stimuli induce galectin-9 in human mesenchymal stromal cells to suppress T-cell proliferation. Eur J Immunol 43:2741–2749
- Gnecchi M, He H, Liang OD, Melo LG, Morello F, Mu H, Noiseux N, Zhang L, Pratt RE, Ingwall JS, Dzau VJ (2005) Paracrine action accounts for marked protection of ischemic heart by Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cells. Nat Med 11:367–368
- Gong XH, Liu H, Wang SJ, Liang SW, Wang GG (2019) Exosomes derived from SDF1overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells inhibit ischemic myocardial cell apoptosis and promote cardiac endothelial microvascular regeneration in mice with myocardial infarction. J Cell Physiol 234:13878–13893
- Guo L, Rolfe AJ, Wang X, Tai W, Cheng Z, Cao K, Chen X, Xu Y, Sun D, Li J, He X, Young W, Fan J, Ren Y (2016) Rescuing macrophage normal function in spinal cord injury with embryonic stem cell conditioned media. Mol Brain 9:48
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Berlin
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1a/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider T, Höftberger R, Rüger B, Mildner M, Blumer R, Mitterbauer A, Buchacher T, Sherif C, Altmann P, Redl H, Gabriel C, Gyöngyösi M, Fischer MB, Lubec G, Ankersmit HJ (2015) The secretome of apoptotic human peripheral blood mononuclear cells attenuates secondary damage following spinal cord injury in rats. Exp Neurol 267:230–242
- Harrell CR, Fellabaum C, Jovicic N, Djonov V, Arsenijevic N, Volarevic V (2019) Molecular mechanisms responsible for therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived secretome. Cells 8:467
- Heo SC, Jeon ES, Lee IH, Kim HS, Kim MB, Kim JH (2011) Tumor necrosis factor-α-activated human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells accelerate cutaneous wound healing through paracrine mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol 131:1559–1567
- Hoda Elkhenany ME, Newby SD, El-Derby AM, Dhar M, El-Badri N (2020) Tissue engineering modalities and nanotechnology. In: Regenerative medicine and stem cell biology. Springer
- Hu C, Li L (2018) Preconditioning influences mesenchymal stem cell properties in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Mol Med 22:1428–1442
- Hu C, Zhao L, Zhang L, Bao Q, Li L (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell-based cell-free strategies: safe and effective treatments for liver injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:377
- Huang JH, Yin XM, Xu Y, Xu CC, Lin X, Ye FB, Cao Y et al (2017) Systemic administration of exosomes released from mesenchymal stromal cells attenuates apoptosis, inflammation, and promotes angiogenesis after spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurotrauma 34:3388–3396
- Huang W, Lv B, Zeng H, Shi D, Liu Y, Chen F, Li F et al (2015) Paracrine factors secreted by MSCs promote astrocyte survival associated with GFAP downregulation after ischemic stroke via p38 MAPK and JNK. J Cell Physiol 230:2461–2475
- Ionescu L, Byrne RN, Van Haaften T, Vadivel A, Alphonse RS, Rey-Parra GJ, Weissmann G et al (2012) Stem cell conditioned medium improves acute lung injury in mice: in vivo evidence for stem cell paracrine action. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 303:L967–L977
- Jackson WM, Nesti LJ, Tuan RS (2012) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for attenuation of scar formation during wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 3:20
- Jarmalavičiūtė A, Tunaitis V, Pivoraitė U, Venalis A, Pivoriūnas A (2015) Exosomes from dental pulp stem cells rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxy-dopamine-induced apoptosis. Cytotherapy 17:932–939
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784
- Ju C, Shen Y, Ma G, Liu Y, Cai J, Kim IM, Weintraub NL, Liu N, Tang Y (2018) Transplantation of cardiac mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promotes repair in ischemic myocardium. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 11:420–428
- Kandoi S, Praveen Kumar L, Patra B, Vidyasekar P, Sivanesan D, Vijayalakshmi S, Rajagopal K, Verma RS (2018) Evaluation of platelet lysate as a substitute for FBS in explant and enzymatic isolation methods of human umbilical cord MSCs. Sci Rep 8:12439
- Kappy NS, Chang S, Harris WM, Plastini M, Ortiz T, Zhang P, Hazelton JP et al (2018) Human adipose-derived stem cell treatment modulates cellular protection in both in vitro and in vivo traumatic brain injury models. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 84:745–751
- Katagiri W, Osugi M, Kawai T, Hibi H (2016) First-in-human study and clinical case reports of the alveolar bone regeneration with the secretome from human mesenchymal stem cells. Head Face Med 12:5
- Katsuda T, Tsuchiya R, Kosaka N, Yoshioka Y, Takagaki K, Oki K, Takeshita F et al (2013) Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells secrete functional neprilysin-bound exosomes. Sci Rep 3:1197

- Kehl D, Generali M, Mallone A, Heller M, Uldry AC, Cheng P, Gantenbein B et al (2019) Proteomic analysis of human mesenchymal stromal cell secretomes: a systematic comparison of the angiogenic potential. NPJ Regen Med 4:8
- Kim DH, Lee D, Chang EH, Kim JH, Hwang JW, Kim JY, Kyung JW et al (2015) GDF-15 secreted from human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells delivered through the cerebrospinal fluid promotes hippocampal neurogenesis and synaptic activity in an Alzheimer's disease model. Stem Cells Dev 24:2378–2390
- Kim HJ, Lee JH, Kim SH (2010) Therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cells on traumatic brain injury in rats: secretion of neurotrophic factors and inhibition of apoptosis. J Neurotrauma 27:131–138
- Kim HY, Kim H, Oh KW, Oh SI, Koh SH, Baik W, Noh MY et al (2014) Biological markers of mesenchymal stromal cells as predictors of response to autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an investigator-initiated trial and in vivo study. Stem Cells 32:2724–2731
- Kim JY, Kim DH, Kim JH, Lee D, Jeon HB, Kwon SJ, Kim SM et al (2012) Soluble intracellular adhesion molecule-1 secreted by human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cell reduces amyloid-β plaques. Cell Death Differ 19:680–691
- Kim KM, Abdelmohsen K, Mustapic M, Kapogiannis D, Gorospe M (2017) RNA in extracellular vesicles. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 8:e1413
- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, Ruesing J, Doeppner TR, Epple M et al (2014) MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 28:970–973
- Kwon S, Yoo KH, Sym SJ, Khang D (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy assisted by nanotechnology: a possible combinational treatment for brain tumor and central nerve regeneration. Int J Nanomedicine 14:5925–5942
- Praveen Kumar L, Kandoi S, Misra R, Vijayalakshmi S, Rajagopal K, Verma RS (2019) The mesenchymal stem cell secretome: a new paradigm towards cell-free therapeutic mode in regenerative medicine. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 46:1–9
- Lai RC, Arslan F, Lee MM, Sze NS, Choo A, Chen TS, Salto-Tellez M et al (2010) Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem Cell Res 4:214–222
- Lankford KL, Arroyo EJ, Nazimek K, Bryniarski K, Askenase PW, Kocsis JD (2018) Intravenously delivered mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes target M2-type macrophages in the injured spinal cord. PLoS One 13:e0190358
- Le Blanc K, Davies LC (2018) MSCs-cells with many sides. Cytotherapy 20:273-278
- Lee JY, Kim E, Choi SM, Kim DW, Kim KP, Lee I, Kim HS (2016a) Microvesicles from brainextract-treated mesenchymal stem cells improve neurological functions in a rat model of ischemic stroke. Sci Rep 6:33038
- Lee M, Liu T, Im W, Kim M (2016b) Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells ameliorate phenotype of Huntington's disease in vitro model. Eur J Neurosci 44:2114–2119
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery, Medicine & life sciences. DE GRUYTER, Berlin
- Li D, Zhang P, Yao X, Li H, Shen H, Li X, Wu J et al (2018) Exosomes derived from miR-133bmodified mesenchymal stem cells promote recovery after spinal cord injury. Front Neurosci 12:845
- Li M, Luan F, Zhao Y, Hao H, Liu J, Dong L, Fu X et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium accelerates wound healing with fewer scars. Int Wound J 14:64–73
- Lin YT, Chern Y, Shen CK, Wen HL, Chang YC, Li H, Cheng TH et al (2011) Human mesenchymal stem cells prolong survival and ameliorate motor deficit through trophic support in Huntington's disease mouse models. PLoS One 6:e22924
- Linero I, Chaparro O (2014) Paracrine effect of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human adipose tissue in bone regeneration. PLoS One 9:e107001
- Liu L, Jin X, Hu CF, Li R, Zhou Z, Shen CX (2017) Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells rescue myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury by inducing cardiomyocyte autophagy via AMPK and Akt pathways. Cell Physiol Biochem 43:52–68

- Liu W, Wang Y, Gong F, Rong Y, Luo Y, Tang P, Zhou Z et al (2019) Exosomes derived from bone mesenchymal stem cells repair traumatic spinal cord injury by suppressing the activation of A1 neurotoxic reactive astrocytes. J Neurotrauma 36:469–484. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2018. 5835
- Liu Y, Lin L, Zou R, Wen C, Wang Z, Lin F (2018a) MSC-derived exosomes promote proliferation and inhibit apoptosis of chondrocytes via lncRNA-KLF3-AS1/miR-206/GIT1 axis in osteoarthritis. Cell Cycle 17:2411–2422
- Liu Y, Zou R, Wang Z, Wen C, Zhang F, Lin F (2018b) Exosomal KLF3-AS1 from hMSCs promoted cartilage repair and chondrocyte proliferation in osteoarthritis. Biochem J 475: 3629–3638
- Lu Y, Zhou Y, Zhang R, Wen L, Wu K, Li Y, Yao Y et al (2019) Bone mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles promote recovery following spinal cord injury via improvement of the integrity of the blood-spinal cord barrier. Front Neurosci 13:209
- Ma T, Chen Y, Chen Y, Meng Q, Sun J, Shao L, Yu Y et al (2018) MicroRNA-132, delivered by mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes, promote angiogenesis in myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Int 2018:3290372
- Madrigal M, Rao KS, Riordan NH (2014) A review of therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell secretions and induction of secretory modification by different culture methods. J Transl Med 12:260
- Makridakis M, Roubelakis MG, Vlahou A (2013) Stem cells: insights into the secretome. Biochim Biophys Acta 1834:2380–2384
- Marote A, Teixeira FG, Mendes-Pinheiro B, Salgado AJ (2016) MSCs-derived exosomes: cellsecreted nanovesicles with regenerative potential. Front Pharmacol 7:231
- Marques CR, Marote A, Mendes-Pinheiro B, Teixeira FG, Salgado AJ (2018) Cell secretome based approaches in Parkinson's disease regenerative medicine. Expert Opin Biol Ther 18: 1235–1245
- Martín-Martín Y, Fernández-García L, Sanchez-Rebato MH, Marí-Buyé N, Rojo FJ, Pérez-Rigueiro J, Ramos M et al (2019) Evaluation of neurosecretome from mesenchymal stem cells encapsulated in silk fibroin hydrogels. Sci Rep 9:8801
- Martins LF, Costa RO, Pedro JR, Aguiar P, Serra SC, Teixeira FG, Sousa N et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells secretome-induced axonal outgrowth is mediated by BDNF. Sci Rep 7:4153
- Maumus M, Manferdini C, Toupet K, Peyrafitte JA, Ferreira R, Facchini A, Gabusi E et al (2013) Adipose mesenchymal stem cells protect chondrocytes from degeneration associated with osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res 11:834–844
- Mendes-Pinheiro B, Anjo SI, Manadas B, Da Silva JD, Marote A, Behie LA, Teixeira FG et al (2019) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells' secretome exerts neuroprotective effects in a Parkinson's disease rat model. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 7:294
- Mendes-Pinheiro B, Marote A, Marques CR, Teixeira FG, Ribeiro JC, Salgado AJ (2020) Applications of the stem cell secretome in regenerative medicine. In: Mesenchymal stem cells in human health and diseases. Academic Press
- Mendes-Pinheiro B, Teixeira FG, Anjo SI, Manadas B, Behie LA, Salgado AJ (2018) Secretome of undifferentiated neural progenitor cells induces histological and motor improvements in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Stem Cells Transl Med 7:829–838
- Mita T, Furukawa-Hibi Y, Takeuchi H, Hattori H, Yamada K, Hibi H, Ueda M et al (2015) Conditioned medium from the stem cells of human dental pulp improves cognitive function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Behav Brain Res 293:189–197
- Monsel A, Zhu YG, Gennai S, Hao Q, Hu S, Rouby JJ, Rosenzwajg M et al (2015) Therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles in severe pneumonia in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 192:324–336
- Moraes L, Vasconcelos-Dos-Santos A, Santana FC, Godoy MA, Rosado-De-Castro PH, Jasmin RLA-P et al (2012) Neuroprotective effects and magnetic resonance imaging of mesenchymal stem cells labeled with SPION in a rat model of Huntington's disease. Stem Cell Res 9:143–155

- Muhammad SA (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cell secretome as a therapeutic strategy for traumatic brain injury. Biofactors 45:880–891
- Murphy MB, Moncivais K, Caplan AI (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells: environmentally responsive therapeutics for regenerative medicine. Exp Mol Med 45:e54
- Nakamura Y, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H, Matsuyama S, Nakasa T, Kamei N, Akimoto T et al (2015) Mesenchymal-stem-cell-derived exosomes accelerate skeletal muscle regeneration. FEBS Lett 589:1257–1265
- Ng SY, Johnson R, Stanton LW (2012) Human long non-coding RNAs promote pluripotency and neuronal differentiation by association with chromatin modifiers and transcription factors. EMBO J 31:522–533
- Nitzsche F, Müller C, Lukomska B, Jolkkonen J, Deten A, Boltze J (2017) Concise review: MSC adhesion cascade-insights into homing and transendothelial migration. Stem Cells 35: 1446–1460
- Noone C, Kihm A, English K, O'dea S, Mahon BP (2013) IFN-γ stimulated human umbilicaltissue-derived cells potently suppress NK activation and resist NK-mediated cytotoxicity in vitro. Stem Cells Dev 22:3003–3014
- Oh SH, Kim HN, Park HJ, Shin JY, Kim DY, Lee PH (2017) The cleavage effect of mesenchymal stem cell and its derived matrix metalloproteinase-2 on extracellular α-synuclein aggregates in Parkinsonian models. Stem Cells Transl Med 6:949–961
- Otero-Ortega L, Laso-García F, Gómez-De Frutos MD, Rodríguez-Frutos B, Pascual-Guerra J, Fuentes B, Díez-Tejedor E et al (2017) White matter repair after extracellular vesicles administration in an experimental animal model of subcortical stroke. Sci Rep 7:44433
- Park HW, Lim MJ, Jung H, Lee SP, Paik KS, Chang MS (2010) Human mesenchymal stem cellderived Schwann cell-like cells exhibit neurotrophic effects, via distinct growth factor production, in a model of spinal cord injury. Glia 58:1118–1132
- Paul G, Anisimov SV (2013) The secretome of mesenchymal stem cells: potential implications for neuroregeneration. Biochimie 95:2246–2256
- Phelps J, Sanati-Nezhad A, Ungrin M, Duncan NA, Sen A (2018) Bioprocessing of mesenchymal stem cells and their derivatives: toward cell-free therapeutics. Stem Cells Int 2018:9415367
- Phinney DG (2007) Biochemical heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cell populations: clues to their therapeutic efficacy. Cell Cycle 6:2884–2889
- Pinho AG, Cibrão JR, Silva NA, Monteiro S, Salgado AJ (2020) Cell secretome: basic insights and therapeutic opportunities for CNS disorders. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 13:31
- Pischiutta F, Brunelli L, Romele P, Silini A, Sammali E, Paracchini L, Marchini S et al (2016) Protection of brain injury by amniotic mesenchymal stromal cell-secreted metabolites. Crit Care Med 44:e1118–e1131
- Ranganath SH, Levy O, Inamdar MS, Karp JM (2012) Harnessing the mesenchymal stem cell secretome for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Cell Stem Cell 10:244–258
- Rani S, Ryan AE, Griffin MD, Ritter T (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: toward cell-free therapeutic applications. Mol Ther 23:812–823
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W (2013) Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 200:373–383
- Reza-Zaldivar EE, Hernández-Sapiéns MA, Minjarez B, Gutiérrez-Mercado YK, Márquez-Aguirre AL, Canales-Aguirre AA (2018) Potential effects of MSC-derived exosomes in neuroplasticity in Alzheimer's disease. Front Cell Neurosci 12:317
- Sadan O, Melamed E, Offen D (2009) Bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy for neurodegenerative diseases. Expert Opin Biol Ther 9:1487–1497
- Serra SC, Costa JC, Assunção-Silva RC, Teixeira FG, Silva NA, Anjo SI, Manadas B et al (2018) Influence of passage number on the impact of the secretome of adipose tissue stem cells on neural survival, neurodifferentiation and axonal growth. Biochimie 155:119–128
- Sevivas N, Teixeira FG, Portugal R, Araújo L, Carriço LF, Ferreira N, Vieira Da Silva M et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell secretome: a potential tool for the prevention of muscle degenerative changes associated with chronic rotator cuff tears. Am J Sports Med 45:179–188

- Shabbir A, Zisa D, Suzuki G, Lee T (2009) Heart failure therapy mediated by the trophic activities of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a noninvasive therapeutic regimen. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 296:H1888–H1897
- Shao L, Zhang Y, Lan B, Wang J, Zhang Z, Zhang L, Xiao P et al (2017) MiRNA-sequence indicates that mesenchymal stem cells and exosomes have similar mechanism to enhance cardiac repair. Biomed Res Int 2017:4150705
- Shin H, Ryu HH, Kwon O, Park BS, Jo SJ (2015) Clinical use of conditioned media of adipose tissue-derived stem cells in female pattern hair loss: a retrospective case series study. Int J Dermatol 54:730–735
- Silva AM, Teixeira JH, Almeida MI, Gonçalves RM, Barbosa MA, Santos SG (2017) Extracellular vesicles: immunomodulatory messengers in the context of tissue repair/regeneration. Eur J Pharm Sci 98:86–95
- Song N, Scholtemeijer M, Shah K (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell immunomodulation: mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Trends Pharmacol Sci 41:653–664
- Spees JL, Lee RH, Gregory CA (2016) Mechanisms of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell function. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:125
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U (2016) Clinical trials with mesenchymal stem cells: an update. Cell Transplant 25:829–848
- Sun H, Hu S, Zhang Z, Lun J, Liao W, Zhang Z (2019) Expression of exosomal microRNAs during chondrogenic differentiation of human bone mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biochem 120:171–181
- Sun X, Shan A, Wei Z, Xu B (2018) Intravenous mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes ameliorate myocardial inflammation in the dilated cardiomyopathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 503:2611–2618
- Suzuki E, Fujita D, Takahashi M, Oba S, Nishimatsu H (2016) Stem cell-derived exosomes as a therapeutic tool for cardiovascular disease. World J Stem Cells 8:297–305
- Tajiri N, Acosta SA, Shahaduzzaman M, Ishikawa H, Shinozuka K, Pabon M, Hernandez-Ontiveros D et al (2014) Intravenous transplants of human adipose-derived stem cell protect the brain from traumatic brain injury-induced neurodegeneration and motor and cognitive impairments: cell graft biodistribution and soluble factors in young and aged rats. J Neurosci 34:313–326
- Tang XD, Shi L, Monsel A, Li XY, Zhu HL, Zhu YG, Qu JM (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles attenuate acute lung injury in mice partly mediated by Ang-1 mRNA. Stem Cells 35:1849–1859
- Teixeira FG, Carvalho MM, Neves-Carvalho A, Panchalingam KM, Behie LA, Pinto L, Sousa N et al (2015) Secretome of mesenchymal progenitors from the umbilical cord acts as modulator of neural/glial proliferation and differentiation. Stem Cell Rev Rep 11:288–297
- Teixeira FG, Carvalho MM, Panchalingam KM, Rodrigues AJ, Mendes-Pinheiro B, Anjo S, Manadas B et al (2017) Impact of the secretome of human mesenchymal stem cells on brain structure and animal behavior in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Stem Cells Transl Med 6: 634–646
- Teixeira FG, Carvalho MM, Sousa N, Salgado AJ (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells secretome: a new paradigm for central nervous system regeneration? Cell Mol Life Sci 70:3871–3882
- Teixeira FG, Panchalingam KM, Assunção-Silva R, Serra SC, Mendes-Pinheiro B, Patrício P, Jung S et al (2016) Modulation of the mesenchymal stem cell secretome using computer-controlled bioreactors: impact on neuronal cell proliferation, survival and differentiation. Sci Rep 6:27791
- Teixeira FG, Salgado AJ (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells secretome: current trends and future challenges. Neural Regen Res 15:75–77
- Teixeira FG, Vilaça-Faria H, Domingues AV, Campos J, Salgado AJ (2020) Preclinical comparison of stem cells secretome and levodopa application in a 6-hydroxydopamine rat model of Parkinson's disease. Cell 9:315
- Thomi G, Surbek D, Haesler V, Joerger-Messerli M, Schoeberlein A (2019) Exosomes derived from umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells reduce microglia-mediated neuroinflammation in perinatal brain injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:105

- Tofiño-Vian M, Guillén MI, Pérez Del Caz MD, Silvestre A, Alcaraz MJ (2018) Microvesicles from human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells as a new protective strategy in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Cell Physiol Biochem 47:11–25
- Tögel F, Zhang P, Hu Z, Westenfelder C (2009) VEGF is a mediator of the renoprotective effects of multipotent marrow stromal cells in acute kidney injury. J Cell Mol Med 13:2109–2114
- Toh WS, Lai RC, Hui JHP, Lim SK (2017) MSC exosome as a cell-free MSC therapy for cartilage regeneration: implications for osteoarthritis treatment. Semin Cell Dev Biol 67:56–64
- Torrente D, Avila MF, Cabezas R, Morales L, Gonzalez J, Samudio I, Barreto GE (2014) Paracrine factors of human mesenchymal stem cells increase wound closure and reduce reactive oxygen species production in a traumatic brain injury in vitro model. Hum Exp Toxicol 33:673–684
- Trohatou O, Roubelakis MG (2017) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells in regenerative medicine: past, present, and future. Cell Reprogram 19:217–224
- Tsai MJ, Liou DY, Lin YR, Weng CF, Huang MC, Huang WC, Tseng FW et al (2018) Attenuating spinal cord injury by conditioned medium from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Clin Med 23:8
- Tsukita S, Yamada T, Takahashi K, Munakata Y, Hosaka S, Takahashi H, Gao J et al (2017) MicroRNAs 106b and 222 improve hyperglycemia in a mouse model of insulin-deficient diabetes via pancreatic β-cell proliferation. EBioMedicine 15:163–172
- Van Koppen A, Joles JA, Van Balkom BW, Lim SK, De Kleijn D, Giles RH, Verhaar MC (2012) Human embryonic mesenchymal stem cell-derived conditioned medium rescues kidney function in rats with established chronic kidney disease. PLoS One 7:e38746
- Venkataramana NK, Kumar SK, Balaraju S, Radhakrishnan RC, Bansal A, Dixit A, Rao DK et al (2010) Open-labeled study of unilateral autologous bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in Parkinson's disease. Transl Res 155:62–70
- Vilaça-Faria H, Salgado AJ, Teixeira FG (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes: a new possible therapeutic strategy for Parkinson's disease? Cells 8:118
- Vizoso FJ, Eiro N, Cid S, Schneider J, Perez-Fernandez R (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell secretome: toward cell-free therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine. Int J Mol Sci 18:1852
- Wang F, Yasuhara T, Shingo T, Kameda M, Tajiri N, Yuan WJ, Kondo A et al (2010) Intravenous administration of mesenchymal stem cells exerts therapeutic effects on parkinsonian model of rats: focusing on neuroprotective effects of stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha. BMC Neurosci 11:52
- Wang N, Chen C, Yang D, Liao Q, Luo H, Wang X, Zhou F et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cellsderived extracellular vesicles, via miR-210, improve infarcted cardiac function by promotion of angiogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis 1863:2085–2092
- Williams AM, Dennahy IS, Bhatti UF, Halaweish I, Xiong Y, Chang P, Nikolian VC et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes provide neuroprotection and improve long-term neurologic outcomes in a swine model of traumatic brain injury and hemorrhagic shock. J Neurotrauma 36:54–60
- Xia J, Minamino S, Kuwabara K, Arai S (2019) Stem cell secretome as a new booster for regenerative medicine. Biosci Trends 13:299–307
- Xin H, Li Y, Cui Y, Yang JJ, Zhang ZG, Chopp M (2013) Systemic administration of exosomes released from mesenchymal stromal cells promote functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity after stroke in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 33:1711–1715
- Xing C, Arai K, Lo EH, Hommel M (2012) Pathophysiologic cascades in ischemic stroke. Int J Stroke 7:378–385
- Yin JQ, Zhu J, Ankrum JA (2019) Manufacturing of primed mesenchymal stromal cells for therapy. Nat Biomed Eng 3:90–104
- Zaher W, Harkness L, Jafari A, Kassem M (2014) An update of human mesenchymal stem cell biology and their clinical uses. Arch Toxicol 88:1069–1082
- Zhang S, Chu WC, Lai RC, Lim SK, Hui JH, Toh WS (2016a) Exosomes derived from human embryonic mesenchymal stem cells promote osteochondral regeneration. Osteoarthr Cartil 24: 2135–2140

- Zhang Y, Huang X, Yuan Y (2017) MicroRNA-410 promotes chondrogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells through down-regulating Wnt3a. Am J Transl Res 9:136–145
- Zhang Z, Yang J, Yan W, Li Y, Shen Z, Asahara T (2016b) Pretreatment of cardiac stem cells with exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells enhances myocardial repair. J Am Heart Assoc 5:e002856
- Zhao Y, Gibb SL, Zhao J, Moore AN, Hylin MJ, Menge T, Xue H et al (2016) Wnt3a, a protein secreted by mesenchymal stem cells is neuroprotective and promotes neurocognitive recovery following traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells 34:1263–1272
- Zhou BR, Xu Y, Guo SL, Xu Y, Wang Y, Zhu F, Permatasari F et al (2013a) The effect of conditioned media of adipose-derived stem cells on wound healing after ablative fractional carbon dioxide laser resurfacing. Biomed Res Int 2013:519126
- Zhou X, Chu X, Yuan H, Qiu J, Zhao C, Xin D, Li T et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell derived EVs mediate neuroprotection after spinal cord injury in rats via the microRNA-21-5p/FasL gene axis. Biomed Pharmacother 115:108818
- Zhou Y, Xu H, Xu W, Wang B, Wu H, Tao Y, Zhang B et al (2013b) Exosomes released by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells protect against cisplatin-induced renal oxidative stress and apoptosis in vivo and in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther 4:34
- Zhu YG, Feng XM, Abbott J, Fang XH, Hao Q, Monsel A, Qu JM et al (2014) Human mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles for treatment of Escherichia coli endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice. Stem Cells 32:116–125
- Zilka N, Zilkova M, Kazmerova Z, Sarissky M, Cigankova V, Novak M (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells rescue the Alzheimer's disease cell model from cell death induced by misfolded truncated tau. Neuroscience 193:330–337



34

Exosome-Based Cell-Free Therapy in Regenerative Medicine for Myocardial Repair

Khawaja Husnain Haider and Mustapha Najimi

Contents

Introduction	1009
Cell-Based Therapy for the Heart	1009
Cell-Free Therapy Approach for the Heart	1010
Theranostic Role of Exosomes in the Heart	1010
Diagnostic Applications of Exosomes	1011
Exosomes as a Treatment Option for the Injured Heart	1013
Challenges and Future Perspective	1027
Cross-References	1028
References	1028

Abstract

Exosomes in cardiovascular theranostics are gaining popularity due to their immense diagnostic and therapeutic potential generally ascribed to their specific payload and temporospatial release under a specific set of conditions. A recently published bibliometric research analyzing 1039 studies has shown a flourishing trend in cardiovascular medicine. Exosomes constitute an integral part of the paracrine secretions of stem/progenitor cells, which significantly contribute to intercellular communication by transferring signaling molecules between communicating cells. Interestingly, their payload can be modified by the physical,

K. H. Haider (🖂)

M. Najimi

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

Laboratory of Pediatric Hepatology and Cell Therapy, Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique (IREC), Université catholique de Louvain (UCLouvain), Brussels, Belgium e-mail: mustapha.najimi@uclouvain.be

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 42

pharmacological, or genetic manipulation of the parent cells from which they have been derived. Alternatively, more recent studies have developed protocols to load them with the payload of interest for specific therapeutic applications. Similarly, they are also released from various myocardial cells, including cardiomyocytes, in response to injuries with diverging payload profiles, which can be used for diagnostic purposes. This chapter discusses in-depth mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-derived exosomes for their theranostic application in cardiovascular pathologies encompassing in vitro, small experimental animal models as well as translational and clinical studies.

Keywords

Cell-free therapy · Exosomes · Heart · Infarction · Paracrine · Stem cells

Abbreviations

AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
BM	Bone marrow
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CSCs	Cardiac stem cells
CXCR4	Chemokine receptor-4
DOXO	Doxorubicin
ECs	Endothelial cells
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
GLUT	Glucose transporter
GMP	Good manufacturing practice
GP	Glycogen phosphorylase
Hsp	Heat shock protein
HUVECs	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
IL	Interleukin
IONP-MSCs	Iron oxide nanoparticle loaded MSCs
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
LV	Left ventricle
miR	MicroRNA
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
PEP	Purified exosome preparation
SDF-1a	Stromal-cell-derived factor-1a
Sfrp-2	Secreted frizzled protein-2
STG	Shear thinning hydrogel
TIMP-2	Tissue matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor-2
TNF-1α	Tumor necrosis factor-1a
$1 N r - 1 \alpha$	rumor necrosis ractor-ro

Introduction

Cell-Based Therapy for the Heart

Based on encouraging data from small experimental animal models and translational studies, the use of stem-/progenitor-cell-based therapy has shown safety and feasibility in repopulating an infarcted myocardium with functionally competent neomyocytes and in reversing myocardial injury to preserve global contractile heart function. Notable and most extensively studied cell types used for cell-based therapy include bone marrow (BM)-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), BM-derived mononuclear cells, endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), skeletal myoblasts, cardiac stem/progenitor cells (CSCs/CPCs), adipose tissuederived MSCs, embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and their derivative cardiomyocytes, and, more recently, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and their derivative cardiomyocytes and EPCs. Each one of the cell types has specific advantages and limitations and is still being scrutinized to find an ideal cell type, which could offer the best compromise between limitations and advantages (Young and Schäfer 2015). Among all these cell types, MSCs have already progressed to the advanced phases of clinical assessment in diverse patient populations. According to a recently published systematic review, there are 1138 clinical trials have been registered on ClinicalTrials.gov, of which 60% are phase II while 30% are phase I trials with BM as the primary source of MSCs in most of the clinical trials and all of the trials reporting the safety of the procedure (Rodríguez-Fuentes et al. 2020).

Irrespective of the cell type used, the stem-cell therapy approach is undoubtedly superior to contemporary treatment approaches in addressing the repair of the injured parenchyma of a cardiac architecture to limit the vicious progression of the disease process. It compensates for the loss of functioning cardiomyocytes, something not offered by any other treatment modalities. However, the further progression of the cell-based therapy approach is happening at a slower pace due to many factors encompassing the cell quality to meet the clinical-grade good manufacturing practice (GMP)-certified cell preparations with reproducible composition, to their biological characteristics, and uniform functionality, all of which remain problematic and time-intensive proposition (Bettonville et al. 2021). For further reading on the topic, please refer to ▶ Chap. 10, "Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair," contributed by AlKhani et al. in this volume, which provides a detailed account of the subject relevant to the experience of working with MSCs from small animal experimental models to large experimental animal models and in the randomized clinical trials in heart failure patients. Similarly, for the quality aspects of cell preparation, please refer to a recently published literature review, which discusses in depth the issue of the quality of cell preparation and the possible areas of improvement therein (Haider 2018).

Cell-Free Therapy Approach for the Heart

As discussed earlier, cell-based therapy has shown promise both in experimental animal models and clinical settings. Despite all the advantages, cell-based therapy has some limitations, which have significantly slowed its progress to the clinics. For example, the extensive death of donor cells, especially during the acute phase of engraftment; limited differentiation; the integration of the capacity of the transplanted cell; etc. severely hamper the desired outcome. Although various protocols have been tried and developed, we are still lacking in expertise to eliminate these issues in toto. For example, to overcome the issue of extensive donor cell death, protocols ranging from transient immunosuppression to the preconditioning of donor cells have been developed, tried, and reported, but the problem continues to persist (Haider et al. 2004; Xiao et al. 2004; Haider and Ashraf 2012). On the same note, the priming of cells through genetic modifications, cytokine and growth factor treatment, pharmacological and small molecule treatment, etc. has been investigated to enhance the cardiogenic differentiation of stem/progenitor cells (Noronha et al. 2019; Ullah et al. 2021); however, there are still many limitations on a clinical perspective.

The paracrine activity of stem cells, which involves the release of both soluble and insoluble factors, constitutes an integral part of their therapeutic benefits post engraftment in the injured heart (Haider and Aziz 2017; Lei and Haider 2017). Based on the paracrine activity of stem cells, researchers have, more recently, started to focus on the cell-free therapy approach to avoid some of the potential limitations of cell-based therapy, such as difficulties in the clinical-grade manufacturing of cells, prevention of a likely tumorigenic potential, transmission of infection from the cell donor, immune rejection of the cells and cell-derived tissue graft, possible undesired lineage differentiation or no differentiation of the donor cells, etc. (Haider and Aslam 2018). Furthermore, the cell-free therapy approach also alleviates the need for in vitro cell expansion to achieve millions of cells needed for cell-based therapy. A modest outcome from the completed and ongoing clinical trials necessitates alternative approaches for a better therapeutic outcome (Haider 2018).

As discussed earlier, the soluble and insoluble components of the cell secretome are rich in bioactive molecules (Rahimi et al. 2021). Although both secretome components have given encouraging results in the experimental animal models, the current focus is on extracellular vesicles (EVs) in general and exosomes in particular. The interest of researchers is directed toward exosomes in regenerative medicine, as may be judged by the fact that the keyword search on Pubmed yields more than 15,000 publications, during the last 5 years, primarily focused on their theranostic applications.

Theranostic Role of Exosomes in the Heart

Although exosomes of plant and human tissue origin have progressed for clinical assessment, the use of human-tissue-derived exosomes is much more established in terms of their biological characterization, payload analysis, and GMP compliance.

For their physical and biological characteristics and cell-specific payload, they are emerging as promising tools for cardiovascular theranostic applications (Wumei et al. 2021; Javaraman et al. 2021). However, for clinical applications, exosomal preparations should conform to the minimum standards of GMP. Various research groups and drug manufacturing companies are coming up with their optimized protocols to achieve GMP in the manufacturing of exosomes to ensure high exosome yield with minimum levels of extraneous materials, i.e., xenogenic proteins, serumderived exosomes, etc. (Pachler et al. 2017; Andriolo et al. 2018). However, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has yet to approve any of these exosome preparations for routine clinical use. Many details about the characteristics, properties, and cargo of exosomes are also available through online sources and databases, like ExoCarta (http://www.exocarta.org), ExoBCD (https://exobcd.liumwei.org), Vesiclepedia (http://microvesicles.org), EVpedia (http://evpedia.info), exoRBase (http://www.ExoRBase.org), and exRNA Atlas (https://exrna-atlas.org), which provide bioinformatics-based information in a comprehensive and detailed manner (Sahoo et al. 2021). These online resources provide information seekers and researchers with an update on exosome and EV biology and an analysis of their payload.

Diagnostic Applications of Exosomes

Like any other cell, cardiac cells, i.e., cardiomyocytes, telocytes, CPCs, etc., also release exosomes with specific payloads and functions (Vrijsen et al. 2016; Liao et al. 2021). For example, the profiling of cardiomyocyte-derived exosomes has revealed the presence of miR-208a, which gets transferred to the cardiac fibroblasts as a mechanism for cross talk between the two cell types to initiate myocardial fibrosis in the event of myocardial injury (Yang et al. 2016). Similarly, uptake of the injured cardiomyocyte-released exosomes by the transplanted bone marrow MSCs in the infarcted mouse heart has been shown to initiate cell-to-cell communication resulting in loss of the transplanted cell. This problem has significantly hampered the progress of cell-based therapy (Hu et al. 2018). These in vivo data were supported by MSCs cultured in vitro in the conditioned medium and exosomes derived from cardiomyocytes cultured under oxidative stress. Molecular studies revealed significantly high caspase-3 activation and decreased Bcl2/Bax in MSCs, which showed more elevated apoptosis under oxidative stress.

On the other hand, Ribeiro-Rodrigues and team have demonstrated that cardiomyocytes cultured under ischemic conditions released exosomes, which had angiogenic potential when added to cultured endothelial cells (ECs) (Ribeiro-Rodrigues et al. 2017). ECs cultured in the presence of H9C2 and primary cardiomyocyte-derived exosomes promoted EC proliferation, protection against oxidative stress, and enhanced tubulogenesis as compared to normal cardiomyocyte-derived exosomes. The profiling of exosomes from cardiomyocytes cultured under ischemic conditions showed that they were rich in metalloproteases and miR-143 and miR-222, which might be attributed to their enhanced angiogenic potential.

In summary, the cardiomyocyte-released exosomes are integral mediators of their communication with other cells through the inclusion of specific payloads, such as heat shock proteins (Hsp)-20, 60, and 70, which regulate their apoptosis and survival; inflammatory factors IL-6 and TNF-a, which are responsible for cardiac remodeling; GLUT1, GLUT4, and glycolytic enzymes, which are involved in glucose transport and metabolism; and a long list of miRs, which regulate various cellular functions (Yu and Wang 2019).

Given the significant role of EVs as mediators of intercellular communication, various research groups have focused their research on defining a role for cardiomyocyte-derived exosomes released as biomarkers of myocardial injury (Doran and Voora 2016). They have predominantly focused on the analysis of differential exosomal payload changes in response to myocardial injury. Recent advances are directed toward using a liquid biopsy approach, which involves sampling and the analysis of biofluids to detect the presence of exosomes with a specific payload for diagnostic applications (Valencia and Montuenga 2021).

In the cells of the cardiovascular system, such as cardiomyocytes, ECs, smooth muscle cells, and other stem/progenitor cells in the heart, exosomes have a significant role in development, injury, and disease progression (De Freitas et al. 2021). A recently published systematic review has published the commonalities and differences of exosomes and their payloads in the six different types of cardiac-muscle-derived cells (Xu et al. 2019). In this regard, exosomal miR payload may have remarkable diagnostic and prognostic applications and is being exploited as a biomarker (Zamania et al. 2019). Moreover, the number of exosomes and the cell type of their origin significantly contribute to their diagnostic and prognostic value (Zarà et al. 2020; Tian et al. 2021). An example is the quantification of released EVs in response to doxorubicin (DOXO)-induced cardiac injury in an experimental mouse model (Yarana et al. 2018). The authors of the study observed a significant increase in the number of circulating EVs released in response to DOXO-induced injury.

Moreover, the released EVs were rich in liver, heart, and muscle-related isoforms of glycogen phosphorylase (GP), while treatment with cardioprotective agents significantly reduced the EV payload of GPs. Beaumir et al. studied altered EV-miR payload as a potential biomarker of cardiotoxicity in nine client-owned dogs, which received five doses of DOXO therapy for sarcoma (Beaumier et al. 2020). The authors observed significant changes in at least ten EV-derived miRs, among which miR-502 showed a substantial increase while miR-107 and miR-146a recorded a considerable reduction in expression levels.

Deddens et al. have reported spatiotemporal release characteristics of EVs in response to myocardial ischemia (MI)/reperfusion injury and profiled their miR payload in experimental murine and porcine models (Deddens et al. 2016). They observed the release of muscle-specific miRs (myomiRs), i.e., miR-1, miR-133b, miR-208b, and miR-499, in plasma after ischemia-reperfusion injury (miR-499 showed the highest levels in the plasma after MI injury). Their plasma levels were well correlated with cardiac Tn-I release, a well-established biomarker of myocardial injury (Haider and Stimson 1993). Interestingly, both miRs and exosomes appeared

simultaneously in the plasma samples upon cardiac injury, and exosomes were found rich in miR-133b, miR-208b, and miR-499 but not miR-1. A position paper by the working group on the cellular biology of the heart provides an excellent review of literature on the topic for further reading (Sluijter et al. 2018).

Exosomes as a Treatment Option for the Injured Heart

Exosomes derived from various stem/progenitor cells, i.e., ESC-derived cardiovascular progenitors, EPCs, iPSCs, adipose-tissue-derived MSCs, etc., have been extensively investigated for their therapeutic potential for myocardial repair (Barile et al. 2014; Cui et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2018; Kurtzwald-Josefson et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2020; Chung et al. 2020). A recently published systematic review based on the analysis of 24 experimental animal studies revealed that MSC-derived exosome treatment significantly improved cardiac function due to enhanced angiogenic response in the infarcted myocardium, besides reduced cell death (Meng et al. 2021).

Exosome in Experimental Animal Heart Models

The cytoprotective effects of MSC-derived exosomes have been investigated in many recently published experimental animal studies on myocardial damage (Table 1). Liu et al. used exosomes derived from naïve MSCs to rescue ischemiareperfusion injury to neonatal cardiomyocytes in vitro and post intramyocardial injection in an experimental rat heart model of ischemia-reperfusion injury (Liu et al. 2017). The authors observed significantly attenuated myocardial injury. Molecular mechanistic studies in vitro showed internalization of exosomes by the cardiomyocytes and rescued them from H_2O_2 oxidative stress by inducing their autophagy via activation of AMPK/mTOR and Akt/mTOR signaling pathway (Liu et al. 2017). In a similar study, treatment with bone marrow MSC-derived exosomes revealed the repression of PTEN in H2C9 cells via miR-486-5p and the activation of PI3K/Akt signaling, which rescued the cells from hypoxia/reoxygenation injury (Sun et al. 2019). Zhao et al. have reported that MSC-derived exosomes via miR-182 mediated the polarization of M1 macrophages to M2 macrophages both in vitro and in vivo, with toll-like receptor 4 as its downstream target (Zhao et al. 2019).

Besides other biomolecules, MSC-derived exosomes show a differential expression of both the negative, i.e., miR-130, miR-378, and miR-34, and positive, i.e., miR-29 and miR-24, regulators of cardiac function as their miR payload can be altered according to the intended outcome (Shao et al. 2017; Bellayr et al. 2017). Hence, MSCs have been manipulated in vitro to alter their miR payload for mircrining the injured heart using exosomes as carriers of the desired miRs (Haider and Aramini 2020). For example, MSCs have been genetically modified for myomiRs (myocardium-related miRs), i.e., miR-1, miR-133, miR-208, and miR-499, to enhance their cardiac differentiation (Huang et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2013; Neshati et al. 2018). Various research groups have assessed the effect of genetically modified MSC-derived exosomes for miR-125b expression on

	uy or procumical utars au				11 1110 MOTO OF 110 MISCASSOS
Author/year	Source of exosomes	Delivery mode	Model type	Animal	Main findings
Sun et al. (2018)	BM MSC-derived exosomes	I/V injection	Doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy	Mice	Treatment with MSCs reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduced inflammatory cell infiltration as compared to the PBS-treated control group, and significantly reduced macrophage infiltration in the infarcted myocardium, JAK/STAT pathway activation. A significantly reduced infarct size and improved cardiac function were observed
He et al. (2018)	Exosomes derived for mouse BM-derived MSCs overexpressing GATA4	Intramyocardial injection	MI	Mice	BM-derived MSCs were transduced with a lentiviral vector encoding for GATA4 and cultured for exosome collection. Exosomes protected cardiomyocytes in vitro under hypoxic stress, while treating MSCs with exosomes increased cardiac marker expression and protected them against anoxic stress. It significantly increased LVEF and LVFS posttreatment in the infarcted rat heart, with increased blood vessel density, increased cardiac c-kit+ cell homing, and reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis
Xiao et al. (2018)	Human BM-derived MSCs	I/M	MI	Mice	There was a significant reduction in autophagic flux and death in neonatal cardiomyocytes, under hypoxia, cultured with MSC-derived exosomes and p53-Bnip3 signaling. These changes were abolished by exosomal inhibitor GW4869 and the inhibition of miR-125. In vivo treatment in a mice model of MI significantly improved infarct size and cardiac function, which were abolished by exosomes derived from MSCs treated with miR-125
Ma et al. (2018)	Mice BM MSCs- derived exosomes loaded with miR-132	I/M injection	MI by LAD ligation	Mice	Internalization of miR-132-loaded exosomes by the incubated HUVECs with the reversal of its target gene RASA1 significantly increased tube formation. RASA1 was confirmed by luciferase assay as the downstream target of miR-132. Treatment of mice with infarcted hearts led to increased neovascularization in the peri-infarct area and preserved global cardiac function

Table 1 A summary of preclinical trials utilizing hone-marrow-derived MSCs in the small animal models of heart diseases

Zhao et al. (2019)	Mouse BM-derived MSCs		l/R injury	Mice	MSC-derived exosomes were injected I/M immediately after I/ R injury. It suppressed inflammatory response. There was a significant reduction in systemic macrophages. There was a significant modification of M1 macrophages to M2 macrophages in vivo and in vitro with the vital role of miR-182
Bian et al. (2014)	Hypoxia-treated human BM-derived MSCs	W/I	IW	Rat	The study used the therapeutic efficacy of exosomes from hypoxia-treated human BM-derived MSCs. In vitro studies showed rapid internalization of exosomes by cultured HUVECs, which showed increased migration, proliferation, and tubulogenesis. <i>UM</i> injection of exosomes significantly reduced fibrosis and infarct size and increased regional blood flow recovery due to angiogenesis. Overall, there was preserved cardiac function
Yao et al. (2021)	MSC-derived exosomes	Spray formulation	AMI	Mice	Designing, fabrication, and testing of a spray of exosomes in biomaterial – the treatment significantly improved cardiac function, reduced cardiac fibrosis, and promoted endogenous angiomyogenesis in the postinjury heart
Shao et al. (2017)	Rat BM-derived MSCs	WI	M	Rat	The study compared the efficacy of MSCs and their derived exosomes for myocardial repair. Treatment with exosomes significantly reduced myocardial fibrosis and inflammation and recovered cardiac function. In vivo studies showed MSCs and their derived exosomes had similar miRNA profiles. Also, exosome treatment of H2C9 increased their proliferation, protecting them against oxidative stress, and inhibited TGF-b-induced transformation of fibroblasts to myofibroblasts
Ma et al. (2017)	Human umbilical cord- MSCs with or without expressing Akt-derived exosomes	L/V injection after coronary artery ligation	AMI	Rats	Endothelial cell function, i.e., proliferation, migration, and tubulogenesis, increased in vitro upon treatment with Akt- MSC-derived exosomes. Akt-exosomes were rich in PDGF- D. Treatment of MI with Akt-exosome significantly improved cardiac function mediated by myocardial angiogenesis
					(continued)

Table 1 (continut	ed)				
Author/year	Source of exosomes	Delivery mode	Model type	Animal	Main findings
Huang et al. (2019)	Atorvastatin-treated rat BM-derived MSCs & MSC exosomes	I/V delivery of cells & I/M delivery of exosomes	Acute MI	Rat	I/M delivery of BM-derived MSC exosomes without or combined with I/V injection of atorvastatin-treated MSCs on day 1, 3, or 7. Echocardiography showed the most significant improvement in cardiac function, reduced infarct size in the combined treatment group receiving cells on day 3 after AMI. This was assigned to increased neovascularization, higher recruitment of MSCs, and reduced inflammatory response due to exosome treatment, which also reduced apoptosis of the recruited cells
Lv et al. (2019)	Three to five passages Rat BM-MSC-derived exosomes in alginate gel	I/M injection 30 min after ligation	MI by LAD ligation	Rat	I/M injection of MSC-derived exosomes in hydrogel enhanced their retention at the site of injection. There was a significant reduction of cardiomyocyte apoptosis and polarization of macrophages on day 3 after injection. At 4 weeks after delivery, scar thickness increased, heart function improved significantly in the hydrogel-exosome- treated group of animals
Cheng et al. (2020)	MSCs, MSC-exosomes, exosomes from MSCs cultured in GW4869, & MSCs with anti- miR-210	I/M	M	Rat	The study determined the role of miR-210 in cardioprotection by exosomes derived from MSCs through a gain- or loss-of-function approach. MSC-derived exosomes significantly protected cardiomyocytes under hypoxia. Direct <i>UM</i> injection of exosomes significantly reduced infarct size and area of fibrosis, with the significant role of miR-210 as a mediator of therapeutic outcome and AJFM3 as a downstream target
Abbreviations: Ah MI myocardial infa	<i>AI</i> acute myocardial infarurction, <i>MSCs</i> mesenchym	tion, <i>BM</i> bone mar	row, <i>miR</i> microRNA, <i>IM</i> 3 <i>nip3</i> B-cell lymphoma 2	f intramyc-interactii	ocardial, I/V intravenous, LAD left anterior descending artery, ng protein 3, $PDGF-D$ platelet-derived growth factor

ischemia/reperfusion injury in the heart (Chen et al. 2019, 2020; Qiao et al. 2019), which was previously shown to reduce cardiomyocyte apoptosis due to ischemia/ reperfusion injury via tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF)-mediated activation of NF-kb (Xiaohui et al. 2014). The authors observed that intervention with miR-125b carrying exosomes increased cell viability and reduced apoptotic ratio with the concomitant downregulation of Bax and caspase-3 and the upregulation of Bcl2. Although the miR-centric explanation of the beneficial effects has gained vast acceptance among researchers in the field, some researchers have challenged this due to the low copy number of miRs present in the exosomes and attributed the beneficial effects to a protein-centric explanation based on the presence of enzymes, growth factors, etc. (Eisenstein 2020).

Although the data from naïve MSC-derived exosomes have been encouraging, various strategies have been adopted to accentuate the therapeutic benefits of MSC-derived exosomes by manipulating their payload for delivery. This can be achieved by directly loading the payload of interest into the exosomes or alternatively by manipulating the cells from which the exosomes are to be derived. The latter strategy involves the physical, genetic, chemical, or pharmacological manipulation of the cells in culture to enhance the rate of exosome release as well as to modify their payload to achieve the desired benefits. For example, Bian et al. used hypoxia-treated MSC-derived vesicles of 100-nm size for the treatment of experimentally infarcted rat heart (Bian et al. 2014). The intramyocardial injection of vesicles significantly enhanced angiogenic response in the infarcted heart, which led to improved regional blood flow, reduced infarct size, and improved diastolic performance. The data were supported by in vitro studies during which vesicles were internalized by cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), which showed enhanced proliferation, migration, and tubulogenesis. The authors inferred that treatment with MSC-derived vesicles (a mix of exosomes and microvesicles) had cardioprotective effects through enhanced angiogenic response. To further dissect the mechanism, Wang et al. analyzed hypoxia-treated MSC-derived EVs for their payload and observed that the EVs were rich in miR-210 (Wang et al. 2017). The abrogation of miR-210 significantly abrogated EV angiogenic potential in vitro and in vivo in a murine heart model of acute myocardial infarction (AMI). It is pertinent to mention that hypoxamir-210, a member of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1a-dependent miR family (Haider et al. 2009), is overly expressed in hypoxiapreconditioned MSCs, the transplantation of which resulted in an angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted rodent heart post engraftment, besides cytoprotection (Kim et al. 2009, 2012a, b). A summary of the exosome-based treatment strategy for myocardial infarction is provided in a recently published review of literature by Wang et al. (2021).

Alternatively, the genetic manipulation of MSCs for the overexpression of various genes has been shown to significantly alter the payload of their derivative exosomes and hence their therapeutic benefits in treating infarcted myocardium. For example, Liu et al. genetically modified MSCs to overexpress macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) and later cultured the cells for exosome collection (Liu et al. 2020). The treatment of neonatal cardiomyocytes with exosomes significantly reduced their apoptosis as well as mitochondrial fragmentation under serum-/nutrient-deprived culture conditions. The intramyocardial injection of exosomes significantly restored myocardial function in an experimental rat heart model of myocardial infarction and caused significantly reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis in the recipient rat hearts.

Ni et al. genetically modified MSCs with tissue matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor-2 (TIMP-2), a significant determinant of myocardial remodeling after MI (Ni et al. 2019). The genetically modified cells were cultured in vitro for exosome collection, which was then successfully used for treating experimentally infarcted rodent hearts. The intramyocardial injection of exosomes at multiple sites in and around the infarcted zone increased Akt expression, which was related to the highlevel expression of secreted frizzled protein-2 (Sfrp-2) in the TIMP-2 overexpressing MSC-derived exosomes, resulting in reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis, decreased oxidative stress, and remodeling with the involvement of Sfrp-2/Akt signaling. Some of the other transgenes used to modify MSCs to obtain exosomes include Akt, SIRT1, GATA4, CXCR4, SDF-1α, etc. (Ma et al. 2017; Kang et al. 2015; He et al. 2018; Gong et al. 2019; Huang et al. 2020b). Most of these studies have reported a single transgene overexpression strategy in the cells. It would be interesting to characterize the cells for the payload profiling of their derivative exosomes after multitransgene modification to observe how the cells adjust for multitransgene overexpression in terms of exosome payload composition (Konoplyannikov et al. 2013).

The strategy of pharmacologically manipulating MSCs to alter their derived exosomal contents has also been reported by many research groups. The primary advantage of pharmacologically conditioning MSCs is that the drugs used to condition the cells have already been assessed for human use. Huang et al. treated MSCs with atorvastatin, a commonly used lipid-lowering medication with pleiotropic functions, and characterized their derivative exosomes (Huang et al. 2020a). In vitro studies revealed enhanced EC survival, migration, and tubulogenesis, while the intramyocardial injection of exosomes significantly reduced infarct size and enhanced cardiomyocyte protection and angiogenesis. It inhibited the expression of TNF-1 α and IL-1 in the peri-infarct zone in an experimental model of acute MI. The same researchers have also used a combinatorial approach involving concomitant treatment with atorvastatin-preconditioned MSCs and MSC-derived exosomes in a rodent model of AMI (Huang et al. 2019). Apart from atorvastatin, other pharmacological agents used to prime the cells to modify their exosome payload include oxytocin, pioglitazone, doxorubicin, curcumin, t-PA, etc. (Hu et al. 2021; Han et al. 2021).

As an alternative to manipulating the cells, the noncellular manipulation strategy involves isolating the exosomes and their direct loading with the payload molecules of interest to tailor-made them according to their needs. Akin to cellular manipulation, the noncellular strategy also involves loading exosomes with various biomolecules, proteins, miRs, siRNA, etc. This is achieved by multiple well-established protocols based on sonication, electroporation, transfection, etc., while in some cases, the desired compounds are mixed and incubated with exosomes at room temperature (Fu et al. 2020).

The other strategy being developed to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of exosomes is to increase the myocardial-directed/specific delivery of exosomes to treat myocardial infarction (Vandergriff et al. 2018). The conjugation of exosomes with cardiac homing peptides enhanced their homing into the ischemic myocardium after intravenous injection while drastically offsetting uptake by nontarget tissue (Vandergriff et al. 2018).

Exosome in Translational Experimental Studies

Based on the encouraging data from the small experimental animal studies, exosomes derived from different stem/progenitor cells are being extensively studied for their therapeutic promise and reparability in translational animal models (Gallet et al. 2017; Adamiak et al. 2018; Maring et al. 2019; Potz et al. 2018). Most of these studies have reported the therapeutic promise of exosomes as good as the cell source of their derivation. Of these cell types, MSCs are the leading source of exosomes used in large animal experimental models (Spannbauer et al. 2020; Hade et al. 2021).

In most experimental studies, as in small experimental animal studies, intramyocardial delivery has been used as the most preferred route of exosome delivery (Gallet et al. 2017; Collantes et al. 2017; Bayardo et al. 2021) (Table 2). However, given the invasiveness of the procedure, it allows a one-time administration of exosomes as an adjunct to routine coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). As an alternative to a single-dose, one-time administration, researchers are optimizing protocols based on a multidosing strategy scheduled at different time points to achieve a better prognosis (Kisby et al. 2021; Charles et al. 2020). Charles et al. (2020) modified the treatment approach to intravenous bolus delivery of MSC-derived exosomes for 7 consecutive days, twice daily, in a porcine model of myocardial infarction (Charles et al. 2020). The systemic delivery significantly reduced the infacrt size on day 7 and 28 of observation using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

Moreover, there was a significant increase in the indices of left ventricle (LV) function and reduced LV-wall thinning compared to the control group of animals. These data clearly show the importance of early and repeated injections of exosomes as a therapeutic approach in terms of safety and efficacy. In a recent study, Zhu et al. used a minimally invasive approach to deliver MSC-derived exosomes in hyaluronic acid gel via intrapericardial injection. The suspension of exosomes in the gel caused the slow release of exosomes from the injection site (Zhu et al. 2021). This approach helped increase the retention of the delivered exosomes, contributed to their slow release, and resulted in higher uptake by the cardiomyocytes. Moreover, hydrogel-based exosome delivery is translatable to the clinics and provides a safe alternative for repeated intravenous injections.

The biodegradable and porous hydrogels also reduce the amount of exosome dose needed to achieve therapeutic benefits due to the reduced loss of the delivered exosomes from the delivery site. Some of the reported hydrogels used for exosomal

diseases
f heart
models o
ge animal
ı larg
exosomes in
-derived
stem-cell-
using
studies
translational
of
Summary
Table 2

Author/year	Source of exosomes	Delivery Mode	Model type	Animal	Main findings
Bayardo et al. (2021)	iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes and MSC-derived exosomes	ГМ	Acute MI	Porcine	Transendocardial injection of exosomes derived from iPSC- derived cardiomyocytes and MSCs in the preinfarct region – cardiac MRI at 2 and 4 weeks showed significantly improved LVEF and infarct size as compared to the control treated animals. Transcriptome data showed homeostatic preservation of energetics through hibernation of the injured myocardium
Gallet et al. (2017)	CDC-secreted exosomes	L/C or L/M	Acute and chronic MI	Porcine	I/C or I/M delivery of human cardiosphere-derived exosomes (or vehicle as control) 30 min after reperfusion – I/C were ineffective, but I/M delivery preserved LV function. In another set of animals, I/M injection of exosomes 4 weeks after MI led to significantly preserved LVEF and LV volumes as assessed by MRI, decreased scarring, decreased collagne contents and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy with a simultaneous in the blood vessel density
Potz et al. (2018)	Human MSC-derived exosomes	L/M injection	Chronic myocardial ischemia by placement of ameroid ring around LCX	Porcine	Twenty-three Yorkshire pigs divided to receive control treatment $(n = 7)$ and exosome treatment $(n = 10)$ 2 weeks after the development of the animal model – there was a significant increase in blood vessel density in exosome-treated animals as compared to the control. There was a significant increase in phospho-mitogen-activated protein kinase/ mitogen-activated protein kinase ratio and phospho-endothelial nitric oxide synthase ratio in the exosome treatment group
Nguyen et al. (2018)	CDC-derived exosomes	L/M injection	LAD occlusion for 150 min, followed by reperfusion for 4 weeks	Porcine	Two groups of control and exosome treatment by intramyocardial injection of placebo or CDC-derived exosomes at 4 weeks after ischemia/reperfusion injury – viability was improved and cardiac function was preserved in the exosome treatment. More importantly, the ultrastructure of the myocardial tissue was significantly preserved in the exosome treatment group

The animals in the treatment group received intrapericardial injection of exosomes during the early inflammatory phase after myocardial infarction. The authors observed significan changes in biochemical and immunological parameters. The was a significant increase in peripheral blood M2 macrophages. Overall, there was a significant reduction in intraperitoneal and peripheral blood leukocytes. These data show that exosomal treatment has immunomodulatory effect especially on monocyte polarization. Also, exosomal treatment is proangiogenic	 There was a significant reduction in infarct size on days 7 an 28 of observation using MRI, as well as a significant increas in the indices of LV function and reduced LV-wall thinning a compared to the control group of animals 	The purpose of the study was to ascertain the fate of cells. Sizeable exosome retention in the heart was observed by fluorescent imaging. There was little change in blood chemistry indicators. Confocal microscopic images showed uptake of the exosomes by day 3	ine Designing, fabrication, and testing of a spray of exosomes in biomaterial – the treatment significantly improved cardiac function, reduced cardiac fibrosis, and promoted endogenous angiomyogenesis in the postinjury heart	ine Treatment with exosome-embedded pericardial scaffold was placed over the infarcted myocardium integrated with the myocardium by day 6 after placement. There was a significan increase in angiogenesis and reduced macrophage T-cell infiltration in the damaged myocardium. The scaffold generated a vascularized niche for the infiltration of residen stem cells to participate in the repair process and modulated short-term post-ischemic inflammation
Porci	Porci	Porci	Porci	Porci
LAD occlusion for 150 min, followed by reperfusion for 4 weeks	III	Normal heart	AMI	IW
Intrapericardial injection	Twice daily I/V dose for 7 days	Minimally invasive intrapericardial injection	Spray formulation	Direct placement of cardiac patch with exosomes
cDC-derived exosomes	MSC-derived exosomes	MSC-derived exosomes in HA gel	MSC-derived exosomes	Cardiac-adipose- tissue-derived or MSC-derived exosomes in peptide hydrogel
López et al. (2020)	Charles et al. (2020)	Zhu et al. (2021)	Yao et al. (2021)	Monguió-Tortajada et al. (2021)

1021

Author/year	Source of exosomes	Delivery Mode	Model type	Animal	Main findings
Hirai et al. (2020)	Cardiac-adipose-tissue	Intracoronary	Porcine model	Porcine	Pretreatment of the cells to block exosome release abrogated the
	derived exosomes,	injection	of dilated		functional recovery of cell-based therapy. Even when exosomes
	CDCs, or CDCs		cardiomyopathy		were coinjected with these cells, they failed to recover functional
	pretreated to release				benefits. Improved cardiac indices and reduced cardiac fibrosis
	exosomes				were observed in animals treated with naive CDCs.
					CDC-derived exosomes were rich in proangiogenic and
					cardioprotective miRs, especially miR-146a-5p, but treatment
					with isolated exosomes did not recapitulate the beneficial effects.
					The study led to phase I safety assessment in five pediatric
					patients to provide a translational framework for the future use of
					CDCex-derived miRNAs as potential paracrine mediators as a
					therapeutic strategy
Abbreviations: AMI	acute myocardial infarction	, BM bone marrow, 0	CDCs cardiosphere-	-derived co	ells, HA hyaluronic acid, I/C intracoronary, I/M intramyocardial,

Table 2 (continued)

I/V intravenous, iPSCs induced pluripotent stem cells, LAD left anterior descending artery, LCX left circumflex, LVEF Left ventricle ejection fraction, miR microRNA, MI myocardial infarction, MSCs mesenchymal stem cells preparation include shear-thinning hydrogel (STG), PA-GHRPS, nanocomposite, and hydrogel patches (Chen et al. 2021).

Monguió-Tortajada et al. have used a 3D-scaffold-based delivery of exosomes to create a vascularized niche in the infarcted myocardium to attract resident cells for participation in the repair process (Monguió-Tortajada et al. 2021). The authors of the study used cardiac-adipose-tissue-derived MSCs for the purification of exosomes, which significantly reduced proinflammatory cytokine production (i.e., IFN, TNF-1 α , IL12) and promoted angiogenesis. Interestingly, within 6 days after implantation, the engineered scaffold carrying exosomes was found to integrate with the recipient infarcted myocardium efficiently.

Recent advancement in the fast-developing exosome-based therapeutic approach is the site-directed delivery of exosomes, avoiding their spillover to the nontargeted tissues and organs (Barjesteh et al. 2021). The development of inorganic nanoparticle-loaded exosomes is gaining popularity in this regard. Lee et al. have recently reported using exosome-mimetic nanovesicle derived from iron oxide nanoparticle-loaded MSCs (IONP-MSCs) (Lee et al. 2020). These iron-oxidecontaining nanovesicles were magnetically guided to the infarcted porcine heart muscle, which significantly reduced the duration of the inflammatory phase, reduced apoptosis and fibrosis, and increased angiogenesis. Overall, the authors reported a significantly improved functional recovery of the infarcted heart and proposed the potential feasibility and target specificity of the treatment approach, besides alleviating the need for large quantities of exosomes. Moreover, with the encouraging data emanating from the translational studies, GMP compliance is the need of the hour to forward an exosome-based treatment approach to the clinics for therapeutic applications. Hence, attempts are underway to optimize protocols for the large-scale clinical-grade production of exosome preparation for human use in clinical settings (Andriolo et al. 2018).

Exosome in Clinical Studies

Despite encouraging translational data from large animal studies and their advantages and superiority (i.e., safety and feasibility) over mother cells from which have been derived, little progress has been made in their use for myocardial repair and regeneration in clinical settings. As of the writing of this chapter (October 30, 2021), there are **112 clinical trials** listed on www.clinicaltrials.org using exosomes. These trials are primarily about noncardiac conditions, including diabetes types I and II, stroke, chronic kidney disease, macular degeneration, cancer and cancer-associated conditions, COVID-19, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), etc. (Table 3). Moreover, some of the studies are intended to ascertain the diagnostic potential of the exosomes rather than the assessment of their therapeutic value. It is pertinent to mention here that though exosomes have tremendous therapeutic potential, it would be important that exosome preparations are clinical grade to ensure their safety for human applications.

More recently, the FDA has cleared three IND (Investigational New Drug) applications based on PEP[™] (Purified Exosome Preparations) for three different conditions, including wound healing (Phase 1b/2a study; ClinicalTrials.gov

Table 3Clinical trClinicalTrials.gov)	ials assessing the therapeutic and diagnos	stic significance of exos	somes for different pathological co	nditions. (Data have been derived from
NCT identifier	Study title	Disease	Method of intervention	Institution and location of the trial
Therapeutic appli	cations of exosomes in clinical trials			
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03478410	Role of exosomes derived from epicardial fat in atrial fibrillation	Atrial fibrillation	Procedure: epicardial fat biopsy	Sheba Medical Center, Ramat Gan, Israel
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03384433	Allogenic MSC-derived exosome in patients with acute ischemic stroke	Cerebrovascular disorders	Biological: exosome	Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04798716	A pilot clinical study on the inhalation of MSC exosomes treating severe novel coronavirus pneumonia	Coronavirus	Biological: MSC-derived exosomes	Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04270006	Evaluation of adipose-derived stem cell exosomes for the treatment of periodontitis	Periodontitis	Biological: adipose-derived stem cell exosomes	Beni-Suef University, Banī Suwayf, Egypt; Cairo University, Egypt
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT02565264	Effect of plasma-derived exosomes on cutaneous wound healing	Ulcer	Other: plasma-derived exosomes	Department of Dermatology and Plastic Surgery, Faculty of Life Sciences, Kumamoto University, Kumamoto, Japan
Clinical Trials. gov identifier: NCT04849429	Intradiscal injection of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) enriched with exosomes in chronic low back pain	Chronic low back pain, degenerative disk disease	Biological: platelet-rich plasma (PRP) with exosomes	Anupam Hospital, Uttarakhand, India; Mother Cell Spinal Injury and Stem Cell Research, Anupam Hospital, India
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT05060107	Intra-articular injection of MSC-derived exosomes in knee osteoarthritis (ExoOA-1)	Osteoarthritis, knee	Biological: exosomes (EVs)	
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04213248	Effect of UMSC-derived exosomes on dry eye in patients with cGVHD	Dry eye	Drug: umbilical MSC- derived exosomes	Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China

1024

spital, Sahel,	iversity Hospital,	liated with University School hai, China	nasty Samara,	ıma at ngham, Alabama,	ville, Louisville, tates		of Xinhua China	spital, Shanghai,	nghai Jiaotong of Medicine,	(continued)
Sahel Teaching Hos Cairo, Egypt	Tianjin Medical Un Tianjin, China	Ruijin Hospital affi Shanghai Jiaotong of Medicine, Shang	Medical Centre Dyr Russian Federation	University of Alaba Birmingham, Birmi United States	University of Louis Kentucky, United S		Ethics Committee c Hospital, Shanghai,	Shanghai Chest Ho China	Renji Hospital, Sha University School o Shanghai, China	
3iological: MSC exosomes	3iological: MSC-derived	3iological: low-, mild-, and iigh-dosage MSC-Exos dministrated for nasal drip	Drug: EXO 1 inhalation Drug: EXO 2 inhalation Drug: placebo inhalation	Other: sample collection	Procedure: sigmoidoscopy and initial initia initial initial initial initial initial in		Other: exosome	Diagnostic test: ctDNA and exosome-combined detection	Diagnostic test: biomarker letection in different groups	
TIDM	MHs 1	Alzheimer's 1 disease 8	Covid19 SARS-CoV-2 PNEUMONIA COVID-19	Preeclampsia	Irritable bowel 1 disease t		MI	Pulmonary 1 nodules 6	Lupus nephritis	
Effect of microvesicle and exosome therapy on β-cell mass in T1DM	MHs MHs	The safety and efficacy evaluation of allogenic adipose MSC-Exos in patients with Alzheimer's disease	Safety and efficiency of the method of exosome inhalation in COVID-19- associated pneumonia	Exosome cargo from preeclampsia patients	Plant exosomes +/- curcumin to abrogate symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease	tions of exosomes in clinical trials	Differential expression and analysis of peripheral plasma exosome miRNA in patients with MI	Clinical study of ctDNA and exosome-combined detection to identify benign and malignant pulmonary nodules	Urine exosomes to identify biomarkers for LN	
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier:	NCT02138331 ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03437759	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04388982	Clinical Trials. gov identifier: NCT04602442	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04154332	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04879810	Diagnostic applica	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04127591	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04182893	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04894695	

Table 3 (continué	(p;			
NCT identifier	Study title	Disease	Method of intervention	Institution and location of the trial
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04529915	Multicenter clinical research for the early diagnosis of lung cancer using blood-plasma-derived exosome	Lung cancer	Diagnostic test: exosome sampling	Korea University Guro Hospital, Guro-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT04053855	Evaluation of urinary exosome presence from clear cell renal cell carcinoma	Clear cell renal cell carcinoma	Biological: urinary sample	Chu Saint-Etienne, Saint-Étienne, France
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03800121	Study of exosomes in monitoring patients with sarcoma (EXOSARC)	Sarcoma	Biological: blood samples	CHU de Besançon, Besançon, France, Centre Georges François Leclerc, Dijon, France
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT05058768	Omics sequencing of exosomes in body fluids of patients with acute lung injury	Acute lung injury	Diagnostic test: the lung injury, causes and extrapulmonary factors	Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03830619	Serum exosomal long noncoding RNAs as potential biomarkers for lung cancer diagnosis	Lung cancer	Diagnostic test: collecting samples	Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hub
ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03874559	Exosomes in rectal cancer	Rectal cancer	Diagnostic test: blood draw	University of Kansas Medical Center/ Cancer Center, Kansas City, Kansas, USA
Abbreviations: <i>cG</i> plasma, <i>TD1</i> type I	<i>VHD</i> chronic graft versus host disease, <i>IBI</i> diabetes mellitus	O irritable bowel syndr	ome, <i>MHs</i> macular holes, <i>MSCs</i> me	senchymal stem cells, PRP platelet-rich

identifier: NCT04664738), fistulizing Crohn's disease, and acute myocardial infarction (AMI). For AMI, a phase Ib/2a entitled "Safety Evaluation of Intracoronary Infusion of Extracellular Vesicles in Patients With AMI" has been initiated (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT04327635). Led by the principal investigator Dr. Guy Reeder at Mayo Clinic, the interventional study is currently recruiting patients (21–85 years of age) to research the dose-limiting toxicities and maximum tolerated dose of a single dose of PEPTM (during PCI or AMI) at escalating concentrations of EVs with well-defined exclusion and inclusion criteria expected to start from December 2021. The study will involve the evaluation of three different doses of PEPTM (5%, 10%, and 20%) to be administered via intracoronary infusion within 20 min of stent placement during percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) at least 4 h (but no more than 12 h) after the onset of heart attack symptoms. The patients would be followed up for 1 year for evaluation.

Another clinical trial registered on ClinicalTrials.gov involving patients with AMI is for the diagnostic application of exosomes in the peripheral circulation (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT04127591). The study entitled "Differential Expression and Analysis of Peripheral Plasma Exosome miRNA in Patients with Myocardial Infarction" has been designed to study the possible changes in the miR expression profile in peripheral plasma exosomes during an infarction episode. Led by Dr. He from Xinhua Hospital, Shangai Jiao Tong University, China, the study was expected to be completed by December 2021.

Some of the clinical trials for the assessment of the therapeutic efficacy of exosome preparations have been summarized in Table 3 with a summary of the salient results of these studies.

Challenges and Future Perspective

The transfer of cell-free therapy based on a stem-cell-derived exosome approach from bench to bedside as a routine therapeutic and diagnostic modality has immense potential. Unlike their mother cells, although exosomes lack proliferation and differentiation potential, they can promote the mobilization and homing of intrinsic/resident stem/progenitor cells to participate in reparative and regenerative processes. As is evident from the published data, the theranostic assessment of exosomes has reached the clinical phase based on safety and efficacy data from the translational studies (Table 3). However, it still requires optimization, and standardization of the protocols that encompass their isolation, characterization and large scale production in accordance with the GMP requirements to the biological and functional characterization, ensure off-the-shelf availability (i.e., storage under optimal conditions to sustain their efficacy), and safe and efficient use in the humans for theranostic applications. Table 4 summarizes some of the challenges that need to be encountered and overcome to streamline their progress to the clinics. Table 4 Challenges impeding the progress of exosomes for theranostic applications in the clinics

Pharmaceutical challenges

• Optimal source for exosome isolation, i.e., stem/progenitor cells, peripheral blood, plant, food sources, etc.

- · Labor-intensive and time-consuming isolation and purification protocols
- · Flawed production and quality control of GMP-grade exosome preparations on a large scale
- · Variation in size, shape, and inherent payload
- · Maintenance of uniform loading efficiency with the required cargo
- Standardized biophysical, biochemical, and biological characterization of exosome preparations

• Lack of optimized protocols for long-term storage and stability (i.e., time, temperature, freezing, thawing, reconstitution) to ensure off-the-shelf availability

Preadministration challenges

- · Pharmacodynamical features of exosome preparation
- · Optimal dosage form for efficient delivery
- · Mode of delivery
- · Route of administration
- Time of administration
- · Dose of administration
- · Single- or multi-dose administration
- · Site-directed or tissue-targeted administration
- · Off-targeted distribution of delivered exosomes

Postadministration challenges

- · Lack of optimization of pharmacokinetic features
- · Preferential uptake and accumulation in the spleen and liver
- · Biodistribution and bioavailability features
- · Lack of standardized release profile of the exosome payload
- Biological half-life
- · Long-term safety and efficacy concerns
- Toxicological features of exosome preparation
- · Postdelivery visualization and fate determination of delivered exosomes

Cross-References

- ▶ Extracellular Vesicles-Based Cell-Free Therapy for Liver Regeneration
- Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair

References

- Adamiak MG, Cheng S, Bobis-Wozowicz L, Zhao S, Kedracka-Krok A, Samanta E, Karnas YT et al (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived extracellular vesicles are safer and more effective for cardiac repair than iPSCs. Circ Res 122:296–309
- Andriolo G, Provasi E, Lo Cicero V, Brambilla A, Soncin S, Torre T, Milano G et al (2018) Exosomes from human cardiac progenitor cells for therapeutic applications: development of a GMP-grade manufacturing method. Front Physiol 9:1169. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01169
- Barile L, Lionetti V, Cervio E, Matteucci M, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Torre T et al (2014) Extracellular vesicles from human cardiac progenitor cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 103(4):530–541

- Barjesteh T, Mansur S, Bao Y (2021) Inorganic nanoparticle-loaded exosomes for biomedical applications. Molecules 26(4):1135. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26041135
- Bayardo N, O'Brien C, Vaskova E, Lyons J, Tada Y, Yang P (2021) Exosomes from human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes (ICMs) and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) recover heart function in porcine acute myocardial infarction (MI) model. J Am Coll Cardiol 77(18):1017–1011
- Beaumier A, Robinson SR, Robinson N, Lopez KE, Meola DM, Barber LG, Bulmer BJ et al (2020) Extracellular vesicular microRNAs as potential biomarker for early detection of doxorubicininduced cardiotoxicity. J Vet Intern Med 34:1260–1271
- Bellayr IH, Kumar A, Puri RK (2017) MicroRNA expression in bone marrow-derived human multipotent stromal cells. BMC Genomics 18:605
- Bettonville V, Baudoux E, Beguin Y (2021) MSC manufacturing for academic clinical trials: from a clinical-grade to a full GMP-compliant process. Cells 10:1320. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cells10061320
- Bian S, Zhang L, Duan L, Wang X, Min Y, Yu H (2014) Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. J Mol Med 92(4):387–397. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-013-1110-5
- Charles CJ, Li RR, Teresa Y, Ibraham SM, Chai LR, de Kleijn DPV, Kiang LS, Mark RA et al (2020) Systemic mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes reduce myocardial infarct size: characterization with MRI in a porcine model. Front Cardiovasc Med 7:258. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcvm.2020.601990
- Chen CW, Wang LL, Zaman S, Gordon J, Arisi MF, Venkataraman CM, Chung JJ et al (2018) Sustained release of endothelial progenitor cell-derived extracellular vesicles from shearthinning hydrogels improves angiogenesis and promotes function after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 114(7):1029–1040. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy067
- Chen YS, Lin EY, Chiou TW, Harn HJ (2019) Exosomes in clinical trial and their production in compliance with good manufacturing practice. Ci Ji Yi Xue Za Zhi. https://doi.org/10.4103/ tcmj.tcmj_182_19
- Chen Q, Liu Y, Ding X, Li Q, Qiu F, Wang M, Shen Z (2020) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cellsecreted exosomes carrying microRNA-125b protect against myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury via targeting SIRT7. Mol Cell Biochem 465:103–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-019-03671-z
- Chen P, Wang L, Fan X, Ning X, Yu B, Ou C, Chen M (2021) Targeted delivery of extracellular vesicles in heart injury. Theranostics 11(5):2263–2277. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.51571
- Cheng H, Chang S, Xu R et al (2020) Hypoxia-challenged MSC-derived exosomes deliver miR-210 to attenuate post-infarction cardiac apoptosis. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:224. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-020-01737-0
- Chung JJ, Han J, Wang LL, Arisi MF, Zaman S, Gordon J, Li E et al (2020) Delayed delivery of endothelial progenitor cell-derived extracellular vesicles via shear thinning gel improves postinfarct hemodynamics. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 159(5):1825–1835.e2. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jtcvs.2019.06.017
- Collantes M, Pelacho B, Garcia-Velloso M, Gavira J, Abizanda G, Palacios I, Rodriguez-Borlado L et al (2017) Non-invasive in vivo imaging of cardiac stem/progenitor cell biodistribution and retention after intracoronary and intramyocardial delivery in a swine model of chronic ischemia reperfusion injury. J Transl Med 15:56
- Cui X, He Z, Liang Z, Chen Z, Wang H, Zhang J (2017) Exosomes from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect the myocardium against ischemia/reperfusion injury through Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 70:225–231. https://doi.org/10.1097/ FJC.0000000000000507
- de Freitas RCC, Hirata RDC, Hirata MH, Aikawa E (2021) Circulating extracellular vesicles as biomarkers and drug delivery vehicles in cardiovascular diseases. Biomolecules 11:388. https:// doi.org/10.3390/biom11030388
- Deddens JC, Vrijsen KR, Colijn JM, Oerlemans MI, Metz CH, van der Vlist EJ, Nolte-'t Hoen EN et al (2016) Circulating extracellular vesicles contain miRNAs and are released as early biomarkers for cardiac injury. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 9(4):291–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-016-9705-1

- Doran B, Voora D (2016) Circulating extracellular vesicles containing miRNAs may have utility as early biomarkers for cardiac injury. Ann Transl Med 4(Suppl 1):S60. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2016.10.55
- Eisenstein M (2020) Inside the stem-cell pharmaceutical factory. Nature 582:S16–S18. https://doi. org/10.1038/d41586-020-01770-2
- Fu S, Wang Y, Xia X, Jialin C, Zheng JC (2020) Exosome engineering: current progress in cargo loading and targeted delivery. NanoImpact 20:100261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.impact.2020.100261
- Gallet R, Dawkins J, Valle J, Simsolo E, de Couto G, Middleton R, Tseliou E et al (2017) Exosomes secreted by cardiosphere-derived cells reduce scarring, attenuate adverse remodelling, and improve function in acute and chronic porcine myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 38(3): 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw240
- Gong XH, Liu H, Wang SJ, Liang SW, Wang GG (2019) Exosomes derived from SDF1overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells inhibit ischemic myocardial cell apoptosis and promote cardiac endothelial microvascular regeneration in mice with myocardial infarction. J Cell Physiol 234(8):13878–13893. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.28070
- Hade MD, Suire CN, Suo Z (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes: applications in regenerative medicine. Cells 10:1959. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10081959
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0134
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2012) Preconditioning approach in stem cell therapy for the treatment of infarcted heart. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 111:323–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398459-3.00015-0
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. de Gruyter, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110642438
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267. https://doi.org/10.19070/2328-3548-1700040
- Haider HK, Stimson WH (1993) Cardiac troponin-I: a biochemical marker for cardiac cell necrosis. Dis Markers 11:201–211
- Haider HK, Ye L, Jiang S, Law PK, Sim EK (2004) Immunosuppression and xenotransplantation of cells for cardiac repair. Ann Thorac Surg 77(3):1133
- Haider KH, Kim HW, Ashraf M (2009) HIF-1α in stem cell preconditioning: mechanistic role of hypoxia related micro-RNAs. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 138(1):257
- Han Y, Jones TW, Dutta S, Zhu Y, Wang X, Narayanan SP, Fagan SC et al (2021) Overview and update on methods for cargo loading into extracellular vesicles. Processes 9(2):356. https://doi. org/10.3390/pr9020356
- He J-G, Li H-R, Han J-H, Li B-B, Yan D, Li D-Y, Ping Wang P et al (2018) GATA-4-expressing mouse bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction via secreted exosomes. Sci Rep 8(1):9047. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27435-9
- Hirai K, Ousaka D, Fukushima Y, Kondo M, Eitoku T, Shigemitsu Y, Harakenji M, Iwasaki T et al (2020) Cardiosphere-derived exosomal microRNAs for myocardial repair in pediatric dilated cardiomyopathy. Sci Transl Med 12(573). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abb3336
- Hu M, Guo G, Huang Q, Cheng C, Xu R, Li A et al (2018) The harsh microenvironment in infarcted heart accelerates transplanted bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells injury: the role of injured cardiomyocytes-derived exosomes. Cell Death Dis 9:357. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-0392-5
- Hu Y, Tao R, Chen L et al (2021) Exosomes derived from pioglitazone-pretreated MSCs accelerate diabetic wound healing through enhancing angiogenesis. J Nanobiotechnol 19:150. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12951-021-00894-5

- Huang F, Li ML, Fang ZF, Hu XQ, Liu QM, Liu ZJ et al (2013) Overexpression of microRNA-1 improves the efficacy of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation after myocardial infarction. Cardiology 125(1):18–30
- Huang P, Wang L, Li Q, Xu J, Xu J, Xiong Y, Chen G, Qian H, Jin C, Yu Y, Liu J, Qian L, Yang Y (2019) Combinatorial treatment of acute myocardial infarction using stem cells and their derived exosomes resulted in improved heart performance. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):300. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13287-019-1353-3
- Huang P, Wang L, Li Q, Tian X, Xu J, Xu J, Xiong Y et al (2020a) Atorvastatin enhances the therapeutic efficacy of mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes in acute myocardial infarction via up-regulating long non-coding RNA H19. Cardiovasc Res 116(2):353–367. https://doi. org/10.1093/cvr/cvz139
- Huang H, Xu Z, Qi Y et al (2020b) Exosomes from SIRT1-overexpressing ADSCs restore cardiac function by improving angiogenic function of EPCs. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 21:737–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2020.07.007
- Jayaraman S, Gnanasampanthapandian D, Rajasingh J, Palaniyandi K (2021) Stem cell-derived exosomes potential therapeutic roles in cardiovascular diseases. Front Cardiovasc Med 8: 723236. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2021.72323
- Kang K, Ma R, Cai W, Huang W, Paul C, Liang J, Wang Y et al (2015) Exosomes secreted from CXCR4 overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells promote cardioprotection via Akt signaling pathway following myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Int 2015:659890
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/Casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Stem cell based delivery of Hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kisby CK, Shadrin IY, Peng LT, Stalboerger PG, Trabuco EC, Behfar A, Occhino JA (2021) Impact of repeat dosing and mesh exposure chronicity on exosome-induced vaginal tissue regeneration in a porcine mesh exposure model. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg 27(3):195–201. https:// doi.org/10.1097/SPV.00000000001017
- Konoplyannikov M, Haider KH, Lai VK, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2013) Activation of diverse signaling pathways by ex-vivo delivery of multiple cytokines for myocardial repair. Stem Cells Dev 22(2):204–215
- Kurtzwald-Josefson E, Zeevi-Levin N, Rubchevsky V, Bechar Erdman N, Schwartz Rohaker O, Nahum O, Hochhauser E et al (2020) Cardiac fibroblast-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived exosomes as a potential therapeutic mean for heart failure. Int J Mol Sci 21(19):7215. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms21197215
- Lee SY, Ham O, Cha MJ, Song BW, Choi E, Kim IK et al (2013) The promotion of cardiogenic differentiation of hMSCs by targeting epidermal growth factor receptor using microRNA-133a. Biomaterials 34(1):92–99
- Lee JR, Park BW, Kim J, Choo YW, Kim HY, Yoon JK, Kim H et al (2020) Nanovesicles derived from iron oxide nanoparticles-incorporated mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac repair. Sci Adv 6(18):eaaz0952. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz0952
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery, Medicine & life sciences. de Gruyter, Berlin. https://doi.org/10. 1515/9783110493764
- Liao Z, Chen Y, Duan C, Zhu K, Huang R, Zhao H, Hintze M et al (2021) Cardiac telocytes inhibit cardiac microvascular endothelial cell apoptosis through exosomal miRNA-21-5p-targeted cdip1 silencing to improve angiogenesis following myocardial infarction. Theranostics 11(1): 268–291. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.47021

- Liu L, Jin X, Hu CF, Li R, Zhou Z, Shen CX (2017) Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells rescue myocardial Ischaemia/reperfusion injury by inducing cardiomyocyte autophagy via AMPK and Akt pathways. Cell Physiol Biochem 43:52–68. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000480317
- Liu X, Li X, Zhu W, Zhang Y, Hong Y, Liang X, Fan B et al (2020) Exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing MIF enhance myocardial repair. J Cell Physiol 235(11):8010–8022. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.29456
- López E, Blázquez R, Marinaro F, Alvarez V, Blanco V, Baez C, Gonzalez I et al (2020) The intrapericardial delivery of extracellular vesicles from cardiosphere-derived cells stimulates M2 polarization during the acute phase of porcine myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Rev Rep 16: 612–625. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-019-09926-y
- Lv K, Li Q, Zhang L, Wang Y, Zhong Z, Zhao J, Lin X, Wang J, Zhu K, Xiao C et al (2019) Incorporation of small extracellular vesicles in sodium alginate hydrogel as a novel therapeutic strategy for myocardial infarction. Theranostics 9:7403–7416
- Ma J, Zhao Y, Sun L, Sun X, Zhao X, Sun X, Qian H, Xu W, Zhu W (2017) Exosomes derived from Akt-modified human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells improve cardiac regeneration and promote angiogenesis via activating platelet-derived growth factor D. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(1):51–59
- Ma T, Chen Y, Chen Y, Meng Q, Sun J, Shao L, Yu Y, Huang H, Hu Y, Yang Z, Yang J, Shen Z (2018) MicroRNA-132, delivered by mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes, promote angiogenesis in myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Int 9(2018):3290372. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2018/3290372
- Maring JA, Lodder K, Mol E, Verhage V, Wiesmeijer KC, Dingenouts CKE, Moerkamp AT et al (2019) Cardiac progenitor cell-derived extracellular vesicles reduce infarct size and associate with increased cardiovascular cell proliferation. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 12(1):5–17
- Meng H, Cheng W, Wang L, Chen S, Teng Y, Lu Z, Li Y et al (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes in the treatment of myocardial infarction: a systematic review of preclinical in vivo studies. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-021-10168-y
- Monguió-Tortajada M, Prat-Vidal C, Moron-Font M, Clos-Sansalvador M, Calle A, Gastelurrutia P, Cserkoova A et al (2021) Local administration of porcine immunomodulatory, chemotactic and angiogenic extracellular vesicles using engineered cardiac scaffolds for myocardial infarction. Bioact Mater 6(10):3314–3327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat. 2021.02.026
- Neshati V, Mollazadeh S, Fazly-Bazzaz BS, de Vries AAF, Mojarrad M, Naderi-Meshkin H et al (2018) MicroRNA-499a-5p promotes differentiation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells to cardiomyocytes. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 186(1):245–255
- Nguyen CT, Dawkins J, Bi X, Marbán E, Li D (2018) Diffusion tensor cardiac magnetic resonance reveals exosomes from cardiosphere-derived cells preserve myocardial fiber architecture after myocardial infarction. JACC Basic Transl Sci 3(1):97–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacbts. 2017.09.005
- Ni J, Liu X, Yin Y, Zhang P, Xu YW, Liu Z (2019) Exosomes derived from TIMP2-modified human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells enhance the repair effect in rat model with myocardial infarction possibly by the Akt/Sfrp2 pathway. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019:1958941. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1958941
- Noronha N, Mizukami A, Caliári-Oliveira C, Cominal JG, Rocha JLM, Covas DT, Sweich K et al (2019) Priming approaches to improve the efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapies. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1224-y
- Pachler K, Lener T, Streif D, Dunai ZA, Desgeorges A, Feichtner M, Öller M et al (2017) A Good Manufacturing Practice-grade standard protocol for exclusively human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles. Cytotherapy 19(4):458–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt. 2017.01.001
- Potz BA, Scrimgeour LA, Pavlov VI, Sodha NR, Abid MR, Sellke FW (2018) Extracellular vesicle injection improves myocardial function and increases angiogenesis in a swine model of chronic ischemia. J Am Heart Assoc 7(12):e008344. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.117.008344

- Qiao L, Hu S, Liu S, Zhang H, Ma H, Huang K, Li Z, Su T et al (2019) microRNA-21-5p dysregulation in exosomes derived from heart failure patients impairs regenerative potential. J Clin Invest 129(6):2237–2250. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI123135
- Rahimi B, Panahi M, Saraygord-Afshari N, Taheri N, Bilici M, Jafari D, Alizadeh E (2021) The secretome of mesenchymal stem cells and oxidative stress: challenges and opportunities in cellfree regenerative medicine. Mol Biol Rep 48(7):5607–5619. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-021-06360-7
- Ribeiro-Rodrigues TM, Laundos TL, Pereira-Carvalho R, Batista-Almeida D, Pereira R, Coelho-Santos V, Silva AP et al (2017) Exosomes secreted by cardiomyocytes subjected to ischaemia promote cardiac angiogenesis. Cardiovasc Res 113(11):1338–1350. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/ cvx118
- Rodríguez-Fuentes DE, Fernández-Garza LE, Samia-Meza JA, Barrera-Barrera SA, Caplan AI, Barrera-Saldaña HA (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells current clinical applications: a systematic review. Arch Med Res 52(1):93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.08.006
- Sahoo S, Adamiak M, Mathiyalagan P, Kenneweg F, Kafert-Kasting S, Thum T (2021) Therapeutic and diagnostic translation of extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular diseases: roadmap to the clinic. Circulation 143:1426–1449. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120. 049254
- Shao L, Zhang Y, Lan B, Wang J, Zhang Z, Zhang L, Xiao P et al (2017) MiRNA-sequence indicates that mesenchymal stem cells and exosomes have similar mechanism to enhance cardiac repair. Biomed Res Int 2017:4150705. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4150705
- Sluijter JPG, Davidson SM, Boulanger CM, Buzás EI, de Kleijn DPV, Engel FB, Giricz Z et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles in diagnostics and therapy of the ischaemic heart: position paper from the Working Group on Cellular Biology of the Heart of the European Society of Cardiology. Cardiovasc Res 114(1):19–34. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvx211
- Spannbauer A, Mester-Tonczar J, Traxler D, Kastner N, Zlabinger K, Hašimbegović E, Riesenhuber M et al (2020) Large animal models of cell-free cardiac regeneration. Biomolecules 10(10): 1392. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10101392
- Sun X, Shan A, Wei Z, Xu B (2018) Intravenous mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes ameliorate myocardial inflammation in the dilated cardiomyopathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 503(4):2611–2618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.08.012
- Sun XH, Wang X, Zhang Y, Hui J (2019) Exosomes of bone-marrow stromal cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis under ischemic and hypoxic conditions via miR-486-5p targeting the PTEN/PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. Thromb Res 177:23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. thromres.2019.02.002
- Tian C, Yang Y, Bai B, Wang S, Liu M, Sun RC, Yu T et al (2021) Potential of exosomes as diagnostic biomarkers and therapeutic carriers for doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Int J Biol Sci 17(5):1328–1338. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.58786
- Ullah M, Iqbal H, Haneef K, Khan I, Salim A (2021) Chapter 9. Chromatin remodeling and cardiac differentiation of stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer, Cham, pp 251–272
- Valencia K, Montuenga LM (2021) Exosomes in liquid biopsy: the nanometric world in the pursuit of precision oncology. Cancers 13:2147. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13092147
- Vandergriff A, Huang K, Shen D, Hu S, Hensley MT, Caranasos TG, Qian L, Cheng K (2018) Targeting regenerative exosomes to myocardial infarction using cardiac homing peptide. Theranostics 8(7):1869–1878. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.20524
- Vrijsen KR, Maring JA, Chamuleau SA, Verhage V, Mol EA, Deddens JC, Metz CH et al (2016) Exosomes from cardiomyocyte progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells stimulate angiogenesis via EMMPRIN. Adv Healthc Mater 5(19):2555–2565. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm. 201600308
- Wang N, Chen C, Yang D, Liao Q, Luo H, Wang X, Zhou F et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cellsderived extracellular vesicles, via miR-210, improve infarcted cardiac function by promotion of angiogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1863(8):2085–2092. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbadis.2017.02.023

- Wang X, Chen Y, Zhao Z, Meng Q, Yu Y, Sun J, Yang Z et al (2018) Engineered exosomes with ischemic myocardium-targeting peptide for targeted therapy in myocardial infarction. J Am Heart Assoc 7:e008737. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.008737
- Wang X, Tang Y, Liu Z, Yin Y, Li Q, Liu G, Yan B (2021) The application potential and advance of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes in myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Int 2021: 5579904. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5579904
- Wu Q, Wang J, Tan WLW, Jiang Y, Wang S, Li Q, Yu X et al (2020) Extracellular vesicles from human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitor cells promote cardiac infarct healing through reducing cardiomyocyte death and promoting angiogenesis. Cell Death Dis 11(5):354. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2508-y
- Wumei W, Qiang A, Xiaohong W, Yue C, Yanying L, Guo ZS, Xiaohong T (2021) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes: a promising biological tool in nanomedicine. Front Pharmacol 11: 1954. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.590470
- Xiao Y-F, Min J-Y, Morgan JP (2004) Immunosuppression and xenotransplantation of cells for cardiac repair. Ann Thorac Surg 77(2):737–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2003.08.036
- Xiao C, Wang K, Xu Y, Hu H, Zhang N, Wang Y, Zhong Z et al (2018) Transplanted mesenchymal stem cells reduce autophagic flux in infarcted hearts via the exosomal transfer of miR-125b. Circ Res 123:564–578. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312758
- Xiaohui W, Tuanzhu H, Jianghuan Z, Danyang R, Li L, Xia Z, John K et al (2014) MicroRNA-125b protects against myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury via targeting p53-mediated apoptotic signalling and TRAF6. Cardiovasc Res 102(3):385
- Xu M-Y, Ye Z-S, Song X-T, Huang R-C (2019) Differences in the cargos and functions of exosomes derived from six cardiac cell types: a systematic review. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:194. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13287-019-1297-7
- Yang Y, Li Y, Chen X, Cheng X, Liao Y, Yu X (2016) Exosomal transfer of miR-30a between cardiomyocytes regulates autophagy after hypoxia. J Mol Med 94:711–724. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00109-016-1387-2
- Yao J, Huang K, Zhu D, Chen T, Jiang Y, Zhang J, Mi L et al (2021) A minimally invasive exosome spray repairs heart after myocardial infarction. ACS Nano. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano. 1c00628
- Yarana C, Carroll D, Chen J, Chaiswing L, Zhao Y, Noel T, Alstott M et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles released by cardiomyocytes in a doxorubicin-induced cardiac injury mouse model contain protein biomarkers of early cardiac injury. Clin Cancer Res 24(7):1644–1653. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2046
- Young PP, Schäfer R (2015) Cell-based therapies for cardiac disease: a cellular therapist's perspective. Transfusion 55(2):441–451. Quiz 440. https://doi.org/10.1111/ttf.12826
- Yu H, Wang Z (2019) Cardiomyocyte-derived exosomes: biological functions and potential therapeutic implications. Front Physiol 10:1049. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.01049
- Zamania P, Fereydounib N, Butler AE, Gholizadeh J, Sahebkar A (2019) The therapeutic and diagnostic role of exosomes in cardiovascular diseases. Trends Cardiovasc Med 29(6):313–323
- Zarà M, Amadio P, Campodonico J, Sandrini L, Barbieri SS (2020) Exosomes in cardiovasc diseases. Diagnostics 10(11):943. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics10110943
- Zhao J, Li X, Hu J, Chen F, Qiao S, Sun X, Gao L, Xie J, Xu B (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cellderived exosomes attenuate myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury through miR-182-regulated macrophage polarization. Cardiovasc Res 115(7):1205–1216. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/ cvz040
- Zhu D, Li Z, Huang K et al (2021) Minimally invasive delivery of therapeutic agents by hydrogel injection into the pericardial cavity for cardiac repair. Nat Commun 12:1412. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41467-021-21682-7



Current Trends and Future Outlooks of Dental Stem-Cell-Derived Secretome/ **Conditioned Medium in Regenerative** Medicine

35

Israa Ahmed Radwan, Dina Rady, Sara El Moshy, Marwa M. S. Abbass, Khadiga Mostafa Sadek, Aiah A. El-Rashidy, Azza Ezz El-Arab, and Karim M. Fawzy El-Sayed

Contents

Introduction
Stem/Progenitor Cells' Secretome/Conditioned Medium 1041 Extracellular Vesicles (EVs) 1043
Exosomes (EXs) and Microvesicles (MVs) 1043
I. A. Radwan · D. Rady · S. El Moshy · M. M. S. Abbass Oral Biology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt e-mail: esraa.ahmed@dentistry.cu.edu.eg; dina.radi@dentistry.cu.edu.eg; sarah.mahmoud@dentistry.cu.edu.eg; marwa.magdy@dentistry.cu.edu.eg
K. M. Sadek · A. A. El-Rashidy Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
Biomaterials Department, Faculty Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt e-mail: Khadiga.sadek@dentistry.cu.edu.eg; aiah.abdelwahab@dentistry.cu.edu.eg
A. Ezz El-Arab Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
Oral Medicine and Periodontology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt e-mail: azza.ezzelarab@dentistry.cu.edu.eg
K. M. Fawzy El-Sayed (⊠) Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
Oral Medicine and Periodontology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian Albrechts University, Kiel, Germany
© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1035

K. H. Haider (ed.), Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 47
Comparison Between Secretome/CM Derived from DMSCs and MSCs from Other	
Tissue Sources	1044
Secretome/Conditioned Medium (SHED-CM) Derived from Stem Cells from Exfoliated	
Human Deciduous Teeth	1045
SHED-CM in Treating Cardiopulmonary Injuries	1045
SHED-CM in Treating Hepatic Disorders	1045
SHED-CM in Treating Diabetes Mellitus	1046
SHED-CM in Treating Immunological Disorders	1046
SHED-CM in Treating Dental-Pulpal Disorders	1047
SHED-CM in Treating Neural Injuries	1047
Secretome/Conditioned Medium Derived from Dental Pulp Stem Cells	1049
The Osteogenic Potential of DPSCs-CM	1049
DPSCs-CM in the Treatment of Liver Disorders	1049
Potential of DPSCs-CM to Regenerate Dental Tissues	1050
The Role of DPSCs-CM in the Treatment of Neurological Diseases	1051
DPSCs-CM in the Treatment of Autoimmune Diseases	1052
Secretome/Conditioned Medium Derived from Gingival Mesenchymal Stem/	
Progenitor Cells	1052
GMSCs-CM in Treating Neural Disorders	1053
GMSCs-CM in Treating Skin Injuries	1054
GMSCs-CM Osteogenic Potential	1054
Periodontal Ligaments Stem-Cell-Derived Secretome/Conditioned Medium	1055
PDLSCs-CM in the Therapy of Neural Disorders	1056
PDLSCs-CM Osteogenic Potential	1057
PDLSCs-CM in Dental Tissue Regeneration	1057
Secretome/Conditioned Medium Derived from Stem/Progenitor Cells of Apical Papilla	
(SCAP), Dental Follicle Stem/Progenitor Cells (DFSCs), and Tooth Germ	
Progenitor Cells	1057
Conclusions	1058
References	1059

Abstract

Constructing biological substitutes that mimic the structure, architecture, and function of different tissues and organs is the ultimate goal of regenerative medicine. Adult mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells (MSCs) are considered the most widely researched cells in regenerative applications, yet several obstacles that challenge the safe and effective clinical translation of MSC-based therapies still exist. MSCs could partially exert their reparative and regenerative impact through a paracrine effect, mediated by the release of bioactive and trophic factors known as secretome, rather than the actual presence of the engrafted cells in the target site. In addition, MSCs have shown the ability to secrete these various bioactive molecules in their surrounding media (the conditioned media (CM)). MSC-secretome/CM is a set of proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, and trophic factors such as cytokines, chemokines, hormones, growth factors, and extracellular vesicles (EVs). Compared to nondental MSC secretome, dental MSC secretome/CM revealed a higher expression of proliferation-related, metabolic, transcriptional proteins and chemokines, as well as neurotrophins. Dental MSC secretome/CM exhibited experimentally tremendous biological effects, including immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, neuroprotective, osteogenic, angiogenic, and antiapoptotic effects, as well as the modulation of oxidative stresses. These aforementioned biological effects greatly explain the increasing interest in dental MSC secretome/CM as an acellular regenerative strategy for the treatment of various clinical diseases/injuries while alleviating the limitations and safety concerns associated with MSC-based therapies.

Keywords

Cell-free therapy \cdot Conditioned medium \cdot Dental stem cells \cdot Exosomes \cdot Extracellular vesicles

Abbreviations	
3D	Three-dimensional
ABMSCs	Alveolar bone proper-derived stem/progenitor cells
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ASCs	Adipose stem/progenitor cells
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BMMSCs	Bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
BNDF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BSP	Bone sialoprotein
CCK-8	Cell count kit-8
c-JUN/JNK	c-JUN/N-terminal kinase
СМ	Conditioned medium
CSF	Colony-stimulating factor
CXCL	CXC motif ligand
DFSCs	Dental follicle stem/progenitor cells
DMSCs	Dental mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells
DPSCs	Dental pulp stem/progenitor cells
DSPP	Dentin sialophosphoprotein
EAE	Encephalomyelitis
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EMVs	Exosomes/Matrix vesicles
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
EXs	Exosomes
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGF-R	Fibroblast growth factor-receptor
FLT-3	Fms-like tyrosine kinase receptor-3
GCSF	Granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor
GDNF	Glial-cell-line-derived neurotrophic factor
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
GMSCs	Gingival mesenchymal stem cells

HEGF	Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor
HFSCs	Hair follicle stem cells-CM
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HLA-DR	Human leukocyte antigen-DR isotype
HUVECs	Human umbilical vein endothelial cell culture
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	Interleukins
iNOS	Inducible nitric-oxide synthase
KGF	Keratinocyte growth factor
LF	Liver failure
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells
MVs	Microvesicles
NF-Kb	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NGF	Neural growth factor
NT-3	Neurotrophin-3
OCN	Osteocalcin
Oct	Octamer-binding transcription factor
OSM	Oncostatin M
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PDEGF	Platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PDL	Periodontal ligament
PDLSCs	Periodontal ligament stem/progenitor cells
PEI	Polyethyleneimine
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PLA	Poly-(lactide)
RUNX2	Runt-related transcription factor 2
SCAP	Stem/progenitor cells from apical dental papilla
SCF	Stem cell factor
SDF	Stromal-cell-derived factor
SHED	Human shed deciduous teeth
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SOX-2	Sex-determining region Y (SRY)-box 2
sSiglec-9	Soluble sialic-acid-binding Ig-like lectin-9
TFIP11	Tuftelin-interacting protein
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
TRAP	Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase

TUFT1	Tuftelin 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

The restoration, regeneration, or even repair of damaged tissues and organs is the center of interest of many researchers, aiming to improve the quality of life of many patients in need. Regenerative medicine represents a promising treatment modality that, through employing tissue engineering approaches, can enhance and guide the restoration, maintenance, and improvement of different organs and tissue functions (Atala 2008). Regenerative medicine is a multidisciplinary branch of medicine that aims at constructing biological substitutes that can mimic the patient's organs and tissues, thus offering a promising therapeutic modality for several disorders and diseases (Berthiaume et al. 2011; Stoltz et al. 2015). The tissue engineering approach combines biocompatible scaffolds, cells, and biologically active molecules into functional tissues (Berthiaume et al. 2011; Gao and Cui 2016; Guan et al. 2017), while regenerative medicine, being a broader field, includes tissue engineering approaches and research on self-healing, where the body can use its endogenous tissue formation ability, which could occur secondary to induction by foreign biological materials, to form new cells and regenerate tissues and organs (Katari et al. 2015).

Biocompatible scaffolds employed in tissue engineering are commonly fabricated from bioceramics, polymers, or their composites. Bioceramic and bioactive glass scaffolds and their composites are widely employed (Bose et al. 2012; Pilia et al. 2013; Roseti et al. 2017; Chocholata et al. 2019; Kerativitayanan et al. 2017). In addition, various polymeric scaffolds are fabricated from natural, synthetic, or hybrid polymers in addition to elastic polymer networks such as hydrogels (Rezwan et al. 2006; Pina et al. 2015; Qu et al. 2019). Scaffold biomaterials are often combined with bioactive molecules and/or growth factors that can home, stimulate, and promote the differentiation of tissue-resident stem/progenitor cells (Gomes and Reis 2004; Mallick et al. 2015; Chocholata et al. 2019). Decellularization is an innovative scaffold fabrication technique, where the extracellular matrix (ECM) with its organization, vascular network, and architecture are preserved. Decellularization provides a three-dimensional (3D) cell-free scaffold, ready to be seeded with the desired cell type for specific tissue engineering applications (Paduano et al. 2017; Taylor et al. 2017); such 3D scaffold influences cellular behavior and differentiation potential through its structure and biological signaling (He and Callanan 2013). The decellularization process could be achieved by various methods, which employ enzymes, detergents, and salts combined with specific physical stimuli (Scarritt et al. 2015).

Tissue engineering employs several cell types, benefiting from their remarkable properties in each intended application; cells employed include primarily embryonic stem cells, adult stem/progenitor cells, in addition to induced pluripotent stem cells (Egusa et al. 2012, Shah et al. 2016). Adult mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells

(MSCs) are considered the most widely investigated cell population in tissue engineering applications based on their multipotency and differentiation potential into an array of mesodermal origin, upon proper stimulation, as well as its self-renewal capabilities. MSCs reside in many locations in adult tissues, including bone marrow, umbilical cord, synovial fluid, and adipose tissues (Pires et al. 2016; Hsiao et al. 2012; Jones et al. 2004).

The cellular transplantation of MSCs has been proposed as a treatment modality for functional tissue regeneration and for treating various autoimmune and chronic inflammatory diseases. Unfortunately, the clinical translation of stem-cell-based therapies faces various serious ethical and safety issues (Volarevic et al. 2018). Based on the well-documented paracrine hypothesis (Haider and Aziz 2017), a more promising alternative is the utilization of MSCs-conditioned media (CM), as recently MSCs have been characterized by their ability to secrete various bioactive molecules into their surrounding media (Lei and Haider 2017). Such secreted bioactive molecules, known as secretome, can be easily collected and have been remarkable in the enhancement of mesenchymal tissue regeneration (Caplan 2007; Cicconetti et al. 2007). This book chapter aims to review the efficacy of secretome derived from different populations of dental mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells (DMSCs) in the treatment of various diseases and the regeneration of different tissues, emphasizing and displaying the involved content of bioactive molecules.

Dental Stem/Progenitor Cells (DMSCs)

DMSCs are multipotent adult MSCs derived from the ectomesenchymal neural crest cells (Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2013a; Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2013b). DMSCs include stem/progenitor cells extracted from pulpal tissues of human shed deciduous teeth (SHED) (Miura et al. 2003; Stanko et al. 2018), dental pulp stem/progenitor cells (DPSCs) isolated from dental pulpal tissues of permanent teeth (Gronthos et al. 2000), stem/progenitor cells isolated from apical papilla (SCAP) at the apices of immature permanent teeth (Jo et al. 2007; Sonoyama et al. 2006), tooth germ progenitor cells isolated from late bell stage third molar tooth germs (Ikeda et al. 2008), dental follicle stem/progenitor cells (DFSCs) isolated from dental follicle surrounding the third molar (Morsczeck et al. 2005), periodontal ligament stem/ progenitor cells (PDLSCs) isolated from the periodontal ligament (Seo et al. 2004; Jo et al. 2007), alveolar bone proper-derived stem/progenitor cells (ABMSCs) (Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2012a, 2014, 2017), and gingival stem/progenitor cells (GMSCs) isolated from gingival tissues (Palmer and Lubbock 1995; Fawzy-El-Sayed et al. 2016, 2019b; Fawzy El-Sayed and Dorfer 2016; El-Sayed et al. 2015). Stem/progenitor cells were also isolated from inflamed pulp (Alongi et al. 2010; Malekfar et al. 2016) and periapical cysts (Marrelli et al. 2013; Tatullo et al. 2017).

DMSCs are characterized by their multidifferentiation potential into multiple cell lineages, self-renewal ability, potent regenerative potentials, and immunomodulatory properties (Cordeiro et al. 2008; Dominici et al. 2006; Huang et al. 2010; Leucht et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2015; Nakashima and Iohara 2014; Park et al. 2010). In addition to being easily acquired with minimally invasive procedures (Egusa et al. 2012), they were reported to have improved regenerative potential when compared to MSCs derived from other sources. SHED (Isobe et al. 2016), DPSCs (Murakami et al. 2015; Kumar et al. 2017a, b, 2018; Mead et al. 2014; Davies et al. 2015; Isobe et al. 2016), SCAP (Kumar et al. 2017a, b, 2018), and DFSCs (Kumar et al. 2017a, b, 2018) were shown to exhibit higher neurogenic (Isobe et al. 2016; Kumar et al. 2017a), angiogenic (Murakami et al. 2015; Song et al. 2017), osteogenic (Kumar et al. 2018; Davies et al. 2015), hepatogenic (Kumar et al. 2017b), antiapoptotic (Murakami et al. 2015), and pulpal tissue (Murakami et al. 2015) regenerative potential and higher proliferative rates (Abdullah et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2012) in comparison to adipose stem/progenitor cells (ASCs) (Mead et al. 2014; Davies et al. 2015; Murakami et al. 2015) or bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells (BMMSCs) (Isobe et al. 2016; Murakami et al. 2016; Murakami et al. 2017a, b, 2018; Mead et al. 2014; Davies et al. 2016; Murakami et al. 2016; Murakami et al. 2017a, b, 2018; Mead et al. 2014; Davies et al. 2016; Murakami et al. 2015).

DMSCs express common MSC surface markers, including CD105, CD73, and CD90, with a lack of expression of CD45, CD34, CD14, CD11b, CD79a, CD19, and human leukocyte antigen-DR isotype (HLA-DR) (Huang et al. 2009).

Stem/Progenitor Cells' Secretome/Conditioned Medium

Besides the direct cellular activity of stem/progenitor cells following their transplantation, they can exert an indirect paracrine effect to enhance tissue repair and regeneration (Fig. 1) (Ankrum and Karp 2010; Baglio et al. 2012; Maguire 2013; Wollert and Drexler 2010). Such paracrine effect is promoted through the secretion of secretome into their surrounding tissues, which exerts an immunomodulatory effect that supports and enhances tissue regeneration and homeostasis, besides enhancing cell migration and proliferation (Bai et al. 2016; Baraniak and McDevitt 2010; Beer et al. 2017; Katagiri et al. 2013; Madrigal et al. 2014; Li et al. 2014; Ranganath et al. 2012). Based on such effects, cell-free therapy, employing stem/ progenitor cells' secretome, has emerged as an alternative treatment modality to cellbased therapies (Baglio et al. 2012; Ciapetti et al. 2012; Maguire 2013).

As discussed earlier, the secretome is an array of bioactive molecules secreted from living MSCs or shed from their surface into the surrounding environment (Beer et al. 2017).

This can be replicated in vitro through the stimulation of stem/progenitor cells to release secretome and trophic factors into the culture media, producing the stem/ progenitor cells' CM (Baraniak and McDevitt 2010; Phelps et al. 2018). Stem/ progenitor-cell-derived secretome has shown several advantages over cell-based therapy, which involves the ease of secretome preservation, sterilization, packaging, and storage for long time durations without the risk of losing its properties. Secretome dosage can be precisely calculated and the production of large quantities can be readily achieved using cell lines, which save time and cost while avoiding any invasive procedures to the patient (Bermudez et al. 2015, 2016; Osugi et al. 2012; Vizoso et al. 2017).



Fig. 1 Illustrative diagram showing various bioactive molecules detected in secretome derived from dental mesenchymal stem cells

Stem/progenitor cells' secretome is composed of proteins, nucleic acid, lipids, extracellular vesicles (EVs), and trophic factors such as chemokines, cytokines, growth factors, and hormones (Ranganath et al. 2012), and its content varies according to the anatomic location of the stem/progenitor cells (Assoni et al. 2017). Stem/progenitor cells' secretome was demonstrated to harbor an array of growth/differentiation factors, including platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF); vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF); platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor (PDEGF); insulin-like growth factors I, II (IGF-I, IGF-II); epidermal growth factor (EGF); keratinocyte growth factor/fibroblast growth factor-7 (KGF/FGF-7); fibroblast growth factor 2/basic fibroblast growth factor (HGF); heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (BDNF) (Pawitan 2014). In addition to its content of anti-inflammatory cytokines, including transforming growth factor (TGF)-β1 and interleukins (ILs), including IL-6, IL-10, IL-27,

IL-17, and IL-13, and proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-8/CXC motif ligand (CXCL)-8, IL-9, and IL-1β. Granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor (GCSF), granulocyte-macrophage CSF (GM-CSF), and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (Pawitan 2014).

Extracellular Vesicles (EVs)

EVs include exosomes (EXs) (40–100 nm), microvesicles (MVs) (100–1000 nm), and apoptotic bodies (1–5 um), and their content depends on the surrounding environment and may change upon cell stimulation. They are secreted by many cell types, including stem/progenitor cells, and they can be isolated from body fluids, like serum, cerebrospinal fluids, and urine (Beer et al. 2017; Lee et al. 2012; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Skog et al. 2008). Upon reaching their target sites, EVs interact with and attach to the target cell surface, then they either remain attached or become internalized via endocytosis or membrane fusion to the target cell plasma membrane to release their content into the recipient cells or become detached from the cell surface following the completion of their action (Kim et al. 2013; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013).

Exosomes (EXs) and Microvesicles (MVs)

EXs and MVs are membrane-bound particles, secreted for normal homeostasis by many cell types, and their secretion increases upon stimulation (Kim et al. 2013; Valadi et al. 2007). EXs and MVs differ in their origin (biogenesis) and physical characteristics, such as size and surface markers (Lee et al. 2012; Mathivanan et al. 2010; Ratajczak et al. 2006). Their content varies according to the producing cells, comprising proteins and lipids, along with protein-coding messenger ribonucleic acids (mRNAs) and noncoding microRNAs (Gyorgy et al. 2011; Ratajczak et al. 2006; Skog et al. 2008; Valadi et al. 2007; Haider and Aramini 2020). EXs and MVs are essential for intercellular communication, with both exerting paracrine and endocrine actions (Kim et al. 2013). EXs and MVs act as vehicles for the transport of bioactive molecules, such as cytokines and growth factors, from producing cells to adjacent or distant target cells via circulation (Kim et al. 2013; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Valadi et al. 2007). They can also modify target cells' gene expression or protein synthesis through delivering RNA (Nakamura et al. 2015; Tomasoni et al. 2013).

EXs are homogenous and smaller in size than MVs, with a diameter ranging from 40 to 100 nm. They originate in multivesicular bodies, which are discharged through exocytosis via fusion with the cell membrane (Lee et al. 2012; Tkach and Thery 2016). Multivesicular bodies are late endosomes that are formed by the maturation of early endosomes; early endosomes are formed following the fusion of endocytotic vesicles (Pant et al. 2012). EXs are rich in annexins, tetraspanins (CD63, CD81, and CD9), and heat-shock proteins (such as Hsp60, Hsp70, and Hsp90), which are usually used for their identification (Biancone et al. 2012). On the other hand,

MVs (also termed ectosomes) are heterogeneous and larger in size than EXs, with a diameter ranging between 100 and 1000 nm. MVs are produced through direct budding from the cell plasma membrane, and their surface markers originate from the producing cells (Mathivanan et al. 2010; Vishnubhatla et al. 2014). MVs are rich in proteins, lipids, as well as mRNAs and microRNAs (Collino et al. 2010).

Comparison Between Secretome/CM Derived from DMSCs and MSCs from Other Tissue Sources

Proteomic analysis identified a total of 1533 proteins in the CM derived from BMMSCs, ASCs, and DPSCs. Nine hundred ninety-nine proteins were common among all three cell sources, which included 124 proteins identified as secreted extracellular proteins. These secreted extracellular proteins are proposed to modulate MSCs' regenerative potential, such as inflammatory response, angiogenesis, cell migration, ossification, and organ survival. Proteins isolated from BMMSCs-CM were similar to those isolated from ASCs-CM but did not resemble proteins isolated from DPSCs-CM (Tachida et al. 2015). Proteins responsible for immunomodulation, angiogenesis, neuroprotection, chemotaxis, antiapoptosis, and extracellular matrix formation were expressed in both SCAP-CM and BMMSCs-CM. However, there was a significant difference in the expression levels of 151 proteins between the two cell sources, where SCAP-CM showed higher expression of proteins associated with metabolic processes and transcription, along with chemokines and neurotrophins, while expressing lower levels of proteins related to immunomodulation, angiogenesis, adhesion, and extracellular matrix proteins (Yu et al. 2016). One hundred seventy-four cytokines were commonly expressed in SCAP-CM, DFSCs-CM, and DPSCs-CM. Notably, a significantly higher expression of 23 cytokines related to odontoblast differentiation and proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines was evident in DPSCs-CM, while three cytokines responsible for cellular proliferation were significantly highly expressed in DFSCs-CM and SCAP-CM (Joo et al. 2018).

DPSCs-CM showed higher angiogenic, antiapoptotic, and neurite outgrowth; migration activity (Ishizaka et al. 2013; Murakami et al. 2015); and immunomodulation in vitro when compared to BMMSCs-CM, as well as higher vasculogenesis in vivo (Ishizaka et al. 2013). In addition, DPSCs-CM revealed increased migration and angiogenic activity and antiapoptotic effect on mouse embryonic muscle myoblast cells (C2C12); in vitro, this could be based on its high content of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and CXCL14 (Hayashi et al. 2015). A superior nerve regenerative potential was related to DMSCs-CM derived from DPSCs, SCAP, and DFSCs when compared to BMMSCs-CM, evident by the significantly higher colony formation and neurite extension, indicating an enhanced neural differentiation and maturation associated with DMSCs-CM, in comparison to BMMSCs-CM. Such superior neuroregenerative potential can be explained by the significantly higher expression of BDNF, neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) in DMSCs-CM SCAP-CM and DFSCs-CM when compared to BMMSCs-CM. Higher levels of interferon gamma (IFN γ), TGF- β , and GCSF were also expressed in DPSCs-CM when compared to BMMSCs-CM (Kumar et al. 2017a). Similar results were notable upon comparing DPSCs-CM with BMMSCs-CM and ASCs-CM (Mead et al. 2014).

Secretome/Conditioned Medium (SHED-CM) Derived from Stem Cells from Exfoliated Human Deciduous Teeth

SHED obtained from the pulpal tissues of deciduous teeth exhibits a higher proliferation rate as compared to DPSCs and BMMSCs. Microarray analysis revealed that SHED had higher expression levels of FGF, TGF, connective tissue growth factor, NGF, and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-1 (Nakamura et al. 2009). Genes encoding for extracellular, cell surface molecules; cell proliferation; and embryonic tissue development are highly expressed by SHED. Moreover, SHED neurogenic potential might be related to their neural crest embryonic origin. SHED expressed neural cell lineage markers, including nestin, doublecortin, β -tubulin III, NeuN, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), S-100, A2B5, and 2',3'-Cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (Sakai et al. 2012). Moreover, SHED releases an array of secretomes with multiple biological therapeutic activities.

SHED-CM in Treating Cardiopulmonary Injuries

In vitro, SHED-CM promoted the differentiation of mouse bone-marrow-derived macrophages into M2 macrophages, which expressed Arginase1, Ym-1, and CD206. These findings were further verified in vivo (Hirata et al. 2016; Matsushita et al. 2017; Wakayama et al. 2015) in a bleomycin-induced acute lung injury mice model; the intravenous administration of SHED-CM reduced lung fibrosis and enhanced survival rates. These therapeutic effects could be a result of the reduced expression of proinflammatory cytokines and fibrotic markers, such as α -smooth muscle actin, thus altering proinflammatory M1 into an anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype (Wakayama et al. 2015; Matsubara et al. 2015; Yamagata et al. 2013). Moreover, SHED-CM revealed cardioprotective benefits in ischemic heart diseases by at least two mechanisms, including the suppression of inflammatory responses in myocardial cells and the reduction of cardiomycyte death. Interestingly, SHED-CM showed superior effects compared to those of BMMSC-CM and ASC-CM; this may be due to the significantly higher expression of HGF in SHED-CM as compared to the other two cell sources (Yamaguchi et al. 2015).

SHED-CM in Treating Hepatic Disorders

Single intravenous administration of SHED-CM in a liver failure (LF) mice model revealed a significant therapeutic effect that was not detected in fibroblast-CM

(Hirata et al. 2016; Matsushita et al. 2017). In vitro, SHED-CM suppressed chronic inflammation and induced tissue repair, where tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), IL-1B, and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) were strongly suppressed. In addition, SHED-CM induced hepatic stellate cells' apoptosis and protected hepatocytes from apoptosis by suppressing carbon-tetrachloride-induced apoptosis in hepatocytes (Hirata et al. 2016). SHED-CM attenuated the LF-induced proinflammatory response and generated an anti-inflammatory environment, where SHED-CM stimulated M2 cell markers (CD206 and Arginase1), anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10 and TGF-B1), angiogenic factor (VEGF) and antiapoptotic factor (stem cell factor (SCF) and IGF-1) expression, and hepatocyte proliferation. Furthermore, SHED upregulated the expressions of lysophosphatidylcholine activation genes, including HGF, TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK), FGF-7, and Wnt3a (Matsushita et al. 2017). These data propose that the active biomolecules within the SHED-CM and the endogenous-tissue-repairing factors activated by SHED-CM administration could function together to markedly improve liver injury and survival rates (Hirata et al. 2016, Matsushita et al. 2017).

SHED-CM in Treating Diabetes Mellitus

In a streptozotocin-induced diabetes model in rats, the intravenous administration of human SHED-CM and human BMMSCs-CM resulted in pancreatic β -cell regeneration, with elevated insulin secretion in the SHED-CM group. This antidiabetic effect of SHED-CM was found to be superior as compared to BMMSCs-CM (Izumoto-Akita et al. 2015).

SHED-CM in Treating Immunological Disorders

In a rheumatoid arthritis rat model, SHED-CM or BMMSCs-CM intravenous injection markedly improved arthritis symptoms and decreased joint destruction, particularly in the SHED-CM group. This therapeutic efficacy was attributed to the anti-inflammatory capacity of SHED-CM associated with the induction of M2 macrophage polarization and the inhibition of osteoclastogenesis (Ishikawa et al. 2016). Moreover, SHED-EXs were effective in suppressing inflammation and maintaining anabolism homeostasis in temporomandibular joint chondrocytes' cell culture treated with proinflammatory factors (Luo et al. 2019).

Similarly, paracrine factors such as chemokines, cytokines and growth factors secreted by the SHED-CM may play a key role in regulating human hair growth. Human SHED-CM showed promising results in the treatment of alopecia. In an in vivo study, the dorsal area of mice was shaved and was injected subcutaneously with human SHED-CM or human hair follicle stem cells-CM (HFSCs-CM). SHED-CM resulted in a faster stimulation of hair growth compared to HFSCs-CM through upregulating positive hair growth regulatory factors, stromal-cell-derived factor (SDF)-1, hair growth factor, PDGF-BB, and VEGF-A (Gunawardena et al. 2019).

SHED-CM in Treating Dental-Pulpal Disorders

Cytokines commonly expressed by SHED-CM are involved in various mechanisms, including the regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex and vascularization. The angiogenic effect of SHED-CM was studied in vitro on human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) culture and in vivo on rats' dental pulp. An inductive effect was observed in HUVEC cultures, indicating that SHED-CM has a pro-angiogenic influence, suggesting that these cells can enhance the vascularization of regenerated dental tissues. Endodontic treatment was performed on rats' first molar tooth, followed by overinstrumentation to allow the blood clot formation to fill the root canal, then SHED-CM was applied on top of the blood clot. Vascular connective tissues were induced inside the root canal (de Cara et al. 2019). SHED-CM contained higher levels of angiogenic factors compared to bone-marrow-derived MSC-CM (Konala et al. 2020).

SHED-CM in Treating Neural Injuries

SHED-CM contains multiple cytokines and chemokines that have the ability to improve peripheral nerve regeneration and functional recovery (Sugimura-Wakayama et al. 2015). SHED-CM contains MCP-1 and secretes ectodomain of sialic-acid-binding Ig-like lectin-9 (sSiglec-9) crucial for SHED-CM-mediated functional recovery following severe peripheral nerve injury. This unique combination of neurotrophic factors enhances the neurite extension of the peripheral nerve and promotes the formation of a Schwann cell bridge and axonal extension (Kano et al. 2017). In vivo studies also showed promising results for SHED-CM in neural regeneration (Kano et al. 2017; Sugimura-Wakayama et al. 2015). SHED-CM administration in a rat nerve gap model was successfully able to induce axon regeneration and remyelination by enhancing the viability and neuritogenesis of neurons of dorsal root ganglia (Kano et al. 2017; Sugimura-Wakayama et al. 2015). MCP-1/sSiglec-9 is considered a set of tissue-repairing M2 macrophage inducers that enhance nerve regeneration by M2 macrophage polarization. This antagonizes the proinflammatory M1 conditions associated with a neural insult (Kano et al. 2017; Matsubara et al. 2015), thereby suppressing inflammatory mediators IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and iNOS and increasing the expression of anti-inflammatory markers arginine-1 and IL-10 (Kano et al. 2017). In a perinatal hypoxia-ischemia-induced brain injury mice model, intracerebral administration of SHED-CM was able to generate an anti-inflammatory microenvironment, which reduced tissue loss and resulted in significant recovery in neurological function, survival rate, and neuropathological score (Yamagata et al. 2013). In a further investigation, SHED-EXs enhanced the recovery of focal cerebral injury in rats (Inoue et al. 2013), improved rat motor functional recovery, and reduced cortical lesion in a traumatic brain injury rat model (Li et al. 2017). SHED-EXs were not only able to inhibit the activity of the M1 phenotype of microglia but also augmented the activity of the M2 phenotype of microglia, thereby suppressing neuroinflammation by anti-inflammatory cytokines (Inoue et al. 2013; Li et al. 2017). Moreover, SHED-CM enhanced ischemic brain injury by promoting the migration and differentiation of endogenous neuronal progenitor cells and boosted vasculogenesis (Inoue et al. 2013).

Both SHED-CM and DPSCs-CM significantly promoted the regeneration of transected axons via inhibiting multiple axon growth inhibitor signals directly or by paracrine mechanisms, as compared to fibroblast-CM or BMMSCs-CM. In vitro, SHED-CM revealed higher levels of MCP-1 and sSiglec-9 compared with BMMSCs-CM (Sakai et al. 2012). Correspondingly, in vivo, the neuroprotective effects of SHED-CM were confirmed (Asadi-Golshan et al. 2018; Matsubara et al. 2015; Sakai et al. 2012). SHED-CM improved markedly the nerves' functional recovery as compared with BMMSCs-CM (Matsubara et al. 2015, Sakai et al. 2012). The therapeutic effect of SHED-CM was largely attributed to the immuno-regulatory functions that activate anti-inflammatory M2-like macrophages and suppress proinflammatory mediators (Matsubara et al. 2015).

Furthermore, SHED-CM converted the proinflammatory brain/spinal cord environment induced by amyloid plaques into an anti-inflammatory state and induced neuroregenerative effects by altering microglial phenotype, as shown in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Mita et al. 2015) and a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (MS) (Shimojima et al. 2016). SHED-CM administration showed a cognitive function improvement superior to BMMSC-CM and fibroblast-CM despite the similar suppression of the proinflammatory cytokines and the expression of oxidative-nitrosative stress markers attained by SHED-, BMMSC-, and fibroblast-CM. However, SHED-CM uniquely activated M2-type microglia, leading to the expression of the mRNA encoding BDNF, a neurotrophin that plays a key role in synaptic remodeling associated with memory formation. Similar neuropathological recovery was observed in a previous study (Yamagata et al. 2013).

SHED-CM improved functional behavior in an in vitro model of Parkinson's disease. SHED-CM was able to differentiate into dopaminergic neurons. The therapeutic success was attributed to the induction of neurite outgrowth, neuronal survival, together with the repression of 6-hydroxydopamine-induced cell death (Fujii et al. 2015). Similarly, SHED-CM showed a positive outcome in a Parkinson's disease rat model (Jarmalaviciute et al. 2015; Narbute et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2020).

The systemic administration of SHED-CM in treating superior laryngeal nerve lesion rat model protected the swallowing reflex, reduced pharyngeal residue, and promoted functional recovery via two mechanisms (macrophage polarization and vascularization) (Tsuruta et al. 2018).

Collectively, SHED-CM has neural regenerative potential ascribed to the release of multiple growth factors, including NGF, BDNF, NT-3, ciliary neurotrophic factor, and glial-cell-line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Sugimura-Wakayama et al. 2015). SHED-CM can stimulate angiogenesis by VEGF expression (de Cara et al. 2019) as well as inhibit iNOS generation (Mita et al. 2015). Taken together, the previous results validated the potential of SHED-CM/EXs as a candidate for neural treatment and the notion that SHED-CM may act through several mechanisms to promote neural functional recovery.

Secretome/Conditioned Medium Derived from Dental Pulp Stem Cells

DPSCs possess a remarkable differentiation potential into ectodermal, mesodermal, and endodermal cell lineages (Yamada et al. 2019a). DPSCs express neural-stemcell-like markers, besides MSCs markers, like GFAP and nestin, which contribute to the amplification of their self-renewal abilities as well as multipotency (Geng et al. 2017). Moreover, stemness-related markers, like Nanog, octamer-binding transcription factor (Oct)-3/4, and sex-determining region Y (SRY)-box 2 (SOX-2) were also expressed by DPSCs (Yan et al. 2010). The remarkable immunomodulatory properties of DPSCs could be attributed to their ability to express IL-6, IL-8, and TGF- β , which play a role in T-cell functional inhibition (Bianco et al. 2016; Raiput et al. 2014). DPSCs secrete a variety of neurotrophic factors, such as NGF (Zhang et al. 2017b), GDNF (Chang et al. 2014), and BDNF (Kanafi et al. 2014), as well as different angiogenic factors, like VEGF, FGF, and PDGF, with a stimulating increase in their expression following injury (Tran-Hung et al. 2008). Additionally, DPSCs secrete angiogenin, CSF, angiopoietin-1, IL-8, IGF-binding protein-3, and endothelin-1 (Hilkens et al. 2014; Ratajczak et al. 2016; Bronckaers et al. 2013). Despite the fact that DPSCs and SHED are derived from dental-pulpal tissues and have several similar properties, SHED has a higher proliferation rate but a lower osteogenic potential than DPSCs (Yazid et al. 2018). DPSCs, on the other hand, have a higher proliferative capacity and telomerase activity than PDLSCs (Hakki et al. 2015). The previously mentioned characteristics of DPSCs mark their uniqueness, which is further reflected in their secreted secretome/CM.

The Osteogenic Potential of DPSCs-CM

DPSCs osteogenic differentiation may be affected by the surrounding microenvironment (Ma et al. 2009). DPSCs cultivated with DPSCs-CM have enhanced mineralization potential (Paschalidis et al. 2014). The regenerative potential of DPSCs-CM was evaluated in an osteogenic distraction mice model under different culture conditions (Fujio et al. 2017). DPSCs-CM improved the expression of osteogenic and chondrogenic markers, especially under hypoxic conditions. These findings indicate that the paracrine effects of DPSCs upregulate the angiogenic factors (VEGF-A and angiopoietin-2) (Fujio et al. 2017) as well as increase mineralization potential through the expression of TGF- β l (Paschalidis et al. 2014), which triggers new bone formation and improves osteoblastic/chondrogenic markers (Osterix, SOX-5, factor VIII) (Fujio et al. 2017).

DPSCs-CM in the Treatment of Liver Disorders

One of the promising regenerative applications of DPSCs-CM is the treatment of liver disorders. DPSCs-CM interestingly demonstrated the existence of a variety of

liver lineage proteins, including hepatocyte nuclear factor, oncostatin M (OSM), growth-arrest-specific protein 6, and hepatocyte growth factor receptor in vitro (Kumar et al. 2017b), thereby promoting liver repair and regeneration.

Potential of DPSCs-CM to Regenerate Dental Tissues

EXs derived from DPSCs revealed an effective stimulatory effect on odontoblastic differentiation, in vitro and in vivo, where it prompted the regeneration of dentalpulp-like tissue in an ectopic tooth transplantation model (Huang et al. 2016). Moreover, DPSCs-CM improved the proliferation as well as the migration of fibroblasts (Nakayama et al. 2017) and myoblasts (Kawamura et al. 2016) in vitro. This improvement was confirmed in vivo, through injecting DPSCs-CM into a root and transplanting subcutaneously in an immunodeficiency mice model (Hayashi et al. 2015). DPSCs-CM possesses powerful trophic factors, such as CXCL14 and MCP1, which promoted migration and angiogenesis. Furthermore, combining G-CSF with CM from mobilized DPSCs enhanced the proliferation and migration effects of DPSCs-CM (Nakayama et al. 2017). The high concentrations of BMP or NT-3 in DPSCs-CM (Joo et al. 2018) may be the cause of improving the odontoblastic differentiation of DPSCs in vitro (Murakami et al. 2015). Despite this outstanding potential, DPSCs-CM failed to induce odontoblastic differentiation in cells of nondental origin, like myoblast (Kawamura et al. 2016).

A wide variety of pulp tissue markers were expressed in the tissues regenerated by DPSCs-CM, such as thyrotropin-releasing hormone-degrading enzyme, syndecan-3, G-CSF, CXCL14, neuropeptide Y, BDNF, IL-1 α , IL-6, IL-8, IL-16, MCP1 (Hayashi et al. 2015), BMP2, BMP9, PDGF, TGF- β , dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP), and runt-related transcription factor 2 (RUNX2) (Huang et al. 2016), in addition to periodontal tissue markers like periostin and periodontal-ligament-associated protein and enamelysin (Kawamura et al. 2016).

Several studies have been conducted to compare the regenerative capacity of DPSCs-CM with other cellular sources. An ectopic tooth model was used to compare BMMSCs-CM, ASCs-CM, and DPSCs-CM in regenerating dental pulp tissues. Compared to other cell-derived CM, DPSC-CM had the highest volume of regenerated pulp tissues. DPSCs-CM has shown angiogenesis in the in vitro dental pulp disease model of HUVEC (Kawamura et al. 2016; Murakami et al. 2015) and embryonic myoblasts (Hayashi et al. 2015) and had antiapoptotic activity in the mouse embryonic fibroblast cell line (NIH3T3) (Ishizaka et al. 2013).

Compared to BMMSCs-CM and ASCs-CM, DPSCs-CM promoted the formation of new blood vessels (Hayashi et al. 2015). Although DPSCs-CM had no significant influence on the proliferation of endothelial cells, it enhanced their migration in vitro (Bronckaers et al. 2013). Furthermore, DPSCs-CM inhibited apoptosis in HUVECs (Iohara et al. 2008) as well as fibroblast cell lines by modulating caspase-3 activity (Nakayama et al. 2017). Several angiogenic factors have been found in DPSCs-CM, including VEGF, IL-8, IGF-binding protein-3, endostatin (Bronckaers et al. 2013), chemokine CXCL 14 (Hayashi et al. 2015), and MCP-1 (Bronckaers et al. 2013; Hayashi et al. 2015). The aforementioned research highlights DPSCs-CM as a promising new treatment tool for the regeneration of dental tissue through different mechanisms of action, including the promotion of odontoblastic differentiation, antiapoptotic factors, and angiogenesis. Exploring the therapeutic potential of DPSCs-CM in the regeneration of nondental tissues will bring enormous benefits in this era.

The Role of DPSCs-CM in the Treatment of Neurological Diseases

DPSCs-CM showed great potential in neuron regeneration, where it demonstrated the ability to induce recruitment and neuronal maturation, as well as the neuritogenesis of human neuroblastoma cells in vitro (Gervois et al. 2017), along with neurite outgrowth (Ishizaka et al. 2013). The regenerative power of DPSCs-CM, BMMSCs-CM, and ASCs-CM was compared in an in vitro retinal nerve injury model. DPSCs-CM exhibited neuroprotective effects and neurogenesis due to increased levels of different neurotrophic factors (including NGF, BDNF, and VEGF) (Mead et al. 2014). In addition, in an in vitro model of nerve injury, DPSCs-CM promoted the proliferation, differentiation, and migration of Schwann cells and inhibited their apoptosis and increased angiogenesis (Yamamoto et al. 2016).

Additionally, DPSCs-CM displayed a neuroprotective effect in an in vitro model of AD. Its effect was due to the upregulation in the expression of B-cell lymphoma 2 and the downregulation in apoptosis regulator Bax in neuroblastoma cells. In comparison to BMMSCs-CM or ASCs-CM, DPSCs-CM contains a high concentration of fractalkine (antiapoptotic factor), VEGF, and neprilysin, which degrade amyloid peptide (one of the most common misfolded proteins found in AD), besides Fms-like tyrosine kinase receptor-3 (FLT-3), GM-CSF, RANTES, and MCP-1, which makes it a promising candidate for the treatment of AD (Ahmed et al. 2016). DPSCs-CM not only provided a neuroprotective effect but also increased the number and total length of HUVEC tubular structures in an in vitro ischemia model (Song et al. 2017). The systemic administration of DPSCs-CM in a mutant superoxide dismutase mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) showed a promising therapeutic potential (Wang et al. 2019). DPSCs-CM enhanced the neuromuscular junction innervation and survival of motor neurons in treating ALS through various trophic factors and cytokines (Wang et al. 2019). In the same way, when DPSCs-CM was injected into the unilateral hind limb skeletal muscles of diabetic polyneuropathy rats, it demonstrated neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory, and angiogenic effects (Makino et al. 2019). Moreover, in a rat aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage model, the intrathecal administration of DPSCs-CM demonstrated enhancement in cognitive and motor impairments, reduction of neuroinflammation, and microcirculation. Different factors contributed to these significant enhancements, including tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase (TIMP)-1, TIMP-2, IGF-1, and TGF-β (Chen et al. 2019). Recently, the effect of various manufacturing features, such as the preconditioning of DPSCs with certain

factors, the period of conditioning, and the storage of CM on the functional activity of DPSCs-CM on neurite length, was evaluated (Chouaib et al. 2021). The results revealed that conditioning DPSCs for 48 h is optimal for the functional activity of DPSCs-CM, DPSCs-CM significantly improved neurites' outgrowth of sensory neurons in a concentration-dependent manner, and the frozen storage of DPSCs-CM did not affect the experimental results. Furthermore, the authors demonstrated that conditioning DPSCs with B-27 supplement had a significant impact on the influence of their CM in enhancing neurite outgrowth in primary sensory neurons by altering its growth factors' composition.

Taken together, these data indicate that DPSCs-CM has many neuroprotective and angiogenic factors, such as NGF, BDNF, and VEGF (Mead et al. 2014), RANTES, fractalkine, FLT-3, GM-CSF, MCP-1, and neprilysin (Ahmed et al. 2016), in addition to IGF-1, TGF- β , TIMP-1, and TIMP -2 (Chen et al. 2019). They also provide evidence that DPSCs-CM has a promising ability to induce tissue regeneration in many neurological diseases.

DPSCs-CM in the Treatment of Autoimmune Diseases

Owing to its immunoregulatory properties and anti-inflammatory effects, DPSCs-CM holds a promising potential in the treatment of autoimmune diseases superior to BMMSCs-CM (Yamada et al. 2019b). DPSCs-CM possessed the ability to inhibit allogeneic peripheral blood mononuclear proliferation at different time points (48 and 72 hours after incubation) (Hossein-Khannazer et al. 2020). Recently, DPSCs-CM demonstrated great potential in treating Sjögren's syndrome (a chronic inflammatory autoimmune disease associated with hyposalivation) in a mouse model (Ogata et al. 2021). DPSCs-CM contained extra anti-inflammatory cytokines as compared to BMMSCs-CM. This was reflected histologically by the lesser inflammation in the submandibular salivary gland, in addition to increased salivary flow rate. DPSCs-CM modulated the submandibular salivary gland local inflammatory microenvironment by altering the expression of inflammatory cytokines. The expression of IL-10 as well as TGF- β was increased, while the expression of II-4, II-6, and II-17a was decreased. Furthermore, DPSCs-CM increased the percentage of regulatory T cells while decreasing the percentage of T-helper 17 cells (Ogata et al. 2021). The previously mentioned anti-inflammatory combined with antiproliferative properties of DPSCs-CM makes it a novel cell-free therapy for treating different autoimmune diseases.

Secretome/Conditioned Medium Derived from Gingival Mesenchymal Stem/Progenitor Cells

GMSCs harvested from the gingival connective tissues are MSC subpopulations that possess remarkable regenerative properties (El-Sayed et al. 2015; Jin et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2012; Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2012b, 2015). GMSCs are abundant, homogenous, easily obtainable; preserve normal karyotyping; and maintain stable

morphology with passaging. GMSCs have a fast proliferation rate, with remarkable multidirectional differentiation potential and immune regulatory properties (Fawzy El-Sayed and Dorfer 2016). GMSCs could release an array of secretomes with various biological therapeutic actions (Fawzy El-Sayed and Dorfer 2016; Zhang et al. 2012; Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2018, 2019a; Zhang et al. 2017a; Mekhemar et al. 2018). GMSCs were found to express CD13, CD38, CD44, CD54, CD117, CD144, CD146, CD166, Sca-1, STRO-1, SSEA-4, Oct-3/4, Oct-4A, Nanog, nestin, integrin β 1, and vimentin, in addition to MSC surface markers (El-Sayed et al. 2015; Jin et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2013).

GMSCs-CM in Treating Neural Disorders

Various literature pieces suggested that GMSC-derived EXs, EVs, or CM could be an efficient therapeutic approach (Mao et al. 2019; Rao et al. 2019) in managing motor neuron injury (Rajan et al. 2017a), peripheral nerve injury (Mao et al. 2019, Rao et al. 2019), as well as bone (Diomede et al. 2018c) and skin defects (Shi et al. 2017) by increasing the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10), antiapoptotic cytokine (Bcl2) (Rajan et al. 2017a), and neural-growth-associated markers (BDGF, NT3, neurofilament 200, S100) (Mao et al. 2019) (Rao et al. 2019) (Rajan et al. 2017a) (Zhang et al. 2019), as well as by enhancing the proliferation and regeneration of nerve cells detected by proliferating cell nuclear antigens (PCNAs) (Mao et al. 2019), cell count kit-8 (CCK-8) (Rao et al. 2019), and Shh (Zhang et al. 2017a), IL-17, IFN- γ) (Rajan et al. 2016; Giacoppo et al. 2017) and proapoptotic (Bax and cleaved caspase-3) and oxidative stress markers (superoxide dismutase (SOD)-1, iNOS, Cox-2) (Rajan et al. 2017a).

Upon uploading GMSCs-EXs on biodegradable chitin conduits, an enhanced in vitro growth of DRG axon and Schwann cell proliferation, besides a significant increase in the thickness of nerve fibers and myelin sheath and recovery of the muscle and neuromuscular function in rats of sciatic nerve defect model, were revealed (Rao et al. 2019). Similar regenerative results were attained upon using GMSCs-derived EVs in treating crush-injured sciatic nerve in mice. Moreover, GMSCs-EVs robustly blocked the activity of c-JUN/N-terminal kinase (c-JUN/ JNK), which abolishes the upregulation of Schwann cell repair genes concomitantly with upregulated the expression of c-JUN, Notch1, GFAP, and SOX-2 genes associated with Schwann cell repair (Mao et al. 2019). The neuroprotective capability of human GMSCs-CM on scratch-injured motor-neuron-like NSC-34 cells was evolved by suppressing apoptotic markers (cleaved caspase-3 and Bax) and oxidative stress markers (SOD-1 and iNOS) while upregulating the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and neurotrophic factors (BDNF and NT3), in addition to NGF and TGF- β (Rajan et al. 2017a).

GMSCs-EXs proved to regenerate tongue taste buds and papillae after being transplanted in critical-sized tongue defects in rats with an increased expression of $CK14^+$; $CK8^+$; and types I, II, and III taste bud cell markers (NTPDase 2, PLC- $\beta2$,

and AADC, respectively), as well as nerve fiber markers (UCH-L1/PGP9.5 and P2X₃ receptor) and two trophic factors (BDNF and Shh), which are involved in the proliferation and differentiation of basal epithelial progenitor cells into taste bud cells and the reconstruction of submucosal connective tissues (Zhang et al. 2019). The rapid wound healing rate in the gingiva was primarily attributed to the GMSCs and their unique secretory mechanism through the Fas/Fas-associated phosphatase-1/caveolin-1 complex, which triggers SNARE-mediated membrane fusion to secrete a large quantity of IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA)-expressing EVs, inhibiting the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β (Kou et al. 2018). This finding represents an auspicious application potential for tongue reconstruction in patients suffering from tongue cancer.

GMSCs-CM in Treating Skin Injuries

Isolated EXs derived from GMSCs loaded on chitosan/silk hydrogel sponge effectively promoted the healing of skin defects in diabetic rats. This was evidenced by the formation of neo-epithelium and collagen, an increase in the microvessels' number in the wound bed, and neuronal ingrowth detected by neurofilament heavy chain (NEFH) two weeks postsurgery (Shi et al. 2017).

GMSCs-CM Osteogenic Potential

The osteogenic regenerative potential of a poly-(lactide) (3D-PLA) scaffold supplemented with human GMSCs and human GMSCs-CM was revealed in rat calvaria bone defects after 6 weeks. Moreover, in vitro next-generation sequencing confirmed the increase in the genes involved in ossification (ASF1A, GDF5, HDAC7, ID3, INTU, PDLIM7, PEX7, RHOA, RPL38, SFRP1, SIX2, SMAD1, SNAI1, SOX-9, and TMEM64) in the 3D-PLA loaded with GMSCs-CM (Diomede et al. 2018c). This was attributed to the cytokines and growth factors contained in the CM, which could activate the mobilization and osteogenic differentiation of both endogenous MSCs and GMSCs (Bermudez et al. 2015, 2016; Osugi et al. 2012; Vizoso et al. 2017; Diomede et al. 2018c). In a further study, human GMSCs-EVs that were complexed with polyethyleneimine (PEI) to improve their internalization were loaded on 3D-PLA combined with human GMSCs. The PEI-EVs + 3D-PLA + human GMSCs revealed more calcium deposits with the upregulation of adhesion molecules regulating genes and genes involved in ossification processes, 6 weeks later in vitro. Also, in vivo computed tomography revealed the formation of new bone spicules and blood vessels in rats' calvarial bone defects implanted with 3D-PLA + PEI-EVs + human GMSCs and 3D-PLA + PEI-EVs. It was hypothesized that the osteogenic potential of PEI-EVs-human GMSCs loaded on 3D-PLA was mediated mainly by TGFBR1, SMAD1, BMP2, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-1, MAPK14, and RUNX2 through TGF-β signaling (Diomede et al. 2018b).

Recently, it has been hypothesized that the appropriate preconditioning of MSCs with disease-related stimuli can optimize exosomal proteins or miRNA contents, which would efficiently support tissue regeneration and repair. Concomitantly, it has been found that TNF- α preconditioned-GMSC-derived exosomes utilized in treating periodontitis not only enhanced the amount of exosome secreted from GMSCs but also increased the exosomal expression of CD73, thereby inducing anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage polarization. Furthermore, the local injection of GMSC-derived exosomes in a ligature-induced periodontitis mice model markedly reduced periodontal bone resorption and the number of tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP)-positive osteoclasts by exhibiting antiosteoclastogenic activity. Such potentials were significantly enhanced by the preconditioning of GMSCs with TNF- α . The previous findings highlighted TNF- α -preconditioned GMSC-derived exosomes as a promising strategy that could alleviate the suffering of patients with periodontitis and other inflammatory osteoimmune diseases (Nakao et al. 2021).

Periodontal Ligaments Stem-Cell-Derived Secretome/ Conditioned Medium

The periodontal ligament (PDL) is considered an enriched source of stem/progenitor cells utilized in periodontal tissue regeneration (McCulloch and Bordin 1991; Isaka et al. 2001; Fawzy El-Sayed and Dorfer 2017; Nagata et al. 2017) due to the enhanced expression of scleraxis (responsible for the formation of the cementum-PDL complex) (Seo et al. 2004). Human PDLSCs are similar to BMMSCs when it comes to immunomodulatory functions, high proliferative rate, and in vitro differentiation ability into adipogenic, osteogenic, chondrogenic, and neurogenic cell lineages (Rajan et al. 2017c; Sedgley and Botero 2012; Achilleos and Trainor 2012). PDLSCs express proteins that are not present in BMMSCs, including CLPP, NQO1, SCOT1, a new isoform of TBB5, and DDAH1 (Eleuterio et al. 2013; Menicanin et al. 2014; Tsumanuma et al. 2011).

The therapeutic effects of human PDLSCs in PDL and alveolar bone homeostasis could be further mediated via secreted paracrine signaling molecules (Rajan et al. 2016). Human PDLSCs were reported to regulate the adipogenic as well as osteo-genic differentiation of ABMSCs and inhibit ABMSCs induced osteoclastogenic differentiation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Park et al. 2012). Additionally, PDL cells-CM can regulate the expression of cell proliferation and bone homeostasis genes from MSCs cocultured with BMP-2 (Mizuno et al. 2008).

Permanent and deciduous PDL cells' cytokines profile analysis demonstrated a strong expression of proteins concerned with degradation and immune responses in deciduous PDL-CM, while permanent PDL-CM expressed markedly cytokines related to angiogenesis (EGF and IGF-1) and neurogenesis (NT-3 and NT-4), hence they are a powerful candidate for tissue regeneration (Kim et al. 2016). Moreover, PDL epithelial rests of Malassez demonstrated the expression of significant amounts of chemokines, proteins, and growth factors (IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, and

IL-10; GM-CSF; MCP-1, -2, and -3; amphiregulin; VEGF; GDNF; and IGF-binding protein-2) (Ohshima et al. 2008).

PDLSCs-CM in the Therapy of Neural Disorders

The immunosuppressive effects of human PDLSC secretome in managing MS were proved (Rajan et al. 2016, 2017b) through increased levels of IL-10, TGF- β , and SDF-1 α (Rajan et al. 2016). In an autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model, disease regression and remyelination of the spinal cord were referred to human PDLSC-EX/MV (EMV) fractions. PDLSCs-CM and PDLSCs-EMVs reduced proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-17, IL-6, IL-1 β , and IFN- γ and induced antiinflammatory IL-10 expression, besides attenuated expression of apoptosis-related markers Bax, STAT1, caspase-3, and p53 in the spleen and spinal cord (Rajan et al. 2016). In a more recent study, a downregulated expression of NALP3 inflammasome, cleaved caspase-1, IL-1 β , IL-18, Toll-like receptor (TLR)-4, and nuclear factor (NF)- κ B was demonstrated in an EAE mouse spinal cord after treatment with human PDLSCs-CM and purified EMVs. Ultimately, it could be deduced that both human PDLSCs-CM and purified EMVs exerted immunosuppressive effects and may serve as an effective economic approach in treating MS (Rajan et al. 2017b).

Similarly, human PLSCs-CM under hypoxic conditions repressed induced-EAE in a murine model after being injected through the mice's tail vein. The marked expression of antiapoptotic and anti-inflammatory markers (protein Bcl-2 and cytokine IL-37, respectively), as well as the suppression of proapoptotic markers (cleaved caspase-3 and Bax, respectively), was concomitantly associated with the regression of the disease's clinical and histological features. Moreover, a regenerative potential has been observed upon treating the in vitro scratch injury model-exposed neurons NSC-34 via hypoxic-human PDLSCs-CM (Giacoppo et al. 2017). The aforementioned studies propose PDLSCs-CM as a new pharmacologic tool for managing MS through a remarked expression of antiinflammatory cytokines (IL-10, TGF-β) (Rajan et al. 2016, Giacoppo et al. 2017) and antiapoptotic cytokine (Bcl2) (Rajan et al. 2017a; Giacoppo et al. 2017) and the subsequent suppression of proinflammatory mediators (IL-4, IL-17, IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β) (Rajan et al. 2016, Giacoppo et al. 2017), proapoptotic markers (Bax and cleaved caspase-3 (Rajan et al. 2016, 2017a; Giacoppo et al. 2017) and p53 and STAT1 (Rajan et al. 2016)), cleaved caspase-1 (Rajan et al. 2017b), and oxidative stress markers (SOD-1, iNOS, COX-2) (Giacoppo et al. 2017; Rajan et al. 2017a). A reduction in NALP3, IL-1β, IL-18, TLR-4, and NF-κB expression was reported to mediate the nerve regenerative effect of PDLSCs (Rajan et al. 2017b). Moreover, PDLSCs-CM increased the expression of markers associated with neural growth, such as BDNF, IL-37, and NT-3, besides autophagy markers (Beclin-1, LC3) (Giacoppo et al. 2017).

PDLSCs-CM Osteogenic Potential

The in vitro and in vivo results following the culturing of 3D collagen membrane loaded with human PDLSCs and CM or EVs or EVs treated with PEI (PEI-EVs) demonstrated an initially upregulated expression of osteogenic markers (RUNX-2 and BMP-2/4), besides high VEGF, VEGF receptor-2, and collagen type 1 protein levels (Pizzicannella et al. 2019). Likewise, loading Evolution (Evo) (a commercially available collagen membrane) with human PDLSCs enriched with EVs and PEI-EVs revealed high osteogenic properties and biocompatibility in vitro and in rats' calvarial defects. A quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction showed the upregulation of osteogenic genes MMP-8, TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, tuftelin-interacting protein (TFIP11), tuftelin 1 (TUFT1), RUNX2, SOX-9, and BMP2/4 in the presence of PEI-EVs (Diomede et al. 2018a). Ultimately, these results demonstrated that human PDLSCs might be an effective strategy in bone regenerative medicine, consequent to their potential to increase osteogenic and angiogenic mediators through the TGF β -BMP signaling pathway.

PDLSCs-CM in Dental Tissue Regeneration

In treating periodontal tissue defects in a rat model, transplanted PDLSCs-CM enhanced periodontal tissue regeneration via suppressing the inflammatory response induced by TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , and COX-2. PDLSCs-CM was enriched by extracellular matrix proteins, angiogenic factors, enzymes, cytokines, and growth factors, as revealed by proteomic analysis (Nagata et al. 2017).

Secretome/Conditioned Medium Derived from Stem/Progenitor Cells of Apical Papilla (SCAP), Dental Follicle Stem/Progenitor Cells (DFSCs), and Tooth Germ Progenitor Cells

DFSCs demonstrated proper osteogenic and cementogenic differentiation capacity mediated through the in vitro and in vivo expression of nestin, Notch-1, bone sialoprotein (BSP), collagen type I, osteocalcin (OCN), and fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR)1-IIIC (Kemoun et al. 2007; Morsczeck et al. 2005, 2008). Similarly, SCAP possess odontogenic and adipogenic differentiation ability (Abe et al. 2007; Sonoyama et al. 2006) and express neurogenic markers in vitro (Abe et al. 2007). Being the primary source of odontoblasts at the root region, SCAP can differentiate into dentin-pulp complex (Huang et al. 2008). SCAP and DFSCs revealed comparable hepatogenic differentiation potential and superior neurogenic ability to BMMSCs (Rao et al. 2019; Kumar et al. 2017a).

The secretome collected from human DMSCs (DPSCs, DFSCs, and SCAP) stimulated colony formation in preneuroblast cell line IMR-32 and neurite differentiation with a significant increase in neural gene expression (MFI, MAP-2,

 β -tubulin III, nestin, and SOX-1), as well as cytokines and growth factors involved in neural regeneration (CSF, IFN γ , TGF β , NGF, NT-3, and BDNF), more efficiently than BMMSCs' secretome. On the contrary, IL-17 expression was higher in BMMSCs-CM as compared to DPSCs-CM (Kumar et al. 2017a).

DMSCs-CM could further provide a valuable strategy for liver regeneration. The presence of hepatic lineage protein GAS6 in the secretome of DPSCs, SCAP, and DFSCs and different LDL receptor proteins in the secretome of DPSCs and SCAP reflected their role in regulating the transport and metabolism of lipids, as well as hepatic differentiation. Interestingly, OSM and HGFR, important inducers of hepatic lineage differentiation, were expressed solely in DFSC secretome (Kumar et al. 2017b).

The presence of osteogenic lineage proteins was demonstrated in high amounts in human dental MSCs-CM. DPSCs-CM expressed seven proteins, including BMP7 and DSPP, while human DFSCs-CM expressed six proteins, including proteins regulating; endochondral ossification (MINPP1), bone turnover (WISP2) and mineralization (enamelin). SCAP-CM expressed 14 proteins including four of the five proteins expressed by BMMSCs-CM, among them FBN1, DDR2 and Zinc finger protein (ZNF)-423, that play important roles in osteoblastic maturation, activation of BMPs and differentiation of bone osteocytes respectively (Kumar et al. 2018). The ability of DMSCs-CM to express these osteogenic proteins provides a great opportunity for several applications of DMSCs-CM in the regeneration of many bone disorders. The biological effects of dental stem cells conditioned medium are summarized in Fig. 2.

Conclusions

DMSC-derived secretome possesses a diversity of capabilities for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. The usage of stem/progenitor cell secretome in regenerative medicine provides an appropriate alternative to stem-cell-based therapies with their numerous limitations. Concerning stem/progenitor cells' restrictions, they have a low survival rate after their transplantation (Modo et al. 2002), in addition to a significant risk of malignant transformation following their in vitro expansion, a mandatory step before their clinical use (Baglio et al. 2012; Rubio et al. 2008). A cell-free secretome/CM therapeutic strategy could restore back the function of damaged tissues via the activation of signalling pathways based on the transfer of bioactive molecules, proteins and mRNAs to the affected tissues (Haider and Aslam 2018). Cell-free secretome/CM therapy offers a new perspective in regenerative medicine with minimal or no risks of host rejection, antigenicity, tumorigenicity, and infection, usually present in stem-cell-based therapies.

Despite the numerous benefits of stem cell secretome applications in tissue regeneration, many obstacles are still present before its translation into clinical trials. It is highly recommended to develop a manufacturing, easy-to-apply protocol, free from any animal-based products, as well as determine its proper



Fig. 2 Illustrative diagram showing dental MSCs-CM biological effect

dosage, exact protein composition, and mechanism of action before applying secretome to human beings. Through emerging technologies and frequent research, the full potential of DMSC secretome in regenerative medicine would be shortly unleashed, and soon it would be ready for its clinical translation into the dental and medical fields.

References

- Abdullah MF, Abdullah SF, Omar NS, Mahmood Z, Fazliah Mohd Noor SN, Kannan TP, Mokhtar KI (2014) Proliferation rate of stem cells derived from human dental pulp and identification of differentially expressed genes. Cell Biol Int 38(5):582–590. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.10229
- Abe S, Yamaguchi S, Amagasa T (2007) Multilineage cells from apical pulp of human tooth with immature apex. Oral Sci Int 4:45–58
- Achilleos A, Trainor PA (2012) Neural crest stem cells: discovery, properties and potential for therapy. Cell Res 22:288–304
- Ahmed NE-MB, Murakami M, Hirose Y et al (2016) Therapeutic potential of dental pulp stem cell secretome for Alzheimer's disease treatment: an in vitro study. Stem Cells Int 2016:1–11
- Alongi DJ, Yamaza T, Song Y, Fouad AF, Romberg EE, Shi S, Tuan RS (2010) Stem/progenitor cells from inflamed human dental pulp retain tissue regeneration potential. Regen Med 5(4): 617–631. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme.10.30

- Ankrum J, Karp JM (2010) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy: two steps forward, one step back. Trends Mol Med 16:203–209
- Asadi-Golshan R, Razban V, Mirzaei E, Rahmanian A, Khajeh S, Mostafavi-Pour Z, Dehghani F (2018) Sensory and motor behavior evidences supporting the usefulness of conditioned medium from dental pulp-derived stem cells in spinal cord injury in rats. Asian Spine J 12(5):785–793. https://doi.org/10.31616/asj.2018.12.5.785
- Assoni A, Coatti G, Valadares MC et al (2017) Different donors mesenchymal stromal cells secretomes reveal heterogeneous profile of relevance for therapeutic use. Stem Cells Dev 26: 206–214
- Atala A (2008) Advances in tissue and organ replacement. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 3:21-31
- Baglio SR, Pegtel DM, Baldini N (2012) Mesenchymal stem cell secreted vesicles provide novel opportunities in (stem) cell-free therapy. Front Physiol 3:359–359
- Bai L, Li D, Li J et al (2016) Bioactive molecules derived from umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Histochem 118:761–769
- Baraniak PR, Mcdevitt TC (2010) Stem cell paracrine actions and tissue regeneration. Regen Med 5:121–143
- Beer L, Mildner M, Ankersmit HJ (2017) Cell secretome based drug substances in regenerative medicine: when regulatory affairs meet basic science. Ann Transl Med 5:170–170
- Bermudez MA, Sendon-Lago J, Eiro N, Treviño M, Gonzalez F, Yebra-Pimentel E, Giraldez MJ et al (2015) Corneal epithelial wound healing and bactericidal effect of conditioned medium from human uterine cervical stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 56:983–992. https://doi.org/ 10.1167/iovs.14-15859
- Bermudez MA, Sendon-Lago J, Seoane S, Eiro N, Gonzalez F, Saa J, Vizoso F et al (2016) Antiinflammatory effect of conditioned medium from human uterine cervical stem cells in uveitis. Exp Eye Res 149:84–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2016.06.022
- Berthiaume F, Maguire TJ, Yarmush ML (2011) Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: history, progress, and challenges. Annu Rev Chem Biomol Eng 2:403–430
- Bianco J, De Berdt P, Deumens R, des Rieux A (2016) Taking a bite out of spinal cord injury: do dental stem cells have the teeth for it? CMLS 73:1413–1437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2126-5
- Biancone L, Bruno S, Deregibus MC, Tetta C, Camussi G (2012) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles. Nephrol Dial Transplant 27:3037–3042. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfs168
- Bose S, Roy M, Bandyopadhyay A (2012) Recent advances in bone tissue engineering scaffolds. Trends Biotechnol 30:546–554
- Bronckaers A, Hilkens P, Fanton Y et al (2013) Angiogenic properties of human dental pulp stem cells. PLoS One 8:e71104–e71104
- Caplan AI (2007) Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol 213:341–347
- Chang CC, Chang KC, Tsai SJ, Chang HH, Lin CP (2014) Neurogenic differentiation of dental pulp stem cells to neuron-like cells in dopaminergic and motor neuronal inductive media. J Formos Med Assoc 113:956–965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfma.2014.09.003
- Chen T-F, Chen K-W, Chien Y, Lai YH, Hsieh ST, Ma HY, Wang KC et al (2019) Dental pulp stem cell-derived factors alleviate subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced neuroinflammation and ischemic neurological deficits. Int J Mol Sci 20(15):3747. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20153747
- Chen Y-R, Lai P-L, Chien Y et al (2020) Improvement of impaired motor functions by human dental exfoliated deciduous teeth stem cell-derived factors in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Int J Mol Sci 21:3807
- Chocholata P, Kulda V, Babuska V (2019) Fabrication of scaffolds for bone-tissue regeneration. Materials 12:568
- Chouaib B, Collart-Dutilleul P-Y, Blanc-Sylvestre N, Younes R, Gergely C, Raoul C, Scamps F et al (2021) Identification of secreted factors in dental pulp cell-conditioned medium optimized for neuronal growth. Neurochem Int 144:104961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2021.104961

- Ciapetti G, Granchi D, Baldini N (2012) The combined use of mesenchymal stromal cells and scaffolds for bone repair. Curr Pharm Des 18:1796–1820
- Cicconetti A, Sacchetti B, Bartoli A, Michienzi S, Corsi A, Funari A, Robey PG et al (2007) Human maxillary tuberosity and jaw periosteum as sources of osteoprogenitor cells for tissue engineering. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 104:618.e1–618.12. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tripleo.2007.02.022
- Collino F, Deregibus MC, Bruno S, Sterpone L, Aghemo G, Viltono L, Tetta C et al (2010) Microvesicles derived from adult human bone marrow and tissue specific mesenchymal stem cells shuttle selected pattern of miRNAs. PLoS One 5:e11803–e11803. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0011803
- Cordeiro MM, Dong Z, Kaneko T, Zhang Z, Miyazawa M, Shi S, Smith AJ et al (2008) Dental pulp tissue engineering with stem cells from exfoliated deciduous teeth. J Endod 34:962–969. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2008.04.009
- Davies OG, Cooper PR, Shelton RM, Smith AJ, Scheven BA et al (2015) A comparison of the in vitro mineralisation and dentinogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adipose tissue, bone marrow and dental pulp. J Bone Miner Metab 33:371–382. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00774-014-0601-y
- De Cara SPHM, Origassa CST, De Sá SF, Moreira MSNA, de Almeida DC, Pedroni ACF, Carvalho GL et al (2019) Angiogenic properties of dental pulp stem cells conditioned medium on endothelial cells in vitro and in rodent orthotopic dental pulp regeneration. Heliyon 5:e01560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01560
- Diomede F, D'aurora M, Gugliandolo A, Merciaro I, Ettorre V, Bramanti A, Piattelli A et al (2018a) A novel role in skeletal segment regeneration of extracellular vesicles released from periodontalligament stem cells. Int J Nanomedicine 13:3805–3825
- Diomede F, Gugliandolo A, Cardelli P et al (2018b) Three-dimensional printed PLA scaffold and human gingival stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: a new tool for bone defect repair. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):104. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0850-0.
- Diomede F, Gugliandolo A, Scionti D et al (2018c) Biotherapeutic effect of gingival stem cells conditioned medium in bone tissue restoration. Int J Mol Sci 19(2):329. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms19020329.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905
- Egusa H, Sonoyama W, Nishimura M, Atsuta I, Akiyama K (2012) Stem cells in dentistry part I: stem cell sources. J Prosthodont Res 56:151–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpor.2012.06.001
- El-Sayed KM, Paris S, Graetz C, Kassem N, Mekhemar M, Ungefroren H, Fändrich F et al (2015) Isolation and characterisation of human gingival margin-derived STRO-1/MACS(+) and MACS (-) cell populations. Int J Oral Sci 7:80–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijos.2014.41
- Eleuterio E, Trubiani O, Sulpizio M et al (2013) Proteome of human stem cells from periodontal ligament and dental pulp. PLoS One 8:e71101–e71101
- Fawzy-El-Sayed K, Mekhemar M, Adam-Klages S, Kabelitz D, Dörfer C (2016) TIR expression profile of human gingival margin-derived stem progenitor cells. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 21(1):e30–e38. https://doi.org/10.4317/medoral.20593
- Fawzy El-Sayed K, Graetz C, Kohnlein T, Mekhemar M, Dörfer C (2018) Effect of total sonicated Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans fragments on gingival stem/progenitor cells. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 23:e569–e578. https://doi.org/10.4317/medoral.22661
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Boeckler J, Dorfer CE (2017) TLR expression profile of human alveolar bone proper-derived stem/progenitor cells and osteoblasts. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 45:2054–2060
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Dorfer C, Fandrich F et al (2013a) Adult mesenchymal stem cells explored in the dental field. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 130:89–103
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Dorfer C, Fandrich F et al (2013b) Erratum to: adult mesenchymal stem cells explored in the dental field. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 130:301–302

- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Dorfer C, Ungefroren H, Kassem N, Wiltfang J, Paris S (2014) Effect of Emdogain enamel matrix derivative and BMP-2 on the gene expression and mineralized nodule formation of alveolar bone proper-derived stem/progenitor cells. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 42: 568–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcms.2013.07.028
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Dorfer CE (2016) Gingival mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells: a unique tissue engineering gem. Stem Cells Int 2016:7154327
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Dorfer CE (2017) Animal models for periodontal tissue engineering: a knowledge-generating process. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 23:900–925
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Elahmady M, Adawi Z, Aboushadi N, Elnaggar A, Eid M, Hamdy N et al (2019a) The periodontal stem/progenitor cell inflammatory-regenerative cross talk: a new perspective. J Periodontal Res 54:81–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/jre.12616
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Hein D, Dorfer CE (2019b) Retinol/inflammation affect stemness and differentiation potential of gingival stem/progenitor cells via Wnt/beta-catenin. J Periodontal Res 54:413–423
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Mekhemar MK, Beck-Broichsitter BE et al (2015) Periodontal regeneration employing gingival margin-derived stem/progenitor cells in conjunction with IL-1ra-hydrogel synthetic extracellular matrix. J Clin Periodontol 42:448–457
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Paris S, Becker S, Kassem N, Ungefroren H, Fändrich F, Wiltfang J et al (2012a) Isolation and characterization of multipotent postnatal stem/progenitor cells from human alveolar bone proper. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 40:735–742
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Paris S, Becker ST, Neuschl M, De Buhr W, Sälzer S, Wulff A et al (2012b) Periodontal regeneration employing gingival margin-derived stem/progenitor cells: an animal study. J Clin Periodontol 39:861–870. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-051X.2012. 01904.x
- Fujii H, Matsubara K, Sakai K, Ito M, Ohno K, Ueda M, Yamamoto A (2015) Dopaminergic differentiation of stem cells from human deciduous teeth and their therapeutic benefits for Parkinsonian rats. Brain Res 1613:59–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2015.04.001
- Fujio M, Xing Z, Sharabi N, Xue Y, Yamamoto A, Hibi H, Ueda M et al (2017) Conditioned media from hypoxic-cultured human dental pulp cells promotes bone healing during distraction osteogenesis. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11:2116–2126. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2109
- Gao G, Cui X (2016) Three-dimensional bioprinting in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Biotechnol Lett 38:203–211
- Geng YW, Zhang Z, Liu MY, Hu WP (2017) Differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells into neuronal by resveratrol. Cell Biol Int 41:1391–1398. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.10835
- Gervois P, Wolfs E, Dillen Y, Hilkens P, Ratajczak J, Driesen RB, Vangansewinkel T et al (2017) Paracrine maturation and migration of SH-SY5Y cells by dental pulp stem cells. J Dent Res 96: 654–662. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034517690491
- Giacoppo S, Thangavelu SR, Diomede F, Bramanti P, Conti P, Trubiani O, Mazzon E (2017) Antiinflammatory effects of hypoxia-preconditioned human periodontal ligament cell secretome in an experimental model of multiple sclerosis: a key role of IL-37. FASEB J 31:5592–5608. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201700524R
- Gomes ME, Reis RL (2004) Tissue engineering : key elements and some trends. Macromol Biosci 4:737–742
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S (2000) Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:13625–13630. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.240309797
- Guan X, Avci-Adali M, Alarcin E, Cheng H, Kashaf SS, Li Y, Chawla A, Jang HL et al (2017) Development of hydrogels for regenerative engineering. Biotechnol J 12(5). https://doi.org/10. 1002/biot.201600394
- Gunawardena TNA, Masoudian Z, Rahman MT, Ramasamy TS, Ramanathan A, Abu Kasim NH (2019) Dental derived stem cell conditioned media for hair growth stimulation. PLoS One 14(5): e0216003. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216003

- Gyorgy B, Szabo TG, Pasztoi M, Pál Z, Misják P, Aradi B, László V et al (2011) Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles. CMLS 68:2667–2688. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-011-0689-3
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (Eds.) Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Geithner Straße13–10785 Berlin, Germany. (Published, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110642438
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267. https://doi.org/10.19070/2328-3548-1700040
- Hakki SS, Kayis SA, Hakki EE, Bozkurt SB, Duruksu G, Unal ZS, Turaç G et al (2015) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from pulp and periodontal ligament. J Periodontol 86:283–291. https://doi.org/10.1902/jop.2014.140257
- Hayashi Y, Murakami M, Kawamura R, Ishizaka R, Fukuta O, Nakashima M (2015) CXCL14 and MCP1 are potent trophic factors associated with cell migration and angiogenesis leading to higher regenerative potential of dental pulp side population cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:111–111
- He M, Callanan A (2013) Comparison of methods for whole-organ decellularization in tissue engineering of bioartificial organs. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 19:194–208
- Hilkens P, Fanton Y, Martens W et al (2014) Pro-angiogenic impact of dental stem cells in vitro and in vivo. Stem Cell Res 12:778–790
- Hirata M, Ishigami M, Matsushita Y, Ito T, Hattori H, Hibi H, Goto H et al (2016) Multifaceted therapeutic benefits of factors derived from dental pulp stem cells for mouse liver fibrosis. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:1416–1424. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0353
- Hossein-Khannazer N, Hashemi SM, Namaki S, Sattari M, Khojasteh A (2020) The effects of dental pulp stem cell conditioned media on the proliferation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Immunoregulation 2:69–74
- Hsiao ST, Azar A, Lokmic Z, Sinclair R, Sinclair R, Dusting GJ, Lim SY, Dilley RJ et al (2012) Comparative analysis of paracrine factor expression in human adult mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, adipose, and dermal tissue. Stem Cells Dev 21:2189–2203. https:// doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0674
- Huang C-C, Narayanan R, Alapati S, Ravindran S (2016) Exosomes as biomimetic tools for stem cell differentiation: applications in dental pulp tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 111:103–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.09.029
- Huang GTJ, Gronthos S, Shi S (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental tissues vs. those from other sources: their biology and role in regenerative medicine. J Dent Res 88:792–806
- Huang GTJ, Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Liu H, Wang S, Shi S (2008) The hidden treasure in apical papilla: the potential role in pulp/dentin regeneration and bioroot engineering. J Endod 34:645–651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2008.03.001
- Huang GTJ, Yamaza T, Shea LD, Djouad F, Kuhn NZ, Tuan RS, Shi S (2010) Stem/progenitor cellmediated de novo regeneration of dental pulp with newly deposited continuous layer of dentin in an in vivo model. Tissue Eng A 16:605–615. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2009.0518
- Ikeda E, Yagi K, Kojima M, Yagyuu T, Ohshima A, Sobajima S, Tadokoro M et al (2008) Multipotent cells from the human third molar: feasibility of cell-based therapy for liver disease. Different Res Biol Diver 76:495–505. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.2007.00245.x
- Inoue T, Sugiyama M, Hattori H, Wakita H, Wakabayashi T, Ueda M (2013) Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous tooth-derived conditioned medium enhance recovery of focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Tissue Eng Part A 19:24–29. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2011.0385
- Iohara K, Zheng L, Wake H, Ito M, Nabekura J, Wakita H, Nakamura H et al (2008) A novel stem cell source for vasculogenesis in ischemia: subfraction of side population cells from dental pulp. Stem Cells 26:2408–2418. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2008-0393

- Isaka J, Ohazama A, Kobayashi M, Nagashima C, Takiguchi T, Kawasaki H, Tachikawa T et al (2001) Participation of periodontal ligament cells with regeneration of alveolar bone. J Periodontol 72:314–323. https://doi.org/10.1902/jop.2001.72.3.314
- Ishikawa J, Takahashi N, Matsumoto T et al (2016) Factors secreted from dental pulp stem cells show multifaceted benefits for treating experimental rheumatoid arthritis. Bone 83:210–219
- Ishizaka R, Hayashi Y, Iohara K, Sugiyama M, Murakami M, Yamamoto T, Fukuta O et al (2013) Stimulation of angiogenesis, neurogenesis and regeneration by side population cells from dental pulp. Biomaterials 34:1888–1897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.10.045
- Isobe Y, Koyama N, Nakao K, Osawa K, Ikeno M, Yamanaka S, Okubo Y et al (2016) Comparison of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, synovial fluid, adult dental pulp, and exfoliated deciduous tooth pulp. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 45:124–131. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijom.2015.06.022
- Izumoto-Akita T, Tsunekawa S, Yamamoto A, Uenishi E, Ishikawa K, Ogata H, Iida A et al (2015) Secreted factors from dental pulp stem cells improve glucose intolerance in streptozotocininduced diabetic mice by increasing pancreatic β-cell function. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 3(1):e000128. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000128
- Jarmalaviciute A, Tunaitis V, Pivoraite U, Venalis A, Pivoriūnas A (2015) Exosomes from dental pulp stem cells rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxy-dopamine-induced apoptosis. Cytotherapy 17:932–939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.07.013
- Jin SH, Lee JE, Yun JH, Kim I, Ko Y, Park JB (2015) Isolation and characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells from gingival connective tissue. J Periodontal Res 50:461–467. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jre.12228
- Jo Y-Y, Lee H-J, Kook S-Y, Choung HW, Park JY, Chung JH, Choung YH, Kim ES et al (2007) Isolation and characterization of postnatal stem cells from human dental tissues. Tissue Eng 13: 767–773. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.0192
- Jones EA, English A, Henshaw K, Henshaw K, Kinsey SE et al (2004) Enumeration and phenotypic characterization of synovial fluid multipotential mesenchymal progenitor cells in inflammatory and degenerative arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 50:817–827
- Joo KH, Song JS, Kim S, Lee HS, Jeon M, Kim SO, Lee JH (2018) Cytokine expression of stem cells originating from the apical complex and coronal pulp of immature teeth. J Endod 44: 87–92.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2017.08.018
- Kanafi M, Majumdar D, Bhonde R, Gupta P, Datta I (2014) Midbrain cues dictate differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells towards functional dopaminergic neurons. J Cell Physiol 229: 1369–1377. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24570
- Kano F, Matsubara K, Ueda M et al (2017) Secreted ectodomain of sialic acid-binding Ig-like Lectin-9 and monocyte chemoattractant Protein-1 synergistically regenerate transected rat peripheral nerves by altering macrophage polarity. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) 35:641–653
- Katagiri W, Osugi M, Kawai T, Ueda M (2013) Novel cell-free regeneration of bone using stem cell-derived growth factors. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 28:1009–1016. https://doi.org/10. 11607/jomi.3036
- Katari R, Peloso A, Orlando G (2015) Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: semantic considerations for an evolving paradigm. Front Bioeng Biotech 2:57–57
- Kawamura R, Hayashi Y, Murakami H, Nakashima M (2016) EDTA soluble chemical components and the conditioned medium from mobilized dental pulp stem cells contain an inductive microenvironment, promoting cell proliferation, migration, and odontoblastic differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther 7(1):77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0334-z
- Kemoun P, Laurencin-Dalicieux S, Rue J, Farges JC, Gennero I, Conte-Auriol F, Briand-Mesange F et al (2007) Human dental follicle cells acquire cementoblast features under stimulation by BMP-2/-7 and enamel matrix derivatives (EMD) in vitro. Cell Tissue Res 329:283–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-007-0397-3
- Kerativitayanan P, Tatullo M, Khariton M et al (2017) Nanoengineered osteoinductive and elastomeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 3:590–600

- Kim HO, Choi S-M, Kim H-S (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived secretome and microvesicles as a cell-free therapeutics for neurodegenerative disorders. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10:93–101
- Kim K, Jeon M, Lee HS, Park JC, Moon SJ, Kim SO, Cho SW et al (2016) Comparative analysis of secretory factors from permanent- and deciduous-teeth periodontal ligament cells. Arch Oral Biol 71:65–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archoralbio.2016.07.003
- Konala VBR, Bhonde R, Pal R (2020) Secretome studies of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) isolated from three tissue sources reveal subtle differences in potency. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 56:689–700
- Kou X, Xu X, Chen C, Sanmillan ML, Cai T, Zhou Y, Giraudo C et al (2018) The Fas/Fap-1/Cav-1 complex regulates IL-1RA secretion in mesenchymal stem cells to accelerate wound healing. Sci Transl Med 10(432):eaai8524. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aai8524
- Kumar A, Kumar V, Rattan V, Jha V, Bhattacharyya S (2017a) Secretome cues modulate the neurogenic potential of bone marrow and dental stem cells. Mol Neurobiol 54:4672–4682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-016-0011-3
- Kumar A, Kumar V, Rattan V, Jha V, Bhattacharyya S (2018) Secretome proteins regulate comparative osteogenic and adipogenic potential in bone marrow and dental stem cells. Biochimie 155:129–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2018.10.014
- Kumar A, Kumar V, Rattan V, Jha V, Pal A, Bhattacharyya S (2017b) Molecular spectrum of secretome regulates the relative hepatogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and dental tissue. Sci Rep 7(1):15015. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14358-0
- Lee Y, El Andaloussi S, Wood MJA (2012) Exosomes and microvesicles: extracellular vesicles for genetic information transfer and gene therapy. Hum Mol Genet 21:R125–R134
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery. Kh. Husnain Haider (Ed.) Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Genthiner Straße13–10785 Berlin, Germany, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110493764
- Leucht P, Kim J-B, Amasha R, James AW, Girod S, Helms JA (2008) Embryonic origin and Hox status determine progenitor cell fate during adult bone regeneration. Development 135: 2845–2854. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.023788
- Li M, Guo K, Ikehara S (2014) Stem cell treatment for Alzheimer's disease. Int J Mol Sci 15: 19226–19238
- Li Y, Yang YY, Ren JL, Xu F, Chen FM, Li A (2017) Exosomes secreted by stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth contribute to functional recovery after traumatic brain injury by shifting microglia M1/M2 polarization in rats. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):198. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-017-0648-5
- Liu J, Yu F, Sun Y, Jiang B, Zhang W, Yang J, Xu GT et al (2015) Concise reviews: characteristics and potential applications of human dental tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 33:627–638. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1909
- Luo P, Jiang C, Ji P, Wang M, Xu J (2019) Exosomes of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth as an anti-inflammatory agent in temporomandibular joint chondrocytes via miR-100-5p/ mTOR. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:216. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1341-7
- Ma D, Ma Z, Zhang X, Wang W, Yang Z, Zhang M, Wu G et al (2009) Effect of age and extrinsic microenvironment on the proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of rat dental pulp stem cells in vitro. J Endod 35:1546–1553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2009.07.016
- Madrigal M, Rao KS, Riordan NH (2014) A review of therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell secretions and induction of secretory modification by different culture methods. J Transl Med 12:260–260
- Maguire G (2013) Stem cell therapy without the cells. Commun Integr Biol 6:e26631–e26631
- Makino E, Nakamura N, Miyabe M et al (2019) Conditioned media from dental pulp stem cells improved diabetic polyneuropathy through anti-inflammatory, neuroprotective and angiogenic actions: cell-free regenerative medicine for diabetic polyneuropathy. J Diabetes Investig 10: 1199–1208

- Malekfar A, Valli KS, Kanafi MM et al (2016) Isolation and characterization of human dental pulp stem cells from cryopreserved pulp tissues obtained from teeth with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod 42:76–81
- Mallick S, Tripathi S, Srivastava P (2015) Advancement in scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: a review. IOSR-JPBS 10:2319–7676
- Mao Q, Nguyen PD, Shanti RM et al (2019) Gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cell-extracellular vesicles activate Schwann cell repair phenotype and promote nerve regeneration. Tissue Eng A 25:887–900
- Marrelli M, Paduano F, Tatullo M (2013) Cells isolated from human periapical cysts express mesenchymal stem cell-like properties. Int J Biol Sci 9:1070–1078
- Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ (2010) Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. J Proteome 73:1907–1920
- Matsubara K, Matsushita Y, Sakai K et al (2015) Secreted ectodomain of sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin-9 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 promote recovery after rat spinal cord injury by altering macrophage polarity. J Neurosci 35:2452–2464
- Matsushita Y, Ishigami M, Matsubara K et al (2017) Multifaceted therapeutic benefits of factors derived from stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth for acute liver failure in rats. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11:1888–1896
- Mcculloch CG, Bordin S (1991) Role of fibroblast subpopulations in periodontal physiology and pathology. J Periodontal Res 26:144–154
- Mead B, Logan A, Berry M et al (2014) Paracrine-mediated neuroprotection and NEURITOGENESIS of axotomised retinal ganglion cells by human dental pulp stem cells: comparison with human bone marrow and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One 9:e109305–e109305
- Mekhemar MK, Adam-Klages S, Kabelitz D et al (2018) TLR-induced immunomodulatory cytokine expression by human gingival stem/progenitor cells. Cell Immunol 326:60–67
- Menicanin D, Mrozik KM, Wada N et al (2014) Periodontal-ligament-derived stem cells exhibit the capacity for long-term survival, self-renewal, and regeneration of multiple tissue types in vivo. Stem Cells Dev 23:1001–1011
- Mita T, Furukawa-Hibi Y, Takeuchi H et al (2015) Conditioned medium from the stem cells of human dental pulp improves cognitive function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Behav Brain Res 293:189–197
- Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M et al (2003) SHED: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:5807–5812
- Mizuno N, Ozeki Y, Shiba H et al (2008) Humoral factors released from human periodontal ligament cells influence calcification and proliferation in human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Periodontol 79:2361–2370
- Modo M, Rezaie P, Heuschling P et al (2002) Transplantation of neural stem cells in a rat model of stroke: assessment of short-term graft survival and acute host immunological response. Brain Res 958:70–82
- Morsczeck C, Gotz W, Schierholz J et al (2005) Isolation of precursor cells (PCs) from human dental follicle of wisdom teeth. Matrix Biol 24:155–165
- Morsczeck C, Schmalz G, Reichert TE et al (2008) Somatic stem cells for regenerative dentistry. Clin Oral Investig 12:113–118
- Murakami M, Hayashi Y, Iohara K et al (2015) Trophic effects and regenerative potential of mobilized mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue as alternative cell sources for pulp/dentin regeneration. Cell Transplant 24:1753–1765
- Nagata M, Iwasaki K, Akazawa K et al (2017) Conditioned medium from periodontal ligament stem cells enhances periodontal regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 23:367–377
- Nakamura S, Yamada Y, Katagiri W et al (2009) Stem cell proliferation pathways comparison between human exfoliated deciduous teeth and dental pulp stem cells by gene expression profile from promising dental pulp. J Endod 35:1536–1542

- Nakamura Y, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H et al (2015) Mesenchymal-stem-cell-derived exosomes accelerate skeletal muscle regeneration. FEBS Lett 589:1257–1265
- Nakao Y, Fukuda T, Zhang Q et al (2021) Exosomes from TNF-α-treated human gingiva-derived MSCs enhance M2 macrophage polarization and inhibit periodontal bone loss. Acta Biomater 122:306–324
- Nakashima M, Iohara K (2014) Mobilized dental pulp stem cells for pulp regeneration: initiation of clinical trial. J Endod 40:S26–S32
- Nakayama H, Iohara K, Hayashi Y et al (2017) Enhanced regeneration potential of mobilized dental pulp stem cells from immature teeth. Oral Dis 23:620–628
- Narbute K, Pilipenko V, Pupure J et al (2019) Intranasal administration of extracellular vesicles derived from human teeth stem cells improves motor symptoms and normalizes tyrosine hydroxylase expression in the substantia nigra and striatum of the 6-Hydroxydopamine-treated rats. Stem Cells Transl Med 8:490–499
- Ogata K, Matsumura-Kawashima M, Moriyama M et al (2021) Dental pulp-derived stem cellconditioned media attenuates secondary Sjögren's syndrome via suppression of inflammatory cytokines in the submandibular glands. Regen Ther 16:73–80
- Ohshima M, Yamaguchi Y, Micke P et al (2008) In vitro characterization of the cytokine profile of the epithelial cell rests of Malassez. J Periodontol 79:912–919
- Osugi M, Katagiri W, Yoshimi R et al (2012) Conditioned media from mesenchymal stem cells enhanced bone regeneration in rat calvarial bone defects. Tissue Eng Part A 18:1479–1489
- Paduano F, Marrelli M, Alom N et al (2017) Decellularized bone extracellular matrix and human dental pulp stem cells as a construct for bone regeneration. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 28: 730–748
- Palmer RM, Lubbock MJ (1995) The soft connective tissues of the gingiva and periodontal ligament: are they unique? Oral Dis 1:230–237
- Pant S, Hilton H, Burczynski ME (2012) The multifaceted exosome: biogenesis, role in normal and aberrant cellular function, and frontiers for pharmacological and biomarker opportunities. Biochem Pharmacol 83:1484–1494
- Park CH, Rios HF, Jin Q, Bland ME, Flanagan CL, Hollister SJ, Giannobile WV (2010) Biomimetic hybrid scaffolds for engineering human tooth-ligament interfaces. Biomaterials 31:5945–5952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.04.027
- Park JC, Lee SM, Kim JC et al (2012) Effect of humoral factors from hPDLSCs on the biologic activity of hABCs. Oral Dis 18:537–547
- Paschalidis T, Bakopoulou A, Papa P, Leyhausen G, Geurtsen W, Koidis P (2014) Dental pulp stem cells' secretome enhances pulp repair processes and compensates TEGDMA-induced cytotoxicity. Dent Mater 30:e405–e418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2014.08.377
- Pawitan JA (2014) Prospect of stem cell conditioned medium in regenerative medicine. Biomed Res Int 2014:965849
- Phelps J, Sanati-Nezhad A, Ungrin M et al (2018) Bioprocessing of mesenchymal stem cells and their derivatives: toward cell-free therapeutics. Stem Cells Int 2018:9415367–9415367. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2018/9415367
- Pilia M, Guda T, Appleford M et al (2013) Development of composite scaffolds for load-bearing segmental bone defects. Biomed Res Int 2013:458253. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/458253
- Pina S, Oliveira JM, Reis RL (2015) Natural-based nanocomposites for bone tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: a review. Adv Mater 27:1143–1169
- Pires AO, Mendes-Pinheiro B, Teixeira FG et al (2016) Unveiling the differences of secretome of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, adipose tissue-derived stem cells, and human umbilical cord perivascular cells: a proteomic analysis. Stem Cells Dev 25:1073–1083
- Pizzicannella J, Gugliandolo A, Orsini T, Fontana A, Ventrella A, Mazzon E, Bramanti P et al (2019) Engineered extracellular vesicles from human periodontal-ligament stem cells increase VEGF/VEGFR2 expression during bone regeneration. Front Physiol 10:512. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fphys.2019.00512

- Qu H, Fu H, Han Z et al (2019) Biomaterials for bone tissue engineering scaffolds: a review. RSC Adv 9:26252–26262
- Rajan TS, Diomede F, Bramanti P, Trubiani O, Mazzon E (2017a) Conditioned medium from human gingival mesenchymal stem cells protects motor-neuron-like NSC-34 cells against scratch-injury-induced cell death. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 30:383–394. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0394632017740976
- Rajan TS, Giacoppo S, Diomede F, Ballerini P, Paolantonio M, Marchisio M, Piattelli A et al (2016) The secretome of periodontal ligament stem cells from MS patients protects against EAE. Sci Rep 6:38743. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38743
- Rajan TS, Giacoppo S, Diomede F, Bramanti P, Trubiani O, Mazzon E (2017b) Human periodontal ligament stem cells secretome from multiple sclerosis patients suppresses NALP3 inflammasome activation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 30:238–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0394632017722332
- Rajan TS, Scionti D, Diomede F, Grassi G, Pollastro F, Piattelli A, Cocco L et al (2017c) Gingival stromal cells as an in vitro model: cannabidiol modulates genes linked with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Cell Biochem 118:819–828. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.25757
- Rajput IR, Hussain A, Li YL, Zhang X, Xu X, Long MY, You DY et al (2014) Saccharomyces boulardii and bacillus subtilis B10 modulate TLRs mediated signaling to induce immunity by chicken BMDCs. J Cell Biochem 115:189–198. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.24650
- Ranganath SH, Levy O, Inamdar MS, Karp JM (2012) Harnessing the mesenchymal stem cell secretome for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Cell Stem Cell 10:244–258. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.02.005
- Rao F, Zhang D, Fang T et al (2019) Exosomes from human gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells combined with biodegradable chitin conduits promote rat sciatic nerve regeneration. Stem Cells Int 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/2546367
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W (2013) Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 200:373–383
- Ratajczak J, Bronckaers A, Dillen Y, Gervois P, Vangansewinkel T, Driesen RB, Wolfs E et al (2016) The neurovascular properties of dental stem cells and their importance in dental tissue engineering. Stem Cells Int 2016;9762871. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9762871
- Ratajczak J, Miekus K, Kucia M, Zhang J, Reca R, Dvorak P, Ratajczak MZ (2006) Embryonic stem cell-derived microvesicles reprogram hematopoietic progenitors: evidence for horizontal transfer of mRNA and protein delivery. Leukemia 20:847–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404132
- Rezwan K, Chen QZ, Blaker JJ, Boccaccini AR (2006) Biodegradable and bioactive porous polymer/inorganic composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 27: 3413–3431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.01.039
- Roseti L, Parisi V, Petretta M, Cavallo C, Desando G, Bartolotti I, Grigolo B (2017) Scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: state of the art and new perspectives. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 78:1246–1262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.05.017
- Rubio D, Garcia S, Paz MF, De la Cueva T, Lopez-Fernandez LA, Lloyd AC et al (2008) Molecular characterization of spontaneous mesenchymal stem cell transformation. PLoS One 3(1):e1398. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001398
- Sakai K, Yamamoto A, Matsubara K, Nakamura S, Naruse M, Yamagata M, Sakamoto K et al (2012) Human dental pulp-derived stem cells promote locomotor recovery after complete transection of the rat spinal cord by multiple neuro-regenerative mechanisms. J Clin Investig 122(1):80–90. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI59251
- Scarritt ME, Pashos NC, Bunnell BA (2015) A review of cellularization strategies for tissue engineering of whole organs. Front Bioeng Biotech 3:43–43
- Sedgley CM, Botero TM (2012) Dental stem cells and their sources. Dent Clin N Am 56:549-561
- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M et al (2004) Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet (London, England) 364: 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16627-0
- Shah R, Hiremutt D, Jajoo S et al (2016) Dental tissue engineering: future of regenerative dentistry review article dental tissue engineering: future of regenerative dentistry. J Dental Res Scientific Dev 3:31–36

- Shi Q, Qian Z, Liu D, Sun J, Wang X, Liu H, Xu J et al (2017) GMSC-derived exosomes combined with a chitosan/silk hydrogel sponge accelerates wound healing in a diabetic rat skin defect model. Front Physiol 8:904. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00904
- Shimojima C, Takeuchi H, Jin S, Parajuli B, Hattori H, Suzumura A, Hibi H et al (2016) Conditioned medium from the stem cells of human exfoliated deciduous teeth ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 196(10):4164–4171. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.1501457
- Skog J, Würdinger T, Van Rijn S et al (2008) Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. Nat Cell Biol 10: 1470–1476. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1800
- Song M, Lee JH, Bae J, Bu Y, Kim EC (2017) Human dental pulp stem cells are more effective than human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in cerebral ischemic injury. Cell Transplant 26(6):1001–1016. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368916X694391
- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo B-M, Zhang C et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cellmediated functional tooth regeneration in swine. PLoS One 1(1):e79. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0000079
- Stanko P, Altanerova U, Jakubechova J et al (2018) Dental mesenchymal stem/stromal cells and their exosomes. Stem Cells Int 2018:1–8
- Stoltz JF, De Isla N, Li YP et al (2015) Stem cells and regenerative medicine: myth or reality of the 21th century. Stem Cells Int 2015:734731–734731
- Sugimura-Wakayama Y, Katagiri W, Osugi M, Kawai T, Ogata K, Sakaguchi K, Hibi H (2015) Peripheral nerve regeneration by secretomes of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Stem Cells Dev 24(22):2687–2699. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2015.0104
- Tachida Y, Sakurai H, Okutsu J et al (2015) Proteomic comparison of the secreted factors of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, adipose tissue and dental pulp. J Proteom Bioinform 8:266
- Tatullo M, Codispoti B, Pacifici A, Palmieri F, Marrelli M, Pacifici L, Paduano F (2017) Potential use of human periapical cyst-mesenchymal stem cells (hPCy-MSCs) as a novel stem cell source for regenerative medicine applications. Front Cell Dev Biol 5:103. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell. 2017.00103
- Taylor DA, Parikh RB, Sampaio LC (2017) Bioengineering hearts: simple yet complex. Curr Stem Cell Rep 3:35–44
- Tkach M, Thery C (2016) Communication by extracellular vesicles: where we are and where we need to go. Cell 164:1226–1232
- Tomasoni S, Longaretti L, Rota C, Morigi M, Conti S, Gotti E, Capelli C et al (2013) Transfer of growth factor receptor mRNA via exosomes unravels the regenerative effect of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 22:772–780. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0266
- Tran-Hung L, Laurent P, Camps J, About I (2008) Quantification of angiogenic growth factors released by human dental cells after injury. Arch Oral Biol 53(1):9–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. archoralbio.2007.07.001
- Tsumanuma Y, Iwata T, Washio K et al (2011) Comparison of different tissue-derived stem cell sheets for periodontal regeneration in a canine 1-wall defect model. Biomaterials 32: 5819–5825
- Tsuruta T, Sakai K, Watanabe J, Katagiri W, Hibi H (2018) Dental pulp-derived stem cell conditioned medium to regenerate peripheral nerves in a novel animal model of dysphagia. PLoS One 13(12):e0208938. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0208938
- Valadi H, Ekstrom K, Bossios A, Sjostrand M, Lee JJ, Lotvall J (2007) Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nat Cell Biol 9:654–659. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1596
- Vishnubhatla I, Corteling R, Stevanato L, Hicks C, Sinden J (2014) The development of stem cellderived exosomes as a cell-free regenerative medicine. J Circ Biomark 3:2–3. https://doi.org/10. 5772/58597
- Vizoso FJ, Eiro N, Cid S, Schneider J, Perez-Fernandez R (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell secretome: toward cell-free therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine. Int J Mol Sci 18: 1852. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18091852

- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, Armstrong L et al (2018) Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. Int J Med Sci 15:36–45. https://doi. org/10.7150/ijms.21666
- Wakayama H, Hashimoto N, Matsushita Y, Matsubara K, Yamamoto N, Hasegawa Y, Ueda M et al (2015) Factors secreted from dental pulp stem cells show multifaceted benefits for treating acute lung injury in mice. Cytotherapy 17:1119–1129
- Wang J, Zuzzio K, Walker CL (2019) Systemic dental pulp stem cell secretome therapy in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain Sci 9:165–165
- Wang X, Sha X-J, Li G-H, Yang FS, Ji K, Wen LY, Liu SY et al (2012) Comparative characterization of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth and dental pulp stem cells. Arch Oral Biol 57:1231–1240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archoralbio.2012.02.014
- Wollert KC, Drexler H (2010) Cell therapy for the treatment of coronary heart disease: a critical appraisal. Nat Rev Cardiol 7:204–215
- Xu X, Chen C, Akiyama K et al (2013) Gingivae contain neural-crest- and mesoderm-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Dent Res 92:825–832
- Yamada Y, Nakamura-Yamada S, Kusano K, Baba S (2019a) Clinical potential and current progress of dental pulp stem cells for various systemic diseases in regenerative medicine: a concise review. Int J Mol Sci 20:1132. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20051132
- Yamada Y, Nakamura-Yamada S, Umemura-Kubota E, Baba S (2019b) Diagnostic cytokines and comparative analysis secreted from exfoliated deciduous teeth, dental pulp, and bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells for functional cell-based therapy. Int J Mol Sci 20:5900. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms20235900
- Yamagata M, Yamamoto A, Kako E, Kaneko N, Matsubara K, Sakai K, Sawamoto K et al (2013) Human dental pulp-derived stem cells protect against hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in neonatal mice. Stroke 44:551–554. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.676759
- Yamaguchi S, Shibata R, Yamamoto N et al (2015) Dental pulp-derived stem cell conditioned medium reduces cardiac injury following ischemia-reperfusion. Sci Rep 5:16295. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep16295
- Yamamoto T, Osako Y, Ito M, Murakami M, Hayashi Y, Horibe H, Iohara K et al (2016) Trophic effects of dental pulp stem cells on Schwann cells in peripheral nerve regeneration. Cell Transplant 25:183–193. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368915X688074
- Yan X, Qin H, Qu C, Tuan RS, Shi S, Huang GT (2010) iPS cells reprogrammed from human mesenchymal-like stem/progenitor cells of dental tissue origin. Stem Cells Dev 19:469–480. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2009.0314
- Yazid F, Luchman NA, Wahab RMA, et al (2018) Comparison of characterization and osteoblast formation between human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSC) and stem cells from deciduous teeth (SHED). Proceedings of the Second International Conference on the Future of ASEAN (ICoFA), 2018 Singapore. Springer Singapore, pp 605–614
- Yu S, Zhao Y, Ma Y, Ge L (2016) Profiling the secretome of human stem cells from dental apical papilla. Stem Cells Dev 25:499–508. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2015.0298
- Zhang F, Si M, Wang H, Mekhemar MK, Dörfer CE, Fawzy El-Sayed KM (2017a) IL-1/TNF-α inflammatory and anti-inflammatory synchronization affects gingival stem/progenitor cells' regenerative attributes. Stem Cells Int 2017:1349481. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1349481
- Zhang J, Lian M, Cao P, Bao G, Xu G, Sun Y, Wang L et al (2017b) Effects of nerve growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor promote human dental pulp stem cells to neural differentiation. Neurochem Res 42:1015–1025. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-016-2134-3
- Zhang QZ, Nguyen AL, Yu WH, Le AD (2012) Human oral mucosa and gingiva: a unique reservoir for mesenchymal stem cells. J Dent Res 91:1011–1018. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022034512461016
- Zhang Y, Shi S, Xu Q, Zhang Q, Shanti RM, Le AD (2019) SIS-ECM laden with GMSC-derived exosomes promote taste bud regeneration. J Dent Res 98:225–233. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022034518804531



Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells

36

Biological Activity and Approaches of Large-Scale Production

M. O. Gomzikova, V. James, and A. A. Rizvanov

Contents

Introduction	1073
Extracellular Vesicles	1074
Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles	1075
Role of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived EVs in Regeneration	1077
Immunosuppressive Activity of EVs	1081
EV-Mediated Mitochondria Donation by MSCs	1083
Approaches of Large-Scale Production of Vesicles	1085
Cytochalasin B-Induced Membrane Vesicles	1086
Vesicle Production by Mechanical Extrusion	1087
Vesicle Production Using a Hyperosmotic Solution	1088
Conclusion and Future Directions	1088
Cross-References	1089
References	1089

Abstract

The discovery of extracellular vesicles has provided an outstanding breakthrough in stem cells and regenerative medicine. It has been shown that cells can transfer information through the secretion of soluble factors, the formation of direct physical contacts, and the secretion of extracellular vesicles containing a wide range of biologically active factors, including proteins, lipids, and genetic information.

M. O. Gomzikova · A. A. Rizvanov (🖂)

V. James

Institute of Fundamental Medicine and Biology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia e-mail: marina.gomzikova.gmo@gmail.com

School of Veterinary Medicine and Science, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK e-mail: victoria.james@nottingham.ac.uk

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_48
All these factors are protected from destruction by the extracellular vesicles' bilayer lipid membrane, allowing the transfer of information from cell to cell over considerable distances. Extracellular vesicles derived from stem cells can reprogram a range of target cells, stimulating their viability and migration. The biological capacity and regenerative potential of stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles are comparable to that of the stem cells in vivo. Due to biosafety concerns over the use of cell-based therapies, the potential of a cell-free therapy based on extracellular vesicles, with equal efficacy to intact stem cells, is highly desirable for future therapeutic purposes. This chapter will discuss current research into the biological activity and therapeutic application of extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells. With a focus on approaches for the large-scale production and isolation of extracellular vesicles will enable the transition of extracellular vesicle research into clinical application.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:cell-free therapy } Cytochalasin \ B \cdot Extracellular \ vesicels \cdot Hyperosmotic \\ vesiculation \cdot Immunosuppression \cdot Mechanical \ extrusion \cdot Mesenchymal \ stem \\ cells \cdot Mitochondria \ donation \cdot Regeneration \\ \end{array}$

List of Abbreviations

ADSC	Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
BM-MSC	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells
CIMVs	Cytochalasin B-induced microvesicles
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
DC	Dendritic cells
dsDNA	Double-stranded DNA
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
GvHD	Graft-versus-host disease
ICG	Indocyanine green
ISEV	The International Society for Extracellular Vesicles
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
miRNA	MicroRNA
MISEV	Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
MVB	Multivesicular body
MVs	Microvesicles
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PHA	Phytohemagglutinin
SC	Stem cells
ssDNA	Single-stranded DNA

Tunneling nanotubes
Urinary albumin creatinine ratio
Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells
Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells

Introduction

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have enormous potential in regenerative medicine (Haider and Ashraf 2005). However, the production of cell-based therapeutics is a time-consuming and high-cost process that requires special equipment and expertise. The discovery of the regenerative activity of culture media conditioned by MSCs revealed the role of the MSC secretome in tissue repair and led to the formulation of the paracrine hypothesis (Haider and Aziz 2017; Gomzikova and Rizvanov 2017). MSCs-derived secretome consists of soluble growth factors, cytokines, and extracellular vesicles that mediate the transfer of complex bioactive molecules and the horizontal transfer of genetic information between cells (Lei and Haider 2017). Given the therapeutic significance of the cell secretome, various strategies have been developed to tailor the composition to desired composition (Haider et al. 2008; Durrani et al. 2010; Elmadbouh et al. 2007).

The release of extracellular vesicles (EVs) was first described more than 50 years ago (Wolf 1967). For a long time, it was believed that EVs were inert "garbage" released by cells as a means of off-loading the unwanted waste products. More recently, EVs are being considered as critical components of many physiological and pathological processes and are being considered as essential means of intercellular communication and bioactive material transfer.

EVs are membrane-bound, spherical vesicles released by almost all types of cells. The main functions of EVs are information transfer to recipient cells or to the extracellular environment to mediate intercellular communication (Colombo et al. 2014). EVs are found in almost all tissues, organs, and body fluids: saliva (Palanisamy et al. 2010), urine (Pisitkun et al. 2004), blood (Benz Jr. and Moses 1974), bronchoalveolar lavage (Levanen et al. 2013), nasal discharge (Levanen et al. 2013), amniotic fluid (Keller et al. 2007), uterine fluid (Griffiths et al. 2008), breast milk (Lasser et al. 2011), bile (Witek et al. 2009), cerebrospinal fluid (Street et al. 2012), synovial fluid (Gyorgy et al. 2012), and can also be obtained from supernatants of cultured cells, including MSCs.

EVs contain proteins, lipids, and genetic information obtained from parental cells (Colombo et al. 2014). It is well-established that EVs derived from stem cells retain the same molecular features and demonstrate similar biological activities as the parental cells, such as the presence of specific surface receptors and bioactive molecules. For example, they demonstrate the same potential to stimulate cell proliferation, viability, and chemotaxis of target cells, and suppression of inflammation and oxidative stress (Seo et al. 2019). Thus, the biological effects of MSCs and their secretomes are comparable; however, the secreted products are devoid of a significant number of risks that are otherwise associated with the application of

whole MSC preparations (Lei and Haider 2017). In addition, the composition and biological properties of the secretome as well as EVs secreted by MSCs can be changed in line with tailored therapeutic aims, with no risk of their oncotrans-formation. To date, there is reported evidence of the regenerative effects of EVs derived from MSCs in the treatment of ischemic and ischemic/reperfusion damage of myocardial cells (Zhao et al. 2019), diabetic complications (Grange et al. 2019), bone defects (Otsuru et al. 2018), liver damage (Li et al. 2013), lung, nervous tissue, and skin injuries (Khatri et al. 2018; Galieva et al. 2019; Ren et al. 2019).

EVs are natural vehicles within the human body, and as such, constitute a promising vector system for the delivery of bioactive molecules and drug targeting. Due to their extremely small size and lipophilic characteristics, EVs demonstrate better tissue distribution and penetration, and are able to successfully cross the blood-brain barrier (Alvarez-Erviti et al. 2011). The ability of EVs to deliver biologically active molecules to the target cells, the absence of nuclei, lack of proliferation and tumorigenicity, biocompatibility, and safety render them a promising therapeutic tool. However, despite encouraging data emanating from the preclinical experimental studies, and clinical trials, currently there are limitations that need to be overcome for their use in the development of EVs-based biotherapeutics. These include the development and optimization of protocols for large-scale production, purification, and storage of EVs. This chapter focuses on the extensive experience of working with EVs besides the in-depth analysis of the published data from other research groups on the development of new drugs and biopharmaceutics based on the secretome products and EVs of human MSCs in the clinical perspective.

Extracellular Vesicles

EVs are spherical structures ranging in size from 50 to 2000 nm, surrounded by a phospholipid bilayer and containing receptors and biologically active molecules, including lipid mediators (e.g., eicosanoids), proteins (e.g., cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, transcription factors, ferments) and nucleic acids (mRNA, rRNA, siRNA, miRNA, tRNA, Y-RNA, ssDNA, dsDNA, mtDNA). It is believed that nucleic acids (especially mRNA, miRNA, noncoding RNA) determine much of the high biological activity of EVs (Haider and Aramini 2020). The composition of noncoding RNAs and their profile found in MSC-derived EVs often differs in the composition found in the MSCs themselves; this indicates the existence of mechanisms of specific RNA loading as well as sorting into vesicles (Groot and Lee 2020; Haider and Aramini 2020). EVs can also capture and transfer whole organelles such as mitochondria (Islam et al. 2012), ribosomes (Court et al. 2008), and proteasomes (Yu et al. 2014; Gomzikova et al. 2019a). The composition of the EV "cargo" depends on the type of the parent cell and its pathophysiological state, culture conditions in vitro, as well as the signals from their microenvironment (Yamamoto et al. 2019).

Cells release different types of EVs into the extracellular space acting on neighboring cells and distant tissues. The range of EVs reported may be broadly categorized as exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic bodies (Thery et al. 2018). EVs classification is predominantly based on the route of biogenesis and size (Thery et al. 2018). In addition to the three categories, the biofluid origin EVs are also used to categorize the vesicle types; for example, oviductosomes, prostasomes, epididymosomes, and uterosomes are terms used to indicate vesicles isolated from the oviduct, seminal, epididymal, and uterine fluids, respectively (Machtinger et al. 2016; Al-Dossary et al. 2013). Despite these differences, the critical characteristic of all EVs is the presence of a lipid double-membrane within which bioactive surface molecules are embedded. The International Society for Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) has developed the Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles (MISEV 2018), a comprehensive guide on isolation and classification of different types of EVs (Thery et al. 2018).

Exosomes are small vesicles of endosomal origin with 40–150 nm diameters, which commonly exhibit the markers CD63, CD9, Alix, and TSG101. Exosomes are formed by the invagination of the endosomal membrane into the multivesicular body (MVB), followed by MVB's fusion with the cytoplasmic membrane and release of exosomes into extracellular space (Gomzikova and Rizvanov 2017; Willms et al. 2016).

Microvesicles (MVs) have a larger range of sizes spanning 100–2000 nm in diameter and are characterized by cell type-specific surface receptors, phosphatidylserine and flotillin-2. MVs are formed by protrusion and budding directly from the plasma membrane and carry the cytoplasmic content of the parent cell (Skotland et al. 2020; Gomzikova and Rizvanov 2017). Thus, MVs derived from MSCs retain their surface mesenchymal markers, such as CD44, CD90, CD105, and CD146 (Bruno et al. 2017; Gomzikova et al. 2020a).

Apoptotic bodies are large vesicles with diameters of 1000–5000 nm; they often exhibit annexin V and carry cargos of DNA and histones formed due to programmed cell death and destruction (Yamamoto et al. 2019). These EV subpopulations overlap in size and density, and the cell origin of the EVs can influence the markers they exhibit, making it challenging to isolate pure populations. Therefore, researchers work with a heterogeneous population of EVs more frequently within arbitrary size ranges dictated by the isolation techniques being applied (Gomzikova and Rizvanov 2017).

Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

MSCs are one of the most promising donor cells for EVs production. They are widespread within an organism and are often found within the bone marrow, adipose tissue, muscles, bones, and umbilical cord blood. They demonstrate low-level immunogenicity due to the low major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I expression and a lack MHC class II expression (Ryan et al. 2005). EVs derived from MSCs also have inherent low immunogenicity and share the high therapeutic

potential akin to their parental cells, thus rendering EVs a promising therapeutic option in regenerative medicine.

The main advantage of EVs in general and exosomes in particular over soluble factors is that they carry a spectrum of biologically active molecules (proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids) (Haider and Aramini 2020). They not only protect their payload, they also transfer this payload to the recipient cells (Fig. 1). In addition, the main advantage of EVs over MSCs is their small size, better tissue penetration, absence of embolism risk, immune acceptance, lack of a nucleus, and the inability to proliferate (Fig. 1) (Gomzikova et al. 2019a).

EVs derived from MSCs promote angiogenesis (Zhang et al. 2015), suppress apoptosis and stimulate cell proliferation (Ren et al. 2019), induce cell migration and tissue regeneration mechanisms (Zhang et al. 2020a), and immunomodulatory activity (Gomzikova et al. 2019a). In addition, MSC-derived EVs can also recruit and reprogram cells required for tissue regeneration (Ratajczak et al. 2006) and deliver biological factors and organelles to the target cells (Gomzikova et al. 2021).

Autologous or allogeneic MSCs can be used for the production of their secretome including EVs for subsequent use in cell-free therapy (Haider and Aslam 2018). Using EVs derived from autologous MSCs is safer and ethically acceptable. However, the reparability and regenerative potential of MSCs significantly decreases with age and chronic diseases such as coronary heart disease and diabetes mellitus (Shahid et al. 2016; Haider 2018; Efimenko et al. 2015). Therefore, the application of EVs derived from allogeneic MSCs may be required to have the necessary therapeutic efficiency and be available as an off-the-shelf "ready-to-use" preparation for immediate clinical needs.



Fig. 1 Advantages and disadvantages of MSCs, MSCs-derived bioactive molecules, and MSCs-derived EVs as therapeutics

Role of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived EVs in Regeneration

An increase in interest in the potential of EVs peaked after the demonstration that EVs derived from MSCs demonstrated biological activity comparable to parental cells. Numerous studies have since shown that MSCs-derived EVs mimic the effects of stem cells in various experimental models of tissue injuries (Table 1).

The beneficial effect of EVs on tissue regeneration is mediated by the stimulation of cell proliferation and migration (Zhang et al. 2020a), inhibition of inflammation (Gomzikova et al. 2019a), and reduction of oxidative stress (Zhou et al. 2013). The use of EVs to stimulate regeneration in cardiovascular diseases has been reported for acute myocardial infarction (AMI), stroke, pulmonary hypertension, and septic cardiomyopathy (Yin et al. 2019). EVs have also been used to demonstrate pro-regenerative activity in treating neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and nervous tissue injury (traumatic brain injury, spinal cord injuries, stroke) (Galieva et al. 2019). The regenerative potential of EVs was also confirmed in treating liver damage, lung injury, and skin damage (Table 1).

To date, there are three publications on the use of MSC-derived EVs in the clinic. The first evidence of the application of allogeneic EVs in the clinic was obtained in 2014 by Kordelas et al. (2014). The authors administrated MSC-derived EVs to treat steroid-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease (acute GvHD). No side effects were reported and an improvement in GvHD symptoms was seen, including a decrease in IL-1b, TNF-a, and IFN- γ levels (Kordelas et al. 2014). The second was a clinical trial of allogeneic MSC-derived EVs to treat chronic kidney disease (CKD) (Nassar et al. 2016). In 2016, Nassar et al. reported that the administration of MSCs-derived EVs improved the glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), serum creatinine level, blood urea, and urinary albumin creatinine ratio (UACR) in CKD patients (Nassar et al. 2016; Gomzikova et al. 2019a). More recently, the application of MSCs-derived EVs for the treatment of severe pneumonia was observed in COVID-19 patients (Sengupta et al. 2020). The study included 24 patients who received a single intravenous infusion of allogeneic MSC-derived EVs. The use of the EVs was deemed safe as no side effects were evident up to 72 h after infusion (Sengupta et al. 2020). Despite these exciting proof-of-principle studies, further research is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of MSCs-derived EVs, including fully resourced clinical trials with larger patient numbers and adequate control groups.

Given the challenges of producing natural EVs for clinical use, our research group has focused on the production of induced microvesicles derived from MSCs with cytochalasin B. These cytochalasin B-induced MVs (CIMVs) demonstrate identical angiogenic activity in vivo and possess the molecular content and angiogenic activity similar to the parent MSCs (Gomzikova et al. 2019b). This was also demonstrated that CIMVs retain a similar composition of growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines, and express surface receptors of MSCs (CD90+, CD29+, CD44+, CD73+) as the parental MSCs. Importantly, CIMVs can transfer membrane receptors to the surfaces of target cells that might be the mechanism that mediates the mimicry and reprogramming seen as part of MSC-induced regeneration.

Source of EVs	Model of disease	Observed effect	Reference
Cardiovascular diseases			
Rat ADSC	Myocardial infarction in rats	Significantly improved cardiac function, suppressed MI-induced myocardial fibrosis and apoptosis, downregulated MI-induced inflammatory factor expression, promoted macrophage M2 t anti- inflammatory polarization, activated S1P/SK1/S1PR1 signaling	Deng et al. (2019)
Adipose- derived regenerative cells (ADRCs)	Myocardial infarction in mice	Prevented cardiac rupture, promoted cardiomyocyte survival by delivering miR-214	Eguchi et al. (2019)
Human UC-MSCs	Myocardial infarction in rats	Repaired the ischemic myocardium by inhibiting cardiomyocyte apoptosis and promoting angiogenesis and ECM remodeling, partly by activating the prosurvival Akt/Sfrp2 pathway	Ni et al. (2019)
Mouse BM-MSCs	Myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion model in mice	Attenuated myocardial injury via shuttling miR-182, shifted polarization of macrophages to M2 phenotype	Zhao et al. (2019)
Rat BM-MSCs	Myocardial ischemia–reperfusion injury in rats	Inhibited cardiomyocyte apoptosis, downregulated PTEN level, activated the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway, protected injured cardiomyocytes via miR-486-5p	Sun et al. (2019)
Liver diseases	1	1	
Human UC-MSCs	CCl4-induced liver fibrosis in mice	Decreased collagen expression and Smad2 activity, anti-fibrotic and anti- inflammatory effects	Li et al. (2013)
Human UC-MSCs	Acute liver failure induced by LPS + D-GalN in mice	Decreased levels of NLRP3, caspase-1 anti-inflammatory cytokines	Zhang et al. (2020b)
Lung injury			
Mouse BM-MSCs	LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice	Suppression of signaling pathways of inflammation, reduction of SAA3 expression – Reduction of edema	Yi et al. (2019)

 Table 1
 The regenerative potential of extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells

(continued)

Source of EVs	Model of disease	Observed effect	Reference
Swine BM-MSCs	Influenza virus in pigs	Inhibited the hemagglutination activity of influenza viruses, decreased apoptosis in lung epithelial cells, reduced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, alleviated lung lesions	Khatri et al. (2018)
Kidney diseases			
Rat MSCs	Renal ischemia reperfusion injury in rats	Attenuated pathological damage, inhibited the inflammatory response, inhibited NF-κB activation, inhibited the expression levels of cleaved caspase-3, caspase- 9, and Bax, and upregulated expression level of Bcl-2	Galieva et al. (2019)
Human UC-MSCs	Nephrectomy in rats	Reduced cell apoptosis and enhanced proliferation, renal function was improved and the histological lesion was mitigated, increased capillary vessel density and reduced renal fibrosis	Zou et al. (2016)
Neurological dise	eases		
Human BM-MSCs	Autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice	Reduced demyelination, decreased neuroinflammation, upregulated the number of Tregs, reduced levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, increased levels of anti- inflammatory and neuroprotective proteins	Riazifar et al. (2019)
Human ADMSCs	Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV)-induced demyelinating disease, a progressive model of multiple sclerosis in mice	Improved motor deficits, reduced brain atrophy, increased cell proliferation in the sub-ventricular zone and decreased neuro- inflammation	Laso- Garcia et al. (2018)
Human BM-MSCs	Traumatic brain injury in rats	Improved cognitive and sensorimotor functional recovery, increased the number of newborn neurons and endothelial cells, reduced neuro-inflammation	Zhang et al. (2017)
Human WJ-MSC	Perinatal brain injury in rats	Reduced neuro- inflammation, decreased expression of inflammation- related genes and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines by glial cells	Thomi et al. (2019)

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Source of EVs	Model of disease	Observed effect	Reference
MSCs	Spinal cord injury in rats	Improved the functional recovery, reduced neuron loss, delivered miR-21 inhibiting the neurons apoptosis	Kang et al. (2019)
Human ADMSCs	Sciatic nerve transection and implantation in rats	Promoted Schwann cells proliferation, migration, myelination, and secretion of neurotrophic factors in vitro, improved axon regeneration, myelination, restoration of denervation muscle atrophy in vivo	Chen et al. (2019)
Rat ADMSCs	Subcortical stroke in rats	Improved long-term functional outcome, enhanced axonal repair and brain connectivity, reduced cell death, reduced astrogliosis, decreased GFAP expression	Otero- Ortega et al. (2020)
Skin damage			
Human BM-MSCs	Excisional wounds in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats	Activated the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway, enhanced wound healing, stimulated angiogenesis in vivo	Ding et al. (2019)
Human UC-MSCs	Full-thickness skin defects in mice	Suppressed myofibroblast formation inhibiting the TGF-β2/SMAD2 pathway	Fang et al. (2016)
Human ADMSCs	Full-thickness skin defects in mice	Promoted proliferation, migration, and angiogenesis, upregulated gene expression of proliferative markers and growth factors in vitro, increased reepithelialization, collagen deposition, neovascularization, and wound closure in vivo	Ren et al. (2019)

Table 1 (continued)

BM-MSCs bone marrow-derived MSCs, *ADMSCs* adipose-derived MSCs, *UC-MSCs* umbilical cord-MSCs, *WJ-MSC* Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells

Recently, using an experimental model of skin photoaging, it was observed that induced MVs decreased epidermal thickening and improved the organization of the dermal layer (Syromiatnikova et al. 2020). Furthermore, the authors confirmed that CIMVs demonstrate high biological activity and regenerative potential of parental MSCs. Hence, it was proposed that human MSCs-derived CIMVs might be a promising cell-free option for regenerative medicine.

Immunosuppressive Activity of EVs

The immunomodulatory activity of EVs was first described by Raposo et al. The authors showed that EVs derived from B-cells carry MHC class II molecules and participate in the regulation of T-cell response (Raposo et al. 1996). Thus, MSCs possess profound immunosuppressive activity, inhibiting T- and B-cell proliferation, modulating regulatory T cell function maturation and activation, as well as influencing antigen presentation by dendritic cells, decreasing the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and cytotoxicity (Gomzikova et al. 2019a).

It was confirmed that MSC-derived EVs also inhibit the activity and maturation of T cells (van den Akker et al. 2018; Khare et al. 2018) and suppress natural killer (NK) cell activity (Table 2) (Di Trapani et al. 2016). Furthermore, MSC-derived EVs can inhibit B-cell activity and direct monocytic cell polarization towards an immunosuppressive M2 phenotype. They also stimulate the differentiation of T-lymphocytes toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype of regulatory T lymphocytes (Tregs) (Table 2) (Zhang et al. 2014; Morrison et al. 2017). The immunosuppressive activity

Immune cells	Effect of MSCs-derived EVs	Reference
T-cells	Inhibition of T-cell proliferation	Di Trapani et al. (2016), Blazquez
		et al. (2014)
	Induction of differentiation toward	Wen et al. (2016), Del Fattore et al.
	regulatory T cells	(2015)
	Upregulation of the immune-modulating	Del Fattore et al. (2015)
	factor IL-10	
B-cells	Inhibition of B-cell proliferation	Di Trapani et al. (2016)
	Inhibition of maturation	Budoni et al. (2013)
	Decreasing of immunoglobulin secretion	
NK-cells	Inhibition of NK-cell proliferation	Di Trapani et al. (2016)
	Reduced NK-cell number	Koch et al. (2015)
Dendritic cells	Suppression of DC activation	Di Trapani et al. (2016)
	Upregulation of immunomodulatory	
	factors (TGF-β and PGE2)	
	Inhibition of DC proliferation	
Macrophages	Inhibition of chemotaxis	Shen et al. (2016)
	Shift the M1/M2 balance	Song et al. (2017)
	Inhibition of M1 (mir-147 dependent)	Spinosa et al. (2018)
	Downregulation of pro-inflammatory	Willis et al. (2018)
	signaling (CCL5, TNF-α, and IL-6)	
	Upregulation of Arg1 (M2-derived)	
	Stimulation of M2 polarization	Zhao et al. (2018)
	(by delivery of activated signal	
	transducer and astat3)	

Table 2 Immunosuppressive effects of MSCs-derived EVs on immune cells

of EVs has been also described in depth in other published reviews (Gomzikova et al. 2019a).

In numerous preclinical studies, treatment with EVs has been shown to inhibit immune cell proliferation, reduces inflammation, and improves injury symptoms. The immunosuppressive and regenerative effects of EVs derived from BM-MSCs were demonstrated in an experimental model of cardiac ischemia in rats (Teng et al. 2015). The authors showed inhibition of T-cell proliferation in vitro and attenuated infarct size in vivo after the application of EVs (Teng et al. 2015). The use of MSC-derived EVs was also effective in mediating immunosuppression, reducing neuronal degeneration, suppression of microglia activation, and inducing tissue regeneration in experimental animal models of neuronal tissue injury, such as stroke, traumatic brain injury, and acute spinal cord injury (Hu et al. 2016; Drommelschmidt et al. 2017; Ruppert et al. 2018). The immunomodulatory effects of EVs derived from human MSCs in experimental animal models of autoimmune diseases also demonstrated a range of beneficial effects, including a decrease of inflammatory infiltrates and brain atrophy coupled with an increase in cell proliferation in experimental model of multiple sclerosis (Ruppert et al. 2018). In mouse model of type 1 diabetes, EVs caused inhibition of antigen-presenting cell activation and suppression of Th1, Th17 (Shigemoto-Kuroda et al. 2017). For experimental models of rheumatoid arthritis, inhibition of T-lymphocyte proliferation and attenuation of inflammatory response have been reported (Cosenza et al. 2018). In vivo models of atopic dermatitis showed an improvement of the symptoms, with decreased expression of inflammatory cytokines and reduced eosinophils, mast cell infiltration, and CD86+, CD206+ cells in the skin under the area of atopic dermatitis (Cho et al. 2018). Finally, EVs improved symptoms and decreased mortality in recipient mice undergoing acute graft versus host disease (Wang et al. 2016; Fujii et al. 2018). Furthermore, the authors showed that the use of EVs led to a decrease of CD4+ and CD8+ T-lymphocytes, as well as suppression of T-lymphocyte differentiation into the effector phenotype and an overall reduction in organ damage (Wang et al. 2016; Fujii et al. 2018).

The immunosuppressive activity of the induced microvesicles (CIMVs) derived from MSCs have also been demonstrated (Gomzikova et al. 2020b). The data showed that CIMVs inhibited phytohemagglutinin (PHA)-induced proliferation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), with a more pronounced effect on T-lymphocytes. Moreover, CIMVs significantly suppressed activation of T-helpers (CD4 + CD25+), B-cells (CD19 + CD25+), and T-cytotoxic lymphocytes (CD8 + CD25+) in vitro (Gomzikova et al. 2020b). Using an experimental model of mice immunization with ovine red blood cells, it was demonstrated that MSCs-derived CIMVs suppressed the humoral immune response and antibody production in vivo (Gomzikova et al. 2020a). Interestingly, no immunosuppression was observed in the animals pretreated with MSCs-derived EVs. In contrast, MSCs themselves and CIMVs-derived from them were similarly effective in suppressing antibody production in vivo (Gomzikova et al. 2020a). Therefore, the authors proposed that CIMVs are potentially a more appropriate substitutes for the MSCs-based cell therapy than endogenously produced EVs, combining advantages of safety and ease of production with retaining the parental MSCs immunomodulatory activity (Gomzikova et al. 2020a).

EV-Mediated Mitochondria Donation by MSCs

The regenerative activity of MSCs is accomplished by a complex influence on the injured cells. This includes the aforementioned stimulation of cell migration and proliferation, besides immunosuppression. More recently it is becoming widely accepted that the regenerative effect of MSCs is also in part mediated by the donation of mitochondria to recipient cells. Mitochondria donation from MSCs leads to the rescue of injured cells, improved oxidative phosphorylation, increased ATP production, and restoration of mitochondrial function (Gomzikova et al. 2021). Moreover, MSCs can also regulate the activity of immune cells through mitochondria transfer (Luz-Crawford et al. 2019; Gomzikova et al. 2021). The most recent studies to evidence mitochondrial transfer from MSCs to recipient cells are summarized in Table 3.

Mitochondria transfer can be via cell-to-cell-based or cell-free mechanisms. The cell-based mechanism includes the transfer of mitochondria through tunneling nanotubes (TNTs) or cell fusion. The cell-free mechanism is via either the naked transfer of the mitochondria or encapsulation of the mitochondria within EVs (Gomzikova et al. 2021) (Fig. 2). However, due to the risks of cell-based therapy associated with the oncogenic transformation of transplanted cells and their differentiation into undesired cell lineages (Gomzikova et al. 2019a), the cell-free strategies of mitochondria transfer are more attractive for the development of therapeutic

	1		1 -
Donor cells	Recipient cells, injury model	Effect	Reference
Human marrow stromal cells	Mouse neurons, exposure to hydrogen peroxide	Increased neuronal survival, improved metabolism in vitro	Tseng et al. (2021)
MSCs- derived from iPSCs	PC12 cells, CoCl2-induced hypoxia	Reduced apoptosis and restored δψm, ameliorated mitochondrial swelling, the disappearance of cristae, and chromatin margination in vitro	Yang et al. (2020)
MSCs	Corneal endothelial cells (cecs), 661W cells and ARPE-19 cells	Increased aerobic capacity and upregulation of mitochondrial genes in vitro	Jiang et al. (2020)
MSCs and the MSC cell line HS27	REH, SD1, SEM, and TOM1 cell lines, expose to chemotherapy agents in vitro and in vivo on the model of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL)	Prevents ALL cell apoptosis and death from exogenously administered ROS-inducing agents in vitro	Burt et al. (2019)
BM-MSCs	T helper 17 (Th17) cells, rheumatoid arthritis	Oxygen consumption increase by Th17 cells and interconversion into T regulatory cells in vitro	Luz-Crawford et al. (2019)

Table 3 Mitochondria donation from MSCs to recipient cells

(continued)

		1	
Donor cells	Recipient cells, injury model	Effect	Reference
BM stromal cell line	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells	Metabolic support, changes in genes related to energy metabolism and redox status in vitro	Usmani et al. (2019)
BM-MSCs	Human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells, cytarabine- induced stress	Reduced apoptosis, promoted proliferation and restored the migration ability and capillary formation in vitro	Feng et al. (2019)
MSCs	Neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes, hypoxia/ reoxygenation stress	Anti-apoptosis effect in vitro	Zhang et al. (2019)
MSCs	In vivo: intra-arterial injection on the model of ischemic stroke	Improved mitochondrial activity of injured microvasculature, enhanced angiogenesis, reduced infarct volume, and improved functional recovery in vivo	Liu et al. (2019)
Wharton's jelly MSCs (WJMSCs)	Fibroblasts were isolated from a MELAS patient skin punch biopsy	Mutation burden of MELAS fibroblasts was reduced to an undetectable level, with long- term retention. Improves mitochondrial functions and cellular performance, including protein translation of respiratory complexes, ROS overexpression, mitochondrial membrane potential, mitochondrial morphology and bioenergetics, cell proliferation, mitochondrion- dependent viability, and apoptotic resistance in vitro	Lin et al. (2019)
iPSCs- derived MSCs	Injected into the vitreous cavity of one eye	RGC survival was significantly increased with improved retinal function in vivo	Jiang et al. (2019)
BM-MSCs	Neurons, injection into the spinal cord in vivo, oxygen- glucose deprivation injury in vitro, ischemic injury of the spinal cord in vivo	Improved the bioenergetics profile, decreased apoptosis and promoted cell survival in post-OGD motor neurons in vitro, improved locomotor functional recovery in SCI rats in vivo	Li et al. (2019)
MSCs	Neural stem cells in vitro, intranasal administration in vivo, cisplatin damage in vitro and in vivo	Decreases cisplatin-induced NSC death, reversed decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential in vitro. Prevented the loss of DCX+ neural progenitor cells in vivo	Boukelmoune et al. (2018)
			(continued)

Table 3 (continued)

1084

Donor cells	Recipient cells, injury model	Effect	Reference
MSCs	Skin fibroblasts from mitochondrial disease patient in vitro, intravenous injection in vivo	Rescues impaired mitochondrial morphology, enhances host metabolic capacity, and induces widespread host gene shifting in vitro and in vivo	Newell et al. (2018)
BM-MSCs	Jurkat cells, treatment with chemotherapeutic drugs	Increased chemoresistance in vitro	Wang et al. (2018)

Table 3 (continued)

approaches. Therefore, mitochondrial transfer into the adult cells is in demand to treat of a range of mitochondria-related diseases, such as diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, aging, and age-related metabolic disorders.

EV-mediated mitochondria donation by MSCs was first discovered by Islam et al. (Islam et al. 2012). The authors used an experimental LPS-induced acute lung injury model to demonstrate the transfer of mitochondria encapsulated in EVs from bone marrow stem cells (BMSCs) to injured lung alveolar epithelial cells (Islam et al. 2012). Later, Falchi et al. observed membrane vesicles sized between 1 and 8 μ m containing mitochondria in cultures of human fetal astrocytes (Falchi et al. 2013). Hayakawa et al. also detected extracellular particles containing mitochondria in cultures of rat cortical astrocytes (Hayakawa et al. 2016). Finally, Phinney et al. confirmed the EVs-mediated mitochondria donation mechanism and suggested that it might be a rescue mechanism following oxidative stress and clearance of mitochondria (Phinney et al. 2015) (Fig. 2).

Recently, it was found that myeloid-derived regulatory cells (Hough et al. 2018), renal scattered tubular cells (Zou et al. 2018), HSCs, B cells, T cells (Zhang et al. 2020c), and neural stem cells (Peruzzotti-Jametti et al. 2020) are also able to release EV-encapsulated mitochondria.

Our research group has demonstrated that induced microvesicles (CIMVs) contain mitochondrial DNA (Gomzikova et al. 2020a), as well as functionally active mitochondria (unpublished data). Therapeutic approaches for delivering functional mitochondria in human cells are being developed that might be applied to treat the deficiency of mitochondrial function in disease.

Approaches of Large-Scale Production of Vesicles

Due to manufacturers and the pharmaceutical industry becoming aware of the potential of EVs, methods for the large-scale production of vesicles are required. Typically, EVs are harvested from conditioned medium derived from MSCs culture. Considering that during 1 h, one cell releases about 50–150 vesicles, mass production using this protocol would be pretty expensive as well as time-intensive (Wan et al. 2018). Initially, one of the most common protocols used for the isolation of EVs was serial centrifugation. This procedure required the high-speed centrifugation of the conditioned medium/liquids



containing EVs (up to $100,000-120,000 \times g$) to precipitate the vesicles in a range of sizes down to 1000 nm or less. The yield of EVs from this method was relatively low and the method itself was labor-intensive and time-consuming. In addition, coprecipitation of protein aggregates, apoptotic bodies, and nucleosomal fragments can reduce the purity of the samples obtained (Momen-Heravi et al. 2013). Fractionation methods such as density gradient centrifugation, ultrafiltration, affinity and gel chromatography, flow field-flow fractionation, and specialized commercial kits have been developed to increase the purity of EVs. However, these methods are often equally time-consuming, expensive, and may require specialist equipment and advanced expertise. Therefore, further development to improve both isolation and large-scale production methods are required before the clinical and commercial benefits of vesicles can be fully developed.

Cytochalasin B-Induced Membrane Vesicles

As previously detailed, treatment of cells with cytochalasin B can induce higher rates of vesicle production (Pick et al. 2005). Cytochalasin B acts to inhibit the polymerization of the actin cytoskeleton (Gomzikova and Rizvanov 2017), causing the increased release of vesicles from the cytoplasmic membrane. This mechanism shares similarities with the natural mechanism of microvesicles production from the cytoplasmic membrane. It is known that for the formation of natural microvesicles, molecular changes within cells are required. The critical event in these changes is the local destruction of the actin cytoskeleton by Ca^{2+} -dependent enzyme calpain (Piccin et al. 2007). Obtained induced microvesicles (CIMVs) surrounded by the cytoplasmic membrane contain the functionally active surface receptors of parental cells (Pick et al. 2005) and have a diameter of 100–1000 nm, comparable

with naturally occurring EVs (Gomzikova et al. 2017). It was found that $17 \pm 6\%$ of the cell membrane surface is transformed to induced microvesicles for 1.5 h after treatment with cytochalasin B (Pick et al. 2005; Gomzikova et al. 2020a). These induced microvesicles have been successfully derived from a variety of cell types, including HEK293 (Pick et al. 2005; Mao et al. 2011; Lim et al. 2014), 3T3 fibroblast (Mao et al. 2011), HUVECs (Peng et al. 2015), MDCKII-MDR1 (Eyer et al. 2014), SH-SY5Y (Gomzikova et al. 2017), PC3 cells (Gomzikova et al. 2018), and MSCs (Gomzikova et al. 2020a).

Induced microvesicles have already been shown to have a range of beneficial uses; they have already been employed as bioelectronic sensors of non-small cell lung cancer to detect heptanal in patient plasma (Lim et al. 2014). Induced microvesicles are also promising biocompatible vectors of fluorescence dyes, molecular compounds, and other nanoparticles (Mao et al. 2011). Peng et al. demonstrated that induced microvesicles could be used as a vector to deliver antitumor agents. Following the drug delivery via induced microvesicles, they observed inhibition of tumor growth in an experimental mouse model of xeno-grafted tumors while also reporting that the toxicity of the drug was markedly lower when compared to the administration of the free drug (Peng et al. 2015). Induced microvesicles have also been used to encapsulate ICG (indocyanine green) (Sheng et al. 2016; Gomzikova et al. 2018) and methylene blue (Han et al. 2016). Encapsulation of ICG within the induced microvesicles led to a reduction in the clearance of ICG and increased the effectiveness of photothermal antitumor therapy in vivo (Sheng et al. 2016; Gomzikova et al. 2018). Vesicles loaded with methylene blue showed lower cytotoxicity while maintaining the effect of photodynamic anticancer therapy (Han et al. 2016). Oshchepkova et al. demonstrated that CIMV-encapsulated oligonucleotides are protected from the nucleases and transferred into recipient cells (Oshchepkova et al. 2019).

These data demonstrate that CIMVs inherit the biological activity of parental cells and can be used as cell-free biotherapeutics. Moreover, CIMVs derived from SH-SY5Y cells contain growth factors of the parental cells and can stimulate capillary tube formation in vitro and angiogenesis in vivo (Gomzikova et al. 2017). Additionally, MSCs-derived CIMVs inherit the angiogenic (Gomzikova et al. 2019b), immunosuppressive (Gomzikova et al. 2020a, b), and regenerative activity (Syromiatnikova et al. 2020) of the parental stem cells. Thus, the effective biological activity of CIMVs and ease of loading with desired cargo components (e.g., drugs), together with the easier procedure of production and isolation of a more homogenous population of vesicles makes them a promising therapeutic tool for clinical use and regenerative medicine.

Vesicle Production by Mechanical Extrusion

Membrane vesicles can also be obtained by extruding cells through polycarbonate filters. Wu H.W. et al. proposed to produce membrane vesicles using mechanical extrusion through filters with pore sizes of 1 μ m or 2 μ m. The authors applied this

method to obtain membrane vesicles from human retinal pigment epithelium (ARPE-19) cells and demonstrated the resulting population of vesicles had diameters $0.2 \pm 0.1 \mu m$ and $0.8 \pm 0.5 \mu m$ (Wu et al. 2012). Xu L.Q. et al. applied the same technique using filters with a pore size 3 μm and produced vesicles from BM-MSCs, containing mitochondria (Xu et al. 2017). Despite the ability to produce vesicles of uniform size, the technique risks the degradation of the nuclei and contamination of the vesicles with nuclei material. These factors need to be thoroughly investigated before transferring this technique for mass production and clinical use.

Vesicle Production Using a Hyperosmotic Solution

It was found that osmotic stress induces cells to release vesicles. Del Piccolo et al. developed a protocol based on sequential treatment of cells with hypo- and hypertonic buffers to induce vesiculation (Del Piccolo et al. 2012). Cells are washed twice with 30% PBS in deionized water – a hypotonic buffer that induces cell swelling. Then the cells are placed in a hypertonic solution containing 200 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 0.5 mM MgCl₂, and 0.75 mM CaCl₂ to stimulate vesicle release (Del Piccolo et al. 2012).

Conclusion and Future Directions

The further study of the mechanisms of EV biogenesis, release, and effect on target cells is an important area of research that creates a theoretical basis for their therapeutic application in regenerative medicine.

EVs derived from MSCs carry complex biological cargos and have a range of effects on target cells. However, the full range of these EVs' properties and effects remain to be elucidated. Safe and effective clinical use of EVs requires overcoming several technical difficulties associated with their production. First, it is necessary to develop universal and easily reproducible protocols for the isolation of vesicles, ensuring their high yield with minimal contamination, and improvement in storage methods. Secondly, despite the relative safety of extracellular vesicles administration compared to stem cells, it is necessary to pay close attention to the cultivation conditions of cells (in particular to the presence of animal components in the EV preparations).

EVs derived from MSCs are a promising therapeutic tool, which have advantages over cell-based therapy in terms of safety, ease of storage, and clinical use. In addition, the ability to modify the composition of EVs will open up broader prospects for their use in clinical practice. However, for this potential to be achieved, additional improvements to optimize their production, isolation, and storage are critical before transitioning to the development of biotherapeutics and routine clinical use proceeds.

Cross-References

 Sources and Therapeutic Strategies of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

Acknowledgments This chapter has been supported by the Kazan Federal University Strategic Academic Leadership Program (PRIORITY-2030). This work was funded by RSF according to the research project №21-75-10035.

References

- Al-Dossary AA, Strehler EE, Martin-Deleon PA (2013) Expression and secretion of plasma membrane Ca2+-ATPase 4a (PMCA4a) during murine estrus: association with oviductal exosomes and uptake in sperm. PLoS One 8:e80181
- Alvarez-Erviti L, Seow Y, Yin H, Betts C, Lakhal S, Wood MJ (2011) Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes. Nat Biotechnol 29:341–345
- Benz EW Jr, Moses HL (1974) Small, virus-like particles detected in bovine sera by electron microscopy. J Natl Cancer Inst 52:1931–1934
- Blazquez R, Sanchez-Margallo FM, de la Rosa O, Dalemans W, Alvarez V, Tarazona R, Casado JG (2014) Immunomodulatory potential of human adipose mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes on in vitro stimulated T cells. Front Immunol 5:556
- Boukelmoune N, Chiu GS, Kavelaars A, Heijnen CJ (2018) Mitochondrial transfer from mesenchymal stem cells to neural stem cells protects against the neurotoxic effects of cisplatin. Acta Neuropathol Commun 6:139
- Bruno S, Tapparo M, Collino F, Chiabotto G, Deregibus MC, Soares Lindoso R, Neri F, Kholia S (2017) Renal regenerative potential of different extracellular vesicle populations derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. Tissue Eng Part A 23:1262–1273
- Budoni M, Fierabracci A, Luciano R, Petrini S, Di Ciommo V, Muraca M (2013) The immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stromal cells on B lymphocytes is mediated by membrane vesicles. Cell Transplant 22:369–379
- Burt R, Dey A, Aref S, Aguiar M, Akarca A, Bailey K, Day W, Hooper S (2019) Activated stromal cells transfer mitochondria to rescue acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from oxidative stress. Blood 134:1415–1429
- Chen J, Ren S, Duscher D, Kang Y, Liu Y, Wang C, Yuan M, Guo G (2019) Exosomes from human adipose-derived stem cells promote sciatic nerve regeneration via optimizing Schwann cell function. J Cell Physiol 234:23097–23110
- Cho BS, Kim JO, Ha DH, Yi YW (2018) Exosomes derived from human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells alleviate atopic dermatitis. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:187
- Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C (2014) Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:255–289
- Cosenza S, Toupet K, Maumus M, Luz-Crawford P, Blanc-Brude O, Jorgensen C, Noel D (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes are more immunosuppressive than microparticles in inflammatory arthritis. Theranostics 8:1399–1410
- Court FA, Hendriks WT, MacGillavry HD, Alvarez J, van Minnen J (2008) Schwann cell to axon transfer of ribosomes: toward a novel understanding of the role of glia in the nervous system. J Neurosci 28:11024–11029
- Del Fattore A, Luciano R, Pascucci L, Goffredo BM, Giorda E, Scapaticci M, Fierabracci A, Muraca M (2015) Immunoregulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles on T lymphocytes. Cell Transplant 24:2615–2627

- Del Piccolo N, Placone J, He L, Agudelo SC, Hristova K (2012) Production of plasma membrane vesicles with chloride salts and their utility as a cell membrane mimetic for biophysical characterization of membrane protein interactions. Anal Chem 84:8650–8655
- Deng S, Zhou X, Ge Z, Song Y, Wang H, Liu X, Zhang D (2019) Exosomes from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate cardiac damage after myocardial infarction by activating S1P/SK1/S1PR1 signaling and promoting macrophage M2 polarization. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 114:105564
- Di Trapani M, Bassi G, Midolo M, Gatti A, Kamga PT, Cassaro A, Carusone R, Adamo A (2016) Differential and transferable modulatory effects of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles on T, B and NK cell functions. Sci Rep 6:24120
- Ding J, Wang X, Chen B, Zhang J, Xu J (2019) Exosomes derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells stimulated by deferoxamine accelerate cutaneous wound healing by promoting angiogenesis. Biomed Res Int 2019:9742765
- Drommelschmidt K, Serdar M, Bendix I, Herz J, Bertling F, Prager S, Keller M, Ludwig AK (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles ameliorate inflammation-induced preterm brain injury. Brain Behav Immun 60:220–232
- Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2010) Hypoxia inducible factor-1α dependent miR-210 is a critical regulator of paracrine activity in preconditioned mesenchymal stem cells for angiogenic growth factor expression. Circulation Suppl.122:A17923
- Efimenko AY, Kochegura TN, Akopyan ZA, Parfyonova YV (2015) Autologous stem cell therapy: how aging and chronic diseases affect stem and progenitor cells. Biores Open Access 4:26–38
- Eguchi S, Takefuji M, Sakaguchi T, Ishihama S, Mori Y, Tsuda T, Takikawa T, Yoshida T (2019) Cardiomyocytes capture stem cell-derived, anti-apoptotic microRNA-214 via clathrin-mediated endocytosis in acute myocardial infarction. J Biol Chem 294:11665–11674
- Elmadbouh I, Haider KH, Shujia J, Niagara MI, Gang L, Ashraf M (2007) Ex vivo delivered stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha promotes stem cell homing and induces angiomyogenesis in the infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 42:792–803
- Eyer K, Herger M, Kramer SD, Dittrich PS (2014) Cell-free microfluidic determination of P-glycoprotein interactions with substrates and inhibitors. Pharm Res 31:3415–3425
- Falchi AM, Sogos V, Saba F, Piras M, Congiu T, Piludu M (2013) Astrocytes shed large membrane vesicles that contain mitochondria, lipid droplets and ATP. Histochem Cell Biol 139:221–231
- Fang S, Xu C, Zhang Y, Xue C, Yang C, Bi H, Qian X, Wu M (2016) Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal microRNAs suppress myofibroblast differentiation by inhibiting the transforming growth factor-beta/SMAD2 pathway during wound healing. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:1425–1439
- Feng Y, Zhu R, Shen J, Wu J, Lu W, Zhang J, Zhang J, Liu K (2019) Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells rescue endothelial cells experiencing chemotherapy stress by mitochondrial transfer via tunneling nanotubes. Stem Cells Dev 28:674–682
- Fujii S, Miura Y, Fujishiro A, Shindo T, Shimazu Y, Hirai H, Tahara H, Takaori-Kondo A (2018) Graft-versus-host disease amelioration by human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal/stem cellderived extracellular vesicles is associated with peripheral preservation of naive T cell populations. Stem Cells 36:434–445
- Galieva LR, James V, Mukhamedshina YO, Rizvanov AA (2019) Therapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles for the treatment of nerve disorders. Front Neurosci 13:163
- Gomzikova MO, Rizvanov AA (2017) Current trends in regenerative medicine: from cell to cellfree therapy. Bionanoscience 7:240–245
- Gomzikova MO, Zhuravleva MN, Miftakhova RR, Arkhipova SS, Evtugin VG, Khaiboullina SF, Kiyasov AP, Persson JL (2017) Cytochalasin B-induced membrane vesicles convey angiogenic activity of parental cells. Oncotarget 8:70496–70507
- Gomzikova M, Kletukhina S, Kurbangaleeva S, Rizvanov A (2018) Evaluation of cytochalasin B-induced membrane vesicles fusion specificity with target cells. Biomed Res Int 2018:7053623
- Gomzikova MO, James V, Rizvanov AA (2019a) Therapeutic application of mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles for immunomodulation. Front Immunol 10:2663

- Gomzikova MO, Zhuravleva MN, Vorobev VV, Salafutdinov II, Laikov AV, Kletukhina SK, Martynova EV, Tazetdinova LG (2019b) Angiogenic activity of cytochalasin B-induced membrane vesicles of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cell 9(1):95. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cells9010095
- Gomzikova MO, Aimaletdinov AM, Bondar OV, Starostina IG, Gorshkova NV, Neustroeva OA, Kletukhina SK, Kurbangaleeva SV (2020a) Immunosuppressive properties of cytochalasin B-induced membrane vesicles of mesenchymal stem cells: comparing with extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep 10:10740
- Gomzikova MO, Kletukhina SK, Kurbangaleeva SV, Neustroeva OA, Vasileva OS, Garanina EE, Khaiboullina SF, Rizvanov AA (2020b) Mesenchymal stem cell derived biocompatible membrane vesicles demonstrate immunomodulatory activity inhibiting activation and proliferation of human mononuclear cells. Pharmaceutics 12(6):577. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics12060577
- Gomzikova MO, James V, Rizvanov AA (2021) Mitochondria donation by mesenchymal stem cells: current understanding and mitochondria transplantation strategies. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:653322
- Grange C, Tritta S, Tapparo M, Cedrino M, Tetta C, Camussi G, Brizzi MF (2019) Stem cellderived extracellular vesicles inhibit and revert fibrosis progression in a mouse model of diabetic nephropathy. Sci Rep 9:4468
- Griffiths GS, Galileo DS, Reese K, Martin-Deleon PA (2008) Investigating the role of murine epididymosomes and uterosomes in GPI-linked protein transfer to sperm using SPAM1 as a model. Mol Reprod Dev 75:1627–1636
- Groot M, Lee H (2020) Sorting mechanisms for MicroRNAs into extracellular vesicles and their associated diseases. Cell 9(4):1044. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9041044
- Gyorgy B, Szabo TG, Turiak L, Wright M, Herczeg P, Ledeczi Z, Kittel A, Polgar A (2012) Improved flow cytometric assessment reveals distinct microvesicle (cell-derived microparticle) signatures in joint diseases. PLoS One 7:e49726
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) "Mircrining" the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11: Article 23, 1–12
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow stem cell transplantation for cardiac repair. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 288:2557–2567
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Berlin
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Han LCY, Niu J, Peng L, Mao Z, Gaoa C (2016) Encapsulation of a photosensitizer into cell membrane capsules for photodynamic therapy. RSC Adv 6, 37212–37220
- Hayakawa K, Esposito E, Wang X, Terasaki Y, Liu Y, Xing C, Ji X, Lo EH (2016) Transfer of mitochondria from astrocytes to neurons after stroke. Nature 535:551–555
- Hough KP, Trevor JL, Strenkowski JG, Wang Y, Chacko BK, Tousif S, Chanda D, Steele C (2018) Exosomal transfer of mitochondria from airway myeloid-derived regulatory cells to T cells. Redox Biol 18:54–64
- Hu B, Chen S, Zou M, He Z, Shao S, Liu B (2016) Effect of extracellular vesicles on neural functional recovery and immunologic suppression after rat cerebral apoplexy. Cell Physiol Biochem 40:155–162
- Islam MN, Das SR, Emin MT, Wei M, Sun L, Westphalen K, Rowlands DJ, Quadri SK (2012) Mitochondrial transfer from bone-marrow-derived stromal cells to pulmonary alveoli protects against acute lung injury. Nat Med 18:759–765

- Jiang D, Xiong G, Feng H, Zhang Z, Chen P, Yan B, Chen L, Gandhervin K (2019) Donation of mitochondria by iPSC-derived mesenchymal stem cells protects retinal ganglion cells against mitochondrial complex I defect-induced degeneration. Theranostics 9:2395–2410
- Jiang D, Chen FX, Zhou H, Lu YY, Tan H, Yu SJ, Yuan J, Liu H (2020) Bioenergetic crosstalk between mesenchymal stem cells and various ocular cells through the intercellular trafficking of mitochondria. Theranostics 10:7260–7272
- Kang J, Li Z, Zhi Z, Wang S, Xu G (2019) MiR-21 derived from the exosomes of MSCs regulates the death and differentiation of neurons in patients with spinal cord injury. Gene Ther 26: 491–503
- Keller S, Rupp C, Stoeck A, Runz S, Fogel M, Lugert S, Hager HD, Abdel-Bakky MS (2007) CD24 is a marker of exosomes secreted into urine and amniotic fluid. Kidney Int 72:1095–1102
- Khare D, Or R, Resnick I, Barkatz C, Almogi-Hazan O, Avni B (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cellderived exosomes affect mRNA expression and function of B-lymphocytes. Front Immunol 9:3053
- Khatri M, Richardson LA, Meulia T (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate influenza virus-induced acute lung injury in a pig model. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:17
- Koch M, Lemke A, Lange C (2015) Extracellular vesicles from MSC modulate the immune response to renal allografts in a MHC disparate rat model. Stem Cells Int 2015:486141
- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, Ruesing J, Doeppner TR, Epple M, Horn PA (2014) MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 28:970–973
- Laso-Garcia F, Ramos-Cejudo J, Carrillo-Salinas FJ, Otero-Ortega L, Feliu A, Gomez-de Frutos M, Mecha M, Diez-Tejedor E (2018) Therapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells in a model of progressive multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 13: e0202590
- Lasser C, Alikhani VS, Ekstrom K, Eldh M, Paredes PT, Bossios A, Sjostrand M, Gabrielsson S (2011) Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. J Transl Med 9:9
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery. Medicine & Life Sciences, DE GRUYTER, Berlin
- Levanen B, Bhakta NR, Torregrosa Paredes P, Barbeau R, Hiltbrunner S, Pollack JL, Skold CM, Svartengren M (2013) Altered microRNA profiles in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid exosomes in asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131:894–903
- Li T, Yan Y, Wang B, Qian H, Zhang X, Shen L, Wang M, Zhou Y (2013) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate liver fibrosis. Stem Cells Dev 22: 845–854
- Li H, Wang C, He T, Zhao T, Chen YY, Shen YL, Zhang X, Wang LL (2019) Mitochondrial transfer from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to motor neurons in spinal cord injury rats via gap junction. Theranostics 9:2017–2035
- Lim JH, Park J, Oh EH, Ko HJ, Hong S, Park TH (2014) Nanovesicle-based bioelectronic nose for the diagnosis of lung cancer from human blood. Adv Healthc Mater 3:360–366
- Lin TK, Chen SD, Chuang YC, Lan MY, Chuang JH, Wang PW, Hsu TY, Wang FS (2019) Mitochondrial transfer of Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells eliminates mutation burden and rescues mitochondrial bioenergetics in rotenone-stressed MELAS fibroblasts. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019:9537504
- Liu K, Guo L, Zhou Z, Pan M, Yan C (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells transfer mitochondria into cerebral microvasculature and promote recovery from ischemic stroke. Microvasc Res 123:74–80
- Luz-Crawford P, Hernandez J, Djouad F, Luque-Campos N, Caicedo A, Carrere-Kremer S, Brondello JM, Vignais ML (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell repression of Th17 cells is triggered by mitochondrial transfer. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:232
- Machtinger R, Laurent LC, Baccarelli AA (2016) Extracellular vesicles: roles in gamete maturation, fertilization and embryo implantation. Hum Reprod Update 22:182–193

- Mao Z, Cartier R, Hohl A, Farinacci M, Dorhoi A, Nguyen TL, Mulvaney P, Ralston J (2011) Cells as factories for humanized encapsulation. Nano Lett 11:2152–2156
- Momen-Heravi F, Balaj L, Alian S, Mantel PY, Halleck AE, Trachtenberg AJ, Soria CE, Oquin S (2013) Current methods for the isolation of extracellular vesicles. Biol Chem 394:1253–1262
- Morrison TJ, Jackson MV, Cunningham EK, Kissenpfennig A, McAuley DF, O'Kane CM, Krasnodembskaya AD (2017) Mesenchymal stromal cells modulate macrophages in clinically relevant lung injury models by extracellular vesicle mitochondrial transfer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 196:1275–1286
- Nassar W, El-Ansary M, Sabry D, Mostafa MA, Fayad T, Kotb E, Temraz M, Saad AN (2016) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles can safely ameliorate the progression of chronic kidney diseases. Biomater Res 20:21
- Newell C, Sabouny R, Hittel DS, Shutt TE, Khan A, Klein MS, Shearer J (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells shift mitochondrial dynamics and enhance oxidative phosphorylation in recipient cells. Front Physiol 9:1572
- Ni J, Liu X, Yin Y, Zhang P, Xu YW, Liu Z (2019) Exosomes derived from TIMP2-modified human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells enhance the repair effect in rat model with myocardial infarction possibly by the Akt/Sfrp2 pathway. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019:1958941
- Oshchepkova A, Neumestova A, Matveeva V, Artemyeva L, Morozova K, Kiseleva E, Zenkova M et al (2019) Cytochalasin-B-inducible nanovesicle mimics of natural extracellular vesicles that are capable of nucleic acid transfer. Micromachines (Basel) 10(11):750. https://doi.org/10.3390/mi10110750
- Otero-Ortega L, Laso-Garcia F, Frutos MCG, Diekhorst L, Martinez-Arroyo A, Alonso-Lopez E, Garcia-Bermejo ML et al (2020) Low dose of extracellular vesicles identified that promote recovery after ischemic stroke. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:70
- Otsuru S, Desbourdes L, Guess AJ, Hofmann TJ, Relation T, Kaito T, Dominici M et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles released from mesenchymal stromal cells stimulate bone growth in osteogenesis imperfecta. Cytotherapy 20:62–73
- Palanisamy V, Sharma S, Deshpande A, Zhou H, Gimzewski J, Wong DT (2010) Nanostructural and transcriptomic analyses of human saliva derived exosomes. PLoS One 5:e8577
- Peng LH, Zhang YH, Han LJ, Zhang CZ, Wu JH, Wang XR, Gao JQ, Mao ZW (2015) Cell Membrane Capsules for Encapsulation of Chemotherapeutic and Cancer Cell Targeting in Vivo. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7(33):18628–37. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b05065. Epub 2015 Aug 17
- Peruzzotti-Jametti L, Bernstock JD, Manferrari G, Rogall R, Fernandez-Vizarra E, Williamson JC, Braga A et al (2020) Neural stem cells traffic functional mitochondria via extracellular vesicles to correct mitochondrial dysfunction in target cells. bioRxiv 2020.01.29.923441
- Phinney DG, Di Giuseppe M, Njah J, Sala E, Shiva S, St Croix CM, Stolz DB et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle micro-RNAs. Nat Commun 6:8472
- Piccin A, Murphy WG, Smith OP (2007) Circulating microparticles: pathophysiology and clinical implications. Blood Rev 21:157–171
- Pick H, Schmid EL, Tairi AP, Ilegems E, Hovius R, Vogel H (2005) Investigating cellular signaling reactions in single attoliter vesicles. J Am Chem Soc 127:2908–2912
- Pisitkun T, Shen RF, Knepper MA (2004) Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:13368–13373
- Raposo G, Nijman HW, Stoorvogel W, Liejendekker R, Harding CV, Melief CJ, Geuze HJ (1996) B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. J Exp Med 183:1161–1172
- Ratajczak J, Miekus K, Kucia M, Zhang J, Reca R, Dvorak P, Ratajczak MZ (2006) Embryonic stem cell-derived microvesicles reprogram hematopoietic progenitors: evidence for horizontal transfer of mRNA and protein delivery. Leukemia 20:847–856
- Ren S, Chen J, Duscher D, Liu Y, Guo G, Kang Y, Xiong H, Zhan P (2019) Microvesicles from human adipose stem cells promote wound healing by optimizing cellular functions via AKT and ERK signaling pathways. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:47

- Riazifar M, Mohammadi MR, Pone EJ, Yeri A, Lasser C, Segaliny AI, McIntyre LL, Shelke GV (2019) Stem cell-derived exosomes as nanotherapeutics for autoimmune and neurodegenerative disorders. ACS Nano 13:6670–6688
- Ruppert KA, Nguyen TT, Prabhakara KS, Toledano Furman NE, Srivastava AK, Harting MT et al (2018) Human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles modify microglial response and improve clinical outcomes in experimental spinal cord injury. Sci Rep 8:480
- Ryan JM, Barry FP, Murphy JM, Mahon BP (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells avoid allogeneic rejection. J Inflamm (Lond) 2:8
- Sengupta V, Sengupta S, Lazo A, Woods P, Nolan A, Bremer N (2020) Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells as treatment for severe COVID-19. Stem Cells Dev 29: 747–754
- Seo Y, Kim HS, Hong IS (2019) Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as immunomodulatory therapeutics. Stem Cells Int 2019:5126156
- Shahid MS, Lasheen W, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10):E1371–E1374
- Shen B, Liu J, Zhang F, Wang Y, Qin Y, Zhou Z, Qiu J, Fan Y (2016) CCR2 positive exosome released by mesenchymal stem cells suppresses macrophage functions and alleviates ischemia/ reperfusion-induced renal injury. Stem Cells Int 2016:1240301
- Sheng G, Chen Y, Han L, Huang Y, Liu X, Li L, Mao Z (2016) Encapsulation of indocyanine green into cell membrane capsules for photothermal cancer therapy. Acta Biomater 43:251–261
- Shigemoto-Kuroda T, Oh JY, Kim DK, Jeong HJ, Park SY, Lee HJ, Park JW et al (2017) MSC-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate immune responses in two autoimmune murine models: type 1 diabetes and uveoretinitis. Stem Cell Reports 8:1214–1225
- Skotland T, Sagini K, Sandvig K, Llorente A (2020) An emerging focus on lipids in extracellular vesicles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 159:308–321
- Song JY, Kang HJ, Hong JS, Kim CJ, Shim JY, Lee CW, Choi J (2017) Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell extracts reduce colitis in mice by re-polarizing intestinal macrophages. Sci Rep 7:9412
- Spinosa M, Lu G, Su G, Bontha SV, Gehrau R, Salmon MD, Smith JR, Weiss ML, Mas VR, Upchurch GR Jr, Sharma AK (2018) Human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate aortic aneurysm formation and macrophage activation via microRNA-147. FASEB J. 32(11):fj201701138RR. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201701138RR. Epub ahead of print
- Street JM, Barran PE, Mackay CL, Weidt S, Balmforth C, Walsh TS, Chalmers RT et al (2012) Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human cerebrospinal fluid. J Transl Med 10:5
- Sun XH, Wang X, Zhang Y, Hui J (2019) Exosomes of bone-marrow stromal cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis under ischemic and hypoxic conditions via miR-486-5p targeting the PTEN/PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. Thromb Res 177:23–32
- Syromiatnikova KI, Masgutova G, Gomzikova M, Kabwe E, Bek J, Andreeva D, Masgutov R, Mullakhmetova A, James V, Rizvanov A (2020) Analyzing the effectiveness of adipose tissue stem cell and microvesicle therapy in premature skin aging caused by chronic exposure to ultraviolet radiation. BioNanoScience 10:991–997
- Teng XM, Chen L, Chen WQ, Yang JJ, Yang ZY, Shen ZY (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes improve the microenvironment of infarcted myocardium contributing to angiogenesis and anti-inflammation. Cell Physiol Biochem 37:2415–2424
- Thery C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R, Antoniou A, Arab T (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1535750

- Thomi G, Surbek D, Haesler V, Joerger-Messerli M, Schoeberlein A (2019) Exosomes derived from umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells reduce microglia-mediated neuroinflammation in perinatal brain injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:105
- Tseng N, Lambie SC, Huynh CQ, Sanford B, Patel M, Herson PS, Ormond DR (2021) Mitochondrial transfer from mesenchymal stem cells improves neuronal metabolism after oxidant injury in vitro: The role of Miro1. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 41(4):761–770. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0271678X20928147. Epub 2020 Jun 5
- Usmani S, Sivagnanalingam U, Tkachenko O, Nunez L, Shand JC, Mullen CA (2019) Support of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells by nonmalignant bone marrow stromal cells. Oncol Lett 17: 5039–5049
- van den Akker F, Vrijsen KR, Deddens JC, Buikema JW, Mokry M, van Laake LW, Doevendans PA, Sluijter JPG (2018) Suppression of T cells by mesenchymal and cardiac progenitor cells is partly mediated via extracellular vesicles. Heliyon 4(6):e00642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. heliyon.2018.e00642
- Wan Y, Wang L, Zhu C, Zheng Q, Wang G, Tong J, Fang Y, Xia Y (2018) Aptamer-conjugated extracellular nanovesicles for targeted drug delivery. Cancer Res 78:798–808
- Wang L, Gu Z, Zhao X, Yang N, Wang F, Deng A, Zhao S, Luo L (2016) Extracellular vesicles released from human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cells prevent life-threatening acute graft-versus-host disease in a mouse model of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Stem Cells Dev 25:1874–1883
- Wang J, Liu X, Qiu Y, Shi Y, Cai J, Wang B, Wei X, Ke Q (2018) Cell adhesion-mediated mitochondria transfer contributes to mesenchymal stem cell-induced chemoresistance on T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. J Hematol Oncol 11:11
- Wen D, Peng Y, Liu D, Weizmann Y, Mahato RI (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell and derived exosome as small RNA carrier and immunomodulator to improve islet transplantation. J Control Release 238:166–175
- Willis GR, Fernandez-Gonzalez A, Anastas J, Vitali SH, Liu X, Ericsson M, Kwong A, Mitsialis SA (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cell exosomes ameliorate experimental bronchopulmonary dysplasia and restore lung function through macrophage immunomodulation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 197:104–116
- Willms E, Johansson HJ, Mager I, Lee Y, Blomberg KE, Sadik M, Alaarg A, Smith CI (2016) Cells release subpopulations of exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. Sci Rep 6:22519
- Witek RP, Yang L, Liu R, Jung Y, Omenetti A, Syn WK, Choi SS, Cheong Y (2009) Liver cellderived microparticles activate hedgehog signaling and alter gene expression in hepatic endothelial cells. Gastroenterology 136: 320–330 e2
- Wolf P (1967) The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Br J Haematol 13: 269–288
- Wu HW, Oliver AE, Ngassam VN, Yee CK, Parikh AN, Yeh Y (2012) Preparation, characterization, and surface immobilization of native vesicles obtained by mechanical extrusion of mammalian cells. Integr Biol 4:685–692
- Xu LQ. Lin MJ, Li YP, Li S, Chen SJ, Wei CJ (2017) Preparation of Plasma Membrane Vesicles from Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Potential Cytoplasm Replacement Therapy. J Vis Exp (123), e55741. https://doi.org/10.3791/55741
- Yamamoto T, Kosaka N, Ochiya T (2019) Latest advances in extracellular vesicles: from bench to bedside. Sci Technol Adv Mater 20:746–757
- Yang Y, Ye G, Zhang YL, He HW, Yu BQ, Hong YM, You W, Li X (2020) Transfer of mitochondria from mesenchymal stem cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells attenuates hypoxiaischemia-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in PC12 cells. Neural Regen Res 15:464–472
- Yi X, Wei X, Lv H, An Y, Li L, Lu P, Yang Y, Zhang Q (2019) Exosomes derived from microRNA-30b-3p-overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells protect against lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by inhibiting SAA3. Exp Cell Res 383:111454

- Yin K, Wang S, Zhao RC (2019) Exosomes from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: a new therapeutic paradigm. Biomark Res 7:8
- Yu B, Zhang X, Li X (2014) Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 15: 4142–4157
- Zhang B, Yin Y, Lai RC, Tan SS, Choo AB, Lim SK (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells secrete immunologically active exosomes. Stem Cells Dev 23:1233–1244
- Zhang B, Wu X, Zhang X, Sun Y, Yan Y, Shi H, Zhu Y, Wu L (2015) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell exosomes enhance angiogenesis through the Wnt4/beta-catenin pathway. Stem Cells Transl Med 4:513–522
- Zhang Y, Chopp M, Zhang ZG, Katakowski M, Xin H, Qu C, Ali M et al (2017) Systemic administration of cell-free exosomes generated by human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells cultured under 2D and 3D conditions improves functional recovery in rats after traumatic brain injury. Neurochem Int 111:69–81
- Zhang J, Zhang J, Zhao L, Xin Y, Liu S, Cui W (2019) Differential roles of microtubules in the two formation stages of membrane nanotubes between human mesenchymal stem cells and neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 512:441–447
- Zhang B, Tian X, Hao J, Xu G, Zhang W (2020a) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in tissue regeneration. Cell Transplant 29:963689720908500
- Zhang S, Jiang L, Hu H, Wang H, Wang X, Jiang J, Ma Y et al (2020b) Pretreatment of exosomes derived from hUCMSCs with TNF-alpha ameliorates acute liver failure by inhibiting the activation of NLRP3 in macrophage. Life Sci 246:117401
- Zhang X, Hubal MJ, Kraus VB (2020c) Immune cell extracellular vesicles and their mitochondrial content decline with ageing. Immun Ageing 17:1
- Zhao H, Shang Q, Pan Z, Bai Y, Li Z, Zhang H, Zhang Q, Guo C (2018) Exosomes from adiposederived stem cells attenuate adipose inflammation and obesity through polarizing M2 macrophages and beiging in white adipose tissue. Diabetes 67:235–247
- Zhao J, Li X, Hu J, Chen F, Qiao S, Sun X, Gao L, Xie J (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes attenuate myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury through miR-182-regulated macrophage polarization. Cardiovasc Res 115:1205–1216
- Zhou Y, Xu H, Xu W, Wang B, Wu H, Tao Y, Zhang B et al (2013) Exosomes released by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells protect against cisplatin-induced renal oxidative stress and apoptosis in vivo and in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther 4:34
- Zou X, Gu D, Xing X, Cheng Z, Gong D, Zhang G, Zhu Y (2016) Human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles alleviate renal ischemic reperfusion injury and enhance angiogenesis in rats. Am J Transl Res 8:4289–4299
- Zou X, Kwon SH, Jiang K, Ferguson CM, Puranik AS, Zhu X, Lerman LO (2018) Renal scattered tubular-like cells confer protective effects in the stenotic murine kidney mediated by release of extracellular vesicles. Sci Rep 8:1263



Skeletal Muscle–Extricated Extracellular Vesicles: Facilitators of Repair and Regeneration

37

Facilitators of Repair and Regeneration

Laura Yedigaryan and Maurilio Sampaolesi

Contents

Introduction	1099
Skeletal Muscle Repair and Regeneration	1100
General Introduction to Skeletal Muscle Regeneration Events	1100
The Role of (Other) Residential Cells	1101
The Immune Response	1102
The Case for Muscular Dystrophy	1103
Myofiber Intracellular Repair	1103
Extracellular Vesicles	1107
Proteins and Lipids	1107
RNA Cargo	1108
Uptake of Vesicles by Target Cells	1109
EVs Released by Different Cells in the Injured Muscle Environment	1110
The Inflammatory Response via EVs and Subsequent Activation of	
Nearby Cells	1110
Conclusion	1112
References	1113

Abstract

Skeletal muscle may be injured upon physical activity, or due to myofiber frailty caused by degenerative disorders. As a metabolic tissue, skeletal muscle has the innate ability of regeneration. Skeletal muscle regeneration may be endowed to

L. Yedigaryan

M. Sampaolesi (🖂)

Translational Cardiomyology Laboratory, Stem Cell and Developmental Biology, Department of Development and Regeneration, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Translational Cardiomyology Laboratory, Stem Cell and Developmental Biology, Department of Development and Regeneration, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Histology and Medical Embryology Unit, Department of Anatomy, Histology, Forensic Medicine and Orthopaedics, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy e-mail: maurilio.sampaolesi@kuleuven.be

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_49

the action of quiescent satellite cells, the resident muscle stem cells, and other interstitial and inflammatory cells that directly and indirectly contribute to adult myogenesis. However, the process of muscle regeneration greatly relies on intercellular communication through signaling factors such as proteins, micro-RNAs (miRNAs), inflammatory cytokines, and membrane lipids that must be tightly coordinated. It is becoming more evident that the release and transmission of these factors involve extracellular vesicles (EVs) liberated by myofibers and other cells in the milieu of the injured muscle. The cargo of EVs is responsible for altering the state of their target cells by delivering purposeful molecules such as messenger RNAs, miRNAs, lipids, and proteins or by aiming at the alteration of gene expression. These changes activate downstream pathways involved in tissue repair. Due to the heterogeneity of EVs with regard to their cargo, location, size, as well as timing of formation and release, the repair and regeneration of skeletal muscle may subsequently be impacted. This chapter focuses on the impact of EVs as biological cues directing stem cell differentiation and modulating the overall process of skeletal muscle regeneration.

Keywords

Abbreviations

Epigenetics · Extracellular vesicles · Induced pluripotent stem cells · miRNAs · Mesenchymal stem cells · Muscular dystrophies · Myofiber repair · Satellite cells · Skeletal muscle · Stem cells

ADMSC	Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell
Ago	Argonaute
Akt	Protein kinase B
ASCT2	Alanine-serine-cysteine transporter 2
ASM	Acid sphingomyelinase
BMD	Becker muscular dystrophy
CCL2	C-C motif chemokine ligand 2
CDK2	Cyclin-dependent kinase 2
circRNA	Circular RNA
CXCL1	C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 1
CXCL1	Fractalkine
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complexes required for transport
EV	Extracellular vesicle
FAP	Fibro-adipogenic progenitor
GJA1	Connexin 43
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL-4	Interleukin 4
ILV	Intraluminal vesicle

iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cell
lncRNA	Long noncoding RNA
MAB	Mesoangioblast
MDC/CCL22	Macrophage-derived chemokine
miRNA	microRNA
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
MVB	Multivesicular body
myomiRs	Muscle microRNA
NO	Nitric oxide
Nox1	NADPH oxidase 1
NRG1	Neuregulin 1 protein
p120	Catenin delta-1
PDGF-α	Platelet-derived growth factor-α
PIC	Twist2s and PW1+ interstitial cell
piRNA	PIWI-interacting RNA
PSC	Pluripotent stem cell
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
SC	Satellite cell
scaRNA	Small Cajal body-specific RNA
snoRNA	Small nucleolar RNA
snRNA	Small nuclear RNA
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
TLR	Toll-like receptor
tRNA	Transfer RNA
UTR	Untranslated region
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Skeletal muscle represents one of the largest organ systems of the human body. The overall importance of skeletal muscle is attributed to metabolic homeostasis and movement. Therefore, damage to skeletal muscle, resulting in myofiber injury and possible death, highlights the critical ability of skeletal muscle repair and regeneration. Minor injuries may inflict sarcolemmal disruption, which may be repaired by membrane rectification, thus preventing myofiber death. However, severe injuries caused by resistance training overload, heavy load-bearing, and/or genetic defects may cause serious myofiber injury and death. Such injuries are ameliorated by the complex orchestration of inflammatory events and satellite cell (SC) activation and subsequent fusion, constituting the regenerative cycle of skeletal muscle injury. These measures represent the overall method of the restoration attempt upon disruption of homeostasis. Cellular and molecular events during skeletal muscle repair and regenerations, and intercellular transactions,

critical for success in the process. Therefore, we will discuss how extracellular vesicles (EVs) – membrane-bound cargoes released by cells, enable communication within and between cells, devising the strict mechanism of repair and regeneration of the injured muscle (Yedigaryan and Sampaolesi 2021; Yedigaryan et al. 2022).

Skeletal Muscle Repair and Regeneration

General Introduction to Skeletal Muscle Regeneration Events

Skeletal muscle regeneration may be classified as a process structured through three distinct yet overlapping phases. Initially, severe injury induces necrosis and significant inflammation. Following the clearance of cellular debris, new fibers expressing embryonic and neonatal myosin heavy chain are formed. Hypertrophy and hyperplasia represent the next step in regeneration, partially regulated by the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β)/Smad and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1)/protein kinase B (Akt) pathways. While TGF- β is said to negatively regulate muscle growth. IGF-1 induces muscle hypertrophy by controlling the balance between new protein synthesis and existent protein degradation (Schiaffino et al. 2013). The final step of regeneration is characterized by the restoration of vasculature and innervation patterns. Satellite cells (SCs), adult muscle stem cells, are set-aside between the basal lamina and the plasmalemma of the muscle fibers (Mauro 1961). These cells remain quiescent during homeostasis (Rumman et al. 2015; Schultz et al. 1978); however, upon injury, they proliferate and differentiate into myoblasts that further on fuse to form myotubes (in vitro)/myofibers (in vivo) in order to mature and eventually restore damaged fibers (Fig. 1) (Moss and Leblond 1970; Reznik 1969; Snow 1977; Nakamura et al. 2001).

The maintenance of skeletal muscle during the lifetime of an individual is orchestrated through the action of SCs. As a result of growth cues or physical trauma, SCs become poised for activation. Through symmetric division, SCs reconstitute their quiescent pool. The outcome of asymmetric division is defined through both the repopulation of the SC pool, and the differentiation of some of these cells



Fig. 1 Progression of satellite cell activation and myotube/myofiber formation. (Created with BioRender.com)

into myoblasts, capable of fusing with each other or damaged fibers to rebuild muscle function and integrity (Baghdadi and Tajbakhsh 2018).

Ouiescent SCs are said to express a multitude of genes to uphold their given state (Musarò 2014). The expression of genes such as Hey1 and Hey2 appear to increase once SCs are activated and proliferative (Scharner and Zammit 2011). Pax3 plays an essential role in coaxing quiescent SCs into committing to the myogenic lineage (Relaix et al. 2005; Buckingham 2007). Proliferating SCs express markers such as desmin, Myf5, MyoD, and PCNA (Scharner and Zammit 2011; Creuzet et al. 1998; Yablonka-Reuveni and Rivera 1994). Depending on MyoD expression, SCs may follow two fates. The downregulation of MyoD commits SCs into self-renewal, guaranteeing the regulation of a steady quiescent pool of Pax7-positive SCs. Alternatively, commitment to differentiation is due to the upregulation of MyoD and the consequent downregulation of Pax7, leading to the activation of myogenin expression (Boldrin et al. 2010; Day et al. 2007; Nagata et al. 2006; Relaix and Zammit 2012). Depending on the cellular context, pathways such as Notch and Wnt may either promote or block cell cycle progression. Notch signaling is prevalent during satellite cell proliferation, while Wnt signaling is predominant during differentiation. In some cases, Notch upregulation promotes the transition of activated SCs to proliferative myogenic precursor cells and myoblasts; however, differentiation to myotube formation is stalled. On the other hand, Notch signaling has been demonstrated to be necessary to maintain muscle stem cell quiescence and homeostasis (Bjornson et al. 2012; Mourikis et al. 2012).

Besides muscle injuries, two molecules are said to be responsible for the activation of satellite cells after muscle injury (Relaix and Zammit 2012): hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and nitric oxide (NO). HGF has been shown to activate quiescent satellite cells into entering the cell cycle both in vitro and in vivo. NO, possibly through the action of metalloproteinases, induces the release of HGF from the extracellular matrix. NO is synthesized through the action of nitric oxide synthase on L-arginine substrates. This component is also said to induce the follistatin expression, a molecule known to antagonize myostatin, thus also possibly contributing to the activation of satellite cells.

The Role of (Other) Residential Cells

Other than SCs, it is clear that different cell types have an impact on the regeneration process. Following muscle injury, pericytes give rise to vessel-associated progenitors called mesoangioblasts (MABs). MABs are progenitor cells derived from the embryonic aorta (De Angelis et al. 1999). These cells are said to contribute to postembryonic mesoderm development and be rooted in the origin of vascular development (Minasi et al. 2002). While MABs have a lower myogenic potential than SCs, their potential for expansion, migration, and regeneration should not be undermined. Another subgroup of pericytes, located peripheral to the endothelium of microvessels, are constituents of the SC niche (Armulik et al. 2011). These cells modulate the behavior of SCs through the excretion of molecules such as IGF-1

(Kostallari et al. 2015). Fibro-adipogenic progenitors (FAPs) that reside in muscle fibers interstitially express markers such as Sca1, CD34, and platelet-derived growth factor- α (PDGFR- α). These cells can differentiate into fibroblasts and/or adipocytes (Joe et al. 2010; Uezumi et al. 2010). In physiological settings, following acute injury, some FAPs are eliminated through apoptosis due to the cues generated by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin 4 (IL-4) (Joe et al. 2010). However, results have shown that coculture experiments demonstrate the importance of FAPs as sources of pro-differentiation factors. These cues drive the proliferation and differentiation of myoblasts, thus aiding in the positive regenerative outcome. Considering pathological settings, such as muscular dystrophies, FAPs represent the primary source of fibrosis (Lemos et al. 2015). Finally, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are natural precursors of fat, cartilage, and bone (Bianco and Robey 2000). However, MSCs expressing specific transcription factors were reported to act as myogenic progenitors (Liu et al. 2017) and named Twist2s and $PW1^+$ interstitial cells (PICs). However, the origin of these cells, as well as the interrelationship among them, remains uncertain.

The Immune Response

Upon muscle injury, neutrophils/monocytes are initially recruited, and their action relies on phagocytosis, oxidation, and proteolysis of necrotic tissue (Sakuma and Yamaguchi 2012; Quattrocelli et al. 2010). Macrophages play a critical role in regeneration, since these cells promote myoblast proliferation.

Despite the nature of the injury, the muscle regeneration process is reprised of two phases: degeneration (necrosis) and reconstruction (Kawiak et al. 2006). In all cases of muscle trauma, damage of the myofibers and sarcolemma consequently results in the permeability of the myofibers. This permeability leads to an influx of calcium into damaged myofibers, activating muscle proteases such as the calpains that damage muscle-important proteins. Leukocytes invade the damaged site as a first step, followed by neutrophils that lyse muscle cells in a superoxide-dependent manner.

Macrophages and Lymphocytes

Initially, neutrophils are recruited, then macrophages (Sakuma and Yamaguchi 2012). Specifically, two different subpopulations of macrophages subsequently invade the injured muscle tissue. The first population (type I [M1]) consists of "inflammatory" macrophages, secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β . These macrophages are also responsible for the phagocytosis of necrotic tissue. While the "inflammatory" macrophages reach their peak concentration 24 hours after injury, the second population (type II [M2]) of macrophages, the "anti-inflammatory" macrophages, reach their peak at 2–4 days after injury (Mantovani et al. 2007). These macrophages secrete cytokines such as IL-10, known to contribute to the termination of inflammation. This second population of macrophages also has a distinct role in releasing factors that contribute to the proliferation, growth, and differentiation of myogenic precursors. Therefore, it could be elucidated that type I

macrophages are correlated with muscle necrosis, while type II macrophages are associated with regenerative fibers (Pierre and Tidball 1994).

Proper muscle regeneration is permitted through the direct contact of SCs and immune cells (Klimczak et al. 2018). As a result of the secretion of chemotactic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC/CCL22), and fractalkine (CX3CL1) by SCs, the inflammatory response can be initiated. Eosinophils also play an important role in the innate immune response associated with muscle regeneration (Hoffman et al. 1988; Maeda et al. 2017).

Due to the lack of ability of muscle fibers to conduct a T cell response under normal circumstances, lymphocytes are not involved in skeletal muscle regeneration (Karpati et al. 1988; Maffioletti et al. 2014). However, this is not the case when it comes to inflammatory muscle diseases. In this particular case, muscle cells act as antigen-presenting cells and attract T lymphocytes to the site of injury. These cells are able to express human leukocyte class I and class II antigens (Wiendl et al. 2003).

The Case for Muscular Dystrophy

Muscular dystrophies are a group of genetically heterogeneous neuromuscular disorders associated with progressive muscle weakness and deterioration (Amato and Griggs 2011). The most well-known form of muscular dystrophy is Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). DMD is characterized by the absence of the protein dystrophin. Dystrophin is crucial in upholding the integrity of the sarcolemma, therefore in the absence of this protein, the sarcolemma is rendered unstable and frail (Forcina et al. 2020). Upon contraction, extensive damage of myofibers is apparent and newly regenerated myotubes are not able to rescue the damaged muscle niche. As a result of continuous degeneration, inflammation and regeneration are persistently stimulated, therefore altering the nonpathological dynamic. Concerning the inflammatory response, IL-6 is said to be involved in mediating the unwanted proliferation of SCs while impairing myoblast differentiation (Pelosi et al. 2015; Pelosi et al. 2014; Kurosaka and Machida 2013). Additionally, the transformed behavior of SCs may be dictated by the absence of dystrophin, since daughter cell fate during asymmetric division in dystrophin-deficient SCs may be altered (Chang et al. 2018).

While FAPs assist SCs during nonpathological skeletal muscle regeneration, the role of FAPs in muscular dystrophies turns to mediating fat deposition and fibrosis, promoting the malformed dystrophic microenvironment (Uezumi et al. 2010). The contributions of chronic inflammation, defective myogenesis, and persistent degeneration all lead to the continuous defective regeneration of dystrophic muscles.

Myofiber Intracellular Repair

It is becoming evident that the release and conduction of signaling molecules such as microRNAs (miRNAs) and other noncoding RNAs, proteins, and lipids involve the release of extracellular vesicles (EVs) by myofibers and other nearby cells in the

result of this, the impact on the repair and regeneration of injured skeletal muscles varies. Vesicular activity is mainly the consequence of the rapid influx of extracellular calcium upon injury and subsequent plasma membrane damage. Specifically, the release of calcium initiates the exocytosis of vesicles such as late endosomes/ multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and lysosomes. The release may occur passively or through endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT)-mediated release (Andrews et al. 2014; Jimenez et al. 2014; Scheffer et al. 2014; Demonbreun and Mcnally 2017; Romero et al. 2017). The exocytosis of lysosomes aids the endomembrane in closing the wound and allows the release of lysosomal enzyme acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) (Chakrabarti et al. 2003; Jaiswal et al. 2004; Defour et al. 2014; Sreetama et al. 2015), which eventually assists in ceramide release and subsequent plasma membrane repair by removal of damaged membrane through endocytosis and exocytosis (Babiychuk and Draeger 2000; Tam et al. 2010; Corrotte et al. 2013; Romancino et al. 2013; Draeger and Babiychuk 2013). The endocytic vesicles, containing components of the damaged membrane, fuse together to form late endosomes and MVBs (Murphy et al. 2018). Degradation of the internalized damaged proteins and lipids or the inward budding and the consequent creation of intraluminal vesicles (ILV) are the possible next steps. The MVBs may then exocytose their contents. Upon such a fate, ILVs are released and may then be called "exosomes." Not only is the injured plasma membrane repaired, but EVs are able to generate a tissue-level repair response that goes beyond the minute myofiber repair phase. A study has revealed that exercise-induced injury in mice lead to an increase in circulating vesicles, both during the initial hours after injury as well as 5–7 days postexercise injury (Coenen-Stass et al. 2016). This discloses that these released vesicles are produced by both injured myofibers and regenerative cells. Myofibers produce three types of EVs – apoptotic bodies (50–5000 nm in diameter), exosomes (50-150 nm), and ectosomes (microvesicles) (100-1000 nm) (Fig. 2). The difference between these vesicles lies in size, cellular origin, composition, and mechanism of release. Exosomes are the smallest EVs. Other than lipids, exosomes contain proteins such as myogenic growth factors and contractile proteins (Choi et al. 2016; Demonbreun and Mcnally 2017). miRNAs are 22-nucleotides long noncoding RNAs and mainly inhibit the translation of mRNAs (Bartel 2004) (Fig. 3). In mammals, cleavage of the target mRNA is very rare due to the lack of extensive miRNA: target base pairing (Xu et al. 2016). One example of such an occurrence is the cleavage of HOXB8 mRNA by miRNA-196. By binding to an Argonaute (Ago) protein and forming the core of the multicomponent RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), miRNAs are guided to anneal to the 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) of target mRNAs. In response to muscle damage, miRNAs are detected only in vesicles, thus suggesting selective packaging (Siracusa et al. 2016). Moreover, depending on the context: e.g., muscular dystrophy-related damage or muscle injury, the content of specific muscle miRNAs (myomiRs) differs in the released exosomes (Roberts et al. 2012; Matsuzaka et al. 2016; Fry et al. 2017; D'Souza et al. 2018). Currently, more than 1900 different human miRNA sequences have been reported (as of miRBase 22.1, http://www.mirbase.org).



Fig. 2 The synthesis and release of extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs can be divided into apoptotic bodies, exosomes, and microvesicles



Translational Repression

Fig. 3 The mechanism of miRNA and mRNA interaction. The binding of miRNAs, through the guidance of the RISC complex, to target mRNAs induces translational repression

Following muscle damage cycling, exosomal release of miRNA-208a, miRNA-126, and miRNA-16 increases (D'Souza et al. 2018). Similarly, overload-induced injury causes the release of miRNA-206 within SC-derived exosomes (Fry et al. 2017). miRNA-30b and miRNA-181a are said to be involved in muscle regeneration and inflammation as well (Chen et al. 2008; Naguibneva et al. 2006). Lastly, DMD-associated muscle damage leads to the exosomal release of miRNA-1, miRNA-206, and miRNA-133a (Matsuzaka et al. 2016). This is not limited to DMD patients, as increased levels of miRNA-1 were found in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD), and facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy patients (Matsuzaka et al. 2014). Additionally, increased levels of miRNA-133a and miRNA-206 were found in BMD patients. These miRNAs play a vast amount of roles in muscle regeneration and development. The main roles entail the regulation of genes involved in proliferation, myogenesis, and the conversion of muscle fiber type (Cacchiarelli et al. 2010; Cazzella et al. 2012).

In order for skeletal muscle repair to forgo issues, interactions between endothelial cells, inflammatory cells, MSCs, and myogenic stem cells are critical (Wosczyna and Rando 2018). This is facilitated through EVs. EVs are also crucial in the inflammatory response. MSCs release exosomes enriched with miRNA-1, miRNA-133, miRNA-206, miRNA-125b, miRNA-494, and miRNA-601 that promote a myriad of pro-regenerative cellular processes. Other than regeneration, EVs aid in remodeling damaged tissue by facilitating deposition and degradation of the new extracellular matrix (ECM), angiogenesis, fibroblast activation, and tissue cell replenishment. Under pathological settings, such as DMD, secreted vesicles are released with increased levels of miRNAs that promote fibrosis in skeletal muscles and the surrounding ECM (Zanotti et al. 2018).

The ECM is indispensable when it comes to skeletal muscle development. It plays a large role in support as well as signaling (Ishii et al. 2018). Therefore, tissue engineering is a field that is promptly popularized with regard to the potential of inducing skeletal muscle regeneration. Tissue engineering encircles the concept of supporting muscle regeneration by means of three-dimensional implants with preferably the inclusion of scaffolds with bioactive molecules and/or stem cells (Cezar and Mooney 2015; Pascual-Gil et al. 2015; Quattrocelli and Sampaolesi 2015). Hydrogels may be utilized to generate biomimetic skeletal muscle tissues from human-induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived cells.

Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) hold tremendous potential when it comes to cell therapy for degenerative diseases (Judson and Rossi 2020). These cells can essentially give rise to any cell of the adult human body. PSCs are highly proliferative and allow the use of the patients' own cells to avoid immune challenges. In todays' context, it would be of high merit to discuss iPSCs. These cells may be derived by the reprogramming of any human somatic cell, utilizing four transcription factors, namely Oct4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). When considering the use of these cells in the context of skeletal muscle regeneration, it is important to develop suitable techniques for differentiation into tissue-specific progenitors with properties appropriate for transplantation. A key advantage would

be to derive mesodermal myogenic progenitors from iPSCs as a route for cell therapy for skeletal muscle regeneration. Unfortunately, differentiation of iPSCs into skeletal muscle cells has proven to be challenging. Protocols depicting methods based on transgene mediation as well as soluble factor deployment have been described. Via viral gene delivery, positive results have been obtained in both in vitro and in vivo settings. Ectopic expression of Pax3, Pax7, and MyoD1 produce myogenic cells at high efficiencies (Darabi et al. 2011, 2012; Young et al. 2016; Tedesco et al. 2012; Santoni de Sio et al. 2008). However, much remains to be seen on the effect of intracellular cues as well as the transition through cellular intermediates to mimic natural regeneration. The risk of random viral DNA integration also remains a large concern in the field of cell therapy. Other drawbacks include time, cost, tumorigenicity, and proper quality control.

Extracellular Vesicles

Proteins and Lipids

Considering the origin of exosomes, their lipid content is enriched in lipids from the MVB lipid raft domains (Janas et al. 2015). Lipid rafts contain cholesterols, sphingomyelins, and phosphatidylserine (Choi et al. 2013). Lipid raft–associated proteins suggest the possibility of influence on EV protein sorting. Alternatively, ectosomes contain a more heterogeneous population of lipids (Meldolesi 2018). In addition to lipid content, the protein content difference between exosomes and ectosomes is approximated to be 65% (Le Bihan et al. 2012). EV lipid composition mainly consists of cholesterol, glycosphingolipid, sphingomyelins, phosphatidylserine, and ganglioside GM3 (Choi et al. 2013). Lipids of EVs may induce biological responses such as cell migration and proliferation (Xiang et al. 2018). Target cell interaction may also be influenced by the lipid composition of EVs (Miyanishi et al. 2007; Barreca et al. 2020).

Proteomic analysis of exosomes derived from skeletal muscle revealed the presence of functionally critical proteins such as contractile proteins and myokines (Choi et al. 2016; Demonbreun and Mcnally 2017). On the other hand, ectosomes are enriched in membrane-enraptured proteins. A key mechanism with respect to selective cargo loading during skeletal muscle repair and regeneration may be protein lipid modifications. Protein sorting into exosomes may be affected by intracellular lipid modifications at the MVB membrane, leading to sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptor activation and Rho-family GTPase stimulation (Kajimoto et al. 2013; Kajimoto et al. 2017). A study done by Ieronimakis et al. revealed that increasing levels of S1P improved muscle regeneration in mdx mice (Ieronimakis et al. 2013).

A proteomic characterization of MSCs was performed by Lai et al., and Kim et al. (Lai et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2011). These authors identified specific markers of MSCs, such as CD63, CD109, CD81, as well as surface receptors important for cell differentiation such as EGF-R, and signaling molecules, for instance, RHO and
MAPK1, for cell differentiation and self-renewal. Additionally, proteins implicated in intracellular trafficking, EV biogenesis, fusion, cell adhesion, morphogenesis, and migration were characterized.

RNA Cargo

Unlike the abundance of ribosomal RNAs in the parent cell, EVs are mainly enriched in small RNAs such as miRNAs, long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs), and circular RNAs (circRNAs) (Crescitelli et al. 2013; Jeppesen et al. 2019). Although miRNAs have been the focus of many studies, a substantial amount of different RNA species are present in EVs (mRNA, ribosomal RNA [rRNA], yRNA, vault RNA, transfer RNA [tRNA], small Cajal body-specific RNA [scaRNA], small nucleolar RNA [snoRNA], small nuclear RNA [snRNA], and PIWI-interacting RNA [piRNA]) that may affect host and/or recipient cells (Kalluri and Lebleu 2016; Li et al. 2014; van Balkom et al. 2015; Zakharova et al. 2007; Vechetti Jr. 2019). Due to the differential RNA sorting mechanism, miRNAs are loaded into exosomes as opposed to ectosomes (Roberts et al. 2012; Matsuzaka et al. 2016; Fry et al. 2017; D'Souza et al. 2018). This is due to EXOmotifs in miRNAs, preferentially sorting them into exosomes (Villarroya-Beltri et al. 2013).

Muscle damage due to muscular dystrophy or eccentric exercise evokes the elevation of tissue-enriched miRNAs (Coenen-Stass et al. 2016). In vivo, this situation is evident during regeneration, while in vitro, myoblast differentiation evokes such a response. After muscle damage, miRNAs are detected only in vesicles, while the level of many circulating miRNAs declines (Siracusa et al. 2016). This reveals the mechanism of selective packaging and release as opposed to unwarranted leakage. Furthermore, depending on the context of muscular damage, miRNAs loaded into vesicles differ and promote or inhibit cell proliferation and/or myogenic differentiation (Table 1) (Roberts et al. 2012; Matsuzaka et al. 2016; Fry et al. 2017; D'Souza et al. 2018). Some microRNAs such as miRNA-1 and miRNA-206 restrict the proliferative potential of these cells, therefore facilitating differentiation. miRNA-1 upholds myogenesis by targeting a transcriptional repressor of muscle gene expression, HDAC4 (van Rooij et al. 2008; Chen et al. 2005). miRNA-206 acts on repressing the expression of Pax7. More specifically, miRNA-206 negatively regulates DNA polymerase α translation, and partakes in the downregulation of connexin 43 (GJA1) as well as the repression of cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) (Callis et al. 2008). Treatment of muscle with miRNA-431, miRNA-675, and miRNA-26a has been shown to increase muscle regeneration since miRNA-431 targets the expression of Pax7, therefore increasing the expression of MRFs in SCs (Wu et al. 2015). On the other hand, some miRNAs are crucial for upholding the integrity of the quiescent population. An example of such is being miRNA-489. It has recently become apparent that miRNAs possess sorting sequences that determine whether they will be secreted into EVs or retained by cells, and that different cell types make preferential use of specific sorting sequences (Garcia-Martin et al. 2021).

	Muscle tissue	
miRNAs	specificity	Possible role(s)
miRNA-	Heart	Promotes muscle fiber shift, regulator of myostatin
208a		Promotes muscle growth
miRNA-126		Regulates blood vessel formation
miRNA-16		Regulates blood vessel formation
miRNA-30b		Inflammatory response
miRNA- 181a		Promotes myogenic differentiation
miRNA-1/	Heart/Skeletal	Activate satellite cells and promote myogenic
IIIKNA-200	muscle, skeletal muscle	
miRNA-1	Heart/Skeletal muscle	Inhibits cell proliferation, promotes myogenic
		differentiation, regeneration, angiogenesis regulation
miRNA-206	Skeletal muscle	Inhibits cell proliferation, promotes myogenic
		differentiation, promotes regeneration of skeletal
		muscle, promotes regeneration of neuromuscular
	II.a.eet/Claalatal eessala	Synapses
IIIIKNA-	Heart/Skeletal muscle	promotes cell promeration, innibits cell promeration,
1334		regeneration, muscle fiber shift
miRNA-	Skeletal muscle	Promotes myogenic differentiation and fusion,
133b		promotes regeneration
miRNA-		Inhibits myogenic differentiation
125b		
miRNA-494		Inflammatory response
miRNA-601		Inflammatory response
miRNA-720		Promotes cell proliferation

Table 1 Muscle-specific miRNAs and possible role(s) in cellular processes

Uptake of Vesicles by Target Cells

Another important aspect of EVs is the uptake of these vesicles by target cells. The uptake may be done by phagocytosis, macropinocytosis, or receptor-mediated endocytosis. Via different surface receptors and their ligands, exosomes and ectosomes exhibit cell-specific signaling (Sahoo and Losordo 2014). Specific peptides on the EV membrane may prompt EV cargoes to be targeted by neurons or skeletal muscles (Alvarez-Erviti et al. 2011). EVs target different tissues upon skeletal muscle injury and repair. For instance, muscle damage induced by exercise directs EVs to the liver (Whitham et al. 2018). Evidence suggests that the cross talk between other organs may also involve skeletal muscle (Hamrick 2012; Rondon-Berrios et al. 2014). Exosomes are mostly enriched in tetraspanins. Upon muscle injury, exosomes laden with tetraspanins from injured muscle cells aid myoblast fusion. Myoblast spreading and fusion is facilitated by CD9 and CD81 tetraspanins (Hemler 2003). Considering other means of uptake, Syncytin-1-loaded exosomes bind to their transporters' alanine-serine-cysteine transporter 2 (ASCT2), found in skeletal muscle,

to induce internalization (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015; Kowal et al. 2016). The speed of uptake and the maintenance of elevated amounts of exosomes depends on the circumstance of muscle damage. Depending on the method of EV uptake, different intracellular signaling and sorting fates await vesicle cargoes.

(Rejman et al. 2004; Svensson et al. 2013; Mulcahy et al. 2014; Verdera et al. 2017; Schneider et al. 2017).

EVs Released by Different Cells in the Injured Muscle Environment

EVs are important mediators of intercellular communication that allow the coordinated orchestration of repair and regeneration facilitated by different cell types. The cargoes of EVs affect the recipient cells' mRNA composition and translation. Early stages of injured muscle repair may be characterized by acute actin reorganization and membrane transformation through the action of annexin binding, mitochondrial redox signaling, and ESCRT activity (Jaiswal et al. 2004; Jaiswal et al. 2014; Bouter et al. 2011; Scheffer et al. 2014; Boye et al. 2017; Horn et al. 2017). EVs may be directly involved in some stages of repair. As an example, secretion of Annexin-A1 containing vesicles as a result of epithelial cell injury induces signaling via NADPH oxidase 1 (Nox1), which acts on Rac and catenin delta-1 (p120) proteins that aid in the prompt closure of epithelial wounds (Leoni et al. 2012, 2015). Annexins are crucial not only for myofiber repair but also regeneration. Shedding of vesicles by injured myofibers is enabled by ESCRTmediated ectosome formation.

The Inflammatory Response via EVs and Subsequent Activation of Nearby Cells

EVs shed by myofibers and other cells also initiate intercellular interactions critical for muscle tissue regeneration. Pro-inflammatory cascades are triggered by EVs through transport of antigens loaded onto major histocompatibility class 1 and 2 complexes to T lymphocytes, as the initial event necessary for triggering the inflammatory response following skeletal muscle injury (Taverna et al. 2017). Neutrophil-derived ectosomes stimulate the release of factors from macrophages for eventual pro-inflammatory macrophage induction (Gasser et al. 2003; Tidball 2017). miRNAs delivered via exosomes reduce the expression of Toll-like receptors (TLR) by macrophages and cause cells to take-up other vesicles without activating the immune response, which has been demonstrated in muscular dystrophy (Manček-Keber et al. 2015; Phinney et al. 2015; Hindi and Kumar 2016).

As stated previously, muscle regeneration is characterized through the clearance of cellular debris and subsequent initiation of the regenerative response (Chazaud 2015). C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 1 (CXCL1) and C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) enrich the muscle environment with cytokines that activate pro-inflammatory macrophages (Tidball 2017). The released cytokines cause

myotubes to produce exosomes that are loaded with myostatin, while also decreasing the level of decorin, a myostatin antagonist (Kim et al. 2018). Therefore, at this pro-inflammatory stage, exosomes participate in limiting myogenesis and allowing the clearance of damaged tissue by inflammatory cells. Consequently, macrophages polarize to the pro-regenerative state with a rise in MSCs. MSCs release vesicles that stimulate myogenin and MyoD, which facilitate regeneration in target cells (Phinney et al. 2015). In addition to this, these exosomes also improve capillary density, attenuate fibrosis, and hasten regeneration of the injured muscle (Nakamura et al. 2015). The cargo of these vesicles includes VEGF, IL-6 in addition to miRNA-1, miRNA-133, miRNA-206, miRNA-125b, miRNA-494, and miRNA-601. These miRNAs promote pro-regenerative cellular developments. Additionally, MSCs can package and transfer mitochondria and mitochondrial proteins within ectosomes to incoming macrophages, in order to maximize their activity for regeneration (Phinney et al. 2015; Sansone et al. 2017).

Skeletal muscle regeneration was found to be enhanced by EVs derived from amniotic fluid MSCs (Mellows et al. 2017; Tsiapalis and O'Driscoll 2020). The effect of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ADMSCs) on muscle injury demonstrated that repair was facilitated through factors dispersed both within EVs and the secretomes' soluble fraction (Mitchell et al. 2019). EVs derived from MSCs have also been tested as a means to prevent torn rotator cuff injuries (Wang et al. 2019). In a rat model, MSC-EVs prevented inflammation, atrophy, infiltration of fat, and vascularization of muscles, therefore increasing myofiber regeneration and the rotator cuff microenvironmental properties. Recently, ADMSC-EVs have been shown to cease muscle damage in a critical hindlimb ischemia mouse model (Figliolini et al. 2020). This was facilitated through neuregulin 1 protein (NRG1)-mediated signals that play a crucial role in angiogenesis, muscle protection, and inflammation prevention. Lastly, urine-derived MSC-EVs have been shown to repair pubococcygeus muscle injury in rat models of stress urinary incontinence (Wu et al. 2019). This was done through EV-mediated activation, proliferation, and differentiation of SCs. Dendritic cellderived exosomes and MSC-derived exosomes are being utilized in ongoing clinical trials to treat different types of cancers and graft versus host diseases, respectively (Zhu et al. 2017; György et al. 2015; Jeske et al. 2020).

Exosomes derived from human skeletal myoblasts can induce myogenesis during myotube formation (Choi et al. 2016), reduce collagen deposition, and increase the number of regenerating fibers upon muscle injury (Huang et al. 2016; Campanella et al. 2019). Other types of muscle injury evoke the packaging of alternative components into exosomes. Skeletal muscle denervation shifts exosomal miRNA content from miRNA-133a and miRNA-720 to miRNA-206 which stimulates SC differentiation (Gasperi et al. 2017). SC activation and differentiation increases the secretion of growth factors such as HGF and IGF-1 while simultaneously transferring miRNA cargoes such as miRNA-206 and miRNA-1. SCs also release exosomes that help attenuate fibrosis and enhance myofiber regeneration (Braun and Gautel 2011; Forterre et al. 2013; Choi et al. 2016; Murphy et al. 2018). Muscle injury induced by laceration stimulates the secretion of exosomes enriched in myogenic

growth factors that stimulate the differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells to the myogenic lineage, therefore aiding muscle regeneration (Choi et al. 2016). Oxidatively injured myotubes promote the secretion of vesicles by SCs with cargoes repressing myogenin expression, resulting in faster closure in an in vitro assay (Guescini et al. 2017). Vesicles are also involved in the remodeling of damaged tissue. miRNA-208a regulates fiber-type determination while miRNA-126 and miRNA-16 regulate blood vessel formation (D'Souza et al. 2018). Depending on induced cellular stresses, EVs accomplish specific goals that enable regeneration and remodeling. This is not strictly limited to skeletal muscle, in the early stages of cardiac muscle hypertrophy, the damage promotes cardiomyocyte secretion of miRNA-378-containing EVs. This miRNA plays a role in impairing hyperplasia and the production of collagen (Yuan et al. 2018). Hyperplasia may lead to an increase in heart weight where as a consequence, chronic heart failure, coronary insufficiency, and dilation are noted frequently (Linzbach 1976). Increased collagen synthesis may lead to deterioration of cardiac function and augmentation of myocardial fibrosis (Ouerejeta et al. 2004).

As a means of therapeutic use, EVs may well be superior to synthetic constructs considering the possibility of bioengineering with the desired factor, as well as the strong biostability and biocompatibility with fewer risks of adverse effects as opposed to stem cell therapy (Riazifar et al. 2017). An interesting consideration for the production of EVs in a scalable mode may be the utilization of PSCs since these cells may be expanded robustly in vitro. From PSCs, more muscle-specific cells such as induced MSC-like cells may be derived and utilized for EV production (Jiang et al. 2019; Steens and Klein 2018; Kim and Kim 2019; Duelen and Sampaolesi 2017).

Conclusion

Recently, it has become more evident that skeletal muscle regeneration does not studiously rely on the propagation of resident stem cells in order to restore homeostatic conditions. The role of extracellular signaling, facilitated by EVs, suggests the existence of EV packaging and networking upon muscle injury induction. The cargo of EVs: proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids play a key role in aiding muscle repair and regeneration. It is evident that depending on the context of muscle injury, the cargo of EVs is custom-engineered by interstitial and immune cells in order to fulfill the necessary intercellular communication and modulate target cells. It is oftentimes thought that regeneration is the outcome of factors secreted by cells, acting in a paracrine manner. The mechanism behind the specificity of EV release and targeting remains an enigma. Current explications emphasize the possibility of EVs either acting through signaling gradients or specific ligand and receptor interactions. Therefore, focusing on such aspects of EVs may unravel their potential in targeted improvement of the injured muscle niche. New insights into the mechanism behind intercellular communication upon muscle injury repair and regeneration may allow future therapeutic achievements, possibly by combining paracrine cues with stem cell therapy.

Even though much work remains to be done in order to establish a proper and standardized means of EV production; by inhibiting their deleterious effects and taking advantage of their regenerative properties, EVs present exciting possibilities in treating muscle-specific disorders.

References

- Alvarez-Erviti L, Seow Y, Yin H et al (2011) Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes. Nat Biotechnol 29:341–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1807
- Amato AA, Griggs RC (2011) Overview of the muscular dystrophies. Handb Clin Neurol Muscul Dystrophies 101:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-045031-5.00001-3
- Andrews NW, Almeida PE, Corrotte M (2014) Damage control: cellular mechanisms of plasma membrane repair. Trends Cell Biol 24:734–742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2014.07.008
- Angelis LD, Berghella L, Coletta M et al (1999) Skeletal myogenic progenitors originating from embryonic dorsal aorta Coexpress endothelial and myogenic markers and contribute to postnatal muscle growth and regeneration. J Cell Biol 147:869–878. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.147. 4.869
- Armulik A, Genové G, Betsholtz C (2011) Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. Dev Cell 21:193–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. devcel.2011.07.001
- Babiychuk EB, Draeger A (2000) Annexins in cell membrane dynamics. J Cell Biol 150: 1113–1124. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.150.5.1113
- Baghdadi MB, Tajbakhsh S (2018) Regulation and phylogeny of skeletal muscle regeneration. Dev Biol 433:200–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2017.07.026
- Barreca MM, Cancemi P, Geraci F (2020) Mesenchymal and induced pluripotent stem cells-derived extracellular vesicles: the new frontier for regenerative medicine? Cell 9:1163. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells9051163
- Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs. Cell 116:281–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(04)00045-5
- Bianco P, Robey PG (2000) Marrow stromal stem cells. J Clin Investig 105:1663–1668. https://doi. org/10.1172/jci10413
- Bihan MCL, Bigot A, Jensen SS et al (2012) In-depth analysis of the secretome identifies three major independent secretory pathways in differentiating human myoblasts. J Proteome 77: 344–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2012.09.008
- Bittel DC, Jaiswal JK (2019) Contribution of extracellular vesicles in rebuilding injured muscles. Front Physiol 10:828. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00828
- Bjornson CR, Cheung TH, Liu L et al (2012) Notch signaling is necessary to maintain quiescence in adult muscle stem cells. Stem Cells 30:232–242. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.773
- Boldrin L, Muntoni F, Morgan JE (2010) Are human and mouse satellite cells really the same? J Histochem Cytochem 58:941–955. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.2010.956201
- Bouter A, Gounou C, Bérat R et al (2011) Annexin-A5 assembled into two-dimensional arrays promotes cell membrane repair. Nat Commun 2(1):270. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1270
- Boye TL, Maeda K, Pezeshkian W et al (2017) Annexin A4 and A6 induce membrane curvature and constriction during cell membrane repair. Nat Commun 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01743-6
- Braun T, Gautel M (2011) Transcriptional mechanisms regulating skeletal muscle differentiation, growth and homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12:349–361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3118
- Buckingham M (2007) Skeletal muscle progenitor cells and the role of Pax genes. C R Biol 330: 530–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crvi.2007.03.015
- Cacchiarelli D, Martone J, Girardi E et al (2010) MicroRNAs involved in molecular circuitries relevant for the Duchenne muscular dystrophy pathogenesis are controlled by the dystrophin/ nNOS pathway. Cell Metab 12:341–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2010.07.008

- Callis TE, Deng Z, Chen JF, Wang DZ (2008) Muscling through the microRNA world. Exp Biol Med 233:131–138. https://doi.org/10.3181/0709-mr-237
- Campanella C, Bavisotto CC, Logozzi M et al (2019) On the choice of the extracellular vesicles for therapeutic purposes. Int J Mol Sci 20:236. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20020236
- Cazzella V, Martone J, Pinnarò C et al (2012) Exon 45 skipping through U1-snRNA antisense molecules recovers the Dys-nNOS pathway and muscle differentiation in human DMD myoblasts. Mol Ther 20:2134–2142. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2012.178
- Cezar CA, Mooney DJ (2015) Biomaterial-based delivery for skeletal muscle repair. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 84:188–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2014.09.008
- Chakrabarti S, Kobayashi KS, Flavell RA et al (2003) Impaired membrane resealing and autoimmune myositis in synaptotagmin VII–deficient mice. J Cell Biol 162:543–549. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.200305131
- Chang NC, Sincennes M-C, Chevalier FP et al (2018) The dystrophin glycoprotein complex regulates the epigenetic activation of muscle stem cell commitment. Cell Stem Cell 22(5):755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.03.022
- Chazaud B (2015) Inflammation during skeletal muscle regeneration and tissue remodeling: application to exercise-induced muscle damage management. Immunol Cell Biol 94:140–145. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2015.97
- Chen JF, Callis TE, Wang D-Z (2008) microRNAs and muscle disorders. J Cell Sci 122:13–20. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.041723
- Chen JF, Mandel EM, Thomson JM et al (2005) The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet 38:228–233. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ng1725
- Choi DS, Kim DK, Kim YK, Gho YS (2013) Proteomics, transcriptomics and lipidomics of exosomes and ectosomes. Proteomics 13:1554–1571. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.201200329
- Choi JS, Yoon HI, Lee KS et al (2016) Exosomes from differentiating human skeletal muscle cells trigger myogenesis of stem cells and provide biochemical cues for skeletal muscle regeneration. J Control Release 222:107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.018
- Cocucci E, Meldolesi J (2015) Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. Trends Cell Biol 25:364–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015. 01.004
- Coenen-Stass AM, Betts CA, Lee YF et al (2016) Selective release of muscle-specific, extracellular microRNAs during myogenic differentiation. Hum Mol Genet 25:3960–3974. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/hmg/ddw237
- Corrotte M, Almeida PE, Tam C et al (2013) Caveolae internalization repairs wounded cells and muscle fibers. elife 2:e00926. https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.00926
- Crescitelli R, Lässer C, Szabó TG et al (2013) Distinct RNA profiles in subpopulations of extracellular vesicles: apoptotic bodies, microvesicles and exosomes. J Extracell Vesicles 2: 20677. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v2i0.20677
- Creuzet S, Lescaudron L, Li Z, Fontaine-Pérus J (1998) MyoD, Myogenin, and Desmin-nls-lacZ transgene emphasize the distinct patterns of satellite cell activation in growth and regeneration. Exp Cell Res 243:241–253. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1998.4100
- D'Souza RF, Woodhead JST, Zeng N et al (2018) Circulatory exosomal miRNA following intense exercise is unrelated to muscle and plasma miRNA abundances. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab 315(4). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00138.2018
- Darabi R, Arpke RW, Irion S et al (2012) Human ES- and iPS-derived myogenic progenitors restore DYSTROPHIN and improve contractility upon transplantation in dystrophic mice. Cell Stem Cell 10:610–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.02.015
- Darabi R, Santos FNC, Filareto A et al (2011) Assessment of the myogenic stem cell compartment following transplantation of Pax3/Pax7-induced embryonic stem cell-derived progenitors. Stem Cells 29:777–790. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.625
- Day K, Shefer G, Richardson JB et al (2007) Nestin-GFP reporter expression defines the quiescent state of skeletal muscle satellite cells. Dev Biol 304:246–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio. 2006.12.026

- Defour A, Meulen JHVD, Bhat R et al (2014) Dysferlin regulates cell membrane repair by facilitating injury-triggered acid sphingomyelinase secretion. Cell Death Dis 5(6):e1306. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.272
- Demonbreun AR, Mcnally EM (2017) Muscle cell communication in development and repair. Curr Opin Pharmacol 34:7–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2017.03.008
- Draeger A, Babiychuk EB (2013) Ceramide in plasma membrane repair. Sphingolipids in disease. Handb Exp Pharmacol 216:341–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1511-4_17
- Duelen R, Sampaolesi M (2017) Stem cell technology in cardiac regeneration: a pluripotent stem cell promise. EBioMedicine 16:30–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.01.029
- Figliolini F, Ranghino A, Grange C et al (2020) Extracellular vesicles from adipose stem cells prevent muscle damage and inflammation in a mouse model of hind limb ischemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 40:239–254. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.119.313506
- Forcina L, Cosentino M, Musarò A (2020) Mechanisms regulating muscle regeneration: insights into the interrelated and time-dependent phases of tissue healing. Cell 9:1297. https://doi.org/10. 3390/cells9051297
- Forterre A, Jalabert A, Chikh K et al (2013) Myotube-derived exosomal miRNAs downregulate Sirtuin1 in myoblasts during muscle cell differentiation. Cell Cycle 13:78–89. https://doi.org/10. 4161/cc.26808
- Fry CS, Kirby TJ, Kosmac K et al (2017) Myogenic progenitor cells control extracellular matrix production by fibroblasts during skeletal muscle hypertrophy. Cell Stem Cell 20:56–69. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.09.010
- Garcia-Martin R, Wang G, Brandão BB et al (2021) MicroRNA sequence codes for small extracellular vesicle release and cellular retention. Nature 601:446–451. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-021-04234-3
- Gasperi RD, Hamidi S, Harlow LM et al (2017) Denervation-related alterations and biological activity of miRNAs contained in exosomes released by skeletal muscle fibers. Sci Rep 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13105-9
- Gasser O, Hess C, Miot S et al (2003) Characterisation and properties of ectosomes released by human polymorphonuclear neutrophils. Exp Cell Res 285:243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0014-4827(03)00055-7
- Guescini M, Maggio S, Ceccaroli P et al (2017) Extracellular vesicles released by Oxidatively injured or intact C2C12 Myotubes promote distinct responses converging toward Myogenesis. Int J Mol Sci 18:2488. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18112488
- György B, Hung ME, Breakefield XO, Leonard JN (2015) Therapeutic applications of extracellular vesicles: clinical promise and open questions. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 55:439–464. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010814-124630
- Hamrick MW (2012) The skeletal muscle secretome: an emerging player in muscle–bone crosstalk. BoneKEy Rep 1(60). https://doi.org/10.1038/bonekey.2012.60
- Hemler ME (2003) Tetraspanin proteins mediate cellular penetration, invasion, and fusion events and define a novel type of membrane microdomain. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 19:397–422. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurey.cellbio.19.111301.153609
- Hindi SM, Kumar A (2016) Toll-like receptor signalling in regenerative myogenesis: friend and foe. J Pathol 239:125–128. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4714
- Hoffman EP, Fischbeck KH, Brown RH et al (1988) Characterization of dystrophin in musclebiopsy specimens from patients with Duchenne's or Becker's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med 318:1363–1368. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm198805263182104
- Horn A, Meulen JHVD, Defour A et al (2017) Mitochondrial redox signaling enables repair of injured skeletal muscle cells. Sci Signal 10(495). https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aaj1978
- Huang CC, Narayanan R, Alapati S, Ravindran S (2016) Exosomes as biomimetic tools for stem cell differentiation: applications in dental pulp tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 111:103–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.09.029
- Ieronimakis N, Pantoja M, Hays AL et al (2013) Increased sphingosine-1-phosphate improves muscle regeneration in acutely injured mdx mice. Skelet Muscle 3:20. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 2044-5040-3-20

- Ishii K, Sakurai H, Suzuki N et al (2018) Recapitulation of extracellular LAMININ environment maintains Stemness of satellite cells in vitro. Stem Cell Rep 10:568–582. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stemcr.2017.12.013
- Jaiswal JK, Chakrabarti S, Andrews NW, Simon SM (2004) Synaptotagmin VII restricts fusion pore expansion during lysosomal exocytosis. PLoS Biol. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio. 0020233
- Jaiswal JK, Lauritzen SP, Scheffer L et al (2014) S100A11 is required for efficient plasma membrane repair and survival of invasive cancer cells. Nat Commun 5:3795. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms4795
- Janas T, Janas MM, Sapoń K, Janas T (2015) Mechanisms of RNA loading into exosomes. FEBS Lett 589:1391–1398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2015.04.036
- Jeppesen DK, Fenix AM, Franklin JL et al (2019) Reassessment of exosome composition. Cell 177(2):428–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.02.029
- Jeske R, Bejoy J, Marzano M, Li Y (2020) Human pluripotent stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: characteristics and applications. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 26:129–144. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ten.teb.2019.0252
- Jiang B, Yan L, Wang X et al (2019) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells derived from human pluripotent cells, an unlimited and quality-controllable source for therapeutic applications. Stem Cells 37:572–581. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2964
- Jimenez AJ, Maiuri P, Lafaurie-Janvore J et al (2014) ESCRT machinery is required for plasma membrane repair. Science 343:1247136–1247136. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247136
- Joe AWB, Yi L, Natarajan A et al (2010) Muscle injury activates resident fibro/adipogenic progenitors that facilitate myogenesis. Nat Cell Biol 12:153–163. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2015
- Judson RN, Rossi FMV (2020) Towards stem cell therapies for skeletal muscle repair. npj Regenerative Med. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41536-020-0094-3
- Kajimoto T, Mohamed NNI, Badawy SMM et al (2017) Involvement of Gβγ subunits of Giprotein coupled with S1P receptor on multivesicular endosomes in F-actin formation and cargo sorting into exosomes. J Biol Chem 293:245–253. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m117.808733
- Kajimoto T, Okada T, Miya S et al (2013) Ongoing activation of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors mediates maturation of exosomal multivesicular endosomes. Nat Commun 293:245–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3712
- Kalluri R, Lebleu VS (2016) Discovery of double-stranded genomic DNA in circulating exosomes. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 81:275–280. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2016.81.030932
- Karpati G, Pouliot Y, Carpenter S (1988) Expression of immunoreactive major histocompatibility complex products in human skeletal muscles. Ann Neurol 23:64–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.410230111
- Kawiak J, Brzóska E, Grabowska I et al (2006) Contribution of stem cells to skeletal muscle regeneration. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 44:75–79. https://doi.org/10.5603/4570
- Kim HS, Choi DY, Yun SJ et al (2011) Proteomic analysis of microvesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells. J Proteome Res 11:839–849. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr200682z
- Kim S, Kim TM (2019) Generation of mesenchymal stem-like cells for producing extracellular vesicles. World J Stem Cells 11:270–280. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v11.i5.270
- Kim S, Lee MJ, Choi JY et al (2018) Roles of exosome-like vesicles released from inflammatory C2C12 Myotubes: regulation of myocyte differentiation and Myokine expression. Cell Physiol Biochem 48:1829–1842. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492505
- Klimczak A, Kozlowska U, Kurpisz M (2018) Muscle stem/progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells of bone marrow origin for skeletal muscle regeneration in muscular dystrophies. Arch Immunol Ther Exp 66:341–354. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-018-0509-7
- Kostallari E, Baba-Amer Y, Alonso-Martin S et al (2015) Pericytes in the myovascular niche promote post-natal myofiber growth and satellite cell quiescence. Development 142: 1242–1253. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.115386
- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M et al (2016) Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci (8):113, 8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1521230113

- Kurosaka M, Machida S (2013) Interleukin-6-induced satellite cell proliferation is regulated by induction of the JAK2/STAT3 signalling pathway through cyclin D1 targeting. Cell Prolif 46: 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12045
- Lai RC, Tan SS, Teh BJ et al (2012) Proteolytic potential of the MSC exosome proteome: implications for an exosome-mediated delivery of therapeutic proteasome. Int J Proteomics 2012:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/971907
- Lemos DR, Babaeijandaghi F, Low M et al (2015) Nilotinib reduces muscle fibrosis in chronic muscle injury by promoting TNF-mediated apoptosis of fibro/adipogenic progenitors. Nat Med 21:786–794. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3869
- Leoni G, Alam A, Neumann PA et al (2012) Annexin A1, formyl peptide receptor, and NOX1 orchestrate epithelial repair. J Clin Investig 123:443–454. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci65831
- Leoni G, Neumann PA, Kamaly N et al (2015) Annexin A1–containing extracellular vesicles and polymeric nanoparticles promote epithelial wound repair. J Clin Investig 125:1215–1227. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci76693
- Li M, Zeringer E, Barta T et al (2014) Analysis of the RNA content of the exosomes derived from blood serum and urine and its potential as biomarkers. Philos Trans R Soc B: Biol Sci 369: 20130502. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0502
- Linzbach AJ (1976) Hypertrophy, hyperplasia and structural dilatation of the human heart. Physical activity and coronary heart disease. Adv Cardiol 18:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1159/000399507
- Liu N, Garry GA, Li S et al (2017) A Twist2-dependent progenitor cell contributes to adult skeletal muscle. Nat Cell Biol 19:202–213. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3477
- Maeda Y, Yonemochi Y, Nakajyo Y et al (2017) CXCL12 and osteopontin from bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal cells improve muscle regeneration. Sci Rep 7(1):3305. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02928-1
- Maffioletti SM, Noviello M, English K, Tedesco FS (2014) Stem cell transplantation for muscular dystrophy: the challenge of immune response. Biomed Res Int 2014:1–12. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2014/964010
- Manček-Keber M, Frank-Bertoncelj M, Hafner-Bratkovič I et al (2015) Toll-like receptor 4 senses oxidative stress mediated by the oxidation of phospholipids in extracellular vesicles. Sci Signal 8(381):ra60. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2005860
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Locati M (2007) New vistas on macrophage differentiation and activation. Eur J Immunol 37:14–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200636910
- Matsuzaka Y, Kishi S, Aoki Y et al (2014) Three novel serum biomarkers, miR-1, miR-133a, and miR-206 for limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy, and Becker muscular dystrophy. Environ Health Prev Med 19:452–458. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12199-014-0405-7
- Matsuzaka Y, Tanihata J, Komaki H et al (2016) Characterization and functional analysis of extracellular vesicles and muscle-abundant miRNAs (miR-1, miR-133a, and miR-206) in C2C12 myocytes and mdx mice. PLoS One 11(12):e0167811. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0167811
- Mauro A (1961) Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 9:493–495. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.9.2.493
- Meldolesi J (2018) Exosomes and ectosomes in intercellular communication. Curr Biol 28(8): R435–R444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.059
- Mellows B, Mitchell R, Antonioli M et al (2017) Protein and molecular characterization of a clinically compliant amniotic fluid stem cell-derived extracellular vesicle fraction capable of accelerating muscle regeneration through enhancement of angiogenesis. Stem Cells Dev 26: 1316–1333. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2017.0089
- Minasi MM, Riminucci M, De Angelis L et al (2002) The meso-angioblast: a multipotent, selfrenewing cell that originates from the dorsal aorta and differentiates into most mesodermal tissues. Dev Dis 129:2773–2783
- Mitchell R, Mellows B, Sheard J et al (2019) Secretome of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells promotes skeletal muscle regeneration through synergistic action of extracellular vesicle cargo and soluble proteins. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1213-1

- Miyanishi M, Tada K, Koike M et al (2007) Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor. Nature 450:435–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06307
- Moss FP, Leblond CP (1970) Nature of dividing nuclei in skeletal muscle of growing rats. J Cell Biol 44:459–461. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.44.2.459
- Mourikis P, Sambasivan R, Castel D et al (2012) A critical requirement for notch signaling in maintenance of the quiescent skeletal muscle stem cell state. Stem Cells 30:243–252. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.775
- Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Carter DRF (2014) Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. J Extracell Vesicles 3:24641. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v3.24641
- Murphy C, Withrow J, Hunter M et al (2018) Emerging role of extracellular vesicles in musculoskeletal diseases. Mol Asp Med 60:123–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2017.09.006
- Musarò A (2014) The basis of muscle regeneration. Adv Biol 2014:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2014/612471
- Nagata Y, Kobayashi H, Umeda M et al (2006) Sphingomyelin levels in the plasma membrane correlate with the activation state of muscle satellite cells. J Histochem Cytochem 54:375–384. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.5a6675.2006
- Naguibneva I, Ameyar-Zazoua M, Polesskaya A et al (2006) The microRNA miR-181 targets the homeobox protein Hox-A11 during mammalian myoblast differentiation. Nat Cell Biol 8: 278–284. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1373
- Nakamura TY, Iwata Y, Sampaolesi M et al (2001) Stretch-activated cation channels in skeletal muscle myotubes from sarcoglycan-deficient hamsters. Am J Phys Cell Phys 281(2). https://doi. org/10.1152/ajpcell.2001.281.2.c690
- Nakamura Y, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H et al (2015) Mesenchymal-stem-cell-derived exosomes accelerate skeletal muscle regeneration. FEBS Lett 589:1257–1265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet. 2015.03.031
- Pascual-Gil S, Garbayo E, Díaz-Herráez P et al (2015) Heart regeneration after myocardial infarction using synthetic biomaterials. J Control Release 203:23–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jconrel.2015.02.009
- Pelosi L, Berardinelli MG, Forcina L et al (2015) Increased levels of interleukin-6 exacerbate the dystrophic phenotype in mdx mice. Hum Mol Genet 24:6041–6053. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/ddv323
- Pelosi M, Rossi MD, Barberi L, Musarò A (2014) IL-6 impairs myogenic differentiation by downmodulation of p90RSK/eEF2 and mTOR/p70S6K axes, without affecting AKT activity. Biomed Res Int 2014:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/206026
- Phinney DG, Giuseppe MD, Njah J et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. Nat Commun 6:8472. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms9472
- Pierre BAS, Tidball JG (1994) Differential response of macrophage subpopulations to soleus muscle reloading after rat hindlimb suspension. J Appl Physiol 77:290–297. https://doi.org/ 10.1152/jappl.1994.77.1.290
- Quattrocelli M, Cassano M, Crippa S et al (2010) Cell therapy strategies and improvements for muscular dystrophy. Cell Death Differ 17:1222–1229. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2009.160
- Quattrocelli M, Sampaolesi M (2015) The mesmiRizing complexity of microRNAs for striated muscle tissue engineering. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 88:37–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.04.011
- Querejeta R, López B, González A et al (2004) Increased collagen type I synthesis in patients with heart failure of hypertensive origin. Circulation 110:1263–1268. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir. 0000140973.60992.9a
- Rejman J, Oberle V, Zuhorn IS, Hoekstra D (2004) Size-dependent internalization of particles via the pathways of clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis. Biochem J 377:159–169. https:// doi.org/10.1042/bj20031253
- Relaix F, Montarras D, Stéphane Z et al (2005) Pax3 and Pax7 have distinct and overlapping functions in adult muscle progenitor cells. J Cell Biol 172:91–102. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb. 200508044

- Relaix F, Zammit PS (2012) Satellite cells are essential for skeletal muscle regeneration: the cell on the edge returns Centre stage. Development 139:2845–2856. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev. 069088
- Reznik M (1969) Thymidine-3H uptake by satellite cells of regenerating skeletal muscle. J Cell Biol 40:568–571. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.40.2.568
- Riazifar M, Pone EJ, Lötvall J, Zhao W (2017) Stem cell extracellular vesicles: extended messages of regeneration. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 57:125–154. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpharmtox-061616-030146
- Roberts TC, Blomberg KEM, Mcclorey G et al (2012) Expression analysis in multiple muscle groups and serum reveals complexity in the MicroRNA transcriptome of the mdx mouse with implications for therapy. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 1(8):e39. https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna. 2012.26
- Romancino DP, Paterniti G, Campos Y et al (2013) Identification and characterization of the nanosized vesicles released by muscle cells. FEBS Lett 587:1379–1384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. febslet.2013.03.012
- Romero M, Keyel M, Shi G et al (2017) Intrinsic repair protects cells from pore-forming toxins by microvesicle shedding. Cell Death Differ 24:798–808. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017.11
- Rondon-Berrios H, Wang Y, Mitch WE (2014) Can muscle-kidney crosstalk slow progression of CKD? J Am Soc Nephrol 25:2681–2683. https://doi.org/10.1681/asn.2014060566
- Rumman M, Dhawan J, Kassem M (2015) Concise review: quiescence in adult stem cells: biological significance and relevance to tissue regeneration. Stem Cells 33:2903–2912. https:// doi.org/10.1002/stem.2056
- Sahoo S, Losordo DW (2014) Exosomes and cardiac repair after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 114:333–344. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.114.300639
- Sakuma K, Yamaguchi A (2012) Molecular and cellular mechanism of muscle regeneration. Skeletal Muscle – From Myogenesis to Clinical Relations https://doi.org/10.5772/48229
- Sansone P, Savini C, Kurelac I et al (2017) Packaging and transfer of mitochondrial DNA via exosomes regulate escape from dormancy in hormonal therapy-resistant breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704862114
- Santoni de Sio FRS, Gritti A, Cascio P et al (2008) Lentiviral vector gene transfer is limited by the proteasome at Postentry steps in various types of stem cells. Stem Cells 26:2142–2152. https:// doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0705
- Scharner J, Zammit PS (2011) The muscle satellite cell at 50: the formative years. Skelet Muscle 1: 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/2044-5040-1-28
- Scheffer LL, Sreetama SC, Sharma N et al (2014) Mechanism of Ca2+-triggered ESCRT assembly and regulation of cell membrane repair. Nat Commun 5:5646. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms6646
- Schiaffino S, Dyar KA, Ciciliot S et al (2013) Mechanisms regulating skeletal muscle growth and atrophy. FEBS J 280:4294–4314. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12253
- Schneider DJ, Speth JM, Penke LR et al (2017) Mechanisms and modulation of microvesicle uptake in a model of alveolar cell communication. J Biol Chem 292:20897–20910. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.m117.792416
- Schultz E, Gibson MC, Champion T (1978) Satellite cells are mitotically quiescent in mature mouse muscle: an EM and radioautographic study. J Exp Zool 206:451–456. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jez.1402060314
- Siracusa J, Koulmann N, Bourdon S et al (2016) Circulating miRNAs as biomarkers of acute muscle damage in rats. Am J Pathol 186:1313–1327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2016. 01.007
- Snow MH (1977) Myogenic cell formation in regenerating rat skeletal muscle injured by mincing II. An autoradiographic study. Anat Rec 188:201–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.1091880206
- Sreetama SC, Takano T, Nedergaard M et al (2015) Injured astrocytes are repaired by Synaptotagmin XI-regulated lysosome exocytosis. Cell Death Differ 23:596–607. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/cdd.2015.124

- Steens J, Klein D (2018) Current strategies to generate human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. Stem Cells Int 2018:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6726185
- Svensson KJ, Christianson HC, Wittrup A et al (2013) Exosome uptake depends on ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling and lipid raft-mediated endocytosis negatively regulated by Caveolin-1. J Biol Chem 288:17713–17724. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m112.445403
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.07.024
- Tam C, Idone V, Devlin C et al (2010) Exocytosis of acid sphingomyelinase by wounded cells promotes endocytosis and plasma membrane repair. J Cell Biol 189:1027–1038. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.201003053
- Taverna S, Pucci M, Alessandro R (2017) Extracellular vesicles: small bricks for tissue repair/ regeneration. Ann Transl Med 5:83–83. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2017.01.53
- Tedesco FS, Gerli MFM, Perani L et al (2012) Transplantation of genetically corrected human iPSC-derived progenitors in mice with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. Sci Transl Med 4(140): 140ra89. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3003541
- Tidball JG (2017) Regulation of muscle growth and regeneration by the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 17:165–178. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.150
- Tsiapalis D, O'Driscoll L (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell derived extracellular vesicles for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. Cell 9:991. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9040991
- Uezumi A, Fukada SI, Yamamoto N et al (2010) Mesenchymal progenitors distinct from satellite cells contribute to ectopic fat cell formation in skeletal muscle. Nat Cell Biol 12:143–152. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2014
- van Balkom BWM, Eisele AS, Pegtel DM et al (2015) Quantitative and qualitative analysis of small RNAs in human endothelial cells and exosomes provides insights into localized RNA processing, degradation and sorting. J Extracell Vesicles 4:26760. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v4. 26760
- van Rooij E, Liu N, Olson EN (2008) MicroRNAs flex their muscles. Trends Genet 24:159–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2008.01.007
- Vechetti IJ Jr (2019) Emerging role of extracellular vesicles in the regulation of skeletal muscle adaptation. J Appl Physiol 127:645–653. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00914.2018
- Verdera HC, Gitz-Francois JJ, Schiffelers RM, Vader P (2017) Cellular uptake of extracellular vesicles is mediated by clathrin-independent endocytosis and macropinocytosis. J Control Release 266:100–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.09.019
- Villarroya-Beltri C, Gutiérrez-Vázquez C, Sánchez-Cabo F et al (2013) Sumoylated hnRNPA2B1 controls the sorting of miRNAs into exosomes through binding to specific motifs. Nat Commun 4:2980. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3980
- Wang C, Song W, Chen B et al (2019) Exosomes isolated from adipose-derived stem cells: a new cell-free approach to prevent the muscle degeneration associated with torn rotator cuffs. Am J Sports Med 47:3247–3255. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546519876323
- Whitham M, Parker BL, Friedrichsen M et al (2018) Extracellular vesicles provide a means for tissue crosstalk during exercise. Cell Metab 27(1):237–251.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet. 2017.12.001
- Wiendl H, Lautwein A, Mitsdörffer M et al (2003) Antigen processing and presentation in human muscle: cathepsin S is critical for MHC class II expression and upregulated in inflammatory myopathies. J Neuroimmunol 138:132–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-5728(03)00093-6
- Wosczyna MN, Rando TA (2018) A muscle stem cell support group: coordinated cellular responses in muscle regeneration. Dev Cell 46:135–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2018.06.018
- Wu R, Huang C, Wu Q et al (2019) Exosomes secreted by urine-derived stem cells improve stress urinary incontinence by promoting repair of pubococcygeus muscle injury in rats. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:80. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1182-4
- Wu R, Li H, Zhai L et al (2015) MicroRNA-431 accelerates muscle regeneration and ameliorates muscular dystrophy by targeting Pax7 in mice. Nat Commun 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms8713

- Xiang C, Yang K, Liang Z et al (2018) Sphingosine-1-phosphate mediates the therapeutic effects of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles on articular cartilage defect. Transl Res 193:42–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2017.12.003
- Xu K, Lin J, Zandi R et al (2016) MicroRNA-mediated target mRNA cleavage and 3'-uridylation in human cells. Sci Rep 6:30242. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep30242
- Yablonka-Reuveni Z, Rivera AJ (1994) Temporal expression of regulatory and structural muscle proteins during myogenesis of satellite cells on isolated adult rat fibers. Dev Biol 164:588–603. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1994.1226
- Yedigaryan L, Gatti M, Marini V et al (2022) Shared and divergent epigenetic mechanisms in cachexia and sarcopenia. Cells. 11:2293. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11152293
- Yedigaryan L, Sampaolesi M (2021) Therapeutic implications of miRNAs for muscle-wasting conditions. Cells. 10:3035. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10113035
- Young CS, Hicks MR, Ermolova NV et al (2016) A single CRISPR-Cas9 deletion strategy that targets the majority of DMD patients restores dystrophin function in hiPSC-derived muscle cells. Cell Stem Cell 18:533–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.01.021
- Yuan J, Liu H, Gao W et al (2018) MicroRNA-378 suppresses myocardial fibrosis through a paracrine mechanism at the early stage of cardiac hypertrophy following mechanical stress. Theranostics 8:2565–2582. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.22878
- Zakharova L, Svetlova M, Fomina AF (2007) T cell exosomes induce cholesterol accumulation in human monocytes via phosphatidylserine receptor. J Cell Physiol 212:174–181. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jcp.21013
- Zanotti S, Gibertini S, Blasevich F et al (2018) Exosomes and exosomal miRNAs from musclederived fibroblasts promote skeletal muscle fibrosis. Matrix Biol 74:77–100. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.matbio.2018.07.003
- Zhu Y, Wang Y, Zhao B et al (2017) Comparison of exosomes secreted by induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells and synovial membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0510-9



Regenerative Medicine Applied to the Treatment of Musculoskeletal Pathologies

38

The Cell-Free Therapy Approach

Alberto González-González, Daniel García-Sánchez, Ana Alfonso-Fernández, Khawaja Husnain Haider, José C. Rodríguez-Rey, and Flor M. Pérez-Campo

Contents

Introduction	1125
Mesenchymal Stem Cells Based Therapies: A Useful Tool?	1125
MSCs Secretome as an Alternative to Cell-Based Therapy	1128
Soluble Factors Secreted by MSCs	1129
Extracellular Vesicles	1133
Composition of EVs Cargo	1133
Applications of the Secretome from Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of	
Musculoskeletal Diseases	1135
MSCs Secretome for Bone Regeneration	1135
MSCs Secretome in the Treatment of Tendon Injuries	1139
Modulating Secretome Therapeutic Properties	1140
Hypoxia Induction	1140
Inflammatory Priming	1141
Addition of Bioactive Factors	1142
Modulation of Cell-Cell Interactions	1143
Tuning Cell-Substrate Interaction (ECM and Scaffolds)	1144
Genetic Editing	1145

A. González-González · D. García-Sánchez · J. C. Rodríguez-Rey · F. M. Pérez-Campo (⊠) Grupo de Ingeniería de Tejidos de Cantabria, Dpto. Biología Molecular, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Cantabria-IDIVAL, Santander, Cantabria, Spain e-mail: alberto.gonzalezgo@alumnos.unican.es; daniel.garciasa@alumnos.unican.es; josecarlos.rodriguez@unican.es; f.perezcampo@unican.es

A. Alfonso-Fernández

Servicio de Cirugía Ortopédica y Traumatología, Hospital Universitario Marqués de Valdecilla, Santander, Cantabria, Spain e-mail: ana.alfonso@scsalud.es

K. H. Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_50

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

Disease-Like Priming	1145
Future Perspectives	1146
References	1149

Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been the most frequent stem cell used in clinical trials due to their easy isolation from multiple adult tissues, their ability to home into the injury sites, and their potential to differentiate into various cell types. Despite this, only two drugs, TEMCELL[®], for the treatment of acute graftversus-host disease, and Alofisel[®] (Darvadstrocel), for the treatment of fistulae in Crohn disease, have been approved so far by regulatory agencies. For various reasons, MSCs' approval as a drug is proving difficult, and from the outside, it might seem that the field is in a period of stagnation. The risk of lung entrapment or the fact that transplanted MSCs might lead to the formation of tumors are causes of serious concern. Besides, the realization that the beneficial effects of MSCs rely mainly on their paracrine action rather than engraftment and differentiation, has paved the way for cell-free therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine that would lack the unwanted effects linked to the administration of live cells. The use of MSCs secretome has key advantages over the cell-based therapies, such as lower immunogenicity, and easiness of production, handling, and storage. More importantly, MSCs can be modulated to alter their secretome composition to better suit specific therapeutic goals, thus opening a large number of possibilities. Altogether these advantages are making MSCs secretome the focus of many investigations in several clinical contexts, enabling the rapid scientific progress of this field.

Keywords

Cell-free therapy · Mesenchymal stem cells · Paracrine · Regenerative · Secretome · Stem cells

List of Abbreviations

Agn	Angiogenin
A-MSCs	Adipose tissue-derived MSCs
Ang-1	Angiopoietin 1
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
COX	Cyclooxygenase
DCs	Dendritic cells
BM-MSCs	Bone marrow MSCs
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1α
	• •

HO-1	Heme oxygenase 1
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
IL10	Interleukin-10
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MVs	Microvesicles
MS	Mass spectroscopy
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NK	Natural killer cells
OA	Osteoarthritis
PGE	Prostaglandin E
PlGF	Placental growth factor
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
S-MSCs	Synovial fluid-derived MSCs
SATB2	Special AT-rich sequence- binding protein 2
SDF-1	Stroma cell-derived factor-1
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Mesenchymal Stem Cells Based Therapies: A Useful Tool?

Mesenchymal stem cells, also known as mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), have received center-stage attention by both industry and academia due to their unique qualities. Thanks to their regenerative potential and other remarkable properties MSCs are considered excellent candidates for cellular therapy. The escalating research reflects this on their therapeutic applications during the last decade. Since their discovery, more than a thousand clinical trials, many of them interventional, have been registered and reported, while others are in the pipeline. However, the conclusion of these studies has been highly variable, even reporting contradictory results (Couto et al. 2019). Whereas some MSCs-based studies have shown apparent significant beneficial effects, the others did not find an effect at all. This extreme divergence has been generally attributed to the small size of cases analyzed in some trials or the lack of appropriate control groups in the MSCs-based treatments. However, the primary factor responsible for the lack of consistency in these data is considered to be the heterogeneity of the MSCs populations and the quality of cell preparation used for cell therapy. The International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) has established the minimal criteria to define MSCs. According to these criteria, MSCs are fibroblasts-like multipotent adult stem cells that should have the following three properties (Dominici et al. 2006):

- 1. Adherence to the plastic surface under standard culture conditions.
- 2. Expression of an array of specific surface markers, that is, CD105, CD73, and CD90, while lacking the expression of hematopoietic specific markers, that is, CD45, CD34, CD79a/CD19, and CD14/CD11b.
- 3. Multilineage differentiation potential into adipocytes, osteoblasts, and chondrocytes in vitro.

Although this is a useful and valuable definition that initially provided a common ground for describing MSCs, it did not wholly reflect the complexity of MSCs populations that could be gathered from the increasing knowledge about these cells. The isolation of MSCs using the ISCT-devised standard has helped to standardize isolation and purification protocols; however, it still produces heterogeneous populations of cells with diverging potencies, and the standardization of methods remains highly challenging. Efforts are now directed to develop and optimize standard protocols to produce homogeneous MSCs populations to achieve consistent outcomes and optimize the therapeutic use of these cells. One of the options currently tested to achieve this goal is the use of MSCs derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs-MSCs). Besides the uniformity of the iPSCs-MSCs cell population, these cells engraft into the recipient tissue and survive at higher rates than the adult tissue-derived MSCs, which render them more appealing and efficient for allogenic transplantation (Gao et al. 2017). It is pertinent to mention that as the investigations involving iPSCs-MSCs have just started, there are still many questions to resolve about their biological characterization, safety, and feasibilityrelevant challenges before they could be considered a safe and efficient alternative to adult tissue-derived MSCs.

The heterogeneity of the MSCs' population is not the only drawback hindering the development of MSCs-based therapies. Efficient MSCs-based therapies require MSCs to home, survive, engraft, and integrate with the host tissue at the damaged site. The quality of the cell preparation is an important determinant of cell-based therapy (Shahid et al. 2016). MSCs' performance on these different steps seems to be greatly dependent upon parameters, such as isolation and purification protocols, culture conditions for in vitro expansion, and donor-relevant factors, such as the age of the donor, disease/health status of the donor, or tissue of origin, etc. (Lretlow et al. 2008; Neri 2019; Haider 2018). Furthermore, given the scarcity of these cells in the donor tissues and thus the limited starting material, most of the therapies necessitate a prolonged ex vivo expansion period to obtain enough cells required for transplantation for improved prognosis. The length of this expansion period significantly influences the subsequent treatment outcome (Bertolo et al. 2016) and seems to directly correlate with the loss of the clonogenicity, MSCs' engraftment potential, and differentiation capacity (Thery et al. 2018b). These effects have been linked to a decrease in chemokine receptors expression during the in vitro expansion period, thus translating into a low chemotactic response (Son et al. 2006).

Other factors directly unrelated to the status of the cells, such as the cell delivery method, route of delivery, etc., may also influence the effectiveness of MSCs-based treatments. The treatment strategies involving local administration give superior

outcomes as compared to those involving systemic administration. The reason for this superiority is that the latter leads to the donor cells getting entrapped within the microvasculature of various non-targeted organs, particularly the lungs (Zheng et al. 2016). Even in reaching the target tissue, MSCs will often encounter a highly unfavorable inflammatory and cytotoxic microenvironment characterized by poor perfusion, low oxygen and nutrients, and altered pH, which poses a significant challenge for donor cell survival. This hostile microenvironment often leads to apoptosis of the transplanted MSCs. Some studies have reported as low as 0.1-1percent survival of the transplanted cells during the first 24 h after delivery, leading to a poor outcome of the procedure. Moreover, the extensive cell death can trigger immune reactions that might aggravate the condition further or even lead to the rejection of the transplanted cells. Given the poor cell survival rate, the transplanted cells could fail to efficiently direct angiomyogenic repair, a crucial step for successful tissue regeneration (Rezaie et al. 2018). Put together, all these obstacles highly reduce the percentage of transplanted MSCs that effectively contribute to the regeneration of the damaged tissue.

It is also important to mention that despite having an excellent safety profile, some published reports have raised a red flag regarding the biosafety of MSCs' use in humans. For example, MSCs have been linked to potential embolisms in small blood vessels (Wu et al. 2017), mainly when the treatment involves systemic administration. The extensive ex vivo expansion required to achieve the cell number necessary for some procedures might contribute to the genomic instability of the transplanted cells. In fact, chromosomal alterations have been observed in clinicalgrade MSCs cultures (Nikitina et al. 2018), something worrisome considering that MSCs would maintain their proliferative capacity once in the recipient tissue, increasing the potential risk of tumorogenesis. Besides, although this is rare due to their low immunogenic capacity, it has also been described that the repeated transplantation of MSCs can cause the production of alloantibodies that could limit their clinical applications due to immune rejection possibility (Cho et al. 2008). Despite all the drawbacks mentioned above, and mixed outcomes of MSCs-based treatments, these cells are still contemplated as a highly useful tool and near-ideal cell type from among the cells for cell therapy-based regenerative medicine (Rajab et al. 2019).

The paradigm is now shifting from cell-based therapy to cell-free therapy. Although it was once believed that the main therapeutic benefits of MSCs-based cell therapy primarily relied on their capability to create new tissue via differentiation, growing evidence suggests that the wide range of bioactive molecules secreted by MSCs is responsible for many of the positive effects of MSCs-based therapies. This would explain why, although in many cases less than 1% of the transplanted MSCs are retained long-term within the target tissue, there are still clear therapeutic benefits linked to their transplantation (Yeo et al. 2013). As we will discuss in-depth later in the chapter, MSCs secrete a wide variety of molecules as part of their paracrine activity that has several beneficial effects on the damaged tissue, including their immunomodulatory action, which is considered highly relevant to host tissue cytoprotection and regeneration. Thus, the use of these paracrine secretions, rich in bioactive factors, produced by MSCs could hypothetically replace these cells in

some applications that would also benefit from the lack of biosafety concerns associated with using a cell-free therapy. However, it should be kept in mind that, besides their ability to replace the damaged tissue by differentiating into multiple cell types and their paracrine activity, the therapeutic potential of MSCs could also rely on other mechanisms that would require the physical proximity of those cells.

MSCs exert a cytoprotective effect on the surrounding cells in the host tissue postengraftment by modulating reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and modifying the nutrient usage mechanistically through intercellular mitochondria trafficking (Paliwal et al. 2018). MSCs also modify the behavior of immune cells by the secretion of specific factors, and cell-to-cell contact (Andreeva et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2020c). Although there is still some controversy in the field, it has been recently shown that MSCs fuse with cancer cells leading, in some cases, to the cessation of their proliferation highlighting the anti-tumorogenic effect of MSCs and opening the opportunity to use MSC-fusion based strategies for tumor biotherapy (Zhang et al. 2020b). These properties of MSCs require direct physical interaction of the transplanted MSCs with the tissue-resident cells. Even though all the aforementioned problems are linked to MSCs-based therapies, these cell-based approaches might still be helpful in treating specific pathologies where these particular activities are proven beneficial.

MSCs Secretome as an Alternative to Cell-Based Therapy

The paracrine activity is a common feature of virtually every cell type. The wide array of bioactive molecules secreted by a particular cell type is designated as the "secretome." This term, initially coined by Tjalsma et al. (2000) who defined it as "both the components of machineries for protein secretion and the native secreted proteins." This definition, as well as the one later provided by Hathout (2007), who defined the secretome as "all the factors secreted by a cell or tissue into the extracellular space under a defined time and conditions," only seem to contemplate the soluble part of this secretome while letting out a key part of it: the extracellular vesicles (EVs).

Several studies have now confirmed that the MSCs' secretome can reduce cell injury and improve tissue repair. Moreover, it has immunomodulatory, antiapoptotic, and pro-angiogenic properties via activation of endogenous signaling pathways in neighboring cells that would lead to an improved microenvironment and host tissue regeneration. This realization has paved the way for the use of secretome as a cell-free alternative to overcome the limitations of MSCs-based therapies. More importantly, MSCs-derived secretome is being developed as a pharmaceutical product for use in regenerative medicine. MSCs-secretome based products are now being tested as substitutes of MSCs in the applications where those cells have already proven useful (Bogatcheva and Coleman 2019). The use of MSCs-derived secretome has additional advantages over MSCs, such as the ease of handling and storage and off-the-shelf availability. On the same note, the secretome components are highly stable and are not affected by processes such as freezing, concentration by ultracentrifugation, or lyophilization (freeze-drying). Besides, its production is easily scalable to fit the necessary levels for large-scale production, thus opening the possibility of developing novel MSCs-secretome based pharmacologically active agents.

Although both the soluble and insoluble fractions of the secretome may contribute to tissue regeneration, they might have different effects (Giannasi et al. 2020; Mitchell et al. 2019) and are the base of different preparations currently being tested for therapeutic purposes.

Soluble Factors Secreted by MSCs

Various research groups have attempted to profile and identify the soluble factors secreted by MSCs from different tissue sources using global approaches, including mass spectrometry (MS)-based techniques. However, these analyses have proven to be technically challenging and more often than not, identified false-positive results due to proteins stemming from dead cells or interference from the culture media used. Recently, the use of a highly stringent quantitative MS approach, allowed the identification of 315 proteins actively secreted by human bone marrow MSCs (BM-MSCs) (Baberg et al. 2019). However, it is important to note that despite the secreted paracrine factors from MSCs of different origins being highly similar, MSCs from different tissue sources diverge in the level of production, as recently shown in an experimental animal model (Villatoro et al. 2019). These biological differences should then be considered when choosing the MSCs' source for secretome production.

Proteins secreted by MSCs include cytokines, chemokines, extracellular matrix (ECM) proteases, and growth factors that are involved in a wide range of biological activities in the cells, such as antioxidant and antimicrobial activities, proliferation, cytoprotection, modulation of inflammation, emigrational activity, promotion of angiogenesis, and transdifferentiation. The main activities driven by MSCs soluble factors will be discussed in the following sections. A schematic representation is shown in Fig. 1.

Immunomodulation

Besides other mechanisms, the therapeutic benefits of MSCs are primarily attributed to their immunomodulatory function. MSCs can influence both adaptative and innate immune responses through their secreted factors. These secreted factors exert widespread immunomodulatory effects on virtually all immune cells, including T cells, B cells, dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer cells (NK), neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages. The main immunosuppressive factors secreted by MSCs are prostaglandin E (PGE), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), and interleukin-10 (IL10). Interestingly, many of these factors exert their function by interfering with the metabolism of certain amino acids.

MSCs' regulatory effect of macrophage function is mediated mainly through the secretion of PGE2, the synthesis of which is mediated by the constitutively produced



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of MSCs-secreted soluble factors' effect on immunomodulation, angiogénesis, and apoptosis. (Created with **BioRender**.com)

COX1 enzyme. In response to a pro-inflammatory environment, MSCs activate the synthesis of the inducible COX2, directly increasing PGE2 synthesis (Murakami and Kudo 2004).

Macrophages are generated from monocytes through two different pathways, depending on the environment, a classical activation pathway (M1) or an alternative pathway (M2). Both these types of macrophages release a very different set of factors. While M1 macrophages mainly release an array of pro-inflammatory cyto-kines, M2 macrophages release IL-10, which has a significant anti-inflammatory role. PGE2 induces the differentiation of macrophages toward the M2 anti-inflammatory phenotype (Deng et al. 2016). PGE2 not only regulates macrophage activation but is also able to suppress the proliferation of NK cells and the maturation of B lymphocytes and DCs (Hegyi et al. 2012).

IDO also has important effects on T and B lymphocytes' activation, proliferation, and differentiation. The two isoforms of IDO, namely IDO1 and IDO2, catalyze the degradation of tryptophan needed for T-cell division through the kynurenine pathway. The depletion of tryptophan leads to the arrest of T-cell metabolism and subsequent apoptosis (Böttcher et al. 2016). Furthermore, like the effect on macrophages polarization, T-cell differentiation is also polarized toward T regulatory cells, one of the CD4⁺ subclasses of T lymphocytes involved in the cellular immune response (Weiss and Dahlke 2019). Regarding B cells, MSCs also affect the humoral activity of these cells by diminishing the expression of chemokine receptors 4, 5, and 7 (CXCR4, CXCR5, and CXCR7), decreasing their overall activation rate.

As mentioned earlier, MSCs can also secrete various pro-inflammatory cytokines. Although this might appear counterintuitive, it is essential to clarify that for proper tissue regeneration, an acute inflammatory response is needed right after the injury, to allow the migration of MSCs to the injury site and undergo proliferation at a faster rate. However, the subsequent repair phase requires an immunosuppressive state. Therefore, MSCs can sense their microenvironment and respond appropriately in a cue-dependent manner during the healing process (Renner et al. 2009).

Finally, it is necessary to highlight that although the paracrine activity of MSCs is indeed responsible for the immunosuppressive function of MSCs, we also need to clarify that this function is also mediated by cell-to-cell contact and by the mito-chondrial transfer to the injured cells via tunneling nanotubes (Cselenyák et al. 2010).

Angiogenesis and Revascularization

MSCs extensively release a variety of pro-angiogenic factors, including basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), angiopoietin 1 (Ang-1), placental growth factor (PIGF), Interleukin 6 (IL-6), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β 1), and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) (Kwon et al. 2014). The presence of all the aforementioned factors and their respective concentrations greatly varies depending upon the MSCs source and their culture conditions (Kehl et al. 2019). The amniotic MSCs secretome shows a more robust angiogenic profile (Kim et al. 2012b). In comparison with the adipose tissue-derived MSCs, human amniotic fluid-derived MSCs were rich in pro-angiogenic factors, including IGF-1, EGF, and IL8, as determined by real-time PCR and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Kim et al. 2012b). The amniotic fluid-derived MSCs were characterized by the surface markers expression of CD44, CD73, CD90, CD105, and CD106, while showing a minimal expression of CD34, CD14, and CD45. Also, while some factors such as bFGF are not always found as part of the soluble factors secreted by different MSCs, other factors, such as IL6, are always present in most of the analyses performed and reported (Hsiao et al. 2012).

Besides the release of pro-angiogenic factors, MSCs also produce anti-angiogenic molecules under a specific set of culture conditions, such as stimulation with inflammatory cytokines. This specific culture environment leads to increased secretion of tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease 1 (TIMP-1), a protein with strong anti-angiogenic activity (Zanotti et al. 2016). A balance between the activity of the metalloproteases and their inhibitors is crucial for the degradation of the vascular basement membrane that prevents endothelial cells from leaving their positions. Together with correct extracellular matrix remodeling, this process is of utmost importance to allow the emigration of endothelial cells toward the surrounding tissue to initiate and participate in the generation of neovasculature.

Hypoxia provides a strong stimulus for the release of pro-angiogenic factors via the activation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF-1 α) and its downstream signaling. Therefore, hypoxic treatment of the cells has been extensively studied to alter the secretome profile of the cultured cells (Hsiao et al. 2013; Hao et al. 2019). An augmented secretion of pro-angiogenic factors in the cells may be induced by subjecting the cells to hypoxic culture conditions and by the presence of different cytokines, such as TGF- α , in the culture media. TGF- α increases the secretion of various angiogenic factors through the activation of PI3K/Akt and MAPK signaling pathways. Conditioned media from MSCs treated with TGF- a can induce blood vessel formation in an in vivo assay (De Luca et al. 2011). Aranha et al. have shown that MSCs cultured under hypoxic conditions showed copious secretion of pro-angiogenic factor VEGF in response to the activation hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF-1 α)(Aranha et al. 2010). Preconditioning of MSCs has also been achieved by exposing the cells to intermittent cycles of ischemia and reperfusion. Repeated treatment with anoxia-reoxygenation activated HIF-1 α signaling, activation of HIF-1 α hypoxamiRs, downstream activation of survival signaling, and altering the paracrine profile of the preconditioned cells (Kim et al. 2009, 2012a). It has been observed that HIF-1a-dependent microRNAs are mechanistically involved in the preconditioning induced survival signaling (Haider et al. 2009). Given the significant role of HIF-1 α in hypoxic and ischemic preconditioning and paracrine behavior of the cells, strategies have also been developed to activate HIF-1 α through a non-hypoxic mechanism based on genetic modulation of the cells for concomitant overexpression of Akt and Ang-1 (Lai et al. 2012).

Besides hypoxia treatment, stem cells have also been preconditioned to support their rate of survival and modify their paracrine behavior (Haider and Muhammad Ashraf 2010). Some of the effective strategies in this regard include genetic modulation and pharmacological manipulation of the cells (Haider et al. 2008; Suzuki et al. 2010; Ahmed et al. 2010; Afzal et al. 2010). In addition, the production and secretion of pro-angiogenic factors by MSCs can also be enhanced by serum deprivation in the culture medium (Bianco et al. 2008). Furthermore, the conditioned medium from the cells cultured without serum could generate longer neovascular sprouts than the control cells-derived conditioned medium with serum during an ex vivo assay (Bianco et al. 2008). Put together, the secretion of the complex set of bioactive molecules in the secretome is susceptible to modulation through different approaches to promote angiogenesis.

Anti-apoptotic Activity

Several studies have demonstrated that MSCs can modulate cell apoptosis to restore the local microenvironment homeostasis in two different ways: direct cell-to-cell contact with the affected cell types and second through the secretion of paracrine mediators, such as IGF, FGF-2, HIF-1 α , Heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1), and VEGF. Also, two different interleukins secreted by MSCs have a crucial role in the antiapoptotic activity of MSCs-derived secretome on cells present in their microenvironment. For example, a recent study has shown that the anti-apoptotic activity of MSCs-derived secretome occurs mainly via IL10 activity since the abrogation of IL10 with a specific antibody added to the conditioned media significantly reduced the cytoprotective effects of the conditioned medium (Al-Azzawi et al. 2020). On the other hand, MSCs also inhibit lymphocytes and monocytes' apoptosis through an IL6 mediated mechanism (Xu et al. 2007; Raffaghello et al. 2008).

Overall, the paracrine activity of MSCs is key to avoiding caspase activation and subsequent apoptosis of endothelial, epithelial, and immune cells in a highly inflammatory microenvironment in the injured tissue.

Extracellular Vesicles

A variety of nano- and micro-sized vesicles, extracellular vesicles (EVs) shed from the cell surface as part of the paracrine activity of the cell, constitute the insoluble part of the secretome. According to the International Society for Extracellular vesicles (ISEV), the term EVs comprises the non-replicable small particles delimited by a lipid bilayer that do not contain a functional nuclei (Thery et al. 2018b). Initially, EVs release was thought to be a part of the mechanism in the cells aimed to eliminate unneeded cellular compounds; it is now clear that EVs are key players in intercellular communication. However, the EVs population is heterogeneous in size and shape, which has hindered our understanding of their features, molecular composition, and functionality. EVs are now classified, based on their size and biogenesis, into three major categories. Exosomes, Microvesicles, and Apoptotic bodies (Thery et al. 2018a).

Exosomes, generally 30-150 nm in diameter, are formed within the endosomal network and are released by the inward budding of multivesicular bodies (MVBs) (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013, Yáñez-Mó et al. 2015). Alternatively, MVBs can be trafficked to lysosomes for degradation (Colombo et al. 2014). The fate of MVBs depends upon the cholesterol contents in their membrane, since cholesterol is necessary to avoid lysosomal degradation (Pfrieger and Vitale 2018). Microvesicles (MVs) biogenesis involves a less well-understood mechanism, however, it is generally perceived to involve outward budding of the extracellular membrane. MVs have a larger size, with a diameter ranging from 100 to 1000 nm. Because of their biogenesis, MVs are rich in proteins that are abundant in the plasma membrane, such as tetraspanins or proteins involved in cell-to-cell interaction through the recognizing of glycans and might facilitate the MVs-cell interaction. Finally, ApoBDs, released by apoptotic cells, are the largest EVs reaching up to 5000 nm in diameter. The first step in ApoBDs formation is the emergence of blebs in the plasma membrane that later become a protrusion, ending up in the release of the ApoBDs (Jiang et al. 2017). Interestingly, ApoBDs are considered essential players in the immune-modulated mechanism of implanted MSCs in the injured tissues (Galleu et al. 2017).

There are two different mechanisms by which EVs contribute toward the intercellular signaling. Firstly, EVs exert their effect upon uptake by the target cells, which involves the fusion of the vesicular membrane with the recipient cell membrane, thus enabling the release of EVs' cargo into the recipient cell cytoplasm. Alternatively, these vesicles could bind with the recipient cell membrane-bound receptors and activate specific downstream signaling pathways (Abels and Breakefield 2016).

Composition of EVs Cargo

Most of the pro-regenerative factors present in the MSCs' secretome are carried in EVs, mainly exosomes. This cargo is highly dynamic and reflects the parent cell lineage and its metabolic state. According to Exocarta, a manually curated standard

database of exosomes and their payload of proteins, RNAs, and lipids, there are currently registered 9769 proteins, 3408 mRNAs, 2838 miRNAs, and 1116 lipids identified in exosomes derived from various cell types. Importantly, different cell culture conditions and manipulations can greatly influence cargo loading in the exosomes, which might also impact their bioactivity. This can also be used for our own advantage by creating particular conditions that improve specific bioactivity of the exosomes produced by MSCs, making them more effective for a specific therapeutic application (Haider and Aramini 2019).

Although several analyses have been performed to establish a protein profile of EVs cargo' in different cell types, the diverging isolation and purification protocols have rendered this a daunting task and did not allow the production of conclusive data. Overall, the proteins present in the EVs cargo are proteins that are instrumental in their biogenesis, transmembrane proteins, different types of tetraspanins (CD9, CD63, and CD81), and proteins involved in antigen presentation (MHCI and MHC II). Although it is not as common, certain transcription factors have also been found as part of EVs cargo (Kalra et al. 2012).

As regards the lipid contents of EVs, they reflect their cells of origin, although specific lipids such as diacylglycerol and phosphatidylcholine seem to be less represented than the other membrane lipids. On the contrary, phosphatidylserine is more enriched in EVs compared to the cellular plasma membrane. Interestingly, it has been proposed that higher presence of phosphatidylserine in the membrane of some EVs facilitates their uptake by the recipient cells (Bicalho et al. 2013; Zaborowski et al. 2015).

Pertaining to the type of the genetic material found in the EVs cargo, it may include genomic and mitochondrial DNA and small RNAs of different types, that is, rRNA,tRNA, mRNAs, and lncRNAs. With a few exceptions that could correspond to either lncRNAs or intact mRNAs, the majority of RNAs found in the EVs cargo are less than 200 nucleotides in length. Among, the different nucleic acids found in the EVs cargo, miRNAs associated with exosomes are the ones that have been more intensively studied due to their capacity to alter the gene expression pattern of the target cell and their demonstrated role in different pathologies, including cancer (Asgarpour et al. 2020; Aramini et al. 2020). Generally speaking, the RNA cargo of the EVs mainly reflects the cytoplasmic contents of the cells of EVs' origin. However, some RNAs seem to be enriched in the EVs, thus suggesting the existence of some mechanism for cargo selection, such as the presence of particular sequences, named zip code, in the 3'UTR (Bolukbasi et al. 2012) on specific mRNAs or the "GGAG" motif found of several of the exosomal miRNAs (Villarroya-Beltri et al. 2013).

Currently, there is mounting evidence showing that the effect of the MSCsderived EVs cargo on target cells is often mediated by the regulation of mitochondrial activity (Hogan et al. 2019). There is a significant increase in mitochondrial respiration and ATP production after exposure of the cells to MSCs derived EVs (Bland et al. 2018; Russell et al. 2019). In addition, several of the miRNAs, proteins, and mRNAs packed in the EVs have a direct or indirect effect on mitochondrial metabolism and baseline activity (Loussouarn et al. 2021). These organelles are essential for cellular homeostasis, and thus, there are many pathologies related to mitochondrial dysfunction. Given the significant role of mitochondrial in cellular homeostasis, protocols are also being developed for mitochondrial preconditioning to support cell survival (Lu et al. 2010).

Applications of the Secretome from Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Musculoskeletal Diseases

A recent search on the clinical trials database (https://clinicaltrials.gov) for studies using MSCs secreted factors showed a total of 33 ongoing or completed trials. A quick screening of this list reveals that, although the number of studies involving MSCs secreted factors does not compare to the number of clinical studies involving MSCs, the therapeutic potential of MSCs-derived secretome is being tested in a wide variety of pathologies as a part of the fast-emerging cell-free therapy approach (Haider and Aslam 2018). In contrast to the low number of clinical trials using the cell-free therapy approach, there is a substantial number of preclinical experimental animal studies involving treatment with MSCs' secreted factors-containing conditioned medium. The encouraging data from the preclinical studies have generated immense interest in MSCs-based cell-free research to treat various injuries and pathologies. Interestingly, in the current pandemic scenario, the immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory capacity of MSCs-derived exosomes is being tested in different clinical trials to treat the inflammatory symptoms associated with COVID-19 pneumonia.

MSCs secretome also shows therapeutic effect on the regeneration of the musculoskeletal system attributed to its multiple effects on the bone microenvironment, facilitating the communication between osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and bone marrowderived MSCs (Liu et al. 2017). In this section, the role of MSCs secreted factors and EVs in bone, cartilage, and tendon regeneration would be discussed in detail.

MSCs Secretome for Bone Regeneration

Recent research is mainly focused on using MSCs secretome to treat bone-related pathologies encompassing from bone fractures to age-related changes, such as bone mass loss in osteoporosis, tissue degeneration of the osteonecrosis, etc. Systematic reviews have revealed that in almost all bone regeneration studies performed in various small animal models, treatment with MSCs-derived EVs has produced measurable benefits compared to controls. An outline of the different approaches tested in various animal models is shown in Fig. 2. Overall the therapeutic effects of EVs include a higher bone density, increased bone remodeling in osteoporotic models, less presence of necrotic tissue in osteonecrosis models with an increase in bone density, showing an increased number of proliferative cells and osteocytes, and finally, in rat fractures models, an enhanced formation of the callus (Tan et al. 2020).



Non-union bone defect after a long bone fracture is one of the main challenges in the orthopedic medical field due to the difficulties in achieving successful treatment. Current therapies are based on grafts and other bone substitutes; however, these are less effective for reconstructing bone defects that exceed a critical size (Roddy et al. 2018). These disadvantages underscore the need for searching novel therapeutic approaches that would allow the regeneration of these defects. The importance of MSCs-derived exosomes in critical-sized fracture repair was first assayed in CD9-/-mice, characterized by impaired fracture healing (Furuta et al. 2016).

In this experimental model, treatment with MSCs-derived exosomes rescued the fracture healing retardation observed in the control animals. The authors suggested that the reduced amount of MSCs-derived exosomes released in the CD9-/- mice were related to the healing deficiency.

Osteogenesis and angiogenesis are two highly related and intricate processes. The damage to local blood vessels during bone injury would impair bone regeneration. Therefore, the restoration of appropriate regional flow through neovascularization would ensure osteoinductive factors' access to the injured tissue, bone repair, and bone regeneration (Saran et al. 2014). Studies performed in an experimental rat model of femoral non-union clearly showed that MSCs-derived exosomes enhance osteogenesis and angiogenesis (Zhang et al. 2020a). Similar beneficial effects were observed in osteoporotic animals, indicating that MSCs-derived exosomes can also restore osteoporotic bone (Qi et al. 2016). Since osteogenic capacity is significantly reduced in osteoporotic MSCs, these effects could reflect an enhanced osteogenic

capacity of endogenous MSCs after exosomal treatment (Del Real et al. 2017). Mechanistically, MCP-1/-3 and IL-3/IL-6 in the conditioned medium have been shown to recruit bone marrow MSCs, mature endothelial cells, and progenitor cells to participate in angiogenesis and induce osteogenic differentiation (Ando et al. 2014).

As previously described, MSCs-derived exosomes can also benefit the age-associated systemic bone loss typical of osteoporosis (Zhao et al. 2018). However, the number of studies on this subject is scarce. MSCs-derived exosomes affect osteoblasts' activity through a SATB2 (special AT-rich sequence- binding protein 2) mediated mechanism (Yang et al. 2019). MALAT1, a lncRNA present in MSCs-derived exosomes, seems to act as a sponge for miR34c, inhibiting SATB2, a protein that is responsible for osteoblast activity (Yu et al. 2019). A common feature of all the studies involving treatment with MSCs secretome is the critical participation of miRNAs in mediating various pathological processes and regeneration of the bone tissue (Chen et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2020).

The combination of MSCs-derived conditioned medium, or EVs with different bioscaffolds, is an approach that has achieved optimal results in vitro and in vivo (Diomede et al. 2018a, b). The combination of exosomes derived from iPS-MSCs with tricalcium phosphate scaffolds has been shown to enhance bone regeneration by activating the PI3k/Akt signaling pathway (Zhang et al. 2016).

Leaving aside all the aspects that require in-depth studies, MSCs-derived exosomes have already been tested in humans in combination with specific scaffolds. For example, a case-control study used exosomes for alveolar bone regeneration, describing a denser bone formation, lower inflammation, and no abnormal delayed healing (Katagiri et al. 2016). A preclinical trial in humans has also been performed with promising results (Katagiri et al. 2017). Although much work needs to be done in this field, these data constitute the lead of future studies.

MSCs Secretome in the Treatment of Cartilage Defects and Cartilage Degeneration

Articular cartilage defects in weight-bearing joints represent one of the major pathologies of the musculoskeletal system. The etiology of these defects is multi-factorial, but the most prevalent pathologies related to articular cartilage are primary osteoarthritis (OA) and posttraumatic cartilage degeneration. OA is a degenerative disease characterized by the destruction of articular cartilage and synovial inflammation (Musumeci et al. 2015){Musumeci, 2015 #773}. Regardless of the etiology, the deficient intrinsic cartilage self-repairing ability is the main issue when dealing with cartilage damaging diseases (D'Arrigo et al. 2019). Classical contemporary treatment for OA is only symptomatic and is aimed to alleviate pain and inflammation without successfully containing the vicious process of cartilage degeneration. When these treatments are no longer effective, joint replacement is the only possible way of action. To avoid surgery that could lead to long-term complications, more treatment options are currently being studied. Current surgical interventions include microfractures, mosaicplasty, perforations and abrasions, or the transplantation of autologous chondrocytes (ACI and MACI techniques) that fail to prevent the

progression of the disease over the long term or to provide long-lasting symptomatic relief (Lee and Wang 2017). Importantly, OA incidence is rapidly increasing due to the global aging of the population and the obesity epidemic, urging new efficient therapies to promote cartilage regeneration.

The intra-articular injection of BM-MSCs or adipose tissue-derived MSCs (A-MSCs) directly into the affected joint has significant anti-inflammatory and anti-catabolic effects besides pain relief and improved functional scores (Yokota et al. 2019). These beneficial effects have been attributed to the MSCs' paracrine capacity (Mancuso et al. 2019). It has been estimated that paracrine activity is responsible for at least 80% of the MSCs favorable effects on cartilage regeneration (Muhammad et al. 2019). However, this approach shares the limitations of other MSCs-based therapies. Besides, cell-based therapies for the treatment of OA are subjected to the same problems already mentioned in the introduction of this work.

Most of the current studies related to the role of the secretome in OA treatment focus on the insoluble fraction of this secretome, particularly in the exosomes. To date, MSCs-derived exosomes attenuate cartilage degeneration in different experimental animal models of OA (Ni et al. 2020). Furthermore, compared with MSCs transplantation, exosomes-based treatments exhibit higher stability and flexibility and a wide range of immunomodulatory activity.

MSCs-derived exosomes have demonstrated their ability to promote regeneration and repair of both cartilage and subchondral bone (Asghar et al. 2020). Exosomes can also prevent osteoarthritic chondrocytes from undergoing apoptosis via fusion with chondrocyte mitochondria, a process that alleviates the mitochondrial dysfunction generally associated with degenerative chondrocytes (Oi et al. 2019). Some of the exosomal cargo moieties with a pivotal role in cartilage regeneration have already been identified. Mao et al. (Mao et al. 2017) found that miR-92a-3p overexpressing BM-MSCs-derived exosomes were able to promote chondrogenesis, prevent cartilage matrix degradation, and delay OA progression in an experimental model of OA. As previously discussed, MSCs-derived EVs are responsible for a wide range of immunoregulatory activities during the cartilage regeneration process. The initial stages of OA are linked to an increase in the synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL β or TNF α , which stimulates the expression of multiple cytokines and Ptgs2, one of the most potent pro-inflammatory genes (Sandell et al. 2008). A reduction in Ptsg2 expression in OA can be achieved by treatment with MSCs-derived exosomes overexpressing micro-RNA-26a-5p. This leads to an overall reduction in the pro-inflammatory factors (Jin et al. 2020).

MSCs have been modified by drug preconditioning or gene modification to produce exosomes with a specific payload that could improve cartilage repair. Preconditioning of BM-MSCs with TGF β 3 increases the expression of anabolic markers and decreased levels of catabolic marker genes in OA chondrocytes (Cosenza et al. 2017) and enhances the biomechanical characteristics of engineered cartilage (Byers et al. 2008). On the other hand, preconditioning of BM-MSCs with small-molecule Kartogening produced exosomes that promoted the formation of a more robust chondral matrix through the regulation of the metabolic activity of chondrocytes (Liu et al. 2020a){Liu, 2020 #787}.

Besides BM-MSCs, MSCs from other tissue sources have also been studied for their therapeutic potential in OA. Synovial MSCs (S-MSCs) showed chondrogenic differentiation and cartilage promotion and attenuated OA in experimental animal studies (Enomoto et al. 2020; Kondo et al. 2019). Exosomes derived from A-MSCs decreased inflammation, promoted cartilage regeneration, enhanced the proliferation and migration of human OA chondrocytes, and successfully maintained the chondrocyte matrix (Damia et al. 2018; Tofino-Vian et al. 2018). MiR-100-5p, found in A-MSCs derived exosomes, decreased the severity of cartilage lesions and improved gait in the experimental mice model (Wu et al. 2019). On the other hand, human A-MSCs-derived exosomes had down-regulated pro-inflammatory genes, enhancing proliferation and chondrogenic potential of periosteal cells via upregulation of miR145 and miR221 (Zhao et al. 2020).

Put together, these data reinforce the essential role of exosomes to prevent and treat OA in the future. However, more preclinical experimental studies are needed, especially to know their role in long-term OA evolution. To our knowl-edge, there is no clinical study evaluating exosomes' role in the treatment of human OA patients.

MSCs Secretome in the Treatment of Tendon Injuries

Tendon injuries, both chronic and acute, are prevalent debilitating diseases. Tendon has a limited inherent self-healing capacity. Either conservative or surgical treatment results in a far from satisfactory prognosis. The situation is further aggravated due to a high prevalence of early re-rupture and tissue scarring tissues in the lesion field (Lui 2020). Cell-based therapy of injured tendons using MSCs promotes tendon repair (Hevesi et al. 2019), although these therapeutic effects are mainly executed by paracrine factors (Connor et al. 2019).

Transplantation of rat BM-MSCs derived exosomes, seeded on fibrin glue, into a patellar tendon wound resulted in superior tendon healing (Shi et al. 2019). At the microscopical level, the treated tendons showed better-aligned collagen fibers and better biomechanical results (Yu et al. 2020). Interestingly, this improvement was dose-dependent, with tendons treated with a high dose of exosomes achieving better histological tendon-fiber alignment and vascularity (Gissi et al. 2020). Besides fibrin glue, other carriers have been used in these studies. For example, EVs derived from A-MSCs loaded onto a collagen sheet showed decreased postoperative gap formation and re-rupture on a rat Achilles tendon model (Shen et al. 2020). In addition, collagen formation at the injury site was also facilitated and early inflammatory response after the lesion was abrogated.

The aforementioned studies are based on the direct action of MSCs-derived exosomes on tendon healing; however, indirect applications of these MSC-derived EVs have also been tested. Macrophages pre-treated with MSCs-derived exosomes promoted tendon healing, a reduction in inflammation, and an improvement in the biomechanical properties when applied to an experimental murine Achilles tendon model (Chamberlain et al. 2019).

Although there are registered clinical trials for therapeutic assessment of EVs, to our knowledge none of these trials is on tendon healing. Most of the research done in this area corresponds to preclinical experimental studies mainly focused on acute lesions. Future studies are therefore warranted for their therapeutic assessment in the long-term and chronic settings. Since the therapeutic benefits are dose-dependent, it is important to improve our knowledge on the exosome concentration in doseescalation studies to determine optimal exosomal dose. On the same note, the timing of injection after injury and the frequency of exosomal treatment need to be optimally defined.

Modulating Secretome Therapeutic Properties

One advantage of MSCs' secretome for therapeutic application is that the composition of the secretome as well as that of exosomal cargo can be modulated to fit the specific treatment requirements of the damaged tissue. Consequently, various approaches have been developed to tailor MSCs-derived secretome and its exosomal payload for specific clinical applications. The following section focuses on the conditions and methods designed to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs secretome for bone, cartilage, and tendon regeneration therapies (Chang et al. 2021). A summary of these methods is shown in Fig. 3.

Hypoxia Induction

While standard cell culture is carried out in normoxia (21% O_2), oxygen tensions ranging from 0% to 10% are often used to mimic the conditions found in MSCs niches for cell expansion in vitro. Therefore, it has been generally considered that MSCs cultured under hypoxic conditions simulating the in vivo MSCs niche microenvironment would help the cells sustain their biological characteristics and full therapeutic potential (Ferreira et al. 2018). Indeed, hypoxic preconditioning seems to potentiate MSCs' regenerative and cytoprotective effects and bioactive factors secretion in general (Ferreira et al. 2018). MSCs' secretome produced under hypoxic conditions is rich in proangiogenic factors, such as VEGF, TGF- β 1, angiogenin (Agn), or granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Quade et al. 2020).

Moreover, other important therapeutic properties such as more vigorous immunomodulatory activity (Costa et al. 2021), enhanced chemotactic attraction to the chemical cues, that is, SDF-1 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) (Quade et al. 2020), superior anti-apoptotic, anti-oxidative stress, and anti-fibrotic functions, have also been attributed to MSCs secretome generated under low-oxygen culture conditions (Collino et al. 2019; Miceli et al. 2021). In fact, hypoxia is the most commonly used priming method for enhancing the production of a secretome with greater regenerative potential. However, there are still some issues to overcome before these parameters can be standardized.



Fig. 3 The commonly used MSCs' secretome modulation methods to enhance their therapeutic properties. Hypoxia, inflammatory factor priming, induction of bioactive factors, spheroid culture, cell-substrate interaction, and genetic edition are the most well-studied stimuli that have been reported to treat different pathologies using primed secretome. (Created with **BioRender**.com)

For instance, a wide range of O_2 concentrations has been used to precondition the cells. Also, secretome composition is substantially modified depending on the duration of the cells exposure to hypoxia (Quade et al. 2020). Efforts are underway to establish an optimal hypoxic priming protocol that maximizes the therapeutic characteristics of MSCs' secretome (Costa et al. 2021).

Inflammatory Priming

Activation of MSCs to repair damaged tissue is triggered by inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IFN- γ , and TNF- α (Miceli et al. 2021). Pro-inflammatory stimulus in the culture medium is one of the many available methods to modulate MSCs' secretome that has received more attention. The three cytokines mentioned above, together with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), are the main effectors used in vitro for simulating the inflammatory microenvironment that elicits the secretion of immunomodulatory factors by MSCs.

This priming protocol produces results that encompass, complement system inhibition, inhibition of NK cells, the guidance of monocyte differentiation to M2 anti-inflammatory phenotype, suppression of cytotoxic T cell proliferation, inhibition of dendritic cell maturation, and an increase in regulatory T cells (Treg). Increased prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2), and TGF- β are responsible for these effects (Costa et al. 2021; Ferreira et al. 2018). IL-6, the primary inducer of inflammation, is also overexpressed in inflammatory factor-primed MSCs' secretome, but its concentration decreases over time after priming (Bundgaard et al. 2020). Although this seems to be contradictory, a correct regeneration process initially requires an acute inflammatory phase to trigger the influx of immune cells and homing of MSCs to the injury site that would later participate in the repair process (Bogatcheva and Coleman 2019). Preconditioned MSCs' secretome facilitates this process as it maintains primary inflammation long enough to trigger subsequent angiogenesis, and then exerts anti-inflammatory effects. Subsequently, a complex remodeling process sets, which is marked by an increase in matrix metalloproteinase 1 and 3 (MMP1 and MMP3), metalloproteinase inhibitor 1 precursor (TIMP1), and plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) (Maffioli et al. 2017; Bundgaard et al. 2020).

Inflammatory factor-primed MSCs' secretome also performs an essential pro-trophic action. For example, it has been reported that INF- γ -preconditioned MSCs' secretome promoted tendon healing and chondroprotection (Shen et al. 2020; Maumus et al. 2016; Ragni et al. 2020) while TNF- α priming exerts bone regenerative function (Lu et al. 2017).

Although these inflammatory stimuli are similar, many studies have shown diverse effects of MSCs' priming with pro-inflammatory cytokines as IFN γ , TNF- α , or IL-1 β (Ragni et al. 2020). Therefore, further refinement of the protocols in terms of the concentration of cytokines, time of induction, cytokine combination, etc., is required to obtain the optimal MSCs' secretome composition for optimal prognosis.

Addition of Bioactive Factors

MSCs can also be primed by adding soluble bioactive molecules to the culture media during cell culture and expansion. For example, given the benefits of hypoxia priming, treatment of the cells with dimethyloxaloylglycine (DMOG), a small molecule that stabilizes HIF-1 α , or deferoxamine (DFO), an iron-chelating agent, may simulate hypoxic culture conditions without exposure to hypoxia. Both hypoxia mimicking agents increase angiogenic growth factor expression in MSCs. In particular, DMOG preconditioning has been shown to significantly induce bone regeneration (Chang et al. 2021). On the same note, Vadadustat, a pharmacological hypoxia inducer, has been used to precondition MSCs. Preconditioning MSCs with Vadadustat has led to an augmented anti-inflammatory effect with a concomitant increase in angiogenic growth factors expression and secretion (Zielniok et al. 2020).

Besides hypoxia mimicking agents, FGF2, resveratrol, omentin-1, or thrombin have been studied to prime MSCs, leading to an enhanced angiogenic potential of the cells (Liu et al. 2020b; Sung et al. 2019). Moreover, priming with thrombin contributes to increased EV production and alleviates inflammation. Furthermore, it

was revealed that anti-inflammatory MSCs secretome could be obtained by priming the cells with valproic acid, melatonin, PGE2, substance P, or tetrandrine. Interestingly, tetrandrine was selected and validated from a group of 1402 FDA-approved drugs using a high throughput screening protocol and showed potent immunosuppressive effects (Cabezas et al. 2020; Chang et al. 2021; Heo et al. 2020).

Besides, it was stated that secretome from MSCs primed with TGF β 3, hyaluronic acid, or curcumin showed chondroprotection and improved osteoarthritis (Ruiz et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2021). Similarly, Kim et al. reported that pioglitazone-primed MSCs' secretome induced cell proliferation and secretion of soluble collagen in tenocytes, leading to tendon regeneration. Interestingly, increased VEGF contents in pioglitazone-primed MSCs' secretome had a role in tendon remodeling despite poor vascularity (Kim et al. 2019).

Modulation of Cell-Cell Interactions

Although two-dimensional (2D) culture is a standard technique for culturing MSCs in vitro; this setting is artificial compared to physiological conditions. Furthermore, 2D culture provokes loss of crucial receptors, increases the expression of pro-inflammatory chemokines, and is highly deficient in cell-cell interactions, thus causing reduced MSCs stemness (Costa et al. 2021; Chang et al. 2021).

On the contrary, the formation of 3D structures, known as MSCs spheroids, provokes changes in cell morphology, cytoskeletal organization, intracellular signaling pathways, and gene expression (Ferreira et al. 2018). In addition, this type of culture aids cell-to-cell and cell-to-ECM interactions. It also contributes to a microenvironment that simulates the natural habitat of the cells in their niches, wherein the inner layer cells are exposed to low hypoxia and nutrients (Chang et al. 2021). These subtle but influential adjustments are directly responsible for enriching immunomodulatory, angiogenic, and prosurvival factors in 3D spheroid-cultured MSCs' secretome (Chang et al. 2021). Moreover, the secretome would be rich and in exosomal contents (Kim et al. 2018a). On the one hand, due to hypoxia, MSCs located in the spheroid core overexpress angiogenic factors through a HIF-1a and HIF-2 α -mediated mechanism. On the other hand, spheroid conformation reduces mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP production, indicating apoptotic processes in MSCs, which lead to IL-1 release. Then, self-induction by autocrine effects of IL-1 enhanced the anti-inflammatory profile of MSCs' secretome, which closely relates to cell survival and anti-fibrotic factors (Cesarz and Tamama 2016).

As of today, a few studies corroborate the beneficial effects of the secretome derived from spheroids cultured MSCs (Santos et al. 2015; Miranda et al. 2019). Apart from these scarce published reports, the alleged beneficial effects of their secretome are generally based on the presence of special components rather than any direct evidence. Importantly, spheroid-priming due to 3D culturing seems to have a synergistic role when combined with other forms of priming, that is, inflammatory stimuli (Redondo-Castro et al. 2018), MSCs' encapsulation, or the use of micro-carriers (Saldana et al. 2019; Tsai et al. 2020).

There are currently several technical details, such as spheroid induction protocols, optimal cell size, cell density, etc., that need to be defined to standardize the production for the maximal therapeutic potential of their secretome (Costa et al. 2021).

Tuning Cell-Substrate Interaction (ECM and Scaffolds)

Another protocol of 3D priming is based on using scaffolds that support, or rather enhance, cell-substrate interaction. Since extracellular signals are crucial for cell adhesion, organization, migration, and growth, this approach of substrate-culture preconditioning can play an essential role in MSCs secretome composition.

Thomas et al. studied the changes in MSCs secretome when those cells were cultivated in collagen microgel and demonstrated that proper cell density, collagen-crosslinker ratio, and collagen concentration could substantially increase proangiogenic and immunomodulatory cytokine concentration in MSCs secretome (Thomas et al. 2014). Furthermore, due to the mechanosensitive nature of MSCs, the increased stiffness of polyacrylamide hydrogels functionalized with fibronectin gets translated into higher cell spreading and a more robust cytoskeleton. These molecular and cell structural changes result in proangiogenic growth factor-rich MSCs secretome with significantly higher tubulogenic potential in vitro (Abdeen et al. 2014). On the same note, exposure of MSCs to direct mechanical load significantly alters their secretome profile favoring chondrogenic and angiogenic induction (Gardner et al. 2016; Kasper et al. 2007). The topography of the material supporting MSCs growth also significantly affect the secretome composition. Leuning et al. produced 76 different algorithm-generated well-plate surfaces and displayed that each one provoked a unique cytokine secretion profile (Leuning et al. 2018). On the same note, substrate porosity is relevant to cell culture characteristics and hence, has a significant bearing on their secretome profile. MSCs grown on macroporous scaffold show a substantial enrichment in cytokines related to tissue regeneration in comparison to nanoporous hydrogel substrate, even though both exhibit same stiffness. These changes in secretome profile have been attributed to the increase of N-cadherin mediated cell-cell interactions in the macroporous scaffold, which correlates well with the aforementioned spheroid culture impact on MSCs' paracrine secretions (Qazi et al. 2017). Apart from this, it is imperative to highlight the use of decellularized ECMs as a scaffold to show positive effects on the proangiogenic profile of MSCs' secretome (Sears and Ghosh 2020).

Therefore, different substrate properties can be combined to enrich MSCs' secretome profile toward a certain cluster of factors of interest. Likewise, a combination of cell-substrate tuning with other types of preconditioning, such as inflammatory priming, was reported to result in a synergistic effect (Wong et al. 2020). Deconstructing the physical and biochemical cues implied in cell-substrate primed MSCs' secretome will help to design optimal platforms for induction of a desired therapeutic effect (Abdeen et al. 2014).
Genetic Editing

A genetic edition is a solid tool that has been used to genetically modulate MSCs' ability for long-term transgene expression and to modify their paracrine behavior (Haider et al. 2008). However, in the majority of cases, the application of geneediting was aimed at improving cellular characteristics such as survival, proliferation, or differentiation capacity and with the aim of using MSCs as vehicles for the delivery of certain molecules (Jiang et al. 2006; Ren et al. 2008; Fierro et al. 2011; Costa et al. 2021).

From the standpoint of cell-free strategies, some studies revealed that RUNX2 and BMP2 overexpression in MSCs lead to MSC-EVs with higher osteogenic commitment (Martins et al. 2016; Huang et al. 2020). Similarly, simulating hypoxia conditions through HIF-1 α overexpression in MSCs, led to the production of angiogenic exosomes with enhanced pro-osteogenic and pro-angiogenic activities (Li et al. 2017). The genetic modification approach has also been used to reprogram MSCs to pluripotency for use as induced pluripotent stem cells (Buccini et al. 2012).

Although genetic modification has been associated with tumorigenic risk, the use of cell-free therapies allows to open a new set of possibilities since modified cells are not directly applied to patients. In any case, more research is needed to characterize genetically-modified MSCs' secretome. This is a crucial step before this strategy could be applied in clinical trials.

Disease-Like Priming

In vitro mimicking MSCs' specific natural niche microenvironment in certain pathologies may produce a tailor-made secretome that could be extremely useful in the treatment of these pathologies. An example of this priming method is outlined in Fig. 4. Recent studies have attempted to demonstrate this hypothesis. Cifù et al. have shown that MSCs exposed to osteoarthritic synovial fluid increased the release of immunosuppressive factors (Cifu et al. 2020). Moreover, a test applying healthy, traumatic, and degenerative human intervertebral disc cells (IVDs)-derived conditioned medium to MSCs showed that the profile of the produced secretome was highly dependent on the IVDs cells' status. Moreover, the protein composition enhanced homeostasis maintenance in the case of healthy IVDs and damage repair in the case of traumatic and degenerative IVDs. Even differences between the traumatic and degenerative priming were also observed (Wangler et al. 2021). Importantly, MSCs primed with serum of the patients that have suffered polytraumatism showed a secretory profile that could not be simulated by induction with a selected cocktail of trauma-relevant factors (Amann et al. 2019). These data showed that the serum of the patients might have other factors that would activate a slightly different set of genes.

Although disease-like priming seems to be highly promising, it remains to be seen whether this approach may be applied to any type of disease. A way forward could be



DISEASE-LIKE PRIMMING

Fig. 4 Osteoarthritic-like priming based on the work by Cifu et al. (2020). OA-primed MSC secretome demonstrated the capacity to acquire functions that support the resolution of osteoarthritic pathology. (Created with **BioRender**.com)

the emergence of artificial tissue-engineered organs to model diseases in vitro. Once the standardization issues applicable to all the secretome-based techniques are solved, secretome preparations tailored to specific clinical applications may be developed. According to the current tendency for medical treatments, this strategy will also presumably progress toward the so-called personalized medicine.

Future Perspectives

MSCs have a significant and recognized role in tissue regeneration. Hundreds of patients have been treated in controlled clinical settings with promising results. However, translation to the clinic is still experiencing many obstacles. According to the regulatory agencies, convincing evidence of safety, especially MSCs from sources other than bone marrow, is lacking (Marks et al. 2017; Mendicino et al. 2014). Also, many clinical protocols were based on the idea that MSCs will always meet damaged tissue needs in what can be called the "MSCs knowing what to do" way (Pittenger et al. 2019). The published clinical data analysis has shown that around 50% of patients do not respond to treatment (Caplan 2018). It remains to be ascertained whether this high number of non-responders is due to differences in cell donors, cell preparation protocols, the disease stage at which the treatment is applied,

or even the patients' genetics. To make MSCs' cultures suitable for clinical use, an in-depth research is needed to identify and define all these variables.

During the last decade, the role of the paracrine activity of MSCs in tissue regeneration has been highlighted to explain the therapeutic benefits of cell therapy. A head-to-head proteomic profile of MSCs' secretome with various other cells has shown that BM-MSCs produced larger amounts of secretome proteins (Billing et al. 2016). This is consistent with the greater importance of the secretome in MSCs biology and makes MSCs the cells of choice for clinical applications.

MSCs' secretome has some practical advantages over MSCs themselves. First are the logistic advantages that allow ease of storage, handling, and off-the-shelf availability. Second, its administration does not require cell-culture-trained personnel.

Third, regarding safety, as it does not have a cellular component, secretome is less immunogenic, and the risk of malignancy is reduced. As with cell cultures, a great effort is needed to standardize secretome contents, and the RNA Communication Consortium (ERCC1) (Das et al. 2019) and the ISEV (Thery et al. 2018b) have released guidelines to assist researchers accordingly.

Clinical application of the secretome also presents many of the difficulties that affect cell-based applications. The lack of standardization of MSCs cultures is a significant problem in translating it to the clinic, while the origin of MSCs is an essential determinant of variability. A comprehensive study using both RNAseq and quantitative proteomics comparing commercial BM-MSCs and Embryonic stem cell-derived MSCs (ESC-MSCs) has reported 2500 differentially expressed RNAs and, depending on the stringency, 40–200 differentially expressed proteins in the two cell types. Most interestingly, MSCs from young donors have a profile closer to ESC-MSCS, which indicates that MSCs gene expression changes with age (Billing et al. 2016). Furthermore, depending on their origin, MSCs secrete different profiles of paracrine factors (Hsiao et al. 2012), which correlates well with various therapeutic capacities. As an example, A-MSCs have less osteogenic potential than BM-MSCs (Niemeyer et al. 2010), but in contrast, A-MSCs produce better results than BM-MSCs for ischemic stroke therapy (Ikegame et al. 2011). Likewise, the proteomic profile of MSCs' secretome isolated from three tissue sources identified a total of 1533 proteins, of which only 124 were shared between the three tissue samples (Tachida et al. 2015). These data were confirmed in subsequent studies comparing MSCs' secretomes from different tissues (Shin et al. 2021), and they possessed different therapeutic abilities (Daneshmandi et al. 2020).

When it comes to the secretome, standardization is hampered by the limited expansion capacity of the primary cultures and the need to constantly replenish cell sources. Immortalization of cells could be a valid alternative to achieve an unlimited supply of cells with similar characteristics. It has been reported that MYC-transformed MSCs yield exosomes in the milligram range. While the cells' adipocytic differentiation was affected, the exosomes maintain the ability to reduce relative infarct size in a mouse model of myocardial ischemia /reperfusion (Chen et al. 2011). *Another immortal line*, constructed by hTERT overexpression, maintained most primary cells' characteristics, including immunosuppression (Wolbank et al. 2009). Compared to the possible specialization resulting from

adapting the cells' origin to each of the different pathologies mentioned above, using a single cell line may be counterproductive. Nevertheless, the fact that culture conditions determine the secretome's properties could compensate for this disadvantage.

Changes in culture conditions may be used to adapt secretomes to particular therapeutic needs. For example, hypoxic culturing protocols maintain MSCs' multipotency and cell proliferation (Hawkins et al. 2013). The secretome of TNF- α -activated MSCs showed improved wound healing properties, while 3D culture MSCs in spheroids had better pro-angiogenic potential (Xu et al. 2016). Many other changes in culture conditions, including hydrogels (Qazi et al. 2017), cytokines, hormones, growth factors, and drugs like atorvastatin, are being used to introduce changes in the cells' secretome profile (Ferreira et al. 2018). The specific products and the precise mechanisms by which the microenvironment modulates the secretome profile are undefined. Still, the path is now open to understanding the conditions via in-depth research (Kusuma et al. 2017).

EVs-related research is receiving the most interest from researchers. Not only because of their biological properties but also due to their inherent cargo of bioactive molecules, including RNAs and proteins, which they deliver to the recipient cells. They provide a basis to build nano-sized vehicles for the delivery of pharmaceutically relevant substances. Historically speaking, tumor cells are the primary source of EVs for pharmaceutical applications. Still, MSCs produce a large amount of secretome (Billing et al. 2016), and coupled with potentially lower tumorigenicity, make MSCs a safer source of EVs for drug development (Villa et al. 2019). Unmodified EVs reach high blood concentrations soon after administration, but their clearance rate is very high (Wiklander et al. 2015). In vitro modification of the particles by conjugates of glycerol-phospholipid-polyethene glycol prevents their elimination by the endothelial reticulum system. This procedure, known as cloaking, also allows specific ligands to be attached to the particle to provide tissue specificity. The cloning and transfection of DNA encoding hybrid proteins that alter the membrane's outer properties, called surface display, is an alternative that is also receiving much attention (Antes et al. 2018).

Cell culture in the presence of drugs is a simple method to produce anti-tumorenriched EVs (Goh et al. 2017), but the disadvantage is that the drug itself can lead to toxicity in the cultures. On the other hand, the genetic modification of cells in culture is more efficient using plasmids encoding for miRNA precursors or directly with miRNA mimics. The resultant EVs, mostly exosomes, are enriched in specific miRNAs (Kim et al. 2018b).

EVs can also be modified for site-directed delivery to the target tissue. This is usually achieved by adding either small peptides or antibodies which recognize receptors present on the target cell (Murphy et al. 2019). Because of the ease with which they are incorporated into particles, aptamers, and small nucleic acid molecules functionally similar to antibodies are becoming a valuable alternative for tissue-specific delivery of EVs (Zou et al. 2019).

In conclusion, the secretome, a highly complex mixture of proteins, lipids, RNAs, and EVs, mimic the therapeutic properties of MSCs cultures. The secretome

presents several practical advantages that could make it a valid alternative to some MSCs culture applications. It has sometimes been possible to attribute the benefits of the secretome to specific proteins or RNAs. Furthermore, the application of constituent molecules of the secretome in isolation is also possible. However, in most preclinical studies, the molecules responsible are unknown and the effects observed and reported are the outcome of several constituent molecules present in the secretome. Much more information is still needed to enable us to transfer the knowledge to the clinic with confidence. However, combined with a more profound understanding of the ideal culture conditions, the availability of immortalized cell lines would help to develop homogenous product batches suitable for treating specific pathologies. Finally, it is pertinent to mention that EVs, with minor modifications, are ideal vehicles for targeted drug delivery. The knowledge of MSCs biology combined with various biomaterials and pharmaceutical technology offers endless possibilities for developing innovative and smart therapies based on MSCs' secretomes.

References

- Abdeen AA, Weiss JB, Lee J et al (2014) Matrix composition and mechanics direct proangiogenic signaling from mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 20:2737–2745
- Abels ER, Breakefield XO (2016) Introduction to extracellular vesicles: biogenesis, RNA cargo selection, content, release, and uptake. Cell Mol Neurobiol 36:301–312
- Afzal MR, Haider KH, Idris NM, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Jiang S, Afzal MR, Ashraf M (2010) Sonic hedgehog gene delivery to the rodent heart promotes angiogenesis via iNOS/Netrin-1/PKC pathway. PLoS One 5(1):e8576
- Al-Azzawi B, Mcguigan DH, Koivula FNM et al (2020) The Secretome of mesenchymal stem cells prevents Islet Beta Cell apoptosis via an IL-10-dependent mechanism. Open Stem Cell J 6:1–12
- Amann EM, Gross A, Rojewski MT et al (2019) Inflammatory response of mesenchymal stromal cells after in vivo exposure with selected trauma-related factors and polytrauma serum. PLoS One 14:e0216862
- Ando Y, Matsubara K, Ishikawa J et al (2014) Stem cell-conditioned medium accelerates distraction osteogenesis through multiple regenerative mechanisms. Bone 61:82–90
- Andreeva E, Bobyleva P, Gornostaeva A et al (2017) Interaction of multipotent mesenchymal stromal and immune cells: bidirectional effects. Cytotherapy 19:1152–1166
- Antes TJ, Middleton RC, Luther KM et al (2018) Targeting extracellular vesicles to injured tissue using membrane cloaking and surface display. J Nanobiotechnol 16:61
- Aramini B, Masciale V, Haider KH (2020) Defining lung cancer stem cells exosomal payload of miRNAs in clinical perspective. World J Stem Cells 12(6):406–421. https://doi.org/10.4252/ wjsc.v12.i6.406
- Aranha AM, Zhang Z, Neiva KG et al (2010) Hypoxia enhances the angiogenic potential of human dental pulp cells. J Endod 36:1633–1637
- Asgarpour K, Shojaei Z, Amiri F et al (2020) Exosomal microRNAs derived from mesenchymal stem cells: cell-to-cell messages. Cell Commun Signal 18:149
- Asghar S, Litherland GJ, Lockhart JC et al (2020) Exosomes in intercellular communication and implications for osteoarthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 59:57–68
- Baberg F, Geyh S, Waldera-Lupa D et al (2019) Secretome analysis of human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stromal cells. Biochim Biophys Acta, Proteins Proteomics 1867:434–441

- Bertolo A, Mehr M, Janner-Jametti T et al (2016) An in vitro expansion score for tissue-engineering applications with human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10:149–161
- Bianco P, Robey PG, Simmons PJ (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. Cell Stem Cell 2:313–319
- Bicalho B, Holovati JL, Acker JP (2013) Phospholipidomics reveals differences in glycerophosphoserine profiles of hypothermically stored red blood cells and microvesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta 1828:317–326
- Billing AM, Ben Hamidane H, Dib SS et al (2016) Comprehensive transcriptomic and proteomic characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells reveals source specific cellular markers. Sci Rep 6:21507–21507
- Bland CL, Byrne-Hoffman CN, Fernandez A et al (2018) Exosomes derived from B16F0 melanoma cells alter the transcriptome of cytotoxic T cells that impacts mitochondrial respiration. FEBS J 285:1033–1050
- Bogatcheva NV, Coleman ME (2019) Conditioned medium of mesenchymal stromal cells: a new class of therapeutics. Biochemistry (Mosc) 84:1375–1389
- Bolukbasi MF, Mizrak A, Ozdener GB et al (2012) miR-1289 and "Zipcode"-like sequence enrich mRNAs in microvesicles. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 1:e10
- Böttcher M, Hofmann AD, Bruns H et al (2016) Mesenchymal stromal cells disrupt mTORsignaling and aerobic glycolysis during T-cell activation. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 34: 516–521
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301
- Bundgaard L, Stensballe A, Elbaek KJ et al (2020) Mass spectrometric analysis of the in vitro secretome from equine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells to assess the effect of chondrogenic differentiation on response to interleukin-1beta treatment. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:187
- Byers BA, Mauck RL, Chiang IE et al (2008) Transient exposure to transforming growth factor beta 3 under serum-free conditions enhances the biomechanical and biochemical maturation of tissue-engineered cartilage. Tissue Eng Part A 14:1821–1834
- Cabezas J, Rojas D, Wong Y et al (2020) In vitro preconditioning of equine adipose mesenchymal stem cells with prostaglandin E2, substance P and their combination changes the cellular protein secretomics and improves their immunomodulatory competence without compromising stemness. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 228:110100
- Caplan AI (2018) Cell-based therapies: the nonresponder. Stem Cells Transl Med 7:762-766
- Cesarz Z, Tamama K (2016) Spheroid culture of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016:9176357
- Chamberlain CS, Clements AEB, Kink JA et al (2019) Extracellular vesicle-educated macrophages promote early achilles tendon healing. Stem Cells 37:652–662
- Chang C, Yan J, Yao Z, Zhang C, Li X, Mao HQ (2021) Effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived paracrine signals and their delivery strategies. Adv Healthc Mater 10(7):e2001689. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.202001689
- Chen TS, Arslan F, Yin Y et al (2011) Enabling a robust scalable manufacturing process for therapeutic exosomes through oncogenic immortalization of human ESC-derived MSCs. J Transl Med 9:47
- Chen S, Tang Y, Liu Y, Zhang P, Lv L, Zhang X, Jia L, Zhou Y (2019) Exosomes derived from miR-375-overexpressing human adipose mesenchymal stem cells promote bone regeneration. Cell Prolif 52(5):e12669. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12669. Epub 2019 Aug 5
- Cho PS, Messina DJ, Hirsh EL et al (2008) Immunogenicity of umbilical cord tissue derived cells. Blood 111:430–438
- Cifu A, Domenis R, Pozzi-Mucelli M et al (2020) The exposure to osteoarthritic synovial fluid enhances the immunomodulatory profile of adipose mesenchymal stem cell secretome. Stem Cells Int 2020:4058760

- Collino F, Lopes JA, Correa S et al (2019) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells under hypoxia: changes in extracellular vesicles secretion and improvement of renal recovery after ischemic injury. Cell Physiol Biochem 52:1463–1483
- Colombo M, Raposo G, Théry C (2014) Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:255–289
- Connor DE, Paulus JA, Dabestani PJ et al (2019) Therapeutic potential of exosomes in rotator cuff tendon healing. J Bone Miner Metab 37:759–767
- Cosenza S, Ruiz M, Toupet K et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes and microparticles protect cartilage and bone from degradation in osteoarthritis. Sci Rep 7:16214
- Costa LA, Eiro N, Fraile M et al (2021) Functional heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cells from natural niches to culture conditions: implications for further clinical uses. Cell Mol Life Sci 78: 447–467
- Couto PS, Shatirishvili G, Bersenev A et al (2019) First decade of clinical trials and published studies with mesenchymal stromal cells from umbilical cord tissue. Regen Med 14:309–319
- Cselenyák A, Pankotai E, Horváth EM et al (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells rescue cardiomyoblasts from cell death in an in vitro ischemia model via direct cell-to-cell connections. BMC Cell Biol 11:29–29
- D'arrigo D, Roffi A, Cucchiarini M et al (2019) Secretome and extracellular vesicles as new biological therapies for knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review. J Clin Med 8:1867–1882
- Damia E, Chicharro D, Lopez S et al (2018) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: are they a good therapeutic strategy for osteoarthritis? Int J Mol Sci 19:1926–1939
- Daneshmandi L, Shah S, Jafari T et al (2020) Emergence of the stem cell Secretome in regenerative engineering. Trends Biotechnol 38:1373–1384
- Das S, Ansel KM, Bitzer M et al (2019) The extracellular RNA communication consortium: establishing foundational knowledge and technologies for extracellular RNA research. Cell 177:231–242
- De Luca A, Gallo M, Aldinucci D et al (2011) Role of the EGFR ligand/receptor system in the secretion of angiogenic factors in mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Physiol 226:2131–2138
- Del Real A, Pérez-Campo FM, Fernández AF, Sañudo C, Ibarbia CG, Pérez-Núñez MI, Criekinge WV, Braspenning M, Alonso MA, Fraga MF, Riancho JA (2017) Differential analysis of genome-wide methylation and gene expression in mesenchymal stem cells of patients with fractures and osteoarthritis. Epigenetics 12(2):113–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294. 2016.1271854
- Deng Y, Zhang Y, Ye L et al (2016) Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells instruct monocytes towards an IL10-producing phenotype by secreting IL6 and HGF. Sci Rep 6:37566
- Diomede F, Gugliandolo A, Cardelli P et al (2018a) Three-dimensional printed PLA scaffold and human gingival stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: a new tool for bone defect repair. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:104
- Diomede F, Gugliandolo A, Scionti D, Merciaro I, Cavalcanti MF, Mazzon E, Trubiani O (2018) Biotherapeutic Effect of Gingival Stem Cells Conditioned Medium in Bone Tissue Restoration. Int J Mol Sci 19(2):329–346
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317
- Enomoto T, Akagi R, Ogawa Y et al (2020) Timing of intra-articular injection of synovial mesenchymal stem cells affects cartilage restoration in a partial thickness cartilage defect model in rats. Cartilage 11:122–129
- Ferreira JR, Teixeira GQ, Santos SG et al (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cell Secretome: influencing therapeutic potential by cellular pre-conditioning. Front Immunol 9:2837–2837
- Fierro FA, Kalomoiris S, Sondergaard CS et al (2011) Effects on proliferation and differentiation of multipotent bone marrow stromal cells engineered to express growth factors for combined cell and gene therapy. Stem Cells 29:1727–1737
- Furuta T, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote fracture healing in a mouse model. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:1620–1630

- Galleu A, Riffo-Vasquez Y, Trento C et al (2017) Apoptosis in mesenchymal stromal cells induces in vivo recipient-mediated immunomodulation. Sci Transl Med 15(9):416–427
- Gao WX, Sun YQ, Shi J et al (2017) Effects of mesenchymal stem cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells on differentiation, maturation, and function of dendritic cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:48
- Gardner OF, Fahy N, Alini M et al (2016) Differences in human mesenchymal stem cell secretomes during chondrogenic induction. Eur Cell Mater 31:221–235
- Giannasi C, Niada S, Magagnotti C et al (2020) Comparison of two ASC-derived therapeutics in an in vitro OA model: secretome versus extracellular vesicles. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:521–521
- Gissi C, Radeghieri A, Antonetti Lamorgese Passeri C et al (2020) Extracellular vesicles from ratbone-marrow mesenchymal stromal/stem cells improve tendon repair in rat Achilles tendon injury model in dose-dependent manner: a pilot study. PLoS One 15:e0229914
- Goh WJ, Lee CK, Zou S et al (2017) Doxorubicin-loaded cell-derived nanovesicles: an alternative targeted approach for anti-tumor therapy. Int J Nanomedicine 12:2759–2767
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2019) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018). Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Stem cells: from hype to real hope. Kh. Husnain Haider and Salim Aziz (Eds.) Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Geithner Straße13- 10785. Berlin
- Haider KH, Muhammad Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning and stem cell survival. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 3:89–102
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Kim HW, Ashraf M (2009) HIF-1α in stem cell preconditioning: mechanistic role of hypoxia related micro-RNAs. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 138(1):257
- Hao D, He C, Ma B, Lankford L, Reynaga L, Farmer DL, Guo F, Wang A (2019) Hypoxic preconditioning enhances survival and proangiogenic capacity of human first trimester chorionic villus-derived mesenchymal stem cells for fetal tissue engineering. Stem Cells Int 2019: 9695239, 12 pages. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/9695239
- Hathout Y (2007) Approaches to the study of the cell secretome. Expert Rev Proteomics 4:239-248
- Hawkins KE, Sharp TV, Mckay TR (2013) The role of hypoxia in stem cell potency and differentiation. Regen Med 8:771–782
- Hegyi B, Kudlik G, Monostori E et al (2012) Activated T-cells and pro-inflammatory cytokines differentially regulate prostaglandin E2 secretion by mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 419:215–220
- Heo JS, Lim JY, Yoon DW et al (2020) Exosome and melatonin additively attenuates inflammation by transferring miR-34a, miR-124, and miR-135b. Biomed Res Int 2020:1621394
- Hevesi M, Laprade M, Saris DBF et al (2019) Stem cell treatment for ligament repair and reconstruction. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 12:446–450
- Hogan SE, Rodriguez Salazar MP, Cheadle J et al (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes improve mitochondrial health in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 316:L723–L737
- Hsiao ST, Asgari A, Lokmic Z et al (2012) Comparative analysis of paracrine factor expression in human adult mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, adipose, and dermal tissue. Stem Cells Dev 21:2189–2203
- Hsiao ST, Lokmic Z, Peshavariya H, Abberton KM, Dusting GJ, Lim SY, Dilley RJ (2013) Hypoxic conditioning enhances the angiogenic paracrine activity of human adipose-derived stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 22(10):1614–1623. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0602

- Huang CC, Kang M, Lu Y et al (2020) Functionally engineered extracellular vesicles improve bone regeneration. Acta Biomater 109:182–194
- Ikegame Y, Yamashita K, Hayashi S et al (2011) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow for ischemic stroke therapy. Cytotherapy 13:675–685
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Salim A, Ashraf M (2006) Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angio-competent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. Circ Res 99:776–784
- Jiang L, Paone S, Caruso S et al (2017) Determining the contents and cell origins of apoptotic bodies by flow cytometry. Sci Rep 7:14444–14444
- Jin Z, Ren J, Qi S (2020) Human bone mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes overexpressing microRNA-26a-5p alleviate osteoarthritis via down-regulation of PTGS2. Int Immunopharmacol 78:105946
- Kalra H, Simpson RJ, Ji H et al (2012) Vesiclepedia: a compendium for extracellular vesicles with continuous community annotation. PLoS Biol 10:e1001450
- Kasper G, Dankert N, Tuischer J et al (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells regulate angiogenesis according to their mechanical environment. Stem Cells 25:903–910
- Katagiri W, Osugi M, Kawai T et al (2016) First-in-human study and clinical case reports of the alveolar bone regeneration with the secretome from human mesenchymal stem cells. Head Face Med 12:5
- Katagiri W, Watanabe J, Toyama N et al (2017) Clinical study of bone regeneration by conditioned medium from mesenchymal stem cells after maxillary sinus floor elevation. Implant Dent 26: 607–612
- Kehl D, Generali M, Mallone A et al (2019) Proteomic analysis of human mesenchymal stromal cell secretomes: a systematic comparison of the angiogenic potential. NPJ Regen Med 4:8
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kim SW, Zhang HZ, Kim CE et al (2012b) Amniotic mesenchymal stem cells have robust angiogenic properties and are effective in treating hindlimb ischaemia. Cardiovasc Res 93: 525–534
- Kim M, Yun HW, Park DY et al (2018a) Three-dimensional spheroid culture increases exosome secretion from mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Regen Med 15:427–436
- Kim R, Lee S, Lee J et al (2018b) Exosomes derived from microRNA-584 transfected mesenchymal stem cells: novel alternative therapeutic vehicles for cancer therapy. BMB Rep 51:406–411
- Kim W, Lee SK, Kwon YW, Chung SG, Kim S (2019) Pioglitazone-Primed Mesenchymal Stem Cells Stimulate Cell Proliferation, Collagen Synthesis and Matrix Gene Expression in Tenocytes. Int J Mol Sci 20(3):472–483
- Kondo S, Nakagawa Y, Mizuno M et al (2019) Transplantation of aggregates of autologous synovial mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of cartilage defects in the femoral condyle and the femoral groove in Microminipigs. Am J Sports Med 47:2338–2347
- Kusuma GD, Carthew J, Lim R et al (2017) Effect of the microenvironment on mesenchymal stem cell paracrine signaling: opportunities to engineer the therapeutic effect. Stem Cells Dev 26: 617–631
- Kwon HM, Hur SM, Park KY et al (2014) Multiple paracrine factors secreted by mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiogenesis. Vasc Pharmacol 63:19–28
- Lai VK, Afzal MR, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Non-hypoxic stabilization of Hif-1α during coordinated interaction between Akt and angiopoietin-1 enhances endothelial commitment of bone marrow stem cells. J Mol Med 90(6):719–730
- Lee WY, Wang B (2017) Cartilage repair by mesenchymal stem cells: clinical trial update and perspectives. J Orthop Translat 9:76–88

- Leuning DG, Beijer NRM, Du Fosse NA et al (2018) The cytokine secretion profile of mesenchymal stromal cells is determined by surface structure of the microenvironment. Sci Rep 8: 7716–7716
- Li H, Liu D, Li C et al (2017) Exosomes secreted from mutant-HIF-1alpha-modified bone-marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells attenuate early steroid-induced avascular necrosis of femoral head in rabbit. Cell Biol Int 41:1379–1390
- Liu J, Li D, Wu X et al (2017) Bone-derived exosomes. Curr Opin Pharmacol 34:64-69
- Liu C, Li Y, Yang Z et al (2020a) Kartogenin enhances the therapeutic effect of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes in cartilage repair. Nanomedicine (London) 15: 273–288
- Liu D, Song G, Ma Z et al (2020b) Resveratrol improves the therapeutic efficacy of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells in rats with severe acute pancreatitis. Int Immunopharmacol 80:106128
- Liu J, Liu Q, Chen X (2020c) The immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells on regulatory B cells. Front Immunol 11:1843–1843
- Loussouarn C, Pers YM, Bony C et al (2021) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles regulate the mitochondrial metabolism via transfer of miRNAs. Front Immunol 12:623973
- Lu G, Haider KH, Porollo A, Ashraf M (2010) Mitochondria specific transgenic overexpression of connexin-43 simulates preconditioning induced cytoprotection of stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 88:277–286
- Lu Z, Chen Y, Dunstan C et al (2017) Priming adipose stem cells with tumor necrosis factor-alpha preconditioning potentiates their exosome efficacy for bone regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 23: 1212–1220
- Lui PPY (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles for the promotion of tendon repair an update of literature. Stem Cell Rev Rep
- Maffioli E, Nonnis S, Angioni R et al (2017) Proteomic analysis of the secretome of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells primed by pro-inflammatory cytokines. J Proteome 166:115–126
- Mancuso P, Raman S, Glynn A et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for osteoarthritis: the critical role of the cell Secretome. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 7:9
- Mao G, Zhang Z, Huang Z et al (2017) MicroRNA-92a-3p regulates the expression of cartilagespecific genes by directly targeting histone deacetylase 2 in chondrogenesis and degradation. Osteoarthr Cartil 25:521–532
- Marks PW, Witten CM, Califf RM (2017) Clarifying stem-cell therapy's benefits and risks. N Engl J Med 376:1007–1009
- Martins M, Ribeiro D, Martins A et al (2016) Extracellular vesicles derived from osteogenically induced human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells can modulate lineage commitment. Stem Cell Rep 6:284–291
- Maumus M, Roussignol G, Toupet K et al (2016) Utility of a mouse model of osteoarthritis to demonstrate cartilage protection by IFNgamma-primed equine mesenchymal stem cells. Front Immunol 7:392
- Mendicino M, Bailey AM, Wonnacott K et al (2014) MSC-based product characterization for clinical trials: an FDA perspective. Cell Stem Cell 14:141–145
- Miceli V, Bulati M, Iannolo G et al (2021) Therapeutic properties of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells: the need of cell priming for cell-free therapies in regenerative medicine. Int J Mol Sci 22 (2):763–782
- Miranda JP, Camoes SP, Gaspar MM et al (2019) The secretome derived from 3D-cultured umbilical cord tissue MSCs counteracts manifestations typifying rheumatoid arthritis. Front Immunol 10:18
- Mitchell R, Mellows B, Sheard J et al (2019) Secretome of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells promotes skeletal muscle regeneration through synergistic action of extracellular vesicle cargo and soluble proteins. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:116–116

- Muhammad SA, Nordin N, Mehat MZ et al (2019) Comparative efficacy of stem cells and secretome in articular cartilage regeneration: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cell Tissue Res 375:329–344
- Murakami M, Kudo I (2004) Recent advances in molecular biology and physiology of the prostaglandin E2-biosynthetic pathway. Prog Lipid Res 43:3–35
- Murphy DE, De Jong OG, Brouwer M et al (2019) Extracellular vesicle-based therapeutics: natural versus engineered targeting and trafficking. Exp Mol Med 51:1–12
- Musumeci G, Aiello FC, Szychlinska MA et al (2015) Osteoarthritis in the XXIst century: risk factors and behaviours that influence disease onset and progression. Int J Mol Sci 16:6093–6112
- Neri S (2019) Genetic stability of mesenchymal stromal cells for regenerative medicine applications: a fundamental biosafety aspect. Int J Mol Sci 20(10):2406–2432
- Ni Z, Zhou S, Li S et al (2020) Exosomes: roles and therapeutic potential in osteoarthritis. Bone Res 8:25
- Niemeyer P, Fechner K, Milz S et al (2010) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue for bone regeneration in a critical size defect of the sheep tibia and the influence of platelet-rich plasma. Biomaterials 31:3572–3579
- Nikitina V, Astrelina T, Nugis V et al (2018) Clonal chromosomal and genomic instability during human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells long-term culture. PLoS One 13: e0192445–e0192445
- Paliwal S, Chaudhuri R, Agrawal A et al (2018) Regenerative abilities of mesenchymal stem cells through mitochondrial transfer. J Biomed Sci 25:31–31
- Pfrieger FW, Vitale N (2018) Cholesterol and the journey of extracellular vesicles. J Lipid Res 59: 2255–2261
- Pittenger MF, Discher DE, Peault BM et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. NPJ Regen Med 4:22–22
- Qazi TH, Mooney DJ, Duda GN et al (2017) Biomaterials that promote cell-cell interactions enhance the paracrine function of MSCs. Biomaterials 140:103–114
- Qi X, Zhang J, Yuan H et al (2016) Exosomes secreted by human-induced pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cells repair critical-sized bone defects through enhanced angiogenesis and osteogenesis in osteoporotic rats. Int J Biol Sci 12:836–849
- Qi H, Liu DP, Xiao DW et al (2019) Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells inhibit mitochondrial dysfunction-induced apoptosis of chondrocytes via p38, ERK, and Akt pathways. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 55:203–210
- Quade M, Munch P, Lode A et al (2020) The secretome of hypoxia conditioned hMSC loaded in a central depot induces chemotaxis and angiogenesis in a biomimetic mineralized collagen bone replacement material. Adv Healthc Mater 9:e1901426
- Raffaghello L, Bianchi G, Bertolotto M et al (2008) Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit neutrophil apoptosis: a model for neutrophil preservation in the bone marrow niche. Stem Cells 26:151–162
- Ragni E, Perucca Orfei C, De Luca P et al (2020) Inflammatory priming enhances mesenchymal stromal cell secretome potential as a clinical product for regenerative medicine approaches through secreted factors and EV-miRNAs: the example of joint disease. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:165
- Rajab AM, Rajab TM, AlJundi S, Haider KH (2019). Bone stem cell therapy in the clinical perspective: a focus on nonrandomized and randomized trials. In: Stem cells: from myth to reality and evolving. Kh. Husnain Haider (Ed.), Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Geithner Straße13- 10785 Berlin
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W (2013) Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 200:373–383
- Redondo-Castro E, Cunningham CJ, Miller J et al (2018) Changes in the secretome of tri-dimensional spheroid-cultured human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro by interleukin-1 priming. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:11
- Ren C, Kumar S, Chanda D et al (2008) Cancer gene therapy using mesenchymal stem cells expressing interferon-beta in a mouse prostate cancer lung metastasis model. Gene Ther 15: 1446–1453

- Renner P, Eggenhofer E, Rosenauer A et al (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells require a sufficient, ongoing immune response to exert their immunosuppressive function. Transplant Proc 41: 2607–2611
- Rezaie J, Mehranjani MS, Rahbarghazi R et al (2018) Angiogenic and restorative abilities of human mesenchymal stem cells were reduced following treatment with serum from diabetes mellitus type 2 patients. J Cell Biochem 119:524–535
- Roddy E, Debaun MR, Daoud-Gray A et al (2018) Treatment of critical-sized bone defects: clinical and tissue engineering perspectives. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 28:351–362
- Ruiz M, Toupet K, Maumus M et al (2020) TGFBI secreted by mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorates osteoarthritis and is detected in extracellular vesicles. Biomaterials 226:119544
- Russell AE, Jun S, Sarkar S et al (2019) Extracellular vesicles secreted in response to cytokine exposure increase mitochondrial oxygen consumption in recipient cells. Front Cell Neurosci 13:51
- Saldana L, Bensiamar F, Valles G et al (2019) Immunoregulatory potential of mesenchymal stem cells following activation by macrophage-derived soluble factors. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:58
- Sandell LJ, Xing X, Franz C et al (2008) Exuberant expression of chemokine genes by adult human articular chondrocytes in response to IL-1beta. Osteoarthr Cartil 16:1560–1571
- Santos JM, Camoes SP, Filipe E et al (2015) Three-dimensional spheroid cell culture of umbilical cord tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells leads to enhanced paracrine induction of wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:90
- Saran U, Gemini Piperni S, Chatterjee S (2014) Role of angiogenesis in bone repair. Arch Biochem Biophys 561:109–117
- Sears V, Ghosh G (2020) Harnessing mesenchymal stem cell secretome: effect of extracellular matrices on proangiogenic signaling. Biotechnol Bioeng 117:1159–1171
- Shahid MS, Lasheen W, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10):E1371–E1374
- Shen H, Yoneda S, Abu-Amer Y et al (2020) Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate the early inflammatory response after tendon injury and repair. J Orthop Res 38:117–127
- Shi Z, Wang Q, Jiang D (2019) Extracellular vesicles from bone marrow-derived multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells regulate inflammation and enhance tendon healing. J Transl Med 17:211
- Shin S, Lee J, Kwon Yet al (2021) Comparative proteomic analysis of the mesenchymal stem cells secretome from adipose, bone marrow, placenta and Wharton's Jelly. Int J Mol Sci 22 (2):845–861
- Son BR, Marquez-Curtis LA, Kucia M et al (2006) Migration of bone marrow and cord blood mesenchymal stem cells in vitro is regulated by SDF-1-CXCR4 and HGF-c-met axes and involves matrix metalloproteinases. Stem Cells 24(5):1254–64
- Sung DK, Chang YS, Sung SI et al (2019) Thrombin preconditioning of extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells accelerates cutaneous wound healing by boosting their biogenesis and enriching cargo content. J Clin Med 8(4):533–549
- Suzuki Y, Kim HW, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2010) Diazoxide potentiates mesenchymal stem cell survival via NF-κB-dependent miR-146a expression. Am J Phys 299:H1077–H1082
- Tachida Y, Sakurai H, Okutsu J (2015) Proteomic comparison of the secreted factors of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, adipose tissue and dental pulp. J Proteome Bioinformatics 8 (12):266–273
- Tan SHS, Wong JRY, Sim SJY et al (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes in bone regenerative strategies-a systematic review of preclinical studies. Mater Today Bio 7:100067
- Thery C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E et al (2018a) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7: 1535750–1535750

- Thery C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E et al (2018b) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7:1535750
- Thomas D, Fontana G, Chen X et al (2014) A shape-controlled tuneable microgel platform to modulate angiogenic paracrine responses in stem cells. Biomaterials 35:8757–8766
- Tjalsma H, Bolhuis A, Jongbloed JD et al (2000) Signal peptide-dependent protein transport in Bacillus subtilis: a genome-based survey of the secretome. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev MMBR 64: 515–547
- Tofino-Vian M, Guillen MI, Perez Del Caz MD et al (2018) Microvesicles from human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells as a new protective strategy in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Cell Physiol Biochem 47:11–25
- Tsai AC, Jeske R, Chen X et al (2020) Influence of microenvironment on mesenchymal stem cell therapeutic potency: from planar culture to microcarriers. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:640
- Villa F, Quarto R, Tasso R (2019) Extracellular vesicles as natural, safe and efficient drug delivery systems. Pharmaceutics 11:557
- Villarroya-Beltri C, Gutierrez-Vazquez C, Sanchez-Cabo F et al (2013) Sumoylated hnRNPA2B1 controls the sorting of miRNAs into exosomes through binding to specific motifs. Nat Commun 4:2980
- Villatoro AJ, Alcoholado C, Martín-Astorga MC et al (2019) Comparative analysis and characterization of soluble factors and exosomes from cultured adipose tissue and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in canine species. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 208:6–15
- Wangler S, Kamali A, Wapp C et al (2021) Uncovering the secretome of mesenchymal stromal cells exposed to healthy, traumatic, and degenerative intervertebral discs: a proteomic analysis. Stem Cell Res Ther 12:11
- Weiss ARR, Dahlke MH (2019) Immunomodulation by Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs): mechanisms of action of living, apoptotic, and dead MSCs. Front Immunol 10:1191–1191
- Wiklander OP, Nordin JZ, O'loughlin A et al (2015) Extracellular vesicle in vivo biodistribution is determined by cell source, route of administration and targeting. J Extracell Vesicles 4:26316
- Wolbank S, Stadler G, Peterbauer A et al (2009) Telomerase immortalized human amnion- and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: maintenance of differentiation and immunomodulatory characteristics. Tissue Eng Part A 15:1843–1854
- Wong SW, Lenzini S, Cooper MH et al (2020) Soft extracellular matrix enhances inflammatory activation of mesenchymal stromal cells to induce monocyte production and trafficking. Sci Adv 6:eaaw0158
- Wu Z, Zhang S, Zhou L et al (2017) Thromboembolism induced by umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell infusion: a report of two cases and literature review. Transplant Proc 49:1656–1658
- Wu J, Kuang L, Chen C et al (2019) miR-100-5p-abundant exosomes derived from infrapatellar fat pad MSCs protect articular cartilage and ameliorate gait abnormalities via inhibition of mTOR in osteoarthritis. Biomaterials 206:87–100
- Xu G, Zhang Y, Zhang L et al (2007) The role of IL-6 in inhibition of lymphocyte apoptosis by mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 361:745–750
- Xu J, Wang B, Sun Y et al (2016) Human fetal mesenchymal stem cell secretome enhances bone consolidation in distraction osteogenesis. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:134
- Xu T, Luo Y, Wang J et al (2020) Exosomal miRNA-128-3p from mesenchymal stem cells of aged rats regulates osteogenesis and bone fracture healing by targeting Smad5. J Nanobiotechnol 18: 47–47
- Yáñez-Mó M, Siljander PRM, Andreu Z et al (2015) Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. J Extracellular Vesicles 4:27066–27066
- Yang X, Yang J, Lei P et al (2019) LncRNA MALAT1 shuttled by bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells-secreted exosomes alleviates osteoporosis through mediating microRNA-34c/SATB2 axis. Aging (Albany NY) 11:8777–8791
- Yeo RWY, Lai RC, Zhang B, et al 2013. Mesenchymal stem cell: an efficient mass producer of exosomes for drug delivery

- Yokota N, Hattori M, Ohtsuru T et al (2019) Comparative clinical outcomes after intra-articular injection with adipose-derived cultured stem cells or noncultured stromal vascular fraction for the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med 47:2577–2583
- Yu L, Xu Y, Qu H et al (2019) Decrease of MiR-31 induced by TNF-alpha inhibitor activates SATB2/RUNX2 pathway and promotes osteogenic differentiation in ethanol-induced osteonecrosis. J Cell Physiol 234:4314–4326
- Yu H, Cheng J, Shi W et al (2020) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote tendon regeneration by facilitating the proliferation and migration of endogenous tendon stem/ progenitor cells. Acta Biomater 106:328–341
- Zaborowski MP, Balaj L, Breakefield XO et al (2015) Extracellular vesicles: composition, biological relevance, and methods of study. Bioscience 65:783–797
- Zanotti L, Angioni R, Cali B et al (2016) Mouse mesenchymal stem cells inhibit high endothelial cell activation and lymphocyte homing to lymph nodes by releasing TIMP-1. Leukemia 30: 1143–1154
- Zhang J, Liu X, Li H et al (2016) Exosomes/tricalcium phosphate combination scaffolds can enhance bone regeneration by activating the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:136–136
- Zhang L, Jiao G, Ren S et al (2020a) Exosomes from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells enhance fracture healing through the promotion of osteogenesis and angiogenesis in a rat model of nonunion. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:38
- Zhang LN, Zhang DD, Yang L et al (2020b) Roles of cell fusion between mesenchymal stromal/ stem cells and malignant cells in tumor growth and metastasis. FEBS J. febs.15483-febs.15483
- Zhang R, Zhang Q, Zou Z et al (2021) Curcumin supplementation enhances bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to promote the anabolism of articular chondrocytes and cartilage repair. Cell Transplant 30:963689721993776
- Zhao P, Xiao L, Peng J et al (2018) Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells improve osteoporosis through promoting osteoblast proliferation via MAPK pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 22:3962–3970
- Zhao C, Chen JY, Peng WM et al (2020) Exosomes from adiposederived stem cells promote chondrogenesis and suppress inflammation by upregulating miR145 and miR221. Mol Med Rep 21:1881–1889
- Zheng B, Von See MP, Yu E et al (2016) Quantitative magnetic particle imaging monitors the transplantation, biodistribution, and clearance of stem cells in vivo. Theranostics 6:291–301
- Zielniok K, Burdzinska A, Kaleta B, et al (2020) Vadadustat, a HIF prolyl hydroxylase inhibitor, improves immunomodulatory properties of human mesenchymal stromal cells. Cells 9 (11):2396–2414
- Zou J, Shi M, Liu X et al (2019) Aptamer-functionalized exosomes: elucidating the cellular uptake mechanism and the potential for cancer-targeted chemotherapy. Anal Chem 91:2425–2430

Part IV

Miscellaneous Aspects of Stem Cell Applications



Common Ethical Considerations of Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Research

Adekunle Ebenezer Omole, Adegbenro Omotuyi John Fakoya, Kinglsey Chinonyerem Nnawuba, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	1162
Safety	1164
Reproduction	1166
Patentability	1169
Informed Consent and Donors' Right	1170
Conclusion	1172
Cross-References	1172
References	1172

Abstract

In 2006, Shinya Yamanaka generated induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which has been the major scientific event of the decade that caught the eye of many scientists, politicians, and bioethicists. The use of human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) has previously been limited by ethical issues related to the

A. E. Omole

Department of Anatomical Sciences, American University of Antigua College of Medicine, St. John's, Antigua and Barbuda e-mail: kunlesty@yahoo.com

A. O. J. Fakoya (⊠) Department of Anatomical Sciences, University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Basseterre, Saint Kitts and Nevis e-mail: gbenrofakoya@gmail.com

K. C. Nnawuba Department of Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, Caribbean Medical University, Willemstad, Curaçao e-mail: knnawuba@yahoo.com

K. H. Haider

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_21 destruction of embryos. However, with iPSCs, scientists can now reprogram virtually any human somatic cells through the expression of a combination of embryonic transcription factors to a pluripotent embryonic stem-cell-like state, thereby avoiding the contentious destruction of human embryos. Although the clinical realities of human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) appear very promising, they are still laden with some ethical concerns that scientists and legal authorities in the field of iPSC research must recognize. This chapter briefly reviews some ethical issues associated with the use of hiPSCs and suggests ways to address these challenges.

Keywords

Ethics · Human-induced pluripotent stem cells · Human embryonic stem cells · Moral issue · Patenting · Reproduction · Informed consent

Abbreviations

CNV	Copy number variations
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
hESCs	Human embryonic stem cells
HFEA	Human Fertilization and Embryology Authorities
hiPSCs	Human-induced pluripotent stem cells
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
IVF	In vitro fertilization
MACS	Magnetic-activated cell sorting
SCNT	Somatic cell nuclear transfer
SNV	Single nucleotide variation

Introduction

For decades, ethical debates regarding stem cell technology have focused mainly on human embryonic stem cells (hESCs). These cells are harvested from the inner cell mass of blastocysts (preimplantation embryos) and obtained with consent from couples receiving in vitro fertilization (IVF) treatment, from aborted fetuses, or from donated oocytes (Thomson et al. 1998; Smith 2001; Zhang et al. 2006). The embryonic origin of hESCs raises a mix of serious moral and ethical controversies about the onset of human personhood, treatment, and harm to embryos; concerns about the safety and health risks of women donating eggs, the potential exploitation of their ova, and their informed consent; and concerns about respect for human life, human dignity, and justice toward humankind. These ethical debates reveal deeply rooted individually diverging opinions about the nature and origin of human personhood, leading to differing policies and regulations of hESC research worldwide (De Trizio and Brennan 2004; Solo and Pressberg 2007; Dhar and Hsi-En Ho 2009). Furthermore, due to this diversity of opinions and cultural differences, an

international consensus regarding the regulation of hESC research does not exist (Dhar and Hsi-En Ho 2009). The resulting restrictions and prohibitions on hESC research have contributed largely to the slowness in the progress on the translation of hESC technology into clinical therapy. Hence, there was an urgent need for another substitute for hESCs with the same pluripotency potential that can bypass these ethical issues.

Shinya Yamanaka's 2006 discovery of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) was a notable breakthrough in stem cell research, which has given it a new impetus (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Takahashi et al. 2007; Omole and Fakoya 2018). Scientists and bioethicists were excited at the ability to fabricate a surrogate cell with a pluripotent embryonic stem cell (ESC)-like state by the genetic reprogramming of somatic cells through the ectopic expression of a specific combination of transcription factors (Ibrahim et al. 2016). Enchanted by the extraordinary initial work of Takahashi and Yamanaka, many research groups followed their transcription factorbased reprogramming approach and reproduced the results in mice using cells from diverse tissue sources (Yu et al. 2007; Wernig et al. 2007; Maherali et al. 2007; Ahmed et al. 2011a; Buccini et al. 2012) and humans (Lowry et al. 2008; Park et al. 2008). The reprogramming technique provided an unparalleled and distinctive opportunity to researchers in the field of stem cells and regenerative medicine for possible applications, including pediatric applications, to manufacture patientspecific stem cells for human-disease modeling, drug screening and development, and customized cell therapy (Cagavi et al. 2018; Omole and Fakova 2018; Cetinkaya and Haider 2020).

Since iPSCs appear to end the disputes over the destruction of embryos in hESC research, human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) have been touted by scientists and ethicists alike as ethically and morally uncomplicated alternatives to hESCs and are tipped as surrogate ESCs, and the ethics surrounding hiPSCs have been primarily evaluated in comparison with hESCs. However, even if future investigations demonstrate that hiPSCs fulfill the expectation that they could be possibly viable and superior substitutes for hESCs in disease research, regenerative medicine, and drug discovery, further scrutiny of the reprogramming technology and the resulting ethical concerns might potentially reduce some of the hiPSC-associated ethical advantages over hESCs (Zacharias et al. 2011). In the earliest report on iPSC generation, tumor formation was noticed in more than 20% of the iPSCs due to the reactivation and overexpression of c-Myc oncogene (Okita et al. 2007; Ahmed et al. 2011; Buccini et al. 2012).

There is also the safety risk of insertional mutagenesis from virus-dependent delivery methods, which can lead to tumor formation (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Takahashi et al. 2007; Yu et al. 2007). Ethical and legal challenges are also associated with the potentiality of using hiPSCs for the development of human-animal chimeras, human reproductive cloning, and the derivation of human gametes (Lo et al. 2010; Ishii et al. 2013; Wu et al. 2016; Zheng 2016; Volarevic et al. 2018; Moradi et al. 2019). Additionally, such concerns as the application of intellectual property rights or hiPSC patents, donor information, and consent pose considerable challenges to the advancement of iPSCs and iPSC-based research

(Lo and Parham 2009; Zarzeczny et al. 2009; King and Perrin 2014; Orzechowski et al. 2020). While many of these ethical challenges are not unique to iPSCs but are also shared by hESCs, the ease of accessibility and the simplicity of procuring starting cell sources for iPSC development, the rapid progress in iPSC research witnessed in the last decade, and the remarkable expectations placed on iPSC technology make it very timely and crucial to consider the ethical and legal issues associated with it. Notably, hiPSCs may provide a renewable source of cells for theranostic applications with moral and ethical advantages over their counterpart pluripotent stem cells. Indeed, hiPSCs have some serious ethical concerns that scientists and bioethicists must recognize. This chapter summarizes some of the primary ethical issues associated with the use of hiPSCs, such as safety, reproduction, patenting, and informed consent/donor's right, which generally remain unfamiliar to a common reader in the field.

Safety

There remains significant uncertainty regarding the properties of hiPSCs, how they are reprogrammed, and their ability to form teratomas. The early iPSC lines were generated by transducing somatic cells using retroviral-vector-carrying gene encoding for various transcription factors (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Takahashi et al. 2007). However, insertional mutagenesis using an integrative gene delivery system is a substantial safety risk of this approach, which may even result in tumorigenicity (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Takahashi et al. 2007; Yu et al. 2007; Omole and Fakoya 2018). About 20% of the offspring generated in the original report on germline-competent iPSCs subsequently developed tumors, which were attributed to the reactivation of c-Myc transgene (Okita et al. 2007). Such data prompted many research groups to eliminate c-Myc from the classical quartet of transcription factors to enhance their safety profile (Nakagawa et al. 2008; Martinez-Fernandez et al. 2009). These safety risks are unique to iPSCs due to the combined effect of the overexpression of reprogramming factors and the integrative viral-vector-based delivery method used in the protocol for iPSC generation. Furthermore, incorrect or incomplete patterning and genetic instability can increase the risk of tumorigenicity (Yamanaka 2020).

Incorrect or incomplete patterning involves the persistence of undifferentiated and immature cells in the end product of the reprogramming (iPSCs) as well as the differentiated cells derived from hiPSCs. These undifferentiated contaminating cell population has been associated with teratoma formation. The risk of genetic mutations altered biology, and the attainment of tumorigenic potential from incomplete patterning and genetic abnormalities is not unique to iPSCs but relatively common to all cells, which require long-term expansion in vitro (Wang et al. 2013; Izadpanah et al. 2008; Røsland et al. 2009). Genetic alterations like chromosomal aberrations, single nucleotide mutations, and copy number variations are common during reprogramming (Turinetto et al. 2017; Yoshihara et al. 2017a; González and Haider 2021). Chromosomal alterations can either exist in the somatic cells prior to their use for iPSC generation or originate during the reprogramming process (Yoshihara et al. 2017b; Liu et al. 2020). Indeed, the first hiPSC clinical trial in 2014 was momentarily halted after discovering mutations in the hiPSCs of the second patient, although mutations were absent in the primary somatic cells (Kimbrel and Lanza 2015; Attwood and Edel 2019). Following the transplantation of hiPSCs, the expectation is that the cells should develop normally, maintain average growth, function in the in vivo environment, and adequately replace the injured or lost cells in the diseased patient.

Nevertheless, these cells may proliferate and increase uncontrollably, creating a tumor at the implantation site. This risk of tumorigenicity might trigger extensive safety and ethical concerns about the use of hiPSCs, hence slowing the progress of its application in stem-cell-based clinical therapy. Interestingly, stem cell scientists have made some progress in addressing some of these limitations caused by tumorigenicity. The c-Myc transgene has been shown to be dispensable for reprogramming (Nakagawa et al. 2008). Thomson's group developed their iPSCs using a different set of four reprogramming factors: Oct3/4, Sox2, Nanog, and Lin28 (OSNL), substituting Nanog and Lin28 for c-Myc and Klf4 in Yamanaka's "OSKM" cocktails (Yu et al. 2007). Nonviral delivery methods (plasmid vectors, transposons), non-integrative delivery methods (Sendai virus, lentivirus, and adenovirus), and protocols based on small molecular treatment of somatic cells have been employed to eliminate the limitations caused by insertional mutagenesis (Pasha et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013; Driscoll et al. 2015; Lee et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2020; Yoshimatsu et al. 2021).

Further intensive studies are fundamental for refining the reprogramming techniques of somatic cells and discovering how to prevent the tumorigenicity of hiPSCs. Another approach in this regard is to develop protocols for the direct reprogramming of somatic cells to the lineage of interest without passing through a pluripotency state (Ahmed et al. 2012). Reliable safety assays should be developed to evaluate the potential of hiPSCs before their application for cell therapy. The development of more effective protocols for iPSC differentiation must first be ensured to generate purified populations of hiPSCs before they are used clinically.

Regarding incorrect patterning, stem cell researchers are developing means to address tumorigenicity to meet the safety standards required for clinical therapy using iPSCs. Some purification methods have been adopted to identify and remove the residual undifferentiated pluripotent stem cells (PSCs). They include techniques such as directed differentiation and positive/negative selection markers using antibody cell sorting systems, such as fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) and magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS) (Abujarour et al. 2013; Wuputra et al. 2020). The researchers in the clinical study on spinal cord injury are contemplating the use of the suicide gene method as an additional method to prevent tumorigenicity (Kojima et al. 2019). All these methods will assist the investigators in carefully selecting iPSC lines with the highest level of purity that will be safe for the purpose of clinical application.

Regarding genomic alterations, traditional methods like chromosomal karyotyping can detect abnormalities like deletion, duplication, and rearrangement,

and iPSC products with such abnormalities can be discarded. Minimal genetic alterations, like single nucleotide variation (SNV) and copy number variations (CNV), can be detected by next-generation sequencing technology (like wholegenome sequencing) (Yamanaka 2020). However, analyzing such minimal genetic abnormality can be difficult due to the present difficulty experienced; currently, we have to sequence a significant portion of our genome and accurately analyze and interpret the risks from the mutations detected (D'Antonio et al. 2018). The understanding and assessment of the mutational burden of iPSCs are important for their use for therapeutic applications. Indeed, it is challenging to ensure whether a mutation/mutations detected in the iPSC products will significantly increase the risk of tumorigenicity after transplantation (Yamanaka 2020). At present, extensive tests must be carried out on the iPSC products to detect significant mutations, and only stem cells that pass the test should be forwarded for clinical use. Furthermore, after successful transplantation of the iPSCs, patients should be monitored for the possibility of developing a tumor. More clinical research work is needed to accurately predict the tumorigenic possibilities of a detected mutation.

Reproduction

Indeed, one of the most distinct and ethically worrisome potential uses of iPSCs is the production of human embryos through human reproductive cloning. The use of iPSCs for human cloning is illegal and is prohibited worldwide. Generating full-term mice (considered the most stringent criterion of pluripotency) has been fulfilled using iPSCs through tetraploid complementation assays (Kang et al. 2009; Zhao et al. 2009, 2010). This assay involves the injection of iPSCs into the blastocysts of tetraploid mice, embryos that cannot develop into a fetus by themselves. The union results in reconstructed embryos that later develop into fetuses, confirming that iPSCs can form new lives. Sir John Gurdon achieved the first example of cloning using a method where somatic cells were reprogrammed to the embryonic pluripotent states with the same genetic makeup, which is termed somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) (Gurdon 1962). This was followed by Sir Ian Wilmut, who used the same SCNT method to generate the first mammalian – Dolly the sheep – by somatic cloning (Wilmut et al. 1997).

SCNT involves the transfer of somatic nuclei into enucleated oocytes to reconstruct embryos (Matoba and Zhang 2018). Theoretically, this procedure is applicable to humans. Yes, human cloning from hiPSCs is technically possible despite associated safety risks (Wilmut et al. 2015). In both tetraploid complementation and SCNT, normal human oocytes or embryos will be destroyed. In tetraploid complementation, human tetraploid embryos will be generated by the fusion of human diploid embryos. Thus, the normal diploid embryo will be destroyed in the process. The low viability rate during this process will require generating many reconstructed embryos to ensure an increased birth rate of the cloned offspring. Hence, the destruction of many diploid human embryos in the process remains a limitation. Likewise, in SCNT, the enucleated oocytes are also destroyed. This is tantamount to sacrificing many lives for one life, thus raising ethical concerns that are comparable to that of hESCs. These concerns include controversies about the onset of human personhood and the treatment and harm to embryos, concerns about the safety and health risks of women donating eggs and their potential exploitation for their ova and their informed consent, and concerns about harm to respect for human life, human dignity, and justice toward humankind. In addition, people may also choose to use genetically modified hiPSCs in human cloning to develop offspring with unique characteristics, therefore treating the cloned offspring as a tool for genetic modification or diversity. This type of gene customization of offspring will not show respect for human life. Good surveillance and regulatory processes are essential to monitoring research projects involving SCNT and tetraploid complementation. Regulations must be developed to ban human reproductive cloning explicitly.

Another ethically fraught potential use of iPSCs is the derivation of human gametes (sperm and eggs) and human-animal chimeras. The "first generation" of iPSCs did not contribute to the germline or produce adult chimeras. Yamanaka and others later modified the induction protocols, leading to the generation of iPSCs that were fully reprogrammed and proficient for adult chimera and germline transmission (Okita et al. 2007; Takahashi et al. 2007; Yu et al. 2007). Much progress has since been made in the differentiation of pluripotent stem cells into human sperms and oocytes. Protocols have now been established to successfully differentiate and develop male and female gametes from iPSCs (Panula et al. 2011; Hayashi et al. 2011, 2012; Irie et al. 2015; Sasaki et al. 2015; Yamashiro et al. 2018). It is pertinent to mention that gamete derivation from iPSCs may serve as a powerful research tool to improve our understanding of human development and assisted reproductive techniques for the management of infertility disorders (Fang et al. 2018; Zhang et al. 2020). Nevertheless, the chance that they may be considered for reproductive intents poses ethical concerns about cloning, safety, donors' consent, and the right of the unborn child to know the parents (Advena-Regnery et al. 2018). Other ethical concerns include the potential risk of changing the natural reproduction method, the generation of gametes for same-sex reproduction, and asexual reproduction (Mathews et al. 2009). Furthermore, since the induction of the hiPSCs into gamete cells is not presently a highly efficient process, an attempt to make embryos from such will result in the extensive destruction of many poor-quality embryos, thus raising the same ethical concerns as for hESCs (Mathews et al. 2009).

Chimeras are single organisms containing cells from two or more organisms – that is, it contains two or more sets of DNAs, with the genetic code to make two or more separate organisms. Human-animal chimeras have been used enormously by scientists to improve our understanding of gene function and regulation and disease mechanisms and for testing experimental drugs and gene therapies (Levine and Grabel 2017). They are excellent models of human tissues than nonchimeric animals because they are improved systems for human disease modeling. They provide the opportunity to research human cells and tissues in vivo without the necessity for human experimentation. The technology of interspecies blastocyst complementation has already been used to develop rat organs in mice and vice

versa (Kobayashi et al. 2010; Isotani et al. 2011; Yamaguchi et al. 2017), though human-mouse chimera research is the routine.

Recent advances in genome-editing and stem-cell technology have led to extending this research to larger animals, such as pigs. The combination of geneediting technology and interspecies blastocyst complementation has made it possible to use hiPSCs to generate individualized human organs, thus raising the opportunity of addressing the dire shortage of organs for transplantation (Wu et al. 2017). However, the growing amounts of human tissues in these chimeras and the potential availabilities of these tissues in morally significant sites, such as the brain, raises strong ethical concerns and questions about the moral status of these animals (Savulescu 2016). How many human cells are considered "too many" in a humananimal chimera's brain? How many human cells are considered "too many" in the human-animal chimera's body altogether? How many would human cells make a mouse brain start thinking human thoughts? What would happen if an animal with human nervous tissues become self-aware and start thinking and feeling like a person? How do we know if we have crossed the commonly accepted dividing line of human decency, dignity, and morality regarding human-animal chimera research? No one knows the answers to these questions, at least not yet.

Nevertheless, these questions reveal the main ethical dilemmas that bioethicists are worried about – that chimeric animals with humanized organs may develop human-like consciousness, which will be ethically unacceptable (Bourret et al. 2016; Kwisda et al. 2020). For further in-depth analysis and detailed arguments and public debates on these concerns, please refer to the works reported by Marino, Knoepfler, Palacios-Gonzalez, DeGrazia, and Greely (Degrazia 2007; Palacios-González 2015; Knoepfler 2016; Marino et al. 2017; Koplin and Wilkinson 2019; Greely and Farahany 2021). Going forward, further debates and research are essential to tackle this major ethical dilemma connected with human-animal chimerism. Therefore, we strongly recommend the practical recommendations for chimeric research contributed by Hyun and colleagues (2007).

Overall, the ethical objections to all the issues raised concerning reproduction include the sanctity of human life, human dignity, safety, manipulation of genetic diversity, violation of the clone's rights, etc. (Pattinson 2007). Despite these ethical objections, the Human Fertilization and Embryology Authorities (HFEA) in 2007 agreed for a cytoplasmic hybrid research program to proceed in the United Kingdom (Editorial (Lancet) 2007; Mayor 2008). Meanwhile, in the United States (September 2015), the National Institutes of Health (NIH) announced the discontinuation of the research funding of iPSC-derived chimeras due to additional controversial ethical issues, which require the attention of enforced policies (NIH, Human Pluripotent Cells into Non-human Vertebrate Animal 2015a, Web, July 1, 2021; NIH, Staying Ahead of the Curve on Chimeras 2015b, Web, July 1, 2021). The authors agree that all aspects of stem cell research should be covered by legislation and strict licensing procedures to curtail the potential for the abuse of this technology. However, we also believe that a flexible, less restrictive regulation that considers the proper justification for embryo research will eventually benefit all.

Patentability

A patent gives an inventor the monopoly right to commercialize an invention for a limited period. Comparable to other property types, a patent makes the inventor the owner of the invention, while the intellectual property right remains valid. This concept of ownership has sparked ethical debate in relation to the patentability of life, centered on the objectification and commercial exploitation of living creatures (Schrecker et al. 1997). Intellectual property rights, when efficiently applied, can present a stumbling block to the progress of iPSC research. There are many approaches used for the generation of iPSCs. If investors hold several patents for these many iPSC generation methods, this can impede the translation of the technology from bench to bedside. Although European patent law (Fig. 1) is set up to protect a person's dignity, the development of iPSCs has opened a worrying loophole (Meskus and de Miguel Beriain 2013). The European Union Court of Justice, on October 18, 2011, delivered a crucial judgment in the aspect of human embryo



Fig. 1 UK and European legal framework for stem cell line patenting

protection in the case C-34/10 *Oliver Brüstle* vs. *Greenpeace eV.* By referring to the meaning of Article 6(2)(c) of Directive 98/44/EC, this case law clarified that those inventions, which involved human embryo destruction at any point, could not be patented (Spranger 2012). However, iPSCs were not in the contemplation of lawmakers when the Biotechnology Directive (Council Directive 98/44/EC and Parliament, from July 6, 1998) was drafted in 1999 (https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-contenEN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31998L0044). Based on the ruling, patents on stem cells generated from excess embryos from IVF or SCNT or through parthenogenesis will be banned. However, since iPSCs were not derived from embryos, the ruling leaves the door open to patents on iPSCs. Subsequently, in the United Kingdom, regulatory guidance has been offered, which opens the door for the patenting of iPSCs, potentially reviving ethical concerns (UKIPO. Inventions involving human embryonic stem cells, 2015, March 25, 2015).

The authors recommend a participatory, inclusive, and transparent process in establishing a workable iPSC patent system that considers the different moral values of all stakeholders in the stem cell field. Creating such a system may not be an easy task, considering the different moral values of all stakeholders. However, if accomplished, this will facilitate the bridging of a moral divide and ensure a consensus that benefits all. More debate and research are essential if we are to close the gap between patents and innovations.

Informed Consent and Donors' Right

Like any other research involving humans, consent is vital for hiPSC research, whether humans participate as research subjects or donors. Usual ethical standards require that participants are fully informed about the specific details of the proposed study, and they are expected to provide voluntary and well-informed consent to participate in the study. Informed consent ensures that the rights, interests, and dignity of patients are protected and respected. Individuals donating somatic cells for iPSC generation should have enough information and answers to address their concerns. The UK Stem Cell Toolkit (USCTK) summarizes iPSC applications concerning legislation (NIH, UK Stem Cell Toolkit 2018, July 1, 2021). These regulations can be used to determine what to include in a consent form. Informed consent should state if the donated cells involved research or clinical applications, genetic modification, animal testing, in vitro or in vivo trials, and whether it will be involved in a therapeutic or diagnostic product with any potential licensing and if there will be risks, complications, and uncertainties. Donors should refuse specific applications, and the right to withdraw one's cell lines should be discussed clearly in the form. If other applications were not mentioned in the initial document, consenting the donor to be recontacted for such an effect could prevent conflict (Zarzeczny et al. 2009; Aalto-Setälä et al. 2009; Orzechowski et al. 2020). Clear explanations and consent will need to be provided as well for patients treated with iPSCs.

Under what circumstances can the participants withdraw from a study? Should a time limit be considered for patient withdrawal? It can get quite complicated when it comes to withdrawal in stem cell research or cell therapy trials. All the steps involved, from obtaining somatic cells from donors to using them to generate iPSCs, are very expensive and time-consuming. So imagine a worse scenario where several donors request a withdrawal after establishing iPSC lines and, at the point, where the iPSCs are to be employed for a clinical study. Such a withdrawal will be very damaging to the research project, and it will be a complete waste of time, money, and other resources (Sugarman 2008). Although the usual standards of research ethics require that participants withdraw from the study at any time, and thus this right must be recognized, there can be "points of no return" that research participants should be informed about (Zarzeczny et al. 2009; Moradi et al. 2019). Points of no return can be when transplanted cells (in cell therapy trials) cannot be removed from the patient's body, thus receiving an irreversible treatment. Even cells donated for research (e.g., to a stem cell bank) may be challenging to withdraw if they have already been used to create a cell line. If there are any such points of no return relevant to given research projects, prospective participants should be informed about them. All this vital information, and the time limit for withdrawal, should be well specified in the consent form (Caulfield et al. 2007). It is indeed a challenge to balance the varied interest linked with iPSC research, considering the prospective benefits of the investigation as well as the interest of the donor. Nevertheless, the apparent policy positions should be adopted and followed through consistently to avoid unnecessary impediments to the research while ensuring the respect and protection of donors' rights.

Closely related to informed consent is the donor's right to control the scope of the research carried out on their cells as well as the scientific and commercial uses of stem cell lines derived from their cells. The stem cell lines will carry the deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) of the donor, which contains a wealth of information, including the genetic susceptibility of the donor to disease. The disclosure of such information could inappropriately breach the donors' right to their privacy (Sugarman 2008). In the USA, the federal law termed "Genetic Information Non-discrimination Act of 2008" is a typical example of a legislative way of addressing such issues (Taylor 2012). Donors' rights regarding iPSC research may be exercised in various ways. Some donors may not permit their cells to be injected into humans, and they may oppose all animal research or the mixing of human and animal genetic materials. These objections may lead to friction between obtaining the benefit of iPSC research and respecting the donor's autonomy.

One excellent way to address this issue is to preferentially utilize somatic cells only from donors willing to support and allow all forms of basic research into stem cells. However, this strategy has its risks. There is a danger of introducing bias in research if one decides to select only cells from donors who allow all forms of basic research. Additionally, what if those cells do not exhibit the properties needed for the research project? What if the recruitment of this type of subjects who agree to all forms of research takes considerable time and slows down the research project? Another approach is for researchers to ensure they give precise and thorough explanations about the nature of stem cell research when obtaining informed consent. Although an informed consent procedure that provides complete and relevant information, which enables autonomous decision-making, should be the goal of every recruitment process, this standard is probably not generally lived up to. Providing comprehensive explanations about the nature of stem cell research to the prospective participant can be a difficult task. Information about stem cell research can be quite complicated, and some details may not be understood if one does not provide some background details. In general, whatever approach is considered, the pros and cons should be thoroughly debated before recruiting patients for the study.

Conclusion

The use of stem cells remains a controversial topic despite the advent of hiPSCs. While their generation does not involve the destruction of an embryo, as with ESCs, debates on how they should be used are still relevant (Hug and Hermerén 2011). To address all the issues considered in this chapter and ensure that hiPSCs are not exploited or used unethically, pertinent regulations must be implemented. Perhaps the recent workshop held by the NIH can serve as a model for proactive policy evaluation (NIH VideoCast – Workshop on Animals Containing Human Cells 2015; NOT-OD-15-158: NIH Research Involving Introduction of Human Pluripotent Cells into Non-human Vertebrate Animal Pre-gastrulation Embryos). If stem cell scientists, bioethicists, and policy makers can maintain an open dialogue about the current state of research, then potential ethical issues on the horizon can be tackled in advance. Such an approach would allow hiPSCs for human treatment to be appropriately moderated without blocking vital research progress that will benefit all.

Cross-References

- Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) as a Platform for Modeling Arrhythmias
- Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

References

- Aalto-Setälä K, Conklin BR, Lo B (2009) Obtaining consent for future research with induced pluripotent cells: opportunities and challenges. PLoS Biol 7:e42
- Abujarour R, Valamehr B, Robinson M, Rezner B, Vranceanu F, Flynn P (2013) Optimized surface markers for the prospective isolation of high-quality hiPSCs using flow cytometry selection. Sci Rep 3:1179. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01179

- Advena-Regnery B, Dederer HG, Enghofer F, Cantz T, Heinemann T (2018) Framing the ethical and legal issues of human artificial gametes in research, therapy, and assisted reproduction: a German perspective. Bioethics 32(5):314–326. https://doi.org/10.1111/bioe.12433. PMID: 29878465; PMCID: PMC6001525
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Buccini S, Shujia J, Ashraf M (2011a) Reprogramming of skeletal myoblasts for induction of pluripotency for tumor free cardiomyogenesis in the infarcted hear. Circ Res 109:60–70
- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011b) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in immunocompetent host: a note of caution. Regen Med 6: 171–178
- Ahmed RPH, Buccini S, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) Surrogate progenitors for cardiogenesis: direct reprogramming of somatic cells to cross lineage restriction without pluripotency. Circulation (Suppl)
- Attwood SW, Edel MJ (2019) iPS-cell technology and the problem of genetic instability can it ever be safe for clinical use? J Clin Med Res 8:288
- Bourret R, Martinez E, Vialla F, Giquel C, Thonnat-Marin A, De Vos J (2016) Human–animal chimeras: ethical issues about farming chimeric animals bearing human organs. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0345-9
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301
- Cagavi E, Akgul Caglar T, Soztekin GI, Haider KH (2018) Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac disease modelling. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. de Gruyter, Berlin
- Caulfield T, Ogbogu U, Isasi RM (2007) Informed consent in embryonic stem cell research: are we following basic principles? CMAJ 176:1722–1725
- Cetinkaya DU, Haider KH (2020) Induced pluripotent stem cells in pediatric research and clinical translation. In: Stem cells: from hype to hope and more. Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne
- Chen IP, Fukuda K, Fusaki N, Iida A, Hasegawa M, Lichtler A, Reichenberger EJ (2013) Induced pluripotent stem cell reprogramming by integration-free Sendai virus vectors from peripheral blood of patients with craniometaphyseal dysplasia. Cell Reprogram 15(6):503–513. https://doi. org/10.1089/cell.2013.0037
- D'Antonio M, Benaglio P, Jakubosky D, Greenwald WW, Matsui H, Donovan MKR, Li H (2018) Insights into the mutational burden of human induced pluripotent stem cells from an integrative multi-omics approach. Cell Rep 24(4):883–894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.091
- De Trizio E, Brennan CS (2004) The business of human embryonic stem cell research and an international analysis of relevant laws. J Biolaw Bus 7:14–22
- Degrazia D (2007) Human-animal chimeras: human dignity, moral status, and species prejudice. Metaphilosophy 38:309–329
- Dhar D, Hsi-En Ho J (2009) Stem cell research policies around the world. Yale J Biol Med 82: 113–115
- Driscoll CB, Tonne JM, El Khati M, Cattaneo R, Ikeda Y, Devaux P (2015) Nuclear reprogramming with a non-integrating human RNA virus. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:48. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-015-0035-z
- Editorial (2007) Animal-human hybrid-embryo research. Lancet 370(9591):909. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0140-6736(07)61420-2
- European Parliament and of the Council (1999) Directive 98/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 1998 on the legal protection of biotechnological inventions. Forum 9: 15–24. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31998L0044
- Fang F, Li Z, Zhao Q, Li H, Xiong C (2018) Human induced pluripotent stem cells and male infertility: an overview of current progress and perspectives. Hum Reprod 33(2):188–195. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dex369

- González P, Haider KH (2021) Chapter 5. Genomic instability in stem cells: the basic issues. In: Stem cells: from potential to promise. Springer, Singapore
- Greely HT, Farahany NA (2021) Advancing the ethical dialogue about monkey/human chimeric embryos. Cell 184:1962–1963
- Gurdon JB (1962) The developmental capacity of nuclei taken from intestinal epithelium cells of feeding tadpoles. Development 10:622–640
- Hayashi K, Ohta H, Kurimoto K, Aramaki S, Saitou M (2011) Reconstitution of the mouse germ cell specification pathway in culture by pluripotent stem cells. Cell 146:519–532
- Hayashi K, Ogushi S, Kurimoto K, Shimamoto S (2012) Offspring from oocytes derived from in vitro primordial germ cell-like cells in mice. Science 338(6109):971–975
- Hug K, Hermerén G (2011) Do we still need human embryonic stem cells for stem cell-based therapies? Epistemic and ethical aspects. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7:761–774
- Hyun I, Taylor P, Testa G, Dickens B, Jung KW, McNab A, Robertson J, Skene L, Zoloth L (2007) Ethical standards for human-to-animal chimera experiments in stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell 1:159–163
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng 9(4):226–244
- Irie N, Weinberger L, Tang WWC, Kobayashi T, Viukov S, Manor YS, Dietmann S, Hanna JH, Azim Surani M (2015) SOX17 is a critical specifier of human primordial germ cell fate. Cell 160:253–268
- Ishii T, Reijo Pera RA, Greely HT (2013) Ethical and legal issues arising in research on inducing human germ cells from pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 13:145–148
- Isotani A, Hatayama H, Kaseda K, Ikawa M, Okabe M (2011) Formation of a thymus from rat ES cells in xenogeneic nude mouse⇔rat ES chimeras. Genes Cells 16:397–405
- Izadpanah R, Kaushal D, Kriedt C, Tsien F, Patel B, Dufour J, Bunnell BA (2008) Long-term in vitro expansion alters the biology of adult mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res 68(11): 4229–4238. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5272
- Kang L, Wang J, Zhang Y, Kou Z, Gao S (2009) iPS cells can support full-term development of tetraploid blastocyst-complemented embryos. Cell Stem Cell 5:135–138
- Kim Y, Jeong J, Choi D (2020) Small-molecule-mediated reprogramming: a silver lining for regenerative medicine. Exp Mol Med 52:213–226. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-0383-3
- Kimbrel EA, Lanza R (2015) Current status of pluripotent stem cells: moving the first therapies to the clinic. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14:681–692
- King NMP, Perrin J (2014) Ethical issues in stem cell research and therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 5:85
- Knoepfler P (2016) Human chimera research's huge (and thorny) potential. https://www.wired.com/ 2016/09/human-chimera-researchs-huge-thorny-potential/
- Kobayashi T, Yamaguchi T, Hamanaka S, Kato-Itoh M, Yamazaki Y, Ibata M, Sato H, Lee Y-S, Usui J-I, Knisely AS, Hirabayashi M, Nakauchi H (2010) Generation of rat pancreas in mouse by interspecific blastocyst injection of pluripotent stem cells. Cell 142:787–799
- Kojima K, Miyoshi H, Nagoshi N, Kohyama J, Itakura G, Kawabata S, Ozaki M, Iida T, Sugai K, Ito S, Fukuzawa R, Yasutake K, Renault-Mihara F, Shibata S, Matsumoto M, Nakamura M, Okano H (2019) Selective ablation of tumorigenic cells following human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem/progenitor cell transplantation in spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 8:260–270
- Koplin J, Wilkinson D (2019) Moral uncertainty and the farming of human-pig chimeras. J Med Ethics 45:440–446
- Kwisda K, White L, Hübner D (2020) Ethical arguments concerning human-animal chimera research: a systematic review. BMC Med Ethics 21:24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00465-7
- Lee XH, Ingrole RSJ, Gill HS (2020) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells using elastin like polypeptides as a non-viral gene delivery system. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1866(4):65405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2019.01.031

- Levine S, Grabel L (2017) The contribution of human/non-human animal chimeras to stem cell research. Stem Cell Res 24:128–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2017.09.005
- Liu X, Li C, Zheng K, Zhao X, Xu X, Yang A, Yi M et al (2020) Chromosomal aberration arises during somatic reprogramming to pluripotent stem cells. Cell Div 15:12. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13008-020-00068-z
- Lo B, Parham L (2009) Ethical issues in stem cell research. Endocr Rev 30:204-213
- Lo B, Parham L, Alvarez-Buylla A, Cedars M, Conklin B, Fisher S, Gates E, Giudice L, Halme DG, Hershon W, Kriegstein A, Kwok P-Y, Wagner R (2010) Cloning mice and men: prohibiting the use of iPS cells for human reproductive cloning. Cell Stem Cell 6:16–20
- Lowry WE, Richter L, Yachechko R, Pyle AD, Tchieu J, Sridharan R, Clark AT (2008) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells from dermal fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(8):2883–2888
- Maherali N, Sridharan R, Xie W, Utikal J, Eminli S, Arnold K, Stadtfeld M et al (2007) Directly reprogrammed fibroblasts show global epigenetic remodeling and widespread tissue contribution. Cell Stem Cell 1(1):55–70
- Marino L, Molchan S, Frances A, Valbrun TG, Kakkis ED, Skerrett P (2017) We've created humanpig chimeras – but we haven't weighed the ethics. https://www.statnews.com/2017/01/26/ chimera-humans-animals-ethics/
- Martinez-Fernandez A, Nelson TJ, Yamada S, Reyes S, Alekseev AE, Perez-Terzic C, Ikeda Y et al (2009) iPS programmed without c-MYC yield proficient cardiogenesis for functional heart chimerism. Circ Res 105:648–656. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109
- Mathews DJH, Donovan PJ, Harris J, Lovell-Badge R, Savulescu J, Faden R (2009) Pluripotent stem cell-derived gametes: truth and (potential) consequences. Cell Stem Cell 5:11–14
- Matoba S, Zhang Y (2018) Somatic cell nuclear transfer reprogramming: mechanisms and applications. Cell Stem Cell 23(4):471–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.06.018
- Mayor S (2008) UK regulatory body approves research using human-animal hybrid embryos. BMJ 336:177–177
- Meskus M, de Miguel Beriain I (2013) Embryo-like features of induced pluripotent stem cells defy legal and ethical boundaries. Croat Med J 54:589–591
- Moradi S, Mahdizadeh H, Šarić T, Kim J, Harati J, Shahsavarani H, Greber B, Moore JB (2019) Research and therapy with induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs): social, legal, and ethical considerations. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:1455
- Nakagawa M, Koyanagi M, Tanabe K, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, Okita K, Mochiduki Y, Takizawa N, Yamanaka S (2008) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol 26:101–106
- National Health Service, Health Research Authority, UK (2018) UK Stem Cells Toolkit. https:// www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/policies-standards-legislation/regenerativemedicine/. Accessed 1 July 2021
- National Institutes of Health (2015a) NIH research involving introduction of human pluripotent cells into non-human vertebrate animal pre-gastrulation embryos. https://grants.nih.gov/grants/ guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-15-158.html. Accessed 1 July 2021
- National Institutes of Health (2015b) Staying ahead of the curve on chimeras. https://osp.od.nih. gov/2015/09/23/staying-ahead-of-the-curve-on-chimeras/. Accessed 1 July 2021
- NIH (2015) NIH VideoCast workshop on animals containing human cells. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://videocast.nih.gov/watch=17471&bhcp=1
- NOT-OD-15-158. NIH research involving introduction of human pluripotent cells into non-human vertebrate animal pre-gastrulation embryos. National Institutes of Health. https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-15-158.html
- Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S (2007) Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448:313–317
- Omole AE, Fakoya AOJ (2018) Ten years of progress and promise of induced pluripotent stem cells: historical origins, characteristics, mechanisms, limitations, and potential applications. PeerJ 6:e4370

- Orzechowski M, Schochow M, Kühl M, Steger F (2020) Donor information in research and drug evaluation with induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). Stem Cell Res Ther 11:1644
- Palacios-González C (2015) Ethical aspects of creating human–nonhuman chimeras capable of human gamete production and human pregnancy. Monash Bioeth Rev 33:181–202
- Panula S, Medrano JV, Kee K, Bergström R, Nguyen HN, Byers B, Wilson KD, Wu JC, Simon C, Hovatta O, Reijo Pera RA (2011) Human germ cell differentiation from fetal- and adult-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. Hum Mol Genet 20:752–762
- Park IH, Zhao R, West JA, Yabuuchi A, Huo H, Ince TA, Lerou PH (2008) Reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency with defined factors. Nature 451(7175):141–146
- Pasha Z, Haider HK, Ashraf M (2011) Efficient non-viral reprogramming of myoblasts to stemness with a single small molecule to generate cardiac progenitor cells. PLoS One 6(8):e23667. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023667
- Pattinson SD (2007) Medical law and ethics. Hum Reprod Genet Ethics 13:37a–37a. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1748-121X.2007.00043 1.x
- Røsland GV, Svendsen A, Torsvik A, Sobala E, McCormack E, Immervoll H, Mysliwietz J et al (2009) Long-term cultures of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells frequently undergo spontaneous malignant transformation. Cancer Res 69(13):5331–5339. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4630
- Sasaki K, Yokobayashi S, Nakamura T, Okamoto I, Yabuta Y, Kurimoto K, Ohta H, Moritoki Y, Iwatani C, Tsuchiya H, Nakamura S, Sekiguchi K, Sakuma T, Yamamoto T, Mori T, Woltjen K, Nakagawa M, Yamamoto T, Takahashi K, Yamanaka S, Saitou M (2015) Robust in vitro induction of human germ cell fate from pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 17:178–194
- Savulescu J (2016) Should a human-pig chimera be treated as a person? https://aeon.co/ideas/ should-a-human-pig-chimera-be-treated-as-a-person
- Schrecker T, McGill Centre for Medicine, Ethics, and Law, Westminster Institute for Ethics and Human Values (1997) Ethical issues associated with the patenting of higher life forms [electronic resource]. Westminster Institute for Ethics and Human Values, London
- Smith AG (2001) Embryo-derived stem cells: of mice and men. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:435-462
- Solo P, Pressberg G (2007) The promise and politics of stem cell research. Greenwood Publishing Group, Westport
- Spranger TM (2012) Case C-34/10, Oliver Brüstle v. Greenpeace e.V., Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 18 October 2011, nyr. Common Market Law Rev 49:1197–1210
- Sugarman J (2008) Human stem cell ethics: beyond the embryo. Cell Stem Cell 2:529–533
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131:861–872
- Taylor M (2012) Genetic discrimination. In: Genetic data and the law. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 180–198
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282:1145–1147
- Turinetto V, Orlando L, Giachino C (2017) Induced pluripotent stem cells: advances in the quest for genetic stability during reprogramming process. Int J Mol Sci 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms18091952
- United Kingdom Intellectual Property Office (UKIPO) (2015) Inventions involving human embryonic stem cells. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inventions-involving-human-embryonicstem-cells-25-march-2015/inventions-involving-human-embryonic-stem-cells-25-march-2015
- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, Armstrong L, Djonov V, Lako M, Stojkovic M (2018) Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. Int J Med Sci 15:36–45
- Wang Y, Zhang Z, Chi Y, Zhang Q, Xu F, Yang Z, Meng L et al (2013) Long-term cultured mesenchymal stem cells frequently develop genomic mutations but do not undergo malignant transformation. Cell Death Dis 4:e950. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.480

- Wernig M, Meissner A, Foreman R, Brambrink T, Ku M, Hochedlinger K, Bernstein BE, Jaenisch R (2007) In vitro reprogramming of fibroblasts into a pluripotent ES-cell-like state. Nature 448(7151):318–324
- Wilmut I, Schnieke AE, McWhir J, Kind AJ, Campbell KHS (1997) Viable offspring derived from fetal and adult mammalian cells. Nature 385:810–813
- Wilmut I, Bai Y, Taylor J (2015) Somatic cell nuclear transfer: origins, the present position and future opportunities. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 370(1680):20140366. https://doi. org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0366
- Wu J, Greely HT, Jaenisch R, Nakauchi H, Rossant J, Belmonte JCI (2016) Stem cells and interspecies chimaeras. Nature 540:51–59
- Wu J, Platero-Luengo A, Sakurai M, Sugawara A, Gil MA, Yamauchi T, Suzuki K et al (2017) Interspecies chimerism with mammalian pluripotent stem cells. Cell 168:473–486.e15
- Wuputra K, Ku CC, Wu DC, Lin Y-C, Saito S, Yokoyama KK (2020) Prevention of tumor risk associated with the reprogramming of human pluripotent stem cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 39: 100. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-020-01584-0
- Yamaguchi T, Sato H, Kato-Itoh M, Goto T, Hara H, Sanbo M, Mizuno N, Kobayashi T, Yanagida A, Umino A, Ota Y, Hamanaka S, Masaki H, Rashid ST, Hirabayashi M, Nakauchi H (2017) Interspecies organogenesis generates autologous functional islets. Nature 542: 191–196
- Yamanaka S (2020) Pluripotent stem cell-based cell therapy promise and challenges. Cell Stem Cell 27:523–531
- Yamashiro C, Sasaki K, Yabuta Y, Kojima Y, Nakamura T, Okamoto I, Yokobayashi S, Murase Y, Ishikura Y, Shirane K, Sasaki H, Yamamoto T, Saitou M (2018) Generation of human oogonia from induced pluripotent stem cells in vitro. Science 362:356–360
- Yoshihara M, Araki R, Kasama Y, Sunayama M, Abe M, Nishida K, Kawaji H, Hayashizaki Y, Murakawa Y (2017a) Hotspots of de novo point mutations in induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep 21:308–315
- Yoshihara M, Hayashizaki Y, Murakawa Y (2017b) Genomic instability of iPSCs: challenges towards their clinical applications. Stem Cell Rev Rep 13:7–16
- Yoshimatsu S, Nakajima M, Iguchi A, Sanosaka T, Sato T, Nakamura M, Nakajima R (2021) Non-viral induction of transgene-free iPSCs from somatic fibroblasts of multiple mammalian species. Stem Cell Rep 16(4):754–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2021.03.002
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318:1917–1920
- Zacharias DG, Nelson TJ, Mueller PS, Hook CC (2011) The science and ethics of induced pluripotency: what will become of embryonic stem cells? Mayo Clin Proc 86:634–640
- Zarzeczny A, Scott C, Hyun I, Bennett J, Chandler J, Chargé S, Heine H, Isasi R, Kato K, Lovell-Badge R, McNagny K, Pei D, Rossant J, Surani A, Taylor PL, Ogbogu U, Caulfield T (2009) iPS cells: mapping the policy issues. Cell 139:1032–1037
- Zhang X, Stojkovic P, Przyborski S, Cooke M, Armstrong L, Lako M, Stojkovic M (2006) Derivation of human embryonic stem cells from developing and arrested embryos. Stem Cells 24:2669–2676
- Zhang P-Y, Fan Y, Tan T, Yu Y (2020) Generation of artificial gamete and embryo from stem cells in reproductive medicine. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:781. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020. 00781
- Zhao X-Y, Li W, Lv Z, Liu L, Tong M, Hai T, Hao J, Guo C-L, Ma Q-W, Wang L, Zeng F, Zhou Q (2009) iPS cells produce viable mice through tetraploid complementation. Nature 461: 86–90
- Zhao X-Y, Lv Z, Li W, Zeng F, Zhou Q (2010) Production of mice using iPS cells and tetraploid complementation. Nat Protoc 5:963–971
- Zheng YL (2016) Some ethical concerns about human induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci Eng Ethics 22:1277–1284



Response of the Bone Marrow Stem Cells 40 and the Microenvironment to Stress

Marrow Adipose Tissue and Leukemia

Duygu Uçkan-Çetinkaya and Bihter Muratoğlu

Contents

Introduction	1183
Bone Marrow Microenvironment	1184
Components of the Bone Marrow Microenvironment	1184
Different Stem Cell Niches in the BM Microenvironment and Their	
Spatial Position	1185
Dynamic Interactions in the BM Microenvironment	1187
Bone Marrow and Stress Response	1191
Cell and Microenvironment Response to Stressors	1191
Hematopoietic Stress Response	1193
Environmental Hematopoietic Stressors	1196
BM Microenvironment Alterations, Dysregulation, and Myeloid Leukemia	1199
Development of Secondary Myeloid Malignancy	1201
BM Microenvironment as a Contributor/Driver of Leukemia	1206
Metabolic Dysregulation and the Role of Adipocytes in the Malignant Niche	1209
Marrow Adipose Tissue and Leukemia	1210
Environmental Stressors and Adipose Tissue	1213
Conclusions	1214
References	1215

D. Uçkan-Çetinkaya (🖂)

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Hematology, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Center for Stem Cell Research and Development (PEDI-STEM), Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Stem Cell Sciences, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: duckan@hacettepe.edu.tr

B. Muratoğlu

Center for Stem Cell Research and Development (PEDI-STEM), Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Stem Cell Sciences, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: bihtermuratoglu@hacettepe.edu.tr

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 22

Abstract

In recent studies, the critical roles of the bone marrow microenvironment (BMME) and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in the pathophysiology of leukemia have been addressed. Yet, the mechanisms need to be defined. Leukemia results from a clonal transformation of hematopoietic precursors by the acquisition of chromosomal rearrangements, genetic mutations, and epigenetic modifications. It has been shown that the initiating intrinsic event then leads to alteration of the BMME to support the survival of leukemic blasts. There is limited data for a primary/initiator role for the BMME leading to the development of leukemia. In humans, the development of myelodysplastic syndrome/secondary acute myeloblastic leukemia years after chemotherapy use, besides intrinsic factors, may point to a critical role of the altered/dysregulated ME in the development of leukemia. Similarly, in inherited diseases with DNA repair defects (e.g., Fanconi anemia), long-term xenobiotic exposure and accumulation in the BMME may contribute to the development of leukemia. These factors suggest a previously underestimated but essential role for the BMME in hematological malignancies. Recently, the role of marrow adipose tissue (MAT), by providing free fatty acids through lipolysis, is being addressed as an important factor supporting leukemic blast survival. On the other hand, adipose tissue inflammation is another topic of interest reported to be associated with obesity, insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular defects, and cancer. In this chapter, the metabolic response of BMME to stress will be discussed with particular attention to MSCs, MAT, and clinical implications in leukemia.

Keywords

Adipocytes · Bone marrow microenvironment (niche) · Leukemia · Marrow adipose tissue · Mesenchymal stem cells · Metabolic · Stress · Xenobiotic

Aryl hydrocarbon receptor		
Acute myeloblastic leukemia		
Angiopoietin		
The AhR nuclear translocator		
Activating transcription factor 4		
Activating transcription factor 6		
Adipose triglyceride lipase		
Bone marrow		
Brain and muscle ARNT-like 1		
Bone marrow microenvironment		
Breast cancer		
cxcl12-abundant reticular		
C-C motif chemokine ligand		
C-C motif chemokine ligand 2		

List of Abbreviations

CCL3	C-C motif chemokine ligand 3
CFU-F	Colony-forming unit-fibroblast
СНОР	C/EBP homologous protein
CLOCK	Circadian locomotor output cycles kaput
cMAT	Constitutive marrow adipose tissue
CRY	Cryptochrome
CXCL12	C-X-C motif chemokine 12
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
CYP	Cytochrome P450
DAMP	Danger-associated molecular patterns
DDR	DNA damage response
ECM	Extracellular membrane
ECV	Extracellular vesicle
eIF2-α	Eukarvotic translation initiation factor- 2α
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FA	Fanconi anemia
FABP4	Fatty acid-binding protein 4
FAO	Fatty acid oxidation
FAT	Fatty acid translocase
FATP	Fatty acid transport protein
FFA	Free fatty acids
FLT3 TKIs	FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 inhibitors
FOXC2	Forkhead box protein C2
GCSF	Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GMPs	Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors
GSTs	Glutathione S-transferases
HIF1	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HIF1-alpha	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha
HIF2-alpha	Hypoxia-inducible factor 2 alpha
HSCs	Hematonoietic stem cells
HSL	Hormone-sensitive linase
HSP	Heat shock protein
ICL	Interstrand crosslink
Id1	Inhibitor of DNA binding 1
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IL-1 beta	Interleukin 1 beta
IL10	Interleukin 10
IL6	Interleukin 6
11.8	Interleukin 8
IR	Ionizing radiation
IRE1-alpha	Inositol-requiring enzyme 1 alpha
ITD	Internal tandem duplication
LepR	Leptin receptor
LT-HSCs	Long-term hematopoietic stem cells
L1-110C3	Long term nematopoletic stem cens

MDR	Multidrug resistance
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome
MEIS1	Myeloid ecotropic viral integration site 1
MGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase
MK	Megakaryocyte
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MPL	Myeloproliferative leukemia protein
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NE	Norepinephrine
NES	Nestin
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa B
O ₂	Oxygen
PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PER	Period
PERK	Protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase
PGC	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator
POPs	Persistent organic pollutants
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PRDM16	PR domain containing protein 16
PTPN	Protein tyrosine phosphatase nonreceptor type
rMAT	Regulated marrow adipose tissue
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
sAML	Secondary AML
SCF	Stem cell factor
SCF	Stem cell factor
SDS	Shwachman-Diamond syndrome
SMAD	Small MAD family
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
t-AML	Therapy-related AML
t-MNS	Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms
TCDD	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzodioxin
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor
Tie2	TIE receptor tyrosine kinase
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-alpha	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TPO	Thrombopoietin
UCP-1	Uncoupling protein 1
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UV	Ultraviolet
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VCAM1	Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
-------	------------------------------------
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VLA4	Very late antigen 4
XBP1	X-box binding protein 1
XREs	Xenobiotic response elements
	_

Introduction

Being the main reservoir of stem cells, the bone marrow (BM) is a critical tissue in maintaining homeostasis and coordinating stress response in the organism. In addition to its essential role in the production of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and progenitors, it is also a major depot for mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) and endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), making this tissue an essential player in regenerative medicine. Therefore, BM is a critical tissue in determining the organism's response to stress.

Cells are exposed to several types of stress, including oxidative, inflammatory, genotoxic, hypoxic, replicative, or nutrient stress. Uncovering the stress response of cells and tissues is critical to understand the mechanisms of diseases. The autonomic nervous system and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, through sympathetic, parasympathetic mediators, and cortisol release, coordinate the stress response, respectively. The released hormones and mediators act on several organs and tissues (Herman et al. 2003; Ulrich-Lai et al. 2009). Bone marrow has neural innervation by the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) under circadian control, which is critical for cell trafficking, both in homeostasis and in pathological states (Lucas et al. 2008; Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2008). The changing demands of hematopoiesis upon exposure to stressors are met by the spectacular ability of the BM microenvironment in coordinating hematological, immunological functions and metabolism (Zhao and Baltimore 2015). Stress may be overcome through compensatory mechanisms. However, upon chronic exposure to stress, the response mechanisms may fail to deal with the stressful condition and lead to chronic inflammation in the BM that may contribute to hematological abnormalities, such as leukemia.

Among several components of the BM microenvironment, adipocytes have been attracting a lot of attention lately in malignant transformation of hematopoiesis and metastasis of solid tumors (Cawthorn et al. 2016; Shafat et al. 2017). Adipocytes adjacent to tumor cells are involved in metabolic cross-talk, providing adipokines and lipids. Recent evidence suggests that adipose tissue plays a role in cancer aggressiveness by promoting tumor growth, metastasis, increasing cellular lipid metabolism, and chemoresistance (Lengyel et al. 2018).

In this chapter, we summarize the dynamic interactions and alterations in the BM microenvironment in both steady state and upon exposure to stressors and discuss the role of stromal factors in developing myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and acute myeloblastic leukemia (AML).

Bone Marrow Microenvironment

Components of the Bone Marrow Microenvironment

The BM microenvironment is a specialized environment since it provides a niche for stem/progenitor cells, including HSCs, MSCs, and EPCs. It is an enriched and dynamic milieu responding to physiological or stress signals coordinated according to the need of the relevant tissue. Therefore, in addition to its primary function in hematopoiesis, it is essential in maintaining homeostasis, making it a significant player in regenerative medicine. The BM microenvironment is composed of cells of hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic origin (MSCs, pericytes, adipocytes, osteoblasts, macrophages, endothelial cells, osteoclasts, nerve cells, chondrocytes, fibroblasts), a specialized extracellular matrix (ECM) rich in proteins (fibronectin, collagens I-XI, laminin, tenascin, thrombospondin, elastin), proteoglycans (hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate, heparan sulfate, keratan sulfate), heparin, glycoproteins, integrins, adhesion molecules, and a soluble environment composed of cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, hormones, metabolites, and extracellular vesicles (ECV), all of which play a critical role in determining stem cell functions such as dormancy, proliferation, adhesion, differentiation, autophagy, apoptosis, and migration (Klamer and Voermans 2014; Crane et al. 2017). Therefore, the marrow is a tissue where active cell trafficking occurs not only under stress but also in a steady state to keep up with the physiological cell turnover. This dynamic microenvironment is regulated through the circadian clock, influenced by extrinsic and intrinsic factors influencing cell to cell, cell to ECM, and cell to soluble microenvironment interactions in the niche (Haus et al. 1983; Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2008).

With an understanding of the critical roles of the BM microenvironment in stem cell biology, many studies have been performed in the last two decades to define the physical, biochemical, and biological characteristics of the BM microenvironment. However, most studies about marrow stem cell niches were hypothetical until the recent technological developments in multi-omics and single-cell study methods, imaging techniques, which led to a better understanding of hematopoiesis and its microenvironment (Liu et al. 2020a). Progress in discovering genetic tools for functionally identifying niche cells in vivo (mice and zebrafish experiments) and new imaging techniques led to better identification of stem cell niche factors (Crane et al. 2017; Wolock et al. 2019).

The recent discovery of the continuous differentiation model of hematopoiesis has suggested that HSCs may bypass discrete hierarchy and gradually acquire lineage biases along with multiple directions (Laurenti et al. 2019). These new developments in hematopoiesis research necessitate a new understanding of the stromal compartment as well. An important study in this area is the extensive mapping of the differentiation paths of non-hematopoietic cells and delineating the BM stroma's differentiation hierarchy (Wolock et al. 2019). Another recent study used combined single-cell and spatially resolved transcriptomics techniques for mapping distinct BM niches by determining their molecular, cellular, and spatial

composition. They could profile all major BM-resident cell types, determine their localization, and clarify sources of pro-hematopoietic factors (Baccin et al. 2020).

These studies confirmed the heterogeneity of stromal niche populations and their close functional interaction with the differentiation stage of the nearby stem/progenitor cells emphasizing the critical roles of spatial positioning and the dynamic interactions in the BM microenvironment.

Different Stem Cell Niches in the BM Microenvironment and Their Spatial Position

The spatial position of different specialized niches in the BM with diverse functions has been a well-adopted opinion since the earlier studies (Wilson and Trumpp 2006). However, unlike the intestinal and skin stem cell niches (Clevers 2013; Hsu et al. 2014), it is challenging to identify BM niches due to their semi-fluidic soft connective tissue structure inside the bone cavity. The HSCs are located near the endosteal lining of the BM cavities or are in close contact with the endothelium of the sinusoids. The hypoxic and calcium-rich endosteal/osteoblastic niche creates a protective and glycolytic microenvironment for the long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs), keeping them in a quiescent state with low metabolic activity and away from toxic insults (Wilson and Trumpp 2006). However, it was shown that the perisinusoidal region also hosts HSCs, in fact, more than the endosteal region. It is known that the marrow is a highly vascularized tissue, and the entire inter-bone space is filled with BM that is fully vascularized, leaving no room for vessel-distant-niches (Stegner et al. 2017). Thus, endothelial cells are present both in the perisinusoidal region (venous type) and also nearby of the endosteum (arteriolar type) (Klamer and Voermans 2014). Therefore, the term "central niche" rather than "vascular niche" is preferred when referring to the perisinusoidal region (Kiel et al. 2005; Lo Celso et al. 2009; Ding et al. 2012; Kunisaki et al. 2013; Acar et al. 2015). Transition zone vessels, connecting arterioles with sinusoids, are also described in the BM microenvironment, located close to the bone surface (Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2020). It has been shown that the spatial position of cells in the marrow is closely associated with the stage of differentiation of cells, earlier stage HSCs and B lymphocytic progenitors residing preferentially in the endosteal niche (Zhu et al. 2007; Wu et al. 2009; Ding and Morrison 2013; Gazit et al. 2014; Morrison and Scadden 2014). Two stromal cell populations representing endosteal and sub-endosteal niches of mice play active and complementary roles on HSCs' recruitment from a quiescent niche into a proliferative niche and/or its engagement into the differentiation cascade (Balduino et al. 2012). In the central/perisinusoidal niche, the metabolic milieu with increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) resulting from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation plays a role in directing HSCs towards mature hematopoietic cell lineages. It is stated that the leaky sinusoidal blood vessels with fenestrated basal lamina provide a site of blood cell migration between the BM and the circulation upon exposure of HSCs to blood plasma components and increases in ROS levels (Crane et al. 2017).

Although HSCs' quiescence is critical in maintaining the stem cell pool, recent studies have also shown the critical role of long-lived progenitors in maintaining steady-state hematopoiesis (Sun et al. 2014). Thus, the spatial position of progenitors is suggested to be involved in the regulation of proliferation and differentiation during both steady-state and under hematopoietic stress (Hérault et al. 2017a). The frequent turnover of mature neutrophils and macrophages necessitates a unique localization of granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMPs) to regulate their proliferation, differentiation, and responding to negative feedback in the niche. Individual GMPs are scattered throughout the BM in a steady state, whereas during regeneration, clusters are formed from expanding GMP patches, locally differentiating into granulocytes. Besides the granulocytic lineage, a revised model of megakaryopoiesis based on spatial location has been described in which a vessel-biased megakaryocyte pool rather than the migration mechanism from a distant endosteal niche is emphasized (Larson and Watson 2006; Stegner et al. 2017). These findings demonstrate the importance of spatial position in the stress response of the BM microenvironment.

MSCs, being the source of the connective tissue cells, are critical microenvironment factors in coordinating the highly organized BM microenvironment network for healthy hematopoiesis. There is significant heterogeneity among MSCs, both phenotypically and functionally. The standard stromal markers, including CD105, CD29, CD44, CD90, CD73, do not discriminate against different subsets of MSCs. The recent International Society for Cell Therapy (ISCT) standardized norms for characterization of MSCs has been instrumental to remove the inconsistencies regarding the nomenclature as well as biological characteristics of MSCs (Haider 2018). According to ISCT recommendation, MSCs show expression of CD73, CD90, CD105 and lack CD34, CD45, HLA-DR, CD14 or CD11b, CD79a or CD19 membrane surface molecules. It was shown that the perisinusoidal niche is supported by leptin receptor-positive (LepR+) stromal cells with active roles in HSC homing and mobilization (Ding et al. 2012; Ding and Morrison 2013), whereas nestin-positive (NES+) cells in the periarteriolar niche promote quiescence (Kunisaki et al. 2013). Nestin is a typical protein of neural cells (Zlaee et al. 2017). When present on MSCs shows higher colony-forming fibroblast (CFU-F) activity, self-renewal, and multilineage differentiation ability (Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2010b; Zhou et al. 2014). A significant overlap between LepR+ cells and NES+ cells and with those with high levels of CXCL12 (CXCL12-abundant reticular/CAR cells (Sugiyama et al. 2006) have been described. LepR+/CAR cells, although they represent a very low population in the BM, they have long processes that are present throughout the bone marrow and become closely associated with HSCs. Both adjpocytes and osteoblasts are cell types differentiated from their precursors, MSCs. A recent study reported two types of cells based on the preferential expression of LepR (Adipo-CAR) and osterix (Osteo-CAR). Spatial analysis revealed localization of Adipo-CAR cells to sinusoids and Osteo-CARs to arterioles in the BM (Baccin et al. 2020). The pericytes in the arteriolar endothelium in the endosteal region were reported to be more quiescent similar to their HSC neighbors, were LepR- and innervated by sympathetic nerves. In contrast, sinusoidal pericytes were positive for the perivascular marker LepR and hosted cycling HSCs (Klamer and Voermans 2014).

Despite the sophisticated experimental studies providing evidence about the role of differential localization and different functions of BM stem cell niches, there is a lack of confirmatory studies in humans. There is a need for clinical translation of the significantly accumulated basic knowledge and experimental works to humans. Metabolic profiling is a valuable tool to determine the state of cells in different microenvironment conditions. Studies have shown that cells with a low mitochondrial potential are highly enriched for HSCs and progenitors in both mice and humans. The LT-HSCs utilize glycolysis with low oxygen consumption rates, have low mitochondrial potential, and have better repopulation ability. These studies have pointed out the hypoxic metabolism, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF1 α), MEIS 1, and the unique metabolic profile of the hematopoietic niche (Simsek et al. 2010; Kocabas et al. 2015). To investigate the spatial position of human hematopoietic niches, we analyzed BM samples derived by superficial and deep aspiration from healthy human BM transplant donors by metabolomics and transcriptomics analyses and determined region-specific metabolic profiles. Significant differences in energy metabolism were detected between two anatomically different regions of the marrow. As expected, the superficial/cortical region of the marrow was representative of the endosteal niche and was enriched for the pentose phosphate pathway. In contrast, the citrate cycle pathway was enriched in the deeper aspiration region, likely, the central marrow region. The culture-expanded MSCs from the superficial and deeper marrow aspiration regions showed differences in gene expression profiles (Ayhan et al. 2021).

Dynamic Interactions in the BM Microenvironment

Increasing knowledge of the dynamic interactions and the metabolic state of the BM microenvironment is essential to understand stress response and disease pathophysiology. The BM is a site of high cell turnover and heavy cell/stem cell trafficking. Following BM transplantation, donor HSCs home to the hematopoietic niche in the marrow and, through adhesive interactions with the cells and the ECM, reside in the endosteal, then in perisinusoidal niches to provide lifelong hematopoiesis of donor type. Homing and retention in the hematopoietic niches are mediated through receptor-ligand interactions between cells and the ECM involving chemokines and adhesion molecules (Heazlewood et al. 2014; Sánchez-Aguilera and Méndez-Ferrer 2017; Wei and Frenette 2018; Pinho and Frenette 2019). Stem cell niches in the BM microenvironment interact with each other and metabolic factors are critical in determining the fate of cell populations in the marrow. Hypoxic state/HIF1 α is an important determinant in spatial positioning of LT-HSCs in the quiescent niche in which the metabolic milieu is compatible with a glycolytic environment with low NADH, low mitochondrial activity, and active pentose phosphate pathways. On the other hand, mitochondrial plasticity is also a crucial factor in cell fate determination. Migration of HSCs towards ROS high central/perisinusoidal region favors differentiation, proliferation, and mobilization of HSCs to peripheral blood (Bahat and Gross 2019).

Many cell types are involved in the retention or mobilization of stem cells. Osteoblasts, macrophages, NES+ MSCs provide HSCs retention and maintenance signals, whereas activation of perisinusoidal LepR+ MSCs, osteoclasts, endothelial cells are needed for mobilization. Interactions between cells and ECM components determine the adherence characteristics of HSCs to their niche. CXCL12/CXCR4, VCAM1/VLA4, Angpt1/Tie2, SCF/C-kit, TPO/MPL signaling, matrix components consisting of adhesion molecules, integrins, N-cadherins, osteopontin, calcium ions, hypoxic environment, and TGF- β signaling are among the essential mechanisms providing adherence and maintenance in the quiescent hematopoietic niche (Lapidot and Petit 2002; Arai et al. 2004; Lapidot et al. 2005; Dar et al. 2005; Ramirez et al. 2009; Bonig et al. 2009; Li 2011).

Under steady-state conditions, the great majority of HSCs and progenitors reside in the BM; only a small number rhythmically leave the BM. Autonomic signals from the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) in response to "in need" signals regulate the circadian rhythm of HSC and progenitor mobilization by affecting cytokine, chemokine, cell, and ECM interactions. The HSCs neighboring the arteriolar blood vessels are surrounded by the SNS fibers. HSCs' maintenance/retention factors such as SCF and CXCL12 are expressed by NES+/NG2+ (pericyte-specific marker) perivascular MSCs. The non-myelinating Schwann cells also maintain HSC quiescence by activating the TGF- β /SMAD signaling. Following circadian secretion of norepinephrine (NE) by the SNS, CXCL2 levels oscillate within the BM microenvironment, orchestrating steady-state egress. When activated, HSCs relocate near the NES low LepR+ MSCs in the perisinusoidal area and are rhythmically released to peripheral blood (Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2010a).

Physiological or stress signals, including cortisol release, toxic insults, chemotherapy, radiation, hypoxia, infection-associated danger signals, and a variety of systemic stressors, metabolites are involved in mobilization. This process is carried out by mechanisms that interfere with retention and activate mobilizing mechanisms resulting in the migration of HSCs towards the perisinusoidal region. Research on stem cell mobilizing strategies has broad implications in clinics, not only in hematological conditions but also in regenerative applications (Wang et al. 2006a, b; Elmadbouh et al. 2007; Haider et al. 2008; Tano et al. 2011; Jiang et al. 2012). Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (GCSF) is the best known and widely used HSCs mobilizing agent used in HSCs transplantation, also in oncology clinics to hasten recovery from neutropenia. It is endogenously secreted from the BM microenvironment in response to physiological and stress signals. GCSF induces significant changes in the BM; it directly or indirectly interferes with nearly all components of the hematopoietic niche, including the cellular members, ECM, and signaling molecules inducing significant physical and metabolic changes (Greenbaum and Link 2011). The first step in the mobilization process is detachment from the BM niches by interfering with the anchoring interactions mediated by CXCL12, VCAM-1, and their receptors. Interaction of GCSF with its receptor on the SNS leads to: suppression of the niche support function of macrophages and osteolineage cells (Katayama et al. 2006; Chow et al. 2011), inhibition of stromal cell synthesis of retention factors such as CXCL12 (Petit et al. 2002), and interruption of CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling leading to increased proliferation and mobilization to blood associated with reduced BM but increased blood CXCL12 levels and upregulated CXCR4 expression. GCSF induced neutrophil activation, degranulation, and release of granulocyte proteases, such as neutrophil elastase and cathepsin, play a role in the proteolytic inactivation of these factors and creation of the chemokine gradient for egress (Ratajczak 2015; Hatfield et al. 2017; Itkin et al. 2017; Wei and Frenette 2018).

Proteolytic activation of several factors in BM microenvironment is necessary during HSPCs mobilization. Significant changes occur in all ECM components for mobilization, heparan sulfate proteoglycans being a major one. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans are key regulators of the hematopoietic niche, and their functions are dynamically modified depending on the stage of cell maturity and according to physiological or stress signals. It was shown that heparan sulfate chain structures are continuously remodeled in a spatiotemporal fashion while the stem and progenitor cells progress through various differentiation pathways (Papy-Garcia and Albanese 2017). On the other hand, activation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-9, MMP-1) also leads to significant alterations in the ECM. Mobilization from the marrow induces substantial changes in the coagulation and the complement systems as well. Plasminogen plays an essential role particularly in the GCSF-induced mobilization by binding to the BM ECM and, after conversion into plasmin, by degrading various proteins including fibrin, laminin, and activating other proteases, such as MMP-3, MMP-9, MMP-12, and MMP-13, and degrading other matrix components, such as collagen. Similarly, the urokinase plasminogen activator, part of the plasminogen activating system, is also involved in cell traffic (Gong and Hoover-Plow 2012). Moreover, activation of the complement cascade proteins C3 and C5 leads to establishing a highly proteolytic microenvironment that degrades CXCL12. Activation of osteoclasts and secretion of cathepsin K and CD26 (dipeptidyl-peptidase 4) are also involved in the cleavage of CXCL12 and mobilization (Lapidot and Petit 2002; Itkin et al. 2017).

Another important function of CD26 in mobilization is its effect on vasculature. The BM endothelial cells are essential players in the regulation of HSC trafficking. CD26 is expressed by endothelial cells and is involved in maintaining vascular barrier function during stress-induced conditions (Itkin et al. 2017). Recently, the critical role of signaling through neuropeptide Y on HSC trafficking has been shown through its effects on BM vasculature, raising the importance of targeting vasculature as a mobilizing strategy. The expression of CD26 by endothelial cells activates NPY-mediated signaling by increasing the bioavailability of the truncated form of NPY. Neuropeptide Y is released from SNS nerves, enhances the activity of MMP-9, and affects HSC function by modulating MSCs, osteoblasts, and macrophages (Singh et al. 2017). Neuropeptide Y-mediated direct regulation of HSCs' quiescence was also reported by the authors (Ulum et al. 2020).

Other groups of molecules involved in the mobilization process are the angiopoietins (Ang) and angiopoietin-like proteins, with important roles in vascular development, angiogenesis, which also affect the BM niche functions (Arai et al. 2004). Angiopoietins are regulators of endothelial cell interactions with supporting perivascular cells.

Angiopoietin-1 and 2 are ligands of endothelial-specific tyrosine kinase receptor, Tie2. Ang1 and Tie2 interaction is important in quiescent niche function and vascular stabilization. Apart from being an endothelial survival factor, Ang1 protects HSCs from cellular stress, thus contributing to the maintenance of the cells in a quiescent state in the BM niche. On the other hand, Ang2 acts on Tie2-expressing resting endothelial cells as an antagonistic ligand to negatively interfere with the vessel stabilizing effects of constitutive Ang1/Tie2 signaling promotes apoptosis of endothelial cells (Lei et al. 2007a). It was initially identified as a disruptive agent of the vasculature. It has been shown that Ang2 plays a complex role in angiogenesis, depending on the physiological and biochemical environment, acting either as an agonist or antagonist of Tie2 induced angiogenesis (Lei et al. 2007b). Co-overexpression of Akt and Ang-1 significantly contributes stem cell proliferation via miR-143 which critically regulates Erk5/CyclinD1 signaling (Lai et al. 2012a, b) and also causes stabilization of HIF1alpha and supports endothelial commitment of BM stem cells (Lai et al. 2012b). Ang2 is critical for cytokine-induced vascular leakage and controls the vascular response to inflammation associated with cytokine-induced intracellular calcium influx. With these properties, Ang2 has a role in stress-induced mobilization (Benest et al. 2013). Ang-like 4 (Agptl4) is another factor with critical roles in BM vasculature. Recently, it was shown that Angptl4 inhibition led to increased BM vascular permeability and increased trafficking of HSCs and progenitors into circulation in BM homeostasis and as a stress response (Suzuki et al. 2021).

Lipid metabolism also plays a vital role in mobilization. Sphingosine-1 phosphate and ceramide-1 phosphate, the bioactive phosphorylated lipids, are potent chemoattractants involved in HSC, progenitor, and malignant cell trafficking (Shirvaikar et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2010; Ratajczak et al. 2014; Ratajczak 2015; Albakri et al. 2020). Recent studies demonstrated the critical role of lipolysis and the lipolytic enzyme hematopoietic-specific phospholipase C- β 2 (PLC- β 2) in HSC egress (Adamiak et al. 2016). It was shown to be upregulated in the BM microenvironment during the mobilization process and lead to impairment of membrane lipid raft formation, which is required for the optimal BM retention function of glycolipid glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchor-associated proteins, CXCR4 and VLA-4. It was also shown that the membrane type 1-MMP upregulation in hematopojetic cells and its enhanced incorporation into membrane lipid rafts contribute to proMMP-2 activation, further facilitates HSCs mobilization upon exposure to GCSF (Shirvaikar et al. 2010). The effect of lipid metabolism in BM trafficking was also demonstrated in the recent study (Suzuki et al. 2021), which reported the important role of dietary fat intake on signaling in BM granulocytes. The BM fat ligand for PPAR δ was suggested as a negative regulator of mobilization in fed mice. On the other hand, mice on a fat-free diet showed increased mobilization with PPAR\delta agonist. The authors point out the clinical relevance of this mechanism in poor mobilizers (Suzuki et al. 2021).

Stem cell trafficking has significant clinical implications. Therefore enlightening the mechanisms and revealing therapeutic targets is an interesting subject. The use of antagonists of chemokine receptors, cytokines, chemokines, bioactive lipids, bacterial toxins, proteases, inhibitors of adhesive cell interactions, polymeric sugar molecules, and modification of their biological effects are strategies towards optimization of stem cell mobilization in transplantation in preventing cancer metastasis and for organ regeneration (Albakri et al. 2020). Studies on humans consist of investigations performed on GCSF-exposed human blood or BM samples of HSCs transplant donors. Significant alterations in the blood metabolite profile are described in apheresis donors exposed to GCSF consisting of significantly increased levels of several medium and long-chain fatty acids, and polyunsaturated fatty acids and reduced levels of other lipid metabolites, such as phospholipids, lysolipids, and sphingolipids (Hatfield et al. 2017). On the other hand, studies performed by us on BM samples of healthy donors after GCSF exposure revealed alterations in the levels of growth factors, cytokines, and immunomodulatory factors, and upregulation of both hematopoietic colonies and the colony-forming ability of MSCs (fibroblast colony-forming units/CFU-Fs), indicating the regenerative potential of GCSF (Ok Bozkaya et al. 2015; Aerts-Kaya et al. 2021). The role of GCSF in non-hematopoietic tissue/organ regeneration has gained attention in several clinical disciplines. The multifaceted effects of GCSF, particularly on endothelial cells and angiogenesis, are suggestive of its beneficial roles in injury states. Starting in the 2000s and in recent years, GCSF has been used by some centers for organ injury, such as after neurological insults (Lee et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2020b). Favorable results reported were attributed to activation of several mechanisms, including enhanced angiogenesis associated with increased endothelial proliferation, increased endothelial NO synthase, and Ang-2 expression. In addition, the anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects of GCSF were also identified as contributing factors to its neuroprotective properties.

Bone Marrow and Stress Response

Studies regarding the continuous, dynamic, and organized interactions in the BM niche indicate the critical role of the microenvironment in maintaining homeostasis. Therefore, enlightening the niche regulatory mechanisms under stress is important to delineate the highly active part of the microenvironment in the pathophysiology of cancer and other hematological disturbances.

Cell and Microenvironment Response to Stressors

Cells are continuously exposed to internal, external, physiological stimuli or stressors upon which various stress responses are activated to recover cell function and maintain homeostasis within the tissue and the organism. Depending on the intensity and duration of the stimuli, different signals that induce microenvironment and/or systemic responses are generated usually associated with paracrine and endocrine signals. Upon exposure to low doses of stressors, either the former state of the cells is preserved or shows an altered profile and adapt to the new environment. In contrast, the repair process may be ineffective in prolonged and/or severe stress leading to cellular senescence or death. The microenvironment of cells is the determinant of the fate of the stressed condition. Persistent cell stress enhances susceptibility to cancer and aging-associated diseases and is usually associated with chronic inflammation.

Cells may be exposed to different types of stressors such as genotoxic stress/DNA damage, hypoxia, oxidative stress, nutrient/metabolic stress, and xenobiotics (Ivanusic 2017). Genotoxic stress is caused by ionizing and ultraviolet radiation, exposure to chemotherapy, other toxic agents, and ROS. DNA damage requires complicated molecular mechanisms to maintain genomic stability through DNA repair. Activation of the DNA damage response (DDR) signaling pathway results in either cell cycle arrest and DNA repair or apoptosis (Zambetti et al. 2016; Davalli et al. 2018; Huang and Zhou 2019). Oxidative stress derives from the excess production and accumulation of ROS or a defect in the antioxidant protective mechanism. While low doses of ROS stimulate cell proliferation, higher doses can result in cell cycle arrest, senescence, or cell death (Finkel 2003). Hypoxic stress leads to cell cycle arrest to minimize energy consumption to preserve oxygen for cell metabolism. The cellular response to hypoxia is mediated by both HIF-dependent and HIF-independent pathways, i.e., mTOR signaling. Hypoxia, respiratory poisons, and xenobiotics are stressors that cause mitochondrial stress (Liu et al. 2006; Zhang and Zhang 2018). The availability of nutrients is crucial for metabolic homeostasis and the proper function of the cell. Nutrient stress causes metabolite fluctuations, which are recognized by the lipid membranes of organelles. One of the most essential nutrients is glucose, and both deprivation and excess of glucose can cause cellular stress. Nutrient deprivation activates autophagy in most cells, enabling them to catabolize their components for survival (Sekine et al. 2021). Heat shock causes protein denaturation, unfolding, and aggregation. The molecular chaperones, heat shock proteins (HSPs) are responsible for protein folding, unfolding, and/or refolding in either standard or stressed conditions (Vabulas et al. 2010). Similarly, chemical toxins also cause protein denaturation and activate the unfolded protein response (UPR) in the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria. On the other hand, infectious agents can induce several stress responses by activating pattern recognition receptors (Muralidharan and Mandrekar 2013).

The microenvironment plays a critical role in activating and performing cellintrinsic or extrinsic stress response mechanisms (Galluzzi et al. 2018). Stressed cells may show altered morphology, phenotype, molecular, metabolic profile, and secretory properties, including the release of ECVs (exosomes) with a variable composition of protein cargo (Abramowicz et al. 2019; Haider and Aramini 2020). Suppression of proliferation and elimination of terminally damaged cells are protective mechanisms against inflammation and cancer. The stress response mechanisms, including the DDR, UPR, mitochondrial stress signaling, may result in temporary adaptation, induce autophagy, or trigger cell death. Autophagy is a significant stress response mechanism important in adaptation to a stressed situation. Potentially harmful or disposable cytoplasmic contents are degraded. Physiological autophagy levels are required for maintaining stable cell homeostasis under stress conditions, while exacerbated autophagy induces uncontrolled cell death. Autophagy in one cell releases signals that affect other cells locally and systemically. Thus, autophagy affects the local microenvironment, may elicit a systemic metabolic response, and may contribute to the pathophysiology of diseases, e.g., by providing metabolites such as lactate, ketone bodies, alanine to cancer cells as microenvironment support (Capparelli et al. 2012; Sousa et al. 2016). Hence, depending on the intensity of the aggressive stimuli, autophagy can be beneficial or harmful, mediate antiinflammatory or pro-inflammatory effects, and maybe playing either a cytoprotective role or mediates regulated cell death. Stress-induced regulated cell death, as opposed to programmed cell death, may lead to a release of cellular contents and may trigger pro-inflammatory signals. However, the local microenvironmental factors such as the efficiency of the phagocytic system may affect the outcome of the stress response. Cellular senescence is another stress response of cells wherein DNA damage is irreparable but insufficient to drive regulated cell death, oncogene signaling, or other threats to homeostasis and is associated with permanent growth arrest. However, some metabolic activities of senescent cells, secretion of ROS, and pro-inflammatory cytokines are preserved.

Hematopoietic Stress Response

Constant blood cell production and the continuous cell traffic in the BM render the hematopoietic system highly sensitive to toxic agents. Under homeostasis, most of HSCs are quiescent and rarely enter the cell cycle to self-renew or differentiate. There is a fine-tuning balance between the quiescent, proliferating, differentiating, and senescent cells. In response to external stimuli, such as infection, blood loss, or toxic insults, HSCs can leave a quiescent state and become proliferative. Recent evidence suggests that acute and chronic stress impact the number and function of HSCs, including their ability to repopulate and produce mature cells. The BM microenvironment has a significant role in determining the response and maintaining a steady-state and life-long hematopoiesis (Walter et al. 2015; Pratibh et al. 2020).

HSCs and BM microenvironment may be exposed to different types of stress, including oxidative, hypoxic stress, inflammation, blood loss, ionizing radiation, cytotoxic chemotherapy, all of which lead to BM injury, disrupt homeostasis, and cause significant alterations in cell composition (Mendelson and Frenette 2015; Pratibh et al. 2020) (Fig. 1). The hematopoietic system can quickly respond to infection and inflammation by increasing myeloid and immune cell production. This is a well-known response presenting as a left shift of myeloid elements in the peripheral blood of patients with sepsis and bacteremia. A similar proliferative response in relevant components of the hematopoietic lineages are observed in other pathological conditions, such as increased megakaryocyte production in patients with immune thrombocytopenia as a BM response to platelet consumption platelet, alternatively, accelerated production of erythroid precursors under conditions represent the rapid-acting compensatory function of the BM microenvironment to preserve



Fig. 1 Summary of the hematopoietic stressors and stress response of the hematopoietic system (Created with BioRender.com)

and reconstitute healthy hematopoiesis. Thus, acute stress of low/medium intensity may be overcome with a limited impact on HSCs. On the other hand, prolonged sustained exposure to stress signals can lead to a shift of HSCs towards HSCs proliferation rather than a quiescent state leading to HSCs exhaustion over time. Chronic inflammation, serial BM transplantation, chemotherapy cycles, genotoxic stress, and aging are conditions leading to disruption of the fine-tuning in the hematopoietic compartment resulting in increased proliferation and HSCs exhaustion. This may lead to the development of cytopenia, aplastic anemia, or upon acquisition of cytogenetic abnormalities in the cycling cells may play a role in the development of hematological malignancies. Recent evidence demonstrates that ablation of inhibitor of DNA binding 1 (Id1) gene can protect HSCs from exhaustion during chronic proliferative stress by promoting HSCs quiescence (Singh et al. 2018). It was shown that Id1 is induced in HSCs by cytokines that promote HSC proliferation and differentiation, suggesting that it functions in stress hematopoiesis and its genetic ablation decreases in HSCs' proliferation, mitochondrial biogenesis, and ROS production. Considering the role of high ROS levels in the BM microenvironment on increased proliferation and differentiation, targeting molecular pathways that reduce ROS in HSCs is suggested as a protective strategy to promote HSC quiescence and limit HSC loss during chronic stress (Singh et al. 2020). Recent studies have described alterations in the replicative status of the stromal cells as well, similar to HSCs. It was reported that almost all niche cells were quiescent during homeostasis (<1% cycling stromal niche cells). On the other hand, up to 5% of stromal niche cells entered cell cycle 5 days after 5-fluorouracil injection. In addition, a novel sub-cluster of adipocyte-primed LEPR+ cells showing high similarities with Adipo-CARs was identified during hematopoietic stress (Tikhonova et al. 2019; Baccin et al. 2020).

Emergency Hematopoiesis

The kinetics of HSC biology under different stress conditions is an important topic with clinical implications (Lu et al. 2019). The term "emergency hematopoiesis," although mentioned in the 1990s, is better understood by the recently described hematopoiesis scheme and demonstration of heterogeneity within HSCs and progenitor populations and alternative routes of hematopoietic differentiation (Lurie and Danon 1992; Croker et al. 2016; Woolthuis and Park 2016; Niederkorn et al. 2017; Hérault et al. 2017b; Fuchs et al. 2020).

New mechanisms are described in the field of emergency granulopoiesis, highlighting spatiotemporal positioning (Hérault et al. 2017b). Investigation of granulocyte-macrophage progenitors' (GMPs) behavior in mice demonstrated the unique organization of GMPs in the BM. These progenitors proliferate transiently and rapidly in patches, forming condensed, differentiating clusters upon molecular reprogramming. The individual GMPs were scattered throughout the BM in steady state; however, following experimentally induced emergency myelopoiesis, GMPs were organized in loosely collected patches, and then condensed to form distinct, compact, and transient clusters of GMPs surrounded by differentiated myeloid cells. On the other hand, as opposed to transient emergency stress response, in the malignant scenario, such as myeloid leukemia, GMP clusters were constantly produced associated with persistent activation of the self-renewal network and a lack of termination cytokines that usually restore hematopoietic stem cell quiescence.

Different differentiation pathways for thrombopoiesis were also described in the recent years, such as megakaryocyte (MK) generation without transition through the multipotent or bipotent MK-erythrocyte progenitor stage. A subset of HSCs with biased MK potential leading to MK generation was shown to arise directly from HSCs under steady-state and stress conditions (Haas et al. 2015; Nishikii et al. 2017; Jacobsen and Nerlov 2019; Laurenti et al. 2019). Another mechanism reported for emergency platelet release is the MK rupture process instead of the classical method of in vivo platelet generation from MKs through the pro-platelet formation. This mechanism of thrombopoietin (TPO)-independent MK production was shown to occur under inflammatory conditions or after platelet loss associated with acute elevation of IL-1 α at the expense of the classical platelet growth factor TPO. It is suggested that the balance between TPO and IL-1 α regulates MK cellular programming for thrombopoiesis in response to acute and chronic platelet needs (Nishimura et al. 2015); therefore, it is a vital determinant in stress hematopoiesis. These recent

studies demonstrate that the hematopoiesis scheme changes according to the stress stimulus. The BM microenvironment is critical in the execution of the stress response, e.g., by providing appropriate soluble factors, on this occasion.

Environmental Hematopoietic Stressors

Environmental Pollutants

A critical topic regarding the stress response of BM microenvironment is exposure to environmental stressors, mainly environmental pollutants, which have become a critical topic in the modern era (Scharf et al. 2020). The hematopoietic system is prone to xenobiotic effects, environmental and occupational pollutants, therapeutic molecules, and drugs of abuse. Nutritional status can also directly affect progenitor cells at their differentiation and maturation stages. Such exposures may lead to hematological disturbances, including malignancies. For cancer types with environmental risk factors, important factors in evaluating cancer risk are the route of exposure, the dose, and the duration of exposure. Gene-environment interactions are also important determinant of vulnerability to develop cancer due to environmental factor, exposure, and the risk may depend on a complex interaction between the genetic background and exposure to that particular agent.

Benzene

The best-known pollutant, benzene, has been recognized for several decades for its effects in inducing hematological disorders and leukemia (Cronkite et al. 1989). It is a volatile liquid aromatic hydrocarbon solvent, a byproduct of petroleum refinement accepted as an environmental carcinogen due to its BM toxicity. Detoxification by redox systems in BM, such as NADPH-quinone oxidoreductase1, reduces the local levels of oxidative toxic agents generated by its metabolism. Still, prolonged exposure leads to persistently high levels of benzene and accumulation of its metabolites, inducing toxicity by interfering with different hematopoiesis pathways due to the actions of its multiple metabolites. These metabolites show significant adverse effects on the BM microenvironment: increase ROS generation and inhibit HIF-1 in stem cell niches leading to BM failure presenting as cytopenias, aplastic anemia, and may progress to myelodysplasia and myelogenous leukemia by induction of chromosomal aberrations, gene mutations, oxidative stress, apoptosis, epigenetic deregulation, impairment of DNA repair, modification of protein secretion, and suppression of immune systems (Snyder 2004). In a recent study, transcriptome profiles of C57B/6 mice HSCs following benzene exposure revealed >1500 differentially expressed genes in BM HSCs involved in pathways in cancer, transcriptional mis-regulation in cancer, and hematopoietic cell lineage. Investigations in peripheral blood revealed hematopoietic cell lineage and leukocyte transendothelial migration as critical pathways. Evaluation of co-regulated pathways demonstrated neutrophil degranulation, CD93 (involved in the adhesion, migration, and phagocytosis), and 53 genes that pointed out mechanisms in regulating leukemia stem cell self-renewal and quiescence (Sun et al. 2021). Other studies involving modulation of the cytosolic transcription factor aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), the xenobiotic response regulator, revealed the important role of AhR in benzene-induced hematotoxicity (Hirabayashi et al. 2004; Scharf et al. 2020).

Nanoparticles and particulate matter

These are other groups of environmental stressors found in polluted air. The degree of toxic systemic effects is closely linked to particle size. Both nanoparticles and particulate matter PM 2.5 (smaller than 2.5 μ m) (Xing et al. 2016) can reach the bloodstream from alveoli and be distributed into tissues, including the BM. The particles can also contain harmful airborne microorganisms and metals. Chronic exposure leads to local and systemic inflammation, may affect HSC niches, and lead to a release of immature granulocytes into circulation (Tan et al. 2000). Recent studies have described the adverse effects of maternal exposure to PM 2.5 during pregnancy on the offspring hematopoiesis (Bhattarai et al. 2020).

Dioxins as Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)

POPs are released into the atmosphere as undesired byproducts of an anthropogenic and natural origin. These pollutants can originate as byproducts from combustion processes, such as the incineration of solid waste; the chlorine bleaching of paper and wood pulp; the burning of coal in power plants; forest wildfire; and contaminants in pesticides, herbicides, and fungicides. Dioxins are considered the most hazardous persistent organic pollutants to human health, with their significant toxic effects being linked to binding to AhR in several cell types. AhR is the central regulator of responses to environmental factors and xenobiotic metabolism. The most toxic member of the polychlorinated dibenzodioxins family 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD) can bind to AhR, leading to several toxic effects. Many stressors can drive AhR activation and nuclear translocation, leading to increased expression of target genes (e.g., cytochrome P450; CYP1A1, CYP1A2, CYP1B1) (Safe et al. 2018). AhR is also a crucial homeostasis modulator in several tissues and biological processes, including hematopoiesis. Epidemiologic studies have demonstrated associations between TCDD and hematological malignancies such as non-Hodgkin lymphomas, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and multiple myeloma (Bertazzi et al. 1993; Fracchiolla et al. 2016). It has been reported that the BM of adult mice exposed to acute doses of TCDD becomes hypocellular, with a significant decrease in the total number of HSCs due to AhR modulation (Ahrenhoerster et al. 2014).

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH)

These are ubiquitous environmental pollutants that include over 200 compounds with two or more fused benzene rings. These compounds are formed due to incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, are created in the car and diesel exhaust, and are formed in smoked or charbroiled food. They are also found in cigarette smoke condensate and tobacco products. Studies have demonstrated an association between exposure to PAHs and cancer initiation and progression. It was shown that PAHs must be metabolically activated to reactivate genotoxins to cause their mutagenic and carcinogenic effects. A recent study described activation of the AhR/CYP1A pathway and epigenetic regulation of cancer stem cells upon PAH exposure (Akhtar et al. 2020). Moreover, adverse hematopoietic effects of occupational PAH exposure were shown, and oxidative stress-mediated toxicity was suggested in another recent study (Cao et al. 2020).

Heavy Metal Exposure

This is also associated with hematopoietic disorders. Industrial and urban growth has increased the risk of exposure of humans to metals. Heavy metals may cause alterations in the BM, causing anemia, immune deficiency, coagulation defects, and may be associated with leukemia development. Among heavy metals, lead, mercury, cadmium, and arsenic have been associated with hematological disorders (dos Vianna et al. 2019). It has been shown that lead exposure even at low levels in humans under occupational exposures is toxic to the BM and leads to reduced colony-forming capacity; arsenic trioxide administered to mice severely damages the BMME and hampers the formation of a healthy matrix to support hematopoietic progenitors; mercury exposure is associated with hematopoietic disturbance characterized by anemia and lymphocytopenia; and cadmium exposure leading to increased myelopoiesis and suppressed lymphopoiesis (Zhang et al. 2016b; Medina et al. 2017; Pereira and Law 2018).

Detoxification Response and Signaling Pathways

Drug metabolizing enzymes Cytochrome P450 (CYP) and Glutathione S-Transferases (GSTs)

Drug metabolizing enzymes display a high degree of polymorphism in the general population. Functional polymorphisms in the genes encoding xenobioticmetabolizing enzymes result in interindividual differences that determine the effects of toxic exposures (Harris 1989). Cytochrome P450 (CYP) and glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) are the main detoxification pathways. The latter catalyzes the conjugation of the reduced form of glutathione to xenobiotic substrates to detoxify cellular environments. Cytochrome P450 family proteins are the major enzymes involved in drug metabolism and metabolize thousands of endogenous and exogenous chemicals. In addition, they metabolize endogenous and exogenous DNA-reactive chemical compounds and xenobiotics (Zanger et al. 2004).

Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR)

AhR is the central regulator of responses to environmental factors and of xenobiotic metabolism, which was initially described in dioxin toxicity (TCDD; 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-P-dioxin) (Poland et al. 1976), now is accepted as a crucial regulator of homeostasis in several tissues/systems in the body. There are many endogenous ligands of AhR. The AhR-signaling acts as a xenobiotic sensor regulating drugmetabolizing enzymes of the cytochrome p450 family. Various structurally diverse compounds of the environment, chemicals, toxicants, pollutants, diet, microbiome, and host metabolism can induce AhR activity (Mandal 2005; Vogel et al. 2020). Under homeostatic conditions, AhR remains predominantly in the cytoplasm as part of a protein complex linked to molecular chaperone heat shock protein 90 (HSP90), p23, and XAP. Several stressors can drive AhR activation and evoke its conformational transition, resulting in its nuclear translocation. AhR then dissociates from HSP90 and binds to the AhR nuclear translocator (ARNT) The AhR/ARNT complex binds to promoter regions in the DNA known as AhR-responsive DNA elements or xenobiotic response elements (XREs), which leads to an increased expression of target genes (e.g., CYP 1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B1). This canonical pathway for AhR activation mediates several toxic responses, including liver damage, chloracne, teratogenesis, cancer, and immunosuppression (Barouki et al. 2007; Fujii-Kuriyama and Kawajiri 2010; Furue and Tsuji 2019).

In addition to exogenous triggers, many endogenous ligands have been shown to induce AhR-signaling, with implications on several body systems playing a critical role in balancing physiological functions. For example, the significant effects of AhR signaling on circadian clock genes also pointed out the potential impact of different neurotransmitters and metabolites (Kou and Dai 2021). The AhR modulation has shown significant effects on hematopoiesis. In addition, it has been demonstrated that HSCs from AhR knockout mice leave quiescence and become hyperproliferative, suggesting a role for AhR in negative regulation of excessive proliferation (Singh et al. 2009, 2011).

Toll-like receptor (TLR) Signaling

Toll-like receptor signaling is needed in responding to inflammatory stressors, microbial agents and is required for innate and adaptive immunity. Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) are released in response to injury and stimulate TLR-signaling. In addition to their well-known role in the innate immune response to acute infection or injury, accumulating evidence supports a role for TLRs in the development of hematopoietic and other malignancies. HSCs proliferate in response to PAMPs and DAMPs through TLRs, or in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines through receptors expressed on HSCs (Schuettpelz and Link 2013; Mirantes et al. 2014). Acute stress promotes HSCs' proliferation and differentiation that is quickly resolved, whereas prolonged or chronic stress can lead to HSC exhaustion (BMT, chronic infection/inflammation, chemotherapy) (Singh et al. 2020). Several hematopoietic disorders, including lymphoproliferative disorders and myelodysplastic syndromes, which possess a high risk of transformation to leukemia, have been linked to aberrant TLR signaling. Furthermore, activation of TLRs leads to the induction of several pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which can promote tumorigenesis by driving cell proliferation and migration and providing a favorable microenvironment for tumor cells (Monlish et al. 2016).

BM Microenvironment Alterations, Dysregulation, and Myeloid Leukemia

Due to close interaction between the hematopoietic compartment and the microenvironment, several nonmalignant and malignant conditions are frequently associated with alterations in the BM microenvironment composition and function (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Summary of the bone marrow niche structure and organization and its role in homeostasis and in hematological malignancies. (Created with BioRender.com)

Leukemia results from a clonal transformation of hematopoietic precursors by acquiring chromosomal rearrangements, genetic mutations, and epigenetic modifications. It has been shown that the initiating intrinsic event leads to alterations in the BM microenvironment to support the survival of leukemic blasts (Blau et al. 2007; Li and Calvi 2017). There is limited data for a driver role for the BM microenvironment, leading to the development of leukemia. It has been suggested that prolonged sustained exposure to stress signals, including chronic inflammation, chemotherapy, environmental toxins induced alterations in the BM microenvironment leading to increased proliferation, and HSCs' exhaustion over time, resulting in BM dysfunction, failure, or development of hematological malignancy, usually of myeloid lineage (Cho et al. 2020).

Significant changes are detected in the BM microenvironment in hematological malignancies, during the course or before the development of leukemia (Dührsen and Hossfeld 1996). Various alterations involving MSCs, osteoprogenitors, adipocytes,

endothelial cells, ECM, and soluble factors have been reported in the leukemic niche playing significant roles in initiation, progression, and chemoresistance.

The majority of studies performed on MSCs described alterations in their adhesive, proliferative, and secretory characteristics. Reduced HSCs' maintenance factors including CXCL12, KIT ligand, Ang1 were described in leukemic MSCs (Chen et al. 2016). Further studies have shown increased expression of pro-inflammatory molecules such as TNF, IL6, C-C motif chemokine ligand 3 (CCL3), alterations in SNS signaling due to damaged tyrosine hydroxylase sympathetic nerve fibers, altered stem cell trafficking, and dysregulated vascularization in the leukemic BM microenvironment (Maryanovich et al. 2018; Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2020).

In humans, the development of myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS)/secondary acute myeloblastic leukemia (sAML) years after chemotherapy use, besides intrinsic factors, emphasizes the active role of the altered and dysregulated microenvironment in leukemogenesis (Sperling et al. 2017). It may be speculated that, in both situations, the BM microenvironment alterations lead to dysregulation in time, playing a critical role in the progression towards malignancy and evolution to AML after a myelodysplastic stage (e.g., 5–7 years after alkylating agent exposure) or without such dysplasia (e.g., 2–3 years after topoisomerase II inhibitor exposure) (Raaijmakers et al. 2010; Duarte et al. 2018; Forte et al. 2019). Apart from those toxic exposures or cancer-predisposing disease, various alterations have been reported in the BM microenvironment that may be closely associated with the leukemogenic process (Ciciarello et al. 2019; Kazianka and Staber 2020). Understanding the mechanisms leading to the development of sAML may help identify the microenvironmental factors in the BM.

Development of Secondary Myeloid Malignancy

Unlike *de-novo* AML, in which there is a lack of a typical clinical history, sAML occurs following environmental or toxic exposures and/or develops in patients with an antecedent hematological disorder; therefore, it represents a model to study alterations in the BM microenvironment that may participate in leukemogenesis. It has been shown that inherited diseases (e.g., Fanconi anemia (FA), Shwachman-Diamond syndrome (SDS)) (Horwitz 1997) and/or environmental exposures (e.g., high-level ionizing radiation, cigarette smoking, long-term occupational exposure to benzene, exposure to certain chemotherapy drugs such as alkylating and platinum agents, epipodophyllotoxins, immunosuppressives, and radiation therapy) may lead to leukemia development in some cases of AML (Daniels et al. 2013; Radivoyevitch et al. 2016; Matsuo et al. 2016). The incidence of sAML is rising in parallel with the increasing number of cancer survivors. Its prognosis is poor compared to *de novo* AML, which occurs without previous therapy or without the antecedent disease.

Therapy-Related Myeloid Malignancy

Secondary AML is further divided into therapy-related AML (t-AML) with previous exposure to chemotherapy and radiotherapy, or AML evolving from antecedent

hematological disorder including MDS, aplastic anemia, or chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms (t-MNs), including AML, occur as late complications of cytotoxic chemotherapy and/or radiation therapy and patients show high-risk features. Lymphoma and breast cancer are the most common primary malignancies associated with t-AML. Patients with an inherited predisposition such as mutations in DNA damage sensing or repair genes or polymorphisms in genes that affect drug metabolism or transport are at higher risk for developing t-MNs (Vardiman et al. 2002; Seedhouse et al. 2004; Larson 2009; Bhatia 2013). A wide variety of agents with different mechanisms of action are associated with the development of t-MNs. The interval between treatment and the outcome of the disease varies according to the type of therapy. In patients exposed to alkylating agents, t-AML is usually preceded by myelodysplastic changes and the latency period is long (5–7 years).

Contrarily, in patients previously treated with topoisomerase II inhibitors, the latency period is shorter (2–3 years) than alkylating agent exposure, is not associated with prior MDS, and exhibits rapidly progressive leukemia. These patients usually present with balanced translocations involving 11q23 and 21q22 abnormalities. These agents stabilize the enzyme-DNA covalent intermediate, decrease the religation rate, and cause chromosomal breakage. Repair of chromosomal damage results in chromosomal translocations, leading to leukemogenesis (Bhatia 2013; Tiruneh et al. 2020).

Increasing knowledge on the pathophysiology of t-AML may help identification of the contributing microenvironment factors. Among other mechanisms involved in developing t-AML, abnormal p53 activity leads to increased susceptibility to leuke-mogenesis manifesting with reduced ability to repair DNA damage and genomic instability. Telomere shortening also contributes to t-MDS/AML by limiting hema-topoietic proliferation and regenerative capacity and inducing genetic instability. Following genotoxic exposure, the increased replicative demand on hematopoietic cells associated with hematopoietic regeneration can lead to accelerated telomere shortening. On the other hand, some polymorphisms in the MDR1 gene are suggested as risk factors for t-MDS/AML (Bhatia 2013; Tiruneh et al. 2020).

An important mechanism implicated in t-AML development includes defects of the individual DNA repair machinery. Double-strand breaks in DNA following ionizing irradiation and chemotherapy exposure may lead to cell death or loss of genetic material, resulting in chromosome aberrations. Unsatisfactory repair results in the acquisition and persistence of mutations. On the other hand, better repair mechanism will inhibit apoptosis, enabling the survival of a cell with damaged or poorly repaired DNA (Leone et al. 2007). Evidence suggests a role for mismatch repair in susceptibility to t-AML reflected as microsatellite instability (Seedhouse et al. 2004). Other mechanisms involved include the base excision repair pathway, which corrects individually damaged bases, occurring as the result of endogenous processes, ionizing irradiation, and exogenous xenobiotic exposure; and nucleotide excision repair that removes structurally unrelated bulky damage induced by ultraviolet radiation, environmental factors, and endogenous processes, and repairs a significant amount of DNA damage caused by chemotherapeutic agents.

Detoxification pathways play a critical role in the pathophysiology of malignancy. Polymorphisms are frequent in drug-metabolizing enzymes. It is suggested that polymorphisms in detoxification enzyme and DNA repair genes synergistically may affect the risk of AML, such as in patients with deletion of the GSTM1 gene and with increased DNA damage (Seedhouse et al. 2004). Glutathione S-transferases are involved in the detoxification of potentially mutagenic and DNA-toxic metabolites of several chemotherapeutic agents. Accumulation of reactive species that escape detoxification mechanisms or are produced in excess due to drug-metabolizing enzyme polymorphisms, together with impaired DNA damage repair, are predisposing factors to t-AML (Davies et al. 2001; Hatagima 2002; Seedhouse et al. 2004). Polymorphisms in cytochrome P450 family compounds are also implicated in leukemia development and prognosis. AhR activation by external and endogenous stressors and regulation of the CYP family of drug-metabolizing enzymes is essential to maintain homeostasis in the hematopoietic system. A recent study has shown increased quiescence in AML stem cells upon suppression of AhR signaling (Ly et al. 2019). In another study, the AHR pathway was activated in human and murine AML and impaired natural killer cell development and function through regulation of miR-29b expression. This effect was reversed with the AHR antagonist pointing out the clinical implications of AhR modulation as a therapeutic strategy in cancer (Scoville et al. 2018). AhR-mediated response has been reported to have a critical role in benzene-induced AML as well; however, the involvement of CYP1A1 and other CYP compounds is not apparent in benzene-induced leukemia (Yoon et al. 2002). On the other hand, CYP3A was shown to participate in the metabolism of various chemotherapeutics, including topoisomerase II inhibitors and alkylating agents and polymorphisms associated with t-AML. A recent report suggested the favorable role of CYP3A inhibitors in patients with AML carrying FLT3/internal tandem duplication (ITD) mutations through the reversal of the protective effect mediated by the BM microenvironment against FLT3 tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Chang et al. 2019). It was reported that BM stromal cells express CYPs, including CYP3A4, and inhibit the activity of tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Clarithromycin, a clinically active CYP3A4 inhibitor, antibiotic was effective in overcoming BM microenvironment-mediated drug resistance.

Toll-like receptor signaling has also been implicated in leukemia. In addition to mediating innate immune system response to acute infection or injury, the TLR signaling pathway was also shown to play a role in developing hematological malignancies by inducing the establishment of a pro-inflammatory tumorigenic environment (Monlish et al. 2016; Singh et al. 2020).

Leukemia-Predisposing Inherited BM Failure Syndromes

Fanconi anemia

Fanconi anemia (FA) is discussed here as a model disease to evaluate myeloid leukemia development both intrinsic and extrinsically due to the genetic defect in DNA damage repair mechanisms and extreme sensitivity to toxic and environmental agents.

It is an inherited disease characterized by congenital abnormalities, BM failure, and cancer predisposition manifesting as myeloid malignancy (AML, MDS) and solid tumors. The condition is caused by mutations of the Fanconi anemia/breast cancer (FA/BRCA) pathway, critical in cellular processes and DNA repair interstrand crosslink (ICL). Genomic instability, cell death, alterations in cell cycle, extreme sensitivity to DNA cross-linking agents (cisplatin, mitomycin C, diepoxybutane, endogenous aldehydes), and oxidative damage are the typical cellular, molecular events. Two DNA strands are covalently joined, DNA replication and transcription are impaired, resulting in the accumulation of toxic DNA doublestrand breaks. Two ICL repair mechanisms are present. One mechanism, replication dependent, requires the FANC proteins and the other one operates outside the S phase, involves nucleotide excision repair (Houghtaling et al. 2005). FA proteins have roles in the sensing, recognition, and processing of ICLs. To repair this type of DNA damage, alternative error-prone pathways of DNA ICL repair become activated, leading to the formation of gross structural chromosome aberrations, breakage, translocations, dicentrics, and acentric fragments, and the development of hematological abnormalities and leukemia (Garaycoechea et al. 2018).

An essential feature of the disease is sensitivity to aldehydes, which cause various DNA lesions, including ICLs and DNA protein cross-links. Humans are exposed to endogenous and exogenous sources of ICL-inducing agents, and most of this damage is successfully repaired by the FA/BRCA pathway. Reactive aldehydes, the byproducts of normal cellular metabolism, are important genotoxins neutralized by the FA/BRCA pathway. Therefore, the exposure of FA deficient cells to aldehydes results in the accumulation of chromosomal aberrations, including the stem and progenitor cell populations with aldehyde susceptibility. Aldehyde dehydrogenase enzymes are required for aldehyde detoxification, and polymorphisms may affect the phenotype of FA patients (Kim and D'Andrea 2012; Garaycoechea et al. 2012, 2018; Ceccaldi et al. 2016).

Several mechanisms lie under hematological abnormalities of FA. p53 hyperactivation is an important mechanism responsible for BM failure. BM cells exposed to replicative stress during prenatal HSC expansion trigger an apoptotic p53/p21mediated response leading to a prenatally reduced fraction of CD34+ cells and a compromised HSC pool. In the postnatal period, DNA damage accumulation contributes to BM failure (Ceccaldi et al. 2012). In addition to p53, there is hyperactivation of the potent growth inhibitory TGF β pathway (Zhang et al. 2016a). Compensatory overexpression of the MYC oncogene in a subset of HSCs may further increase their replicative stress (Rodríguez et al. 2021). Another mechanism of hematological defects is overexpression of cell cycle regulating ATM and CHK1 kinases in FA cells leading to cell cycle arrest in basal conditions (García-De-teresa et al. 2020).

The risk of AML, MDS is significantly increased, necessitating periodic BM investigations. Clonal evolution in the BM occurs in 40% of children and young adults with FA (Bagby and Fleischman 2011). The presence of clonal and non-clonal chromosomal alterations both are valuable biomarkers for detecting progression to cancer.

Recent studies have focused on identifying of the defects in the BM microenvironment of patients with FA that may contribute to hematological disturbances and malignancy. MSCs, giving rise to cells of stromal members including osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes (Caplan 1991), are the essential cellular components of the BM microenvironment; hence, they have been investigated in single-cell, co-hepa studies or in advanced engineered systems to understand the BM niches in healthy and diseased states. Other investigators and we studied the characteristics of BM-MSCs in patients with FA. Although the standard phenotypic and functional characteristics showed similarities to healthy controls, several alterations were detected, including decreased CFU-F ability, proliferative capacity, early senescence, and spontaneous chromosomal fragility (Mantelli et al. 2015).

Our studies also showed decreased proliferation, increased ROS levels, and an arrest in G2 upon mutagen stimulation, a lack of TGF-beta synthesis, and early senescence in FANCD2-deficient BM-MSCs (Cagnan et al. 2018). In addition, significant downregulation of the TALE class member PKNOX2 was detected in FA MSSCs. TGF- β 1 stimulation increased PKNOX2 expression suggesting an association with disease pathophysiology (Cagnan et al. 2019). In another study, the functional defects in HSC differentiation were attributed to the effects of MSC-glycerolipids on TLR signaling (Amarachintha et al. 2015). The results of these studies suggest the presence of a dysregulated BM microenvironment in FA contributing to the hematological defects presenting as cytopenia, BM failure, and/or leukemia. These findings observed in FA BM-MSCs necessitates further investigations on whether the BM microenvironment has a primary or a significant role in the leukemogenesis process.

Shwachman-Diamond syndrome

Shwachman-Diamond syndrome is another inherited BM failure caused by mutations in the Sbds gene, which encodes a protein involved in ribosomal maturation. The disease is characterized by skeletal defects, pancreatic insufficiency, neutropenia, and a high probability of developing into MDS and AML. Experimental studies showing the leukemia-driver role of Sbds modifications in the stromal compartments of the BM have been significant achievements towards understanding the development of leukemia. Conditional deletion of the RNA-processing endonuclease enzyme dicer1 in primitive osterix-expressing osteolineage cells was shown to lead the development of MDS/AML in mice demonstrating the role of a nichedriven mechanism mice (Raaijmakers et al. 2010). The loss of dicer1 resulted decreased ribosome maturation factor Sbds expression in mesenchymal/ osteoprogenitor cells. In further experiments, niche alteration led to increased p53 levels and secretion of the pro-inflammatory factors (DAMP genes S100A8 and S100A9) that resulted in mitochondrial dysfunction in mouse and human HSC, and progenitors through binding to TLR-4. The authors suggested that activation of the p53-S100A8/9 axis in BM-MSCs has a predictive value in MDS progression (Zambetti et al. 2016). This study showed that increased inflammatory signals in the microenvironment caused genotoxic stress in experimental mouse model and SDS patients. The recent description of increased inflammatory findings in patients

with SDS (Furutani et al. 2020) further emphasizes the necessity for close follow-up of patients with BM examinations. It brings out the issue of BM microenvironment evaluations to the clinics. However, this area is new, and clinical translation needs further investigations on this topic.

BM Microenvironment as a Contributor/Driver of Leukemia

Investigation of human BM samples obtained after diagnosis of leukemia is not a suitable tool to study niche-driven mechanisms since microenvironmental changes that precede the diagnosis of the disease cannot be detected. Development of donorderived leukemia after allogeneic BM transplantation with a different clone than the patient's one suggests that the BMME alterations induced by the effects of the conditioning regimen and the transplant process might have played an essential role in leukemic transformation (Wiseman 2011). In vivo experimental niche modifications towards leukemia induction have provided valuable data and provided evidence for a leukemia-driver role for the stroma. These investigations on knockout and conditional deletion models have shown the direct contribution of stromal defects to myeloid leukemia development pointed out the critical roles of different mechanisms involving retinoic acid receptor gamma, the RNA-processing endonuclease enzyme dicer1, the ribosome maturation factor Sbds, and protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type11 and 21 (PTPN11, PTPN21) (Walkley et al. 2007; Garcia and Chen 2017; Alter 2017; Kokkaliaris and Scadden 2020). The stromal cell type plays a role in the leukemogenic process. It was shown that conditional deletion of primitive osterix (Osx)-expressing osteolineage cells, but not mature osteoblasts, led to MDS/AML in mice (Raaijmakers et al. 2010). Our investigations on human BM-MSCs, the precursors of osteolineage cells, supported these findings showing differential expression of dicer1 and differences in microRNA profiles among patients with MDS, AML, and healthy controls (Ozdogan et al. 2017).

Moreover, activating mutations of PTPN11 in mice MSCs and osteoprogenitors lead to the development of a myeloproliferative, juvenile myelomonocytic leukemialike disease as observed in patients with Noonan syndrome carrying this mutation. Similarly, overexpression of PTPN21 in BM-MSCs of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) patients was associated with alterations in MSCs differentiation and immunomodulatory characteristics (Wang et al. 2019). PTPN21 was shown to have a role in regulating cytoskeleton-associated cellular processes (Carlucci et al. 2008), and overexpression in MSCs leads to an acceleration of leukemic and endothelial cell recruitment leukemic cell proliferation and drug resistance (Wang et al. 2019). However, when knocked-down on HSCs (Ptpn21-'-), the cell stiffness was lost, cells gained deformability and mobility (Ni et al. 2019). Another study also provides evidence for a highly active/initiator role for osteoblasts in the leukemogenic process. When a constitutively active form of b-catenin was expressed on osteoblasts, the differentiation program of HSCs was shifted towards myeloid lineage through upregulation of the Notch pathway leading to AML development (Garcia and Chen 2017).

The majority of studies on BM niche interactions consist of studies on MSCs and osteoblastic lineage cells. The highly active roles of adipocytes and endothelial cells are better defined in recent studies. Marrow adipose tissue has an essential role in developing leukemia and in BM metastasis of solid tumors (Shafat et al. 2017; Kumar et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2020a). However, these studies describe the remodeling of adipocytes by malignant cells, which then significantly affect cancer cell behavior. Endothelial cell modifications are also implicated in leukemogenesis. It has been shown that loss of canonical Notch signaling in endothelial cells leads to constitutive activation of mir-155 and NF-kB signaling, increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (GCSF, TNF α) resulting in expansion of immature myeloid cells and a myeloproliferative-like disease. Another example of endothelial cell involvement in the direct leukemogenesis process is which also deletion of signal-induced proliferative neoplasms (Fernandez et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2014; Xiao et al. 2018).

Expansion of the myeloid compartment of the BM, clonal hematopoiesis, and chronic immune stimulation are risk factors for the development of MDS/AML, which are findings observed in aging hematopoiesis (Kristinsson et al. 2011; Yoshizato et al. 2015). Aging is associated with lymphoid suppression and myeloid skewing attributed to high inflammatory cytokine rantes (CCL5) in the BM microenvironment. In a heterochronic setting, it was shown that aged HSCs placed in a young environment generate fewer myeloid cells providing (Ergen et al. 2012) evidence for a critical role for environmental factors in establishing age-associated hematological defects, including malignancy. The spatial distribution of HSCs in aging BM niches has shown differences by localizing away from the endosteum, potentially hampering the ability of HSCs to remain quiescent and leading to a decreased pool of primitive HSCs (Ho et al. 2019). Considering the increased risk of myeloproliferative diseases, MDS, and AML in the elderly, the myeloproliferative, immunosuppressed, adipogenic, and chronic inflammatory state of the dysregulated BM microenvironment points out its essential role in malignant transformation.

Exposure of the BM microenvironment to exogenous and endogenous stressors is associated with the induction of a pro-inflammatory state. Among these, GCSF will be addressed due to its clinical implications and frequent use. Patients with BM failure suffering from chronic cytopenia may be exposed to chronic use of GCSF. Spatial positioning in the BM niches is important in determining stem cell fate. GCSF has gross effects on the BM microenvironment, leading to increased cell trafficking towards the sinusoidal niche. It was shown that upon transmigration of HSCs from the endosteal to the sinusoidal niche, they proliferate and become sensitive to genotoxic stress induced by irradiation or myeloablation. GCSF removes HSCs from the endosteal niche where they are protected from toxic insults, thus increasing their susceptibility towards genotoxicity. Therefore, chronic administration of GCSF in congenital neutropenias has been a concern raising the risk of MDS/AML, particularly in patients with SDS with and in those with Ras or GCSF receptor mutations necessitating special scheduling and dosing recommendations for patients on long-term use of GCSF (Freedman and Alter 2002). Alternatively, GCSF is mainly used in some chemotherapy protocols as an adjunct treatment strategy to

induce mobilization of leukemic cells from their quiescent niches (Lapidot et al. 2007) and render them vulnerable to cytotoxic or pro-apoptotic chemotherapy (de la Rubia et al. 2002).

Spatial positioning of HSCs and leukemic stem cells is critical in disease pathophysiology. In addition to inducing HSC mobilization, SNS signals are essential for the regeneration of hematopoiesis following genotoxic stress (Lucas et al. 2013). Exposure to neurotoxic agents such as chemotherapy or irradiation was shown to damage the BMME leading to sympathetic neuropathy associated with MSC and endothelial cell proliferation, further sensitization towards genotoxic insults leading to a reduced niche size and failure to support hematopoietic recovery. Studies revealed that AML disrupts the SNS nerves and the quiescence of Nestin⁺ niche cells. Interestingly, SNS neuropathy is also involved in the promoting leukemic BM infiltration (Hanoun et al. 2014). In the leukemic stroma, adrenergic signaling maintaining niche quiescence was shown to be transduced by the β 3 adrenergic receptor as opposed to $\beta 2$ receptors in the healthy niche regulating osteoblasts. These findings demonstrate the important role of sympathetic neuropathy in niche dysregulation. GCSF use is also associated with involvement of both β_2 and β_3 adrenergic receptors, pointing out the contributory role of GCSF in the development of a dysregulated BM microenvironment (Takeda et al. 2002; Elefteriou et al. 2005; Méndez-Ferrer et al. 2010a; Arranz et al. 2014; Hanoun et al. 2014; Man et al. 2021). Among several molecules implicated in BM microenvironment cell trafficking and spatial location, the transcription factor Twist1 has been shown to play a newly described role that may have implications in AML pathophysiology. Its deficiency induces cycling and mobilization of HSCs by inhibition of retention factors, stimulation of GCSF expression on stromal cells leading to myeloid proliferation (Niu and Cancelas 2018).

Another issue regarding the role of BM microenvironment in leukemia is the development of drug resistance executed through several mechanisms, including the establishment of multidrug resistance (MDR) phenotype by increased expression of ABC transporters, MSC release of soluble factors, ECVs, the establishment of tunneling nanotubes and mitochondria transfer (Griessinger et al. 2017). The BM-MSCs are highly involved in regulating immune interactions, and MSCmediated immune modulation/suppression could contribute to tumor progression and drug resistance within the BM niche. Additionally, MSCs may give nutritional support to leukemic cells by synthesizing enzymes (e.g., asparagine synthetase) to provide macromolecules, such as asparagine, conferring protection to leukemic cells from chemotherapy toxicity (Iwamoto et al. 2007). Leukemic lymphoblasts are very sensitive to the depletion of exogenous asparagine and glutamine because of their low capacity to produce their asparagine supply, and the chemotherapeutic agent asparaginase depletes these amino acids. But MSCs, by increasing synthesis, lead to chemotherapy resistance. It has been shown that there is a complex network of metabolic interactions involving malignant cells and their neighbors in the tumor microenvironment and cancer cells could induce stromal cells to produce metabolites and nutrients to support their metabolism, among which glutamine is essential in sustaining the metabolism of proliferating cells and regulating redox homeostasis in leukemic cells in the hypoxic environment. It was demonstrated that AML blasts utilize glutamine as an alternative carbon source for energy production and are highly dependent on glutamine for proliferation and survival (Kokkaliaris and Scadden 2020).

Metabolic Dysregulation and the Role of Adipocytes in the Malignant Niche

Metabolic factors and nutrient status are increasingly being recognized in cancer pathophysiology, pointing out the critical roles of dietary manipulation. Cancer cells consume high glucose levels, and the majority of them prefer glycolysis even in the presence of oxygen. On the other hand, the Krebs cycle utilizes substrates such as glutamine and fatty acids to generate intermediates for biosynthetic pathways and counteract oxidative stress. The metabolic stress sensor, checkpoint kinase AMP-activated protein kinase is implicated in protecting leukemia-initiating cells from oxidative stress and promoting leukemogenesis. Interestingly, leukemogenesis was profoundly suppressed when associated with dietary restriction (Saito et al. 2015). Studies have shown downregulation of nutrient-signaling pathways by dietary restriction of calories or macronutrients. The main pathway affected is the insulin/insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) system and its effectors, ERK, MAPK, and PI3K, known to modulate cell survival and proliferation pathways (Lu and Ashraf 2012; Longo and Mattson 2014; Klement and Fink 2016). These studies have led to consideration of dietary restriction and/or the use of insulin-lowering drugs to support cancer therapy.

Fasting leads to significant alterations in lipid metabolism. Lipolysis rates are precisely regulated through hormonal and biochemical signals. In acute conditions, catecholamines bind to β adrenergic receptors on adipocytes and induce triacylglycerol hydrolysis, releasing fatty acids and glycerol that act as oxidative substrates to maintain energy requirements for other metabolic tissues. Chronic exposure to extreme nutritional states, such as obesity or starvation, also induces metabolic adaptations that include changes in lipolysis. Lipolytic products of adipocytes act as signaling molecules regulating metabolic processes in many non-adipose tissues (Yang and Mottillo 2020). Therefore, in addition to its roles in type 2 diabetes, fatty liver disease, and obesity, adipocyte lipolysis is a therapeutic target in malignancy (Munir et al. 2019; Koundouros and Poulogiannis 2020).

Adipocytes have been implicated in favor of cancer cell survival, proliferation, and metastasis in solid tumors, such as breast, prostate, and ovarian cancers. Upon close interaction with malignant cells, these cancer-associated adipocytes undergo alterations and transport lipids to neighboring cancer cells to support tumor growth. Specialized transporters, fatty acid-binding protein (FABP4), fatty acid translocase (FAT/CD36), and fatty acid transport protein (FATP) have been identified as key proteins involved in this mechanism (Dirat et al. 2011). Cancer cells need ATP and macromolecules for proliferation and survival, among which fatty acids play a critical role in membrane biogenesis, energy production, and protein modification.

Thus, lipolysis is an important metabolic process needed for cancer cell survival. Additionally, cancer-associated adipocytes, by releasing adipokines including leptin, adiponectin, IL6, CCL2, and CCL5, were shown to induce proliferation, angiogenesis, dissemination, invasion, and metastasis of breast cancer cell (Zhao et al. 2020). Cancer microenvironment is usually hypoxic with nutrient deficiency. To thrive under these changing and challenging conditions, cancer cells adapt their metabolism. Upon exogenous uptake of fatty acids from surrounding environment, cancer cells can perform *de novo* lipogenesis through which carbon atoms derived from carbohydrates such as glucose and amino acids including glutamine are converted into fatty acids. In normal tissues, de novo lipogenesis is restricted to hepatocytes and adipocytes; however, cancer cells may also reactivate this anabolic pathway. Thus, lipid metabolism remodeling is a metabolic hallmark of cancer cells and consists of alterations in fatty acid transport, de novo lipogenesis, storage as lipid droplets and β -oxidation for ATP generation (Koundouros and Poulogiannis 2020).

Marrow Adipose Tissue and Leukemia

The solid tumor studies demonstrating the involvement of adipocytes in cancer pathophysiology in tissues rich in adipocytes, such as breast, prostate, and ovarian cancers, have reported the role of BM adipose tissue (MAT) in leukemia. The BM is another fat-rich tissue consisting of a unique type of fat (Fig. 3).

The MAT has been a topic of interest in recent years due to its critical role in bone and BM metastasis of solid tumors, and the pathophysiology of hematological malignancies. It is also involved in metabolism regarding obesity, insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular defects. MAT is regarded as neither a white nor a brown adipose tissue carrying properties of both, thus suggesting it as a beige adipose tissue, or the fourth type of adipose tissue possessing some characteristics of each depending on the environmental signals. Despite increasing number of studies in MAT, there are many issues to be resolved. For example, there is a lack of standardized criteria for the definition, isolation, and characterization of MAT. Given the clinical implications and the uncertainty in definition and protocols involved therein, the International Bone Marrow Adiposity Society founded a working group to evaluate methodologies in BM adiposity research. Following their annual meeting in 2017, an article about reporting guidelines, review of methodological standards and challenges towards harmonization in BM adiposity research was published in 2020 (Tratwal et al. 2020). These developments point out the need for more studies on the BM microenvironment to understand the role of MAT in the pathogenesis of hematological disorders and pave the way for targeted therapies.

In humans, in some studies, BM adipocytes were isolated by enzymatic digestion of specimens obtained during hip replacement surgery (Attané et al. 2020), whereas in others, *in vitro* differentiated adipocytes from MSCs were regarded as MAT. On the other hand, the fatty tissue of the BM obtained from the femur/tibia was used for isolation of marrow adipocytes in in vivo experimental models (Fazeli et al. 2013;



Fig. 3 Summary of the close interactions between the marrow adipose tissue and leukemic cells. This results in metabolic remodeling in the leukemic cells leading to leukemic blasts (Created with BioRender.com).

Horowitz et al. 2017). Due to the heterogeneity in isolation methods and lack of standardization, it is difficult to establish characteristics of the MAT.

The BM comprises the red and yellow marrow, the latter representing the fatty marrow in the long bones that increases with age and makes up 70% of the mass within all BM cavities in adulthood. The remaining hematopoietically active red marrow is highly vascularized (Scheller et al. 2015; Boroumand et al. 2020). Two subpopulations of MAT have been described: constitutive (cMAT) or the regulated marrow adipose tissue (rMAT). Distal marrow sites are filled with cMAT. It is a homogenous and stable marrow space in which adipocytes interact with other adipocytes, are larger in size, do not respond to environmental stressors, are relatively resistant to lipid loss and remodeling, and store monounsaturated fatty acids, i.e., myristoleic and palmitoleic acids (Sahebekhtiari and Tavassoli 1976).

On the other hand, rMAT is present in the proximal, central, and endosteal skeletal sites that develop postnatally, are readily altered by environmental stimuli, maintain multicellular contact, and accumulate saturated fatty acids, i.e., myristic acid and palmitic acid. These adipocytes are smaller in size and interspersed among hematopoietic and other cell lineages in the marrow. They interact with various cell types (Craft et al. 2018) and affect cell fates. rMAT adipocytes are remodeled in response to endogenous and exogenous stimuli, and may show expansion in obesity

(Scheller et al. 2015). It is suggested that (Horowitz et al. 2017) cMAT and rMAT represent different populations of MAT arising from diverse population of progenitors.

BM adipocytes are morphologically similar to white adipocytes as they contain a single fat globule instead of multilocular, mitochondria-rich brown adipocytes. They also express brown adipocyte markers (uncoupling protein 1-UCP1), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) coactivator 1 α -PGC-1 α , PR domaincontaining protein 16-Prdm16, Forkhead box protein C2 (FoxC2), and β 3-adrenergic receptor at low levels, and may show characteristics of beige adipocytes depending on the microenvironment needs. Another unique metabolic feature of MAT is the cholesterol-oriented metabolism (Attané et al. 2020) and altered lipolysis associated with a profound downregulation in the expression of monoacylglycerol lipase leading to monoacylglycerol accumulation. Although BM adipocytes show enrichment in proteins involved in cholesterol metabolism correlating with increased free cholesterol content, proteins involved in lipolysis were downregulated in both basal and induced conditions. It was shown that in obesity, through activation of PPARy, rMAT undergoes hyperplasia, hypertrophy, and whitening (Scheller et al. 2019). Considering the crosstalk between adipocytes and marrow cells, it may be suggested that whitening of rMAT may affect hematopoiesis.

There are conflicting reports in the literature about the role of BM adipocytes on hematopoiesis. The association of increased adiposity in patients with BM failure and experimental studies point out the negative role of MAT (Naveiras et al. 2009). In contrast, other studies suggest a hematopoiesis-supportive role (Mattiucci et al. 2018). It was shown that MAT could stimulate MSCs through LepR to skew their differentiation in favor of adipogenesis through a positive feedback mechanism, thus may affect hematopoiesis (Yue et al. 2016). These results demonstrate the highly active interaction between adipocytes and BM cellular elements in healthy and diseased states.

As demonstrated in solid tumors, MAT also plays a role in cancer pathophysiology and is involved in BM metastasis of solid tumors (Liu et al. 2020a). It was shown that especially red marrow is a common site of metastasis. Excessive blood flow in red marrow, adipocyte synthesis of adipokines, chemoattractants, adhesion molecules, angiogenesis, and immune modulation contribute to establishing a pre-metastatic niche and facilitating BM metastasis (Paolillo and Schinelli 2019). The mechanisms involved include homing through E-selectin, SDF1/CXCR4 axis, activation of the PI3K/PTEN/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, and establishing a microenvironment appropriate for dormant cancer cells. Micrometastases reside in specific BM niches that regulate their transit to and from the bone. These data suggest that MAT plays an important role in BM micrometastases of solid tumors, and the BM microenvironment can maintain tumor dormancy for extended periods (Price et al. 2016).

Studies demonstrating the role of adipocytes favoring the survival of neighboring cancer cells and the contribution of MAT in BM metastasis of solid tumors (Dirat et al. 2011; Price et al. 2016) pointed out a critical role for MAT in hematological malignancies, which is being enlightened in recent investigations. As observed in

solid tumors, free fatty acid supply to leukemic cells has aroused as a relevant mechanism providing support for cancer cell survival. It was shown that BM adipocytes were programmed by AML blasts towards the establishment of a protumoral microenvironment directing intracellular adipocyte metabolism into a lipolytic state, resulting in the release of fatty acids into the microenvironment to provide metabolic support to leukemic cells. Leukemic blasts program BM adipocytes to generate a protumoral microenvironment, and FABP4 is implicated as a fatty acid transporter protein providing lipolysis products to leukemic blasts (Shafat et al. 2017). It was shown that AML blasts induced phosphorylation of hormone-sensitive lipase to activate lipolysis and transfer of fatty acids from adipocytes to AML blasts. In co-culture of adipocytes and AML, FABP4 messenger RNA was upregulated in both; β -oxidation of AML blasts was activated, and inhibition of FABP4 prevented AML proliferation on adipocytes. In vivo experiments further showed increased survival upon knockdown of FABP4 and carnitine palmitoyltransferase, which is essential for ATP production from FA oxidation.

A recent study has shown that BM-MSCs of patients with AML patients demonstrate adipogenic differentiation propensity with implications for leukemia cell support (Azadniv et al. 2020). Gene ontology and pathway analysis revealed adipogenesis to be among the set of altered biological pathways dysregulated in AML-MSCs in which SOX9 expression was decreased. Their experiments showed that increasing the expression of SOX9 reduced the adipogenic potential of AML-MSCs and decreased their ability to support AML progenitor cells. Moreover, other studies demonstrated exosome-mediated remodeling of the leukemic niche and induction of lipolysis to support leukemic growth (Kumar et al. 2020).

These studies have described significant alterations and remodeling of MAT upon exposure to malignant cells in an interactive microenvironment, pointing out cancer cell-driven alterations in the microenvironment and adipocytes. There is a need for further studies investigating the mechanisms of adipocyte-driven leukemia. In that regard, exposure of adipocytes to environmental stressors emerges as an interesting topic that may lead to identifying mechanisms suggesting a primary/critical role in cancer initiation.

Environmental Stressors and Adipose Tissue

Toxic lipophilic substances are widespread in the environment. Many are resistant to degradation and persist in the environment and living organisms for long periods, particularly in adipose tissue due to the lipophilic nature of these compounds and many of their metabolites. Other organs also retain some of the materials, but the primary storage site for the most lipophilic substances is adipose tissue. There are studies in the literature about environmental toxic agents and adipocytes, but not specifically on BM adipocytes. Adipose tissue is an important protective organ against environmental agents, such as persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Typical examples of POPs include chlorinated compounds such as organochlorine pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, and dioxins. The primary source of external

exposure to these chemicals is POP-contaminated food, especially fatty animal products such as fish, meat, and milk. It has been shown that once POPs enter the body, they are distributed through the lymph and blood to their primary deposition site, which is the adipocyte lipid droplets in adipose tissue. It is stated that compared with other critical organs, being a natural location for lipid storage, adipose tissue is a relatively safe organ for POP accumulation, decreasing the burden on other vital organs before elimination over several years (Lee et al. 2017). In addition to strong lipophilic POPs with long half-lives, less lipophilic chemicals with brief half-lives, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), were also detected in adipose tissue. Therefore, adipose tissue is suggested as an organ storing various exogenous chemicals that are not easily metabolized and excreted from the body. In an experimental study, redistribution of hexachlorobenzene from adipose tissue to critical organs such as the brain and kidneys was reported upon weight loss, reversed after weight gain. These results provide evidence for the storage role of adipocytes for environmental toxic agents (Jandacek et al. 2005).

However, the effects of this storage on adipocytes on cancer initiation are not clearly defined, both in the peripheral adipose tissue or MAT. It may be speculated that POP accumulation in adipocytes, even at low doses, upon chronic exposure may lead to establishing a dysregulated microenvironment, adipocyte inflammation, and play a cancer-initiating role. Epidemiological and experimental evidence has linked low-dose POP exposure to obesity-related metabolic dysfunctions such as type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome, suggesting dysregulation of adipocyte metabolism (Lee et al. 2014). However, there is a lack of data about POP accumulation in MAT and its possible effects on hematopoiesis and the development of leukemia. This issue may have clinical implications, particularly in diseases with increased susceptibility to mutagenic agents such as Fanconi anemia.

Conclusions

Upon realizing the critical roles of the microenvironment and stem cell niches in maintaining homeostasis and the pathophysiology of diseases, many investigations have suggested tumor microenvironment as a novel target to treat malignancies. Being the main reservoir of stem and progenitor cells, and given its critical role in regeneration, the BM is frequently affected in pathological conditions. Most studies on MSCs were designed to elucidate the changes in phenotypic, molecular, secretory, functional characteristics in different diseases, including hematological malignancy. Leukemic cell-driven alterations in MSCs were shown to contribute to leukemic progression. There is a lack of information for a leukemia-driver role for the BM microenvironment except for several recent reports describing the development of leukemia in experimental models, in which the induced defects in the MSCs and other microenvironmental components led to a dysregulated environment and malignant transformation.

It has been shown that BM adipocytes, upon interaction with leukemic blasts, undergo alterations and provide free fatty acids to leukemic cells for their survival. However, MAT-driven leukemia is not described. Considering the role of adipose tissue as a depot for environmental pollutants, it may be speculated to have implications as a leukemia driver through the acquisition of epigenetic alterations upon chronic exposure. There is a need for studies focusing on BM adipocytes and leukemia pathogenesis. Fanconi anemia, a disease with DNA repair defect and increased susceptibility to toxic, mutagenic agents, appears to be an appropriate model disease for MAT investigations. Studies in other hematological pathologies and conditions, such as GCSF exposure, will contribute to understanding the role of MAT in disease pathogenesis. However, at first, there is a need for a better description of the MAT and standardization of methods for isolation and characteristics.

Many different methods are being used in in vivo and in vitro experimental studies to identify the BM niche, ranging from studies on cells obtained by different isolation techniques to those using combinatorial approaches with next-generation technologies enabling simultaneous analysis of many BM subpopulations. In light of these studies, there is a need for more studies on human BM samples in relevant diseases and conditions for timely clinical translation of the accumulated scientific knowledge. This may contribute to the identification of therapeutic targets of the BM microenvironment, including the MAT.

References

- Abramowicz A, Widłak P, Pietrowska M (2019) Proteomes different types of cellular stress affect the proteome composition of small extracellular vesicles. A Mini Review
- Acar M, Kocherlakota KS, Murphy MM, Peyer JG, Oguro H, Inra CN, Jaiyeola C et al (2015) Deep imaging of bone marrow shows non-dividing stem cells are mainly perisinusoidal. Nature 526: 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15250
- Adamiak M, Poniewierska-Baran A, Borkowska S, Schneider G, Abdelbaset-Ismail A, Suszynska M, Abdel-Latif A et al (2016) Evidence that a lipolytic enzyme-hematopoieticspecific phospholipase C-β2-promotes mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells by decreasing their lipid raft-mediated bone marrow retention and increasing the promobilizing effects of granulocytes. Leukemia 30:919–928. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.315
- Aerts-Kaya F, Kilic E, Köse S, Aydin G, Cagnan I, Kuskonmaz B, Uckan-Cetinkaya D (2021) G-CSF treatment of healthy pediatric donors affects their hematopoietic microenvironment through changes in bone marrow plasma cytokines and stromal cells. Cytokine 139:155407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155407
- Ahrenhoerster LS, Tate ER, Lakatos PA, Wang X, Laiosa MD (2014) Developmental exposure to 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin attenuates capacity of hematopoietic stem cells to undergo lymphocyte differentiation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 277:172–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. taap.2014.03.020
- Akhtar S, Hourani S, Therachiyil L, Al-Dhfyan A, Agouni A, Zeidan A, Uddin S et al (2020) Epigenetic regulation of cancer stem cells by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway. Semin Cancer Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.08.014
- Albakri M, Tashkandi H, Zhou L (2020) A review of advances in hematopoietic stem cell mobilization and the potential role of Notch2 Blockade. Cell Transplant. 29
- Alter BP (2017) Inherited bone marrow failure syndromes= considerations pre- and posttransplant. Hematology 2017:88–95. https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation-2017.1.88
- Amarachintha S, Sertorio M, Wilson A, Li X, Pang Q (2015) Fanconi anemia mesenchymal stromal cells-derived glycerophospholipids skew hematopoietic stem cell differentiation through Tolllike receptor signaling. Stem Cells 33:3382–3396. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2100

- Arai F, Hirao A, Ohmura M, Sato H, Matsuoka S, Takubo K, Ito K et al (2004) Tie2/angiopoietin-1 signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence in the bone marrow niche. Cell 118: 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.07.004
- Arranz L, Sánchez-Aguilera A, Martín-Pérez D, Isern J, Langa X, Tzankov A, Lundberg P et al (2014) Neuropathy of haematopoietic stem cell niche is essential for myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nature 512:78–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13383
- Attané C, Estève D, Chaoui K, Iacovoni JS, Corre J, Moutahir M, Valet P et al (2020) Human bone marrow is comprised of adipocytes with specific lipid metabolism. Cell Rep 30:949–958.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.089
- Ayhan S, Nemutlu E, Uçkan Çetinkaya D, Kır S, Özgül RK (2021) Characterization of human bone marrow niches with metabolome and transcriptome profiling. J Cell Sci 134:jcs250720. https:// doi.org/10.1242/jcs.250720
- Azadniv M, Myers JR, McMurray HR, Guo N, Rock P, Coppage ML, Ashton J et al (2020) Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells from acute myelogenous leukemia patients demonstrate adipogenic differentiation propensity with implications for leukemia cell support. Leukemia 34: 391–403. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-019-0568-8
- Baccin C, Al-Sabah J, Velten L, Helbling PM, Grünschläger F, Hernández-Malmierca P, Nombela-Arrieta C et al (2020) Combined single-cell and spatial transcriptomics reveal the molecular, cellular and spatial bone marrow niche organization. Nat Cell Biol 22:38–48. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41556-019-0439-6
- Bagby GC, Fleischman AG (2011) The stem cell fitness landscape and pathways of molecular leukemogenesis. Front. Biosci. (Schol. Ed). 3:487–500
- Bahat A, Gross A (2019) Mitochondrial plasticity in cell fate regulation. J. Biol. Chem. 294: 13852–13863
- Balduino A, Mello-Coelho V, Wang Z, Taichman RS, Krebsbach PH, Weeraratna AT, Becker KG et al (2012) Molecular signature and in vivo behavior of bone marrow endosteal and subendosteal stromal cell populations and their relevance to hematopoiesis. Exp Cell Res 318: 2427–2437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.07.009
- Barouki R, Coumoul X, Fernandez-Salguero PM (2007) The aryl hydrocarbon receptor, more than a xenobiotic-interacting protein. FEBS Lett 581:3608–3615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet. 2007.03.046
- Benest AV, Kruse K, Savant S, Thomas M, Laib AM, Loos EK, Fiedler U, Augustin HG (2013) Angiopoietin-2 is critical for cytokine-induced vascular leakage. PLoS One 8:e70459. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070459
- Bertazzi PA, Pesatori AC, Consonni D, Tironi A, Landi MT, Zocchetti C (1993) Cancer incidence in a population accidentally exposed to 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin. Epidemiology 4: 398–406
- Bhatia S (2013) Therapy-related myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. Semin Oncol 40: 666–675. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2013.09.013
- Bhattarai G, Lee JB, Kim M-H, Ham S, So H-S, Oh S, Sim H-J et al (2020) Maternal exposure to fine particulate matter during pregnancy induces progressive senescence of hematopoietic stem cells under preferential impairment of the bone marrow microenvironment and aids development of myeloproliferative disease. Leukemia 34:1481–1484. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-019-0665-8
- Blau O, Hofmann W-K, Baldus CD, Thiel G, Serbent V, Schümann E, Thiel E et al (2007) Chromosomal aberrations in bone marrow mesenchymal stroma cells from patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloblastic leukemia. Exp Hematol 35:221–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2006.10.012
- Bonig H, Watts KL, Chang K-H, Kiem H-P, Papayannopoulou T (2009) Concurrent blockade of α4-Integrin and CXCR4 in hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell mobilization. Stem Cells 27: 836–837. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.9
- Boroumand P, Prescott D, Wong M, Shen J, Tattoli I, Zhou Y, Shi N et al (2020) Bone marrow adipocytes drive the development of tissue invasive Ly6Chigh monocytes during obesity. bioRxiv 2020.12.07.414862. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.07.414862

- Cagnan I, Gunel-Ozcan A, Aerts-Kaya F, Ameziane N, Kuskonmaz B, Dorsman J, Gumruk F et al (2018) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells carrying FANCD2 mutation differ from the other Fanconi anemia complementation groups in terms of TGF-β1 production. Stem Cell Rev Rep 14:425–437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-017-9794-5
- Cagnan I, Cosgun E, Konu O, Uckan D, Gunel-Ozcan A (2019) PKNOX2 expression and regulation in the bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells of Fanconi anemia patients and healthy donors. Mol Biol Rep 46:669–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-018-4522-z
- Cao L, Wang D, Zhu C, Wang B, Cen X, Chen A, Zhou H et al (2020) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon exposure and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk in urban adults The mediating role of oxidatively damaged DNA. Environ Pollut 265:114860. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envpol.2020.114860
- Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9:641–650. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor. 1100090504
- Capparelli C, Guido C, Whitaker-menezes D, Bonuccelli G, Balliet R, Pestell TG, Goldberg AF et al (2012) Autophagy and senescence in cancer-associated fibroblasts metabolically supports tumor growth and metastasis via glycolysis and ketone production. Cell cycle 11(12): 2285–2302
- Carlucci A, Gedressi C, Lignitto L, Nezi L, Villa-Moruzzi E, Avvedimento EV, Gottesman M et al (2008) Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase PTPD1 regulates focal adhesion kinase autophosphorylation and cell migration*. J Biol Chem 283:10919–10929. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M707248200
- Cawthorn WP, Premaor MO, Reagan MR, Edwards CM, Morris E V, Edwards CM (2016) Bone marrow adipose tissue A new player in cancer metastasis to bone. Frontiers Research Foundation
- Ceccaldi R, Parmar K, Mouly E, Delord M, Kim JM, Regairaz M, Pla M et al (2012) Bone Marrow Failure in Fanconi Anemia Is Triggered by an Exacerbated p53/p21 DNA Damage Response that Impairs Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells. Cell Stem Cell 11:36–49. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.013
- Ceccaldi R, Sarangi P, D'Andrea AD (2016) The Fanconi anaemia pathway new players and new functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17:337–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.48
- Chang Y-T, Hernandez D, Alonso S, Gao M, Su M, Ghiaur G, Levis MJ et al (2019) Role of CYP3A4 in bone marrow microenvironment-mediated protection of FLT3/ITD AML from tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Blood Adv 3:908–916. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances. 2018022921
- Chen S, Zambetti NA, Bindels EMJ, Kenswill K, Mylona AM, Adisty NM, Hoogenboezem RM et al (2016) Massive parallel RNA sequencing of highly purified mesenchymal elements in low-risk MDS reveals tissue-context-dependent activation of inflammatory programs. Leukemia 30:1938–1942. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2016.91
- Cho HJ, Lee J, Yoon SR, Lee HG, Jung H (2020) Regulation of hematopoietic stem cell fate and malignancy. Int J Mol Sci 21:1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21134780
- Chow A, Lucas D, Hidalgo A, Méndez-Ferrer S, Hashimoto D, Scheiermann C, Battista M et al (2011) Bone marrow CD169+ macrophages promote the retention of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the mesenchymal stem cell niche. J Exp Med 208:761–771. https://doi.org/ 10.1084/jem.20101688
- Ciciarello M, Corradi G, Loscocco F, Visani G, Monaco F, Cavo M, Curti A et al (2019) The yin and yang of the bone marrow microenvironment Pros and cons of mesenchymal stromal cells in acute myeloid leukemia. Front Oncol 9:1135. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01135
- Clevers H (2013) The intestinal crypt, a prototype stem cell compartment. Cell 154:274
- Craft CS, Li Z, MacDougald OA, Scheller EL (2018) Molecular differences between subtypes of bone marrow adipocytes. Curr Mol Biol Reports 4:16–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40610-018-0087-9
- Crane GM, Jeffery E, Morrison SJ (2017) Adult haematopoietic stem cell niches. Nat Rev Immunol 17:573–590
- Croker BA, Silke J, Gerlic M, Aviv T (2016) Fight or flight regulation of emergency hematopoiesis by pyroptosis and necroptosis. Curr Opin Hematol 22:293–301. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MOH.00000000000148.Fight

- Cronkite EP, Drew RT, Inoue T, Hirabayashi Y, Bullis JE (1989) Hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity of inhaled benzene. Environ Health Perspect 82:97–108. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp. 898297
- Daniels RD, Bertke S, Waters KM, Schubauer-Berigan MK (2013) Risk of leukaemia mortality from exposure to ionising radiation in US nuclear workers a pooled case-control study. Occup Environ Med 70:41–48. https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2012-100906
- Dar A, Goichberg P, Shinder V, Kalinkovich A, Kollet O, Netzer N, Margalit R et al (2005) Chemokine receptor CXCR4-dependent internalization and resecretion of functional chemokine SDF-1 by bone marrow endothelial and stromal cells. Nat Immunol 6:1038–1046. https://doi. org/10.1038/ni1251
- Davalli P, Marverti G, Lauriola A, Arca DD (2018) Review article targeting oxidatively induced DNA damage response in cancer opportunities for novel cancer therapies. 2018
- Davies SM, Robison LL, Buckley JD, Tjoa T, Woods WG, Radloff GA, Ross JA et al (2001) Glutathione S-Transferase polymorphisms and outcome of chemotherapy in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol 19:1279–1287. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2001.19.5.1279
- de la Rubia J, Regadera AI, Martin G, Cervera J, Sanz GF, Martinez JA, Jarque I et al (2002) FLAG-IDA regimen (fludarabine, cytarabine, idarubicin and G-CSF) in the treatment of patients with high-risk myeloid malignancies. Leuk Res 26:725–730. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2126(02)00003-6
- Ding L, Morrison SJ (2013) Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. Nature 495:231–235. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11885
- Ding L, Saunders TL, Enikolopov G, Morrison SJ (2012) Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 481:457–462. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10783
- Dirat B, Bochet L, Dabek M, Daviaud D, Dauvillier S, Majed B, Wang YY et al (2011) Cancerassociated adipocytes exhibit an activated phenotype and contribute to breast cancer invasion. Cancer Res 71:2455 LP–2452465. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3323
- dos Vianna AS, de Matos EP, de Jesus IM, Asmus CIRF, de Câmara VM (2019) Human exposure to mercury and its hematological effects a systematic review. Cad, Saúde Pública, p 35
- Duarte D, Hawkins ED, Lo Celso C (2018) The interplay of leukemia cells and the bone marrow microenvironment. Blood 131:1507–1511
- Dührsen U, Hossfeld DK (1996) Stromal abnormalities in neoplastic bone marrow diseases. Ann Hematol 73:53–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002770050203
- Elefteriou F, Ahn JD, Takeda S, Starbuck M, Yang X, Liu X, Kondo H et al (2005) Leptin regulation of bone resorption by the sympathetic nervous system and CART. Nature 434:514–520. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature03398
- Elmadbouh I, Haider KH, Shujia J, Niagara MI, Gang L, Ashraf M (2007) Ex vivo delivered stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha promotes stem cell homing and induces angiomyogenesis in the infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 42:792–803
- Ergen AV, Boles NC, Goodell MA (2012) Rantes/Ccl5 influences hematopoietic stem cell subtypes and causes myeloid skewing. Blood 119:2500–2509. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-11-391730
- Fazeli PK, Horowitz MC, MacDougald OA, Scheller EL, Rodeheffer MS, Rosen CJ, Klibanski A (2013) Marrow fat and bone–new perspectives. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98:935–945. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-3634
- Fernandez L, Rodriguez S, Huang H, Chora A, Fernandes J, Mumaw C, Cruz E et al (2008) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and endothelial cells modulate Notch signaling in the bone marrow microenvironment during inflammation. Exp Hematol 36:545–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exphem.2007.12.012
- Finkel T (2003) Oxidant signals and oxidative stress. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15(2):247–254. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0955-0674(03)00002-4
- Forte D, Krause DS, Andreeff M, Bonnet D, Méndez-Ferrer S (2019) Updates on the hematologic tumor microenvironment and its therapeutic targeting. Haematologica 104:1928–1934
- Fracchiolla NS, Annaloro C, Guidotti F, Fattizzo B, Cortelezzi A (2016) 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) role in hematopoiesis and in hematologic diseases A critical review. Toxicology 374:60–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2016.10.007
- Freedman MH, Alter BP (2002) Risk of myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia in congenital neutropenias. Semin Hematol 39:128–133. https://doi.org/10.1053/shem.2002. 31912
- Fuchs A, Monlish DA, Ghosh S, Chang S, Bochicchio GV, Schuettpelz LG, Turnbull IR (2020) Trauma induces emergency hematopoiesis through IL-1/MyD88 dependent production of G-CSF1. J Immunol 202:3020–3032. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1801456.Trauma
- Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Kawajiri K (2010) Molecular mechanisms of the physiological functions of the aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptor, a multifunctional regulator that senses and responds to environmental stimuli. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 86:40–53. https://doi.org/10.2183/ pjab.86.40
- Furue M, Tsuji G (2019) Chloracne and hyperpigmentation caused by exposure to hazardous aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands. Int J Environ Res Public Heal 16(23):4864
- Furutani E, Shah AS, Zhao Y, Andorsky D, Dedeoglu F, Geddis A, Zhou Y, Libermann TA, Myers KC, Shimamura A (2020) Inflammatory manifestations in patients with Shwachman–Diamond syndrome a novel phenotype. Am J Med Genet Part A 182:1754–1760. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.61593
- Galluzzi L, Yamazaki T, Kroemer G (2018) Linking cellular stress responses to systemic homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 19(11):731–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0068-0
- Garaycoechea JI, Crossan GP, Langevin F, Daly M, Arends MJ, Patel KJ (2012) Genotoxic consequences of endogenous aldehydes on mouse haematopoietic stem cell function. Nature 489:571–575. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11368
- Garaycoechea JI, Crossan GP, Langevin F, Mulderrig L, Louzada S, Yang F, Guilbaud G et al (2018) Alcohol and endogenous aldehydes damage chromosomes and mutate stem cells. Nature 553:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25154
- Garcia M, Chen C-C (2017) The bone marrow microenvironment-driver of leukemia evolution? Stem cell Investig 4(11). https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2017.02.03
- García-De-teresa B, Rodríguez A, Frias S (2020) Chromosome instability in fanconi anemia From breaks to phenotypic consequences. Genes (Basel) 11:1–35. https://doi.org/10.3390/ genes11121528
- Gazit R, Mandal PK, Ebina W, Ben-Zvi A, Nombela-Arrieta C, Silberstein LE, Rossi DJ (2014) Fgd5 identifies hematopoietic stem cells in the murine bone marrow. J Exp Med 211: 1315–1331. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20130428
- Gong Y, Hoover-Plow J (2012) The plasminogen system in regulating stem cell mobilization. J Biomed Biotech 2012:437920. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/437920
- Greenbaum AM, Link DC (2011) Mechanisms of G-CSF-mediated hematopoietic stem and progenitor mobilization. Leukemia 25:211–217
- Griessinger E, Moschoi R, Biondani G, Peyron J-F (2017) Mitochondrial transfer in the leukemia microenvironment. Trends in Cancer 3:828–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2017.10.003
- Haas S, Hansson J, Trumpp A, Essers MAG, Haas S, Hansson J, Klimmeck D et al (2015) Inflammation-induced emergency megakaryopoiesis driven by hematopoietic stem article inflammation-induced emergency megakaryopoiesis driven by hematopoietic stem cell-like megakaryocyte progenitors. Cell Stem Cell 17:422–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015. 07.007
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) "Mircrining" the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11: Article 23, 1-12.
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circulation Res 103:1300–1308
- Hanoun M, Zhang D, Mizoguchi T, Pinho S, Pierce H, Kunisaki Y, Lacombe J et al (2014) Acute myelogenous leukemia-induced sympathetic neuropathy promotes malignancy in an altered hematopoietic stem cell niche. Cell Stem Cell 15:365–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014. 06.020

- Harris CC (1989) Interindividual variation among humans in carcinogen metabolism, DNA adduct formation and DNA repair. Carcinogenesis 10:1563–1566. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/10. 9.1563
- Hatagima A (2002) Genetic polymorphisms and metabolism of endocrine disruptors in cancer susceptibility. Cad. Saúde Pública 18:357–377
- Hatfield KJ, Melve GK, Bruserud Ø (2017) Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor alters the systemic metabolomic profile in healthy donors. Metabolomics 13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-016-1139-x
- Haus E, Lakatua DJ, Swoyer J, Sackett-Lundeen L (1983) Chronobiology in hematology and immunology. Am J Anat 168:467–517. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1001680406
- Heazlewood SY, Oteiza A, Cao H, Nilsson SK (2014) Analyzing hematopoietic stem cell homing, lodgment, and engraftment to better understand the bone marrow niche. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1310:119–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12329
- Hérault A, Binnewies M, Leong S, Calero-Nieto FJ, Zhang SY, Kang YA, Wang X et al (2017a) Myeloid progenitor cluster formation drives emergency and leukaemic myelopoiesis. Nature 544:53–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21693
- Hérault A, Binnewies M, Leong S, Calero-nieto FJ, Zhang Y, Kang Y, Wang X et al (2017b) Myeloid progenitor cluster formation drives emergency and leukemic myelopoiesis. Nature 544:53–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21693.Myeloid
- Herman JP, Figueiredo H, Mueller NK, Ulrich-Lai Y, Ostrander MM, Choi DC, Cullinan WE (2003) Central mechanisms of stress integration Hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. Front Neuroendocrinol 24:151–180. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.yfme.2003.07.001
- Hirabayashi Y, Yoon B-I, Li G-X, Kanno J, Inoue T (2004) Mechanism of benzene-induced hematotoxicity and leukemogenicity current review with implication of microarray analyses. Toxicol Pathol 32:12–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230490451725
- Ho Y-H, Del Toro R, Rivera-Torres J, Rak J, Korn C, García-García A, Macías D et al (2019) Remodeling of bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell niches promotes myeloid cell expansion during premature or physiological aging. Cell Stem Cell 25:407–418.e6. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2019.06.007
- Horowitz MC, Berry R, Holtrup B, Sebo Z, Nelson T, Fretz JA, Lindskog D et al (2017) Bone marrow adipocytes. Adipocyte 6:193–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/21623945.2017.1367881
- Horwitz M (1997) The genetics of familial leukemia. Leukemia 11:1347–1359. https://doi.org/10. 1038/sj.leu.2400707
- Houghtaling S, Newell A, Akkari Y, Taniguchi T, Olson S, Grompe M (2005) Fancd2 functions in a double strand break repair pathway that is distinct from non-homologous end joining. Hum Mol Genet 14:3027–3033. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi334
- Hsu YC, Li L, Fuchs E (2014) Emerging interactions between skin stem cells and their niches. Nat. Med. 20:847–856
- Huang R, Zhou P (2019) Double-edged effects of noncoding RNAs in responses to environmental genotoxic insults Perspectives with regards. Environ Pollut 247:64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2019.01.014
- Itkin T, Gómez-Salinero JM, Rafii S (2017) Open the gates vascular neurocrine signaling mobilizes hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. J. Clin. Invest. 127:4231–4234
- Ivanusic JJ (2017) Molecular mechanisms that contribute to bone marrow pain. Front Neurol 8:1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00458
- Iwamoto S, Mihara K, Downing JR, Pui C-H, Campana D (2007) Mesenchymal cells regulate the response of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to asparaginase. J Clin Invest 117:1049–1105. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI30235
- Jacobsen SEW, Nerlov C (2019) Haematopoiesis in the era of advanced single-cell technologies. Nat Cell Biol 21:2–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0227-8
- Jandacek RJ, Anderson N, Liu M, Zheng S, Yang Q, Tso P (2005) Effects of yo-yo diet, caloric restriction, and olestra on tissue distribution of hexachlorobenzene. Am J Physiol Liver Physiol 288:G292–G299. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00285.2004

- Jiang S, Caudill C, Ahmed RPH, Haider KH (2012) A combinatorial approach for bone marrow stem cell mobilization, homing-in and retention for *de novo* cardiac regeneration: GCSF treatment combined with *ex vivo* transgenic SDF-1α delivery in the heart. Circulation Nov. 2012(suppl)
- Katayama Y, Battista M, Kao WM, Hidalgo A, Peired AJ, Thomas SA, Frenette PS (2006) Signals from the sympathetic nervous system regulate hematopoietic stem cell egress from bone marrow. Cell 124:407–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.041
- Kazianka L, Staber PB (2020) The bone's role in myeloid neoplasia. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21:4712
- Kiel MJ, Yilmaz ÖH, Iwashita T, Yilmaz OH, Terhorst C, Morrison SJ (2005) SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 121:1109–1121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.026
- Kim H, D'Andrea AD (2012) Regulation of DNA cross-link repair by the Fanconi anemia/BRCA pathway. Genes Dev 26:1393–1408. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.195248.112
- Kim C, Wan W, Liu R, Kucia M, Laughlin MJ, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ (2010) A novel paradigm in stem cell trafficking the ratio of peripheral blood Sphingosine-1 Phosphate (S1P) to Bone Marrow Ceramide-1 Phosphate (C1P) regulates mobilization and homing of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 116:554–554. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v116.21.554.554
- Klamer S, Voermans C (2014) The role of novel and known extracellular matrix and adhesion molecules in the homeostatic and regenerative bone marrow microenvironment http://www. tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.4161/19336918.2014.968501. Cell Adhes. Migr. 8:563–577
- Klement RJ, Fink MK (2016) Dietary and pharmacological modification of the insulin/IGF-1 system exploiting the full repertoire against cancer. Oncogenesis 5:e193–e193. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/oncsis.2016.2
- Kocabas F, Xie L, Xie J, Yu Z, DeBerardinis RJ, Kimura W, Thet S et al (2015) Hypoxic metabolism in human hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Biosci 5:39. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13578-015-0020-3
- Kokkaliaris KD, Scadden DT (2020) Cell interactions in the bone marrow microenvironment affecting myeloid malignancies. Blood Adv 4:3795–3803. https://doi.org/10.1182/ bloodadvances.2020002127
- Kou Z, Dai W (2021) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor Its roles in physiology. Biochem Pharmacol 185: 114428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114428
- Koundouros N, Poulogiannis G (2020) Reprogramming of fatty acid metabolism in cancer. Br J Cancer 122:4–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0650-z
- Kristinsson SY, Björkholm M, Hultcrantz M, Derolf ÅR, Landgren O, Goldin LR (2011) Chronic immune stimulation might act as a trigger for the development of acute myeloid leukemia or myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol 29:2897–2903. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011. 34.8540
- Kumar B, Orellana M, Brooks J, Madabushi SS, Vishwasrao P, Parra LE, Sanchez J et al (2020) Exosomes-driven lipolysis and bone marrow niche remodeling supports leukemia expansion. Haematologica Online ahe . https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2019.246058
- Kunisaki Y, Bruns I, Scheiermann C, Ahmed J, Pinho S, Zhang D, Mizoguchi T et al (2013) Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nature 502:637–643. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature12612
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/Cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):667–677
- Lai VK, Afzal MR, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Non-hypoxic stabilization of Hif- 1α during coordinated interaction between Akt and angiopoietin-1 enhances endothelial commitment of bone marrow stem cells. J Mol Med 90(6):719–730
- Lai VK, Afzal M, Haider KH. Angiopoietin-1 for myocardial angiogenesis. In: Aortic Aneurysm (Book) (ISBN 978-953-307-578-5).
- Lapidot T, Petit I (2002) Current understanding of stem cell mobilization The roles of chemokines, proteolytic enzymes, adhesion molecules, cytokines, and stromal cells. Exp. Hematol. 30: 973–981
- Lapidot T, Dar A, Kollet O (2005) How do stem cells find their way home? Blood 106:1901–1910

- Lapidot T, Goichberg P, Lapid K, Avigdor A, Kollet O (2007) The endosteum region keeps human leukemic stem cells alive. Cell Stem Cell 1:483–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2007. 10.013
- Larson RA (2009) Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms. Haematologica 94:454–459. https://doi. org/10.3324/haematol.2008.005157
- Larson MK, Watson SP (2006) A product of their environment Do megakaryocytes rely on extracellular cues for proplatelet formation? Platelets 17:435–440
- Laurenti E, Göttgens B, Trust W (2019) From haematopoietic stem cells to complex differentiation landscapes. Nature 553:418–426. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25022.From
- Lee ST, Chu K, Jung KH, Ko SY, Kim EH, Sinn DI, Lee YS et al (2005) Granulocyte colonystimulating factor enhances angiogenesis after focal cerebral ischemia. Brain Res 1058: 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2005.07.076
- Lee D-H, Porta M, Jacobs DR Jr, Vandenberg LN (2014) Chlorinated persistent organic pollutants, obesity, and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev 35:557–601. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2013-1084
- Lee Y-M, Kim K-S, Jacobs DR Jr, Lee D-H (2017) Persistent organic pollutants in adipose tissue should be considered in obesity research. Obes Rev 18:129–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr. 12481
- Lei Y, Haider KH, Jiang S, Tan R-S, Ge R, Law PK, Sim EKW (2007a) Improved angiogenic response in pig heart following ischemic injury using human skeletal myoblast simultaneously expressing VEGF₁₆₅ and angiopoietin-1. Eur J Heart Fail 9(1):15–22
- Lei Y, Haider KH, Jiang S, Tan RS, Ge R, Law PK, Sim EKW (2007b) Angiopoietin-1 induced myocardial neovascularization: a comparison between ex-vivo delivery using skeletal myoblasts vs direct viral vector injection. Eur J Heart Failure 9:458–465
- Lengyel E, Makowski L, DiGiovanni J, Kolonin MG (2018) Cancer as a matter of fat the crosstalk between adipose tissue and tumors. Trends Cancer 4:374–384
- Leone G, Pagano L, Ben-Yehuda D, Voso MT (2007) Therapy-related leukemia and myelodysplasia susceptibility and incidence. Haematologica 92:1389–1398. https://doi.org/10. 3324/haematol.11034
- Li J (2011) Quiescence regulators for hematopoietic stem cell. Exp. Hematol. 39:511-520
- Li AJ, Calvi LM (2017) The microenvironment in myelodysplastic syndromes Niche-mediated disease initiation and progression. Exp Hematol 55:3–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem. 2017.08.003
- Liu L, Cash TP, Jones RG, Keith B, Thompson CB, Simon MC (2006) Hypoxia-induced energy stress regulates mRNA translation and cell. Growth. 521–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel. 2006.01.010
- Liu C, Zhao Q, Yu X (2020a) Bone marrow adipocytes, adipocytokines, and breast cancer cells novel implications in bone metastasis of breast cancer. Front Oncol 10:561595. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fonc.2020.561595
- Liu PK, Wen YT, Lin W, Kapupara K, Tai M, Tsai RK (2020b) Neuroprotective effects of low-dose G-CSF plus meloxicam in a rat model of anterior ischemic optic neuropathy. Sci Rep 10:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66977-9
- Lo Celso C, Fleming HE, Wu JW, Zhao CX, Miake-Lye S, Fujisaki J, Côté D et al (2009) Liveanimal tracking of individual haematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in their niche. Nature 457: 92–96. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07434
- Longo VD, Mattson MP (2014) Fasting molecular mechanisms and clinical applications. Cell Metab 19:181–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2013.12.008
- Lu G, Ashraf M (2012) Haider KH (2012) IGF-1 preconditioning accentuates intrinsic survival mechanism in stem cells to resist ischemic injury by orchestrating PKCα-MAPK activation. Antioxidant Red Signaling. 16(3):217–227
- Lu R, Czechowicz A, Seita J, Jiang D, Weissman IL (2019) Clonal-level lineage commitment pathways of hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1801480116

- Lucas D, Battista M, Shi PA, Isola L, Frenette PS (2008) Mobilized hematopoietic stem cell yield depends on species-specific circadian timing. Cell Stem Cell 3:364–366. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2008.09.004
- Lucas D, Scheiermann C, Chow A, Kunisaki Y, Bruns I, Barrick C, Tessarollo L, Frenette PS (2013) Chemotherapy-induced bone marrow nerve injury impairs hematopoietic regeneration. Nat Med 19:695–703. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3155
- Lurie S, Danon D (1992) Life span of erythrocytes in late pregnancy. Obs Gynecol 80:123-126
- Ly M, Rentas S, Vujovic A, Wong N, Moreira S, Xu J, Holzapfel N et al (2019) Diminished AHR signaling drives human acute myeloid leukemia stem cell maintenance. Cancer Res 79:5799 LP–5795811. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-0274
- Man Y, Yao X, Yang T, Wang Y (2021) Hematopoietic stem cell niche during homeostasis, malignancy, and bone marrow transplantation. Front cell Dev Biol 9:621214. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcell.2021.621214
- Mandal PK (2005) Dioxin a review of its environmental effects and its aryl hydrocarbon receptor biology. J Comp Physiol B 175:221–230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-005-0483-3
- Mantelli M, Avanzini MA, Rosti V, Ingo DM, Conforti A, Novara F, Arrigo G et al (2015) Comprehensive characterization of mesenchymal stromal cells from patients with Fanconi anaemia. Br J Haematol 170:826–836. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.13504
- Maryanovich M, Takeishi S, Frenette PS (2018) Neural regulation of bone and bone marrow. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 8. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a031344
- Matsuo M, Iwanaga M, Kondo H, Soda M, Jo T, Horio K, Takasaki Y et al (2016) Clinical features and prognosis of patients with myelodysplastic syndromes who were exposed to atomic bomb radiation in Nagasaki. Cancer Sci 107:1484–1491. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13025
- Mattiucci D, Maurizi G, Izzi V, Cenci L, Ciarlantini M, Mancini S, Mensà E et al (2018) Bone marrow adipocytes support hematopoietic stem cell survival. J Cell Physiol 233:1500–1511. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26037
- Medina S, Xu H, Wang SC, Lauer FT, Liu KJ, Burchiel SW (2017) Low level arsenite exposures suppress the development of bone marrow erythroid progenitors and result in anemia in adult male mice. Toxicol Lett 273:106–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.03.021
- Mendelson A, Frenette PS (2015) Hematopoietic stem cell niche maintenance during homeostasis and regeneration. Nat Med 20:833–846. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3647
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Lucas D, Battista M, Frenette PS (2008) Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature 452:442–447. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06685
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Battista M, Frenette PS (2010a) Cooperation of β2- and β3-adrenergic receptors in hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1192:139–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05390.x
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Michurina TV, Ferraro F, Mazloom AR, MacArthur BD, Lira SA, Scadden DT et al (2010b) Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature 466:829–834. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09262
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Bonnet D, Steensma DP, Hasserjian RP, Ghobrial IM, Gribben JG, Andreeff M et al (2020) Bone marrow niches in haematological malignancies. Nat Rev Cancer 20:285–298. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-020-0245-2
- Mirantes C, Passegué E, Pietras EM (2014) Pro-inflammatory cytokines emerging players regulating HSC function in normal and diseased hematopoiesis. Exp Cell Res 329:248–254. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.08.017
- Monlish DA, Bhatt ST, Schuettpelz LG (2016) The role of toll-like receptors in hematopoietic malignancies. Front Immunol 7:390. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00390
- Morrison SJ, Scadden DT (2014) The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 505:327–334. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12984
- Munir R, Lisec J, Swinnen JV, Zaidi N (2019) Lipid metabolism in cancer cells under metabolic stress. Br J Cancer 120:1090–1098. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0451-4

- Muralidharan S, Mandrekar P (2013) Cellular stress response and innate immune signaling integrating pathways in host defense and inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. 94:1167–1184. https://doi. org/10.1189/jlb.0313153
- Naveiras O, Nardi V, Wenzel PL, Hauschka PV, Fahey F, Daley GQ (2009) Bone-marrow adipocytes as negative regulators of the haematopoietic microenvironment. Nature 460: 259–263. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08099
- Ni F, Yu W-M, Wang X, Fay ME, Young KM, Qiu Y, Lam WA et al (2019) Ptpn21 controls hematopoietic stem cell homeostasis and biomechanics. Cell Stem Cell 24:608–620.e6. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2019.02.009
- Niederkorn M, Starczynowski DT, Biology C (2017) GMP-ing to spatial conclusions about emergency and leukemic myelopoiesis. Cell Stem Cell 20:579–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2017.04.005
- Nishikii H, Kurita N, Chiba S (2017) The road map for megakaryopoietic lineage from hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 6:1661–1665. https://doi.org/10.1002/ sctm.16-0490
- Nishimura S, Nagasaki M, Kunishima S, Sakaguchi H, Ohmori T, Manabe I, Jr JEI, Ryu T, Takayama N (2015) IL-1α induces thrombopoiesis through megakaryocyte rupture in response to acute platelet needs. J Cell Biol 209 453–466. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201410052
- Niu H, Cancelas JA (2018) Twisting the bone marrow stem cell niche. Haematologica 103: 1937–1938. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2018.206029
- Ok Bozkaya I, Azik F, Tavil B, Koksal Y, Ozguner M, Tunc B, Uckan Cetinkaya D (2015) The effect of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on immune-modulatory cytokines in the bone marrow microenvironment and mesenchymal stem cells of healthy donors. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 21:1888–1894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.08.007
- Ozdogan H, Gur Dedeoglu B, Oztemur Islakoglu Y, Aydos A, Kose S, Atalay A, Yegin ZA et al (2017) DICER1 gene and miRNA dysregulation in mesenchymal stem cells of patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloblastic leukemia. Leuk Res 63:62–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2017.10.006
- Paolillo M, Schinelli S (2019) Extracellular matrix alterations in metastatic processes. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20:4947
- Papy-Garcia D, Albanese P (2017) Heparan sulfate proteoglycans as key regulators of the mesenchymal niche of hematopoietic stem cells. Glycoconj J 34:377–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10719-017-9773-8
- Pereira JA, Law S (2018) Microenvironmental scenario of the bone marrow of inorganic arsenicexposed experimental mice. Biol Trace Elem Res 181:304–313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-017-1022-2
- Petit I, Ponomaryov T, Zipori D, Tsvee L (2002) G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. Nat Immunol 3:687–694. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ni813
- Pinho S, Frenette PS (2019) Haematopoietic stem cell activity and interactions with the niche. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 20:303–320
- Poland A, Glover E, Kende AS (1976) Stereospecific, high affinity binding of 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzo p dioxin by hepatic cytosol. Evidence that the binding species is receptor for induction of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. J Biol Chem 251:4936–4946. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0021-9258(17)33205-2
- Pratibh S, Mohammad KS, Pelus LM (2020) CXCR4 expression in the bone marrow microenvironment is required for hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell maintenance and early hematopoietic regeneration after myeloablatione. Stem Cells 38:849–859. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.3174
- Price TT, Burness ML, Sivan A, Warner MJ, Cheng R, Lee CH, Olivere L et al (2016) Dormant breast cancer micrometastases reside in specific bone marrow niches that regulate their transit to and from bone. Sci Transl Med 8:340ra73 LP–340340ra73. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scitranslmed.aad4059

- Raaijmakers MHGP, Mukherjee S, Guo S, Zhang S, Kobayashi T, Schoonmaker JA, Ebert BL et al (2010) Bone progenitor dysfunction induces myelodysplasia and secondary leukaemia. Nature 464:852–857. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08851
- Radivoyevitch T, Sachs RK, Gale RP, Molenaar RJ, Brenner DJ, Hill BT, Kalaycio ME et al (2016) Defining AML and MDS second cancer risk dynamics after diagnoses of first cancers treated or not with radiation. Leukemia 30:285–294. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.258
- Ramirez P, Rettig MP, Uy GL, Deych E, Holt MS, Ritchey JK, DiPersio JF (2009) BIO5192, a small molecule inhibitor of VLA-4, mobilizes hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Blood 114: 1340–1343. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-10-184721
- Ratajczak MZ (2015) A novel view of the adult bone marrow stem cell hierarchy and stem cell trafficking. Leukemia 29:776–782
- Ratajczak MZ, Suszynska M, Borkowska S, Ratajczak J, Schneider G (2014) The role of sphingosine-1 phosphate and ceramide-1 phosphate in trafficking of normal stem cells and cancer cells. Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 18:95–107
- Rodríguez A, Zhang K, Färkkilä A, Filiatrault J, Yang C, Velázquez M, Furutani E et al (2021) MYC promotes bone marrow stem cell dysfunction in Fanconi anemia. Cell Stem Cell 28: 33–47.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2020.09.004
- Safe S, Han H, Goldsby J, Mohankumar K, Chapkin RS (2018) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) ligands as selective AhR modulators Genomic studies. Curr Opin Toxicol 11–12:10–20. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cotox.2018.11.005
- Sahebekhtiari HA, Tavassoli M (1976) Marrow cell uptake by megakaryocytes in routine bone marrow smears during blood loss. Scand J Haematol 16:13–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0609.1976.tb01110.x
- Saito Y, Chapple RH, Lin A, Kitano A, Nakada D (2015) AMPK protects leukemia-initiating cells in myeloid leukemias from metabolic stress in the bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell 17:585–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.08.019
- Sánchez-Aguilera A, Méndez-Ferrer S (2017) The hematopoietic stem-cell niche in health and leukemia. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 74:579–590
- Scharf P, Broering MF, da Rocha GHO, Farsky SHP (2020) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of environmental pollutants on hematopoiesis. Int J Mol Sci 21:1–30. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21196996
- Scheller EL, Doucette CR, Learman BS, Cawthorn WP, Khandaker S, Schell B, Wu B et al (2015) Region-specific variation in the properties of skeletal adipocytes reveals regulated and constitutive marrow adipose tissues. Nat Commun 6:7808. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms8808
- Scheller EL, Khandaker S, Learman BS, Cawthorn WP, Anderson LM, Pham HA, Robles H et al (2019) Bone marrow adipocytes resist lipolysis and remodeling in response to β-adrenergic stimulation. Bone 118:32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2018.01.016
- Schuettpelz LG, Link DC (2013) Regulation of hematopoietic stem cell activity by inflammation. Front Immunol 4:204. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00204
- Scoville SD, Nalin AP, Chen L, Chen L, Zhang MH, McConnell K, Beceiro Casas S et al (2018) Human AML activates the aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway to impair NK cell development and function. Blood 132:1792–1804. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-03-838474
- Seedhouse C, Faulkner R, Ashraf N, Das-Gupta E, Russell N (2004) Polymorphisms in genes involved in homologous recombination repair interact to increase the risk of developing acute myeloid leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 10:2675 LP–2672680. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-03-0372
- Sekine Y, Houston R, Sekine S (2021) Cellular metabolic stress responses via organelles. Exp Cell Res 400:112515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2021.112515
- Shafat MS, Oellerich T, Mohr S, Robinson SD, Edwards DR, Marlein CR, Piddock RE et al (2017) Leukemic blasts program bone marrow adipocytes to generate a protumoral microenvironment. Blood 129:1320–1332. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-08-734798

- Shirvaikar N, Marquez-Curtis LA, Shaw AR, Turner AR, Janowska-Wieczorek A (2010) MT1-MMP association with membrane lipid rafts facilitates G-CSF-induced hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell mobilization. Exp Hematol 38:823–835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2010.05.002
- Simsek T, Kocabas F, Zheng J, Deberardinis RJ, Mahmoud AI, Olson EN, Schneider JW et al (2010) The distinct metabolic profile of hematopoietic stem cells reflects their location in a hypoxic niche. Cell Stem Cell 7:380–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.07.011
- Singh KP, Casado FL, Opanashuk LA, Gasiewicz TA (2009) The aryl hydrocarbon receptor has a normal function in the regulation of hematopoietic and other stem/progenitor cell populations. Biochem Pharmacol 77:577–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2008.10.001
- Singh KP, Garrett RW, Casado FL, Gasiewicz TA (2011) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-null allele mice have hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells with abnormal characteristics and functions. Stem Cells Dev 20:769–784. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2010.0333
- Singh P, Hoggatt J, Kamocka MM, Mohammad KS, Saunders MR, Li H, Speth J et al (2017) Neuropeptide Y regulates a vascular gateway for hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. J Clin Invest 127:4527–4540. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI94687
- Singh SK, Singh S, Gadomski S, Tessarollo L, Klarmann KD, Keller JR, Singh SK et al (2018) Id1 Ablation protects hematopoietic stem cells from article Id1 ablation protects hematopoietic stem cells from stress-induced exhaustion and aging. Stem Cell 23:252–265.e8. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2018.06.001
- Singh S, Jakubison B, Keller JR (2020) Protection of hematopoietic stem cells from stress-induced exhaustion and aging. Curr Opin Hematol 27:225–231. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOH. 000000000000586
- Snyder R (2004) Xenobiotic metabolism and the mechanism(s) of Benzene toxicity. Drug Metab Rev 36:531–547. https://doi.org/10.1081/DMR-200033445
- Sousa CM, Biancur DE, Wang X, Halbrook CJ, Sherman MH, Zhang L, Kremer D et al (2016) Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion. Nature 536:479–483
- Sperling AS, Gibson CJ, Ebert BL (2017) The genetics of myelodysplastic syndrome from clonal haematopoiesis to secondary leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer 17:5–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc. 2016.112
- Stegner D, Vaneeuwijk JMM, Angay O, Gorelashvili MG, Semeniak D, Pinnecker J, Schmithausen P et al (2017) Thrombopoiesis is spatially regulated by the bone marrow vasculature. Nat Commun 8:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00201-7
- Sugiyama T, Kohara H, Noda M, Nagasawa T (2006) Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. Immunity 25:977–988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.10.016
- Sun J, Ramos A, Chapman B, Johnnidis JB, Le L, Ho YJ, Klein A et al (2014) Clonal dynamics of native haematopoiesis. Nature 514:322–327. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13824
- Sun R, Xu K, Ji S, Pu Y, Yu L, Yin L, Zhang J, Pu Y (2021) Toxicity in hematopoietic stem cells from bone marrow and peripheral blood in mice after benzene exposure Single-cell transcriptome sequencing analysis. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 207:111490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2020.111490
- Suzuki T, Ishii S, Shinohara M, Kawano Y, Wakahashi K, Kawano H, Sada A et al (2021) Mobilization efficiency is critically regulated by fat via marrow PPARδ. Haematologica. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2020.265751
- Takeda S, Elefteriou F, Levasseur R, Liu X, Zhao L, Parker KL, Armstrong D et al (2002) Leptin regulates bone formation via the sympathetic nervous system. Cell 111:305–317. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01049-8
- Tan WC, Qiu D, Liam BL, Ng TP, Lee SH, Van Eeden SF, D'Yachkova Y et al (2000) The human bone marrow response to acute air pollution caused by forest fires. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:1213–1217. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.161.4.9904084

- Tano N, Kim HW, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2011) Differential expression of microRNA-150 regulates mobilization and egress of bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells by targeting *Cxcr4*. Adult Cardiac Circ, 2011-SS-A-13244-AHA.
- Tikhonova AN, Dolgalev I, Hu H, Sivaraj KK, Hoxha E, Cuesta-Domínguez Á, Pinho S et al (2019) The bone marrow microenvironment at single-cell resolution. Nature 569:222–228. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-019-1104-8
- Tiruneh T, Enawgaw B, Shiferaw E (2020) Genetic pathway in the pathogenesis of therapy-related myeloid neoplasms a literature review. Oncol Ther 8:45–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40487-020-00111-7
- Tratwal J, Labella R, Bravenboer N, Kerckhofs G, Douni E, Scheller EL, Badr S et al (2020) Reporting guidelines, review of methodological standards, and challenges toward harmonization in bone marrow adiposity research. Report of the methodologies working group of the international bone marrow adiposity society. Front. Endocrinol. 11 65
- Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP, Lin GG, Scott JG, Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP (2009) Neural regulation of endocrine and autonomic stress responses. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:397–409. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nrn2647
- Ulum B, Mammadova A, Özyüncü Ö, Uçkan-Çetinkaya D, Yanık T, Aerts-Kaya F (2020) Neuropeptide Y is involved in the regulation of quiescence of hematopoietic stem cells. Neuropeptides 80:102029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2020.102029
- Vabulas RM, Raychaudhuri S, Hayer-hartl M, Hartl FU (2010) Protein folding in the cytoplasm and the heat shock response. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2(12):1–19
- Vardiman JW, Harris NL, Brunning RD (2002) The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of the myeloid neoplasms. Blood 100:2292–2302. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-04-1199
- Vogel CFA, Van Winkle LS, Esser C, Haarmann-Stemmann T (2020) The aryl hydrocarbon receptor as a target of environmental stressors – Implications for pollution mediated stress and inflammatory responses. Redox Biol 34:101530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101530
- Walkley CR, Olsen GH, Dworkin S, Fabb SA, Swann J, McArthur GA, Westmoreland SV et al (2007) A microenvironment-induced myeloproliferative syndrome caused by retinoic acid receptor γ deficiency. Cell 129:1097–1110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.014
- Walter D, Lier A, Geiselhart A, Thalheimer FB, Huntscha S, Sobotta MC, Moehrle B et al (2015) attrition in haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 520:549–552. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature14131
- Wang Y, Haider KH, Ahmad N, Dongsheng Z, Ashraf M (2006a) Evidence for ischemia induced host derived bone marrow cell mobilization into cardiac allograft. J Mol Cell Cardiol 41: 478–487
- Wang Y, Haider KH, Ahmad N, Uemura R, Xu M, Ashraf M (2006b) Combining pharmacological mobilization of bone marrow stem cells with intramyocardial injection of genetically modulated mesenchymal stem cells over expressing VEGF for cardiac repair. J Mol Cell Cardiol 40:736–745
- Wang L, Zhang H, Rodriguez S, Cao L, Parish J, Mumaw C, Zollman A et al (2014) Notch-dependent repression of miR-155 in the bone marrow niche regulates hematopoiesis in an NF-κB-dependent manner. Cell Stem Cell 15:51–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.04.021
- Wang H, Ye X, Xiao H, Zhu N, Wei C, Sun X, Wang L et al (2019) PTPN21 overexpression promotes osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells but inhibits the immunosuppressive function. Stem Cells Int 2019:4686132. https://doi. org/10.1155/2019/4686132
- Wei Q, Frenette PS (2018) Niches for hematopoietic stem cells and their progeny. Immunity 48: 632–648
- Wilson A, Trumpp A (2006) Bone-marrow haematopoietic-stem-cell niches. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6: 93–106
- Wiseman DH (2011) Donor cell leukemia a review. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 17:771–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.10.010

- Wolock SL, Krishnan I, Tenen DE, Matkins V, Camacho V, Patel S, Agarwal P et al (2019) Mapping distinct bone marrow niche populations and their differentiation paths. Cell Rep 28:302–311.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06.031
- Woolthuis CM, Park CY (2016) Hematopoietic stem / progenitor cell commitment to the megakaryocyte lineage. Blood 127:1242–1248. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-07-607945
- Wu JY, Scadden DT, Kronenberg HM (2009) Perspective role of the osteoblast lineage in the bone marrow hematopoietic niches. J. Bone Miner. Res. 24:759–764
- Xiao P, Dolinska M, Sandhow L, Kondo M, Johansson A-S, Bouderlique T, Zhao Y, Li X et al (2018) Sipa1 deficiency–induced bone marrow niche alterations lead to the initiation of myeloproliferative neoplasm. Blood Adv 2:534–548. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances. 2017013599
- Xing Y-F, Xu Y-H, Shi M-H, Lian Y-X (2016) The impact of PM2.5 on the human respiratory system. J Thorac Dis 8:E69–E74. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2016.01.19
- Yang A, Mottillo EP (2020) Adipocyte lipolysis from molecular mechanisms of regulation to disease and therapeutics. Biochem J 477:985–1008. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20190468
- Yoon B-I, Hirabayashi Y, Kawasaki Y, Kodama Y, Kaneko T, Kanno J, Kim D-Y et al (2002) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor mediates benzene-induced hematotoxicity. Toxicol Sci 70:150–156. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/70.1.150
- Yoshizato T, Dumitriu B, Hosokawa K, Makishima H, Yoshida K, Townsley D, Sato-Otsubo A et al (2015) Somatic mutations and clonal hematopoiesis in aplastic anemia. N Engl J Med 373: 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1414799
- Yue R, Zhou BO, Shimada IS, Zhao Z, Morrison SJ (2016) Leptin receptor promotes adipogenesis and reduces osteogenesis by regulating mesenchymal stromal cells in adult bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell 18:782–796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.02.015
- Zambetti NA, Ping Z, Chen S, Van De LAA, Vogl T, Raaijmakers MHGP et al (2016) Mesenchymal inflammation drives genotoxic stress in hematopoietic stem cells and predicts disease article mesenchymal inflammation drives genotoxic stress in hematopoietic stem cells and predicts disease evolution in human pre-leukemia. Stem Cell 19:613–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2016.08.021
- Zanger UM, Raimundo S, Eichelbaum M (2004) Cytochrome P450 2D6 overview and update on pharmacology, genetics, biochemistry. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 369:23–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-003-0832-2
- Zhang J, Zhang Q (2018) VHL and Hypoxia signaling beyond HIF in cancer. Biomedicines 1–13: 35–47. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines6010035
- Zhang H, Kozono DE, O'Connor KW, Vidal-Cardenas S, Rousseau A, Hamilton A, Moreau L et al (2016a) TGF-β inhibition rescues hematopoietic stem cell defects and bone marrow failure in fanconi anemia. Cell Stem Cell 18:668–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.03.002
- Zhang Y, Yu X, Sun S, Li Q, Xie Y, Li Q, Zhao Y et al (2016b) Cadmium modulates hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and skews toward myelopoiesis in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 313: 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2016.10.016
- Zhao JL, Baltimore D (2015) Regulation of stress-induced hematopoiesis. Curr Opin Hematol 22
- Zhao C, Wu M, Zeng N, Xiong M, Hu W, Lv W, Yi Y et al (2020) Cancer-associated adipocytes emerging supporters in breast cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 39:156. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13046-020-01666-z
- Zhou BO, Yue R, Murphy MM, Peyer JG, Morrison SJ (2014) Leptin-receptor-expressing mesenchymal stromal cells represent the main source of bone formed by adult bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell 15:154–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.06.008
- Zhu J, Garrett R, Jung Y, Zhang Y, Kim N, Wang J, Joe GJ et al (2007) Osteoblasts support B-lymphocyte commitment and differentiation from hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 109: 3706–3712. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-08-041384
- Ziaee SM, Tabeshmehr P, Haider KH, Majidreza Farrokhi M, Shariat A, Amiri A, Hosseini SM (2017) Optimization of time for neural stem cells transplantation for brain stroke in rats. Stem Cell Invest 4:29



Advances, Opportunities, and Challenges 4' in Stem Cell-Based Therapy

Renata Szydlak

Contents

Introduction	1230
Mesenchymal Stem Cells	1231
Mesenchymal Stem Cells Sources	1233
The Therapeutic Potential of Mesenchymal Stem Cells	1234
Application of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Medicine	1235
MSC-Based Therapies in Graft Versus Host Disease	1235
Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapies in Crohn's Disease	1237
Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapies in Cardiology	1238
Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Based Therapies in Orthopedics	1240
MSC-Based Therapies in Neurology	1241
Potential Risks of MSC-Based Therapies	1243
Conclusions	1244
References	1244

Abstract

In recent years, stem cell-based therapy is being widely and intensively investigated. Nowadays modern treatment strategies with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in translational medicine are met with great enthusiasm by scientists and clinicians. The extraordinary properties of MSCs that are better known and understood mean that new possibilities of their application are constantly being tested. Due to their ability to self-regenerate, secrete biologically active molecules and exosomes, differentiate into several cell types, and participate in immunomodulation, MSCs have become a promising tool in the development of modern treatment strategies. The readily available and enormous potential of MSCs allows for a variety of clinical applications in the treatment of many diseases that have hitherto been called "incurable." Most of the results of administering MSCs in clinical trials confirmed the safety and showed promising beneficial

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 23

R. Szydlak (🖂)

Faculty of Medicine, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Krakow, Poland e-mail: renata.szydlak@doctoral.uj.edu.pl

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

results. The therapeutic effects of MSC-based treatments are still not spectacular, and many features of MSCs have not yet been thoroughly investigated, so MSCs continue to be the source of controversial opinion and much debate about these cells. In this chapter, we focus on summarizing the current state of knowledge about the complex nature of MSCs that can be applied to regenerative medicine.

Keywords

iPSCs \cdot Mesenchymal stem cells \cdot MSCs-based therapy \cdot Pluripotent \cdot Stem cells \cdot Transplantation \cdot Regenerative medicine

List of Abbrev	viations
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AT-MSCs	Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BM-MSCs	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells
CD	Crohn's disease
CFU-F	Colony-forming unit-fibroblast
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
GvHD	Graft versus host disease
HLA	Human leukocyte antigens
НО	Heterotopic ossification
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
IPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
MNC	Mononuclear cells
MPCs	Mesenchymal progenitor cells
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NGF	Nerve growth factor
OA	Osteoarthritis
OI	Osteogenesis imperfecta
SSCs	Somatic stem cells
WJ	Wharton's jelly

Introduction

Cell therapy is a modern therapeutic approach based on cells as therapeutic agents (Gálvez et al. 2011; Ciccocioppo et al. 2021). In regenerative medicine, examining and correctly determining the type of cell to be used in a particular treatment is

essential to the success of therapy. Research to date suggests that stem cells can be used in regenerative medicine due to their unique features of self-renewal as well as differentiation (cell plasticity) into specialized cells with specific functions (Ratajczak and Suszyńska 2013). For this reason, their safety and the ability to repair, replace, or restore the biological function of damaged tissues and organs should be defined (Ciccocioppo et al. 2021). Currently, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) constitute the well-characterized and most used cell type in the clinical trials. Despite the low proliferative potential and limited plasticity compared to embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), MSCs are easier to obtain from diverse tissues, and their manipulation is free from any ethical moral issues; they have a high in vitro expansion capacity and a low teratogenicity (Sancricca 2010; Trounson and McDonald 2015). All of these properties are in addition to their ability to produce cytokines, growth factors, and microvesicles loaded with bioactive molecules as part of their paracrine activity, migrate and home-in to the site of tissue damage to participate in the repair process, and exert an immunomodulatory effects (Haider and Ashraf 2005). Given these properties, the research and development of MSCs as a drug can help provide new therapeutic alternatives for of high potential in regenerative medicine and cell therapy for diseases that so far do not have effective conventional treatments

In this chapter, the advantages, disadvantages, and side effects of MSC-based therapies have been discussed. In particular, the therapeutic benefits of exogenously delivered MSCs have been discussed, focusing graft versus host disease (GvHD), Crohn's disease, cardiovascular diseases, and orthopedic and neurological disorders.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

(Nauta and Fibbe 2007; Gálvez et al. 2013).

Friedenstein's discovery of the presence of non-hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow of animals in the 1970s changed the current outlook on somatic stem cells (SSCs) (Friedenstein et al. 1970; Friedenstein et al. 1976). Friedenstein identified and reported a population of spindle-shaped cells similar to fibroblasts but with colony forming potential. He named these cells as colony-forming unit-fibroblast (CFU-F). Later, these cells were named MSCs or mesenchymal stromal cells (Horwitz et al. 2005). They constitute a heterogeneous group of cells, primitive, and with multilineage potential. The best-known source of MSCs is bone marrow (Wexler et al. 2003; Dominici et al. 2006); however, cells with similar morphology and characteristics can also be isolated from other tissues, including umbilical cord blood, Wharton jelly, placenta, peripheral blood, tissue adipose tissue, and skin (da Silva 2006). In all these organs and tissues, they are housed in specific niches, which are now being studied by high-throughput screening (Ghaemi et al. 2013). They are an integral part of the hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) niche, where they offer both physical and chemical support to HSCs by secreting bioactive molecules (Crippa and Bernardo 2018).

During in vitro culture, MSCs adhere to the plastic substrate, show high proliferative potential, and the ability to differentiate into cells of mesodermal origin, especially adjpocytes, chondrocytes, and osteoblasts. To overcome the controversy regarding the functional potential of MSCs as well as the nomenclature, in 2006, the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) attempted to define the essential / basic criteria for their identification. In the resulting classification, MSCs must, in addition to adherence to the substrate and trilineage differentiation potential, express surface antigens considered specific for this population, i.e., CD105 (endoglin), CD73, CD90, but lack the expression of hematopoietic cell-specific antigens, i.e., CD34, CD45, CD14 besides the absence of CD11b, CD79a, CD19, and HLA class II antigens expression (Dominici et al. 2006). As our knowledge progresses, and with emerging controversy regarding their functionality, some researchers have started to believe that the criteria set by ISCT based on current literature data should be revisited (Ly et al. 2014). The high similarity of MSCs with fibroblasts in appearance and the lack of harmony in the expression of surface markers specific only for MSCs has led to doubts and difficulties in identifying "true MSCs" (Halfon et al. 2011; Kundrotas 2012; Lupatov et al. 2015). Hence, some researchers suggest that the minimum criteria proposed by ISCT for identifying MSCs are insufficient because MSCs isolated from various tissues represent a relatively heterogeneous population of cells for the expression of surface markers, the ability to proliferate and differentiate (Hass et al. 2011; Pevsner-Fischer et al. 2011; Maleki et al. 2014). Therefore, the ISCT paper issued in 2019 recommends using the acronym "MSC" but supplemented with the tissue source origin of cells, which would highlight tissuespecific properties of the cells being used (Viswanathan et al. 2019). These suggested criteria will help in interpreting the data and the difference in the properties of the cells from diverging tissue sources.

As described earlier, MSCs constitute a heterogeneous population of cells that differ in their proliferative potential and differentiation capacity depending on their tissue location. Bone marrow-derived MSCs (BM-MSCs) can differentiate more efficiently into bone and cartilage as compared to their counterparts derived from the adipose tissue (AT-MSCs) (Im Il et al. 2005; Afizah et al. 2007; Pevsner-Fischer et al. 2011). Similarly, a head-to-head comparison revealed that BM-MSCs were superior in chondrogenic potential than umbilical cord blood-derived MSCs (Contentin et al. 2020). Hence, it is now generally believed that for applications in regenerative medicine, MSCs should be sourced depending upon the treatment outcome. It has now also been shown that in the MSCs population, only a fraction of cells meet the "parental" criteria, while the remaining cells may fulfill a helper function or are the cells capable of differentiation only in one direction (Siegel et al. 2013). Besides, MSCs may also contain a pool of much less advanced and immature cells that express pluripotent transcription factors such as Oct-4, Sox2, and Nanog, and are similar to ESCs (Kuroda et al. 2010; Ogura et al. 2014; Musiał-Wysocka et al. 2019). Reports on the pluripotent properties of the MSCs have not been fully explained. Similarly, a population of small juvenile cells is present in the bone marrow stromal cells with therapeutic potential (Okada et al. 2011).

Mesenchymal Stem Cells Sources

The data published during the last decade have revealed the possibility of obtaining a variety of stem cells from fetal and adult tissue sources, respectively grouped as fetal and adult stem cells, also known as somatic stem cells. The best known and identified source of stem cells by far is the bone marrow. It is inhabited HSCs fraction and MSCs. For 105 mononuclear cells total, it has been shown that there are approximately 1–4 MSCs (Pittenger et al. 1999). In one of the published studies, flow cytometric analysis of BM cells revealed as little as 0.0017 to 0.02% CD271+ CD45- MSCs which adhered to plastic surface and could undergo trilineage difference when challenged with appropriate cues (Alvarez-Viejo et al. 2013). The highest number of MSCs are found in the bone marrow of newborns, which significantly declines with age (D'Ippolito et al. 1999; Stolzing et al. 2008).

BM harvesting protocols are invasive and inconvenient for the donor, and require anesthesia. Therefore, alternative sources of MSCs are being explored for use in cellbased therapy in regenerative medicine. In recent years, adipose tissue is a fairly popular source of MSCs (AT-MSCs). The prevalence of MSCs in adipose tissue is much greater than in the bone marrow, and 1 g of adipose tissue contains 500 times more MSCs than 1 g of BM (Fraser et al. 2006; Kitagawa et al. 2006). Adipose tissue-MSCs have a high proliferation rate and multilineage differentiation capacity within the mesodermal germ layer derivative cells, which renders them a favorable source for cell-based therapy from the clinical perspective. However, characterization of AT-MSCs reveals that the proliferation and differentiation potential of AT-MSCs was significantly influenced by the cell donor, his age, and BMI (Yang et al. 2014). Based on recent reports, the frequency of MSCs and limitations resulting from the amount of material available for collection, adipose tissue is considered a better source of therapeutic cells than BM (Fujimura et al. 2009).

Tissues remaining after delivery, the postpartum tissues (umbilical cord blood, umbilical cord, placenta, membranes, and amniotic fluid) provide excellent primitive cells source. Obtaining tissue material from these sources for stem cell isolation is simple and does not require complex surgical procedures. Compared to MSCs derived from adult BM or AT, MSCs isolated from perinatal tissues are more primitive (Moretti et al. 2010; Lindenmair et al. 2012). Studies have shown that MSCs from postpartum tissues can differentiate into cells from all three germ layers, which indicates their greater differentiation potential, and therefore pluripotency and primitiveness (Guillot et al. 2007). However, obtaining cells from postpartum tissues is a time-constrained exercise and requires immediate isolation of cells or freezing tissues in biobanks. The procedure of obtaining MSCs from frozen UCB or umbilical cord deposits is still ineffective due to the lack of an optical protocol. Moreover, it is believed that UCB is a relatively unfavorable source for obtaining MSCs, in contrast to the rich fraction of other mononuclear cells (MNCs). Wharton's jelly (WJ) – umbilical cord tissue is also a valuable source of MSCs. The WJ-MSCs collection procedure is technically simpler and a rich population of post-fetal MSCs can be efficiently isolated (Batsali et al. 2013; Nagamura-Inoue 2014). The



Fig. 1 Summary of the possible tissue sources for mesenchymal stem cells

published data show that Wharton's jelly contains much higher propensity of MSCs compared to the UCB (Zeddou et al. 2010; Pelosi et al. 2012). The possible tissue sources of MSCs have been summarized in Fig. 1.

The Therapeutic Potential of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Despite numerous in vitro and in vivo studies, as well as therapeutic benefits confirmed in clinical trials, the exact mechanism of therapeutic benefits of MSCs is still not fully understood. Based on the results obtained in preclinical and clinical studies, it can be concluded that MSCs certainly has a unique ability to immunomodulate, regenerate, and heal the damaged tissues. The available experimental data make it possible to dissect and understand some of the mechanisms responsible for the therapeutic potential of MSCs. The therapeutic efficacy of

exogenously injected MSCs may result from both cell-cell interactions and the secretion of biologically active molecules. Hence, the therapeutic effect can be obtained exploiting the three main properties of MSCs: differentiation into several types of tissues, the immunomodulatory effect, and the ability to influence the intrinsic repair process through the paracrine secretion of appropriate cytokines and direct contact with other cells. MSCs act as a local coordinator of tissue repair in most cases. Their advantage over the use of other mediators (cytokines) is the cross talk between MSCs and other cells and tissue regeneration mediators. This close interaction MSCs with their local environment enables them to adapt well to the changing situation, e.g., inhibition of the inflammatory reaction in the first phase of regeneration and the production of stimulators for cell proliferation and differentiation in the next phase.

Application of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Medicine

The number of clinical trials using MSCs in regenerative medicine (ClinicalTrials.gov) is growing rapidly. There are currently ten approved MSCsbased therapies available for a variety of disorders in the pharmaceutical market worldwide (Table 1).

The experimental in vitro data and the promising results from preclinical studies and translational studies show that cell-based therapy with MSCs therapeutic benefits for patients with various diseases. However, despite receiving encouraging data from these studies over the past decade or more, many questions related to the biology of MSCs and hence, their usefulness as choice cells remain open for discussion and further investigation. For example, there remain some uncertainties between the immunophenotype of MSCs with relevance to its functionality and the procedural hiccups, including posttransplant survival, route of administration, and type of transplant (autologous or allogeneic). Moreover, it also remains less wellexplored about the properties of cells, such as the potential for in vitro transdifferentiation, persist after transplantation.

MSC-Based Therapies in Graft Versus Host Disease

Graft versus host disease (GvHD) accompanies allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) in many patients. Corticosteroids are used to treat GvHD; however, this therapy is ineffective in all patients (Martin et al. 2012). The immunomodulatory properties of MSCs described in experimental studies suggest their use in the treatment of GvHD (Mohanty et al. 2020). Many studies have proven that MSCs can modulate the function of the immune system and have found their use as companion cells in transplantation in the treatment of GvHD (Weng et al. 2010; Zhao et al. 2015). Indeed, MSCs transplantation and their derived exosomes have recently been performed to prevent or treat GvHD, especially in patients who do not respond to steroids (Le Blanc and Mougiakakos 2012; Elgaz et al. 2019;

	MSC tissue-	To discolory	Approval
Queencell (Anterogen Co. Ltd.)	Autologous Human AT-MSCs	Subcutaneous tissue defects	South Korea (2010)
Cellgram-AMI (Pharmicell Co. Ltd.)	Autologous Human BM-MSC	Acute myocardial infarction	South Korea (2011)
Cupistem (Anterogen Co. Ltd.)	Autologous Human BM-MSC	Crohn's fistula	South Korea (2012)
Cartistem (Medipost Co. Ltd.)	Allogeneic Human UC-MSC	Knee articular cartilage defects	South Korea (2012)
Prochymal, remestemcel-L (OsirisTherapeutics Inc., Mesoblast Ltd.)	Allogeneic Human BM-MSC	GvHD	New Zealand (2012) Canada (2012)
Neuronata-R (Corestem Inc.)	Autologous Human BM-MSC	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	South Korea (2014)
Temcell HS (JCR Pharmaceuticals)	Allogeneic Human BM-MSC	GvHD	Japan (2015)
Stempeucel (Stempeutics Research PVT)	Allogeneic Human BM-MSC	Critical limb ischemia	India (2016)
Alofisel (TiGenix NV/Takeda)	Allogeneic Human AT-MSC	Complex perianal fistulas in Crohn's disease	Europe (2018)
Stemirac (Nipro Corp)	Autologous Human BM-MSC	Spinal cord injury	Japan (2018)

 Table 1
 MSCs-derived products with regulatory approval

Zhang et al. 2017). However, despite the use of MSCs in many clinical trials, there is still controversy about the benefits of such therapy. Although a reduction in inflammatory processes is observed after MSCs implantation, a reduction in the immune response may increase the risk of infection, especially in patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy after HSCT (Nauta and Fibbe 2007). It has been reported that infusion of MSCs may dangerously limit the antimicrobial immune response (Balan et al. 2014). A clinical trial published by Ning et al. showed that the incidence of acute and chronic GvHD in MSCs-transplanted recipients was lower than in the non-MSCs transplanted patients, but the episodes of severe infections were more significant in patients who received bone marrow-derived HSCT and MSCs than in the control group who did not receive the MSCs treatment. Among patients, two developed CMV interstitial pneumonia and/or fungal infection (Ning et al. 2008).

Forslöw et al. suggest an increased susceptibility to pneumonia observed in patients with GvHD after MSCs infusion (Forslöw et al. 2012). High-peak CMV viral load was found in a retrospective study of patients with steroid-resistant GvHD receiving MSCs (von Bahr et al. 2012a, b). This contradicts the previous in vitro experiments, which showed that anti-CMV cytotoxic T cells were limited to the BM-MSCs effect (Karlsson et al. 2008). Recently, Thanunchai et al. postulated that in viral infections, human BM-MSCs might also act as viral transmitters (von Bahr et al. 2012a, b). There is a suggestion that MSCs may lose their immunosuppressive properties in mismatched settings, which has been shown in murine cells (Badillo et al. 2008). Moreover, the study by Muroi et al. showed that the transplanted BM-MSCs in the acute phase II/III GvHD study did not protect the development of chronic GvHD (Muroi et al. 2016).

Based on the above studies, it should be emphasized that MSCs transplantation for the prevention or treatment of GvHD is relatively safe and effective in steroidresistant GvHD, but infections remain a major risk for patients. Moreover, it has been shown that MSCs transplanted due to established GvHD may cause increased relapse (Ning et al. 2008). In a recent study by Ringden et al., the authors mentioned several side effects following transplantation of residual placenta-derived MSCs in the treatment of GvHD. Among them, relapse, pneumonia, bacterial, viral, and fungal infection, and transplant failures have been listed (Ringden et al. 2018). A new strategy to support a high frequency of MSCs effects on GvHD with a little adverse effect on the patient appears to be warranted in large-scale randomized trials. Research by various laboratories focuses on developing new MSCs-based drugs. One of the first MSCs-based drugs approved for the treatment of GvHD was Prochymal.

Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapies in Crohn's Disease

Crohn's disease (CD) is classified as a chronic inflammatory disease that mainly affects the gastrointestinal tract. In CD, the formation of an anal fistula is difficult to treat and is associated with a large number of complications, including the risk of bowel resection. Moreover, the perianal fistulas arising in the course of CD are difficult to treat with standard drugs and surgical procedures (Veauthier and Hornecker 2018). Despite significant advances in the techniques used, treatment of patients with CD remains a difficult task with a high risk of relapse (Gisbert et al. 2015). Recently, satisfactory therapeutic benefits have been obtained by administering MSCs. However, the indications for the use of MSC-based therapy in CD concern mainly perianal fistulas (Zhang et al. 2017).

Based on the available results from preclinical and clinical studies, it can be assumed that the therapeutic mechanism of MSCs in this disease is mainly based on the immunomodulatory effect. MSCs have been shown to inhibit T cell proliferation mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (Wang et al. 2018). Thanks to their enormous regenerative potential, MSCs are currently used in the treatment of fistulas in Crohn's disease and other etiologies. Data collected from the analysis of various

clinical cases show that complete healing of the fistula can be achieved after several local administrations of MSCs either alone or in combination with infliximab and azathioprine (Forbes et al. 2014; Moniuszko et al. 2018). The first EMA-approved MSC-based drug for the treatment of complex perianal fistulas in CD was Alofisel. Recent advancement in this regard is the use of acellular products of MSCs based on the use of extracellular vesicles derived from MSCs. A direct comparison of cell-based and cell-free approaches based on MSCs and their derivative extracellular vesicles has been provided by Li et al. in an experimental mice model of DSS-induced colitis (Li et al. 2020) and reviewed by Ocansey et al. (2020).

Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapies in Cardiology

Cardiovascular diseases are one of the most common causes of death worldwide (Virani et al. 2020). The currently used method of treating a "fresh" heart attack consists of administering a thrombus-dissolving drug as soon as possible and performing a cardiological intervention in the form of opening the lumen of a closed arterial vessel, which is aimed at limiting damage and then necrosis of the heart tissues (Peng et al. 2016).

As the heart exhibits limited endogenous regenerative capacity, although the long-standing dogma about the heart has been challenged due to the presence of resident cardiac stem cells (Takamiya et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2013; Belostotskaya et al. 2015), cell-based therapeutic approach is currently the subject of much preclinical as well as clinical research. However, a significant focus of cell-based therapy is on MSCs as choice cells, due to their superior biological and functional characteristics, to demonstrate the effectiveness of using MSCs, either naïve or preconditioned or genetically modified (Changfa et al. 2017), to reduce postinfarction scars and restore normal contractile function in the infarcted heart (Haider et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2009; Haider et al. 2010; Ahmed et al. 2010; Afzal et al. 2010; Suzuki et al. 2010). Despite encouraging data, however, the exact mechanism by which MSCs contribute to myocardial regeneration is still not fully understood (Lpez et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2015). Although MSCs show great potential for pro-chondrogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation, several studies have provided evidence that under optimal in vitro culture conditions or in the cardiac microenvironment in vivo post engraftment, MSCs can also give rise to other highly specialized tissue types, including cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells (Shim et al. 2004; Aguilera et al. 2014; Haider et al. 2008) and lead to stable therapeutic benefits (Jiang et al. 2008). Given these findings, MSCs have been extensively tested as a source of cells to replace damaged myocardial tissue in vivo, in both acute and chronic cardiac injury, confirming the ability to transdifferentiate MSCs into cardiac and endothelial cells (Haider 2006; Dawn et al. 2009). However, the ability of MSCs to differentiate into functional endothelial and cardiac cells in vivo has not been fully established. Moreover, it is difficult to confirm the transplanted integrated cells in any tissue in vivo due to the lack of specific MSCs markers (Lin et al. 2013). However, the increase in recent evidence from many laboratories strongly indicates the overwhelming paracrine effect in MSCs after heart transplant to promote cell survival, proliferation, and differentiation by MSCs resulting from secreted bioactive factors and extracellular vesicles (EVs) (Nazari-Shafti et al. 2020; Lei and Haider 2017). Thus, these two main mechanisms, including (1) direct differentiation of MSCs into cardiac and endothelial cells and (2) paracrine activity mediated by soluble molecules and MSC-derived vesicles, are now considered to be the primary mediators of the beneficial effects of MSC-based therapies (Majka et al. 2017; Szydlak 2019; Nazari-Shafti et al. 2020). Most of the beneficial effects after MSCs injection are believed to be related to their paracrine effects on endogenous cells, resulting in increased vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, as well as increased cell survival (Haider and Aziz 2017). The role of the paracrine activity of MSCs is considered so dominating that cell-free therapy approach using MSCs conditioned medium rich in soluble factors (i.e., growth factors, cytokines) and insoluble factors (i.e., exosomes) is emerging as an alternative to cell-based therapy (Haider and Aramini 2020; Haider and Aslam 2018). Given their robust nature, MSCs have also been reprogrammed to iPSCs to achieve a continuous source of cardiac progenitor cells for use in cardiac repair in an experimental animal model (Buccini et al. 2012).

Although MSCs, from adult tissue sources, represent one of the safest stem cell populations, with almost no risk of the endogenous teratogenic potential of normal pluripotent stem cells such as ESCs and iPSCs, in vivo application of MSCs to heart tissues could still potentially lead to some undesired effects post engraftment (Price et al. 2006; Breitbach et al. 2007). The few reported safety concerns for MSCs are related to their possible (1) pro-arrhythmic and (2) carcinogenic capacity in heart tissue, as well as (3) differentiation into undesirable tissue types (Price et al. 2006; Breitbach et al. 2007). Price et al. report that BM-MSCs administered intravenously to pigs with acute ischemia/reperfusion injury improves cardiac parameters and reduces adverse wall thickening but may also adversely affect the electrophysiological properties of the myocardium, suggesting the pro-arrhythmic potential of these cells. However, the beneficial effects of injected MSCs on cardiac function and anatomy observed in this study were greater than the recorded arrhythmic events, and ultimately the authors concluded the efficacy of MSCs in the heart repair model, however, with a note of caution (Price et al. 2006). On the other hand, numerous clinical studies in patients suffering from acute or chronic ischemic heart disease have shown very little or no adverse effect of MSCs on the electrical properties of the myocardium after transplantation, as summarized in several reviews and metaanalysis reports (Afzal et al. 2015). Consequently, reported events of pro-arrhythmic MSCs activity are somewhat rare and pharmacologically treatable; however, this should be considered and assessed, especially during clinical trials, as a potential risk identified in some animal studies (Menasché 2009). Some of the unresolved problems in clinical trials in cardiology, besides the source and quality of the cell preparation used during the trials (Shahid et al. 2016; Haider 2018), may also be partly related to an insufficient number of placebo groups. However, compared to other stem and progenitor cells used to repair the heart, including skeletal muscle myoblasts, widely studied in the early 2000s, MSCs can be considered cells with a limited risk of arrhythmia in the heart tissue (Haider et al. 2004; Kahn 2006).

In summary, the positive therapeutic results of exogenously injected MSCs are probably due to several mechanisms of their action, namely the ability of MSCs to differentiate into cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, vascular endothelial cells, and the ability of MSCs to secrete multiple cytokines and trophic factors including the insoluble factors, i.e., exosomes (Majka et al. 2017; Szydlak 2019). Due to their immunosuppressive properties, MSCs may also help to alleviate inflammation and stimulate endogenous repair mechanisms.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Based Therapies in Orthopedics

Previous studies have shown a beneficial effect of MSCs primarily in the treatment of the osteoarticular system. Numerous studies with various animal models of orthopedic disease have documented the multipotential properties of MSCs, showing their ability to differentiate in multiple tissues such as muscle, bone, cartilage, and tendons (Kingery et al. 2019). Their use as an adjunct to orthopedic surgery is also being explored to ensure rapid wound healing (Murrell et al. 2015). However, contrary to the initial assumption that the therapeutic benefits of MSCs depend on their cell replacement capacity via transdifferentiation, recent studies have shown that the paracrine function of MSCs remains the primary mechanism by which they participate in the tissue repair post engraftment (Von Bahr et al. 2012a, b). MSCs have been reported to exhibit immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory properties by secreting specific factors that may modulate inflammatory responses following orthopedic trauma (Marcucio et al. 2015). However, the common mechanism of action of MSCs in orthopedic applications has not been fully established (Berebichez-Fridman et al. 2017).

Many reports have summarized the role of MSCs in the treatment of osteoarthritis (OA). Several experiments in animal models of knee OA have shown that MSCsbased therapy may delay progressive degeneration of the joint (Shimomura et al. 2018; White et al. 2018). Most human studies support the notion that short-term use of MSCs is safe and feasible; however, further experimentation is necessitated. Importantly, we still need clear evidence to support the effectiveness of MSCs transplantation in OA patients (Jihwan et al. 2021). In randomized controlled clinical trials, injection of MSCs used to treat knee OA is effective (Lamo-Espinosa et al. 2016; Park et al. 2016).

However, the results reported by Shim et al. and Pas et al. disclosed that after MSCs injections for the treatment of knee OA, only a few cells survived at the injection site (Shim et al. 2015; Pas et al. 2017). Moreover, the optimal therapeutic dose of cells, co-adjuvants, and uptake source has not yet been optimized (Lamo-Espinosa et al. 2016). The use of MSCs in cartilage repair has a significant placebo-related limitation because the tissue sampling procedure makes it difficult to perform a blind design study (Filardo et al. 2016). Therefore, new studies using MSCs for orthopedic patients must be performed with greater care and under controlled ex vivo preparation conditions to assess their therapeutic efficacy in these patients ultimately.

Currently, there are attempts to research the use of MSCs in osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), a genetically determined disease associated with the production of an abnormal form of type I collagen (Horwitz et al. 2002). It has been shown that MSCs transplantation has a beneficial effect on the reduction of skeletal damage. In a clinical trial, prenatal transplantation of MSCs in 31-week-old fetuses with ultrasound confirmed diagnosis of osteogenesis imperfecta showed significant improvement in patients' condition. MSCs transplantation in patients lowered the incidence of fractures and skeletal abnormalities (Götherström et al. 2014). Two patients underwent adjuvant transplantation to enhance the therapeutic effect, and at the age of 18 months after birth and 8 years of age, MSCs were re-transplantation resulted in clinical benefits. However, studies of a larger group of patients are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed therapy fully.

Numerous studies suggest that apart from the potential effect of MSCs on tissue regeneration, these cells may also be significantly involved in the process of heterotopic ossification (HO), i.e., ectopic bone formation in tissues other than bone (Kan et al. 2017). Besides, stem cell-based therapies in orthopedic trauma have identified MSCs contributing to the high osteogenic differentiation (Agarwal et al. 2016). Also, the inflammatory response may stimulate the differentiation of mesenchymal progenitor cells (MPCs) into osteoblasts and osteoblast-like cells. If this process is localized in muscles or other soft tissues, it may directly contribute to the formation of HO (Winkler et al. 2015). It has also been reported that MSCs may be responsible for the recurrence of HO (after surgical resection). In turn, excision of HO may result in the re-emergence of the MSCs population and the signaling mechanisms observed in the original lesion (Agarwal et al. 2017).

MSC-Based Therapies in Neurology

The concept of the clinical application of MSCs seems to be of great hope in the treatment of neurological diseases, both those of a neurodegenerative nature and damage to the central nervous system resulting from stroke or trauma. It seems that MSCs can be used in the direct regeneration of the cellular structure of the nervous system not only because of their immunomodulatory and neurotrophic functions but also due to their potential differentiation abilities and reparability. The neuroprotective and neuro-regenerative properties of MSCs transplantation can be associated with the production of numerous growth, anti-inflammatory, and anti-apoptotic factors important for neurons. The observations of some researchers show that MSCs, due to their abovementioned functions, may be responsible for the protection of neuronal stem cells and MSCs has been used to promote neuronal stem cell survival, proliferation, and differentiation post engraft in experimental animal model of spinal injury (Hosseini et al. 2018).

It has been reported that transplanted human MSCs in an experimental stroke or trauma model in animals can significantly improve motor functions (Gornicka-Pawlak et al. 2011; Sarnowska et al. 2013). The observed effect was associated with the anti-apoptotic action and production of factors by MSCs that stimulate the survival of neurons (Anbari et al. 2014; Gu et al. 2014; Yin et al. 2014). One of the major factors for successful cellular therapy of stroke is the route of cell delivery to the damaged part of the brain. For this reason, the circulatory system is considered correct. However, it is important to be aware of how the exogenous cells are administered to ensure the patient's safety on the one hand and, on the other hand, to guarantee the maintenance of good quality therapeutic cells during the transplant procedure.

Cui et al. disclosed that cell agglomeration before injection increased in proportion to the duration of the cells kept in suspension (Cui et al. 2016). Moreover, due to their size. MSCs can induce severe vascular occlusions after intravascular delivery. The size of MSCs in an in vitro monolayer culture increases with the number of passages; the solution can create a 3D nodular culture in vitro that will reduce MSCs again (Ge et al. 2014). Failure of a positive result after systemic MSCs administration in stroke was confirmed in another experimental study where the intravenous injection of human BM-MSCs in a mouse model of stroke contributed little to enhancing cell proliferation in neurogenic areas. Moreover, neither a detectable reduction in infarct size nor favorable clinical symptoms were observed (Steiner et al. 2012). Moreover, MSCs delivered intraarterially in a mouse model of ischemia did not improve functional recovery and may further promote the risk of brain damage (Argibay et al. 2017). These multifocal changes contributed to a significant decrease in cerebral blood flow as a result of small vessel obstruction by exogenous cardiovascular cells, while posing a deep risk of secondary embolism in the brain following stroke. A recent advancement in the treatment of stroke is the use of cell-free therapy approach in which MSCsderived secretome was injected intracerebroventricularly in an experimental animal model of ischemic stroke (Taei et al. 2021).

Another example of a neurological disease in which MSCs-based therapies raise high hopes is amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Phase I study results showed no significant positive effects of exogenous MSCs embedded in the spinal cord. The main conclusion from most clinical trials of ALS therapy with MSCs was limited to that of the safety of the treatment. In the study by Syková et al. in which BM-MSCs were transplanted intrathecal, the favorable outcome was seen only in a few patients and was limited to a short time after transplantation (Syková et al. 2017). This outcome may be due to the short survival time of the cells after implantation or the differentiation status of the transplanted MSCs. Repeated administration of cell doses can be crucial to achieving better prognosis; however, this may be challenging in terms of the manufacturing process. Another phase I study with an intrathecal autologous injection of BM-MSCs revealed mild adverse reactions immediately overcoming exogenous cell deposits, such as fever, pain, and headache; however, there were no major treatment effects (Oh et al. 2015). Staff and colleagues performed intrathecal injection of MSCs in the adipose tissue during ALS treatment. The authors did not observe any spectacular improvement in the treated patients and postulated a reduction in enthusiasm for the effectiveness of the therapy (Staffe et al. 2016). Moreover, MSCs transplanted intramuscularly and intrathecal, aspirated from the bone marrow, are safe and stimulate the release of neurotrophic factors; however, this approach contributed to some disease regression in only half of the patients over the next 6-month period (Petrou et al. 2016). Nevertheless, previous study by Karussis and colleagues in which BM-derived MSCs were injected intravenously and intrathecal did not bring any positive effects in ALS patients (Karussis et al. 2010).

In the treatment of neurological disorders, neurotrophins may play a particularly important role. Neurotrophins play a key role in the differentiation and survival of neurons in the central nervous system and are also involved in synaptic plasticity underpinning learning and memory. The main source of neurotrophic factors are nerve cells, but recently it has been believed that they can also be produced by other cells, including MSCs (Sadan et al. 2012; Paczkowska et al. 2013) (Paczkowska et al. 2013; Sadan et al. 2012). Neurotrophins, in particular brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophin 3, and neurotrophin 4/5, may have a neuroprotective function in multiple sclerosis, slowing the rate of atrophic changes and affecting the functional network of neural connections with improved cognitive functions in the patients. Evidence of the neuroprotective potential of neurotrophins has so far been obtained primarily in the studies conducted in experimental animal models (Lykissas et al. 2007; Gordon 2009). More and more reports suggest that neurotrophins secreted by MSCs may prove useful in many other neurodegenerative diseases: Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, in the treatment of patients after stroke and spinal cord injuries (Malgieri et al. 2010. Machaliński et al. 2012, Paczkowska et al. 2015).

Potential Risks of MSC-Based Therapies

MSCs-based cell therapy represents a new promising approach in treating many diseases. However, data on the risks and possible long-term side effects of their use still lack despite their positive results. There is also a lack of data, including analyzes of long-term studies in the context of possible threats resulting from the possibility of neoplastic transformation. Although there are no reports to date about teratoma formation after MSCs transplantation, the long-term risk from cell therapy remains less well-studied and underreported in the published data. There are, however, some conflicting reports of spontaneous transformation of MSCs under in vitro culture conditions. Various effects were observed depending on the species used and the source of MSCs the cultivation techniques used, and the in vitro expansion time (Miura et al. 2006; Bernardo et al. 2007; Tang et al. 2013). The risk of spontaneous transformation of MSCs due to prolonged culture has been demonstrated in a study describing the population of cells from the bone marrow and blood (Tang et al. 2013). Bernardo and colleagues have shown that MSCs retained the correct phenotype and morphological structure during in vitro expansion in the optimal culture conditions, besides maintaining normal cell function over a more extended period. During 44 weeks of cultivation, no changes were observed in cell karyotype (Bernardo et al. 2007).

Another problem that arises from MSCs transplantation, apart from direct transformation, may be the risk of stimulation of an already existing neoplastic growth by MSCs. Due to their migratory capacity, transplanted MSCs move to the site of neoplastic growth, stimulate tumor cell proliferation, promote angiogenesis, and support tumor metastasis. In this case, a prior precise diagnosis and selection of patients indicated for cell therapy are necessary. The results showed that the immunosuppressive environment created by MSCs also promoted tumor metastasis in the mechanism of the so-called epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), facilitating cell migration (Ljujic et al. 2013). Studies by other authors have shown that the co-culture of cancer cells with MSCs accelerates tumor expansion (Xu-ting et al. 2009; Zimmerlin et al. 2011). Given the incredible enthusiasm for stem cell-based therapy, care should be taken to consider all the possible adverse effects.

Conclusions

The more recent scientific analysis has shown limited therapeutic effects of treating MSCs, suggesting that the direct regenerative potential of these cells related to their ability to differentiate may not be as effective as previously expected. Several exogenous factors may significantly influence the biological properties of MSCs and ultimately on their therapeutic capacity, optimized protocols for MSCs isolation and ex vivo preparation for clinical use must be well-established and standardized. Such a comprehensive effort should be taken into account by the scientific community focusing on the practical applications of MSCs in tissue repair in terms of the optimal preparation of MSC-based products for more effective patient therapies.

The advantages associated with the use of MSCs in tissue repair, i.e., their safety, relatively broad differentiation capacity, and high paracrine capacity, render these cells an important therapeutic option for further exploration and development as a novel cell-based therapy approach in the future. However, more in-depth and mechanistic research is needed at the preclinical and clinical levels. New research data on MSCs will help determine the effectiveness of cells administered to patients as part of a therapeutic approach. Additional research would also make a significant contribution to the overall biology of stem cells.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by a research grant (STRATEGMED2/265761/10/ NCBR/2015) from the National Center for Research and Development in Poland.

References

Afizah H, Zheng Yang Z, Hui JHP, Ouyang H-W, Lee E-H (2007) A comparison between the Chondrogenic potential of human Bone Marrow Stem Cells (BMSCs) and Adipose-Derived Stem Cells (ADSCs) taken from the same donors. Tissue Eng 13(4):659–666. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ten.2006.0118

- Afzal MR, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- Afzal MR, Samanta A, Shah ZI, Jeevanantham V, Abdel-Latif A, Zuba-Surma EK, Dawn B (2015) Adult bone marrow cell therapy for ischemic heart disease: evidence and insights from randomized controlled trials. Circ Res. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.304792
- Agarwal S, Drake J, Qureshi AT, Loder S, Li S, Shigemori K, Peterson J et al (2016) Characterization of cells isolated from genetic and trauma-induced heterotopic ossification. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156253
- Agarwal S, Loder S, Cholok D, Li J, Breuler C, Drake J, Brownley C et al (2017) Surgical excision of heterotopic ossification leads to re-emergence of mesenchymal stem cell populations responsible for recurrence. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0365
- Aguilera V, Briceño L, Contreras H, Lamperti L, Sepúlveda E, Díaz-Perez F, León M et al (2014) Endothelium trans differentiated from wharton's jelly mesenchymal cells promote tissue regeneration: potential role of soluble pro-angiogenic factors. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0111025
- Ahmed RPH, Haider KH, Shujia J, Afzal MR, Ashraf M (2010) Sonic Hedgehog gene delivery to the rodent heart promotes angiogenesis via iNOS/netrin-1/PKC pathway. PLoS One 5(1):e8576
- Alvarez-Viejo M, Menendez-Menendez Y, Blanco-Gelaz MA, Ferrero-Gutierrez A, Fernandez-Rodriguez MA, Gala J, Otero-Hernandez J (2013) Quantifying mesenchymal stem cells in the mononuclear cell fraction of bone marrow samples obtained for cell therapy. Transplant Proc 45(1):434–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.05.091
- Anbari F, Khalili MA, Bahrami AR, Khoradmehr A, Sadeghian F, Fesahat F, Nabi A (2014) Intravenous transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promotes neural regeneration after traumatic brain injury. Neural Regen Res. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.133133
- Argibay B, Trekker J, Himmelreich U, Beiras A, Topete A, Taboada P, Pérez-Mato M et al (2017) Intraarterial route increases the risk of cerebral lesions after mesenchymal cell administration in animal model of ischemia. Sci Rep. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40758
- Badillo AT, Peranteau WH, Heaton TE, Quinn C, Flake AW (2008) Murine bone marrow derived stromal progenitor cells fail to prevent or treat acute graft-versus-host disease. Br J Haematol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07040.x
- Balan A, Lucchini G, Schmidt S, Schneider A, Tramsen L, Kuçi S, Meisel R et al (2014) Mesenchymal stromal cells in the antimicrobial host response of hematopoietic stem cell recipients with graft-versus-host disease – friends or foes. Leukemia
- Batsali KA, Kastrinaki M-C, Papadaki HA, Pontikoglou C (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from Wharton's jelly of the umbilical cord: biological properties and emerging clinical applications. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888x11308020005
- Belostotskaya G, Nevorotin A, Galagudza M (2015) Identification of cardiac stem cells within mature cardiac myocytes. Cell Cycle 14(19):3155–3162. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101. 2015.1078037
- Berebichez-Fridman R, Gómez-García R, Granados-Montiel J, Berebichez-Fastlicht E, Olivos-Meza A, Granados J, Velasquillo C et al (2017) The holy grail of Orthopedic surgery: mesenchymal stem cells – their current uses and potential applications. Stem Cells Int 2017(2017):2638305. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2638305
- Bernardo ME, Zaffaroni N, Novara F, Cometa AM, Avanzini MA, Moretta A, Montagna D et al (2007) Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells do not undergo transformation after long-term in vitro culture and do not exhibit telomere maintenance mechanisms. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4690
- Breitbach M, Bostani T, Roell W, Xia Y, Dewald O, Nygren JM, JWU F et al (2007) Potential risks of bone marrow cell transplantation into infarcted hearts. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-12-063412
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301

- Changfa G, Zhu K, Haider KH (2017) Nanoparticle based genetic engineering of mesenchymal stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery, Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Berlin
- Ciccocioppo R, Comoli P, Astori G, del Bufalo F, Prapa M, Dominici M, Locatelli F (2021) Developing cell therapies as drug products. Br J Pharmacol
- Contentin R, Demoor M, Concari M, Desancé M, Audigié F, Branly T, Galéra P (2020) Comparison of the chondrogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow and umbilical cord blood intended for cartilage tissue engineering. Stem Cell Rev Rep 16(1): 126–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-019-09914-2
- Crippa S, Bernardo ME (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells: role in the BM Niche and in the support of Hematopoieitic stem cell transplantation. HemaSphere 2(6):e151. https://doi.org/10.1097/ HS9.000000000000151
- Cui LL, Kinnunen T, Boltze J, Nystedt J, Jolkkonen J (2016) Clumping and viability of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stromal cells under different preparation procedures: a flow cytometry-based in vitro study. Stem Cells Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1764938
- D'Ippolito G, Schiller PC, Ricordi C, Roos BA, Howard GA (1999) Age-related osteogenic potential of mesenchymal stromal stem cells from human vertebral bone marrow. J Bone Miner Res. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.1999.14.7.1115
- da Silva ML (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J Cell Sci. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02932
- Dawn B, Abdel-Latif A, Sanganalmath SK, Flaherty MP, Zuba-surma EK (2009) Cardiac repair with adult bone marrow-derived cells: the clinical evidence. Antioxidants Redox Signal
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Krause DS, Deans RJ et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905
- Elgaz S, Kuçi Z, Kuçi S, Bönig H, Bader P (2019) Clinical use of mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease. Transfus Med Hemother 46:27–34. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000496809
- Filardo G, Perdisa F, Roffi A, Marcacci M, Kon E (2016) Stem cells in articular cartilage regeneration. J Orthop Surg Res. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-016-0378-x
- Forbes GM, Sturm MJ, Leong RW, Sparrow MP, Segarajasingam D, Cummins AG, Phillips M et al (2014) A phase 2 study of allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells for luminal crohn's disease refractory to biologic therapy. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2013. 06.021
- Forslöw U, Blennow O, Leblanc K, Ringdén O, Gustafsson B, Mattsson J, Remberger M (2012) Treatment with mesenchymal stromal cells is a risk factor for pneumonia-related death after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Eur J Haematol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1600-0609.2012.01824.x
- Fraser JK, Wulur I, Alfonso Z, Hedrick MH (2006) Fat tissue: an underappreciated source of stem cells for biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2006.01.010
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of Guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3: 393–403
- Friedenstein AJ, Gorskaja UF, Kulagina NN (1976) Fibroblast precursors in normal and irradiated mouse hematopoietic organs. Exp Hematol 4:267–274
- Fujimura J, Sugihara H, Fukunaga Y, Suzuki H, Ogawa R (2009) Adipose tissue is a better source of immature non-hematopoietic cells than bone marrow. Int J Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.15283/ ijsc.2009.2.2.135
- Gálvez P, Ruiz A, Clares B (2011) The future of new therapies in clinical medicine. Med Clin (Barc)
- Gálvez P, Clares B, Hmadcha A, Ruiz A, Soria B (2013) Development of a cell-based medicinal product: regulatory structures in the European Union. Br Med Bull. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bmb/lds036

- Ge J, Guo L, Wang S, Zhang Y, Cai T, Zhao RCH, Wu Y (2014) The size of mesenchymal stem cells is a significant cause of vascular obstructions and stroke. Stem Cell Rev Reports. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12015-013-9492-x
- Ghaemi SR, Harding FJ, Delalat B, Gronthos S, Voelcker NH (2013) Exploring the mesenchymal stem cell niche using high throughput screening. Biomaterials 34(31):7601–7615. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.06.022
- Gisbert JP, Marín AC, Chaparro M (2015) Systematic review: factors associated with relapse of inflammatory bowel disease after discontinuation of anti-TNF therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 42(4):391–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.13276
- Gordon T (2009) The role of neurotrophic factors in nerve regeneration. Neurosurg Focus. https:// doi.org/10.3171/FOC.2009.26.2.E3
- Gornicka-Pawlak E, Janowski M, Habich A, Jablonska A, Drela K, Kozlowska H, Lukomska B et al (2011) Systemic treatment of focal brain injury in the rat by human umbilical cord blood cells being at different level of neural commitment. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars)
- Götherström C, Westgren M, Shaw SWS, Åström E, Biswas A, Byers PH, Mattar CNZ et al (2014) Pre- and postnatal transplantation of fetal mesenchymal stem cells in osteogenesis imperfecta: a two-center experience. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2013-0090
- Gu N, Rao C, Tian Y, Di Z, Liu Z, Chang M, Lei H (2014) Anti-inflammatory and antiapoptotic effects of mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in rat brain with cerebral ischemia. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2014.05.032
- Guillot PV, Gotherstrom C, Chan J, Kurata H, Fisk NM (2007) Human first-trimester fetal MSC express pluripotency markers and grow faster and have longer telomeres than adult MSC. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2006-0208
- Haider KH (2006) Bone marrow cells for cardiac regeneration and repair: current status and issues. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 4:557–568
- Haider KH (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Haider KH, Ashraf M (2005) Bone marrow cell transplantation in clinical perspective. J Mol Cell Cardiol 38:225–235
- Haider KH, Aslam M (2018) Cell-free therapy with stem cell secretions: Protection, repair and regeneration of the injured myocardium. In: Haider KH, Aziz S (eds) Stem cells: from hype to real hope, Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Berlin
- Haider KH, Aziz S (2017) Paracrine hypothesis and cardiac repair. Int J Stem Cell Res Transplant 5(1):265–267
- Haider KH, Tan T, Aziz S, Chachques JC, Sim EKW (2004) Myoblast transplantation for cardiac repair: a clinical perspective. Mol Ther 9:14–23
- Haider KH, Jiang S, Niagara MI (2008) Ashraf M (2008) IGF-I over expressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1α/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circulation Res 103:1300–1308
- Haider KH, Lee YJ, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ryon M, Ashraf M (2010) Phosphodiesterase inhibition with tadalafil provides longer and sustained protection of stem cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circul Physiol 299(5):H1395–H1404
- Halfon S, Abramov N, Grinblat B, Ginis I (2011) Markers distinguishing mesenchymal stem cells from fibroblasts are downregulated with passaging. Stem Cells Dev. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd. 2010.0040
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R (2011) Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal
- Horwitz EM, Gordon PL, Koo WKK, Marx JC, Neel MD, McNall RY, Muul L et al (2002) Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children

with osteogenesis imperfecta: implications for cell therapy of bone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.132252399

- Horwitz EM, Le Blanc K, Dominici M, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Deans RJ et al (2005) Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240500319234
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider KH, Dorvash MR, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146
- Im G II, Shin YW, Lee KB (2005) Do adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have the same osteogenic and chondrogenic potential as bone marrow-derived cells? Osteoarthr Cartil. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2005.05.005
- Jiang S, Haider KH, Niagara MI, Lu G, Ashraf M (2008) Stable therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell based multiple gene delivery for cardiac repair. Cardiovasc Res 77(3):525–533
- Jihwan HJ, Alice RY, Yoojun N, Hyeon JJ (2021) Recent developments in clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Front Immunol 12:448. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.631291
- Kahn J (2006) Myoblast cell therapy shows promise, but safety issues linger. J Interv Cardiol
- Kan C, Chen L, Hu Y, Lu H, Li Y, Kessler JA, Kan L (2017) Microenvironmental factors that regulate mesenchymal stem cells: lessons learned from the study of heterotopic ossification. Histol Histopathol
- Karlsson H, Samarasinghe S, Ball LM, Sundberg B, Lankester AC, Dazzi F, Uzunel M et al (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells exert differential effects on alloantigen and virus-specific T-cell responses. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-10-119370
- Karussis D, Karageorgiou C, Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Gowda-Kurkalli B, Gomori JM, Kassis I, Bulte JWM et al (2010) Safety and immunological effects of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch Neurol. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archneurol.2010.248
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-210 expression by targeting caspase-8-associated protein 2. J Biol Chem 284(48):33161–33168
- Kingery MT, Manjunath AK, Anil U, Strauss EJ (2019) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell therapy and related bone marrow-derived orthobiologic therapeutics. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 12(4):451–459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-019-09583-1
- Kitagawa Y, Kobori M, Toriyama K, Kamei Y, Torii S (2006) History of discovery of human adipose-derived stem cells and their clinical application. Japanese J Plast Reconstr Surg
- Kundrotas G (2012) Surface markers distinguishing mesenchymal stem cells from fibroblasts. Acta Med Litu. https://doi.org/10.6001/actamedica.v19i2.2313
- Kuroda Y, Kitada M, Wakao S, Nishikawa K, Tanimura Y, Makinoshima H, Goda M et al (2010) Unique multipotent cells in adult human mesenchymal cell populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0911647107
- Lamo-Espinosa JM, Mora G, Blanco JF, Granero-Moltó F, Nuñez-Córdoba JM, Sánchez-Echenique C et al (2016) Intra-articular injection of two different doses of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells versus hyaluronic acid in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial (phase I/II). J Transl Med. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12967-016-0998-2
- Le Blanc K, Mougiakakos D (2012) Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells and the innate immune system. Nat Rev Immunol
- Lei Y, Haider KH (2017) "Paracrining" the heart with stem cells. In: Haider KH (ed) Stem cells: from drug to drug discovery, Medicine & life sciences. De Gruyter, Berlin
- Li Y, Altemus J, Lightner AL (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells and acellular products attenuate murine induced colitis. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:515. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02025-7
- Lin CS, Xin ZC, Dai J, Lue TF (2013) Commonly used mesenchymal stem cell markers and tracking labels: limitations and challenges. Histol Histopathol

- Lindenmair A, Hatlapatka T, Kollwig G, Hennerbichler S, Gabriel C, Wolbank S, Redl H et al (2012) Mesenchymal stem or stromal cells from amnion and umbilical cord tissue and their potential for clinical applications. Cell. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells1041061
- Ljujic B, Milovanovic M, Volarevic V, Murray B, Bugarski D, Przyborski S, Arsenijevic N et al (2013) Human mesenchymal stem cells creating an immunosuppressive environment and promote breast cancer in mice. Sci Rep. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep02298
- Lpez Y, Lutjemeier B, Seshareddy KM, Trevino E, Sue Hageman K, Musch T, Borgarelli M, Weiss M (2013) Wharton's Jelly or bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells improve cardiac function following myocardial infarction for more than 32 weeks in a rat model: a preliminary report. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888x11308010007
- Lu L, Li F, Lu J (2013) Identification of functional tissue-resident cardiac stem/progenitor cells in adult mouse. Cell Biol Int Rep 19(1):15–22. https://doi.org/10.1042/CBR20120001
- Lupatov AY, Vdovin AS, Vakhrushev IV, Poltavtseva RA, Yarygin KN (2015) Comparative analysis of the expression of surface markers on fibroblasts and fibroblast-like cells isolated from different human tissues. Bull Exp Biol Med. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10517-015-2803-2
- Lv FJ, Tuan RS, Cheung KMC, Leung VYL (2014) Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells
- Lykissas M, Batistatou A, Charalabopoulos K, Beris A (2007) The role of neurotrophins in axonal growth, guidance, and regeneration. Curr Neurovasc Res. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 156720207780637216
- Machaliński B, Łazewski-Banaszak P, Dabkowska E, Paczkowska E, Gołab-Janowska M, Nowacki P (2012) The role of neurotrophic factors in regeneration of the nervous system. Neurol Neurochir Pol
- Majka M, Sułkowski M, Badyra B, Musiałek P (2017) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells in cardiovascular regeneration: emerging research directions and clinical applications. Stem Cells Transl Med
- Maleki M, Ghanbarvand F, Behvarz MR, Ejtemaei M, Ghadirkhomi E (2014) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cell markers in multiple human adult stem cells. Int J Stem Cells. https:// doi.org/10.15283/ijsc.2014.7.2.118
- Malgieri A, Kantzari E, Patrizi MP, Gambardella S (2010) Bone marrow and umbilical cord blood human mesenchymal stem cells: state of the art. Int J Clin Exp Med
- Marcucio RS, Nauth A, Giannoudis PV, Bahney C, Piuzzi NS, Muschler G, Miclau T (2015) Stem cell therapies in orthopaedic trauma. J Orthop Trauma. https://doi.org/10.1097/BOT. 000000000000459
- Martin PJ, Rizzo JD, Wingard JR, Ballen K, Curtin PT, Cutler C, Litzow MR et al (2012) First- and second-line systemic treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease: recommendations of the American Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant
- Menasché P (2009) Stem cell therapy for heart failure. Are arrhythmias a real safety concern? Circulation 119:2735–2740. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.812693
- Miura M, Miura Y, Padilla-Nash HM, Molinolo AA, Fu B, Patel V, Seo B-M et al (2006) Accumulated chromosomal instability in murine bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells leads to malignant transformation. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0403
- Mohanty A, Polisetti N, Vemuganti GK (2020) Immunomodulatory properties of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Biosci 45:98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12038-020-00068-9
- Moniuszko A, Sarnowska A, Rogowski W, Durlik M, Wluka A, Rydzewska G (2018) Successful treatment of an enterovesical fistula due to Crohn's disease with stem cell transplantation: a case report. Prz Gastroenterol
- Moretti P, Hatlapatka T, Marten D, Lavrentieva A, Majore I, Hass R, Kasper C (2010) Mesenchymal stromal cells derived from human umbilical cord tissues: primitive cells with potential for clinical and tissue engineering applications. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10. 1007/10 2009 15
- Muroi K, Miyamura K, Okada M, Yamashita T, Murata M, Ishikawa T, Uike N et al (2016) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (JR-031) for steroid-refractory grade III or IV acute

graft-versus-host disease: a phase II/III study. Int J Hematol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-015-1915-9

- Murrell WD, Anz AW, Badsha H, Bennett WF, Boykin RE, Caplan AI (2015) Regenerative treatments to enhance Orthopedic surgical outcome. PM & R 7(4):S41–S52. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.01.015
- Musiał-Wysocka A, Kot M, Sułkowski M, Badyra B, Majka M (2019) Molecular and functional verification of wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells (WJ-MSCs) pluripotency. Int J Mol Sci. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20081807
- Nagamura-Inoue T (2014) Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells: their advantages and potential clinical utility. World J Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v6.i2.195
- Nauta AJ, Fibbe WE (2007) Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. Blood
- Nazari-Shafti TZ, Neuber S, Garcia Duran A, Xu Z, Beltsios E, Seifert M, Falk V et al (2020) Human mesenchymal stromal cells and derived extracellular vesicles: translational strategies to increase their proangiogenic potential for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.19-0432
- Ning H, Yang F, Jiang M, Hu L, Feng K, Zhang J, Yu Z et al (2008) The correlation between cotransplantation of mesenchymal stem cells and higher recurrence rate in hematologic malignancy patients: outcome of a pilot clinical study. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2405090
- Ocansey DKW, Zhang L, Wang Y, Yan Y, Qian H, Zhang X, Xu W et al (2020) Exosome-mediated effects and applications in inflammatory bowel disease. Biol Rev 95(5):1287–1307
- Ogura F, Wakao S, Kuroda Y, Tsuchiyama K, Bagheri M, Heneidi S, Chazenbalk G et al (2014) Human adipose tissue possesses a unique population of pluripotent stem cells with nontumorigenic and low telomerase activities: potential implications in regenerative medicine. Stem Cells Dev. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0473
- Oh K-W, Moon C, Kim HY, Oh S, Park J, Lee JH, Chang IY et al (2015) Phase I trial of repeated intrathecal autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0212
- Okada M, Haider KH, Kim S, Ashraf M (2011) Existence of small juvenile cells in the aging bone marrow stromal cells and their therapeutic potential for ischemic heart disease. Circulation, Nov. 2011-SS-A-9586-AHA
- Paczkowska E, Kaczyńska K, Pius-Sadowska E, Rogińska D, Kawa M, Ustianowski P, Safranow K et al (2013) Humoral activity of cord blood-derived stem/progenitor cells: implications for stem cell-based adjuvant therapy of neurodegenerative disorders. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0083833
- Paczkowska E, Rogińska D, Pius-Sadowska E, Jurewicz A, Piecyk K, Safranow K, Dziedziejko V et al (2015) Evidence for proangiogenic cellular and humoral systemic response in patients with acute onset of spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. https://doi.org/10.1179/2045772314Y. 0000000227
- Park Y-B, Ha C-W, Lee C-H, Yoon YC, Park Y-G (2016) Cartilage regeneration in osteoarthritic patients by a composite of allogeneic umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells and hyaluronate hydrogel: results from a clinical trial for safety and proof-of-concept with 7 years of extended follow-up. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2016-0157
- Pas HI, Winters M, Haisma HJ, Koenis MJ, Tol JL, Moen MH (2017) Stem cell injections in knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review of the literature. Br J Sports Med
- Pelosi E, Castelli G, Testa U (2012) Human umbilical cord is a unique and safe source of various types of stem cells suitable for treatment of hematological diseases and for regenerative medicine. Blood Cells Mol Dis
- Peng X, Zhou J, Wu X (2016) New strategies for myocardial infarction treatment. J Cardiol Ther 4(3):664–670
- Petrou P, Gothelf Y, Argov Z, Gotkine M, Levy YS, Kassis I, Vaknin-Dembinsky A et al (2016) Safety and clinical effects of mesenchymal stem cells secreting neurotrophic factor transplantation in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. JAMA Neurol https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaneurol.2015.4321

- Pevsner-Fischer M, Levin S, Zipori D (2011) The origins of mesenchymal stromal cell heterogeneity. Stem Cell Rev Rep
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA et al (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284:143–147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Price MJ, Chou CC, Frantzen M, Miyamoto T, Kar S, Lee S, Shah PK et al (2006) Intravenous mesenchymal stem cell therapy early after reperfused acute myocardial infarction improves left ventricular function and alters electrophysiologic properties. Int J Cardiol. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijcard.2005.07.036
- Ratajczak MZ, Suszyńska M (2013) Quo Vadis medycyno regeneracyjna? Acta Haematol Pol 44:161–170 . https://doi.org/10.1016/j.achaem.2013.07.023
- Ratajczak MZ (2017) Quo Vadis regenerative medicine? Eur J Oncol Pharm
- Ringden O, Baygan A, Remberger M, Gustafsson B, Winiarski J, Khoein B, Moll G et al (2018) Placenta-derived decidua stromal cells for treatment of severe acute graft-versus-host disease. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0167
- Sadan O, Shemesh N, Barzilay R, Dadon-Nahum M, Blumenfeld-Katzir T, Assaf Y, Yeshurun M et al (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells induced to secrete neurotrophic factors attenuate quinolinic acid toxicity: a potential therapy for Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. expneurol.2011.12.045
- Sancricca C (2010) Mesenchymal stromal cells from human perinatal tissues: from biology to cell therapy. World J Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v2.i4.81
- Sarnowska A, Jablonska A, Jurga M, Dainiak M, Strojek L, Drela K, Wright K et al (2013) Encapsulation of mesenchymal stem cells by bioscaffolds protects cell survival and attenuates neuroinflammatory reaction in injured brain tissue after transplantation. Cell Transplant. https:// doi.org/10.3727/096368913X672172
- Shahid MS, Lasheen W, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10):E1371–E1374
- Shim WSN, Jiang S, Wong P, Tan J, Chua YL, Seng Tan Y, Sin YK et al (2004) Ex vivo differentiation of human adult bone marrow stem cells into cardiomyocyte-like cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.09.087
- Shim G, Lee S, Han J, Kim G, Jin H, Miao W, Yi TG et al (2015) Pharmacokinetics and in vivo fate of intra-articularly transplanted human bone marrow-derived clonal mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2014.0240
- Shimomura K, Ando W, Fujie H, Hart DA, Yoshikawa H, Nakamura N (2018) Scaffold-free tissue engineering for injured joint surface restoration. J Exp Orthop
- Siegel G, Kluba T, Hermanutz-Klein U, Bieback K, Northoff H, Schäfer R (2013) Phenotype, donor age and gender affect function of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. BMC Med. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-146
- Staffe NP, Madigan NN, Morris J, Jentoft M, Sorenson EJ, Butler G, Gastineau D et al (2016) Safety of intrathecal autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with ALS. Neurology. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003359
- Steiner B, Roch M, Holtkamp N, Kurtz A (2012) Systemically administered human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem home into peripheral organs but do not induce neuroprotective effects in the MCAo-mouse model for cerebral ischemia. Neurosci Lett. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neulet.2012.01.078
- Stolzing A, Jones E, McGonagle D, Scutt A (2008) Age-related changes in human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells: consequences for cell therapies. Mech Ageing Dev. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mad.2007.12.002
- Suzuki Y, Kim HW, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2010) Diazoxide potentiates mesenchymal stem cell survival via NF-κB-dependent miR-146a expression. Am J Phys 299:H1077–H1082
- Syková E, Rychmach P, Drahorádová I, Konrádová Š, Růžičková K, Voříšek I, Forostyak S et al (2017) Transplantation of mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with amyotrophic lateral

sclerosis: results of phase I/IIa clinical trial. Cell Transplant. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368916X693716

- Szydlak R (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells' homing and cardiac tissue repair. Acta Biochim Pol 66: 483–489. https://doi.org/10.18388/ABP.2019 2890
- Taei AA, Nasoohi S, Hassanzadeh G, Kadivar M, Dargahi L, Farahmandfar M (2021) Enhancement of angiogenesis and neurogenesis by intracerebroventricular injection of secretome from human embryonic stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells in ischemic stroke model. Biomed Pharmacother 140:111709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111709
- Takamiya M, Haider KH, Ashraf M (2011) Identification and characterization of a novel multipotent sub-population of sca-1+ cardiac progenitor cells for myocardial regeneration. PLoS One 6(9):e25265
- Tang Q, Chen Q, Lai X, Liu S, Chen Y, Zheng Z, Xie Q et al (2013) Malignant transformation potentials of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells both spontaneously and via 3-methycholanthrene induction. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081844
- Trounson A, McDonald C (2015) Stem cell therapies in clinical trials: progress and challenges. Cell Stem Cell
- Veauthier B, Hornecker JR (2018) Crohn's disease: diagnosis and management. Am Fam Physician 98(11):661–669
- Virani SS, Alonso A, Benjamin EJ, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, Chamberlain AM et al (2020) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2020 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation
- Viswanathan S, Shi Y, Galipeau J, Krampera M, Leblanc K, Martin I, Nolta J et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem versus stromal cells: International Society for Cellular Therapy Mesenchymal Stromal Cell committee position statement on nomenclature. Cytotherapy. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcyt.2019.08.002
- Von Bahr L, Batsis I, Moll G, Hägg M, Szakos A, Sundberg B, Uzunel M et al (2012a) Analysis of tissues following mesenchymal stromal cell therapy in humans indicates limited long-term engraftment and no ectopic tissue formation. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1118
- von Bahr L, Sundberg B, Lönnies L, Sander B, Karbach H, Hägglund H, Ljungman P et al (2012b) Long-term complications, immunologic effects, and role of passage for outcome in mesenchymal stromal cell therapy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2011. 07.023
- Wang M, Yuan Q, Xie L (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based immunomodulation: properties and clinical application. Stem Cells Int
- Weng JY, Du X, Geng SX, Peng YW, Wang Z, Lu ZS, Wu SJ et al (2010) Mesenchymal stem cell as salvage treatment for refractory chronic GVHD. Bone Marrow Transplant. https://doi.org/10. 1038/bmt.2010.195
- Wexler SA, Donaldson C, Denning-Kendall P, Rice C, Bradley B, Hows JM (2003) Adult bone marrow is a rich source of human mesenchymal "stem" cells but umbilical cord and mobilized adult blood are not. Br J Haematol. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04284.x
- White JL, Walker NJ, Hu JC, Borjesson DL, Athanasiou KA (2018) A comparison of bone marrow and cord blood mesenchymal stem cells for cartilage self-assembly. Tissue Eng Part A. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2017.0424
- Winkler S, Niedermair T, Füchtmeier B, Grifka J, Grässel S, Anders S, Heers G et al (2015) The impact of hypoxia on mesenchymal progenitor cells of human skeletal tissue in the pathogenesis of heterotopic ossification. Int Orthop. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-015-2995-0
- Xu-ting W, Bian-yu Z, Fan-ming Q, Li G, Tang-ting T (2009) Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) target osteosarcoma and promote its growth and pulmonary metastasis. Cancer Lett. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2009.02.022
- Yang HJ, Kim K-J, Kim MK, Lee SJ, Ryu YH, Seo BF, Oh D-Y (2014) The stem cell potential and multipotency of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells vary by cell donor and are different from those of other types of stem cells. Cells Tissues Organs 199:373–383. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000369969

- Yin F, Guo L, Meng CY, Liu YJ, Lu RF, Li P, Zhou YB (2014) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells exerts anti-apoptotic effects in adult rats after spinal cord ischemia-reperfusion injury. Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.02.047
- Zeddou M, Briquet A, Relic B, Josse C, Malaise MG, Gothot A, Lechanteur C et al (2010) The umbilical cord matrix is a better source of mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) than the umbilical cord blood. Cell Biol Int. https://doi.org/10.1042/cbi20090414
- Zhang XM, Zhang YJ, Wang W, Wei YQ, Deng HX (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells to treat Crohn's disease with fistula. Hum Gene Ther
- Zhao K, Lou R, Huang F, Peng Y, Jiang Z, Huang K, Wu X et al (2015) Immunomodulation effects of mesenchymal stromal cells on acute graft-versus-host disease after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.09.030
- Zimmerlin L, Donnenberg AD, Rubin JP, Basse P, Landreneau RJ, Donnenberg VS (2011) Regenerative therapy and cancer: in vitro and in vivo studies of the interaction between adipose-derived stem cells and breast cancer cells from clinical isolates. Tissue Eng Part A. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2010.0248



The Stem Cell Continuum Model and Implications in Cancer

42

Theo Borgovan, Ari Pelcovitz, Rani Chudasama, Tom Ollila, and Peter Queseneberry

Contents

Introduction	1257
The Stem Cell Continuum	1257
Extracellular Vesicle Basics	1258
Extracellular Vesicle Functions	1258
Extracellular Vesicle Pleiotropy and Regenerative Potential	1261
Extracellular Vesicles Affect Normal Stem Cells	1261
Extracellular Vesicles Affect Cancer Stem Cells	1262
An Introduction to Extracellular Vesicles and Hematological Malignancies	1263
Extracellular Vesicles in Leukemia	1263
Extracellular Vesicles in Lymphoma	1265
An Introduction to Extracellular Vesicles and Breast Cancer	1266
Role of TEVs in Breast Cancer	1266
Use of TEVs in Breast Cancer Treatment	1267
Use of TEVs for Diagnostic and Predictive Markers in Breast Cancer	1268
An Introduction to EVs and Lymphoma	1269
Extracellular Vesicles in Primary CNS Lymphomas	1269
The Role of EVs in Diagnosis and as a Biomarker in Primary CNS Lymphoma	1269
Extracellular Vesicles' Function on Lymphomagenesis and Lymphoma Treatment	
Response	1270
EVs' Effects on Lymphoma Patient Outcomes and Prognosis	1271
Role or Target in Therapy for Lymphoma	1271
Lymphoma-Specific EV Roles	1272
References	1273

T. Borgovan (\boxtimes) · A. Pelcovitz · R. Chudasama · T. Ollila · P. Queseneberry

Division of Hematology and Oncology, Rhode Island Hospital, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

e-mail: theo.borgovan@brown.edu; tb2182@columbia.edu; ari.pelcovits@lifespan.org; rchudasama@lifespan.org; thomas_ollila@brown.edu; pquesenberry@lifespan.org

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_24
Abstract

The hematopoietic stem cell is constantly fluctuating through various intrinsic phenotypic potentials. It has dynamic plasticity and is intimately tied to cell cycle dynamics as well as numerous external stimuli. The salient studies conclude the stem cell exists in a continuum of transcriptional opportunity regulated by multiple variables, including biologically active nanoparticles termed extracellular vesicles (EVs). These bioactive mediators closely impact cellular function and phenotypic potential and play a critical role in the regulation of normal hemostasis, as well as in the development and evolution of various cancers. In this chapter, we explore the integral data explaining the stem cell continuum, the interplay between this model and EVs from various cell types, as well as the role of EVs in various solid and hematologic cancers. Finally, we evaluate the role of EVs as unique and reliable biomarkers across disease states ranging from traumatic brain injury to malignancy.

Keywords

 $Biomarkers \cdot Cancer \cdot CSCs \cdot Extracellular vesicles \cdot Stem cells \cdot Therapeutics$

Abbreviation	S
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
BCR	B-cell receptor
BM	Bone marrow
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
FIH	Factor inhibiting
GPC1	Glypican-1
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
hWJMSC	Human Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells
IL	Interleukin
LT-HSC	Long-term hematopoietic stem cell
MBC	Metastatic breast cancer
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
miRNA	MicroRNA
MM	Multiple myeloma
MRP-1	Multidrug resistance protein 1
MSCs	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells
MVB	Multivesicular bodies

SDF1	Stromal cell-derived factor 1
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TD-MSCs	Palatine tonsil-derived MSCs
TF	Tissue factor

Introduction

The Stem Cell Continuum

Bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) have been exhaustively studied. Present dogma is that there is a dormant noncycling lineage negative (lin-) c-kit⁺⁻ $\text{Sca-1}^+\text{CD150}^+$ cell in the marrow, which represents this stem cell (Colvin et al. 2010, 2007). This cell is reported to have extensive differentiation potential, self-renews, and responds to microenvironmental cues. The system is hierarchical, with the stem cells giving rise to a diverse population of progenitor cells, which then differentiate into end hematopoietic cells. Our published data indicate that the bone marrow-derived pluripotent HSCs constitute a population of actively cycling cells which are characterized by continuously changing phenotypes (Colvin et al. 2007). This cell population exists as lin + cells, discarded during conventional stem cell purification (Goldberg et al. 2014). Thus, a cell that is transiting cell cycle is continuously altering its nature. This is consistent with multiple reports of heterogeneity of bone marrow HSCs. Perhaps the most impressive observation is that heterogeneity is observed even with cyclesynchronized stem cells (Colvin et al. 2010). Critical observations have been reported that the long-term repopulating marrow stem cells alter hematopoietic differentiation potential as it transits the cell cycle (Colvin et al. 2007). In these experiments, highly purified lin-rhodamine low Hoechst low murine stem cells showed differentiation predilections as they transit a cytokine-induced cell cycle.

Another critical component of the universal stem cell model is multiple observations of marrow "stem cells" forming non-hematopoietic cells after in vivo engraftment into lethally irradiated mice (Lagasse et al. 2000; Nilsson et al. 1999; Goldberg et al. 2014; Theise et al. 2000; Abedi et al. 2003; Badiavas et al. 2003). Krause and colleagues have demonstrated that single marrow cells can give rise to a wide variety of non-hematopoietic epithelial cells. And more recently, they have identified these cells as a very small embryonic-like stem cell (Krause et al. 2001; Kassmer et al. 2013).

Put together, the observations on cell cycle status of long-term repopulation marrow stem cells, their differentiation potential including their capacity to differentiate into non-hematopoietic end cells, and their intrinsic heterogeneity suggest a new model of stem cell biology. We propose that there are no individual stem cells for different tissues; rather, *a universal stem cell* population exists that functions for most and possibly all tissues in the body. The universal stem cell is a cycling cell and thus is continuously changing phenotype. This includes its differentiation potential that is realized when the universal stem cell resides in the conducive environment. As shown in Fig. 1, the same universal stem cell at one point during the cell cycle in



Fig. 1 The cell cycle is a continuum. During hematopoiesis the long-term hematopoietic stem cell (LT-HSC, colored in dark purple) changes phenotype as it transits through cell cycle and fluctuates between different phenotypes (colored in blue, brown, and light purple) and functional potential. (Used with the permission of Chibuikem Nwizu, chibuikem_nwizu@brown.edu)

hepatic tissue will give rise to hepatic cells, while if it is in lung tissue environment, it will give rise to epithelial lung cells. Likewise, it will give rise to hematopoietic cells in the marrow, but the type of end cell differs depending upon cell cycle status; thus, it could differentiate into megakaryocytes, granulocytes, erythrocytes, or other end hematopoietic cells. This model can fit nicely into much of our current data on extracellular vesicle cellular modulation.

Extracellular Vesicle Basics

At first glance, extracellular vesicles (EVs) seem simple, nano-sized, lipid membrane-enclosed particles that are reasonably ubiquitous and are released from essentially all cell types in the mammalian body. Their function unknown at the time, at first discovery they were merely dismissed as cellular waste products, shuttling cellular junk from predominantly red blood cells and platelets. Today, with the recent progress in the field of EVs, researchers have started to appreciate their complexity and robust biological potential. Scientific efforts have only just begun to architect framework taxonomy, unraveling their heterogeneity and pluripotency.

Subsequent work has characterized and subdivided these entities on the basis of size, density, and morphology (Borgovan et al. 2019). Eventually, two basic types of vesicles were defined by differential ultracentrifugation purification: exosomes and microvesicles. Exosomes derived from multivesicular bodies range from 40 to 120 nm in diameter, while microvesicles derived as a result of membrane blebbing range from 50 to 1000 nm in diameter. Other vesicular entities were also defined, including apoptotic bodies as given in Table 1 and Fig. 2.

Extracellular Vesicle Functions

The functional potential harnessed by EVs is immense. They allow for intercellular communication sans direct cell-to-cell contact, honing pertinent information to distinct cells in proximity to the effector cell, or cellular targets located in more distant vicinities.

Vesicle type	Size (nm)	Origin	Content	Marker
Exosomes	40–120	Endocytic pathway	Proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids (mRNA, miRNA, and other noncoding RNAs)	Alix, Tsg101, tetraspanins (CD81, CD63, CD9), flotillin
Microvesicles	50-1000	Plasma membrane blebbing	Proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids (mRNA, miRNA, and other noncoding RNAs)	Integrins, selectins, CD40
Apoptotic bodies	500-2000	Plasma membrane blebbing	Nuclear fractions, cell organelles	Annexin V, phosphatidylserine

Table 1 Biological pathways of extracellular vesicles



Fig. 2 Extracellular vesicles are heterogeneous. The major populations include exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic bodies. Each subtype contains a unique surface architecture and carries distinct cargo. (Used with the permission of Chibuikem Nwizu, chibuikem nwizu@brown.edu)

Being membrane-bound, they protect their rich cargo from degradation and allow for the shuttling and delivery of selectively packaged proteins, various types of RNA, bioactive lipids, and DNA (Borgovan et al. 2019). As highlighted in Fig. 3, once the vesicles reach a target cell, they impart various long-lasting downstream phenotypic and genotypic effects, which are likely mediated via intricate genetic and epigenetic variables.



Fig. 3 Extracellular vesicles contain a large array of biologically active cargo. Once the vesicles reach the target cell, the released cargo imparts numerous downstream effects. (Used with the permission of Chibuikem Nwizu, chibuikem_nwizu@brown.edu)

Initial studies focused on EVs functional mechanisms have established the ability of vesicles to directly transfer protein into target cells, while modifying the phenotype of the recipient cells. The initial mediators of EVs' function were primarily hypothesized to be protein and mRNA effectors. The biological effects of vesicles are inhibited after heat inactivation or pretreatment with RNase, suggesting the relevant involvement of protein and mRNA. However, the downstream functional and phenotypic effects observed in EV studies are persistent and long-lasting, spanning well beyond the degradation time expected for biologic proteins, thus suggesting other mechanisms at work. While most plasma miRNAs are bound to proteins, there is a smaller amount associated with extracellular vesicles. Further analysis has indicated that cellular phenotype alteration may be mediated by the transfer of transcriptional activators, possibly miRNA, and downstream modulation of epigenetic signals (Aliotta et al. 2015).

Ratajczak et al. (2006) elegantly highlighted that embryonic stem cell-derived microvesicles successfully reprogrammed hematopoietic progenitors by horizontal transfer of their mRNA and protein payload (Borgovan et al. 2019). The analysis of EVs from embryonic stem cells has identified the expression of stem cell-specific molecules with established roles in stem cell proliferation and self-renewal.

These vesicles also upregulated the expression of various early pluripotent HSCsspecific markers, including Oct-4, Nanog, Scl, HoxB4, and GATA 2.

This mechanism of action was also supported by other research groups, highlighting RNA transfer and phenotypic change in different experimental models (Aliotta et al. 2006, 2007, 2015; Valadi et al. 2007). In these experiments, a genomic change could only occur once the vesicles had entered the target marrow cells allowing for the transfer of both mRNA and transcriptional regulators. As in other studies, the phenotypic effects were long-lived, well beyond the degradation of the transferred mRNA, once again suggesting that long-term expression of downstream proteins derived from the target cells (such as surfactants B and C, which were tested in these studies) represented a stable downstream epigenetic event (Aliotta et al. 2015).

Extracellular Vesicle Pleiotropy and Regenerative Potential

EVs can be successfully isolated from virtually all bodily fluids and cells. EV populations harbor a functional endpoint specific to originator cell type and disease state. There are far-reaching implications in utilizing EVs toward clinical endpoints focused on disease identification, progression, and modulation. The recent focus has been on the capacity of EVs to restore injured tissue and treat disease (Wen et al. 2017). EVs packaging and cargo composition are constantly cycling, and it is in flux with the ever-changing homeostasis of the host's cellular and physiological environment. As a result, EVs selectively package their cargo to address the functional endpoints at hand specifically. Moreover, as we will come to explore, EVs harness a potent regenerative ability in various disease states, including multiple types of solid and hematological malignancies, and can have direct protective and regenerative effects on perhaps the most important of cell regulators – the HSCs.

Extracellular Vesicles Affect Normal Stem Cells

MSCs reside in the bone marrow and adipose tissue. They have multipotent differentiation capacity and, via direct co-transplantation, have been shown to support the HSCs directly by enhancing engraftment and improving bone marrow recovery from radiation in NOD/SCID mice. Wen et al. demonstrated that the functional mediators of these regenerative effects were attributed to the released EVs (Wen et al. 2016). Through elegant studies, his group successfully demonstrated the capacity of human MSCs-derived EVs to reverse radiation-induced damage to the bone marrow and gastrointestinal tissues of mice. EVs demonstrated a capacity to reverse radiation damage to the marrow and gastrointestinal tissues of mice, with the most potent effect on long-term engrafting stem cells (Wen et al. 2016). These results are in accordance with numerous other studies demonstrating how EVs can target and salvage damaged stem cells, promoting their differentiation, and proliferation, thereby reversing radiation-induced damage and apoptosis of the bone marrow cells. A common functional theme was once again observed in this interaction wherein mRNA was vital. Overexpression of multiple RNA populations involved in cell recovery, growth, radiation resistance, and promotion were observed, allowing for more efficient DNA repair and downregulation of apoptotic factors. Many of these effects were found to be closely integrated into the cell cycle status. In line with the stem cell continuum postulate described earlier in the chapter, Aliota et al. showed the functional effects of vesicles on marrow mRNA expression depended upon the cell cycle status of the target bone marrow cells and the condition of the originator lung cells, in this case either irradiated or not (Aliotta et al. 2012). The results showed that lineage depleted, Sca-1+ murine bone marrow cells showed peak pulmonary epithelial cell-specific mRNA expression in cell cycle phase G0/G1 when the vesicles were derived from irradiated lung tissue, while the peak was in the late G1/early S phase when the vesicles were derived from the nonirradiated lung.

Extracellular Vesicles Affect Cancer Stem Cells

We have explored the evidence illustrating the bimodal interplay among stem cells and EVs. Unique populations of vesicles are released by healthy dividing stem cells (such as the MSCs described above), which in turn are received and employed by other stem cells, which may be stressed or damaged, toward a regenerative purpose (Wen et al. 2016). The vesicle "fingerprint" utilized by stem cells is subject to multiple variables as described in the studies above, including the tightly regulated and continuous phenotypic and genotypic flux the stem cell experiences as it moves through the cell cycle. Much of the reversible changes in short- and long-term engraftment, progenitor numbers, gene expression, and differentiation potential explored in the aforementioned studies are partly a direct result of EVs' effects at various cytokine-induced cell cycle transits (Colvin et al. 2010, 2007; Goldberg et al. 2014). The regenerative potential of stem cells in which there is an injury-related conversion of bone marrow-derived stem cells toward different tissue cells in order to reconstitute damaged populations is, again, largely dependent on EV manipulation of the stem cell continuum during cell cycle. For instance, damaged irradiated lung tissue releases EVs which can transit to and enter the bone marrow stem cells, thereby modulating the stem cell continuum, driving stem cell differentiation, and leading to the bone marrow cell expression of lung-specific mRNA and protein (Aliotta et al. 2015).

The fundamental postulates of the stem cell continuum theory and its applicability to healthy functional stem cells can be accurately extended to the biological mechanics that drive other "types" of stem cells. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) compose a relatively dormant subset of pluripotent cancer cells that have preserved the ability to differentiate, self-renew, and remain particularly resistant to chemo- and radiotherapeutic intervention (Hervieu et al. 2021). These cells have enhanced tumorigenicity and continuously adapt to the myriad of immunogenic and therapeutic threats they are taxed with, in order to maintain a pro-oncogenic microenvironment and ensure cancer growth (Margolin et al. 2015).

Akin to their HSCs counterparts, CSCs are in a dynamic state of continuum, perpetually changing to respond adequately to its environment – this modulation is thought to be in part regulated by the effects of EV production and reprogramming. Kim et al. followed the expression of various CSCs-specific markers postulating that these aberrant CSCs were constantly reprogrammed during oncogenesis (Kim et al. 2013). Su et al. described these adaptations as a "continuum state," showing that CSCs could transiently cycle through phenotypic (and likely epigenetic) states, with nearly 75% of their surface markers shared by adult or embryonic stem cells. Moreover, the remaining surface architectural composition showed significant variability and cycling, with the majority of these markers being found on differentiated normal tissue cells (Su et al. 2021). Mani et al. highlighted a similar link between EVs and the dedifferentiation process that a mature (or progenitor) cell undergoes when it acquires "tumor-initiating" properties (Mani et al. 2008). Both the research groups evidenced a critical role of EVs in reprogramming stem cell fate and modulating its microenvironment and stroma to harbor cancer growth. When following the expression of variable CSCs-specific markers, Wang et al. postulated that the observed phenotypic changes were linked to, and dependent on, EV manipulation (Wang et al. 2007). The effects were observed as bidirectional, with aberrant (cancer) stem cells promoting a microenvironment of the specific phenotypic state that contributed to the biogenesis, loading, and special packaging of EVs which promote CSCs propagation and further enhance oncogenesis.

An Introduction to Extracellular Vesicles and Hematological Malignancies

EVs play an essential role in intracellular communication through active transcellular crosstalk and post-apoptotic residual messaging (Borgovan et al. 2019). The role of EVs in CSCs' promotion, cancer pathogenesis, and their use in diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment remains an area of immense ongoing research. Herein, we will review the ongoing research surrounding EVs in hematologic malignancies with a special focus on the preclinical data exploring the role of the bone marrow tumor microenvironment and the utility of EVs in diagnostic and prognostic models.

Extracellular Vesicles in Leukemia

The Leukemic Bone Marrow Microenvironment

Leukemia is defined by the development of a clonal proliferation of malignant hematologic cells, with frequent bone marrow infiltration, as well as peripheral blood involvement. Recent research has expanded on this definition and identified some critical interactions between leukemic cells and the bone marrow microenvironment in cancer development and proliferation. Specifically, it is theorized that leukemic cells induce changes in the bone marrow microenvironment which are more favorable to leukemic cells' growth and proliferation and less conducive for normal hematopoiesis (Duarte et al. 2018). EVs are thought to be one mechanism by which leukemic cells can induce microenvironmental changes (Kumar et al. 2018). Kumar and colleagues demonstrated that treatment of experimental mice with acute myeloid leukemia (AML)-derived exosomes successfully induced similar bone marrow changes in the recipient animals as were caused by typical AML cell engraftment in these mice populations.

The exact mechanism by which leukemic EVs manipulate the bone marrow microenvironment remains less well-explored. In vitro studies with various AML cell lines and the plasma from mice-bearing AML xenografts have shown that the diseased animals released leukemic EVs laden with multiple stem cell-related micro-RNAs that target the downstream transcription factors involved in stem and progenitor cell growth and differentiation. Through the EV-directed epigenetic changes, AML can inhibit specific stem cell transcription factors with established roles in malignancy and other similar processes, necessary for the proper development of B-cell precursors (Borgovan et al. 2019). Peinado and colleagues demonstrated that melanoma-derived EVs would transfer the receptor tyrosine kinase MET, inducing its expression on bone marrow progenitor cells, which might create a more favorable metastatic environment (Peinado et al. 2012). Huan et al. identified similar bone marrow manipulation by AML cell lines. They demonstrated that AML cells transferred mRNA via EVs to the bone marrow stromal cells, thereby altering the biologic functions of these stromal and hematopoietic cells to create a leukemic microenvironment that would be more conducive for malignant growth (Huan et al. 2013).

This intra-environmental EVs-based communication is not limited to AML. For example, Corrado et al. identified a similar paradigm in the growth and survival of chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) cells (Corrado et al. 2014). Based on the published data, IL-8 plays a critical role in CML growth and survival, and treatment of the bone marrow-derived stromal cells with CML-derived EVs significantly increases the production of IL-8.

Predictors of Response and Promoters of Resistance in Leukemia

While research is ongoing to identify further the role of EVs in the development and maintenance of bone marrow microenvironment homeostasis and as an emerging novel target for therapeutic intervention, preliminary data have demonstrated a potential role for leukemic cell-derived EVs in prognosis. Hong et al. measured the TGF- β 1 level in EVs derived from patients with newly diagnosed AML and followed its level through the course of treatment (Hong et al. 2014). They found that reduction in the EV-derived TGF- β 1 level was positively correlated with AML blast reduction during the treatment. While the TGF- β 1 level was not predictive of relapse during consolidation, the level in patients with long-term remission (>2 years) was shown to be similar to control patients not diagnosed with AML.

EVs play a critical role in predicting treatment response and are also explicitly involved in promoting drug resistance. Bouvy et al. showed the transfer of chemotherapy resistance between promyelocyte leukemic cell lines via direct cellular transfer of EVs (Bouvy et al. 2017). Chemosensitive cell lines treated with EVs derived from chemoresistant cell lines were shown to endocytose EVs into their intracellular compartments. The recipient cells subsequently showed increased resistance to daunorubicin compared to the untreated chemosensitive cells. A similar study was conducted by Bebawy et al. in which EVs from resistant cell lines, especially those with a high level of P-glycoprotein expression, were cultured with chemosensitive cells. The co-cultured chemosensitive cells subsequently not only expressed P-glycoprotein but also developed its functional mechanisms (Bebawy et al. 2009).

Total plasma EVs isolated from leukemic patients may be exploited as a distinct biomarker. Machine learning-based algorithms have been employed to classify diverse leukemic EVs' populations. Using these mathematical and statistical models to quantify and qualify various EV populations from a heterogeneous patient population at different stages of treatment has shown promising preliminary results toward the EVs use as theranostic biomarkers for both diagnoses and gauging therapeutic response (Borgovan et al. 2019).

Extracellular Vesicles in Lymphoma

The Lymphoma Tumor Microenvironment

The tumor microenvironment in lymphoma allows the growth and proliferation of malignant lymphocytes, a process facilitated by EVs-directed transcellular communication. Hansen et al. identified CD30 ligand expression in Hodgkin's lymphoma-derived EVs, and these EVs were associated with the stimulation of IL-8 release, a pro-inflammatory cytokine implicated in the tumor growth (Hansen et al. 2014). They further demonstrated that CD30+ EVs formed a communication complex between the scattered malignant Reed-Sternberg cells and the surrounding immune meshwork. The group theorized that this might explain the therapeutic benefits of brentuximab vedotin, the antibody-drug conjugate directed against CD30, and that despite the meager propensity of CD30+ cells, they might be just a part of a more integrated EVs-mediated communication network supporting malignant cell growth and survival. On the same note, Dorsam et al. demonstrated how Hodgkin's lymphoma-derived EVs communicated and manipulated the tumor microenvironment (Dörsam et al. 2018). They also documented the uptake of Hodgkin's lymphoma-derived EVs by surrounding fibroblasts and significantly impacted fibroblasts' migration. Uptake of EVs by the fibroblasts also resulted in a phenotypic change producing more cancerassociated fibroblasts. These findings again pointed to an elaborated network of communication and regulation within the tumor microenvironment in which EVs played a unique and central role.

An Introduction to Extracellular Vesicles and Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is one of the most common invasive cancers in women (Desantis et al. 2014). Despite advances in breast cancer therapy, the overall 5-year survival for patients with metastatic breast cancer (MBC) is only 28% (Desantis et al. 2014; Siegel et al. 2021). The clinical course and progression of breast cancer is a dynamic process and involves close interaction with the tumor microenvironment. There is a constant acquisition and regulation of signals, intercellular communication, as well as genetic and epigenetic alterations between cancer cells. Thus, the drivers that boost cancer evolution are essential in understanding and investigating disease progression and novel therapies.

As discussed in the hematologic malignancies section, EVs are biomolecules released by cells to act as a carrier of various biomolecules to facilitate intracellular signaling and homeostasis between the communicating cells. Such cell-to-cell communication has been observed extensively in various solid tumor cell types, including breast cancer.

Role of TEVs in Breast Cancer

Tumor-derived EVs (TEVs) can be retrieved from various bodily fluids to serve as potential biomarkers for theranostic applications (Kalluri 2016; Théry et al. 2002; De Toro et al. 2015; Van Niel et al. 2018). Studies have shown that TEVs play a critical role in metastasis, progression, and tumor initiation (Abak et al. 2018). TEVs produced from cancer cells have been shown to induce proliferation of the neighboring normal cells besides their ability to induce malignant transformation, proliferation, and oncogenic amplification (Jing et al. 2013).

TEVs also help cancer cells evade immune surveillance and promote therapeutic resistance by regulating drug sensitivity via various modalities (Lowry et al. 2015). This extends beyond the standard chemotherapeutic resistance to immunotherapy. EVs have numerous suppressive effects across the population of immune cells that resides in the tumor microenvironment (Borgovan et al. 2019). Yu et al. have shown that breast cancer-derived TEVs could block the differentiation of myeloid precursor cells into dendritic cells. These data have opened an opportunity to use TEVs in cancer immunotherapy (Yu et al. 2007). As discussed elsewhere in this chapter, uptake of TEVs by the fibroblasts promotes their genetic and phenotypic transformation into cancer-associated fibroblasts, a phenotype known to cause immunosuppression.

TEVs are also crucial in regulating metastases, and hence the treatments targeting TEVs may have significant utility in breast cancer as part of novel therapeutic intervention. Studies have shown TEVs derived from aggressive subclones of the triple-negative breast cancer cell line Hs578T were able to transfer their aggressive phenotype to a panel of breast cancer cells. By silencing one of the central regulators of TEVs secretion in breast cancer (GTPase Rab27a), there were a reduction in tumor growth and a significant decrease in metastatic dispersal (Bobrie et al. 2012). Other data have elucidated that TEVs can regulate the selective tropism of cancer

cells to target specific organs and create sites of metastasis that are pro-oncogenic. This is achieved through differing integrin expressions. TEVs also target organspecific cells and alter integrin expression in that microenvironment to prepare the pre-metastatic niche.

Various experiments have shown that CSCs and their microenvironment are affected by TEVs. Sansone et al. showed that the transfer of exosomal miR-221 to the luminal breast cancer cells, in the setting of hormonal therapy, induced plasticity, a stem cell-like state, and ultimately led to the development of resistant tumor cells (Sansone et al. 2017).

TEVs have an impact not only on tumor promotion but can also inhibit tumor growth. We have explored the role of MSCs in the leukemic niche and have shown that EVs derived from healthy MSCs are negative regulators of the cell cycle and inhibit cancer cell growth. Ono et al. showed that bone marrow-derived MSCs secreted EVs, which acted as negative regulators of breast cancer growth (Ono et al. 2014). These findings are supported by various research groups who have reported that EVs from otherwise healthy (noncancerous) cells can promote breast cancer cell dormancy in metastatic sites (Bruno et al. 2013).

Use of TEVs in Breast Cancer Treatment

TEVs are membrane-encapsulated small vesicular structures and have the ability to maintain their structural integrity and protect their cargo against external processes, such as proteases and other enzymes. We will review how TEVs can become a novel candidate as a "drug-loaded" delivery system for targeted cancer gene therapies (Théry et al. 2002). Various experimental studies have demonstrated that TEVs can be secreted at higher levels in the setting of cytotoxic chemotherapy and enhance the pro-metastatic capacity of cancer cells and allow for chemoresistance through the release and transfer of TEVs from chemoresistant to chemosensitive breast cancer cells (Keklikoglou et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2017).

Conversely, TEVs have also been shown to play a role in overcoming treatment failure due to drug resistance in breast cancer. Some studies have also demonstrated a potential clinical use of TEVs to treat chemoresistant cancer cells. Zhang et al. (2015) highlighted the importance EVs have in the modulation of miRNA expression profiles that led to the reversal of drug resistance via the EVs-directed changes in multidrug resistance-related miRNAs. Researchers have postulated that manipulating drug efflux from the cells may successfully restore drug sensitivity in cancer and CSCs. This was confirmed by Kong et al. in the human breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cell line (Kong et al. 2015).

TEVs have also been investigated for targeted treatment of breast cancer based on their ability to deliver a specific cargo of bioactive molecules into the tumor microenvironment. Thus, they can potentially increase the option of targeted therapy to specific areas using donor-derived products as vectors. In theory, donor cells can produce TEVs with little or no immunogenicity and stable enough to be protected from destruction during delivery. The potential of TEVs as a delivery vehicle for certain molecules has been assessed in clinical settings. For example, Phase I clinical studies have used dendritic cell-derived TEVs to treat patients with various solid cancers (Escudier et al. 2005; Morse et al. 2005). In addition, Shin-Ichiro et al. have successfully demonstrated the use of breast cancer-derived exosomes to deliver specific miRNAs to EGFR-positive cancer cells (Shin-Ichiro et al. 2013). Many studies intend to use TEVs to encapsulate anticancer drugs/chemotherapeutic agents, such as paclitaxel and doxorubicin, for delivery across the blood-brain barrier and into the CNS (Yang et al. 2015).

TEVs-mediated drug delivery has a broad range of future clinical applications and offers a new treatment strategy in targeting specific pathways such as HER2, PI3K/ AKT, and VEGF via direct and indirect modulation of these cellular pathways (Wang and Gires 2019). One example of TEVs application in the setting of targeted therapy is with HER2-expressing breast cancer cells. Studies showed that EVs released by HER2-positive breast cancer cells could bind with trastuzumab and resulted in the suppression of drug effects. These data indicated that TEVs could disrupt anticancer therapy, such as trastuzumab, and promote drug resistance (Marleau et al. 2012). However, by removing exosomes through the creation of a novel therapy called HER2osome (Aethlon Medical, San Diego, USA), which aims to reduce the quantity of circulating HER2 protein and breast cancer exosomes, the therapeutic effects of trastuzumab can be restored.

Use of TEVs for Diagnostic and Predictive Markers in Breast Cancer

Given that TEVs play a vital role in tumor development and metastases, they have been studied for use as diagnostic and prognostic markers. Furthermore, there is promising data that TEVs can be detected before tumor detection or symptomatic appearance of the disease (Saraswat et al. 2015). Thus, the use of TEVs as biomarkers is a promising approach as it may serve as a minimally invasive diagnostic tool due to TEVs availability in various body fluids. Moreover, TEVs can be easily measured during course of treatment as a predictive biomarker for assessing response.

Various research groups have reported specific TEVs associated with distinct disease phenotypes. For example, exosomal miR-373 and miR-939 are linked with triple-negative breast cancer and aggressive breast cancer phenotypes (Corinna et al. 2014; Di et al. 2017). Although the best modality for detecting and analyzing these TEVs is under investigation, high-sensitivity PCR and next-generation sequencing are emerging as promising possible options for their detection.

There has been a significant advancement in breast cancer treatment over the last decade, with TEVs-based diagnostic and therapeutic applications giving encouraging results. Various research groups are analyzing a relationship between TEVs and breast cancer cells regarding their role in cell proliferation, invasion, and metastasis. TEVs are unique in their ability to transport bioactive molecules with protection from degradation both locally and throughout the body.

An Introduction to EVs and Lymphoma

There are over 80 types of lymphomas, including both Hodgkin's lymphoma (HL) and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (NHL) of B-lymphocyte and T-lymphocyte in origin, as well as indolent and aggressive lymphomas with an expanded spectrum. Even among the established lymphoma subtypes, there exists considerable genetic heterogeneity. Similar to the nature of the disease, therapeutic options and the standard clinical course also have vast heterogeneity. Standard therapy for the majority of lymphomas includes chemotherapy, and in B-cell lymphomas it is typically combined with an immunotherapy (such as the monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody, rituximab). In the treatment for aggressive lymphomas, therapy is of definitive intent, whereas in indolent lymphomas, patients can expect to have periods of therapy and remission. Research on how EVs may better guide diagnosis of lymphoma, assess and predict response to therapy, and ultimately serve as a therapeutic agent is underway.

Extracellular Vesicles in Primary CNS Lymphomas

As in the case of other diseases and in normal physiologic states, lymphoma-derived EVs contain cell-specific cargo of bioactive molecules that includes DNA, RNA, and proteins (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018; Trajkovic et al. 2008). Lymphoma-derived EVs and parent cells from which they originated express many common surface markers, such as CD19, CD20, and CD30 (Trajkovic et al. 2008; Yao and Wei 2015). As mentioned, compared to healthy tissues, cancer cells show increased release of EVs, making them particularly abundant in the disease state (Yu et al. 2005; Van Eijndhoven et al. 2017). EVs generally contain shared genomic materials, the majority of which is double-stranded DNA, but their cargo also includes numerous proteins, bioactive lipids, and RNA species that are capable of entering into target cells to alter the transcription and expression of genes and proteins related to numerous cellular functions (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018). All of these aspects make the study of EVs integral to improved diagnosis, prognostic modeling, and possibly treatment of lymphoma.

The Role of EVs in Diagnosis and as a Biomarker in Primary CNS Lymphoma

Liquid biopsies and cell-free DNA analyses continue to gain increasing relevance across several hematologic and solid malignancies. In lymphoma, excisional lymph node biopsy, when feasible, remains standard of care. With improved techniques and optimal protocols, both by interventional radiology and pathology, core biopsies will often suffice. However, with any biopsy, there is a relatively increased risk and discomfort to the patient due to the invasiveness of the procedure when compared to drawing a blood sample for use. In addition, sequential biopsies are at times necessary to confirm either response or progression but cannot occur routinely throughout treatment as a marker of response.

Cell-free DNA sampling has emerged as a potential tool for assessing treatment response in DLBCL (Kurtz et al. 2015, 2018). Indeed, any liquid biopsy may serve as a biomarker of therapy response, ideally more accurate than imaging, or as a diagnostic tool when the proposed biopsy carries increased risk. An example would be in primary central nervous system lymphoma (PCNSL) and the morbidity associated with a brain biopsy or even lumbar puncture. Lymphoma-derived EVs make an appealing biomarker for liquid biopsy. They are abundantly present in most body fluids, including not just blood but cerebral spinal fluid, urine, peritoneal fluid, amniotic fluid, and even breast milk (Ofori et al. 2021). Of particular interest and a way to obviate a brain biopsy is the presence of neural-derived EVs in saliva (Guedes et al. 2020). Data from traumatic brain injuries demonstrate that the blood-brain barrier does not prevent EVs originating from the CNS from entering the saliva, and potential exists for EVs as a diagnostic tool in CNS malignancies (Guedes et al. 2020; Ramirez et al. 2018; Cheng et al. 2019, 2020).

The use of EVs as the target in a liquid biopsy can also be helpful to discriminate between false-positive and false-negative results besides differentiating unclear diagnoses (Caivano et al. 2015). For example, HL-derived EVs express high levels of CD30 in contrast to CD20 and CD22 in the case of NHL. Tracking of CD20+ EVs also correlates well with the volume of B-cell lymphomas (Domnikova et al. 2013). In general, the actual number of circulating EVs has been correlated with disease progression in HL (Provencio et al. 2017).

An elegant study by the Spanish Lymphoma Oncology Group assessed mRNA for C-MYC, BCL-XL, BCL-6, NF- $\kappa\beta$, PTEN, and AKT in EVs from B-cell lymphomas (Provencio et al. 2017). The authors concluded that the presence of BCL-XL mRNA and its increased level in BCL-6 mRNA in EVs might serve as suitable measurement targets for response and surveillance.

Extracellular Vesicles' Function on Lymphomagenesis and Lymphoma Treatment Response

EVs can enhance, but primarily impair, the immune response to malignancy through multiple methods, including effects on both innate and adaptive immunity (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018; Théry et al. 2009). This has wide-ranging implications in disease progression and the efficacy of various therapies to target disease. EVs' inhibition of regulatory T-cells (T-regs) plays an essential role in the immune escape of lymphomas (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018). In doing so, T-regs decrease the efficacy of lymphoma-infiltrating T-cells and impair the immune response in HL (Marshall et al. 2004). In addition, EVs from EBV-positive lymphomas have been shown to incorporate into macrophages and induce an immune regulatory phenotype (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018). PD-L1-expressing EVs suppress T-cell response within the lymph nodes (Poggio et al. 2019). EVs can also alter the function of

natural killer (NK) cells in lymphoma (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018). NK cells express the natural killer group 2, member D (NKG2D) receptor that plays a role in recognizing stressed self-molecules, similar to PD-1 in the T-cells (Nausch and Cerwenka 2008). EVs increase the NKG2D ligand, thereby activating a more robust immune response (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018). In addition to supporting immune surveillance, EVs promote angiogenesis in lymphoma (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018). Lymphoma-associated EVs deliver vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and other angiogenic proteins within the lymphoma microenvironment (Yang et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2018). Regarding the treatment response, EVs also express CD20 and may "trap" antibodies relevant in therapy (i.e., rituximab) and thereby dampen the therapeutic effects (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018; Aung et al. 2011).

EVs' Effects on Lymphoma Patient Outcomes and Prognosis

EVs have been studied as prognostic markers in lymphoma. Expression of EVs affecting specific markers, including HSP-70, c-Myc, Bcl-2, Mcl-1, xIAP, and Bcl-xL, has been associated with impaired response to therapy in aggressive lymphomas (Chen et al. 2018). In a study by the Spanish Lymphoma Oncology Group, expression profiling of multiple mRNAs in EVs had prognostic implications. EVs with AKT mRNA demonstrated an inadequate rituximab response (Provencio et al. 2017). High death rates were also observed in the presence of BCL-6 mRNA. Additionally, C-MYC mRNA predicted a short duration of response in follicular lymphoma. Like other malignancies, lymphoma patients are at increased risk of thrombosis, and EVs have been postulated to drive this hypercoagulable state (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018; Litwińska et al. 2019). Systemically, EVs shed by the cancer cells are able to promote thrombus formation via the expression of tissue factor, which is a potent trigger of the coagulation cascade and thrombotic events. Moreover, various cancer and oncology treatments lead to the release and activation of platelet-derived EVs, further stimulating vascular remodeling and clot formation (Borgovan et al. 2019).

Role or Target in Therapy for Lymphoma

As EVs clearly promote lymphomagenesis and resistance to therapy, therapeutic interventions directed toward lymphoma-related EVs create a novel avenue of research. As additional B-cell-specific antibodies are being studied or as in the case of anti-CD19 tafasitamab that has been already approved, their combined use may neutralize lymphoma-derived EVs and allow better therapeutic efficacy (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018; Salles et al. 2020). Another approach is to block the release of EVs from lymphoma cells. As the generation and release of EVs are complex processes, targeting their formation and release by lymphoma cells presents

a challenge. Several imidazoles and other agents interfere in pathways associated with EVs biogenesis and release (Datta et al. 2018). Other promising agents can impair Ca2+-dependent release of EVs (Savina et al. 2003).

Additionally, EVs also provide a way to immunogenically prime and "educate" dendritic cells, which in turn could create T-cell expansion against various lymphoma epitopes and ultimately an anti-lymphoma response (Litwińska et al. 2019). Furthermore, dendritic cell-derived EVs-based methods have shown promise in mouse models when combined with multiple standard lymphoma therapies, such as cyclophosphamide (Taieb et al. 2006). Finally, dialysis-type approaches have been proposed to physically remove EVs, although no models have shown efficacy in malignancy so far (Navarro-Tableros et al. 2018).

Lymphoma-Specific EV Roles

Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma (DLBCL)

The most common NHL, DLBCL, has emerged as a truly heterogeneous disease. Gene expression profiling first defined major subgroups, germinal center B-cell (GCB), activated B-cell (ABC), and not-classifiable more than two decades ago (Alizadeh et al. 2000). Since that time, immunohistochemistry-based algorithms have attempted to capture these groups with more straightforward techniques to varied success, with the Hans algorithm being the most accepted algorithm type (Hans et al. 2004). Several groups have recently used molecular profiling to define several more distinct subgroups, each with their prognosis, and possibly distinct treatment vulnerabilities (Chapuy et al. 2018; Reddy et al. 2017; Schmitz et al. 2018). EVs may serve as an adjunct to this taxonomy or may even offer a new, improved method for delineating DLBCL-specific gene expression without the need for biopsy (or repeat biopsy) and provide insight into therapeutic selection. Feng and colleagues using cell samples derived from patients undergoing treatment for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma found a specific high-level miRNA expression profile in EVs of patients with the chemoresistant disease compared to those with the chemoresponsive disease. They showed a clear difference in progression-free survival when patients were stratified based on low or high expression of this specific miRNA marker in EVs (Feng et al. 2019). Zare et al. showed a similar analysis of miRNA, demonstrating a significant difference in EVs levels in patients with refractory or relapsed disease compared to those who responded to standard chemotherapy (Zare et al. 2019).

Virally Mediated Lymphomas

In addition to EBV, Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), human T-lymphotropic virus-1 (HTLV-1), and others have all been associated with lymphomagenesis through either directly induced transformation, chronic inflammation, or immunodeficiency and associated reduced surveillance (Xu and Wang 2017). In HTLV-1-positive cells, EVs contain the Tax protein, which is considered a main oncogenic protein that contributes to the development of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (Pinto et al. 2019). Much like mammalian cells and bacteria, these viruses can also secrete EVs containing selectively packaged viral mRNA and oncogenes within the lymphoma microenvironment (Xu and Wang 2017). It appears that EBV+ Burkitt's cells secrete pro-angiogenic EVs, unlike EBV- Burkitt's cells which do not secrete pro-angiogenic EVs (Xu and Wang 2017; Yoon et al. 2016). Overall, EVs play an essential and central role in virally mediated lymphomas.

Hodgkin's Lymphoma (HL)

HL is a lymphoma characterized by scattered malignant Reed-Sternberg cells in an inflammatory milieu. EVs constitute a key component of this unique microenvironment. It is generally observed that direct contact dependent cell-to-cell communication supports tumor growth within Hodgkin's lymph nodes. This current dogma is expanding as we begin to understand how EVs can provide a means of efficient noncontact dependent cell communication (Hansen et al. 2014). Surveillance in HL can be difficult, with positron emission tomography (PET) scans showing notably false positives during and after treatment. EVs-associated microRNAs in HL track well with treatment, response to treatment, and long-term follow-up. They can therefore serve as novel tumor biomarkers for response and surveillance. Pegtel et al. evaluated circulating EV-bound miRNAs in the plasma of HL patients, elucidating a significant decrease in various lymphoma-relevant miRNAs, which correlated well with the clinical metabolic response observed via PET. Of note, patients with progressive or relapsed disease had increasing levels of these circulating EV-bound miRNAs (Van Eijndhoven et al. 2017).

A better understanding of the role of EVs in lymphoma offers hopes of ultimately improving patient care and outcomes through several methods. First, when considered as a form of liquid biopsy, lymphoma EVs may obviate the need for difficult or repeat biopsies, help clarify an unclear diagnosis, track response to treatment, and survey for relapse/recurrence. They may both prognosticate and ultimately guide treatment decisions. Either targeting or using EVs may improve the efficacy of therapy. Finally, with a better understanding of EVs, fundamentals of lymphomagenesis may be better elucidated.

References

- Abak A, Abhari S, Rahimzadeh S (2018) Exosomes in cancer: small vesicular transporters for cancer progression and metastasis, biomarkers in cancer therapeutics. Peerj 6:4763
- Abedi M, Greer D, Demers D, Colvin G, Dooner M, Cerny J, Moore B et al (2003) Bone marrow cells participate in regeneration of skeletal muscle by transdifferentiation to muscle cells. Exp Hematol 31:134
- Aliotta JM, Keaney P, Passero M, Dooner MS, Pimentel J, Greer D, Quesenberry P et al (2006) Bone marrow production of lung cells: the impact of G-CSF, cardiotoxin, graded doses of irradiation, and subpopulation phenotype. Exp Hematol 34:230–241
- Aliotta JM, Sanchez-Guijo FM, Dooner GJ, Johnson KW, Dooner MS, Greer KA, Quesenberry P et al (2007) Alteration of marrow cell gene expression, protein production, and engraftment into

lung by lung-derived microvesicles: a novel mechanism for phenotype modulation. Stem Cells 25:2245–2256

- Aliotta JM, Lee D, Puente N, Faradyan S, Sears EH, Amaral A, Quesenberry P et al (2012) Progenitor/stem cell fate determination: interactive dynamics of cell cycle and microvesicles. Stem Cells Dev 21:1627–1638
- Aliotta JM, Pereira M, Sears EH, Dooner MS, Wen S, Goldberg LR, Quesenberry P et al (2015) Lung-derived exosome uptake into and epigenetic modulation of marrow progenitor/stem and differentiated cells. J Extracellular Vesicles 4:26166
- Alizadeh AA, Eisen MB, Davis RE, Ma C, Lossos IS, Rosenwald A, Boldrick JC et al (2000) Distinct types of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identified by gene expression profiling. Nature 403(6769):503–511
- Aung T, Chapuy B, Vogel D, Wenzel D, Oppermann M, Lahmann M, Weinhage T et al (2011) Exosomal evasion of humoral immunotherapy in aggressive B-cell lymphoma modulated by ATP-binding cassette transporter A3. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108(37):15336–15341
- Badiavas EV, Abedi M, Butmarc J, Falanga V, Quesenberry PJ (2003) Participation of bone marrow derived cells in cutaneous wound healing. J Cell Physiol 196:245–250
- Bebawy M, Combes V, Lee E, Jaiswal R, Gong J, Bonhoure A, Grau GE (2009) Membrane microparticles mediate transfer of P-glycoprotein to drug sensitive cancer cells. Leukemia 23(9):1643–1649
- Bobrie S, Krumeich A, Reyal F, Recchi C, Moita LF, Seabra MC, Ostrowski M et al (2012) Rab27a supports exosome-dependent and independent mechanisms that modify the tumor microenvironment and can promote tumor progression. Cancer Res 72:4920
- Borgovan T, Crawford L, Nwizu C, Quesenberry P (2019) Stem cells and extracellular vesicles: biological regulators of physiology and disease. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 317(2):C155–C166
- Bouvy C, Wannez A, Laloy J, Chatelain C, Dogné JM (2017) Transfer of multidrug resistance among acute myeloid leukemia cells via extracellular vesicles and their microRNA cargo. Leuk Res 62:70–76
- Bruno S, Collino F, Deregibus MC, Grange C, Tetta C, Camussi G (2013) Microvesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells inhibit tumor growth. Stem Cell Dev 22:758–771
- Caivano A, Laurenzana I, De Luca L, La Rocca F, Simeon V, Trino S, D'Auria F et al (2015) High serum levels of extracellular vesicles expressing malignancy-related markers are released in patients with various types of hematological neoplastic disorders. Tumour Biol 12:9739–9752
- Chapuy B, Stewart C, Dunford AJ, Kim J, Kamburov A, Redd RA, Lawrence MS et al (2018) Molecular subtypes of diffuse large B cell lymphoma are associated with distinct pathogenic mechanisms and outcomes. Nat Med 24(5):679–690
- Chen Z, You L, Wang L, Hunag X, Wei J, Wenbin Q, Zhu L et al (2018) Dual effect of DLBCLderived EXOs in lymphoma to improve DC vaccine efficacy in vitro while favor tumorgenesis in vivo. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 37(1):190
- Cheng Y, Pereira M, Raukar N, Borgovan T, Quesenberry P (2019) Potential biomarkers to detect traumatic brain injury by the profiling of salivary extracellular vesicles. J Cell Physiol 234(8): 14377–14388
- Cheng Y, Pereira M, Raukar N, Reagan JL, Queseneberry M, Goldberg L, Borgovan T et al (2020) Inflammation-related gene expression profiles of salivary extracellular vesicles in patients with head trauma. Neural Regen Res 15(4):676–681
- Colvin GA, Dooner MS, Dooner GJ, Sanchez-Guijo FM, Demers DA, Abedi M, Ramanathan M et al (2007) Stem cell continuum: directed differentiation hotspots. Exp Hematol 35:96–107
- Colvin GA, Berz D, Liu L, Dooner MS, Dooner G, Pascual S, Chung S et al (2010) Heterogeneity of non-cycling and cycling synchronized murine hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. J Cell Physiol 222(1):57–65
- Corinna E, Isabel S, Volkmar M, Karin ML, Harriet W, Klaus P, Heidi S (2014) Increased serum levels of circulating exosomal microRNA-373 in receptor-negative breast cancer patients. Oncotarget 5:9650–9663

- Corrado C, Raimondo S, Saieva L, Flugy AM, De Leo G, Alessandro R (2014) Exosome-mediated crosstalk between chronic myelogenous leukemia cells and human bone marrow stromal cells triggers an interleukin 8-dependent survival of leukemia cells. Cancer Lett 348(1–2):71–76
- Datta A, Kim H, McGee L, Hogyoung K, Johnson A, Marugan J, Southall N et al (2018) Highthroughput screening identified selective inhibitors of exosome biogenesis and secretion: a drug repurposing strategy for advanced cancer. Sci Rep 8(1):8161
- De Toro J, Herschlik L, Waldner C, Mongini C (2015) Emerging roles of exosomes in normal and pathological conditions: new insights for diagnosis and therapeutic applications. Front Immunol 6:203
- Desantis C, Ma J, Bryan L, Jemal A (2014) Breast cancer statistics, 2013. Cancer J Clin 64(2014): 52–62
- Di MM, Regondi V, Sandri M, Lorio MV, Zanetti A, Tagliabue E, Casalini P (2017) Breast cancersecreted miR-939 downregulates VE-cadherin and destroys the barrier function of endothelial monolayers. Cancer Lett 384:94–100
- Domnikova NP, Dolgikh TY, Sholenberg EV, Vorontsova EV, Goreva OB, Mel'nikova EV, Gorbachnenkvo A et al (2013) Blood microvesicles during chronic lymphoproliferative diseases. Bull Exp Biol Med 156(1):94–97
- Dörsam B, Bösl T, Reiners KS, Barnert S, Schubert R, Shatnyeva O, Zigrino P et al (2018) Hodgkin lymphoma-derived extracellular vesicles change the Secretome of fibroblasts toward a CAF phenotype. Front Immunol 9:1358
- Duarte D, Hawkins ED, Lo Celso C (2018) The interplay of leukemia cells and the bone marrow microenvironment. Blood 24:822–888
- Escudier B, Dorval T, Chaput N, André F, Caby MP, Novault C, Flament C et al (2005) Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous dendritic cell (DC) derived-exosomes: results of the first phase I clinical trial. J Transl Med 3:10
- Feng Y, Zhong M, Zeng S, Wang L, Liu P, Xiao X, Liu Y (2019) Exosome-derived miRNAs as predictive biomarkers for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma chemotherapy resistance. Epigenomics 11(1):35–51
- Goldberg LR, Dooner MS, Johnson KW, Papa EF, Pereira MG, Del Tatto M, Adler DM et al (2014) The murine long-term multi-lineage renewal marrow stem cell is a cycling cell. Leukemia 28(4): 813–822
- Guedes VA, Devoto C, Leete J, Sass D, Acott J, Mithani S, Gill J (2020) Extracellular vesicle proteins and MicroRNAs as biomarkers for traumatic brain injury. Front Neurol 11:663–663
- Hans CP, Weisenburger DD, Greiner TC, Gascoyne RD, Delabie J, Ott G, Müller-Hermelink HK et al (2004) Confirmation of the molecular classification of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma by immunohistochemistry using a tissue microarray. Blood 103(1):275–282
- Hansen HP, Engels HM, Dams M, Paes Leme AF, Pauletti BA, Simhadri VL, Dürkop H et al (2014) Protrusion-guided extracellular vesicles mediate CD30 trans-signalling in the microenvironment of Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Pathol 232(4):405–414
- Hervieu C, Christou N, Battu S, Mathonnet M (2021) The role of cancer stem cells in colorectal cancer: from the basics to novel clinical trials. Cancers 13(5):1092
- Hong CS, Muller L, Whiteside TL, Boyiadzis M (2014) Plasma exosomes as markers of therapeutic response in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Front Immunol 5:160
- Huan J, Hornick NI, Shurtleff MJ, Skinner AM, Goloviznina NA, Roberts CT Jr, Kurre P (2013) RNA trafficking by acute myelogenous leukemia exosomes. Cancer Res 73(2):918–929
- Jing L, Yujing Z, Yuchen L, Xin D, Wenyang L, Xing C, Yuan Y et al (2013) Microvesicle-mediated transfer of microRNA-150 from monocytes to endothelial cells promotes angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 288:23586–23596
- Kalluri R (2016) The biology and function of exosomes in cancer. J Clin Investig 126:1208
- Kassmer SH, Jin H, Zhang PX, Bruscia EM, Heydari K, Lee JH, Kim CF et al (2013) Very small embryonic-like stem cells from the murine bone marrow differentiate into epithelial cells of the lung. Stem Cells 31(12):2759–2766

- Keklikoglou C, Cianciaruso E, Guc ML, Squadrito LM, Spring S, Tazzyman L, Lambein A et al (2019) Chemotherapy elicits pro-metastatic extracellular vesicles in breast cancer models. Nat Cell Biol 21:190–202
- Kim SY, Kang JW, Song X, Kim BK, Yoo YD, Kwon YT, Lee YJ (2013) Role of the IL-6-JAK1-STAT3-Oct-4 pathway in the conversion of non-stem cancer cells into cancer stem-like cells. Cell Signal 25:961–969
- Kong JN, He Q, Wang G, Dasgupta S, Dinkins MB, Zhu G, Kim A et al (2015) Guggulsterone and bexarotene induce secretion of exosome associated breast cancer resistance protein and reduce doxorubicin resistance in MDA-MB-231 cells. Int J Cancer 137:1610–1620
- Krause DS, Theise ND, Collector MI, Henegariu O, Hwang S, Gardner R, Sharkis SJ (2001) Multiorgan, multi-lineage engraftment by a single bone marrow-derived stem cell. Cell 105:369–377
- Kumar B, Garcia M, Weng L, Jung X, Murakami JL, Hu X, McDonald T et al (2018) Acute myeloid leukemia transforms the bone marrow niche into a leukemia-permissive microenvironment through exosome secretion. Leukemia 32(3):575–587
- Kurtz DM, Green MR, Bratman SV, Scherner F, Liu C, Kunder A, Takanashi K et al (2015) Noninvasive monitoring of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma by immunoglobulin high-throughput sequencing. Blood 125(24):3679–3687
- Kurtz DM, Scherer F, Jin MC, Soo J, Craig AFM, Esfahani MS, Chabon JJ et al (2018) Circulating tumor DNA measurements as early outcome predictors in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2018:2078–5246
- Lagasse E, Connors H, Al-Dhalimy M, Reitsma M, Dohse M, Osborne L, Wang X et al (2000) Purified hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into hepatocytes in vivo. Nat Med 6:1229
- Litwińska Z, Łuczkowska K, Machaliński B (2019) Extracellular vesicles in hematological malignancies. Leuk Lymphoma 60(1):29–36
- Lowry MC, Gallagher WV, Lorraine OD (2015) The role of exosomes in breast cancer. Clin Chem 61:1457–1465
- Mani SA, Guo W, Liao MJ, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, Brooks M et al (2008) The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. Cell 133: 704–715
- Margolin DA, Myers T, Zhang X, Bertoni DM, Reuter BA, Obokhare I, Borgovan T et al (2015) The critical roles of tumor-initiating cells and the lymph node stromal microenvironment in human colorectal cancer extranodal metastasis using a unique humanized orthotopic mouse model. FASEB J 2015:3571–3581
- Marleau AM, Chen CS, Joyce JA (2012) Exosome removal as a therapeutic adjuvant in cancer. J Transl Med 10:134
- Marshall NA, Christie LE, Munro LR, Culligan DJ, Johnston PW, Barker RN, Vickers MA (2004) Immunosuppressive regulatory T cells are abundant in the reactive lymphocytes of Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 103(5):1755–1762
- Morse MA, Garst J, Osada T, Khan S, Hobeika A, Clay TM, Valente N et al (2005) A phase I study of dexosome immunotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. J Transl Med 3:9

Nausch N, Cerwenka A (2008) NKG2D ligands in tumor immunity. Oncogene 27(45):5944-5958

- Navarro-Tableros V, Gomez Y, Camussi G, Brizzi MF (2018) Extracellular vesicles: new players in lymphomas. Int J Mol Sci 20:1
- Nilsson SK, Dooner MS, Weier HU, Frenkel B, Lian JB, Stein GS, Quesenberry PJ (1999) Cells capable of bone production engraft from whole bone marrow transplants in nonablated mice. J Exp Med 189:729–734
- Ofori K, Bhagat G, Rai AJ (2021) Exosomes and extracellular vesicles as liquid biopsy biomarkers in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: current state of the art and unmet clinical needs. Br J Clin Pharmacol 87(2):284–294
- Ono M, Kosaka N, Tominaga N, Yoshioka Y, Takeshita F, Takahashi RU, Yoshida M et al (2014) Exosomes from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells contain a microRNA that promotes dormancy in metastatic breast cancer cells. Sci Signal 7:ra63

- Peinado H, Alečković M, Lavotshkin S, Matei I, Costa-Silva B, Moreno-Bueno G, Hergueta-Redondo M et al (2012) Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. Nat Med 18(6):883–891
- Pinto DO, DeMarino C, Pleet ML, Cowen M, Branscome H, Al Sharif S, Jones J et al (2019) HTLV-1 extracellular vesicles promote cell-to-cell contact. Front Microbiol 10:2147
- Poggio M, Hu T, Pai CC, Chu B, Belair CD, Chang A, Montabana E et al (2019) Suppression of Exosomal PD-L1 induces systemic anti-tumor immunity and memory. Cell 177(2):414–427
- Provencio M, Rodríguez M, Cantos B, Sabín P, Quero C, García-Arroyo FR, Rueda A et al (2017) mRNA in exosomas as a liquid biopsy in non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a multicentric study by the Spanish lymphoma oncology group. Oncotarget 8(31):50949–50957
- Ramirez SH, Andrews AM, Paul D, Pachter JS (2018) Extracellular vesicles: mediators and biomarkers of pathology along CNS barriers. Fluids Barriers CNS 15(1):19–19
- Ratajczak J, Miekus K, Kucia M, Zhang J, Reca R, Dvorak P (2006) Embryonic stem cell-derived microvesicles reprogram hematopoietic progenitors: evidence for horizontal transfer of mRNA and protein delivery. Leukemia 20:847–856
- Reddy A, Zhang J, Davis NS (2017) Genetic and functional drivers of diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Cell 171(2):481–494
- Salles G, Duell J, González Barca E, Tournilhac O, Jurczak W, Liberati AM, Nagy Z et al (2020) Tafasitamab plus lenalidomide in relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (L-MIND): a multicentre, prospective, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 21(7): 978–988
- Sansone P, Berishaj M, Rajasekhar VK, Ceccarelli C, Chang Q, Strillacci A, Savini C et al (2017) Evolution of cancer stem-like cells in endocrine-resistant metastatic breast cancers is mediated by stromal microvesicles. Cancer Res 77:1927–1941
- Saraswat M, Joenväära S, Musante L, Peltoniemi H, Holthofer H, Renkonen R (2015) N-linked (N-) glycoproteomics of urinary exosomes. Mol Cell Proteomics 2298–2298
- Savina A, Furlán M, Vidal M, Colombo MI (2003) Exosome release is regulated by a calciumdependent mechanism in K562 cells. J Biol Chem 278(22):20083–20090
- Schmitz R, Wright GW, Huang DW, Johnson CA, Phelan JD, Wang JQ, Roulland S et al (2018) Genetics and pathogenesis of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med 378(15):1396–1407
- Shin-Ichiro O, Masakatsu T, Katsuko S, Shinobu U, Akio I, Nagahisa M, Koji F et al (2013) Systemically injected exosomes targeted to EGFR deliver antitumor microRNA to breast cancer cells. Mol Ther 21:185–191
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A (2021) Cancer statistics. Cancer J Clin 71(1):7-33
- Su C, Zhang J, Yarden Y, Fu L (2021) The key roles of cancer stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles. Sig Transduct Target Ther 109:2021
- Taieb J, Chaput N, Schartz N, Roux S, Novault S, Ménard C, Ghiringhelli F et al (2006) Chemoimmunotherapy of tumors: cyclophosphamide synergizes with exosome based vaccines. J Immunol 176(5):2722–2729
- Theise ND, Badve S, Saxena R, Henegariu O, Sell S, Crawford JM, Krause DS (2000) Derivation of hepatocytes from bone marrow cells in mice after radiation-induced myeloablation. Hepatology 31:235
- Théry C, Zitvogel L, Amigorena S (2002) Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. Nat Rev Immunol 2:569–579
- Théry C, Ostrowski M, Segura E (2009) Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 9(8):581–593
- Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, Rajendran L, Wenzel D, Wieland F, Schwille P et al (2008) Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. Science 319(5867):1244–1247
- Valadi H, Ekstrom K, Bossios A, Sjostrand M, Lee JJ, Lotvall JO (2007) Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nat Cell Biol 9:654–659

- Van Eijndhoven MA, Zijlstra JM, Groenewegen NJ, Drees EE, van Niele S, Baglio SR, Koppers-Lalic D et al (2017) Plasma vesicle miRNAs for therapy response monitoring in Hodgkin lymphoma patients. JCI Insight 1(19)
- Van Niel G, D'Angelo G, Raposo G (2018) Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19:2022–2025
- Wang HX, Gires O (2019) Tumor-derived extracellular vesicles in breast cancer: from bench to bedside. Cancer Lett 460:54–56
- Wang J, Guo LP, Chen LZ, Zeng YX, Lu SH (2007) Identification of cancer stem cell-like side population cells in human nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line. Cancer Res 67:3716–3724
- Wang T, Ning K, Lu TX, Sun X, Jin L, Qi X, Jin J (2017) Increasing circulating exosomes-carrying TRPC5 predicts chemoresistance in metastatic breast cancer patients. Cancer Sci 108:448
- Wen S, Dooner M, Cheng Y, Papa E, Del Tatto M, Pereira M, Quesenberry P et al (2016) Mesenchymal stromal cell derived extracellular vesicles rescue radiation damage to murine marrow hematopoietic cells. Leukemia 30(11):2221–2231
- Wen S, Quesenberry P, Camussi G (2017) Renal regenerative potential of different extracellular vesicle populations derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. Tissue Eng Part A 223(21–22):1262–1273
- Xu B, Wang T (2017) Intimate cross-talk between cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment of B-cell lymphomas: the key role of exosomes. Tumor Biol 39(6)
- Yang J, Li W, He X, Zhang G, Yue L, Chai Y (2015) VEGF overexpression is a valuable prognostic factor for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma evidence from a systemic meta-analysis. Dis Markers 2015:786790
- Yao Y, Wei W (2015) Proteomic analysis of exosomes derived from human lymphoma cells. Eur J Med Res 20(1):8
- Yoon C, Kim J, Park G, Sun J, Park G, Kim S, Kim D et al (2016) Delivery of miR-155 to retinal pigment epithelial cells mediated by Burkitt's lymphoma exosomes. Tumour Biol 37(1): 313–321
- Yu JL, May L, Lhotak V, Shahrzad S, Shirasawa S, Weitz JI, Coomber BL et al (2005) Oncogenic events regulate tissue factor expression in colorectal cancer cells: implications for tumor progression and angiogenesis. Blood 105(4):1734–1741
- Yu S, Liu C, Su K, Wang J, Liu Y, Zhang L, Li C et al (2007) Tumor exosomes inhibit differentiation of bone marrow dendritic cells. J Immunol 178:6867–6875
- Zare N, Haghjooy Javanmard S, Mehrzad V, Eskandari N, Kefayat A (2019) Evaluation of exosomal miR-155, let-7g and let-7i levels as a potential noninvasive biomarker among refractory/relapsed patients, responsive patients and patients receiving R-CHOP. Leuk Lymphoma 60(8):1877–1889
- Zhang J, Zhang HD, Yao YF, Zhong SL, Zhao SH, Tang TH (2015) Beta-elemene reverses chemoresistance of breast cancer cells by reducing resistance transmission via exosomes. Cell Physiol Biochem Int J Exp Cell Phys 36:2274–2286

Check for updates

Toll-Like Receptor 3



A Multifunctional Regulator of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mohamed Mekhemar, Johannes Tölle, Christof Dörfer, and Karim M. Fawzy El-Sayed

Contents

Introduction	1281
Mesenchymal Stem Cells	1282
Toll-Like Receptor 3 and Its Activation Pathways	1283
TLR3 Priming and MSC Immunomodulation	1288
TLR3 Priming and MSC Differentiation	1290
TLR3 Priming and MSCs' Migration and Proliferation	1291
TLR3-Mediated Apoptosis and Survival of MSCs	1292
Micro-RNAs as Modulators of TLR3-Mediated Response in MSCs	1292
Conclusion	1293
References	1294

Abstract

Mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells (MSCs) are prospective cellular candidates for numerous regenerative and immunotherapeutic purposes. Their immunomodulatory potential and multilineage abilities allow them to be deployed for the treatment of various conditions. Nevertheless, depending on the local microenvironment, different biological tasks of MSCs can be adjusted. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) represent

M. Mekhemar · J. Tölle · C. Dörfer

K. M. Fawzy El-Sayed (🖂)

Oral Medicine and Periodontology Department, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian Albrechts University, Kiel, Germany

Mohamed Mekhemar and Johannes Tölle contributed equally with all other contributors.

Clinic for Conservative Dentistry and Periodontology, School of Dental Medicine, Christian-Albrecht's University, Kiel, Germany

Stem Cells and Tissue Engineering Research Group, Faculty of Dentistry, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

important bridges regulating the cross talk between MSCs and their microenvironment affecting diverse biological features of the cells. Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3), a member of TLR family, recognizes double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) produced by DNA viruses and positive-strand RNA viruses. Its expression has been displayed by MSCs of various sources. Upon ligand identification inside the endosomes, TLR3 oligomerizes and recruits the Toll-interleukin-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor molecule-1 (TICAM-1), which triggers the production of NF- κ B, β -catenin, IRF3, and AP-1, leading to the secretion of interferons and other immunomodulatory cytokines and results in pathogen clearance, as well as the recruitment of adaptive immune responses. It may also be involved in the cell-fate determination and cell cycle regulation in different developmental stages of the MSCs. Moreover, it has been shown to improve the therapeutic potential of MSCs by the promotion of multifunctional trophic factors. Priming of MSCs' TLR3 within potential treatment procedures may serve as an additional step enhancing the required biological functions of the cells in different stages of the disease.

Keywords

Stem cells \cdot Toll-like receptor 3 \cdot Stemness \cdot Inflammation \cdot Immunomodulation \cdot Differentiation

AD	Adipose tissue
AKT	Protein kinase B
AP-1	Activator protein 1
AT-MSCs	Adipose tissue mesenchymal stem cells
BM-MSCs	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells
C/EPB	Ccaat/Enhancer-binding protein
CFUS	Colony forming units
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
DF-MSCs	Dental follicle mesenchymal stem cells
DP-MSCs	Dental pulp mesenchymal stem cells
DSRNA	Double-stranded ribonucleic acid
G-MSCs	Gingival mesenchymal stem cells
GSK3B	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 B
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HO	Hemoxygenase
IDO	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase
IKK	Ikb kinase
INF1	Interferone type 1
IRAK1	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1
IRF3/7	Interferon regulatory factor 3/7
IKB	Nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in
	B cells inhibitor
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides

List of Abbreviations

MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MIF	Macrophage migration inhibitory factor
MIRNA	Micro-RNA
MKK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
MTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin
MYD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response 88
NF-KB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cell
NK-CELLS	Natural killer cells
NM-MSCs	Nasal mucosa MSCs
NO	Nitric oxide
P38	P38 mitogen-activated protein kinases
PAMPS	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PD-L1	Programmed death ligand-1
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PIP2	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
PMN	Neutrophils
POLY(I:C) HMW	High molecular weight polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
РТ	Placental tissue
RIP1	Receptor-interacting serine/Threonine-protein kinase 1
SCAP	Stem cells from the apical papilla
S-SCR	Cellular sarcoma molecule
SSRNA	Single-stranded RNA
TAB1/2	Tgf-beta-activated kinase 1/2
TAK1	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 7
TBK1	Tank-binding kinase 1
TH1	Cd4+ T helper 1
TIR	Toll-interleukin receptor domain
TLR	Toll-like receptor
T-MSCS	Mesenchymal stromal cells from human tonsils
TRAF	Tnf-receptor-associated factor
TRIF	Tir-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-B
UCB	Umbilical cord blood
UCB-MSCS	Umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells
WJ	Wharton jelly

Introduction

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are promising contenders for many practices on the grounds of regeneration and immunotherapy (Han et al. 2019; Almeida-Porada et al. 2020). Their multilineage differentiation ability and immune regulatory aspects permit their potential uses to manage various pathologies and medical conditions (Han et al. 2019; Almeida-Porada et al. 2020). Nevertheless, the local microenvironment and inflammatory condition can modulate diverse immuneregenerative structures and characteristics of the cells (Han et al. 2019; Almeida-Porada et al. 2020; Li et al. 2019). Certainly, during their clinical application, MSCs may show interactive responses to their milieu through their expressed Toll-like receptors (TLRs). Hence, a comprehension of these TLR-mediated responses of MSCs and their effect on the cells' immunobiology, potential MSC-based therapies can be better controlled and optimized (Abdi et al. 2018; Najar et al. 2017).

TLRs link the acquired and innate divisions of the immune response, detecting pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), in addition to the damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). In recent years, ten functional extracellular and intracellular TLRs have been characterized for their functional contribution and regulatory involvement in different cellular processes (Henrick et al. 2019). As identifiers of diverse pathogens, they play a significant role in the progress and healing of inflammatory and infectious conditions (Farrugia and Baron 2017; El-Zayat et al. 2019). TLR3 as a member of the TLR family has the ability to identify DNA viruses' double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) and positive-strand RNA viruses, initiating the acquired immune response and pathogen clearance (Chen et al. 2018; Mekhemar et al. 2018a). MSCs of miscellaneous origins have been shown to express TLR3 in definite patterns (Mekhemar et al. 2018a). Upon activation, TLR3 can control MSCs' various functions including proliferation, immunomodulatory responses, and cell-fate determination (Mekhemar et al. 2020). Recent inquiries have shown that activation of TLR3 by Poly (I: C), a highly specific TLR3 ligand, augmented the immunosuppressive response of gingival mesenchymal stem cells (G-MSCs) (Mekhemar et al. 2018a) and human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UCB-MSCs) (Zhao et al. 2014). These effects were mediated via downstream microRNA-143 inhibition. However, TLR3 activation also enhanced the production of different trophic factors of MSCs (Mastri et al. 2012), promoting stemness and differentiation-associated factors and modulating the cell-fate determination in several types of stem cells (Mekhemar et al. 2020). These effects are mediated by β -catenin and NF- κ B co-activation as well as the regulation of Ca²⁺ signaling (Park et al. 2016; Jia et al. 2015; Yeh et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2014; Katoh and Katoh 2007) in a PI3K-AKT pathway controlled response (Zhu et al. 2019; Joung et al. 2011; Baker et al. 2015).

Priming of MSCs' TLR3 as the primary key of regulation within therapeutic procedures may enhance the required biological functions of the cells in diverse phases of the disease and optimize the understanding of MSC immunobiology.

Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Human mesenchymal stem cells were first described as the plastic-adherent, nonhematopoietic cells, isolated from the bone marrow and able to self-renew and undergo multilineage differentiation in vitro (Friedenstein et al. 1970; Bianco and Robey 2001; Pittenger et al. 1999; Chamberlain et al. 2007). In their undifferentiated state, these cells can arise from diverse sources within the adult human body (Berebichez-Fridman and Montero-Olvera 2018). While bone marrow is recognized as the primary niche of adult mesenchymal stem cells (Mekhemar et al. 2018b), numerous researchers have tried to find other stem cell sources to achieve large amounts of MSCs with fewer morbidity and risks for the donors. These include placental tissue (PT), umbilical cord blood (UCB), adipose tissue (AD), and Wharton jelly (WJ), which have been defined as dependable niches of MSCs (Wu et al. 2018; Shree et al. 2019; Marino et al. 2019). MSCs can be similarly isolated from oral tissues as alveolar bone proper (Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2017), gingiva (Mekhemar et al. 2020), periodontal ligament (Banavar et al. 2020), the dental follicle (Hong et al. 2020), and dental pulp (Noda et al. 2019). Despite the phenotypic similarity of MSCs isolated from different tissues, actions and biologic functions have shown differences, accenting the uniqueness of MSCs isolated from each niche (Mekhemar et al. 2020).

MSCs self-renewal describes the process that enables MSCs to increase their number during development. This ability is vital for MSCs to promote their growth inside the tissues and presents a significant contribution in stem-cell-based treatments either alone or in combination with other cell types (He et al. 2009; Haider 2018; Hosseini et al. 2018). This property exhibited its reliance on the cells' span of life, mostly limited to 44 weeks or 55 population doublings in vitro (Mekhemar et al. 2018b). Multilineage ability or multipotency of MSCs labels the potential of the cells to differentiate into other mesodermal cell lineages, including chondrocytes, osteocytes, and adipocytes.

However, they can congruently differentiate to form cells of different embryonic lineages (Uccelli et al. 2008). Recently, MSC identification and "stemness" verification have been a challenging topic in many investigations (Pittenger et al. 2019). In 2006 MSCs' plastic adherence upheld under basic culture conditions was demarcated (Dominici et al. 2006). Furthermore, the multilineage differentiation potential of the cells after stimulation by specialized media was explained by multiple studies (Mekhemar et al. 2018b). Another extensively described method for MSCs identification is the investigation of specific surface marker expression by the cells. Markers as CD29, CD44, CD71, CD73, CD90, CD105, CD106, CD120, CD124, CD 146, CD166, CD 271, Stro-1, and SSEA-4 display positive expressions, whereas CD86, CD11, CD80, CD14, CD18, CD31, CD34, CD40, CD45, and CD56 are faintly expressed or completely missing (Lv et al. 2014). Specific cellular colonies shaped by MSCs' culture after isolation were described in further investigations as colony forming units (CFUs), and reported likewise as a method of MSCs' recognition (Mekhemar et al. 2020).

Toll-Like Receptor 3 and Its Activation Pathways

Pattern recognition receptors (PRR) carrying cells are called "sensor cells." The TLRs' expression allows them to recognize various pathogen-associated antigens (Gong et al. 2019). TLRs are single-pass α -helical transmembrane proteins

(Choe et al. 2005). Dimerization strengthens antigen binding and induces signal transduction (Wang et al. 2010). Dimers can either consist of two identical monomers (homodimers, i.e., TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9) or two discrete monomers (heterodimers, i.e., TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, and TLR10) (Janssens and Beyaert 2003).

TLRs can be categorized based on two different features, including their localization in the cells (Kawai and Akira 2007b) and connection with intracellular signaling (Takeda and Akira 2004). Concerning localization, TLRs are mainly divided into intracellular or extracellular types. TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, and TLR 10 are preferentially expressed on the cells surface membrane whereas TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 are mainly carried by intracellular endosomes (Fawzy-El-Saved et al. 2016). Interestingly, some TLRs, such asTLR3 and TLR4, have the ability to switch their location (Bugge et al. 2017). It is believed that surface membrane expression is accompanied by fastened signal induction. Extracellular TLRs are sensitive to bacterial components like lipopolysaccharides (TLR4), peptidoglycans (TLR1, TLR2, and TLR6) and flagellin (TLR5). TLR10 ligand has not vet been identified, but its heterodimerization with TLR1 and TLR2 implies bacterial substrate, as well (Nagashima et al. 2015). Moreover, endosomal TLRs are nucleic acid sensing in nature and make up a defense against viral attacks. They are sensitive to dsRNA (TLR3), ssRNA (TLR7 and TLR8), and viral DNA (TLR9) (Mivake et al. 2018).

On the other hand, TLRs can be classified based on their adaptor proteins interfacing receptor activation and intracellular signal transduction. Generally, there are two different adaptor proteins: myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88) and TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF). TLR1, TLR2, TLR6, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR10 are only capable of activating MyD88. On the contrary, TLR10 differs from its counterparts as TLR10 does not maintain the adaptor binding determinant. TLR4, TLR5, and TLR9 can use TRIF and MyD88-mediated signaling (Takeda and Akira 2004). TLR3 is the only receptor addressing TRIF standing alone among the other TLRs (Lundberg et al. 2013).

TLR 3 is the first discovered antiviral TLR, which senses viral double-stranded RNA (dsRNA). Alexopoulou et al. (2001) described the induction of transcription factor NF- κ B in response to TLR 3 stimulation. They also observed increased production of interferon type 1 (INF1) and various pro-inflammatory cytokines (Alexopoulou et al. 2001). This reaction is now considered one of the crucial and integral part of the antiviral defense and innate immune response activation (Kawai and Akira 2007a).

Consequently, TLR3 is expressed by sensor cells, such as dendritic cells, monocytes, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and neurons, thus ensuring fast detection of viral invasion (Kawai and Akira 2007a). Apart from that, El-Sayed et al. discovered TLR3 expression in mesenchymal stem cells like G-MSC (Fawzy-El-Sayed et al. 2016), dental pulp stem cells (DP-MSC) (Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2016), and apical papilla stem cells (SCAP) (Fehrmann et al. 2020). This link between pathogen recognition and tissue regeneration has been proven by Mekhemar et al. (2020). They have reported a distinct connection between stem cell characteristics and their functionality, and TLR3 ligation.

Primarily, TLR3 has an intracellular location in the endosomes, but some cells, such as dendritic cells and monocytes, have cell membrane surface expression of TLR3 as well. Such altered TLR 3 location renders the cells far higher sensitive for extracellular pathogen recognition and hence provides a potential target for pharma-cological immune activation (Murakami et al. 2014).

TLR3 is a single-pass α -helical transmembrane protein segmented into three parts: an extracellular/intraendosomal ectodomain, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular adaperdomain, and mediates intracellular signal transduction via Toll-interleukin receptor domain (TIR) (Akira et al. 2006). The ectodomain is shaped like a horseshoe containing 23 leucine-rich sequences. Unlike the outer side, the inner side is glycosylated, thus allowing ligand binding on the outer side. After dsRNA binding, one TLR3 monomer forms a fragile complex while a second TLR3 monomer strengthens this connection, thus resulting in the formation of a dsRNA-TLR3 dimer complex (Choe et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2010).

The exact mechanism of intracellular signal transduction remains less well understood. However, changes in TLR3 ectodomain structure during antigen binding or convergence of intracellular domains in dimerization have been extensively studied and discussed in the published literature (Liu et al. 2008; Gosu et al. 2019). TLR3 is the only TLR in which signaling occurs independent of My88 involvement, and it only involves TRIF (TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β).

In trials under TRIF inhibited conditions, Yamashita et al. (2012b) recognized the effects of TLR3 stimulation via dsRNA. This discovery was ascribed to the cellular sarcoma molecule (s-Scr). Apparently, short-time TLR3 activation resulted in c-Scr phosphorylation and induction. On the contrary, longtime receptor stimulation caused c-Scr sequestration and inactivation. Although the exact pathway has not been fully revealed in MSCs, the effect of TLR3 stimulation appears multidirectional (Yamashita et al. 2012b; Mekhemar et al. 2020). Generally, the biphasic effect of TLR3 ligation has been proven in studies on G-MSCs (Mekhemar et al. 2020).

TRIF acts as a checkpoint in TLR3 activation and regulation. TRIF is regulated via K27-linked polyubiquitination via RING E3 ubiquitin ligase complex Cullin-3-Rbx1-KCTD10 complex. Deficiencies result in an obstruction in TRIF-TLR binding and TLR downstream signaling (Wu et al. 2019). TRIF works as a point of origin for four different pathways, finally affecting the transcription factor activation and gene transcription: β -catenin, IRF3/IRF7, NF κ B, and AP-1 (Jiang et al. 2004). The distinct transcription factor activation profile depends on various cumulative factors influenced by numerous individually interacting pathways.

As the most critical pathway in MSCs' pluripotency and tumor development, β -catenin activation is influenced by two significant cascades: PI3K/Akt- and Wnt-Pathway. PI3K is induced via TRIF activation that converts the catalytic domain PIP₂ into the activated PIP₃ form. Binding with the PKB/Akt complex enables Akt phosphorylation and activation (Hemmings and Restuccia 2012). Akt as a kinase is now able to convert cytosolic β -catenin to its active form (Gantner et al. 2012). Akt activation undergoes inhibition via GSK3 β but decreases Akt activity in a positive feedback loop. This suppresses GSK3-mediated apoptosis and induces β -catenin-mediated proliferation (Endo et al. 2006). Additionally, Wnt pathway regulates total β -catenin accumulation as well as its nuclear translocation. During Wnt inactivation, β -catenin undergoes inactivation and proteasomal degradation (Fang et al. 2007; Matsumoto et al. 2018; Gantner et al. 2012; Gerlach et al. 2014).

IRF3 and IRF7 are activated via TRIF-dependent TRAF3 activation. This requires a complex of TRIF and TBK1 which impairs K63-linked polyubiquitination of TRAF3 and TRIF (Cai et al. 2017). TRIF/TRA3 associates with IRAK1 and IRF3/7 activating kinases TBK1 and IKK ε under TBK, and IRAK1 phosphorylation. This complex then phosphorylates IRF3 and IRF7 monomers. Continuously, both are capable of homo- and heterodimerization (IRF3₂, IRF7₂, and IRF3/7). Dimers are translocated through nuclear pores primarily inducing INF-1 activation. IRF activation requires PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway activation. On the one hand, these studies revealed the significance of Akt-mediated phosphorylation of IRF, they also highlight that PI3K is critical in IRF₂ nuclear translocation (Ning et al. 2011) through nuclear pores (Ullah et al. 2016).

NF-κB and AP-1 are induced via TRAF6, wherein NFkB is influenced by TRAF6-TAB1/2-TAK1-RIP1 (Ko et al. 2015). The activity of this complex is guided via ubiquitin-mediated RIP1 regulation (Annibaldi et al. 2018). The IKK complex is now phosphorylated downstream, initiating the breakdown of the NFκB-IκB complex (Kinsella et al. 2018; Abujamra et al. 2006). The freed NFκB is then capable of trafficking into the nucleus, traversing across the nuclear membrane through the nuclear pores as part of the signal transduction. IκB can inhibit NFκB via two primary mechanisms: IκBα follows NFκB into the nucleus and resynthesizes NFκB-IκBα complex, thus resulting in its inactivation. Alternatively, negative feedback proceeds from the fast gene transcription. During RNA accumulation, another transcript IκBδ accumulates, which forms an NFκB-IκBδ complex, thus resulting in an inhibition of the ongoing gene transcription (Mitchell et al. 2016). On the other hand, TRAF6 can induce AP-1 via MAPK pathways and downstream phosphorylation cascades (Roy et al. 2016).

Unlike NFκB activation, AP-1 is not activated via RIP1 induction but depends on GSK3β activity (Ko et al. 2015). It has been reported that GSK3β, TAK 1, and TRAF6 form a ternary complex supporting TRAF6-TAK1-TAB1/2 complex formation. On the contrary, GSK3β did not assemble with RIP1, indicating no influence on NFkB expression (Ko et al. 2015). The TRAF-TAK-TAB-complex phosphorylates MKK3, MKK6, MKK4, and MKK7 using TAK1 (Yamashita et al. 2008). MKK3, MKK4, and MKK6 together initiate p38 MAPK activation, and MKK4/MKK7 induces JNK phosphorylation. JNK and p38 MAPK activation finally result in AP-1 transcription factor activation and gene transcription initiation (Dainichi et al. 2019). Additionally, p38 MAPK modulates C/EPB transcription activity and post-transcriptional protein modification (Dainichi et al. 2019). Figure 1 shows the TLR3 signaling cascades in MSCs after ligation by dsRNA/Poly (I: C) are (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Graph of TLR3 signaling cascades in MSCs after stimulation by dsRNA/Poly (I: C). TLR3 signals are transmitted to the PI3K-AKT pathway to regulate MSC functions through β-catenin, and to the TRAF pathways to regulate MSC functions via IRF, NF- κ B, and AP-1 co-stimulation. TLR3 signaling pathway through the TRIF independent c-Src cascade contributes to the regulation of proliferation in MSCs. (Abe et al. 2020; Arnold et al. 2016; Bai et al. 2014; Baker et al. 2015; Chang et al. 2013; Choe et al. 2005; Dumitru et al. 2014; Fan et al. 2019; Fang et al. 2007; Ferreira et al. 2011; Gambara et al. 2015; Gan et al. 2018; Grandvaux et al. 2002; Harashima et al. 2012; He et al. 2018; Jia et al. 2015; Joung et al. 2011; Katoh and Katoh 2007; Kim et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2006; Krishnamurthy and Kurzrock 2018; Lathia et al. 2008; Leite et al. 2017; Liotta et al. 2018; Najar et al. 2017; Park et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2014; Sallustio et al. 2019; Sarkar et al. 2004; Shang et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2010; Yamashita et al. 2012a; Yamashita et al. 2012b; Yeh et al. 2016; Yoshizawa et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2013; Zhu et al. 2019). *TIR* Toll-interleukin-1 receptor homology domain, *c-Src* Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src, *TRIF* TIR-domain-containing

TLR3 Priming and MSC Immunomodulation

Recently, the therapeutic abilities of MSCs by modulating immune responses have been reported in different studies (Weiss and Dahlke 2019; Saldaña et al. 2019). The unique interplay between activated MSCs and various immune aspects of the human body contributes significantly to restore and protect damaged tissues in inflammatory environments (Saldaña et al. 2019). TLR-specific ligands have exhibited associations with several inflammatory settings. Stimulation of TLRs is suggested to modify MSCs-regulated immunomodulatory effects. Earlier investigations proposed that the MSCs source and the triggered TLRs play essential role defining these immune biological processes (Mekhemar 2018).

Immune cell migration and binding to MSCs' environment is considered the foremost step for initiating immunomodulation responses after TLR ligation (Najar et al. 2017; Mekhemar 2018). By dynamically identifying their microenvironmental factors via TLR signaling, MSCs can consequently regulate the immune cells' immunobiology from both branches of the immune system (Najar et al. 2017; Mekhemar 2018). This effect initiates the recruitment of MSCs to the injury sites. TLR3 ligation on bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSC) triggered signaling pathways, consequently inducing the cytokine and chemokine secretion that is primarily involved in cell migration (Tomchuck et al. 2008). Indeed, TLR3 ligand exposure promotes the BM-MSC stress migration response and consequently transforms BM-MSCs into strong chemotactic cells, thus enhancing the recruitment of immune-inflammatory cells and endorsing the secretion of cytokines including CCL5 (RANTES), IL-6, IP10, IL-1B, IL-8, and monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1 through the NF-kB pathway (Romieu-Mourez et al. 2009). Previous investigations have also demonstrated that upon TLR3 ligation in BM-MSCs, a Janus kinase (JAK) 2/signal transducer and trigger of transcription (STAT) 1 pathway is started, and cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins suppressor expression is augmented (Tomchuck et al. 2012). This suggests that TLR3 signaling can noticeably affect the MSCs' response to danger signals and homing-in to injured sites. Moreover, Poly (I: C) activation of TLR3 increases the production of IL-6, in addition to MIF (macrophage migration inhibitory factor), the main factor for leucocyte recruitment (Kota et al. 2014). Human nasal mucosa MSCs (NM-MSCs) induced a strong release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and IL-8) and type I interferon after

Fig. 1 (continued) adapter-inducing interferon- β , PI3K phosphoinositide 3-kinase, *AKT* protein kinase B, *GSK3* β glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta, *TRAF* TNF-receptor-associated factor, *RIP* receptor-interacting protein, *TAB* TGF-beta-activated kinase 1 (MAP3K7) binding protein, *TAK1* mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 7, *IKK* IkB kinase, *NF-kB* nuclear factor "kappa-light-chain-enhancer" of activated B cells, *IRF* interferon regulatory factor, *LEF* T cell factor/ lymphoid enhancer-binding factor, *p38* p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, *ANK* c-Jun N-terminal kinase, *AP-1* activator protein 1, *EBP* EBP cholestenol delta isomerase, and *MMK* mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase

activation of TLR3 (Dumitru et al. 2014). Furthermore, investigations have reported the solid immune cell chemoattractant profile secreting CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL6, CXCL8, and CXCL10 in TLR3-activated mesenchymal stromal cells from human tonsils (T-MSCs) (Ryu et al. 2015). Indeed, TLR3 pre-activation with Poly (I: C) in BM-MSCs also significantly increases the number of leukocytes binding to MSCs via interacting with hyaluronic acid structures (Kota et al. 2014).

After recruiting the immune cells to the MSCs surrounding area, diverse controlling mechanisms can participate in the progression of immune regulation. These mechanisms are complex but subtle to the microenvironment. In previous investigations, the results about TLR3 ligation and immunomodulation in this phase are contradictory and reported differently.

Waterman and colleagues have described a new paradigm for MSCs immunomodulation following TLR3 priming (Waterman et al. 2010). TLR3 priming shifted the MSCs into a particular phenotype (MSC2), mainly expressing immunosuppressive mediators as TGF-B, IDO (indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase), PGE2 (prostaglandin E2), NO (nitric oxide), hemoxygenase (HO), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), leading to T cell inhibition. Similarly, other investigators described the TLR3induced enhancement of immunosuppressive properties in BM-MSCs (Opitz et al. 2009) and G-MSCs (Mekhemar et al. 2018a) in response to the increased production of IDO1, as well as by an amplified expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in UCB-MSCs (Zhao et al. 2014) and by modulating the TGF- β and IL-6 production in the dental pulp (DP-MSCs) and dental follicle (DF-MSCs) (Tomic et al. 2011). On the other hand, TLR3 ligation was described to differentially affect the inhibitory functions of BM-derived MSCs, WJ-derived MSCs, and adipose-tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AT-MSCs) (Raicevic et al. 2011). Notably, the immunosuppressive potential of WJ-MSCs and AT-MSCs remained unaltered, while BM-MSCs showed decreased potential to suppress lymphocyte activation. Another study showed that priming of TLR3 significantly reduced BM-MSCs' ability to inhibit T cells proliferation (Liotta et al. 2008b). This effect was not associated with IDO and PGE2 pathway regulation, instead it involved the downregulation of Jagged-1 induced by TLR3 priming.

It has been previously emphasized that MSCs-facilitated T cell inhibition arises via the production of galectins. One of the published studies has confirmed that galectin-9, which BM-MSCs do not constitutively produce, is significantly induced upon TLR3-MSC interaction and is imperative for the immunosuppressive properties of MSCs (Gieseke et al. 2013). Additionally, stimulation of TLR3 improved the suppressive effect of T-MSCs against Th17 differentiation by augmenting the expression of programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) (Cho et al. 2017). TLR3-mediated preconditioning of the cells by Poly (I: C) also confirmed an enhanced efficacy of UC-MSCs through the TLR3-Jagged-1-Notch-1 pathway (Qiu et al. 2017). Following PGE2 and Jagged-1 upregulation, PGE2 then amplifies IL-10 production and permits the Treg cell differentiation. Furthermore, TLR3 ligation amplified IL-12p35, IL-6, IL-23p19, and IL-27p28 transcription in BM-MSCs (Raicevic et al. 2010). These IL-12-related cytokine members can initiate CD4⁺ T

helper 1 (T_H 1) differentiation and support a T-cell-mediated immune reaction and induce pro-inflammatory changes in BM-MSCs.

MSCs can also have immune-regulatory effects on cells of the innate immune branch. As stated in numerous published studies, TLR3 triggered BM-MSCs to support the function and survival of neutrophils (PMN) by enhancing the respiratory burst ability, CD11b expression, and the antiapoptotic effect in PMN (Cassatella et al. 2011). The biological properties regulated in PMN via TLR3-triggered BM-MSCs were facilitated by the combined function of IL-6, IFN- β , and GM-CS. TLR3-primed MSCs also showed enhanced suppressive functions against NK cells (Noronha et al. 2019).

It seems that TLR3 and its ligands can assist as controllers of MSCs' immunomodulatory functions. Still, the effects are conflicting and possibly dependent on investigational settings and the microenvironment of the cells.

TLR3 Priming and MSC Differentiation

MSCs' capacity for multilineage differentiation potential to adopt diverging tissue phenotypes has been often explained as an age-dependent process (Sallustio et al. 2019). Recent investigations underline the important functions displayed by TLR ligands in guiding MSCs' maturation to form various cell phenotypes and in fate determination. The stimulation of TLR3 has been presented to affect osteogenic differentiation of MSCs and their maturation into osteocytes (Liotta et al. 2008b; Lombardo et al. 2009b; Pevsner-Fischer et al. 2007; Mekhemar et al. 2020). TLR-3 ligation via Poly (I: C) was described to endorse osteogenesis by supporting the BM-MSCs' differentiation into osteoblasts (Qi et al. 2014). Similarly, another investigation (Lombardo et al. 2009b) has demonstrated that TLR3 Poly (I: C) activation of AT-MSCs augmented their osteogenic differentiation potential (Hwa et al. 2006). Poly (I: C)-activated G-MSCs showed a lower expression of ALP and RUNX as early osteogenic markers with a concomitantly increased mineral deposition observed by the alizarin red staining (Mekhemar et al. 2020). Synchronized to this effect on MSCs bone maturation, an interplay between downregulation of pluripotency factors, as well as proliferation potential, and colony-forming units of TLR3-ligated G-MSCs have been observed presenting a cell cycle shift from pluripotency to the stages of differentiation and maturation (Mekhemar et al. 2020). This modulatory process of differentiation and cell-fate determination through TLR3 activation in MSCs was explained to be involved via upregulated β-catenin with regulatory NF-κB co-activation (Jia et al. 2015; Katoh and Katoh 2007; Ma and Hottiger 2016; Park et al. 2016; Yeh et al. 2016) and further facilitated by phosphorylation of the AKT pathway, which contributes greatly to MSCs' osteogenic differentiation and maturation (Baker et al. 2015; Joung et al. 2011; Oi et al. 2014; Zhu et al. 2019). However, some studies have reported that the activation of TLR3 inhibited the differentiation of UC-MSCs into osteocytes (Zhang et al. 2015) or did not affect the differentiation potential of BM-MSCs (Liotta et al. 2008a). Although TLR3 has shown a similar supporting role in promoting adipogenic and chondrogenic maturation of MSCs in some investigations so far, opposing results occur regarding the effect of TLR3 on MSCs' maturation into these lineages (Mekhemar et al. 2020). As reported by multiple studies, TLR3 ligation outlined a fragile adipogenic modulation of MSCs, mediated by the phosphorylation of β -catenin and GSK3 β inhibition leading to a partly reverse arrangement between the induction of MSC osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation (Mekhemar et al. 2020; Hwang et al. 2014; Lombardo et al. 2009a). Furthermore, additional studies clarified the stimulatory effect of β -catenin pathways in response to TLR3 stimulation on MSCs. They showed increased chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation of MSCs with an attenuated adipogenic lineage effect (Mekhemar et al. 2020; Galli et al. 2013; James 2013; Li et al. 2008). It appears that TLR3 activation can function as a modulator of differentiation potential and may determine the cell fate besides maintaining their multipotency.

TLR3 Priming and MSCs' Migration and Proliferation

Continued growth and maintenance of MSCs are important characteristics much needed for their therapeutic effect as they eventually endure replicative senescence after prolonged periods of normal growth (Ciria et al. 2017). MSCs possess the significant ability to relocate to the areas of the inflammatory response, ischemia, and mechanical damage or even to sites of growing tumors (Kholodenko et al. 2013). TLRs have been suggested to moderate MSCs' proliferation, immunomodulation, as well as migratory activity, and differentiation potential (Sallustio et al. 2019).

Various studies have shown that TLR3 is a key mediator in migratory responses of BM-MSCs (Tomchuck et al. 2008). Still, this consequence seems to be connected to the exposure time: After one-hour incubation, TLR3 activation promoted migration, while after 24 h of incubation, the rate of migration and invasion of the treated MSCs became suppressed (Liotta et al. 2008b; Waterman et al. 2010). Furthermore, abrogation of TLR3 expression using knockdown plasmids reduced the migration potential of the nonactivated MSCs to the half (Tomchuck et al. 2008). Nonetheless, Poly (I: C) ligation of the transfected cells caused an improved migration potential when associated with unligated controls (Waterman et al. 2010). These different reactions of MSCs migration, reliant on marginal changes in the cell setting, support the TLR3 regulation of MSCs migration by multifaceted and generally unraveled molecular processes.

On the level of TLR3-mediated MSCs proliferation, TLR3 activation and expression was linked to suppressed proliferation in neuronal stem/progenitor cells (NPCs) (Sallustio et al. 2019; Lathia et al. 2008) and UCB-MSCs (Sallustio et al. 2019). Correspondingly, TLR3-activated G-MSCs displayed a decreased proliferative potential (Mekhemar et al. 2020), resembling a prior designated antiproliferative effect of Poly (I: C) on BM-MSCs (Choumerianou et al. 2010). As the TLR3 pathway begins with TRIF involvement, the IRF3 pathway consequently gets triggered, leading to cell proliferation inhibition (Dumitru et al. 2014; Lathia et al. 2008; Mekhemar et al. 2020). Additionally, the TRIF-independent branch of TLR3
signaling may similarly add to the suppression of cell proliferation via the c-Src pathway (Yamashita et al. 2012b).

TLR3-Mediated Apoptosis and Survival of MSCs

In cancer research, TLR3 ligands have become promising pharmaceuticals in immune-based chemotherapy. Investigations dealing with different tumor entities revealed direct apoptotic induction after TLR3 activation (Otkur et al. 2018; Zhao et al. 2012). Similar effects have been reported in fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Karpus et al. 2016). This direct induction is mainly based on TLR3-dependent TRAF6 and NF- κ B activation, leading to INF-induced apoptosis (Chiron et al. 2009). Similar effects have been shown in adipose cells, which make TLR3 an attractive target in chronic fatigue treatment (Strayer et al. 2012). Besides its direct influences, TLR3 provides immunomodulatory effects on NK-cells as key players during innate immune response (Petri et al. 2017). Remarkably, Giuliani et al. (2014) showed protective effects of TLR3 primed MSCs against NK-cell killing (Giuliani et al. 2014).

TLR3 stimulation also increases the therapeutic potential of MSCs and causes 40% less apoptosis and improved regeneration in heart failure models (Mastri et al. 2012; Shabbir et al. 2009). However, the effect of TLR3 activation on MSCs under pro-inflammatory and regeneration conditions have not been completely unveiled yet and offer promising targets in tissue regeneration studies in future.

Micro-RNAs as Modulators of TLR3-Mediated Response in MSCs

Micro-RNAs (miRNAs) comprise noncoding RNA regulating gene expression by coupling with messenger RNAs (mRNAs) and inhibiting their translation to form proteins. These minor RNA molecules are mainly transcribed inside the cell nucleus and transformed into originator miRNA and then conveyed to the cytosol to be altered to developed miRNA by Argonaut and DICER proteins (Gulyaeva and Kushlinskiy 2016). Every sequence of miRNA can bind to and inhibit the expression of multiple mRNAs (Avraham and Yarden 2012), making them greatly important in various cellular functions and hence for the study of human cellular disorders and their treatments (O'connell et al. 2012).

Given MSCs' extensive and critical involvement in diverse cellular functions, they are being induced by preconditioning of stem cells (Suzuki et al. 2010) or through genetic manipulation with the miRNA of interest to enhance their functionality (Kim et al. 2012a, b) and reparability (Haider and Aramini 2019). Pharmacological preconditioning has also been shown to enhance their survival and angiomyogenic potential via phosphorylation of PI3K, AKt, GSK3b, and nuclear NFkB (Afzal et al. 2010). By interfering with the cellular functions in the immune cells and their precursors, miRNAs regulate numerous functional features of innate and acquired immune reactions. In pre-T and pre-B lymphocytes, inhibition of

DICER protein revokes differentiation and growth of these cells (O'connell et al. 2012). miRNAs can moderate the role of immune cells by directing diverse intracellular signaling pathways, i.e., the Wnt pathway in dendritic cells (Luo et al. 2015), as well as the Akt signaling in B lymphocytes and the TLR pathways (He et al. 2013; O'connell et al. 2007; Fehniger 2013). Recently, many studies have recognized a collection of miRNAs that control the characteristics of MSCs, as multilineage differentiation and immunomodulation (Clark et al. 2014). These miRNAs can impact the communication between MSCs and the cells of the immune system by affecting the mechanisms involving TLR signaling pathways, as several molecules in TLR signaling, their related cytokines, and transcription factors are involving in there (Clark et al. 2014). Therefore, the molecular exchange between miRNAs and the TLR pathways in MSCs may promote inhibition or stimulation of the TLR signaling pathway and responses in MSCs (Abdi et al. 2018).

For example, miR-143 has been reported as a critical regulator of MSCs' cell cycle activity via transcriptional regulation of cyclin D (Lai et al. 2011, 2012). In MSCs-TLR3-mediated signaling, miR-143 plays an effective role as a negative regulator. In human umbilical cord MSCs, TLR3 ligands significantly amplified the secretion of cytokines and chemokines as COX2, IDO, and PGE2, IL-6, and IL-8, which was linked to a miR-143 downregulation (Abdi et al. 2018). When upregulated, miR-143 abrogated cytokine production and reduced the immunosuppressive effects of TLR3-activated MSCs, besides reducing the beneficial properties of MSCs in an experimental animal model of sepsis (Zhao et al. 2014). In these studies, COX2 and TAK1 genes were directly targeted and downregulated by miR-143. These data show that TLR3 stimulation moderates immune effects of UCB-MSCs through inhibition of miR-143. Nevertheless, more future investigations are required to determine the modulatory role of miRNAs in MSCs involved in cell-fate determination and regulatory functions of immune reactions including T cell proliferation and macrophage polarization in the context of TLR3 activation.

Conclusion

Exploring TLR-mediated effects on MSCs' immunobiological and regenerative functions remains an area of immense importance to facilitate effective therapeutic utilization of MSCs. In this chapter, we have discussed the involvement of TLR3 in regulating diverse MSC functions. The listed studies in the chapter provide strong evidence that TLR3 priming could critically impact the cell-fate determination, multi-lineage potential, hematopoietic support, immunomodulatory ability, as well as the apoptosis, migration, and proliferation of MSCs from different tissue sources as main thus impacting the outcome of various MSCs-based therapies. Consequently, preconditioning of MSCs to be employed clinically may be treated with TLR3 ligands to enhance their therapeutic effect post-engraftment (Delarosa et al. 2009). In this regard, TLR3 stimulating agents are also being studied as potential vaccine adjuvants for cancers, infectious diseases (Seya et al. 2015; Lebedeva et al. 2018), or as a highly specific novel treatment strategy against tumors (Le Naour et al. 2020).

Likewise, inhibitors of TLR3 signaling have shown considerable potential in the treatment of inflammatory disorders (Dunne et al. 2011). Notwithstanding a large amount of information gained about TLR3-mediated effects on MSCs, the data emanating from these studies remain inconsistent. These discrepancies and inconsistencies observed in the published data have been attributed to the multiplicity of experimental settings and protocols employed to learn the impact of TLR3 activity level on MSCs. Notably, the influence of tissue source, culture conditions, purity level, etc., may play an essential role determining the outcome of the studies. In this context, we need to well design and standardize the investigations to better understand the mechanism of action of TLR3 on MSCs and precisely acquire the needed information to control TLR3 and its downstream pathways to modulate the needed MSCs characteristic features in the pathological environment. These data would certainly help in improving the safety and therapeutic potential of MSCs-based therapy in the future.

References

- Abdi J, Rashedi I, Keating A (2018) Concise review: TLR pathway-miRNA interplay in mesenchymal stromal cells: regulatory roles and therapeutic directions. Stem Cells 36:1655–1662
- Abe H, Satoh J, Shirasaka Y, Kogure A, Kato H, Ito S, Fujita T (2020) Priming phosphorylation of TANK-binding kinase 1 by IkappaB kinase beta is essential in Toll-like receptor 3/4 signaling. Mol Cell Biol 40
- Abujamra AL, Spanjaard RA, Akinsheye I, Zhao X, Faller DV, Ghosh SK (2006) Leukemia virus long terminal repeat activates NFkappaB pathway by a TLR3-dependent mechanism. Virology 345:390–403
- Afzal MR, Haider HK, Idris NM, Jiang S, Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M (2010) Preconditioning promotes survival and angiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in the infarcted heart via NF-κB signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(6):693–702
- Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124: 783-801
- Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA (2001) Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature 413:732–738
- Almeida-Porada G, Atala AJ, Porada CD (2020) Therapeutic mesenchymal stromal cells for immunotherapy and for gene and drug delivery. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 16:204–224
- Annibaldi A, Wicky John S, Vanden Berghe T, Swatek KN, Ruan J, Liccardi G, Bianchi K et al (2018) Ubiquitin-mediated regulation of RIPK1 kinase activity independent of IKK and MK2. Mol Cell 69:566–580 e5
- Arnold CP, Merryman MS, Harris-Arnold A, Mckinney SA, Seidel CW, Loethen S, Proctor KN et al (2016) Pathogenic shifts in endogenous microbiota impede tissue regeneration via distinct activation of TAK1/MKK/p38. elife 5
- Avraham R, Yarden Y (2012) Regulation of signalling by microRNAs. Biochem Soc Trans 40: 26–30
- Bai W, Liu H, Ji Q, Zhou Y, Liang L, Zheng R, Chen J et al (2014) TLR3 regulates mycobacterial RNA-induced IL-10 production through the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. Cell Signal 26: 942–950
- Baker N, Sohn J, Tuan RS (2015) Promotion of human mesenchymal stem cell osteogenesis by PI3-kinase/Akt signaling, and the influence of caveolin-1/cholesterol homeostasis. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:238

- Banavar SR, Rawal SY, Paterson IC, Singh G, Davamani F, Khoo SP, Tan EL (2020) Establishing a technique for isolation and characterization of human periodontal ligament derived mesenchymal stem cells. Saudi Dent J
- Berebichez-Fridman R, Montero-Olvera PR (2018) Sources and clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells: state-of-the-art review. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J 18:e264–e277
- Bianco P, Robey PG (2001) Stem cells in tissue engineering. Nature 414:118-121
- Bugge M, Bergstrom B, Eide OK, Solli H, Kjonstad IF, Stenvik J, Espevik T et al (2017) Surface Toll-like receptor 3 expression in metastatic intestinal epithelial cells induces inflammatory cytokine production and promotes invasiveness. J Biol Chem 292:15408–15425
- Cai B, Wu J, Yu X, Su XZ, Wang RF (2017) FOSL1 inhibits type I interferon responses to malaria and viral infections by blocking TBK1 and TRAF3/TRIF Interactions. mBio:8
- Cassatella MA, Mosna F, Micheletti A, Lisi V, Tamassia N, Cont C, Calzetti F et al (2011) Toll-like receptor-3-activated human mesenchymal stromal cells significantly prolong the survival and function of neutrophils. Stem Cells 29:1001–1011
- Chamberlain G, Fox J, Ashton B, Middleton J (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells 25:2739–2749
- Chang J, Liu F, Lee M, Wu B, Ting K, Zara JN, Soo C et al (2013) NF-kappaB inhibits osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by promoting beta-catenin degradation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:9469–9474
- Chen K-R, Yu C-K, Kung S-H, Chen S-H, Chang C-F, Ho T-C, Lee Y-P et al (2018) Toll-like receptor 3 is involved in detection of enterovirus A71 infection and targeted by viral 2A protease. Viruses 10:689
- Chiron D, Pellat-Deceunynck C, Amiot M, Bataille R, Jego G (2009) TLR3 ligand induces NF-{kappa}B activation and various fates of multiple myeloma cells depending on IFN-{alpha} production. J Immunol 182:4471–4478
- Cho KA, Park M, Kim YH, Ryu KH, Woo SY (2017) Poly I:C primes the suppressive function of human palatine tonsil-derived MSCs against Th17 differentiation by increasing PD-L1 expression. Immunobiology 222:394–398
- Choe J, Kelker MS, Wilson IA (2005) Crystal structure of human Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) ectodomain. Science 309:581–585
- Choumerianou DM, Martimianaki G, Stiakaki E, Kalmanti L, Kalmanti M, Dimitriou H (2010) Comparative study of stemness characteristics of mesenchymal cells from bone marrow of children and adults. Cytotherapy 12:881–887
- Ciria M, Garcia NA, Ontoria-Oviedo I, Gonzalez-King H, Carrero R, De La Pompa JL, Montero JA et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell migration and proliferation are mediated by hypoxiainducible factor-lalpha upstream of notch and SUMO pathways. Stem Cells Dev 26: 973–985
- Clark EA, Kalomoiris S, Nolta JA, Fierro FA (2014) Concise review: MicroRNA function in multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cells 32:1074–1082
- Dainichi T, Matsumoto R, Mostafa A, Kabashima K (2019) Immune control by TRAF6-mediated pathways of epithelial cells in the EIME (epithelial immune microenvironment). Front Immunol 10:1107
- Delarosa O, Lombardo E, Beraza A, Mancheno-Corvo P, Ramirez C, Menta R, Rico L et al (2009) Requirement of IFN-gamma-mediated indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase expression in the modulation of lymphocyte proliferation by human adipose-derived stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 15: 2795–2806
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317
- Dumitru CA, Hemeda H, Jakob M, Lang S, Brandau S (2014) Stimulation of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) via TLR3 reveals a novel mechanism of autocrine priming. FASEB J 28: 3856–3866

- Dunne A, Marshall NA, Mills KHG (2011) TLR based therapeutics. Curr Opin Pharmacol 11(4): 404–411
- El-Zayat SR, Sibaii H, Mannaa FA (2019) Toll-like receptors activation, signaling, and targeting: an overview. Bull Nation Res Centre 43:187
- Endo H, Nito C, Kamada H, Nishi T, Chan PH (2006) Activation of the Akt/GSK3beta signaling pathway mediates survival of vulnerable hippocampal neurons after transient global cerebral ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1479–1489
- Fan L, Zhou P, Hong Q, Chen AX, Liu GY, Yu KD, Shao ZM (2019) Toll-like receptor 3 acts as a suppressor gene in breast cancer initiation and progression: a two-stage association study and functional investigation. Onco Targets Ther 8:e1593801
- Fang D, Hawke D, Zheng Y, Xia Y, Meisenhelder J, Nika H, Mills GB et al (2007) Phosphorylation of beta-catenin by AKT promotes beta-catenin transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem 282: 11221–11229
- Farrugia M, Baron B (2017) The role of Toll-like receptors in autoimmune diseases through failure of the self-recognition mechanism. Int J Inflam 2017:8391230–8391230
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Klingebiel P, Dorfer CE (2016) Toll-like receptor expression profile of human dental pulp stem/progenitor cells. J Endod 42:413–417
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Boeckler J, Dörfer CE (2017) TLR expression profile of human alveolar bone proper-derived stem/progenitor cells and osteoblasts. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 45:2054–2060
- Fawzy-El-Sayed K, Mekhemar M, Adam-Klages S, Kabelitz D, Dorfer C (2016) TIR expression profile of human gingival margin-derived stem progenitor cells. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 21:e30–e38
- Fehniger TA (2013) Extracellular microRNAs turn on NK cells via TLR1. Blood 121:4612-4613
- Fehrmann C, Dorfer CE, Fawzy El-Sayed KM (2020) Toll-like receptor expression profile of human stem/progenitor cells form the apical papilla. J Endod
- Ferreira VH, Nazli A, Khan G, Mian MF, Ashkar AA, Gray-Owen S, Kaul R et al (2011) Endometrial epithelial cell responses to coinfecting viral and bacterial pathogens in the genital tract can activate the HIV-1 LTR in an NF {kappa}B-and AP-1-dependent manner. J Infect Dis 204:299–308
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3: 393–403
- Galli C, Piemontese M, Lumetti S, Manfredi E, Macaluso GM, Passeri G (2013) GSK3b-inhibitor lithium chloride enhances activation of Wnt canonical signaling and osteoblast differentiation on hydrophilic titanium surfaces. Clin Oral Implants Res 24:921–927
- Gambara G, Desideri M, Stoppacciaro A, Padula F, De Cesaris P, Starace D, Tubaro A et al (2015) TLR3 engagement induces IRF-3-dependent apoptosis in androgen-sensitive prostate cancer cells and inhibits tumour growth in vivo. J Cell Mol Med 19:327–339
- Gan T, Yang Y, Hu F, Chen X, Zhou J, Li Y, Xu Y et al (2018) TLR3 regulated poly I:C-induced neutrophil extracellular traps and acute lung injury partly through p38 MAP kinase. Front Microbiol 9:3174
- Gantner BN, Jin H, Qian F, Hay N, He B, Ye RD (2012) The Akt1 isoform is required for optimal IFN-beta transcription through direct phosphorylation of beta-catenin. J Immunol 189: 3104–3111
- Gerlach JP, Emmink BL, Nojima H, Kranenburg O, Maurice MM (2014) Wnt signalling induces accumulation of phosphorylated beta-catenin in two distinct cytosolic complexes. Open Biol 4:140120
- Gieseke F, Kruchen A, Tzaribachev N, Bentzien F, Dominici M, Müller I (2013) Proinflammatory stimuli induce galectin-9 in human mesenchymal stromal cells to suppress T-cell proliferation. Eur J Immunol 43:2741–2749
- Giuliani M, Bennaceur-Griscelli A, Nanbakhsh A, Oudrhiri N, Chouaib S, Azzarone B, Durrbach A et al (2014) TLR ligands stimulation protects MSC from NK killing. Stem Cells 32:290–300

- Gong M, Wang F, Liu W, Chen R, Wu H, Zhang W, Yu X et al (2019) Pattern recognition receptormediated innate immune responses in seminal vesicle epithelial cell and their impacts on cellular function. Biol Reprod
- Gosu V, Son S, Shin D, Song KD (2019) Insights into the dynamic nature of the dsRNA-bound TLR3 complex. Sci Rep 9:3652
- Grandvaux N, Servant MJ, Tenoever B, Sen GC, Balachandran S, Barber GN, Lin R et al (2002) Transcriptional profiling of interferon regulatory factor 3 target genes: direct involvement in the regulation of interferon-stimulated genes. J Virol 76:5532–5539
- Gulyaeva LF, Kushlinskiy NE (2016) Regulatory mechanisms of microRNA expression. J Transl Med 14:143
- Haider HK (2018) The aging stem cells and cardiac reparability: lesson learnt from clinical studies is that old is not always gold. Regen Med 13(4):457–475
- Haider HK, Aramini B (2019, 2019) "Mircrining" the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther
- Han Y, Li X, Zhang Y, Han Y, Chang F, Ding J (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative medicine. Cell 8:886
- Harashima N, Inao T, Imamura R, Okano S, Suda T, Harada M (2012) Roles of the PI3K/Akt pathway and autophagy in TLR3 signaling-induced apoptosis and growth arrest of human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother 61:667–676
- He S, Nakada D, Morrison SJ (2009) Mechanisms of stem cell self-renewal. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 25:377–406
- He S, Chu J, Wu L-C, Mao H, Peng Y, Alvarez-Breckenridge CA, Hughes T et al (2013) MicroRNAs activate natural killer cells through Toll-like receptor signaling. Blood 121: 4663–4671
- He L, Liu X, Yang J, Li W, Liu S, Liu X, Yang Z et al (2018) Imbalance of the reciprocally inhibitory loop between the ubiquitin-specific protease USP43 and EGFR/PI3K/AKT drives breast carcinogenesis. Cell Res 28:934–951
- Hemmings BA, Restuccia DF (2012) PI3K-PKB/Akt pathway. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4: a011189
- Henrick BM, Yao X-D, Zahoor MA, Abimiku AL, Osawe S, Rosenthal KL (2019) TLR10 senses HIV-1 proteins and significantly enhances HIV-1 infection. Front Immunol 10
- Hong H, Chen X, Li K, Wang N, Li M, Yang B, Yu X et al (2020) Dental follicle stem cells rescue the regenerative capacity of inflamed rat dental pulp through a paracrine pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:333
- Hosseini SM, Sani M, Haider HK, Dorvash M, Ziaee SM, Karimi A (2018) Concomitant use of mesenchymal stem cells and neural stem cells for treatment of spinal cord injury: a combo cell therapy approach. Neurosci Lett 668:138–146
- Hwa CH, Bae YC, Jung JS (2006) Role of Toll-like receptors on human adipose-derived stromal cells. Stem Cells 24:2744–2752
- Hwang SH, Cho HK, Park SH, Lee W, Lee HJ, Lee DC, Oh JH et al (2014) Toll like receptor 3 & 4 responses of human turbinate derived mesenchymal stem cells: stimulation by double stranded RNA and lipopolysaccharide. PLoS One 9:e101558
- James AW (2013) Review of signaling pathways governing MSC osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation. Scientifica (Cairo) 2013:684736
- Janssens S, Beyaert R (2003) Role of Toll-like receptors in pathogen recognition. Clin Microbiol Rev 16:637–646
- Jia D, Yang W, Li L, Liu H, Tan Y, Ooi S, Chi L et al (2015) beta-Catenin and NF-kappaB co-activation triggered by TLR3 stimulation facilitates stem cell-like phenotypes in breast cancer. Cell Death Differ 22:298–310
- Jiang Z, Mak TW, Sen G, Li X (2004) Toll-like receptor 3-mediated activation of NF-kappaB and IRF3 diverges at Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter inducing IFN-beta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:3533–3538

- Joung SM, Park ZY, Rani S, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Lee JY (2011) Akt contributes to activation of the TRIF-dependent signaling pathways of TLRs by interacting with TANK-binding kinase 1. J Immunol 186:499–507
- Karpus ON, Hsiao CC, De Kort H, Tak PP, Hamann J (2016) Intracellular delivery of poly(I:C) induces apoptosis of fibroblast-like synoviocytes via an unknown dsRNA sensor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 477:343–349
- Katoh M, Katoh M (2007) WNT signaling pathway and stem cell signaling network. Clin Cancer Res 13:4042–4045
- Kawai T, Akira S (2007a) Antiviral signaling through pattern recognition receptors. J Biochem 141: 137–145
- Kawai T, Akira S (2007b) TLR signaling. Semin Immunol 19:24-32
- Kholodenko IV, Konieva AA, Kholodenko RV, Yarygin KN (2013) Molecular mechanisms of migration and homing of intravenously transplanted mesenchymal stem cells. J Regen Med Tissue Eng:2
- Kim TK, Lee JS, Jung JE, Oh SY, Kwak S, Jin X, Lee SY et al (2006) Interferon regulatory factor 3 activates p53-dependent cell growth inhibition. Cancer Lett 242:215–221
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider HK (2012a) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider HK (2012b) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim SS, Lee KG, Chin CS, Ng SK, Pereira NA, Xu S, Lam KP (2014) DOK3 is required for IFN-beta production by enabling TRAF3/TBK1 complex formation and IRF3 activation. J Immunol 193:840–848
- Kinsella S, Fichtner M, Watters O, Konig HG, Prehn JHM (2018) Increased A20-E3 ubiquitin ligase interactions in bid-deficient glia attenuate TLR3- and TLR4-induced inflammation. J Neuroinflammation 15:130
- Ko R, Park JH, Ha H, Choi Y, Lee SY (2015) Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta ubiquitination by TRAF6 regulates TLR3-mediated pro-inflammatory cytokine production. Nat Commun 6:6765
- Kota DJ, Dicarlo B, Hetz RA, Smith P, Cox CS Jr, Olson SD (2014) Differential MSC activation leads to distinct mononuclear leukocyte binding mechanisms. Sci Rep 4:4565
- Krishnamurthy N, Kurzrock R (2018) Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in cancer: update on effectors and inhibitors. Cancer Treat Rev 62:50–60
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Haider HK (2011) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-expression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 transgenes via transcriptional regulation of Cyclin D1. Circulation. 2011-SS-A-10888-AHA
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider HK (2012) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/Cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):667–677
- Lathia JD, Okun E, Tang SC, Griffioen K, Cheng A, Mughal MR, Laryea G et al (2008) Toll-like receptor 3 is a negative regulator of embryonic neural progenitor cell proliferation. J Neurosci 28:13978–13984
- Le Naour J, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Vacchelli E (2020) Trial watch: TLR3 agonists in cancer therapy. OncoImmunol 9:1771143
- Lebedeva E, Bagaev A, Pichugin A, Chulkina M, Lysenko A, Tutykhina I, Shmarov M et al (2018) The differences in immunoadjuvant mechanisms of TLR3 and TLR4 agonists on the level of antigen-presenting cells during immunization with recombinant adenovirus vector. BMC Immunol 19:26
- Leite FGG, Torres AA, De Oliveira LC, Da Cruz AFP, Soares-Martins JP, Pereira A, Trindade GS et al (2017) c-Jun integrates signals from both MEK/ERK and MKK/JNK pathways upon vaccinia virus infection. Arch Virol 162:2971–2981

- Li HX, Luo X, Liu RX, Yang YJ, Yang GS (2008) Roles of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in adipogenic differentiation potential of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 291:116–124
- Li H, Shen S, Fu H, Wang Z, Li X, Sui X, Yuan M et al (2019) Immunomodulatory functions of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue engineering. Stem Cells Int 2019:9671206
- Liotta F, Angeli R, Cosmi L, Fili L, Manuelli C, Frosali F, Mazzinghi B et al (2008a) Toll-like receptors 3 and 4 are expressed by human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and can inhibit their T-cell modulatory activity by impairing Notch signaling. Stem Cells 26: 279–289
- Liotta F, Angeli R, Cosmi L, Filì L, Manuelli C, Frosali F, Mazzinghi B et al (2008b) Toll-like receptors 3 and 4 are expressed by human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and can inhibit their T-cell modulatory activity by impairing Notch signaling. Stem Cells 26: 279–289
- Liu L, Botos I, Wang Y, Leonard JN, Shiloach J, Segal DM, Davies DR (2008) Structural basis of Toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded RNA. Science 320:379–381
- Liu Y, Mo CF, Luo XY, Li H, Guo HJ, Sun H, Hu S et al (2019) Activation of Toll-like receptor 3 induces Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression by activating the interferon regulatory factor 3. J Innate Immunol:1–17
- Lombardo E, Delarosa O, Mancheno-Corvo P, Menta R, Ramirez C, Buscher D (2009a) Toll-like receptor-mediated signaling in human adipose-derived stem cells: implications for immunogenicity and immunosuppressive potential. Tissue Eng Part A 15:1579–1589
- Lombardo E, Delarosa O, Mancheño-Corvo P, Menta R, Ramírez C, Büscher D (2009b) Toll-like receptor-mediated signaling in human adipose-derived stem cells: implications for immunogenicity and immunosuppressive potential. Tissue Eng Part A 15:1579–1589
- Lu X, Wei Y, Liu F (2015) Direct regulation of p53 by miR-142a-3p mediates the survival of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in zebrafish. Cell Discov 1:15027
- Lundberg AM, Ketelhuth DF, Johansson ME, Gerdes N, Liu S, Yamamoto M, Akira S et al (2013) Toll-like receptor 3 and 4 signalling through the TRIF and TRAM adaptors in haematopoietic cells promotes atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Res 99:364–373
- Luo S, Liu Y, Liang G, Zhao M, Wu H, Liang Y, Qiu X et al (2015) The role of microRNA-1246 in the regulation of B cell activation and the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Epigen 7:24
- Lv FJ, Tuan RS, Cheung KM, Leung VY (2014) Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 32:1408–1419
- Ma B, Hottiger MO (2016) Crosstalk between Wnt/beta-Catenin and NF-kappaB signaling pathway during inflammation. Front Immunol 7:378
- Marino L, Castaldi MA, Rosamilio R, Ragni E, Vitolo R, Fulgione C, Castaldi SG et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells from the Wharton's Jelly of the human umbilical cord: biological properties and therapeutic potential. Int J Stem Cells 12:218–226
- Mastri M, Shah Z, Mclaughlin T, Greene CJ, Baum L, Suzuki G, Lee T (2012) Activation of Tolllike receptor 3 amplifies mesenchymal stem cell trophic factors and enhances therapeutic potency. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 303:C1021–C1033
- Matsumoto T, Yokoi A, Hashimura M, Oguri Y, Akiya M, Saegusa M (2018) TGF-beta-mediated LEFTY/Akt/GSK-3beta/Snail axis modulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell properties in ovarian clear cell carcinomas. Mol Carcinog 57:957–967
- Mekhemar MK (2018) Toll-like receptors: the key of immunotherapy in MSCs. IntechOpen
- Mekhemar MK, Adam-Klages S, Kabelitz D, Dorfer CE, Fawzy El-Sayed KM (2018a) TLR-induced immunomodulatory cytokine expression by human gingival stem/progenitor cells. Cell Immunol 326:60–67
- Mekhemar MK, Dörfer CE, El-Sayed KMF (2018b) Toll-like receptors: the key of immunotherapy in MSCs. In: Athari SS (ed) Immunoregulatory aspects of immunotherapy. INTECH

- Mekhemar M, Tölle J, Dörfer C, Fawzy El-Sayed K (2020) TLR3 ligation affects differentiation and stemness properties of gingival mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells. J Clin Periodontol 47: 991–1005
- Mitchell S, Vargas J, Hoffmann A (2016) Signaling via the NFkappaB system. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med 8:227–241
- Miyake K, Shibata T, Ohto U, Shimizu T, Saitoh SI, Fukui R, Murakami Y (2018) Mechanisms controlling nucleic acid-sensing Toll-like receptors. Int Immunol 30:43–51
- Murakami Y, Fukui R, Motoi Y, Kanno A, Shibata T, Tanimura N, Saitoh S et al (2014) Roles of the cleaved N-terminal TLR3 fragment and cell surface TLR3 in double-stranded RNA sensing. J Immunol 193:5208–5217
- Nagashima H, Iwatani S, Cruz M, Jimenez Abreu JA, Uchida T, Mahachai V, Vilaichone RK et al (2015) Toll-like receptor 10 in helicobacter pylori infection. J Infect Dis 212:1666–1676
- Najar M, Krayem M, Meuleman N, Bron D, Lagneaux L (2017) Mesenchymal stromal cells and Toll-like receptor priming: a critical review. Immune Netw 17:89–102
- Ning S, Pagano JS, Barber GN (2011) IRF7: activation, regulation, modification and function. Genes Immun 12:399-414
- Noda S, Kawashima N, Yamamoto M, Hashimoto K, Nara K, Sekiya I, Okiji T (2019) Effect of cell culture density on dental pulp-derived mesenchymal stem cells with reference to osteogenic differentiation. Sci Rep 9:5430
- Noronha NDC, Mizukami A, Caliári-Oliveira C, Cominal JG, Rocha JLM, Covas DT, Swiech K et al (2019) Priming approaches to improve the efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapies. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:131–131
- O'connell RM, Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Cheng G, Baltimore D (2007) MicroRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:1604–1609
- O'connell RM, Rao DS, Baltimore D (2012) microRNA regulation of inflammatory responses. Annu Rev Immunol 30:295–312
- Opitz CA, Litzenburger UM, Lutz C, Lanz TV, Tritschler I, Köppel A, Tolosa E et al (2009) Tolllike receptor engagement enhances the immunosuppressive properties of human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells by inducing indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase-1 via interferonbeta and protein kinase R. Stem Cells 27:909–919
- Otkur W, Liu W, Wang J, Jia X, Huang D, Wang F, Hayashi T et al (2018) Sub-lethal ultraviolet B irradiation and Poly I:C treatment synergistically induced apoptosis of HaCaT cells through NF-kappaB pathway. Mol Immunol 99:19–29
- Park KS, Kim SH, Das A, Yang SN, Jung KH, Kim MK, Berggren PO et al (2016) TLR3-/4priming differentially promotes Ca(2+) Signaling and cytokine expression and Ca(2+)dependently augments cytokine release in hMSCs. Sci Rep 6:23103
- Petri RM, Hackel A, Hahnel K, Dumitru CA, Bruderek K, Flohe SB, Paschen A et al (2017) Activated tissue-resident mesenchymal stromal cells regulate natural killer cell immune and tissue-regenerative function. Stem Cell Rep 9:985–998
- Pevsner-Fischer M, Morad V, Cohen-Sfady M, Rousso-Noori L, Zanin-Zhorov A, Cohen S, Cohen IR et al (2007) Toll-like receptors and their ligands control mesenchymal stem cell functions. Blood 109:1422–1432
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA et al (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284: 143–147
- Pittenger MF, Discher DE, Péault BM, Phinney DG, Hare JM, Caplan AI (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. Jpn Regen Med 4:22
- Qi C, Xiaofeng X, Xiaoguang W (2014) Effects of Toll-like receptors 3 and 4 in the osteogenesis of stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2014:917168
- Qiu Y, Guo J, Mao R, Chao K, Chen BL, He Y, Zeng ZR et al (2017) TLR3 preconditioning enhances the therapeutic efficacy of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in TNBS-induced colitis via the TLR3-Jagged-1-Notch-1 pathway. Mucosal Immunol 10:727–742

- Raicevic G, Rouas R, Najar M, Stordeur P, Boufker HI, Bron D, Martiat P et al (2010) Inflammation modifies the pattern and the function of Toll-like receptors expressed by human mesenchymal stromal cells. Hum Immunol 71:235–244
- Raicevic G, Najar M, Stamatopoulos B, De Bruyn C, Meuleman N, Bron D, Toungouz M et al (2011) The source of human mesenchymal stromal cells influences their TLR profile as well as their functional properties. Cell Immunol 270:207–216
- Romieu-Mourez R, François M, Boivin MN, Bouchentouf M, Spaner DE, Galipeau J (2009) Cytokine modulation of TLR expression and activation in mesenchymal stromal cells leads to a proinflammatory phenotype. J Immunol 182:7963–7973
- Roy A, Srivastava M, Saqib U, Liu D, Faisal SM, Sugathan S, Bishnoi S et al (2016) Potential therapeutic targets for inflammation in Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-mediated signaling pathways. Int Immunopharmacol 40:79–89
- Ryu JH, Park M, Kim BK, Ryu KH, Woo SY (2015) Tonsil-derived mesenchymal stromal cells produce CXCR2-binding chemokines and acquire follicular dendritic cell-like phenotypes under TLR3 stimulation. Cytokine 73:225–235
- Saldaña L, Bensiamar F, Vallés G, Mancebo FJ, García-Rey E, Vilaboa N (2019) Immunoregulatory potential of mesenchymal stem cells following activation by macrophage-derived soluble factors. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:58–58
- Sallustio F, Curci C, Stasi A, De Palma G, Divella C, Gramignoli R, Castellano G et al (2019, 2019) Role of Toll-like receptors in actuating stem/progenitor cell repair mechanisms: different functions in different cells. Stem Cells Int:6795845–6795845
- Sarkar SN, Peters KL, Elco CP, Sakamoto S, Pal S, Sen GC (2004) Novel roles of TLR3 tyrosine phosphorylation and PI3 kinase in double-stranded RNA signaling. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11: 1060–1067
- Seya T, Shime H, Takeda Y, Tatematsu M, Takashima K, Matsumoto M (2015) Adjuvant for vaccine immunotherapy of cancer–focusing on Toll-like receptor 2 and 3 agonists for safely enhancing antitumor immunity. Cancer Sci 106:1659–1668
- Shabbir A, Zisa D, Suzuki G, Lee T (2009) Heart failure therapy mediated by the trophic activities of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a noninvasive therapeutic regimen. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 296:H1888–H1897
- Shang S, Hua F, Hu ZW (2017) The regulation of beta-catenin activity and function in cancer: therapeutic opportunities. Oncotarget 8:33972–33989
- Shree N, Venkategowda S, Venkatranganna MV, Datta I, Bhonde RR (2019) Human adipose tissue mesenchymal stem cells as a novel treatment modality for correcting obesity induced metabolic dysregulation. Int J Obes 43:2107–2118
- Strayer DR, Carter WA, Stouch BC, Stevens SR, Bateman L, Cimoch PJ, Lapp CW et al (2012) A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, clinical trial of the TLR-3 agonist rintatolimod in severe cases of chronic fatigue syndrome. PLoS One 7:e31334
- Suzuki Y, Kim HW, Ashraf M, Haider HK (2010) Diazoxide potentiates mesenchymal stem cell survival via NF-κB-dependent miR-146a expression. Am J Physiol 2010(299):H1077–H1082
- Takeda K, Akira S (2004) TLR signaling pathways. Semin Immunol 16:3–9
- Tomchuck SL, Zwezdaryk KJ, Coffelt SB, Waterman RS, Danka ES, Scandurro AB (2008) Tolllike receptors on human mesenchymal stem cells drive their migration and immunomodulating responses. Stem Cells 26:99–107
- Tomchuck S, Henkle SL, Coffelt SB, Betancourt AM (2012) Toll-like receptor 3 and suppressor of cytokine signaling proteins regulate CXCR4 and CXCR7 expression in bone marrow-derived human multipotent stromal cells. PLoS One 7:e39592
- Tomic S, Djokic J, Vasilijic S, Vucevic D, Todorovic V, Supic G, Colic M (2011) Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental pulp and dental follicle are susceptible to activation by Toll-like receptor agonists. Stem Cells Dev 20:695–708
- Uccelli A, Moretta L, Pistoia V (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8:726–736

- Ullah MO, Sweet MJ, Mansell A, Kellie S, Kobe B (2016) TRIF-dependent TLR signaling, its functions in host defense and inflammation, and its potential as a therapeutic target. J Leukoc Biol 100:27–45
- Wang Y, Liu L, Davies DR, Segal DM (2010) Dimerization of Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) is required for ligand binding. J Biol Chem 285:36836–36841
- Waterman RS, Tomchuck SL, Henkle SL, Betancourt AM (2010) A new mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) paradigm: polarization into a pro-inflammatory MSC1 or an immunosuppressive MSC2 phenotype. PLoS One 5:e10088
- Weiss ARR, Dahlke MH (2019) Immunomodulation by Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs): mechanisms of action of living, apoptotic, and dead MSCs. Front Immunol 10:1191–1191
- Wu M, Zhang R, Zou Q, Chen Y, Zhou M, Li X, Ran R et al (2018) Comparison of the biological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the human placenta and umbilical cord. Sci Rep 8:5014
- Wu X, Lei C, Xia T, Zhong X, Yang Q, Shu HB (2019) Regulation of TRIF-mediated innate immune response by K27-linked polyubiquitination and deubiquitination. Nat Commun 10:4115
- Yamashita M, Fatyol K, Jin C, Wang X, Liu Z, Zhang YE (2008) TRAF6 mediates Smadindependent activation of JNK and p38 by TGF-beta. Mol Cell 31:918–924
- Yamashita M, Chattopadhyay S, Fensterl V, Saikia P, Wetzel JL, Sen GC (2012a) Epidermal growth factor receptor is essential for Toll-like receptor 3 signaling. Sci Signal 5:ra50
- Yamashita M, Chattopadhyay S, Fensterl V, Zhang Y, Sen GC (2012b) A TRIF-independent branch of TLR3 signaling. J Immunol 188:2825–2833
- Yeh DW, Huang LR, Chen YW, Huang CF, Chuang TH (2016) Interplay between inflammation and stemness in cancer cells: the role of Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol Res 2016:4368101
- Yoshizawa T, Hammaker D, Sweeney SE, Boyle DL, Firestein GS (2008) Synoviocyte innate immune responses: I. Differential regulation of interferon responses and the JNK pathway by MAPK kinases. J Immunol 181:3252–3258
- Zhang SY, Herman M, Ciancanelli MJ, Perez De Diego R, Sancho-Shimizu V, Abel L, Casanova JL (2013) TLR3 immunity to infection in mice and humans. Curr Opin Immunol 25:19–33
- Zhang L, Liu D, Pu D, Wang Y, Li L, He Y, Li Y et al (2015) The role of Toll-like receptor 3 and 4 in regulating the function of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from umbilical cord. Int J Mol Med 35:1003–1010
- Zhao X, Ai M, Guo Y, Zhou X, Wang L, Li X, Yao C (2012) Poly I:C-induced tumor cell apoptosis mediated by pattern-recognition receptors. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 27:530–534
- Zhao X, Liu D, Gong W, Zhao G, Liu L, Yang L, Hou Y (2014) The Toll-like receptor 3 ligand, poly (I:C), improves immunosuppressive function and therapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells on sepsis via inhibiting MiR-143. Stem Cells 32:521–533
- Zhu Y, Li Q, Zhou Y, Li W (2019) TLR activation inhibits the osteogenic potential of human periodontal ligament stem cells through Akt signaling in a Myd88- or TRIF-dependent manner. J Periodontol 90:400–415



Targeting Cancer Stem Cells: New Perspectives for a Cure to Cancer

44

Beatrice Aramini, Valentina Masciale, Giulia Grisendi, Federico Banchelli, Roberto D'Amico, Massimo Dominici, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	1305
Role of Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) in the Tumor	1305
Markers in CSCS: A New Approach Against Tumor	1306
Targeting CSCs	1309
The Hedgehog Signaling Pathway	1309
The Notch Signaling Pathway	1310
The Wnt Signaling Pathway	1310
Targeting ALDH as the Drug-Detoxify Enzymes Against CSCs	1311
Targeting Drug Efflux Pumps	1312
Targeting the CSC Niche and the Quiescent State	1312

B. Aramini (🖂)

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine– DIMES of the Alma Mater Studiorum, University of Bologna, G.B. Morgagni–L. Pierantoni Hospital, Forlì, Italy

e-mail: beatrice.aramini2@unibo.it

V. Masciale

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy e-mail: valentina.masciale@unimore.it

G. Grisendi · M. Dominici Division of Oncology, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy e-mail: giulia.grisendi@unimore.it; massimo.dominici@unimore.it

F. Banchelli · R. D'Amico

Center of Statistic, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy e-mail: roberto.damico@unimore.i

K. H. Haider

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 31

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

An Update on the Most Used Target Therapies Against CSCs	1313
Oncolytic Adenovirus	1315
Oncolytic Herpes Simplex Viruses	1316
Oncolytic Virus and Its Effects in Recent Clinical Trials	1317
Oncolytic Adenoviruses and Pancreatic Clinical Trials	1317
Oncolytic Herpes Simplex Viruses and Pancreatic Clinical Trials	1318
Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes as Therapeutic Carriers	1319
Conclusions and Future Directions	1320
References	1320

Abstract

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are present in many solid tumors. Their signaling pathways and functions may be the key to developing new anticancer strategies against cancer. Several studies have linked the signaling pathways' (e.g., Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways) aberrant activation to the development of numerous cancers. These signaling pathways hence provide attractive targets for further study toward new therapies. CSCs show several characteristics, such as self-renewal, differentiation, high tumorigenicity, and resistance to anticancer drugs. Drug resistance is the most useful in further evaluating the possibilities of reducing tumor mass or eliminating cancer by discovering new therapies. One of the key questions concerns the necessity of identifying superficial as well as intracellular markers, which are essential if the drug is to respond positively to CSCs. In recent years, CD133, CD44, ABCG2, and ALDH have been identified as biomarkers for certain forms of CSCs. However, recent studies have contributed to a better understanding of CSC-specific antigens; to date, there is no univocal characterization of antigens for CSCs. Our chapter aims to highlight the importance of identifying new markers to develop new therapeutic strategies against cancer.

Keywords

Cancer · Cancer stem cells · Chemotherapy · Radioresistance · Tumor

	i criacionis
ABCG2	ATP-binding cassette subfamily-G member 2 (ABCG
ALDH1	Aldehyde dehydrogenase1
CSCs	Cancer stem cells
Gli	Glioma-associated oncogene homolog
GCSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
HCS	High-content screening
HDECC	High drug efflux cancer cell inhibitors
HMGA2	High mobility group AT-hook 2
IFN-α	Interferon-a
MDR	Multidrug-resistant proteins
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species

List of Abbreviations

Introduction

Role of Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) in the Tumor

One of the recurring problems that remain unresolved about cancer is the possibility of developing local and/or distant recurrence (Sopik et al. 2018; Hung et al. 2012). The tumor relapse comes from its multiple cell types' composition, which contributes to our capacity to abolish tumor to replication. CSCs partially control the cancer heterogeneity CSCs described for the first time in 1928 by Krebs and colleagues. They discovered similarities in the mechanisms involved in tumor development and the development of embryos (Krebs 1947). However, the first real CSC model was reported in a small population of cells considered *the leukemia promoter* (Terstappen et al. 1991; Bao et al. 2013; Schulenburg et al. 2015). The subsequent studies have shown that the only cell type capable of forming tumors was CSCs. This aspect was demonstrated in different types of cancers when CSCs were implanted into experimental animal models. Only in 2005, the scientists were able to test the presence of these tumor-initiating cells in solid cancers, such as in breast, brain, and intestine cancer, and melanoma using a transgenic mouse model (Cho et al. 2008; Alcantara Llaguno et al. 2009; Barker et al. 2009; Fang et al. 2005).

CSCs have been extensively studied and characterized during the last decade. CSCs show similar characteristics to normal stem cells, such as the capacity to grow, self-renew, and disseminate to other tissues and organs during the metastatic process (Bonnet and Dick 1997). CSCs show resistance to apoptosis besides possessing the ability to escape immune surveillance. This involvement of CSCs and lymphocytes has been already discussed in the recently published literature (Ravindran et al. 2019). In a study published by Masciale et al. (2019a), the authors have reported a correlation between cytotoxic tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes CD3+ and CD8+ and lung CSCs, which could be useful for the development of future therapies in the field of precision medicine, tailored on the specific marker besides the different roles of lymphocytes against lung cancer. These data show that lymphocytes may have a strategic role in tumor development and cell-cell interactions.

In summary, CSCs interact with tumor epithelial cells, tumor microenvironment, and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. They are considered as one of the most important causes of resistance to chemotherapy besides their involvement in radioresistance and loss of the DNA repair of the tumor cells inside the tumor caused by radiations. These also induce the destruction of mitochondrial membranes and functions by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) (Schulz et al. 2019; Pilié et al. 2019; Azzam et al. 2012; Schieber and Chandel 2014). The physiologic intracellular mechanisms can maintain ROS' presence, which may protect the cells against the oxidative stress induced by radiations (Trachootham et al. 2009).

Several studies have attempted to identify the leading causes of resistance due to CSCs. They found that many intracellular pathologic factors such as quiescence, dormancy, transporter accumulation, cell reprogramming, interruption of apoptosis, and metabolic pathways may reinforce the tumor resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy of this subpopulation of cells. The commonly used treatment for

oncologic patients, including surgical resection, may reduce the tumor mass but fails to destroy all the cells with the cancer relapse (Arruebo et al. 2011). For this reason, scientists believe that the development of new targeted drugs able to target CSC will be beneficial to overcome tumor resistance. The possibility of CSC-targeted treatment options will provide a novel "door opening door" for the development of more personalized medicine in the field of solid tumors.

Clinical trials are underway to study the pharmacokinetics, safety, and efficacy of combination treatment; however, there are no drugs available for lung cancer that specifically could target CSCs (Aramini et al. 2020a). The combination of "old treatments" associated with targeted CSC-specific agents will probably set a more personalized oncologic medicine that may be more promising in terms of response than the existing anticancer therapies.

Markers in CSCS: A New Approach Against Tumor

One of the most debated aspects of CSCs is their existence and identification of tumors (Prager et al. 2019). The scientists have attempted to characterize several solid tumors for the presence of CSCs for their surface markers, although the discussion is still open for the complexity of their identification (Sun et al. 2019). Identifying CSCs in human tissue or cell lines is essential to set effective new target therapies against cancer. As CSCs have many characteristics in common with normal stem cells, the scientists believe that specific markers, as superficial markers, are especially useful to identify them (Franco et al. 2016).

For their innate characteristics, as the capacity to form non-adherent spheres and their intracellular mechanisms, several assays have been found to identify CSCs (Dou and Gu 2010; Alison et al. 2011; Ghani et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2011; Dou et al. 2007). In particular, in vitro studies demonstrated that markers as aldehyde dehydrogenase1 (ALDH1), CD133, and others might be suitable for identifying CSCs (Zhao et al. 2017; Kim and Ryu 2017; Klonisch et al. 2008). Besides surface markers, specific signaling pathways, sphere-forming assays, and other relevant specific assays are being developed for CSC identification and characterization (Table 1). However, to demonstrate CSCs' presence, in vivo experiments are being used to augment previously reported data from the in vitro studies. These data are significant to characterize CSCs in terms of tumor development and dissemination. For this reason, scientists have opted to transplant CSCs into experimental animal models. Despite the importance of these models, which are in use since 1902 for genetic studies on mice (Cheng et al. 2010; Aiken and Werbowetski-Ogilvie 2013), new technologies have emerged during the last decade. For example, 3D culture technologies, which aid preclinical studies for drug testing and promote the tumor-sphere formation, represent the first step in simulating the in vivo model (Ericsson et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2020; Candini et al. 2020). The determination of this malignant cell subpopulation, CSCs, in the tumor mass remains a complicated process. Surface markers are the most commonly and frequently used for identifying CSCs in many solid tumors (Xia 2014; Sullivan et al. 2010).

Target	Cancer type	Effector	Preclinical result	References
ALDH	Melanoma	Nanodisc (ND) vaccination	Nanodisc vaccination against ALDH ^{high} CSCs combined with anti-PD-L1 therapy exerted potent antitumor efficacy and prolonged animal survival in multiple murine mode	Hassani et al. (2020)
ALDH	NSCLC	DIMATE, an irreversible inhibitor of ALDH1/3	In lung cancer xenografts with high to moderate cisplatin resistance, combination treatment with DIMATE promoted strong synergistic responses with tumor regression	Rebollido- Rios et al. (2020)
ALDH1A1	Ovarian cancer	Solanum incanum extract	Notch1 and FoxM1 were downregulated, which resulted in increased chemotherapeutic sensitivities	Wu et al. (2015)
ALDH	Ovarian cancer	Disulfiram (DSF)	DSF enhances cisplatin cytotoxicity in ALDH + cells	Guo et al. (2019)
STAT3	Gastro/intestinal cancer	Napabucasin (BBI-608, Boston Biomedical Inc., MA, USA)	BBI-608 target and inhibit gene transcription induced by STAT3 and cancer cell stemness properties	Sonbol et al. (2019)
CD133	Hepatocellular carcinoma, colorectal cancer, and melanoma	SS2 virus, an oncolytic HSV-1	SS2 inhibits in vivo growth of tumors in subcutaneous mouse model for melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and colorectal cancer	Terai et al. (2018)
CD133	Testicular and embryonal carcinoma	BST204-a fermented ginseng extract	Treatment with BST204 (25, 50, and 100 μ g/mL) inhibited the proliferation of NCCIT cells in a dose-dependent manner	Park et al. (2020)
Hedgehog	Bladder	Cyclopamine	Tumor formation was suppressed via inhibition of GALNT1 that mediates SHH signaling	Li et al. (2016)
Hedgehog	NSCLC and small-cell lung cancer	GDC-0449	GDC-0449, an inhibitor of the hedgehog pathway, demonstrated its efficacy in both NSCLC and small-cell lung cancer via suppression of stemness-related features	Shibata and Hoque (2019)

 Table 1
 Therapeutic attempts to target CSC

(continued)

Target	Cancer type	Effector	Preclinical result	References
Hedgehog	Ovarian cancer	GDC-0449 (vismodegib derivative) and sonidegib (LDE225)	Since the SHH pathway plays an important role in self-implantation of CSC and other characteristics of these cells, its inhibition may disrupt CSC stemness through differentiation of these cells	Keyvani et al. (2019)
KLF5	Breast carcinoma	Metformin	Metformin suppresses TNBC stem cells partially through the inhibition of KLF5	Shi et al. (2017)
KLF4/PI3K/ Akt/p21	Prostate cancer	MicroRNA-7	miR-7 is as a suppressor of prostate CSCs and via suppressing the KLF4/ PI3K/Akt/p21 pathway	Chang et al. (2015)
Wnt/β-catenin	Breast cancer	Pyrvinium pamoate	CD44 ⁺ CD24 ^{-/low} and ALDH ⁺ cells were suppressed by downregulating <i>NANOG</i> , <i>OCT4</i> , and <i>SOX2</i>	Rodriguez et al. (2019)
Wnt/β-catenin	Breast cancer	Resveratrol	Resveratrol could eliminate breast CSCs in primary xenografts and consequently abrogate the regrowth of tumors in secondary mice	Fu et al. (2014)
YAP1	Head and neck squamous carcinoma cells	Verteporfin	Verteporfin suppresses the proliferation, epithelial- mesenchymal transition, and stemness of head and neck squamous carcinoma cells	Liu et al. (2019)

 Table 1 (continued)

The most established surface markers to identify CSCs are CD133, CD24, and CD44 besides intracellular enzyme aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH), which relates well to both solid tumors and lung cancer (Qiu et al. 2019). The main issue regarding surface markers is to discriminate between their isoform expressions in various organs. For example, Al-Hajj et al. found that CD44/CD24 surface marker expression was related to the cells' capacity to form a tumor mass, while its other isoforms did not show this potential (Al-Hajj et al. 2003). Similarly, Li et al. described similar results have for other organ cancers, i.e., in human pancreatic cancer (Li et al. 2007). Regarding lung cancer, for example, Sullivan et al. 2010 tested ALDH in several cell lines and human tissue samples (Sullivan et al. 2010). In 2019, Masciale et al. compared the isolated ALDH^{high} population with the marker CD44+. They found that these two subpopulations did not match exactly and found a broader population

in CD44+ than in ALDH^{high} (Masciale et al. 2019, 2020b). The comparison between ALDH^{high} and CD44+/EpCAM+ identified a remarkably similar cell population. This study represents the first attempt demonstrating how markers that seemingly identify CSCs do not always identify similar populations. In summary, the consideration of surface markers is not enough to isolate CSCs and, therefore, necessitate combining surface markers with other mechanisms to identify and target them.

Targeting CSCs

The Hedgehog Signaling Pathway

CSC formation seems to primarily derive from the dysregulation or the aberrant activation of intracellular signaling pathways which are numerous (Matsui 2016). The most well studied of these signaling pathways include Hedgehog pathway, Notch, Wnt/b-catenin, the high mobility group AT-hook 2 (HMGA2), Bcl-2, and Bmi-1, among many others (Pelullo et al. 2019). Further in-depth knowledge of these mechanisms will allow the researchers to exploit them to find novel anticancer therapies. Signaling pathways generally comprise the expression of a network of genes and their encoded proteins that can regulate diverse intracellular processes. These pathways are significantly involved in self-renewal, maintenance, proliferation, differentiation, and cell migration. In contrast, the aberrant expression of the genes/ protein involved therein or their dysregulation can lead to the development of CSCs, which are the inductors of tumorigenesis (Olivares-Urbano et al. 2020).

For example, the Hedgehog signaling pathway controls several biological activities in the normal cells and stem cells' development, and it is central to the regulation of different solid tumors (Olivares-Urbano et al. 2020; Petrova and Joyner 2014). Hedgehog signaling's dysregulated activation signaling is crucial for tumor initiation, infiltration, dissemination, and chemoresistance. In particular, the activation of Hedgehog signaling is initiated by the interaction between the Hedgehog protein and the cellular transmembrane patched (Ptch), resulting in a gene cascade control that is crucial for several cell functions as the cells proliferate, disseminate, and self-renew (Jia et al. 2015). The Hh signaling's abnormal activation induces cellular alteration processes with the consequent transformation of normal cells into cancer cells. In particular, recently published data show that Hedgehog signaling forms the basis of CSC equilibrium in many solid tumors (Pietrobono et al. 2019; Gotschel et al. 2013; Filbin et al. 2013; Gulino et al. 2010), and hence it seems to be one of the leading causes of resistance against cancer therapy (Gurung et al. 2013).

Recent studies have studied the effect of inhibiting the Hedgehog signaling pathway (Pietrobono et al. 2019; Gotschel et al. 2013; Filbin et al. 2013; Gulino et al. 2010; Gupta et al. 2010). For example, the drugs, which inhibit the molecule smoothened (SMO), i.e., cyclopamine and GDC-0449 (vismodegib), do not perform well against cancers harboring lesions that lie downstream of the SMO (Gupta et al. 2010). Other drugs seem to be effective against the glioma-associated oncogene

homolog (Gli) proteins and the Gli transcriptional activity or the combination of different factors with the inhibition of CSCs' main characteristics, for example, the capacity to self-generate (Gurung et al. 2013).

The Notch Signaling Pathway

The Notch pathway has a vital role in the communications that occur among adult stem cells and during embryo development (Yu et al. 2008; Nguyen et al. 2006). Four receptors (Notch-1-Notch-4) and their ligands Deltalike1, Deltalike3, and Deltalike4 and Jagged 1 and Jagged 2 activate the Notch with a cascade of multiple genes (Serneels et al. 2005; D'Souza et al. 2010; Kovall et al. 2017). The Notch pathway's prominent role is in stem cell evolution, from initiation to apoptosis, but it also has an oncogenic/oncosuppressive role, depending on the tumor microenvironment (Nowell and Radtke 2013). Besides its pivotal role in intercellular communication, Notch signaling's most interesting characteristic is its double function as an oncogenic protein in several solid tumors. In contrast, it acts as a tumor suppressor in others (Dotto 2008). Given this differential role, researchers have started to consider it a potential novel target to eliminate CSCs (Wang et al. 2010, 2011; Pannuti et al. 2010; Qiao and Wong 2009; Fan et al. 2010). Tetering et al. have reported that abrogation of the Notch pathway blocks the proteolytic process (Van Tetering and Vooijs 2011). Lim et al. used g-secretase inhibitors (GSIs) to reduce primary stem cell characteristics (Lim et al. 2015). They asserted that blocking the Notch pathway in glioblastoma helps establish new target therapies to counter CSCs. Treatment with GSI MRK-003 destroys cancer stemlike cells, with the consequent blocking of the tumor and dissemination into the body (Venkatesh et al. 2018; Grudzien et al. 2010; Ng et al. 2019). The only limitation is that GSI MRK-003 is nonselective as it could block four Notch ligands and several substrates of the g-secretase. Despite interesting data, further mechanistic investigations are required to understand its toxic effects on human organs.

The Wnt Signaling Pathway

Another critical pathway subject of recent interest and useful for developing future generations' targeted therapies against CSCs is the Wnt signaling pathway, which is involved in all the steps about the stem cell generation, progression, up to differentiation (Ng et al. 2019; Komiya and Habas 2008). The most rigorously defined Wnt pathways are the Wnt/b-catenin signaling pathway that starts when a Wnt glycoprotein binds with a cell receptor to initiate the activation of a cascade (Macdonald et al. 2009; Franch-Marro et al. 2008). The role of the Wnt pathway is crucial for stem cell regeneration and the preservation of CSCs; however, mutations in the signaling molecules or inactivation of cell processes may induce the dysregulation of this pathway with the induction of cell proliferation and tumor dissemination (Huang and He 2008; Itasaki et al. 2003; Itoh et al. 2005).

Nevertheless, mutations can interfere not only with the Wnt signaling pathway but also with the tumor microenvironment. For example, biologic inhibitors or drugs may block or prevent the interactions between the ligand and the receptor. These small molecules can inhibit the Wnt target enzymes, reduce CSCs' drug resistance and proliferation, etc. (Jamora et al. 2003; Artem et al. 2020). A study published in 2017 by Wiese et al. (2017) showed that the drug ICG-001 might positively effect tumorigenicity of pediatric glioma tumorigenicity by a Wnt-independent regulation of genes. Another technique used for inhibiting Wnt signaling is the RNA interference technology to downregulate the beta-catenin expression, resultant reduction in several CSC properties, and the silencing of stemness genes as OCT-4 (Hadjimichael et al. 2015).

In summary, targeting the Wnt pathway is another practical and effective approach in developing and investigating the future of targeted treatment approach for solid tumors. This capacity to target this mechanism will also be essential to better control normal stem cell activities, differentiating CSCs from normal ones in tumors (Takahashi-Yanaga and Kahn 2010; Yang et al. 2020; Vassalli 2019). This aspect would help target only the cancerous cells in the tumor.

Targeting ALDH as the Drug-Detoxify Enzymes Against CSCs

ALDH is the most used marker for the identification of CSCs. During these past 10 years, several publications described its role as a useful and reliable predictive marker for CSCs (Masciale et al. 2019, 2020; Vassalli 2019; Ho and Weiner 2005; Walcher et al. 2020; Croker et al. 2009; https://clinicaltrials.gov/; Singh et al. 2013; Croker et al. 2017). In particular, in 2010, Sullivan et al. showed that ALDH-positive cells had the characteristics of cancer stemlike cells in NSCLC lines (Sullivan et al. 2010) and lung primary cell cultures. ALDH has also been described in benign diseases (Ho and Weiner 2005) although it is highly expressed in lung epithelial cancer cells. This aspect is exciting and opened the door of recent studies on ALDH as a NAD(P)b-dependent enzyme catalyzing the aldehydes' oxidation into carboxylic acids (Ho and Weiner 2005). ALDH superfamily encompasses different isoenzymes, but the most used in detecting CSCs are ALDH1A1 and ALDH1A3. However, the possibility of targeting to set personalized therapy for CSCs is still debated (Walcher et al. 2020). For example, Masciale V. et al. recently demonstrated that the ALDH^{high} cell population does not correlate with CD44+ cells in lung adenocarcinoma. However, the ALDH^{high} cells are positively correlated with CD44+/EpCAM+ cell subpopulation (Masciale et al. 2020).

Croker et al. (2009) demonstrated a subpopulation of cells identified by the ALDH marker, among others, might be the driver of metastasis in breast cancer and the cause of resistance to traditional chemotherapies or radiotherapy in epithelial cancer cell lines. However, although some clinical trials on ALDH (disulfiram and DIMATE) are running at the moment trying to identify a drug which can be effective against solid tumors (Singh et al. 2013; Croker et al. 2017), there is not enough clarification about ALDH isoform markers in terms of their predictive value and

targeted therapy against cancer. Several future studies are needed to increase the knowledge about this important family of enzymes.

Targeting Drug Efflux Pumps

The efflux systems to get rid of the xenobiotic substances in the cells are involved in diverse CSCs' processes similar to their involvement in normal stem cells. Their presence protects the cells from xenobiotic molecules such as chemotherapeutic agents, toxins, and drugs in general. Many ABC transporters' family members mediate the efflux of cytotoxic chemotherapeutics and are called multidrug-resistant (MDR) proteins. MDR proteins are the ATP-binding cassette subfamily-G member 2 (ABCG2) described in breast cancer resistant cells (BCRP) involved in CSC compartments as some MDR transporters are much more prominent in CSCs than cancer cells and healthy cells (Prabavathy et al. 2018). ABCG2 overexpression maintains stem cell compartments by supporting their ability to counteract chemotherapeutic agents (Xiao et al. 2006). ABCG2 is a characteristic feature of CSCs akin to other non-CSCs with self-renewal, lineage capacity, tumorigenicity, and expression of stem cell-specific markers (Xiao et al. 2006).

To visualize and identify potent high drug efflux cancer cell inhibitors (HDECC), scientists applied an image-based high-content screening (HCS) starting from 1280 pharmacologically active molecules (Xia et al. 2010; Ansbro et al. 2013). This assay showed that these inhibitors could overcome multidrug resistance, increasing the chemotherapy's efficacy or reducing the tumorigenicity of cancer cells that might affect stemlike cancer cells. The ABCG2 seems to be fundamental in detecting the side population of various cancer types. It is essential to consider that these abovecited markers equally identify CSCs and normal healthy stem cells. Information should be taken into account during targeted therapy to find the best treatment, avoiding side effects (Wijaya et al. 2017). Therefore, the combined use of chemotherapy and inhibitors precisely targeting ABC drug transporters of CSCs may serve as an effective strategy for eradicating CSCs.

Targeting the CSC Niche and the Quiescent State

The stem cell niche provides an ideal tissue microenvironment conducive to the growth and maintenance of stemness (Morrison and Spradling 2008). Regarding this aspect, both CSCs and normal stem cells reside in their respective CSCs' niche or a stem cells' niche. The conducive niche microenvironment provides nourishment and adequate signals to regulate, first, self-renewal and, second, normal physiological processes such as those of inflammation, epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), hypoxia, and angiogenesis (Morrison and Spradling 2008). In particular, stemness depends on extrinsic factors disposed of by the cancer microenvironment (Cabarcas et al. 2011), as happens in the colon CSC population, described by Vermeulen et al., in which the Wnt pathway regulates the colon CSCs (Vermeulen

et al. 2010). Moreover, it is a condition in which the brain tumor's microvasculature was crucial for niche and consequently for the support of CSCs (Seidel et al. 2010). For that reason, the vascular niches should be targeted for future therapeutic strategies to affect CSCs. Hypoxia has a crucial role in tumor growth since the hypoxic tumor microenvironment also sustains CSCs (Seidel et al. 2010).

Regarding hypoxia, antiangiogenic therapies promote hypoxia within the CSCs' niche, causing radioresistance to the CSCs, as occurring with the use of sunitinib and bevacizumab, as described by Conley and Wicha (2012). In this study, there was an intra-tumoral hypoxic environment created that leads to a stimulation of CSCs. Consequently, the study suggested that antiangiogenic treatments in combination with CSC-targeted drugs may be a better and more effective option. For example, it is essential to note the positive anticancer effects produced by the inhibitors for hypoxia-inducible factor1a (HIF-1a) that could serve as a basis for effective therapy (Zhong et al. 2000). Indeed, targeting the CSCs' niche in combination with chemotherapy will be a therapeutic intervention approach for eradicating these cells. This is fundamental for decision-making during cancer therapy because CSCs are resistant to traditional chemotherapy due to their quiescent state (Iwasaki and Suda 2009; Cheung and Rando 2013).

Current treatment strategies can inhibit tumor growth or DNA synthesis but are ineffective as a long-term response to cancer. Unlike other cancer cells, CSCs can remain resting, shielded from the external stimuli to prevent their replicative potential (He et al. 2017; Cheung and Rando 2013). CSCs are slow-cycling cells, a characteristic that helps them protect against chemoradiotherapy agents (Kusumbe and Bapat 2009). Therefore, strategies that induce CSCs to enter the cell cycle will enhance their susceptibility to chemotherapy (Plaks et al. 2015). Recent research has shown interferon- α (IFN- α), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), or As₂O₃ is useful in this regard (Han et al. 2013). Therefore, the combination of IFN- α , G-CSF, or As₂O₃ with chemotherapeutic factors may effectively target the dormant CSCs. The future advances in anticancer treatment may be characterized by therapeutic methods that can target the stem cell niche, affecting the primary source of nourishment and intracellular signal for CSCs (Han et al. 2013).

An Update on the Most Used Target Therapies Against CSCs

One of the main areas necessitating innovation in cancer treatment is studying the mechanism of the development of resistance and relapse of the disease. This is generally considered a kind of failure in anticancer therapy development due to an apparent lack of specific targeting that directly attacks the tumor. During the past 10 years, stem cells have attracted interest in the scientific community for biological characteristics such as self-renewal, the capacity to migrate, and the modulation of cell interactions, among others. The scientists have mainly focused their attention on discovering new markers to better identify these cell populations (Plaks et al. 2015; Han et al. 2013; Xuan et al. 2019). Diverse approaches have been considered for



Fig. 1 Advanced cancer therapy. New perspectives in cancer therapies consist of different approaches using the great potential of the MSC by using genetic engineering, oncolytic virus, and nanoparticles releasing drugs or exosomes. Moreover, immunization technique with both vaccines and chimeric antibody is also investigated to enhance the immune response against cancer

stem cell therapy: HSC transplantation, MSC infusion, stem cells as carriers or generators of immune cell interactions, and vaccine production (Fig. 1).

In the last decade, biological characterization of CSCs has remained an area of immense interest, including their potential for self-renewal, the capacity to migrate, the modulation of cell interactions, etc. (Plaks et al. 2015; Han et al. 2013; Xuan et al. 2019). In particular, scientists have focused their attention on discovering new markers to identify these cell populations. There are ongoing difficulties in identifying unique markers. In particular, several vital drugs are not always effective in anticancer therapy, which is why patients have a frequent relapse and eventually succumb to the disease. One of the most urgent problems that require the immediate attention of researchers is drug resistance, which remains a challenge for modern medical oncologic treatments (Xuan et al. 2019). In particular, scientists discovered a small population of cells during the past two decades, similar to stem cells in their intrinsic characteristics but derived from the tumor itself. These cells are defined as CSCs and known for their self-renewal, differentiation, and tumorigenicity: these traits seem to be what causes cancer relapse and tumor dissemination (Han et al. 2013; Xuan et al. 2019; Kuczynski et al. 2019). Several interventional approaches have been tested to target this population of cells; however, currently, the two most utilized techniques in targeting CSCs are virotherapy through the oncolytic virus and miRNAs as CSC targets (Fig. 1).

An oncolytic virus (OV) destroys tumor cells with mechanisms that work differently from traditional medical treatments (Jain and Stylianopoulos 2010). These mechanisms involve specific genes against cancer cells. However, when defining the possibilities and advantages of virotherapy, we should be aware and conscious of the limitations that hinder the development of new therapies for solid tumors. Scientists are attempting to exploit specific characteristics of the virus, i.e., tropism, the viral capacity of diffusion into the body, antiviral immunity, the delivery platforms, etc. (Maroun et al. 2017). However, the unique obstacles hindering their development include the physical barriers that prevent viral diffusion into the tumor and its passage through the endothelium (Kuczynski et al. 2019). A significant barrier for the OVs can be the host's immune surveillance mechanism. Bioactive factors, including cytokines and chemokines, and growth factors secreted by the tumor cells activate immune cells against OVs.

Additionally, the OVs may develop a robust innate response with an uncontrolled reaction against cancer but also against other tissues (Jain and Stylianopoulos 2010; Maroun et al. 2017; Hagedorn and Kreppel 2017; Guedan and Alemany 2018; Sharp and Lattime 2016; Nayyar et al. 2019; Oh et al. 2018; Vaupel 2004). It is pertinent to mention that OVs are capable of stimulating an effective immune response, both specific and innate, and the massive release of coagulation factors together with the complement proteins (Jain and Stylianopoulos 2010; Maroun et al. 2017; Hagedorn and Kreppel 2017; Guedan and Alemany 2018; Sharp and Lattime 2016; Nayyar et al. 2019; Oh et al. 2018; Vaupel 2004). It remains undetermined how many OVs reach the tumor-specific site, as they are very likely to be eliminated by the immune system (Hagedorn and Kreppel 2017; Guedan and Alemany 2018; Sharp and Lattime 2016). Once OVs target the tumor, the most crucial aspect is that they maintain intrinsic properties, such as the capacity to induce immune suppression of the TME to kill cancer cells and block tumor cell dissemination. Unfortunately, current studies are not setting out how to improve virotherapy's effectiveness against cancer in terms of tumor targeting, virus delivery, and dissemination. Therefore, it is imperative to distinguish the best virus species for OVs to reduce the events of tumor-targeting failures (Zheng et al. 2019).

Oncolytic Adenovirus

During the past two decades, oncolytic adenovirus (Ad) has gained popularity for cancer gene therapy primarily due to its ability to precisely infect and replicate in tumor cells. Given that the oncolytic antitumor activity is inadequate to eradicate tumors, different strategies based on genetic engineering have been developed to improve the efficacy of the cancer-targeting gene-virotherapy (Liu et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2003). There are examples of genetically modified Ad eliminating E1B protein which blocks a p53-independent apoptosis mechanism or a portion of E1A involved in binding the retinoblastoma (Rb) protein since the significant part of CSCs has a defect in Rb and/or p53 pathway (Wang et al. 2015b; Lei et al. 2013). For this transcriptional target therapy, a specific cancer promoter has been used to control the

initial phases of the viral replication. Recently, GP73 protein and its promoter were used to regulate the activity of the E1A and E1B proteins to treat hepatocellular carcinoma (Mao et al. 2010; Fimmel and Wright 2009; Wang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2016). For example, the ZD55 and GD55 oncolytic viruses were tested for efficacy against lung CSCs. The result, much higher with GD55, was a significant increase in apoptosis rate due to the cytotoxic effect and oncolysis. Indeed, GD55 could represent a hopeful agent to develop target therapy for lung CSCs.

Regarding ZD55, as reported by Zhang and colleagues (2003), the increased acetylcholinesterase activity induced by the OV is responsible for a substantial antitumor effect against gastric cancer. This result is achieved by inhibiting the tumor growth in the gastric cancer cells and stem cells, whereas a low dosage of the ZD55 OV affects apoptosis (Zhang et al. 2003; Xu et al. 2014). Instead, Yano et al. investigated the efficacy of OB-301 telomerase-specific OV against gastric cancer cells (Yano et al. 2013). The oncolytic adenovirus allowed an efficient response by the killing of CD133+ cells responsible for chemoresistance and radioresistance. The CD133+ cells contributed to protection through their ability to remain in a dormant state were pushed to enter the cell cycle and then became a target to be killed by OBP-301.

Oncolytic Herpes Simplex Viruses

The oncolytic herpes simplex virus (OncoHSV) belongs to the neurotropic virus category, which is primarily effective against cancers of the nervous system (Li et al. 2020). For example, the FDA has authorized a phase III trial to treat melanoma using the oncolytic virus named T-VEC, which is administered either alone or in combination with other medical therapies (Bommareddy et al. 2017). Even if the OncoHSV is specific for neurological malignancies, their efficacy has also been tested in colon cancer with encouraging data. There was a selective killing of the cancer stemlike cells in vitro and in vivo (Bommareddy et al. 2017; Hill and Carlisle 2019). As for the cancer of the nervous system, the designed OncoHSV named YE-PC8, which regulates the cell cycle, was responsible for 80% of the tumor regression in glioma (de Sostoa et al. 2019; Kahramanian et al. 2019; Dmitrieva et al. 2011; Mckee et al. 2006; Guedan et al. 2010; Desjardins et al. 2018). Regarding metastatic gastric cancer resisting the standard chemotherapy treatments, the use of OncoHSV NV1020 was considered as a novel treatment option and led to an overall improved survival during a phase I clinical study due to reduced tumor growth (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00149396). Also, another OncoHSV directed against gastrointestinal cancer showed promising results avoiding side effects (Yang et al. 2016). A recent study has demonstrated that another OncoHSV was potent in the killing of glioma CSCs (Kambara et al. 2005). This oncovirus, developed by the Kambara laboratory, allowed nestin expression in the embryonic neuroglial cell inhibiting tumor growth (Kambara et al. 2005).

Oncolytic Virus and Its Effects in Recent Clinical Trials

Recent preclinical studies have investigated OVs' role in solid tumors using an experimental pancreatic model (Eissa et al. 2018). Besides that, these models are complex and are only used for a specific virus; the oncolytic ONYX-015 adenovirus has already been tested in phase I and phase II clinical trials. ONYX-015 (dl1520) is an E1B-55 kDa gene-deleted virus replicating selectively in p53-mutated tumor cells (Mulvihill et al. 2001). During the phase I clinical trial, 23 patients with inoperable pancreatic cancer were enrolled to receive ONYX-015 at 4 weeks by a computed tomography injection. Most of the patients responded well and gave encouraging data, except for one patient who developed pancreatitis. No adverse effects were reported in the study; however, no objective response against the tumor was observed during the phase I study. In order to enhance the effectiveness of ONYX-015 therapy, phase II clinical trials were designed involving the use of a combination of ONYX015 with gemcitabine (Mulvihill et al. 2001). A total of 21 patients with advanced and metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma were enrolled in the phase II study (Mulvihill et al. 2001). Phase II studies reported two partial regressions and two minor responses without any severe side effects. Some more clinical trials are currently underway to assess VCN-01 and LOAd703, preparations either alone or in combination with nab-paclitaxel/gemcitabine in metastatic pancreatic cancer (NCT02705196, NCT02045589, and NCT02045602).

Oncolytic Adenoviruses and Pancreatic Clinical Trials

Preclinical studies investigating the role of OVs in solid tumors have been recently set. In particular, the pancreatic model has been used. Althought these models are complex and developed only for a specific virus, the oncolytic ONYX-015, specific for p53-mutated cells (Mulvihill et al. 2001). In a phase I dose-escalation clinical study, 23 patients have been enrolled with a diagnosis of inoperable pancreatic cancer. ONYX-015 was administered every 4 weeks by a computed tomography injection, and the results were generally satisfying except for one patient who developed an episode of pancreatitis. Although the results seem to be without adverse effects, no objective response against the tumor was observed in the phase I clinical study; however, most of the patients showed low level of cellular immunity (indicated by low number of CD4 cells). Moreover, no viral replication was observed in any of the patients receiving ONYX-015.

In the light of these data, a combination of ONYX015 and gemcitabine was used during a subsequent phase II clinical study involving 21 patients with advanced and metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma without liver metastasis (Hecht et al. 2003). The trial was designed to ascertain the safety, feasibility, and tolerability of the combinatorial therapy approach of chemovirotherapy. The authors reported partial regression of the injected tumors in two patients, while another two patients showed minor responses with no severe side effects. The remaining patients either had a stable disease progression or had to leave the study due to treatment intolerance. Other two clinical trials are running at the moment (VCN-01 and LOAd703), either alone or in combination with nab-paclitaxel/gemcitabine in metastatic pancreatic cancer (NCT02705196, NCT02045589, and NCT02045602).

Oncolytic Herpes Simplex Viruses and Pancreatic Clinical Trials

Concerning therapies using herpes simplex viruses, seven viruses were selected for their assessment during phase II clinical trials for different solid tumors (Table 2). Only HF10 and T-VEC were studied during these trials to treat pancreatic cancer. During a single-arm, open-label phase I clinical study, eight patients were enrolled to receive HF10 intra-tumoral injection of HF10 during surgery. Each patient received injection every 2 weeks for up to 4 weeks. The results of the study showed that three patients achieved stable condition; one showed partial remission, while other showed a progression. Three patients showed an increase in the tumor-specific marker CA19.9. Histological studies showed that HF10 activated macrophages as well as natural killer (NK) cells (Hirooka et al. 2018; Nakao et al. 2011). However, the results failed to show any significant remission of the disease despite that molecular connections are being identified between CSCs and macrophages as part of the novel strategies to treat cancer (Aramini et al. 2021). Another clinical trial studying unresectable pancreatic cancer is in progress to test the safety and efficacy of HF10 in combination with gemcitabine, nab-paclitaxel, or S-1 (tegafur/gimeracil/oteracil, TS-1[®]) (NCT03252808) (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03252808). Two more clinical trials were designed after encouraging data from phase I clinical trial

Organ	miRNAs [Ref.]	Oncolytic virus [References]
Lung	miRNA-106b-5p Yu et al. (2017)	Ad5D24-CpG Garofalo et al. (2018)
	miRNA-7 Zhao et al. (2015)	VSV-IFNβ Patel et al. (2020)
	miRNA-99 Yu et al. (2015)	MYXV Kellish et al. (2019)
	miR-218-5p Zhu et al. (2016)	H101 Lei et al. (2015)
Breast	miR-142-3p Troschel et al. (2018)	MG1 Bourgeois-Daigneault et al. (2016)
	miRNA-150 Isobe et al. (2014)	G47Δ-mIL12 Ghouse et al. (2020)
	miR-203 Muhammad et al. (2016)	MRB Mullins-Densereau et al. (2019)
	miR-8084 Gao et al. (2018)	NDV Al-ZIyadi et al. (2020)
Brain	miR-21, miR-221 Wang et al.	DNX-2401, PVS-RIPO, Toca
	(2015)	511 Martikainen and Essand (2019)
		H-1PV Geletneky et al. (2017)
Thyroid	miR-21, miR183, miR-375 Chu	<i>dl</i> 922-947 Heise et al. (2000)
	and Lloyd (2016)	NV1020 Jiang et al. (2018)
		VB-111 Reddi et al. (2011)
Ovary	miR-628-5p (171)	CRAd-S-pk7 Mooney et al. (2018)

Table 2 MicroRNAs and oncolytic viruses for possible future therapy in solid tumors: preclinical results

with T-VEC in 17 patients with pancreatic cancer. T-VEC doses were well tolerated, however, without an expected objective response (Conry et al. 2018).

Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes as Therapeutic Carriers

During the last decade, novel approaches in cancer cell targeting have been found and mainly involved microRNAs (miRNAs) and CSCs (Wang et al. 2011; Khan et al. 2010). Despite the successful outcome from several studies, a secure target regarding miRNAs or CSCs in solid tumors has not been identified yet. MiRNAs are small noncoding molecules able to regulate at least 60% of human genes, their expression, and hence their downstream signaling that affects diverse cellular functions ranging from metabolism to proliferation and differentiation. Hence, they are being used as part of the theranostic strategies (Haider and Aramini 2020). Like any other cell type, they are critical determinants of stem cell functions encompassing survival to proliferation of stem cells (Kim et al. 2010, Lai et al. 2011, 2012). Changes in miRNA profile also enhance solid tumors' induction and alter CSC stemness properties (Ruggieri et al. 2019; Aramini et al. 2020b). As previously described, CSCs appear to be involved in many processes regulating tumor and are often associated with poor clinical outcomes (Aramini et al. 2020b). One of the most exciting aspects recently studied miRNAs' role in CSC regulation and preservation through pathways as wingless (WNT)/β-catenin, Notch, JAK/STAT, PI3/AKT, etc. (Wang et al. 2011). These data are reckoned as a milestone for the identification of new target treatments against cancer. In particular, we have observed the association between miRNAs and their effects on CSCs' characteristics: self-renewal capacity, ability to differentiate, involvement in the metastatic process, etc. These data seem to be linked with several solid tumors. More recently, Khan et al. have reported an altered mRNA profile with a selective reduction in the number of miRNAs associated with CSCs, which may be a vital aspect in discovering new treatment targets (Khan et al. 2010).

Several miRNAs have emerged as potential oncogenic targets with a double role as tumor suppressors and tumor inductors. In breast cancer, miR-200 interacts with the tumorigenic process negatively, while members of miR-34 facilitate cell processes and apoptosis. In different solid cancers, downregulation of miR-34 and let-7 is responsible for oncogenesis, although their upregulation stimulates the suppression of cancer development (Khan et al. 2010; Ruggieri et al. 2019; Aramini et al. 2020b; Diana et al. 2019). A similar oncogenic activity has been confirmed for other miRNAs, i.e., miR-181 and miR-155, which seem to promote self-renewal, the formation of niche, and tumor development and progression.

In prostate cancer, downregulated expression of miRNAs, i.e., miR-34a, let-7b, miR-106a, and miR-141, has been observed in CSCs, whereas other miRNAs, i.e., miR-301 and miR-452, were highly expressed (Wang et al. 2011; Khan et al. 2010). Moreover, altered expression of miRNAs has been reported in breast cancer CSCs, with downregulation of miR-203 and miR-375 and concomitant upregulation of

miR-100, miR-221, miR-222, and miR-125b (Diana et al. 2019; Howard and Yang 2018; Ding et al. 2019). We summarize here the most active miRNAs involved in CSC regulation in different solid tumors (Table 2). These clinical trials focused on pancreatic cancers, and only HF10 and T-VEC were studied. During phase I clinical trials, eight patients were enrolled to receive an intra-tumoral injection of HF10 during surgery, with a stable condition in three patients, partial remission in one, and a progression in the others. Three patients showed an increase in tumoral marker CA19.9. Histologically, HF10 activated macrophages besides the activation of NK cells (Lim et al. 2019). However, the results do not show an improved remission of the disease. Another recent trial in unresectable pancreatic cancer is in progress to test the safety and efficacy of HF10 plus gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel and S-1 (tegafur/ gimeracil/oteracil, TS-1[®]) (NCT03252808). The other two trials have been set without particular results, as expected, as phase I trial with T-VEC in 17 patients with pancreatic cancer. T-VEC doses were tolerated well; however, no objective response has been shown (Nakao et al. 2011).

Conclusions and Future Directions

Besides our knowledge about the significance of miRNAs, CSCs, and OVs for developing future targeted anticancer therapies, the prospect for these treatments' efficacy remains less well defined. This is primarily attributed to the nonavailability of optimal and standardized isolation and purification protocols and the shortage of specific CSCs' specific markers. Secondly, the unreliability of virotherapy continues to be problematic. Thirdly, there are many instances wherein both upregulation and downregulation of the same miRNAs occur in different types of tumors, signifying the importance of altered miRNA profile for specific miRNAs. The scientific community has a big responsibility in optimizing these new approaches for future generations of patients who will develop solid tumors. Of course, new innovative thinking is desirable; nevertheless, improved life quality in terms of duration and well-being must be considered in the clinical process. Several clinical trials are underway regarding the possibility of finding a practical approach in treating advanced cancers. However, the future of the oncological field is mainly focused on the prevention of cancer recurrence at early stages and prediction when and if cancer will return. In conclusion, the actual results regarding the role of CSCs in oncogenesis are currently less than satisfactory and therefore necessitate further in-depth investigations in the future.

References

Aiken C, Werbowetski-Ogilvie T (2013) Animal models of cancer stem cells: what are they really telling us? Curr Pathobiol Rep 1:91–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40139-013-0011-1

Alcantara Llaguno S, Chen J, Kwon CH, Jackson EL, Li Y, Burns DK, Alvarez-Buylla A et al (2009) Malignant astrocytomas originate from neural stem/progenitor cells in a somatic tumor suppressor mouse model. Cancer Cell 15(1):45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2008.12.006

- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(7):3983–3988. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0530291100
- Alison MR, Lim SM, Nicholson LJ (2011) Cancer stem cells: problems for therapy? J Pathol 223(2):147–161. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2793
- Al-Ziaydi AG, Al-Shammari AM, Hamzah MI, Kadhim HS, Jabir MS (2020) Hexokinase inhibition using D-Mannoheptulose enhances oncolytic Newcastle disease virus-mediated killing of breast cancer cells. Cancer Cell Int 20:420. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-020-01514-2
- Ansbro MR, Shukla S, Ambudkar SV, Yuspa SH, Li L (2013) Screening compounds with a novel high-throughput ABCB1-mediated efflux assay identifies drugs with known therapeutic targets at risk for multidrug resistance interference. PLoS One 8(4):e60334. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0060334
- Aramini B, Masciale V, Banchelli F, D'Amico R, Dominici M, Haider HKH (2020a) Precision medicine. Lung cancer: challenges and opportunities in diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. In: Park HS-M (ed) Lung cancer – modern multidisciplinary management. InTech Open, London. eBook (PDF) ISBN: 978-1-78985-638-5
- Aramini B, Masciale V, Haider KH (2020b) Defining lung cancer stem cells exosomal payload of miRNAs in clinical perspective. World J Stem Cells 12(6):406–421. https://doi.org/10.4252/ wjsc.v12.i6.406
- Aramini B, Masciale V, Grisendi G, Banchelli F, D'Amico R, Maiorana A, Morandi U et al (2021) Cancer stem cells and macrophages: molecular connections and future perspectives against cancer. Oncotarget 12(3):230–250
- Arruebo M, Vilaboa N, Sáez-Gutierrez B, Lambea J, Tres A, Valladares M, González-Fernández A (2011) Assessment of the evolution of cancer treatment therapies. Cancers (Basel) 3(3): 3279–3330. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3033279
- Artem B, Antonina K, Lee J, Vladimir LK (2020) Small molecule Wnt pathway modulators from natural sources: history, state of the art and perspectives. Cell 9(3):589. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cells9030589
- Azzam EI, Jay-Gerin JP, Pain D (2012) Ionizing radiation-induced metabolic oxidative stress and prolonged cell injury. Cancer Lett 327(1-2):48–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2011.12.012
- Bao B, Ahmad A, Azmi AS, Ali S, Sarkar FH (2013) Overview of cancer stem cells (CSCs) and mechanisms of their regulation: implications for cancer therapy. Curr Protocols Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471141755.ph1425s61
- Barker N, Ridgway RA, van Es JH, van de Wetering M, Begthel H, van den Born M, Danenberg E et al (2009) Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. Nature 457(7229): 608–611. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07602
- Bommareddy PK, Patel A, Hossain S, Kaufman HL (2017) Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) and other oncolytic viruses for the treatment of melanoma. Am J Clin Dermatol 18(1):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40257-016-0238-9
- Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med 3(7):730–737. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm0797-730
- Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, St-Germain LE, Roy DG, Pelin A, Aitken AS, Arulanandam R, Falls T (2016) Combination of paclitaxel and MG1 oncolytic virus as a successful strategy for breast cancer treatment. Breast Cancer Res 18(1):83. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-016-0744-y
- Cabarcas SM, Mathews LA, Farrar WL (2011) The cancer stem cell niche there goes the neighborhood? Int J Cancer 129(10):2315–2327. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.26312
- Candini O, Grisendi G, Em F, Brogli M, Aramini B, Masciale V, Spano C (2020) A novel 3D in vitro platform for pre-clinical investigations in drug testing, gene therapy, and immunooncology. Sci Rep 10:1845. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-57846-6
- Chang YL, Zhou PJ, Wei L, Li W, Ji Z, Fang YX, Gao WQ (2015) MicroRNA-7 inhibits the stemness of prostate cancer stem-like cells and tumorigenesis by repressing KLF4/PI3K/Akt/ p21 pathway. Oncotarget 6(27):24017–24031. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.4447
- Cheng L, Ramesh AV, Flesken-Nikitin A, Choi J, Nikitin AY (2010) Mouse models for cancer stem cell research. Toxicol Pathol 38(1):62–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623309354109

- Cheung TH, Rando TA (2013) Molecular regulation of stem cell quiescence. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14(6):329–340. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3591
- Cho RW, Wang X, Diehn M, Shedden K, Chen GY, Sherlock G, Gurney A (2008) Isolation and molecular characterization of cancer stem cells in MMTV-Wnt-1 murine breast tumors. Stem Cells 26(2):364–371. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0440
- Chu YH, Lloyd RV (2016) Medullary thyroid carcinoma: recent advances including microRNA expression. Endocrine Pathol 27(4):312–324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12022-016-9449-0
- Conley SJ, Wicha MS (2012) Antiangiogenic agents: fueling cancer's hypoxic roots. Cell Cycle 11(7):1265–1266. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.19890
- Conry RM, Westbrook B, McKee S, Norwood TG (2018) Talimogene laherparepvec: first in class oncolytic virotherapy. Human Vaccines Immunother 14(4):839–846. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 21645515.2017.1412896
- Croker AK, Goodale D, Chu J, Postenka C, Hedley BD, Hess DA, Allan AL (2009) High aldehyde dehydrogenase and expression of cancer stem cell markers selects for breast cancer cells with enhanced malignant and metastatic ability. J Cell Mol Med 13(8B):2236–2252. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00455.x
- Croker AK, Rodriguez-Torres M, Xia Y, Pardhan S, Leong HS, Lewis JD, Allan AL (2017) Differential functional roles of ALDH1A1 and ALDH1A3 in mediating metastatic behavior and therapy resistance of human breast cancer cells. Int J Mol Sci 18(10):2039. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms18102039
- D'Souza B, Meloty-Kapella L, Weinmaster G (2010) Canonical and non-canonical Notch ligands. Curr Top Dev Biol 92:73–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0070-2153(10)92003-6
- de Sostoa J, Fajardo CA, Moreno R, Ramos MD, Farrera-Sal M, Alemany R (2019) Targeting the tumor stroma with an oncolytic adenovirus secreting a fibroblast activation protein-targeted bispecific T-cell engager. J Immunother Cancer 7(1):19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-019-0505-4
- Desjardins A, Gromeier M, Herndon JE 2nd, Beaubier N, Bolognesi DP, Friedman AH, Friedman HS (2018) Recurrent glioblastoma treated with recombinant poliovirus. N Engl J Med 379(2): 150–161. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1716435
- Diana A, Gaido G, Murtas D (2019) MicroRNA signature in human normal and tumoral neural stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 20(17):4123. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20174123
- Ding L, Gu H, Xiong X, Ao H, Cao J, Lin W, Yu M et al (2019) MicroRNAs involved in carcinogenesis, prognosis, therapeutic resistance and applications in human triple-negative breast cancer. Cell 8(12):1492. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8121492
- Dmitrieva N, Yu L, Viapiano M, Cripe TP, Chiocca EA, Glorioso JC, Kaur B (2011) Chondroitinase ABC I-mediated enhancement of oncolytic virus spread and antitumor efficacy. Clin Cancer Res 17(6):1362–1372. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2213
- Dotto GP (2008) Notch tumor suppressor function. Oncogene 27(38):5115–5123. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/onc.2008.225
- Dou J, Gu N (2010) Emerging strategies for the identification and targeting of cancer stem cells. Tumour Biol 31(4):243–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-010-0023-y
- Dou J, Pan M, Wen P, Li Y, Tang Q, Chu L, Zhao F et al (2007) Isolation and identification of cancer stem-like cells from murine melanoma cell lines. Cell Mol Immunol 4(6):467–472
- Eissa IR, Bustos-Villalobos I, Ichinose T, Matsumura S, Naoe Y, Miyajima N, Morimoto D et al (2018) The current status and future prospects of oncolytic viruses in clinical trials against melanoma, glioma, pancreatic, and breast cancers. Cancers 10(10):356. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers10100356
- Ericsson AC, Crim MJ, Franklin CL (2013) A brief history of animal modeling. Mo Med 110(3): 201–205
- Fan X, Khaki L, Zhu TS, Soules ME, Talsma CE, Gul N, Koh C et al (2010) NOTCH pathway blockade depletes CD133-positive glioblastoma cells and inhibits growth of tumor neurospheres and xenografts. Stem Cells 28(1):5–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.254

- Fang D, Nguyen TK, Leishear K, Finko R, Kulp AN, Hotz S, Van Belle PA et al (2005) A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. Cancer Res 65(20): 9328–9337. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1343
- Filbin MG, Dabral SK, Pazyra-Murphy MF, Ramkissoon S, Kung AL, Pak E, Chung J et al (2013) Coordinate activation of Shh and PI3K signaling in PTEN-deficient glioblastoma: new therapeutic opportunities. Nat Med 19(11):1518–1523. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3328
- Fimmel CJ, Wright L (2009) Golgi protein 73 as a biomarker of hepatocellular cancer: development of a quantitative serum assay and expression studies in hepatic and extrahepatic malignancies. Hepatology 49:1421–1423
- Franch-Marro X, Wendler F, Guidato S, Griffith J, Baena-Lopez A, Itasaki N, Maurice MM et al (2008) Wingless secretion requires endosome-to-Golgi retrieval of Wntless/Evi/Sprinter by the retromer complex. Nat Cell Biol 10(2):170–177. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1678
- Franco S, Szczesna K, Iliou MS, Al-Qahtani M, Mobasheri A, Kobolák J, Dinnyés A (2016) In vitro models of cancer stem cells and clinical applications. BMC Cancer 16(Suppl 2):738. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12885-016-2774-3
- Fu Y, Chang H, Peng X, Bai Q, Yi L, Zhou Y, Zhu J et al (2014) Resveratrol inhibits breast cancer stem-like cells and induces autophagy via suppressing Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. PLoS One 9(7):e102535. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102535
- Gao Y, Ma H, Gao C, Lv Y, Chen X, Xu R, Sun M et al (2018) Tumor-promoting properties of miR-8084 in breast cancer through enhancing proliferation, suppressing apoptosis and inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Transl Med 16(1):38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1419-5
- Garofalo M, Saari H, Somersalo P, Crescenti D, Kuryk L, Aksela L, Capasso C et al (2018) Antitumor effect of oncolytic virus and paclitaxel encapsulated in extracellular vesicles for lung cancer treatment. J Control Release 283:223–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018. 05.015
- Geletneky K, Hajda J, Angelova AL, Leuchs B, Capper D, Bartsch AJ, Neumann JO et al (2017) Oncolytic H-1 parvovirus shows safety and signs of immunogenic activity in a first phase i/iia glioblastoma trial. Mol Ther 25(12):2620–2634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.08.016
- Ghani FI, Yamazaki H, Iwata S, Okamoto T, Aoe K, Okabe K, Mimura Y et al (2011) Identification of cancer stem cell markers in human malignant mesothelioma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 404(2):735–742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.12.054
- Ghouse SM, Nguyen HM, Bommareddy PK, Guz-Montgomery K, Saha D (2020) Oncolytic herpes simplex virus encoding IL12 controls triple-negative breast cancer growth and metastasis. Front Oncol 10:384. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00384
- Götschel F, Berg D, Gruber W, Bender C, Eberl M, Friedel M, Sonntag J et al (2013) Synergism between Hedgehog-GLI and EGFR signaling in Hedgehog-responsive human medulloblastoma cells induces downregulation of canonical Hedgehog-target genes and stabilized expression of GLI1. PLoS One 8(6):e65403. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065403
- Grudzien P, Lo S, Albain KS, Robinson P, Rajan P, Strack PR, Golde TE et al (2010) Inhibition of Notch signaling reduces the stem-like population of breast cancer cells and prevents mammosphere formation. Anticancer Res 30(10):3853–3867
- Guedan S, Alemany R (2018) CAR-T cells and oncolytic viruses: joining forces to overcome the solid tumor challenge. Front Immunol 9:2460. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02460
- Guedan S, Rojas JJ, Gros A, Mercade E, Cascallo M, Alemany R (2010) Hyaluronidase expression by an oncolytic adenovirus enhances its intratumoral spread and suppresses tumor growth. Mol Ther 18(7):1275–1283. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.79
- Gulino A, Di Marcotullio L, Screpanti I (2010) The multiple functions of numb. Exp Cell Res 316: 900–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.11.017
- Guo F, Yang Z, Kulbe H, Albers AE, Sehouli J, Kaufmann AM (2019) Inhibitory effect on ovarian cancer ALDH+ stem-like cells by disulfiram and copper treatment through ALDH and ROS modulation. Biomed Pharmacother 118:109371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109371

- Gupta S, Takebe N, Lorusso P (2010) Targeting the hedgehog pathway in cancer. Ther Adv Med Oncol 2:237–250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1758834010366430
- Gurung B, Feng Z, Hua X (2013) Menin directly represses Gli1 expression independent of canonical hedgehog signaling. Mol Cancer Res 11(10):1215–1222. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1541-7786.MCR-13-0170
- Hadjimichael C, Chanoumidou K, Papadopoulou N, Arampatzi P, Papamatheakis J, Kretsovali A (2015) Common stemness regulators of embryonic and cancer stem cells. World J Stem Cells 7(9):1150–1184. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v7.i9.1150
- Hagedorn C, Kreppel F (2017) Capsid engineering of adenovirus vectors: overcoming early vectorhost interactions for therapy. Hum Gene Ther 28:820–832
- Haider HK, Aramini B (2020) "Mircrining" the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:23, 1–12
- Han SS, Gong T, Zhang Z, Sun X (2013) Cancer stem cells: therapeutic implications and perspectives in cancer therapy. Acta Pharm Sin B 3(2):65–75
- Hassani Najafabadi A, Zhang J, Aikins ME et al (2020) Cancer immunotherapy via targeting cancer stem cells using vaccine nanodiscs. Nano Lett. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.0c03414
- He J, Xiong L, Li Q, Lin L, Miao X, Yan S, Hong Z (2017) 3D modeling of cancer stem cell niche. Oncotarget 9(1):1326–1345. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19847
- Hecht JR, Bedford R, Abbruzzese JL, Lahoti S, Reid TR, Soetikno RM, Kirn DH et al (2003) A phase I/II trial of intratumoral endoscopic ultrasound injection of ONYX-015 with intravenous gemcitabine in unresectable pancreatic carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 9(2):555–561
- Heise C, Hermiston T, Johnson L, Brooks G, Sampson-Johannes A, Williams A, Hawkins L (2000) An adenovirus E1A mutant that demonstrates potent and selective systemic anti-tumoral efficacy. Nat Med 6(10):1134–1139. https://doi.org/10.1038/80474
- Hill C, Carlisle R (2019) Achieving systemic delivery of oncolytic viruses. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 16(6):607–620. https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2019.1617269
- Hirooka Y, Kasuya H, Ishikawa T, Kawashima H, Ohno E, Villalobos IB, Naoe Y et al (2018) A phase I clinical trial of EUS-guided intratumoral injection of the oncolytic virus, HF10 for unresectable locally advanced pancreatic cancer. BMC Cancer 18(1):596. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12885-018-4453-z
- Ho KK, Weiner H (2005) Isolation and characterization of an aldehyde dehydrogenase encoded by the aldB gene of Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 187(3):1067–1073. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB. 187.3.1067-1073.2005
- Howard EW, Yang X (2018) microRNA regulation in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer and endocrine therapy. Biol Proced Online 20:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12575-018-0082-9
- https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01777919?term=aldehyde+dehydrogenase& cond=Cancer&draw=2&rank=6
- Huang H, He X (2008) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: new (and old) players and new insights. Curr Opi Cell Biol 20:119–125
- Hung JJ, Jeng WJ, Hsu WH, Chou TY, Huang BS, Wu YC (2012) Predictors of death, local recurrence, and distant metastasis in completely resected pathological stage-I non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 7(7):1115–1123. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.0b013e31824cbad8
- Isobe T, Hisamori S, Hogan DJ, Zabala M, Hendrickson DG, Dalerba P, Cai S et al (2014) miR-142 regulates the tumorigenicity of human breast cancer stem cells through the canonical WNT signaling pathway. elife 3:e01977
- Itasaki N, Jones CM, Mercurio S, Rowe A, Domingos PM, Smith JC, Krumlauf R (2003) Wise, a context-dependent activator and inhibitor of Wnt signalling. Development 130:4295–4305
- Itoh K, Brott BK, Bae GU, Ratcliffe MJ, Sokol SY (2005) Nuclear localization is required for dishevelled function in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Biol 4:3
- Iwasaki H, Suda T (2009) Cancer stem cells and their niche. Cancer Sci 100(7):1166–1172. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01177.x
- Jain RK, Stylianopoulos T (2010) Delivering nanomedicine to solid tumors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 7: 653–664

- Jamora C, DasGupta R, Kocieniewski P, Fuchs E (2003) Links between signal transduction, transcription and adhesion in epithelial bud development. Nature 422:317–322
- Jia Y, Wang Y, Xie J (2015) The hedgehog pathway: role in cell differentiation, polarity and proliferation. Arch Toxicol 89(2):179–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-014-1433-1
- Jiang K, Song C, Kong L, Hu L, Lin G, Ye T, Yao G et al (2018) Recombinant oncolytic Newcastle disease virus displays antitumor activities in anaplastic thyroid cancer cells. BMC Cancer 18(1): 746. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4522-3
- Kahramanian A, Kuroda T, Wakimoto H (2019) Construction of oncolytic herpes simplex virus with therapeutic genes of interest. Methods Mol Biol 1937:177–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4939-9065-8 10
- Kambara H, Okano H, Chiocca EA, Saeki Y (2005) An oncolytic HSV-1 mutant expressing ICP34.5 under control of a nestin promoter increases survival of animals even when symptomatic from a brain tumor. Cancer Res 65(7):2832–2839. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3227
- Kellish P, Shabashvili D, Rahman MM, Nawab A, Guijarro MV, Zhang M, Cao C et al (2019) Oncolytic virotherapy for small-cell lung cancer induces immune infiltration and prolongs survival. J Clin Invest 129(6):2279–2292. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI121323
- Keyvani V, Farshchian M, Esmaeili SA, Yari H, Moghbeli M, Nezhad SK, Abbaszadegan MR (2019) Ovarian cancer stem cells and targeted therapy. J Ovarian Res 12(1):120. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13048-019-0588-z
- Khan AQ, Ahmed EI, Elareer NR, Junejo K, Steinhoff M, Uddin S (2010) Role of mirna-regulated cancer stem cells in the pathogenesis of human malignancies. Cell 8(8):840. https://doi.org/10. 3390/cells8080840
- Kim WT, Ryu CJ (2017) Cancer stem cell surface markers on normal stem cells. BMB Rep 50(6): 285–298. https://doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep.2017.50.6.039
- Kim TK, Hemberg M, Gray JM, Costa AM, Bear DM, Wu J, Harmin DA, Laptewicz M, Barbara-Haley K, Kuersten S, et al. (2010) Widespread transcription at neuronal activity-regulated enhancers. Nature 465(7295):182–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09033. Epub 2010 Apr 14. PMID: 20393465; PMCID: PMC3020079.
- Klonisch T, Wiechec E, Hombach-Klonisch S et al (2008) Cancer stem cell markers in common cancers-therapeutic implications. Trends Mol Med 14(10):450–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molmed.2008.08.003
- Komiya Y, Habas R (2008) Wnt signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis 4(2):68–75. https:// doi.org/10.4161/org.4.2.5851
- Kovall RA, Gebelein B, Sprinzak D, Kopan R (2017) The canonical notch signaling pathway: structural and biochemical insights into shape, sugar, and force. Dev Cell 41(3):228–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2017.04.001
- Krebs ET (1947) Cancer and the embryonal hypothesis. California Med 66(4):270-271
- Kuczynski EA, Vermeulen PB, Pezzella F, Kerbel RS, Reynolds AR (2019) Vessel co-option in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 16:469–493
- Kusumbe AP, Bapat SA (2009) Cancer stem cells and aneuploid populations within developing tumors are the major determinants of tumor dormancy. Cancer Res 69:9245–9253
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2011) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-expression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 transgenes via transcriptional regulation of Cyclin D1. Circulation SS-A-10888-AHA
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider K (2012) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/Cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):667–677. (Original research paper)
- Lei W, Liu HB, Wang SB, Zhou XM, Zheng SD, Guo KN, Ma BY et al (2013) Tumor suppressor in lung cancer-1 (TSLC1) mediated by dual-regulated oncolytic adenovirus exerts specific antitumor actions in a mouse model. Acta Pharmacol Sin 34:531–540
- Lei J, Li QH, Yang JL, Liu F, Wang L, Xu WM, Zhao WX (2015) The antitumor effects of oncolytic adenovirus H101 against lung cancer. Int J Oncol 47(2):555–562. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo. 2015.3045

- Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M et al (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67(3):1030–1037. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-06-2030
- Li C, Du Y, Yang Z, He L, Wang Y, Hao L, Ding M et al (2016) GALNT1-mediated glycosylation and activation of sonic hedgehog signalling maintains the self-renewal and tumor-initiating capacity of bladder cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 76(5):1273–1283. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-15-2309
- Li L, Liu S, Han D, Tang B, Ma J (2020) Delivery and biosafety of oncolytic virotherapy. Front Oncol 10:475. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00475
- Lim KJ, Brandt WD, Heth JA, Muraszko KM, Fan X, Bar EE, Eberhart CG (2015) Lateral inhibition of Notch signaling in neoplastic cells. Oncotarget 6(3):1666–1677. https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.2762
- Lim SA, Kim J, Jeon S, Shin MH, Kwon J, Kim TJ, Im K et al (2019) Defective localization with impaired tumor cytotoxicity contributes to the immune escape of NK cells in pancreatic cancer patients. Front Immunol 10:496. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00496
- Liu XY, Li HG, Zhang KJ, Gu JF (2012) Strategy of cancer targeting gene-viro-therapy (CTGVT) a trend in both cancer gene therapy and cancer virotherapy. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 13:1761–1767
- Liu K, Du S, Gao P, Zheng J (2019) Verteporfin suppresses the proliferation, epithelialmesenchymal transition and stemness of head and neck squamous carcinoma cells via inhibiting YAP1. J Cancer 10(18):4196–4207. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.34145
- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17(1):9–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016
- Mao Y, Yang H, Xu H, Lu X, Sang X, Du S, Zhao H et al (2010) Golgi protein 73 (GOLPH2) is a valuable serum marker for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut 59:1687–1693
- Maroun J, Muñoz-Alía M, Ammayappan A, Schulze A, Peng KW, Russell S (2017) Designing and building oncolytic viruses. Future Virol 12(4):193–213. https://doi.org/10.2217/fvl-2016-0129
- Martikainen M, Essand M (2019) Virus-based immunotherapy of glioblastoma. Cancers 11(2):186. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11020186
- Masciale V, Grisendi G, Banchelli F, D'Amico R, Maiorana A, Sighinolfi P, Pinelli M et al (2019a) Correlating tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and lung cancer stem cells: a cross-sectional study. Ann Transl Med 7(22):619. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2019.11.27
- Masciale V, Grisendi G, Banchelli F, D'Amico R, Maiorana A, Sighinolfi P, Stefani A et al (2019b) Isolation and identification of cancer stem-like cells in adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the lung: a pilot study. Front Oncol 9:1394. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01394
- Masciale V, Grisendi G, Banchelli F, D'Amico R, Maiorana A, Sighinolfi P, Stefani A et al (2020a) CD44+/EPCAM+ cells detect a subpopulation of ALDH^{high} cells in human non-small cell lung cancer: a chance for targeting cancer stem cells? Oncotarget 11(17):1545–1555. https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.27568
- Masciale V, Grisendi G, Banchelli F, D'Amico R, Maiorana A, Sighinolfi P, Brugioni L et al (2020b) Cancer stem-like cells in a case of an inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor of the lung. Front Oncol 10:673. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00673
- Matsui WH (2016) Cancer stem cell signaling pathways. Medicine (Baltimore) 95(1 Suppl 1): S8–S19. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000004765
- McKee TD, Grandi P, Mok W, Alexandrakis G, Insin N, Zimmer JP, Bawendi MG et al (2006) Degradation of fibrillar collagen in a human melanoma xenograft improves the efficacy of an oncolytic herpes simplex virus vector. Cancer Res 66(5):2509–2513. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-05-2242
- Mooney R, Majid AA, Batalla-Covello J, Machado D, Liu X, Gonzaga J, Tirughana R et al (2018) Enhanced delivery of oncolytic adenovirus by neural stem cells for treatment of metastatic ovarian cancer. Mol Ther Oncol 12:79–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omto.2018.12.003
- Morrison SJ, Spradling AC (2008) Stem cells and niches: mechanisms that promote stem cell maintenance throughout life. Cell 132(4):598–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.038

- Muhammad N, Bhattacharya S, Steele R, Ray RB (2016) Anti-miR-203 suppresses ER-positive breast cancer growth and stemness by targeting SOCS3. Oncotarget 7(36):58595–58605. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.11193
- Mullins-Dansereau V, Petrazzo G, Geoffroy K, Béland D, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC (2019) Pre-surgical oncolytic virotherapy improves breast cancer outcomes. Onco Targets Ther 8(11):e1655363. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2019.1655363
- Mulvihill S, Warren R, Venook A, Adler A, Randlev B, Heise C, Kirn D (2001) Safety and feasibility of injection with an E1B-55 kDa gene-deleted, replication-selective adenovirus (ONYX-015) into primary carcinomas of the pancreas: a phase I trial. Gene Ther 8(4): 308–315. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301398
- Nakao A, Kasuya H, Sahin TT, Nomura N, Kanzaki A, Misawa M, Shirota T et al (2011) A phase I dose-escalation clinical trial of intraoperative direct intratumoral injection of HF10 oncolytic virus in non-resectable patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Cancer Gene Ther 18(3): 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2010.65
- Nayyar G, Chu Y, Cairo MS (2019) Overcoming resistance to natural killer cell based immunotherapies for solid tumors. Front Oncol 11(9):51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00051
- Ng LF, Kaur P, Bunnag N, Suresh J, Sung ICH, Tan QH, Gruber J (2019) WNT signaling in disease. Cells 8(8):826. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8080826
- Nguyen V, Hawkins C, Bergeron C, Supala A, Huang J, Westaway D et al (2006) Loss of nicastrin elicits an apoptotic phenotype in mouse embryos. Brain Res 1086(1):76–84
- Nowell C, Radtke F (2013) Cutaneous Notch signaling in health and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3(12):a017772. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a017772
- Oh E, Hong J, Kwon OJ, Yun CO (2018) A hypoxia- and telomerase-responsive oncolytic adenovirus expressing secretable trimeric TRAIL triggers tumour-specific apoptosis and promotes viral dispersion in TRAIL-resistant glioblastoma. Sci Rep 8(1):1420. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-018-19300-6
- Olivares-Urbano MA, Griñán-Lisón C, Marchal JA, Núñez MI (2020) CSC radioresistance: a therapeutic challenge to improve radiotherapy effectiveness in cancer. Cell 9(7):1651. https:// doi.org/10.3390/cells9071651
- Pannuti A, Foreman K, Rizzo P, Osipo C, Golde T (2010) Targeting Notch to target cancer stem cells. Clin Cancer Res 16:3141–3152
- Park JW, Park JH, Han JW (2020) Fermented Ginseng Extract, BST204, suppresses tumorigenesis and migration of embryonic carcinoma through inhibition of cancer stem cell properties. Molecules 25(14):3128. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25143128
- Patel MR, Jacobson BA, Ji Y, Hebbel RP, Kratzke RA (2020) Blood outgrowth endothelial cells as a cellular carrier for oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus expressing interferon-β in preclinical models of non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Oncol 13(7):100782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tranon.2020.100782
- Pelullo M, Zema S, Nardozza F, Checquolo S, Screpanti I, Bellavia D (2019) Wnt, Notch, and TGF-β pathways impinge on hedgehog signaling complexity: an open window on cancer. Front Genet 10:711. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.00711
- Petrova R, Joyner AL (2014) Roles for hedgehog signaling in adult organ homeostasis and repair. Development 141(18):3445–3457. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.083691
- Pietrobono S, Gagliardi S, Stecca B (2019) Non-canonical hedgehog signaling pathway in cancer: activation of GLI transcription factors beyond smoothened. Front Genet 10:556. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fgene.2019.00556col
- Pilié PG, Tang C, Mills GB, Yap TA (2019) State-of-the-art strategies for targeting the DNA damage response in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 16(2):81–104. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41571-018-0114-z. PMID: 30356138; PMCID: PMC8327299.
- Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 16(3):225–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015. 02.015
- Prabavathy D, Swarnalatha Y, Ramadoss N (2018) Lung cancer stem cells-origin, characteristics and therapy. Stem Cell Invest 5:6. https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2018.02.01
- Prager BC, Xie Q, Bao S, Rich JN (2019) Cancer stem cells: the architects of the tumor ecosystem. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.12.009
- Qiao L, Wong B (2009) Role of notch signaling in colorectal cancer. Carcinogenesis 30: 1979–1986
- Qiu Y, Pu T, Guo P, Wei B, Zhang Z, Zhang H, Zhong X et al (2019) ALDH(+)/CD44(+) cells in breast cancer are associated with worse prognosis and poor clinical outcome. Exp Mol Pathol 100(1):145–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2015.11.032
- Ravindran S, Rasool S, Maccalli C (2019) The cross talk between cancer stem cells/cancer initiating cells and tumor microenvironment: the missing piece of the puzzle for the efficient targeting of these cells with immunotherapy. Cancer Microenviron 12(2-3):133–148. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12307-019-00233-1
- Rebollido-Rios R, Venton G, Sánchez-Redondo S et al (2020) Dual disruption of aldehyde dehydrogenases 1 and 3 promotes functional changes in the glutathione redox system and enhances chemosensitivity in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Oncogene 39(13):2756–2771. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41388-020-1184-9
- Reddi HV, Madde P, Cohen YC, Bangio L, Breitbart E, Harats D, Bible KC (2011) Antitumor activity of VB-111, a novel antiangiogenic virotherapeutic, in thyroid cancer xenograft mouse models. Genes Cancer 2(10):993–995. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947601912437933
- Rodriguez D, Ramkairsingh M, Lin X, Kapoor A, Major P, Tang D (2019) The central contributions of breast cancer stem cells in developing resistance to endocrine therapy in estrogen receptor (ER)-positive breast cancer. Cancers (Basel) 11(7):1028. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers11071028
- Ruggieri VS, Russi S, Zoppoli P, La Rocca F, Angrisano T, Falco G, Calice G et al (2019) The role of microRNAs in the regulation of gastric cancer stem cells: a meta-analysis of the current status. J Clin Med 8(5):639. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8050639
- Schieber M, Chandel NS (2014) ROS function in redox signalling and oxidative stress. Curr Biol 24(10):R453–R462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.034. PMID: 24845678; PMCID: PMC4055301.
- Schulenburg A, Blatt K, Cerny-Reiterer S, Sadovnik I, Herrmann H, Marian B, Grunt TW et al (2015) Cancer stem cells in basic science and in translational oncology: can we translate into clinical application? J Hematol Oncol 8:16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-015-0113-9
- Schulz A, Meyer F, Dubrovska A, Borgmann K (2019) Cancer stem cells and radioresistance: DNA repair and beyond. Cancers (Basel) 11(6):862. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11060862
- Seidel S, Garvalov BK, Wirta V, von Stechow L, Schänzer A, Meletis K, Wolter M et al (2010) A hypoxic niche regulates glioblastoma stem cells through hypoxia inducible factor 2 alpha. Brain 133(Pt 4):983–995. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq042
- Serneels L, Dejaegere T, Craessaerts K, Horre K, Jorissen E, Tousseyn T et al (2005) Differential contribution of the three Aph1 genes to gamma-secretase activity in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(5):1719–1724
- Sharp DW, Lattime EC (2016) Recombinant poxvirus and the tumor microenvironment: oncolysis. Immune Regulat Immunizat Biomed 4(3):19. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines4030019
- Shi P, Liu W, Wang H, Li F, Zhang H, Wu Y, Kong Y et al (2017) Metformin suppresses triplenegative breast cancer stem cells by targeting KLF5 for degradation. Cell Discov 3:17010. https://doi.org/10.1038/celldisc.2017.10
- Shibata M, Hoque MO (2019) Targeting cancer stem cells: a strategy for effective eradication of cancer. Cancers (Basel) 11(5):732. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11050732
- Singh S, Brocker C, Koppaka V, Chen Y, Jackson BC, Matsumoto A, Thompson DC (2013) Aldehyde dehydrogenases in cellular responses to oxidative/electrophilic stress. Free Radic Biol Med 56:89–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012

- Sonbol MB, Ahn DH, Bekaii-Saab T (2019) Therapeutic targeting strategies of cancer stem cells in gastrointestinal malignancies. Biomedicine 7(1):17. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines7010017
- Sopik V, Sun P, Narod SA (2018) Predictors of time to death after distant recurrence in breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat 173(2):465–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-5002-9
- Sullivan JP, Spinola M, Dodge M, Raso MG, Behrens C, Gao B, Schuster K et al (2010) Aldehyde dehydrogenase activity selects for lung adenocarcinoma stem cells dependent on notch signaling. Cancer Res 70(23):9937–9948. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0881
- Sun HR, Wang S, Yan SC, Zhang Y, Nelson PJ, Jia HL, Qin LX et al (2019) Therapeutic strategies targeting cancer stem cells and their microenvironment. Front Oncol 9:1104. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fonc.2019.01104
- Takahashi-Yanaga F, Kahn M (2010) Targeting Wnt signaling: can we safely eradicate cancer stem cells? Clin Cancer Res 16(12):3153–3162. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2943
- Terai K, Bi D, Liu Z, Kimura K, Sanaat Z, Dolatkhah R, Soleimani M et al (2018) A novel oncolytic herpes capable of cell-specific transcriptional targeting of CD133± cancer cells induces significant tumor regression. Stem Cells 36(8):1154–1169. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2835
- Terstappen LW, Huang S, Safford M, Lansdorp PM, Loken MR (1991) Sequential generations of hematopoietic colonies derived from single nonlineage-committed CD34+CD38- progenitor cells. Blood 77(6):1218–1227. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V77.6.1218.1218
- Trachootham D, Alexandre J, Huang P (2009) Targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? Nat Rev Drug Discov 8(7):579–591. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nrd2803
- Troschel FM, Böhly N, Borrmann K, Braun T, Schwickert A, Kiesel L, Eich HT (2018) miR-142-3p attenuates breast cancer stem cell characteristics and decreases radioresistance in vitro. Tumour Biol 40(8):1010428318791887
- van Tetering G, Vooijs M (2011) Proteolytic cleavage of notch: "HIT and RUN". Curr Mol Med 11(4):255–269. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652411795677972
- Vassalli G (2019) Aldehyde dehydrogenases: not just markers, but functional regulators of stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2019:3904645. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3904645
- Vaupel P (2004) The role of hypoxia-induced factors in tumor progression. Oncologist 9(Suppl 5):10–17
- Venkatesh V, Nataraj R, Thangaraj GS, Karthikeyan M, Gnanasekaran A, Kaginelli SB, Kuppanna G et al (2018) Targeting notch signalling pathway of cancer stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 5:5. https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2018.02.02
- Vermeulen L, De Sousa E, Melo F, van der Heijden M et al (2010) Wnt activity defines colon cancer stem cells and is regulated by the microenvironment. Nat Cell Biol 12(5):468–476. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncb2048
- Walcher L, Kistenmacher AK, Suo H, Kitte R, Dluczek S, Strauß A, Blaudszun AR et al (2020) Cancer stem cells-origins and biomarkers: perspectives for targeted personalized therapies. Front Immunol 11:1280. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01280
- Wang Z, Li Y, Sarkar FH (2010) Notch signaling proteins: legitimate targets for cancer therapy. Curr Protein Pept Sci 11(6):398–408. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920310791824039
- Wang ZW, Ahmad A, Li YW, Azmi AS, Miele L, Sarkar FH (2011) Targeting Notch to eradicate pancreatic cancer stem cells for cancer therapy. Anticancer Res 31:1105–1114
- Wang G, Wang JJ, Tang HM, To SS (2015a) Targeting strategies on miRNA-21 and PDCD4 for glioblastoma. Arch Biochem Biophys 580:64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2015.07.001
- Wang Y, Liu T, Huang P, Zhao H, Zhang R, Ma B, Chen K et al (2015b) A novel Golgi protein (GOLPH2)-regulated oncolytic adenovirus exhibits potent antitumor efficacy in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget 6:13564–13578

- Wiese M, Walther N, Diederichs C, Schill F, Monecke S, Salinas G, Sturm D, Pfister SM, Dressel R, Johnsen SA, Kramm CM (2017) The β-catenin/CBP-antagonist ICG-001 inhibits pediatric glioma tumorigenicity in a Wnt-independent manner. Oncotarget 8(16):27300–27313. https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.15934
- Wijaya J, Fukuda Y, Schuetz JD (2017) Obstacles to brain tumor therapy: key ABC transporters. Int J Mol Sci 18(12):2544. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18122544
- Wu YH, Chiu WT, Young MJ, Chang TH, Huang YF, Chou CY (2015) Solanum incanum extract downregulates aldehyde dehydrogenase 1-mediated stemness and inhibits tumor formation in ovarian cancer cells. J Cancer 6(10):1011–1019. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.12738
- Xia P (2014) Surface markers of cancer stem cells in solid tumors. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 9(2): 102–111. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888x09666131217003709
- Xia X, Yang J, Li F, Li Y, Zhou X, Dai Y, Wong ST (2010) Image-based chemical screening identifies drug efflux inhibitors in lung cancer cells. Cancer Res 70(19):7723–7733. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4360
- Xiao Y, Davidson R, Smith A, Pereira D, Zhao S et al (2006) A 96-well efflux assay to identify ABCG2 substrates using a stably transfected MDCK II cell line. Mol Pharm 3:45–54
- Xu H, Shen Z, Xiao J, Yang Y, Huang W, Zhou Z, Shen J et al (2014) Acetylcholinesterase overexpression mediated by oncolytic adenovirus exhibited potent anti-tumor effect. BMC Cancer 14:668. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-668
- Xuan W, Haiyun Z, Xiaozhuo C (2019) Drug resistance and combating drug resistance in cancer. Cancer Drug Resist 2:141–160. https://doi.org/10.20517/cdr.2019.10
- Yang H, Peng T, Li J, Wang Y, Zhang W, Zhang P, Peng S et al (2016) Treatment of colon cancer with oncolytic herpes simplex virus in preclinical models. Gene Ther 23(5):450–459. https:// doi.org/10.1038/gt.2016.15
- Yang L, Shi P, Zhao G, Xu J, Peng W, Zhang J, Zhang G et al (2020) Targeting cancer stem cell pathways for cancer therapy. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41392-020-0110-5
- Yano S, Tazawa H, Kishimoto H, Fujiwara T, Hoffman RM (2013) Abstract 710: telomerasespecific oncolytic adenovirus OBP-301 kills quiescent peritonially disseminated cancer cells. AACR 104th Annual Meeting, Washington, DC. https://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445. AM2013-710
- Yu X, Zou J, Ye Z et al (2008) Notch signaling activation in human embryonic stem cells is required for embryonic, but not trophoblastic, lineage commitment. Cell Stem Cell 2(5):461–471. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2008.03.001
- Yu SH, Zhang CL, Dong FS, Zhang YM (2015) miR-99a suppresses the metastasis of human non-small cell lung cancer cells by targeting AKT1 signaling pathway. J Cell Biochem 116(2): 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.24965
- Yu S, Qin X, Chen T, Zhou L, Xu X, Feng J (2017) MicroRNA-106b-5p regulates cisplatin chemosensitivity by targeting polycystic kidney disease-2 in non-small-cell lung cancer. Anti-Cancer Drugs 28(8):852–860. https://doi.org/10.1097/CAD.00000000000524
- Zhang ZL, Zou WG, Luo CX, Li BH, Wang JH, Sun LY, Qian QJ (2003) An armed oncolytic adenovirus system, ZD55-gene, demonstrating potent antitumoral efficacy. Cell Res 13: 481–489
- Zhang C, Li C, He F, Cai Y, Yang H (2011) Identification of CD44+CD24+ gastric cancer stem cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 137(11):1679–1686. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-011-1038-5
- Zhang X, Meng S, Zhang R, Ma B, Liu T, Yang Y, Xie W et al (2016) GP73-regulated oncolytic adenoviruses possess potent killing effect on human liver cancer stem-like cells. Oncotarget 7: 29346–29358
- Zhang C, Yang Z, Dong DL, Jang TS, Knowles JC, Kim HW, Jin GZ, Xuan Y (2020) 3D culture technologies of cancer stem cells: promising ex vivo tumor models. J Tissue Eng 11: 2041731420933407. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041731420933407
- Zhao J, Tao Y, Zhou Y, Qin N, Chen C, Tian D, Xu L (2015) MicroRNA-7: a promising new target in cancer therapy. Cancer Cell Int 15:103. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-015-0259-0

- Zhao W, Li Y, Zhang X (2017) Stemness-related markers in cancer. Cancer Transl Med 3(3):87–95. https://doi.org/10.4103/ctm.ctm 69 16
- Zheng M, Huang J, Tong A, Yang H (2019) Oncolytic viruses for cancer therapy: barriers and recent advances. Mol Ther Oncol 15:234–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omto.2019.10.007
- Zhong H, Chiles K, Feldser D, Laughner E, Hanrahan C, Georgescu MM, Simons JW et al (2000) Modulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha expression by the epidermal growth factor/ phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/PTEN/AKT/FRAP pathway in human prostate cancer cells: implications for tumor angiogenesis and therapeutics. Cancer Res 60(6):1541–1545
- Zhu K, Ding H, Wang W, Liao Z, Fu Z, Hong Y et al (2016) Tumor-suppressive miR-218-5p inhibits cancer cell proliferation and migration via EGFR in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget 7(19):28075–28085



Bioengineering Technique Progress of Direct Cardiac Reprogramming



A New Perspective from Microbubbles and UTMD

Dingqian Liu, Khawaja Husnain Haider, and Changfa Guo

Contents

Introduction	1335
Pluripotent Stem Cells in Myocardial Regeneration and Repair	1336
The Strategy of Direct Reprogramming to Generate Cardiomyocytes	1337
Observations and Data Analysis	1339
Synthesis and Characterization of CMBs and Lentivirus-Binding Capacity	1339
Reprogramming of Rat CFs into iCMs by the GMT Lentivirus Vectors In Vitro	1341
UTMD-Mediated Localized Delivery of Direct-Reprogramming GMT	
Lentivirus–CMB Hybrids In Vivo	1343
Significance of the Combinatorial Approach of UTMD with CMB-Lentiviral Hybrid	1348
CMB-Lentivirus Hybrids in Gene Delivery	1351
Advantages of Lentiviral Vectors for Direct Reprogramming	1352
Improvement of Reprogramming Factors in Direct Cardiac Reprogramming	1353
Ultrasound-Mediated Localized Direct Reprogramming via Lentivirus Delivery for	
Cardiac Repair	1354
Conclusion and Future Perspective	1355
A Summary of the Experimental Methods and Design	1355
Vectors and Cells	1355
Creation of CMBs and Microbubble-Virus Hybrids	1356
Direct Reprogramming of CFs In Vitro	1357
A Western Blot Analysis	1357
Development of Experimental Rat Model of MI	1357

D. Liu · C. Guo (🖂)

K. H. Haider

K. H. Haider (ed.), Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 27

Department of Cardiac Surgery, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, People's Republic of China

e-mail: dqliu10@fudan.edu.cn; guo.changfa@zs-hospital.sh.cn

Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

Delivery of Microbubble-Lentivirus Hybrids Using UTMD In Vivo	1358
Histological Examination	1359
Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (cMRI) and Echocardiography	1359
References	1359

Abstract

The combination of heart-specific transcription factors GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 (GMT) has been proven to have the ability to directly reprogram cardiac fibroblasts; this approach is considered a promising regenerative technique. Meanwhile, research on microbubbles as biological vectors has made great progress in recent years. This study describes the loading of GMT lentiviral vectors on cationic microbubbles and the release of these direct-reprogramming vectors into an infarcted myocardium by ultrasound targeted microbubble destruction (UTMD) to repair the cardiac tissue. Lentivirus which encode GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 transcription factors were generated via a lentiviral production system and were confirmed to have a direct reprogramming ability in vitro. Combined with the cationic microbubbles, UTMD-mediated gene delivery was evaluated, and the gene transfection efficiency was optimized in an in vitro experiment on rat cardiac fibroblasts. With UTMD-mediated direct reprogramming, the viral vector particles were directly deposited in cardiac tissue and repaired the infarcted myocardium. An immunofluorescence assay and histological examination confirmed newborn cardiomyocytes and neo-angiogenesis after a 4-week follow-up of the treated rats. All treated groups showed ventricular-function improvement according to cardiac magnetic resonance imaging and echocardiography. This chapter reports a novel strategy for the delivery of direct-reprogramming lentiviral vectors to a target acute myocardial infarction zone by using UTMD as a tissue repair therapy.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:Bioengineering} \begin{array}{l} \cdot \mbox{ Cardiac} \cdot \mbox{ Cationic} \cdot \mbox{ Direct reprogramming} \cdot \mbox{ iPSCs} \cdot \mbox{ Ischemic} \\ heart \mbox{ disease} \cdot \mbox{ Microbubbles} \cdot \mbox{ Myocardium} \cdot \mbox{ Stem cells} \cdot \mbox{ UTMD} \end{array}$

Abbreviations

CFs	Cardiac fibroblasts
cTnI	Cardiac troponin-I
cTnT	Cardiac troponin-I
GMT	Gata4, MEF2c, and TBX5
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
iCMs	Induced cardiomyocyte-like cells
IHD	Ischemic heart disease

iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
LAD	Left anterior descending
LV	Left ventricle
LVEF	LV-ejection fraction
MCAs	Microbubble ultrasound contrast agents
MI	Myocardial infarction
UTMD	Ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction

Introduction

Ischemic heart disease (IHD) is the leading cause of heart failure (Moran et al. 2014). According to the recently published report by the American Heart Association, cardiovascular diseases incur one of the highest health and economic burdens globally (Virani et al. 2021). Although the contemporary surgical and pharmacological options provide symptomatic relief to the patients in most cases (Santucci et al. 2020), these treatment options fail to recover the ischemic damage incurred at the structural and cellular levels in terms of massive cardiomyocyte loss. Heart transplantation is widely used as a gold-standard treatment option; organ transplantation still has disadvantages, including an insufficient number of donor organs and the need for long-term immunosuppressant drug therapy (von Dossow et al. 2017). Given that adult cardiomyocytes have only limited regenerative capacity (Bergmann et al. 2009; Mollova et al. 2013), the intrinsic repair mechanism by the resident cardiac stem cells to recover the massive loss of functioning myocytes is only restricted and less than optimal. Although protocols have been reported to reenter the surviving cardiomyocytes in the peri-infarct region into the cell cycle or stimulate the resident stem cells to participate more efficiently in the repair process, the success has been limited (He and Zhou 2017). Attempts have been made to directly reprogram cardiac fibroblasts by myocardial delivery of GATA4, Mef2, and Tbx5 to adopt cardiomyocyte phenotype in experimental animal studies (Qian et al. 2012).

Alternatively, stem cell-based therapy has a promising future in cardiac regenerative medicine. Since the publication of the first report of cell-based therapy in a 57-year-old patient undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting (Menasché et al. 2001), the novel stem cell-based intervention has progressed from bench to bedside, advancing to multicenter randomized Phase II and Phase III clinical trials, primarily focusing on the use of bone marrow-derived stem cells (Heldman et al. 2014; Mathiasen et al. 2015; Hare et al. 2017). Despite the well-established safety aspects of cell-based therapy for myocardial repair in preclinical and clinical studies, the efficacy in most cases, especially in clinical studies, has been modest. These modest clinical data have been ascribed mainly to the cell-type selection and the quality of the cells used for transplantation (Shahid et al. 2016; Haider 2018). In this regard, pluripotent stem cells, mainly induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), have given new impetus to cell-based therapy.

Pluripotent Stem Cells in Myocardial Regeneration and Repair

From among the pluripotent stem cells, undifferentiated embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and their derivative cardiomyocytes have been extensively studied in experimental animal models for myocardial repair and regeneration. The transplanted cells differentiate into morphofunctionally cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, and vascular smooth muscle cells as part of their mechanism to regenerate infarcted myocardium and preserve global cardiac function (Min et al. 2002; Nelson et al. 2006; Caspi et al. 2007; Rufaihah et al. 2007, 2010; van Laake et al. 2008). However, ESCs have not progressed beyond preclinical experimental studies due to moral and ethical issues associated with their availability and use, and tumorigenic potential. Pre-differentiation strategy of ESCs to form cardiomyocytes rather than using undifferentiated ESCs has been pursued to address the tumorigenicity concerns. However, the contaminant population of undifferentiated or incompletely differentiated cells still remains a concern for in vivo use. Hence, various genetic and nongenetic methods of selection and enrichment of pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes have been reported (Lin et al. 2010; Ban et al. 2013, 2015). However, all this is still in experimental phase.

In 2006, Takahashi and Yamanaka were the first to successfully generate iPSCs from adult somatic cells by integrating-virus-based delivery of a classic combination of four transcription factors, i.e., Oct3/4, Sox2, cMyc, and Klf4 (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). The reprogrammed cells were pluripotent and were considered as surrogate ESCs due to similarity in biological and stemness characteristics, however, without ethical and moral strings associated with the production and application of ESCs (Ibrahim et al. 2016). Although this groundbreaking discovery gave new impetus to stem cell-based therapy, tumorigenicity during preclinical assessment raised serious concerns about this progress to the clinical use in the patients (Ahmed et al. 2011; Buccini et al. 2012).

Various strategies have been adopted to generate iPSCs to fully exploit their theranostic applications from drug development to disease modelling in vitro. They are also suitable for patient use in the clinic. These strategies include the use of a smaller number of transcription factors, mainly the exclusion of cMyc (Nakagawa et al. 2008, 2010; Giorgetti et al. 2009), the use of non-integrative viral vectors (Chou et al. 2011; Macarthur et al. 2012), and nonviral vectors for transcription factors' delivery (Huangfu et al. 2008; Qu et al. 2012). Somatic cell reprogramming protocols have also used a combination of small molecules and pluripotency-related transcription factors to overcome the low efficiency of classical transcription-based protocols. For example, DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors, i.e., valproic acid, the treatment improved the efficiency of reprogramming by 100-fold (Huangfu et al. 2008; Pasha et al. 2011). Similarly, Woltgen et al. successfully used TGF- β inhibitors E-616452 (25 mM), E-616451 (3 mM), or EI-275 (3 mM) for induction of pluripotency in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) (Woltjen and Stanford 2009).

Although the overexpression of transcription factors for reprogramming is the most prevalent method for cellular reprogramming, search for novel meth ods with higher efficiency and safety index continues. Given their essential participation in major cellular signaling pathways involved in various cellular functions, an exciting strategy for somatic cell reprogramming is based on miRNA or a set of miRs manipulation to achieve cellular reprogramming. For example, Anokye-Danso and colleagues reported that expression of miR-302/ miR-367 cluster, ESCs-specific miRs highly expressed during the embryonic development, successfully and efficiently reprogrammed both human and mouse somatic cells such that reprogramming efficiency were two orders of the magnitude more efficient than the classical transcription based-method (Anokye-Danso et al. 2011). Also, there was no difference in the quality and characteristics of the iPSCs generated from the two methods. More importantly, the strategy alleviated the need to deliver transcription factors to the cells. An important step forward in cellular reprogramming is the application of CRISPR/ Cas9 technology, a gene editing technique which works as molecular scissors (Shakirova et al. 2020).

The Strategy of Direct Reprogramming to Generate Cardiomyocytes

Direct reprogramming is an emerging new approach which is being used to derive cardiomyocytes from differentiated somatic cells without passing through pluripotency status (Kelaini et al. 2014). The strategy generally involves developing partially induced multipotent progenitors which are then directed to differentiate into cardiomyocytes (Kelaini et al. 2014). For example, Ieda et al. successfully used direct reprogramming strategy to convert mouse cardiac fibroblasts (CFs) into induced cardiomyocyte-like cells (iCMs) using three heart-specific transcription factors: GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 (GMT) (Ieda et al. 2010; Kurotsu et al. 2017). This bioengineering technique is an exciting approach free from the limitations of the existing technologies, such as exogenous stem cell injection or iPSCs. Similar approach has also been used by other research groups using different sets of heart-specific transcription factors (Song et al. 2012; Protze et al. 2012; Mathison et al. 2012).

Microbubble ultrasound contrast agents (MCAs) have become an effective tool for gene delivery (Negishi et al. 2016). MCAs' biocompatible shells make them stable carriers of transfection vectors for gene delivery (Sun et al. 2013; Panje et al. 2012; Geis et al. 2012). With a compressible gas core, MCAs have a unique feature that allows them to be flexible according to different phases of ultrasound waves (Shapiro et al. 2016). In addition, the cell membranes and vascular endothelial integrity can be trespassed by the ultrasound shock waves. Hence, MCAs can penetrate vessels in an ultrasound field and serve as therapeutic modality for the circulatory system (Castle and Feinstein 2016; Chen et al. 2016). Recent research

yielded a reliable method for fabricating controlled-release vectors loaded with MCAs; this method is ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction (UTMD) (Zhou et al. 2017). High-amplitude oscillations leading to microbubble destruction can be induced by high-mechanical-index ultrasound at its resonance frequency (Liao et al. 2014). This sonoporation phenomenon improves localized tissue deposition of bioactive substances. Additionally, the features mentioned above, UTMD generates high-velocity fluid microjets that produce transient nanopores in cell membranes and enable higher capillary permeability (Haber et al. 2017). Considering UTMD as a feasible targeted delivery method, some authors have successfully loaded vectors, including viral vectors and plasmid DNA to treat a wide range of diseases in different animal models (Zhang et al. 2018; Lin et al. 2018).

The virus-mediated expression cloning methods include retroviral, Sendai virus, and lentiviral vector-mediated gene delivery systems. The characteristics of these viral systems, i.e., high transduction rates, make them popular in stem cell research (Sharon and Kamen 2018; Gandara et al. 2018; White et al. 2017; Miyamoto et al. 2018; Isomi et al. 2021). Nowadays, the HIV-1–derived third-generation lentiviral vector is the most commonly used manufacturing system, which originates from the laboratories of Didier Trono and David Baltimore (Kotterman et al. 2015). After deletion of two-thirds of the HIV-1 viral genome and preservation of the elements critical for gene transfer, this viral packaging system is free from replication competence risk. As a result, the biggest advantage of this system is replication deficiency, making lentiviral vectors safe for further applications in mammalian tissues.

Many clinical trials using lentiviruses for gene therapy have been conducted in recent years (Houghton et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2014; Aiuti et al. 2013). The results proved that lentiviral vectors could facilitate the delivery of genetic material and its stable long-term expression in a target tissue without severe inflammatory response. In polar media, viral vectors also have a pH-dependent surface charge. As a result, the electrostatic charge of virus particles, also known as the isoelectric point, has an important property in an electric field (Michen and Graule 2010). This property determines the viral electrostatic adsorption capacity, which is critical for further virus sorption processes. Based on this property of viral vectors affords an improved gene transfection effect in vivo (Li et al. 2009; Xie et al. 2010). Some studies have also reported successful delivery of MCA–virus hybrids to the cardiac tissue, indicating the feasibility of organ-specific targeting of viral vectors (Michen and Graule 2010).

Inspired by direct-reprogramming strategies and the research advances in MCAs, we have attempted to synthesize CMBs so that lentiviral vectors encoding GMT for direct reprogramming could be loaded on the surface of microbubbles (Fig. 1). Instead of direct intramyocardial injection, the microbubble–lentivirus hybrids were injected through the jugular vein, and direct-reprogramming relevant vectors were then released into the targeted myocardium by UTMD. This chapter is based on our novel data and discusses in-depth the superiority of this novel approach in regenerative medicine.



Fig. 1 A schematic of ultrasound-targeted CMB destruction–mediated localized delivery of the direct-reprogramming GMT-encoding lentivirus for cardiac repair in ischemic heart disease. The lentivirus encoding heart-specific transcription factors, GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 (GMT) have the capacity to directly reprogram CFs into iCMs in vitro. The synthesized CMBs are loaded with an anionic GMT lentiviral vector so that the microbubble/lentivirus hybrids could be then injected via the jugular vein, and direct-reprogramming vectors are released into the targeted myocardium by the UTMD technique for cardiac repair in vivo

Observations and Data Analysis

Synthesis and Characterization of CMBs and Lentivirus-Binding Capacity

During the study, CMBs were developed using DPPC, DPPE, and DOPE in chloroform, followed by rotary evaporation to form a lipid film (Fig. 2a–c). After sufficient rehydration with PBS and emulsification with glycerine, the resulting emulsion was sonicated with a gas (SF₆). Thus, the CMBs with a sulfur hexafluoride gas core and a lipid shell were fabricated. The concentration of CMBs was approximately 4.0×10^9 /ml. The average microbubble diameter was 966.6 nm (Fig. 2d), and the zeta potential of the CMBs was 28.3 ± 1.4 mV (Fig. 2e).

The initial mean microbubble count in this experiment was $6.1 \pm 0.2 \times 10^{\prime}$. Given the surface of CMBs was cationic and the lentivirus capsids were anionic, the



Fig. 2 Design and characterization of CMBs. (a) A schematic of CMB synthesis. The CMBs consist of DPPC, DPPE, and DOPE in chloroform, and the CMBs with an SF₆ gas core and a lipid shell are fabricated. (b) The shape and concentration of CMBs were evaluated microscopically, and CMBs appeared as gas-filled spheres under a microscope. (c) Microbubbles loaded with the control GFP-expressing lentivirus were labelled with the FITC-conjugated anti-p24 antibody, revealing a strong fluorescence signal on the microbubble surface, which indicated that the GFP-expressing lentivirus was bound to the surface of microbubbles. (d) Log-normal size distribution and (e) zeta potential of the CMBs as measured by a Zetasizer NANO ZS system

loaded microbubbles could be distinguished from the unloaded ones by fluorescence to prove viral-vector binding. As microbubbles have low stability upon exposure to repetitive flotation or gentle shaking, some of the original microbubbles could be retrieved after all the washing steps. After incubation with the FITC-conjugated antip24 antibody, the loaded microbubbles showed a strong fluorescence signal on their surface, thus proving that anionic capsids of the GFP-expressing lentivirus were efficiently bound to the microbubbles' surface (Fig. 2c).

Reprogramming of Rat CFs into iCMs by the GMT Lentivirus Vectors In Vitro

Amplified and cloned sequences of *Gata4*, *Mef2c*, and *Tbx5* in the plasmids for lentiviral packaging were confirmed by restriction enzyme identification and gene sequencing (Fig. 3a). After packaging, the titer of GATA4 and TBX5 viral vectors were 3.05×10^8 and 3.02×10^8 TU/ml, respectively, according to the results of 293 T cells infection. The titer of the MEF2C vector was 3.25×10^8 TU/m as confirmed by an RT-PCR assay (Table S1). After infection of 293 T cells, the infected cells showed the corresponding fluorescence signal and puromycin resistance, which confirmed the successful construction of reprogramming vectors (Fig. S1).



Fig. 3 Optimization of in vitro reprogramming. (a) Restriction enzyme identification and gene sequencing confirmed amplified and cloned sequences of *Gata4*, *Mef2c*, and *Tbx5* in the plasmids for lentivirus packaging. (b) At the fixed parameters (1.5 MHz, duty cycle 20%, duration 30 s), the EGFP-positive cells of the 1.5 W/cm² ultrasound group were detected by fluorescence microscopy. (c) A representative Western blot showing overexpression of all three transcription factors GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5, and cardiomyocyte-specific marker cTnT at 7 and 14 days after lentivirus infection (*P < 0.05 vs. control)

WPRE sequence	
Forward primer (1277F)	CCGTTTCAGGCAACGTG
Reverse primer (1361R)	AGCTGACAGGTGGTGGCAAT
Probe(1314P)	FAM-TGCTGACGCAACCCCCACTGGT-TAMRA
β-actin sequence	
Forward primer	GCGAGAAGATGACCCAGCTC
Reverse primer	CCAGTGGTACGGCCAGAGG
Probe	FAM-CCAGCCATGTACGTTGCTATCCAGGC-TAMRA

Table S1 Real-time PCR sequences for detecting Mef2c lentiviral vector titer



Figure S1 Electrocardiogram (ECG) of the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD) rat model. Line 1: ECG of shame group (n = 8) before and after LAD ligation; Line 2: ECG of saline group (n = 8) before and after LAD ligation; Line 3: ECG of GMT group (n = 8) before and after LAD ligation; Line 4: ECG of GMT+CMBs+US group (n = 8) before and after LAD ligation; Line 5: ECG of GMT+CMBs+UTMD group (n = 8) before and after LAD ligation

After in vitro cell transfection with the GMT viral vectors, Western blotting revealed overexpression of all three reprogramming transcription factors after 7 days. The expression level remained stable until day 14 of observation (Fig. 3c, d). In addition to the increased expression of the three reprogramming transcription factors, over-expression of the cardiomyocyte-specific marker cTnT was confirmed by Western

blotting after the transfection. In contrast to the infected CFs, those infected with the control vectors did not show the same expression levels of transcription factors or cTnT. Therefore, the fabricated GMT viral vectors were capable of in vitro reprogramming of CFs, which expressed the typical marker of cardiomyocytes.

UTMD-Mediated Localized Delivery of Direct-Reprogramming GMT Lentivirus-CMB Hybrids In Vivo

Histological Assessment of Post-Infarct Ventricles After UTMD Therapy

Neomyogenesis around the infarct area after GMT and UTMD therapy via potential cardiomyocyte proliferation was demonstrated by immunofluorescence staining specific for α -actin and histone H3 phosphorylation (PHH3) expression, a marker of cell mitosis. Twenty-eight days after the surgical procedure, an increase in the PHH3-specific immunofluorescence signals were detected in the peri-infarct area in groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD treatment groups (Fig. 4, panels-2 & 4). Superimposition of immunofluorescent images of α -actin (Fig. 4, panel-1) and DAPI stained images (Fig. 4, panel-3), showed that treatment with GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD induced cardiomyocyte proliferation after myocardial infarction (MI). According to statistical analysis (Fig. S2), there were significantly more PHH3-positive and α -actin–negative cells in the peri-infarct zone in all the treated groups; these data fit the characteristics of reprogrammed fibroblasts under the conditions of MI.

The TdT-mediated dUTP nick-end labelling (TUNEL) analysis of the peri-infarct myocardium in groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD manifested a lower percentage of apoptotic cardiomyocytes than that in the saline treated group of animals (P < 0.05). Groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD showed no statistically significant differences among themselves (Fig. 5a, panel-3, & Fig. 5d). It was observed that the damaged myocardium in the saline group was replaced by a fibrous scar (Fig. 5a, panel-2), and ventricular-wall thickening could be observed at 28 days after infarction. Masson trichrome staining and HE staining were also used (Fig. 5a, panels-2 & 3) to measure the scar size and quantitatively analyze interstitial fibrosis (Fig. 5b, c).

Compared with the saline treated group of animals, myocardial fibrosis leading to scar formation and left ventricular remodeling were significantly attenuated in all the treatment groups. The total area of fibrosis and the number of scar-producing myofibroblasts were significantly reduced observed after the administration of the GMT vectors at 28 days of observation. In addition, angiogenesis, which is important for restoration of regional blood supply (including capillaries and arterioles), was significantly improved in the peri-infarct area. In the groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD, there was significant increase in capillary density after immunostaining for cluster of differentiation 31 expression (CD31; Fig. 5a, panel-5 and Fig. 5e), and arteriole counts [according to combined staining for alpha-smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) in the peri-infarct zone] than the saline treatment group (Fig. 5a, panel-4, and Fig. 5f). Although without statistical significance, immunohistochemical







Figure S2 Screening experiments results of GMT lentivirus (a) The packaging plasmids of Mef2c consist of puromycin gene which provides transfected cells puromycin resistance. Line 1: Puromycin resistance experiment for fibroblasts. Line 2: Puromycin resistance experiment for fibroblasts transfected with GMT lentiviral vectors. (b) Cardiac fibroblasts infected by 10⁸ TU/ml GFP control lentivirus. (c) Gata4 and Tbx5 lentivirus tilters counting by infecting 293T human embryonic kidney cell. Line 1: 293T cells infected by GFP control lentivirus; Line 2: 293T cells infected by GFP-enhanced Gata4 lentivirus; Line 3: 293T cells infected by RFP-enhanced Tbx5 lentivirus



Fig. 5 Histological examination of ultrasound-mediated in situ direct reprogramming in the rat heart model. (a) Histological analyses. Panel 1: HE staining images depicting the basic tissue structure of the histological tissue sections 28 days post-surgery; Panel 2: HE staining illustrating the basic tissue structure in histological tissue sections 28 days post-surgery (scale bar is $\frac{1}{4}$ 50 mm); panel 3: Masson trichrome staining showing a scar (blue) and viable (red) tissue sections 4 weeks post-surgery (scale bar is ¹/₄ 50 mm); panel 4: TUNEL staining showing apoptotic cardiomyocytes (brown) 1 day post-surgery (scale bar ¹/₄ 50 mm); panel 5: immunohistochemical images of arterioles stained for α -SMA (brown; scale bar $\frac{1}{4}$ 50 mm); panel 6: immunohistochemical images showing capillaries stained for CD31 (brown; scale bar $\frac{1}{4}$ 50 mm). (b) Quantitative analyses indicating that the scar size in groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD at 4 weeks postsurgery was smaller than that in any other group. (c) Quantitative analyses indicating that the fibrosis percentage in animal groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD 4 weeks post-surgery was less than the saline treated animal group. (d) Quantitative analysis suggesting that the apoptotic-cardiomyocyte percentages in the peri-infarct myocardium of groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD 28 days post-surgery were lower as compared to the saline treated group of animals. (e) Quantitative analysis showing that capillary density at 4 weeks post-surgery in the periinfarct myocardium of groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD was higher than the saline treated animal group. (f) Quantitative analysis indicating that arteriole counts in the peri-infarct myocardium of groups GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD at 4 weeks post-surgery were higher than the saline treated animal group (*P < 0.05 vs. saline group)

staining of CD31 and α -SMA indicated an increase in angiogenesis in the peri-infarct area at 4 weeks post-surgery in UTMD and GMT lentiviral-vector-treated groups.

Histological examination of related organs including lungs, the liver, kidneys, and spleen in all the groups was also performed 28 days after the intervention. HE staining showed delicate alveolar walls of the lungs without any signs of pathological changes such as edema or hemorrhage (Fig. 6, panel-1). The liver in all the groups examined appeared normal, divided into lobules with the central vein and peripheral triads (Fig. 6, panel-2). There was no enlargement of the white pulp or a





reduction in the red pulp composed of many splenic sinusoids in the spleen (Fig. 6, panel 3). The structures of glomeruli were also normal in all the kidneys (Fig. 6, panel-4). Immunohistochemical staining of GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 was also performed in the heart, liver, spleen, lung, and kidney tissues 28 days after the surgical procedure (Fig. S3), which revealed off-target expression in the liver and kidneys (Fig. S4). This was attributed to the high tropism of the lentivirus towards the liver and kidney cells.

Cardiac Function Improvement After UTMD-Mediated Direct Reprogramming Therapy

To assess the therapeutic effectiveness of GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD on global LV remodeling and function, serial echocardiographic analyses and cardiac MRI scans were performed on days at 2 and 28 after surgery in all the groups (Fig. 7a). MI via ligation of the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD) induced a gradual reduction in LV-function, as evidenced by a declining LV-ejection fraction (LVEF), which is the critical event in the progression of adverse post-infarct remodeling. Two days post infarction, the results revealed similar baseline heart function among all the groups with induced infarction (p > 0.05). Compared with baseline (LVEF 46.3% \pm 0.7%), the saline group showed significantly lower LVEF % (47.46% \pm 2.9%) post infarction. On the other hand, treatment groups, including GMT, GMT + US, and GMT + UTMD had higher LVEF (54.01% \pm 3%, $59.6\% \pm 1.9\%$, and $56.9\% \pm 1.98\%$, respectively; p < 0.01 vs. control group). However, all the treated groups showed no statistically significant difference in LVEF improvement among themselves (Fig. 7b-d). Therefore, cardiac function analysis from the baseline values showed that the LVEF after MI declined over time. As illustrated in the figure, the mean change in the LVEF in groups MI-CMB/ GMT + UTMD, MI-CMB/GMT + US, and MI-CMB/GMT was more significant (p < 0.05) compared with the sham or saline group from the time point of lentivirus administration to the follow-up until 28 days of observation (Fig. 7b-d).

Significance of the Combinatorial Approach of UTMD with CMB-Lentiviral Hybrid

This data signifies the combinatorial approach of using UTMD with CMB–lentiviral hybrids to transfer direct-reprogramming GMT factors into rat CFs in the ischemic myocardium (Fig. 1). These data shows the high efficiency of ultrasound-targeted CMB destruction–mediated localized delivery of the direct-reprogramming GMT-encoding lentivirus for cardiac repair in ischemic heart disease. The lentivirus encoding heart-specific transcription factors, GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 (GMT) directly reprogrammed the non-cardiomyocytes population of cardiac cells, i.e., CFs, into iCMs in vitro successfully. The most significant findings of the presented data include successful neomyogenesis in and around the infarcted myocardium, increased blood vessel density, attenuated fibrogenesis and infarct size, and preservation of LV contractile function.







Figure S4 Immunohistochemistry stained by Gata4 in lung, liver, spleen, and kidney. Line 1: Immunohistochemistry images stained by Gata4 (brown) in lung tissue, Scale bar ¹/₄ 50 mm. Line 2: Immunohistochemistry images stained by Gata4 (brown) in liver tissue, Scale bar ¹/₄ 50 mm. Line 3: Immunohistochemistry images stained by Gata4 (brown) in spleen tissue, Scale bar ¹/₄ 50 mm. Line 4: Immunohistochemistry images stained by Gata4 (brown) in kidney tissue, Scale bar ¹/₄ 50 mm.

CMs play a pivotal role in the structural repair maintenance of myocardial structural integrity of the infarcted myocardium by transforming into myofibroblasts. However, their excessive activation has been reported to support HF progression via fibrotic activity that contributes to the replacement of the dead cardiomyocytes with fibrosis, scar tissue formation, and modulation of cardiomyocyte structure and function (Nagaraju et al. 2019). Therefore, suppressing their activation (Meng et al. 2018) or involving them in neomyogenesis via direct reprogramming strategy may be exploited to add them into the repair process.

Lentiviral vectors have been extensively used for transgene delivery into various cell types, including the poorly dividing cardiomyocytes, owing to the stable, heritable gene transfection in both dividing and nondividing cells without inflammatory/immune response (Kim et al. 2001; Zhao et al. 2002). These advantages render them undeniably more appealing as transgene delivery vectors as compared to the other vectors. Attempts are underway to optimize protocols to generate enhanced viral vector titter to achieve transfection efficiency (He et al. 2021). However, one of the limitations of lentiviral vectors is their lack of site-specific uptake when delivered systemically, thus delivering the transgene to nontarget cells and tissues. Hence, the lentiviral vector is being combined with other strategies to increase its transduction efficiency.

In recent years, CMBs and MMBs (magnetic microbubbles)-hybrids with lentiviral vector combined with UTMD has gained popularity for efficient therapeutic gene delivery as UTMD causes increased sonoporation of the cells at the target



Fig. 7 In vivo heart function assessment by the 7 T MRI system for small experimental animal models. (a) Panel 1: MRI showing a cardiac cross-section at 2 days after surgery; panel 2: MRI of a cardiac cross-section on 28 days post-surgery; panel 3: M-mode echocardiography images depicting a cardiac cross-section on day 28 after surgery. (b) Quantitative analyses of LVEF on days 2 and 28 after surgery. (c) Quantitative analyses of LVEDV at 2 and 28 days post-surgery. (d) Quantitative analyses of LVESV on days 2 and 28 after surgery. (LVEDV, left ventricular end-diastolic volume; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; LVESV, left ventricular end-systolic volume)

sites to facilitate the genetic material uptake (Yang et al. 2011, Cool et al. 2013). These data successfully demonstrated the applicability of combining lentiviral vectors with CMBs, which allowed the viral vector's high binding capacity to achieve high gene transfection efficiency. In both the in vitro and in vivo experiments, direct-reprogramming GMT factors proved capable of cardiac repair. With UTMD, viral vectors were directly deposited in cardiac tissue and successfully repaired the infarcted myocardium. The immunofluorescence assay and histological examination confirmed neomyocytes and neo-angiogenesis during a 4-week follow-up in the rat model of MI. All the treatment groups showed significant LV-function improvement as compared with the control treatment group.

CMB–Lentivirus Hybrids in Gene Delivery

These data describe the synthesis of CMBs from DPPC, DPPE, and DOPE (Fig. 2a). The lentivirus–CMBs conjugation was confirmed visually by green fluorescence (Fig. 2c). It is important to mention that the characteristics of the synthesized

microbubbles, including their lipid composition, size distribution, residual charge, etc., significantly impact their genetic material loading capacity. Similarly, CMBs synthesis protocols involve the use of different types of cationic lipids integrated onto the lipid microbubble shell (Cao et al. 2017a; Negishi et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2018). It is pertinent to mention that the chemical composition of the cationic head groups are the significant determinants of the physiochemical properties of the CMBs besides remaining as the major determinants of their capacity to hybridize with the lentiviral vectors carrying the transcription factors of interest for delivery. Similarly, the inclusion of helper lipids contributes to the physiochemical properties as well as their transfection efficiency. As a result, the CMBs showed high loading capacity and transfection efficiency because of their charge coupling. In these experiments, the prepared CMBs vielded a mean zeta potential of 28.3 ± 1.4 mV. This cationic lipid has turned out to be an efficient and popular method for gene transfection and drug delivery. Because of the electrostatic adhesion between CMBs and anionic lentivirus particles, CMB-lentivirus hybrids could be a promising noninvasive platform for direct reprogramming in rats.

Advantages of Lentiviral Vectors for Direct Reprogramming

Besides their ability to transduce both dividing and nondividing cells with equal efficiency and low immunogenicity, the third-generation lentivirus packaging system involves several safety measures (Gill and Denham 2020). The virus-packaging system relies on four separate plasmids to produce lentiviral vectors; this arrangement decreases the chance of wild-type virus recombination events (Lukashev and Zamyatnin 2016). Moreover, the third-generation lentivirus packaging system deletes the crucial viral transcription activator gene *tat* and its regulatory region, thus generating self-inactivating (SIN) vectors (Sharon and Kamen 2018). Additionally, this system separates viral packaging genes, including *gag*, *pol*, and *rev* on two plasmids (Stellberger et al. 2017). Considering other features of this lentiviral vector system, including the deletion of accessory genes *vif*, *vpr*, *vpu*, and *nef*, which are vital for the pathogenesis of the virus, and replacement of the native HIV-1 envelope protein by heterologous envelope protein VSV-G, the third-generation lentivirus system maximizes the biosafety for its applications (Shearer and Saunders 2015).

For the production of the vectors, the lentiviral vector transfer plasmid for GMT overexpression and three plasmids containing packaging and envelope genes (pRsv-REV, pMDlg-pRRE, and pMD2G) were transfected into a HEK293T producer cell line, which then assembled the virus and released it into the culture medium. By restriction enzyme identification, PCR, and sequence analysis, the successful construction of the recombinant lentiviruses was confirmed, and there were no HIV-1 recombination events detected (Fig. 3). The lentiviral vectors were then concentrated to a high titer and tested for key characteristics before their use for direct cardiac reprogramming and UTMD application.

.

Improvement of Reprogramming Factors in Direct Cardiac Reprogramming

As discussed earlier, the CFs have a crucial role in the vicious cycle of LV remodeling post-MI. The adult functioning cardiomyocytes undergoing apoptosis and necrosis in the infarcted myocardium are replaced by fibrotic scar tissue as a part of the intrinsic repair process. Given the pivotal role of CFs in both reactive and reparative fibrotic activity (Hara et al. 2017), the strategy to involve them in neomyogenic repair of the infarcted myocardium has gained momentum that is based on their direct reprogramming into iCMs to restore cardiac function (Fu and Srivastava 2015). Although several combinations of transcription factors with or without microRNA manipulations, the published data so far provides mounting evidence confirming that GMT is an effective combination of cardiac-specific direct reprogramming factors both in vitro or in vivo for the generation of iCMs from CMs (Sadahiro et al. 2015; Jayawardena et al. 2015; Boon and Dimmeler 2015; Sinagra and Fabris 2016).

Tronolab lentiviral production system was successfully used to generate reprogramming lentivirus, and GMT viral titers achieved were 3.05×10^8 , 3.25×10^8 , and 3.02×10^8 TU/ml. During the transfection protocol in the experiment, 8 µg/ml polybrene was added to neutralize the electrostatic interaction between the cells and the viral particles that significantly contributed to improving the transfection efficacy. The successfully reprogrammed CFs yielded high expression of GATA4, MEF2C, TBX5, besides the expression of cardiac-specific cTnT (an important cardiac marker) at 48 h after sequential transfection with the GMT virus (Fig. 3). In vitro experimental data strongly support that the GMT lentivirus can directly and efficiently reprogram CFs, which is in agreement with other published studies (Fu et al. 2013; Inagawa and Ieda 2013; Song et al. 2012; Ieda et al. 2010). However, the success of direct reprogramming and its efficiency is determined by the proper reprogramming factors selection and well-cultured fibroblasts (Adams et al. 2021).

Besides the triad of GMT, several other combinations of cardiac-specific transcription factors (López-Muneta et al. 2020) and strategies can directly reprogram mouse and human fibroblasts into iCMs (Hashimot et al. 2016). Given the pivotal role of miRNAs in diverse signaling pathways regulating the cellular functions (Haider et al. 2015), they are being used for stem cell-based therapy to promote various functions, i.e., stem cell survival, differentiation, and to modulate their paracrine behavior, etc. (Haider et al. 2009; Kim et al. 2009; Haider et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2012a, b; Lai et al. 2012). They are also being used in various direct cardiomyogenic reprogramming protocols. For example, cocktails including GMT plus Hand2 (GHMT), and transient expression of four microRNAs, i.e., miR-1, miR-133, miR-208, and miR-499 (together termed as miRcombo), and chemical enhancement of direct reprogramming factors is still being pursued (Nam et al. 2014; Tani et al. 2018; Mohamed et al. 2017). The presence of miRNAs increased the rate of cardiomyogenic reprogramming and needed a shorter reprogramming period (Alfar et al. 2018). Paoletti et al. used transient expression of miRcombo to directly reprogram human adult cardiac fibroblasts to develop iCMs (Paoletti et al. 2020). They have reported up to 11% of fibroblasts to adopt cardiac phenotype by day 15 after manipulation, as evaluated by flow cytometry for cTnT expression. And by day 30, the transdifferentiated cells exhibited spontaneous calcium transient. Manipulating these cocktails of reprogramming factors can increase the efficiency of direct cardiomyogenic reprogramming to generate iCMs for cell-based therapy or other potential theranostic applications (Chen et al. 2017; Ghiroldi et al. 2017).

Ultrasound-Mediated Localized Direct Reprogramming via Lentivirus Delivery for Cardiac Repair

With the recent developments in cardiac regenerative medicine, especially where stem cell therapy is being combined with gene delivery for a combinatorial approach, gene transfer has become a valuable tool in therapeutic research (Wu and Li 2017). The cells are genetically modulated to overexpress the gene/s of interest for delivery to the heart. The established delivery systems, including intramyocardial injection and coronary perfusion, are based on invasive procedures, which hinder their further clinical translation (Ni et al. 2016; Suzuki et al. 2011; Ebrahimi 2017).

The UTMD strategy is safe, noninvasive, and ensures high rate of organ-specific gene delivery. Several researchers have demonstrated the suitability of UTMD combined with in vivo viral vector transduction after intravenous administration in experimental animal models (Robertson 2016). By loading adenoviral vectors onto the surface of albumin microbubbles, investigators have proven the targeted gene expression in the heart facilitated by UTMD (Qian et al. 2018, Liao et al. 2014, Ma et al. 2015, Sun et al. 2013). Although these studies suggest that MCAs could be used in synergy with viral vectors to enhance a virus-based gene delivery to the myocardium, they did not show significant therapeutic effects of this approach. On the contrary, the abovementioned experiments successfully used CMBs loaded-GMT lentiviral vectors capable of directly reprogramming the CFs. With ultrasound at the resonance frequency (1.5 MHz), destruction of the microbubbles is induced in the heart, thereby ensuring targeted delivery of viral vectors. The newly formed cardiomyocytes were visualized by immunofluorescence specific for PHH3 in the infarcted area in all the treatment groups of animals (Fig. 4). After 4 weeks of followup, the treated groups showed a significant decrease in the total area of fibrosis and increased vascular density in the peri-infarct region (Fig. 5).

Cardiac MRI revealed significantly higher mean change in LVEF for each rat from the time of lentivirus administration until 4 weeks in the treated groups (Fig. 7). From the in vivo experiment, it can be concluded that the novel strategy of UTMD can target direct-reprogramming lentiviral vectors into the rat heart. In comparison with direct intramyocardial injection or in situ microbubble destruction, the therapeutic effect of intravenous administration of viral vectors by UTMD as a noninvasive technique was not significantly different. The microbubble–virus hybrids seem to be an efficient platform for direct reprogramming and may be suitable for translation into a potential clinical strategy for patients with end-stage heart disease. Although the lentiviral vectors are useful tools for long-term gene transfer into the target cells and are extensively used in cell reprogramming research, the critical problem of this gene delivery strategy is its toxicity to unrelated organs, especially due to hepatic uptake (McCarron et al. 2016; Sirsi and Borden 2012). MCAs, however, can increase the therapeutic index and thus may reduce the toxicity of viral vectors to some extent. Histological examination of lungs, the liver, kidneys, and spleen was performed after H&E staining, which detected no damage or inflammation in these organs, thus revealing the safety of organ-specific technique to avoid damage to the unrelated/nontarget organs (Fig. 6).

Conclusion and Future Perspective

Direct reprogramming possesses several theoretical advantages, resolving the main challenges and issues associated with cell therapies. The approach has come a long way to define specific factors and cues needed to help somatic cells cross lineage restrictions and undergo transdifferentiation to adopt the phenotype of interest (Wang et al. 2021). The most significant feature of direct reprogramming is that the transdifferentiating somatic cells are guided to avoid intermediary pluripotency states and new phenotype. Because the lentiviral-based gene delivery is gaining popularity and acceptability for clinical applications due to of their superior characteristics (Milone and O'Doherty 2018), methods to generate integration-free iCMs are necessary and widely sought. This study implements the strategy of delivery of direct-reprogramming lentiviral vectors encoding for the triad of cardiac transcription factors-CMBs hybrid to a target infarcted myocardium by UTMD serving as a viable myocardial tissue repair therapy. Systematic in vitro and in vivo results have confirmed that administration of GMT induces post-infarct ventricular functional improvement, whereas UTMD enhances the efficacy. Based on this strategy, lentiviral CMBs are likely to be a safe and effective platform for targeted delivery of reprogramming factors for myocardial repair via neomyogenic differentiation of non-myocytes, i.e., CFs, in the infarcted myocardium. Furthermore, the strategy will not only help recover the lost myocytes during infarction episodes; it will also curtail CFs availability for cardiac fibrosis and fibrotic scar tissue formation. In summary, the combinatorial approach using lentiviral-CMBs hybrid together with UTMD may be developed as a potential therapeutic modality in the future for myocardial repair and regeneration.

A Summary of the Experimental Methods and Design

Vectors and Cells

Transcription factor genes *Gata4* (GenBank accession No. NM_144730.1), *Mef2c* (GenBank accession No. XM_006231731.2), and *Tbx5* (GenBank accession No. NM_001009964.1) were synthesized based on sequences available in the NCBI database and were cloned into plasmid pUC57. Amplified sequences were

then cloned separately into plasmids pCDH-MSCV-MCS-EF1-copGFP, Plvx-Puro, and pLVX-IRES. These plasmids were used to generate lentiviral vectors by means of the Tronolab lentiviral production system (Shanghai Telebio Co., Ltd.), which consisted of pRsv-REV, pMDlg-pRRE, and pMD2G. The packaging plasmids were co-transfected into the 293 T human embryonic kidney cell line (Cell Bank, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences) to produce the lentiviral vectors encoding for respective transcription factor. The control lentivirus vector was constructed using a homologous lentiviral vector encoding an *eGFP* cassette and was also generated by means of the lentiviral-packaging plasmids in 293 T cells. The collected supernatants containing the virus at 48 or 72 h after transfection were pelleted by centrifugation and then filtered with a 0.45 μ m pore size syringe. The generated lentiviruss were further concentrated for high titer and preserved in an -80 °C freezer.

Rat CFs harvested from a Sprague–Dawley adult male rat (iCells Biological Engineering Co., Ltd., China) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with nutrient mixture F-12 (DMEM/F12, Thermo Fisher, USA) supplemented with 15% of fetal bovine serum and 1% of a penicillin and streptomycin solution. The rats CFs were cultured in a humidified incubator under specific conditions (37 °C, 5% CO_2 , 21% O_2 , and 74% N_2).

Creation of CMBs and Microbubble–Virus Hybrids

The CMBs were fabricated via the typical emulsification–vibration process. Briefly, DPPC, DPPE, and DOPE were dissolved in chloroform uniformly and then redissolved in saline (10 ml) after rotary evaporation. Glycerine (500 μ l) was added at 70 °C and emulsified for 2 h in a water bath. The obtained emulsion (1 ml) was transferred into a glass bottle (5 ml), for sulfur hexafluoride injection treatment. The emulsion and gas were integrated after strong vibration via CMBs. CMBs was characterized for concentration, size distribution, and zeta potential on a Zetasizer NANO ZS system.

Based on the electrostatic adsorption of the cationic CMBs and the anionic lentivirus, immunostaining of loaded and unloaded microbubbles was performed to examine the binding efficiency. The initial mean microbubble count in this experiment was 10^7 . The virus/microbubble ratio was maintained at 1000:1. Before injection, virus/microbubble hybrid size and concentration were measured to ensure the proper characteristics (Nikon, Germany). To confirm the successful conjugation of the lentivirus and CMBs, 100 µl of a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated mouse antihuman p24 antibody (catalogue #ab20569, Abcam; dilution 1:50) was added to 200 µl of microbubbles in 1.0 ml PBS and mixed for 30 min at 4 °C. After that, the upper layer was used for fluorescence microscopy. Microbubbles loaded with the lentivirus were analyzed to determine whether the microbubble surface emitted strong fluorescence to prove the attachment of the viral vector, using microbubbles without lentivirus as a control.

To further demonstrate the efficiency of lentivirus hybridized with CMBs and mediated by UTMD, the experiment included the following groups: GFP-lentivirus alone, GFP-lentivirus with ultrasound exposure, and GFP-lentivirus loaded by CMBs with ultrasound exposure. Exposed to ultrasound at diverse power intensities, those CFs transfected by CMB–lentivirus complexes were further tested for appropriate intensity. The optimum conditions were identified via the evaluation of different settings, including the duty cycle of 1.5 W/cm², power of 1.5 MHz, and 15, 30, or 60 s duration. The cells were then seeded in 6-well culture plates for 48-hour incubation and were analyzed for fluorescence signals using a microscope.

Direct Reprogramming of CFs In Vitro

GATA4, MEF2, and Tbx5 vectors $(3.05 \times 10^8, 3.25 \times 10^8, \text{and } 3.02 \times 10^8 \text{ TU/ml}$, respectively) or the GFP control lentivirus vector (10^8 TU/ml) were added into the rat CF culture medium (DMEM/F12 plus 10% FBS8 and µg/ml polybrene) for 48-hour incubation. Under routine culture conditions, the cells were allowed to undergo transdifferentiation for 14 days after removing the medium. Later, the cells were collected for analysis.

A Western Blot Analysis

Reprogrammed cells (7 or 14 days after transfection) were extracted for total protein samples with RIPA buffer containing phosphatase inhibitors and protease. Using the Bradford protein assay kit (Bio-Rad, USA) and BSA as a protein standard, protein concentrations were determined for further experiments. The protein samples were electrophoresed on SDS-PAGE in a 10% gel, blotted onto membranes, and incubated with various antibodies: anti-Gata4 (Abcam, cat. # 84593), anti-Mef2c (ImmunoWay, cat. # YT2702), anti-Tbx5 (Proteintech, cat. # 13178-1-AP), anticardiac troponin T (anti-cTnT; ImmunoWay, cat. # YT5362), and anti- β -actin as an internal control (Abcam, cat. # 8226). A horseradish peroxidase–conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (Abcam, cat. # 205718) was used as the secondary antibody. The quantitative results of bands density were calculated using ImageJ software.

Development of Experimental Rat Model of MI

Male Sprague–Dawley rats (weight 200–220 g) were purchased from the Department of Laboratory Animal Science, Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, P.R. China. All animal experiments were performed according to the policy of Fudan University of Health (including its guide for the care and use of laboratory animals).



Figure S5 Statistics results of α -actin and PHH3 immunofluorescence for quantification of reprogrammed cells. (a) Statistics results of α -actin immunofluorescence (red) in peri-infarct area. (b) Statistics results of PHH3 immunofluorescence (green) positive rate in peri-infarct area

The rats were anesthetized with 10% chloral hydrate (0.3 ml per 100 g, administered intraperitoneally), intubated, and ventilated with an animal ventilator (Chengdu Instrument Factory, China). After ligation of left anterior descending (LAD) coronary artery with an 8/0 suture, elevated S-T segment and a Q-wave appearance on ECG confirmed the success of MI induction (Fig. S5). After the surgical procedure, 40 rats were randomly assigned into 5 experimental groups (n = 8 animals/per group): (i) Sham (opened/closed chest without ligation, untreated), (ii) Saline (rat chest opened with ligation and injection with 0.9% saline in the infarcted area, untreated), (iii) GMT lentivirus alone (MI-GMT), (iv) CMB/GMT lentivirus with ultrasound (MI-CMB/GMT + US), and (v) GMT lentivirus with CMBs injected via a tube inserted into the right internal jugular vein and ultrasound (MI-CMB/GMT + UTMD).

Delivery of Microbubble–Lentivirus Hybrids Using UTMD In Vivo

At a virus/microbubble ratio of 1000:1, lentiviral vector was incubated with CMBs at 37 °C. After 30 min, the mixture was diluted with saline to 0.5/rat (Zhang et al. 2017; Muller et al. 2008; Delalande et al. 2017). Ten minutes after LAD ligation surgery, 0.5 ml CMB–GMT lentivirus mixture was injected into the right internal jugular vein in the UTMD rat groups. Simultaneously, an ultrasound probe administered by a sonoporator (Chattanooga Group) delivered transthoracic ultrasound beam at frequency of 1.5 MHz for 5 min, power 1.5 W/cm², and probe diameter 1.2 cm.

Histological Examination

Rats were euthanized on day 28 after their respective treatment; the hearts removed for histological examination. Masson trichrome and hematoxylineosin (HE) staining were performed on 5 mm transverse sections from the entire left ventricle. The other organs removed, including kidneys, spleen, lungs, and liver, were also removed for histological examination. Immunohistochemical staining for CD31 (Abcam, cat. # 182981) and α -SMA (Abcam, cat. # 7817) was performed to evaluate angiogenesis in the peri-infarct area. Immunohistochemical staining for GATA4 (Abcam, cat# 84593), MEF2C (ImmunoWay, cat# YT2702), TBX5 (Proteintech, cat# 13178-1-AP), and cTnT (ImmunoWay, cat# YT5362) was also performed to evaluate in situ direct reprogramming in the periinfarct area. We prepared cryo-sections of the peri-infarct area for phosphohistone H3 (PHH3, Abcam, cat. # 32107) expression to identify neomyocytes using fluorescence microscope fitted with a camera (Nikon, Japan). Optical overview images were captured using "scan large image" function of the microscope. Representative sections of the large image were next enlarged and evaluated after α -actin expression (Abcam, cat. # 179467). Both channels were later merged during image analysis.

Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (cMRI) and Echocardiography

Measurements were performed on a 7 T MRI system for small animals (Bruker, USA), provided by the Centre for Biomedical Imaging, Fudan University, China. According to the operating manual of Bruker Company, a series of four pilot transverse images and then a single slice (coronal and sagittal images) were acquired so that the software could get enough anatomical information for planning scans. A gradient cine sequence was employed to acquire contiguous short-axis slices from the apex to the base of the heart. Data analysis was performed in analytical software Segment v.1.8 to determine LV-functional parameters.

After inhalation anesthesia with 3% isoflurane, echocardiography was performed using a Vevo 2100 Imaging System (VisualSonics, Inc., Toronto, Ontario, Canada) provided by the Shanghai Institute of Cardiovascular Disease. Unaware of grouping and treatment, an investigator captured echocardiographic images of parasternal long-axis and short-axis views at specified points. M-mode tracings provided data on LVESV and LVEDV. The change in the LVEF after GMT administration was calculated for cardiac function assessment.

References

Adams E, McCloy R, Jordan A, Falconer K, Dykes IM (2021) Direct reprogramming of cardiac fibroblasts to repair the injured heart. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis 8:72. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcdd8070072

- Ahmed RPH, Ashraf M, Buccini S, Shujia J, Haider KH (2011) Cardiac tumorigenic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells in host: a note of caution. Regenerative Med 6:171–178
- Aiuti A, Biasco L, Scaramuzza S, Ferrua F, Cicalese MP, Baricordi C, Dionisio F et al (2013) Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy in patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Science 341:865–871
- Alfar EA, El-Armouche A, Guan K (2018) MicroRNAs in cardiomyocyte differentiation and maturation. Cardiovasc Res 114(6):779–781. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy065
- Anokye-Danso F, Trivedi CM, Juhr D, Gupta M, Cui Z, Tian Y, Zhang Y et al (2011) Highly efficient miRNA-mediated reprogramming of mouse and human somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 8(4):376–388
- Ban K, Wile B, Kim S, Park HJ, Byun J, Cho KW, Saafir T et al (2013) Purification of cardiomyocytes from differentiating pluripotent stem cells using molecular beacons that target cardiomyocyte-specific mRNA. Circulation 128(17):1897–1909. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.113.004228
- Ban K, Wile B, Cho KW, Kim S, Song MK, Kim SY, Singer J et al (2015) Non-genetic purification of ventricular cardiomyocytes from differentiating embryonic stem cells through molecular beacons targeting IRX-4. Stem Cell Rep 5(6):1239–1249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324(5923):98–102
- Boon RA, Dimmeler S (2015) Micrornas in myocardial infarction. Nat Rev Cardiol 12:135-142
- Buccini S, Haider KH, Ahmed RPH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2012) Cardiac progenitors derived from reprogrammed mesenchymal stem cells contribute to angiomyogenic repair of the infarcted heart. Basic Res Cardiol 107(6):301–314
- Cao S, Zhou Q, Chen JL, Cui JJ, Shan YG, Hu B, Guo RQ (2017a) Comparison of intracoronary and intravenous ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction-mediated Ang1 gene transfection on left ventricular remodeling in canines with acute myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 70:25–33
- Cao S, Zhou Q, Chen JL, Jiang N, Wang YJ, Deng Q, Hu B, Guo RQ (2017b) Enhanced effect of nuclear localization signal peptide during ultrasound targeted microbubble destruction mediated gene transfection. Mol Med Rep 16:565–572
- Caspi O, Huber I, Kehat I, Habib M, Arbel G, Gepstein A, Yankelson L (2007) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes improves myocardial performance in infarcted rat hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 50(19):1884–1893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007. 07.054
- Castle J, Feinstein SB (2016) Drug and gene delivery using Sonoporation for cardiovascular disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 880:331–338
- Chen H, Matkar H, Afrasiabi PN, Kuliszewski K, Leong-Poi MA, H. (2016) Prospect of ultrasoundmediated gene delivery in cardiovascular applications. Expert Opin Biol Ther 16:815–826
- Chen Y, Yang Z, Zhao ZA, Shen Z (2017) Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into cardiomyocytes. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:118
- Chou BK, Mali P, Huang X et al (2011) Efficient human iPS cell derivation by a non-integrating plasmid from blood cells with unique epigenetic and gene expression signatures. Cell Res 21: 518–529. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2011.12
- Cool SK, Geers B, Lentacker I, De Smedt SC, Sanders NN (2013) Enhancing nucleic acid delivery with ultrasound and microbubbles. Methods Mol Biol 948:195–204
- Delalande A, Bastie C, Pigeon L, Manta S, Lebertre M, Mignet N, Midoux P, Pichon C (2017) Cationic gas-filled microbubbles for ultrasound-based nucleic acids delivery. Biosci Rep 37: 1–18
- Ebrahimi B (2017) In vivo reprogramming for heart regeneration: a glance at efficiency, environmental impacts, challenges and future directions. J Mol Cell Cardiol 108:61–72
- Fu JD, Srivastava D (2015) Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into cardiomyocytes for cardiac regenerative medicine. Circ J 79:245–254

- Fu J, Stone NR, Liu L, Spencer CI, Qian L, Hayashi Y, Delgado-Olguin P et al (2013) Direct reprogramming of human fibroblasts toward a C ardiomyocyte-like state. Stem Cell Rep 1: 235–247
- Gandara C, Affleck V, Stoll EA (2018) Manufacture of third-generation lentivirus for preclinical use, with process development considerations for translation to good manufacturing practice. Hum Gene Ther Method 29:1–15
- Geis NA, Katus HA, Bekeredjian R (2012) Microbubbles as a vehicle for gene and drug delivery: current clinical implications and future perspectives. Curr Pharm Design 18:2166–2183
- Ghiroldi A, Piccoli M, Ciconte G, Pappone C, Anastasia L (2017) Regenerating the human heart: direct reprogramming strategies and their current limitations. Basic Res Cardiol 112:68
- Gill KP, Denham M (2020) Optimized transgene delivery using third-generation lentiviruses. Curr Protoc Mol Biol 133:e125. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpmb.125
- Giorgetti A, Montserrat N, Aasen T, Gonzalez F, Rodríguez-Pizà I, Vassena R, Raya A et al (2009) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human cord blood using OCT4 and SOX2. Cell Stem Cell 5(4):353
- Haber T, Baruch L, Machluf M (2017) Ultrasound-mediated mesenchymal stem cells transfection as a targeted cancer therapy platform. Sci Rep 7:42046
- Haider KH (2018) Bone marrow cell therapy and cardiac reparability: better cell characterization will enhance clinical success. Regen Med 13(4):457–475. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0134
- Haider KH, Kim HW, Ashraf M (2009) HIF-1α in stem cell preconditioning: mechanistic role of hypoxia related micro-RNAs. J Thor Cardiovasc Surg 138(1):257
- Haider KH, Idris NM, Kim HW, Ahmed RP, Jinag S, Ashraf M (2010) MicroRNA-21 is a key determinant in IL11/STAT-3 anti-apoptotic signaling pathway in preconditioning of skeletal myoblasts. Cardiovasc Res 88:168–178
- Haider KH, Khan M, Sen CK (2015) MicroRNAs with mega functions in cardiac remodeling and repair: the micro management of the matters of the heart. Chapter-22, pp 569–600. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-405544-5.00022-8
- Hara H, Takeda N, Komuro I (2017) Pathophysiology and therapeutic potential of cardiac fibrosis. Inflamm Regener 37:13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-017-0046-5
- Hare JM, DiFede DL, Rieger AC, Florea V, Landin AM, El-Khorazaty J, Khan A et al (2017) Randomized comparison of allogeneic versus autologous mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 69(5):526–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.009
- Hashimot H, Zhou HY, Morales MG, Abad M, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2016) Induction of cardiac cell types by direct reprogramming. Circ Res 119:E168
- He L, Zhou B (2017) Cardiomyocyte proliferation: remove brakes and push accelerators. Cell Res 27:959–960. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2017.91
- He X, He Q, Yu W, Huang J, Yang M, Chen W, Han W (2021) Optimized protocol for high-titer lentivirus production and transduction of primary fibroblasts. J Basic Microbiol 61(5):430–442. https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.202100008
- Heldman AW, DiFede DL, Fishman JE, Zambrano JP, Trachtenberg BH, Karantalis V, Mushtaq M et al (2014) Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. JAMA 311(1):62–73. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.282909
- Houghton BC, Booth C, Thrasher AJ (2015) Lentivirus Technologies for Modulation of the immune system. Curr Opin Pharmacol 24:119–127
- Huangfu D, Maehr R, Guo W, Eijkelenboom A, Snitow M et al (2008) Induction of pluripotent stem cells by defined factors is greatly improved by small-molecule compounds. Nat Biotechnol 26: 795–797
- Ibrahim AY, Mehdi Q, Abbas AO, Alashkar A, Haider KH (2016) Induced pluripotent stem cells: next generation cells for tissue regeneration. J Biomed Sci Eng 9(4):226–244

- Ieda M, Fu JD, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D (2010) Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell 142:375–386
- Inagawa K, Ieda M (2013) Direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts into cardiac myocytes. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 6:37-45
- Isomi M, Sadahiro T, Fujita R, Abe Y, Yamada Y, Akiyama T, Mizukami H (2021) Direct reprogramming with Sendai virus vectors repaired infarct hearts at the chronic stage. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 560:87–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2021.04.121
- Jayawardena TM, Finch EA, Zhang LN, Zhang HT, Hodgkinson CP, Pratt RE, Rosenberg PB et al (2015) MicroRNA induced cardiac reprogramming in vivo evidence for mature cardiac myocytes and improved cardiac function. Circ Res 116:418
- Kelaini S, Cochrane A, Margariti A (2014) Direct reprogramming of adult cells: avoiding the pluripotent state. Stem Cells Cloning 7:19
- Kim CK, Haider KH, Lim SJ (2001) Gene medicine: a new field of molecular medicine. Arch Pharm Res 24(1):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02976486
- Kim HW, Haider KH, Jiang S, Ashraf M (2009) Ischemic preconditioning augments survival of stem cells via miR-107 and miR-210 expression. J Biol Chem 284:33161–33168
- Kim HW, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012a) Stem cell based delivery of hypoxamir-210 to the infarcted heart: implications on stem cell survival and preservation of the infarcted heart function. J Mol Med 90(9):997–1010
- Kim HW, Malik F, Durrani S, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012b) Concomitant activation of mir-107/pdcd10 and hypoxamir-210/casp8ap2 and their role in cytoprotection during ischemic preconditioning of stem cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(8):1053–1065
- Kotterman MA, Chalberg TW, Schaffer DV (2015) Viral vectors for gene therapy: translational and clinical outlook. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 17:63–89
- Kurotsu S, Suzuki T, Ieda M (2017) Direct reprogramming, epigenetics, and cardiac regeneration. J Card Fail 23:552–557
- Lai VK, Ashraf M, Jiang S, Haider KH (2012) MicroRNA-143 is critical regulator of cell cycle activity in stem cells with co-overexpression of Akt and angiopoietin-1 via transcriptional regulation of Erk5/Cyclin D1 signaling. Cell Cycle 11(4):667–677
- Li H, Zheng XZ, Wang HP, Li F, Wu Y, Du LF (2009) Ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction enhances AAV-mediated gene transfection in human RPE cells and rat retina in vivo. Gene Ther 16:1146–1153
- Liao YY, Chen XY, Wang YX, Lin Y, Yang F, Zhou QL (2014) New progress in angiogenesis therapy of cardiovascular disease by ultrasound targeted microbubble destruction. Biomed Res Int 2014:872984
- Lin Q, Fu Q, Zhang Y, Wang H, Liu Z, Zhou J, Duan C et al (2010) Tumourigenesis in the infarcted rat heart is eliminated through differentiation and enrichment of the transplanted embryonic stem cells. Eur J Heart Fail 12(11):1179–1185. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjhf/hfq144
- Lin LZ, Fan Y, Gao F, Jin LF, Li D, Sun WJ, Li F et al (2018) UTMD-promoted co-delivery of gemcitabine and miR-21 inhibitor by dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles for pancreatic cancer therapy. Theranostics 8:1923–1939
- Liu KC, Lin BS, Gao AD, Ma HY, Zhao M, Zhang R, Yan HH et al (2014) Integrase-deficient lentivirus: opportunities and challenges for human gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther 14:352–364
- López-Muneta L, Miranda-Arrubla J, Carvajal-Vergara X (2020) The future of direct cardiac reprogramming: any GMT cocktail variety? Int J Mol Sci 21:7950. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21217950
- Lukashev AN, Zamyatnin AJ (2016) Viral vectors for gene therapy: current state and clinical perspectives. Biochemistry (Mosc) 81:700–708
- Ma J, Xu CS, Gao F, Chen M, Li F, Du LF (2015) Diagnostic and therapeutic research on ultrasound microbubble/Nanobubble contrast agents. Mol Med Rep 12:4022–4028
- Macarthur CC, Fontes A, Ravinder N, Kuninger D, Kaur J, Bailey M, Taliana A et al (2012) Generation of human-induced pluripotent stem cells by a nonintegrating RNA Sendai virus

vector in feeder-free or xeno-free conditions. Stem Cells Int 2012:564612. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2012/564612

- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Fischer-Nielsen A, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sørensen M et al (2015) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with severe ischemic heart failure: a randomized placebo-controlled trial (MSC-HF trial). Eur Heart J 36(27):1744–1753. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv136
- Mathison M, Gersch RP, Nasser A et al (2012) In vivo cardiac cellular reprogramming efficacy is enhanced by angiogenic preconditioning of the infarcted myocardium with vascular endothelial growth factor. J Am Heart Assoc 1(6):e005652
- McCarron A, Donnelley M, McIntyre C, Parsons D (2016) Challenges of up-scaling lentivirus production and processing. J Biotechnol 240:23–30
- Menasché P, Hagège AA, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D, Schwartz K (2001) Myoblast transplantation for heart failure. Lancet 357(9252):279–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03617-5
- Meng Q, Bhandary B, Bhuiyan MS, James J, Osinska H, Valiente-Alandi I, Shay-Winkler K (2018) Myofibroblast-specific TGFβ receptor II signaling in the fibrotic response to cardiac myosin binding protein C-induced cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 123:1285–1297. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.118.313089
- Michen B, Graule T (2010) Isoelectric points of viruses. J Appl Microbiol 109:388–397
- Milone MC, O'Doherty U (2018) Clinical use of lentiviral vectors. Leukemia 32:1529–1541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-018-0106-0
- Min JY, Yang Y, Converso KL, Liu L, Huang Q, Morgan JP, Xiao YF (2002) Transplantation of embryonic stem cells improves cardiac function in post-infarcted rats. J Appl Physiol 92(1): 288–296. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2002.92.1.288
- Miyamoto K, Akiyama M, Tamura F, Isomi M, Yamakawa H, Sadahiro T, Muraoka N et al (2018) Direct in vivo reprogramming with Sendai virus vectors improves cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Cell Stem Cell 22(1):91–103.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2017. 11.010
- Mohamed T, Stone NR, Berry EC, Radzinsky E, Huang Y, Pratt K, Ang YS et al (2017) Chemical enhancement of in vitro and in vivo direct cardiac reprogramming. Circulation 135:978
- Mollova M, Bersell K, Walsha S, Savla J, Das LT, Park S-Y, Silberstein LE et al (2013) Cardiomyocyte proliferation contributes to heart growth in young humans. PNAS 110(4): 1446–1451. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1214608110
- Moran AE, Forouzanfar MH, Roth GA, Mensah GA, Ezzati M, Flaxman A, Murray C et al (2014) The global burden of ischemic heart disease in 1990 and 2010. Circulation 129:1493–1501
- Muller OJ, Schinkel S, Kleinschmidt JA, Katus HA, Bekeredjian R (2008) Augmentation of AAV-mediated cardiac gene transfer after systemic Administration in Adult Rats. Gene Ther 15:1558–1565
- Nagaraju CK, Dries E, Gilbert G, Abdesselem M, Wang N, Amoni M, Driesen RJ et al (2019) Myofibroblast modulation of cardiac myocyte structure and function. Sci Rep 9:8879. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45078-2
- Nakagawa M, Koyanagi M, Tanabe K, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, Okita K et al (2008) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol 26(1):101–106. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1374. Epub 2007 Nov 30. PMID: 18059259
- Nakagawa M, Takizawa N, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S (2010) Promotion of direct reprogramming by transformation-deficient Myc. PNAS 107(32):14152–14157. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1009374107
- Nam YJ, Lubczyk J, Bhakta C, Zang M, Fernandez-Perez T, McAnally A, Bassel-Duby J et al (2014) Induction of diverse cardiac cell types by reprogramming fibroblasts with cardiac transcription factors. Development 141:4267–4278
- Negishi Y, Endo-Takahashi Y, Maruyama K (2016) Gene delivery systems by the combination of lipid bubbles and ultrasound. Drug Discov Ther 10:248–255

- Nelson TJ, Ge ZD, Van Orman J, Barron M, Rudy-Reil D, Hacker TA, Misra R et al (2006) Improved cardiac function in infarcted mice after treatment with pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 288(11):1216–1224. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.a. 20388
- Ni XW, Ye JM, Wang LP, Xu SL, Zou CP, Yang Y, Liu Z (2016) Advanced microbubbles as a multifunctional platform combining imaging and therapy. Appl Sci-Basel 6:365
- Panje CM, Wang DS, Pysz MA, Paulmurugan R, Ren Y, Tranquart F, Tian L et al (2012) Ultrasound-mediated gene delivery with cationic versus neutral microbubbles: effect of DNA and microbubble dose on in vivo transfection efficiency. Theranostics 2:1078–1091
- Paoletti C, Divieto C, Tarricone G, Di Meglio F, Nurzynska D, Chiono V (2020) MicroRNAmediated direct reprogramming of human adult fibroblasts toward cardiac phenotype. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:529. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00529
- Pasha Z, Haider HK, Ashraf M (2011) Efficient non-viral reprogramming of myoblasts to stemness with a single small molecule to generate cardiac progenitor cells. PLoS One 6(8):e23667. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023667
- Protze S, Khattak S, Poulet C, Lindemann D, Tanaka EM, Ravens U (2012) A new approach to transcription factor screening for reprogramming of fibroblasts to cardiomyocyte-like cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 53(3):323–332
- Qian L, Huang Y, Spencer CI, Foley A, Vedantham V, Liu L, Conway SJ et al (2012) In vivo reprogramming of murine cardiac fibroblasts into induced cardiomyocytes. Nature 485(7400): 593–598. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11044
- Qian L, Thapa B, Hong J, Zhang Y, Zhu M, Chu M, Yao J, Xu D (2018) The present and future role of ultrasound targeted microbubble destruction in preclinical studies of cardiac gene therapy. J Thorac Dis 10:1099–1111
- Qu X, Liu T, Song K, Li X, Ge D (2012) Induced pluripotent stem cells generated from human adipose-derived stem cells using a non-viral polycistronic plasmid in feeder-free conditions. PLoS One 7(10):e48161. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048161
- Robertson DS (2016) Origin and activities of human lentivirus particles. Biomed Pharmacother 83: 1311–1314
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Tian XF, Lei Y, Ge R, Cao T (2007) Directing endothelial differentiation of human embryonic stem cells via transduction with an adenoviral vector expressing VEGF165 gene. J Gene Med 9(6):452–461
- Rufaihah AJ, Haider KH, Heng BC, Ye L, Tan RS, Toh WS, Tian XF et al (2010) Therapeutic angiogenesis by transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived CD133+ endothelial progenitor cells for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5:231–244
- Sadahiro T, Yamanaka S, Ieda M (2015) Direct cardiac reprogramming progress and challenges in basic biology and clinical applications. Circ Res 116:1378–1391
- Santucci A, Riccini C, Cavallini C (2020) Treatment of stable ischaemic heart disease: the old and the new. Eur Heart J (Suppl) 22(Suppl E):E54–E59. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/suaa060
- Shahid MS, Lasheen W, Haider KH (2016) Modest outcome of clinical trials with bone marrow cells for myocardial repair: is the autologous source of cells the prime culprit? J Thorac Dis 8(10):E1371–E1374
- Shakirova KM, Ovchinnikova VY, Dashinimaev EB (2020) Cell reprogramming with CRISPR/ Cas9 based transcriptional regulation systems. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:882. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00882
- Shapiro G, Wong AW, Bez M, Yang F, Tam S, Even L, Sheyn D (2016) Multiparameter evaluation of in vivo gene delivery using ultrasound-guided, microbubble-enhanced sonoporation. J Control Release 223:157–164
- Sharon D, Kamen A (2018) Advancements in the design and scalable production of viral gene transfer vectors. Biotechnol Bioeng 115:25–40
- Shearer RF, Saunders DN (2015) Experimental design for stable genetic manipulation in mammalian cell lines: lentivirus and alternatives. Genes Cells 20:1–10
- Sinagra G, Fabris E (2016) Direct cellular reprogramming: the hopes and the hurdles. Eur J Heart Fail 18:157–159
- Sirsi SR, Borden MA (2012) Advances in ultrasound mediated gene therapy using microbubble contrast agents. Theranostics 2:1208–1222
- Song KH, Nam YJ, Luo X, Qi XX, Tan W, Huang GN, Acharya A et al (2012) Heart repair by reprogramming non-myocytes with cardiac transcription factors. Nature 485:599
- Stellberger T, Koehler N, Dinkelmeier A, Draxler J, Haase M, Hellinckx J, Pavlovic M et al (2017) Strategies and methods for the detection and identification of viral vectors. Virus Genes 53: 749–757
- Sun L, Huang C, Wu J, Chen K, Li S, Weisel RD, Rakowski H et al (2013) The use of cationic microbubbles to improve ultrasound-targeted gene delivery to the ischemic myocardium. Biomaterials 34:2107–2116
- Suzuki R, Oda Y, Utoguchi N, Maruyama K (2011) Progress in the development of ultrasoundmediated gene delivery systems utilizing nano and microbubbles. J Control Release 149:36–41
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676
- Tani H, Sadahiro T, Ieda M (2018) Direct cardiac reprogramming: a novel approach for heart regeneration. Int J Mol Sci 19:2629
- van Laake LW, Passier R, Doevendans PA, Mummery CL (2008) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes and cardiac repair in rodents. Circulation Res 102:1008–1010. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.175505
- Virani SS, Alonso A, Aparicio HJ, Benjamin EJ, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP et al (2021) Heart disease and stroke statistics – 2021 update. A report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 143:e254–e743. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.00000000000950
- Von Dossow V, Costa J, D'Ovidio F, Marczin N (2017) Worldwide trends in heart and lung transplantation: guarding the most precious gift ever. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 31:141–152
- Wang H, Yang Y, Liu J, Qian L (2021) Direct cell reprogramming: approaches, mechanisms and progress. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(6):410–424. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-021-00335-z
- White M, Whittaker R, Gandara C, Stoll EA (2017) A guide to approaching regulatory considerations for lentiviral-mediated gene therapies. Hum Gene Ther Method 28:163–176
- Woltjen K, Stanford WL (2009) Inhibition of Tgf-β signaling improves mouse fibroblast reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell 5(5):457–458
- Wu J, Li RK (2017) Ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction in gene therapy: a new tool to cure human diseases. Gene Dis 4:64–74
- Xie W, Liu S, Su H, Wang Z, Zheng Y, Fu Y (2010) Ultrasound microbubbles enhance recombinant adeno-associated virus vector delivery to retinal ganglion cells in vivo. Acad Radiol 17: 1242–1248
- Yang H, Xiong X, Zhang L, Wu C, Liu Y (2011) Adhesion of bio-functionalized ultrasound microbubbles to endothelial cells by targeting to vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 under shear flow. Int J Nanomedicine 6:2043–2051. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S24808
- Yang F, Li Y, Liufu C, Wang Y, Chen Z (2018) Preparation of cationic lipid-coated ultrasound contrast agents and noninvasive gene transfection via ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction. Curr Pharm Des 24(30):3587–3595. https://doi.org/10.2174/13816128246661810 11120031
- Zhang L, Sun ZX, Ren PP, You MJ, Zhang J, Fang LY, Wang J et al (2017) Localized delivery of shRNA against PHD2 protects the heart from acute myocardial infarction through ultrasoundtargeted cationic microbubble destruction. Theranostics 7:51–66
- Zhang NS, Yan F, Liang XL, Wu MX, Shen YY, Chen M, Xu YX et al (2018) Localized delivery of curcumin into brain with polysorbate 80-modified cerasomes by ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction for improved parkinson's disease therapy. Theranostics 8:2264–2277
- Zhao J, Pettigrew GJ, Thomas J, Vandenberg JI, Delriviere L, Bolton EM, Carmichael A (2002) Lentiviral vectors for delivery of genes into neonatal and adult ventricular cardiac myocytes in vitro and in vivo. Basic Res Cardiol 97(5):348–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-002-0360-0
- Zhou Q, Deng Q, Hu B, Wang YJ, Chen JL, Cui JJ, Cao S et al (2017) Ultrasound combined with targeted cationic microbubble-mediated angiogenesis gene transfection improves ischemic heart function. Exp Ther Med 13:2293–2303



Future Perspectives of Exosomal Payload of miRNAs in Lung Cancer

Beatrice Aramini, Valentina Masciale, Giulia Grisendi, Federico Banchelli, Roberto D'Amico, Massimo Dominici, and Khawaja Husnain Haider

Contents

Introduction	1369
Exosome Composition	1369
Biological Functions of Exosomes	1370
Exosomes and Cancer	1371
The Pathways of Exosomal miRNA Secretion	1373
Exosomal miRNAs in Cancer Progression	1374

B. Aramini (🖂)

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine– DIMES of the Alma Mater Studiorum, University of Bologna, G.B. Morgagni–L. Pierantoni Hospital, Forlì, Italy

e-mail: beatrice.aramini@auslromagna.it

V. Masciale

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy e-mail: valentina.masciale@unimore.it

G. Grisendi · M. Dominici Division of Oncology, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy e-mail: giulia.grisendi@unimore.it; massimo.dominici@unimore.it

F. Banchelli · R. D'Amico

Center of Statistic, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences for Children & Adults, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy e-mail: roberto.damico@unimore.it

K. H. Haider Department of Basic Sciences, Sulaiman AlRajhi University, Al Bukairiyah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: kh.haider@sr.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_28

Tumor-Derived Exosomes and Lung Cancer	1376
Future Perspectives of Exosomal miRNAs in the Clinics	1378
References	1381

Abstract

Exosomes are nanovesicles, which were first described in 1983 as a method by which cells disposed of their metabolic waste. Since the publication of these early reports, exosomes have emerged as important regulators of various processes and mechanisms that ensure the maintenance of cellular homeostasis. In cancer cells, exosomes have added roles in immunomodulation, metastasis, tumor growth and progression, chemo- and radioresistance, cell proliferation, and everything that puts the cancer cells in a position of advantage as compared to the normal cells. More recent studies have revealed that almost every cell type can release exosomes rich in the specific payload of bioactive molecules including miRNAs which are integral to intercellular communication via the transfer of the payload from the senders to the recipient cells. This chapter highlights the newly emerging function of exosomes as miRNA carriers in lung cancer and presents new perspectives for next-generation cancer treatments and targeted personalized medicine.

Keywords

Cancer-associated fibroblast \cdot Cancer \cdot Exosome \cdot Lung cancer \cdot Microvesicles \cdot miRNA \cdot Metastasis \cdot Payload \cdot Tumor

Abbreviations

Alix	Programmed cell death 6-interacting protein
BMP	Bis(monoacylglycerol) phosphate
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complexes required for transport
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
hnRNP	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HUVECs	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
MALAT1	Metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1
MHC	Histocompatibility complex
miR	MicroRNA
miRNAs	MicroRNAs
MVBs	Multivesicular bodies
nSMase	Neural sphingomyelinase 2
PADC	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Exosome Composition

The history of exosomes dates back to 1946, when it was discovered that plasma prevented blood clotting (Hargett and Bauer 2013). It was also demonstrated that the observed anticlotting activity was due to the presence of platelet-derived nano-sized vesicles. In 1983, researchers in the Johnstone laboratory reported an interaction between the reticulocyte transferrin receptors and nanovesicles derived from sheep reticulocytes. These multivesicular bodies (MVBs)-derived vesicles were named exosomes (Wolf 1967; Pan and Johnstone 1983; Pan et al. 1985). It was also observed that exosomes were reservoirs of RNA for transfer to the recipient cells as part of cell-to-cell communication. Since the publication of these data, various research groups have extensively studied and reported the complex composition of the exosomal payload that may include proteins, lipids, mRNA, miRNA, etc. (Mashouri et al. 2019). Given their ultramicroscopic size, they are generally viewed by electron microscopy. Earlier after their discovery, exosomes were considered as a part of the cell's disposal system to get rid of metabolic waste. Subsequent research revealed that exosomes mirrored the MVBs in their constitution and some proteins usually associated with MVBs were also detectable in exosomes (Pettersen and Llorente 2018; Henne et al. 2013). These data also helped in the elucidation of the underlying mechanisms of their release, although some of these molecules have not been well-characterized due to the complexity of their structure.

Based on their size, structural features, and payload composition, exosomes are one of the subgroups of extracellular vesicles (EVs), which are secreted by the cells. Electron microscopy and in-depth proteomic, lipidomic, and genomic analysis have been used to characterize exosomes for their structure and molecular composition (D'Asti et al. 2012). They are the intraluminally generated, and their composition shows a close similarity with the parent cells of their origin. Typical constituent proteins of exosomes include the adhesion molecules, the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and class II, and the transferrin receptors. Additionally, some nonspecific exosomal proteins include Rab2, Rab7, flotillin, annexin, heat shock proteins, cytoskeleton proteins, and the programmed cell death 6-interacting protein (Alix), which mediate MVB formation (Mathivanan et al. 2010). The lipid components are cell-specific and play a major role to protect the exosomes and maintain a correct balance in the recipient cells (György et al. 2011; Azmi et al. 2013). Lipids such as lysobisphosphatidic acid in MVBs generate intraluminal vesicles, i.e., exosomes (Mashouri et al. 2019). The interaction between lysobisphosphatidic acid and Alix promotes the inward generation of the MVB membrane (D'Asti et al. 2012). Sphingomyelin, phosphatidylcholine, and bis(monoacylglycerol) phosphate (BMP) contribute to differentiate the vesicles from each other. In particular, BMP, a negatively charged protein, is specific for endosomes, and it is involved in exosome formation (Akgoc et al. 2015). Recent researches defined exosomes as

microparticles that can influence cellular homeostasis by changing the lipid profile of the recipient cells. ExoCarta and Vesiclepedia are two of most comprehensive databases about exosomes characteristics registering thousands of entries for proteins, mRNAs, and lipids, and they are useful for exosomes' molecular definition (Pathan et al. 2019; Mashouri et al. 2019).

Biological Functions of Exosomes

Exosomes show active participation in intercellular communications which has been ascribed to several physiologic and pathologic processes (Meldolesi 2018). Their genesis is generally classified as an ESCRT-dependent or ESCRT-independent mechanism; however, the pathways might not be entirely discrete (Zhang et al. 2019). Rather, these two mechanisms work in harmony, while the resultant diverging subpopulations of exosomes originate by the different contributions from ESCRTdependent and ESCRT-independent process machinery involved therein (Valadi et al. 2007; Andre-Gregoire and Gavard 2016). Although the complete mechanism involved in the formation of MVBs proceeds in a controlled fashion but remains less well understood, it is believed that a late endosome infolding occurs to form intraluminal vesicles before becoming an MVB. It has been described that the process of exosomal membrane invagination is aided by a well-orchestrated and controlled interaction between syndecan-syntenin and Alix protein (Tkach and Thery 2016; Simons and Raposo 2009). It is suggested that subpopulations of MVBs product depend upon the cell type, while others have proposed that the various mechanisms may take place in the same cell (Pitt et al. 2016). It is pertinent to mention that the release of exosomes is an important feature of several cell types and that too in terms of their release into various body fluids carrying a specific payload composition that is influenced by the culture conditions.

Despite the scarcity of information regarding the biological and therapeutic benefits from in vivo experimental animal models and limited in vitro characterization data, the actual problem is related to the purification protocols based on the ultracentrifugation technique which is an inefficient method for exosomes purification and quantification because exosome may get recaptured by the cells. The method of purification fails to ensure fool-proof complete recovery of the exosomes from the conditioned medium from the in vitro cultured cells or from the biological fluids. The inefficiency of the isolation and purification protocols creates a discrepancy between the secreted amount of exosomes and their biological activity.

Exosomes also carry rich amounts of immunosuppressive molecules. For example, the placenta-derived vesicles isolated from the blood of pregnant women are rich in ligands for natural killer cells. Exosomes have also been found in mice bronchoalveolar lavage fluid which may carry tolerizing molecules from a specific allergen-tolerized animal and release of proinflammatory cytokines in the airway epithelium (Prado et al. 2008). Yang et al. have ascribed the tumorigenic potential of lavage fluid to its exosomal contents during in vitro as well as in vivo studies (Yang et al. 2019). Similarly, the release of exosomes by the eukaryotic parasites or

pathogens significantly contributes to the host's tolerance by quenching the immune response or promoting reactions against the pathogen. More recent studies have shown that tumor-derived exosomes are rich in immunosuppressive molecules, which help the cells to evade host immune response (Olejarz et al. 2020). In addition to the immune-regulatory properties, exosomes also participate in tissue repair. For example, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)-derived exosomes effectively participate in myocardial repair (Haider and Aramini 2020). They also transfer pathogenic proteins such as prions and amyloid peptides besides others with as yet less-well-characterized functions (Bellingham et al. 2012; Bissig et al. 2013).

The normal healthy cells also secrete exosomes to transfer their payload to other recipient cells as an integral part of intercellular communication. A payload analysis of exosomes reveals that a typical exosome contains, besides other components, a panel of miRNAs, although the mechanism of miRNA selection to be part of the select miRNA panel has not been clarified yet. Moreover, it is also not known whether the members of the select panel of miRNAs cooperate, synergize, or inhibit each other to achieve a balance in their functioning. These mechanisms have been discussed in-depth in numerous previously published researches (Schwarzenbach and Gahan 2019; Urbanelli et al. 2013; Hammond 2015; Simons and Raposo 2009). The off-loading of the exosomal payload and its uptake by the recipient cells primarily occurs by endocytosis that facilitates the formation of a vesicular early endosome, which can be recycled in the cell by the cell machinery, or it is passaged into the nucleus (Tkach and Thery 2016). At this level, the function of the vesicle is similar to a lysosome.

Exosomes and Cancer

Similar to the other areas of research, the application of extracellular vesicles is gaining popularity in the field of cancer research as they provide interesting novel targets for future anticancer diagnostics and therapies (Pitt et al. 2016; Keller et al. 2011). The factors released by exosomes contribute significantly toward the formation, progression, dissemination, and recurrence of tumors. Moreover, the exosomal payload also reduces their responsiveness to the medical treatments due to a specific cell-to-cell communication with the tumor microenvironment (Pitt et al. 2016; Keller et al. 2011). It is pertinent to mention that cell-to-cell communication is fundamental to various physiological and pathological processes both during embryonic development and in the postnatal life to ensure cellular homeostasis and reparability (Chargaff and West 1946; Meldolesi 2018). From among the various possible mechanisms responsible for the transfer of biomaterials between the cells, cell-tocell contact is important for the nearby cells in each other's vicinity, while the involvement of body fluids to carry vesicular payload is important for long-distance communication (Sung et al. 2015). Luga et al. have shown that in orthotropic breast cancer model in mice, concomitant injection of breast cancer cells and fibroblasts increased the rate of metastasis, which showed dependence on Wnt-planar cell polarity in the breast cancer cells and an exosomal component of CD81 in the fibroblasts (Luga et al. 2012). The authors concluded that the exosomal activity of fibroblasts altered breast cancer cell behavior. Similarly, the role of tumor-associated exosomes in contributing integrin has been elucidated that enhanced tumor progression (Paolillo and Schinelli 2017). The malignant cell-derived exosomes alter the tumor microenvironment such that it becomes conducive for the development and progression of the tumor via interference with the cell adhesion mechanisms involving integrins and integrin ligands (Maia et al. 2018; Zheng et al. 2018). In particular, exosomal integrins are involved throughout, from colonization by cancer cells to the composition of a niche to facilitate metastasis (Richards et al. 2017).

Exosomal miR-105 facilitates the dissemination of the tumor cells by acting on the tight junction, thus compromising the integrity-endothelial cell barrier and weakening its functioning as a barrier (Zhang et al. 2018a, b). Exosomes also interfere with the permeability of the blood vessels. In colorectal cancer cells, miR-25-3p regulates VEGF-receptor 2, tight junction protein, and claudin-5 in endothelial cells. Exosomes secreted by the tumor cells also cause differentiation of the cells constituting their microenvironment by remodeling the extracellular matrix (Syn et al. 2016). Besides miRNAs, tumor cell-derived exosomes also contain a complete panel of bioactive molecules including HIF, TGF-B, caveolin, and b-catenin which is supportive in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and contributes to premetastatic niche formation (Syn et al. 2016; Becker et al. 2016). Pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PADC) is rich in cancer-associated fibroblasts which are inherently resistant to gemcitabine and promote survival of cancer cells (Richards et al. 2017). While elucidating the underlying mechanism, it was observed that cancer-associated fibroblasts-derived exosomes were responsible for this cytoprotective and proproliferative activity of PADCs in the presence of gemcitabine. Molecular studies revealed that cancer-associated fibroblasts-derived exosomes were able to transfer Snail and its target miR-146a to the recipient cancer cells to impart cytoprotective and cell-cycling activity in the recipient cells.

Interestingly, abrogation of the exosome release from cancer-associated fibroblasts also abrogated the cytoprotective effects on the cocultured cancer cells in the presence of gemcitabine. Cancer-associated fibroblasts-derived exosomes also have a role in glycolysis via increasing the absorption of glucose, which is considered as a contributing factor in the ongoing growth of cancer even under unfavorable reduced nutrition and hypoxic condition (Richards et al. 2017). In another study, it was observed that PADCs with high metastatic potential could release exosomes rich in migration-inhibitory factor, which supported premetastatic niche formation in the liver (Costa-Silva et al. 2015). The abrogation of emigrational inhibitory factor also abolished metastatic niche formation as well as metastasis PADCs in the liver.

Angiogenesis is indispensable for tumor development, progression, and dissemination (Katoh 2013; Zuazo-Gaztelu and Oriol 2018). In this regard, tumor cellderived exosomes contribute significantly to the formation of neovasculature and increase in vascular density via activation of VEGF signaling (Nishida et al. 2006; Gluszko et al. 2019). Besides VEGF, the angiogenic activity in the tumor tissue is supported by various other proangiogenic molecules, i.e., basic fibroblast growth factors, platelet-derived growth factor, etc., which are also delivered by the tumorderived exosomes TDEs (Sharghi-Namini et al. 2014; Monteforte et al. 2017). Ludwig et al. have evaluated the role of tumor cell-derived exosomes in proangiogenic response during in vitro assays on HUVECs. The exosomes were derived from PCI-13 (HPV-) and UMSCC47 (HPV+) cell lines and the plasma of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients and were labeled before use in angiogenic assays (Ludwig et al. 2018). The exosomes were taken up by HUVECs in the culture within 4 h after treatment and stimulated HUVEC proliferation, migration, and tubulogenesis. Similar data were obtained after the treatment of experimental mice model of oral carcinoma after intravenous exosome treatment. On the same note, profiling of the glioblastoma-derived exosomes revealed high levels of miR-221, proteoglycans, glypican-1, and syndecan-4 that was ascribed to the acutely angiogenic nature of glioblastoma (Hoshino et al. 2015). Tumor cell-derived exosomes containing metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1 (MALAT1), which is associated with angiogenesis and metastasis in epithelial ovarian cancer, induced proangiogenesis gene expression in HUVECs (Qiu et al. 2018). Put together, these data signify the importance of exosomes in angiogenesis and support their future use as targets for tumor cells by suppressing endothelial cell migration, their phenotype alteration, and vascular sprouting (Harding et al. 2013).

The Pathways of Exosomal miRNA Secretion

The cancer cells-microenvironment interaction essentially occurs through the release of bioactive molecules which contributes significantly toward the development and progression of tumors (Ungefroren et al. 2011; Kohlhapp et al. 2015). Despite the cell-specific role of miRNAs in tumor suppression and drug resistance, the participation of miRNAs in non-cell-autonomous mechanisms remains less explored. Although knowledge about the secretory RNA has been around since long, however, only recent reports have shown that miRNAs, which control various cellular processes through the regulation of specific multiple gene targets, are secreted by cells as part of the paracrine activity of the cells in the form of exosomal payload (Yu et al. 2016; Sansone et al. 2017). These data signify the emergence of both miRNAs and exosomes as the novel constituents of cells' paracrine activity with relevance to intercellular communication (Kalluri and LeBleu 2016). The role of neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2) in the release mechanism of miRNAs and the functional activity of the released miRNAs in the recipient cells has been reported by Serrano-Heras et al. (2010). It is interesting to note that the tumor-suppressor miRNAs released by the normal cell potentially retain and impart gene silencing activity in the recipient tumor cells that may lead to abrogation of tumor cell growth (Huang et al. 2013). The critical role of exosomal miRNAs in intracellular communication, specifically between immune cells, endothelial cells, and cancer cells, is now becoming more obvious; however, their role in cancer metastasis remains less well established (Bhome et al. 2018).

Exosomal miR-210 transfer from metastatic cancer cells to the endothelial cell alters them to favorably support the process of cancer cell migration through neovascularization, thus helping in their metastatic spread. Molecular studies revealed that miR-210 controlled the process of neovascularization by the suppression of its specific downstream target genes (Jung et al. 2017). The changes in the miRNA profile have been ascribed with different types of cancers wherein the expression of some miRNAs is either upregulated or downregulated (Esquela-Kerscher and Slack 2006; Girard et al. 2008; Peng and Croce 2016). On the same note, changes in the expression of miRNAs either support or inhibit the development and progression of cancer (Ota et al. 2004). The data supporting the critical involvement of miRNAs in cancer pathogenesis has led to their future use as potential therapeutic targets. Moreover, the huge amount of information regarding miRNA families that are altered in cancers will be important for the development of miRNA signatures which will be helpful in the diagnosis and therapy of cancers (Berindan-Neagoe et al. 2014).

The involvement of Argonaute proteins in miRNA function is well established. However, some exosomal miRNAs are Ago2-free (Arroyo et al. 2011). Instead, they are identified by specific proteins (e.g., the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins hnRNPA2B1 and hnRNPA1) that selectively allow loading of miRNAs into exosomes (Janas et al. 2015). miRNAs loading into the exosomes is a well-orchestrated and regulated process. Villarroya-Beltri et al. have shown that miRNAs are loaded into exosomes via sumovlated hnRNPA2B1 (Villarroya-Beltri et al. 2013). Alternatively, the process involves two other heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRNP family proteins), namely, hnRNPA1 and hnRNPC. These proteins bind with exosomal miRNAs for their sorting process. The second mechanism is based on neural sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2) pathways (Kosaka et al. 2013), whereas the third mechanism is based on the 3' ends of endogenous miRNAs. miRNAs are transported by RNA-binding proteins to the lipid raft-like region of the cytoplasmic leaflet of the MVB-limiting membrane, where miRNAs with the highest affinity are engaged (Janas et al. 2015). Once attached, the miRNA initiates a spontaneous invagination to produce intraluminal vesicles (Schwarzenbach and Gahan 2019).

Exosomal miRNAs in Cancer Progression

Several miRNAs are actively involved in various cellular processes (Yamakuchi et al. 2008; Pedroza-Torres et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019). They are also involved in cancer progression and metastasis (Dilsiz 2020). Due to their critical roles and their presence in exosomes, miRNAs are considered to be promising markers for cancer diagnosis and prognosis (Wang et al. 2019). They can be used singly or in combination for cancer diagnosis (Tang et al. 2020). Cancer cell proliferation requires the dysregulated expression of cell cycle-related proteins. During the last decade, several cancer-secreted exosomal miRNAs have been identified as key regulators of cancer cell functioning. Some of the important ones from the long list include miR-200b, miR-21, miR-6869-5p, miR-9-3p, miR-let-7a, and miR-193a which work though diverse molecules such as p27, proinflammatory cytokines like IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α , FGF-5, and Caprin-1 (Teng et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2018; Liang et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2019).

Several studies have demonstrated that exosomal miRs also have a critical role in tumor cell apoptosis (Eichelser et al. 2014; Wei et al. 2016). For example, miR-128 decreases the expression of prosurvival protein Bcl-2 to enhance tumor cell survival. Eichelser et al. have reported analyses of the blood serum samples for free and exosomal miRNAs in 168 breast cancer patients. Exosomal miRNA profiling revealed significantly higher levels of miR-101, miR-372, and miR-373, while miR-373 was shown to interact with the estrogenic receptor for inhibition of the apoptosis cascade (Eichelser et al. 2014). The authors concluded that exosomal miR-373 was strongly linked with a more aggressive form of breast cancer. A recently published study has shown that conditioned medium derived from human adipose tissue-derived MSCs inhibited cell proliferation and activated cell apoptosis signaling in A2780 human ovarian cancer cell line (Reza et al. 2016). The authors attribute these actions of the conditioned medium with the presence of MSCsderived exosomes, which upregulated proapoptotic signaling molecules including BAX, Casp3, and Casp9 with a concomitant decrease in antiapoptotic Bcl2. Exosomal analysis for miRNAs revealed two miRNAs, which were commonly expressed in three samples of the conditioned medium collected during independent experiments. These findings establish a clear interaction between MSCs and cancer cells via exosomal activity, miRNAs also participate in the relapse of the tumors. Exosomal miRNAs are regulators of EMT that contribute to the downregulation of E-cadherin and β -catenin and the expression of N-cadherin and vimentin markers which are specific to the mesenchymal phenotype. In particular, exosomal miR-21 can decrease E-cadherin expression, contributing to the induction of EMT-related changes in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. Additionally, miR-1246 suppresses N-cadherin and vimentin activities and therefore interferes with the induction of the EMT process in prostate cancer cells (Bhagirath et al. 2018).

miRNAs participate in tumor-endothelial cells' crosstalk to regulate angiogenesis and cancer progression. For example, miR-103 targets VE-cadherin and P120catenin, which are components of the endothelial cell junction to increase vascular permeability (Fang et al. 2018). Cells secreting exosomal miR-210 in hypoxic leukemia induce the endothelial cell activation to participate in the angiogenic cascade (Tadokoro et al. 2013). In miRNA profiling of chronic myeloid leukemia cell line LAMA84, 124 miRNAs were identified out of which miR-126 was highly overexpressed in the exosomes as compared with the cellular contents. Further experimentation with miR-126 revealed that it negatively regulated the motility of leukemia cells via altering CXCL12 and VCAM-1 expression levels (Taverna et al. 2014). Exosome profiling of the metastatic breast cancer cells revealed the extensive presence of proangiogenic miRNAs including hypoxamir-210, which is a known regulator of proangiogenic growth factor expression (Kosaka et al. 2013). The data was produced by in vitro culture of mouse cell lines 4 T1 and MCF7 breast cancer cell line, and the exosome isolation was carried out by ultracentrifugation and labeled with fluorescent tracking dye. The culture of HUVEC with exosomes significantly enhanced their activity during in vitro angiogenesis assays, which were more attributed to miR-210 with a significant role for neutral sphingomyelinase-2 for exosomal transfer of miRNAs. Similar observations have also been reported with miR-23a from nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell-derived exosomes during in vitro angiogenesis assays which act by abrogation of its downstream target gene TSGA10 expression (Bao et al. 2018). On the other hand, exosomal miR-9 abrogated nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells' motility and angiogenesis via its downstream target gene midkine, thus interfering with Akt signaling (Lu et al. 2018).

Exosomal miRNAs also participate in the metastatic spread of cancer cells. In this regard, exosomal miR-148a is reported to cause proproliferative activity in cell glioblastoma by targeting its downstream gene CADM1 via STAT3 involvement (Cai et al. 2018). The authors also reported a negative correlation between miR148 and CADM1 gene expression profile in the patient samples. These data also highlight the possible use of exosomal miR-148a as a novel target for the development of future treatment strategies. Exosomal miR-423-5p is another important regulator of the cancer cell cycle through SUFU gene expression (Yang et al. 2018). In lung cancer, exosomal miR-96 has been shown to increase cancer cell proliferation and motility by targeting its downstream target gene LIM domain-only protein 7 (LMO7) (Wu et al. 2017). Some of the other important mediators of cancer cell activities reported thus far include miR-125a, miR-126, let-7b, miR-222, and miR-6126 (Felicetti et al. 2016; Kanlikilicer et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2018b).

Tumor-Derived Exosomes and Lung Cancer

The function of tumor-derived exosomes in nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) implicates a combination of intricate mechanisms as summarized in Fig. 1.

One of the primary factors in cancer growth and progression in NSCLC is the rich presence of cancer-associated fibroblasts in the tumor microenvironment. These cancer-associated fibroblasts serve as a plentiful source of exosomes containing a payload of diverse molecules including RNA, lipids, amino acids, and tricarboxylic acid cycle intermediates (Zhao et al. 2016; Zheng et al. 2018). As discussed earlier, tumor-derived exosomes are instrumental in tumor angiogenesis, which facilitate tumor growth and metastasis. The induction of angiogenesis and tumor growth involves the TGF-\u00df1-dependent pathway and stimulates fibroblasts differentiation (Webber et al. 2015). Hypoxic lung cancer cells cultured under low oxygen conditions released exosome which contained miR-23 for increased angiogenesis and enhanced permeability of the vessels through the targeting of tight junction proteins (Hsu et al. 2017). Exosomal miR-21 is regulated by the STAT3 pathway, which enhances the level of VEGF and consequently malignant transformation of the bronchial epithelium (Liu et al. 2016). Exosomal miR-210 is a hypoxamir, which regulates the levels of tyrosine receptor kinase A3, and induces vascular density in the tumors and supports the growth of the tumor cells (Cui et al. 2015).

Lung cancer cell-derived exosomes participate in lung cancer progression by interacting with the other constituent cells of the tumor microenvironment. Mesenchymal stem cells are transformed into a proinflammatory phenotype via the Tolllike receptor (TLR)-NF κ B pathway by the lung cancer cell-derived exosomes. These



Fig. 1 Tumor-derived exosomal and their secreted miRNAs. Exosomal miRNAs disseminate information between cancer cells and immune cells (macrophages, T cells, and dendritic cells) and contribute toward the microenvironment to make it conducive for the cancer cells to thrive

exosomes facilitate tumor progression by interfering with the immune cell functioning to help the tumor cells escape the immune surveillance mechanism by reprogramming the immune cells (Ridder et al. 2015; Whiteside 2016). These studies highlight the role of exosomal payload in the growth and progression of NSCLC, which needs to be investigated further in future studies.

A major cause of death in lung cancer patients is the metastasis, which is multifactorial, regulated, and completed in several steps. However, only a few of the cancer cells can complete the entire process in a tissue-specific manner during which they preferentially lodge in different body tissue. For example, NSCLC cells preferentially disseminate and home into the brain, bone, and liver with a direct or indirect mechanistic role for tumor-derived exosomes (Wood et al. 2014). The main role of exosomes in the metastatic process is their contribution to the formation of lung cancer microenvironment and increasing the invasiveness of the tumor cells (Milane et al. 2015; Fujita et al. 2015). Some aspects of the tumor, including hypoxia, acidosis, and inflammation, can induce the tumor cells to release exosomes with their specific payload necessary to form the microenvironment with the

consequent growth of the tumor and its dissemination (King et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2016a). While elucidating the role of tumor cell-derived exosomes, Wang et al. showed that exosomal TGF- β and IL10 significantly contributed toward the emigrational activity of cancer cells (NCI-H1688 and NCI-H2228) during their experiment and demonstrated that exosomes derived from metastatic small cell lung cancer cell line NCI-H1688 were more effective in promoting lung cancer cell migration as compared to NSCLC cell line NCI-H1688-derived exosomes (Wang et al. 2016a). Hoshino et al. have shown development of specialized actin structures invadopodia which serve as exosome release and docking area. Abrogation of invadopodia significantly reduced exosome secretion during in vitro culture of the tumor cells, thus revealing a direct relationship between invadopodia formation and the rate of exosome release from the tumor cells (Hoshino et al. 2013). During an interesting in vitro study, human PCA LNCap and PC3 cells were subjected to either normoxic (21% oxygen) or hypoxic culture conditions (1% oxygen) to collect their secreted exosomes separately. The exosomes collected from the hypoxic cultured cells not only were smaller average size, but they also were more effective in promoting the motility of the naïve PCA LNCap and PC3 cells. The exosomes collected under hypoxic conditions also showed higher metalloproteinase activity besides being rich in various signaling molecules including IL6, tumor necrosis factor- α , TGF- β , Akt, and β -catenin (Ramteke et al. 2015). A recently published study has reported that exosomes released by colorectal cancer cell LM1215 triggered Wnt signaling in the coculture-recipient cells (Kalra et al. 2019). The exosomal transfer of mutant β -catenin to the nucleus of the recipient cells was confirmed by proteomic analysis.

Tumor-derived exosomes are also considered to be prognostic markers in NSCLC (Wang et al. 2016b). In a study involving 276 NSCLC, exosomes were isolated from the plasma samples and assessed for surface expression of various markers using an Extracellular Vesicle Array. From among the 49 antibodies which showed reactivity with surface proteins of the exosomes, although NY-ESO-1, placental alkaline phosphatase (PLAP), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), Alix, and EpCam correlated well with overall survival, NY-ESO-1 was the only one which maintained a significant correlation in all the samples, thus signifying its prognostic value in NSCLC patients (Sandfeld-Paulsen et al. 2016). On the same note, Liu et al. have reported a significant association between exosomal miR-10b-5p, miR-23b-3p, and miR-21-5p with poor overall survival in NSCLC patients (Liu et al. 2017). On account of their specificity and easy to isolate from the body fluids which can be sampled noninvasively, exosomes may be novel biomarkers with diagnostic and prognostic value for tumor patients in the clinical perspective (Zhao et al. 2015).

Future Perspectives of Exosomal miRNAs in the Clinics

The molecular targets and the signaling involved therein as drug targets, and transporters to regulate cellular processes, i.e., cell survival and proliferation, have been shown with an integral regulatory involvement of several miRNAs (Corcoran et al. 2012). The payload of exosomes, despite having diverging composition even from the same cells under a different set of their microenvironment, is rich in proteins,

DNA, and RNA that is actively involved in the activation and inhibition of the pathways that are crucial during chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and targeted therapies. For example, it was recently described that miR-34a (with tumor-suppressor activity) abrogation during chemotherapy of prostate cancer treatment with paclitaxel was the primary cause of chemoresistance in the patients. Given its significant tumorsuppressor activity, miR-34a is now being considered as an established predictive biomarker of prostate cancer progression during paclitaxel-based chemotherapy via Bcl-2 gene expression regulation (Corcoran et al. 2014). Other researchers have highlighted the increase in tamoxifen sensitivity of breast cancer cells after the internalization of exosomes in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells. This mechanism seems to be regulated by miR-221 or miR-222 delivered by the exosomes (Wei et al. 2014). Furthermore, in the lung cancer field, exosomal miR-21 has been investigated as a biomarker of the therapeutic outcome in NSCLC, and it was associated with acquired resistance to the treatment with EGFR and tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Li et al. 2014). Similarly, exosomal miR-21 is a crucial determinant of the radiosensitivity of tumor cells. Successful abrogation of miR-21 inhibits PI3K-Akt signaling to enhance their radiosensitivity (Ma et al. 2014). These data signify the role of miR-21 as an important predictor of response to the drug therapy and its worsening outcomes during chemotherapy (Ma et al. 2014; Schwarzenbach 2017). Hence, exosomal miRNAs could form the basis of personalized therapy on account of their potential as targets for therapy and their role in drug resistance.

Another important aspect of exosomal miRs is their potential role to serve as biomarkers (Schwarzenbach 2017). Several exosomal miRs isolated from tumor patients' plasma samples have the potential to serve as biomarkers as summarized in Fig. 2. For example, exosomal miR-21 is contained in plasma but has also been detected in fecal samples of the patients and therefore can be exploited as for colorectal cancer diagnosis (Rotelli et al. 2015). Other exosomal miRNAs that are upregulated in receptor-negative breast cancer patients have been recently reviewed and discussed in-depth (Yu et al. 2016; Stevic et al. 2018; Wu et al. 2020). The upregulated expression of miR-1290 and miR-375 has a negative prognostic value on account of its association with the poor overall survival in castration-resistant prostate cancer (Corcoran et al. 2012, 2014), while exosomal miR-19a is linked to the recurrence in colorectal cancer (Matsumura et al. 2015).

Exosom-derived miRs are also the inhibitors of tumor development which changes their use as part of future novel anticancer therapies. Nevertheless, the correlation and interaction between miRNAs, TDEs, and the immune system require further clarification. For example, the release of miR-142 and miR-223 post-transcriptionally regulates the expression of various proteins in hepatocarcinoma cells (Aucher et al. 2013). Similarly, exosomal miR-29c has antiapoptotic activity due to the suppression of Bcl2 and MCl-1 expression that leads to preventing bladder cancer cells' apoptosis (Xu et al. 2014). Moreover, exosomal miR-127 and miR-197 increase the rate of cell proliferation and promote the metastatic transfer of tumor cells. Hence, these exosomal miRNAs can reduce the effectiveness of tumor treatment by promoting resistance to therapies (Lim et al. 2011).

The manipulation of these miRNAs may significantly contribute to the development of novel cancer treatments, especially in patients with metastatic disease. One



Fig. 2 Summary of the teranostic applications of exosomal miRNAs

of the most important characteristics of exosomes is that they can protect their payload due to lipid bilayered structure and their small size that allows them to remain in the circulation for a long time, thus allowing their detection over longtime periods (Syn et al. 2016). Once taken up by the recipient cells, the miR payload is successfully delivered by the exosomes to take part in the ongoing cellular processes (Barile and Vassalli 2017). Exosomes are also able to spread many pathogens, including viral proteins or viral genomes. The incorporation of pathogens into exosomes affects the immune response to infection (He et al. 2018). There are some limitations to exploit exosomes as a miR delivery system such as cellular toxicity due to extensive regulatory influence on various cellular processes and activities.

The current understanding of exosomal miRNAs has highlighted the importance of these microvesicles not only for cancer but also for other diseases. For example, different miR-21-5p, miR-29a-3p, and miR-126-3p are related to diabetic kidney disease process and progression that also tips them as prospective biomarkers of the disease (Assmann et al. 2018). miR-21 and miR-29a are also integral to the NSCLC growth and dissemination, while miR-126 fosters metastatic activity in hematological malignancies (Fabbri et al. 2012; Chevillet et al. 2014). However, the impact of exosomal miRNA release on tumor development remains to be determined. Exosomal miRs offer an effective pool of circulating miRs as compared to the nonexosomal miRNAs. Future studies are therefore required to discriminate the exosomal and free miRNAs besides determining whether miR exosomal packaging and uptake of miRNAs are specific and triggered by specific cues.

References

- Akgoc Z, Sena-Esteves M, Martin DR, Han X, d'Azzo A, Seyfried TN (2015) Bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate: a secondary storage lipid in the gangliosidoses. J Lipid Res 56(5): 1006–1013. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M057851
- Andre-Gregoire G, Gavard J (2016) Spitting out the demons: extracellular vesicles in glioblastoma. Cell Adhes Migr 13:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336918.2016.1247145
- Arroyo JD, Chevillet JR, Kroh EM, Ruf IK, Pritchard CC, Gibson DF, Mitchell PS et al (2011) Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs independent of vesicles in human plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:5003–5008. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1019055108
- Assmann TS, Recamonde-Mendoza M, de Souza BM, Bauer AC, Crispim D (2018) MicroRNAs and diabetic kidney disease: systematic review and bioinformatic analysis. Mol Cell Endocrinol 477:90–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2018.06.005
- Aucher A, Rudnicka D, Davis DM (2013) MicroRNAs transfer from human macrophages to hepato-carcinoma cells and inhibit proliferation. J Immunol 191:6250–6260. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.1301728
- Azmi AS, Bao B, Sarkar FH (2013) Exosomes in cancer development, metastasis, and drug resistance: a comprehensive review. Cancer Metastasis Rev 32(3–4):623–642. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10555-013-9441-9
- Bao L, You B, Shi S, Shan Y, Zhang Q, Yue H, Zhang J et al (2018) Metastasis-associated miR-23a from nasopharyngeal carcinoma-derived exosomes mediates angiogenesis by repressing a novel target gene TSGA10. Oncogene 37:2873–2889. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0183-6
- Barile L, Vassalli G (2017) Exosomes: therapy delivery tools and biomarkers of diseases. Pharmacol Ther 174:63–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.02.020
- Becker A, Thakur BK, Weiss JM, Kim HS, Peinado H, Lyden D (2016) Extracellular vesicles in cancer: cell-to-cell mediators of metastasis. Cancer Cell 30(6):836–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ccell.2016.10.009
- Bellingham SA, Bllinda G, Bradley MC (2012) Exosomes: vehicles for the transfer of toxic proteins associated with neurodegenerative diseases? Front Physiol 3:124. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys. 2012.00124
- Berindan-Neagoe I, Monroig PC, Pasculli B, Calin GA (2014) MicroRNAome genome: a treasure for cancer diagnosis and therapy. CA Cancer J Clin 64:311–336. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21244
- Bhagirath D, Yang TL, Bucay N, Sekhon K, Majid S, Shahryari V, Dahiya R (2018) microRNA-1246 is an exosomal biomarker for aggressive prostate cancer. Cancer Res 78:1833–1844. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472
- Bhome R, Del Vecchio F, Lee GH, Bullock MD, Primrose JN, Sayan AE, Mirnezami AH (2018) Exosomal microRNAs (exomiRs): small molecules with a big role in cancer. Cancer Lett 420: 228–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.02.002
- Bissig C, Lenoir M, Velluz MC, Kufareva I, Abagyan R, Overduin M, Gruenberg J (2013) Viral infection controlled by a calcium-dependent lipid-binding module in ALIX. Dev Cell 25(4): 364–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2013.04.003
- Cai Q, Zhu A, Gong L (2018) Exosomes of glioma cells deliver miR-148a to promote proliferation and metastasis of glioblastoma via targeting CADM1. Bull Cancer 105:643–651. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bulcan.2018.05.003
- Chargaff E, West R (1946) The biological significance of the thromboplastic protein of blood. J Biol Chem 166(1):189–197
- Chen X, Fan Y, Tianze Z, Wei W, Wenjin X, Yufang L, Dan Z (2019) MiR-9 promotes tumorigenesis and angiogenesis and is activated by MYC and OCT4 in human glioma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 38(1):1–16
- Chevillet JR, Kang Q, Ruf IK, Briggs HA, Vojtech LN, Hughes SM, Cheng HH et al (2014) Quantitative and stoichiometric analysis of the microRNA content of exosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:14888–14893. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1408301111

- Corcoran C, Rani S, O'Brien K, O'Neill A, Prencipe M, Sheikh R, Webb G et al (2012) Docetaxelresistance in prostate cancer: evaluating associated phenotypic changes and potential for resistance transfer via exosomes. PLoS One 7(12):e50999. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0050999
- Corcoran C, Rani S, O'Driscoll L (2014) miR-34a is an intracellular and exosomal predictive biomarker for response to docetaxel with clinical relevance to prostate cancer progression. Prostate 74:1320–1334. https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.22848
- Costa-Silva B, Aiello NM, Ocean AJ, Singh S, Zhang H, Thakur BK, Becker A et al (2015) Pancreatic cancer exosomes initiate pre-metastatic niche formation in the liver. Nat Cell Biol 17: 816–826. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3169
- Cui H, Seubert B, Stahl E, Dietz H, Reuning U, Moreno-Leon L, Ilie M et al (2015) Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 induces a pro-tumourigenic increase of miR-210 in lung adenocarcinoma cells and their exosomes. Oncogene 34(28):3640–3650. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc. 2014.300
- D'Asti E, Garnier D, Lee TH, Montermini L, Meehan B, Rak J (2012) Oncogenic extracellular vesicles in brain tumor progression. Front Physiol 3:294. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012. 00294
- Dilsiz N (2020) Role of exosomes and exosomal microRNAs in cancer. Future Sci OA 6(4): FSO465. https://doi.org/10.2144/fsoa-2019-0116
- Eichelser C, Stückrath I, Müller V, Milde-Langosch K, Wikman H, Pantel K, Schwarzenbach H (2014) Increased serum levels of circulating exosomal microRNA-373 in receptor-negative breast cancer patients. Oncotarget 5:9650–9663. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2520
- Esquela-Kerscher A, Slack FJ (2006) Oncomirs-microRNAs with a role in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6:259–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1840
- Fabbri M, Paone A, Calore F, Galli R, Gaudio E, Santhanam R, Lovat F et al (2012) MicroRNAs bind to toll-like receptors to induce prometastatic inflammatory response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:E2110–E2116. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1209414109
- Fang JH, Zhang ZJ, Shang LR, Luo YW, Lin YF, Yuan Y, Zhuang SM (2018) Hepatoma cellsecreted exosomal microRNA-103 increases vascular permeability and promotes metastasis by targeting junction proteins. Hepatology 68:1459–1475
- Felicetti F, De Feo A, Coscia C, Puglisi R, Pedini F, Pasquini L, Bellenghi M et al (2016) Exosomemediated transfer of miR-222 is sufficient to increase tumor malignancy in melanoma. J Transl Med 14:56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-0811-2
- Fujita Y, Kosaka N, Araya J, Kuwano K, Ochiya T (2015) Extracellular vesicles in lung microenvironment and pathogenesis. Trends Mol Med 21(9):533–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molmed.2015.07.004
- Girard M, Jacquemin E, Munnich A, Lyonnet S, Henrion-Caude A (2008) miR-122, a paradigm for the role of microRNAs in the liver. J Hepatol 48:648–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2008. 01.019
- Gluszko A, Shafaq MM, Katarzyna P, Ireneusz K, Marta S, Miroslaw JS (2019) The role of tumorderived exosomes in tumor angiogenesis and tumor progression. Curr Issues Pharm Med Sci 32(4):193–202
- György B, Szabó TG, Pásztói M, Pál Z, Misják P, Aradi B, László V et al (2011) Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles. Cell Mol Life Sci 68(16):2667–2688. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-011-0689-3
- Haider KH, Aramini B (2020) Mircrining the injured heart with stem cell-derived exosomes: an emerging strategy of cell-free therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1548-7
- Hammond SM (2015) An overview of microRNAs. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 87:3–14. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.addr.2015.05.001
- Harding CV, Heuser JE, Stahl PD (2013) Exosomes: looking back three decades and into the future. J Cell Biol 200:367–371. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201212113

- Hargett LA, Bauer NN (2013) On the origin of microparticles: from "platelet dust" to mediators of intercellular communication. Pulm Circ 3:329–340. https://doi.org/10.4103/2045-8932.114760
- He CJ, Zheng S, Luo Y, Wang B (2018) Exosome theranostics: biology and translational medicine. Theranostics 8:237–255. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.21945
- Henne WM, Stenmark H, Emr SD (2013) Molecular mechanisms of the membrane sculpting ESCRT pathway. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5(9):a016766. https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a016766
- Hoshino D, Kirkbride KC, Costello K, Clark ES, Sinha S, Grega-Larson N, Tyska MJ, Weaver AM (2013) Exosome secretion is enhanced by invadopodia and drives invasive behaviour. Cell Rep 5(5):1159–1168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.10.050
- Hoshino A, Costa-Silva B, Shen TL, Rodrigues G, Hashimoto A, Mark MT, Molina H et al (2015) Tumour exosome integrins determine organotropic metastasis. Nature 527(7578):329. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature15756
- Hsu YL, Hung JY, Chang WA, Lin YS, Pan YC, Tsai PH, Wu CY et al (2017) Hypoxic lung cancersecreted exosomal miR-23a increased angiogenesis and vascular permeability by targeting prolyl hydroxylase and tight junction protein ZO-1. Oncogene 36:4929–4942. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/onc.2017.105
- Huang X, Yuan T, Tschannen M, Sun Z, Jacob H, Du M, Liang M et al (2013) Characterization of human plasma-derived exosomal RNAs by deep sequencing. BMC Genomics 14:319. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-14-319
- Janas T, Janas Maja MT, Karolina SK, Tadeusz J (2015) Mechanisms of RNA loading into exosomes. FEBS Lett 589:1391–1398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2015.04.036
- Jung KO, Youn H, Lee CH, Kang KW, Chung JK (2017) Visualization of exosome-mediated miR-210 transfer from hypoxic tumor cells. Oncotarget 8(6):9899–9910. https://doi.org/10. 18632/oncotarget.14247
- Kalluri R, LeBleu VS (2016) Discovery of double-stranded genomic DNA in circulating exosomes. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 81:275–280. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2016.81.030932
- Kalra H, Gangoda L, Fonseka P, Chitti SV, Liem M, Keerthikumar S, Samuel M et al (2019) Extracellular vesicles containing oncogenic mutant β-catenin activate Wnt signalling pathway in the recipient cells. J Extracell Vesicles 8(1):1690217. https://doi.org/10.1080/20013078.2019. 1690217
- Kanlikilicer P, Rashed MH, Bayraktar R, Mitra R, Ivan C, Aslan B, Zhang X et al (2016) Ubiquitous release of exosomal tumor suppressor miR-6126 from ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Res 76: 7194–7207. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472
- Katoh M (2013) Therapeutics targeting angiogenesis: genetics and epigenetics, extracellular miRNAs and signaling networks. Int J Mol Med 32(4):763–767. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ijmm.2013.1444
- Keller S, Ridinger J, Rupp AK, Janssen JW, Altevogt P (2011) Body fluid derived exosomes as a novel template for clinical diagnostics. J Transl Med 9:86. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-9-86
- King HW, Michael MZ, Gleadle JM (2012) Hypoxic enhancement of exosome release by breast cancer cells. BMC Cancer 12:421. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-12-421
- Kohlhapp FJ, Mitra AK, Lengyel E, Peter ME (2015) MicroRNAs as mediators and communicators between cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment. Oncogene 34(48):5857–5868. https:// doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.89
- Kosaka N, Iguchi H, Hagiwara K, Yoshioka Y, Takeshita F, Ochiya T (2013) Neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2)-dependent exosomal transfer of angiogenic microRNAs regulate cancer cell metastasis. J Biol Chem 288:10849–10859. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112. 446831
- Li B, Ren S, Li X, Wang Y, Garfield D, Zhou S, Chen X et al (2014) MiR-21 overexpression is associated with acquired resistance of EGFR-TKI in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 83:146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2013.11.003

- Liang J, Zhang X, He S, Miao Y, Wu N, Li J, Gan Y (2018) Sphk2 RNAi nanoparticles suppress tumor growth via downregulating cancer cell derived exosomal microRNA. J Control Release 286:348–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.07.039
- Lim PK, Bliss SA, Patel SA, Taborga M, Dave MA, Gregory LA, Greco SJ (2011) Gap junctionmediated import of microRNA from bone marrow stromal cells can elicit cell cycle quiescence in breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 71:1550–1560. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2372
- Liu Y, Luo F, Wang B, Li H, Xu Y, Liu X, Shi L (2016) STAT3-regulated exosomal miR-21 promotes angiogenesis and is involved in neoplastic processes of transformed human bronchial epithelial cells. Cancer Lett 370(1):125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.011
- Liu Q, Yu Z, Yuan S, Xie W, Li C, Hu Z, Xiang Y (2017) Circulating exosomal microRNAs as prognostic biomarkers for non-small-cell lung cancer. Oncotarget 8(8):13048–13058. https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.14369
- Liu C, Zhaobo C, Min F, Yun Q (2019) MicroRNA let-7a inhibits proliferation of breast cancer cell by downregulating USP32 expression. Transl Cancer Res 8(5):1763–1771. https://doi.org/10. 21037/tcr.2019.08.30
- Lu J, Liu QH, Wang F, Tan JJ, Deng YQ, Peng XH, Liu X (2018) Exosomal miR-9 inhibits angiogenesis by targeting MDK and regulating PDK/AKT pathway in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 37:147. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0814-3
- Ludwig N, Yerneni SS, Razzo BM, Whiteside TL (2018) Exosomes from HNSCC promote angiogenesis through reprogramming of endothelial cells. Mol Cancer Res 16(11): 1798–1808. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-18-0358
- Luga V, Zhang L, Viloria-Petit AM, Ogunjimi AA, Inanlou MR, Chiu E, Buchanan M et al (2012) Exosomes mediate stromal mobilization of autocrine Wnt-PCP signaling in breast cancer cell migration. Cell 151(7):1542–1556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.024
- Ma Y, Xia H, Liu Y, Li M (2014) Silencing miR-21 sensitizes non-small cell lung cancer A549 cells to ionizing radiation through inhibition of PI3K/Akt. Biomed Res Int 2014:617868. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/617868
- Maia J, Sergio C, Maria CSM, Nuno C, Bruno C-S (2018) Exosome-based cell-cell communication in the tumor microenvironment. Front Cell Dev Biol 6:18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2018. 00018
- Mashouri L, Yousefi H, Aref AR, Ahadi AM, Molaei F, Alahari SK (2019) Exosomes: composition, biogenesis, and mechanisms in cancer metastasis and drug resistance. Mol Cancer 18:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-019-0991-5
- Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ (2010) Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. J Proteome 73(10):1907–1920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot. 2010.06.006
- Matsumura T, Sugimachi K, Iinuma H, Takahashi Y, Kurashige J, Sawada G, Ueda M (2015) Exosomal microRNA in serum is a novel biomarker of recurrence in human colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 113:275–281. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2015.201
- Meldolesi J (2018) Exosomes and ectosomes in intercellular communication. Curr Biol 28: R435–R444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.059
- Milane L, Singh A, Mattheolabakis G, Suresh M, Amiji MM (2015) Exosome mediated communication within the tumor microenvironment. J Control Release 219:278–294. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.06.029
- Monteforte A, Lam B, Sherman MB, Henderson K, Sligar AD, Spencer A, Tang B et al (2017) Glioblastoma exosomes for therapeutic angiogenesis in peripheral ischemia. Tissue Eng Part A 23(21–22):1251–1261. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2016.0508
- Nishida N, Yano H, Nishida T, Kamura T, Kojiro M (2006) Angiogenesis in cancer. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2(3):213–219. https://doi.org/10.2147/vhrm.2006.2.3.213
- Olejarz W, Dominiak A, Żołnierzak A, Kubiak-Tomaszewska G, Lorenc T (2020) Tumor-derived exosomes in immunosuppression and immunotherapy. J Immunol Res 2020:6272498. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2020/6272498

- Ota A, Tagawa H, Karnan S, Tsuzuki S, Karpas A, Kira S, Yoshida Y et al (2004) Identification and characterization of a novel gene, C13orf25, as a target for 13q31–q32 amplification in malignant lymphoma. Cancer Res 64:3087–3095. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.can-03-3773
- Pan BT, Johnstone RM (1983) Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: selective externalization of the receptor. Cell 33(3):967–977. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0092-8674(83)90040-5
- Pan BT, Teng K, Wu C, Adam M, Johnstone RM (1985) Electron microscopic evidence for externalization of the transferrin receptor in vesicular form in sheep reticulocytes. J Cell Biol 101(3):942–948. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.101.3.942. PMID: 2993317; PMCID: PMC2113705
- Paolillo M, Schinelli S (2017) Integrins and exosomes, a dangerous liaison in cancer progression. Cancers 9(8):95. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers9080095
- Pathan M, Pamali F, Sai VC, Taeyoung K, Rahul S, Jan VD, An H, Suresh M (2019) Vesiclepedia 2019: a compendium of RNA, proteins, lipids and metabolites in extracellular vesicles. Nucleic Acids Res 47(D1):D516–D519. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1029
- Pedroza-Torres A, Romero-Córdoba SL, Justo-Garrido M, Salido-Guadarrama I, Rodríguez-Bautista R, Montaño S, Muñiz-Mendoza R et al (2019) MicroRNAs in tumor cell metabolism: roles and therapeutic opportunities. Front Oncol 9:1404. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019. 01404
- Peng Y, Croce C (2016) The role of microRNAs in human cancer. Signal Transduct Target Ther 1: Article 15004. https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2015.4
- Pettersen HN, Llorente A (2018) Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. Cell Mol Life Sci 75(2):193–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2595-9
- Pitt JM, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L (2016) Extracellular vesicles: masters of intercellular communication and potential clinical interventions. J Clin Invest 126(4):1139–1143. https://doi.org/10. 1172/JCI87316
- Prado N, Eva GM, Elodie S, Héctor F-G, Mayte V, Clotilde T, Rosalia R, Eva B (2008) Exosomes from bronchoalveolar fluid of tolerized mice prevent allergic reaction. J Immunol 181: 1519–1525. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.181.2.1519
- Qiu JJ, Lin XJ, Tang XY, Zheng TT, Lin YY, Hua KQ (2018) Exosomal metastasis associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1 promotes angiogenesis and predicts poor prognosis in epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Biol Sci 14(14):1960–1973. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.28048
- Ramteke A, Ting H, Agarwal C, Mateen S, Somasagara R, Hussain A, Graner M et al (2015) Exosomes secreted under hypoxia enhance invasiveness and stemness of prostate cancer cells by targeting adherens junction molecules. Mol Carcinog 54(7):554–565. https://doi.org/10. 1002/mc.22124
- Reza AMMT, Choi YJ, Yasuda H, Kim JH (2016) Human adipose mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal-miRNAs are critical factors for inducing anti-proliferation signalling to A2780 and SKOV-3 ovarian cancer cells. Sci Rep 6:38498. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38498
- Richards KE, Zeleniak AE, Fishel ML, Wu J, Littlepage LE, Hill R (2017) Cancer-associated fibroblast exosomes regulate survival and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Oncogene 36(13):1770–1778. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.353
- Ridder K, Sevko A, Heide J, Dams M, Rupp AK, Macas J, Starmann J et al (2015) Extracellular vesicle-mediated transfer of functional RNA in the tumor microenvironment. Onco Targets Ther 4(6):e1008371. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2015.1008371
- Rotelli MT, Di Lena M, Cavallini A, Lippolis C, Bonfrate L, Chetta N, Portincasa P, Altomare DF (2015) Fecal microRNA profile in patients with colorectal carcinoma before and after curative surgery. Int J Color Dis 30:891–898. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-015-2248-0
- Sandfeld-Paulsen B, Aggerholm-Pedersen N, Bæk R, Jakobsen KR, Meldgaard P, Folkersen BH, Rasmussen TR et al (2016) Exosomal proteins as prognostic biomarkers in non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Oncol 10(10):1595–1602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2016.10.003
- Sansone P, Savini C, Kurelac I, Chang Q, Amato LB, Strillacci A, Stepanova A et al (2017) Packaging and transfer of mitochondrial DNA via exosomes regulate escape from dormancy in

hormonal therapy-resistant breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114:E9066–E9075. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704862114

- Schwarzenbach H (2017) Clinical relevance of circulating, cell-free and exosomal microRNAs in plasma and serum of breast cancer patients. Oncol Res Treat 40:423–429. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000478019
- Schwarzenbach H, Gahan PB (2019) MicroRNA shuttle from cell-to-cell by exosomes and its impact in cancer. Noncoding RNA 5(1):28. https://doi.org/10.3390/ncrna5010028
- Serrano-Heras G, Garcia-Olmo D, Garcia-Olmo DC (2010) Microvesicles circulating in the plasma of rats contain DNA: are these small vesicles a main source of cell-free DNA in plasma? In: Gahan PB (ed) Circulating nucleic acids in plasma and serum. Springer, New York, pp 239–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9382-0_33
- Sharghi-Namini S, Tan E, Ong LL, Ge R, Asada HH (2014) Dll4-containing exosomes induce capillary sprout retraction in a 3D microenvironment. Sci Rep 4:4031. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep04031
- Simons M, Raposo G (2009) Exosomes-vesicular carriers for intercellular communication. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21:575–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.03.007
- Stevic I, Müller V, Weber K, Fasching PA, Karn T, Marmé F, Schem C et al (2018) Specific microRNA signatures in exosomes of triple-negative and HER2-positive breast cancer patients undergoing neoadjuvant therapy within the GeparSixto trial. BMC Med 16:179. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12916-018-1163-y
- Sung BH, Ketova T, Hoshino D, Zijlstra A, Weaver AM (2015) Directional cell movement through tissues is controlled by exosome secretion. Nat Commun 6:7164. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms8164
- Syn N, Wang L, Sethi G, Thiery JP, Goh BC (2016) Exosome-mediated metastasis: from epithelial-mesenchymal transition to escape from immunosurveillance. Trends Pharmacol Sci 37(7):606–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2016.04.006
- Tadokoro H, Umezu T, Ohyashiki K, Hirano T, Ohyashiki JH (2013) Exosomes derived from hypoxic leukemia cells enhance tube formation in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 288: 34343–34351. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.480822
- Tang J, Li Y, Liu K, Zhu Q, Yang WH, Xiong LK, Guo DL (2018) Exosomal miR-9-3p suppresses HBGF-5 expression and is a functional biomarker in hepatocellular carcinoma. Minerva Med 109:15–23. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0026-4806.17.05167-9
- Tang S, Jianan C, Yuanfei Y, Changjie L, Liang W, Xiaoyi H, Yanqiao Z (2020) Combination of four serum exosomal miRNAs as novel diagnostic biomarkers for early-stage gastric cancer. Front Genet 11:37. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2020.00237
- Taverna S, Amodeo V, Saieva L, Russo A, Giallombardo M, De Leo G, Alessandro R (2014) Exosomal shuttling of miR-126 in endothelial cells modulates adhesive and migratory abilities of chronic myelogenous leukemia cells. Mol Cancer 13:169. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-13-169
- Teng Y, Ren Y, Hu X, Mu J, Samykutty A, Zhuang X, Deng Z et al (2017) MVP-mediated exosomal sorting of miR-193a promotes colon cancer progression. Nat Commun 8:14448. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms14448
- Tkach M, Thery C (2016) Communication by extracellular vesicles: where we are and where we need to go. Cell 164:1226–1232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.043
- Ungefroren H, Sebens S, Seidl D, Lehnert H, Hass R (2011) Interaction of tumor cells with the microenvironment. Cell Commun Signal 9:18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-9-18
- Urbanelli L, Magini A, Buratta S, Brozzi A, Sagini K, Polchi A, Tancini B, Emiliani C (2013) Signaling pathways in exosomes biogenesis, secretion and fate. Genes 4:152–170. https://doi. org/10.3390/genes4020152
- Valadi H, Ekström K, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Lee JJ, Lötvall JO (2007) Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nat Cell Biol 9(6):654–659. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1596
- Villarroya-Beltri C, Gutierrez-Vazquez C, Sanchez-Cabo F, Pérez-Hernández D, Vázquez J, Martin-Cofreces N, Martinez-Herrera DJ et al (2013) Sumoylated hnRNPA2B1 controls the sorting of

miRNAs into exosomes through binding to specific motifs. Nat Commun 4:2980. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3980

- Wang Y, Yi J, Chen X, Zhang Y, Xu M, Yang Z (2016a) The regulation of cancer cell migration by lung cancer cell-derived exosomes through TGF-β and IL-10. Oncol Lett 11(2):1527–1530. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2015.4044
- Wang Z, Chen JQ, Liu JL, Tian L (2016b) Exosomes in tumor microenvironment: novel transporters and biomarkers. J Transl Med 14(1):297. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-1056-9
- Wang M, Fei Y, Han D, Yu W, Peifeng L, Kun W (2019) Emerging function and clinical values of exosomal microRNAs in cancer. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 16:791–804. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.omtn.2019.04.027
- Webber JP, Spary LK, Sanders AJ, Chowdhury R, Jiang G, Steadman R, Wymant J et al (2015) Differentiation of tumour-promoting stromal myofibroblasts by cancer exosomes. Oncogene 34(3):290–302. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.560
- Wei YF, Lai XF, Yu ST, Chen SN, Ma YZ, Zhang Y, Li HC et al (2014) Exosomal miR-221/222 enhances tamoxifen resistance in recipient ER-positive breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 147:423–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-014-3037-0
- Wei Y, Li M, Cui S, Wang D, Zhang CY, Zen K, Li L (2016) Shikonin inhibits the proliferation of human breast cancer cells by reducing tumor-derived exosomes. Molecules 21:777. https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules21060777
- Whiteside TL (2016) Exosomes and tumor-mediated immune suppression. J Clin Invest 126(4): 1216–1223. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI81136
- Wolf P (1967) The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Br J Haematol 13(3):269–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1967.tb08741.x
- Wood SL, Pernemalm M, Crosbie PA, Whetton AD (2014) The role of the tumor-microenvironment in lung cancer-metastasis and its relationship to potential therapeutic targets. Cancer Treat Rev 40(4):558–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2013.10.001
- Wu H, Zhou J, Mei S, Wu D, Mu Z, Chen B, Xie Y et al (2017) Circulating exosomal microRNA-96 promotes cell proliferation, migration and drug resistance by targeting LMO7. J Cell Mol Med 21:1228–1236. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13056
- Wu H, Wang Q, Zhong H, Li L, Zhang Q, Huang Q, Yu Z (2020) Differentially expressed microRNAs in exosomes of patients with breast cancer revealed by next-generation sequencing. Oncol Rep 43(1):240–250. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2019.7401
- Xu XD, Wu XH, Fan YR, Tan B, Quan Z, Luo CL (2014) Exosome-derived microRNA-29c induces apoptosis of BIU-87 cells by down regulating BCL-2 and MCL-1. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 15:3471–3476. https://doi.org/10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.8.3471
- Yamakuchi M, Ferlito M, Lowenstein CJ (2008) miR-34a repression of SIRT1 regulates apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:13421–13426. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0801613105
- Yang H, Fu H, Wang B, Zhang X, Mao J, Li X, Wang M et al (2018) Exosomal miR-423-5p targets SUFU to promote cancer growth and metastasis and serves as a novel marker for gastric cancer. Mol Carcinog 57:1223–1236. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22838
- Yang Y, Ji P, Wang X, Zhou H, Wu J, Quan W, Shang A et al (2019) Bronchoalveolar lavage fluidderived exosomes: a novel role contributing to lung cancer growth. Front Oncol 9:197. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00197
- Yu X, Odenthal M, Fries JW (2016) Exosomes as miRNA carriers: formation-function-future. Int J Mol Sci 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17122028
- Zhang C, Xiao X, Chen M, Aldharee H, Chen Y, Long W (2018a) Liver kinase B1 restoration promotes exosome secretion and motility of lung cancer cells. Oncol Rep 39:376–382. https:// doi.org/10.3892/or.2017.6085
- Zhang Z, Xing T, Chen Y, Xiao J (2018b) Exosome-mediated miR-200b promotes colorectal cancer proliferation upon TGF-β1 exposure. Biomed Pharmacother 106:1135–1143. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biopha.2018.07042
- Zhang Y, Yunfeng L, Haiying L, Wai HT (2019) Exosomes: biogenesis, biologic function and clinical potential. Cell Biosci 9:19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-019-0282-2

- Zhao L, Liu W, Xiao J, Cao B (2015) The role of exosomes and exosomal shuttle microRNA in tumorigenesis and drug resistance. Cancer Lett 356(2 Pt B):339–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. canlet.2014.10.027
- Zhao H, Yang L, Baddour J, Achreja A, Bernard V, Moss T, Marini JC et al (2016) Tumor microenvironment derived exosomes pleiotropically modulate cancer cell metabolism. elife 5: e10250. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.10250
- Zheng H, Zhan Y, Liu S, Lu J, Luo J, Feng J, Fan S (2018) The roles of tumor-derived exosomes in non-small cell lung cancer and their clinical implications. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 37:226. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0901-5
- Zuazo-Gaztelu I, Oriol C (2018) Unraveling the role of angiogenesis in cancer ecosystems. Front Oncol 8:248. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00248



47

Endothelial Progenitor Cells from Bench to Antitumor Therapy and Diagnostic Imaging

Tiziana Annese, Roberto Tamma, and Domenico Ribatti

Contents

Introduction	1391
Stem Cells	1392
An Overview of Endothelial Progenitor Cells	1394
Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Preclinical Cancer Studies	1403
Side Effects and Potential Risks of EPCs Cell Therapy	1407
Conclusion and Future Perspective	1409
References	1410

Abstract

Cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide after cardiovascular diseases, accounting for an estimated ten million deaths annually. Researchers are making a great effort to identify more efficient therapeutic strategies. To date, genetically modified stem cells are a potential candidate for the development of new antitumor therapies and diagnostic investigation methods.

Among stem cells, endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), a subpopulation of multipotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), appear promising. In response to specific stimuli, EPCs are fundamental to tumor progression because of their role in vasculogenesis and sprouting angiogenesis. In a healthy adult individual, the process of neoangiogenesis is activated only during wound healing and in the female uterus during ovulation. Therefore, it is reasonable to use them in anti-cancer therapy by taking advantage of their natural tropism to the altered micro-environment. Diverse studies demonstrated that EPCs predominantly home into the tumor mass, and hence, they are useful as a cellular vehicle for site-directed drug targeting to the tumors or for the delivery of imaging probe.

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_29

T. Annese · R. Tamma · D. Ribatti (🖂)

Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Neurosciences and Sensory Organs, Section of Human Anatomy and Histology, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy e-mail: domenico.ribatti@uniba.it

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This chapter explores the underlying molecular mechanisms and the potential application of stem cell therapy in cancer with special reference to EPCs application in targeted gene therapy. How they could be modified, obtained in a significant amount, and administrated to treat cancer has been discussed.

Keywords

Angiogenesis \cdot Cancer therapy \cdot Diagnostic imaging \cdot Endothelial \cdot EPCs \cdot Progenitor cells \cdot Vasculogenesis

Appreviation	S
5-FC	5-fluorouracil
Ac-LDL	acetylated low-density lipoprotein
ASCs	adult stem cells
BMMCs	bone marrow mononuclear cells
CD	cytosine deaminase
CEPCs	circulating EPCs
CFU-ECs	colony-forming unit-EC
DR4	death receptor 4
DR5	death receptor 5
ECFCs	endothelial colony-forming cells
ECs	endothelial cells
EC-SPs	endothelial cell-side progenitors
eNOS	nitric oxide synthase
EOCs	endothelial outgrowth cells
EPCs	endothelial progenitor cells
EPO	erythropoietin
ESCs	embryonic stem cells
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FSCs	fetal stem cells
GCV	ganciclovir
GMCSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GSCs	glioma stem-like cells
HIF-1α	hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha
HPCs	hematopoietic progenitor cells
HSCs	hematopoietic stem cells
iPSCs	induced pluripotent stem cells
MAPCs	multipotent adult progenitor cells
MCP-1	monocyte chemotactic protein
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MVD	microvessel density
NK	natural kill cells
PARP	poly ADP-ribose polymerase
PBMCs	peripheral blood mononuclear cells

PD-1	programmed death-1
PEI2k	polyethylenimine 2 kDa
PlGF	placental growth factor
PSCs	placenta stem cells
QQc	quality and quantity culture
SCs	stem cells
SDF	stromal cell-derived factor
Sirt1	sirtuin-1
SPECT	single-photon emission computed tomography
SPIO	superparamagnetic iron oxide
TRAIL	tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
UEA1	Ulex europaeus agglutinin 1
uPAR	urokinase-type plasminogen activator
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
VESCs	vascular endothelial stem cells
VW-EPCs	vascular wall endothelial progenitor cells
vWF	von Willebrand factor
VW-VSCs	vascular wall-resident vascular stem cells

Introduction

Cancer is a vast group of diseases that share some characteristics. Cancer cells can develop in all tissues/organs of the body, have a high proliferation rate, and can invade the normal surrounding tissue and beyond. Metastasizing is a leading cause of death from cancer (Dillekas et al. 2019). Cancer is the second dominant death source worldwide after cardiovascular diseases, accounting for an estimated ten million deaths annually (Bray et al. 2018). Lung, breast, colorectal, prostate, stomach, liver, esophagus, cervix uteri, thyroid, and bladder cancers are, in order, those with the highest incidence (Bray et al. 2018). As a general trend, patients' survival rate and life quality are improving thanks to early diagnosis, prevention campaigns, and improved standards of care. Despite this, patients' physical and economic efforts and the entire health system make cancer a huge problem and a considerable challenge for researchers.

Different therapeutic designs are distinguished according to the type of cancer and the stage of development. These include surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy, hormone therapy, stem cell transplant, precision, and personalized medicine (NCI 2020). Surgery for cancer treatment is called curative surgery and is usually applied when the tumor mass is well-confined to a specific body part. Before and/or after resection, the patient could be treated with radiotherapy or chemotherapy. Radiation therapy includes different approaches such as external beam radiation therapy, internal radiation therapy (brachytherapy), oral or systemic radiation therapy, and photodynamic therapy. The operating principle consists of high-energy electromagnetic waves or molecules that create DNA damage in proliferating tumor cells. Chemotherapy consists of using one or more drugs that act mainly against proliferating cells and thus against cancer cells to prevent or limit their growth and spread. Immunotherapy is a treatment that uses cells or molecules of the immune system, such as use of antibodies or vaccines, or T-lymphocytes, to restore or boost the patient's immune system. Targeted therapy applies drugs designed to "target" specifically cancer cells or cells of the surrounding microenvironment without affecting normal cells, exploiting their unique expression of some genes or proteins. Hormone therapy is a systemic one in which hormones are administrated to destroy cancer that depends on them to grow, like breast and prostate cancers that depend on sex hormones. Stem cell transplant is exploited to replace the patient's bone marrow cells treated with chemo and/or radiation therapy against such cancers as leukemia and lymphoma. Precision and personalized medicine is the newest approach and is based on the patient's genome and epigenome characterization because there is high intra-tumoral heterogeneity. Still, it is only in clinical trials for now.

Among these approaches for cancer treatment and to adopt high-performance methods in terms of improved therapeutic efficacy and fewer undesirable effects, stem cell transplant, alone or in combination with other therapies, could be the right strategy for treatment and the development of new diagnostic investigation methods due to its enhanced target on tumors.

Stem Cells

In all development stages from the embryo to the adult, all organs and tissues possess undifferentiated precursor cells, mitotically active, multipotent, and capable of regenerating mature cells, called stem cells (SCs). They are a reservoir of precursor cells playing a homeostatic role essential for replacing dead or damaged cells due to trauma or diseases (Galli et al. 2003). SCs are highly undifferentiated cells that do not possess morphological, structural, molecular, and antigenic characteristics found in the tissue's differentiated cells to which they belong.

SCs can perpetuate themselves through their ability to self-renew (Weissman et al. 2001). In general, the in vivo self-renewal last for the organism's whole life, but in vitro, it is unlimited under the appropriate experimental conditions. Two types of stem cell divisions are distinguished, symmetric cell divisions and asymmetric ones (Shahriyari and Komarova 2013). In symmetric divisions, the two daughter cells are identical to each other and to the mother cell (expansive symmetric division) or, in the alternative, identical to each other but different from the mother (differentiative symmetric division), called progenitors. In asymmetric division, a stem cell produces one differentiated cell and one stem cell. This system allows the number of stem cells to remain constant at the end of each cell generation. It offers the enormous advantage of increasing or decreasing the number of stem cells within a tissue.

Another critical feature of stem cells is multipotentiality, which is the ability to give rise to a differentiated progeny comprising all types of cells of the residence tissue or, in the case of embryos, to all cells of the adult organism. Stem cells, according to their potential, are classified as totipotent if they are not specialized and can give rise to a new embryo, such as embryonic cells at the stage of 4–8 cells after 4–5 days from fertilization; pluripotent, if they have the potential to differentiate into all cell types that derive from the three embryonic layers (endoderm, ectoderm, and mesoderm), but they do not have the potential to give rise to an embryo, such as embryonic stem cells (ESCs) at the blastocyst stage with 20–30 cells, after 5–7 days from fertilization; multipotent, if they can differentiate in all cell types of a specific organ or tissue such as hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs); unipotent, if they can give rise to a single cell type such as keratinocytes (Łos et al. 2019).

SCs can also be recruited where they are required to participate in the repair process, thanks to a controlled process called homing, and once they reach the site, they settle there (engraftment). Their well-directed migration is under the control of cytokines gradient and is used to regenerate damaged tissues.

Based on the source, stem cells are classified into ESCs, such as cells isolated from human blastocysts; fetal stem cells (FSCs), such as gonadal cells from abortive fetuses; umbilical cord stem cells, such as cells isolated from cord blood umbilical of newborns; placenta-derived stem cells (PSCs), isolated from the placenta of newborns; adult stem cells (ASCs), isolated from adult tissues such as HSCs; induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), obtained by dedifferentiation of mature cells to embryonic cells by genetic manipulation. iPSCs open new therapeutic opportunities, which are practically the same as those of human embryonic stem cells, but without ethical and scientific concerns.

ASCs, present in small quantities in stem niches of the whole organism, remain quiescent until disease or trauma reactivate them inducing proliferation and differentiation. The niche is a tissue location where a dynamic and specialized microenregulates cell biology (proliferation, maintenance, vironment stem or differentiation). They are present in different organs and tissues: the hematopoietic system (Osawa et al. 1996), brain (Galli et al. 2000; Goritz and Frisen 2012), dermis (Toma et al. 2001), muscle (Qu-Petersen et al. 2002), and liver (Shafritz et al. 2006). Until recently, it was generally thought that ASCs could at most differentiate into all cell types of the tissue they belong to (Price et al. 2007). However, today, it has been observed that, under optimal set of conditions, they can differentiate into other cell types, in addition to those of the original tissue. For example, after bone marrow transplantation enriched with HSCs, they can differentiate in all the three germinal layers' cells (Jackson et al. 2001; Mezey et al. 2000; Orlic et al. 2001; Theise et al. 2000).

Stem cells are applied in regenerative medicine for diseases such as Parkinson's disease (Ourednik et al. 2002), spinal cord damage (Teng et al. 2002), multiple sclerosis (Pluchino et al. 2003), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Clement et al. 2003), stroke (Liu et al. 2009), retinal degeneration (Li et al. 2006), Alzheimer's disease (Barnham et al. 2004), myocardial infarction (Jackson et al. 2001), and others. The unique self-renewal and differentiation potential of stem cells are the primary reasons for their use to regenerate damaged organs and correct congenital diseases. However, a major limitation for the therapeutic use of stem cells is the risk of iatrogenic oncogenesis.

The source of the cells for therapy could be the same patients (autologous transplantation) or a donor (allogeneic transplantation). The main attraction is for the immune-privileged autologous stem cells that express the major histocompatibility complex 1 (MHC1), but not MHC2, clusters of differentiation because these can be used in immunocompetent patients, avoiding side effects and with better therapeutic efficacy and significantly improved safety. For instance, in a preclinical study to evaluate EPCs for target gene therapy, it was shown that these cells do not express MHC-I, are resistant to lysis by non-activated natural kill cells (NK), and survive and participate in tumor blood vessel formation after intravenous injection (Wei et al. 2004).

An Overview of Endothelial Progenitor Cells

EPCs are mostly unipotent stem cells capable of differentiating into endothelial cells (Khakoo and Finkel 2005). In vivo, they can differentiate from hemangioblasts, bone marrow multipotent adult progenitor cells (MAPCs), and myeloid/monocytic cells. In vitro, the early and late EPCs are distinguished (reviewed in (George et al. 2011)). Furthermore, to be present as such in bone marrow, peripheral and umbilical cord blood, EPCs can be produced by transdifferentiation of stem cells present in various tissues and organs, under the influence of adequate microenvironments for endothelial differentiation (for extensive EPCs sources, readers can consider the reviewing article (Chopra et al. 2018)).

EPCs express endothelial markers such as CD133, CD31, CD34, CD146, and VEGFR2 and do not express the hematopoietic marker CD45 or mature ECs markers including VEGFR1, VE-cadherin, and Von Willebrand factor (vWF) (George et al. 2011; Medina et al. 2017). CD34⁺/CD133⁺/VEGFR2⁺ cells are usually, but not unambiguously considered EPCs (Medina et al. 2017).

EPCs can be studied in two ways, flow cytometry or in vitro culture (Medina et al. 2012). Flow cytometry is used for studying circulating EPCs (CEPCs) in the blood samples where they are quantified as the percentage of mononuclear cells CD34⁺/ VEGFR2⁺/CD133⁺ (Peichev et al. 2000; Wu et al. 2007). In vitro culture methods are applied to study EPCs derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or by direct flushing of bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMCs) and expanded using endothelial-specific media. During in vitro culture, two different cell types can be generated, the early and late outgrowth cells being hematopoietic and endothelial, respectively (see Table 1) (Medina et al. 2010). Only the last ones are considered valid EPCs (see Table 2) (Banno and Yoder 2019). The late outgrowth cells, also called endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFCs), originate from CD45^{-/} CD133⁻/CD34⁺ MNCs, in vitro arise after 7 days, have a highly proliferative polygonal shape, do not differentiate into hematopoietic cells, and produce vascular tube in vitro and in vivo. Moreover, ECFCs can affect neovascularization in vivo, take up acetylated LDL, bind to Ulex europaeus agglutinin 1 (UEA1), and express the surface markers CD31, vWF, CD105, CD146, VE-cadherin, and VEGFR2 (Timmermans et al. 2009; Yoder et al. 2007). Some studies have shown a synergistic

	Name			
	MACs; early outgrowth EPCs; early EPCs; hematopoietic EPCs; CACs; PACs; CFU-ECs; CFU-HILL; small	ECFCs; late outgrowth EPCs; LATE EPCs; non-hematopoietic EPCs; OECs; BOECs' EOCs; large		
In vitro	EPCs; Myeloid EPCs	EPCs		
From PBMCs or umbilical cord blood appear after	4-10 days	>2 weeks		
Achieve peak growth at	2–3 weeks	4–8 weeks		
Survive up to	4 weeks	12 weeks		
Markers	CD45 ⁺ CD14 ⁺ CD31 ⁺ ; CD146 ⁻ CD34 ⁻	CD31 ⁺ CD105 ⁺ CD146 ⁺ VE-cadherin ⁺ vWF ⁺ VEGFR2 ⁺ ; CD45 ⁻ CD14 ⁻		
Role in new vessel formation	Do not differentiate into ECs but promote angiogenesis through paracrine factors that indirectly augmented proliferation, migration, and the tube forming capability of ECFCs	Became ECs and participate in new blood vessel formation or vascular repair		
Secretion/ expression of pro-angiogenic factors	VEGF; IL-8; MMP9	VEGFR2; CXCR-1; MMP2		

Table 1 EPCs isolated using *in vitro* culture methodologies classification based on a specific phenotype and a biological function

The table shows the complex EPCs nomenclature and the two leading EPCs population features studied for their pro-angiogenic properties

Abbreviations: *BOECs* blood outgrowth ECs, *CACs* circulating angiogenic cells, *CFU-ECs* colony-forming unit-EC, *CFU-HILL* colony-forming unit HILL EPC, *ECFCs* endothelial colony-forming cells, *EOCs* endothelial outgrowth cells, *MACs* myeloid angiogenic cells, *PACs* pro-angiogenic hematopoietic cells, *PBMCs* peripheral blood mononuclear cells, *OECs* outgrowth ECs

effect of early and late outgrowth cells when used together compared with one of the two cells alone as cell therapy (Pearson 2010; Yoon et al. 2005).

Both early and late EPCs promote angiogenesis. Early EPCs contribute to new vessels formation by secreting a series of growth factors and cytokines, such as VEGF, stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), which stimulate ECs proliferation and survival, and direct endogenous progenitor cell recruitment into sites of neo-vascularization (Urbich et al. 2005). Furthermore, early-EPCs provide relevant protective effects to themselves and differentiated EPCs from apoptosis under oxidative conditions in an auto- or paracrine manner, recruiting other cells within the peripheral blood (Yang et al. 2010). Late EPCs directly contribute to vasculogenesis by providing structural support via differentiation into mature ECs (Hur et al. 2004). They can also promote angiogenesis by the secretion of numerous cytokines (Moubarik et al. 2011).

	MACs	ECFCs	ECs
Potency Assys (capacity to form a	Only in	Intrinsic tube	Intrinsic tube
vascular network in vitro and in vivo)	conditioned	forming	forming
	media	capacity	capacity
Detailed identity immunophenotype	CD14 ⁺	CD31 ⁺	CD31 ⁺
	CD31 ⁺	CD34 ⁺	VE-cadherin ⁺
	CD45 ⁺	CD105 ⁺	VEGFR1 ⁺
	CD34 ⁻	CD133 ⁺	vWF ⁺
	CD146 ⁻	CD146 ⁺	CD34 ⁻
		VE-cadherin ⁺	CD133 ⁻
		VEGFR2 ⁺	
		vWF ⁺	
		CD14 ⁻	
		CD45 ⁻	
Clonogenicity capacity: (single-cell colony-forming)	Lack	High	Lack
Proliferative capacity	Medium	High	Low

Table 2	How to	distinguish	"bona	fide"	EPCs?
---------	--------	-------------	-------	-------	-------

The table shows the tests that must be performed to identify bona fide EPCs unequivocally. The term EPCs should be restricted to only those cells that display vessel-forming potential, the right immunophenotype, and have high clonogenic potential and proliferation rate

Abbreviations: *ECFCs* endothelial colony-forming cells, *ECs* endothelial cells, *MACs* myeloid angiogenic cells

Under physiological conditions, EPCs homing-in is aimed to maintain vascular integrity during repair of damaged tissues, restore organ function, and participate in postnatal angiogenesis (Asahara et al. 1997, 1999a; Urbich and Dimmeler 2004). However, EPCS' vasculogenic potential is also exploited by tumors to facilitate their progression (Asahara et al. 1999a; Dong and Ha 2010). As shown in preclinical research, in response to endogenous and exogenous signals, VEGFR2⁺ EPCs can get mobilized from the bone marrow into the peripheral blood circulation and subsequently home-in to tumor neovascularization sites where they differentiate into ECs, thus contributing to angiogenesis (Nolan et al. 2007; Rafii et al. 2002). Endogenous signals released from tumor cells and their microenvironment induce hypoxiainducible factor 1-alpha (HIF1- α) overexpression, glucose reduction, and reactive oxygen species increase. These events promote the release of VEGF, SDF-1, monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP-1), and erythropoietin (EPO), which facilitate EPCs homing-in to neovascularization sites (Annese et al. 2019; Dong and Ha 2010; Ribatti 2004). More precisely, this occurs before the angiogenic switch in the avascular tumor phase (Gao et al. 2008). Once recruited, the EPCs can directly participate in new blood vessel formation or can merely release pro-angiogenic factors. The neoangiogenesis is also sustained by co-mobilization of VEGFR1⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs), which home-in to the tumor-specific pre-metastatic sites and form cellular clusters, the so-called pre-metastatic niche (Kaplan et al. 2005). There is convincing evidence from both preclinical and clinical studies that exogenous signals, such as disruptive vascular agents, chemotherapy, and surgery, might induce an acute release of EPCs from bone marrow, contributing to tumor growth (Bertolini et al. 2003; Furstenberger et al. 2006; Roodhart et al. 2009; Shaked et al. 2008). Of particular importance is the ability of EPCs to home-in not only into the tumor's vasculature but also into the tumor proper.

Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Neovascularization

The development of EPCs-based therapies to induce or suppress new blood vessel formation necessitates the comprehension of cellular and molecular mechanisms of neovascularization. EPCs have a role in both vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Physiological vasculogenesis is also known as developmental vasculogenesis because it occurs during embryo development. From hemangioblast, which is a common precursor of hematopoietic and vascular systems, EPCs differentiate in the bone marrow and then extravasate into the peripheral circulation in response to VEGF/VEGFR2 stimuli. From circulation, EPCs follow the stimuli gradient and upon arrival at the site of injury, they differentiate into mature ECs and participate in the ongoing vascular development (Masuda and Asahara 2003). In the adult, these EPCs from the bone marrow could participate in physiological blood vessel formation and pathological one during the early phase of tumor neovascularization.

Vasculogenesis involves the recruitment and participation of circulating cells, and de novo formation of blood vessels from these cells, while angiogenesis results from the proliferation of existing blood vessels. To be more precise, two types of angiogenesis are distinguished as sprouting and non-sprouting angiogenesis. Sprouting angiogenesis occurs when ECs migrate (tip cells) toward the VEGF gradient source and proliferate (stalk cells) to form abluminal sprouts that subsequently fuse and generate new vessels (Risau 1997; Uccelli et al. 2019). On the other hand, non-sprouting angiogenesis, or intussusceptive angiogenesis, occurs in the absence of a gradient, and all ECs respond to VEGF by assuming a stalk phenotype. During intussusception, an already existing vessel splits into two by forming intraluminal endothelial pillars, which fuse longitudinally (Risau 1997; Uccelli et al. 2019). Angiogenesis plays an essential role throughout embryonic development, besides wound healing, tissue ischemia, and tumor vasculature formation during postnatal life. Hence, it is now being exploited as a novel therapeutic target in cancer treatment. During angiogenesis, EPCs can indirectly contribute to tumor vascularization via autocrine/paracrine mechanisms (Asahara et al. 2011).

In addition to the extravasation of EPCs from the bone marrow and homing-in to the site of injury, the neovascularization process is also supported by immature cells present in the vascular wall of various organs. These cells are called vascular wall-resident vascular stem cells (VW-VSCs) that differentiate in smooth muscle cells and ECs (Tamma et al. 2020; Torsney and Xu 2011). The subpopulation called vascular wall EPCs (VW-EPCs) differentiate in ECs and are also known as endothelial cell-side progenitors (EC-SPs) CD200⁺/CD157⁺ (Ingram et al. 2005; Wabik and Jones 2015). In hypoxia conditions, these cells are under self-renewal and differentiation to stalk cells contributing to long-term ECs proliferation and, thus, angiogenesis (Takakura 2018).

Given the ubiquitous EPCs' role in neovascularization, their concentration in peripheral blood can be a surrogate biomarker indicating vasculogenic/angiogenic tumor activity and therapy efficacy on tumor vasculature as currently done with microvessel density (MVD) and VEGF expression (Bianconi et al. 2020; Nico et al. 2008; Schluter et al. 2018). EPCs concentration is advantageous because it is accurately but noninvasively compared to MVD and VEGF evaluation, but it is disadvantageous because only 0.025% of the PBMCs are EPCs (Peichev et al. 2000). The small amount limits the translation of prosperous findings of EPCs from bench to practical use. EPCs amount is even less if EPCs from VESCs in the preexisting blood vessels are considered. Therefore, for EPCs-based therapy, they should be first expanded ex vivo.

Endothelial Progenitor Cells Applications

EPCs contribute to tissue regeneration processes via neovascularization through paracrine mechanisms or differentiation in mature ECs (Asahara et al. 1999a; Kalka et al. 2000). The freshly isolated autologous PBMCs or BMMCs have been applied to clinical vascular regenerative therapy in patients with peripheral arterial disease, critical limb ischemia, or myocardial infarction (Deutsch et al. 2020; Koshikawa et al. 2006; Kudo et al. 2003; Lara-Hernandez et al. 2010; Li et al. 2016a; Liotta et al. 2018). These researches indicated that cell-based therapy was safe, feasible, and useful.

Potential stem cell applications against cancer have been well-reviewed elsewhere (Chu et al. 2020) are for cell transplantation, post-cancer treatment, vaccine production, therapeutic carriers, or immune cells generator. Clinically, EPCs can be employed in three different manners: (i) for neovascularization; (ii) as target cells in anti-EPCs therapy against tumors; (iii) as biomarkers for disease identification and severity (Chopra et al. 2018).

With the purpose of neovascularization, vascular EPCs can be exploited for their ability to release several angiocrine growth factors, or other bioactive molecules, to maintain and sustain tissues/organs' regeneration, for example, by increasing the releasing of oxygen and nutrients through neoangiogenesis. EPCs present in preexisting blood vessels or recruited from bone marrow could be used in vascular regeneration therapy in many diseases like revascularization of ischemic tissues after heart infarction (Huang et al. 2013; Moubarik et al. 2011; Steinle et al. 2018). EPCs could be applied to non-angiogenic and angiogenic tumors to induce blood vessel formation, which will be a direct access route of the drug on the tumor cells, or induce blood vessel normalization, which will alleviate hypoxia and pro-tumor microenvironment, respectively (Collet et al. 2016).

As potential therapeutic carriers, a Trojan horse, EPCs combined with targeted antiangiogenic drugs for cancer treatment act as a delivery vehicle that protects the therapeutic agents from rapid biological degradation, reduce systemic side effects, and increase local therapeutic levels due to the intrinsic tumor-targeting effect. Recent advances in cellular engineering have led to stem cell-based vector development to serve as a vehicle for angiogenesis inhibitors or genes directly into the tumor endothelium (Janic and Arbab 2010; Nakamura et al. 2004). These novel approaches are useful in oncology to selectively destroy cancer cells, leaving healthy cells unaffected thus alleviating the side effect of cancer therapy (Chong et al. 2016; Ruggeri et al. 2018). For instance, in Sprague-Dawley rats, EPCs isolated from PBMCs were genetically modified to induce a stable expression of antiangiogenic endostatin, reducing VEGF expression. These genetically modified EPCs were successfully tested to suppress retinal vascular leakage and could be advanced for clinical assessment because endostatin overexpression may serve as a potential therapeutic agent (Ai et al. 2018).

Antitumor treatments' efficacy is usually evaluated by imaging techniques such as X-ray, computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and ultrasound. EPCs can be used for diagnosis, prognostic prediction, and follow-up. EPCs can be labeled for CD133 for tracking their in vivo fate after injection by MRI for diagnosis and follow-up. As biomarkers of tumor development and/or progression, several studies have demonstrated clinical correlations between CEPCs concentration and tumor stage (Nowak et al. 2010; Ramcharan et al. 2013; Yu et al. 2013), tumor size (Richter-Ehrenstein et al. 2007; Su et al. 2010), VEGF serum concentration (Rafat et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2012), and MVD (Li et al. 2018a; Maeda et al. 2012). During hematological malignancies' comparison with solid tumors, many studies have demonstrated a close association between EPCs and disease activity, so much so that circulating EPCs are useful diagnostic, therapeutic, and prognostic biomarker (Ge et al. 2015; Ruggeri et al. 2018).

The EPC-based therapies are much better known for cardiovascular diseases compared to oncological ones. EPCs were proposed to induce angiogenesis in ischemia (Li et al. 2018b; Zheng et al. 2014), for post-injury vascular endothelial regeneration (Abd El Aziz et al. 2015; Guo et al. 2017), and ex vivo tissue engineering (Sales et al. 2010). However, the enthusiasm for the possible applications of EPCs in clinical therapy is severely limited by the lack of in-depth characterization and understanding of early and late outgrowth EPCs.

Endothelial Progenitor Cells Sources, Ex Vivo Culturing, and Implantation

Mouse, monkey or human ESCs, fetal liver, human umbilical cord blood, bone marrow, and peripheral blood might be used as the potential EPCs sources (Debatin et al. 2008; Zakrzewski et al. 2019). The use of stem/progenitor cells from embryos is advantageous and ideal because they can show unlimited and undifferentiated proliferation and evade immunological rejection as they do not express MHC-I. Still, there are ethical considerations and risk of malignant transformation that restrict their progress to the clinical setting (Wei et al. 2004; Werbowetski-Ogilvie et al. 2009). EPCs derived from the fetal liver can be easily isolated and cultured; however, the clinical applicability of these cells is limited by the challenges of creating fetal liver tissue banks and host immune incompatibility (Cherqui et al. 2006).

Stem/progenitor cells present in umbilical cord blood have a higher proliferative capacity, readily available, and easy to isolate than adult bone marrow-derived cells.

However, umbilical cord donation has yet to achieve widespread acceptance, besides the chance of immunologic graft-versus-host disease in the recipients (Ingram et al. 2005; Murohara 2001; Murohara et al. 2000; Qin et al. 2017).

Also, multipotent adult progenitor cells isolated from postnatal bone marrow have extensive proliferation potential ex vivo and can differentiate into mesodermal lineage cells as EPCs (Reyes et al. 2002). Thus, they can be effectively applied in autologous therapy, thanks to potentially low-level immune recognition and destruction of these cells by the host immune system.

More recently, EPCs have been isolated from human adult somatic cells, that is, fibroblasts, through transdifferentiation into iPSCs (Purwanti et al. 2014; Taura et al. 2009). Nevertheless, like ESCs, EPCs iPSCs-derived will need an in-depth characterization to exclude tumorigenic potential. An easily accessible EPCs' source is either peripheral blood or bone marrow. Circulating autologous EPCs could be isolated from these sources using markers like CD34, CD133, or VEGFR2 (Asahara et al. 1997; Shi et al. 1998). Circulating EPCs and bone marrow-derived EPCs are among the least complicated sources to use, but the main obstacle in their use in regenerative medicine is low quality and quantity, and immune recognition (Asahara et al. 2011; Sukmawati and Tanaka 2015). Chemotactic molecules as VEGF, placental growth factor (PIGF), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GMCSF), or statins are used to treat patients/donors to increase EPCs number (Asahara et al. 1999b; Dimmeler et al. 2001) (for schematic EPCs application as therapy see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of EPCs as cellular vehicles. EPCs derived from PBMCs or BMMCs are expanded and transduced *in vitro* to express pro-drugs or tratted for the expression of imaging probe can be systematically or in-situ replanted in the patients.

EPCs, after isolation from PBMCs or BMMCs, are expanded in vitro. There are several optimized protocols available for ex vivo culture and expansion of EPCs. However, all of these protocols require that EPCs are plated on extracellular matrix proteins coated dishes and maintained in endothelial basal medium with added supplements and growth factors (Au et al. 2008; Kawamoto et al. 2001; Lu et al. 2014). Concerning supplements, EPCs' expansion is expensive and time-intensive due to high concentrations and frequent supplementation of growth factors because of their short half-life at physiological temperatures (Khalil et al. 2020). Moreover, supplements, such as fetal bovine serum (FBS), could be unsafe for clinical application due to their animal origin, prone to batch-to-batch variations, xenoimmunization, and possible contamination of mycoplasma, viruses, endotoxins, and prions (Dessels et al. 2016). The development of optimal protocols to expand EPCs without growth factors is a promising approach to simplifying clinical translation. Interestingly, polyphenols benefit EPCs number and functional activity (Di Pietro et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2010). For example, an attractive agent to expand EPCs is the natural flavonoid quercetin. It increases the number and functional activity of EPCs and protects them against serious glucose-induced damage by inducing Sirtuin-1 (Sirt1)-dependent endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) upregulation (Zhao et al. 2014). To avoid the use of animal serum, several laboratories have developed novel serum-free expansion methods enriched with optimal cytokine and growth factor combinations (Hagiwara et al. 2018; Kado et al. 2018; Masuda et al. 2012). These methods are known as the quality and quantity culture (QQc) system and ensures optimizing EPCs-based therapy by augmenting their qualitative and quantitative vasculogenic properties and providing measurable regenerative capacity (Sukmawati and Tanaka 2015).

To isolate and expand EPCs, it is imperative to consider that EPCs are decreased in number and functional activity related to age and cardiovascular risk factors (Huang et al. 2014; Kaur et al. 2018). Therefore, isolation and application of EPCs from patients with these backgrounds have a high chance of receiving EPCs with low therapeutic effect.

Before administration, expanded EPCs are characterized for their morphology, surface markers expression by flow cytometric analyses, eNOS levels, and Ac-LDL uptake/fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-lectin binding actives. Moreover, their routine functional characterization also involves assessment of angiogenic potential by in vitro tube formation assay or in vivo by chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay (Kukumberg et al. 2020; Merckx et al. 2020; Qin et al. 2018; Song et al. 2010). Furthermore, recent studies advise performing isolated cells' efficacy and safety, for example, by transplantation in a nonhuman primate model (Qin et al. 2018).

Once collected sufficient number in vitro, EPCs can be conditioned to enhance their functionality for more efficient functionality and therapeutic benefits. Several studies about the revascularization of ischemic tissues have employed various growth factors or recombinant proteins or genes using nano- or microparticles to improve tissues' revascularization and upregulate pro-angiogenic proteins (Bhise et al. 2011; Simon-Yarza et al. 2012). Recombinant proteins are costly, and it is not
easy to maintain adequate protein levels at the target region due to their relatively short half-lives (Gupta et al. 2009). Gene therapy with viral and nonviral delivery system was applied as an alternative strategy to express the desired pro-angiogenic proteins, and it has shown to be promising.

EPCs can be genetically manipulated by stable transduction using retrovirus or lentivirus-based vectors encoding for the gene/s of interest, allowing a long-term transgene expression. Besides their high transduction efficiency, their use is convenient when EPCs are used as a vehicle due to their susceptibility to gene transduction protocols. However, since viral vectors are usually replication-defective, there will be a physiological clearance reduction of EPCs vehicle following administration. This reduction can be advantageous if a temporary rather than stable presence of the cells is the goal of cell therapy. EPCs can also be modified with non-integrating viral vectors such as adenovirus or herpes simplex virus, or plasmid vector, inducing short-term effects. Moreover, using a non-integrating method, the EPCs can be modified with synthetic mRNAs, which can express exogenous proteins without the hazard of insertional mutagenesis since the delivered mRNAs remain in the cytoplasm for translation without passing into the nucleus (Sahin et al. 2014; Steinle et al. 2018). The synthetic mRNA transfection leads to the transient production of exogenous proteins of interest in the cells, and subsequently undergoes natural degradation thus leaving no traces of the delivered mRNA.

After isolation, modification, and characterization, EPCs can be implanted in patients. Generally, stem cells could be introduced in different ways, such as intravenous, intramuscular, intra-articular, and intrathecal (Saeedi et al. 2019). Intravenous is the safest and most straightforward method to deliver the EPCs throughout the body. This way is a preferred route administration as it is simple and feasible, does not require general anesthesia, and allows administration of repeated doses at different times (Haider et al. 2017). The transplanted EPCs mainly home-in to a tumor site due to attraction to the tumor vasculature by its angiogenic drive, but the efficiency is not 100%. In effect, most cells intravenously inject end up in the non-target sites, including lungs, liver, and spleen (Leibacher and Henschler 2016; Varma et al. 2013b). Several factors could explain the lack of efficiency, including tumor microenvironment composition variability, vascular network size, or angiogenic stimulus power (Li et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2016). Moreover, after intravenous administration, EPCs have to compete with the endogenous EPCs for incorporation into the target organ such as a tumor. This necessitates the suppression of endogenous EPCs. One of the strategies for improving EPCs tumor homing is to deliver these cells as an adjuvant to chemotherapy or radiation therapy because this can increase the migration and incorporation of EPCs into the tumor (Shaked et al. 2008). Furthermore, to improve EPCs delivery and homing-in capacity, they might be directly injected into the arterial circulation or infused at multiple time-points (Dudek 2010; Lin et al. 2020).

To successfully translate EPCs into cell-based therapy for routine patient application, it is critical to develop a technique to monitor transplanted cells' in vivo biodistribution after delivery. Among the in vivo cell-tracking and cell-fate determining techniques, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is one of the most powerful one because of its satisfactory resolution (Aicher et al. 2003; Hu et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2003). For MRI, the cells are labeled with MRI contrast agents that are not efficiently loaded into cells to avoid cytotoxicity (Crabbe et al. 2010; Hu et al. 2012). An alternative label is the paramagnetic agent IronQ, a complex of iron and quercetin, added to cell culture (Kantapan et al. 2017). It is not only traceable by MRI but also serve as cell proliferation inducer (Kantapan et al. 2017).

Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Preclinical Cancer Studies

Searching for clinical trials involving EPCs in cancer therapy, it is possible to find only five studies, all providing information regarding the characterization and quantification of CEPCs using biomarkers (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00393341; NCT00753610; NCT00325871; NCT00826683; NCT00067067). These studies are based on complete evidence about the emerging role of CEPCs in tumor angiogenesis as surrogate markers of antiangiogenic therapies efficacy.

It is widely known that neovascularization is a crucial cancer hallmark that facilitates cancer cells proliferation and progression. Blood vessels deliver oxygen and nutrients to cancer cells allowing them to grow further 2 mm in diameter. When tumor mass is over, in response to hypoxia and microenvironment signals, cancer cells overexpress molecules that promote vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and evasion. As discussed earlier, resident ECs and EPCs, which line all blood vessels or are present in the peripheral circulation respectively, or are recruited from bone marrow migrate toward an angiogenic cue, proliferate and form new vessels. EPCs' involvement in tumor vasculogenesis, contributing to the development of vascular network or vascular mural cells, and their homing-in to the site of tumor angiogenesis means that they have access to distant and, in most cases, undetectable micrometastases are the reasons behind the use of these cells in cancer therapy (Rajantie et al. 2004; Reyes et al. 2002).

In an experimental mouse orthotopic hepatoma model developed using tumor liver cell line HepG2, Zhu et al. (2012) demonstrated that intravenous tail-vein injection of BMMCs-derived EPCs preferentially migrated into the site of tumor development (liver) compared to the other organs. They also demonstrated that EPCs migrated to the tumor site in response to the cytokines (VEGFR, HIF-1 α , SDF1) cues secreted by the tumor cells. On the contrary, some researchers have reported failure of EPCs' chemotaxis in all kinds of tumors in response to the chemical cues emanating from the tumor cells (Annabi et al. 2004; De Palma et al. 2005; Larrivee et al. 2005; Lyden et al. 2001; Purhonen et al. 2008).

The orientated homing of EPCs in hepatomas as in other tumors enhances their possible clinical applications as delivery vehicles for suicide gene therapy, antiangiogenesis gene therapy, or tumor suppressor gene therapy. An effective EPCsbased strategy in cancer therapy is to genetically manipulate EPCs with the genes encoding for the enzymes that metabolize pro-drugs into pharmacologically active anticancer drug derivatives that would kill the surrounding cancer cells based on a spectator effect (bystander effect) (Freeman et al. 1993; Zweiri and Christmas 2020). The death of the donor EPCs and their ineffectiveness against rapidly growing or large tumor limit these suicide gene therapies after drug activation (Wei et al. 2007). During the last few years, the effectiveness of an exciting tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) anticancer activity has been reported (Lim et al. 2015; Yuan et al. 2018). TRAIL initiates the pro-apoptotic pathway by selectively binding with its death receptors-4 and -5 (DR4, DR5), while sparing the healthy cells unaffected (Forster et al. 2013; Kichev et al. 2014). Deng et al. (2018) engineered EPCs (isolated from PBMCs of neonatal Sprague-Dawley rats) with a lentivirus encoding for TRAIL for glioma treatment. TRAIL has a short half-life and also fail to cross through the blood-brain barrier and (Guo et al. 2011; Holoch and Griffith 2009). Thus, EPCs-based TRAIL gene delivery has overcome these problems (Choi et al. 2016; Redial et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2014). TRAIL-EPCs migrate to glioma cells SHG44 in the transwell assay and induce glioma cell apoptosis in a co-culture in vitro system by increasing the cleaved caspase-3 and -8 levels and poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) (Deng et al. 2018). To solve EPCs ineffectiveness due to their small number, an indirect strategy is to target tumor vasculature cells, which are critical for tumor growth and survival, instead of the whole enormous tumor cell mass. For instance, Dudek et al. (2007) have shown that genetically engineered EPCs overexpressing the antiangiogenic molecules endostatin significantly decreased tumor vascularization and growth after tail vein injection into NOD-SCID vein mice with subcutaneously implanted Lewis lung carcinoma cells. Laurenzana et al. (2014) developed a personalized therapy against melanoma using autologous MMP12engineered EPCs to treat both tumor cells and tumor vasculature.

MMP12 is a metalloelastase with a bivalent role: protective if expressed by macrophages and non-protective if expressed by tumor cells (Houghton et al. 2006; Margheri et al. 2011; Martin and Matrisian 2007). MMP12 application as an anticancer strategy is based on MMP12's enzyme activity to cleave urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPAR). The full-length isoform acts as a potent endothelial activator responsible for tumor progression. uPAR can be expressed by both endothelial and tumor cells (Andolfo et al. 2002). Laurenzana et al. (2014) demonstrated that EPCs transfected with a lentivirus encoding for MMP12 are recruited into melanoma mass under CXCR4/SDF1 system stimuli after intravenous delivery in experimental settings. Moreover, in vitro and in vivo, it was shown that MMP12engineered EPCs reduced melanoma progression, intra-tumoral angiogenesis, and lung metastasis in old CD-1 nude mice, degrading uPAR on tumor cells and ECs (Laurenzana et al. 2014). Noteworthy, these ex vivo MMP12-engineered EPCs lost the capacity to perform capillary morphogenesis in vitro and, at the same time, acquired the antitumor and antiangiogenetic activity. Thus they seem to show no side effects in vivo (default pro-angiogenic role) (Duda et al. 2000). EPCs-based therapy using genetically transduced cells was also applied in a preclinical study for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Wang et al. (2018) demonstrated that EPCs genetically modified with a lentiviral encoding for the metastatic gene suppressor KAI1/CD82 successfully inhibited lung metastasis in a nude mice bearing human nasopharyngeal carcinoma xenografts. However, there was little evidence regarding their potential to suppress the tumor cell graft.

A third EPCs-based strategy in cancer gene therapy is to accentuate the host immune system against cancer. For instance, Ojeifo et al. (2001) engineered EPCs to express IL-2 to stimulate natural killer and cytotoxic T cells in a syngeneic mouse model of melanoma lung metastases. They demonstrated that multiple intravenous injections abrogated the tumor metastases and prolonged animal survival. Muta et al. (2003) manipulated EPCs with a retrovirus vector carrying IL-12, showing that, in vivo, this gene therapy selectively delivers the protein to the tumor site in a xenograft rat model of breast cancer where its overexpression induced natural killer and cytotoxic T cells.

To overcome the controversies associated with the ESCs from human embryos, recently, iPSCs are considered the primary source of autologous or allogeneic pluripotent stem cells. They were explored as a source of human EPCs suitable as a delivery system of immune-stimulatory molecules to inhibit cancer. Purwanti et al. (2014) obtained CD133⁺/CD34⁺ EPCs from human iPSCs. They demonstrated that the cells expressed EPC-specific markers (i.e., CD31. VEGFR, cadherin) did not express hematopoietic cell markers (i.e., CD45), exhibited tubulogenesis in vitro, showed tumor tropism in an orthotropic lung metastasis mouse model for breast cancer, and did not enhance tumor growth and metastasis. Moreover, when these iPSCs-EPCs, engineered with a baculovirus encoding for the immune co-stimulatory molecule CD40 (with a pivotal role in the T-cell activation), were systemically injected in breast cancer-bearing mice, the animals showed prolonged survival (Purwanti et al. 2014). Noteworthy, in this study, an insect baculovirus was used instead of the conventional animal viral vectors. Insect virus bypasses the risk of virus replication and infection in the human host cells, and there is no host immune response (Bessis et al. 2004; Strauss et al. 2007). However, they are not adapted for long-term transgene expression.

A combination of suicide gene-targeting therapy with an antiangiogenic molecule was established in a human HepG2 liver cancer preclinical model to improve patients' treatment outcomes. Zhang et al. (2020) developed a gene therapy protocol with cytosine deaminase (CD) and endostatin gene transfected in EPCs obtained from fresh heart blood of adult BALB/c nude mice. Cytosine deaminase is one of the most widely investigated suicide gene/pro-drug that converts the nontoxic antifungal agent 5-fluorocytosine into the toxic chemotherapeutic agent 5-fluorouracil (5-FC) (Lawrence et al. 1998). The abovementioned preclinical model showed a total tumor volume reduction by MRI, angiogenesis inhibition visualized by VEGF- and CD31-positive immunostaining, decreased ECs, and increased tumor cell apoptosis assessed by TUNEL assay in mice transfected with CD/endostatin-EPCs plus 5-FC (intraperitoneally injected) compared to control treatment group (Zhang et al. 2020). CD/endostatin synergistic action could be translated in to clinical trials to target the hepatomas site via vein grafting.

Neoangiogenesis is mostly proven via CD31/VEGF immunohistochemistry, but this method is inadequate because it requires experimental animals to be sacrificed or human biopsies taken for immunohistological studies renders follow-up is impossible. Recently, studies are focused on advanced, noninvasive, and real-time molecular imaging methods as tracking strategies to monitor transplanted EPCs-based drug vectors for antitumor therapy (Arbab et al. 2006). EPCs can be applied for noninvasive MRI investigation, as demonstrated by Chen et al. (2014a). They have approximately 100% of human PBMCs-derived EPCs efficiently labeled with N-alkyl–polyethylenimine 2 kDa (PEI2k)-stabilized superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles. Moreover, functional assay outputs such as proliferation, migration, and tubulogenesis rates and incorporation into tumor neovasculature in vivo results have shown that these magnetic-labeled EPCs have the same activity as unlabeled ones. Once labeled, EPCs were intravenously or subcutaneously injected in a lung carcinoma xenograft model and were effectively detected by seven-tesla micro-MRI at the tumor site. The results showed excellent biocompatibility and magnetic resonance sensitivity even at a small alkyl-PEI2k/SPIO concentration than other contrast agents (Chen et al. 2014a). An EPC-based theranostic method has also been also proposed using the abovementioned MMP12-engineered EPCs radiolabeled with ¹¹¹In 8-oxyquinoline (oxine) for all the tumors displaying uPAR-dependent cancer progression (Laurenzana et al. 2014).

In glioma, the herpes simplex virus TK (HSV-TK)/ganciclovir (GCV) gene therapy is a suicide gene therapy widely used in both experimental and clinical trials thanks to its potent bystander effect (Zhang et al. 2010). A combination of HSV-TK suicide gene therapy with real-time molecular imaging has been reported for glioblastoma. Varma et al. (2013a) employed human cord blood-derived EPCs as a delivery vehicle for replication-competent adenovirus AD5 carrying both suicide genes, yeast CD (yCD) and mutant HSV-TK mutTK (SR39), and reporter gene, human sodium iodide symporter (hNIS) for I-131 (radioiodine) for diagnostic MRI imaging and single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT). Their results indicated that AD5-yCD-mutTK-EPCs reached the glioma mass upon intra-tumor injection. Furthermore, double staining experiments demonstrated that both EPCs $(hNIS^+/vWf^+)$ and tumor cells $(hNIS^+/EGFR^+)$ expressed the transgenes thanks to the transfected EPCs' ability to deliver the vectors in the surrounding tumor cells (Varma et al. 2013a). Noteworthy, this study exploited intra-tumor injection instead of the prevalent systemic injection. The intra-tumor injection is advantageous to alleviate the virus's entry into circulation and curtail side effects (Lohr et al. 2001). Moreover, a replication-deficient virus is used as a transgenes delivery system to improve tumor cell death by their self-replication properties and infectivity of the surrounding cells in the vicinity (Barton et al. 2011; Barton et al. 2003). The reporter gene system with hNIS also overcame the short monitoring time (\sim 7 days) with In-111Oxine labeling. hNISm allows repeated detection of the injected cells for extended periods (Barton et al. 2003; Varma et al. 2013a).

EPCs have also been proposed as the best vehicle to deliver therapeutic genes and imaging probe targeting glioma stem-like cells (GSCs) (Chen et al. 2014b). Glioma is a vascular-rich tumor with high resistance to antiangiogenic therapy because tumor cells can pass from the vascular phase of growth to the nonvascular one and vice versa. The mechanisms by which glioma achieve neovascularization are vascular co-option, angiogenesis, vasculogenesis, vascular mimicry, and GSCs-ECs transdifferentiation. GSCs-ECs transdifferentiation is implicated in the resistance against anti-VEGF therapy which currently in practice (Baisiwala et al. 2019;

Yan et al. 2017). Using in situ C6 glioma rat model, Chen et al. (2014b) showed that exogenous spleen-derived EPCs labeled with USPIO (ultra-small SPIO) integrate into the vessels containing glioma-derived ECs without inducing any promoting effect of GSCs transdifferentiation.

Despite these promising results, in vivo MRI with iron-nanoparticles presents some inconveniences: (i) the signal is lost over time due to the contrast agent biodegradation or dilution following cell division; (ii) time of EPC migration to the tumor site depends on multiple factors, such as tumor location and size, and chemotaxis factors expression levels; (iii) it is challenging to monitor real-time EPCs' migration into blood circulation; and (iv) imaging devices may lead to different results due to its sensitivity and resolution.

To enhance in vitro expanded EPCs translation from preclinical studies to clinical trials, the in vivo safety issues should be addressed because adverse effects and responses caused by EPCs therapy have been reported, such as collapse, sepsis, breast cancer development, and even death (Granton et al. 2015). In this context, Lee et al. (2019) proposed EPCs transplantation in dogs as a possible safety test of deleterious effects that should be conducted before EPCs application in human clinical trials. The choice of dogs lies in their physiological similarity with humans. They performed physical and laboratory examinations of human EPCs isolated from healthy donor PBMCs and transplanted intravenously into dogs. This in vivo safety assessment could be useful to test the minimal number of EPCs for transplantation because a high number is associated with pulmonary emboli or infarctions and affect immune responses (Beggs et al. 2006; Grigg et al. 1996; Prockop and Olson 2007).

Systemic delivery of EPCs gene therapy to primary tumors and metastases is the most attractive feature of using EPCs. Nevertheless, it remains to understand what factors permit EPCs persistence during hypoxia, migration, and proliferation to angiogenic sites, and if they are detained within the blood vessel wall or migrate further outside, and if they participate to vessel maturation.

Side Effects and Potential Risks of EPCs Cell Therapy

Given their advantages, EPCs are anticipated to play a pivotal role in cancer theranostics, for both therapy and biomarkers in future. However, various issues relevant to their use must be resolved before routine clinical use. New optimized stem cell differentiation protocols and animal models must be explored to better understand the molecular events involved in EPCs generation and differentiation. How to isolate and unequivocally identify the phenotype and functionality of EPCs remains problematic. The standardization of cell culture conditions, doses, and administration schedules will make it easier to understand different studies' results to interpret their data for future applications (Morales-Cruz et al. 2019).

EPCs are rare in both peripheral blood (0.01%) and bone marrow (0.05%). This necessitates their in vitro expansion to get them in large number for in vivo use. However, in vitro culture may alter their immunologic characteristics and tumorigenic potential. For example, during in vitro expansion, EPCs are exposed to

exogenous culture conditions different from physiological niches' microenvironment wherein stem cell proliferation and differentiation are under maintained under strict control. Consequently, EPCs could change their genome and phenotype that could render them tumorigenic thus contributing to tumor initiation. On the same note, sub-culturing will reduce stemness at every passage. This means that the development of new EPCs isolation methods is required to improve their yield as well as quality.

EPCs have a natural tropism for the sites of vascular injury. To avoid systemically adverse effects when used as delivery vehicles, advances in nanotechnology and tissue engineering are required to improve EPCs' homing-in and incorporation to the site of interest. When EPCs are employed to target drugs or genes to tumor cells, they could cause drug toxicity or drug resistance. For instance, after systemic injection, a small amount of them will reach the tumor site because most of them will be trapped in the lung, liver, or lymph nodes, causing therapeutic ineffectiveness and drug resistance (Brooks et al. 2018).

Another side effect could be a viral infection when viral carriers are used to genetically engineer EPCs (Goswami et al. 2019). Viral vectors currently employed in patient's treatment are classified as non-integrating or stable host-genome integrating vectors. The former include adenovirus and adenoassociated virus vectors and are primarily used for in vivo gene delivery in patients. Adenovirus can accommodate a large cDNA but are highly immunogenic. In contrast, adeno-associated viruses can only accommodate a smaller cDNA and are less immunogenic but retained for a longer time in the non-dividing cells. The last are retroviruses and lentiviruses. Both can harbor small cDNAs such as adeno-associated viruses, but unlike these, they allow for the prolonged-expression of the therapeutic gene, although there is a risk of insertional mutagenesis.

The evaluation of EPCs source for transplantation is essential. Allogeneic or autologous (via iPSCs technology) stem cell transplantation may provoke severe host immune responses or autoimmunity, respectively (Li et al. 2016b). Hematologic and lymphoid cancers are commonly treated by allogeneic HSC transplantation, but often patients incurred in Graft-versus-Host Disease (GVHD), acute or chronic, due to the induction of a complex immunological reaction of the donor's immunocompetent cells toward the recipient's tissues and organs. Different studies confirmed significantly improved outcomes, with a reduced incidence of chronic GVHD, but not acute one, after umbilical cord blood transplantation compared to allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (Chen et al. 2017; Narimatsu et al. 2008).

It is necessary to consider the modulation of the host microenvironment as well. Cells and molecules of the microenvironment during hypoxia or increased inflammation have adverse effects on EPCs survival. For example, given the complexity and immunosuppressive properties of the tumor microenvironment, stem cell transplant combined with other therapies, such as immune checkpoint inhibitors, may better eliminate cancer and its recurrence. For example, Hu et al. engineered the surface of HSCs with the checkpoint inhibitor programmed death-1 (PD-1) antibodies-decorated platelets for the treatment of recurrent leukemia in mice (Hu et al. 2018).

A general recommendation is to pay attention when choosing EPCs as a therapy in oncology: it must be considered that mobilization and integration in tumor blood vessels depend on tumor type, stage, and treatment (Farnsworth et al. 2014). For example, cell therapies hold much more promise for treating diseases in which tissue can be ablated, such as bone marrow or skin cancers that can be easily removed with drugs or surgically, respectively. These procedures favor transplanted cells' engraftment because they will not have to compete with diseased resident cells. In more morphological complex tissues such as the brain, where massive ablation of diseased tissue is impossible, engraftment of transplanted cells is lower, and consequently, therapeutic efficacy is reduced.

Conclusion and Future Perspective

The chapter explores the underlying molecular mechanisms and potential applications of EPCs in cancer therapy. The chapter also discusses the protocols to obtain EPCs in a significant amount and their modification, administrated, besides the possible undesired effects and potential risks for cancer patients.

Despite that cancer is one of the leading public health problems, there are still no adequate and exhaustive therapeutic and diagnostic protocols available due to the incomplete knowledge of cancer cell biology. Among the various approaches for cancer theranostics, manipulated-stem cell transplant, alone or as an adjuvant for other therapies, could be a new strategy to treat cancer patients. Stem cells reside in almost all organs and tissues in the body, with the potential for self-renewal, migration, and differentiation that justifies their use in antitumor therapy. Therefore, studying stem cells for tissue engineering and theranostic resolutions is exciting. The existing results concerning stem cell therapy for cancer are highly encouraging. ESCs and iPSCs are the most powerful ones, but the diversity in their applications is still limited due to the possible risks related to viral vectors and ethics issues. EPCs are one of the autologous stem cell types for human use as they lack MHC-I expression, resistant to NK-mediated cytolysis, and primarily involved in blood vessel formation besides ease of availability and isolated and expanded ex vivo/ in vivo, efficiently transduced to carry a therapeutic payload and home-in to the tumor and its vasculature. Hence, they are excellent cellular vehicles for systemic and local cancer therapy in general and angiogenic cancer in particular, as they primarily depend on blood vessels for growth and metastasis. It would be interesting to interfere with tumor vascularization by restoring a balance between pro- and antiangiogenic signaling and ensure direct access to drug delivery at the tumor site (Collet et al. 2016). Therefore, EPCs can be manipulated to selectively deliver the therapeutic molecules to the cancer cells while sparing the healthy cells. Given their biocompatibility and sensitivity when labeled, EPCs may serve as near-ideal vasculature tracker for diagnostic imaging.

Currently, only CEPCs are in clinical trials as surrogate biomarkers of antiangiogenic therapy. However, to validate the diagnostic value of CEPCs, the selection criteria of both cancer patients and healthy controls should be stricter due to the

EPCs versus other	stem/progenitor cells in canc	er therapy
	Advantages	Disadvantages
Isolation	Less complicated	Low amount
Ex vivo expansion	Can generate enough cells for therapy	Massive tests must be performed to identify bona fide EPCs
Transduction	Efficient	
Tropism	Home to tumor proper and tumor vasculature	Only a minority of systemically administrated EPCs incorporate into tumor vessels
Drug	Protect the drug from inactivation	Systemically exposure
Immunological tolerance	Autologous EPCs not affected	

Table 3 Summary of EPCs' advantages and disadvantages

involvement of numerous confounding factors, that is, background cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus, and lifestyles, which include smoking status and physical exercise, among others (Mayr et al. 2011).

Despite success in preclinical experimental animal models and enormous possi-

bilities yet to be explored, the cell availability in small number, low-quality preparations, poor retention, low survival rate, and engraftment after transplantation still hamper EPC's routine clinical application (Sukmawati and Tanaka 2015; Terrovitis et al. 2010). Besides, there are no unique identifying markers for EPCs, and functional characterization of the rare putative EPC population-based on FACS phenotypes is challenging to realize for a large dataset. Hence, a consensus on the exact characterization and biology of EPCs is required to create a standardized, generally accepted methodology to develop the use of EPCs in clinical settings for regenerative approaches (Sabbah et al. 2019). Another drawback is the optimization of culturing protocols containing media without animals-derived supplements. Moreover, the establishment of stem cell-based anticancer therapies is slowed down by the lack of adequate financial support, the existence of ethical and political issues, and the easy authorization of new therapeutic protocols for which the efficacy has not been adequately tested. The current gap between public expectancy and actual progress of stem cell-based therapies in the clinical threatens regenerative medicine's social license to operate (Cossu et al. 2018). A possible step forward is to develop a combinatorial approach on several fronts (tumor vasculature, tumor cell tumor microenvironment, immune system) to achieve a better outcome. In conclution, EPCs translation from bench to antitumor therapy and diagnostic imag-

ing depends on a more in-depth assessment (Table 3).

References

- Abd El Aziz MT, Abd El Nabi EA, Abd El Hamid M et al (2015) Endothelial progenitor cells regenerate infracted myocardium with neovascularisation development. J Adv Res 6:133–144
- Ai J, Sun JH, Wan T et al (2018) Generation of an anti-angiogenic endothelial progenitor cell line via endostatin gene transfer. Mol Med Rep 17:5814–5820

- Aicher A, Brenner W, Zuhayra M et al (2003) Assessment of the tissue distribution of transplanted human endothelial progenitor cells by radioactive labeling. Circulation 107:2134–2139
- Andolfo A, English WR, Resnati M et al (2002) Metalloproteases cleave the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in the D1-D2 linker region and expose epitopes not present in the intact soluble receptor. Thromb Haemost 88:298–306
- Annabi B, Naud E, Lee YT et al (2004) Vascular progenitors derived from murine bone marrow stromal cells are regulated by fibroblast growth factor and are avidly recruited by vascularizing tumors. J Cell Biochem 91:1146–1158
- Annese T, Tamma R, Ruggieri S et al (2019) Erythropoietin in tumor angiogenesis. Exp Cell Res 374:266–273
- Arbab AS, Pandit SD, Anderson SA et al (2006) Magnetic resonance imaging and confocal microscopy studies of magnetically labeled endothelial progenitor cells trafficking to sites of tumor angiogenesis. Stem Cells 24:671–678
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A et al (1997) Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 275:964–967
- Asahara T, Masuda H, Takahashi T et al (1999a) Bone marrow origin of endothelial progenitor cells responsible for postnatal vasculogenesis in physiological and pathological neovascularization. Circ Res 85:221–228
- Asahara T, Takahashi T, Masuda H et al (1999b) VEGF contributes to postnatal neovascularization by mobilizing bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. EMBO J 18:3964–3972
- Asahara T, Kawamoto A, Masuda H (2011) Concise review: circulating endothelial progenitor cells for vascular medicine. Stem Cells 29:1650–1655
- Au P, Daheron LM, Duda DG et al (2008) Differential in vivo potential of endothelial progenitor cells from human umbilical cord blood and adult peripheral blood to form functional longlasting vessels. Blood 111:1302–1305
- Baisiwala S, Auffinger B, Caragher SP et al (2019) Chemotherapeutic stress induces transdifferentiation of glioblastoma cells to endothelial cells and promotes vascular mimicry. Stem Cells Int 2019:6107456
- Banno K, Yoder MC (2019) Endothelial stem and progenitor cells for regenerative medicine. Curr Stem Cell Rep 5:101–108
- Barnham KJ, Masters CL, Bush AI (2004) Neurodegenerative diseases and oxidative stress. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:205–214
- Barton KN, Tyson D, Stricker H et al (2003) GENIS: gene expression of sodium iodide symporter for non-invasive imaging of gene therapy vectors and quantification of gene expression in vivo. Mol Ther 8:508–518
- Barton KN, Stricker H, Elshaikh MA et al (2011) Feasibility of adenovirus-mediated hNIS gene transfer and 131I radioiodine therapy as a definitive treatment for localized prostate cancer. Mol Ther 19:1353–1359
- Beggs KJ, Lyubimov A, Borneman JN et al (2006) Immunologic consequences of multiple, high-dose administration of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells to baboons. Cell Transplant 15:711–721
- Bertolini F, Paul S, Mancuso P et al (2003) Maximum tolerable dose and low-dose metronomic chemotherapy have opposite effects on the mobilization and viability of circulating endothelial progenitor cells. Cancer Res 63:4342–4346
- Bessis N, GarciaCozar FJ, Boissier MC (2004) Immune responses to gene therapy vectors: influence on vector function and effector mechanisms. Gene Ther 11(Suppl 1):S10–S17
- Bhise NS, Shmueli RB, Sunshine JC et al (2011) Drug delivery strategies for therapeutic angiogenesis and anti-angiogenesis. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 8:485–504
- Bianconi D, Herac M, Posch F et al (2020) Microvascular density assessed by CD31 predicts clinical benefit upon bevacizumab treatment in metastatic colorectal cancer: results of the PassionATE study, a translational prospective Phase II study of capecitabine and irinotecan plus bevacizumab followed by capecitabine and oxaliplatin plus bevacizumab or the reverse sequence in patients in mCRC. Ther Adv Med Oncol 12:1758835920928635
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I et al (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 68: 394–424

- Brooks A, Futrega K, Liang X et al (2018) Concise review: quantitative detection and modeling the in vivo kinetics of therapeutic mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 7:78–86
- Chen C, Yu H, Xia R et al (2014a) Magnetic resonance tracking of endothelial progenitor cells labeled with alkyl-polyethylenimine 2 kDa/superparamagnetic iron oxide in a mouse lung carcinoma xenograft model. Mol Imaging 13
- Chen X, Fang J, Wang S et al (2014b) A new mosaic pattern in glioma vascularization: exogenous endothelial progenitor cells integrating into the vessels containing tumor-derived endothelial cells. Oncotarget 5:1955–1968
- Chen YB, Wang T, Hemmer MT et al (2017) GvHD after umbilical cord blood transplantation for acute leukemia: an analysis of risk factors and effect on outcomes. Bone Marrow Transplant 52: 400–408
- Cherqui S, Kurian SM, Schussler O et al (2006) Isolation and angiogenesis by endothelial progenitors in the fetal liver. Stem Cells 24:44–54
- Choi SA, Yun JW, Joo KM et al (2016) Preclinical biosafety evaluation of genetically modified human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells for clinical applications to brainstem glioma. Stem Cells Dev 25:897–908
- Chong MS, Ng WK, Chan JK (2016) Concise review: endothelial progenitor cells in regenerative medicine: applications and challenges. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:530–538
- Chopra H, Hung MK, Kwong DL et al (2018) Insights into endothelial progenitor cells: origin, classification, potentials, and prospects. Stem Cells Int 2018:9847015
- Chu DT, Nguyen TT, Tien NLB et al (2020) Recent progress of stem cell therapy in cancer treatment: molecular mechanisms and potential applications. Cell 9:563
- Clement AM, Nguyen MD, Roberts EA et al (2003) Wild-type nonneuronal cells extend survival of SOD1 mutant motor neurons in ALS mice. Science 302:113–117
- Collet G, Szade K, Nowak W et al (2016) Endothelial precursor cell-based therapy to target the pathologic angiogenesis and compensate tumor hypoxia. Cancer Lett 370:345–357
- Crabbe A, Vandeputte C, Dresselaers T et al (2010) Effects of MRI contrast agents on the stem cell phenotype. Cell Transplant 19:919–936
- De Palma M, Venneri MA, Galli R et al (2005) Tie2 identifies a hematopoietic lineage of pro-angiogenic monocytes required for tumor vessel formation and a mesenchymal population of pericyte progenitors. Cancer Cell 8:211–226
- Debatin KM, Wei J, Beltinger C (2008) Endothelial progenitor cells for cancer gene therapy. Gene Ther 15:780–786
- Deng X, Zhao W, Song L et al (2018) Pro-apoptotic effect of TRAIL-transfected endothelial progenitor cells on glioma cells. Oncol Lett 15:5004–5012
- Dessels C, Potgieter M, Pepper MS (2016) Making the switch: alternatives to fetal bovine serum for adipose-derived stromal cell expansion. Front Cell Dev Biol 4:115
- Deutsch MA, Brunner S, Grabmaier U et al (2020) Cardioprotective potential of human endothelialcolony forming cells from diabetic and nondiabetic donors. Cell 9
- Di Pietro N, Baldassarre MPA, Cichelli A et al (2020) Role of polyphenols and carotenoids in endothelial dysfunction: an overview from classic to innovative biomarkers. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2020:6381380
- Dillekas H, Rogers MS, Straume O (2019) Are 90% of deaths from cancer caused by metastases? Cancer Med 8:5574–5576
- Dimmeler S, Aicher A, Vasa M et al (2001) HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins) increase endothelial progenitor cells via the PI 3-kinase/Akt pathway. J Clin Invest 108:391–397
- Dong F, Ha XQ (2010) Effect of endothelial progenitor cells in neovascularization and their application in tumor therapy. Chin Med J 123:2454–2460
- Duda DG, Sunamura M, Lozonschi L et al (2000) Direct in vitro evidence and in vivo analysis of the anti-angiogenesis effects of interleukin 12. Cancer Res 60:1111–1116
- Dudek AZ (2010) Endothelial lineage cell as a vehicle for systemic delivery of cancer gene therapy. Transl Res 156:136–146

- Dudek AZ, Bodempudi V, Welsh BW et al (2007) Systemic inhibition of tumour angiogenesis by endothelial cell-based gene therapy. Br J Cancer 97:513–522
- Farnsworth RH, Lackmann M, Achen MG et al (2014) Vascular remodeling in cancer. Oncogene 33:3496–3505
- Forster A, Falcone FH, Gibbs BF et al (2013) Anti-Fas/CD95 and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) differentially regulate apoptosis in normal and neoplastic human basophils. Leuk Lymphoma 54:835–842
- Freeman SM, Abboud CN, Whartenby KA et al (1993) The "bystander effect": tumor regression when a fraction of the tumor mass is genetically modified. Cancer Res 53:5274–5283
- Furstenberger G, von Moos R, Lucas R et al (2006) Circulating endothelial cells and angiogenic serum factors during neoadjuvant chemotherapy of primary breast cancer. Br J Cancer 94:524–531
- Galli R, Borello U, Gritti A et al (2000) Skeletal myogenic potential of human and mouse neural stem cells. Nat Neurosci 3:986–991
- Galli R, Gritti A, Bonfanti L et al (2003) Neural stem cells: an overview. Circ Res 92:598-608
- Gao D, Nolan DJ, Mellick AS et al (2008) Endothelial progenitor cells control the angiogenic switch in mouse lung metastasis. Science 319:195–198
- Ge YZ, Wu R, Lu TZ et al (2015) Circulating endothelial progenitor cell: a promising biomarker in clinical oncology. Med Oncol 32:332
- George AL, Bangalore-Prakash P, Rajoria S et al (2011) Endothelial progenitor cell biology in disease and tissue regeneration. J Hematol Oncol 4:24
- Goritz C, Frisen J (2012) Neural stem cells and neurogenesis in the adult. Cell Stem Cell 10: 657–659
- Goswami R, Subramanian G, Silayeva L et al (2019) Gene therapy leaves a vicious cycle. Front Oncol 9:297
- Granton J, Langleben D, Kutryk MB et al (2015) Endothelial NO-synthase gene-enhanced progenitor cell therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension: the PHACeT trial. Circ Res 117:645–654
- Grigg A, Gibson R, Bardy P et al (1996) Acute portal vein thrombosis after autologous stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 18:949–953
- Guo L, Fan L, Pang Z et al (2011) TRAIL and doxorubicin combination enhances anti-glioblastoma effect based on passive tumor targeting of liposomes. J Control Release 154:93–102
- Guo XB, Deng X, Wei Y (2017) Homing of cultured endothelial progenitor cells and their effect on traumatic brain injury in rat model. Sci Rep 7:4164
- Gupta R, Tongers J, Losordo DW (2009) Human studies of angiogenic gene therapy. Circ Res 105: 724–736
- Hagiwara H, Higashibata A, Ogawa S et al (2018) Effectiveness of endothelial progenitor cell culture under microgravity for improved angiogenic potential. Sci Rep 8:14239
- Haider KH, Aziz S, Al-Reshidi MA (2017) Endothelial progenitor cells for cellular angiogenesis and repair: lessons learned from experimental animal models. Regen Med 12:969–982
- Holoch PA, Griffith TS (2009) TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL): a new path to anticancer therapies. Eur J Pharmacol 625:63–72
- Houghton AM, Grisolano JL, Baumann ML et al (2006) Macrophage elastase (matrix metalloproteinase-12) suppresses growth of lung metastases. Cancer Res 66:6149–6155
- Hu SL, Lu PG, Zhang LJ et al (2012) In vivo magnetic resonance imaging tracking of SPIO-labeled human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biochem 113:1005–1012
- Hu Q, Sun W, Wang J et al (2018) Conjugation of haematopoietic stem cells and platelets decorated with anti-PD-1 antibodies augments anti-leukaemia efficacy. Nat Biomed Eng 2:831–840
- Huang PH, Chen YH, Tsai HY et al (2010) Intake of red wine increases the number and functional capacity of circulating endothelial progenitor cells by enhancing nitric oxide bioavailability. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:869–877
- Huang XT, Zhang YQ, Li SJ et al (2013) Intracerebroventricular transplantation of ex vivo expanded endothelial colony-forming cells restores blood-brain barrier integrity and promotes angiogenesis of mice with traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 30:2080–2088

- Huang PH, Chen JW, Lin SJ (2014) Effects of cardiovascular risk factors on endothelial progenitor cell. Acta Cardiol Sin 30:375–381
- Hur J, Yoon CH, Kim HS et al (2004) Characterization of two types of endothelial progenitor cells and their different contributions to neovasculogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24: 288–293
- Ingram DA, Mead LE, Moore DB et al (2005) Vessel wall-derived endothelial cells rapidly proliferate because they contain a complete hierarchy of endothelial progenitor cells. Blood 105:2783–2786
- Jackson KA, Majka SM, Wang H et al (2001) Regeneration of ischemic cardiac muscle and vascular endothelium by adult stem cells. J Clin Invest 107:1395–1402
- Janic B, Arbab AS (2010) The role and therapeutic potential of endothelial progenitor cells in tumor neovascularization. ScientificWorldJournal 10:1088–1099
- Kado M, Tanaka R, Arita K et al (2018) Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells enriched in endothelial progenitor cells via quality and quantity controlled culture accelerate vascularization and wound healing in a porcine wound model. Cell Transplant 27:1068–1079
- Kalka C, Masuda H, Takahashi T et al (2000) Transplantation of ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:3422–3427
- Kantapan J, Dejphirattanamongkhol S, Daowtak K et al (2017) Ex vivo expansion of EPCs derived from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by Iron-Quercetin complex. Biomed Res 28: 2730–2737
- Kaplan RN, Riba RD, Zacharoulis S et al (2005) VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. Nature 438:820–827
- Kaur I, Rawal P, Rohilla S et al (2018) Endothelial progenitor cells from aged subjects display decreased expression of sirtuin 1, angiogenic functions, and increased senescence. Cell Biol Int 42:1212–1220
- Kawamoto A, Gwon HC, Iwaguro H et al (2001) Therapeutic potential of ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cells for myocardial ischemia. Circulation 103:634–637
- Khakoo AY, Finkel T (2005) Endothelial progenitor cells. Annu Rev Med 56:79-101
- Khalil AS, Xie AW, Johnson HJ et al (2020) Sustained release and protein stabilization reduce the growth factor dosage required for human pluripotent stem cell expansion. Biomaterials 248:120007
- Kichev A, Rousset CI, Baburamani AA et al (2014) Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) signaling and cell death in the immature central nervous system after hypoxia-ischemia and inflammation. J Biol Chem 289:9430–9439
- Koshikawa M, Shimodaira S, Yoshioka T et al (2006) Therapeutic angiogenesis by bone marrow implantation for critical hand ischemia in patients with peripheral arterial disease: a pilot study. Curr Med Res Opin 22:793–798
- Kudo FA, Nishibe T, Nishibe M et al (2003) Autologous transplantation of peripheral blood endothelial progenitor cells (CD34+) for therapeutic angiogenesis in patients with critical limb ischemia. Int Angiol 22:344–348
- Kukumberg M, Zaw AM, Wong DHC et al (2020) Characterization and functional assessment of endothelial progenitor cells in ischemic stroke patients. Stem Cell Rev Rep
- Lara-Hernandez R, Lozano-Vilardell P, Blanes P et al (2010) Safety and efficacy of therapeutic angiogenesis as a novel treatment in patients with critical limb ischemia. Ann Vasc Surg 24: 287–294
- Larrivee B, Niessen K, Pollet I et al (2005) Minimal contribution of marrow-derived endothelial precursors to tumor vasculature. J Immunol 175:2890–2899
- Laurenzana A, Biagioni A, D'Alessio S et al (2014) Melanoma cell therapy: endothelial progenitor cells as shuttle of the MMP12 uPAR-degrading enzyme. Oncotarget 5:3711–3727
- Lawrence TS, Rehemtulla A, Ng EY et al (1998) Preferential cytotoxicity of cells transduced with cytosine deaminase compared to bystander cells after treatment with 5-flucytosine. Cancer Res 58:2588–2593

- Lee SH, Ra JC, Oh HJ et al (2019) Clinical assessment of intravenous endothelial progenitor cell transplantation in dogs. Cell Transplant 28:943–954
- Leibacher J, Henschler R (2016) Biodistribution, migration and homing of systemically applied mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:7
- Li J, Imitola J, Snyder EY et al (2006) Neural stem cells rescue nervous purkinje neurons by restoring molecular homeostasis of tissue plasminogen activator and downstream targets. J Neurosci 26:7839–7848
- Li A, Cheng XJ, Moro A et al (2011) CXCR2-dependent endothelial progenitor cell mobilization in pancreatic cancer growth. Transl Oncol 4:20–28
- Li R, Li XM, Chen JR (2016a) Clinical efficacy and safety of autologous stem cell transplantation for patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Ther Clin Risk Manag 12: 1171–1189
- Li Z, Rubinstein SM, Thota R et al (2016b) Immune-mediated complications after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 22:1368–1375
- Li B, Nie Z, Zhang D et al (2018a) Roles of circulating endothelial progenitor cells and endothelial cells in gastric carcinoma. Oncol Lett 15:324–330
- Li Y, Chang S, Li W et al (2018b) excl12-engineered endothelial progenitor cells enhance neurogenesis and angiogenesis after ischemic brain injury in mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:139
- Lim B, Allen JE, Prabhu VV et al (2015) Targeting TRAIL in the treatment of cancer: new developments. Expert Opin Ther Targets 19:1171–1185
- Lin KC, Chai HT, Chen KH et al (2020) Intra-carotid arterial transfusion of circulatory-derived autologous endothelial progenitor cells in rodent after ischemic stroke-evaluating the impact of therapeutic time points on prognostic outcomes. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:219
- Liotta F, Annunziato F, Castellani S et al (2018) Therapeutic efficacy of autologous non-mobilized enriched circulating endothelial progenitors in patients with critical limb ischemia- the SCELTA trial. Circ J 82:1688–1698
- Liu YP, Seckin H, Izci Y et al (2009) Neuroprotective effects of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human embryonic stem cells in transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29:780–791
- Lohr F, Huang Q, Hu K et al (2001) Systemic vector leakage and transgene expression by intratumorally injected recombinant adenovirus vectors. Clin Cancer Res 7:3625–3628
- Los MJ, Skubis A, Ghavami S (2019) Chapter 2 Stem cells. In: Stem cells and biomaterials for regenerative medicine, pp 5–16
- Lu Y, Gong Y, Lian J et al (2014) Expansion of endothelial progenitor cells in high density dot culture of rat bone marrow cells. PLoS One 9:e107127
- Lyden D, Hattori K, Dias S et al (2001) Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. Nat Med 7: 1194–1201
- Maeda R, Ishii G, Ito M et al (2012) Number of circulating endothelial progenitor cells and intratumoral microvessel density in non-small cell lung cancer patients: differences in angiogenic status between adenocarcinoma histologic subtypes. J Thorac Oncol 7:503–511
- Margheri F, Chilla A, Laurenzana A et al (2011) Endothelial progenitor cell-dependent angiogenesis requires localization of the full-length form of uPAR in caveolae. Blood 118:3743–3755
- Martin MD, Matrisian LM (2007) The other side of MMPs: protective roles in tumor progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev 26:717–724
- Masuda H, Asahara T (2003) Post-natal endothelial progenitor cells for neovascularization in tissue regeneration. Cardiovasc Res 58:390–398
- Masuda H, Iwasaki H, Kawamoto A et al (2012) Development of serum-free quality and quantity control culture of colony-forming endothelial progenitor cell for vasculogenesis. Stem Cells Transl Med 1:160–171
- Mayr M, Niederseer D, Niebauer J (2011) From bench to bedside: what physicians need to know about endothelial progenitor cells. Am J Med 124:489–497

- Medina RJ, O'Neill CL, Sweeney M et al (2010) Molecular analysis of endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) subtypes reveals two distinct cell populations with different identities. BMC Med Genet 3:18
- Medina RJ, O'Neill CL, O'Doherty TM et al (2012) Endothelial progenitors as tools to study vascular disease. Stem Cells Int 2012:346735
- Medina RJ, Barber CL, Sabatier F et al (2017) Endothelial progenitors: a consensus statement on nomenclature. Stem Cells Transl Med 6:1316–1320
- Merckx G, Tay H, Lo Monaco M et al (2020) Chorioallantoic membrane assay as model for angiogenesis in tissue engineering: focus on stem cells. Tissue Eng Part B Rev
- Mezey E, Chandross KJ, Harta G et al (2000) Turning blood into brain: cells bearing neuronal antigens generated in vivo from bone marrow. Science 290:1779–1782
- Morales-Cruz M, Delgado Y, Castillo B et al (2019) Smart targeting to improve cancer therapeutics. Drug Des Devel Ther 13:3753–3772
- Moubarik C, Guillet B, Youssef B et al (2011) Transplanted late outgrowth endothelial progenitor cells as cell therapy product for stroke. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7:208–220
- Murohara T (2001) Therapeutic vasculogenesis using human cord blood-derived endothelial progenitors. Trends Cardiovasc Med 11:303–307
- Murohara T, Ikeda H, Duan J et al (2000) Transplanted cord blood-derived endothelial precursor cells augment postnatal neovascularization. J Clin Invest 105:1527–1536
- Muta M, Matsumoto G, Hiruma K et al (2003) Study of cancer gene therapy using IL-12-secreting endothelial progenitor cells in a rat solid tumor model. Oncol Rep 10:1765–1769
- Nakamura K, Ito Y, Kawano Y et al (2004) Antitumor effect of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells in a rat glioma model. Gene Ther 11:1155–1164
- Narimatsu H, Miyakoshi S, Yamaguchi T et al (2008) Chronic graft-versus-host disease following umbilical cord blood transplantation: retrospective survey involving 1072 patients in Japan. Blood 112:2579–2582
- NCI (2020) Types of cancer treatment (2020). National Cancer Institute
- Nico B, Benagiano V, Mangieri D et al (2008) Evaluation of microvascular density in tumors: pro and contra. Histol Histopathol 23:601–607
- Nolan DJ, Ciarrocchi A, Mellick AS et al (2007) Bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells are a major determinant of nascent tumor neovascularization. Genes Dev 21:1546–1558
- Nowak K, Rafat N, Belle S et al (2010) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are increased in human lung cancer and correlate with stage of disease. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 37:758–763
- Ojeifo JO, Lee HR, Rezza P et al (2001) Endothelial cell-based systemic gene therapy of metastatic melanoma. Cancer Gene Ther 8:636–648
- Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S et al (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410:701–705
- Osawa M, Hanada K, Hamada H et al (1996) Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34-low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. Science 273:242–245
- Ourednik J, Ourednik V, Lynch WP et al (2002) Neural stem cells display an inherent mechanism for rescuing dysfunctional neurons. Nat Biotechnol 20:1103–1110
- Pearson JD (2010) Endothelial progenitor cells an evolving story. Microvasc Res 79:162-168
- Peichev M, Naiyer AJ, Pereira D et al (2000) Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating human CD34(+) cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors. Blood 95:952–958
- Pluchino S, Quattrini A, Brambilla E et al (2003) Injection of adult neurospheres induces recovery in a chronic model of multiple sclerosis. Nature 422:688–694
- Price FD, Kuroda K, Rudnicki MA (2007) Stem cell based therapies to treat muscular dystrophy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1772:272–283
- Prockop DJ, Olson SD (2007) Clinical trials with adult stem/progenitor cells for tissue repair: let's not overlook some essential precautions. Blood 109:3147–3151
- Purhonen S, Palm J, Rossi D et al (2008) Bone marrow-derived circulating endothelial precursors do not contribute to vascular endothelium and are not needed for tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:6620–6625

- Purwanti YI, Chen C, Lam DH et al (2014) Antitumor effects of CD40 ligand-expressing endothelial progenitor cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells in a metastatic breast cancer model. Stem Cells Transl Med 3:923–935
- Qin M, Guan X, Wang H et al (2017) An effective ex-vivo approach for inducing endothelial progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood CD34(+) cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:25
- Qin M, Guan X, Zhang Y et al (2018) Evaluation of ex vivo produced endothelial progenitor cells for autologous transplantation in primates. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:14
- Qu-Petersen Z, Deasy B, Jankowski R et al (2002) Identification of a novel population of muscle stem cells in mice: potential for muscle regeneration. J Cell Biol 157:851–864
- Rafat N, Beck G, Schulte J et al (2010) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in malignant gliomas. J Neurosurg 112:43–49
- Rafii S, Lyden D, Benezra R et al (2002) Vascular and haematopoietic stem cells: novel targets for anti-angiogenesis therapy? Nat Rev Cancer 2:826–835
- Rajantie I, Ilmonen M, Alminaite A et al (2004) Adult bone marrow-derived cells recruited during angiogenesis comprise precursors for periendothelial vascular mural cells. Blood 104: 2084–2086
- Ramcharan SK, Lip GY, Stonelake PS et al (2013) Angiogenin outperforms VEGF, EPCs and CECs in predicting Dukes' and AJCC stage in colorectal cancer. Eur J Clin Investig 43:801–808
- Redjal N, Zhu Y, Shah K (2015) Combination of systemic chemotherapy with local stem cell delivered S-TRAIL in resected brain tumors. Stem Cells 33:101–110
- Reyes M, Dudek A, Jahagirdar B et al (2002) Origin of endothelial progenitors in human postnatal bone marrow. J Clin Invest 109:337–346
- Ribatti D (2004) The involvement of endothelial progenitor cells in tumor angiogenesis. J Cell Mol Med 8:294–300
- Richter-Ehrenstein C, Rentzsch J, Runkel S et al (2007) Endothelial progenitor cells in breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat 106:343–349
- Risau W (1997) Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386:671-674
- Roodhart JM, Langenberg MH, Daenen LG et al (2009) Translating pre-clinical findings of (endothelial) progenitor cell mobilization into the clinic; from bedside to bench and back. Biochim Biophys Acta 1796:41–49
- Ruggeri A, Paviglianiti A, Volt F et al (2018) Endothelial and circulating progenitor cells in hematological diseases and allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Curr Med Chem 25:4535–4544
- Sabbah N, Tamari T, Elimelech R et al (2019) Predicting angiogenesis by endothelial progenitor cells relying on in-vitro function assays and VEGFR-2 expression levels. Biomol Ther 9
- Saeedi P, Halabian R, Imani Fooladi AA (2019) A revealing review of mesenchymal stem cells therapy, clinical perspectives and modification strategies. Stem Cell Investig 6:34
- Sahin U, Kariko K, Tureci O (2014) mRNA-based therapeutics developing a new class of drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13:759–780
- Sales VL, Mettler BA, Engelmayr GC Jr et al (2010) Endothelial progenitor cells as a sole source for ex vivo seeding of tissue-engineered heart valves. Tissue Eng Part A 16:257–267
- Schluter A, Weller P, Kanaan O et al (2018) CD31 and VEGF are prognostic biomarkers in earlystage, but not in late-stage, laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Cancer 18:272
- Shafritz DA, Oertel M, Menthena A et al (2006) Liver stem cells and prospects for liver reconstitution by transplanted cells. Hepatology 43:S89–S98
- Shahriyari L, Komarova NL (2013) Symmetric vs. asymmetric stem cell divisions: an adaptation against cancer? PLoS One 8:e76195
- Shaked Y, Henke E, Roodhart JM et al (2008) Rapid chemotherapy-induced acute endothelial progenitor cell mobilization: implications for anti-angiogenic drugs as chemosensitizing agents. Cancer Cell 14:263–273
- Shi Q, Rafii S, Wu MH et al (1998) Evidence for circulating bone marrow-derived endothelial cells. Blood 92:362–367

- Simon-Yarza T, Formiga FR, Tamayo E et al (2012) Vascular endothelial growth factor-delivery systems for cardiac repair: an overview. Theranostics 2:541–552
- Song E, Lu CW, Fang LJ et al (2010) Culture and identification of endothelial progenitor cells from human umbilical cord blood. Int J Ophthalmol 3:49–53
- Steinle H, Golombek S, Behring A et al (2018) Improving the angiogenic potential of EPCs via engineering with synthetic modified mRNAs. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 13:387–398
- Strauss R, Huser A, Ni S et al (2007) Baculovirus-based vaccination vectors allow for efficient induction of immune responses against plasmodium falciparum circumsporozoite protein. Mol Ther 15:193–202
- Su Y, Zheng L, Wang Q et al (2010) Quantity and clinical relevance of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in human ovarian cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 29:27
- Sukmawati D, Tanaka R (2015) Introduction to next generation of endothelial progenitor cell therapy: a promise in vascular medicine. Am J Transl Res 7:411–421
- Takakura N (2018) Discovery of a vascular endothelial stem cell (VESC) population required for vascular regeneration and tissue maintenance. Circ J 83:12–17
- Tamma R, Ruggieri S, Annese T et al (2020) Vascular wall as source of stem cells able to differentiate into endothelial cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 1237:29–36
- Taura D, Sone M, Homma K et al (2009) Induction and isolation of vascular cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells brief report. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29:1100–1103
- Teng YD, Lavik EB, Qu X et al (2002) Functional recovery following traumatic spinal cord injury mediated by a unique polymer scaffold seeded with neural stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:3024–3029
- Terrovitis JV, Smith RR, Marban E (2010) Assessment and optimization of cell engraftment after transplantation into the heart. Circ Res 106:479–494
- Theise ND, Badve S, Saxena R et al (2000) Derivation of hepatocytes from bone marrow cells in mice after radiation-induced myeloablation. Hepatology 31:235–240
- Timmermans F, Plum J, Yoder MC et al (2009) Endothelial progenitor cells: identity defined? J Cell Mol Med 13:87–102
- Toma JG, Akhavan M, Fernandes KJ et al (2001) Isolation of multipotent adult stem cells from the dermis of mammalian skin. Nat Cell Biol 3:778–784
- Torsney E, Xu Q (2011) Resident vascular progenitor cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 50:304-311
- Uccelli A, Wolff T, Valente P et al (2019) Vascular endothelial growth factor biology for regenerative angiogenesis. Swiss Med Wkly 149:w20011
- Urbich C, Dimmeler S (2004) Endothelial progenitor cells: characterization and role in vascular biology. Circ Res 95:343–353
- Urbich C, Aicher A, Heeschen C et al (2005) Soluble factors released by endothelial progenitor cells promote migration of endothelial cells and cardiac resident progenitor cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39:733–742
- Varma NR, Barton KN, Janic B et al (2013a) Monitoring adenoviral based gene delivery in rat glioma by molecular imaging. World J Clin Oncol 4:91–101
- Varma NR, Shankar A, Iskander A et al (2013b) Differential biodistribution of intravenously administered endothelial progenitor and cytotoxic T-cells in rat bearing orthotopic human glioma. BMC Med Imaging 13:17
- Wabik A, Jones PH (2015) Switching roles: the functional plasticity of adult tissue stem cells. EMBO J 34:1164–1179
- Wang X, Rosol M, Ge S et al (2003) Dynamic tracking of human hematopoietic stem cell engraftment using in vivo bioluminescence imaging. Blood 102:3478–3482
- Wang L, Chen L, Wang Q et al (2014) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are involved in VEGFR-2-related endothelial differentiation in glioma. Oncol Rep 32:2007–2014
- Wang Y, Yu H, Shan Y et al (2016) EphA1 activation promotes the homing of endothelial progenitor cells to hepatocellular carcinoma for tumor neovascularization through the SDF-1/CXCR4 signaling pathway. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 35:65

- Wang G, Zhang L, Zhou Y et al (2018) KAI1/CD82 genetically engineered endothelial progenitor cells inhibit metastasis of human nasopharyngeal carcinoma in a mouse model. Med Sci Monit 24:3146–3152
- Wei J, Blum S, Unger M et al (2004) Embryonic endothelial progenitor cells armed with a suicide gene target hypoxic lung metastases after intravenous delivery. Cancer Cell 5:477–488
- Wei J, Jarmy G, Genuneit J et al (2007) Human blood late outgrowth endothelial cells for gene therapy of cancer: determinants of efficacy. Gene Ther 14:344–356
- Weissman IL, Anderson DJ, Gage F (2001) Stem and progenitor cells: origins, phenotypes, lineage commitments, and transdifferentiations. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:387–403
- Werbowetski-Ogilvie TE, Bosse M, Stewart M et al (2009) Characterization of human embryonic stem cells with features of neoplastic progression. Nat Biotechnol 27:91–97
- Wu X, Lensch MW, Wylie-Sears J et al (2007) Hemogenic endothelial progenitor cells isolated from human umbilical cord blood. Stem Cells 25:2770–2776
- Yan H, Romero-Lopez M, Benitez LI et al (2017) 3D mathematical modeling of glioblastoma suggests that transdifferentiated vascular endothelial cells mediate resistance to current standard-of-care therapy. Cancer Res 77:4171–4184
- Yang Z, von Ballmoos MW, Faessler D et al (2010) Paracrine factors secreted by endothelial progenitor cells prevent oxidative stress-induced apoptosis of mature endothelial cells. Atherosclerosis 211:103–109
- Yang B, Gu W, Peng B et al (2012) High level of circulating endothelial progenitor cells positively correlates with serum vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with renal cell carcinoma. J Urol 188:2055–2061
- Yoder MC, Mead LE, Prater D et al (2007) Redefining endothelial progenitor cells via clonal analysis and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell principals. Blood 109:1801–1809
- Yoon CH, Hur J, Park KW et al (2005) Synergistic neovascularization by mixed transplantation of early endothelial progenitor cells and late outgrowth endothelial cells: the role of angiogenic cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases. Circulation 112:1618–1627
- Yu DD, Liu HL, Bai YL et al (2013) Correlation between increased circulating endothelial progenitor cells and stage of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 33:284–287
- Yuan X, Gajan A, Chu Q et al (2018) Developing TRAIL/TRAIL death receptor-based cancer therapies. Cancer Metastasis Rev 37:733–748
- Zakrzewski W, Dobrzynski M, Szymonowicz M et al (2019) Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:68
- Zhang JX, Kang CS, Shi L et al (2010) Use of thymidine kinase gene-modified endothelial progenitor cells as a vector targeting angiogenesis in glioma gene therapy. Oncology 78:94–102
- Zhang YL, Zhou TY, Ai J et al (2020) Gene therapy with cytosine deaminase and endostatin fusion gene mediated by endothelial progenitor cells in hepatomas. Cancer Manag Res 12:3023–3031
- Zhao LR, Du YJ, Chen L et al (2014) Quercetin protects against high glucose-induced damage in bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. Int J Mol Med 34:1025–1031
- Zheng Y, Lu X, Li J et al (2014) Impact of remote physiological ischemic training on vascular endothelial growth factor, endothelial progenitor cells and coronary angiogenesis after myocardial ischemia. Int J Cardiol 177:894–901
- Zhu Z, Chen G, Li X et al (2012) Endothelial progenitor cells homing to the orthotopic implanted liver tumor of nude mice. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 32:675–679
- Zweiri J, Christmas SE (2020) Demonstration of anti-tumour bystander killing with prodrugpreloaded suicide gene-engineered tumour cells: a potential improvement for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell Int 20:26



 $\Delta \mathbf{R}$

Non-cryopreserved Peripheral Stem Cell Autograft for Multiple Myeloma and Lymphoma in Countries with Low Resources



Mohamed Amine Bekadja

Contents

Introduction 1	1422
Bibliographic Literature Search for the Chapter 1	1424
Data Analysis from the Selected Studies 1	1424
Cell Mobilization 1	1425
Apheresis 1	1425
Cell Storage 1	1425
Cell Viability 1	1425
Conditioning Regimen 1	1427
Cell Engraftment 1	1428
Posttransplant Data 1	1428
Comparative Studies 1	1429
An In-Depth Analysis of the Published Data 1	1431
Cell Mobilization 1	1435
Conservation and Cell Viability 1	1435
Therapeutic Intensification	1436
Donor Cell Engraftment 1	1436
Conclusion and Future Perspective 1	1438
References 1	1438

Abstract

Autologous peripheral blood progenitor cell (PBPC) transplant is a standard indication in the multiple myeloma (MM) and lymphoma. The use of non-cryopreserved PBPCs is not usual despite its safety, feasibility, and efficacy. Few data exists in the literature regarding the procedures for non-cryopreserved autologous PBSCs transplant in countries with limited resources. The bibliographical research of this work was limited on sites like PubMed, Google scholar; using the following articles on the non-cryopreserved autologous PBPCs in hematological malignancies in developing

M. A. Bekadja (🖂)

Department of Hematology and Stem Cell Therapy, Etablissement Hospitalier Universitaire 1st November, Ahmed Benbella 1 University, Oran, Algeria

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_52

countries have been selected. These papers were analyzed in terms of mobilization, apheresis, preservation and viability, conditioning regimen, engraftment, response, and finally survival. This chapter sums up experience from 17 transplant centers which carried out autografts with non-cryopreserved PBPCs in 1541 patients suffering from hematologic malignancies. The results in terms of mobilization showed a median CD34+ = 3.94×10^{6} /kg (range, 0.32-24.6), a viability >90% and >75% respectively in MM and lymphomas after a conservation of 24–144 h at +4 °C. The engraftment (mean neutrophils = 12.38 (6–86) days, mean platelets = 15.57 (7–89) days, and TRM (4.39%) were very satisfactory. In conclusion, this method is easy, efficient, and safe, and it is expected to grow in developing countries due to its low production cost and procedure simplicity.

Keywords

Cryopreserved \cdot G-CSF \cdot Hematopoietic \cdot Progenitor \cdot Stem cells \cdot Transplantation

List of Abbreviations

AfBMT	African Blood and Marrow Transplantation
ASCT	Autologous stem cell transplantation
BEAM	BCNU-Etoposide-Aracytine-Melphalan
BM	Bone marrow
BMPCs	Bone marrow progenitor cells
CBV	Cyclophosphamide-BCNU-Etoposide/VP16
CEC	Cyclophosphamide, Etoposide, Carboplatin
DFS	Disease-free survival
DLBCL	Diffuse large B cell lymphoma
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EMBMTG	Eastern Mediterranean Bone Marrow Transplantation Group
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
HPCs	Hematopoietic progenitor cells
LK	Leukapheresis
MEL/VP16	Melphalan, Etoposide
NE	Neutrophil engraftment
OS	Overall survival
PBSCs	Peripheral blood stem cells

Introduction

Cryopreservation of hemopoietic stem cells was established in the early 1970s (Gorin and Duhamel 1975, 1978; Gorin et al. 1978a, b; Gorin 1986; Douay et al. 1982) on bone marrow (BM) collected from iliac spines and stored usually at -140 °C or -196 °C in vapor or liquid phase nitrogen. Efficient cryopreservation of stem cells opened the way to autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) after high-dose chemotherapy and/or

total body irradiation. Since the early 1990s, peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs) collected by leukapheresis (LK) have replaced bone marrow as a source of hemopoietic stem cells in almost 95% of the patients (Storb et al. 1977).

Cryopreservation of stem cells requires facilities, equipment for programmed freezing, and liquid nitrogen availability for storage with temperature monitoring. It also requires quality controls at thawing to ensure good quality cell preparation (Haider 2017). All steps are laborious, time-intensive, and expensive to ensure clinical grade quality of the cell preparation (Gorin 1986).

Several attempts have been made to assess alternative strategies to avoid cryopreservation, including maintaining the autograft at 4 °C in a conventional refrigerator. It has been rapidly shown that the viability of marrow stem cells cannot be preserved beyond 56 h (Burnett et al. 1983). On the contrary, PBSCs are more purified, devoid of erythrocytes and neutrophils, and can be easily preserved for extended periods. Several teams have demonstrated the possibility of using non-cryopreserved PBSCs to autograft patients with multiple myeloma who received high dose Melphalan over 1 or 2 days, with a preservation duration not exceeding 3 days (Wannesson et al. 2007; Lopez-Otero et al. 2009; Kayal et al. 2014; Bekadja et al. 2017; Bittencourt et al. 2019; Bekadja et al. 2012).

Patients with lymphomas autografted with PBSCs receive pretransplant regimens, such as the BEAM (BCNU-Etoposide-Aracytine-Melphalan), TEAM (as BEAM but Thiotepa instead of BCNU), or CBV (Cyclophosphamide-BCNU-Etoposide/VP16) over longer periods, lasting up to 6 days. Some studies show promising results with non-cryopreserved PBSCs kept at 4 °C for 3–6 days (Sierra et al. 1993; Karduss-Urueta et al. 2014). Even a few studies have claimed better results with non-cryopreserved as compared to the cryopreserved PBSCs (Sarmiento et al. 2018; Bittencourt et al. 2019).

Autologous bone marrow progenitor cells (BMPCs) or PBPCs provide a supportive therapy that allows the use of high doses, intensive antitumoral chemotherapy in hematological malignancies (Kessinger et al. 1986, 1988). Many studies have shown the superiority of autologous BMPCs or PBPCs over the conventional chemotherapy in hematological malignancies, such as multiple myeloma (MM) (Fermand et al. 2005) or lymphoma (Philip et al. 1995; Andre et al. 1999; Carella et al. 2009). PBPCs are currently used in autologous stem cells transplantation in hematological malignancies only, and BMPCs are reserved to specific indications, such as haploidentical allografts, or bone marrow failure. PBPCs are typically cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen at -180 °C in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and albumin (Billen 1957; Bakken 2006; Berz et al. 2007). Progenitor cells should be washed and cleaned from DMSO before use in the patient. This preservation technique requires expensive equipment. In vitro study concerning the use of non-cryopreserved hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs) was first published in 1957 (Billen 1957). It was then followed by studies on the conservation of PBPCs at +4 °C (Ahmed et al. 1991; Sierra et al. 1993; Preti et al. 1994) and their clinical use (Hechler et al. 1996). Very few autologous stem cells transplant were performed with non-cryopreserved PBSCs, and in our opinion, there are no published randomized or controlled studies on the non-cryopreserved autologous PBPCs. Only two literature

reviews on this topic have been published. The first study was published by Wannesson et al. in 2007 on autologous HPCs transplantation (bone marrow and peripheral blood) in hematological malignancies and solid tumors (Wannesson et al. 2007) while the second study was published by Al-Anazi in 2012, on the use of autologous PBPCs for transplantation in the patient with MM (Al-Anazi 2012).

This chapter reports all the published data in the field of non-cryopreserved autologous transplantation in hematological malignancies in developing countries to show the clinical safety, feasibility, and efficacy of the non-cryopreserved autologous cells to promote this technology, especially in the countries with limited resources.

Bibliographic Literature Search for the Chapter

Bibliographic research was based on PubMed and Google scholar, using the following keywords: hematopoietic, progenitor, non-cryopreservation, and autograft. All the articles on the non-cryopreserved autologous PBPCs in hematological malignancies in developing countries were searched. The selected papers were analyzed in terms of mobilization, apheresis, storage and viability, conditioning regimen, engraftment, response, and finally, survival. Data from this review were synthesized in a descriptive manner. This included the tabulation of study characteristics and outcomes. All the survival times were calculated from the date of transplant. Transplant-related mortality (TRM) was defined as any death related to a fatal complication in the absence of the underlying disease within 100 days from transplantation. Overall survival (OS) was defined as the duration from the date of transplantation until the date of death or the date of follow-up when the patient was known to be alive. Progression-free survival (PFS) was calculated from the date of transplantation to disease progression or death (regardless of the cause of death). The OS and the PFS were determined using the Kaplan–Meier estimation with 95% confidence intervals from standards errors.

Data Analysis from the Selected Studies

Research on PubMed and other search engines identified several publications and abstracts. In developing countries, only 17 studies were selected, responding to the criteria concerning non-cryopreserved autologous progenitor cells transplant. Countries of origin are by alphabetical order: Algeria, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Egypt, Greece, India, Iran, Mexico, Morocco, and Thailand. All the 17 studies published from 2000 to 2021 were retrospective of "single-center case series" type. The majority focused on the MM and lymphoma (Papadimitriou et al. 2000; Ruiz-Arguelles et al. 2003; Cuellar-Ambrosi et al. 2004; Mabed et al. 2006; Lopez-Otero et al. 2009; Ramzi et al. 2012a, b; Kayal et al. 2014; Bekadja et al. 2017, 2021; Sarmiento et al. 2018; Kardduss-Urueta et al. 2018; Naithani et al. 2018; Kulkarni et al. 2018; Bittencourt et al. 2019; Jennane et al. 2020; Piriyakhuntorn et al. 2020) and only one study focused on acute leukemia (Palumbo et al. 2009).

Over 21 years, a total of 1541 autografts were performed with unfrozen stem cells. The results of these autografts are detailed according to the different stages of the autograft, which are mobilization, apheresis, storage, viability, conditioning regimen, engraftment, and posttransplantation results. A special section is reserved for comparison of the studies between frozen and unfrozen stem cells.

Cell Mobilization

Most centers have performed PBPCs mobilization using granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) alone, while two groups have used G-CSF combined with chemotherapy. In multiple myeloma, all studies (Ruiz-Arguelles et al. 2003; Mabed et al. 2006; Palumbo et al. 2009; Bekadja et al. 2012, 2017; Ramzi et al. 2012b; Kayal et al. 2014; Bittencourt et al. 2019; Jennane et al. 2020) have conducted the mobilization with subcutaneous G-CSF alone at a dose of 15 μ g/kg/day, or 5 μ g/kg twice a day, for 4–5 consecutive days. In lymphomas, mobilization was performed using G-CSF (5 μ g/ kg/day for 3 days) in combination with cyclophosphamide at a dose of 1.5 g/kg/day, for 3 days, in two groups (Mabed et al. 2006; Lopez-Otero et al. 2009).

Apheresis

The PBPCs apheresis was performed using devices such as Haemonétics[®], Cobe Spectra[®], or Optia[®]. Leukapheresis was started as soon as the flow cytometer counting of CD34+ (cluster differentiation) PBSCs was greater than 1×10^6 cells/µl. The mean number of leukapheresis was two in MM and three in lymphomas. The overall mean of CD34+ collected in all studies was 3.94×10^6 /kg (range, 0.32-24.6). In MM, the overall mean of CD34+ collected was 4.26×10^6 /kg (range, 0.32-27.8). It was 4.47×10^6 /kg (range, 1.9-24.6) in lymphomas. There was no report of mobilization failure in the published series.

Cell Storage

The PBPCs collected were saved in the refrigerator at +4 °C for a period ranging from 1 day to 6 days (Sierra et al. 1993; Hechler et al. 1996; Bekadja et al. 2017, 2021) depending on the type of conditioning regimen used. In the MM, storage time ranges from 1 to 2 days, and it was of 3–6 days in lymphoma (Table 1).

Cell Viability

The viability of PBPCs was calculated by the Trypan Blue technique and by flow cytometry (Fleming and Hubel 2006). The average viability was over 90% in MM and over 75% in lymphomas.

	Patients	Age			CD34+	Storage at +4 °C
Author	(u)	(year)	Diagnosis	HDCT	reinfused	(hours)
Papadimitriou (2000)	72	8-69	MM/NHL/HL	Mel140-180/Mel-VP16	3(0.8–2.78)	24-60 h
Ruiz-Arguëlles (2003)	46	9-67	MM/NHL/HL/AML/ ALL	Mel 200	4.68	24-72 h
Cuellar-Ambrosi (2004)	47	12-67	MM/NHL	CBV/CTX-TBI/Mel 200	1.36 (0-6.32)	144 h
Mabed (2006)	28	16-50	HL	CTX/VP16/Carboplatin	6.4 (3.8–24.6)	72 h
Mabed (2006)	32	17-55	NHL	CBDA/VP16/CTX	>3	72 h
Lopez-Otero (2009)	26	42–66	MM	Mel 200	7.6 (0.3–14.8)	24 h
Ramzi (2012)	45	NA	HL	CEAM	3.4	NA
Ramzi (2012)	38	NA	MM	Mel140/Mel200	NA	48 h
Kayal (2014)	92	22-65	MM	Mel 200	2.9 (0.9–7.67)	48 h
Bekadja (2017)	240	35-65	MM	Mel140/Mel200	5.7 (1.9–10.5)	24 h
Sarmiento M (2018)	42	22–68	MM/NHL/HL	Mel 200	5.1 (2.5-5.6)	
Kardduss-Urueta et al.	359	54	MM/Lymphoma	Mel200/BEAM/CBV	3.6	72 h (48 h-6 days)
(2018)		(29–75) 39 (5–67)	۰ ۱			, ,
Naithani (2018)	76	59	MM	Mel200/140	2.56 (1.2–7.9)	48 h-6 days
		(34–68) 34 (14–64)	Lymphoma	BEAM		
Kulkarni (2018)	224	50 (23–68)	MM	Mel200	4.87	24–48 h
Jennane (2020)	55	37-67	MM	Mel140/Mel200	4.5 (2-12.2)	24-48 h
Piriyakhuntorn (2020)	26	55.7	MM	Mel200	3.8 (2.0–16.5)	48 h
Bekadja (2021)	94	29 (17–60)	HL/NHL	CBV/BEAM/BeEAM/ FAM	4.12 (3.4–5.4)	6 days
Abbreviations: <i>HDCT</i> , high leukemia; <i>ALL</i> , acute lympho	dose chemoth	nerapy; MM, m	ultiple myeloma; <i>NHL</i> , 1	non-Hodgkin lymphoma; HL,	Hodgkin lymphor	na; AML, acute myeloid

1426

Conditioning Regimen

The conditioning regimen and the myeloablative therapy were dependent on the diagnosis. In MM, all of the studies have used the Melphalan at a dose of 180 (Papadimitriou et al. 2000) or 200 mg/m² on D-1 (Lopez-Otero et al. 2009; Ramzi et al. 2012b; Kayal et al. 2014; Bekadja et al. 2017). In lymphoma, the protocols used were of a different type: MEL 200 (Melphalan 200 mg/m²), CBV (Lobo et al. 1991), BEAM (BCNU, Etoposide, Aracytin, Melphalan) (Smith and Sweetenham 1995), CEAM (Lomustine, Etoposide, Aracytin, Melphalan), EAM (Etoposide, Aracytin, Melphalan) (Bekadja et al. 2018), CEC (Cyclophosphamide, Etoposide, Carboplatin), MEL/VP16 (Melphalan, Etoposide), and their length varies from 3 to 6 days (Table 2).

Author	Patients (n)	Diagnosis	Neutrophils >0.5G/L (median day and range)	Platelet>20G/L (median day and range)	TRM (%)	Graft failure patients
Papadimitriou (2000)	72	MM/NHL/ HL	9 (6–16)	5 (0-89)	0	0
Ruiz-Arguëlles (2003)	46	MM/NHL/ HL/AML/ ALL	14 (0-86)	25 (0–102)	2	0
Cuellar- Ambrosi (2004)	47	MM/NHL	11 (9–15)	16 (11–44); 15 (14–20)	12.7	0
Mabed (2006)	28	HL	13 (7–18)	15 (7–20)	-	0
Mabed (2006)	32	NHL	12 (8–17)	14 (7–19)	9.37	0
Lopez-Otero (2009)	26	MM	27 (0-53)	37 (0–73)	9.6	0
Ramzi (2012)	45	HL	11	14	2.2	0
Ramzi (2012)	38	MM	11 (9–21)	13 (10–31)	0	0
Kayal (2014)	92	MM	10 (8–27)	14 (9–38)	3.2	0
Bekadja (2015)	45	HL	11 (8–12)	13 (10–24)	3	0
Bekadja (2017)	240	MM	10 (6–17)	13 (9–24)	1.3	0
Sarmiento (2018)	42	MM/NHL/ HL	9 (9–16)	11 (10–19)		0
Kardduss- Urueta et al. (2018)	359	MM, Lymphoma	13 (9–39)	16 (7–83)		0
Naithani (2018)	76	MM, Lymphoma	12 (9–35)	13 (9–65)	3	0
Kulkarni(2018)	224	MM	12 (9–22)	17 (10-44)	3.1	1/224
Piriyakhuntorn (2020)	26	MM	12 (10–19)	14 (10–23)	3.8	0
Jennane (2020)	55	MM	12 (7–19)	14 (9–32)	3.6	0
Bekadja (2021)	94	HL/NHL	14 (12–32)	17 (15–28)	9	0

Table 2 Results of engraftment with non-cryopreserved autologous peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation

Author	Patients number	Diagnosis	Follow-up (median months)	OS	PFS
Mabed (2006)	28	HL	16	45% at 24 months	42% at 24 months
Mabed (2006)	32	NHL	18	50% at 24 months	43% at 24 months
Lopez-Otero (2009)	26	MM	NA	80% at 76 months	NA
Ramzi (2012)	45	HL	27	27 months (median)	20 months (median)
Ramzi (2012)	38	MM	31	30 months (median)	27 months (median)
Bekadja (2017)	240	MM	47	79% at 5 years	59 months
Kulkarni (2018)	224	MM	NA	62.9% at 5 years	36.6% at 5 years
Piriyakhuntorn (2020)	26	MM	37.5	NR	16 months
Bekadja (2021)	94	NHL/HL	62	85% at 36 months	70% at 36 months

 Table 3
 Survival of patients with multiple myeloma and lymphoma autografts with non-cryopreserved PBPCs

Abbreviations: *MM*, multiple myeloma; *HL*, Hodgkin lymphoma; *NHL*, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; *OS*, overall survival; *PFS*, progression-free survival; *NA*, nonavailable; *NR*, not reached

Cell Engraftment

Engraftment was defined by the rate of ANC (absolute neutrophil count) over 0.5 G/L and a platelet count greater than 20 G/L, except for one study in which the threshold was 25 G/L platelets (Ruiz-Arguelles et al. 2003). The results of engraftment in the different studies are shown in Table 3. The overall mean recovery time of ANC was 12.38 days (range, 6–86), and that of the platelets was 15.57 days (range, 7–89). This recovery time was respectively 13 and 18 days in MM and 12 and 14 days in lymphoma. There was no engraftment failure recorded among the different studies, only one study (1/224) (Kulkarni et al. 2018).

The overall median rate of the transplant related mortality (TRM) was 4.39%, while it was 3.51% and 4.85% respectively in the MM and lymphoma.

Posttransplant Data

Considering the heterogeneity of the studies in terms of diagnosis and intensification protocols, it is difficult to analyze them in relation to response or survival. However, the median follow-up period ranged between 31 and 37.5 months in the MM, and between 16 and 62 months, in lymphoma. The overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) in the MM and lymphoma are reported respectively in Table 4.

PBSC	Stored at 4 °C ^a	Cryopreserved ^b	P value
Number of patients	94	351	-
Age at SCT		·	
Median (range)	29 (17-60)	29 (17-63)	0.90
IQR	25-34	24-35	
Gender (%)		·	
Female	46 (49)	169 (48)	0.98
Male	48 (51)	182 (52)	
Karnofsky at SCT (%)		·	
$Good \ge 80$	79 (84)	309 (88)	
Poor <80	13 (14)	34 (10)	0.49
Unknown	2 (2)	8 (2)	
Time from transplant to S	CT (months) median	·	
Range	11	12	
IQR	3-85	3-89	0.65
	9–16	9–16	
Lymphoma type (%)		·	
Mantle cell	4 (4)	16 (5)	
DLBCL	18 (19)	67 (19)	
Hodgkin	66 (70)	252 (72)	0.92
MZL	1 (1)	3 (1)	
T-cell	5 (5)	13 (4)	
Disease status at SCT		·	
CR	70 (75)	267 (76)	
PR	19 (20)	64 (18)	
PIF	1 (1)	4 (1)	0.97
Relapse	4 (4)	16 (5)	

Table 4 Characteristics of patients receiving PBSC stored at 4Dg C in Oran and pair matched patients receiving cryopreserved PBSC reported to the EBMT registry

Abbreviations: SCT: stem cell transplantation; DLBCL: diffuse large B cell lymphoma; MZL: marginal zone lymphoma; CR: complete remission; PR: partial remission ^aPatients from Oran

^bPatients from the LWP/EBMT Registry

Comparative Studies

There are very few studies comparing the use of frozen and unfrozen stem cells during autografts. The results of the significant studies listed have been described in the following sections.

The Study by Sarmiento et al. (2018)

In total, 111 auto-HSCT were performed from January/2015 to October/2016 (42 non-cryopreserved and 74 cryopreserved). There were 69 patients who had the underlying diagnosis of MM. The main objective of the study was to compare early hematological and non-hematological complications after auto-HSCT between both groups of patients, measured by: infusion reactions on day 0, incidence and grade of

oropharyngeal and gastrointestinal mucositis and the use of high dose morphine, incidence of febrile neutropenia, hematopoietic recovery after auto-HSCT, and length of hospital stay between non-cryopreserved group and cryopreserved group. The number of CD34+ cells collected, and cell viability between both groups of patients were also compared. No differences were observed in the characteristics of the apheresis products and their viability.

Engraftment was significantly faster in the non-cryopreserved group (p = 0.001). Febrile neutropenia and severe mucositis were lower in the non-cryopreserved group (40% vs. 92% p = 0.0001 and 11% vs. 64%, p = 0.001, respectively). In addition, length of hospitalization was 5 days shorter in the non-cryopreserved group (p = 0.0001). Mean hospital stay was 20 days (range 14–54) in the cryopreserved group versus 15 days (range 9–20) in the non-cryopreserved group (p = 0.0001). Overall responses and transplantation outcomes were similar.

The Study by Bittencourt et al. (2019)

A total of 108 ASCTs were included in two groups: 63 in cryopreserved and 45 in non-cryopreserved. Patients in cryopreserved were mobilized with G-CSF alone, Cyclophosphamide+G-CSF, or G-CSF + Plerixafor. In non-cryopreserved, all patients were mobilized with G-CSF alone. A minimum yield of 2×10^{6} CD34+ cells/kg was mandatory to undergo ASCT. For cryopreservation, 10% DMSO was added and the product stored in mechanical freezer at -80 °C. Non-cryopreserved cells were stored in blood bank refrigerator at 4 °C for a maximum of 48 h. All patients were conditioned with Melphalan (200 mg/m² or 140 mg/m², if chronic renal failure or heart failure).

The only statistical difference was the dose of CD34+ cells/kg, slightly higher in cryopreserved (4.00 \times 10⁶ (IQR: 3.20–5.10) vs. 3.50 \times 10⁶ (IQR: 2.80–4.60), p =0.04). Neutrophil engraftment (NE) was significantly delayed in cryopreserved: median of 13 days (IQR: 12-15) as compared with 10 days (IQR: 10-11) in non-cryopreserved (P < 0.0001); and it remained delayed in cryopreserved regardless of the time of transplantation. Graft failure occurred in one patient (cryopreserved); extended follow-up showed NE on day +35. The early TRM rate was 5% (three patients) in cryopreserved and 2% (one patient) in non-cryopreserved. In the first group, two patients died before NE, days +26 and +28 post-ASCT, due to fungal infection; the third died on day +20 from acute respiratory insufficiency of unknown cause, having engrafted on day +13. In the second group, a patient engrafted on day +10 and died on day +18 from septic shock. Infection and neutropenic fever occurred with no statistical difference in cryopreserved and non-cryopreserved (41% vs. 29% infection, p = 0.23; 41% vs. 38% neutropenic fever, p = 0.84, respectively) and were not associated with delay in NE. Cost analysis revealed a total of \$1300 for one cryopreserved unit and \$300 for one non-cryopreserved unit.

The Study by Bekadja et al. (2021)

Recently, we published results comparing autografts with unfrozen cells from our center with those from the EBMT group using frozen cells in lymphomas (Bekadja et al. 2021). We compared outcomes of 94 consecutive adult patients with lymphoma (66 with Hodgkin lymphoma) autografted in our department in Oran (Algeria) using PBSCs stored at 4 °C, from 2009 to 2018, with patients receiving cryopreserved stem cells reported to the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation registry. The 94 patients autografted in Oran were matched to 351 EBMT patients receiving cryopreserved PBSCs in the registry (four controls per patient in Oran). These data showed higher CD34 + levels with unfrozen cells, neutrophil engraftment was significantly faster with cryopreserved PBSCs (p =0.003). Likewise, platelet recovery to 20,000/mm³ was significantly faster in patients receiving cryopreserved PBSCs (p = 0.01). However, all patients in both groups had recovered by day 20. For non-cryopreserved versus cryopreserved PBSCs, the non-relapse mortality was 9% versus 7% (P = 0.4), relapse incidence was 22% versus 32% (p = 0.13), PFS at 36 months was 70% versus 61% (p = 0.4), and overall survival was 85% versus 75% (P = 0.3). There were no significant differences in non-relapse mortality (p = 0.4), relapse incidence (p = 0.13), progression-free survival (p = 0.4), or overall survival (p = 0.3) (Figs. 1 and 2), suggesting that the impact of conditioning does not play a significant role in comparing the two groups. It was concluded that in patients with lymphoma receiving pretransplant regimens, such as BEAM, PBSCs stored at 4 °C for up to 6 days could be used safely in centers with no cryopreservation facility.

The Study by Garifullin et al. (2021)

A retrospective analysis of multiple myeloma patients who underwent autologous transplantation using non-cryopreserved and cryopreserved grafts were performed from March 2016 to April 2020. There were no differences in the total number of CD34 + cells $\times 10^6$ /kg. The adverse events were absent in the non-cryopreserved group. But 29/43 (67.4%) patients had such symptoms in the cryopreserved group on day 0 (nausea and vomiting – 7 patients (16.3%), tachycardia – 16 patients (37.2%), stenocardia – 3 patients (7.0%), arterial hypertension – 6 patients (13.9%), increased total bilirubin and indicator liver enzymes – 5 patients (11.6%)). All patients had full recovery of hematopoiesis till discharge from the hospital. Neutrophil recovery was achieved on the 11th day (range 9–14) and platelets on 12th day (range 8–19) in the non-cryopreserved group, respectively. The authors concluded that this method of storage of PBSCs without cryopreserved was equal to the traditional method of controlled freezing with dimethyl sulfoxide and can be used in hospitals that have no cryobank in their composition.

An In-Depth Analysis of the Published Data

PBPCs autologous transplant is indicated as first-line treatment in the MM (Rajkumar 2011; Moreau et al. 2011; Tosi et al. 2012), in the mantle cell lymphoma (Salek et al. 2014), as consolidation treatment in the diffuse large cell lymphoma (Redondo et al. 2014; Shin et al. 2014), and as salvage therapy during relapsed or



Fig. 1 Kinetics of engraftment of patients autografted with PBSC stored at 4 °C and patients autografted with cryopreserved PBSC. (a) Cumulative incidence of sustained neutrophil recovery >500/uL: Significant faster engraftment with cryopreserved PBSC (p = 0.003). (b) Cumulative incidence of sustained platelet recovery >20,000/uL. Significant faster engraftment with cryopreserved PBSC (p = 0.01)

refractory forms of Hodgkin's diseases (Hahn et al. 2013; Isidori et al. 2013; Van Den Neste et al. 2013) or non-Hodgkin lymphomas (Milpied 2013).

A recent EBMT survey published in 2021 shows 48,512 stem cell transplants in 43,581 patients, including 28,714 autografts (59%). The EBMT group had





700 centers in 51 countries in 2019. These European centers freeze stem cells as part of the autografts.

The Eastern Mediterranean Bone Marrow Transplantation Group (EMBMT) represents the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMRO) comprising 10 countries, including Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia, Egypt, Lebanon, Iran, Saudi Arabia, Pakistan, Jordan, and the Sultanate of Oman. The 2008–2009 report has shown an activity rate of autografts of 36.5% (n = 483/1322 total first transplants) in these countries, versus 59% (n = 16,591/28033 total first transplants) in the developed-country (Mohamed et al. 2011). Most transplant centers do not use stem cell freezing during autologous transplantation.

The report also highlights the limited number of transplant centers in developing countries which is 14 versus 647, i.e., 46 times greater for 2009, in developed countries (Baldomero et al. 2011). Moreover, the average number of transplant center is 14/country in the EBMT Group, which counts 48 countries in 2009 versus 1.4/country in the EMBMT group which has 10 countries. The number of centers per 10 million inhabitants is respectively 7.6 and 0.3 in developed countries versus developing countries. Moreover, the number of transplants per 10 million inhabitants is 467 and 28.7 in the EBMT and EMBMT Groups, respectively. Hence, this situation showed that new transplant centers and particularly the development of the non-cryopreserved autologous PBPCs transplant in these countries and other resource-constrained countries were necessary.

The first meeting of the African Blood and Marrow Transplantation (AfBMT) was held in Casablanca from April 19, 2018, to April 21, 2018, to foster HSCT activity in Africa. Out of the 54 African countries, HSCT is available only in 6 (Algeria, Egypt, Morocco, Nigeria, South Africa, and Tunisia) (Mhamed Harif 2019).

The latest published report of WBMT (Baldomero et al. 2019) showed that AFR/EBMT region represented only 3% of reported activity worldwide. In the African continent, this is even lower. The health care systems in Africa are the least developed.

Hematopoietic cell transplant activity in the 28 countries comprising Latin America is poorly defined. A retrospective study conducted a voluntary survey of members of the Latin American Bone Marrow Transplantation Group regarding transplant activity 2009–2012. Annual activity increased from 2517 transplants in 2009 to 3263 in 2012 represents a whopping 30% increase. The median transplants rate (transplant per million inhabitants) in 2012 was 64 (autotransplants, median 40; allotransplants, median 24). This rate is substantially lower than that in North America and European regions (482 and 378) but higher than in the Eastern Mediterranean and the Asia Pacific regions (30 and 45). However, the Latin America transplant rate is five to eightfold lower than in America and Europe, suggesting a need to increase transplant availability. Transplant team density in Latin American (teams per million population; 1.8) is three to fourfold lower than that in North America (6.2) or Europe (7.6) (Jaimovich et al. 2017).

The number of publications regarding non-cryopreserved autologous transplant is scarce because of the widespread use of cryopreserved stem cells. In this chapter, only 17 eligible studies were collected dealing with non-cryopreserved autologous transplant in hematological malignancies (lymphoma and MM) in some developing country, from 2000 to 2020. All these studies are single-center, retrospective, non-randomized, and uncontrolled, reflecting the care of patients in real life and working conditions of countries with limited resources. Only one study is prospective and included 26 patients with MM (Lopez-Otero et al. 2009). Currently, over 1500 patients have undergone autologous transplantation with unfrozen cells, out of which 80% are relevant to multiple myeloma while the remaining 20% are concerning to lymphoma.

Cell Mobilization

The first step of autologous stem cells transplantation is PBPC mobilization. There is no absolute rule in PBPC mobilization, but multiple studies have been published regarding recommendations for improving the harvesting efficiency of PBPCs (Bezwoda et al. 1994; Demirer et al. 1996). Two main methods are used in PBPC mobilization; the first relates to the use of growth factor G-CSF alone, given subcutaneously at a dose of 10 to 15 µg/kg/day or 5 µg/kg twice a day, for 5 days (Talhi et al. 2013; Yafour et al. 2013); the second consists in the combination of G-CSF with chemotherapy (Ford et al. 2006). There have been not much difference in the performance of harvesting of CD34+, but the second method requires hospitalization to manage aplastic anemia secondary to chemotherapy, whereas in the first method, the use of G-CSF alone can be done at home, which reduces the costs of the autograft procedure. Most studies have achieved mobilization with G-CSF alone, especially in the MM and lymphoma; only two groups have used G-CSF in combination with cyclophosphamide (Mabed and Al-Kgodary 2006; Mabed and Shamaa 2006). The objective of the mobilization is to reach at least 2×10^6 /kg CD34+ in the MM in which the conservation of CD34+ is short (24–48 h) and at least 4 \times 10⁶/kg in lymphomas in which the conservation of CD34+ is most extended (3–6 days). Indeed, the optimal rate of CD34+ necessary for hematopoietic reconstitution is unknown with certainty, and a minimum of 2.0 to 3.0×10^6 CD34+ cells/kg is typically recommended. In this work, all the studies have achieved sufficient levels of CD34+, that was 4.26×10^6 /kg (MM) and 4.47×10^6 /kg (lymphoma), to perform autografts, and no mobilization failure was reported.

Conservation and Cell Viability

Many studies have shown the possibility to save the PBPCs at +4 $^{\circ}$ C in a refrigerator, for several days, with final viability of over 80% that allows the achievement of autografts (Ahmed et al. 1991; Sierra et al. 1993; Preti et al. 1994; Hechler et al. 1996). Preti and colleagues showed no difference in terms of cell viability and engraftment rate between their maintenance at +4 $^{\circ}$ C and cryopreservation of PBPCs (Preti et al. 1994). In addition, cryopreservation requires the use of a

cryoprotectant, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), which is responsible for several side effects (Hoyt et al. 2000; Windrum and Morris 2003) so that it necessitates a PBPCs washing before their use. On the other hand, it allows multiple transplantations if and when needed. In all published articles, the conservation at +4 °C allowed the achievement of autografts with a satisfactory rate of the viability of PBPCs despite retention periods up to 3 days, as previously reported in the studies of Cuellar-Ambrosi et al. 2004; Bekadja et al. 2021).

Therapeutic Intensification

Using high-dose chemotherapy (HD), therapeutic intensification is the most crucial part of the autograft procedure, as it has a direct antitumor effect. Since the 1990s. the high-dose chemotherapy of Melphalan at 200 mg/m² on D-1, followed by the autologous transplant of PBPCs, is considered the standard first-line treatment of MM for eligible patients to this procedure. So, the schedule consisting of administration of the HD chemotherapy (Melphalan) on D-1 enables the conservation of PBPCs at +4 °C for only 24–48 h, with the viability of CD34+ cells over 95%. This is consistent with an autologous transplant of non-cryopreserved PBPCs. In lymphomas, the situation is very different; the intensification protocols used are shown in Table 2. These protocols, such as CBV (Lobo et al. 1991), BEAM (Smith and Sweetenham 1995), or EAM, include administration periods ranging from 3 to 6 days, which need a collection of $>3 \times 10^6$ CD34+/kg for varying viability of 75% to 85% (Bekadja et al. 2018). The conservation of the PBPCs up to 7 or 8 days is then feasible, but needs to obtain a number of CD34+ cells $>3 \times 10^6$ /kg at the time of the reinfusion of the PBPCs. Hence, the significant difficulty is in the mobilization of cells, especially in patients who received multiple lines of therapy. In the consolidation phase, especially in the mantle cell lymphoma or in the diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL) (Fitoussi et al. 2011; Visani et al. 2012), the probability of obtaining CD34+ cells $>3 \times 10^6$ /kg is very high, especially in view of the low number of chemotherapy lines, and non-cryopreserved PBPCs can be used easily. Improving the autograft results in lymphomas will undoubtedly reduce the number of chemotherapy cycles, by early assessment of the PET scan response, and by the availability of new intensification protocols, more myeloablative, as consolidation phase after the first-line induction. These regimens will allow the use of non-cryopreserved PBPCs in view of the high possibilities of their mobilization.

Donor Cell Engraftment

Engraftment was evidenced by the rate of the ANC and platelets count. The aplastic phase was managed either with or without growth factors in case of profound neutropenia. Globally the median length of the ANC and platelets rate was similar

to that of autografts using cryopreserved PBPCs (Lanza et al. 2013) both in the MM (Kristinsson et al. 2014) and lymphoma. Nevertheless in the lymphoma, duration was a little longer due to the number of previous chemotherapy and the refractory nature of lymphoma (Stiff et al. 2013; Rancea et al. 2013; Cook et al. 2014). Overall, these hospitalization numbers show less than 21 days in the MM and 25 days in the lymphoma, which classifies the non-cryopreserved autologous transplant in the favorable group according to Lanza et al. (2013). No engraftment failure or complications related to the infusion of PBPCs were mentioned. In addition, among the 1541 autografts, 4.39% of patients died due to the procedure and procedural complications, particularly in the autologous transplants in lymphoma. This rate of TRM is comparable to that found in the literature, demonstrating the safety of non-cryopreserved autologous PBPCs. Thus, the technique of autologous with non-cryopreserved PBPCs is a simple, reliable, and clinically feasible method. It is also safe, effective, and less costly. Only very few clinical facilities and groups in the developing countries use this procedure, whereas care is essential, especially in hematologic malignancies.

Some authors question the results obtained with unfrozen cells. Their arguments are the difficulties of comparability outside of randomized clinical studies because the characteristics of the diseases and the intensification protocols are not the same (Gale and Ruiz-Arguelles 2018). Although this argument is relevant, it should be kept in mind that carrying out such a study is very difficult and challenging, and for multiple myeloma, the comparability is valid and accurate because the intensification regimen is the same, Melphalan at 200 mg/m². The comparability results obtained in multiple myeloma can thus be applied in lymphomas despite the different consolidation regimens. On the other hand, many centers have performed autografts with unfrozen cells and have reported less toxicity and identical efficiency to those of frozen cells (Bekadja and Bouhass 2015).

Currently, more than 1500 autografts have been performed with unfrozen cells, and many studies have retrospectively compared autografts with frozen and unfrozen stem cells. All the results show the non-inferiority of unfrozen stem cells. The indication for autografting of unfrozen cells in multiple myeloma is the most important because:

- 1. The duration of unfrozen stem cells is less than 48 h.
- 2. A second autograft is very rare, less than 1% in case of relapse.
- 3. There are now new drugs to treat relapses effectively.
- 4. The storage of grafts can pose many problems regarding storage capacities and the need to destroy the grafts after the validity period expiration.

On the other hand, in lymphomas, unfrozen stem cells can only be used as the first consolidation, given the high probability of stem cell mobilization. The length of the conservation is 6 days on average. In the forms of relapse, the possibility of mobilization is less, and it is necessary to use Plerixafor (Mozobil) for mobilization of stem cells (Fricker 2013) to have very high grafts, which can be preserved for more than 6 days. Under these particular conditions, freezing at -180 °C can be

used, which requires less expensive equipment and no liquid nitrogen. On the other hand, in Hodgkin's lymphoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, the probability of relapse is very low and there are also many drugs that are effective against relapses.

Conclusion and Future Perspective

These analyses of the published studies included in this chapter show that performing auto-HSCT without cryopreservation is possible. Although the toxicity and directly related side effects of DMSO infusion are negligible in the study population of CRYO patients, non-cryopreserved products were associated with a lower incidence of severe mucositis and febrile neutropenia. Hence, a significantly shorter hospital stay is required without sacrificing the overall response rate and survival. These results are of utmost significance because they favor better treatment tolerance and, by being cost-effective, they give obvious relief to the increasingly overloaded and already overwhelmed public health care systems.

References

- Ahmed T, Wuest D, Ciavarella D, Ayello J, Feldman EJ, Biguzzi S, Gulati S et al (1991) Marrow storage techniques: a clinical comparison of refrigeration versus cryopreservation. Acta Haematol 85(4):173–178. https://doi.org/10.1159/000204886
- Al-Anazi KA (2012) Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple myeloma without cryopreservation. Bone Marrow Res 2012:917361
- Andre M, Henry-Amar M, Pico JL, Brice P, Blaise D, Kuentz M, Coiffier B et al (1999) Comparison of high dose therapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation with conventional therapy for Hodgkin's disease induction failure: a case-control study. Société Française de Greffe de Moelle. J Clin Oncol 17(1):222–229. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1999.17.1.222
- Bakken AM (2006) Cryopreserving human peripheral blood progenitor cells. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 1(1):47–54
- Baldomero H, Gratwohl M, Gratwohl A, Tichelli A, Niederwieser D, Madrigal A, Frauendorfer K et al (2011) The EBMT activity survey 2009: trends over the past 5 years. Bone Marrow Transplant 46(4):485–501. https://doi.org/10.1038/bmt.2011.11
- Baldomero H, Aljurf M, Zaidi A, Hashmi SK, Ghavamzadeh A, Elhaddad A et al (2019) Narrowing the gap for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the East-Mediterranean/African region: comparison with global HSCT indications and trends. Bone Marrow Transplant 54:402–417
- Bekadja MA, Bouhass RA (2015) Non cryopreserved peripheral stem cell (PCS) autograft for multiple myeloma and lymphoma in developing countries. Int J Hematol Ther 1(1):1–6
- Bekadja MA, Brahimi M, Osmani S, Arabi A, Bouhass R, Yafour N et al (2012) A simplified method for autologous stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma. Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther 5(1):49–53
- Bekadja MA, Brahimi M, Osmani S, Yafour N, Krim A, Serradj F et al (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in Algeria. Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther 10:311–314
- Bekadja MA, Talhi S, Amani K, Osmani S, Brahimi M, Mazari MA et al (2018) Outcomes of modified-eam conditioned autologous non-cryopreserved hematopoietic SCT for lymphoma. A retrospective single-centre study. Bone Marrow Transplant 53(12):1596–1598
- Bekadja MA, Boumendil A, Didier Blaise D, Patrice Chevallier P, Peggs KS, Gilles Salles G et al (2021) Non-cryopreserved hematopoietic stem cells in autograft patients with lymphoma: a matched-pair analysis comparing a single center experience with the use of cryopreserved stem
cells reported to the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation registry. Cytotherapy 23(6):483-487

- Berz D, McCormack EM, Winer ES et al (2007) Cryopreservation of hematopoietic stem cells. Am J Hematol 82(6):463–472
- Bezwoda WR, Dansey R, Seymour L (1994) Non-cryopreserved, limited number (1 or 2) peripheral blood progenitor cell (PBPC) collections following GCSF administration provide adequate hematologic support for high dose chemotherapy. Hematol Oncol 12(3):101–110
- Billen D (1957) Recovery of lethally irradiated mice by treatment with bone marrow cells maintained in vitro. Nature 179(4559):574–575
- Bittencourt MCB, Mariano L, Moreira F, Schmidt-Filho J, Mendrone-Jr A, Rocha V (2019) Cryopreserved versus non-cryopreserved peripheral blood stem cells for autologous transplantation after high-dose Melphalan in multiple myeloma: comparative analysis. Bone Marrow Transplant 54(1):138–141
- Burnett AK, Tansey P, Hills C, Alcorn MJ, Sheehan T, McDonald GA et al (1983) Haematological reconstitution following high dose and supralethal chemo-radiotherapy using stored, non-cryopreserved autologous bone marrow. Br J Haematol 54(2):309–316
- Carella AM, Bellei M, Brice P et al (2009) High-dose therapy and autologous stem cell transplantation versus conventional therapy for patients with advanced Hodgkin's lymphoma responding to front-line therapy: long-term results. Haematologica 94(1):146–148
- Cook G, Williams C, Brown JM et al (2014) High-dose chemotherapy plus autologous stem-cell transplantation as consolidation therapy in patients with relapsed multiple myeloma after previous autologous stem-cell transplantation (NCRI Myeloma X Relapse (Intensive trial)): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 15(8):874–885
- Cuellar-Ambrosi F, Karduss UA, Gomez WR et al (2004) Hematologic reconstitution following high-dose and supra lethal chemoradiotherapy using stored, noncryopreserved autologous hematopoietic stem cells. Transplant Proc 36(6):1704–1705
- Demirer T, Petersen FB, Bensinger WI et al (1996) Autologous transplantation with peripheral blood stem cells collected after granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 18(1):29–34
- Douay L, Gorin NC, David R, Stachowiak J, Salmon C, Najman A et al (1982) Study of granulocyte-macrophage progenitor (CFUc) preservation after slow freezing of bone marrow in the gas phase of liquid nitrogen. Exp Hematol 10:360–366
- Fermand JP, Katsahian S, Divine M et al (2005) High-dose therapy and autologous blood stem-cell transplantation compared with conventional treatment in myeloma patients aged 55 to 65 years: long-term results of a randomized control trial from the Group Myelome-Autogreffe. J Clin Oncol 23(36):9227–9233
- Fitoussi O, Belhadj K, Mounier N et al (2011) Survival impact of rituximab combined with ACVBP and upfront consolidation autotransplantation in high-risk diffuse large B-cell lymphoma for GELA. Haematologica 96(8):1136–1143
- Fleming KK, Hubel A (2006) Cryopreservation of hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic stem cells. Transfus Apher Sci 34(3):309–315
- Ford CD, Greenwood J, Anderson J et al (2006) CD34+ cell adhesion molecule profiles differ between patients mobilized with granulocyte- colony-stimulating factor alone and chemotherapy followed by granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor. Transfusion 46(2):193–198
- Fricker SP (2013) Physiology and pharmacology of plerixafor. Transfus Med Hemother 40(4): 237–245. https://doi.org/10.1159/000354132
- Gale RP, Ruiz-Arguelles GJ (2018) The big freeze may be over: a contracting universe for cryopreservation? Bone Marrow Transplant 53(8):947–948
- Garifullin A, Voloshin S, Linnikov S, Kuzyaeva A, Balashova V, Chebukina Z et al (2021) The use of non-cryopreserved and cryopreserved hematopoietic stem cells for auto transplantation in multiple myeloma. HemaSphere 5:S2. https://doi.org/10.1097/HS9.000000000000566. Abstract Book
- Gorin NC (1986) Collection, manipulation and freezing of haemopoietic stem cells. Clin Haematol 15:19–48

- Gorin NC, Duhamel G (1975) La congelation de moelle osseuse. Rev Franc Transfusion Immunohematol 18:289–300
- Gorin NC, Duhamel G (1978) Conservation de cellules souches hematopoietiques par congelation lente et elimination de la chaleur de fusion. Acad Sci Paris 286:547–550
- Gorin NC, Elgjio R, Stout J, Knutsen T (1978a) Long term preservation of canine bone marrow: in vitro studies. Blood Cells 4:419–429
- Gorin NC, Herzig G, Bull MI, Graw RG (1978b) Long term preservation of bone marrow and stem cell pool in dogs. Blood 51:257–265
- Hahn T, McCarthy PL, Carreras J, Zhang MJ, Lazarus HM, Laport GG, Montoto S (2013) Simplified validated prognostic model for progression-free survival after autologous transplantation for hodgkin lymphoma. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 19(12):1740–1744. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.09.018
- Haider KH (2017) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the quality matters. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7:6
- Harif M (2019) Special report: summary of the first meeting of African Blood and Marrow Transplantation (AfBMT) group, Casablanca, Morocco, April 19–21, 2018 held under the auspices of the Worldwide Network for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (WBMT)
- Hechler G, Weide R, Heymanns J, Koppler H, Havemann K (1996) Storage of non cryopreservedperiphered blood stem cells for transplantation. Ann Hematol 72(5):303–306. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s002770050176
- Hoyt R, Szer J, Grigg A (2000) Neurological events associated with the infusion of cryopreserved bone marrow and/or peripheral blood progenitor cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 25(12): 1285–1287. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bmt.1702443
- Isidori A, Piccaluga PP, Loscocco F, Guiducci B, Barulli S, Ricciardi T, Picardi P et al (2013) Highdose therapy followed by stem cell transplantation in Hodgkin's lymphoma: past and future. Expert Rev Hematol 6(4):451–464. https://doi.org/10.1586/17474086.2013.814451
- Jaimovich G, Rolon JM, Baldomero H, Rivas M, Hanesman I, Bouzas L (2017) Latin America: the next region for haematopoietic transplant progress. Bone Marrow Transplant 2017:1–7
- Jennane S, Hasnaoui N, Mahtat EM, Merimi F, Bouzar S, Elmaaroufi H et al (2020) Non-cryopreservedperipyeral blood stem cells autologous transplantation in multiple myeloma: Bicentric study. Transfus Clin Biol 27:152–156
- Karduss-Urueta A, Ruiz-Arguelles GJ, Perez R, Ruiz-Delgado GJ, Cardona AM, Labastida-Mercado N et al (2014) Cell-freezing devices are not strictly needed to start an autologous hematopoietic transplantation program: non-cryopreserved peripheral blood stem cells can be used to restore hematopoiesis after high dose chemotherapy: a multicenter experience in 268 autografts in patients with multiple myeloma or lymphoma. Study on behalf of the Latin-American Bone Marrow Transplantation Group (LABMT). Blood 124:849
- Karduss-Urueta A, Gale RP, Gutierrez-Aguirre CH, Herrera-Rojas MA, Murrieta-Alvarez I, Perez-Fontalvo R et al (2018) Freezing the graft is not necessary for autotransplants for plasma cell myeloma and lymphomas. Bone Marrow Transplant 53(4):457–460
- Kayal S, Sharma A, Iqbal S, Tejomurtula T, Cyriac SL, Raina V (2014) High-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma: a single institution experience at all India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, using non-cryopreserved peripheral blood stem cells. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 14(2):140–147
- Kessinger A, Armitage JO, Landmark JD et al (1986) Reconstitution of human hematopoietic function with autologous cryopreserved circulating stem cells. Exp Hematol 14(3):192–196
- Kessinger A, Armitage JO, Landmark JD et al (1988) Autologous peripheral hematopoietic stem cell transplantation restores hematopoietic function following marrow ablative therapy. Blood 71(3):723–727
- Kristinsson SY, Anderson WF, Landgren O (2014) Improved long term survival in multiple myeloma up to the age of 80 years. Leukemia 28(6):1346–1348
- Kulkarni U, Devasia AJ, Korula A, Fouzia NA, Nisham PN, Samoon YJ, Lakshmi KM et al (2018) Use of non-cryopreserved peripheral blood stem cells is associated with adequate engraftment in

patients with multiple myeloma undergoing an autologous transplant. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 24(12):e31-e35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.08.007

- Lanza F, Campioni DC, Hellmann A et al (2013) Individual quality assessment of autografting by probability estimation for clinical endpoints: a prospective validation study from the European group for blood and marrow transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 19(12):1670–1676
- Lobo F, Kessinger A, Landmark JD, Smith DM, Weisenburger DD, Wigton RS, Armitage JO (1991) Addition of peripheral blood stem cells collected without mobilization techniques to transplanted autologous bone marrow did not hasten marrow recovery following myeloablative therapy. Bone Marrow Transplant 8(5):389–392
- Lopez-Otero A, Ruiz-Delgado GJ, Ruiz-Arguelles GJ (2009) A simplified method for stem cell autografting in multiple myeloma: a single institution experience. Bone Marrow Transplant 44(11):715–719
- Mabed M, Al-Kgodary T (2006) Cyclophosphamide, etoposide and carboplatine plus non-cryopreserved autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation rescue for patients with refractory or relapsed non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Bone Marrow Transplant 37(8): 739–743
- Mabed M, Shamaa S (2006) High-dose chemotherapy plus non-cryopreserved autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation rescue for patients with refractory or relapsed Hodgkin disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 12(9):942–948
- Milpied N (2013) Myeloablation for lymphoma question answered? N Engl J Med 369(18): 1750–1751
- Mohamed SY, Fadhil I, Hamladji RM, Elhaddad A, Hamladji RM, Bazarbachi A, Ibrahim A et al (2011) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMRO) 2008–2009: report on behalf of the Eastern Mediterranean Bone Marrow Transplantation (EMBMT) Group. Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther 4(2):81–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. hemonc.2015.09.002
- Moreau P, Avet-Loiseau H, Harousseau JL, Attal M (2011) Current trends in autologous stem-cell transplantation for myeloma in the era of novel therapies. J Clin Oncol 29(14):1898–1906. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.32.5878
- Naithani R, Dayal N, Pathak S, Rai R (2018) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using non-cryopreserved peripheral blood stem cells graft is effective in multiple myeloma and lymphoma. Bone Marrow Transplant 53(9):1198–1200. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41409-018-0174-9
- Palumbo A, Sezer O, Kyle R, Miguel JS, Orlowski RZ, Moreau P, Niescizky R et al (2009) International Myeloma Working Group guidelines for the management of multiple myeloma patients ineligible for standard high-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell transplantation. Leukemia 23(10):1716–1730. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2009.122
- Papadimitriou CA, Dimopoulos MA, Kouvelis V, Kostis E, Kapsimali V, Contoyannis D, Anagnostopoulos A et al (2000) Non-cryopreserved peripheral blood progenitor cells collected by a single very large-volume leukapheresis: a simplified and effective procedure for support of high-dose chemotherapy. J Clin Apher 15(4):236–241. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-1101(2000)15:4<236::aid-jca4>3.0.co;2-r
- Philip T, Guglielmi C, Hagenbeek A, Smers R, van der Lelie H, Bron D, Sonneveld P et al (1995) Autologous bone marrow transplantation as compared with salvage chemotherapy in relapses of chemotherapy-sensitive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 333(23):1540–1545. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199512073332305
- Piriyakhuntom P, Tantiworati A, Rattanathammethee T, Hantrakool S, Chai-Adisaksopha C, Rattarittamrong E, Norasetthada L (2020) Outcomes of non-cryopreserved versus cryopreserved peripheral blood stem cells for autologous stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma. Ann Transplant 25:e927084. https://doi.org/10.12659/AOT.927084
- Preti RA, Razis E, Ciavarella D, Fan Y, Kuhns RE, Cook P, Wong G (1994) Clinical and laboratory comparison study of refrigerated and cryopreserved bone marrow for transplant. Bone Marrow Transplant 13(3):253–260

- Rajkumar SV (2011) Multiple myeloma: 2011 update on diagnosis, risk-stratification, and management. Am J Hematol 86(1):57–65
- Ramzi M, Mohamadian M, Vojdani R, Dehghani M, Nourani H, Zakerinia M, Haghighinejad H (2012a) Autologous non-cryopreserved hematopoietic stem cell transplant with CEAM as a modified conditioning regimen in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma: a single-center experience with a new protocol. Exp Clin Transplant 10(2):163–167. https://doi.org/10.6002/ect.2011.0092
- Ramzi M, Zakerinia M, Nourani H, Dehghani M, Vojdani R, Haghighinejad H (2012b) Non-cryopreserved hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma, a single center experience. Clin Transpl 26(1):117–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2011.01432.x
- Rancea M, Will A, Borchmann P, Monsef I, Engert A, Skoetz N (2013) Fifteenth biannual report of the Cochrane Haematological Malignancies Group – focus on non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 105(15):1159–1170. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djt165
- Redondo AM, Pomares H, Vidal MJ, Pascual MJ, Quereda B, Sancho JM, Polo M et al (2014) Impact of prior rituximab on outcomes of autologous stem-cell transplantation in patients with relapsed or refractory aggressive B-cell lymphoma: a multicenter retrospective Spanish group of lymphoma/autologous bone marrow transplant study. Br J Haematol 164(5):668–674. https:// doi.org/10.1111/bjh.12676
- Ruiz-Arguelles GJ, Gomez-Rangel D, Ruiz-Delgado GJ, Ruiz-Argüelles A, Pérez-Romano B, Rivadeneyra L (2003) Results of an autologous noncryopreserved, unmanipulated peripheral blood hematopoietic stem cell transplant program: a single-institution, 10-year experience. Acta Haematol 110(4):179–183. https://doi.org/10.1159/000074221
- Salek D, Vesela P, Boudova L, Janikova A, Klener P, Vokurka S, Jankovska M et al (2014) Retrospective analysis of 235 unselected patients with mantle cell lymphoma confirms prognostic relevance of Mantle Cell Lymphoma International Prognostic Index and Ki-67 in the era of rituximab: long-term data from the Czech Lymphoma Project Database. Leuk Lymphoma 55(4):802–810. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2013.815349
- Sarmiento M, Ramirez P, Parody R, Salas MQ, Beffermann N, Jara V et al (2018) Advantages of non-cryopreserved autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation against a cryopreserved strategy. Bone Marrow Transplant 53(8):960–966
- Shin HJ, Lee WS, Lee HS, Kim H, Lee GW, Song MK, Kim JS et al (2014) Busulfan-containing conditioning regimens are optimal preparative regimens for autologous stem cell transplant in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma 55(11):2490–2496. https://doi. org/10.3109/10428194.2014.882504
- Sierra J, Conde E, Iriondo A, Brunet S, Marin J, Perez de Oteiza J, Caballero D et al (1993) Frozen vs. nonfrozen bone marrow for autologous transplantation in lymphomas: a report from the Spanish GEL/TAMO Cooperative Group. Ann Hematol 67(3):111–114. https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF01701731
- Smith RJ, Sweetenham JW (1995) A mononuclear cell dose of 3 x 10(8)/kg predicts early multilineage recovery in patients with malignant lymphoma treated with carmustine, etoposide, Ara-C and melphalan (BEAM) and peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation. Exp Hematol 23(14):1581–1588
- Stiff PJ, Unger JM, Cook JR, Constine LS, Couban S, Stewart DA, Shea TC (2013) Autologous transplantation as consolidation for aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 369(18):1681–1690. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1301077
- Storb R, Graham TC, Epstein RB, Sale GE, Thomas ED (1977) Demonstration of hemopoietic stem cells in the peripheral blood of baboons by cross circulation. Blood 50:537–542
- Talhi S, Osmani S, Brahimi M, Yafour N, Bouhass R, Arabi A, Bekadja MA (2013) The use of granulocyte colony stimulating factoR (G-CSF) (filgrastim) alone in the mobilization of stem cell in the autologous stem cell transplantation. Transfus Apher Sci 49(1):97–99. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.transci.2013.02.044
- Tosi P, Imola M, Mianulli AM, Tomassetti S, Merli A, Molinari A, Mangianti S (2012) Update on the role of autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis 4(1):e2012069. https://doi.org/10.4084/MJHID.2012.069

- Van Den Neste E, Casasnovas O, André M, Touati M, Senecal D, Edeline V, Stamatoullas A et al (2013) Classical Hodgkin's lymphoma: the Lymphoma Study Association guidelines for relapsed and refractory adult patients eligible for transplant. Haematologica 98(8):1185–1195. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2012.072090
- Visani G, Picardi P, Tosi P, Gonella R, Loscocco F, Ricciardi T, Malerba L (2012) Autologous stem cell transplantation for aggressive lymphomas. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis 4(1):e2012075. https://doi.org/10.4084/MJHID.2012.075
- Wannesson L, Panzarella T, Mikhael J, Keating A (2007) Feasibility and safety of autotransplants with noncryopreserved marrow or peripheral blood stem cells: a systematic review. Ann Oncol 18(4):623–632
- Windrum P, Morris TC (2003) Severe neurotoxicity because of dimethyl sulphoxide following peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 31(4):315
- Yafour N, Brahimi M, Osmani S, Arabi A, Bouhass R, Bekadja MA (2013) Biosimilar G-CSF (filgrastim) is effective for peripheral blood stem cell mobilization and non-cryopreserved autologous transplantation. Transfus Clin Biol 20(5–6):502–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tracli.2013.04.109



A Multilevel Approach to the Causes of Genetic Instability in Stem Cells

49

Elio A. Prieto Gonzalez

Contents

Introduction	1448		
DNA Damage Response in Stem Cells	1449		
Factors That Influence DNA Stability in Stem Cells			
Oxidative Stress	1452		
Senescence as a Factor Inducing Stem Cells Genomic Instability	1454		
Aging and Genomic Instability in Stem Cells	1454		
Telomere Damage and Genetic Instability in Stem Cells			
Aneuploidy as an Expression of Genome Instability	1459		
Influence of Genomic Arrangement in the Nucleus on Aneuploidy			
Lamins Alterations and Aneuploidy	1460		
Replicative Stress/Replication Timing as Causes of Genome Instability	1461		
Cell Origin as Source of Genome Instability			
Adipose Stem Cells (ASC)	1463		
Embryonic Stem Cells	1464		
Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells	1468		
Effect of Reprogramming Methods on Genetic Instability	1470		
Mutations Induced During Reprogramming	1471		
Culture Conditions, the Passage Number	1473		
The Bystander Effect	1476		
Instability Factors Related to Donors	1477		
Conclusion	1480		
Cross-References			
References			

E. A. Prieto Gonzalez (🖂)

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6_26

Centre for Advanced Studies in Humanities and Health Sciences, Interamerican Open University, Buenos Aires, Argentina

ISALUD University, Nutrition Career, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: Elio.Prieto@UAI.edu.ar

Abstract

This chapter addresses the genetic instability in stem cells, a central feature that is an important determinant for the safety and effectiveness of cell-based therapies. First, DNA damage response mechanism and the gene network that regulates the DNA integrity homeostasis are revisited, focusing on relationship between genetic integrity and stemness maintenance. Also, several factors have been included that influence genetic instability in vivo, i.e., ROS generation and inflammation, and in vitro regarding cell isolation, culture conditions, i.e., oxygen levels and the use of feeder layers and different carriers, splitting procedures, passage number, etc. Telomere shortening, replicative senescence aneuploidy, and the senescence-associated secretory phenotype are different processes involved in deterioration of stem cells abilities for homing, reparability, and paracrine modulation. Moreover, less effective DNA repair upon senescence increases the propensity of developing tumors for stem cells that is one the main concerns related to genetic instability in stem cells. Nuclear organization and their determinants linked to chromosome aberrations and aneuploidy in stem cells and those epigenetic changes affecting stability are addressed. Differences between adipose, embryonic, and induced pluripotent stem cells are analyzed regarding to their ontogeny, changes in culture, and variation in proliferative capacity and stemness. The effect of reprogramming methods in genetic instability and variation in mutagenicity according to genes utilized for pluripotency induction, i.e., Yamanaka's factors and others, is discussed. Donor-related factors, i.e., age, smoking, and alcohol consumption, comorbidities, i.e., obesity, insulin resistance, diabetes, are mentioned for wide evaluation of genetic instability. The next years must witness consensus protocols that will contribute to control the effects of factors that alter stem cell genetic stability to increase the security and applicability of cell-based therapy.

Keywords

Genetic · Instability · Reprogramming · Stem cells · Stemness · Telomere

Abbreviations	
ASC	Adipose stem cells
AT	Adipose tissue
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATR	ATM- and Rad3-related serine/threonine kinase
BATF	Basic leucine zipper transcription factor – ATF-like
BER	Base excision repair
BID	BH3 interacting domain death agonist
BM-hMSC	Bone marrow human mesenchymal stem cell
BRCA1	BReast CAncer gene 1
CASP	Caspase
Cdc25a	Cycle regulator phosphatase

CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase p16Ink4a
CENP-A	Centromere histone H3 variant
Cernunnos/XLF	Nonhomologous end-joining factor 1
CHK1/2	Checkpoint kinase 1 and 2
c-MYC	Transcription factor, proto-oncogene
CNVs	Copy number variations
CT	Chromosome territories
DBC1	Deleted in bladder cancer protein 1
DDR	DNA damage response
DDT	DNA damage tolerance
DNA-PKcs	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DPPA3	Developmental pluripotency-associated protein-3
DSBs	Double-stranded breaks
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cells
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
Exo1	Exonuclease 1
FISH	Fluorescent in situ hybridization
FOXO	Forkhead box O1 transcription factor
hADSC	Human adipose-derived stem cells
hESCs	Human ESCs
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α
hiPSCs	Human induced pluripotent stem cells
hPSCs	Human pluripotent stem cells
HR	Homologous recombination
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cells
hTR	Noncoding human telomerase RNA
ICLR	Interstrand cross-link repair
IDH2	Isocitrate dehydrogenase-2
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
Klf4	Krüppel-like factor 4
LIN28A	Lin-28 homolog A, RNA-binding protein
MAPK p38	Mitogen-activated protein kinase 38
MDC1	Mediator of DNA damage checkpoint 1
mESC	Mouse embryonic stem cells
MMR	Mismatch repair
MN/CB	Micronucleus with cytochalasin B
MNR	Trimeric complex (Mre11, Rad50, and Nbs1)
MRE11	Homolog double-strand break repair nuclease
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MUSE	Multilineage-differentiating stress-enduring
NANOG	Nanog homeobox transcription factor
NBS1	Nijmegen breakage syndrome 1
NER	Nucleotide excision repair
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kB

NHEJ	Nonhomologous end joining
NPM2	Nucleoplasmin-2
NSC	Neural stem cells
Oct-4	Octamer-binding transcription factor 4, POU5F1
p21/WAF1	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A
p53	p53 tumor suppressor gene
PARP1	Poly-ADP ribose polymerase 1
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
Pi3KK	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related kinase
PPR	Post-replication repair
PSCs	Pluripotent stem cells
RAD17	Checkpoint clamp loader component
RAD18	RAD18 E3 ubiquitin protein ligase
RAD50	Double-strand break repair protein
RAD9	Cell cycle checkpoint control gene RAD9A
Rb	Rb tumor suppressor gene
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RS	Replicative stress
RT	Replication-timing
SASP	Senescence-associated secretory phenotype
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SOX-2	Transcription factor SRY (sex determining region Y)-box
TAD	Topological associated domains
TCR	Transcription coupled repair
TLS	Trans-lesion synthesis
TRA-1-60	Pluripotency stem cell marker
USSCs	Human unrestricted somatic stem cells
XPA XPA	DNA damage recognition and repair factor
γH2AX	Histone H2AX

Introduction

In stem cells, genomic instability is crucial and determines the suitability for a proper and safe use in stem cell-based therapy. One of the interpretations of genomic instability is the accumulation of changes that modify genome structure, a situation that is manifested as the sustained increase in translocations, deletions, or duplications that may result in chromosome number variation, but also when is undetectable through karyotype analysis and occurs at molecular level without evident ploidy alterations, referred as the copy number variations (CNVs) (Shen 2011).

Genome stability relies on cellular processes that controls DNA metabolism, i.e., replication, transcription, damage repair, and chromatin remodeling. Those process that are implicit in DNA functioning must be tightly coordinated through checkpoints controlling passages between cell cycle stages, allowing progression and detention when is needed (Hartwell 1992). The cellular checkpoints convey signals

that may trigger DNA repair so as to assure the fidelity of genetic information transmission between cells generations. Along cell cycle, there are different checkpoints that may slow its progression to facilitate damage repair, e.g., M phase checkpoint that guarantees the completeness of DNA replication before mitosis begins. Indeed homeostasis in cells and tissues are preserved via apoptosis induction if DNA damage is too high to be fixed by DNA repair mechanism (Lo Furno et al. 2016; Toledo 2020; Giacosa et al. 2021).

DNA Damage Response in Stem Cells

DNA repair mechanisms are intended to restore the integrity of genetic message, eliminating those changes in DNA molecules that could affect the fidelity of genetic information. These include nucleotide excision repair (NER), base excision repair short and long (BER), mismatch repair (MMR), and transcription coupled repair (TCR). Also, the error free homologous recombination (HR) and those error-prone mechanisms like nonhomologous end-joining repair, interstrand cross-link repair (ICLR), and post-replication repair (PPR). Malfunction of any of these mechanisms may increase genetic instability via generation of chromosomal or sub-chromosomal aberrations or indirectly through provoking mutation affecting repair checkpoints genes or other genes involved in DDR that may affect genomic stability and result in a mutated phenotype. In fact there are many reports on the overexpression of genes responsible for most of the DDR mechanism in stem progenitor cells compared with those active in adult mature cells. DDR in stem cells have been recently reviewed (Mani et al. 2020).

There are many gene families that are involved in DNA damage detection, signaling, and processing; one of them is the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related kinase (Pi3KK) which includes ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM), DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PKcs), and ATM- and Rad3-related serine/threo-nine kinase (ATR), and those enzymes are implicated in the maintenance of genomic instability in stem cells. In mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), there are evidences of linking ATM decline with progressive lowering of the ability to respond to replicative errors as well to genotoxic damage that arises during long-term expansion in culture (Shiloh and Ziv 2013; Beckta et al. 2017). ATM plays a principal role in repairing the highly lethal double-strand breaks (DSB). ATM responds mainly to DSB and to changes in chromatin DSB, while ATR become active after nucleotide damages, impairment in replication-fork progression and also to DSB. DNA-PKcs is linked to NHEJ. CHK1/2 favors DNA repair by reducing the cell cycle progression through modification in the state of master cell cycle regulators like CDC25 proteins (Lo Furno et al. 2016).

Pi3kk triggers a phosphorylation cascade that modulates the activation of downstream genes in the repair circuit, i.e., p53, BRCA1, and CHK1. Protein products of that genes are assembled in the reparosome at DNA damage sites and provokes several relevant actions beside DNA repair, i.e., promoting the blockade of DNA replication and mitosis until DNA damage is fixed; however, in certain circumstances, the apoptotic response may also be induced. Phosphorylation of histone H2AX (γ H2AX) that is a reliable signal of genetic instability is a consequence of ATR action, that is triggered by single-strand regions that appears if replication fork is delayed or stopped at damaged sites in DNA. ATR is also activated when double-strand breaks are present (Lo Furno et al. 2016).

ATM is combined to trimeric complex MNR (Mre11, Rad50, and Nbs1) that is gathered at DSB sites, keeping the extremes of the gaps to be repaired. ATM is activated through shifting to an active monomer that begins to acts as a kinase over the substrates P53, BRCA1, CHK2, RAD17, RAD9, and NBS1 in order to build up repair foci. ATM is able to phosphorylate MDC1, Rad18, p53-binding protein 1 (53BP1), and BRCA1 to trigger DBSs repair of the two main mechanism involved in this branch of DDR, homologous recombination (HR) or nonhomologous end-joining repair (NHEJ) (Lukas et al. 2011; Nair et al. 2017). DNA damage response mechanisms are crucial to avoid the deleterious effects of DSB that are repaired mainly through NHEJ mechanism that is related to the ATM pathway.

An example of the significance of ATM for DNA damage repair response is seen in MSCs from FVB/N mice strain, which expressed a significant increase in micronucleus with cytochalasin B (MN/CB) frequency, both spontaneous and related to gamma irradiation, and also in DSB. Frequency of both lesions of MN/CB and DSB showed an additive effect of aging and genotoxic stress. Correspondingly these cells diminished their ability to detect DNA damage, as expressed in less γ H2AX/53BP1 DNA foci formation, less DNA repair, and increased residual DNA breakage when cultured over 8 weeks. In the first week of culture, a strong response of ATM was present, but 8 weeks later, ATM impairment resulted in reduced DDR (Hladik et al. 2019).

ATM importance for genetic instability in stem cells can't be underestimated. The p53/ATM network is involved in DNA damage recognition and the triggering of DDR but also in the initiation of apoptosis. Notably, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), that shows a reduced less ATM phosphorylation activity, exhibits an increased apoptotic response when treated with low level radiation. There are evidences that cells affected by certain mutations in p53 develops an increase in interchromosomal translocations and defective G (2)/M checkpoint. Those p53 gain of function mutations promote the association of p53 to Mre-11 nuclease therefore affecting the assembly of MNR complex (Mre11-Rad50-NBS1), and this malfunction of MNR impairs its binding to DNA DSB that results in a deficient triggering of ATM function (Song et al. 2007). There is a report on the abnormal karyotype in knockout ATM tail-tip fibroblasts that albeit exhibited a lower reprogramming efficiency, their descendant iIPS conserved their pluripotency for 20 passages. A result that emphasizes the main role of ATM in stem cells genetic stability, but also is a warning for the possibility therapeutic use of genetic unstable cells that in spite of that risky conditions may be able to proliferate and differentiate, eventually in a tumor growth (Kinoshita et al. 2011).

There are reports connecting low activity in ATM with reduction in iPSCs differentiation as well as increased genomic instability (Nagaria et al. 2016). Efficiency in reprogramming cells to iPSCs is reduced in cells where ATM pathway is

impaired and is associated with more genomic variation. When was evaluated the effect on genomic variation over the frequency of CNV in the boundaries of ATM gene, those ATM-CNV bearing iPSCs showed a higher susceptibility to genome instability than wild type cells. The greater effect of impaired DDR resultant from a higher frequency of CNV affecting the gene provoking ATM-deficiency was evident at earlier stages after retrovirus-based reprogramming (Lu et al. 2016).

There is a group of effectors that participate in the choice between proliferation and differentiation in stem cells. These processes are strictly regulated so as to favor the right number of and the kind of pluripotent cells in each moment during embryogenesis and organogenesis. The coordinated generation and the proper decision in each cell population is also necessary for the repair and regeneration of damaged tissues, or in response to renovation needs in the adult individual. Among those proteins that are involved in the control of those orchestrated decisions is geminin that is a target for the cyclosome, or anaphase-promoting complex. Geminin acts as an inhibitor of pre-replication through binding to Cdt1 pre-replicative complex and avoids alterations in replication timing. Geminin expression is greater in late S phase and during G2, and this factor is also a key element in the neurogenesis (Kushwaha et al. 2016). Geminin interacts with members of the suppressive polycomb protein family as well as with the trithorax group of proteins that regulates neuronal development. The tuning in these network allows geminin to participate in the regulation of Hox genes among many others that controls the differentiation routes in progenitor cells (Kingston and Tamkun 2014; Lau and So 2015).

Geminin prevents pre-replication of DNA that may lead to re-replication and genomic instability. However, it seems not to be a universal characteristic, as is evident in the fact that abrogation of geminin in a murine model for brain and hematopoietic development did not increase genomic instability nor the frequency of DNA damage in this model. The complexity of its actions does not seem to be restricted to genome protection, and even this property is controversial because geminin overexpression is present in cancer cells, a "Janus" behavior that is exemplified in the geminin-induced upregulation of 24 genes involved in transition from epithelial to triple negative breast cancer metastasis, homing and stemness in cancer stem cells. Geminin is an example of the series of factors that participate in genomic stability maintenance and could be considered as next target for genetic stability interventions (Sami et al. 2021; Montanari et al. 2006).

Factors That Influence DNA Stability in Stem Cells

One of the aspects that must be addressed when considering the requirements for stem cell therapeutic applications is the genomic instability, because it is a condition that could hamper the outcome of stem cell transplantation. Microenvironment, where stem cells are introduced in order to be expanded, poses a threat to cells stability. The delicate homeostatic balance in the transplanted cell is affected by several factors like oxygen level, pH, and inflammation in donor tissues and ROS (reactive oxygen species) levels in vivo and ex vivo, among several ones (Aerts-Kaya 2020). Superoxide anion as well as hydrogen peroxide are generated not only in donor environment but also during handling; hydrogen peroxide is not a ROS but can be easily converted in that, through Fenton or Haber Weiss reactions, where transition metals participates. Hydrogen peroxide is also involved in intracellular signaling as well in pathogen destruction when is liberated by immune cells like neutrophils. ROS are well-known DNA damaging agents that may lead to genomic instability (Barzilai and Yamamoto 2004; Seddon et al. 2021).

Among the factors that increased mutation frequency in hESCs (human ESCs), one that cannot be excluded is the composition of culture medium, the origin of feeder layer, the passaging method utilized, the freeze thawing procedure, and oxygen level, that is known to generate more instability at normoxia (21%) than at hypoxia (2%). The plate or flasks where cells are cultured influence stem cell fate, and it have been reported that expansion of ESCs in microcarriers for several months conserves pluripotency besides their cytogenetic stability and normal karyotype (Oliveira et al. 2014).

Oxidative Stress

DNA can be damaged by oxidative stress generating a large array of base modifications being the commonest 8-oxoguanine, a lesion that is not only highly mutagenic but also accumulates with age. This lesion triggers base excision repair (BER) a mechanism that removes the damaged base and produces a single-strand break in the DNA before filling it with a new non-affected base. Strand breaks in one or both strands induces poly-ADP ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1), an enzyme that is more active with age, and leads to a greater frequency of DNA breaks in older subjects (Petr et al. 2020).

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) utilizes a preventive strategy so as to avoid ROS-provoked DNA damage based on the maintenance of a hypoxic state (Goto et al. 2014; Testa et al. 2016). This implies a substitution of cell respiration in mitochondria by glycolysis in order to produce ATP, and shifting again toward mitochondrial respiration when cells reenter cell cycle. This contraption works as an antioxidant defense mechanism, because respiration ROS generation is lowered and consequently DNA oxidative damage is reduced (Takubo et al. 2013). Cells during culture experiences high metabolic exigence that increases as culture time does and the cells experienced a greater number of passages. High metabolic rate is a cause of leakage in the electronic transport chain that leads to ROS generation and genetic damage. The margin for ROS levels in cells that undergoes reprogramming is narrow. Low levels affect reprogramming while high impairs differentiation. That poses an strict dependence of reprogramming success on the correspondence of oxygen level in culture with the cell type, its age and the specific characteristic of culture conditions (Henry et al. 2019; Zhou et al. 2016; Rönn et al. 2017). The recent demonstration of the role of NADPH oxidase, a master factor in oxidative balance, in the fate of stem cells, remarks the importance of the maintenance of oxidative homeostasis over stemness during ex vivo cells expansion (Maraldi et al. 2021).

When DNA mutations favors an increase in ROS generation, the self-renewal capacity of HSCs is hampered. ROS generation is augmented when ATM, a checkpoint for DNA damage, is abrogated. This is a curious relationship between a component of DDR, ROS generation, and cell cycle progression in HSCs. The higher ROS production reduces self-renewal capacity through activation of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) p16Ink4a and the tumor suppressor gene Rb, but in addition, interrupts quiescent state by inducing p38 kinase (Ito et al. 2004). This effect have also been observed in neural stem cells (NSCs) (Kim and Wong 2009); it is an expression of the importance of ATM pathway in DNA damage response against different stressors and the interconnection between a DNA damaging responsive kinase like ATM and induction of oxidative stress (Kitagawa and Kastan 2005).

Another link with DNA function is that of FOXO, a transcription factor that is induced in response to oxidative stress, stimulates Rb and p53 activation that reduces quiescence and self-renewal in these cells. There is a relative antagonism between quiescence and ROS generation that favors reentering cell cycle through reactivation cyclin-dependent kinase. FOXO p53 and Rb are necessary to limit oxidative stress DNA damage and genome instability (Bigarella et al. 2014; Burkhalter et al. 2015). The main HSCs functions, self-renewal and differentiation, are controlled by intrinsic mechanisms, transcriptional and epigenetic regulator hormones, and cytokines but also by the close bone marrow microenvironment. HSCs are commonly assumed to reside within the hypoxic bone marrow microenvironment. It must be remarked that there are striking differences between metabolic pathways that are actives in HSCs and adult differentiated cells. In the former, responses to hypoxia are derived by hypoxia-inducible factors, dimeric Hif-1 and Hif-2, which are oxygen-regulated alpha (Hif-1a and Hif-2a) and beta subunits (such as Hif-1b or Arnt1) that modulate gene expression during adaptation to hypoxia. There is genetic evidence supporting the assumption that deficiency in Hif-1a in HSCs lowered the expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase (Pdk2) that is able to enhance the "against ROS-protective glycolysis." Hypoxia is recognized as an important factor that regulates stem cell quiescence status and metabolic shift toward energetic metabolism based in glycolysis and pentose phosphate metabolism, instead of oxidative phosphorylation in order to lower ROS generation (Forsyth et al. 2008).

Low oxygen level conditioned proliferation and differentiation in ESC, cells that possess an efficient antioxidant mechanism that counteract the effect of variation of oxygen tension. It is noteworthy that when ROS become higher, the pluripotency genes OCT4, Nanog, Tra 1-60, and Sox2 lower its expression as well as differentiation is triggered. Oxygen conditions must be finely syntonized and 2% that is below physiological conditions is recommended as secure for genetic stability and stemness (Forsyth et al. 2008).

When cells become differentiated, mitochondrial respiration is resumed, a change that prompts an increase in oxidative stress and higher probabilities for DNA damage and mutations. Thus transition from quiescence and glycolysis toward respiration and ROS generation contributes to mutagenic oxidative lesions in HSCs that foster stem cell genetic instability. As an example, in acute myeloid leukemia cells, mutations in the gene of mitochondrial enzyme isocitrate dehydrogenase-2 (IDH2) function as an oncogenic driver (Gezer et al. 2014; Testa et al. 2016). Hypoxia should be considered as a way to limit ROS damage, but also as a condition for development of bad prognosis characteristics in tumor cells. That is in agreement with that literature pointing to activation of the hypoxic response in tumors, mediated through upregulation of hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (HIFs), that are linked to genomic instability, and increased metastatic potential, and tumor stem cell characteristics among other worse phenotypic features (Böğürcü et al. 2018; Tong et al. 2018).

Senescence as a Factor Inducing Stem Cells Genomic Instability

Senescence is a stable cellular program that induces growth arrest and result in a distinguishable phenotype. involving chromatin remodeling. metabolism reprogramming, a characteristic inflammatory secretome, and high autophagy. Activation of p16INK4a/Rb and p53/p21CIP1 tumor suppressor genes are determinants for the arrest in cell proliferation so as to impede the possibility of gene transmission to next cell generation. Among the triggers for senescence can be mentioned, DNA damage, mitochondrial dysfunction, telomere shortening, pro-carcinogenic aggressions, metabolic stress, and epigenetic changes. Senescence is a process relevant to tissue homeostasis, cancer, and aging. There can be two kinds of senescence: that which is caused by external causes that is acute and the chronic senescence related to DNA damage and replicative stress. That means that senescence is related to genetic instability in dependence of the kind of unrepaired DNA damage that accumulates and eventually may deteriorate the stem cells therapeutic properties that relies upon tissue cell renewal and secretome paracrine actions (Schmitt 2016; McHugh and Gil 2018; Neri and Borzi 2020).

Senescence is related to the action of regulators like mTOR, the serine/threonine kinase that controls metabolism and cell growth according to nutrients, cell energy level, or other sources of stress. mTOR contributes to regulate such processes as nutrient intake, protein and lipid synthesis, autophagy, and the emergence of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) that participates in the autocrine and paracrine senescence induction. Senescence is also linked to MAPK p38 activation or induction of p16INK4a, in response to several disturbances already mentioned, like telomere shortening, oxidative stress, oncogene activation, and DNA damage. Another factor that promotes p53 degradation bypassing and senescence are the Sirtuins (SIRT, that will be addressed in the following sections) (McHugh and Gil 2018).

Aging and Genomic Instability in Stem Cells

Accumulation of mutations in the whole genome suggest that homeostatic mechanisms worsens during aging (Garinis et al. 2008; Martincorena et al. 2015), that is considered a reason for the greater amount of IPSCs bearing mutations, some of those have been found in white blood and skin cells, in genes linked to cancer development (Jaiswal et al. 2014; Genovese et al. 2014). Also in mitochondrial DNA, there have also been shown a mounting number of mutations in aged cells. In iPSCs bearing mitochondrial DNA mutations, the organelle is dysfunctional and provokes further metabolic disturbances (Kang et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2011), and those alterations in the mitochondria propelled further DNA damage in nuclear DNA.

Another evidence of the deleterious effect of aging on IPSCs therapeutic efficacy comes from IPSCs obtained from elder mice. These cells with age-associated greater mutation level exhibited less proliferation and reprogramming capacity (Wang et al. 2011). Increase in stem cells age and mutation burden results in deterioration of damage cell responses that affects stress tolerance, tissue and organs functions, and regeneration capacity, all of them disturbances that could lead to cancer and age-related conditions. Mutations may arise in totally stochastic way, accumulating as cell ages. However, there are evidences of reduced checkpoint activities in older cells that often results in exponential increase in mutation frequency. In that sense, aged iPSCs provides a favorable scenario for genomic instability (Burkhalter et al. 2015). Burkhalter et al. (2015) have reviewed the evidences of mutation path from aging to disease. HSCs exhibits a slower DNA repair that contributes to more prevalent mutations. These HSCs mutations arose randomly and are neutral or passenger until a driver co-mutation may increase the fitness of bearing cells. If a second mutation occurs, it may lead to a greater proportion of cells with stable and transmissible changes in their genetic information (Welch et al. 2012). Sequence of phenotype changes associated to mutations reveals that in the first stage, mutations may increase self-renewal, but in the following stages, another driver mutation may help the HSCs to become a leukemic stem cancer cell. This process has been shown also to develop in male germ cells, favoring clonal expansion and the transmission of mutations (Jan and Majeti 2013; Minussi et al. 2021; Reilly and Doulatov 2021).

The higher mutation frequency and telomere shortening in older HSCs could be related to DNA repair impairment during quiescence (Beerman et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014). In HSCs, quiescent DNA damage is not repaired, but when cells reenter cell cycle, HR begins to proceed again, however, as is widely known, if DNA damage is not reversed, the pool of genetically dysfunctional cells is cleared through induction of apoptosis or senescence. It has been observed that DDR are negatively affected during aging process. Nevertheless, there are many unknown areas regarding of DNA repair mechanism during physiological aging that are under scrutiny (Ko et al. 2010).

Our knowledge on DNA repair and aging arouse mainly from the study of progeria syndromes DNA damage and cancer. This is an open research avenue that will impact in the study of the aging influence in the genomic stability of stem cells utilized in therapy (Hoeijmakers 2009; Song et al. 2021).

Checkpoints are critical for an adequate stem cells function. An example to whom we have previously referred to is the DNA damage detection network that includes both ATM-Chk2 checkpoint kinase and Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related (ATR). These kinases promotes p53 and Rb activity as a part of the DNA damage

response, whose nature is affected by the damage origin and burden. There are two main results: one is transient, including self-renewal suspension or quiescence, while the other triggers senescence or apoptosis that is a more definitive solution that contribute to remove damaged cells. The amount of stem cell that is required to replenish the tissue/organ that have deleted the injured stem cells depends on the return to quiescence and self-renewal, which need the expression of growth factors. Growth factors induce cell divisions so as to recover stem cell number. Some authors have proposed that removal of damaged cells mediated by p53 must occur in order to guarantee progenitor cell driven renewal, an option that relies on undisturbed naive cells harboring a more preserved genetic endowment (Schoppy et al. 2010; Smith et al. 2010).

If the checkpoints ATR or Chk1 are eliminated, stemness is much compromised and a premature aging affects HSCs, and this trouble can also be observed in cells from bone, skin, and small intestine. Absence of CHk1 and ATR allows a mounting number of DNA lesions that accumulates and trigger cell cycle incapacity to progress and provokes apoptosis (Ruzankina et al. 2007; Desmarais et al. 2012). It is evident that a precise tune of the activity of these checkpoints is indispensable. Absence of their function is deleterious while its activity may result in senescence or apoptosis depending of the magnitude of damage in DNA (Shibata et al. 2010; Lossaint et al. 2011).

Stem cells aging impairs its replicative capacity, and it is notorious that, during aging, several kinds of stem cells, like satellite and HSCs, stay in quiescence that helps in attaining DNA repair (Moehrle et al. 2015). However, desrepression of p16INK4a in muscle satellite cells induces a senescence-like stage that block stem cells to resume the cycle that is exceedingly affected and delayed (Rossi et al. 2007; Sousa-Victor et al. 2014; Flach et al. 2009). Cell cycle delay results from replication stress linked to chromosome gaps or breaks. Replicative stress is related to lowered expression of a helicase M component that is necessary for adequate assembly of replicative complex and affects progression of replication. On the other hand, DNA damage tolerance (DDT) mechanism is activated which allows replicative fork to bypass DNA lesions that otherwise would impede fork progression. It is necessary to remark the importance of this tolerance alternative, because if DDT fails, replication can be stalled, leading to generation of DSB, lesions that are highly toxic and may result in stem cell genomic instability (Pilzecker et al. 2019). Genomic instability as a result of replicative stress is a fact that must be considered when planning cell harvest for expansion and further use in stem cell therapy.

Stem cells suffer injuries in vivo and in vitro, from several sources, like energetic metabolism, and generation of reactive oxygen species, due to inflammation, but also to manipulation, expansion over different matrices, shearing forces among many disturbances that may affect DNA integrity, not only at the beginning of their ex vivo living but alongside their life span in culture. The status of DDR machinery in stem cells and the resulting DNA stress experienced by those cells intended for therapeutic uses is a multivariable, almost random sequence. A situation that makes mandatory not only the standardized for sample selection and cell handling but also for the genomic evaluation previous to use.

Telomere Damage and Genetic Instability in Stem Cells

Telomeres, the chromosome ends, that are abundant in highly repetitive sequences, exert an influence on the whole cell genomic stability. Shortening of telomeres is one of the main features linked to aging (Hastie et al. 1990; Jiang et al. 2007; Smith et al. 2020; Grill and Nandakumar 2020). Moreover, accumulation of DNA damage in telomeres can induce premature aging (Uppuluri et al. 2021). In a progeria condition like Werner syndrome, a helicase dysfunction that favors telomere shortening is related to premature aging. Telomeres extremes are cut of at a rate of 50–100 nucleotides per cell cycle. Those ends are covered by nucleoproteins named shelterin, in order to protect chromosomes terminus from uncontrolled degradation (Henry et al. 2019; Engin and Engin 2021).

There are different shelterins: TRF1, TRF2, RAP1, POT1, TIN1, and TIN2, bound to DNA and in a complex that is called shelterin/telosome, and if this protein complex doesn't work properly, several abnormalities appears in DNA (Liu et al. 2004; Engin and Engin 2021) like fragile sites and replication defects that leads to chromosome fusions and anaphase bridges (Wieczór et al. 2014). Shelterin actively participate in the control of telomere replication and chromosome final shielding. Additionally, DNA damage response after shelterin disruption is also evidence that inadequacy in their function causes genomic instability (Smith et al. 2020; Kabaha and Tzfati 2021). These proteins are affected by oxidative stress, and there are reports on the impairment of shelterin and its association with telomere DNA if it is damaged by oxidation (Opresko et al. 2005). Telomeric oxidative damage has also been implicated in genomic instability that have been linked to protein kinase (p38)-p16(Ink4a) (p16) that participates in ROS-induced HSCs senescence (Shao et al. 2011).

HSCs show active DNA repair pathways to maintain their stemness. Exonuclease 1 (Exo1) participates in HR, that fails to proceed if this enzyme is inactivated. In quiescent HCSs from mice, HR is not necessary for cell maintenance, relying on NHEJ repair instead. However, after HCSs reenter in cell cycling, the HR dependence from Exo-1 activity, for DNA repair and preservation of HCS, becomes critical (Desai et al. 2014; de Lange 2018). There are reports on exonuclease 1 (Exo1) activity that after telomere shortening as component of telomeric DNA damage response, its failure results in chromosome fusion and checkpoint induction, and this fusion causes expansion of DNA damage, chromosome instability, and probably stem cell senescence (Zhang et al. 2014).

Telomerase an enzyme that is present in most of eukaryotes, shows a typical retroviral reverse transcriptase-like protein core and the noncoding human telomerase RNA (hTR). This enzyme limits telomere shortage in stem cells by synthetizing telomere DNA, which protects DNA from critical shortening until number of cell divisions is completed. However, when telomerase is less expressed, it is unable to prevent shortening and affects cell functions like self-renewal in HSCs and IPC (Flores and Blasco 2009; Roake and Artandi 2020). In human cells, telomere shortening reaches critical length that are sensed as DNA damage, a situation that triggers the cell machinery that copes with DNA lesions and consequently activates p53/p21-related checkpoints. This results in the interruption of cell cycle progression, triggering telomeres senescence, a response to DNA damage checkpoint activation after DNA damage within telomeres (Liu et al. 2019).

Cycle arrest due to DNA damage is known as replicative senescence. Cells undergoing replicative senescence experiments morphological and biochemical changes, such as enlargement or flattening, and a higher expression p21(WAF1) and/or p16(INK4A). Checkpoints like those based in p53 and Rb are responsive to telomere shortening (Sperka et al. 2012; Morsczeck et al. 2019), p53 response may interrupt cell cycle through kinase inhibitor p21 or may trigger apoptosis via induction of Puma factor, so as to eliminate those cells bearing affected telomeres from the stem cell pool that is needed for tissue renovation (Sperka et al. 2011). On the contrary, in spite of that long telomeres can also accumulate damage, their effects are less noxious for stem cells, due to protection afforded by sheltering that avoids checkpoint induction nor triggering of DDR (Fumagalli et al. 2012; Sławińska and Krupa 2021).

Human ESCs with shorted telomeres shows a reduced pluripotency (Huang et al. 2011). Telomere length conservation is necessary for stemness, unlimited self-renewal, and chromosomal stability of stem cells. Telomerase activity is necessary but not the only mechanism to guarantee telomere length. Epigenetic changes and recombination are also relevant during reprogramming and attainment of pluripotency in ESCs and IPSCs (Liu 2017; Wang et al. 2012a, b). It is noteworthy that long telomeres as well as high levels of TRF1, a shelterin, can be considered as markers of stemness. On the other side, it is important to note that higher levels of telomerase, in spite of boosting self-renewal and proliferation, also induce a greater resistance to apoptosis and have been linked to less differentiation capacity (Flores and Blasco 2009).

Senescence is a process characterized by proliferative arrest. This contingence could benefit the cell trough tumor suppression or may contribute to tissue repair. As was stated previously DNA damage can initiate senescence; eventually cells increase protein secretion and many of tis proteins are cytokines; the resulting phenotype is termed senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). SASP reflects an outstanding paracrine effects that may induce senescence in other cells. This evidences that senescent cells may spread senescence in their surrounding milieu (Sławińska and Krupa 2021).

Induction of differentiation consecutive to DNA damage is a mechanism that have been demonstrated in several cells like HSC when exposed to aging-associated genotoxic stress. An example refers to induction of basic leucine zipper transcription factor, ATF-like (BATF) that promotes lymphoid differentiation in cells exposed to genotoxic stress (Wang et al. 2012a, b). It is as an alternative checkpoint that allows leading with DNA damage in stem cells, like occurs in melanocyte stem cells in the hair follicle, these cells after DNA damage related to ionizing radiation differentiates to melanocytes, a process that may be further enhanced if ATM is deleted (Inomata et al. 2009).

Aneuploidy as an Expression of Genome Instability

Among the causes of aneuploidy in stem cells that compromise their therapeutic usefulness, an important one is the disturbances in telomerase function. In hESCs, the enzyme is constitutively active in order to maintain telomere length, and in the case of iPSCs, telomerase activity is restarted after reprogramming (Marión et al. 2009). Telomere fusion poses a great problem in anaphase because those connected chromosomes may generate anaphase bridges that are impeded to migrate toward opposite cell poles under the mitotic spindle tubules action. Cells remain linked through the bridge that causes aneuploidy because of the illicit gain of a chromosome in one cell whereas the other suffers a loss. Telomeric shortening is a common cause for anaphase bridges that can be broken generating cycles of breakage–fusion, a situation that exhibits proneness to genomic instability and aneuploidy (Tusell et al. 2010; Srinivas et al. 2020; Henry et al. 2019).

There are several and sustained evidences that telomere damage may trigger genomic instability expressed as an outburst of chromosomal aberrations as well at the sequence variant level, when those chromosome ends are disturbed, telomeres experience damage and attrition (Henry et al. 2019; Kim et al. 2021).

Stem cells centromeres does not function with the same efficiency as those in mature cells, and this characteristic is probably a cause of predisposition to aneuploidy in those cells. Chromosomal aberrations are frequently found in IPSCs in culture, and among the probable causes for those abnormalities are the composition of centromere and kinetochore in ESC and IPSCs. Kinetochore is the critical spot for chromosome attachment that relies on CENP-A, the centromere histone H3 variant, or nucleosome defined chromatin. There are reports on reduced amounts of this centromere component in stem cells that could hamper chromosomal-spindle attachment. During reprogramming, CENP-A is reduced at the beginning of dedifferentiation events leading to IPSCs (Milagre et al. 2020). This acts as an epigenetic regulator of stemness, which in turn favors aneuploidy in pluripotent stem cells. Overexpression of that critical centromeric component occurs in cells with functional p53 that are able to drive cell reprogramming toward senescence, tumorigenesis, or to new centromeres linked to aberrant chromosomes (Ling et al. 2020; Jeffery et al. 2021), which is interpreted as a demonstration that a precise tuning of centromere components exerts a decisive influence in the reprogramming results.

Influence of Genomic Arrangement in the Nucleus on Aneuploidy

In the interphase nuclei of differentiated cells, there is an organized distribution of chromosomes in areas termed chromosome territories (CT). Alterations in the intranuclear organization may impact the maintenance of euploidy. Inside human cell nucleus, there is a strict array of CT with predominant gene-rich chromosomal regions placed towards the inner part of nuclei while the gene-poor regions of chromosomes are placed at the nuclear periphery. In spite of some variations, there

is a less organized intranuclear terrain in the embryonic versus mature developed cells, and the rule based in chromosomal gene enrichment is not always followed. An example of the previous assertion are chromosomes 17 and 19 that are abundant in genes and are found in granulocytes near the nuclear center while in ESCs are placed in the periphery (Bártová et al. 2001). However, more recent reports have found differences in centromeres positioning of 12, 15, 17, and 19 between hESC and mature somatic cells. There is a repositioning process that accompanies cell differentiation; impairment in this mechanism can be invoked as an additional source of genomic instability in stem cells (Bártová et al. 2008). This has been reported to influence several features of heterochromatin, as the presence of immature centromere anchorage regions that in embryos and stem cells may result in aneuploidy due to a defective attachment to the mitotic spindle (Biancotti et al. 2010).

The complex machinery for intranuclear topography maintenance also includes nuclear transmembrane proteins that are responsible for gene repositioning, during myogenesis, in order to shift the genes to be repressed to more peripheral positions (Robson et al. 2016; Ahanger et al. 2021). Those peripheral domains are mainly low gene expression regions that contain histone marks of a silenced state (Smith et al. 2021). There is an increasing number of evidences that allows a less restricted nuclear organization in pluripotent cells, hereof increasing the intranuclear plasticity regarding not only to expression and organization but also to genomic instability (Vasudevan et al. 2020; Dhegihan 2021).

An euploidy is probably an insult to the intranuclear genome organization because of the additional space occupied by the extra chromosome altering the space relationship with the nuclear envelope or other regions. The correct location of extra chromosomes that have been found in mature somatic cells is not the rule in stem cells, where there are less or not lamins A, (that will be discussed next) with a consequential impact on lamina-associated domains, therefore may alter the intranuclear lodging and hence allowing changes in gene expression (Chovanec et al. 2021).

Aneuploidy-associated shifts in genome organization and subtypes of topologically associated domains (TAD) upon differentiation is under scrutiny (Phillips-Cremins 2014), and is another link in the chain of event connecting the stem cell nuclear environment and aneuploidy proneness and generation of a distressful genomic landscape (Omori et al. 2017).

There are also "counter measures" in stem cells against changes in chromosome number relying on DDR and protective proteins. An example of a mechanism against polyploidy is the protein Survivin that control the spindle assembly, checkpoint and cytokinesis; that protein that is protective against aneuploidy, is highly expressed in ESC and contributes to pluripotency (Wiedemuth et al. 2014). Measurement of this protein has been suggested as control for genomic stability in stem cell intended for therapy (Mull et al. 2014).

Lamins Alterations and Aneuploidy

Lamins are meshing proteins that are placed covering the inner face of the nuclear membrane, and those proteins are important in the conservation of nuclear morphology and chromosomal location within the nucleoplasm. Lamins B1 and B2 are expressed in stem cells as well as in somatic ones. Lamins are necessary for the conservation of nuclear structure as well as the chromosomal allocation and organization (Gruenbaum et al. 2000). Lamins alterations may lead to miss-segregation of chromosomes during cell division, due to its relationships with mitotic spindle assembly and telomere binding to the inner nuclear membrane protein SUN1. That is why lamins are among the factors that may induce aneuploidy in stem cells in the eventuality of disturbances. There is a link between lamins function impairment, telomere damage, and genomic instability (Gonzalo and Eissenberg 2016; Martins et al. 2020; Dantas et al. 2021).

The absence of lamins A/C has been suggested to contribute to the ESC nuclei plasticity compared to the more rigid state of somatic cell nuclei, with hESC lacking heterochromatin at the nuclear periphery. Lamin A/C and emerin determine nuclear size and shape, and hence these are contributors to gene regulation and differentiation in the first steps of embryo development (Smith et al. 2017) and to global remodeling of the genome organization during lineage commitment (Peric-Hupkes and van Steensel 2010).

Replicative Stress/Replication Timing as Causes of Genome Instability

Replicative stress (RS) is another source of genomic instability in cells undergoing divisions that is present in stem cells. RS main feature is to slow down DNA replication or its complete detention. DNA synthesis can be hampered by several factors as DNA damage, (vb gr) like the inflicted by ROS or when DNA nucleotides or proteins are scarce due to a metabolic impairment RS can also arise (Lo Furno et al. 2016). Among the main causes of RS are the unscheduled restart of cell cycle that provokes interference between DNA replication and transcription but is also frequent during reprogramming into IPSCs. As a consequence of interferences between DNA synthesis and transcription, the replicative fork may lead to under or over DNA replication and also to single- or double-strand DNA breaks. RS is a cause of instability and DDR in stem cells (Lo Furno et al. 2016; Sjakste and Riekstina 2021).

In ESCs, there is a susceptibility to RS resulting in defective chromosome condensation and segregation, leading to aneuploidy. ESCs cell cycle contains a higher number of cells in S phase, while G1 and G2 are narrowed. The more prevalence of RS in stem cells may be explained by the fact that during DNA synthesis, chromatin is more accessible to remodeling factors (Becker et al. 2006; Lambert and Carr 2013; Lamm and Kerem 2016). There is another relevant aspect to be considered among the aneuploidy leading events, which include the checkpoints for adequate chromosomal segregation, the spindle assembly, and the decatenation checkpoint. The last checkpoint during mitosis is the p53- and Rb-dependent G1 tetraploid checkpoint. The spindle assembly checkpoint has been reported as less efficient in ESCs, a feature that may lead to extra chromosomes. This spindle checkpoint is also weak, favoring association of unrepaired chromosomes.

are evidences that points to a lack of spindle assessment checkpoint in stem but not in progenitor cells (Brown et al. 2017; Brown and Geiger 2018). Chromosome decatenation impairment has been found in mouse cells and also in pluripotent human cells. The consequences of bad decatenation are the entanglement of chromosomes that is attributed to the absence of methylation in chromatin silence markers (Meshorer et al. 2006). In hematopoietic stem cells, the levels of Ezh1 histone methyltransferases are progressively reduced during development, and those enzymes are thought to be implicated in methylation of silencing chromatin markers like H3K9 and H3K27 (Hidalgo et al. 2012). The more open heterochromatin in stem cells may be responsible for the greater susceptibility to DNA damage and genome instability observed both in hPSCs and hiIPSCs (Henry et al. 2019).

Another emerging key factor that must be addressed regarding genomic stability is the replication timing (RT), a concerted process that control the organization of a relevant array of nuclear events in eukaryotic cells. RT is triggered at certain point during cell cycle and its development is synchronized with changes in genome organization. RT is connected to processes like 3D genome organization, transcription, epigenetic modulation and mutation, and spatial distribution, and is thought to influence replicative stress and consequently genomic stability (Briu et al. 2021).

Replication process is strictly timed; in the multiple origin replication process, there are regions that begin to be copied at different moments during S phase. This chronometric control of each region for replication results in the epigenetic signature of the cell genome. This process is cell specific and spans large regions of chromatin, where histone modification and compartment changes, which defined the activation of specific replication origins. Those patterns are inherited to next cell generations. However, if there are inaccurate timing as a result of replicative stress, altered gene expression and genetic instability are among the bad results of RT impairment (Donley and Thayer 2013). In other words, replicative stress may cause genetic instability through modifications in RT. In stem cells, the evidence points to a less strict correlation between histones modification and the precise scheduled RT. However, as long as stem cells differentiate, there is a more tight dependence of RT from histone changes as occurs in mature fully developed cells (Dileep et al. 2019).

There is another aspect regarding the effect of increased mutation rate in stem cells in genes involved in the regulation of epigenome as have been reported in functional normal HSCs that evolves to preleukemic and acute myeloid leukemia cells (Corces-Zimmerman et al. 2014). Variation in epigenomic patterns may trigger genomic instability and clonal selection in aged tissues. Epigenetic changes may also be a consequence of mutations, and this fact could be considered as a variant of a mutated phenotype, because the disturbances over epigenome control genes may propagate not as an increase in DNA sequence changes but of altered epigenetic imprinting that at last may lead to genomic instability in a self-propelled process.

Another pathway toward aneuploidy can be related to changes in methylation. Human malignancies are related to changes in methylation patterns that include hypermethylation of CpG islands, often related to gene promoters that could silence genes that affect cell cycle, DNA repair, apoptosis, and genes that are frequently mutated in cancer cells. These hypermethylated genes that results permanently in on "off" state notably codes for developmental transcription factors that prolonged the stemness and increases the probability of malignant transformation. Hypomethylation linked to cancer may also be present and is known to increase genetic instability but also naïve pluripotency in ESCs (Leitch et al. 2013; Pfeifer 2018).

It must be stressed the role chromosome passenger proteins, as Aurora centrosomal kinases or the already mentioned, cycle-associated molecule, survivin, proteins that when dysregulated can induce aneuploidy or tetraploidy (Nguyen and Ravid 2006). In the inner centromere, a membraneless organelle is located, the so-called chromosome passenger complex, that is needed for the organization and regulation of mitotic movement of chromosomes (Trivedi and Stukenberg 2020). There are probable driver genes that may increase the occurrence of chromosomal aberrations and the concern on neoplastic potential of therapeutic candidate stem cells (Ben-David 2015).

Cell Origin as Source of Genome Instability

Cell origin for stem cells therapy, including those that are isolated, expanded, and utilized directly or after induction of pluripotency, must be considered as a differential source of instability. There are differences in genetic stability that are inherent to stem cell type, isolation, handling, and culture procedures while other arises from reprogramming factors utilized in the IPSCs obtainment.

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and hematopoietic stem cells HSCs can be reprogrammed to IPC. There is a large list of sources where cells to be reprogrammed can be obtained like urine, blood, cord blood, amniotic fluid, menstrual blood, teeth pulp, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, among others. These are differential in their tendency toward genetic instability, an example are human dental stem cells that are very unstable, showing around 70% of structural and numerical aberrations like polyploidy, aneuploidy, aberrations that increases during culture (Duailibi et al. 2012; Glicksman 2018).

In the next section, evidences for genetic instability in three types of cells whose relevance is out of discussion will be summarized.

Adipose Stem Cells (ASC)

Adult stem cells are the most relevant source of cells so as to be used in cell and tissue regenerative therapy, and those stem cells can be obtained with minimum-risk procedures (Miana and González 2018). ASCs are a source of MSCs with therapeutic properties, isolated from the stromal vascular fraction in adipose tissue. One of the main features of ASCs is their greater genetic stability when compared with other stem cell types.

Adipose stem cells have been repeatedly considered as those cells that better conserve its genetic stability. ASCs isolated from the stromal vascular fraction are

free of chromosomal aberration through G banding analysis, after during five passages in culture (Debnath and Chelluri 2019). There are evidences of negative selection of aneuploid clones of ASC that have been in culture for 6 months. A single subclone showed alterations in telomeric and subtelomeric regions at early passage, but were absent after prolonged culture time (Meza-Zepeda et al. 2008). Other studies reinforced the notion that ASC are stable after long culture time. Evaluation of chromosome stability with FISH probes for chromosomes X and 17 yielded 97.8% of diploid cells after 35 population doublings (Grimes et al. 2009). There are also evidences that points to a stable proportion of aneuploid subclones that could be increased in ASC cultures up to 16 passages (7.1%) and further during senescence (19.%), but without acquire tumorigenic capacity as was tested in nude mice (Roemeling-van Rhijn et al. 2013). Emergence of polyploidy may enhance cancer cell proliferation as have been reported in a murine model, where the polyploid ASCs was more efficient promoting breast tumor growth and metastasis than ASCs, derived from visceral adipocytes with a normal karyotype (Fajka-Boja et al. 2020). It must be stressed that quiescence of MSCs favors the generation and accumulation of genetic alterations that may result in genetic instability, especially after genotoxic insults. Genetic instability may induce senescence, apoptosis, and functional impairment that diminish or abolish the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs (Banimohamad-Shotorbani et al. 2020). It is a reason for the development and standardization of procedures intended to limit the exposition to DNA damaging procedures during cell isolation and expansion.

Genetic stability is a central aspect that must be considered when discussing therapeutic application of those cells and is one of the reasons besides their accessibility and abundance to consider these cells among the best suitable for medical uses (Miana and Prieto 2018).

Embryonic Stem Cells

Human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) include hESCs and human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs). hESCs are prone to acquire focal genomic abnormalities in culture, changes that seems to be nonrandom in origin (Lefort et al. 2009; Yoshihara et al. 2017). When considering the genetic stability in ESC, there is a consensus on the higher prevalence in genetic abnormalities like sub-chromosomal copy number variations (Laurent et al. 2011). However, in murine models, the mutation frequency in mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs) have been estimated in one hundred percent lower than their mature counterparts from the same source, and this could be interpreted as the consequence of a better DDR mechanism so as to compensate their intrinsic genetic instability (Lo Furno et al. 2016). Blastocyst seems to sacrifice the proofreading functions during DNA synthesis in order to attain a faster cell division. In cultured ESC, there is a shortened G phase and interphase, consequently errors during replication occur more frequently (Henry et al. 2019).

The p53 pathway is affected in ESCs, where in spite of the overexpression of p21 RNAm, the P21 protein itself is not produced, hence, this partially abolished

response permits replication errors to continue (Dolezalova et al. 2012). After DNA damage in ESCs, p53 binds to the pluripotency factor NANOG's whose inactivation promotes the progress of ESCs to differentiation. Differentiation induction is part of a mechanism intended for the enhancement of genetic stability in ESCs (Lin et al. 2005). It has been reported that p53 knockdown provokes the downregulation of NANOG and Oct4 favoring differentiation. But in the absence of damaged DNA, p53 contributes to maintenance of NANOG expression and hence favors self-renewal in ESCs. This is an example of the complexity of the relationship between DNA damage, DDR, and stemness in these cells (Abdelalim and Tooyama 2014).

Another characteristic is the increase in genetic abnormalities at different resolution levels as the number of passages in culture become higher (Maitra et al. 2005). There is a report on the early development of sub-chromosomal and chromosomal aberrations since the passage number 5, and this result points to a strong genetic instability dependence on the number of passages (Bai et al. 2015). In an excellent study that evaluated several culture conditions on genetic instability, the frequency of genetic aberration increased significantly after 80 passages that were performed mechanically in hESCs and hIPSCs (Garitaonandia et al. 2015). In newly obtained ESC, there are earlier reports on the acquisition of deletions after reprogramming; those abnormalities duplicated its frequency as the number of passages increased (Laurent et al. 2011; Ben-Yosef et al. 2013; Garitaonandia et al. 2015).

Human unrestricted somatic stem cells (USSCs) represents a group of adult somatic stem cells CD45-negative population derived from human cord blood, and these cells grow adherently and maintain pluripotency to develop into cells from three layers along the expansion period without spontaneous differentiation. USSCs cultured on chondrogenic medium showed a conserved normal karyotype after expansion to 10^{15} cells. Those cells have shown to sustain their genetic stability until passage 6, expressed in normal karyotypes and relatively conserved telomere length (Kögler et al. 2004), that is extremely important for pluripotency, self-renewal, and genomic stability (Liu 2017). USSCs can be grown to make feeder layers for ESC cultures (Keshel et al. 2012).

ESCs cultured on conventional feeder layer compared to those grown in feederfree cultures show more genetic stability. Feeder-free culture more often results in aneuploidy, chromosomal or sub-chromosomal mutations. In a pioneer study on ESCs karyotype stability, the modality of feeder-free culture encompassed rapid changes that involved gains in chromosomes 12 and 20. Those aberration appears after passages 17 and 21, as was demonstrated in two lines (HS181and SHEF-3) and a gain in chromosome 14 after passage 10 in the SHEF-3 line. The proportion of cells with trisomy 12 increased during culture time that was interpreted as a selective advantage. The same cells lines grown in feeder cultures remained genetically stable after 185 passages, irrespective if the passage method was mechanical or enzymatic. Surprisingly, SHEF-1 that conserved genetic stability after 185 passages in feeder layer culture did not suffered any chromosomal changes when transferred to a feeder-free culture for 30 additional passages. Different susceptibility between different cell lines must be cautionary considered for ESC as therapeutic candidates (Catalina et al. 2008; Guo et al. 2018). In the cell line HS181, other authors have shown that chromosomal aberrations appeared in all the cells that became adapted to growth directly on plastic surface. Chromosome X trisomy, deletions in 7q11.2 and I (12) p10 were the nonrandom aberration detected. However, the greater survival and growth in feeder-free conditions was accompanied by reduction in pluripotency (Imreh et al. 2006). Anyway, the ability exhibited of certain cells bearing trisomies to properly differentiate is a real warning issue, because this aneuploidy persistence poses a risk for tumor development if those cells able to thrive and differentiate, are inoculated as a therapy procedure (Zhang et al. 2016; Bach et al. 2019).

Similar results with feeder layers points to a protective effect of culture, upon feeder layers or extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, on karyotype stability (Escobedo-Lucea and Stojkovic 2010; Lee et al. 2012) not only for ESC but also in IPSCs (Nakagawa et al. 2014; Ghasemi-Dehkordi et al. 2015), mESCs cultured on feeder layers made of hUSSCs maintain normal karvotype (Keshel et al. 2012). Feeder layer made up of bone marrow MSCs maintained the adequate phenotype in ESCs and absence of aneuploidy (Lee et al. 2012). The use of smaller feeder layer like the *microdrop culture method* have been applied for the generation of bovine ESCs with favorable results regarding pluripotency and the conservation of a normal karyotype (Kim et al. 2012a, b). In murine models, mouse stem cells maintain its genomic integrity during long-term cultures on a feeder of mouse embryonic fibroblasts derived matrices (MEFDMs) but non when cultured on gelatin-coated substrates (Kim et al. 2012a, b; Sthanam et al. 2017). There is a recent report of bovine stem cells that with the introduction of a defined culture substrate (N2B27) have been able to maintain a normal genetic constitution over 35 passages without the use of mouse embryonic fibroblasts feeder layers. It is a demonstration that the use of feeder layers with its potential inconveniences can be circumvented with more refined approaches in the culture conditions that include defined medium like N2B27 (Soto et al. 2021). Feeder layers favors genetic stability but this goal can be reached even without that. The passage methods as have been already mentioned is another source of karyotype changes In ESC, the impact of mechanical procedure compared to that of enzymatic treatment remain controversial. Some authors have reported that irrespective of the techniques employed, genetic instability may be detected (International Stem Cell Initiative 2011; Tosca et al. 2015). Cell passage in culture based enzymatic detachment is related to greater genetic instability when compared with the mechanical one (Garitaonandia et al. 2015). However, the use of a mixture of proteolytic enzymes, including both trypsin and collagenase activity (Accutase), does not require inactivation, hence reducing handling, and did not induce abnormal karyotype in ESCs cultured under feeder-free conditions (Kim et al. 2012a, b).

In this respect, there are contradictory reports on the beneficial effects of Accutase use in cell passages. As an example, when ESCs and IPSCs were evaluated over 100 passages, those cells cultured showed deletions involving p53 locus and less activation of p53 downstream genes. But in spite of the use of Accutase-based passage, deletions were larger and appeared earlier than that in mechanical passages. Duplications and deletion involving chromosomes 20, 12, and 17 were consistently detected with a higher frequency in ESCs and IPSCs that undergo enzymatic

passage, and karyotype mosaicism was also detected (Holm et al. 2013; Garitaonandia et al. 2015; Amir et al. 2017). Even when compared with the less harmful Accutase, the mechanical cell detachment is the best choice against the induction of genetic instability.

Even with this supposedly less harmful passage procedure, a relationship between passage number and p53 mutations is noteworthy (Holm et al. 2013; Amir et al. 2017). Involvement of p53 mutations in ESCs genetic disturbances in culture was also demonstrated when 5 cell lines resulted positive for p53 dominant negative mutations, afterward when 140 lines were analyzed, from that mutated, the allelic fraction in 3 cell lines increased its prevalence to more than 50%, signifying what was interpreted as selective advantage for p53 mutations bearing cells. The authors stressed the fact that hPCS have been used in spite of containing cancer mutations in p53 (Merkle et al. 2017). Mutations in p53 were detected in cells cultured with several media, substrates, and using a variety of passage procedures. That is interpreted as evidence in the sense that current culture conditions exert a positive pressure for p53 mutations. This gene should be in the focus for the analysis of genetic adequacy of stem cell lines for therapy especially when culture goes through any intervention involving the existence of bottle neck population period, when the mutation may affect a greater proportion of cell populations (Merkle et al. 2017).

In hESCs, the function of p53 is uncertain; some evidences support the notion that p53 is responsive to DNA damage as occurs in adult cells, while others have shown the absence of downstream activation of genes like p21 that build up the DNA damage response. An alternative effect of genotoxic insult is characterized by apoptotic induction that relies on p53 upregulation and relocation in mitochondria, without involvement of typical genes from p53 networks that are activated if the damaged cells are induced toward differentiation (Tichy 2011).

In mESCs, cell cycle is shorter with a predominance of cells in S phase, and those cells lack G1/S checkpoint. Chk2 that phosphorylates and stabilizes p53 also acts over the cycle regulator phosphatase Cdc25a that cannot remove phosphate from Cdk2. This phosphorylated state make cell unable to proceed into S phase. However, in mESCs, miss localization of p53 does not favor Cdc25 abrogation and damaged cell may enter S phase and continue the cycle. In mESCs, there is no G1 checkpoint. However, in human ESCs, the ability of p53 to activate a DDR response and G1/S checkpoint depends on the nature of the genotoxic stimuli, and it has been shown to respond when cells are exposed to UV but not against ionizing radiation (Tichy 2011).

Human ESCs, human nuclear transfer ESCs parthenogenetic hESCs, and iPSCs comprise the hPSCs that are suitable for therapeutic applications and also show susceptibility to genetic and epigenetic instability that makes mandatory for in-depth evaluation before their use (Simonson et al. 2015). Aneuploidies in hPSCs involves chromosomes whose numerical aberrations are not only incompatible with life but also resembles that chromosomal gains and losses found in human embryonic carcinoma cells, in what can be interpreted as a hint for their tumorigenic potential (Peterson and Loring 2014). However, there are results that points to the fact that the use of cells from secured sources is an example of how the genetic instability can be

restricted in dependence of good manufacturing practice (GMP) for the obtainment of standardized ESCs. There are experiences with ESCs that after in-depth evaluation of its genetic stability did not express variations at chromosomal or sub-chromosomal levels neither gained mutations in culture (Canham et al. 2015).

Duplications and deletion involving chromosomes 20, 12, and 17 were consistently detected. Additionally, chromosome 12p duplication is known to bear the loci for the pseudogene NANOGP1 and NANOG gene, a known pluripotency marker is also a hallmark for teratocarcinoma. Chromosome 20 duplication is associated with higher expression of Bcl-xL that may drive survival advantages (Nguyen et al. 2014; Clark et al. 2004).

Base excision repair is active in ESC and IPC with high activity irrespective of the parental source from which they were derived. Regarding DSB repair, both stem cells show more active high-fidelity HR, which is a requisite for the conservation of pluripotency and the ability to develop a complete organism, while upon differentiation, they begin to rely on error-prone NHEJ (Tichy 2011; Tilgner et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2018a, b). Lest say that the accuracy of DNA repair is decreasing along with the greater differentiation stage.

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

IPSCs were obtained, as we mentioned before, through the introduction of genes or reprogramming factors with the purpose of reversing their development program to resemble ESCs. IPSCs are known for their propensity to aneuploidy, flaw that is more evident after a long culture period. When genetic instability of IPSCs is analyzed it is often difficult to stablish a a clear separation from the instability that is inherent to ESCs. Those cells, in spite of their differences, exhibit a high degree of aneuploidy. IPSCs are originated in blastocysts where aneuploidy is frequent. There is evidence for auto-correction of aneuploidy in ESCs, but the process is still poorly understood (Bazrgar et al. 2013).

Developed ESCs exhibits mainly chromosomal gains in contrast to that of blastocysts which experienced both losses and gains, those ESCs chromosomal gains seems to be related to selective advantages. There are three main causes for genetic alterations in IPSCs: progenitor cells with preexisting mutations, DNA changes that arise during reprogramming, and those mutations that appears de novo during proliferation in culture (Tichy 2011). There are another causes of aneuploidy like supernumerary centrosomes that are often found in hESCs derived from human zygotes and cleaved embryos that aroused from disturbed fertilization, characteristically, the proportion of hESCs bearing the anomalies is lower than that in their earlier progenitor (Gu et al. 2016).

IPSCs are very similar to ESCs but are not identical; those are produced departing from cells treated in a way that their gene expression is altered, as well as its development route that changes the original cell into another cell type. Procedures to develop IPCs are nuclear transfer, cell fusion, or transcription-factor transduction. In the last approach, IPSCs from reprogramming is a consequence of unbalance stoichiometry of the transcriptional regulators present in the cell through transfection of reprogramming genes that surpassed a threshold needed for the conversion to a pluripotent cell (Amps et al. 2011; Tichy 2011; Henry et al. 2019).

There is growing evidence that genetic stability and pluripotency are regulated by transcriptional changes in differentiated and undifferentiated states, and is known that iPSCs are extremely prone to genetic instability, a problem that is favored by inefficient reprogramming (Paniza et al. 2020). In other words, the fidelity of genomic reprogramming is affected due to the persistence of "epigenetic memory" that reflex the fact that the epigenetics marks, inherited from the progenitor cells (Tichy 2011; Basu and Tiwari 2021). These epigenetic pattern that extended beyond reprogramming into the life of iPSCs may affect genes responsible for the maintenance of DNA integrity and euploidy. Those epigenetics modifiers are microRNA, regulators of DNA methylation, histone chemical marks, and ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers (Simonsson and Gurdon 2004; Hassani et al. 2019). There are positive and negative feedbacks, between DNA sequences expression and those modifiers, in a way that have been compared with that of the Operon-lac, described in prokaryotes. Maintenance of pluripotency also depends on those feedback loops between epigenetic landscape of DNA sequences and pluripotency genes, like the Yamanaka factors. Persistence of epigenetic memory is considered as an important contributor to genetic and epigenetic disturbances in iPSCs (Yamanaka and Blau 2010; Tichy 2011; Di Giammartino and Apostolou 2016; Pelham-Webb et al. 2020).

However, other authors have not found a relationship between methylation patterns and genetic instability in IPSCs. Their results pointed to inefficient reprogramming as a cause, leading to incorrect DNA replication and replicative stress, and the evidence reveals impaired DNA replication with less origins and a high frequency of strand breaks in iPSCs (Jekaterina et al. 2020; Paniza et al. 2020).

IPSCs reprogrammed carries a mutational burden accumulated during the previous somatic cell life besides the fact the event of reprogramming causes a severe disturbances in DNA chromatin homeostasis. The proportion of cells that experienced a correct reprogramming is generally low and interestingly may be increased if p53 is inactive, and this poses a greater risk for iatrogenic induction of a tumor, if cells reprogrammed for therapy eluded the response against DNA damage and mutation (Tichy et al. 2011; Amir et al. 2017). There are evidences suggesting that iPSCs genetic stability is poor, because of a lack of generation of an adequate DDR, in spite of the elevation of expression of DNA repair genes. A dissociation between expression and production of DNA repair proteins have been invoked as was already mentioned in reference to p21. There is strong evidence that genomic stability is much lower in iPSCs than in ESCs due to less DNA repair fidelity (Zhang et al. 2018a, b). The mutation frequency exhibited by ESCs is minor than that in adult somatic cells and even lower than IPSCs, it could be a reflection of the more efficient mechanism that evolved in embryonic cells, whose correct functioning is essential for the development of the embryonal tissues and organs. The fact that mutations could be transmitted to the next generation places the mechanism for DNA damage detection, repair, or amelioration in ESCs as a safeguard of the genetic integrity of the species (Adiga et al. 2010). However, both cell types exhibited a combination of additional mechanisms against genotoxic insults, a hyperactive and rapid DNA repair, elimination of cells with damaged DNA and differentiation in order to withdraw the mutated cell from the stem cell compartment. Another defense mechanism in ESC and IPSCs is based on lowering the number of mitochondria in order to limit the reactive oxygen generation (one of the main causes of endogenous DNA damage), while genes for antioxidants become overexpressed (Forsyth et al. 2008; Maraldi et al. 2021).

Effect of Reprogramming Methods on Genetic Instability

Reprogramming based upon virally integration of the factors is also an event of insertional mutagenesis that elicit several abnormalities in the recipient genome; moreover, some of the reprogramming factor expressed in the IPSCs provokes genetic disturbances like CNVs, changes in the regulation of imprinted genes, point mutations, wrong methylation patterns, as well as chromosomal aberrations (Kang et al. 2015).

Those are enough reasons to sustain and justify the search for non-integration based reprogramming procedures. Among those methods that do not rely on the integration of foreign sequences are: episomal vectors, plasmids transfection, vectors derived from Sendai virus, adenoviral vectors, synthetic mRNA, miRNA, plasmid transfection, minicircle vectors, transposon vectors, liposomal magnetofection, protein transduction, and small molecules. The non-integrating reprogramming procedures are less efficient and limited to certain types of cells like fibroblasts, but their impact on genetic instability in newly developed IPSCs is substantially minor (Goh et al. 2013; Steichen et al. 2014; Beltran et al. 2020; Schlaeger 2018; Haridhasapavalan et al. 2019). IPSCs are the basis of a strategy to obtain an unlimited source of renewable cells to be utilized in autologous transplants. These cells, however, show a high degree of genetic instability that is related to several causes; among them, the reprogramming procedure is one of undeniable importance.

hiPSCs genetic stability is mostly influenced by the reprogramming method, which may be integrating vector-dependent and vector-independent methods. It is accepted that integrated methods causes more genetic instability as expressed in CNV, SNP, and mosaicism. A study of genetic aberrations in ESCs, progenitor cell lines, and IPSCs line versus IPSCs non-integrating lines through Affymetrix Cytoscan HD array resulted in CNV 20 times larger in average than those found in non-integrating IPSCs lines. CNV, SNP, and mosaicism were more abundant in integrating IPSCs than in progenitor cells, ESCs, and non-integrating iPSCs lines (Kang et al. 2015). However, there is another view point. Some researchers have found at least two CNV in progenitor cells, similar to those present in the reprogrammed iPSCs, and it is interpreted as the preexistence of low level CNV mosaicism in progenitor cells that are more often detected in iPSCs, due to their clonal expansion that lead to CNV enrichment and not necessarily new CNV linked to reprogramming (Abyzov et al. 2012).

Mutations Induced During Reprogramming

In a study that involved 22 hIPSCs reprogrammed with different procedures, 5 mutations were detected, some of them involving genes that participates in cancer development. The wide exome sequencing yielded six mutations per exome. Four new random mutations appeared as culture time was longer. Some mutations were originated during reprogramming while others, approximately the half, were preexistent in progenitor cells although at low frequencies (Gore et al. 2011). On the contrary, some potentially lethal mutations were only present during limited periods that are related to differentiation process (Fischer et al. 2012). It have been demonstrated that in early cultures of both hESCs and hiPSCs, deletions and loss of heterozygosity (LOH) are generated with a high frequency while duplications are more susceptible to occur during long-term culture. The type of genetic changes seems to be related to derivation process (Ben-Yosef et al. 2014). There are several studies that have proven that reprogramming is in itself a procedure that causes mutations and chromosomal aberrations in the iPSCs (Sugiura et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2020).

Different strategies were adopted in order to dissect the precise origin of those mutations. Most of mutations arose early during reprogramming and were not clonal from a parental origin. The effect of reprogramming procedures, especially those that are integrative, is recognized as risky and poses a severe hurdle on the therapeutic used of iPSCs. Those facts have fueled the research to establish protocols that minimize the reprogramming related mutations in IPSCs (Yamanaka and Blau 2010; Haridhasapavalan et al. 2019; Yoshihara et al. 2019; Schaefer et al. 2020).

In spite of the fact that there are mutations that exist prior to reprogramming in the starting progenitor cells, there are others that appear during reprogramming process and afterwards in culture. These mutations can be selected positively or negatively. The allegedly function of those mutations is that they could be involved in reprogramming process itself but unfortunately those changes also could be related to cancers, with which mutation pattern are similar to reprogramming related mutations (Gore et al. 2011). The fact that insertional based reprogramming procedures often induce de novo mutations, that not necessarily are negatively selected in culture, has stimulated the search for alternative reprogramming methods, such as those based on expression plasmids, Sendai virus vectors, and episomal plasmid vectors. An array of DNA-free reprogramming methods, including protein-based, mRNA-based methods, have also been developed (Yamanaka and Blau 2010; Basu and Tiwari 2021).

The relationship between reprogramming and generation of mutations is also thought not as a consequence of the introduction of reprogramming factors, but to the process of integration in the genome of receptor cell. There is a growing number of reports on that line. The nuclear transfer procedure in mouse embryonic and tailtip fibroblasts yielded fewer mutations than those that resulted after retroviral transduction. Nuclear transfer generated 80% less mutations than retroviral transduction (Araki et al. 2017). Integrative methods induces more mutations but there are differences in their mutagenicity, like that based in Sendai versus Lentivirus, the alternatives within integrative methods is also opened (Sobol et al. 2015). Moreover, there are voices in dissidence that considers that reprogramming method does not affect gene expression in iPSCs (Trevisan et al. 2017).

Besides the circumstance that reprogramming methods exerts an influence over the genetic and epigenetic stability in iPSCs, there is also another particular issue that must be addressed: the reprogramming factors or genes itself. Reprogramming factors, currently in use like OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, c-MYC, NANOG, and LIN28 are involved in several malignancies as drivers of tumorigenesis and biomarkers of cancer severity and evolution. Reprogramming factors are at the same time oncogenes, inducers of replicative stress and genomic instability in resultant iPSCs, and this is particularly relevant when c-Myc is included as a reprogramming factor (Pasi et al. 2011; Jeter et al. 2015; Kuo et al. 2016; Lamm et al. 2016; van Schaijik et al. 2018).

Shimada et al. (2019) exposed to ionizing radiation IPSCs to characterize transcriptional changes leading to pluripotency and genome stability maintenance under genotoxic pressure. The endpoints were DNA DSB repair, cell cycle checkpoints, and apoptosis in fibroblasts, iPSCs, and neural progenitor cells (NPCs) derived from iPSCs. DSB were repaired more efficiently in fibroblasts, followed by neural progenitor, while in IPCs remained a higher percentage of DSB, as was demonstrated through detection γ -H2AX foci. In IPSCs, apoptosis-related genes like p53, CASP, and BID were overexpressed as well as apoptosis markers increased. Those results points to a relevant role of apoptosis in IPCs, erasing DNA damaged cells, contributing in that way to genomic maintenance of undifferentiated cell populations exposed to genotoxic insults.

Not only those genes that constitutes reprogramming factors have exerted different degree of influence in the resulting IPCs. Genes involved in remodeling of nucleosomes through deacetylation like Mbd3 are determinant in reprogramming efficiency (Jaffer et al. 2018). Another is CHK1 whose overexpression increases the efficiency of the procedure and the oocyte factor Zscan 4 that contributes to maintaining genomic stability, limiting sister chromatid exchanges and promoting telomere elongation in mESCs. Genes like developmental pluripotency-associated protein-3 (DPPA3) and (NPM2) nucleoplasmin-2 that are involved in Zscan4 regulation and stemness maintenance cooperate when co-transfected with Yamanaka factors in the genetic stabilization role in murine embryo fibroblasts (Jiang et al. 2013).

Another relevant group of genes that are determinant in the success of reprogramming belongs to DNA repair mechanism, like XPA from NER, Brca1, Brca2, and Rad51 (González et al. 2013), that can be interpreted as an evidence of the need of an intact HR mechanism during reprogramming. Deficiencies in DSB NHEJ repair causes both a reduction in reprogramming efficiency and increases genomic instability. Functional impairment of ligase IV (LIG4) and Cernunnos/*XLF*) that participate in NHEJ also sustains the role of DDR in the reprogramming (Tilgner et al. 2013; Turinetto et al. 2017).

Sirtuins (SIRT), a group of type III histone deacetylases that change chromatin conformation in specific sites, have been invoked as participants in DSB repair.

There is a link between SIRT function and poly(ADP-ribosylation) in cells with damaged DNA. There are reports on the effect of SIRT inhibition that results in a very profound reduction in DNA-PK-independent nonhomologous end joining, a backup pathway (B-NHEJ). NHEJ is active in stem cells and the fact that SIRT inhibitions reduces this activity is in concordance with those reports about SIRT expression as relevant for the genetic stability in stem cells (Wojewódzka et al. 2007; Chen et al. 2017; Fang et al. 2019; Jeske et al. 2021). In line with the previous assertion, SIRT1 participates in the regulation of mitochondria activity in ESC (Ou et al. 2014), and consequently in their ROS production and ability to damage DNA.

NAD+ levels are reduced in aging mice that in turns reduces SIRT1 function and decreased NAD+. The lowered levels of NAD+ inhibits PARP1 because a protein DBC1 that must combine with NAD+, but if NAD+ it is reduced, DBC1 is favored to combine with PARP1, that diminish its activity resulting in more DNA damage. In this circumstances, both NHEJ and HR are also reduced. The so-called NAD+/ PARP1/SIRT1 axis explains a connection between NAD+ levels and DNA damage. These links, that are relevant to explain age-related changes in the ability to respond to genotoxic insults, bring another two molecules that are involved in genetic stability in stem cells, NAD+ and SIRT family (Mendelsohn and Larrick 2017). In human MSCs, mitochondrial NAD+ restoration delays aging and replicative senescence in culture (Son et al. 2016).

Moreover, SIRT have been demonstrated as a factor that alters IPSCs reprogramming through metabolic changes in the cells. This is a gene family that may be amenable for modulation in order to improve reprogramming (Shin et al. 2018). Another family of enzymes that is crucially involved in stem cell renewal, proliferation, and differentiation is that of NADPH oxidases, which mediate several basic cell processes trough modulation of redox status in embryo cell in their natural environment and also in culture expansion for therapy purposes. Oxidative stress and antioxidant capacities are antagonists in the delicate oxidative homeostasis; NOX enzymes may modulate protein activities through ROS signaling that changes stem cell main characteristics that are relevant for their clinical applications, i.e., stemness, homing, and genetic stability (Maraldi et al. 2021). NADPH oxidases, like type NOX4, are present in mitochondrial membrane, the endoplasmic reticulum, and nuclear membrane (nNOX), the last modify the expression of stemness factors Oct4, SSEA-4, and Sox2, and modulates DNA damage (Maraldi et al. 2021).

Culture Conditions, the Passage Number

Stem cells are not abundant enough to be utilized straightforward in therapy, so they need to be expanded in culture. Culture comprises an array of steps and conditions that make each one a probable source of heterogeneity and further variation. Donor's individual characteristics, cell origin, culture medium and supplements, oxygen pressure and different protocols for cell detachment, passages, and environmental radiation levels, are factors that could be summarized as a need for greater

standardization of the whole process from cells isolation to transplantation. This shortage should be expected in a growing science field, where the development of consensus protocols is urgently needed in order to limit variability and contribute to achieve more homogeneous therapeutic cells.

Culture conditions have been invoked consistently as a main contributor to genetic instability. Different types of stem cells are prone to exhibits and increase in chromosomal and sub-chromosomal abnormalities (CNV, indels), aneuploidies, and de novo mutations. Culture as a necessary procedure for cell expansion involves critical steps that may affect genetic stability, among them there are the culture medium composition, including the option of defined mediums, the normoxic or hypoxic conditions, the freeze-thaw and the passage techniques, the addition of substances that may affect DNA repair capacity, the presence or not of feeder layers. and the passage number among the more relevant (Mitalipova et al. 2005; Narva et al. 2010; Di Stefano et al. 2018; Henry 2019). Passage procedure involving singlecell or small-clump passaging is considered as relevant source of genetic changes (Bai et al. 2015). Karyotype abnormalities and copy number variations does not only occur during long-term cultures. Those genomic changes may appear early within a number as low as five passages in hESCs. Those alterations are detected after enzymatic treatment for cells detachment, as was already mentioned; enzymatic digestion induces genomic instability in hPSCs, even at the first passages. Sub-chromosomal abnormalities arise earlier than those revealed in the karvotype and were associated with higher frequency of DSB (Bai et al. 2015; Assou et al. 2020).

Amniotic fluid-derived MSCs are less prone to genetic damage than BM-hMSCs, and one of the reason is the better repair response to DNA damage in the former after the same genotoxic challenge (Alessio et al. 2018). A report on genetic instability in human ASC under normoxic (21% oxygen) and hypoxic conditions (1% oxygen) points to a greater susceptibility of ASC versus BM-hMSCs to impaired DNA repair as evaluated by γ H2AX signaling, the authors recommended hypoxic as the normalized culture conditions for BM-hMSCs (Bigot et al. 2015). Oxygen conditions in culture should be maintained hypoxic, but the best choice must be to match the gas pressure to the cell type. Stability in the oxygen flow must be secured in order to limit those fluctuations that is accompanied by ROS generation and DNA damage (Goto et al. 2014; Oliveira et al. 2014; Testa et al. 2016).

There are proposals for enhancement of culture conditions through development of standardized platforms based in more efficient bioreactors at a greater production scale that should result in lower number of passages. Development of defined culture media that overcome the troubles associated to chromosomes abnormalities that are more often found when serum free or poorly defined media is utilized. The presence of genotoxicants during culture is been addressed (Talib and Shepard 2020). Along the chapter we have mentioned those aspects relating culture conditions and genetic instability, and hence in this section, we will focus on the proposed solutions that addressed the enhancement of genetic instability trough standardization of culture, media components, manipulation, and even selection of progenitor original cells in order to favor the homogeneity as well as stability. There have been proposed that cells to be used for therapy must be restrained to the first passage number, according to specific cell type, and culture media. The proposed passage number that should guarantee greater safety regarding genetic stability ranged from two to six for hESC (Merkle et al. 2017), to four passages in BM-hMSCs (Binato et al. 2013), and also four passages in MS cultured in DMEM (Yang et al. 2018). Another group found the limit for BM-hMSCs in passage three (Zhang et al. 2007).

Greater stability in long-term culture have been reported for BM and adiposederived stem cells that remained genetically stable up to passage 20 in α -MEM/20% FBS (Izadpanah et al. 2008). There is another report on the suitability for BM-hMSCs that until ten passages conserved karyotype stability as well as their secretory ability, needed for their paracrine effects (Choi et al. 2010). There is a lack of consistence between different groups in finding a passage threshold of security, for instance in another work with the same cell type resulted only in two passages secure interval (Borgonovo et al. 2014). Similar results have been reported by von Bahr et al. (2012), regarding also the therapeutic efficiency declining after two passages for BM-hMSCs.

ASCs yield from adipose tissue are about 500-fold times greater than from bone marrow, and this allows less expansion culture time for adipose-derived stem cells, which is an important advantage (Jeske et al. 2021). Additionally, ASC can be maintained in culture during greater time periods with less risks of decay in therapeutic properties (Danisovic et al. 2017; Jeske et al. 2021). ASC cultured during periods of 6 months maintained their genome stability evaluated through in deep high-resolution techniques, and interestingly the authors remarks that in a negligible subpopulation, certain aberrations arose in early culture, but were further eliminated, even reducing the already low probable risk (Meza-Zepeda et al. 2008).

Moreover, in the search of the secure number of passages for therapy use, there are reports of adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells that shows chromosomal stability, even after scrutinized through high-resolution karyotyping, until passage five, when cultured in low-glucose Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (L-DMEM) (Debnath et al. 2019). ASC respond with less senescence during culture, a feature that is considered as a result of higher sensitivity in NAD+ –SIRT axis (Jeske et al. 2021). Adipose-derived stem cells remain genetically stable over long periods in culture as well as keeping their pluripotency, differentiation capacities, and immunomodulatory properties; characteristics that make ASC a central protagonist in cell-based therapy (Grimes et al. 2009; Blázquez-Prunera et al. 2017; Patrikoski et al. 2019).

Human umbilical cord derived MSC (hUC-MSCs) experienced changes in expression involving genes related to chromosome stability and segregation altogether with senescence morphology after passage number 15 in DMEN 10% FCS, those changes were paralleled with decreasing differentiation and regeneration abilities (Zhuang et al. 2015). Other authors report that (hUC-MSCs) are massively selected since the beginning of culture expansion, a process that results in a more homogeneous population (Selich et al. 2016), exhibiting a greater fitness. However, there is a consistency in the results indicating that mesenchymal stem cells isolated
from adipose tissue results in more genetically stable cells than their BM counterparts. In a murine model, among the molecular features that could explain the differences between adipose and bone marrow derived cells, is significant the reduction in H-19 noncoding RNA in BM-derived cells compared with ASCs. This difference is considered as determinant to the proneness to polyploidy exhibited by BM-derived mesenchymal stem cells. In ASCs, there is also an involvement of p53 protein that is less active in BM-derived stem cells in keeping ASC diploidy (Ravid et al. 2014).

Given the intrinsic nature of variations in progenitor cells and during culture, the choice should be aimed toward a cultured cell, whose amount and nature of genetic changes does not compromise their therapeutic safety, and not to the total absence of genetic changes. This is a risky statement due to the stochastic nature of the previous changes that may lead to oncogene activation or LOH as well as to mutations compromising the differentiation and proliferation cell fate.

A parallel, more active, approach includes the use of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK/ERK) inhibitors in stem cell culture. Inactivation of MAPK pathway with the MEK1/2 inhibitor PD0325901 often results in genetic instability in mouse cells. However, titration of this inhibitor from 1 μ M to 0.3–0.4 μ M or replacing it with another one may restore the epigenetic and genomic stability of mouse ESC, as well as their differentiation capacities. MAPK inhibitors are another alternative to be considered in the search for genome stability in stem cell culture (Di Stefano et al. 2018).

The Bystander Effect

The paracrine effect of an aneuploid cell over the surrounding cells through exosome is known as bystander effect. One relevant example regarding culture procedure is the influence over basement membrane of feeder cells, exerted by mitomycin C. This phenomenon is considered as a contributor to the induction of chromosome aberration in untreated neighboring cells. The bystander effect is under scrutiny so as to establish the contribution to aneuploidy induction by contiguity of stem versus feeder cells in different culture conditions.

Exposition to exosomes have been correlated to telomere shortening in nonirradiated human epithelial cancer cells, when exposed to irradiated conditioned medium (ICM) from irradiated ones, a phenomenon that increased with the passage number. In the progeny of non-gamma irradiated HSCs, from CBA/Ca mice, exposed to ICM, chromosomal instability similar to that of irradiated cells have been induced due to bystander effect (Lorimore et al. 2005). Exosomes from irradiated cells are proven responsible for bystander telomere effects. Proteins and RNA contained in exosomes have been found responsible for telomere-induced instability in nearby cell (Jella et al. 2014; Al-Mayah et al. 2017). Microvesicles have been previously identified as vectors for bystander effect between irradiated and nonirradiated human keratinocytes. Both exosomes (30–100 nm) and microvesicles (>100 nm) are involved in the transport of such molecules that induces genetic instability in non-treated cells (Jella et al. 2014). Intercellular communication junction are also proven as passage ways for instability factors between cells like products resultant from oxidation (Klammer et al. 2015; Henry et al. 2019). There is a consensus respect to bystander effect as a factor that is relevant to maintenance of genetic stability in cells that are cultured in the presence of other that have been exposed to genotoxicants (Henry et al. 2019).

Instability Factors Related to Donors

Obesity

In MSCs obtained from adipose deposits in obese mice under oxidative stress produces an increase in DNA damage that may cause telomere shortening and activates genotoxic checkpoints. Oxidative stress linked to adipose inflammation compromise the expression of stemness genes and provokes more senescence and apoptosis. In ASCs obtained from old obese subjects, there is more DNA damage, less renewal, and therapeutic potential due to secretome impairment (Alessio et al. 2020). Similar results were obtained when obese diabetic subjects from India and nonobese control served as donors of hADSCs so as to evaluate the on ASDC functions. Proliferation was reduced, expression of pluripotency genes was altered as well as diminishing osteogenesis (Rawal et al. 2020).

Resistin, an adipokine that is increased in obesity, known for favoring insulin resistance, have been recently linked with lowering of the stemness of in cultured hADSCs from a healthy subject. Exposition to resistin obstacles differentiation to adipogenesis and reduced expression of several genes including CCAAT/enhancerbinding proteins (C/EBP) α and adiponectin in adipocytes and affect SIRT levels in derived in osteocytes (Rawal et al. 2021). Under hypoxic conditions, there have been observed a decrease in expression of DNA repair genes and consequently microsatellite instability. A reduction in the number of mitochondria accompanied with less production of ATP, simultaneously, a decrease in ATP that is independent from of O₂ concentration or number of cell passages. Several point mutations, including some in a wide range of tumors, were observed. This is one in many reports on the negative effect of hypoxia in stem cell genomic instability (Zhang et al. 2018a, b; Kaplan and Glazer 2020).

Donor Age

Senescence is a cell response to aging that is characterized by exhaustion of stem cells and chronic inflammation. However, there are considered coordinated processes that guarantee protein homeostasis. This processes include: synthesis, folding, ubiquitination, and proteasome degradation, and a disruption in this network results in toxic damaged proteins.

Also a senescence hallmark is the alterations in nutrient signaling and sensitivity to mitogens that is crucial in cell growth regulation. Cell growth is controlled by two opposite pathways, one that is anabolic called target of rapamycin complex I (mTORC1) and the alternative is the autophagy pathway that is catabolic. mTORC1 reacts to several types of stimuli that integrates growth as a response for a multiplicity of metabolic situations, and among those effectors are growth factors, adenosine triphosphate, oncogenes, amino acids, and ROS. Senescence includes the breakdown of the control of genome, protein homeostasis, and nutrient sensing related growth (López-Otín et al. 2013; Carroll and Korolchuk 2018). Age-associated genome instability in stem cells is linked to mutations that accumulate in a stochastic manner or tends to increase in exponential dynamics of mutations. Emergence of driven mutations may lead to senescence or cancer in the context of reduction in several DNA repair pathways (Burkhalter et al. 2015).

Aging is expressed as a complex and gradual loss of functions that result in tissue and organ deterioration as well as the organism as a whole. Stem cells that are responsible for tissue homeostasis guarantee renewal and proliferation, experienced aging, and consequently accumulate damages that leads to senescence affecting their quality and usefulness to be utilized in cellular therapy (Kollman et al. 2001).

In this regard, age of donor subjects is important in the success of cell expansion. A series of reports support the negative effect of aging in stem cell suitability for therapy. IPSCs reprogramming was inversely correlated to donors age (Trokovic et al. 2015; Meng et al. 2020), as well as the yield of adipose MSC (Yamauchi et al. 2017). The negative impact of cells aging, affects differentiation efficiency, and paracrine immunomodulatory properties have been reported (Jin et al. 2017; Park et al. 2021). In a mixed model of murine recipients and human cells transplantation, the analysis of peri-infarct cortex treated with hMSCs from aged donors significantly reduced the efficacy relative to neurogenesis, vessel development, and anti-inflammatory secretory profile (Yamaguchi et al. 2018). A recent review that evaluated information on the links between vascular senescence, endocrine pro-senescence factors NSC responsiveness to vascular and blood factors, lead to the conclusion that aged stem cells declined in key processes like neurogenesis. These facts poses a warning signal against the use of elders as donors of NSC for therapy (Rojas-Vázquez et al. 2021).

Studies on the relationship between donor age and IPSCs genetic stability have demonstrated that cells from elder donors contained a higher number of genetic alterations than the younger. In a work IPSCs were obtained from blood samples from 16 subjects (age 21–100 years). Clonal expansion via reprogramming allowed exomic analysis that revealed a linear relationship between mutations and donor's age, and those mutation includes several related to cancer (Lo Sardo et al. 2017). There is a consensus on the greater genetic alterations and less suitability for stem cells derived from aged subjects (Kenyon et al. 2012; McNeely et al. 2020; De et al. 2021). This brings and implicit limitation for those autologous treatments in old patients that are being the subject of intense scrutiny that is continuously fueled by controversial results.

Alternatively, some author reported that adipose stem cells conserved the secretome without changes neither showed senescence or reduction in cells yield irrespective of donors age (Dufrane 2017). In this direction, there are reports in reversing age signature and fulfillment of successful reprogramming IPSCs from elder even centenarians subjects. Those studies that reports cell reversion of aged

phenotype in different kind of cells, like MSCs, NSCs, HSCs, and reduction of genomic instability hallmark, and remarkably epigenetic rejuvenation obliges to keep the possibilities opened to the acceptance of elder cells donors as the research on the continues (Lapasset et al. 2011; Rohani et al. 2014; Singh and Newman 2018; Li et al. 2020; Yu et al. 2020).

Toxic Habits and Diseases in the Donors

Smoking and alcoholism are habits that may harm donor cells, preconditioning then in such a way that affects the abilities for its use in therapy. Basal stem cells from airways of smoker subjects acquires gene signature of lung adenocarcinoma (Shaykhiev et al. 2013). Long-term exposition (20 weeks) to cigarette smoke in mice have shown an increase in stem cells features in pancreatic cells, which include among others the RNA polymerase II-associated factor promoter (PASF1) that is found overexpressed in pancreatic tumors (Nimmakayala et al. 2018). Also in a murine model, long-term cigarette smoke exposure in vivo lowered MSCs and HSCs, while increased gene expression related to proliferation, in what is another warning for the use of stem cells from smokers (Siggins et al. 2014). Smoke is capable of induce stem cells in the route to lung cancer development (Lu et al. 2020). Chronic nicotine exposition modulates epigenome through ROS induction and favors stemness in Hk-2 human kidney epithelial cells, during nicotine-related kidney carcinogenesis (Chang and Singh 2019). Cigarette smoke extract (CSE) impairs stem cell development through induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, affecting MSCs quality in mice (Cyprus et al. 2018). In human ASCs, in vitro exposition to CSE even at lower doses impaired the chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation albeit adipogenesis was not affected (Wahl et al. 2016). Even in healthy donor's peripheral blood, hematopoietic progenitor cells response to granulocyte colony stimulation factors is reduced in human heavy smokers but is reversed after smoking cessation (Zhen et al. 2020).

Smoking is one of the conditions that should be considered when selecting stem cells donor from different compartments, so as to guarantee that cells quality should not be compromised. Pro-inflammation, epigenetic changes, overexpression of proliferating cells, changes in stemness, and even the development of cancer stem cells could cause a derangement in the potential recipients of those cells.

Alcohol intake have also been reported as detrimental over certain types of stem cells (Dhanabalan et al. 2018), but the literature is more scarce on the subject that reflects the obviousness of avoids selection of alcoholic subjects as cells donors. Neurogenesis is affected by alcohol intake, through depletion of stem cells Sox-2 progenitors (Le Maître et al. 2018). On the opposite side, a moderate red wine intake have been reported to favor the increase of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) limited tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced EPC senescence in what is attributed to an increase in nitric oxide availability (Huang et al. 2010). Resveratrol increases the number of EPCs and angiogenesis (Lu et al. 2019).

Different conditions have shown to be detrimental for stem cell performance, i.e., hyperglycemia (Chen et al. 2007; Yin et al. 2021), that reduce proliferative capacity (Wang et al. 2018). In stem cells where metabolism is high, in concordance with the

increased proliferation requirements, hyperglycemia and O-GlcNAcylation induce genetic instability and trigger DDR in different stem cell types (Na et al. 2020). However, there are differences in stem cell susceptibility to hyperglycemia and ischemia, and one example is the maintenance of genetic stability in MSCs derived from umbilical cord and placenta (Sharma and Bhonde 2015). Human mesenchymal stromal from umbilical cord from newborns from diabetic mothers shows impaired proliferation as well as high levels of p16 of p53, mitochondrial dysfunction, and premature senescence (Kim et al. 2015). In another study in human umbilical cord cells, less proliferation, telomerase function, lower antioxidant enzymes, reduced stemness, less expression in genes related to mitochondrial activity, and impaired differentiation capacity have been observed when pregnancy was affected by gestational diabetes (Kong et al. 2019).

Developing IPSCs from diabetic patient's cells have been proposed to circumvent the problem posed by the heavy mutation burden in islets cells from diabetic donors and open new roads for autologous transplant for diabetic patients (Maxwell and Millman 2021).

Hyperinsulinemia observed in telomerase immortalized MSCs (ASC52telo) is accompanied by a reduction in their capacity to differentiate into adipocytes (Kulebyakin et al. 2021). Insulin resistance-induced oxidative stress have been related with damages that are severe enough so as to consider this relevant metabolic disturbance as a warning condition when evaluating possible stem cells donors (Kulebyakin et al. 2021).

Conclusion

Genome, genetic, or chromosome instability in stem cells from different species are terms that have been in use as synonyms, and those terms describe an increase in sequence variations at molecular level, the presence of aneuploidy, changes in epigenetic patterns, as well as dysregulation of those gene circuits that control DNA damage response and its interconnection with cell cycle control and progression. These changes are the result of a large array of causes operating at different levels, from the oxidative species generated in metabolism or inflammation to those aroused from external challenges to the cell in vivo or during isolation, culture, and reprogramming. Stem cells stemness shows an outstanding dependence from DNA stability and intranuclear deployment and chromatin organization. Those properties that make stem cells the core of the cellular therapy, like stemness, proliferation capacity, and paracrine effectiveness, are linked to genetic stability. Induced pluripotent stem cell reprogramming is paradoxically the "spring of youth" for inducible cells and the source of undesirable mutations on the other side. Consequently, cell dependence on the procedures integrative or not is an issue that will be in the center of stem cell basic and therapeutic-related research.

Genetic stability, of those cells intended for the treatment of many diseases that otherwise would remain without effective therapy, is a must as is the comprehension of those issues regarding to their genetic stability like, isolation, culture conditions (oxygen levels, type of medium, supplemented, or defined, feeder layers carriers, passage number, handling, and conservation, as well as the adequate selection of donors, even for autologous treatments. The pursue of genetic stability both for standardized cell pools to be commercialized like therapeutic drugs and for individualized medicine will be the consequence of the search for the best combinations between the multifaceted characteristics that will be responsible for the attainable genetically stable low risk therapeutic stem cells.

Cross-References

- Effects of 3D Cell Culture on the Cell Fate Decisions of Mesenchymal Stromal/ Stem Cells
- Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
- Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome: A Potential Biopharmaceutical Component to Regenerative Medicine
- ▶ Response of the Bone Marrow Stem Cells and the Microenvironment to Stress
- ▶ The Stem Cell Continuum Model and Implications in Cancer

References

- Abdelalim EM, Tooyama I (2014) Knockdown of p53 suppresses Nanog expression in embryonic stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 443(2):652–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2013.12.030
- Abyzov A, Mariani J, Palejev D, Zhang Y, Haney MS, Tomasini L, Ferrandino AF et al (2012) Somatic copy number mosaicism in human skin revealed by induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 492(7429):438–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11629
- Adiga SK, Upadhya D, Kalthur G, Sadashiva SR, Kumar P (2010) Transgenerational changes in somatic and germ line genetic integrity of first-generation offspring derived from the DNA damaged sperm. Fertil Steril 93(8):2486–2490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.06.015
- Aerts-Kaya F (2020) Strategies to protect hematopoietic stem cells from culture-induced stress conditions. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574888X15666200225091339
- Ahanger SH, Delgado RN, Gil E, Cole MA, Zhao J, Hong SJ, Kriegstein AR et al (2021) Distinct nuclear compartment-associated genome architecture in the developing mammalian brain. Nat Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00879-5
- Alessio N, Pipino C, Mandatori D, Di Tomo P, Ferone A, Marchiso M, Melone M et al (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells from amniotic fluid are less prone to senescence compared to those obtained from bone marrow: an in vitro study. J Cell Physiol 233(11):8996–9006. https://doi. org/10.1002/jcp.26845
- Alessio N, Acar MB, Demirsoy IH, Squillaro T, Siniscalco D, Bernardo GD, Peluso G et al (2020) Obesity is associated with senescence of mesenchymal stromal cells derived from bone marrow, subcutaneous and visceral fat of young mice. Aging 12(13):12609–12621. https://doi.org/10. 18632/aging.103606
- Al-Mayah AH, Bright SJ, Bowler DA, Slijepcevic P, Goodwin E, Kadhim MA (2017) Exosomemediated telomere instability in human breast epithelial cancer cells after X irradiation. Radiat Res 187(1):98–106. https://doi.org/10.1667/RR14201.1
- Amir H, Touboul T, Sabatini K, Chhabra D, Garitaonandia I, Loring JF, Morey R et al (2017) Spontaneous single-copy loss of TP53 in human embryonic stem cells markedly increases cell

proliferation and survival. Stem Cells (Dayton) 35(4):872-885. https://doi.org/10.1002/ stem.2550

- Amps K, Andrews PW, Anyfantis G, Armstrong L, Avery S, Baharvand H et al (2011) Screening ethnically diverse human embryonic stem cells identifies a chromosome 20 minimal amplicon conferring growth advantage. Nat Biotechnol 29:1132–1144. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nbt.2051
- Araki R, Mizutani E, Hoki Y, Sunayama M, Wakayama S, Nagatomo H, Kasama Y et al (2017) The number of point mutations in induced pluripotent stem cells and nuclear transfer embryonic stem cells depends on the method and somatic cell type used for their generation. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 35(5):1189–1196. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2601
- Assou S, Girault N, Plinet M, Bouckenheimer J, Sansac C, Combe M, Mianné J et al (2020) Recurrent genetic abnormalities in human pluripotent stem cells: definition and routine detection in culture supernatant by targeted droplet digital PCR. Stem Cell Rep 14(1):1–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.12.004
- Bach DH, Zhang W, Sood AK (2019) Chromosomal instability in tumor initiation and development. Cancer Res 79(16):3995–4002. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3235
- Bai Q, Ramirez JM, Becker F, Pantesco V, Lavabre-Bertrand T, Hovatta O, Lemaître JM et al (2015) Temporal analysis of genome alterations induced by single-cell passaging in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 24(5):653–662. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2014.0292
- Banimohamad-Shotorbani B, Kahroba H, Sadeghzadeh H, Wilson DM 3rd, Maadi H, Samadi N, Hejazi MS et al (2020) DNA damage repair response in mesenchymal stromal cells: from cellular senescence and aging to apoptosis and differentiation ability. Ageing Res Rev 62: 101125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2020.101125
- Bártová E, Kozubek S, Jirsová P, Kozubek M, Lukásová E, Skalníková M et al (2001) Higher-order chromatin structure of human granulocytes. Chromosoma 110:360–370. https://doi.org/10. 1002/dvdy.21773
- Bártová E, Galiová G, Krejcí J, Harnicarová A, Strasák L, Kozubek S (2008) Epigenome and chromatin structure in human embryonic stem cells undergoing differentiation. Dev Dyn 237(12):3690–3702
- Barzilai A, Yamamoto K (2004) DNA damage responses to oxidative stress. DNA Repair 3(8–9):1109–1115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2004.03.002
- Basu A, Tiwari VK (2021) Epigenetic reprogramming of cell identity: lessons from development for regenerative medicine. Clin Epigene 13(1):144. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-021-01131-4
- Bazrgar M, Gourabi H, Valojerdi MR, Yazdi PE, Baharvand H (2013) Self-correction of chromosomal abnormalities in human preimplantation embryos and embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 22(17):2449–2456. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0053
- Becker KA, Ghule PN, Therrien JA, Lian JB, Stein JL, van Wijnen AJ, Stein GS (2006) Selfrenewal of human embryonic stem cells is supported by a shortened G1 cell cycle phase. J Cell Physiol 209(3):883–893. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20776
- Beckta JM, Adams BR, Valerie K (2017) DNA damage response in human stem cells and neural descendants. In: Kozlov S (ed) ATM kinase. Methods Mol Biol vol 1599. Humana Press, New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6955-5 27
- Beerman I, Seita J, Inlay MA, Weissman IL, Rossi DJ (2014) Quiescent hematopoietic stem cells accumulate DNA damage during aging that is repaired upon entry into cell cycle. Cell Stem Cell 15(1):37–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.04.016
- Beltran AA, Molina SG, Beltran AS (2020) Derivation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human fibroblasts using a non-integrative system in feeder-free conditions. Bio-protocol 10(20): e3788. https://doi.org/10.21769/BioProtoc.3788
- Ben-David U (2015) Genomic instability, driver genes and cell selection: projections from cancer to stem cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1849(4):427–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014. 08.005

- Ben-Yosef D, Boscolo FS, Amir H, Malcov M, Amit A, Laurent LC (2013) Genomic analysis of hESC pedigrees identifies de novo mutations and enables determination of the timing and origin of mutational events. Cell Rep 4(6):1288–1302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.08.009
- Biancotti JC, Narwani K, Buehler N, Mandefro B, Golan-Lev T, Yanuka O, Clark A et al (2010) Human embryonic stem cells as models for aneuploid chromosomal syndromes. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 28(9):1530–1540. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.483
- Bigarella CL, Liang R, Ghaffari S (2014) Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. Development 141(22):4206–4218. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.107086
- Bigot N, Mouche A, Preti M, Loisel S, Renoud L, Le Guével R, Sensebé L et al (2015) Hypoxia differentially modulates the genomic stability of clinical-grade ADSCs and BM-MSCs in longterm culture. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 33(12):3608–3620. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2195
- Binato R, de Souza FT, Lazzarotto-Silva C, Du Rocher B, Mencalha A, Pizzatti L, Bouzas LF et al (2013) Stability of human mesenchymal stem cells during in vitro culture: considerations for cell therapy. Cell Prolif 46(1):10–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12002
- Blázquez-Prunera A, Díez JM, Gajardo R, Grancha S (2017) Human mesenchymal stem cells maintain their phenotype, multipotentiality, and genetic stability when cultured using a defined xeno-free human plasma fraction. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):103. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0552-z
- Böğürcü N, Seidel S, Garvalov BK, Acker T (2018) Analysis of hypoxia and the hypoxic response in tumor xenografts. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton, NJ) 1742:283–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4939-7665-2 25
- Borgonovo T, Vaz IM, Senegaglia AC, Rebelatto CL, Brofman PR (2014) Genetic evaluation of mesenchymal stem cells by G-banded karyotyping in a cell technology center. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter 36(3):202–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjhh.2014.03.006
- Briu LM, Maric C, Cadoret JC (2021) Replication stress, genomic instability, and replication timing: a complex relationship. Int J Mol Sci 22(9):4764. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22094764
- Brown A, Geiger H (2018) Chromosome integrity checkpoints in stem and progenitor cells: transitions upon differentiation, pathogenesis, and aging. Cell Mol Life Sci 75:3771–3779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-018-2891-z
- Brown A, Pospiech J, Eiwen K, Baker DJ, Moehrle B, Sakk V, Nattamai K et al (2017) The spindle assembly checkpoint is required for hematopoietic progenitor cell engraftment. Stem Cell Rep 9(5):1359–1368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.09.017
- Burkhalter MD, Rudolph KL, Sperka T (2015) Genome instability of ageing stem cells induction and defence mechanisms. Ageing Res Rev 23(Pt A):29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2015. 01.004
- Canham MA, Van Deusen A, Brison DR, De Sousa PA, Downie J, Devito L, Hewitt ZA et al (2015) The molecular karyotype of 25 clinical-grade human embryonic stem cell lines. Sci Rep 5: 17258. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17258
- Carroll B, Korolchuk VI (2018) Nutrient sensing, growth and senescence. FEBS J 285(11): 1948–1958. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14400
- Catalina P, Montes R, Ligero G, Sanchez L, de la Cueva T, Bueno C, Leone PE, Menendez P (2008) Human ESCs predisposition to karyotypic instability: is a matter of culture adaptation or differential vulnerability among hESC lines due to inherent properties? Mol Cancer 7:76. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-7-76
- Chang YW, Singh KP (2019) Nicotine-induced oxidative stress contributes to EMT and stemness during neoplastic transformation through epigenetic modifications in human kidney epithelial cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 374:65–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2019.04.023
- Chen YH, Lin SJ, Lin FY, Wu TC, Tsao CR, Huang PH, Liu PL et al (2007) High glucose impairs early and late endothelial progenitor cells by modifying nitric oxide-related but not oxidative stress-mediated mechanisms. Diabetes 56(6):1559–1568. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-1103
- Chen W, Liu N, Zhang H, Zhang H, Qiao J, Jia W, Zhu S et al (2017) Sirt6 promotes DNA end joining in iPSCs derived from old mice. Cell Rep 18(12):2880–2892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2017.02.082

- Choi MR, Kim HY, Park JY, Lee TY, Baik CS, Chai YG, Jung KH et al (2010) Selection of optimal passage of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for stem cell therapy in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurosci Lett 472(2):94–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet. 2010.01.054
- Chovanec P, Collier AJ, Krueger C, Várnai C, Semprich CI, Schoenfelder S, Corcoran AE et al (2021) Widespread reorganisation of pluripotent factor binding and gene regulatory interactions between human pluripotent states. Nat Comm 12(1):2098. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22201-4
- Clark AT, Rodriguez RT, Bodnar MS, Abeyta MJ, Cedars MI, Turek PJ, Firpo MT (2004) Human STELLAR, NANOG, and GDF3 genes are expressed in pluripotent cells and map to chromosome 12p13, a hotspot for teratocarcinoma. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 22(2):169–179. https:// doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.22-2-169
- Corces-Zimmerman MR, Hong WJ, Weissman IL, Medeiros BC, Majeti R (2014) Preleukemic mutations in human acute myeloid leukemia affect epigenetic regulators and persist in remission. PNAS 111(7):2548–2553. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1324297111
- Cyprus GN, Overlin JW, Hotchkiss KM, Kandalam S, Olivares-Navarrete R (2018) Cigarette smoke increases pro-inflammatory markers and inhibits osteogenic differentiation in experimental exposure model. Acta Biomater 76:308–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018. 06.018
- Danisovic L, Oravcova L, Krajciova L, Varchulova Novakova Z, Bohac M, Varga I et al (2017) Effect of long-term culture on the biological and morphological characteristics of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells. J Pgysiol Pharmacol 68(1):149–158
- Dantas M, Lima JT, Ferreira JG (2021) Nucleus-cytoskeleton crosstalk during mitotic entry. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:649899. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.649899
- de Lange T (2018) Shelterin-mediated telomere protection. Ann Rev Genet 52:223–247. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-genet-032918-021921
- De D, Karmakar P, Bhattacharya D (2021) Stem cell aging and regenerative medicine. Adv Exp Med Biol 1326:11–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_577
- Debnath T, Chelluri LK (2019) Standardization and quality assessment for clinical grade mesenchymal stem cells from human adipose tissue. Hematol Transf Cell Ther 41(1):7–16. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.htct.2018.05.001
- Desai A, Qing Y, Gerson SL (2014) Exonuclease 1 is a critical mediator of survival during DNA double strand break repair in nonquiescent hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 32(2):582–593. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1596
- Desmarais JA, Hoffmann MJ, Bingham G, Gagou ME, Meuth M, Andrews PW (2012) Human embryonic stem cells fail to activate CHK1 and commit to apoptosis in response to DNA. Stem Cells 30:1385–1393. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1117
- Dhanabalan G, Le Maître TW, Bogdanovic N, Alkass K, Druid H (2018) Hippocampal granule cell loss in human chronic alcohol abusers. Neurobiol Dis 120:63–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd. 2018.08.011
- Dhegihan H (2021) Regulation of chromatin organization in cell stemness: the emerging role of long non-coding RNAs. Stem Cell Rev Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-021-10209-8
- Di Giammartino DC, Apostolou E (2016) The chromatin signature of pluripotency: establishment and maintenance. Curr Stem Cell Rep 2(3):255–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40778-016-0055-3
- Di Stefano B, Ueda M, Sabri S, Brumbaugh J, Huebner AJ, Sahakyan A, Clement K et al (2018) Reduced MEK inhibition preserves genomic stability in naive human embryonic stem cells. Nat Methods 15(9):732–740. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0104-1
- Dileep V, Wilson KA, Marchal C, Lyu X, Zhao PA, Li B, Poulet A et al (2019) Rapid irreversible transcriptional reprogramming in human stem cells accompanied by discordance between replication timing and chromatin compartment. Stem Cell Rep 13(1):193–206. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.05.021

- Dolezalova D, Mraz M, Barta T, Plevova K, Vinarsky V, Holubcova Z et al (2012) MicroRNAs regulate p21Waf1/Cip1 protein expression and the DNA damage response in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 30:1362–1372. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1108
- Donley N, Thayer MJ (2013) DNA replication timing, genome stability and cancer: late and/or delayed DNA replication timing is associated with increased genomic instability. Semin Cancer Biol 23(2):80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.01.001
- Duailibi MT, Kulikowski LD, Duailibi SE, Lipay MV, Melaragno MI, Ferreira LM, Vacanti JP et al (2012) Cytogenetic instability of dental pulp stem cell lines. J Mol Histol 43(1):89–94. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10735-011-9373-z
- Dufrane D (2017) Impact of age on human adipose stem cells for bone tissue engineering. Cell Transp 26(9):1496–1504. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689717721203
- Engin AB, Engin A (2021) The connection between cell fate and telomere. Adv Exp Med Biol 1275:71–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49844-3 3
- Escobedo-Lucea C, Stojkovic M (2010) Growth of human embryonic stem cells using derivates of human fibroblasts. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton, NJ) 584:55–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-369-5 3
- Fajka-Boja R, Szebeni GJ, Hunyadi-Gulyás É, Puskás LG, Katona RL (2020) Polyploid adipose stem cells shift the balance of IGF1/IGFBP2 to promote the growth of breast cancer. Front Oncol 10:157. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00157
- Fang Y, Tang S, Li X (2019) Sirtuins in metabolic and epigenetic regulation of stem cells. Trends Endocrinol Metab 30(3):177–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2018.12.002
- Fischer U, Keller A, Voss M et al (2012) Genome-wide gene amplification during differentiation of neural progenitor cells in vitro. PLoS One 7:e37422
- Flach J, Bakker ST, Mohrin M, Conroy PC, Pietras EM, Reynaud D, Alvarez S et al (2009) A p53-dependent response limits epidermal stem cell functionality and organismal size in mice with short telomeres. PLoS One 4(3):e4934. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0004934
- Flores, I., & Blasco, M. A. (2009) A p53-dependent response limits epidermal stem cell functionality and organismal size in mice with short telomeres. PloS one, 4(3): e4934. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0004934
- Forsyth NR, Kay A, Hampson K, Downing A, Talbot R, McWhir J (2008) Transcriptome alterations due to physiological normoxic (2% O2) culture of human embryonic stem cells. Regen Med 3(6):817–833. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460751.3.6.817
- Fumagalli M, Rossiello F, Clerici M, Barozzi S, Cittaro D, Kaplunov JM, Bucci G et al (2012) Telomeric DNA damage is irreparable and causes persistent DNA-damage-response activation. Nat Cell Biol 14(4):355–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2466
- Garinis GA, van der Horst GT, Vijg J, Hoeijmakers JH (2008) DNA damage and ageing: new-age ideas for an age-old problem. Nat Cell Biol 10(11):1241–1247
- Garitaonandia I, Amir H, Boscolo FS, Wambua GK, Schultheisz HL, Sabatini K, Morey R et al (2015) Increased risk of genetic and epigenetic instability in human embryonic stem cells associated with specific culture conditions. PLoS One 10(2):e0118307. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0118307
- Genovese G, Kahler AK, Handsaker RE et al (2014) Clonal hematopoiesis and blood-cancer risk inferred from blood DNA sequence. New Engl J Med 371(26):2477–2487
- Gezer D, Vukovic M, Soga T, Pollard PJ, Kranc KR (2014) Concise review: genetic dissection of hypoxia signaling pathways in normal and leukemic stem cells. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 32(6):1390–1397. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1657
- Ghasemi-Dehkordi P, Allahbakhshian-Farsani M, Abdian N, Mirzaeian A, Saffari-Chaleshtori J, Heybati F, Mardani G et al (2015) Comparison between the cultures of human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) on feeder-and serum-free system (Matrigel matrix), MEF and HDF feeder cell lines. J Cell Commun Signal 9(3):233–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12079-015-0289-3

- Giacosa S, Pillet C, Séraudie I, Guyon L, Wallez Y, Roelants C, Battail C et al (2021) Cooperative blockade of CK2 and ATM kinases drives apoptosis in VHL-deficient renal carcinoma cells through ROS overproduction. Cancers 13(3):576. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13030576
- Glicksman MA (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cells: the most versatile source for stem cell therapy. Clin Ther 40(7):1060–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2018.06.004
- Goh PA, Caxaria S, Casper C, Rosales C, Warner TT, Coffey PJ, Nathwani AC (2013) A systematic evaluation of integration free reprogramming methods for deriving clinically relevant patient specific induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells. PLoS One 8(11):e81622. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0081622
- González F, Georgieva D, Vanoli F, Shi ZD, Stadtfeld M, Ludwig T, Jasin M et al (2013) Homologous recombination DNA repair genes play a critical role in reprogramming to a pluripotent state. Cell Rep 3(3):651–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.02.005
- Gonzalo S, Eissenberg JC (2016) Tying up loose ends: telomeres, genomic instability and lamins. Curr Opin Genet Dev 37:109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2016.03.003
- Gore A, Li Z, Fung HL, Young JE, Agarwal S, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Canto I et al (2011) Somatic coding mutations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471(7336):63–67. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature09805
- Goto M, Miwa H, Suganuma K, Tsunekawa-Imai N, Shikami M, Mizutani M, Mizuno S, Hanamura I, Nitta M (2014) Adaptation of leukemia cells to hypoxic condition through switching the energy metabolism or avoiding the oxidative stress. BMC Cancer 14:76. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-76
- Grill S, Nandakumar J (2020) Molecular mechanisms of telomere biology disorders. J Biol Chem 296:100064. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.REV120.014017
- Grimes BR, Steiner CM, Merfeld-Clauss S, Traktuev DO, Smith D, Reese A, Breman AM et al (2009) Interphase FISH demonstrates that human adipose stromal cells maintain a high level of genomic stability in long-term culture. Stem Cells Dev 18(5):717–724. https://doi.org/10.1089/ scd.2008.0255
- Gruenbaum Y, Wilson KL, Harel A, Goldberg M, Cohen M (2000) Review: nuclear lamins structural proteins with fundamental functions. J Struct Biol 129(2–3):313–323. https://doi.org/ 10.1006/jsbi.2000.4216
- Gu YF, OuYang Q, Dai C, Lu CF, Lin G, Gong F, Lu X (2016) Abnormalities in centrosome number in human embryos and embryonic stem cells. Mol Reprod Dev 83(5):392–404. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mrd.22633
- Guo R, Ye X, Yang J, Zhou Z, Tian C, Wang H, Wang H et al (2018) Feeders facilitate telomere maintenance and chromosomal stability of embryonic stem cells. Nat Commun 9(1):2620. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05038-2
- Haridhasapavalan KK, Borgohain MP, Dey C, Saha B, Narayan G, Kumar S, Thummer RP (2019) An insight into non-integrative gene delivery approaches to generate transgene-free induced pluripotent stem cells. Gene 686:146–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2018.11.069
- Hartwell L (1992) Defects in a cell cycle checkpoint may be responsible for the genomic instability of cancer cells. Cell 71(4):543–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90586-2
- Hassani SN, Moradi S, Taleahmad S, Braun T, Baharvand H (2019) Transition of inner cell mass to embryonic stem cells: mechanisms, facts, and hypotheses. Cell Mol Life Sci 76(5):873–892. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-018-2965-y
- Hastie ND, Dempster M, Dunlop MG, Thompson AM, Green DK, Allshire RC (1990) Telomere reduction in human colorectal carcinoma and with ageing. Nature 346(6287):866–868. https:// doi.org/10.1038/346866a0
- Henry MP, Hawkins JR, Boyle J, & Bridger JM (2019). The Genomic Health of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells: Genomic Instability and the Consequences on Nuclear Organization. Frontiers in genetics. 9–623. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2018.00623
- Hidalgo I, Herrera-Merchan A, Ligos JM, Carramolino L, Nuñez J, Martinez F, Dominguez O et al (2012) Ezh1 is required for hematopoietic stem cell maintenance and prevents senescence-like cell cycle arrest. Cell Stem Cell 11(5):649–662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.08.001

- Hladik D, Höfig I, Oestreicher U, Beckers J, Matjanovski M, Bao X, Scherthan H et al (2019) Longterm culture of mesenchymal stem cells impairs ATM-dependent recognition of DNA breaks and increases genetic instability. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):218. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1334-6
- Hoeijmakers JH (2009) DNA damage, aging, and cancer. New Engl J Med 361(15):1475–1485. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0804615
- Holm F, Nikdin H, Kjartansdóttir KR, Gaudenzi G, Fried K, Aspenström P, Hermanson O et al (2013) Passaging techniques and ROCK inhibitor exert reversible effects on morphology and pluripotency marker gene expression of human embryonic stem cell lines. Stem Cells Dev 22(13):1883–1892. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2012.0412
- Huang PH, Chen YH, Tsai HY, Chen JS, Wu TC, Lin FY, Sata M et al (2010) Intake of red wine increases the number and functional capacity of circulating endothelial progenitor cells by enhancing nitric oxide bioavailability. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30(4):869–877. https:// doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.200618
- Huang J, Wang F, Okuka M, Liu N, Ji G, Ye X, Zuo B et al (2011) Association of telomere length with authentic pluripotency of ES/iPS cells. Cell Res 21(5):779–792. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2011.16
- Imreh MP, Gertow K, Cedervall J, Unger C, Holmberg K, Szöke K, Csöregh L et al (2006) In vitro culture conditions favoring selection of chromosomal abnormalities in human ES cells. J Cell Biochem 99(2):508–516. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20897
- Inomata K, Aoto T, Binh NT, Okamoto N, Tanimura S, Wakayama T, Iseki S et al (2009) Genotoxic stress abrogates renewal of melanocyte stem cells by triggering their differentiation. Cell 137(6): 1088–1099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.03.037
- International Stem Cell Initiative, Amps K, Andrews PW, Anyfantis G, Armstrong L, Avery S, Baharvand H, Baker J (2011) Screening ethnically diverse human embryonic stem cells identifies a chromosome 20 minimal amplicon conferring growth advantage. Nat Biotechnol 29(12):1132–1144. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2051
- Ito K, Hirao A, Arai F, Matsuoka S, Takubo K, Hamaguchi I, Nomiyama K et al (2004) Regulation of oxidative stress by ATM is required for self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 431(7011):997–1002. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02989
- Izadpanah R, Kaushal D, Kriedt C, Tsien F, Patel B, Dufour J, Bunnell BA (2008) Long-term in vitro expansion alters the biology of adult mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res 68(11): 4229–4238. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5272
- Jaffer S, Goh P, Abbasian M, Nathwani AC (2018) Mbd3 promotes reprogramming of primary human fibroblasts. Int J Stem Cells 11(2):235–241. https://doi.org/10.15283/ijsc18036
- Jaiswal S, Fontanillas P, Flannick J et al (2014) Age-related clonal hematopoiesis associated with adverse outcomes. New Engl J Med 371(26):2488–2498
- Jan M, Majeti R (2013) Clonal evolution of acute leukemia genomes. Oncogene 32(2):135–140. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.48
- Jeffery D, Gatto A, Podsypanina K, Renaud-Pageot C, Ponce Landete R, Bonneville L et al (2021) CENP-A overexpression promotes distinct fates in human cells, depending on p53 status. Commun Biol 4(1):417. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-01941-5
- Jekaterina ET, Deshpande M, Wang N, O'Neil R, Zuccaro MV, Smith ME, Madireddy A et al (2020) Pluripotent stem cells with low differentiation potential contain incompletely reprogrammed DNA replication. J Cell Biol 219(9):e201909163. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201909163
- Jella KK, Rani S, O'Driscoll L, McClean B, Byrne HJ, Lyng FM (2014) Exosomes are involved in mediating radiation induced bystander signaling in human keratinocyte cells. Radiat Res 181(2): 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1667/RR13337.1
- Jeske R, Yuan X, Fu Q, Bunnell BA, Logan TM, Li Y (2021) In vitro culture expansion shifts the immune phenotype of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Front Immunol 12: 621744. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.621744
- Jeter CR, Yang T, Wang J, Chao HP, Tang DG (2015) Concise review: NANOG in cancer stem cells and tumor development: an update and outstanding questions. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 33(8): 2381–2390. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2007

- Jiang H, Ju Z, Rudolph KL (2007) Telomere shortening and ageing. Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie und Geriatrie 40(5):314–324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00391-007-0480-0
- Jiang J, Lv W, Ye X, Wang L, Zhang M, Yang H, Okuka M et al (2013) Zscan4 promotes genomic stability during reprogramming and dramatically improves the quality of iPS cells as demonstrated by tetraploid complementation. Cell Res 23(1):92–106. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr. 2012.157
- Jin Y, Yang L, Zhang Y, Gao W, Yao Z, Song Y, Wang Y (2017) Effects of age on biological and functional characterization of adipose-derived stem cells from patients with end-stage liver disease. Mol Med Rep 16(3):3510–3518. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.6967
- Kabaha MM, Tzfati Y (2021) Telomerase, the recombination machinery and Rap1 play redundant roles in yeast telomere protection. Curr Genet 67(1):153–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00294-020-01125-4
- Kang X, Yu Q, Huang Y, Song B, Chen Y, Gao X, He W et al (2015) Effects of integrating and non-integrating reprogramming methods on copy number variation and genomic stability of human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 10(7):e0131128. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0131128
- Kang E, Wang X, Tippner-Hedges R et al (2016) Agerelated accumulation of somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in adult-derived human iPSCs. Cell Stem Cell 18(5):625–636
- Kaplan AR, Glazer PM (2020) Impact of hypoxia on DNA repair and genome integrity. Mutagenesis 35(1):61–68. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gez019
- Kenyon J, Fu P, Lingas K, Thomas E, Saurastri A, Santos G, Wald D et al (2012) Humans accumulate microsatellite instability with acquired loss of MLH1 protein in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells as a function of age. Blood 120(16):3229–3236. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2011-12-401950
- Keshel SH, Soleimani M, Tavirani MR, Ebrahimi M, Raeisossadati R, Yasaei H, Afsharzadeh D et al (2012) Evaluation of unrestricted somatic stem cells as a feeder layer to support undifferentiated embryonic stem cells. Mol Reprod Dev 79(10):709–718. https://doi.org/10. 1002/mrd.22079
- Kim J, & Wong PK (2009) Loss of ATM impairs proliferation of neural stem cells through oxidative stress-mediated p38 MAPK signaling. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) 27(8):1987–1998. https://doi. org/10.1002/stem.125
- Kim EY, Noh EJ, Park HY, Park MJ, Noh EH, Lee JB, Jeong CJ et al (2012a) Establishment of bovine embryonic stem cell lines using a minimized feeder cell drop. Cell Reprogram 14(6): 520–529. https://doi.org/10.1089/cell.2012.0038
- Kim YE, Park JA, Ha YW, Park SK, Kim HS, Oh SK, Lee Y (2012b) Chromosomal modification in human embryonic stem cells cultured in a feeder-free condition after single cell dissociation using accutase. Dev Reprod 16(4):353–361. https://doi.org/10.12717/DR.2012.16.4.353
- Kim J, Piao Y, Pak YK, Chung D, Han YM, Hong JS, Jun EJ et al (2015) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells affected by gestational diabetes mellitus display premature aging and mitochondrial dysfunction. Stem Cells Dev 24(5):575–586. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd. 2014.0349
- Kim E, Kim J, Kim C, Lee J (2021) Long-read sequencing and de novo genome assemblies reveal complex chromosome end structures caused by telomere dysfunction at the single nucleotide level. Nucleic Acids Res 49(6):3338–3353. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab141
- Kingston RE, Tamkun JW (2014) Transcriptional regulation by trithorax-group proteins. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Biol 6(10):a019349. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a019349
- Kinoshita T, Nagamatsu G, Kosaka T, Takubo K, Hotta A, Ellis J, Suda T (2011) Ataxiatelangiectasia mutated (ATM) deficiency decreases reprogramming efficiency and leads to genomic instability in iPS cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 407(2):321–326. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.03.013
- Kitagawa R, Kastan MB (2005) The ATM-dependent DNA damage signaling pathway. Cold Spring Harbor Symp Quant Biol 70:99–109. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2005.70.002

- Klammer H, Mladenov E, Li F, Iliakis G (2015) Bystander effects as manifestation of intercellular communication of DNA damage and of the cellular oxidative status. Cancer Lett 356(1):58–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.12.017
- Ko M, Huang Y, Jankowska AM, Pape UJ, Tahiliani M, Bandukwala HS, An J et al (2010) Impaired hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine in myeloid cancers with mutant TET2. Nature 468(7325): 839–843. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09586
- Kögler G, Sensken S, Airey JA, Trapp T, Müschen M, Feldhahn N, Liedtke S et al (2004) A new human somatic stem cell from placental cord blood with intrinsic pluripotent differentiation potential. J Exp Med 200(2):123–135. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20040440
- Kollman C, Howe CW, Anasetti C, Antin JH, Davies SM, Filipovich AH, Hegland J et al (2001) Donor characteristics as risk factors in recipients after transplantation of bone marrow from unrelated donors: the effect of donor age. Blood 98(7):2043–2051. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood.v98.7.2043
- Kong CM, Subramanian A, Biswas A, Stunkel W, Chong YS, Bongso A, Fong CY (2019) Changes in stemness properties, differentiation potential, oxidative stress, senescence and mitochondrial function in Wharton's jelly stem cells of umbilical cords of mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus. Stem Cell Rev Rep 15(3):415–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-019-9872-y
- Kulebyakin K, Tyurin-Kuzmin P, Efimenko A, Voloshin N, Kartoshkin A, Karagyaur M, Grigorieva O et al (2021) Decreased insulin sensitivity in telomerase-immortalized mesenchymal stem cells affects efficacy and outcome of adipogenic differentiation in vitro. Front Dev Biol 9:662078. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.662078
- Kuo KK, Lee KT, Chen KK, Yang YH, Lin YC, Tsai MH, Wuputra K et al (2016) Positive feedback loop of OCT4 and c-JUN expedites cancer stemness in liver cancer. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 34(11):2613–2624. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2447
- Kushwaha PP, Rapalli KC, Kumar S (2016) Geminin a multi task protein involved in cancer pathophysiology and developmental process: a review. Biochimie 131:115–127. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biochi.2016.09.022
- Lambert S, Carr AM (2013) Impediments to replication fork movement: stabilisation, reactivation and genome instability. Chromosoma 122(1–2):33–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-013-0398-9
- Lamm N, Kerem B (2016) Continuous chromosomal instability in human pluripotent stem cells the role of DNA replication. Mol Cell Oncol 3(4):e1183743. https://doi.org/10.1080/23723556. 2016.1183743
- Lamm N, Ben-David U, Golan-Lev T, Storchová Z, Benvenisty N, Kerem B (2016) Genomic instability in human pluripotent stem cells arises from replicative stress and chromosome condensation defects. Cell Stem Cell 18(2):253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015. 11.003
- Lapasset L, Milhavet O, Prieur A, Besnard E, Babled A, Aït-Hamou N, Leschik J et al (2011) Rejuvenating senescent and centenarian human cells by reprogramming through the pluripotent state. Genes Dev 25(21):2248–2253. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.173922.111
- Lau PNI, So CWE (2015) Chapter 4: Polycomb and trithorax factors in transcriptional and epigenetic regulation. In: Huang S, Litt MD, Blakey CA (eds) Epigenetic gene expression and regulation. Elsevier, pp 63–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-14005-6
- Laurent LC, Ulitsky I, Slavin I, Tran H, Schork A, Morey R, Lynch C et al (2011) Dynamic changes in the copy number of pluripotency and cell proliferation genes in human ESCs and iPSCs during reprogramming and time in culture. Cell Stem Cell 8(1):106–118. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2010.12.003
- Le Maître TW, Dhanabalan G, Bogdanovic N, Alkass K, Druid H (2018) Effects of alcohol abuse on proliferating cells, stem/progenitor cells, and immature neurons in the adult human hippocampus. Neuropsychopharmacology 43(4):690–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2017.251
- Lee CH, Park JH, Lee JH, Ahn JY, Park JH, Lee BR, Kim DY et al (2012) Replacement of mouse embryonic fibroblasts with bone marrow stromal cells for use in establishing and maintaining

embryonic stem cells in mice. Cell Biol Int 36(6):537-543. https://doi.org/10.1042/ CBI20110395

- Lefort N, Perrier AL, Laâbi Y, Varela C, Peschanski M (2009) Human embryonic stem cells and genomic instability. Regen Med 4(6):899–909. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme.09.63
- Leitch HG, McEwen KR, Turp A, Encheva V, Carroll T, Grabole N, Mansfield W et al (2013) Naive pluripotency is associated with global DNA hypomethylation. Nat Struct Mol Biol 20(3): 311–316. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2510
- Li X, Zeng X, Xu Y, Wang B, Zhao Y, Lai X, Qian P et al (2020) Mechanisms and rejuvenation strategies for aged hematopoietic stem cells. J Hematol Oncol 13(1):31. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13045-020-00864-8
- Lin T, Chao C, Saito S, Mazur SJ, Murphy ME, Appella E, Xu Y (2005) p53 induces differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells by suppressing Nanog expression. Nat Cell Biol 7(2):165–171. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1211
- Ling YH, Lin Z, Yuen K (2020) Genetic and epigenetic effects on centromere establishment. Chromosoma 129(1):1–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-019-00727-3
- Liu L (2017) Linking telomere regulation to stem cell pluripotency. Trends Genet 33(1):16–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2016.10.007
- Liu D, O'Connor MS, Qin J, Songyang Z (2004) Telosome, a mammalian telomere-associated complex formed by multiple telomeric proteins. J Biol Chem 279:51338–51342. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M409293200
- Liu J, Wang L, Wang Z, Liu JP (2019) Roles of telomere biology in cell senescence, replicative and chronological ageing. Cells 8(1):54. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8010054
- Liu X, Li C, Zheng K, Zhao X, Xu X, Yang A, Yi M et al (2020) Chromosomal aberration arises during somatic reprogramming to pluripotent stem cells. Cell Div 15(1):12. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13008-020-00068-z
- Lo Furno E, van der Laan S, Maiorano D (2016) Genomic instability of pluripotent stem cells: origin and consequences, pluripotent stem cells – from the Bench to the Clinic, Minoru Tomizawa. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/62906. https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/ 50467#B73
- Lo Sardo V, Ferguson W, Erikson GA, Topol EJ, Baldwin KK, Torkamani A (2017) Influence of donor age on induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 35(1):69–74. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nbt.3749
- López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G (2013) The hallmarks of aging. Cell 153(6):1194–1217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039
- Lorimore SA, McIlrath JM, Coates PJ, Wright EG (2005) Chromosomal instability in unirradiated hemopoietic cells resulting from a delayed in vivo bystander effect of gamma radiation. Cancer Res 65(13):5668–5673. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0834
- Lossaint G, Besnard E, Fisher D, Piette J, Dulić V (2011) Chk1 is dispensable for G2 arrest in response to sustained DNA damage when the ATM/p53/p21 pathway is functional. Oncogene 30(41):4261–4274. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.135
- Lu J, Li H, Baccei A, Sasaki T, Gilbert DM, Lerou PH (2016) Influence of ATM-mediated DNA damage response on genomic variation in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 25(9):740–747. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2015.0393
- Lu Z, Wang S, Zhu X, Yuan X, Zhan Y, Li Y, Wang W (2019) Resveratrol induces endothelial progenitor cells angiogenesis via MiR-542-3p by targeting angiopoietin-2 and involves in recanalization of venous thrombosis. Med Sci Monit Int Med J Exp Clin Res 25:7675–7683. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.917013
- Lu L, Liang Q, Shen S, Feng L, Jin L, Liang ZF (2020) Tobacco smoke plays an important role in initiation and development of lung cancer by promoting the characteristics of cancer stem cells. Cancer Manag Res 12:9735–9739. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S272277
- Lukas J, Lukas C, Bartek J (2011) More than just a focus: the chromatin response to DNA damage and its role in genome integrity maintenance. Nat Cell Biol 13(10):1161–1169. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncb2344

- Maitra A, Arking DE, Shivapurkar N, Ikeda M, Stastny V, Kassauei K, Sui G et al (2005) Genomic alterations in cultured human embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet 37(10):1099–1103. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng1631
- Mani C, Reddy PH, Palle K (2020) DNA repair fidelity in stem cell maintenance, health, and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1866(4):165444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2019.03.017
- Maraldi T, Angeloni C, Prata C, Hrelia S (2021) NADPH oxidases: redox regulators of stem cell fate and function. Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland) 10(6):973. https://doi.org/10.3390/ antiox10060973
- Marión RM, Strati K, Li H, Murga M, Blanco R, Ortega S, Fernandez-Capetillo O et al (2009) A p53-mediated DNA damage response limits reprogramming to ensure iPS cell genomic integrity. Nature 460(7259):1149–1153. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08287
- Martincorena I, Roshan A, Gerstung M et al (2015) Tumor evolution. High burden and pervasive positive selection of somatic mutations in normal human skin. Science 348(6237):880–886
- Martins F, Sousa J, Pereira CD, da Cruz E, Silva O, Rebelo S (2020) Nuclear envelope dysfunction and its contribution to the aging process. Aging Cell 19(5):e13143. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel. 13143
- Maxwell KG, Millman JR (2021) Applications of iPSC-derived beta cells from patients with diabetes. Cell Rep Med 2(4):100238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100238
- McHugh D, Gil J (2018) Senescence and aging: causes, consequences, and therapeutic avenues. J Cell Biol 217(1):65–77. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201708092
- McNeely T, Leone M, Yanai H, Beerman I (2020) DNA damage in aging, the stem cell perspective. Hum Genet 139(3):309–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02047-z
- Mendelsohn AR, Larrick JW (2017) The NAD+/PARP1/SIRT1 Axis in aging. Rejuvenation Res 20(3):244–247. https://doi.org/10.1089/rej.2017.1980
- Meng QS, Liu J, Wei L, Fan HM, Zhou XH, Liang XT (2020) Senescent mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells and restoring their cellular functions. World J Stem Cells 12(9):966–985. https:// doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v12.i9.966
- Merkle FT, Ghosh S, Kamitaki N, Mitchell J, Avior Y, Mello C, Kashin S et al (2017) Human pluripotent stem cells recurrently acquire and expand dominant negative P53 mutations. Nature 545(7653):229–233. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22312
- Meshorer E, Yellajoshula D, George E, Scambler PJ, Brown DT, Misteli T (2006) Hyperdynamic plasticity of chromatin proteins in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Dev Cell 10(1):105–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2005.10.017
- Meza-Zepeda LA, Noer A, Dahl JA, Micci F, Myklebost O, Collas P (2008) High-resolution analysis of genetic stability of human adipose tissue stem cells cultured to senescence. J Cell Mol Med 12(2):553–563. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2007.00146.x
- Miana VV, González E (2018) Adipose tissue stem cells in regenerative medicine. Ecancermedicalscience 12:822. https://doi.org/10.3332/ecancer.2018.822
- Milagre I, Pereira C, Oliveira RA, Jansen L (2020) Reprogramming of human cells to pluripotency induces CENP-A chromatin depletion. Open Biol 10(10):200227. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob. 200227
- Minussi DC, Nicholson MD, Ye H, Davis A, Wang K, Baker T, Tarabichi M et al (2021) Breast tumours maintain a reservoir of subclonal diversity during expansion. Nature. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-021-03357-x
- Mitalipova MM, Rao RR, Hoyer DM, Johnson JA, Meisner LF, Jones KL, Dalton S et al (2005) Preserving the genetic integrity of human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 23(1):19–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0105-19
- Moehrle BM, Nattamai K, Brown A, Florian MC, Ryan M, Vogel M, Bliederhaeuser C et al (2015) Stem cell-specific mechanisms ensure genomic fidelity within HSCs and upon aging of HSCs. Cell Rep 13(11):2412–2424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.11.030
- Montanari M, Macaluso M, Cittadini A, Giordano A (2006) Role of geminin: from normal control of DNA replication to cancer formation and progression? Cell Death Differ 13(7):1052–1056. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401932

- Morsczeck C, Reck A, Reichert TE (2019) Short telomeres correlate with a strong induction of cellular senescence in human dental follicle cells. BMC Mol Cell Biol 20(1):5. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12860-019-0185-4
- Mull AN, Klar A, Navara CS (2014) Differential localization and high expression of SURVIVIN splice variants in human embryonic stem cells but not in differentiated cells implicate a role for SURVIVIN in pluripotency. Stem Cell Res 12:539–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2014. 01.002
- Na HJ, Akan I, Abramowitz LK, Hanover JA (2020) Nutrient-driven O-GlcNAcylation controls DNA damage repair signaling and stem/progenitor cell homeostasis. Cell Rep 31(6):107632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107632
- Nagaria PK, Robert C, Park TS, Huo JS, Zambidis ET, Rassool FV (2016) High-fidelity reprogrammed human IPSCs have a high efficacy of DNA repair and resemble hESCs in their MYC transcriptional signature. Stem Cells Int 2016:3826249. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/ 3826249
- Nair N, Shoaib M, Sørensen CS (2017) Chromatin dynamics in genome stability: roles in suppressing endogenous DNA damage and facilitating DNA repair. Int J Mol Sci 18(7):1486. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18071486
- Nakagawa M, Taniguchi Y, Senda S, Takizawa N, Ichisaka T, Asano K, Morizane A et al (2014) A novel efficient feeder-free culture system for the derivation of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci Rep 4:3594. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep03594
- Narva E, Autio R, Rahkonen N et al (2010) High-resolution DNA analysis of human embryonic stem cell lines reveals culture induced copy number changes and loss of heterozygosity. Nat Biotechnol 28:371–377
- Neri S, & Borzi RM (2020) Molecular Mechanisms Contributing to Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Aging. Biomolecules 10(2):340. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10020340
- Nguyen HG, Ravid K (2006) Tetraploidy/aneuploidy and stem cells in cancer promotion: the role of chromosome passenger proteins. J Cell Physiol 208(1):12–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp. 20565
- Nguyen HT, Geens M, Mertzanidou A, Jacobs K, Heirman C, Breckpot K, Spits C (2014) Gain of 20q11.21 in human embryonic stem cells improves cell survival by increased expression of Bcl-xL. Mol Hum Reprod 20(2):168–177. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gat077
- Nimmakayala RK, Seshacharyulu P, Lakshmanan I, Rachagani S, Chugh S, Karmakar S, Rauth S et al (2018) Cigarette smoke induces stem cell features of pancreatic cancer cells via PAF1. Gastroenterology 155(3):892–908.e6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.05.041
- Oliveira PH, da Silva CL, Cabral JM (2014) Concise review: genomic instability in human stem cells: current status and future challenges. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) 32(11):2824–2832. https:// doi.org/10.1002/stem.1796
- Omori S, Tanabe H, Banno K, Tsuji A, Nawa N, Hirata K, Kawatani K et al (2017) A pair of maternal chromosomes derived from meiotic nondisjunction in trisomy 21 affects nuclear architecture and transcriptional regulation. Sci Rep 7(1):764. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00714-7
- Opresko PL, Fan J, Danzy S, Wilson DM 3rd, Bohr VA (2005) Oxidative damage in telomeric DNA disrupts recognition by TRF1 and TRF2. Nucleic Acids Res 33(4):1230–1239. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/nar/gki273
- Ou X, Lee MR, Huang X, Messina-Graham S, Broxmeyer HE (2014) SIRT1 positively regulates autophagy and mitochondria function in embryonic stem cells under oxidative stress. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 32(5):1183–1194. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem1641
- Paniza T, Deshpande M, Wang N, O'Neil R, Zuccaro MV, Smith ME, Madireddy A et al (2020) Pluripotent stem cells with low differentiation potential contain incompletely reprogrammed DNA replication. J Cell Biol 219(9):e201909163. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb201909163
- Park JS, Park G, Hong HS (2021) Age affects the paracrine activity and differentiation potential of human adipose-derived stem cells. Mol Med Rep 23(2):160. https://doi.org/10.3892/ mmr202011799

- Pasi CE, Dereli-Öz A, Negrini S, Friedli M, Fragola G, Lombardo A, Van Houwe G et al (2011) Genomic instability in induced stem cells. Cell Death Differ 18(5):745–753. https://doi.org/10. 1038/cdd20119
- Patrikoski M, Mannerström B, Miettinen S (2019) Perspectives for clinical translation of adipose stromal/stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2019:5858247. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5858247
- Pelham-Webb B, Murphy D, Apostolou E (2020) Dynamic 3D chromatin reorganization during establishment and maintenance of pluripotency. Stem Cell Rep 15(6):1176–1195. https://doi. org/10.1016/jstemcr202010012
- Peric-Hupkes D, van Steensel B (2010) Role of the nuclear lamina in genome organization and gene expression. Cold Spring Harbor Symp Quant Biol 75:517–524. https://doi.org/10.1101/ sqb201075014
- Peterson SE, Loring JF (2014) Genomic instability in pluripotent stem cells: implications for clinical applications. J Biol Chem 289(8):4578–4584. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbcR11351641
- Petr MA, Tulika T, Carmona-Marin LM, Scheibye-Knudsen M (2020) Protecting the aging genome. Trends Cell Biol 30(2):117–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/jtcb201912001
- Pfeifer GP (2018) Defining driver DNA methylation changes in human cancer. Int J Mol Sci 19(4): 1166. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19041166
- Phillips-Cremins JE (2014) Unraveling architecture of the pluripotent genome. Curr Opin Cell Biol 28:96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/jceb201404006
- Pilzecker B, Buoninfante OA, Jacobs H (2019) DNA damage tolerance in stem cells, ageing, mutagenesis, disease and cancer therapy. Nucleic Acids Res 47(14):7163–7181. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/nar/gkz531
- Ravid O, Shoshani O, Sela M, Weinstock A, Sadan TW, Gur E, Zipori D, Shani N (2014) Relative genomic stability of adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells: analysis of ploidy, H19 long non-coding RNA and p53 activity. Stem Cell Res Ther 5(6):139. https://doi.org/10.1186/ scrt529
- Rawal K, Patel TP, Purohit KM, Israni K, Kataria V, Bhatt H, Gupta S (2020) Influence of obese phenotype on metabolic profile, inflammatory mediators and stemness of hADSC in adipose tissue. Clin Nutr (Edinburgh, Scotland) 39(12):3829–3835. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jclnu202002032
- Rawal K, Purohit KM, Patel TP, Karont N, Gupta S (2021) Resistin mitigates stemness and metabolic profile of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells via insulin resistance. Cytokine 138:155374. https://doi.org/10.1016/jcyto2020155374
- Reilly A, Doulatov S (2021) Induced pluripotent stem cell models of myeloid malignancies and clonal evolution. Stem Cell Res 52:102195. https://doi.org/10.1016/jscr2021102195
- Roake CM, Artandi SE (2020) Regulation of human telomerase in homeostasis and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 21(7):384–397. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0234-z
- Robson MI, de Las Heras JI, Czapiewski R, Lê Thành P, Booth DG, Kelly DA, Webb S et al (2016) Tissue-specific gene repositioning by muscle nuclear membrane proteins enhances repression of critical developmental genes during myogenesis. Mol Cell 62(6):834–847. https://doi.org/10. 1016/jmolcel201604035
- Roemeling-van Rhijn M, de Klein A, Douben H, Pan Q, van der Laan LJ, Ijzermans JN, Betjes MG et al (2013) Culture expansion induces non-tumorigenic aneuploidy in adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. Cytotherapy 15(11):1352–1361. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jjcyt201307004
- Rohani L, Johnson AA, Arnold A, Stolzing A (2014) The aging signature: a hallmark of induced pluripotent stem cells? Aging Cell 13(1):2–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel12182
- Rojas-Vázquez S, Blasco-Chamarro L, López-Fabuel I, Martínez-Máñez R, Fariñas I (2021) Vascular senescence: a potential bridge between physiological aging and neurogenic decline. Front Neurosci 15:666881. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins2021666881
- Rönn RE, Guibentif C, Saxena S, Woods NB (2017) Reactive oxygen species impair the function of CD90⁺ hematopoietic progenitors generated from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 35(1):197–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem2503

- Rossi DJ, Bryder D, Seita J, Nussenzweig A, Hoeijmakers J, Weissman IL (2007) Deficiencies in DNA damage repair limit the function of haematopoietic stem cells with age. Nature 447(7145): 725–729. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05862
- Ruzankina Y, Pinzon-Guzman C, Asare A, Ong T, Pontano L, Cotsarelis G, Zediak VP et al (2007) Deletion of the developmentally essential gene ATR in adult mice leads to age-related phenotypes and stem cell loss. Cell Stem Cell 1(1):113–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/jstem200703002
- Sami E, Bogan D, Molinolo A, Koziol J, ElShamy WM (2021) The molecular underpinning of geminin-overexpressing triple-negative breast cancer cells homing specifically to lungs. Cancer Gene Ther. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-021-00311-x
- Schaefer T, Steiner R, Lengerke C (2020) SOX2 and p53 expression control converges in PI3K/ AKT signaling with versatile implications for stemness and cancer. Int J Mol Sci 21(14):4902. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21144902
- Schlaeger TM (2018) Nonintegrating human somatic cell reprogramming methods. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 163:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2017_29
- Schmitt CA (2016) The persistent dynamic secrets of senescence. Nat Cell Biol 18(9):913–915. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3403
- Schoppy DW, Ruzankina Y, Brown EJ (2010) Removing all obstacles: a critical role for p53 in promoting tissue renewal. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 9(7):1313–1319. https://doi.org/10. 4161/cc9711194
- Seddon AR, Liau Y, Pace PE, Miller AL, Das AB, Kennedy MA, Hampton MB et al (2021) Genome-wide impact of hydrogen peroxide on maintenance DNA methylation in replicating cells. Epigenet Chromatin 14(1):17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-021-00388-6
- Selich A, Daudert J, Hass R, Philipp F, von Kaisenberg C, Paul G, Cornils K et al (2016) Massive clonal selection and transiently contributing clones during expansion of mesenchymal stem cell cultures revealed by lentiviral RGB-barcode technology. Stem Cell Transl Med 5(5):591–601. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm2015-0176
- Shao L, Li H, Pazhanisamy SK, Meng A, Wang Y, Zhou D (2011) Reactive oxygen species and hematopoietic stem cell senescence. Int J Hematol 94(1):24–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12185-011-0872-1
- Sharma S, Bhonde R (2015) Mesenchymal stromal cells are genetically stable under a hostile in vivo-like scenario as revealed by in vitro micronucleus test. Cytotherapy 17(10):1384–1395. https://doi.org/10.1016/jjcyt201507004
- Shaykhiev R, Wang R, Zwick RK, Hackett NR, Leung R, Moore MA, Sima CS et al (2013) Airway basal cells of healthy smokers express an embryonic stem cell signature relevant to lung cancer. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 31(9):1992–2002. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem1459
- Shen Z (2011) Genomic instability and cancer: an introduction. J Mol Cell Biol 3(1):1–3. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjq057
- Shibata A, Barton O, Noon AT, Dahm K, Deckbar D, Goodarzi AA, Löbrich M et al (2010) Role of ATM and the damage response mediator proteins 53BP1 and MDC1 in the maintenance of G(2)/ M checkpoint arrest. Mol Cell Biol 30(13):3371–3383. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB01644-09
- Shiloh Y, Ziv Y (2013) The ATM protein kinase: regulating the cellular response to genotoxic stress, and more. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14:197–210
- Shimada M, Tsukada K, Kagawa N, Matsumoto Y (2019) Reprogramming and differentiationdependent transcriptional alteration of DNA damage response and apoptosis genes in human induced pluripotent stem cells. J Radiat Res 60(6):719–728. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrr/rrz057
- Shin J, Kim J, Park H, Kim J (2018) Investigating the role of Sirtuins in cell reprogramming. BMB Rep 51(10):500–507. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep20185110172
- Siggins RW, Hossain F, Rehman T, Melvan JN, Zhang P, Welsh DA (2014) Cigarette smoke alters the hematopoietic stem cell niche. Med Sci (Basel, Switzerland) 2(1):37–50. https://doi.org/10. 3390/medsci2010037
- Simonson OE, Domogatskaya A, Volchkov P, Rodin S (2015) The safety of human pluripotent stem cells in clinical treatment. Ann Med 47(5):370–380. https://doi.org/10.3109/ 0785389020151051579

- Simonsson S, Gurdon J (2004) DNA demethylation is necessary for the epigenetic reprogramming of somatic cell nuclei. Nat Cell Biol 6(10):984–990. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1176
- Singh PB, Newman AG (2018) Age reprogramming and epigenetic rejuvenation. Epigenetics Chromatin 11(1):73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-018-0244-7
- Sjakste N, Riekstina U (2021) DNA damage and repair in differentiation of stem cells and cells of connective cell lineages: a trigger or a complication? Eur J Histochem 65(2):3236. https://doi.org/10.4081/ejh20213236
- Sławińska N, Krupa R (2021) Molecular aspects of senescence and organismal ageing-DNA damage response, telomeres, inflammation and chromatin. Int J Mol Sci 22(2):590. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms22020590
- Smith J, Tho LM, Xu N, Gillespie DA (2010) The ATM-Chk2 and ATR-Chk1 pathways in DNA damage signaling and cancer. Adv Cancer Res 108:73–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-380888-200003-0
- Smith ER, Meng Y, Moore R, Tse JD, Xu AG, Xu XX (2017) Nuclear envelope structural proteins facilitate nuclear shape changes accompanying embryonic differentiation and fidelity of gene expression. BMC Cell Biol 18(1):8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12860-017-0125-0
- Smith EM, Pendlebury DF, Nandakumar J (2020) Structural biology of telomeres and telomerase. Cell Mol Life Sci 77(1):61–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03369-x
- Smith CL, Poleshko A, Epstein JA (2021) The nuclear periphery is a scaffold for tissue-specific enhancers. Nucleic Acid Res 49(11):6181–6195. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab392
- Sobol M, Raykova D, Cavelier L, Khalfallah A, Schuster J, Dahl N (2015) Methods of reprogramming to induced pluripotent stem cell associated with chromosomal integrity and delineation of a chromosome 5q candidate region for growth advantage. Stem Cells Dev 24(17): 2032–2040. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd20150061
- Son MJ, Kwon Y, Son T, Cho YS (2016) Restoration of mitochondrial NAD+ levels delays stem cell senescence and facilitates reprogramming of aged somatic cells. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 34(12):2840–2851. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem2460
- Song H, Hollstein M, Xu Y (2007) p53 gain-of-function cancer mutants induce genetic instability by inactivating ATM. Nat Cell Biol 9(5):573–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1571
- Song Y, Huang J, Liang D, Hu Y, Mao B, Li Q, Sun H et al (2021) DNA damage repair gene mutations are indicative of a favorable prognosis in colorectal cancer treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Front Oncol 10:549777. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc2020549777
- Soto DA, Navarro M, Zheng C, Halstead MM, Zhou C, Guiltinan C, Wu J, Ross PJ (2021) Simplification of culture conditions and feeder-free expansion of bovine embryonic stem cells. Sci Rep 11(1):11045. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-90422-0
- Sousa-Victor P, Gutarra S, García-Prat L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Ortet L, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Jardí M et al (2014) Geriatric muscle stem cells switch reversible quiescence into senescence. Nature 506(7488):316–321. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13013
- Sperka T, Song Z, Morita Y, Nalapareddy K, Guachalla LM, Lechel A, Begus-Nahrmann Y et al (2011) Puma and p21 represent cooperating checkpoints limiting self-renewal and chromosomal instability of somatic stem cells in response to telomere dysfunction. Nat Cell Biol 14(1):73–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2388
- Sperka T, Wang J, Rudolph KL (2012) DNA damage checkpoints in stem cells, ageing and cancer. Nat Rev mol Cell Biol 13(9):579–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3420
- Srinivas N, Rachakonda S, Kumar R (2020) Telomeres and telomere length: a general overview. Cancers 12(3):558. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12030558
- Steichen C, Luce E, Maluenda J, Tosca L, Moreno-Gimeno I, Desterke C, Dianat N et al (2014) Messenger RNA- versus retrovirus-based induced pluripotent stem cell reprogramming strategies: analysis of genomic integrity. Stem Cells Transl Med 3(6):686–691. https://doi.org/10. 5966/sctm2013-0158
- Sthanam LK, Barai A, Rastogi A, Mistari VK, Maria A, Kauthale R, Gatne M et al (2017) Biophysical regulation of mouse embryonic stem cell fate and genomic integrity by feeder derived matrices. Biomaterials 119:9–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/jbiomaterials201612006

- Sugiura M, Kasama Y, Araki R, Hoki Y, Sunayama M, Uda M, Nakamura M et al (2014) Induced pluripotent stem cell generation-associated point mutations arise during the initial stages of the conversion of these cells. Stem Cell Rep 2(1):52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/jstemcr201311006
- Takubo K, Nagamatsu G, Kobayashi CI, Nakamura-Ishizu A, Kobayashi H, Ikeda E, Goda N et al (2013) Regulation of glycolysis by Pdk functions as a metabolic checkpoint for cell cycle quiescence in hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 12(1):49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jstem201210011
- Talib S, Shepard KA (2020) Unleashing the cure: overcoming persistent obstacles in the translation and expanded use of hematopoietic stem cell-based therapies. Stem Cell Int Med 9(4):420–426. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm19-0375
- Testa U, Labbaye C, Castelli G, Pelosi E (2016) Oxidative stress and hypoxia in normal and leukemic stem cells. Exp Hematol 44(7):540–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/jexphem201604012
- Tichy ED (2011) Mechanisms maintaining genomic integrity in embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells. Exp Mol Biol (Maywood) 236(9):987–996. https://doi.org/10.1258/ ebm2011011107
- Tilgner K, Neganova I, Moreno-Gimeno I, Al-Aama JY, Burks D, Yung S, Singhapol C et al (2013) A human iPSC model of ligase IV deficiency reveals an important role for NHEJ-mediated-DSB repair in the survival and genomic stability of induced pluripotent stem cells and emerging haematopoietic progenitors. Cell Death Differ 20(8):1089–1100. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cdd201344
- Toledo F (2020) Mechanisms generating cancer genome complexity: back to the future. Cancers 12(12):3783. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12123783
- Tong WW, Tong GH, Liu Y (2018) Cancer stem cells and hypoxia-inducible factors (review). Int J Oncol 53(2):469–476. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo20184417
- Tosca L, Feraud O, Magniez A, Bas C, Griscelli F, Bennaceur-Griscelli A, Tachdjian G (2015) Genomic instability of human embryonic stem cell lines using different passaging culture methods. Mol Cytogenet 8:30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13039-015-0133-8
- Trevisan M, Desole G, Costanzi G, Lavezzo E, Palù G, Barzon L (2017) Reprogramming methods do not affect gene expression profile of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 18(1):206. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18010206
- Trivedi P, Stukenberg PT (2020) A condensed view of the chromosome passenger complex. Trends Cell Biol 30(9):676–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/jtcb202006005
- Trokovic R, Weltner J, Noisa P, Raivio T, Otonkoski T (2015) Combined negative effect of donor age and time in culture on the reprogramming efficiency into induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Res 15(1):254–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/jscr201506001
- Turinetto V, Orlando L, Giachino C (2017) Induced pluripotent stem cells: advances in the quest for genetic stability during reprogramming process. Int J Mol Sci 18(9):1952. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms18091952
- Tusell L, Pampalona J, Soler D, Frías C, Genescà A (2010) Different outcomes of telomeredependent anaphase bridges. Biochem Soc Trans 38(6):1698–1703. https://doi.org/10.1042/ BST0381698
- Uppuluri L, Varapula D, Young E, Riethman H, Xiao M (2021) Single-molecule telomere length characterization by optical mapping in nano-channel array: perspective and review on telomere length measurement. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 82:103562. https://doi.org/10.1016/ jetap2020103562
- van Schaijik B, Davis PF, Wickremesekera AC, Tan ST, Itinteang T (2018) Subcellular localisation of the stem cell markers OCT4, SOX2, NANOG, KLF4 and c-MYC in cancer: a review. J Clin Pathol 71(1):88–91. https://doi.org/10.1136/jclinpath-2017-204815
- Vasudevan A, Baruah PS, Smith JC, Wang Z, Sayles NM, Andrews P, Kendall J et al (2020) Singlechromosomal gains can function as metastasis suppressors and promoters in colon cancer. Dev Cell 52(4):413–428e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/jdevcel202001034
- von Bahr L, Sundberg B, Lönnies L, Sander B, Karbach H, Hägglund H, Ljungman P et al (2012) Long-term complications, immunologic effects, and role of passage for outcome in

mesenchymal stromal cell therapy biology of blood and marrow transplantation. J Am Soc Blood Marrow Transplant 18(4):557–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/jbbmt201107023

- Wahl EA, Schenck TL, Machens HG, Egaña JT (2016) Acute stimulation of mesenchymal stem cells with cigarette smoke extract affects their migration, differentiation, and paracrine potential. Sci Rep 6:22957. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22957
- Wang B, Miyagoe-Suzuki Y, Yada E et al (2011) Reprogramming efficiency and quality of induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (iPSCs) generated from muscle-derived fibroblasts of mdx mice at different ages. PLoS Curr 3:Rrn1274
- Wang F, Yin Y, Ye X, Liu K, Zhu H, Wang L, Chiourea M et al (2012a) Molecular insights into the heterogeneity of telomere reprogramming in induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Res 22(4): 757–768. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr2011201
- Wang J, Sun Q, Morita Y, Jiang H, Gross A, Lechel A, Hildner K et al (2012b) A differentiation checkpoint limits hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal in response to DNA damage. Cell 148(5):1001–1014. https://doi.org/10.1016/jcell201201040
- Wang J, Lu X, Sakk V, Klein CA, Rudolph KL (2014) Senescence and apoptosis block hematopoietic activation of quiescent hematopoietic stem cells with short telomeres. Blood 124(22): 3237–3240. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-04-568055
- Wang M, Song L, Strange C, Dong X, Wang H (2018) Therapeutic effects of adipose stem cells from diabetic mice for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Mol Ther 26(8):1921–1930. https://doi. org/10.1016/jymthe201806013
- Welch JS, Ley TJ, Link DC, Miller CA, Larson DE, Koboldt DC, Wartman LD, Lamprecht TL, Liu F, Xia J. Kandoth C, Fulton RS, McLellan MD, Dooling DJ, Wallis JW, Chen K, Harris CC, Schmidt HK, Kalicki-Veizer JM, Lu C, Wilson RK (2012) The origin and evolution of mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. Cell, 150(2), 264–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.023
- Wieczór M, Tobiszewski A, Wityk P, Tomiczek B, Czub J (2014) Molecular recognition in complexes of TRF proteins with telomeric DNA. PLoS One 9(2):e89460. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journalpone0089460
- Wiedemuth R, Klink B, Töpfer K, Schröck E, Schackert G, Tatsuka M, Temme A (2014) Survivin safeguards chromosome numbers and protects from aneuploidy independently from p53. Mol Cancer 13:107. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-13-107
- Wojewódzka M, Kruszewski M, Buraczewska I, Xu W, Massuda E, Zhang J, Szumiel I (2007) Sirtuin inhibition increases the rate of non-homologous end-joining of DNA double strand breaks. Acta Biochim Polonica 54(1):63–69
- Yamaguchi S, Horie N, Satoh K, Ishikawa T, Mori T, Maeda H, Fukuda Y et al (2018) Age of donor of human mesenchymal stem cells affects structural and functional recovery after cell therapy following ischaemic stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 38(7):1199–1212. https://doi.org/10. 1177/0271678X17731964
- Yamanaka S, Blau HM (2010) Nuclear reprogramming to a pluripotent state by three approaches. Nature 465(7299):704–712. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09229
- Yamauchi T, Yamasaki K, Tsuchiyama K, Koike S, Aiba S (2017) A quantitative analysis of multilineage-differentiating stress-enduring (Muse) cells in human adipose tissue and efficacy of melanocytes induction. J Dermatol Sci 86(3):198–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/jjdermsci201703001
- Yang YK, Ogando CR, Wang See C, Chang TY, Barabino GA (2018) Changes in phenotype and differentiation potential of human mesenchymal stem cells aging in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0876-3
- Yin M, Zhang Y, Yu H, Li X (2021) Role of hyperglycemia in the senescence of mesenchymal stem cells. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:665412. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell2021665412
- Yoshihara M, Araki R, Kasama Y, Sunayama M, Abe M, Nishida K, Kawaji H et al (2017) Hotspots of De Novo point mutations in induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep 21(2):308–315. https:// doi.org/10.1016/jcelrep201709060
- Yoshihara M, Oguchi A, Murakawa Y (2019) Genomic instability of iPSCs and challenges in their clinical applications. Adv Exp Med Biol 1201:23–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31206-0 2

- Yu K, Zeng Z, Cheng S, Hu W, Gao C, Liu F, Chen J et al (2020) TPP1 enhances the therapeutic effects of transplanted aged mesenchymal stem cells in infarcted hearts via the MRE11/AKT pathway. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:588023. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell2020588023
- Zhang ZX, Guan LX, Zhang K, Wang S, Cao PC, Wang YH, Wang Z et al (2007) Cytogenetic analysis of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells passaged in vitro. Cell Biol Int 31(6):645–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/jcellbi200611025
- Zhang J, Yang R, Zhou D, Rudolph KL, Meng A, Ju Z (2014) Exonuclease 1 is essential for maintaining genomic stability and the proliferative capacity of neural but not hematopoietic stem cells. Stem Cell Res 12(1):250–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/jscr201311001
- Zhang M, Cheng L, Jia Y, Liu G, Li C, Song S, Bradley A et al (2016) Aneuploid embryonic stem cells exhibit impaired differentiation and increased neoplastic potential. EMBO J 35(21): 2285–2300. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj201593103
- Zhang H, Menzies KJ, Auwerx J (2018a) The role of mitochondria in stem cell fate and aging. Development 145(8):dev143420. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev143420
- Zhang M, Wang L, An K, Cai J, Li G, Yang C, Liu H et al (2018b) Lower genomic stability of induced pluripotent stem cells reflects increased non-homologous end joining. Cancer Commun (London, England) 38(1):49. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40880-018-0313-0
- Zhen C, Fang X, Ding M, Wang X, Yuan D, Sui X, Liu X et al (2020) Smoking is an important factor that affects peripheral blood progenitor cells yield in healthy male donors. J Clin Apheresis 35(1):33–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/jca21756
- Zhou G, Meng S, Li Y, Ghebre YT, Cooke JP (2016) Optimal ROS signaling is critical for nuclear reprogramming. Cell Rep 15(5):919–925. https://doi.org/10.1016/jcelrep201603084
- Zhuang Y, Li D, Fu J, Shi Q, Lu Y, Ju X (2015) Comparison of biological properties of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells from early and late passages: immunomodulatory ability is enhanced in aged cells. Mol Med Rep 11(1):166–174. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr20142755

Index

A

Abnormal mitochondria, 679 Acetaminophen (APAP), 227 Acute kidney injury, 986 Acute lung injury (ALI), 167, 986 Acute myeloid leukemia (AML), 1264 Acute myocardial infarction (AMI), 452-460, 518, 809, 810, 1027 BMMC dosage, 253 BONAMI trial, 253 bone marrow cells, 251 BOOST trial, 254 cell treatment, 252 clinical trials, 249-250 contractility, 243 FINCELL trial, 252 HEBE trial, 252 intracoronary infusion, 252, 255 LateTIME trial, 253 LEUVINE-AMI trial, 254 LVEF, 253 **REGENT trial**, 252 **REPAIR-AMI trial**, 254 stem cell therapy, 253 Acute on chronic liver failure (ACLF), 228 Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 167 cytokine storm, 168 hyperactivation of T lymphocytes, 177 lung repair and treatment, 180 MSCSs, 185 Adaptive immune system, 230 Adherens junctions (AJs), 832 Adipocyte(s), 1181, 1184, 1186, 1200, 1205, 1207, 1209-1214 lipolysis, 1209 metabolism, 1213

Adipogenic differentiation, 574-575 Adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs), 353, 1463-1464 applications, 698 autologous and allogeneic treatments, 698 bone reconstruction, 714 components and functions of exosomes, 700 culture-expanded, 698 description, 696 isolation of, 696 in plastic and cosmetic surgery, 704-714 recontouring depressed facial lesions, 709-712 regulatory considerations for the production and clinical application of, 700-701 safety, cell therapy, 702-704 secretome, 699 soft tissue reconstruction, 704-709 in wound healing, 712-713 Adipose-derived stromal cells, 257 Adipose tissue, 108, 131-132, 1283 and environmental stressors, 1213-1214 Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells (Ad-MSCs), 28-29, 327-330, 332, 342, 362, 366-367 advantages, 29 clinical applications, 31 isolation, 30-31 limitations, 29-30 Adrenergic signalling, 243 Adult stem cells (ASCs), 476, 516, 693, 1393 heart failure, 517-522 Adult tissue-derived stem cells, 733-734 Advanced glycation end products (AGEs), 78 Advanced therapies, 54 Advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMPs), 80

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 K. H. Haider (ed.), *Handbook of Stem Cell Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2655-6 Aesthetic surgery, 693 AT-MSCs cell-based clinical studies in, 705 - 708cell-based therapies in, 700 clinical application of SVF/ASCs in, 704-714 AF-derived MSCs (AF-MSCs), 419 African Blood and Marrow Transplantation (AfBMT), 1434 Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), 333, 608, 901, 908 Aging, 242-245 stem cell genomic instability, 1454-1456 Akt phosphorylation, 1285 Alagille syndrome, 225 Alcohol intake, 1479 Alcoholism, 1479 Aldehyde dehydrogenase, 1311-1312 Aldosterone antagonists, 246 Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), 447 Allogeneic BM-MSCs, 211 Allogeneic MSCs advantages and limitations, 12, 14, 15 adverse reactions, 14 allogeneic adipose tissue-derived MSCs, 8, 9 allogeneic stem cell transplantation, 9 vs. autologous cells, 15 cell-based therapy, 14 clinical application, 14 immunological profiling, 14 immunomodulation, 14 safety and efficacy, 14 Allogeneic myoblast transplantation (AMT), 651-652, 655, 661, 662 allogeneic human myoblasts, manufacture of, 654 case selection, 653 clinical research procedures, 655 clinical trials, 653 cyclosporine immunosuppression, 654 donors, 654 efficacy, 659 MI patients, 652 muscle biopsy, 654 patient selection, 654 preparation of myoblasts, 654 regulatory, 653 Allograft, 630 Alveolar bone proper-derived stem/progenitor cells (ABMSCs), 1040 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 405–406, 905, 1048 allogeneic MSCs, 426 amyloid β protein, 422, 424 AT-MSC-Exos, 424

blood-brain-barrier, 426 BM-MSC-Exos, 423 exosomes, 422 MSC-derived miRNA-21, 425 MSC-Exo-based neuroprotection, 423 MSC-Exo-treated microglia, 425 neurological disorder, 421 neuropathological characteristics, 422 pathological neurons, 422 UC-MSC-Exos, 424, 425 American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association heart failure staging system, 475 AMICI study, 141 Aminosalicylates, 196 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 416, 1051, 1242 Aneuploidy, 1459 and lamins alterations, 1460-1461 Angiogenesis, 248, 458, 459, 1044, 1129, 1132, 1136, 1137, 1142, 1372, 1376, 1395-1399, 1403-1406 Angiogenic factors, 1052 Angiogenic signaling proteins, 958 Angiomyogenesis, 664 Angiomyogenic repair, 444 Angiopoietin 1 (Ang-1), 1131, 1132 Angiopoietins, 1189 Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2-), 180 Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, 246, 475 Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), 246 Ankle plantar flexors, 645 Anomalies, 833-835 Antiangiogenic therapies, 1313 Anti-apoptosis, 1044 Anti-apoptotic activity, 1132 Antiarrhythmic drug efficacy, 886 Antibiotics, 553 Antigen-presenting cells, 199 Anti-inflammatory effects, 198 Anti-inflammatory factors, 248 Anti-inflammatory markers, 1056 Anti-inflammatory properties, probiotics, 555 Antimicrobial metabolites, 552 Apheresis, 1425 ApoBDs, 1133 Apolipoprotein E (APOE), 853 Apoptosis, 551 Aquaporin-4 (AQP4), 856 Argonaute proteins, 1374 Arrhythmia, 878, 880-887 Articular cartilage defects, 353-355, 1137 Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), 1198-1199

Ascl1, 387 Astrocytes physiological roles of, 852-853 reactive gliosis, 854 Astrogliosis, 859 AT-derived MSC-Exos (AT-MSC-Exos), 424 Atherosclerosis, 772 Atorvastatin, 450 Atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes, 729-730 Atrial fibrillation (AF), 242, 878, 880, 887 Atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), 478, 481 Autism, 429-431 Autism spectrum disorders (ASD), 430 Autografts, 630, 714 Autologous bone marrow cells (ABMCs), 518 Autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI), 357-358 Autologous limbal cell transplantation, 327 Autologous MSCs advantages and limitations, 12 autologous bone marrow-derived MSCs, 8.9 in elderly patients, 13, 14 from sick patients, 12, 13 treatment, 12 Autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT), 1422, 1430 Autologous transplantation, 928 Autonomic nervous system, 1181 Autonomous robotic cell injection catheter system, 665-666 Autophagy, 1192, 1193 Autoradiography, 824 5-Azacytidine, 779

B

Base excision repair (BER), 1452 Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), 636, 1131 Basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH), 831 BCNU-etoposide-aracytine-melphalan (BEAM), 1423, 1427, 1431 Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD), 1106 Benzalkonium chloride (BAC), 329 Benzene, 1196-1197 Beta-blockers, 246 Beta-coronavirus, 176 Bioabsorbable matrix, 209 Bioactive melatonin, 363 Bio-banking, 903-904 Bioengineering, 491, 497-499, 532, 1337 Bioethicists, 1168 Biogenesis, 1133 Bioinks, for heart tissue, 789-790 Biologic skin, 675

Biomarkers, 806 EVs (see Extracellular vesicles (EVs)) liquid biopsy, 1270 **TEVs. 1268** theranostic applications, 1266 Biomaterials, 260 Bioreactors, 370 BioSeed[®]-C. 358 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 825, 853, 854 Blood cell test, 655 Blood coagulation indexes, 657 Body mass index (BMI), 514 Body sculpture, 675 BONAMI trial, 253 Bone marrow, 129-130 Bone marrow and stress response, 1191 cell and microenvironment response to stressors, 1191-1193 emergency hematopoiesis, 1195-1196 environmental hematopoietic stressors, 1196-1199 hematopoietic stress response, 1193-1196 Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), 27-28, 130-131, 251, 254-256, 258, 362-364, 419, 694, 1129, 1232, 1288 advantages, 28 limitations, 28 Bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMDSCs), 256, 353 heart failure, 481-482, 518-519 Bone marrow microenvironment (BMME), 1200 components, 1184-1185 as contributor/driver of leukemia, 1206-1209 dynamic interactions, 1187-1191 secondary myeloid malignancy, development of, 1201-1206 stem cell niches and spatial position, 1185-1187 Bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNCs), 251-253, 255, 481, 1394 Bone marrow progenitor cells (BMPCs), 1423 See also Peripheral blood progenitor cells (PBPCs) Bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs), 328-330, 334 Bone marrow transplants, 475 Bone morphogenetic proteins, 736 Bone morphogenic protein-2 (BMP-2), 447 Bone reconstruction, 714 Bone regeneration, MSCs' secretome, 1135-1137 BOOST-2 trials, 254

BOOST trial, 254 Bradford protein assay kit, 1357 Brain-derived growth factor (BDGF), 419 Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 856, 1042 Brain natriuretic peptide (BNP), 478, 481, 484 Brain pathologies, 833–835 Brava[™] system, 709 Breast cancer EVs (*see* Extracellular vesicles (EVs)) TEVs (*see* Tumor-derived EVs (TEVs), breast cancer) Brentuximab vedotin, 1265 Bullous keratopathy (BK), 612

С

Cancer breast (see Breast cancer) development and proliferation, 1264 EVs (see Extracellular vesicles (EVs)) exosomal miRNAs, 1374-1376 and exosome, 1371-1373 lung, 1376-1378 stem cells, 1262-1263 Cancer stem cells (CSCs), 1262-1263 aldehyde dehydrogenase as drug-detoxify enzymes against, 1311-1312 biological characterization of, 1314 drug-efflux pumps, 1312 Hedgehog signaling pathway, 1309-1310 markers in, 1306–1309 niche and quiescent state, 1312-1313 Notch signaling pathway, 1310 oncolytic adenovirus, 1315-1316 oncolytic adenoviruses and pancreatic clinical trials, 1317-1318 oncolytic herpes simplex virus, 1316 oncolytic herpes simplex viruses and pancreatic clinical trials, 1318-1319 oncolytic virus and effects in clinical trials, 1317 role in tumor. 1305-1306 stem cell-derived exosomes, 1319-1320 target therapies against, 1313–1318 Wnt signaling pathway, 1310-1311 Cancer therapy, 1399, 1403, 1409, 1410 Cancer treatment, MTT, 668-669 metastasis, tumor growth and cancer apoptosis, 669-672 myoblasts fuse with cancer stem cell, 670-671 plausible sequence of events, 671-672 polygenic defects, identification of, 669

Canine model for myocardial repair, 302 Cardiac aging, 243 Cardiac fibroblasts, 1335, 1354 Cardiac function, 658, 1348 Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, 1359 Cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs), 482 Cardiac regenerative medicine, 499 bioengineering, 497-499 cell-free strategies, 495-497 Cardiac remodeling, 474 Cardiac stem/progenitor cells (CSCs/CPCs), 476, 516, 1009 heart failure, 485, 517-518 Cardiac stem cell therapy appropriate timing of administration, 533 challenges, 533-535 ethical considerations, 535-536 optimal cell type, 529-531 optimal method of delivery, 531 patient characteristics and sourcing, 533 Cardiac tissue engineering, 446, 447 Cardiology, 1238-1240 Cardiomyocyte maturation-specific gene expression analysis, 750 Cardiomyocytes (CMs), 474, 476, 478-480, 488-490, 493, 495, 496, 498, 500, 776, 777, 785, 877, 882, 884, 885, 887 action potential, 750 aging, 243 atrial and ventricular, 729-730 bone morphogenetic proteins, 736 cell death. 244 commitment and differentiation, 734-738 description, 728 endogenous regeneration, 516-517 fibroblast growth factor signaling pathway, 737-738 GATA family, 738-739 HAND transcription factors, 740 heart injury, 248 irreversible damage, 244 limitations of 2D culture, 750-752 molecular profiling of, 734 MSCs, 246 myocyte enhancer factor-2 family, 739 necrosis, 243 Nkx-2.5, 739 population, 243 regulation of lineage differentiation in stem cells, 743 serum response factor and myocardin, 740 size and number, 243 status of iPSC-derived, 741

structure of, 728-729 technical limitations, 742 transplanted cells, 242 Wnt signaling pathway, 736-737 Cardiomyogenesis, 734 Cardiomyopathy, 244, 811 Cardiopulmonary injuries, 1045 Cardiotoxic drugs, 245 Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), 223, 224, 473, 513,985 acute and chronic impact, 772 endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction in, 805-806 prevalence, 771 Cardiovascular mortality, 242 Cardiovascular system, 1012 Cargo, 229-232, 1260 Cartilage articular, 351 articular cartilage defect treatment, 353-355 bioreactors, 370 chondrocytes, 351-352 collagen, 352 conducive microenvironment mimicking, 367 fluid, 352 lacunae, 351 natural polymers, 368 rotating wall vessels, 371 spinner flasks, 370 synthetic materials, 370 tissue engineering, 371 Cartilage Regeneration System (CaReS), 358 Cartilage tissue engineering natural scaffolds, 368 synthetic hybrid scaffolds, 369-370 Cataract, 332 Cationic microbubbles (CMBs), 1338 design and characterisation of, 1339, 1340 destruction-mediated localised delivery, 1339 UTMD-mediated localised delivery of hybrids, 1343-1348 C-CURE trial, 258, 484 CD133+ bone marrow progenitor cells, 255 CD146, 137-138 CD26, 1189 CD271, 136-137 CD34, 929 CD45 expression, 925 CD45RA-memory, 182 Cell-assisted lipotransfer (CAL), 704 Cell-based regenerative therapy, 773

Cell-based therapy, 54 experimental studies, 226-227 liver diseases, 225-228 preclinical and clinical levels, 232 Cell-based therapy, heart failure cell type, 489-490 dosage, 486-489 engraftment, survival and rejection, 485-486 ethical issues, in regenerative medicine, 494-495 Hippo-YAP pathway, 492-494 mechanism of action, 527-528 route of administration, 490-492 Cell culture, 1148 Cell cycle, 1258 Cell-free strategies, 359, 495-497 Cell-free therapy, 146, 147, 1127, 1128, 1135 animal heart models, 1013-1019 approaches, 229-231 challenges and future perspective, 1027 diagnostic applications of exosomes, 1011-1013 EPCs, 1009 experimental animal models, 1009 GMP-certified preparation, 1009 heart, 1010 stem-cell therapy approach, 1009 translational experimental studies, 1019 - 1023Cell fusion, 635-637 Cell membrane defect, 639-640 Cell orientation, 780 Cell physiology methods, 754 Cell replacement technologies, 829 Cell Research and Application (CiRA), 909 Cell-scaffold construct BioSeed[®]-C, 358 hyalograft, 358 **MACI**, 358 NeoCart, 359 Cell suspension, 226 Cell therapy, 79, 83, 86, 184, 197, 274, 278, 300, 303, 306, 307, 630, 698, 702-704 NK cell, 182 T-cell, 181 Cell Therapy Research Foundation (CTRF), 644 Cell transplantation, 229, 398-399 Cellular administration, 83 Cellular competition, 83 Cellular differentiation, 825 Cellular senescence, 572-573, 1193

Cellular therapy minimal criteria, 932 Cellular transformation, 69 Cellular transplantation, 1040 Cell-wave therapy approach, 445 Central nervous system (CNS) development, 832 fetal human, 830 in vitro, 825 lifetime duration, 830 and medullary tube, 824 tissues, 823, 831 Central nervous system (CNS) disorders, 851 cell-based therapies for, 866-868 CNS autoimmune conditions, treatments for, 862-864 neurodegenerative disorders, treatments for, 864-866 stroke and CNS trauma, treatments for, 861-862 Central nervous system (CNS) pathologies, 986 CEP-41750 trial, 140 Ceramide-1 phosphate, 1190 CHART-1 trial, 140 CHART-2 trial, 140 Chemical-based reprogramming approach, 744 Chemokines, 1042, 1044, 1046 Chemosensitive cells, 1265 Chemotaxis, 1044 Chemotherapy, 1305, 1312, 1313, 1392 Childhood hematolymphoid diseases, 924 Chimeras, 1167 Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell (CAR-T cells), 168, 181 Cholinergic cells, 406 Chondrocyte implantation, 362 Chondrocytes, 351-352 Chondrogenic differentiation, 575 Chondroitin-sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs), 833.855 Chondrosphere, 360 Chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay, 1401 Choroid neovascularization (CNV), 333 Chromosome territories (CT), 1459 Chronic cardiomyopathy, 522, 530 Chronic exposure, 1197 Chronic heart failure, 513 Chronic inflammation, 416, 1194 Chronic kidney disease (CKD), 986 Chronic myocardial infarction (MI) model, 299 Chronic myocardial ischemia model, 300 Cigarette smoke extract (CSE), 1479 Ciliary body, 593

CIRCULATE trial, 141 Circulating EPCs (CEPCs), 1394 c-JUN/N-terminal kinase (c-JUN/JNK), 1053 Clinical studies, 1023-1027 Clinical trials, 900 allogenic cells, 902 eye disorders, 909 HLA-homozygous iPSC-RPE cells, 902 iPSC-based cell therapy, 907-910 safety and efficacy testing, 906 transplantation, 901 Clinical trials on MSC therapy of IBD, 201 - 216Coding and non-coding RNAs, 981-982 Cofactors, 632 Cognitive and behavioral dysfunctions, 416 Cognitive impairment adiponectin, 428 genetic modification of MSCs, 427 hippocampus injury, 426, 429 miRNA-21, 428 MSC-Exos, 427, 428 neurotrophins, 429 pro-angiogenic and trophic factors, 429 TBI. 426 Coleman's method, 30 Collagen, 352 scaffolds, 777-779 Colony forming unit-fibroblast (CFU-F), 276, 693, 930, 1231 Comparative genome-wide gene expression analyses, 388 CRISPR activation, 390-391 random trial and error screening of libraries, 388-390 single-cell RNAseq and computational analysis, 391 Comprehensive in vitro Proarrhythmia Assay (CiPA), 887 CONCERT-HF trial, 485, 518 Concomitant administration of cells, 445 Conditioned medium (CM), 37 DPCSs, 1048-1052 GMSCs, 1052-1055 PDLSCs, 1055-1057 SHED-CM (see Secretome/conditioned medium (SHED-CM)) Conjunctiva, 592 Conventional stem cell purification, 1257 Conventional therapies, 245-246 Copy number variations (CNVs), 900, 1166, 1447 Cord blood, 365

Cornea cellular layers, 609 endothelium, 590-592, 611-612 epithelium, 589-590, 609-610 stroma, 590, 610 trabecular meshwork, 613 Corneal damage, 330 Corneal diseases, models of, 325-331 Corneal endothelium, 590-592, 611-612 Corneal epithelial cells, 325 Corneal epithelium, 589-590, 609-610 Corneal hydration, 611 Corneal stroma, 590, 610 Corneal transplantation, 327, 611 Coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), 305, 475, 479, 482, 484, 491, 497, 498, 517, 1019 Coronary artery disease (CAD), 256 Corona virus disease-2019 (COVID-19) ALI, 167 cells-based innovation, 181-182 clinical feature, 165 global health emergency, 165 infection and immune response, 176-178 MSCs clinical use, 178 MSCs (see Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs)) pathology, 167 treatment options, 167 vaccine, 167 WHO declaration, 165 Cortex-derived astrocytes, 396 COVID-19, see Corona virus disease-2019 (COVID-19) Cranial bone (CB) MSCs, 548 Crigler-Najjar syndrome, 225 CRISPR activation-based screening, 390-391 CRISPR-Cas9 technology, 85 Critical limb ischemia (CLI), 713 Crohn's disease (CD), 142–143, 195, 201, 210, 213, 1027, 1237-1238 BM-MSCs therapy, 211 inflammatory (luminal), 211 perianal fistulas, 207, 208 Cryopreservation of stem cells, 1423 Culture-expanded adipose-derived stem cells, 702-704 Cuprizone, 404 Cutaneous wounds, 108 C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12), 69,703 Cyclin dependent kinase (CDK), 1453 Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), 1289

Cyclosporine, 645 immunosuppression, 638, 654 Cyclosporine-A (CsA), 642 Cytochalasin B induced membrane vesicles, 1086, 1087 Cytochalasin B-induced MVs (CIMVs), 1077 Cytochrome P450 (CYP), 1198 Cytokine release syndrome (CRS), 181 Cytokines, 632, 1042, 1046 Cytokines, 632, 1042, 1046 Cytokine storm, 168, 177, 178, 180, 183 Cytoprotection, 444 Cytotoxic CD8+T cells (CTLs), 417 Cytotoxicity screenings, 907

D

Damage/Danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 1199, 1282 Decellularization, 1038 Deferoxamine (DFO), 1142 Defibrotide, 183 Dendritic cells (DCs), 181 De novo urea synthesis, 228 Dental follicle (DF) MSCs, 548 Dental follicle stem/progenitor cells (DFSCs), 1040, 1057-1058 Dental pulp MSCs. 548 odontoblasts, 549 tissue, 547 Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), 866, 868, 1040 angiogenic factors, 1049 autoimmune diseases, 1052 immunomodulatory properties, 1049 liver disorders, 1049 MSCs markers, 1049 neurological diseases, 1051-1052 osteogenic potential, 1049 Dental stem/progenitor cells (DMSCs) ectomesenchymal neural crest cells, 1040 multi-differentiation, 1040 Dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP), 1050 Derived Multiple Allogeneic Proteins Paracrine Signaling (d-MAPPS), 419 Dermal sheath stem cells, 107 Dermal signaling, 107 Detoxification response and signaling pathways aryl hydrocarbon receptor, 1198-1199 drug metabolizing enzymes cytochrome P450 and glutathione S-transferases, 1198 TLR signaling, 1199 Diabetes mellitus, 244

Diabetic retinopathy (DR), 333 Differentiated adult somatic cells, 116 Differentiation, 1281-1284, 1289-1291, 1293 Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), 1272, 1436 Digoxin, 246 Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), 887 Dimethyloxaloylglycine (DMOG), 1142 Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 1436 Dioxins, 1197 Direct neural reprogramming strategies, 386 Alzheimer's disease, 405-406 autologous cell transplantation, 398-399 CNS disorder treatment with neural cells. 399-401 comparative genome-wide gene expression analyses, 388-391 fibroblasts, 393 hepatocytes, 394-395 implications of cell source, 391-396 ischemic stroke, 403-404 miRNAs, 387 multiple sclerosis, 404 neural cell subtype generation, 396-398 Parkinson's disease, 405 pericytes, 395 primary-derived cell sources, 392 reprogramming factors, 386-388 reprogramming of astrocytes, 393-394 small molecules, 387-388 spinal cord injury, 399-402 transcription factors, 386-387 traumatic brain injury, 402-403 urine epithelial cells, 395-396 Direct cardiac reprogramming advantages of lentiviral vectors for, 1352 cardiomyocyte generation, 1337-1339 CFs in vitro, 1357 future research, 1355 improvement of reprogramming factors in, 1353-1354 ultrasound-mediated, 1354-1355 Disease modeling, 897, 907 Dishevelled (Dsh) protein, 737 Diuretics, 246 DNA damage response (DDR) signaling pathway, 1192 DNA damage tolerance (DDT), 1456 DNA stability, 1451-1454 Donor cell survival, 443-444 Donors' right, 1170-1172 Dosage strategies, 184 Double-blind randomized trials, 810

Double strand breaks (DSB), 1449 Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), 1284 Drop-on-demand bioprinting technique, 788 Drug discovery, 905-907 Drug-efflux pumps, 1312 Dual-isotope simultaneous acquisition (DISA), 302 Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), 1103 genetic mosaicism, induction of, 641-642 LBT. 645-646 MTT in. 642-650 natural history, 640 SMT, 643-644 strategizing DMD treatment, 641 WBT, 646-650 Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium, low glucose (DMEM-LG), 5 Dysbiosis, 555 Dysfunction, 324 Dystrophin, 1103 gene, 632, 633

Е

Eastern Mediterranean Bone Marrow Transplantation Group (EMBMT) report, 1434 conservation and PBPC viability, 1435 donor cell engraftment, 1436-1438 PBPC mobilization, 1435 therapeutic intensification, 1436 Echocardiography, 1359 Ectodomain, 1047 Ectosomes, 1107 Electrical phenotypes, 886 Electrolyte levels, 656 Electroretinography (ERG), 339 Embryonic stem cell-derived MSCs (ESC-MSCs), 1147 Embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 111–112, 228, 325, 336-338, 342, 440, 515, 546, 731-732, 1009, 1231, 1232, 1239, 1393, 1464-1468 differentiation, 927 heart failure, 515 hESCs, 588 Emergency hematopoiesis, 1195-1196 Encephalomyelitis (EAE), 1056 End-diastolic volume (EDV), 478, 485, 518 Endogenous cardiac progenitor cells, 482 Endogenous cardiac regeneration, 476-478 Endogenous stem cells, 106 Endogenous vascular reparation, 801

Endothelial cells (ECs), 1011, 1189 Endothelial cell-side progenitors (EC-SPs), 1397 Endothelial colony-forming progenitor cells (ECFCs), 808-810, 1394 Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), 251.1401 Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), 801, 812, 1009, 1181, 1184, 1394-1396, 1479 advantages and disadvantages, 1410 animal studies for vascular repair, 806, 808-810 applications, 1398-1399 cardiovascular diseases, endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction in, 805-806 clinical studies for applications, 810-812 definition and biological function, 802-804 and early outgrowth, in revascularization and vascular reparation, 806-812 in vitro culture methodologies classification, 1395 molecular maker antigens, 804 molecular mechanisms, 803 in neovascularization, 1397-1398 physiological conditions, 1396 preclinical applications of early and late EPCs. 807 in pre-clinical cancer studies, 1403-1407 side effects and potential risks, 1407-1409 sources, ex vivo culturing and implantation, 1399-1403 Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition, 118 End-stage HF patients, AMT, see Allogeneic myoblast transplantation (AMT) End-systolic volume (ESV), 478, 481, 485, 518 Engraftment window, 924 Enhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP), 279.339 Environmental hematopoietic stressors detoxification response and signaling pathways, 1198-1199 environmental pollutants, 1196-1198 Environmental pollutants, 1196 benzene, 1196-1197 dioxins, 1197 heavy metal exposure, 1198 nanoparticles and particulate matter, 1197 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, 1197-1198 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), 1131 Epidermal growth factor (EGF), 1042

Epigenetics, 743, 938 Episcleral veins, 341 Epithelial and oral mucosal stem cells (EOM-SCs), 548 Epithelial cells (ECs), 553 Epithelial stem cells, 114-115 ERK-SMAD pathway, 86 Ervthropoietin (EPO), 1396 ESCRT-associated proteins, 957 ESTIMATION trial, 140 Ethics advantages, 1164 hiPSCs, 1163 issues, 1163 EVpedia, 1011 Excessive wound healing, 109-111 Excitation contraction coupling, 635 ExoBCD, 1011 ExoCarta, 1011 Exogenous, 826 Exonuclease 1 (Exo1), 1457 exoRBAse, 1011 Exosomal lncRNA sequencing, 459 Exosomes, 200-201, 230, 259, 452, 1043, 1104, 1107, 1109, 1133, 1138, 1192, 1258 advantages, 146 in Alzheimer's disease, 421 biological functions, 1370-1371 and cancer, 1371-1373 cell-free therapy (see Cell-free therapy) challenges and future perspective, 1027 in clinical studies, 1023-1027 composition, 1369-1370 diagnostic applications, 1011 in experimental animal heart models, 1013-1019 future perspectives, 1378-1380 for heart, 149-150 for IBD, 147–148 miRNAs, 1374-1376 MSCs-derived and acute graft-versus-host disease, 146-147 multiple sclerosis, 140-150 and MVs, 1043-1044 pathways of exosomal miRNA secretion, 1373 - 1374rheumatoid arthritis and knee arthritis, 148 - 149in translational experimental studies, 1019-1023 tumor-derived, 1376-1378 Experimental animal studies, 226-227

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, 72 Experimental autoimmune encephalopathy (EAE), 340 exRNA Atlas, 1011 Extensor digitorum brevis (EDB), 643, 644 Extracellular acidification rate (ECAR), 884 Extra-cellular matrix (ECM), 447, 497, 498, 568, 776-777, 832-833, 862, 1044, 1106, 1129, 1184, 1466 Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor (EMMPRIN/CD147), 177 Extracellular vesicles (EVs), 146, 980-981, 1043, 1105, 1133-1135, 1148, 1184, 1239 advantages, 949-951 aminoethyl anisamide-PEG incorporation, 963 anti-apoptotic miRNAs, 962 anti-inflammatory properties, 962 apoptotic bodies, 1075 applications, 952 biodistribution, 960 biofluid origin, 1075 biogenesis mechanisms, 962 biological activities, 1073 biological pathways, 1259 bioprocessing, 965 biosafety, 1072 in blood, 232 cargo, 1260 cell-based therapeutics, 1073 cell-derived nanovesicles, 965 cell-free therapy, 1072 cellular paracrine secretion, 229 characteristics, 1075 circular membrane fragments, 949 classification, 949, 1075 clinical-scale production, 964 clinical studies, 954, 955 CNS lymphomas, 1269-1271 composition, 1074 continuous medium perfusion, 963 CSCs, 1262-1263 degree of recovery, 959 development of, 1074 diagnostic and therapeutic role, 231-232 dosing strategies, 959 endosomal origin, 1075 EV-based therapeutics, 951 EV mediated mitochondria donation, 1083, 1085, 1086 exosomes, 949

first-pass effect, 962 functions of, 1073, 1258-1261 GelMA hydrogels, 964 gene expression profiles, 965 guidelines/recommendations, 955, 956 heterogeneous, 1259 hollow fiber bioreactor technology, 963 immune regulatory function, 963 immunomodulatory activity, 1081, 1082 in-depth analysis, 1074 inflammatory response and subsequent activation of nearby cells, 1110-1112 injured muscle environment, 1110 intravenous autologous MSCs' transplantation, 954 intrinsic ability, 964 iPSCs-derived MSCs, 231 isolation methods, 959-961 large-scale production of vesicles, 1085-1088 in leukemia, 1263-1265 lipids, 959 in liver diseases (see Liver diseases) in lymphoma, 1265 mammalian body, 1258 manufacturing approach, 965 medicinal products, 961 microRNAs, 957 microvesicles, 949, 1075 MSC-derived EVs, 949, 1074-1078, 1080 from MSCs, 230 MSC-specific membrane proteins, 950 normal stem cells, 1261-1262 optimal time and mode, 959 physiological and pathological processes, 1073 physiological features, 963 pleiotropy, 1261 post-transplantation, 230 preclinical evidence, 951 preclinical studies, 954 production of, 229, 960 protein-based mechanism of action, 957, 958 proteins and lipids, 1107-1108 quality control and potency markers, 956, 957 regenerative effects, 1074 regenerative potential, 1261 restorative properties, 961 RNA cargo, 1108 scaled-up culturing, 963 secreted by liver cells, 230

shear stress, 963 stem cells, 229 structures, 1074 surface-modified EVs, 963 therapeutics, 231, 961 3D-biomaterial scaffolds, 965 3D-culture platforms, 964 thrombin-preconditioning of MSCs, 962 transplantation, 230, 231 2D-culture condition, 964 type-one disease, 232 types of, 1075 uptake of vesicles, target cells, 1109-1110 Eve ciliary body, 593 conjunctiva, 592 cornea, 609-614 (see Cornea) human, 588 iris, 592-593 lens, 589, 594-595 ocular lens, 613-614 retina, 614-616 (see also Retina) stem cell-based therapies, 608 trabecular meshwork, 593-594

F

Fanconi anemia (FA), 1203-1205 Fat transplantation, 703 Fatty acid-binding protein, 1209 Fatty acid translocase, 1209 Fatty acid transport protein, 1209 Fecal incontinence (FI), 676 Fetal bovine serum (FBS), 84, 1401 Fetal development of tolerance, 923 Fetal healing process, 109 Fetal sheep model, 932 Fetal stem cells (FSCs), 1393 Fibro-adipogenic progenitors (FAPs), 1102 Fibroblast growth factor 2/basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2/bFGF), 1042 Fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), 496, 831 Fibroblast growth factor signaling pathway, 737-738 Fibroblasts, 393 FINCELL trial, 252 Fluid, 352 Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), 388, 1165 Fluorescent in-situ hybridization (FISH), 930 FOCUS-CCTRN trial, 255

Foreign dystrophin gene, 633 Free fatty acids (FFAs), 882 Freeform reversible embedding of suspended hydrogels (FRESH), 788 Fried egg method, 595 Functional maturation analysis, 749–750

G

Ganglion cell layer (GCL), 340 Gap junction, 729 GATA-4, 738-739 Gelatin/polycaprolactone-polyethylene glycol (Gel/PCEC-TGF1), 370 Geminin, 1451 Gene defects, 629 Gene-editing technology, 902, 1168 Gene-targeting therapy, 1405 Gene therapy, 38-39, 259, 633 Genetically encoded calcium indicators (GECIs), 881 Genetically encoded voltage indicators (GEVIs), 881 Genetic alterations, 900 Genetic diseases >80% of human death, 629 MTT in. 668 Genetic edition, 1145 Genetic instability, in stem cells adipose stem cells, 1463-1464 and aging, 1454-1456 aneuploidy, 1459-1461 cell origin, 1463-1470 DNA damage response, 1449-1451 DNA stability, 1451–1454 donor age, 1477-1479 embryonic stem cells, 1464-1468 induced pluripotent stem cells, 1468-1470 obesity, 1477 replicative stress/replication timing, 1461-1463 reprogramming methods, 1470-1477 senescence, 1454 telomere damage, 1456-1458 toxic habits and diseases, in donors, 1479-1480 Genetic mosaicism, 632-633 mesenchymal cell transplant, 641-642 newborn muscle transplant, 641 normal and dystrophic minced muscle mixes, 641 primary myoblast culture, 642

Genetic stability, 879 Genome editing, 880-881 Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 877.880 Genomic instability, 703, 900 Genotoxic stress, 1192 Genotypic analysis, 880 Gingival mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells (GMSCs), 1040, 1282 neural disorders, 1053-1054 osteogenic potential, 1054-1055 secretome, 1053 skin injuries, 1054 Glaucoma models, 340-342 Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), 1048 Glial cells, 851 in CNS auto-immune conditions, 856-859 in neurodegenerative disorders, 859-861 stroke, CNS trauma and impact, 854-856 Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), 862 Glial scar, 393 Gliogenesis, 831 Glioma stem-like cells (GSCs), 1406 Gliosis, 403 Glucose phosphate isomerases (GPI), 642 Glutamate excitotoxicity, 337, 860 Glutathione S-transferases (GSTs), 1198 Glycine residues, 777 Glycogen phosphorylase (GP), 1012 Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) inhibitor, 877 Glycosaminoglycans, 833 Glycosyl transferase-programmed stereo substitution (GPS), 84 Good manufacturing practice, 6, 77, 80, 83, 960, 1468 Graft tolerance, 923 Graft versus host disease (GvHD), 141-142 MSC-based therapies, 1235-1237 Graft-versus-leukaemia (GVL) effect, 74 Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), 1043, 1188-1191, 1207, 1208, 1215, 1395, 1425, 1430, 1435 Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), 1043, 1140 Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMPs), 1186.1195 Growth differentiation factor, 114 Growth factors, 1042 G-secretase inhibitors, 1310 Gut microbiota, 551-553

Н

Haemopoietic stem cells (HSCs), 440 Hair follicle anatomy of, 107 bulge cells, 115 formation, 115 HAND transcription factors, 740 Harvey-Bradshaw index (HBI), 210 Heart, 222, 441, 443, 445, 447, 450-452, 460 bone marrow-derived MSCs, 1014-1016 cell-free therapy, 1010 cell therapy, 279 cytoprotective effects, 1013 diagnostic applications, 1011–1013 exosomes (see Exosomes) functions, 1009 genetic manipulation, 1017 and liver, 223-225 miR-125b, 1017 miR-210, 1017 MSCs-derived exosomes, 1013, 1017 myocardial injury, 1013 pharmacological manipulation, 1018 pre-clinical trials, 1014-1016 in translational experimental studies, 1019-1023 Heart diseases aetiologies, 244 aging, 242-244 clinical syndrome, 244 clinical trials, 249-250 conventional therapies, 245-246 infarcted tissue, 244 limitations, 257-258 stem cells, 242 treatment, 242 types, 244 Heart failure, 242, 255-256, 303, 304, 306, 307, 473, 514, 801 BMSCs, 258 bone marrow-derived stem cells, 481-482 cardiac stem cells, 485 cell-based therapy, factors, 485-495 clinical syndrome, 244 and death, 254 and heart disease, 255 mesenchymal stem cells, 482-485 MI, 244 pathophysiology, 513-514 pluripotent stem cells, 478-480 safety parameters, in human clinical trials, 486

skeletal myoblasts, 480-481 symptoms, 475 UC-MSCs, 256 Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), 474, 513, 514 Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), 474, 513, 514, 811 Heart function, 246-248 Heart-liver inter-organ connection, 225 Heart muscle degeneration, 650 adverse reaction assessment, 655-656 AMT. 651-655 objective evaluation, 656-657 perspectives, 663-664 safety assessment, 655-659 severe myocardial infarction, 651 statistical analyses, 655 study outcomes, 659-663 subjective evaluation, 657-659 Heart transplant, 246 Heat shock proteins (HSPs), 1192 Heavy metal exposure, 1198 HEBE trial, 252 Hedgehog signaling pathway, 1309-1310 Hematopoiesis, 1184 Hematopoietic cell transplant activity, 1434 Hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs), 1396. 1423 Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), 132, 928-930, 1181, 1184-1191, 1193-1197, 1199-1201, 1204-1208, 1231, 1257, 1393, 1452, 1453, 1455–1458, 1462, 1463, 1476, 1479 in the bone marrow niche, 933 differentiation of, 931 Hematopoietic stress response, 1193-1196 Hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining, 1355, 1359 Hemeagglutinin esterase (HE), 177 Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HEGF), 1042 Hepatic artery, 223 brain level, 224 congestion, 224 HSCs, 230 lineage specification, 223 mononuclear cells, 230 parenchyma, 226 veins, 223 Hepatic growth factor (HGF), 419 Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), 230 Hepatitis C virus (HCV), 1272

Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), 1042, 1101, 1131 Hepatocytes, 394-395 Hepatocyte transplantation, 227 Hepatocytic activity of highly purified marrow HSC, 930 HER2osome, 1268 Hereditary degenerative organs, 630 Heterogeneity, 898, 904 Heterokaryotic cardiomyocytes, 637 Heterotopic ossification (HO), 1241 High-throughput screening, 390 Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors, 1336 Hodgkin's lymphoma (HL), 1273 Homeostasis, 241, 598 Homologous recombination (HR), 1449 Hormone therapy, 1392 Human adipose tissue-derived MSCs (hAMSCs) secretome, 982 Human corneal stromal stem cells (hCSSCs), 590 Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs), 335, 336, 440, 877 corneal endothelial cells, 612 donors' right, 1170 informed consent, 1170-1172 patentability, 1169 reproduction, 1166-1168 research, 1162 safety, 1164-1166 scientists and ethicists, 1163 stem cell technology, 1162 substitutes, 1163 virus-dependent delivery methods, 1163 Human Fertilization and Embryology Authorities (HFEA), 1168 Human gene therapy, 642, 644 Human hair follicle stem cells-CM (HFSCs-CM), 1046 Human hepatocyte generation, 932 Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), 1272 Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) contractility and force generation, 885 differentiation and definition of homogenous cardiomyocyte subpopulations, 881-882 electrophysiological measurements and arrhythmia assessment, 885-886 maturation, 882-883 metabolic considerations, 884 morphology, 884-885 phenotypic assays, 883-886
Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) (cont.) proarrhythmic drug assessment, 886-887 transcriptomic and proteomic analysis, 883-884 Human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC), 228, 231, 877, 1464, 1465, 1470, 1471 donors' right, 1170-1172 genome editing applications, 880-881 informed consent, 1170-1172 patentability, 1168-1170 quality control and genotyping, 879-880 reproduction, 1166-1168 reprogramming, 878-879 safety, 1164-1166 Human lens, 332 Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), 71 Human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs), 1464, 1467, 1474 Human proteins, 937 Human retinal progenitor cells (hRPCs), 334.335 Human shed deciduous teeth (SHED), 1041 DMSCs, 1040 Human telomerase RNA (hTR), 1457 Human T-lymphotropic virus-1 (HTLV-1), 1272 Human umbilical cord derived MSC (hUC-MSCs), 365, 1475 Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), 452, 1017, 1047 Huntington's disease (HD), 416, 859 glutamate excitotoxicity in, 860 Hyalograft, 358 Hydrogel based therapy, 781-783 Hydrogel patches, 1023 Hydrogels, 826 Hypercoagulability, 180 Hypertension, 244 Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM), 884, 887 Hypoimmunogenic mouse, 903 Hypoxia, 1454 Hypoxia-induced apoptosis, 248 Hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF-1 α), 1131 Hypoxia induction, 1140-1141

I

Iliac bone marrow MSCs (iBM-MSCs), 548 Immune cell migration, 1288 Immune system, 196 Immunogenicity, 901–903 Immunomodulation, 36-37, 56, 73, 168, 553, 1044, 1129-1131, 1288, 1289, 1291, 1293 Immunomodulatory properties of MSCs, 70-72 Immunostaining, 425 Immunosuppressive effects, 198 Impaired wound healing, 108-109 Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), 1129, 1130, 1142 Induced cardiomyocyte-like cells (iCMs), 1337, 1341 Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 112-113, 325, 336, 440, 476, 515-516, 732-733, 1106, 1163, 1231, 1239, 1336, 1393, 1450, 1455, 1468-1470 biobanking, 903-904 cell-based therapies, 588 cell therapy-ongoing clinical trials, 907-910 corneal endothelial cells, 591 corneal epithelial cells, 608 corneal epithelium-like cells, 610 disease modelling, 905-907 donors' right, 1170-1172 drug discovery, 905-907 economic issues, 903-904 ESCs. 896, 897 heart failure, 521-522 and hESCs, 588, 1163 heterogeneity, 904 hiPSCs, 896 immunogenicity, 901-903 informed consent, 1170-1172 lentoid bodies, 595 low-efficiency reprogramming, 898-899 patentability, 1168-1170 reproduction, 1166-1168 reprogramming of skin fibroblasts, 896 retinal pigment epithelial cells, 597 safety, 1164-1166 toxicity studies, 905-907 trabecular meshwork cells, 613 transcription factor, 897-898 tumorigenicity, 899-901 Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), 72, 1046 Infarcted myocardium, 773 Infarction, 301 acute myocardial, 271 chronic myocardial, 299 exosome-based treatment strategy, 1017 myocardial, 1017, 1019

Inflammation, 56, 70, 83, 168, 178, 179, 181 Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), 195 clinical trials on MSC therapy of, 201-216 diagnosis of, 196 MSCs-derived exosomes, 200-201 pathogenesis, 199 preclinical studies, 199-200 therapy with MSCs, 197-198 Inflammatory loop, 417 Inflammatory (luminal) CD, 211 Inflammatory priming, 1141-1142 Informed consent, 1162, 1164, 1167, 1170-1172 Inherited arrhythmias, 878 Inner cell mass (ICM), 440 In situ hybridization, 932 Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR), 80 Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), 482, 527, 636, 808, 1042, 1395 Insulin-like growth factor II (IGF-II), 1042 Intensive care units (ICU), 178 Interferon-gamma (IFNy), 1045 Interfollicular stem cells, 114 Interleukin 6 (IL-6), 1131 Internal tandem duplication (ITD), 1203 International Bone Marrow Adiposity Society, 1210 International clinical trials registry platform (ICTRP), 907 International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), 5, 25, 246, 362, 546, 1125, 1186, 1232 International Society for Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV), 1075, 1133 Interstrand crosslink repair (ICLR), 1449 Intracameral injection, 611 Intracoronary infusion, 491, 532 Intraluminal vesicles (ILV), 1104 Intramyocardial injection, 490, 532 Intraocular pressure (IOP), 338, 342 Intravenous approach, 532 In utero transplantation, 938-939 experimental tool to study stem cell biology, 928-934 hematopoietic SC, 928-930 long-term transplantation tolerance following, 923-924 mesenchymal stem cells, 930-934 Investigational New Drug (IND), 1023 In vitro and in vivo cardiac applications, exosomes, 749

In vitro differentiation of BM-derived MSCs, 272-274 In vitro experimental model of traumatic brainlike injury, 987 In vitro fertilization (IVF), 1162 In vitro reprogramming, 1341 efficiency of astrocytes, 397, 398 In vivo heart function assessment, 1351 IPSCs-derived retinal pigment epithelial cells (iPSC-RPE), 901 Iris, 592-593 Iris pigment epithelial (IPE), 616 Iron oxide nanoparticle-loaded MSCs (IONP-MSCs), 1023 Irradiated conditioned medium (ICM), 1476 Ischaemic heart disease, 1335, 1339 Ischemia, 299, 307 Ischemia-reperfusion-based treatment protocol, 444 Ischemia-reperfusion injury, 1012 Ischemic cardiomyopathy, 631, 650-652, 663, 664 Ischemic heart disease (IHD), 306, 440 Ischemic stroke (IS), 403-404 conditions, 990 treatments, 861 Isocitrate dehydrogenase-2 (IDH2), 1454

J

Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) signaling, 451

K

Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV), 1272 Kaposi sarcoma mouse model, 75 Kawasaki disease, 809 Keratinocyte growth factor/fibroblast growth factor-7 (KGF/FGF-7), 1042 Keratoconjunctivitis, 331 Keratocytes, 590 Knee extensors, 645 Knee flexors, 645 Knee osteoarthritis, 145

L

Lactobaillus rhamnosus, 552, 554–556 Laminin-rich fractions, 833 Large animal experimentation, 928 Large animal models, 280-303 Large chondroitin-6-sulfate proteoglycan (LC6SP), 636 Laser trabeculoplasty, 613 LateTIME trial, 253 Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON), 340 Left ventricular assist devices (LVAD), 246 Left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), 243, 447, 449, 451, 459, 460, 474, 478-485, 495, 498, 500, 513.658 Left ventricular end-diastolic volume (LVEDV), 252 Left ventricular end-systolic volume (LVESV), 252 Lens diseases, models of, 332-333 fiber-cells, 594 hESCs, 595 iPSCs, 595 lentoid bodies, 595 progenitor cells identification, 594 transparent tissue, 594 Lens progenitor cells (LEC), 333 Leukemia, 1181, 1196-1208, 1210, 1213-1215 bone marrow microenvironment, 1263-1264 predictors of response and promoters, 1264-1265 LEUVINE-AMI trial, 254 Limbal stem cells, 609 Lineage-restricted assays, 936 Lineage-tracing studies, 276 Lipid metabolism, 1190 Lipid raft-associated proteins, 1107 Lipolysis, 1209 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 1141 Liver. 222-223 cell-free therapy approaches, 229-231 diseases (see Liver diseases) and heart, 223-225 metabolism, 227 Liver diseases cell-based therapy, 225-228 cell suspension, 226 clinical evaluation, 228 clinical studies, 227-228 donor shortage, 225 EVs (see Extracellular vesicles (EVs)) experimental animal studies, 226-227 in situ, 226 non-alcoholic fatty, 224

portal vein system, 225 surgical animal models, 226 therapeutic approach, 224 Liver failure (LF), 1045 Liver function indexes, 656 Locomotor activity, 222 Long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs), 1185, 1187 Long-term persistence, human hematopoiesis, 929 Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, 446 Lower body treatment (LBT), DMD, 644-646 L-type calcium channels (LTCC), 884 Lung cancer, 1376-1378 Lymphoblastoid cell lines, 897 Lymphoma, 1265 biomarker, 1269-1270 **DLBCL**, 1272 HL, 1273 and lymphomagenesis, 1270-1271 patient outcomes and prognosis, 1271 therapy, 1271 virally-mediated, 1272 Lymphomagenesis, 1270-1271 Lysophosphatidylcholine activation genes, 1046

М

Macrophages, 1102, 1130 Magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS), 391, 1165 Magnetic field bioreactors (MFB), 372 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 1402 MaioRegen scaffold, 359 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 417, 1369 class-I, 631 class II, 36 Malar deformity, 710, 712 Malfunction, 1449 Mandibular bone marrow MSCs, 548 Marrow adipose tissue (MAT), 1210-1213 Massive rotator cuff tears (MRCTs) lesions, 984 Matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI), 358 Matrix-metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), 853 Mature cells, 360-362 Medicinal products, 69, 80, 86 Megakaryocyte (MK) generation, 1195 Melanocytic stem cells, 107 Melanoma mouse model, 76 Mel-CAM, 137 Membranous bodies (MB), 679

Mer tyrosine kinase proto-oncogene (MERTK), 596 MESEMS study, 144 Mesenchymal progenitor cells (MPCs), 1241 Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies, 1235, 1236 cardiology, 1238-1240 Crohn's disease, 1237–1238 graft versus host disease, 1235-1237 neurology, 1241-1243 orthopedics, 1240-1241 potential risks, 1243-1244 Mesenchymal stem cells based therapies, 1125-1128 Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), 25, 55, 113-114, 129-130, 246, 330, 362, 693, 926, 1181, 1184, 1186–1189, 1191, 1200, 1201, 1205-1208, 1210, 1212, 1214, 1231-1232, 1281-1283, 1449 ACE-2, 180 acute and chronic liver defects, 228 adipose tissue-derived, 28-31, 131-132, 179, 1013 administration, 180 adult and fetus-associated tissue sources of. 275 advantages for clinical application, 66 allogeneic adipose tissue-derived MSCs, 9 allogeneic MSCs (see Allogeneic MSCs) allogeneic stem cell transplantation, 10 animal studies, 420 anti-inflammatory effects, 179 anti-inflammatory factors, 248 anti-tumor activity of, 75-76 for autoimmune diseases, 73-74 autologous MSCs (see Autologous MSCs) biological properties, 977-978 bone marrow-derived, 4, 27-28, 130-131, 271–277, 419, 1014–1016 for cancer treatment, 74-77 in cardiac regenerative therapy, 774 CD146, 137-138 CD271, 136–137 cell-based therapy, 6, 461 cell-free therapy, 461 cell manufacturing for clinical use, 80-82 cell migration toward damaged tissues, 69 - 70cell types, 1009 as cellular medicament, 55 cellular regulators, 179 cellular transformation, 69

cellular transplantation, 1040 characterization, 56 characterization before culture, 135-138 in clinical perspective, 138-145, 303-307 clinical studies, 420 clinical therapies, 547 clinical trials, 8, 201-216 clinical use, 178 cognitive impairment, 426-429 complications, 11 considerations for cellular medicament, 82-86 considerations for clinical applications, 78 - 82in COVID-19 pneumonia treatment, 168 Crohn's disease, 142-143 definition, 55 differentiation capacity, 68-69 differentiation potential of, 277-278 from different tissue sources for various disease conditions., 139-150 dosage strategies, 184 drawbacks, 978 Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium, low glucose, 5 encapsulated formations, 421 and endothelial cells, 57 engineered therapeutic MSCs. 6, 7 exosomes, 200-201 (see also Exosomes) exosomes based therapeutic intervention, 145 - 150extracellular vesicles, 37-38 ex vivo expansion, 5 functions, 56 future research, 86-87, 304-307 gene therapy, 38-39 good manufacturing practices, 6 graft-versus-host disease, therapy for, 141-142 growth, 418 guardians of inflammation, 56 healing of osteonecrosis, 11 healing of ulcus cruris, 9 heart failure, 482-485, 519-520 immunomodulation, 36-37 immunomodulatory characters of, 279 immunomodulatory properties of, 70-72 immunoregulatory and angiomodulatory effects, 421 immunoregulatory cells, 419 impact of statins, 446-447 imprint of disease on, 77-78 infection and immune response, 176-178

Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) (cont.) intracoronary MSCs transplants, 11 intravenous allogenic non-ischemic cardiomyopathy, 307 intravenous infusion, 180 IONP-MSCs, 1023 isolation and characterization of, 275-277 isolation from sources, 131-135 large experimental animal studies, 280-298 left ventricular assist device, 5 local administration, 201-210 locations, 1040 mechanism of action, 69-72, 197-198 MSCs-based cell therapy, 9 multiple sclerosis, 143-144 myocardial angiogenesis, 248 in myocardial repair and regeneration, 442 nebulized administration, 180 oromaxillofacial tissue-derived, 548 paracrine effects, 81, 248 pharmacological approaches, 547 pharmacological effects, 168 phenotypic profile, 65-67 placenta, 134-135 POSEIDON trial, 303-305 postnatal development, 547 preclinical applications, 72 pre-clinical studies with, 279-307 probiotic interaction, 553-556 proliferative activity of, 68 **PROMETHEUS clinical trial**, 305 properties, 197, 419 pro-tumor activity of, 76-77 public registry list of phase III/IV clinical trials, 58-65 quality control, 16, 17 rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis, 144-145 roots, 975-977 route of administration, 184 safety concerns, 81 secretome derived from (see Mesenchymal stem cells secretome) secretory factors, 168 side-effects, 182-183 small animal experimental models, 279-292, 1009 source of cells, 183-184 sources, 26-34, 1233-1234 SSEA-4, 137 statin treatment, 453 STRO-1, 135-136

stromal cell for ischemic heart disease, 306 study design, 183 systemic administration, 330 systemic (intravenous) administration, 210-213 TAC-HTF trial, 306 therapeutic effects, 57, 421-426 therapeutic potential, 421, 1234-1235 therapeutic strategies, 34-39 therapeutic outcomes of cellular medicament, 83-86 thrombopenia, 7, 8 therapy for cardiovascular pathologies, 138-141 in tissue engineering, 1040 tissue regeneration, 34-36 tissue repair, 70 trophic functions of, 278-279 umbilical cord, 132 umbilical cord blood, 132-133 umbilical cord-derived, 31-34, 228 in utero transplantation, 930–934 Wharton's jelly, 133-134 Mesenchymal stem cells secretome benefits and barriers, 993-994 cardiovascular diseases, 985 central nervous system pathologies, 986 clinical approaches based on, 991-993 coding and non-coding RNAs, 981-982 composition and characterization of, 979-982 extracellular vesicles, 980-981 improvements needed for application, 994-995 ischemic stroke, 990 kidney and lung injuries, 986 mechanisms of action and principal effects, 980-982 neurodegenerative disorders, 990-991 pre-clinical approaches, 982-991 soluble fraction, 979-980 spinal cord injury, 988-990 therapeutic benefits of, 983 traumatic brain injury, 987-988 wound healing, cartilage repair and regeneration, 982-984 Mesoangioblasts (MABs), 1101 Messenger RNAs (mRNAs), 496, 1292 Metastasis, 1372-1374 Metastatic breast cancer (MBC), 1266 Metastatic human breast carcinoma cells, 76 Microarchitecture, 752 Microbubbles, 1338, 1341, 1351, 1354

Microbubble ultrasound contrast agents (MCAs), 1337-1338 Microbubble-virus hybrids creation of, 1356 delivery using UTMD in vivo, 1358 Microelectrode array (MEA), 885 Microenvironment, 830-831, 1392 Microfracture, 355 Microglial cells, 855 and physiological functions, 851-852 Microglial polarization, 855 Microglial secretions, 855 Micronucleus with cytochalasin B (MN/CB), 1450 Micropatterning, 754 MicroRNAs (miRNAs), 387, 1103-1106, 1108–1112, 1132, 1292–1293, 1319 in cancer progression, 1374-1376 future perspectives, 1378-1380 secretion pathways, 1373-1374 selection, 1371 Microthrombotic particles (MTPs), 450 Microvesicles, 1380 Microvesicles (MVs), 1133, 1380 EXs, 1043-1044 Microvessel density (MVD), 1398 Migratory ability, 852 Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles (MISEV) 2018 guidelines, 949 Minnesota Living with HF Questionnaire (MLHFQ), 478, 483, 498 miRcombo, 1353 Mismatch repair (MMR), 1449 Mitochondrial stress signaling, 1192 MMP12, 1404 Molecular-based treatments, 862 Molecular profiling, 330 of cardiomyocytes, 734 Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), 1044, 1131, 1140, 1396 Mononuclear cells (MNCs), 1233 Morphological analysis, 884 Morris water maze (MWM), 423 Mouse embryonic fibroblasts, 404, 405 Mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs), 1464, 1466, 1467, 1472 MSCs-derived exosomes (MSC-Exos), 418-421 Muller glial cells, 597 Multi-database search, 907 Multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT), 299

Multi-drug-resistant proteins (MDR), 1312 Multilineage differentiation, 68 Multiple myeloma, 77, 1431 Multiple organ dysfunction syndromes (MODS), 167 Multiple sclerosis (MS), 143-144, 404, 567, 857, 858, 1048 Multipotency, 1040 Multipotent adult progenitor cells (MAPCs), 1394 Multipotent-stem cells, 594 Multivesicular bodies (MVBs), 981, 1043, 1104, 1133 Murine hematopoiesis, 926 Muscle biopsy, 654 Muscle regeneration, 633 Muscle-specific miRNAs, 1109 Muscular dystrophy, 638, 1103 etiology, 638-639 pathogenesis, 639-640 Musculoskeletal diseases, 1135-1140 Mutant Huntingtin protein, 859 Myoblasts, 631 mitotic cardiomyocytes, in vitro controlled cell fusion. 637 pertinent muscle developmental biology, 633-635 Mvoblast transfer therapy (MTT), 631, 682 antiaging aesthetica, 674-676 breast and uterine cancers, 673 in cancer treatment, 668-674 cellular and molecular phases, development, 666 controlled cell fusion, 636 cyclosporine immunosuppression, 638 in DMD, 642-650 engineering genetic mosaicism with, 632-633 injection methods, cell distribution and fusion, 637 loose teeth and bone fracture repair, 676-677 mesenchymal cell transplant, 642 repairing hereditary degenerative cells, 632 replenishing dead cells, 632 stimulation therapies and fractal dynamics, 677-679 tendon repair, for injured athletes, 676 type II diabetes, gene defects in, 666-668 with primary myoblast culture, 642 Myocardial differentiation, 447

Myocardial infarction (MI), 244, 474-476, 478, 482, 488, 489, 491, 495, 496, 498, 513, 801, 810, 1343 experimental rat model, 1357-1358 therapy, 447 Myocardial microenvironment donor cells, 444-445 functional mechanism of statins, 446 MSCs, impact of statins on, 446-448 Myocardial single-photon emission tomography (M-SPECT), 300 Myocarditis, 244 Myocardium, 1343, 1348, 1353 Myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF-2) family, 739 Myofiber(s), 634 intracellular repair, 1103-1107 repair, 1104, 1110 Myofibroblasts, 362 Myogenesis, 634 MyStromalCell Trial, 141

Ν

Nanocomposite, 1023 Nanoparticles, 1197 Natural killer (NK) cells, 902 therapy, 182 Natural scaffolds, 775-776 collagen scaffolds, 777-779 ECM, 776-777 Neoangiogenesis, 1405 NeoCart, 359 Neomyocytes, 279, 1344 Neomyogenesis, 1343 Neoplasm inhibition rate (NIR), 673 Neovascularization, 333, 1136, 1373 endothelial progenitor cells in, 1397-1398 Nerve growth factor (NGF), 419 Neural growth factor (NGF), 1042 Neural stem cells (NSCs), 419, 866, 1453 adult mammalian brain, 823 applications and limitations, 825-830 culture strategies, 827 and disorders, 836-838 embryonic NSCs, 830-831 experimental evidence, 823 frog embryos, 824 hiPSCs, 825 historic prospectives, 823-829 iPSCs technology, 823 reprogramming of somatic cells, 823 researchers, 826

signalling molecules, 831-832 sources, 830 therapy, 835-838 transplantation, 835-838 Neurite extension, 1047 Neurites, 1052 Neuritogenesis, 1047 Neuroblastoma, 824 Neurocognitive disorders, 415 Neurodegeneration, 405, 416, 418 Neurodegenerative disorders, 990-991 Neuroepithelium, 831 Neurogenesis, 823, 824, 826, 831, 833-835 Neuroinflammation, 416, 1047, 1051 Neurology, 1241-1243 Neuromuscular transmission, 635 Neuromyelitis optica (NMO), 856-858, 862, 863.866 Neuron adult mammalian brain, 823 and astrocytes, 825 doctrine, 823 growth factors, 823 microenvironment, 832 progenitors, 831, 834 Neuron-specific growth factors, 823 Neuropeptide Y, 1189 Neuroprotection, 1044 Neurotrophins, 418, 423, 1044 Neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2), 1373 Neutrophils, 1102 New York Heart Association functional classification of heart failure, 474 Nitric oxide (NO), 419, 1101 Nkx-2.5, 739 N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), 597 receptor, 337, 862-338 Non-cardiomyocytes, 882 Non-coding RNAs, 230-232, 496 Non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL), 1269 Nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), 1376 Non-union bone defect, 1136 Normal cardiomyocytes, 637 Normal dystrophin gene, 632 Normal wound healing, 105-108 Notch signaling, 1101 pathway, 832, 1310 Novel object recognition (NOR), 423 NOVOCART[®]3D, 359 N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), 811 Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), 859, 1286

0

Obesity, 1477 Ocular hypertension, 342 Ocular lens, 613–614 Odontoblastic differentiation, 1051 Oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs), 394 Oncolvtic adenovirus, 1315–1316 Oncolytic herpes simplex virus, 1316 Open-angle glaucoma, 340 Open-chest model, 300 Ophthalmology, 326 Optical mapping, 886 Optimal combination of reprogramming factors, 389 Optomotor behavior tracking, 335 Oral disorders, 553 Organogenesis, 360 Organoids, 168, 178, 905 cerebellum, 829 cerebral, 823 hedgehog agonists, 828 new model systems, 825 technique, 826 Organ-on-a-chip (OOC) technology, 906 Oromaxillofacial tissue (OMT) biology, 548-550 identification, 548-550 isolation, 548-550 Oromaxillofacial tissue mesenchymal stem cells (OMT-MSCs), 547 co-culture, 557 isolated, 549 mechanism, 549 oral flora, 550 probiotic interaction, 554 Orthopedics, 1240–1241 Orthotropic liver transplantation (OLT), 224 Oscillatory potentials (OP), 339 Osteoarthritic-like priming, 1146 Osteoarthritis (OA), 352, 984, 1137-1139, 1240 Osteocalcin (OCN), 447 Osteochondral allograft transplantation (OCA), 356-357 Osteochondral autologous transplantation (OAT), 354, 356

Osteochondral transplantation (OCT), 356 Osteoclastogenesis, 1046 Osteogenesis, 1136 Osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), 1241 Osteogenic differentiation, 573–574 Osteonectin (OCN), 574 Osteopontin (OPN), 447, 574 Outer nuclear layer (ONL), 335 Overall survival, 1424 Oxidative stress, 1452–1454, 1477 Oxygen consumption rate (OCR), 884

Р

Pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PADC), 1372 Paracrine, 359, 1010, 1127-1129, 1131-1133, 1138, 1139, 1144, 1145, 1147 agents, 74 hypothesis, 278 signaling, 527-528 Parkinson's disease (PD), 405, 416, 429-431, 907, 909 Particulated articular cartilage implantation (PACI), 354 ACI, 357-358 advancement, 357 allogenic, 357 autologous, 357 treatment modality, 357 Particulate matter, 1197 Patch-based cell therapy, 783-784 Patch clamping, 886 Patentability, 1168-1170 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 177, 1199, 1282 Pathological scarring, 118 Pattern recognition receptors (PRR), 1283 Payload, 1369-1371, 1373, 1376-1378, 1380 Percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), 475.1027 Perfusion bioreactors, 371–372 Perianal fistulas, 207, 208 Pericytes, 395 Periodontal ligament MSCs, 548 Periodontal ligament stem/progenitor cells (PDLSCs), 1040 cytokines profile analysis, 1055 dental tissues regeneration, 1057 neural disorders, 1056 osteogenic potential, 1057 therapeutic effects, 1055 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), 1394, 1463 Peripheral blood MSCs, 367

Peripheral blood progenitor cells (PBPCs), 1423 apheresis, 1425 cell engraftment, 1428 cell storage, 1425-1426 conditioning regimen and myeloablative therapy, 1427 cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen, 1423 EBMT report, 1431-1438 mobilization, 1425 post-transplant data, 1428-1433 uses, 1423 viability, 1425 Peripheral blood stem cells, 1423, 1431 Persistent organic pollutants (POPs), 1197, 1213 Personalized medicine, 675 Pertinent muscle developmental biology, 633-634 excitation contraction coupling, 635 myogenesis, 634 neuromuscular transmission, 635 number of myofibers and strength, 635 Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Act (PMD Act), 700 Pharmacological manipulation, 441, 443, 444 Phenotypic assays, 883-886 Phenotypic screening, 906 Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B, 74 Pig models of myocardial injury, 280 Placenta, 134-135 Placenta-derived MSCs, 72 Placenta-derived stem cells (PSCs), 1393 Placental growth factor (PIGF), 1131 Placental tissue (PT), 1283 Plasminogen, 1189 Plastic adherence, 276 Plasticity, 257 Platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor (PDEGF), 1042 Platelet-derived growth factor-a (PDGFR-α), 1102 Platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGF-B), 496 Pleiotropy, 1261 Pluripotency, 897, 898, 900, 903, 939 Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), 476, 588, 594, 730, 1106 heart failure, 478-480, 520 Poland syndrome, 704 Poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP), 1404 Poly-ADP ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1), 1452 Polycaprolactones (PCL), 370 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), 1197-1198 Polyethyleneimine (PEI), 1054 Polygonal skin fibroblasts, 675 Polylactic acid (PLA), 370 Poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA), 370 Polv-L-ornithine, 825 Polyurethane (PU), 368 Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), 788 POSEIDON trial, 140, 303-305 Post replication repair (PPR), 1449 Posttranslational modifications (PTMs), 883 Preclinical models, 608, 611 Preclinical research of MSC-based therapies, for ocular disease corneal diseases, models of, 325-331 EAE models, 340 glaucoma models, 340-342 hereditary diseases, optic nerve damage, 340 lens diseases, models of, 332-333 NMDA, model damage to, 337-338 PACG, animal models, 342 retinal models, 333-337 transgenic RGC loss models, 339-340 transient ischemia models, 339 Precondition(ing), 443–444, 550–551, 556 Predictors, 1264-1265 Prefrontal cortex (PFC), 431 Pre-scaffold fabrication bioprinting, 787 Primary angle-closure glaucoma (PACG), 342 Primary central nervous system lymphoma (PCNSL), 1270 Primary human corneal endothelial cell transplantation, 331 Proarrhythmic drug assessment, 886-887 Probiotics, 551–553 Progenitor cells, 934, 1423 **PROGENITOR trial**, 257 Programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1), 1289 Progression-free survival (PFS), 1424 Pro-inflammatory cytokines, 199 Pro-inflammatory factors, 247 Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), 1053 PROMETHEUS clinical trial, 140, 305 Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), 1043 Protein-based systems, 897 Proteoglycans, 1184 Proteolytic activation, 1189 Proteomic analysis, 1044, 1107 Proton efflux rate (PER), 884 Purified exosome preparations (PEPTM), 1023

Q

Quality and quantity culture (QQc), 1401

R

Radial glial cells (RGCs), 830 Radiation therapy, 1391 Radioresistance, 1305 Randomized controlled trials (RCTs), 255 RA receptors (RAR1-3), 832 Reactive gliosis, 854 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 243, 1128, 1185, 1194, 1451, 1452 Real time quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR), 883 Recruited leukocytes, 76 Red fluorescent protein (RPF), 442 Refractory angina (RA), 256–257 **REGENERATE-AMI trial**, 253 Regeneration, 1038 Regenerative effect, 200 Regenerative medicine, 54, 105, 134, 145, 532, 629, 701, 1230–1233, 1235, 1393 cardiac, 495-499 ethical issues in, 494-495 Regenerative therapy, 775 natural scaffolds, 775-780 synthetic scaffolds, 780-784 REGENT trial, 252 **REGENT-VSEL trial**, 257 Regulated marrow adipose tissue (rMAT), 1211, 1212 RELIEF trial, 140, 141 Renal function indexes, 656 REPAIR-AMI trial, 254 Repairing hereditary degenerative cells, 632 Replication-timing (RT), 1462 Replicative stress (RS), 1461 Reproduction, 1166-1168 Reprogramming, 596, 826, 898 of astrocytes, 393-394 Reprogramming methods, genetic instability, 1470 by-stander effect, 1476-1477 culture conditions, passage number, 1473-1476 mutations, 1471-1473 Resistin, 1477 Restoration, 1038 Retina autologous-IPE cells, 616 gene expression profiles, 615 hESCs, 615 iPSC-based autologous cell, 616

iPSC-based treatments, 615 Muller cells, 597 neural retina, 596 pigment epithelial, 614, 616 pigment epithelium, 596-597 retinal photoreceptors, 614 Retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), 336-341, 608 Retinal models, 333-337 Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), 333, 335 Retinitis pigmentosa (RP), 334, 608 Retinoic acid (RA), 832 Retinoic Acid-Receptor-Related Orphan Receptor gamma T (RORyT), 417 Retroviral transduction, 878 Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), 72, 144-145, 352 RIMECARD trial, 256, 484 Romberg disease, 704 Rosuvastatin, 450 Route of administration, 490-492 RPE-derived stem cells (RPESCs), 335 Runt-related transcription factor 2 (RUNX2), 447.1050 Ryanodine receptors (RyRs), 884

S

Safety, human-induced pluripotent stem cells. 1164-1166 Sarcomeres, 729 Sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), 635, 884 Satellite cell (SC), 1099-1101, 1109 Scaffold-based 3D cell culture systems, 574 Scaffold-free strategies, 360 Scaffolds natural, 775-780 synthetic, 780-784 Schizophrenia, 429-431 Scotopic threshold response (STR), 339 scRNAseq analysis, 391 Secondary myeloid malignancy, 1201 leukemia-predisposing inherited BM failure syndromes, 1203-1206 therapy-related myeloid malignancy, 1201-1203 Secretome, 228, 229, 567, 575, 576, 801, 802 Secretome, MSCs, 1128-1129 angiogenesis and revascularization, 1131-1132 anti-apoptotic activity, 1132 bioactive factors, 1142-1143 bone regeneration, 1135-1137 in cartilage defects and cartilage degeneration treatment, 1137-1139

Secretome, MSCs (cont.) cell-cell interactions, modulation of, 1143-1144 cell-substrate interaction, 1144 composition of EVs cargo, 1133-1135 disease-like priming, 1145-1146 extracellular vesicles, 1133-1135 genetic editing, 1144-1145 hypoxia induction, 1140-1141 immunomodulation, 1129-1131 inflammatory priming, 1141–1142 musculoskeletal disease treatment, 1135-1140 soluble factors, 1129–1132 tendon injuries, treatment of, 1139-1140 Secretome/conditioned medium (SHED-CM) cardiopulmonary injuries, 1045 dental-pulpal disorders, 1047 diabetes mellitus, 1046 hepatic disorders, 1045-1046 immunological disorders, 1046 neural injuries, 1047-1048 SEED-MSC, 141 Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), 866 Self-formed ectodermal autonomous multizone (SEAM), 610 Self-inactivating (SIN) vectors, 1352 Self non-self discrimination, 923 Self-renewal ability, 977 Senescence, 1454, 1458, 1477 Senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), 1454, 1458 Septovalvulogenesis, 736 Serum deprivation, 635 Serum response factor, 740 Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2), 165, 167, 176 Severe myocardial infarction, 651 Shear-thinning hydrogel (STG), 1023 Shwachman Diamond syndrome (SDS), 1205-1206 Sickle cell anemia (SCA), 907 Signalling molecules, 831–832 Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-4, 417 Simultaneous hybrid 3D bioprinting, 787 Simvastatin, 449 Single guide RNA, 390 Single muscle treatment (SMT), DMD, 643 efficacy, 643-644 safety, 643 significance, 644

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 880 Single nucleotide variation (SNV), 900, 1166 Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), 257, 449 Sinusoidal obstructive syndrome (SOS), 183 Sirtuins, 1472 Skeletal muscle, 631 Skeletal muscle repair and regeneration, 1100-1101 immune response, 1102–1103 macrophages and lymphocytes, 1102-1103 muscular dystrophy, 1103 residential cells, 1101-1102 Skeletal myoblasts (SMs), 476, 529, 898, 1009 heart failure, 480-481, 520 Small animal models, 279-292 Small interfering RNA (siRNA), 865 Small molecule inhibitors, 743 and pleiotropic effects, 746-748 small molecule inhibitors in stem cell biology, 743-745 Small molecules, 387-388 Smoking, 1479 Soft tissue reconstruction, 704-709 Somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT), 1166 Somatic cell reprogramming efficiency, 745 Somatic cells, 898-899 Somatic cell therapy (SCT), 631, 644 Somatic stem cells (SSCs), 1231 Sonic hedgehog (Shh), 832 Sonomicrometric analysis, 301 Spheroid cultures, 568 Sphingosine-1 phosphate, 1190 Spike protein (S-protein), 167 Spinal cord-derived astrocytes, 396 Spinal cord injury, 399-402, 988-990 Spinal-derived oligodendrocytes, 397 Spinner flasks, 370 Sprague-Dawley rats, 555 SSEA-4, 137 Statins, 445-446 AMI, 452-460 combined statin and cell-based therapy, for AMI patients, 459-460 combined statin and MSCs-based cell therapy, 449-452 functional mechanism, 446 and in vitro experimental studies, 448-449 and in vivo experimental animal models, 449-459 on mesenchymal stem cells, 446-448 Steady-state hematopoiesis, 1186

Stem Cell Application Researches and Trials In Neurology-2 trial, 951 Stem cell-based therapy adult tissue-derived stem cells, 733-734 embryonic stem cells, 731-732 induced pluripotent stem cells, 732-733 myocardial repair, 441-442 Stem cell-based treatment, 610-612 Stem cells, 105, 1041-1043, 1392-1394 adult, 476 allogeneic sheep HSC, 926 asymmetric division, 1392 ciliary body, 593 ciliary pigment-epithelial, 588 clinical trials, 249-250 conjunctiva, 592 continuum, 1257–1258 cornea (see Cornea) embryonic, 111-112, 927 epithelial, 114-115 ESCs, 228, 1009 (see also Embryonic stem cells (ESCs)) exosomes (see Exosomes) functions, 247 heart diseases (see Heart diseases) hESCs, 168 hiPSCs, 176 induced pluripotent, 112-113, 231 iris, 592-593 IUT as tool (see In utero transplantation) large animal experimentation, 928 lens, 594-595 mesenchymal, 113-114 MSCs, 362 (see also Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) multipotentiality, 1392 NSCs (see Neural stem cells (NSCs)) in over-scarring, 117–118 paracrine activity, 1010 paracrine secretions, 229 plasticity, 934-939 and progenitor cell, 225 properties, 925 PSCs, 476 regenerative medicine, 608 regenerative potential of, 475–476 researchers, 227 in restoring heart function, 246-248 retina (see Retina) risks, 184-185 roles of, 105 somatic stem cell differentiation, 927 survival, 257

symmetric divisions, 1392 therapy, 325 therapy in pathological scarring, 118 trabecular meshwork, 593-594 trafficking, 1190 transplantation, 232 trialled, 232 Stem/progenitor cells of apical papilla (SCAP), 1057-1058 Stem cells post-engraftment, 442-443 Stem cell therapeutics, heart failure bone marrow-derived cells, 518-519 cardiac stem cells, 517-518 direct regeneration, 528 embryonic stem cells, 520-521 false claims, 536-537 induced pluripotent stem cells, 515-516 mechanism of action, 527-528 mesenchymal stem cells, 519-520 paracrine signaling, 527-528 pluripotent stem cells, 520 skeletal myoblasts, 520 Stemness, 1282, 1283 Sterility, 879 Streptozotocin (STZ), 334 Stressed urinary incontinence (SUI), 676 Stress-induced regulated cell death, 1193 STRO-1. 135-136 Stroke extracellular vesicles (see Extracellular vesicles (EVs)) stem cell-based therapy, 949 Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1), 496, 497, 1395 Stromal vascular fraction, 695-696 in plastic and cosmetic surgery, 704-714 regulatory considerations for the production and clinical application of. 700-701 soft tissue reconstruction, 704–709 Stromal vascular fraction (SVF), 30 Sub-retinal space (SRS), 339 Substitution therapy, 335 Suction of adipose tissue (SVF), 131 Sudden cardiac death (SCD), 878 Superoxide anion, 1452 Surface markers, 1306 Surgical trauma, 611 Sympathetic nervous system (SNS), 1181, 1188 Synovium fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells (SMSCs/SFMSCs), 366 Synthetic microRNA, 865

Synthetic scaffolds, 780 hydrogel based therapy, 781–783 patch-based cell therapy, 783–784 Systemic (intravenous) administration of MSCs, 210–213

Т

TAC-HFT-II trial, 485 TAC-HTF trial, 306 Targeted therapy, 1392 Target of rapamycin complex I, 1477 Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP), 1055 T-box protein expressed in T cells (T-bet), 417 T-cell metabolism, 1130 T-cell therapy, 181-182 TdT-mediated dUTP nick-end labelling (TUNEL) analysis, 1343 Telomere damage, 1457-1458 Tendon injuries, 1139-1140 Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) assay, 301 Tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester perchlorate (TMRM), 741 Tetraspanins, 1109 Therapeutics, 1262, 1264, 1265, 1268, 1269, 1271 Therapy-related AML (t-AML), 1201-1203 Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms (t-MNs), 1202 Thermoregulation, 222 Thioredoxin-1, 84 3D anionic fibrillar cellulose, 572 3D-bioprinting, 785-787 bioinks for heart tissue, 789-790 cardiac tissue, complexity of, 785 µCOP, 788 heart tissue, techniques of, 787-789 pre-scaffold fabrication bioprinting, 787 process of, 787 simultaneous hybrid 3D bioprinting, 787 3D cardiac organoids, 751 analytical methods, 754 functional maturation analysis, 749-750 innovative methodologies for theranostic applications, 753 multicellular aggregates, 753 scaffold selection, 754 3D cell culture, cell fate decisions of MSCs, 569, 570, 576, 577 adipogenic differentiation, 574-575 cellular senescence, 572-573

chondrogenic differentiation, 575 MSC-secretome, immunomodulation and anti-inflammatory potential, 575-576 osteogenic differentiation, 573-574 viability and proliferation, 570-571 3D hydrogels, 568 3D hydroxypropylmethyl cellulose hydrogels, 575 3D nanofibrillar cellulose, 571 Thrombopenia, 7, 8 Thrombopoietin (TPO)-independent MK production, 1195 Thrombotic coronary occlusion, 271 TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β (TRIF), 1284, 1285 Tissue-engineered articular cartilage, 358 Tissue engineering, 497, 733, 734, 754, 1038 applications, 360 biomaterials, 367 cartilage, 353, 368 categories, 358 cell-scaffold construct, 358 cell source, 364 stem cell-based cartilage, 372 Tissue engineering/regenerative medicine (TERM), 775, 782 Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP3), 988 Tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease 1 (TIMP-1), 1131 Tissue integration, 533 Tissue matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor-2 (TIMP-2), 1018 Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), 861 Tissue regeneration, 35-36, 1041 Tissue repair, 70 T-lymphocytes, 1392 TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), 75 Tolerogenic DCs, 420 Toll-interleukin-receptor domain (TIR), 1285 Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and activation pathways, 1283-1286 miRNAs, 1292-1293 TLR3 mediated apoptosis and survival of MSCs, 1292 TLR3 priming and MSC differentiation, 1290-1292 TLR3 priming and MSC immunomodulation, 1288-1290 TLR3 priming and MSCs' migration and proliferation, 1291-1292

Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 1056, 1110, 1282, 1284 Toll-like receptor (TLR)-NFkB, 1376 Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling, 1199 **TOPCARE-AMI trial**, 254 Topological Associated Domains (TAD), 1460 Totipotent, 588 Toxic lipophilic substances, 1213 Trabecular meshwork, 593-594, 613 Traditional 2D cell culture, 572 Transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENS), 615, 865 Transcription coupled repair (TCR), 1449 Transcription factors, 386-387 Transdifferentiation, 938 Transendocardial injection, 306 Transendocardial route, 491 Transforming growth factor-\u00b31 (TGF-\u00b31), 980, 1131 Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) signaling, 731 Transgenic RGC loss models, 339–340 Transient immunosuppression, 445 Transient ischemia models, 338-339 Translational experimental studies, 1019–1023 Transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2), 177 Transmission electron microscopy (TEM), 884 Transplantation, 113, 138, 141, 143, 230, 908, 1168 Transplant-related mortality (TRM), 1424 Traumatic brain injury (TBI), 402-403, 987-988 Trial and error screening of libraries, 388-390 Trialled stem cells, 232 Trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid, 199 Tronolab lentiviral production system, 1353 TruFit scaffold, 359 Tumor apoptosis, 1375 development, 1372 exosomes, 1376 microenvironment, 1372 suppression, 1373 Tumor-derived EVs (TEVs), breast cancer diagnostic and predictive markers, 1268 role, 1266-1267 treatment, 1267-1268 Tumor-derived exosomes, 1376-1378 Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), 247, 547, 671, 672, 1046 Tumorigenicity, 899-901

```
Two-dimensional (2D) cell culture, 568,
570, 576
Type II diabetes, 666–667
drug discovery, MTT use in, 668
genetic diseases, multiple usage of MTT
in, 668
human study, MTT in, 667–668
```

U

UK Stem Cells Tool Kit (USCTK), 1170 Ulcerative colitis, 195, 199 allogeneic BM-MSCs, 211 hUC-MSCs in, 210 MSCs transplantation, 211 Ulex europaeus agglutinin 1 (UEA1), 1394 Ultrasonic bioreactor (USB), 372 Ultrasound-mediated localised direct reprogramming, 1354-1355 Ultrasound target bubble destruction (UTBD), 445 Ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction (UTMD), 1338 advantages of lentiviral vectors for direct reprogramming, 1352 cardiac function improvement after, 1348 histological assessment of post-infarct ventricles after, 1343-1348 lentivirus-CMBs in gene delivery, 1351-1352 lentivirus delivery for cardiac repair, 1354-1355 microbubble/lentivirus hybrid delivery, 1358 reprogramming factors in direct cardiac reprogramming, 1353-1354 with CMB-lentiviral hybrid, 1348-1355 Umbilical cord, 132 Umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UCB-MSCs), 67, 353, 362, 365-366 Umbilical cord blood (UCB), 26, 28, 31, 32. 1283 Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UC-MSCs), 31-34, 256, 325, 328 Umbilical cord derived MSC-Exos (UC-MSC-Exos), 424, 425 Umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells (WJ-MSCs), 353, 359, 364-365 Unfolded protein response (UPR), 1192 Universal stem cell, 1257 Unrestricted somatic stem cells (USSCs), 1465 Untranslated regions (UTRs), 1104

Upper body treatment (UBT), 648 Urinary albumin creatinine ratio (UACR), 1077 Urine epithelial cells, 395–396 Urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene, 226

V

Vaccination, 167-168 Valvular disease, 244 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 181, 482, 496, 527, 575, 979, 1042, 1103.1131 Vascular wall EPCs (VW-EPCs), 1397 Vascular wall-resident vascular stem cells (VW-VSCs), 1397 Vasculogenesis, 1044, 1395, 1397, 1403, 1406 Vasodilators, 246 Ventricular aneurysm, 658 Ventricular hypertrophy, 243 Ventricular myocardium, 657 Vertebrate muscular system, 631 Vesiclepedia, 1011 Vesicular activity, 1104 Virally-mediated lymphomas, 1272 Viruses (virulent), 168 Virus-mediated expression cloning method, 1338 Viscous fluid properties, 782 Visual acuity, 338

W

Wernig lab, 389 Western blot analysis, 1357 Wharton's jelly, 133–134 Wharton's jelly-derived MSCs (WJ-derived MSCs), 118 advantages, 32 clinical applications, 34 isolation methods, 33–34 limitations, 33 Whole body treatment (WBT), DMD 25 billion myoblast WBT protocol, 649-650 50 billion myoblast WBT protocol, 650 donors, 648-649 dose escalation, 647 myoblast/placebo randomization, 648 myoblast preparation, 649 objectives, 647 rationale, 646 significance, 650 study design, 647-648 UBT/LBT randomization, 648 Wnt/beta-catenin signaling, 115 Wnt-pathway, 1286 Wnt signaling pathway, 75, 736-737, 832, 1310-1311 World Health Organization (WHO), 324, 513 Wound healing applications in defective, 115-117 excessive, 109-111 fetal vs. adult. 110 impaired, 108-109 normal, 105-108 stages of post-trauma, 106 stem cells in skin regeneration (see Stem cells)

Х

Xenobiotic metabolism, 1197, 1198 Xenobiotic response elements (XREs), 1199 Xenobiotics, 1192, 1198 Xenogeneic mouse transplantation systems, 928

Z

Zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs), 865